

International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda Tribunal pénal international pour le Rwanda

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

TRIAL CHAMBER II

Before: Judge William H. Sekule, Presiding

Judge Arlette Ramaroson Judge Solomy Balungi Bossa

Registrar: Adama Dieng

Date: 24 June 2011

THE PROSECUTOR

v.
Pauline NYIRAMASUHUKO
Arsène Shalom NTAHOBALI
Sylvain NSABIMANA
Alphonse NTEZIRYAYO
Joseph KANYABASHI
Élie NDAYAMBAJE

Case No. ICTR-98-42-T

JUDGEMENT AND SENTENCE

Office of the Prosecutor

Hassan Bubacar Jallow Holo Makwaia Adelaide Whest Althea Alexis Windsor Madeleine Schwarz Cheikh Tidiane Mara Astou Mbow Lansana Dumbuya

For the Defence

For **Pauline Nyiramasuhuko**Nicole Bergevin & Guy Poupart
For **Arsène Shalom Ntahobali**

Normand Marquis & Mylène Dimitri

For Sylvain Nsabimana

Josette Kadji & Pierre Tientcheu Weledji

For Alphonse Nteziryayo

Titinga Frederick Pacere & Gershom Otachi Bw'Omanwa

For Joseph Kanyabashi

Michel Marchand & Alexandra Marcil

For Élie Ndayambaje

Pierre Boulé & Claver Sindayigaya

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOLUME I

CHAPT	TER I	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Ov	erview of the Case	1
1.2	The	e Tribunal and Its Jurisdiction	2
1.3	The	e Accused	2
1.3	3.1	Pauline Nyiramasuhuko	2
1.3	3.2	Arsène Shalom Ntahobali	5
1.3	3.3	Sylvain Nsabimana	6
1.3	3.4	Alphonse Nteziryayo	8
1.3	3.5	Joseph Kanyabashi	10
1.3	3.6	Élie Ndayambaje	11
1.4	Sui	nmary of the Procedural History	13
СНАРТ	ΓER I	: PRELIMINARY ISSUES	15
2.1	Inti	roduction	15
2.2	Par	tial Acquittal Under Rule 98 bis	15
2.3	Pro	secution Concessions	16
2.4	Par	agraphs of the Indictments Not in Support of Counts	16
2.5	No	tice of Charges	17
2.5	5.1	General Challenges to the Indictments	17
2.5	5.2	Specific Challenges to Paragraphs of the Indictments	18
2.5	5.3	Generality in Pleading Dates	19
2.5	5.4	Curing Defects in the Indictments	20
2.5	5.5	Failure to Plead the Modes of Participation in the Crimes Charged Under Article 6 (1) of the Statute	22
2.5	5.6	Failure to Adequately Plead Superior Responsibility Pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute	23
2.5	5.7	Indictment Defects – Cumulative Error	25
2.5	5.8	Notice of Alibi	26
2.6	Fai	r Trial	27
2.6	5.1	Undue Delay	27
2.6	5.2	Joinder	29
2.6	5.3	Other Threshold Issues	32
	2.6.3.	1 Presence of Factual Witnesses in the Courtroom During Objections	32
	2.6.3.	2 Substitution of Judge Bossa	32
2.7	Evi	dentiary Matters	33
2.7	7.1	Burden of Proof and the Presumption of Innocence	34

2.7.2	Admissibility of Evidence on Pre-1994 Events	34
2.7.3	Witness Credibility	
2.7.3	2	
2.7.3	3.2 Identification of the Accused	36
2.7.3	3.3 Uncorroborated Testimony	36
2.7.3	3.4 Prior Statements	37
2.7.3	3.5 Detained Witnesses and Accomplice Testimony	38
2.7.3	3.6 Alibi Evidence and Burden of Proof	39
2.7.3	3.7 Issues in Evaluating Testimony Relating to Joint Trial	39
2.7.3	3.8 Testimony by the Accused	40
2.7.4	Expert Witnesses	40
2.7.4	I.1 General Challenges to Expert Evidence by the Defence	40
2.7.4	1.2 Applicable Law on Consideration of Expert Evidence	41
2.7.5	Witnesses Under Investigation	42
2.8 Pa	articipation of the Chief of Chambers	43
2.9 Ju	dicial Notice	44
2.10 St	ructure of the Judgement	46
CHADTED	III: FACTUAL FINDINGS	4.7
CHAPTER	III: FACTUAL FINDINGS	4/
3.1 Ba	ackground of the 1994 Events in Rwanda	47
3.1.1	The Rwandan Administrative Structure	47
3.1.2	Butare Préfecture	48
3.1.3	Political System Before October 1990	49
3.1.4	The RPF Attack of 1 October 1990	49
3.1.5	The Multi-Party Era in Rwanda	50
3.1.6	The Arusha Accords	51
3.1.7	The Murder of Félicien Gatabazi and Martin Bucyana	51
3.1.8	President Habyarimana's Death and Its Immediate Consequences	52
3.1.9	The Interim Government	
3.2 A	llegation of Fabrication of Evidence	53
3.2.1	Introduction	53
3.2.2	Evidence	54
3.2.3	Deliberations	72
3.2.4	Discussion of Evidence and Findings	81
3.3 Ev	vents in Butare Between 6 April 1994 and 18 April 1994	82
3.3.1	Remera Massacre, 7 April 1994	82
3.3.1	.1 Introduction	82
3.3.1	.2 Preliminary Issues	82
3.3.2	Interahamwe Training in Mugusa Commune, 7 April 1994	83

3.3.3 Cyarwa Secteur Meeting and Agateme Attacks, Mid-April 1994	84
3.3.3.1 Introduction	84
3.3.3.2 Preliminary Issues	85
3.3.3.3 Evidence	86
3.3.3.4 Deliberations.	93
3.4 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994	95
3.4.1 Introduction	95
3.4.2 Preliminary Issues	96
3.4.3 Cabinet Meetings – General	97
3.4.3.1 Introduction	97
3.4.3.2 Evidence	99
3.4.4 Pacification	101
3.4.4.1 Introduction	101
3.4.4.2 Evidence	102
3.4.5 Cabinet Meeting, 9 April 1994	105
3.4.5.1 Introduction	105
3.4.5.2 Evidence	107
3.4.6 Cabinet Meeting, 10 April 1994	110
3.4.6.1 Introduction	110
3.4.6.2 Evidence	110
3.4.7 Joint Meeting of Government and <i>Préfets</i> , 11 April 1994	111
3.4.7.1 Introduction	111
3.4.7.2 Evidence	112
3.4.8 Cabinet Meeting, 16 April 1994	115
3.4.8.1 Introduction	115
3.4.8.2 Evidence	115
3.4.9 Cabinet Meeting, 21 April 1994	116
3.4.9.1 Introduction	116
3.4.9.2 Evidence	116
3.4.10 Cabinet Meeting, 23 April 1994	117
3.4.10.1 Introduction	117
3.4.10.2 Evidence	117
3.4.11 Cabinet Meeting, 17 June 1994	119
3.4.11.1 Introduction	119
3.4.11.2 Evidence	119
3.4.12 Deliberations	119
3.4.12.1 Briefings on Massacres and Demands for Weapons During Cabinet Meetings	119
3.4.12.2 Issuance of Directives and Instructions During Cabinet Meetings and Pacification	120

3.5		noval of <i>Préfet</i> Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of <i>Préfet</i> Nsabimana, 17-19 il 1994	125
3.5	•	Introduction	
3.5	5.2	Preliminary Issues	127
3.5	5.3	Evidence	130
3.5	5.4	Deliberations	184
í	3.5.4.1	Background to the Removal of <i>Préfet</i> Habyalimana and Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony	184
(3.5.4.2	The Removal of <i>Préfet</i> Habyalimana	186
3	3.5.4.3	Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony	188
3	3.5.4.4	Sindikubwabo's Speech	189
3	3.5.4.5	Kambanda's Speech and Sindikubwabo's Speech – Shared Themes	195
(3.5.4.6	Kanyabashi's Speech	197
3	3.5.4.7	The Order of Speeches	197
(3.5.4.8	Content of Kanyabashi's Speech	200
3	3.5.4.9	Nyiramasuhuko's Presence	201
(3.5.4.1	0 Nsabimana's Presence	202
3	3.5.4.1	1 Conclusion to Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony	202
(3.5.4.1	2 Start of Widespread Killings in Butare <i>Préfecture</i>	202
3.5	5.5	Conclusion	203
3.6	Eve	nts After 19 April 1994	204
3.6	5.1	Arrival of Soldiers at Butare Airport, 20 April 1994	204
2	3.6.1.1	Introduction	204
(3.6.1.2	Preliminary Issues	205
(3.6.1.3	Evidence	205
2	3.6.1.4	Deliberations	207
3.6	5.2	Meeting with Bourgmestres and Gatonde Secteur Meeting, 20 April 1994	208
(3.6.2.1	Introduction	208
(3.6.2.2	Preliminary Issues	209
(3.6.2.3	Evidence	211
2	3.6.2.4	Deliberations	214
3.6	5.3	Sahera Secteur Office Meeting, 20 April 1994	217
2	3.6.3.1	Introduction	217
3	3.6.3.2	Preliminary Issues	218
3	3.6.3.3	Evidence	219
3	3.6.3.4	Deliberations	221
3.6	5.4	Mugombwa Church Massacre, 20-21 April 1994	222
2	3.6.4.1	Introduction	222
2	3.6.4.2	Preliminary Issues	223
2	3.6.4.3	Evidence	225

3.6.4.4	4 Deli	berations	259
3.6.5	Kabuye	e Hill Massacre, 20-24 April 1994	274
3.6.5.	1 Intro	oduction	274
3.6.5.2	2 Prel	iminary Issues	275
3.6.5.	3 Evic	lence	278
3.6.5.4	4 Deli	berations	314
3.6.	.5.4.1	20 April 1994 – Tutsis Arrested and Escorted from Gisagara to Kabuye Hill	319
3.6.	.5.4.2	22 April 1994 – Tutsis Attacked at Kabuye Hill	326
3.6.	.5.4.3	23 and 24 April 1994 – Tutsis Attacked at Kabuye Hill, Transportation of Attackers and Distribution of Weapons	
3	3.6.5.4.3.	1 Transportation of Attackers	329
3	3.6.5.4.3.	2 Distribution of Weapons	331
3	3.6.5.4.3.	3 Attacks of 23 and 24 April 1994	334
3	3.6.5.4.3.	4 Murder of Witness TW's Uncle	338
3	3.6.5.4.3.	5 Conclusion on Indictment Paragraph 6.32	338
3.6.6	IRST N	Massacre, 21 April 1994	338
3.6.6.	1 Intro	oduction	338
3.6.6.2	2 Prel	iminary Issues	339
3.6.6.	3 Evic	lence	340
3.6.6.4	4 Deli	berations	342
3.6.7	Tumba	Secteur Abductions and Killings, 21 April 1994.	344
3.6.7.	1 Intro	oduction	344
3.6.7.2	2 Prel	iminary Issues	345
3.6.8	Kabako	bwa Massacres, 21-24 April 1994	346
3.6.8.	1 Intro	oduction	346
3.6.8.2	2 Prel	iminary Issues	349
3.6.8.	3 Evic	lence	353
3.6.8.4	4 Deli	berations	395
3.6.	.8.4.1	Evidence Regarding False Testimony	396
3.6.	.8.4.2	Kanyabashi's Alleged Role in Ordering the Tutsi Refugees to Go to Kabakobwa	397
3	3.6.8.4.2.	1 Kanyabashi's Alleged Presence at Rango Market on 21 April 1994	398
3	3.6.8.4.2.	2 Kanyabashi's Alleged Speech at Rango Market on 21 April 1994	400
3	3.6.8.4.2.	3 Directives Attributed to Kanyabashi	401
3	3.6.8.4.2.	4 Allegation that Kanyabashi Recited a Kinyarwanda Proverb in Rwinuma Cellule	403
3	3.6.8.4.2.	5 Defence Theory that Refugees Were Travelling to Burundi	404
3.6.	.8.4.3	The Morning of 22 April 1994	405
3	3.6.8.4.3.	1 Intention to Kill Tutsis	405
3	3.6.8.4.3.	2 Preparation for the Attack	406
3.6.	.8.4.4	The Attack on 22 April 1994.	408
3	3.6.8.4.4.	1 Kanyabashi's Presence and Alleged Role	408

3.6.	.8.4.4.2 Involvement of Ngoma <i>Commune</i> Police in the Kabakob	wa Attack408
3.6.	.8.4.4.3 Involvement of <i>Interahamwe</i>	415
3.6.	.8.4.4.4 Nteziryayo's Alleged Role	415
3.6.8.4	4.5 The Killings on 23 April 1994	417
3.6.8.5	Conclusion	419
3.6.9 N	Nkubi Secteur Office Meeting, 24 April 1994	420
3.6.9.1	Introduction	420
3.6.9.2	Preliminary Issues	420
3.6.9.3	Evidence	422
3.6.9.4	Deliberations	423
3.6.10 K	Killing of Rukimbira, Around 22-24 April 1994	424
3.6.10.1	Introduction	424
3.6.10.2	Preliminary issues	425
3.6.10.3	Evidence	425
3.6.10.4	Deliberations	429
3.6.11 <i>G</i>	Groupe Scolaire Attacks, April 1994	430
3.6.11.1	Introduction	430
3.6.11.2	Preliminary Issues	431
3.6.12 N	Augusa Commune Office Meeting, 22 April 1994	432
3.6.12.1	Introduction	432
3.6.12.2	Preliminary Issues	433
3.6.13 N	Mutunda Stadium Meeting, 18-19 April 1994, and Killings, 25-27 A	pril 1994433
3.6.13.1	Introduction	433
3.6.13.2	Preliminary Issues	435
3.6.13.3	Evidence	437
3.6.13.4	Deliberations	446
3.6.13	3.4.1 Meeting at Mutunda Stadium, Around 18 April 1994	446
3.6.13	3.4.2 Killing of Tutsis at Mutunda Stadium, Around 25-27 April 1	994447
3.6.14 M	Meetings After Security Committee Press Release, 26-28 April 1994	450
3.6.14.1	Introduction	450
3.6.14.2	Preliminary Issues	451
3.6.14.3	Evidence	454
3.6.14.4	Deliberations	465
3.6.14	Implementation of the Interim Government's "Pacification Issuance of Press Releases, 25 and 27 April 1994	
3.6.14	1.4.2 Meetings in Butare, 26, 27 and 28 April 1994	468
3.6.15 N	Ngoma Parish Church Massacre, Late April 1994	471
3.6.15.1	Introduction	471
3.6.15.2	Preliminary Issues	472
3.6.15.3	Evidence	474

3.6.15.4 Deliberations	480
3.6.16 Matyazo Clinic, Late April 1994	485
3.6.16.1 Introduction	485
3.6.16.2 Preliminary Issues	487
3.6.16.3 Evidence	488
3.6.16.4 Deliberations	504
3.6.17 Butare University Hospital, April – May 1994	512
3.6.17.1 Introduction	512
3.6.17.2 Preliminary Issues	513
3.6.17.3 Evidence	514
3.6.17.4 Deliberations	520
3.6.18 Butare University Hospital – Kanyabashi	521
3.6.18.1 Introduction	521
3.6.18.2 Preliminary Issues	522
3.6.18.3 Evidence	522
3.6.18.4 Deliberations	523
3.6.19 Butare <i>Préfecture</i> Office ("BPO"), April – June 1994	523
3.6.19.1 Introduction	523
3.6.19.2 Preliminary Issues	525
3.6.19.3 Evidence	531
3.6.19.3.1 Prosecution Evidence	531
3.6.19.3.2 Defence Evidence	581
3.6.19.3.2.1 Alibi Evidence – Nyiramasuhuko	595
3.6.19.3.2.2 Alibi Evidence – Ntahobali	614
3.6.19.4 Deliberations	622
3.6.19.4.1 Nyiramasuhuko's Alibis	622
3.6.19.4.1.1 12 April to Early June 1994 – Murambi	
3.6.19.4.1.2 Admitted Presence in Butare – Hotel Ihuliro	625
3.6.19.4.1.3 Early June to 11 June 1994 – Flight from Gitarama to Gisenyi	627
3.6.19.4.1.3.1 1-3 June 1994	627
3.6.19.4.1.3.2 4-6 June 1994	629
3.6.19.4.1.3.3 7-10 June 1994	631
3.6.19.4.1.4 11-19 June 1994	632
3.6.19.4.1.5 20-21 June 1994 – Kigali	633
3.6.19.4.1.6 Summary of Nyiramasuhuko Alibi Evaluation	634
3.6.19.4.2 Ntahobali's Alibis	634
3.6.19.4.2.1 Late April and Early May 1994 Alibi	635
3.6.19.4.2.2 Alibi Starting 26 or 27 May 1994	636
3.6.19.4.2.3 Alibi – Nighttime Spent at Hotel Ihuliro (Generator)	638

3.6.19.4.3 General Overview of Evidence	.640
3.6.19.4.4 28 April 1994 – Abduction of 30 Tutsi Refugees	.643
3.6.19.4.5 End of April or Early May 1994 – Witness QY	.644
3.6.19.4.6 Mid- to End of May 1994 – Rape and Abduction of Refugees by Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko, <i>Interahamwe</i> and Soldiers	.647
3.6.19.4.6.1 Attacks 7 and 11 Days Later	.652
3.6.19.4.7 End of May to Early June 1994 – Night of Three Attacks	.654
3.6.19.4.7.1 Testimony Relevant to This Time Period	.654
3.6.19.4.7.2 Identification of Ntahobali	.656
3.6.19.4.7.3 Identification of Nyiramasuhuko and Orders to Rape	.662
3.6.19.4.7.4 Abductions	.666
3.6.19.4.7.4.1 Three Specific Abductions – Mbasha's Wife, Trifina and Unnamed Woman	.669
3.6.19.4.7.4.2 Abduction of Mbasha's Wife	.670
3.6.19.4.7.4.3 Killing of a Woman Named Trifina	.672
3.6.19.4.7.4.4 Other Abductions at the BPO	.673
3.6.19.4.8 Mid-May Through June 1994 – Abducted Refugees Were Killed	.675
3.6.19.4.9 First Half of June 1994 – Additional Killings and Rape, Including Rape of Witness TA	677
3.6.19.4.9.1 Testimony Relevant to This Time Period	.677
3.6.19.4.9.2 First Half of June 1994 – Nyiramasuhuko's Order to Rape	.678
3.6.19.4.10 Number of Refugees Abducted and Killed	.683
3.6.19.4.11 Summary of Findings	.686
3.6.20 Butare <i>Préfecture</i> Office – Nsabimana	.687
3.6.20.1 Introduction	.687
3.6.20.2 Preliminary Issues	.688
3.6.20.3 Deliberations – Nsabimana	.693
3.6.20.3.1 Refugee Situation at the BPO	.693
3.6.20.3.2 Nsabimana's Knowledge of Attacks at the BPO	.693
3.6.20.3.3 Posting of Gendarmes or Soldiers	.695
3.6.21 Meetings at the Butare <i>Préfecture</i> Office, April – June 1994	.697
3.6.21.1 Introduction	.697
3.6.21.2 Preliminary Issues	.700
3.6.21.3 Evidence	.710
3.6.21.4 Deliberations	.717
3.6.22 Muganza Meetings, April – June 1994	.719
3.6.22.1 Introduction	.719
3.6.22.2 Preliminary Issues	.720
3.6.23 Hotel Ihuliro – Meetings and Roadblock, April 1994	.722
3.6.23.1 Introduction	.722
3.6.23.2 Preliminary Issues	.724

3.6.23.3 Evidence	729
3.6.23.4 Deliberations.	765
3.6.23.4.1 Meetings at Hotel Ihuliro	765
3.6.23.4.2 Mounting of the Roadblock Near Hotel Ihuliro	767
3.6.23.4.3 Ntahobali's Role at the Roadblock	769
3.6.23.4.4 Abduction, Confinement and Rape of Seven Tutsi Girls, Including Witness TN 21 and 25 April 1994	
3.6.23.4.5 Rape and Murder of a Tutsi Girl Near the Roadblock, Around 28 April 1994	773
3.6.23.4.6 Order to Kill Léopold Ruvurajabo at the Roadblock, 21 April 1994	774
3.6.23.4.7 Crimes Committed at the Roadblock	775
3.6.23.4.8 Nyiramasuhuko's Role at the Roadblock	776
3.6.24 Killing of Rwamukwaya Family, April 1994	777
3.6.24.1 Introduction	777
3.6.24.2 Preliminary Issues	777
3.6.24.3 Evidence	780
3.6.24.4 Deliberations	789
3.6.25 Actions at Roadblocks – Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, April 1994	794
3.6.25.1 Introduction	794
3.6.25.2 Preliminary Issues	795
3.6.25.3 Evidence	796
3.6.25.4 Deliberations	799
3.6.26 Actions at Roadblocks – Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Late April 1994	800
3.6.26.1 Introduction	800
3.6.26.2 Preliminary Issues.	801
3.6.26.3 Evidence	805
3.6.26.4 Deliberations	811
3.6.27 Tumba Secteur Killings, Late April 1994	815
3.6.27.1 Introduction	815
3.6.27.2 Preliminary Issues.	816
3.6.27.3 Evidence	817
3.6.27.4 Deliberations	821
3.6.28 Bishya Trading Centre, Late April 1994	824
3.6.28.1 Introduction	824
3.6.28.2 Preliminary Issues	824
3.6.29 Replacement of <i>Conseillers</i> , Late April 1994	825
3.6.29.1 Introduction	825
3.6.29.2 Preliminary Issues	826
3.6.29.3 Evidence	827
3.6.29.4 Deliberations.	828
3.6.30 Meetings with <i>Interahamwe</i> , 7 and 12 May 1994	830

3.6.30.1 Introduction	830
3.6.30.2 Preliminary Issues	833
3.6.31 Kamena Stadium Meeting, 10 May 1994	834
3.6.31.1 Introduction	834
3.6.31.2 Preliminary Issues	835
3.6.32 Security Council Meetings, 16 and 31 May 1994	838
3.6.32.1 Introduction	838
3.6.32.2 Preliminary Issues	840
VOLUME II	
3.6.33 Security Council Meeting, 20 May 1994	846
3.6.33.1 Introduction	846
3.6.33.2 Preliminary Issues	847
3.6.34 The Tour of Meetings in the Border <i>Communes</i> , May – June 1994	847
3.6.34.1 Introduction	847
3.6.34.2 Preliminary Issues	849
3.6.34.3 Evidence	857
3.6.34.3.1 Ntyazo <i>Commune</i> Meeting, 22 May 1994	857
3.6.34.3.2 Kirarambogo, Muganza Commune Meeting, 23 May 1994	862
3.6.34.3.3 Muyaga Commune Meeting, Around Mid-June 1994	869
3.6.34.3.4 Kibayi Commune Meeting, Mid- to Late June 1994	
3.6.34.4 Deliberations	
3.6.34.4.1 Ntyazo <i>Commune</i> Meeting, 22 May 1994	
3.6.34.4.2 Kirarambogo, Muganza <i>Commune</i> Meeting, 23 May 1994	
3.6.34.4.3 Muyaga <i>Commune</i> Meeting, Around Mid-June 1994	
3.6.34.4.4 Kibayi Commune Meeting, Mid- to Late June 1994	
3.6.35 Megaphone Announcements and Directives, Late May and June 1994	
3.6.35.1 Introduction	
3.6.35.2 Preliminary Issues	
3.6.35.3 Cemetery Meeting – Kanyabashi and Nsabimana, Late May to Early June 1994	
3.6.35.3.1 Evidence	
3.6.35.3.2 Deliberations	
3.6.35.4 Megaphone Announcements – Kanyabashi, May and June 1994	
3.6.35.4.1 Evidence	
3.6.35.4.2 Deliberations	
3.6.35.4.2.1 Megaphone Announcement in Butare Town, Late May 1994	
3.6.35.4.2.2 Megaphone Announcement in Butare Town, June 1994	
3.6.35.4.2.3 Killings After the Megaphone Announcements, May and June 1994	
3.6.36 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May to Early June 1994	939

3.6.36.1 Introduction	939
3.6.36.2 Preliminary Issues	940
3.6.36.3 Evidence	943
3.6.36.4 Deliberations	963
3.6.36.4.1 Timing and Reason for the Transfer of Refugees to the EER	964
3.6.36.4.2 Number and Ethnicity of Refugees Affected at the EER	965
3.6.36.4.3 Events at the EER	967
3.6.36.4.3.1 Ntahobali's Alibi	967
3.6.36.4.3.2 Involvement of <i>Interahamwe</i> and Ntahobali	967
3.6.36.4.3.3 Involvement of Soldiers	970
3.6.36.4.3.4 Killings at the EER	971
3.6.36.4.3.5 Rapes at the EER	972
3.6.36.4.3.6 Conclusion	974
3.6.36.4.4 Nsabimana's Involvement in the EER Events	974
3.6.36.4.5 Nyiramasuhuko's Involvement in the EER Events	975
3.6.36.4.6 Kanyabashi's Involvement in the EER Events	975
3.6.37 Gitarama Meeting, Late May 1994	975
3.6.37.1 Introduction	975
3.6.37.2 Preliminary Issues	976
3.6.38 Hotel Ibis and Hotel Faucon Killings, May and June 1994	977
3.6.38.1 Introduction	977
3.6.38.2 Preliminary Issues	977
3.6.38.3 Evidence	979
3.6.38.4 Deliberations	987
3.6.39 Killing of Former <i>Conseiller</i> Vincent Nkulikiyinka, May and June 1994	990
3.6.39.1 Introduction	990
3.6.39.2 Preliminary Issues	990
3.6.40 Transfer of Refugees to Nyange, Early June 1994	991
3.6.40.1 Introduction	991
3.6.40.2 Preliminary Issues	992
3.6.40.3 Evidence	996
3.6.40.4 Deliberations	1019
3.6.40.4.1 Time Period of the Transfer	1019
3.6.40.4.2 Number of Buses and Sequence of Events Relating to the Transfer	1020
3.6.40.4.3 Ethnicity of Refugees Allegedly Transferred to Nyange	1024
3.6.40.4.4 Forced Boarding of the Buses	1024
3.6.40.4.5 Tutsi Refugees Attacked and Killed at Nyange on Day One	1026
3.6.40.4.5.1 Witness QBP's Presence at Nyange	1026
3.6.40.4.5.2 Events at Nyange	1028

3.6.40.	4.6 Number of Refugees Killed at Nyange	1030
3.6.40.	4.7 Nsabimana's Involvement	1031
3.6.40.	4.8 Kanyabashi's Involvement	1034
3.6.41 G	sagara Speech, 17 June 1994	1035
3.6.41.1	Introduction	1035
3.6.41.2	Preliminary Issues	1036
3.6.42 N	eziryayo's Swearing-in Ceremony, 21 June 1994	1041
3.6.42.1	Introduction	1041
3.6.42.2	Preliminary Issues	1042
3.6.43 No	dayambaje's Swearing-in Ceremony and Subsequent Killings	1044
3.6.43.1	Introduction	1044
3.6.43.2	Preliminary Issues	1045
3.6.43.3	Evidence	1057
3.6.43.4	Deliberations	1105
3.6.44 A	oduction of Tutsi Women and Girls, June 1994	1122
3.6.44.1	Introduction	1122
3.6.44.2	Preliminary Issues	1123
3.6.44.3	Evidence	1124
3.6.44.4	Deliberations	1136
3.6.44.	4.1 Timing and Reason for the Abductions	1137
3.6.44.	4.2 Ndayambaje's Alleged Presence During the Abductions	1139
3.6.45 Ev	vacuation of Tutsi Orphans, Mid-June 1994	1145
3.6.45.1	Introduction	1145
3.6.45.2	Preliminary Issues	1146
3.6.45.3	Evidence	1148
3.6.45.4	Deliberations	1167
3.6.46 G	kore Secteur Meeting, Late June 1994.	1172
3.6.46.1	Introduction	1172
3.6.46.2	Preliminary Issues	1173
3.6.46.3	Evidence	1176
3.6.46.4	Deliberations	1180
3.6.47 D	stribution of Condoms, June 1994	1182
3.6.47.1	Introduction	1182
3.6.47.2	Preliminary Issues	1184
3.6.47.3	Evidence	1185
3.6.47.4	Deliberations	1192
3.6.48 Ra	ingo Forest, June 1994	1197
3.6.48.1	Introduction	1197
3.6.48.2	Preliminary Issues	1199

3.6.48.3 Evidence	1202
3.6.48.4 Deliberations	1218
3.6.48.4.1 Time Period of the Transfer	1218
3.6.48.4.2 Number of Refugees Transported to Rango Forest	1219
3.6.48.4.3 Whether the Transfer Was Forceful	1221
3.6.48.4.4 Events at Rango.	1222
3.6.48.4.5 Involvement of the Accused	1227
Training and Arming the Population, Roadblocks and Civil Defence	1229
3.7.1 Training by Kanyabashi	1229
3.7.1.1 Introduction	1229
3.7.1.2 Preliminary Issues	1230
3.7.1.3 Evidence	1232
3.7.1.4 Deliberations	1238
3.7.2 Training by Nteziryayo	1242
3.7.2.1 Introduction	1242
3.7.2.2 Preliminary Issues	1242
3.7.2.3 Evidence	1247
3.7.2.4 Deliberations	1250
3.7.3 Nteziryayo's Words to Recruits at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma <i>Commune</i>	1252
3.7.3.1 Introduction	1252
3.7.3.2 Preliminary Issues	1252
3.7.4 Training by Ndayambaje	1253
3.7.4.1 Introduction	1253
3.7.4.2 Preliminary Issues	1254
3.7.4.3 Evidence	1256
3.7.4.4 Deliberations	1257
3.7.5 Weapons Distribution by Kanyabashi	1258
3.7.5.1 Introduction	1258
3.7.5.2 Preliminary Issues	1259
3.7.5.3 Evidence	1262
3.7.5.4 Deliberations	1265
3.7.6 Weapons Distribution by Nteziryayo	1268
3.7.6.1 Introduction	1268
3.7.6.2 Preliminary Issues	1268
3.7.6.3 Weapons Distribution at Kibilizi Secteur, Mugusa Commune	1272
3.7.6.3.1 Evidence	1272
3.7.6.3.2 Deliberations	1275
3.7.6.4 Weapons Distribution at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma <i>Commune</i> , Early June 1994	1277
3.7.6.4.1 Evidence	1277

3.7.6.4.2 Deliberations	1280
3.7.7 Weapons Distribution by Ndayambaje	1281
3.7.7.1 Introduction	1281
3.7.7.2 Muganza Commune Office in Remera, 7 April 1994	1282
3.7.7.3 Muganza Commune Office, June 1994	1283
3.7.7.4 Weapons Distribution by Soldiers Under the Control of Ndayambaje	1284
3.7.8 Weapons Distribution by Nsabimana	1284
3.7.8.1 Introduction	1284
3.7.8.2 Preliminary Issues	1285
3.7.9 Roadblocks – Overview	1286
3.7.9.1 Introduction	1286
3.7.9.2 Preliminary Issues	1287
3.7.9.3 Evidence	1287
3.7.9.4 Deliberations	1301
3.7.9.4.1 Location of Roadblocks and Presence of Soldiers, <i>Interahamwe</i> and Civilians	1301
3.7.9.4.2 Targeting and Killing at Roadblocks	1304
3.7.10 Civil Defence	1309
3.7.10.1 Introduction	1309
3.7.10.2 Preliminary Issues	1310
3.7.10.3 Evidence	1313
3.7.10.4 Deliberations	1338
3.7.10.4.1 Enemy/Accomplices	1339
3.7.10.4.2 Beginning of Civil Defence	1341
3.7.10.4.3 Financing of Civil Defence	1342
3.7.10.4.4 Leadership of Civil Defence	1344
CHAPTER IV: LEGAL FINDINGS	1348
4.1 Criminal Responsibility	1348
4.1.1 Article 6 (1) of the Statute	1348
4.1.2 Article 6 (3) of the Statute	1349
4.1.2.1 Notice of Alleged Subordinates	1350
4.1.2.1.1 Nyiramasuhuko	1350
4.1.2.1.2 Ntahobali	1353
4.1.2.1.3 Nsabimana	1354
4.1.2.1.4 Nteziryayo	1355
4.1.2.1.5 Kanyabashi	1356
4.1.2.1.6 Ndayambaje	1357
4.1.2.2 Superior-Subordinate Relationships	1357
4.1.3 Cumulative Convictions	1359

1.2	Genoc	ide	1359
4	1.2.1 Co	onspiracy to Commit Genocide	.1359
	4.2.1.1	Introduction	.1359
	4.2.1.2	Law	.1360
	4.2.1.3	Preliminary Issues.	.1360
	4.2.1.4	Deliberations	.1362
	4.2.1.4	.1 Nyiramasuhuko	.1362
	4.2.1.4	.2 Ntahobali	.1365
	4.2.1.4	.3 Nsabimana	.1366
	4.2.1.4	.4 Nteziryayo	.1369
	4.2.1.4	.5 Kanyabashi	.1370
	4.2.1.4	.6 Ndayambaje	.1372
	4.2.1.5	Conclusion	.1374
4	1.2.2 Ge	enocide	.1374
	4.2.2.1	Introduction	.1374
	4.2.2.2	Law	.1374
	4.2.2.3	Deliberations	.1375
	4.2.2.3	.1 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994	.1375
	4.2.2.3	.2 Removal of <i>Préfet</i> Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of <i>Préfet</i> Nsabimana, 17-19 April 1994	.1375
	4.2.2.3	.3 Mugombwa Church Massacres, 20-21 April 1994	.1378
	4.2.2.3	.4 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994	.1380
	4.2.2.3	.5 IRST Massacre, 21 April 1994	.1383
	4.2.2.3	.6 Kabakobwa Hill, 21-24 April 1994	.1384
	4.2.2.3	.7 Mutunda Stadium Killings, Around 25-27 April 1994	.1389
	4.2.2.3	.8 Save Roadblock, April 1994	.1389
	4.2.2.3	.9 Matyazo Clinic, Late April 1994	.1389
	4.2.2.3	.10 Ngoma Parish Church Massacre, Late April 1994	.1390
	4.2.2.3	.11 Hotel Ihuliro Roadblock, Late April 1994	.1390
	4.2.2.3	.12 Rwamukwaya Family, Around 29-30 April 1994	.1394
	4.2.2.3	.13 Butare <i>Préfecture</i> Office ("BPO"), End of April – First Half of June 1994	.1395
	4.2.2.3	.14 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994	.1407
	4.2.2.3	.15 Announcements by Megaphone, May and June 1994	.1411
	4.2.2.3	.16 Transfer of Refugees to Nyange, Early June 1994	.1411
	4.2.2.3	.17 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994	1412
	4.2.2.3	.18 Rango Forest, June 1994	1413
	4.2.2.3	.19 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994	1413
	4.2.2.3	.20 Border Meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi Communes, Mid- to Late June 1994	.1414
	4.2.2.3	.21 Ndayambaje's Swearing-In Ceremony and the Ensuing Abduction of Tutsi Girls, 22 June 1994	.1414

4.2.2.3.22 Training, Arming and Civil Defence	1416
4.2.2.4 Conclusion	1417
4.2.3 Complicity in Genocide	1418
4.2.3.1 Introduction	1418
4.2.3.2 Law	1418
4.2.3.3 Deliberations and Conclusion	1419
4.2.4 Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide	1419
4.2.4.1 Introduction	1419
4.2.4.2 Law	1419
4.2.4.3 Deliberations	1420
4.2.4.3.1 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994	1420
4.2.4.3.2 Removal of <i>Préfet</i> Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of <i>Préfet</i> Nsabiman 17-19 April 1994	
4.2.4.3.3 Mugombwa Church Massacres, 20-21 April 1994	1421
4.2.4.3.4 Kabakobwa Hill, 21-24 April 1994	1422
4.2.4.3.5 Save Roadblock, April 1994	1422
4.2.4.3.6 Announcements by Megaphone, May and June 1994	1423
4.2.4.3.7 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994	1423
4.2.4.3.8 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994	1424
4.2.4.3.9 Border Meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi Communes, Mid- to Late June 1994	1424
4.2.4.3.10 Ndayambaje's Swearing-in Ceremony and the Ensuing Abduction of Tutsi Gir 22 June 1994	
4.2.4.4 Conclusion	1426
4.3 Crimes Against Humanity	1427
4.3.1 Introduction	1427
4.3.2 Widespread and Systematic Attack	1427
4.3.3 Extermination	1428
4.3.3.1 Introduction	1428
4.3.3.2 Law	1429
4.3.3.3 Deliberations and Conclusion	1429
4.3.4 Murder	1431
4.3.4.1 Introduction	1431
4.3.4.2 Law	1431
4.3.4.3 Cumulative Convictions	1431
4.3.4.4 Deliberations and Conclusion	1432
4.3.5 Rape	1432
4.3.5.1 Introduction	1432
4.3.5.2 Law	1432
4.3.5.3 Deliberations	1433
4.3.5.3.1 Hotel Ihuliro Roadblock, Late April 1994	1433

4.3.5.3	3.2 Butare <i>Préfecture</i> Office ("BPO"), End of April – First Half of June 1994	1434
4.3.5.3	3.3 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994	1434
4.3.5.3	3.4 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994	1434
4.3.5.4	Conclusion	1435
4.3.6 P	Persecution	1435
4.3.6.1	Introduction	1435
4.3.6.2	Law	1435
4.3.6.3	Deliberations	1436
4.3.6.3	3.1 Killings	1436
4.3.6.3	3.2 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994	1437
4.3.6.3	3.3 Rango Forest, June 1994	1438
4.3.6.3	3.4 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994	1438
4.3.6.4	Conclusion	1439
4.3.7 O	Other Inhumane Acts	1439
4.3.7.1	Introduction	1439
4.3.7.2	Law	1439
4.3.7.3	Deliberations	1440
4.3.7.3	3.1 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994	1440
4.3.7.3	3.2 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994	1440
4.3.7.3	3.3 Rango Forest, June 1994	1442
4.3.7.3	3.4 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994	1442
4.3.7.4	Conclusion	1442
	us Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional col II Thereto	1442
4.4.1 Ir	ntroduction	1442
4.4.2 T	hreshold Elements	1443
4.4.2.1	Non-International Armed Conflict	1443
4.4.2.2	Nexus	1443
4.4.2.3	Victims	1445
4.4.3 V	Violence to Life, Health and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons	1445
4.4.3.1	Introduction	1445
4.4.3.2	Law	1445
4.4.3.3	Deliberations and Conclusion	1446
4.4.4 O	Outrages Upon Personal Dignity	1447
4.4.4.1	Introduction	1447
4.4.4.2	Law	1447
4.4.4.3	Deliberations and Conclusion	1448
HADTED W. V	VEDDICT	1.4.4.0

CHAPTER VI: SENTENCING		1453
6.1	Introduction	1453
6.2	Law	1453
6.3	Nyiramasuhuko	1455
6.3.1	Submissions	1455
6.3.2	Gravity of the Offences	1456
6.3.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1456
6.4	Ntahobali	1457
6.4.1	Submissions	1457
6.4.2	Gravity of the Offences	1458
6.4.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1458
6.5	Nsabimana	1459
6.5.1	Submissions	1459
6.5.2	Gravity of the Offences	1460
6.5.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1460
6.6	Nteziryayo	1461
6.6.1	Submissions	1461
6.6.2	Gravity of the Offences	1462
6.6.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1462
6.7	Kanyabashi	1462
6.7.1	Submissions	1463
6.7.2	Gravity of the Offences	1464
6.7.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1464
6.8	Ndayambaje	1465
6.8.1	Submissions	1465
6.8.2	Gravity of the Offences	1466
6.8.3	Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances	1466
6.9	Conclusion	1467
6.10	Consequential Orders	1468
ANNEX A	A: PROCEDURAL HISTORY	1469
1.1	Pre-Trial Proceedings	1469
1.1.1	Arrest Through Initial Appearance	1469
1.1	.1.1 Joseph Kanyabashi (1995 – 1999)	1469
1.1	.1.2 Élie Ndayambaje (1995 – 1999)	1470
	.1.3 Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali (1997 – 1999)	1471
1.1	.1.4 Sylvain Nsabimana and Alphonse Nteziryayo (1997 – 1998)	
1.1	.1.5 Nyiramasuhuko et al. – Joinder of Indictments	1475

1.2 Tria	l Proceedings	1479
1.2.1	The Prosecution Phase	1479
1.2.2	Replacement of Judge Maqutu	1485
1.2.3	Resumption of Proceedings	1486
1.2.4	The Defence Phase	1493
1.2.4.1	Nyiramasuhuko Defence Case (31 January 2005 – 24 November 2005)	1493
1.2.4.2	Ntahobali Defence Case (28 November 2005 – 26 June 2006)	1499
1.2.4.3	Nsabimana Defence Case (27 June 2006 – 28 November 2006)	1502
1.2.4.4	Nteziryayo Defence Case (4 December 2006 – 9 July 2007)	1505
1.2.4.5	Kanyabashi Defence Case (10 July 2007 – 20 May 2008)	1508
1.2.4.6	Ndayambaje Defence Case (20 May 2008 – 2 December 2008)	1513
1.3 Post	-Trial Proceedings	1516
ANNEX B: C	ITED MATERIALS AND DEFINED TERMS	1519
1.1 Cite	d Materials	1519
1.1.1	Jurisprudence	1519
1.1.1.1	ICTR	1519
1.1.1.2	ICTY	1526
1.1.1.3	ICC	1531
1.1.1.4	International Military Tribunal	1531
1.1.1.5	Nyiramasuhuko et al. Trial Chamber Decisions and Orders	1531
1.1.2	Other Materials	1539
1.1.2.1	Conventions	1539
1.1.2.2	United Nations Documents	1539
1.2 Defi	ned Terms and Abbreviations	1540
ANNEX C: IN	IDICTMENTS	1548

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview of the Case¹

- 1. Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje are alleged to have held positions of authority in the *préfecture* of Butare, during 1994, and to have helped both to formulate and implement a Government plan to massacre the Tutsi population and moderate Hutus in Butare.² Each Accused is charged with individual responsibility for conspiracy to commit genocide, genocide (or alternatively, complicity in genocide), direct and public incitement to commit genocide, several crimes against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II. Each is also alleged to have had superior responsibility with respect to some of the counts. All six Accused have pled not guilty to the charges against them.
- 2. Butare *préfecture* is located in the southern part of Rwanda; it borders Burundi.³ Butare was considered to be the intellectual capital of Rwanda.⁴ Many nationally renowned institutes, such as educational institutions and military facilities, were situated in Ngoma, a *commune* of Butare.⁵ Butare's population also had the highest percentage of Tutsis in the country and Jean-Baptiste Habyalimana, the Butare *préfet*, was Rwanda's only Tutsi *préfet* until he was replaced by Nsabimana, a Hutu *préfet*, around 19 April 1994.⁶
- 3. The Prosecution alleges that the six Accused contributed to the magnitude of the massacres in Butare by forming an alliance that used state powers to ensure the destruction of Tutsis in the *préfecture*. Unlike the rest of Rwanda, the genocide in Butare did not start immediately after the death of President Habyarimana on 6 April 1994. By mid-April 1994, there were some killings in a couple of the 20 *communes* in Butare, but the violence was not at the same level as in the rest of the country. The Prosecution theory is that the genocide in Butare started two weeks later than in the rest of the country, after careful planning and after the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana.
- 4. The Defence disputes the Prosecution's theory on various grounds. Defence Counsel have generally challenged the credibility of Prosecution evidence, claiming misuse of expert evidence and citing purported contradictions, omissions and lies in witnesses' testimonies. The Defence has complained of multiple alleged defects in the Indictments. Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Ndayambaje have raised alibis in relation to certain allegations. Several

¹ This Judgement is rendered pursuant to Rule 88 (C) of the Rules. An oral summary was pronounced on 24 June 2011. The written version, consisting of two volumes, was filed on 14 July 2011 after the completion of the editorial process. A partially dissenting opinion is being filed separately.

² Paras. 4.2-4.6 and 5.1 of each of the Indictments (not in support of counts).

³ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

⁴ T. 19 September 2007 pp. 64-65 (Reyntjens).

⁵ T. 20 September 2007 p. 9 (Reyntjens).

⁶ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 33-34 (Des Forges); T. 28 June 2004 pp. 64, 75 (Guichaoua); T. 20 September 2007 p. 25 (Reyntjens).

⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 1, para. 2.

⁸ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 1994 p. 18.

⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 2, para. 6.

¹⁰ T. 8 June 2004 p. 34 (Des Forges).

Accused holding official positions, in particular Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, have alleged that the authorities were not in control of their administration and staff, not in a position to stop the massacres, and not able to resign their positions. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali alleged that the context of RPF attacks in Rwanda since 1 October 1990 explains the problems faced in 1994. ¹¹ Ntahobali has raised identification issues. ¹²

1.2 The Tribunal and Its Jurisdiction

- 5. The Tribunal was established by the United Nations Security Council on 8 November 1994. The Security Council acted pursuant to Chapter VII of the United Nations Charter after requesting and considering reports by the Special Rapporteur for Rwanda of the United Nations Commission on Human Rights and the United Nations Secretary-General. 15
- 6. The Tribunal is governed by the Statute, which is annexed to United Nations Security Council Resolution 955, and by the Rules, adopted by the judges of the Tribunal pursuant to Article 14 of the Statute.
- 7. Pursuant to the Statute, the Tribunal has authority to prosecute persons responsible for serious violations of international humanitarian law committed in the territory of Rwanda and Rwandan citizens responsible for such violations committed in the territory of neighbouring states. The Tribunal's temporal jurisdiction extends to a period beginning on 1 January 1994 and ending on 31 December 1994. The Tribunal has subject matter jurisdiction over the crimes of genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II. The Tribunal has personal jurisdiction over natural persons and concurrent jurisdiction with the national courts of all States.

1.3 The Accused

1.3.1 Pauline Nyiramasuhuko

8. Nyiramasuhuko was born in April 1946 in Rugara *cellule*, Ndora *secteur*, Ndora *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. During the events of 1994, Nyiramasuhuko served as Minister of Family and Women's Development under the Interim Government headed by Jean Kambanda. At that time, she resided in Kigali and regularly returned to Butare. ²²

²² T. 12 October 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 509; Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 2, para. 5.

¹² Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 96-190.

¹³ Security Council Resolution 955.

¹⁴ Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Rwanda, 13 October 1994.

¹⁵ Report of the Secretary-General on the Establishment of the Commission of Experts, 26 July 1994; Report of the Secretary-General on the Situation in Rwanda, 3 August 1994.

¹⁶ Article 1 of the Statute.

Articles 1, 7 of the Statute.

¹⁸ Articles 2-4 of the Statute.

¹⁹ Articles 5, 8 of the Statute.

²⁰ T. 10 October 2005 p. 5; T. 31 August 2005 p. 3 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 508. The Chamber notes that Nyiramasuhuko also refers to the ministry as the "Ministry of Family and Women Affairs": *see* T. 1 September 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Nyiramasuhuko had been a Government minister since the creation of the first "power sharing government" on 16 April 1992.²³

- 9. Upon completion of her studies in 1964, Nyiramasuhuko worked in a social welfare centre in Cyangugu *préfecture* for three months.²⁴ Subsequently, she trained for four months in Israel, in the field of community development and adult literacy.²⁵ Upon her return, she continued working as a trainer in Gitarama *préfecture*.²⁶ From Gitarama, she was transferred to Kibungo, where she was involved in the same training in 1966 and early 1967.²⁷ She became inspector of social development centres and operated from her office at the Ministry of Social Affairs in Kigali until 1968.²⁸
- 10. After her marriage in 1968, Nyiramasuhuko left Kigali to live in Butare with her husband, Maurice Ntahobali. She was transferred to the Social Development Centre of Butare *préfecture*, located in Ngoma *commune*, where she worked as a trainer.²⁹ She gave birth to Shalom Ntahobali in 1970 while she was in Israel to take part in a seminar for African women leaders.³⁰ Around 1972, she taught the wives of soldiers.³¹ She worked in social welfare until 1973.³² In 1974, she was transferred to the Ministry of Health's personnel department and worked there until 1976, when she returned to Butare to follow her husband who had been appointed Deputy Director of the IPN.³³ She continued to work with the Ministry of Health, but in the Butare health region, until her husband was transferred to Kigali upon his appointment as a Minister in March 1981.³⁴ Nyiramasuhuko and her children joined him at the end of that year.³⁵
- 11. In 1982 or 1983, Nyiramasuhuko resumed her studies, enrolling in a training course on public accounts. In November 1985, she obtained a diploma in social welfare, enabling her to enrol in university. In 1986, she began her studies in law at the Butare campus of the National University of Rwanda, having moved to Butare from Kigali. She obtained her *baccalauréat* in law after two years. Nyiramasuhuko submitted an application for a scholarship to continue the "second cycle" but it was denied. She held a position in the Ministry of Interior in Butare from late 1990 or early 1991 until April 1992, where she was in charge of the secretariat of the MRND *préfecture* committee. On 16 April 1992, she was appointed

²³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 508.

²⁴ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 16-17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²⁵ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 17-19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²⁶ T. 31 August 2005 p. 19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²⁷ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 20-26 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²⁸ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 20-26 (Nyiramasuhuko).

²⁹ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 30-31 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁰ T. 31 August 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³¹ T. 31 August 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³² T. 31 August 2005 p. 19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³³ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 33-35, 38 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁴ T. 31 August 2005 p. 39 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁵ T. 31 August 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁶ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 46, 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁷ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 52, 59 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁸ T. 1 September 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko).

³⁹ T. 1 September 2005 p. 12 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁰ T. 1 September 2005 pp. 16-17, 20 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Minister of Family and Women's Development in the first multi-party government of Prime Minister Nsengiyaremye on 16 April 1992.⁴¹ When she was appointed minister, she was elected as a MRND National Committee member.⁴² She represented Butare *préfecture*.⁴³

- 12. Nyiramasuhuko left Rwanda on 18 July 1994.⁴⁴
- 13. The Prosecution submitted an initial Indictment against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali on 26 May 1997. ⁴⁵ The Indictment was confirmed on 29 May 1997. ⁴⁶
- 14. On 18 July 1997, Nyiramasuhuko was arrested in Kenya and was transferred to Arusha, Tanzania.⁴⁷ At her initial appearance on 3 September 1997, Nyiramasuhuko pled not guilty to all five counts against her.⁴⁸
- 15. On 12 August 1999, after subsequent amendments which added counts to the Indictment, Nyiramasuhuko pled not guilty to all 11 charges against her, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 4), crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 9), and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Counts 10 and 11).⁴⁹
- 16. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together.⁵⁰
- 17. On 1 November 2000, Trial Chamber II ordered the Prosecution to amend the Indictment following the Chamber's Decision on a preliminary motion.⁵¹ On 1 March 2001, the Prosecution filed the Amended Indictment.⁵² Nyiramasuhuko did not make a further appearance because the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment of 1 March 2001 did not contain additional counts, compared to the 12 August 1999 Indictment.

⁴¹ T. 1 September 2005 pp. 34, 36-37 (Nyiramasuhuko); Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 803.

⁴² T. 6 September 2005 p. 58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴³ T. 6 September 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁴ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 56. The Chamber notes the Closing Brief erroneously states 18 April 1994 in both the French and English versions.

⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Indictment, 26 May 1997 (The initial Indictment contained seven counts, the first five against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and the last two against Ntahobali only).

⁴⁶ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision to Confirm the Indictment (TC), 29 May 1997.

⁴⁷ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 1.

⁴⁸ T. 8 June 2000 p. 23 (Prosecution Oral Motion); T. 3 September 1997 pp. 32-35 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-21-T).

⁴⁹ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 24-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21).

⁵⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999.

⁵¹ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000; Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000.

⁵² Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Extension of Time Within Which to Comply With Court Order to File an Indictment (TC), 2 March 2001.

1.3.2 Arsène Shalom Ntahobali

- 18. As indicated above, Ntahobali is the son of Nyiramasuhuko and Maurice Ntahobali. He was born in 1970 in Israel.⁵³ On 6 April 1994, Ntahobali was both a student and part-time manager of Hotel Ihuliro.⁵⁴
- 19. Ntahobali attended primary school first in Butare at the *Groupe Scolaire* complex and then in Kigali.⁵⁵ At the secondary school level, Ntahobali studied at *Groupe Scolaire* in Kigali for four years, at *Saint-André* College in Nyarugenge *commune* of Kigali for one year, and at ESAPAG in Gitwe, Muramba *commune*, for two years.⁵⁶ He started his higher education at Rwanda National University during the 1992-1993 academic year.⁵⁷ He registered in the Faculty of Applied Sciences for the 1993-1994 academic year.⁵⁸
- 20. In 1993, Ntahobali assisted with the final building work of Hotel Ihuliro.⁵⁹ Hotel Ihuliro was located in Mamba *cellule*, Butare-*ville secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, Butare *préfecture*.⁶⁰ Ntahobali stayed with his parents in their Buye *secteur* house until he married and moved first to a house in Cyarwa *secteur* and then to Hotel Ihuliro.⁶¹
- 21. Ntahobali got married in early 1993.⁶² During the events of 1994, Ntahobali had a young baby and his wife was pregnant.⁶³ Ntahobali, his wife and their child left Butare on 3 July 1994 and left Rwanda on 18 July 1994. He stayed for a few days in what was then Zaire before moving to Nairobi. In early 1995, Ntahobali returned to Zaire.⁶⁴
- 22. The Prosecution submitted an initial Indictment against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali on 26 May 1997. 65 The Indictment was confirmed on 29 May 1997. 66
- 23. On 24 July 1997, Ntahobali was arrested in Kenya and transferred to Arusha.⁶⁷ At his initial appearance on 17 October 1997, Ntahobali pled not guilty to all seven counts against him ⁶⁸
- 24. On 12 August 1999, after subsequent amendments added counts to the Indictment, Ntahobali pled not guilty to all 10 counts against him, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 3),

⁵³ T. 31 August 2005 p. 32; T. 1 June 2006 p. 30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁵⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 1, para. 1.

⁵⁵ T. 6 April 2006 p. 25 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁶ T. 6 April 2006 pp. 27-29 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁷ T. 6 April 2006 pp. 63-64 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁸ T. 12 April 2006 p. 6 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁹ T. 6 April 2006 pp. 64-65 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁰ T. 10 April 2006 p. 79 (Ntahobali).

⁶¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 3, para. 68.

⁶² T. 6 April 2006 pp. 64-65 (Ntahobali).

⁶³ T. 26 April 2006 p. 16 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁴ T. 27 April 2006 p. 3 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Indictment, 26 May 1997 (The initial Indictment contained seven counts, the first five against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and the last two against Ntahobali only).

⁶⁶ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision to Confirm the Indictment (TC), 29 May 1997.

⁶⁷ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 3.

⁶⁸ T. 17 October 1997 pp. 37-44.

crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 9), and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Counts 10 and 11). ⁶⁹

- 25. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. ⁷⁰
- 26. On 1 November 2000, Trial Chamber II ordered the Prosecution to amend the Indictment following the Chamber's Decision on a preliminary motion with respect to defects of substance and form in the Indictment.⁷¹ The Prosecution filed the amended Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment on 1 March 2001.⁷² Ntahobali did not make a further appearance because the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment did not contain additional counts, compared to the 12 August 1999 Indictment.

1.3.3 Sylvain Nsabimana

- 27. Nsabimana was born on 29 July 1951 in Mbazi commune, Butare préfecture. 73
- 28. Nsabimana attended the *Groupe Scolaire* primary school before spending the first three years of his secondary education at Marist Brothers School and the following four in the Agricultural Section in Butare. He later attended an agricultural academy in the Soviet Union where he specialised in agronomical studies, starting in September 1974. Nsabimana obtained his *maîtrise* degree in agronomy in the Soviet Union in June 1981.⁷⁴
- 29. In October 1981, Nsabimana was recruited by the National University of Rwanda as an assistant lecturer at the Faculty of Agronomy. At the end of 1984, he left Rwanda to pursue doctoral studies in Canada; he did not finish and returned to Rwanda in late 1986. Upon his return to Rwanda, Nsabimana worked as a maize biologist with the Birunga Place Project, managed by the Scientific Institute of Agronomic Research. In 1987, from January until around September, Nsabimana specialised in maize biology at an international institute in Mexico. In November or December 1988, Nsabimana resigned from the project and went to Denmark to study seed pathology at an institute affiliated with the Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University in Copenhagen. He returned to Rwanda in August or September 1989 with a further diploma. At the end of 1989, Nsabimana was in charge of the second phase of the DGB project, an agricultural development scheme for Butare with an office in Gishamvu. Towards the end of 1990, Nsabimana was in charge of the development of Busoro sous-

⁶⁹ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 24-28, 41-44.

⁷⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999

⁷¹ *Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali*, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000; *Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali*, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000.

⁷² *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Extension of Time Within Which to Comply with Court Order to File an Indictment (TC), 2 March 2001.

⁷³ T. 11 September 2006 p. 20 (Nsabimana). The Indictments allege that Nsabimana was born on 29 July 1953.

⁷⁴ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 27-28 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁵ T. 11 September 2006 p. 29 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁶ T. 11 September 2006 p. 30 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁷ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 30-31 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸ T. 11 September 2006 p. 31 (Nsabimana).

*préfecture.*⁷⁹ From April 1993 until April 1994, he was employed as a director of the Coffee Pilot Project in Kigali.⁸⁰

- 30. Nsabimana was a PSD Party member from the time of the party's creation. He headed the Mbazi section of the PSD in Butare *préfecture*. Following his relocation to Kigali, Nsabimana became head of the PSD in Kigali-rural *préfecture*. 81
- 31. Nsabimana served as *préfet* of Butare from 19 April until 17 June 1994, when he was replaced by Nteziryayo. 82 As *préfet*, Nsabimana permitted a BBC crew to video-tape scenes of the 1994 events depicting refugees at the *préfecture* office. 83
- 32. On 18 July 1997, Nsabimana was arrested in Kenya and transferred to Arusha,⁸⁴ pursuant to an order for transfer and provisional detention.⁸⁵
- 33. On 16 October 1997, the initial joint Indictment against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo was confirmed and an order was issued for Nsabimana's continued detention.⁸⁶
- 34. During his initial appearance on 24 October 1997, Nsabimana entered pleas of not guilty to all five counts against him.⁸⁷
- 35. After subsequent amendments to the Indictment, Nsabimana made a further appearance on the basis of the 12 August 1999 Indictment, which included additional counts against him. At this appearance on 13 August 1999, Nsabimana pled not guilty to each of the nine counts against him, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 4), crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 8), and serious violations of Article 3, common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Count 9).⁸⁸
- 36. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. 89

⁷⁹ T. 11 September 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 33-34 (Nsabimana).

⁸¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1937.

⁸² Paras. 4.1-4.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 6; T. 18 September 2006 p. 22; T. 20 September 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana).

⁸³ T. 10 October 2006 p. 33 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁴ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 3.

⁸⁵ Nsabimana, Order for Transfer and Provisional Detention (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis of the Rules) (TC), 16 July 1997; Nsabimana, Decision on the Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (F) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 14 August 1997; Nsabimana, Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (G) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 16 September 1997; Nsabimana, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Continued Detention (TC), 16 October 1997.

⁸⁶ Nsabimana, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Continued Detention (TC), 16 October 1997; Nteziryayo, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 16 October 1997.

⁸⁷ T. 24 October 1997 pp. 24-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-29).

⁸⁸ T. 13 August 1999 pp. 23-29 (French) (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-29).

⁸⁹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999.

1.3.4 Alphonse Nteziryayo

- 37. Nteziryayo was born on 26 August 1947 in Akagashuma *cellule*, Nyagahuru *secteur*, Kibayi *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. He married Consolée Uwamahoro in early 1990 and has four children. Ye Nteziryayo is a soldier by training.
- 38. Nteziryayo attended primary school from May 1953 until 1959 in Mugombwa Parish in Muganza *commune*, and secondary school from 1961 until 1965 at *École des Moniteurs* in Save in Butare *préfecture*. ⁹⁴ In 1960, he attended preparatory school in Bujumbura, Burundi, for one year. From 1965 until 1966, he taught at a school in Save in Shyanda *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. ⁹⁵ From November 1966 to July 1970, he studied human sciences before teaching at the *Collège Inférieur* in Cyangugu *préfecture*. ⁹⁶
- 39. In August 1971, Nteziryayo enrolled at the *École des Officiers*, the military officers' school in Kigali, where he trained for two years. Nteziryayo graduated on 1 July 1973; on the same day, he was appointed as a non-commissioned officer and became head of the platoon of the Military Police Company.⁹⁷
- 40. From July until November 1974, Nteziryayo undertook commando training in Belgium, where he was trained as a sports and physical education officer and where he attended para-commando training. In 1974, Nteziryayo also trained at the *École Supérieure Militaire* ("ESM"). In 1975, Nteziryayo undertook military police officer training and from June 1975 to December 1980 he was seconded to the *gendarmerie*. Between September 1975 and July 1976, he was trained at the *gendarmerie* school in Melun, France, where he attended courses on the maintenance and establishment of public order, the *gendarmerie* as an auxiliary force to the Department of Prosecutions, road safety, criminal law, and the Criminal Investigations Department in the judiciary.
- 41. When he assumed the rank of Captain in 1979, Nteziryayo also became a Criminal Investigations Officer. At the *gendarmerie* in Rwanda, he worked with the Law and Order Service, the Road Safety Service, the Crime Control Service, the Main Card Index Service, the Order Maintenance Section, and within various detachments in Kigali. From the end of May 1977 until the end of 1980, he was Chief of the *Fichier Central* (the central filing office) of the

⁹⁰ T. 14 May 2007 p. 9 (Nteziryayo).

⁹¹ T. 14 May 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).

⁹² T. 14 May 2007 p. 12 (Nteziryayo).

⁹³ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 20-21; T. 19 June 2007 p. 70; T. 20 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴ T. 14 May 2007 p. 12 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁵ T. 14 May 2007 p. 13 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶ T. 14 May 2007 p. 13 (Nteziryayo); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 128.

⁹⁷ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 14-16 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸ T. 14 May 2007 p. 16 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁹ T. 3 July 2007 p. 41 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁰ T. 14 May 2007 p. 16 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰¹ T. 14 May 2007 p. 16; T. 3 July 2007 pp. 44-45 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰² T. 3 July 2007 pp. 44-45 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰³ T. 13 June 2007 pp. 32-33 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁴ T. 14 May 2007 p. 23; T. 20 June 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).

Investigation Department, which gathered and recorded information on offences committed by anyone at the national level. 105

- 42. In December 1980, he was appointed Commander of the Military Police, a position he held until July 1984, ¹⁰⁶ having succeeded Colonel Théoneste Bagosora. ¹⁰⁷ Nteziryayo was the head of the specialised cell of the MRND, as Commander of the Military Police Unit. ¹⁰⁸
- 43. Between September 1984 and December 1985, Nteziryayo underwent training at the *École de Guerre*, a military academy in Paris. From January 1986 until April 1987, Nteziryayo was appointed head of Training and Operations of a defence battalion at Kanombe in Kigali *préfecture*. Between April 1987 and July 1989, Nteziryayo was Commander of the Mutara Company, stationed in the north-east of the country; from July 1989 until 26 October 1990, he was Commander of the Huye battalion, in Kibungo *préfecture*. 111
- 44. Nteziryayo was involved in the counter-attack between 6 and 18 October 1990, leading the Huye battalion in Kibungo against the RPF. On 18 October 1990, the Rwandan Armed Forces were defeated by the RPF in Mutara, Byumba *préfecture*. 113
- 45. On 26 October 1990, Nteziryayo was appointed Commander of the Butare Company at Ngoma Camp. 114 From April to September 1991, he was Company Commander of the Kibuye Company. In September 1991, he was appointed to the Ministry of Interior and Communal Development, where he was the Director of Communal Police matters until 17 June 1994, when he was appointed *préfet* of Butare. 115
- 46. On 20 June 1994, Nteziryayo received the official telegram appointing him *préfet* of Butare. On 3 July 1994, Nteziryayo left Butare town and headed south. 117
- 47. From 1984 until June 1994, Nteziryayo was a member of the National Olympics Committee of Rwanda and from 1992 until June 1994, he was President of the Athletics Federation of Rwanda and accompanied athletes to African and European countries for international competitions. 118

¹⁰⁵ T. 20 June 2007 pp. 43-45; T. 3 July 2007 pp. 46-47 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁶ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 23-24 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁷ T. 14 May 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 128; T. 20 June 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁸ T. 9 July 2007 p. 67 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 16, 24 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁰ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 16-17 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹¹ T. 14 May 2007 p. 17 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹² T. 14 May 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹³ T. 14 May 2007 p. 29; T. 4 July 2007 pp. 13, 15 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁴ T. 14 May 2007 p. 30; T. 20 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁵ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 19, 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 22-23, 25, 29 (Nteziryayo); T. 17 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana); T. 20 November 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana) (French).

¹¹⁷ T. 27 June 2007 pp. 56-57 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁸ T. 14 May 2007 p. 23; T. 15 May 2007 p. 4; T. 26 June 2007 pp. 16-17 (Nteziryayo).

- On 16 October 1997, the initial joint Indictment against both Nsabimana and 48. Nteziryayo was confirmed and a warrant of arrest was issued against Nteziryayo, addressed to the Government of Burkina Faso. 119
- 49. Nteziryayo was arrested in Burkina Faso on 24 April 1998 and transferred to Arusha on 21 May 1998. 120
- 50. During his initial appearance on 17 August 1998, Nteziryayo pled not guilty to all six counts against him. 121
- After subsequent amendments, Nteziryayo made a further appearance on the basis of the 12 August 1999 Indictment, which included additional counts against him. At his further appearance on 13 August 1999, Nteziryayo pled not guilty to all nine counts against him, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 4), crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 8), and serious violations of Article 3, Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Count 9). 122
- 52. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. 123

1.3.5 Joseph Kanyabashi

- 53. Joseph Kanyabashi was born in 1937 in Mpare secteur, Huye commune, Butare préfecture. 124 Kanyabashi served as bourgmestre of Ngoma commune in Butare préfecture from April 1974 until he left Rwanda in July 1994. 125 Kanyabashi joined the PSD after the advent of multi-party politics. 126 Kanyabashi's wife, Bernadette Kamanzi, is Tutsi. 127
- As Kanyabashi elected not to testify, less information is available on his background. He is the only Accused who did not testify.
- 55. Kanyabashi was arrested on 28 June 1995 in the Kingdom of Belgium. The initial Indictment against Kanyabashi was confirmed on 15 July 1996. Kanyabashi was transferred to Arusha on 8 November 1996. 130
- 56. On 29 November 1996, Kanyabashi made his initial appearance. He refused to enter a plea to any of the charges against him on the grounds that he lacked counsel of his choice. In

¹¹⁹ Nsabimana, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Continued Detention (TC), 16 October 1997; Nteziryayo, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 16 October 1997.

¹²⁰ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 2.

¹²¹ T. 17 August 1998 pp. 16-21 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-29).

¹²² T. 13 August 1999 pp. 23-29 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-29).

¹²³ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999.

¹²⁴ T. 29 November 1996 p. 6 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-15).

Paras. 4.1-4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹²⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 27 (according to Guichaoua, on 18 June 1991, the law on political parties was published, authorising, the introduction of multiparty politics); T. 25 June 2004 p. 44 (Guichaoua). ¹²⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 24.

¹²⁸ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 3.

¹²⁹ Kanyabashi, Decision Confirming the Indictment (TC), 15 July 1996.

¹³⁰ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 3.

default of any plea, the Trial Chamber entered pleas of not guilty to all five counts against him 131

- 57. Kanyabashi made a further initial appearance on the basis of the 12 August 1999 Indictment, which included additional counts against him. On 12 August 1999, Kanyabashi pled not guilty to all nine counts against him, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 4), crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 8), and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Count 9). 132
- 58. On 31 May 2000, Trial Chamber II ordered further amendments to the Indictment, in order to clarify certain portions of the Indictment. The Prosecution submitted Amended Indictments on 29 June 2000 and 2 November 2000. Amendment on 8 June 2001, Trial Chamber II granted the Prosecution's request to harmonise the French and English versions of the Indictment. Pursuant to this Order, the Prosecution submitted the Kanyabashi Indictment on 11 June 2001. Kanyabashi did not make a further appearance because the Kanyabashi Indictment did not introduce additional counts compared to the 12 August 1999 Indictment.
- 59. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. 136

1.3.6 Élie Ndayambaje

- 60. Ndayambaje was born on 8 March 1958 in Musasti, Cyumba *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. ¹³⁷
- 61. Ndayambaje married Agnes Mukaneza on 27 June 1987 and they have three children. Ndayambaje lived in Mugombwa *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. 139
- 62. Upon completion of his secondary school education at the Butare *Groupe Scolaire*, Ndayambaje studied at the National University of Rwanda in Butare where, after three years of studies, he obtained his *baccalauréat* degree in social and economic sciences and management

¹³¹ T. 29 November 1996 pp. 21-26 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-15).

¹³² T. 12 August 1999 pp. 18-21 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-15).

¹³³ Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000.

¹³⁴ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Amended Indictment: as per the Decision of Trial Chamber II of 12 August 1999 and 31 May 2000, 2 November 2000.

¹³⁵ *Kanyabashi*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Harmonization of the English and French Version of the Amended Indictment (TC), 8 June 2001.

¹³⁶ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999.

¹³⁷ T. 29 November 1996 p. 3 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-8) (contrary to the Ndayambaje Indictment which alleges that Ndayambaje was born in Cyumba *secteur*, Kibayi *commune*, Butare *préfecture*); Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 1.

¹³⁸ T. 20 October 2008 p. 31 (Ndayambaje).

¹³⁹ T. 20 October 2008 p. 27 (Ndayambaje).

- in 1981. He also studied in Belgium. 140 From then until 1992, he was employed in the Rwandan public sector. 141
- 63. From 1981, Ndayambaje was employed as Chief Accountant at the *Société Rwandaise* in Kigali, for approximately a year and half. On 10 January 1983, he was appointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*, in Butare *préfecture*. He held this office until October 1992. Chrysologue Bimenyimana replaced him as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. 143
- 64. In 1992, Ndayambaje resumed his studies at the National University of Rwanda in Butare. He attended a second cycle of university studies at the end of which he obtained in 1994 a first degree referred to as *licence* in Rwanda. He attended to as *licence* in Rwanda.
- 65. Ndayambaje was involved in certain projects, namely the APAME secondary school and the Migina Peoples' Bank. 146 He was also Chairman of the Management Committee of the Kirarambogo Health Centre. 147
- 66. Ndayambaje owned a rice-husking centre at the commercial centre in Kibayi¹⁴⁸ and a printing press located in Butare in partnership with his brother-in-law.¹⁴⁹
- 67. On 18 June 1994, Ndayambaje was reappointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. ¹⁵⁰ On 7 July 1994, Ndayambaje left Muganza *commune* with his family and headed towards Burundi. ¹⁵¹ He and his family spent some time in Burundi and in Tanzania before moving to Belgium. ¹⁵²
- 68. On 21 June 1996, the initial Indictment against Ndayambaje was confirmed and a warrant for his arrest was issued to the Kingdom of Belgium. 153
- 69. Ndayambaje was arrested in Belgium on 28 June 1995. On 8 November 1996, he was transferred to Arusha. 154
- 70. Ndayambaje made his initial appearance on 29 November 1996, when he entered plea of not guilty to all five counts against him. 155

¹⁴⁰ T. 20 October 2008 pp. 8-9, 11 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴¹ T. 20 October 2008 p. 9 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴² T. 20 October 2008 p. 10 (Ndayambaje).

^{1. 20} October 2008 p. 40 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴ T. 20 October 2008 p. 32 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁵ T. 20 October 2008 p. 9 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁶ T. 20 October 2008 pp. 52-53 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁷ T. 24 November 2008 p. 45 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁸ T. 20 October 2008 p. 61 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁹ T. 20 October 2008 p. 65 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁵⁰ T. 10 November 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁵¹ T. 17 November 2008 p. 15 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁵² T. 17 November 2008 pp. 17-18 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁵³ *Ndayambaje*, Decision on the Review of the Indictment (TC), 21 June 1996; *Ndayambaje*, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 21 June 1996.

¹⁵⁴ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex p. 1.

¹⁵⁵ T. 29 November 1996 pp. 27-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-8).

- 71. Ndayambaje made a further appearance on the basis of the 11 August 1999 Indictment, which added counts against him. At the appearance on 12 August 1999, Ndayambaje pled not guilty to all nine counts against him, namely genocide (Counts 1 through 4), crimes against humanity (Counts 5 through 8), and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Count 9). 157
- 72. On 5 October 1999, Trial Chamber II ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. 158

1.4 Summary of the Procedural History

- 73. A complete procedural history is available as Annex A of this Judgement. For present purposes, however, it is helpful to recount the following summary.
- 74. The Joint Trial commenced on 12 June 2001 before Trial Chamber II, composed of Judge William H. Sekule, presiding, Judge Arlette Ramaroson and Judge Winston C. M. Maqutu. 159
- 75. After the non re-election of Judge Maqutu in May 2003, ¹⁶⁰ Judge Solomy B. Bossa was appointed to Trial Chamber II on 20 October 2003. ¹⁶¹ The Trial Chamber, composed of Judge Sekule and Judge Ramaroson, held that the interests of justice were best served by continuing the trial with a substitute judge. ¹⁶² The case resumed on 26 January 2004.
- 76. The Prosecution closed its case on 18 October 2004, 163 having called 59 witnesses including expert witnesses.
- 77. Nyiramasuhuko's Defence case ran from 31 January 2005 until 24 November 2005;¹⁶⁴ 26 witnesses were called, including the Accused.

¹⁵⁶ T. 10 August 1999 p. 2 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-8); *Ndayambaje*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC), 2 September 1999.

¹⁵⁷ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 17-20 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-8).

¹⁵⁸ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999.

¹⁵⁹ At the 19 April 2001 Pre-Trial Conference, Judges William H. Sekule and Mehmet Güney set the trial date for 14 May 2001. After the death of Judge Laïty Kama, who was the Presiding Judge over the case, and the nomination of Judge Güney to the Appeals Chamber in May 2001, the start of trial was postponed until 12 June 2001. The Chamber was also seized of the case against Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda, which started on 17 April 2001 and rendered judgement on 22 January 2004, and of the case against Juvénal Kajelijeli, which re-started on 3 July 2001 and rendered judgement on 1 December 2003.

Judge Maqutu's term of office expired on 24 May 2003. He was not re-elected and Security Council Resolution 1482 extended his term of office for the purposes of concluding the *Kamuhanda* and *Kajelijeli* trials but did not extend his term for the *Nyiramasuhuko et al.* trial. *See* Security Council Resolution 1482.

¹⁶¹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Certification in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 5 December 2003.

¹⁶² Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 15 July 2003 (affirmed by the Appeals Chamber in its Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D), 24 September 2003). See Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003.

¹⁶³ The case was closed with the exception of one final witness, who completed giving testimony on 5 November 2004.

¹⁶⁴ The case was closed with the exception of one final witness, who was eventually withdrawn.

- Ntahobali's Defence case ran from 12 April 2005¹⁶⁵ until 26 June 2006; 23 witnesses 78. were called, including the Accused. 166
- 79. Nsabimana's Defence case ran from 27 June 2006 until 28 November 2006; 11 witnesses were called, including the Accused. 167
- Nteziryayo's Defence case ran from 4 December 2006 until 9 July 2007; 23 witnesses 80. were called, including the Accused. 168
- Kanyabashi's Defence case ran from 10 July 2007 until 20 May 2008; 23 witnesses 81. were called. The Accused chose not to testifv. 169
- 82. Ndayambaje's Defence case ran from 20 May 2008 until 2 December 2008; 24 witnesses were called, including the Accused.
- 83. A total of 130 Defence witnesses were called, including expert witnesses.
- The joint trial concluded on 2 December 2008 after 714 trial days. Each Party filed 84. their Closing Brief on 17 February 2009. Four Prosecution witnesses were recalled and gave further testimony on 23, 24 and 25 February 2009.
- 85. The closing arguments were heard from 20 April 2009 until 30 April 2009.

¹⁶⁵ The opening statement for the Ntahobali Defence was made on 12 April 2005, except for the hearing of Edmond Babin in April 2005, a witness common to Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, the Defence for Ntahobali presented the bulk of its evidence from 28 November 2005 onwards.

166 The case was closed with the exception of one witness and some exhibits. The last witness finished giving

testimony on 28 April 2008.

¹⁶⁷ The case was closed with the exception of the submission of one exhibit.

¹⁶⁸ The case was closed with the exception of one witness, who was later withdrawn.

¹⁶⁹ T. 10 March 2008 p. 5 (ICS).

CHAPTER II: PRELIMINARY ISSUES

2.1 Introduction

86. In their Closing Briefs and arguments, the six Accused challenge various aspects of the fairness of the proceedings. Below the Chamber will consider submissions concerning paragraphs in the Indictments not in support of counts; defects in the Indictments, including insufficient notice; curing; pleading requirements; the effect of cumulative defects in the Indictments; the right to a fair trial free from undue delay; joinder; preliminary evidentiary matters; the issue of witnesses under investigation; the involvement of the Chief of Chambers in Deliberations; judicial notice; and the structure of the Judgement. First, however, the Chamber will briefly recall its findings with respect to partial acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* of the Rules as well as Prosecution concessions.

2.2 Partial Acquittal Under Rule 98 bis

- 87. On 16 December 2004, the Chamber granted in part Nsabimana's and Kanyabashi's Motions for acquittal and dismissed the other Motions in their entirety. ¹⁷⁰
- 88. The Chamber partially granted Nsabimana's Motion with respect to Paragraph 6.25 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. Namely, the Chamber found that the Prosecution had not adduced evidence that, on Nyiramasuhuko's request, Nsabimana ordered military authorities to provide reinforcements at the Ngoma *commune* massacres. The Chamber ordered partial acquittal on this charge for Nsabimana.¹⁷¹
- 89. The Chamber partially granted Kanyabashi's Motion and acquitted him on the charges based on Paragraph 6.38 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. In particular, the Chamber found that the Prosecution had not adduced evidence that Kanyabashi checked identity cards of patients at Butare University Hospital on 15 May 1994.¹⁷²
- 90. The Chamber also found that the Prosecution had not adduced evidence in support of part of Paragraph 6.43 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which alleged that Kanyabashi "told the *Préfet* [Nsabimana] that the Tutsi refugees at the *Préfecture* had to be exterminated". The Chamber ordered partial acquittal for Kanyabashi on Paragraph 6.43 and found that Kanyabashi would not have to defend himself against the quoted portion of the paragraph. ¹⁷³
- 91. Consequently, the Chamber will not consider the above-mentioned allegations in this Judgement.

paras. 168-169.

172 Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, paras 177-178

Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004.
 Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004,

¹⁷³ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, paras. 182-183.

2.3 Prosecution Concessions

- 92. The Prosecution concedes that no evidence was led against Pauline Nyiramasuhuko on the allegation that she requested military assistance from Nsabimana on 17 June 1994, as set forth in Paragraph 6.25 of the Indictment against her. Consequently, the Chamber will not consider this allegation in the Judgement.
- 93. The Prosecution also concedes that no evidence was led against Pauline Nyiramasuhuko on the allegation that she incited Jumapili, Nsengiyumva and Mashimangu to slaughter Tutsis, as set forth in Paragraph 6.38 of the Indictment against her. The Prosecution notes that evidence was led that Nyiramasuhuko incited members of the population, as specified in that paragraph, but not that she incited the three named individuals. Consequently, the Chamber will not consider the portion of Paragraph 6.38 related to Jumapili, Nsengiyumva and Mashimangu in the Judgement.

2.4 Paragraphs of the Indictments Not in Support of Counts

- 94. Many paragraphs in the Indictments are of a general nature and are not in support of any count against the Accused. Moreover, some of the facts in these general paragraphs were the subject of judicial notice, as explained more fully in the preliminary section of this Judgement on judicial notice (). Failure by the Prosecution to specifically state that a paragraph supports a given count is an indication that the allegation it contains is not charged as a crime. The omission of a count or charge from an indictment cannot be cured by the provision of timely, clear and consistent information. Thus, where a paragraph is not pled in support of any count and is of no particular background or contextual interest, the Chamber declines to make additional factual and legal findings. 178
- 95. The following paragraphs are specifically pled by the Prosecution in support of counts in the relevant Indictments:

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, Paragraphs 5.1, 5.8, 5.10 (Concise Statement of Facts: Preparation); 6.13 to 6.14, 6.20, 6.22, 6.25, 6.27, 6.30 to 6.39, 6.47, 6.49 to 6.56 (Concise Statement of the Facts: Other Violations of International Humanitarian Law);

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, Paragraphs 5.1, 5.8, 5.12 to 5.13 (Concise Statement of Facts: Preparation); 6.16, 6.21 to 6.22, 6.25 to 6.26, 6.28 to 6.33, 6.35 to 6.38, 6.41, 6.51 to 6.59 (Concise Statement of Facts: Other Violations of International Humanitarian Law);

Kanyabashi Indictment, Paragraphs 5.1, 5.8, 5.12 to 5.13 (Concise Statement of Facts: Preparation); 6.22, 6.26, 6.28 to 6.35, 6.37 to 6.38, 6.41 to 6.46, 6.57 to 6.58, 6.60, 6.62 to 6.65 (Concise Statement of Facts: Other Violations of International Humanitarian Law); and

¹⁷⁸ See Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 232.

¹⁷⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 60, fn. 210.

¹⁷⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 110, para. 285.

¹⁷⁶ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156.

¹⁷⁷ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 32.

Ndayambaje Indictment, Paragraphs 5.1, 5.8, 5.13 (Concise Statement of Facts: Preparation); 6.28, 6.30 to 6.34, 6.36 to 6.39, 6.50 to 6.54 (Concise Statement of Facts: Other Violations of International Humanitarian Law).

96. The Chamber will not make findings regarding paragraphs other than those enumerated above, but the Chamber may where relevant, in the course of evaluating the allegations contained in paragraphs listed in support of counts, consider evidence regarding allegations in paragraphs not in support of counts. 179

2.5 Notice of Charges

2.5.1 General Challenges to the Indictments

97. During the trial, the Accused challenged the admission of some evidence on the grounds that the Indictments and the Pre-Trial Brief did not provide them with sufficient notice of the facts the Prosecution would seek to prove. In many cases, the Chamber admitted the challenged evidence because it was relevant, and held that it would determine its probative value after hearing all of the evidence in the case. This position was upheld by the Appeals Chamber on 2 July 2004. Numerous challenges with respect to notice have been renewed by the Defence, including submissions that the Indictments are unduly vague in their totality. However, blanket objections that an entire indictment is defective are insufficiently specific. 183

¹⁸³ See, e.g., Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 56.

¹⁷⁹ See generally Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004 (holding that while evidence of allegations not pled in the Indictment cannot serve as the basis for a conviction, such evidence is still admissible to the extent the Chamber determines it is relevant).

¹⁸⁰ See, e.g., T. 14 June 2001 pp. 78-79 (Shukry); T. 18 June 2001 pp. 31-32 (Shukry); T. 8 November 2001 p. 34 (Witness TA); T. 16 March 2004 pp. 30-32 (ICS) (Witness QG); T. 8 June 2004 pp. 47-49 (Des Forges); T. 24 June 2004 pp. 12-16 (Des Forges).

¹⁸¹ Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15 (para. 15 notes that "[i]t should be recalled that admissibility of evidence should not be confused with the assessment of the weight to be accorded to that evidence, an issue to be decided by the Trial Chamber after hearing the totality of the evidence").

¹⁸² The Ntahobali Defence submits that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is "deliberately vague, confused and imprecise" and that these defects have not been cured. The Ntahobali Defence specifically points to Paras. 5.1, 5.8, 6.35, 6.37, 6.38, 6.39, 6.47 and 6.49 to 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment: see Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 65, 67-70, 73-75. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence recalls that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali submitted preliminary motions on this issue, reiterates these arguments, and further submits that reliance on a paragraph that is so vaguely worded that it can potentially be used to charge almost any crime is prohibited: see Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment, dated 27 October 1999. Similarly, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that at no time was Ndayambaje adequately informed of the material acts with which he was charged, that the acts cited in the Ndayambaje Indictment have nothing to do with Ndayambaje, that most of the paragraphs of the Ndayambaje Indictment that relate to Ndayambaje are vague and imprecise, and that these defects have never been cured, causing serious prejudice to the fairness of his trial: see Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 40. The Ndayambaje Defence disputes the Prosecution's contention that these were "simple details" that were corrected by disclosures, and, moreover, the Prosecution's statement during its oral closing arguments that, with respect to the Indictments, "[i]n the final analysis, what should actually hold the attention of the Chamber is the substance and not the form" is an admission that the Indictment was fundamentally defective: see Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 52; Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 71.

98. It is within the Chamber's discretion to reconsider past decisions regarding deficiencies in an indictment.¹⁸⁴ The Chamber is aware that it must provide the Parties an opportunity to be heard, and has fully considered the arguments and submissions with respect to vagueness in the Prosecution's and Accused's Closing Briefs and arguments.¹⁸⁵

2.5.2 Specific Challenges to Paragraphs of the Indictments

99. Specific challenges to particular factual allegations are addressed in the relevant section of the factual findings. In some instances, the Chamber has not, in its factual findings, expressly revisited its previous decisions to admit evidence or addressed the Accused's challenges regarding admission, in particular where the Prosecution did not prove its case. It has, nevertheless, considered all challenges in view of the general principles, as recapitulated below.

Pursuant to Article 20 (4) of the Statute, each accused is entitled to be informed 100. promptly and in detail of the nature and cause of the charge against him or her. The charges against an accused and the material facts supporting those charges must be pled in an indictment with sufficient precision to provide notice to the accused, 186 and to enable him or her to adequately prepare a defence. 187 Whether a fact is "material" depends on the nature of the Prosecution's case. 188 The Prosecution's characterisation of the alleged criminal conduct and the proximity of the accused to the underlying crime are decisive factors in determining the degree of specificity with which the Prosecution must plead the material facts of its case in the indictment in order to provide the accused with adequate notice. 189 For example, where the Prosecution alleges that an accused personally committed the criminal acts in question, it must plead "with the greatest precision" the identity of the victim, the place and approximate date of the alleged criminal acts, and the means by which they were committed. 190 However, less detail may be acceptable if the "sheer scale of the alleged crimes makes it impractical to require a high degree of specificity in such matters as the identity of the victims and the dates of the commission of the crimes." Even in cases where a high degree of specificity is "impractical," however, "since the identity of the victim is information that is valuable to the preparation of the defence case, if the Prosecution is in a position to name the victims, it should do so." ¹⁹² Moreover, the Prosecution cannot simultaneously argue that the accused killed a named individual yet claim that the "sheer scale" of the crime made it impossible to identify that individual in the indictment. Quite the contrary, the Prosecution's obligation to provide particulars in the indictment is at its highest when it seeks to prove that the accused killed or harmed a specific individual. 193

¹⁸⁴ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 55.

¹⁸⁵ See Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 55, 113.

¹⁸⁶ Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 27, 100; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 63.

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322.

¹⁸⁸ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 53; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 292.

¹⁸⁹ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 23.

¹⁹⁰ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 23 (citing Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 89).

¹⁹¹ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 58; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 23 (citing Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 89); see also Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 96; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 160.

Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 90.
 Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 89.

- 101. Additionally, there may well be situations in which the specific location of criminal activities cannot be listed, such as where the accused is charged as having effective control over several armed groups that committed crimes in numerous locations. In cases concerning physical acts of violence perpetrated by the accused personally, however, location can be very important. Thus, when the Prosecution seeks to prove that the accused committed an act at a specified location, it cannot simultaneously claim that it is impracticable to specify that location in advance. ¹⁹⁴
- 102. Where it is clear that the Prosecution was in a position to plead specific facts yet failed to do so, for example, where the identity of a particular victim is found in witness statements or the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and yet the information is not provided in the Indictment, this failure renders the Indictment defective. ¹⁹⁵
- 103. The Prosecution is expected to know its case before proceeding to trial and cannot mould the case against an accused in the course of the trial depending on how the evidence unfolds. ¹⁹⁶ Defects in an indictment may come to light during the proceedings because the evidence turns out differently than expected; this calls for the Chamber to consider whether a fair trial requires an amendment of the indictment, an adjournment of proceedings, or the exclusion of evidence outside the scope of the indictment. ¹⁹⁷ In reaching its judgement, a Chamber can only convict an accused of crimes that are charged in the indictment. ¹⁹⁸

2.5.3 Generality in Pleading Dates

104. The Nsabimana Defence asserts that words such as "about" are, *per se*, insufficiently precise when used in an indictment and that, consequently, phrases such as "between April and June," and "around 10 June" should be struck from the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. ¹⁹⁹ The Chamber recalls its Decision of 1 November 2000 where it held that the "magnitude, time, territorial dimensions, nature and the characteristics of the alleged crimes" did not enable the Prosecution to provide in the Amended Indictment all the particular dates of the given crimes. ²⁰⁰ The Chamber further recalls that "a broad date range, in and of itself, does not invalidate a paragraph of an indictment", ²⁰¹ and that the Indictment must be read as a whole. ²⁰²

¹⁹⁴ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 33.

¹⁹⁵ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 74; see also Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), paras. 58 ("[T]he Prosecution remains obliged to give all the particulars which it is able to give."), 94.

¹⁹⁶ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 27; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 30; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 194; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 92.

¹⁹⁷ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 27; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 31; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 194; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 92.

¹⁹⁸ Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 326; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 28; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 33. ¹⁹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 40-42.

²⁰⁰ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000, para. 59; see also Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000, para. 31.

²⁰¹ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 163.

²⁰² See Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 138; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 123.

2.5.4 Curing Defects in the Indictments

- 105. A defective indictment may be cured if the Prosecution provides the accused with timely, clear and consistent information detailing the factual basis underpinning the charges against him or her that gives details, resolves ambiguity, or clears up vagueness.²⁰³ The Chamber has not only the power but also the obligation to determine whether the Prosecution cured the defects in the Indictment.²⁰⁴ However, the principle that a defective indictment may be cured is not without limits.²⁰⁵
- 106. A distinction must be drawn between vagueness in an indictment, and an indictment omitting certain charges altogether. While it is possible to remedy the vagueness of an indictment, omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment only by a formal amendment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules. ²⁰⁶
- 107. The new material facts should not lead to a "radical transformation" of the Prosecution's case against the accused. The Trial Chamber should always take into account the risk that the expansion of charges by the addition of new material facts may lead to unfairness and prejudice to the accused. Further, if the new material facts are such that they could support separate charges on their own, the Prosecution must seek leave from the Trial Chamber to amend the indictment. ²⁰⁷
- 108. An accused may be put on notice through information provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief together with its annexes or the opening statement. In this connection, the timing of such communications, the importance of the information to the ability of the accused to prepare its defence, and the impact of the newly disclosed material facts on the Prosecution's case are relevant. The list of witnesses the Prosecution intends to call at trial, containing a summary of the facts and charges in the indictment as to which each witness will testify, including specific references to counts and relevant paragraphs in the indictment, may also in some cases serve to put the accused on notice. The provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief together with its annexes or the opening statement.
- 109. However, the mere service of witness statements or of potential exhibits by the Prosecution pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Rules is insufficient to inform the Defence of material facts that the Prosecution intends to prove at trial.²¹¹ In *Bagosora et al.*,

²⁰³ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 29; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105; Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 22; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 141.

²⁰⁴ See Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 65.

²⁰⁵ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 325; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 32.

²⁰⁶ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 29; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 293. ²⁰⁷ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 26, 152.

²⁰⁸ Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (AC), para. 27.

²⁰⁹ Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 119-121.

Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 82; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), paras. 57-58; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 48; Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (AC), para. 45.

²¹¹ Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (AC), para. 27; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 27.

the Trial Chamber found that the Appeals Chamber had made a distinction between the Pre-Trial Brief and the opening statement, which are adequate means of serving new material facts, and witness statements alone, which are not.²¹² Thus, mention of a material fact in a witness statement does not necessarily constitute notice: the Prosecution must convey that the material allegation is part of the case against the accused. In sum, due to the volume of disclosure by the Prosecution in certain cases, a witness statement will not, without some other indication, adequately signal to an accused that the allegation is part of the Prosecution's case.²¹³

- 110. To determine whether the indictment was cured of its defects, the Chamber must determine whether, in light of the circumstances of the case, the accused was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him or her, and to prepare his or her defence. Specifically, the Chamber should consider the following factors: the consistency, clarity and specificity with which the material fact is communicated to the accused; the novelty and incriminating nature of the new material fact; and the period of notice given to the accused. Lastly, when the Chamber finds that a defective indictment was subsequently cured, it must determine whether the defects in question nevertheless caused considerable prejudice to the accused's right to a fair trial by preventing him or her from properly preparing his or her case 216
- 111. Where defects in the indictment are not cured, the appropriate remedy to ensure a fair trial is to not convict an accused on the basis of facts for which the Prosecution provided insufficient notice. Evidence of material facts not pled in the indictment, however, may still be relevant to the proof of other allegations pled in the Indictment. Similarly, evidence that is excluded as outside the scope of the indictment may still, in the interests of justice, be considered under Rule 93 of the Rules as corroborating evidence of a consistent pattern of conduct, provided that the defence receives sufficient notice from the Prosecution that the evidence will be used in such a manner. 219

²¹⁹ Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

²¹² Bagosora et al., Decision on Kabiligi Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 4 September 2006, para. 7.

²¹³ See Bagosora et al., Decision on Kabiligi Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 4 September 2006, para. 4 (concluding that the curing inquiry is fact-specific and based on the presence or absence of prejudice to the Accused, but that under this test a witness statement will not cure defects without further indication of materiality).

²¹⁴ See Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 197; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 119-121.

²¹⁵ Bagosora et al., Decision on Exclusion of Testimony Outside the Scope of the Indictment (TC), 27 September 2005, paras. 2-3.

²¹⁶ Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 26.

²¹⁷ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 67; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 33; Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 18.
²¹⁸ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), paras. 71, 90; Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline

²¹⁸ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), paras. 71, 90; Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15.

2.5.5 Failure to Plead the Modes of Participation in the Crimes Charged Under Article 6 (1) of the Statute

- 112. Under Article 6 (1) of the Statute an accused may bear individual criminal responsibility for planning, instigating, ordering, committing, or otherwise aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation, or execution of a crime. The Defence submits that the Indictments in the instant case are defective because the Prosecution failed to specify the mode of participation for charges alleged under Article 6 (1), and that the defects in the Indictments were not cured by the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information. ²²⁰
- The Chamber declines to make a general finding at this point, and instead will consider the Defence submissions with respect to failure to adequately plead individual responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (1) for each count on an allegation by allegation basis.
- The practice of both the Tribunal and the ICTY requires the Prosecution to plead the 114. specific forms of individual criminal responsibility for which the accused is being charged. The Prosecution has repeatedly been discouraged from simply restating Article 6 (1) of the Statute, unless it intends to rely on all the forms of individual criminal responsibility contained therein, because of the ambiguity that this causes.²²¹
- Moreover, where it is alleged that the accused planned, instigated, ordered, or aided and abetted in the planning, preparation or execution, of the alleged crimes, the Prosecution is required to identify the "particular acts" or "the particular course of conduct" of the accused that forms the basis for the charges in question. 222 When the Prosecution is intending to rely on

²²⁰ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 32-36, 65; Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 24, 26, 29, 32, 34-44; Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 70. The Nsabimana Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to comply with the Chamber's orders with respect to necessary indictment amendments. Specifically, the Nsabimana Defence recalls the Chamber's "Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses" of 24 September 1998, which ordered the Prosecution to amend Paragraph 4 of the first Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, which stated that the "accused either planned, incited to commit, ordered, committed, or in some other way aided and abetted the planning, preparation or execution of the said acts", to specify the role of the Accused in planning the events charged: see Nsabimana, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses (TC), 24 September 1998. The Chamber, in its "Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Stay of Execution of Decision of 24 September 1998 & Decision on Nsabimana's Motion for Withdrawal of the Indictment and Immediate Release" of 21 May 1999, held that it had already found that the Prosecution was not in compliance with the previous order and admonished the Prosecution for its continued noncompliance: see Nsabimana & Nteziryayo, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Stay of Execution of Decision of 24 September 1998 & Decision on Nsabimana's Motion for Withdrawal of the Indictment and Immediate Release (TC), 21 May 1999. The Nsabimana Defence recalls raising the issue of the Prosecution's continued non-compliance again at the status conference held on 2 February 2001, and repeatedly submitting at the time that the Accused reserved the right to raise the issue in his Closing Brief: T. 2 February 2001. See also Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000. ²²¹ *Rukundo*, Judgement (AC), para. 30.

²²² Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 338; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 25.

all modes of responsibility in Article 6 (1) of the Statute, then the material facts relevant to each of those modes must be pled in the indictment.²²³

Although such information should generally be contained in the indictment, the Appeals Chamber has held that, in certain circumstances, a failure to set forth the precise mode of participation in the indictment can be cured by a later submission from the Prosecution, made before the start of trial, identifying the form or forms of liability alleged for each count.²²⁴

2.5.6 Failure to Adequately Plead Superior Responsibility Pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute

The Defence submits that the Prosecution has inadequately pled the required elements for its claims of superior responsibility and that the paragraphs pled in the Indictments with respect to claims under Article 6 (3) are vague and contain imprecise information, which does not adequately inform the Accused of the material facts relating to their alleged responsibility. ²²⁵ Consequently, the Defence submits that the Indictments are defective with respect to the counts charged against the Accused under Article 6 (3) of the Statute, and that these defects have not been cured, rendering the Accused unable to adequately prepare their defence.²²⁶

In particular, the Defence submits that with respect to charges brought under superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) the Prosecution failed in its obligation to identify the subordinates in question, or the nature of the aid provided, and instead relied on generic references to subordinates in the Indictment.²²⁷ The Defence also submits that the Prosecution did not adequately specify the criminal acts alleged to have been committed by the subordinates, knowledge of the acts by the Accused or the identity of the alleged victims, nor

²²³ Simić, Judgement (AC), para. 21 (citing Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 357; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 473; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 228; Krnojelac, Judgement (AC), para. 138; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 29).

224 Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 475; Krnojelac, Judgement (AC), para. 471;

Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 303.

Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 25-27, 30; Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 44-47, 53, 55; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 pp. 70-71. The various Accused have previously raised the issue of insufficient information provided in the Indictments and requested additional information. Specifically the Accused have requested the identity of the persons concerned in certain paragraphs of the Indictment used to support counts brought under Article 6 (3) so that the Accused could know exactly who was involved, including in the alleged conspiracy: see, e.g., Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000, paras. 11-12, 60; Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000), paras. 7, 9, 28, 30; Nsabimana, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses (TC), 24 September 1998, pp. 2, 6-7; Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000.

²²⁶ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 25-31, 59-63; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 52; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 319; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 70; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 71.

Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 25-28; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 52; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 319; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 70; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 71.

did it specifically allege that the Accused failed to punish the subordinates who committed the relevant criminal acts ²²⁸

- The Prosecution argues that proof of the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship does not require the identification of the principal perpetrators, particularly not by name, nor that the superior had knowledge of the number or identity of possible intermediaries, provided that it is at least established that the individuals who are responsible for the commission of the crimes were within a unit or a group under the control of the superior. 229 The Prosecution argues that it has fulfilled its obligations with respect to the alleged subordinates of the respective Accused in the Indictments by indicating the group or the category to which these alleged subordinates belong. ²³⁰
- 120. The Chamber will consider the Defence submissions on alleged defects in the Indictments with respect to crimes charged under Article 6 (3) of the Statute in the relevant factual findings sections of the Judgement, or in the legal findings. In doing so, the Chamber will apply the following standard.
- If the Prosecution intends to rely on the theory of superior responsibility to hold an accused criminally responsible for a crime under Article 6 (3) of the Statute, the Indictment should plead the following: (1) that the accused is the superior of subordinates sufficiently identified, over whom he had effective control – in the sense of a material ability to prevent or punish criminal conduct – and for whose acts he is alleged to be responsible; (2) the criminal conduct of those others for whom he is alleged to be responsible; (3) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have known or had reason to know that the crimes were about to be committed or had been committed by his subordinates; and (4) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the persons who committed them.²³¹
- A superior need not necessarily know the exact identity of his subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur liability under Article 6 (3) of the Statute.²³² For example, an accused is sufficiently informed of his subordinates where they are identified as coming from a particular camp under his authority. ²³³ Physical perpetrators of the crimes can also be identified by category in relation to a particular crime site.²³⁴
- Although the Prosecution remains obliged to give all the particulars that it is able to give, the relevant facts relating to the acts of others for which the accused is alleged to be responsible as a superior will usually be stated with less precision because the details of those

²²⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 29; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 54.

²²⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 20, para. 52.

²³⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 20, para. 52; Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 p. 54.

Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 26, 152; Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 64; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 19; *Nahimana et al.*, Judgement (AC), para. 323.

232 Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 55; *Blagojević & Jokić*, Judgement (AC), para. 287.

²³³ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 64; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Blagojević & Jokić, Judgement (AC), para. 287.

²³⁴ Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 113; see also, e.g., Simba, Judgement (AC), paras. 71-72 (concerning identification of other members of a joint criminal enterprise).

acts are often unknown, and because the acts themselves are often not very much in issue.²³⁵ Moreover, in certain circumstances, the sheer scale of the alleged crimes makes it impracticable to require a high degree of specificity in such matters as the identity of the victims and the dates of the commission of the crimes.²³⁶

124. Finally, a Chamber may infer knowledge of the crimes from their widespread and systematic nature, and a superior's failure to prevent or punish them from their continuing occurrence. These elements follow from reading the indictment as a whole. These elements follow from reading the indictment as a whole.

2.5.7 Indictment Defects – Cumulative Error

- 125. In addition to specific claims that particular Indictment paragraphs were defective, several Defence teams argue that the Indictment as a whole rendered the trial unfair. The Ndayambaje Defence argues the Indictment was "fundamentally defective." The Ntahobali Defence argues that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is "an irremediably defective accusatory instrument which has materially affected their right to adequately prepare their defence." The Nsabimana Defence likewise argues that it was unable to adequately prepare its defence due to the insufficient information about the crimes, subordinates, identity, position and relationship with Nsabimana or the crimes committed as they relate to Nsabimana. It argues this led to an unfair trial and, as a result, no conviction may be entered against Nsabimana.
- 126. The Prosecution does not make any submissions related to any specific alleged defects in the Indictments. In fact, it does not address the issue of defects at all in its Closing Brief. The Prosecution did, however, briefly address the alleged defects in the Indictments in its closing argument. It argues the Defence was able to fully answer the Prosecution's case against the Accused and cites in support the Defence's lengthy and informed cross-examinations which showed that it had mastered its case. 244
- 127. The Chamber recalls the Appeals Chamber's admonition that even if the Prosecution succeeds in arguing that the defects in the indictments were remedied in each individual instance, the Chamber must still consider whether the overall effect of the numerous defects have rendered the trial unfair in itself.²⁴⁵ The Appeals Chamber later expounded upon its reasoning, stating:

²³⁵ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 26, fn. 82 (quoting *Blaškić*, Judgement (AC), para. 218); see also Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 58.

²³⁶ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 58; Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 79; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 50; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 89.

²³⁷ *Muvunyi I*, Judgement (AC), para. 62.

²³⁸ *Muvunyi I*, Judgement (AC), para. 62.

²³⁹ Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 52.

²⁴⁰ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 40.

²⁴¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 55.

²⁴² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 56-57.

²⁴³ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 12-13.

²⁴⁴ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 13.

²⁴⁵ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 114.

[T]he accumulation of a large number of material facts not pled in the indictment reduces the clarity and relevancy of that indictment, which may have an impact on the ability of the accused to know the case he or she has to meet for purposes of preparing an adequate defence. While the addition of a few material facts may not prejudice the Defence in the preparation of its case, the addition of numerous material facts increases the risk of prejudice as the Defence may not have sufficient time and resources to investigate properly all the new material facts. Thus, where a Trial Chamber considers that a defective indictment has been subsequently cured by the Prosecution, it should further consider whether the extent of the defects in the indictment materially prejudice an accused's right to a fair trial by hindering the preparation of a proper defence. 246

- 128. If a trial verdict is found to have relied upon material facts not pled in an indictment, the Chamber must determine whether the trial was thereby rendered unfair and, if so, an appropriate remedy must be found.²⁴⁷
- 129. In its decisions concerning notice in this Judgement, the Chamber has found specific Indictment paragraphs to be unduly vague for failing to specify, *inter alia*, the location, dates, assailants or victims of particular alleged crimes. In many instances, the Chamber determined that these defects were cured by the provision of timely, clear and consistent information.
- 130. The Chamber recalls, "the addition of numerous material facts increases the risk of prejudice as the Defence may not have sufficient time and resources to investigate properly all the new material facts." Nonetheless, throughout the course of these proceedings, where appropriate, the Chamber has given the Defence additional time to prepare its case, particularly where requested by the Defence, to investigate allegations by the Prosecution. As the Chamber explains throughout this Judgement, the new information that led to factual findings beyond a reasonable doubt was disclosed to the Defence through timely, clear, and consistent disclosures. Therefore, the Accused were in a reasonable position to understand the charges against them and had the time and resources available to investigate these charges. 250
- 131. The Chamber therefore finds the trial was not rendered unfair and the Accused did not suffer any prejudice in the preparation of their respective defences.

2.5.8 Notice of Alibi

132. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Ndayambaje each provided late notice of their intention to run an alibi defence, without providing the Chamber with a convincing explanation as to why the alibi was first raised at such a late stage after the

2

²⁴⁶ Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 26.
²⁴⁷ Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 221.

²⁴⁸ Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 26. ²⁴⁹ See, e.g., T. 30 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (The Chamber granted the Defence additional time to prepare its case by scheduling trial to resume on 7 June 2004, instead of 24 or 31 May 2004 as proposed by the Prosecution); see also T. 18 October 2004 pp. 6, 17 (ICS) (The Chamber had planned to start the Defence cases on 17 January 2005, but upon the request of Defence Counsel, the Chamber scheduled the Defence cases to start on 31 January 2005 in order to give the Defence an additional two weeks to prepare its case). ²⁵⁰ Kordić & Čerkez, Judgement (AC), paras. 142-143.

Prosecution had presented its case. Thus, the Prosecution argues that little weight can be attributed to their alibi defences. ²⁵¹ The Chamber notes that it will make a finding with respect to the adequacy of notice with regard to the defence of alibi on a case-by-case basis.

133. The Chamber recalls that the procedure to be followed where an accused intends to enter an alibi in his or her defence is covered by Rule 67 (A)(ii) and (B) of the Rules. Pursuant to Rule 67 (A), to ensure a good administration of justice and efficient judicial proceedings, any notice of alibi should be tendered in a timely manner, and in any event before the commencement of the trial.²⁵² However, were the Defence to fail in this regard, Rule 67 (B) provides that it may still rely on the alibi defence at trial. "In certain circumstances, failure to raise an alibi in a timely manner can impact a Trial Chamber's findings, as it may take such failure into account when weighing the credibility of the alibi."253

2.6 **Fair Trial**

2.6.1 **Undue Delay**

- 134. The Ndayambaje Defence submits Ndayambaje's right to be tried without undue delay was grossly violated, and asserts that he suffered prejudice owing to the unreasonable delay. It states that the fairness of the trial was seriously compromised by the undue delay and that he suffered additional social, psychological and economic prejudice. ²⁵⁴
- It argues the period of almost 15 years that Ndayambaje has spent in prison beginning 28 June 1995 – is the longest period of pre-judgement detention in the history of United Nations Tribunals, and undermines the presumption of innocence. 255 The Ndayambaje Defence asserts that the aforementioned delay is excessive and the prejudice is irreparable. In submitting that the delay was not attributable to Ndavambaie or his Defence team, the Defence draws the Chamber's attention to the late disclosure of evidence and documents by the Prosecution, repeated Prosecution requests for the trial to be postponed, the decision on joinder, the Rwandan government's lack of cooperation, and the non-renewal of Judge Maqutu's term of office. 256
- The Nyiramasuhuko Defence likewise argues that Nyiramasuhuko's detention for 12 136. years (as of April 2009) without a decision by the Chamber on the merits of her case is unreasonable.²⁵⁷ Further, the Chamber recalls that in 2008, the Ntahobali Defence filed a motion to stay the proceedings for undue delay which was supported by Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje. 258 The Chamber, therefore, considers whether each of the Accused suffered undue delay based on the length of these proceedings.

²⁵¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 208, para. 144; p. 504, paras. 200-201; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 32.

²⁵² Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 243.
²⁵³ Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 97; see also Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 56.

²⁵⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 21; Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 48.

²⁵⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 47-50; Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 22, 24.

²⁵⁶ Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 48.

²⁵⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 53.

²⁵⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Stay of Proceedings Due to Unreasonable Delay, 22 August 2008; Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-

- 137. The Chamber recalls the Accused has a right to be tried without undue delay.²⁵⁹ Whether a delay is "undue" is determined on a case-by-case basis, considering: (a) the length of the delay; (b) the complexity of the proceedings; (c) the conduct of the parties; (d) the conduct of the relevant legal authorities; and (e) any prejudice which accrued to the accused as a result.²⁶⁰ If the delay is not "undue," regardless of the length of time in question, the Accused is not entitled to relief.²⁶¹
- 138. In *Nahimana et al.*, the Appeals Chamber concluded that the predominant part of the period of seven years and eight months between Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's arrest and judgement did not constitute an undue delay, because of the complexity of the case. The Chamber emphasised the complexity of the case against him, including the large number of counts, witnesses and exhibits, as well as the complexity of the pertinent facts and the relevant legal principles and the inherent complexity of international criminal proceedings. The *Nahimana et al.* case involved 93 witnesses over the course of 241 trial days. Similarly, the *Bagosora et al.* Trial Chamber concluded that a delay of approximately 11 years was not undue, owing to the complexity of the case. The Chamber noted that the case involved 242 witnesses over the course of 408 trial days, and so was "two to three times" the size of the *Nahimana et al.* case. Similarly, in the *Bizimungu et al.* case, the Trial Chamber concluded that no "undue delay" had occurred though a period of almost 10 years had elapsed after Mugiraneza's arrest and the judgement had not yet been issued.
- 139. The Chamber considers the instant case to be at least as complex as *Bagosora*. The Chamber heard 189 witnesses over the course of 726 trial days. Thus, the case is approximately twice the length of *Bagosora* and more than three times the length of *Nahimana et al.* Moreover, while there were fewer witnesses in this case than *Bagosora*, the increased length was necessitated by the replacement of a Judge, the presentation of six different Defence cases and a plurality of cross-examinations for every witness. In the circumstances, given the complexity of the instant case, the Chamber does not consider the length of this case to violate the Accused's right to be tried without undue delay.

¹⁵⁻T, Réponse de Joseph Kanyabashi à la Requête de Arsène Shalom Ntahobali en arrêt des procédures pour cause de délais déraisonnables, 26 August 2008, p. 2; Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Réponse d'Élie Ndayambaje à la Requête d'Arsène Shalom Ntahobali en arrêt des procédures pour cause de délais déraisonnables, 26 August 2008, p. 2.

²⁵⁹ Article 20 (4)(C) of the Statute.

²⁶⁰ See Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 1074, 1076.

²⁶¹ See Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1074.

²⁶² Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 1076-1077. The Trial Chamber had already found that some initial delays in the case violated Barayagwiza's rights and consequently reduced his sentence: Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1075.

²⁶³ Nahimana et al., Judgement (TC), para. 50.

²⁶⁴ Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 78, 81-82.

²⁶⁵ Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 78, 81.

²⁶⁶ Bizimungu et al., Decision on Prosper Mugiraneza's Third Motion to Dismiss Indictment for Violation of His Right to a Trial Without Undue Delay (TC), 10 February 2009.

- 140. The Defence offers no specific assertion of legal prejudice beyond the general complaint that the trial was unfair and that Ndayambaje could not properly answer the charges against him. ²⁶⁷
- 141. Moreover, the Chamber recalls its Decision of 26 November 2008 regarding Ntahobali's motion to stay the proceedings based upon undue delay. That motion was supported by the Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi Defences. The Ntahobali Defence argued that the arrest of its investigator shortly after the start of trial, the non re-election of Judge Maqutu and the lack of cooperation of the Rwandan authorities resulted in undue delay prejudicing Ntahobali. The Chamber held that the gravity of the charges and the complexity of the case did not render unreasonable the length of the proceedings. The Chamber finds there is no reason to reconsider its assessment of Ntahobali's motion at this time.
- 142. During this trial, there were 1,457 exhibits tendered (equivalent to about 13,000 pages of documents) and 913 introduced into evidence. In addition, there were 125,951 transcript pages, including 58,252 in English and 67,699 in French. Considering the complexity of this case along with the expansive trial record, the Chamber considers that the total duration of these proceedings, including the drafting of this Judgement, was reasonable.
- 143. As the length of the delay in this case is adequately explained by the complexity of the case, and the Accused have not demonstrated that they suffered any legal prejudice, the Chamber need not consider the conduct of the Prosecution or other legal authorities.

2.6.2 Joinder

144. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision granting joinder, it reasoned that the various Accused were charged with offenses arising out of the same transaction, within the meaning of Rules 2 and 48 of the Rules, and that the Defence had shown no prejudice. The Chamber noted that none of the cases joined into this trial were about to start, and concluded that it would increase efficiency and fairness to have a single presentation of the various allegations arising out of the transaction at issue. The Appeals Chamber subsequently dismissed the

²⁶⁷ See, e.g., Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 83.

²⁶⁸ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008, para. 24.

²⁶⁹ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008, para. 24; *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, *Réponse d'Élie Ndayambaje* à la Requête d'Arsène Shalom Ntahobali en arrêt des procédures pour cause de délais déraisonnables, 26 August 2008.

²⁷⁰ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008, para. 56.

Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008, para. 60.

^{2008,} para. 60.

272 Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999, paras.

13 15

²⁷³ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999, para. 15.

appeals to the Chamber's Decision.²⁷⁴ The Chamber subsequently issued several decisions on the joinder issue in response to motions from the various Accused.²⁷⁵

- The Chamber considers that the Ndayambaje Defence has not advanced any reason that might justify reconsideration of its Decision granting joinder under this Tribunal's well-established reconsideration jurisprudence. Under this jurisprudence, reconsideration is appropriate if: (1) the moving party demonstrates the existence of a new fact, not known to the Chamber when it issued its original decision, (2) the moving party demonstrates a material change in circumstances, or (3) the moving party demonstrates the original decision was erroneous or would cause an injustice.²⁷⁷
- The Chamber notes that the Ndayambaje Defence does not raise any new fact or change in circumstances. Rather, the Ndayambaje Defence offers the general argument that the joinder undermined the fairness of the proceedings, and so implicitly that the Chamber's Decision caused an injustice.²⁷⁸
- The Chamber recalls that under the Rules, two or more persons accused of crimes arising out of the same transaction may be jointly charged and tried.²⁷⁹ Additionally, two or more persons who are accused of crimes arising out of the same transaction may be tried together, even if indicted separately, if the Trial Chamber grants leave.²⁸⁰ A transaction is defined as "[a] number of acts or omissions whether occurring as one event or a number of events, at the same or different locations and being part of a common scheme, strategy or plan." A determination of whether joinder is appropriate in this regard is properly based on the "factual allegations contained in the indictments and related submissions." ²⁸
- The Defence offers only a general allegation that this determination was erroneous. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber has held in the Gotovina et al. case that litigating the

²⁷⁴ Nviramasuhuko, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000; Ntahobali, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000; Kanyabashi, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000.

²⁷⁵ Nsabimana et al., Decision on the Defence Motion Seeking a Separate Trial for the Accused Sylvain Nsabimana (TC), 8 September 2000; Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 25 April 2001; Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on the Motion for Separate Trials (TC), 8 June 2001; Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 2 February 2005; Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the "Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial" (TC), 22 February 2005; Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Separate Proceedings, a New Trial, and Stay of Proceedings (TC), 7 April 2006.

While the Defence does not expressly frame its allegation as a motion for reconsideration, it *de facto* seeks the reconsideration of the Trial Chamber's earlier Decision. Under such circumstances, the Chamber will consider whether the Defence has justified reconsideration under the applicable legal standard.

See, e.g., Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision of 2 March 2006 (TC), 11 June 2007, paras. 9-10.

²⁷⁸ See Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 49.

Rule 48 of the Rules.

²⁸⁰ Rule 48 bis of the Rules. However, under Rule 82 (B) the Trial Chamber may order persons accused jointly to be tried separately, either "to avoid a conflict of interests that might cause serious prejudice to an accused," or "to protect the interests of justice." ²⁸¹ Rule 2 (A) of the Rules.

²⁸² Gotovina et al., Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Against the Trial Chamber's Decision to Amend the Indictment and for Joinder (AC), 25 October 2006, para. 16.

common issues in the case multiple times would have required a greater expenditure of judicial resources and so, while it is possible any one case could have concluded more quickly, more time and resources would have been spent litigating the cases as a whole.²⁸³ Consequently, any assertion about the length of a particular trial if conducted independently is at best "hypothetical and speculative."²⁸⁴ Accordingly, the joinder did not create an injustice. As the Defence has not pointed to any specific error in the Chamber's decision on joinder, and has shown no new fact or material change in circumstances, the Chamber will not reconsider its decision joining the trials of the various Accused.²⁸⁵

- 149. In a related manner, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Nyiramasuhuko was prejudiced by the fact that her defence was required to present and to cross-examine first among the six Accused. Specifically, the Defence maintains that because it was required to present first, it was difficult to adequately mount a defence to allegations made by other Accused after Nyiramasuhuko's case had been presented to the Chamber. ²⁸⁶
- 150. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence primarily offers a general allegation of prejudice, and does not suggest any new fact or material change in circumstances that might justify reconsideration of the 18 October 2004 Decision. The only specific evidence adduced after the conclusion of the Nyiramasuhuko Defence case that that Defence asserts was prejudicial related to the Nyiramasuhuko Defence's inability to identify the person alleged by witnesses to have served as Nyiramasuhuko's driver at the time in question. The Defence has not demonstrated that this inability undermined Nyiramasuhuko's right to a fair trial or that had the allegation been made prior to Nyiramasuhuko's Defence, the Defence would have been better able to rebut it. Accordingly, the issue of identification of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's driver does not justify reconsideration of the order of presentation of the Defence cases.
- 151. The Chamber notes that in a multi-accused trial the accused persons will necessarily have to present their cases in a specific order. To the extent that an accused person who presents earlier is prejudiced by the order in which the various defences are presented, that accused person may present rejoinder evidence as provided by the Rules. Moreover, in this case, the various Accused were granted considerable freedom to cross-examine other Defence witnesses to avoid any prejudice resulting from the joint trial. Accordingly, the Defence has not shown that the 18 October 2004 Decision was erroneous and therefore cannot justify reconsideration.

²⁸³ Gotovina et al., Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Against the Trial Chamber's Decision to Amend the Indictment and for Joinder (AC), 25 October 2006, para. 44.

²⁸⁴ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008, para. 59.

Further, judicial economy is not the sole consideration governing a Trial Chamber's discretionary determination whether to grant or deny a motion for joinder. Rather, Chambers consider, *inter alia*: protection of the rights of the accused; avoidance of conflicts of interest which might prejudice any accused; and protection of the interests of justice, including avoiding the duplication of evidence, minimizing hardship to witnesses, and ensuring consistency of verdicts, as well as promoting judicial economy: *Gotovina et al.*, Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Against the Trial Chamber's Decision to Amend the Indictment and for Joinder (AC), 25 October 2006, para. 17.

²⁸⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 71.

²⁸⁷ See T. 18 October 2004 pp. 16-17.

²⁸⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 71.

²⁸⁹ Rule 85 (A)(iv) of the Rules.

152. Thus, the Chamber will not reconsider its 18 October 2004 Decision at this time. However, as described in the Evidentiary Matters section of this Judgement (), the Chamber will consider the order of Defence cases and any concomitant prejudice in evaluating testimony and other evidence offered by each Accused.

2.6.3 Other Threshold Issues

2.6.3.1 Presence of Factual Witnesses in the Courtroom During Objections

- 153. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence notes that for much of the trial, factual witnesses were not removed from the courtroom during objections made in the course of their testimony. Counsel posits that there was an impact on the witnesses whenever objections, comments and remarks by counsel and the Chamber were made in their presence.²⁹⁰
- 154. The Chamber recalls that it determined in its 30 January 2004 Decision that for the remainder of the trial, witnesses would be excluded from the courtroom during objections and associated arguments raised during the course of their testimony. Thus, the Chamber notes, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence's argument can relate only to witnesses who completed their testimony prior to 30 January 2004.
- 155. The Chamber notes that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence has cited no specific witness or testimony which it argues was impacted by such discussions. As such, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence has not substantiated its allegations of prejudice. Therefore, this submission is denied.

2.6.3.2 Substitution of Judge Bossa

- 156. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence avers that Nyiramasuhuko was prejudiced by the fact that Judge Bossa was not present during the presentation of the Prosecution's case and, consequently, did not hear all the Prosecution witnesses testify in person, as she was only appointed to the Bench in 2004.²⁹²
- 157. When Judge Maqutu's term of office was not renewed, Judges Sekule and Ramaroson determined on 15 July 2003 that to continue the trial with a substitute judge, rather than restarting the trial, would be in the interests of justice.²⁹³
- 158. The Appeals Chamber upheld the Chamber's determination.²⁹⁴ In particular, it held that the fact that a substitute judge would not have personally heard every piece of testimony in the

²⁹⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 71-72.

²⁹¹ T. 30 January 2004 p. 10 (Witness SX).

²⁹² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 14.

²⁹³ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 15 July 2003. Rule 15 bis of the Rules provides that where the term of a judge of the Tribunal ends during a trial in which he is involved, the Chamber may choose to restart the case or continue the case with a substitute judge, if the parties consent. If the parties do not consent, the remaining two judges "may nonetheless decide to continue the proceedings before a Trial Chamber with a substitute Judge if, taking all the circumstances into account, they determine unanimously that doing so would serve the interests of justice." In this case, only the Prosecution and the Nsabimana Defence consented to continuing with a substitute judge.

²⁹⁴ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003.

case would not in itself require the trial to be restarted in the interests of justice. 295 It specifically endorsed the practice eventually adopted by the Chamber, noting that where a substitute judge has not witnessed testimony so as to facilitate that judge's evaluations of credibility:

the solution is as follows: If the judge assigned by the President certifies "that he or she has familiarised himself or herself with the record of the proceedings" ... and thereafter accordingly joins the bench of the Trial Chamber, the recomposed Trial Chamber may, on a motion by a party or proprio motu, recall a witness on a particular issue which in the view of the Trial Chamber involves a matter of credibility which the substitute judge may need to assess in the light of the witness's demeanour. 296

As contemplated by the Appeals Chamber's Decision, Judge Bossa did not personally hear all of the Prosecution's evidence in this case. She did, however, familiarise herself with the evidence adduced before she joined the current Bench on the basis of both the written transcripts and audio recordings of the proceedings.²⁹⁷ Where it was necessary to assess a particular witness' credibility in light of the witness' demeanour, the Chamber granted the motions to recall particular witnesses to be re-heard on specific issues.²⁹⁸ In such cases, involving Witnesses QCB, QY, SJ, QBQ and QA, Judge Bossa based her assessment of the witness' demeanour on the testimony given when the witness was recalled. The Trial Chamber's approach to this issue has already been endorsed by the Appeals Chamber, and the Nyiramasuhuko Defence demonstrates no new fact, material change in circumstance, or legal error associated with the Chamber's approach. Accordingly, the Chamber will not reconsider its decision on this issue.

2.7 **Evidentiary Matters**

The Chamber has assessed the evidence in this case in accordance with the Statute, the Rules and the decisions and judgements of the Appeals Chamber. Specifically, Rule 89 (C) provides that a Chamber may admit any relevant evidence which it deems to have probative value. To be admissible the evidence must be in some way relevant to an element of a crime with which the Accused is charged. The Chamber does not need to set out in detail why it accepted or rejected a particular testimony. This is equally applicable to all evidence, including that tendered by the accused person.²⁹⁹

Where guidance is not provided by these sources, the Chamber has assessed the evidence so as to best favour a fair determination of the case against the Accused, consonant with the spirit of the Statute and the general principles of law.

²⁹⁵ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003, para. 25. ²⁹⁶ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003,

para. 35.

297 Nyiramasuhuko et al., Certification in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 5 December 2003; Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on Defence Motion for Recall of Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD and QY or, in Default, a Disjunction of Trial or a Stay of Proceedings Against Nyiramasuhuko (TC), 6 May 2004, para. 34.

²⁹⁸ See, e.g., Ndayambaje, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness "TO" Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 6 May 2004. ²⁹⁹ Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 20.

2.7.1 Burden of Proof and the Presumption of Innocence

- 162. Article 20 (3) of the Statute guarantees the presumption of innocence of each accused person. The burden of proving each and every element of the offences charged against the accused beyond a reasonable doubt rests solely on the Prosecution and never shifts to the Defence.³⁰⁰ The Chamber must be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the accused is guilty before a verdict may be entered against him or her.³⁰¹
- 163. While the Defence does not have to adduce rebuttal evidence to the Prosecution case, the Prosecution will fail to discharge its burden of proof if the Defence presents evidence that raises a reasonable doubt regarding the Prosecution case. An accused must be acquitted if there is any reasonable explanation for the evidence other than his or her guilt. Refusal to believe or rely upon Defence evidence does not automatically amount to a guilty verdict. The Chamber must still determine whether the evidence it does accept establishes the accused's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Since the accused has no burden to prove anything at a criminal trial, the Chamber need not resolve factual disputes further once it has concluded that the Prosecution has not proven a fact beyond a reasonable doubt. The presumption of innocence does not require the Chamber to determine whether the accused is "innocent" of the fact at issue; it simply forbids the Chamber from convicting the accused based on any allegations that were not proven beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 164. The Chamber must provide reasoning for its judgement,³⁰⁶ but is not required to "refer to the testimony of every witness or every piece of evidence on the trial record".³⁰⁷ Indeed, due to the volume of evidence, the Chamber "cannot be expected to refer to all of it".³⁰⁸ In the present case, the Chamber has evaluated all of the evidence and, where appropriate, will refer specifically to relevant evidence.

2.7.2 Admissibility of Evidence on Pre-1994 Events

165. It is well established that the provisions of the Statute on the temporal jurisdiction of the Tribunal do not preclude the admission of evidence on events prior to 1994, if the Chamber deems such evidence relevant and of probative value and there is no compelling reason to exclude it. For example, a Trial Chamber may validly admit evidence relating to pre-1994 acts and rely on it where such evidence is aimed at: clarifying a given context; establishing by

³⁰⁰ Pursuant to Article 20 (4)(g) of the Statute, an accused is not compelled to testify. In this case, five of the six Accused have chosen to testify. Their decisions to testify do not entail acceptance of a burden to prove their innocence.

³⁰¹ Rule 87 (A) of the Rules (providing that a majority of the Trial Chamber must be so satisfied).

³⁰² Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 117; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), paras. 60-61.

³⁰³ Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 458.

³⁰⁴ Nchamihigo, Judgement (TC), para. 13.

³⁰⁵ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 140.

³⁰⁶ Article 22 (2) of the Statute; Rule 88 (C) of the Rules.

³⁰⁷ Halilović, Judgement (AC), para. 121; see also Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 94; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 32.

³⁰⁸ Brđanin, Judgement (AC), paras. 11, 95; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 132.

inference the elements (in particular, criminal intent) of criminal conduct occurring in 1994; or demonstrating a deliberate pattern of conduct.³⁰⁹

166. Notwithstanding the above, the Chamber may only convict an accused for criminal conduct having occurred in 1994. The existence of continuing conduct is no exception to this rule. Even where such conduct commenced before 1994 and continued during that year, a conviction may be based only on that part of such conduct having occurred in 1994. 310

2.7.3 Witness Credibility

2.7.3.1 General Considerations

- 167. The Trial Chamber enjoys broad discretion in choosing which witness testimony to prefer, and in assessing the impact on witness credibility of inconsistencies within or between witnesses' testimonies and any prior statements. Minor inconsistencies commonly occur in witness testimony without rendering the testimony unreliable, and it is within the Chamber's discretion to evaluate such inconsistencies and to consider whether the evidence as a whole is credible. It is not unreasonable for the Chamber to accept some, but reject other parts of a witness' testimony.³¹¹
- 168. The Chamber also has the discretion to cautiously consider hearsay evidence and to rely on it. The weight and probative value to be afforded to hearsay evidence, however, will usually be less than that accorded to the evidence of a witness who has given it under oath and who has been cross-examined.³¹²
- 169. Evidence of facts outside the testifying witness' own knowledge constitutes hearsay evidence. The Chamber may admit any relevant evidence which it deems to have probative value;³¹³ hearsay evidence is not *per se* inadmissible.³¹⁴ However, hearsay evidence may be affected by a compounding of errors of perception, memory, narration, sincerity and recall, and thus should be subjected to careful scrutiny before being relied on.³¹⁵
- 170. Many witnesses testified in closed session or with other procedures designed to protect their identities. The Chamber is mindful of the need for the continued protection of these witnesses. However, in light of the need to provide some details to explain its reasoning, the Chamber has made sure to provide as much information as possible while being careful not to reveal the identities of protected witnesses.³¹⁶

³⁰⁹ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 315.

³¹⁰ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 316.

³¹¹ Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC), para. 44.

³¹² Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 96; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 39.

³¹³ Rule 89 (C) of the Rules.

³¹⁴ Akayesu, Judgement (AC), paras. 284-309.

³¹⁵ Akayesu, Judgement (AC), paras. 284-309; Simić et al., Judgement (TC), para. 22.

³¹⁶ See Rule 88 (C) of the Rules; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (TC), para. 27; Rwamakuba, Judgement (TC), para. 41.

2.7.3.2 Identification of the Accused

- With respect to the assessment of witness identification, the Chamber must proceed with caution and carefully scrutinise factors in support of the identification, factors that impact negatively on the reliability of the identification, and any corroborating testimony.³¹⁷ Specifically, the Chamber will take into account the following factors: prior knowledge of the Accused, the existence of adequate opportunity in which to observe the Accused, reliability of witness testimonies, the possible influence of third parties, the existence of stressful conditions at the time the event took place, the passage of time between the events and the witness' testimony and the general credibility of the witness. 318
- In particular, the Chamber must always, in the interests of justice, proceed with extreme caution when assessing a witness' identification of the accused made under difficult circumstances. While the Chamber is not obliged to refer to every piece of evidence on the trial record in its judgement, where a finding of guilt is made on the basis of identification evidence given by a witness under difficult circumstances, the Chamber must rigorously implement its duty to provide a "reasoned opinion". In particular, a reasoned opinion must carefully articulate the factors relied upon in support of the identification of the accused and adequately address any significant factors impacting negatively on the reliability of the identification evidence. ³¹⁹
- No probative weight will be assigned to an identification given for the first time by a witness while testifying, who identifies the accused while he is standing in the dock. Because all of the circumstances of a trial necessarily lead such a witness to identify the person on trial (or, where more than one person is on trial, the particular person on trial who most closely resembles the man who committed the offence charged), no positive probative weight will be given by the Chamber to these "in court" identifications. 320

2.7.3.3 Uncorroborated Testimony

- There is no requirement that convictions be made only on evidence of two or more witnesses. The Chamber may rule on the basis of a single testimony if, in its opinion, that testimony is relevant and credible.³²¹ Corroboration is simply one of many potential factors in the Chamber's assessment of a witness' credibility. If the Chamber finds a witness credible, that witness' testimony may be accepted even if not corroborated. Similarly, even if the Chamber finds that a witness' testimony is inconsistent or otherwise problematic enough to warrant its rejection, it might choose to accept the evidence nonetheless because it is corroborated by other evidence.³²²
- The ability of the Chamber to rule on the basis of testimonies and other evidence is not bound by any rule of corroboration, but rather on the Chamber's own assessment of the

³¹⁷ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 96; Bagilishema, Judgement (AC), paras. 75-81; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 39, 135.

³¹⁸ *Niyitegeka*, Judgement (AC), paras. 100-101. ³¹⁹ *Kupreškić et al.*, Judgement (AC), para. 39.

³²⁰ Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), para. 320.

Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 556; Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 37.

³²² Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 132.

probative value of the evidence before it. The Chamber may freely assess the relevance and credibility of all evidence presented to it. The Chamber notes that this freedom to assess evidence extends even to those testimonies which are corroborated: the corroboration of testimonies, even by many witnesses, does not establish absolutely the credibility of those testimonies.³²³

When the evidence of only one witness is available in relation to a certain material fact, the Chamber may rely on such evidence even in the absence of corroboration, but should carefully scrutinise all uncorroborated evidence before making any findings on the basis of such evidence. 324 The Chamber recalls that in cases of sexual assault, pursuant to Rule 96 (i) of the Rules, the Chamber shall not require corroboration of the victim's evidence.

2.7.3.4 Prior Statements

- Rule 90 (A) of the Rules provides that witnesses shall be heard by the Chamber. Prior out-of-court witness statements are normally relevant only as necessary for the Trial Chamber to assess credibility. While there is no absolute prohibition on accepting prior statements for the truth of their contents, the Appeals Chamber has stated that Tribunal jurisprudence discourages this practice.³²⁵
- Moreover, the Chamber has discretion to determine whether alleged inconsistencies between prior statements and later testimony render the testimony unreliable, 326 and the Chamber may accept parts of a witness' testimony while rejecting other parts.³²⁷ Where testimony lacks precision or is inconsistent about matters such as the exact date, time or sequence of events, the lack of precision does not necessarily discredit the evidence provided that the discrepancies relate to matters peripheral to the charges in the indictments.³²⁸ For example, some inconsistencies in testimony may be caused by cultural factors and interpretation issues.³²⁹ Similarly, it may be difficult to recall particular dates with respect to events that are repetitive or continuous. 330
- Many witnesses lived through particularly traumatic events and the Chamber recognises that the emotional and psychological reactions that may be provoked by reliving those events may have impaired the ability of some witnesses to clearly and coherently articulate their stories. 331 Moreover, where a significant period of time has elapsed between the

³²³ Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 37.

Musema, stadgement (12), para. 3:1. 324 Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 320; Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 36; Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 28-29.

³²⁵ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 180; Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 311.

³²⁶ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 116; Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 443-447.

³²⁷ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 110; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 212; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC),

para. 333. ³²⁸ Simić et al., Judgement (TC), para. 22; Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 497; Krnojelac, Judgement (TC), para. 69. 329 *Musema*, Judgement (TC), paras. 100-105; *Rwamakuba*, Judgement (TC), para. 40.

³³⁰ Akayesu, Judgement (TC), paras. 142-143; Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), para. 267; Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 564; Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (TC), para. 10; Vasiljević, Judgement (TC), para. 21; Krnojelac, Judgement (TC), para. 69; Furundžija, Judgement (TC), para. 113.

Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC), paras. 14, 324; Karera, Judgement (TC), paras. 141, 160; Rwamakuba, Judgement (TC), para. 40; Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 564.

acts charged in the indictments and the trial, it is not always reasonable to expect the witness to recall every detail with precision.³³²

- 180. Prior consistent statements, however, cannot be used to bolster a witness' credibility, except to rebut a charge of recent fabrication of testimony. The fact that a witness testifies in a manner consistent with an earlier statement does not establish that the witness was truthful on either occasion; after all, an unlikely or untrustworthy story is not made more likely or more trustworthy simply by rote repetition.³³³
- 181. Moreover, there is a general, though not absolute, preference for live testimony before the Tribunal.³³⁴ This is consistent with Rule 90 (A) of the Rules which states in part that witnesses shall, in principle, be heard directly. The Chamber has the responsibility to resolve any inconsistencies that may arise within and/or among witnesses' testimonies, and it is within the discretion of the Chamber to evaluate any inconsistencies, to consider whether the evidence taken as a whole is reliable and credible and to accept or reject the "fundamental features" of the evidence. It may do this by relying on live testimony or documentary evidence.³³⁵

2.7.3.5 Detained Witnesses and Accomplice Testimony

- 182. Some of the witnesses for both the Prosecution and Defence were transferred from detention in Rwanda to testify. The Chamber recognises that even if a detained witness may have an incentive to perjure himself to gain leniency from the Rwandan authorities this "is not sufficient, by itself, to establish that the suspect did in fact lie." However, accomplices may be motivated to shift blame by implicating others. More specifically, "a witness who faces criminal charges that have not yet come to trial 'may have real or perceived gains to be made by incriminating accused persons' and may be tempted or encouraged to do so falsely". This risk, when properly raised and substantiated, should be considered by the Trial Chamber. Thus, the evidence of all detained witnesses must be treated with appropriate caution by the Chamber to ensure a fair trial and to avoid prejudice to the accused. Such evidence in the present case has similarly been treated with appropriate caution, considering the "totality of the circumstances" of the testimony.
- 183. It is well established that nothing prohibits the Chamber from relying on evidence given by a convicted person, including evidence of a partner in crime of the person being tried before the Tribunal. With regard to accomplice testimony, however, the Chamber is mindful that accomplice testimony should be treated with additional caution, as an accomplice may have incentives to craft his testimony to affect his own case or to ensure a lighter sentence, or

³³² Akayesu, Judgement (TC), paras. 142-143; Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 564; Krnojelac, Judgement (TC), para. 69; Furundžija, Judgement (TC), para. 113; Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC), paras. 14, 324.

³³³ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 147.

³³⁴ See Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003, para. 25.

³³⁵ Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 31.

³³⁶ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 181.

³³⁷ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 129.

³³⁸ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 199-206.

³³⁹ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 204-205, 233-234; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 98.

even falsely implicate another accused to gain an advantage. However, even uncorroborated accomplice testimony may be relied upon if the Chamber is convinced the witness is truthful and reliable. Other evidence which supports accomplice testimony will be relevant to bolster that testimony.³⁴¹ The Chamber, thus, is mindful of its obligation to explain why it accepts the evidence of witnesses who may have had motives or incentives to implicate the accused. 342

2.7.3.6 Alibi Evidence and Burden of Proof

- 184. The rules governing notice of alibi are set forth above ().
- In raising an alibi, the Accused not only denies that he committed the crimes for which 185. he is charged but also asserts that he was elsewhere than at the scene of these crimes when they were committed. The onus is on the Prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the guilt of the Accused. In establishing its case, when an alibi defence is introduced, the Prosecution must prove, beyond any reasonable doubt, that the accused was present and committed the crimes for which he is charged and thereby discredit the alibi defence. The alibi defence does not carry a separate burden of proof. If the defence is reasonably possibly true, it must be successful.³⁴³ In short, the Chamber may reject an alibi only if the Prosecution establishes "beyond a reasonable doubt that, despite the alibi, the facts alleged are nevertheless true.",344
- One of the most recent pronouncements regarding the legal standards governing the Chamber's consideration of alibi evidence was set forth by the Appeals Chamber in the Zigiranvirazo Appeals Judgement. There, the Appeals Chamber reiterated that a defence of alibi does not shift the burden of proof to the accused. Rather, the finder of fact considers whether the alibi defence entailed the presentation of evidence "likely to raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution case," and "[i]f the alibi is reasonably possibly true, it must be accepted."345 To sustain a conviction, the Prosecution must demonstrate that, regardless of the alibi, the facts as alleged are true beyond a reasonable doubt, either by demonstrating that the alibi evidence offered does not negate the presence of the accused at the critical place and at the critical time, or that the alibi evidence is not credible.³⁴⁶
- However, once the Chamber finds, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the alibi witnesses were not credible, it is not required to make findings beyond a reasonable doubt regarding the reasons why witnesses might offer incredible and inconsistent accounts of events. 347

2.7.3.7 Issues in Evaluating Testimony Relating to Joint Trial

Because this is a joint trial, the Chamber has evaluated the charges against each of the Accused in light of all of the evidence put forth by the Prosecution and each of the defendants,

³⁴⁰ *Nivitegeka*, Judgement (AC), para. 98.

Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC), para. 38; Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 263; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 204-206. 342 *Muvunyi II*, Judgement (AC), para. 37.

Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 205 (quoting Musema, Judgement (TC), para. 108).

³⁴⁴ Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 202.

³⁴⁵ Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 17.

³⁴⁶ Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 18.

³⁴⁷ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 161.

not just the evidence of the Prosecution and each particular defendant. Additionally, the Chamber has taken all necessary measures to ensure that each of the Accused is afforded the same rights to which that Accused would have been entitled had they been tried alone.³⁴⁸ The Chamber has been attentive to the possibility of prejudice arising from different Accused persons' presentations of their cases.

189. When an accused in a joint trial testifies before other co-accused present their cases, the Chamber will take this fact into consideration when assessing the weight of testimony of each accused relative to evidence subsequently presented, in recognition of the fact that the accused testified without the benefit of knowing what subsequent witnesses would say about their evidence beyond the indication provided in those witnesses' will-say statements.³⁴⁹

2.7.3.8 Testimony by the Accused

190. While there is a fundamental difference between being an accused, who might testify if he or she so chooses, and a witness, this does not imply that the rules applied to assess the testimony of an accused are different from those applied with respect to the testimony of an ordinary witness. The Chamber shall "decide which witness's testimony to prefer", without necessarily articulating every step of its reasoning in reaching this decision. In doing so, as for any witness, the Chamber is required to determine the overall credibility of an accused testifying at his or her own trial, and then assess the probative value of the accused's evidence in the context of the totality of the evidence.

191. The Chamber is cognisant of the rule that in joint trials, each accused is entitled to the same rights as he or she would be in an individual trial.³⁵² In this regard, the Chamber has been attentive to the risk that one Accused's evidence will prejudice another Accused, and will diligently assure that the guarantees of Rule 82 (A) are respected.

2.7.4 Expert Witnesses

2.7.4.1 General Challenges to Expert Evidence by the Defence

192. The Ntahobali Defence submits that testimony by Prosecution expert witnesses on the basis of unidentified and uncorroborated sources may not be relied on to support the charges proffered against them, that opinion testimony by expert witnesses has no probative value since it is not based on the evidence adduced by the Parties, and that such testimony is not helpful in providing context for the allegations in the Indictment, since it omits major events. Other Defence teams further, and more specifically, aver that Prosecution Expert Witnesses Des Forges, Guichaoua and Ntakirutimana may have been partial, and were testifying outside their areas of expertise, and challenge the reliability of Expert Witness Guichaoua's sources. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence further challenges the experts'

³⁴⁸ See Rule 82 (A) of the Rules.

³⁴⁹ Simić et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 17, 20.

³⁵⁰ Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 32.

³⁵¹ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 392; Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 50.

³⁵² Rule 82 (A) of the Rules.

³⁵³ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 72.

Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 380, 395-401, 428, 433, 447, 449-459, 465-507; Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 101-105; Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 906; *see also* Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 625.

qualifications, and asserts that the inability to cross-examine the confidential sources of Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua constituted a violation of the Accused's rights. The Defence notes that the lack of clear sourcing might render it difficult for the Chamber to evaluate the reliability and reasonableness of the experts' conclusions. The Chamber to evaluate the reliability and reasonableness of the experts' conclusions.

- 193. The Prosecution maintains, by contrast, that each expert witness was cross-examined for several days, giving the Defence adequate opportunity to explore the sources of their testimony. The Prosecution further argues that the experts provided extensively researched and annotated reports, and that their testimonies were within their respective fields of expertise. 357
- 194. With regards to qualifying, the Chamber certified the following witnesses as experts: Prosecution Witness Alison des Forges, as an expert in history and the human rights situation in Rwanda up to and including the events of 1994;³⁵⁸ Prosecution Witness André Guichaoua, as an expert in political science;³⁵⁹ Prosecution Witness Evariste Ntakirutimana, as an expert in social linguistic discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics, language and planning;³⁶⁰ Prosecution Witness Antipas Nyanjwa, as an expert in handwriting analysis;³⁶¹ Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Eugène Shimamungu, as an expert in the Kinyarwanda language and in the analysis of political discourse;³⁶² and Kanyabashi Defence Witness Filip Reyntjens as an expert in history, law and governance in Rwanda.³⁶³ Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Defence Witness Edmond Babin was denied certification as an expert in crime scene analysis.³⁶⁴
- 195. The Chamber has closely considered the qualifications of each of the foregoing witnesses, including their relevant experience and methods of inquiry, and notes the Defence had adequate opportunity to *voir dire* the same witnesses. It was based upon all of these elements that the Chamber concluded that each of these witnesses met the threshold of expertise necessary to testify as an expert in this case. It is for the Chamber to decide whether, on the basis of the evidence presented by the parties, the person proposed can be admitted as an expert witness. The Chamber will not revisit the issue of whether a particular witness qualified as an expert in their field.

2.7.4.2 Applicable Law on Consideration of Expert Evidence

196. Specific challenges to the testimony of expert witnesses are addressed in the relevant section of the factual findings applying the legal principles set forth below. Just as for any other evidence presented, it is for the Chamber to assess the reliability and probative value of

³⁵⁵ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 376.

³⁵⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 381-390.

³⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 33-34.

³⁵⁸ T. 7 June 2004 pp. 57-59 (Des Forges).

³⁵⁹ T. 23 June 2004 p. 22 (Guichaoua).

³⁶⁰ T. 13 September 2004 p. 30 (Ntakirutimana).

³⁶¹ T. 4 November 2004 p. 47 (Nyanjwa).

³⁶² T. 15 March 2005 pp. 52-53 (Shimamungu).

³⁶³ T. 19 September 2007 pp. 4-5 (Reyntjens).

³⁶⁴ T. 13 April 2005 pp. 10-13.

³⁶⁵ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 199.

the expert report and testimony.³⁶⁶ When assessing the probative value of the evidence adduced by these experts the Chamber has carefully considered the professional competence of each of the experts and the methods used by the experts.³⁶⁷

197. The evidence of an expert witness is meant to provide specialised knowledge – be it a skill or knowledge acquired through training – that may assist the fact-finder to understand the evidence presented. Expert witnesses are ordinarily afforded significant latitude to offer opinions within their expertise; their views need not be based upon first-hand knowledge or experience. Indeed, in general, the expert witness lacks personal familiarity with the particular case, but instead offers a view based on his or her specialised knowledge regarding a technical, scientific, or otherwise discrete set of ideas or concepts that is expected to lie outside the lay person's ken. ³⁶⁸

198. The Chamber is mindful that "while the report and testimony of an expert witness may be based on facts narrated by ordinary witnesses or facts from other evidence, an expert witness cannot, in principle, testify himself or herself on the acts and conduct of accused persons without having been called to testify also as a factual witness and without his or her statement having been disclosed in accordance with the applicable rules concerning factual witnesses." Though an expert "may testify on certain facts relating to his or her area of expertise," an expert witness' function is not "to testify on disputed facts as would ordinary witnesses", but only "to assist the Trial Chamber in its assessment of the evidence." 369

199. The party alleging bias on the part of an expert witness may demonstrate such bias through cross-examination, by calling its own expert witnesses or by means of an expert opinion in reply. Just as for any other evidence presented, it is for the Trial Chamber to assess the reliability and probative value of the expert report and testimony.³⁷⁰

2.7.5 Witnesses Under Investigation

200. The Chamber notes that, since their testimony in the present case, Prosecution Witnesses QA, QY and SJ have become the subject of on-going investigations before the Tribunal for false testimony and contempt of court.³⁷¹ In November 2008, the Chamber ordered an investigation into allegations that Witness QA gave false testimony in the present case in March 2004 and October 2008, and before the Canadian Rogatory Commission in the *Munyaneza* case in May 2008. The Chamber also ordered an investigation into Witness QA's allegations of intimidation and bribery with respect to these three appearances.³⁷²

-

³⁶⁶ See Popović et al., Decision on Joint Defence Interlocutory Appeal Concerning the Status of Richard Butler as an Expert Witness (AC), 30 January 2008, para. 22.

³⁶⁷ Vasiliević, Judgement (TC), para. 20.

³⁶⁸ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 287; Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 303.

³⁶⁹ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 212, 509; see also Renzaho, Judgement (AC), paras. 288-289.

³⁷⁰ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 199.

³⁷¹ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court (TC), 7 November 2008; *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation into False Testimony and Kanyabashi's Motion for an Investigation into Contempt of Court Relative to Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ (TC), 19 March 2009.

³⁷² *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court (TC), 7 November 2008.

- 201. In December 2008, the Chamber ordered the recall of Witnesses QY and SJ, to be cross-examined by Ntahobali and any other Defence on the following specific issues: whether Witness QY knew Witnesses SJ, TK and QBQ; whether Witness SJ knew Witnesses TK and QJ; and whether Witnesses QY and SJ lied in their previous testimonies before the Tribunal regarding this knowledge and, if so, about the circumstances surrounding such lies.³⁷³
- 202. Subsequently, the Chamber directed the Registrar to appoint an independent *Amicus Curiae* to investigate the false testimony of Witness QA and the related allegations of contempt, the allegations of false testimony by Witnesses QY and SJ, and the allegations of coercion with respect to certain appearances by these witnesses to determine whether there are sufficient grounds for instigating formal proceedings for false testimony and contempt.³⁷⁴
- 203. With respect to these allegations, and without prejudice to any such proceedings which may come before the Tribunal, the Chamber will treat these witnesses' testimony with added caution.

2.8 Participation of the Chief of Chambers

204. On reviewing the procedural history of the case, the Chamber became aware in July 2009 that the then-Chief of the Chambers Support Section at the ICTR, Mr. Chile Eboe-Osuji, participated in this case as an employee of the Office of the Prosecutor in 1998 and 1999. Mr. Eboe-Osuji is listed as counsel for the Prosecution on six decisions.³⁷⁵ As an immediate precautionary measure, and before Mr. Eboe-Osuji had participated in any deliberations relating to the guilt or innocence of any of the various Accused, the Chamber determined he would preliminarily not be involved in the judgement drafting process. After reviewing relevant case law, the Chamber concluded that it is unclear whether Mr. Eboe-Osuji's participation would raise a conflict of interest which would impact on the fair trial rights of the

³⁷³ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Prosecution Witnesses QY, SJ and Others (TC), 3 December 2008.

³⁷⁴ *Ntahobali*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court (TC), 7 November 2008. The issue of Witness QA's credibility also arose in the Chamber's Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Judicial Notice of an Appeals Chamber Factual Finding, 22 January 2009: *see Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Judicial Notice of an Appeals Chamber Factual Finding (TC), 22 January 2009. The Chamber observed that while Witness QA testified on recall that he lied when he first appeared before the Chamber, the question of whether he actually lied on recall or when he first appeared, and the identity of any people who may have been involved is the subject of an ongoing investigation; furthermore, the Chamber noted that it considered that the probative value of all the evidence tendered is yet to be determined: *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation into False Testimony and Kanyabashi's Motion for an Investigation into Contempt of Court Relative to Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ (TC), 19 March 2009.

³⁷⁵ See Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion of Utmost Urgency to Resolve All Difficulties Posed by the

³⁷⁵ See Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion of Utmost Urgency to Resolve All Difficulties Posed by the File Processing and, in Particular, Issues of Evidence Disclosure, Judicial Calendar and Non-Enforcement of Decisions of the Trial Chamber in the Ndayambaje Case (TC), 16 April 1998; Ndayambaje, Decision on the Motion of the Accused for the Replacement of Appointed Counsel (TC), 7 July 1998; Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Status of the Hearings for the Amendment of the Indictments and for Disclosure of Supporting Material (TC), 30 September 1998; Kanyabashi, Scheduling Order (AC), 18 December 1998; Kanyabashi, Decision on Extremely Urgent Defence Motion Requesting the Postponement of Appeals Chamber's Decision To Be Rendered on 3 June 1999, in the Matter of Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor (AC), 3 June 1999; Kanyabashi, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on the Jurisdiction of Trial Chamber I (AC), 3 June 1999.

various Accused.³⁷⁶ However, out of an abundance of caution and intent on preserving both justice and the appearance of justice, the Chamber determined in November 2009 that Mr. Eboe-Osuji's involvement from the judgement drafting process would be excluded. The Chamber notes that it has considered this issue *proprio motu*.

2.9 Judicial Notice

205. Rule 94 of the Rules provides that the Trial Chamber shall not require proof of facts of common knowledge, but shall take judicial notice thereof. Any fact that cannot reasonably be disputed must be judicially noticed pursuant to the mandatory language of Rule 94 (A) of the Rules; there is no exception for facts that may carry a legal meaning or that may be an element of an offence.³⁷⁷ The judicial notice of facts, however, does not shift the burden of proof, which remains with the Prosecution.³⁷⁸

206. Because judicial notice is mandatory, the Chamber shall take notice of facts that the Appeals Chamber has confirmed are indisputable.³⁷⁹ The following have been so deemed facts of common knowledge, not subject to reasonable dispute, and therefore must be judicially noticed under Rule 94 (A) of the Rules:

Widespread or systematic attacks against a civilian population based on Tutsi ethnic identification occurred in Rwanda between April and July 1994;³⁸⁰

During the attacks, some Rwandan citizens killed or caused serious bodily or mental harm to persons perceived to be Tutsis and as a result of the attacks, there were a large number of deaths of persons of Tutsi ethnic identity;³⁸¹

³⁷⁶ See Bizimungu et al., Decision on Appeals Concerning the Engagement of a Chambers Consultant or Legal Officer (AC), 17 December 2009, paras. 9 (holding that legal officers and consultants are not "subject to the same standards of impartiality as the Judges of the Tribunal"), 10 ("In some cases, a prospective staff member's statements or activities may be so problematic as to either impugn the perceived impartiality of the Judges or the appearance thereof, or, even if this were not the case, the Tribunal's fundamental guarantees of fair trial"). Compare also Hartmann, Report of Decision on Defence Motion for Disqualification of Two Members of the Trial Chamber and of Senior Legal Counsel (Panel), 27 March 2009, para. 54 (denying a Defence request to preclude the Senior Legal Officer of the Pre-Trial Chamber from working on the case because he had assisted in preparing the amicus report which led to the prosecution of the Accused); Lubanga Dvilo & Kony et al., Administrative Decision by the President of the Pre-Trial Division concerning the communication of submissions relating to the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Thomas Lubanga Dyilo and the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Joseph Kony et. al. to the Senior Legal Advisor to the Pre-Trial Division (President of the Pre-Trial Division, ICC), 20 October 2006 (preliminarily separating the Senior Legal Advisor from participation); Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 56 (concluding that Mr. Eboe-Osuji's presence in Chambers did not present a conflict in that case, because at the time he served in Trial Chamber II, Semanza was litigated in Trial Chamber III, and he consequently could not have participated in the judgement drafting process).

³⁷⁷ Bikindi, Judgement (AC), para. 99; Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras. 29-30.

³⁷⁸ Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

³⁷⁹ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras. 23, 29, 37, 41.

³⁸⁰ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras. 28-29, 32; Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

³⁸¹ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras. 26, 31-32.

Between 6 April 1994 and 17 July 1994, there was a genocide in Rwanda against the Tutsi ethnic group;³⁸²

There was an armed conflict not of an international character in Rwanda between 1 January 1994 and 17 July 1994;³⁸³

Rwanda became a state party to the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (1948) on 16 April 1975;³⁸⁴ and

Rwanda was a state party to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and Additional Protocol II of 8 June 1977. 385

207. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 15 May 2002 in which it took notice of the following additional facts of common knowledge pursuant to Rule 94 (A) of the Rules:

That "[b]etween 6 April 1994 and 17 July 1994, citizens native to Rwanda were identified according to the following ethnic classifications: Tutsi, Hutu and Twa", and

That "[o]n 6 April 1994, the President of the Republic of Rwanda, Juvénal Habyarimana, was killed when his plane was shot down on its approach to Kigali airport". 387

208. The Chamber also took judicial notice in its Decision of all the documents listed in Annex B of the "Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence", but not the facts contained therein. Specifically, the Chamber took judicial notice of the authenticity of the following documents, including any subsequent modifications or amendments made up until 31 December 1994:

Décret-loi No. 10/75, Organisation et fonctionnement de la préfecture, 11 mars 1975;

Organisation territoriale de la République, 15 Avril 1963, Annexe II, Limites des communes, at para. III;

Loi sur l'organisation communal, 23 novembre 1963, article 1;

Décret-loi, création de la Gendarmerie nationale (23 janvier 1974);

Ordonnance législative No. R/85/25, Création de l'Armée rwandaise (10 mai 1962, article 4);

³⁸² Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras, 33, 38.

³⁸³ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, paras. 26, 28-29, 32; *Semanza*, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

³⁸⁴ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, para. 28; Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

³⁸⁵ Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006, para. 28; Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

³⁸⁶ *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, paras. 93, 105.

³⁸⁷ *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence

Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, paras. 93, 105.

Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, para. 133.

Arrêté présidentiel No. 86/08, Intégration de la Police dans l'Armée rwandaise (26 juin 1973, articles 1, 2);

Arrêté présidentiel No. 01/02, Statut des officiers des forces armées rwandaises (3 Janvier 1977, article 2);

UN Document S/RES/872 (1993), 5 October 1993; and

The Constitution of the Republic of Rwanda, 10 June 1991, Art. 45 (*Gazette*, 1991, p. 615).

2.10 Structure of the Judgement

- 209. This Judgement is divided into seven parts.
- 210. Part I contains an Introduction, which includes an overview of the case, the Tribunal's jurisdiction, a presentation of each Accused and a brief procedural history.
- 211. Part II contains this Preliminary Issues section addressing matters relating to the Indictments, and concludes with a summary of the evidentiary principles the Chamber used in deciding the case.
- 212. Part III contains the Chamber's factual findings, starting first with the general allegations about the events in Butare and in Rwanda in 1994 and then making factual findings about each of the events contained in the Indictments. Because many factual allegations are common to all four Indictments, the Chamber has decided to group the factual allegations chronologically and thematically instead of considering them Indictment by Indictment, to avoid unnecessary repetition. Nevertheless, the Chamber has remained mindful to treat each Accused individually when making its factual findings.
- 213. Part IV addresses the law applicable to the counts contained in the Indictments and proceeds to make legal findings with respect to each of the counts against each of the Accused.
- 214. Part V provides the Chamber's ultimate findings as to the responsibility of each of the Accused based on the factual findings contained in Part III and the legal findings contained in Part IV.
- 215. Part VI discusses the law applicable to sentencing, makes findings as to aggravating and mitigating factors, and concludes with sentences, when applicable, for each of the Accused.
- 216. Part VII contains Annexes, including the four Indictments in the case, a comprehensive procedural history, a list of defined terms and a list of cited jurisprudence.

³⁸⁹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, p. 28.

CHAPTER III: FACTUAL FINDINGS

Background of the 1994 Events in Rwanda 3.1

- 217. In order to understand the events alleged and the evidence, the Chamber deems it helpful to summarise the historical context of the events of 1994. In this section the Chamber will briefly discuss the Rwandan administrative structure, the geographic and population characteristics of Butare préfecture, and some of the key historical events leading up to the relevant factual findings of the Judgement.
- The Chamber bases its findings in this section on uncontested facts that are generally not linked to counts in the Indictments.
- Before 6 April 1994, the population of Rwanda was categorised according to the 219. following ethnic classifications: Hutu, Tutsi and Twa. Those living in Rwanda between 6 April 1994 and 17 July 1994 continued to be identified according to this taxonomy. ³⁹⁰

The Rwandan Administrative Structure

- Rwanda was administratively divided into provinces known as préfectures. Préfectures were subdivided into communes, which were further subdivided into secteurs, which were in turn subdivided into cellules. In 1994, Rwanda was comprised of 11 préfectures: Butare, Byumba, Cyangugu, Gikongoro, Gisenyi, Gitarama, Kibungo, Kibuye, Kigali-Ville, Kigali-Rural and Ruhengeri. 391
- The Rwandan préfecture administration was organised with the préfet as the focal authority and the main representative of the Government at the *préfecture* level, some of whom had specific duties across the *préfecture*, while others were responsible for specific geographic areas, such as particular communes. Below the préfet were sous-préfets. Underneath the souspréfets were the bourgmestres, who were each in charge of a commune. Préfets, sous-préfets and bourgmestres were appointed by the national Government. At the secteur level, conseillers were popularly elected. Below the conseillers were the responsables de cellule.³⁹²
- 222. The powers of the *préfet* were governed by Legislative Decree No. 10/75 of 11 March 1975, which was in force on 6 April 1994. According to Article 4 of the decree, préfets were appointed and dismissed by order of the President of the Republic, on the recommendation of the Minister of the Interior and after deliberation by the Cabinet.³⁹⁴ Article 8 of the decree provided that *préfets* had the responsibility to "[e]nsure peace, public order and the security of persons and property." Pursuant to Article 8 (4), *préfets* were obliged to assist and supervise the *commune* authorities. ³⁹⁵ *Préfets* were required to act as intermediaries between the national Government and the local population, relaying instructions from central

³⁹⁰ Nviramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, para. 105. ³⁹¹ Para. 2.2 of each Indictment.

³⁹² T. 29 June 2004 p. 23 (Guichaoua).

³⁹³ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

³⁹⁴ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

³⁹⁵ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

authorities to the general public, as well as informing the Government of any events or information of interest from the grass-roots level. Préfets were granted certain powers. For example, Article 9 of the decree stated, "[i]n the accomplishment of his mission, the Préfet shall be able to draw on the State services within the préfecture." Article 10 provided that préfets may, in conformity with laws and regulations in force, establish administrative regulations and impose penalties of up to 30 days imprisonment and/or a fine of 2,000 francs. Under Article 11, préfets could request the intervention of the Armed Forces, particularly the gendarmerie, to establish public order.

223. Pursuant to the communal law of 23 November 1963, 400 as amended by the Legislative Decree of 26 September 1974, bourgmestres were appointed by the President of the Republic on the proposal of the Minister of the Interior. This law was in force on 6 April 1994. 402 According to Article 56 of this law, bourgmestres were the representatives of the central authority in the commune and the personification of the commune authority. While Article 104 provided that bourgmestres had sole authority over the commune police, only préfets could requisition the commune police. Articles 46 to 50 specified préfets' disciplinary powers vis-à-vis bourgmestres and other listed authorities, and the circumstances under which such sanctions were authorised. According to these Articles, while préfets could neither suspend nor dismiss a bourgmestre permanently, they could take measures to suspend him temporarily. Specifically, if a préfet proposed to the Minister of the Interior that a bourgmestre be suspended or dismissed, that préfet could suspend the bourgmestre, pending a decision from the Ministry.

3.1.2 Butare *Préfecture*

- 224. Butare *préfecture* is located in the south of Rwanda and borders Gitarama *préfecture* to the north, Gikongoro *préfecture* in the west, Kigali *préfecture* to the northeast and the country of Burundi in the east and south. 408
- 225. During the events referred to in the Indictments, Butare *préfecture* was divided into 20 *communes*: Nyakizu, Kigembe, Gishamvu, Ngoma, Runyinya, Maraba, Ruhashya, Mbazi,

³⁹⁶ T. 19 September 2007 p. 56 (Reyntjens).

³⁹⁷ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

³⁹⁸ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

³⁹⁹ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

⁴⁰⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*).

⁴⁰¹ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*) (before the 1974 amendment to this law, *bourgmestres* were elected directly by the population of the *commune*).

⁴⁰² T. 19 September 2007 p. 42 (Reyntjens).

⁴⁰³ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*).

⁴⁰⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*); T. 21 November 2007 pp. 17-18 (Reyntjens).

⁴⁰⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*).

⁴⁰⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, Organisation Communale).

⁴⁰⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, Organisation Communale).

⁴⁰⁸ T. 13 June 2001 p. 21 (Shukry); Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

Shyanda, Muyaga, Mugusa, Nyaruhengeri, Ndora, Muganza, Kibayi, Rusatira, Nyabisindu, Ntyazo, Muyira and Huve. 409

226. Butare *préfecture* was one of the most populated *préfectures* in Rwanda, with approximately 400 inhabitants per square kilometre. ⁴¹⁰ It was also one of the *préfectures* most heavily populated by Tutsis; 25 percent of the Tutsi population in Rwanda lived in Butare. 411 In the two most Tutsi-populated communes of Butare, Runyinya and Muganza, Tutsis comprised 40 to 45 percent of the total population. 412

3.1.3 Political System Before October 1990

- Towards the end of the 19th century, Germany colonised Rwanda; years later the 227. Kingdom of Belgium took over until Rwanda became independent.⁴¹³
- In 1959, inter-ethnic turmoil broke out, compelling a large contingent of Tutsis living in Rwanda to flee the country. 414 Some of those fleeing Tutsis organised into military groups later known as the RPF which began conducting raids into Rwanda from the early 1960s through 1967. There were also some Hutus among the RPF leadership. 416
- On 1 July 1962, Rwanda became independent; the first President of the Republic was Dominique Mbonyumutwa, a Hutu, who was replaced by Grégoire Kayibanda, a Hutu, that same year.417
- On 5 July 1973, General Juvénal Habyarimana, a Hutu, overthrew Grégoire Kayibanda following a coup d'état which marked the end of the first Republic. 418 In July 1975, Juvénal Habyarimana officially became President of the Republic. 419 From 1975 until the adoption of a new constitution on 10 June 1991, the MRND party founded by Habyarimana was the only political party in Rwanda. 420

The RPF Attack of 1 October 1990

On 1 October 1990, the RPF launched an attack on Rwanda from Uganda. 421 After the 231. attack, the Government arrested approximately 8,000 people nationwide claiming they were accomplices of the RPF. Nationally, the majority of those arrested were Tutsis. 422 In Butare, some political figures were among those arrested, including Fréderic Nzamurambaho and

```
<sup>409</sup> Para. 2.3 of each Indictment.
```

⁴¹⁰ T. 24 June 2004 p. 33 (Guichaoua).

⁴¹¹ T. 24 June 2004 p. 33 (Guichaoua).

⁴¹² T. 24 June 2004 p. 33 (Guichaoua).

⁴¹³ T. 8 June 2004 p. 7 (Des Forges).

⁴¹⁴ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 9-10 (Des Forges).

⁴¹⁵ T. 8 June 2004 p. 10 (Des Forges).

⁴¹⁶ T. 14 June 2004 p. 64 (Des Forges); T. 29 September 2004 p. 23 (Guichaoua).

⁴¹⁷ T. 8 June 2004 p. 22 (Des Forges).

⁴¹⁸ T. 8 June 2004 p. 11 (Des Forges); T. 19 September 2007 p. 11 (Reyntjens).

⁴¹⁹ T. 19 September 2007 p. 18 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 3.

⁴²⁰ T. 19 September 2007 p. 18 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 3.

⁴²¹ T. 25 June 2004 pp. 35-36 (Guichaoua); T. 4 July 2007 pp. 13-15 (Nteziryayo); T. 21 October 2008 p. 57 (Ndayambaje).

422 T. 25 June 2004 pp. 35-36 (Guichaoua); T. 22 February 2005 p. 4 (Witness WZJM).

Félicien Gatabazi, who later played a key role in the creation of the PSD, an opposition party. ⁴²³ In addition to the arrests, about 300 Tutsi civilians were killed in Kabilira *commune* in mid-October 1990. ⁴²⁴

3.1.5 The Multi-Party Era in Rwanda

- 232. A new constitution was adopted on 10 June 1991, which created a multi-party system and provided for the creation of the Transitional Government. New political parties were created, including the MDR, PSD, PL, PDC and the CDR. 425
- 233. On 7 April 1992, the MRND, MDR, PSD, PDC and PL signed a protocol agreement, which set forth the power-sharing arrangement that formed the heart of the Transitional Government. On 16 April 1992, the multi-party Transitional Government, headed by Dismas Nsengiyaremye of the MDR, was established. Article 3 of the protocol provided for the organisation of *commune*, legislative and presidential elections to be held within 12 months of the creation of the Transitional Government.
- 234. On 3 June 1992, the MDR, PL and PSD met representatives of the RPF in Brussels, Belgium, to discuss how to resolve the ongoing hostilities. The MRND did not participate in these discussions. At the end of the meeting, the participants issued a document entitled "Joint *Communiqué* between the Democratic Forces for Change and the RPF", which declared its signatories agreement to a ceasefire. Nevertheless, on the following night of 4-5 June 1992, the RPF launched an attack on Byumba *préfecture*, displacing approximately 350,000 people.
- 235. On 8 February 1993, the RPF launched an attack in the north of Rwanda, notably in Byumba, Kigali, Ruhengeri and Kibungo *préfectures*. Hundreds of thousands of people were displaced, increasing the total number of displaced persons to 1,000,000. 434
- 236. On 13 April 1993, the five parties constituting the Transitional Government signed a second protocol, extending the Transitional Government's mandate by three months since elections had not been conducted within 12 months of the Government's creation as prescribed by the original protocol of 7 April 1992. Article 2 of the second protocol provided that the

⁴²³ T. 25 June 2004 pp. 34-36 (Guichaoua).

⁴²⁴ T. 8 June 2004 p. 12 (Des Forges).

⁴²⁵ T. 19 September 2007 p. 18 (Reyntjens).

⁴²⁶ Defence Exhibit 320 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Protocol of Understanding Between Political Parties Called to Participate in the Transitional Government); T. 1 September 2005 pp. 40-41 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴²⁷ T. 29 September 2004 p. 49 (Guichaoua).

⁴²⁸ Defence Exhibit 320 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Protocol of Understanding Between Political Parties Called to Participate in the Transitional Government); T. 5 September 2005 pp. 46-47 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴²⁹ T. 30 September 2004 pp. 45-47 (Guichaoua).

⁴³⁰ T. 30 September 2004 pp. 46-47 (Guichaoua); T. 7 September 2005 pp. 11-13 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴³¹ T. 30 September 2004 pp. 45-47 (Guichaoua); T. 7 September 2005 pp. 19-21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴³² T. 30 September 2004 pp. 45-47 (Guichaoua); T. 25 September 2007 pp. 45-47 (Reyntjens).

⁴³³ T. 8 September 2005 p. 30 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 30 September 2004 pp. 53-54 (Guichaoua).

⁴³⁴ T. 30 September 2004 pp. 53-54 (Guichaoua).

⁴³⁵ Defence Exhibit 324 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Additional Protocol to the Protocol Agreement Between the Political Parties Represented in the Transitional Government Formed on 16 April 1992); T. 1 September 2005 p. 55 (Nyiramasuhuko). The five parties were the MRND, MDR, PL, PSD and PDC.

main task of the Government during its extended term was to negotiate a peace deal and establish the Broad-Based Transitional Government. 436

On 16 July 1993, the five governing parties signed a third protocol further extending the Transitional Government's mandate until the Broad-Based Transitional Government took office. 437 After this new protocol was signed. Dismas Nsengivaremye was dismissed as Prime Minister and replaced by Agathe Uwilingiyimana, who was sworn in on 18 July 1993. 438

3.1.6 The Arusha Accords

- On 3 August 1993, President Habyarimana and Colonel Alexis Kanyarengwe, chairman of the RPF, signed the Arusha Accords, which comprised six military and political protocol agreements. 439
- 239. The political protocol envisaged three transitional institutions: the Transitional National Assembly, the Broad-Based Transitional Government and the Presidency of the Republic. 440 The number of Government ministerial positions held by the MRND was to be limited to five, plus the Presidency, with the remaining posts to be shared as follows: RPF, five; MDR, four (including the Prime Minister); PSD, three; PL, three; and the PDC, one. 441
- 240. On 5 January 1994, Juvénal Habyarimana was sworn in as President in conformity with the Arusha Accords. In the three months that followed, attempts to set up the Broad-Based Transitional Government and the Transitional National Assembly failed. 442

The Murder of Félicien Gatabazi and Martin Bucyana 3.1.7

On 22 February 1994, Félicien Gatabazi, Secretary-General of the PSD, was murdered in Kigali. 443 Gatabazi had been very popular in Butare, having co-founded the PSD with other natives of Butare *préfecture*. 444

⁴³⁶ Defence Exhibit 324 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Additional Protocol to the Protocol Agreement Between the Political Parties Represented in the Transitional Government Formed on 16 April 1992).

⁴³⁷ Defence Exhibit 329 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Additional Protocol to the 7 April 1992 Protocol Signed by the Political Parties Participating in the Transitional Government Formed on 16 April 1992); T. 8 September 2005 pp. 57-59 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁴³⁸ T. 6 October 2004 p. 5 (Guichaoua); T. 8 September 2005 pp. 59-61 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Defence Exhibit 325 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Peace Agreement Between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF) (These protocol agreements were: (i) Ceasefire agreement dated 29 March 1991 between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF, as amended in Gbadolite on 16 September 1991 and in Arusha on 12 July 1992; (ii) Protocol agreement between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF on the rule of law, signed in Arusha on 18 September 1992; (iii) Protocol agreement between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF on power-sharing within a broad-based transitional government, signed in Arusha on 30 October 1992 and 9 January 1993; (iv) Protocol agreement between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF on the repatriation of refugees, and the resettlement of displaced persons, signed in Arusha on 9 June 1993; (v) Protocol agreement between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF on the integration of the armed forces of the two parties, signed in Arusha on 3 August 1993; (vi) Protocol agreement between the Government of the Republic of Rwanda and the RPF on miscellaneous issues and final provisions, signed in Arusha on 3 August 1993).

⁴⁴⁰ T. 19 September 2007 pp. 20, 22 (Reyntjens).

⁴⁴¹ Para. 1.11 of each Indictment.

⁴⁴² T. 19 September 2007 pp. 26-27 (Reyntjens); T. 20 September 2005 pp. 16, 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

242. Shortly after Félicien Gatabazi's death, Martin Bucyana, the CDR President, was murdered in Mwulire *secteur*, Mbazi *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. 445

3.1.8 President Habyarimana's Death and Its Immediate Consequences

243. On 6 April 1994, the plane carrying President Habyarimana and other passengers was shot down on its approach to Kigali airport. On 7 April 1994, a *communiqué* from the Minister of Defence was broadcast on the radio asking people to remain at home until further notice. On 7 April 1994, several key political figures were murdered in Kigali, including: Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana; Kavaruganda, the president of the Rwandan Constitutional Court; Fréderic Nzamurambaho, the president of the PSD; and Gafaranga and Ngango, vice-presidents of the PSD. The search for and killing of people, mostly Tutsis, started on 7 April 1994 and proceeded to spread throughout the country.

3.1.9 The Interim Government

- 244. The Interim Government was created on 8 April 1994, following the death of President Habyarimana and Prime Minister Uwilingiyimana. Doctor Théodore Sindikubwabo, Speaker of the Rwandan Parliament, was appointed President of the Republic on the basis of the 1991 constitution. The same day, President Sindikubwabo appointed Jean Kambanda from the MDR to the post of Prime Minister. Both President Sindikubwabo and Prime Minister Kambanda hailed from Butare. The Interim Government included Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, another native of Butare, as Minister of Family and Women's Development.
- 245. The objectives of the Interim Government were set out in a protocol agreement, signed on 8 April 1994 by representatives of the MRND, MDR, PSD, PDC and PL, which together comprised this Interim Government. On 9 April 1994, the members of the Interim Government were sworn-in at the *Hôtel des Diplomates* in Kigali.

⁴⁴³ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 49-50 (Nsabimana); T. 20 September 2007 pp. 27-28 (Reyntjens).

⁴⁴⁴ T. 1 September 2005 p. 35 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 28 June 2004 p. 7 (Guichaoua).

⁴⁴⁵ T. 28 June 2004 p. 7 (Guichaoua); T. 11 September 2006 p. 51 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁴⁶ T. 21 February 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness AND-30).

⁴⁴⁷ T. 2 October 2006 pp. 15, 17 (Rutayisire); T. 18 March 2002 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁴⁴⁸ T. 19 September 2007 p. 30 (Reyntjens); T. 11 September 2006 pp. 52-54 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁴⁹ T. 8 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges).

⁴⁵⁰ T. 19 September 2007 p. 35 (Reyntjens); T. 28 June 2004 p. 58 (Guichaoua).

⁴⁵¹ T. 26 September 2007 p. 29 (Reyntjens); T. 28 June 2004 p. 58 (Guichaoua).

⁴⁵² T. 28 June 2004 p. 58 (Guichaoua).

⁴⁵³ T. 28 June 2004 p. 60 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 36-37; Para. 4.2 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Defence Exhibit 345 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Additional Protocol to the Protocol of Understanding Between the Political Parties Invited to Participate in the Transitional Government, signed 7 April 1994); T. 26 September 2005 pp. 37-38 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁵⁵ T. 26 September 2007 p. 25 (Reyntjens).

3.2 Allegation of Fabrication of Evidence

3.2.1 Introduction

246. The Kanyabashi, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana Defence contend that several Prosecution witnesses were improperly influenced in their testimony by the *Ibuka* association. Evidence led in this regard was aimed at discrediting the testimony of Prosecution witnesses.

247. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that 14 Prosecution witnesses were members of the *Ibuka* association, and were either improperly influenced to give false testimony against Kanyabashi or they encouraged others to testify falsely against Kanyabashi. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-21-T in submitting that Prosecution Witnesses RL, RO, SS, SU TK, QA, QAM, QBM, QC, QG, QI, QJ, QP and QY attended meetings of the *Ibuka* association where participants discussed falsification of testimony against Kanyabashi. The Kanyabashi Defence further relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-18-O in submitting that Prosecution Witnesses QI and RL were *Ibuka* members who chaired meetings regarding false accusations against Kanyabashi. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D in submitting that Prosecution Witnesses SU and FAE were influential *Ibuka* members who falsely accused many people they did not know. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on Prosecution Witness QA's testimony that three influential *Ibuka* members met with him on several occasions and encouraged him to lie against Kanyabashi, which he did.

248. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WNMN in submitting that Prosecution Witness FAE is a militant member of the Association of Genocide Survivors, which is run by *Ibuka* and known for fabricating testimony against accused at the ICTR. Additionally, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ testified that Prosecution Witness QBP is an *Ibuka* member who informed him that she was accusing people in order to acquire their property.

249. The Nsabimana Defence relies on the testimony of Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-59, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-21-T, D-2-18-O and D-13-D and Prosecution Witness QA in submitting that numerous Prosecution witnesses including, Witnesses SS, SU, TK, QAM, QBQ, QG, QI, TK, QJ, QP and QY, are not credible, because they are involved in the

`

⁴⁵⁶ Eleven of these Prosecution witnesses testified at trial, Witnesses QBM, QC and RO did not testify. *See* Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 6-10.

⁴⁵⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 266-268, 620 (submissions regarding Witness QA); paras. 113, 155, 162, 199 (submissions regarding Witness QAM); paras. 113, 155, 162, 199 (submissions regarding Witness QP); para. 357 (submissions regarding Witness QG); paras. 280, 292, 302, 435, 480 (submissions regarding Witness QI); paras. 280, 291, 302, 435 (submissions regarding Witness QJ); paras. 280, 291, 302, 435 (submissions regarding Witness QY); paras. 267-268 (submissions regarding Witness RL); paras. 435, 447 (submissions regarding Witness SS); paras. 435, 447 (submissions regarding Witness SU).

⁴⁵⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 10, 207, 239, 302; *see also* para. 267 (submissions regarding Witness RL); fn. 1905 (citing Witness D-2-18-O's testimony with respect to Witness QI's alleged involvement in *Ibuka*).

 ⁴⁵⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 10, fn. 1728 (submissions regarding Witness SU); T. 19 February 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D) (regarding Witness FAE).
 460 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 9, 266, 302. One of those individuals is allegedly Witness QC, who did not

⁴⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 9, 266, 302. One of those individuals is allegedly Witness QC, who did not testify at trial.

⁴⁶¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 286, 293, 602.

⁴⁶² T. 2 February 2005 pp. 6, 10 (ICS); T. 3 February 2005 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

Ibuka association, which is well known for improperly influencing witnesses.⁴⁶³ The Nsabimana Defence also relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens in support of its allegations that particular Prosecution witnesses were coached before testifying at the ICTR.⁴⁶⁴

- 250. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that four Prosecution witnesses were members of a Rwandan prison group, whose mission was to fabricate evidence against Kanyabashi. Specifically, the Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D in submitting that Prosecution Witnesses FAC, FAM, QCB and QAH belonged to a pressure group in prison whose mission was to incriminate Kanyabashi. In support of this submission, the Kanyabashi Defence relied on the evidence of Prosecution Expert Witnesses Alison Des Forges and André Guichaoua and Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens. Lastly, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-1-4-O was also pressured to testify against Kanyabashi.
- 251. Additional evidence relating to alleged fabrication of evidence was led through Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-P, Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-30, AND-41 and AND-59, Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano and Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WNMN.
- 252. The Prosecution, relying on the *Zigiranyirazo* Trial Judgement, submits that membership in *Ibuka* alone does not give rise to any negative inferences regarding the credibility of witnesses, and the Defence did not lead any evidence of actual interference with a witness.⁴⁶⁹

3.2.2 Evidence

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-21-T

253. Witness D-2-21-T, a Hutu restaurant employee in Ngoma *commune* in 1994, ⁴⁷⁰ testified that she was a member of the *Ibuka* association since its inception in 1995, and had attended various *Ibuka* meetings. ⁴⁷¹ Survivors of the genocide came together to meet informally as of August 1994, although the association did not have a name at first. ⁴⁷² It was officially named

⁴⁶³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 73-77, 421-422, 1106, 1553, 1759; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 pp. 43-44.

⁴⁶⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 71.

⁴⁶⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 11.

⁴⁶⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 113 (submissions regarding Witnesses QCB, FAM and QAH), 322 (submissions regarding Witness FAC).

⁴⁶⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 7.

⁴⁶⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 10.

⁴⁶⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 153, para. 433; *Zigiranyirazo*, Judgement (TC), para. 241.

⁴⁷⁰ Defence Exhibit 697 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁴⁷¹ T. 3 November 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷² T. 4 November 2008 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

Ibuka in 1995, which means "remember" in Kinyarwanda. Any survivor of the genocide was eligible for membership. 474

- 254. Although Hutu, Witness D-2-21-T was eligible to join *Ibuka* because she was also a victim. She was married to a Tutsi, so her children were Tutsis. Many attacks were lodged against her family and assailants hunted her husband and children. Witness D-2-21-T's mother-in-law and brothers-in-law were killed during the genocide; all her in-laws died, but for her husband's sister. Her husband is also an *Ibuka* member, who sustained injuries during the genocide. He testified in several trials in Rwanda as a Prosecution witness.⁴⁷⁵
- 255. Witness D-2-21-T testified that the *Ibuka* association still existed. Members hold meetings during which they address issues facing survivors of the genocide, including housing and educational assistance for survivors' families. They also testify against people who committed crimes against them during the genocide, and this includes giving false testimony.⁴⁷⁶
- 256. She admitted that it was possible *Ibuka* did not exist in Butare in 1995 but that another association known as the Association for Survivors of the Genocide (*Association des Rescapés du Génocide*) did, although she had thought they were the same thing. She did not know whether *Ibuka* had an office in Butare in 1995. When she joined *Ibuka* she received a health-care card from FARG, but did not know what FARG stood for.⁴⁷⁷
- 257. Witness D-2-21-T stated that at three meetings of the association, in June and December 1995, and in April 1997, members were encouraged to give false testimony against Kanyabashi. ⁴⁷⁸ In 1994, Rose Burizhiza, invited her to the first meeting. ⁴⁷⁹

⁴⁷³ T. 4 November 2008 p. 14 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁴ T. 3 November 2008 p. 14 (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁵ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 58-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁶ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 13-14 (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁷ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 50-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁸ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 35-36, 43, 45, 49-51, 59-60, 62 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 pp. 32, 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁷⁹ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 16, 24 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁰ T. 4 November 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸¹ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸² T. 3 November 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸³ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 20, 22-24 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁴ T. 3 November 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁵ T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁶ T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁷ T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁸ T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴⁸⁹ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

 QBM^{493} and others whose first names match those of Witnesses QJ, ⁴⁹⁴ TK, RL, SS, ⁴⁹⁵ and SU. ⁴⁹⁶

- 259. At the first meeting, participants introduced themselves and spoke about where they were during the genocide and how they survived. A man named Kayitare asked whether anyone knew about Kanyabashi's activities during the war, but nobody responded. Kayitare urged participants to research grounds for accusations against Kanyabashi. At the end of the meeting, each participant received 20,000 Rwandese francs to cover travel costs. Participants were told that the date of a subsequent meeting would be communicated, and they should show up for that meeting with the requisite information about Kanyabashi.
- 260. A second meeting was held around the beginning of December 1995 at the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. The same people attended as the previous meeting. During this second meeting, Kayitare read out false accusations that were to be levied against Kanyabashi. Participants were told that they would be called as Prosecution witnesses against Kanyabashi, and to testify falsely. Thereafter, sheets of paper containing accusations to be brought against Kanyabashi were distributed to some participants, including persons whose names match those of Prosecution Witnesses QA, RL, QAM, QP, QJ, TK, QI, QG, QY, SS and SU. Solve the meeting of December 1995 at the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the same people attended as the previous meeting. Solve the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the same people attended as the previous meeting. Solve the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the previous meeting. Solve the Multipurpose Hall in Butare town. Solve the Hall in Butare
- 261. Witness D-2-21-T testified that those who received papers at the meeting stood before the audience, read out what was written on the sheets and tried to memorise the contents. ⁵⁰⁸
- 262. During this meeting, a person whose full name matched that of Witness QA read out from his sheet of paper that he had seen Kanyabashi have the former *conseiller* of Ngoma *secteur* killed, and that Kanyabashi incited people to commit killings at Ngoma Church. ⁵⁰⁹
- 263. A 15-year-old participant from Matyazo, whose first name matches that of Witness RL, read out that he had seen Kanyabashi incite people to killing in Ngoma, that Kanyabashi was

```
<sup>490</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>491</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>492</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 22-24, 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>493</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 22 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>494</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 22, 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>495</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>496</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 22-24 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 pp. 28, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>497</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 35, 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>498</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>499</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>500</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 36 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>501</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>502</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 36-38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>503</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 36-38, 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>504</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>505</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>506</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 43, 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>507</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 43-45, 47-51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>508</sup> T. 3 November 2008 p. 37 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>509</sup> T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
```

with soldiers, policemen and *Interahamwe* in Ngoma, and he incited people to kill at the Matyazo health centre. ⁵¹⁰

- 264. A person whose full name matched that of Witness QAM⁵¹¹ read aloud that Kanyabashi incited killings at Kabakobwa, he incited members of the public to kill via megaphone, and said, "assemble the Tutsi who are at Kabakobwa, since before burning the weeds, you have to first gather them."⁵¹² Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995, where this person lived and that this person had survived Kabakobwa.⁵¹³
- 265. A person whose full name matched that of Witness QP similarly read out that Kanyabashi incited killings at Kabakobwa, that Kanyabashi used a megaphone and asked that Tutsis be assembled at Kabakobwa, stating that whoever wishes to burn weeds must first gather them. Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995, where this person lived and that this person had survived the Kabakobwa killings. 514
- 266. A man whose first name matched that of Witness QJ read out from his sheet of paper that Kanyabashi drove around Butare town with a megaphone, inciting members of the population to kill Tutsis and their children. This person added that Kanyabashi played a role at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995, where this person lived and how he had survived the events of 1994. 515
- 267. A participant whose first name matched that of Witness TK read from her document that Kanyabashi used a megaphone to incite people to kill Tutsis and their children. Witness D-2-21-T did not know whether the statements made by this woman were true or not because she was just reading the document. Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995, where this person lived and that this woman told them that she survived by hiding at a convent, after which she went to the *préfecture* office. 516
- 268. A participant whose full name matched that of Witness QI read that he saw Kanyabashi travelling around in a vehicle with a megaphone, inciting people to kill, stating, "[k]ill all the Tutsis and ... all their children." He also stated that he saw Kanyabashi with soldiers and policemen at Matyazo, inciting people to kill. Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995 and where this person worked.⁵¹⁷
- 269. A participant whose full name matched that of Witness QG read aloud that at Agateme in Cyarwa, Kanyabashi supervised the destruction of Karekezi's (alias Gifuka's) house, ordered the killing of Gitefano, the driver of the bishopric, and incited members of the public to handle firearms. Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's profession and that this

_

⁵¹⁰ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 54-56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹¹ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 22, 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹² T. 3 November 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹³ T. 3 November 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹⁴ T. 3 November 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹⁵ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹⁶ T. 3 November 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵¹⁷ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

person told the association that during the genocide his pregnant wife and baby had been killed, and he survived by seeking refuge in the Ndora hills.⁵¹⁸

- 270. A participant whose first name matched that of Witness SS read that on several occasions Kanyabashi attended meetings at the *préfecture* office and supervised killings. ⁵¹⁹
- 271. A participant whose first name matched that of Witness SU read out that she had seen Kanyabashi attending meetings at the *préfecture* office. This person also read that Kanyabashi supervised killings in Butare, that Kanyabashi made victims board buses to Nyange, that the Nyange survivors were able to reach the *préfecture* office, and were then bussed to Rango, where there were mass graves for burying Tutsis. See Witness D-2-21-T testified about this person's age in 1995.
- 272. A participant whose full name matched that of Witness QY, who survived killings at the *préfecture* office, read that Kanyabashi had encouraged people to carry out killings and that he took people to Nyange. She also read that survivors of Nyange went to the *préfecture* office, and were taken from there to Rango, where they lived in miserable conditions.⁵²²
- 273. After reading, these individuals handed the documents back to the chairperson. ⁵²³ Witness D-2-21-T stated that what was read from those documents was lies. ⁵²⁴ No documents were distributed to Witness D-2-21-T. ⁵²⁵ Witness D-2-21-T acknowledged that she did not read those documents herself, nor did she take any notes. ⁵²⁶ Her testimony as to the contents of what each person read out was based on her recollection. ⁵²⁷
- 274. A third meeting was held around the end of 1996 at the Multipurpose Hall.⁵²⁸ Witness D-2-21-T subsequently corrected herself, stating that this third meeting actually took place in April 1997.⁵²⁹ The purpose of the meeting was to sum up what had been said during the second meeting.⁵³⁰ The meeting was attended by the same 15 to 30 persons who had participated in the two previous meetings.⁵³¹ During the meeting, each participant repeated what he or she had learned, and what they were to state when the time came to accuse Kanyabashi.⁵³²

 ⁵¹⁸ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
 ⁵¹⁹ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁰ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²¹ T. 3 November 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²² T. 3 November 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²³ T. 3 November 2008 p. 37 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁴ T. 3 November 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁵ T. 4 November 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁶ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁷ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁸ T. 3 November 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²⁹ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 11, 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁰ T. 3 November 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³¹ T. 3 November 2008 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³² T. 3 November 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

- 275. Witness D-2-21-T testified that no one at the *Ibuka* meetings refused to comply with the instructions to bear false testimony. Survivors of the genocide agreed to follow the instructions because they were angry. ⁵³³
- 276. Witness D-2-21-T testified that it was obvious to her that the association was attempting to have those individuals who were in a position of authority at the time of the genocide bear responsibility for what happened. Based on what she saw, the majority of leaders during the war took part in killings. 534
- 277. Between 1996 and her testimony before the ICTR, she attended other *Ibuka* meetings in addition to the three regarding false testimony against Kanyabashi; these other meetings did not deal with false testimony. She insisted however that the three earlier meetings were organised exclusively to prepare people to testify falsely against Kanyabashi and no one else. Meeting participants were told that Kanyabashi, as a figure of authority, could not be innocent because he was a leader within Ngoma *commune*. They were also told that even if they had not seen Kanyabashi during the massacres, they could level accusations against him in his official capacity. The first of these three meetings took place after Kanyabashi's arrest, so they only talked about Kanyabashi. All three meetings were aimed at preparing accusations against Kanyabashi. She did not attend meetings that discussed other people. The first of the set in the interval of the in
- 278. Concerning *Gacaca* trials, she said she knew where the members were located during the genocide and therefore she knew a member was lying when he or she testified as to events taking place in a different location. ⁵⁴⁰
- 279. Witness D-2-21-T did not know whether the persons who agreed to bear false testimony actually did so at Kanyabashi's trial.⁵⁴¹ She never informed either Rwandan authorities or the Tribunal that a group of people were fabricating testimony against Kanyabashi.⁵⁴²
- 280. She acknowledged that *Ibuka* members spoke the truth on some aspects of the genocide. For this reason, she had remained a member of the organisation, despite being aware for approximately 13 years that the organisation was fabricating evidence. 543
- 281. Witness D-2-21-T testified that she met with Nkeshimana, an investigator on the Kanyabashi Defence team, several times; in 2000, 2005, 2007 and 2008. During these meetings, Nkeshimana and Witness D-2-21-T discussed the possibility of her testifying before the Tribunal, although it was only in 2005 that Witness D-2-21-T found out Nkeshimana was employed by Kanyabashi and they discussed her knowledge about fabricated testimony against

⁵³³ T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁴ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁵ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 34, 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁶ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 62, 65 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 pp. 19-21, 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁷ T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁸ T. 4 November 2008 p. 35 (HC) (French); T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵³⁹ T. 4 November 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵⁴⁰ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵⁴¹ T. 4 November 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵⁴² T. 5 November 2008 pp. 36, 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵⁴³ T. 5 November 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

Kanyabashi.⁵⁴⁴ She did not know that Nkeshimana was an investigator in the Kanyabashi Defence team.⁵⁴⁵

282. Witness D-2-21-T denied that she was related to Kanyabashi.⁵⁴⁶ She stated that her uncle's extended sister was Nkeshimana's late wife.⁵⁴⁷ She later admitted that her great grandfather's sister was the mother of the investigator's wife.⁵⁴⁸ She acknowledged that she had family ties with him, but she did not know their exact relationship.⁵⁴⁹

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-18-O

- 283. Witness D-2-18-O, a 16-year-old student at the beginning of 1994,⁵⁵⁰ testified that he was a member of *Ibuka*, which helps members pay school fees and provides assistance in the form of healthcare and emotional support.⁵⁵¹ He joined because he was a Tutsi.⁵⁵²
- 284. Witness D-2-18-O testified that at *Ibuka* meetings, they discussed testifying on events that took place in 1994, but only discussed giving evidence for the Prosecution, even where that person was actually innocent. They did not discuss evidence for the Defence. They would say that all figures of authority had to be charged. While some *Ibuka* members speak the truth, others do not. They
- 285. Witness D-2-18-O testified that he attended two *Ibuka* meetings, one in 2000 and another in 2001 and they were both held at the *bureau* of Matyazo *secteur*.⁵⁵⁷ The meetings were attended by between 100 and 200 people and discussions encompassed the circumstances surrounding the members' survival, events which took place in Ngoma and Matyazo between April and July 1994, and people against whom charges had to be brought, namely all figures of authority, including Kanyabashi and other individuals.⁵⁵⁸
- 286. Witness D-2-18-O testified that two individuals bearing the same first names as Witnesses QI and RL chaired these two meetings.⁵⁵⁹ One of those individuals suggested that people say they saw Kanyabashi in the company of soldiers at the Catholic Church in Ngoma *commune* and the other suggested that people say they saw Kanyabashi with soldiers at Matyazo Clinic.⁵⁶⁰ One of these individuals, whom the witness identified by reference to first name, ethnicity, place of birth, employment in 1994, former and present place of residence and

```
<sup>544</sup> T. 5 November 2008 pp. 30-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>545</sup> T. 5 November 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>546</sup> T. 5 November 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>547</sup> T. 5 November 2008 pp. 55-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>548</sup> T. 5 November 2008 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>549</sup> T. 5 November 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
<sup>550</sup> Defence Exhibit 652 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 19 May 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>551</sup> T. 19 May 2008 pp. 16, 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>552</sup> T. 20 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>553</sup> T. 19 May 2008 pp. 28, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>554</sup> T. 19 May 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>555</sup> T. 19 May 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 19 May 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>556</sup> T. 19 May 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>557</sup> T. 19 May 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>558</sup> T. 19 May 2008 pp. 20-22, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>559</sup> T. 20 May 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>560</sup> T. 19 May 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
```

age, corresponds to Witness QI.⁵⁶¹ The other individual, who Witness D-2-18-O identified by reference to first name, approximate age in 2008, place of birth and residence, corresponds to Witness RL.⁵⁶²

- 287. Witness D-2-18-O testified that the person whose first name matches that of Witness RL told them that he was a survivor of killings at Ngoma Church. This person had seen Major Hitabatuma encouraging people, namely soldiers and local inhabitants, to kill at Ngoma Church. This person told the attendees that although he did not see Kanyabashi at Ngoma Church, it was necessary for them to say that Kanyabashi also went to that location to assist Major Hitabatuma. This person asked them to agree that they saw Kanyabashi there, even though that was not the case. Witness D-2-18-O was aware that people died at Ngoma Church in 1994.
- 288. Witness D-2-18-O stated that he agreed to testify in the Kanyabashi trial because he believed Kanyabashi was innocent. The witness expressed fear of the consequences of his testimony, because an *Ibuka* member told him that if he ever testified on behalf of an Accused, he might be mistreated by the *Ibuka* association. 568
- 289. Witness D-2-18-O testified that while he considered himself to be Tutsi in 1994, some people considered him to be Tutsi and others considered him to be Hutu. ⁵⁶⁹ He testified that he participated in the killings of 12 Tutsis. ⁵⁷⁰ He stated that he committed genocide and was also a victim of the genocide. ⁵⁷¹ His fellow *Ibuka* members came to know he participated in the Matyazo killings when he pled guilty in 2007; he was not expelled from the association thereafter. ⁵⁷² When it was put to him that as an attacker, he did not attend any *Ibuka* meetings, Witness D-2-18-O testified that he did. ⁵⁷³
- 290. Witness D-2-18-O met the Kanyabashi Defence team for the first time in 2005. He disclosed his genocide conviction to the Kanyabashi Defence team when he arrived in Arusha, one week before his testimony. ⁵⁷⁴

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

291. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu who resided in Huye *commune* from April to July 1994, ⁵⁷⁵ testified that for a period of three months he was detained at the Huye *commune* jail after

```
561 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 22-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
562 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 22, 24-26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
563 T. 19 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
564 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 24, 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
565 T. 19 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
566 T. 19 May 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
567 T. 19 May 2008 p. 29; T. 19 May 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
568 T. 19 May 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-18-O).
569 T. 15 May 2008 p. 12 (ICS); T. 19 May 2008 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
570 T. 20 May 2008 pp. 11, 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
571 T. 19 May 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
572 T. 19 May 2008 p. 49 (ICS); T. 20 May 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
573 T. 20 May 2008 pp. 43-47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
574 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 43-47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
575 T. 14 February 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).
```

which he was transferred to Rwandex prison.⁵⁷⁶ While detained, he was asked to give false evidence against three individuals, including Kanyabashi.⁵⁷⁷ Witness D-13-D was asked to accuse Kanyabashi of having participated in the genocide by sensitising the population to participate in killings.⁵⁷⁸

- 292. The Deputy Prosecutor also told Witness D-13-D to accuse, *inter alia*, Kanyabashi, or he would not be released from prison, but Witness D-13-D refused to accuse those people or sign false statements.⁵⁷⁹ He was beaten in prison because he refused to comply with instructions to level accusations and tell lies about a number of individuals, including Kanyabashi.⁵⁸⁰
- 293. While he was in prison he was asked by many other people, including his cousin, to accuse others in order to secure his own release. All those who tried inciting him to give false evidence were members of the *Ibuka* association. He testified that he was a victim of the *Ibuka* association. His cousins, who were Tutsis and *Ibuka* members, told him what was discussed at their meetings, including plans to put him in prison. He contended that he was imprisoned although he never participated in killings. 583
- 294. Witness D-13-D testified that while he was in prison, during the course of *Gacaca* proceedings, he learned that two women, whose full names match Prosecution Witnesses SU and FAE, were influential *Ibuka* members who falsely accused many people, including people they did not know.⁵⁸⁴ Witness D-13-D stated that the woman whose name matches Prosecution Witness SU implicated almost anyone who had a broad nose.⁵⁸⁵

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

- 295. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee,⁵⁸⁶ testified that during his time at the Butare prison, there was a small group of people who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi.⁵⁸⁷ The group included individuals whose names corresponded to Prosecution Witnesses FAM, QAH and QCB, together with an individual whose last name matches that of Witness FAC.⁵⁸⁸
- 296. According to Witness D-2-13-D, the individual whose last name matches that of Witness FAC, together with the two individuals whose full names match those of Witnesses QCB and FAM, found Witness D-2-13-D in his cell and told him they wanted to recruit him

⁵⁷⁶ T. 18 February 2008 p. 32 (ICS); T. 19 February 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁷⁷ T. 19 February 2008 pp. 13, 24-25 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁷⁸ T. 18 February 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁷⁹ T. 18 February 2008 pp. 34, 36 (ICS); T. 19 February 2008 p. 25 (ICS); T. 21 February 2008 pp. 42-43 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸⁰ T. 18 February 2008 pp. 28-31 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸¹ T. 18 February 2008 p. 37 (ICS); T. 21 February 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸² T. 19 February 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸³ T. 19 February 2008 p. 14 (ICS); T. 20 February 2008 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸⁴ T. 19 February 2008 pp. 17, 19-21 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸⁵ T. 19 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁵⁸⁶ T. 28 August 2007 pp. 60, 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁵⁸⁷ T. 30 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁵⁸⁸ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-51 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

on behalf of their community to join the group testifying against Kanyabashi in Arusha.⁵⁸⁹ The witness told them that he did not know anything about Kanyabashi and asked them to leave.⁵⁹⁰

297. On one occasion, Witness D-2-13-D met the person by the same name as Witness QAH. This person told Witness D-2-13-D that he had obtained the necessary documents to go to Arusha to testify against Kanyabashi and that this would be his opportunity to pay Kanyabashi back in kind for this person becoming unemployed.⁵⁹¹

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-1-4-O

298. Witness D-1-4-O, a Hutu health attendant in 1994,⁵⁹² testified that around 2006, certain individuals, including policemen, asked him to be a Prosecution witness for the Butare case.⁵⁹³ Since Witness D-1-4-O refused, he was beaten up by the policemen such that he was forced to move houses.⁵⁹⁴ He refused to testify for the Prosecution because they proposed many things that were false. For example, they asked Witness D-1-4-O to say that he heard Kanyabashi request the population to kill people.⁵⁹⁵

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-P

- 299. Witness D-2-16-P, a Tutsi, testified that he joined the *Ibuka* association in 2004 and continued to be a member. The association assists and counsels survivors. The *Ibuka* association existed in Butare *préfecture*. Witness D-2-16-P testified that the *Ibuka* association did not want members to testify on behalf of former authorities, because according to *Ibuka*, the former authorities led the genocide. S98
- 300. Witness D-2-16-P feared being arrested and detained if it were to be known that he testified for Kanyabashi; *Ibuka* members could complain to authorities that people who have testified in support of the Defence should be arrested.⁵⁹⁹
- 301. Witness D-2-16-P testified that *Ibuka* did not train people to give testimony, and he never heard that the association prepared witnesses. Witness D-2-16-P testified that most of the female members of *Ibuka* in his *secteur* were Hutu widows, and most of the male members were Tutsis. At the *secteur* level, *Ibuka* members did not have membership cards, although a register listed the names of all members.

```
T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
T. 30 August 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
T. 6 May 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).
T. 6 May 2008 p. 70 (ICS); T. 12 May 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).
T. 6 May 2008 pp. 70-71 (ICS); T. 12 May 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).
T. 12 May 2008 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).
T. 13 March 2008 p. i (Extract) (Witness D-2-16-P).
T. 13 March 2008 pp. 25, 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
T. 13 March 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
T. 13 March 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
T. 13 March 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
T. 13 March 2008 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
```

602 T. 13 March 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-30

- 302. Witness AND-30, a Hutu teacher in 1994,⁶⁰³ testified that *Ibuka* was a widely known association that seeks to assist Tutsi survivors by improving their living conditions; it pays school fees for orphans, looks for accommodation for survivors, and attempts to have survivors compensated. This information about *Ibuka* 's activities was broadcast over the radio.⁶⁰⁴
- 303. Witness AND-30 testified that he learned that *Ibuka* entailed remembering the victims and bringing revenge against perpetrators. Most perpetrators were in custody outside the country, and they do not want those people to return. Within this framework, they searched for witnesses to come and give false testimony. 605
- 304. Witness AND-30 testified that he knew a man who shared the last name of Witness RL, and he knew this person's father. He did not know whether this person was the president of *Ibuka* in Butare. He did not know whether this person was the

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-41

- 305. Witness AND-41, a Hutu student in 1994,⁶⁰⁸ testified that he heard that *Ibuka* was drilling people on how to testify against certain people, who were accused on account of their actions in Rwanda. They were training people to give false evidence. In addition to hearing this from others, he also read this in the newspaper.⁶⁰⁹
- 306. Witness AND-41 testified that he heard that a person who shared the same last name as Witness RL was the president of an organisation called *Ibuka*. 610

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-59

307. Witness AND-59 was a Hutu⁶¹¹ civil servant in Rwanda in late 1994, who thereafter worked for several years in the Prosecutor General's office. He testified that an association named *Ibuka* existed in Rwanda in the period between 1994 and 1997.⁶¹² He stated that although it was not the purpose of *Ibuka*, there was some form of guidance of Prosecution witnesses.⁶¹³ Witness AND-59 testified that *Ibuka*'s purpose was to exercise moral influence.⁶¹⁴ *Ibuka* was responsible for locating witnesses in locations where it was known killings had occurred and ensuring that their testimonies were consistent. When asked whether

⁶⁰³ Defence Exhibit 514 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars); T. 21 February 2007 pp. 8, 80 (ICS) (Witness AND-30).

⁶⁰⁴ T. 22 February 2007 pp. 27-28 (Witness AND-30).

⁶⁰⁵ T. 22 February 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-30).

⁶⁰⁶ T. 22 February 2007 pp. 22-23, 26 (Witness AND-30).

⁶⁰⁷ T. 22 February 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-30).

⁶⁰⁸ Defence Exhibit 528 (Nsabimana) (Personal Particulars).

⁶⁰⁹ T. 22 March 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness AND-41).

⁶¹⁰ T. 22 March 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness AND-41).

⁶¹¹ Defence Exhibit 533 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).

⁶¹² T. 30 April 2007 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹³ T. 30 April 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹⁴ T. 30 April 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

he meant that the testimonies of Prosecution witnesses were being aligned, he agreed that is what he meant 615

308. Witness AND-59 testified that he knew very well a man who shared the last name of Witness RL. 616 Witness AND-59 stated this person's first name, and testified that he was Tutsi. 617 Witness AND-59 heard that this man was president of the *Ibuka* association in Butare. 618 He also knew this person's father. 619

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

309. Charles Karemano, a Hutu sociologist who was formerly national secretary of the PSD party, testified that the *Ibuka* association was established sometime around the end of 1994 or the beginning of 1995; he was unsure of the date. Karemano knew that *Ibuka* was an association of survivors but did not know the association's objectives; he did not know if it was training potential witnesses. Karemano was not a member. Karemano testified that there was also a survivors' association for widows, named *Avega*.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ

- 310. Witness WMCZ, a Hutu engineer with two Tutsi wives,⁶²⁴ testified that he knew very well a woman by the same full name as Prosecution Witness QBP.⁶²⁵ This woman was his wife's goddaughter, his brother was married to this woman's sister, and he was neighbours with this woman's parents in Rwanda.⁶²⁶
- 311. Witness WMCZ testified that he saw her several times in June 1994,⁶²⁷ and between 1996 and 1999 this woman came to his house twice and they conversed; she told him that she was a member of the *Ibuka* association and that the association was paying them a sum of 1,000,000 Rwandan francs to point out those who had been responsible for the looting of houses.⁶²⁸
- 312. Witness WMCZ testified that when interviewed, he told the Defence team that this woman informed him that she was accusing people in order to acquire their property. A man whose wife was a member of the same group also told him this information. 629

⁶¹⁵ T. 30 April 2007 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹⁶ T. 30 April 2007 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹⁷ T. 30 April 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹⁸ T. 30 April 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶¹⁹ T. 30 April 2007 pp. 15-17 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁶²⁰ T. 25 August 2006 pp. 28, 35 (Karemano).

⁶²¹ T. 25 August 2006 pp. 28-29 (Karemano).

⁶²² T. 25 August 2006 p. 28 (Karemano).

⁶²³ T. 25 August 2006 p. 29 (Karemano).

⁶²⁴ T. 1 February 2005 pp. 70-71 (ICS); T. 3 February 2005 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶²⁵ T. 1 February 2005 p. 76 (ICS); T. 2 February 2005 pp. 6, 10 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶²⁶ T. 1 February 2005 pp. 76-77 (ICS); T. 7 February 2005 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶²⁷ T. 2 February 2005 p. 37 (ICS); T. 7 February 2005 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶²⁸ T. 2 February 2005 pp. 50-51; T. 3 February 2005 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ); *see also* T. 2 February 2005 pp. 6, 10 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶²⁹ T. 3 February 2005 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

Nviramasuhuko Defence Witness WNMN

- Witness WNMN, a Hutu teacher in 1994, 630 testified that a woman whose full name matches that of Prosecution Witness FAE is an *Ibuka* member. 631 This woman denounced his sister, and collaborated with certain Ibuka members to secure his sister's arrest; he was told this by other people, including his mother and his sister. 632
- Witness WNMN stated that this woman was his sister's colleague and neighbour. 633 Witness WNMN gave a physical description of the woman, described her job, and testified that she was about 40 years old and Tutsi and had five children. 634 In 1994, Witness WNMN had known this woman for over five years; she had been friends with his sister a long time, and he had seen her for a long time. She lived about 300 or 400 metres away from his sister, and they spent almost all of their evenings together, mostly at the witness' sister's home, where they would share a drink and compare notes. 635
- Witness WNMN stated the name and profession of this woman's alleged partner, and 315. testified that they had four children; this woman had a fifth child as well, who had a different father. 636 Witness WNMN saw this woman twice in May 1994, 637 and he met her at his sister's home in June 1994. 638 When it was put to Witness WNMN that he never saw this woman by the same name as Witness FAE in the period April to mid-June 1994, Witness WNMN testified that although he could not give specific dates as to when he saw this woman, he did see her and it was not possible to give specific dates since it was a very long time ago. 639

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntiens

Filip Reyntjens testified that the phenomenon of denunciation was widespread and involved many people including public officials. 640 Reyntjens cited that the phenomenon had even been discussed in a report by the US State Department in the context of Gacaca proceedings. 641 Reyntjens discussed the phenomenon of denunciation and the preparation of Rwandan witnesses in his Expert Report. His Report stated that denunciation was organised at national and local levels; for example, the association of genocide survivors, ARG, in Butare, organised denunciations and false testimony, and at times prepared witnesses and paid them several thousand Rwandan francs to testify for the Prosecution. This information was reliably obtained both within and outside Rwanda 642

```
<sup>630</sup> T. 14 June 2005 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
```

⁶³¹ T. 14 June 2005 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³² T. 14 June 2005 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³³ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁴ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 37-38 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁵ T. 14 June 2005 p. 37 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁶ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 38-40 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁷ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 41-43 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁸ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶³⁹ T. 15 June 2005 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

⁶⁴⁰ T. 24 September 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens).

⁶⁴¹ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 40-41 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 15, fn. 19. 642 Defence Exhibit 571B (Reyntjens Expert Report) pp. 15-16; T. 27 September 2007 p. 38 (Reyntjens).

- 317. As for witnesses who appeared before this Tribunal, Reyntjens testified that false testimony is given by both Defence and Prosecution witnesses and that many witnesses are prepared before they come to testify here. Reyntjens discussed these phenomena regularly in his political chronicles which he published each year.
- 318. Reyntjens' Report further stated that even in the absence of a reward or threats, witnesses testify in a restrictive atmosphere and are aware of what is expected from them; for example, the former *préfet* of Gitarama, Fidèle Uwizeye, was arrested after testifying for the Defence in the *Akayesu* trial before the ICTR. According to his Report, the testimony of several witnesses who implicate Kanyabashi should be treated with extreme caution, including that of Witnesses QA and RE, and those witnesses who implicated Kanyabashi in the Kabakobwa massacres.⁶⁴⁵
- 319. At trial, Reyntjens also discussed various instances where witnesses provided false testimony before various courts, for example, the trial of the "Four of Butare" in Belgium, as well as in the *Akayesu* case before the ICTR, where a witness claimed he had been influenced by the *Ibuka* association. 646
- 320. Concerning fabrication of evidence, in cross-examination Reyntjens agreed that witnesses who were detainees in Rwandan prisons or awaiting to be tried by *Gacaca* trials for their involvement in the events of 1994 at the time of their testimony before this Tribunal likely felt more powerless and pressured than other witnesses.⁶⁴⁷

Prosecution Witness QI

- 321. Witness QI, a Tutsi and former cook, testified that he was not a member of any association which followed the conduct of trials or dealt with the survivors of the 1994 events. 648
- 322. Witness QI was asked during cross-examination whether he knew someone with the last name of Prosecution Witness RL, who was 14 years old in 1994 and came from a specified area; he agreed that he knew someone by that last name from the area specified. Witness QI testified that he had lived with a person with Witness RL's last name at one point in time. When they met after the war, this person told Witness QI where he subsequently lived. Witness QI never lived together with the person whose last name matches Witness RL. 651

⁶⁴³ T. 24 September 2007 p. 41 (Reyntjens).

⁶⁴⁴ T. 27 September 2007 p. 38 (Reyntjens).

⁶⁴⁵ Defence Exhibit 571B (Reyntjens Expert Report) pp. 15-16.

⁶⁴⁶ T. 27 September 2007 pp. 38-39 (Reyntjens).

⁶⁴⁷ T. 2 October 2007 p. 44 (Reyntjens).

⁶⁴⁸ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness QI). The Chamber notes he was not cross-examined on *Ibuka* nor was he examined on his knowledge of Witness D-2-21-T or Witness D-2-18-O.

⁶⁴⁹ T. 25 March 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁶⁵⁰ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (stating that Witness QI testified that he lived together with Witness RL at a certain location); T. 25 March 2004 p. 17 (HC) (Witness QI) (French) (stating that Witness QI previously lived with Witness RL in another house, and that Witness RL subsequently moved to this new location alone). ⁶⁵¹ T. 25 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness QI).

323. Witness QI testified that this person told him that he almost died because he was hit on the head with clubs and had to find his way out of the dead bodies, and he then crawled to a church.⁶⁵²

Prosecution Witness RL

- 324. Witness RL, a Tutsi who was 13 years old in 1994, testified in cross-examination that he was not a member of any survivors' groups nor had he ever attended any trial in Rwanda concerning the events that occurred in Ngoma and Matyazo in 1994. 653
- 325. Witness RL testified that he knew a person with the same surname as Witness QI. Witness RL testified that he was only close to Witness QI to the extent of greeting him. Witness RL would see Witness QI from time to time on account of Witness QI's occupation. They were not close enough however for Witness RL to discuss the events of 1994 with Witness QI, and at no time did he and Witness QI discuss events that occurred in 1994 at Ngoma Church or at Matyazo Clinic. Under cross-examination, when it was put to Witness RL that Witness QI had testified about the experiences suffered by a person by the same surname as Witness RL and was asked whether he maintained that he never spoke with Witness QI about his experiences from April to July 1994, Witness RL insisted he never spoke to Witness QI.

Prosecution Witness QJ

326. Witness QJ, a Tutsi waiter in 1994,⁶⁵⁷ testified that he is married to Witness TK.⁶⁵⁸ Witness QJ stated that they had never discussed the events of April to July 1994 together.⁶⁵⁹ He testified that he did not know of her plans to testify before the Tribunal.⁶⁶⁰

Prosecution Witness TK

- 327. Witness TK, a Tutsi teacher, 661 was asked during cross-examination whether she knew of the *Ibuka* association. She testified that she had heard the association mentioned over the radio, but did not have details. 662
- 328. Witness TK married Witness QJ in 1995.⁶⁶³ When put to Witness TK that she and her husband were interviewed and met the same investigators on 22 January 1997, Witness TK testified that they did not simultaneously meet the investigator; the investigator must have met

⁶⁵² T. 25 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁶⁵³ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness RL). The Chamber notes he was not cross-examined on his knowledge of Witness D-2-21-T or Witness D-2-18-O.

⁶⁵⁴ T. 29 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁶⁵⁵ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 61-62, 64 (ICS); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 17, 23-24 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁶⁵⁶ T. 30 March 2004 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁶⁵⁷ T. 8 November 2001 p. 96 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁶⁵⁸ T. 12 November 2001 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁶⁵⁹ T. 12 November 2001 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁶⁶⁰ T. 12 November 2001 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁶⁶¹ T. 21 May 2002 p. 109 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁶⁶² T. 28 May 2002 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁶⁶³ T. 21 May 2002 p. 101 (ICS) (Witness TK).

with them one by one. 664 Witness TK testified that they did not discuss the events that took place between April and July1994; she never knew that her husband had given statements to the Tribunal's investigators or that he had testified before the Tribunal in 2001. 665 Although she told her husband that she was coming to Arusha, she did not tell him that she was coming as a witness in the Butare case. 666

Prosecution Witness FAE

329. Witness FAE testified that she was a member of the association of survivors of the 1994 Rwandan genocide. 667 When asked during cross-examination whether the ARG association had a custom of character destruction, she testified that they only told what they saw and heard with their own ears. 668 When asked whether she and others in her association denounced people in order to be requited with scholarships for their children, she responded that she, and no one else, paid for her children's studies. 669

Prosecution Witness QBP

Witness QBP, a Tutsi woman, was asked during cross-examination whether she was a member of Abasa or another association that worked with the Ibuka association, along with several named individuals, including Witness TA. 670 She testified that she shared pain with the named individuals, but they do not constitute an association.⁶⁷¹ She denied that she denounced people in exchange for monetary compensation, and denied that Butare officials chased her out of Butare town in February 1995 for making false accusations.⁶⁷²

Prosecution Witness SU

331. Witness SU, a Tutsi woman, was asked during cross-examination whether she knew an association of victims of the events of 1994, named Ibuka, to which she testified that she had heard people talk about this association. 673 When she was also asked whether she knew an association of victims of the events of 1994, named Avega, she stated that people talk about Avega, but she did not know it. 674 When asked whether she was a member of either association or a similar association, she testified that she was "between these two associations." ⁶⁷⁵ By this she meant she was not a member of either. ⁶⁷⁶ She testified that these associations had their own

⁶⁶⁴ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 45-48 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁶⁶⁵ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 44-47, 92-93, 101-103 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁶⁶⁶ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 106-107 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁶⁶⁷ T. 18 March 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

⁶⁶⁸ T. 18 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

⁶⁶⁹ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

⁶⁷⁰ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

⁶⁷¹ T. 29 October 2002 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

⁶⁷² T. 29 October 2002 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

⁶⁷³ T. 22 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness SU).

⁶⁷⁴ T. 22 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness SU).

⁶⁷⁵ T. 22 October 2002 p. 90 (Witness SU).

⁶⁷⁶ T. 22 October 2002 p. 92 (ICS) (Witness SU).

mode of functioning and activities but she was not involved with them.⁶⁷⁷ She was not a member of any other association of survivors.⁶⁷⁸

Prosecution Witness QP

332. Witness QP, a 15-year-old Tutsi girl in 1994,⁶⁷⁹ was asked during cross-examination whether she ever attended meetings or discussions during which the events at Kabakobwa in 1994 were discussed.⁶⁸⁰ Witness QP responded that there were no such meetings; she talked about those events before the Tribunal.⁶⁸¹ She had never been questioned by Rwandan authorities about the Kabakobwa events.⁶⁸²

Prosecution Witness QG

333. Witness QG, a Tutsi technician, 683 was asked during cross-examination whether he was a member of *Ibuka*. He stated that *Ibuka* was not active in his area, although FARG was. He was not associated with this association; he just worked with other survivors in the region for the purpose of burying victims in dignity. They looked for people that died on the hill and buried them. He never collaborated with a person with the same first name as Witness FAE. 685

Prosecution Witness QA

- 334. Witness QA, a Hutu, testified that before the Canadian Rogatory Commission concerning the case of Désiré Munyaneza in 2008, he testified that he had lied to the Office of the Prosecutor in 1996, and this Tribunal in 2004 when he said that he had heard Kanyabashi give a speech in which he purportedly promised to carry out the instructions of the President. He also testified that he lied to Canadian policemen when he falsely accused Munyaneza in several respects in a case before Canadian courts and gave false testimony in the Munyaneza trial. Witness QA stated that only a few aspects of his original testimony before this Tribunal were true; most of his original testimony was a lie. He canadian courts and gave false testimony before this Tribunal were true; most of his original testimony was a lie.
- 335. Witness QA claimed that he was encouraged to lie against Kanyabashi by three men who were influential figures within the administration of the *Ibuka* association, namely Innocent Kayitare, Martin Uwariraye and Polisi Mubera, the *conseiller* of Ngoma *secteur*. 689

⁶⁷⁷ T. 22 October 2002 p. 93 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁶⁷⁸ T. 22 October 2002 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁶⁷⁹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness QP).

⁶⁸⁰ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness QP).

⁶⁸¹ T. 6 June 2002 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QP).

⁶⁸² T. 6 June 2002 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness QP).

⁶⁸³ Prosecution Exhibit 89 (Personal Particulars); T. 16 March 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness QG).

⁶⁸⁴ T. 16 March 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness QG).

⁶⁸⁵ T. 16 March 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness QG).

⁶⁸⁶ T. 29 October 2008 p. 11; T. 29 October 2008 pp. 13, 15-16, 23 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 p. 19; T. 30 October 2008 pp. 24, 32, 47-48 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁸⁷ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 31, 44, 49-50, 52-53 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁸⁸ T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁸⁹ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 16-17, 20-21, 23, 34 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

Witness QA testified that prior to his interview with the Office of the Prosecutor in 1996 he took part in preparatory meetings with these three men. ⁶⁹⁰

- 336. These three men came to Witness QA's home where they discussed Kanyabashi. Witness QA asked for money in order to lie against Kanyabashi. He told them that if they did not give him money, he would not do what they wanted him to do. They promised to give him 1,000,000 francs. ⁶⁹²
- 337. On another occasion sometime after his testimony before this Tribunal, Martin Uwarariraye, Innocent Kayitare and two policemen came to his home to prepare him to testify falsely in the case of Desiré Munyaneza, who was accused by the Canadian justice system. He told them that he was no longer prepared to lie against Munyaneza, nor was he willing to testify falsely in another proceeding, as they had not given him the money he had initially been promised in exchange for testifying falsely against Kanyabashi; as such he would revisit his testimony concerning Kanyabashi.
- 338. When asked why he agreed to make false statements and assertions, Witness QA testified that Hutus who had not fled after the genocide had to be careful because they could be considered authors of the genocide, especially if they refused to obey instructions from the *Ibuka* administration.⁶⁹⁵ He lied in order to please those who sent him and in order to spare his life.⁶⁹⁶ He followed their instructions for his personal security believing they were capable of either ensuring or threatening his safety; he also followed their instructions because they promised to give him 1,000,000 francs after their first meeting. Despite several attempts, he did not receive the money he was promised.⁶⁹⁷ That is why he decided to tell the truth.⁶⁹⁸

Prosecution Witness FAM

339. Witness FAM, a Hutu detainee, testified that he did not mention Kanyabashi or Nteziryayo in one of his prior statements because he was detained with members of their families and he was concerned for his safety. He testified that he was detained with Witness QCB in Karubanda prison and, at the time of giving his testimony to the ICTR, had also been detained with Witness QCB in Arusha for 5 to 6 months while they waited to give their testimony before this Tribunal. He stated that he attended *Gacaca* sessions in prison with Witness QCB, but stated that they were each concerned with their own case. Witness FAM

⁶⁹⁰ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 23, 64 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹¹ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 29, 64 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹² T. 29 October 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹³ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 28-30, 49, 64-66 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 56-57 (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁴ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 30-31, 64-66 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁵ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 23, 28, 32 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁶ T. 29 October 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁷ T. 29 October 2008 p. 56 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 51-53 (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁸ T. 29 October 2008 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁶⁹⁹ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94, 106-107 (Witness FAM).

⁷⁰⁰ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM).

⁷⁰¹ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM).

agreed that he had been detained both in Karubanda prison and together in Arusha with a person with the same full name as Defence Witness D-2-13-D.⁷⁰²

Prosecution Witness OCB

340. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detainee at the time of testimony, ⁷⁰³ testified that he was detained with Witness FAM in Arusha pending his testimony before this Tribunal, and that they were detained in the same area in Rwanda. ⁷⁰⁴ Witness QCB was asked whether he had seen someone with the same last name as Defence Witness D-2-13-D after 1994. Witness QCB testified that he heard that this man came to town with investigators, but he did not see him with his own eyes. ⁷⁰⁵

Prosecution Witness QAH

341. Witness QAH, a Hutu farmer and detainee, was asked whether he knew someone with the same last name as Defence Witness D-2-13-D. Witness QAH testified that he met this person at Karubanda prison. Witness QAH testified that he never had discussions regarding events in their *secteur* with this person. ⁷⁰⁶

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

342. In an article entitled *The Tribunal for Rwanda: from Crisis to Failure*?, ⁷⁰⁷ André Guichaoua wrote that the credibility of both Prosecution and Defence witnesses varied, since they were identified and advised by either the former or present Rwandan authorities. Both the associations of survivors and the network of former authorities, supporting Prosecution or Defence respectively, had established a kind of subcontracting network for the preparation of witnesses who came to the Tribunal.

3.2.3 Deliberations

343. The Chamber has carefully considered the totality of evidence adduced in support of the theory that testimony led through several Prosecution witnesses is not credible because these witnesses were improperly influenced by the *Ibuka* association. The Chamber recalls that the Prosecution bears the burden of establishing the guilt of the Accused beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the Defence need only raise reasonable doubt. The Chamber has reviewed the testimony of factual and expert witnesses who alleged generally that the *Ibuka* association, among others, is motivated by a collective desire for revenge and accountability, and coaches Prosecution witnesses to falsely testify against an accused at the ICTR. Specifically, the

⁷⁰² T. 13 March 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness FAM).

⁷⁰³ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).

⁷⁰⁴ T. 28 March 2002 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁷⁰⁵ T. 2 April 2002 p. 138 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁷⁰⁶ T. 7 April 2004 pp. 42-43 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

⁷⁰⁷ Defence Exhibit 254 (Kanyabashi) (*The Tribunal for Rwanda: from Crisis to Failure?*, by Guichaoua); T. 12 October 2004 pp. 49-50 (Guichaoua).

⁷⁰⁸ See Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), paras. 38, 42.

⁷⁰⁹ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 13-14 (Witness D-2-21-T); T. 19 May 2008 pp. 21, 28, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O);

T. 22 February 2007 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness AND-30); T. 22 March 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness AND-41); T. 30

Chamber has carefully considered the testimony of Defence witnesses who sought to implicate Prosecution Witnesses FAE, QAM, QBM, QG, QI, QJ, QP, QY, RL, SS, SU, TK and QBP as *Ibuka* members who may have been coached in their testimony before the ICTR.

- 344. The Chamber notes that the Defence teams failed to consistently establish that an individual identified by a Defence Witness as an Ibuka member allegedly involved in fabricating testimony, is in fact the same person as a Prosecution witness with the same name. The Chamber has applied a case-by-case approach to determine whether the information provided by Defence witnesses in this regard was sufficient to establish that a Defence Witness was, in actual fact, testifying about a Prosecution witness in the instant case.
- The Chamber notes that it is striking that every key witness in the Prosecution's case against Kanyabashi was levelled with an allegation of fabricated testimony. This raises questions regarding the plausibility of these Defence submissions.

Credibility of Witness D-2-21-T

- The Kanyabashi Defence relies heavily on the testimony of Witness D-2-21-T in support of its submissions regarding falsification of evidence led against Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-21-T identified various individuals who, she claimed, attended three meetings of the *Ibuka* association, during which they discussed giving false testimony against Kanyabashi. 710 The Chamber finds her testimony not credible for several reasons.
- First, the Kanyabashi Defence raised these allegations of false testimony long after the 347. Prosecution rested its case. The Chamber considers it significant that Witness D-2-21-T's specific allegations against relevant Prosecution witnesses were not put to those witnesses during their cross-examination, despite the fact that the Kanyabashi Defence had ample opportunity to discover this information before the testimony of the said Prosecution witnesses.⁷¹¹ Witness D-2-21-T testified that she met with an investigator on the Kanyabashi Defence team in 2000, 2005, 2007 and 2008. 712 She stated that during these meetings, they discussed the possibility of her testifying before the Tribunal although it was only in 2005 that Witness D-2-21-T found out Nkeshimana was employed by Kanyabashi and she informed them about her knowledge of meetings concerning the fabrication of testimony against Kanyabashi.⁷¹³ When Nkeshimana asked her to appear before the Tribunal to relay this same information, Witness D-2-21-T first declined. 714 Witness D-2-21-T was added to the Kanyabashi witness list on 24 April 2008 and she first testified in November 2008, after the formal closure of the Kanyabashi Defence case in May 2008. The question remains as to why the Defence did not put forward this information at an earlier date.

April 2007 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness AND-59); T. 27 September 2007 pp. 38-41 (Reyntjens); T. 12 October 2004

pp. 47-48 (Guichaoua).
⁷¹⁰ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 35-36, 43, 45, 49-51, 59-60, 62 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 pp. 32, 62 (ICS) (Witness

⁷¹¹ Prosecution Witnesses QJ and QAM first testified in 2001; Prosecution Witnesses TK, SU and QP first testified in 2002; Prosecution Witnesses QY and SS first testified in 2003; Prosecution Witnesses QI, RL, QA and OG first testified in 2004.

⁷¹² T. 5 November 2008 pp. 30-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹³ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 31-33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹⁴ T. 5 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

- Second, Witness D-2-21-T may have been an *Ibuka* member during the period of the three meetings at issue, given that she was married to a Tutsi during the events of 1994, ⁷¹⁵ and members of her extended family were killed during the genocide. 716 However, the Chamber finds her account of these three meetings to be unbelievable with respect to the modality of fabricating testimony. Witness D-2-21-T's testimony that select participants at the 1995 meeting read out to the rest of the group false testimony that was written on sheets of paper. 717 is unconvincing.
- Third, the Chamber considers it significant that Witness D-2-21-T was not among the group of people who were given documents to read from, nor did she actually read the contents of any of the distributed documents. 718 As such, she cannot verify the content of any of those documents.
- Fourth, Witness D-2-21-T testified that she did not take notes during the meetings.⁷¹⁹ 350. The Chamber doubts her ability to accurately recall details of what transpired at those meetings, and the specifics of the alleged false testimony, more than a decade later.
- Fifth, Witness D-2-21-T insisted that these meetings were organised exclusively to prepare people to testify "falsely" against Kanyabashi, 720 however, she nevertheless acknowledged that *Ibuka* members spoke the truth on some aspects of the genocide. She stated that not all of the meetings involved discussions on false testimony.⁷²¹ Having reviewed Witness D-2-21-T's account of these meetings, the Chamber notes that no one at the meetings ever referred to the events discussed as "false evidence." The leader of the alleged meetings gave instructions asking members to bring forth evidence against Kanyabashi in his individual capacity or in his capacity as the leader of Ngoma commune; it was never said that members needed to give false testimony. 723
- 352. Sixth, Witness D-2-21-T testified that she did not know whether the persons who agreed to bear false testimony actually did so at Kanyabashi's trial. She stated that at each of the subsequent association meetings that she attended, the members never discussed whether false testimony had actually been provided at Kanyabashi's trial. 724
- Seventh, Witness D-2-21-T could not have been aware of Kanyabashi's movements 353. between April and July 1994, since she admitted that she did not see Kanyabashi during this period and she was at home. ⁷²⁵ Accordingly, she was not in a position to assess the veracity of

⁷¹⁵ T. 4 November 2008 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹⁶ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 58-61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹⁷ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 36-38 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹⁸ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷¹⁹ T. 4 November 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁰ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 62, 65 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 pp. 19-21, 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²¹ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 34, 69 (ICS); T. 5 November 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T). The Chamber notes Witness D-2-21-T's testimony that *Ibuka* members discussed issues facing survivors of the genocide, including accommodation and educational assistance for the families of survivors: T. 3 November 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
⁷²² T. 4 November 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²³ T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁴ T. 4 November 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁵ T. 5 November 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

statements made at the *Ibuka* meetings regarding Kanyabashi's actions between April and July 1994

- Eighth, while Witness D-2-21-T testified that these three *Ibuka* meetings were 354. organised exclusively to prepare potential witnesses to testify against Kanyabashi and no one else, 726 Witness D-2-21-T did not provide a convincing explanation as to why the *Ibuka* association would have specifically targeted Kanyabashi. Her testimony that Kanyabashi was targeted by Ibuka because he held a position of authority in Ngoma commune⁷²⁷ is unconvincing, as the association could have targeted many other figures of authority in Butare préfecture.
- 355. Ninth, Witness D-2-21-T testified that she did not know that a certain Nkeshimana was an investigator in the Kanyabashi Defence team. However, she had testified earlier that she met with Joseph Nkeshimana, an investigator on the Kanyabashi Defence team, several times; in 2000, 2005, 2007 and 2008. During these meetings, they discussed the possibility of her testifying before the Tribunal and her knowledge of Kanyabashi. 730 Furthermore, she admitted that her great-grandfather was the uncle of Nkeshimana's late wife. 731 The Chamber finds Witness D-2-21-T's assertion that she did not know that Nkeshimana was an investigator in the Kanyabashi Defence team⁷³² to be implausible, given that they met on a number of occasions and considering her extended family ties to him. Her inconsistent testimony on her knowledge of Nkeshimana's role as an investigator for the Kanyabashi Defence casts further doubt on her credibility and reliability.
- Tenth, the Chamber notes that Witness D-2-21-T asserted that she knew that members were providing false testimony in *Gacaca* trials because she knew where these members were living during the killings and they read statements as to events in other locations. 733 Even if the Chamber were to accept that Witness D-2-21-T knew where each of the members was living during the killings, the Chamber does not find it credible that Witness D-2-21-T knew the whereabouts of each of the association's members who purportedly agreed to bear false testimony during the course of the more than three months in which killings occurred in Ngoma commune.
- Finally, the Chamber observes that Witness D-2-21-T admitted in cross-examination that the *Ibuka* association may not have existed in 1995, but that another genocide survivors' group did exist. 734 This is inconsistent with Witness D-2-21-T's prior assertion that two of the three *Ibuka* meetings at issue took place in 1995. The Chamber considers it significant that the witness' examination-in-chief focused on the *Ibuka* association rather than any other survivors' group. While the witness gave detailed testimony on the inception of the *Ibuka*

⁷²⁶ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 32, 62, 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁷ T. 4 November 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁸ T. 5 November 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷²⁹ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 30-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁰ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 30-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³¹ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³² T. 5 November 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³³ T. 4 November 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁴ T. 5 November 2008 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁵ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 20-21, 36-38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

association and the identity of attendees at this set of meetings, ⁷³⁶ no mention was made of any other survivors' group until cross-examination.

- 358. Witness D-2-21-T disavowed a portion of a prior statement in which she claimed her *conseiller de secteur* organised meetings and that she observed him with documents bearing the names of individuals to be killed. She asserted that the investigators did not accurately take down her statement; her actual statement to investigators was that the *conseiller* held a meeting to discuss community work and announced to the members of the public that they all had a right to join a political party in this period of multiparty politics.⁷³⁷ She also stated that the remainder of the prior statement was in fact accurate.⁷³⁸ The Chamber accepts this explanation, and notes that this inconsistency is not material to the allegation at issue.
- 359. Taking into account all of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the testimony of Witness D-2-21-T is neither credible nor reliable.

Credibility of Witness D-2-18-O

- 360. The Kanyabashi Defence also relies on Witness D-2-18-O in support of its allegations. This witness was added to the Kanyabashi witness list on 24 April 2008 and gave evidence in May 2008, towards the end of the Kanyabashi Defence case, which opened in July 2007. Witness D-2-18-O testified that he was a member of *Ibuka*, that he attended two *Ibuka* meetings where they discussed providing evidence against certain individuals, including Kanyabashi, even when an individual was actually innocent. ⁷³⁹
- 361. The testimony of Witness D-2-18-O suffers from serious credibility issues. Although Witness D-2-18-O identifies as a Tutsi, and is a member of the *Ibuka* association, he confessed in 2007 to having manned roadblocks and participated in killing 12 Tutsis during the 1994 genocide. The Chamber does not consider the witness' portrayal of himself as both a victim and perpetrator of the genocide to be plausible.
- 362. Witness D-2-18-O's attempt to hide his criminal record from the Kanyabashi Defence also seriously undermines his credibility. Witness D-2-18-O was sentenced and imprisoned for his crimes. The cross-examination, Witness D-2-18-O admitted that he had not disclosed his genocide conviction to the Kanyabashi Defence team until he arrived in Arusha one week before his testimony, even though he met that team for the first time in 2005.
- 363. For these reasons, the Chamber is of the view that his testimony should be treated with appropriate caution.

_

⁷³⁶ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 14, 16, 20-24 (ICS); T. 4 November 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁷ T. 4 November 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁸ T. 4 November 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷³⁹ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 16, 18, 20-22, 28, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁷⁴⁰ T. 15 May 2008 p. 12 (ICS); T. 19 May 2008 pp. 16, 18, 20 (ICS); T. 20 May 2008 pp. 7-8, 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁷⁴¹ T. 19 May 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁷⁴² T. 19 May 2008 p. 36; T. 19 May 2008 pp. 37-41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁷⁴³ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 43-47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

Credibility of Witness D-13-D

- 364. The Chamber notes Witness D-13-D's testimony that when he was detained in Rwanda, *Ibuka* members tried to "incite" him to give false evidence against Kanyabashi, among others. Witness D-13-D further testified that after he was tried and acquitted in Rwanda, he was asked to falsely implicate Kanyabashi and two other individuals as a precondition for his release. 745
- 365. Other than that Witness D-13-D was asked to accuse Kanyabashi of having participated in the genocide by sensitising the population to participate in killings. Witness D-13-D did not provide any specific information about the false allegations that he was allegedly told to level against Kanyabashi.
- 366. Furthermore, the Chamber notes the existence of personal ties between Witness D-13-D and Kanyabashi. Taking into account the foregoing, the Chamber finds that Witness D-13-D's testimony on this matter should be treated with appropriate caution.

Credibility of Witness D-2-13-D

- 367. Witness D-2-13-D also testified that while detained at Butare prison, there was a small group of people who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi. An individual with the same surname as Witness FAC, together with the two individuals whose full names match those of Witnesses QCB and FAM, found Witness D-2-13-D in his cell and told him they wanted to recruit him on behalf of their community to join the group going to testify against Kanyabashi in Arusha. Like Witness D-13-D, Witness D-2-13-D did not provide any specific information about the false allegations that he was allegedly told to level against Kanyabashi. Further, Witness D-2-13-D did not state why he thought the group was preparing to testify falsely against Kanyabashi.
- 368. Witness D-2-13-D also testified that Witness QAH told him that he was going to Arusha to testify against Kanyabashi and that this would be his opportunity to pay Kanyabashi back in kind for Witness QAH becoming unemployed. The Chamber recalls that Witness QAH confirmed that from 1975 to 1979 he had been a civil servant appointed by Kanyabashi, but he denied that he had been dismissed for a professional misdemeanour testifying that he chose to resign. Accordingly, based on Witness QAH's own admission, the Chamber considers he had no motive to seek revenge upon Kanyabashi.
- 369. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-13-D's testimony does not undermine the credibility of the testimonies of Witnesses QAH, QCB and FAM.

_

⁷⁴⁴ T. 18 February 2008 p. 32 (ICS); T. 19 February 2008 pp. 13, 24-25 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁷⁴⁵ T. 18 February 2008 pp. 34, 36 (ICS); T. 19 February 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁷⁴⁶ T. 18 February 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁷⁴⁷ T. 14 February 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-13-D).

⁷⁴⁸ T. 30 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁷⁴⁹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁷⁵⁰ T. 30 August 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁷⁵¹ T. 7 April 2004 pp. 75-76 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

Credibility of Witness D-1-4-0

The Chamber notes Witness D-1-4-O's testimony that around 2006, certain individuals, including Rwandan policemen, asked him to be a Prosecution witness for the Butare case, and falsely testify that Kanyabashi asked the population to kill. 752 The Chamber notes that the only specific example of false testimony that Witness D-1-4-O cited implicated Kanyabashi. This witness did not provide any explanation as to why the individuals who approached him wanted to target Kanyabashi. The Chamber considers Witness D-1-4-O's testimony on this point to be vague and unsubstantiated, and finds that it does not undermine the credibility of specific evidence led against Kanyabashi.

Evidence of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-P

Notwithstanding that Witness D-2-16-P testified that the *Ibuka* association does not want members to testify on behalf of former authorities, Witness D-2-16-P testified that *Ibuka* does not train people to give testimony, and he never heard that the association prepared witnesses.⁷⁵³ The Chamber considers it significant that this witness, who is Tutsi and had been an *Ibuka* member for approximately four years at the time of his testimony, testified that the *Ibuka* association does not train people to give testimony. ⁷⁵⁴

Other Defence Evidence Regarding the Credibility of Prosecution Witnesses Who Were Allegedly Ibuka Members

- The Chamber's attention has been drawn to issues that may adversely reflect on the 372. credibility of relevant Prosecution witnesses.
- 373. The Kanyabashi Defence claims that Prosecution Witness RL was a member of *Ibuka* and involved in fabricating evidence. Defence Witnesses AND-30, AND-41 and AND-59 testified about a Tutsi man who shared the last name of Witness RL. 755 Witnesses AND-41 and AND-59 testified that they knew this man well, and this man was president of the *Ibuka* association in Butare. 756 Witness RL denied that he was a member of *Ibuka*. 757 The Chamber considers that these three Defence witnesses are all referring to the same person, as they all identified that person's last name and the name of his father. The Chamber notes, however, that two of these Defence witnesses did not provide a first name for the said *Ibuka* president. Witness AND-59 provided a first name⁷⁵⁹ that does not correspond to Witness RL's first name. Accordingly, and given the absence of other evidence to establish that the person these Defence witnesses were referring to is Prosecution Witness RL, the Chamber need not consider this testimony further.

759 T. 30 April 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁷⁵² T. 12 May 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).

⁷⁵³ T. 13 March 2008 pp. 25, 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁷⁵⁴ T. 13 March 2008 p. 39 (ICS); T. 13 March 2008 p. i (Extract) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁷⁵⁵ T. 22 February 2007 pp. 22-23, 26 (Witness AND-30); T. 22 March 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness AND-41); T. 30 April 2007 pp. 17-19 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁷⁵⁶ See, e.g., T. 22 March 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness AND-41); T. 30 April 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

⁷⁵⁷ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁷⁵⁸ T. 22 February 2007 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness AND-30); T. 22 March 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness AND-41); T. 30 April 2007 pp. 15-17 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).

- 374. The Chamber notes apparent discrepancies in the testimonies of Witnesses RL and QI regarding their knowledge of each other. Prosecution Witness QI initially testified that he once lived with a person whose last name and profile closely match that of Prosecution Witness RL. Witness QI testified that this person told him about surviving an attack at Ngoma Church, where he was hit on the head with clubs and managed to crawl out of dead bodies to the church. The Chamber observes that Witness RL testified that he was not close to Witness QI, he only knew him from seeing him about town. Witness RL testified that they were not close enough to discuss the events of 1994, and he never discussed these events with Witness QI. While the Chamber does not believe Witness RL's assertion that he hardly knew Witness QI, this does not impact the Chamber's assessment of other aspects of Witness RL's testimony. This discrepancy between Witness RL's and Witness QI's testimony is of minor significance, and does not affect the credibility of either witness.
- 375. The Kanyabashi Defence also highlights the fact that Witnesses TK and QJ, a married couple, testified that they did not discuss with each other the events that took place between April to July 1994, 765 and this couple testified that they did not discuss with each other their plans to testify before this Tribunal. The Defence asserts that this testimony was incredible, that the similarity of their evidence indicates that these *Ibuka* members fabricated their testimony. The Chamber does not believe Witness TK and QJ's testimony that they never discussed the events at issue in this case, or their plans to testify before the ICTR. Nevertheless, the Chamber considers that the Defence assertions in this regard do not undermine Witnesses TK's or QJ's credibility.

Credibility of Prosecution Witness QA

376. The Chamber notes the existence of serious credibility issues surrounding the testimony of Prosecution Witness QA. When recalled in 2008, he admitted that he lied to Canadian police in another proceeding, he lied to the Office of the Prosecutor in 1996, and that most of his testimony under oath to this Tribunal in 2004 was false. The witness admitted that in everything that I said, there are only a few things that are truthful. For the most part, my testimony was lies.

⁷⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 64-65.

⁷⁶¹ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness QI) (identified an individual with the same last name as Witness RL, who was from the same *secteur* as Witness RL, who was of approximately the same age as Witness RL in 1994, and who, like Witness RL, was hit on the head during attacks at Ngoma Parish and managed to make his way out of dead bodies and return to the church); *cf.* T. 25 March 2004 pp. 85, 87 (Witness RL); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 27-28 (Witness RL).

⁷⁶² T. 25 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁷⁶³ T. 29 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁷⁶⁴ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 61-62, 64 (ICS); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 17, 23-24 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁷⁶⁵ T. 21 May 2002 p. 102 (ICS) (Witness TK); T. 12 November 2001 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁷⁶⁶ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 102-103, 106-107 (ICS) (Witness TK); T. 12 November 2001 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁷⁶⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 291.

⁷⁶⁸ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 31, 44, 49-50, 52-53 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁶⁹ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 13, 23 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 32, 47-48 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁰ T. 29 October 2008 p. 11; T. 29 October 2008 pp. 13, 16-17 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 p. 19; T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷¹ T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QA).

- 377. Witness QA testified that he lied against Kanyabashi on the encouragement of three men who were influential figures in the administration of the *Ibuka* association.⁷⁷² The Chamber observes that the three individuals whom Witness QA identified correspond in either the first, last or full name with the three individuals Witness D-2-21-T testified allegedly attended *Ibuka* meetings where participants discussed false testimony against Kanyabashi.⁷⁷³
- 378. Witness QA testified that if he refused to obey the instructions of these people, he would have encountered difficulties.⁷⁷⁴ The Chamber has taken note of Witness QA's account as to why he lied before the Chamber.⁷⁷⁵ Further, the Chamber notes Witness QA asked for money in order to lie against Kanyabashi and told the three men that if they did not give him the money, he would not do what they wanted him to do.⁷⁷⁶ Witness QA stated that one of the reasons for which he also followed their instructions, was because they promised to give him 1,000,000 francs after their first meeting. Despite several attempts, he did not receive the money he was promised.⁷⁷⁷ That is why he decided to tell the truth.⁷⁷⁸ This witness' demonstrably flexible attitude to telling the truth casts doubt on the credibility and reliability of his own testimony. Given this, Witness QA's testimony about his reasons for lying to this Tribunal lacks credibility.
- 379. The Kanyabashi and Nsabimana Defence relied on expert evidence in support of the submission that Prosecution witnesses were improperly influenced to testify about an Accused at the ICTR. The Chamber has reviewed the relevant expert evidence, and considers that this evidence may provide context for specific allegations of fabrication of testimony. The most specific expert evidence adduced on this issue was led through Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens, who discussed the preparation of Rwandan witnesses who came before this Tribunal. Reyntjens also provided an example of a witness being improperly influenced by the *Ibuka* association in the *Akayesu* case.
- 380. The Chamber also notes Reyntjens' Expert Report specifically identified several witnesses whose testimony should be treated with extreme caution, namely Witnesses QA and RE, and those witnesses who implicated Kanyabashi in the Kabakobwa massacres. First, the Chamber notes no accusations of fabrication were levelled against Witness RE by any Defence witnesses. Insofar as concerns Witness QA or witnesses called to testify about Kabakobwa, the Chamber declines to have regard to Reyntjens' evidence on the basis that it falls outside his sphere of expertise.
- 381. The Chamber recalls its observation, above, that every key witness in the Prosecution's case against Kanyabashi was implicated with the allegation that they were an *Ibuka* member

⁷⁷² T. 29 October 2008 pp. 16-17, 20-21, 23, 34 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷³ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 21-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁷⁷⁴ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 23, 28, 32 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁵ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 23, 28, 32, 56 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 51-53 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁶ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 29, 64 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁷ T. 29 October 2008 p. 56 (ICS); T. 30 October 2008 pp. 51-53 (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁸ T. 29 October 2008 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁷⁷⁹ T. 12 October 2004 pp. 47-48 (Guichaoua); T. 27 September 2007 pp. 38-41 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸⁰ T. 27 September 2007 p. 41 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸¹ T. 27 September 2007 pp. 38-39 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸² Defence Exhibit 571B (Reyntjens Expert Report) pp. 15-16.

who fabricated testimony. Although Reyntjens downplayed his personal ties to Kanyabashi in his testimony before this Tribunal,⁷⁸³ he had known Kanyabashi for a long time,⁷⁸⁴ and he confirmed that Kanyabashi named him as his lawyer before an Investigating Judge in Belgium.⁷⁸⁵ The Chamber considers that Reyntjens' testimony before this Tribunal was largely biased in favour of Kanyabashi (). As such, Reyntjens may have had a motive to discredit the *Ibuka* association in support of the Kanyabashi Defence case.

3.2.4 Discussion of Evidence and Findings

382. Prosecution Witnesses FAE, QBP, QG, QI, RL and SU were asked during cross-examination whether they were members of a survivors association. Prosecution Witness FAE testified that she was a member of a survivors association, while the others testified they were not members of any such association. Witnesses SU and TK testified that they had simply heard about the *Ibuka* association. Witnesses QP denied that she attended meetings or participated in discussions concerning the events she testified about, testifying that there were no such meetings. Apart from Witness QA, who the Chamber has found to be not credible, none of these Prosecution witnesses testified that they were paid or otherwise influenced to testify falsely. The Chamber notes that the Defence relies heavily on hearsay evidence to discredit the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAE, QBP, QG, QI, RL and SU. The Chamber assesses such evidence with caution and on a case-by-case basis. The Chamber believes these Prosecution witnesses and attaches more weight to their testimony under oath than to hearsay evidence that was led to undermine their credibility.

383. Taking into account the Chamber's assessment of the credibility of relevant Defence witnesses, the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses under cross-examination, relevant contextual evidence, and the content of general and specific allegations of false testimony levelled against Prosecution witnesses, the Chamber finds that the evidence led by the Defence relating to the alleged fabrication of testimony does not undermine the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAE, FAC, FAM, QAM, QBM, QG, QI, QJ, QP, QY, RL, SS, SU, TK, QAH, QBP and QCB. The Chamber again recalls that the Defence does not bear a burden to prove fabrication and that it need only raise a reasonable doubt as to the Prosecution case.

384. The Chamber will otherwise address specific allegations of fabricated testimony in the context of relevant factual findings.

⁷⁸³ T. 20 September 2007 p. 11 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸⁴ T. 21 November 2007 p. 14 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸⁵ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 11-12 (Reyntjens).

⁷⁸⁶ T. 18 March 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

⁷⁸⁷ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 49-50 (Witness QBP); T. 16 March 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness QG); T. 25 March 2004 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness QI); T. 29 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness RL); T. 22 October 2002 pp. 92-94 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁸⁸ T. 22 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness SU); T. 28 May 2002 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness QP).

3.3 Events in Butare Between 6 April 1994 and 18 April 1994

3.3.1 Remera Massacre, 7 April 1994

3.3.1.1 Introduction

385. Although not mentioned in any of the Indictments or in the Prosecution Closing Brief and oral arguments, Prosecution Witness QBZ testified regarding the massacre of Tutsis at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on 7 April 1994.

386. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that these events are material facts which are not pled in the Indictment and reiterates its request of 31 May 2006 that the Chamber exclude them from the analysis of the evidence. The Defence also avers that Witness QBZ's evidence is unreliable and not credible because he is the sole witness on this event, he is mentally unstable, and his evidence is uncorroborated and contradicted by Witnesses RV, EV, GABON and KEPIR. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that these events are material facts which are not pled in the Indictment and reiterates its request of 31 May 2006 that the Chamber exclude them from the analysis of the evidence.

3.3.1.2 Preliminary Issues

387. The Chamber notes that neither the Ndayambaje Indictment nor the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief mentions the massacre at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on 7 April 1994. The Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief contains a summary of Witness QBZ's expected testimony. The summary sets out that Witness QBZ would testify to a meeting Ndayambaje held with the Remera *secteur* populace at his office, where Ndayambaje said all Tutsis must be killed; it did not refer to a massacre at the *commune* office, but further stated that Witness QBZ is said to have "witnessed other massacres". ⁷⁹²

388. Witness QBZ's prior statements refer to the same *secteur* office meeting called by Ndayambaje, although only the second statement of 28-30 March 2001 outlines an ensuing massacre that occurred at the Muganza *commune* office, purportedly arranged by Ndayambaje.⁷⁹³

389. The Chamber recalls that Witness QBZ testified about this massacre and at the end of his examination-in-chief, the Ndayambaje Defence pointed out that much of this witness' testimony was not mentioned in the witness' prior statement or the factual allegations disclosed to the Defence by the Prosecution and requested that it be allowed to recall Witness QBZ if needed at a later stage. ⁷⁹⁴

390. The Ndayambaje Defence filed a motion for exclusion of the evidence of Prosecution witnesses, including Witness QBZ, arguing that those witnesses testified about facts not pled

⁷⁹⁰ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 126 (citing *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, *Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation*, 31 May 2006, paras. 351-360). ⁷⁹¹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 146-150.

⁷⁹² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBZ (49).

⁷⁹³ 9 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBZ, disclosed 1 December 1999; 28-30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBZ, disclosed 23 May 2001.

⁷⁹⁴ T. 23 February 2004 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness OBZ).

in the Indictment and, therefore, that Ndayambaje did not have timely notice of them. The Prosecution objected to the motion on the basis it was filed out of time. The Prosecution acknowledged that the Ndayambaje Defence had objected to the admissibility of the evidence of Witness QBZ in February 2004 when the witness testified before the Chamber. The Prosecution acknowledged that the Ndayambaje Defence had objected to the admissibility of the evidence of Witness QBZ in February 2004 when the witness testified before the Chamber.

- 391. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 1 September 2006 in which it stated that some issues of exclusion of evidence, credibility of witnesses and evaluation of evidence may be considered at a later stage of the proceedings with the totality of the evidence.⁷⁹⁷
- 392. The Chamber considers that Witness QBZ's statement of 28-30 March 2001 is the only statement with detailed information on the massacre at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on 7 April 1994. The English translation of this statement was first disclosed to the Defence in redacted form on 23 May 2001 and the French translation on 7 June 2001. The unredacted statements in both English and French were disclosed to the Defence on 31 January 2002.
- 393. In the present case, the Chamber considers that the Ndayambaje Defence did not have sufficient notice of this massacre so as to enable the Defence to mount an effective defence. As a result the Chamber will not make a finding on the alleged involvement of Ndayambaje in the massacre at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on 7 April 1994. In any case, the Chamber considers that Witness QBZ's evidence on the Remera massacre is insufficient.

3.3.2 Interahamwe Training in Mugusa Commune, 7 April 1994

- 394. The allegation that *Interahamwe* were trained at the Mugusa *commune* office on 7 April 1994 was put into evidence during the testimony of Prosecution Witness QBV. The witness testified that *Bourgmestre* Kabayiza organised weapons training for approximately 100 young Hutus from the *commune*, for the purpose of fighting the RPF and killing Tutsis.⁷⁹⁸
- 395. The Nteziryayo Defence challenges Witness QBV's credibility, asserting that there was no *Interahamwe* training at the *commune* office on 7 April 1994.⁷⁹⁹ On 7 April 1994 the Ministry of Defence had issued a *communiqué* prohibiting anyone from leaving their houses until further notice. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that no other witness testifies about training on this day and there is no corroboration of Witness QBV's evidence.⁸⁰⁰
- 396. The Chamber notes that this allegation was not pled in any of the Indictments and was mentioned in neither the Prosecution Closing Brief nor its closing oral submissions. The

_

⁷⁹⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006.

⁷⁹⁶ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecutor's Response to the Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 9 June 2006.

⁷⁹⁷ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006, paras. 25-26.

⁷⁹⁸ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 56-57, 63-64, 67-68 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁷⁹⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 573.

⁸⁰⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 573.

Chamber therefore declines to make a finding on whether training of *Interahamwe* took place at the Mugusa commune office on 7 April 1994.

3.3.3 Cyarwa Secteur Meeting and Agateme Attacks, Mid-April 1994

3.3.3.1 Introduction

The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, Kanyabashi conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. The plan was alleged to consist of, inter alia, encouraging hatred and ethnic violence and the preparation of lists of Tutsis to be killed. The Kanyabashi Indictment further alleges that Kanyabashi, together with others, adhered to and executed this plan and in doing so organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. 801

The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that in or around May 1994, Kanyabashi held at least two meetings in Cyarwa secteur, Ngoma commune at which he encouraged local residents to kill Tutsis and that, in the days following these meetings, Tutsis in the area were attacked. 802 The Indictment further alleges that Ngoma *commune* was the site of numerous massacres in which Kanyabashi was either directly involved or in which his subordinates, acting under his orders, were implicated. 803

399. The Prosecution submits that these meetings and the subsequent killings were a general pattern of conduct by Kanyabashi throughout the genocide, and that Kanyabashi was heavily involved in the planning of killings and met frequently with his administrative subordinates to provoke them into action. 804 In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness QG.

Aside from submissions relating to the imprecision of the Indictment, 805 the 400. Kanyabashi Defence submits that Prosecution Witness QG is not credible because he contradicts himself. 806 The Kanyabashi Defence submits there was a meeting on 17 or 18 April 1994 in which Kanyabashi made a one-and-a-half hour speech asking members of the population not to kill one another and urging the population to welcome refugees to Ngoma commune. However, furious soldiers, claiming to be part of the Presidential Guard, interrupted the meeting and called Kanyabashi an accomplice of the *Inkotanyi*. 807 The Kanyabashi Defence further contends that there was no evidence adduced as to the existence of two inciting meetings in Cyarwa around May 1994 as provided by Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment 808

⁸⁰¹ Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).⁸⁰² Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁸⁰³ Para. 6.29 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9); see also Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (defining the "subordinates" referred to).

⁸⁰⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 390-391, para. 20.

⁸⁰⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 353-354.

⁸⁰⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 354, 358.

⁸⁰⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 367-368; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 37.

⁸⁰⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 373.

- 401. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that unrest started in the afternoon of Thursday 21 April 1994 and not in the morning of 20 April 1994, as alleged by Witness QG. 809 Attacks in Agateme were launched and encouraged by *gendarmes* and not, as Witness QG suggests, by *commune* policemen sent by Kanyabashi. The Defence further submits that Kanyabashi issued strict instructions forbidding policemen from becoming involved in the killings. 811
- 402. Finally, the Defence points out that Witness QG is part of a group that fabricated false testimony. In support of its submissions, the Defence relies on the testimony of Witnesses D-2-YYYY, D-2-20-F, D-2-5-I and D-2-21-T.

3.3.3.2 Preliminary Issues

- 403. The Defence asserts the evidence produced at trial cannot sustain a conviction because of contradictions between the dates and facts alleged in the Indictment and Witness QG's account. The Defence first raised this issue in its preliminary motion and during Witness QG's testimony on 15 March 2004. 813
- 404. On 15 March 2004, in the course of Witness QG's testimony, the Kanyabashi Defence asserted that Witness QG's testimony was not contained within Paragraph 5.8 of the Amended Indictment because he testified as to meetings taking place in the month of April 1994 and not, as Paragraph 5.8 asserts, in or around the month of May 1994. In short, it asserted the evidence did not conform to the Indictment.
- 405. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 15 May 2004 in which it held that Witness QG's testimony regarding the Cyarwa *secteur* meetings chaired by Kanyabashi was generally encompassed by the Indictment. In this regard, the Chamber notes the Kanyabashi Indictment specified that Kanyabashi took part in the meetings "in *or around* May 1994".
- 406. The Chamber finds that Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment did not provide adequate notice of the alleged April 1994 meetings by alleging they occurred *in or around* May 1994 at Cyarwa *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*. The location is clearly specified, however the time frame is ambiguous. The Chamber must then determine whether this specific paragraph has been cured of this defect through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 407. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness QG, who was expected to testify as to: a meeting between Kanyabashi with the *conseiller* of his *secteur*; a 15 April 1994 public meeting chaired by Kanyabashi at which he urged the people to start night patrols to protect themselves against the

_

⁸⁰⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 389-390.

⁸¹⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 393, 398.

⁸¹¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 395.

⁸¹² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 8. The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witness D-2-21-T as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

⁸¹³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 353-354.

⁸¹⁴ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 9-10 (Witness QG).

⁸¹⁵ T. 15 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QG).

⁸¹⁶ Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts) (emphasis added).

enemy; and a meeting convened by Kanyabashi on around 18 or 19 April 1994 that Witness QG attempted to attend but from which he was chased away. 817 This information is consistent with Witness QG's previous statement of 12 June 1996, disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, over three years prior to Witness QG's testimony at trial on 15 March 2004. Therefore, the Defence was given adequate notice by the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and disclosures that the meetings chaired by Kanyabashi allegedly took place in the month of April 1994.

For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi 408. Indictment is cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information.⁸¹⁸ Consequently, Kanyabashi was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence case.⁸¹⁹

3.3.3.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QG

Witness QG, a Tutsi who worked in Ngoma commune, 820 testified that he saw 409. Kanyabashi on two occasions after 6 April 1994. 821 The first occasion was about two to four days after the President's plane crash, on or about 8 to 10 April 1994.822 He observed Kanyabashi come to meet with the conseiller of Cyarwa secteur at the secteur office, shared between Cyarwa-Sumo and Cyarwa-Cyimana secteurs. 823 Kanyabashi was accompanied by two policemen, including the deputy brigadier of the *commune* police, whose first name was Gabriel. 824 Witness QG was not present at this meeting between Kanyabashi and the conseiller on that date.825

The witness saw Kanyabashi about four to six days after the first occasion, when 410. Witness QG participated in a meeting at which Kanyabashi was present, convened at the Cyarwa secteur office, between noon and 2.00 p.m. 826 When confronted with his prior statement, he agreed the meeting was likely to have taken place on 15 April 1994. 827 Kanyabashi arrived in a white Peugeot vehicle and was again accompanied by two police officers, including Gabriel, and other members of the Ngoma *commune* population. 828 The

⁸¹⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QG (55).

Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 195 (citing Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 114); Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 22.

⁸¹⁹ See Nivitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 197; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 119-121; Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35; Bagosora et al., Decision on Exclusion of Testimony Outside the Scope of the Indictment (TC), 27 September 2005, paras. 2-3. 820 Prosecution Exhibit 89 (Personal Particulars).

⁸²¹ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 6-7 (Witness QG).

⁸²² T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 33-34 (Witness QG).

⁸²³ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 33, 39; T. 15 March 2004 p. 42 (Witness QG) (French).

⁸²⁴ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 34, 36, 39 (Witness QG).

⁸²⁵ T. 15 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QG).

⁸²⁶ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 37 (Witness QG).

⁸²⁷ T. 15 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness QG).

⁸²⁸ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 34, 39 (Witness QG).

witness could not identify the other policeman.⁸²⁹ A camouflage military vehicle with a back similar to a pickup, containing about four soldiers, followed Kanyabashi's vehicle to the meeting and arrived almost at the same time as Kanyabashi's vehicle. 830 The witness could not specify whether they were *gendarmes*, but noticed that they were wearing military uniforms. 831

- At the moment Kanyabashi arrived, Witness QG was in the courtyard in front of the secteur office. The witness entered the building only after Kanyabashi's arrival, as the conference room where the meeting was to be held was only opened upon Kanyabashi's arrival. 832 There were many people there from the neighbouring secteurs of Cyarwa-Sumo and Cvarwa-Cvimana. 833
- Witness QG stated that at the time of the meeting killings had not yet started and Gendarmerie Commander Habyarabatuma was still in his post. 834 He could not be certain as to whether *Préfet* Habyalimana was still in his post or not, but testified about a rumour that *Préfet* Habyalimana had been dismissed from his post because he was Tutsi. 835
- Witness QG testified that Kanyabashi addressed the population, composed of both Tutsis and Hutus. 836 According to the witness, Kanyabashi said, "[y]ou can take weapons, and defend yourselves to stop the enemy from infiltrating amongst you." When an attendee of the meeting retorted that there were people from other communes looking for refuge in the commune, he responded: "You have to chase those people who are seeking refuge out. They may create insecurity." Again, when asked what he was going to do about the houses being burnt in Ngoma, he responded, "[t]hose are Interahamwe who attacked that area and soon they will be chased away from the secteur."837
- Witness QG testified that people were asked to organise night patrols and roadblocks, but that after the meeting there was insecurity in the commune. Hutus separated themselves from Tutsis and started to chase out the Tutsis. 838
- Witness QG testified that on 20 April 1994, he travelled to Mukoni and on the return 415. trip he encountered a vehicle filled with soldiers from the Rwandan Army and police officers from Ngoma commune, including Gabriel. They asked one of the people travelling with Witness QG to direct them to the house of Etienne Gitefano, who worked for the bishopric, and whether Gitefano was home. The police and soldiers fired at Gitefano's residence and took a radio, a television set and mattresses out of the house. 839
- Witness QG stated the police and soldiers left Gitefano's house and proceeded to attack the house of Jean Karekezi, a merchant, who lived opposite Gitefano. The police and soldiers

⁸²⁹ T. 15 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁰ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness QG).

⁸³¹ T. 15 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness QG).

⁸³² T. 15 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness QG).

⁸³³ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁴ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁵ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 40-41 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁶ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 8, 40 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁷ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 8, 10-11, 42 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁸ T. 15 March 2004 p. 11 (Witness QG).

⁸³⁹ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness QG).

told other members of the population to go inside and loot the home. Witness QG stated that two men, named Safari and Mingoti, had received weapons training and took part in the lootings. 840

- 417. Witness QG testified that on returning home, his own house was being attacked. Soldiers and those who had undergone training were knocking down his front door. Some of the attackers had grenades, rifles and clubs. He had left his pregnant wife and three-year-old child in the home when he went out that morning and had not seen them since that day. 841
- 418. Witness QG stated that Kanyabashi issued instructions which people apparently did not respect or obey, and went beyond them. The witness averred that there were instructions to exterminate Tutsis and that Kanyabashi was not in a position to stop what was going on. Kanyabashi should have informed his superiors what was going on so that they could stop those people from perpetrating reprehensible acts. 842
- 419. Witness QG testified that he knew Kanyabashi before April 1994. He recalled seeing Kanyabashi on two occasions after 6 April 1994, but was somewhat unclear on this point.⁸⁴³ Witness QG identified Kanyabashi in court.⁸⁴⁴
- 420. Witness QG was asked during cross-examination whether he was a member of *Ibuka*. He stated that he worked with other survivors in the region for the purpose of burying victims in dignity. ⁸⁴⁵ They looked for people that died on the hill and buried them. ⁸⁴⁶

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

- 421. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, ⁸⁴⁷ testified that around 18 to 20 April 1994 he was stationed at Mukura Bridge for three days. ⁸⁴⁸ On the third day, a Thursday, he returned to his home at around 12.30 or 1.30 p.m. and was picked back up by a *commune* police vehicle to go back on duty. ⁸⁴⁹ He knew it was Thursday because his wife had gone to the animal market, which was held every Thursday, to sell a goat. ⁸⁵⁰ 21 April 1994 was a Thursday. ⁸⁵¹
- 422. Witness D-2-YYYY was picked up by a *commune* police vehicle at about 3.30 or 4.00 p.m. and taken to a place called Ku'gateme, also known as Agateme or Gateme, at the

⁸⁴⁰ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness QG) (French) (for spelling of "Jean").

⁸⁴¹ T. 15 March 2004 p. 13 (Witness QG).

⁸⁴² T. 15 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness QG).

⁸⁴³ T. 15 March 2004 p. 5 (Witness QG) (saw Kanyabashi twice prior to 6 April 1994); T. 15 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness QG) (saw Kanyabashi twice after April 1994); T. 15 March 2004 pp. 32-33 (Witness QG) (testifying in cross-examination that he saw Kanyabashi regularly prior to April 1994, and twice after 6 April 1994).

⁸⁴⁴ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness QG).

⁸⁴⁵ T. 16 March 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness QG).

⁸⁴⁶ T. 16 March 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness QG).

⁸⁴⁷ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁴⁸ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 39, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁴⁹ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 45, 53-54 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁰ T. 27 November 2007 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵¹ Defence Exhibit 12 (Ndayambaje) (April 1994 Calendar); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (D-2-YYYY).

Cyarwa-Cyimana *secteur*.⁸⁵² There was a new roadblock at Ku'gateme manned by four *gendarmes*. There were also *Interahamwe* and more *gendarmes* in the area.⁸⁵³

- 423. At Ku'gateme a group of about 50 *gendarmes* and citizens were looting homes, breaking windows and forcing doors open. ⁸⁵⁴ In addition, *gendarmes* were firing at the houses and breaking through the walls of the homes. ⁸⁵⁵ The assailants targeted the home of Karekezi, nicknamed Gifuka and Muzungu, and the home of the bishop's driver, whose name he could not recall. ⁸⁵⁶ He stated that *gendarmes* and *Interahamwe* were ransacking and destroying houses, and that Karekezi's home was attacked by about 50 *Interahamwe*. ⁸⁵⁷
- 424. *Interahamwe* arrived in a civilian Toyota Hilux belonging to CUSP, the university public health centre, and driven by a man named Déo with whom the witness was acquainted. 858 It was filled with between 15 and 20 persons. 859 Most of them, including Déo, were wearing military shirts and civilian trousers. Others were wearing the *kitenge* fabric worn by the *Interahamwe*. 860
- 425. The *Interahamwe* vehicle proceeded immediately to Tumba. ⁸⁶¹ Witness D-2-YYYY and the *commune* police vehicle arrived at Ku'gateme at almost the same time as the *Interahamwe* vehicle. ⁸⁶² The *commune* police vehicle stopped at Ku'gateme and the brigadier stepped out of the vehicle to inquire of the *gendarmes* at the roadblock what was happening. The *gendarmes* responded angrily and stated, "[y]ou and your boss are unaware of what you are doing." The brigadier and the witness responded that it was them, namely the brigadier and the witness, who did not know what the *gendarmes* were doing. The police then returned to town. ⁸⁶³

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-20-F

426. Witness D-2-20-F, a Hutu who worked at the *Groupe Scolaire*, ⁸⁶⁴ testified that he attended a meeting at the *secteur* office, chaired by Kanyabashi, around 17 or 18 April 1994, one-and-a-half weeks after the death of the President. ⁸⁶⁵ He attended the meeting with Witness QG. ⁸⁶⁶ The witness estimated the number of participants as between 200 and 300, stated they were from both *secteurs*, and were both Hutus and Tutsis. ⁸⁶⁷ The *conseillers* of Cyarwa-Sumo

⁸⁵² T. 27 November 2007 pp. 56-58 (ICS); T. 28 November 2007 p. 5; T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵³ T. 27 November 2007 p. 58 (ICS); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 4-5 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁴ T. 27 November 2007 p. 59 (ICS); T. 28 November 2007 p. 5 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁵ T. 27 November 2007 p. 59 (ICS); T. 28 November 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 5; T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁷ T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁸ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁹ T. 27 November 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁶⁰ T. 27 November 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁶¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁶² T. 27 November 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁶³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁶⁴ Defence Exhibit 634 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁶⁵ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁶⁶ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁶⁷ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

and Cyarwa-Cyimana were both present, as were the heads of the cellules.868 The meeting started at around 11.00 a.m. 869 Kanyabashi arrived in a vehicle with one policeman, but other policemen attended the meeting as civilians and were out of uniform. ⁸⁷⁰ The witness asserted that a police officer named Gabriel Twagiramungu attended the meeting, but not as Kanyabashi's escort.871

- 427. Witness D-2-20-F stated that Kanyabashi informed the population that there were people from Gikongoro préfecture and Runyinya commune who were taking refuge in Cyarwa-Sumo and Cyarwa-Cyimana secteurs. Kanyabashi said: "My brothers and sisters, I am inviting you to show compassion and to welcome those brothers and sisters that have come to take refuge in your homes or in your area. I am appealing to you and I am calling on you to welcome these people. I promise you that we are going to bring you assistance in order to help you to give food to those people. If you welcome them to your homes we will assist you by providing you what is needed for their upkeep."872
- Kanyabashi went on to say: "I am pleading with you and I am urging you to ... do all 428 that can be done to ensure that nobody should attack any other persons. We have seen what is happening in Gishamvu and ... we could see smoke rising ... in Gishamvu because houses were being burnt there ... we don't want what is happening there to happen in our *communes*."873
- Finally, Kanyabashi lamented that it was difficult to understand how people who were living in peaceful coexistence and intermarrying could start fighting each other. He said: "No one should take advantage of the death of the president to sow seeds of discord amongst people. This matter concerns only the higher authorities of the country and you ... should continue to live in harmony."874 Kanyabashi spoke for around an hour-and-a-half. 875
- 430. This meeting was interrupted by soldiers from a Presidential Guard unit who dispersed the population by beating or kicking them. 876 The soldiers intervened when the members of the population began expressing their opinions and asking for further explanations. 877 The soldiers said the meeting was not authorised while the country was at war and they suspected it was convened by accomplices of the *Inkotanvi*. 878
- Witness D-2-20-F denied that Kanyabashi asked the population to take up weapons or 431. to chase away the refugees. He asserted that, pursuant to Kanyabashi's request, he hosted three refugees in his own home.⁸⁷⁹

```
<sup>868</sup> T. 5 March 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>869</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>870</sup> T. 4 March 2008 pp. 12, 20 (ICS); T. 5 March 2008 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>871</sup> T. 5 March 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>872</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>873</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>874</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>875</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
<sup>876</sup> T. 4 March 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).
```

⁸⁷⁷ T. 4 March 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁷⁸ T. 4 March 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁷⁹ T. 4 March 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

- 432. Witness D-2-20-F testified that on 21 April 1994, at around 2.00 p.m., he went to fetch groceries from Karekezi's at Agateme. Karekezi was also known as Muzungu and Gifuka. There were about 10 *gendarmes* and a group of about 50 civilians on the road who were accompanied by a member of Parliament named Laurent Baravuga. A few moments later there were gunshots coming from Grégoire Hategekimana's house and people scattered. Two *gendarmes* appeared from Hategekimana's house. People coming from Hategekimana's house told Witness D-2-20-F that Hategekimana, Simpunga and one other person had all been shot and they had seen their bodies.
- 433. When the *gendarmes* arrived at Karekezi's shop, they fired about three shots at the lock and opened the door. They told the members of the population that they should follow the example of the *gendarmes* and loot the shop. Minister Baravuga added: "You, the inhabitants of C'lyarwa, you have become impossible. I came here with the *gendarmes* to show you the example to kill. Our country is plagued by a difficult war, and I would like to show that you have to track down the enemy as well as their ... accomplices." He stated the enemies were the Tutsi and their accomplices included the authorities such as "Kanyabatutsi". The population proceeded to loot Karekezi's shop. The witness stated that Karekezi was not killed that day and he was still alive. The state of the short of the shor
- 434. After shooting open the door of Karekezi's shop, the *gendarmes* went down the road to the home of a driver at the bishopric, Gitefano. The *gendarmes* fired shots at the home at which time the witness left the location to tend to his pregnant wife. Witness D-2-20-F did not witness the looting of Gitefano's home. Witness D-2-20-F encountered Safari as the witness was leaving for home. He testified that Safari was not among the looters of Gitefano's and Karekezi's homes. Several of the looters confessed to their crimes before the *Gacaca* courts, including André Gakwaya and Dudoni Banzubaze. Which is shown to be some the safari was not among the looters of Gitefano's and Karekezi's homes.
- 435. Witness D-2-20-F stated that no *commune* police were present.⁸⁹³ He distinguished the police from *gendarmes* because the former wore green shirts and trousers, yellow berets and black shoes whereas the latter wore the same uniforms as soldiers, but with reddish berets.⁸⁹⁴ He denied that Kanyabashi had sent assailants and police officers to attack the homes because,

⁸⁸⁰ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 28-29 (ICS); 11 March 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸¹ T. 11 March 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸² T. 4 March 2008 pp. 28-29, 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸³ T. 4 March 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁴ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁵ T. 4 March 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁶ T. 4 March 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁷ T. 11 March 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁸ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁸⁹ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 28, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁰ T. 4 March 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹¹ T. 11 March 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹² T. 11 March 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹³ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 32, 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁴ T. 4 March 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

- if Kanyabashi had sent them, it would not have been necessary for the *gendarmes* to come and mount the attack themselves.⁸⁹⁵
- 436. Witness D-2-20-F also stated that when he arrived at Agateme, the *gendarmes* were on foot but at one point a vehicle arrived and one of the *gendarmes* went to speak to the driver, who parked the vehicle near Cyarwa primary school. The witness thought that the *gendarmes* had arrived at Agateme in that vehicle. 897
- 437. Witness D-2-20-F stated that immediately after the 17 or 18 April 1994 meeting, Witness QG told him that soldiers had begun to interfere with issues of the *secteur*. Witness D-2-20-F also stated that on 22 April 1994, he heard that Witness QG's wife and child had been killed during an attack the day before at Witness QG's house. Witness D-2-20-F therefore concluded that Witness QG had fled the country. Witness QG had fled the country.
- 438. Witness D-2-20-F testified that a *Gacaca* court sentenced him to 12 years in prison for killing a Tutsi neighbour, after accepting his confession. He was given credit for nine years' time served in prison and was sentenced to serve the remaining three years by performing labour. He stated that he attended all of the *Gacaca* proceedings in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur* and that he never heard any charges against Kanyabashi. He stated that he attended all of the *Gacaca* proceedings in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur* and that he never heard any charges against Kanyabashi.
- 439. Witness D-2-20-F testified that he knew Kanyabashi since before 1976. He described Kanyabashi as about 1.75 to 1.78 metres in height, dark in complexion and between 52 and 55 years of age in 1994. The witness identified Kanyabashi in court. The witness testified that he knew Kanyabashi as director of Mamba Hospital and as *bourgmestre*, but he had never spoken directly to Kanyabashi.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

440. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, 906 testified that on 21 April 1994 he was riding in a *commune* vehicle from Rango to Cyarwa which passed by Agateme and he observed a roadblock manned by *gendarmes*. 907 In front of the roadblock there were other *gendarmes* and several other people committing murders and looting the home of Gitefano and Karekezi's place. 908

⁸⁹⁵ T. 4 March 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁶ T. 11 March 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁷ T. 11 March 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁸ T. 11 March 2008 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁸⁹⁹ T. 11 March 2008 pp. 43-45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰⁰ T. 3 March 2008 pp. 20-21, 24-26; T. 4 March 2008 p. 4 (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰¹ T. 3 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰² T. 4 March 2008 p. 4; T. 4 March 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰³ T. 5 March 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰⁴ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 5-6 (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰⁵ T. 5 March 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹⁰⁶ Defence Exhibit 615 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁹⁰⁷ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹⁰⁸ T. 21 January 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

- 441. When he arrived in Agateme, Witness D-2-5-I encountered the *conseiller* of Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Nicodemus Hategekimana, who stated that he had witnessed attacks and killings by soldiers. At the same time a vehicle transporting soldiers arrived with Masabo and his family, who the witness believed were to be killed. 909
- 442. The police brigadier of Ngoma *commune*, Gahamanyi, spoke to the citizens in Agateme and urged them to return to their homes and abstain from committing criminal acts. The *gendarmes* there threatened the *commune* police and told them to leave.⁹¹⁰
- 443. Witness D-2-5-I testified that the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* in April 1994 was Kanyabashi, and he had been *bourgmestre* since he (the witness) was a child. The witness said that Kanyabashi was never a personal friend of his. The witness was his subordinate and their relationship was limited to that. He identified Kanyabashi in court.

3.3.3.4 Deliberations

444. The Prosecution asserts that Kanyabashi incited the population to kill Tutsis by his remarks at the Cyarwa *secteur* meeting held around mid-April 1994. As a result, attacks were launched on Tutsi homes in Agateme, including those of Étienne Gitefano and Jean Karekezi and Ngoma *commune* policemen, among others, took part in the attacks. The Defence denies these attacks were triggered by Kanyabashi's speech at the Cyarwa *secteur* meeting, and denies the involvement of Ngoma *commune* policemen in these attacks.

Cyarwa Secteur Public Meeting

445. Prosecution Witness QG and Defence Witness D-2-20-F both testified that Kanyabashi chaired a public meeting in Cyarwa-Sumo and Cyarwa-Cyimana *secteurs* around mid-April 1994. However, they did not agree on the exact date of the meeting; Witness QG testified that it was on 15 April 1994 between noon and 2.00 p.m., hill Witness D-2-20-F testified that it occurred on 17 or 18 April 1994, starting at around 11.00 a.m. Both witnesses testified that Cyarwa-Sumo and Cyarwa-Cyimana *secteurs* shared offices at the same location and that the meeting was held outside the offices. Both witnesses testified that the meeting was held when refugees were entering into those *secteurs* but prior to the start of killings in the *secteurs*. Furthermore, both witnesses testified that Kanyabashi presided over the meeting and both Hutus and Tutsis were present.

⁹⁰⁹ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹⁰ T. 21 January 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹¹ T. 11 December 2007 p. 59 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹² T. 11 December 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹³ T. 11 December 2007 p. 51 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 59-60 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 372-373, 393-394.

⁹¹⁵ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 33, 37, 39 (Witness QG); T. 4 March 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹¹⁶ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 37, 49 (Witness QG).

⁹¹⁷ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹¹⁸ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 33, 37, 39 (Witness QG); T. 4 March 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹¹⁹ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 8, 10-11, 40-42 (Witness QG); T. 4 March 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹²⁰ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7-8, 37, 40 (Witness QG); T. 4 March 2008 pp. 11-13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

- Considering that 15 years have elapsed since this event occurred, and taking into account the corroborating elements between the witnesses as to the location and participants in the Cyarwa secteur public meeting, the Chamber finds that the witnesses testified about the same meeting which occurred in mid-April. Witness QG stated that Kanyabashi arrived at the Cyarwa secteur meeting accompanied by two policemen, including the Deputy Brigadier, named Gabriel. 921 He also stated that a car transporting about four soldiers followed Kanyabashi's vehicle to the meeting. 922 Witness QG testified that during the meeting Kanyabashi instructed the population to take weapons to defend themselves and to chase out those seeking refuge because they were creating insecurity. 923 The witness stated that after the meeting there was insecurity in the *commune*, and Hutus separated themselves from Tutsis and chased the Tutsis out. 924
- In contrast, Witness D-2-20-F stated that Kanyabashi came to the meeting escorted by a single police officer whom he was not able to identify. 925 There were no soldiers with Kanyabashi on that occasion. 926 Soldiers only arrived later to disrupt the meeting. 927 In his speech, Kanyabashi urged the population to welcome the refugees and did not instruct the population to take up arms. 928
- The Chamber notes that Witness D-2-20-F was added as a witness on 15 February 2008. 929 The Chamber recalls that Witness D-2-20-F confessed to participating in killing his neighbour during the genocide and was sentenced to 12 years in prison. However, he was not detained at the time of his testimony and did not have a motive to lie to seek leniency in his punishment. 930
- In light of the conflicting testimony of Witnesses D-2-20-F and QG, and absent any corroborating evidence to support Witness OG's account of the meeting, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has not established that Kanyabashi urged the population to take up arms and to defend themselves at the Cyarwa secteur meeting of mid-April 1994.

Agateme Attacks

Witness QG testified that he observed both soldiers and *commune* police, including one named Gabriel, attack the homes of Karekezi and Gitefano at Agateme on 20 April 1994. 931 He stated that police and soldiers encouraged the population to loot the homes. 932 However, during cross-examination, Witness QG was confronted with the fact that in the Kinyarwanda version of his prior statement of 12 June 1996, he did not mention the presence of police officers

```
<sup>921</sup> T. 15 March 2004 pp. 7, 34, 36, 39 (Witness QG).
```

⁹²² T. 15 March 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness QG).

⁹²³ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 8, 10-11, 40, 42 (Witness QG).

⁹²⁴ T. 15 March 2004 p. 11 (Witness QG).

⁹²⁵ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 12, 20 (ICS); T. 5 March 2008 pp. 55-56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹²⁶ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 12, 20 (ICS); T. 5 March 2008 pp. 55-56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹²⁷ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 15, 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹²⁸ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 13, 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹²⁹ Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73ter (TC), 15 February 2008, para. 69.

930 T. 3 March 2008 pp. 20-21, 24-26; T. 4 March 2008 p. 4 (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹³¹ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness QG).

⁹³² T. 15 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness QG).

during this incident. The witness clarified that when the shooting began, he also saw a police officer among the soldiers, but since several shots were fired he could not tell whether it was the soldiers or police officers who opened fire. ⁹³³

- 451. The Defence adduced evidence through Witnesses D-2-21-T to support the assertion that Prosecution Witness QG was an *Ibuka* member who participated in meetings where they were asked to falsely accuse Kanyabashi regarding events of which the witness had no personal knowledge. Witness D-2-21-T testified that Witness QG was encouraged to lie about Kanyabashi's involvement in the attacks at Agateme. According to Witness D-2-21-T, Witness QG was told to say that Kanyabashi supervised the destruction of Karekezi's house and ordered that Gitefano be killed. The Chamber finds that because Witness D-2-21-T lacked credibility, as already discussed in this Judgement (), her testimony does not undermine the testimony of Witness QG.
- 452. In contrast to Witness QG's testimony, Witness D-2-20-F stated that *commune* police were not involved in the attacks on Karekezi's and Gitefano's homes. However, he acknowledged that he did not personally observe the looting of Gitefano's home. The Chamber further notes also that Witness D-2-20-F was added as a witness on 15 February 2008. Witness D-2-YYYY and Witness D-2-5-I both stated that *gendarmes* participated in the attacks. The Chamber notes, however, as already outlined in another section of this Judgement, that Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-5-I both worked closely with Kanyabashi during the events at issue (). Therefore, they had a motive to deny involvement in the Agateme attacks. The Chamber thus cannot rely on their testimony.
- 453. Nevertheless, in light of the inconsistency between Witness QG's prior statement and his trial testimony and absent any corroborating evidence to support Witness QG's account of the attacks, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that *commune* policeman participated in the attacks of Gitefano's and Karekezi's homes at Agateme or that Kanyabashi ordered them to participate in such attacks.

3.4 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994

3.4.1 Introduction

454. Each of the Indictments allege that between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994, numerous Cabinet meetings were held in Kigali, Gitarama and Gisenyi and that during this period Prime Minister Jean Kambanda and ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, were regularly briefed on civilian massacres. It is further alleged that during such meetings, ministers demanded

⁹³³ T. 15 March 2004 p. 82 (Witness QG).

⁹³⁴ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 39, 49, 56, 66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁹³⁵ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 56, 66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁹³⁶ T. 4 March 2008 pp. 32, 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹³⁷ T. 4 March 2008 p. 33 (ICS); T. 11 March 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

⁹³⁸ Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73ter (TC), 15 February 2008, p. 17, para. 69.

⁹³⁹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 27 November 2007 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

weapons for distribution in their respective home *préfectures* knowing that such weapons would be used in massacres. 940

- 455. Each Indictment further alleges that during these Cabinet meetings, the Interim Government adopted directives and gave instructions to *préfets* and *bourgmestres*, which were then passed on to the general public, intended to incite, aid and abet the perpetration of the massacres. In order to ensure that the directives and instructions were carried out, a minister was appointed for each *préfecture* with responsibility for what was termed "pacification". Nyiramasuhuko was assigned this task for Butare. ⁹⁴¹
- 456. These allegations are advanced only in support of counts against Nyiramasuhuko, namely conspiracy to commit genocide, genocide, complicity in genocide, incitement to commit genocide, crimes against humanity and a violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol II. Therefore, they will be considered only with respect to Nyiramasuhuko.
- 457. This section contains a general discussion of Cabinet meetings and "pacification", followed by a more specific analysis of particular Cabinet meetings. The Chamber's deliberations are based on a review of the totality of the evidence presented by the Parties, both general and specific, and are therefore contained in a single section at the end of this thematic heading. In support of the allegations as described below, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FA, FAG, FAH, FAI, FAL, FAP, QBU, TA, TQ and SS, and Prosecution Expert Witnesses André Guichaoua, Alison Des Forges and Évariste Ntakirutimana. The Prosecution further relies on the evidence given by Nyiramasuhuko, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL, Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens, Nsabimana and Nsabimana Defence Witness Patrick Fergal Keane.
- 458. The Defence relies on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko.

3.4.2 Preliminary Issues

459. The Ntahobali Defence, on behalf of Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko, requests the exclusion of, *inter alia*, the testimony of Prosecution Expert Witnesses Guichaoua and Expert Witness Ntakirutimana on the grounds that the Defence did not receive sufficient notice of the testimony of these two witnesses. It further submits that the admission into evidence of the alleged diary of Nyiramasuhuko, on which Guichaoua's report was based, was prejudicial to

⁹⁴⁰ Para. 6.13 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.13 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.13 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.13 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).
⁹⁴¹ Para. 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8-10 against

Para. 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.14 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.14 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.14 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

the rights of both Accused. It asks the Chamber to find that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's right to prepare their defence has been violated. 942

- 460. As regards Ntakirutimana, the Chamber recalls its Decision of 30 March 2004 in which it, *inter alia*, granted the Prosecution's motion to add three new witnesses, including Ntakirutimana, to its witness list. In that Decision, the Chamber also ordered the disclosure of the non-redacted statements of the new witnesses to the Defence with a view to avoiding any delay that could prejudice the Defence in its preparation and directed the Prosecution to call such witnesses at the end of its case in order to provide the Defence with sufficient time to prepare for the cross-examination of the new witnesses.
- 461. The Chamber took the view that it would be in the interests of justice to add such witnesses to the Prosecution witness list. The Chamber noted that the Prosecution disclosed Ntakirutimana's Report on 12 January 2004. The witness was not called until more than eight months later, after the end of the Prosecution case. 944
- 462. In view of the foregoing and the fact that the Ntahobali Defence has not established the existence of prejudice as a result of Ntakirutimana being permitted to testify, the Chamber finds no reason to reconsider its earlier ruling.
- 463. As regards Guichaoua and Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994), the Chamber recalls its Oral Decision of 24 June 2004. In that Decision, the Chamber first noted that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not object to the characterisation of the diary in question as belonging to Nyiramasuhuko despite numerous opportunities to do so. It found that both the diary and Volume Two of Guichaoua's Report opining on the meaning of the diary were admissible as evidence. The Chamber noted, however, that the probative value of this evidence would be evaluated at a later date. For these reasons, the Chamber finds no reason to reconsider its earlier ruling.

3.4.3 Cabinet Meetings – General

3.4.3.1 Introduction

464. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko, as a member of the Interim Government and a figure of authority in Butare, conspired with the Interim Government as a whole and with influential figures in Butare to commit genocide in Butare. The Prosecution contends that she actively participated in and supported the Interim Government's agreement to commit genocide and played an active role in ensuring that the agreement was drawn up, adhered to and implemented in Butare. In support of this contention, the Prosecution relies on, *inter alia*, Nyiramasuhuko's use of the word "we". 949

⁹⁴² Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 80-81.

⁹⁴³ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004.

⁹⁴⁴ T. 13 September 2004 (Ntakirutimana).

⁹⁴⁵ T. 24 June 2004 pp. 12-17 (Oral Decision).

⁹⁴⁶ T. 24 June 2004 pp. 13-14 (Oral Decision).

⁹⁴⁷ T. 24 June 2004 pp. 12-17 (Oral Decision).

⁹⁴⁸ T. 24 June 2004 p. 14 (Oral Decision).

⁹⁴⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 31, 35-36, paras. 15, 24, 28-29.

- 465. It is the Prosecution's submission that the Interim Government continued to function between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994: meetings were held, political appointments were made, and directives and instructions were issued and executed by the various levels in the political hierarchy, soldiers and militia, and by the local population itself, in accordance with the political structure of Rwanda. 950
- 466. According to the Prosecution, these directives and meetings show that between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994 the Interim Government had decided upon a specific course of action and reached agreement on the execution of a plan to commit genocide and incite, aid and abet the massacres of Tutsi and Hutu moderates. The Prosecution argues that the Interim Government, as a fully functioning government, had developed an explicit policy to exterminate Tutsis and its members had conspired as superiors to intentionally refrain from preventing or punishing perpetrators of crimes. 951
- 467. The Prosecution specifically refers to two Directives issued on 25 May 1994 from Prime Minister Kambanda to *préfets*; one concerning the organisation of the civilian self-defence, and the other concerning the implementation of the orders issued by the Prime Minister. Nyiramasuhuko participated in the drafting of the former document. The Prosecution submits that these directives are an indication of a fully functioning Interim Government, and further alleges that the Interim Government, its members and subordinates played a key role in the plan to commit genocide in Rwanda between April and July 1994.
- 468. The Prosecution stresses what it considers to have been an important issue throughout the trial: the use of double-speak, or the attribution of specific hidden meanings to certain words and phrases in Rwanda in 1994, such as "enemy", "Inyenzi", "Inkotanyi", "pacification", "accomplice", "dirt", "snake" and "infiltrator". In the Prosecution's view, an analysis of the words used by figures of authority during the genocide, the context in which they were used and their meaning to the people who heard them, is necessary in order to understand how the genocide took place. 955
- 469. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not contest the Prosecution's assertion in Paragraph 6.13 of the Indictments that "numerous Cabinet meetings were held successively in Kigali, Gitarama and Gisenyi." However, it rejects the allegation that between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994, ministers (including Nyiramasuhuko) received "regular briefings" on the situation with regard to civilian massacres. 956
- 470. Further, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not contest that from 17 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko took part in the editing of governmental directives on civil defence, which were signed by the Prime Minister on 25 May 1994. However, it submits that these directives

⁹⁵⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 35, para. 25.

⁹⁵¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 36, para. 27.

⁹⁵² Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 122B (Implementing the Directives of the Prime Minister on Organizing the Civil Self-Defence, 25 May 1994); Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 59-60, para. 106.

⁹⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 60, para. 107.

⁹⁵⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 36, para. 30.

⁹⁵⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 36-37, paras. 31-32.

⁹⁵⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 539.

were aimed at creating a uniform structure for the self-defence organisation which was already existent under various forms in the *préfectures* of the country not under RPF control. ⁹⁵⁷

- 471. In relation to Paragraph 6.13 of the Indictments, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that the allegation that during Cabinet meetings, "ministers demanded weapons for distribution in their respective home *préfectures*, knowing that the weapons would be used in the massacres", lacks specification as regards the identity of the individuals alleged to be involved. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence also argues that the Prosecution has failed to prove that allegation against Nyiramasuhuko. 958
- 472. Concerning Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that the Prosecution has not provided proof beyond a reasonable doubt in relation to the charge laid against Nyiramasuhuko, relating to the adoption and implementation of directives and instructions intended to incite, aid and abet the perpetration of the massacres. 959

3.4.3.2 *Evidence*

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

- 473. During his testimony, André Guichaoua referred to Volume Two of his Report, which contains an analysis of Nyiramasuhuko's 1994 diary. He testified that of all the personal diaries he has consulted, no other contains as much information on, or such a specific narration of, the period under consideration, as Nyiramasuhuko's diary. He considered that its significance was even greater, given that the author made a particular effort to include people who were occupying important positions and in that regard, she was a very keen observer. ⁹⁶¹
- 474. In Guichaoua's view, the diary was significant on two levels: first, in terms of the volume of note-taking; and second, in demonstrating the central role of the Interim Government. In relation to the first point, he considered the abundance of notes provided a deep insight into the political activities of the presidential movement before, during and after the genocide. The witness considered that the notes, as a whole, reflect Nyiramasuhuko's perception of the political situation and a number of conclusions can be drawn from them, for instance in relation to the issue of ethnicity or the use of propaganda as employed at the time by the power-wing of the MRND. As regards the second point, the witness also stated that according to the diary, during the period from April to July 1994, the Government played a key role and was the place where discussions took place and decisions were taken. 962
- 475. Commenting on Table 3 of Volume Two of his Report, in which he provided a non-exhaustive list of meetings and political activities attended by Nyiramasuhuko between 6 April 1994 and 17 July 1994, Guichaoua observed that she was one of the most regular attendees of

.

⁹⁵⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 554.

⁹⁵⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 540.

⁹⁵⁹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 538.

⁹⁶⁰ T. 29 June 2004 p. 68 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2).

⁹⁶¹ T. 29 June 2004 p. 68 (Guichaoua).

⁹⁶² T. 29 June 2004 p. 68 (Guichaoua).

Cabinet meetings.⁹⁶³ The proximity between Gitarama and Butare made it possible for her to be present in Butare and regularly visit Murambi in Gitarama where the Cabinet would meet. According to Table 3, the Cabinet met on 15 occasions between 6 April 1994 and 17 July 1994.⁹⁶⁴

Prosecution Expert Witness Évariste Ntakirutimana

476. Évariste Ntakirutimana testified that in the context of Rwanda in 1994, "*Inkotanyi*" and "snake" referred to those who had attacked Rwanda from abroad. 965

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

477. Filip Reyntjens testified to the use of double-speak in the Directive issued by the Prime Minister to all *préfets* on 27 April 1994, in which the words "enemy" and "accomplices" were used to refer to the Tutsis and possibly Hutu opponents and the word "*Inkotanyi*" to mean Tutsis. ⁹⁶⁶

Nyiramasuhuko

- 478. In cross-examination, Nyiramasuhuko stated that between April and July 1994, she would always carry her handbag containing first aid items and her diary. She testified that she sometimes forgot her handbag and was therefore without her diary, although she did not know how many times this had occurred. When questioned on whether she recorded events in the diary entries for the dates on which they occurred, Nyiramasuhuko answered that while this was possible, the lack of paper available after the assassination of the President led her to take notes in the diary to the extent that in only a few instances were the events written down in the corresponding date entries. 968
- 479. In discussing her notes on what transpired at the meeting of 9 April 1994 establishing the Interim Government, Nyiramasuhuko stated: "I explained that as far as we were concerned, the massacres were not supposed to take place. That is what we were fighting against when we took office. We were opposed to the massacres. We wanted, and we stood for peace." 969
- 480. When questioned under cross-examination on how the Government obtained information on security across the country between April and July 1994, Nyiramasuhuko stated that as resources were limited, it was difficult to collect information. She testified that telephones were not operational, the country was at war, there was no media and the intelligence services were in the hands of the RPF. ⁹⁷⁰

.

⁹⁶³ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 71-72 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 25.

⁹⁶⁴ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 71-72 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 25.

⁹⁶⁵ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 55-57 (Ntakirutimana).

⁹⁶⁶ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 67, 70 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁶⁷ T. 12 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁹⁶⁸ T. 12 October 2005 p. 35 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁹⁶⁹ T. 15 November 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁹⁷⁰ T. 10 October 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

3.4.4 Pacification

3.4.4.1 Introduction

- The Prosecution submits that a minister with responsibility for "pacification" was appointed to each *préfecture* in order to ensure that the Interim Government's directives and instructions were implemented. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko was assigned this duty for Butare. 971
- The Prosecution alleges that well before the issuance of the Prime Minister's Directive of 27 April 1994, the Interim Government had already assigned ministers to préfectures for the purposes of pacification. 972 The Prosecution alleges that the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security of 27 April 1994 requires explanation in order for its true meaning to be understood by members of the population. 973 According to the Prosecution, Eliezer Niyitegeka could not have been in charge of pacification in Butare, as submitted by the Defence, because he was not a native of Butare. 974 The Prosecution submits that the speech he delivered as part of the pacification campaign in Butare was not a pacification speech, but rather a war speech. 975
- The Nyiramasuhuko Defence rejects the Prosecution's contention that pacification was a campaign intended to incite, aid and abet the perpetration of massacres. It argues that the Prosecution has not adduced any evidence in support of this contention or the allegation that the Government entrusted Nyiramasuhuko with responsibility for pacification in Butare. 976
- The Defence submits that it has proved that pacification was the Government's attempt to restore calm to the population and stop the killings. 977 It further submits that the only evidence adduced in relation to Nyiramasuhuko's alleged involvement in pacification in Butare was the opinion evidence of Guichaoua, who extracted the word "pacification" from her notes and used that to conclude that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare. 978
- The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that pacification was a continual effort to restore peace to the population through radio messages and by meeting the *préfets* so that they, together with their subordinates, could in turn calm the population. It is the Nyiramasuhuko Defence's submission that proof of this can be found in the Prime Minister's Directive of 27

Para. 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.
 T. 21 November 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁷³ T. 21 November 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁷⁴ T. 21 November 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁹⁷⁵ T. 21 November 2005 p. 17; Defence Exhibit 360C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Minister Niyitigeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare). 976 Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 524, 527.

⁹⁷⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 525.

⁹⁷⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 57-58; Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994).

April 1994, reminding *préfets* of their obligations, and in evidence of ministers' meetings on the ground at which that message of calm was emphasised.⁹⁷⁹

3.4.4.2 Evidence

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

486. André Guichaoua pointed to the assertion he made in his Report, that each minister was given responsibility for pacification in a particular *préfecture*, and stated that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare. He admitted that Nyiramasuhuko's diary contained no mention of the fact that she had been assigned to Butare for the purposes of pacification. He stated that the diary, taken as a whole, showed that Butare was Nyiramasuhuko's main concern and that information pertaining to Nyiramasuhuko's assignment to Butare *préfecture* existed elsewhere. In this connection, Guichaoua pointed to two diary entries in his Report to show that Nyiramasuhuko was the minister in the Interim Government responsible for pacification in Butare. The first diary entry under 25 May 1994 (allegedly containing notes from 22 May 1994) states "[d]emystify the enemy, therefore journalists would travel with the ministers in charge of particular *préfectures*." The second diary entry of 3 June 1994 (allegedly containing notes from 1 June 1994) states, "Mifaprofe → Muramba and Butare and keep an eye on Gikongoro". Guichaoua asserted "Mifaprofe" means the *Ministre de la famille et de la promotion feminine*, which was the post held by Nyiramasuhuko.

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

487. Alison Des Forges testified that the literal translation of the Kinyarwanda term commonly referred to as "pacification" was in fact "restoring security". She drew a distinction between, on the one hand, "pacification", which means ending violence to most people and, on the other hand, "restoring security", which could mean ending violence but could also encompass eliminating the enemy who is a threat to security. Des Forges stated, in both her testimony and her Expert Report, that pacification was the result of the need not to end the killings but rather the need to get them under better control. This need arose for three main reasons: (i) Government officials were concerned with Rwanda's international image; (ii) when the killings began, some people saw this as an opportunity to settle scores, resulting in Hutus killing Hutus – this threatened solidarity; and (iii) some Tutsis were

⁹⁷⁹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 538; Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁸⁰ T. 8 October 2004 p. 5 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 25-26.

⁹⁸¹ T. 8 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua).

⁹⁸² T. 8 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua) (French); T. 8 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua) (English translation, "the whole diary testifies to the fact that it was part of our main concern", is erroneous).

⁹⁸³ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 26.

⁹⁸⁴ T. 8 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges).

⁹⁸⁵ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 28-29 (Des Forges).

⁹⁸⁶ T. 8 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 9.

escaping by buying their lives, for example, by selling sexual services. 987 The authorities also used pacification as a tactic to lure Tutsis out of hiding to be killed. 988

Des Forges testified that at the Cabinet meeting of 23 April 1994 Nyiramasuhuko was assigned the responsibility of implementing the pacification campaign for Butare *préfecture*, and she was often present there. 989 Des Forges stated that the pacification policy was officially launched via the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security issued on 27 April 1994. 990 In commenting on the contents of the Directive, the witness stated that it was important to appreciate the subtleties and complexities of the Kinyarwanda language, which allows for a great deal of ambiguity. 991 Accordingly, when reading a document such as the Prime Minister's Directive of 27 April 1994, attention must be paid to the surface message and to the message underneath. 992 In Des Forges' view the surface message was apparently to restore calm, but there is a distinction between restoring peace and restoring security – restoring security means eliminating the threat, *i.e.* the enemy who is the Tutsi. ⁹⁹³

Nviramasuhuko

- 489. Nyiramasuhuko testified that pacification was one of the main issues to be discussed at the Cabinet meeting of 9 April 1994 and to that end, radio messages were broadcast that were aimed at the public, the army and the international community based in Rwanda. These messages were delivered by the President, Prime Minister, Minister of Defence and the leaders of political parties, and urged listeners not to attack each other and be vigilant to ensure that violent confrontations did not take place in their homes.⁹⁹⁴
- Nyiramasuhuko stated that a clear pacification campaign schedule was drawn up at that 490. meeting, according to which members of the Government would meet préfets, bourgmestres, conseillers and the population on particular days. She stated that this schedule was implemented. 995
- Nyiramasuhuko also gave evidence as to why pacification was again raised at the 491. meeting of 23 April 1994. She stated that the Cabinet had received information that many people were dying and a decision was taken on that day to adopt a new approach to pacification. A document entitled "pacification" was therefore drawn up and disseminated on 27 April 1994. 996 This document took the form of a letter from the Prime Minister to the *préfets*

⁹⁸⁷ T. 8 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 10.

⁹⁸⁹ T. 5 July 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges).

⁹⁹⁰ T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁹¹ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

⁹⁹² T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁹³ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

T. 26 September 2005 pp. 61-62 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 3.

T. 26 September 2005 pp. 64-65 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 6. ⁹⁹⁶ T. 29 September 2005 p. 30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

and contained instructions on the restoration of security in the country. ⁹⁹⁷ According to Nyiramasuhuko, the word "enemy" in that document referred to the RPF-*Inkotanyi*, not Tutsis. ⁹⁹⁸

- 492. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the pacification campaign involved the dissemination of the Prime Minister's instructions of 27 April 1994 to members of the *préfecture* conference, invitees of the *préfet* and others responsible for restoring peace. After the instructions had been communicated, Nyiramasuhuko explained that observations were made on those instructions. These included potential difficulties and suggestions for better implementation. All *préfectures* that were not held by the RPF were covered during the pacification campaign, which began on 30 April 1994 and ended on 5 May 1994. Nyiramasuhuko testified she attended meetings aimed at pacification purposes, specifically the meetings held on 4 May 1994 in Kigali-rural and on 6 May 1994 in Ruhengeri. Ruhengeri.
- 493. Nyiramasuhuko testified that as far as she was concerned, pacification and restoring security were the same. She denied that the instructions issued on 27 April 1994 needed to be explained to the population, stating that these instructions provided a clear explanation of what had to be done. She claimed that it was necessary for the message to be repeated day after day and that the Interim Government wanted people to understand that it did not support the massacres. The message was therefore read out so that people could understand. 1002
- 494. Nyiramasuhuko emphasised that her notes on the meeting of 23 April 1994 did not mention that pacification should be used to propagate a policy of genocide, nor that ministers were appointed to spread such a message. She testified that at no time did she have responsibility for the organisation or supervision of killings in Butare, nor was she ever given responsibility of any other kind as regards Butare. Nyiramasuhuko stated that the decision as to which minister would be responsible for disseminating the pacification policy and where, was taken by consensus at the Cabinet meeting of 27 April 1994 and followed the principle that members of the government would go where they had the largest number of supporters and on the basis of ministerial availability, since many were absent on mission. She added that leaders of political parties proceeded in the same way. 1003
- 495. Nyiramasuhuko denied that she had been in charge of pacification in Butare and testified that the Cabinet decided to send her to Gisenyi *préfecture* as part of the pacification campaign, accompanied by Minister André Rwamakuba (Minister of Primary and Secondary Education) and one representative each from the MDR and PECO parties. 1004 According to her

⁹⁹⁷ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁹⁸ T. 29 September 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

⁹⁹⁹ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-36 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹⁰⁰⁰ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30, 36, 38 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹⁰⁰¹ T. 21 November 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁰² T. 21 November 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹⁰⁰³ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 34-36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁰⁴ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 37, 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

testimony, she specifically visited Ngororero, Kigali-rural and Ngenda. She testified that Ministers Eliezer Niyitegeka (Minister of Information) and Stratom Sabumukunzi (Minister of Agriculture and Livestock), accompanied by Francois Ndungutse (Chairman of the PSD), were dispatched to deliver the pacification message in Butare. Nyiramasuhuko stated that the *préfet* of Butare, Ndungutse and Niyitegeka spoke at the pacification meeting in Butare, which was broadcast over the radio on 30 April 1994, and that Niyitegeka issued instructions to the attendees. Suppose the radio of the Agriculture and Niyitegeka issued instructions to the attendees.

496. Regarding Minister Niyitegeka's pacification speech to Butare, there is a passage which reads:

Know that we are all *abatabazi*; that we already know who the enemy is. He is called *Inkotanyi*. *Inkotanyi* are not found only in Kigali and Butare ... or rather, they are not found only in Ruhengeri and Byumba but also in Butare. Be vigilant, identify them and do not look out only for them. Do not attack a person because of his ethnic origin, because he is handsome or ugly, tall or short, or rich or poor. 1007

- 497. Nyiramasuhuko rejected the Prosecution's assertion that this was a war speech, claiming that such an opinion could only come from a misunderstanding of Kinyarwanda. She testified that what Niyitegeka was in fact saying was that the enemy was not one's neighbour, but the *Inkotanyi*. 1008
- 498. Nyiramasuhuko confirmed she participated in the drafting of the Directive issued from Prime Minister Kambanda on 25 May 1994, yet she clarified this was a document of the Government, not her personal paper. 1009

3.4.5 Cabinet Meeting, 9 April 1994

3.4.5.1 Introduction

499. The Prosecution submits that massacres had already started before the formation of the Interim Government on 9 April 1994 and the Interim Government at that point knew what was happening. It further alleges that at that time, the members of the Interim Government were aware, for example, that Government security forces, such as the Presidential Guard, were involved in the massacres. The Prosecution alleges that apart from dispatching three information-gathering delegations, the Interim Government took no steps to deal with a report delivered to the Cabinet that stated that only Tutsis were being killed. The Prosecution submits that statements were made during the course of the meeting of 9 April 1994 which

¹⁰⁰⁵ T. 29 September 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁰⁶ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 56-60 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 360C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Minister Niyitigeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare).

T. 21 November 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 360C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Minister Niyitigeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare) p. 7.

¹⁰⁰⁸ T. 21 November 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁰⁹ T. 22 November 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰¹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 37-38, paras. 33, 35.

¹⁰¹¹ T. 14 November 2005 pp. 69-70 (Nyiramasuhuko).

purported to justify the massacres on the basis that they were the outcome of Rwandans' anger over the President's murder 1012

- The Prosecution argues that in view of the large-scale massacres of Tutsis, who were seen as accomplices of the RPF, the only logical conclusion to be drawn from reading certain extracts of Nyiramasuhuko's notes on the Cabinet meeting of 9 April 1994 is that the Interim Government considered massacres of Tutsis to be the solution to the conflict. 1013 According to the Prosecution, the issue of "accomplices" is of key importance. 1014 It submits that evidence led from expert and factual witnesses of both the Prosecution and Defence shows that any Tutsi or person who appeared to help the Tutsis could be considered to be an accomplice, including Hutu moderates. 1015 The Prosecution argues that members of the Interim Government, other officials, soldiers, *Interahamwe* and perpetrators of massacres used words such as "accomplice", "Inyenzi" and "Inkotanyi" interchangeably and as part of a concerted action to incite, aid and abet the massacres of Tutsis throughout Rwanda. 1016
- 501. The Prosecution submits that it is not credible for any member of the Interim Government to claim they did not know that when the Interim Government referred to the RPF-Inkotanyi as the enemy, this would be understood by listeners as a reference to Tutsis. 1017
- The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that from its first day in office, the Interim Government was intent on calling for assistance to end hostilities with the RPF and the killings. 1018 The Nyiramasuhuko Defence claims that the fact that the Interim Government had informed international authorities of the situation and requested the intervention of the international community is inconsistent with the allegation that it issued directives and incited, aided and abetted the population to commit genocide. 1019
- The Nyiramasuhuko Defence contends that the Interim Government inherited a pre-503. existing violent situation and endeavoured to end the killings through communication with administrative officials. It rejects the allegation that the Government's decisions had anything to do with incitement or aiding and abetting the population to commit massacres and argues that the Government did not have a premeditated plan to kill Tutsis. 1020

¹⁰¹² T. 14 November 2005 p. 71 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 37-38, paras. 34-35; Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994). ¹⁰¹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 38, para. 37.

¹⁰¹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 39, para. 39.

¹⁰¹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 41, para. 49.

¹⁰¹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 41, para. 49.

¹⁰¹⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 528.

¹⁰¹⁹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 526.

¹⁰²⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 527.

3.4.5.2 Evidence

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

504. Alison Des Forges testified that sometimes the only proof that someone was an "accomplice" was an identity card stating that the person was Tutsi. 1021

Nyiramasuhuko

505. Nyiramasuhuko testified that Defence Exhibit 346C comprised her notes on the Cabinet meeting of 9 April 1994, the first Cabinet meeting after the death of President Habyarimana which she had attended. Referring to the part of her notes which reads, "Nuncio – furious because of the death of priests in the upheavals and says that only Tutsis are being killed", Nyiramasuhuko testified that this statement was reportedly made by the apostolic nuncio, although she did not recall the identity of the person who provided that report. Nyiramasuhuko claimed that ministerial delegations were dispatched to the apostolic nuncio and the Belgian and French ambassadors to seek assistance. The delegations reported back to the Cabinet the following day and reported that the apostolic nuncio and the French ambassador had agreed to help the Interim Government. 1023

506. When questioned as to whether the Interim Government took any steps, aside from dispatching ministerial delegations, to address reports that only Tutsis were being killed, Nyiramasuhuko only replied that the Government sought the assistance and views of the nuncio and the Belgian and French ambassadors. When asked whether she took the floor during the meeting to make a statement concerning the reports that Tutsis were being killed, Nyiramasuhuko answered that she was not in possession of that information at the time, but when such information became available to her through others, she aligned herself with those calling for assistance to help resolve the problems they were facing. 1024

507. When the Prosecution suggested that the presence at the meeting of the *gendarmerie* Chief of Staff, General Ndindiliyimana, meant that ministers should have been aware of the situation in Kigali up to 9 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko replied that the Chief of Staff told attendees of the meeting that after the death of the President the RPF had attacked the Presidential Guard camp, the Kacyiro camp and individuals in Kenamba and that all the Government could do was ask for help. ¹⁰²⁵ In the section concerning the Chief of Staff, Nyiramasuhuko's notes on this meeting also contain a reference made by her to disarming the Presidential Guard soldiers. ¹⁰²⁶

508. Referring to her notes, Nyiramasuhuko testified that the Minister of Environment and Tourism asked: "Who organises the massacres? Is RPF also organised so that the massacres

¹⁰²¹ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 23-24 (Des Forges).

¹⁰²² T. 14 November 2005 p. 67 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰²³ T. 14 November 2005 p. 69 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 2.

¹⁰²⁴ T. 14 November 2005 p. 70 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰²⁵ T. 15 November 2005 p. 18 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 3.

¹⁰²⁶ T. 15 November 2005 pp. 18-23 (Nyiramasuhuko).

will be a solution?" Nyiramasuhuko explained that the speaker was asking himself whether the RPF was committing massacres as a way of achieving its aim, *i.e.* taking power by force. It was suggested to Nyiramasuhuko in cross-examination that given the circumstances in which the meeting of 9 April 1994 took place, the view was that, were the RPF to refuse to negotiate, massacres would be the response. In reply, Nyiramasuhuko stated that as far as she was concerned, the massacres were not supposed to have taken place.

- 509. The Prosecution suggested to Nyiramasuhuko that the question appearing on page 5 of her notes, which reads "[w]hat is your opinion about the accomplices?", was ambiguous, in common with the notes made in respect of previous speakers at the meeting. Nyiramasuhuko denied that this was the case and when questioned on what she considered to be an accomplice, she stated that question went unanswered as of 9 April 1994, but that an accomplice would be someone who would hide RPF weapons in his home or inform RPF soldiers who was not on their side. ¹⁰³¹
- 510. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the phrase, "[v]ery important media contact with diplomats", followed by "Tanzania, Zaire, France, Kenya, UNAMIR" contained in her notes on the meeting of 9 April 1994, referred to the fact that contact with those countries and organisations was important because they had previously assisted the two parties and would have a role to play in restoring peace in Rwanda. 1032
- 511. As regards the statement in the notes which reads "notify the Security Council, OAU, etc.", Nyiramasuhuko was questioned on whether the Interim Government actually contacted the Security Council and the OAU on 9 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko answered that it did so immediately through UNAMIR because the war had just begun and the Security Council had sent UNAMIR to Rwanda. Nyiramasuhuko testified that it was therefore necessary for the Security Council to be informed so that the UNAMIR troops could be increased and their mandate be extended in order to bring an end to the killings and the war. 1035
- 512. Nyiramasuhuko was also questioned on a statement attributed to Minister Mugenzi, who reportedly said that the massacres were not an act of barbarity but rather the anger of the Rwandan people, and that such reaction was normal in view of the three years of war,

¹⁰²⁷ T. 15 November 2005 p. 20 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 4.

¹⁰²⁸ T. 15 November 2005 p. 21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰²⁹ T. 15 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰³⁰ T. 15 November 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 15 November 2005 pp. 35-36 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 5.

¹⁰³² T. 26 September 2005 p. 55 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 1.

¹⁰³³ T. 26 September 2005 p. 59 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 2.

¹⁰³⁴ T. 26 September 2005 p. 59 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰³⁵ T. 26 September 2005 p. 59 (Nyiramasuhuko).

- 1,000,000 displaced persons and the deaths of the Rwandan and Burundian Presidents. Nyiramasuhuko testified that this statement was a reflection of the reality of the situation. 1036
- Nyiramasuhuko testified that as the Interim Government had just been formed, it could not have organised the massacres; the massacres took place before the Interim Government took power and the meeting on 9 April 1994 was the first Cabinet meeting of the new Government. 1037 She claimed that the RPF attributed responsibility for the massacres to the Interim Government as a way of creating division and frustrating the establishment of Government institutions. 1038
- Nyiramasuhuko also testified that "Inyenzi" was not synonymous with Tutsi but rather referred to the *Inkotanvi*. She stated that *Invenzi* were virtually everywhere in the country and that it was the government's right to fight the *Invenzi*. 1039

Nsabimana Defence Witness Patrick Fergal Keane

Patrick Fergal Keane, a British journalist, testified that he understood *Invenzi* to mean "cockroaches" which could be applied to RPF soldiers or Tutsi civilians. 1040

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntiens

When questioned on the meaning of "accomplice", Reyntiens testified that this term 516. would be generally understood by Rwandans to refer to Tutsis. He further testified that there was no need for a person's identity card to specify that they were Tutsi in order to be a target; many had been killed because they looked like Tutsis or were known to be Tutsis in their neighbourhood. 1041

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu

517 Eugène Shimamungu explained the term *Inkotanyi* as follows:

> Dualistic globalisation is a phenomenon that occurs in all conflicts ... In Rwanda, either you are with me or against me. These are the two parties in conflicts. In Rwanda it was the same case, on the one hand, you had the *Inkotanyi*, on the other side you had the Rwandan government army, and the globalisation that occurred is that the Tutsis were considered as the *Inkotanyi*, because the *Inkotanyi* were majority Tutsi. 1042

¹⁰³⁶ T. 26 September 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 2.

T. 26 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).
 T. 26 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰³⁹ T. 21 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁴⁰ T. 27 September 2006 p. 78 (Keane).

¹⁰⁴¹ T. 21 November 2007 p. 71 (Reyntjens).

¹⁰⁴² T. 16 March 2005 p. 38 (Shimamungu).

3.4.6 Cabinet Meeting, 10 April 1994

3.4.6.1 Introduction

- 518. The Prosecution submits that a Cabinet meeting took place on 10 April 1994, during which the Interim Government decided on and established a formal structure for roadblocks which involved security forces, *gendarmes*, local authorities, *Interahamwe* and civilians working together. According to the Prosecution, the evidence on what happened between April and July 1994 largely confirms that the roadblock structure was consistent with the decisions of the Interim Government and that at these roadblocks, Tutsis were identified and killed. 1044
- 519. The Prosecution argues that the discussion on the position of *responsables de cellule* was significant, as payment of the *cellule* members was part of the Government's plan for the execution of the massacres. It contends that the Interim Government considered *responsables de cellule* to be the basic unit for denouncing Tutsis and identifying infiltrators. ¹⁰⁴⁵
- 520. It is not disputed that the meeting in question took place on 10 April 1994. What is contested is the content of said meeting. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence claims that the decisions taken in the course of this meeting were aimed at restoring peace. It submits that the Interim Government was powerless to stop the killings and tried to resolve the situation while defending the sovereignty of Rwanda against the RPF. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence rejects the Prosecution's contention that the Interim Government insisted on a ceasefire before it would intervene to halt the massacres. Further, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence underscores that the Prosecution never challenged its assertions that the FAR was defending itself or that the Interim Government repeatedly attempted to secure a ceasefire.

3.4.6.2 *Evidence*

Nyiramasuhuko

- 521. Nyiramasuhuko testified that security and roadblocks were discussed at the meeting of 10 April 1994. She explained that a decision was taken to maintain roadblocks supervised by soldiers and that roadblocks manned by civilians, wherever necessary due to inadequate numbers of *gendarmes*, had to be under the control of local authorities. ¹⁰⁴⁸
- 522. When cross-examined on the role of *cellules*, Nyiramasuhuko refuted the Prosecution submission that *cellules* were part of the Government's plan to commit massacres on the basis that the *cellule* was an integral part of the Rwandan administrative structure and that the

¹⁰⁴³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 42, para. 50.

¹⁰⁴⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 42, para. 50.

¹⁰⁴⁵ T. 15 November 2005 pp. 42-43; Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994).

¹⁰⁴⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 529.

¹⁰⁴⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 529.

¹⁰⁴⁸ T. 27 September 2005 pp. 7-9 (Nyiramasuhuko).

government had been in office for only one day. She emphasised that *cellules* had been in place long before the troubles. 1049

- 523. Referring to her notes on this meeting under the heading "security", Nyiramasuhuko testified that the Government felt that it was abnormal for the situation of insecurity to persist in view of its appointment and decided to do its best to restore security. According to Nyiramasuhuko, at the meeting the Government decided that in view of the various incidences of looting and stealing, the Prosecutors' offices must carry out investigations. Nyiramasuhuko testified that in line with what was discussed during the meeting, the Government subsequently wrote to the RPF requesting a ceasefire. 1052
- 524. In relation to the issue of contacting the *préfets*, as discussed at the Cabinet meeting of 9 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko testified that this issue was discussed again on 10 April 1994 and it was stated that they should be contacted by fax and telephone, although she could not confirm whether this actually occurred. ¹⁰⁵³

3.4.7 Joint Meeting of Government and *Préfets*, 11 April 1994

3.4.7.1 Introduction

- 525. The Prosecution submits that at a meeting held on 11 April 1994, the *préfet* of Gikongoro proposed that the Government protect only a part of the population, *i.e.* those who lived on the hills, and that no measures were taken in respect of refugees. The Prosecution asserts that the Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, understood the statement made by the *préfet* of Gikongoro and endorsed a plan to guard or disarm the refugees so that they would not pose a threat to the population remaining on the hills. The Prosecution argues that the statement made by the *préfet* of Gikongoro, to which no objections were raised, was in line with the Interim Government's propaganda campaign targeting the civilian population in order to create fear and hatred among them. Tose
- 526. The Prosecution submits that in Nyiramasuhuko's notes on this meeting, references to the need to guard refugees and to pre-empt potential problems in the statement made by the *préfet* of Gikongoro were references to Tutsi men, women and children of all ages. According

¹⁰⁴⁹ T. 15 November 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁵⁰ T. 27 September 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994) p. 1.

¹⁰⁵¹ T. 27 September 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994) p. 2.

¹⁰⁵² T. 27 September 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994) p. 2.

¹⁰⁵³ T. 27 September 2005 p. 12 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994) p. 3.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 42, paras. 51-52.

¹⁰⁵⁵ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 6, 9 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 42, paras. 51-52. The Chamber notes that in its Closing Brief, the Prosecution refers to the *préfet* of Gitarama, instead of Gikongoro. However, considering the content of Nyiramasuhuko's cross-examination on the mentioned transcript references, jointly with her notes concerning the 11 April 1994 meeting (Defence Exhibit 349C) the Chamber finds this is a mistake and it is satisfied that the Prosecution intended to refer to the *préfet* of Gikongoro.

¹⁰⁵⁶ T. 27 September 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994) p. 2.

to the Prosecution, while the refugee population did contain some Hutus, those fleeing the violence were primarily Tutsis, while those remaining in their homes on the hills were Hutus ¹⁰⁵⁷

- 527. The Prosecution contends that despite a clear request from the *préfets* of Kibungo and Gikongoro for means to put an end to the killings, as testified to by Nyiramasuhuko, no such means were provided, except for the establishment of roadblocks. ¹⁰⁵⁸
- 528. The Prosecution argues that the erection of roadblocks was one of the methods used in the commission of the genocide and many Tutsis were killed at them. It submits that Nyiramasuhuko and the Interim Government had full knowledge of the purpose of the roadblocks. 1059
- 529. The Prosecution emphasises the importance of the issue of payment of allowances to responsables de cellule, to which reference is made in Nyiramasuhuko's notes on this meeting, underlining that the Interim Government had discussed this matter on previous occasions, particularly during the Cabinet meeting of 10 April 1994. The Prosecution notes that many people were not paid during the genocide and questions why responsables de cellule were singled out. The Prosecution submits that the importance placed on ensuring that responsables de cellule were paid could be explained by reference to the structure of the Rwandan political and administrative system, which was highly centralised with decisions being made at the top and filtered down through the préfets and bourgmestres to the conseillers de secteur and responsables de cellule. In order to ensure that the Interim Government's decisions were carried out, officials at all levels of the Rwandan political system had to be on side. The Prosecution argues that the need to ensure that responsables de cellule were paid was a way of ensuring that those in the government structure closest to the civilian population were willing to implement the Interim Government's instructions. Instructions.
- 530. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that the Prime Minister's opening statements at the meeting of 11 April 1994 had to be taken at face value and could not be interpreted in any other way. It argues that the message concerning the need to stop the killings and restore peace had been transmitted by the Government to the *préfets* to be handed down, in turn, to the subordinates of the latter and implemented. 1063

3.4.7.2 *Evidence*

Nyiramasuhuko

531. Referring to her notes on the meeting, Nyiramasuhuko stated that when the Prime Minister opened the meeting, he said three things: the first was on raising the population's

¹⁰⁵⁷ T. 16 November 2005 p. 5 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 42, paras. 51-52; Defence Exhibit 349C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the joint meeting of Government and *préfets* of 11 April 1994).

¹⁰⁵⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 43, para. 54.

¹⁰⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 43-44, para. 55.

¹⁰⁶⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 43, para. 53.

¹⁰⁶¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 43, para. 53.

¹⁰⁶² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 530.

¹⁰⁶³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para, 531.

awareness of the existence of three ethnic groups in the country; the second was on extending relief while asking people to reconsider their behaviour; and the third was on examining ways of securing the population's cooperation with the army with a view to restoring security. She testified that the Prime Minister's address was not propaganda nor did it contain doublespeak. 1064

- Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that during the meeting of 11 April 1994 the préfet of 532. Gikongoro made a statement in which he said that using speeches for pacification was not good enough and that the refugees must be guarded because 2,000 people gathered in the same location might organise themselves and create problems for those who remained on the hills. Nviramasuhuko disputed the assertion that the statement referred to Tutsis who were being pursued, insisting that both Hutus and Tutsis had fled from Gikongoro préfecture. 1065 Nyiramasuhuko testified that she knew nothing of any plan to guard or disarm refugees to prevent them from posing a threat to the population. She denied that there were no measures of protection for refugees. 1066
- Nyiramasuhuko explained that the *préfet* was not proposing that the refugees be killed, but rather that the *gendarmes* should watch over them because trouble could break out in view of their high numbers. 1067 Nyiramasuhuko subsequently stated that what was meant was that the refugees needed to be protected to prevent them from committing criminal acts such as attacking members of the public. 1068
- When asked by the Prosecution what concrete means were placed at the disposal of the préfecture authorities in response to the demands made by the préfets of Kibungo and Gikongoro for an end to the killings, Nyiramasuhuko answered that the *préfecture* authorities could requisition the forces of law and order. As far as the Government was concerned, Nyiramasuhuko testified that the Chief of Staff, who was in charge of military operations, had ordered a truce. 1069
- Nyiramasuhuko testified that during the meeting the Prime Minister issued instructions to préfets. She confirmed that the conclusions of this Cabinet meeting included a decision concerning the erection and supervision of roadblocks and another on allowances for responsables de cellule. 1070
- On the issue of responsables de cellule, Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that these formed part of the administration and explained that as a result of the conflict, they had not received their salaries for a year and it was therefore necessary for these arrears to be paid.

T. 27 September 2005 pp. 30-31, 33-35 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 349C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's notes on the joint meeting of Government and *préfets* of 11 April 1994) pp. 1-2.

¹⁰⁶⁵ T. 27 September 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

1066 T. 16 November 2005 pp. 5-7, 9 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 349C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's notes on the joint meeting of Government and *préfets* of 11 April 1994) p. 2. ¹⁰⁶⁷ T. 27 September 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁶⁸ T. 27 September 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁶⁹ T. 9 November 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 16 November 2005 pp. 9, 22 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 349C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's notes on the joint meeting of Government and *préfets* of 11 April 1994) pp. 2-3.

Nyiramasuhuko denied that payment of *responsables de cellule* was a priority for the Government, insisting that the priority was to provide security. 1071

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

- 537. In cross-examination, André Guichaoua agreed with counsel's assertion that the Government had decided on 10 April 1994 to summon all the *préfets* to the Government's seat at Kigali on 11 April 1994, and that 11 April 1994 was the date on which the Government asked the *préfets* to implement its policy of genocide. He said that he was interested in what was said and what happened at the meeting of 11 April 1994 but was more interested in what the *préfets* did after the meeting because their behaviour might have been influenced by what they remembered of things not made explicit during the meeting. ¹⁰⁷²
- 538. In relation to the section of the speech delivered by the Prime Minister at this occasion in which he addressed the *préfets* and asked them to relay the message to the population, Guichaoua maintained that the speech was propaganda, even if it was made and broadcast in Kinyarwanda only. ¹⁰⁷³
- 539. Guichaoua testified that at the meeting of 11 April 1994, there was a move to dismiss *Préfet* Habyalimana from office, from Butare. In this connection, Callixte Kalimanzira agreed to draft a report which contained serious allegations against Habyalimana concerning his

¹⁰⁷¹ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 12-14 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁷² T. 6 October 2004 pp. 20-21 (Guichaoua).

¹⁰⁷³ Defence Exhibit 350C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Transcript of Kambanda's speech of 11 April 1994) pp. 13-14 ("So this is the message that we want you to convey to members of the population; we would like you to organize pacification meetings at the *commune* level. The prefectoral authorities will ask the *bourgmestres* to organize such meetings at the secteur level, as well as the conseillers, to ensure that these meetings are held at all levels. Department heads will have to organize meetings as soon as work resumes. You will also have to explain to them that the death of the Head of State, as well as the disturbances that occurred in the city of Kigali and the resumption of fighting by the Inkotanyi, should not cause divisions among them. You will have to make them understand that there are three ethnic groups in the country, namely Hutu, Tutsi and Twa, as well as several regions, and that the country belongs to them all. You will ask them to refrain from doing anything that could division [sic]. Some problems are caused by jealousy, because it has become apparent that acts of aggression against sile [sic] people were followed by looting. No one can say that such and such an ethnic group has been the target of looting, because anyone with property, whether he is Hutu, Tutsi or Twa, could fall victim to looting not because of his ethnic origins, but because he had what others did not have. That is why I am saying that jealousy could explain the discord among the people. Members of the population should therefore refrain from anything that could create divisions among them, such as jealousy and other issues that 1 have referred to, especially regionalism, and above all ethnic problems. On a closer look, it would appear that these days some practices have been institutionalized. People should refrain from taking the law into their own hands; rather they should know that the security forces, the law and the authorities still exist. You will have to remind them that the authorities are present. The Head of State was killed, but we have a President of the Republic installed in accordance with the law. The Prime Minister was killed, but he has been replaced in accordance with the law. The Government has been put in place; it is ready to get down to the job and this can be seen through the decisions it is adopting aimed at resolving the problem of insecurity. You will have to ask members of the population to perpetuate our culture of helping one another and to know that when a neighbour is attacked, it is their duty to come to his rescue; that when a neighbour is wounded, they have an obligation to make sure he gets treatment. You should tell them that they are requested to rebuild dwelling houses that have been burnt. This is normal in Rwandan culture. If they are able to understand that we are all Rwandans, that this country belongs to all of us, they will also understand that when tragedy befalls someone, his neighbour is also affected. Rwandan culture calls on people to help one another."); T. 6 October 2004 pp. 22-23 (Guichaoua).

relations with the *Inkotanyi*. According to Guichaoua, this report was tabled at a Cabinet meeting held on 17 April 1994. 1074

3.4.8 Cabinet Meeting, 16 April 1994

3.4.8.1 Introduction

- The Prosecution submits that this meeting provides an insight into the Interim 540. Government and its involvement in matters relating to the armv. 1075
- 541. The Defence makes no specific submissions in relation to this meeting, although it did lead evidence as to the contents of Nyiramasuhuko's notes on this meeting. 1076

3.4.8.2 Evidence

Nviramasuhuko

- Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that the notes relating to this meeting were made on the 542. page of her 1994 diary corresponding to 1 February 1994. These notes contained various references to military matters including: the appointment of the chief of staff of the army; the need to teach the population how to use arms; an assessment that the majors leading the combat units did not have confidence in the chief; and the promotion of certain soldiers. 1078
- 543. Referring to her notes on this meeting, Nyiramasuhuko testified about the reference to a death toll of 20,000 related to members of the population massacred by the RPF. The witness stated that the army was not in a position to defend the population as the *Inkotanyi* were present across the country. 1079
- In respect of the reference in her notes to teaching the public to handle arms in order to defend themselves, the witness stated that this had originally been the intention but that after the signature of the Arusha Accords the government ordered that weapons distributed to the Rwandan-Ugandan border area for this purpose be returned. She was unable to confirm whether all the weapons distributed were collected. 1080
- 545. Nyiramasuhuko testified that a Burundian political party, referred to in her notes as "PARPEHUTU", had offered to send military reinforcements to bolster the Rwandan army. She explained that the Government declined the offer because it advocated peace and thought that the opposition shared that view. 1081

¹⁰⁷⁴ T. 7 October 2004 p. 21 (Guichaoua).

¹⁰⁷⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 46-47, para. 63.

¹⁰⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994).

¹⁰⁷⁷ T. 16 November 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 19. ¹⁰⁷⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 19.

T. 28 September 2005 p. 41 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 19.

¹⁰⁸⁰ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 41-42 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 19. ¹⁰⁸¹ T. 28 September 2005 p. 43 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 19.

3.4.9 Cabinet Meeting, 21 April 1994

3.4.9.1 Introduction

- The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko's notes on this meeting show that she was aware of the prevailing situation in Rwanda in terms of the war. The Prosecution argues that the Cabinet agreed to continue the killings if the RPF refused to negotiate. 1083
- The Defence submits that when the Government became aware that killings were 547. continuing, it took steps to control the situation. 1084

3.4.9.2 Evidence

<u>Nyiramasuhuko</u>

- 548. Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that the notes relating to this meeting were made on the pages of her 1994 diary corresponding to 11-13 February 1994. She referred to her entries concerning the continuance of killings, negotiations with the RPF and missions to African countries. Nyiramasuhuko conceded that she was aware that the situation was bad and of the existence of massacres, although she did not know the identity of the killers. She stated that having information does not necessarily mean that one is aware of everything that is going on in places where one is not present. 1085
- Referring to the entry in her notes which states "[s]ituation killings continue", it was 549. put to Nyiramasuhuko that the Cabinet had agreed to continue the killings if the RPF refused to negotiate. Nyiramasuhuko dismissed this assertion as speculation and indicated that as far as the Government was concerned, the situation was critical. She stated that there was a link between the advance of the RPF and the killings – as the RPF advanced, people became increasingly nervous and began to carry out killings. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the forces of law and order which should have been assisting the Government to control the situation in problematic areas were at the battlefront which made it difficult for the Government to fulfil its objectives. 1086
- Nyiramasuhuko testified that on 21 April 1994 the Government decided to send people to Tanzania, the OAU, Egypt, Gabon, Togo and Senegal to seek assistance. She stated that the RPF was responsible for the killings and that people were being killed in areas under Government control. Nyiramasuhuko added that the Government issued a mandate to negotiate a ceasefire with the RPF 1087

¹⁰⁸² T. 17 November 2005 p. 39 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) pp.

¹⁰⁸³ T. 17 November 2005 p. 40 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁸⁴ T. 29 September 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁸⁵ T. 17 November 2005 pp. 37-40 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994)

pp. 24-25.

1086 T. 17 November 2005 pp. 40-41 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 24. ¹⁰⁸⁷ T. 29 September 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 24.

3.4.10 Cabinet Meeting, **23** April 1994

3.4.10.1 Introduction

- 551. The Prosecution submits that there was no discussion during this meeting on how to stop the killings. Instead, there was talk of the need to disarm "infiltrators", which was a veiled reference to Tutsis. According to the Prosecution, the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, equated Tutsi refugees with infiltrators, thereby conveying the message that the population should be afraid of Tutsis and that they should kill the Tutsis before the Tutsis killed them. ¹⁰⁸⁸
- 552. It is the Prosecution's submission that the Interim Government's concern, expressed during the meeting, that the refugees were dangerous and had to be disarmed was the same concern as that expressed by the *préfet* of Gikongoro at the meeting of 11 April 1994, and that the Government supported and endorsed the *préfet*'s statement in that regard. ¹⁰⁸⁹
- 553. The Prosecution further argues that as Nyiramasuhuko had not taken a note of everything that transpired during the meeting, the fact that note had been taken of disarming the refugees signified that the issue was more important than others discussed and that the danger was linked to the fact that Tutsi refugees were involved. 1090
- 554. The Prosecution claims that by referring specifically in her notes to disarming a Tutsi camp, Nyiramasuhuko meant that Tutsis must be set apart from other refugees and killed. Further, it alleges that Nyiramasuhuko referred to "Tutsi refugees" in her diary and not to "infiltrators" because these terms were synonymous. The Prosecution suggested that the decision to disarm refugees who no longer had homes or property meant that they would be put in a situation where it would be very easy to kill them.
- 555. The Defence submits that the Interim Government sought to end hostilities by negotiating and signing ceasefire proposals. The Defence further submits that, pursuant to the discussions held during the meeting of 23 April 1994 and contrary to the allegation found in Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Directive on restoring security issued by the Government on 27 April 1994 was clear, direct and explicit. 1094

3.4.10.2 Evidence

Nyiramasuhuko

556. In relation to her notes on this meeting, in particular the reference to the seven refugee camps for Tutsis in Gitarama described as being "ready to pounce" and which "should be disarmed", Nyiramasuhuko testified that it had been reported that refugee camps in Gitarama

¹⁰⁸⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 51-52, paras. 81-82.

¹⁰⁸⁹ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 16-17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹⁰ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 18-19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹¹ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 19-20 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹² T. 16 November 2005 p. 21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹³ T. 29 September 2008 pp. 18-19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹⁴ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 533; Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

had been infiltrated by armed members of the RPF and that the gendarmes there tried to provide protection to prevent unrest. She denied that the situation in Gitarama had anything to do with the events in Gikongoro. 1095 Nyiramasuhuko insisted that the reference to disarming them was not double-speak; it did not refer to the killing of refugees. Rather, it meant that the gendarmes had to search the refugees to find out whether they were carrying weapons. 1096

- Nyiramasuhuko testified that her notes on this meeting were essentially scraps of information rather than minutes and that disarming the refugees was noted not for its importance but because it would have been an impossible task to "disarm the infiltrators". She went on to testify that armed infiltrators were present in seven camps and it was proposed that they be disarmed. However, due to insufficient army resources and the threat that such action might provoke disturbances, no steps were taken and the gendarmes proceeded to protect all those in the camp until they were chased out by the infiltrators. The proposal to disarm the infiltrators was never carried out. 1097
- 558. Nyiramasuhuko denied that Tutsi refugees had been singled out or that the term infiltrator was synonymous with Tutsi. She did, however, testify that the Gitarama camps held Tutsi refugees who had been sent by the RPF. 1098
- Nyiramasuhuko testified that a proposed ceasefire agreement with the RPF was signed on 23 April 1994 on behalf of the Interim Government by General Marcel Gatsinzi and Colonel Aloys Ntiwiragabo. She stated that representatives of the Government travelled to Arusha and Badolite to secure the RPF's signature but that the RPF was not present and so did not agree to the proposed ceasefire. 1099
- Referring to the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security, Nyiramasuhuko testified that the document was approved by consensus before being made public. She stated that it clearly identified the enemy and in this connection referred specifically to page two of the document, on which one of the instructions issued read:

The enemy who attacked Rwanda is well known: it is the RPF-INKOTANYI. You are therefore requested to explain to the people that they must avoid anything that would bring about violence among them on the pretext of ethnic groups, regions, denominations, political parties, hatred, etc, because violence within the population constitutes a breach for the enemy. 1100

¹⁰⁹⁵ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 16-18 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 27. 1096 T. 29 September 2005 pp. 32-33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹⁷ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 17-19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁹⁸ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 19-20 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 29 September 2005 pp. 18-19 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 358B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Ceasefire Declaration, 23 April 1994).

¹¹⁰⁰ T. 29 September 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

3.4.11 Cabinet Meeting, 17 June 1994

3.4.11.1 Introduction

- 561. The Prosecution submits that the various appointments made during this meeting were a means for the Interim Government to ensure that its programme of genocide would continue.¹¹⁰¹
- 562. The Defence made no specific submissions in relation to this meeting.

3.4.11.2 Evidence

<u>Nyiramasuhuko</u>

563. Nyiramasuhuko testified that a number of appointments were made during the meeting, including the appointment of Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*, and the appointment of Nteziryayo to replace Nsabimana as *préfet* of Butare. ¹¹⁰²

3.4.12 Deliberations

3.4.12.1 Briefings on Massacres and Demands for Weapons During Cabinet Meetings

- 564. It is not contested that numerous Cabinet meetings were held in Kigali, Gitarama and Gisenyi in April and June 1994. Indeed, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence acknowledges that this is confirmed by Nyiramasuhuko's testimony and corroborated by her diary and other personal notes adduced as evidence. In particular, the Chamber notes that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not dispute the existence of the meetings in respect of which specific submissions were made and which are discussed above.
- 565. Nyiramasuhuko herself testified to the Government's endeavours to agree on a ceasefire and contact the Security Council, the OAU and foreign governments in order to end the killings. She also testified that ministerial delegations were dispatched to the apostolic nuncio and the Belgian and French ambassadors to seek assistance. The Chamber notes that they would not have done this had they not known about the massacres. Furthermore, her notes on meetings contain numerous references to the occurrence or continuance of massacres. For instance, Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that pages 24 and 25 of her diary refer to her notes on the Cabinet meeting of 21 April 1994. Page 24 contains an entry that reads: "Situation Killings continue ... Rivers Mwongo and Nyabarongo strewn with bodies." Page 25 contains a further entry stating "[s]top the killings". Notwithstanding the Nyiramasuhuko Defence's position that in view of the infancy of the Interim Government and the fact that the country was at war (together with the associated communication difficulties), only limited information

¹¹⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 60, para. 108.

¹¹⁰² T. 27 October 2005 pp. 4-6 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 81. ¹¹⁰³ *See. e.g.*. Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 539.

T. 26 September 2005 pp. 55, 59-60 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) pp. 1-2.

1105 T. 14 November 2005 p. 69 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's

T. 14 November 2005 p. 69 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 2.

¹¹⁰⁶ T. 17 November 2005 pp. 39-40 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) pp. 24-25.

was available, the Chamber finds the evidence established beyond a reasonable doubt that, between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994, the Government was aware that massacres were taking place. 1107

- 566. With respect to Expert Witness Guichaoua, evidence was led to demonstrate that the Interim Government was a government that functioned during the three months of war: frequent meetings were held, issues were discussed and decisions taken. According to Table 3, Volume Two of Guichaoua's Report, the Cabinet met on 15 occasions between 6 April and 17 July 1994. Moreover, proof that discussions were held on a variety of issues and that decisions were taken by the Interim Government was borne out by the entries in Nyiramasuhuko's diary and her notes on individual Cabinet meetings. 1109
- 567. Based on all the above evidence, the Chamber is persuaded that information on civilian massacres was provided and discussed at Cabinet meetings, and that the Government took decisions in light of such information.
- 568. The Prosecution did not make any specific submissions in its Closing Brief or lead evidence during trial to substantiate its allegation that in the course of Cabinet meetings ministers demanded that weapons be distributed in their respective home *préfectures* knowing that such weapons would be used in the massacres.
- 569. Having assessed the totality of the evidence in relation to Paragraph 6.13 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994, numerous Cabinet meetings were held and that during such meetings ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, were briefed on the situation *vis-à-vis* massacres of the civilian population. However, it has not been proven that ministers demanded that weapons be distributed in their respective home *préfectures*.

3.4.12.2 Issuance of Directives and Instructions During Cabinet Meetings and Pacification

570. Nyiramasuhuko's testimony showed that the Interim Government indeed issued instructions and directives during April and June 1994. In particular, the Chamber notes Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that at the meeting of 11 April 1994, the Prime Minister issued instructions to *préfets*¹¹¹⁰ and that at the meeting of 27 April 1994, a document on the restoration of security in the country was discussed, agreed on and disseminated. ¹¹¹¹

¹¹⁰⁷ See T. 26 September 2005 pp. 59-60, 64; T. 15 November 2005 p. 25; T. 17 November 2005 pp. 39-41; T. 21 November 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) pp. 24-25; Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994). ¹¹⁰⁸ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 68, 71-72 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 25

^{25. &}lt;sup>1109</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) pp. 19, 24-25, 27; Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 347C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 10 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 349C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the joint meeting of Government and *préfets* of 11 April 1994). ¹¹¹⁰ T. 16 November 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko) (these instructions were later broadcast to the *préfets* on Radio

T. 16 November 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko) (these instructions were later broadcast to the *préfets* on Radio Rwanda; *cf.* Defence Exhibit 350C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Transcript of Kambanda's speech of 11 April 1994).

T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994) pp. 13-14.

- Nyiramasuhuko also testified to the manner in which these instructions were conveyed to the people: through the pacification campaign. A campaign timetable was drawn up and members of the Government met with various stakeholders on specific days. 1112 The Chamber recalls that Nyiramasuhuko testified that ministers were given responsibility for pacification in specified *préfectures*. 1113 In the context of this campaign, ministers visited various areas of the country to disseminate the instructions contained in the Prime Minister's Directive of 27 April 1994, ¹¹¹⁴ which was the official manifestation of the pacification policy (). These instructions were read out in order to be understood. 1115
- The main question for the Chamber is whether these directives and instructions were 572. intended to incite, aid and abet the perpetration of massacres and whether Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for "pacification" in Butare.
- Dealing with these two issues in turn, at the root of the first issue is the Interim Government's motive when it issued its instructions and directives. In the Chamber's view, the language used in the instructions and directives, the meaning attributed to them by their recipients and the Government's knowledge of the meaning so attributed is key to determining the Interim Government's motive in this respect.
- During the course of trial proceedings, the Prosecution introduced considerable evidence on the use of double-speak in Rwanda in 1994, particularly in relation to the words "enemy", "Inyenzi", "Inkotanyi", "accomplice" and "infiltrator" as referring to Tutsis. For example, Prosecution Witness FAG was asked whether, in 1994, "Inyenzi" was used to refer to RPF accomplices to which he replied that the term was used to refer to all Tutsis. 1116 () Prosecution Witnesses FAH () and FAI () testified that it was common knowledge that "enemy" referred to the RPF and "accomplices" meant the Tutsis. 1117 Numerous witnesses provided consistent testimony that the words "enemy", "Inyenzi", "Inkotanyi", "accomplice" and "infiltrator" were commonly used to refer to Tutsis. 1118

¹¹¹² T. 26 September 2005 pp. 65-66 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994) p. 6. ¹¹¹³ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 34-36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31, 36 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹¹¹⁵ T. 21 November 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹¹¹⁶ T. 3 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness FAG).

¹¹¹⁷ T. 21 April 2004 p. 15 (Witness FAH); T. 31 October 2002 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹¹¹⁸ T. 9 February 2004 p. 59 (Witness FAL) (no distinction was drawn between the Tutsis inside the country and the Tutsis who attacked the country, all Tutsis were considered to be the enemy); see also (); T. 7 November 2001 pp. 95-96 (Witness TA) (Tutsi refugees not allowed to go to hospital because if a doctor were to give drugs to a Tutsi, the Interahamwe would kill the doctor as he would be considered to be an accomplice); see also (); T. 6 September 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness TQ) (Tutsis described by Interahamwe as RPF accomplices and referred to as, "Inkotanyi" and "Invenzi"); see also (); T. 3 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness SS) (saw Nyiramasuhuko pick up a piece of cloth and state: "I don't understand, it's these refugees here who threw this cloth. These refugees are the accomplices of the Inkotanyi"); see also (); T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21, 52 (Witness QAH) (Nteziryayo told recruits the purpose of training was to counter the enemy. Nteziryayo's role at Kamena Stadium was twofold: he taught them how to operate arms and incited them to hate the Tutsis.); see also (); T. 4 March 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F) (Minister Baravuga told members of the population "Our country is plagued by a difficult war, and I would like to show that you have to track down the enemy as well as their ... accomplices." The enemies were the Tutsi and their accomplices included the authorities such as "Kanyabatutsi"); see also (); T. 16 February 2004 pp.

575. This was largely corroborated by Prosecution Expert Witness Des Forges and Defence Expert Witnesses Reyntjens and Shimamungu, as well as Nsabimana Defence Witness Fergal Keane. In addition to testimony on the use of double-speak, documentary evidence was adduced and referred to in witness testimony demonstrating that such words were indeed used by the Interim Government in its directives and instructions. In this connection, the Chamber refers to the contents of Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994), 1120 and Defence Exhibit 360C (Minister Niyitegeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare). The Chamber notes that the language used in these Exhibits refers to actions such as "unmask[ing] the enemy and his accomplices" and "fight[ing] against the enemy."

576. Witnesses also testified that Tutsis fled or were chased from their homes in April 1994. The Prosecution also led evidence from Des Forges that the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security issued on 27 April 1994 had a double meaning: while the

35, 37 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 19 February 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness RV) ("Work" meant struggle against the enemy whom the Prime Minister defined as the *Inkotanyi* and their accomplices. The witness explained that Inkotanyi accomplices were Tutsis or Hutus who supported the RPF); see also (); Prosecution Exhibit 159B (Tolerance or Intransigence, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 14-15 (From a traditional Rwandan perspective, the aggressor of Rwanda, the Tutsi, were referred to as a real enemy); see also (); T. 14 October 2002 p. 50 (Witness SU); T. 16 October 2002 pp. 25, 27, 35 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko said that refugees had brought the cloth and therefore the Inkotanyi accomplices had infiltrated. It was said that there were RPF accomplices among the refugees); see also (); T. 20 May 2002 p. 40 (Witness TK) (explaining that Tutsis were called "Invenzi" during that period); see also (); T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QI); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76, 80 (ICS) (Witness QI) (understood Inkotanyi to mean Tutsis hiding in the bushes); see also (); T. 21 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAH) (Colonel Muvunyi said that if the population did not fight the Tutsis, who were accomplices, then the Tutsis would exterminate the population); see also (); T. 12 November 2001 p. 33 (Witness QJ) (Witness QJ testified that when Kanyabashi used the word "enemy", it meant Tutsis); see also (); T. 27 September 2006 pp. 77-78 (Keane); Defence Exhibit 473D (Nsabimana) (Transcript of Interview) (young man who worked at roadblock used the phrase "Invenzi", which they were led to understand referred to cockroaches, a term used to reflect Tutsis. He understood the word *Invenzi* meant cockroach and was applied to RPF soldiers or Tutsi civilians and Tutsis as an ethnic group in 1994); see also (); T. 14 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAK); T. 15 April 2004 p. 6 (Witness FAK) (The witness and others were later made to understand that *Inkotanyi* were Tutsis); see also (); T. 6 July 2004 p. 69 (Des Forges) (enemy was the RPF and Tutsis who were defined as part of the enemy, because of their ethnicity and because of their presumed association with the RPF); see also ().

1119 T. 9 June 2004 pp. 23-24 (Des Forges); T. 21 November 2007 p. 71 (Reyntjens); T. 16 March 2005 p. 38 (Shimamungu); T. 27 September 2006 p. 78 (Keane).

1120 For example, "The enemy who attacked Rwanda is well known: it is the RPF-*INKOTANYI* ... the population

1120 For example, "The enemy who attacked Rwanda is well known: it is the RPF-INKOTANYI ... the population must remain watchful in order to unmask the enemy and his accomplices and hand them over to the authorities,"; "The authorities of the *communes*, *secteurs* and *cellules* are requested ... to identify places where should be set up officially recognized roadblocks and to set up a system in which the rounds would continue to be done in order to prevent the enemy from infiltrating."

For example, "Rwandans, your Excellences, dear brothers and sisters, we are begging you to help us fight We are asking you to join us so that, together, we can fight against the enemy"; "We know that the enemy is present here in the country, we know that there are accomplices even here in Butare."; "If you see an accomplice or someone who resembles an accomplice, or if you suspect that someone is an accomplice, tell the authorities"; "The enemy's collaborators are easy to identify, since we have already discovered their characteristics."

Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 360C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Minister Niyitegeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare)

See, e.g. T. 1 March 2004 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness FAG) (saw Tutsi homes being destroyed and Tutsis fleeing into the hills, mainly towards Kabuye Hill, because they were being pursued by Hutus); see also (); T. 13 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QBU) (Tutsis living in the area of Kibuye fled from their homes towards Burundi in April 1994); see also ().

surface message was apparently to restore calm, the restoration of security hid an underlying meaning, i.e. the elimination of Tutsis who represented a threat to security. 1124

- The Chamber is mindful of the fact that some of the witnesses testifying on these matters were detained at the time of their testimony. 1125 The Chamber notes that appropriate caution should be exercised when considering the evidence of a detained witness to ensure a fair trial and to avoid prejudice to the accused. However, the Chamber considers that the testimony of the witnesses on the issues described in the foregoing paragraphs is consistent and reliable.
- In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that, throughout 1994 in Rwanda, words such as "enemy", "Inyenzi", "Inkotanyi", "accomplice" and "infiltrator" were used to refer to Tutsis.
- With respect to the second issue, i.e. whether Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare, the Prosecution relies on Guichaoua's assertion in his Report that each minister was assigned a préfecture for the purposes of pacification and that Nyiramasuhuko was appointed to Butare. 126 He admitted that Nyiramasuhuko's diary contained no mention of the fact that she had been assigned to Butare for the purposes of pacification. 1127 However, he pointed to two entries from Nyiramasuhuko's diary which, in his opinion, showed that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare.
- 580. The first diary entry states, "[d]emystify the enemy, therefore journalists would travel with the ministers in charge of particular *préfectures*." The second diary entry states, "Mifaprofe \rightarrow Muramba and Butare and keep an eye on Gikongoro." Guichaoua stated that "Mifaprofe" meant the Ministre de la famille et de la promotion feminine which was the post held by Nyiramasuhuko. 1130 Guichaoua provided no further foundation for his assertion.
- In contrast, the Defence presented evidence through Nyiramasuhuko by which it sought to demonstrate that Ministers Niyitegeka and Sabumukunzi spoke at a pacification meeting in Butare. 1131 The Chamber notes that the transcript of the speech made by Minister Niyitegeka at the Butare pacification meeting indicates that the meeting took place in Butare and that the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security was read out. 1132 Nyiramasuhuko did not deny having been involved in pacification per se; instead, she testified that she was responsible for

¹¹²⁴ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹¹²⁵ T. 21 April 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAH); T. 31 October 2002 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness FAI); T. 9 February 2004 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 7 April 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QAH); T. 8 April 2004 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness QAH); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 50-52 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 14 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBV); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 54-55 (Witness FAK).

1126 T. 8 October 2004 p. 5 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 25-26.

¹¹²⁷ T. 8 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua).

Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 26.

¹¹²⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 26.

¹¹³⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 26.

¹¹³¹ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 56-60 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Defence Exhibit 360C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Minister Niyitigeka's pacification speech of 30 April 1994 to Butare).

pacification in Gisenyi *préfecture* and not Butare *préfecture*. She stated that she did not attend the Butare pacification meeting, but did listen to Minister Niyitegeka's speech on the radio. Nyiramasuhuko also confirmed she participated in the drafting of the Directive issued from the Prime Minister on 25 May 1994. Des Forges testified that at the Cabinet meeting of 23 April 1994 Nyiramasuhuko was assigned the responsibility of implementing the pacification campaign in Butare *préfecture* and she was often present there. No further information was elicited or provided as to the basis for Des Forges' opinion on this issue.

582. The Chamber does not consider the evidence of Expert Witnesses Guichaoua and Des Forges, on the issue of Nyiramasuhuko's responsibility for pacification in Butare, to be sufficient to establish that she was in fact the minister in charge of pacification for that *préfecture*. The first diary entry cited by Guichaoua in support of his assertion simply confirms Nyiramasuhuko's own testimony that ministers were assigned particular *préfectures*. It does not establish or suggest that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare. The Chamber recalls that Nyiramasuhuko did not deny being involved in the pacification programme. She admitted that she was responsible for pacification in Gisenyi. The second diary entry contains an arrow drawn from the designation of Nyiramasuhuko's ministerial post to the words "Muramba and Butare and keep an eye on Gikongoro." The Chamber does not consider that this entry establishes that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare. Indeed, the Chamber notes that this entry corresponds, in Guichaoua's view, to 1 June 1994, over one month after the launch of the pacification campaign on 27 April 1994 and the Butare pacification meeting of 30 April 1994.

583. To conclude, having assessed the totality of the evidence in relation to Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Chamber finds that between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994, the Interim Government of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member adopted directives and issued instructions during Cabinet meetings. In addition, the Chamber considers that the intention behind these directives and instructions was to encourage the population to hunt down and take action against the "enemy" and its "accomplices"; terms which referred to Tutsis in general. However, although pacification may have been the mechanism to ensure that such directives were implemented, and notwithstanding the evidence that Nyiramasuhuko attended Cabinet meetings at which the pacification programme was drawn up, as well as Nyiramasuhuko's own evidence that she was involved in this programme, the Chamber considers that the Prosecution has not established that Nyiramasuhuko was assigned responsibility for what was termed "pacification" in Butare, as alleged in Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

3.5 Removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of *Préfet* Nsabimana, 17-19 April 1994

3.5.1 Introduction

584. Each of the Indictments allege that the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member, removed Butare *Préfet* Jean-Baptiste Habyalimana from office and incited the

¹¹³³ T. 29 September 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹¹³⁴ T. 29 September 2005 p. 57 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹¹³⁵ T. 22 November 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹¹³⁶ T. 5 July 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges).

people of Butare *préfecture* to participate in the genocide. They further allege that on 19 April 1994, Nsabimana was sworn in as the new *préfet* of Butare *préfecture*. On that occasion, President Sindikubwabo made an inflammatory speech, openly and explicitly calling on the people of Butare to follow the example of the other *préfectures* by beginning the massacres. 1138

- 585. Through their presence at the ceremony and their failure to dissociate themselves from the President's statements, Nyiramasuhuko and Kanyabashi gave a clear signal to the people that the massacres were ordered and condoned by the Government. Furthermore, Kanyabashi, in the presence of the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, gave a speech in support of the President, assuring him that his instructions would be heeded. Shortly thereafter, the large-scale massacre of Tutsis began in Butare *préfecture*. ¹¹³⁹
- 586. The Prosecution contends that the genocide of Tutsis which unfolded in Butare was not a spontaneous outburst of violence; rather, it was organised and planned, and groups of people from different walks of life acted in concert to perpetrate it. 1140
- 587. The Prosecution argues that killings were only taking place in a few of the 20 *communes* in Butare by mid-April 1994 and that the scale of violence was not at the same level as the rest of the country. An essential step to precipitate the genocide in Butare was gaining control of the administrative hierarchy. The perpetrators of the genocide judged that they needed to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana and replace him with Nsabimana in order to influence *bourgmestres* who were not supporting the programme of genocide. Without *Préfet* Habyalimana's removal, the genocidal policy in Butare *préfecture* would not have been successful. 1142
- 588. The Prosecution contends that Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony is key to understanding why and how the genocide commenced in Butare *préfecture*. At this ceremony, President Sindikubwabo called on the people of Butare to "cross the line" and start the genocide in Butare *préfecture*. This message was part of the Interim Government's plan to commit genocide throughout Rwanda, including Butare *préfecture*. It was fully supported by the leaders and influential figures in attendance who, with the assistance of the military and local militia, ensured that the plan was passed on to local authorities and the local population, to ensure that genocide was indeed carried out in Butare *préfecture*. 1144

¹¹³⁷ Para. 6.20 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8 and 10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.20 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.20 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.20 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 6. Given that this allegation only supports criminal counts against Nyiramasuhuko, the remaining Accused have no case to defend with regard to this allegation and their submissions, if any, will not be considered.

¹¹³⁸ Para. 6.21 of each of the Indictments (not in support of counts against Nyiramasuhuko or Kanyabashi); (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

Para. 6.22 of each of the Indictments (in support of Counts 1-6, 8 and 10 against Nyiramasuhuko); (in support of all counts); (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 47, paras. 65-66.

¹¹⁴¹ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 18.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 46, para. 61.

¹¹⁴³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 47, para. 67.

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 47-48, para. 67.

- 589. In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies on the testimonies of Witnesses RV, TQ, QJ, QA, FAE, FAI, FAM, FAB, QAH, QCB, QBU, QI, Prosecution Expert Witnesses Alison Des Forges, André Guichaoua and Francis Ntakirutimana, Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ, Maurice Ntahobali, and the Accused Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana. 1145
- 590. The Nsabimana Defence asserts that massacres of Tutsis started in Butare *préfecture* as early as 13 April 1994 and that this fact negates the Prosecution theory that Nsabimana's appointment as *préfet* on 19 April 1994 instigated the commencement of massacres in the *préfecture*. The Nsabimana Defence submits that killings were progressing inexorably into Butare *préfecture*. In support of its submissions, the Defence cites Prosecution Witnesses QCB, TQ, FAI, QAH, Prosecution Expert Witnesses Alison Des Forges and André Guichaoua, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witnesses Shimamungu, Nsabimana Defence Witnesses Karemano, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-1-4-O, Ndayambaje Defence Witnesses Constant Julius Goetschalckx (a.k.a Brother Stan), Nsabimana Defence Witnesses AGWA, Nsabimana and Ndayambaje.
- 591. The Nsabimana Defence further avers that although Nsabimana attended his swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994, he did not understand the President's speech and believed that it would have been difficult for the population to understand it. As he did not understand the speech, he did not implement it. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Nsabimana was left with no other choice but to accept his surprise appointment as *préfet* because he feared for himself and his family if he refused. The Nsabimana attended his swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994, he did not understand it. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Nsabimana was left with no other choice but to accept his surprise appointment as *préfet* because he feared for himself and his family if he refused.
- 592. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Nyiramasuhuko did not replace *Préfet* Habyalimana to perpetrate the genocide. It argues that the various political parties decided among themselves that Habyalimana should be dismissed as *préfet* and that Nsabimana should be appointed. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence states that Habyalimana was congratulated for doing all that he had been able to do. ¹¹⁵¹ In support of these submissions, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on the testimonies of Nyiramasuhuko, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ and Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens.
- 593. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence further disputes the Prosecution thesis that the visit of the President and other members of the Interim Government (including Nyiramasuhuko) was a means of removing obstacles to the beginning of the massacres in Butare and demonstrating that local authorities opposed to the extermination of the Tutsis would be replaced. Further, the Defence submits that the President's speech, which was addressed to the local authorities and not the population, is impossible to understand if it is removed from its war-time context. Far from being inflammatory, the President's speech was peaceful in nature.

¹¹⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 44-51, paras. 57, 68, 73-79.

¹¹⁴⁶ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 222-240.

¹¹⁴⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 236, 238.

¹¹⁴⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 166, 187, 205.

¹¹⁴⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 201.

¹¹⁵⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 152.

¹¹⁵¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 492.

¹¹⁵² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 352.

¹¹⁵³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 359-360.

The Defence relies on Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu and the Accused Nyiramasuhuko. 1155

594. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Kanyabashi did not support the President, agree to any slogan to spark off the killings of Tutsis, or address the President in his own speech. 1156 The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness RV, Prosecution Expert Witnesses André Guichaoua and Francis Ntakirutimana, Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens, and the Accused Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana. 1157

3.5.2 Preliminary Issues

Exclusion of Evidence

- The Ntahobali Defence requests the exclusion of evidence adduced by Prosecution Witnesses QJ, RV, QI and Expert Witnesses Guichaoua and Ntakirutimana on the grounds of insufficient notice of their testimonies. Witness Ntakirutimana specifically, was introduced to the Prosecution case very late on 30 March 2004. 1158
- The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief specifically assert that the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a part, removed Préfet Habyalimana from office. 1159 In addition, the Chamber previously addressed a motion by the Nyiramasuhuko Defence, joined by the other Defence teams, challenging certain allegations in the Will-Say statements of Witnesses RV and QBZ for failure to plead facts in the Indictments. 1160 In its Decision of 16 February 2004, the Chamber held that the challenged allegations were encompassed by the Amended Indictments, noted that the Prosecution had disclosed Witness RV's statement to the Defence more than 18 months before Witness RV was to testify, and held that the Accused had sufficient time to investigate and prepare its defence. 1161
- The Chamber considers that Nyiramasuhuko was duly informed of the nature and cause of the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko was a part of the Interim Government and that the Interim Government removed *Préfet* Habyalimana from office. Furthermore, the Chamber considers that the Accused had adequate notice of this charge to prepare a defence because it was encompassed by the Indictment and the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.
- The Ntahobali Defence submitted a motion to exclude the testimony of or to recall Witness QJ, *inter alia*, for further cross-examination. ¹¹⁶² The Defence highlighted that the

Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 362.Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 332-366.

¹¹⁵⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 102, 107.

¹¹⁵⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 102.

¹¹⁵⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 80.

¹¹⁵⁹ Para. 6.20 Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 6.

¹¹⁶⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Urgent Motions to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible (TC), 16 February 2004.

¹¹⁶¹ Nviramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Urgent Motions to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible (TC), 16 February 2004, paras. 18, 20, 26.

¹¹⁶² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Requête de Arsène Shalom Ntahobali en rappel de témoins. 24 November 2008.

Prosecution disclosed the unredacted statements of this witness on 30 January 2002; seven and a half months after the trial began. 1163 The Chamber denied the Defence requests, noting that the motion was filed almost at the end of the case, by which point the Defence team had been in possession of the data and information for a substantial amount of time. There was no valid reason set forth for the exclusion of this evidence and no adequate legal basis to pre-empt a recall in this case. 1164

Within the context of a Prosecution motion to add Expert Witness Ntakirutimana, 1165 599. the Chamber granted the request to add the witness. 1166

600. The Chamber finds no reason to reconsider the Decisions of 16 February 2004, 30 March 2004 and 19 January 2009. As such, the Accused's right to a fair trial was not prejudiced, and the Chamber will consider the evidence of these witnesses as to the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana, the appointment of Nsabimana and the alleged start of the massacres in Butare *préfecture*.

Vagueness of the Indictment

The Nsabimana Defence contends that neither Paragraph 6.21 nor 6.22 of the Indictment accuses Nsabimana of criminal behaviour, and that omission could not be cured by subsequent disclosure. 1167 The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 6.21 and 6.22 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that Nsabimana's presence during the President's speech and the fact that he did not dissociate himself from the inflammatory statements constitute adherence to the governmental plan to commit genocide; however, the Indictment does not specify what, if anything, Nsabimana is alleged to have done at the swearing-in ceremony. The Prosecution does not allege that Nsabimana acted in a particular way or said particular things. Accordingly, the Nsabimana Defence would not have had notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence on particular acts by Nsabimana in support of its case against that Accused. The Chamber concludes that the Indictment is defective in this respect.

The Chamber must consider whether this defect has been cured by subsequent disclosures. The summary of Witness ST's expected testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief indicates that the witness saw Nsabimana at a meeting on 19 or 20 April 1994 at the MRND Headquarters. The meeting involved *bourgmestres*, military chiefs and political party leaders. The summary states that the killings commenced on the day after the meeting. This is consistent with Witness ST's previous statement of 20 November 1997, which the Prosecution disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000. 1169 Furthermore,

¹¹⁶³ Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Witnesses (TC), 19 January 2009, para. 3.

¹¹⁶⁴ Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Witnesses (TC), 19 January 2009, paras. 19, 25, 27.

¹¹⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses,

¹¹⁶⁶ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004, para. 37.

1167 Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 160-161.

¹¹⁶⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness ST (85).

¹¹⁶⁹ 20 November 1997, Statement of Witness ST, disclosed 4 December 2000.

in its opening statement, the Prosecution submitted that some of the Accused were present at the swearing-in ceremony and stated that it would lead evidence to show that the Accused publicly identified themselves, through their statements as well as their presence, as being involved in and supportive of the President and exhibited their intent to comply with his directives. The Prosecution submitted that Kanyabashi and Nsabimana made speeches which showed that Butare authorities understood Sindikubwabo's message and expressed their desire to organise the same activities in Butare. The Chamber considers that this information provided Nsabimana with sufficient notice of his alleged criminal behaviour. Thus, any defect in the Indictment was cured and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence.

Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114

603. The Nsabimana Defence argues that Prosecution Exhibits 113 (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) and 114 (Interview with Nsabimana, dated 1 October 1994), said by Des Forges to have been sent to her by Nsabimana, were accepted for the sole purpose of establishing the basis for Des Forges' opinions. The Defence asserts that these documents were to be used only to establish contradictions, if necessary. 1172

604. The Chamber recalls its oral ruling of 8 June 2004, in which it held that Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114 were admissible as one of the sources relied upon by Des Forges in formulating her expert opinion. The Chamber ruled that the weight and probative value of the expert opinion would be evaluated at the end of the trial. The Chamber did not rule that Prosecution Exhibit 113 and 114 could only be used to establish contradictions; rather the exhibits were admitted to help substantiate Des Forges' opinion. The Chamber's deliberations on these matters necessarily implicate the weight and probative value to be attributed to Des Forges' opinion, as well as the materials upon which she relied. The Chamber also notes that Nsabimana did not object to the admissibility or contest the authenticity of these documents. In fact, during cross-examination, while he did not expressly admit that the writings were in fact his own, Nsabimana stated that Prosecution Exhibit 114 reflected his own views. The Chamber will evaluate the weight and probative value of these documents in light of the other evidence, considering in due course the opinion of Expert Witness Des Forges and Nsabimana's assertions regarding these documents.

Nyiramasuhuko's Diary

605. The Ntahobali Defence submits that including into evidence the alleged diary of Nyiramasuhuko was prejudicial to the rights of both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali. The Chamber recalls its Oral Decision of 24 June 2004, where it noted that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not object to the characterisation of the diary in question as belonging to Nyiramasuhuko, despite numerous opportunities to do so. In fact, on numerous occasions

_

¹¹⁷⁰ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 74.

¹¹⁷¹ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 75.

¹¹⁷² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 43-46 (Des Forges).

¹¹⁷³ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 47-49, 62 (Des Forges).

¹¹⁷⁴ T. 13 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁷⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 80.

¹¹⁷⁶ T. 24 June 2004 pp. 13-14 (Guichaoua).

Nyiramasuhuko accepted ownership of the diary in her Closing Brief, her oral submissions and at trial during her testimonv. 1177

The Ntahobali Defence, in particular, objected to consideration of Volume Two of Guichaoua's Expert Report on the meaning of the diary. 1178 In this respect, the Chamber found that both the diary and Volume Two of Guichaoua's Report were admissible as evidence. 1179 The Chamber noted, however, that the probative value of this evidence would be evaluated at a later date. 1180 There is no reason put forward for the Chamber to reconsider the 24 June 2004 Oral Decision.

3.5.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness RV

607. Witness RV, a Hutu former civil servant in Muganza commune, testified that he attended a meeting at which Habyalimana was dismissed and replaced by Nsabimana, in the company of Callixte Kalimanzira, Minister of Interior. ¹¹⁸¹ *Préfet* Habyalimana was replaced because he was suspected of being an *Inkotanyi* accomplice. ¹¹⁸² Prior to the death of President Habyarimana, the atmosphere in Muganza commune was good. After the President's death, the situation changed because the different political parties were affected by the news in different ways. MRND party members within the community were saddened by the President's death, whereas opposition party members were happy. In addition, due to the fact that Muganza commune was close to the Burundi border, people were frightened that the RPF would attack at any time from Burundi. 1183

The witness attended Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 in the multi-purpose préfecture hall, which was also the local MRND Headquarters. ¹¹⁸⁴ The meeting started before noon and went on into the afternoon. 1185 Many officials attended the meeting including President Théodore Sindikubwabo, Prime Minister Jean Kambanda, other ministers including Éliezer Nivitegeka, Doctor Straton Semukunzi and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Alphonse Nteziryayo and all the *bourgmestres*, including Joseph Kanyabashi. 1186 Kanyabashi and Ntezirvayo were seated among the population rather than among the officials and did not make speeches. 1187 Ndayambaje did not attend the ceremony. 1188

¹¹⁷⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 369, 457-458, 469, 495, 498, 520, 548, 549, 553, 561-563; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 58, 60, 68; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 52; T. 21 September 2005 p. 34; T. 12 October 2006 pp. 34-37, 55; T. 25 October 2005 p. 58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

1178 Ntahobali Closing Brief, fn. 1186.

¹¹⁷⁹ T. 24 June 2004 pp. 12-17 (Guichaoua).

¹¹⁸⁰ T. 24 June 2004 p. 14 (Guichaoua).

¹¹⁸¹ T. 17 February 2004 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸² T. 16 February 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸³ T. 17 February 2004 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 33 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸⁵ T. 19 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸⁶ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸⁷ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 25-26, 58-59 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁸⁸ T. 17 February 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness RV).

- 609. Witness RV stated that Prime Minister Kambanda spoke first, followed by President Sindikubwabo. He stated that the two speeches were complementary. President Sindikubwabo said that those in Butare who were not concerned with what was going on should be sacked from their jobs in the administration and local government. President Sindikubwabo encouraged everyone present at the meeting "to work." "Work" meant struggle against the enemy whom the Prime Minister defined as the *Inkotanyi* and their accomplices. The witness explained that *Inkotanyi* accomplices were Tutsis or Hutus who supported the RPF. The witness did not object to what he heard because there were many Presidential Guards there and to say something would have been suicidal.
- 610. Nsabimana took the floor and thanked the people who showed that they had confidence in him. Nsabimana closed his speech by calling on the *bourgmestres* and heads of department to attend a meeting which was held the following day, 20 April 1994.¹¹⁹³
- 611. The witness stated that massacres began in Muganza *commune*, on 20 April 1994. Prior to that date, no one was killed within that *commune*. During the massacres, the *commune* administration lost control of the roadblocks and they were used for killing and looting. 1196
- 612. Witness RV identified Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi in court. He stated that he knew where Nteziryayo was born, where he lived and he had attended his wedding; he had known him since 1988. He knew Nyiramasuhuko before 1994 when she attended MRND meetings. However, he was not sure he could identify Nyiramasuhuko in court because he had not seen her in a long time. He identified the Accused Ntahobali in his attempt to identify Nsabimana. 1199

Prosecution Witness TQ

613. Witness TQ, a Hutu, was acquitted of charges of genocide on 20 January 2003. He testified that around 16 April 1994, he encountered persons fleeing from Runyinya, Huye and Gishamvu *communes*. They told him there were Tutsis being killed and Tutsi homes torched in those *communes*. 1201

¹¹⁸⁹ T. 19 February 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness RV). The Chamber notes that while the English transcript describes the speeches as complimentary, the French transcript states "*les deux discours se complétaient*": T. 19 February 2004 p. 29 (HC) (Witness RV) (French).

¹¹⁹⁰ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹¹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 35, 37 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹² T. 19 February 2004 pp. 26, 59 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹³ T. 16 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁴ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 39-40 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 p. 64 (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁵ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁶ T. 17 February 2004 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁷ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 8-10 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁸ T. 17 February 2004 p. 9 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹¹⁹⁹ T. 17 February 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²⁰⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁰¹ T. 8 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

- 614. On 19 April 1994, President Sindikubwabo held a meeting in Butare. Although Witness TQ did not attend the meeting personally, he was told that the President was angry with the people of Butare because they were not working. The witness also said that at that time, "work" meant to kill. It was coded language which incited people to kill. 1202
- 615. After the speech, the witness heard gunshots at the National University of Rwanda, which lasted through the night of 19 and 20 April 1994. A woman who had been at the university and who had taken refuge at the school where the witness was, told him that all the Tutsis who were studying at the university were killed that night and she was raped. 1203

Prosecution Witness QJ

- 616. Witness QJ, a Tutsi waiter, told the Chamber that the killing of Tutsis in Butare town began after a party meeting held at the *Palais du MRND*, in Butare, attended by the President between 17 and 21 April 1994. Although the witness did not attend the meeting or hear what was said at the meeting, he testified to having seen a number of important figures such as Kanyabashi, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo going to the meeting. The witness testified about a conversation he witnessed between a soldier named Habineza and the newly installed *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana. Habineza greeted Nsabimana and claimed to have killed *Préfet* Habyalimana. Sabimana provided Habineza with a 1,000 Rwandan franc note to thank him for what he had done.
- 617. The witness also stated that prior to the arrival of President Sindikubwabo in Butare *préfecture* there were not that many roadblocks. After the President's visit on 19 April 1994, roadblocks were erected and the killing of Tutsis began. ¹²⁰⁸
- 618. Witness QJ knew Nteziryayo as Nteziryayo was a resident guest at the Hotel Faucon around 10 April 1994, and later at the Hotel Ibis. Witness QJ saw Nteziryayo on several occasions at the Hotel Ibis between April and the end of June 1994. He knew Nsabimana as Nsabimana lived in Butare town in 1994 and frequented the Hotel Faucon between January and March 1994. Witness QJ testified that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, where the witness was living in 1994. Kanyabashi was "a fairly elderly man with some gray hair, not too tall, nor too short." The witness identified Nteziryayo, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi in court. 1215

¹²⁰² T. 6 September 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁰³ T. 6 September 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁰⁴ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 108-109 (ICS); T. 13 November 2001 p. 118 (Witness QJ).

¹²⁰⁵ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 108-109 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹²⁰⁶ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 106-107; T. 13 November 2001 pp. 52-53 (Witness QJ).

¹²⁰⁷ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 106-107; T. 13 November 2001 pp. 44, 53 (Witness QJ).

¹²⁰⁸ T. 13 November 2001 p. 117 (Witness QJ).

¹²⁰⁹ T. 14 November 2001 p. 66 (Witness QJ).

¹²¹⁰ T. 14 November 2001 pp. 66-67 (Witness QJ).

¹²¹¹ T. 8 November 2001 p. 109 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹²¹² T. 8 November 2001 pp. 98-100 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹²¹³ T. 12 November 2001 p. 24 (Witness QJ).

¹²¹⁴ T. 12 November 2001 p. 25 (Witness QJ).

¹²¹⁵ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 35-38 (Witness QJ).

Prosecution Witness QA

619. Witness QA, a Hutu, testified that one week after becoming President of Rwanda, Sindikubwabo visited the Butare region and made a speech that the witness heard on the radio. 1216 It was a live speech made during a meeting organised and convened for *bourgmestres* in the multi-purpose room of the *préfecture* office that was simultaneously broadcast at about 4.00 p.m., and lasted 10 minutes. 1217 In his speech, President Sindikubwabo said:

I have come to visit Butare region, my native region, and I am here to give you some work to do. You must work because we are being chased by the enemy. You must work without any pity. I know that the people of Butare, you people, are careless; you behave as though you are sometimes not concerned. If you cannot do the work pitilessly, mercilessly, leave it to us and we will do the work.

- 620. Witness QA testified that "to work" in the President's speech meant to kill. People understood that they had to get up in the morning and arm themselves with weapons, machetes or guns to kill Tutsis or opponents of the regime in place. 1219
- 621. Witness QA testified that Sindikubwabo's speech was answered, on behalf of all the *bourgmestres* of Butare, by a speech by Kanyabashi, lasting about four or five minutes. ¹²²⁰ Kanyabashi thanked the President for having come to visit Butare and promised that the *bourgmestres* would implement his instructions. ¹²²¹
- 622. These two speeches were the only ones transmitted on the radio. The witness could not say whether the transmission of the speeches was in their entirety or only portions of them. There were no *Interahamwe* looking for and killing Tutsis in the *préfecture* before these speeches. Killings began in his *secteur* on 21 or 22 April 1994.
- 623. The witness identified Kanyabashi in court. He knew Kanyabashi before the events. He stated that Kanyabashi was the authority to whom the population listened most, and that before the events of 1994, Kanyabashi liked Tutsis. 1228
- 624. When Witness QA was recalled to testify in 2008, he testified that he did not hear Kanyabashi's speech on the radio, but he heard from other people what Kanyabashi had said. 1229 Witness QA testified that his 2004 testimony on Kanyabashi's statement about

¹²¹⁶ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 78-79 (Witness QA).

¹²¹⁷ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 21-23; T. 22 March 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness QA).

¹²¹⁸ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness QA).

¹²¹⁹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁰ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79; T. 22 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness QA).

¹²²¹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness QA).

¹²²² T. 22 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness QA).

¹²²³ T. 23 March 2004 p. 4 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁴ T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁵ T. 22 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁶ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁷ T. 23 March 2004 p. 4 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 35 (Witness QA).

¹²²⁹ T. 29 October 2008 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness QA).

implementing the President's instructions "was a lie". The witness also admitted that "in everything that I said [in 2004] there were only a few things that are truthful. For the most part, my testimony was lies". 1231

Prosecution Witness FAE

625. Witness FAE, a Tutsi employee at the Butare Medical University, testified that prior to 21 April 1994, there were no problems between Hutus and Tutsis living in rural areas, but that on 21 April 1994, she saw Hutu civilians and soldiers attacking her Tutsi neighbours' houses in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*. Simeon Remera, of the CDR, led the attackers. Remera had a list of names and indicated which houses were to be attacked. When the attackers arrived at a Tutsi residence, they entered the property and killed the people they found. She stated that persons seeking refuge only started arriving in her area in great numbers in July 1994. 1235

Prosecution Witness FAI

626. Witness FAI, a Hutu former civil servant in Ntyazo *commune*, estimated that killings began in Muyira *commune* around the middle of April 1994. He also stated that he had visited Nyabisindu *commune* and that killings started there about two weeks after the death of the President. ¹²³⁶

Prosecution Witness FAM

627. Witness FAM, a Hutu who was a detained witness in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, ¹²³⁷ testified that problems did not begin in his *secteur* until after 20 April 1994 when Kanyabashi came to the *secteur* office to tell the *conseiller* that the killing had already finished elsewhere and to ask him when he was going to start. ¹²³⁸

Prosecution Witness FAB

628. Witness FAB, a Hutu farmer living in Muyaga *commune*, testified that after the President's plane crash, *commune* authorities directed the population to construct roadblocks to address the security problem in the *commune*. He manned a roadblock in Muyaga *commune* together with Tutsis until about 20 April 1994. Around that time, those at the roadblock heard a broadcast on Radio Muhabura stating that Tutsis, in addition to Hutus opposed to the MRND, were being killed. As a result, those Tutsis who were manning the roadblock with the

¹²³⁰ T. 29 October 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness QA).

¹²³¹ T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QA).

¹²³² T. 18 March 2004 pp. 25, 27, 64 (Witness FAE).

¹²³³ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 25, 64 (Witness FAE).

¹²³⁴ T. 17 March 2004 p. 70; T. 18 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAE).

¹²³⁵ T. 18 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness FAE).

¹²³⁶ T. 4 November 2002 pp. 14-15 (ICS); T. 4 November 2002 p. 27 (HC) (Witness FAI) (French) (for spelling of "Nyabisindu").

¹²³⁷ T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).

¹²³⁸ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 59-61 (Witness FAM).

¹²³⁹ T. 5 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAB).

witness became frightened, and he assisted them in fleeing to Burundi. He estimated that massacres began in Muyaga *commune* on 27 April 1994, although some killings occurred immediately after the plane crash. He said that, like the general population, he refused the calls to massacre Tutsis at first, but in the end he participated when asked. 1241

Prosecution Witness OAH

- 629. Witness QAH, a Hutu, testified that killings started in Gikongoro *préfecture* and later continued to Butare *préfecture*. Within Butare, the killings starting in Runyinya and Nyakizu *communes* and then extended into Gishamvu *commune*. The witness could not indicate the precise dates that the killings started in each *commune*. ¹²⁴²
- 630. Witness QAH stated that some days after the President's plane crash, he noticed houses being burnt down in Gishamvu *commune*, as near to Ngoma *commune* as Mubumbano *secteur*. People were taking refuge in Ngoma *commune*. The *conseiller de secteur* decided that the people of the *secteur* should go to the border to prevent the assailants from entering from Gishamvu *commune*. The assailants pursued them into Ngoma *commune* and, because the Ngoma police had fled, the people of Ngoma were unable to stop them.
- 631. Witness QAH stated several times that he could not identify the dates when killings began. 1246 He stated that the burning of homes in Gishamvu *commune* started after 10 April 1994, more than four days after the death of the President. The witness confirmed his prior statement, that people were attacked by Hutus in his *cellule* about four days after the plane crash. 1247 According to what he was told by Gishamvu refugees, it was obvious that no Tutsi was still alive in Gishamvu. The remaining Tutsis were being chased into the witness' *cellule*. There were no Tutsis remaining in Gishamvu by 10 April 1994. 1248 He also stated that from 6 to 10 or 15 April 1994, there was a lot of killing in Gishamvu *commune*. Witness QAH stated that it was after the announcement of *Préfet* Habyalimana's assassination sometime in April 1994, that there were killings, houses were burnt down, and people started fleeing from Ngoma *commune*. He testified that before Habyalimana was assassinated, there was not a significant number of killings. 1249

¹²⁴⁰ T. 5 April 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAB).

¹²⁴¹ T. 5 April 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAB).

¹²⁴² T. 8 April 2004 p. 12 (Witness QAH). The Chamber notes the English version states that Gikongoro is a *commune*, misspells Nyakizu *commune*, and does not mention Runyinya: T, 8 April 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness QAH) (French).

¹²⁴³ T. 8 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QAH).

¹²⁴⁴ T. 8 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QAH). The Chamber notes the French transcript says "pour empêcher ceux", while the English transcript says "to present those": T. 8 April 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAH) (French).

¹²⁴⁵ T. 8 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QAH).

¹²⁴⁶ T. 8 April 2004 pp. 9, 12 (Witness QAH).

¹²⁴⁷ T. 8 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QAH); Defence Exhibit 209 (Nsabimana) (11 April 2001, Statement of Witness QAH)

¹²⁴⁸ T. 8 April 2004 pp. 10-11 (Witness QAH).

¹²⁴⁹ T. 8 April 2004 p. 11 (Witness OAH).

Prosecution Witness QCB

Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detainee at the time of testimony, ¹²⁵⁰ testified that after the plane crash on 6 April 1994, massacres began in *préfectures* surrounding Butare. When the massacres began in Butare préfecture, they started in Nyakizu, Runyinya and Gishamvu communes in addition to others to the north of Ngoma commune. 1251 At that time, people came to the Ngoma *commune* in search of refuge. 1252 The witness approximated that killings started in Nyakizu commune on 20 April 1994. 1253

Prosecution Witness QBU

Witness QBU, a Hutu farmer in 1994 and a detained witness at the time of his testimony, stated that following the death of President Habyarimana, meetings were held in his secteur to prepare for the killings. ¹²⁵⁴ The witness testified that in Rususa cellule, killings of Tutsis began around 20 April 1994. ¹²⁵⁵ The witness took part in the massacres in April on the instructions of his leaders. He stated that the authorities incited members of the population to participate in the killings. 1256 He testified that Tutsis living in the area of Kibuye fled from their homes towards Burundi in April 1994. 1257

Prosecution Witness QI

634. Witness QI, a Tutsi cook, 1258 testified that the killings began in his secteur on 21 and 22 April 1994. 1259 However, he also stated that prior to 18 April 1994 there were some disturbances in Huye commune, but Ngoma commune was still calm. 1260

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

Alison Des Forges, an expert in Rwandan history and human rights, 1261 testified that three concomitant events triggered the start of mass killings in Butare *préfecture*: the removal of Habyalimana; the public way in which this was done which incorporated serious and powerful incitement to violence by the leading authorities of the national Government; and the transfer of *Gendarmerie* Commander Habyarabatuma to Kigali. 1262 She opined that although some killings were occurring within Butare despite Préfet Habyalimana's efforts, the Interim Government needed to gain control over the administrative hierarchy in order to implement the

¹²⁵⁰ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).

¹²⁵¹ T. 26 March 2002 p. 63 (Witness QCB).

¹²⁵² T. 20 March 2002 p. 98; T. 26 March 2002 p. 63 (Witness QCB).

¹²⁵³ T. 26 March 2002 p. 64 (Witness QCB).

¹²⁵⁴ T. 13 April 2004 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

¹²⁵⁵ T. 13 April 2004 pp. 38, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

¹²⁵⁶ T. 13 April 2004 pp. 39, 42 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

¹²⁵⁷ T. 13 April 2004 p. 7; T. 13 April 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

¹²⁵⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹²⁵⁹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QI).

¹²⁶⁰ T. 23 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness QI).

¹²⁶¹ T. 7 June 2004 p. 59 (Des Forges).

¹²⁶² T. 8 June 2004 p. 34 (Des Forges).

genocidal plan. The Interim Government needed to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana in order to influence the *bourgmestres* to accept a role in the plan to exterminate Tutsis. ¹²⁶³

The Removal of Préfet Habyalimana

- 636. Des Forges stated that *Préfet* Habyalimana had an important role in preventing the spread of violence into Butare *préfecture* prior to his removal on 17 April 1994 and that his removal played an important part in carrying forward the killings in Butare. ¹²⁶⁴ *Préfet* Habyalimana directed his subordinates to hold public meetings to dispel rumours and prohibited the erection of unauthorised roadblocks. ¹²⁶⁵ He imposed a curfew in *communes* where violence broke out. ¹²⁶⁶ The local *bourgmestres* and other administrative authorities largely followed *Préfet* Habyalimana's lead and attempted to prevent the spread of violence in the *préfecture*. ¹²⁶⁷ Killings were very limited prior to 20 April 1994 and local authorities arrested people who attacked Tutsis. ¹²⁶⁸
- 637. *Préfet* Habyalimana refused to cooperate with the Interim Government, ignoring a summons to a meeting of all *préfets* held in Kigali on 11 April 1994. In addition, he directed the local head of the immigration service to give travel documents to a group attempting to flee with religious sisters, in contravention to an Interim Government Directive to prevent Rwandans from leaving the country. ¹²⁶⁹
- 638. On 17 April 1994, as *Préfet* Habyalimana was returning from Nyakizu *commune* where he was attempting to quell violence at the border, he was removed from office via a radio *communiqué*. This was a humiliating way to be removed from office, and was exacerbated by the fact that he was not permitted to speak at the public swearing-in ceremony of the new *préfet*, Nsabimana. Habyalimana then went into hiding and was reported to be actively pursued by Nyiramasuhuko and her collaborators.
- 639. Des Forges testified that after his removal, around the second week of May 1994, *Préfet* Habyalimana was captured and imprisoned in a cell at the *préfecture* office. He was later moved to the new Interim Government headquarters at Gitarama, released from jail, and killed by an unidentified individual. This occurred because *Préfet* Habyalimana was

¹²⁶³ T. 8 July 2004 pp. 73-74 (Des Forges).

¹²⁶⁴ T. 5 July 2004 p. 38; T. 8 June 2004 pp. 28, 34; T. 8 July 2004 p. 77 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 13.

¹²⁶⁵ T. 8 June 2004 p. 34 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 14.

¹²⁶⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 15.

¹²⁶⁷ T. 8 June 2004 p. 34 (Des Forges).

¹²⁶⁸ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 28, 34 (Des Forges).

¹²⁶⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 15.

¹²⁷⁰ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 34, 73; T. 9 July 2004 p. 10 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 17-18.

Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 19.

¹²⁷² T. 15 June 2004 pp. 65, 77 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 23.

¹²⁷³ T. 15 June 2004 pp. 67-68 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 55.

¹²⁷⁴ T. 15 June 2004 pp. 77-78 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 55.

symbolically too important for anyone to take responsibility for signing his death order. ¹²⁷⁵ Several weeks later, soldiers from the ESO killed his wife and children. ¹²⁷⁶

Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

- 640. Des Forges testified that the 19 April 1994 meeting at which Nsabimana was installed as *préfet* was attended by people from a variety of levels of the administrative hierarchy and members of the Interim Government, including the President, the Prime Minister and the Minister of Family Affairs. The military leaders in Butare *préfecture* were also in attendance. Three other high ranking officials from Butare were present: Mr. Mugenzi, the Minister of Trade, Mr. Niyitegeka, the Minister of Information and Madam Ntamabyaliro, the Minister of Justice. The presence of these national figures underscored the importance of the occasion and placed it firmly within the context of the programme to extend the genocide. Des Forges opined that she did not believe that the public would have been invited, but that it was not a closed meeting in the sense of excluding non-governmental people. However, she did not recall having met such a person who had attended the meeting.
- 641. Kambanda, Sindikubwabo and Kanyabashi spoke at the ceremony. Other speakers included Ministers Mugenzi and Niyitegeka, well-known for their anti-Tutsi views. The remarks of these ministers were less important than those of President Sindikubwabo, not only because they were lower in status than the President, but also because they were not native to the region. ¹²⁸¹
- 642. Des Forges explained that because the President's speech was so inflammatory and had such enormous impact, it was important to establish whether Kanyabashi had heard the words in the speech before delivering his own. She stated that she had received information on the itinerary of President Sindikubwabo, suggesting that the President was in Gikongoro on the morning of 19 April 1994, making it likely that he arrived after the meeting in Butare had begun. Therefore, she was not convinced that Kanyabashi had heard Sindikubwabo's speech before he spoke at the beginning of the meeting. She did not exclude the possibility that Kanyabashi spoke after Kambanda but before the President and in the presence of both the President and Kambanda. However, she explained that this would be unusual in view of the ordinary order of precedence followed at such events. In her opinion, the lowest ranked person would either speak first or last, but not in between two higher ranked officials unless, for instance, the President had arrived when Kanyabashi was already on his feet or unless there

¹²⁷⁵ T. 15 June 2004 pp. 77-78 (Des Forges).

¹²⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 55.

¹²⁷⁷ T. 9 July 2004 p. 16 (Des Forges).

¹²⁷⁸ T. 9 July 2004 p. 18 (Des Forges).

¹²⁷⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 19.

¹²⁸⁰ T. 9 July 2004 p. 18 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 22.

¹²⁸² T. 9 July 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).

¹²⁸³ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 19-21 (Des Forges).

¹²⁸⁴ T. 9 July 2004 p. 20 (Des Forges).

were other circumstances that would have made it awkward for the President to take the floor first 1285

- 643. Des Forges also reported that when the formal addresses were finished, Jonathas Ruremesha, *bourgmestre* of Huye, asked what he should say to the people of his *commune* who wanted "to begin conflicts." The highest authorities stood back and allowed Minister Mugenzi to respond on behalf of the Government. Mugenzi said that "if the population gets angry, it should be allowed to do what it wants." Ruremesha reportedly decided at that point that he would make no further attempts to halt the violence. ¹²⁸⁶
- 644. Des Forges testified that the parts of the President's speech which referred to the people of Butare as being unconcerned with what was going on and which were quoted in her Report, were broadcast via radio; many witnesses spoke of them. She said that the President's speech was very threatening. In her view, the President's statement that, "[t]oday we have only come part of the way, and we will now wait to see the reaction to see how much further to go", could not be understood as anything except a threat. Another excerpt read, "[y]ou must take great care in understanding the words that we say today ... this is not a time for joking, and we really mean what we say." The President issued a further threat when he warned members of the administrative hierarchy that they would not be able to simply abstain from actions by not coming to the office or by closing their office doors and pretending not to be there. Des Forges explained that the President was requiring the administrative hierarchy to be actively involved or else face the consequences. 1288
- 645. Des Forges testified that the visit of the President and Cabinet Ministers on 19 April 1994 would have been something of an event, but would not have been known beyond the immediate area of Ngoma *commune* where the meeting was held. However, as the visit became more widely known, by the morning of 20 April 1994 it had taken on a meaning for people on the hills of Butare. ¹²⁸⁹
- 646. Des Forges stressed the importance of Nsabimana's post as *préfet*, which gave him access to the *gendarmerie* and authority over the *bourgmestres* and local *conseillers*. When Nsabimana chose to be sworn in as *préfet*, he knew what the Government's plan was and agreed to serve a Government that intended to kill the Tutsis in Butare. 1290
- 647. Nsabimana's description of what the President said in his speech of 19 April 1994, as contained in *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, was read out to Des Forges, in particular Nsabimana's analysis of the President's use of the words *Nyirandabizi*, *Ntibindeba* and *Baranjenijesi*. Des Forges testified that she received this document from Nsabimana after two telephone conversations with him on 25 March 1996 and 3 April 1996. She stated

¹²⁸⁵ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 20-21 (Des Forges).

¹²⁸⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 22.

¹²⁸⁷ T. 9 July 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

¹²⁸⁸ T. 9 July 2004 p. 24 (Des Forges).

¹²⁸⁹ T. 9 July 2004 p. 15 (Des Forges).

¹²⁹⁰ T. 6 July 2004 pp. 14-15 (Des Forges).

¹²⁹¹ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 49-50 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016626.

¹²⁹² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 35-36 (Des Forges).

that Nsabimana's description of the President's speech was consistent with reports from other witnesses and also with a transcription of the speech from the President's national radio broadcast that she had previously read. 1293

648. Des Forges explained that in the context of the killing campaign, slaughter was known as "work" and machetes and firearms were described as "tools". 1294

The Start of Killings in Butare Préfecture

- 649. In her Report, Des Forges asserted that violence started in Butare along the Western border in the *communes* of Maraba, Runyinya and Nyakizu and subsequently spread to the adjacent *communes* of Huye, Gishamvu, Kigembe, Muganza and Nyaruhengeri. ¹²⁹⁵ The Report posited that the *communes* of Ngoma, Mbazi, Ruhashya, Mugusa, Shyanda and Ndora were largely untouched by killings and violence on or before 18 April 1994. ¹²⁹⁶
- 650. Nonetheless, Des Forges testified that Runyinya *commune* suffered relatively early attacks due to raids from across the border with Gikongoro *préfecture*. ¹²⁹⁷ Furthermore, she stated that assailants attacked 20,000 displaced persons at Cyahinda church in Nyakizu *commune*, from 15 to 19 April 1994. ¹²⁹⁸ Two local policemen joined in the first days of the Cyahinda attack, but those seeking refuge were able to disarm and kill them. ¹²⁹⁹ The assailants were nonetheless successful in killing those seeking refuge in subsequent days. This killing brought large-scale slaughter to Butare which had already been experienced elsewhere in Rwanda. ¹³⁰⁰
- 651. Des Forges testified that the Gikongoro and Butare *préfets* met on 16 April 1994 to discuss the security situation. They issued a *communiqué* that same day acknowledging that ethnic violence in Gikongoro *préfecture* had spread to Nyakizu, Runyinya, Maraba and Nyabisindu *communes* in Butare *préfecture*. The *communiqué* also stated that the disturbances led to deplorable acts such as killings, the destruction of houses, looting and armed robbery. ¹³⁰¹
- 652. Des Forges' Report stated that on 18 April 1994, soldiers, police and civilian assailants launched attacks on Simbi church in Maraba *commune*, on Kansi church in Nyaruhengeri *commune* and at the *commune* office of Kigembe. At Kansi church, she stated 10,000 to 10,500 persons were killed. 1302

¹²⁹³ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 49-50 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹²⁹⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 8.

¹²⁹⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 18; see also Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

¹²⁹⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 18.

¹²⁹⁷ T. 5 July 2004 p. 39 (Des Forges).

¹²⁹⁸ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 7-9 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 16.

¹²⁹⁹ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 8-9 (Des Forges).

¹³⁰⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 16.

¹³⁰¹ T. 8 July 2004 pp. 74-75 (Des Forges); Defence Exhibit 240C (*Communiqué* sanctioning the Security Meeting of the Authorities of Butare and Gikongoro, 16 April 1994); *see also* Exhibit 240A (English version misidentifies Habyalimana as *préfet* of Gikongoro).

Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 18.

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

653. André Guichaoua, an expert in political sciences, testified that until 19 April 1994, there was strong resistance to the genocide in Butare *préfecture* due in part to the efforts of *Préfet* Habyalimana, *Gendarmerie* Commander Habyarabatuma and Colonel Gatsinzi of the Rwandan Army. He stated that there was not a spontaneous launching of massacres in Butare and that for the genocide to happen it was necessary to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana, Habyarabatuma and Colonel Gatsinzi from office. On 18 or 19 April 1994, these personalities, in the eyes of the inhabitants of Butare, were like a "shield". They were considered to be protectors and the population trusted them. The resistance of the *bourgmestres* was based on the protection they enjoyed from these three men. With the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and Habyarabatuma around 19 April 1994, the two key figures of the *préfecture*, the administrative, political and military chain of command collapsed. It was necessary to eliminate *Préfet* Habyalimana because he was accepted by the local population and used to resist the massacres and genocide of Tutsis.

The Removal of Préfet Habyalimana

- 654. Guichaoua testified that from *Préfet* Habyalimana's appointment in 1992, his running of Butare *préfecture* was considered exemplary. He contained partisan excesses and confrontations and safeguarded the security of persons and property in Butare. 1308
- 655. Guichaoua testified that *Préfet* Habyalimana was part of a strong opposition to the generalisation of violence in Butare. Préfet Habyalimana was able to maintain a measure of independent control by using the *préfecture* Security Council to isolate people holding dissident opinions and to neutralise his opponents. Préfet Habyalimana maintained that conditions of law, order and security depended on the security committees of each *commune*. These committees followed the *préfecture* Security Council's directives, which ordered that no arrests be made without search warrants. 1311
- 656. The Interim Government decided to implement a policy of genocide at a meeting of the country's *préfets* on 11 April 1994. At that meeting, Callixte Kalimanzira undertook to draft a report regarding *Préfet* Habyalimana, which he later provided to the Cabinet on 17 April 1994. Guichaoua testified that the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana was made,

¹³⁰³ T. 28 June 2004 p. 77; T. 29 June 2004 pp. 59-60; T. 8 October 2004 pp. 53-54 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁰⁴ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 59-60; T. 6 October 1994 p. 29 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 152.

¹³⁰⁵ T. 6 October 2004 p. 29 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 152.

¹³⁰⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 123.

¹³⁰⁷ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 119.

¹³⁰⁸ T. 13 October 2004 p. 75 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 120.

¹³⁰⁹ T. 28 June 2004 p. 77 (Guichaoua).

¹³¹⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 122.

¹³¹¹ T. 13 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua).

¹³¹² T. 6 October 2004 pp. 20-21; T. 14 October 2004 p. 30 (Guichaoua).

¹³¹³ T. 7 October 2004 pp. 19, 21 (Guichaoua).

and Nsabimana had already given his acceptance to become the new Butare *préfet* by 16 April 1994 ¹³¹⁴

- 657. Guichaoua confirmed that there was a *communiqué* issued at the end of the 16 April 1994 Security Council meeting between the authorities of the Gikongoro and Butare préfectures. 1315 There were three resolutions stemming from the meeting identified by President Sindikubwabo, and contained in the *communiqué*. 1316 The third stated: "The population is requested to report to the authorities all persons suspected to be in possession of weapons of war without authorisation. These persons should be aware that failure to report such cases will be held against them and the consequences arising there from can be serious". 1317 Guichaoua stated that the *bourgmestre* of Nyakizu was one of the persons targeted for keeping arms and transferring grenades to refugees from Burundi. 1318 The witness testified that on the day the *communiqué* was drafted, Kalimanzira was preparing a file in relation to *Préfet* Habyalimana. The minister in charge of the *préfecture* submitted the file the next day, calling for the resignation of the *préfet*. Guichaoua referred to this as "a slap in the face" to Habyalimana. 1319 Guichaoua testified that the Kalimanzira report was tabled to the Cabinet on 17 April 1994 and that Nyiramasuhuko read the report. The report alleged that *Préfet* Habyalimana was colluding with the *Inkotanyi* and that he attempted to attack the *bourgmestre* of Nyakizu commune. 1320
- 658. Guichaoua's Report states that *Préfet* Habyalimana's removal from office was announced on 17 April 1994. ¹³²¹ On 18 or 19 April 1994, *Préfet* Habyalimana was formally removed from office and publicly humiliated during a visit of the Interim President. ¹³²²
- 659. As to responsibility for the decision, in his Report, Guichaoua said that Nyiramasuhuko's diary provides insight into the power system in place. Nyiramasuhuko took notes concerning 17 April 1994, which appear in her diary entry for 2 February 1994. In the diary, it is written that the Interim Government debated and decided on important matters, including those involving the army. The Interim Government was the operations and coordinating organ of the State during the war. ¹³²³
- 660. Guichaoua stated that within the Interim Government, Nyiramasuhuko had responsibility for Butare *préfecture*. He admitted that nowhere in her diary is she explicitly assigned to Butare, but that the diary, taken as a whole, shows that Butare was her main

¹³¹⁴ T. 11 October 2004 pp. 19-26 (Guichaoua).

¹³¹⁵ T. 7 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua); Defence Exhibit 240C (Kanyabashi) (*Communiqué* Sanctioning the Security Meeting of the Authorities of Butare and Gikongoro, 16 April 1994).

¹³¹⁶ T. 7 October 2004 p. 18 (Guichaoua); Defence Exhibit 240C (Kanyabashi) (*Communiqué* Sanctioning the Security Meeting of the Authorities of Butare and Gikongoro, 16 April 1994).

¹³¹⁷ T. 7 October 2004 p. 18 (Guichaoua).

¹³¹⁸ T. 7 October 2004 p. 19 (Guichaoua). The Chamber notes the English transcript omits that the refugees were from Burundi; *see* T. 7 October 2004 p. 22 (Guichaoua) (French).

¹³¹⁹ T. 7 October 2004 p. 19 (Guichaoua).

¹³²⁰ T. 7 October 2004 pp. 19, 21 (Guichaoua).

¹³²¹ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 151.

¹³²² Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 123, 152.

¹³²³ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 29-30.

¹³²⁴ T. 8 October 2004 p. 5 (Guichaoua).

¹³²⁵ T. 8 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua).

concern. ¹³²⁶ His Report pointed to two diary entries in particular. The 25 May 1994 diary entry (allegedly containing notes from 22 May 1994) states "[d]emystify the enemy, therefore journalists would travel with the ministers in charge of particular *préfectures*." The 3 June 1994 diary entry (allegedly containing notes from 1 June 1994) states, "Mifaprofe → Muramba and Butare and keep an eye on Gikongoro." Guichaoua asserted "Mifaprofe" means the *Ministre de la famille et de la promotion feminine* which was the post held by Nyiramasuhuko. Guichaoua concluded these diary entries show that Nyiramasuhuko was the minister within the Interim Government in charge of Butare *préfecture*. ¹³²⁸

- 661. Guichaoua's Report stated that *Préfet* Habyalimana's administration prevented the organisation and action of armed youth militias in Butare prior to the start of the genocide. No militia group was known to exist in Butare before 6 April 1994.¹³²⁹ In his testimony, Guichaoua clarified that no militia in Butare was systematically involved in acts of terror, murder or killings.¹³³⁰ Guichaoua acknowledged that some training of militia did occur at the SORWAL factory, but insisted that such training was clandestine.¹³³¹ He also testified that the militia situation in Butare was distinct from other *préfectures* because Butare was not marked by constant confrontation between militia groups.¹³³²
- 662. It was Guichaoua's opinion that on 18 or 19 April 1994, despite the widespread violence in *préfectures* surrounding Butare, killings could have been limited in Butare *préfecture* if *Préfet* Habyalimana had not been removed from office. He stated that an influential Butare army officer told him that it would not have been possible to evacuate *Préfet* Habyalimana from Butare as of 14 April 1994. Préfet Habyalimana's fate was already sealed; he was under surveillance and, as far as the officer was concerned, orders had been issued that *Préfet* Habyalimana should not be allowed to escape.
- 663. Guichaoua testified that in mid-May 1994, the *gendarmes* threatened and hunted down *Préfet* Habyalimana to appear before the Interim Government at Murambi. ¹³³⁷ He left with the *gendarmes* sent to find him and was executed. ¹³³⁸

¹³²⁶ T. 8 October 2004 p. 11; T. 8 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua) (French). The Chamber notes the French transcript says "ses preoccupations principales", while the English transcript says "our main concern".

¹³²⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 26.

¹³²⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 25-26.

¹³²⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 73

¹³³⁰ T. 12 October 2004 p. 59 (Guichaoua).

¹³³¹ T. 12 October 2004 pp. 57, 59 (Guichaoua).

¹³³² T. 12 October 2004 p. 59 (Guichaoua).

¹³³³ T. 7 October 2004 p. 36 (Guichaoua).

¹³³⁴ This could perhaps be the Chief of General Staff of the Army. See T. 13 October 2004 p. 14; see also T. 13 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua) (French) ("si un chef d'état-major, déjà partiellement coupé de ses moyens, avait pris le risqué d'envoyer un hélicoptère, il aurait étè très aisé de négocier, avec des interlocuteurs de l'armée, à Butare, que cela ne se fasse pas.").

¹³³⁵ T. 13 October 2004 p. 14 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 147.

¹³³⁶ T. 13 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua).

¹³³⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 123; T. 28 June 2004 p. 75 (Guichaoua).

¹³³⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 123.

Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

- 664. Guichaoua testified he was not present at the ceremony. He stated he was able to indicate the names of the ceremony's participants based upon the speeches they made, which were broadcast over the radio. He based his interpretations on transcripts of the speeches delivered on 19 April 1994 at Butare *préfecture*. Guichaoua explained that the announcement of Nsabimana's appointment as *préfet* was made on the radio on 18 April 1994. Nsabimana formally took up his duties on 19 April 1994 in Butare. Until he became *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana's career was in difficulty, and he had experienced some failures, particularly in school and at university.
- 665. Being a PSD *préfet* in a *préfecture* where most of the *sous-préfets* and senior officials were close to MRND did not facilitate Nsabimana's work, especially since he did not have experience in that professional set-up. ¹³⁴⁴ However, Nsabimana accepted the position, knowing exactly what he was doing, especially since someone better placed than him had turned the same position down. ¹³⁴⁵
- 666. Guichaoua stated that he had called Nsabimana a "préfet by proxy" in his Report, meaning that he had been placed at the helm of the préfecture for the purpose of being manipulated, and he let himself be manipulated. When Nsabimana took office, he was aware of what was happening. Any reasonable person, and particularly one who had been in political office for a few months, knew what was expected of him at that time. 1347
- 667. Guichaoua testified that President Sindikubwabo, Prime Minister Kambanda, five ministers, a representative of the Minister of the Interior, Callixte Kalimanzira, two party representatives and Kanyabashi attended the swearing-in ceremony. Guichaoua's testimony relied on the speeches made by those present at the ceremony, information that he obtained from the radio, and various documents provided to him by the Kanyabashi Defence and the Prosecution. Guichaoua relied on a transcript of speeches delivered on 19 April 1994 at Butare *préfecture*, in forming the following analysis. He pointed out that from this material it was difficult to know the order of speakers, as some documents addressed material which appeared on radio in the days subsequent to the ceremony and not the ceremony *per se*. 1350
- 668. Guichaoua stated that holding the meeting with all these authorities in Butare was supposed to impress the audience. According to a note on the top of a document Guichaoua

¹³³⁹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 4 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁰ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 77, 82-85; T. 29 June 2004 p. 17 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴¹ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹³⁴² T. 28 June 2004 p. 75 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴³ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 75-76 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁴ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 64, 72-73; T. 12 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁵ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 55, 62-63; T. 12 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁶ T. 11 October 2004 p. 54 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 148B (Letter concerning the appointment of Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 123.

¹³⁴⁷ T. 11 October 2004 p. 53 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁸ T. 14 October 2004 p. 4 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁴⁹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹³⁵⁰ T. 14 October 2004 p. 7 (Guichaoua).

had received from the Office of the Prosecutor, the meeting was held at the *préfecture's* ceremony hall, the former MRND Palace. He did not know who was seated on the podium. Asked whether he knew if members of the population were present, Guichaoua answered that he merely copied the information contained in the transcript, which listed many *bourgmestres* from Butare, *conseillers* and public servants from Butare, the Butare Prosecutor, the director of the prison, the rector of the University and military authorities. This list was not exhaustive. 1352

669. Guichaoua stated that Butare *préfecture* was not "ready", in the sense that the militia had not been sufficiently structured and that many people still had cold feet because of the resistance of the authorities, especially at the level of territorial administration. Concurrently, some "catching up work" had been done by the real authorities, beyond mere speeches, to prepare the *préfecture* before the authorities travelled there in great numbers to conduct the final shift to large-scale slaughters. ¹³⁵³

President Sindikubwabo's Speech

670. To analyse Sindikubwabo's speech, Guichaoua referred to Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994). Guichaoua quoted President Sindikubwabo's speech, in which he identified the new *Abatabazi* ministers saying: "Ministers came out of their offices and went down into the field. There were days when they would be at the office and other days when they would work with the population. Problems will be studied together and solutions will be found by consensus." According to Guichaoua, this description corresponds to the profile of Minister Nyiramasuhuko. 1354

671. Guichaoua stated the President spoke after Kanyabashi. He testified that the President did not directly refer to Kanyabashi in his speech, although Kanyabashi had spoken before him. The President did refer to the *préfet*, saying that he was a member of the population under the *préfet*'s control. He assured the *préfet* of his support. Guichaoua agreed that President Sindikubwabo resided in Cyarwa *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, yet never mentioned that his *bourgmestre* was Kanyabashi. He further stated that, although the President ignored Kanyabashi while giving his speech, he issued a warning which according to the witness was clearly addressed to Kanyabashi. The President repeated the statement made by the Prime Minister, "[u]nfortunately I was informed, but I was unaware." The President repeated this sentence twice. The President repeated this sentence twice.

_

¹³⁵¹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 10 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹³⁵² T. 14 October 2004 p. 10 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵³ T. 13 October 2004 p. 9 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 5; T. 30 June 2004 p. 35 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵⁵ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 30-31 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵⁶ T. 14 October 2004 p. 32 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 3. The Chamber notes that the Exhibit quotes the President as saying "under his care", rather than "under his control" as specified in the transcripts.

¹³⁵⁷ T. 14 October 2004 p. 32 (Guichaoua).

Kanyabashi's Speech

672. To analyse Kanyabashi's speech, Guichaoua referred to Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of speech by Kanyabashi). Kanyabashi spoke after Prime Minister Jean Kambanda¹³⁵⁹ and addressed the attendees on behalf of all the *bourgmestres* in Butare préfecture. 1360 Guichaoua commented on an extract from Kanyabashi's speech taken from a transcript of a broadcast on Radio Rwanda. 1361 The extract read:

We shall do anything in our power to ensure that our country does not fall into the hands of the enemies of Rwanda. We shall do everything in our power to ensure that each inhabitant wherever they may be become aware that they are concerned about the sovereignty of their country. We shall continue to maintain security where need be, and we shall have such security where there is no security. 1362

- According to Guichaoua, this extract confirmed what the Prime Minister had previously said and endorsed the fact that enemies of Rwanda exist. It was also significant given the venue of the speech, i.e. Butare préfecture. This implied that there were enemies in Butare préfecture, namely Tutsi civilians, who could only be defined and identified by the authorities. 1363
- Guichaoua concluded that Kanyabashi was a successful politician. ¹³⁶⁴ He managed to 674 protect his image. He was honoured by the population and respected by the President, which was not easy with so much political competition. 1365 Kanyabashi also retained his position at the head of Ngoma commune, even though he had already reached retirement age. He had worked at the helm of affairs there for more than 20 years and had full control over the finance and represented the office of the President in the south. He also sat on the central committee of the MRND party, which according to the witness, was how he retained his position. 1366
- Guichaoua stated that the following passage in Kanyabashi's speech was a reference to the Interim Government orders, issued many times before, but particularly at Gitarama during the meeting of préfets on 11 April 1994. The extract read: "Your Excellency, the Prime Minister, in these difficult times it is difficult to find one's words, but we want to reassure you that we shall do everything possible to implement what is possible based on the important advice you have given us and the directives you have recalled."1367
- Guichaoua was asked whether Kanyabashi's speech was in-line with what all of the bourgmestres had been doing in Butare since 6 April 1994, namely, the safeguarding of

¹³⁶⁷ T. 28 June 2004 p. 79 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵⁸ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 5-6 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁵⁹ T. 29 June 2004 p. 14 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁶⁰ T. 28 June 2004 p. 79 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁶¹ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 78, 83 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁶² T. 28 June 2004 p. 78 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁶³ T. 28 June 2004 p. 79 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁶⁴ T. 25 June 2004 pp. 20-21; T. 29 June 2004 pp. 34-35 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 142.

1365 T. 29 June 2004 p. 35; T. 13 October 2004 pp. 22, 64-65 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua)

Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 138-139.

¹³⁶⁶ T. 29 June 2004 pp. 35, 39 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 153B (Information Regarding the Retirement of Joseph Kanyabashi, Bourgmestre of Ngoma).

security. Guichaoua responded that Kanyabashi was one of those *bourgmestres* that was not keen to go to war, but that the Prime Minister's speech of 19 April 1994 was a call to order. A *bourgmestre* like Kanyabashi could not have been unaware that the killings had already intensified in Gikongoro, Kibungo and Kibuye. He also could not have been unaware that the killings were happening in areas governed by *préfets* who had been present at the meeting on 11 April 1994 and who had agreed on what needed to be done. Kanyabashi could not have been completely unaware of these instructions or the reasons for media coverage of the visit of so many officials in Butare. Kanyabashi seemed unable to find the appropriate words to use in his speech. However, when Kanyabashi said that they shall implement what the President and Prime Minister had said through their advice and directives, he was thereby recognising that what had been said by the President and Prime Minister would be implemented. He is that was not a call to order. A bourgmestres that was not a call to order. A bourgmestres that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that was not a call to order. A bourgmestre that the call to order that was not a call to order that the call to order that was not a call to order that the call

- 677. Guichaoua did not hear Kanyabashi's speech of 19 April 1994, but stated that it did not last longer than five minutes and that it seemed to have been an impromptu address. According to Prosecution Exhibit 149C, Kanyabashi did not mention or address the President, which was why Guichaoua had doubts regarding Sindikubwabo's presence. 1371
- 678. Guichaoua further commented on another extract of Kanyabashi's speech which was read aloud to him. The extract read:

We too in Butare *préfecture*, on behalf of our population, will express our gratitude by maintaining the peace he [President Habyarimana] gave us and safeguarding the unity he left with us. Your Excellency, Mister Prime Minister and the government you head, we renew our support for you, as we have always supported your government and we shall leave no stone unturned to make sure the government achieves its objectives. ¹³⁷²

679. Guichaoua testified that Kanyabashi's reference to the peace and unity the *préfecture* enjoyed when President Habyarimana was still alive, may have been a message of peace. However, Guichaoua testified that the message of the speech could have been ambiguous since the President had not espoused peace as understood by various parties, including Kanyabashi, for some time. While it was an impromptu speech which was not calling people to take up arms, it may have been intended to indicate that they were not in a position to do anything else but renew their support to the Government and to its actions since 6 April 1994, when Butare *préfecture* was relatively sheltered from the violence prevailing elsewhere in the country. President Sindikubwabo's speech, by comparison, was quite clear as to what was expected

¹³⁶⁸ T. 14 October 2004 p. 30; T. 14 October 2004 p. 37 (Guichaoua) (French) (for spelling of "Kibuye").

¹³⁶⁹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 30 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷⁰ T. 14 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷¹ Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi); T. 14 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua) (referring to Exhibit 149B, French).

¹³⁷² T. 14 October 2004 pp. 18-19 (Guichaoua). The Chamber notes the transcripts differ significantly from the

^{13/2} T. 14 October 2004 pp. 18-19 (Guichaoua). The Chamber notes the transcripts differ significantly from the quote in the exhibit. The transcript says, "We also in Butare *préfecture*, on behalf of our people, our acknowledgement would be to maintain the peace that has been granted us and to protect the unity that he bequeathed us" and "Your Excellency, the President, the government you are heading, we wish to reassure you of our support, you have always supported our government and we will do everything possible for the government to meet its objectives"; Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi).

from the *préfet*, the Government and the administration. The two speeches were not in the same category. 1373

- 680. Guichaoua testified that Kanyabashi promised to support the Government, whose objective was not to maintain peace in Butare *préfecture*. While Guichaoua did not exclude the possibility that Kanyabashi was referring to the "positive facet" of Kambanda's speech and possibly regretted the turn things had taken, Kanyabashi was still responding to the Prime Minister who at this point had not made a speech that purported to be calming.¹³⁷⁴
- 681. Guichaoua agreed that the population of Rwanda was informed about the war situation. According to his information, the RPF shot down the President's plane. As of 7 April 1994 there were RPF troops in Kigali and more marching towards the capital. Further, Butare town was only 30 kilometres from the border with Burundi and there was propaganda about a possible RPF offensive from the south, *i.e.* from Burundi, even if this did not correspond to the facts. These were rumours that were unfounded as there was no "southern front" to speak of in terms of the RPF advancement, although the population of Butare might have wished for these rumours to come to fruition, given that there were some 150,000 Tutsi residents in Butare *préfecture*. ¹³⁷⁵

Order of Speeches

- 682. Guichaoua pointed out that the order of the speeches was of great importance to how Kanyabashi was supposed to reply. He could not tell in which order the speeches were broadcast on the radio. 1376
- 683. Guichaoua was questioned on Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) and the re-broadcast of the speeches on radio. He testified that he used different documents and transcripts in order to determine the order of speeches, but that this did not actually help him to ascertain the order. However, it seemed that the President spoke after Kanyabashi, as the President arrived towards the end of the meeting. Of particular difficulty was Defence Exhibit 573B (Extracts of speeches by Kambanda and Kanyabashi) because it contained the end of a speech by Kambanda while the beginning was missing. A journalist, Jean-Baptiste Bamwanga, then spoke and Kanyabashi took the floor thereafter.
- 684. Analysing Prosecution Exhibit 151B, Guichaoua asserted that if the version of events based on this exhibit is correct, then Jean Kambanda spoke before Kanyabashi. At the end of his speech, Kambanda said: "I am saying this to some *bourgmestres* who I had told [sic] had

¹³⁷³ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 17-19 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷⁴ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 20-21 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷⁵ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 24-25 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷⁶ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 9-10 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁷⁷ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹³⁷⁸ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua); Defence Exhibit 573B (Kanyabashi) (Extracts of speeches by Kambanda and Kanyabashi).

¹³⁷⁹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua).

gone training amongst the *Inkotanyi* so that they tell them that the government is determined, the state, the army and the population – we are determined to wage this war and to win it." ¹³⁸⁰

- 685. Guichaoua speculated that Kanyabashi was responding to this sentence in his ensuing speech. If this version was correct, it would be terrible because Kambanda was saying that three *bourgmestres* had to be eliminated and Kanyabashi would be replying to this. However, Guichaoua could not be sure if this was fabricated by the radio and done after the ceremony on 19 April 1994. ¹³⁸¹
- 686. Guichaoua was then asked whether from the beginning of Kambanda's speech, where Kambanda greeted President Sindikubwabo, one could assume that the President was present for the speeches. The extract referred to read: "Your Excellency the President of the Republic, Honourable Ministers, *Prefets* and *Burgmestres*, and residents of Butare attending this meeting, first of all, I would like to greet you." 1382
- 687. This was Guichaoua's assumption but he had also been told by others that it was not the case that President Sindikubwabo was present during Kambanda's speech. He was doubtful, but assumed that Sindikubwabo had in fact been present for the speeches. Guichaoua also agreed that it would seem that there were at least three other ministers present. Guichaoua used the French version given to him by the Office of the Prosecutor as the basis for his analysis; he had not listened to the original tapes. The witness stressed that if Kanyabashi spoke after Kambanda's accusation of the *bourgmestres* who had become traitors, then there could not have been a scapegoat as Kambanda's speech required. The mere fact of having listened to and registering it would have been the equivalent of a tacit acceptance of a direct order. This also applied to the possibility of Kanyabashi's speech being made after Sindikubwabo's, because this speech was not couched in trivial terms, and merely saying "we shall put into practice all that is possible by relying, in particular, on the important advice you have given us, in addition to the directives you reminded us of" signified a firm commitment. 1383

Minutes in Nyiramasuhuko's Diary on the Swearing-in Ceremony

688. Guichaoua testified that Nyiramasuhuko's diary mentioned the swearing-in ceremony in the entries of 10 and 11 February 1994. The entry for 10 February 2004 mentions the introduction of the new *préfet* in the presence of the President and the Prime Minister and four *bourgmestres*. The entry then has something written in Kinyarwanda and then a word by the representative of the *bourgmestres*, by the new *préfet* and the President. The entry makes no reference to the content of the speeches of the incoming *préfet* and the *bourgmestres*' representative. The last person to have spoken seemed to have been the President, but these were assumptions in the diary. Guichaoua testified that he did not wish to delve into the issue

_

¹³⁸⁰ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁸¹ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua).

Defence Exhibit 575 (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of Radio Rwanda Broadcast of Jean Kambanda's Speech); T. 14 October 2004 p. 8 (Guichaoua) (the version in the transcripts differs from the version in the Exhibit. It reads, "Your Excellency Mr President of the Republic, Your Excellency, the ministers, the *préfet*, the *bourgmestres*, the inhabitants of Butare attending this meeting, I wish, first of all, to greet you.").

¹³⁸³ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 8-9 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 24.

of whether protocol required the President to speak last. The entry did not mention that Kambanda gave a speech. 1384

The Start of Killings in Butare Préfecture

- 689. Guichaoua acknowledged that there was a certain amount of disorder by 14 April 1994, but noted the *préfecture* had not fallen into the wide-scale killings or massacres that affected other parts of Rwanda. He acknowledged that from 14 April 1994, there were some soldiers who showed signs of impatience to follow national directives. ¹³⁸⁵
- 690. Guichaoua's Report stated that at the 16 April 1994 meeting of the Interim Government, Interim President Théodore Sindikubwabo requested that the PL Chairman and Minister Mugenzi agree to exchange the *préfet* post in Butare *préfecture* for the *préfet* post of Gisenyi. Sabimana, a member of the PSD, was then granted the post of *préfet* for Butare. The PSD had split into two factions and, when the genocide began, the power wing of the PSD had control of the party. The power wing openly supported the policies of the MRND after the assassination of the Secretary General of the PSD, Félicien Gatabazi. Guichaoua testified that the MRND could not appoint a member of its own party as *préfet* because it was considered a party of northerners and disliked by the southerners in Butare.
- 691. Guichaoua emphasised that external factors started the massacres in Butare *préfecture*. He stated that on 19 April 1994, there was a shift in the implementation of the Interim Government policy that came from outside the *préfecture*. He stated in his Report, and confirmed in testimony, that military units from Kigali and militiamen were forced to intervene to quash the last bastions of resistance in Butare *préfecture*. 1391
- 692. Guichaoua testified that on 20 April 1994, the massive killings began in Butare *préfecture*, although he testified, in reference to his Report, that there was a massacre of Tutsis in Nyakizu *commune* starting on 13 or 15 April 1994. He also confirmed there was a massacre in Maraba *commune* prior to 19 April 1994. Finally, he confirmed that there were attacks on Runyinya *commune* prior to 19 April 1994, without indicating the magnitude of those attacks. ¹³⁹²
- 693. In his Report, Guichaoua stated that Nyakizu *commune* was the only *commune* within Butare *préfecture* that was capable of organising large-scale killings starting from 13 April 1994. On 15 April 1994, the *bourgmestre* and others opposed to the genocide were killed. On 17 April 1994, there was a massacre at Cyahinda church despite a visit from *Préfet* Habyalimana and Major Habyarabatuma. On 18 April 1994, President Sindikubwabo went to

¹³⁸⁴ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 14-17 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁸⁵ T. 13 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁸⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 124.

¹³⁸⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 125.

¹³⁸⁸ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁸⁹ T. 28 June 2004 p. 6; T. 6 October 2004 p. 26 (Guichaoua).

¹³⁹⁰ T. 29 June 2004 p. 61 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 153.

¹³⁹¹ T. 29 June 2004 p. 61 (Guichaoua); 14 October 2004 p. 18 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 153.

¹³⁹² T. 8 October 1994 pp. 51-53 (Guichaoua).

the Cyahinda church to support the killings, and on 19 April 1994, when the attacks ceased at the church, between 10,000 and 20,000 Tutsis had been killed. 1393

694. President Sindikubwabo gave a speech at the 19 April 1994 meeting. Sindikubwabo stated that he had passed through Maraba *commune* and met with the *bourgmestre* regarding the problem of refugees. He also stated that he travelled to Nyakizu *commune*, but was unable to meet with that *bourgmestre* who had left on another mission. He observed that the inhabitants were frightened and that it appeared that the refugees had powerful weapons, rifles and grenades. He did not state whether there had been massacres or killings in these *communes*, but stated that there was a situation of insecurity in Gikongoro *préfecture*. ¹³⁹⁴

Prosecution Expert Witness Francis Ntakirutimana

- 695. Francis Ntakirutimana testified as an expert in social linguistics, discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics and language planning. He testified that from 6 April 1994 to 19 April 1994 he lived in Butare *préfecture* and killing was going on throughout Rwanda, but not in Butare *préfecture*. 1396
- 696. Ntakirutimana's Report analysed the use of proverbs and phrases in Rwanda during the events of 1994. Ntakirutimana explained that a speech cannot be analysed without taking its form and substance into account. In order to understand the subtleties of the message in a speech, it is important to pay particular attention not only to what is said but also how what is said is expressed. 1398
- 697. In his Report, Ntakirutimana explained that the manner a speaker uses combines not only vocal signs that are likely to be graphically re-transcribed, but can also include non-vocal signs like gestures, tone, mimes, the appearance of the speaker, instruments the speaker uses and his clothing. These ingredients unquestionably contribute to strengthening the message of a speech. 1399

Sindikubwabo's Speech

698. Ntakirutimana referred to the transcript of Sindikubwabo's speech contained in Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence in Sindikubwabo's speech in Butare*). Ntakirutimana explained that given the context of Sindikubwabo's speech, words

¹³⁹³ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 145-146.

¹³⁹⁴ T. 29 June 2004 p. 15 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 2.

¹³⁹⁵ T. 13 September 2004 p. 30 (Ntakirutimana).

¹³⁹⁶ T. 14 September 2004 p. 14 (Ntakirutimana).

¹³⁹⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis of Some Polysemic Terms Produced During the War Period 1990-1994 in Rwanda, by Ntakirutimana) (hereinafter "Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana"); T. 13 September 2004 pp. 13, 32 (Ntakirutimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Joseph Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support for the Jean Kambanda Government, by Ntakirutimana) p. 3; (hereinafter "Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana").

¹³⁹⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 12.

¹⁴⁰⁰ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 81-82 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence in Sindikubwabo's speech in Butare*, by Ntakirutimana) (hereinafter "*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana").

do not always signify what they suggest at first sight.¹⁴⁰¹ Recourse to encyclopaedic knowledge is often required in order to grasp the purpose of a speech in all its complexity. These complexities are dependent on a number of closely linked factors including the speaker's social status, the context, the feedback from the audience and the speaker's attitude, such as demeanour, gestures and tone of voice. The aim of a speech needs to be judged by the results achieved, where this is possible.¹⁴⁰²

- 699. Ntakirutimana testified that Sindikubwabo's speech was delivered in Kinyarwanda. Ntakirutimana analysed this speech in his Report and by listening to taped segments played during his testimony in court. The following are the relevant sections from Ntakirutimana's analysis, based on his Report.
- 700. Ntakirutimana's Report explained that the prologue of Sindikubwabo's speech consists of the first seven paragraphs and represents the general framework of the speech. The President and his colleagues had travelled to Butare from Gikongoro, where they had discussed the problem of insecurity with administrative officials. Gikongoro, which borders Butare, was facing the same problem of insecurity, which had been heightened by an influx of internally displaced persons. Ntakirutimana explained that in the speech, a generic use of the word refugee to mean both refugees and internally displaced persons is implied and the Kinyarwanda language does not make a distinction between the two terms. ¹⁴⁰⁶
- 701. Ntakirutimana's Report referred to Paragraph 1 of the speech, which read: "[A]bout the problem of those who are referred to as refugees, but who are they at this time?" ¹⁴⁰⁷
- 702. The Report also referred to Paragraph 3, which stated: "So this is the issue of the refugees, I wish there was someone to explain to us exactly what it is. Because I don't understand it yet. What refugees are these? Are they Hutus who have fled? Are they Tutsis who have fled? Who are these refugees? What were they running away from? That is the question." ¹⁴⁰⁸
- 703. Ntakirutimana stated that the rhetorical question posed by the President as to who the refugees were at that time and whether they were Hutus or Tutsis, revealed that the refugees' ethnic identity was the crux of the problem. 1409
- 704. Ntakirutimana further explained that directing questions to the audience in this way permitted the establishment of a direct dialogue and aimed to win over the target audience. The

¹⁴⁰¹ T. 14 September 2004 p. 9 (Ntakirutimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 3, paras. 3-4.

¹⁴⁰³ T. 14 September 2004 p. 7 (Ntakirutimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana).

¹⁴⁰⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 160 (CD-ROM containing Excerpt of Radio Broadcast of Speech of Sindikubwabo); T. 13 September 2004 p. 72 (Ntakirutimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 4.

¹⁴⁰⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) Annex 1, p. 22.

¹⁴⁰⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) Annex 1, p. 22.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 4.

latter should feel compelled to go along with the speaker. Ntakirutimana explained that these questions gave the audience an opportunity to reflect and take appropriate measures. 1410

705. Ntakirutimana's Report stated that the term *rubanda* (inhabitants), which was of particular significance in this speech, took on a different meaning during the war. Generally the term means "crowd, populace, public or people". However, *rubanda* came to mean members of the Hutu ethnic group known as *rubanda nyamwiinshi* (majority ordinary people) in reference to their large number. The President was disturbed by the attack on the majority ethnic group and the behaviour of some members of the majority ethnic group, who abandoned their tasks and gave way to greed. Paragraph 5 of the speech reads:

Yesterday, I had the unhappy experience of asking a citizen a question ... "Aren't there any men in this commune?" The citizen had the courage to answer that there were not many left. "What about the others?" I asked him....He told me that they were eaten up by greed I said "gendarmes" but in fact, I think you have not understood the directives we have issued, you have not understood what we have asked you to do, or else you understand perfectly but refuse to act for reasons that are unknown to us. ¹⁴¹¹

706. Paragraph 2 of the speech reads:

I met members of the local population [at Nyakizi *commune*]. They are faced with the same problem as the refugees, who, they said, are being housed in the Nyumba church precinct. What I saw was that the inhabitants were afraid of them, because it would appear that they possess very powerful weapons, guns and grenades.... Some of them were on top of the hill, according to one of the Ministers ... the way they do things, the others were inside the church while the *defenceless common folk* were roaming about. ¹⁴¹²

- 707. It was clear to Ntakirutimana that although the paragraph does not refer to Tutsis as the enemy and Hutus as the ordinary people [or defenceless common folk], the enemies were undoubtedly Tutsis and the ordinary people were Hutus. 1413
- 708. Ntakirutimana's Report referred to Paragraph 7 of the speech. It reads: "Unhappily, I have been informed of something I didn't know, namely that there were some among the administrative officials who are training to fight against us. Fortunately, the Prime Minister has declared that we will fight them back." ¹⁴¹⁴
- 709. Ntakirutimana stated that the Prime Minister's remarks endorsed by the President in the paragraph cited above encourage vengeance rather than tolerance. This constitutes a second response to the problem of insecurity, *i.e.* that it is necessary to fight. 1415
- 710. Ntakirutimana's Report stated that, according to the President, the existence of the refugee centres was not a matter for satisfaction, as people "suffer there when it rains" and "others go there for porridge." The Report explained that in the speech the President referred

¹⁴¹⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 18.

¹⁴¹¹ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 5, 22-23, Annex 1.

¹⁴¹² Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 22, Annex 1 (emphasis added).

¹⁴¹³ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 15.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 23, Annex 1.

¹⁴¹⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

to refugee centres as full of armed people with guns and grenades; the refugees posed a threat to the security of the inhabitants. Sindikubwabo supported Kambanda's exhortation to "fight them back". Ntakirutimana explained that here again, Sindikubwabo's response to fight them back contains no trace of tolerance. 1416

- 711. Paragraphs 14 and 15 of Sindikubwabo's speech state: "We have been lucky so far, because the war has not yet reached the region ... do not take things lightly by the grace of God, you have been spared from the war so far No, *be vigilant*, protect your *préfecture*." ¹⁴¹⁷
- 712. Ntakirutimana explained that the purpose of these references was to attract the attention of the people of Butare. The President was saying that the business of security must not be left solely to the *gendarmes*. Rather, security was a matter of concern for everyone especially political officials and their colleagues, from ministers to *cellule* committee members. Ntakirutimana explained that the use of the word *kudaabagira* (to live the good life) in reference to not taking things lightly and protecting the *préfecture* was an invitation to fight as a form of self-defence. In Paragraph 15, the President reminded the new *préfet* that he was accountable for the *préfecture*. The paragraph reads: "The *préfecture* the *préfet* is in charge of ... do not think that you are coming to heaven: you are coming at the wrong time ... Approach your *bourgmestres*, hold frequent meetings with them ... If you conclude that he is lazy or naïve, tell him to get down to work instead of leaving it all for the others to do." 1419
- 713. Ntakirutimana explained that the verb *gukora* (to work) has, over the years, come to mean to kill Tutsis. He listed different examples of the use of *gukora* and explained that once the target is identified, the next step is action, *i.e.* going for the target. The operation to eliminate the enemy is euphemistically called *gukora*. In the end, *gukora* means to kill Tutsis or to destroy their houses so as to avoid their possible return to the place. Ntakirutimana explained that when reference was made to the meaning of the verb *gukora*, the message conveyed to the people of Butare was a powerful and unambiguous one. It did not go hand in hand with tolerance.
- 714. Ntakirutimana wrote that Paragraph 16 from the President's speech reads:

So I think, dear people of Butare and forgive me, because I'm not used to speaking like this ... those who wait for others to do the work, those who don't feel concerned, well, they should come out into the open and let the rest of us do the work, and they can watch while we work, but without being part of our team ... Those whose job it is to

¹⁴¹⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 6, 9 (referring to paras. 7 and 13 of President Sindikubwabo's speech).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 24, Annex 1.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 10.

¹⁴¹⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 24, Annex 1.

¹⁴²⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 11.

¹⁴²¹ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 32.

¹⁴²² Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 32.

¹⁴²³ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 35.

¹⁴²⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 11.

... get him out of the way just have to get him out of the way as quickly as possible, because there are other good workers who want to work for their country. ¹⁴²⁵

- 715. Ntakirutimana explained that this apology is a powerful one. The President was obliged to apologise for the message and the harsh tone used to convey it, probably because he realised he had gone too far. 1426 Ntakirutimana explained that apologising is a way of admitting one's guilt. However Sindikubwabo's apology read together with related comments conveyed a message that was spine-chilling and explicit. It was aimed at easing the impact on any sensitive listeners. 1427
- 716. Ntakirutimana went on to discuss Paragraphs 16 and 17, which read:

If someone wants to say: "Me, I'm not concerned, that's not my business ...", he should go far away from us ... get him out of the way ... they are other good workers who want to work for their country ... These traitors who went for weapons training in order to eliminate us ... let us be rid of them! ... "We must fight and win this war" ... We shall win if you get rid of the "it-doesn't-concern-me" types ... who went to learn how to kill, and rid them for us. 1428

- 717. Ntakirutimana explained that this meant that such people must be eliminated swiftly, which was an open invitation to violence. The President urged the people of Butare to work in concert with the Government towards final victory. Ntakirutimana explained that this was quite obvious incitement to murder anyone who was indifferent to the ongoing situation. 1429
- 718. The President also said, "[w]e are going to begin watching everyone's behaviour and here I am referring particularly to the behaviour of the leadership." Ntakirutimana explained that Sindikubwabo meant that the road to the ultimate goal was still long. Draconian measures were required of everyone. It was clear that everyone, particularly the leadership, was under the Government's control. Paragraph 18 reads: "A government without a common philosophy has nothing to do with ours, because ours is an *Abatabazi* government." 1432
- 719. Ntakirutimana explained that as the name *Abatabazi* (saviour) indicated, the Government had a common philosophy, with the single goal or ideal of victory and peace for Rwandans. 1433

720. Paragraph 22 states:

the employees whose job it is to receive visitors ... must be capable of performing their duties, not people who are only there to make money ... it is the same people who are

_

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 24.
 Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 11.

¹⁴²⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 19.

¹⁴²⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 24.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 12.

¹⁴³⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 24-25.

¹⁴³¹ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 13.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 24-25.

¹⁴³³ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 13.

against transparency, they are the same people we are fighting against \dots They attack us with their stupidity \dots They are enemies too. They must be eliminated.

- 721. Ntakirutimana reported that in Kinyarwanda, *umwaanzi* (enemy), the antonym of which is *incuti* (friend), is a term derived from the verb to hate (*kwaanga*). The word *umwaanzi* gave rise to a number of proverbs or set expressions. From a traditional Rwandan perspective, the aggressor of Rwanda, the Tutsis, were referred to as a real enemy and their elimination or driving out, which was prescribed by ancestral practices, should be respected. That "a person who hates another so much that he cannot wish him any good ... is the image Hutus have of Tutsis". Linguistic expressions revealed that the enemy were the Tutsis and the defenceless ordinary people were the Hutus. 1435
- 722. In his speech, President Sindikubwabo said: "I want you to be able to analyse our message, understand it and analyse the terms we use, you must know why we choose one term over another. The reason is that we are going through an unusual period." Sindikubwabo warned his listeners and recapitulated what his Government expected of them, as though to recall the idea that the people must do what the Government requires of them. ¹⁴³⁶
- 723. In conclusion, Sindikubwabo said "[j]okes, laughter, banter, childish behaviour, capriciousness and trifling must give way to work. After we have won the victory, once calm has been restored in the country, we can start making jokes once again but now is not the time for joking." Ntakirutimana explained that here, the President reverted to the core message saying joking must stop and people must get down to "work." Ntakirutimana explained that by the term *kudaabagira*, which connotes the good life, Sindikubwabo wanted people to be aware of the critical situation that existed and react accordingly, in any event not to be indifferent, which was a clear invitation to "work."
- 724. Ntakirutimana explained that Sindikubwabo employed the communication technique of quoting another person of good faith in order to emphasise one's agreement and solidarity with the message conveyed. In Paragraphs 1, 17, 18 and 23 he quotes statements of the Prime Minister and in Paragraph 13 he quotes Minister Mugenzi. Both spoke well and conveyed a pertinent message which was important to contemplate and heed in every detail. Sindikubwabo also repeated the response given by a deeply disgruntled ordinary citizen in order to emphasise the fact that the situation is truly appalling. By doing so, Sindikubwabo urged the population not to remain indifferent, but to fight to get rid of and eliminate the traitors. According to Ntakirutimana there was no question of tolerance here.
- 725. Ntakirutimana identified prolonged applause from the audience in several points in the speech. Ntakirutimana explained that people react directly or indirectly to everything that reaches their ears. The reaction made it possible to evaluate the impact of what they heard. 1441

¹⁴³⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 25.

¹⁴³⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 14-15.

¹⁴³⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 16.

¹⁴³⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 25.

¹⁴³⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 16-17.

¹⁴³⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 17.

¹⁴⁴⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 18.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 19.

- 726. In the first part of the speech, the audience applauded the President when he pledged support for the new *préfet*. The audience gave two rounds of applause following the presentation of the new Government. There was also applause in the form of drums. Ntakirutimana's Report stated that in the cultural and religious context, drums are beaten during certain ceremonies to signal approval of the message conveyed, and it was to be inferred from the reactions of the audience that the Government and its programme would not meet with a great deal of resistance in Butare. 1442
- 727. Ntakirutimana explained that it is common in many cases that a speaker is often applauded as a matter of courtesy at the end of his remarks. However, the multiple rounds of applause at the end of President Sindikubwabo's speech showed that this was not merely a matter of courtesy. These final acclamations were congratulating the speaker as a sign of recognition of the relevance of his message. 1443
- 728. Ntakirutimana said the linguistic data showed that the speech was not indicative of tolerance. It was aimed at mobilising the people of Butare and heightening their awareness, urging them to stop being indifferent and encouraging them to fight for final victory. The feedback from the audience showed that the message was clearly understood. 1444
- 729. Ntakirutimana disagreed with the proposition that the population could have understood the President's speech in different ways. 1445

Kanyabashi's Speech

- 730. Ntakirutimana analysed Kanyabashi's speech in a Report entitled *Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support for the Jean Kambanda Government*.¹⁴⁴⁶ Ntakirutimana identified six strategies that inspired Kanyabashi in his speech. These were:
 - 1. Support the Jean Kambanda Government and its objectives.
 - 2. Support the Army in defending the sovereignty of the country.
 - 3. Preserve the sovereignty of the country.
 - 4. Sensitize the population to defend the sovereignty of the country.
 - 5. Safeguard security everywhere and by all means.
 - 6. Effectively honour the various promises made. 1447
- 731. Ntakirutimana analysed Kanyabashi's radio broadcast speech in Kinyarwanda. 1448 Ntakirutimana explained that it would be expected that Kanyabashi's speech would reflect the ideas expressed by the different speakers and would accordingly be longer. Kanyabashi's

¹⁴⁴² Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 19.

¹⁴⁴³ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 19.

¹⁴⁴⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 19-20.

¹⁴⁴⁵ T. 14 September 2004 p. 35 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁴⁴⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana); T. 14 September 2004 pp. 19-21 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁴⁴⁷ T. 14 September 2004 p. 29 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 7.

¹⁴⁴⁸ T. 14 September 2004 p. 23 (Ntakirutimana).

speech was only half a page. The length of Kanyabashi's address in response to speeches by a number of members of the Government is unusual 1449

- In part one of the speech, Kanyabashi on behalf of all the bourgmestres of Butare préfecture thanked the members of Government who visited the population during the hard times. According to Kanyabashi, the visit constituted tremendous support. 1450
- Kanyabashi then focused his message on the death of President Habyarimana and its direct consequences for Butare préfecture. Kanyabashi said that the people of Butare were deeply disturbed and overcome with grief by the event, but they did not know what they had to do. Ntakirutimana explained that Kanyabashi meant that the people of Butare did not know what to do to avenge this sudden death. All that they managed to do was react, like all other Rwandans. Kanyabashi did not elaborate on this reaction. 1451
- Kanyabashi returned to the death of the President to show that it was the only way that the criminals had to seize power. Kanyabashi said that the criminals deluded themselves given that the population had remained ever more attached to their President. Ntakirutimana explained that the Rwandan proverb which translates as "good rewards good" is often used ironically when evil is called into question. Therefore, Kanyabashi's use of the word kwitura, alluding to the Rwandan proverb of "good rewards good", was an allusion to acts of vengeance resulting from the death of President Habyarimana. 1452
- Kanyabashi indirectly mentioned the names of the assassins of President Habyarimana by using the word *inyangarwanda*, which Ntakirutimana explained literally translates to "those who hate Rwanda", means dishonest and disloyal people or a person who disturbs the peace of a country. Between 1990 and 1994, these definitions directly referred to Inkotanyi/RPF members and/or their accomplices. Ntakirutimana also explained the historical background and the set expressions and proverbs that have resulted from the word *Inkotanvi*. 1453
- From a day-to-day traditional Rwandan perspective, the aggressor of Rwanda, the 736. Tutsi, was referred to as the real enemy. References to eliminating the enemy or flushing him out of the country therefore referred to Tutsis. 1454 Ntakirutimana explained that members of the RPF disturbed the peace by attacking Rwanda in October 1990 and deprived the population of President Habyarimana. 1455
- Ntakirutimana explained that referring to those who hate Rwanda and showing that they killed President Habyarimana, was a way of inciting the population to increase their vigilance so as to defend the sovereignty of the country. Kanyabashi concluded by affirming on behalf of the inhabitants of Butare that everything would be done to protect the peace and unity fostered by the late President. Ntakirutimana explained that this could mean that

¹⁴⁴⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 5.

¹⁴⁵⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

¹⁴⁵¹ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

¹⁴⁵² Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

¹⁴⁵³ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 6-7.

Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 30; Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 14-15.

Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 7.

Kanyabashi was saying that if you wish peace, prepare for war. Ntakirutimana explained that the visit of the Prime Minister and other members of Government came within the perspective of sensitising the population. Sindikubwabo's speech corroborated this assertion, when he made reference to the widespread killings already in the country. 1456

- 738. Ntakirutimana explained that in part two, Kanyabashi revisited the six strategies to deal with the prevailing situation (mentioned above). In conclusion, Kanyabashi indicated that no energy would be spared to effectively execute these strategies by scrupulously following "the very important advice and directives" given by Prime Minister Kambanda. The use of that phrase illustrated that the advice and directives of the Prime Minister were to be strictly followed. 1457
- 739. Ntakirutimana identified the key words in Kanyabashi's speech. Kanyabashi addressed the main speaker, the Prime Minister, six times. This was a clear way of emphasising his sympathy. The Prime Minister was addressed in each of the six paragraphs and the core message was to thank him for going to the field to give important advice and directives. 1458
- 740. Ntakirutimana reported that it was important for the population to be abreast of the prevailing situation and be sensitised to the appropriate measures to defend the sovereignty and security of the country. The population was therefore an important component of this matter, and was mentioned nine times in the short speech. The death of President Habyarimana was mentioned five times. Ntakirutimana explained that by mentioning the death several times, Kanyabashi wanted to incite the population to react given that the criminals who caused the death had only one objective; to seize power. 1459

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ

741. Witness WMCZ, a Hutu classmate of Nyiramasuhuko, testified that killings started in his *secteur*, in Ndora *commune* on about 22 or 23 April 1994. He stated that at that time groups of bandits were created with the purpose of looting and killing Tutsis. Soldiers who had deserted the battlefront and who did not respect their commanders' orders began to attack, plunder and kill people. They started by attacking his home and demanding money. 1460

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

742. Charles Karemano, a Hutu sociologist who was formerly national secretary of the PSD party, testified that he arrived in Butare, Ngoma *commune* on 18 April 1994 when the *bourgmestre* was Kanyabashi. He went to the house of a Tutsi friend, Jean Marie Rumiya, who lived in one of the university houses in the Ngoma *commune*, Butare-ville *secteur*. Karemano asked Rumiya for shelter but Rumiya said that it was dangerous for the witness to stay with him. He showed the witness Mount Huye where houses were being burnt down and

¹⁴⁵⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 6-7.

¹⁴⁵⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 7-8.

¹⁴⁵⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 8.

¹⁴⁵⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 9

¹⁴⁶⁰ T. 2 February 2005 pp. 30-31 (Witness WMCZ).

¹⁴⁶¹ T. 21 August 2006 p. 35 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶² T. 21 August 2006 pp. 33-34 (Karemano).

people were being killed and told him that Butare was also unsafe, although it did not appear that way to the witness. ¹⁴⁶³ The witness testified that when he arrived in Butare and met Rumiya, the massacres had not yet started and he felt safe. ¹⁴⁶⁴

- 743. The witness spent the night of 18 April 1994 at a place known as the Procure of Butare located opposite the Butare Cathedral; this place was owned by the Diocese and gave priority lodging to former seminarians. People were seeking refuge there and fighting over rooms. On 19 April 1994, the witness went to Cyarwa where he had a house.
- 744. The witness confirmed that page 72 of his book, *Beyond the Roadblocks*, contained a reference to the events of 19 April 1994. The relevant section states:
 - 19 April 1994: Theodore Sindikubwabo makes his first official speech in Butare and settles down in his house in Tumba, the killings start in Butare. Some consider that the beginning of the killings in Butare coincides with the dismissal of *Préfet* Jean-Baptiste Habyarimana. It is true that the latter had not favoured such killings. But what force did he have at his disposal to stop them? Neither the army nor the gendarmerie obeyed his orders, just as they will not obey his civilian successor. But, on the other hand, the speech of the interim president, first of all, and then his settling down in Butare, will spark things off. The speech urges the population to chase the enemy. They will be easily identified to the Tutsis. When he settled down in his town, he brought with him the guard of his assassinated predecessor. These soldiers kill and incite the population to also kill and loot. The population will note that it is possible to kill and take other people's possessions without being punished. And it will no longer stop. 1468
- 745. The witness testified that he did not hear Sindikubwabo's speech, but from 19 April 1994 onwards, he heard many comments about it, especially in relation to the President's statement that people should not remain indifferent and should work, which stuck in people's minds. The meaning of the President's statement was easy to ascertain when viewed against the background of the events that occurred after 19 April 1994. The witness' understanding of what occurred was that the soldiers who accompanied the President killed and incited the population to loot. The population realised that this could be done with impunity and also started killing and looting. People used the speech to legitimate their actions.
- 746. To the witness' knowledge, the President's speech was made in Kinyarwanda and reference was made during the speech to the term "to work" or *gukora*. In the context of Sindikubwabo's speech, this word was ambiguous and not everyone understood the speech to mean the same thing. He did not know if those who perpetrated the killings used the word *gukora*. The witness confirmed that the person he referred to in page 83 of his book as

¹⁴⁶³ T. 21 August 2006 p. 34 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁴ T. 24 August 2006 p. 13 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁵ T. 21 August 2006 p. 35 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁶ T. 23 August 2006 p. 73 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁷ T. 21 August 2006 p. 35 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁸ T. 5 September 2006 p. 22 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁶⁹ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 23-27 (Karemano).

disapproving of the inflammatory speeches and being regretful of the fact that he had to answer to Sindikubwabo's speech, was Kanyabashi. 1470

747. The witness testified that he saw many dead bodies during his stay in Butare between 18 April and 3 July 1994. A truck-load of bodies passed his house around 19 to 22 April 1994 heading towards a mass grave close by. The vehicle was a public works vehicle from a department within the *préfecture*. There were many killings between 20 and 30 April 1994. The killings mainly began after 20 April 1994 and would occur during the day. Subsequently, people hid during the day, so most of the killings took place at night. It would have been difficult for the political and military authorities not to know what was going on. The witness did not personally see any killings. 1471

748. By mid-May 1994, Tutsi professors Karenzi and Rumiya and many others had already been killed. Further, a Professor named Gaétan, whom people considered to be Tutsi, was killed. To Karemano's knowledge, all the Tutsi lecturers of the university who were in Butare on the campus were killed immediately after 19 April 1994. 1472

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

749. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu, ¹⁴⁷³ testified that on 18 or 19 April 1994, he noticed that homes were burning in Runyinya, Gishamvu and Huye *communes*. ¹⁴⁷⁴ He testified that at the roadblock manned by soldiers at Hotel Faucon, he saw the body of a university lecturer called Claver Karenzi. ¹⁴⁷⁵ He knew the professor but could not say if he was a Tutsi. He said it could clearly be seen that the soldiers had killed Karenzi. He did not see bodies at this roadblock on other days. ¹⁴⁷⁶

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-1-4-O

750. Witness D-1-4-O, a Hutu health worker, testified that refugees began to enter Ngoma *commune* from Gikongoro *préfecture* between 13 and 18 April 1994. The *communes* near Gikongoro *préfecture*, namely Nyakizu and Runyinya *communes* and the Nyaruguru region, were experiencing insecurity. Witness D-1-4-O testified that on 18 April 1994, people began burning and plundering homes in Ngoma *commune*. 1478

_

¹⁴⁷⁰ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 30-31 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁷¹ T. 24 August 2006 pp. 82-84 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁷² T. 5 September 2006 pp. 53-54 (Karemano).

¹⁴⁷³ Defence Exhibit 615 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁴⁷⁴ T. 12 December 2007 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁴⁷⁵ T. 21 January 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁴⁷⁶ T. 31 January 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁴⁷⁷ T. 7 May 2008 p. 14 (Witness D-1-4-O).

¹⁴⁷⁸ T. 6 May 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Constant Julius Goetschalckx a.k.a. Brother Stan

Brother Stan, a Belgian clergyman, testified that on 18 April 1994, he heard for the first time a gunshot in Butare town. On that same day, he also observed houses set ablaze near Gikongoro *préfecture*. 1479

Nsabimana Defence Witness AGWA

752. Witness AGWA, a Hutu, testified that he arrived in Kigembe *commune* on 12 April 1994 and the situation was calm. Shortly thereafter, the situation deteriorated rapidly because the area was receiving Tutsi refugees from the neighbouring Nyakizu and Runyinya communes. The refugees gathered at the commune office and at CERAI, an agricultural training centre. About one week later, around 19 April 1994, those gathering at CERAI were massacred. 1480

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

Maurice Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko's husband, Shalom Ntahobali's father and Rector 753. of Rwandan National University, 1481 testified that he was aware that one of his friends, Professor Pierre Claver Karenzi, was murdered in April 1994 in Butare. He heard of this crime a few days after it occurred and he was sad at losing a friend, as well as a member of the teaching staff of the institution of which he was in charge. 1482 He did not visit Karenzi's widow, because he did not know how to find her. In addition, he was ill and had reduced his movements in order to avoid suffering the same fate as Karenzi. 1483

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu

- Eugène Shimamungu, a doctor of linguistic science with a specialisation in grammar, 1484 testified on the use of propaganda in armed conflict to disseminate and manipulate information. 1485 He stated that the propaganda used in Rwanda was through radio such as Radio Rwanda. RTLM for the Government and Radio Muhabura for the RPF - and written medium. 1486 In his opinion, Nyiramasuhuko used RTLM to transmit the message of non-violence because there were not many other choices. 1487
- Shimamungu explained that he used lexicon items (words) and semantic fields (the 755. entire range of meaning that can be given to a word), to analyse the speeches made. 1488
- Shimamungu opined that *Invenzi* was coined by Alloys Ngurumbe, who was a member of a Tutsi incursion group in the 1960s consisting of 36 people which, at the time, tried to

¹⁴⁷⁹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).

¹⁴⁸⁰ T. 8 November 2006 pp. 17-18 (Witness AGWA).

¹⁴⁸¹ T. 12 September 2005 p. 16 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁸² T. 16 September 2005 p. 73 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁸³ T. 16 September 2005 p. 74 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁸⁴ T. 15 March 2005 p. 8 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁸⁵ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 10-11 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁸⁶ T. 16 March 2005 p. 14 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁸⁷ T. 1 April 2005 p. 4 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁸⁸ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 41, 43-44, 47-48 (Shimamungu).

destabilise the Government through terrorist actions. The word was coined by the group as a name for themselves after the 1959 Rwandan revolution which overthrew the Tutsi monarchy. This word has been used since that time in Rwanda to describe Tutsi incursions into Rwanda. Shimamungu was of the opinion that the word *Inyenzi* was understood to mean "aggressor" when the *Inyenzi-Inkotanyi* attacked the country. In 1994, the *Inyenzi-Inkotanyi* who attacked from Uganda could have been called aggressors. 1490

- 757. Shimamungu explained that *Inkotanyi* was a word used to refer to the militia of Rwabugiri who was a king in power towards the end of the 19th century. He testified that the word was revived again by the RPF in 1990 so that they became known as the RPF-*Inkotanyi* and occasionally, *Inyenzi-Inkotanyi*. He testified that the word *Inkotanyi* itself meant die-hard combatant. The word *Inkotanyi* also carried the meaning "to devour", which is an extreme meaning which causes fear if a group goes by this name. 1491
- 758. In Shimamungu's view, the words *Inkotanyi* and *Inyenzi* are related to war. *Inyenzi* means "cockroach" and cockroaches hide during the day and then operate during the night, similar to the actions of *Inyenzi* fighters. There was an attempt to transform the word *Inyenzi* into an acronym, meaning "the combatant of the militia," and indicating they were the most valiant and brave. 1492
- 759. It would be incorrect to say that the word *Inkotanyi* was used by people who did not like Rwandan Tutsis. From a historic standpoint, the origin of the word, which could not be subject to challenge according to Shimamungu, denotes that this would be an incorrect interpretation. 1493
- 760. Shimamungu consulted Guichaoua's Report and noted that Guichaoua analysed Nyiramasuhuko's diary in which the word "enemy" was referenced. Shimamungu testified that although he read Guichaoua's analysis of Nyiramasuhuko's diary, he did not rely on it in reaching his conclusions because the diary was personal material and, in his opinion, "diaries use codes and it is not possible to analyse a diary without consulting the person who is the author of the diary. And therefore it is impossible to come to any conclusions." Shimamungu opined that the people identified as belonging to the enemy circles were social groups from which members of the RPF were enlisted and recruited, mainly Tutsi refugees.
- 761. Shimamungu stated that the enemy was not only military or soldiers, but also civilians, particularly having regard to the infiltrators during the events of 1994. At the root of the massacres was that it was no longer possible to distinguish infiltrators from civilians during the events of 1994. ¹⁴⁹⁶

¹⁴⁸⁹ T. 16 March 2005 p. 49 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹⁰ T. 30 March 2005 p. 56 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹¹ T. 16 March 2005 p. 50; T. 22 March 2005 p. 68 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹² T. 16 March 2005 p. 50 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹³ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 50-51 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹⁴ T. 30 March 2005 p. 74 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹⁵ T. 1 April 2005 p. 48 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹⁶ T. 1 April 2005 p. 56 (Shimamungu).

President Sindikubwabo's Speech

762. With reference to Sindikubwabo's speech of 19 April 1994, Shimamungu stated in his Report that:

There is no coding or encoding of the word *Gukora* ... outside of its meaning in everyday Kinyarwanda. The word has always been used in its usual context. There is no reason to establish codes for the purpose of giving orders. Everybody was surprised by events, but there was no time to codify anything whatsoever in connivance with the Rwandan population. ¹⁴⁹⁷

- 763. Shimamungu stated that the most common meanings of the word *gukora* were "do, work, act", and "be occupied with". He stated that the meaning of a word may mutate, based upon the context of a sentence. The word *gukora* carried negative meanings as well, but only when used in certain contexts. The negative meanings of *gukora* include "to destroy somebody's dwelling", and "to rob everything, to leave nothing behind." Other non-negative meanings of the term are "to pass a trial, a test". ¹⁴⁹⁸
- 764. Shimamungu opined that according to the 1985 dictionary he consulted, the meaning of *gukora* has never been "to kill Tutsis," and Rwandans could not have understood it to mean so. The word did not have a coded meaning in President Sindikubwabo's speech. 1501
- 765. Shimamungu testified that before 1994, the word *gukora* was somewhat related to *umuganda*, which generally meant "going to do community work in a self-help mutual assistance context." When neighbours were building, each person would bring a piece of timber to assist in the building and in that mutual self-help context, the term *umuganda* meant "to work." In February 1974, "*umuganda*" was introduced by the MRND. This involved building roads and other things that the state was unable to do but that could be effectuated by the community or population. This was mandatory every Saturday of each week. Shimamungu indicated this was a political meaning not found in the dictionary. ¹⁵⁰²
- 766. Shimamungu testified that after the introduction of multi-party politics in Rwanda in the 1990s, the practice of community work ended. Shimamungu clarified his opinion saying: "I appeared to hesitate at that time [earlier during his testimony] because I wasn't sure I was able to confirm *umuganda* existed, but not in any structure or organised manner by the MRND, but it was organised at the level of the population ... It existed right up to 1994." 1504
- 767. In his Report, Shimamungu explained that in the 1994 framework *gukora/umuganda* represented the fight against the RPF and infiltrators, where the population came together to clear areas where the infiltrators could hide, such as forests and bushes. The RPF was issuing

¹⁴⁹⁷ T. 24 March 2005 p. 59 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) pp. 38-40.

¹⁴⁹⁸ T. 16 March 2005 p. 57 (Shimamungu).

¹⁴⁹⁹ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 55-57 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰⁰ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 56-57 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰¹ T. 30 March 2005 p. 23 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰² T. 16 March 2005 pp. 58-59 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰³ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 58-59; T. 30 March 2005 pp. 47-48 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰⁴ T. 24 March 2005 p. 20 (Shimamungu).

negative propaganda to discredit these operations and claimed that the population was trying to flush out Tutsis in order to massacre them. 1505

- 768. Shimamungu consulted Alison Des Forges' book, *Leave None to Tell the Story*, for his Report. In the book Des Forges contended that the word *gukora* meant "kill the Tutsis" during the 1959 revolution and in 1994. Shimamungu stated that he did not rely upon the said paragraph because "all the scientific requirements were not met [, *i.e.*] some references ... to specific texts were missing".
- 769. Shimamungu further recalled his Report where he noted that the French translation of the speech by the President makes much reference to the word *gukora* to mean "work." In his opinion, the Prosecution gave the wrong meaning to the word *gukora* as used in Sindikubwabo's speech because the word has different meanings. Shimamungu did not use the word in his own translation because it was not suitable in the context. In place of the word "work," Shimamungu used the words, "[1]et them stand aside and allow us to act." 1509
- 770. Shimamungu stated that when Sindikubwabo said "step aside" in the context of the war, the President was referring to people working in the administration. ¹⁵¹⁰ In other words, members of the administration who are ignorant and do not do their work should step aside and be replaced. ¹⁵¹¹ Given the context, *gukora* and its derivatives were used exclusively with regard to staff and administrative personnel. In Shimamungu's opinion, it was not possible to conclude that President Sindikubwabo would have used that term to incite the population. *Gukora* is only used in very specific circumstances and with very specific meaning. ¹⁵¹²
- 771. The main theme of the President's speech of 19 April 1994 was that everyone had to be "the guardian or the custodian of his or her neighbour". This theme concerned insecurity and the presence of so many displaced people. No *gendarmes* were available, so everyone was told to be his neighbour's keeper. ¹⁵¹³
- 772. Shimamungu opined that in Sindikubwabo's speech, it was unclear who the refugees were, *i.e.* whether they were Hutus or Tutsis. The issue of security arose because refugees were carrying weapons. He concluded that Sindikubwabo was in fact talking about RPF infiltrators who were among the refugees in the camps. These infiltrators were not necessarily Tutsis. ¹⁵¹⁴
- 773. In one part of his speech, Sindikubwabo stated "[s]eek these people out who went to learn how to kill us and get rid of them," and that "the traitors should be identified so that they maybe maybe prevented from causing havoc." Shimamungu was asked what he understood

¹⁵⁰⁵ T. 1 April 2005 p. 8 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 40.

¹⁵⁰⁶ T. 30 March 2005 pp. 5, 40 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰⁷ T. 30 March 2005 p. 41 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰⁸ T. 30 March 2005 pp. 41-43 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵⁰⁹ T. 17 March 2005 pp. 40-43 (Shimamungu); *see also* Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 38.

¹⁵¹⁰ T. 31 March 2005 p. 79 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹¹ T. 31 March 2005 p. 80 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹² T. 17 March 2005 p. 70; T. 31 March 2005 p. 80 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹³ T. 17 March 2005 pp. 8-9 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹⁴ T. 17 March 2005 pp. 20-22 (Shimamungu).

by the phrases "getting rid of," and "preventing them from causing havoc." Shimamungu explained that Sindikubwabo was making reference to several people. At one point he referred to the administration – that blockages were caused by ignorance – so that those who were blocking the proper running of the administration should be replaced. The President also made reference to infiltrators who, in view of the war, should be neutralised to stop them causing havoc. ¹⁵¹⁵

- 774. Shimamungu opined that the unusual appearance of the President at the swearing-in ceremony of a *préfet* usually an administrative ceremony was a cover-up, hiding the fact that the Government had fled Kigali and had been in hiding in Murambi. The fact that the Government had moved to Butare logically gave the population the awareness that there was fierce fighting in Kigali and that Kigali was either already in the hands of the RPF or about to be. ¹⁵¹⁶
- 775. Shimamungu explained that the word *nyirandabizi* was not a coded word, but meant "those who claim to know everything." The word referred to people who are waiting for the regime to change to make the best out of it. In Butare *préfecture* some people thought that the purpose of the war was to simply overthrow the Government, after which they would be able to obtain positions or posts. ¹⁵¹⁸
- 776. When President Sindikubwabo spoke of "[t]hose who are indifferent", he was not talking about enemies. Because he was talking in an administrative meeting, he meant that those who were indifferent should be ignored and not fought against with weapons. Shimamungu stated that *Préfet* Habyalimana might have been part of this group of indifferent/ignorant people, but that he was no longer a target after his removal. 1520
- 777. Shimamungu considered the conclusion of Sindikubwabo's speech to be consistent with his speech of 17 April 1994. In the conclusion, the President indicated that everyone was to work together for the same cause. His Government would not govern as the previous one and that rather than being a saviour Government, it was a crisis Government. His Government was united and would work for a common purpose, namely, victory and peace for Rwanda. ¹⁵²¹
- 778. Shimamungu stated that it was difficult to make a detailed analysis of the statements in the President's speech because they would have been taken out of context. The speech was made to administrative officials and not to the population. He explained that the speech was a product of the war and contained extremist statements calling for the death of others. He nonetheless noted that these statements were made by both sides of the conflict. 1522 Although

.

¹⁵¹⁵ T. 1 April 2005 pp. 56-57 (Shimamungu); *see also* Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report).

¹⁵¹⁶ T. 17 March 2005 pp. 31-33 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹⁷ Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 49.

¹⁵¹⁸ T. 31 March 2005 p. 41 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵¹⁹ T. 31 March 2005 p. 63 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁰ T. 31 March 2005 pp. 64-65 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²¹ T. 17 March 2005 p. 72 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²² T. 21 March 2005 pp. 74-75 (Shimamungu).

the speech was delivered to administrative authorities, the fact that it was broadcast over the radio meant that it also targeted the population as a whole. 1523

779. Shimamungu explained that the new Government used inauguration ceremonies to eliminate insecurity. During his speech, Nsabimana, the new *préfet*, accepted to perform his duties with the support of the President. No *préfet* could be sworn-in against his will – therefore, Nsabimana must have spoken during the ceremony and asked for support in the performance of his future duties. Shimamungu did not possess Nsabimana's speech, if indeed he spoke. Spoke.

Prime Minister Kambanda's Speech

780. Shimamungu identified a document as a speech by Jean Kambanda, recorded on Radio Rwanda on 11 April 1994. Since the broadcast was given over the radio, it was addressed both to the authorities, as well as to the population. In his opinion, this broadcast as well as all the speeches made from 8 April 1994 to 19 April 1994 required members of the population and, more specifically the officials, to ensure the maintenance of security. This was a response to the fact that it had been observed that roadblocks had been erected without the knowledge of the authorities.

781. Shimamungu testified that he associated with the Habyarimana family when his company in France published the book *Juvénal Habyarimana*, the man assassinated on 6 April 1994 in 2004. As part of his membership of the RDR party (Movement for Democracy and Return of Refugees to Rwanda), he wrote Prosecution Exhibit 167B (correspondence between Shimamungu and the French media). The correspondents expressed their views on a television programme which concerned the reaction to justice in Rwanda following the 1994 genocide. Read as a whole, Exhibit 167B attributes responsibility for the genocide in Rwanda in 1994 to the current President Paul Kagame and his army, the RPF. Shimamungu considered that the programme wrongly blamed Hutus alone for the 1994 genocide and opined that the assassination of President Habyarimana triggered the genocide. State of the same of the same

782. Shimamungu testified that he was a member of AGIIR, an association for impartial international justice for Rwanda following the events of 1994. He attended an AGIIR meeting that resulted in the Amsterdam Declaration of 28 November 2004, part of which calls on the democratic opposition and civil society in Rwanda to resist the current political regime and insists that donor agencies halt all assistance and support to the RPF regime. 1533

¹⁵²³ T. 22 March 2005 pp. 53, 58-59 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁴ T. 17 March 2005 p. 28 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁵ T. 22 March 2005 pp. 64-65 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁶ T. 22 March 2005 p. 42 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 282C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Kambanda's speech of 19 April 1994).

¹⁵²⁷ T. 22 March 2005 p. 45 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁸ T. 22 March 2005 pp. 42-45 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵²⁹ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 7-8 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵³⁰ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 12-13, 16-17 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵³¹ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 18-19 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵³² T. 29 March 2005 p. 38 (Shimamungu).

¹⁵³³ T. 29 March 2005 p. 40 (Shimamungu).

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

The Removal of Préfet Habyalimana

- 783. Filip Reyntjens, an expert in Rwandan history, government and human rights, testified that the overriding reason why *Préfet* Habyalimana was killed was because he was Tutsi. He stated that *commune* authorities in Ngoma *commune* and Butare town did not play a major role in the genocide. Other factors intervened and other players committed the genocide in Butare. 1534
- 784. *Préfet* Habyalimana, along with the *bourgmestres* of Butare town and Ngoma *commune*, managed to maintain the peace. The dismissal of *Préfet* Habyalimana under very humiliating circumstances was also a factor precipitating violence. The dismissal was particularly humiliating because it was announced to the populace when the Interim President, the Prime Minister and eight ministers were visiting town. *Préfet* Habyalimana was chased out unceremoniously and was later assassinated. Reyntjens testified that the Interim Government decided to dismiss *Préfet* Habyalimana on 16 April 1994 and that he was formally removed from office on 19 April 1994. Only after *Préfet* Habyalimana was removed, and the Interim President spoke at the 19 April 1994 meeting, did the genocide spread throughout Butare *préfecture*. 1538

Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

- 785. Reyntjens testified that on 19 April 1994, President Sindikubwabo, Prime Minister Kambanda and eight ministers came to Butare town; they held speeches which were also broadcast over radio, thus reaching all the inhabitants of Butare *préfecture*. The speakers demanded that the inhabitants should not stand by while the events were taking place in other parts of the country. Reyntjens further testified that the massacres started in Butare through "external influences." ¹⁵³⁹
- 786. Reyntjens confirmed that the replacement of the *préfet*, the speeches by Kambanda and Sindikubwabo, the introduction of the Presidential Guard and the introduction of the *Interahamwe* in Butare contributed to the spread of the genocide in Butare.¹⁵⁴⁰ The Government did not need to communicate with the population through the *bourgmestres*; it had means to communicate directly with the population via radio or speeches.¹⁵⁴¹

¹⁵³⁴ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 42-43 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵³⁵ T. 20 September 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵³⁶ T. 20 September 2007 p. 44 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵³⁷ T. 20 September 2007 p. 45; T. 25 September 2007 p. 64 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵³⁸ T. 25 September 2007 p. 62; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 24, 42 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵³⁹ T. 20 September 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁰ T. 2 October 2007 p. 15 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴¹ T. 21 November 2008 p. 43 (Reyntiens).

Kambanda's and Kanyabashi's Speeches

787. Reyntjens testified that he had analysed a transcript of a radio broadcast, containing a short excerpt of Kambanda's speech and the full text of Kanyabashi's speech. The two speeches were in a transcript from a Radio Rwanda broadcast, with a journalist from Radio Rwanda, Jean Baptiste Bamwanga, speaking between the Kambanda excerpt and Kanyabashi's speech. Speech. 1543

788. Reyntjens also analysed a document of 38 pages containing the larger part of Kambanda's 19 April 1994 speech from the beginning, but with the end cut off. He received the French translation from the Kanyabashi Defence, but never saw the original transcript or the audio tape. Reyntjens analysed the speeches on the basis of the French translation of the transcripts only. He did not specifically interview anybody in connection with these speeches. Speeches.

Prime Minister Kambanda's Speech

789. Reyntjens testified that Prime Minister Kambanda ended with a direct threat to the *bourgmestres*, by saying, "I am saying this to some *bourgmestres* about whom it has been said, they are going to have themselves trained among the *Inkotanyi*." Reyntjens stated that "[a]mong the *Inkotanyi*" obviously referred to the RPF. Reyntjens stated that Kanyabashi was almost arrested in October 1990 as a so-called accomplice of the RPF.

790. Kambanda's speech was a sign of "the spread of power" because the Prime Minister was addressing himself directly to *responsables de cellule*, the lowest echelons of the administrative system, instead of following the normal hierarchical way – through the *préfets*, *bourgmestres* and *conseillers*. The broadcast of the address to the population and to the political parties was a sign of the power spread from the traditional hierarchies to the political parties. ¹⁵⁴⁸

President Sindikubwabo's Speech

791. Reyntjens agreed that President Sindikubwabo's speech was an appeal for the spread of the genocide to Butare and an instruction from the highest authority to start the massacres in Butare. Reyntjens confirmed that the President directed himself to Nsabimana saying that the new *préfet* had just promised to do his utmost to discharge his duties and that Nsabimana

_

¹⁵⁴² T. 20 September 2007 pp. 51-52, 57, 59 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana).

¹⁵⁴³ Defence Exhibit 573B (Kanyabashi) (Extracts of speeches by Kambanda and Kanyabashi); T. 20 September 2007 pp. 58-59 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁴ T. 20 September 2007 pp. 51-52, 57, 59 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁵ Defence Exhibit 575 (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of Radio Rwanda Broadcast of Kambanda's Speech); T. 24 September 2007 pp. 7-8, 12 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁶ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 43-44 (Reyntjens).

Defence Exhibit 573B (Kanyabashi) (Extracts of speeches by Kambanda and Kanyabashi); T. 20 September 2007 p. 60 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁸ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 16-17 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁴⁹ T. 21 November 2007 p. 45 (Reyntjens).

asked for the Government's support. 1550 Reyntjens confirmed that in the context of talking about spreading the genocide to Butare, the duties of the préfet included the massacre of Tutsis. 1551

- 792. Reyntjens confirmed the President directly addressed the *préfet* saying, "[a]pproach the bourgmestres, organise meetings with them often, ask each of them what he needs ... If you decide he is lazy or carefree, tell him to apply himself to the work instead of leaving all the work to others." 1552 He agreed that "work" in this context of genocide in Rwanda between April and July 1994 meant to kill Tutsis. Reyntiens affirmed that the President's words, "[n]ow be vigilant ... protect your *préfecture* instead. It is everybody's duties", meant that everyone, including the bourgmestres, should start the massacres of the Tutsis. 1553
- Reyntjens testified that Sindikubwabo and Kambanda had sent a clear message to the 793. people of Butare, and more precisely, to the local authorities, telling them that, "[v]ou are either with us or against us." ¹⁵⁵⁴ He added that Sindikubwabo, who had legitimate political power and power over the army, required the people of Butare to follow the Government. Therefore no *commune* authority could have openly opposed the genocide, otherwise he would have been killed. Reyntjens stated that several bourgmestres tried to flee and they were killed. 1555
- 794. Reyntjens testified that President Sindikubwabo's speech with its open or veiled threats, and the speech of Prime Minister Kambanda, with its threats towards the *bourgmestres* and the dismissal of *Préfet* Habyarimana, sent a message to everybody in Butare that the Government expected Butare town and préfecture to get involved in the genocide. 1556 Reyntjens later stated that he found Kambanda's and Sindikubwabo's speeches "fundamentally different". President Sindikubwabo appealed to the population of Butare to spread the genocide to Butare préfecture; Kambanda's speech seemed to be legitimate and without any "double meaning". Reyntjens added that the two tasks that Kambanda assigned to the bourgmestres, to ensure the security of the population and to safeguard national sovereignty, appeared to be normal and legitimate within the context of the time. 1557

Kanyabashi's Speech

Revntiens also analysed Kanyabashi's speech of 19 April 1994. 1558 When Kanyabashi delivered his speech he "did not have any choice. He had to say something ... it was a speech

¹⁵⁵⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994); T. 21 November 2008 pp. 45-46 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁵¹ T. 21 November 2008 p. 45 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁵² T. 21 November 2008 p. 46 (Reyntjens).

Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994); T. 21 November 2008 p. 47 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁵⁴ Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 9.

Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 10; T. 2 October 2007 pp. 19-20 (Reyntjens). 1556 T. 20 September 2007 p. 67 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁵⁷ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 15-17 (Revntiens).

Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana); T. 20 September 2007 p. 61 (Reyntjens).

which was not prepared."¹⁵⁵⁹ Reyntjens added that Kanyabashi was the elder of the *bourgmestres* in Butare *préfecture*, and a refusal to speak would have been seen as a hostile act from the opposition, given what had been said by the President and the Prime Minister. ¹⁵⁶⁰

796. Reyntjens testified that Kanyabashi's speech expressed discomfort, referring to passages, such as "[i]t is difficult to find the appropriate words." Reyntjens stated that Kanyabashi remained "extremely vague" in his speech. Reyntjens referred to the following passage: "I wanted to say that we espouse the ideas of peace and unity", 1562 and stated that Kanyabashi did not specify his objectives. Reyntjens added that Kanyabashi subscribed to the two Governmental objectives mentioned in Kambanda's speech without involving in the plan to commit genocide, namely the security of the population and the safeguard of the national sovereignty. Reyntjens stated that he did not find any support for the genocide plan of the Interim Government in Kanyabashi's speech. 1563

797. Reyntjens testified that he did not see anything incriminating in Kanyabashi's speech, if he was simply responding to Kambanda's speech. Kanyabashi tried to focus on positive elements. Reyntjens emphasised that if Kanyabashi had subscribed to the statements of the President and accepted the fact that the genocide should have been spread to that *préfecture*, he would have told the President that he agreed with his speech. Kanyabashi did not say this.¹⁵⁶⁴

798. Reyntjens was asked about Kanyabashi's speech in which he stated, "[a]s we have shown, we would like to reiterate our support to your Government and we will continue to do our utmost for the Government to achieve its objectives." Reyntjens confirmed that Kanyabashi was addressing the Prime Minister and all of the other members of the Government and that he was affirming the support of all *bourgmestres* and of the people to the objectives of the Government. ¹⁵⁶⁵

799. Reyntjens disagreed with the suggestion that the population who listened to the speeches of 19 April 1994 got the impression that all the authorities at the national, *préfecture* and *commune* level who were attending the ceremony, were in support of the Government's plan of genocide. He stated that Kanyabashi only addressed the Prime Minister but not the President; and this could be because Kanyabashi was in disagreement with the President's speech. ¹⁵⁶⁶

800. Reyntjens stated that Kanyabashi held a pacification meeting on 19 April 1994, on the same day as Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony. He discouraged the genocide, that too after Sindikubwabo's speech, which must have required a certain amount of courage. 1567

¹⁵⁵⁹ T. 20 September 2007 p. 61 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶⁰ T. 20 September 2007 p. 62 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶¹ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana); T. 20 September 2007 pp. 61-62 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶² Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana); T. 20 September 2007 p. 63 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶³ T. 20 September 2007 p. 63 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶⁴ T. 24 September 2007 p. 19 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶⁵ T. 21 November 2008 p. 48 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶⁶ T. 21 November 2008 p. 49 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁶⁷ T. 28 September 2007 p. 22 (Reyntiens).

Order of the Speeches

- 801. Reyntjens voiced uncertainty regarding the order in which the speeches were made. 1568 From the details of the radio broadcast, he deduced that the speeches were probably delivered in the following order: first Kambanda, then Sindikubwabo and finally Kanyabashi. 1569
- 802. Reyntjens admitted that before coming to testify, he had not seen the importance of the order of the speeches. He had therefore accepted the research done by Des Forges. He conceded that he should and could have looked into this before coming to testify. He stated that he did not have the documents concerning the order of the speeches when he drafted his Report. 1570
- 803. Reyntjens testified that he did not consider Kanyabashi as a friend but as an acquaintance and that his relationship with Kanyabashi did not have any impact on his independent opinion as an expert. Reyntjens said that he had brief conversations with Kanyabashi in the street, he shared a drink with Kanyabashi four or five times, but they never visited each other's homes. 1572
- 804. Kanyabashi named Reyntjens as his lawyer before Investigating Judge Vandermeersch in Belgium, however, Reyntjens said that he did not talk to Kanyabashi after his arrest, or represent Kanyabashi as he was not a practicing lawyer at the time. 1573 In that statement, Reyntjens indicated that he had known Kanyabashi for a long time and that "he knew him as somebody who never practiced ethnic discrimination and who always did everything to maintain peace in his *commune*." 1574

Start of Killings in Butare Préfecture

- 805. Reyntjens testified that events in Butare *préfecture* did not follow what was happening in other regions of Rwanda between 6 April 1994 and 19 to 20 April 1994. There were massacres in some *préfectures* that commenced within 24 hours after 6 April 1994. In contrast, the only *préfecture* in Rwanda in which there were no massacres in the first days after the President's plane crash was Butare *préfecture*. 1576
- 806. Reyntjens testified that up until 19 or 20 April 1994, there was no genocide taking place in Butare town despite the fact that other *communes* close to Butare town were suffering from mass killings. The genocide only began in Butare town when people from outside arrived. The fact that violence was delayed in Butare town and Butare *préfecture* was no coincidence; it was due to internal factors within Butare, including the presence of *Préfet*

```
<sup>1568</sup> T. 20 September 2007 p. 45 (Reyntjens).
```

¹⁵⁶⁹ T. 20 September 2007 p. 61 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁰ T. 22 November 2008 pp. 12-13 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷¹ T. 20 September 2007 p. 11 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷² T. 20 September 2007 p. 10; T. 21 November 2008 pp. 8-9 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷³ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 11-12 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁴ T. 21 November 2007 p. 14 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁵ T. 19 September 2007 p. 5; T. 20 September 2007 p. 39 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁶ T. 20 September 2007 p. 38 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁷ T. 20 September 2007 p. 39; T. 2 October 2007 p. 15 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁷⁸ T. 20 September 2007 p. 39 (Reyntjens).

Habyalimana. 1579 Butare was able to resist the genocide because Préfet Habyalimana set a policy of preventing violence, which was carried down through the administrative chain to bourgmestres and conseillers, despite the national genocide policy. 1580 However, Reyntjens confirmed that massacres started on a small scale quite early after 6 April 1994 in Butare préfecture. 1581

807. He testified that even if President Sindikubwabo had not spoken at the swearing-in ceremony, Préfet Habyalimana had not been replaced, and the Presidential Guard and Interahamwe had not been introduced into Butare préfecture, the genocide would still likely have spread to Butare préfecture. The witness stated that even before the speech of 19 April 1994, the genocide was spreading like wildfire. Even if Sindikubwabo and Kambanda had not come to make their speeches, Reyntjens opined that it was very likely that Butare would not have been spared. He did, however, recognise that this was speculation as the speeches were made and the *préfet* was replaced, and it is difficult to verify what did not happen. 1582

In his Report, however, Reyntjens explained that there were some cases of violence 808. immediately after the death of President Habyarimana. He stated that the situation began to deteriorate during the course of the week of 11 April 1994 with the arrival of displaced people and "troublemakers" in Gikongoro. From 15 April 1994, more locals joined the killers who had arrived from elsewhere. The massacres of Tutsis in Simbi, Kansi, Kigembe, Nyakizu and Huye communes were telling of the extension of the genocide to Butare. The préfecture was inevitably sliding towards the situation that was widespread in the rest of Rwanda. 1583

Nsabimana

Nsabimana was a member of the PSD political party. 1584 On 16 April 1994, François Ndungutse and Etienne Bashimiki, both PSD members, visited Nsabimana at his home and proposed his appointment as *préfet* of Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁵⁸⁵ Nsabimana was surprised by the visit as he had never considered such a post, knew nothing about politics and viewed political positions as being onerous. Nsabimana refused, telling them to return to him only if they did not find anyone else. 1586 He also told Jean Kambanda that he would not be interested in the post of préfet. 1587 From Guichaoua's Report, Nsabimana learned that Ndungutse and Bashimiki had first approached Jean Bapfakurera, a well-respected PSD member, to become

 ¹⁵⁷⁹ T. 20 September 2007 p. 39; 21 November 2007 p. 24 (Reyntjens).
 ¹⁵⁸⁰ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 29-30 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁸¹ T. 2 October 2007 p. 12; T. 21 November 2007 p. 23 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁸² T. 2 October 2007 pp. 14-15 (Reyntjens).

¹⁵⁸³ Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 7.

¹⁵⁸⁴ T. 11 September 2006 p. 40 (Nsabimana).

¹⁵⁸⁵ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 67-68 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in* Butare, by Nsabimana) pp. 4-5; Defence Exhibit 494B (Nsabimana) (Facts about the Massacre in Butare, by Nsabimana) pp. 3-4.

¹⁵⁸⁶ T. 11 September 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).

¹⁵⁸⁷ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 40-41; Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. 5; Defence Exhibit 494B (Nsabimana) (Facts about the Massacre in Butare, by Nsabimana) p. 3.

préfet. ¹⁵⁸⁸ Nsabimana testified that he did not think it possible to refuse the position of *préfet* in mid-April 1994. ¹⁵⁸⁹

- 810. Nsabimana testified that on 17 April 1994, a trader who worked in Butare town informed him that he had been appointed *préfet*. Nsabimana told the trader that he had no comment and had not heard the news. Although he initially refused the appointment, he could do nothing about his situation. On 18 April 1994, Nsabimana listened to the radio and confirmed his appointment as *préfet*. He heard that the swearing-in ceremony would take place on 19 April 1994. He had no written document of appointment; everything was done over the radio. No one from the Ministry contacted Nsabimana about the appointment.
- 811. Nsabimana testified that he met Nyiramasuhuko at *Chez Christine* on 10 June 1994 and she denied involvement in the arrest of *Préfet* Habyalimana. ¹⁵⁹⁴

The Swearing-in Ceremony

- 812. Nsabimana testified that the ceremony took place in Ngoma in Butare town on 19 April 1994, on a Tuesday. Sabimana arrived for the swearing-in ceremony at the MRND Palace, also known then as the multi-purpose house in Butare town at precisely 10.00 a.m. Soon thereafter the Government officials arrived. The ceremony was attended by Government ministers, *bourgmestres* and other officials, including Callixte Kalimanzira a representative of the Ministry of Interior, who was the master of ceremonies, Prime Minister Jean Kambanda, Doctor Straton Nsabumukunzi the Minister of Culture, Minister Justin Mugenzi, the Interim President Sindikubwabo, Eliezer Niyitegeka Minister of Information, Colonel Muvunyi and *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi of Ngoma *commune*. Sabimana did not see Nyiramasuhuko when she arrived at the swearing-in ceremony, but concluded that she was also there.
- 813. Nsabimana testified that he did not expect to see the President at the ceremony and he was surprised by the manner in which he came. It looked as if the President had arrived by chance and Nsabimana was surprised. Sindikubwabo sat next to Nsabimana at the front. Nsabimana could not confirm whether Nteziryayo was present at the ceremony. Nsabimana explained that Sindikubwabo was not wearing military fatigues that day. Sindikubwabo was not wearing military fatigues that day.

```
<sup>1588</sup> T. 22 November 2006 pp. 35-36 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1589</sup> T. 22 November 2006 p. 37 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1590</sup> T. 11 September 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1591</sup> T. 11 September 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1592</sup> T. 11 September 2006 p. 74 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1593</sup> T. 12 September 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1594</sup> T. 11 October 2006 pp. 17-18 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1595</sup> T. 11 September 2006 p. 81 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 499A (Nteziryayo) (Calendar of 1994).
<sup>1596</sup> T. 11 September 2006 pp. 76, 78 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1597</sup> T. 11 September 2006 pp. 75, 78 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1598</sup> T. 11 September 2006 pp. 79-80 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1599</sup> T. 11 September 2006 p. 80 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1600</sup> T. 12 September 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1601</sup> T. 12 September 2006 p. 15 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1602</sup> T. 20 November 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).
<sup>1603</sup> T. 20 November 2006 p. 33 (Nsabimana).
```

Speeches

- 814. Nsabimana testified that Ministers Mugenzi and Niyitegeka spoke in harsh tones. 1604 Prime Minister Kambanda used a normal tone of speech and essentially provided an account of what happened, akin to a briefing of the situation. 1605 *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi also spoke and President Sindikubwabo made a lengthy speech in a very harsh tone. 1606
- 815. Nsabimana testified that Ministers Mugenzi and Niyitegeka spoke first. 1607 Prime Minister Kambanda then took the floor after he was introduced by Kalimanzira. 1608 President Sindikubwabo was not present when Kambanda began his speech. Sindikubwabo arrived while Kambanda was making his speech. Sindikubwabo then took the floor and spoke at length. At the conclusion of his speech, Sindikubwabo gave the floor to Nsabimana. After a brief address by Nsabimana, the President took the floor again to say that he had to leave to attend to other concerns and he left. After the President left, the ceremony continued and Kambanda resumed his speech that he had started before the President's arrival. After Kambanda's speech, Kanyabashi spoke and at the end, the *bourgmestres* put questions to the Prime Minister. Kanyabashi was the last to speak. The question and answer session involving the *bourgmestres* did not last long and although Nsabimana did not remember the specific questions asked, he was sure they concerned insecurity. The outgoing *préfet*, Habyalimana, was present in the room but never took the floor to speak.

President Sindikubwabo's Speech

816. Nsabimana testified that the President had the effect of a "tsunami" when he took the floor. Sindikubwabo spoke at length and used a very harsh tone. Nsabimana did not remember whether Sindikubwabo also used gestures and body language. Nsabimana said that nothing was written but the President had a small agenda with words written at random on a piece of paper and his speech was a political speech. The President thanked the former *préfet* for his work. When the President was speaking, it was noticeable that something was

¹⁶⁰⁴ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 9-10 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016626; Defence Exhibit 494B (Nsabimana) (*Facts about the Massacre in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. 3.

¹⁶⁰⁵ T. 12 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁰⁶ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 13-14 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁰⁷ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 9-10 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁰⁸ T. 12 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁰⁹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁰ T. 12 September 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹¹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 20 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹² T. 12 September 2006 p. 30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹³ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 20-21, 28-30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁴ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 28-30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁵ T. 12 September 2006 p. 31 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁶ T. 12 September 2006 p. 27 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁷ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 31-32 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁸ T. 12 September 2006 p. 17 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶¹⁹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

happening within him. Nsabimana queried whether it was anguish, sadness, fury or anger and stated that the situation was rather complicated. 1620

- 817. Nsabimana testified that Sindikubwabo spoke about his recent tour of Gikongoro *préfecture*, his visit to Maraba and Nyakizu in Butare and then gave his speech. Sindikubwabo described how he addressed the population in Nyakizu, that people had already been killed in Nyakizu, and that there was insecurity everywhere in Butare. Sabimana testified that the President used the word *ntidindeba*, which means "it does not concern me" or "I am not concerned." The President also used the word *barajenjetse* which Nsabimana loosely translated to mean "perhaps they are not serious". Nsabimana understood these words but not what the President meant by them in his speech. Nsabimana concluded that those who were present at the speech did not understand and were wondering about the President's complex speech. Sabimana concluded that those who were
- 818. Nsabimana heard the totality of Sindikubwabo's speech but its analysis was not his concern at the time. His only concern was that he was becoming *préfet*; he was seeing ministers; he had never been in the presence of the President of the Republic and was concerned where all this was leading to. ¹⁶²⁴ Nsabimana testified that Sindikubwabo made a very ambiguous political speech, ¹⁶²⁵ and that an expert was needed to translate and explain the words the President used. ¹⁶²⁶
- 819. Nsabimana testified that the majority of Sindikubwabo's speech was in a harsh tone so much so that the people attending were not saying a word; they were trying to listen and Nsabimana wondered whether they understood anything. Nsabimana did not personally perceive the speech as providing him guidelines or as inciting him to carry out any action whatsoever in his capacity as *préfet* of Butare. ¹⁶²⁷
- 820. Nsabimana explained that he called Sindikubwabo's speech inflammatory while he was in exile around September 1994. Nsabimana said that as time went by he understood more and more that it was indeed inflammatory and that the massacres took place in Butare because of this speech. 1628
- 821. On the President's specific message to Nsabimana as the new *préfet* in paragraph 9 of Defence Exhibit 279, Nsabimana explained that he did not vote for the President. He had no particular interest in what the President was saying to him and that Sindikubwabo's words were only binding on Sindikubwabo himself. He stated that the President might have repeated his words 10,000 times but it did not matter to Nsabimana. ¹⁶²⁹ The President never helped him

¹⁶²⁰ T. 12 September 2006 p. 15 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²¹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 19 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²² T. 12 September 2006 pp. 15-16 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²³ T. 12 September 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁴ T. 12 September 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁵ T. 20 November 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁶ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 15-16 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁷ T. 12 September 2006 p. 20 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁸ T. 21 November 2006 p. 36 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶²⁹ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 77-78 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 279 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Comparative Table of Translations of Speeches of President Théodore Sindikubwabo, on 19 April 1994 in Butare).

solve the *préfecture*'s problems. Nsabimana testified that he asked no one about the mission assigned to him in the President's speech because it was not necessary. He said that what he expected to hear was not what he heard. Nsabimana said he understood Kinyarwanda but could not understand when people speak in parables. ¹⁶³⁰

- 822. The Prosecution confronted Nsabimana with Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, dated 1 October 1994) in which he said: "The President made a speech which was very bad. This speech was only telling people to kill others. People didn't know why he was giving this speech." Nsabimana agreed that Prosecution Exhibit 114A contained a faithful reflection of what he had said during an interview but denied that he was aware of a plan to eliminate Tutsis before he accepted to become *préfet* of Butare in April 1994. Nsabimana explained that the interview recorded in Prosecution Exhibit 114A was not given to Expert Witness Des Forges and that the document did not specify with whom the interview was conducted. Nsabimana explained that he spoke to Des Forges on the telephone on two occasions in March and April 1995 or 1996, but that these two interviews were not admitted in evidence. Nsabimana did not know how Des Forges came by Prosecution Exhibit 114A. Sabimana thought that he gave this information in a video interview to two individuals from the BBC. Nsabimana did not deny the content of the document.
- 823. Annex IX to Defence Exhibit 492B (Letter from Nsabimana to the Prosecutor of the ICTR, dated 20 January 1997) was admitted into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996). Nsabimana recognised that document as being his own. On the first page of Prosecution Exhibit 185, Nsabimana described the speeches of Sindikubwabo, Niyitegeka and Mugenzi as "an incitement to hatred, ... inflammatory."

Other Speeches

- 824. Nsabimana testified that he spoke at his swearing-in ceremony, thanking the authorities for his appointment, and invited *bourgmestres* for a council meeting the following day on 20 April 1994 so that they could inform him what was happening in their *communes*. He delivered one or two sentences; his speech was so insignificant and it was not broadcast on the radio. 1638
- 825. Nsabimana testified that Minister Mugenzi spoke about the war in Kigali, including roadblocks. People could interpret his speech in various ways. His impression was that Mugenzi was speaking in the context of war. Mugenzi spoke in a harsh tone, in very simple terms and spoke fluently; Mugenzi said nothing about Butare and what he said was not

¹⁶³⁰ T. 22 November 2006 p. 78 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³¹ Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) p. K0120068.

¹⁶³² T. 22 November 2006 pp. 42-43 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³³ T. 22 November 2006 p. 43 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³⁴ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 44-45 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³⁵ T. 27 November 2006 pp. 64-66 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996).

¹⁶³⁷ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 22-23 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶³⁸ T. 12 September 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

important to Nsabimana. ¹⁶³⁹ There was nothing new in Mugenzi's speech as Nsabimana had heard all that he said over the radio. ¹⁶⁴⁰

- 826. Nsabimana testified that Minister Niyitegeka spoke about massacres on the hills and mountains in Kibuye. Niyitegeka spoke in a rather harsh tone and said nothing about Butare. It was not of interest to Nsabimana. Niyitegeka's speech had a negative effect in the minds of the people of Butare and it was not needed in Butare. Nsabimana explained that people in Butare were already or nearly at the point of explosion. People who heard this kind of speech, particularly those who were involved in the massacres which started on 20 or 21 April 1994, used this speech to resume the killings. That was the negative aspect of the speech according to Nsabimana. Nsabimana.
- 827. Nsabimana did not perceive anything particular in Kambanda's speech. It was more of an informative statement giving a briefing or an account of what happened in Kigali and how the attacks were being launched. Kambanda had a normal tone, different from Niyitegeka and Mugenzi. Kanyabashi, the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* also took the floor. Kanyabashi did not speak for long; he thanked Kambanda who was present since the President had left already, and thanked the people. 1646

The Start of Killings in Butare Préfecture

- 828. Nsabimana testified that he heard about killings in Maraba *commune* prior to his installation as *préfet*. Around 22 April 1994, he decided to visit the areas where massacres had occurred with Colonel Muvunyi. Muvunyi and Nsabimana travelled to Simbi parish in Maraba *commune*. Nsabimana testified that on 16 April 1994, there was a massive influx of refugees from Gikongoro to Maraba. There was a massacre there on about 17 April 1994. Muvunyi knew one of the nuns who managed the parish school and asked her who had committed the killings. She stated that it was people from Kinyamakara *commune*, in Gikongoro *préfecture*. Inside the church, they saw that the church had been washed with water, window panes were broken and there were traces of blood on the altar. Outside of the church there was a small tomb. They attempted to speak to the *bourgmestre* of Maraba *commune* but were unable to locate him.
- 829. Nsabimana and Muvunyi travelled to Gishamvu *commune* in Nyumba parish. Nyumba church was locked and they were unable to enter. Opposite the church, they observed that a

```
<sup>1639</sup> T. 12 September 2006 pp. 9-10 (Nsabimana).
```

¹⁶⁴⁰ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 66-68 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴¹ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 10-11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴² T. 22 November 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴³ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 70-71 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁴ T. 12 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁵ T. 12 September 2006 p. 28 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁶ T. 12 September 2006 p. 31 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁷ T. 14 September 2006 p. 50 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁸ T. 14 September 2006 p. 66 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁴⁹ T. 14 September 2006 p. 70 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁰ T. 14 September 2006 p. 50 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵¹ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 70, 72 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵² T. 14 September 2006 pp. 70-71 (Nsabimana).

number of bodies had been buried. They were unable to speak to anyone during this visit because no one would approach them. At Gishamvu, *Sous-préfet* Simbarikure told them that the dead bodies at the parish were people from Runyinya *commune* and Gishamvu itself. The *sous-préfet* stated that the killers were two policemen and soldiers from Gishamvu *commune*. ¹⁶⁵³

- 830. Nsabimana and Muvunyi then travelled to Nyakizu *commune*.¹⁶⁵⁴ They did not meet the *bourgmestre* and continued to Cyahinda parish. The entrance door and the walls of the church were cracked as a result of an explosion. Inside the church, there were bricks scattered all over and a smell of rot or stench.¹⁶⁵⁵ The schools next door to the church were destroyed and there were sheep's heads and skins in the courtyard.¹⁶⁵⁶ Nsabimana concluded that those who were killed were attacked and could not defend themselves properly. He stated that it had occurred on 15 April 1994.¹⁶⁵⁷
- 831. *Sous-préfet* Hakizimungu told Nsabimana that people fought among themselves and there were killings in Nyakizu *commune*. Colonel Muvunyi told him that two *gendarmes* were killed at the Cyahinda church by refugees at the Cyahinda parish. The massacres were a result of the death of those two *gendarmes*. Nsabimana concluded that the explosion was caused by a shot from soldiers, but that the explosion was not the only action carried out; civilians were involved as well. He clarified that the perpetrators of the Cyahinda massacres were *Interahamwe* and *gendarmes*.

Nyiramasuhuko

The Removal of Préfet Habyalimana

832. Nyiramasuhuko testified that *Préfet* Habyalimana was a personal friend of hers and she had nothing critical to say about his performance as *préfet*. She confirmed that *Préfet* Habyalimana was not present at the 11 April 1994 meeting of the country's *préfets* in Kigali. The Government was not provided any reason for his absence, and Habyalimana did

¹⁶⁵³ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 72-73 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁴ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 74-75 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁵ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 75-76 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁶ T. 14 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana). The Chamber notes that while the English transcript makes no mention of sheep, but only of skin, and says that it was in the church, the French transcript states that it was in the courtyard: "And in the church, there was a very strong stench and there was a mixture. That is what I saw – all sorts of people ... I had seen animal skins, not skins, but rather pieces of – pieces of skin."); compare T. 14 September 2006 pp. 84-85 (Nsabimana) (French) ("Et j'ai vu dans la cour meme les tétes de moutons, des peaux...c'était un mélange. Voila ce que jái vu ... j'avais vu des peaux dánimaux, j'ai vu des peaux – des peaux, ce n'est pas une peau comme ça, c'est des déchirures, des parties de peaux de moutons."

¹⁶⁵⁷ T. 14 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁸ T. 14 September 2006 p. 78 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁵⁹ T. 14 September 2006 p. 78; T. 18 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁶⁰ T. 18 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁶¹ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 78-79 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁶² T. 18 September 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁶⁶³ T. 24 November 2005 p. 23 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁶⁴ T. 16 November 2005 p. 22 (Nyiramasuhuko).

not send anyone to replace him. 1665 The absent *préfets*, including *Préfet* Habyalimana, were not criticised for failing to attend the meeting. 1666

- Nyiramasuhuko testified that she took notes in her diary regarding the 16 to 17 April 1994 Cabinet meeting. ¹⁶⁶⁷ The diary listed the names of the newly appointed *préfets* and began "Butare PSD: Sylvain Nsabimana." She stated that the *préfet* of Butare was dismissed at that meeting and another *préfet* was appointed. ¹⁶⁶⁹ On cross-examination, Nyiramasuhuko stated she was unsure whether she took notes at this meeting. 1670
- Nyiramasuhuko explained the manner in which *préfets* were appointed. She stated that 834. during the time of multi-party politics, each political party would submit a candidate for a préfet to be short-listed. This policy was not followed on 17 April 1994. On that date, each of the five political parties that were part of the Interim Government was required to reach a consensus on a single candidate. 1671 The Interim Government was then to submit the candidate to the Minister of the Interior. 1672 Because the Minister of the Interior was in Tanzania, the Prime Minister submitted the name of the candidate to the Council of Ministers. 1673 The Interim Government was then obliged to endorse that choice; it did not turn down any candidate once the person was selected by the parties. 1674 Another guiding principle for choosing préfets was that the préfet should be native to the area over which he had iurisdiction. 1675
- 835. As to the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana, Nyiramasuhuko stated that the PL and the PSD political parties came to an agreement by which the PSD would obtain the office of préfet in Butare and the PL would obtain the office of *préfet* for Gisenyi. 1676 It was necessary for a préfet to be appointed from a party with many supporters, because then he would be better understood by the population. 1677 The PSD argued that it had many members in Butare and that a PSD préfet would help to restore peace among the population. 1678 The PSD presented their candidate for Butare and the Interim Government accepted their choice. 1679

¹⁶⁶⁵ T. 27 September 2005 p. 30; T. 16 November 2005 p. 62 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁶⁶ T. 27 September 2005 p. 30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁶⁷ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 43-44 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 20.

¹⁶⁶⁹ T. 28 September 2005 p. 44; T. 16 November 2005 pp. 60, 64 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 357C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Communiqué issued by the Rwandan Government, 17 April 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994).

T. 16 November 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷¹ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 45, 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷² T. 28 September 2005 p. 47 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷³ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 47-48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁴ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 45, 47 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁵ T. 28 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁶ T. 28 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁷ T. 16 November 2005 p. 62 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁸ T. 28 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁷⁹ T. 28 September 2005 p. 46 (Nyiramasuhuko). The Chamber notes that the English transcript says the Interim Government "endorsed" the choice, whereas the French transcript states the Interim Government accepted the PSD choice): T. 28 September 2005 p. 56 (Nsabimana) (French).

Nyiramasuhuko did not refuse the appointment because she wanted peace restored as the PSD promised to do. 1680

- 836. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the ministers adhered to the demands of the political parties in removing *Préfet* Habyalimana because the parties had control over the population. The ministers needed the help of the parties in restoring security in the country. The population listened to *Préfet* Habyalimana before 7 April 1994, but the political landscape changed after the death of the President. Therefore, the political parties suggested that he be replaced by a member of a party with more militants. ¹⁶⁸¹
- 837. Nyiramasuhuko denied that she personally insisted that *Préfet* Habyalimana be replaced. The political parties made decisions on *préfet* appointments. She stated that she was not a member of the political bureau and therefore could not intervene on *Préfet* Habyalimana's behalf. She denied that she wanted or sought to kill *Préfet* Habyalimana. She stated: "I am not a killer, but you know, how could I suddenly become a killer at my age, whereas I have never done that, right from my birth. I can't even kill a chicken. So, I would say to you, all these people [Guichaoua and Des Forges] told lies about me." 1683
- 838. Nyiramasuhuko testified that around the end of May, or during June 1994 she heard Habyalimana was imprisoned in Butare due to security concerns. 1684

The Swearing-in Ceremony

- 839. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the entry in her diary dated 10 February 1994 referred to the swearing-in ceremony of the new *préfet* of Butare. The notes state: "Meeting to introduce the new *préfet*, presence of the President and the Prime Minister." Apart from herself, the Prime Minister and the President, other members of the Government were present, as well as ministers of all political parties. Nyiramasuhuko did not know, however, if there was a PDC minister. The reason for the meeting was to show support to a new official who was mandated to restore peace in Butare *préfecture*. Nyiramasuhuko stated that the entry for 19 April 1994 in her diary did not correspond to the events of that day, but to what *Préfet* Zilimwabagabo said on 3 May 1994 during the pacification operations in Gisenyi. 1686
- 840. Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that Nsabimana took office on 19 April 1994 as *préfet* of Butare. The appointment was discussed at a meeting of the Council of Ministers. Nyiramasuhuko acknowledged that the Interim Government under Prime Minister Kambanda had issued a *communiqué* to the public on 17 April 1994. The *communiqué* stated:

¹⁶⁸⁰ T. 28 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸¹ T. 24 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸² T. 28 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸³ T. 28 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸⁴ T. 28 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸⁵ T. 28 September 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸⁶ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 3-4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸⁷ T. 26 October 2005 p. 63; T. 16 November 2005 pp. 66-67 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁸⁸ T. 28 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 357C (Nyiramasuhuko) (*Communiqué* issued by the Rwandan Government, 17 April 1994).

The Cabinet also decided to dismiss the *préfets* of Butare and Kibungo. Silvain Nsabimana has become the new *préfet* of Butare and Anaclet Rudakubana is the new *préfet* of Kibungo. The Cabinet congratulated the *préfets* of Kigali-Ville, Gitarama, Gikongoro, Cyangugu, and Kibuye on the work they have done. It also confirmed that those *préfets* will continue to head those *préfectures*. ¹⁶⁸⁹

- 841. Another portion of the *communiqué* stated: "[A]fter hearing the ideas and proposals from the representatives of the political parties in the Government, the Cabinet appointed the *préfets* of those *préfectures* as follows...". This confirmed that the political parties had come together and asked the Government to follow their demands in terms of these appointments. As it was put together by the political parties, the Government recognised that it had to follow these requests. It could not refuse what was in the interest of the Rwandan people. 1691
- 842. Nyiramasuhuko was informed on 18 April 1994 while she was in Murambi, that Nsabimana would be officially installed as *préfet* of Butare and went to the ceremony with the other ministers, citing Straton Nsabumukunzi, the Prime Minister, the President, Mugenzi, Ntamabyariro, Eliezer and Mugiraneza. Callixte Kalimanzira was also present and possibly Ntagerura as well. Nyiramasuhuko believed Callixte Kalimanzira attended the ceremony because he was *directeur de cabinet* and a native of Butare. He did not go to other ceremonies where *préfets* were installed, like the one at Gisenyi on 21 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko did not know how President Sindikubwabo travelled to Butare, but stated that he had been in Gikongoro on the preceding day. 1692
- 843. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she arrived at the venue for the ceremonies around 10.00 a.m. The President was not yet present. She believed that he arrived when she was already inside the hall and left while she was still there. When he walked in, he was with his bodyguard. Nyiramasuhuko believed that there must have been guards outside. Nyiramasuhuko stressed that it was public knowledge that the President was accompanied by Presidential Guards. According to Nyiramasuhuko, the President explained in his speech why he was present for the ceremony. Prime Minister Kambanda stated in his speech that he was interested in events in his *préfecture* and was obliged to travel to Butare because he was in charge of the Ministry of the Interior. Nyiramasuhuko left at the end of the meeting, at around 2.00 p.m. 1694
- 844. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she did not speak at the meeting. The outgoing *préfet*, Jean-Baptiste Habyalimana, was present. Habyalimana was not humiliated, but was congratulated by the President who said, "man is not all-powerful" and told him that he had done what he was able to do well. Nyiramasuhuko did not see Habyalimana ordered to leave

¹⁶⁸⁹ Defence Exhibit 357C (Nyiramasuhuko) (*Communiqué* issued by the Rwandan Government, 17 April 1994).

¹⁶⁹⁰ Defence Exhibit 357C (Nyiramasuhuko) (*Communiqué* issued by the Rwandan Government, 17 April 1994).

¹⁶⁹¹ T. 16 November 2005 p. 66 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹² T. 26 October 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹³ T. 26 October 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹⁴ T. 28 September 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹⁵ T. 28 September 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko).

the hall. 1696 She thought that she did not see Nteziryayo in the hall during the installation ceremony. 1697

Nyiramasuhuko testified that the swearing-in ceremony of the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, took place at the multi-purpose hall and it was not open to the public. Only those who were invited were present. 1698 Ndayambaje did not attend the ceremony, as students were not allowed to do so at that time. 1699

President Sindikubwabo's Speech

Nyiramasuhuko stated that the message the Government sought to convey to the leaders of Butare préfecture was to ensure the security and safety of their neighbours. The President said that the natives of Butare were known to be individualistic, but this habit had to be dropped in this difficult situation. They had to be aware that they too were concerned by the security of their peers, as well as the problems of the country. The mission assigned to the new préfet was to restore peace in Butare préfecture. The new préfet also spoke and said that he would do his utmost to accomplish this mission. Asked about the atmosphere at the ceremony, she said that there could not be any relaxed atmosphere during war time and that it was visible that there was an atmosphere of war. However, there was a will to put an end to that situation and restore peace and security. 1701

Nyiramasuhuko testified that she heard parts of the President's 19 April 1994 speech on the radio. Radio Rwanda broadcast excerpts on 19 and 20 April 1994, and the full speech was broadcast on 21 April 1994. She heard the full speech on 21 April 1994 on Radio Rwanda. 1703 Nyiramasuhuko testified that it was not possible that President Sindikubwabo told the Butare administrators to encourage and continue killings, because the President was an old and peace-loving man. Further, it was not possible to talk about killings in Butare along ethnic lines. The President never encouraged, incited, ordered or otherwise called on the population to exterminate Tutsis in his speeches. 1704

Start of Killings in Butare Préfecture

848. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she first learned of large-scale massacres occurring in Butare préfecture during the swearing-in ceremony of the préfet in Maraba commune on 19 April 1994. The denied involvement in the Maraba *commune* massacre, stating: (1) she was not present at the massacre site; (2) she did not know who had committed the massacres because she did not know the daily goings-on in Butare; (3) she was not responsible, she did not have a duty to know and did not have any authority in Butare préfecture to be able to do

```
<sup>1696</sup> T. 28 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).
```

¹⁶⁹⁷ T. 10 October 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹⁸ T. 9 November 2005 p. 20 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁶⁹⁹ T. 10 November 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁰ T. 28 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰¹ T. 10 October 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰² T. 28 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰³ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 64-65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁴ T. 28 September 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁵ T. 24 November 2005 pp. 27-28; T. 24 November 2005 pp. 35-36 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (for spelling of Cyahinda and Maraba).

anything whatsoever and nobody asked for her help; and (4) she learned about the massacre when she could no longer do anything. ¹⁷⁰⁶ She noted that she learned of the killing of gendarmes at Cyahinda parish on 15 April 1994. However this was not a large-scale massacre. 1707

849. Nyiramasuhuko said that when she learned of the killings she asked to be informed and was told that the perpetrators of the crimes would be punished. She believed that the local authorities and the judiciary would arrest and punish the arrested criminals. 1708

Ndayambaje

Ndayambaje testified that on 18 April 1994, he was travelling from his home in Butare town to Muganza commune and heard a gunshot as he was leaving Butare town. 1709 On that same trip, he also noticed some houses were burning to the west of Butare town in the vicinity of Huye and Runyinya *communes*. ¹⁷¹⁰ Ndayambaje stated that he was not aware of any deaths in Mugombwa secteur, Muganza commune, on 20 April 1994. 1711

3.5.4 Deliberations

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution relies, inter alia, on the testimony of Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua in support of allegations addressed in this section. As the Chamber noted in its Oral Decision of 23 June 2004 in relation to the testimony of Expert Witness Guichaoua, expert witnesses give opinion evidence, some of which may be based on hearsav evidence. This is subject to evaluation and consideration by the Chamber in its deliberations. 1712 The Chamber reiterates that it is not bound by an expert witness' opinion, but must weigh the evidentiary value of the relevant portion of an expert's report and testimony. 1713

3.5.4.1 Background to the Removal of Préfet Habyalimana and Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

The Prosecution asserts that the genocide in Butare did not commence immediately following the death of the President on 6 April 1994, but alleges that it took two weeks before the large-scale massacres of Tutsis began. Groups of people from different walks of life acting in concert organised, planned, and carried out the massacres. It alleges the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony are key to understanding why and how the genocide commenced in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁷¹⁴

¹⁷⁰⁶ T. 24 November 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁷ T. 24 November 2005 pp. 27-28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁸ T. 24 November 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁰⁹ T. 19 November 2008 pp. 37-39 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁷¹⁰ T. 19 November 2008 p. 39 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁷¹¹ T. 19 November 2008 p. 40 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁷¹² T. 23 June 2004 p. 23 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷¹³ Kunarac et al., Decision on Prosecution's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and Limitation of Testimony (TC), 3 July 2000, para. 4; T. 29 June 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua). ¹⁷¹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 47, para. 67.

- The Chamber notes the theory advanced by the Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nsabimana Defences that massacres already occurred in Nyakizu and Maraba before 19 April 1994. This, however, does not contradict the Prosecution theory that the genocide in Butare did not commence immediately following the death of the President on 6 April 1994 and that the large-scale massacres of Tutsis began two weeks later. The determination as to whether the swearing-in ceremony of 19 April 1994 had an impact on the massacres must be evaluated in light of the scale of the massacres in Butare prior to and after the swearing-in ceremony.
- Prosecution Witness TQ, Prosecution Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua, Defence Witness D-1-4-O, Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko, testified consistently that killings occurred prior to 17 April 1994, within Butare's western communes. 1715 Furthermore, the joint communiqué issued by the Butare and Gikongoro préfets on 16 April 1994, confirmed that ethnic violence had spread to Butare's western communes across the border with Gikongoro.¹⁷¹⁶
- The Chamber attributes significant weight to the communiqué emanating from the 16 855. April 1994 meeting of the Butare and Gikongoro préfets. 1717 Préfets Habyalimana and Bucyibaruta had nothing to gain by falsely asserting that ethnic violence was spilling into Butare's western communes on 16 April 1994. In this connection, the Chamber finds Prosecution Witness TQ to be credible and reliable regarding his testimony that people were already being killed on 16 April 1994. Truthermore, the Chamber considers that Witness D-1-4-O was working in a health clinic, and learned of the particular details of the refugees from the forms they filled out. Although his evidence is largely hearsay, Witness D-1-4-0's testimony that refugees were already fleeing from Gikongoro towards Ngoma commune between 13 and 18 April¹⁷¹⁹ lends credence to the testimonies of Witness TQ, Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko.
- 856. Nsabimana, Des Forges and Guichaoua also testified that there was an attack at Cyahinda church on around 15 April 1994. The Chamber treats Nsabimana's testimony with appropriate caution; however this evidence was corroborated by Des Forges and Guichaoua. Furthermore, Nyiramasuhuko testified that she heard about the killing of *gendarmes* at Cyahinda parish, Nyakizu *commune* that occurred on 15 April 1994, but stated that this was not a large-scale massacre. ¹⁷²¹ However, the three other aforementioned witnesses who testified as to this event were consistent as to this attack being of a larger-scale. The

¹⁷¹⁵ T. 8 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness TQ); T. 5 July 2004 p. 39 (Des Forges); T. 9 July 2004 pp. 8-9 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 16, 18; Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 146; T. 6 May 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O); T. 7 May 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O); T. 14 September 2006 pp. 75-76 (Nsabimana); T. 24 November 2005 pp. 27-28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷¹⁶ Defence Exhibit 240C (Kanyabashi) (Communiqué sanctioning the Security Meeting of the Authorities of Butare and Gikongoro, 16 April 1994).

¹⁷¹⁷ Defence Exhibit 240C (Kanyabashi) (*Communiqué* sanctioning the Security Meeting of the Authorities of Butare and Gikongoro, 16 April 1994).

¹⁷¹⁸ T. 8 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁷¹⁹ T. 7 May 2008 p. 14 (Witness D-1-4-0).

¹⁷²⁰ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 75-76 (Nsabimana); T. 9 July 2004 pp. 8-9 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 16; Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 146. ¹⁷²¹ T. 24 November 2005 pp. 27-28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Chamber concludes that homes were burnt and Tutsis were killed in Butare's western communes prior to 17 April 1994.

3.5.4.2 The Removal of Préfet Habyalimana

- Expert Witnesses Guichaoua, Des Forges and Reyntjens agreed that Préfet Habvalimana had established a strong control of the administrative hierarchy within Butare préfecture. 1722 The Chamber finds these conclusions to be reliable because the assessment of Préfet Habyalimana's historical and political role falls squarely within the experts' area of expertise and the experts also agree on this point. Even Nyiramasuhuko agreed that Habyalimana had the confidence of the population prior to 7 April 1994. Guichaoua testified that from 6 April 1994, Habyalimana used the préfecture Security Council to maintain control within the *préfecture*. 1724 Although Guichaoua acknowledged that some soldiers in Butare were showing signs of impatience to start killing, he testified that the administrative hierarchy under *Préfet* Habyalimana largely obeyed his directives to maintain order. 1725
- Guichaoua testified that Callixte Kalimanzira drafted a report that was read out by Nyiramasuhuko at the 16 April 1994 meeting of *préfets* and the Interim Government, in which it was alleged that *Préfet* Habyalimana was colluding with the *Inkotanyi* and that he attempted to attack the *bourgmestre* of Nyakizu *commune*. 1726 Guichaoua had not seen the alleged Kalimanzira report, and based his opinion on references to the alleged report in other documents. 1727 This report was not tendered into evidence and this assertion is not corroborated either. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that the Prosecution has proven the existence of the alleged Kalimanzira report or its contents. 1728
- The evidence established that Habyalimana's removal and Nsabimana's appointment 859. were Government decisions. Nyiramasuhuko claims that the PSD and PL political parties made the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana and to appoint Nsabimana in his place. 1729 She admits that names of *préfet* candidates were brought to the Ministry of the Interior. In view of the fact that he was not present, as he was in Tanzania at the time, the Prime Minister, acting on behalf of the Minister of the Interior, submitted the names to the Council of Ministers for approval. 1730
- Nyiramasuhuko claims that she had no choice but to consent to the removal of Préfet Habyalimana. 1731 She claims she and the rest of the Interim Government were figureheads with

¹⁷²² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 28, 34 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 14; T. 28 June 2004 pp. 6-7, 12, 77 (Guichaoua); T. 13 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 119, 122; T. 20 September 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens); T. 21 November 2007 p. 30 (Reyntjens).

1723 T. 24 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 8 June 2004 pp. 28, 34 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 14; T. 13 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 122.

¹⁷²⁵ T. 13 October 2004 pp. 10-11 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷²⁶ T. 7 October 2004 pp. 19, 21 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷²⁷ T. 7 October 2004 pp. 19, 26 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷²⁸ T. 7 October 2004 p. 26 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷²⁹ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 45, 47-48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷³⁰ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 47-48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷³¹ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 45, 47 (Nyiramasuhuko).

no real power to make the important decision of appointing *préfets*. ¹⁷³² Guichaoua contradicted this testimony. Guichaoua testified that Interim President Sindikubwabo proposed to the PL Chairman Justin Mugenzi the exchange of the *préfet* post in Butare for that of the *préfet* post of Gisenyi *préfecture*. ¹⁷³³ Nyiramasuhuko also testified that the Interim Government was obliged to accept the proposal of the PSD to appoint Nsabimana in order to gain the support of the PSD militants in Butare. ¹⁷³⁴ Guichaoua opined that the PSD had split into two factions and, when the genocide began, the power wing of the PSD had control of the party. This group supported the policies of the MRND after the assassination of the Secretary General of the PSD, Félicien Gatabazi. ¹⁷³⁵ The MRND could not appoint a member of its own party to be *préfet* because it was considered a party of northerners and disliked by the southerners in Butare. ¹⁷³⁶

861. Nyiramasuhuko's testimony was not credible with regard to the decision to remove Habyalimana. Guichaoua testified, and Nyiramasuhuko's diary confirmed, that the Interim Government met at least 19 times between 6 April 1994 and July 1994 and that Nyiramasuhuko attended each of these meetings. Many of these meetings extended over the course of two days. Further, the *préfets* and *bourgmestres* of the country continued to report to the Interim Government throughout this period. Guichaoua testified that the Interim Government elevated and demoted military leaders at these meetings. The Defence did not refute this claim. Therefore, the Chamber considers that the Interim Government had the power to make important decisions about the running of the Government after the Presidential plane crash. Even if the political parties made the initial proposal to remove Habyalimana, the ministers made the final decision to remove him and replace him with Nsabimana at the 16-17 April 1994 meeting.

862. Nyiramasuhuko admits that she took part in the 16 to 17 April 1994 Cabinet meeting and that the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana was taken at that meeting. This decision was recorded, albeit briefly, in her diary which noted the name of the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, and his political party next to Butare. The testimony of Guichaoua corroborated this account. The Chamber therefore finds that Nyiramasuhuko participated in the Cabinet meeting in which the Interim Government decided to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana from office on 16-17 April 1994.

863. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she was unaware of large-scale killings in Butare *préfecture* until 19 April 1994. Yet she stated the purpose of removing Habyalimana, on

```
<sup>1732</sup> T. 28 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).
```

¹⁷³³ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 124.

¹⁷³⁴ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 45-48 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 16 November 2005 pp. 62, 66, 68 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷³⁵ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷³⁶ T. 28 June 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷³⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 24.

¹⁷³⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 24.

¹⁷³⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 24-96.

¹⁷⁴⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 29-30.

¹⁷⁴¹ T. 27 September 2005 p. 30; T. 28 September 2005 pp. 43-44; T. 16 November 2005 p. 22 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁴² Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 20.

¹⁷⁴³ T. 7 October 2004 pp. 19, 21 (Guichaoua).

¹⁷⁴⁴ T. 24 November 2005 pp. 27-28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

16-17 April 1994 was to restore peace. In this regard, she stated: (1) the political parties in Butare decided that a new *préfet* was necessary in order to restore the peace; (2) the Interim Government adhered to the political parties' request to replace *Préfet* Habyalimana because they needed the parties' help to restore calm in the country; and (3) the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, was given a mandate to restore peace. 1745 It is incongruous that she would seek to restore peace in Butare when she was unaware of large-scale killings within that préfecture. Despite the chaos and prevalence of massacres throughout Rwanda between 6 April 1994 and 17 April 1994, Butare was the only *préfecture* in Rwanda that resisted large-scale killings. Yet she asserts that the people of Butare had lost faith in Préfet Habyalimana and the Interim Government chose to remove him to restore peace. The Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko's testimony to be credible on this point.

864. Nyiramasuhuko denied responsibility for the Maraba *commune* massacre citing several logically inconsistent rationales. She stated that she did not have any responsibility for Butare préfecture and therefore could not have done anything. Yet, she lamented that she learned of the massacre after it occurred when it was too late for her to do anything. 1747 This latter claim suggests Nyiramasuhuko did have power in Butare and could have taken action to prevent the massacre if she knew about it sooner. Nonetheless, there was no other evidence led to support this possibility. The Trial Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko, as a member of the Interim Government, participated in the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana from office for reasons other than maintaining peace.

3.5.4.3 Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

Prosecution and Defence evidence establishes that President Sindikubwabo, Prime Minister Kambanda, Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi and a number of ministers from the Interim Government attended the swearing-in ceremony. 1748 The speakers at the ceremony included, inter alia, Sindikubwabo, Kambanda, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana. 1749 Most of the speeches at the ceremony were broadcast on Radio Rwanda. 1750 Nyiramasuhuko testified that she heard parts of the President's 19 April speech on the radio. Radio Rwanda broadcast excerpts on 19 and 20 April 1994, and the full speech was broadcast on 21 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko heard the full speech on 21 April 1994 on Radio Rwanda. Shimamungu stated that although the speech was delivered to administrative authorities, the fact that it was broadcast over the radio

¹⁷⁴⁵ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 48, 63; T. 24 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁴⁶ T. 24 November 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁴⁷ T. 24 November 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁷⁴⁸ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 108-110 (ICS) (Witness QJ); T. 16 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 14 October 2004 p. 4 (Guichaoua); T. 20 September 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens); T. 26 October 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 11 September 2006 pp. 79-80 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert

¹⁷⁴⁹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 19 February 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 14 October 2004 p. 8 (Guichaoua); T. 20 September 2007 p. 61 (Reyntjens); T. 14 September 2004 p. 7 (Ntakirutimana); T. 26 October 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 12 September 2006 pp. 9-14 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 22; Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana).

¹⁷⁵⁰ T. 28 June 2004 p. 83 (Guichaoua); T. 20 September 2007 pp. 58-59 (Reyntjens); T. 28 September 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko). 1751 T. 28 September 2005 pp. 64-65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

meant that it also targeted the population as a whole.¹⁷⁵² In the Chamber's view, the fact that the speeches were retransmitted by radio extended their influence, and implies that they were also intended for a wider audience composed of members of the population.

866. Although several speeches were made during the ceremony, in the Chamber's view the most important speeches were those of Sindikubwabo, Kambanda, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana. These speeches shall be looked at in turn. Although Kambanda and Sindikubwabo are not accused in this case, their speeches are important to understand the context and effect of the ceremony on the population of Butare at the time.

3.5.4.4 Sindikubwabo's Speech

867. Expert witnesses analysed various sections of Sindikubwabo's speech, including the following excerpt:

I met members of the local population [at Nyakizi *commune*]. They are faced with the same problem as the refugees, who, they said, are being housed in the Nyumba church precinct. What I saw was that the inhabitants were afraid of them, because it would appear that they possess very powerful weapons, guns and grenades.... Some of them were on top of the hill, according to one of the Ministers ... the way they do things, the others were inside the church while the *defenceless common folk* were roaming about.

The issue of refugees therefore, I wanted someone to tell us exactly what this was about, because I don't understand it yet. Which refugees are these? Are these Hutus who have fled? Are these Tutsis who have fled? Who are these refugees? What are they fleeing from? That is the question. ¹⁷⁵³

868. Ntakirutimana explained that the term *rubanda* (inhabitants), which is of particular significance in this speech, took on a different shade of meaning during the war and probably well before that. Generally the term means "crowd, populace, public or people." However, *rubanda* (inhabitants) developed to mean members of the Hutu ethnic group known as *rubanda nyamwiinshi* (majority ordinary people) in reference to their large number. Although the speech does not give any specific indication as to the ethnicity of the ordinary population, or the implied "enemy", Ntakirutimana confirmed that the enemies were Tutsis and the ordinary people were the Hutus. 1755

869. Shimamungu stated that it was unclear whether the refugees referred to were Hutus or Tutsis. He suggested that Sindikubwabo was talking about RPF infiltrators who were among the refugees in the camps and also said that the infiltrators may not have been Tutsis. 1756

870. The Chamber notes that Shimamungu's testimony was tainted by bias. He testified that he associated with the Habyarimana family when his company in France published *Juvénal*

_

¹⁷⁵² T. 22 March 2005 pp. 53, 58-59 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁵³ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 2 (emphasis added). The Chamber notes that Prosecution Exhibits 151B and 159B contained translations of Sindikubwabo's speech which are essentially the same; *see* Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 22, paras. 2-3.

¹⁷⁵⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 3.

¹⁷⁵⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 15.

¹⁷⁵⁶ T. 17 March 2005 pp. 21-22 (Shimamungu).

Habyarimana, the man assassinated on 6 April 1994, in 2004.¹⁷⁵⁷ Shimamungu also testified that, as part of his political activism during his membership of the RDR party (Movement for Democracy and Return of Refugees to Rwanda¹⁷⁵⁸), he wrote Prosecution Exhibit 167B (correspondence between Shimamungu and the French media) on behalf of himself and his party. The correspondence expressed their views on a television programme which concerned the reaction to justice in Rwanda following the 1994 genocide.¹⁷⁵⁹ Read as a whole, this Exhibit attributes responsibility for the genocide in Rwanda in 1994 to the current President Paul Kagame and his army, the RPF. Shimamungu considered that the programme wrongly blamed Hutus alone for the 1994 genocide and opined that the assassination of President Habyarimana triggered the genocide.¹⁷⁶⁰

- 871. Shimamungu testified that he was a member of AGIIR, an association for impartial international justice for Rwanda following the events of 1994. He attended an AGIIR meeting that resulted in the Amsterdam Declaration of 28 November 2004, part of which calls on the democratic opposition and civil society in Rwanda to resist the current political regime and insists that donor agencies halt all assistance and support to the RPF regime. ¹⁷⁶²
- 872. The Chamber considers that Shimamungu's political and civic activism illustrate his opposition to the RPF who were considered to be the enemies of Rwanda in 1994. This opposition was also shared by the Interim Government of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member and Nyiramasuhuko as an individual. Such activism when viewed independently does not adversely affect his credibility. However, when viewed against the background of the 1994 events, Shimamungu's defence of Nyiramasuhuko, with whom he shared interests and views (for example, that the enemy in 1994 was the RPF *Inkotanyi*), is tainted by his activism. The Chamber further recalls Shimamungu's admission that according to what the Nyiramasuhuko Defence required of him, he was specifically to criticise Ntakirutimana's report. His testimony should therefore be viewed with appropriate caution.
- 873. The Chamber therefore does not consider Shimamungu's opinion to be plausible on the issue as to whether the refugees referred to were Hutus or Tutsis. Sindikubwabo's choice of words revealed that the refugees' ethnic identity was the major distinguishing factor in understanding the security problem at hand. The listeners had to determine on which side the Hutus and Tutsis fell in Sindikubwabo's speech, *i.e.* which group represented the defenceless inhabitants and which group was armed on hilltops and in churches. The Chamber finds Ntakirutimana's analysis to be credible on this point, as his reasoning is both plausible and inline with a plain reading of the extract of Sindikubwabo's speech. The Chamber finds that the references in Sindikubwabo's speech to refugees and armed groups in churches and on hilltops were references to Tutsis. Sindikubwabo was implying that the Tutsis used these guns and grenades to attack the defenceless ordinary people, *i.e.* the Hutus. In the Chamber's view, the

¹⁷⁵⁷ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 7-8 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁵⁸ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 12-13 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁵⁹ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 16-17 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁶⁰ T. 29 March 2005 pp. 18-19 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁶¹ T. 29 March 2005 p. 38 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁶² T. 29 March 2005 p. 40 (Shimamungu).

¹⁷⁶³ T. 30 March 2005 p. 7 (Shimamungu).

purpose of such words was to provoke Sindikubwabo's listeners into viewing Tutsis as an armed threat against which Hutus needed to be protected.

874. Sindikubwabo also said the following:

We also have the "none of my business" type here in Butare, as well as the "I know it all" types

[I]n Butare there is a certain lie which ... produces the "none-of-my-business" type. And so everybody says: "Ah! If they acted like this, if they acted like that, if things were like this"; but who is *they*? This is my message to you. I leave this problem in your hands; it is for you to solve and I wish you success! ...

We will win [the war] if you get rid of the "that is none of my business" types.... This government to which I am speaking, look for the "that is none of my business" type, look for those people who ... have gone to train so as to kill us and get rid of them for us. As for the rest of the Rwandan citizens, those of us who are decided, we will continue until the final victory. ¹⁷⁶⁴

- 875. Ntakirutimana explained that the "it-is-not-my-business" types are those who deliberately detach themselves from a matter of national concern in order to take care of personal business that is often unrelated to the community's concerns. The reference to getting rid of the "it-is-not-my-business-types" was an open invitation to murder. The President urged the people of Butare to work in concert with the Government towards final victory. Ntakirutimana explained that this was quite obvious incitement to murder anyone who was indifferent to the prevailing situation.
- 876. The reference to the "know-it-all" types is to those who claim to know everything and by implication, have no need at all for guidance or advice in their actions. Ntakirutimana explained that these two terms reveal that in both Butare and Gikongoro, there were people who were completely detached from the national concern of safeguarding security, and they included administrative officials. ¹⁷⁶⁸
- 877. Ntakirutimana's explanation of these two types of individuals was corroborated by Shimamungu, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana. Ntakirutimana's analysis and explanation demonstrate that Sindikubwabo wanted these types of people to either be removed or to begin supporting the Interim Government's actions in response to the security situation.

878. Sindikubwabo continued in his speech:

[T]hose who are waiting for others to work do not feel concerned. Well, let them come clean and leave us to work, and let them watch us work but without being part of our

-

Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) pp. 3-4; *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 23-24, paras. 6, 12, 17.

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

¹⁷⁶⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 12.

¹⁷⁶⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 12.

¹⁷⁶⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 6.

¹⁷⁶⁹ T. 31 March 2005 pp. 41, 63-65 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 49; T. 17 November 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 12 September 2006 pp. 15-16 (Nsabimana).

team. If somebody feels like saying: "I am not concerned; that does not concern me; I am afraid," let him withdraw far from us. Those who are in charge of ... getting rid of him for us should do it as quickly as possible, because there are other good persons willing to work for their country

- 879. The Chamber recalls the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witness Karemano that although he did not hear Sindikubwabo's speech, the President's statement that people should not remain indifferent and should work stuck in the people's minds and was widely commented on. ¹⁷⁷¹ In Karemano's view, the meaning of the President's statement was easy to ascertain when viewed in the context of the events that occurred after 19 April 1994, *i.e.* killings and lootings. ¹⁷⁷²
- 880. Considered in the context of 1994 in Rwanda, with the massacre of Tutsis spreading throughout Butare and people anxious to hear from the Government on what to do at the time, the President's words constituted an instruction to the people of Butare to change their attitude and get actively involved in the massacre of Tutsis. Implicit in this instruction was a threat that those who failed to take action and participate in the genocide would be sought out and removed. In the Chamber's view, Sindikubwabo's words on this issue were inflammatory.

881. Sindikubwabo concluded:

I should like, dear brothers, to end my message or rather suspend it by going back on what I have just said. I would like you to analyze our message, understand it and analyze the terms we are using; you should understand why we choose to use one term and not another. It is because we are in an unusual period.

Jokes, laughter, jesting, childishness and caprice should give way to work. After obtaining victory, when the country will have regained calm, we will go back to our jokes; but now is not the time for joking.¹⁷⁷³

- 882. According to Des Forges, this part of the President's speech constituted a threat. 1774 Ntakirutimana explained that here Sindikubwabo was warning his listeners and recapitulating what his Government expected of them. Ntakirutimana further stated that the President was aware of the coded meaning of the terms he used and asked his listeners to decode carefully in order to understand the message. He observed that encoding was common practice in speeches during the period 1990 to 1994. 1775
- 883. The Chamber considers Ntakirutimana's analysis to be plausible and consistent with a plain reading of the President's conclusion. At the end of his speech, Sindikubwabo clearly acknowledged that he used coded language and ordered his audience to analyse the specific words and phrases used in his speech in order to decipher the Government's message.

¹⁷⁷⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 4; *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 24, para. 16.

¹⁷⁷¹ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 23-24 (Karemano).

¹⁷⁷² T. 5 September 2006 pp. 25, 27 (Karemano).

Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994) p. 5.

¹⁷⁷⁴ T. 9 July 2004 p. 24 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (Tolerance or Intransigence, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 16, 20.

The parties also led evidence from a number of factual witnesses on the content and impact of Sindikubwabo's speech. Nyiramasuhuko did not consider the speech to be inflammatory. In contrast, Nsabimana explained that when the President took the floor, the effect was like a "tsunami". 1776 He testified that as time went by after the speech, he came to realise that it was indeed inflammatory. 1777 Ntakirutimana opined that for all practical purposes, the aim of a speech needs to be judged by the results achieved where this is possible. 1778 The testimony of Witnesses TQ, QJ, QI, FAM, QBU, FAE and Karemano concerning events in the Butare area around 19 April 1994, demonstrate that the massacres in Butare commenced or intensified after that date. 1779 The Chamber recalls that at the time of their testimony, Witnesses FAM and QBU, both Hutus, were detained witnesses in Rwanda serving sentences for their involvement in the 1994 genocide. In the Chamber's view, the status of these witnesses as accomplices renders them capable of bias and their testimony should therefore be treated with appropriate caution. Witness TO had also been convicted of genocide but had been acquitted and released from prison before he testified in 2004. The Chamber therefore considers that he had no reason to implicate any one of the Accused, as he was acquitted prior to testifying in this case and by virtue of the fact that he was a Hutu.

Witness QA also testified regarding President Sindikubwabo's speech. However, on recall in 2008, Witness OA testified that he had lied about Kanyabashi's speech and that most of his prior testimony was lies. The Chamber does not rely on Witness QA's testimony.

Nsabimana testified that he heard the totality of Sindikubwabo's speech but its analysis 886. was not his concern. He further stated that he understood the words barajenjetse and ntibindeba in Sindikubwabo's speech but not what Sindikubwabo meant by them; ¹⁷⁸⁰ that an expert was needed to translate and explain Sindikubwabo's words in his very ambiguous and political speech; 1781 that he called Sindikubwabo's speech inflammatory while in exile in September 1994; and that only after a period of time after the swearing-in ceremony did he come to realise that the speech was inflammatory and the massacres took place because of it. 1782 Nsabimana insisted that he did not understand anything in Sindikubwabo's speech. 1783

Notwithstanding Nsabimana's assertions that he did not appreciate the nature and impact of the speech when it was delivered, contradictory evidence establishes that Nsabimana did in fact understand Sindikubwabo's speech as and when it was given on 19 April 1994. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that in Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, dated 1 October 1994), Nsabimana stated: "The President made a speech which was very bad. This speech was only telling people to kill others. People didn't know why he was giving this

 ¹⁷⁷⁶ T. 12 September 2006 p. 17 (Nsabimana).
 1777 T. 20 November 2006 p. 36 (Nsabimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 3.

¹⁷⁷⁹ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 26-27 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 8 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 8 November 2001 p. 108 (ICS) (Witness QJ); T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QI); T. 23 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness QI); T. 24 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness QI); T. 13 March 2002 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness FAM); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 38, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 17 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness FAE); T. 18 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAE); T. 24 August 2006 p. 84 (Karemano). ¹⁷⁸⁰ T. 12 September 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁸¹ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 15-16, 20 (Nsabimana); T. 20 November 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁸² T. 21 November 2006 p. 36 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁸³ T. 22 November 2006 p. 78 (Nsabimana).

speech." Nsabimana agreed that Prosecution Exhibit 114A contained a faithful reflection of what he had said during the interview. 1784 In the interview, Nsabimana does not indicate that he only came to realise the inflammatory nature of the President's speech until after the event. On the contrary, a plain reading of Prosecution Exhibit 114 suggests that Nsabimana's opinion of the speech was based on the impressions he formed when the speech was delivered. Similarly, Nsabimana recognised Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996) as being part of a letter he had sent to the Prosecutor in January 1997. On the first page of that exhibit, Nsabimana describes the speeches of Sindikubwabo, Niyitegeka and Mugenzi as "an incitement to hatred, ... inflammatory". He subsequently explains, "Visibly, in that atmosphere, I did not know what to do." The fact that Nsabimana admitted that he did not know what to do when the President gave his inflammatory speech suggests that he must have been aware that the speech constituted incitement at the time the speech was given, rather than afterwards.

888. Des Forges also disagreed with the contention that Nsabimana was not a knowing and therefore guilty participant in the official genocide plan. She stressed the importance of Nsabimana's post as *préfet* and opined that when Nsabimana accepted to be sworn in as *préfet*, he knew what the Government's plan was and agreed to serve a Government that intended to kill the Tutsis in Butare. Reyntjens agreed that President Sindikubwabo's speech was an instruction from the highest authority to start the massacres in Butare and confirmed that the duties of the *préfet* included the massacre of Tutsis. Reyntjens further confirmed that the President directly addressed the *préfet* saying, "[a]pproach the *bourgmestres*, organise meetings with them often, ask each of them what he needs...". In this connection, the Chamber takes note of Nsabimana's admission that he convened a meeting of all the *bourgmestres* on 20 April 1994, the day following his swearing-in ceremony. In the Chamber's view, this is a clear indication that Nsabimana understood the President's speech and acted on the instructions contained therein.

889. The Chamber recalls Nsabimana's demeanour in court when answering questions regarding his understanding of Sindikubwabo's speech. Nsabimana was very elusive, avoiding or refusing to answer questions particularly from the Prosecution on his specific understanding of this speech, while insisting that he understood nothing in Sindikubwabo's speech. The Chamber considers that Nsabimana's description of Sindikubwabo's speech as being inflammatory, as described in the previous paragraph, conflicts with his insistence that he did not understand it at all and points to his lack of truthfulness with regard to his testimony on his specific understanding of Sindikubwabo's speech on 19 April 1994. Nsabimana's testimony that he did not understand a thing is an exaggeration and not plausible. Nsabimana described and showed understanding of the speeches by Niyitegeka, Mugenzi and Kambanda

¹⁷⁸⁴ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 42-43 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁸⁵ T. 27 November 2006 pp. 64-66 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁸⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996) p. 1.

¹⁷⁸⁷ T. 6 July pp. 14-15 (Des Forges).

¹⁷⁸⁸ T. 21 November 2007 p. 45 (Reyntjens).

¹⁷⁸⁹ T. 21 November 2007 p. 46 (Reyntjens).

¹⁷⁹⁰ T. 12 September 2006 p. 48 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁹¹ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 15-16; T. 20 November 2006 pp. 32, 36 (Nsabimana).

¹⁷⁹² T. 12 September 2006 p. 17 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996).

given in similar language at the same ceremony. Taking all of the above into account, the Chamber considers that Nsabimana is not truthful and his testimony is therefore not credible with regard to his understanding of Sindikubwabo's speech on 19 April 1994 and on the impact of the speech.

In light of all of the above, and bearing in mind the political context in which the speech was delivered and the existence of war, the Chamber finds that the attendance of the President, Prime Minister and a number of ministers made Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony a very important occasion. The people of Butare were looking for guidance from the Interim Government. When Sindikubwabo took the floor and made his speech, he clearly called on his audience to take action against Tutsis, which translated in their participation in the killings. The Chamber is therefore convinced that Sindikubwabo's speech of 19 April 1994 was inflammatory and called on his listeners to kill Tutsis and their accomplices.

3.5.4.5 Kambanda's Speech and Sindikubwabo's Speech – Shared Themes

- The expert witnesses analysed various sections of Kambanda's speech, including the following excerpt: 1793 "I am saying this to some bourgmestres who I had told [sic] had gone training amongst the *Inkotanvi* so that they tell them that the government is determined, the state, the army and the population – we are determined to wage this war and to win it." 1794
- The speeches made by Sindikubwabo and Kambanda share a number of common themes. Both speeches underline the existence of war, urge the people of Butare to take action and warn of traitors who underwent weapons training. These common themes illustrate that the speeches were complementary and had a common purpose at the swearing-in ceremony: that of inciting the population to take action against Tutsis. The Chamber therefore considers that when Kambanda talked about not tolerating those who support the enemy and the bourgmestres who he had been told went to train with the *Inkotanyi*, he was in effect inciting his listeners to commit killings and violence against these people.
- According to Witness RV, Kambanda defined the enemy as Inkotanyi as well as the *Inkotanyi* accomplices who were Tutsis or Hutus who had ideas that supported the RPF. ¹⁷⁹⁵ In explaining the historical background and the set expressions and proverbs that have resulted from the word *Inkotanyi*, Ntakirutimana opined that from a day-to-day traditional Rwandan perspective, the aggressor of Rwanda, the Tutsi, was referred to as the real enemy. References to eliminating the enemy or flushing him out of the country therefore referred to Tutsis. 1796 Ntakirutimana explained that the linguistic expressions in the President's speech revealed that the enemy was the Tutsis and the defenceless ordinary people were the Hutus. 1797

¹⁷⁹³ Defence Exhibits 282C and 575B are translations of Kambanda's speech of 19 April 1994 and their content is substantially the same: see Defence Exhibit 282C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Kambanda's speech of 19 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 575 (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of Radio Rwanda Broadcast of Kambanda's Speech). Defence Exhibit 573B is a translation of an extract from Kambanda's speech that day taken from a Radio Rwanda broadcast; this extract does not appear in Defence Exhibits 282C and 575B.

¹⁷⁹⁴ Defence Exhibit 573B (Kanyabashi) (Extracts of speeches by Kambanda and Kanyabashi) p. 1.

¹⁷⁹⁵ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 35, 37 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness RV).

Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 30; Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 14-15.

1797 Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 14-15.

894. At the time of his testimony, Witness RV was a detained witness in Rwanda serving a sentence for his involvement in the 1994 genocide. Given his status as an accomplice witness, the Chamber will treat his evidence with appropriate caution. Bearing this in mind, the Chamber considers that Witnesses RV and Ntakirutimana described the Tutsis in Rwanda, the RPF *Inkotanyi* and Hutus in Rwanda who were dissatisfied with the regime, as falling within the definition of "enemy". The common feature of these categories is either being Tutsi, being directly or indirectly associated with Tutsis. The Chamber considers this conclusion to be credible in the context of the events of 1994 in Rwanda. It is also supported by Sindikubwabo's speech where he raises the issue of whether the refugees are Hutus or Tutsis. In view of the foregoing consistent evidence on the identity of the "enemy" in Rwanda in 1994, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has established that the enemy as described in Sindikubwabo and Kambanda's speeches were the Tutsis.

895. As regards the use of the word *gukora*, or "work", Shimamungu identified several positive usages of the word *gukora* including to do, to act and to be occupied with. ¹⁷⁹⁸ In his view, *gukora* did not have a coded meaning. ¹⁷⁹⁹ Shimamungu said in his opinion that up until 19 April 1994 the word had never been used to mean "to kill Tutsis." ¹⁸⁰⁰ In contrast, Ntakirutimana claimed that the verb *gukora* (to work) has, since the 1959 social revolution and the abolition of the monarchy, taken on a coded meaning and come to refer to killing Tutsis. In his view, *gukora* also meant to destroy the homes of Tutsis to prevent them from returning to their home. ¹⁸⁰¹ Any message conveyed using this word would therefore be a very powerful one. ¹⁸⁰² Des Forges explained that in the context of the killing campaign, slaughter was known as work and machetes and firearms were described as tools. ¹⁸⁰³ Witness TQ testified that he was told that during the meeting of 19 April 1994, the President expressed his anger with the people of Butare because they were not working. At that time "work" meant to kill and the President's statement was coded language inciting people to engage in killings. ¹⁸⁰⁴ Although this is hearsay evidence, as he was not present at the meeting, it corroborates the following testimonies.

896. Witness RV testified that "work" referred to the struggle against the enemy, *i.e.* the Tutsis. Reyntjens agreed that "work" in the context of genocide in Rwanda between April and July 1994 meant to kill Tutsis. Karemano stated that the use of the word "work" or *gukora* in Sindikubwabo's speech was ambiguous. Although this witness did not hear Sindikubwabo's speech, the statement that people should not remain indifferent and should work stuck in the people's minds and was widely commented on. 1808

```
<sup>1798</sup> T. 16 March 2005 pp. 56-57 (Shimamungu).
```

¹⁷⁹⁹ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 56-57; T. 24 March 2005 p. 59; T. 30 March 2005 p. 23 (Shimamungu).

¹⁸⁰⁰ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 56-57 (Shimamungu).

Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 35.

¹⁸⁰² Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 11.

¹⁸⁰³ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 8.

¹⁸⁰⁴ T. 6 September 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁸⁰⁵ T. 16 February 2004 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸⁰⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 151B (Speeches by Sindikubwabo and others delivered on 19 April 1994).

¹⁸⁰⁷ T. 5 September 2006 p. 31 (Karemano).

¹⁸⁰⁸ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 23-24 (Karemano).

897. Bearing in mind its finding that Shimamungu's testimony should be treated with appropriate caution, the Chamber does not consider Shimamungu's unsupported opinion on the meaning of *gukora* to be plausible. The Chamber considers Ntakirutimana's explanation to be convincing and corroborated by Expert Witness Des Forges, Witnesses TQ and RV, Expert Witness Reyntjens and Charles Karemano, both Defence witnesses. The Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that in Kambanda and Sindikubwabo's speeches of 19 April 1994, the word "work" (*gukora*) meant to kill Tutsis.

898. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that Kambanda's speech was inflammatory and called upon the population to identify and kill Tutsis and their accomplices.

3.5.4.6 Kanyabashi's Speech

899. It is not disputed that Kanyabashi was present at the swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 and made a speech. The Kanyabashi Defence only contends that in the circumstances, Kanyabashi could not have disapproved of anything in Sindikubwabo's speech or else he and his family would have faced death. The Defence also contends that Kanyabashi spoke before the President and in response to Kambanda, not Sindikubwabo.

3.5.4.7 The Order of Speeches

900. The expert witnesses did not provide any conclusive evidence on the order of the speeches, but Guichaoua and Des Forges agreed about the importance of determining to whom Kanyabashi was responding when he took the floor, and hypothesised that Kanyabashi spoke after Kambanda. Reyntjens maintained uncertainty, and admitted that he did not see the importance of determining the order of the speeches. From the radio broadcast that he analysed, he concluded that the order may have been Kambanda, Sindikubwabo and then Kanyabashi. Ranyabashi.

901. Guichaoua admitted that he could not tell in which order the speeches were broadcast on the radio. He used different documents and transcripts in order to determine the order of speeches, but this did not actually help him to ascertain the order of the speakers. However, he opined that it seemed that the President spoke after Kanyabashi, as the President arrived towards the end of the meeting. Based on the concluding remarks of Kambanda's speech, Guichaoua stated that Kambanda spoke before Kanyabashi. Guichaoua asserted that Kanyabashi's vague assertion that "we shall put into practice all that is possible by relying, in particular, on the important advice you have given us, in addition to the directives you

¹⁸⁰⁹ T. 14 October 2004 p. 10 (Guichaoua); T. 9 July 2004 pp. 19-21 (Des Forges).

¹⁸¹⁰ T. 22 November 2008 pp. 12, 20-21 (Reyntjens).

¹⁸¹¹ T. 20 September 2007 pp. 45, 61 (Reyntjens).

¹⁸¹² T. 14 October 2004 p. 11 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸¹³ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸¹⁴ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸¹⁵ T. 14 October 2004 p. 6; T. 14 October 2004 pp. 6-7 (Guichaoua).

reminded us of", 1816 signifies a firm commitment. This could have been in response to either Kambanda's or Sindikubwabo's speeches. 1817

- 902. Des Forges stated that she received information on the itinerary of President Sindikubwabo, suggesting that the President was in Gikongoro on the morning of 19 April 1994, making it likely that he arrived after the meeting in Butare had begun. Therefore, she was not convinced that Kanyabashi had heard Sindikubwabo's speech before he spoke at the beginning of the meeting. She did not exclude the possibility that Kanyabashi spoke after Kambanda but before the President and in the presence of both the President and Kambanda.
- 903. Nsabimana testified that Ministers Mugenzi and Niyitegeka spoke first followed by Kambanda. Sindikubwabo was not present when Kambanda began his speech but arrived while Kambanda was speaking. Sindikubwabo then took the floor followed by Nsabimana. After a brief address by Nsabimana, Sindikubwabo took the floor again to say that he had to leave. After the President left, Kambanda resumed the speech that he had started before the President's arrival. After Kambanda's speech, Kanyabashi spoke and at the end, the *bourgmestres* put questions to the Prime Minister.
- 904. Witness RV stated that the ceremony started before noon and went on into the afternoon. Ranyabashi was in attendance but the witness stated that he did not hear Kanyabashi on that day. Kambanda spoke first, followed by Sindikubwabo. Nsabimana took the floor and expressed his thanks.
- 905. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she arrived at the ceremony around 10.00 a.m. The President had not yet arrived. He arrived when Nyiramasuhuko was already inside the hall and left while she was still there. This was consistent with Nsabimana's testimony on Sindikubwabo's presence at the ceremony. The President and the Prime Minister both delivered speeches. Nyiramasuhuko did not specify who spoke first or whether Nsabimana or Kanyabashi delivered speeches that day.

¹⁸¹⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 24.

¹⁸¹⁷ T. 14 October 2004 p. 9 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸¹⁸ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 19-21 (Des Forges).

¹⁸¹⁹ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 20-21 (Des Forges).

¹⁸²⁰ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 9-11 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²¹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²² T. 12 September 2006 pp. 14, 20 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²³ T. 12 September 2006 p. 30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²⁴ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 20-21, 28-30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²⁵ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 28-30 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸²⁶ T. 19 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸²⁷ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 pp. 25-26, 58-59 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸²⁸ T. 19 February 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸²⁹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸³⁰ T. 26 October 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁸³¹ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 79-80 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸³² T. 26 October 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

906. Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana are co-Accused together with Kanyabashi, and as such they may have had an incentive to implicate Kanyabashi in order to deflect potential liability. Nevertheless, the Chamber considers that on the specific issue of who spoke at the ceremony or the order of speeches, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana are credible. Their testimonies provided a detailed, eyewitness account of the ceremony, which was not contradicted by any other source. Nsabimana, in particular, corroborates Guichaoua and Des Forges in his assertion that Kanyabashi spoke after Kambanda. Nyiramasuhuko's diary entry for 10 February 1994 reads that the representatives of the *bourgmestres*, the new *préfet* and the President spoke. According to the diary, the last person to have spoken seemed to have been the President. ¹⁸³³

907. The Chamber therefore considers their testimony plausible and reliable on this particular issue. Although Witness RV's status as a detained witness and an accomplice renders him capable of bias, the Chamber does not find that he had any reason to lie on the issue of the order of speeches. As such, the Chamber considers his testimony to be reliable in this regard. Witness RV corroborates Nsabimana's testimony that Kambanda spoke first followed by Sindikubwabo and Nsabimana.

908. The Chamber notes Witness RV's evidence that he did not "hear" Kanyabashi speak during the ceremony. 1834 However, the Chamber does not consider that this contradicts Nsabimana's testimony that Kanyabashi spoke at the ceremony. Witness RV's evidence on this point was in response to the following specific question: "Is it correct to say, Witness, that during the meeting for the swearing-in, the swearing-in of 19 April 1994, you did not hear any statement from Kanyabashi inciting people to kill the Tutsi?" The fact that Witness RV did not hear Kanyabashi incite people to kill Tutsis does not exclude the possibility that Kanyabashi addressed the attendees at the end of the ceremony. Similarly, the fact that Nyiramasuhuko did not mention Nsabimana's or Kanyabashi's speeches during her testimony does not mean that they did not take the floor.

909. Nsabimana's testimony on the order of the speeches is supported by Des Forges who stated that, following the usual order of precedence, a *bourgmestre* would not have spoken between the Prime Minister and the President; normally the least important authority would either speak first or last. The Chamber considers this explanation by Des Forges to be plausible. Although Des Forges was clearly speculating, as she herself was unconvinced that Kanyabashi heard the President's speech, the Chamber considers it logical that the only reason Kanyabashi did not mention Sindikubwabo in his speech was because Sindikubwabo was not present at the time Kanyabashi made his speech, having left during the ceremony.

910. In light of all the evidence, the Chamber considers that Nsabimana's account of the order of the speeches, which is supported by Nyiramasuhuko and to a certain extent, Des Forges, is the more convincing account. The Chamber concludes that Kanyabashi spoke after having heard the inflammatory speeches of both Kambanda and Sindikubwabo. The reason why Kanyabashi made no reference to Sindikubwabo in his speech was because by the time

¹⁸³³ T. 14 October 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸³⁴ T. 19 February 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸³⁵ T. 19 February 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁸³⁶ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 20-21 (Des Forges).

¹⁸³⁷ T. 9 July 2004 pp. 20-21 (Des Forges).

Kanyabashi took the floor, Sindikubwabo had left the ceremony. Additionally, Sindikubwabo and Kambanda did not refer to Kanyabashi's speech in their own speeches because Kanyabashi had not yet spoken.

3.5.4.8 Content of Kanyabashi's Speech

911. The Chamber recalls its finding that Kambanda and Sindikubwabo's speeches were inflammatory and that Kanyabashi took the floor after those speeches. The Chamber notes that in common with Sindikubwabo and Kambanda, Kanyabashi also referred to "enemies". 1838 Ntakirutimana explained that in his speech, Kanyabashi promised that the inhabitants of Butare *préfecture* and their authorities would do everything possible to support the Kambanda Government and the army, preserve the sovereignty of the country and safeguard security. He also considered that the following sentence illustrated that the Prime Minister's orders were to be strictly followed:

Prime Minister, it is difficult to find the right words during these difficult times, but we assure you that we shall put into practice all that is possible by relying, in particular, on the important advice you have given us, in addition to the directives you reminded us of. We, in turn, at our level, and the population at all levels, shall do all we possibly can to safeguard together the security of our *préfecture*. ¹⁸⁴⁰

- 912. Ntakirutimana further identified multiple repetitions of key words in Kanyabashi's speech, such as Prime Minister, the population and the death of the President. Ntakirutimana concluded that Kanyabashi staunchly supported the Prime Minister's directives. ¹⁸⁴¹
- 913. Guichaoua opined that Kanyabashi's speech was an expression of the *préfecture's* support for the policies of the Government. Reyntjens disagreed and stated that when Kanyabashi delivered his speech he did not have any choice and had to say something. His speech was unprepared. As the elder of the *bourgmestres* in Butare *préfecture*, any refusal to speak by Kanyabashi would have been seen as a hostile act in view of what had been said by the President and the Prime Minister. 1843
- 914. The Chamber recalls Reyntjens' testimony that he did not consider Kanyabashi as a friend but as an acquaintance and that his relationship with Kanyabashi did not have any impact on his independent opinion as an expert. Reyntjens said that he had brief conversations with Kanyabashi in the street, he shared a drink with Kanyabashi four or five times, but they never visited each other's homes. 1845
- 915. However, Reyntjens confirmed that Kanyabashi named him as his lawyer before Investigating Judge Vandermeersch in Belgium, in 1995. However, Reyntjens said that he did not talk to Kanyabashi after his arrest, or represent Kanyabashi as he was not a practicing

¹⁸³⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi).

¹⁸³⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) p. 7.

¹⁸⁴⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 149C (Translation of Speech by Kanyabashi); Prosecution Exhibit 161B (*Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 8.

Prosecution Exhibit 161B (Kanyabashi's Unswerving Support, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 8-9.

¹⁸⁴² T. 14 October 2004 p. 22 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸⁴³ T. 20 September 2007 p. 62 (Reyntjens).

¹⁸⁴⁴ T. 20 September 2007 p. 11 (Reyntjens).

¹⁸⁴⁵ T. 20 September 2007 p. 10; T. 21 November 2008 pp. 8-9 (Reyntjens).

lawyer at the time.¹⁸⁴⁶ Reyntjens confirmed that Defence Exhibit 584B was his statement to Judge Vandermeersch in Brussels on 31 July 1995 concerning the genocide in Rwanda. In that statement, Reyntjens indicated that he had known Kanyabashi for a long time and that "he knew him as somebody who never practiced ethnic discrimination and who always did everything to maintain peace in his *commune*." ¹⁸⁴⁷

- 916. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber considers that although Reyntjens may have downplayed his knowledge of and friendship with Kanyabashi during his testimony, he had known and been friends with Kanyabashi for a long time. For this reason, the Chamber finds that Reyntjens' testimony and Report, with respect to Kanyabashi's speech, might have been biased in Kanyabashi's favour. His testimony in relation to Kanyabashi should therefore be treated with appropriate caution.
- 917. The Chamber considers Ntakirutimana and Guichaoua's analyses to be more reliable than Reyntjens' and further considers that they are corroborated by a plain reading of Kanyabashi's speech. The Chamber recalls the words used by Kanyabashi when he concluded his speech (reproduced above) and is of the view that they constituted an unambiguous commitment to support the objectives of the Interim Government as set forth in the speeches of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda.
- 918. The Chamber finds that Kanyabashi did not dissociate himself from the inflammatory statements made by the President or the Prime Minister. Furthermore, having analysed the content of Kanyabashi's speech, the Chamber finds that this speech was in support of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda and contained a commitment to execute the directives and instructions previously announced by the President and Prime Minister.

3.5.4.9 Nyiramasuhuko's Presence

- 919. It is not disputed that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the swearing-in ceremony. Nyiramasuhuko acknowledges having been present as part of the Government delegation as a Minister. The content of Sindikubwabo's speech has been discussed at length above and the Chamber recalls its finding that it was inflammatory.
- 920. In the Chamber's view, it is understandable that Nyiramasuhuko, as a minister in Sindikubwabo's Interim Government, would maintain that the President preached peace in his speech. Nonetheless, this illustrates that Nyiramasuhuko believed in and supported the actions of the Government, of which she was a member, when it issued its inflammatory instructions to the people of Butare. The Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko ascribed to and supported the policies of the Government of which she was a member, as set forth in Sindikubwabo's speech. Accordingly, her silence constituted tacit approval of those policies.
- 921. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko's presence at the swearing-in ceremony and her failure to dissociate herself from the statements made by the President and Prime Minister, constituted tacit approval of their inflammatory statements.

-

¹⁸⁴⁶ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 11-12 (Reyntjens).

¹⁸⁴⁷ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 12-14 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 584B (Ndayambaje) (Statement of Reyntjens to Judge Vendermeersch, 31 July 1995).

¹⁸⁴⁸ T. 26 October 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko).

3.5.4.10 Nsabimana's Presence

- 922. It is not disputed that Nsabimana was present at his swearing-in ceremony. Nsabimana acknowledges that he was there and provides an account of how he learned of the appointment. 1849
- 923. When Nsabimana learned of his appointment as *préfet*, he made an informed decision, as an adult of sound mind, to accept the offer. When he was first approached by Ndungutse and Bashimiki to become *préfet*, Nsabimana told them to return only if they failed to find another candidate. Nsabimana did not reject the proposal outright nor did he give any indication of his unwillingness to take up this political position. Furthermore, when Nsabimana heard of his appointment over the radio on 18 April 1994, he took no steps to distance himself from the appointment nor did he make any attempt to decline the position.
- 924. The Chamber recalls its finding above that Nsabimana's testimony that he did not understand the content and import of the President's speech was not credible. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was present at the ceremony as a political appointee and failed to dissociate himself from the statements made by the President and Prime Minister. In doing so, the Chamber considers that he gave his tacit approval to the President's and Prime Minister's inflammatory statements.

3.5.4.11 Conclusion to Nsabimana's Swearing-in Ceremony

- 925. In light of all of the above, the Chamber finds that the speeches delivered by Sindikubwabo and Kambanda at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 were inflammatory and contained coded language that was understood by the attendees and the public. In particular, the Chamber considers that "enemy" meant Tutsis and the word "work" (gukora) meant to kill Tutsis.
- 926. The Chamber further finds that the presence of Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana at the ceremony and their failure to dissociate themselves from the statements made by the President and Prime Minister constituted tacit approval of their inflammatory statements and the directives and instructions to the population contained therein. In addition, with respect to Kanyabashi specifically, the Chamber considers that Kanyabashi's speech was in support of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda, and contained a commitment to execute the directives and instructions previously announced by the President and Prime Minister.

3.5.4.12 Start of Widespread Killings in Butare Préfecture

- 927. Although there is some evidence suggesting that a few large-scale massacres occurred around 17 and 18 April 1994, there is overwhelming evidence that massacres in most of the Butare *communes* started in the wake of the events of 19 April 1994.
- 928. Witness FAM testified that killings started after 20 April 1994, when Kanyabashi came to the *secteur* office to tell the *conseiller* that the killing had already finished elsewhere and to

. .

¹⁸⁴⁹ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 71, 73-74, 78; T. 12 September 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).

¹⁸⁵⁰ T. 14 September 2006 pp. 70, 72 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 18, 74-75; T. 12 December 2007 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 19 November 2008 p. 29 (Ndayambaje); T. 18 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).

ask him when he was going to start.¹⁸⁵¹ Witness QBU testified that in Rususa *cellule*, killings of Tutsis began around 20 April 1994.¹⁸⁵² Witness QCB estimated the killings started in Nyakizu, Runyinya and Gishamvu *communes*, on 20 April 1994. 1853 Witness FAI testified that killings started in Nyabisindu commune two weeks after the death of the President, or around 20 April 1994. 1854 He also testified that killings started in Muyira *commune* around the middle of April, but was not more specific. 1855 Witness QI testified that the killings began in his secteur on 21 and 22 April 1994. Witnesses FAB, FAE, Defence Witness WMCZ and Ndayambaje estimated that killings began on dates between 21 and 27 April 1994 in Muyaga, Ngoma, Ndora and Muganza communes, respectively. 1857 These communes are located in central or eastern Butare *préfecture*. 1858 None of these witnesses estimated that killings began prior to 17 April 1994.

- Witness QAH's testimony was inconsistent in this regard. He stated that killings only started after Préfet Habyalimana's assassination was announced, which, based on the evidence of Des Forges, Guichaoua and Nyiramasuhuko, was in May or June 1994. 1860 Witness QAH fluctuated between stating that killings started after 10 April 1994, and asserting that he could not remember the date the killings began. 1861 The Chamber concludes that Witness QAH's recollection as to the date killings began is unreliable.
- The variation in the exact date identified by the witnesses is plausible considering each resided in different communes in April to July 1994. In addition, the evidence of Witnesses FAB, FAE, WMCZ, Ntakirutimana and Ndayambaje was corroborated by Prosecution Witnesses RV and QJ and Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua. 1862 The Chamber finds that widespread killings of Tutsis did not occur in Butare préfecture prior to 19 April 1994.

3.5.5 Conclusion

Expert Witnesses Guichaoua and Des Forges testified that the genocide would not have occurred within Butare préfecture if Préfet Habyalimana had not been removed from office. 1863 Expert Witness Reyntjens asserted that Préfet Habyalimana's removal triggered the

¹⁸⁶³ T. 8 July 2004 p. 83 (Des Forges); T. 23 June 2004 p. 23 (Guichaoua); T. 7 October 2004 p. 36 (Guichaoua).

¹⁸⁵¹ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 59-61 (ICS) (Witness FAM).

¹⁸⁵² T. 13 April 2004 pp. 38, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

¹⁸⁵³ T. 26 March 2002 p. 64 (Witness QCB).

¹⁸⁵⁴ T. 4 November 2002 p. 14 (Witness FAI).

¹⁸⁵⁵ T. 4 November 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAI).

¹⁸⁵⁶ T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QI).

¹⁸⁵⁷ T. 5 April 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAB); T. 17 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness FAE); T. 18 March 2004 pp. 7, 24-25, 63-64 (Witness FAE); T. 2 February 2005 p. 30 (Witness WMCZ); T. 19 November 2008 p. 40 (Ndayambaje); see also Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

¹⁸⁵⁸ See Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

¹⁸⁵⁹ T. 8 April 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAH).

¹⁸⁶⁰ T. 15 June 2004 pp. 67-68, 77-78 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 55; Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 123; T. 28 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko). ¹⁸⁶¹ T. 8 April 2004 pp. 9, 12 (Witness QAH).

¹⁸⁶² T. 17 February 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 13 November 2001 p. 117 (Witness QJ); T. 5 July 2004 p. 39 (Des Forges); T. 9 July 2004 pp. 8-9 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 16, 18; Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); T. 7 October 2004 p. 53 (Guichaoua).

start of the large-scale massacres in Butare. 1864 The Chamber is not bound by the Expert Witnesses' opinions in this regard. However, in view of the evidence that large-scale killings did not occur in the heart of Butare *préfecture* until after the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana, and the substantial work performed by Des Forges and Guichaoua in their research into the history of the Rwandan genocide, the Chamber accepts that the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana was one of the events that triggered the start of mass-killings in Butare *préfecture*. Furthermore, the Chamber finds that as long as *Préfet* Habyalimana stayed in office, he was a major force in limiting killings within the *préfecture*.

- 932. Regarding President Sindikubwabo's speech, Expert Witness Ntakirutimana stated that the aim of a speech may be judged by the results achieved in its aftermath. An audience's reaction to a speech makes it possible to evaluate the impact of the speech. Likewise, Charles Karemano testified that from 19 April 1994 onwards, he heard many comments about Sindikubwabo's speech, especially in relation to the statement that people should not remain indifferent and should work. Here, the meaning of the President's statements was easy to ascertain when viewed against the background of the events that occurred after 19 April 1994. People used the speech to legitimate their actions. The Chamber finds that the inflammatory nature of the speeches delivered at the swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 in Butare, also triggered the widespread killings and large-scale massacres in Butare *préfecture*.
- 933. Recalling its finding that widespread killings of Tutsis did not occur in Butare *préfecture* prior to 18 or 19 April 1994, and in light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana, the appointment of Nsabimana as *préfet*, and the speeches at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony were factors that were consistent with the commencement of widespread killings and large-scale massacres throughout Butare *préfecture*, including in the large number of *communes* that had resisted such massacres until that time.

3.6 Events After 19 April 1994

3.6.1 Arrival of Soldiers at Butare Airport, 20 April 1994

3.6.1.1 Introduction

934. Each of the Indictments alleges that on 20 April 1994, two military planes landed in Butare, transporting numerous Presidential Guard and Para-Commando Battalion soldiers. According to each of the Indictments these soldiers, in tandem with the *Interahamwe* of

_

¹⁸⁶⁴ T. 25 September 2007 p. 62; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 24, 42 (Reyntjens).

Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 3, para. 4.

¹⁸⁶⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 159B (*Tolerance or Intransigence*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 20.

¹⁸⁶⁷ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 23-24 (Karemano).

¹⁸⁶⁸ T. 5 September 2006 p. 25 (Karemano).

¹⁸⁶⁹ T. 5 September 2006 p. 27 (Karemano).

Butare, took part in murdering and massacring civilians, notably Rosalie Gicanda, the former Tutsi Queen of Rwanda. 1870

- 935. The Prosecution did not make any submissions on this allegation.
- 936. The Ntahobali Defence disputes that a large plane landed in Butare to deliver the *Interahamwe* and soldiers, as the Butare airport was too small to accommodate a jumbo aircraft. ¹⁸⁷¹ The Ntahobali Defence relies on the testimony of Witness WDUSA.
- 937. The other Defence teams do not dispute that a plane landed in Butare around 20 April 1994 but submit that the purpose of the plane was to evacuate expatriates. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the evidence of Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges in this regard. Des Forges, Prosecution Witnesses QA, QAH, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-5-W, D-13-D and D-9-U, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBTT and Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens all gave evidence that a plane landed in Butare around 20 April 1994.

3.6.1.2 Preliminary Issues

938. The Chamber notes that this allegation is not in support of any counts against any of the Accused. The Prosecution did not make any submission in this respect. Therefore, the Chamber declines to make any finding in respect of this allegation.

3.6.1.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QA

- 939. Witness QA testified that at the end of a meeting held at Ngoma *secteur* office around 18 April 1994, at around 5.30 p.m., people attending the meeting heard an engine noise, like the sound of a helicopter that was landing at the Butare airfield. On the day after the meeting, he saw many *Interahamwe*, wearing *kitenge* clothing and berets with the effigy of the President. There were also several soldiers in the city of Butare. 1875
- 940. Witness QA stated that he went to the airport at about 9.00 a.m. the next day. ¹⁸⁷⁶ He saw the plane and was told that on that plane, *Interahamwe* and soldiers or Presidential Guards arrived in the area. ¹⁸⁷⁷

¹⁸⁷⁰ Para. 6.23 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.23 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.23 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.23 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts).

Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 3, para. 41.

¹⁸⁷² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 32.

¹⁸⁷³ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 81, 83; T. 22 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness QA).

¹⁸⁷⁴ T. 18 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness QA).

¹⁸⁷⁵ T. 18 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness QA).

¹⁸⁷⁶ T. 22 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness QA).

¹⁸⁷⁷ T. 18 March 2004 p. 83; T. 22 March 2004 p. 35 (Witness QA).

Prosecution Witness QAH

941. Witness QAH stated that he heard of the arrival of the Presidential Guards by aircraft at the Butare airport and he heard they had killed *Préfet* Habyalimana and had started the killings in Butare town. The witness was unable to provide a specific time or date of arrival. 1879

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

- 942. Alison Des Forges stated in her Report that militiamen and members of the Presidential Guard from Kigali arrived by plane in Butare before 20 April 1994. 1880
- 943. She later acknowledged that the statement in her Report about the Presidential Guard flying into Butare airport was erroneous. According to the witness, this was a rumour prevalent in Butare at the time. On further investigation she discovered that the airplane which flew into Butare airport was actually a Belgian C-130 which landed to evacuate UN military observers and a group of Spanish nuns. Des Forges learned that the airplane was in fact dispatched by the UN through documents recording the movement of airplane related to the UN force 1883

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBTT

944. Witness WBTT testified that she and her children were evacuated on 20 April 1994 in a Belgian plane which had come from Bujumbura to Butare to evacuate nuns. 1884

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-W

945. Witness D-2-5-W testified that on the afternoon of 20 April 1994, a huge military aircraft landed at Butare airport. The aircraft had difficulties to land but managed after a third attempt. 1885

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

946. Witness D-13-D, a driver from Huye *commune*, testified that on the night of 19 April 1994, between 11.00 p.m. and midnight, the population of Butare town heard an aircraft arriving that made a lot of noise. Very early the next morning, attacks were launched against the residence of Madam Kabatesi and the massacres began in Mpare *secteur*. The following day some people said that the plane carried Presidential Guards or *Interahamwe* to perpetrate killings; others said the plane came to evacuate Belgians.

¹⁸⁷⁸ T. 8 April 2004 p. 27 (Witness QAH).

¹⁸⁷⁹ T. 8 April 2004 p. 27 (Witness QAH).

¹⁸⁸⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 29; T. 9 July 2004 pp. 24-25 (Des Forges).

¹⁸⁸¹ T. 10 June 2004 p. 49 (Des Forges).

¹⁸⁸² Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 29, fn. 80; T. 10 June 2004 p. 49 (Des Forges).

¹⁸⁸³ T. 17 June 2004 pp. 16-17 (Des Forges).

¹⁸⁸⁴ T. 31 May 2005 pp. 43-45, 48, 63 (ICS) (Witness WBTT).

¹⁸⁸⁵ T. 12 September 2007 p. 20 (Witness D-2-5-W).

¹⁸⁸⁶ T. 14 February 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁸⁸⁷ T. 19 February 2008 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-9-U

Witness D-9-U, a farmer from Nkima secteur, testified that about two weeks after the 947. death of President Habyarimana, a huge aircraft landed at Butare. The witness placed this event three days after the population had started to guard the border to push back assailants from Huye. 1888 The following morning, many soldiers accompanied by *Interahamwe* were seen around the area and it was on that day that the search for Tutsis began. 1889

Ntahobali Defence Witness WDUSA

Witness WDUSA stated that due to the small size of the Butare airstrip it was not possible and was prohibited for planes larger than 20 seats to land there. 1890 The witness said that his statements regarding the size of an aeroplane referred to civilian planes only, and that military planes like the C-130 do not need a long landing strip to land. 1891

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

949. Filip Reyntjens testified that on 20 April 1994 a Belgian military aircraft landed in Butare to evacuate expatriates and Spanish religious persons. 1892

3.6.1.4 Deliberations

- The Prosecution and Defence evidence suggests that a plane indeed landed in Butare around 20 April 1994. The Chamber does not consider the fact that the plane carried soldiers and *Interahamwe* on board to be established. On this point, the Chamber has heard the hearsay testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses QA and QAH, and those of Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-9-U and D-13-D.
- The Chamber is reluctant to give weight to Witness QA's testimony without 951. corroboration due to serious reservations about his credibility. During his first appearance before this Chamber Witness QA gave false testimony at the request of individuals living in Rwanda. 1893 The Chamber is also reluctant to give weight to the hearsay testimony of detainee Witness QAH without corroboration due to reservations about his credibility. In addition, Des Forges testified that her statement about a plane bringing soldiers to Butare in her Report was a mistake and that the plane was in fact arriving to evacuate foreigners. Her testimony was corroborated by Defence Witness WBTT and Reyntiens. 1895
- 952. The Chamber considers that the Prosecution has not led sufficient evidence to support the allegation that soldiers arrived in Butare by airplane and that these soldiers in tandem with the *Interahamwe*, took part in murdering and massacring civilians in Butare, notably the former Oueen of Rwanda, Rosalie Gicanda.

¹⁸⁸⁸ T. 4 February 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

¹⁸⁸⁹ T. 4 February 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

¹⁸⁹⁰ T. 3 April 2006 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

¹⁸⁹¹ T. 4 April 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

¹⁸⁹² T. 24 September 2007 p. 42 (Reyntjens). ¹⁸⁹³ T. 30 October 2008 p. 52 (Witness QA).

¹⁸⁹⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 29, fn. 80; T. 10 June 2004 p. 49 (Des Forges).

¹⁸⁹⁵ T. 31 May 2005 pp. 43-45 (ICS) (Witness WBTT); T. 24 September 2007 p. 42 (Reyntjens).

3.6.2 Meeting with *Bourgmestres* and Gatonde *Secteur* Meeting, 20 April 1994

3.6.2.1 Introduction

- 953. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that in the days following his taking office, Nsabimana called a meeting of all the *bourgmestres* of the *préfecture* where he was informed of the extent of the massacres of Tutsis that had begun in Butare. The Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took no decision, nor did he propose any measures to stop the massacres, and thus, the *bourgmestres* returned to their *communes* and ordered the massacres to continue, and that the administrative authorities who opposed this order were dismissed. 1896
- 954. The Prosecution further submits, without giving a precise time frame, that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings in Butare *préfecture* during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. ¹⁸⁹⁷ Nsabimana's role in the conspiracy to commit genocide was, *inter alia*, to convene and attend meetings to give effect to the plan. ¹⁸⁹⁸ The Prosecution contends that every meeting resulted in a decision leading to the execution of the common plan to kill Tutsis. The conspiracy was continuous and endorsed in subsequent meetings held by the Accused, including Nsabimana. ¹⁸⁹⁹
- Specifically, the Prosecution submits that on 20 April 1994, Nsabimana convened a meeting bringing together the *bourgmestres* of the *préfecture* where he revisited the objectives, which consisted of fighting the enemy and erecting roadblocks to prevent the enemy from taking up positions in the country. The enemy, as described by Prime Minister Kambanda at the 19 April 1994 meeting, were described as Tutsis, the *Inkotanvi* and Tutsi accomplices. 1900 The participants at the meeting are alleged to have agreed that the "infiltrators" were responsible for the violence and the local Tutsi residents were armed RPF agents. The Prosecution argues that this meeting planned ahead for the hunt that would follow the first massacres; the participants talked of eliminating hiding places, such as empty houses, and of directing all residents to cut the "brush" around their houses. 1901 According to the Prosecution, the meeting destroyed the last hope of most bourgmestres opposed to the genocide, and the only inference to be drawn from this meeting (and the 19 April 1994 meeting) is that massacres of Tutsis were planned, as evidence shows that massacres took place at Kabakobwa, Matyazo, Kabuye Hill and elsewhere in Butare. 1902 In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness RV and Prosecution Expert Witnesses André Guichaoua and Alison Des Forges.
- 956. The Prosecution also refers to a meeting that allegedly took place in Gatonde *secteur*, Ntyazo *commune*, Butare *préfecture*, at the end of April 1994. It alleges that the purpose of this meeting was to inform the participants that orders had been given from a meeting held in Butare to kill the Tutsis. The president of the MDR party in Gatonde *secteur* chaired the meeting and told the participants that Nsabimana had openly told him that killing Tutsis should

¹⁸⁹⁶ Para. 6.26 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

¹⁸⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 231, para. 9.

¹⁸⁹⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 232, paras. 14-15.

¹⁸⁹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 238, para. 34.

¹⁹⁰⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 236-237, para. 32.

¹⁹⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 237, para. 32.

¹⁹⁰² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 236, para. 32; p. 403, para. 64.

not be only the responsibility of other *préfectures* but that Butare should do the same. The Prosecution alleges that after this meeting, the Gatonde *conseiller* assembled members of the population from the secteur and told them that the Tutsis had been delivered to be killed, given that they had plotted against the government. The few Tutsis present fled and the Hutus started burning their houses, and after this meeting Hutus started killing Tutsis at roadblocks. 1903 In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on Witness FAI.

957. The Nsabimana Defence does not challenge the Prosecution's allegation that on 19 April 1994, Nsabimana called a meeting of all the bourgmestres for the following day. 1904 However, in addition to its submission that Paragraph 6.26 of the Indictment is unduly vague, addressed below, the Nsabimana Defence, relying on Nsabimana's testimony, rejects the allegation that during this meeting Nsabimana was informed about the massacres in the préfecture, as well as any implicit allegation that the purpose of the meeting was to launch, extend or organise killings in Butare. 1905 The Defence submits that Nsabimana, as the newly installed préfet, requested the meeting to be informed about the current situation in the préfecture. 1906 The Nsabimana Defence asserts that none of the Prosecution witnesses testified to Nsabimana having received information on the extent of the massacres in Butare during the alleged meeting. 1907 The Nsabimana Defence denies that the purpose of the 20 April 1994 meeting was to organise killings and denies that the meeting was the catalyst for massacres in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁹⁰⁸ Nsabimana testified on his own behalf with respect to this allegation.

Further, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Nsabimana cannot be held responsible 958. for the dismissal of the three bourgmestres on 17 June 1994, since he neither took that decision nor instigated it. 1909 The Nsabimana Defence further refers to the killing of some bourgmestres which occurred sometime after the 20 April 1994 meeting, and argues that there is confusion in the Prosecution's case because no link has been established between the 20 April 1994 meeting and these deaths. 1910 In support of its submission, the Nsabimana Defence relies on Prosecution Witness RV and Expert Witness André Guichaoua.

Regarding the allegation concerning the meeting in Gatonde secteur, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Witness FAI's testimony cannot be relied upon because it is not credible. 1911

3.6.2.2 Preliminary Issues

The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.26 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is unduly vague in that it does not provide the date or place of the meeting specified, the names of the bourgmestres in attendance, or the identity of the authorities who

```
<sup>1903</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 238, para. 34.
```

¹⁹⁰⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 254.

¹⁹⁰⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 254; T. 12 September 2006 pp. 61-64 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁰⁶ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 61-64 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁰⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 257, 259.

¹⁹⁰⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 299, 303.

¹⁹⁰⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 317-322.

¹⁹¹⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 323-330.

¹⁹¹¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para, 278.

were allegedly dismissed for opposing the order to carry on the massacres. ¹⁹¹² The Prosecution concedes that the date of 20 April 1994 was not specifically pled in Paragraph 6.26 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, but argues that a reading of the Indictment in its entirety makes clear that Nsabimana had notice that the meeting would fall within Paragraph 6.26. ¹⁹¹³

- 961. The Chamber notes that while Paragraph 6.26 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment makes a general accusation that Nsabimana called a meeting of all the *bourgmestres* of the *préfecture* in the days following his taking office, the reference to the alleged meeting in the Indictment is exceedingly broad, and did not adequately provide Nsabimana with sufficient notice to prepare his defence with respect to this allegation. The Indictment is therefore defective in this respect.
- 962. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber must determine whether Paragraph 6.26 was cured of its defects through subsequent disclosure by the Prosecution. The Chamber notes that in its opening statement, the Prosecution alleged that Nsabimana summoned the *bourgmestres* to a meeting on 20 April 1994, in order to organise "work". ¹⁹¹⁴
- 963. The Chamber further notes that in his 2 October 1997 statement, Witness RV stated that he met Nsabimana on the day he was sworn in, and that during the ceremony, Nsabimana asked all the *bourgmestres* to attend a meeting the following day, 20 April 1994. During the meeting in question, Nsabimana presented his work plan and asked the people to increase the frequency of the patrols in order to prevent the RPF from infiltrating. According to Witness RV, the situation in the neighbouring *communes* was serious because houses were being burned down. Faced with these threats, Witness RV stated that he informed the *sous-préfet* of the matter. ¹⁹¹⁶ According to Witness RV, the *sous-préfet* passed along the information to Nsabimana, who said to wait until the end of the meeting. Witness RV alleges that he did not receive a 'positive answer'.
- 964. Witness RV was not listed as a potential witness in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief because he was added to the Prosecution's witness list on 24 July 2001. The Nsabimana Defence, however, was provided with Witness RV's previous statements in three separate disclosures on 14 March 2001, 23 May 2001 and 27 May 2002, well before the witness started his examination-in-chief on 16 February 2004. The Chamber considers the length of time between the disclosure of Witness RV's statements to the Nsabimana Defence and the witness' testimony in court alleviated any possible prejudice that might have been

_

¹⁹¹² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 243-247.

Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 52-53.

¹⁹¹⁴ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 76.

¹⁹¹⁵ 2 October 1997, Statement of Witness RV, disclosed 14 March 2001.

¹⁹¹⁶ 2 October 1997, Statement of Witness RV, disclosed 14 March 2001.

¹⁹¹⁷ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses (TC), 24 July 2001, para. 14.

caused to the Nsabimana Defence by the later addition of Witness RV to the Prosecution witness list. 1918

965. The Chamber finds that the disclosure of Witness RV's previous statements, together with the information contained in the Prosecution opening statement, sufficiently informed Nsabimana of the material facts the Prosecution intended to prove at trial. Nsabimana was therefore able to adequately prepare his defence with regard to this allegation.

3.6.2.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness RV

966. Witness RV, a Hutu and former civil servant who was detained at the time he testified, gave evidence that he was awoken on the morning of 20 April 1994 by Ndayambaje and a priest by the name of Father Tiziano, and was told that there was 'no security' in Mugombwa secteur. Witness RV went to Mugombwa where he saw armed attackers. He then travelled to Butare where he spoke with Sous-préfet Dominique Ntawukulilyayo about his security concerns. Witness RV testified that the sous-préfet told him that he would speak to Nsabimana about the matter. Witness RV testified that the sous-préfet later confirmed that he had discussed the matter with Nsabimana, and that the issue would be addressed at the meeting being held later that morning.

967. Witness RV testified that the meeting, chaired by Nsabimana, was held at approximately 11.00 am on 20 April 1994, bringing together *bourgmestres*, *sous-préfets*, heads of departments in the *préfecture*, and other senior officers, and that during the meeting Nsabimana revisited the objectives, which consisted of fighting the enemy, carrying out patrols and erecting roadblocks to prevent the enemy from taking up positions in the country. Witness RV testified that the "enemy" as defined by Prime Minister Jean Kambanda, was the *Inkotanyi* as well as their accomplices who, as he understood, were Tutsis or Hutus who had ideas that supported the RPF. Witness RV further testified that Nsabimana did not address the security concerns that RV had previously raised with *Sous-préfet* Ntawukulilyayo regarding the situation in Mugombwa, and that at around 7.00 p.m. that same day the witness left Butare to return to Muganza *commune*.

968. Witness RV further testified that on 18 June 1994, the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* was dismissed in order to be replaced by the former *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje. Other *bourgmestres* were dismissed at the same time, on the grounds that they had not been capable of maintaining security and safety. ¹⁹²⁵

-

¹⁹¹⁸ Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35.

¹⁹¹⁹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²⁰ T. 16 February 2004 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²¹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²² T. 16 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 35, 37 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹²⁵ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 4-5 (ICS) (Witness RV).

Prosecution Witness FAI

- 969. Witness FAI, a Hutu health worker who was appointed to public office in May 1994 and a detained witness when he gave evidence, testified that at the end of April 1994, a secret meeting was held in Gatonde *secteur*, Ntyazo *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. The meeting was chaired by Zaché Twagiramungu, president of the MDR party in Ntyazo *commune* and attended by Hutu intellectuals, including two teachers, a trader, a businessman, a *conseiller* and the witness. Twagiramungu informed the attendees that he had attended a meeting in Butare sometime between 20 and 25 April during which the new *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana, had openly stated that other *préfectures* should not bear the responsibility of killing Tutsis alone and that Butare should also be responsible for killings. The purpose of the meeting in Gatonde *secteur* was to transmit the order that Tutsis should be killed. Twagiramungu said that he had been invited to attend the meeting with Nsabimana because of his capacity as President of the MDR party in Ntyazo *commune*.
- 970. After the meeting, the *conseiller* assembled a group of young men from Gatonde *secteur* and informed them that Tutsis had to be killed as they had plotted against the country. The few Tutsis who were present in the *commune* fled and the Hutus started burning Tutsi homes. After the meeting, Tutsis were killed at the roadblock in front of the Nyamure Health Centre. ¹⁹³¹
- 971. In cross-examination, it was suggested to Witness FAI that he had not mentioned the secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur* in any of his previous statements. The witness stated that he had very briefly mentioned the meeting and hoped to be able to provide more details during his testimony. ¹⁹³²

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

972. Alison Des Forges did not directly testify about the 20 April 1994 meeting; however, in her Report she stated that on the day after his swearing-in, Nsabimana chaired a well-attended meeting of the *préfecture* security committee during which the participants agreed that "infiltrators" accounted for the mounting violence; that such persons must be arrested and brought to the authorities; that military operations would be executed to disarm those who were armed; that search operations should be carried out whenever solid information indicated the need; and that administrative meetings should be held the next day with subordinate officials and other local leaders "who could contribute to restoring security". 1933

¹⁹²⁶ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹²⁷ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 7-9 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹²⁸ T. 31 October 2002 p. 8 (ICS); T. 4 November 2002 p. 52 (Witness FAI).

¹⁹²⁹ T. 31 October 2002 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹³⁰ T. 31 October 2002 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹³¹ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹³² T. 4 November 2002 p. 100 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹³³ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 23.

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

- 973. André Guichaoua testified that on 20 April 1994, Nsabimana chaired a meeting of bourgmestres. According to Guichaoua, the objective of this meeting was to implement directives adopted by the highest State authorities announced the previous day, and after the meeting massacres commenced in the *communes* of the *préfecture*. 1934
- 974. Guichaoua further testified that the local officials were to implement the instructions and orders set forth at the 20 April 1994 meeting, and that they were to be assessed or rejected based on their actions pursuant to those orders. The witness referred to some local *bourgmestres* who were murdered soon after the meeting took place, namely Jean-Marie Vinne Gisagara, the *bourgmestre* of Nyabisindo, Narcissi Nyajasaza, the *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo, Jean-Batiste Nyagaza and Denis Simonyo. 1935

Nsabimana

- 975. Nsabimana testified that he held a meeting with the *bourgmestres* in Butare *préfecture* at the MRND party house, on 20 April 1994. Nsabimana testified that the meeting took the form of a panel, where he asked the *bourgmestres* whether there were displaced persons in their respective *communes*, or whether massacres had taken place. He testified that the *bourgmestres* generally told him that there had not been massacres in their *communes* except for some 10 or 15 persons. Nsabimana testified that he had already seen people moving about, that the town was teeming with people, and thus he was expecting to hear whether people had been killed in the *communes*, or if there were criminals around. 1937
- 976. Nsabimana testified that after the questions of massacres and displaced persons were discussed, the participants addressed the issue of how the on-going problems were to be solved in the *communes*. ¹⁹³⁸ Nsabimana testified that some resolutions relating to issues of security, famine, displaced persons, refugees and petrol were discussed. He further stated that it was noted that a number of people had to be arrested. ¹⁹³⁹
- 977. Nsabimana testified that during the meeting of 20 April 1994, Colonel Muvunyi announced to the *bourgmestres* that young persons would be recruited into the Rwandan army, but no plan on how to conduct the recruitment was discussed. Nsabimana denied that anyone defined the strategy for fighting the enemy during the meeting. Nsabimana testified that he did not know what the "enemy" would have meant, and that neither he nor the *bourgmestres* present were soldiers, and thus they would not be discussing "how to go to war". ¹⁹⁴⁰ Nsabimana disagreed with Expert Witness Guichaoua's interpretation of the purpose of the 20 April 1994 meeting. ¹⁹⁴¹

¹⁹³⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 155; T. 29 June 2004 pp. 22-23 (Guichaoua).

¹⁹³⁵ T. 22 June 2004 p. 22 (Guichaoua).

¹⁹³⁶ T. 12 September 2006 p. 48 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹³⁷ T. 12 September 2006 p. 53 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹³⁸ T. 12 September 2006 p. 53 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹³⁹ T. 12 September 2006 p. 61 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁴⁰ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 61-62 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁴¹ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 64-67 (Nsabimana).

- 978. Nsabimana also testified that while *Sous-préfet* Hakizamungu was taking down official minutes of the meeting, he himself took notes as well as he could, though he undoubtedly left out a number of things and might have added a few others. ¹⁹⁴² Nsabimana testified that on 21 or 22 April 1994, he had the opportunity to see Hakizamungu's notes, and that Hakizamungu told Nsabimana what he had written. Nsabimana testified that he could recognise Hakizamungu's handwriting. ¹⁹⁴³ The English translation of Hakizamungu's notes was admitted into evidence during Nsabimana's testimony as Defence Exhibit 465C. ¹⁹⁴⁴
- 979. When confronted with FAI's testimony, Nsabimana denied that the meeting at Gatonde *secteur* took place. He further explained the meeting he held on 20 April 1994 with all the *bourgmestres* was only open to certain people and there was no reason for someone in Zaché Twagiramungu's position to attend such a meeting. 1945

3.6.2.4 Deliberations

980. It is not disputed that Nsabimana called a meeting of *bourgmestres* for the 20 April 1994, the day after his swearing-in. Nsabimana confirmed this in his testimony. The issues before the Chamber are: the purpose and content of the meeting; whether Nsabimana was informed, during the meeting, about the extent of the ongoing massacres; whether, upon return to the *communes*, the various *bourgmestres* who took part in the said meeting ordered the slaughter to continue; and thus whether Nsabimana's inaction at the meeting resulted in a continuation of the massacres.

- 981. The Chamber notes that both Des Forges and Guichaoua gave evidence with respect to the 20 April 1994 meeting either in testimony or through their respective Reports. The Chamber recalls that while it may not rely on expert witness evidence alone to prove a factual allegation in support of a count, it may, however, use expert evidence to interpret a fact once it is proven. 1946
- 982. The Chamber further observes that Witness RV is the only factual Prosecution witness to testify about the 20 April 1994 meeting. The Chamber considers that Witness RV was a detained witness at the time of his testimony, and was subject to potential further criminal proceedings in Rwanda; that he had previously confessed to aiding in the murder of Tutsis in *Gacaca* proceedings;¹⁹⁴⁷ and that during April 1994, Witness RV was a figure of authority in Butare, which might entail that his testimony could be that of an accomplice. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber will treat Witness RV's testimony with appropriate caution.
- 983. In order to assess Nsabimana's responsibility with regard to his alleged failure to stop the killings, the Chamber must first consider whether or not, despite any decision that might or might have not been taken by Nsabimana at this meeting, the killings continued after 20 April 1994 in the various *communes*, and whether they were carried out under the instructions of the *bourgmestres* who attended the meeting.

¹⁹⁴² T. 12 September 2006 pp. 53-54 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁴³ T. 12 September 2006 p. 54 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁴⁴ Defence Exhibit 465C was admitted into evidence on 12 September 2006.

¹⁹⁴⁵ T. 20 November 2006 p. 56 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁴⁶ See Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 287.

¹⁹⁴⁷ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 33-36 (ICS) (Witness RV).

- 984. The Chamber has found that massacres took place at various locations in Butare, including Kabakobwa (), Matyazo () and Kabuye Hill (), in the period after the 20 April meeting.
- 985. As to the content of the 20 April 1994 meeting, Witness RV testified that during the meeting Nsabimana revisited the objectives, which consisted of fighting the enemy, carrying out patrols and erecting roadblocks to prevent the enemy from taking up positions in the country. Similarly, Guichaoua gave evidence that during the meeting, the implementation of directives adopted by the State authorities was discussed. Nsabimana's testimony partially corroborates this evidence. He testified, in more general terms, that in the course of the meeting, the massacres, security, famine, displaced persons, refugees and petrol were discussed, and that solutions for these problems were also addressed.
- 986. Nsabimana's testimony finds corroboration in Defence Exhibit 465C, a copy of the notes taken by *Sous-préfet* Hakizamungu during the 20 April 1994 meeting. The Exhibit contains the subject heading: "Infiltration by people seeking to cause unrests", and lists six topics covered during the meeting. The first was to obtain information in order to identify people who support the RPF and who are in possession of weapons. Such people were to be arrested and handed over to the authorities. Under this subheading are six bullet points: (1) intervention to be limited to disarming those who are armed; (2) searches to be conducted on the basis of accurate information; (3) contact with Gikongoro administrative authorities; (4) meetings to be held with administrative authorities capable of restoring security; (5) displaced persons to return to their homes, and to receive assistance; and (6) search for the leaders: identify them and know where they are located. ¹⁹⁵¹
- 987. Witness RV testified that he raised the matter of his concern over security in Mugombwa *secteur* with *Sous-préfet* Ntawukulilyayo, who also stated that he would raise the issue with Nsabimana. Later, according to Witness RV, the *sous-préfet* confirmed that he had done so. 1952 Nsabimana testified that he asked the *bourgmestres* whether massacres were occurring in their respective *communes*, but was told that generally they were not. 1953 Defence Exhibit 465C, however, indicates that during the meeting it was stated that the people of Nyabisindu *commune* said that their "kith and kin" had been "exterminated". 1954
- 988. The Chamber observes that Witness RV provided no detail as to what exactly is alleged to have been said to Nsabimana by *Sous-préfet* Ntawukulilyayo, and notes that the issue of whether any information regarding the witness' security concerns was in fact passed on to Nsabimana is hearsay and uncorroborated.

_

¹⁹⁴⁸ T. 16 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness RV).

Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 155; T. 29 June 2004 pp. 22-23 (Guichaoua).

¹⁹⁵⁰ T. 12 September 2006 pp. 53, 61 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁵¹ Defence Exhibit 465C (Nsabimana) (Minutes of the Security meeting chaired by Nsabimana on 20 April 1994) pp. 1-2.

¹⁹⁵² T. 16 February 2004 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁹⁵³ T. 12 September 2006 p. 53 (Nsabimana).

¹⁹⁵⁴ Defence Exhibit 465C (Nsabimana) (Minutes of the Security meeting chaired by Nsabimana on 20 April 1994) p. 2.

- 989. The only other reference to potential massacres in the record is the abovementioned statement contained in Defence Exhibit 465C, regarding the extermination in Nyabisindu *commune*. No other information which could be construed as relating to on-going massacres is provided.
- 990. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the 20 April 1994 meeting primarily dealt with issues of safety, security, displaced persons, and measures to be taken in order to keep the situation under control. It has not been established that the furtherance of the massacres was discussed.
- 991. The Chamber further recalls the testimony of Witnesses RV and Guichaoua, that right after the meeting some of the *bourgmestres* were dismissed, replaced, or even murdered. However, the Chamber notes that Guichaoua did not give a clear explanation as to why such measures were taken, and Witness RV generally stated it was done because these administrative authorities had not been capable of maintaining security and safety. The Chamber thus finds the evidence has not established that these repercussions were a consequence of the fact that the said *bourgmestres* had opposed the orders given by Nsabimana at the 20 April meeting. No other evidence was led in relation to the events taking place right after the meeting. Therefore, and considering that it was not established that Nsabimana gave any order relating to the progress of the massacres during the meeting, no link can be drawn between the dismissal of the said authorities and the furtherance of the massacres.
- 992. Having weighed all the evidence before it, the Chamber finds that it was not established beyond a reasonable doubt that during the 20 April meeting Nsabimana was "informed of the extent of massacres of Tutsi that had begun in the *communes* of Butare", as the Indictment alleges. Furthermore, it was not proven that after the 20 April 1994 meeting the *bourgmestres* returned to their *communes* and ordered to kill, while those who refused to do so were dismissed. Therefore, though it has been found that after the 20 April massacres occurred in various locations in Butare, a link between these massacres and the said meeting was not established. Accordingly, the Chamber finds it has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt that, as a consequence to Nsabimana's failure to take any measure with a view to stop the killings during the 20 April 1994 meeting, the slaughter continued.
- 993. The Prosecution also seeks to use Witness FAI's testimony on the secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur* to illustrate that Nsabimana's orders to kill Tutsis were implemented on the ground. The Prosecution does not allege that Nsabimana was present at the secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur*, but the evidence adduced was used to provide the content of a previous meeting, allegedly held by Nsabimana between 20 and 25 April 1994. Witness FAI testified that the chairman of the secret meeting, Zaché Twagiramungu, told the participants that he had attended an earlier meeting held between 20 and 25 April 1994 during which Nsabimana had ordered the killing of Tutsis. After the secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur*, Tutsis were killed. 1957

 $^{^{1955}}$ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 4-5 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 22 June 2004 p. 22 (Guichaoua).

¹⁹⁵⁶ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 7-9 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁹⁵⁷ T. 31 October 2002 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

- 994. In relation to the content of secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur*, where Zaché Twagiramungu allegedly reported Nsabimana's orders to kill, the Chamber notes that Witness FAI's testimony is uncorroborated hearsay.
- 995. Further, the Chamber notes there are credibility issues in relation to Witness FAI. The witness pled guilty to crimes including genocide in 1997 and was a detained witness awaiting sentence when he gave evidence before the Tribunal, in 2002. The Chamber exercises appropriate caution when deliberating on the testimony of an accomplice witness, particularly since Witness FAI was detained at the time of his testimony. The Chamber considers that Witness FAI's testimony may have been motivated by a hope that, by testifying against Nsabimana he would receive favourable or lenient treatment when sentenced. The Chamber further notes that in his previous statement of 24 February 2000, Witness FAI mentioned that Zaché Twagiramungu told him that he had attended a meeting at which Nsabimana had ordered the extermination of Tutsis. However, the witness made no reference in this statement to any secret meeting subsequently held in Gatonde *secteur*, during which Zaché Twagiramungu allegedly informed Hutu intellectuals about Nsabimana's orders. 1959
- 996. In view of the nature of Witness FAI's evidence as uncorroborated hearsay in relation to the secret meeting in Gatonde *secteur*, the credibility issues outlined above and the omission of key aspects of his testimony from his previous statement, the Chamber does not consider Witness FAI's testimony to be credible on this particular event.
- 997. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution did not provide any further evidence concerning a meeting held in Gatonde *secteur*, or any evidence to establish that Zaché Twagiramungu in fact stated that Nsabimana had issued orders to kill at a previous meeting. The Chamber also recalls Nsabimana's testimony that Zaché Twagiramungu would not have had any reason to attend the *secteur*-level meeting of 20 April 1994, as it was not open to persons in his position, *i.e.* a *commune*-level party president. Further, as found above, no evidence was led that Nsabimana actually issued orders to kill Tutsis at the meeting of 20 April 1994.
- 998. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to establish that a meeting chaired by Zaché Twagiramungu was held in Gatonde *secteur* at the end of April 1994, during which Nsabimana's orders to kill Tutsis, previously issued at another meeting, were conveyed to the participants.

3.6.3 Sahera Secteur Office Meeting, 20 April 1994

3.6.3.1 Introduction

999. Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment provides that on several occasions between 20 April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed the soldiers and militiamen, and certain members of the civilian population, to search for Tutsis who had escaped the massacres, in order to exterminate them. These instructions were given notably on

. .

¹⁹⁵⁸ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 96-97 (Witness FAI).

T. 4 November 2002 p. 100 (ICS) (Witness FAI); Defence Exhibit 82 (Nsabimana) List of Alleged Omissions; 24 February 2000, 22 October 2000, 28 January 2001, 12 October 2001, Statements of Witness FAI). T. 20 November 2006 p. 56 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

21 April 1994 in Butare, in late April in Save, and in June 1994 near Butare. Paragraph 6.28 of the same Indictment alleges that in Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi, meeting the commitment he had made on the occasion of President Sindikubwabo's speech at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony, took the necessary measures for Tutsis to be eliminated. 1962

1000. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi directly participated in the massacres of Tutsis through his acts, conduct, utterances and directives in Butare *préfecture*, between April and July 1994. ¹⁹⁶³ It contends that in April 1994, Kanyabashi came to the *secteur* office and told the *conseiller* when he was going to start the killings and that in other areas they had finished the killing. ¹⁹⁶⁴ Kanyabashi asked him what he was going to do. ¹⁹⁶⁵ The next day the *Interahamwe* told Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa Hill, where many people died. ¹⁹⁶⁶ The Prosecution submits that the *conseillers* were vital in encouraging and leading the attackers against the Tutsis. ¹⁹⁶⁷ In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness QAM.

1001. In addition to its contention that the Indictment is defective, ¹⁹⁶⁸ the Kanyabashi Defence cites the testimony of Prosecution Witness QCB stating that on 20 April 1994, Kanyabashi went to Kabuga asking the population not to harm the refugees as Kanyabashi did not want killings to take place within Ngoma *commune*. ¹⁹⁶⁹ Finally, the Defence submits that Witness QAM was part of a group that fabricated false testimony against Kanyabashi. ¹⁹⁷⁰ In support of this submission the Defence relies on Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-21-T. ¹⁹⁷¹

3.6.3.2 Preliminary Issues

1002. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that this meeting was not mentioned in the Kanyabashi Indictment and therefore the Indictment is defective. The Chamber observes that the alleged meeting between Kanyabashi and the *conseiller* of Sahera on around 20 April 1994, is not specifically pled in the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective in this regard.

1003. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness QAM, who was expected to testify that Kanyabashi went to her *secteur* shortly before the massacres began and gave instructions to the *conseiller*, saying: "What are you waiting for? Your people are not doing anything, whereas others have already finished the job." 1973

¹⁹⁶¹ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

¹⁹⁶² Para. 6.28 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

¹⁹⁶³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 405, paras. 73-75.

¹⁹⁶⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 397, para. 41.

¹⁹⁶⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 406, para. 78.

¹⁹⁶⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 397, para. 41.

¹⁹⁶⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 417, para. 114.

¹⁹⁶⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 42.

¹⁹⁶⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 42.

¹⁹⁷⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 155.

¹⁹⁷¹ The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witness D-2-21-T as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

¹⁹⁷² Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 42.

¹⁹⁷³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAM (2).

The Chamber notes that neither the location nor the time frame are clearly specified in the summary of Witness QAM's intended evidence.

1004. The Chamber observes that Witness QAM's prior statement, dated 20 May 1997, was disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998 and in unredacted form on 23 April 2001. This statement made a specific reference to the meeting between Kanyabashi and the *conseiller*. Witness QAM identified her *secteur* as Sahera and clearly specified that the massacres began in her *secteur* on 23 April 1994. Kanyabashi came to her *secteur* the day before the massacres and said to the *conseiller*, "what are you waiting for; your people are not doing anything whereas others have already finished the job." These disclosures were made well before the start of Witness QAM's testimony on 22 October 2001.

1005. The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence and the prior statement of Witness QAM provided adequate details as to the exact date and the specific locations of this meeting. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that the Kanyabashi Indictment was cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information. Consequently, Kanyabashi was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence case.

3.6.3.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QAM

1006. Witness QAM, a 19 year-old Tutsi student in 1994, ¹⁹⁷⁶ testified that Joseph Kanyabashi was the *bourgmestre* of her *commune* in 1994. ¹⁹⁷⁷ Prior to April 1994, the witness saw Kanyabashi come to the *secteur* office to hold meetings with members of the population, on four occasions. ¹⁹⁷⁸ She described Kanyabashi as a dark-skinned man, but who was not very dark, aged about 50 years in 1994. ¹⁹⁷⁹ She identified Kanyabashi in court. ¹⁹⁸⁰

1007. Witness QAM testified that the last time she saw Kanyabashi was when he came to the Sahera *secteur* office. She testified that it was an evening on or after 20 April 1994 and a short time before people were attacked at Kabakobwa. Kanyabashi travelled in a vehicle, but the witness did not specify as to which type of vehicle it was. The vehicle stopped at the *secteur* office and Kanyabashi came out alone. Kanyabashi then met the *conseiller* of Sahera outside the *secteur* office, slightly to the side of the door. There was nobody else

¹⁹⁷⁴ 20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAM, disclosed 4 November 1998; Unredacted Statement of Witness QAM, disclosed 23 April 2001.

¹⁹⁷⁵ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105.

¹⁹⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 43 (Personal Particulars).

¹⁹⁷⁷ T. 22 October 2001 p. 46 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁷⁸ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 46, 139-140 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁷⁹ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁰ T. 22 October 2001 p. 76 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸¹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸² T. 22 October 2001 pp. 47, 49, 98; T. 23 October 2001 p. 41 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸³ T. 23 October 2001 p. 42 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁴ T. 23 October 2001 p. 42 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁵ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 54, 56 (Witness QAM).

apart from Kanyabashi and the *conseiller* during this encounter. ¹⁹⁸⁶ Kanyabashi addressed the *conseiller*, saying: "Elsewhere they have already finished killing. What are you waiting for as far as you are concerned." ¹⁹⁸⁷ Kanyabashi immediately left after talking to the *conseiller*. ¹⁹⁸⁸ Witness QAM was about three metres away from Kanyabashi when Kanyabashi spoke. ¹⁹⁸⁹ She heard everything that Kanyabashi said, but not the statements of the *conseiller*, as she moved away once Kanyabashi stopped speaking. ¹⁹⁹⁰ At that time, the witness was with three or four other young people on the road next to the *secteur* office. ¹⁹⁹¹ None of these young people were members of her family, and they were no longer alive. ¹⁹⁹² She could only remember two of their names. ¹⁹⁹³

1008. Witness QAM testified that after hearing what Kanyabashi said, she and the other children went back to her house. Upon their arrival, the witness reported to her mother what Kanyabashi had said to the *conseiller*. Her family decided not to sleep at their house that night and instead spent the night in a school just below their house. They returned home the next morning at around 5.00 a.m. ¹⁹⁹⁴

1009. Confronted with her prior statement of 20 May 1997, which stated that upon hearing what Kanyabashi said, Witness QAM and the young people she was with tried to escape but were told by the *conseiller* that they had nothing to fear, Witness QAM suggested the statement was not an accurate reflection of what she said but conceded that she could not remember everything she told the investigators at that time as it was a long time ago. 1995

1010. Witness QAM testified that she did not know Rose Burizihiza or Béllancie Knavire. 1996

Prosecution Witness QCB

1011. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detainee at the time of his testimony, ¹⁹⁹⁷ testified that on 20 April 1994, refugees from Gishamvu, Runyinya and Nyakizu came down to Ngoma *commune*. The refugees went by the school located between Sahera and Nkubi *secteurs*. Upon the refugees' arrival, *Conseillers* Kanyabahizi and Habyarimana Pascal went to report to Kanyabashi about what they had noticed. Shortly after, Kanyabashi convened the members of population of Sahera and Nkubi *secteurs* and the refugees to a meeting during which, Kanyabashi stated that he did not want any crimes to be committed in his *commune*. On

_

¹⁹⁸⁶ T. 23 October 2001 p. 54 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁷ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 49-52 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁸ T. 23 October 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁸⁹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 51 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁹⁰ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 56-57 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁹¹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 51; T. 23 October 2001 p. 43 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁹² T. 23 October 2001 pp. 43-44, 48 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 2 (Kanyabashi) (Two Handwritten Names).

¹⁹⁹³ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 43-44, 48 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 2 (Kanyabashi) (Two Handwritten Names)

¹⁹⁹⁴ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 57-58 (Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁹⁵ T. 23 October 2001 p. 63 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 4B (Kanyabashi) (20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAM).

¹⁹⁹⁶ T. 22 October 2001 p. 106 (ICS); T. 22 October 2001 pp. 127-128 (HC) (Witness QAM) (French).

¹⁹⁹⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).

that day, Witness QCB spent the night with the refugees in order to protect them from attacks perpetrated by assailants from Gishamvu. 1998

3.6.3.4 Deliberations

- 1012. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of a single eyewitness, Witness QAM, in support of its allegation that on around 20 April 1994, Kanyabashi came to the Sahera *secteur* office, met with the *conseiller* and asked him why the killings had not yet started in Sahera. Witness QAM's evidence is that she was with other children very near the *secteur* office when Kanyabashi arrived and met with the *conseiller* outside the office. She was about three metres away from Kanyabashi and heard everything that Kanyabashi said to the *conseiller*.
- 1013. Witness QCB testified that on 20 April 1994, refugees from Gishamvu, Runyinya and Nyakizu came to settle at a place located between Sahera and Nkubi *secteurs*, Ngoma *commune*. Upon the refugees' arrival, Kanyabashi convened the members of population of Sahera and Nkubi *secteurs* and the refugees to a meeting during which, Kanyabashi declared that he did not want any crimes to be committed in his *commune*. 2003
- 1014. The Chamber observes that Witness QCB's testimony relates to a specific meeting which may have also taken place on around 20 April 1994; however it does not rule out the possibility that another meeting took place at some point the same day without Witness QCB's knowledge.
- 1015. The Chamber is not convinced by Witness QAM's testimony regarding her presence at the location from where she was alleged to have heard Kanyabashi's address to the *conseiller* on around 20 April 1994. The Chamber observes that it is unlikely that Witness QAM could remember and repeat the words that Kanyabashi might have said to the *conseiller*, but was unable to provide the number and especially the identity of all children with whom she was alleged to have been playing at that time. Witness QAM merely disclosed the family name of two children and not their first names and claimed that none of these children were members of her family. In addition, Witness QAM's testimony lacks details regarding the type or colour of the vehicle that was used by Kanyabashi. Assuming that Witness QAM was present when Kanyabashi allegedly met with the *conseiller*, the Chamber considers that her testimony still requires corroboration in order to be reliable.
- 1016. Consequently, the Chamber is of the view that the Prosecution has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi met with the *conseiller* of Sahera *secteur* at the *secteur* office, on around 20 April 1994. Because the Chamber has concluded that the Prosecution has failed to prove this allegation for independent reasons, it need not address the

¹⁹⁹⁸ T. 28 March 2002 pp. 111-112 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

¹⁹⁹⁹ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 47-52, 98; T. 23 October 2001 p. 56 (Witness QAM).

²⁰⁰⁰ T. 22 October 2001 p. 51; T. 23 October 2001 pp. 40, 48 (Witness QAM).

²⁰⁰¹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 51; T. 23 October 2001 p. 57 (Witness QAM).

²⁰⁰² T. 28 March 2002 p. 111 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

²⁰⁰³ T. 28 March 2002 p. 111 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

²⁰⁰⁴ T. 23 October 2001 p. 43 (Witness QAM).

²⁰⁰⁵ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 40, 42 (Witness QAM).

impact of Witness D-2-21-T's testimony on Witness QAM's credibility as regards this allegation.

3.6.4 Mugombwa Church Massacre, 20-21 April 1994

3.6.4.1 Introduction

- 1017. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that before and during the events referred to therein, Ndayambaje distributed weapons to the militiamen and certain carefully selected members of the civilian population with the intent to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices." The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje distributed weapons to Hutu attackers at Mugombwa Church in April 1994 in order to facilitate the massacre there. 2007
- 1018. Paragraph 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment states that from 20 April 1994 in Muganza commune and the surrounding area. Ndayambaje ordered, supervised and participated in massacres of the Tutsi population, committed by militiamen, soldiers, commune policemen and commune authorities.²⁰⁰⁸
- 1019. The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje facilitated the massacre at Mugombwa Church in April 1994 through the acts specified in Paragraphs 5.13 and 6.37. 2009
- 1020. In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAR, FAG, TU and FAU.
- 1021. The Ndayambaje Defence does not dispute that attacks took place at Mugombwa Church on Wednesday, 20 and Thursday, 21 April 1994. The Ndayambaje Defence submits, however, that the Indictment is unduly vague and does not adequately inform the Accused of the allegation that he participated in the massacre at Mugombwa Church or that he was alleged to have distributed weapons at the massacre site. 2011
- 1022. In the alternative, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Prosecution witnesses lacked credibility, that Ndayambaje was not present at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994, and therefore, the Accused could not have ordered, supervised or participated in the massacre there or distributed weapons to the attackers. 2012 The Defence submits that Ndavambaje was at the *commune* office from 20 to 23 April 1994.²⁰¹³ To establish this alibi the Defence relies on the testimony of Defence Witnesses GABON, KEPIR, MARVA, BIDI and Ndavambaje.

²⁰⁰⁶ Para. 5.13 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Ndayambaje).

²⁰⁰⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 461-462, 475, paras. 44, 91.

²⁰⁰⁸ Para. 6.37 of the Ndavambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9, pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility only).

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 461-462, 475, paras. 44, 91, 93.

²⁰¹⁰ Ndavambaje Closing Brief, para. 154.

²⁰¹¹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 47, 49-52, 55, 79-81, 155.

²⁰¹² Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 236-254.

²⁰¹³ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 236-254.

3.6.4.2 Preliminary Issues

Pleading of Ndayambaje's Alleged Participation in the Massacre at Mugombwa Church

- 1023. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the events at Mugombwa Church are not pled in the Indictment and thus requests the Chamber not to consider the evidence relating to Mugombwa Church. 2014 This objection was raised on 3 March 2004, but the Chamber declined to make a finding on the issue at that stage of the proceedings. ²⁰¹⁵
- 1024. The Chamber notes that the location and dates of the massacre at Mugombwa Church are not specified in the Indictment. Recalling the principles set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), the Chamber finds that Ndayambaje's alleged role in the massacre at Mugombwa Church is not sufficiently pled in the Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective on this point. The Chamber will determine whether the defect in the Indictment was subsequently cured through timely, clear and consistent notice to the Ndayambaje Defence.
- 1025. The Chamber further notes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention Witness QAR's intention to testify about the massacre at Mugombwa Church. 2016 The Chamber observes, however, that the summaries of Witnesses FAG's, FAU's and TU's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief mention Ndayambaje's participation in the attacks at Mugombwa Church. 2017
- 1026. The summary of Witness FAG's anticipated testimony states that he was ordered by Venant, Kanyenzi, Bosco, the assistant bourgmestre of Muganza, and Viateur to go to Mugombwa where there was a group of attackers that was brought there by Ndayambaje. Witness FAG states that the attackers threw grenades at the Tutsis and killed them. Witness FAG saw Ndayambaje driving the pickup with about 20 Burundians on board. 2018
- 1027. Witness FAU's anticipated testimony further states that in April 1994, he witnessed the massacre of 300 Tutsis at Mugombwa Church and that Ndayambaje supervised the massacre. 2019
- 1028. The summary of Witness TU's anticipated testimony states that on 21 April 1994, he hid with others in Mugombwa Church. On 24 April 1994, Ndayambaje arrived at the church with his white pickup, loaded with soldiers with grenades. Ndayambaje then instructed the soldiers to kill those inside the church. The soldiers began throwing grenades into the church which resulted in the death of approximately 2,000 people. 2020 Witness TU was not called to testify.

²⁰¹⁴ Ndavambaje Closing Brief, para. 155.

²⁰¹⁵ T. 3 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁰¹⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAR (5).

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAG (19); Witness FAU (32); Witness TU (96).

²⁰¹⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAG (19).

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAU (32).
 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TU (96).

- 1029. Furthermore, the Chamber observes that in its opening statement, the Prosecution mentioned that large-scale massacres took place at the end of April at Mugombwa Church.²⁰²¹
- 1030. The Chamber finds that the Prosecution was in possession of material facts regarding the massacre at Mugombwa Church which it failed to include in the Amended Indictment.
- 1031. However, having regard to the summaries of the anticipated testimonies of Witnesses FAG, FAU and TU in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, the Chamber considers that in the present circumstances, the Prosecution gave the Defence timely, clear and consistent notice that Ndayambaje was accused of participating in, including through giving orders, and supervising the massacre at Mugombwa Church, Muganza *commune*, along with other *commune* authorities in late April 1994. The Chamber finds the defect in Paragraph 6.37 of the Indictment is thereby cured, and there was no prejudice in the preparation of Ndayambaje's defence case.

Ndayambaje's Alleged Distribution of Weapons at Mugombwa Church

- 1032. With regard to Ndayambaje's alleged distribution of weapons, the Chamber notes that the Indictment does not specify Mugombwa Church as an alleged site of weapons distribution, nor does it specify the identities of those to whom he is alleged to have distributed weapons. The Chamber therefore finds that this allegation was not sufficiently pled in the Indictment and the Indictment was therefore defective.
- 1033. The summary of Witness TU's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that on 24 April 1994, Ndayambaje arrived at the church with his white pickup, loaded with soldiers with grenades. Ndayambaje then instructed the soldiers to kill those inside the church. The soldiers began throwing grenades into the church, which resulted in the death of approximately 2,000 people. In his previous statement of 18 December 1996, disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, Witness TU stated that Ndayambaje transported soldiers with grenades and guns to Mugombwa Church to facilitate the massacre. The Chamber observes that neither the summary of Witness TU's anticipated testimony included in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief nor his previous statement of 18 December 1996, mention that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the church.
- 1034. The summary of Witness FAU's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that in April 1994, Witness FAU witnessed the massacre of 300 Tutsis at Mugombwa Church and that Ndayambaje supervised the massacre. The summary further states that Witness FAU saw Ndayambaje participate in arms distribution. The Chamber observes that there is no information in the summary about the date, place or circumstances of the alleged arms distribution, nor is the allegation seemingly connected to the massacre at Mugombwa Church.

_

²⁰²¹ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 85.

²⁰²² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TU (96).

²⁰²³ 18 December 1996, Statement of Witness TU, disclosed 4 November 1998.

²⁰²⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAU (32).

1035. In his previous statement of 10 October 1999, Witness FAU stated that during the massacre at Mugombwa Church, Ndayambaje would pick up killers around the commune to exterminate the Tutsis. 2025 In his previous statement of 22 February 2001, Witness FAU stated that Ndayambaje was present at Mugombwa Church during the massacre and was supervising the killings. 2026 Neither of his previous statements mentions that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at this site.

1036. The Chamber notes that there was no mention of Ndayambaje's alleged distribution of weapons in the summary of Witness QAR's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.²⁰²⁷ The alleged distribution of weapons by Ndayambaje at Mugombwa Church was however mentioned in Witness OAR's previous statement of 20 May 1997 but not mentioned in her previous statements of 20 June 1995 or 14 October 1997. 2028 The Chamber considers that the mention of the alleged distribution of weapons in a single witness statement does not constitute clear and consistent notice of the allegation.

1037. The Chamber therefore finds that the defect in the Indictment was not cured. As a result, the Chamber will not make a finding on the alleged distribution of weapons by Ndayambaje at Mugombwa Church.

3.6.4.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QAR

1038. Witness QAR, a Tutsi woman from Muganza *commune*, testified that she had known Ndayambaje since they were both children. The witness identified Ndayambaje in court. 2030 The witness testified that at 8.00 a.m. on Wednesday, 19 April 1994, she and many other Tutsis arrived and took refuge in Mugombwa Church. 2031 She maintained that she arrived in the morning, despite being presented with her previous statement of 20 June 1995, which states that she arrived at the church at 2.00 p.m. ²⁰³² When told that 19 April 1994 was a Tuesday, the witness said she was sure that the events at issue commenced on a Wednesday morning. 2033 The witness denied that she had given a different account of events to Prosecution investigators in her previous statement of 20 May 1997. 2034

1039. Witness QAR testified that within an hour and a half of her arrival, the church was full. 2035 Inside the church there were several thousands of people from various hills, namely

²⁰²⁵ 10 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAU, disclosed 14 March 2001.

²⁰²⁶ 22 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAU, disclosed 14 March 2001.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAR (5).

²⁰²⁸ 20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 4 November 1998; 20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 4 December 2000; 14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 15 June 1999.

²⁰²⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

²⁰³⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 103-104 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

²⁰³¹ T. 15 November 2001 p. 146; T. 19 November 2001 pp. 5, 10; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 100-101 (Witness

QAR).

2032 T. 20 November 2001 pp. 103-104 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, 20

²⁰³³ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 99-101 (Witness QAR).

²⁰³⁴ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 43, 45-48 (Witness QAR).

²⁰³⁵ T. 19 November 2001 p. 10; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 107-108 (Witness QAR).

Mugombwa, Saga, Cyumba, Rinda, Nyagahuru and Kibayi, the majority of whom the witness did not know. 2036 The refugees in the church were either Tutsis or the spouses of Tutsis, as the Hutus had not fled their homes. 2037 As Witness QAR was entering the church, people outside were throwing stones which broke all the windows in the church. 2038 During the morning, the priest of Mugombwa Church had attempted to lock all the doors to the church and then left following a quarrel with those outside the church. ²⁰³⁹

1040. The witness testified that at approximately noon, from her position inside the church, she saw Ndayambaje arrive in a white vehicle from the road leading to Remera, where the commune office was. 2040 She later testified that she did not actually see Ndayambaje arrive but was informed of his arrival, only then seeing his car that was already parked, facing the direction of Remera.²⁰⁴¹

1041. Witness QAR testified that she occupied various positions inside the church which was oval-shaped, since the people inside were pushing and shoving each other. 2042 She saw Ndayambaje through a broken window, which she stood near, but in the centre of the church.²⁰⁴³ Without getting out of his vehicle, Ndayambaje showed those in the church a picture of President Habyarimana. 2044 The picture was approximately 24 by 30 centimetres in size, and Ndayambaje held it in front of his own face. 2045 Ndayambaje kept the photograph. 2046 Ndayambaje said that those in the church were going to be killed because they were accomplices of the *Inkotanyi* who had killed the President. 2047 The witness denied telling investigators that Ndayambaje was carrying a gun and handed the photograph to someone else, as reflected in her previous statement of 20 June 1995. 2048

1042. Witness QAR testified that when Ndayambaje arrived, she saw many other Hutus with bows and arrows, spears and machetes outside the church. There were no priests, policemen or soldiers present. 2050 Ndayambaje said to them, in Kinyarwanda, that since the people in the church were now gathered together, their work would no longer be very difficult. He told the attackers that some of them should stay and watch those in the church and others should go and look for those that were hiding in ditches and in bushes. Upon hearing this,

²⁰³⁶ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 108-110; T. 20 November 2001 p. 130 (Witness QAR) (French) (for the spelling of

²⁰³⁷ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 110-111 (Witness QAR). ²⁰³⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 7; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 106-107 (Witness QAR).

²⁰³⁹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 13-14 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7, 10-11, 15-16, 21; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 119-120; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 38-39 (Witness OAR).

²⁰⁴¹ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 132-133; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 5-10; 20 November 2001 p. 156 (Witness QAR) (French) (for the spelling of "Remera").

²⁰⁴² T. 19 November 2001 p. 11 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴³ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 16, 20; T. 20 November 2001 p. 121 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7, 10-11; T. 20 November 2001 p. 125 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁵ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 123-125 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁶ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 128-129 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁷ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7-10 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁴⁸ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 129-131 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, 20 May 1997 and 14 October 1997, Statements of Witness OAR) p. 2.

²⁰⁴⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7, 10-11, 54 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵⁰ T. 21 November 2001 p. 12 (Witness QAR).

many people left, whereas some stayed behind at the church.²⁰⁵¹ Immediately after saying this, after being on the church premises for less than 15 minutes, Ndayambaje left in the direction of his house.²⁰⁵² There were no problems until the evening of that day.²⁰⁵³

1043. At approximately 4.00 p.m., two grenades were thrown at the people inside the church, which exploded killing some and wounding others. The witness denied that she told investigators that only one of the two grenades exploded. The witness testified that she did not see who threw either grenade. She maintained that she did not see who threw the grenades and claimed that her previous statement of 20 May 1997, which stated that Witness QAR saw a boy throw two grenades, did not reflect the account she gave to the investigators. Among the attackers present at the church on Wednesday were Damascene, Tabaro, Mathias, Mushimire, Sikubwabo, Cyabarena, Yohani, Siridiyo and Nyandwi.

1044. Witness QAR testified that at about 10.00 a.m. the next day, Thursday (which she said was 20 April 1994), from her position by the entrance door and through a broken window, she saw Ndayambaje return to the church by the road leading to Remera. Ndayambaje arrived in the same white vehicle that the witness had seen him in the previous day. The witness saw Ndayambaje park his car approximately 10 metres away from her vantage point. Ndayambaje told the crowd outside the church that he saw they were concentrating on eating the Tutsis' cows, asked what they were going to do when the cows would be exhausted, and what they would pay if the owners of the cows escaped. Seeing that some of the crowd had no weapons, Ndayambaje left again in the direction of Remera and returned at about 10.30 a.m. with machetes and small axes, which he distributed to the people. Ndayambaje left the church immediately after distributing these weapons.

1045. Witness QAR testified that after Ndayambaje had left, at about 3.00 p.m., five grenades were thrown into the church, killing and injuring some of the people inside. After the grenades were thrown, petrol was poured inside the church. As the petrol was being poured, the men outside the church were trying to break down the church door. Fire broke out in the

```
<sup>2051</sup> T. 19 November 2001 p. 17 (Witness QAR).
```

²⁰⁵² T. 19 November 2001 pp. 17-19; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 131-132 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵³ T. 19 November 2001 p. 19 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵⁴ T. 19 November 2001 p. 19; T. 21 November 2001 p. 23 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵⁵ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 32-33 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵⁶ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 23, 26 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁵⁷ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 26-30 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, 20 May 1997 and 14 October 1997, Statements of Witness QAR) p. 8.

²⁰⁵⁸ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 11-12; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 15-16 (Witness QAR) (French) (for the spelling of "Damascene", "Yohani" and "Nyandwi").

²⁰⁵⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 19-23, 30; T. 19 November 2001 p. 34 (Witness QAR) (French) (for the spelling of "Remera").

²⁰⁶⁰ T. 19 November 2001 p. 21 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶¹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 23-25 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶² T. 19 November 2001 pp. 26-29 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶³ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 26, 29-31 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶⁴ T. 19 November 2001 p. 31 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 31, 37-38 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶⁶ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 31, 38 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶⁷ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 37-38 (Witness QAR).

church at the same time the door was broken down.²⁰⁶⁸ Some of the attackers wanted to enter the church, but they were dissuaded from doing so by the people outside.²⁰⁶⁹ Witness QAR denied that it was Ndayambaje who advised the attackers against entering the church, despite an assertion to this effect that appeared in her previous statement of 20 May 1997.²⁰⁷⁰

1046. Witness QAR testified that she decided to leave the church through the broken door, considering that it was better to be killed by machete than by fire.²⁰⁷¹ Witness QAR indicated in Prosecution Exhibit 41 (Video of *commune* office and Mugombwa Church) the broken door of the church through which she came out.²⁰⁷² She also pointed out the rear part of the church²⁰⁷³ and the inside of the church where the grenades were thrown in²⁰⁷⁴ and their various impacts.²⁰⁷⁵ The witness confirmed the passage in her previous statement of 20 June 1995 that the attackers tricked the women in the church into leaving by promising them safety, only then to attack them.²⁰⁷⁶ She was the fourth person to leave the church; three women left before her.²⁰⁷⁷ Witness QAR testified that at the doorway the witness was told to remove her clothes, which she did. She was asked whether she was a Hutu and answered that she was.²⁰⁷⁸

1047. Witness QAR testified that she was permitted to leave the church and went to the middle of the church compound where she was met by three Burundians about 30 steps from the church door. The Burundians wanted to attack her with machetes but following Witness QAR's request to be allowed to sit, and the intervention of the Hutu father of Witness QAR's child, they spared her and accompanied her to a place in front of the priest's office. The many people still alive in the church at this time were being attacked. In the courtyard, she saw the corpses of very many people who had been cut to pieces. The people had been massacred by the "Bene Sebahinzi", who were Hutus from many places, including Mugombwa and Saga. Six other women survived the massacre at the church. The seven women were taken to the priest's house, where they spent the night, and were released the following day,

²⁰⁶⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 39 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁶⁹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁷⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 53-57 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, 20 May 1997 and 14 October 1997, Statements of Witness QAR) p. 8.

²⁰⁷¹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 37, 39 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁷² T. 19 November 2001 p. 72 (Witness QAR); Prosecution Exhibit 41 (Video of *commune* office and Mugombwa Church) at 12:37.

²⁰⁷³ T. 19 November 2001 p. 87 (Witness QAR); Prosecution Exhibit 41 (Video of *commune* office and Mugombwa Church) at 12:38.

²⁰⁷⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 89-90 (Witness QAR); Prosecution Exhibit 41 (Video of *commune* office and Mugombwa Church) at 12:43.

²⁰⁷⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 97-99 (Witness QAR); Prosecution Exhibit 41 (Video of *commune* office and Mugombwa Church) at 12:44.

²⁰⁷⁶ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 58-60 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, 20 May 1997 and 14 October 1997, Statements of Witness QAR) p. 2.

²⁰⁷⁷ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 50-51 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁷⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 39 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁷⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 40-48 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 40, 42-48; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 62-63 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸¹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 54-55 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸² T. 19 November 2001 pp. 48-49 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸³ T. 15 November 2001 pp. 140-141, 144-145; T. 19 November 2001 p. 49 (Witness QAR) (transcripts refer to "Isaga" rather than Saga).

²⁰⁸⁴ T. 19 November 2001 p. 49 (Witness QAR).

Friday (which she said was 20 April 1994), after which they were told to go home. ²⁰⁸⁵ She did not specify where she went after that. ²⁰⁸⁶

Prosecution Witness FAG

1048. Witness FAG, a 16-year-old Hutu farmer in Muganza *commune* in 1994, who confessed to having participated in attacks on Tutsis during the genocide and is no longer detained, testified that on Thursday 21 April 1994, he was in a group of over 100 people at Bishya Centre when, at approximately 2.00 p.m., he saw a number of community leaders, including Viateur, the *conseiller* of Mugombwa, Kanyenzi, Venant and Bosco Mushimiyimana, the assistant *bourgmestre*. He also saw Ndayambaje, who stopped his vehicle and talked to these community leaders without alighting. After this conversation, Ndayambaje left in his vehicle in the direction of Butare. ²⁰⁸⁹

1049. After these community leaders had listened to Ndayambaje, they told Witness FAG and his group that Ndayambaje was ordering all those present in Bishya to go to Mugombwa Parish. 2090 Witness FAG was standing very close, side by side, to these people when the instructions were given. Witness FAG maintained that these community leaders told him and his group that they were conveying orders issued by Ndayambaje and that they referred to Ndayambaje by name rather than by the title "bourgmestre". Learified that if his previous statement of 23 February 2000 made no mention of Ndayambaje, it was an omission by the person recording this statement rather than his own error or contradiction. 2093

1050. Witness FAG testified that immediately upon hearing those words, all the able-bodied people walked quickly to Mugombwa Parish, arriving there at about 2.15 p.m.²⁰⁹⁴ The witness heard no explosions during his walk to Mugombwa.²⁰⁹⁵

1051. Witness FAG testified that upon arriving in Mugombwa his group found people from Kabaye, Burundians from the Saga refugee camp, and students and inhabitants of Mugombwa already in the parish. Neither *commune* police nor soldiers were present. The parish priest was not present. The Tutsi victims of the attack were already locked up in the church

²⁰⁸⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 49-52 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸⁶ T. 19 November 2001 p. 52 (Witness QAR).

²⁰⁸⁷ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 5, 45; T. 1 March p. 6 (ICS) (Witness FAG); Prosecution Exhibit 83 (Personal Particulars).

²⁰⁸⁸ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 6, 15 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 16-19 (Witness FAG). The Chamber notes while Witness FAG did not expressly refer to the date, 21 April 1994, he testified that the events took place on the Thursday two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana.

²⁰⁸⁹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 30 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹⁰ T. 1 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹¹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 29; T. 2 March 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹² T. 2 March 2004 p. 19; T. 3 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹³ T. 3 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹⁴ T. 1 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹⁵ T. 2 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹⁶ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 15-16 (ICS); T. 1 March 2004 p. 17 (HC) (Witness FAG) (French) (for the spelling of "Saga")

²⁰⁹⁷ T. 2 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAG).

²⁰⁹⁸ T. 2 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAG).

when the witness arrived. 2099 All those assembled had come to kill Tutsis in Mugombwa Parish 2100

- 1052. Witness FAG testified that between 2.15 and 3.00 p.m. a growing number of refugees gathered together in Mugombwa.²¹⁰¹ Witness FAG estimated that 5,000 Tutsis were inside the church at the time of the attack. This assessment was based on his knowledge that in the normal course of events the church accommodated about 3,000 to 4,000 people, and the fact that on the day of the attack he saw from outside the church that a large number of Tutsis inside could not sit down.²¹⁰²
- 1053. Witness FAG testified that he participated in the attack against the Tutsis hiding in Mugombwa Church, insofar as he was present at the scene with a club that he would have used to defend himself if he was attacked. He did not kill anybody. Everybody who was present participated in the attack. No Hutus were targeted. The attack began at 3.00 p.m. as the group of Burundians threw grenades at and into the church. He Burundians then threw bottles of petrol, taken from jerry cans they brought with them and dry fodder into the church and started a fire. Witness FAG did not go into the church. After they had run out of grenades, some of the attackers used traditional weapons including clubs, axes, and spears to break down the church door and bring out and kill those Tutsis who were not yet dead. While the witness was present, nobody was able to leave the church without being killed.
- 1054. Witness FAG testified that he did not stay at the church until the end of the attack and so he did not know whether anybody survived. Later, he stated that all those in the church were killed; there were no survivors. 2113
- 1055. Witness FAG testified that he did not see Ndayambaje in Mugombwa on this day.²¹¹⁴
- 1056. Witness FAG testified that he did not mention the attacks on Mugombwa Church in his previous statement dated 11 August 1998 because at that time he was afraid and there were things he could not talk about.²¹¹⁵

```
<sup>2099</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2100</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
<sup>2101</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2102</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2103</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 48; T. 2 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2104</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2105</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2106</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2107</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2108</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
<sup>2109</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2110</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2111</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2112</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2113</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
<sup>2114</sup> T. 2 March 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
<sup>2115</sup> T. 6 September 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
```

Prosecution Witness FAU

1057. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer from Muganza *commune*, detained at the time of his testimony, ²¹¹⁶ testified that on one afternoon in late April 1994, he went to Mugombwa to see the refugees who had gathered inside the church. ²¹¹⁷ Witness FAU was not armed. ²¹¹⁸ The refugees had been locked inside the church by the priest who had then left. ²¹¹⁹

1058. Witness FAU saw the priest leave at midday but was told by somebody else that the priest had said he was going to Butare to get protection for the refugees. At this time there was a large crowd outside the church as well as the refugees inside. There were no assailants or attackers; the crowd was composed of Tutsis and Hutus who wanted to buy things brought by the refugees inside the church and Hutus who had sought refuge out of fear. The witness saw no policemen or *gendarmes* at the church. There were no injured people in the courtyard of the church. After the priest had left, the witness returned to his home and saw nothing more of what happened at the church that day.

1059. On that day, only one person was killed by gunshot at Mugombwa and no other victims died. 2126 Witness FAU did not go up to the doors or windows of the church. Witness FAU was told that some people were taken out of the church and to safety by their family members, although he did not see this himself. 2127

1060. At night, Witness FAU heard many explosions from his home, where he was on a night patrol on his hill. The explosions were only heard at night. He was told that the Burundians attacked the church and the refugees with projectiles they had made themselves from bottles and inflammable liquid, and the witness heard explosions. 2130

1061. Witness FAU returned to the church the following morning along with many others, including Cassien Ngona and Rutabama, who he knew.²¹³¹ He saw no policemen or *gendarmes* at the church that morning.²¹³² Witness FAU went to the church in the hope of finding some

²¹¹⁶ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Prosecution Exhibit 85 (Personal Particulars).

T. 10 March 2004 p. 4 (Witness FAU). On the issue of the date, *see* T. 10 March 2004 pp. 3-4 (he went to Mugombwa the day after the event at Mukabuga market); T. 9 March 2004 p. 70 (the Mukabuga market killings took place a few days after the meeting at the Mugombwa *secteur* office, which was formerly the Muganza *commune* office); T. 9 March 2004 p. 67 (the Mugombwa *secteur* office meeting took place during the second week after the death of President Habyarimana) (Witness FAU).

²¹¹⁸ T. 10 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAU).

²¹¹⁹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4, 6 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁰ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 6-7, 11 (Witness FAU).

²¹²¹ T. 10 March 2004 p. 13 (Witness FAU).

²¹²² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 6, 13 (Witness FAU).

²¹²³ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 15-16 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁴ T. 10 March 2004 p. 13 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁵ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 11, 15 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁶ T. 10 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁷ T. 10 March 2004 p. 11 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁸ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness FAU).

²¹²⁹ T. 10 March 2004 p. 13 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁰ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4, 11, 15 (Witness FAU).

²¹³¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4-5, 11-12, 15, 17 (Witness FAU).

²¹³² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 15-16 (Witness FAU).

items abandoned by the refugees but there were no such items there. 2133 Upon his arrival, the witness saw corpses inside the church and on the church grounds. 2134 He did not witness any attacks, although he saw people with machetes and spears. 2135

1062. Witness FAU looked at the church without entering.²¹³⁶ The window panes were broken but there was no evidence that there had been a fire in the church. 2137 The witness was told that 2,000 refugees had been killed at the church. 2138 Witness FAU stated that he did not remember if Ndayambaje was at the church on either dav. 2139

1063. Witness FAU testified that he did not see Witness RV at the church. 2140 The witness stated that he did not see a man named Venant at the church and that he could not remember whether he saw Kanyenzi at the church, but stated that these men were leading the attacks and so were everywhere. 2141 Witness FAU was reminded about his statement of 10 (sic) October 1999, in which he said that there were 2,500 Tutsis in the church, that Kanyenzi and Venant led the Hutus and Burundians in attacking the church, and that he saw Ndayambaje in vehicles belonging, respectively, to the commune and an international organisation. 2142 Witness FAU testified that this was information received from other people rather than things that he saw himself and that any discrepancies are attributable to the passage of a very long time. 2143

1064. When confronted with his confession of 29 December 1999, which stated that Ndayambaje arrived at the church after the priest's departure, Witness FAU noted that he was obliged to include all evidence, including hearsay, in his confession. 2144 The witness was read his statement of 22 February 2001, in which he said that he witnessed the murder of an estimated 200 to 300 Tutsi refugees at Mugombwa Church by gendarmes following the orders of Ndayambaje who was at the scene. 2145 The witness testified that there were many things that he could not remember. He denied that his testimony contradicted this previous statement. 2146

Prosecution Witness RV

1065. Witness RV, a Hutu civil servant in Muganza commune, testified that on 20 April 1994, he was woken at 6.00 a.m. by Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano, the Italian priest of Mugombwa Parish, who told him that the local population in Mugombwa had taken up arms and that there

²¹³³ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁴ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁵ T. 10 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁶ T. 10 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁷ T. 10 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁸ T. 10 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAU).

²¹³⁹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 18-19 (Witness FAU).

²¹⁴⁰ T. 10 March 2004 p. 15 (Witness FAU).

²¹⁴¹ T. 10 March 2004 p. 18; T. 10 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAU) (French) (for the spelling of "Venant").

²¹⁴² T. 10 March 2004 p. 20; T. 10 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAU) (French); Defence Exhibit 192 (Ndayambaje) (9 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAU) p. 3.

2143 T. 10 March 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness FAU).

2144 T. 10 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 193 (Ndayambaje) (29 December 1999, Confession

of Witness FAU to Rwandan Authorities) p. 3.

²¹⁴⁵ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 195 (Ndayambaje) (22 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAU) p. 3.

²¹⁴⁶ T. 10 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAU).

was insecurity in the area.²¹⁴⁷ Father Tiziano drove with the witness and Ndayambaje to the commune office. Witness RV joined Ndayambaje in the commune vehicle until they collected a driver from his home in Bishya. The driver then drove Witness RV while Ndayambaje accompanied Father Tiziano. Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano proceeded to Ndayambaje's residence. 2148

1066. The vehicle Witness RV was travelling in stopped when it came across a group of about 30 assailants, including Conseiller Viateur Singirankabo. 2149 Witness RV asked the group why they had mobilised themselves and was told that if he did not watch out he would be killed. 2150

1067. At about 7.30 a.m., the witness went to Ndayambaje's residence to tell Ndayambaje that he was overwhelmed and that he was going to Butare to request assistance. 2151 Witness RV proceeded to Butare, where he reported the event to Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, the sous*préfet* of Gisagara. ²¹⁵²

1068. Witness RV waited until about 6.00 p.m. for the sous-préfet to accompany him to Mugombwa, but he did not come so he left without him. 2153

1069. Witness RV testified that upon returning to the Muganza commune office, at about 7.00 p.m. that day, he found that many people had taken refuge at the commune office. including Ndayambaje and his family, two on-duty policemen and six armed *gendarmes*. 2154 After about 30 minutes, the witness heard grenades exploding from the direction of Mugombwa Parish.²¹⁵⁵ He then learned that Tutsis had taken refuge at the parish.²¹⁵⁶ He did not go to the church because the *gendarmerie* commander refused to go with him and, along with the *conseiller* and Ndayambaje, the witness thought it would be suicidal to go there, and he was afraid.²¹⁵⁷ Instead, the witness spent the night in the *commune* office. The last time Witness RV saw Ndayambaje that evening was at 8.00 p.m., when Ndayambaje went to his room with his family.²¹⁵⁸ The sound of grenade explosions stopped during the night of 20 April 1994.²¹⁵⁹

1070. During the afternoon of 21 April 1994, Witness RV went to Mugombwa Parish with Ndayambaje, who wanted to collect a khaki Toyota Corolla that belonged to a white woman

²¹⁴⁷ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 61, 63 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁴⁸ T. 17 February 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁴⁹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 41 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 p. 62 (ICS); T. 16 February 2004 p. 46 (HC) (Witness RV) (French) (for the spelling of "Viateur").

2150 T. 16 February 2004 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵¹ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 67-69 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵² T. 16 February 2004 p. 41 (ICS); T. 16 February 2004 p. 47 (Witness RV) (French) (for the spelling of

²¹⁵³ T. 18 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵⁵ T. 16 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵⁶ T. 18 February 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵⁷ T. 16 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness RV). 2158 T. 16 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁵⁹ T. 18 February 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness RV).

called Monique.²¹⁶⁰ The witness waited until the afternoon because his driver, who Witness RV had sent to the church in the morning, had already reported to him that there was no one left there to save.²¹⁶¹ The killing had stopped, but there were about 1,000 corpses in the compound. Witness RV supposed that there were more bodies in the church, but he did not go inside. 2162 He saw no survivors. 2163

1071. The witness asserted that most of the victims were Tutsis, although a few Hutus who had taken refuge in the church had also been killed. 2164 Witness RV stated that he learned that the attack had been launched by Burundian refugees, assisted by the inhabitants of Kivomo secteur and Kibaye commune. 2165 The witness reported the incident to the sous-préfet, who was the closest authority. 2166

Prosecution Witness RT

1072. Witness RT, a Tutsi teacher from Muganza commune, testified that on a Wednesday, which was either 19 or 20 April 1994, he remained at home. ²¹⁶⁷ On that day, soon after 9.30 a.m., he saw the parish priest, Father Tiziano, drive past the witness' house in a vehicle, heading in the direction of the *commune* office. The priest again passed his house, driving back in the direction of the church, followed by the official commune vehicle in which sat Witness RV and some police officers. 2168 Witness RT did not see Ndayambaje in the commune vehicle 2169

Ndayambaje Defence Witness JAMES

1073. Witness JAMES, a Hutu student with a Tutsi mother from Mugombwa secteur, testified that he knew Ndayambaje in 1994.²¹⁷⁰ One of Witness JAMES' brothers was involved in attacks at Mugombwa but not at the church; his brother pled guilty at the Gacaca courts and was granted a pardon.²¹⁷¹ Two of Witness JAMES' cousins took part in the attack at the church. One was subsequently imprisoned for acts committed during the genocide. He was initially categorised as a Category 1 prisoner but pled guilty and was released. The other cousin who participated in the attack on the church left the country and had not returned.²¹⁷²

1074. Witness JAMES testified that he used to attend mass at Mugombwa Church. 2173 The church had stained glass windows which could not be opened.²¹⁷⁴ It was impossible to see

```
<sup>2160</sup> T. 18 February 2004 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

²¹⁶¹ T. 18 February 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness RV).
²¹⁶² T. 16 February 2004 p. 44 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁶³ T. 18 February 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁶⁴ T. 18 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁶⁵ T. 18 February 2004 p. 24 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 p. 28 (HC) (Witness RV) (French) (for the spelling of

²¹⁶⁶ T. 18 February 2004 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²¹⁶⁷ T. 10 March 2004 p. 47; T. 11 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness RT).

²¹⁶⁸ T. 11 March 2004 pp. 11-12, 15-16 (ICS) (Witness RT).

²¹⁶⁹ T. 11 March 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness RT).

²¹⁷⁰ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁷¹ T. 3 June 2008 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁷² T. 3 June 2008 pp. 34-36 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁷³ T. 2 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

through the windows from inside and recognise people outside and vice versa. He testified that every single window was made of coloured glass. Explosions at the church in 1994 broke the windows but he was not sure exactly when the windows broke. The church was made of brick, and there were ventilation holes in the church walls that were not covered with glass but it was not possible to see through them from the inside because they were slanted. There were seven doors in the church, and it was impossible to see through them. The church was around 100 to 120 metres from the witness' home. The church was around 100 to 120 metres from the witness' home.

1075. Witness JAMES testified that two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana, killings started in his area. The witness saw members of the population carrying their luggage on their heads fleeing towards Mugombwa Parish at 6.00 a.m. He remembered this day to be a Wednesday because it was market day. The witness testified that he did not know why people were fleeing. 184

1076. The same day, between 3.00 and 5.00 p.m., the witness heard explosions from Mugombwa Church. This was Wednesday 20 April 1994. There were many explosions, he could not say how many, but there were less explosions than on the next day. ²¹⁸⁷

1077. Witness JAMES testified that the same day (Wednesday) he was at a pub.²¹⁸⁸ At around 3.30 p.m., Cyabarene and Mushimire came to the pub followed by a group of hoodlums including Fréderic Mushimire and Innocent and some inhabitants of Karonkano, including Boniface, Nkundabagenzi and Kibirikibi.²¹⁸⁹ Cyabarene told those present to come and help him and the others at Mugombwa Church because the situation had become complicated.²¹⁹⁰

1078. Witness JAMES testified that Mushimire, Cyabarene and other hoodlums relayed to those present in the bar that they were attacking people at Mugombwa Church but they had not been successful and they had had to get some Burundian refugees to help them.²¹⁹¹ The hoodlums told them that the first attack on the church was carried out by them, the second one by Burundian refugees and the last one by a different group of assailants.²¹⁹²

```
<sup>2174</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2175</sup> T. 2 June 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2176</sup> T. 3 June 2008 p. 61 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2177</sup> T. 3 June 2008 p. 64 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2178</sup> T. 3 June 2008 pp. 64-65 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2179</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2180</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2181</sup> T. 2 June 2008 pp. 24-25 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2182</sup> T. 2 June 2008 pp. 24-25 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2183</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 25 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2184</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2185</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2186</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS); T. 4 June 2008 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2187</sup> T. 3 June 2008 p. 65 (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2188</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2189</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 32 (ICS); T. 2 June 2008 pp. 33, 48 (Witness JAMES) (French) (for the spelling of
"Cvaberene" and "Fréderic").
<sup>2190</sup> T. 2 June 2008 pp. 29, 32 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2191</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
<sup>2192</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
```

- 1079. On Wednesday night, Cyabarene came to the witness' house. He asked the witness' mother and younger brother to leave. The witness' mother and sister left to go to Kayitani's house. Cyabarene spent the night of 20 April 1994 in a building close to the witness' house, while the witness stayed at the witness' house.
- 1080. The witness did not hear anyone mention the name of Ndayambaje with respect to the attack launched on the church.²¹⁹⁶ On cross-examination, he admitted that his knowledge of what happened at the church was based on what a few of the attackers said and he overheard.²¹⁹⁷
- 1081. Witness JAMES testified that he saw Cyabarene, Mushimire and Innocent again on Thursday, 21 April 1994. Mushimire and others told the witness that a further attack had been carried out at Mugombwa Church and that an axe was used to break the church door to get access inside on that day.²¹⁹⁸ He did not hear anybody mention Ndayambaje's name with respect to the attack on the church.²¹⁹⁹ On cross-examination, when it was put to him that he could not have heard everything the men at the bar discussed about the attacks they participated in, Witness JAMES testified that he narrated what he had heard.²²⁰⁰
- 1082. Witness JAMES testified that the assailants ate and drank at the bar but did not spend the night there. They came in the evenings of Wednesday and Thursday at about $5.00 \, \text{p.m.}$ and would leave around $8.00 \, \text{p.m.}$
- 1083. On cross-examination he said it was not possible that Ndayambaje had gone to the church, it would have been known if he had. 2203
- 1084. Witness JAMES testified that Witness QAR gave false testimony about the Mugombwa Church massacre. Witness JAMES testified that he lived in a house 400 metres from that of Witness QAR. On cross-examination, Witness JAMES testified that he last met with her the day before he left to testify before the Tribunal. The witness stated that he never discussed the events at Mugombwa in 1994 with Witness QAR but Witness QAR often discussed the events with Witness JAMES mother and he listened to their conversations.
- 1085. On cross-examination, Witness JAMES drew a sketch describing various sites including his home, the Statue of the Virgin Mary, Kayitani's house, Mugombwa Church, the

²¹⁹³ T. 2 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁴ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 33, 41 (ICS (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁵ T. 2 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁶ T. 2 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁷ T. 3 June 2008 p. 60 (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁸ T. 2 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²¹⁹⁹ T. 2 June 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰⁰ T. 3 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰¹ T. 3 June 2008 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰² T. 3 June 2008 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰³ T. 3 June 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰⁴ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 37, 39, 41 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰⁵ T. 2 June 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰⁶ T. 3 June 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²⁰⁷ T. 3 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

bar where he worked, the football pitch and the priest's house.²²⁰⁸ The sketch was admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 200.²²⁰⁹

1086. Witness JAMES testified that he was with the father of Witness QAR's child at all times on Wednesday, 20 April 1994. He heard that Witness QAR was inside Mugombwa Church. He did not see her that day. The witness testified that the next day, Thursday, 21 April 1994, Damascéne from *Chez* Amahuma came to the bar and told the witness' cousin that his wife had just been brought out of the church, and that she was near the primary school headmaster's office. ²²¹⁰

1087. Witness JAMES testified that he saw Witness QAR between 7.00 and 8.00 p.m. on Thursday 21 April 1994; Witness QAR was with the father of Witness QAR's child, and some other people the witness did not recognise. Thereafter, Witness QAR and her husband went to a house and spent the night there. On cross-examination, the witness testified that he saw Witness QAR go to the house from his vantage point outside the bar where he worked. It was dark at the time. 2213

Ndayambaje Defence Witness MAJIK

1088. Witness MAJIK, a Hutu farmer from Muganza *commune*, testified that on a Wednesday two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana, her mother asked her to go to Mugombwa, from her house, to visit Witness MAJIK's maternal aunt, a Tutsi, and check whether she was experiencing any problems. On her way, she passed by Mugombwa Church at about 11.30 a.m. She noticed that the church doors were closed and that outside the church there were people carrying traditional weapons. One of the armed assailants, a young boy who was Witness MAJIK's neighbour, told her that Tutsis had taken refuge inside the church. The people inside the church were screaming. The witness saw no vehicle on the church grounds.

1089. The witness then proceeded to her aunt's home, but found that it was closed and her aunt was not there. She went to her maternal uncle's home, which was also closed. She then returned to Mugombwa Church to look for her uncle. 2220

1090. The armed assailants were still at the front of the church. Nobody could see into the church as the doors were shut and the windows were opaque. 2221 At around 12.30 p.m., having

```
<sup>2208</sup> T. 3 June 2008 pp. 42-45 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); Prosecution Exhibit 200 (Sketch by Witness JAMES).
```

²²⁰⁹ T. 3 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²¹⁰ T. 2 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²¹¹ T. 2 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²¹² T. 2 June 2008 pp. 39, 41 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²¹³ T. 3 June 2008 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²²¹⁴ T. 17 June 2008 pp. 38-39; T. 17 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²¹⁵ T. 17 June 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²¹⁶ T. 17 June 2008 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²¹⁷ T. 17 June 2008 pp. 42-43 (ICS); T. 18 June 2008 p. 16 (Witness MAJIK).

²²¹⁸ T. 17 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²¹⁹ T. 17 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁰ T. 17 June 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²²¹ T. 17 June 2008 p. 44 (ICS); T. 18 June 2008 p. 16 (Witness MAJIK).

remained on the grounds for about half an hour, she left and returned home. ²²²² The assailants had not attacked the church at this time. She saw no vehicle on the church grounds during this second visit to the church. ²²²³

1091. The witness testified that in April 1994, the Muganza *commune* office had one vehicle, a white Toyota. She did not see this vehicle on Wednesday when she passed by Mugombwa Church. ²²²⁴

1092. The witness did not see Ndayambaje, whom she knew from his time as *bourgmestre*. Nobody told the witness that Ndayambaje had been present at the church on that day. Witness MAJIK did not see Ndayambaje in Muganza during the period 6 April 1994 to the beginning of May 1994. 2227

Ndayambaje Defence Witness ALIZA

1093. Witness ALIZA, a Hutu student in 1994, testified that about two weeks after Habyarimana's death, disturbances started in Muganza *commune*. On a Wednesday evening, at around 5.00 p.m., the witness heard gunshots and explosions coming from the direction of Mugombwa Church, which was about five to seven kilometres from Witness ALIZA's home. ²²²⁸

Ndayambaje Defence Witness KEPIR

1094. Witness KEPIR, son of a Hutu father and Tutsi mother, was a friend of Ndayambaje. 2229

1095. Witness KEPIR testified that he was at the *commune* office on 20 April 1994, when he saw Ndayambaje arrive in a car that he did not recognise. On arrival, Ndayambaje informed the witness that he had come to seek refuge because he had heard gunfire in his neighbourhood. The witness and Ndayambaje then walked to the witness' house a short distance away. The vehicle that brought Ndayambaje to the *commune* office left and returned a few minutes later with Ndayambaje's family and some others. Ndayambaje lived approximately 15 minutes away from the *commune* office by car. Ndayambaje was joined by his family and the others who had travelled with them at the witness' house and 10 or 15 minutes later, they all went together to the *commune* office.

²²²² T. 17 June 2008 p. 49; T. 17 June 2008 pp. 44-45 (ICS); T. 18 June 2008 p. 16 (Witness MAJIK).

²²²³ T. 17 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁴ T. 17 June 2008 p. 46 (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁵ T. 17 June 2008 pp. 46-48; T. 18 June 2008 pp. 16-17 (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁶ T. 17 June 2008 p. 48 (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁷ T. 18 June 2008 p. 17 (Witness MAJIK).

²²²⁸ T. 4 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

²²²⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

²²³⁰ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39 (Witness KEPIR).

²²³¹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 10 September 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²³² T. 10 September 2008 pp. 41, 43 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²³³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR).

²²³⁴ T. 10 September 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

1096. Ndayambaje, a *gendarme* and the witness took the vehicle belonging to an international organisation and left at approximately 12.30 or 1.00 p.m. to inform *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue in Butare of the prevailing situation in the *commune*. They arrived in Butare at approximately 2.00 p.m., returning to the Muganza *commune* office at around 4.00 or 5.00 p.m. Ndayambaje spent the night of 20 April 1994 in the courtyard of the *commune* office. ²²³⁷

1097. Witness KEPIR testified that he did not see Ndayambaje leave the *commune* office on the night of 20 April 1994. That evening, the *bourgmestre* used the *commune* vehicle to move items between his home and the *commune* office where he stayed the night. Both the *commune* vehicle and the vehicle belonging to an international organisation remained in the parking space behind the *commune* office during that night. 2240

1098. On Thursday 21 April 1994, neither Ndayambaje nor the *commune* vehicle left the *commune* office. Witness KEPIR testified that at around 4.00 or 5.00 p.m. on 21 April 1994, he heard very loud noises followed by grenade detonations from Mugombwa Parish, which was about seven to 10 kilometres away from the *commune* office. 2242

1099. On the morning of 22 April 1994, Witness KEPIR saw and spoke to Ndayambaje, Witness RV and Charles. This group told the witness that they were leaving to monitor the situation in Mugombwa and Kabuga. The witness testified that Ndayambaje wanted to collect a car from an expatriate called Monique who worked there and to check on his mother at the Mugombwa health centre. The group left at around 10.00 a.m. Ndayambaje returned to the *commune* office 20 to 30 minutes later in the car he had collected. It was a khakicoloured Toyota Corolla. Ndayambaje was not accompanied by his mother.

1100. A few minutes after Ndayambaje's return, Witness RV arrived.²²⁴⁷ Ndayambaje and Witness RV told people at the *commune* office that they had seen dead bodies at Mugombwa Church.²²⁴⁸

1101. At approximately 1.00 or 2.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994, the witness accompanied Ndayambaje who decided to collect the vehicle belonging to the Kirarambogo health centre. They left in the vehicle belonging to an expatriate. Returning from Kirarambogo,

```
<sup>2235</sup> T. 10 September 2008 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).
```

²²³⁶ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²³⁷ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 51-52, 55-57; T. 10 September pp. 59-61 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²³⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 51 (Witness KEPIR).

²²³⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 52 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁰ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 52-53 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴¹ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 53-54; T. 15 September 2008 p. 8 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴² T. 15 September 2008 pp. 8-9 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 55 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁴ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 55-57; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁵ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 56-57 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁶ T. 15 September 2008 p. 16 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁷ T. 10 September 2008 p. 57 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 57; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁴⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 59 (ICS); T. 15 September 2008 pp. 13-14 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁰ T. 10 September 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

Ndayambaje drove the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle and the witness followed close behind. Both cars stopped at a roadblock that was about 500 metres from the Kirarambogo health centre and then proceeded to the Muganza *commune* office, arriving at about 4.00 p.m. Witness KEPIR stayed with Ndayambaje that evening until they parted company to go to bed. 2253

1102. The witness testified that Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office on 22 April 1994, on any occasion other than the trip to Mugombwa and the trip to Kirarambogo.²²⁵⁴

1103. The witness testified that in 1994, Muganza *commune* had a white single-cabin Stout pickup with "Muganza *commune*" written on the side.²²⁵⁵ The official driver of this vehicle was Charles Habakurama.²²⁵⁶ Ndayambaje had his own private vehicle in April 1994, a white double-cabin Toyota Hilux with slats on the back on which tarpaulin could be placed. The vehicle was rented out to *Médecins Sans Frontières* ("MSF") Belgium, in Butare.²²⁵⁷ The witness did not see this vehicle in Muganza *commune* in April 1994 and disagreed that Ndayambaje used this vehicle on 22 April 1994.²²⁵⁸

Ndayambaje Defence Witness GABON

1104. Witness GABON, a Hutu policeman, testified that on 20 April 1994, he went to the Muganza *commune* office at around 9.00 or 9.30 a.m.²²⁵⁹ At that time, the *bourgmestre* was not present.²²⁶⁰ A policeman on duty told the witness that the situation in Mugombwa was precarious and that Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano, the parish priest, had come by car to the *commune* office to look for *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana.²²⁶¹ Witness GABON's colleague said that the *bourgmestre* left in his car with his driver.²²⁶²

1105. Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje arrived at the Muganza *commune* office in a vehicle at about 11.00 a.m. which left soon afterwards. He returned at about 12.30 p.m. with his family and others. Ndayambaje and his family moved into the IGA room in the *commune* office. Later, Ndayambaje left in a blue vehicle belonging to the international organisation and went to Butare. He returned between 5.00 and 5.30 p.m. At around 7.00 p.m., the *bourgmestre* and his driver returned to the *commune* office in the white

²²⁵¹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵² T. 10 September 2008 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁴ T. 10 September 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁵ T. 4 September 2008 pp. 15, 19 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁶ T. 4 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁷ T. 4 September 2008 p. 24 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 63 (Witness KEPIR).

²²⁵⁹ T. 28 August 2008 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁰ T. 28 August 2008 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶¹ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 63-65 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶² T. 28 August 2008 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶³ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 65-71 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁴ T. 28 August 2008 p. 69 (ICS); T. 1 September 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁵ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 65-71 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁶ T. 28 August 2008 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

commune vehicle, which they parked in the car park.²²⁶⁷ On the night of 20 April 1994 these were the only two vehicles in the *commune* office car park.²²⁶⁸

1106. Witness GABON testified that about 150 people took refuge at the *commune* office on Wednesday, 20 April 1994. They stayed day and night at the *commune* office until the following Saturday. 2270

1107. Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office premises during the day or night of 21 April 1994. Ndayajbame remained there, playing cards with other refugees. Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje was still present at the *commune* office on the morning of 22 April 1994, which was a Friday. Ndayambaje left the office with the *bourgmestre* in the *commune* vehicle at about 9.00 a.m.

1108. Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje returned about one hour later, driving the small grey four-door sedan vehicle of the Kirarambogo health centre that belonged to Monique, a white lady who worked at the health centre. About an hour later, *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue and his driver arrived at the *commune* office in the *commune*'s vehicle, which they parked in its normal place in the office car park. Neither car left the *commune* compound again that day. 2277

1109. Witness GABON testified that at about 11.00 a.m., Ndayambaje left the *commune* office with Witness KEPIR and a driver in the blue vehicle belonging to an international organisation. At approximately 2.00 p.m., Ndayambaje returned alone in the khakicoloured Kirarambogo health centre dual-cabin van, which was normally used as an ambulance. Witness GABON emphasised that the Kirarambogo health centre had two vehicles and, while he knew little about motor vehicles, this van should not be confused with the sedan vehicle used by Ndayambaje earlier that day. Soon after Ndayambaje's return, Witness KEPIR and his driver arrived in the vehicle and parked in the *commune* office car park. Thereafter, none of the four vehicles left the *commune* office for the rest of the day. Ndayambaje and his family spent the night of 22 April 1994 in the IGA room of the *commune* office.

²²⁶⁷ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁸ T. 1 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁶⁹ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 11, 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁰ T. 1 September 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷¹ T. 1 September 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷² T. 1 September 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷³ T. 1 September 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁴ T. 1 September 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁵ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 29, 32 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁶ T. 1 September 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁷ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁸ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 21, 31 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁷⁹ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 32-34 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁸⁰ T. 1 September 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁸¹ T. 1 September 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

1110. On cross-examination, Witness GABON testified that he remained at the commune office until 24 April 1994 and that from 20 April 1994 until then he slept for just 27 minutes.²²⁸²

Ndayambaje Defence Witness MARVA

- 1111. Witness MARVA, a Hutu from Muganza commune, testified that on the Wednesday two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana she was at Ndayambaje's home. 2283 A Tutsi named Chanvrier and Elyseus' family, including a person named Uwodukunda, took refuge in Ndayambaje's residence. After Elyseus' family arrived, loud gunshots were heard coming from a distance. 2285 They all decided to flee. 2286
- 1112. During cross-examination, Witness MARVA testified that these gunshots were not coming from the direction of Mugombwa Church. She stated that she did not hear that Mugombwa Church was attacked in April 1994. 2287 She testified that it takes approximately 10 minutes to drive to Mugombwa Church from Ndayambaje's home. 2288
- 1113. Witness MARVA testified that Ndayambaje was picked up by someone in a vehicle in order to take him to the *commune* office to seek refuge. After approximately one hour, the vehicle came back to take her, François, Uwodukunda, Chanvrier, Ndayambaje's wife and children to the Muganza *commune* office where they all took refuge. ²²⁹⁰
- 1114. Witness MARVA testified that they met Ndayambaje at Witness KEPIR's house before proceeding to the IGA building in the Muganza commune office compound. 2291 François. Uwodukunda, Chanvrier, Ndayambaje, Ndayambaje's wife and children and the witness walked to the IGA building from Witness KEPIR's house on foot since it was not far. 2292 She testified that once they arrived at the IGA building, other people were there. 2293 She did not know most of their names, but knew that Witness KEPIR's wife and the driver's wife were there. 2294
- 1115. Witness MARVA testified that all this happened on a Wednesday, and the rest of the day and night was spent in the IGA building. She testified that everyone spent the night in the

²²⁸² T. 3 September 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²²⁸³ T. 1 July 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁴ T. 1 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁵ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁶ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁷ T. 2 July 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁸ T. 2 July 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁸⁹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹⁰ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹¹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹² T. 1 July 2008 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹³ T. 1 July 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹⁴ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

same room, including Ndayambaje.²²⁹⁵ She explained that they all stayed in the IGA building until Saturday, and Ndayambaje did not leave the room. 2296

- 1116. During cross-examination, it was suggested that Ndayambaje could not have spent the entire night in the same enclosed room, but the witness reaffirmed that he did. 2297 When asked if he could have left for some fresh air, to use the bathroom or to check on his vehicle, the witness admitted that upon their arrival at the commune office, Ndayambaje went to see Chrysologue, the bourgmestre of Muganza commune, in order to ask about the situation, but that she did not ask him what had happened and did not see Chrysologue herself.²²⁹⁸ Then. according to the witness, Ndayambaje went to his room and never went out again. 2299
- 1117. During cross-examination, Witness MARVA explained that it takes an hour to get to the commune office from Ndayambaje's house by foot. She conceded that from the time Ndayambaje left in the vehicle to the time the witness and the others arrived at the *commune* office, the witness did not see Ndayambaje and could not tell the Chamber what he was doing and where he had been.²³⁰⁰ On cross-examination, she testified that when they arrived at the commune office premises, there were commune policemen there. She testified that she saw them as they moved about in the courtyard, every day, through the windows from the room in which she was locked in, or when she had to go to the restroom outside. She stated that she did not see these policemen greet and speak to Ndavambaje, however. She stated that she was with Ndayambaje inside the room, and could not see what was happening outside. 2301
- 1118. Witness MARVA testified that Ndayambaje and the rest of the group remained in the same room throughout Thursday, 21 April 1994. 2302 They stayed in the same place until the following Saturday when the commune office was attacked and the group, including Ndayambaje, fled. 2303

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Father Tiziano Pegoraro

- 1119. Father Tiziano Pegoraro, an Italian priest, testified that from 1988 until 20 April 1994 he was the parish priest of Mugombwa. He had known Ndayambaje since 1983, when Ndayambaje was the bourgmestre of Muganza commune. In his capacity as parish priest, the witness worked with Ndayambaje on social and educational projects. 2305
- 1120. Father Tiziano drew a sketch of Mugombwa Church (Defence Exhibit 677). 2306 He marked and explained the church's shape, the position of the church bell, the altar, the sacristy.

```
<sup>2295</sup> T. 1 July 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
```

²²⁹⁶ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹⁷ T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹⁸ T. 2 July 2008 pp. 16-17, 34 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²²⁹⁹ T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²³⁰⁰ T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²³⁰¹ T. 2 July 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²³⁰² T. 1 July 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²³⁰³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-27 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²³⁰⁴ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 17-18, 46 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁰⁵ T. 8 September 2008 p. 32 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁰⁶ T. 8 September 2008 p. 29 (Father Tiziano); Defence Exhibit 677 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map by Father Tiziano).

and the seven doors and windows.²³⁰⁷ From the inside the windows were 1.20 metres above the ground; from the outside the height differed because the church was built on a slope. 2308 The church was between 50 and 60 metres long. 2309

- 1121. Father Tiziano testified that in the evenings, the church staff would close all doors from the inside, save for the last one which was closed from the outside with a padlock.²³¹⁰ He stated that the windows had opaque green glass, so it was not possible to look through them.²³¹¹ He said that there were small benches in the church and that about 700 persons could be seated in the church. The church had no electricity; natural light came through the windows and roof.²³¹² He testified that the distance between the church building and the priest's residence was about 20 metres. 2313
- 1122. Father Tiziano testified that on 20 April 1994, at around 6.00 a.m., Ndayambaje knocked at his window and told him that there had been riots and that it was necessary to speak with Witness RV who lived close to the commune office. 2314 The witness and Ndavambaje therefore drove to Remera Hill. Muganza *commune*, in the parish vehicle. ²³¹⁵
- 1123. Father Tiziano testified that at the commune office, they first talked to a gendarme who went to fetch Witness RV from his residence. The witness later stated that he and Ndayambaje went directly to Witness RV's residence. Ndayambaje informed Witness RV about the riots and Witness RV said that he would deliver a speech at Kabuga Market around 9.00 a.m. to calm the population. ²³¹⁸ Father Tiziano stated that the *bourgmestre* did not get into the witness' car on 20 April 1994, contrary to Witness RV's testimony. 2319 After speaking with the bourgmestre, Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje drove to Mugombwa Church in the parish vehicle. Ndayambaje got out of the vehicle and went home on foot, while Father Tiziano drove into the church premises with the vehicle. 2320
- 1124. Father Tiziano testified that he walked to Ndayambaje's house at 9.00 a.m. on 20 April 1994, because they had agreed to drive together to Kabuga. 2321 The distance between his residence and that of Ndayambaje was approximately 500 metres. 2322 On his way, Father Tiziano encountered a group of violent people, armed with machetes and spears, and wearing banana leaves on their heads near the Chapel of Our Lady opposite the entrance of the health

²³⁰⁷ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 20-26 (Father Tiziano). ²³⁰⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 19 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁰⁹ T. 8 September 2008 p. 22 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁰ T. 8 September 2008 p. 24 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹¹ T. 8 September 2008 p. 25 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹² T. 8 September 2008 p. 27 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹³ T. 9 September 2008 p. 29 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁴ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 48-49 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁵ T. 8 September 2008 p. 49 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁶ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 49-50 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁷ T. 8 September 2008 p. 52 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁸ T. 8 September 2008 p. 50 (Father Tiziano).

²³¹⁹ T. 8 September 2008 p. 58 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁰ T. 8 September 2008 p. 51 (Father Tiziano).

T. 8 September 2008 p. 58; T. 8 September 2008 p. 69 (Father Tiziano) (French) (for the spelling of

²³²² T. 8 September 2008 p. 39 (Father Tiziano).

centre. 2323 They seemed to be drugged. Father Tiziano told them to go back home and not engage in violent activities ²³²⁴

- 1125. Father Tiziano continued walking towards Ndayambaje's residence. He met Ndayambaje on the road opposite his house talking with people. Ndayambaje said that they should wait for Witness RV before going to Kabuga, but mentioned that as the situation in Kabuga was dangerous, the witness was free to return home if the *bourgmestre* did not turn up. Ndayambaje then said that they would certainly not go to Kabuga. The witness waited for a few minutes for the *bourgmestre* and then returned to the parish on foot. ²³²⁵ That was the last time he saw Ndayambaie. 2326
- 1126. Father Tiziano testified that he left Ndayambaje at around 9.30 a.m. When he returned to the parish around 60 refugees, men, women and children carrying arms, had gathered in the church. 2327 He went into the church and asked the refugees what they were doing in the church bearing arms. The refugees told him that they fled because there had been violence on their hills and at their homes. 2328 He asked them to leave and to find a safer place to hide, such as schools, because the witness had heard via radio that churches were not secure. 2329 On crossexamination, he added that he also asked them to put down the machetes, but only a few did so. ²³³⁰ The witness stated that he asked them to lay down the weapons because he did not think the refugees would be attacked in Mugombwa Church. 2331
- 1127. Father Tiziano testified that when he left the church, he saw huts burning and people running away on the hillside opposite Saga parish, in Kibayi commune. One could see groups of people who were running away. 2332
- 1128. Father Tiziano testified that at around 11.30 a.m., upon a suggestion of Bosco Munyaneza, the chef de cellule of Karonkano, he drove to the Muganza commune office to report the violent situation to the authorities. 2333 The witness stated that between 9.30 a.m. until the time he left at around 11.30 a.m., no vehicle passed the front of the church. 2334
- 1129. Father Tiziano testified that at the Muganza *commune* office, he did not find any person of authority, besides a few policemen and the criminal investigations officer who asked the witness to give him a lift to Butare town, which Tiziano declined to do. 2335 At that moment, Brother Stan, a monk who worked in a Burundian refugee camp arrived by car at Muganza

²³²³ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 58, 60 (Father Tiziano). ²³²⁴ T. 8 September 2008 p. 60 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁵ T. 8 September 2008 p. 61 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁶ T. 9 September 2008 p. 28 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁷ T. 9 September 2008 p. 65 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁸ T. 8 September 2008 p. 62; T. 10 September 2008 p. 6 (Father Tiziano).

²³²⁹ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 62-63; T. 10 September 2008 pp. 6-9 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁰ T. 10 September 2008 p. 6 (Father Tiziano).

²³³¹ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 7-8 (Father Tiziano).

²³³² T. 8 September 2008 p. 64 (Father Tiziano).

²³³³ T. 8 September 2008 p. 64 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁴ T. 8 September 2008 p. 65 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁵ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 66-67 (Father Tiziano).

commune office. The witness and Brother Stan greeted each other and Brother Stan went with the criminal investigations officer to Butare. 2336

- 1130. Father Tiziano testified that he left the commune office and drove towards Mugombwa. 2337 He met the bourgmestre's assistant, Bosco, about 10 metres from the commune office yard, who asked the witness to give him a lift to Bishya. 2338 The witness only allowed Bosco to sit in the back of the car, because Bosco was carrying a machete. ²³³⁹ On cross-examination, he added that he drove a blue single-cabin Toyota Hilux truck. ²³⁴⁰ He drove directly to Mugombwa Church.²³⁴¹
- 1131. Father Tiziano testified that he drove inside the premises despite the fact that Bosco was armed. Bosco immediately left through the exit gate where he met Bosco Munyaneza, the chef de cellule. The witness saw that they were talking to each other but could not hear what they said. 2342
- 1132. Father Tiziano testified that on returning to the parish at around 12:30 p.m., the church windows were broken and stones were lying in the yard. On the road leading to the health centre, the witness saw a group of armed individuals, some of them were sitting down, others were standing, and some of them were dancing around.²³⁴⁴ His fellow clergymen told the witness that numerous armed individuals had attacked the church and that the body of a parishioner from Mugombwa, 2345 Chrysostome, was opposite the small staircase outside the brothers' accommodation. Chrysostome had been stoned to death. The witness assumed that the armed individuals, who he had seen previously, had participated in the attack on the church.²³⁴⁶ In cross-examination, the witness stated that the attackers were of Hutu ethnicity.²³⁴⁷
- 1133. On cross-examination, Father Tiziano testified when he entered the church the second time at around 2.30 p.m., the number of refugees had increased to 200 or 300 people. He confirmed that most of them were Tutsis. ²³⁴⁸ The witness stated that they did not provide food to the refugees, as they had not asked for it and because the parish had nothing to give. 2349
- 1134. Father Tiziano testified that in view of the violent situation, he and his fellow clergymen decided to leave the parish.²³⁵⁰ At around 3.30 p.m., the witness left the parish together with the three nuns who were in charge of the Italian health centre, three clergymen

²³³⁶ T. 8 September 2008 p. 67 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁷ T. 9 September 2008 p. 5 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁸ T. 9 September 2008 p. 5; T. 10 September 2008 p. 9 (Father Tiziano).

²³³⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 10 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁰ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 9-10 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴¹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 27 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴² T. 10 September 2008 pp. 21-22 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴³ T. 9 September 2008 pp. 11, 13 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁴ T. 9 September 2008 p. 11 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁵ T. 10 September 2008 p. 20 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁶ T. 9 September 2008 p. 11 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁷ T. 9 September 2008 pp. 61-62 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁸ T. 9 September 2008 p. 66 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁴⁹ T. 9 September 2008 p. 68 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁰ T. 9 September 2008 p. 11 (Father Tiziano).

and another Italian nun, who lived at the parish. 2351 They left in three vehicles, two belonging to the parish and one belonging to the health centre, driving through Bishya, Kibilizi and Tumba towards Butare town. 2352 On cross-examination, he testified that it took around one hour and 10 minutes to drive from Mugombwa to the centre of Butare town via Kibilizi. 2353

- 1135. Father Tiziano testified that he did not inform any authorities about the incident. 2354 The witness stated that he presumed that Bosco, the assistant of the bourgmestre, and Bosco, the head of the cellule, discussed the incident and the refugees when they met just outside the precincts of the parish church. 2355 For that reason, Father Tiziano did not ask Bosco to give assistance with regard to the security of the refugees in the church and in the area as a whole. 2356
- 1136. Ndayambaje parked Monique's vehicle in the parking lot of the parish on 19 April 1994 because it was the only protected parking lot.²³⁵⁷ It remained there when Father Tiziano left on 20 April 1994.²³⁵⁸

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Constant Julius Goetschalckx, a.k.a. Brother Stan

- 1137. Constant Julius Goetschalckx, a.k.a. Brother Stan, a Belgian Catholic friar who lived in Mugombwa Parish from 1993 to 1994, 2359 lived in Amici house which was approximately 100 metres from Mugombwa Church on the Bishya side. ²³⁶⁰ He had known Ndayambaje since 1988 and they were friends. ²³⁶¹ In 1994, the witness worked in the field of education in the Burundian refugee camps and lived and worked in Saga refugee camp in Kibayi *commune*. ²³⁶²
- 1138. Brother Stan testified that attacks against the Tutsis had commenced on 18 April 1994. 2363
- 1139. Brother Stan testified that he saw Ndayambaje's mother at Ndayambaje's house prior to 20 April 1994, and he believed she was ill at the time. He did not know if she travelled with Ndayambaje to Kibayi later, he did not know what happened to her. 2364
- 1140. Brother Stan testified that the car belonging to the expatriate, Monique, was parked at the priest's house and the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle was parked at the health centre. 2365 Monique had left both vehicles in the care of Ndayambaje. 2366 Brother Stan testified

²³⁵¹ T. 9 September 2008 pp. 12-13 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵² T. 9 September 2008 p. 13 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵³ T. 9 September 2008 p. 26 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁴ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 20-21 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁵ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 21, 23 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁶ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 22-23 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁷ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 25-26 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁸ T. 9 September 2008 pp. 16-17 (Father Tiziano).

²³⁵⁹ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 25 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 27 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶² T. 18 September 2008 p. 25 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶³ T. 24 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁴ T. 23 September 2008 p. 16 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁵ T. 24 September 2008 pp. 4, 8 (Brother Stan).

that he saw Ndayambaje in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle on 23 April 1994 near the Saga camp. ²³⁶⁷ The witness saw Ndayambaje with Monique's car and the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle in the month of May 1994. ²³⁶⁸

- 1141. Brother Stan testified that the Mugombwa health centre was run by Italian nuns who left with Father Tiziano on 20 April 1994. Brother Stan testified that he had heard that after the nuns left, the patients at the health centre were taken to the church in the morning of 20 April 1994. ²³⁶⁹
- 1142. Brother Stan testified that at 8.00 a.m. on the morning of 20 April 1994, he set off to the Kibayi *commune* office from the Saga camp where he was staying. He was delivering supplies to those who had sought refuge there. The distance between Saga and Kibayi is approximately 15 kilometres and the witness arrived there between 8.30 and 9.00 a.m. He was stopped by the *commune* office secretary in Kibayi who told him that there was insecurity in the *commune* and he asked Brother Stan to accompany him to inform the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune* who was in Butare. Brother Stan agreed and they set off in the normal direction, passing by the Saga camp towards Kabuga, Mugombwa, Bishya and on to Butare. Stan agreed and they set off in the normal direction, passing by the Saga camp towards Kabuga, Mugombwa, Bishya and on to Butare.
- 1143. Brother Stan testified that after having gone past the Saga camp, before getting to Kabuga, a crowd of hundreds or thousands of people with spears and machetes surrounded the vehicle and climbed onto it, so they could not continue to Kabuga. The crowd was saying that they were going to fight at Kabuga. He testified that he drove slowly backwards towards the Saga camp. Just before getting to the Saga camp, he drove on the road which leads from Saga to Saga 2 and on towards Kirarambogo. 2375
- 1144. Brother Stan testified that he arrived at the Muganza *commune* office at about 12.30 p.m. on 20 April 1994.²³⁷⁶ He was informed that Ndayambaje and his family had sought refuge there.²³⁷⁷ He stopped at the *commune* office to ask for authorisation to drive around. The *bourgmestre* was not there but he saw Father Tiziano from Mugombwa Parish who was leaving when he arrived.²³⁷⁸

²³⁶⁶ T. 24 September 2008 pp. 3, 8 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁷ T. 24 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁸ T. 24 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

²³⁶⁹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 15 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 36 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷¹ T. 22 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷² T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁵ T. 18 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 39 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).

²³⁷⁸ T. 18 September 2008 p. 39 (Brother Stan).

- 1145. Brother Stan testified that he met the criminal investigations officer at the commune office who asked if he could accompany Brother Stan to Butare. 2379 They went in the direction of Mugombwa Parish in order to pick up some fuel. 2380
- 1146. From Muganza commune to Mugombwa Parish the witness travelled with the commune secretary of Kibayi and the criminal investigations officer. On arrival in Bishya, the criminal investigations officer asked the witness to take Mr. Fidèle, the district judge, his wife who was about to give birth, and a young girl in the vehicle. They travelled together in the vehicle towards the Mugombwa health centre. 2381 He testified that he arrived in Mugombwa Parish at about 1.00 or 1.30 p.m. 2382 He was not able to go any further than the parish because the vehicle was surrounded by a group of people armed with machetes and spears and he was concerned because the district judge was with him. The district judge, his wife and the young girl were Tutsis.²³⁸³ The crowd was hostile because of the presence of the district judge in the car. He reversed and when he was level with his house he shouted that he needed petrol, and two jerry cans were put in his vehicle. 2384 The witness testified that the land in front of the parish was empty. He had gone past the church in order to go to the health centre when the gang appeared. 2385
- 1147. Brother Stan testified that on leaving Mugombwa Parish he proceeded to the MRND Palace in Butare where the *bourgmestre's* meeting was being held. ²³⁸⁶ On the way to Butare, the witness' car was stopped at a roadblock manned by armed soldiers. 2387 Those travelling in the vehicle were asked for their identity papers. 2388 Mr. Fidèle and the young girl travelling with him had their documents. Mr. Fidèle's wife, who was about to give birth, did not have an identity card. She was asked to get out of the vehicle, and Mr. Fidèle stayed with his wife at that roadblock. Brother Stan dropped off the girl at Bihira's place, and on his return, stopped at the roadblock to find out whether Mr. Fidèle and his wife were still there. He was told that they had gone to the hospital. He did not attempt to find out what happened to them. He never saw them again.²³⁸⁹ Given the circumstances at the time, he believed they were killed but he did not know where or when.²³⁹⁰
- 1148. The bourgmestre's meeting had ended and Brother Stan was told that the bourgmestre from Kibayi was going to return to his commune. 2391 He testified that as a result of this he turned back to Mugombwa, travelling with the criminal investigations officer and the

²³⁷⁹ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 39-40 (Brother Stan). ²³⁸⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸² T. 24 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 40; T. 23 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 41 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁵ T. 24 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 41 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁷ T. 24 September 2008 p. 36 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁸ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 3-4 (Brother Stan).

²³⁸⁹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁰ T. 24 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 41 (Brother Stan).

commune secretary from Kibayi *commune*. He dropped the criminal investigations officer off at the Muganza *commune* office at about 5.00 or 5.30 p.m. ²³⁹²

- 1149. Brother Stan testified that on arrival at the *commune* office that evening, he was informed that Ndayambaje and his family had sought refuge there but he did not see him. He spent the night of 20 April 1994 at Saga refugee camp. ²³⁹³
- 1150. Brother Stan testified that the massacre at Mugombwa Church began on 21 April 1994.²³⁹⁴ He testified that on 21 April 1994, he heard grenades explode at the level of Mugombwa Church which was a little more than a kilometre from Saga camp as the crow flies.²³⁹⁵ He remained at Saga camp throughout 22 April 1994 until the morning of 23 April 1994. He did not hear anything out of the ordinary.²³⁹⁶
- 1151. Brother Stan testified that because there was a food shortage in Saga camp, he left the camp with some students and went to Mugombwa Parish to get food supplies which were stored near the old church and the Amici house. As they drove past the church, the witness noticed that there were bodies of people who had been killed everywhere on the parish ground. He did not enter Mugombwa Church on 23 April 1994. With the car, he drove through the bodies to the stores, got the food supplies and returned to Saga camp in the evening. On seeing the dead bodies, he decided to flee Rwanda the following day but he was turned back at the Burundian border on 24 April 1994.
- 1152. There were Burundian refugees who participated in the killings on or around 20 April 1994, some from the Saga camp where he worked, but the bulk of Burundian refugees remained locked up in their houses at the refugee camp. He informed the *bourgmestre* that some of the Burundian refugees were involved in the killings. He did not make any attempt to disarm the refugees in the camp who had machetes. He was a simple priest, and in his mind, machetes had never been weapons as such. He Burundian refugees were not armed. They had hoes, as everybody did, and everyone had machetes. They were not weapons. They were tools which they used in April 1994. Some of them used them in April 1994, but they were not weapons. There was no possible measure to rid the persons of their tools which they needed for their work. During April 1994 the refugees remained in the camps, and wherever possible, they would render or carry out agricultural work for Rwandans living around the

²³⁹² T. 18 September 2008 pp. 41-42 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁴ T. 24 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁵ T. 18 September 2008 p. 43 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁶ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 43-44 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁸ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 44-45 (Brother Stan).

²³⁹⁹ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 45-46 (Brother Stan).

²⁴⁰⁰ T. 23 September 2008 p. 18 (Brother Stan).

²⁴⁰¹ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 58-59 (Brother Stan).

²⁴⁰² T. 23 September 2008 pp. 55, 58 (Brother Stan).

²⁴⁰³ T. 23 September 2008 p. 59 (Brother Stan).

camp.²⁴⁰⁴ The Burundian refugees were not armed. They had agricultural instruments. Brother Stan did not inform the *préfecture* authorities because he did not know how.²⁴⁰⁵

- 1153. When referred to his previous statement to the Belgian judge, Vandermeersch, dated 24 November 1995, the witness testified that his statement was incorrect and that he saw Ndayambaje on 23 April 1994, on his way to Kibayi with his family, not on 27 or 28 April 1994 as recorded in the statement. ²⁴⁰⁶ Brother Stan testified that the judge was mistaken. ²⁴⁰⁷
- 1154. On cross-examination, Brother Stan was referred to a letter of complaint he wrote on 25 November 1995 to a journalist named Van den Abeele of *Belgische Radio en Televisie Nederlands*, regarding the television coverage of the genocide in relation to Muganza *commune*. In this letter, he stated that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at the *commune* office from 20 to 25 April 1994. Brother Stan testified that there was a mistake in the letter and that he saw Ndayambaje at about 4.00 or 4.30 p.m. on 23 April 1994 at Saga camp where he was travelling in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle, on his way to Kibayi. He testified that he had been mistaken in this letter that Ndayambaje sought refuge at the *commune* office from 20 to 25 April, the correct dates were 20 to 23 April 1994. Page 1994.
- 1155. Brother Stan testified that his testimony before the Tribunal was clearer and more precise than the statements he made in 1995 because he was still traumatised by the events of 1994. In his view, this is why there were contradictions between the statement to the Belgian judge and the letter to the journalist written in 1995, and his testimony in 2008.²⁴¹¹
- 1156. Brother Stan testified that on 25 April 1994, he decided to start burying the dead who were lying around Mugombwa Church and on the road leading up to it. He went to the church with a group of about 20 Burundian refugees to start the burial.²⁴¹² There were about 200 dead people inside the church, most of whom were children, women and the elderly. There were about 200 dead bodies on the grounds in front of the church and the primary school classes, and there were some dead bodies scattered here and there in the woods or on the pitch near the old church.²⁴¹³ He clarified that the burials started on 25 April 1994 and went on for more than a week, until 2 or 3 May 1994.²⁴¹⁴
- 1157. Brother Stan testified that he saw that the Mugombwa health centre had reopened after he had completed burying the dead. 2415

```
<sup>2404</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 56 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2405</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2406</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 32 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2407</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2408</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 45 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2409</sup> T. 23 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2410</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2411</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2412</sup> T. 18 September 2008 p. 46; T. 23 September 2008 pp. 15-16 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2413</sup> T. 18 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2414</sup> T. 18 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).
<sup>2415</sup> T. 23 September 2008 p. 15 (Brother Stan).
```

1158. The witness testified that in May 1994, after the burial of dead bodies at Mugombwa Church, he was bed-ridden with malaria for three weeks and Ndayambaje and his wife looked after him. 2416

Ndayambaje Defence Witness ANGES

- 1159. Witness ANGES, a Hutu shopkeeper from Muganza commune, testified that the road from Kibavi to Mugombwa passed by the Bishya shopping centre. 2417 Bishya and Mugombwa were around one and a half kilometres from each other. Her house and shop were around three metres away from the road and she could see everything that was happening on the road and at the Bishya shopping centre. 2418
- 1160. Witness ANGES testified that the road forked in different directions at the Bishya shopping centre. One road led to the forest; a second led to the church; and a third went to the Muganza commune office. The distance between Bishya shopping centre and the commune office was around two to three kilometres.²⁴¹⁹ In Bishya, there was another main road going from Bishya to Butare. 2420
- 1161. Witness ANGES testified that on Wednesday, 20 April 1994, which was a market day, she went with her husband on his motorcycle to Ndayambaje's house. 2421 Around 20 metres before Ndayambaje's house, the witness saw around 30 to 50 persons with traditional weapons. They were shouting and seemed to be searching for people. 2422
- 1162. Witness ANGES testified that she and her husband arrived at Ndayambaje's house around 7.30 or 8.00 a.m. When she entered the house she met Chanvrier, a teacher from APAME who had sought refuge at Ndayambaje's house because assailants had wanted to kill him.²⁴²³ In cross-examination, the witness confirmed that Chanvrier was still alive in July 1994.²⁴²⁴
- 1163. Witness ANGES testified that she could not go to work that day due to the insecure situation and the attackers outside. On cross-examination, the witness stated that when Ndayambaje heard about the attackers, he became frightened and remained at home. 2425 Witness ANGES said that she spent around one hour at Ndayambaje's house because they could still hear the noise from the attacks on the road. Afterwards, the witness and her husband drove home on the way through the forest below Mugombwa Parish, arriving at home between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. 2427

 ²⁴¹⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).
 ²⁴¹⁷ T. 20 August 2008 p. 10 (ICS) Witness ANGES).

²⁴¹⁸ T. 20 August 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴¹⁹ T. 20 August 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁰ T. 20 August 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²¹ T. 20 August 2008 p. 23 (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²² T. 20 August 2008 pp. 26-27 (ICS); T. 21 August 2008 p. 7 (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²³ T. 20 August 2008 pp. 27, 29 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁴ T. 21 August 2008 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁵ T. 21 August 2008 p. 8 (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁶ T. 20 August 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁷ T. 20 August 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

1164. Witness ANGES testified that after she returned home, she remained at her house that day. Around midday, she saw Ndayambaje being chauffeured in a vehicle on the road from Mugombwa heading towards the Muganza commune office in Remera.2428 In crossexamination, Witness ANGES testified that she stayed the whole day in front of her house. She only went inside her house to use the bathroom twice and to eat her meal.²⁴²⁹

Ndayambaje Defence Witness BOZAN

- 1165. Witness BOZAN, a Hutu civil servant from Muganza commune, used to attend mass at Mugombwa Church in 1994.²⁴³⁰ The witness testified that the church had metallic windows which could not be opened and the panes were multi-coloured.²⁴³¹ He indicated that from inside the church, one could not see anybody outside through those windows and vice versa. ²⁴³² On cross-examination, the witness testified that Mugombwa Parish was in Nyarunazi *cellule* and that he lived two kilometres from the parish and the Statue of the Virgin Mary. ²⁴³³
- 1166. The witness did not see Ndayambaje travelling in the pickup belonging to the Muganza commune between April and June 1994. 2434
- 1167. Witness BOZAN testified that unrest began during the market day at Kabuga, on Wednesday 20 April 1994. 2435 People fled their homes which were subsequently burned down and thugs started looting. On the following days, the situation worsened with countless killings. ²⁴³⁶ The unrest lasted for a week and a half. ²⁴³⁷
- 1168. Witness BOZAN testified that the Mugombwa dispensary was shut from 20 April 1994 onwards due to insecurity in the area.²⁴³⁸
- 1169. On cross-examination, Witness BOZAN testified that in the morning of 20 April 1994, around 9.30 a.m., Augustin Ntambara, who was the catechist at Mugombwa Parish, came to the witness' home to inform him of the situation at the church. 2439 Ntambara begged the witness to come with him to the church so they went there together and reached the place after 30 minutes walk. Upon their arrival, Ntambara pointed out to the witness a group of persons who had gathered outside the church and another group locked up in the church. 2440 He saw three groups of people numbering about 15 in one group and 20 in another. One group was by the road leading to the health centre, one group was by the school by the church and one group was by the convent. 2441 There was a group of men in the church courtyard who were armed

²⁴²⁸ T. 20 August 2008 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).

²⁴²⁹ T. 21 August 2008 pp. 8-9 (Witness ANGES).

²⁴³⁰ T. 16 September 2008 p. 5 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³¹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 5 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³² T. 16 September 2008 p. 5 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³³ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 12, 14 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁴ T. 16 September 2008 p. 7 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁵ T. 16 September 2008 p. 8; T. 17 September 2008 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁶ T. 16 September 2008 p. 9 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁷ T. 16 September 2008 p. 10 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁸ T. 17 September 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴³⁹ T. 17 September 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴⁰ T. 17 September 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴¹ T. 17 September 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

with clubs and short sticks. There were people inside the church; the witness could not see them but could hear their voices. He testified that the assailants had not yet started throwing stones at the church.²⁴⁴²

- 1170. Witness BOZAN testified that the assailants did not appreciate his presence at the church. Realising this, the witness went to see Cóme, a.k.a. Kosima, the parish gardener to accompany him to look for the priest inside the presbytery. 2443 The priest, Father Tiziano said that he was overwhelmed by the events. The witness asked him to go and inform the bourgmestre.²⁴⁴⁴
- 1171. Father Tiziano took his car and rushed to the *commune* office. 2445 Before leaving, Father Tiziano asked the witness to stay there so as to prevent the thugs from gaining access to his home. 2446 Father Tiziano was alone on that day but normally he lived with Brother Stan. 2447
- 1172. The witness testified that assailants started throwing stones and broke one window of the church right after the priest's departure, around 11.15 or 11.20 a.m. 2448 He was standing in front of the presbytery gate and could see that only one window was broken. 2449 The witness denied that he took part in the attack on the church. 2450 He testified that he was unarmed and frightened and stayed to the side of the attack.²⁴⁵¹ He talked to one of the assailants, Samson, who was not happy with his presence there and told him "this isn't yourself". 2452 Witness BOZAN admitted that the assailants knew of his presence at the priest's residence during the attack.²⁴⁵³
- 1173. Witness BOZAN testified that he witnessed the murder of Chrysostome by a group of 15 to 20 assailants from his position on the veranda. 2454 The assailants chased Chrysostome while he was running in the direction of the convent of the nuns, he was carrying a sword, and the assailants chased him. Chrysostome went through the entrance to the presbytery used by the priest to say mass and the assailants killed him with stones which had been left there for the construction of the church.²⁴⁵⁵ He was killed on the stairs by the door to the priest's residence.²⁴⁵⁶ The witness recognised Samson, Cyabarene, Innocent and Kalinda among the killers.²⁴⁵⁷

²⁴⁴² T. 17 September 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴³ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴⁴ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴⁵ T. 17 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

 ²⁴⁴⁶ T. 17 September 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).
 2447 T. 17 September 2008 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴⁸ T. 17 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁴⁹ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵⁰ T. 17 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵¹ T. 17 September 2008 p. 23 (ICS) Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵² T. 17 September 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵³ T. 17 September 2008 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵⁴ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 21-22, 24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵⁵ T. 17 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁵⁷ T. 17 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

- 1174. On Friday, 22 April 1994, the witness reported the murder of Chrysostome to the conseiller who, in turn, handed the matter over to André, a member of the cellule, who was supposed to bring the report to the *commune* office. ²⁴⁵⁸ Despite the report, those four thugs were not arrested. He added that those individuals were also involved in the killings of Tutsis in his area between April and July 1994. 2459
- 1175. Witness BOZAN testified that Father Tiziano returned at around 12.30 p.m.; he was accompanied by the assistant bourgmestre, Bosco Nshimiyimana, in a blue single-cabin Hilux. 2460 The witness reported to Father Tiziano and the assistant bourgmestre about what happened during their absence and showed them Chrysostome's corpse and the broken window. The attackers were still in the church courtyard, on the road leading to the health centre and on the road leading to his house, and were watching Witness BOZAN and Father Tiziano.²⁴⁶¹ The witness denied the Prosecution's suggestion that he was walking around comfortably among the assailants, but testified that the assailants were angry with him. 2462
- 1176. Witness BOZAN testified that the attack was over by the time Father Tiziano and Bosco arrived at the church. 2463 Bosco Nshimiyimana wore a machete on his belt. 2464 Bosco Nshimiyimana was among those who perpetrated genocide in Mugombwa but it happened after he was no longer assistant bourgmestre. 2465
- 1177. Witness BOZAN testified that he went home at around 1.00 p.m. to assist his wife who was about to give birth. 2466 He testified that he did not return to the church after the afternoon of 21 April 1994 and did not leave his *cellule* except to go to the market at Kabuga until he left the country in July 1994.²⁴⁶⁷

Ndayambaje Defence Witness SHICO

- 1178. Witness SHICO, a Hutu farmer from Muganza commune married to a Tutsi in 1994, testified that two weeks after the President's death, the situation changed in the witness' commune. It was being said that the RPF was attacking people and killing them. 2468
- 1179. Witness SHICO testified that she went to mass with her husband at Mugombwa Church at 6.00 a.m. on a Wednesday when war broke out. 2469 It was Easter and many people attended church that day in order to have their children baptised. 2470 At the end of mass people from Mugombwa, Kibayi and Saga came into the church and said that war had broken out and that

²⁴⁵⁸ T. 17 September 2008 p. 28 (ICS); T. 17 September 2008 p. 30 (HC) (Witness BOZAN) (French) (for the spelling of "André").

2459 T. 17 September 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁰ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 29, 32-33 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶¹ T. 17 September 2008 p. 30 (ICS) Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶² T. 17 September 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁴ T. 17 September 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁵ T. 17 September 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁶ T. 17 September 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁷ T. 17 September 2008 p. 51 (Witness BOZAN).

²⁴⁶⁸ T. 23 June 2008 p. 16 (Witness SHICO).

²⁴⁶⁹ T. 23 June 2008 p. 18; T. 23 June 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness SHICO).

²⁴⁷⁰ T. 23 June 2008 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness SHICO).

people were trying to kill them. 2471 The witness and her husband were frightened and left the church. On their way home – around half an hour on foot – the witness noticed smoke and houses on fire. 2472

1180. Witness SHICO testified that she heard that people had been killed at Mugombwa Church but she did not witness the killings because she had sought refuge on Kabuye Hill. 2473

Ndayambaje

1181. Ndayambaje testified that on 20 April 1994 at around 6.00 a.m., he noticed that houses were burning on the hills of Saga and Kibayi. 2474 He decided to go and see the parish priest of Mugombwa, Father Tiziano, so that they could go together and warn the commune authorities about what was happening. 2475 Mugombwa Church was 500 metres away from Ndayambaje's residence and he went there on foot. 2476 Ndayambaje met Father Tiziano in his room and immediately thereafter they headed to the commune office in Remera in Father Tiziano's car, a blue single-cabin Toyota Hilux pickup. 2477 On arriving at the *commune* office, they met a security guard who told Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano that the bourgmestre was still asleep. 2478 After a wait of 30 or 40 minutes, the bourgmestre came and Ndayambaje reported what he had seen on the hills of Saga and Kibayi. 2479 The *bourgmestre* said that he had to go to Butare for a meeting but that he would first stop at Mugombwa to assess the situation. ²⁴⁸⁰ The bourgmestre stated that he would meet Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano at Ndayambaje's home so that they could go to Kabuga together to address the population.²⁴⁸¹ Thereafter, Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano returned to Mugombwa, still aboard Father Tiziano's car. 2482 They left the bourgmestre at the commune office. 2483 Father Tiziano dropped Ndayambaje off at the presbytery between 7.00 and 8.00 a.m. in front of the church. Ndayambaje continued on foot towards his residence.²⁴⁸⁴

1182. When he arrived home he found a man known as Chanvrier who had come to seek refuge. At around 9.00 a.m., Father Tiziano came to see Ndayambaje on the road outside his home where they were supposed to meet with the *bourgmestre*. Ndayambaje, Father Tiziano and the *bourgmestre* had agreed that the three of them would go and address the population at the marketplace of

```
<sup>2471</sup> T. 23 June 2008 p. 18; T. 23 June 2008 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness SHICO).
<sup>2472</sup> T. 23 June 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness SHICO).
<sup>2473</sup> T. 23 June 2008 p. 62 (Witness SHICO).
<sup>2474</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2475</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2476</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2477</sup> T. 22 October 2008 pp. 35-36 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2478</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2479</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 36; T. 26 November 2008 pp. 59-60 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2480</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2481</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2482</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2483</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2484</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 38; T. 27 November 2008 p. 13 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2485</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 39 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2486</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>2487</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).
```

Kabuga, however the bourgmestre did not show up.2488 Father Tiziano therefore decided to return home (to the parish). 2489

1183. At around 11.00 a.m., a man named Célestin Halindintwari, a civil servant in Butare *préfecture*, visited Ndayambaje at his home. Around noon, Halindintwari drove Ndayambaje to the Muganza *commune* office because the situation outside was becoming dangerous; gunfire could be heard.²⁴⁹¹ Halindintwari drove a red pickup truck with a single cabin. 2492 When they arrived at the *commune* office, Ndayambaje met Witness KEPIR and went to Witness KEPIR's home, which was located very close to the *commune* office. 2493 Halindintwari returned to Mugombwa to pick up Ndayambaje's family and others who were at his home in Mugombwa and transported them to Witness KEPIR's house, arriving approximately one hour later.²⁴⁹⁴ On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that after dropping him off at the *commune* office. Halindintwari headed towards Butare. 2495

1184. Later that day, Ndayambaje and his family moved into one of the IGA classrooms at the *commune* office. ²⁴⁹⁶ Ndayambaje testified that his mother did not join them at the *commune* office because she was in the Mugombwa health centre. 2497

1185. Ndayambaje testified that around 1.00 p.m., 2498 he went with Witness KEPIR and a gendarme to Butare aboard the vehicle belonging to an international organisation, to notify the bourgmestre of the deteriorating situation.²⁴⁹⁹ The vehicle was a blue double-cabin Toyota Hilux. 2500 On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that they took the road through Gisagara because Gisagara was still safe. 2501 They went directly to Butare through Gisagara in Ndora commune. 2502 It was impossible for them to access the MRND hall where the bourgmestres attended a meeting.²⁵⁰³ However, the driver of the Muganza commune vehicle, Charles Habakurama saw and approached them. 2504 Ndayambaje talked to Charles Habakurama and asked him to convey a message to the bourgmestre. 2505 On crossexamination, he testified that the meeting was between the *préfet* and *bourgmestres*. ²⁵⁰⁶

²⁴⁸⁸ T. 22 October 2008 p. 42; T. 26 November 2008 p. 61 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁸⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁰ T. 22 October 2008 p. 53; T. 27 November 2008 p. 16 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹¹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 55; T. 27 November 2008 p. 19 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹² T. 27 November 2008 p. 16 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹³ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 55-56 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁴ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 56-57 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁵ T. 1 December 2008 p. 7 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁶ T. 22 October 2008 p. 58 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁷ T. 2 December 2008 p. 30 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁸ T. 1 December 2008 p. 11 (Ndayambaje).

²⁴⁹⁹ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 59-60 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰⁰ T. 22 October 2008 p. 60 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰¹ T. 1 December 2008 p. 10 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰² T. 22 October 2008 p. 60 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰³ T. 22 October 2008 p. 60 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰⁴ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 60-61 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰⁵ T. 22 October 2008 p. 61 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁰⁶ T. 18 November 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje).

1186. Ndayambaje testified that thereafter he and the others returned to Muganza using the same road. They reached the *commune* office between 4.00 and 5.00 p.m. Witness KEPIR's family also joined the others at the *commune* office premises, along with other people. He did not leave the *commune* office after his return from Butare on 20 April 1994. The blue vehicle belonging to the international organisation was parked at the parking lot of the *commune* office.

1187. Ndayambaje testified that *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana arrived at the *commune* office at around 7.00 p.m. on 20 April 1994. He was with Charles Habakurama aboard the Muganza *commune* vehicle, a white single-cabin Toyota Stout bearing the inscription MININTER. The *commune* vehicle was also parked at the parking lot of the *commune* office. Parking lot of the *commune* office.

1188. Ndayambaje testified that during that night, explosions were heard from Mugombwa area. He added that like everyone else, *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana was also frightened by these explosions and deterred him from going to Mugombwa Parish. Ndayambaje testified that the blue vehicle belonging to an international organisation and the *commune* vehicle were the only vehicles which were parked at the *commune* office on that day. He did not leave the *commune* office after his return from Butare on 20 April 1994. Ndayambaje did not travel in the *commune* vehicle on 20 April 1994. On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that there were five or six kilometres between Mugombwa Parish and the Muganza *commune* office.

1189. Ndayambaje testified that he remained at the Muganza *commune* office throughout 21 April 1994. The situation had seriously deteriorated as other people came to the *commune* office fleeing the violence on the hills. In the afternoon, further explosions were heard. Ndayambaje testified that nobody dared to leave the Muganza *commune* office, including *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana. Because of the insecurity, Witness RV also spent the night at the *commune* office. In the morning, Ndayambaje and Witness RV found each other in the internal courtyard of the *commune* compound.

²⁵⁰⁷ T. 22 October 2008 p. 61 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵⁰⁸ T. 22 October 2008 p. 62 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵⁰⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 62 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁰ T. 23 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹¹ T. 23 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹² T. 23 October 2008 p. 22 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹³ T. 23 October 2008 p. 23 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁴ T. 23 October 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁵ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 23-24 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁶ T. 23 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁷ T. 23 October 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁸ T. 23 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵¹⁹ T. 23 October 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵²⁰ T. 19 November 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵²¹ T. 23 October 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵²² T. 23 October 2008 pp. 37-38 (Ndayambaje). ²⁵²³ T. 23 October 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje).

- 1190. On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that there were only two vehicles which were parked at the *commune* office parking lot on 21 April 1994, the PAMU vehicle and the Muganza *commune* car. Ndayambaje testified that Ngiryi Bridge and the Mugombwa Parish church were 25 kilometres apart and the distance could be covered in more than one hour, given the state of the roads. He added that the road between Remera and Ngiryi River was rough, very slippery and rocky. State of the roads that the road between Remera and Ngiryi River was rough, very slippery and rocky.
- 1191. Ndayambaje testified that he did not go to Mugombwa Church on 21 April 1994 to distribute machetes and axes. ²⁵²⁶ He spent the night with his family in the classroom of the IGA. ²⁵²⁷
- 1192. Ndayambaje testified that on 22 April 1994, he went to Mugombwa Parish to pick up Monique's car, to check on his house and to check on his mother who had been admitted to the health centre. He got a lift with Witness RV and the *commune* driver in the white Toyota pickup. Witness RV dropped him at the Statue of the Virgin Mary in front of the Mugombwa health centre. Ndayambaje retrieved Monique's car which was parked at the parish priest's house and went on towards his house. When he arrived at his house he learned that his mother and grandmother had sought temporary refuge at his house. They had already left when he arrived and had returned to their houses in Cyumba *secteur*, Muganza *commune*. Ndayambaje returned to the *commune* office 45 minutes to an hour later, around noon.
- 1193. At around 2.00 p.m. he went to the Kirarambogo health centre with Witness KEPIR, a driver and a *gendarme* to pick up the Kirarambogo health centre pickup truck after which they returned to the *commune* office. The trip took about two hours.²⁵³³

3.6.4.4 Deliberations

- 1194. It is not disputed that a massacre took place at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994. The issue before the Chamber is what role, if any, Ndayambaje had in the massacre.
- 1195. With respect to the scale of the massacre, Witness QAR testified that the church was crowded with thousands of Tutsis on the morning of 20 April 1994. She testified that she was one of seven women who survived the attack on the second day, 21 April 1994. Her testimony was corroborated by Witness FAG who estimated that there were about 5,000 Tutsis inside the church during the attack in the afternoon of 21 April 1994. He did not stay at the church until the end of the attack and did not know whether anybody survived, although he

²⁵²⁴ T. 1 December 2008 p. 21 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵²⁵ T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵²⁶ T. 23 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵²⁷ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 18, 36 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵²⁸ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 63-64 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵²⁹ T. 23 October 2008 p. 51 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵³⁰ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 52-53 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵³¹ T. 1 December 2008 pp. 38-40 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵³² T. 23 October 2008 p. 57 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵³³ T. 23 October 2008 p. 58; T. 1 December 2008 p. 43 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵³⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 10-11; T. 20 November 2001 p. 108 (Witness QAR).

²⁵³⁵ T. 19 November 2001 p. 49 (Witness QAR).

²⁵³⁶ T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAG).

presumed not.²⁵³⁷ Witness RV testified that on the afternoon of 21 April 1994, he saw about 1,000 corpses in the church grounds.²⁵³⁸ Most of the victims were Tutsis.²⁵³⁹ He saw no survivors. 2540 Brother Stan testified that he began burying the dead bodies in the church and its surrounding area on 25 April 1994 with a group of about 20 Burundian refugees. 2541 There were about 200 dead people inside the church and about 200 dead bodies in the surrounding grounds. 2542 It took more than a week to bury the dead. 2543 Witness FAU gave hearsay testimony that 2,000 Tutsis were killed in the massacre at the church.²⁵⁴⁴ The Chamber finds that the eyewitness testimony of Witnesses QAR, FAG, RV and Brother Stan, and the hearsay testimony of Witness FAU, establishes that hundreds, if not thousands, of Tutsis died in the massacre at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994.

1196. Witnesses BOZAN, GABON, KEPIR, MARVA and ANGES gave alibi evidence that they were with Ndayambaje, in various locations, on 20 and 21 April 1994 and that Ndayambaje did not participate in or facilitate the massacre at Mugombwa Church.

1197. The Chamber observes that the Ndayambaje Defence did not file a formal notice of alibi before the start of the trial. The Chamber recalls that the Defence only filed an "additional" notice of alibi identifying its witnesses on 29 April 2008. 2545 The Chamber recalls the applicable law relating to notice of alibi set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (). The Chamber recalls the Chamber's Decision of 1 March 2005, on the Prosecutor's Motion to be Served with Particulars of Alibi, in which the Chamber directed the Defence to make the necessary disclosure if it wished to rely on alibi evidence. 2546 The Chamber observes that the Ndayambaje Defence did not comply with the Chamber's Decision, despite the clear intention, evidenced in the Ndayambaje Pre-Defence Brief that it intended to rely on alibi evidence.

1198. The Prosecution complained about the Avis additionnel et identification des témoins d'alibi indicating that Ndayambaje was contesting the Prosecution evidence placing him at Mugombwa Church. 2547 The Avis additionnel states that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at the Muganza commune office during the Mugombwa Church massacre. It was served on the Prosecution just over one month before the Ndayambaje Defence case commenced. The Chamber finds that the Avis additionnel is no substitute for providing the Prosecution with formal notice of alibi in accordance with the Rules. The Chamber reiterates that it is settled case law that where good cause is not shown for the application of Rule 67 (B), which states that the Defence's failure to file a notice of alibi under Rule 67 (A) shall not limit the

²⁵³⁷ T. 2 March 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAG).

²⁵³⁸ T. 16 February 2004 p. 44 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁵³⁹ T. 18 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁵⁴⁰ T. 18 February 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁵⁴¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 46; T. 23 September 2008 pp. 15-16 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁴² T. 18 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁴³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁴⁴ T. 10 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAU).

²⁵⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Avis additionnel et identification des témoins d'alibi, 29

April 2008.

2546 Ndayambaje et al., Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion To Be Served With Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67 (A)(ii)(a) (TC), 1 March 2005.

²⁵⁴⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 503-504, paras. 200-202.

accused's right to rely on an alibi defence, the Chamber is entitled to take such failure into account when weighing the credibility of the alibi. 2548 The Chamber further notes that Witness MARVA and Father Tiziano, who also gave evidence in support of Ndayambaje's alibi, were not named in the Avis additionnel. Witness MARVA was reinstated to the Ndayambaje Defence's witness list on 4 June 2008, after having been initially removed on 23 January 2006. 2549 The Chamber also recalls that in cross-examination by the Ndayambaje Defence, the Prosecution witnesses were not confronted with the Defence's assertion that Ndayambaje could not have been at the scene of the events because he had an alibi. This further detracts from the credibility of the alibi.

1199. As to the credibility of the alibi witnesses, the Chamber recalls that all of the alibi witnesses have close ties to Ndayambaje. Witness GABON is a former policeman employed by Ndayambaje. 2550 Witness MARVA was an employee of Ndayambaje. 2551 Witness KEPIR lived and worked a short distance from the commune office in Remera, he used to report to Ndayambaje on matters related to his professional activities and accompanied him on various trips throughout Butare in the latter half of April 1994. 2552 Witness KEPIR also testified that he was a friend of Ndayambaje. 2553 Witness BIDI is a friend of Ndayambaje. 2554 Accordingly, their evidence must be reviewed bearing these personal ties in mind. Furthermore, Witness KEPIR is implicated in the massacres at Kabuye Hill by eyewitness accounts of two Prosecution witnesses. 2555 This evidence also has a bearing on Witness KEPIR's credibility ().

1200. Father Tiziano testified that Ndayambaje came to see him at about 6.00 a.m. on 20 April 1994 and together they went to see Witness RV. 2556 They left the *commune* office together and the witness dropped Ndayambaje near his home at an unspecified time before 9.00 a.m.; the witness later saw Ndayambaje again at the latter's home around 9.00 a.m.²⁵⁵⁷ This is consistent with Ndayambaje's account of his movements on the morning of 20 April 1994.²⁵⁵⁸ Witness RV on the other hand testified that Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano did indeed come to see him at 6.00 a.m. but contradicts their assertions that they later waited for him in vain outside Ndayambaje's residence at 9.00 a.m. in order to go to Kabuga to address the population. Instead, Witness RV contends that he went to Ndayambaje's residence at around 7.30 a.m. and informed Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano that he was going to Butare. 2559

1201. Witness MARVA testified that she was with Ndayambaje on the morning of 20 April 1994 at his home although she does not specify when she saw him for the first time that

²⁵⁴⁸ Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 93.

²⁵⁴⁹ Ndayambaje</sup>, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses (TC), 4 June 2008.

²⁵⁵⁰ T. 28 August 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²⁵⁵¹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁵² T. 3 September 2008 p. 66 (ICS); T. 4 September 2008 p. 8 (ICS); T. 10 September 2008 pp. 45-46, 59, 73 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

²⁵⁵³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

²⁵⁵⁴ T. 30 June 2008 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).

²⁵⁵⁵ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 74-75 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 pp. 60-61 (Witness EV); T. 4 March 2004 pp. 71-72, 78 (Witness FAU); T. 9 March 2004 pp. 46-47 (Witness FAU). ²⁵⁵⁶ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 48-49 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁵⁷ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 51, 58-60 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁵⁸ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 26, 42 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁵⁹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 61, 63, 67-70 (ICS) (Witness RV).

day. 2560 She subsequently met up with him at the house of Witness KEPIR, near the *commune* office. 2561 Witness MARVA, Ndayambaje and his family went to the *commune* office and remained in the IGA building, until Saturday, 23 April 1994. Ndayambaje did not leave the IGA building during that time. Witness MARVA's testimony is, however, contradicted by Witness KEPIR who testified that Ndayambaje spent the night of 20 April 1994 in the courtyard of the *commune* office. Her testimony is also contradicted by that of Witness GABON who stated that he saw Ndayambaje playing cards in the courtyard with other refugees, away from the IGA building. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls that Ndayambaje himself testified that on the morning of 21 April 1994, he met with Chrysologue Bimenyimana in the courtyard of the *commune* compound. 2566

1202. The Chamber observes that Father Tiziano's testimony contradicts that of Ndayambaje and Witness RV regarding Ndayambaje's movements on 20 April 1994. Father Tiziano testified that he went to Ndayambaje's house at about 9.30 a.m. and left shortly afterwards to return to the parish. This was the last time that he saw Ndayambaje. He further testified that when he drove to the Muganza *commune* office at around 11.30 a.m. to report the situation to the authorities, he was alone. This contradicts Ndayambaje's testimony that he went to Father Tiziano's house at 6.00 a.m. and that they went to the Muganza *commune* office together to warn the authorities of the insecurity in the area. Ndayambaje's testimony is in concordance with that of Witness RV who testified that he was woken at 6.00 a.m. by Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano warning him of insecurity in the area. Witness RV further testified that Father Tiziano drove the witness and Ndayambaje to the *commune* office.

1203. Addressing first the morning of 20 April 1994, the Chamber considers that the evidence of Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano on Ndayambaje's presence at his home at around 9.00 a.m. is not credible. The Chamber recalls that as an Accused, Ndayambaje's testimony must be treated with appropriate caution as he has a personal interest in demonstrating that he was not present at Ngiryi Bridge on the morning of 20 April 1994. The Chamber also has doubts regarding the credibility of Father Tiziano.

1204. Father Tiziano testified that there were only about 60 people seeking refuge at the church by 9.30 a.m. on 20 April 1994 and they were armed. Father Tiziano asked those seeking refuge in the church to leave because it was not safe. On cross-examination, he testified that he asked them to lay down their weapons because he did not think the refugees would be attacked in the church. The Chamber finds his testimony to be contradictory. The

```
<sup>2560</sup> T. 1 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
```

²⁵⁶¹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁶² T. 1 July 2008 pp. 24-26 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁶³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 24-27 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁶⁴ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 51-52, 55-57 (Witness KEPIR).

²⁵⁶⁵ T. 1 September 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²⁵⁶⁶ T. 23 October 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁶⁷ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 59-61 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁶⁸ T. 9 September 2008 p. 28 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁶⁹ T. 8 September 2008 p. 64 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁷⁰ T. 22 October 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁷¹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 61-63 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁵⁷² T. 9 September 2008 p. 65 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁷³ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 7-8 (Father Tiziano).

Chamber observes that Witnesses QAR and FAU gave first-hand testimony that Father Tiziano attempted to, or succeeded in locking the doors to the church in the morning of 20 April 1994 before leaving the site. Witness QAR testified that Father Tiziano tried to lock the door after a quarrel with those outside the church. Witness FAU testified that Father Tiziano locked the door to the church; he heard that the priest was going to Butare to fetch help for the refugees. Father Tiziano testified that he went to the Muganza *commune* office to report the situation but there were no authorities at the *commune* office. However, Father Tiziano also testified that he met Bosco, the *bourgmestre's* assistant about 10 metres from the *commune* office. According to Father Tiziano's testimony, Bosco was armed with a machete and Father Tiziano and Bosco returned to Mugombwa Church together. Father Tiziano testified that he left the parish in the afternoon of 20 April 1994 due to the violent situation. He did not ask Bosco for help in ensuring the security of those seeking refuge in the church.

1205. Considering the testimony of Witnesses QAR and FAU placing Father Tiziano at the massacre site and Father Tiziano's incentive to minimise his role, in addition to his testimony that he did not request help for those seeking refuge in the church, the Chamber finds Father Tiziano's testimony not credible as to the sequence of events in the morning of 20 April 1994.

1206. In this connection, the Chamber refers to the convincing eyewitness testimony of Witnesses QAR and FAU that Father Tiziano locked those seeking refuge inside the church, who were later massacred. This witness may have had an incentive to minimise his involvement in the events of 1994 or at least minimise the role of Ndayambaje, a long-standing acquaintance. For these reasons, the Chamber does not consider the alibi evidence provided by Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje to be reasonably possibly true, and therefore finds it does not raise a reasonable doubt as to the Prosecution's case that Ndayambaje was at Ngiryi Bridge early in the morning of 20 April 1994.

1207. As regards the evidence of Witness MARVA, the Chamber notes that she said she saw Ndayambaje at an unspecified time in the morning of 20 April 1994 when he hid Chanvrier in the guest room. Witness MARVA could not specify at what time Ndayambaje left his home or the time when he was reunited with his family and the witness at Witness KEPIR's residence. Her evidence was simply that a decision was taken to flee on the morning of 20 April 1994. 2581

1208. The Prosecution case is that on the morning of 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje was in the vicinity of Ngiryi Bridge, on the border between Muyaga and Mugusa *communes*, between daybreak and 11.00 a.m. ²⁵⁸² The distance between Mugombwa *secteur* and Ngiryi, where the refugees were intercepted before being forced back to Gisagara *commune*, is approximately 31

²⁵⁷⁴ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 12-14 (Witness QAR); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4, 6-7, 11 (Witness FAU).

²⁵⁷⁵ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 13-14 (Witness QAR).

²⁵⁷⁶ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4, 6-7, 11 (Witness FAU).

²⁵⁷⁷ T. 8 September 2008 p. 66 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁷⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 27 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁷⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 23 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁸⁰ T. 1 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁸¹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁸² T. 25 February 2004 pp. 69-70 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 p. 34 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness RT).

kilometres.²⁵⁸³ The distance between Ngiryi and Remera is approximately 25 kilometres, a journey that would take around one hour by car.²⁵⁸⁴ On this basis, Ndayambaje would have needed between two and three hours on the morning of 20 April 1994 to travel from his home in Mugombwa secteur to Ngiryi and from Ngiryi back to his home or to Witness KEPIR's residence.

1209. In assessing the alibi evidence for 20 April 1994, the Chamber considers it to be significant that Witness MARVA did not testify to the whereabouts of the Accused during a substantial part of the morning of 20 April 1994. Although Ndavambaje may not have had time to travel to Gisagara before going to Witness KEPIR's home near the commune office, the Chamber considers that he could have made a return trip from his home to Gisagara in the time between being seen by Witness RV at around 7.30 a.m. and hiding Chanvrier in his guest room, as testified to by Witness MARVA. In the absence of any other explanation for the Accused's whereabouts, the Chamber considers that the Defence alibi evidence is not reasonably possibly true, and therefore finds it does not raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution case as regards the morning of 20 April 1994.

1210. Ndayambaje testified that he was picked up from his home at around noon, and was reunited with his family later that afternoon, before 1.00 p.m. 2585 Witness MARVA testified that it took one hour for the car that first collected Ndayambaje to return and pick up the witness. 2586 The car then had to travel approximately six kilometres from Mugombwa secteur, where Ndayambaje lived, to nearby the Muganza commune office in Remera to drop the witness off at Witness KEPIR's residence, a journey that takes around one hour by foot or approximately 15 minutes by car. 2587 Taking this evidence together, Ndayambaje would have been out of Witness MARVA's sight for between one and a quarter and one and a half hours. This is consistent with Ndayambaje's account of the time lapse between his departure from home and the arrival of his family at Witness KEPIR's house.

1211. With respect to Ndayambaje's alleged facilitation and participation in the massacre at Mugombwa Church, the testimony of Witness QAR places Ndayambaje at Mugombwa Church at about noon on 20 April 1994 where, according to her testimony, he spent no more than 15 minutes before leaving the site in the direction of his house. 2588 The Chamber observes that Mugombwa Church is a matter of 500 metres from Ndayambaje's house. 2589 Recalling Witness MARVA's evidence above, it is clear that her alibi evidence does not cover the period between 12.00 p.m. and 1.00 p.m. on 20 April 1994. Various witnesses estimated the distance between Witness KEPIR's house and the nearby Muganza commune office and Mugombwa Parish to be between two and 10 kilometres. Taken at the highest estimate, this would be more than enough time for Ndayambaje to travel from the Muganza commune office to his house

²⁵⁸³ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁸⁴ T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁸⁵ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 55, 59-60, 62; T. 27 November 2008 p. 19 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁸⁶ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁵⁸⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA); T. 10 September 2008

p. 19 (Witness KEPIR); T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

2588 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7, 10-11, 15-19, 21; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 119-120, 131-132; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 38-39 (Witness QAR).

Defence Exhibit 693 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje); T. 23 September 2008 p. 15 (Brother Stan).

and the church; a distance of approximately six kilometres and an estimated 15 minutes by car. 2590

1212. Ndayambaje testified that his mother was being cared for at the Mugombwa health centre from 20 April 1994 and this is why she did not join him and the rest of his family at the Muganza *commune* office. The Chamber finds his account doubtful. When he heard explosions on 20 April 1994 Ndayambaje testified that he decided to evacuate his family to the *commune* office. He did not, however, collect his mother from the health centre despite the proximity of the health centre to his house and the ease with which she could have been evacuated with the rest of his family. Furthermore, Father Tiziano testified that he left Mugombwa Parish along with the three nuns who were in charge of the health centre in the afternoon of 20 April 1994. In the Chamber's view this casts doubt on the version of events given by Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje testified that he left with his family to seek refuge in Kibayi *commune* on the afternoon of 23 April 1994. He did not testify that his mother joined the rest of his family in Kibayi *commune*. The Chamber does not find Ndayambaje's account regarding his whereabouts, and those of his mother on 20 April 1994 to be convincing.

1213. Brother Stan gave hearsay testimony that Ndayambaje and his family had sought refuge at the Muganza *commune* office when he arrived there at approximately 12.30 p.m. on 20 April 1994. The Chamber has doubts regarding Brother Stan's credibility. Brother Stan testified that attacks against the Tutsis had started by 18 April 1994. Therefore, the Chamber finds it curious that two days later, he left two Tutsis; Mr. Fidèle and his pregnant wife, at a roadblock manned by armed soldiers. He did not attempt to find out what happened to them but he believed they may have been killed. This incident casts doubt on his credibility.

1214. The Chamber observes that Brother Stan acknowledged that Burundian refugees from the Saga camp where he worked participated in the killings on and around 20 April 1994. By his own admission, he did not make any attempt to disarm the refugees in the camp who had machetes, stating that he was a simple priest. He testified that in his view machetes were not weapons and the Burundian refugees were therefore not armed. In his view, there was no way he could confiscate their machetes because they needed them for their work. The Chamber finds this reasoning very weak. By his own admission, the refugees were not working in the fields after the outbreak of violence in April 1994, but, he testified, remained inside the camps. They therefore did not need the machetes for "work". Further, Brother

²⁵⁹⁰ T. 22 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan) (2 to 3 kilometres); T. 19 November 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje) (5 to 6 kilometres); T. 15 September 2008 p. 8 (Witness KEPIR) (7 to 10 kilometres).

²⁵⁹¹ T. 2 December 2008 p. 30 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁹² T. 9 September 2008 pp. 12-13 (Father Tiziano).

²⁵⁹³ T. 27 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje).

²⁵⁹⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁹⁵ T. 24 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁹⁶ T. 23 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁹⁷ T. 23 September 2008 p. 4; T. 24 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁹⁸ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 18, 55 (Brother Stan).

²⁵⁹⁹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 20 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰⁰ T. 23 September 2008 p. 59 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰¹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 56 (Brother Stan).

Stan was not just a "simple priest", but worked in the refugee camp in education and therefore exercised a degree of authority over the refugees.

1215. Brother Stan testified that he was able to travel around Butare freely prior to 25 April 1994. Despite this fact, he made no attempt to notify the authorities of the unrest in Kibayi and Muganza *communes*. It was the Kibayi *commune* office secretary who wished to notify the authorities about the insecurity in the *commune* and he asked Brother Stan to accompany him. ²⁶⁰² Brother Stan did not inform the *préfecture* authorities because, he explained, he did not know how. ²⁶⁰³ The Chamber does not accept this explanation and finds that his failure to seek assistance, despite his knowledge of the Burundian refugees' involvement, and his position of responsibility over them, further detracts from his credibility.

1216. The Chamber also notes that there were some discrepancies between two earlier statements given in 1995, to a Belgian judge and a journalist, respectively. In his previous statement before the Belgian judge, Vandermeersch, the witness stated that he saw Ndayambaje on his way to Kibayi on 27 or 28 April 1994. Brother Stan testified that the judge was mistaken and that the correct date was 23 April 1994. 2605 In the letter of complaint he wrote to the journalist Van den Abeele, he stated that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at the commune office from 20 to 25 April 1994. At trial, Brother Stan testified that this was a mistake and that he saw Ndayambaje on 23 April 1994 on his way to Kibayi. 2606 He testified that he was mistaken in this statement in the letter that Ndayambaje sought refuge at the commune office from 20 to 25 April; the correct dates were 20 to 23 April 1994. Seeking to explain the discrepancy in dates, Brother Stan testified that his testimony before the Tribunal is clearer and more precise than the statements he made in 1995 because he was still traumatised by the events of 1994. In his view, this is why there were contradictions between the statement to Judge Vandermeersch and the letter to the journalist written in 1995, and his testimony in 2008 but that he is clearer now about the events of 1994. The Chamber does not find this reasoning to be convincing. In the Chamber's view, Brother Stan would have been much clearer about the dates of certain events one year later. The Chamber rejects his statement that he is clearer about the events of 1994, and their specific dates, 14 years later.

1217. Taking these factors into consideration, and noting that Brother Stan was a close friend of Ndayambaje and close associate of the Burundian refugees, some of whom are implicated in the massacres at Kabuye Hill and Mugombwa Church, the Chamber does not find Brother Stan's evidence credible insofar as it relates to Ndayambaje's presence at the Muganza *commune* office at 12.30 p.m. on 20 April 1994.

1218. The Chamber therefore considers that the alibi evidence does not raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution case that Ndayambaje was present at Mugombwa Church for 15 minutes between about noon and 1.00 p.m. on 20 April 1994.

²⁶⁰² T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰³ T. 23 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰⁴ T. 23 September 2008 p. 32 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰⁵ T. 23 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰⁶ T. 23 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

^{1. 23} September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan). ²⁶⁰⁷ T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).

²⁶⁰⁸ T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).

- 1219. With respect to the morning of 21 April 1994, Witness QAR testified that Ndayambaje arrived at Mugombwa Church at approximately 10.00 a.m. According to her testimony she saw him arrive at the church by the road from Remera. He went away and returned half an hour later, after which he left immediately afterwards. He
- 1220. With respect to the alibi evidence brought by the Defence regarding the whereabouts of Ndayambaje on 21 April 1994, Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office compound on 21 April 1994. The Chamber recalls that on cross-examination, Witness GABON testified that between 20 and 24 April 1994, he slept for just 27 minutes. The Chamber finds his testimony to be unrealistic in this respect. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls Defence Exhibit 694 (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje) which establishes that the Muganza *commune* office comprises a number of buildings. Witness GABON would therefore not have had sight of Ndayambaje at all times during 21 April 1994 due to the size and layout of the *commune* office.
- 1221. Witness MARVA testified that Ndayambaje and the rest of the group remained in the same room throughout Thursday, 21 April 1994. The Chamber also finds this to be unrealistic. The Chamber observes that Witness MARVA's testimony is contradicted by Witness GABON who saw Ndayambaje playing cards in the courtyard with other refugees. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls that Ndayambaje himself testified that on the morning of 21 April 1994, he met with Chrysologue Bimenyimana in the courtyard of the *commune* compound. ²⁶¹⁵
- 1222. Witness MARVA further testified that she and Ndayambaje remained in the room until Saturday, 23 April 1994 when the *commune* office was attacked and the group, including Ndayambaje, fled. In addition to the Chamber's finding that this is not realistic, her evidence is contradicted by Witness KEPIR, Witness GABON and Ndayambaje himself who all testified that Ndayambaje left the *commune* office on two occasions on 22 April 1994, to go to Mugombwa to pick up Monique's car, and to retrieve the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle.
- 1223. Ndayambaje testified that he was at the *commune* office all day on 21 April 1994 and did not leave. The Chamber recalls that there were approximately 150 people seeking refuge at the *commune* office between 20 and 24 April 1994. Given the relatively large geographical space and the large number of people present at the *commune* office, the Chamber does not find that the evidence of Witnesses GABON, KEPIR and MARVA that they were with Ndayambaje at all times over the course of 21 April 1994 to be credible and finds that they were not in a position to state that Ndayambaje never left the *commune* office on 21 April 1994.

²⁶⁰⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 19-23 (Witness QAR).

²⁶¹⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 26, 29-31 (Witness QAR).

²⁶¹¹ T. 3 September 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²⁶¹² Defence Exhibit 694 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje).

²⁶¹³ T. 1 July 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁶¹⁴ T. 1 September 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

²⁶¹⁵ T. 23 October 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje).

²⁶¹⁶ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-27 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

²⁶¹⁷ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 11, 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

- 1224. Witness FAG, a participant in the massacre, testified that he was told to go to Mugombwa Church by community leaders Kanyenzi, Venant, Bosco and Viateur who were acting on the orders of Ndayambaje.
- 1225. The Chamber also heard evidence from two passers-by, Witnesses FAU and MAJIK who were in the vicinity of the church before and after the massacre; from Witness RV, Brother Stan and Ndayambaje who testified that they visited the church in the aftermath of the massacre; Father Tiziano, the parish priest of Mugombwa who was present before the attacks started; and Witness ALIZA who heard explosions coming from the church.
- 1226. The Chamber observes that Witnesses FAU, FAG and RV were detained witnesses at the time of their testimony. Witness FAU was awaiting trial in Rwanda for crimes related to the 1994 genocide. Witness FAG confessed to having participated in various attacks in 1994, spent eight years in prison and was released in 2003, before he gave evidence to this Tribunal in 2004. Despite being released from prison he nevertheless still awaited a decision by a *Gacaca* court at the time of his testimony. The Chamber therefore treats his testimony with appropriate caution considering he may have had an incentive to lie during his testimony in order to obtain preferential treatment in connection with his *Gacaca* sentence. Witness RV had pled guilty to crimes committed during the genocide and was waiting to see if his plea would be accepted at the time of his testimony. The Chamber will therefore treat their testimony with appropriate caution.
- 1227. Witness QAR testified that she had known Ndayambaje since they were children. This was not challenged by the Ndayambaje Defence. She testified that she saw him at noon on 20 April 1994 at Mugombwa Church, about 10 metres from her position inside the church. She saw Ndayambaje speaking to the attackers through a broken window. Father Tiziano and Witnesses JAMES and BOZAN testified that the windows in the church were made of opaque coloured glass and it was not possible to look through them unless they were broken. This evidence supports Witness QAR's account of her sighting of Ndayambaje in the church grounds on that day.
- 1228. The Chamber observes that there are conflicting accounts of precisely when the windows in the church were broken. Witness QAR testified that as she entered the church at about 8.00 a.m. on 20 April 1994, people were throwing stones at the church, breaking the windows. According to her testimony, the window by which she was standing was broken by noon, enabling her to see Ndayambaje outside the church. Witness BOZAN testified that

²⁶¹⁸ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

²⁶¹⁹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 6 (ICS); T. 1 March 2004 pp. 47-50 (Witness FAG).

²⁶²⁰ T. 3 March 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁶²¹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

²⁶²² T. 19 November 2001 p. 23 (Witness QAR).

²⁶²³ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 16, 20 (Witness QAR).

²⁶²⁴ T. 8 September 2008 p. 25 (Father Tiziano); T. 2 June 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness JAMES) (the windows were made of coloured glass, were impossible to see through and impossible to open); T. 16 September 2008 p. 5 (Witness BOZAN) (the panes of glass in the windows were multi-coloured, opaque and it was not possible to open the windows).

²⁶²⁵ T. 19 November 2001 p. 7; T. 20 November 2001 p. 107 (Witness QAR).

²⁶²⁶ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 119-120 (Witness QAR).

the attackers had not started throwing stones at the church by around 9.30 a.m. but that later he saw from his vantage point near the presbytery, that at about 11.15 a.m. a single window nearest the priest's house was broken. The Chamber observes that Witness BOZAN testified that he watched the assailants throwing stones from the presbytery gate where he saw only one window broken. His view of the church was restricted to one side of the church and does not cast doubt on the testimony of Witness QAR that more than one window was broken. Furthermore, Father Tiziano testified that the windows in the church were broken by about 12.30 p.m. and there were stones lying in the churchyard. His testimony corroborates that of Witness QAR regarding the broken windows.

1229. Witness QAR gave testimony that when Ndayambaje arrived at the church on 20 April 1994 there were no priests, policemen or soldiers present and the massacre had not yet begun. This is corroborated by the testimony of Prosecution Witness FAU and Defence Witness MAJIK. Witness FAU testified that he saw the priest leave the church at midday but that there were no police or *gendarmes* present at the church at this time and the massacre had not started. He left the site shortly afterwards. Witness MAJIK passed by Mugombwa Church at about 11.30 a.m. on 20 April 1994. The church doors were closed; she could hear the people inside the church screaming. There were people outside the church carrying traditional weapons. On her way back past the church an hour later the attackers had not attacked the church. Witness QAR further testified that upon arrival, Ndayambaje rolled down the windows of the vehicle and stretched out his hand to show the refugees a photograph of Habyarimana, saying that the Tutsis had to be killed as they were accomplices in the President's death, after which he left in his vehicle with the photograph.

1230. Witness FAU testified that he did not remember if Ndayambaje was at the church on 20 April 1994. Witness MAJIK also testified that she did not see Ndayambaje on either of her journeys past the church. The Chamber observes, however, that both witnesses were passers-by and neither witness was at the church for an extended period of time on that day. The Chamber therefore finds that their testimony does not cast doubt on Witness QAR's eyewitness testimony that Ndayambaje came to the church for 15 minutes at about midday when he spoke to the attackers.

1231. Witness QAR testified that the attack on the church began at about 4.00 p.m. on 20 April 1994 when grenades were thrown into the church.²⁶³⁸ This account is consistent with the testimony of Witness ALIZA who heard gunshots coming from Mugombwa Church at around

```
<sup>2627</sup> T. 17 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).
```

²⁶²⁸ T. 17 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁶²⁹ T. 9 September 2008 pp. 11, 13 (Father Tiziano).

²⁶³⁰ T. 21 November 2001 p. 12 (Witness QAR).

²⁶³¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 6-7, 11, 15-16 (Witness FAU).

²⁶³² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 11, 15 (Witness FAU).

²⁶³³ T. 17 June 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²⁶³⁴ T. 17 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness MAJIK).

²⁶³⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 7, 10-11, 17-19; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 125, 131-132 (Witness QAR).

²⁶³⁶ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 18-19 (Witness FAU).

²⁶³⁷ T. 17 June 2008 pp. 46-48 (Witness MAJIK).

²⁶³⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 19 (Witness OAR).

5.00 p.m. that afternoon, ²⁶³⁹ Witness JAMES who heard explosions coming from the church between 3.00 and 5.00 p.m., ²⁶⁴⁰ and Witness FAU who heard explosions coming from the church during the night of 20 April 1994. 2641

1232. Witness QAR testified that Ndayambaje returned to the church the next day, 21 April 1994, at approximately 10.00 a.m. She saw him arrive in the same white vehicle he had been driving the day before, through a broken window from her position in the church near the door.²⁶⁴² He was approximately 10 metres away and she saw him address the crowd after which he left in the direction of Remera, returning at about 10.30 a.m. with machetes and axes which he distributed to the people. He left immediately afterwards. 2643

1233. Witness QAR testified that some hours after Ndayambaje left the church, at about 3.00 p.m. on 21 April 1994, five grenades were thrown into the church after which petrol was poured into the church and it was set on fire. 2644 As the fire broke out some of the attackers tried to break down the door. 2645 This sequence of events is corroborated by Witness FAG who testified that attackers congregated at Mugombwa between around 2.15 and 3.00 p.m. on that afternoon. ²⁶⁴⁶ The attack began at about 3.00 p.m. when a group of Burundians threw grenades into the church, then bottles of petrol and dry fodder, in order to start a fire. The attackers then tried to break down the door and bring out those that were not yet dead. Nobody left the church alive while Witness FAG was there but he did not stay until the end of the attack. 2647

1234. Witness FAG testified that he did not see Ndayambaje at the massacre site at 2.15 p.m. 2648 That Witness FAG did not see Ndayambaje when he arrived at the church in the afternoon of 21 April 1994 does not cast doubt on Witness OAR's assertion that Ndavambaje had visited the church in the morning of that day. The Chamber observes that Witness FAG's testimony corroborates Witness OAR with respect to the grenade attack, the church being set on fire and the attempts by the attackers to break down the church door on the afternoon of 21 April 1994. Her testimony on these events is further corroborated by the hearsay testimony of Witness JAMES who testified that he overheard the attackers discussing a further attack on the church on that day in which an axe was used to break the church door. ²⁶⁴⁹

1235. Witness QAR testified that Damascene, Tabaro, Mathias, Mushimire, Sikubwabo, Cyabarene, Yohane, Siridiyo and Nyandwi were among the attackers present at the church on Wednesday. 2650 Her testimony with respect to the identity of the assailants at the church is partly corroborated by Witness BOZAN who identified Cyabarene and Innocent among the

²⁶³⁹ T. 4 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
²⁶⁴⁰ T. 2 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²⁶⁴¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness FAU).

²⁶⁴² T. 19 November 2001 pp. 19-23 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁴³ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 17-18, 31 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁴⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 31, 37-38 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁴⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 37-38 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁴⁶ T. 2 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAG).

²⁶⁴⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 22-24; T. 2 March 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁶⁴⁸ T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁶⁴⁹ T. 2 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²⁶⁵⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 11-12 (Witness OAR).

killers²⁶⁵¹ and Witness JAMES' hearsay testimony that Cyabarene and Mushimire were among the attackers at the church.²⁶⁵²

1236. Witness FAG gave detailed testimony regarding the identities of the assailants and the sequence of events during the massacre. Nonetheless, the Chamber notes that Witness FAG did not mention the attacks on Mugombwa Church in his confession to the Rwandan authorities as well as his explanation that he was afraid, and there were things he could not talk about at the time. The Chamber accepts his explanation for not mentioning the massacre at Mugombwa Church in his 1998 confession. The Chamber accepts Witness FAG's testimony insofar as it relates to the massacre at Mugombwa Church on 21 April 1994 and his account of how he came to find himself at Mugombwa Church.

1237. Witness QAR testified that on leaving the church on 21 April 1994 she was forced to take off her clothes and was able to avoid being attacked by Burundians with machetes when the father of her child, a Hutu, intervened. As a result she was taken to the priest's house and released the following day.²⁶⁵⁴ The presence of Burundian refugees at the church on 21 April 1994 is corroborated by the testimony of Witness FAG that Burundian refugees attacked the church with grenades that afternoon,²⁶⁵⁵ and the hearsay testimony of Witness JAMES that the attackers at the church were accompanied by Burundian refugees.²⁶⁵⁶

1238. The Chamber observes that there are some discrepancies between Witness QAR's testimony at trial and her previous statements of 20 June 1995 and 20 May 1997. At trial, the witness testified that she took refuge inside Mugombwa Church at around 8.00 a.m. on Wednesday, whereas in her previous statement of 20 June 1995, she stated that she arrived at the church at 2.00 p.m. ²⁶⁵⁷ The witness explained the discrepancy between her previous statement and her testimony at trial arose because the investigators had not recorded her statements correctly. ²⁶⁵⁸

1239. Witness QAR testified that she did not personally see Ndayambaje's vehicle arrive at the church on Wednesday (20 April 1994) but was informed of his arrival by others in the church whereas her previous statement stated that she saw Ndayambaje arrive in a vehicle. On cross-examination, the witness maintained that she did not see him pull up in his car but saw him after he arrived at the church. She testified that Ndayambaje was not holding a gun, whereas in her previous statement, she stated that he carried a gun and gave the photograph of Habyarimana to someone before he left. She explained she could not tell a

²⁶⁵¹ T. 17 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁶⁵² T. 2 June 2008 pp. 32, 43 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²⁶⁵³ T. 6 September 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁶⁵⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 39, 48-52 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁵⁵ T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 22-24; T. 2 March 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁶⁵⁶ T. 2 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²⁶⁵⁷ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 99-104 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR).

²⁶⁵⁸ T. 20 November 2001 p. 103 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁵⁹ T. 20 November 2001 p. 133 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 7-13 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶¹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 7; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 120-123, 128 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR).

lie and this discrepancy arose because her statement had been wrongly recorded.²⁶⁶² The Chamber does not find this discrepancy material and observes that she is consistent in her previous statements that she saw Ndayambaje at the site.

- 1240. Witness QAR testified that on Wednesday, two grenades were thrown into the church and exploded, but she did not see who threw them or who distributed them. In her previous statement, she stated that grenades were distributed at the church on Wednesday by a white clergyman, that a boy among the assailants threw them, and that only one grenade exploded. The Chamber observes that the witness explained the discrepancies between her previous statements and her testimony at trial by stating that the investigators had made mistakes in recording her statements and that additions had been made to her statements. The Chamber accepts her explanation and finds it reasonable.
- 1241. The Chamber finds that the discrepancies between the testimony of Witness QAR and her previous statements of 20 June 1995 and 20 May 1997, are not material and do not cast doubt on her credibility.
- 1242. The Chamber observes that Witness JAMES testified that Witness QAR gave false testimony regarding the events of 21 April 1994. According to Witness JAMES, Witness QAR was released from the church on 21 April 1994 on account of an intervention by the Hutu father of her child. His hearsay evidence on this point corroborates Witness QAR's testimony that she was spared by the Burundians outside the church after the intervention of her child's Hutu father. However, contrary, to Witness QAR's testimony that she spent the night in the priest's house on 21 April 1994 and was released the following day, Witness JAMES testified that he saw her at the bar where he worked in the evening of 21 April 1994 and that Witness QAR spent the night at a nearby house. However, 26666
- 1243. The Chamber accepts Witness JAMES' hearsay evidence insofar as it corroborates the presence of Witness QAR inside the church on 20 and 21 April 1994. The Chamber recalls Witness QAR was an eyewitness to the massacre at Mugombwa Church and her testimony was compelling. In relation to Witness JAMES' testimony that Witness QAR was not telling the truth about where she spent the night on 21 April 1994, the Chamber considers that Witness JAMES' account does not contradict Witness QAR's evidence in any material respect. The Chamber accepts Witness QAR's evidence that she spent the night at the priest's house. Witness QAR testified that she returned home on 22 April 1994 and it is possible that Witness JAMES was mistaken and that he in fact saw her on the following evening. The Chamber therefore finds that Witness JAMES' evidence does not cast doubt on Witness QAR's credibility.
- 1244. The Chamber considers the circumstances of Witness QAR's identification of Ndayambaje at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994 and her prior knowledge of the

²⁶⁶² T. 20 November 2001 pp. 126-127 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶³ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 25-27, 29, 35-37 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶⁴ T. 20 November 2001 pp. 103, 126, 130-131; T. 21 November 2001 p. 31 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶⁵ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 62-63 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁶⁶ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 49-52 (Witness QAR); T. 2 June 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

²⁶⁶⁷ T. 2 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

Accused. Further, the Chamber notes the corroboration of the salient details of Witness QAR's testimony concerning the attacks on the church on 20 April 1994 by Witnesses FAU, ALIZA, BOZAN and JAMES, *i.e.* that the attack on the church began at about 4.00 p.m. when grenades were thrown into the church, and by Witnesses FAG and JAMES, *i.e.* that at about 3.00 p.m. on 21 April 1994 grenades were thrown into the church after which it was set on fire and some attackers, among whom were Innocent and Cyabarene, tried to break down the door. In light of the foregoing, and considering the consistent and detailed account of Witness QAR, the Chamber finds that the alibi evidence does not raise a reasonable doubt as to the Prosecution's case that Ndayambaje was present at Mugombwa Church in the morning of 21 April 1994.

1245. The Chamber therefore finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that on the morning of 20 April 1994 Ndayambaje spoke with community leaders at Bishya trade centre who immediately thereafter directed men at Bishya, including Witness FAG, to Mugombwa Church; several thousand refugees, predominantly Tutsis, were seeking shelter in Mugombwa Church at the time, while a number of armed civilians were outside the church; Ndayambaje came to Mugombwa Church at about noon on 20 April 1994; Ndayambaje showed the refugees in the church a picture of President Habyarimana and told the refugees that they were going to be killed because they were accomplices of the *Inkotanyi* who had killed the President; Ndayambaje also spoke to a group of armed people posted outside the church and told them that since the people in the church were now gathered together, their work would no longer be very difficult; he also told the attackers that some of them should stay and watch those in the church and others should go and look for those that were hiding in ditches and in bushes, after which many people left, whereas some stayed behind at the church; Ndayambaje remained on the spot for about 15 minutes and left; and the same day at around 4.00 p.m., the armed people launched an attack against the Tutsis sheltering in the church.

1246. The Chamber also finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje came to Mugombwa Church for half an hour at around 10.00 a.m. on 21 April 1994; he asked the crowd what they would pay if the cattle's Tutsi owners escaped, then left; he returned to the church at about 10.30 a.m., before leaving again; at about 3.00 p.m. several grenades were thrown into the church, petrol was poured inside the church, and fire erupted; at least one refugee escaping the church was told to remove her clothes; all the escaping refugees were attacked by the civilians outside in the church courtyard; several hundred, if not thousands, of Tutsis died.

_

²⁶⁶⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 19 (Witness QAR); *see also* T. 4 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA) (gunshots came from Mugombwa Church at around 5.00 p.m. that afternoon); T. 2 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); T. 4 June 2008 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness JAMES) (explosions came from the church between 3.00 and 5.00 p.m.); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness FAU) (explosions came from the church during the night of 20 April 1994)

²⁶⁶⁹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 11-12 (Witness QAR); *see also* T. 2 June 2008 pp. 32, 43 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); T. 17 September 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

²⁶⁷⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 31, 37-38 (Witness QAR); *see also* T. 1 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness FAG); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAG) (corroborating Witness QAR with respect to the grenade attack, the church being set on fire and the attempts by the attackers to break down the church door on the afternoon of 21 April 1994); T. 2 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness JAMES) (corroborating Witness QAR in stating that he overheard the attackers discussing a further attack on the church on the day an axe was used to break the church door).

1247. Lastly, the Chamber recalls Witness OAR testified that she was told to remove her clothes at the doorway of the church before being allowed to escape, which she did. 2671 The Chamber observes the Ndayambaje Indictment does not refer to this specific incident and the Chamber is of the view that the Ndayambaje Defence was not provided with notice of this allegation by means of information in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. As such, the Chamber will not base any conviction upon this finding.

3.6.5 Kabuye Hill Massacre, 20-24 April 1994

3.6.5.1 Introduction

1248. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje took *commune* policeman to Gisagara commune, Butare préfecture, where, together with soldiers, they arrested refugees and took them to Kabuye Hill. The Tutsis were separated from the other refugees and forced to relinquish their traditional tools. It is further alleged that on 22 April 1994, Ndayambaje, commune policemen, gendarmes, soldiers and civilians armed with traditional tools attacked the Tutsis at Kabuye Hill resulting in deaths and injuries. On the night of 22 April, armed civilians prevented the survivors of that day's attack from escaping. The attacks at Kabuye Hill continued on 23 and 24 April 1994. Ndayambaje transported attackers to Kabuye Hill, issued them with weapons and personally threw grenades into the crowd of refugees. 2672

1249. The Prosecution submits that between January and July 1994, Ndayambaje was an influential figure who exercised his authority over the public, subordinates in the *commune* office, *conseillers* and the *commune* police even though he was no longer officially *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. He ordered the *Interahamwe* to kill Tutsis and his instructions were followed.²⁶⁷⁴ The Prosecution claims that Ndayambaje led the attack on Kabuye Hill, instigated others to participate in the attack, provided weapons and supervised the killing of Tutsis. 2675 The Prosecution asserts that Ndayambaje personally murdered two individuals at Kabuye Hill: the uncle of Witness TW²⁶⁷⁶ and a Tutsi woman by the name of Venerande.²⁶⁷⁷

1250. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses EV, RT, TW, QAQ, TP, QAL, RV, FAU, FAG and QBZ.

1251. In addition to its submission on defects in the Indictment, considered below, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Prosecution evidence is inconsistent and contradictory, particularly as regards the time frame of events, and the presence of soldiers and vehicles at Kabuve. 2678 The Defence presented an alibi for the time when Ndayambaje was allegedly at

²⁶⁷¹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 39 (Witness QAR).

²⁶⁷² Paras. 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)). Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 450-453, paras. 4-5, 8, 13.

²⁶⁷⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 477, para. 100.

²⁶⁷⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 470, 473, paras. 72, 86.

²⁶⁷⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 471, para. 76.

²⁶⁷⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 44 (referring to "Venerandah"); see also T. 21 April 2009 p. 50 (French) (for spelling of "Venerande").

2678 Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 7-11.

Kabuye Hill; it submits that Ndayambaje was not present at Kabuye Hill between 20 and 24 April 1994 claiming that Ndayambaje was at the *commune* office from 20 to 23 April 1994 and thereafter took refuge at Kibayi for one week as from 23 April 1994. ²⁶⁷⁹

1252. In support of its submissions, the Ndayambaje Defence relies on the testimony of Ndayambaje Defence Witnesses ALIZA, TOVIA, KEPIR, GABON, MARVA, BIDI, Father Tiziano, SABINE, Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-5 and Ndayambaje.

3.6.5.2 Preliminary Issues

Vagueness of Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment

1253. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment lack specificity. In particular, the Defence claims that Paragraph 6.30 does not mention the identity and number of policemen involved, their place of departure or how they were transported to Gisagara. Nor is there any reference to where or when the refugees were arrested, or whether Ndayambaje was present during the arrests and the subsequent transportation of refugees to Kabuye Hill. Paragraph 6.31 fails to specify when the attack took place at Kabuye, whether Ndayambaje was present, his role and conduct during the attack, and the identity, number and origin of the policemen, gendarmes, soldiers and civilians. There is no reference to Ndayambaje's involvement in the events that occurred at night when the attackers prevented the refugees from fleeing or the link between him and the alleged attackers. Lastly, Paragraph 6.32 does not specify the number or identity of the attackers reportedly transported by Ndayambaje to Kabuye, or the link between Ndayambaje and the attackers. 2680 There is no indication as to when the weapons were distributed or how they were used. As regards the allegation that Ndayambaje threw grenades into a crowd of refugees, there is no information on the number of grenades used, the number of victims or the date and place of the attack.²⁶⁸¹

1254. The Chamber first notes that the events at Kabuye Hill, which are addressed in Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, are linked to a number of general themes running through the Indictment, such as Ndayambaje's position of authority, and should not be considered in isolation. Rather, the Indictment should be read as a whole. As regards Ndayambaje's alleged relationship with his subordinates, the Chamber refers to Paragraphs 3.5, 4.2, 4.3 and 6.28 of the Ndayambaje Indictment. Paragraph 3.5 sets out the bourgmestre's position in the administrative hierarchy, in particular his position of authority over civil servants in the commune and his duties concerning the enforcement of law and order. Paragraph 4.2 explains that Ndayambaje held the office of bourgmestre of Muganza commune from 1983 to 1992 and again from June 1994, while Paragraph 4.3 alleges that the Accused continued to exercise authority over his subordinates during the period between 1992 and June 1994. Paragraph 6.28 further alleges that Ndayambaje was an influential political figure in Muganza commune in 1994 even though he no longer officially held office.

²⁶⁷⁹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 523-527, 604.

²⁶⁸⁰ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 55.

²⁶⁸¹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 51-57.

1255. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber is of the view that the Ndayambaje Indictment, when read as a whole, was drafted with sufficient precision as to provide notice to the Accused and enable him to adequately prepare a defence against the allegations contained in Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment. In this connection, the Chamber notes that key elements of the Kabuye Hill events, i.e. the movement of Tutsis to Kabuye Hill, the attacks that took place there, the distribution of weapons and the grenade incident, are linked to a specific date or dates and a specific location. Ndayambaje is placed at the scene of each of these events and his role as a superior over subordinates can be inferred from the Prosecution's allegations elsewhere in the Indictment. 2682 The alleged attackers are identified by reference to their category (policeman, soldier, gendarme or civilian) rather than identity and the Chamber underlines that a superior need not necessarily know the exact identity of his subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur liability under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. ²⁶⁸³ The Chamber does not consider the mode of transportation used to be material to the Prosecution's case. As regards the alleged grenade attack, Paragraph 6.32 specifies that numerous Tutsis were killed or injured, which is consistent with the effect of throwing a grenade into a crowd of people. The precise number of grenades used in such an attack or the number of victims would not be material to the Prosecution case. For the above reasons, the Chamber finds that Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment provided sufficient notice to the Accused to enable him to prepare his defence.

Murder of Witness TW's Uncle and Venerande at Kabuye Hill

1256. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the allegations that Ndayambaje personally murdered Witness TW's uncle and a Tutsi named Venerande are not mentioned anywhere in the Amended Indictment and cannot be reasonably linked to any paragraph. The Defence submits that Ndayambaje is not accused of having personally committed crimes and he is not charged with murder. The testimony of Witnesses TW and QBZ on these murders introduce not only new material facts against the Accused but also new charges, which should have been incorporated into the Indictment. Failure to do so cannot be cured by disclosure, even if such disclosure was made in a timely, clear and consistent manner. In any event, the murders were not referred to in any of the pre-trial materials disclosed to the Defence which are deemed to be adequate means of providing notice. He Ndayambaje Defence requests the exclusion of the testimony of Witnesses TW and QBZ insofar as they relate to such murders.

1257. The Chamber notes that Ndayambaje is charged with murder as a crime against humanity and killing as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol II pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute. The Chamber further notes that Paragraphs 6.30, 6.31 and 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment are listed in support of those counts. That said, the Indictment makes no reference to the Prosecution's allegation that two identifiable individuals were murdered by Ndayambaje at Kabuye. Although Ndayambaje is accused of having thrown grenades into a crowd of refugees, there is nothing to

 $^{^{2682}}$ Cf. Paras. 3.5, 4.2, 4.3 and 6.28 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

²⁶⁸³ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Blagojević & Jokić, Judgement (AC), para. 287.

²⁶⁸⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 94.

²⁶⁸⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 90-92, 94, 96.

²⁶⁸⁶ Counts 5 and 9 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

suggest that these individuals were victims of such an attack. Indeed, Witnesses TW and QBZ made no mention of grenades being used in the murders of these specific individuals. No information is provided on when the murders took place or how the victims were killed. Furthermore, in relation to the allegation that Ndayambaje murdered Witness TW's uncle, it is clear from Witness TW's previous statement given on 15 November 1995, over six months before the original Indictment was filed, that the Prosecution was aware of the identity of the alleged victim, yet failed to include that information in any of the Indictments. For the above reasons, the Chamber finds that the Ndayambaje Indictment is defective as regards both murder allegations.

1258. The Chamber notes, with regard to the murder of Witness TW's uncle, that the summary of this witness' testimony as set forth in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states: "TW saw his family member sitting at the back of Ndayambaje's Toyota pickup truck with his hands tied at his back. Ndayambaje said: 'I will kill this one myself.'" The Pre-Trial Brief goes on to state, "TW learned that Ndayambaje killed his family member." The Chamber notes that Witness TW's statement gives a similar account to that found in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief. It indicates that Witness TW never saw his uncle again and that he later heard Ndayambaje killed his uncle. This statement was first disclosed in December 2000, over three years before Witness TW was called to testify, and disclosed again in December 2001 in unredacted form. With regard to the murder of Venerande, there is no mention of this allegation anywhere in either of the witness' previous statements of November 2000 and March 2001, or in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or opening statement.

1259. Even though the allegation that Ndayambaje murdered Witness TW's uncle was not specifically included in the Indictment, the Chamber nevertheless considers that the information contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, when read together with Witness TW's previous statement of 1995, disclosed in 2000 and again in 2001, was sufficient to inform Ndayambaje of the allegation and enable him to prepare his defence. Ndayambaje's Defence would have had time to read and investigate the allegations made by Witness TW in his previous statement and prepare for his cross-examination in court. Witness TW's previous statement and the summary of his expected testimony contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief are clear and consistent with each other. Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the defect in the Indictment has been cured.

1260. As regards the allegation that Ndayambaje murdered Venerande, the Chamber considers that in view of the absence of subsequent Prosecution disclosures, the lack of notice of this allegation has not been cured. This allegation would cause prejudice to the Defence were it not excluded. The Ndayambaje Defence had no way of knowing about this allegation until Witness QBZ testified in February 2004 and was therefore unable to properly prepare its defence case in respect of this alleged murder. Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the defect in the Indictment has not been cured. The Chamber therefore finds that the testimony of Witness QBZ should be excluded insofar as it relates to the allegation that Ndayambaje murdered a Tutsi named Venerande in April 1994 at Kabuye Hill.

²⁶⁸⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TW (97).

²⁶⁸⁸ 15 November 1995, Statement of Witness TW, disclosed in redacted form 4 December 2000, and in unredacted form 14 December 2001.

Chamber's Refusal to Authorise a Site Visit

1261. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the witnesses heard during trial and the documents tendered as exhibits do not allow for a proper assessment of the sites. Referring to the Trial Chamber's Decision of 26 February 2009, the Defence claims that the Chamber's refusal to authorise a site visit led to incomprehension of the sites and therefore caused serious prejudice to the Defence.²⁶⁸⁹

1262. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 26 February 2009 in which it denied the Prosecutor's Motion for site visits, in particular paragraph 21 thereof which reads:

[T]he Chamber considers that the visits are no longer necessary for the following reasons. Firstly, a considerable number of photographs, sketches and maps have been tendered as exhibits to assist the Chamber's familiarisation with relevant locations testified upon by the witnesses and to assist in the determination of truth. Secondly, the Chamber considers that after over 14 years, it is likely that most of the sites to be visited will no longer be in the same state as they were in 1994 and that visiting them may not help much in the discovery of the truth or in the fair determination of the matters before the Chamber. In addition, the sites proposed by the Parties are too numerous and may have extraordinary logistical and cost implications for the Tribunal and may not be completed in a short period of time.

1263. In its submissions, the Ndayambaje Defence does not describe the kind of prejudice it allegedly suffered as a result of the Chamber's refusal to authorise a site visit nor does it explain how or why there is "incomprehension" of the sites. Further, the Chamber has considered a number of exhibits relating to Kabuye Hill including video footage, photographs and sketches of the site. The Chamber therefore sees no reason to reconsider its Decision of 26 February 2009 and does not find the Defence's allegation of prejudice to have been established.

_

²⁶⁸⁹ Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 30 April 2009 p. 6.

²⁶⁹⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Site Visits in the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 26 February 2009.

3.6.5.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness EV

1264. Witness EV, a Tutsi teacher from Muganza *commune*, testified that he had known Ndayambaje for a long time, since the Accused's days as a primary school student. He and his family fled their home in Muganza *commune*, Butare *préfecture*, on 19 April 1994 because their house was burnt down. On cross-examination, the witness stated that he left his house in the evening of 18 April 1994 and wandered all night with his family; they finally decided to leave on 19 April 1994 even though they had nowhere to go. 2693

1265. Witness EV and his family, together with numerous other refugees, headed towards Burundi. 2694 On the first day of their flight, they stopped at the marketplace in Gisagara secteur, Ndora commune, at about midday and joined up with another group of refugees which swelled their number to the thousands. Sous-préfet Ntawukulilyayo was present at the marketplace in the company of soldiers. He addressed the refugees in the afternoon and asked where they were going; he assured the refugees that the soldiers would protect them. 2697 The refugees remained in Gisagara marketplace until sunset and then left.²⁶⁹⁸ During the journey that ensued, they stopped once to rest and arrived at an area between Muyaga and Mugusa *communes* at daybreak, near Ngiryi Bridge. 2699 At that point, there was a huge crowd and the witness was near the front; there were 200 people in front of him and thousands behind him. 2700 Three vehicles, two from the witness' native commune and one military vehicle, came through the crowd from the back and blocked its advance.²⁷⁰¹ One of the *commune* vehicles was white and the other green with the acronym "MRND" written on the side. 2702 The green vehicle, a double-cabin Hilux, was carrying policemen, soldiers and civilians. The convoy was headed by the white vehicle, a single-cabin Hilux, which bore the name of Muganza commune. 2703 The witness was approximately five metres away when he saw Bourgmestre Ndayambaje seated in the driver's seat of the white Hilux with Sous-préfet Ntawukulilyayo. 2704 The witness was able to recognise two policemen, Pierre and Népomuscène, travelling in the rear of Ndayambaje's vehicle with two soldiers and some others. ²⁷⁰⁵ The military vehicle was a pickup truck and carried only soldiers.²⁷⁰⁶

```
<sup>2691</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).
<sup>2692</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 82 (Personal Particulars); T. 25 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness EV).
<sup>2693</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 20-22, 36 (Witness EV).
<sup>2694</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness EV).
<sup>2695</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 70-71; T. 26 February 2004 p. 30 (Witness EV).
<sup>2696</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 70; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness EV).
<sup>2697</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 33 (Witness EV).
<sup>2698</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 31, 33 (Witness EV).
<sup>2699</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 69-70; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness EV).
<sup>2700</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness EV).
<sup>2701</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness EV).
<sup>2702</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 39 (Witness EV).
<sup>2703</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness EV).
<sup>2704</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 70; T. 26 February 2004 p. 41 (Witness EV).
<sup>2705</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (Witness EV).
<sup>2706</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness EV).
```

1266. When the vehicles reached the front of the crowd, the occupants got out to prevent the crowd from advancing.²⁷⁰⁷ Ndayambaje and the *sous-préfet* ordered the refugees to stop and they were then beaten by members of the population and the soldiers. Shots were also fired.²⁷⁰⁸ The refugees turned and headed back the way they had come towards Gisagara *secteur*, Ndora *commune*, followed by the three vehicles.²⁷⁰⁹ It was before midday.²⁷¹⁰ The refugees arrived at Gisagara marketplace for the second time at 10 a.m., although in cross-examination the witness stated that the refugees arrived before sunset, around 4.00 p.m.²⁷¹¹ The three vehicles that had previously intercepted the refugees also parked in the marketplace.²⁷¹² Ndayambaje was there with President Sindikubwabo and several others.²⁷¹³ The President, who was standing on a table, addressed the crowd using a megaphone and demanded that the refugees go to Kabuye Hill in Ndora *commune*.²⁷¹⁴ The refugees were then escorted by soldiers and policemen on foot in the direction of Kabuye Hill.²⁷¹⁵ The soldiers wore different uniforms: some had red berets, others black berets, some had khaki uniforms, other camouflage.²⁷¹⁶

1267. The refugees arrived at Kabuye Hill before 6.00 p.m. when it was still daylight.²⁷¹⁷ The journey from Gisagara marketplace did not take long because Gisagara *secteur* neighbours the *secteur* in Ndora *commune* where Kabuye Hill is located. The witness saw the same three-vehicle convoy.²⁷¹⁸ There were as many as 50,000 refugees on the hill who had come from various *communes* including Kibayi, Muganza, Ndora, Runyinya and Nyaruguru.²⁷¹⁹ Most were Tutsis but there were also a few Hutu women married to Tutsi men who were with their children and husbands, and some Hutu men who did not agree with what was going on. The witness saw a total of three Hutus.²⁷²⁰ The refugees were unarmed.²⁷²¹ During his stay at Kabuye Hill, the witness saw people being killed with a variety of weapons and observed many corpses.²⁷²² He thought he spent five days at Kabuye Hill, arriving there on a Wednesday and leaving with his wife and children on a Saturday night at around 1.00 a.m.²⁷²³

1268. Some of the soldiers who arrived at Kabuye Hill with the refugees on that first day spent the night there while others left in a vehicle. The vehicle brought back soldiers and took away others.²⁷²⁴

```
<sup>2707</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness EV).
<sup>2708</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness EV).
<sup>2709</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 43-44 (Witness EV).
<sup>2710</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness EV).
<sup>2711</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 70-71; T. 26 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness EV).
<sup>2712</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness EV).
<sup>2713</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 71 (Witness EV).
<sup>2714</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness EV).
<sup>2715</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 45-47 (Witness EV).
<sup>2716</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 49 (Witness EV).
<sup>2717</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 45-46 (Witness EV).
<sup>2718</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 46 (Witness EV).
<sup>2719</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 p. 47 (Witness EV).
<sup>2720</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 72 (Witness EV).
<sup>2721</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 73 (Witness EV).
<sup>2722</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 78 (Witness EV).
<sup>2723</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 74, 76-77; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 70, 76 (Witness EV).
<sup>2724</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 49 (Witness EV).
```

1269. The massacres started on the day Witness EV arrived at Kabuye Hill.²⁷²⁵ On that day, the refugees were surrounded by groups of people on three sides, comprising soldiers, the *Interahamwe* and members of the Hutu population who had accompanied the soldiers.²⁷²⁶ Ndayambaje arrived before noon in a white Hilux driven by Charles Habakurama.²⁷²⁷ He was accompanied by several others including two *commune* policemen called Pierre Karekeza and Népomuscène and Witness KEPIR.²⁷²⁸ The refugees were attacked with bows and arrows, clubs, guns and grenades; they tried to defend themselves by throwing stones at the attackers.²⁷²⁹ The witness recognised Ndayambaje among the attackers, who was wearing black trousers and a khaki shirt, and carrying a pistol.²⁷³⁰ Witness EV was approximately 20 to 30 metres from the Accused.²⁷³¹ Ndayambaje also had grenades in his vehicle, which were taken by other assailants.²⁷³² The witness saw Ndayambaje fire his weapon and throw grenades that he had brought with him in his vehicle. Everyone tried to escape but there was no way of doing so.²⁷³³ The gunfire continued that night and the male refugees tried to shield the women and children from the attackers.²⁷³⁴

1270. After the first day, the attacks worsened and the number of assailants increased.²⁷³⁵ The additional assailants arrived in vehicles with rear cages and bars, some of which were painted in military colours.²⁷³⁶ He saw Ndayambaje arriving before noon on the second day from the direction of Muganza *commune* in the same white Hilux vehicle as the previous day.²⁷³⁷ The witness was approximately nine metres from Ndayambaje's vehicle.²⁷³⁸ The space in front of the witness was occupied by other male refugees leaving approximately two clear metres between the front of the refugee group and Ndayambaje.²⁷³⁹ The Accused was accompanied by Bosco, an assistant *bourgmestre*, the two policemen named Pierre and Népomuscène, Ndayambaje's driver Charles, and other civilians.²⁷⁴⁰ The occupants of the vehicle got out and began shooting at the refugees, who were also being shot at by other people.²⁷⁴¹ Witness EV saw the vehicle again in the evening when the assailants went home.²⁷⁴²

1271. Ndayambaje arrived on the third day at about 10.00 a.m. with Witness KEPIR and others in two separate vehicles.²⁷⁴³ Witness KEPIR was driving a blue double-cabin Hilux.²⁷⁴⁴

```
<sup>2725</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 73-74 (Witness EV).
<sup>2726</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 74 (Witness EV).
<sup>2727</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).
<sup>2728</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).
<sup>2729</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 74 (Witness EV).
<sup>2730</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 60-61 (Witness EV).
<sup>2731</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 75, 78 (Witness EV).
<sup>2732</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).
<sup>2733</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).
<sup>2734</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 50-51, 61 (Witness EV).
<sup>2735</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 50-51 (Witness EV).
<sup>2736</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 54 (Witness EV).
<sup>2737</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 54-55, 60 (Witness EV).
<sup>2738</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 56-57 (Witness EV).
<sup>2739</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 56 (Witness EV).
<sup>2740</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness EV).
<sup>2741</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).
<sup>2742</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).
<sup>2743</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 61 (Witness EV).
<sup>2744</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 62 (Witness EV).
```

The witness was unable to identify who was driving Ndayambaje's vehicle.²⁷⁴⁵ The vehicles parked at Ndatemwa, between Kabuye and Dahwe Hills, about 20 metres away from the witness.²⁷⁴⁶ At that time, Witness EV and his fellow refugees were under attack from a group of assailants on Dahwe Hill.²⁷⁴⁷ There were approximately 100 metres between Kabuye Hill and Dahwe Hill.²⁷⁴⁸ The assailants descended Dahwe Hill, crossed the valley and began to climb Kabuye Hill towards the refugees.²⁷⁴⁹ When Ndayambaje got out of his vehicle, the witness turned and went to the other side of the hill.²⁷⁵⁰ He heard shots but did not see from whom they emanated.²⁷⁵¹ Ndayambaje's vehicle left at approximately 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. and did not return again that day.²⁷⁵² The attacks on the refugees continued throughout the night.²⁷⁵³

1272. Ndayambaje returned to Kabuye Hill on the fourth day from the direction of Gisagara, arriving at around 10.00 a.m. in a convoy of three vehicles. One of the vehicles was a Daihatsu full of Burundian refugees. Ndayambaje was travelling in a green double-cabin Hilux vehicle bearing the acronym "MRND". The third vehicle was the blue Hilux driven by Witness KEPIR. Ndayambaje was wearing a khaki trousers and a black denim the location of the refugees. Ndayambaje was wearing a khaki trousers and a black denim shirt. Witness EV did not see Ndayambaje shoot on the fourth day, although the Burundians who had arrived with Ndayambaje attacked the refugees with grenades. Ndayambaje left at about 5.00 p.m. On the night of the fourth day there was some light rain and Witness EV's wife and children sheltered in one of the approximately 100 abandoned houses on Kabuye Hill. Soldiers continued to shoot and attack the refugees throughout the night.

1273. On the fifth day it rained towards the evening and throughout the night until morning. Ndayambaje arrived around 9.30 a.m. in a convoy of vehicles carrying a number of people including Kabuga, the trader, and three *conseillers de secteur*, Kikubwabo from Tawe, Rwamabare from Baziro and Singirankabo from Mugombwa. The Accused was

```
<sup>2745</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).
<sup>2746</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness EV).
<sup>2747</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 63 (Witness EV).
<sup>2748</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 52 (Witness EV).
<sup>2749</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 65 (Witness EV).
<sup>2750</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).
<sup>2751</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).
<sup>2752</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness EV) (vehicles returned at 3.00 or 4.00 p.m.); T. 26 February 2004 p.
78 (Witness EV) (French) (vehicles left at 3.00 or 4.00 p.m.). 2753 T. 26 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness EV).
<sup>2754</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness EV).
<sup>2755</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness EV).
<sup>2756</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness EV).
<sup>2757</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness EV).
<sup>2758</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness EV).
<sup>2759</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 69-70 (Witness EV).
<sup>2760</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 70 (Witness EV).
<sup>2761</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 70; T. 26 February 2004 p. 81 (Witness EV) (French).
<sup>2762</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 71-72 (Witness EV).
<sup>2763</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 71 (Witness EV).
<sup>2764</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 71 (Witness EV).
<sup>2765</sup> T. 26 February 2004 pp. 73-74 (Witness EV).
```

wearing a black sleeveless sweater over a white shirt and khaki trousers.²⁷⁶⁶ The witness did not see which vehicle Ndayambaje arrived in, he only saw the Accused walking in the company of the three *conseillers de secteur*.²⁷⁶⁷ The group left around 4.00 p.m.²⁷⁶⁸ He did not see the *conseillers* or Ndayambaje carrying weapons.²⁷⁶⁹ That night, the witness fled from Kabuye Hill with his wife and children and returned to his *secteur* where he stayed in the house next door to his own as his own had been destroyed.²⁷⁷⁰ It was raining heavily when they left.²⁷⁷¹

1274. During the massacre, people were dying in large numbers. There were corpses everywhere. Everywhere you stepped, was strewn with corpses. 2772

1275. Witness EV testified that Ndayambaje did not stay in one place when he was at Kabuye Hill; he moved around all the time and did not stay in the same position for long.²⁷⁷³ He saw Ndayambaje every day of his stay at Kabuye Hill; he would be present during the day and go home in the evening.²⁷⁷⁴ The only people who stayed at night were those who were guarding the refugees.²⁷⁷⁵ Witness EV identified Ndayambaje in court.²⁷⁷⁶

Prosecution Witness RT

April 1994, he and his wife, together with other refugees, fled their homes as violence had broken out in their area. On cross-examination, the witness stated that while he was not completely certain of the dates, he was sure of the day, Wednesday, as that was market day in his neighbourhood. They took refuge at the Remera *secteur* office at about 10.00 a.m. At around 2.00 p.m. the refugees decided to flee to Burundi via Gisagara *commune* because there was no fighting in that direction and all other the roads were blocked. On the way to Gisagara people joined their group until they numbered approximately 18,000. On their way towards Burundi, the refugees stopped in Gisagara marketplace at about 7.00 p.m. Many people had gathered there and the *sous-préfet* instructed the refugees to remain there so that the authorities could ensure their safety. After the *sous-préfet*'s departure, policemen wearing green uniforms and berets surrounded the refugees and confiscated their weapons. Approximately 20,000 refugees stayed in the marketplace that night waiting for instructions,

```
<sup>2766</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).
<sup>2767</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 73 (Witness EV).
<sup>2768</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 74 (Witness EV).
<sup>2769</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 74 (Witness EV).
<sup>2770</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 76-77; T. 26 February 2004 p. 77 (Witness EV).
<sup>2771</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness EV).
<sup>2772</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 78 (Witness EV).
<sup>2773</sup> T. 26 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness EV).
<sup>2774</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 76; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 61, 75 (Witness EV).
<sup>2775</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness EV).
<sup>2776</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 79 (Witness EV).
<sup>2777</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 47-48 (Witness RT).
<sup>2778</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness RT).
<sup>2779</sup> T. 11 March 2004 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness RT).
<sup>2780</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 49; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 14, 17-18 (ICS); T. 11 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness RT).
<sup>2781</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 20 (ICS); T. 11 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness RT).
<sup>2782</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 49; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 23, 33-35 (Witness RT).
```

but none came.²⁷⁸³ Policemen guarded the crowd until the morning.²⁷⁸⁴ In the morning, the refugees overheard Hutus discussing using grenades on the refugees so they fled, continuing their journey towards the Burundian border at 9.00 or 10.00 a.m.²⁷⁸⁵

1277. At around 11.00 a.m., the refugees were intercepted by about four policemen upon reaching the Ngiryi river area between Mugusa and Muyaga *communes*. ²⁷⁸⁶ The policemen wore normal green police uniforms and yellow berets, and were on foot. ²⁷⁸⁷ A red Toyota vehicle carrying four soldiers arrived from the direction of Gisagara. ²⁷⁸⁸ The vehicle had a front cabin for the driver and passenger and a box with bars on the back; the soldiers were travelling in the back and Ndayambaje was in the front passenger seat. ²⁷⁸⁹ The vehicle passed Witness RT and stopped approximately 80 metres away. ²⁷⁹⁰ Both the driver of the vehicle and Ndayambaje were wearing civilian clothes. ²⁷⁹¹ The soldiers wore camouflage fatigues and black berets, and carried guns. ²⁷⁹² They got out of the Toyota and started firing into the air. ²⁷⁹³ Ndayambaje remained inside the vehicle. ²⁷⁹⁴ At the sound of the gunfire, the refugees ran in all directions; most ran back towards Gisagara. ²⁷⁹⁵ The witness did not return to Gisagara because he wanted to go to Burundi. ²⁷⁹⁶ He reached Nyerinzi Hill in Muyaga *commune* where he came across the *bourgmestre* of Muyaga *commune* who was travelling in a white single-cabin Toyota Hilux vehicle accompanied by approximately eight *gendarmes*. ²⁷⁹⁷ On the orders of the Muyaga *bourgmestre*, the witness turned back and headed towards Gisagara *commune*. He reached Gisagara marketplace at about 6.00 p.m. and spent the night there with other refugees. ²⁷⁹⁸ They were guarded by policemen all night. ²⁷⁹⁹

1278. The following morning, Friday, policemen and Hutus armed with traditional weapons escorted the refugees from Gisagara marketplace to Kabuye Hill, a distance of approximately three kilometres. They arrived at Kabuye Hill around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. and encountered a group of Hutu civilians armed with traditional weapons and grenades. There were approximately 40,000 people gathered on Kabuye Hill. Upon their arrival, soldiers and policemen opened fire on the refugees from all directions. He subsequently testified that he

```
<sup>2783</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 50; T. 11 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness RT).
<sup>2784</sup> T. 11 March 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness RT).
<sup>2785</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 50-51; T. 11 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness RT).
<sup>2786</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 39, 49 (Witness RT).
<sup>2787</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness RT).
<sup>2788</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 39, 43-44, 46 (Witness RT).
<sup>2789</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53 (Witness RT).
<sup>2790</sup> T. 11 March 2004 pp. 39-40, 43 (Witness RT).
<sup>2791</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness RT).
<sup>2792</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 47 (Witness RT).
<sup>2793</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 53-54; T. 11 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RT).
<sup>2794</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 53; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 45, 48 (Witness RT).
<sup>2795</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 54-55; T. 11 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RT).
<sup>2796</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness RT).
<sup>2797</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 55, 57; T. 11 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RT).
<sup>2798</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 57; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 51, 53 (Witness RT).
<sup>2799</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 57; T. 11 March 2004 p. 53 (Witness RT).
<sup>2800</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 57-58; T. 11 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness RT).
<sup>2801</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 59, 66; T. 11 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness RT).
<sup>2802</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 59 (Witness RT).
<sup>2803</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 67; T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).
```

did not see any soldiers on this day.²⁸⁰⁴ Those who attempted to flee the gunfire were attacked by armed Hutus bearing machetes and hoes.²⁸⁰⁵ The attack on the refugees continued until the evening when the attackers went home.²⁸⁰⁶ On cross-examination, the witness clarified that the attackers left between 2.00 and 3.00 p.m.²⁸⁰⁷ Many people were killed that day, but Witness RT could not put a figure on the number of casualties.²⁸⁰⁸

1279. The attackers returned the following morning, Saturday, at about 9.00 a.m. and small groups of attackers with traditional weapons, soldiers and *commune* policemen gathered near Dahwe and Gahondo. Subsequently, Ndayambaje arrived aboard a white Toyota *commune* vehicle with approximately 10 soldiers in the back. The witness observed the soldiers' arrival from approximately 100 metres. He saw *conseillers* and Ndayambaje walking around and distributing grenades to the attackers. He did not actually see grenades in Ndayambaje's hands but he assumed that the items being distributed by the Accused were indeed grenades because many assailants subsequently used grenades against the refugees that day. Witness RT was about 80 to 100 steps away from Ndayambaje and could see him clearly. Ndayambaje left shortly thereafter but Witness RT saw the Accused's vehicle make approximately three round-trips transporting people to and from the hill, though he could not exactly see who was being transported. He did not see Ndayambaje during those trips. He did not see Ndayambaje during those trips.

1280. The next day, Sunday, more Tutsi refugees were killed on Kabuye Hill by attackers with guns and traditional weapons; the attackers were police and Hutus, he did not see any soldiers on that day. The attacks lasted all day and it was raining. The witness stayed on Kabuye Hill that day and night hiding in a house with his children; he did not know the whereabouts of his wife. One of his children was killed on Sunday evening and another four were killed on the following Monday morning when a grenade exploded in front of the house in which they were hiding.

1281. Witness RT testified that he had known Ndayambaje prior to the events of 1994 in his capacity as the *bourgmestre*. He also knew that Ndayambaje ceased to be the *bourgmestre* and

```
<sup>2804</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).
<sup>2805</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness RT).
<sup>2806</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness RT).
<sup>2807</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).
<sup>2808</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness RT).
<sup>2809</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 68; T. 11 March 2004 p. 66 (Witness RT).
<sup>2810</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 67-68, 71 (Witness RT).
<sup>2811</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness RT).
<sup>2812</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness RT).
<sup>2813</sup> T. 11 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RT).
<sup>2814</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness RT).
<sup>2815</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 69; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 71-72, 75-76, 79 (Witness RT).
<sup>2816</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 69; T. 11 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness RT).
<sup>2817</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 71; T. 11 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness RT).
<sup>2818</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RT).
<sup>2819</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 72; T. 11 March 2004 p. 81 (Witness RT).
<sup>2820</sup> T. 11 March 2004 pp. 82-83 (Witness RT).
```

went on study leave. The witness used to see him often, at least twice a week.²⁸²¹ Witness RT positively identified the Accused in court.²⁸²²

Prosecution Witness TW

1282. Witness TW, a Tutsi farmer from Muganza *commune*, testified that he had known Ndayambaje for a long time before the events of 1994 because he was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* where the witness lived.²⁸²³ On the afternoon of 19 April 1994, the witness saw Ndayambaje drive past his bar in Muganza *commune*.²⁸²⁴ Ndayambaje was driving the official vehicle of the *bourgmestre*, a white double-cabin vehicle, and there were soldiers in the cabin and on the back of the vehicle.²⁸²⁵ The soldiers were wearing camouflage uniforms and black berets, and carried weapons.²⁸²⁶

1283. Later that night, Witness TW saw Tutsi homes being torched in his neighbourhood and decided to flee with his family. They spent one night hiding in their sorghum field and the next day walked to the area where the witness was born. The witness and his family spent one night there and left the next day for Kabuye. They arrived at Kabuye Hill two days later at around 7.00 p.m. when it was already dark and spent three days there. Approximately 20,000 Tutsi refugees had gathered on Kabuye Hill. His estimation of the number of refugees was based on subsequent reports that the remains of 20,000 people were buried there. He did not see any bodies at Kabuye Hill that night and there were no attacks 2833

1284. The following day, Witness TW's first day at Kabuye Hill, he saw Ndayambaje arrive at the hill between 11.00 a.m. and noon. Ndayambaje was in a white double-cabin Toyota Hilux or similar and was transporting Hutu civilians armed with traditional weapons. Ndayambaje made two trips to the hill and drove the vehicle himself. The witness could clearly see Ndayambaje from where he was standing, between 100 and 200 metres away. Ndayambaje got out of his vehicle and stood talking to the attackers. Around noon, the armed civilians attacked the Tutsi refugees.

```
<sup>2821</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness RT).
<sup>2822</sup> T. 10 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RT).
<sup>2823</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness TW).
<sup>2824</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 7, 29; T. 10 February 2004 pp. 31, 34, 37 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2825</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 7, 30; T. 10 February 2004 pp. 34, 37, 43 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2826</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2827</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness TW).
<sup>2828</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 7; T. 10 February 2004 pp. 46-48 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2829</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2830</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 51-53 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2831</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 7; T. 10 February 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness TW).
<sup>2832</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 20 (Witness TW).
<sup>2833</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 57 (ICS); T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).
<sup>2834</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 11-12; T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).
<sup>2835</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 8; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness TW).
<sup>2836</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 45 (Witness TW).
<sup>2837</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 47 (Witness TW).
<sup>2838</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 46 (Witness TW).
<sup>2839</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 47 (Witness TW).
<sup>2840</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).
```

attackers, who were fewer in number, using stones and domestic implements that they had brought with them. ²⁸⁴¹

1285. The second day, Ndayambaje arrived at Kabuye Hill with the witness' uncle tied up in his vehicle. 2842 The man was guarded by a policeman and some other people. Witness TW was between 30 and 50 metres away from Ndayambaje when he heard him say, "[t]ake care of the others. I am going to kill this one." Witness TW's uncle was taken away and the witness had not seen him since. 2844

1286. On the same day, Ndayambaje also made several trips in his white double-cabin vehicle to Kabuye Hill transporting armed policemen and civilians, and Burundian refugees carrying traditional weapons. Those who had not been killed by gunfire were killed by other attackers with traditional weapons. Witness TW did not see any soldiers at Kabuye Hill on the second day. Rabaya traditional weapons.

1287. On the third day,²⁸⁴⁸ the witness saw Ndayambaje driving the same white vehicle transporting soldiers and *Interahamwe* armed with grenades and machetes.²⁸⁴⁹ The soldiers wore military uniforms and berets.²⁸⁵⁰ In the evening, the refugees were attacked.²⁸⁵¹ Soldiers were also stationed on neighbouring hills from which they shot at the refugees.²⁸⁵² The refugees could not defend themselves with stones alone and almost all were killed.²⁸⁵³ Witness EV's wife, five children, mother and eight younger brothers perished in this attack.²⁸⁵⁴

1288. The witness did not see Ndayambaje carrying weapons or distributing grenades or guns; he did, however, see him transporting people armed with guns and grenades to Kabuye Hill. 2855 Witness TW identified Ndayambaje in court. 2856

Prosecution Witness QAQ

1289. Witness QAQ, a Tutsi civil servant from Muganza *commune*, testified that he knew Ndayambaje from when the Accused was in his 6th year of primary school. Until the events of 1994, the witness was friends with Ndayambaje and they regularly visited each other's homes. Witness QAQ stated that on 20 April 1994, Hutus began killing Tutsis and burning

```
<sup>2841</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 8; T. 11 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TW).
<sup>2842</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 9; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 50-52 (Witness TW).
<sup>2843</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 9 (Witness TW).
<sup>2844</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 9-10; T. 11 February 2004 p. 54 (Witness TW).
<sup>2845</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 8; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 49-51, 53 (Witness TW).
<sup>2846</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness TW).
<sup>2847</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 57 (Witness TW).
<sup>2848</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness TW).
<sup>2849</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 12; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 60, 62 (Witness TW).
<sup>2850</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 12-13; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TW).
<sup>2851</sup> T. 10 February 2004 pp. 12, 15 (Witness TW).
<sup>2852</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 65 (Witness TW).
<sup>2853</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 12 (Witness TW).
<sup>2854</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 15; T. 11 February 2004 p. 63 (Witness TW).
<sup>2855</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 68, 71-72 (Witness TW).
<sup>2856</sup> T. 10 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness TW).
<sup>2857</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2858</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 46 (ICS); T. 12 November 2002 pp. 27-28 (Witness QAQ).
```

down houses in his home *secteur*.²⁸⁵⁹ He therefore fled and hid in the bush for three or four days.²⁸⁶⁰ He subsequently followed other refugees to Kabuye Hill.²⁸⁶¹

1290. The witness arrived at Kabuve Hill at about 10.00 a.m. He could not see all the refugees from where he was positioned but estimated that there were 300 refugees near him. 2862 In cross-examination, the witness stated that he could see 300 refugees although many refugees came later and there were others that the witness could not see as they were outside his field of vision. 2863 He spent the night at Kabuye Hill and the following day, at around 10.00 a.m., he saw Ndayambaje driving a white vehicle carrying gendarmes. 2864 He did not count the number of gendarmes on board, but estimated there were more than five. 2865 The gendarmes were positioned on Dahwe Hill, opposite Kabuye Hill. ²⁸⁶⁶ In cross-examination Witness OAO testified that from where he was he could not personally say whether the person in the car was Ndayambaje. 2867 Other refugees in the company of Witness QAQ on Kabuye Hill recognised Ndayambaje's vehicle and told the witness it was the same vehicle that had prevented them from continuing on their way to Burundi the previous day. 2868 The witness saw the vehicle come and go on three occasions but did not know whether it was transporting people as the refugees were under attack at the time. 2869 The gendarmes shot at the refugees who tried to defend themselves by throwing stones. The refugees were also attacked by *Interahamwe* carrying clubs and machetes. Several people died as a result of these attacks, but the witness did not know the exact number of victims; all he knew was that after the war people came to exhume the bodies for a proper reburial.²⁸⁷¹

1291. Witness QAQ identified Ndayambaje in court. 2872

Prosecution Witness TP

1292. Witness TP, a Hutu farmer who was married to a Tutsi, testified that she and her family arrived in Gisagara at around 7.00 p.m. on Wednesday 20 April 1994.²⁸⁷³ Upon their arrival, they saw Ndayambaje who told them to go home as it was safe.²⁸⁷⁴ Witness TP was a few metres from Ndayambaje and recognised his face and voice.²⁸⁷⁵ Ndayambaje then left in his

```
<sup>2859</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2860</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2861</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2862</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2863</sup> T. 12 November 2002 pp. 85-86 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2864</sup> T. 11 November 2002 pp. 26, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2865</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2866</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2867</sup> T. 12 November 2002 p. 85 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2868</sup> T. 11 November 2002 pp. 26, 28, 31 (ICS); T. 12 November 2002 pp. 84, 86 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2869</sup> T. 11 November 2002 pp. 31-32 (ICS); T. 13 November 2002 p. 5 (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2870</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2871</sup> T. 13 November 2002 p. 6 (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2872</sup> T. 11 November 2002 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
<sup>2873</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 9; T. 12 February 2004 p. 55 (Witness TP).
<sup>2874</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 9; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31, 60, 62 (Witness TP).
<sup>2875</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 37, 60 (Witness TP).
```

official vehicle, which was white with two doors. 2876 The witness spent the night in the marketplace at Gisagara. 2877

1293. The following morning, Thursday 21 April 2004, the *sous-préfet* visited the refugees and told them that if they had somewhere else to go, they could leave. Witness TP did not see the *sous-préfet* because of the huge crowd but other refugees told her what he said. The witness' husband decided that they would leave for Burundi and set out at 6.30 a.m. At 11.00 a.m., the witness and her family were intercepted by a group of people armed with traditional weapons and grenades at Musha and were told to go back home in order not to create insecurity. They threw arrows at the witness and her family, loaded their guns and prepared grenades for launching. Witness QAQ and her family therefore went back to the marketplace at Gisagara. The assailants did not pursue them. On their way back to Gisagara, they were again harassed at Ngiryi by armed civilians and soldiers who told them to go back and so they returned to Gisagara.

1294. The refugees arrived at Gisagara for the second time around 8 p.m. where they spent the night. The *sous-préfet* was there but he did not speak that evening. During the night, Ndayambaje passed by the marketplace on his way home at around 3.00 a.m., but did not stop. Witness TP thought Ndayambaje had prevented the refugees from continuing their journey to Burundi. The next morning, 22 April 1994, the *sous-préfet* told the refugees to go to Kabuye where there would be more space for their cattle and children. She and the other refugees left Gisagara for Kabuye at 7.00 a.m.

1295. Witness TP testified that she arrived at Kabuye Hill at around 8.00 a.m. on Saturday 23 April 1994. Her family stayed near the base of the hill. On their arrival, they found a large number of refugees, many more than their own group. Hutu, Burundian and Twa civilians attacked the refugees with guns and grenades, and traditional weapons including machetes and spears. The attacks lasted all day and carried on until the morning of the following day. The refugees defended themselves by throwing stones. Those who were lucky survived, those who were not, died. The attackers told their leader, Ndayambaje, that

```
<sup>2876</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness TP).
<sup>2877</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness TP).
<sup>2878</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31, 56 (Witness TP).
<sup>2879</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 56-57 (Witness TP).
<sup>2880</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 57 (Witness TP).
<sup>2881</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 11; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31-32, 57-58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2882</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2883</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 11; T. 12 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2884</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2885</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 63 (Witness TP).
<sup>2886</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2887</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 60, 64 (Witness TP).
<sup>2888</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 12-13; T. 12 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness TP).
<sup>2889</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 59 (Witness TP).
<sup>2890</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 19-20; T. 12 February 2004 p. 64 (Witness TP).
<sup>2891</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness TP).
<sup>2892</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness TP).
<sup>2893</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 65-66, 68-70 (Witness TP).
<sup>2894</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness TP).
```

they could not fight the refugees. 2895 In the witness' view, this was because the refugees far outnumbered the attackers. 2896 The witness did not see any policemen, soldiers or vehicles at Kabuye Hill on Saturday. 2897

1296. On the evening of Sunday 24 April 1994 at around 7.30 p.m., five vehicles full of people arrived at Kabuye Hill. ²⁸⁹⁸ It was dark but the moon was bright. ²⁸⁹⁹ There were three buses, a white vehicle called *ruhumbangegera*, which was used for patrols in the *commune*, and Ndayambaje's vehicle. ²⁹⁰⁰ Ndayambaje's vehicle, which led the convoy, was small, white, with two doors and a cage in the back. ²⁹⁰¹ She did not see Ndayambaje but guessed that he was on board since it was his vehicle. ²⁹⁰² Witness TP did not see the buses but she was told by others that they contained members of the Presidential Guard. ²⁹⁰³ In cross-examination, the witness stated that she did see the buses and they were white and green. ²⁹⁰⁴ However, because it was dark and raining, the witness could not describe the passengers' uniforms but she could tell that they wore military uniforms.

1297. The people who arrived in the vehicles rushed at the refugees and attacked them. The attackers, who included some of the witness' Hutu neighbours and policemen, were using clubs, machetes, small hoes, spears, bows and arrows, grenades and guns. Some of the attackers hurled grenades at the refugees from the neighbouring hills of Kanyahukeri, Dahwe and Gahondo. Many refugees were killed during the attack on Sunday evening and Witness TP estimated that not more than 50 refugees survived. Refugees were running up the hill and in all directions in panic. The witness lost a number of family members during the attack including her husband. The witness and nine of her children left Kabuye Hill between 8.30 and 9.00 p.m. on Sunday 24 April 1994. In cross-examination, the witness testified that the attack on Sunday started at 6.00 a.m. and that it rained heavily from about 5.00 p.m. until the following morning. The witness could not estimate how many people were killed; even an educated person would not be able to count the victims. It was not possible to bury the victims decently. The bodies of the victims were just covered with some earth.

```
<sup>2895</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13, 20 (Witness TP).
<sup>2896</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness TP).
<sup>2897</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness TP).
<sup>2898</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness TP).
<sup>2899</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 14 (Witness TP).
<sup>2900</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13, 15; T. 12 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness TP).
<sup>2901</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 14, 24; T. 12 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness TP).
<sup>2902</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness TP).
<sup>2903</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness TP).
<sup>2904</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness TP).
<sup>2905</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 75-76 (Witness TP).
<sup>2906</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 14, 18 (Witness TP).
<sup>2907</sup> T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13-14, 17-18, 21 (Witness TP).
<sup>2908</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 70 (Witness TP).
<sup>2909</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 21 (Witness TP).
<sup>2910</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 72 (Witness TP).
<sup>2911</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 22 (Witness TP).
<sup>2912</sup> T. 12 February 2004 p. 32 (Witness TP).
<sup>2913</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 71-73 (Witness TP).
<sup>2914</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 21 (Witness TP).
```

1298. Witness TP did not identify Ndayambaje in court; she explained that it had been a long time and she could not remember his face. She knew Ndayambaje before the events as the *bourgmestre* of Muganza; she also knew his wife and his two children.

Prosecution Witness QAL

1299. Witness QAL, a Hutu farmer from Muganza *commune*, testified that Ndayambaje had officiated her marriage in 1987.²⁹¹⁸ She stated that she saw Ndayambaje driving the *commune* 's white Toyota pickup truck in Muganza *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, at around 2.00 p.m. while on her way to the market one Thursday in April 1994.²⁹¹⁹ The vehicle was carrying guns and grenades in the back.²⁹²⁰ It was followed by a green vehicle driven by a man in military uniform.²⁹²¹ The witness was approximately two metres away from the vehicle at the time.²⁹²² Ndayambaje was telling people to hurry up and go in the direction of Kabuye.²⁹²³ The vehicles were travelling in the direction of Kabuye Hill where Tutsis had started to take refuge the previous day, Wednesday.²⁹²⁴ The vehicles were moving slowly and were followed by a crowd of people.²⁹²⁵ One or two hours later that day, she heard gunfire from the direction where the two vehicles had headed.²⁹²⁶ The gunfire lasted throughout the night until the next day, which was a Friday.²⁹²⁷

1300. Witness QAL identified Ndayambaje in court. 2928

Prosecution Witness RV

1301. Witness RV, a Hutu civil servant in 1994 and a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that on 20 April 1994, he was woken at 6.00 a.m. by Ndayambaje and Tiziano Pegoraro, the Italian priest of Mugombwa Parish, who told him that the local population in Mugombwa had taken up arms and that there was insecurity in the area. The witness could not recall the type of vehicle in which Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje arrived. The witness, Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje drove to the *commune* office in the vehicle in which Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje had arrived where they collected the *commune* vehicle that was parked there. At the *commune* office, Witness RV and Ndayambaje got aboard the *commune* vehicle and drove to Bishya where they collected the *commune* driver, Charles, from his home. Father Tiziano followed in his own vehicle; the vehicle in

```
<sup>2915</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness TP).
<sup>2916</sup> T. 11 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness TP).
<sup>2917</sup> T. 12 February 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness TP).
<sup>2918</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2919</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 8-9, 35 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2920</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2921</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 9-10 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2922</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2923</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 9 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2924</sup> T. 25 February 2004 pp. 9, 35 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2925</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2926</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 35 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2927</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 36 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2928</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 14 (Witness QAL).
<sup>2929</sup> T. 16 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 61, 63 (ICS) (Witness RV).
<sup>2930</sup> T. 17 February 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

which Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje had used to reach the witness' house. From the *commune* office, Charles drove Witness RV while Ndayambaje accompanied Father Tiziano. Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano proceeded to Ndayambaje's residence.²⁹³¹

1302. At about 7.30 a.m., the witness went to Ndayambaje's residence to tell him that he was overwhelmed and that he was going to Butare to request assistance; he saw Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano there. Witness RV proceeded to Butare, arriving at about 9.00 a.m., where he reported the event to Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, the *sous-préfet* of Gisagara. ²⁹³³

1303. Witness RV further testified that Hutus began to attack Tutsi refugees on Kabuye Hill on 22 April 1994 but they were unable to kill them so they needed firearms to attack them. There was an arms and ammunitions store in the same building as the Muganza *commune* office. On Saturday 23 April at about 1.00 p.m., Witness RV met Ndayambaje at Bishya. Ndayambaje was with Célestin Habiyambere, the chairman of the MRND in Muganza *commune*, and they were travelling in an off-white double-cabin Toyota Hilux vehicle. Ndayambaje was angry with the witness because he needed firearms and ammunition to use at Kabuye and had not been able to find Witness RV to help him do this. Ndayambaje told the witness that he was going to Kibayi *commune* to look for weapons to use in the attack at Kabuye. Ndayambaje left in the direction of Kibayi *commune*. Witness RV left Bishya with Célestin Habiyambere on a motorbike belonging to an agricultural project in Muganza *commune* and they drove to the Muganza *commune* office.

1304. Witness RV saw Ndayambaje again that day at about 2.00 p.m. Ndayambaje arrived at the *commune* office with Gaspard, a Burundian refugee, Witness FAU, who used to live in Mugombwa *secteur*, and some others travelling in the back of his vehicle; they had about five firearms with them. Ndayambaje insisted the weapons store be opened because Ndayambaje and Célestin Habiyambere wanted to take ammunition in order to kill people in Kabuye. A *commune* policeman called Charles Habakurama, who was also the driver for Muganza *commune*, was also present and Ndayambaje asked him to go into the store and take some ammunition. Pharles took some ammunition and a gun that was not working properly because the bulk of the guns had been taken by *commune* police officers. Ndayambaje then left the *commune* office with Charles and they headed to Kabuye. Witness RV later learned

²⁹³¹ T. 17 February 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³² T. 17 February 2004 pp. 67-69 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁵ T. 16 February 2004 p. 44 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 53-54 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁶ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁷ T. 16 February 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁸ T. 16 February 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹³⁹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴⁰ T. 16 February 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴¹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 44, 46 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴² T. 16 February 2004 pp. 44, 46 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness RV) (the English transcript refers to "Ahaakurama"); *see* T. 16 February 2004 p. 53 (HC) (Witness RV) (French) (the driver's surname is "Habakurama"). Habakurama is consistent with the spelling found elsewhere in the transcripts; *see*, *e.g.*, T. 25 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).

through Charles that the Tutsis in Kabuye were killed with the support of members of the population who assisted the attackers with traditional weapons.²⁹⁴⁴

1305. On cross-examination, Witness RV testified that on the morning of 23 April 1994, he saw the deputy to the police brigadier taking bullets from the weapons store in the Muganza *commune* office and stopped him. At about 10.00 a.m., Witness RV left the *commune* office and went to the dispensary in Mugombwa. Célestin Habiyambere came to see him there to complain that he needed guns. Witness RV testified that he met Ndayambaje and Célestin Habiyambere at 5.00 p.m. when he arrived at Bishya and they addressed him in a violent manner. Ndayambaje went to Kibayi to look for guns while Habiyambere went with the witness to the *commune* office. Célestin Habiyambere told Witness RV that they needed the guns for Kabuye because they were going to kill some people. Witness RV saw that other people had come with Célestin Habiyambere and they were getting ready to open the weapons store by force if he were to refuse to open it.

1306. Witness RV did not open the weapons store until Ndayambaje had returned from Kibayi. Ndayambaje asked where the witness had gone because he had been trying to get in touch with him; he asked Witness RV to supply guns and stated that they were to go to do some work in Kabuye. When Witness RV opened the weapons store, Ndayambaje asked Charles, the driver, to go inside the store and to come out with all the equipment he needed. Charles came out with ammunition and a large gun which he said did not work. They loaded everything into the vehicle and headed for Kabuye. Witness RV stated that Ndayambaje and Célestin Habiyambere travelled in a whitish double-cabin Toyota Hilux belonging to the Kirarambogo health centre with "C-M-S Kirarambogo" written on the side. Signature of the side of the side. Signature of the side of the side. Signature of the side of the side of the side of the side. Signature of the side of the side

1307. Witness RV identified Ndayambaje in court. 2954

Prosecution Witness FAU

1308. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer from Muganza *commune* and a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that one Saturday he went on foot to Bishya to have a drink. He arrived at the Bishya business centre at around noon where Ndayambaje and Charles, a

²⁹⁴⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴⁵ T. 18 February 2004 pp. 27, 29-30 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴⁶ T. 18 February 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁴⁷ The Chamber notes the English transcript erroneously states "Kabuye": T. 18 February 2004 pp. 27, 29-30 (ICS) (Witness RV), rather than "Kibayi" which appears in the French transcript: T. 18 February 2004 pp. 33, 35 (HC) (Witness RV) (French).

²⁹⁴⁸ T. 18 February 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness RV).

The Chamber notes the English transcript erroneously states "Kabuye": T. 18 February 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness RV), rather than "Kibayi" which appears in the French transcript: T. 18 February 2004 p. 36 (HC) (Witness RV) (French).

²⁹⁵⁰ T. 18 February 2004 pp. 29, 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁵¹ T. 18 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁵² T. 18 February 2004 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁵³ T. 18 February 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁵⁴ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness RV).

²⁹⁵⁵ T. 9 March 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAU).

commune policeman, were present.²⁹⁵⁶ Ndayambaje told the witness and the other people that they should attack Kabuye Hill where Tutsis had taken refuge; Ndayambaje said that if they did not do so the Tutsis were going to attack them.²⁹⁵⁷ Witness FAU got on board Ndayambaje's vehicle with 20 others and headed for Muganza *commune* office.²⁹⁵⁸ Ndayambaje was driving a vehicle belonging to an international organisation.²⁹⁵⁹

1309. When they reached the Muganza *commune* office, Ndayambaje got out of the vehicle and went inside for about 10 minutes.²⁹⁶⁰ Brigadier Pierre took a gun from the *commune* office weapons store and he, along with the witness and two policemen named Makubwa and Ferdinand, went to Kabuye Hill with Ndayambaje.²⁹⁶¹ There was also another white vehicle belonging to the *commune* driven by Charles, the *commune* policeman, which went to Kabuye Hill carrying other persons later that day.²⁹⁶² On cross-examination, Witness FAU testified that Brigadier Pierre took three Kalashnikovs from the weapons store; he gave one each to the policemen Makubwa and Ferdinand, and kept one for himself.²⁹⁶³ They left in the direction of Kabuye before noon.²⁹⁶⁴

1310. Witness FAU testified that he often used to see the Accused during the events of April 1994. 2965 He identified Ndayambaje in court. 2966

Prosecution Witness FAG

1311. Witness FAG, a Hutu farmer from Muganza *commune*, testified that he remembered seeing Ndayambaje approximately 10 times before the events in 1994.²⁹⁶⁷ The witness confessed to having participated in various attacks in 1994 when he was aged 16.²⁹⁶⁸ He spent eight years in prison and was released in 2003, before he gave evidence.²⁹⁶⁹ He was nevertheless still waiting to be sentenced by *Gacaca* courts.²⁹⁷⁰

1312. Witness FAG testified that two weeks and two days after the death of the President, trouble erupted in Kibaye *commune*; Tutsis were attacked and houses were torched.²⁹⁷¹ He saw Tutsi homes being destroyed and Tutsis fleeing into the hills, mainly towards Kabuye Hill, because they were being pursued by Hutus.²⁹⁷² Two weeks and five days after the President's death, Witness FAG saw Ndayambaje driving a Muganza *commune* vehicle, a Hilux, at around

```
<sup>2956</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 67-68; T. 9 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2957</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 70; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2958</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 70-71; T. 9 March 2004 p. 43 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2959</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 71; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 42, 46-47 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2960</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 71; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 43-45 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2961</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 72; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2962</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 72; T. 9 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2963</sup> T. 9 March 2004 p. 45 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2964</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 72; T. 9 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2965</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 63, 77; T. 9 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2966</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness FAU).
<sup>2967</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2968</sup> T. 1 March 2004 pp. 46-50 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2969</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 6 (ICS); T. 1 March 2004 pp. 44, 46 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2970</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
<sup>2971</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAG).
<sup>2972</sup> T. 1 March 2004 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness FAG).
```

10.00 a.m. in Bishya, Muganza *commune*. ²⁹⁷³ He saw Ndayambaje on four separate occasions; on each occasion, the Accused was transporting people in his vehicle, including Burundians, people from Mugombwa, Kibaye and Sagwa and policemen. ²⁹⁷⁴ The policemen were armed with guns and the civilians carried traditional weapons. ²⁹⁷⁵ The vehicle was moving between Kibayi and the area of the *commune* office via Bishya. ²⁹⁷⁶ The vehicle was empty when travelling in the direction of Kibayi whereas when it went in the opposite direction, towards the area of the *commune* office, there were passengers in the vehicle. ²⁹⁷⁷ Witness FAG saw the vehicle go towards Kibayi at about 10.00 a.m. and come back through Bishya around 10.30 a.m. ²⁹⁷⁸ The third time he saw Ndayambaje, the latter was coming from the direction of the *commune* office and Kabuye, heading towards Kibayi around 12.15 p.m. ²⁹⁷⁹ He was alone in the vehicle apart from his two police escorts. ²⁹⁸⁰ The last time he saw Ndayambaje in Bishya centre that day was around 1.00 p.m. ²⁹⁸¹

1313. The following day, the witness saw Ndayambaje driving the same vehicle as the previous day and transporting the same people towards the end of the afternoon. He also saw Ndayambaje accompanied by two policemen heading towards Butare between 3.30 and 4.00 p.m. Witness FAG further attested to seeing Ndayambaje with policemen and three soldiers in his vehicle at sunset on the same day returning from Butare and heading towards the *commune* office in Remera on the road leading to Gisagara. The policemen and the soldiers were armed. ²⁹⁸⁵

1314. Witness FAG testified that the next day, a Sunday, he saw the bodies of many refugees who had been shot on Kabuye Hill. He recalled having heard many gunshots the previous Saturday evening between 7.00 p.m. and 9.00 p.m. People informed the witness that Ndayambaje had gone for reinforcements from Butare and that the shots had been fired by soldiers from Butare. Witness FAG identified Ndayambaje in court. 1989

Prosecution Witness QBZ

1315. Witness QBZ, a Hutu farmer, testified that he knew Ndayambaje before the events of 1994; he was familiar with Ndayambaje's family house in Cymba secteur in 1991 when

```
<sup>2973</sup> T. 1 March 2004 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 37, 40-41 (Witness FAG).
```

²⁹⁷⁴ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 42-44; T. 3 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁷⁵ T. 1 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁷⁶ T. 2 March 2004 pp. 42-46 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁷⁷ T. 2 March 2004 p. 29 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁷⁸ T. 2 March 2004 p. 42 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁷⁹ T. 3 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAG) (French); as the English transcript for this day refers to Kibayi, Kibuye and Kabuye interchangeably, the French transcript is to be preferred.

²⁹⁸⁰ T. 3 March 2004 p. 9 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸¹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸² T. 1 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS); T. 3 March 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸³ T. 1 March 2004 p. 28; T. 3 March 2004 pp. 11-13 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁴ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 16-17 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁵ T. 3 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁶ T. 1 March 2004 p. 20 (ICS); T. 1 March 2004 pp. 32-33; T. 3 March 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁸ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

²⁹⁸⁹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAG).

Ndayambaje was a student; he also used to see the Accused when he was *bourgmestre*.²⁹⁹⁰ The witness was a detainee in Rwanda when he testified before the court in 2004.²⁹⁹¹ Witness QBZ testified that about one week after the death of the President, he went to Kabuye with Ndayambaje, members of the *cellule* committee and *commune conseillers*, including Kanyabashi, all of whom were Hutus.²⁹⁹² They went there in order to kill Tutsis who had taken refuge on the hill.²⁹⁹³ The group went on foot, arriving at 10.00 a.m. on Friday and were joined by civilians on their way.²⁹⁹⁴ On arriving they met resistance from the Tutsis so Ndayambaje therefore left at 11.00 a.m. in the Muganza *commune* vehicle in order to fetch soldiers from Butare as they needed reinforcements.²⁹⁹⁵ Ndayambaje dropped off five policemen at the *commune* office then continued on his way to Butare with his police escort and members of the population.²⁹⁹⁶ The witness also travelled to Butare in the Ndora *commune* vehicle.²⁹⁹⁷

1316. The military reinforcements were collected in Butare; they travelled in the Ndora and Muganza *commune* vehicles, a green military vehicle and a bus. Other reinforcements also came from the direction of Kibayi. They arrived at Kabuye at around 2.00 p.m. on Friday. A number of Hutu soldiers were already shooting at the refugees. The killings started on Friday and did not stop until 4.00 p.m. on Sunday. The soldiers left on Monday while members of the population who participated in the attack left on Sunday. Ndayambaje was not present at Kabuye during the night; he would leave at the end of each day and return the following morning.

1317. Witness QBZ left Kabuye on Sunday and went home to rest, returning to Kabuye on Monday with other Hutus to bury the bodies.³⁰⁰⁴ They used hoes and shovels to dig pits and there was also a vehicle equipped with a compressor which filled the pits with earth over the corpses.³⁰⁰⁵ During the burial process, various authorities were present including Ndayambaje, policemen, *commune conseillers* and members of the *cellule* committees.³⁰⁰⁶

1318. Witness QBZ identified Ndayambaje in court. 3007

```
<sup>2990</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 35; T. 23 February 2004 pp, 37, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2991</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 80 (Personal Particulars); T. 23 February 2004 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2992</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 68 (ICS); T. 23 February 2004 pp. 22, 25; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58, 61-62 (ICS)
(Witness QBZ). The Chamber notes that while the English transcript of 24 February 2004 refers to Kibuye
throughout, the French transcript refers to Kabuye: T. 24 February 2004 pp. 66-67 (HC) Witness QBZ (French).
<sup>2993</sup> T. 23 February 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2994</sup> T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58, 60-62 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2995</sup> T. 23 February 2004 pp. 25-28; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58, 60-62, 64, 66 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2996</sup> T. 24 February 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2997</sup> T. 24 February 2004 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2998</sup> T. 24 February 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>2999</sup> T. 24 February 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3000</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 26; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 62, 71 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3001</sup> T. 24 February 2004 pp. 71-74 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3002</sup> T. 24 February 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3003</sup> T. 24 February 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3004</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 34; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3005</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 34 (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3006</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 34 (Witness QBZ).
<sup>3007</sup> T. 23 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).
```

Ndayambaje Defence Witness ALIZA

1319. Witness ALIZA, whose father was Hutu and mother was Tutsi, was brought up as Tutsi in Muganza *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. In 1994, he was a 19-year-old student. About two weeks after Habyarimana's death, disturbances started in Muganza *commune*. One Wednesday, around 5.00 p.m., there were gunshots and explosions coming from Remera hill. The witness remembered that it was a Wednesday because it was market day and Gisagara market was open. Witness ALIZA and the Tutsi members of his family decided to flee to Burundi with their livestock. They headed in the direction of Gisagara and arrived there on the same Wednesday between 6.30 and 7.00 p.m. The witness and his family spent the night at Gisagara football pitch with around 2,000 other refugees; some refugees also settled in the adjacent market square. There was no violence that night and the refugees were free to move around and buy supplies at a store without any hindrance. At some point, policemen passed by in a vehicle belonging to Ndora *commune*; the policemen remained in the car and observed the refugees. Apart from the policemen, the witness did not see any *gendarmes*, soldiers or persons of authority at Gisagara. He did not see Ndayambaje at Gisagara. He later learned that the date was 19 April 1994.

1320. The following day, Thursday, the number of refugees at Gisagara had increased to between 2,000 and 5,000. In the morning at around 8.00 a.m., all of the refugees continued their journey to Ngiryi Bridge, located between Ndora and Mugusa *communes*, arriving there around midday. The witness did not see any vehicles during the journey to Ngiryi Bridge nor did he see or hear people attempting to prevent the refugees from moving. When Witness ALIZA crossed Ngiryi Bridge, he and his family were towards the front of the column of refugees; there were lines of refugees moving ahead of him and even more refugees behind him. After crossing the bridge, the refugees were stopped by two *commune* policemen with firearms and two or three civilians. The policemen had come from the direction of Mugusa *commune*. One of the civilians said that the refugees had to turn around. When the refugees did not obey, the policemen pointed their guns at the refugees ready to open fire. The refugees were scared and returned to Ngiryi Bridge. The policemen did

```
<sup>3008</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 31, 33 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 21 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3009</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3010</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3011</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3012</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 35-38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3013</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 38 (ICS); T. 4 June 2008 p. 40 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3014</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 41; T. 9 June 2008 p. 17 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3015</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 40, 42, 46; T. 9 June 2008 p. 20 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3016</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 42-44, 46; T. 9 June 2008 pp. 17-18 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3017</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 44-46 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3018</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3019</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 46-48 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3020</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 46, 48; T. 9 June 2008 p. 17 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3021</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 49 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3022</sup> T. 9 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3023</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 49 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3024</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 50 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3025</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 53, 55 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3026</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 51-52 (Witness ALIZA).
```

not fire their weapons nor beat the refugees. The witness did not see Ndayambaje at Ngiryi Bridge when the refugees were intercepted, nor did he see any other police officers, soldiers or *gendarmes*. 3028

- 1321. After being intercepted, the refugees went back towards Gisagara. Witness ALIZA and his family were in the middle of the stream of refugees towards the end of the crowd as it headed back to Gisagara, although he could still not see the people at the end of the procession. The witness did not see the refugees being escorted by three vehicles nor did he see any policemen or soldiers following the refugees to Gisagara. The witness and his family reached Gisagara on Thursday at around 4.00 p.m. and rested at Gisagara football field for 40 minutes to one hour. There were no authorities at Gisagara but Witness ALIZA heard from others that President Sindikubwabo had come to Gisagara. After resting, the witness left Gisagara for Kabuye Hill, a journey which took around 40 minutes. During that journey, the refugees were not attacked by civilians nor were they escorted by policemen or soldiers.
- 1322. Witness ALIZA testified that Kabuye *secteur* was comprised of four hills separated by small valleys.³⁰³³ The first hill was *Ku Ka Kabuye*, the second *Ku Badivantiste*, the third did not have a name and the fourth was called *Mugorewindekwe*.³⁰³⁴ The refugees went to the nameless hill and gathered there.³⁰³⁵ When the witness and his family arrived at Kabuye around 6.00 p.m., he saw that the nameless hill was covered with refugees. They settled near the valley, from where the witness could see the hill with refugees. The witness estimated that there were between 4,000 and 5,000 refugees on the hill.³⁰³⁶ He explained that the refugees chose to remain on the hill instead of going home because they were convinced that together they would be in a better position to defend themselves.³⁰³⁷ On that day, Thursday, Witness ALIZA did not see or hear about vehicles coming to the hill nor was he aware of Ndayambaje having been present.³⁰³⁸ There were no attacks during the night from Thursday to Friday.³⁰³⁹
- 1323. On Friday, at around 10.00 or 11.00 a.m., between 50 and 70 civilians carrying traditional weapons arrived from Gahondo *cellule*. The assailants wanted to take the refugees' livestock and they attacked the refugees, who fought back using bows and arrows, machetes and stones. The attack started around midday and lasted until around 5.00 p.m. 3042

```
<sup>3027</sup> T. 4 June 2008 pp. 51-52 (Witness ALIZA).
```

³⁰²⁸ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 53, 58-60 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰²⁹ T. 4 June 2008 p. 55 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁰ T. 4 June 2008 p. 62; T. 9 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³¹ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 62-63 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³² T. 5 June 2008 p. 5 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³³ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 12, 14; T. 5 June 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁴ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 13-14, 17 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁵ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 13, 15, 17 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁶ T. 5 June 2008 p. 18 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁷ T. 9 June 2008 p. 28 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁸ T. 5 June 2008 p. 19 (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰³⁹ While the English transcript erroneously refers to "the night of Wednesday breaking Thursday": T. 5 June 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA), the French transcript cites "la *nuit du jeudi au vendredi*": T. 5 June 2008 p. 25 (HC) (Witness ALIZA) (French).

³⁰⁴⁰ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 23-25 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰⁴¹ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁰⁴² T. 5 June 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

More attackers arrived around 1.00 p.m. ³⁰⁴³ In total, there were between 100 and 200 assailants. ³⁰⁴⁴ That day, around 20 refugees died and many sustained injuries. ³⁰⁴⁵ No guns or grenades were used during the attack. ³⁰⁴⁶ After the attack ended and the assailants departed, the refugees dug pits in which they buried the victims. ³⁰⁴⁷ Witness ALIZA did not see any vehicles in the vicinity of the refugees on that Friday but he did see cars moving on the road going past the peak of Kabuye Hill and on the road linking Muganza and Ndora *cellule*. ³⁰⁴⁸ After sunset, the witness and his family rested; there were no attacks during the night. ³⁰⁴⁹ He did not see or hear that Ndayambaje had been present on the hills that day. ³⁰⁵⁰

1324. On the morning of Saturday around 10.00 a.m., the refugees were attacked again by civilians carrying traditional weapons, and the number of assailants increased during the day; by around 2.00 p.m. there were approximately 1,000 attackers. Around 4.00 p.m., between 100 and 200 persons came from *Ku-Badivantiste* hill carrying Kalashnikovs and grenades. They wore camouflage uniform, normally worn by Rwandan soldiers, and caps, normally worn by *gendarmes*. They crossed the valley separating Gahondo hill from the hill where the refugees had gathered and moved towards the refugees in a half circle to prevent them from fleeing. The refugees who were on top of the hill without a name told Witness ALIZA that they had seen vehicles at the top of *Ku Badivantiste* hill bringing soldiers. The witness did not see any figure of authority but he had the impression that the soldiers followed instructions because they drew nearer without shooting and then all opened fire at the same time. There were about 4,000 to 5,000 refugees at the site. The refugees defended themselves by throwing stones and using traditional weapons. Around 5.00 p.m., the soldiers opened fire and threw grenades. People were falling like fruit being shaken from a tree; after around 30 minutes, there was thunder and heavy rain and the attackers withdrew to *Ku-Badivantiste* hill. The attack lasted between 30 and 50 minutes. It was very hard to estimate how many people were killed but about 1,000 refugees survived.

1325. Witness ALIZA testified that he did not see Ndayambaje or hear of his presence that Saturday afternoon. 3063 He conceded that when the attack was launched and people were

```
<sup>3043</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 24-26 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3044</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3045</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 26, 28 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3046</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 27, 29 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3047</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3048</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3049</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3050</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3051</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3052</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 33-34; T. 5 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3053</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 33-34; T. 9 June 2008 p. 11 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3054</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 33-34; T. 5 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3055</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3056</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3057</sup> T. 9 June 2008 pp. 36-38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3058</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3059</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3060</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3061</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3062</sup> T. 9 June 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3063</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
```

running for their lives, he could not see everything that was happening or every person on the hill. On Saturday night, the witness met his cousin and together they crossed the valley between Kabuye and Gahondo and went to the witness mother's home in Gahondo where they spent the night.

- 1326. On the morning of Sunday, the witness and his cousin returned to Kabuye to look for family members. They saw civilians with traditional weapons attacking and killing women and children who had survived the previous attack. The witness and his cousin therefore fled and hid at a sorghum farm. 3067
- 1327. Witness ALIZA testified that he knew Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. In 1991, Ndayambaje certified that the witness' mother was unable to pay for the witness' school fees and, as a consequence, he was given financial assistance to fund his studies. Ndayambaje resigned from the post of *bourgmestre* in 1992 and was succeeded by Chrysologue who remained *bourgmestre* until 1994. In 1994, Muganza *commune* had a white single-cabin Toyota Hilux vehicle without a tarpaulin at the back. Ndayambaje resigned from the post of *bourgmestre* in 1994, Muganza *commune* had a white single-cabin Toyota Hilux vehicle without a tarpaulin at the back.

Ndayambaje Defence Witness TOVIA

- 1328. Witness TOVIA, a local Hutu politician in 1994, testified that approximately two weeks after the death of the President, 3071 on 21 April 1994, 3072 a named individual who lived near Ngiryi Bridge informed him that assailants with traditional weapons had launched an attack on that bridge. The witness immediately went to Ngiryi valley to verify the information and on arrival saw a crowd of civilians and cattle. He estimated that there were between 500 and 600 people in the crowd at Ngiryi Bridge although he had no idea of their ethnicity. 3075
- 1329. Witness TOVIA testified that Ndayambaje was not present at Ngiryi Bridge on that day nor did he see any vehicles carrying policemen or soldiers. ³⁰⁷⁶ If Ndayambaje had been present, the witness would have been informed. ³⁰⁷⁷ After verifying the situation at Ngiryi Bridge, the witness went to the *commune* office and informed the *bourgmestre* of Mugusa *commune* about what had happened. ³⁰⁷⁸ He told the *bourgmestre* that a crowd of people were attempting to gain access to Mugusa *commune*. ³⁰⁷⁹ The *bourgmestre* had his driver take him,

```
<sup>3064</sup> T. 9 June 2008 pp. 15-16 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3065</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3066</sup> T. 5 June 2008 pp. 42-43 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 8 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3067</sup> T. 5 June 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3068</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 25 (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3069</sup> T. 4 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3070</sup> T. 9 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).
<sup>3071</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3072</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 42 (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3073</sup> T. 3 July 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3074</sup> T. 3 July 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 3 July 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3075</sup> T. 3 July 2008 pp. 35, 52 (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3076</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 17; T. 3 July 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3077</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 17 (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3078</sup> T. 3 July 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
<sup>3079</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 14; T. 3 July 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).
```

together with the witness and two policemen, to Ngiryi Bridge in order to check on the situation 3080

1330. The *bourgmestre* 's car stopped in the centre of Musha, the occupants got out and they headed towards the area where the crowd was in Rugarama *cellule*. The *bourgmestre* stood in front of the crowd and asked where the people were going. After an address of between 15 and 20 minutes, during which the *bourgmestre* told the people to leave, the crowd returned to Ndora *commune* using Ngiryi Bridge. During this address the two policemen accompanying the *bourgmestre* were carrying firearms but were not threatening anybody; the barrels of their firearms were not pointed at anyone. There were no other vehicles present in the areas surrounding Ngiryi Bridge that day. Furthermore, no acts of violence were perpetrated against the crowd of civilians as they obeyed the *bourgmestre* 's instructions to return back. 3084

1331. The day after the events at Ngiryi Bridge, the *bourgmestre* told Witness TOVIA that he had drafted a report on the events and asked the witness to take it to Butare town. The witness acknowledged that Defence Exhibit 555C was the report submitted by the *bourgmestre* of Mugusa *commune* on the incident at Ngiryi Bridge. The witness agreed that the date written on the right-hand corner of the document was 22 April 1994 which meant that the events at Ngiryi Bridge occurred on 21 April 1994.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-5

1332. Witness AND-5, a Hutu policeman, was a detained witness when he gave evidence, having been convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment for his participation in killings in Mugusa *commune*, although he intended to lodge an appeal. He testified that around 21 April 1994, he and another policeman accompanied the *bourgmestre* of Mugusa *commune* and Witness TOVIA on a trip to the border between Ndora and Mugusa *communes* at the Ngiryi river in order to verify the presence of refugees there. Witness TOVIA had alerted the *bourgmestre* to the situation. The group had to leave the blue *commune* vehicle in Musha centre and walk two kilometres to where the refugees were as this route was not accessible by car. The *bourgmestre* told them to return to where they had come from because their movement would create panic among the population and disrupt the safety of the *commune*. The group accompanied the refugees back to the bridge over the Ngiryi river; there were no gunshots or cars present. The witness did not see Ndayambaje in the vicinity of the Ngiryi Bridge nor

```
<sup>3080</sup> T. 3 July 2008 p. 14 (Witness TOVIA).
```

³⁰⁸¹ T. 3 July 2008 p. 15 (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸² T. 3 July 2008 p. 16 (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸³ T. 3 July 2008 p. 17 (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸⁴ T. 3 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸⁵ T. 3 July 2008 pp. 36, 38 (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸⁶ T. 3 July 2008 p. 41 (Witness TOVIA); Defence Exhibit 555C (Ndayambaje) (Letter from the *bourgmestre* of Mugusa *commune* to the *préfet* of Butare, with the subject: Security Report, 22 April 1994).

³⁰⁸⁷ T. 3 July 2008 p. 42 (Witness TOVIA).

³⁰⁸⁸ T. 4 December 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁸⁹ T. 4 December 2006 pp. 54-56 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁹⁰ T. 4 December 2006 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁹¹ T. 4 December 2006 p. 58 (ICS); T. 5 December 2006 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁹² T. 5 December 2006 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

did he receive any reports of Ndayambaje's presence. A copy of the report on the incident was sent to the *préfet* and the prosecutor.

Ndavambaje Defence Witness KEPIR

- 1333. Witness KEPIR, son of a Hutu father and Tutsi mother, testified that he saw Ndayambaje at the *commune* office on 20 April 1994. Ndayambaje arrived in a car that the witness did not recognise and informed the witness that he was fleeing because he had heard gunfire in his neighbourhood. 3095 Witness KEPIR and Ndayambaje then walked to the witness' house. 3096 The vehicle that brought Ndayambaje to the *commune* office left and returned a few minutes later with Ndayambaje's family and some others. 3097 Ndayambaje was joined by his family and the others who had travelled with them at the witness' house and 10 or 15 minutes later, they all went together to the commune office. 3098
- 1334. Ndayambaje, a gendarme and the witness took the vehicle belonging to an international organisation and left at approximately 12.30 or 1.00 p.m. to inform *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue in Butare of the prevailing situation in the *commune*. 3099 They arrived in Butare at approximately 2.00 p.m., returning to the Muganza commune office at around 4.00 or 5.00 p.m. 3100 Ndayambaje spent the night of 20 April 1994 in the courtyard of the *commune* office. 3101
- 1335. On Thursday 21 April 1994, neither Ndayambaje nor the commune vehicle left the commune office. 3102
- 1336. On the morning of 22 April 1994, Witness KEPIR saw and spoke to Ndayambaje, Bourgmestre Chrysologue and the bourgmestre's driver, Charles. This group told the witness that they were leaving to monitor the situation in Mugombwa and Kabuga. 3103 The witness testified that Ndayambaje wanted to collect a car from an expatriate called Monique who worked there and to check on his mother who was hospitalised at the Mugombwa clinic. 3104 The group left at around 10.00 a.m. 3105 Ndayambaje returned to the *commune* office 20 to 30 minutes later in the car he had collected, a khaki-coloured Toyota Corolla. 3106 Ndayambaje was not accompanied by his mother. At approximately 1.00 or 2.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994, the witness accompanied Ndayambaje who decided to collect the vehicle belonging to the

³⁰⁹³ T. 5 December 2006 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁹⁴ T. 5 December 2006 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³⁰⁹⁵ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39 (Witness KEPIR).

³⁰⁹⁶ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 10 September 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³⁰⁹⁷ T. 10 September 2008 p. 40; T. 10 September 2008 pp. 41, 43 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³⁰⁹⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³⁰⁹⁹ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰⁰ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰¹ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 51-52, 55 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰² T. 10 September 2008 pp. 53-54; T. 15 September 2008 pp. 8, 14 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 55 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰⁴ T. 10 September 2008 p. 55; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰⁵ T. 10 September 2008 p. 56 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰⁶ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 56-57 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹⁰⁷ T. 15 September 2008 p. 16 (Witness KEPIR).

Kirarambogo health centre.³¹⁰⁸ They left in the vehicle belonging to an international organisation.³¹⁰⁹ Returning from Kirarambogo, Ndayambaje drove the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle and Witness KEPIR followed close behind.³¹¹⁰ Both cars stopped at a roadblock about 500 metres from the Kirarambogo health centre and then proceeded to the Muganza *commune* office, arriving at about 4.00 p.m.³¹¹¹ Witness KEPIR stayed with Ndayambaje that evening until they parted company to go to bed.³¹¹² The witness testified that Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office on 22 April 1994 on any occasion other than the trip to Mugombwa and the trip to Kirarambogo.³¹¹³ Both the witness and Ndayambaje spent the night of Friday 22 to Saturday 23 April at the *commune* office.³¹¹⁴

1337. On the morning of Saturday 23 April 1994, there was an attack on the *commune* office premises. Ndayambaje was at the *commune* office at the time. Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office until the afternoon when Ndayambaje and his wife left in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle to seek refuge in Kibayi. They left at around 2.00 p.m. or 3.00 p.m.

1338. Witness KEPIR testified that in 1994, Muganza *commune* had a white single-cabin Toyota Stout pickup with "Muganza *commune*" written on the side.³¹¹⁹ The official driver of this vehicle was Charles Habakurama.³¹²⁰ Ndayambaje had his own private vehicle in April 1994, a white double-cabin Toyota Hilux with slats on the back on which tarpaulin could be placed. The vehicle was rented out to *Médecins Sans Frontières* (MSF) Belgium, in Butare.³¹²¹ The witness did not see this vehicle in Muganza *commune* in April 1994.³¹²²

Ndayambaje Defence Witness GABON

1339. Witness GABON, a Hutu policeman, testified that on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje arrived at the Remera *commune* office in a vehicle at about 11.00 a.m. which left soon afterwards. He returned at about 12.30 p.m. with his family and others. Ndayambaje and his family moved into the IGA room in the *commune* office. Later, Ndayambaje left in a blue vehicle belonging to an international organisation and went to Butare. He returned between 5.00 p.m. and 5.30 p.m. The witness testified that about 150 persons took refuge at

```
<sup>3108</sup> T. 10 September 2008 p. 59 (ICS); T. 15 September 2008 pp. 12-14 (Witness KEPIR).
```

³¹⁰⁹ T. 10 September 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁰ T. 10 September 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹¹ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹² T. 10 September 2008 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹³ T. 10 September 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁴ T. 10 September 2008 p. 64 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁵ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 64, 68 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁶ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 66, 68 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁷ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 70, 72; T. 10 September 2008 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁸ T. 10 September 2008 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³¹¹⁹ T. 4 September 2008 pp. 15, 19 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹²⁰ T. 4 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹²¹ T. 4 September 2008 p. 24; T. 10 September 2008 p. 63 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹²² T. 10 September 2008 p. 63 (Witness KEPIR).

³¹²³ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 65, 68 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹²⁴ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹²⁵ T. 28 August 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹²⁶ T. 28 August 2008 pp. 67, 70 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹²⁷ T. 28 August 2008 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

the *commune* office on Wednesday 20 April 1994.³¹²⁸ They stayed day and night at the *commune* office until the following Saturday.³¹²⁹

- 1340. Witness GABON testified that Ndayambaje did not leave the *commune* office premises during the day or night of 21 April 1994. ³¹³⁰
- 1341. On Friday 22 April 1994 Ndayambaje left the *commune* office at around 9.00 a.m., returning one hour later. He left again at about 11.00 a.m. in the blue vehicle belonging to an international organisation, returning at about 2.00 p.m., driving the vehicle of the Kirarambogo health centre. Ndayambaje and his family spent the night in the IGA room of the *commune* office. 3132
- 1342. There was an attack at the commune office at about 9.00 a.m. on Saturday 23 April 1994 in which people were abducted. Ndayambaje and his family were still in the IGA room at the time of the attack. 3133 Later that same day, Ndayambaje, his family and others left in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle heading in the direction of Mugombwa; he was told they were going to Kibayi. 3134 Ndayambaje did not return to the *commune* office that day. 3135
- 1343. On cross-examination, Witness GABON testified that he remained at the *commune* office until 24 April and that from 20 April until then he slept for just 27 minutes.³¹³⁶

Ndayambaje Defence Witness MARVA

1344. Witness MARVA, a Hutu who lived in Ndayambaje's house from 1990 until 1994 in Mugombwa *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, testified that on a Wednesday, two weeks after the death of the President at around 8.00 a.m. or 8.30 a.m., a young man named Chanvrier came to Ndayambaje's house, where she was living, to seek refuge.³¹³⁷ Ndayambaje hid Chanvrier in the guest room and locked him inside.³¹³⁸ Later that morning, after hearing gunshots, they all decided to flee.³¹³⁹ A man who was driving his vehicle on the way to the market square passed by Ndayambaje's house to pick him up and take him to the *commune* office to seek refuge.³¹⁴⁰ The man returned after approximately one hour to pick up the remaining people in the Accused's house, including the witness.³¹⁴¹ They went by car to the home of Witness KEPIR, near the *commune* office, where they met Ndayambaje.³¹⁴² They then went on foot to the

³¹²⁸ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 11, 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹²⁹ T. 1 September 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³⁰ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 24-28 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³¹ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 28-29, 31-32, 34 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³² T. 1 September 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³³ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³⁴ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³⁵ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 40-42 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³⁶ T. 3 September 2008 pp. 13, 16-17 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³¹³⁷ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 19-20 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³¹³⁸ T. 1 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³¹³⁹ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³¹⁴⁰ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³¹⁴¹ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³¹⁴² T. 1 July 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

Muganza *commune* office. ³¹⁴³ On cross-examination, Witness MARVA stated that the distance between Ndayambaje's home and the *commune* office would take around one hour to cover on foot. ³¹⁴⁴ They remained at the *commune* office from Wednesday 20 April 1994 until Saturday 23 April 1994. ³¹⁴⁵

1345. On Saturday 23 April 1994, assailants attacked the *commune* office and abducted people.³¹⁴⁶ In the afternoon, Ndayambaje, his family and other persons, including Witness MARVA went to Kibayi *commune* where they stayed all week at someone's house.³¹⁴⁷ They left at about 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. and arrived after sunset.³¹⁴⁸ There were three buildings at the house where they were staying.³¹⁴⁹ Ndayambaje and the witness stayed in the main house; they slept in separate rooms.³¹⁵⁰

Ndayambaje Defence Witness BIDI

1346. Witness BIDI, a Hutu from Kibayi *commune* who was 16 years old in 1994, testified that on Saturday 23 April 1994, about 10 people came to her house in Kibayi *commune* in a vehicle driven by Ndayambaje. One of the persons in the group accompanying Ndayambaje told her that their group had fled from the *commune* office. Ndayambaje and those accompanying him spent the night of 23 April 1994 at the witness' house. Ndayambaje got up at about 10.00 a.m. on Sunday 24 April 1994 and he did not leave the house all day. 3154

1347. Witness BIDI was confronted with the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses EV, QAQ, TW and TP allegedly placing Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill on the morning of Sunday 24 April 1994. She disagreed with the accounts provided by those witnesses and reiterated that Ndayambaje did not leave her house on that day. 3155

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Father Tiziano Pegoraro

1348. Father Tiziano Pegoraro, an Italian priest, testified that from 1988 until 20 April 1994 he was the parish priest of Mugombwa Parish. He had known Ndayambaje since becoming a member of the Mugombwa community in 1983, when Ndayambaje was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. He testified that on 20 April 1994, at around 6.00 a.m., Ndayambaje knocked at the witness' window and told him that there had been riots and that it was

```
3143 T. 1 July 2008 pp. 24-25 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3144 T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3145 T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3146 T. 1 July 2008 pp. 26-28 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3147 T. 1 July 2008 pp. 27, 30 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3148 T. 1 July 2008 pp. 27-28 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3149 T. 1 July 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3150 T. 1 July 2008 p. 28 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).
3151 T. 30 June 2008 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).
3152 T. 30 June 2008 pp. 16, 33, 36 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).
3153 T. 30 June 2008 pp. 16-18 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).
3154 T. 30 June 2008 pp. 16-18 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).
3155 T. 30 June 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).
```

³¹⁵⁷ T. 8 September 2008 p. 32 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁵⁶ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 17-18, 46 (Father Tiziano).

necessary to speak with Witness RV who lived close to the *commune* office. Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje therefore drove to Remera hill, Muganza *commune*, in the parish vehicle.³¹⁵⁸

1349. Father Tiziano testified that at the *commune* office, they first talked to a *gendarme* who went to fetch Witness RV from his residence. The witness later stated that he and Ndayambaje went directly to Witness RV's residence. Ndayambaje informed Witness RV about the riots and Witness RV said that he would deliver a speech at Kabuga market around 9.00 a.m. to calm the population. Father Tiziano stated that Witness RV did not get into the witness' car on 20 April 1994, contrary to Witness RV's testimony. After speaking with Witness RV, Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje drove to Mugombwa Church in the parish vehicle. Ndayambaje got out of the vehicle and went home on foot, while Father Tiziano drove into the church premises with the vehicle.

1350. At 9.00 a.m. the witness walked to Ndayambaje's house because they had agreed to drive together to Kabuga. He met Ndayambaje on the road opposite his house talking to various people. Ndayambaje said that they should wait for Witness RV before going to Kabuga but mentioned that as the situation in Kabuga was dangerous, Father Tiziano was free to return home if Witness RV did not turn up. Ndayambaje then said that they would certainly not go to Kabuga. Father Tiziano waited for a few minutes for Witness RV and then returned to the parish on foot. That was the last time he saw Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje lived approximately 15 minutes away from the *commune* office by car. 100.

1351. Father Tiziano testified that he left Mugombwa Parish along with the three nuns who were in charge of the health centre in the afternoon of 20 April 1994. 3168

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Constant Julius Goetschalckx, a.k.a Brother Stan

1352. Brother Stan is a Catholic monk who lived in Mugombwa Parish from 1993 to 1994. ³¹⁶⁹ He had known Ndayambaje since 1988 and they were friends. ³¹⁷⁰ In 1994 the witness worked in education in the Burundian refugee camps and lived and worked mainly in Saga refugee camp in Kibayi *commune*. ³¹⁷¹

³¹⁵⁸ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 48-49 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁵⁹ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 49-50 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁰ T. 8 September 2008 p. 52 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶¹ T. 8 September 2008 p. 50 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶² T. 8 September 2008 pp. 51, 54, 57-58 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶³ T. 8 September 2008 p. 51 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁴ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 58-60 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁵ T. 8 September 2008 p. 61 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁶ T. 9 September 2008 p. 28 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁷ T. 10 September 2008 p. 19 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁸ T. 9 September 2008 p. 13 (Father Tiziano).

³¹⁶⁹ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 22, 25 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 27 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 25 (Brother Stan).

- 1353. Brother Stan testified that attacks against the Tutsis had commenced on 18 April 1994. 3172
- 1354. Brother Stan testified that he saw Ndayambaje's mother at Ndayambaje's house prior to 20 April 1994, and he believed she was ill at the time. He did not know if she travelled with Ndayambaje to Kibayi later, he did not know what happened to her. 3173
- 1355. Brother Stan testified that the car belonging to the expatriate Monique was parked at the priest's house and the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle was parked at the health centre. Monique had left both vehicles in the care of Ndayambaje. Brother Stan testified that he saw Ndayambaje in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle on 23 April 1994 near the Saga camp. The witness saw Ndayambaje with Monique's car and the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle in May 1994. 3175
- 1356. Brother Stan testified that the Mugombwa health centre was run by Italian nuns who left with Father Tiziano on 20 April 1994. Brother Stan testified that he had heard that after the nuns left the patients at the health centre were taken to Mugombwa Church in the morning of 20 April 1994. 3176
- 1357. Brother Stan testified that at 8.00 a.m. on the morning of 20 April 1994 he set off to the Kibayi *commune* office from the Saga camp where he was staying, to deliver supplies to those who had sought refuge there. The distance between Saga and Kibayi was approximately 15 kilometres and the witness arrived there between 8.30 a.m. and 9.00 a.m. He was stopped by the *commune* office secretary in Kibayi who told him that there was insecurity in the *commune* and he asked Brother Stan to accompany him to inform the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune* who was in Butare. He testified that he agreed and they set off in the normal direction, passing by the Saga camp towards Kabuga, Mugombwa, Bishya and on to Butare.
- 1358. Brother Stan testified that after having gone past the Saga camp, before getting to Kabuga, a crowd of hundreds or thousands of people with spears and machetes surrounded the vehicle and climbed onto it so they could not continue to Kabuga. The crowd were saying that they were going to fight at Kabuga. He testified that he drove slowly backwards towards the Saga camp; just before getting to the Saga camp he took the road which leads from Saga to Saga 2 and on towards Kirarambogo. 3181
- 1359. Brother Stan testified that he arrived at Muganza *commune* at about 12.30 p.m. on 20 April 1994. He stopped at the *commune* office to ask permission to drive around. The

 ³¹⁷² T. 24 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).
 3173 T. 23 September 2008 p. 16 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁴ T. 24 September 2008 pp. 3-4, 8 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁵ T. 24 September 2008 p. 4 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁶ T. 23 September 2008 p. 15 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 36; T. 22 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁸ T. 22 September 2008 p. 46 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁷⁹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁸⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁸¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

bourgmestre was not there but he saw Father Tiziano from Mugombwa Parish who was leaving when he arrived. He was informed that Ndayambaje and his family had sought refuge there. Brother Stan testified that he met the criminal investigations officer at the commune office who asked if he could accompany Brother Stan to Butare. They first went in the direction of Mugombwa Parish in order to pick up some fuel. 184

1360. From Muganza *commune* to Mugombwa Parish the witness travelled with the Kibayi *commune* secretary and the criminal investigations officer. On arrival in Bishya, the criminal investigations officer asked the witness to take Mr. Fidèle, the district judge, his wife who was about to give birth, and a young girl in the vehicle. They travelled together in the vehicle towards the Mugombwa health centre.³¹⁸⁵ He testified that he arrived in Mugombwa Parish at about 1.00 p.m. or 1.30 p.m.³¹⁸⁶ He was not able to go any further than the parish because the vehicle was surrounded by a group of people armed with machetes and spears; the crowd was hostile because of the presence of the district judge in the car.³¹⁸⁷ The district judge, his wife and the young girl were Tutsis.³¹⁸⁸ He reversed and when he was level with his house he shouted that he needed petrol, and two jerry cans were put in his vehicle.³¹⁸⁹ The witness testified that the land in front of the parish was empty. He had gone past the church in order to go to the health centre when the gang appeared.³¹⁹⁰

1361. Brother Stan testified that on leaving Mugombwa Parish he proceeded to the MRND Palace in Butare where the *bourgmestre's* meeting was being held. On the way to Butare, the witness' car was stopped at a roadblock manned by armed soldiers. Those travelling in the vehicle were asked for their identity papers. Mr. Fidèle and the young girl travelling with him had their documents. Mr. Fidèle's wife, who was about to give birth, did not have an identity card. She was asked to get out of the vehicle, and Mr. Fidèle stayed with his wife at that roadblock. Brother Stan dropped off the girl at Bihira's place, and on his return, stopped at the roadblock to find out whether Mr. Fidèle and his wife were still there. He was told that they had gone to the hospital. He did not attempt to find out what happened to them. He never saw them again. Given the circumstances at the time he believed they were killed but he did not know where or when. Single Alace is meeting to the standard processes at the time he believed they were killed but he did not know where or when.

1362. The *bourgmestre*'s meeting had ended and Brother Stan was told that the *bourgmestre* from Kibayi was going to return to his *commune*. He testified that as a result of this he turned back to Mugombwa, travelling with the criminal investigations officer and the *commune*

```
3182 T. 18 September 2008 p. 39 (Brother Stan).
3183 T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).
3184 T. 18 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).
3185 T. 18 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).
3186 T. 24 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).
3187 T. 18 September 2008 pp. 40-41 (Brother Stan).
3188 T. 23 September 2008 pp. 4 (Brother Stan).
3189 T. 18 September 2008 pp. 41 (Brother Stan).
3190 T. 24 September 2008 pp. 38 (Brother Stan).
3191 T. 18 September 2008 pp. 41 (Brother Stan).
3192 T. 24 September 2008 pp. 41 (Brother Stan).
3193 T. 24 September 2008 pp. 36 (Brother Stan).
3194 T. 23 September 2008 pp. 3-4 (Brother Stan).
3195 T. 24 September 2008 pp. 40 (Brother Stan).
```

secretary from Kibayi *commune*. ³¹⁹⁶ He dropped the criminal investigations officer off at the Muganza *commune* office at about 5.00 or 5.30 p.m. ³¹⁹⁷

1363. Brother Stan testified that on arrival at the commune office that evening, he was informed that Ndayambaje and his family had sought refuge there but he did not see him. Brother Stan spent the night of 20 April 1994 at Saga refugee camp. 3198

1364. Brother Stan testified that the massacre at Mugombwa Church began on 21 April 1994.³¹⁹⁹ He testified that on 21 April, he heard grenades explode at the level of Mugombwa Church which was a little more than a kilometre from Saga camp as the crow flies. He remained at Saga camp throughout 22 April until the morning of 23 April. He did not hear anything out of the ordinary. 3200

1365. Brother Stan testified that in the afternoon of 23 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje on the road near Saga camp. Ndayambaje told the witness that he was with his family on his way to Kibayi. 3201

1366. Brother Stan testified that he left the camp with some students and went to Mugombwa Parish to get food supplies which were stored near the old church and the Amici house because there was a food shortage in Saga camp. As they drove past the church, the witness noticed that there were bodies of people who had been killed everywhere on the parish ground. 3202 He did not enter Mugombwa Church on 23 April 1994. With the car, he drove through the bodies to the stores, got the food supplies and returned to Saga camp in the evening. ³²⁰³ On seeing the dead bodies, he decided to flee Rwanda the following day but he was turned back at the Burundian border on 24 April. 3204

1367. There were Burundian refugees who participated in the killings on or around 20 April 1994, some from the Saga camp where he worked, but the bulk of Burundian refugees remained locked up in their houses at the refugee camp. 3205 He informed the *bourgmestre* that some of the Burundian refugees were involved in the killings. 3206 He did not make any attempt to disarm the refugees in the camp who had machetes. He was a simple priest, and in his mind, machetes had never been weapons as such. 3207 The Burundian refugees were not armed; they had hoes and machetes, as everybody did. They were not weapons, they were agricultural tools which they used in April and there was no way to rid the persons of their tools which they needed for their work. 3208 During April the refugees remained in the camps, and wherever

³¹⁹⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 41 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁹⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁹⁸ T. 18 September 2008 p. 42 (Brother Stan).

³¹⁹⁹ T. 24 September 2008 p. 38 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 43 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰² T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰³ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 44-45 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁴ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 45-46 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁵ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 18, 55 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁶ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 20, 58 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁷ T. 23 September 2008 p. 58 (Brother Stan).

³²⁰⁸ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 59-60 (Brother Stan).

possible, they would carry out agricultural work for Rwandans living around the camp.³²⁰⁹ The Burundian refugees were not armed, they had agricultural instruments. Brother Stan did not inform the *préfecture* authorities because he did not know how; he had never heard of any measure by a *bourgmestre* to take away a person's tools.³²¹⁰

1368. On being referred to a previous statement before the Belgian judge, Vandermeersch, dated 24 November 1995 the witness testified that his statement was incorrect and that he saw Ndayambaje on 23 April 1994, on his way to Kibayi with his family, not on 27 or 28 April 1994 as recorded in the statement. ³²¹¹ Brother Stan testified that the judge was mistaken. ³²¹²

1369. On cross-examination, Brother Stan was referred to a letter of complaint he wrote on 25 November 1995 to a journalist named Van den Abeele of *Belgische Radio en Televisie Nederlands*, regarding the television coverage of the genocide in relation to Muganza *commune*.³²¹³ In this letter, he stated that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at the *commune* office from 20 to 25 April. Brother Stan testified that there was a mistake in the letter and that he was not under oath at the time of its writing; he saw Ndayambaje at about 4.00 or 4.30 p.m. on 23 April at Saga camp where he was travelling in the Kirarambogo health centre vehicle, on his way to Kibayi. He testified that he had been mistaken in this letter when he said that Ndayambaje sought refuge at the *commune* office from 20 to 25 April, the correct dates were 20 to 23 April 1994.³²¹⁴

1370. Brother Stan testified that his testimony before the Tribunal was clearer and more precise than the statements he made in 1995 because at the time of his statements he was still traumatised by the events of 1994. In his view, this is why there were contradictions between the statement to the Belgian judge and the letter to the journalist written in 1995, and his testimony in 2008. 3215

1371. Brother Stan and some Burundian refugees buried the dead at Mugombwa Church from 25 April 1994 until 2 or 3 May 1994. It took about 10 days. The dead were virtually all women, children and elderly. 3217

1372. The witness testified that in May 1994, after the burial of dead bodies at Mugombwa Church, he was bed-ridden with malaria for three weeks and Ndayambaje and his wife looked after him.³²¹⁸

_

³²⁰⁹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 56 (Brother Stan).

³²¹⁰ T. 23 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

³²¹¹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 32 (Brother Stan); Prosecution Exhibit 204 (Statement of Frère Constant J. Goetschalckx before Judge D. Vandermeersch, 24 November 1995).

³²¹² T. 23 September 2008 pp. 35, 40 (Brother Stan).

³²¹³ T. 23 September 2008 p. 45 (Brother Stan); Prosecution Exhibit 203 (Statement of Frère Constant J. Goetschalckx to Mr. Van Den Abeele, Journalist BRTN, 25 November 1995).

³²¹⁴ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (Brother Stan).

³²¹⁵ T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).

³²¹⁶ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 46-47; T. 23 September 2008 pp. 16, 35-37 (Brother Stan).

³²¹⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 46; T. 24 September 2008 p. 39 (Brother Stan).

³²¹⁸ T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).

Ndayambaje Defence Witness SABINE

1373. Witness SABINE was convicted for genocide-related killings and had been released from prison having served his sentence when he gave evidence before the Tribunal.³²¹⁹ He testified that one Sunday around two weeks after the death of the President, he went to Kabuye Hill with some acquaintances in order to loot from the bodies of dead refugees.³²²⁰ From Kabuye Hill, the witness had a view of Dahwe Hill although his view of the road on that hill was obscured by trees. The distance between Dahwe and Kabuye Hills could be covered in 30 minutes to one hour. He said that throughout the time he was on Kabuye Hill, he did not see or hear about any vehicles on the road on Dahwe Hill. Furthermore, he did not hear any gunshots or explosions, or see any soldiers while he was on Kabuye Hill.³²²¹

1374. Witness SABINE testified that he did not see Ndayambaje or hear that he had been present on Kabuye or Dahwe Hills that Sunday. The witness disagreed with the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAQ and TW that Ndayambaje allegedly transported attackers to Kabuye Hill on Sunday 24 April 1994. He said that he did not go to Kabuye Hill on the previous Wednesday, Thursday, Friday or Saturday nor did he hear of attacks having taken place on those days. S224

Ndayambaje

1375. Ndayambaje testified that on 20 April 1994 at around 6.00 a.m., he noticed that houses were burning on the hills of Saga and Kibayi. He decided to go and see the parish priest of Mugombwa, Father Tiziano, so that they could go together and warn the *commune* authorities about what was happening. Mugombwa Church was 500 metres away from Ndayambaje's residence and he went there on foot. Ndayambaje met Father Tiziano in his room and immediately thereafter they headed to the *commune* office in Remera in Father Tiziano's car, a blue single-cabin Hilux pickup. On arriving at the *commune* office, they met a security guard who told Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano that Witness RV was still asleep. The guard therefore went to inform Witness RV that he had visitors. After a wait of 30 or 40 minutes, Witness RV came and Ndayambaje reported what he had seen on the hills of Saga and Kibayi. Witness RV said that he had to go to Butare for a meeting but that he would first stop at Mugombwa to assess the situation. Witness RV stated that he would meet Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano at Ndayambaje's home so that they could go to Kabuga together to address the population. Thereafter, Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano returned to

```
T. 16 June 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).
T. 12 June 2008 p. 9; T. 12 June 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).
T. 12 June 2008 p. 20 (Witness SABINE).
T. 12 June 2008 p. 22 (Witness SABINE).
T. 12 June 2008 p. 22 (Witness SABINE).
T. 12 June 2008 pp. 22-24 (Witness SABINE).
T. 17 June 2008 pp. 15 (Witness SABINE).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 26 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 34 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 34 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 36; T. 26 November 2008 pp. 59-60 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 36; T. 26 November 2008 pp. 60 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 36 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 36 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 41 (Ndayambaje).
T. 22 October 2008 pp. 41 (Ndayambaje).
```

Mugombwa, still aboard Tiziano Pegoraro's car. 3232 They left Witness RV at the commune office. 3233 Father Tiziano dropped Ndayambaje off at the presbytery between 7.00 and 8.00 a.m. in front of the church and Ndavambaje continued on foot towards his residence. 3234

1376. When he arrived home he found a man known as Chanvrier who had come to seek refuge. 3235 Ndayambaje took Chanvrier to the guest room to rest. 3236 At around 9.00 a.m., Father Tiziano came to see Ndayambaje on the road outside his home where they were supposed to meet with Witness RV. 3237 Ndayambaje, Father Tiziano and Witness RV had agreed that the three of them would go and address the population at the marketplace of Kabuga, however Witness RV did not show up. 3238 Father Tiziano therefore decided to go back home. 3239

1377. At around 11.00 a.m., a man named Célestin Halindintwari, a civil servant in Butare préfecture, visited Ndayambaje at his home. 3240 Around noon, Halindintwari drove Ndayambaje to the Muganza *commune* office in Remera because the situation outside was becoming dangerous; gunfire could be heard.³²⁴¹ Halindintwari drove a red pickup truck with a single-cabin. 3242 When they arrived at the *commune* office, Ndayambaje met Witness KEPIR and went to his home, which was located very close to the *commune* office. 3243 Halindintwari returned to Mugombwa to pick up Ndayambaje's family and others who were at his home in Mugombwa and transported them to Witness KEPIR's house, arriving approximately one hour later.³²⁴⁴ On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that after dropping him off at the commune office, Halindintwari headed towards Butare. 3245

1378. Later that day, Ndayambaje and his family moved into one of the IGA classrooms at the *commune* office. 3246 Ndayambaje testified that his mother did not join them at the *commune* office because she was in the Mugombwa Health Centre. 3247 At around 1.00 p.m., Ndayambaje went to Butare to notify the *bourgmestre* of the deteriorating situation returning between 4.00 p.m. and 5.00 p.m. ³²⁴⁸ He did not leave the *commune* office after his return from Butare on 20 April 1994. ³²⁴⁹

```
<sup>3232</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).
<sup>3233</sup> T. 22 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje).
```

³²³⁴ T. 22 October 2008 p. 38; T. 27 November 2008 p. 13 (Ndayambaje).

³²³⁵ T. 22 October 2008 p. 39 (Ndayambaje).

³²³⁶ T. 22 October 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje).

³²³⁷ T. 22 October 2008 p. 42; T. 27 November 2008 p. 13 (Ndayambaje).

³²³⁸ T. 22 October 2008 p. 42; T. 26 November 2008 pp. 14, 61 (Ndayambaje).

³²³⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 42; T. 26 November 2008 p. 62 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁰ T. 22 October 2008 p. 53 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴¹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 55; T. 27 November 2008 p. 19 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴² T. 27 November 2008 p. 16 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴³ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 55-56 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁴ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 56-57 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁵ T. 1 December 2008 p. 7 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁶ T. 22 October 2008 p. 58 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁷ T. 2 December 2008 p. 30 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁸ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 59-60, 62 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁴⁹ T. 23 October 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).

- 1379. In the morning of 21 April 1994, Ndayambaje and Chrysologue Bimenyimana met each other in the internal courtyard of the *commune* compound. 3250 Ndayambaje remained at the *commune* office during the day and night of 21 April 1994. 3251 He spent the night with his family in the classroom of the IGA. 3252
- 1380. Ndayambaje testified that he did not go to Kabuye Hill on 22 April 1994. 3253 He went to Mugombwa in the morning of 22 April with Bourgmestre Bimenyimana. They travelled in the white pickup and the bourgmestre dropped him off in Mugombwa where he went to retrieve Monique's car which was parked at the priest's house. 3254
- 1381. Ndayambaje retrieved Monique's car which was parked at the parish priest's house and went on towards his house. 3255 When he arrived at his house he learned that his mother and grandmother had sought temporary refuge at his house. They had already left when he arrived and had returned to their houses in Cyumba secteur, Muganza commune. 3256 Ndayambaje returned to the *commune* office 45 minutes to an hour later, around noon. 3257 Ndayambaje left the commune office again at about 2.00 p.m. with the bourgmestre in the vehicle belonging to an international organisation. He returned driving the khaki Kirarambogo health centre vehicle. 3258 He spent the night of 22 April 1994 at the Muganza *commune* office. 3259
- 1382. On the morning of Saturday 23 April 1994 there was an attack at the *commune* office. Ndayambaje was in the internal courtyard of the *commune* office at the time. ³²⁶⁰ He left for Kibayi at around 3.00 p.m. with his family and others. 3261
- 1383. Ndayambaje testified that he saw Brother Stan on his way to Kibayi on that day. 3262 On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that he stopped, alighted from the vehicle and talked to Brother Stan for a few moments before continuing on his way. 3263 Ndayambaje testified that they went through various roadblocks and at each roadblock they were searched and had to unload all their luggage. Sometimes these searches took a very long time especially at roadblocks located within Kibavi commune. The roadblocks were located in Kabuga, Saga, Kirembwa and at Nyabisagara and were manned by civilians. 3264 They arrived at 7.00 p.m.; the

³²⁵⁰ T. 23 October 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵¹ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 37, 50 (Ndayambaje). 3252 T. 23 October 2008 pp. 36 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵³ T. 23 October 2008 p. 62 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁴ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 51-52 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁵ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 52-53 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁶ T. 1 December 2008 pp. 38-40 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁷ T. 23 October 2008 p. 57 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁸ T. 23 October 2008 pp. 58-59, 61 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁵⁹ T. 27 October 2008 p. 5 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶⁰ T. 27 October 2008 pp. 6-7 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶¹ T. 27 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶² T. 27 October 2008 p. 51; T. 1 December 2008 p. 60 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶³ T. 1 December 2008 p. 61 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶⁴ T. 27 October 2008 p. 27 (Ndayambaje).

20 kilometre journey took four hours. 3265 He did not leave the place he was staying on Sunday 24 April 1994. 3266

1384. Ndayambaje denied transporting weapons, ammunition or armed persons towards Kabuye Hill on 23 April 1994 or taking weapons and ammunition from the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on that day; he was only transporting himself and his family to Kibayi. There had been a weapons depot at the *commune* office compound when he was *bourgmestre* but by April 1994, he had not been in charge of the *commune* office for almost two years. He did not know whether the new *bourgmestre* kept the weapons in the same place or how they were kept secure. 3268

1385. Ndayambaje testified that in 1994, Muganza *commune* owned a white single-cabin Toyota Stout pickup bearing the inscription MININTER. ³²⁶⁹ He also owned a double-cabin Toyota Hilux pickup equipped with metal bars at the back and covered with orange canvas. ³²⁷⁰ At the beginning of 1994, he rented this car to a Belgian NGO, *Médecins Sans Frontières*, until the beginning of June 1994. ³²⁷¹ He had no other vehicle apart from this Toyota pickup and a motorcycle in 1994. ³²⁷² Charles Habakurama was a *commune* policeman as well as the *commune's* driver between April and July 1994. ³²⁷³

3.6.5.4 Deliberations

1386. Paragraphs 6.30 to 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment allege Ndayambaje's involvement in the arrest, transfer and massacre of Tutsi refugees at Kabuye Hill, covering the period from 20 to 24 April 1994. The Defence led alibi evidence to establish that Ndayambaje could not have been involved in the arrest of Tutsis at Gisagara and their subsequent escort to Kabuye Hill on 20 April; the attacks at Kabuye Hill on 22, 23 and 24 April 1994; the transportation of attackers to Kabuye Hill; and the distribution of weapons to the attackers. In its deliberations, the Chamber has considered each piece of evidence in light of the totality of evidence admitted at trial. In addition, it has assessed the Prosecution evidence in respect of each Indictment paragraph alongside the Defence alibi evidence.

1387. The Chamber recalls that there are a number of general issues regarding the Defence alibi evidence, set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), that have been borne in mind when considering each Indictment paragraph. In this connection, the Chamber notes that the Ndayambaje Defence did not file a formal notice of alibi. While Rule 67 (B) of the Rules specifies that failure of the Defence to provide notice of an alibi shall not limit the right of the accused to rely on an alibi defence, in its Decision of 1 March 2005 on the Prosecutor's Motion to be Served with Particulars of Alibi pursuant to Rule 67 (A)(ii)(a) the Chamber specifically directed the Defence to make the necessary disclosure in accordance

```
<sup>3265</sup> T. 27 October 2008 pp. 26-27 (Ndayambaje).
```

³²⁶⁶ T. 27 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶⁷ T. 27 October 2008 pp. 29, 31-32, 36 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶⁸ T. 1 December 2008 pp. 50-51 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁶⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 38; T. 23 October 2008 p. 23 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁷⁰ T. 20 October 2008 pp. 51-52 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁷¹ T. 20 October 2008 pp. 51-52; T. 20 November 2008 p. 35 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁷² T. 20 October 2008 p. 52 (Ndayambaje).

³²⁷³ T. 19 November 2008 pp. 9-10 (Ndayambaje).

with the Rules.³²⁷⁴ The Ndayambaje Defence did not comply with the Chamber's direction, despite its clear intention to rely on alibi evidence.

1388. The Defence filed an Avis additionnel et identification des témoins d'alibi ("additional notification and identification of alibi witnesses") on 29 April 2008, less than one month before the Defence opened its case, summarising the evidence of Witnesses BIDI, GABON and KEPIR. The Avis additionnel states that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at a family friend's house during the massacre at Kabuye Hill. Despite its name, this Avis additionnel or additional notification was the first occasion on which the Ndayambaje Defence gave notice of its intention to raise an alibi. The Chamber finds that the Avis additionnel is no substitute for providing the Prosecution with formal notice of alibi in accordance with the Rules. The Chamber reiterates that it is settled case law that where good cause is not shown for the application of Rule 67 (B), which states that the Defence's failure to file a notice of alibi under Rule 67 (A) shall not limit the accused's right to rely on an alibi defence, the Chamber is entitled to take such failure into account when weighing the credibility of the alibi. The Chamber further notes that Witnesses MARVA and Tiziano, who also gave evidence in support of the Accused's alibi, were not named in the Avis additionnel. Witness MARVA was reinstated to the Ndayambaje Defence's witness list on 4 June 2008, after having been initially removed on 23 January 2006. 3275 The Chamber also recalls that in cross-examination by the Ndayambaje Defence, the Prosecution witnesses were not confronted with the Defence's assertion that Ndayambaje could not have been at the scene of the events because he had an alibi. This further detracts from the credibility of the alibi. Furthermore, the Chamber observes that the late notice the Defence gave regarding its decision to bring alibi evidence suggests that the alibi may be a fabrication, tailored to suit the Prosecution's case.

1389. As to the credibility of the alibi witnesses, the Chamber recalls that Witness GABON testified that between 20 and 24 April he slept for just 27 minutes. The Chamber does not consider such an assertion to be plausible. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that all of the alibi witnesses have close ties to Ndayambaje. Witness MARVA lived in Ndayambaje's house between 1990 until 1994 and fled Rwanda with Ndayambaje's family in July 1994. Witness GABON is a former policeman employed by Ndayambaje. Witness KEPIR, a friend of Ndayambaje, lived and worked a short distance from the *commune* office in Remera. He used to report to Ndayambaje on matters related to his professional activities and has been implicated in the massacre at Kabuye Hill. Witness BIDI is the daughter of Ndayambaje's friend and Ndayambaje claimed to have taken refuge at Witness BIDI's family home on 23 April 1994. Accordingly, their evidence must be reviewed bearing these personal ties in mind. Furthermore, as regards Witness KEPIR, the Chamber recalls Witness EV's testimony that on the day of his arrival at Kabuye Hill, he saw Witness KEPIR with Ndayambaje on two

-

³²⁷⁴ *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion To Be Served With Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67 (A)(ii)(a) (TC), 1 March 2005, paras. 27, 29.

³²⁷⁵ Ndayambaje, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses (TC), 4 June 2008.

³²⁷⁶ T. 3 September 2008 pp. 13, 16-17 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³²⁷⁷ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 11-12, 15, 36, 43 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³²⁷⁸ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³²⁷⁹ T. 3 September 2008 p. 66 (ICS); T. 4 September 2008 p. 8 (ICS); T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 10 September 2008 pp. 45-46, 59, 73 (ICS); T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

³²⁸⁰ T. 30 June 2008 pp. 9-10, 14-16, 23 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).

separate occasions during which refugees came under attack.³²⁸¹ On the second occasion, Witness KEPIR was driving a blue double-cabin Hilux.³²⁸² Witness FAU also testified that Ndayambaje used Witness KEPIR's blue vehicle to drive to the Muganza *commune* office to pick up weapons for use at Kabuye Hill.³²⁸³ This evidence also has a bearing on Witness KEPIR's credibility.

1390. Brother Stan gave alibi evidence that he saw Ndayambaje on the afternoon of 23 April 1994, travelling with his family to Kibayi *commune*. The Chamber has doubts regarding Brother Stan's credibility. Brother Stan testified that attacks against the Tutsis had started by 18 April 1994. Yet, the Chamber notes that two days later, he left two Tutsis, Mr. Fidèle and his pregnant wife, at a roadblock manned by armed soldiers. The Chamber finds it curious that he made no effort to follow-up or report the incident to the authorities, nor did he attempt to find out what happened to them although he testified that he believed they may have been killed. This incident casts doubt on his credibility.

1391. The Chamber observes that Brother Stan acknowledged that Burundian refugees from the Saga camp where he worked participated in the killings on and around 20 April 1994. By his own admission, he did not make any attempt to disarm the refugees in the camp who had machetes, stating that he was a simple priest. He testified that in his view machetes were not weapons and the Burundian refugees were therefore not armed. In his view, there was no way he could confiscate their machetes because they needed them for their work. The Chamber finds this reasoning very weak. By his own admission, the refugees were not working in the fields after the outbreak of violence in April 1994, but, he testified, remained inside the camps. They therefore did not need the machetes for "work". Further, the Chamber is of the view that Brother Stan was not just a "simple priest", but worked in the refugee camp in education and therefore exercised a degree of authority over the refugees.

1392. Brother Stan testified that he was able to travel around Butare freely prior to 25 April 1994. Despite this fact, he made no attempt to notify the authorities of the unrest in Kibayi and Muganza *communes*. It was the Kibayi *commune* office secretary who wished to notify the authorities about the insecurity in the *commune* and he asked Brother Stan to accompany him. Further, Brother Stan did not inform the *préfecture* authorities that the Burundian refugees who participated in the killings were armed with traditional weapons because, he explained, he did not know how and had never heard of any measure by a *bourgmestre* to take

```
<sup>3281</sup> T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 61-62 (Witness EV).
```

³²⁸² T. 26 February 2004 p. 62 (Witness EV).

³²⁸³ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 71-72; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 42, 46-47 (Witness FAU).

³²⁸⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

³²⁸⁵ T. 24 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan).

³²⁸⁶ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 40-41; T. 23 September 2008 p. 4; T. 24 September 2008 p. 36 (Brother Stan).

³²⁸⁷ T. 23 September 2008 p. 4; T. 24 September 2008 p. 40 (Brother Stan).

³²⁸⁸ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 18, 55 (Brother Stan).

³²⁸⁹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 58 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹⁰ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 59-60 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹¹ T. 23 September 2008 p. 56 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹² T. 18 September 2008 p. 25 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 37 (Brother Stan).

away a person's tools.³²⁹⁵ The Chamber does not accept this explanation and finds that his failure to seek assistance, despite his knowledge of the Burundian refugees' involvement in killings, and his position of responsibility over them, further detracts from his credibility.

1393. The Chamber also notes that there were some discrepancies between two earlier statements given by Brother Stan in 1995, to a Belgian judge, Vandermeersch and a journalist, respectively. In his previous statement before Judge Vandermeersch, the witness stated that he saw Ndayambaje on his way to Kibayi on 27 or 28 April 1994. 3296 Brother Stan testified that the judge was mistaken and that the correct date was 23 April 1994. 3297 In the letter of complaint he wrote to the journalist Van den Abeele, he stated that Ndayambaje had sought refuge at the *commune* office from 20 to 25 April 1994; at trial, Brother Stan testified that this was a mistake and that he saw Ndayambaje on 23 April 1994 on his way to Kibayi. 3298 He testified that he was mistaken when he wrote in the letter that Ndayambaje sought refuge at the commune office from 20 to 25 April 1994; in fact, the correct dates were 20 to 23 April 1994. 3299 Seeking to explain the discrepancy in dates, Brother Stan testified that his testimony before the Tribunal is clearer and more precise than the statements he made in 1995 because at that time he was still traumatised by the events of 1994. In his view, this is why there are contradictions between the statement to the Belgian judge and the letter to the journalist written in 1995, and his testimony in 2008 but that at the time of his testimony in 2008 he was clearer about the events of 1994. The Chamber does not find this reasoning to be convincing. In the Chamber's view, it is more likely that Brother Stan would have been more certain about the dates of certain events one year after they occurred. The Chamber rejects his assertion that he is clearer about the events of 1994, and their specific dates, 14 years later, in 2008.

1394. The Chamber further notes that Brother Stan was also a close friend of Ndayambaje and a close associate of the Burundian refugees, some of whom are implicated in the massacres at Kabuye Hill and Mugombwa Church. For the reasons set out above the Chamber does not find Brother Stan's evidence credible.

1395. Ndayambaje testified that his mother was being cared for at the Mugombwa health centre from 20 April 1994 and this is why she did not join him and the rest of his family at the *commune* office.³³⁰¹ The Chamber finds his account not credible. When he heard explosions on 20 April 1994 Ndayambaje testified that he decided to evacuate his family to the Muganza *commune* office. He did not, however, collect his mother from the health centre despite the proximity of the health centre to his house, merely 500 metres, and the ease with which she could have been evacuated with the rest of his family.³³⁰² Furthermore, Father Tiziano testified that he left Mugombwa Parish along with the three nuns who were in charge of the health

³²⁹⁵ T. 23 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹⁶ T. 23 September 2008 p. 32 (Brother Stan); Prosecution Exhibit 204 (Statement of Frère Constant J. Goetschalckx before Judge D. Vandermeersch, 24 November 1995).

³²⁹⁷ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 32, 35, 40 (Brother Stan).

³²⁹⁸ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (Brother Stan); Prosecution Exhibit 203 (Statement of Frère Constant J. Goetschalckx to Mr. Van Den Abeele, Journalist BRTN, 25 November 1995).

³²⁹⁹ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 46-47 (Brother Stan).

³³⁰⁰ T. 23 September 2008 p. 47 (Brother Stan).

³³⁰¹ T. 2 December 2008 p. 30 (Ndayambaje).

³³⁰² T. 2 December 2008 pp. 27-28, 30-31 (Ndayambaje).

centre in the afternoon of 20 April 1994,³³⁰³ undermining Ndayambaje's claim that his mother was being cared for at the health centre from 20 April 1994.

1396. According to Ndayambaje's version of events, on the morning of 22 April 1994, Ndayambaje left the *commune* office to travel to Mugombwa to pick up Monique's car from the priests' house, 3304 collect some supplies from his house and check on his mother. On arriving at his house he learned that his mother and grandmother had sought temporary refuge there but had already left when he arrived and returned to their homes in Cyumba *secteur*, Muganza *commune*. Ndayambaje testified that he left with his family to seek refuge in Kibayi *commune* on the afternoon of 23 April 1994. He did not testify that his mother joined the rest of his family in Kibayi *commune*. The Chamber does not find Ndayambaje's account regarding both his and his mother's whereabouts to be convincing.

1397. Regarding Ndayambaje's claimed movements on 23 and 24 April 1994, the Chamber observes that Ndayambaje himself testified that he saw that houses were burning in Kibayi commune on 20 April 1994. 3308 Yet, despite the evident unrest in the commune, he chose to travel to Kibayi to seek refuge with his family, at 3.00 p.m. on 23 April 1994. 3309 According to Ndayambaje, Kibayi *commune* was 20 kilometres away from the *commune* office, yet the drive took four hours. 3310 Ndayambaje testified that the reason the journey took four hours was because there were a number of roadblocks on the way and at each roadblock they were searched and had to unload all their luggage. ³³¹¹ The roadblocks were located in Kabuga, Saga, Kirembwa and at Nyabisagara and were manned by civilians.³³¹² The Chamber does not find Ndayambaje's testimony to be credible in this respect. As a former bourgmestre of Muganza commune, and as a Hutu, the Chamber considers that Ndayambaje was not in any danger, and did not need to seek refuge with his family. Furthermore, he was a well-known figure of authority in the area. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber finds it unlikely that Ndayambaje would have been subject to repeated stops and searches by civilians at roadblocks during the journey between Muganza commune office and Kibayi commune. For the reasons set out above, considering the late notice of the alibi evidence and the fact that Ndayambaje might have had an interest to remove himself from the crime scene, the Chamber does not find Ndayambaje's account of his movements on 23 and 24 April 1994 to be credible.

1398. The Chamber is mindful that in addition to being present at Ngiryi Bridge and Kabuye Hill on 20 and 21 April 1994, Ndayambaje is alleged to have visited Mugombwa Church at about noon on 20 April 1994 for approximately 15 minutes, ³³¹³ and between 10.00 and 10.30 a.m. on 21 April 1994. ³³¹⁴ The Chamber observes that the distances pertinent to Ndayambaje's

```
3303 T. 9 September 2008 p. 13 (Father Tiziano).
3304 T. 23 October 2008 pp. 51-52 (Ndayambaje).
3305 T. 23 October 2008 pp. 52, 56 (Ndayambaje).
3306 T. 1 December 2008 pp. 38-40 (Ndayambaje).
3307 T. 27 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje).
3308 T. 22 October 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje).
3309 T. 27 October 2008 p. 25 (Ndayambaje).
3310 T. 27 October 2008 pp. 26-27 (Ndayambaje).
3311 T. 27 October 2008 p. 27 (Ndayambaje).
3312 T. 27 October 2008 p. 27 (Ndayambaje).
3313 T. 10 Navaraba 2001 pp. 174 T. 20 Navaraba 2001 pp. 131 132 (Witness OAB).
```

³³¹³ T. 19 November 2001 p. 17; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 131-132 (Witness QAR). ³³¹⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 26, 29-31 (Witness QAR).

alibi on these dates; between Ngiryi Bridge and the Muganza commune office, the commune office and Kabuye Hill, the *commune* office and Mugombwa Parish and between Kabuye Hill and Mugombwa Parish, are no more than one hour's distance from each other, and a matter of 10 kilometres or less in most instances. Between Ngiryi Bridge, where Ndayambaje is alleged to have been sighted in the morning of 20 April 1994, and Mugombwa Parish and the Muganza commune office, where Ndayambaje claims he was that morning, the distance is approximately 25 kilometres and took about one hour by car according to Ndayambaje. 3315 The distance between the Muganza commune office and Mugombwa Parish, where Ndayambaje claims to have been is six kilometres, according to Ndayambaje's testimony, and the distance between his house which was next door to the health centre, and Mugombwa Church was 500 metres.³³¹⁶ According to Ndayambaje, Kabuye Hill was nine or 10 kilometres from the Muganza commune office. 3317 The Chamber observes that it was therefore possible for Ndavambaje to reach each of these locations in little more than one hour's time and, in most cases, a significantly shorter time frame than the four hours' drive testified to by Ndayambaje. These aspects are considered in more detail below and in the section dealing with the Mugombwa Church Massacre ().

3.6.5.4.1 20 April 1994 – Tutsis Arrested and Escorted from Gisagara to Kabuye Hill

1399. The Defence led alibi evidence through Witnesses GABON, KEPIR, MARVA and Father Tiziano to establish that Ndayambaje could not have been involved in the arrest of Tutsis on the morning of 20 April 1994 as he was at home or at the Muganza commune office. Father Tiziano testified that Ndayambaje came to see him at 6.00 a.m. on 20 April 1994 and together they went to see Witness RV at the *commune* office. ³³¹⁸ They left the *commune* office together and the witness dropped Ndayambaje near his home at an unspecified time before 9.00 a.m.; the witness later saw Ndayambaje again at the latter's home around 9.00 a.m.³³¹⁹ This is consistent with Ndavambaje's account of his movements on the morning of 20 April 1994. 3320 Witness RV on the other hand testified that Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano did indeed come to see him at 6.00 a.m. but contradicts their assertions that they later waited for him in vain outside Ndayambaje's residence at 9.00 a.m. in order to go to Kabuga to address the population; instead, Witness RV contends that he went to Ndayambaje's residence at around 7.30 a.m. and informed Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano that he was going to Butare. 3321

1400. Witness MARVA testified that she was with Ndayambaje on the morning of 20 April 1994 at his home although she does not specify when she saw him for the first time that

³³¹⁵ T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

³³¹⁶ T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje); T. 22 October 2008 pp. 34, 46 (Ndayambaje); T. 23 September 2008 p. 15 (Brother Stan); see also Defence Exhibit 693 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje). ³³¹⁷ T. 19 November 2008 p. 41; T. 2 December 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).

³³¹⁸ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 48-49 (Father Tiziano).

³³¹⁹ T. 8 September 2008 pp. 51, 58-60 (Father Tiziano).

³³²⁰ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 26, 34, 42 (Ndayambaje).

³³²¹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 61, 63, 67-69 (ICS) (Witness RV).

day. 3322 She subsequently met up with him at the house of Witness KEPIR, near the *commune* office. 3323

1401. The Chamber considers that the evidence of Ndayambaje and Father Tiziano as to Ndayambaje's presence at his home at 9.00 a.m. is not credible. The Chamber recalls that as an Accused, Ndayambaje's testimony must be treated with appropriate caution as he has a personal interest in demonstrating that he was not present at Ngiryi Bridge on the morning of 20 April 1994. In addition, the Chamber recalls its analysis that Father Tiziano was not a credible witness as regards the events at Mugombwa Church (). The Chamber considers that the reasons underpinning the finding that Father Tiziano was not credible as regards the events at Mugombwa Church are also relevant to the assessment of his general credibility as to whether he was with the Accused on the morning of 20 April 1994. In this connection, the Chamber refers to the convincing eyewitness testimony of Witnesses QAR and FAU that Father Tiziano locked refugees inside Mugombwa Church, who were later massacred³³²⁴ (). He may have had an incentive to minimise his involvement in the events of 1994 or at least minimise the role of Ndayambaje, a long-standing acquaintance. For these reasons, the Chamber does not consider that the testimony of Father Tiziano and Ndayambaje to raise a reasonable doubt as to the Prosecution's case that Ndayambaje was at Ngiryi Bridge early in the morning of 20 April 1994.

1402. As regards the evidence of Witness MARVA, the Chamber notes that she said she saw Ndayambaje at an unspecified time in the morning of 20 April 1994 when he hid Chanvrier in the guest room. 3325 Witness MARVA could not specify at what time Ndayambaje left his home or the time when he was reunited with his family and the witness at Witness KEPIR's residence. Her evidence was simply that a decision was taken to flee on the morning of 20 April 1994. 3326 However, Ndayambaje testified that he was picked up from home at around noon and was reunited with his family later that afternoon, before 1.00 p.m. 3327 Witness MARVA testified that it took one hour for the car that first collected Ndayambaje to return and pick up the witness.3328 The car then had to travel approximately six kilometres from Mugombwa secteur, where Ndayambaje lived, to near the Muganza commune office in Remera to drop the witness off at Witness KEPIR's residence, a journey that takes around one hour by foot or approximately 15 minutes by car. 3329 Taking this evidence together, Ndayambaje would have been out of Witness MARVA's sight for between one and a quarter and one and a half hours. This is consistent with Ndayambaje's account of the time lapse between his departure from home and the arrival of his family at Witness KEPIR's house. The Prosecution case is that on the morning of 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje was in the area of Ngiryi Bridge on the border between Muyaga and Mugusa communes between daybreak and

³³²² T. 1 July 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³²³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 20-22, 24 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³²⁴ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 13-14, 18-19 (Witness QAR); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 4, 6 (Witness FAU).

³³²⁵ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³²⁶ T. 1 July 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³²⁷ T. 22 October 2008 pp. 55-57, 59-60, 62; T. 27 November 2008 p. 19 (Ndayambaje).

³³²⁸ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³²⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); T. 2 July 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness MARVA); T. 10 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR); T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

11.00 a.m. 3330 The distance between Mugombwa secteur, where Ndayambaje lived, and Ngiryi, where the refugees were intercepted before being forced back to Gisagara commune, is approximately 31 kilometres. 3331 The distance between Ngiryi and Remera is approximately 25 kilometres, a journey that would take around one hour by car. 3332 On this basis, Ndayambaje would have needed between two and three hours on the morning of 20 April 1994 to travel from his home in Mugombwa secteur to Ngiryi and from Ngiryi back to his home or to Witness KEPIR's residence.

1403. The Chamber considers it significant that Witness MARVA did not testify to the whereabouts of Ndayambaje during a substantial part of the morning of 20 April 1994. Although Ndayambaje may not have had time to travel to Gisagara before going to Witness KEPIR's home near the commune office, the Chamber considers that he could have made a return trip from his home to Gisagara in the time between being seen by Witness RV at 7.30 a.m. and hiding Chanvrier in his guest room, as testified to by Witness MARVA. 3333

1404. In the absence of any other explanation for the Accused's whereabouts, the Chamber considers the Defence alibi as regards the morning of 20 April 1994 not to be reasonably possibly true.

1405. The Prosecution led evidence through Witnesses EV, RT and TP, all survivors of the Kabuye Hill massacre, in support of the allegation that on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje took commune policeman to Gisagara commune where, together with soldiers, they arrested refugees and later took them to Kabuye Hill. The Chamber observes that the evidence of Witnesses EV, RT and TP is consistent on this issue: all three witnesses testified to the general movement of Tutsis towards Burundi via Gisagara³³³⁴ and the sous-préfet's address to the refugees at Gisagara marketplace. 3335 Witnesses EV and RT described their interception by Ndayambaje at Ngiryi Bridge between Muyaga and Mugusa communes, 3336 their return to Gisagara³³³⁷ and subsequent escort to Kabuye Hill by soldiers and policemen.³³³⁸ Both witnesses further testified to the presence of soldiers, ³³³⁹ policemen, ³³⁴⁰ and the Accused ³³⁴¹ at

³³³⁰ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 69-70 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 39, 49 (Witness RT).

³³³¹ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

³³³² T. 23 October 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje).

³³³³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 19-20 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³³⁴ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 14, 17-18 (ICS) (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness RT); T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31, 56-58 (Witness

³³³⁵ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 31-33 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness RT); T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31, 56 (Witness TP).

³³³⁶ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 39, 49 (Witness RT).

3337 T. 26 February 2004 pp. 43-44 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 54-55 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004

p. 48 (Witness RT). ³³³⁸ T. 25 February 2004 p. 71 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 pp. 45-47 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 57-58 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness RT).

³³³⁹ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness RT). 3340 T. 26 February 2004 pp. 39-42 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004

pp. 40, 49 (Witness RT).

Ngirvi Bridge and the firing of guns to force the refugees to retreat. 3342 Witness TP testified that the refugees were harassed by armed civilians at Ngiryi and forced back to Gisagara marketplace. 3343 She described the presence of Ndayambaje at Gisagara marketplace on 20 and 21 April 1994 and her impression that Ndayambaje was responsible for preventing the refugees from continuing their journey to Burundi. 3344 Witness EV was able to name the policemen accompanying Ndayambaje, Pierre and Népomuscène, and also testified to seeing Ndayambaje in Gisagara after the refugees' interception at Ngiryi Bridge. 3345 With regard to the identification of the Accused, the Chamber notes that Witnesses EV, RT and TP all testified to knowing Ndayambaje before the 1994 events. Witness EV testified that he had known Ndayambaje since he was a primary school student, 3346 Witness RT that he had known Ndayambaje prior to the events of 1994 in his capacity as the bourgmestre. He also knew that Ndayambaje ceased to be the bourgmestre and went on a study leave. The witness used to see him often, at least twice a week. 3347 This prior knowledge was not challenged by the Defence. 3348 Witness TP was unable to identify Ndayambaje in court. The Chamber observes that she knew Ndayambaje before the events of 1994 in his capacity as bourgmestre of Muganza, and that she was asked to identify the Accused in court a decade later. 3349 As such, the Chamber finds that her failure to identify him in court does not diminish her credibility.

1406. As regards time frames, Witness EV testified that they reached Gisagara marketplace for the first time at noon on Tuesday 19 April 1994 and left at sunset, arriving at Ngiryi Bridge at daybreak the following morning, 20 April 1994. 3350 Witness EV stated that the refugees arrived at Gisagara for the second time around 10.00 a.m. (in examination-in-chief) and 4.00 p.m. (in cross-examination) on 20 April 1994 and reached Kabuye Hill before 6.00 p.m. on the same day. 3351 Witness RT stated that on a Wednesday, which he thought to be 19 April 1994, the refugees reached Gisagara for the first time around 7.00 p.m. and spent the night there, continuing to Ngiryi Bridge the following day, Thursday, and being intercepted around 11.00 a.m. 3352 The Chamber notes that the Wednesday to which Witness RT refers would have fallen on 20 April 1994. He said that on returning to Gisagara for the second time, the refugees spent the night there and were escorted to Kabuve Hill the next morning, a Friday, arriving at 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. 3353 Witness TP testified that the refugees arrived in Gisagara for the first time on 20 April 1994 where they spent the night and travelled towards Burundi the following day, 21 April 1994, when they were intercepted in the area of Mugusa, beyond Ngiryi Bridge, and

³³⁴¹ T. 25 February 2004 p. 70 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 p. 41 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 53

⁽Witness RT). 3342 T. 26 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RT). 3343 T. 12 February 2004 p. 63 (Witness TP).

³³⁴⁴ T. 11 February 2004 p. 9; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31, 60, 62, 64 (Witness TP).

³³⁴⁵ T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 p. 41 (Witness EV).

³³⁴⁶ T. 25 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).

³³⁴⁷ T. 10 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness RT).

³³⁴⁸ T. 25 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness RT).

³³⁴⁹ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 37-38; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness TP).

³³⁵⁰ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 69-71; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 30-31, 33-34 (Witness EV).

³³⁵¹ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 70-71; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 44-46 (Witness EV).

³³⁵² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 49-51; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 23, 36 (Witness RT).

³³⁵³ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 57-58; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 51, 53, 55 (Witness RT).

forced back to Gisagara.³³⁵⁴ The refugees stayed at Gisagara marketplace on the night of 21 April 1994 and went to Kabuye Hill on Saturday 23 April 1994. 3355

1407. Therefore, according to Witness RT's testimony, the refugees were intercepted at Ngiryi Bridge on 20 or 21 April 1994 and subsequently escorted to Kabuye Hill on 21 or 22 April 1994, while Witness EV testified that both events occurred on 20 April 1994. Witness TP's evidence was that the refugees were intercepted on 21 April 1994 and arrived at Kabuye Hill on 23 April 1994. Although there are some discrepancies as to times and dates of departures and arrivals, the Chamber does not consider these to be significant, especially in view of the time that has elapsed since the events and the trauma the witnesses may have suffered as a consequence. It is quite possible that given the number of refugees said to have been on the move between Gisagara, Ngiryi Bridge and Kabuye Hill, the refugees were moved in groups from Gisagara marketplace to Kabuye Hill, some on the same day as the interception at Ngiryi Bridge and Mugusa, and others on the days immediately after. Even if the refugees were not separated into groups, it is also possible that the slow movement of a huge number of refugees from one location to another would result in different departure and arrival times depending on the refugees' location within the crowd.

1408. In cross-examination, Witness EV was confronted with his statement of 20 June 1995 in which he failed to mention the presence of a white vehicle when the refugees were intercepted at Ngiryi Bridge or the three-vehicle convoy positioned at the head of the crowd of refugees to prevent them from advancing.³³⁵⁶ The witness then explained that the investigators had not recorded his testimony properly.³³⁵⁷ The Chamber does not consider that these omissions go to the root of the witness' testimony or contradict the thrust of the Prosecution's case in respect of Paragraph 6.30 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

1409. Certain inconsistencies between the testimony of Witnesses EV and RT appeared, in particular as regards the number of vehicles present at Ngiryi Bridge, 3358 the colour of Ndayambaje's vehicle and whether Ndayambaje got out of his vehicle. However, the Chamber notes that the witnesses may have been in different locations in the large crowd of refugees and may not have witnessed the same events. The Chamber observes that as regards the colour of the vehicle in which Ndayambaje was allegedly travelling, the Accused admitted that he was driven from his home to the *commune* office on the morning of 20 April 1994 in a red pickup truck with a single cabin. 3361 This is consistent with Witness RT's testimony that he saw Ndayambaje in a red Toyota around 11.00 a.m. in Ngiryi on 20 April 1994. 3362 Witness

³³⁵⁴ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 9, 11; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 31-32, 55, 57-58 (Witness TP).

³³⁵⁵ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 19-20; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 59-60, 64 (Witness TP).

³³⁵⁶ Defence Exhibit 167 (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness EV to Rwandan Authorities); T. 26 February 2004 pp. 80-81 (ICS) (Witness EV).

³³⁵⁷ T. 26 February 2004 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness EV).

³³⁵⁸ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness EV) (three vehicles); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53 (Witness RT)

⁽only one vehicle). 3359 T. 26 February 2004 pp. 39, 42 (Witness EV) (one green, one white and one greenish military vehicle); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 43-44 (Witness RT) (red).

T. 26 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness EV) (the occupants descended from the vehicle); T. 10 March 2004 p. 53 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 45, 48 (Witness RT) (Ndayambaje remained inside the vehicle).

³³⁶¹ T. 27 November 2008 p. 16 (Ndayambaje).

³³⁶² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 52-53; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 43-44, 46 (Witness RT).

EV's testimony that he saw Ndayambaje travelling in a white single-cabin Toyota Hilux bearing the name of Muganza *commune* on the morning of 20 April 1994 is also supported by the testimony of Ndayambaje, Witness KEPIR and Witness ALIZA that in 1994, Muganza *commune* owned a white single-cabin Toyota pickup. The Chamber considers that Witness EV's description of Ndayambaje's vehicle is corroborated by the descriptions given by Ndayambaje, and Witnesses KEPIR, ALIZA, RT, TW, QAQ, QAL, RV and FAG of the vehicles Ndayambaje had access to or used on other occasions between 20 and 24 April 1994 in terms of colour, type and, in several cases, make, *i.e.* a white pickup, according to several witnesses to be a Toyota. In the Chamber's view, given that Ndayambaje had access to both a white and a red vehicle on 20 April 1994, it is plausible that both vehicles were present at Ngiryi Bridge on the morning of 20 April 1994 and that Ndayambaje used both vehicles during the interception of the refugees.

1410. The Chamber considers the testimony of Witnesses EV, RT and TP on this allegation are detailed, consistent, clear and convincing in terms of the sequence of events, the places and persons involved and time frames. It also considers to be consistent the testimonies of Witnesses EV, KEPIR, ALIZA, RT, TW, QAQ, QAL, RV FAG and Ndayambaje as to the vehicle used by Ndayambaje.

1411. The Defence led evidence through Witnesses ALIZA, TOVIA and AND-5 to show that Ndayambaje was not involved in the interception of refugees at Ngiryi Bridge. All three witnesses testified that refugees were intercepted at Ngiryi Bridge on 21 April 1994: Witness ALIZA stated that the interception took place on a Thursday morning about two weeks after the death of the President, which would have fallen on 21 April 1994; ³³⁶⁴ Witness TOVIA was certain of the date and referred to a report dated 22 April 1994 describing the event of the previous day; 3365 Witness AND-5 accompanied Witness TOVIA on an inspection of the site where the refugees were intercepted and also referred to 21 April 1994. According to their version of events, Ndayambaje was not involved in this incident. 3367 However, the Chamber recalls that the Prosecution's allegation as regards the events at Ngiryi Bridge focuses on 20 April 1994. The Chamber considers that, in view of the large number of refugees present in the vicinity of Gisagara and Ngiryi Bridge during the time frame in question, estimated by Witness ALIZA to have been between 2,000 and 5,000, 3368 it is quite possible that two different groups of refugees were intercepted on 20 and 21 April 1994. Indeed, Witness ALIZA's estimate of the numbers of refugees is consistent with Witness EV's testimony that the crowd of refugees at Ngiryi Bridge numbered in the thousands and Witness RT's testimony that there were approximately 20,000 refugees at Gisagara marketplace the night before their failed attempt to

33

T. 26 February 2004 pp. 39, 41 (Witness EV); T. 22 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje); T. 23 October 2008 p. 23 (Ndayambaje); T. 4 September 2008 pp. 15, 19 (Witness KEPIR); T. 9 June 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁶⁴ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA); T. 4 June 2008 pp. 46, 50 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁶⁵ T. 3 July 2008 p. 42 (Witness TOVIA); Defence Exhibit 555C (Ndayambaje) (Letter from the *bourgmestre* of Mugusa *commune* to the *préfet* of Butare, with the subject: Security Report, 22 April 1994).

³³⁶⁶ T. 4 December 2006 pp. 54-56 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³³⁶⁷ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 53, 58-60 (Witness ALIZA); T. 3 July 2008 p. 17 (Witness TOVIA); T. 3 July 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness TOVIA); T. 5 December 2006 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

³³⁶⁸ T. 4 June 2004 pp. 46-48 (Witness ALIZA).

cross to Burundi. 3369 Even though Witness TOVIA only claimed that between 500 and 600 refugees were present at Ngiryi Bridge, this could be explained by the witness' particular vantage point.

1412. The Chamber notes that the testimony of Witness ALIZA is also consistent with the testimony of Witnesses EV, RT and TP in a number of other respects: Witness ALIZA testified to the general movement of refugees from Gisagara to Burundi, their interception at Ngiryi Bridge and return to Gisagara, the violence shown towards the refugees when they were intercepted and the alleged presence of Sindikubwabo at Gisagara. The Chamber considers Witness ALIZA's testimony to be reliable and credible in this regard.

1413. On the issue of Ndayambaje's absence from the scene of the event, the Chamber considers that in view of the number of refugees in the area at the time, as attested to by Witnesses EV, RT and ALIZA, it is guite possible Witnesses ALIZA, TOVIA and AND-5 simply did not have the same opportunities as the Prosecution witnesses to identify Ndayambaje in a crowd so large. The Chamber recalls Witness ALIZA's testimony that when he crossed Ngiryi Bridge, there were rows of refugees ahead of him and even more behind. 3374 It would therefore have been difficult for him to pick out a single person from the midst of that crowd. Further, the Chamber notes that Witness ALIZA was only present at Gisagara for between 40 minutes and one hour. 3375 The Chamber also notes that Witness ALIZA may have felt inclined to omit any reference to Ndayambaje's presence at the scene of the events given that in 1991 the witness received financial assistance for school fees thanks to a decision taken by Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre*. 3376 Further, Witness TOVIA's claim that the policemen present at the scene did not point their guns at anyone is contradicted not only by Witnesses EV and RT but also by Witness ALIZA who stated that the policemen threatened the refugees by pointing their guns at them, ready to open fire. 3377 For these reasons, the Chamber does not consider that the testimony of Witnesses ALIZA, TOVIA or AND-5 casts doubt on the testimony of Witnesses EV and RT on the presence of Ndayambaje when the refugees were intercepted.

1414. In light of all of the foregoing, and bearing in mind the general issues relating to the Defence alibi evidence as explained above, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje travelled to Ngiryi Bridge in Gisagara with several armed soldiers and *commune* policemen where they arrested Tutsi refugees fleeing to Burundi, fired shots in the air and threatened them with their guns, obliging them to return to Gisagara marketplace, and thereafter soldiers and policemen escorted the refugees on foot and later took them to Kabuye Hill, as alleged in Paragraph 6.30 of the Ndayambaje Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber holds that the Prosecution has discharged its burden of proof in

³³⁶⁹ T. 26 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness RT).

³³⁷⁰ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 35-38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷¹ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 46-48, 50-52, 55 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷² T. 4 June 2008 pp. 51-52 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷³ T. 4 June 2008 p. 63 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷⁴ T. 4 June 2008 p. 49 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷⁵ T. 4 June 2008 p. 63 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷⁶ T. 4 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 25 (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁷⁷ T. 4 June 2008 pp. 51-52 (Witness ALIZA); T. 3 July 2008 p. 16 (Witness TOVIA).

respect of this allegation. Further, having regard to the testimony of both Prosecution and Defence witnesses as to unrest in the *commune* which caused Tutsi refugees to flee, ³³⁷⁸ the Chamber accepts that the refugees were Tutsis.

3.6.5.4.2 22 April 1994 – Tutsis Attacked at Kabuye Hill

1415. The Defence led alibi evidence through Witness ALIZA that on 22 April 1994 the refugees were attacked by assailants armed with traditional weapons and that no guns were used during the attack. The Chamber notes that Witnesses EV and RT talked about guns being used during the attack on 22 April 1994. However, the Chamber notes that Witnesses RT also stated that civilians armed with traditional weapons participated in the attack on 22 April 1994. Further, Witnesses EV stated that Ndayambaje was present at Kabuye Hill on 22 April whereas Witnesses ALIZA testified that he did not see Ndayambaje or hear about his presence that day. The Chamber does not consider that Witnesses ALIZA's account casts a reasonable doubt on the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses. Witnesses ALIZA may have had a different experience on the hill due to his location and may have viewed a different aspect of the attack. Moreover, the Chamber observes that the fact that Witnesses ALIZA did not see Ndayambaje does not mean that the Accused was not present at all on that day. For these reasons, the Chamber does not consider that Witnesses ALIZA's testimony casts a reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's case.

1416. The Defence also led evidence through Witness MARVA that she and Ndayambaje remained in the IGA building of the *commune* office until Saturday 23 April 1994. Witness MARVA's evidence as it relates to 22 April 1994 is contradicted by Witnesses KEPIR, GABON and Ndayambaje, who all testified that the Accused left the *commune* office on two occasions on 22 April 1994 to go to Mugombwa to pick up a car and collect the Kirarambogo Health Centre vehicle. 3384

1417. The Chamber notes the contradictions between the evidence of Witness MARVA on the one hand and Witnesses KEPIR and GABON on the other. This, together with the general issues arising from the Defence alibi evidence described above, undermine the credibility of

³³⁷⁸ T. 10 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness TW) (later that night [19 April 1994], Witness TW saw Tutsi homes being torched in his neighbourhood and decided to flee with his family); T. 11 November 2002 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness QAQ) (on 20 April 1994, Hutus began killing Tutsis and burning down houses in his home *secteur;* he therefore fled and hid in the bush for three or four days); T. 1 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAG) (two weeks and two days after the death of the President, trouble erupted in Kibaye *commune*; Tutsis were attacked and houses were torched); T. 4 June 2008 pp. 34-36, 38 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA) (about two weeks after Habyarimana's death, disturbances started in Muganza *commune*. One Wednesday, around 5.00 p.m., there were gunshots and explosions coming from Remera hill. Witness ALIZA and the Tutsi members of his family decided to flee to Burundi with their livestock); T. 24 September 2008 p. 35 (Brother Stan) (Attacks against the Tutsis had commenced on 18 April 1994).

³³⁷⁹ T. 5 June 2008 pp. 23-25, 27, 29 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁸⁰ T. 26 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 67 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).

³³⁸¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness RT).

³³⁸² T. 26 February 2004 pp. 61-62 (Witness EV); T. 5 June 2009 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³³⁸³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS); T. 2 July 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³³⁸⁴ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 55-57 (Witness KEPIR); T. 10 September 2008 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 September 2008 pp. 28-32 (ICS) (Witness GABON); T. 23 October 2008 pp. 51-52, 57-59, 61 (Ndayambaje).

the alibi evidence, which the Chamber finds not to be reasonably possibly true in relation to the alleged events on 22 April 1994.

1418. The Prosecution led evidence through Witnesses EV and RT in support of the allegation that on 22 April 1994, Ndayambaje, *commune* policemen, *gendarmes*, soldiers and civilians armed with traditional tools attacked the Tutsis at Kabuye Hill and that at night, survivors of the attack were prevented from escaping by armed civilians. Both witnesses testified that the refugees gathered on Kabuye Hill were attacked that day.

1419. Witness RT testified that on 22 April 1994, there were approximately 40,000 people gathered on Kabuye Hill. 3385 Witness EV testified that when he arrived at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 20 April 1994, there were as many as 50,000 present. 3386 The Chamber considers these figures to be consistent given that, according to Witness EV's testimony, the refugees had already been attacked on 20 and 21 April 1994 and many would have died. This would explain why there were fewer refugees on the hill when Witness RT observed the crowd on 22 April 1994. Although Witness QAQ estimated that there were only 300 refugees near him, the Chamber does not consider his account to be inconsistent with that of EV and RT because Witness QAQ explained that he could not see all of the refugees and that in any event, many came later on. 3388 The Chamber further recalls that Witness QAQ's testimony concerns a different day, *i.e.* 23 or 24 April 1994, when many of the refugees may have already fled or been killed. 3389

1420. According to Witness EV, on the third day of his stay at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 22 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje arrive at around 10.00 a.m. from a distance of about 20 metres. At that time, the refugees, including the witness, were being pursued by a group of assailants who were approaching Kabuye Hill from neighbouring Dahwe Hill, about 100 metres away. The refugees were attacked and shots were fired. According to Witness EV, Ndayambaje left at around 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. and the attacks on the refugees continued throughout the night. The only figures of authority to stay on the hill at night throughout Witness EV's stay were those who were surrounding the refugees. Similarly, Witness RT testified that the day after his arrival, a Friday at around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m., which would also have fallen on 22 April 1994, soldiers and policemen opened fire on the refugees from all directions. Hutu civilians armed with machetes and hoes also participated in the attack. The attackers left between 2.00 and 3.00 p.m.

³³⁸⁵ T. 10 March 2004 p. 59 (Witness RT).

³³⁸⁶ T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 p. 47 (Witness EV).

³³⁸⁷ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 73-75; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 54-60 (Witness EV).

³³⁸⁸ T. 11 November 2002 p. 25 (ICS); T. 12 November 2002 pp. 85-86 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³³⁸⁹ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 23-25 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³³⁹⁰ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 61-63 (Witness EV).

³³⁹¹ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 52, 63 (Witness EV).

³³⁹² T. 26 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV).

T. 26 February 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness EV). The Chamber notes the English transcript says the vehicles returned at 3.00 or 4.00 p.m., whereas the French transcript says the vehicles left at 3.00 or 4.00 p.m.: T. 26 February 2004 p. 78 (Witness EV) (French).

³³⁹⁴ T. 25 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness EV).

³³⁹⁵ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 59, 66-67; T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).

³³⁹⁶ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness RT).

1421. The Chamber recalls that only Witness EV testified that Ndayambaje was present during the attack on 22 April 1994 and that the refugees were surrounded. However, the Chamber also notes the existence of circumstantial evidence that points to Ndayambaje's general involvement in the Kabuye Hill events and supports the contention that the refugees were surrounded. In this regard, the Chamber recalls that Witness EV testified that Ndayambaje was present or participated in attacks at Kabuye Hill on each day of the witness' stay from 20 to 24 April 1994. 3398 Witness RT also identified Ndayambaje as being present at Kabuye Hill distributing weapons on the Saturday following his arrival, 3399 which would have fallen on 23 April 1994. Moreover, Witness TW testified that he saw Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill on three consecutive days transporting armed attackers. By the Chamber's estimation, these days would have fallen on 23, 24 and 26 April 1994. The Chamber considers that there is considerable testimony placing Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill on 20, 21, 23, 24 and 26 April 1994 which supports the contention that he was also present on 22 April 1994. In connection with the allegation that the refugees were surrounded, the Chamber recalls Witness RT's testimony that on both nights he spent at Gisagara marketplace before being escorted to Kabuye Hill, the refugees were guarded by policemen until morning. 3400 In addition, Witness EV testified that the refugees were escorted from Gisagara marketplace to Kabuye Hill by soldiers and policemen. Witness EV recalled the presence of soldiers during his first night on the hill ³⁴⁰²

1422. The Chamber considers Witness EV's testimony on the presence of Ndayambaje during the attack on 22 April 1994 and the subsequent surrounding of refugees to be credible and convincing. It further considers that the circumstantial evidence described above on the Accused's presence at Kabuye Hill on days other than 22 April 1994 and on the refugees being surrounded demonstrates that Ndayambaje was closely involved in the series of events at Kabuye Hill and thus corroborates Witness EV's testimony that Ndayambaje was also present on 22 April 1994. Furthermore, the Chamber finds Witness RT's testimony on the involvement of policemen, soldiers and civilians armed with traditional weapons to be convincing and similarly well-corroborated by circumstantial evidence from Witnesses EV and TW.

1423. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has established that Ndayambaje was present at Kabuye Hill on 22 April 1994 when the refugees were attacked by soldiers, policemen and armed civilians and that the refugees were guarded at night to prevent them from escaping.

1424. Having considered the totality of the evidence admitted on Paragraph 6.31 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, and bearing in mind the general issues relating to the Defence alibi evidence as explained above, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable doubt that on 22 April 1994, Ndayambaje was present during an attack against Tutsis who had gathered on Kabuye Hill in which "large", 3403 albeit unquantified, numbers of Tutsis were

```
<sup>3397</sup> T. 10 March 2004 pp. 61-62, 68; T. 11 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness RT).
```

³³⁹⁸ T. 25 February 2004 p. 76; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 61, 75 (Witness EV).

³³⁹⁹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁰⁰ T. 10 March 2004 p. 57; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 35-36, 53 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁰¹ T. 25 February 2004 p. 71; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 45-47 (Witness EV).

³⁴⁰² T. 26 February 2004 p. 49 (Witness EV).

³⁴⁰³ T. 10 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness RT) (referring to the attack of Friday 22 April 1994 alone).

killed. The Chamber further finds that soldiers, policemen with guns and civilians armed with traditional weapons participated in the attack and that at night, survivors of the attack were prevented from escaping. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has discharged its burden of proof in relation to this allegation.

3.6.5.4.3 23 and 24 April 1994 – Tutsis Attacked at Kabuye Hill, Transportation of Attackers and Distribution of Weapons

1425. The Prosecution led evidence through Witnesses EV, RT, TP, TW, FAG, QBZ, QAQ and QAL to demonstrate that attacks at Kabuye Hill continued on 23 and 24 April 1994, and that Ndayambaje transported attackers to Kabuye Hill, issued them with weapons and personally threw grenades into the crowd of refugees. The Chamber notes that all of these witnesses testified to knowing Ndayambaje before the 1994 events. Witnesses EV and QAQ testified that they had known Ndayambaje since he was a child;³⁴⁰⁴ Witness QAL testified that Ndayambaje had officiated at her marriage in 1987;³⁴⁰⁵ Witness QBZ testified that he had lived with Ndayambaje when he was a student;³⁴⁰⁶ Witness FAG testified that he had seen Ndayambaje approximately 10 times before the events in 1994;³⁴⁰⁷ and Witnesses RT, TP and TW testified that they knew Ndayambaje before the events of 1994 in his capacity as bourgmestre of Muganza. 3408 This prior knowledge was not contested by the Ndayambaje Defence.

3.6.5.4.3.1 Transportation of Attackers

1426. Prosecution Witnesses EV, RT, TW and QAQ testified to seeing Ndayambaje aboard or arriving with vehicles transporting individuals to Kabuye Hill who later participated in the attacks of 23 and 24 April 1994. Witness EV testified that he saw Ndayambaje arrive in a convoy of vehicles, one of which was full of Burundian refugees on the fourth day of his stay, which would have fallen on 23 April 1994. According to Witness EV, these Burundians subsequently attacked the Tutsis with grenades. Witness RT stated that on 23 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje in a white Toyota commune vehicle that was carrying approximately 10 soldiers.³⁴¹¹ He testified that he saw the same vehicle make about three round-trips to and from the hill transporting people, although he did not see Ndayambaje during those trips. 3412 Witness TW saw Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill on 24 April 1994 driving a white double-cabin Toyota Hilux carrying Hutu civilians armed with traditional weapons. 3413 These civilians later attacked the Tutsis. 3414 On the day following his arrival at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 24 or 25 April 1994. Witness OAO saw Ndavambaie driving a white vehicle

³⁴⁰⁴ T. 25 February 2004 p. 67 (Witness EV); T. 11 November 2002 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴⁰⁵ T. 25 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAL).

³⁴⁰⁶ T. 23 February 2004 p. 35; T. 23 February 2004 pp. 37, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).

³⁴⁰⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAG).

³⁴⁰⁸ T. 10 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness RT); T. 11 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness TP); T. 10 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness TW). 3409 T. 26 February 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness EV).

³⁴¹⁰ T. 26 February 2004 p. 70 (Witness EV).

³⁴¹¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 67-68, 71 (Witness RT).

³⁴¹² T. 10 March 2004 p. 69; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 71-72, 75-76, 79 (Witness RT).

³⁴¹³ T. 10 February 2004 p. 8; T. 11 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness TW).

³⁴¹⁴ T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).

transporting over five gendarmes to Kabuye Hill. 3415 He later witnessed the gendarmes shooting at the refugees. 3416

1427. Witness TP testified that on 24 April 1994 she saw a convoy of vehicles, led by Ndayambaje's vehicle, arrive at Kabuye Hill. However, the Chamber considers that Witness TP's evidence on the events at Kabuye Hill on that day contain a number of serious discrepancies that render her testimony unreliable, but only as it relates to 24 April 1994. In this connection, the Chamber notes that she initially testified that she did not see the three buses in the convoy but later stated that she did in fact see them and that they were white and green.³⁴¹⁸ In addition, Witness TP stated that she could not describe the uniforms of the passengers because it was dark and raining although she previously described there being a bright moon.³⁴¹⁹ Furthermore, she testified that an attack followed the arrival of the convoy at 7.30 p.m. however subsequently claimed that the attack started at 6.00 a.m. 3420 For these reasons, the Chamber will not rely on the testimony of Witness TP as it relates to 24 April 1994.

1428. Prosecution Witness QBZ also testified that after meeting resistance from the Tutsis gathered at Kabuye Hill, Ndayambaje went to Butare for military reinforcements. 3421 The reinforcements were then transported to Kabuye in the Ndora and Muganza commune vehicles and a bus. 3422 Witness QBZ stated that this event occurred about one week after the death of the President, *i.e.* around 13 April 1994. Prosecution Witness FAG testified that about two weeks and five days after the President's death, i.e. around 25 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje transporting people in a Hilux vehicle belonging to Muganza commune in the direction of Kabuye, including Burundians, policemen and civilians armed with traditional weapons. 3424

1429. The Chamber notes that although Witness OBZ provided a slightly different time frame for the alleged transportation of attackers, his testimony is consistent with regard to the material facts. As regards Witness FAG, the Chamber notes that the time frame advanced by this witness corresponds to the dates during which Ndayambaje was alleged to have transported attackers in Paragraph 6.32 of the Indictment. The Chamber is aware that Witness FAG confessed to having participated in various attacks in 1994, spent eight years in prison and was released in 2003, 3425 before he gave evidence to this Tribunal in 2004. Despite being released from prison he nevertheless still awaited a decision by a Gacaca court at the time of his testimony. 3426 The Chamber therefore treats his testimony with appropriate caution considering he may have had an incentive to lie during his testimony in order to obtain

³⁴¹⁵ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 26, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴¹⁶ T. 11 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
3417 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13-14, 24; T. 12 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness TP).

³⁴¹⁸ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 13, 16; T. 12 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness TP).

³⁴¹⁹ T. 11 February 2004 p. 14; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 75-76 (Witness TP).

³⁴²⁰ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 14, 18; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 71-73 (Witness TP).

³⁴²¹ T. 23 February 2004 pp. 25-28; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58, 60-62, 64, 66 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).

³⁴²² T. 24 February 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).

³⁴²³ T. 23 February 2004 p. 68 (ICS); T. 23 February 2004 pp. 22, 25; T. 24 February 2004 pp. 58, 61-62 (ICS) (Witness QBZ).

3424 T. 1 March 2004 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 pp. 37, 40-44; T. 3 March 2004 pp. 6-8 (Witness FAG).

³⁴²⁵ T. 1 March 2004 p. 6 (ICS); T. 1 March 2004 pp. 47-50 (Witness FAG).

³⁴²⁶ T. 3 March 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

preferential treatment in connection with his Gacaca sentence. Nevertheless, the Chamber found his evidence to be detailed as regards dates, the number of trips Ndayambaje allegedly made through Bishya and the identification of the area to and from which the Accused's vehicle was moving. Furthermore, his testimony is partly corroborated by the account of Witnesses EV, TW, RT and QAQ as to the transportation of Burundians and armed civilians, and the use of a Hilux vehicle. 3427 The Chamber also notes that Witness FAG testified to having seen Ndayambaje before the events of 1994 and that this was not contested. 3428

1430. The Chamber recalls the testimony of Ndayambaje and KEPIR that in 1994, Muganza commune owned a white single-cabin Toyota Stout. 3429 The Chamber notes that Witness TW testified to having seen a white double-cabin Toyota Hilux involved in the transportation of attackers. Witness RT stated that Ndayambaje was travelling in a white Toyota commune vehicle. Witness QAQ simply referred to a white vehicle while Witness FAG referred to a Hilux vehicle belonging to the *commune*. The Chamber considers that the description provided by Witnesses TW, RT, QAQ and FAG of the vehicle used by Ndayambaje to transport attackers is corroborated by the descriptions given by Ndayambaje, KEPIR, ALIZA, EV, OAL, RV and FAG of the vehicle Ndavambaje had access to and/or used on other occasions between 20 and 24 April 1994 in terms of colour, type and, in several cases, make, i.e. a white pickup, according to several witnesses to be a Toyota. Furthermore, the evidence points to the actual participation of the persons transported by Ndayambaje in the massacres.

1431. The Chamber therefore considers the testimony of Witnesses EV, RT, TW, OAO and FAG to be credible on the issue of Ndayambaje's involvement in the transportation of attackers and therefore finds that on 23 and 24 April 1994, Ndayambaje transported soldiers, civilians and policemen to Kabuye Hill where they participated in attacks against Tutsis.

3.6.5.4.3.2 Distribution of Weapons

1432. Prosecution Witnesses RT, EV and QAL testified to Ndayambaje distributing weapons at Kabuye Hill. Witness RT testified the day after his arrival at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 23 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje arrive at Kabuye Hill in a white Toyota commune vehicle.³⁴³⁰ The witness saw Ndayambaje distributing what he thought to be grenades to the attackers and supervising their distribution.³⁴³¹ While he did not actually see grenades in Ndayambaje's hands, Witness RT stated that the Accused must have been distributing grenades because many assailants subsequently threw grenades at the refugees and the grenades could only have come from the Accused. 3432

1433. The Chamber notes Witness TW's testimony that Ndayambaje was present at Kabuye Hill but that he did not see Ndayambaje distribute weapons to the attackers, which differs from

³⁴²⁷ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness EV); T. 10 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness TW); T. 11 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness TW); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 67-68, 71 (Witness RT); T. 11 November 2002 pp. 26, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴²⁸ T. 1 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAG).
³⁴²⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje); T. 23 October 2008 p. 23 (Ndayambaje); T. 4 September 2008 pp. 15. 19 (Witness KEPIR).

³⁴³⁰ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 67-68, 71 (Witness RT).

³⁴³¹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness RT).

³⁴³² T. 11 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RT).

the account given by Witnesses EV and RT.³⁴³³ However, the Chamber is of the view that these witnesses may not have had the same opportunities to witness the events in question. The Chamber also notes that there were many thousands of refugees on Kabuye Hill, which covered an expansive area.

1434. The Chamber recalls that only Witness RT testified that Ndayambaje distributed weapons within the time frame covered by Paragraph 6.32 of the Indictment. However, the Chamber also notes the existence of circumstantial evidence that supports the allegation that Ndayambaje was generally involved in distributing weapons at Kabuye Hill. In this connection, the Chamber recalls that Witness EV gave a detailed and consistent eyewitness account that on the day he arrived at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje arrived at Kabuye Hill in a white Hilux driven by Charles Habakurama. Ndayambaje brought grenades in his vehicle that were distributed to the attackers and then used in the ensuing massacre. Witness QAL also testified that she saw Ndayambaje driving the *commune's* white Toyota pickup carrying guns and grenades in the direction of Kabuye Hill one Thursday in April 1994.

1435. Moreover, the Chamber observes that Witnesses RT, EV and QAL gave similar descriptions of the vehicle Ndayambaje was travelling in when he was allegedly carrying or distributing weapons: a white Toyota *commune* vehicle, a white Hilux vehicle and the *commune's* white Toyota pickup, respectively. The Chamber considers that the description of Ndayambaje's vehicle as provided by Witnesses RT, EV and QAL is corroborated by the descriptions given by Ndayambaje, KEPIR, ALIZA, TW, QAQ, RV and FAG of the vehicle Ndayambaje had access to and/or used on other occasions between 20 and 24 April 1994 in terms of colour, type and, in several cases, make, *i.e.* a white pickup, according to several witnesses to be a Toyota. In addition, Witness EV testified that the vehicle was being driven by Charles Habakurama. This is also supported by the testimony of Ndayambaje and KEPIR that Charles Habakurama was the driver of Muganza *commune* in April 1994.

1436. On cross-examination, Witness EV was referred to his written statements of 20 June 1995, 4 October 1995 and 14 November 1995, in which the witness did not mention that Ndayambaje was among the crowd on 20 April 1994. The witness stated that the omission must be due to the error of the investigators who recorded his statements and that it was impossible for him to mention all the details of the events in his statements. The Chamber accepts Witness EV's explanation and finds his testimony to be credible. The Chamber considers that it would have been impossible for him to remember the details of all the events he experienced at Kabuye Hill. In view of the passage of time and the trauma associated with

³⁴³³ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 71-72 (Witness TW).

³⁴³⁴ T. 25 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).

³⁴³⁵ T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).

³⁴³⁶ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 8-9, 35 (Witness QAL).

³⁴³⁷ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-69 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 67-68, 71 (Witness RT); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 75 (Witness EV); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 8-9, 35 (Witness QAL).

³⁴³⁸ T. 25 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness EV).

³⁴³⁹ T. 19 November 2008 pp. 9-10 (Ndayambaje); T. 4 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR).

³⁴⁴⁰ T. 27 February 2004 pp. 5-6, 8-9, 12 (Witness EV).

³⁴⁴¹ T. 27 February 2004 pp. 5-6, 8-9, 12 (Witness EV).

the events, Witness EV could not have been expected to provide a full description of every event that occurred at Kabuye Hill during his five-day stay.

1437. As for Witness OAL, the Chamber considers that she would not have had any reason to lie during her testimony. In this connection, the Chamber notes that Witness QAL was a Hutu and that the Accused officiated at her wedding. Accordingly, the Chamber considers the testimony of Witness QAL to be reliable on this particular issue.

1438. The Chamber finds that the eyewitness account of Witness RT on the distribution of grenades by Ndayambaje on 23 April 1994 to be clear and convincing and further finds that the testimony of Witnesses EV and QAL lends weight to Witness RT's account of weapons distribution by Ndayambaje.

1439. The Chamber has also considered evidence adduced by the Prosecution through Witnesses RV and FAU that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the Muganza commune office for the purposes of arming the attackers at Kabuye Hill. Witness RV testified that Ndayambaje came to the *commune* office at 2.00 p.m. on 23 April 1994 with a *commune* policeman, took ammunition and a gun from the weapons store and left in the direction of Kabuye Hill. 3442 The Chamber recalls that in cross-examination, Witness RV also testified that on the morning of 23 April 1994, he tried to prevent the deputy police brigadier from taking bullets from the weapons store.³⁴⁴³ He added that he went to the dispensary in Mugombwa where Habiyambere, the chairman of the MRND in Muganza commune, came to complain to him that he wanted guns. 3444 Ndayambaje went to Kibayi to look for guns while Habiyambere went with the witness to the *commune* office. 3445 Witness RV waited until Ndayambaje had returned from Kibayi before he opened the weapons store. 3446 The Chamber finds that these two versions are not inconsistent with regard to the sequence of events, simply that Witness RV did not mention the incident with the deputy police brigadier in the morning of 23 April 1994 until cross-examination. The Chamber finds Witness RV's testimony on this allegation to be detailed, credible and consistent. Furthermore, his testimony is partly corroborated by Witness FAU. The Chamber notes that it must treat Witness RV's testimony with appropriate caution; he was a figure of authority in April 1994 in Butare, was a detained witness at the time of his testimony, had previously confessed to aiding in the murder of Tutsis in Gacaca proceedings, and was subject to potential further criminal proceedings in Rwanda. 3447

1440. The Chamber observes that Witness FAU was also a detained witness at the time of his testimony and was awaiting trial in Rwanda for crimes related to the 1994 genocide. 3448 Appropriate caution must therefore be exercised when deliberating on his evidence as he may have had incentives to implicate the Accused in order to secure favourable or lenient treatment. Witness FAU testified that he went to Bishya in April 1994 where he found Ndayambaje with

³⁴⁴² T. 16 February 2004 pp. 44, 46-47 (ICS) (Witness RV).

³⁴⁴³ T. 18 February 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness RV).

³⁴⁴⁴ T. 18 February 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness RV).

The Chamber notes the English transcript erroneously states Kabuye: T. 18 February 2004 pp. 27, 29-30 (ICS) (Witness RV), rather than Kibayi which appears in the French transcript: T. 18 February 2004 pp. 33, 35 (HC) (Witness RV) (French).

3446 T. 18 February 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 18 February 2004 p. 36 (HC) (Witness RV) (French).

³⁴⁴⁷ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 33-36 (ICS) (Witness RV).

³⁴⁴⁸ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

Charles, a *commune* policeman.³⁴⁴⁹ Ndayambaje told the witness and others present that they should attack Kabuye Hill, where Tutsis had taken refuge.³⁴⁵⁰ Witness FAU travelled with Ndayambaje in a vehicle belonging to the international organisation together with 20 others to the Muganza *commune* office.³⁴⁵¹ Brigadier Pierre took a gun from the weapons store and Witness FAU accompanied two policemen and Ndayambaje to Kabuye Hill.³⁴⁵²

1441. On cross-examination, Witness FAU testified that Brigadier Pierre took out three Kalashnikovs from the weapons store: he kept one for himself and gave one each to Makubwa and Ferdinand. The Chamber finds that his testimony was clarified during cross-examination and corroborates Witness RV's testimony that weapons were distributed at Muganza *commune* office, which were later used against Tutsis during the massacre at Kabuye Hill. In this connection, the Chamber observes that Witnesses FAU and RV testified that Charles Habakurama, the Muganza *commune* office driver, accompanied Ndayambaje. This is consistent with the testimony of Ndayambaje and KEPIR that Charles Habakurama was the driver of Muganza *commune* in April 1994.

1442. The Chamber notes that there were some contradictions in the testimony of Witnesses RV and FAU. Witness FAU testified that the weapons distribution took place in the morning and that the weapons store was opened by Brigadier Pierre who gave guns to two policemen and took one for himself. According to Witness RV's account, on the morning of 23 April 1994 he stopped the deputy to the police brigadier from taking bullets from the weapons store at the *commune* office. He testified that at 2.00 p.m. that day, Ndayambaje came to the *commune* office with Witness FAU in search of weapons to use at Kabuye Hill. Witness RV testified that he opened the weapons store for Ndayambaje and Charles took ammunition and a gun before leaving with Ndayambaje for Kabuye Hill.

1443. The Chamber considers that both Witness RV and Witness FAU gave credible evidence on this allegation. In the Chamber's view, the contradictions in these two versions of events do not cast doubt on the two eyewitness accounts that Ndayambaje was involved in the distribution of weapons at the Muganza *commune* office on 23 April 1994.

1444. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at Kabuye Hill and the Muganza *commune* office and that these weapons were later used in the massacres at Kabuye Hill.

3.6.5.4.3.3 Attacks of 23 and 24 April 1994

1445. The Defence led alibi evidence through Witness GABON that Ndayambaje was at the *commune* office in the morning of Saturday 23 April 1994, but then left with his family to

```
3449 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 67-68; T. 9 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAU).
3450 T. 4 March 2004 p. 70; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAU).
3451 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 70-71; T. 9 March 2004 p. 43 (Witness FAU).
3452 T. 4 March 2004 p. 72; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness FAU).
3453 T. 9 March 2004 p. 45 (Witness FAU).
3454 T. 19 November 2008 pp. 9-10 (Ndayambaje); T. 4 September 2008 p. 19 (Witness KEPIR).
3455 T. 9 March 2004 p. 45 (Witness FAU).
3456 T. 18 February 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness RV).
3457 T. 16 February 2004 pp. 44, 46 (ICS) (Witness RV).
3458 T. 16 February 2004 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

travel to Kibayi *commune*. According to Witness KEPIR, Ndayambaje was at the *commune* office on Saturday 23 April 1994 until the afternoon when he left with his family for Kibayi. Witness BIDI testified that Ndayambaje came to stay at her family home on Saturday 23 April 1994. According to her, the Accused did not leave the house on Sunday 24 April 1994. Witness BIDI disagreed with the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses EV, QAQ, TW and TP allegedly placing Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill on the morning of Sunday 24 April 1994, and reiterated that Ndayambaje did not leave her house on that day. Witness MARVA testified to being with Ndayambaje at the *commune* office until Saturday 23 April 1994 when she fled with the Accused and others to Kibayi *commune* where they stayed all week. Witness SABINE testified that he was present at Kabuye Hill on a Sunday around two weeks after the death of the President, which would have fallen on 24 April 1994. He stated that he did not see Ndayambaje or hear that he had been present on Kabuye or Dahwe Hills that Sunday and disagreed with the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAQ and TW that Ndayambaje allegedly transported attackers to Kabuye Hill on Sunday 24 April 1994. April 1994.

1446. The Chamber notes that Witnesses GABON, KEPIR, MARVA and BIDI contended that Ndayambaje left the *commune* office in the afternoon of 23 April 1994 and travelled with his family and Witness MARVA to a friend's house in Kibayi *commune* where he remained all day on 24 April 1994. The Chamber also recalls Brother Stan's testimony that in the afternoon of 23 April 1994, he saw Ndayambaje on the road near Saga camp and that Ndayambaje told the witness that he was with his family on his way to Kibayi. However, the Chamber considers that the general issues arising from the Defence alibi evidence, as described above, adversely affect the credibility of the alibi to such an extent that it cannot be said to be reasonably possibly true.

1447. As regards the evidence of Witness SABINE, the Chamber notes that this witness has convictions for genocide-related killings and his testimony should therefore be treated with appropriate caution. In any event, the fact that he did not see Ndayambaje at Kabuye Hill does not mean that Ndayambaje was not present.

1448. The Chamber observes that the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses EV, RT, TW and QAQ, all of whom are Tutsi survivors of the Kabuye Hill massacre, is consistent as to the events covered by Paragraph 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment: Witness EV testified to major attacks on the fourth and fifth days of his stay at Kabuye Hill (which would have fallen on 23 and 24 April 1994);³⁴⁶⁸ Witness RT stated that attacks took place on 23 and 24 April 1994;³⁴⁶⁹ Witness TW described an attack on 24 April;³⁴⁷⁰ and Witness QAQ gave evidence

³⁴⁵⁹ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 35-36, 39-42 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

³⁴⁶⁰ T. 10 September 2008 pp. 64, 68, 70, 72; T. 10 September 2008 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

³⁴⁶¹ T. 30 June 2008 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).

³⁴⁶² T. 30 June 2008 pp. 16-18 (Witness BIDI).

³⁴⁶³ T. 30 June 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness BIDI).

³⁴⁶⁴ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 27-28, 30 (ICS) (Witness MARVA).

³⁴⁶⁵ T. 12 June 2008 p. 9; T. 12 June 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

³⁴⁶⁶ T. 12 June 2008 pp. 22-24 (Witness SABINE).

³⁴⁶⁷ T. 18 September 2008 p. 44 (Brother Stan).

³⁴⁶⁸ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 68-78 (Witness EV).

³⁴⁶⁹ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68, 71; T. 11 March 2004 pp. 66, 80 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁷⁰ T. 10 February 2004 pp. 11-12; T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).

that an attack occurred on 23 or 24 April 1994.3471 Defence Witness ALIZA also testified that attacks took place on 23 and 24 April 1994.³⁴⁷² With regard to the first attack on 23 April 1994, Witnesses EV and RT stated that Ndayambaje arrived in the morning around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. and testified that the refugees were attacked with grenades. 3473 Witness RT testified that Ndayambaje arrived in a white Toyota commune vehicle and described how an attack was launched by assailants who had gathered in the area of Dahwe. More specifically, Witness RT stated that the attackers included soldiers and *commune* police. Witness ALIZA also stated that soldiers shot at the refugees and threw grenades. Witness QAQ also testified that on 23 or 24 April 1994, Ndayambaje arrived around 10.00 a.m. in a white vehicle and saw that gendarmes were positioned on Dahwe Hill, opposite Kabuye Hill, who subsequently shot at the refugees. 3477 The *Interahamwe* also attacked the refugees with clubs and machetes. 3478 The Chamber notes that the testimony of Witnesses RT and QAQ on Ndayambaje's use of a white vehicle is supported by the testimony of Ndayambaje and Witness KEPIR who stated that in 1994, Muganza commune owned a white single-cabin Toyota Stout. 3479 With regard to the second attack of 24 April 1994, Witnesses EV and TW testified that they saw Ndayambaje arrive at Kabuye Hill between 10.00 a.m. and noon. 3480 Witnesses EV and RT both described how it rained on 24 April³⁴⁸¹ and Witnesses RT and TW stated that the attack involved the use of guns. 3482 Witness TW described how the refugees used stones to defend themselves. 3483 Witness QAQ also stated that on 23 or 24 April 1994, the refugees under attack defended themselves by throwing stones. 3484 Witness ALIZA said that the refugees used stones to defend themselves during the attack of 23 April 1994 which resulted in a massive number of deaths.3485

1449. Witness TW acknowledged that before the 1994 events, he and his brother had been arrested, detained and beaten up on the orders of the Accused for being Inyenzi accomplices.³⁴⁸⁶ He also admitted that Ndayambaje had been involved in the forced closure of his bar. 3487 However, the witness denied harbouring any resentment towards the Accused. 3488

³⁴⁷¹ T. 11 November 2004 pp. 25-26, 32 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴⁷² T. 5 June 2008 pp. 31, 42-43 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁴⁷³ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 68, 70 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 68-70 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 pp. 66, 71 (Witness RT).
³⁴⁷⁴ T. 10 March 2004 p. 68; T. 11 March 2004 p. 66 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁷⁵ T. 10 March 2004 p. 68; T. 11 March 2004 p. 66 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁷⁶ T. 5 June 2008 p. 39 (ICS); T. 9 June 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁴⁷⁷ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 26, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴⁷⁸ T. 11 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴⁷⁹ T. 22 October 2008 p. 38 (Ndayambaje); T. 23 October 2008 p. 23 (Ndayambaje); T. 4 September 2008 pp. 15, 19 (Witness KEPIR).

³⁴⁸⁰ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 73-74 (Witness EV); T. 10 February 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness TW); T. 11 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TW).

³⁴⁸¹ T. 25 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness EV); T. 26 February 2004 p. 71 (Witness EV); T. 10 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RT).

³⁴⁸² T. 10 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RT); T. 11 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness RT); T. 11 February 2004 p. 65 (Witness TW).

³⁴⁸³ T. 10 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness TW).

³⁴⁸⁴ T. 11 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

³⁴⁸⁵ T. 12 February 2004 p. 69 (Witness TP); T. 5 June 2008 pp. 38-39 (ICS) (Witness ALIZA).

³⁴⁸⁶ T. 12 February 2004 pp. 8-10 (Witness TW).

³⁴⁸⁷ T. 12 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness TW).

³⁴⁸⁸ T. 12 February 2004 pp. 8-10 (Witness TW).

Witness TW also acknowledged that his statement of 15 November 1995 contained some errors. In particular the witness' uncle, whom he alleged was killed by Ndayambaje, had been described as his maternal rather than paternal uncle. Furthermore, the statement describes how Ndayambaje passed by the witness' house on 19 April 1994 in the morning, rather than the evening as he stated in his testimony. Witness TW explained that he had pointed these errors out to investigators but they declined to correct the statements. In the Chamber's view, Witness TW's denial that events prior to 1994 may have influenced his testimony was vigorous and believable. As regards the inconsistencies between his previous statement and his testimony, the Chamber does not find these to be significant and they do not impact on the credibility of his testimony.

1450. With regard to the allegation in Paragraph 6.32 of the Indictment that Ndayambaje threw grenades into the crowd, the Chamber recalls the testimony of Witness EV that on the day he arrived at Kabuye Hill, which would have fallen on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje fired his own weapon and threw the grenades he had brought. The Chamber first notes that the date on which this incident is alleged to have occurred by the witness does not correspond to the time frame advanced by the Prosecution in Paragraph 6.32 of the Indictment. Moreover, on cross-examination, Witness EV was referred to his written statements of 20 June 1995, 4 October 1995 and 14 November 1995, in which the witness did not mention that Ndayambaje was among the crowd on that day, that he had a weapon or that he shot at people during the Kabuye Hill events. As indicated in the discussion concerning distribution of weapons, above, Witness EV stated that he had consistently told the investigators that he saw Ndayambaje shooting and the omission must be due to the error of the investigators who recorded his statements; he stated that it was impossible for him to mention all the details of the events in his statements.

1451. While the Chamber agrees that it would have been impossible for Witness EV to remember all the details of his stay at Kabuye Hill, the Chamber considers that an incident as striking as the throwing of a grenade by a figure of authority such as Ndayambaje would have been at the forefront of the witness' mind when he recorded his experiences in his previous statements. For that reason, the Chamber accepts the witness' testimony that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at Kabuye Hill but finds his uncorroborated account that Ndayambaje threw grenades and shot at the refugees to be unconvincing.

1452. In sum, the Chamber considers the evidence led by the Prosecution on the attacks of 23 and 24 April 1994 to be clear, consistent and credible. The Chamber therefore finds that Ndayambaje transported attackers to Kabuye Hill, distributed weapons to the attackers and was

³⁴⁸⁹ T. 10 February 2004 pp. 35, 37 (ICS) (Witness TW); Defence Exhibit 171 (Ndayambaje) (15 November 1995, Statement of Witness TW).

³⁴⁹⁰ T. 10 February 2004 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness TW); Defence Exhibit 171 (Ndayambaje) (15 November 1995, Statement of Witness TW).

³⁴⁹¹ T. 10 February 2004 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness TW).

³⁴⁹² T. 25 February 2004 p. 75; T. 26 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness EV).

³⁴⁹³ T. 27 February 2004 pp. 5-6, 8-9, 12 (Witness EV); Defence Exhibit 167 (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness EV to Rwandan Authorities); Defence Exhibit 168 (Ndayambaje) (4 October 1995, Statement of Witness EV to Rwandan Authorities); Defence Exhibit 169 (Ndayambaje) (14 November 1995, Statement of Witness EV).

³⁴⁹⁴ T. 26 February 2004 pp. 80-81 (ICS); T. 27 February 2004 pp. 5-6, 8-9, 12 (Witness EV).

present during the attacks against Tutsis at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994 and that thousands of deaths resulted from these attacks.

3.6.5.4.3.4 Murder of Witness TW's Uncle

1453. As regards the Prosecution allegation that Ndayambaje murdered Witness TW's uncle, the Chamber notes that the witness' account of this event is uncorroborated and he does not describe how his uncle died – the witness was not present at the time of the alleged murder and did not see his uncle's body. The Chamber does not consider there to be sufficient evidence to enable it to make such a determination. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje killed Witness TW's uncle.

3.6.5.4.3.5 Conclusion on Indictment Paragraph 6.32

1454. The Prosecution alleged that attacks at Kabuye Hill continued on 23 and 24 April 1994, and that Ndayambaje transported attackers to Kabuye Hill, issued them with weapons and personally threw grenades into the crowd of refugees.

1455. Having considered the totality of the evidence on all of the constituent elements of Paragraph 6.32 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, for the reasons set forth above, and bearing in mind the general issues relating to the Defence alibi evidence as explained above, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje transported soldiers, civilians and policemen to Kabuye Hill where they participated in attacks against Tutsis. Furthermore, the Chamber finds that Ndayambaje distributed grenades to the attackers on Kabuye Hill. The Chamber, however, does not find that Ndayambaje threw a grenade himself.

1456. The Chamber also finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje participated in the removal of weapons from Muganza *commune* office on 23 April 1994, which were then distributed to attackers at Kabuye Hill. In addition, the Chamber finds it established that attacks took place at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994 and that Ndayambaje was present during the attacks against Tutsis at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994 and that deaths resulted from these attacks. Accordingly, the Chamber holds that the Prosecution has discharged its burden of proof in respect of this allegation.

3.6.6 IRST Massacre, 21 April 1994

3.6.6.1 Introduction

1457. Paragraph 6.15 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that on 27 April 1994, the Interim Government ordered roadblocks to be set up, knowing that the roadblocks were being used to identify the Tutsis and their "accomplices" for the purpose of eliminating them. Paragraph 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment further provides that from April to July 1994, Ntahobali travelled throughout Butare *préfecture* in

_

³⁴⁹⁵ Para. 6.15 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts).

search of Tutsis. When the victims were located, Ntahobali abducted them and took them to various locations, where they were executed.³⁴⁹⁶

1458. The Prosecution submits that Ntahobali participated in the abduction of Tutsis at the "fifth roadblock" and instructed the *Interahamwe* manning the roadblock to "take them to the same place where the others had been taken to". Subsequently they were taken to this location and killed.³⁴⁹⁷ In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness OCB.

1459. The Ntahobali Defence did not call any witnesses with regard to this allegation. Rather, the Defence challenged the credibility of Witness QCB, asserting that Witness QCB's account of the 21 April 1994 events is incompatible in time with the testimony of Prosecution Witness TN.³⁴⁹⁸ In support of its contentions, the Ntahobali Defence relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness TN.

3.6.6.2 Preliminary Issues

1460. The Chamber, *proprio motu*, observes that this allegation is not specifically pled in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and therefore finds that the Indictment is defective. The Chamber must determine whether the Indictment has been cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

1461. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness QCB, who was expected to testify that he went to three roadblocks. At the third roadblock, supervised by Ntahobali and situated opposite Ntahobali's parents' house, the *Interahamwe* and civilians wearing military vests were segregating Tutsis and putting them by the roadside. Subsequently, Ntahobali led those Tutsis to the ESO roadblock and to the *Institut de Recherche Scientifique et Technique* ("IRST"). Witness QCB saw them being killed.³⁴⁹⁹ The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness QCB provides adequate details as to the exact locations, but no time frame.

1462. The prior statement of Witness QCB, dated 7 April 1999 and disclosed to the Defence on 10 December 1999, stated that on 21 April 1994, Ntahobali led away Tutsis who were gathered at the ESO roadblock, located opposite Ntahobali's parents' house, towards the IRST. The witness further stated that he witnessed people being killed with traditional weapons. This disclosure was made well before the start of Witness QCB's testimony on 20 March 2002.

1463. The Chamber finds the substance of Witness QCB's previous statement is consistent with the summary of his anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief.

_

³⁴⁹⁶ Para. 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Ntahobali).

³⁴⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 171, para. 42.

³⁴⁹⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 139-140, 142, 276.

³⁴⁹⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QCB (52).

³⁵⁰⁰ 7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB, disclosed 10 December 1999.

1464. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is cured by the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information in line with previous jurisprudence.³⁵⁰¹ Consequently, Ntahobali was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence.

3.6.6.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QCB

1465. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and a detainee at the time of his testimony, 3502 testified that he went to his place of work on the morning of 21 April 1994 at around 7.00 a.m. 3503 On his way, he saw roadblocks and killings. He noticed that 13 roadblocks were erected throughout the area. There were no roadblocks in Nkubi *secteur* prior to that day. The witness rode on a motorcycle up to the "first roadblock" located at the residence of President Sindikubwabo, and after that he continued on foot as the motorcycle was not allowed to proceed. This first roadblock is indicated by the number "1" on Prosecution Exhibit 54, a hand-drawn map by Witness QCB of Butare town. It was manned by Presidential Guards.

1466. Witness QCB testified that one of the roadblocks was located at the house of Amandin Rugira³⁵¹⁰ on the main road to Bujumbura (the "Rugira roadblock") also referred to by Witness QCB as the "fifth roadblock".³⁵¹¹ The location of the roadblock was indicated by the number "5" on Prosecution Exhibit 54. *Interahamwe* and two soldiers armed with knives and Kalashnikovs manned the roadblock.³⁵¹² He reached this roadblock at around 8.30 a.m. The *Interahamwe* were checking people's identity cards to determine their ethnicity. They allowed Hutus to go through and detained Tutsis on the spot.³⁵¹³ The witness observed that a woman unknown to him was asked to produce her identification, after which *Interahamwe* stabbed her to death with knives.³⁵¹⁴

1467. Witness QCB saw another roadblock located near the house of Maurice Ntahobali also referred to by Witness QCB as the "sixth roadblock" and indicated by number "6" on Prosecution Exhibit 54.³⁵¹⁵ The witness saw Shalom standing in front of his parents' house,

³⁵⁰¹ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105.

³⁵⁰² T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).

³⁵⁰³ T. 20 March 2002 p. 37 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁰⁴ T. 20 March 2002 p. 38 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁰⁵ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 38-54 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 54 (Sketch of Butare town by Witness QCB).

³⁵⁰⁶ T. 25 March 2002 p. 34; T. 25 March 2002 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁰⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 37-38, 55; T. 25 March 2002 p. 113 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁰⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 54 (Sketch of Butare town by Witness QCB). This exhibit was admitted on 21 March 2002.

³⁵⁰⁹ T. 20 March 2002 p. 55 (Witness QCB).

³⁵¹⁰ T. 20 March 2002 p. 58; T. 20 March 2002 p. 69 (Witness QCB) (French) (for spelling of "Amandin").

³⁵¹¹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 57-59 (Witness QCB).

³⁵¹² T. 20 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).

³⁵¹³ T. 20 March 2002 p. 59 (Witness QCB).

³⁵¹⁴ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 56-57 (Witness QCB).

³⁵¹⁵ T. 20 March 2002 p. 60 (Witness OCB).

leaning on the door of a Peugeot 505.³⁵¹⁶ Shalom was wearing ordinary trousers and a sleeveless military jacket.³⁵¹⁷ He had grenades at his belt and a Kalashnikov gun slung on his shoulder.³⁵¹⁸ It was the first time Witness QCB saw Ntahobali.³⁵¹⁹

1468. Witness QCB identified Ntahobali in court.³⁵²⁰ Witness QCB also testified that he had known Shalom since 1989, when the witness worked at the Rwandan University in Ruhande, Butare.³⁵²¹ The witness explained that he feared for his own safety which was why he stated in open session that this day was the first time he had seen Ntahobali during his evidence-inchief ³⁵²²

1469. Upon his arrival at work, Witness QCB was told that there was no assignment for him on that day, so he immediately decided to return home. On his way home, at around 9.10 a.m., he stopped at the fifth roadblock again, close to the mosque. He saw that Tutsis kept at this roadblock were being held at the EER School. They were being boarded onto a white Daihatsu pickup belonging to Isaac Munyagasheke. They had been arrested at the Rugira roadblock and were gathered at the primary school, which was made up of three buildings. The pickup was moving from the EER School to a place between the IRST and the Laboratory. A Peugeot car driven by Ntahobali drove behind the Daihatsu pickup. Ntahobali's vehicle stopped at the fifth roadblock, while the other Daihatsu pickup continued its journey until the place where massacres were subsequently carried out. The Peugeot car belonged to Ntahobali's father.

1470. At the roadblock, Ntahobali asked the *Interahamwe* if they had arrested anyone. The *Interahamwe* responded in the affirmative and Ntahobali told them to bring the arrestees to "the same place where the others have been taken to", a place between the IRST and the Laboratory, in order to join others who had been arrested. The witness was 10 steps away from Ntahobali. About 40 people were loaded onto the Daihatsu pickup and taken to the area indicated. Witness QCB went to that location and saw the pickup and the Peugeot parked there. People were being killed after they had been undressed. He heard people screaming as numerous *Interahamwe* killed about 200 people with clubs and knives.

```
<sup>3516</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 69-70 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3517</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 71 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3518</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 72-73 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3519</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 71 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3520</sup> T. 21 March 2002 pp. 81-82 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3521</sup> T. 25 March 2002 pp. 46-47, 50 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
<sup>3522</sup> T. 25 March 2002 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
<sup>3523</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 77 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3524</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 78 (Witness QCB).
3525 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 84; T. 20 March 2002 p. 91 (Witness QCB) (French) (for spelling of "Isaac
Munyagasheke").
<sup>3526</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 83 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3527</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 85; T. 20 March 2002 p. 97 (Witness QCB) (for spelling of acronym).
<sup>3528</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 85; T. 25 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3529</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 85-86 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3530</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 86, 88 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3531</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3532</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 88 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3533</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 89 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3534</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 89-91 (Witness OCB).
```

Among the assailants, Witness QCB identified Ntahobali, Désiré the son of Munyagasheke, and Pierre Claver who worked at the service in charge of civilian buildings. He claimed that Ntahobali was the leader because he witnessed him issuing orders at this time. The witness left the scene at around 9.30 a.m. ³⁵³⁷

1471. Witness QCB testified that his statement of 7 April 1999 was not properly recorded by Prosecution investigators where it was written, "I continued towards Mukoni when I heard screams". The witness testified that he actually meant that he left the "fifth roadblock" and went on towards the IRST where he saw people being stripped naked, screaming and being killed. He was frightened by what he saw and was asked to leave, and decided to leave for Mukoni towards home. The witness explained that he did not fully understand what was being read to him because there were several documents and the investigator appeared to be in a hurry. He signed the documents as a matter of course because he believed them to be statements that he himself had made, and which were properly recorded. The signed the documents as a matter of course because he believed them to be statements that he himself had made, and which were properly recorded.

Prosecution Witness TN

1472. Witness TN, a Tutsi who was 19 years old in 1994, testified that on 21 April 1994, she saw Ntahobali arrive in Tumba *secteur* accompanied by soldiers of the Presidential Guard in a Toyota. She identified Ntahobali's companions as soldiers because they were wearing military uniforms. Ntahobali and some of the soldiers stepped out of the vehicle and took two Tutsi men – identified as Rwabugiri and Philippe – to the veterinarian's house, behind the *secteur* office. On arrival at the veterinarian's house, one of the soldiers handed a jack knife to Ntahobali. Ntahobali then attacked the men with the knife and killed them.

1473. These events took place between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m.³⁵⁴⁴ The witness stated that she was approximately two and a half metres away from Ntahobali when Ntahobali killed the two Tutsi men.³⁵⁴⁵ She further testified that after having killed Rwabugiri and Philippe, Ntahobali ordered that Tutsis should be found and killed.³⁵⁴⁶

3.6.6.4 Deliberations

1474. Prosecution Witness QCB is the only eyewitness to testify about this allegation. At the time of his testimony, Witness QCB was a detainee in Rwanda. He confessed to his participation in the killing of certain persons during the events and, at the time of his testimony, was awaiting his sentence.³⁵⁴⁷ The Chamber will treat his testimony with

```
3535 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness QCB).
3536 T. 20 March 2002 p. 90 (Witness QCB).
3537 T. 20 March 2002 p. 95 (Witness QCB).
3538 T. 26 March 2002 pp. 37, 39 (Witness QCB).
3539 T. 26 March 2002 pp. 38 (Witness QCB).
3540 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 133-134 (Witness TN); Prosecution Exhibit 55 (Personal Particulars).
3541 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 134-135 (Witness TN).
3542 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 133 (Witness TN).
3543 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 133-134 (Witness TN).
3544 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 135-136 (Witness TN).
3545 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 135-136 (Witness TN).
3546 T. 3 April 2002 p. 138 (Witness TN).
3547 T. 20 March 2002 p. 37 (Witness OCB).
```

appropriate caution as he may have had an incentive to implicate Ntahobali in order to avoid a severe sentence.

1475. Witness QCB provided first-hand testimony that on 21 April 1994, at around 9.00 a.m., on his way back from his place of work, he stopped at the Rugira roadblock, referred to as the "fifth roadblock". At the roadblock, Witness QCB witnessed Tutsis, who were being held at the EER School, being boarded onto a white Daihatsu pickup belonging to Isaac Munyagasheke. Those Tutsis had been arrested at the Rugira roadblock. The pickup was moving from the EER School to a place located between the IRST and the Laboratory. Peugeot car driven by Ntahobali followed the pickup and stopped at the Rugira roadblock, while the Daihatsu pickup continued its journey. Ntahobali then asked the *Interahamwe* posted there if they had arrested anyone. The *Interahamwe* responded in the affirmative and Ntahobali told them to bring those arrested to a place between the IRST and the Laboratory to join others who had been arrested.

1476. Although the witness stated that 21 April 1994 was the first time he saw Ntahobali, during his examination-in-chief, in cross-examination he stated that he knew Ntahobali for a while before 1994. Witness QCB explained this inconsistency by stating that he feared for his own safety and that was why he claimed to have met Ntahobali for the first time on 21 April 1994, during his evidence-in-chief, in open session. The Chamber accepts this explanation and notes that the witness clearly identified Ntahobali in court.

1477. The Defence asserts that Witness QCB's testimony is incompatible with the testimony of Witness TN, with regard to the time frame of this event. Witness QCB stated that about 40 people were loaded onto the Daihatsu pickup and taken to the area indicated.³⁵⁵⁸ He saw the pickup and the Peugeot parked together near the place between the IRST and the Laboratory.³⁵⁵⁹ Once at the IRST, Witness QCB saw Tutsi people being stripped naked and screaming.³⁵⁶⁰ Roughly 200 people were stabbed or clubbed to death by members of the *Interahamwe*.³⁵⁶¹ Among the assailants, the witness recognised Ntahobali as the leader, Désiré the son of Munyagasheke and Pierre Claver.³⁵⁶² According to Witness QCB, Ntahobali was

```
3548 T. 20 March 2002 p. 78 (Witness QCB).
3549 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 84 (Witness QCB).
3550 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 86 (Witness QCB).
3551 T. 20 March 2002 p. 85 (Witness QCB).
3552 T. 20 March 2002 p. 85; T. 25 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QCB).
3553 T. 20 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness QCB).
3554 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 86-88 (Witness QCB).
3555 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 71; T. 25 March 2002 pp. 45-47, 50 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
3556 T. 25 March 2002 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
3557 T. 21 March 2002 pp. 81-82 (Witness QCB).
3558 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 88 (Witness QCB).
3559 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness QCB).
3550 T. 26 March 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness QCB).
3560 T. 26 March 2002 pp. 89-92 (Witness QCB).
3561 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 89-92 (Witness QCB).
3562 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness QCB).
```

issuing orders during this time.³⁵⁶³ Witness QCB was frightened by what he saw and decided to leave for Mukoni towards his home at around 9.30 a.m.³⁵⁶⁴

1478. Prosecution Witness TN testified that Ntahobali killed Rwabugiri and Philippe behind the Tumba *secteur* office between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. on 21 April 1994. This would account for a portion of the time frame during which Witness QCB submits that the killings of Tutsis at the IRST occurred, *i.e.* between 9.00 and 9.30 a.m. This evidence, however, does not exclude the possibility that Ntahobali may have participated in the killings as described by Witness QCB. Furthermore, the location at which Witness QCB sighted Ntahobali, *i.e.* the area between the IRST and the Laboratory, is only a very short distance away from the border of Tumba *secteur*, approximately one kilometre away. The Prosecution evidence establishes that Ntahobali was in possession of a car during this time. Therefore, the existence of this information does not cast a doubt on the Prosecution's case.

1479. The Chamber accepts Witness QCB's explanation that the Prosecution investigators did not properly record his statement when they wrote, "I continued towards Mukoni when I heard screams". The Chamber accepts Witness QCB's explanation that he actually meant that he left the Rugira roadblock and went on towards the IRST, where he saw people being stripped naked, screaming and being killed. He was frightened by what he saw and was asked to leave, so decided to leave for Mukoni, towards home. 3569

1480. The Chamber observes that Witness QCB is the only Prosecution witness to implicate Ntahobali in these events. Nevertheless the Chamber finds Witness QCB's detailed evidence to be credible with respect to this incident. In light of the foregoing and having assessed the evidence at hand, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that on 21 April 1994 Ntahobali participated in the abduction of approximately 40 Tutsis at the "Rugira roadblock" and subsequently took them to the IRST to be killed. Furthermore, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that at the Rugira roadblock, Ntahobali ordered the *Interahamwe* present to take those Tutsis who had been arrested to a place between the IRST and the Laboratory, and that at the massacre site, Ntahobali issued orders to the *Interahamwe* to kill the Tutsis. Ntahobali's orders were followed and approximately 200 Tutsis were killed at the IRST on 21 April 1994.

3.6.7 Tumba Secteur Abductions and Killings, 21 April 1994

3.6.7.1 Introduction

1481. Paragraph 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that in late April 1994, Ntahobali travelled throughout Butare *préfecture* searching for Tutsis. When the

.

³⁵⁶³ T. 20 March 2002 p. 90 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁶⁴ T. 20 March 2002 p. 95; T. 26 March 2002 p. 39 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁶⁵ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 133-134 (Witness TN).

³⁵⁶⁶ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 95; T. 26 March 2002 p. 39 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁶⁷ Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites), using scale provided on map.

³⁵⁶⁸ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 85, 88 (Witness QCB).

³⁵⁶⁹ T. 26 March 2002 p. 39 (Witness QCB).

Tutsis were located, Ntahobali abducted them and took them to various locations where they were executed.³⁵⁷⁰

1482. In support of this allegation, the Prosecution led evidence through Witness TN to show that on 21 April 1994, Ntahobali came to Tumba *secteur* in Ngoma *commune* accompanied by soldiers, abducted two Tutsis named Rwabugiri³⁵⁷¹ and Philippe, ³⁵⁷² and killed them.³⁵⁷³ In response to the Defence's submission that the murders were committed by a soldier who has already been tried and convicted of the crimes, the Prosecution submits that the existence of a judgement from a Rwandan court attributing responsibility for the murders to another person does not relieve Ntahobali from criminal responsibility before the ICTR. The Prosecution further submits that the judgement supports the Prosecution case.³⁵⁷⁴

1483. The Ntahobali Defence submits that Witness TN's testimony is not credible. The argues that Rwabugiri and Philippe were in fact murdered by a soldier, Jean Baptiste Nzisabira, who has already been convicted of the murders by the Rwandan Court of First Instance and the Military Court of Appeal. It further submits that Prosecution Witness QCB contradicts Witness TN as to the time frame during which Ntahobali allegedly abducted and killed Tutsis in Tumba secteur on 21 April 1994. According to the Ntahobali Defence, Ntahobali was at a roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro at the time of his involvement in the abduction and murder of Rwabugiri and Philippe. In support of its submissions, the Ntahobali Defence relies on Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-21-T, Ntahobali and Witness OCB.

3.6.7.2 Preliminary Issues

1484. The Chamber notes that the allegation that Ntahobali abducted and personally murdered two Tutsis named Rwabugiri and Philippe was not pled in the Indictment. Although Paragraph 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Ntahobali abducted Tutsis "and took them to various places, where they were executed", there is no mention of the murders of Rwabugiri and Philippe. Recalling the principles previously set out in this Judgement, the Chamber finds that it is not always necessary that an indictment provide the specific name of a victim. Nonetheless, where the Prosecution alleges that an accused personally committed criminal acts, it must plead the identity of the victim, the place and approximate date of the alleged criminal acts, and the means by which they were committed with the greatest precision (). The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment provides no information on the identity of the Tutsi victims, the *locus* of the crime, the date on which it took place or how the victims were murdered. It is clear from Witness TN's statement dated 11-12 March 1998, *i.e.* over one year before the Amended Indictment was filed, that the

³⁵⁷⁰ Para. 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8 and 10 against Ntahobali only).

³⁵⁷¹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 133 (Witness TN) (spelled "Lwabugili" in the English transcript); T. 3 April 2002 p. 156 (Witness TN) (French) (spelled "Rwabugiri" in the French transcript). For the purposes of this section, the Chamber will refer to the spelling in the French version.

³⁵⁷² T. 3 April 2002 p. 156 (Witness TN) (French) (for spelling of "Philippe").

³⁵⁷³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 171, para. 41.

³⁵⁷⁴ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 41.

³⁵⁷⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 272.

³⁵⁷⁶ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 275-276.

Prosecution was aware of the details of the alleged murders and the identities of the victims. In particular, Witness TN's statement contains her eyewitness account of the murders of two Tutsis, Rwabugiri and Philippe, behind the Tumba *secteur* office on 21 April 1994, by a man named Shalom, who used a knife. Such information should have been contained in the Indictment. The Indictment is thus defective in this respect.

1485. The Chamber must then determine whether the defect has been cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber notes that the Prosecution made no reference to the murders of Rwabugiri and Philippe by Ntahobali in either its Pre-Trial Brief or opening statement. The Prosecution disclosed a redacted version of Witness TN's statement of 11-12 March 1998 on 15 November 2000 and on 23 May 2001; an unredacted version was disclosed on 23 April 2001 and on 1 October 2001. 3577

1486. The Chamber finds that the information provided to the Defence through subsequent disclosure was not consistent, as the murder of Rwabugiri and Philippe was only mentioned in a single witness statement that was disclosed on four separate occasions. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the defect in the Indictment has not been cured and it will not consider the Prosecution evidence insofar as it relates to this allegation. In any case, the Chamber notes that the evidence was insufficient to prove this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.8 Kabakobwa Massacres, 21-24 April 1994

3.6.8.1 Introduction

1487. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that on 21 and 22 April 1994, Tutsis fleeing the massacres took refuge in a pasture in Kabakobwa *cellule* on the orders of Kanyabashi, who had promised to protect them. Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates, notably *conseillers de secteur*, *commune* policemen and certain members of the Hutu population to go to Kabakobwa *cellule* to eliminate the refugees. Indictment Paragraph 6.45 also alleges that on one occasion on 21 April 1994 in Butare, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers and militiamen and certain members of the civilian population to search for Tutsis who had escaped massacres, in order to exterminate them.

1488. The Kanyabashi Indictment further alleges that on 22 April 1994, at around 4.00 p.m., the *commune* policemen and *conseillers de secteur*, assisted by Hutu peasant farmers and militiamen, attacked the refugees. Subsequently, Kanyabashi called in reinforcements from the Presidential Guard. On their arrival, they took part in the attacks. 3580

³⁵⁷⁷ 11-12 March 1998, Statement of Witness TN, disclosed in redacted form 15 November 2000 and 23 May 2001, and in unredacted form 23 April 2001 and 1 October 2001.

³⁵⁷⁸ Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility).
³⁵⁷⁹ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), and

Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility only).

Para. 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) responsibility).

1489. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that during the month of April 1994, thousands of Tutsi refugees gathered in various locations in Ngoma *commune*, such as Kabakobwa *cellule*, Matyazo Clinic and Ngoma Church, often on the recommendation of Kanyabashi, the long-serving *bourgmestre*, who had promised to protect them. Kanyabashi then ordered and supervised the massacres of these refugees by *commune* civil servants, soldiers and militiamen. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges generally that between April and July 1994, to make sure that the massacres were carried out in an efficient and unflagging manner, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Nyiramasuhuko, individually or in the presence of one another, not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. The Matyabashi and Nyiramasuhuko, individually or in the presence of one another, not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*.

1490. The Prosecution submits that in his capacity as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi was primarily responsible for planning, ordering and supervising the killing of Tutsis who had gathered at Kabakobwa. Kanyabashi knew that Tutsis were to be killed at Kabakobwa and that is why he encouraged them to go there.³⁵⁸³ Moreover, Kanyabashi is alleged to have told certain individuals on the same day Tutsis were told to go to Kabakobwa that "those who burn leaves must first gather them". This is alleged to be a proverb used to refer to the Tutsis and to invite members of the population to exterminate them.³⁵⁸⁴ The Prosecution submits that through the use of such proverbs and direct encouragement, Kanyabashi incited the population to kill Tutsis as part of the genocidal campaign of the Interim Government of which he was a member.³⁵⁸⁵

1491. The Prosecution submits that once Tutsis were gathered at Kabakobwa, Kanyabashi issued instructions preventing them from escaping. Kanyabashi also authorised certain individuals to go to Kabakobwa, armed with machetes, clubs and traditional weapons, to attack the approximately 2,500 refugees who were present there, and policemen used Kalashnikovs and grenades to attack the refugees. Ngoma *commune* police took part in the attacks at Kabakobwa. While the massacres were taking place at Kabakobwa, Kanyabashi watched as Tutsi refugees were killed. The Prosecution Closing Brief further alleges that to ensure no Tutsis escaped from Kabakobwa, Kanyabashi ordered *umuganda* (communal work) the next day, 23 April 1994, and that upon these orders more Tutsis were killed.

1492. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo instigated, ordered, and aided and abetted in the killing of Tutsis.³⁵⁹¹ Nteziryayo together with Kanyabashi authorised the population to arm

³⁵⁸¹ Para. 6.49 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo pursuant to Article 6 (1) and Article 6 (3) responsibility); *see also* Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo pursuant to Article 6 (1) and Article 6 (3) responsibility).

³⁵⁸³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 409, para. 88.

³⁵⁸⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 398, paras. 45-46.

³⁵⁸⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 398, para. 47.

³⁵⁸⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 410, para. 93.

³⁵⁸⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 398, 411, paras. 43, 95.

³⁵⁸⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 415-416, paras. 107-109.

³⁵⁸⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 398, para. 44.

³⁵⁹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 411, para. 97.

³⁵⁹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 348, para. 138.

themselves and go to Kabakobwa Hill to kill Tutsis.³⁵⁹² The Prosecution also submits that Nteziryayo is responsible pursuant to Article 6 (3) because he knew that *Interahamwe* and militia under his control were committing genocide, yet failed to prevent or punish them for the wrongs committed.³⁵⁹³ Nteziryayo was together with Kanyabashi when Kanyabashi was rounding up members of the population to disguise themselves and go to Kabakobwa and knew that these people would kill.³⁵⁹⁴

1493. The Prosecution also submits that Nsabimana is responsible under Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) for aiding and abetting massacres in Butare, including the massacre in which Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo were implicated at Kabakobwa. Nsabimana was responsible for the disposal of the corpses after Kabakobwa and the manner in which he did this amounted to the commission of an inhumane act as a crime against humanity. Specifically, 1596

1494. In support of these allegations the Prosecution relies on Prosecution Witnesses FAM, QAM, QCB, QP and QW.

1495. The Kanyabashi Defence does not contest that there was a massacre at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994 involving soldiers, civilians and *Interahamwe*.³⁵⁹⁷ It submits, however, that Kanyabashi was not involved in the massacre in any way. It submits that Kanyabashi was not at Rango market on 21 April 1994 nor at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994.³⁵⁹⁸ It states that Kanyabashi did not order that the Tutsi refugees be forced to go to Kabakobwa; rather, refugees congregated on Kabakobwa Hill because it was a natural stopping point for refugees fleeing the unrest in Rwanda on their way to Burundi.³⁵⁹⁹ It submits that the attackers at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994 were acting on the instructions of soldiers, and not Kanyabashi.³⁶⁰⁰ The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that on 24 April 1994, a man named Semwiza issued the order to bury the bodies at Kabakobwa after the massacre, not Kanyabashi.³⁶⁰¹ Finally, it submits Prosecution Witnesses FAM, QAH, QCB, QAM and QP are part of a group of detained witnesses who conspired to fabricate testimony against Kanyabashi.³⁶⁰²

1496. Regarding Article 6 (3) responsibility, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that *commune* policemen were not involved in the massacre at Kabakobwa and, in fact, Kanyabashi had held a meeting on 22 April 1994 exhorting his men not to participate in any killings. Although it

³⁵⁹² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 317, 348, paras. 41, 136.

³⁵⁹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 348, para. 139.

³⁵⁹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 319, para. 47.

³⁵⁹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 243-244, 276, paras. 50-52, 153-154.

³⁵⁹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 285, para. 190.

³⁵⁹⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 184.

³⁵⁹⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 180, 184.

³⁵⁹⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 181-183.

³⁶⁰⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 184.

³⁶⁰¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 193.

³⁶⁰² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 113, 117, 145, 155; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 48-49. The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

³⁶⁰³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 184-187.

acknowledges a *commune* policeman named Nsanzabahizi was a driver for the *commune* and was an attacker at Kabakobwa, it submits that Kanyabashi was not driven by this man. ³⁶⁰⁴

1497. The Nteziryayo Defence challenges the credibility of the Prosecution witnesses called to testify about the Kabakobwa massacre, pointing out inconsistencies and examples of fabricated testimony. Nteziryayo submits he did not know of a place called Kabakobwa in 1994, did not know that a massacre took place there, and was not asked to go there by Kanyabashi. According to the Nteziryayo Defence, Nteziryayo is unaware of who committed the killings at Kabakobwa. Representation of the Nteziryayo Defence, Nteziryayo is unaware of who committed the killings at Kabakobwa.

1498. In addition to submissions concerning notice, addressed below, the Nsabimana Defence challenges the credibility of Prosecution Witness QCB, the sole witness to implicate Nsabimana in the Kabakobwa events. 3607

1499. The Defence for Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo rely on Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-10-Y, D-2-13-D, D-2-14-D, D-2-16-L, D-2-16-P and D-2-YYYY, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WKML and Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.

3.6.8.2 Preliminary Issues

Alleged Defect in Paragraph 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment

1500. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that Paragraph 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is vague, and did not adequately plead the Kabakobwa massacres in order to provide notice to Nteziryayo. Accordingly, it argues the Kabakobwa incident should be excluded in its entirety, including all evidence from Prosecution Witness FAM implicating Nteziryayo. At trial, the Nteziryayo Defence specified that Paragraph 6.53 was impermissibly vague because it made no reference to Kabakobwa. Further, it argued that Paragraph 6.49, which mentions Kabakobwa, did not add specificity to the charge because it did not name Nteziryayo and was not listed in support of counts. The Nteziryayo Defence also objected to Witness FAM's testimony as to Nteziryayo's presence at Kabakobwa claiming Nteziryayo was not named or referred to in the Indictment with respect to Kabakobwa. The Chamber overruled this objection on the basis that the Nteziryayo Defence could cross-examine Witness FAM later to verify the veracity or return to the subject in its final submissions. The Nteziryayo Defence subsequently cross-examined Witness FAM the following day, 7 March 2002.

1501. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.53 alleges that between April and July 1994 Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Nyiramasuhuko, individually or in the presence of one another, not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population to slaughter the Tutsis

-

³⁶⁰⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 188-191.

³⁶⁰⁵ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 616-639.

³⁶⁰⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 640.

³⁶⁰⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1123-1150.

³⁶⁰⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 619, 765.

³⁶⁰⁹ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 95-96, 102-103 (Witness TO).

³⁶¹⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 83, 102-103 (Witness TO).

³⁶¹¹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness TO).

in Butare *préfecture*. Such a broad allegation is insufficient to have put Nteziryayo on notice to prepare his defence in regard to the Kabakobwa incident. Further, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 6.49, which was not listed in support of counts and did not name Nteziryayo, did not provide Nteziryayo notice that he was being charged with this event. The Chamber therefore finds the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment defective in this respect.

1502. The summary of Prosecution Witness FAM's anticipated testimony included in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo brought soldiers to kill the Tutsis gathered at Kabakobwa. The summary makes clear that Witness FAM was being brought to lead evidence with respect to Counts 1 to 9 against both Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo. In Witness FAM's statement of 24 February 2000, he states that Kanyabashi came back to Kabakobwa to check on the policemen he had left there the previous day, and to meet with Nteziryayo, who arrived at the same venue on board a white Pajero followed by a military truck full of soldiers. Witness FAM further states that the same Friday, the Tutsis who had gathered at Kabakobwa were killed by soldiers brought there by Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo. Salas

1503. In the Chamber's view, the summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony included in the Pre-Trial Brief and Witness FAM's statement of 24 February 2000 provided timely, clear and consistent information to Nteziryayo that he was alleged to have been implicated in the Kabakobwa massacre by bringing soldiers to participate in the massacre. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the defect in the Indictment for failing to mention Nteziryayo's involvement in the Kabakobwa massacre was cured and that the Nteziryayo Defence was given adequate notice that it would need to defend against this allegation.

Kanyabashi's Alleged Involvement at Kabakobwa on 23 April 1994

1504. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution wrongfully introduced evidence of events relating to Kabakobwa, which are alleged to have occurred on 23 and 24 April 1994, whereas the Indictment only mentions events having occurred on 21 and 22 April 1994. The Kanyabashi Defence first objected at trial to Witness FAM's testimony relating to events on Saturday 23 April 1994. The Chamber overruled the objection on the basis that the Kanyabashi Defence could cross-examine Witness FAM later to verify the veracity or return to the subject in its final submissions. The Kanyabashi Defence subsequently cross-examined Witness FAM over the two following sitting days, 7 and 11 March 2002.

1505. The Kanyabashi Defence also objected to Witness QCB's testimony about the Saturday burial on the basis that it was not part of the witness' prior disclosed statements. With respect to Witness QCB, the Chamber ruled that the objection raised was legitimate insofar as Witness QCB's testimony as to the burials was not mere information that came out in the

_

³⁶¹² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

³⁶¹³ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 4 December 2000 and 1 October 2001.

³⁶¹⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 114.

³⁶¹⁵ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 89-93, 96-97, 99-102.

³⁶¹⁶ T. 6 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness FAM).

³⁶¹⁷ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 20-22, 26-28 (Witness QCB).

course of testifying. 3618 The Kanyabashi Defence cross-examined Witness OCB six days later. on 27 and 28 March 2002.

1506. The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Indictment specified that events relating to Kabakobwa occurred "[o]n 21 and 22 April 1994". This language suggests that these are the only relevant dates in connection to the underlying allegation. Events related to Kabakobwa that occurred on 23 and 24 April 1994 are not pled in Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.33. The Chamber notes that although the Indictment only mentions 21 and 22 April 1994 with regard to the Kabakobwa massacre, Paragraph 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that, "[s]ubsequently, Kanyabashi called in reinforcements from the Presidential Guard. On their arrival they took part in the attacks".

1507. The Chamber considers that the introduction of the evidence in relation to the killings on 23 April 1994 did not expand the charges in the Indictment as it was consistent with the assertion that Kanyabashi "subsequently" called in reinforcements to further the killings. In addition, Witness FAM's prior statement of 24 February 2000 provides that on Saturday after the Kabakobwa killings, he witnessed Kanyabashi coming back with policemen to finish off those who had survived and search the neighbourhood for children and elderly to kill, as he participated in the communal work of burying the bodies of the victims. ³⁶²⁰ In the Chamber's view, the additional details provided in Witness FAM's prior statement provided Kanyabashi with notice that he was also being charged with killing the survivors of the first Kabakobwa attack on the following day, 23 April 1994.

1508. With respect to burials that occurred on Saturday, 23 April 1994, the Chamber notes that there is no mention of this in either Paragraphs 6.32 or 6.33 relating to Kabakobwa. The summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Witness FAM witnessed the communal work of burying victims' bodies, although it is not clear that this was linked in any way to the massacre at Kabakobwa. 3621 A plain reading of the summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony gives the impression Witness FAM would testify generally on witnessing communal work. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that evidence of the alleged burials on Saturday 23 April and Kanyabashi's alleged involvement therein fall outside the scope of the Indictment.

Alleged Defect in Paragraph 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment Concerning the Identity of Kanvabashi's Subordinates

1509. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that following the Chamber's Decision of 31 May 2000 ordering that subordinates be specified in the Kanyabashi Indictment, Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.33 were not amended to include the requisite information. Thus, it argues that

³⁶¹⁸ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness QCB) (ruling that, "the issue raised by the Defence is legitimate. And we would expect, in future, that that kind of exchange of information shall be done in order to facilitate the proceedings and the search for justice ... That would be the ruling of the Trial Chamber on this matter.").

3619 Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4

pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility). ³⁶²⁰ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 4 December 2000.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

³⁶²² Kanvabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000.

Kanyabashi cannot be held responsible pursuant to Article 6 (3) for acts allegedly committed at Kabakobwa by responsables de cellule. 3623

- 1510. The Chamber recalls that the original Paragraph 6.29 set forth that Ngoma commune was the site of numerous massacres, in which Kanyabashi was either directly involved or in which his subordinates were implicated. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 31 May 2000, it ordered the Prosecution to specify the identity of the subordinates referred to in Paragraph 6.29 of the Amended Kanyabashi Indictment, filed 12 August 1999. 3624 The Prosecution amended Paragraph 6.29 of the Amended Kanyabashi Indictment, filed 29 June 2000, to state that Ngoma *commune* was the site of numerous massacres, in which Kanyabashi was either directly involved or in which his subordinates, as set out in Paragraph 6.32, were implicated. Paragraph 6.32 of the Amended Indictment states: Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates, notably conseillers de secteur and commune policemen, and asked certain members of the Hutu population to go to Kabakobwa cellule to eliminate the refugees. 3625
- 1511. Although Amended Indictment Paragraphs 6.32 or 6.33 still do not include responsables de cellule as Kanyabashi's subordinates, the Chamber notes Paragraph 4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that Kanyabashi exercised authority over his subordinates in his capacity as bourgmestre of Ngoma commune. According to Paragraph 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, those subordinates include, but are not limited to, conseillers de secteur and commune policemen. The Indictment therefore envisages the existence of other categories of subordinates insofar as Kanyabashi is concerned. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber considers it possible to infer from reading the Indictment as a whole that other civil servants, such as responsables de cellule, were also Kanyabashi's alleged subordinates.
- 1512. The Chamber notes the summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief sets forth that on the Sunday following the Kabakobwa massacre. Kanyabashi came to the secteur and held a meeting with the conseiller and the responsables de cellule asking them to tell the surviving Tutsis to come out of hiding. Witness FAM's previous statement of 24 February 2000 is consistent with the summary of his anticipated evidence as to the Sunday events, namely that Kanyabashi came to the secteur and held a meeting with the conseiller and the responsables de cellule, asking them to tell the surviving Tutsis to come out of hiding. 3626
- 1513. This disclosure is timely, clear and consistent and put Kanyabashi on notice that the Prosecution intended to bring evidence of the responsables de cellule's involvement with respect to the alleged 24 April 1994 meeting. Therefore, the Chamber considers the defect in the Indictment for failing to specify that Kanyabashi had authority over responsables de cellule is cured.

³⁶²³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 112.

³⁶²⁴ Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31

³⁶²⁵ Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility). 3626 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 4 December 2000 and 1 October 2001.

Nsabimana's Alleged Involvement at Kabakobwa on 23 April 1994

1514. In addition to submissions concerning the vagueness of Indictment Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 that allege Nsabimana aided and abetted the massacre of Tutsis,³⁶²⁷ the Nsabimana Defence submits that it was not provided with any notice that Witness QCB, the sole Prosecution witness to implicate Nsabimana in the Kabakobwa events, would testify against Nsabimana.³⁶²⁸ When Witness QCB testified about the Kabakobwa events and first testified about the presence of Nsabimana, the Nsabimana Defence objected on the basis of lack of notice.³⁶²⁹ The Chamber ruled that the objection was legitimate insofar as Witness QCB's testimony was not mere information that came out in the course of testifying.³⁶³⁰ The Nsabimana Defence cross-examined Witness QCB six days later, on 27 March 2002.

1515. The Chamber notes that Indictment Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 which allege that, *inter alia*, Nsabimana aided and abetted the massacre of Tutsis, fail to provide any details as to where or when the alleged acts of aiding and abetting occurred. Such a broad allegation is insufficient to have put Nsabimana on notice to adequately prepare his defence in regard to the Kabakobwa incident. For this reason, the Chamber agrees that Indictment Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 are defective in this respect.

1516. The Chamber further notes that while the summary of Prosecution Witness FAM's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief outlines how Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo allegedly contributed to the events at Kabakobwa, no mention is made of Nsabimana. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers the Prosecution did not provide the Nsabimana Defence with adequate notice that he was being charged with aiding and abetting in the massacre at Kabakobwa such that the Chamber will not make any finding against Nsabimana in this respect.

3.6.8.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness FAM

1517. Witness FAM, a Hutu and detainee at the time of his testimony,³⁶³² testified that Kanyabashi, in the company of Nsanzabahizi, came to Rango market, between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. on a Thursday in April 1994.³⁶³³ Kanyabashi told those present that roadblocks were to be erected in the various *cellules* and *secteurs* as protection against the enemy, and that Tutsis should not be allowed to leave Ngoma *commune*, but rather they should be guided to Kabakobwa where they could seek refuge.³⁶³⁴

³⁶²⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 44, 52.

³⁶²⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 63-66, 1118-1122.

³⁶²⁹ T. 21 March 2002 p. 26 (Witness QCB).

³⁶³⁰ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness QCB).

³⁶³¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

³⁶³² T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).

³⁶³³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 81; T. 7 March 2002 p. 46; T. 12 March 2002 p. 133 (Witness FAM).

³⁶³⁴ T. 6 March 2002 p. 76; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 81-82; T. 12 March 2002 p. 133 (Witness FAM).

- 1518. Colonel Muvunyi and some soldiers also came to Rango market on that day, but he did not notice their arrival as he was focused on Kanyabashi's address. Kanyabashi arrived with some policemen. Only Kanyabashi spoke during the gathering at Rango market, which lasted about one hour and was attended by more than 100 people. After the meeting, people dispersed and roadblocks were set up in compliance with Kanyabashi's instructions.
- 1519. Witness FAM testified that he saw Kanyabashi on the following day, Friday, and that Kanyabashi told him and others to cover themselves in banana leaves and anoint the upper parts of their bodies with black colour. Kanyabashi was in the presence of many soldiers, as well as Nteziryayo, Muvunyi and Mathias Nsanzabahizi. Kanyabashi told Witness FAM to accompany him to Kabakobwa. 3639
- 1520. Witness FAM testified that the soldiers, policemen and civilians all left the market at the same time to go to Kabakobwa. As a result of what they were told, the group went to Kabakobwa armed with traditional weapons, especially machetes, spears and clubs. Kanyabashi, Nteziryayo and the policemen gave them authorisation to be armed. When he arrived at Kabakobwa, many people were gathered there whom he was told were Tutsis. There were more than 2,500 people at Kabakobwa.
- 1521. Nteziryayo arrived at Kabakobwa in a military vehicle at about the same time the witness arrived, 3643 and in the company of soldiers. Witness FAM testified that when his group arrived at Kabakobwa, around 3.00 p.m., soldiers and policemen surrounded those people, and asked Witness FAM and his group to attack the Tutsis using their traditional weapons. Those who were attacked were able to resist, so two minutes later the soldiers and policemen shot into the crowd. He saw weapons such as Kalashnikov rifles and grenades used against the crowd by the soldiers. Commune policemen, soldiers and civilians all killed. The civilians attacked first, followed two minutes later by the military. When they finished the massacre, they loaded livestock, motorcycles and other valuable items which they found onto military vehicles. When they finished the killing, they left between 4.00 and 5.00 p.m. Witness FAM later stated he left at 5.30 p.m. he with the same time the same time the witness familiary vehicles.

```
<sup>3635</sup> T. 12 March 2002 pp. 143-144 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3636</sup> T. 12 March 2002 p. 140 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3637</sup> T. 12 March 2002 pp. 153-154 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3638</sup> T. 6 March 2002 p. 81; T. 12 March 2002 p. 154 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3639</sup> T. 6 March 2002 pp. 82-85 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3640</sup> T. 13 March 2002 p. 56 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3641</sup> T. 6 March 2002 p. 84 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3642</sup> T. 6 March 2002 pp. 84-85 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3643</sup> T. 7 March 2002 pp. 76, 80 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3644</sup> T. 7 March 2002 p. 58; T. 13 March 2002 pp. 30-32 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3645</sup> T. 6 March 2002 p. 86; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 46, 48, 76; T. 13 March 2002 p. 27 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3646</sup> T. 6 March 2002 p. 85; T. 13 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3647</sup> T. 6 March 2002 pp. 84-85; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 48, 80 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3648</sup> T. 6 March 2002 pp. 84-85; T. 7 March 2002 p. 48 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3649</sup> T. 7 March 2002 pp. 75-75 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3650</sup> T. 13 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3651</sup> T. 7 March 2002 p. 85 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3652</sup> T. 13 March 2002 p. 58 (Witness FAM).
```

- 1522. Witness FAM testified that there were many other civilians at Kabakobwa dressed in banana leaves, but he did not remember the exact number.³⁶⁵³ While the soldiers and policemen were shooting at the crowd at Kabakobwa, those dressed in banana leaves prevented anyone from escaping. Those dressed in banana leaves used traditional weapons to kill those people who tried to escape the gunfire.³⁶⁵⁴
- 1523. Witness FAM saw Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa standing next to a vehicle and observing the manner in which people were being massacred and how those who were trying to escape were being contained.³⁶⁵⁵
- 1524. The next day, Saturday [23 April 1994] at 8.00 a.m., Witness FAM returned to Kabakobwa on the authorisation of Kanyabashi to perform communal activities, known as *umuganda*. Kanyabashi told them to engage in *finissage*, or to massacre those who were not killed the day before. Witness FAM testified that they were asked to perform *umuganda* at 8.00 a.m. on that morning by both the *cellule* leaders and Kanyabashi. Kanyabashi was not at the meeting on Saturday morning when instructions on *umuganda* were given. However, since Kanyabashi was the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* at the time and nobody killed or performed *umuganda* without having received instructions, Kanyabashi was responsible.
- 1525. Witness FAM buried the bodies, a task which continued on Sunday when the killings ended. Kanyabashi, the *conseiller de secteur*, Kanywabahizi and Jean Semwiza were present. Witness FAM left Kabakobwa on Saturday around 10.30 or 11.00 a.m. He estimated there were more than 2,500 victims at Kabakobwa.
- 1526. Witness FAM explained that he did not mention Kanyabashi or Nteziryayo in his confession of 3 August 1998 because he was detained with members of Kanyabashi's and Nteziryayo's families and was concerned for his safety. Witness FAM testified that he pled guilty in a Rwandan court to genocide for crimes committed at a roadblock and during night patrols. He testified that when he was first apprehended he did not admit his culpability because there was not a working judiciary in Rwanda at the time. At the time of his testimony Witness FAM had not yet been sentenced and still did not know whether his

³⁶⁵³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁴ T. 6 March 2002 p. 87 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁵ T. 6 March 2002 p. 87; T. 13 March 2002 p. 58 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁶ T. 6 March 2002 p. 88; T. 13 March 2002 pp. 61-62 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁷ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 88, 109; T. 7 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁸ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 61-62, 65 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁵⁹ T. 13 March 2002 p. 65 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶⁰ T. 7 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶¹ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 72-73 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶² T. 13 March 2002 p. 77 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶³ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 86, 104 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶⁴ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94, 106-107 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶⁵ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAM).

³⁶⁶⁶ T. 11 March 2002 p. 32 (Witness FAM).

confession had been accepted or rejected. ³⁶⁶⁷ He denied that his fate was conditioned upon the testimony he gave before this Tribunal. ³⁶⁶⁸

- 1527. Witness FAM said that after confessing, he was separated from the other detainees and placed into a new detention house for those who were confessing, called "Arusha". The confessors were moved to ensure their security, but he denied that conditions in the Arusha house were better than in the general wing. He testified that he confessed because he wanted to tell the truth about the death of innocent people, not to gain additional rations or better conditions in detention. The security of the securit
- 1528. Witness FAM testified that he was detained with Witness QCB in Karubanda prison and had also been detained with Witness QCB in Arusha for 5 to 6 months while they waited to give their testimony before this Tribunal. He stated that he attended *Gacaca* sessions in Karubanda prison that discussed events in their *secteur* with Witness QCB, but that they were each concerned with their own case. 3673
- 1529. Witness FAM knew Kanyabashi since 1985³⁶⁷⁴ and identified Kanyabashi in court.³⁶⁷⁵ Witness FAM first saw Nteziryayo in the military barracks in Butare when he went there for arms training, in February 1994.³⁶⁷⁶ Witness FAM last saw Nteziryayo in July 1994, while Nteziryayo was coming to collect the guns that had been distributed to those who were at roadblocks.³⁶⁷⁷ Witness FAM identified Nteziryayo in court.³⁶⁷⁸

Prosecution Witness QAM

1530. Witness QAM, a Tutsi student,³⁶⁷⁹ testified that on a Friday, the *Interahamwe* came to her house wielding spears and bludgeons.³⁶⁸⁰ They went from house to house where they knew there were Tutsis, and told the Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa.³⁶⁸¹ The *Interahamwe* who came to her house told them the order came from the *conseiller*, and it appeared the *conseiller* received an order from the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma.³⁶⁸² She and her family proceeded to Kabakobwa immediately as ordered.³⁶⁸³

```
<sup>3667</sup> T. 11 March 2002 pp. 48-49, 53, 61 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3668</sup> T. 11 March 2002 p. 49 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3669</sup> T. 12 March 2002 pp. 110-111 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3670</sup> T. 12 March 2002 pp. 111-112 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3671</sup> T. 12 March 2002 p. 112 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3672</sup> T. 13 March 2002 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM).
<sup>3673</sup> T. 13 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM).
<sup>3674</sup> T. 6 March 2002 pp. 79-80 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3675</sup> T. 7 March 2002 pp. 14-15 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3676</sup> T. 7 March 2002 pp. 8, 41, 86, 106 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3677</sup> T. 7 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3678</sup> T. 7 March 2002 p. 19 (Witness FAM).
<sup>3679</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 129 (ICS) (Witness QAM); Prosecution Exhibit 43 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>3680</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 59 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3681</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 59; T. 23 October 2001 pp. 16, 68-69 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3682</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 63 (Witness QAM).
```

³⁶⁸³ T. 22 October 2001 p. 60; T. 23 October 2001 p. 66; T. 24 October 2001 p. 21 (Witness QAM).

- 1532. Witness QAM testified that around 11.00 a.m. on the same day she arrived at Kabakobwa, she saw the same group of *Interahamwe* who previously came to her home, but they left quickly, saying that "they were going to announce to the *bourgmestre* that people at Kabakobwa were sufficient in number". The person identified in Defence Exhibit 3 made this statement. The *Interahamwe* said they would return to confront those in Kabakobwa. The *Interahamwe* said they would return to confront those in Kabakobwa.
- 1533. The *Interahamwe* later came back to Kabakobwa armed with machetes, spears and cudgels and accompanied by *commune* policemen carrying guns and grenades. In the early afternoon, the policemen surrounded the people gathered at Kabakobwa from all sides. They then opened fire on them while the *Interahamwe* started cutting to pieces those who had been wounded with the bullets. Grenades were also used. Those who survived the bullets ran away towards Nyaruhengeri when the *Interahamwe* started attacking with machetes. Was a started attacking with machetes.
- 1534. She was unable to estimate the number of policemen who attacked the group at Kabakobwa. The policemen wore green uniforms. The attack started around 2.00 p.m. and continued until 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. Almost all of the people who were at Kabakobwa were killed and less than 50 were able to survive. She estimated the number of persons who had been gathered at Kabakobwa to be between 5,000 and 10,000. Two of her family members were killed there. Two

```
<sup>3684</sup> T. 22 October 2001 pp. 59-60 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3685</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 60 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3686</sup> T. 22 October 2001 pp. 60-61 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3687</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 61 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3688</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 70, 95 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3689</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 75, 78 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3690</sup> T. 22 October 2001 pp. 62, 64; T. 23 October 2001 p. 100 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3691</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 100, 102-103 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 3 (Kanyabashi) (Document with one
hand-written name).
<sup>3692</sup> T. 22 October 2001 pp. 62, 64 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3693</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3694</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 86, 90 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3695</sup> T. 22 October 2001 pp. 65-66; T. 24 October 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3696</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 91-92 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3697</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 91-92, 108 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3698</sup> T. 23 October 2001 p. 86 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3699</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 70, 91 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3700</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 67 (Witness QAM).
<sup>3701</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness QAM).
```

³⁷⁰² T. 22 October 2001 p. 66; T. 24 October 2001 p. 22 (Witness QAM).

- 1535. Witness QAM did not see soldiers, gendarmes or members of the Presidential Guard at Kabakobwa. There were only civilians and *commune* policemen. When put to Witness QAM that her statement of 22 May 1997 stated that Kanyabashi sent soldiers from the Presidential Guard to exterminate Tutsis, she said the investigators got it wrong and she had told them that Kanyabashi did not have authority over the soldiers. ³⁷⁰⁵ She further explained that she intended to use the word "policemen" and not "soldier" in her statement. 3706 When put to her that her statement did not mention Interahamwe, Witness QAM said that she used this word because those who came to her house described themselves as *Interahamwe*, ³⁷⁰⁷ although she did not know what political party those Hutus belonged to. 3708 The *Interahamwe* wore ordinary clothes and a banana leaf tied around their waist. 3709
- 1536. Witness QAM identified Prosecution Exhibit 34A as a picture of Kabakobwa. 3710 Witness QAM saw commune police in the location she identified at the bottom left-hand corner and the middle portion of the right-hand side of Exhibit 34A.³⁷¹¹
- 1537. There were only Tutsis at Kabakobwa since every Hutu present left.³⁷¹² Kanyabashi's daughter had come to Kabakobwa with her husband, a Tutsi, but she was later taken home without her husband. This happened around 11.30 a.m. on the day of the massacre. 3713 Witness QAM identified Kanyabashi in court. 3714

Prosecution Witness QCB

1538. Witness QCB, a Hutu married to a Tutsi woman,³⁷¹⁵ and detained witness awaiting sentencing in Rwanda at the time of his testimony,³⁷¹⁶ testified that he went to his place of work on the morning of [Thursday] 21 April 1994, at around 7.00 a.m., 3717 was told that there was no assignment for him on that day, and so he immediately decided to return home.³⁷¹⁸ On his way home, at about 9.00 or 9.10 a.m., he stopped at the Rugira roadblock, where he saw people being loaded into vehicles and taken to the IRST. 3719 He left the IRST around 9.30

³⁷⁰³ T. 23 October 2001 p. 84 (Witness QAM).

³⁷⁰⁴ T. 23 October 2001 p. 117; T. 24 October 2001 p. 36 (Witness QAM).

³⁷⁰⁵ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 85, 118; T. 24 October 2001 p. 31 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 4B (Kanyabashi)

⁽²⁰ May 1997, Statement of Witness QAM). ³⁷⁰⁶ T. 24 October 2001 p. 33 (Witness QAM).

³⁷⁰⁷ T. 24 October 2001 pp. 11, 13-14 (Witness QAM).

³⁷⁰⁸ T. 24 October 2001 pp. 16-17 (Witness QAM).

³⁷⁰⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 64 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹⁰ T. 22 October 2001 p. 68 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹¹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 73 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹² T. 23 October 2001 p. 93 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹³ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 95-96 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹⁴ T. 22 October 2001 p. 76 (Witness QAM).

³⁷¹⁵ T. 28 March 2002 p. 138 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷¹⁶ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 36-37 (Witness QCB).

³⁷¹⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 37-38 (Witness QCB).

³⁷¹⁸ T. 20 March 2002 p. 77 (Witness QCB).

³⁷¹⁹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 88 (Witness OCB).

a.m. ³⁷²⁰ and arrived at Rango market around 11.00 a.m., where he saw Kanyabashi and Muvunyi. ³⁷²¹

1539. Colonel Muvunyi was with five soldiers in a Land Rover and he beckoned the population to come near him. He asked an *Interahamwe* leader named Cyiza what the Tutsi refugees were doing at Kanyamanza in Tumba *secteur*, and stated that they must "leave that place". Muvunyi told Cyiza to chase the refugees away but Kanyabashi said, "[n]o, let them go through to Kabakobwa", but without their belongings. In cross-examination he added that Kanyabashi said, "no one should steal their property, and no one should touch them". From this Witness QCB testified that he and the others understood that the security of the refugees would be guaranteed. However, at 6.00 p.m. that night a *responsible de cellule* came to tell them to surround the refugees and that none of them should escape. 3724

1540. From the point where he stood, Witness QCB could see Kanyabashi clearly.³⁷²⁵ Witness QCB marked the spot where he was standing on Prosecution Exhibit 53 as "Q2".³⁷²⁶ The presence of the 3,000 refugees in Kanyamanza was marked on Prosecution Exhibit 53 by drawing a circle around the words "secteur Tumba" in the upper right-hand corner.³⁷²⁷

1541. The refugees left for Kabakobwa without their possessions as Kanyabashi stated. These Tutsis had come from the school between Sahera and Nkubi *secteurs*. Witness QCB and others had taken the refugees from the school to Kanyamanza, near Rango market, and then to Kabakobwa. After the meeting at the market, Witness QCB again encountered Muvunyi down the road to Kansi. At that time, a truck passed which contained 10 dead bodies and some soldiers. Muvunyi told the soldiers to throw the bodies onto the ground and told Witness QCB and the others with him: "There you have an example of what you must do. You must kill the Tutsis." Kanyabashi was not present at that moment. Witness QCB marked the spot where he was standing when he saw Muvunyi on Prosecution Exhibit 53 as "Q3".

1542. Witness QCB testified that after this event, the same soldiers proceeded to Rukimbira's house. ³⁷³¹ He was not present during the killing of Rukimbira because he was still at Rango. ³⁷³²

1543. Later that same day, [Thursday] 21 April 1994, at 6.00 p.m., Witness QCB testified that the *responsable de cellule* assembled the population along the road that goes to Kabakobwa and told them that Kanyabashi had ordered that all Tutsis should be watched and

³⁷²⁰ T. 20 March 2002 p. 95 (Witness QCB).

³⁷²¹ T. 20 March 2002 p. 96; T. 3 April 2002 pp. 7-8 (Witness QCB).

³⁷²² T. 20 March 2002 pp. 97-98; T. 28 March 2002 p. 112 (ICS); T. 3 April 2002 p. 12 (Witness QCB).

³⁷²³ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 98-99; T. 28 March 2002 pp. 112-113 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁴ T. 28 March 2002 p. 113 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁵ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 99, 101-102 (Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁶ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 101-102 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁷ T. 20 March 2002 p. 109 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁸ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 98, 100; T. 28 March 2002 p. 87 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷²⁹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 110-111 (Witness QCB).

T. 20 March 2002 p. 135 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷³¹ T. 28 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷³² T. 3 April 2002 p. 104 (Witness OCB).

not allowed to return to their homes.³⁷³³ They were told to watch the Tutsis until soldiers came to kill them.³⁷³⁴ The *responsible de cellule* said those instructions came from the *bourgmestre*, Kanyabashi.³⁷³⁵ For the remainder of the night, Witness QCB and others guarded the Tutsis.³⁷³⁶ They did not sleep that night.³⁷³⁷ About 3,000 Tutsis sought refuge in Kanyamanza, and by the time the refugees gathered at Kabakobwa they numbered 5,000.³⁷³⁸ The meeting with the *responsible de cellule* took place at the spot marked "Q4" on Prosecution Exhibit 53.³⁷³⁹

1544. The next day, Friday 22 April 1994, at 10.00 a.m., Witness QCB saw soldiers come to Kabakobwa and approach the refugees to ask how many people were on the hill. The Tutsis told the soldiers that the Hutus had surrounded them and indicated their number to be 5,000. The leader of the soldiers then came to Witness QCB and other Hutus standing guard. The soldiers introduced themselves, said they were from the ESO camp in Butare and told the witness and others, "[d]o not think that we are *Inkotanyi*, we come from [the] ESO". The leader of the soldiers said that they could not attack "them" with Kalashnikovs and that they were going to ask Muvunyi for more sophisticated weapons so that they could deal with the Tutsis. Witness QCB agreed that he did not include the soldiers' words in his statement of 7 April 1999. His statement was incorrect insofar as it stated that the soldiers told the Hutus to go home.

1545. There were about 250 soldiers.³⁷⁴⁵ The 250 soldiers included members of the "Rwandan Army" forces, who were wearing black berets and others from the *gendarmes* wearing red berets.³⁷⁴⁶

1546. Witness QCB testified that later that day, at about 3.00 p.m., he saw Mathias Nsanzabahizi, who worked both as Kanyabashi's driver and as a policeman at the Ngoma *commune*, arrive at Kabakobwa where the Tutsis had been surrounded. Nsanzabahizi read a letter out loud, which stated that Kanyabashi asked the population to join the soldiers in attacking the Tutsis. Witness QCB saw the letter dated 22 April 1994, and said it bore the stamp of the *commune* and Kanyabashi's signature. While Nsanzabahizi was reading the letter, the soldiers started shooting and Nsanzabahizi stopped reading. Nsanzabahizi told

```
<sup>3733</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 111, 114; T. 28 March 2002 p. 113 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
<sup>3734</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 111, 114 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3735</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 111-113 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3736</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 114; T. 26 March 2002 pp. 116-117 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3737</sup> T. 28 March 2002 p. 137 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
<sup>3738</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 108 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3739</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 136 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).
<sup>3740</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 116-117; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 6, 18-19 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3741</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 118 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3742</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 116-117; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 6, 18-19 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3743</sup> T. 2 April 2002 p. 8 (Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 29 (Ntahobali) (7 April 1999, Statement of Witness
<sup>3744</sup> T. 2 April 2002 p. 8 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3745</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 117 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3746</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 121 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3747</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 121-122; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 6-7 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3748</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 123; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 10-11; T. 3 April 2002 p. 74 (Witness QCB).
```

³⁷⁴⁹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 123-124 (Witness OCB).

Witness QCB and others that they should join in the massacre. Nsanzabahizi was standing about one metre from Witness QCB. Witness QCB listened to Nsanzabahizi's words from the same spot marked on Prosecution Exhibit 53 as "Q4". Witness QCB acknowledged that in none of his seven previous statements to the Tribunal's investigators did he mention the letter from Kanyabashi that Nsanzabahizi read on the morning of 22 April 1994. 3753

1547. Nsanzabahizi had a gun and a grenade, which he subsequently used to kill the Tutsis. According to Witness QCB, when his gun could not shoot anymore, Nsanzabahizi used his grenade against the Tutsis. Witness QCB saw the soldiers shoot the Tutsis, and saw the Hutu civilians kill those Tutsis that tried to escape. Witness QCB testified that the soldiers opened fire on the refugees first, followed by the Hutu population and policemen. The attack on the refugees started around 3.30 p.m. 3757

1548. When it was put to Witness QCB that none of his several statements that were disclosed to the Defence, including his statement to Rwandan authorities dated 26 August 1999, implicated *commune* policemen other than Nsanzabahizi in the Kabakobwa attacks, Witness QCB said he started with Nsanzabahizi because he was the leader of the policemen. He also named several other *commune* policemen from Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs* who he claimed were with him and killed people "like thunder" in the attack. 3761

1549. Witness QCB testified that about 2,000 people were killed in Kabakobwa.³⁷⁶² The presence of the Hutu civilians from various *secteurs* that surrounded Kabakobwa was marked on Prosecution Exhibit 53.³⁷⁶³ The place where the refugees gathered at Kabakobwa was also marked on Prosecution Exhibit 53.³⁷⁶⁴

1550. On recall in 2009, Witness QCB was questioned as to his testimony before a Canadian Court in 2007, 3765 where he stated that his group of civilians arrived at Kabakobwa around

³⁷⁵⁰ T. 20 March 2002 p. 123 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵¹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 126, 128-129; T. 2 April 2002 p. 19 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵² T. 20 March 2002 p. 133 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵³ T. 2 April 2002 pp. 23-26 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵⁴ T. 20 March 2002 p. 129 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵⁵ T. 20 March 2002 p. 125 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵⁶ T. 2 April 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵⁷ T. 23 February 2009 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁵⁸ See Defence Exhibit 29 (Ntahobali) (7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 31 (Nsabimana) (19 April 1999, Witness QCB's Guilty Plea); Defence Exhibit 38B (Kanyabashi) (17 June 1999, Witness QCB's Confirmation of Confession); Defence Exhibit 26D (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 32 (Nsabimana) (27 August 1999, Record of Witness QCB's Rwandan Hearing); Defence Exhibit 41B (Kanyabashi) (3 January 2001, Request to the Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 42 (Kanyabashi) (28 March 2001, Witness QCB's Confession).

³⁷⁵⁹ See Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶⁰ T. 28 March 2002 p. 88; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 26-28, 53 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶¹ T. 2 April 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶² T. 20 March 2002 p. 126; T. 2 April 2002 p. 58 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶³ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 138, 140; T. 26 March 2002 pp. 105-106, 114 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶⁴ T. 20 March 2002 p. 142 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶⁵ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 8, 16 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

3.30 p.m. on [Friday] 22 April 1994, ³⁷⁶⁶ that they were led to Kabakobwa by *gendarmes*, and their leader was Major Rusigariye. ³⁷⁶⁷ Witness QCB clarified that while the *gendarmes* were led by Major Rusigariye, his group was led by *responsables de cellule*, and they were helping the *gendarmes*. ³⁷⁶⁸ When the *gendarmes* came to Kabakobwa however, they came with a policeman called Mathias Nsanzabahizi. ³⁷⁶⁹ He knew Major Rusigariye prior to the events at Kabakobwa even though he had testified before the Tribunal in 2002 that he had not known Rusigariye. ³⁷⁷⁰

1551. Witness QCB testified that he did not mention the letter read out by Nsanzabahizi in his testimony before the Canadian Court because he was asked questions about other people, and not Kanyabashi. Nsanzabahizi arrived at Kabakobwa in the morning to read out Kanyabashi's letter at about 7.00 a.m., although he testified in 2002 before the Court that Nsanzabahizi had arrived with the letter in the afternoon. Nsanzabahizi returned in the afternoon around 3.00 p.m. to fire on the refugees. From 7.00 a.m. until 3.30 p.m., the Hutus surrounded the refugees and awaited orders to kill them.

1552. Witness QCB testified that on [Saturday] 23 April 1994 he went back to Kabakobwa to bury the deceased. At 7.30 a.m. he saw there were two trucks and a bulldozer at the site of the massacre. That same morning, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana came to the site at about 9.00 a.m., arriving aboard separate vehicles, one right after the other. They walked around and Kanyabashi commended the villagers for the work they had done in burying the dead. They only stayed five minutes and then left. All the local population, minus women and children, was present when they arrived. Kanyabashi and Nsabimana stood only three steps from Witness QCB. The spot from where Kanyabashi and Muvunyi observed events at Kabakobwa was marked on Prosecution Exhibit 53. Witness QCB acknowledged he had not mentioned Kanyabashi's presence at the burial site in Kabakobwa on the morning of 23 April 1994 in any of his statements which the Prosecution disclosed to the Defence.

```
<sup>3766</sup> T. 23 February 2009 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
```

³⁷⁶⁷ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 9-10, 12 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶⁸ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 9, 12, 16-17 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁶⁹ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁰ T. 23 February 2009 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷¹ T. 23 February 2009 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷² T. 23 February 2009 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷³ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 22-25 (ICS) (Witness QCB). See T. 20 March 2002 p. 122; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 6-7

⁽Witness QCB) (Nsanzabahizi arrived around 3.00 p.m.). ³⁷⁷⁴ T. 23 February 2009 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁵ T. 23 February 2009 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁶ T. 21 March 2002 p. 6 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁷ T. 21 March 2002 p. 16; T. 27 March 2002 p. 6 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁸ T. 21 March 2002 p. 17 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁷⁹ T. 21 March 2002 p. 18 (Witness QCB).

³⁷⁸⁰ T. 21 March 2002 p. 37; T. 2 April 2002 p. 20 (Witness QCB).

T. 21 March 2002 pp. 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).

³⁷⁸² T. 2 April 2002 pp. 118-119 (Witness QCB). *See* Defence Exhibit 29 (Ntahobali) (7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 31 (Nsabimana) (19 April 1999, Witness QCB's Guilty Plea); Defence Exhibit 38B (Kanyabashi) (17 June 1999, Witness QCB's Confirmation of Confession); Defence Exhibit 26D (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 32 (Nsabimana) (27 August 1999, Record of

- 1553. Witness QCB was in detention and had not yet entered a guilty plea or been sentenced at the time of his testimony.³⁷⁸³ He agreed that those classified as Category 1 prisoners may be subject to capital punishment, but those that confess are Category 2 prisoners and may have a reduced sentenced of imprisonment.³⁷⁸⁴ Witness QCB learned that there were executions in April 1998 in Butare, but testified that his confession of June 1998 was not motivated by those events. Rather, he confessed because of the remorse he felt for the crimes that he committed.³⁷⁸⁵
- 1554. Witness QCB admitted that he was detained together with Witness FAM in Arusha pending his testimony before this Tribunal, and that they were detained in the same area in Rwanda. He noted that the prison in which they were detained contained 7,000 detainees.³⁷⁸⁶

Prosecution Witness QP

1555. Witness QP, a female Tutsi aged 15 in 1994,³⁷⁸⁷ testified that Kanyabashi was the *bourgmestre* of her *commune*, and that she had seen him before April 1994 because he would come for meetings.³⁷⁸⁸ On a Thursday in April at about noon, at Rwinuma *cellule*, she saw Kanyabashi inside a moving vehicle accompanied by a man in a green uniform going towards Kabuga, in Sahera.³⁷⁸⁹ Kanyabashi was speaking into a microphone and repeated three times, "[h]e who will burn the weeds must first gather them."³⁷⁹⁰ Witness QP said she was at home before noon and on hearing the announcements, she went up the road to get closer.³⁷⁹¹ The witness was about 20 metres away from Kanyabashi at that time.³⁷⁹² The car's driver was a policeman she did not know.³⁷⁹³ Approximately 15 minutes later, Kanyabashi and his companion returned from the direction of Kabuga still speaking into the microphone and uttering the same words.³⁷⁹⁴ After the vehicle returned the second time, the witness went home and asked her father what those words meant.³⁷⁹⁵ Her father explained that the Tutsis were to be killed.³⁷⁹⁶ Witness QP could not recall the type or colour of the vehicle that Kanyabashi travelled in that day or what it looked like, stating that too much time had passed.³⁷⁹⁷ Witness QP could not positively identify Kanyabashi in court.³⁷⁹⁸

```
Witness QCB's Rwandan Hearing); Defence Exhibit 41B (Kanyabashi) (3 January 2001, Request to the Rwandan
Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 42 (Kanyabashi) (28 March 2001, Witness QCB's Confession).
<sup>3783</sup> T. 27 March 2002 p. 158 (Witness QCB). <sup>3784</sup> T. 27 March 2002 p. 142 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3785</sup> T. 27 March 2002 p. 161 (Witness QCB).
<sup>3786</sup> T. 28 March 2002 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
<sup>3787</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness QP).
<sup>3788</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 152-153 (Witness QP).
<sup>3789</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 154, 158-159, 162 (Witness QP).
<sup>3790</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 154-156, 158; T. 6 June 2002 pp. 76-77, 83, 94 (Witness QP).
<sup>3791</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 79-80 (Witness QP).
<sup>3792</sup> T. 5 June 2002 p. 157 (estimated 30 metres); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 6-7 (Registry confirmed the measured
distance was 20 metres) (Witness QP).
<sup>3793</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 88 (Witness QP).
<sup>3794</sup> T. 5 June 2002 p. 160 (Witness QP).
<sup>3795</sup> T. 5 June 2002 p. 160; T. 6 June 2002 p. 96 (Witness QP).
<sup>3796</sup> T. 5 June 2002 p. 161 (Witness QP).
<sup>3797</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness QP).
<sup>3798</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 21 (Witness OP).
```

1556. Witness QP did not go to the market on Thursday morning, or hear of a pickup truck with soldiers that threw 10 dead bodies from the truck.³⁷⁹⁹

1557. Witness QP testified that later on the same day [Thursday] she saw Kanyabashi, she saw her *responsable de cellule* order Tutsi civilians to proceed to Kabakobwa to join the others. 3800 Witness QP, along with her parents, a sister and three brothers, walked to Kabakobwa on that Thursday, taking with them some of their cattle and household effects. They stayed there Thursday night. On arrival at Kabakobwa, she found so many Tutsi refugees that "one [could not] count them." Apart from a few Hutu women who had followed their husbands, the rest of those seeking refuge were Tutsis. When put to Witness QP that in her statement of 24 June 1997 she stated that the *responsable de cellule* told the refugees to go to Kabakobwa for their safety, Witness QP testified that they were just told to go to Kabakobwa.

1558. Witness QP testified that on the Friday morning a man named Mathias, who was a Hutu from Gasharo *cellule* and an employee of Ngoma *commune*, arrived at Kabakobwa in a green Toyota vehicle belonging to Ngoma *commune*. Mathias came to Kabakobwa to fetch his sister, his Tutsi brother-in-law and their children who were among the Tutsi refugees at Kabakobwa. He came at 6.00 a.m. She was about 10 metres from the vehicle and saw his family members board it. She heard one of the refugees ask Mathias why he was taking these people away, and who would take care of those seeking refuge, to which Mathias responded, "[p]ray, because the hour of your death has come." 3807

1559. Witness QP testified that at approximately 2.00 p.m. on Friday 8 April 1994 (*sic*), soldiers attacked the refugees by throwing into the crowd things that "looked like small containers [that] exploded", killing some refugees. The soldiers wore red berets, trousers and shirts with stains. The soldiers also had other weapons and shot at the refugees. There were also policemen and Hutu civilians among the attackers. The policemen were armed with guns. She could recognise policemen by their uniforms although she did not know their names. The civilians wore banana leaves and carried spears, swords, machetes, cudgels and hoes. They used their weapons on the civilians after the soldiers and policemen "had finished." When they saw the civilian population attack with traditional arms, they

```
<sup>3799</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 102-103 (Witness QP).
```

³⁸⁰⁰ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 161-162; T. 6 June 2002 p. 104 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰¹ T. 5 June 2002 p. 163 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰² T. 5 June 2002 p. 168; T. 6 June 2002 p. 114 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰³ T. 6 June 2002 p. 107 (Witness OP).

³⁸⁰⁴ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 106-107 (Witness QP); Defence Exhibit 69 (Kanyabashi) (24 June 1997, Statement of Witness QP).

³⁸⁰⁵ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 165-166 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰⁶ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 108, 111 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰⁷ T. 5 June 2002 p. 167 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰⁸ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness QP).

³⁸⁰⁹ T. 6 June 2002 p. 11 (Witness QP).

³⁸¹⁰ T. 6 June 2002 p. 13 (Witness QP).

³⁸¹¹ T. 6 June 2002 p. 17 (Witness QP).

³⁸¹² T. 6 June 2002 p. 112 (Witness QP).

³⁸¹³ T. 6 June 2002 p. 13 (Witness QP).

fled.³⁸¹⁴ Witness QP lost a sister in the Kabakobwa killing.³⁸¹⁵ Witness QP did not mention the loss of her sister in her statement of 24 June 1997. 3816

1560. Witness QP and Witness QW were not neighbours in their home *cellule*; the distance between their homes was quite far. Witness QP did not see Witness QW during the events at Kabakobwa. 3818 Witness QP did not discuss the events at Kabakobwa with Witness QW. 3819 Witness QP did not discuss the events at Kabakobwa during any other meetings. 3820 Witness QP also did not know a person by the same name as Witness QAM. 3821

Prosecution Witness QW

1561. Witness QW, a female Tutsi who was 16 years old in 1994, 3822 testified that one Thursday in April 1994 the person in charge of her *cellule* told the Tutsis of his *cellule* that in furtherance of Bourgmestre Kanyabashi's orders, they were to seek refuge at Kabakobwa where they would find food and supplies.³⁸²³ The *responsible de cellule* told the Tutsis that they would be protected in Kabakobwa, but that they must go there, and that they may be killed if they refused to go. 3824 They received the instructions in the morning and she and her family went to Kabakobwa in the afternoon. 3825 She did not know how Kanyabashi's instruction was conferred to her *cellule* leader.³⁸²⁶ She recalled it was a Thursday because it was market day at Rango, although she did not go.³⁸²⁷ She was at home that morning.³⁸²⁸ She did not know whether a pickup full of soldiers passed through Rango market threatening Tutsis and telling them they would not get to use what they had purchased, nor had she heard of this incident. 3829

1562. Witness OW testified that she went with her family to Kabakobwa. They arrived at Kabakobwa towards the end of the afternoon on Thursday, joining over 2,000 other refugees. 3830 Many of the refugees at Kabakobwa were fleeing massacres. While she was unable to determine where all the refugees had come from, she testified that some of them were coming from Gikongoro through Nyaruhengeri while acknowledging that the refugees might have come from other secteurs and communes. 3831 Those refugees told Witness QW that they too had been told by Kanyabashi to go to Kabakobwa to receive assistance and

```
<sup>3814</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 17 (Witness QP).
<sup>3815</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 18 (Witness QP).
<sup>3816</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QP); Defence Exhibit 68 (Kanyabashi) (Alleged Omissions in
```

Witness QP's Statement); Defence Exhibit 69 (Kanyabashi) (24 June 1997, Statement of Witness QP).

³⁸¹⁷ T. 6 June 2002 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness QP).

³⁸¹⁸ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness QP).

³⁸¹⁹ T. 6 June 2002 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QP).

³⁸²⁰ T. 6 June 2002 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QP).

³⁸²¹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QP).

T. 6 June 2002 pp. 131-132 (Witness QW); Prosecution Exhibit 59 (Personal Particulars).

³⁸²³ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 133-134; T. 6 June 2002 p. 148 (ICS) (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁴ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 134, 136 (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁵ T. 6 June 2002 p. 144 (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁶ T. 10 June 2002 p. 62 (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁷ T. 6 June 2002 p. 134; T. 10 June 2002 p. 12 (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁸ T. 10 June 2002 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness QW).

³⁸²⁹ T. 10 June 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QW).

³⁸³⁰ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 136-137 (Witness QW).

³⁸³¹ T. 10 June 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness OW).

protection. 3832 Witness QW denied that her and her family fled to Kabakobwa because of massacres in neighbouring *secteurs*. 3833

1563. Witness QW testified that the next morning, between 10.00 and 11.00 a.m., ³⁸³⁴ she saw a green vehicle bearing the inscription "Ngoma *commune*" arrive at Kabakobwa and recognised the driver, one Mathias, a *commune* employee. ³⁸³⁵ Upon his arrival at the site, Mathias told Witness QW and other refugees that he had come to Kabakobwa to collect his sister, one Marguerite who was among the refugees with her children. ³⁸³⁶ Witness QW was about three metres from Mathias' car. ³⁸³⁷ When the refugees asked Mathias when the people supposed to protect the refugees would come, he told them, "[y]ou should believe in God because your fate has already been decided. Everything that was told to you previously was lies", and "[y]our hour has come." Witness QW saw Marguerite leave with her children. ³⁸³⁹ She was about 10 metres from the car at that point. ³⁸⁴⁰

1564. Witness QW testified that the person she identified as Mathias came back towards the end of the afternoon on Friday accompanied by people in uniform, soldiers or policemen wearing green clothes with banana leaves and carrying guns, and members of the population wearing civilian clothes with banana leaves and carrying traditional weapons.³⁸⁴¹ The people in uniform went towards the refugees. The refugees moved towards them thinking that these people had come to ensure their safety. When they understood it was not the case, the refugees sat back down. The attackers then fired their guns at the refugees.³⁸⁴²

1565. Witness QW did not know whether those who fired the guns were soldiers or policemen but they were wearing banana leaves. Civilians carrying traditional weapons and wearing civilian clothes and banana leaves also attacked them. During the shooting, many refugees died, and those who did not die were later killed by the civilians. Those who were still alive fled to Kibilizi. Witness QW walked all night and arrived back at Kabakobwa the following morning, around 8.00 or 9.00 a.m. They were forced to return to Kabakobwa because wherever else they went there were massacres. Witness QW saw all the dead

```
<sup>3832</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 16 (Witness QW).
<sup>3833</sup> T. 10 June 2002 pp. 17-18 (Witness QW).
<sup>3834</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 19 (Witness OW).
<sup>3835</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 137-138 (Witness QW).
<sup>3836</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 138-139 (Witness QW).
<sup>3837</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW).
<sup>3838</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 139; T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW).
<sup>3839</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 139; T. 10 June 2002 pp. 19, 26 (Witness QW).
<sup>3840</sup> T. 10 June 2002 pp. 27-28 (Witness QW).
<sup>3841</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 139 (Witness QW).
<sup>3842</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 140 (Witness QW).
<sup>3843</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 140 (Witness QW).
<sup>3844</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 141 (Witness QW).
<sup>3845</sup> T. 6 June 2002 pp. 141-142 (Witness QW).
<sup>3846</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 141 (Witness QW).
<sup>3847</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 143; T. 10 June 2002 p. 31 (Witness QW).
<sup>3848</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 29 (Witness QW).
```

bodies and left; she did not stay there long. 3849 She did not see any bulldozers there, and did not see any gathering of people with authorities. 3850

1566. Witness QW agreed that she knew a girl by the same name as Witness QP and that they were in Arusha at the same time to give evidence. Witness QW did not see Witness QP at Kabakobwa but before she gave her statement to the Tribunal's investigators, she came to know that Witness QP was at Kabakobwa. She did not know that Witness QP had also given a statement to the Tribunal investigators. Witness QW also did not know a person by the same name as Witness QAM.

1567. Witness QW said she might have heard of an association called *Ibuka*, but she did not know what it did and she never received assistance from it.³⁸⁵⁵ She had heard of a similar association called *Avega* but had never received assistance from it.³⁸⁵⁶

Prosecution Witness QBV

1568. Witness QBV, a Hutu detainee who had participated in killings during the genocide, ³⁸⁵⁷ testified that, at about 2.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994, while at the Ramba *cellule* roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, Nteziryayo, accompanied by Colonel Muvunyi, arrived in a red double-cabin pickup. ³⁸⁵⁸ They arrived from the direction of Butare town. ³⁸⁵⁹ Colonel Muvunyi and the driver sat in the front, while Nteziryayo sat in the back. ³⁸⁶⁰ Nteziryayo, Colonel Muvunyi and their driver were in full military uniform. ³⁸⁶¹ Since the witness was standing at the roadblock, he could see into the back of the pickup; he saw grenades, guns and other things. ³⁸⁶² They were followed by another truck full of soldiers. ³⁸⁶³ They stayed at the roadblock for approximately one hour³⁸⁶⁴ and left at 3.00 p.m. ³⁸⁶⁵

1569. Witness QBV testified that when Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi left the Ramba *cellule* roadblock, they drove to the Mugusa *commune* office. Witness QBV saw Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi again at the Mugusa *commune* office at 4.00 p.m. When they arrived, the witness found a meeting underway. André Kabayiza, the Mugusa

```
<sup>3849</sup> T. 6 June 2002 p. 143; T. 10 June 2002 p. 31 (Witness QW).
<sup>3850</sup> T. 10 June 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness QW).
<sup>3851</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness QW).
<sup>3852</sup> T. 10 June 2002 pp. 34-35, 38 (ICS) (Witness QW).
<sup>3853</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness QW).
<sup>3854</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness QW).
<sup>3855</sup> T. 10 June 2002 pp. 51-52 (Witness QW).
<sup>3856</sup> T. 10 June 2002 p. 56 (Witness QW).
<sup>3857</sup> T. 19 March 2002 pp. 110, 115; T. 19 March 2002 p. 103 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
<sup>3858</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12-13; T. 18 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3859</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 22 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3860</sup> T. 18 March 2002 pp. 86-87 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3861</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 13; T. 18 March 2002 p. 91 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3862</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 13, 19; T. 18 March 2002 p. 89 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3863</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 13; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 90-92 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3864</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3865</sup> T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3866</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 20-22; T. 19 March 2002 p. 28 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3867</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 23; T. 19 March 2002 p. 29 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3868</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 24 (Witness QBV).
```

commune bourgmestre, was addressing a crowd of over 200 people³⁸⁶⁹ that had gathered at the office, after which both Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi introduced themselves and spoke to the crowd. 3870 Ntezirvayo and Colonel Muvunyi left the Mugusa commune office around 4.30 p.m.³⁸⁷¹

1570. Witness QBV testified that he was detained with some of Nteziryayo's relatives, including one Nshimabarezi, Nteziryayo's brother-in-law, who pressured him not to give Tribunal investigators many details that would incriminate Nteziryayo. 3872

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

1571. Alison Des Forges agreed that for those who wanted to flee to Burundi with their cattle, Kabakobwa would have been one of the few practical places to gather in Ngoma commune. and a good place to travel through. 3873

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL

1572. Witness WMKL, a Hutu teacher, ³⁸⁷⁴ testified that he was at Rango market on Thursday 21 April 1994. 3875 At around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m., he heard gunshots from Tumba secteur. 3876 As a result, everyone at the market panicked and ran away either in the direction of Sahera or Nyaruhengeri. He did not see Kanyabashi at the market on that day. 3877 Witness WMKL did not go to Kabakobwa that day or subsequently. 3878 He did not hear of an order issued by Kanyabashi calling on people to go and assemble at Kabakobwa. 3879

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

1573. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu, ³⁸⁸⁰ testified as to a *commune* police meeting chaired by Kanyabashi at the Ngoma commune office on 18 or 19 April 1994. The witness expressed some uncertainty as to whether he was present at that meeting, recalling that he was at home awaiting night duty at the time of the meeting and was later informed of what happened at the meeting by his colleagues. 3881 Witness D-2-5-I later testified that he was present at the 18 or 19 April 1994 meeting and that he inadvertently testified otherwise in his earlier testimony. 3882

1574. Witness D-2-5-I stated that Kanyabashi instructed the police to cooperate with the population to prevent attackers from entering Ngoma commune and carrying out killings and to

```
<sup>3869</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 28 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3870</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 25; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 29-31, 35-36, 39-40 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3871</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).
<sup>3872</sup> T. 19 March 2002 pp. 12-14; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
<sup>3873</sup> T. 12 July 2004 p. 9 (Des Forges).
<sup>3874</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness WMKL); Defence Exhibit 291 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>3875</sup> T. 7 April 2005 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).
<sup>3876</sup> T. 7 April 2005 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).
```

³⁸⁷⁷ T. 7 April 2005 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).

³⁸⁷⁸ T. 7 April 2005 p. 79 (ICS) (Witness WMKL). ³⁸⁷⁹ T. 7 April 2005 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).

Defence Exhibit 615 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars). ³⁸⁸¹ T. 12 December 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸² T. 23 January 2008 pp. 19, 21-22 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

protect persons who sought refuge in Ngoma *commune*. At the meeting of 18 or 19 April, the attacks at Mukura and at Matyazo in Huye *commune*, and at Buvumo in Sahera, were discussed. Kanyabashi assigned police to mount roadblocks to prevent attackers from entering into Ngoma *commune* from those areas. 3884

1575. Witness D-2-5-I also testified that after the killings started around 18 or 19 April 1994, there were police meetings two times a week chaired by Kanyabashi. The witness was generally present at police officers' meetings chaired by Kanyabashi and knew what was discussed at those meetings. At each meeting Kanyabashi asked the police to ensure security of all members of the population, to refrain from looting or killing, to hide people who were attacked, and to provide other assistance if possible. 3887

1576. Witness D-2-5-I testified that on Thursday, 21 April 1994, he arrived at the Rango market square at about 8.00 or 9.00 a.m. ³⁸⁸⁸ He later testified he arrived between 7.30 and 8.30 a.m. ³⁸⁸⁹ He came to Rango with one of his colleagues and a tax collector of the *commune*. ³⁸⁹⁰ Upon their arrival at the market, Witness D-2-5-I, his colleague and the tax collector noticed that the refugees who were in the market were getting ready to sell their cattle, but they were frightened. ³⁸⁹¹ Between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. he heard a grenade explosion from Mukura Bridge, which was on the tarmac road from Ngoma *commune* towards Gishamvu. There was lots of dust rising in the air, and he saw people running, so he went there to see what was happening. ³⁸⁹² The distance between Rango market and Mukura Bridge could be covered in 10 to 20 minutes on foot. ³⁸⁹³ At Mukura Bridge, people, assisted by two policemen of Ngoma *commune*, were trying to counter an attack from Mubumbano and Gishamvu *communes*. ³⁸⁹⁴ There were also soldiers at the location who asked the policemen and the population to leave, as it was their duty to protect the area. ³⁸⁹⁵ He saw about eight to 10 soldiers at Mukura Bridge. Witness D-2-5-I spent five to 10 minutes at Mukura Bridge and then returned to the market place between 10.30 and 11.00 a.m. ³⁸⁹⁷

1577. Upon arriving at the market he realised there was an air of insecurity and he saw displaced people from Tumba saying that they were trying to flee to Burundi where they might

```
<sup>3883</sup> T. 12 December 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
```

³⁸⁸⁴ T. 23 January 2008 pp. 47-48 (ICS); T. 29 January 2008 pp. 32-34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸⁵ T. 22 January 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸⁶ T. 22 January 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸⁷ T. 22 January 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸⁸ T. 12 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 65 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁸⁹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹⁰ T. 12 December 2007 p. 26 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 63 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I)

³⁸⁹¹ T. 12 December 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹² T. 12 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS); T. 21 January 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS); T. 22 January 2008 p. 37 (ICS); T. 29 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 63 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹³ T. 30 January 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹⁴ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹⁵ T. 21 January 2008 p. 17 (ICS); T. 22 January 2008 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹⁶ T. 23 January 2008 p. 45 (ICS); T. 29 January 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁸⁹⁷ T. 21 January 2008 p. 18 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

be safe.³⁸⁹⁸ Witness D-2-5-I remained at Rango market until about 1.00 p.m. when he left with the brigadier of Ngoma *commune* to go visit the residences of the *conseillers* of Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs*.³⁸⁹⁹ The brigadier relayed a message from *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi to the two *conseillers* asking them to ensure the security of the population.³⁹⁰⁰

1578. On their way back to Rango, at the junction at the road that leads to Nyaruhengeri, Witness D-2-5-I and the brigadier found corpses by the road. People standing by the roadside told Witness D-2-5-I and his companions that a military vehicle had brought the corpses and thrown them there since the soldiers had told members of the population to kill Tutsis and loot their properties, and to know that the Tutsis were *Inkotanyi* accomplices. When the witness continued towards Rango he found people destroying the house that belonged to Déo, and heard gunshots fired in the direction of Tumba. Witness D-2-5-I estimated it was around 2.00 p.m. Witness D-2-5-I and the brigadier continued to Cyarwa secteur to meet the conseillers there. They returned to the commune office around 5.00 p.m. The witness went home at 7.00 p.m. on the night of 21 April 1994 and stayed there. During the night he heard gunshots. He testified that any witness who said that he was present at the commune office during the night of 21 April 1994 would be mistaken. The standard of the commune office during the night of 21 April 1994 would be mistaken.

1579. Witness D-2-5-I did not see Kanyabashi at Rango market on 21 April 1994 during the period he was there. Witness D-2-5-I denied hearing any message by megaphone or loudspeaker from Kanyabashi while he was on duty at Rango market on 21 April 1994. He further denied hearing anyone talking about a message from Kanyabashi asking people to collect the weeds at Kabakobwa or inciting people to kill the enemy or the Tutsis. Witness D-2-5-I indicated that someone at either of the two markets in Rango could hear anything said from a megaphone on the passable road. He are the road of the two markets in Rango could hear anything said from a megaphone on the passable road.

1580. Witness D-2-5-I knew that people died at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994 but was positive that Kanyabashi did not go to Kabakobwa that day since he would have gone with a policeman and the witness would have known about it.³⁹¹² No Ngoma *commune* police officer was involved in the killings either.³⁹¹³ Witness D-2-5-I testified that he followed some *Gacaca*

```
<sup>3898</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3899</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3900</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3901</sup> T. 21 January 2008 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3902</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3903</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3904</sup> T. 21 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3905</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 32 (ICS); T. 23 January 2008 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3906</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3907</sup> T. 23 January 2008 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3908</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3909</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3910</sup> T. 21 January 2008 pp. 39-41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3911</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3912</sup> T. 21 January 2008 pp. 53-54 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3913</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 55 (Witness D-2-5-I).
```

proceedings and no one there had implicated either Kanyabashi or Ngoma *commune* policemen in what happened in Kabakobwa. ³⁹¹⁴

- 1581. Witness D-2-5-I testified that when Kanyabashi visited various *secteurs* of his *commune*, he drove himself and was accompanied by a *commune* police officer, but he never travelled with *gendarmes* or soldiers.³⁹¹⁵ Witness D-2-5-I had personally accompanied Kanyabashi on several occasions, including on Saturday, 23 April 1994.³⁹¹⁶
- 1582. Witness D-2-5-I did not go to Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April 1994. Witness D-2-5-I heard gunshots coming from Nyaruhengeri hill during the day. Witness D-2-5-I spent Friday, 22 April 1994 at home and returned to the *commune* office around 5.00 p.m. He did not see Kanyabashi at work that day since Kanyabashi had gone home at 4.30 p.m. When he arrived at work his colleagues informed him of a meeting *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi had convened that day. Witness D-2-5-I was on duty during the night of Friday, 22 April 1994 and on Saturday, 23 April 1994.
- 1583. Kanyabashi came to the *commune* office on Saturday, 23 April 1994 around 9.00 a.m. and left at 11.00 a.m. Saturday, 23 April 1994 around 9.00 a.m. and left at 11.00 a.m. Kanyabashi returned to the *commune* office from his residence around 5.00 p.m. and asked Witness D-2-5-I to accompany him in taking Brigadier Gahamanyi to Rango. When they arrived at the Mukoni roadblock, Presidential Guard troops who were manning the roadblock stopped and searched them. The troops said that they had weapons in the vehicle, insulted them, said Kanyabashi was an accomplice and ordered the three of them to leave on foot in the direction they had come from. The brigadier returned to Rango by foot while the witness and Kanyabashi continued by car. Saturday, 23 April 1994 around 9.00 a.m.
- 1584. Witness D-2-5-I testified that they consequently returned and on getting to the roadblock at Hotel Faucon, he together with Brigadier Gahamanyi and Kanyabashi were again stopped and searched. When they reached the *banque commerciale*, gunshots were fired at their car from behind but Kanyabashi, who was driving, accelerated and they survived. Later that day, Kanyabashi returned to his house having "lost his mind". Witness D-2-5-I spent that night at Kanyabashi's house because of the insecurity. ³⁹²⁸

```
<sup>3914</sup> T. 21 January 2008 pp. 54-55 (Witness D-2-5-I).
```

³⁹¹⁵ T. 21 January 2008 p. 56 (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹¹⁶ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 57-58; T. 30 January 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹¹⁷ T. 21 January 2008 p. 54; T. 31 January 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹¹⁸ T. 28 January 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹¹⁹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 48 (ICS); T. 28 January 2008 pp. 31-32 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁰ T. 21 January 2008 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²¹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²² T. 21 January 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²³ T. 31 January 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁴ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 pp. 16-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁵ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁶ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁷ T. 21 January 2008 p. 51 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

³⁹²⁸ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

1585. Witness D-2-5-I denied that Mathias Nsanzabahizi might have read Kanyabashi's letter of April 1994 asking the population to join the soldiers who had gathered at Kabakobwa. He did not think such a letter existed. While Witness D-2-5-I was detained at Karubanda prison, Mathias Nsanzabahizi was detained at Rwandex Prison and they met sometimes at the *Gacaca* hearings. 3930

1586. Witness D-2-5-I testified that during one *Gacaca* hearing, Nsanzabahizi admitted his role in the Kabakobwa killings. Nsanzabahizi said that he went to Kabakobwa in the company of soldiers and participated together with them in the killings. Nsanzabahizi also testified before the *Gacaca* court that he was in Kabakobwa at the request of the soldiers, pled guilty in respect of his role and confessed. He said Nsanzabahizi told him that he went to Kabakobwa in a military uniform and armed with a firearm. Witness D-2-5-I testified that in all the *Gacaca* sessions he attended to date, no one ever mentioned any role played by Kanyabashi in any killings. Nsanzabahizi said that the *bourgmestre* did not know anything about him going to Kabakobwa with the soldiers.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-10-Y

1587. Witness D-2-10-Y, a Tutsi gardener,³⁹³⁶ testified that he and his family fled his father's residence on a Thursday, 20 or 21 April 1994, which was a market day at Rango, when he noticed that persons in his vicinity had been killed and houses were set ablaze near his own house.³⁹³⁷ He left his home at around 1.00 or 2.00 p.m. and went to a school field in Rango, remaining there for about 30 minutes with other persons. Due to the prevailing insecurity, he and his family had decided to go into exile in Burundi.³⁹³⁸

1588. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that together with 30 to 50 persons, he then went to Nyaruhengeri *commune* office, but four *commune* policemen from Nyaruhengeri *commune* stopped them and sent them back.³⁹³⁹ There was a roadblock at the office, which hindered the persons from passing by. Some of the people were beaten up.³⁹⁴⁰ He and the other persons turned around at this point and spent the night in a bush located above Mukura belonging to an old man called Ndugu.³⁹⁴¹ Witness D-2-10-Y did not pass any other roadblocks while fleeing to Burundi.³⁹⁴²

1589. On the next day, Friday, [22 April 1994], Witness D-2-10-Y and the other refugees planned to reach Burundi on another route; from the bush at Mukura, they took a road to

```
<sup>3929</sup> T. 22 January 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3930</sup> T. 22 January 2008 pp. 8-10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3931</sup> T. 22 January 2008 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3932</sup> T. 22 January 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3933</sup> T. 22 January 2008 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3934</sup> T. 22 January 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3935</sup> T. 22 January 2008 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>3936</sup> Defence Exhibit 649 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>3937</sup> T. 28 April 2008 pp. 26-27 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3938</sup> T. 28 April 2008 pp. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3939</sup> T. 28 April 2008 pp. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3940</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3941</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3942</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
```

Kabuga in Sahera, and another road to Kabakobwa.³⁹⁴³ They were a group of about 30 people. They reached Kabuga at around 7.00 or 8.00 a.m. and stopped for a while not far from the building called "OCAR for girls", before continuing to Kabakobwa.³⁹⁴⁴ At around 9.00³⁹⁴⁵ or 10.00 a.m., they arrived at Kabakobwa where there were already about 600 persons present; later, more people arrived.³⁹⁴⁶

- 1590. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that on his arrival at Kabakobwa, attackers had gathered at Gasharu, at a distance of about 300 metres from the refugees.³⁹⁴⁷ Other inhabitants were on Agasharu and Rwinuma Hills, dressed in banana leaves.³⁹⁴⁸ The assailants were in groups of approximately 200 persons.³⁹⁴⁹ The local inhabitants, wearing banana leaves, attacked the refugees during the morning hours and looted their cattle.³⁹⁵⁰ The male refugees repelled the inhabitants' attack by surrounding the other members of the population and throwing stones, which the witness and other children handed to them.³⁹⁵¹
- 1591. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that at a certain point in time, people dressed in ordinary clothes mingled with the refugees and said that the Hutus among the refugees should leave the area. He did not know who made that announcement but he heard them speak, and learned from other persons that they were dressed in civilian clothes. Witness D-2-10-Y heard it said that one Mathias came to fetch his sister. 3953
- 1592. Witness D-2-10-Y did not see any soldiers at Kabakobwa between 9.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m. ³⁹⁵⁴ *Interahamwe* and soldiers arrived around 3.00 or 3.30 p.m. on foot ³⁹⁵⁵ and a few moments after their arrival they threw grenades and opened fire on the men who defended the refugees. ³⁹⁵⁶ The killings started around 3.00 or 3.30 p.m. ³⁹⁵⁷ Witness D-2-10-Y could not remember if grenades were thrown at the beginning of the attack or after guns were fired. ³⁹⁵⁸ After the men surrounding the refugees had been killed, the members of the population hit the refugees with machetes. The surviving refugees started running. ³⁹⁵⁹
- 1593. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that the soldiers were standing approximately 200 metres from the refugees, 3960 and that he saw around 10 soldiers firing, but he did not know the number of *Interahamwe* at Kabakobwa. The soldiers were camouflage uniforms, some

```
<sup>3943</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3944</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 67-68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3945</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3946</sup> T. 28 April 2008 pp. 40-41 (ICS); T. 28 April 2008 p. 42; T. 1 May 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3947</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 72; T. 5 May 2008 pp. 16, 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3948</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 72; T. 5 May 2008 p. 16 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3949</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 27 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3950</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 44; T. 5 May 2008 p. 15 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3951</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3952</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3953</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 18 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3954</sup> T. 5 May 2008 pp. 25-26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3955</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 71, 73 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3956</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 44; T. 1 May 2008 pp. 73-74; T. 5 May 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3957</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 43 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3958</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 72 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3959</sup> T. 28 April 2008 pp. 43-45 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3960</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 71 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3961</sup> T. 29 April 2008 pp. 61-62 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
```

Interahamwe wore army clothes and others were in civilian attire, while civilians wore dried banana leaves.³⁹⁶² *Interahamwe* carried grenades and firearms and therefore could be distinguished from civilians who did not carry such weaponry.³⁹⁶³ *Interahamwe* included the youth of the MRND and the PSD, and all persons whose purpose was perpetrating killings irrespective of their political affiliation.³⁹⁶⁴

1594. Witness D-2-10-Y did not see any *commune* policemen,³⁹⁶⁵ nor did he hear afterwards that they had participated in the attack at Kabakobwa.³⁹⁶⁶ Between April and July 1994 *commune* police officers wore green uniforms with yellow berets.³⁹⁶⁷ Witness D-2-10-Y saw persons wearing fatigues arriving at Kabakobwa, but he did not know if they were *gendarmes* or soldiers.³⁹⁶⁸

1595. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that his twin sister was killed during the attack and that he ran towards a valley and fled to a house in Tumba *secteur*. There, he learned that his family was still alive, ³⁹⁷⁰ and he got home after 8.00 p.m. ³⁹⁷¹

1596. Witness D-2-10-Y did not hear any instructions from Kanyabashi on either Thursday or Friday asking Tutsis not to go to their homes, nor did he learn about such an event later. He did not hear that Kanyabashi held a meeting at Kabakobwa on that Thursday, nor did he see Kanyabashi or hear that Kanyabashi was present at Kabakobwa on Friday. Witness D-2-10-Y did not hear instructions issued by any authorities, including Kanyabashi, the *conseiller* of his *secteur*, or *cellule* leaders, asking Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa, nor did he learn about such occurrences later. He did not hear of a message being disseminated through a megaphone by Kanyabashi asking people to gather the weeds in Kabakobwa on Thursday or inviting people to kill the Tutsis or the enemy. He did not hear of a message being disseminated through a megaphone by Kanyabashi asking people to gather the weeds in Kabakobwa on Thursday or inviting people to kill the Tutsis or the enemy.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

1597. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee and business owner in April 1994,³⁹⁷⁵ had a business located about 25 metres from Rango market.³⁹⁷⁶ Sensing insecurity, on Wednesday 20 April 1994 the witness began closing down his business.³⁹⁷⁷ On Thursday, 21 April 1994, between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m., he went to his workplace to collect the rest of some parts of his

```
<sup>3962</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 44; T. 29 April 2008 pp. 61-63, 65 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3963</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 66 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3964</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3965</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 45 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3966</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3967</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3968</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 71 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3969</sup> T. 28 April 2008 p. 45; T. 29 April 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3970</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 55 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3971</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3972</sup> T. 29 April 2008 pp. 6-7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3973</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>3974</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 8 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
Defence Exhibit 560 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 3 September 2007 p. ii (Extract) (Witness D-2-
<sup>3976</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 15 (ICS); T. 3 September 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3977</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

machines.³⁹⁷⁸ While at Rango he heard explosions coming from two homes and saw people running. He completed disassembling his machine between noon and 1.00 p.m., and immediately left for his home,³⁹⁷⁹ which was approximately 30 minutes walking distance from Rango market.³⁹⁸⁰ Witness D-2-13-D did not attend any meeting,³⁹⁸¹ nor was he aware of any such meeting along the road to Kabakobwa on that Thursday.³⁹⁸² He did not hear anyone say that Kanyabashi came to Rango market or that Kanyabashi held a meeting there on that day.³⁹⁸³

1598. On that same day around 1.00 p.m. the witness, in the company of several refugees, saw soldiers in a Hilux vehicle throw several corpses onto the road.³⁹⁸⁴ The bodies were dumped at the intersection of the road to Sahera and the road to Kibirizi in Agakera *cellule*, close by Rango.³⁹⁸⁵ He did not see the soldiers speak to anyone.³⁹⁸⁶ Witness D-2-13-D returned home around 2.00 or 3.00 p.m. and stayed home. He did not hear of any instructions from Kanyabashi telling the population to go to Kabakobwa.³⁹⁸⁷

1599. Witness D-2-13-D testified that at 10.00 a.m. on the Friday of the Kabakobwa killings, he and some others were at a friend's house when 10 soldiers arrived and descended from their vehicle. The soldiers had come to see their friend for assistance in launching an attack at Kabakobwa. The soldiers dressed the witness and his companions in banana leaves; about eight people put on banana leaves. Witness D-2-13-D was with six other members of the community whom he named. The soldiers wore black berets. The soldiers obliged the witness and the people he was with to go with them, and they left almost immediately towards Kabakobwa. The soldiers stood on Agasharu Hill, a hill adjacent to Kabakobwa or overlooking Kabakobwa, shot two bullets, then said they could not wage war against unarmed members of the population, and left. The point from where the soldiers shot the two bullets was about 60 metres from Witness D-2-14-D's house. The soldiers took them to the valley and they rubbed ash on their faces. From the time of the soldiers' arrival, their

```
<sup>3978</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS); T. 3 September 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3979</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3980</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3981</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3982</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3983</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 28, 30-31, 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3984</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 28-29 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3985</sup> T. 5 September 2007 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3986</sup> T. 5 September 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3987</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 30, 32, 34-36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3988</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 44-45 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3989</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3990</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 73, 75, 77 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3991</sup> T. 4 September 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3992</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 45; T. 5 September 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3993</sup> T. 5 September 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3994</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 44-45 (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3995</sup> T. 5 September 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3996</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 45; T. 4 September 2007 pp. 23, 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3997</sup> T. 5 September 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>3998</sup> T. 29 August 2007 pp. 75-76 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

trip on foot to Agahsaru Hill to fire two shots, return to the friend's house and departure for Rukimbira's, one and a half hours had elapsed. 3999

- 1600. When put to Witness D-2-13-D that his statement did not refer to soldiers coming to his friend's house and taking them to fire upon refugees at Kabakobwa, the witness testified that maybe the investigator forgot to write it down.
- 1601. Witness D-2-13-D subsequently testified that it was approximately 3.00 p.m. when he and his group arrived at Kabakobwa. The soldiers present lined them up and told the Hutus who were at Kabakobwa to leave. The fighting then started immediately. The soldiers were firing at people, and the refugees were throwing stones back. A stone was even thrown at Mathias Nsanzabahizi, who dropped the gun he had been holding. The confrontation lasted from 3.00 to 6.00 p.m. Civilians present during the attack did not receive new instructions; they were only following instructions that they had been given earlier.
- 1602. Witness D-2-13-D testified that the group he was with went down into the valley and up again toward Kabakobwa where they assembled, which was not close to Nyaminani's or Nzabakurana's houses. 4007 The soldiers and civilians encircled Kabakobwa, but there was no one in the lower part of Kabakobwa in the direction of Nyaruhengeri. At the beginning of the attacks, he was on the Agasharu Hill, but he was on Kabakobwa Hill when the shooting started. He was a short distance away from Tutsis when the attack started, perhaps 50 metres away, because they were close enough that he could throw stones at them. 4008 Other inhabitants of Agasharu Hill remained on their side of the hill and watched the events but did not participate in the attack.
- 1603. Witness D-2-13-D testified that the soldiers only shot at those not wearing banana leaves. If they had not been wearing the banana leaves and ash on their faces he and his group would have been shot at. Thus, according to Witness D-2-13-D, all civilians who participated in the attacks wore banana leaves and had their faces covered in ash. There were about 200 civilians and 20 soldiers involved in the attack.

³⁹⁹⁹ T. 5 September 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁰ T. 4 September 2007 p. 39 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D). *See* Prosecution Exhibit 194B (17-20 June 2004, Statement of Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰¹ T. 10 September 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰² T. 29 August 2007 p. 77 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰³ T. 29 August 2007 p. 77 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁴ T. 29 August 2007 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁵ T. 29 August 2007 p. 82 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁶ T. 10 September 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁷ T. 5 September 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁸ T. 5 September 2007 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰⁰⁹ T. 5 September 2007 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰¹⁰ T. 5 September 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰¹¹ T. 5 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰¹² T. 29 August 2007 p. 78 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 pp. 70-71 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

1604. Witness D-2-13-D estimated that there were about 600 to 700 Tutsis seeking refuge on Kabakobwa. He did not hear that the *Interahamwe* surrounded the hill to prevent refugees from escaping during the night; he testified that he only saw civilians carrying traditional weapons present on the adjacent hill when he arrived at Kabakobwa on Friday afternoon. The killings began when the soldiers opened fire. He had not heard of Kanyabashi giving any instructions to shoot. 4014

1605. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he killed people at Kabakobwa because he was encouraged to do so by a man named Semwiza. Semwiza worked as a mason, was a member of the MDR party, and was the older brother of Mathias Nsanzabahizi. Prior to 1994, Semwiza had been a policeman. No one was behind Semwiza; he had declared himself to be in charge. On one occasion *Conseiller* Kanyabahizi told Semwiza that he must stop killing people or would have to answer for his conduct. Semwiza slapped Kanyabahizi for not performing his duties correctly. Semwiza and his group committed murders in other areas of the *secteur* outside Kabakobwa, despite Kanyabashi's call to the population not to kill anybody.

1606. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he did not see Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa, and that he would have seen Kanyabashi had he been there because the witness had criss-crossed the entire site. However, Witness D-2-13-D acknowledged that if Kanyabashi had been elsewhere in Kabakobwa, he might not have seen him. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he did not hear mention of the presence of any Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa on that Friday. Even in prison and after his release, he did not hear of a police presence at Kabakobwa, nor did he see any. 4022

1607. Although Witness D-2-13-D agreed that he could not have spoken with all 200 civilians at the hill, he testified that he had not heard anything about Kanyabashi giving instructions for Tutsis to gather at Kabakobwa Hill; if Kanyabashi had been addressing the refugees, the local inhabitants would have heard those instructions. Nsanzabahizi did not tell the witness that Kanyabashi had asked him to come to Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-13-D confirmed that he was at Kabakobwa when soldiers shot at people, and he and his group "finished off" those who were not dead, or who tried to escape. He confessed that he pelted people with stones and carried a stick, but denied he killed anyone. He saw the soldiers shooting, and people throwing stones, but did not see any refugees killed. He testified that there were civilians who killed people, but could not identify who they were. He did not

```
4013 T. 29 August 2007 p. 79 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4014 T. 10 September 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4015 T. 4 September 2007 p. 64 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 (Extracted) p. i (Witness D-2-13-D).
4016 T. 28 August 2007 p. 65 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4017 T. 6 September 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4018 T. 10 September 2007 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4019 T. 30 August 2007 p. 54 (ICS); T. 6 September 2007 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4020 T. 6 September 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4021 T. 30 August 2007 pp. 15-17 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4022 T. 30 August 2007 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4023 T. 10 September 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4024 T. 30 August 2007 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

⁴⁰²⁵ T. 4 September 2007 p. 40 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-13-D).

pay attention to whether people were dead or just wounded, but he saw a lot of bodies. Witness D-2-13-D testified that soldiers at Kabakobwa looted the belongings of the victims, but once the soldiers left, everyone else left as well. Witness D-2-13-D knew the other civilians who participated in the massacre at Kabakobwa. Nsanzabahizi was next to him but he arrived later. He also saw Alexis Habyarimana, Bosco Yiriwahandi, Jonas Havugimana and Innocent Nbanguwiha. Dead of the saw a lot of bodies. No saw a

1608. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he had seen Nsanzabahizi before, but met him for the first time when Nsanzabahizi arrived at Kabakobwa at 3.00 p.m., after the attack had already started. He had heard that Nsanzabahizi had come to take his sister from Kabakobwa, but did not see this. When Witness D-2-13-D later spoke to Nsanzabahizi he confirmed that he had taken his sister. He did not know how Nsanzabahizi had arrived at Kabakobwa. He only knew that Nsanzabahizi was told that soldiers had arrived at Kabakobwa, and Nsanzabahizi went to Kabakobwa. He learned this information from Nsanzabahizi one week after the events at Kabakobwa when the two met at someone's house.

1609. Witness D-2-13-D knew Nsanzabahizi was a driver rather than a policeman and saw him driving. He knew him well as they were neighbours and they were imprisoned together for several years. Nsanzabahizi was the president of the *Gacacas* in prison. When put to the witness that his statement of 28 November 2004 stated he saw the policeman Mathias come to Kabakobwa with soldiers, Witness D-2-13-D stated that he may have been mistaken about Mathias being a policeman but he did not say that Mathias had come aboard the trucks to Kabakobwa. 4036

1610. Witness D-2-13-D did not return to Kabakobwa on Saturday although he knew that others went there to finish off those who were not dead and to search their bodies. He did not hear of any meeting taking place that day concerned with burying bodies. 4037

1611. Witness D-2-13-D testified that after the Kabakobwa massacre but prior to 3 May 1994, Kanyabashi arrested Semwiza and several other men who were responsible for leading groups of killers in attacks at Kabakobwa. Nsanzabahizi, however, was not arrested. 4039

1612. Witness D-2-13-D referred to Semwiza as an "authority" because Semwiza was in charge in the absence of the *conseiller* [Kanyabahizi]. Witness D-2-13-D knew Nkubi

```
    4027 T. 4 September 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
    4028 T. 5 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
    4029 T. 29 August 2007 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

⁴⁰²⁶ T. 5 September 2007 p. 5 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁰ T. 10 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³¹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 26 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³² T. 30 August 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³³ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 26-27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁴ T. 30 August 2007 p. 27 (ICS); T. 6 September 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁵ T. 3 September 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁶ T. 3 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); Defence Exhibit 564 (Nyiramasuhuko) (17-20 June 2004, Statement of Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁷ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 34, 38 (ICS); T. 6 September 2007 p. 5 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁸ T. 4 September 2007 p. 65 (ICS); T. 6 September 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁰³⁹ T. 6 September 2007 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

secteur was under Kanyabahizi's responsibility. In Nkubi there was only one conseiller who represented the bourgmestre at the secteur level. During the events, the conseiller [Kanyabahizi] did not issue orders; it was Semwiza who was issuing orders. When Semwiza was arrested, the conseiller [Kanyabahizi] was able to move about the secteur. 4041

- 1613. Witness D-2-13-D testified that at the *Gacaca* sessions in prison, he noted the presence of Nsanzabahizi, Martin Nyandwi and a certain Phillip. Nsanzabahizi presided over the *Gacaca* sessions and was the first to give his testimony. Nsanzabahizi mentioned his involvement in what happened in Kabakobwa and confessed to having opened fire on people there. Witness D-2-13-D had spoken to Nsanzabahizi about the events at Kabakobwa.
- 1614. Witness D-2-13-D testified that at the *Gacaca* sessions outside prison, the events at Kabakobwa were discussed at length because there had been fierce fighting there. They discussed anyone who had been there, but Witness D-2-13-D did not hear mention of Kanyabashi's name in connection with the events at Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-13-D stated that he had not attended and had not heard of Kanyabashi being accused before any *Gacaca* proceeding. 4046
- 1615. Witness D-2-13-D pled guilty to participating in the attacks at Kabakobwa and to his presence at Rukimbira's killing. Witness D-2-13-D testified that during his time at the Butare Prison there was a small group of people who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi. The group included Witnesses FAM, QAH and QCB together with a certain Ruvugabigwi from Ruhengeri *commune*, and a certain Mageza from Gikongoro. 4049
- 1616. According to Witness D-2-13-D, Witness FAC together with Witnesses QCB and FAM found Witness D-2-13-D in his cell and told him that they wanted to recruit him into their community. They said that there was a group that was going to testify against Kanyabashi in Arusha. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he told them that he did not know anything about Kanyabashi and asked them to leave. 4050
- 1617. Witness D-2-13-D testified that a person by the same full name as Witness D-2-14-D was a neighbour in 1994 and at the time of their testimony. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he could see Witness D-2-14-D on Sundays after church but they did not have specific chats. Witness D-2-13-D testified that he did not see Witness D-2-14-D at Kabakobwa on the day of the attack. Witness D-2-13-D also testified that he was in prison with a person by

```
4040 T. 30 August 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4041 T. 10 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4042 T. 30 August 2007 p. 5; T. 30 August 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4043 T. 30 August 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4044 T. 30 August 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-13-D).
4045 T. 30 August 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4046 T. 10 September 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4047 T. 28 August 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 4 September 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4048 T. 30 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4049 T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4050 T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-51 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4051 T. 3 September 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4052 T. 10 September 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4053 T. 6 September 2007 p. 13 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

the same first name and from the same *secteur* as Witness D-2-14-D.⁴⁰⁵⁴ That person helped Witness D-2-13-D draft his confession which was sent to the *Gacaca* courts and was given to Nkeshimana, the Kanyabashi Defence investigator.⁴⁰⁵⁵ The day Witness D-2-13-D signed his statement to the Tribunal's investigators before Nkeshimana, Witness D-2-14-D was in the sitting room outside.⁴⁰⁵⁶ Witness D-2-13-D did not attend Witness D-2-14-D's *Gacaca* trial.⁴⁰⁵⁷ Witness D-2-13-D travelled together with Witness D-2-14-D to Arusha and they lived together while waiting to testify before this Tribunal.⁴⁰⁵⁸ Witness D-2-13-D denied that he discussed either the events of 1994 or his testimony with Witness D-2-14-D while they were together in Arusha.⁴⁰⁵⁹ They never discussed the Kabakobwa events because they had all learned about it during their *Gacaca* sessions.⁴⁰⁶⁰

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-14-D

1618. Witness D-2-14-D, a Hutu farmer, cleaner and gardener, 4061 was in his house on 21 April 1994, when he saw many people fleeing. 4062 He saw approximately 200 people at Kabakobwa, 4063 who told the witness that they were fleeing from Runyinya and Gishamvu communes, and that the killings had begun in Rango market. Witness D-2-14-D remembered the date because it was Thursday, a market day in Rango. 4064 He showed the fleeing people how to reach Burundi by directing them to follow the path he followed to visit his sister, which led through Kabakobwa and Nyaruhengeri. Witness D-2-14-D testified that the people fleeing did not explain how or when exactly the killings occurred.

1619. Witness D-2-14-D testified that he did not hear Kanyabashi, or any other authority at the *secteur*, *cellule*, or Ngoma *commune* level, direct members of the population to go to Kabakobwa. The witness did not hear Kanyabashi say over a loudspeaker, "[t]hose who want to burn bad grass should, first of all, gather it". During the *Gacaca* sessions that he attended, he did not hear anyone claim that any authority had given instructions for refugees to go to Kabakobwa, to erect roadblocks to prevent refugees from leaving the *commune*, or that Tutsis should not return home. There were no refugees on the hill before 21 April 1994.

```
<sup>4054</sup> T. 28 August 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4055</sup> T. 28 August 2007 pp. 68-69, 73 (ICS); T. 29 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS); T. 4 September 2007 pp. 56-57 (ICS);
T. 5 September 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4056 T. 3 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4057</sup> T. 3 September 2007 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4058</sup> T. 5 September 2007 p. 31 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4059 T. 5 September 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4060</sup> T. 10 September 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4061</sup> Defence Exhibit 556 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 20 August 2007 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-
<sup>4062</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 5-7 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4063</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4064</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 6 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4065</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 5-6 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4066</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 pp. 60-61 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4067</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 7, 10 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4068</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 11-12 (Witness D-2-14-D).
```

⁴⁰⁶⁹ T. 27 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

On 21 April 1994 he saw people at Kabakobwa, but did not "witness anything special" apart from people fleeing. 4070

1620. Witness D-2-14-D testified that there were approximately 10 houses on Kabakobwa Hill, including the residence of a certain Nyamuhenda. He could see Kabakobwa Hill from his house, and could hear loud noises coming from the hill, but could not hear voices or call from his house to someone on the hill. 4071 Witness D-2-14-D indicated the location of his house relative to Kabakobwa Hill and Rango market on Defence Exhibit 5574072 and marked the location of his house with the word "Urugo D-2-14-D". 4073 In April 1994 he lived within view of, and a 10 minute walk from Kabakobwa. 4074 It was a 10 minute walk from the witness' house to the nearest road, 40 minutes to walk from his house to Kibilizi, and 60 minutes to walk from his house to Rango market. 4075

1621. Witness D-2-14-D testified that before noon on 22 April 1994, he saw a white, fourwheel-drive military vehicle arrive near Kabakobwa, with about five soldiers aboard. 4076 Witness D-2-14-D later testified, however, that he did not see soldiers arrive in a vehicle, 4077 and that the soldiers left on foot. 4078 The soldiers went to where the refugees were gathered and left five minutes later. 4079 The soldiers returned around 4.00 p.m. together with many members of the population, some of whom wore banana leaves, and this group of people surrounded Kabakobwa Hill. 4080 He was in his house at 4.00 p.m. when he heard gunshots, and went towards Kabakobwa. 4081 Witness D-2-14-D marked the location he went to after he heard gunshots in Kabakobwa in red with the letters "OA" on Defence Exhibit 558. 4082 He saw approximately 20 soldiers firing on the people at Kabakobwa, and his neighbours and others gathered and threw stones. Members of the population who were throwing stones were standing in front of the soldiers. The soldiers were shooting above the civilians in order to hit the refugees. 4085 There were approximately 700 refugees present. 4086 He estimated that 500 to 600 people were killed on Kabakobwa Hill. 4087

⁴⁰⁷⁰ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 7, 12 (Witness D-2-14-D). ⁴⁰⁷¹ T. 27 August 2007 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷² T. 20 August 2007 pp. 58-59, 74 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); Defence Exhibit 557 (Kanyabashi) (Copy of Prosecution Exhibit 53 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷³ T. 20 August 2007 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁴ T. 20 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁵ T. 20 August 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁶ T. 21 August 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁷ T. 27 August 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁸ T. 27 August 2007 pp. 46-47 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁷⁹ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 12, 15 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸⁰ T. 21 August 2007 p. 15 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸¹ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 36, 61-62, 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸² T. 21 August 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); Defence Exhibit 558 (Kanyabashi) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 557 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸³ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 36-38; T. 23 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸⁴ T. 21 August 2007 p. 37; T. 23 August 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸⁵ T. 23 August 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸⁶ T. 22 August 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁰⁸⁷ T. 21 August 2007 p. 37; T. 28 August 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

- 1622. The witness marked the location of the soldiers in red with the letters "S1" and "S2", and the direction they attacked with red arrows, on Defence Exhibit 558. The witness marked the location where he saw the first group of civilians as he left his home after having heard gunshots with a "C1". The witness marked the location where he saw the second group of civilians who were accompanying the soldiers with a "C2". In moved towards the refugees during the attack. The witness marked the spot where the refugees were then attacked with a circle and an "R". Hope witness marked the spot where the refugees were then attacked with a circle and an "R".
- 1623. Witness D-2-14-D estimated that he was 200 metres from his house and 100 metres from one group of soldiers when he saw them firing. He saw only two groups of soldiers and two groups of civilians. Witness D-2-14-D was closest to a group of about 150 civilians and another group contained approximately 300 civilians. He estimated there were 20 soldiers who wore military attire. He did not know from which camp the soldiers came although they were part of the Rwandan Armed Forces. He did not know any of the soldiers, whereas of the 500 civilian attackers he knew maybe 30 to 50 people. The witness knew the close group of civilians because he had worked with them.
- 1624. Witness D-2-14-D estimated the distance between his house and the victims as approximately 1,200 metres, 4099 and 3,000 metres from his house to the second group of soldiers. 4100 He estimated that the distance from the victims to the bottom of the hill was 300 metres, and that the hill was 1,200 metres wide. 4101 The Ngoma *commune* office was approximately 15 kilometres from Kabakobwa and the trip would take approximately 20 minutes by vehicle. 4102
- 1625. Witness D-2-14-D also testified that Nsanzabahizi was present at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994. The witness marked the spot where he saw Nsanzabahizi during the attack with a circle and an "N", and marked the spot where he was standing when he saw Nsanzabahizi with a circle and a "W". He was standing approximately five metres from Nsanzabahizi. The witness explained that Nsanzabahizi had been a soldier prior to becoming a *commune* policeman and then the driver for the *commune*. He was dressed as a soldier when he fired

```
<sup>4088</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 68 (ICS); T. 22 August 2007 pp. 12-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4089</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 70-72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4090 T. 21 August 2007 pp. 71-72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4091 T. 22 August 2007 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4092</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4093</sup> T. 22 August 2007 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4094 T. 21 August 2007 pp. 69, 72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4095</sup> T. 23 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4096</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 62 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4097</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4098</sup> T. 27 August 2007 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4099</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 33, 37 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4100</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 7 (ICS); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4101</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 37, 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4102</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4103</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 25 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4104</sup> T. 22 August 2007 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4105</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4106</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 25; T. 23 August 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
```

upon the refugees, and not as a *commune* policeman, although he was not a soldier at the time. 4107 Semwiza and Nsanzabahizi were half-brothers but they did not get on. 4108

1626. Witness D-2-14-D described the attack as "remarkable" and testified that his *conseiller* and Kanyabashi would have heard of it, considering Kabakobwa was within Ngoma *commune* and under Kanyabashi's jurisdiction. Witness D-2-14-D did not see Kanyabashi take any actions after the attack because neither the *conseiller* of his *secteur*, nor *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi had any authority to punish criminals in the *commune*, because it was the soldiers who gave the orders. Civilians were taking orders from the soldiers.

1627. Members of the population who participated in the attack were wearing banana leaves, but the witness did not wear banana leaves. He did not see any *Interahamwe* present at the Kabakobwa massacre. When confronted with his statement of 28 November 2004, in which he stated, "I was with the soldiers and the other *Interahamwe* at Kabakobwa", the witness explained that he referred to ordinary civilians as *Interahamwe* even though they were not really *Interahamwe*. The soldiers left Kabakobwa at approximately 5.00 p.m., and the civilians left later, after having picked up the refugees' belongings, but before nightfall.

1628. Witness D-2-14-D did not see Ngoma *commune* police or hear any messages from the Ngoma *commune* police during the attack. Although Witness D-2-14-D did not know many Ngoma *commune* policemen, he knew there were no police present during the attack, because he did not see anyone in police uniform, which at the time was green. Similarly, he did not hear anyone mention the presence of the Ngoma *commune* police at Kabakobwa during the massacre during any of the *Gacaca* sessions he attended.

1629. Witness D-2-14-D observed Nsanzabahizi's confession in *Gacaca* proceedings in Huye Stadium in Butare in January 2003. Nsanzabahizi confessed to firing on defenceless people "without receiving any instructions or orders from anybody". Nsanzabahizi never mentioned Kanyabashi's name. Nsanzabahizi said he was personally responsible for what he had done. During Nsanzabahizi's confession he did not mention any letter written by Kanyabashi.

```
<sup>4107</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 8 (ICS); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 31-32, 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4108 T. 27 August 2007 pp. 43-44 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4109</sup> T. 28 August 2007 p. 9 (Witness D-2-14-D).
4110 T. 28 August 2007 p. 8 (Witness D-2-14-D).
4111 T. 27 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4112</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 15, 36; T. 27 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4113 T. 27 August 2007 p. 76 (Witness D-2-14-D).
4114 T. 27 August 2007 pp. 78-79 (Witness D-2-14-D); Prosecution Exhibit 193B (29 August 2004 (signed 28
November 2004), Statement of Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4115</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 37 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4116</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4117</sup> T. 23 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4118</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4119</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 25-27, 29 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4120</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 26 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4121</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 34 (Witness D-2-14-D).
```

⁴¹²² T. 21 August 2007 pp. 25-26, 34, 36 (Witness D-2-14-D). ⁴¹²³ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 26, 36 (Witness D-2-14-D).

- 1630. Witness D-2-14-D testified that he did not hear during *Gacaca* that Kanyabashi told Tutsis not to go to their homes. Witness D-2-14-D did not see Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April 1994 nor did he ever hear anyone state during the *Gacaca* sessions that Kanyabashi was present at Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April 1994. He may have missed Kanyabashi if he had gone to Kabakobwa on foot. Witness D-2-14-D agreed that *Gacaca* sessions focused on the individual before them, and thus a *Gacaca* session not concerning Kanyabashi would likely not address him. He never heard anyone claim that Kanyabashi ordered people to go to Kabakobwa to search for and kill survivors. Nor did he hear anyone claim that Kanyabashi was responsible for the killings.
- 1631. The following day [23 April 1994], from the morning until noon people went back to Kabakobwa to plunder and loot the property of the victims, and to finish off those who had not died, under the supervision of Semwiza. While the witness was not involved in the looting during the morning, around 2.00 p.m. of the same day he was involved in the killing of one Rurangwa who had survived the Kabakobwa incident. Witness D-2-14-D subsequently said he did partake in the looting in the morning. Witness D-2-14-D became involved in the subsequent killings because of Semwiza, who was the person who directed the attacks and supervised the looting of people's bodies. Semwiza said the Tutsis were the enemy of the Hutus and that he knew Tutsis because he had fought them in 1959. The conseiller and defied the former's authority. Semwiza once slapped the conseiller and told him that he was an accomplice of the Tutsis and that he hid them.
- 1632. Witness D-2-14-D did not know of Kanyabashi making any announcements for Tutsis to come out of their hiding places by megaphone. 4137
- 1633. According to the witness, burials took place on Sunday, 24 April 1994. Witness D-2-14-D testified that Semwiza and three others were arrested two days after the Kabakobwa burials and placed in detention. Several members of the population who lived in Nkubi *secteur*, including Nsanzabahizi, wrote a letter seeking their release. Semwiza was released when the RPF took Butare, but had since died. Witness D-2-14-D signed the petition

```
<sup>4124</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4125</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 39; T. 27 August 2007 p. 32 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4126</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 39 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4127</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 63 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4128</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4129</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 40 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4130</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 43, 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4131</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 43-44, 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4132</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 47 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4133</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 23, 43 (ICS); T. 23 August 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4134</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4135</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 37 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4136</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 36 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4137</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4138</sup> T. 21 August 2007 pp. 49, 52 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 29 (Witness D-2-14-D).
4139 T. 22 August 2007 p. 22 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4140</sup> T. 28 August 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
```

calling for the release of the three remaining detainees on 29 May 1994 without knowing its purpose. 4141 Witness D-2-14-D did not know who carried out their arrests. 4142

1634. Witness D-2-14-D knew Witness FAM and they were detained together in Karubanda. Witness D-2-14-D testified Witness FAM lived about four kilometres from Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-14-D testified Witness FAM was of bad character and was dismissed from his job for having stolen. In 1995 Witness FAM escaped from prison but was re-arrested. In prison Witness FAM stole from other detainees and was frequently held in isolation. After returning to Rwanda, Witness FAM told the other detainees that he had come to Arusha to testify against Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-14-D testified that Witness FAM gave false testimony. When Witness FAM confessed to his crimes committed at Kabakobwa during the *Gacaca* sessions in prison, he did not mention Kanyabashi was in Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-14-D testified that Witness FAM was inciting others in prison to falsely testify against Kanyabashi. No one approached Witness D-2-14-D to give false testimony before this Tribunal. Witness D-2-14-D was also detained in the "Arusha" block in Rwanda with Witness D-2-13-D and Witness QCB, who were both from his native *cellule*. Although Witness D-2-14-D lived together with Witness D-2-13-D in Arusha while waiting to testify before this Tribunal, he testified there would be both similarities and differences between their testimonies.

1635. Witness D-2-14-D further testified that he did not see Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa, or anywhere else, on 22, 23, or 24 April 1994. Witness D-2-14-D identified Kanyabashi in court. 4155

1636. Witness D-2-14-D testified that Witness D-2-13-D came from the same home *cellule*. According to Witness D-2-14-D, Witness D-2-13-D was one of the civilians who remained on the hill after the soldiers left. Witness D-2-14-D marked the location of Witness D-2-13-D's house on Defence Exhibit 559. Witness D-2-14-D testified that he saw Witness D-2-13-D at Kabakobwa and was thereafter detained together with Witness D-2-13-D

```
<sup>4141</sup> T. 28 August 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4142</sup> T. 28 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4143 T. 22 August 2007 pp. 24, 27-28 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4144</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4145 T. 22 August 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4146 T. 22 August 2007 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4147</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4148 T. 22 August 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4149</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4150 T. 23 August 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4151</sup> T. 22 August 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4152</sup> T. 22 August 2007 pp. 66-67 (ICS); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4153</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4154</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 39; T. 21 August 2007 pp. 48, 55-56 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 32 (Witness D-2-14-
D).
4155 T. 20 August 2007 p. 47 (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4156</sup> T. 22 August 2007 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4157 T. 27 August 2007 p. 8 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 10 (HC) (Witness D-2-14-D) (French).
```

August 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴¹⁵⁸ Defence Exhibit 559 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 558 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D); T. 27

at Karubanda. Witness D-2-14-D testified that he met Nkeshimana, the Kanyabashi Defence investigator, at the same time as Witness D-2-13-D and Witness D-2-13-D was with him when he signed his statement before Nkeshimana. Witness D-2-14-D testified that he was staying with Witness D-2-13-D while in Arusha, but denied that they had discussed their testimony, saying that there are points of diversions between their versions of events.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-P

1637. Witness D-2-16-P, a Tutsi, 4163 testified that in the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994, he along with other people, including three policemen from Ngoma *commune*, were at Mukura Bridge. 4164 On that morning, the *conseiller* for Mubumbano, Bumeyi, threw a grenade at people standing at the bridge, but no one was hurt. Bumeyi threw the grenade to scare away the population who was protecting the bridge and to allow the attackers to cross the bridge. After the grenade was thrown, soldiers arrived at the bridge where they found many members of the population, including the three policemen. There were 15 to 20 soldiers who arrived on board a vehicle. The soldiers asked the population what they were doing and one of the soldiers hit a policeman with the butt of his gun and told him, "[y]ou are supporting the *Inkotanyi* just like your *bourgmestre*, Kanyabashi". 4170

1638. After this incident, Witness D-2-16-P went home at around noon going through Kanyamanza Hill and Rango market, arriving home around 1.00 p.m. ⁴¹⁷¹ At Rango market, he saw a policeman, citizens and fleeing refugees. ⁴¹⁷² The distance between Mukura Bridge and Kanyamanza could be covered in 10 minutes on foot, and Rango market to Kanyamanza in 20 minutes on foot. ⁴¹⁷³ It is a 40 minute walk to Kabakobwa from the witness' house. ⁴¹⁷⁴ He did not notice if Kanyabashi was present at Rango market on that day nor did he hear anyone say so. ⁴¹⁷⁵

1639. Witness D-2-16-P testified that on that Thursday [21 April 1994], security was shaky, as people were fleeing. Later that day, while at home, he heard gunshots following which he and his neighbours decided to pack their belongings and flee to Burundi. Since night was falling, they spent the night in Kabakobwa where they arrived between 5.00 and 6.00 p.m. ⁴¹⁷⁶

```
<sup>4159</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 60, 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4160 T. 23 August 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4161 T. 27 August 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4162</sup> T. 23 August 2007 pp. 8, 72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4163</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-16-P); Defence Exhibit 639 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>4164</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 35, 37, 39; T. 13 March 2008 p. 12; T. 17 March 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4165</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 37; T. 17 March 2008 pp. 36-37, 44 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4166 T. 17 March 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4167</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 39; T. 17 March 2008 pp. 34, 40 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4168</sup> T. 17 March 2008 p. 42 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4169</sup> T. 17 March 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4170</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 39; T. 17 March 2008 pp. 34, 41 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4171</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 40; T. 17 March 2008 p. 46 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4172</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 40-41, 49 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4173</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 48 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4174</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4175</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 49 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4176</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 50-51 (Witness D-2-16-P).
```

There were about 500 to 1,000 people at Kabakobwa. The people at Kabakobwa had come from Gishamvu, Runyinya and Huye *communes*, and Nyarugururu area; the witness and his family were from Ngoma *commune*. At 10.00 p.m. that night, some young men tried to cross the border to Burundi, but found a roadblock at a place called Ruhuha where they were attacked, seriously assaulted and killed, while the one boy who survived and returned to Kabakobwa was wounded in the head. At 10.00 p.m.

1640. No authority asked the people to go to Kabakobwa, and he never heard that authorities, be it Kanyabashi, *secteur conseillers* or *cellule* heads, gave directives on that Thursday that people should go to Kabakobwa. They stopped at Kabakobwa in order to prepare food for their children but their intention was to continue to Burundi the following day. They were not guarded that night. On Friday morning Witness D-2-16-P was unable to continue to Burundi because the young man who had been injured the night before told him that the roadblock was impassable. It was not until Friday at about 3.00 p.m. that they were surrounded by their attackers. Other civilians reached Kabakobwa in the morning and told the refugees who were there that Kabakobwa Hill was going to be attacked. In the morning and told

1641. That same Friday morning, one Mathias, a driver at the *commune* office, arrived on his motorcycle wearing a military uniform and a black beret to fetch his sister and her children. He arrived around 8.00 a.m. He later testified Mathias arrived around 10.00 a.m. He fore being a driver, Mathias was a soldier in the army. Witness D-2-16-P did not know if Mathias had also been a policeman.

1642. After Mathias' arrival, *gendarmes* arrived on foot at Kabakobwa, called out for someone named "Africa" and asked him to assemble people so that a meeting could be held. He said that Africa told the *gendarmes* that the people would not obey his orders since they were sad and had lost family members, and the *gendarmes* left. The *gendarmes* wore camouflage uniforms, with red berets. Witness D-2-16-P did not see the *gendarmes* again after their departure.

```
<sup>4177</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4178 T. 12 March 2008 p. 53 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4179</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 50-51; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 22-23; T. 19 March 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4180</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 55-56; T. 19 March 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4181</sup> T. 19 March 2008 pp. 37-38 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4182</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 56 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4183</sup> T. 19 March 2008 pp. 37-38 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4184</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 39 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4185 T. 12 March 2008 pp. 56-57; T. 17 March 2008 p. 55; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 17, 21; T. 19 March 2008 pp. 38,
49 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4186</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 38 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4187</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 49 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4188</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 57; T. 13 March 2008 pp. 53-54; T. 18 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4189</sup> T. 13 March 2008 p. 54; T. 17 March 2008 p. 71 (ICS); T. 18 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4190</sup> T. 12 March 2008 pp. 57-58; T. 18 March 2008 p. 27 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4191</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 58; T. 19 March 2008 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4192</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 58 (Witness D-2-16-P).
```

4193 T. 18 March 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-16-P).

1643. Later that Friday afternoon, between 2.00 and 3.00 p.m., soldiers came to Kabakobwa along with *Interahamwe* who wore banana leaves over their bodies and heads, and started shooting at people. He did not see how the soldiers arrived at Kabakobwa; he only saw them when they were standing at Agasharu *cellule* and were moving downwards towards them. The distance between the refugees at Kabakobwa and the attackers at Agasharu was about 500 metres, maybe more, while the distance to the attackers at Rwinuma was maybe 700 metres. The soldiers and *Interahamwe* surrounded them. The *Interahamwe* were walking behind the soldiers. The soldiers started firing while they were at Agasharu. He said the soldiers shot at people while the *Interahamwe* finished off those who had not been killed by bullets. Soldiers carried weapons and firearms, while the *Interahamwe* used traditional weapons like machetes. Weapons and firearms, while the *Interahamwe* used traditional weapons like machetes. The gunfire lasted about 20 minutes and then a shell exploded. Witness D-2-16-P fled after the shell exploded. Witness D-2-16-P fled with his family and spent the night at Gikore in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. Since it was impossible to get to Burundi because the border crossings were blocked, the witness left Gikore the next morning [Saturday] at 10.00 a.m. and returned home, where he arrived around 4.00 or 5.00 p.m.

1644. Soldiers did not come to talk to the refugees earlier that day to tell them that Hutus and Tutsis needed to separate. During the period from April to July both Tutsis and some Hutus who were collaborating with Tutsis were killed. 4206

1645. On Defence Exhibit 664, Witness D-2-16-P showed the location of the soldiers and *Interahamwe* dressed in banana leaves on Agasharu Hill when they started firing at the refugees, at a spot marked by a rectangle above the figure of a person. Witness D-2-16-P showed on Defence Exhibit 664 the location of the other group of attackers at Rwinuma Hill at a spot below the Butare-Kansi road. Witness D-2-16-P marked the location of Rango market with an "M" on Defence Exhibit 664. D-2-16-P marked the location of the soldiers and *Interahamwe* at Agasharu with an "MI", and the location of the soldiers at Rwinuma with an "MI2" on Defence Exhibit 664.

```
<sup>4194</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 63; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 20, 22, 24, 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4195</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 20; T. 19 March 2008 p. 40 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4196</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4197 T. 18 March 2008 p. 22 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4198 T. 18 March 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4199</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4200</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 63; T. 18 March 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4201</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 42 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4202</sup> T. 18 March 2008 pp. 18-20 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4203</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 64; T. 17 March 2008 p. 55; T. 19 March 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4204</sup> T. 19 March 2008 pp. 46, 48 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4205</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4206</sup> T. 19 March 2008 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4207</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 40 (Witness D-2-16-P); Defence Exhibit 646 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 35).
<sup>4208</sup> T. 18 March 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-16-P); Defence Exhibit 646 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 35).
4209 T. 18 March 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P); Defence Exhibit 646 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence
```

1646. Witness D-2-16-P did not personally see Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa on that Friday. 4211 Witness D-2-16-P did not see any Ngoma *commune* police officers among the assailants, or hear anyone say so afterwards. 4212 In 1994 *commune* police officers wore green uniforms and yellow berets. 4213 He testified that he may not have recognised *commune* policemen if they were wearing something other than their usual attire. 4214 Witness D-2-16-P did not see or ever hear anyone say that Mathias was present at Kabakobwa on that Friday. 4215

1647. After the events at Kabakobwa, the *conseiller* no longer had power. Semwiza had taken power. This was made clear from the fact that he had heard that at a meeting called by the *conseiller* to ask members of the public to co-exist peacefully, Semwiza slapped the *conseiller* and told the *conseiller* that what he was doing was not good. He did not personally see this, he only heard of it. Semwiza was one of the leaders of the attacks against the Tutsis in the witness' *secteur*. After the killings in Kabakobwa and before the beginning of July 1994, *gendarmes* arrested and detained Semwiza and other people who had been involved in the attack and killed the children of one Emmanuel who had sought refuge at the house of one Aloys. He did not personally see this, he only heard of it. He did not know who ordered those arrests. He did not know of Defence Exhibit 33, the document seeking the release of those arrested, although his name featured among those who signed it. Witness D-2-16-P testified that there are several people with his same first name in his *secteur* and one other person with his same first and family names, and it was that person who signed the petition.

1648. Witness D-2-16-P testified that from his home he could hear messages by megaphone from a vehicle on the road linking Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs*. Prior to April 1994, he could hear such messages delivered by megaphone, but he never heard such messages from April to early July 1994. 4224

1649. Witness D-2-16-P attended all *Gacaca* proceedings in his home *secteur* including sessions where Kabakobwa events were mentioned; he never heard Kanyabashi or *commune* policemen mentioned in relation to the Kabakobwa events. Semwiza was mentioned at the *Gacaca* proceedings but never appeared there because he had died prior to the proceedings. Witness D-2-16-P also never heard, at *Gacaca* or elsewhere, of a letter read out by Kanyabashi calling on the public to join soldiers in order to kill people who had assembled at

```
<sup>4211</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 65; T. 19 March 2008 p. 43 (Witness D-2-16-P).
<sup>4212</sup> T. 12 March 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-2-16-P).
```

⁴²¹³ T. 12 March 2008 p. 58; T. 19 March 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁴ T. 18 March 2008 p. 20 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁵ T. 17 March 2008 p. 55; T. 18 March 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁶ T. 13 March 2008 p. 11 (ICS); T. 17 March 2008 pp. 71-72 (ICS); T. 18 March 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁷ T. 18 March 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁸ T. 19 March 2008 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²¹⁹ T. 13 March 2008 p. 14; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 4-5; T. 19 March 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁰ T. 18 March 2008 pp. 4-5; T. 19 March 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²¹ T. 18 March 2008 pp. 6-7 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²² T. 18 March 2008 p. 55; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²³ T. 19 March 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁴ T. 12 March 2008 pp. 9-10 (ICS); T. 17 March 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁵ T. 13 March 2008 p. 12 (ICS); T. 13 March 2008 p. 13 (Witness D-2-16-P).

Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-16-P also never heard Nsanzabahizi implicated in the Kabakobwa events at *Gacaca* proceedings. 4227 The witness later testified that Nsanzabahizi was often mentioned in relation to the Kabakobwa events at Gacaca proceedings. 4228

1650. Witness D-2-16-P testified that *Ibuka* assists survivors of the genocide and provides them with advice to remain united. The association helps with rebuilding houses that were destroyed. At the préfecture level in Butare, the Ibuka leader was called Kabarega and he had assistants among members of the population. 4229 Witness D-2-16-P did not know if one Rutayisire definitely left *Ibuka*. He also denied knowing that one of *Ibuka's* duties was to help train witnesses to give evidence in various trials. 4230 Witness D-2-16-P testified that *Ibuka* prohibits its members from testifying for the Defence because the association considers that it is those former authorities who caused the genocide in Rwanda. 4231

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-L

- 1651. Witness D-2-16-L, a Hutu and former army officer, 4232 testified that he knew a place called Kabakobwa located in Nkubi in Ngoma *commune*. 4233 He never heard that Kanyabashi asked refugees to go to Kanyamanza or that refugees went to Kabakobwa on Kanyabashi's request.4234
- 1652. Witness D-2-16-L started seeing killers from 21 April 1994. 4235 The shooting of the refugees at Kabakobwa started on 22 April 1994, and the people killed there were largely Tutsis though there were also some Hutus. Witness D-2-16-L first learned of the mass killings in Kabakobwa when he heard intense gunshots from Kabakobwa; however, he was afraid and did not go there. People ran from Rango and Gishamvu and those who passed through Kabakobwa were not lucky enough to survive. 4236
- 1653. Witness D-2-16-L testified that Kanyabashi did not send *commune* police officers to Kabakobwa; people at Kabakobwa said that it was soldiers who killed people at Kabakobwa. not police officers. 4237 Witness D-2-16-L was aware that Semwiza participated in many acts of killing of the Tutsis and led such attacks acting like the commander of Nkubi secteur; on one occasion Semwiza even beat *Conseiller* Kanyabahizi. 4238 Semwiza masterminded the attacks

⁴²²⁶ T. 13 March 2008 p. 13 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁷ T. 18 March 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁸ T. 19 March 2008 p. 47 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²²⁹ T. 13 March 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²³⁰ T. 13 March 2008 p. 35; T. 13 March 2008 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²³¹ T. 13 March 2008 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴²³² T. 27 February 2008 p. 40; T. 28 February 2008 pp. 46, 60-61 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L); Defence Exhibit 632 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁴²³³ T. 27 February 2008 pp. 56-57 (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴²³⁴ T. 27 February 2008 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴²³⁵ T. 28 February 2008 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴²³⁶ T. 28 February 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴²³⁷ T. 27 February 2008 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴²³⁸ T. 3 March 2008 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).

and the forces carrying out the attacks were members of the MRND, including *Interahamwe* who were the youth wing of the MRND and MDR parties and that once he saw soldiers. 4239

1654. Witness D-2-16-L was not present during Semwiza's arrest but learned of it after. While Witness D-2-16-L knew that Semwiza and his men committed crimes, he did not know if Semwiza was arrested for mass killings of Tutsis or for the death of one Mpakaniye (Sindikubwabo's brother-in-law), on the intervention of President Sindikubwabo. Witness D-2-16-L was unaware of anyone else who may have been arrested for the massacre of Tutsis in Nkubi *secteur* during the period April to July 1994.

1655. Witness D-2-16-L knew Mathias Nsanzabahizi was a driver for the *commune* police officers. He saw Nsanzabahizi drive *commune* policemen in the period prior to the genocide but not after 6 April 1994 when the genocide started. He knew Nsanzabahizi as a soldier and had known him for many years as they both served in the Rwandan army. 4245

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

1656. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, 4246 testified that from 19 to 21 April 1994 he was at Mukura Bridge helping to prevent people from entering Ngoma. 4247 On the third day of being at Mukura Bridge, Thursday 21 April 1994, Witness D-2-YYYY went home while others guarded the bridge. 4248 There were skirmishes in the morning because *Conseiller* Bumeya of Mubumbano, in Gishamvu *commune* 4249 arrived with approximately 50 *Interahamwe* armed with traditional weapons 4250 trying to go to Tumba to get at the people taking refuge there. Witness D-2-YYYY received word of the skirmish and it took him 30 to 40 minutes to get to the bridge. 4251 As he headed back to the bridge, he heard an explosion in the direction of Rango market and people told him that Bumeya had shot a grenade at them. 4252 It was 8.00 or 9.00 a.m. when Witness D-2-YYYY returned to the bridge.

1657. Witness D-2-YYYY remained at the bridge and two and a half or three hours after the incident with Bumeya, a vehicle arrived at Mukura Bridge carrying about six soldiers. ⁴²⁵⁴ The soldiers asked what they were doing there and asked their ethnic identities. Witness D-2-YYYY answered that they were ensuring security on behalf of their *commune* and that they

```
4239 T. 3 March 2008 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4240 T. 28 February 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4241 T. 3 March 2008 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4242 T. 3 March 2008 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4243 T. 28 February 2008 pp. 29, 71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4244 T. 28 February 2008 pp. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4245 T. 28 February 2008 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4246 Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 pp. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
4247 T. 27 November 2007 pp. 39-41, 44 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 34,
52-55 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 4 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
4248 T. 27 November 2007 pp. 45, 54 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 38 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 52, 63-63
```

⁽ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
⁴²⁴⁹ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵⁰ T. 3 December 2007 pp. 42-43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵¹ T. 11 December 2007 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵² T. 27 November 2007 p. 45 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵³ T. 27 November 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵⁴ T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

were both Hutus and Tutsis, after which the soldier threatened them and called them accomplices of their boss and struck a commune police officer in the chest. 4255 The soldier asked where Bumeya was and they then continued on their way. 4256 Witness D-2-YYYY returned home via Rango market around noon or 12.30 p.m. because he was afraid after what the soldier had said. 4257 Witness D-2-YYYY lived between two and a half to three kilometres from Kabakobwa and it would take between 45 minutes to an hour to cover the distance by foot ⁴²⁵⁸

1658. At about 1.30 p.m. Witness D-2-YYYY saw approximately 50 people pass his house coming from Rango and heading towards Nkubi secteur. They said that a Tutsi named Athanase Karanganwa had just been killed. 4259 He remembered it was a Thursday [21 April 1994] because it was market day and at 8.00 a.m. his wife went to Rango market to sell a goat. 4260 When they met at home, the witness' wife did not talk of Kanyabashi's presence at the market on that day. 4261 At about 3.00 or 3.30 p.m., the *commune* vehicle came to pick the witness up to go to work. 4262 Witness D-2-YYYY did not hear from anyone that Kanyabashi was present at Rango on Thursday. 4263 Witness D-2-YYYY spent Thursday night at the commune office. 4264 When put to Witness D-2-YYYY that his statement of 19 November 2004 stated that he did not work on Thursday, 21 April 1994, in contradiction to his testimony, Witness D-2-YYYY explained it was a misunderstanding, as he had told the investigator that he had a rest day that day, not that he had rested that day. 4265

1659. Witness D-2-YYYY testified that at 8.30 a.m. on Friday, 22 April 1994, a meeting was held in the conference room on the ground floor of the commune office that was chaired by Kanyabashi. 4266 Kanyabashi asked the brigadier about the situation in various secteurs and stated that he did not want the commune police to get involved in the Tutsi massacres. Kanyabashi said that anyone who behaved properly would be rewarded and Kanyabashi urged them to hide people seeking refuge in their homes. They told Kanyabashi about the situation with the soldiers and Kanyabashi said he would talk to his superiors and to the soldiers. 4267

⁴²⁵⁵ T. 27 November 2007 p. 47 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵⁶ T. 27 November 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵⁷ T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

4258 T. 5 December 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁵⁹ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶⁰ T. 27 November 2007 p. 54 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶¹ T. 27 November 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶² T. 27 November 2007 p. 56 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶⁴ T. 3 December 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶⁵ T. 3 December 2007 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); Defence Exhibit 618B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19-20 May 2004, Statement of Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 19 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 49, 51-52 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 16, 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁶⁷ T. 28 November 2007 p. 19 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 51-52 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 16, 26-28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

Witness D-2-YYYY testified that Kanyabashi told them not to get involved in the massacres because the police did not have the requisite capabilities to stop the killings. 4268

1660. After the meeting, Kanyabashi remained at the commune office for the day although he went home between 1.30 and 3.30 p.m. 4269 Witness D-2-YYYY saw Kanyabashi leave in the direction of his home, but could not be sure whether Kanyabashi went anywhere other than his home. 4270 Witness D-2-YYYY estimated that it could take 20 or 30 minutes to reach Kabakobwa from the commune office, although he could not be sure because he had never covered that distance by car. 4271 Kanyabashi went home for the day at about 5.00 p.m. 4272 Although Witness D-2-YYYY spent Friday 22 April at the commune office he was aware that killings probably occurred at Kabakobwa because he could hear gunshots, and the events were subsequently discussed at *Gacaca* sessions. 4273 The killing of Tutsis was also discussed at that morning's meeting; the *bourgmestre* raised the issue and in turn the policemen reported what they had seen in relation to the killing of Tutsis, for example, the death of one Karanganwa at Mukura Bridge on 21 April. 4274 Witness D-2-YYYY testified that throughout that period he could hear gunshots in town, and there was "shooting all over the place", both during the day and at night. 4275

1661. Witness D-2-YYYY spent Friday night, 4276 as well as all day Saturday at the *commune* office and did not see Kanyabashi there. 4277 Witness D-2-YYYY did not see Kanyabashi during the day on Saturday. 4278 He next saw Kanyabashi during the early evening on Saturday 23 April. 4279 At 5.00 p.m. Witness D-2-YYYY was at Kanyabashi's house, and at 6.00 p.m. Kanyabashi went out with Witness D-2-5-I. They returned around 7.00 or 7.30 p.m. and said they had been fired upon at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. 4280 Witness D-2-YYYY did not know where Kanyabashi went with Witness D-2-5-I. Witness D-2-YYYY spent Saturday night and Sunday at Kanyabashi's house. 4282 Kanyabashi spent all day Sunday at home and was visited by the *conseiller* of Matyazo and the brigadier. 4283

1662. Witness D-2-YYYY never heard Kanyabashi, *conseillers* or *responsables de cellule* order Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa. 4284 At the *Gacaca* proceedings he attended, Witness D-2-

⁴²⁶⁸ T. 3 December 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 p. 71 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 40 (ICS)

⁽Witness D-2-YYYY). 4269 T. 28 November 2007 p. 20 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 49, 52 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁰ T. 11 December 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷¹ T. 11 December 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷² T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 49 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 p. 27 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷³ T. 11 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁴ T. 11 December 2007 pp. 26-28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁵ T. 11 December 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁷ T. 11 December 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁷⁹ T. 11 December 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁰ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 21-22 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 53-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸¹ T. 11 December 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁴ T. 28 November 2007 p. 28 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

YYYY never heard Kanyabashi mentioned in relation to the murder of Tutsis at Kabakobwa, that Kanyabashi asked Tutsis to gather at Kabakobwa, that Kanyabashi ordered that Tutsis should not be able to return home, or anything about a message broadcast by megaphone at the behest of Kanyabashi. 4285 At the Gacaca sessions it was said that refugees from Rango and Tumba gathered at Kabakobwa only in order to continue their journey to Burundi. 4286 At the Gacaca sessions he attended, Witness D-2-YYYY also never heard any mention of Mathias Nsanzabahizi reading a letter from Kanyabashi asking people to participate in the Kabakobwa massacre, or that policemen from Ngoma commune were implicated in the massacre. 4287

1663. Witness D-2-YYYY did not personally carry out an investigation of the Kabakobwa killings because during that period the police had no power. 4288 Ordinary citizens, incited by soldiers, were the ones responsible for attacking refugees at Kabakobwa, although it was the soldiers who first opened fire. He did not know from which camps the soldiers came, he only saw people wearing military uniforms. 4289

1664. Witness D-2-YYYY confirmed that Nsanzabahizi was said to have participated in the Kabakobwa killings and was charged with this at the Gacaca proceedings in Nkubi. 4290 Nsanzabahizi had just finished military service when he was recruited as a commune police officer. 4291 Nsanzabahizi had been a commune policeman from 1987 or 1988 for two or three years after which he became a driver. Nsanzabahizi was a driver for Ngoma commune between January and July 1994. From April to July 1994, Nsanzabahizi spent most of his time transporting *commune* police officers. While Nsanzabahizi was a driver, he wore civilian clothes and Witness D-2-YYYY never saw him with a gun. Commune policemen wore green trousers and shirts, and yellow berets with an insignia. A295 Nsanzabahizi did not wear this uniform between April and July 1994. 4296

1665. Soldiers also wore boots and a camouflage uniform with black berets, while gendarmes wore red berets. 4297 *Interahamwe* wore military shirts and casual clothes. 4298 It was possible that Presidential Guards were around at the time since the President was in town. 4299 The

⁴²⁸⁵ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 27-28, 39, 32 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 28 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁷ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 32-33 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁸ T. 5 December 2007 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁸⁹ T. 5 December 2007 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁰ T. 5 December 2007 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 46-47 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 27 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

4293 T. 28 November 2007 p. 48 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 27, 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁴ T. 11 December 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁵ T. 28 November 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁶ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁷ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 50, 52 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴²⁹⁹ T. 5 December 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

people listed in Defence Exhibit 613 were police officers as of 31 December 1993, and some were also former soldiers. 4300

Nsabimana

1666. Nsabimana never knew of the occurrence of massacres in Kabakobwa in 1994. The massacre of people at Kabakobwa Hill was never raised at any Security Council meeting. 4301

Nteziryayo

1667. Nteziryayo did not personally know the place Kabakobwa, had never been there, and had not heard about a massacre committed there in 1994. Nteziryayo testified that he was not approached by Kanyabashi to go to Kabakobwa nor did he ever go to Kabakobwa together with Colonel Muvunyi, Nsanzabahizi and soldiers on a Friday in April 1994 or any other time between April and July 1994. He was not present together with Kanyabashi and Colonel Muvunyi when persons who had sought refuge in Kabakobwa were being killed. He did not, together with Kanyabashi, order anybody to carry weapons to Kabakobwa. He did not know whether Kanyabashi went to Kabakobwa or authorised anyone to carry weapons in Kabakobwa.

Prosecution Witness Ghandi Shukry

1668. Ghandi Shukry, a Prosecution investigator since 1996,⁴³⁰⁶ testified that Prosecution Exhibits 34A-G and 35 concerned Kabakobwa. Exhibit 34A was the view of the road going to Kabakobwa Valley from the top. Exhibit 34B showed a view of an alleged mass grave located in Kabakobwa; the mass grave was the flat, green grass surrounded by trees. Exhibits 34C, 34D and 34E were views of the alleged mass grave from different angles, and Exhibit 34F represented a view of the road from the valley towards where the mass grave was located on the left side of the photo. Exhibit 34G was a view of the alleged mass grave from a cluster of the trees surrounding it. Exhibit 35 was the related video footage of the photos regarding Kabakobwa.

3.6.8.4 Deliberations

1669. The following facts are not in dispute: on 22 April 1994, at least 500 and up to 10,000 mostly Tutsi refugees gathered at Kabakobwa Hill and were surrounded by 200 to 250 people from the surrounding *secteurs* dressed in banana leaves and armed with traditional

⁴³⁰⁰ T. 4 December 2007 pp. 33-38, 40-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); Defence Exhibit 613 (Ntahobali) (List of names - Under seal).

⁴³⁰¹ T. 21 November 2006 pp. 16-17 (Nsabimana).

⁴³⁰² T. 22 May 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).

⁴³⁰³ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 12-15 (Nteziryayo).

⁴³⁰⁴ T. 22 May 2007 p. 15 (Nteziryayo).

⁴³⁰⁵ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 16-17 (Nteziryayo).

⁴³⁰⁶ T. 13 June 2001 p. 14 (Shukry).

⁴³⁰⁷ T. 19 June 2001 pp. 39-40 (Shukry).

⁴³⁰⁸ T. 19 June 2001 pp. 33-35 (Shukry).

⁴³⁰⁹ T. 19 June 2001 pp. 39-43 (Shukry).

weapons; 4310 at around 2.00 or 3.00 p.m. about 20 soldiers fired their weapons into the refugees and civilians thereafter attacked the refugees with clubs, bludgeons and spears; 4311 and the attack resulted in the death of at least hundreds, and possibly thousands, of the refugees. 4312

1670. What is in dispute is: (1) the reason why the refugees fled to Kabakobwa; (2) the identity of the attackers on Friday 22 April and Saturday 23 April 1994; and (3) who directed the attacks at Kabakobwa. Further, the Chamber must assess whether Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo were involved or present during these events, and the extent of their individual involvement.

3.6.8.4.1 Evidence Regarding False Testimony

1671. The Kanyabashi Defence relied on the testimony of Witness D-2-21-T in support of the allegation that Witnesses QAM and QP were Ibuka members, who participated in three meetings during which they were coached to provide false testimony against Kanyabashi. 4313 According to Witness D-2-21-T, during the December 1995 *Ibuka* meeting, Witness QAM was handed a sheet of paper containing false accusations against Kanyabashi, that she read out to the audience. 4314 She allegedly read that Kanyabashi had incited killings at Kabakobwa, and that he incited the public via megaphone, saying, "assemble the Tutsi who are at Kabakobwa,

⁴³¹⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 76, 81-85 (Witness FAM); T. 12 March 2002 p. 133 (Witness FAM); T. 22 October 2001 pp. 65-66 (Witness QAM); T. 23 October 2001 pp. 86, 90 (Witness QAM); T. 24 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness QAM); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 108, 114 (Witness QCB); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 122, 126 (Witness QCB); T. 5 June 2002 p. 168 (Witness QP); T. 6 June 2002 p. 137 (Witness QW); T. 28 April 2008 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 28 April 2008 pp. 42, 44 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 1 May 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 5 May 2008 p. 15 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 29 August 2007 pp. 73, 75, 77, 79 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D): T. 5 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D): T. 10 September 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D): T. 21 August 2007 pp. 7, 15, 36 (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 22 August 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 23 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 27 August 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 12 March 2008 pp. 50-51 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 18 March 2008 p. 22 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴³¹¹ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 84-86 (Witness FAM); T. 12 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAM); T. 22 October 2001 pp. 65-66 (Witness OAM); T. 24 October 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness OAM); T. 23 February 2009 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness QCB); T. 20 March 2002 p. 125 (Witness QCB); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 10-11, 13, 17 (Witness QP); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 139-141 (Witness QW); T. 28 April 2008 pp. 43-44 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 29 April 2008 p. 62 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 1 May 2008 pp. 73-74 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 5 May 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 29 August 2007 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 4 September 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 5 September 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 10 September 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 pp. 36-38 (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 23 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 12 March 2008 p. 63 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 18 March 2008 pp. 20, 22, 24, 30 (Witness D-2-16-P). The Chamber notes that Witness QCB estimated there were 250 soldiers, but he did not count soldiers and Interahamwe separately and may have included both in his count: T. 20 March 2002 p. 117 (Witness QCB). The 250 soldiers included members of the "Rwandan Army", who were wearing black berets and others from the gendarmes wearing red berets: T. 20 March 2002 p. 121 (Witness QCB).

⁴³¹² T. 7 March 2002 pp. 86, 104 (Witness FAM) (estimating there were more than 2,500 victims at Kabakobwa); T. 20 March 2002 p. 126 (Witness QCB); T. 2 April 2002 p. 58 (Witness QCB) (about 2,000 people were killed in Kabakobwa); T. 21 August 2007 p. 37 (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 28 August 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D) (estimating that 500 to 600 people were killed on Kabakobwa Hill); T. 21 January 2008 pp. 53-54 (Witness D-2-5-I) (witness knew that people died at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994).

4313 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 22, 59-60 (ICS) (testifying about Witness QAM's and Witness QP's involvement);

T. 4 November 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T) (all three meetings were aimed at preparing accusations against Kanyabashi).
4314 T. 3 November 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

since before burning the weeds, you have to first gather them". Witness D-2-21-T testified that Witness QP similarly read that Kanyabashi incited killings at Kabakobwa, and that Kanyabashi used a megaphone and asked that Tutsis be assembled at Kabakobwa, stating that whoever wished to burn weeds must first gather them. 4316

1672. The Chamber has taken into account Witness D-2-21-T's testimony concerning details about the identity of Prosecution Witnesses QAM⁴³¹⁷ and QP.⁴³¹⁸ Nevertheless, given the Chamber's finding that Witness D-2-21-T's allegations regarding fabrication of testimony were neither credible nor reliable (), the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-21-T's testimony does not undermine the credibility of Witnesses QAM and QP on events at Kabakobwa.

1673. The Kanyabashi Defence also relied on the testimony of Witness D-2-13-D in submitting that Prosecution Witnesses FAM and QCB, who testified on events at Kabakobwa, belonged to a pressure group in prison whose mission was to incriminate Kanyabashi. 4319 Witness D-2-13-D testified that Witnesses FAM and QCB were among a group of three people who approached him in jail and asked him to join their group in testifying against Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-13-D did not testify that the group members asked him to lie. In fact, when he asked them to leave him because he knew nothing about Kanyabashi's alleged involvement, they apparently did so. 4321 Further, Witness D-2-13-D did not state why he thought the group was preparing to testify falsely against Kanyabashi. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that Witness D-2-13-D's testimony undermines the testimony of Witnesses FAM and QCB. In sum, the Chamber finds that the testimony of Witnesses D-2-21-T and D-2-13-D does not undermine the credibility of Witnesses QP, QAM, FAM and QCB on events at Kabakobwa.

3.6.8.4.2 Kanyabashi's Alleged Role in Ordering the Tutsi Refugees to Go to Kabakobwa

1674. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that on 21 and 22 April 1994, fleeing Tutsis took refuge in a pasture in Kabakobwa *cellule* on the orders of Kanyabashi, who had promised to protect them. Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates, notably *conseillers*, *commune* policemen, and certain members of the Hutu population to go to Kabakobwa *cellule* to eliminate the refugees. 4322

1675. The Prosecution presented evidence that: Kanyabashi addressed the population at Rango market on 21 April 1994 and directed them to move the Tutsi refugees to Kabakobwa; a *responsable de cellule* told the population that he had been directed by Kanyabashi to move the refugees to Kabakobwa; and on 21 April 1994, in Rwinuma *cellule*, Kanyabashi spoke into

⁴³¹⁵ T. 3 November 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴³¹⁶ T. 3 November 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁴³¹⁷ T. 3 November 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T); Prosecution Exhibit 43 (Personal Particulars).

⁴³¹⁸ T. 3 November 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T); Prosecution Exhibit 58 (Personal Particulars); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness QP) (as to her age and where she lived).

⁴³¹⁹ For submissions regarding Witnesses QCB, FAM and QAH, see Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 11, 113.

⁴³²⁰ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³²¹ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³²² Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility).

a megaphone from a moving car, reciting a proverb that meant the Tutsis should be gathered and killed. The Chamber will address each of these allegations in turn.

3.6.8.4.2.1 Kanyabashi's Alleged Presence at Rango Market on 21 April 1994

1676. The Prosecution alleges that Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market during which he stated that Tutsis should be taken to Kabakobwa, and relies upon Witnesses FAM and OCB in this respect. Witnesses QCB and FAM both testified that they saw Kanyabashi and Muvunyi at Rango market on 21 April 1994, sometime between 9.00 and 11.00 a.m., telling a crowd that Tutsis should not be allowed to leave Ngoma and should be taken to Kabakobwa. 4323 Witness FAM stated that the meeting lasted about one hour and that over 100 people were present. 4324 Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-13-D, D-2-16-P, D-2-YYYY and WMKL also testified that they were in the immediate vicinity of Rango market on the morning of 21 April 1994. 4325 In contrast to the evidence of Witnesses FAM and QCB however, they did not see Kanyabashi at the market giving a speech. 4326

1677. The Chamber notes that three Defence witnesses who claimed that Kanyabashi was not present at Rango market on the morning of Thursday 21 April 1994, namely Witnesses D-2-5-I. D-2-YYYY and D-2-16-P, were at Mukura Bridge on the same morning.

1678. Witness D-2-5-I testified that he did not notice Kanyabashi at Rango market during the period he was there. 4327 However, Witness D-2-5-I also testified that he left Rango market for Mukura Bridge sometime around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. when he heard a grenade explosion 4328 and only returned to Rango market between 10.30 and 11.00 a.m. 4329 Witness D-2-YYYY was also at Mukura Bridge on the same morning between 8.00 or 9.00 a.m., 4330 until he headed home via Rango market around noon or 12.30 p.m., ⁴³³¹ as was Witness D-2-16-P during the morning in question, ⁴³³² who only passed through Rango market again around noon. ⁴³³³ Accordingly,

⁴³²³ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 46, 81-82 (Witness FAM); T. 12 March 2002 pp. 133, 152-153 (Witness FAM); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 96, 98-99 (Witness QCB); T. 28 March 2002 p. 112 (ICS) (Witness QCB); T. 3 April 2002 pp. 7-8 (Witness QCB).

⁴³²⁴ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 153-154 (Witness FAM).

⁴³²⁵ T. 7 April 2005 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness WMKL); T. 12 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 21 January 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 30 January 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 29 August 2007 pp. 24, 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 3 September 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 12 March 2008 pp. 40-41, 49 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 11 December 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴³²⁶ T. 7 April 2005 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness WMKL); T. 21 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 29 August 2007 pp. 28, 30-31, 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 12 March 2008 p. 49 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 28 November 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴³²⁷ T. 12 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 21 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 30 January 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴³²⁸ T. 12 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 21 January 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 22 January 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 29 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 30 January 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 31 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴³²⁹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 18 (ICS); T. 30 January 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴³³⁰ T. 27 November 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴³³¹ T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

4332 T. 12 March 2008 pp. 35, 37, 39; T. 13 March 2008 p. 12; T. 17 March 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴³³³ T. 12 March 2008 p. 40; T. 17 March 2008 p. 46 (Witness D-2-16-P).

the Chamber considers the testimony of Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-YYYY and D-2-16-P that they did not see Kanyabashi at Rango market does not contradict the testimony of Witnesses FAM and QCB who testified as to Kanyabashi's presence at the market between 9.00 and 11.00 a.m.

1679. Further, while Witness D-2-YYYY also testified that his wife went to Rango market at 8.00 a.m. on the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994, but did not talk of Kanyabashi's presence at the market at home later that day, 4334 the Chamber does not consider this conclusive evidence that Kanyabashi was not at Rango market on the morning in question. Of the foregoing witnesses, the Chamber also recalls that both Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY worked closely with Kanyabashi during the events. 4335 For this reason, the Chamber considers these witnesses may have had an interest in defending Kanyabashi such that their testimony should be treated with appropriate caution.

1680. Similarly, while Witness D-2-13-D was in the immediate vicinity of Rango market between 9.00 a.m. and 1.00 p.m. on Thursday, 21 April 1994, he was busy on the premises of his nearby workplace and did not testify to having gone to Rango market. Further, the fact that Witness D-2-13-D did not hear anyone say that Kanyabashi came to Rango market on Thursday 21 April 1994 or that Kanyabashi held a meeting there on that day does not contradict evidence that Kanyabashi was present at Rango market on that day. The Chamber further recalls that Witness D-2-13-D was a detainee at the time of his testimony, for which reason his testimony should be treated with appropriate caution.

1681. Therefore, it is clear that Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-YYYY, D-2-16-P and D-2-13-D were not present at Rango market on the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994 between approximately 9.00 and 11.00 a.m., the period when Witnesses FAM and QCB testified Kanyabashi was present.

1682. Witness WMKL testified that he was at Rango market on Thursday, 21 April 1994, but that he did not see Kanyabashi at the market on that day. Even if the Chamber were to accept that Witness WMKL may have been present at Rango market on the morning in question, there is insufficient detail about Witness WMKL's movements and length of his visit at the market on that morning to be able to ascertain whether he would have crossed paths with Kanyabashi. For this reason, the Chamber similarly does not consider his testimony conclusive.

1683. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that the foregoing testimony of the Defence witnesses, each of whom denied that Kanyabashi was present at Rango market on the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994, does not contradict the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses as to the presence of Kanyabashi at Rango market sometime between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m.

_

⁴³³⁴ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 54-55 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴³³⁵ T. 30 January 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 5 December 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴³³⁶ T. 29 August 2007 p. 15 (ICS); T. 3 September 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³³⁷ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 24, 38 (ICS); T. 3 September 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³³⁸ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 28, 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³³⁹ T. 7 April 2005 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).

3.6.8.4.2.2 Kanyabashi's Alleged Speech at Rango Market on 21 April 1994

1684. Regarding the speakers at the meeting, Witness QCB stated that Muvunyi, who was with five soldiers in a Land Rover, spoke to an *Interahamwe* leader named Cyiza at the market and told him to chase the refugees gathered at Kanyamanza (in Tumba *secteur*) away, whereupon Kanyabashi stated that the Tutsi refugees should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa. Witness QCB testified that he and the others understood Kanyabashi's words to mean that the security of the refugees would be guaranteed. 4341

1685. Witness FAM testified that only Kanyabashi spoke during the gathering at Rango market. A342 Notwithstanding this minor difference, the Chamber notes both witnesses testified to the presence of Muvunyi at that time. While Witness FAM testified that he did not notice when Muvunyi arrived because he was focused entirely on Kanyabashi's speech, he was aware of Muvunyi's presence at the market. Further, Witness FAM testified that Kanyabashi said that roadblocks were to be erected in the various *cellules* and *secteurs* as a protection against the enemy, and that the Tutsis should be guided towards Kabakobwa as this was the only place where they could take refuge. The Chamber considers this corroborates the testimony of Witness QCB with respect to the content of Kanyabashi's speech. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber considers the testimony of Witnesses FAM and QCB to be mutually consistent.

1686. The Chamber recalls that Witnesses FAM and QCB were detained at the time of their testimony. Witness FAM personally killed a lot of people at Kabakobwa and Rango, had not yet been sentenced and did not know whether his confession had been accepted or rejected at the time of his testimony. Similarly, Witness QCB had not yet entered a guilty plea or been sentenced at the time of his testimony. Further, the Chamber has considered that these witnesses may be motivated by a desire to implicate Kanyabashi in order to receive a more favourable sentence in their own cases. For the foregoing reasons, the testimony of these witnesses has been considered with appropriate caution.

1687. The Chamber also notes that Witnesses FAM and QCB were detained together in Arusha for five to six months prior to their testimony in this case and that they were detained together in the Karubanda prison in Rwanda prior to that time. Witness FAM even stated that he and Witness QCB attended *Gacaca* sessions in Karubanda prison that discussed events in their *secteur*, although they were each concerned with their own case. Therefore, the Chamber acknowledges they may have had an opportunity to share information about the events at Kabakobwa.

⁴³⁴⁰ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 98-99; T. 28 March 2002 p. 112 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁴¹ T. 28 March 2002 p. 113 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁴² T. 12 March 2002 pp. 133, 153-154 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁴³ T. 12 March 2002 p. 143 (Witness FAM); T. 20 March 2002 p. 97 (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁴⁴ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 143-144 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁴⁵ T. 12 March p. 133 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁴⁶ T. 11 March 2002 pp. 10-13, 48-49, 53, 61 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁴⁷ T. 27 March 2002 p. 158 (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁴⁸ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM); T. 28 March 2002 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁴⁹ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness FAM).

1688. Nonetheless, both witnesses were forthcoming about knowing one another and about their confessions before Rwandan authorities. Both testified that they were motivated to testify by their remorse and not in order to seek better treatment in detention. In fact, Witness FAM stated that he feared for his own safety in testifying against Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo because he had been detained with members of their families. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber considers the testimony of Witnesses QCB and FAM as to the events at Kabakobwa should not be discounted solely by reason of their detainee status or their prior personal knowledge of each other.

1689. The Chamber also notes that Defence witnesses corroborated the evidence of these witnesses. For example, Witness QCB also testified that the same day after the meeting at Rango market, he again encountered Muvunyi in a truck containing 10 dead bodies, and some soldiers. Muvunyi told the soldiers to throw the bodies onto the ground and made it clear that the Tutsi refugees must be killed. Witness QCB's testimony in this respect is corroborated by Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-13-D who both testified to seeing corpses by the road which had been thrown there by soldiers passing by in a military vehicle. In the Chamber's view, the overall credibility of Witness QCB is strengthened by this corroboration.

1690. Having regard to the Chamber's view that the testimony of Witnesses FAM and QCB is reliable and mutually consistent, and the further corroboration of certain aspects of their evidence by Defence witnesses, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market on the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994, during which he stated that Tutsis should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa. The Chamber also accepts that these words led Witness QCB to believe that the safety of these refugees would be protected.

3.6.8.4.2.3 Directives Attributed to Kanyabashi

1691. In addition to the direct evidence given by Witnesses FAM and QCB as to Kanyabashi's instructions at Rango market, three Tutsi Prosecution witnesses testified that they were told or ordered to go to Kabakobwa by various authorities, who in turn received instructions from Kanyabashi. Witness QP testified she saw Kanyabashi and a *responsible de cellule* order Tutsi civilians to proceed to Kabakobwa "to join the others". Witness QW testified that the person in charge of her *cellule* as told the Tutsis within that *cellule* that in furtherance of *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi's orders, they were to seek refuge at Kabakobwa where they would find food and supplies. Witness QW testified that fleeing refugees told her that they too had been told by Kanyabashi to go to Kabakobwa to receive assistance and protection. Witness QAM testified that her family was ordered to go to Kabakobwa by

⁴³⁵⁰ T. 12 March 2002 p. 112 (Witness FAM); T. 27 March 2002 p. 161 (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁵¹ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94, 106-107 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁵² T. 20 March 2002 pp. 110-111 (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁵³ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 29 August 2007 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-

D); T. 5 September 2007 pp. 67-68 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³⁵⁴ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 161-162; T. 6 June 2002 p. 104 (Witness QP).

⁴³⁵⁵ T. 6 June 2002 p. 148 (ICS) (Witness QW).

⁴³⁵⁶ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 133-134 (Witness QW).

⁴³⁵⁷ T. 10 June 2002 p. 16 (Witness QW).

Interahamwe who came to her house, ⁴³⁵⁸ saying that the order came from the *conseiller*. She stated that it appeared that the *conseiller*, who was under the authority of the *bourgmestre*, received the order from Kanyabashi. ⁴³⁵⁹

1692. As to the reason for this directive, Witness QW testified that the *responsable de cellule* told the Tutsis that they would be protected in Kabakobwa, but that they may be killed if they refused to go.⁴³⁶⁰ When it was put to Witness QP that in her statement of 24 June 1997 she stated that the *responsable de cellule* told the refugees to go to Kabakobwa for their safety, Witness QP testified that they were just told to go to Kabakobwa.⁴³⁶¹ The Chamber also recalls the testimony of Witness FAM as to Kanyabashi's speech at Rango Marker earlier that day that Tutsis should be guided towards Kabakobwa as this was the only place where they could take refuge.⁴³⁶²

1693. Witness QCB, a Hutu who participated in the Kabakobwa attacks, testified that although Kanyabashi's words at Rango market had given him the impression the refugees would be protected at Kabakobwa, at 6.00 p.m. that night a *responsable de cellule* from Ngoma *commune* assembled the population along the road to Kabakobwa and told them that Kanyabashi had ordered all Tutsis be surrounded and prohibited from returning to their homes. Witness QCB was the sole Prosecution witness to testify about receiving these instructions.

1694. The Prosecution evidence shows that several local authorities told the various members of the population that they must go to Kabakobwa and that these instructions were attributed to Kanyabashi. This testimony was offered by both Tutsi Kabakobwa victims (Witnesses QP, QW and QAM), as well as Witness QCB, a Hutu who participated in the attacks. The Tutsi Prosecution witnesses consistently testified they were told to go to Kabakobwa for their protection, while Witness QCB was told to go to Kabakobwa to guard the Tutsis gathered there.

1695. Turning to the Defence evidence, Witness D-2-10-Y, also a Tutsi Kabakobwa victim, did not hear instructions issued by any authorities, including Kanyabashi, the *conseiller* of his *secteur*, or *cellule* leaders, asking Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa, nor did he learn about this later. The Chamber recalls the Defence theory, discussed below, that many refugees, such as Witness D-2-10-Y, were at Kabakobwa simply because they were en route to Burundi. While the Chamber accepts that Witness D-2-10-Y may not have heard instructions or been personally directed to go to Kabakobwa, it does not consider that his testimony is necessarily conclusive evidence that all the Tutsi refugees who found themselves at Kabakobwa ended up there fortuitously while en route to Burundi, rather than because they were directed to go to Kabakobwa.

⁴³⁵⁸ T. 22 October 2001 p. 59; T. 23 October 2001 pp. 16, 68-69 (Witness QAM).

⁴³⁵⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 63 (Witness QAM).

⁴³⁶⁰ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 134, 136 (Witness QW).

⁴³⁶¹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 106-107 (Witness QP); Defence Exhibit 69 (Kanyabashi) (24 June 1997, Statement of Witness QP).

⁴³⁶² T. 12 March p. 133 (Witness FAM).

⁴³⁶³ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 111-114 (Witness QCB).

⁴³⁶⁴ T. 29 April 2008 p. 7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

1696. Further, Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu who participated in the attacks, ⁴³⁶⁵ also testified that he had not heard anything about Kanyabashi giving instructions for Tutsis to gather at Kabakobwa Hill and that if Kanyabashi had addressed the refugees, the local inhabitants would have heard those instructions. ⁴³⁶⁶ While the Chamber accepts that the local population may remember being directly addressed by Kanyabashi, the Chamber recalls that on the morning that these instructions were allegedly issued, Witness D-2-13-D was busy on the premises of his nearby workplace ⁴³⁶⁷ and did not testify to having gone to Rango market where he would have heard any such instructions.

1697. Lastly, while several Defence witnesses, namely Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-13-D and D-2-14-D, also testified that they never heard Kanyabashi implicated in the Kabakobwa events during *Gacaca* proceedings, 4368 the Chamber recalls the testimony of Witness D-2-14-D, who acknowledged that *Gacaca* sessions focused on the individual they were judging, and thus sessions which did not concern Kanyabashi would likely not address him. The Chamber therefore does not consider that the Defence evidence undermines the credibility of the Prosecution witnesses with respect to whether Kanyabashi ordered that Tutsis be directed towards Kabakobwa.

1698. Although the evidence led by Prosecution Witnesses QP, QW and QAM as to Kanyabashi's responsibility for instructing Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa is hearsay, it nevertheless corroborates the direct evidence of Witnesses FAM and QCB, who were present at Rango market, that it was Kanyabashi who initially directed Tutsis towards Kabakobwa.

1699. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable doubt that various local authorities, including a *conseiller* and a *responsable de cellule*, as well as members of the *Interahamwe* directed Tutsis to Kabakobwa, and that other individuals were directed to go to Kabakobwa to guard the Tutsis. Although the Chamber previously found that Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market during which he stated that Tutsis should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa, the Chamber nevertheless does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi ordered that his subordinates direct Tutsis towards Kabakobwa under the guise of protection.

3.6.8.4.2.4 Allegation that Kanyabashi Recited a Kinyarwanda Proverb in Rwinuma Cellule

1700. Witness QP testified that on Thursday [21 April] at about noon, in Rwinuma *cellule*, she saw Kanyabashi inside a car reciting a Kinyarwanda proverb encouraging the population to expel Tutsis to a single location to be exterminated. Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-10-Y and D-2-14-D all testified that they did not hear that Kanyabashi had circulated and announced inciting messages to the public. However, none of them were in Rwinuma *cellule* which,

⁴³⁶⁵ T. 28 August 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 4 September 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³⁶⁶ T. 10 September 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³⁶⁷ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 24, 38 (ICS); T. 3 September 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴³⁶⁸ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 54-55 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 10 September 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 30 August 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴³⁶⁹ T. 27 August 2007 p. 63 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴³⁷⁰ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 154-156, 158-159, 162; T. 6 June 2002 pp. 76-77, 83, 94 (Witness QP).

⁴³⁷¹ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 39-41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 29 April 2008 p. 8 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 21 August 2007 p. 11 (Witness D-2-14-D).

according to a map presented by Expert Witness Guichaoua, 4372 is some distance from Rango market and Mukura Bridge, where the Defence witnesses variously claimed to be on 21 April 1994.

1701. The Chamber notes this event is not corroborated by other witnesses. Even accepting that Kanyabashi would have had approximately one hour to reach Rwinuma from Rango market and may have been present in Rwinuma *cellule*, Witness QP could not recall the type or colour of the vehicle that Kanyabashi travelled in that day or what it had looked like. Further, Witness QP only saw the vehicle in question in passing and therefore did not have a good opportunity to view the occupants. Lastly, Witness QP could not recognise Kanyabashi in court even though she testified to having seen him on a number of occasions previous to the alleged event on 21 April 1994. ⁴³⁷⁴ Therefore, the Chamber finds the testimony of Witness QP is not sufficiently reliable to support a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi recited proverbs from a vehicle in Rwinuma *cellule* on the afternoon of Thursday, 21 April 1994.

3.6.8.4.2.5 Defence Theory that Refugees Were Travelling to Burundi

1702. The Defence presented evidence that the Tutsi refugees were at Kabakobwa because they were fleeing to Burundi and Kabakobwa was a geographically suitable location for them to rest *en route*. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he and his family decided to flee to Burundi because houses were on fire near his home and people had been killed, ⁴³⁷⁵ and stopped at Kabakobwa while *en route*. Witness D-2-14-D also testified that on 21 April 1994 he saw many people who told him that they were fleeing from Runyinya and Gishamvu *communes*, and that he showed them how to reach Burundi by directing them to follow the path through Kabakobwa and Nyaruhengeri. Witness D-2-16-P also testified that he and his neighbours decided to pack their belongings and flee to Burundi on Thursday [21 April 1994] and that they eventually spent the night in Kabakobwa since night was falling. Expert Witness Des Forges corroborated this theory. Witness QW also corroborated this theory; she testified that many refugees at Kabakobwa were from neighbouring *secteurs* and *communes* and were fleeing other massacres.

1703. However, Witness QW denied that this was why she and her family fled, 4381 claiming instead they were instructed to go to Kabakobwa. Witness QAM also testified that she fled her home for Kabakobwa because the *Interahamwe* forced her. Witness QCB corroborated the fact that *Interahamwe* were involved in moving the Tutsi refugees to Kabakobwa. 4384

```
4372 Prosecution Exhibit 136A (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 10.
4373 T. 6 June 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness QP).
4374 T. 6 June 2002 p. 21 (Witness QP).
4375 T. 28 April 2008 p. 26; T. 28 April 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4376 T. 28 April 2008 pp. 40-41 (ICS); T. 28 April 2008 p. 42 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4377 T. 21 August 2007 pp. 5-7; T. 27 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4378 T. 12 March 2008 pp. 50-51; T. 19 March 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4379 T. 12 July 2004 p. 9 (Des Forges).
4380 T. 10 June 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness QW).
4381 T. 10 June 2002 pp. 134, 136, 144 (Witness QW).
4383 T. 22 October 2001 p. 59; T. 23 October 2001 pp. 16, 68-69 (Witness QAM).
4384 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 97-99, 111, 114 (Witness OCB).
```

Moreover, the Chamber notes that Witness D-2-14-D testified that there were no refugees on Kabakobwa Hill before 21 April 1994, ⁴³⁸⁵ but 500 to 600 refugees were killed there the next day. ⁴³⁸⁶

1704. While the Chamber considers it may be plausible that many refugees stopped at Kabakobwa by chance while *en route* to Burundi, it does not consider this the sole explanation for the presence of hundreds of refugees at Kabakobwa. Having accepted that various local authorities instructed the population to go to Kabakobwa, the Chamber finds that *Interahamwe* and other members of the population ordered certain refugees to go to Kabakobwa.

3.6.8.4.3 The Morning of 22 April 1994

3.6.8.4.3.1 Intention to Kill Tutsis

1705. Although it was not disputed that the vast majority of the refugees at Kabakobwa were Tutsis, the Chamber notes several witnesses testified about deliberate separation of Hutus and Tutsis. First, Witness QAM, a Tutsi student, 4387 testified that on a Friday, the *Interahamwe* came to her house wielding spears and bludgeons. They went from house to house where they knew there were Tutsis, and told the Tutsis to go to Kabakobwa. Witness QAM further testified that there were only Tutsis at Kabakobwa since any Hutus present left. Kanyabashi's daughter had come to Kabakobwa with her husband, a Tutsi, but she was later taken home without her husband.

1706. Witness QAM's testimony that Hutu refugees left Kabakobwa was corroborated by Defence Witnesses D-2-10-Y and D-2-13-D. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that at a certain point in time, people dressed in ordinary clothes mingled with the refugees and said that the Hutus among the refugees should leave the area. He did not know who made that announcement but he heard them speak, and learned from other persons that they were dressed in civilian clothes. Witness D-2-13-D testified that when he and his group arrived at Kabakobwa the soldiers present lined them up and told the Hutus who were at Kabakobwa to leave.

1707. The witnesses variously identified soldiers, policemen and someone dressed in civilian clothes as the person responsible for telling Hutus to leave Kabakobwa. The Chamber does not consider this variance to be a discrepancy as to this account. Recalling there were hundreds, if not thousands of refugees gathered at Kabakobwa Hill, the Chamber considers that multiple people delivered this message among all those gathered at Kabakobwa Hill.

1708. Witness FAM, one of the Hutus who participated in the attack, testified that when his group arrived at Kabakobwa around 3.00 p.m., ⁴³⁹³ soldiers and policemen surrounded those

```
<sup>4385</sup> T. 27 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4386</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 37; T. 28 August 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
<sup>4387</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 129 (ICS) (Witness QAM); Prosecution Exhibit 43 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>4388</sup> T. 22 October 2001 p. 59; T. 23 October 2001 pp. 16, 68-69 (Witness QAM).
<sup>4389</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 93 (Witness QAM).
<sup>4390</sup> T. 23 October 2001 pp. 95-96 (Witness QAM).
<sup>4391</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>4392</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 77 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>4393</sup> T. 6 March 2002 p. 86; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 46, 48, 76; T. 13 March 2002 p. 27 (Witness FAM).
```

people, and asked Witness FAM and his group to attack the Tutsis using their traditional weapons. 4394

1709. Further, there was testimony establishing the assailants' intent to kill Tutsis. Witness QW testified that one Mathias, a *commune* employee, arrived at Kabakobwa to collect his sister, one Marguerite who was among the refugees with her children. When the refugees asked Mathias when the people supposed to protect the refugees would come, he told them, "[y]ou should believe in God because your fate has already been decided. Everything that was told to you previously was lies", and "[y]our hour has come." Witness QW was about three metres from Mathias' car. Witness QW's account was corroborated by Witness QP who heard one of the refugees ask Mathias why he was taking these people away, and who would take care of those seeking refuge, to which Mathias responded, "[p]ray, because the hour of your death has come." As we have the seeking refuge, to which Mathias responded, "[p]ray, because the hour of your death has come."

and that they were in Arusha at the same time to give evidence, ⁴³⁹⁹ Witness QP testified that she did not discuss the events at Kabakobwa with Witness QW. ⁴⁴⁰⁰ Both witnesses claimed they did not see each other during the events at Kabakobwa. ⁴⁴⁰¹ Further, although no other witnesses testified about these words, the Chamber notes that Witnesses QP's and QW's account of Mathias' visit was corroborated by the hearsay evidence of Defence Witnesses D-2-13-D and D-2-10-Y who both testified they had heard that Nsanzabahizi had come to take his sister from Kabakobwa. ⁴⁴⁰² When Witness D-2-13-D later spoke to Nsanzabahizi he confirmed that he had taken his sister. ⁴⁴⁰³ Having regard to the corroboration of Witnesses QP's and QW's account as to Nsanzabahizi's visit, the Chamber also accepts that Nsanzabahizi told the refugees, "[y]ou should believe in God because your fate has already been decided. Everything that was told to you previously was lies", and "[y]our hour has come."

1711. Having regard to the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that: Hutus present at Kabakobwa were told to leave; Nsanzabahizi told the refugees, "[y]ou should believe in God because your fate has already been decided. Everything that was told to you previously was lies", and "[y]our hour has come"; and that armed civilians were instructed to attack the Tutsi refugees.

3.6.8.4.3.2 Preparation for the Attack

1712. On Witness D-2-13-D's own account, on the morning of 22 April 1994, soldiers came to a friend's house to ask their friend for assistance in launching an attack at Kabakobwa. The

```
4394 T. 6 March 2002 p. 85; T. 13 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAM).
4395 T. 6 June 2002 pp. 137-139 (Witness QW).
4396 T. 6 June 2002 p. 139; T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW).
4397 T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW).
4398 T. 5 June 2002 p. 167 (Witness QP).
4399 T. 10 June 2002 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness QW).
4400 T. 6 June 2002 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QP).
4401 T. 6 June 2002 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness QP); T. 10 June 2002 pp. 34-35, 38 (ICS) (Witness QW).
4402 T. 30 August 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 10 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D);
T. 5 May 2008 p. 18 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4403 T. 30 August 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4404 T. 6 June 2002 p. 139; T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW).
```

soldiers found Witness D-2-13-D and his companions at the friend's house, dressed the witness and his companions in banana leaves, $^{4405}_{4406}$ and obliged the witness and the people he was with to go with them towards Kabakobwa.

- 1713. Witness QAM testified that at around 11.00 a.m. on the same day she arrived at Kabakobwa, she saw the same group of *Interahamwe* who previously came to her home, but they left saying that "they were going to announce to the *bourgmestre* that people at Kabakobwa were sufficient in number". The person identified in Defence Exhibit 3 made this statement. The *Interahamwe* said they would return to confront those in Kabakobwa, and later returned to Kabakobwa armed and accompanied by *commune* policemen carrying guns and grenades.
- 1714. Witness QCB, a Hutu who participated in the attacks, similarly testified that he saw soldiers come to Kabakobwa and approach the refugees to ask how many people were on the hill. The Tutsis told the soldiers that the Hutus had surrounded them and indicated their number to be 5,000. The leader of the soldiers then came to Witness QCB and other Hutus standing guard, introduced themselves as coming from the ESO camp, and told the witness and others that they could not attack "them" with Kalashnikovs and that they were going to ask Muvunyi for more sophisticated weapons so that they could deal with the Tutsis. 4410
- 1715. Witness QCB's account of soldiers was corroborated by Witness D-2-14-D, who testified that before noon on 22 April 1994, from his hill opposite Kabakobwa, he saw a white, four-wheel-drive military vehicle arrive near Kabakobwa, with about five soldiers aboard. Witness D-2-14-D later testified, however, that he did not see soldiers arrive in a vehicle, and that the soldiers left on foot. The soldiers went to where the refugees were gathered and left five minutes later. The soldiers returned around 4.00 p.m. together with many members of the population, some of whom wore banana leaves, and this group of people surrounded Kabakobwa Hill.
- 1716. Having regard to the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that some time before noon on Friday, 22 April 1994 both *Interahamwe* and soldiers came to Kabakobwa, evaluated the number of refugees present, and left to inform their superiors, variously identified as Kanyabashi and Muvunyi, and to get reinforcements in preparation for the attack later that afternoon.

⁴⁴⁰⁵ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 73, 75, 77 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁴⁰⁶ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 44-45 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁴⁰⁷ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 62, 64; T. 23 October 2001 p. 100 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁰⁸ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 100, 102-103 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 3 (Kanyabashi) (Document with one hand-written name).

⁴⁴⁰⁹ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 62, 64-65 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴¹⁰ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 116-118; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 6, 18-19 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴¹¹ T. 21 August 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴¹² T. 27 August 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴¹³ T. 27 August 2007 pp. 46-47 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴¹⁴ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 12, 15 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴¹⁵ T. 21 August 2007 p. 15 (Witness D-2-14-D).

3.6.8.4.4 The Attack on 22 April 1994

3.6.8.4.4.1 Kanyabashi's Presence and Alleged Role

1717. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates, notably conseillers, commune policemen, and certain members of the Hutu population to go to Kabakobwa *cellule* to eliminate the refugees. 4416 The Parties dispute whether Kanyabashi was present at or ordered the attack at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994.

1718. As to whether Kanyabashi ordered the Kabakobwa attack, Witness QCB testified that on the afternoon of Friday, 22 April 1994 Mathias Nsanzabahizi read out a letter from Kanyabashi which urged the population to join the soldiers in the killings. 4417 On recall in 2009, Witness QCB testified that it was Major Rusigariye with gendarmes who led the civilian attackers to Kabakobwa. However, the Chamber notes that Witness QCB originally testified that he did not know Major Rusigariye. Therefore, the Chamber does not find Witness QCB's initial testimony as to the alleged letter from Kanyabashi that Nsanzabahizi read out to be credible. Moreover, Witness QCB's account of this event is uncorroborated.

1719. As to Kanyabashi's presence during the Kabakobwa attack, Witness FAM testified that Kanyabashi was at Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April 1994 and watched the attacks while standing next to a car. 4420 This testimony is not corroborated by any other Prosecution witness, although the Chamber notes Witnesses QAM, QCB and QP also previously knew Kanyabashi⁴⁴²¹ and Witnesses OAM and OCB identified him in court. 4422

1720. As such, the Chamber does not consider the evidence led by the Prosecution established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi either ordered or was present during the attack at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994.

3.6.8.4.4.2 Involvement of Ngoma Commune Police in the Kabakobwa Attack

1721. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that on 22 April 1994, at around 4.00 p.m., the commune policemen and conseillers, assisted by Hutu peasant farmers and militiamen,

⁴⁴¹⁶ Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility).

4417 T. 20 March 2002 p. 123; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 10-11; T. 3 April 2002 p. 74 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴¹⁸ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴¹⁹ T. 23 February 2009 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴²⁰ T. 6 March 2002 p. 87; T. 13 March 2002 p. 58 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴²¹ T. 22 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness QAM) (Witness QAM knew Kanyabashi was the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma commune); T. 23 October 2001 p. 43 (Witness QAM) (she saw Kanyabashi in her secteur on 20 April 1994, two days before the attack in question); T. 20 March 2002 p. 100 (Witness QCB) (Witness QCB knew Kanyabashi was the bourgmestre of Ngoma commune from 1974); T. 5 June 2002 pp. 153-154 (Witness QP) (she knew Kanyabashi well as she had seen him at meetings in her secteur on several occasions before and after the death of President Habvarimana on 6 April 1994).

⁴⁴²² T. 22 October 2001 p. 76 (Witness QAM); T. 21 March 2002 p. 80 (Witness QCB). The Chamber notes Witness QP was unable to positively identify Kanyabashi in court: T. 6 June 2002 p. 21 (Witness QP); while Witness QW was not asked to identify Kanyabashi in court.

attacked the refugees and that Kanyabashi subsequently called in reinforcements from the Presidential Guard who took part in the attacks. 4423

1722. It is not contested that Mathias Nsanzabahizi was a driver for Ngoma *commune*, and former *commune* policeman, and that he participated in attacks at Kabakobwa by firing a gun on helpless people. The Parties dispute, however, whether other *commune* policemen participated in the attacks.

1723. Witness FAM, who participated in the attacks, testified that soldiers and policemen surrounded the people at Kabakobwa and attacked them. According to Witness FAM, *commune* policemen, soldiers and civilians all participated in the killings at Kabakobwa; while the soldiers and policemen were shooting at the crowd at Kabakobwa, those dressed in banana leaves prevented anyone from escaping.

⁴⁴²³ Para. 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) responsibility).

The witnesses agreed that Nsanzabahizi used to be a soldier before he became a *commune* policeman for Ngoma *commune* and finally a driver for Ngoma *commune*: T. 20 March 2002 pp. 121-122 (Witness QCB); T. 5 June 2002 pp. 165-167 (Witness QP); T. 3 September 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 p. 25 (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 23 August 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 28 February 2008 pp. 29-30, 45-46, 71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 46-48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 3 December 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 11 December 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY). Witness QW testified he was employed by the *commune* as a driver: T. 6 June 2002 pp. 137-138 (Witness QW). Witness D-2-16-P knew he was a soldier, before being a driver: T. 12 March 2008 p. 57; T. 13 March 2008 pp. 53-54; T. 18 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-16-P), but did not know whether Mathias had been a policeman: T. 13 March 2008 p. 54; T. 17 March 2008 p. 71 (ICS); T. 18 March 2008 p. 21 (Witness D-2-16-P).

4425 It is not disputed that Nsanzabahizi participated in the massacre at Kabakobwa by shooting and killing Tutsi

refugees on 22 April 1994. Witness OCB testified that Nsanzabahizi arrived at Kabakobwa at 3.00 p.m. on the day of the massacre: T. 20 March 2002 pp. 121-122 (Witness QCB). This is corroborated by Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-13-D: T. 22 January 2008 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 10 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 pp. 25-26 (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 22 August 2007 pp. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 31-32, 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D). Witness QW testified that she saw Mathias driving a green vehicle inscribed with "Ngoma commune" to Kabakobwa on the morning of 22 April 1994: T. 6 June 2002 pp. 137-138 (Witness QW). Mathias told her that he had come to collect his sister and her children. Witnesses QP, QW, D-2-10-Y, D-2-13-D and D-2-16-P corroborated the fact that Mathias went to Kabakobwa to take his sister and her children away from Kabakobwa: T. 5 June 2002 p. 166 (Witness QP); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 138-139 (Witness OW); T. 5 May 2008 p. 18 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 30 August 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 10 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 12 March 2008 pp. 56-57 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 17 March 2008 p. 55 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 18 March 2008 pp. 17, 21 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 19 March 2008 pp. 38, 49 (Witness D-2-16-P). Witness QW testified that Mathias told the refugees that their hour had come: T. 6 June 2002 p. 139 (Witness QW); T. 10 June 2002 p. 25 (Witness QW). Witness QP corroborated this account in testifying that Mathias told her to pray because the hour of her death had arrived: T. 5 June 2002 p. 167 (Witness QP). Witness QCB testified that Nsanzabahizi used both a gun and a grenade to fire upon people: T. 20 March 2002 p. 129 (Witness QCB); T. 23 February 2009 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QCB). Finally, Witnesses D-2-5-I, D-2-13-D and D-2-14-D testified that Nsanzabahizi confessed before a Gacaca session that he had participated in killings at Kabakobwa and fired on defenceless persons at Kabakobwa: T. 22 January 2008 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 30 August 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 pp. 25-26, 34 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴²⁶ T. 6 March 2002 p. 85; T. 13 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴²⁷ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 75-75 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴²⁸ T. 6 March 2002 p. 87 (Witness FAM).

1724. Witness QCB, a Hutu civilian who guarded Tutsis during the night of Thursday, 21 April, 4429 and also participated in the attacks at Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April, testified that soldiers opened fire on the refugees first, followed by the Hutu population and policemen. 4430 When it was put to Witness QCB that none of his several statements that were disclosed to the Defence, 4431 including his statement to Rwandan authorities dated 26 August 1999, 4432 implicated *commune* policemen other than Nsanzabahizi in the Kabakobwa attacks, Witness QCB said he started with Nsanzabahizi because he was the leader of the policemen. 4433 He also named several other *commune* policemen from Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs* who he claimed were with him and killed people "like thunder" in the attack.

1725. Having reviewed Witness QCB's letter to the Rwandan Prosecutor of 26 August 1999, which names one policeman as a leader of the attacks at Kabakobwa at the time, 4435 the Chamber considers there is no omission of the type alleged by the Defence. The Chamber notes that the one alleged policeman identified by Witness QCB in his letter to the Rwandan Prosecutor is also one of the persons Witness D-2-YYYY listed in Defence Exhibit 613 as being a police officer as of 31 December 1993. 4436 The three policemen that Witness QCB also identified at trial as participating in the Kabakobwa attack are also included in Defence Exhibit 613 as being police officers as of 31 December 1993. 4437 Witness QCB otherwise also testified that there were 250 soldiers at Kabakobwa which included both members of the "Rwandan Army", and *gendarmes* wearing red berets.

1726. Witness QP, a Tutsi victim at Kabakobwa, also testified that policemen armed with guns were among the attackers⁴⁴³⁹ and she could recognise the policemen by their uniforms.⁴⁴⁴⁰ She also corroborated the testimony of Witnesses FAM and QCB as to the other attackers present insofar as she testified that soldiers attacked the refugees by throwing into the crowd things that "looked like small containers [that] exploded" killing some refugees,⁴⁴⁴¹ as

⁴⁴²⁹ T. 20 March 2002 p. 114; T. 26 March 2002 pp. 116-117 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³⁰ T. 2 April 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³¹ See Defence Exhibit 29 (Ntahobali) (7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 31 (Nsabimana) (19 April 1999, Witness QCB's Guilty Plea); Defence Exhibit 38B (Kanyabashi) (17 June 1999, Witness QCB's Confirmation of Confession); Defence Exhibit 26D (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 32 (Nsabimana) (27 August 1999, Record of Witness QCB's Rwandan Hearing); Defence Exhibit 41B (Kanyabashi) (3 January 2001, Request to the Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 42 (Kanyabashi) (28 March 2001, Witness QCB's Confession).

⁴⁴³² Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³³ T. 28 March 2002 p. 88; T. 2 April 2002 pp. 26-28, 53 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³⁴ T. 2 April 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³⁵ Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³⁶ T. 4 December 2007 pp. 33-38, 40-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); Defence Exhibit 39B (Kanyabashi) (26 August 1999, Letter to Rwandan Prosecutor by Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 613 (Ntahobali) (List of names - Under seal).

⁴⁴³⁷ T. 2 April 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness QCB); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 33-38, 40-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); Defence Exhibit 613 (Ntahobali) (List of names - Under seal).

⁴⁴³⁸ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 117, 121 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴³⁹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 13, 17 (Witness QP).

⁴⁴⁴⁰ T. 6 June 2002 p. 112 (Witness QP).

⁴⁴⁴¹ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness QP).

did civilians wearing banana leaves who carried spears, swords, machetes, cudgels and hoes. 4442

1727. Witness QW, also a Tutsi victim at Kabakobwa, testified that one Mathias came towards the end of the afternoon on Friday accompanied by people in uniform, soldiers or policemen wearing green clothes with banana leaves and carrying guns, and members of the population wearing civilian clothes with banana leaves and carrying traditional weapons. The Chamber notes that although Witness QW could not distinguish between the men in uniform, she distinguished between people in green clothes and others in civilian clothes. Recalling various witness testimony that policemen wore green uniforms, whereas soldiers wore camouflage uniforms, the Chamber accepts that Witness QW was testifying that policemen were among the attackers at Kabakobwa.

1728. Witness QAM, another Tutsi victim of Kabakobwa, did not see soldiers, *gendarmes* or members of the Presidential Guard at Kabakobwa; there were only civilians and *commune* policemen. He afternoon [of Friday 21 April] armed with machetes, spears and cudgels and accompanied by *commune* policemen carrying guns and grenades. In the early afternoon, the policemen surrounded the people gathered at Kabakobwa from all sides and opened fire on them while the *Interahamwe* cut to pieces those who had been wounded with the bullets. The policemen wore green uniforms. Although her statement of 22 May 1997 stated that Kanyabashi sent soldiers from the Presidential Guard to exterminate Tutsis, Witness QAM said she intended to use the word "policemen" and not "soldier" in her statement. Considering no Prosecution witness testified about knowing Witness QAM, the Chamber accepts that Witness QAM made a mistake at the time of giving her statement.

1729. In contrast, Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY both testified that at police meetings Kanyabashi instructed *commune* policemen not to participate in killings or lootings

_

⁴⁴⁴² T. 6 June 2002 p. 13 (Witness QP).

⁴⁴⁴³ T. 6 June 2002 p. 139 (Witness OW).

⁴⁴⁴⁴ T. 23 October 2001 p. 86 (Witness QAM); T. 29 April 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y) (between April and July 1994 *commune* police officers wore green uniforms with yellow berets); T. 23 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D) (police uniforms at the time were green); T. 28 November 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (*commune* policemen wore green trousers and shirts, and yellow berets with an insignia); T. 12 March 2008 p. 58 (Witness D-2-16-P); T. 19 March 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-16-P) (in 1994 *commune* police officers wore green uniforms and yellow berets).

⁴⁴⁴⁵ T. 28 April 2008 p. 43 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 61-63, 65 (Witness D-2-10-Y) (soldiers wore camouflage uniforms, some *Interahamwe* wore army clothes and others were in civilian attire, while civilians wore dried banana leaves); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 50, 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (soldiers wore boots and a camouflage uniform with black berets).

⁴⁴⁴⁶ T. 23 October 2001 p. 84 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁴⁷ T. 23 October 2001 p. 117; T. 24 October 2001 p. 36 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁴⁸ T. 22 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁴⁹ T. 23 October 2001 pp. 86, 90 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁵⁰ T. 22 October 2001 pp. 65-66; T. 24 October 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁵¹ T. 23 October 2001 p. 86 (Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁵² T. 24 October 2001 p. 33 (Witness QAM); Defence Exhibit 4B (Kanyabashi) (20 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAM).

⁴⁴⁵³ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QP); T. 10 June 2002 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness QW). Witnesses FAM, QCB and QVB were not asked whether they knew Witness QAM.

during the period in question. 4454 The Chamber recalls that both Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY worked closely with Kanyabashi during the events. 4455 The Chamber considers that as a consequence of these relationships. Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY may have had an interest in defending Kanyabashi for which reason their testimony should be treated with appropriate caution. While Witness D-2-5-I testified that no Ngoma commune police officer was involved in the killings, 4456 the Chamber notes that Witness D-2-5-I did not go to Kabakobwa on Friday 22 April 1994. 4457 In the circumstances, the Chamber considers Witness D-2-5-I was in no position to testify as to whether *commune* police participated in the attacks at Kabakobwa. Further, insofar as both Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY also testified that they had not heard anyone at Gacaca proceedings implicate Ngoma commune policemen in what happened in Kabakobwa, 4458 the Chamber does not accept this as conclusive evidence that *commune* policemen were not among the numerous attackers.

1730. Witnesses D-2-13-D, D-2-14-D, D-2-10-Y, D-2-16-P and D-2-16-L also testified that police were not involved in the Kabakobwa attacks.

1731. Witness D-2-13-D only testified about the participation of soldiers and civilians during the Kabakobwa attacks. 4459 Witness D-2-13-D testified that he did not hear of the presence of any Ngoma commune policemen at Kabakobwa on that Friday. Even in prison and after his release, he did not hear of a police presence at Kabakobwa, nor did he see any. 4460 Witness D-2-14-D similarly did not see Ngoma commune police or hear any messages from the Ngoma *commune* police during the attack. 4461

1732. Witness D-2-14-D testified that in April 1994 he lived within view of, and a 10 minute walk from Kabakobwa and indicated the location of his house relative to Kabakobwa Hill and Rango market on Defence Exhibit 557. 4462 Witness D-2-14-D testified that Witness D-2-13-D came from the same home *cellule*. 4463 This was confirmed by Witness D-2-13-D who testified that a person with the same full name as Witness D-2-14-D was a neighbour in 1994 and was still at the time of their testimony. 4464 Witness D-2-13-D testified that he could see Witness D-

⁴⁴⁵⁴ T. 28 November 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 49, 51-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 4 December 2007 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 16, 26-28, 40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 12 December 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 22 January 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴⁴⁵⁵ T. 30 January 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 5 December 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁴⁵⁶ T. 21 January 2008 p. 55 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴⁴⁵⁷ T. 21 January 2008 p. 54; T. 31 January 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁴⁴⁵⁸ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 54-55 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 28 November 2007 p. 33 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁴⁵⁹ T. 5 September 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D) (soldiers and civilians encircled Kabakobwa).

⁴⁴⁶⁰ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁴⁶¹ T. 21 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁶² T. 20 August 2007 pp. 49, 58-59, 61-62, 74 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); Defence Exhibit 557 (Kanyabashi) (Copy of Prosecution Exhibit 53 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D). 4463 T. 22 August 2007 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁶⁴ T. 3 September 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

2-14-D on Sundays after church but they did not have specific chats. 4465 Witness D-2-14-D marked the location of Witness D-2-13-D's house on Defence Exhibit 559. 4466

1733. In addition to being neighbours, the Chamber notes both Witnesses D-2-13-D and D-2-14-D testified that they were imprisoned together in Karubanda prison in Rwanda, that they were together when they met and signed their statements to the Kanyabashi Defence investigator, that they came to Arusha to testify before this Tribunal together, and were detained together while awaiting to give their testimony before this Tribunal yet did not discuss their testimony. Witness D-2-13-D even testified that Witness D-2-14-D helped Witness D-2-13-D draft his confession which was sent to the *Gacaca* courts and was given to Nkeshimana, the Kanyabashi Defence investigator. The fact that both witnesses admitted to interacting with the Kanyabashi Defence investigator undermines their credibility. Further, in light of the close ties between these witnesses and the numerous opportunities which the Chamber considers they had to discuss their experiences, notwithstanding their detailed mutual corroboration, the Chamber considers the testimony of these witnesses is not reliable.

1734. Further, the Chamber recalls Witness D-2-14-D testified he was in his house at 4.00 p.m. when he heard gunshots, and went towards Kabakobwa. Witness D-2-14-D marked the location he went to after he heard gunshots in Kabakobwa in red with the letters "OA" on Defence Exhibit 558. Thereafter, the Chamber notes Witness D-2-14-D crossed the valley separating Agasharu and Kabakobwa Hills, because the witness marked the spot where he testified he saw Nsanzabahizi during the attack with a circle and an "N", and marked the spot where he was standing when he saw Nsanzabahizi with a circle and a "W". He was standing approximately five metres from Nsanzabahizi. The witness marked with a circle and an "R" the spot where the refugees were when attacked.

1735. Having reviewed Defence Exhibit 558, and even acknowledging that Witness D-2-14-D was a Hutu, 4477 the Chamber does not consider it plausible that Witness D-2-14-D left the safety of his house to go into the centre of an attack on Tutsis considering he was not participating in the attack, and all the more so considering Witness D-2-14-D's own testimony

⁴⁴⁶⁵ T. 10 September 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁴⁶⁶ Defence Exhibit 559 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 558 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D); T. 27 August 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁶⁷ T. 28 August 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 60, 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁶⁸ T. 3 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 23 August 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 27 August 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁶⁹ T. 5 September 2007 pp. 31, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 10 September 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 23 August 2007 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷⁰ T. 28 August 2007 pp. 68-69, 73 (ICS); T. 29 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁴⁷¹ See Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC), para. 239.

⁴⁴⁷² T. 21 August 2007 pp. 36, 61-62, 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷³ T. 21 August 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); Defence Exhibit 558 (Kanyabashi) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 557 as marked by Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷⁴ T. 22 August 2007 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷⁵ T. 22 August 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷⁶ T. 22 August 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁴⁷⁷ Defence Exhibit 556 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 20 August 2007 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

that he was not wearing banana leaves. 4478 The Chamber recalls that Witness D-2-13-D, a self-confessed participant in the Kabakobwa attacks, testified that the soldiers only shot at those not wearing banana leaves and if they had not been wearing the banana leaves and ash on their faces he and his group would have been shot at. 4479

1736. In the circumstances, while accepting that Witness D-2-14-D observed the events in question from his hill, the Chamber does not accept as reliable Witness D-2-14-D's testimony that he did not see Ngoma *commune* police or hear any messages from the Ngoma *commune* police during the attack.

1737. While Witness D-2-10-Y, also a Tutsi Kabakobwa victim, first testified that he did not see any *commune* policemen, 4481 or hear afterwards that they had participated in the Kabakobwa attack, 4482 he also testified that he saw persons wearing fatigues arriving at Kabakobwa and did not know if they were *gendarmes* or soldiers. 4483 In the circumstances the Chamber does not consider Witness D-2-10-Y's testimony that policemen did not participate in the Kabakobwa attacks as conclusive.

1738. Witness D-2-16-P was equally a Tutsi victim at Kabakobwa. As a refugee who was fired upon, Witness D-2-16-P testified that the soldiers and *Interahamwe* surrounded them. By his own testimony, the distance between the refugees at Kabakobwa and the attackers at Agasharu was about 500 metres, maybe more, while the distance to the attackers at Rwinuma was maybe 700 metres. Although Witness D-2-16-P testified that he did not see any Ngoma *commune* police officers among the assailants, having regard to Defence Exhibit 646 and noting Witness D-2-16-P's own testimony as to the distance between the attackers and the refugees, as well as the stressful conditions in which Witness D-2-16-P purportedly identified his attackers, the Chamber considers Witness D-2-16-P's identification of his attackers is not reliable.

1739. As for Witness D-2-16-L, the Chamber notes that he was afraid when he heard intense gunshots from Kabakobwa and testified he did not go there. As such, his testimony that there were no *commune* police at Kabakobwa is of limited value. Further, the Chamber does not consider his hearsay evidence that people at Kabakobwa said that it was soldiers who killed people at Kabakobwa.

1740. Having regard to the corroborative and detailed evidence of Prosecution Witnesses FAM, QCB, QP, QW and QAM, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable

```
4478 T. 21 August 2007 pp. 15, 36; T. 27 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
4479 T. 5 September 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
4480 T. 21 August 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-14-D).
4481 T. 28 April 2008 p. 45 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4482 T. 29 April 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4483 T. 1 May 2008 p. 71 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
4484 T. 18 March 2008 p. 22 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4485 T. 18 March 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4486 T. 12 March 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-2-16-P).
4487 Defence Exhibit 646 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 35).
4488 T. 28 February 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
4489 T. 27 February 2008 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).
```

doubt that Ngoma *commune* police were present at and participated in the killings that occurred at Kabakobwa on Friday, 22 April 1994. The Chamber recalls that Nsanzabahizi, a *commune* driver and former *commune* policeman, was present and participated in killings at Kabakobwa. In light of this evidence, the Chamber also considers it established that at least one former Ngoma *commune* policeman participated in the attacks at Kabakobwa.

3.6.8.4.4.3 Involvement of Interahamwe

1741. It is uncontested that civilians from surrounding *secteurs* were involved in attacking the refugees at Kabakobwa and that they wore banana leaves and had ash on their faces. There is however disagreement as to whether these attackers were part of the *Interahamwe*. The Chamber does not find it necessary to determine whether the civilian attackers at Kabakobwa were part of the official *Interahamwe*, namely the MRND's youth wing, although it is of the view that the term *Interahamwe* was used to refer to all civilians participating in the attack. In any event, regardless of whether the attackers were official *Interahamwe*, it is established that they were acting in concert with the attackers to kill Tutsi refugees.

3.6.8.4.4.4 Nteziryayo's Alleged Role

1742. Witness FAM was the sole Prosecution witness to implicate Nteziryayo in the Kabakobwa events. Witness FAM was a detainee at the time of his testimony before this Tribunal in 2002, 4493 and was still waiting to appear before a Rwandan judge to be sentenced for his participation in events at Kabakobwa and Rango. 4494 As such, the Chamber has

⁴⁴⁹⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 86-87 (Witness FAM); T. 7 March 2002 pp. 75-75 (Witness FAM). There were civilians and *commune* police present: T. 23 October 2001 p. 117 (Witness QAM); T. 24 October 2001 p. 36 (Witness QAM); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 13, 17 (Witness QP); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 139, 141 (Witness QW); T. 28 April 2008 pp. 43-44 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 5 May 2008 p. 15 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 29 August 2007 pp. 73, 75, 77 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 5 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 21 August 2007 pp. 15, 24, 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D); T. 27 August 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D). Witness QCB marked the presence of the Hutu civilians from various *secteurs* that surrounded Kabakobwa with hash marks on Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB): T. 20 March 2002 pp. 138, 140 (Witness QCB); T. 26 March 2002 pp. 105-106, 114 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁴⁹¹ Witness FAM testified that the attackers were civilians as did Witnesses QP and QW: T. 6 March 2002 p. 87 (Witness FAM); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 13, 17 (Witness QP); T. 6 June 2002 pp. 139, 141-142 (Witness QW). In contrast, Witnesses QAM and D-2-10-Y testified that there were *Interahamwe* among the attackers at Kabakobwa: T. 1 May 2008 p. 71 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 22 October 2001 pp. 62, 65 (Witness QAM); (...and they wore ordinary clothes and a banana leaf around their waist): T. 24 October 2001 p. 64 (Witness QAM). Witness D-2-16-P testified that soldiers came to Kabakobwa along with *Interahamwe* who wore banana leaves over their bodies and heads: T. 12 March 2008 pp. 63; T. 18 March 2008 pp. 20, 22, 24, 30 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴⁴⁹² See, e.g., Witness QAM who testified that she used the word "Interahamwe" because those who came to her house described themselves as Interahamwe: T. 24 October 2001 pp. 11, 13-14 (Witness QAM), although she did not know what political party those Hutus belonged to: T. 24 October 2001 pp. 16-17 (Witness QAM). Witness D-2-14-D also clarified that although he referred to the attackers in his prior statement as Interahamwe, they were not really Interahamwe and he was referring to ordinary civilians: T. 27 August 2007 pp. 76, 78-79 (Witness D-2-14-D). Witness D-2-10-Y testified that Interahamwe included the youth of MRND and the PSD, as well as all persons whose purpose was perpetrating killings irrespective of their political affiliation: T. 1 May 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y). Witness D-2-16-L testified that those carrying out the attacks were members of the MRND, including Interahamwe who were the youth wing of the MRND and MDR parties and that once he saw soldiers: T. 3 March 2008 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-L).

⁴⁴⁹³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM). ⁴⁴⁹⁴ T. 11 March 2002 pp. 10-13, 48-49, 53, 61 (Witness FAM).

considered that he may be motivated by a desire to implicate either or both Accused in order to receive a more favourable sentence for which reason his testimony should be considered with appropriate caution.

1743. Witness FAM testified that Kanyabashi, Nteziryayo and their policemen gave them authorisation to be armed. As a result of this authorisation, Witness FAM's group of civilians left the market for Kabakobwa armed with traditional weapons, especially machetes, spears and clubs. Witness FAM testified that Nteziryayo arrived at Kabakobwa in a military vehicle at about the same time the witness arrived, around 3.00 p.m., and in the company of soldiers. Witness FAM testified that when his group arrived at Kabakobwa, soldiers and policemen surrounded all those people and asked Witness FAM and his group to attack the Tutsis using their traditional weapons.

1744. The Chamber recalls that Witness FAM did not mention Kanyabashi or Nteziryayo in his confession to Rwandan authorities of 3 August 1998 because he was detained with members of Kanyabashi's and Nteziryayo's families and was concerned for his safety. The Chamber has reviewed Witness FAM's confession to Rwandan authorities. The confession details the individual crimes in which Witness FAM participated, including the killing of several people and looting. While the confession details dates of the killings, and names Witness FAM's co-perpetrators, as well as how the murders occurred, the confession does not make any reference to Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, or the context in which the killings occurred. As such, the Chamber considers the omission of this information from Witness FAM's confession to be significant, and undermines the credibility of his testimony with respect to Nteziryayo's alleged role in the Kabakobwa attacks.

1745. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that Witness FAM's testimony as to Nteziryayo's presence at Kabakobwa at 3.00 p.m. contradicts the testimony of Witness QBV, who testified Nteziryayo was at a roadblock in Kibilizi at 2.00 p.m. and a meeting at Mugusa *commune* office at 4.00 p.m. ⁴⁵⁰²

1746. The Chamber refers to its findings as to the credibility of Witness QBV's testimony concerning the events at the Kibilizi roadblock on the Butare-Mugusa road on 22 April 1994. The Chamber found that there were numerous inconsistencies between Witness QBV's previous statements and his trial testimony which Witness QBV did not adequately explain, such that the Chamber did not find the testimony of Witness QBV adequate to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo was at the roadblock in Kibilizi secteur, Mugusa commune, on or about 22 and 23 April 1994, as Witness QBV testified (). Notwithstanding this finding, the Chamber considers the Prosecution led contradictory evidence as to Nteziryayo's whereabouts on this occasion.

⁴⁴⁹⁵ T. 6 March 2002 p. 84 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴⁹⁶ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 76, 80 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴⁹⁷ T. 6 March 2002 p. 86; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 46, 48, 76; T. 13 March 2002 p. 27 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴⁹⁸ T. 7 March 2002 p. 58; T. 13 March 2002 pp. 30-32 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁴⁹⁹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 85; T. 13 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁰⁰ T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94, 106-107 (Witness FAM); Defence Exhibit 15B (Kanyabashi) (3 August 1998, Confession of Witness FAM to Rwandan Authorities).

⁴⁵⁰¹ Defence Exhibit 15B (Kanyabashi) (3 August 1998, Confession of Witness FAM to Rwandan Authorities). ⁴⁵⁰² Ntezirvavo Closing Brief, para. 629.

1747. Having had regard to the testimony of Witnesses QBV and FAM, the Chamber considers the evidence of these witnesses as to Nteziryayo's location during the afternoon of Friday, 22 April 1994 is inconsistent. Reconstructing the timeline of events for 22 April 1994, Witness QBV testified Nteziryayo was at a roadblock in Kibilizi on the Butare-Mugusa road at 2.00 p.m. 4503 They stayed at the roadblock for approximately one hour 4504 and left at 3.00 p.m. 4505 Witness FAM testified that Nteziryayo arrived at Kabakobwa at about the same time he did, 4506 around 3.00 p.m. 4507 Having regard to Prosecution Exhibit 1, the Chamber estimates the approximate distance between Kibilizi in Mugusa commune to Kabakobwa is around 15 kilometres. 4508 Although Witness FAM testified that the policemen, soldiers and civilians left Kabakobwa when they finished the killing between 4.00 and 5.00 p.m. 4509 he did not testify about how long Nteziryayo stayed at Kabakobwa, or when Nteziryayo left. Witness QBV testified that he next saw Nteziryayo at 4.00 p.m., at the Mugusa commune office with Muvunvi. 4510 Although Witness QBV's testimony does not account for Nteziryayo's presence between 3.00 and 4.00 p.m., given the Chamber's estimated distance between Kibilizi secteur and Kabakobwa Hill, 4511 the Chamber considers this one hour period was insufficient to allow Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to travel approximately 30 kilometres from the Kibilizi roadblock to Kabakobwa, before returning to Mugusa commune office which was located in Ramba cellule, Kibilizi secteur, 4512 by 4.00 p.m.

1748. Accordingly, notwithstanding the detailed and variously corroborated testimony of Witness FAM with respect to the events at Kabakobwa, considering Witness FAM's detainee status at the time of his testimony, his potential motivation to implicate either or both Accused in order to receive a more favourable sentence, and contradictory evidence as to Nteziryayo's whereabouts led through Witness QBV, absent any further corroboration on the issue, the Chamber does not consider the evidence led by the Prosecution sufficient to establish a finding of fact beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo was present at Kabakobwa when the attack began at around 3.00 p.m. on Friday, 21 April 1994, or that he brought soldiers to Kabakobwa to participate in the attack.

3.6.8.4.5 The Killings on 23 April 1994

1749. Witness FAM testified that the day after the initial attack, Saturday [23 April 1994] at 8.00 a.m., he returned to Kabakobwa on the authorisation of Kanyabashi to perform communal activities, known as *umuganda*. Kanyabashi told them to engage in *'finissage'*, or to massacre those who were not killed the day before. Witness FAM testified that they were asked to perform *umuganda* at 8.00 a.m. on that morning by both the *cellule* leaders and

```
4503 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 10, 12-13, 19 (Witness QBV).
4504 T. 14 March 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBV).
4505 T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).
4506 T. 7 March 2002 pp. 76, 80 (Witness FAM).
4507 T. 6 March 2002 p. 86; T. 7 March 2002 pp. 46, 48, 76; T. 13 March 2002 p. 27 (Witness FAM).
4508 See Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).
4509 T. 7 March 2002 p. 85 (Witness FAM).
4510 T. 14 March 2002 p. 23 (Witness QBV).
4511 See Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare); Prosecution Exhibit 53 (Sketch by Witness QCB).
4512 T. 20 March 2002 p. 5 (Witness QBV).
4513 T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).
4514 T. 6 March 2002 p. 88; T. 13 March 2002 pp. 61-62 (Witness FAM).
4515 T. 6 March 2002 pp. 88, 109; T. 7 March 2002 p. 86 (Witness FAM).
```

Kanyabashi. 4516 Although Kanyabashi was not at the meeting on Saturday morning when instructions on umuganda were given, Kanyabashi was the bourgmestre of Ngoma commune at the time and nobody killed or performed umuganda without having received instructions, so Kanyabashi was responsible. 4517 Witness FAM subsequently testified that Kanyabashi, the conseiller, Kanywabahizi, and Jean Semwiza were present at Kabakobwa on Saturday 23 April 1994.⁴⁵¹⁸

1750. Witness FAM's testimony was corroborated by Witness D-2-14-D, who had participated in the attack on Friday 22 April. Witness D-2-14-D testified that the following day [23 April 1994], from the morning until noon people went back to Kabakobwa to plunder and loot the property of the victims, and to finish off those who had not died, under the supervision of Semwiza. 4519 Witness D-2-14-D was present during the killing of one Rurangwa, a survivor of the previous Kabakobwa attack, around 2.00 p.m. that day. Witness D-2-14-D also testified that he was approximately 50 metres from one Daphrose when he witnessed one Phillip Ntawuhiganayo kill her at around 10.00 a.m., on 23 April 1994. With respect to Daphrose however, the Chamber notes that Witness D-2-14-D later testified that he arrived at Kabakobwa at 2.00 p.m. the day after the massacre, 4523 whereas the witness also confirmed that his written confession stated that he witnessed Ntawuhiganayo kill Daphrose at 9.00 a.m. 4524 In contrast to Witness FAM, Witness D-2-14-D testified that he did not see Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa, or anywhere else, on 23 April 1994, nor did he hear anyone say so at subsequent *Gacaca* sessions. 4525

1751. Witness D-2-13-D testified he did not return to Kabakobwa on Saturday, but knew that others went there to finish off those who were not dead and to search their bodies. 4526 Although hearsay, Witness D-2-13-D's testimony also corroborates Witnesses FAM and D-2-14-D.

1752. In contrast to the foregoing witnesses, neither Witnesses QCB nor QW who were for various reasons at Kabakobwa Hill on the morning of Saturday, 23 April 1994, testified about further killings. Witness QCB testified that on [Saturday] 23 April 1994 he went back to Kabakobwa to bury the deceased and testified about the presence of bulldozers at Kabakobwa as early as 7.30 a.m. 4527 Although he provided detailed evidence as to the burial of the

Judgement and Sentence

⁴⁵¹⁶ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 61-62, 65 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵¹⁷ T. 13 March 2002 p. 65 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵¹⁸ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 72-73 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵¹⁹ T. 21 August 2007 pp. 43, 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵²⁰ T. 21 August 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵²¹ T. 23 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵²² T. 21 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵²³ T. 23 August 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵²⁴ T. 23 August 2007 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D). See Defence Exhibit 561C (14 May 2002, Confession of Witness D-2-14-D to Rwandan authorities). Having reviewed the confession, the Chamber notes the confession actually states that Witness D-2-14-D went to feed the pigs at Kabakobwa at 9.00 a.m. but does not specify what time he witnessed the death of Daphrose.

4525 T. 21 August 2007 p. 39; T. 21 August 2007 pp. 48, 55-56 (ICS); T. 27 August 2007 p. 32 (Witness D-2-14-

⁴⁵²⁶ T. 30 August 2007 p. 34 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D). ⁴⁵²⁷ T. 21 March 2002 p. 6 (Witness QCB).

victims,⁴⁵²⁸ he did not testify about any further killings that occurred on Saturday, 23 April 1994. Witness QW testified that she escaped Kabakobwa and walked all night, arriving back at Kabakobwa the following morning around 8.00 or 9.00 a.m. She saw all the dead bodies and left; she did not stay there long.⁴⁵²⁹ She did not see any bulldozers there, and did not see any gathering of people with authorities.⁴⁵³⁰ Witness QW also did not testify about any killings that occurred that day.

1753. Given that the killings that occurred on Saturday, 23 April 1994 were intended to "finish off" the few survivors from the previous day's attack, the Chamber considers the killings occurred on a significantly smaller scale than the attack of the previous day. As such, the Chamber does not consider it significant that neither Witness QCB nor Witness QW testified to witnessing any further killings at Kabakobwa on the morning of Saturday 23 April 1994.

1754. Therefore, having regard to the detailed testimony of Witness FAM, when read together with the corroborative testimony of Witness D-2-14-D and the hearsay testimony of Witness D-2-13-D, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable doubt that some of the attackers who participated in the attacks on Friday, 22 April returned to Kabakobwa on Saturday, 23 April 1994 to finish off the survivors and loot their property. Notwithstanding this finding, the Chamber does not consider it established beyond a reasonable doubt on the basis of Witness FAM's testimony alone that Kanyabashi was present at Kabakobwa on Saturday, 23 April 1994.

3.6.8.5 *Conclusion*

1755. In conclusion, the Chamber considers it established that Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market on the morning of Thursday, 21 April 1994, during which he stated that Tutsis should go to Kabakobwa. The Chamber also finds it established that local authorities directed Tutsi refugees to Kabakobwa. However, the Chamber does not find the Prosecution has proven that Kanyabashi instructed local authorities to move Tutsis to Kabakobwa. Consequently, the Chamber accepts that many refugees fleeing to Burundi may have found themselves at Kabakobwa per chance. The Chamber also does not consider it proven that Kanyabashi recited proverbs from a vehicle in Rwinuma *cellule* on the afternoon of Thursday, 21 April 1994.

1756. With respect to the Kabakobwa attack on 22 April 1994, the Chamber does not consider it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi was present during the attack. Nevertheless, it accepts that soldiers, members of the Ngoma *commune* police and civilians massacred Tutsi refugees there. As to Nteziryayo's role, the Chamber does not consider it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo was present at Kabakobwa when the attack began at around 3.00 p.m. on Friday, 21 April 1994, and that he brought soldiers to Kabakobwa to participate in the attack. With respect to the subsequent killings at Kabakobwa on 23 April 1994, the Chamber considers it established beyond a reasonable doubt that further killings took place that aimed to "finish off" survivors from the previous day's

⁴⁵²⁸ Having found that the issue of the burials fell outside the scope of the Kanyabashi Indictment, the Chamber did not set out Witness QCB's testimony on this issue in the Evidence section.

⁴⁵²⁹ T. 6 June 2002 p. 143; T. 10 June 2002 p. 31 (Witness QW).

⁴⁵³⁰ T. 10 June 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness QW).

attack, but does not consider it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi was present at Kabakobwa on Saturday, 23 April 1994.

3.6.9 Nkubi Secteur Office Meeting, 24 April 1994

3.6.9.1 Introduction

1757. The Kanyabashi Indictment provides that on several occasions between 20 April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed the soldiers and militiamen, and certain members of the civilian population, to search for the Tutsis who had escaped the massacres, in order to exterminate them. These instructions were given notably on 21 April in Butare, in late April in Save, and in June 1994 near Butare. The Kanyabashi Indictment also provides between April and July 1994, Kanyabashi not only called on, but aided and abetted the population in slaughtering the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*.

1758. According to the Prosecution, Kanyabashi's role in the genocide conspiracy was to, *inter alia*, attend meetings, give instructions to kill Tutsis in hiding and use his position and power to incite the population to join in the killings. Kanyabashi directly participated in the massacres of Tutsis through his acts, conduct and utterances in Butare, between April and July 1994. The Prosecution submits that when Kanyabashi gave orders to the population they were obeyed. In this respect, the Prosecution submits that on 24 April 1994, Kanyabashi held a meeting at the Nkubi *secteur* office during which he urged Tutsis to come out of hiding. The Prosecution submits this was a plan to lure Tutsis out of hiding since those Tutsis who came out of hiding were subsequently killed. After this meeting, one Rukimbira was killed upon Kanyabashi's orders. The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness FAM.

1759. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the meeting of 24 April 1994 falls outside the scope of the Kanyabashi Indictment. It otherwise submits that Witness FAM's testimony was uncorroborated and lacking in details with respect to the killings that allegedly followed the meeting. It of the meeting that allegedly followed the meeting.

3.6.9.2 Preliminary Issues

1760. In the context of the Kabakobwa attacks that occurred on 22 and 23 April 1994, the Prosecution introduced evidence related to an alleged Nkubi *secteur* meeting, held on Sunday where Kanyabashi and Nsanzabahizi told Tutsis to come out of hiding because security had been restored, after which those Tutsis who came out of their hiding places were killed. ⁴⁵⁴⁰ The

⁴⁵³¹ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁴⁵³² Para. 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁴⁵³³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

⁴⁵³⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 405, paras. 75-76.

⁴⁵³⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 386, para. 4.

⁴⁵³⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 244, para. 52; p. 395, para. 33; p. 424, para. 141.

⁴⁵³⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 395, para. 34; p. 415, para. 109; p. 422, para. 134 (The Chamber addresses the allegation concerning the killing of Rukimbira in a separate section of this Judgement ().

⁴⁵³⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 114.

⁴⁵³⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 142.

⁴⁵⁴⁰ See T. 6 March 2002 pp. 110-118 (Witness FAM).

Kanyabashi Defence raised an objection to the introduction of this evidence on the basis that this meeting was not pled in the Indictment, which the Chamber overruled. 4541

1761. The Chamber notes that this is a separate and distinct allegation that did not take place at Kabakobwa and occurred two days after the killings described in the Indictment. The Chamber is of the view that this allegation falls outside the scope of Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. Therefore, the Chamber will not consider the evidence as to the alleged 24 April 1994 *secteur* meeting with respect to these Indictment paragraphs. The Chamber will instead consider evidence led about this meeting under the relevant Indictment paragraphs pertaining to meetings where appropriate.

1762. Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that between April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers and militiamen, and certain members of the civilian population to search for Tutsis who had escaped massacres, in order to exterminate them. Further, Paragraph 6.58 alleges that between April and July 1994, Kanyabashi and his co-Accused, individually or in the presence of one another, not only called on but also aided and abetted the population to slaughter Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 4543

1763. Insofar as these paragraphs fail to specify 24 April 1994 as one occasion on which Kanyabashi called for the search of Tutsis and fail to identify the location where Kanyabashi is alleged to have incited the population to commit genocide, namely at the Nkubi *secteur* office, the Chamber finds these paragraphs defective for failing to put the Kanyabashi Defence on notice of this event.

1764. The Chamber notes the summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief sets forth that on the Sunday following the Kabakobwa massacre, Kanyabashi came to the *secteur* and held a meeting with the *conseiller* and the *responsables de cellule*, asking them to tell the surviving Tutsis to come out of hiding, whereupon those Tutsis who came out of hiding were killed by the Hutu population. 4544

1765. A review of Witness FAM's previous statement of 24 February 2000 shows that its content corresponds to the summary of information provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. The statement however provides additional detail insofar as it specifies the *secteur* in issue, namely Nkubi *secteur*, and states that the message given at the meeting was subsequently disseminated by megaphone in a *commune* vehicle. Those Tutsis who did come out of hiding were killed by the Hutu population. Recalling that Witness FAM's statement was disclosed in 2000 and 2001, this disclosure to the Defence was timely, clear and consistent.

1766. Accordingly, the Chamber considers Kanyabashi was provided with adequate notice that the Prosecution intended to bring evidence of this alleged 24 April 1994 meeting as part of

⁴⁵⁴¹ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 111-115, 117 (Witness FAM); see also Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 114, 142, 196.

⁴⁵⁴² Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility only).

Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility only).

4543 Para. 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) responsibility)

⁴⁵⁴⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

⁴⁵⁴⁵ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 4 December 2000.

its case against Kanyabashi, such that the defect in the Indictment is cured. Insofar as the Kanyabashi Defence also had the opportunity to cross-examine Witness FAM on this event over two sitting days, 7 and 11 March 2002, the Chamber considers no prejudice was caused to the Defence.

3.6.9.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness FAM

1767. Witness FAM, a Hutu and detainee at the time of his testimony, 4546 testified that there was a secteur meeting on Sunday, between 10.00 a.m. and 12.00 p.m., at the Nkubi secteur office. 4547 During the meeting. Kanyabashi told the population that security had been restored. and therefore the Tutsis should come out of their hiding places since no one was to be killed again in the *commune*. There were no Tutsis present at this meeting. 4548 Nsanzabahizi spoke after Kanyabashi and told the population that they must affect "finissage", upon the Tutsis who came out from hiding to finish the extermination. 4549 This message was then spread throughout the secteur by Kanyabashi, who announced by megaphone as he went around in a vehicle that it was safe for those hiding to come out. 4550 In cross-examination, Witness FAM testified that the message was broadcast by a man aboard the vehicle who was doing so in the name of Bourgmestre Kanyabashi. 4551 As a result of that message some Tutsis came out of hiding and they were killed. 4552 Witness FAM could not recall precisely when he mentioned the secteur meeting or the megaphone incident prior to his statement of 25 February 2000. 4553

Prosecution Witness OCB

1768. Witness QCB, a Hutu married to a Tutsi woman, ⁴⁵⁵⁴ and detained witness awaiting sentencing in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, ⁴⁵⁵⁵ testified that a *secteur* meeting was held on Sunday, 24 April 1994, but he did not attend. ⁴⁵⁵⁶

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-14-D

1769. Witness D-2-14-D, a Hutu farmer, cleaner and gardener, 4557 did not know of or attend any meeting convened by Kanyabashi where Kanyabashi said that security had been restored and that Tutsis could come out of their hiding places, or where Mathias Nsanzabahizi said that

422

⁴⁵⁴⁶ T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁴⁷ T. 6 March 2002 p. 110; T. 13 March 2002 p. 78 (Witness FAM) (transcript erroneously refers to "Nkumbi"

⁴⁵⁴⁸ T. 6 March 2002 p. 110 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁴⁹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 111 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁵⁰ T. 6 March 2002 p. 118 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁵¹ T. 13 March 2002 p. 82 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁵² T. 6 March 2002 p. 118; T. 13 March 2002 p. 83 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁵³ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 84-85 (Witness FAM); see Defence Exhibit 20B (Kanyabashi) (25 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁵⁴ T. 28 March 2002 p. 138 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁵⁵⁵ T. 20 March 2002 p. 37 (Witness QCB). 4556 T. 2 April 2002 pp. 120-121 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁵⁵⁷ Defence Exhibit 556 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 20 August 2007 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

those Tutsis coming out of hiding should be finished off so that the extermination could be completed. He also did not know of Kanyabashi making any such announcements by megaphone. He also did not know of Kanyabashi making any such announcements by megaphone.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-16-P

1770. Witness D-2-16-P, a Tutsi, 4560 testified that the only two meetings Kanyabashi held in April 1994 were on 18 and 19 April 1994. No meeting took place at the end of April in Rango, because if there was the witness would have heard of it and attended. Witness D-2-16-P testified that from his home he could hear messages by megaphone from a vehicle on the road linking Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs*. Prior to April 1994, he could hear such messages delivered by megaphone, but he never heard such messages from April to early July 1994.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

1771. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, 4564 spent Saturday night and Sunday at Kanyabashi's house. 4565 Kanyabashi spent all day Sunday at home and was visited by the *conseiller* of Matyazo and the brigadier.

3.6.9.4 Deliberations

1772. Witness FAM was the sole Prosecution witness called who testified about the substance of what was said at a *secteur* meeting held on Sunday at the Nkubi *secteur* office. The Chamber notes Witness FAM's detainee status at the time of his testimony, and his potential motivation to implicate Kanyabashi in order to receive a more favourable sentence. The Chamber will therefore treat his testimony with appropriate caution. Witness FAM's testimony about the occurrence of a meeting was corroborated by Witness QCB, who testified that a *secteur* meeting was held on Sunday 24 April 1994. However, Witness QCB did not attend the meeting and did not provide any testimony as to the content of the meeting.

1773. While Witnesses D-2-14-D⁴⁵⁷⁰ and D-2-16-P⁴⁵⁷¹ testified they did not know of or attend any meeting convened by Kanyabashi where Kanyabashi said that security had been restored and that Tutsis could come out of their hiding places, the Chamber does not consider this conclusive evidence that there was no meeting.

```
<sup>4558</sup> T. 21 August 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).
```

⁴⁵⁵⁹ T. 21 August 2007 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵⁶⁰ T. 12 March 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-16-P); Defence Exhibit 639 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁴⁵⁶¹ T. 17 March 2008 pp. 26-27 (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴⁵⁶² T. 12 March 2008 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴⁵⁶³ T. 12 March 2008 p. 10 (ICS); T. 17 March 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-16-P).

⁴⁵⁶⁴ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁵⁶⁵ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁵⁶⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁵⁶⁷ T. 6 March 2002 p. 110; T. 13 March 2002 p. 78 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁶⁸ T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁶⁹ T. 2 April 2002 pp. 120-121 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁵⁷⁰ T. 21 August 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-D).

⁴⁵⁷¹ T. 17 March 2008 pp. 26-27 (Witness D-2-16-P).

1774. Further, Witness D-2-YYYY testified that he spent Saturday night and Sunday at Kanyabashi's house⁴⁵⁷² and that Kanyabashi spent all day Sunday at home where he was visited by the *conseiller* of Matyazo and the brigadier. 4573 Recalling the Chamber's views that Witness D-2-YYYY may have an interest in defending Kanyabashi by reason of having worked with Kanyabashi during the events, 4574 the Chamber considers his testimony does not raise a reasonable doubt as to Kanyabashi's presence at a meeting at Nkubi secteur on Sunday, 24 April 1994.

1775. In the circumstances, considering Witness FAM's detainee status at the time of his testimony, 4575 and his potential motivation to implicate Kanyabashi in order to receive a more favourable sentence, absent any more reliable corroboration as to the meeting, the Chamber does not consider the evidence led by the Prosecution sufficient to establish a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that a meeting was held on Sunday, 24 April 1994 at the Nkubi secteur office, at which Kanyabashi told the population that security had been restored, and urged Tutsis to come out of their hiding places. Because the Chamber has concluded that the Prosecution has failed to prove this allegation for independent reasons, it need not address the impact of Witness D-2-21-T's testimony on his credibility as regards this allegation.

3.6.10 Killing of Rukimbira, Around 22-24 April 1994

3.6.10.1 Introduction

1776. Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment provides that on several occasions between 20 April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers, militiamen and certain members of the civilian population to search for Tutsis who had escaped the massacres in order to exterminate them. These instructions were given notably on 21 April in Butare, in late April in Save, and in June 1994 near Butare. 4576

1777. On the basis of the testimony of Witness FAM, the Prosecution asserts that on or around 24 April 1994, Kanyabashi ordered the killing of a Tutsi, Rukimbira. 4577

1778. The Defence argues that during the testimony of Witness FAM, it objected to this witness' evidence relating to the killing of Rukimbira. The Defence maintains that this allegation is not pled in the Kanyabashi Indictment and that, as a consequence, Kanyabashi should not have to defend himself against this specific charge. 4578 In the alternative, the Defence asserts that the Prosecution evidence is not consistent as to this event. Another Prosecution witness, Witness QCB, testified that he learned Rukimbira was killed by soldiers on 21 April 1994. According to the Defence, Witness QCB's version of events does not correspond to that narrated by Witness FAM. 4579

⁴⁵⁷² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁵⁷³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
4574 T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁴⁵⁷⁵ T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁷⁶ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁴⁵⁷⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 422, para. 134.

⁴⁵⁷⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 114.

⁴⁵⁷⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 141-144.

1779. Relying upon the testimony of Defence Witness D-2-13-D, the Defence submits that Rukimbira was killed under different circumstances on 22 April 1994. Finally, the Defence asserts that Witness FAM was part of a group of detainees who induced inmates to falsely implicate Kanyabashi. 4580

3.6.10.2 Preliminary issues

1780. As raised by the Defence, the Chamber observes that the killing of Rukimbira was not specifically pled in the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective in this regard. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will proceed to determine whether this defect was cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosure.

1781. The Chamber has reviewed the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its Appendix, and notes that the summary of Witness FAM indicates that he was expected to testify about the killing of a Tutsi driver, Rukimbira, in support of Counts 1 to 9 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Chamber further notes that Witness FAM's written statement dated 24 February 2000 and disclosed to the Defence on 1 October 2001 addresses this specific killing. Witness FAM started his testimony on 6 March 2002, allowing ample time for the Defence to prepare.

1782. Considering the above, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi had timely, clear and consistent notice of the allegation that Kanyabashi ordered the killing of Rukimbira. Therefore, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 6.45 was cured of its defect through subsequent Prosecution disclosures, and no prejudice was caused to the Defence.

3.6.10.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAM

1783. Witness FAM, a Hutu, was a detainee at the time of his testimony who had pled guilty to certain crimes including genocide. He took part in killings and lootings in his *secteur* throughout the war. He testified that he had yet to be brought before a judge in Rwanda to enter any plea of guilt. At the time of his testimony, he had yet to be informed whether the Rwandan Prosecutor accepted or rejected his confession.

1784. Witness FAM testified that he knew one Rukimbira who was a driver for the *préfecture*. 4586 The witness stated that he was informed that Rukimbira was a Tutsi. 4587 He

-

⁴⁵⁸⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 11.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

⁴⁵⁸² 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 1 October 2001 ("The same Sunday, Kanyabashi asked a group of men to go and force a certain Rukimbira, a Tutsi who was a driver at the *préfecture*, out of his house. I was among the group. We told him that the man could be having grenades in his house. So, Kanyabashi returned to the *commune* and came back with four communal policemen, who forced Rukimbira out and killed him behind his house, in front of Kanyabashi.").

⁴⁵⁸³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 73 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁸⁴ T. 7 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁸⁵ T. 11 March 2002 pp. 48-49 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁸⁶ T. 6 March 2002 p. 118 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁸⁷ T. 6 March 2002 p. 126 (Witness FAM).

stated that Kanyabashi ordered policemen to take Rukimbira out of his house and hand him over to the population to be killed. Kanyabashi was in the compound of Rukimbira's house when he gave these orders. Kanyabashi was standing approximately one metre away from Rukimbira when he was killed. The witness saw the killing from a distance of three to five metres. The witness stated that he was at the scene on the orders of Kanyabashi. Rukimbira was killed at 10.00 a.m. on the Sunday following the Kabakobwa events. Witness FAM mentioned Mathias Nsanzabahizi, Master Élias Kiyobe, Yirirwahande, Jean-Bosco and several others as having been present at the killing of Rukimbira. Witness FAM identified Kanyabashi in court.

1785. Witness FAM made his confession on 3 August 1998. However, he did not mention the names of persons whom he killed nor that of Kanyabashi in this confession in order to safeguard his own security and that of his family. The witness further stated that he did not mention the killing of Rukimbira in this confession because the killers of Rukimbira were all dead and the person who handed Rukimbira over to the killers was in exile. The witness indicated that at the time of his confession, he was detained at the Karubanda prison as well as Kanyabashi's two sons: Patrice who was a doctor and Babu. The witness indicated that a son the confession in this confession in order to safeguard his own security and that of his confession because the killers of Rukimbira were all dead and the person who handed Rukimbira over to the killers was in exile. The witness indicated that at the time of his confession, he was detained at the Karubanda prison as well as Kanyabashi's two sons: Patrice who was a doctor and Babu.

1786. Counsel for Kanyabashi confronted the witness with the record of Witness FAM's hearing before the Rwandan authorities, dated 18 August 1998, in which he alleged that soldiers were also present when Rukimbira was killed. The witness explained that the person who recorded his statements made a mistake because soldiers only arrived there after Rukimbira's burial. Health of the person who recorded his statements made a mistake because soldiers only arrived there after Rukimbira's burial.

Prosecution Witness QCB

1787. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and a detainee at the time of his testimony, testified in cross-examination that Jean-Marie Rukimbira, whom the witness knew as the driver at the *préfecture*, was killed on 21 April 1994. After having thrown the dead bodies of Tutsis on the road not far from Rango market on that day, soldiers moved on to Jean-Marie Rukimbira's house, arrested him and handed him over to Martin Nzabamwita, who killed him

⁴⁵⁸⁸ T. 6 March 2002 p. 121 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁸⁹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 124 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹¹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 120 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹² T. 6 March 2002 pp. 118-119 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹³ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 85-86 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁴ T. 6 March 2002 p. 121 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁵ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 14-15 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁶ T. 11 March 2002 p. 78 (Witness FAM); *see* Defence Exhibit 15B (Kanyabashi) (3 August 1998, Confession of Witness FAM to Rwandan Authorities).

⁴⁵⁹⁷ T. 11 March 2002 p. 79 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁸ T. 12 March 2002 p. 97 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁵⁹⁹ T. 11 March 2002 p. 79; T. 12 March 2002 p. 95 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶⁰⁰ T. 13 March 2002 p. 93 (Witness FAM); *see* Defence Exhibit 18B (18 August 1998, Record of Witness FAM's hearing before Rwandan Authorities).

⁴⁶⁰¹ T. 13 March 2002 p. 95 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶⁰² T. 28 March 2002 pp. 126-128 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

on the spot. He witness was not present when Jean-Marie Rukimbira was killed but he learned about it that same day. He Jean-Marie Rukimbira was the first person to be killed in Ngoma commune. 4605

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

1788. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu, stated that at about 8.30 a.m. on Friday (22 April 1994) he saw two old blue minibuses known as "Combi" with about 10 soldiers stop at Alexis Habyarimana's house. 4606 The soldiers alighted from the vehicles and called Alexis Habyarimana and then went toward Kabakobwa. 4607

1789. The soldiers stood on Nkubi Hill adjacent to or overlooking Kabakobwa. 4608 They shot two bullets, said they could not wage war against unarmed members of the population and then left. 4609 The witness and Gashumba followed the soldiers because Alexis' house was not far from Kabakobwa. 4610 Once at Alexis' house, the soldiers compelled the witness and Gashumba to get in their vehicles with them. 4611

1790. Six people got in the military vehicles with the soldiers. 4612 They proceeded to Rukimbira's house, and the soldiers said, "[t]his is the *préfet's* driver" and then stopped on the road. 4613 The soldiers said that Rukimbira was an accomplice of the *Inkotanyi*. The witness stated that he knew Rukimbira very well; Rukimbira lived in Agasharu and had been the préfet's driver since about the 1980s. 4614 The last time he saw Rukimbira go to work was about a month before the events 4615

1791. Witness D-2-13-D stated that the soldiers alighted from their vehicles and knocked on the door of Rukimbira's house. 4616 Rukimbira came out wearing a towel with his hands up. 4617 The witness stated that Rukimbira was home alone. 4618 A soldier called Athanase Kamana

⁴⁶⁰³ T. 28 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶⁰⁴ T. 3 April 2002 p. 104 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶⁰⁵ T. 3 April 2002 p. 104 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶⁰⁶ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 44-45; T. 29 August 2007 p. i (Extract); T. 4 September 2007 p. 18 (ICS); T. 5 September 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

4607 T. 29 August 2007 p. 44; T. 29 August 2007 p. i (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶⁰⁸ T. 4 September 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶⁰⁹ T. 29 August 2007 p. 45; T. 4 September 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹⁰ T. 29 August 2007 p. 44; T. 29 August 2007 p. i (Extract); T. 4 September 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-

⁴⁶¹¹ T. 29 August 2007 p. 45; T. 4 September 2007 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹² T. 29 August 2007 p. 45 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹³ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 45, 48; T. 29 August 2007 p. i (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹⁴ T. 4 September 2007 p. 32 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹⁵ T. 10 September 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹⁶ T. 29 August 2007 p. ii (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶¹⁷ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 46-47; T. 29 August 2007 p. 65 (ICS); T. 29 August 2007 p. ii (Extract) (Witness D-2-

⁴⁶¹⁸ T. 10 September 2007 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

killed Rukimbira with a machete, and Martin Nzabamwita finished him off. Kamana and Nzabamwita were brothers and lived in Agasharu *cellule*. 4620

1792. After Rukimbira's death, the soldiers got in their vehicle and left. The witness buried Rukimbira's body by the road near Rukimbira's house. Rukimbira was killed at about 10.20 or 10.30 a.m. on the morning of the Kabakobwa massacre. 4623

1793. On cross-examination, Witness D-2-13-D confirmed to have said in his statement of 28 November 2004 that after going to Kabakobwa, the soldiers and *Interahamwe* went to Rukimbira's home, and that he was one of those *Interahamwe*. In this same statement, he confirmed to have said that Kamana, Kiyobe, Yirinwahandi and Bisesemi were also present. The witness however testified that he and Gashumba were not *Interahamwe* but mere members of the population; since they participated in the killing of Rukimbira, they also became *Interahamwe*.

1794. In the same statement, Witness D-2-13-D stated that after the Kabakobwa massacres the soldiers and *Interahamwe* went to Rukimbira's house and killed him. On cross-examination, he acknowledged making that statement but he insisted that Rukimbira was killed before noon and before the Kabakobwa massacres. 4626

1795. Witness D-2-13-D did not see Semwiza at all on the day that Rukimbira was killed. He did not hear of Semwiza being involved at all in the death of Rukimbira. 4627

1796. Witness D-2-13-D stated that he was tried twice by the *Gacaca* court. At the first trial in 2006, he pled guilty to the murder of Rukimbira and confessed that he was present at Rukimbira's death. He also confessed to killing Nyirabudondi and his child and being present at their deaths. He admitted to Babeya's wife and child being killed in his presence. He confessed to having looted the belongings of Paul Sekamana, an agronomist named Pierre and Daphrose Rwingwini. 4628

1797. Witness D-2-13-D testified that during his time at the Butare prison, there was a small group of people who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi. This group, including an individual with the same full name as Witness FAM, found Witness D-2-13-D in his cell and

⁴⁶¹⁹ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 46-47; T. 29 August 2007 p. 65 (ICS); T. 29 August 2007 p. ii (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁰ T. 29 August 2007 p. 49; T. 29 August 2007 pp. iv-v (Extract); T. 4 September 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²¹ T. 29 August 2007 p. 48 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²² T. 29 August 2007 pp. 48, 50; T. 29 August 2007 pp. v-vi (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²³ T. 5 September 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁴ T. 4 September 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); Defence Exhibit 564 (17-20 June 2004, Statement of Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁵ T. 4 September 2007 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁶ T. 5 September 2007 pp. 53-54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); Defence Exhibit 564 (17-20 June 2004, Statement of Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁷ T. 29 August 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁸ T. 28 August 2007 pp. 66-68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶²⁹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

told him they wanted to recruit him into their community. 4630 They said that there was a group that was going to testify against Kanyabashi in Arusha. 4631 The witness told them that he did not know anything about Kanyabashi and asked them to leave. 4632

3.6.10.4 Deliberations

1798. It is not disputed that Rukimbira, a Tutsi driver at the *préfecture*, was killed near his residence. The disputed issues are the time frame of Rukimbira's killing and the involvement of Kanyabashi in this event, if any.

1799. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness FAM in support of its allegation that Rukimbira was killed on a Sunday that followed the Kabakobwa events, *i.e.* 24 April 1994, at 10.00 a.m. ⁴⁶³⁴ On that occasion, Kanyabashi ordered policemen to remove Rukimbira from his home and hand him over to the population who then killed him because he was Tutsi. ⁴⁶³⁵ Kanyabashi was present when Rukimbira was put to death.

1800. The Chamber underscores that Witness FAM, as a detained witness, may have had reason to testify against Kanyabashi in order to receive a more favourable sentence in his case. Accordingly, his evidence should be considered with appropriate caution.

1801. The testimony of Witness FAM is put into question by Witnesses QCB and D-2-13-D. The Chamber recalls that as discussed earlier in this Judgement, Witness D-2-13-D's testimony on fabrication of evidence against Kanyabashi does not undermine the testimony of Witness FAM ().

1802. Even though Witness QCB was not expected to testify about the killing of Rukimbira, he stated in cross-examination that Rukimbira was killed by Martin Nzabamwita on 21 April 1994 after his arrest by soldiers. Witness QCB however did not witness the killing himself; rather, he learned of it upon his return from Rango the same day. 4638

1803. Witness D-2-13-D declared that Rukimbira was killed on the morning of the Kabakobwa massacre, *i.e.* Friday, 22 April 1994 at about 10.20 or 10.30 a.m. ⁴⁶³⁹ A soldier named Athanase Kamana killed Rukimbira with a machete and Martin Nzabamwita finished him off. ⁴⁶⁴⁰

⁴⁶³⁰ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶³¹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶³² T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶³³ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (Witness FAM); T. 29 August 2007 p. 46 (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 28 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶³⁴ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 85-86; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶³⁵ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 121-123 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶³⁶ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶³⁷ T. 28 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶³⁸ T. 3 April 2002 p. 104 (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶³⁹ T. 5 September 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶⁴⁰ T. 29 August 2007 pp. 46-47; T. 29 August 2007 p. 65 (ICS); T. 29 August 2007 p. ii (Extract) (Witness D-2-13-D).

1804. In the Chamber's view, Witness D-2-13-D's testimony on the circumstances surrounding Rukimbira's death is not credible. The Chamber does not believe his account that he was compelled by soldiers to board their vehicles and to accompany them. The Chamber recalls that before this incident, the witness followed the soldiers' vehicles on his own initiative and by foot from Alexis Habyarimana's place to Nkubi Hill. The Chamber does not find any reason which may have justified the sudden change in the soldiers' behaviour to compel the witness, a civilian, to come with them.

1805. The Chamber observes discrepancies between the respective testimonies of Witnesses FAM and QCB, both Prosecution witnesses. First, the Chamber notes the discrepancy in the witnesses' testimony regarding the date of the incident. In and of itself, the Chamber considers this a minor discrepancy, especially taking into account the significant amount of time elapsed since the events and the fact that Witness QCB testified to a number of events which occurred in April 1994.

1806. However, other more significant discrepancies exist as well. Witness FAM testified that Rukimbira was taken out of his home by policemen in the presence of Kanyabashi, who then ordered his killing. Witness QCB heard that Rukimbira was arrested and killed by soldiers without any further details. Notably, he makes no mention of Kanyabashi's presence. Fam's 3 August 1998 confession makes no mention of the order given by Kanyabashi to kill Rukimbira. When asked about this significant omission, the witness provided an unconvincing explanation.

1807. Taking into account these various discrepancies, the omission, and Witness FAM's status as a detainee at the time of his testimony, the Chamber concludes that it is not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi ordered the killing of Rukimbira on around 24 April 1994. Because the Chamber has concluded that the Prosecution failed to prove this allegation for independent reasons, it need not address the impact of Witness D-2-21-T's testimony on his credibility as regards this allegation.

3.6.11 Groupe Scolaire Attacks, April 1994

3.6.11.1 Introduction

1808. Paragraph 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that in the days following the death of President Habyarimana, Nteziryayo went to Butare to take over his "new assignment". As the official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, between April and June 1994 Nteziryayo supervised the training of militiamen and distributed weapons to them. 4646 Paragraph 6.35 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from 20 April 1994 the massacres became widespread within the *préfecture*, and that Tutsis were killed

⁴⁶⁴⁶ Para. 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

⁴⁶⁴¹ T. 29 August 2007 p. 45; T. 4 September 2007 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶⁴² T. 29 August 2007 p. 45 (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁴⁶⁴³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 121 (Witness FAM).

⁴⁶⁴⁴ T. 28 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁴⁶⁴⁵ T. 11 March 2002 p. 79; T. 12 March 2002 p. 97 (Witness FAM); *See* Defence Exhibit 15B (Kanyabashi) (3 August 1998, Confession of Witness FAM to Rwandan Authorities).

where they had sought refuge thinking that the authorities would protect them. 4647 The Indictment alleges that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo knew that massacres of the civilian population were being committed and took no measures to stop them. It further alleges that, acting in their positions of authority, and in concert with others, they participated in the planning and preparation or execution of a common scheme, strategy or plan to commit these atrocities. The crimes were committed by them personally, by persons they assisted or by their subordinates, and with their knowledge or consent. 4649

- 1809. The Prosecution submits that soldiers and *Interahamwe* beat and intimidated Tutsi refugees at the *Groupe Scolaire*. The Prosecution contends that, from April to June 1994 Nteziryayo was responsible for civil self-defence in Butare *préfecture* and as such exercised authority over the *Interahamwe* and certain civilians in the *préfecture*. 4651
- 1810. Furthermore, the Prosecution submits that Nsabimana is responsible under Article 6 (3) of the Statute for the massacres which occurred during the time he was *préfet* of Butare, in 1994. Specifically, the Prosecution alleges that Nsabimana distributed weapons to his subordinates, the *bourgmestres*, to be used in civilian defence. These weapons were subsequently used to kill the Tutsi civilian population. 4653
- 1811. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness TQ and Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.
- 1812. The Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Defences make no specific submissions with regard to the attacks that took place at the *Groupe Scolaire*. The Nsabimana Defence, in particular, did not challenge the allegation. 4654

3.6.11.2 Preliminary Issues

1813. The Chamber notes that the allegation that there were attacks perpetrated at the *Groupe Scolaire* in April 1994 was not pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. Paragraphs 6.60 and 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo knew that massacres were taking place; they took no measures to stop them and indeed consented to their occurrence. The Chamber notes, however, that these paragraphs are not pled in support of any counts against the Accused. Recalling the principles set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), the Chamber considers that the allegations contained in these paragraphs are not charged as crimes; a defect that cannot be cured by the provision of timely, clear and consistent Prosecution disclosures. The Chamber therefore declines to make a finding in this respect.

⁴⁶⁴⁷ Para. 6.35 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

⁴⁶⁴⁸ Para. 6.60 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁴⁶⁴⁹ Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁴⁶⁵⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 39, para. 40.

⁴⁶⁵¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 306, para. 2.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 257, para. 90 (referring to Para. 4.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts)).

⁴⁶⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 258, para. 91.

⁴⁶⁵⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1466, 1470.

1814. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment sets forth a clear allegation in relation to Nteziryayo's position within Butare *préfecture*. However, this paragraph does not refer to any attacks or killings, especially at the *Groupe Scolaire*. Paragraph 6.35 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that killings occurred, but does not substantiate Nsabimana or Nteziryayo's alleged role or participation in these killings and as such constitutes a failure to properly plead the modes of participation of the crimes alleged under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. The Chamber recalls that where it is alleged that the accused planned, instigated, ordered, or aided and abetted in the planning, preparation or execution of the alleged crimes, the Prosecution is required to identify the "particular acts" or "the particular course of conduct" on the part of the accused that forms the basis for the charges in question (). Furthermore, there is no mention of any specific attacks at the *Groupe Scolaire* perpetrated by any alleged subordinates.

1815. The Chamber is of the view that the Prosecution's failure to refer to these specific attacks at the *Groupe Scolaire* constitutes a failure to properly plead this charge. Any decision to the contrary would be an impermissible expansion of the Indictment and a radical transformation of the charge as alleged in Paragraphs 6.29 and 6.35, which can only result in prejudice to the Accused. As a result the Chamber will not make a finding as to the attacks perpetrated at the *Groupe Scolaire* or as to Nsabimana and Nteziryayo's alleged involvement or participation therein.

3.6.12 Mugusa Commune Office Meeting, 22 April 1994

3.6.12.1 Introduction

1816. Paragraph 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, Nteziryayo, among others, publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo made public statements inciting people to exterminate the Tutsi population not in his personal capacity, but as part of the genocidal plan of the Interim Government. Paragraph 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further provides that military officers, members of the Interim Government and local authorities including Nteziryayo, aided and abetted their subordinates and others in carrying out the massacres of the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". Without the complicity of the local and national civil and military authorities, the principal massacres would not have occurred. A658

1817. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness QBV to assert that around 22 April 1994, Nteziryayo attended a meeting held outside the Mugusa *commune* office during which Nteziryayo told the *bourgmestre* that all the other *communes* had already finished killing the Tutsis and their accomplices while in Mugusa and Muyaga, nothing had been done yet. Later on the same day and after Nteziryayo's departure, Tutsis who sought refuge at the *commune*

⁴⁶⁵⁵ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20.

⁴⁶⁵⁶ Para. 5.8 of the Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment.

⁴⁶⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 312, para. 24.

⁴⁶⁵⁸ Para. 6.59 of the Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment.

office were killed by, among others, soldiers who accompanied Nteziryayo during the earlier meeting. 4659

1818. The Defence submits that allegations relating to the Mugusa incidents are not pled in the Indictment. In the alternative, the Defence challenges the credibility of Witness QBV. He Defence called Witness AND-5 to prove that Nteziryayo did not participate in nor hold any meeting in Mugusa *commune*. Most of the time Witness AND-5 accompanied the *bourgmestre* and, if Nteziryayo had come to Mugusa to chair a meeting, the witness would have known about it. He Witness AND-5 accompanied the hour about it.

3.6.12.2 Preliminary Issues

1819. The Chamber observes that the meeting allegedly held by Nteziryayo at the Mugusa *commune* office around 22 April 1994 and the subsequent killings of Tutsis refugees who settled there the same day are not specifically pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective in this regard.

1820. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will proceed to determine whether this defect was cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosure.

1821. The Chamber has reviewed the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its annexes filed on 10 April 2001 as well as the Prosecution opening statement of 12 June 2001 and observes that there is no specific mention of the material allegations at stake. Witness QBV gave three prior statements respectively dated 11 October 1999, 11 May 2000 and 30 March 2001, which do not refer to the Mugusa *commune* office meeting and the ensuing killings of Tutsis which allegedly took place on around 22 April 1994. The Chamber therefore concludes that the defect is not cured. As a result, the Chamber will not make any finding on these specific factual allegations.

3.6.13 Mutunda Stadium Meeting, 18-19 April 1994, and Killings, 25-27 April 1994

3.6.13.1 Introduction

1822. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that from late 1990 to July 1994, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. In executing this plan they organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. 4664

.

⁴⁶⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 312, para. 25.

⁴⁶⁶⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 61.

⁴⁶⁶¹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 571-607.

⁴⁶⁶² Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 614, 616.

⁴⁶⁶³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBV (12).

⁴⁶⁶⁴ Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts

- 1823. The Prosecution submits that numerous meetings were held in Butare *préfecture* in which decisions were made to further the conspiracy to exterminate the Tutsis. 4665 Pursuant to the conspiracy, large-scale massacres ensued throughout Butare. According to the Prosecution, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana took part in such a meeting at Mutunda Stadium, 4667 Mbazi *commune*, on or about 18 April 1994 after which killings of Tutsis took place. 4668
- 1824. Nyiramasuhuko is charged with genocide pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) in respect of massacres of Tutsis, or individuals who appeared to be Tutsis, committed by the military, *gendarmes*, Hutu militiamen and others in Butare *préfecture* from April to July 1994. The Prosecution alleges that the massacres perpetrated throughout Butare, including one at Mutunda Stadium on or about 19 April 1994, were the result of a strategy that Nyiramasuhuko planned, adhered to and elaborated. Nyiramasuhuko is also charged with extermination as a crime against humanity by reason of her participation in the massacre at Mutunda Stadium.
- 1825. Nsabimana is charged with murder and extermination as crimes against humanity pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana knew or ought to have known that widespread and systematic attacks against Tutsis were occurring throughout Butare, including Mbazi *commune*. 4672
- 1826. In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Prosecution Witness FAS.
- 1827. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Nyiramasuhuko had nothing to do with the attack on Tutsis who gathered at Mutunda Stadium and that she did not set foot there at any time between April and July 1994. In addition, the Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko Defence challenge Prosecution Witness FAS's credibility and submit that the alleged meeting at Mutunda Stadium did not take place. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on Defence Witnesses WZNJC and LHC, and the Accused Nyiramasuhuko.

against Nsabimana); Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁴⁶⁶⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 231, para. 9.

⁴⁶⁶⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 70, para. 137.

⁴⁶⁶⁷ The Chamber notes that Mutunda Stadium is located in Mbazi *commune*. Witnesses FAS and LHC refer to the stadium as Mbazi Stadium, Witness LHC testified that Mutunda Stadium was located on Mutunda Hill, but that some called it Mbazi Stadium as it was in Mbazi *commune*: T. 15 February 2005 p. 70 (Witness LHC). The Chamber thus accepts that these witnesses are referring to the same place, namely Mutunda Stadium.

⁴⁶⁶⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 70-72, paras. 138-143 (referencing the Mutunda Stadium meeting of 18 April 1994 and involving both Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana).

⁴⁶⁶⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 70, fn. 247 (citing Paras. 6.39, 6.49, 6.50, 6.51, 6.54 and 6.55 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment), pp. 103-104, paras. 261, 264.

 ^{46&}lt;sup>70</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 70, para. 137 (Mutunda Stadium killing of 19 April 1994 only involves Nyiramasuhuko).
 46⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 116-117, paras. 303, 305. Although the Prosecution Closing Brief refers to

⁴⁶⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 116-117, paras. 303, 305. Although the Prosecution Closing Brief refers to Mukunda Stadium, rather than Mutunda Stadium, the Prosecution recognised that Mukunda and Mutunda were the same place. Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 149, fn. 648.

⁴⁶⁷² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 278-282, paras. 161-162, 165-166, 169, 174, 177-178.

⁴⁶⁷³ Nviramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 278-284; Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 768-802.

3.6.13.2 Preliminary Issues

Sufficiency of the Indictments

1828. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is defective for failing to plead the meeting at Mbazi Stadium. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence also submits that Paragraphs 5.1, 6.52 and 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment are impermissibly vague, even when read in the context of the Indictment as a whole.

1829. The Chamber notes that the material facts supporting a charge must be pled in the Indictment with sufficient precision to provide notice to the accused. The Chamber observes that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment contains three paragraphs which refer to Nyiramasuhuko's involvement in meetings. However, none of the three paragraphs in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment encompasses meetings held at or near Mutunda Stadium. In addition, the Prosecution did not specifically plead the Mutunda Stadium meeting in any of the Indictment paragraphs relating to conspiracy. The Chamber thus finds the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment defective by reason of its failure to refer to the meeting held at Mutunda Stadium in Mbazi *commune* on 18 to 19 April 1994.

1830. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.1, 6.57 and 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment are vague insofar as they fail to identify any dates or locations where Nsabimana may have taken part in elaborating a plan to exterminate Tutsis. The Chamber observes that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings, however, the paragraph does not mention the Mutunda Stadium meeting. In addition, the Prosecution did not specifically plead the Mutunda Stadium meeting in any of the Indictment paragraphs relating to conspiracy. The Chamber thus finds the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment defective by reason of its failure to refer to the meeting held at Mutunda Stadium in Mbazi *commune* on 18 to 19 April 1994.

Curing of the Indictment Defects

1831. The Chamber will assess whether the Indictment defects were cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

1832. The Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that on or about 18 April 1994, Witness FAS saw a meeting led by Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko at Mbazi Stadium at which it was decided to kill Tutsis and burn their houses. That night

⁴⁶⁷⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (vii).

⁴⁶⁷⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 44, 55.

⁴⁶⁷⁶ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322.

⁴⁶⁷⁷ Para. 6.32 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment contains a general allegation that numerous meetings were held at the Butare *préfecture* office involving various authorities of the *préfecture* and is cited in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-10 as to Nyiramasuhuko only. Para. 6.13 alleges that numerous Cabinet meetings were held which involved various ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, and at which they were briefed on the massacres. Para. 6.14 alleges that directives and instructions intended to incite and aid and abet the perpetration of massacres were issued during these Cabinet meetings. Paras. 6.13 and 6.14 are cited in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10 as to Nyiramasuhuko only.

⁴⁶⁷⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 126-131.

attacks started. Witness FAS participated in some killings of those fleeing the stadium and Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko gave orders to kill. 4679

- 1833. Witness FAS' statement of 21 February 2001 indicated that on the evening of 18 April 1994 *Préfet* Nsabimana, Minister Nyiramasuhuko and the *bourgmestre* of Mbazi *commune*, Sibomana convened a meeting in Mutunda *secteur* at Mbazi Stadium. Although Witness FAS did not attend the meeting, Gerard Hategekimana, an MDR leader in his *cellule*, told him that he had attended a meeting where it was decided that Tutsis should be killed. The attacks started that night. The following day, 19 April 1994, Witness FAS saw Nyiramasuhuko at the stadium with *gendarmes*, although he was not close enough to her to hear what she was saying. 4680
- 1834. The Chamber considers that the content of Witness FAS' previous statement was clear and consistent with the summary of his expected testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. Further, the Chamber notes Witness FAS' previous statement was disclosed on 14 March 2001, well before he commenced his testimony before the Tribunal in April 2004. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber finds that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence and the Nsabimana Defence had adequate notice of the current allegation.
- 1835. Further, in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Witness FAS was listed in support of Counts 1 and 4 against Nsabimana and Counts 1 to 6 and 8 to 11 against Nyiramasuhuko. 4681 In these circumstances, the Chamber finds that Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko were on notice that the Prosecution would lead evidence from Witness FAS about the Mutunda Stadium meeting and subsequent killings with respect to the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide (Count 1 in both Indictments).
- 1836. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that the defects in the conspiracy-related paragraphs, namely Paragraphs 5.1, 6.52 and 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and Paragraphs 5.1, 6.57 and 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were cured by the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information.

Notice of Responsibility for Killings

1837. Paragraphs 6.38 and 6.47 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment⁴⁶⁸² and Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment⁴⁶⁸³ allege that between April and June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana not only incited but aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*.

⁴⁶⁷⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAS (30).

⁴⁶⁸⁰ 21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS, disclosed 14 March 2001 and 7 June 2001.

⁴⁶⁸¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAS (30).

⁴⁶⁸² Para. 6.38 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali (in support of Counts 2-6, 8 and 10 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), except for Count 4 which charges Article 6 (1) responsibility alone against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.47 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-6, 8 and 10 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), except for Count 4 which charges Article 6 (1) responsibility alone against Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁶⁸³ Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-7 and 9 against Nsabimana); Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana).

1838. The Chamber notes these paragraphs fail to mention how the respective Accused aided and abetted in the massacres they are alleged to have participated in. These paragraphs also fail to mention any specific dates or locations of any massacres in which the Accused allegedly participated. Because of their vagueness, the Chamber considers these Indictment paragraphs defective.

1839. The Chamber must then determine whether these Indictment paragraphs were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. The Chamber observes that the summary of anticipated evidence of Witness FAS in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that after the foregoing meeting held on or around 18 April 1994, attacks started and that Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko gave orders to kill during those attacks. 4684

1840. In his previous statement of 21 February 2001, Witness FAS stated that the day after the meeting of 18 April 1994, he saw Nyiramasuhuko at the stadium with *gendarmes*, although he was not close enough to her to hear what she was saying. That afternoon, Witness FAS heard gunshots and grenades from which he understood the massacre of refugees had started. His statement concludes with "[t]his in short is the circumstance under which I saw Pauline and Sylvain. They came to give us order [sic] to kill Tutsis and we executed the orders." 4685

1841. Although Witness FAS' statement does not outline how or what orders were given, the Chamber is of the view that the information contained in the statement is clear and consistent with the summary of the witness' expected testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief. As already noted, the statement was disclosed in a timely manner, three years before he commenced his testimony. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber finds that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence and the Nsabimana Defence had adequate notice that they would also be charged for their role in the killings which followed the 18 April 1994 meeting.

3.6.13.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAS

1842. Witness FAS, a Hutu farmer and detainee from Mbazi *commune*, ⁴⁶⁸⁶ testified that around 18 April 1994, the *bourgmestre* of his *commune* asked the population via megaphone for assistance to counter the people from Maraba *commune* who had come and created disorder. ⁴⁶⁸⁷ In compliance with the *bourgmestre's* instructions, a group of people, including Witness FAS, left his *cellule* for Gihindamuyaga, at 7.00 a.m. that day. ⁴⁶⁸⁸ The group was comprised of Hutus, Tutsis and Twas from Mbazi *commune*, and was armed with clubs, spears and machetes. ⁴⁶⁸⁹ There were also four *commune* policemen with green shirts and yellow berets who carried guns. ⁴⁶⁹⁰ Once in Gihindamuyaga, the Mbazi group went across a ditch through the stream that separated Mbazi from Huye *commune*. They were able to push back

⁴⁶⁸⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAS (30).

⁴⁶⁸⁵ 21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS, disclosed 14 March 2001.

⁴⁶⁸⁶ T. 28 April 2004 p. 27; T. 29 April 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAS); Prosecution Exhibit 108 (Personal Particulars).

⁴⁶⁸⁷ T. 28 April 2004 p. 29; T. 29 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁶⁸⁸ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 29, 57-58 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁶⁸⁹ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 30, 59 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁶⁹⁰ T. 28 April 2004 p. 30; T. 29 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FAS).

the people from Maraba *commune* because they had policemen with rifles. He invaders from Maraba had no weapons and retreated behind the stream. The Mbazi group stayed at the ditch until noon. He was a stream of the ditch until noon.

1843. The Mbazi group was forced to leave the ditch area when two soldiers, known to Witness FAS, arrived from Butare aboard a red Hilux vehicle. These soldiers wore camouflage uniforms and black berets. The soldiers started shooting at the Mbazi group. The group scattered and went home through the forest. He forest.

1844. Witness FAS testified that on their way back from Gihindamuyaga, the Mbazi group saw Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, the *commune* secretary Gérard Hategekimana and *Responsible de cellule* François Sinzabakwira on the road at Byiza, not far from Mutunda Stadium. Ale Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and the others stood next to Nyiramasuhuko's car, a white double-cabin Hilux, parked on the road. The *bourgmestre* of Mbazi *commune*, Antoine Sibomana, arrived shortly thereafter with his driver. Witness FAS heard the *bourgmestre* say that he had come from Butare.

1845. Witness FAS followed the five authorities, including Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana, as they walked to the stadium, where they proceeded to speak among themselves for some time. Physical and Mutunda Stadium are very close to each other. The authorities stood inside the stadium. Inside the stadium there were seats, and the authorities stood at the fourth bench in the row, about four metres away from Witness FAS. Witness FAS stood outside the stadium fence and listened to what the authorities were saying. Witness FAS heard Nyiramasuhuko tell the *bourgmestre* to 'let the people kill these snakes, the Tutsis and all those who looked like Tutsi. Nyiramasuhuko further stated that if they needed firearms, she would provide them with firearms. At that time, refugees had not yet gathered at the stadium.

1846. Witness FAS listened for only two minutes before heading home.⁴⁷⁰⁸ When it was put to Witness FAS that his prior statement of 21 February 2001 stated that he remained outside the stadium and heard nothing that might have been said by the authorities, Witness FAS

```
<sup>4691</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 30, 59 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4692</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FAS).
<sup>4693</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4694</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4695</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 33; T. 29 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FAS).
4696 T. 28 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4697</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4698</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 34; T. 29 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4699</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 33; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 19, 21, 48 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4700</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 34-35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4701</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4702</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4703</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 34-35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22, 53-54 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4704</sup> T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22, 53 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4705</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 34; T. 29 April 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4706</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4707</sup> T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4708</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAS).
```

responded that he did not know the investigators were from the court and so he did not want them to discover that he had followed the authorities at that time. 4709

1847. Later that afternoon [18 April 1994], Witness FAS met Gérard Hategekimana and Gasper Sabagirwa at a bar. Hategekimana told those present that he had just come back from a meeting held by Nyiramasuhuko, who had asked them to kill the Tutsis. Thereafter, Hategekimana ordered Witness FAS and others to go and look for drums. Upon his orders, Witness FAS and others obtained drums and beat them throughout the night. That night they visited Tutsis' homes to flush out and kill Tutsis, they looted their property and set their homes on fire. Only one person was killed that night. Witness FAS personally went to six Tutsi homes that night.

1848. Witness FAS later testified that these dates were estimates and he could not be sure whether his encounter with the authorities occurred on 18 or 19 April 1994. He did not know if the killings actually occurred on 25 April 1994. He later testified that it would not be right to say that the killings occurred on 25 April 1994. He later testified that it would not be right to say that the killings occurred on 25 April 1994.

1849. The following morning [19 April 1994], Witness FAS met the Mbazi *commune* secretary and *responsable de cellule*, François Sinzabakwira, at a bar. Sinzabakwira called upon Witness FAS and others to kill all Tutsis who had hidden at the *commune* secretary's house, which they did, killing 14 Tutsis. After being told by Sinzabakwira that other Tutsis had gone to the Mutunda Stadium in the morning, Witness FAS and others decided to go there as well. Witness FAS went there in the morning then immediately left and returned again in the evening with others. Witness FAS was armed with a club that morning. Witness FAS saw about 3,000 unarmed Tutsis had gathered at the Mutunda Stadium that morning. Witness FAS testified that the Tutsis at the stadium were killed during the day. However, the killings had not yet begun when Witness FAS left the stadium that morning. He did not see Nyiramasuhuko or any *commune* police at the stadium in the morning.

1850. Witness FAS testified that he returned to the stadium with others later that evening when he heard gunfire and explosions coming from the stadium. 4725 He later testified that he

```
<sup>4709</sup> T. 29 April 2004 pp. 24-26 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4710</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4711</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 35-36; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness FAS).
<sup>4712</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4713</sup> T. 29 April 2004 pp. 34-35 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4714</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4715</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 51 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4716</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4717</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4718</sup> T. 28 April 2004 pp. 37-38; T. 29 April 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness FAS).
<sup>4719</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4720</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4721</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4722</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4723</sup> T. 29 April 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4724</sup> T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).
<sup>4725</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness FAS).
```

returned to the stadium in the afternoon. ⁴⁷²⁶ Upon their arrival at the stadium, Witness FAS saw Nyiramasuhuko, *gendarmes*, *commune* policemen and a soldier called Gatwaza from Gahenerezo. At that time, Nyiramasuhuko was moving among the dead bodies and she said something that Witness FAS could not hear given his distance from the authorities. ⁴⁷²⁷ Witness FAS heard from others that the *bourgmestre* organised the burial of the victims, but Witness FAS did not personally participate in their burial.

- 1851. When it was put to the witness that his statement of 21 February 2001 said he saw Nyiramasuhuko and other officials at the stadium in the morning, rather than the afternoon, Witness FAS testified that he saw Nyiramasuhuko and the others that day, and did not specify whether he saw her in the morning or afternoon. When it was put to the witness that his statement made no reference to the presence of a soldier, Witness FAS testified his statement was not re-read to him but he had spoken of the presence of a soldier, in addition to the *gendarmes*. When it was put to the witness that his statement made no reference to Nyiramasuhuko moving among the bodies of the refugees, Witness FAS repeated that his statement was not re-read to him.
- 1852. Witness FAS was unaware of any attack occurring at 5.30 a.m. or that soldiers ran out of ammunition around 7.30 a.m. ⁴⁷³¹ Witness FAS was unaware of whether the *bourgmestre* of his *commune* asked the Tutsis to gather at Mutunda Stadium at three o'clock. Witness FAS denied that thousands of refugees had been at Mutunda Stadium for several days and that the authorities had stopped the water supplies to the stadium. ⁴⁷³² Witness FAS was unaware of a meeting called by the *bourgmestre* on 21 April 1994 attended by all the people in the *commune*. ⁴⁷³³
- 1853. Witness FAS testified that Hategekimana was responsible for supervising the killings at the *cellule* level. He did not know who was responsible at the *commune* level. He witness FAS was involved in the killing of about 50 Tutsis in his home *cellule*. He had been described by the hategekimana was responsible for supervising the killings at the *commune* level. He will have the hategekimana was responsible for supervising the killings at the *cellule* level. He did not know who was responsible at the *commune* level. He will have the hategekimana was responsible for supervising the killings at the *cellule* level. He did not know who was responsible at the *commune* level. He did not know who was responsible a
- 1854. Witness FAS denied having killed people at Mutunda Stadium.⁴⁷³⁶ When it was put to him that his prior statement stated "we managed to stop those who attempted to flee and killed them with machetes and clubs", Witness FAS clarified that he and others killed three refugees fleeing from the stadium about two kilometres away from the stadium itself.⁴⁷³⁷ He explained that when he heard shots coming from the stadium in the afternoon, he went to the valley

⁴⁷²⁶ T. 29 April 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷²⁷ T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷²⁸ T. 29 April 2004 p. 50 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷²⁹ T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35-37 (Witness FAS); Defence Exhibit 232 (Nsabimana) (21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³⁰ T. 29 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS); Defence Exhibit 232 (Nsabimana) (21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³¹ T. 29 April 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³² T. 29 April 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³³ T. 29 April 2004 p. 50 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³⁴ T. 28 April 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 29 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³⁵ T. 28 April 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³⁶ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 50, 55-56 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷³⁷ T. 28 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness FAS); Defence Exhibit 232 (Nsabimana) (21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS).

where he saw Tutsi refugees fleeing the stadium for the forest. This is where he killed them. He testified that he killed these people because of their Tutsi ethnicity and because he was told to. 4738 Witness FAS testified that he was not accusing Nsabimana of incitement to go and kill, he was only testifying that Nsabimana was present with Nyiramasuhuko at Byiza. 4735

1855. Witness FAS testified that while Hutus and Tutsis together were defending their secteur at Gihindamuyaga, the situation changed after Nyiramasuhuko's meeting and after Hategekimana started sensitising people and exhorting them to kill Tutsis. 4740

1856. Witness FAS identified Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana in court. 4741

Prosecution Witness Ghandi Shukrv

1857. Ghandi Shukry testified that Prosecution Exhibit 40 showed video footage of Mbazi commune office and stadium taken on 22 February 2001. 4742 As the screen displayed 11:03, the video showed the road leading to Mbazi commune office and the front side of Mbazi commune office. Shukry stated that Mbazi Stadium was located approximately 400 to 500 metres from the commune office. 4743 At time 11:20 the video showed the stadium entrance and at time 11:30 the video showed the opposite side of the stadium entrance. ⁴⁷⁴⁴ At time 11:47, the video showed a view of the stadium from a different angle. The alleged mass grave was located behind and under the building shown, 150 metres away from the playground. 4745

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNJC

1858. Witness WZNJC, a Hutu student from Mbazi commune, 4746 testified that two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana, houses were set ablaze in Huve and Maraba communes. 4747 Therefore, pursuant to instructions issued by radio, members of the population in Mbazi commune, irrespective of their ethnicity, organised themselves to prevent unrest from spilling over in their *commune* and to repel any possible attacks. 4748

1859. Witness WZNJC stated that thereafter, Mbazi commune was attacked from all sides, including Huye and Maraba *communes*, so the members of the population split up into groups of 200 people. Each group went to places that were not secure. Along with others, Witness WZNJC went to the border between Maraba and Mbazi *communes* on two separate days. 4749

```
<sup>4738</sup> T. 28 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness FAS).
```

⁴⁷³⁹ T. 29 April 2004 p. 51 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷⁴⁰ T. 29 April 2004 p. 55 (Witness FAS). ⁴⁷⁴¹ T. 28 April 2004 p. 45 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁷⁴² T. 19 June 2001 pp. 104, 111 (Shukry); Prosecution Exhibit 40 (Video of Mbazi commune office and

⁴⁷⁴³ T. 19 June 2001 p. 105 (Shukry).

⁴⁷⁴⁴ T. 19 June 2001 p. 109 (Shukry).

⁴⁷⁴⁵ T. 19 June 2001 p. 110 (Shukry).

T. 17 February 2005 pp. 5-6 (Witness WZNJC); Defence Exhibit 270 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal

⁴⁷⁴⁷ T. 17 February 2005 p. 10 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁴⁸ T. 17 February 2005 p. 10; T. 17 February 2005 pp. 70-71 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁴⁹ T. 17 February 2005 p. 11 (Witness WZNJC).

- 1860. Witness WZNJC testified that the number of Tutsis who participated in the protection of Mbazi *commune* decreased as the days went by, and at some point, the Tutsis completely withdrew from the group. Thereafter, Tutsis left their houses and went to settle in various locations including churches and schools within the *commune*. Witness WZNJC did not know why the Tutsis ceased to take part in the protection of the *commune*.
- 1861. Witness WZNJC stated that Tutsis killed their Hutu neighbours in Mbazi; he knew certain Hutus who were killed in his area. Subsequently, about 500 Tutsis gathered at Mutunda Stadium. They were armed with the same weapons as other members of the population. Witness WZNJC testified that there was a confrontation between the Tutsis in the stadium and their attackers, a group of between 500 and 700 Hutus from the same *commune*. The stadium was not enclosed. The stadium was not enclosed.
- 1862. From his home close by on a hill opposite the stadium, 4758 Witness WZNJC could see the stadium and, during the confrontation, he heard explosions, gunshots and screaming from the stadium. 4759 At around 2.00 p.m., Witness WZNJC went to the stadium to see what was happening; he stayed 100 metres away from the stadium from where he observed an exchange of insults between the people outside the stadium and those inside the stadium. 4760 After 20 minutes he returned home without having seen any fighting. 4761 He could not observe the stadium again from his home because it was early evening and it was no longer easy to see the stadium at night. Witness WZNJC subsequently learned that, later in the evening, fighting resumed at the stadium. When it was put to Witness WZNJC that he would not have been able to see Nyiramasuhuko if she was at the stadium in the afternoon, he testified that he would have subsequently heard of her arrival.
- 1863. When Witness WZNJC observed the stadium the next morning he no longer saw anyone at the stadium. He believed that some people had died, or were lying on the ground dead. 4765
- 1864. Witness WZNJC lived close enough to the stadium to be able to hear loud noises from the stadium. 4766 Witness WZNJC did not hear any beating of drums on the eve or on the day of

```
T. 17 February 2005 p. 12; T. 17 February 2005 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 pp. 13, 39-40 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 p. 13 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 pp. 13-14; T. 17 February 2005 p. 74 (ICS); T. 21 February 2005 p. 4 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 p. 16 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 p. 16; T. 17 February 2005 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).
T. 21 February 2005 p. 5 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 p. 17; T. 17 February 2005 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 p. 17; T. 21 February 2005 p. 6 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 pp. 17-19, 81; T. 21 February 2005 pp. 14, 16 (Witness WZNJC).
T. 17 February 2005 pp. 17-19, 81; T. 21 February 2005 pp. 14, 16 (Witness WZNJC).
```

⁴⁷⁶¹ T. 17 February 2005 pp. 19, 81-82 (Witness WZNJC). ⁴⁷⁶² T. 17 February 2005 p. 20 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁶³ T. 17 February 2005 p. 19 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁶⁴ T. 17 February 2005 p. 83 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁶⁵ T. 17 February 2005 p. 20 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁷⁶⁶ T. 17 February 2005 p. 20; T. 17 February 2005 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).

the clash in Mutunda Stadium.⁴⁷⁶⁷ He did not see anyone in military uniform, policemen or *Interahamwe*.⁴⁷⁶⁸

1865. Witness WZNJC never heard that Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana came to Gihandamuyaga *secteur* on 18 April 1994 or that they had a meeting where it was decided that Tutsis should be chased out of the *commune* and their houses burnt, or that Nyiramasuhuko promised to supply weapons. He also did not see Nyiramasuhuko at the stadium or in its vicinity on the day that he went to the stadium or at any other time between April and July 1994. He also did not see Nyiramasuhuko at the stadium or in its vicinity on the day that he went to the stadium or at any other time between April and July 1994.

1866. When it was put to Witness WZNJC that the Tutsis at Mbazi Stadium were attacked by Hutus, Witness WZNJC testified that they may have been attacked because they had previously killed their Hutu neighbours in Mbazi. 4771

1867. Witness WZNJC could not remember the dates of the events in question. 4772

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness LHC

1868. Witness LHC, a Hutu teacher, 4773 stated that on 26 or 27 April 1994 approximately 500 Tutsis, from Mutunda Hill and other hills, gathered at Mutunda Stadium where they were attacked by Hutus from Huye *commune*. 4774 He could not be very sure of the precise date. Witness LHC testified that Mutunda Stadium was located on Mutunda Hill; some called it Mbazi Stadium as it was in Mbazi *commune*. The attack started at about 3.00 to 3.30 p.m. and ended at nightfall, around 6.00 to 6.30 p.m. Witness LHC was on the other side, opposite the Mutunda Stadium watching what was happening on Mutunda Hill. It appeared that the attack came from Huye *commune*. Of the small group of people who were in the stadium, some were armed with clubs and machetes.

1869. When it was put to Witness LHC that from his house, across another hill he could not see people meeting in the stadium, Witness LHC testified that he could see the stadium since there was no other hill between Mutunda Hill and the hill where he lived. 4781 When it was put to Witness LHC that Mbazi Stadium was surrounded by trees, Witness LHC disagreed. 4782

```
<sup>4767</sup> T. 17 February 2005 p. 28; T. 17 February 2005 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).
<sup>4768</sup> T. 17 February 2005 pp. 17-18 (Witness WZNJC).
<sup>4769</sup> T. 17 February 2005 pp. 62-63, 75 (ICS); T. 21 February 2005 p. 16 (Witness WZNJC).
<sup>4770</sup> T. 17 February 2005 p. 28 (Witness WZNJC).
<sup>4771</sup> T. 21 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness WZNJC).
4772 T. 17 February 2005 pp. 69-70 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).
T. 15 February 2005 p. 41; T. 16 February 2005 p. 33 (Witness LHC); Prosecution Exhibit 269 (Personal
Particulars).
<sup>4774</sup> T. 15 February 2005 pp. 71-72; T. 16 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (ICS); T. 21 February 2005 p. 43 (ICS)
(Witness LHC).
<sup>4775</sup> T. 16 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness LHC).
<sup>4776</sup> T. 15 February 2005 p. 70 (Witness LHC).
4777 T. 15 February 2005 p. 73 (Witness LHC).
<sup>4778</sup> T. 15 February 2005 p. 72; T. 16 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness LHC).
<sup>4779</sup> T. 15 February 2005 p. 70 (Witness LHC).
<sup>4780</sup> T. 15 February 2005 p. 72 (Witness LHC).
<sup>4781</sup> T. 16 February 2005 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness LHC).
```

⁴⁷⁸² T. 16 February 2005 p. 59 (ICS); T. 21 February 2005 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness LHC).

When Witness LHC was shown Prosecution Exhibit 40 (videotape of Mbazi Stadium), he agreed that there were old trees at 11:22 of the video that would have existed in 1994. 4783

1870. Witness LHC did not know of any instructions issued by the *bourgmestre* to assemble the local Tutsi population in the stadium. Witness LHC did not hear any beating of drums on the eve or on the day of the clash in Mutunda Stadium. Witness LHC testified that on the eve of the confrontation at Mutunda Stadium, he had not seen Nyiramasuhuko or the *bourgmestre* of Mbazi *commune*, Antoine Sibomana, at Byiza, an area adjacent to the stadium.

1871. He stated that no one in military uniform took part in the attack, which was undertaken only by people in civilian clothing. The day after the confrontation, Witness LHC saw dead bodies at the stadium. He subsequently heard that people had gone out to collect the dead bodies. Witness LHC did not see Nyiramasuhuko walking among the bodies the day after the confrontation.

Innocent Rutavisire

1872. Innocent Rutayisire, a Hutu trader,⁴⁷⁹¹ testified that between 15 and 17 April 1994 *Bourgmestre* Sibomana asked both Hutu and Tutsi members of the population to defend the *commune's* border in order to repel attacks from Hutus from Maraba *commune* who wanted to cause insecurity in their *commune*.⁴⁷⁹²

1873. Between 21 and 25 April 1994, massacres started from Ndumyaga and Maraba in Mbazi *commune*, specifically at the Mbazi Stadium which was called Mutunda, located approximately five kilometres from the witness' house. They woke up in the morning to the explosion of grenades. They were later told by youth who had gone to the stadium that Gatwaza and soldiers of Ngoma camp had killed the Tutsis at the stadium. Those Tutsis were from various *secteurs* of Mbazi *commune* and had sought the protection of the *bourgmestre*. Gatwaza was a corporal who was working at Ngoma camp and lived in Gahenerezo, at the border between Ngoma and Huye *communes*. 4795

⁴⁷⁸³ T. 21 February 2005 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁴ T. 16 February 2005 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁵ T. 15 February 2005 p. 75 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁶ T. 15 February 2005 p. 74; T. 16 February 2005 p. 32 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁷ T. 15 February 2005 p. 73 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁸ T. 15 February 2005 p. 74 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁸⁹ T. 15 February 2005 p. 75 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁹⁰ T. 15 February 2005 p. 74 (Witness LHC).

⁴⁷⁹¹ T. 2 October 2006 pp. 8-9 (Rutayisire); Defence Exhibit 478 (Nsabimana) (Personal Particulars) (Partially Under Seal: T. 2 October 2006 p. 83 (ICS)).

⁴⁷⁹² T. 2 October 2006 p. 22 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁷⁹³ T. 2 October 2006 pp. 72-73; T. 3 October 2006 p. 61; T. 4 October 2006 p. 9 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁷⁹⁴ T. 2 October 2006 p. 72 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁷⁹⁵ T. 2 October 2006 p. 73 (Rutayisire).

1874. Rutayisire testified that he did not learn about a meeting which allegedly took place at the Mutunda Stadium between Nsabimana, Nyiramasuhuko and Sibomana. In the period 19 April to 1 May 1994 Rutayisire did not leave his *commune* because of ongoing killings. 4797

Nyiramasuhuko

1875. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she never went to Byiza, close to Mutunda Stadium in Mbazi, and never had a meeting with Nsabimana, Gérard Hategekimana, François Sinzabakwira and Antoine Sibomana to discuss the killing of Tutsi refugees at Mutunda Stadium or elsewhere. She never went to Mutunda Stadium where refugees were killed or walked over the bodies of the victims in April 1994.

Nsabimana

1876. Nsabimana testified that from 6 April until 19 April 1994 he was at his home in Mbazi *commune* and did not leave his house until the morning of 19 April 1994 when he went to Butare which was about two kilometres away. ⁴⁷⁹⁹ Nsabimana testified that on 20 or 21 April 1994, while on his way to the *commune* office, he saw a lot of people running towards Mutunda Stadium although at that time no people were gathered at the stadium. ⁴⁸⁰⁰

April 1994 around 7.00 or 8.00 p.m., at a bar in Mbazi. *4801 He later testified that the meeting occurred on the evening of 25 April 1994. *4802 He initially met with *Bourgmestre* Sibomana to discuss the provision of beans. However, while at the bar the *bourgmestre* told Nsabimana that he had spent the whole day organising the burial of people who had been killed at Mutunda on 25 or 26 April 1994. *4803 The *bourgmestre* did not tell him where the killings occurred, but Nsabimana understood he was referring to killings around the stadium. *4804 According to *Bourgmestre* Sibomana*, at 5.00 a.m. on the day of the attack, a vehicle came from Dihindamuyaga *4805 and stopped 800 metres from the stadium at a place called Ndobogo. People came to the stadium and started to launch grenades on the refugees there. *4806 The *bourgmestre* told Nsabimana that a soldier called Gatwaza was responsible for the attack at Mutunda Stadium, together with some people living in Mutunda centre in Mbazi *commune*.

⁴⁷⁹⁶ T. 2 October 2006 p. 73; T. 3 October 2006 p. 9 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁷⁹⁷ T. 3 October 2006 p. 37 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁷⁹⁸ T. 29 September 2005 p. 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁷⁹⁹ T. 6 November 2006 pp. 74-75; T. 22 November 2006 pp. 26, 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰⁰ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 3-5 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰¹ T. 13 September 2006 p. 65; T. 14 September 2006 p. 5; T. 18 September 2006 pp. 14, 16; T. 6 November 2006 p. 74 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰² T. 28 November 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰³ T. 18 September 2006 p. 16; T. 28 November 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰⁴ T. 18 September 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰⁵ This Judgement adopts the spelling "Dihindamuyaga" found in the English transcript. The Chamber notes, however, that the French transcript spells the same name "Gihindamuyaga".

⁴⁸⁰⁶ T. 18 September 2006 p. 17 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰⁷ T. 18 September 2006 pp. 18-19 (Nsabimana).

The people in the stadium were refugees but he did not know why they had gathered there. He had no idea how many people were killed at the stadium. 4809

1878. Nsabimana testified that he did not meet *Bourgmestre* Sibomana in Mbazi before these events, nor was there a meeting with Nyiramasuhuko, Sibomana and others around the stadium before the Mutunda killings. 4810

3.6.13.4 Deliberations

1879. The Chamber notes that at the time of his testimony, Witness FAS was a detainee in Rwanda. He had been arrested on 15 February 1995 and released on 1 February 2003 pursuant to a decree of the President that those who had pled guilty and had served more than half their sentence should be freed. Pursuant to Rwandan law, Witness FAS spent three months in a solidarity camp and then went home on 5 May 2003. In December 2003, Witness FAS was re-arrested on the same charges, convicted and sentenced to 12 years in prison by a Rwandan court. In a judgement rendered by a Rwandan court on 4 December 2003, he was found guilty of the two killings committed in Cyayove *cellule* to which he had previously confessed but he was also convicted of killings to which he did not confess, including killings at Mutunda Stadium, looting and arson. Because of the fact that Witness FAS was detained again, this time by reason of his involvement in killings at Mutunda Stadium, the Chamber considers that he may have an incentive to implicate the Accused in order to diminish his own responsibility for the killings for which he was convicted. In fact, Witness FAS testified that he killed Tutsis because he was taught to. Therefore, his testimony will be treated with appropriate caution.

3.6.13.4.1 Meeting at Mutunda Stadium, Around 18 April 1994

1880. Witness FAS was the sole witness to testify about a meeting between Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana held just prior to the Mutunda Stadium killings. Witness FAS alleged that from his position outside the stadium fence, he listened to the authorities and heard Nyiramasuhuko, in the presence of Nteziryayo, Gérard Hategekimana and François Sinzabakwira, tell the *bourgmestre* of Mbazi *commune*, Antoine Sibomana, to "let the people kill these snakes, the Tutsi and all those who looked like Tutsi". 4817 Witness FAS stated that he was four metres away from Nyiramasuhuko, at that time. 4818 In contrast to his testimony, in his previous

⁴⁸⁰⁸ T. 18 September 2006 p. 19 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁰⁹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸¹⁰ T. 18 September 2006 pp. 16-17; T. 19 September 2006 p. 33 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸¹¹ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 27-28; T. 29 April 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹² T. 28 April 2004 pp. 47-48 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹³ T. 28 April 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹⁴ T. 28 April 2004 p. 49; T. 29 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹⁵ November 1999, Confession to Rwandan Authorities, disclosed 12 November 2001 in French and Kinyarwanda and 13 November 2001 in English; T. 28 April 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹⁶ T. 28 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹⁷ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 34-35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸¹⁸ T. 28 April 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAS).

statement of 21 February 2001 Witness FAS stated that he remained outside the stadium and heard nothing that might have been said by the authorities.⁴⁸¹⁹

1881. Asked about this discrepancy, Witness FAS testified that at the time, he did not want to tell the Prosecution investigators that he had been present because he did not want "those people" to know that he had been with those officials.⁴⁸²⁰ The Chamber does not consider this to be a plausible explanation. This discrepancy between his earlier statement and his testimony is significant enough to render his evidence on this specific event unreliable.

1882. In addition, the Chamber is not convinced by Witness FAS' account that he allegedly met the listed personalities on the road at Byiza, not far from Mutunda Stadium, ⁴⁸²¹ or that he followed them to Mutunda Stadium where he overheard their discussions. ⁴⁸²² Witness FAS' testimony in this regard was vague, lacking in detail and strikes the Chamber as implausible.

1883. Having regard therefore to the significant discrepancy concerning Witness FAS' overhearing of discussions that occurred at Mutunda Stadium, in addition to his implausible account as to how he met the authorities in question, the Prosecution has, therefore, failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that *inter alia*, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana met at Mutunda Stadium, Mbazi *commune* on or around 18 April 1994 and held a meeting which furthered the alleged conspiracy to exterminate Tutsis.

3.6.13.4.2 Killing of Tutsis at Mutunda Stadium, Around 25-27 April 1994

1884. The Chamber finds credible the testimonies of Witnesses FAS and WZNJC that around two weeks after the death of Habyarimana, unrest unfolded in Mbazi's neighbouring *communes*, including Maraba. To ensure security within the *commune*, members of the population of Mbazi comprising Hutus, Tutsis and Twas, went to the border with Maraba to prevent assailants and wrongdoers [from Maraba] from entering Mbazi. The evidence also established that shortly after, Tutsis, mainly from Mbazi, went to settle at Mutunda Stadium in Mbazi *commune*. The presence of Tutsis at Mutunda Stadium was corroborated by Witness LHC.

⁴⁸¹⁹ See Defence Exhibit 232 (Nsabimana) (21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS).

⁴⁸²⁰ T. 29 April 2004 pp. 24-26 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸²¹ T. 28 April 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸²² T. 28 April 2004 pp. 34-35; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸²³ T. 28 April 2004 p. 29 (Witness FAS); T. 29 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness FAS); T. 17 February 2005 p. 10 (Witness WZNIC)

⁽Witness WZNJC).

4824 T. 28 April 2004 pp. 29-30, 57-59 (Witness FAS); T. 17 February 2005 p. 10 (Witness WZNJC); T. 17 February 2005 pp. 70-71 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC); T. 2 October 2006 p. 22 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁸²⁵ T. 17 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness WZNJC); T. 28 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS); T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸²⁶ T. 15 February 2005 pp. 71-72; T. 16 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (ICS); T. 21 February 2005 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness LHC).

1885. However, the evidence differs as to the number of Tutsis who gathered at the stadium. Witness FAS mentioned about 3,000 individuals, whereas Witneses WZNJC and LHC estimated that there were around 500 people. 4827

1886. The Chamber accepts that Witness FAS was present during the attacks and had firsthand knowledge of the event given that Witness FAS was convicted based upon his participation in the killings at Mutunda Stadium. Further, Defence witnesses corroborated aspects of Witness FAS' testimony about events at Mutunda Stadium. For example, Witness FAS' sighting of Gatwaza at Mutunda Stadium was corroborated by both Nsabimana's and Rutayisire's hearsay testimony claiming that a soldier by the name of Gatwaza was responsible for the attack at Mutunda Stadium. 4828 The Chamber thus accepts that Witness FAS was present at the stadium and for this reason finds his estimate that there were 3,000 Tutsis at the stadium credible. In contrast, both Witnesses WZNJC and LHC based their estimates on what they observed from a certain distance from Mutunda Stadium. 4829

1887. Based on the evidence of Witnesses FAS, WZNJC, LHC and Nsabimana, it is not disputed that Tutsis who gathered at Mutunda Stadium were attacked in April 1994, resulting in the deaths of some members of the group. 4830 However, there is a discrepancy in respect of when the event occurred. While Witness FAS admitted he placed this event on 19 April 1994 in his written statement, he testified that these dates were estimates and he could not be sure whether his encounter with the authorities occurred on 18 or 19 April 1994. He also was not sure if the killings actually occurred on 25 April 1994, although he later testified that it would not be right to say that the killings occurred on 25 April 1994. 4832

1888. While Witness WZNJC could not remember the dates of the events in question, 4833 a review of the timeline of events he recounted in his testimony makes clear that the Mutunda attacks occurred after the general unrest in the *commune*⁴⁸³⁴ which he estimated occurred two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana.⁴⁸³⁵ Thus, according to Witness WZNJC, the Mutunda attacks occurred some time after 18 April 1994. According to Rutayisire, massacres started in Mbazi commune and specifically at Mutunda Stadium between 21 and 25 April 1994, 4836 whereas Witnesses LHC and Nsabimana place it around 25 to 27 April 1994. 4837 In

⁴⁸²⁷ T. 28 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS); T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS); T. 15 February 2005 pp. 71-72 (Witness LHC); T. 17 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness WZNJC).

4828 T. 28 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS); T. 2 October 2006 p. 72 (Rutayisire); T. 18 September 2006 pp. 18-19

⁽Nsabimana).

4829 T. 17 February 2005 p. 17 (Witness WZNJC); T. 17 February 2005 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC); T. 15 February 2005 p. 72 (Witness LHC); T. 16 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness LHC).

⁴⁸³⁰ T. 28 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAS); T. 17 February 2005 p. 16 (Witness WZNJC); T. 17 February 2005 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC); T. 15 February 2005 pp. 71-72 (Witness LHC); T. 16 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness LHC); T. 18 September 2006 pp. 16-17 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁸³¹ T. 29 April 2004 pp. 34-35 (Witness FAS); Defence Exhibit 232 (Nsabimana) (21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAS).

⁴⁸³² T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35, 50-51 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸³³ T. 17 February 2005 pp. 69-70 (ICS) (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁸³⁴ T. 17 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁸³⁵ T. 17 February 2005 p. 10 (Witness WZNJC).

⁴⁸³⁶ T. 2 October 2006 pp. 72-73; T. 3 October 2006 p. 61; T. 4 October 2006 p. 9 (Rutayisire).

⁴⁸³⁷ T. 16 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness LHC); T. 18 September 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana); T. 28 November 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

view of the corroborated evidence of Witnesses LHC, WZNJC, Rutayisire and Nsabimana, the Chamber considers that the killings of Tutsis at Mutunda Stadium occurred on or around 25-27 April 1994. In any case, the Chamber accepts Witness FAS' explanation that the date of 19 April 1994 that he put forward as the time of the killing of Tutsis at Mutunda Stadium was only an estimate and that the actual time frame of this attack is around 25 to 27 April 1994.

1889. With regard to Nyiramasuhuko's alleged presence during the killings, the Chamber notes that Witness FAS is the sole witness to claim to have seen Nyiramasuhuko at Mutunda Stadium on the evening of the attack. Witness FAS testified that at that time, Nyiramasuhuko was in the company of certain persons, including a soldier called Gatwaza, and that Nyiramasuhuko was moving among the dead bodies. Nyiramasuhuko denied her presence. 4840

1890. The Chamber recalls the discrepancy between Witness FAS' testimony and his written statement concerning Nyiramasuhuko's presence. In his written statement Witness FAS stated that he saw Nyiramasuhuko at Mutunda Stadium when he went there on the morning of 19 April 1994 at which time she was walking among the refugees. At trial, Witness FAS testified that he did not see Nyiramasuhuko or any *commune* police at the stadium when he went in the morning. Rather, he saw Nyiramasuhuko, together with *gendarmes*, *commune* policemen and a soldier called Gatwaza from Gahenerezo when he returned to the stadium in the afternoon or evening of 19 April 1994. At that time, Nyiramasuhuko was moving among the dead bodies and she said something that Witness FAS could not hear given the distance between the authorities and Witness FAS himself. Health

1891. When this discrepancy was put to the witness, Witness FAS testified that he did not specify whether he saw Nyiramasuhuko at Mutunda Stadium in the morning or afternoon. The Chamber rejects this explanation considering it is clearly contradictory to the testimony just cited.

1892. Accordingly, notwithstanding the Chamber's view that the attack at Mutunda Stadium occurred and that Witness FAS was present at the stadium during the attack, the Chamber is of the opinion that Witness FAS' contradictory and uncorroborated evidence as to Nyiramasuhuko's presence is not sufficiently reliable to ground a finding of fact beyond a reasonable doubt. As such, it is not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko was present at Mutunda Stadium on the evening of the attack.

1893. As concerns Nsabimana, Witness FAS never testified that Nsabimana was present during the killings at Mutunda Stadium. In fact, he testified that he was not accusing Nsabimana of incitement to kill, he was only testifying that Nsabimana was present with Nyiramasuhuko during the meeting at Byiza. Given that the Prosecution did not charge

⁴⁸³⁸ T. 29 April 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸³⁹ T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸⁴⁰ T. 29 September 2005 p. 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁴⁸⁴¹ T. 29 April 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸⁴² T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸⁴³ T. 28 April 2004 p. 38; T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸⁴⁴ T. 29 April 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAS).

⁴⁸⁴⁵ T. 29 April 2004 p. 51 (Witness FAS).

Nsabimana for any alleged role in the killings that occurred at Mutunda Stadium pursuant to Article 6 (1), the Chamber is not presently required to make any finding in this respect.

3.6.14 Meetings After Security Committee Press Release, 26-28 April 1994

3.6.14.1 *Introduction*

1894. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment allege that from late 1990 to July 1994, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, together with others, allegedly adhered to and executed this plan and in doing so, organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. The Nsabimana Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his *bourgmestres*, including at least one convened by Nyiramasuhuko in April 1994, during which the progress of the massacres was discussed as well as the means by which to complete them. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that Kanyabashi held a meeting in Ngoma Parish in late April 1994 during which he gave assurances that the massacres were over. Tutsis who were fleeing the killings sought refuge in Ngoma Parish Church and were later killed.

1895. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings in Butare préfecture during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. Nsabimana's role in the conspiracy to commit genocide was, inter alia, to convene and attend meetings to give effect to the plan. The Prosecution argues that Nsabimana reached an agreement with his co-conspirators to kill Tutsis in Butare. 4849 It submits that one aspect of Nsabimana's meeting activities involved implementing the Interim Government's campaign of pacification or restoring security. 4850 In this connection, the Prosecution points to a press release dated 25 April 1994 addressed to the inhabitants of Ngoma commune in which Nsabimana ordered security meetings to be held at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994 for the inhabitants of Butare-ville secteur; at Ngoma Parish football field on 27 April 1994 for the inhabitants of Ngoma and Matyazo secteurs; and in Rango on 28 April 1994 for the inhabitants of Cyarwa, Nkubi and Sahera *secteurs*. 4851 The Prosecution claims that these meetings demonstrate that Nsabimana was aware of the killings of Tutsis in Butare préfecture. Nsabimana and Kanyabashi organised the meeting of 27 April 1994 at the Ngoma Parish football field where the attendees were informed that residents would be expected to participate in patrolling and guarding roadblocks. Another meeting was alleged to have taken place on 27 April 1994, during which President Sindikubwabo told the préfecture Security Committee to bring the killings under greater control. 4853 The Prosecution contends

⁴⁸⁴⁶ Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁴⁸⁴⁷ Para. 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

⁴⁸⁴⁸ Para. 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-9).

⁴⁸⁴⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 230-232, paras. 9, 14-15.

⁴⁸⁵⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 245-248, paras. 55-62.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 245, para. 57; Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *Commune*, 25 April 1994).

⁴⁸⁵² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 246, paras. 57-58; p. 394, para. 29.

⁴⁸⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 246, para. 58.

that the aim of the press release issued after that meeting on 27 April 1994 was not to restore security but rather to involve as many people as possible in the killing of Tutsis. 4854

1896. The Prosecution also submits that Kanyabashi's role in the genocide conspiracy was, *inter alia*, to attend meetings, give instructions to kill Tutsis in hiding and use his position and power to incite the population to join in the killings.⁴⁸⁵⁵

1897. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges and Witnesses RL and QA. Ntahobali also gave evidence against Kanyabashi and Nsabimana.

1898. In addition to its submissions on vagueness of Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, considered below, the Nsabimana Defence challenges the reliability of Alison Des Forges, contending that the press release dated 25 April 1994 was an initiative of the *préfet* of Butare to control the massacres and was not an instrument to implement directives of the Interim Government. According to the Nsabimana Defence, the aim of the meetings of 26, 27 and 28 April 1994 was to condemn the killings and appeal for calm. Furthermore, it asserts the press release dated 27 April 1994 made no distinction between Hutus and Tutsis and therefore could not be interpreted as encouraging the killing of Tutsis; on the contrary, its aim was to stop attacks on Tutsis.

1899. In addition to its submissions on the vagueness of the Kanyabashi Indictment, considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution has failed to prove that meetings to plan the genocide took place or that Kanyabashi participated in any conspiracy. 4860 It asserts that Kanyabashi's character was such that he would not have involved himself in the planning of genocide. 4861

1900. In support of their submissions, the Nsabimana Defence and Kanyabashi Defence rely on Kanyabashi Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens, Nyiramasuhuko Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-14-W, D-2-5-I and D-2-13-D, Nsabimana Defence Witnesses BE and Charles Karemano and Nsabimana.

3.6.14.2 Preliminary Issues

1901. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is impermissibly vague because it does not give an indication of the meeting dates, venues, attendees or the number of meetings. It also argues that Paragraph 6.28 does not

⁴⁸⁵⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 53-55, paras. 87, 92; p. 246, para. 58; Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994).

⁴⁸⁵⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

⁴⁸⁵⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 394-395, paras. 29, 32.

⁴⁸⁵⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 727; Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *Commune*, 25 April 1994).

⁴⁸⁵⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1845-1856.

⁴⁸⁵⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 747-748; Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994).

⁴⁸⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 21, 41, 248-278.

⁴⁸⁶¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 29.

⁴⁸⁶² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 727-766, 1845-1856; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 43-56.

clearly state whether the progress of the massacres and the means by which to complete them was discussed during all of the meetings, or only at the meeting or meetings convened by Nyiramasuhuko. 4863

1902. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nsabimana participated in other meetings with his *bourgmestres*, including one meeting called by Nyiramasuhuko, where the progress and means to complete the massacres were discussed. The Chamber observes that this paragraph fails to indicate the number and dates of the alleged meetings, although it specifies that the participants at such meetings are said to have been *bourgmestres*. As regards the purpose of the meetings, a plain reading of Paragraph 6.28 suggests that the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was only discussed at a single meeting which was convened by Nyiramasuhuko. However, Paragraph 6.28 refers to meetings in the plural. Accordingly, there is confusion as to how many meetings Nsabimana participated in, how many were convened by Nyiramasuhuko and what was discussed at the meetings. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraph 6.28 was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

1903. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes: (1) In relation to the alleged meeting at Huve Stadium on 26 April 1994. no information was provided, either in the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or in witnesses' prior statements. The Chamber thus finds that Nsabimana was not put on notice of this specific allegation; (2) In relation to the alleged meeting at Ngoma football field on 27 April 1994, the Chamber notes that in the summary for Witness FAR included in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, it is alleged that on or about 20 April 1994, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi addressed a meeting at Ngoma football field, where Nsabimana spoke about erecting roadblocks and arming the population. 4864 Also the summary for Witness FAC makes reference, though more generally, to a meeting held in Ngoma commune on about 25 April 1994 and addressed by, inter alia, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi. During this meeting, Kanyabashi allegedly said that all the Tutsis who were hiding should come out because peace had been restored; however, as soon as they assembled at the *secteur* office, they were all killed. Witness FAC's previous statement of 23 February 2000 contains an account of a similar meeting, though it omits reference to the meeting's date or location. 4866 The Chamber notes that Witnesses FAR's and FAC's accounts on this issue are not entirely consistent; however, it takes into account the proximity in the dates and the location of the alleged meetings, and the consistency as to the identity of the alleged participants, and thus finds that Witness FAC's account is corroborative of Witness FAR's anticipated evidence on a meeting held at Ngoma football field. Also the summary of Witness RL's anticipated testimony refers to Kanyabashi addressing a crowd of *Interahamwe* around the end of April at Ngoma Church, thanking them for their work and urging them to look for and kill hidden Tutsis; however, it does not mention Nsabimana's presence at this event. 4867 The Chamber finds that combined information contained in Witnesses FAC's and FAR's

⁴⁸⁶³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-335.

⁴⁸⁶⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAR (27).

⁴⁸⁶⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix. Witness FAC (15).

⁴⁸⁶⁶ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAC, disclosed 4 December 2000.

⁴⁸⁶⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RL (70).

summaries included in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief were sufficient to give adequate notice to Nsabimana about his alleged participation at a meeting held on or about 27 April at the Ngoma football field, and he was able to prepare his defence. Therefore, the defects in the Indictment are cured with respect to this specific allegation; and (3) In relation to the alleged meeting at Rango on 28 April 1994, no information was provided, either in the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or in witnesses' prior statements. The Chamber thus finds that Nsabimana was not put on notice of this specific allegation.

1904. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that besides the specific incidents mentioned in Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, this paragraph is too general and fails to inform the Accused of the acts he is alleged to have committed. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.45 describes the alleged actions attributed to Kanyabashi, *i.e.* that he encouraged and instructed people to search for Tutsis and exterminate them. It also specifies the persons to whom such encouragement or instructions were directed, *i.e.* soldiers, militiamen and members of the public. However, it fails to provide any details of specific incidents that took place at the end of April 1994, the location of such incidents, what was said and the impact of such statements. The Chamber therefore considers Paragraph 6.45 to be defective. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraph 6.45 was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

1905. The Chamber observes that in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Witness FAR was expected to testify as to a meeting in the latter half of April 1994, where Nsabimana and Kanyabashi addressed a crowd of 1,000 people at the Ngoma football field. Kanyabashi reportedly told the attendees to follow orders and not to confuse the enemy. In the same document, Witness QA's intended testimony included the allegation that Kanyabashi convened a meeting in Ngoma Parish during which he announced that the killings had stopped and that those in hiding had nothing to fear. The Chamber notes that Witness FAR's previous statement of 21 February 2001 is reasonably consistent with the summary of his expected testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief although he places the event as having occurred in May rather than April 1994. Similarly, Witness QA's previous statement of 14 May 1996 states that Kanyabashi convened a meeting at which he said that the killings had stopped and that those in hiding had nothing to fear. However, the witness contended that this meeting took place in May 1994.

1906. In light of the above, the Chamber considers that the Kanyabashi Defence received sufficient notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence on a meeting at Ngoma Parish during which Kanyabashi addressed the crowd using words that, having regard to the Prosecution's overall case, could be regarded as inflammatory in Butare in 1994. Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the defects in Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment have been cured.

-

⁴⁸⁶⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 313.

⁴⁸⁶⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAR (29).

⁴⁸⁷⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAR (33).

⁴⁸⁷¹ 21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAR, disclosed 14 March 2001.

⁴⁸⁷² 14 May 1996, Statement of Witness QA, disclosed 4 December 2000.

3.6.14.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QA

1907. Witness QA, a Hutu former member of the PSD party, testified that at the end of May 1994, a meeting was held at the *secteur* office in the courtyard of Ngoma Parish. In cross-examination, he clarified that the meeting was held on the football pitch next to Ngoma Church. Approximately 1,200 people from Ngoma and Matyazo *secteurs* were present. Kanyabashi and Nsabimana were in attendance. The meeting had been convened by Kanyabashi, who was first to take the floor. Kanyabashi announced that the killings had stopped and that no one was entitled to kill; anyone who did kill would be shot. Nsabimana spoke next, confirmed what had been said by Kanyabashi and added that things had to continue as planned, as the President had announced. The witness claimed that the audience did not understand Nsabimana's message as it conflicted with that of Kanyabashi.

1908. Witness QA testified that after the meeting, he came to realise that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi's address had a special meaning; their intention was for those who attended the meeting to finish the job they had started and flush people out. ⁴⁸⁸¹ Nsabimana's speech was not a recommendation to stop the killings but rather code for saying that the killings had stopped but that things should continue as planned. ⁴⁸⁸² That night, people who had taken refuge in Ngoma Church, which was located about 10 metres away, were killed. ⁴⁸⁸³

1909. When recalled to testify, Witness QA confirmed that he had made a statement before a Canadian Rogatory Committee concerning Nsabimana's address to the attendees of the meeting that took place at the end of May 1994 at the Ngoma Parish football pitch. The witness told the committee that Nsabimana said that the killings that had taken place at the Ngoma Parish were the last and if anyone else was to be arrested for killing, he himself would be shot. Nsabimana also urged those in hiding to come out. The witness admitted that on the request of two named individuals, he gave false testimony to the Chamber in 2004, in which he stated that Nsabimana had also told the meeting attendees to continue with the scheduled programme, as announced by the President. He stated that only a few aspects of his original testimony were true; most of his original testimony was a lie.

```
<sup>4873</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QA).
<sup>4874</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 53 (Witness QA).
<sup>4875</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 61 (Witness QA) (French).
<sup>4876</sup> T. 22 March 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QA).
<sup>4877</sup> T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8, 73-74 (Witness QA).
<sup>4878</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness QA).
<sup>4879</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 8; T. 22 March 2004 p. 9 (Witness QA) (French).
<sup>4880</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness QA).
<sup>4881</sup> T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness QA).
<sup>4882</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness QA).
<sup>4883</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 54 (Witness QA).
<sup>4884</sup> T. 30 October 2008 pp. 20-21 (Witness QA).
<sup>4885</sup> T. 30 October 2008 p. 21 (Witness QA).
<sup>4886</sup> T. 30 October 2008 p. 21 (Witness OA).
<sup>4887</sup> T. 30 October 2008 pp. 22-23; T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).
<sup>4888</sup> T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness OA).
```

1910. Witness QA testified that he knew Nsabimana before the 1994 events as a member of his party, the PSD.⁴⁸⁸⁹ He identified Nsabimana in court.⁴⁸⁹⁰ He also testified that he knew Kanyabashi before 1994 and identified him in court.⁴⁸⁹¹

Prosecution Witness RL

- 1911. Witness RL, a Tutsi who was 13 years old in 1994, testified that between two weeks and a half and three weeks after the death of the President, in April 1994, he fled to Ngoma Church. When he arrived, there were not many Tutsi refugees, although the number later increased. Five or six days after his arrival, at the beginning of May 1994, the refugees were attacked and killed by soldiers and the *Interahamwe*.
- 1912. Between five days and one week after the attack, Kanyabashi held a meeting in the church grounds which was attended by approximately 1,000 *Interahamwe*. Witness RL was inside the church when the meeting took place and observed events through ventilation holes in the concrete walls of the church. He did not hear everything that Kanyabashi said during his address. The witness was shown a photograph of the interior of Ngoma Church. On the photograph, he identified a ventilation space between the roof of the church and the top of the right-hand side exterior wall, from which he said he witnessed the meeting. He explained that he climbed up to his viewing position using the blocks that protruded from the wall near the back of the church. Kanyabashi used a megaphone to address the crowd and urged the *Interahamwe* and the *conseiller* to spread the news that peace had returned and that there would be no more killings. On another photograph of the area of ground adjacent to the church with the church in the background, the witness identified where Kanyabashi stood when he delivered his speech and where the witness had observed the events.
- 1913. On cross-examination, the witness stated that he did not see or hear a new *préfet* being introduced to the crowd during the meeting nor did he hear Kanyabashi say that people should stop killing each other and should live in harmony. He also said that he did not see any meetings near the church prior to the attack during which he was injured. 4903

```
<sup>4889</sup> T. 22 March 2004 p. 9 (Witness QA).
```

⁴⁸⁹⁰ T. 22 March 2004 p. 9 (Witness QA).

⁴⁸⁹¹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79; T. 22 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QA).

⁴⁸⁹² T. 25 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹³ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84-85 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹⁴ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84, 86 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹⁶ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹⁷ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

⁴⁸⁹⁸ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 13-16 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church).

Ngoma Church).

4899 T. 29 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church)

⁴⁹⁰⁰ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL).

⁴⁹⁰¹ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 97 (Photograph of the exterior of Ngoma Church and adjoining field).

⁴⁹⁰² T. 30 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness RL).

⁴⁹⁰³ T. 30 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness RL).

1914. Witness RL testified that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* before 1994, but he did not know his first name. 4904 The witness had seen Kanyabashi on several occasions before and after President Habyarimana's death. 4905 Before the President's death, he saw Kanyabashi at the stadium and the *secteur* office when he convened meetings, along the road whenever he received authorities from other areas, and driving a Peugeot 305. 4906 The witness identified Kanyabashi in court. 4907 In cross-examination, the witness was confronted with the assertion that he may have mistaken Cyriaque Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi at the scene of a massacre at Ngoma Church. 4908 Moreover, counsel contended that the witness' description of Habyarabatuma matched that of Kanyabashi in 1994. 4909 In response, the witness stated that in 1994 Kanyabashi had white hair and was wearing a suit and he could not say anything else about his appearance. 4910 In re-examination, the witness acknowledged that he had seen Habyarabatuma prior to the 1994 events. 4911 Habyarabatuma's complexion was darker than Kanyabashi's and he had a large head. 4912 The witness testified that there is "no way" he would mistake Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi because he knew both of them. 4913 Even though he was still a child in 1994, Habyarabatuma and Kanyabashi held positions of authority – one used to come and hold meetings with the people and the other would be present whenever there was a search. 4914

1915. Witness RL testified that he was not a member of any survivors' groups nor had he ever attended any trial in Rwanda concerning the events that occurred in Ngoma and Matyazo in 1994. 4915

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

1916. Alison Des Forges testified that during a meeting of the Security Council on 23 April 1994, the Interim Government decided on its policy of pacification or restoration of security. This policy was officially communicated via the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 118B. She testified that in response, Nsabimana issued a press release to the inhabitants of Ngoma *commune* on 25 April 1994 in which he directed three meetings to take place at particular venues on specified dates. In cross-examination, Des Forges was questioned as to how the press release issued by Nsabimana on 25 April 1994 could implement the Government's subsequent instruction on

```
4904 T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).
4905 T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).
4906 T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).
4907 T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).
4908 T. 30 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness RL).
4909 T. 30 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness RL).
4910 T. 30 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness RL).
4911 T. 30 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RL).
4912 T. 30 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RL).
4913 T. 30 March 2004 p. 49-50 (Witness RL).
4914 T. 30 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RL).
4915 T. 29 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness RL).
4916 T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).
4917 T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).
4918 T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).
4918 T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).
```

pacification dated 27 April 1994.⁴⁹¹⁹ Des Forges explained that the press release of 25 April 1994 confirmed the earlier decision taken at the meeting of the Council of Ministers, on 23 April 1994, on the pacification policy.⁴⁹²⁰ Des Forges responded that at the 23 April 1994 meeting, Nyiramasuhuko was assigned the responsibility of implementing the pacification campaign to Butare *préfecture* and she was often present there.⁴⁹²¹

1917. Des Forges gave evidence on the minutes of a meeting held on 26 April 1994, which she obtained from the Butare *préfecture* office. She said that the meeting took place pursuant to the press release from Nsabimana of the previous day, and stated that it resulted in the detailed organisation of patrols and roadblocks in Butare-*ville*; the area was divided into zones and a person was assigned responsibility for each zone.

1918. On 27 April 1994, President Sindikubwabo came to Butare to check on the progress of the campaign to restore security. He held a meeting with the *préfecture* Security Committee at which he announced that the killings had to be brought under tighter control. He meeting resulted in Nsabimana issuing a message on the same day, aimed at restoring security in the *communes* of Butare. This message, containing five specific instructions directed at citizens, was admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 119B. Des Forges stated that the message also implemented the government's policy of pacification or restoring security. She interpreted the references to "restoring security" in that document as meaning eliminating the enemy threat, *i.e.* the Tutsis. With regard to the second instruction in the message, which stated that everyone must avoid harming others unless there was proof that they were an *Inkotanyi* accomplice, Des Forges opined that such proof was sometimes the identity card categorising the person as Tutsi. Des Forges considered that the message contained in

⁴⁹¹⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 5 July 2004 pp. 63-64 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); T. 5 July 2004 pp. 63-64 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²¹ T. 5 July 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²² T. 9 June 2004 p. 43 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 52; Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994). The transcripts indicate that the minutes of the meeting of 26 April 1994 were admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 126. However, this exhibit is an undated letter or a message addressed to all *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* from Kanyabashi and Nsabimana. It does not correspond to the document to which Des Forges refers in this part of her testimony. The actual minutes of the meeting of 26 April 1994 are thought to be contained in Defence Exhibit 406C entitled "Report of the meeting of the inhabitants of Butare-*ville cellule* of 26 April 1994."

⁴⁹²³ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 43-44 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 48; T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹²⁶ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994)

Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

⁴⁹³⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); T. 9 June 2004 pp. 23-24 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 119B was an illustration of how national policy was being transmitted by the *préfets* to the *communes*. 4931

1919. In her Report, Des Forges referred to a meeting that took place on 27 April 1994 on the football field next to Ngoma Church. Nearly 500 people who had survived the massacre at Matyazo Clinic or who had been forced to flee were sheltering in the church at the time. Two days later at 10.00 p.m. on 29 April 1994, militia and civilians attacked the church but those inside defended themselves with stones and prevented the attackers from entering. At around 10.00 a.m. the next morning, 22 soldiers arrived at the church and assured the crowd sheltering inside that they would not be killed but would instead be taken to prison. However, the military commander ordered civilians to kill those who had sought refuge in the church. Some victims were taken to be killed in the nearby woods.

Nsabimana Defence Witness BE

1920. Witness BE, a Rango resident of unspecified ethnicity who was a member of the clergy in 1994, testified that on 28 or 29 April 1994 at around 5.00 p.m., he saw between 80 and 100 people assembled close to Rango primary school. The witness saw the *préfet* addressing the crowd using a megaphone. He also recognised the *conseiller* of Nkubi *secteur*, Augustin Kanyawabahizi. He learned that the speaker was the *préfet* because towards the end of the meeting, people said that the *préfet* had spoken. The *préfet* encouraged the attendees to be patient and calm, and urged them "not to engage in acts of violence against others or attack their neighbours' property. The witness stated that he stayed until the end of the meeting and that no other speakers took the floor after the *préfet*. He did not notice any hostility towards the *préfet*. The following day, the witness perceived that the atmosphere had changed. People left their homes and the witness resumed his duties.

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

1921. Charles Karemano, a Hutu and secretary of the PSD party in 1994, testified that he attended a meeting at the Rango *secteur* office around 28 April 1994. He arrived before Nsabimana, but could not recall at what time. There were approximately 100 people there. Nsabimana did not speak for long and urged the attendees to try to live in harmony again and to go back to work. The witness could not recall seeing Kanyabashi at the meeting. 4943

```
4931 T. 9 June 2004 p. 24 (Des Forges).
4932 Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.
4933 T. 10 July 2006 p. 46; T. 10 July 2006 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness BE).
4934 T. 10 July 2006 p. 46 (Witness BE).
4935 T. 10 July 2006 p. 47 (Witness BE).
4936 T. 10 July 2006 p. 46 (Witness BE).
4937 T. 10 July 2006 p. 47 (Witness BE).
4938 T. 10 July 2006 p. 47 (Witness BE).
4939 T. 10 July 2006 p. 47 (Witness BE).
4939 T. 10 July 2006 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness BE).
4940 T. 10 July 2006 p. 48; T. 10 July 2006 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness BE).
4941 T. 22 August 2006 p. 20 (Karemano).
4942 T. 22 August 2006 p. 9 (Karemano).
4943 T. 25 August 2006 p. 9 (Karemano).
```

Nsabimana

1922. Nsabimana identified Prosecution Exhibit 117C as the press release addressed to the population of Ngoma urban commune on 25 April 1994, signed by him in his capacity as chairman of the Butare *préfecture* Security Committee. ⁴⁹⁴⁴ The aim of this press release was to provide information on meetings that would take place in order to ask the population to remain calm. 4945 The press release was given to Kanyabashi who, as *bourgmestre*, took the necessary action to communicate its contents to the population. 4946

1923. Nsabimana testified that the first meeting mentioned in the press release took place on 26 April 1994 at Huye Stadium in Butare-ville secteur, at 3.00 p.m. rather than 2.00 p.m., as specified in the press release. 4947 Not many people attended; the covered part of the stadium's stands were one third or half full and the attendees were concentrated in the centre part of the stands. 4948 Kanyabashi was already at the stadium when Nsabimana arrived. 4949 Nsabimana could not recall whether the other members of the Butare préfecture Security Committee were present. 4950 Kanyabashi introduced Nsabimana to the crowd and gave him the floor. 4951 Nsabimana stood facing the crowd with the football pitch to his back at a distance of two or three metres from the first row of the stands and addressed the crowd with a megaphone. 4952 He read the contents of the 25 April 1994 press release to the crowd and told them that what had happened was not human and that there had to be a return to order and security. 4953 He recalled that in April 1994, there had been killings and lootings over which they had no control; they therefore tried to take measures to stop such events. 4954 Nsabimana testified that the attendees asked questions about patrols and some indicated that they did not want to carry out patrols at night and wanted to be accompanied by soldiers. Also Nsabimana stated that he had no solution to propose to such issues. When Nsabimana left after approximately one hour, the crowd was still discussing the issues raised during the question session. 4957 No one took notes at this meeting. 4958

1924. Around noon the following day, 27 April 1994, Nsabimana attended a meeting of the Security Council which was chaired by President Sindikubwabo at the latter's residence in Ngoma *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. 4959 The other attendees were Kanyabashi, *Sous-préfet*

⁴⁹⁴⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to inhabitants of Ngoma Urban commune, 25 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 31-32 (Nsabimana).

T. 19 September 2006 p. 30 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁴⁶ T. 19 September 2006 pp. 33-34 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁴⁷ T. 19 September 2006 p. 33 (Nsabimana).

Defence Exhibit 437B (Nsabimana) (Photograph of Huye Stadium); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 34-37 (Nsabimana).
4949 T. 19 September 2006 pp. 37-38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁰ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵¹ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵² T. 19 September 2006 pp. 37, 39 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵³ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁴ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁵ T. 19 September 2006 p. 39 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁶ T. 19 September 2006 p. 39 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁷ T. 19 September 2006 p. 39 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁸ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁵⁹ T. 19 September 2006 pp. 44-46 (Nsabimana).

Hakizamungu, Colonel Muvunyi, Vice-Rector Nshimumuremyi, Public Prosecutor Bushishi, Halindintwari of the intelligence services, and the President of the Court of First Instance, Ruzindaza. 4960 The President raised a number of issues at the meeting including why the killings were still ongoing in Butare and why his message had not been properly communicated. 4961 None of the attendees were able to answer the President's questions. 4962 After addressing the Council for about one hour, the President left and Nsabimana took over the chair. The attendees then discussed the unanswered questions the President had raised. 4963 They wanted to inform the population of the President's concerns and show them that the issues raised by the President were of concern to the Security Council; they therefore issued a communiqué to that effect, signed by Nsabimana and stating, in part, that "[t]he looting and massacres must cease immediately and the attackers who are armed with all sorts of weapons but who are not assigned to man any roadblock recognised by the authorities, must stop their activities." Asabimana testified that no part of the *communiqué* incited the public to engage in killings. 4965 The Security Council also wanted to issue a second message to the people of Butare through the *bourgmestres*. 4966 Nsabimana identified Prosecution Exhibit 119B as that message.4967

1925. The second meeting mentioned in the press release of 25 April 1994 took place at the Ngoma Parish football field on 27 April 1994, around 2.00 p.m., after the Security Council meeting. 4968 Nsabimana testified that Kanyabashi was already at the meeting when he arrived although he could not recall if others were present. 4969 Nsabimana read the press release of 25 April 1994 to the crowd and told them that if there were any more killings, the perpetrators would be shot. He then left without taking questions from the floor. 4970

1926. The third meeting referred to in the press release of 25 April 1994 took place in the centre of Rango on 28 April 1994 at 3.00 p.m. ⁴⁹⁷¹ Kanyabashi was already present when Nsabimana arrived and he introduced the new *préfet* to the crowd. ⁴⁹⁷² Nsabimana read the contents of the press release of 25 April 1994 to the crowd and asked them to restore order. ⁴⁹⁷³

⁴⁹⁶⁰ T. 19 September 2006 p. 52 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶¹ T. 19 September 2006 p. 47 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶² T. 19 September 2006 p. 48 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶³ T. 19 September 2006 p. 50 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁴ Defence Exhibit 288 (Nteziryayo) (*Communiqué* broadcast on Radio Rwanda, 27 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 50, 73 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁵ T. 19 September 2006 p. 72 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁶ T. 19 September 2006 p. 50 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 68-69 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 41-42 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁶⁹ T. 19 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁰ T. 19 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷¹ T. 20 September 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷² T. 20 September 2006 pp. 5-6 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷³ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 p. 6 (Nsabimana).

He could not recall whether Kanyabashi spoke at the meeting aside from introducing Nsabimana to the attendees. 4974 The meeting ended after 5.00 p.m. 4975

1927. Nsabimana testified that he received the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security of 27 April 1994 after that date. The *communiqué* that was issued as a result of the security meeting of 27 April 1994, and the message aimed at restoring security issued by Nsabimana, were therefore drafted without knowledge of the Prime Minister's instructions issued on the same day and accordingly did not implement those instructions. Had he been aware of the Prime Minister's instructions on restoring security, Nsabimana testified he would have reflected them in the messages he issued on 27 April 1994.

Nyiramasuhuko Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu

1928. Eugène Shimamungu expressed the view that Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the Communes of Butare Préfecture, 27 April 1994) implemented the directives on restoring security, issued on the same day by the Prime Minister. 4979 The witness testified that the second instruction in Prosecution Exhibit 119B, which required a person not to be harmed unless there is proof that they are *Inkotanyi*, drew a distinction between Tutsis and the *Inkotanyi* so that only the latter were targeted. 4980 This instruction highlighted the importance that the authorities attached to the distinction between *Inkotanyi* and Tutsis. 4981 Shimamungu stated that the third instruction, which ordered citizens to avoid all forms of disturbances and looting, was addressed to all citizens regardless of ethnic group. 4982 The fourth instruction, which underlined the need to organise patrols and establish roadblocks. reflected the authorities' concern over the setting up of unauthorised roadblocks. 4983 The fifth instruction, which required those who were suspected of collusion with the *Inkotanyi* to be brought before the commune authorities, did not, in the witness' view, authorise killings. 4984 The witness opined that the objective of the message was to protect all Rwandans, regardless of ethnicity, because all ethnic groups were vulnerable to the chaos. Tutsis and Hutus alike. Nsabimana, who authored Prosecution Exhibit 119B, must have fully understood the Prime Minister's Directive on pacification contained in Prosecution Exhibit 118B. 4985

⁴⁹⁷⁴ T. 20 September 2006 p. 9 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁵ T. 20 September 2006 p. 9 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 10-11 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 288 (Nteziryayo) (*Communiqué* broadcast on Radio Rwanda, 27 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 16-18, 20 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁸ T. 20 September 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).

⁴⁹⁷⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 23 March 2005 p. 25 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸⁰ T. 23 April 2005 pp. 27-28 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸¹ T. 23 April 2005 pp. 27-28 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸² T. 23 April 2005 p. 28 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸³ T. 23 April 2005 p. 28 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸⁴ T. 23 April 2005 p. 29 (Shimamungu).

⁴⁹⁸⁵ T. 23 April 2005 p. 31 (Shimamungu).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-14-W

1929. Witness D-2-14-W, a Hutu teacher who lived in Ngoma *commune*, 4986 Butare *préfecture*, in 1994, testified that he attended a meeting at Huye Stadium on 25 or 26 April 1994. 4987 The meeting started at 2.00 p.m. and lasted approximately two hours. 4988 The killings in Butare had started before that date. 4989 The witness arrived at the meeting three or four minutes after it had started and stayed until the end. 4990 There were between 200 and 300 persons present, none of whom were Tutsis. 4991

1930. Kanyabashi introduced the newly appointed *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana, to the public and at the same time condemned the killings that had occurred in Kabakobwa, Butare town, Buye and Matyazo and said that the perpetrators of those killings had to be punished. Hereafter, Nsabimana also took the floor and said that there was a need to ensure security which had to be discussed with the military authorities. Nsabimana also condemned the violence and killings in Butare. The speakers stood while they addressed the crowd and did not use a public address system or a megaphone. The organisation of night patrols and the erection of roadblocks were not discussed during the meeting. The witness stated that he did not see any other authorities at the meeting apart from Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, who were guarded by two *gendarmes* and a policeman, respectively. He knew Bernard Mutwewengabo, a university lecturer, but did not see him during the meeting. He did not see anyone who took notes during that meeting. The witness left the meeting after Kanyabashi and Nsabimana had left. Witness D-2-14-W knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of his *commune*, Ngoma, and identified Kanyabashi in court.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

1931. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu, testified that he attended a meeting on 27 April 1994 on the football field adjacent to Ngoma Church. The meeting was attended by Kanyabashi, Nsabimana, the commander of Ngoma camp, *conseillers* and approximately 200 members of the public from Matyazo and Ngoma *secteurs*. The authorities sat in chairs facing the public, some of whom were sitting on the ground while others stood. The meeting was

⁴⁹⁸⁶ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 7, 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W); Defence Exhibit 626 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁴⁹⁸⁷ T. 11 February 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁸⁸ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 26-27 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁸⁹ T. 11 February 2008 p. 27 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁰ T. 11 February 2008 p. 27 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹¹ T. 11 February 2008 p. 27; T. 12 February 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹² T. 11 February 2008 p. 27 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹³ T. 11 February 2008 p. 28 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁴ T. 11 February 2008 p. 28; T. 12 February 2008 p. 43 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁵ T. 11 February 2008 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁶ T. 11 February 2008 p. 28; T. 12 February 2008 p. 16 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁷ T. 11 February 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁸ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 12-13 (Witness D-1-14-W).

⁴⁹⁹⁹ T. 30 January 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁰⁰⁰ T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁰⁰¹ T. 30 January 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-2-5-I).

convened to discuss security issues in view of the killings that had been taking place. Kanyabashi took the floor first, followed by Nsabimana and the commander of Ngoma camp. The speakers used a microphone or a megaphone. The commander of Ngoma camp promised to do everything possible to restore security in the area. Kanyabashi and Nsabimana said that they would cooperate with the military commander but did not specify how they planned to restore security. They also urged the population to remain united and forbade them from participating in the killings. The witness interpreted this as meaning that the authorities would prosecute anyone who took part in the killings. Witness D-2-5-I testified that Kanyabashi had been *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* since the witness was a child. He identified Kanyabashi in court.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

1932. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu who owned a mill in Rango, testified that he attended a meeting in the last week of April 1994 at Rango. He arrived after the meeting had started; Kanyabashi and *Préfet* Nsabimana were already present. Kanyabashi announced that he had come to introduce the new *préfet*. Kanyabashi ordered the attendees to put an end to the assaults and killings. He stated that those who had committed such crimes would be punished and urged the assembled members of the public to return to normality. No one else took the floor after Kanyabashi. The witness did not inquire as to whether, before he arrived at the meeting, anyone spoke before Kanyabashi. He did not know whether *Conseiller* Kanyawabahizi attended the second meeting. The witness testified that he had known Kanyabashi since 1974 or 1976. He identified Kanyabashi in court.

Kanyabashi Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

1933. In his Expert Report, Filip Reyntjens referred to the minutes of the meeting among the inhabitants of Butare-*ville*, held on 26 April 1994. The third paragraph of those minutes stated that due to pressing business elsewhere, Kanyabashi, who was to have chaired the meeting, left and delegated his powers to Mutwewengabo, a university lecturer, and

```
<sup>5002</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5003</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5004</sup> T. 30January 2008 pp. 32-33 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5005</sup> T. 30 January 2008 pp. 33-34 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5006</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5007</sup> T. 11 December 2007 p. 59 (Witness D-2-5-I).
5008 T. 11 December 2007 p. 60 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5009</sup> T. 30 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5010</sup> T. 10 September 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5011</sup> T. 30 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5012</sup> T. 30 August 2007 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5013</sup> T. 30 August 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5014</sup> T. 10 September 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5015</sup> T. 6 September 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5016</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 11 (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>5017</sup> T. 29 August 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-13-D).
```

Defence Exhibit 406C (Ntahobali) (Report of the meeting of the inhabitants of Butare-*ville cellule*, 26 April 1994); Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 13.

Nzitabakuze. ⁵⁰¹⁹ Reyntjens opined that this was an example of an attempt by Kanyabashi to distance himself from the killings and recalled that he had done the same thing, *i.e.* delegate his powers to Mutwewengabo, in a meeting of 7 June 1994. ⁵⁰²⁰ In the witness' view, it was impossible for Kanyabashi to oppose the genocide openly; he therefore refrained from engaging in activities related to the genocide. ⁵⁰²¹ According to the witness, if Kanyabashi had been actively involved in the genocide, Kanyabashi would have chaired such meetings himself. ⁵⁰²²

1934. Reyntjens also considered it probable that Kanyabashi was not present at the meeting. However, he acknowledged that page four of the minutes records the fact that Kanyabashi entered the meeting and, after giving security instructions and his opinion on some of the issues raised, he left. The witness stated that it was unclear whether or not Kanyabashi had been present at the meeting. 5024

1935. Reyntjens considered it unlikely that Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994) put in place, in a general way, the instructions contained in Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994) of the same date, unless the instructions were broadcast by radio. He testified that Prosecution Exhibit 119B seemed to strengthen the content of Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994). With regard to the content of the second instruction in Prosecution Exhibit 119B—which stated that everyone must avoid harming others unless there is proof that they are an *Inkotanyi* accomplice—the witness declined to comment specifically on Nsabimana's choice of words. However, he did say that if Nsabimana had used double-speak, the references to accomplices and *Inkotanyi* could possibly be taken to mean Tutsis. The witness was also questioned on the fifth instruction, which states that anyone suspected of colluding with the *Inkotanyi* or caught looting must be brought before the *commune* authorities. He considered that anyone involved in such acts would have been killed on the spot rather than brought to the *commune* office.

Ntahobali

1936. Ntahobali testified that he attended a meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994. The authorities who attended the meeting included Nsabimana, military officials, representatives of the *gendarmerie* and Kanyabashi who chaired the meeting. The meeting started at around 3.00 p.m. and ended at 6.00 p.m. There were between 500 and 800 people

⁵⁰¹⁹ Defence Exhibit 406C (Ntahobali) (Report of the meeting of the inhabitants of Butare-*ville cellule*, 26 April 1994) p. 1.

⁵⁰²⁰ Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 13; T. 1 October 2007 p. 37 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²¹ T. 1 October 2007 p. 37 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²² T. 1 October 2007 pp. 37-38 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²³ Defence Exhibit 571B (Kanyabashi) (Reyntjens Expert Report) p. 13.

⁵⁰²⁴ T. 1 October 2007 p. 29 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²⁵ T. 21 November 2007 p. 69 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²⁶ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 70-71 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²⁷ T. 21 November 2007 p. 71 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰²⁸ T. 24 April 2006 p. 37 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰²⁹ T. 24 April 2006 p. 43 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁰ T. 24 April 2006 p. 44 (Ntahobali).

present.⁵⁰³¹ Ntahobali testified that Bernard Mutwewengabo, a university lecturer, was appointed to chair part of the meeting with the assistance of Jean-Bosco Nzitabakuze when Kanyabashi left to attend to other matters.⁵⁰³² Mutwewengabo was in charge of the minutes of the meeting.⁵⁰³³ Ntahobali stated that Mutwewengabo dropped his notes during the meeting and Ntahobali picked them up and returned them.⁵⁰³⁴ Ntahobali testified that he was acquainted with Mutwewengabo's handwriting even before the meeting of 26 April 1994.⁵⁰³⁵ The minutes of the meeting were tendered by the Ntahobali Defence as evidence and admitted as Defence Exhibit 406C.⁵⁰³⁶

1937. Ntahobali sat in the middle of the stadium's covered stand, five metres away from the authorities. On the authorities. A megaphone was used during the meeting and it was handed around the attendees to enable them to take the floor. The aim of the meeting was to restore security and the issues discussed included erecting roadblocks and organising patrols. Ntahobali testified that authorities told the attendees that acts of violence had been perpetrated by thugs who were working for the enemy. They were requested to check the identity of people passing through roadblocks and during night patrols, to ask about their movements. Suspects were to be taken to the authorities, i.e. the cellule officer, conseiller, bourgmestre or judicial authorities. Kanyabashi took the floor three times: to give a speech and introduce Nsabimana; to introduce Muvunyi; and to speak again when the other authorities including Nsabimana had left. During one of his interventions, Kanyabashi stated that he would consider the issue of weapons training for the inhabitants. Nsabimana's speech lasted between five and 10 minutes, during which he talked about security and stated that the authorities were seeking ways to restore security.

3.6.14.4 Deliberations

3.6.14.4.1 Implementation of the Interim Government's "Pacification" Policy Through the Issuance of Press Releases, 25 and 27 April 1994

1938. The Prosecution argues that Prosecution Exhibits 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994) and 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994) were issued by Nsabimana in implementation of the Interim Government's national policy on pacification. ⁵⁰⁴⁵ It also

```
<sup>5031</sup> T. 3 May 2006 p. 27 (Ntahobali).
```

⁵⁰³² T. 24 April 2006 pp. 44, 51 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³³ T. 24 April 2006 p. 44 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁴ T. 24 April 2006 p. 54 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁵ T. 24 April 2006 p. 55 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁶ Defence Exhibit 406C (Ntahobali) (Report of the meeting of the inhabitants of Butare-*ville cellule*, 26 April 1994).

⁵⁰³⁷ T. 3 May 2006 pp. 44-45 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁸ T. 3 May 2006 p. 47 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰³⁹ T. 24 April 2006 pp. 45-47 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴⁰ T. 3 May 2006 p. 26 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴¹ T. 3 May 2006 p. 27 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴² T. 3 May 2006 p. 55 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴³ T. 24 April 2006 p. 50 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴⁴ T. 3 May 2006 p. 56 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 245-248, paras. 55, 62.

contends that "pacification" was a policy of covertly continuing the genocide of Tutsis. The Chamber notes that Prosecution Exhibit 118B, the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security of 27 April 1994, was the official manifestation of that policy. ⁵⁰⁴⁶

- 1939. In this regard, the Chamber recalls its findings on Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. The Chamber found that the intention behind the Interim Government's directives and instructions, including Prosecution Exhibit 118B, was to encourage the population to hunt down and take action against the enemy and its accomplices, terms which referred to Tutsis in general ().
- 1940. Des Forges testified that Prosecution Exhibit 117C, in which Nsabimana ordered the holding of security meetings and the opening of shops and markets, implemented the Interim Government's policy of pacification. ⁵⁰⁴⁷ Des Forges asserted that even though Nsabimana's press release of 25 April 1994 pre-dated the Prime Minister's official Directive on restoring security issued on 27 April 1994, the former was a confirmation of the original decision on restoring security, which was taken by the Council of Ministers on 23 April 1994. ⁵⁰⁴⁸
- 1941. Des Forges further explained the discrepancy between the dates by referring to Nyiramasuhuko's appointment as the person in charge of implementing the pacification campaign in Butare. ⁵⁰⁴⁹ Des Forges seemed to suggest that Nyiramasuhuko, as the person responsible for pacification in Butare, transmitted the 23 April 1994 decision on restoring security to Nsabimana, who thereafter issued the press release of 25 April 1994. ⁵⁰⁵⁰
- 1942. The Chamber again recalls its previous deliberations on Paragraph 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment in the "Cabinet Meetings" section of this Judgement (). Paragraph 6.14 alleges, *inter alia*, that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for pacification in Butare. In that section, the Chamber found that notwithstanding the evidence that Nyiramasuhuko attended Cabinet meetings at which the pacification programme was drawn up, the Prosecution had not established that Nyiramasuhuko was assigned responsibility for what was termed "pacification" in Butare, as alleged in Paragraph 6.14 ().
- 1943. The Chamber notes that no other evidence was adduced to show how the decision on restoring security or pacification of 23 April 1994 was transmitted to Nsabimana. As a consequence, the Chamber does not consider that the Prosecution has established that Nsabimana's press release of 25 April 1994, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 117C, implemented the Interim Government's national policy on pacification as enshrined in the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security of 27 April 1994, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 118B. ⁵⁰⁵¹
- 1944. Des Forges further testified that a Security Council meeting was held on 27 April 1994, at which the President announced that the killings had to be brought under tighter control. ⁵⁰⁵²

⁵⁰⁴⁶ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31, 36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁵⁰⁴⁷ T. 9 June 2004 p. 19 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁴⁸ T. 5 July 2004 pp. 63-64 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁴⁹ T. 5 July 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁵⁰ T. 5 July 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁵¹ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31, 36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁵⁰⁵² T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

Des Forges stated that this meeting resulted in Nsabimana, who had been present at the meeting, issuing a message on the same day to the public, aimed at restoring security, which was admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 119B. 5053

1945. Des Forges claimed that this message also implemented the Interim Government's policy of pacification, contained in Prosecution Exhibit 118B. 5054 In particular, she testified that the references to "restoring security" were a code for eliminating Tutsis. 5055 Shimamungu opined that Nsabimana's message contained in Prosecution Exhibit 119B did implement the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security, although he did not consider that the message could be interpreted as targeting Tutsis. 5056 Expert Witness Reyntjens considered it unlikely that Prosecution Exhibit 119B implemented the national policy on pacification, i.e. the Prime Minister's instructions on restoring security, unless it was broadcast by radio. 5057 Nsabimana testified that during the Security Council meeting of 27 April 1994, the President delivered a monologue and asked why the killings were continuing in Butare. 5058 After the President had left, Nsabimana issued a message to the people of Butare through the bourgmestres. 5059 Nsabimana stated that although the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security was dated 27 April 1994, the same day as the Security Council meeting, he did not receive the Directive until after that date. 5060 His message to the people of Butare was therefore drafted and issued without knowledge of the Prime Minister's instructions and did not implement those instructions. 5061

1946. The Chamber notes that only Des Forges testified that Nsabimana's message to the people of Butare of 27 April 1994 positively implemented the Interim Government's pacification policy. However, aside from Des Forges' assertion, the Prosecution presented no concrete evidence to establish that Nsabimana was aware of the Prime Minister's Directive of 27 April 1994 when he issued his message to the people of Butare on the same day. For instance, the Prosecution did not establish that Nsabimana physically received the Directive on 27 April 1994 or ought to have been aware of its contents via radio broadcast. Further, in relation to the President's announcement that the killings had to be brought under greater control, Des Forges explained that there was an effort by the authorities' channel to tighten control over the killing process. The doctrine of pacification or restoring security was a

⁵⁰⁵³ Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the *Communes* of Butare *Préfecture*, 27 April 1994); T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

5054 Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27

April 1994); T. 9 June 2004 pp. 23-24 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁵⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 23 March 2005 p. 25 (Shimamungu).

Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 21 November 2007 p. 69 (Reyntjens).

⁵⁰⁵⁸ T. 19 September 2006 p. 47 (Nsabimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the Communes of Butare Préfecture, 27 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 68-69 (Nsabimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 10-11 (Nsabimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 16-18, 20 (Nsabimana).

theoretical manifestation of this effort, and its operational framework was the civilian self-defence system. 5062

1947. The Chamber further notes that no other evidence was presented as to what happened during the Security Council meeting of 27 April 1994 in order to indicate that the resulting message implemented government policy. Although Shimamungu agreed that Nsabimana's message implemented the Prime Minister's Directive, his point of departure is very different from Des Forges', in that he did not think that "restoration of security" could have a nefarious double-meaning. For these reasons, the Chamber does not consider it to have been established that the purpose of Nsabimana's message to the people of Butare on 27 April 1994, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 119B, was to implement the Interim Government's national policy on pacification.

3.6.14.4.2 Meetings in Butare, 26, 27 and 28 April 1994

1948. The Chamber notes that the Nsabimana and Kanyabashi Defences do not dispute that the three meetings listed in Prosecution Exhibit 117C took place or that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi were present. The issue before the Chamber is whether Nsabimana and Kanyabashi used these meetings as an instrument to implement the genocide plan, organise killings or incite the population to kill Tutsis.

1949. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution did not lead evidence on the meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994. Ntahobali, however, testified that he attended this meeting. He stated that during the meeting, Kanyabashi said he would consider weapons training for civilians. He also stated that the erection of roadblocks and night patrols were discussed. Ntahobali produced what he believed to be the minutes of that meeting, which the Chamber notes contain detailed information on the establishment and organisation of patrols in various cellules. Ntahobali was able to identify the minutes because he recognised the handwriting as belonging to Bernard Mutwewengabo, who was designated to take notes at the meeting. Ntahobali claims that during the meeting, Mutwewengabo dropped his notes and Ntahobali picked them up. Witness D-2-14-W's testimony conflicted with Ntahobali's account. He testified that Kanyabashi introduced Nsabimana, that both condemned the killings and stated that night patrols and roadblocks were not discussed. He also denied that Mutwewengabo was present. Nsabimana testified that after being introduced by Kanyabashi, he read the

⁵⁰⁶² T. 9 June 2004 p. 23 (Des Forges).

⁵⁰⁶³ T. 23 March 2005 pp. 9-18 (Shimamungu).

Prosecution Exhibits 117C (Press release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 10-11, 33, 41-42 (Nsabimana); T. 11 February 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-2-14-W); T. 30 January 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 30 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁵⁰⁶⁵ T. 24 April 2006 p. 37 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁶⁶ T. 24 April 2006 p. 50 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁶⁷ T. 24 April 2006 pp. 45-47 (Ntahobali).

Defence Exhibit 406C (Ntahobali) (Report of the meeting of the inhabitants of Butare-*ville cellule*, 26 April 1994).

⁵⁰⁶⁹ T. 24 April 2006 pp. 44, 55 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁷⁰ T. 24 April 2006 p. 54 (Ntahobali).

⁵⁰⁷¹ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 27-28 (Witness D-2-14-W).

⁵⁰⁷² T. 11 February 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-14-W).

contents of the 25 April 1994 press release and condemned the killings. ⁵⁰⁷³ He denied that notes were taken during the meeting. ⁵⁰⁷⁴

1950. Ntahobali's testimony, if considered credible, could implicate Nsabimana and Kanyabashi in the organisation of the massacres in Butare *préfecture*. As an Accused, the Chamber must weigh Ntahobali's testimony against two of his co-Accused with appropriate caution. The Chamber considers that Ntahobali may have been motivated by a desire to implicate Nsabimana and Kanyabashi in criminal acts in order to deflect liability from himself. The substance of Ntahobali's testimony on what was discussed during the meeting is based on the minutes of the meeting submitted by the Ntahobali Defence as Defence Exhibit 406C.

1951. The Chamber does not find Ntahobali's account of how he was able to recognise the minutes of the meeting to be plausible and further observes that the minutes are unsigned. The Chamber is therefore not convinced that Defence Exhibit 406C is a faithful record of the meeting of 26 April 1994. This, combined with Nsabimana's and Witness D-2-14-W's testimony that no one took notes at the meeting and that Mutwewengabo was not present there, further undermines Ntahobali's account. In short, the Chamber does not consider Ntahobali's testimony to be credible on this particular event and therefore is not satisfied that the roadblocks or patrols were discussed at the meeting of 26 April 1994.

1952. With regard to the alleged meeting held on 27 April 1994 at the Ngoma Parish football ground, Witness QA placed the meeting at the end of May 1994, rather than the end of April 1994. 5075 He claimed that around 1200 people were present from Ngoma and Matyazo secteurs. Witness QA claimed that Kanyabashi and Nsabimana delivered a coded message to the attendees: Kanyabashi stated that anyone who engaged in killings would be shot; Nsabimana concurred and added that things had to continue as planned, as the President had announced. The witness understood this to mean that the public should finish the job they had started and continue with the killings as planned. In contrast, Nsabimana testified that, as at the previous day's meeting, he read the contents of the 25 April 1994 press release and warned the attendees that if there were any more killings, the perpetrators would be shot. Witness D-2-5-I testified that there were approximately 200 people at the meeting. Nsabimana and Kanyabashi urged the population to remain united and forbade them from participating in the killings. 5080

1953. The Chamber notes the existence of serious credibility issues surrounding the testimony of Witness QA. When he was recalled by the Chamber for further questioning in 2008, he admitted that his original testimony that Nsabimana ordered the attendees to continue

_

⁵⁰⁷³ Prosecution Exhibits 117C (Press release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*); T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁵⁰⁷⁴ T. 19 September 2006 p. 38 (Nsabimana).

⁵⁰⁷⁵ T. 22 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QA).

⁵⁰⁷⁶ T. 22 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness QA).

⁵⁰⁷⁷ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8-9, 74 (Witness QA).

⁵⁰⁷⁸ Prosecution Exhibits 117C (Press release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*); T. 19 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁵⁰⁷⁹ T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁰⁸⁰ T. 30 January 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-5-I).

with the killings as planned was a lie.⁵⁰⁸¹ Furthermore, he stated that only a few aspects of his original testimony were true; most of his original testimony was a lie.⁵⁰⁸²

1954. The Prosecution also led evidence through Witness RL on the meeting at Ngoma Church football field. The Chamber refers to its Celiberations in the "Ngoma Church Massacre" section of this Judgement, in which the Chamber found Witness RL to be credible for the reasons set forth in that section (). The Chamber recalls that the witness provided an indepth account of a meeting that took place some days after the attack at Ngoma Church, in particular on how he was able to observe the meeting from a vantage point inside the church, the presence of Kanyabashi and what was said during the meeting. Witness RL was able to describe both the location of his vantage point and of Kanyabashi on the football field by reference to photographs of these sites. He stated that Kanyabashi used a megaphone to address the crowd, which is consistent with Witness D-2-5-I's testimony that the speakers at the meeting used a public address system.

1955. Witness RL further testified that Kanyabashi spoke during the meeting and urged the *Interahamwe* and the *conseiller* to disseminate the message that peace had returned and that there would be no more killings. In the Chamber's view, the fact that Witness RL stated that he did not see or hear any reference to the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, does not detract from the credibility from his testimony or necessarily contradict the testimony of Witness D-2-5-I or Nsabimana, according to which Nsabimana was indeed present at the meeting. The Chamber considers that Witness RL may not have had an opportunity to see Nsabimana, noting that the witness admitted to not having heard everything that Kanyabashi said during his address. Solve the state of the st

1956. The Chamber does not find Witness QA's account on the meeting to be reliable or credible. Further, while the Chamber considers Witness RL's testimony to be credible on this issue, it observes that no evidence was led to suggest that the statements attributed to Kanyabashi on this occasion had a hidden meaning. The Chamber therefore finds that it has not been established that Kanyabashi or Nsabimana used coded messages to order the killing of Tutsis at this meeting.

1957. The Prosecution did not lead any evidence on the meeting of 28 April 1994 in Rango. However, Nsabimana testified that at that particular meeting, he was introduced by Kanyabashi; he read the contents of the 25 April 1994 press release and called for order to be

⁵⁰⁸¹ T. 30 October 2008 pp. 22-23; T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁵⁰⁸² T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁵⁰⁸³ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88; T. 29 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness RL).

⁵⁰⁸⁴ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 13-16, 19-21 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church); Prosecution Exhibit 96 (Photograph of the exterior of Ngoma Church and adjoining field).

⁵⁰⁸⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL); T. 30 January 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁰⁸⁶ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL).

⁵⁰⁸⁷ T. 30 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness RL); T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 41-42 (Nsabimana).

⁵⁰⁸⁸ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

restored. 5089 Karemano testified that Nsabimana urged the attendees to try and live in harmony again. 5090 Witness D-2-13-D stated that Kanyabashi ordered an end to the killings. 5091

1958. In view of all of the above, the Chamber does not consider that the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that the meetings of 26, 27 and 28 April 1994 were held pursuant to the Interim Government's national policy on pacification as enshrined in the Prime Minister's Directive on restoring security of 27 April 1994, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 118B. ⁵⁰⁹² Furthermore, the Chamber does not consider that the Prosecution has established that these meetings formed part of the conspiracy to commit genocide.

3.6.15 Ngoma Parish Church Massacre, Late April 1994

3.6.15.1 Introduction

1959. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that Kanyabashi held a meeting in Ngoma Parish in late April 1994 during which he gave assurances that the massacres were over. Tutsis who were fleeing the killings, sought refuge in Ngoma Parish Church. On the morning of 30 April 1994, soldiers and *Interahamwe* armed with traditional weapons arrived at the church. The refugees left the church after the soldiers promised to take them to safety. The refugees were subsequently attacked by the *Interahamwe* on the sports field beside the church and massacred. ⁵⁰⁹³

1960. The Prosecution submits that on 27 April 1994, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana jointly organised a pacification meeting on the football field next to Ngoma Church during which they delivered a coded message that greater care had to be taken in killing Tutsis. On 30 April 1994, Tutsis at the church were attacked and killed or taken away to be killed. The Prosecution argues that Kanyabashi and his subordinates led the killings of Tutsis in Ngoma commune, and that he organised, planned and was often present at the massacres. His subordinates included conseillers, commune policemen and responsables de cellule, and the killers themselves included soldiers and gendarmes. Jacques Habimana, the conseiller of Ngoma secteur appointed by Kanyabashi in April 1994, was a notorious killer who participated in the Ngoma Church massacre. Notwithstanding Habimana's notoriety and involvement in killings, Kanyabashi maintained Habimana in his position as conseiller and issued instructions to him. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi was aware of the massacres in Ngoma commune and points out that he lived and worked a short distance from

⁵⁰⁸⁹ Prosecution Exhibits 117C (Press release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 5-6 (Nsabimana).

⁵⁰⁹⁰ T. 22 August 2006 p. 21 (Karemano).

⁵⁰⁹¹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁵⁰⁹² T. 29 September 2005 pp. 30-31, 36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Para. 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute).

⁵⁰⁹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 394, para. 29; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 26.

⁵⁰⁹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 394, para. 29; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 26.

⁵⁰⁹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 405, para. 76.

⁵⁰⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 413, para. 102.

⁵⁰⁹⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 431, para. 166.

⁵⁰⁹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 417, para. 114.

⁵¹⁰⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 417, para. 114.

the Ngoma Parish massacre site. The evidence adduced placed Kanyabashi at the massacre sites as the massacres unfolded or after they had taken place. ⁵¹⁰¹ In support of its allegations, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses RL and QA and Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.

1961. In addition to its submissions on the vagueness of the Indictment⁵¹⁰² considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence contends that Article 6 (3) responsibility cannot apply to the Accused because neither the subordinates nor the facts characterising an allegation of command responsibility are stipulated.⁵¹⁰³ Furthermore, there is no evidence that policemen or *conseillers* were involved in the attack.⁵¹⁰⁴ The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that the Prosecution failed to establish a link between the meeting held by Kanyabashi and the massacre of refugees, given that according to the Prosecution evidence, the meeting was after the attack.⁵¹⁰⁵ It further submits that the Prosecution evidence on what Kanyabashi said at the meeting is contradictory, which raises doubt as to the criminal objective of the meeting.⁵¹⁰⁶

1962. The Defence argues that the death of Kanyabashi's relatives during the attack demonstrates Kanyabashi had no power over the attackers. The Kanyabashi Defence challenges the credibility of Prosecution Witness QA, who was recalled before the Chamber in 2008 and admitted lying about what Kanyabashi said during the meeting near Ngoma Church. He went on to confirm that the utterances at the meeting were in favour of peace and ending the killings. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Prosecution Witnesses QA and RL, who testified on the massacre at Ngoma Church, attended meetings of the *Ibuka* association during which the falsification of testimony against Kanyabashi was discussed and they were incited to lie. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Witnesses D-2-21-T and D-2-18-O. The Kanyabashi Defence also questions the identification of Kanyabashi by Witness RL.

3.6.15.2 Preliminary Issues

Vagueness of Paragraph 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment

1963. In its Closing Brief, the Kanyabashi Defence reiterates the arguments advanced in its Preliminary Motion filed on 9 October 1999 in which it submitted that Paragraph 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment should be deleted because it is vague and fails to stipulate why

⁵¹⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 414, para. 106; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 18.

⁵¹⁰² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 249.

⁵¹⁰³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 249; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 69-70.

⁵¹⁰⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 256.

⁵¹⁰⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 258; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 70.

⁵¹⁰⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 265, 268.

⁵¹⁰⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 273, 277; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 71.

⁵¹⁰⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 265.

⁵¹⁰⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 267-268.

The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witnesses D-2-21-T and D-2-18-O as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section

section.
5111 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 252-255.

Kanyabashi should be held responsible for the allegations contained therein. 5112 With regard to Article 6 (3) liability, it further submits that Paragraph 6.35 does not identify the subordinates involved or the essential facts underpinning the allegation and thereby fails to meet the standards set down in the case law. 5113

1964. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 31 May 2000 on Kanyabashi's Motion in which it considered it unnecessary to respond to the Defence's submissions concerning a number of paragraphs, including Paragraph 6.35, either because such paragraphs were sufficiently clear or because the factual precisions sought by the Defence bore on issues to be addressed during the trial on the merits, or because the requested precisions sought could be inferred from reading the Indictment as a whole. 5114

1965. The Chamber considers that Kanyabashi's alleged involvement in and liability for the Ngoma Church massacre, as set out in Paragraph 6.35, is clear when read in the context of the Indictment as a whole.

1966. The key to Kanyabashi's liability lies in the fact that Paragraph 6.35 is cited in support of Article 6 (3) responsibility alone, as is clear from Section 7 of the Indictment entitled "CHARGES". Paragraph 6.35 of the Indictment describes how the Accused allegedly held a meeting at Ngoma Church during which he gave assurances that the massacres were over. On the basis of such assurances, Tutsi survivors sought refuge in the church. Soldiers promised to take the Tutsis to a place of safety and, when the refugees left the church, they were attacked by Interahamwe and massacred. In essence, therefore, Paragraph 6.35 attributes liability to Kanyabashi on the basis that he, as a superior, knew that his subordinates were committing criminal acts and failed to take steps to prevent such acts from occurring or to punish the perpetrators. Thus, the Kanyabashi Defence's submissions on the vagueness of Paragraph 6.35 and Article 6 (3) are closely linked and should therefore be considered together.

1967. The Chamber recalls the standards set forth in the case law which must be met if the Prosecution intends to rely on the theory of superior responsibility to hold an accused criminally responsible for a crime under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. 5115 The Chamber notes that the soldiers and *Interahamwe* referred to in Paragraph 6.35 are not specifically described as being Kanyabashi's subordinates. The issue is therefore whether it can be inferred from reading the Indictment as a whole that the soldiers and *Interahamwe* referred to in Paragraph 6.35 were Kanyabashi's subordinates.

1968. In this connection, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that Kanyabashi exercised authority over his subordinates in his capacity as bourgmestre of Ngoma commune. According to Paragraph 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, those subordinates include, but are not limited to, conseillers and commune policemen. The Indictment therefore envisages the existence of other categories of subordinates insofar as Kanyabashi is concerned. Paragraph 6.34, which is also cited in support of Article 6 (3)

5115 Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para, 323.

⁵¹¹² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 249; *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Preliminary Motion Based on Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 9 October 1999, para. 42.

⁵¹¹³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 249.

⁵¹¹⁴ Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000, para. 5.22.

responsibility, refers to Kanyabashi giving orders to soldiers, which implies that the Accused held a position of authority *vis-à-vis* soldiers. Paragraphs 5.12 and 5.13 describe how Kanyabashi allegedly trained and distributed weapons to members of the civilian population and militiamen, which also suggests that the Accused exercised authority over such militia. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber considers it reasonable to infer, from reading the Indictment as a whole, that the soldiers and *Interahamwe* referred to in Paragraph 6.35 were Kanyabashi's alleged subordinates. The Chamber further observes that the alleged criminal conduct of the subordinates is specified, *i.e.* that the soldiers enticed the refugees out of the church and the *Interahamwe* subsequently attacked them. The Chamber therefore considers that reading the Indictment as a whole, the wording of Paragraph 6.35 is sufficiently specific to meet the standards set forth in the case law regarding Article 6 (3) responsibility.

1969. The Chamber notes that the allegation that in late April 1994, Kanyabashi held a meeting at the Ngoma Parish and that on the morning of 30 April 1994, there was a massacre led by soldiers and *Interahamwe* at the sports field beside the church, was directly pled in the Indictment. The Indictment is therefore not defective and consequently, Kanyabashi was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and suffered no prejudice in the preparation of his defence based on the Indictment. 5116

3.6.15.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness RL

1970. Witness RL, a Tutsi who was 13 years old in 1994, ⁵¹¹⁷ testified that after the death of the President, he saw Kanyabashi twice; once one-and-a-half to two weeks after the death of the President in April 1994, and then about five days after the first. ⁵¹¹⁸ He was at the Matyazo dispensary, and both times Kanyabashi was in a Toyota Stout vehicle. ⁵¹¹⁹ During the night of the second time Witness RL saw Kanyabashi, the witness fled to Ngoma Church. When he arrived, there were not many Tutsi refugees although the number later increased to the point that the refugees filled the whole church. ⁵¹²⁰ There were people of all ages, both adults and children. ⁵¹²¹

1971. Five or six days after his arrival, at the beginning of May 1994 the refugees were attacked and killed by soldiers, assisted by the *Interahamwe*. The killings started at around 10.00 a.m. and continued into the evening. They took place in a wooded area below the priests' residence. The attackers took the victims out of the church in small groups at a time, to prevent them from escaping, adults first followed by children. The witness testified

⁵¹¹⁶ See Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 197; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 119-121.

⁵¹¹⁷ T. 25 March 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 95 (Personal Particulars).

⁵¹¹⁸ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 82-83 (Witness RL).

⁵¹¹⁹ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-79, 83, 86 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²⁰ T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²¹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²² T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²³ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84-85 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²⁴ T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL).

⁵¹²⁵ T. 25 March 2004 p. 85; T. 30 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness RL).

that between noon and 1.00 p.m., he was among a group of five children who were taken from the church into the woods to be killed. 5126

1972. He was hit hard with a club on the back of his head on at least three occasions and lost consciousness. The was hit hard with a club on the back of his head on at least three occasions and lost consciousness. When he regained consciousness at about 5.00 p.m., he saw *Interahamwe* finishing off those who were dying. He was surrounded by bodies and there were also bodies lying over his legs. He was two or three metres away from a road and on regaining consciousness, he heard the noise of a car engine and saw a Toyota Stout vehicle parked on the road. He raised his head and saw Kanyabashi get out of the vehicle to look around. It was beginning to get dark. He heard the engine of the car and saw it when it had stopped but could not raise his head for fear of being seen and killed. In cross-examination, the witness clarified on a number of occasions that he raised his head slowly in order to see Kanyabashi and then lowered it again. A short while later, Kanyabashi returned to his vehicle and left. In cross-examination, the witness stated that even though he had received a blow to the head during the attack, he did not go blind and could still see quite far. The witness was shown video footage of a woodland area close to Ngoma Church and identified it as being the area where the refugees were attacked.

1973. The witness was referred to his statement of 16 January 1997 in which he stated that he was about 10 metres away from Kanyabashi when he saw the Accused on the road, rather than three metres away as he stated during examination-in-chief. Witness RL explained that his perception of the distance was an estimate rather than an exact measurement, but that 10 metres was an overestimation in any event. 5137

1974. After the attack, Witness RL left the woods and returned to Ngoma Church where he was received by a cook named Jean and Father Eulade Rudahunga. He remained there for about two and a half months. Approximately five days to one week after the attack, Kanyabashi held a meeting in the church grounds which was attended by approximately 1,000 *Interahamwe*. Witness RL was confronted with his statement of 11 July 1996 in which he stated that the meeting at Ngoma Church football field took place about four days after the killings, rather than between five days and one week thereafter as stated in his examination-inchief. The witness underlined that these time frames were estimates. 141

```
<sup>5126</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 85; T. 30 March 2004 p. 28 (Witness RL).
<sup>5127</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 85; T. 30 March 2004 p. 28 (Witness RL).
<sup>5128</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 85 (Witness RL).
<sup>5129</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 85-86 (Witness RL).
<sup>5130</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness RL).
<sup>5131</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 86 (Witness RL).
<sup>5132</sup> T. 30 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness RL).
<sup>5133</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 86 (Witness RL).
<sup>5134</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness RL).
<sup>5135</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 4 (Video of Ngoma Church).
<sup>5136</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 35 (Witness RL).
<sup>5137</sup> T. 30 March 2004 pp. 34-35 (Witness RL).
<sup>5138</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 87; T. 30 March 2004 p. 28 (Witness RL).
<sup>5139</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).
<sup>5140</sup> T. 30 March 2004 pp. 40-43 (Witness RL).
<sup>5141</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness RL).
```

1975. The witness was inside the church when the meeting took place and observed events through ventilation holes in the concrete walls of the church.⁵¹⁴² He was shown a photograph of the interior of Ngoma Church on which he identified the place from which he said he witnessed the meeting, being a ventilation space between the roof of the church and the top of the right-hand side exterior wall.⁵¹⁴³ He explained that he climbed up to his viewing position using the blocks that protruded from the wall near the back of the church.⁵¹⁴⁴

1976. Kanyabashi used a megaphone which he held in his hand to address the crowd and urged the *Interahamwe* and the *conseiller* to spread the news that peace had returned and that there would be no more killings. The witness did not hear everything that Kanyabashi said during his address, but was able to hear the things that concerned him. On another photograph of the area of ground adjacent to the church, with the church in the background, the witness identified where he said Kanyabashi had been standing when he delivered his speech, by drawing a square on the photograph, and where the witness had observed events, indicated by a cross.

1977. Witness RL stated that he did not see or hear a new *préfet* being introduced to the crowd during the meeting. When asked if he heard Kanyabashi say that people should stop killing each other and should live in harmony, the witness responded that the Tutsis were already dead and had already been killed or were in hiding, how could they live together in harmony when they had already been killed?⁵¹⁴⁸ He also said that he did not see any meetings near the church prior to the attack during which he was injured.⁵¹⁴⁹

1978. Witness RL testified that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* before 1994, but he did not know his first name.⁵¹⁵⁰ He had seen him on several occasions before and after President Habyarimana's death.⁵¹⁵¹ Before the President's death, he saw Kanyabashi at the stadium and the Matyazo *secteur* office when he convened meetings, along the road whenever he received authorities from other areas and driving a Peugeot 305.⁵¹⁵² The witness identified Kanyabashi in court.⁵¹⁵³

1979. In cross-examination, the witness was confronted with the assertion that it was Cyriaque Habyarabatuma, rather than Kanyabashi, who was present at Ngoma Church when the attackers were delivering the final blows to the victims.⁵¹⁵⁴ Moreover, Counsel contended

⁵¹⁴² T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁴³ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 13-16 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church).

⁵¹⁴⁴ T. 29 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church).

⁵¹⁴⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁴⁶ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁴⁷ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 97 (Photograph of the exterior of Ngoma Church and adjoining field).

⁵¹⁴⁸ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 46-47 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁴⁹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 40, 44 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵⁰ T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵¹ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 76-77; T. 29 March 2004 pp. 5-6 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵² T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵³ T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵⁴ T. 30 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness RL).

that the witness' description of Habyarabatuma matched that of Kanyabashi in 1994. ⁵¹⁵⁵ In response, the witness stated that in 1994 Kanyabashi had white hair and was wearing a suit and could not say anything else about his appearance. ⁵¹⁵⁶ In re-examination, the witness acknowledged that he had seen Habyarabatuma prior to the 1994 events. Habyarabatuma's complexion was darker than Kanyabashi's and he had a large head. ⁵¹⁵⁷ The witness testified that there is "no way" he would mistake Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi because he knew both of them. ⁵¹⁵⁸ Even though he was still a child in 1994, Habyarabatuma and Kanyabashi held positions of authority – one used to come and hold meetings with the people and the other would be present whenever there was a search. ⁵¹⁵⁹

Prosecution Witness QA

1980. Witness QA, a Hutu, testified that at the end of May 1994, 5160 a meeting was held at the *secteur* office in the courtyard of Ngoma Parish. 5161 The witness clarified that the meeting was held on the football field next to Ngoma Parish Church. 5162 He stated that it was possible that approximately 1,200 people from Ngoma and Matyazo *secteurs* were present. 5163 Kanyabashi and Nsabimana were in attendance. 5164 The meeting had been convened by Kanyabashi and he was first to take the floor. 5165 Kanyabashi announced: "The killings have stopped and from today onwards nobody has a right to kill anybody. Anybody who kills will be shot."5166 Nsabimana spoke next, and confirmed what had been said by Kanyabashi. He said: "Indeed, what has just been said by your *bourgmestre*, that anybody who kills will be shot, is true. Any such person will be shot ... things must be such as they were programmed to be done, as was known by the President of the Republic."5167 According to the witness, the audience did not understand Nsabimana's message as it conflicted with that of Kanyabashi. Kanyabashi said, "[w]hosoever shall kill shall be shot", whereas Nsabimana said, "[w]homsoever [*sic*] kills will be punished in an exemplary manner."5168

1981. Witness QA testified that after the meeting, he came to realise that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi's address had a special meaning; their intention was for those who attended the meeting to finish the job they had started and flush people out. S169 Nsabimana's speech was not a recommendation to stop the killings but rather a secret manner of speaking, for saying that

```
<sup>5155</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness RL).
```

⁵¹⁵⁶ T. 30 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵⁷ T. 30 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵⁸ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁵⁹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RL).

⁵¹⁶⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 93 (Personal Particulars).

⁵¹⁶¹ T. 22 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶² T. 22 March 2004 p. 53 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶³ T. 22 March 2004 p. 54; T. 22 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS); the English transcript provides only a phonetic spelling of this *secteur* – "Machazu"; T. 22 March 2004 (Extract) (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶⁴ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶⁵ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8, 73-74 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶⁶ T. 22 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶⁷ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness QA); the English transcript of Nsabimana's words is inconsistent with the French version – the latter has been relied on here as it is the most consistent when viewed alongside the rest of Witness QA's testimony; T. 22 March p. 74 (Witness QA) (French).

⁵¹⁶⁸ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8, 74 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁶⁹ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness QA).

the killings had stopped but that things should continue as planned.⁵¹⁷⁰ That night, people who had taken refuge in Ngoma Church, which was located about 10 metres away, were killed.⁵¹⁷¹

1982. When recalled to testify, Witness QA confirmed that he had made a statement before a Canadian Rogatory Committee concerning Nsabimana's address to the attendees of the meeting that took place at the end of May 1994 at the Ngoma Parish football pitch. ⁵¹⁷² Nsabimana said that the killings that had taken place at the Ngoma Parish were the last and if anyone else were to be arrested for killing he himself would be shot. ⁵¹⁷³ He also urged those in hiding to come out. ⁵¹⁷⁴ The witness admitted that on the request of two named individuals he gave false testimony to the Chamber in 2004 in which he stated that Nsabimana had also told the meeting attendees to continue with the scheduled programme, as announced by the President. ⁵¹⁷⁵

1983. Witness QA testified that he knew Nsabimana before the 1994 events as a member of his party, the PSD. He identified Nsabimana in court. He also testified that he knew Kanyabashi before 1994 and identified him in court. S177

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

1984. Alison Des Forges testified that large-scale killings at Ngoma Parish, Matyazo and Kabakobwa occurred at the end of April 1994. ⁵¹⁷⁸ In her Expert Report, the witness refers to a meeting that took place on 27 April 1994 on the football field next to Ngoma Church, this was a pacification meeting conducted jointly by Kanyabashi. Nearly 500 people who had survived the massacre at Matyazo health centre or who had been forced to flee their homes were sheltering in the church at the time. Two days later, at 10.00 p.m. on 29 April 1994, militia and local crowds attacked the church buildings, but those inside defended themselves with stones and prevented the attackers from entering. At around 10.00 a.m. the next morning, 22 soldiers arrived at the church under the command of Lieutenant Ildephonse Hategekimana, head of the Ngoma camp, and assured the crowd sheltering inside that they would not be killed but would instead be taken to prison. However, the military commander called for civilians to kill those who had sought refuge in the church. After an hour of attacks and killing, there was silence. Some victims were taken to be killed in the nearby woods and a number of the women were raped first. A *commune* policeman by the name of Marc Polepole sought out Kanyabashi's sister-in-law and her children, delivering them to the killers outside. ⁵¹⁷⁹

⁵¹⁷⁰ T. 22 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷¹ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 8, 54, 74 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷² T. 30 October 2008 pp. 20-21 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷³ T. 30 October 2008 p. 21 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷⁴ T. 30 October 2008 p. 21 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷⁵ T. 30 October 2008 pp. 22-23; T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷⁶ T. 22 March 2004 p. 9 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷⁷ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79; T. 22 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QA).

⁵¹⁷⁸ T. 17 June 2004 p. 24 (Des Forges).

⁵¹⁷⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.

1985. It started raining in the late morning and by the time the rain stopped in the early afternoon, the killers came to finish off the wounded children who were still alive. A Ministry of Health vehicle arrived and several officials alighted. 5180

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

1986. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant,⁵¹⁸¹ testified that he attended a meeting on 27 April 1994 on the football field adjacent to Ngoma Church.⁵¹⁸² The meeting was attended by Kanyabashi, Nsabimana, the commander of Ngoma camp, *conseillers* and approximately 200 members of the public from Matyazo and Ngoma *secteurs*.⁵¹⁸³ The witness stated that he was not aware of the presence of refugees in Ngoma Church when the meeting took place nor did he know if refugees were present at the meeting, as he did not live at Ngoma Church. He simply went to the meeting and after the meeting returned home.⁵¹⁸⁴

1987. The meeting started around 2.00 p.m. The authorities sat in chairs facing the public, some of whom were sitting on the ground while others stood. The meeting was convened to discuss security issues in view of the killings that had been taking place. Kanyabashi took the floor first, followed by Nsabimana and the commander of Ngoma camp, and then Nsabimana concluded the meeting. The witness could not recall what kind of microphone or megaphone was used, but confirmed that one was used. The commander of Ngoma camp promised to do everything possible to restore security in the area. Kanyabashi and Nsabimana said that they would cooperate with the commander but did not specify how they planned to restore security. They also urged the population to remain united and forbade them from participating in the killings. The witness interpreted this as meaning that the authorities would penalise anyone who took part in the killings. The witness confirmed that a few days after the meeting, refugees in Ngoma Church were massacred. Witness D-2-5-I testified that Kanyabashi had been *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* since the witness was a child.

Nsabimana

1988. Nsabimana identified Prosecution Exhibit 117 as the press release addressed to the population of Ngoma urban *commune* on 25 April 1994, signed by him in his capacity as

```
<sup>5180</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 45.
<sup>5181</sup> Defence Exhibit 615 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>5182</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 29 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5183</sup> T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5184</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5185</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5186</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5187</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5188</sup> T. 30 January 2008 pp. 31-32 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5189</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5190</sup> T. 30 January 2008 pp. 32-33 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5191</sup> T. 30 January 2008 pp. 33-34 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5192</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5193</sup> T. 30 January 2008 p. 35 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5194</sup> T. 11 December 2007 p. 59 (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>5195</sup> T. 11 December 2007 p. 60 (Witness D-2-5-I).
```

chairman of the Butare *préfecture* Security Council.⁵¹⁹⁶ The aim of this press release was to provide information on meetings that would take place in order to ask the population to remain calm.⁵¹⁹⁷ Nsabimana's testimony on the contents of this press release is dealt with more fully in the section of this Judgement relating to Nsabimana's participation in meetings between 26 to 28 April 1994, pursuant to the Butare *préfecture* Security Committee press release of 25 April 1994 ().

1989. In the press release, Nsabimana ordered three security meetings to be held, the second of which took place on 27 April 1994 around 2.00 p.m. at the Ngoma Parish football field. The *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* informed the population that the meeting would be held. Nsabimana testified that Kanyabashi was already at that meeting when he arrived although he could not recall if other officials were present. Nsabimana read out the *communiqué* of 25 April 1994 to the crowd and told them that if there were any more killings, the perpetrators would be shot. Kanyabashi repeated this statement. Nsabimana then left without taking questions from the floor, but the *bourgmestre* stayed. The distance between where the meeting was held on the football field and Ngoma Church was around 60 metres.

1990. Nsabimana testified the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* did not inform him of the massacres that occurred in Ngoma *commune* at the end of April 1994. Had anyone else learned of such massacres, they would have been obliged to inform Nsabimana. Nsabimana did not hear about such massacres from any source. He only found out that such massacres had occurred through information he obtained during the trial. Kanyabashi only informed Nsabimana that members of his family had been killed during the massacres at Ngoma Church during his time in Arusha. ⁵²⁰⁴

3.6.15.4 Deliberations

1991. The Prosecution adduced evidence from two factual witnesses and one expert witness in support of Paragraph 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. Paragraph 6.35 alleges that Kanyabashi is responsible for the Ngoma Church massacre that occurred at the end of April 1994. The massacre comprises two main elements, as described in Paragraph 6.35 of the Indictment: an initial meeting held by Kanyabashi on the football field adjacent to the church, followed by an attack by *Interahamwe* and soldiers on those who had sought refuge inside the church. 5205

1992. Witness RL was the only Prosecution eyewitness to testify specifically on the killings of Tutsis at Ngoma Church. Notwithstanding the witness' young age in 1994, the Chamber

_

⁵¹⁹⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 31-32 (Nsabimana).

⁵¹⁹⁷ T. 19 September 2006 p. 31 (Nsabimana).

⁵¹⁹⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 117C (Press Release to the inhabitants of Ngoma Urban *commune*, 25 April 1994); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 41-42 (Nsabimana).

⁵¹⁹⁹ T. 19 September 2006 p. 41 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰⁰ T. 19 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰¹ T. 21 November 2006 p. 46 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰² T. 19 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰³ T. 21 November 2006 pp. 46-47 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰⁴ T. 27 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).

⁵²⁰⁵ Para. 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

generally finds his testimony to be convincing and credible. He gave detailed evidence on when the massacre commenced, the methods and weapons used by the attackers, where he was attacked and what happened immediately afterwards. He testified that when he regained consciousness following a blow to the head, he heard the noise of a car engine and saw Kanyabashi emerge from a Toyota Stout vehicle. Kanyabashi allegedly surveyed the site very briefly, returned to his car and drove away.

1993. Even though the witness suffered a head injury during the attack which rendered him unconscious, the Chamber considers his identification of Kanyabashi to be reliable as he knew Kanyabashi before the events of April 1994 and also identified Kanyabashi as having been present at Matyazo Clinic on two occasions in the space of about a fortnight prior to the massacre at Ngoma Church. Do both occasions, the witness testified that Kanyabashi had travelled in a Toyota Stout vehicle, which is consistent with his testimony concerning Kanyabashi's mode of transport to the site of the Ngoma Church massacre.

1994. The Chamber considers that Witness RL gave consistent and convincing testimony when confronted with the assertion that he may have mistaken Kanyabashi for another man, Major Cyriaque Habyarabatuma. The Chamber recalls that the witness insisted that there was "no way" he could have mistaken Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi, despite his young age in 1994. The witness clearly distinguished the positions of authority held by these men, one of whom used to hold meetings and the other who used to be present whenever there was a search. In this regard, the Chamber also refers to its deliberations on Witness RL's identification of Kanyabashi in the "Matyazo Clinic" section of this Judgement ().

1995. The witness further provided an in-depth account of a meeting that took place some days after the attack, in particular on how he was able to observe the meeting from a vantage point inside the church, the presence of Kanyabashi and what was said during the meeting. ⁵²¹⁴ The Chamber recalls that he was able to describe both the location of his vantage point and that of Kanyabashi on the football field, by reference to photographs of these sites. ⁵²¹⁵ He stated that Kanyabashi used a megaphone to address the crowd, which is consistent with Witness D-2-5-I's testimony that the speakers at the meeting used a public address system. ⁵²¹⁶ The witness testified that Kanyabashi spoke during the meeting and urged the *Interahamwe*

⁵²⁰⁶ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84-86; T. 30 March 2004 pp. 27-31 (Witness RL).

⁵²⁰⁷ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 85-86 (Witness RL).

⁵²⁰⁸ T. 25 March 2004 p. 86 (Witness RL).

⁵²⁰⁹ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-79, 83; T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).

⁵²¹⁰ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-79, 83, 86 (Witness RL).

⁵²¹¹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness RL); *see also* T. 30 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness RL); page 49 of the English version of the transcript refers to "Chrysologue" rather than "Cyriaque" – this is thought to be an error as the preceding pages of the English transcript refer to "Cyriaque" as being the person for whom Witness RL allegedly mistook Kanyabashi.

⁵²¹² T. 30 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness RL).

⁵²¹³ T. 30 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RL).

⁵²¹⁴ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88; T. 29 March 2004 pp. 17, 19-20; T. 30 March 2004 pp. 40, 46-47 (Witness RL).

⁵²¹⁵ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 13-16, 19-20 (Witness RL); Prosecution Exhibit 2 (Photograph number 2 of the interior of Ngoma Church); Prosecution Exhibit 96 (Photograph of the exterior of Ngoma Church and adjoining field).

⁵²¹⁶ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL); T. 30 January 2008 pp. 31-32 (Witness D-2-5-I).

and the *conseiller* to disseminate the message that peace had returned and that there would be no more killings. 5217

1996. The Chamber notes that Witness RL testified in examination-in-chief that he had raised his head from the ground in order to see Kanyabashi but had then later stated that he could not raise his head for fear of being seen. In cross-examination, the witness clarified on a number of occasions that he raised his head slowly in order to see the Accused and then lowered it again. He underlined that he saw Kanyabashi at the massacre site and that even though he had suffered a head injury, he was not blind and could still see. The Chamber does not consider this discrepancy to be significant and notes that the witness' testimony on other aspects of the Ngoma Church events was clear and consistent under cross-examination, in particular as regards time frames, the order of events and the identification of Kanyabashi.

1997. Also in cross-examination, the witness was referred to his previous statement of 16 January 1997 in which he stated that he was about 10 metres away from Kanyabashi when he saw the Accused on the road, rather than three metres away as he stated during examination-in chief. Witness RL explained that his perception of the distance was an estimate rather than exact measurement but that 10 metres was an overestimation in any event. The Chamber takes note of this inconsistency and the witness' explanation but considers that he could still have identified Kanyabashi even at a distance of 10 metres, especially in view of his previous knowledge of the Accused from before the 1994 events and Matyazo Clinic.

1998. Witness RL was also confronted with his statement of 11 July 1996 in which he stated that the meeting at the Ngoma Church football field took place about four days after the killings, rather than between five days and one week thereafter as stated in his examination-inchief. The witness underlined that these time frames were estimates. Again, the Chamber does not consider this slight discrepancy to have an impact on the veracity of the witness' testimony and considers his explanation to be plausible. Lastly, the fact that Witness RL stated that he did not see or hear any reference to the new *préfet*, Nsabimana, does not detract from the credibility of his testimony or necessarily contradict the testimony of Witness D-2-5-I or Nsabimana, according to which Nsabimana was indeed present at the meeting. The Chamber considers that Witness RL may not have had an opportunity to see Nsabimana and notes that he admitted to not having heard everything that Kanyabashi said during his address. The Chamber considers Witness RL's testimony to be credible also in this regard.

```
5218 T. 25 March 2004 pp. 85-86 (Witness RL).
5219 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness RL).
5220 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 34, 37 (Witness RL).
5221 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 27-31, 34, 38-40, 44 (Witness RL).
5222 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 35 (Witness RL).
5223 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 34-35 (Witness RL).
5224 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 40-43 (Witness RL).
5225 T. 30 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness RL).
5226 T. 30 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness RL).
```

⁵²¹⁷ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 87-88 (Witness RL).

⁵²²⁶ T. 30 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness RL); T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29-30 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 19 September 2006 pp. 41-42 (Nsabimana).

⁵²²⁷ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87 (Witness RL).

1999. As regards Witness QA, the Chamber recalls the existence of serious credibility issues surrounding the testimony of this witness. When he was recalled by the Chamber for further questioning in 2008, he admitted that his original testimony that Nsabimana ordered the attendees to continue with the killings as planned, was a lie.⁵²²⁸ Accordingly, the Chamber does not find Witness QA's account of the meeting as a whole to be reliable or credible.

2000. In her Report, Des Forges stated that a meeting took place on 27 April 1994 at the Ngoma Church football field while almost 500 people were sheltering in the church building. Three days later, those who had been sheltering in the church were attacked by civilians and many died. The Chamber observes that Des Forges makes no mention of the presence of Kanyabashi at the meeting of 27 April or the subsequent attack. Nor does she suggest that these two events were linked in any way. The Chamber recalls its Oral Decision of 7 June 1994 in which it concluded that Des Forges was qualified to give expert testimony on the history of Rwanda up to and including the events of 1994 and on the analysis and research of the human rights situation in Rwanda up to and including the events of 1994. State of 1994.

2001. In this regard, Des Forges corroborated Witness RL with regards to the attacks at Ngoma Church. Her account as to the timing of the attacks and the methods used by the attackers confirms the testimony of Witness RL. 5232

2002. The Defence adduced evidence through Witnesses D-2-21-T to support assertions that Prosecution Witnesses RL and QA were *Ibuka* members who participated in meetings where they were asked to falsely accuse Kanyabashi regarding killings at Ngoma Parish and Matyazo. Witness D-2-21-T testified that a person whose full name matches that of Witness QA read aloud from his sheet of false accusations that he had seen Kanyabashi, *inter alia*, incite people to commit killings at Ngoma Church. S233 Witness D-2-21-T also alleged that another participant whose first name matches that of Witness RL, read aloud that he had seen Kanyabashi incite people to perpetrate the killings in Ngoma and that Kanyabashi was with soldiers, policemen and *Interahamwe* in Ngoma. Witness D-2-21-T alleged that this person also read that Kanyabashi incited people to kill at the Matyazo health centre.

2003. As regards the identity of the Prosecution witnesses whom Witness D-2-21-T sought to implicate, the Chamber notes that Witness D-2-21-T provided the full name of Witness QA. ⁵²³⁵ While she only provided the first name of an individual who appears to be Prosecution

⁵²²⁸ T. 30 October 2008 pp. 22-23; T. 30 October 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness QA).

Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.

⁵²³⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.

⁵²³¹ T. 7 June 2004 pp. 58-59 (Des Forges).

⁵²³² Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.

⁵²³³ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²³⁴ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

⁵²³⁵ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

Witness RL, she indicated additional identifying details such as estimated age, place of residence and profession, that match the profile of Witness RL. 5236

2004. The Chamber has taken into account Witness D-2-21-T's ability to indicate details relating to the identity of Prosecution Witnesses RL and QA. Given the Chamber's finding that Witness D-2-21-T's allegations regarding fabrication of testimony were neither credible nor reliable (), the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-21-T's testimony does not undermine the credibility of Witness RL on events at Ngoma Church or at Matyazo health centre. As regards Witness QA, the Chamber finds that his testimony on the meeting at Ngoma Church football field was unreliable for different reasons, and therefore it need not make a finding on the impact of Witness D-2-21-T's testimony on his credibility.

2005. The Kanyabashi Defence led evidence through Defence Witness D-2-18-O to further support Witness D-2-21-T's assertions that Witness RL was an *Ibuka* member who "suggested" at *Ibuka* meetings that people should testify to having seen Kanyabashi in the company of soldiers at Ngoma *commune* and Matyazo Clinic. S237 Witness D-2-18-O claimed that Witness RL told the meeting that it was necessary to place Kanyabashi at Ngoma Church even though Witness RL told them that he had not seen Kanyabashi there.

2006. Witness D-2-18-O testified that discussions at *Ibuka* meetings centred on giving evidence for the Prosecution, even if the accused person is innocent. The witness also stated that while some of the association's members speak the truth, others do not. The Chamber however does not consider the Defence evidence on this issue to raise a reasonable doubt about the truthfulness of Witness RL's testimony under oath or to call his credibility into question insofar as the events at Matyazo Clinic or Ngoma Parish are concerned. Even if true, Witness D-2-18-O's claim that Witness RL encouraged *Ibuka* members to implicate Kanyabashi does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that his testimony is false or unreliable. Further, Witness D-2-18-O suggests no reason why Witness RL would want to implicate Kanyabashi in criminal acts.

2007. The Chamber further notes that Witness D-2-18-O conceded that some members of the association speak the truth. Taking into account the foregoing, as well as the Chamber's position, discussed above that Witness D-2-18-O's testimony should be treated with appropriate caution (), the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-18-O's assertions about Witness RL do not undermine the veracity of Witness RL's testimony under oath.

2008. Witness D-2-5-I testified that he attended a meeting on 27 April 1994 on the football field adjacent to Ngoma Church during which, *inter alia*, Kanyabashi urged the population to remain united and forbade them from participating in the killings. ⁵²⁴² The Chamber recalls that Witness D-2-5-I was one of Kanyabashi's subordinates, having previously worked as a *commune* policeman, and for that reason may have felt inclined to protect Kanyabashi when he

⁵²³⁶ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 55-56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T); cf. Prosecution Exhibit 95 (Personal Particulars).

⁵²³⁷ T. 19 May 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵²³⁸ T. 19 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵²³⁹ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 28, 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵²⁴⁰ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵²⁴¹ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵²⁴² T. 30 January 2008 pp. 29, 33-34 (Witness D-2-5-I).

testified before the Chamber.⁵²⁴³ His testimony should therefore be treated with appropriate caution.

2009. Having reviewed the entirety of the evidence adduced by both the Prosecution and the Defence in respect of Paragraph 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, the Chamber finds that Witness RL's testimony, while credible, is insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the allegations against Kanyabashi. Witness RL testified that the killings of refugees at Ngoma Church took place before Kanyabashi's meeting on the adjacent football field, which contrasts with Indictment Paragraph 6.35 which quite clearly states that the meeting preceded the killings. Witness RL also clearly explained that the killings took place in a wooded area below the priests' residence rather than on the sports field near the church, as described in Paragraph 6.35 of the Indictment. It also contradicts the order of events advanced by Des Forges in her Report.

2010. Furthermore, the Prosecution did not establish the existence of any link between the meeting and the killings, or *vice versa*. As regards the killings at Ngoma Church, Witness RL places Kanyabashi at the scene, but his presence was for a very short period of time after the killings had commenced when the *Interahamwe* were delivering the final blows to the remaining injured survivors. No evidence was led to show that when the *Interahamwe* commenced the attack, they were acting under the orders of Kanyabashi. Thus, in view of the inconsistencies between the Prosecution's evidence on this event and the Indictment paragraph – in terms of the order of events, the absence of any link between the meeting and the massacre and the absence of evidence on the involvement of soldiers, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to establish criminal liability under Article 6 (3) of the Statute for the massacre.

2011. As for the meeting on the Ngoma Church football field, the Prosecution led no evidence to suggest that Kanyabashi's address was in fact a coded message to kill Tutsis. In this connection, the Chamber refers to its previous finding that it was not convinced that the planning or organisation of the genocide was discussed at the meeting at Ngoma Church football field at the end of April 1994 or that the population was incited to kill Tutsis during that meeting (). For all of the reasons set forth above, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to prove Paragraph 6.35 of the Kanyabashi Indictment beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.16 Matyazo Clinic, Late April 1994

3.6.16.1 Introduction

2012. Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that in late April 1994, Tutsis who were fleeing the massacres sought refuge at Matyazo Clinic in Ngoma *commune*. After an initial attack carried out by soldiers and militiamen, Kanyabashi went to the clinic and asked

⁵²⁴³ T. 30 January 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵²⁴⁴ T. 25 March 2004 p. 87; T. 30 March 2004 pp. 40, 44 (Witness RL).

⁵²⁴⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 84-85 (Witness RL).

⁵²⁴⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) pp. 44-45.

⁵²⁴⁷ T. 25 March 2004 p. 85 (Witness RL).

the Tutsis to remain there for their own safety. Shortly thereafter, Kanyabashi ordered soldiers to open fire on the refugees, resulting in several people being killed. 5248

2013. The Prosecution submits that not only did Kanyabashi know of the gathering at Matyazo Clinic, he actually directed Tutsis to assemble in that location and thereafter observed the ensuing massacres or arranged for killings to take place. The Prosecution claims that Kanyabashi knew about the killing of the refugees but did nothing to punish the perpetrators of the massacres because he was a key player in the killing of Tutsis. The Prosecution further asserts that the role Kanyabashi played between April and July 1994 *vis-à-vis* soldiers and the *Interahamwe*, coupled with the influence he exercised as *bourgmestre*, meant that he had effective control over *conseillers*, *commune* police, soldiers, *Interahamwe* and others and is therefore liable under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. The Prosecution contends that, notwithstanding Kanyabashi's alibi evidence, it has proved that Kanyabashi was at Matyazo during the relevant time period. S250

2014. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QI and RL.

2015. In addition to its submission on defects in the Indictment, considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that there were two massacres in Matyazo, one at Matyazo School on 21 April 1994 and another at Matyazo Clinic on 22 April 1994, the latter referred to in Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. 5251

2016. The Kanyabashi Defence refutes the allegation that Kanyabashi went to the clinic after an initial attack and asked the Tutsis to remain there and claims that Kanyabashi was not present at the clinic on the day of the attack. ⁵²⁵² It denies that Kanyabashi ordered soldiers to shoot at Tutsis. ⁵²⁵³ The Kanyabashi Defence agrees that Tutsis were sheltering at Matyazo Clinic toward the end of April 1994. ⁵²⁵⁴ When people from Huye tried to attack the clinic, *Conseiller* Athanase Nshimiyimana asked Kanyabashi to intervene and provide assistance. Kanyabashi came to the clinic and arranged for reinforcements, which involved securing the border between Ngoma and Huye *communes* and erecting a blockade. Hutus and Tutsis, with the assistance of policemen, resisted the attackers from Huye before being overwhelmed by soldiers. ⁵²⁵⁵ The Kanyabashi Defence claims that soldiers were responsible for the massacres at Matyazo. They attacked Matyazo Primary School late in the afternoon of 21 April 1994 and then attacked Matyazo Clinic in the morning of 22 April 1994. ⁵²⁵⁶ Kanyabashi had no authority over soldiers, who were not his subordinates. In fact, the soldiers considered

⁵²⁴⁸ Para. 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3).

⁵²⁴⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 408-409, 414, paras. 85, 87, 106.

⁵²⁵⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 432-437, 449, paras. 169, 171-187, 228.

⁵²⁵¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 203.

⁵²⁵² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 213-218, 229.

⁵²⁵³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 219-235.

⁵²⁵⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 212.

⁵²⁵⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 212.

⁵²⁵⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 212, 231, 236.

Kanyabashi to be an RPF accomplice. None of Kanyabashi's subordinates, namely policemen and *conseillers*, participated in the attacks. 5257

2017. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that of the two massacres in Matyazo, only the second, at the clinic, is referred to in Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that where witnesses did not clearly establish this distinction, their accounts should not be considered personal experiences. 5258

2018. The Kanyabashi Defence also asserts that Prosecution Witnesses QI and RL, who testified on the massacre at Matyazo Clinic, were members of the *Ibuka* association, an organisation whose objective is to falsify testimony against Kanyabashi. 5259 According to the Kanyabashi Defence, the testimony of Witnesses OI and RL is false. 5260

2019. In support of its submissions, the Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanvabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-18-O. D-2-5-W. D-9-U. D-2-YYYY. D-2-5-I and D-2-21-T.

3.6.16.2 Preliminary Issues

2020. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution has failed to properly plead superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute in respect of Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. 5261 However, it does not advance any additional arguments in support of this submission. The Chamber notes that if the Prosecution intends to rely on the theory of superior responsibility to hold an accused criminally responsible for a crime under Article 6 (3) of the Statute, the indictment should plead the following: (i) that the accused is the superior of subordinates sufficiently identified, over whom he had effective control – in the sense of a material ability to prevent or punish criminal conduct – and for whose acts he is alleged to be responsible; (ii) the criminal conduct of those others for whom he is alleged to be responsible; (iii) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have known or had reason to know that the crimes were about to be committed or had been committed by his subordinates; and (iv) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the persons who committed them. 5262 A superior need not necessarily know the exact identity of his or her subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur liability under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. 5263

2021. The Chamber notes that the soldiers referred to in Paragraph 6.34 are not specifically described as being Kanyabashi's subordinates. The issue is therefore whether it can be inferred from reading the Indictment as a whole that the soldiers referred to in Paragraph 6.34 were

⁵²⁵⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 238, 240.

⁵²⁵⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 203.

⁵²⁵⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 10-12; The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witness D-2-21-T and D-2-18-O as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

⁵²⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 207.

⁵²⁶¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 201; Para. 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3). ⁵²⁶² See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323.

⁵²⁶³ See. e.g., Muyunyi I. Judgement (AC), para. 55.

Kanyabashi's subordinates. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that Kanyabashi exercised authority over his subordinates in his capacity as bourgmestre of Ngoma commune. According to Paragraph 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, those subordinates include, but are not limited to, conseillers de secteur and commune policemen. The Indictment therefore envisages the existence of other categories of subordinates insofar as Kanyabashi is concerned. Paragraph 6.34 refers to Kanyabashi giving orders to soldiers, which implies that the Accused held a position of authority vis-à-vis soldiers, regardless of the existence of a formal superior-subordinate relationship. 5264 In light of the foregoing, the Chamber considers it established from reading the Indictment as a whole that the soldiers referred to in Paragraph 6.34 were Kanyabashi's alleged subordinates. The Chamber further observes that the alleged criminal conduct of the subordinates is the shooting and killing of those who had sought refuge at the clinic. Lastly, Paragraph 6.65 alleges that Kanyabashi had knowledge that massacres of the civilian population were being committed, but took no measures to stop them. The Chamber therefore considers that when reading the Indictment as a whole, the wording of Paragraph 6.34 is sufficiently specific to meet the standards set forth in the case law regarding Article 6 (3) liability.

3.6.16.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QI

2022. Witness QI, a Tutsi, testified that due to insecurity because of the war, his employer advised him to return to his home *secteur* in Huye *commune*. He followed his employer's advice and went to a relative's house in his home *secteur* about five days after the announcement of the President's death but did not remain there for the duration of the war. He spent two weeks at his relative's house and thereafter proceeded to the *Notre Dame* Dispensary in Matyazo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, arriving there between 3.00 p.m. and 4.00 p.m. On his way to Matyazo he encountered six soldiers very close to the gate of the clinic, near the road. They stopped the witness and asked to see his identity card. On learning that the witness was Tutsi, they asked him for 5,000 Rwandan francs, which he paid them, before they allowed him to proceed. The soldiers informed the witness that he would be killed further down the road in any event. In cross-examination he said that the soldiers told him that in any event he would die in front of the clinic. Witness QI thought the soldiers were ordinary soldiers, and not part of the Presidential Guard. Witness QI testified that he statement of 11 June 1996 only stated that he crossed one soldier, Witness QI testified that he

```
5264 Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 361-362.
5265 T. 23 March 2004 pp. 42-43 (ICS) (Witness QI).
5266 T. 23 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness QI).
5267 T. 23 March 2004 pp. 44-45, 49; T. 24 March 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness QI).
5268 T. 24 March 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness QI).
5269 T. 23 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness QI).
5270 T. 23 March 2004 p. 44; T. 24 March 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS) (Witness QI).
5271 T. 23 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness QI).
```

⁵²⁷² T. 24 March 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness QI). ⁵²⁷³ T. 24 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QI).

only spoke with one of the six soldiers he crossed. Statement he claimed the soldiers belonged to the Presidential Guard. Statement he claimed the soldiers belonged to the Presidential Guard.

2023. Witness QI testified that when he got to the clinic, he did not go inside because he saw approximately 500 Tutsis there and thought that they would be killed. He concluded they would be killed because on his way to the clinic, he saw Tutsis being targeted and killed. However, in cross-examination the witness stated that he did not personally see people who had been killed on his way to Matyazo Clinic, although he had been told by others that people from Runyinya *commune* had been killed. S278

2024. Instead of entering the clinic, the witness hid in a bush on the opposite side of the road from the clinic, just beyond the Electrogaz buildings. ⁵²⁷⁹ In cross-examination he testified that he walked a little up the road and veered off the main road to hide in a bush just past several Electrogaz buildings. ⁵²⁸⁰ He did not flee immediately because it was still daylight and Hutu civilians were still moving about the roads. ⁵²⁸¹

2025. Witness QI testified that from his hiding place he could see the red door of the clinic, which was about 50 paces away. The road separating his hiding place and the dispensary was four paces wide and the distance between the edge of the road and the clinic was about two and a half paces or metres. In cross-examination, the witness stated that because he had to walk around some buildings, his hiding place was about 500 metres from the clinic. When asked to explain this discrepancy, Witness QI testified that while his route around the Electrogaz buildings covered a distance of about 500 metres, it took him to a position about 50 metres from the clinic. The ground on which he hid was lower than the ground level of the clinic. The ground on which he hid was lower than the ground level of the clinic.

2026. As soon as Witness QI arrived at his hideout, he saw Kanyabashi arrive in a Peugeot 305 vehicle. Start Kanyabashi was driving the vehicle and was accompanied by two soldiers with guns. He was wearing khaki trousers and a white shirt. Witness QI stated that he saw Kanyabashi enter the clinic's premises and heard him address the Tutsis. Kanyabashi told them to remain there, that their safety would be ensured and that they had nothing to

```
<sup>5274</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness QI).
<sup>5275</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI).
<sup>5276</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 44-45, 49, 52 (Witness QI).
<sup>5277</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness QI).
<sup>5278</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5279</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 44-45, 47; T. 24 March 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness QI).
<sup>5280</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness QI).
<sup>5281</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 54 (Witness QI).
<sup>5282</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 45, 47-48; T. 25 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5283</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 47, 49; T. 25 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5284</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness QI).
<sup>5285</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5286</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness QI).
<sup>5287</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI).
<sup>5288</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 51; T. 24 March 2004 pp. 55-56 (Witness QI).
<sup>5289</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5290</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness OI).
```

fear. The witness testified that this address lasted one to two minutes. After speaking to the Tutsis, Kanyabashi came out of the clinic with six soldiers armed with G3 guns and told them that when he left they should begin the job in collaboration with other civilians. The six soldiers Kanyabashi instructed were the same six soldiers who Witness QI had encountered on his way to the clinic.

2027. There were about 30 Hutu civilians present wearing ordinary clothes and hats that covered their faces. ⁵²⁹⁵ They also carried traditional weapons, including machetes, clubs embedded with knives and small hoes. ⁵²⁹⁶ He recognised two people, *Conseiller* Atanazia Kizenga, and a regular citizen called Dodos Mbirizi. ⁵²⁹⁷ Both were from Matyazo. ⁵²⁹⁸ The witness understood Kanyabashi's direction to mean that the Tutsis present in the clinic would have to die. ⁵²⁹⁹ After speaking to the soldiers and civilians, Kanyabashi immediately left in his vehicle. ⁵³⁰⁰ Witness QI did not see any *commune* policemen present. ⁵³⁰¹ When put to Witness QI that he could not have recognised the *conseiller* and Mbirizi because they were masked, Witness QI testified that he saw the *conseiller* leave and come back in his vehicle with children. ⁵³⁰² The witness heard that thereafter the *conseiller* took these children to the church where they were killed. ⁵³⁰³

2028. Witness QI testified that between 20 and 50 seconds after Kanyabashi's departure, the Hutu civilians rushed at the Tutsis, attacking them with machetes, and the soldiers started to shoot. The attack started at around 6.00 p.m. when it was dark, although there was some light in the clinic. The witness asserted that no one survived the attack, although he did not personally verify whether that was indeed the case. He learned from others that there were no survivors. San Them with the same started to should be survived to to shoul

2029. Witness QI stated that he left his hiding place at around 8.00 p.m. on the same day he arrived and walked throughout the night, returning to his employer's house in Huye *commune*. In cross-examination, the witness was confronted with his statement of 11 June 1996 in which he said that he had spent two days hiding near the *Notre Dame* Dispensary. The witness explained that he was in a very difficult situation at the time and that one second

```
<sup>5291</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 51-52; T. 24 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI).
<sup>5292</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI).
<sup>5293</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 52-53; T. 24 March 2004 pp. 57-58 (Witness QI).
<sup>5294</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>5295</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 54 (Witness QI).
<sup>5296</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI).
<sup>5297</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 54; T. 24 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness QI).
<sup>5298</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 54 (Witness QI).
<sup>5299</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 52 (Witness OI).
<sup>5300</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 52; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).
<sup>5301</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 56; see also T. 24 March 2004 p. 65 (Witness QI) (French).
<sup>5302</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 64 (Witness QI).
<sup>5303</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 64-67 (Witness QI).
<sup>5304</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).
<sup>5305</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness QI).
<sup>5306</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 59 (Witness QI).
<sup>5307</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 59 (Witness QI).
<sup>5308</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 49-50, 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).
T. 24 March 2004 p. 60 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of
Witness QI).
```

could have been a week.⁵³¹⁰ In cross-examination Witness QI was questioned about his statement which said that the attack occurred in two stages.⁵³¹¹ Witness QI stated that he did not speak of two separate attacks; he said that Kanyabashi left orders with the soldiers to kill the refugees and that after his departure people began to be killed in the night hours.⁵³¹²

- 2030. When put to Witness QI that the attack began at 9.30 a.m. when soldiers with grenades burst onto the compound, that people fleeing were killed by civilians with machetes and the attack ended around noon, Witness QI stated that each person can recount the version that he heard or saw. When put to Witness QI that he was unjustly incriminating Kanyabashi and that Kanyabashi was never present at Matyazo, Witness QI stated that he saw Kanyabashi on the day of the attack; he was a leader and did nothing to stop the soldiers or policemen over whom he had authority. ⁵³¹³
- 2031. Witness QI learned from others that Kanyabashi had police officers at his disposal and that soldiers lived at his house. ⁵³¹⁴ Witness QI identified Kanyabashi in court and stated that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*. ⁵³¹⁵
- 2032. Witness QI testified that he knew a person with the same family name as Witness RL who came from Matyazo; that person had told Witness QI that he had been clubbed over the head during the war and survived by crawling to the nearby church where he had since lived with a priest in Ngoma *secteur*. Sale Witness QI and this person had seen each other after the war. Sale Park 15 witness QI and this person had seen each other after the war.

Prosecution Witness RL

- 2033. Witness RL, a Tutsi who was 13 years old in 1994, testified that he lived in the vicinity of Matyazo Clinic in April 1994. The clinic was surrounded by barbed-wire fencing and was accessed via a gate leading into the clinic compound. After the President's death in April 1994, Witness RL saw Kanyabashi on two occasions. State of the President's death in April 1994, Witness RL saw Kanyabashi on two occasions.
- 2034. The first occasion was a week and a half to two weeks after the death of the President one day before noon at Matyazo Clinic. Witness RL testified in cross-examination that this sighting occurred in the days that followed Habyarimana's death, if not the first week. 5322

⁵³¹⁰ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 60-61 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness OI).

⁵³¹¹ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI) (states: "the soldiers and some Hutu civilians started shooting at the refugees ... Around 16.00 on the same day, Kanyabashi came to the Matyazo dispensary ... I saw and heard Kanyabashi ordering the soldiers who were there to shoot at the refugees").

⁵³¹² T. 24 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness QI).

⁵³¹³ T. 24 March 2004 p. 66 (Witness QI).

⁵³¹⁴ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 56-57 (Witness QI).

⁵³¹⁵ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 52, 69; T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁵³¹⁶ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁵³¹⁷ T. 25 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁵³¹⁸ T. 25 March 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵³¹⁹ T. 25 March 2004 p. 78 (Witness RL).

⁵³²⁰ T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).

⁵³²¹ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-78 (Witness RL).

⁵³²² T. 30 March 2004 pp. 3-4 (Witness RL).

Kanyabashi arrived in a Toyota Stout vehicle and was accompanied by about six soldiers in camouflage uniform. There were between 1,500 and 2,000 people present outside the clinic compound. They had arrived the previous day at around 3.00 p.m. from Gikongoro *préfecture* with their livestock and had spent the night outside the grounds of the clinic. 5325

2035. Kanyabashi addressed the refugees but the witness only heard a short portion of his address, maybe 5 minutes, after which he left.⁵³²⁶ Kanyabashi subsequently asked the guards for the keys and let the refugees into the compound.⁵³²⁷ After the gate was unlocked, Kanyabashi handed the keys to the soldiers.⁵³²⁸ In cross-examination, the witness stated that there was a watchman at the dispensary who opened the gate on the orders of Kanyabashi to let the refugees in.⁵³²⁹ When put to Witness RL that he did not witness the handing over of the key, he testified that the key was handed over during the period of 5 minutes that Witness RL was present.⁵³³⁰ The witness was about 20 to 25 metres from Kanyabashi at that point.⁵³³¹ In cross-examination, he testified that he could not remember how far he stood from Kanyabashi at that point, maybe a few metres.⁵³³² After 30 minutes to one hour, Kanyabashi left the clinic and the six soldiers stayed behind.⁵³³³ When it was put to Witness RL that his statement of 16 January 1997 stated that three soldiers stayed behind, Witness RL testified that some soldiers stayed behind, but he could not be sure of how many.⁵³³⁴

2036. The witness testified that once inside the clinic compound, the refugees were not allowed to leave. A young man who tried to leave the compound was shot and killed by the soldiers. Salthough Witness RL personally witnessed this, he conceded that he had not mentioned this incident in any of the statements he gave to Prosecution investigators prior to his testimony. Salthough Witness RL personally witnessed this, he conceded that he had not mentioned this incident in any of the statements he gave to Prosecution investigators prior to his testimony.

2037. Witness RL testified that about five days after he first saw Kanyabashi at the clinic, Kanyabashi returned in a Toyota Stout vehicle with the words "Commune Urban Ngoma, Ngoma Commune" written on it. 5337 It was late in the afternoon and Kanyabashi was accompanied by two or three soldiers. 5338 On cross-examination, the witness stated that Kanyabashi was accompanied by three or four soldiers and that there were eight soldiers in total at the clinic. 5339 When put to him that his statement of 11 July 1996 stated that

```
<sup>5323</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-79; T. 29 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5324</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 78; T. 29 March 2004 pp. 39, 41, 47 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5325</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 39-41, 46, 48 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5326</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness RL).
5327 T. 25 March 2004 p. 78; T. 29 March 2004 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5328</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 78; T. 29 March 2004 p. 73 (Witness RL).
<sup>5329</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness RL).
<sup>5330</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 71, 73 (Witness RL).
<sup>5331</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 78-79 (Witness RL).
<sup>5332</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 71-72 (Witness RL).
<sup>5333</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 56, 63 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5334</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5335</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness RL).
<sup>5336</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 74-76 (Witness RL).
<sup>5337</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness RL).
<sup>5338</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 84; T. 30 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5339</sup> T. 30 March 2004 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness RL).
```

Kanyabashi arrived with eight soldiers aboard the Toyota Stout, Witness RL clarified that he meant there were eight soldiers at the clinic. 5340

2038. Witness RL saw Kanyabashi standing in front of the clinic speaking to the soldiers, but could not hear what was being said. He estimated that there were 2,500 to 3,000 people in the clinic at the time. Sat After seeing Kanyabashi leave, the witness returned home. About an hour later, towards nightfall, he heard gunshots coming from the direction of the clinic and saw fire in the air. He decided to flee, spending the night in a bean farm, and the next day headed to Ngoma Parish.

2039. Witness RL thought the attack occurred on a Thursday.⁵³⁴⁵ Witness RL denied the attack started at 9.30 a.m. on Friday, 22 April 1994.⁵³⁴⁶ Witness RL testified that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* before 1994, but he did not know his first name.⁵³⁴⁷ He had seen him on several occasions before and after President Habyarimana's death.⁵³⁴⁸ Before the President's death, he saw Kanyabashi at the stadium and the *secteur* office when he convened meetings, along the road whenever he received authorities from other areas and driving a Peugeot 305.⁵³⁴⁹ The witness identified Kanyabashi in court.⁵³⁵⁰

2040. The witness acknowledged that he knew what Major Cyriaque Habyarabatuma looked like and knew he was a leader. Habyarabatuma was of average height and had a dark complexion and a round face. Witness RL testified that he did not see Habyarabatuma during Kanyabashi's first visit to Matyazo Clinic. When Witness RL was being cross-examined and re-examined about the Ngoma Church massacre that took place following the events at Matyazo, he stated that there was "no way" he could have mistaken Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi because he knew both of them. Even though he was still a child in 1994, Habyarabatuma and Kanyabashi held positions of authority – one used to come and hold meetings with the people and the other would be present whenever there was a search.

2041. Witness RL testified that he was not a member of any survivors' group nor had he ever attended any trial in Rwanda concerning the events that occurred in Ngoma and Matyazo in 1994 5356

```
<sup>5340</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5341</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness RL).
<sup>5342</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness RL).
<sup>5343</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 84; T. 30 March 2004 pp. 18-20, 22 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5344</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL).
<sup>5345</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5346</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5347</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).
<sup>5348</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).
<sup>5349</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness RL).
<sup>5350</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).
<sup>5351</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5352</sup> T. 29 March 2004 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5353</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 57, 61 (ICS) (Witness RL).
<sup>5354</sup> T. 30 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness RL).
<sup>5355</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RL).
<sup>5356</sup> T. 29 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness RL).
```

2042. Witness RL testified that he knew a person with the same surname as Witness QI. Sas However, Witness RL testified that he never had any opportunity to discuss the events of April to July 1994 with that person. When it was put to Witness RL that Witness QI stated he knew a person by the same surname as Witness RL who was living with a priest, who had been hit on the head with a club and who had survived the Ngoma Church attack, Witness RL insisted he did not discuss the events of April to July 1994 with that person. Witness RL testified that he was hit very hard on the head with a club on at least three occasions at Ngoma Church.

Prosecution Witness Ghandi Shukry

2043. Ghandi Shukry testified that photo numbers 28, 29, 30 and 31 admitted as Prosecution Exhibits 13A, 13B, 13C and 13D respectively dealt with the *Sponsor Notre Dame de la Route* or the Matyazo Clinic. The first three photographs showed the front side of the clinic from different angles while photo number 31 indicated the backside, outside the clinic itself and where the alleged mass grave was. The sketch marked S2 and admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 14 described the Matyazo Clinic compound. The witness testified that the video admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 15 showed, among others, the ceiling of the clinic in which refugees allegedly hid and two sites where clothes were buried still within the compound. Sa63

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-18-O

2044. Witness D-2-18-O, a Tutsi who was a 16-year-old student in 1994, testified that in April 1994, one week after the death of the President, people sought refuge at Matyazo Clinic and Matyazo Primary School. It was said those refugees came from Gikongoro *préfecture*. The clinic was located near the Matyazo Market, approximately 15 to 20 minutes walk from Witness D-2-18-O's residence; the school was situated next to the Matyazo Pentecostal Church, about 15 minutes' walk from the witness' home. The clinic was opposite Electrogaz buildings and was surrounded by a 2.15 metre high barbed wire fence.

2045. Witness D-2-18-O testified that he met the people who ultimately took refuge in Matyazo Clinic when they were on the road heading towards the clinic. They told him that they had fled because assailants were burning down their homes and telling them they would be killed if they did not flee. The witness stated that he saw these people at Matyazo Clinic

```
5357 T. 29 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness RL).
5358 T. 29 March 2004 pp. 61-62, 64 (ICS); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 17, 23-24 (ICS) (Witness RL).
5359 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness RL).
5360 T. 30 March 2004 p. 28 (Witness RL).
5361 T. 14 June 2001 p. 105 (Shukry).
5362 T. 14 June 2001 p. 109 (Shukry).
5363 T. 14 June 2001 p. 122 (Shukry).
5364 T. 15 May 2008 pp. 17-18 (Witness D-2-18-O).
5365 T. 15 May 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-18-O).
5366 T. 15 May 2008 p. 63 (Witness D-2-18-O).
5367 T. 19 May 2008 p. 18 (Witness D-2-18-O).
5368 T. 15 May 2008 pp. 18-19 (Witness D-2-18-O).
5369 T. 15 May 2008 pp. 18-19 (Witness D-2-18-O).
```

on a daily basis. 5370 They were unguarded. 5371 Some of them would go to the village to beg for food and others would tend to their cattle. 5372

2046. Witness D-2-18-O stated that he learned from his brother that people were sheltering at Matyazo Primary School but did not see them personally and did not know how long they remained there. ⁵³⁷³ During the night of 21 April 1994, Witness D-2-18-O passed by Matyazo Primary School on his way to seek refuge at Matyazo Clinic. ⁵³⁷⁴ People were being killed at the school. ⁵³⁷⁵

2047. The witness testified that he arrived at Matyazo Clinic between 3.00 and 4.00 a.m. on the morning of 22 April 1994. He met others who were sheltering there. The clinic was unguarded and people could come and go as they pleased. There were about 500 or 1,000 refugees. The refugees were both Hutus and Tutsis and refugees were inside both the yard and the buildings of the dispensary. Since the state of the state of

2048. *Interahamwe* and other soldiers arrived between 6.00 and 7.00 a.m. on the same day. They pelted the refugees in the clinic with stones and the witness was hit on the head. A member of the *Interahamwe* and a soldier stood at the door and required people to produce their identity cards before leaving. The witness stated that he and some other children queued behind people with Hutu identification cards and managed to leave, although the witness did not have an identity card. About 30 people left the clinic, most of them young children. After the witness left the clinic, the soldiers and *Interahamwe* opened fire on those who remained. This attack lasted until approximately 12.00 noon. He denied that the attack occurred at nighttime.

2049. Witness D-2-18-O described how he left the dispensary and hid in a house with four girls. The house was located about four or five minutes walk from the clinic. The fence of the clinic was visible from the house and he could hear gunshots from where he was hiding. He spent two days hiding in the house. 5386

```
<sup>5370</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 19 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5371</sup> T. 15 May 2008 pp. 20, 28 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5372</sup> T. 15 May 2008 pp. 19-20 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5373</sup> T. 15 May 2008 pp. 20, 29 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5374</sup> T. 15 May 2008 pp. 34, 37 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5375</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5376</sup> T. 15 May 2008 pp. 36-37 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5377</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5378</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 37; T. 19 May 2008 pp. 62-63 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5379</sup> T. 19 May 2004 p. 65 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5380</sup> T. 19 May 2004 p. 64 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5381</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5382</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 41; T. 19 May 2004 p. 65 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5383</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5384</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 38 (Extract) p. i; T. 15 May 2008 p. 41; T. 15 May 2008 p. 42 (ICS); T. 19 May 2004 p.
65; T. 19 May 2004 p. iii (Extract) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5385</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
<sup>5386</sup> T. 15 May 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
```

- 2050. Witness D-2-18-O never saw Kanyabashi or the *conseiller* of Matyazo *secteur* at Matyazo Clinic during the time he spent there. ⁵³⁸⁷ He did see Kanyabashi in Matyazo *secteur* in April 1994. ⁵³⁸⁸ Witness D-2-18-O never saw any Ngoma *commune* policeman at or close to the clinic. ⁵³⁸⁹
- 2051. The witness stated that he once saw some refugees being pursued by assailants dressed in banana leaves. Kanyabashi subsequently came to the area and said that the refugees had to be provided with shelter and protected from the *Interahamwe*. He also claimed that a female friend told him that she saw survivors from the attack at Matyazo Clinic being taken to Butare Hospital by the former *conseiller* of Matyazo *secteur* aboard a *commune* vehicle. That female friend was also one of the surviving refugees. The same statement of the surviving refugees.
- 2052. When it was put to Witness D-2-18-O that the judgement of the *Gacaca* court⁵³⁹³ concluded that he was not present at Matyazo Clinic, Witness D-2-18-O stated that he was present at the clinic during the time of the killings and he participated in the killings during the night of 21-22 April 1994. The people he killed were Tutsis. ⁵³⁹⁵

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-W

- 2053. Witness D-2-5-W, a Hutu who was a teacher in 1994, testified that he pled guilty to, *inter alia*, having participated in massacres at Matyazo Primary School and Matyazo Clinic. 5396 At the time of his testimony, he was in detention and his appeal was still pending. 5397
- 2054. Referring to Defence Exhibit 568, a map of Matyazo sketched by Witness D-2-5-W, the witness testified that Matyazo Clinic and Matyazo Primary School were both located close to the main road. The witness testified that on Defence Exhibit 568, "21" marked the location of the clinic and "38" marked the location of Matyazo Primary School. On the

⁵³⁸⁷ T. 15 May 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁸⁸ T. 15 May 2008 p. 24 (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁸⁹ T. 19 May 2008 p. 62 (Witness D-2-10-O).

⁵³⁹⁰ T. 15 May 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁹¹ T. 19 May 2008 p. 12 (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁹² T. 19 May 2008 pp. 17, 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁹³ T. 19 May 2008 pp. 81-83 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O); Prosecution Exhibit 199 (*Gacaca* Court Judgement for Witness D-2-18-O). To avoid risk of identification of the witness, the Judgement date is not mentioned here.

⁵³⁹⁴ T. 20 May 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁹⁵ T. 20 May 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).

⁵³⁹⁶ T. 11 September 2007 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵³⁹⁷ T. 11 September 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵³⁹⁸ T. 12 September 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo s*ecteur* and immediate surrounds).

⁵³⁹⁹ T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds).

T. 11 September 2007 p. 68 (ICS); T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁰¹ T. 11 September 2007 p. 69 (ICS); T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

road between the clinic and the primary school there was a Pepsi kiosk, and near to the school was another landmark identified by the witness. 5402

2055. On Defence Exhibit 568, the witness indicated that the number "30" represented the location of the Pepsi kiosk roadblock. 5403 This other landmark was approximately 100 metres across the road from the school and about 250 to 300 metres along the road from the Pepsi kiosk; the Pepsi kiosk was roughly 120 metres from the clinic. 5404 The clinic was about 400 to 500 metres from Ngoma Military Camp. 5405 The witness testified that Matyazo secteur was located within the dotted line marked on Defence Exhibit 568. 5406 On Defence Exhibit 568, the number "18" represented Matyazo market square 5407 and "37" marked the location of the Pentecostal Church. 5408

2056. Witness D-2-5-W testified that from 10 April 1994, people from Gikongoro préfecture and the communes of Maraba, Huye and Runyinya in Butare préfecture came to Matyazo secteur in Ngoma commune, Butare préfecture. 5409 They were fleeing from insecurity in their home areas and took refuge at Matyazo Primary School, Matyazo Pentecostal Church and Matyazo Clinic. 5410 The witness stated that on three occasions, the last of which was on 18 April 1994, he provided assistance to those who had gathered at Matyazo Clinic, including bringing water, firewood and food. Matyazo Clinic was surrounded by a fence and entry was gained by a small door. At no time during his visits did the witness notice soldiers or policemen guarding the clinic; people could come and go as they pleased. 5413

2057. Witness D-2-5-W testified that on the afternoon of 21 April 1994, around 4.00 p.m. he was present at the Pepsi kiosk in Matyazo secteur with other members of the public. 5414 A group of around 12 soldiers arrived in a Toyota pickup vehicle and called the civilians over to them. 5415 It was a green Toyota pickup with MINITRAP written on it with yellow registration plates, meaning it was an official vehicle and not a military vehicle. ⁵⁴¹⁶ One of the soldiers, Second Lieutenant Niyonteze, explained that they had come to Matyazo as they had received information that there were many RPF accomplices in the secteur. 5417 Niyonteze claimed that it was likely that RPF soldiers would come to hide in Matyazo and pass themselves off as

⁵⁴⁰² T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds).

 ⁵⁴⁰³ T. 11 September 2007 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
 5404 T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds).

⁵⁴⁰⁵ T. 12 September 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁰⁶ T. 11 September 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁰⁷ T. 11 September 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁰⁸ T. 11 September 2007 p. 69 (ICS); T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁰⁹ T. 12 September 2007 p. 12 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹⁰ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 12, 14; T. 17 September 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹¹ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 12, 14; T. 17 September 2007 p. 15 (ICS); T. 3 October 2007 pp. 42-43 (ICS); T. 4 October 2007 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹² T. 12 September 2007 p. 14 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹³ T. 12 September 2007 p. 14; T. 17 September 2007 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹⁴ T. 12 September 2007 p. 21 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹⁵ T. 12 September 2007 p. 21; T. 17 September 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹⁶ T. 12 September 2007 p. 22 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴¹⁷ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 21, 23; T. 17 September 2007 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

refugees.⁵⁴¹⁸ He asked the civilians for their assistance in checking whether there were RPF soldiers or accomplices hiding among the refugees who had come to Matyazo, starting first with Matyazo Primary School.⁵⁴¹⁹ Witness D-2-5-W's attitude towards the Tutsi refugees changed after Niyonteze's speech.⁵⁴²⁰

2058. When put to Witness D-2-5-W that his statement of 23 May 1997 to Rwandan authorities made no mention of RPF combatants hiding in Matyazo as refugees, Witness D-2-5-W stated that his statement was incomplete. When put to Witness D-2-5-W that there was no mention of this event in his confession of 3 June 1997 to Rwandan authorities, Witness D-2-5-W stated that he omitted many details from that confession. Witness D-2-5-W stated that he wrote it quickly and under pressure in the Prosecutor's office. He did include this information in his fourth statement to Rwandan authorities of 4 June 1999, He did include this information in his fourth statement to Rwandan authorities of 4 June 1999, his statement to the Kanyabashi Defence team dated 26, 28 and 29 October 2004, his confession to the President of the *Gacaca* court.

Primary School at around 5.00 p.m. on 21 April 1994, where they found a large number of people gathered in the school's classrooms. The soldiers asked the civilians, including the witness, to check the identity cards of those gathered in the classrooms and to let Hutus and people they knew from Matyazo leave and return home. After this exercise had been carried out, only Tutsis remained. The soldiers then asked the civilians to surround the school complex so that no one could escape. As it was beginning to get dark, the witness went home to collect a torch. On returning to the school, the soldiers told the witness to stand in front of the classrooms in order to provide illumination with the torch. Witness D-2-5-W was a civilian at the time and participated in the attack. The soldiers opened fire on the Tutsis sheltering inside the classrooms. The witness recalled that in one classroom, young Tutsis had gathered and were trying to defend themselves. The soldiers threw petrol inside and on the roof of the classroom and set it alight; those inside died from the effects of the flames and fumes. The witness testified that the killings started at around 6.00 or 6.30 p.m.

```
<sup>5418</sup> T. 12 September 2007 pp. 22-23; T. 17 September 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS); T. 4 October 2007 p. 42 (ICS)
(Witness D-2-5-W).

5419 T. 12 September 2007 pp. 22-23 (Witness D-2-5-W).
5420 T. 3 October 2007 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5421</sup> T. 17 September 2007 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5422</sup> T. 17 September 2007 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5423</sup> T. 17 September 2007 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5424</sup> T. 2 October 2007 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5425</sup> T. 2 October 2007 pp. 63, 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5426</sup> T. 2 October 2007 pp. 68, 72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5427</sup> T. 12 September 2007 pp. 23-24 (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5428</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 24; T. 4 October 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5429</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 24 (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5430</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 24 (Extract) p. i; T. 4 October 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5431</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 24 (Extract) p. i; T. 2 October 2007 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5432</sup> T. 2 October 2007 pp. 82-83 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5433</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 24; T. 4 October 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5434</sup> T. 12 September 2007 pp. 24-25 (Witness D-2-5-W).
```

⁵⁴³⁵ T. 12 September 2007 p. 25; T. 4 October 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

and lasted until sunrise, between 4.00 a.m. and 5.00 a.m. ⁵⁴³⁶ Between 250 and 300 people were killed. He stated that he did not see Kanyabashi, *Conseiller* Athanase Nshimiyimana, or *commune* policemen at Matyazo Primary School during the attack. ⁵⁴³⁸

2060. Witness D-2-5-W testified that after the attack, the soldiers became angry when they realised the *conseiller de secteur* had not been present during the attack to fight the enemy. The soldiers claimed that the *conseiller* and *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi, nicknamed *Kanyabatutsi*, were working together to protect Tutsis and accomplices. Before the attack on the clinic, Niyonteze said that the *conseiller* of Matyazo and Kanyabashi should be put on a shortlist of RPF supporters. In cross-examination Witness D-2-5-W testified that Niyonteze made this statement on 21 April 1994 and thereafter repeated it in the following days. Soldiers often said Kanyabashi was an RPF accomplice too. S443

2061. When put to Witness D-2-5-W that Niyonteze's statement was not included in his statement of 23 May 1997 to Rwandan authorities, Witness D-2-5-W stated that he had not had enough time to elaborate and could not remember all the details at the time of making the statement. Witness D-2-5-W agreed that he also omitted this from his statements to the Rwandan Prosecutor dated 12 November 1997 and 4 June 1998 because he only discussed salient points. This incident was also missing from his statement to the Kanyabashi Defence team dated 26, 28 and 29 October 2004, although Witness D-2-5-W testified that he told them about it. It was also not mentioned in his confession to the President of the *Gacaca* court because he could not mention every detail.

2062. Witness D-2-5-W testified that he later saw that it was true that Kanyabashi was protecting Tutsis because he passed the *commune* office at the end of May, and in mid-June 1994 and saw Tutsis concealed there. ⁵⁴⁴⁸

2063. Witness D-2-5-W testified that the same group of soldiers and civilians which had participated in the attack on Matyazo Primary School proceeded to Matyazo Clinic and, on the way, were joined by other members of the public. The group arrived at the clinic, which was unguarded, between 6.00 a.m. and 7.00 a.m. on 22 April 1994. The refugees at the dispensary could come and go as they wished. Just as they had done at Matyazo Primary

⁵⁴⁵¹ T. 12 September 2007 p. 38 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵⁰ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 30-31; T. 3 October 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴³⁶ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 25, 28-29; T. 4 October 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5437 T. 12 September 2007 p. 28; T. 2 October 2007 p. 78 (ICS); T. 3 October 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5438 T. 12 September 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness D-2-5-W).
5439 T. 12 September 2007 p. 29 (Witness D-2-5-W).
5440 T. 12 September 2007 pp. 29-30; T. 4 October 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5441 T. 12 September 2007 pp. 55-56 (ICS); T. 17 September 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5442 T. 3 October 2007 pp. 54, 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5443 T. 3 October 2007 pp. 58-60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5444 T. 17 September 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5445 T. 2 October 2007 pp. 58, 61-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5446 T. 2 October 2007 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5447 T. 2 October 2007 pp. 68, 72 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5448 T. 3 October 2007 pp. 52-53, 62-63 (ICS); T. 4 October 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
5449 T. 12 September 2007 p. 30; T. 4 October 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

School, they checked the identity cards of people sheltering in the clinic; the Hutus returned home leaving the Tutsis. 5452 From the opposite side of the road, in front of the Electrogaz workers housing, the soldiers opened fire and threw grenades at the Tutsis sheltering in the clinic. 5453 The attack started between 7.20 a.m. and 7.30 a.m. and ended at 10.30 a.m. 5454 The attack did not take place between 6.00 p.m. and 8.00 p.m. 5455 Between 200 and 250 people were killed. 5456

2064. Witness D-2-5-W testified that Kanyabashi, Conseiller Athanase Nshimiyimana and commune policemen were not present on the day of the attack on the clinic. 5457 Kanyabashi did not play any role in those killings. 5458 Even if Kanyabashi, the *conseiller* or the *commune* policemen had been present during the primary school and clinic attacks, they would not have been able to prevent those soldiers from killing because the soldiers were well prepared for the attack. 5459 At the time, soldiers held the power and civilian authorities were afraid. 5460 The civilian authorities would nevertheless have heard of the massacres. 5461

2065. Witness D-2-5-W was tried together with Conseiller Nshimiyimana in Rwandan court. 5462 When it was put to Witness D-2-5-W that in their trial before the Rwandan court Conseiller Nshimiyimana testified that he called Kanyabashi on 22 April 1994 to inform him of the catastrophic situation in Matyazo and Kanyabashi replied that he could not do anything, Witness D-2-5-W stated that he could not confirm this without re-reading the relevant Rwandan judgment. 5463 He testified that the said judgment was still awaiting the result of an appeal to rectify its shortcomings. 5464 At the time of his testimony Witness D-2-5-W was detained with Conseiller Nshimiyimana at Karubanda prison. 5465

2066. In Gacaca proceedings Witness D-2-5-W learned that Conseiller Nshimiyimana admitted he went to the clinic in the afternoon after the killings had taken place and took some children he found who were not dead to a presbytery and others to the hospital. 5466 Witness D-2-5-W testified that if Second Lieutenant Nivonteze had not been at Matyazo, the killings would not have occurred there. 5467

⁵⁴⁵² T. 12 September 2007 p. 30; T. 4 October 2007 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵³ T. 12 September 2007 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵⁴ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 31, 39, 45; T. 3 October 2007 pp. 68-69 (ICS); T. 4 October 2007 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W). 5455 T. 12 September 2007 pp. 44, 46 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵⁶ T. 12 September 2007 p. 39; T. 3 October 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵⁷ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 39, 45-47; T. 13 September 2007 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W) (referring to the absence of *commune* police only).

⁵⁴⁵⁸ T. 13 September 2007 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁵⁹ T. 12 September 2007 pp. 29, 50-51; T. 13 September 2007 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶⁰ T. 3 October 2007 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶¹ T. 4 October 2007 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶² T. 13 September 2007 pp. 13, 19-20, 31-32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶³ T. 13 September 2007 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 586 (Kanyabashi) (Gacaca Judgement relating to Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 587B (Ntahobali) (Final Findings in the Case of Witness D-2-5-W); T. 4 October 2007 pp. 43, 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶⁴ T. 13 September 2007 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶⁵ T. 13 September 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶⁶ T. 12 September 2007 p. 39 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁴⁶⁷ T. 12 September 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).

2067. In *Gacaca* proceedings, no one mentioned Kanyabashi's name in relation to the attacks at the dispensary, the primary school or the church in Matyazo. He also never heard anyone say that Ngoma *commune* police officers participated in the Matyazo massacres. 469

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-9-U

2068. Witness D-9-U, a female Hutu farmer, testified that Matyazo Clinic is located on the main road between Butare and Gikongoro. The clinic is directly opposite the Matyazo market and one could walk between the two places in one minute. The witness identified another landmark, which she situated on a secondary road, five minutes' walk from Matyazo Primary School and 10 minutes' walk from the clinic. The secondary road is secondary road.

2069. Two weeks after the death of Habyarimana, people from Huye *commune* and Gikongoro *préfecture* sought refuge at Matyazo Clinic and Matyazo Primary School. They arrived around midday. The *conseiller de secteur* called on the public to provide assistance to these people. This was on the same day the refugees arrived. Following the *conseiller's* announcement, the witness went to the clinic and helped those who had gathered there by supplying beans, potatoes and water. There were more than 1,000 men, women and children present in the clinic and they had come with their cattle. The witness visited the clinic on three occasions. The occupants were not guarded and could move about freely; some left the clinic to sell their cattle or ask for food from neighbouring houses. They remained in the clinic for one week.

2070. In cross-examination Witness D-9-U testified that the refugees arrived at the clinic approximately one week after Habyarimana's death. They remained at the clinic for one week and were then killed two weeks after Habyarimana's death. When put to the witness that her statement of 29 November 2004 stated the refugees arrived at the clinic two weeks after Habyarimana's death, Witness D-9-U testified that it must have been recorded wrong. When put to the witness that her statement of 29 November 2004 also stated that she went to the clinic to see the refugees out of curiosity, rather than because the *conseiller* asked them to assist, Witness D-9-U testified that her statement was taken down wrong. S484

```
<sup>5468</sup> T. 12 September 2007 p. 40 (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5469</sup> T. 13 September 2007 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W).
<sup>5470</sup> T. 31 January 2008 pp. 41-43, 48-53 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5471</sup> T. 31 January 2008 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5472</sup> T. 31 January 2008 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5473</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 19-20, 55 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5474</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5475</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5476</sup> T. 7 February 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5477</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5478</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 21, 58 (ICS); T. 7 February 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5479</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5480</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 p. 48 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5481</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5482</sup> T. 5 February 2008 p. 32; T. 7 February 2008 p. 30 (Extract) p. i (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5483</sup> T. 5 February 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5484</sup> T. 5 February 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
```

2071. Witness D-9-U testified that Kanyabashi was not present at the clinic the day the refugees arrived, but she admitted that she could not see the dispensary from her home. On their way to the clinic from Gikongoro along the main road, the refugees had to pass two roadblocks.

2072. Witness D-9-U testified that the *conseiller de secteur* thereafter held a meeting in the two weeks following Habyarimana's death which encouraged members of the public to take action to prevent assailants from Huye *commune* from entering Matyazo *secteur*. The *conseiller* said that he was calling on people to protect the *commune*'s borders because Kanyabashi had instructed that assailants should not enter the *commune* to kill the refugees. At the time, some people said that Kanyabashi was an accomplice because he had ordered that the assailants be prevented from pursuing and killing the refugees. Assailants on the other side of the *commune*'s border shouted that Kanyabashi had prevented the killing of Tutsi refugees and should thus also be killed. The meeting took place after the refugees arrived at the clinic. Between 500 and 1,000 people attended the meeting, including the witness. Following that meeting, members of the public and *commune* police officers went to the *secteur* border to hold back the assailants and they remained there for three days.

2073. Witness D-9-U testified that around 8.00 p.m. on the third day of the police and civilians' defence of the Matyazo *secteur* border, she heard gunshots coming from Matyazo Primary School, located close to her home, which lasted until 5.00 a.m. the following day. That morning the witness saw corpses at the school and concluded that the soldiers had killed the people who had been sheltering in the school. She also heard people say that soldiers and civilians had been responsible for the attack. At 9.00 a.m. or 10.00 a.m. the same day, the witness heard shots being fired from Matyazo Clinic, which lasted until 2.00 p.m. or 3.00 p.m. People were saying that the refugees at the dispensary were being massacred. The following day the witness saw corpses at the clinic.

```
<sup>5485</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5486</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5487</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 26; T. 5 February 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5488</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 28; T. 5 February 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5489</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 26; T. 4 February 2008 pp. 29-30, 36 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5490</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5491</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 28 (Extract p. ii); T. 5 February 2008 pp. 17-19 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5492</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 28 (Witness D-9-U) (referring to first meeting).
<sup>5493</sup> T. 5 February 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5494</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 26; T. 4 February 2008 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5495</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 p. 48 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5496</sup> T. 4 February 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5497</sup> T. 5 February 2008 p. 57 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5498</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 p. 48; T. 5 February 2008 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness D-9-
U).
5499 T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS); T. 5 February 2008 p. 59 (Witness D-9-U).
<sup>5500</sup> T. 4 February 2008 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).
```

2074. Witness D-9-U denied that the clinic attack occurred between 6.00 and 8.00 p.m. ⁵⁵⁰¹ or that the attack ended at 10.00 a.m. ⁵⁵⁰² The witness agreed that there were many RPF members and followers among the Tutsi population of Matyazo. 5503

2075. Witness D-9-U identified locations throughout Matyazo with reference to Defence Exhibit 568 (Sketch by Witness D-2-5-W), which was admitted as Defence Exhibit 624. 5504

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

2076. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, 5505 testified that from 19 to 21 April 1994, he had been assigned to guard one of Ngoma commune's border areas at Mukura bridge on the border between Ngoma and Gishamvu communes. 5506 On 21 April 1994, the witness intended to stay at home but on receiving a message from a colleague, he went to Mukura bridge at 8.30 or 9.00 a.m. 5507 He went home around noon. 5508 When put to Witness D-2-YYYY that his statement of 19 November 2004 stated that he did not work on Thursday 21 April 1994, in contradiction to his testimony, Witness D-2-YYYY explained it was a misunderstanding, as he had told the investigator that he had a rest day, not that he had rested that day. 5509

2077. Witness D-2-YYYY stated that on 22 April 1994 Kanyabashi chaired a meeting at the *commune* office, which started at 8.30 a.m. ⁵⁵¹⁰ After the meeting, Kanyabashi remained at the commune office until 1.30 p.m. and then went home for two hours, until 3.30 p.m. 5511 Kanyabashi returned to the *commune* office at 3.30 p.m. and went home for the day at about 5.00 p.m. ⁵⁵¹² The witness went to Kanyabashi's house from 3.30 p.m. to 5.00 p.m. before returning to the *commune* office where he spent the night. 5513

2078. Witness D-2-YYYY remained at the *commune* office until 5.00 p.m. the following day, [Saturday] 23 April 1994. State 5.00 p.m., he was posted to guard Kanyabashi's residence with Witness D-2-5-I and spent the night there. State Kanyabashi left his home with Witness D-

⁵⁵⁰¹ T. 4 February 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁰² T. 5 February 2008 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁰³ T. 5 February 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁰⁴ T. 6 February 2008 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁰⁵ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵⁰⁶ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 39-42, 44 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 38-39 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 34, 52-55 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 4 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

5507 T. 27 November 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 65-67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵⁰⁸ T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵⁰⁹ T. 3 December 2007 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵¹⁰ T. 28 November 2007 p. 19 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 49 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 16, 38-39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵¹¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 20 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 49 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 11

December 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

5512 T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 49 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 p. 27 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵¹³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
5514 T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵¹⁵ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 21, 23-24 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

2-5-I at 6.00 p.m. and returned around 7.00 p.m. or 7.30 p.m. 5516 He did not go out again. 5517 On [Sunday] 24 April 1994, Witness D-2-YYYY was on guard at Kanyabashi's house until 5.00 p.m. 5518 Kanyabashi did not go out that day. 5519 Witness D-2-YYYY testified that he remembered what happened between 21 and 24 April 1994 because it was the first time in his life he had experienced such events. 5520

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

2079. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, testified that on 22 April 1994 he rested at home until 5.00 p.m. when he reported for work at the *commune* office where he spent the night. 5521 On 23 April 1994, the witness remained at the *commune* office. 5522 At 5.00 p.m. Kanyabashi arrived and asked the witness to accompany him. 5523 Kanyabashi, the witness and another person drove to Mukoni and the Hotel Faucon, where they were shot at. 5524 In view of the prevailing insecurity, the witness spent the night at Kanyabashi's house. 5525 While he denied being on duty with Witness D-2-YYYY at Kanyabashi's residence on 23 April 1994, 5526 he testified that Witness D-2-YYYY was at Kanyabashi's residence on the night of 23 April 1994. 5527

3.6.16.4 Deliberations

2080. Both Parties agree that massacres were carried out in Matyazo at the end of April. Further, Kanyabashi's presence on the site, at some point in time during the massacres, is not contested. The issue of contention is the role Kanyabashi played in this event and whether he had authority over the perpetrators of these massacres.

2081. The Defence presented an alibi through Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-5-I. The Chamber recalls that an accused does not bear the burden of proving his alibi beyond a reasonable doubt. 5528 Rather, "[h]e must simply produce the evidence tending to show that he was not present at the time of the alleged crime", 5529 or, otherwise stated, present evidence "likely to raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution case". 5530 The Chamber notes that the testimony of Witness D-2-YYYY, if believed, would provide Kanyabashi with an alibi for the

⁵⁵¹⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 22 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 53-54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵¹⁷ T. 28 November 2007 p. 22 (ICS), (Witness D-2-YYYY).
5518 T. 28 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
5519 T. 28 November 2007 pp. 24 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵²⁰ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵²¹ T. 21 January 2008 p. 48 (ICS); T. 28 January 2008 pp. 31-32 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I). 5522 T. 21 January 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵²³ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 pp. 16-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵²⁴ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵²⁵ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS); T. 23 January 2008 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵²⁶ T. 23 January 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵²⁷ T. 23 January 2008 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 414; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 184; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 331; Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 202; Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 107; Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 17.

Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 202; Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 17.

⁵⁵³⁰ Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 331; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 184; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 42; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 60; Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 17.

following periods: 8.30 a.m.-1.30 p.m. and 3.30 to 5.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994; ⁵⁵³¹ 5.00 to 6.00 p.m. and 7.00/7.30 p.m.-midnight on 23 April 1994; ⁵⁵³² and until 5.00 p.m. on 24 April 1994. 5533 Similarly, the testimony of Witness D-2-5-I, if believed, would provide Kanyabashi with an alibi for the entire evening of 23 April 1994 from 5.00 p.m. 5534 The Prosecution evidence places the commission of the crime at between 21 and 25 April 1994, at 6.00 p.m./nightfall at Matyazo Clinic. Accordingly, the alibi evidence would account for Kanyabashi's activities for only part of the relevant time frame advanced by the Prosecution. In particular, it does not cover 21 and 25 April 1994. Further, as regards 22 and 24 April 1994, the alibi evidence covers most of the day up to 5.00 p.m., the time when Witness D-2-YYYY left Kanyabashi at the *commune* office and his home respectively. The Chamber estimates that the distance between the Ngoma commune office and Kanyabashi's house on the one hand and Matyazo Clinic on the other is no more than two kilometres, 5535 which could easily be covered in a few minutes by car. In this connection, the Chamber recalls that according to Prosecution Witnesses QI and RL, Kanyabashi travelled to Matyazo Clinic by car. 5536 The Chamber will now assess whether the Prosecution has eliminated the reasonable possibility that the alibi is true. 5537

2082. The Chamber notes that Witness D-2-YYYY was recruited by Kanyabashi and served under him for 15 years. 5538 The Chamber considers that as a consequence of this long-standing relationship of subordination, he may have had an interest in defending Kanyabashi. The Chamber further observes that apart from the evening of 23 April 1994, Witness D-2-YYYY's alibi evidence is uncorroborated. As for Witness D-2-5-I, the Chamber notes that he was another of Kanyabashi's subordinates⁵⁵³⁹ and for that reason may have felt inclined to protect Kanyabashi. The Chamber also notes that the Kanyabashi Defence failed to enter a notice of alibi under Rule 67 (A)(ii)(a) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, which further detracts from the credibility of the alibi. When viewed as a whole, the Chamber does not find that the evidence adduced in support of Kanyabashi's alibi for the attack at Matyazo Clinic raises a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution evidence placing him at the scene of the crime between 21 and 25 April 1994.

2083. The Chamber has considered the evidence relating to the geography of Matyazo. In particular, the Chamber has taken account of the map, photos and videotape produced by Ghandi Shukry, ⁵⁵⁴⁰ as well as the sketch maps produced by Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-W⁵⁵⁴¹ and Witness D-9-U. ⁵⁵⁴² The Chamber notes that no objections were made to the

⁵⁵³¹ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 19-21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵³² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
5533 T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
5534 T. 21 January 2008 pp. 48, 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁵⁵³⁵ Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma Commune – Genocide Sites); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵³⁶ T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-79, 83 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵³⁷ Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 41; Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 106; Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 18.

⁵⁵³⁸ T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁵⁵³⁹ T. 30 January 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

Prosecution Exhibit 13A-D (Photos of Matyazo Clinic, Butare); Prosecution Exhibit 14 (Sketch Map of Matyazo Clinic, by Shukry); Prosecution Exhibit 15 (Videotape of Matyazo Clinic, Butare).

⁵⁵⁴¹ Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds).

admission into evidence of these various documents. 5543 Moreover, the maps are consistent both with each other and with the testimony of each witness recalled above.

2084. The Chamber observes that there are a number of consistencies with respect to the events at Matyazo between the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses QI and RL. In particular, the Chamber notes that both witnesses testified to having seen Kanyabashi arrive at the clinic, 5544 address the Tutsis who were sheltering inside 5545 and leave shortly thereafter. 5546 Both witnesses testified to the presence of soldiers in or near the clinic and further testified that Kanyabashi was accompanied by soldiers during his visit. 5547 In this connection, the Chamber recalls Witness QI's testimony that he saw six soldiers close to the gate of the clinic and an additional two soldiers accompanying Kanyabashi. State Witness RL similarly testified to the presence of a total of eight soldiers at the clinic, three or four of whom had arrived with Kanyabashi. 5549 Both witnesses testified that Kanyabashi spoke to the soldiers and Witness QI described how he saw the Accused tell the soldiers to "begin the job". 5550 Moreover, both witnesses testified that the attack involved shots being fired. 5551 Witness QI stated that the attack on the clinic started at around 6.00 p.m. and Witness RL testified that the attack took place around nightfall. 5552 Neither witness testified to an attack on Matyazo School. As regards time frames, Witness QI's testimony places the date of the attack about two weeks and five days after the death of the President, i.e. around 25 April 1994. 5553 Witness RL's estimation of the date of the attack is similar, being between 15 and 19 days after the President's death, namely between 21 and 25 April 1994. 5554 In any event, the Chamber does not consider the minor margin of difference as to time frames to be significant, especially in view of the time that has elapsed since the events.

2085. The Kanyabashi Defence questioned the identification testimony of Witness RL. It notes that Witness RL was 13 years old at the time, recalls his admission that he neither knew the Accused's first name nor the number of times he saw Kanyabashi before the events, and suggests that Witness RL mistakenly identified another man, Major Cyriaque Habyarabatuma,

⁵⁵⁴² Defence Exhibit 624 (Ntahobali) (Copy of Defence Exhibit 568 marked by Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁴³ T. 14 June 2001 pp. 108-109, 119-122 (Shukry); T. 12 September 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 6 February 2008 pp. 71-72 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁵⁴⁴ T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 pp. 82-83 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁴⁵ T. 23 March 2004 p. 52; T. 24 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI); T. 29 March 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁴⁶ T. 23 March 2004 p. 52; T. 24 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 p. 78; T. 29 March 2004 p.

^{56 (}ICS) (Witness RL).
5547 T. 24 March 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness RL). 5548 T. 23 March 2004 p. 51; T. 24 March 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 55-56 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁴⁹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵⁰ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 52-53; T. 24 March 2004 pp. 57-58 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁵¹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 57 (Witness QI); T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 18, 22 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵² T. 24 March 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵³ Witness QI testified that his employer asked them to leave due to insecurity: T. 23 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness QI). This was 5 days after the death of the President; T. 24 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness QI). He went to his uncle's house where he stayed for 2 weeks: T. 24 March 2004 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness QI), after this he proceeded to the Matyazo Clinic: T. 23 March 2004 p. 44 (Witness QI).

T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-78, 83 (Witness RL) (first occasion he saw Kanyabashi at the clinic was a week and a half to two weeks after the death of the President and second occasion was five days later).

as Kanyabashi.⁵⁵⁵⁵ In respect of Witness RL's identification of Kanyabashi in 1994, the Chamber considers that, even considering the young age of the witness during the events of 1994, his testimony that he knew Kanyabashi to be *bourgmestre* and saw him in his locality before April 1994⁵⁵⁵⁶ is credible in light of the fact that Kanyabashi was a public authority in Witness RL's home *commune* of Ngoma. The Chamber finds that by April 1994, the witness was capable of identifying Kanyabashi at Matyazo based on his previous experiences. Witness RL's courtroom identification of Kanyabashi, ⁵⁵⁵⁷ while of limited value, supports this finding. The Chamber further finds that Witness RL gave consistent and convincing testimony when confronted with the assertion that he may have mistaken Kanyabashi for another man, Major Cyriaque Habyarabatuma. The Chamber recalls that the witness insisted that there was "no way" he could have mistaken Habyarabatuma for Kanyabashi, despite his young age in 1994. The witness clearly distinguished the positions of authority held by these men, one of whom used to hold meetings and the other who used to be present whenever there was a search. The constant of the positions of authority held by these men, one of whom used to hold meetings and the other who used to be present whenever there was a search.

2086. Witness QI identified Kanyabashi in court and stated that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*. The Defence did not question Witness QI's ability to identify Kanyabashi, other than by questioning the witness' testimony in relation to seeing him at the Matyazo Clinic. The Kanyabashi Defence pointed to an apparent inconsistency between Witness QI's testimony during examination-in-chief that his hiding place was 50 paces from the clinic and his statement under cross-examination that he hid about 500 metres from the clinic. The Chamber does, however, accept the witness' explanation of the discrepancies in his testimony, *i.e.* that he travelled a total distance of 500 metres to arrive at a hiding place that was approximately 50 paces from the clinic. The Chamber does not agree with the Kanyabashi Defence's submission that even from a distance of 50 metres it would have been virtually impossible for Witness QI to clearly hear the words of an address attributed to Kanyabashi.

2087. The Chamber's attention has been drawn to the existence of inconsistencies in the Prosecution evidence and issues that may adversely impact upon the credibility of the witnesses. With regard to inconsistencies between the accounts on this event, the Chamber recalls that Witness QI stated that there were approximately 500 Tutsis at the clinic before the attack while Witness RL estimated there to have been between 2,500 and 3,000. However, the witnesses may not have had the same opportunities to observe the number of Tutsis who had gathered at the clinic. In particular, the Chamber notes that Witness QI did not actually enter the clinic building and was in hiding, in a bush approximately 50 metres away. Since I is a state of the provided in the control of the provided in the clinic building and was in hiding, in a bush approximately 50 metres away.

```
5555 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 218, 252-255.
```

⁵⁵⁵⁶ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 5-6 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵⁷ T. 29 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵⁸ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 48-50 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁵⁹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁶⁰ T. 30 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁶¹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS); T. 23 March 2004 pp. 52, 69 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁶² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 227; T. 23 March 2004 pp. 45, 47-48; T. 24 March 2004 p. 55 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁶³ T. 25 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁶⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 227.

⁵⁵⁶⁵ T. 23 March 2004 p. 52 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁶⁶ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 44-45, 47, 52; T. 25 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).

contrast, Witness RL was free to move about and testified to being on the road in front of the clinic when he saw the Accused for the second time. ⁵⁵⁶⁷ Accordingly, the Chamber does not consider this inconsistency to be significant.

2088. The witnesses also disagreed as to the type of vehicle that transported Kanyabashi to Matyazo Clinic: Witness QI claimed it was a Peugeot 305 while Witness RL stated that it was a Toyota stout. The Chamber considers this discrepancy to concern a detail of minor importance that does not impact on the credibility of the witnesses' testimony as a whole. In addition, the Chamber notes that in their previous statements, Witness QI stated that the vehicle was white and Witness RL said that the vehicle was green. The Chamber considers this discrepancy to concern a detail of minor importance that does not impact on the credibility of the witnesses' testimony as a whole.

2089. The witnesses' testimony also differs as to the length of time that elapsed between Kanyabashi's departure and the witnesses' realisation that an attack was underway: between 20 to 50 seconds on the one hand⁵⁵⁷⁰ and one hour on the other.⁵⁵⁷¹ The Chamber recalls, however, that Witness RL left the clinic after Kanyabashi's departure.⁵⁵⁷² He did not see the start of the attack; rather, he heard gunshots from the direction of the clinic approximately one hour later.⁵⁵⁷³ Witness QI testified that the refugees were attacked with machetes and shot at.⁵⁵⁷⁴ In the Chamber's view, it is possible that there were two stages to the attack; the first involving machetes shortly after Kanyabashi left and the second involving guns one hour later. This would explain why Witness RL only heard shots one hour after his departure from the clinic. It is also possible that Witness RL simply did not hear the attack until later. For these reasons, the Chamber does not regard this difference to be materially important to the assessment of the witnesses' credibility.

2090. In his statement given to Prosecution investigators on 11 June 1996, Witness QI stated that he spent two days hiding near the clinic⁵⁵⁷⁵ rather than four or five hours as he testified.⁵⁵⁷⁶ In his statement he also claimed that he arrived at his relative's house in his home *secteur* in Huye *commune* around 18 April 1994,⁵⁵⁷⁷ rather than five days after the President's death, which reflects his testimony.⁵⁵⁷⁸ In relation to the attack itself, the witness' statement

⁵⁵⁶⁷ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 10-11 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁶⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI); T. 25 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness RL).

Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 202 (Kanyabashi) (List of Alleged Omissions; 11 July 1996, 16 January 1997 and 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁷⁰ T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁷¹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁷² T. 25 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁷³ T. 25 March 2004 p. 84; T. 30 March 2004 pp. 18, 20, 22 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁷⁴ T. 23 March 2004 p. 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁷⁵ T. 24 March 2004 p. 60 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁷⁶ T. 23 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness QI) (Witness QI arrived at the clinic around 3.00 or 4.00 p.m.); T. 23 March 2004 pp. 50, 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI) (Witness QI left his hiding place at around 8.00 p.m. on the same day he arrived).

⁵⁵⁷⁷ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 36-37 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI)

⁵⁵⁷⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness QI).

suggested that there were two attacks, one before and one after Kanyabashi's visit, 5579 whereas according to his testimony the attack started after Kanyabashi left. 5580 The Chamber does not consider these inconsistencies to be sufficiently serious as to undermine Witness QI's credibility; the inconsistencies between his testimony and previous statement of 11 June 1996 do not go to the root of his account and concern details the clarity of which may be affected by the passage of time. The Chamber finds Witness QI's account of events at Matyazo to be generally robust and credible.

2091. As regards Witness RL, when it was put to him that his statements of 11 July 1996 and 16 January 1997 stated that the refugees were already in the clinic compound when Kanyabashi arrived, 5581 in contrast to his testimony that they were outside the clinic, 5582 the witness suggested that the statements had been taken down incorrectly and maintained the account he gave in examination-in-chief. In the same statements, the witness also stated that Kanyabashi first came to the clinic on 23 April 1994, 5584 rather than a week and a half to two weeks after the President's death, as mentioned during his testimony. After the events at Matyazo, Witness RL stated that he went to Ngoma Parish where he witnessed another attack. However, in his statement of 8 May 1998, he said he was present in Ngoma Parish between 13 and 20 April 1994, 5587 which conflicts with the dates on which he claimed to be in Matyazo as given in his testimony and other statements. In cross-examination, the witness underlined that the dates he gave in his statements were approximate and referred to the difficult conditions in which he was living at the time and his desire to survive.

2092. The Chamber considers these discrepancies to be of a minor nature. Furthermore, in the Chamber's view, the witness was able to provide plausible explanations for these inconsistencies and recalls that his young age during the events, the time that has elapsed since and the trauma he may have experienced may explain the date discrepancies. The Chamber does therefore not consider such discrepancies to have a material impact on the veracity of the witness' account or on his credibility, and is of the view that his testimony is generally clear and consistent.

2093. The Defence adduced evidence through Witness D-2-21-T to support assertions that Prosecution Witnesses RL and QI were *Ibuka* members who participated in meetings where they were asked to falsely accuse Kanyabashi regarding killings at Ngoma Parish and Matyazo. Witness D-2-21-T alleged that a participant whose first name matches that of

⁵⁵⁷⁹ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201(Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI)

⁵⁵⁸⁰ T. 23 March 2004 p. 57; T. 24 March 2004 p. 58 (Witness QI).

⁵⁵⁸¹ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness RL); Defence Exhibit 203 (Kanyabashi) (16 January 1997, 11 July 1996, 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸² T. 25 March 2004 p. 78; T. 29 March 2004 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸³ T. 29 March 2004 pp. 43, 46-47 (ICS) (Witness RL); Defence Exhibit 203 (Kanyabashi) (16 January 1997, 11 July 1996, 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸⁴ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 5-6 (Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 77-78 (Witness RL); Defence Exhibit 203 (Kanyabashi) (16 January 1997, 11 July 1996, 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸⁶ T. 25 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness RL); Defence Exhibit 203 (Kanyabashi) (16 January 1997, 11 July 1996, 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL).

⁵⁵⁸⁷ Defence Exhibit 203 (Kanyabashi) (16 January 1997, 11 July 1996, 8 May 1998, Statements of Witness RL). ⁵⁵⁸⁸ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 5-7 (Witness RL).

Witness RL, read aloud that he had seen Kanyabashi incite people to perpetrate the killings in Ngoma and that Kanyabashi was with soldiers, policemen and *Interahamwe* in Ngoma. Stanyabashi was D-2-21-T alleged that this person also read that Kanyabashi incited people to kill at the Matyazo health centre. Witness D-2-21-T also testified that a participant whose full name matched that of Witness QI read from his sheet of false accusations that he saw Kanyabashi with soldiers and policemen at Matyazo, inciting people to kill.

2094. As regards the identity of the Prosecution witnesses whom Witness D-2-21-T seeks to implicate, the Chamber notes that although Witness D-2-21-T only provided the first names of individuals who appear to be Prosecution Witnesses RL and QI, she indicated additional identifying details that match the profile of Witness RL⁵⁵⁹² and Witness QI.⁵⁵⁹³ Witness D-2-21-T stated that the person with Witness RL's first name was around 15 years old in 1995 and came from Matyazo.⁵⁵⁹⁴ Witness D-2-21-T stated that the person with Witness QI's first name was between 30 and 35 in 1995.⁵⁵⁹⁵

2095. The Chamber has taken into account Witness D-2-21-T's ability to indicate details relating to the identity of Prosecution Witnesses RL and QI. Given the Chamber's finding that Witness D-2-21-T's allegations regarding fabrication of testimony were neither credible nor reliable (), the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-21-T's testimony does not undermine the credibility of Witnesses RL and QI on events at Ngoma Church or at Matyazo health centre.

2096. The Kanyabashi Defence led evidence through Witness D-2-18-O to further support Witness D-2-21-T's assertions that Witnesses QI and RL were *Ibuka* members who "suggested" at *Ibuka* meetings that people should testify to having seen Kanyabashi in the company of soldiers at Ngoma *commune* and Matyazo Clinic. 5596 Witness D-2-18-O claimed that Witness RL told the meeting that it was necessary to place Kanyabashi at Ngoma Church even though Witness RL told them that he had not seen Kanyabashi there. 5597

2097. Witness D-2-18-O testified that discussions at *Ibuka* meetings centred on giving evidence for the Prosecution, even if the accused person was innocent.⁵⁵⁹⁸ The witness also stated that while some of the association's members speak the truth, others did not.⁵⁵⁹⁹ The Chamber does not consider the Defence evidence on this issue, even if believed, to be sufficiently strong to raise a doubt about the truthfulness of Witnesses QI and RL's testimony under oath or to call their credibility into question insofar as the events at Matyazo Clinic or Ngoma Parish are concerned. Even if true, Witness D-2-18-O's claim that Witnesses QI and RL encouraged *Ibuka* members to give evidence against Kanyabashi does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that their testimony is false or unreliable.

```
5589 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5590 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5591 T. 3 November 2008 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5592 Prosecution Exhibit 95 (Personal Particulars).
5593 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5594 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 52-56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5595 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).
5596 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 22-26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
5597 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 28, 31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-O).
5599 T. 19 May 2008 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-18-O).
```

2098. Witness D-2-18-O suggests no reason why Witnesses QI or RL would want to implicate Kanyabashi in criminal acts. The Chamber notes that Witness D-2-18-O did not allege that Witnesses QI and RL indicated that Kanyabashi was innocent and yet encouraged others to testify against him.

2099. The Chamber further notes that Witness D-2-18-O conceded that some members of the association speak the truth. Taking into account the foregoing, as well as the Chamber's position, discussed above that Witness D-2-18-O's testimony should be treated with appropriate caution (), the Chamber finds that Witness D-2-18-O's assertions about Witnesses QI and RL do not undermine the veracity of Witnesses QI and RL's testimony under oath.

2100. Turning now to the Defence evidence on the attacks at Matyazo, the Chamber observes that, as with the Prosecution's witnesses, there are similarities between the testimony of Defence Witnesses D-2-18-O, D-2-5-W and D-9-U. In this regard, the Chamber recalls that all three witnesses testified that there were two separate attacks in Matyazo: Matyazo Primary School was attacked in the evening of 21 April or thereabouts⁵⁶⁰⁰ and Matyazo Clinic was attacked early the following morning.⁵⁶⁰¹ The attack on the clinic involved shots being fired.⁵⁶⁰² The assailants included soldiers.⁵⁶⁰³ Two witnesses further testified that they did not see Kanyabashi at the clinic.⁵⁶⁰⁴

2101. The Chamber also recalls that all three witnesses testified that the refugees who had gathered at the clinic were free to move around and were unguarded. The Chamber regards this aspect of the witnesses' testimony as lacking credibility in view of the existence of a roadblock approximately 120 metres from the clinic. Except for the testimony of Witnesses D-2-5-W and D-9-U that the refugees were free to move around, and without accepting the other aspects of their testimony as fact, the Chamber notes that the Defence provided a reasonably plausible and consistent account of events through Witnesses D-2-5-W and D-9-U. While Witness D-2-18-O's evidence also supports that account, the Chamber underlines that there are serious credibility issues surrounding his role in the events of 1994, as discussed above.

2102. Having considered the details of the attacks described by both the Prosecution and Defence, in particular the dates and times, the Chamber considers that the Defence's version of events could plausibly exist alongside the version advanced by the Prosecution. It is possible that Matyazo Clinic was subject to two separate attacks; one on or around 22 April 1994 which took place in the morning and another towards the end of April 1994 which took place at night.

_

⁵⁶⁰⁰ T. 15 May 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁶⁰¹ T. 15 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 pp. 31, 39, 45 (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁶⁰² T. 15 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 4 February 2008 pp. 30, 34 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁶⁰³ T. 15 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 p. 30 (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 5 February 2008 p. 57 (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁶⁰⁴ T. 15 May 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 pp. 39, 45-47 (Witness D-2-5-W).

⁵⁶⁰⁵ T. 15 May 2008 p. 44 (Witness D-2-18-O); T. 12 September 2007 p. 14 (Witness D-2-5-W); T. 4 February 2008 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness D-9-U).

⁵⁶⁰⁶ T. 12 September 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-W); Defence Exhibit 568 (Kanyabashi) (Sketch Map of Matyazo secteur and immediate surrounds).

Indeed, the Chamber notes that this is consistent with Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which alleges that an initial attack took place at the clinic before the massacre with which Kanyabashi stands charged.

2103. In light of all of the foregoing, having assessed the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that in late April 1994, following an initial attack by soldiers, Kanyabashi went to Matyazo Clinic. The Chamber further finds it is established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi addressed the Tutsis who were sheltering in the clinic at that time and thereafter ordered soldiers to open fire on the Tutsis, resulting in many deaths, as alleged in Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

3.6.17 Butare University Hospital, April – May 1994

3.6.17.1 Introduction

2104. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that in April and May 1994, Ntahobali, Kanyabashi and André Rwamakuba, accompanied by soldiers or militiamen of unknown identity acting under their orders, went to Butare University Hospital in Ngoma *commune* to select, kidnap and kill Tutsis who had sought treatment or refuge there. 5607

2105. The Prosecution submits that Ntahobali led an attack at Butare University Hospital with a certain Doctor Gatera. It claims that this attack was part of a pattern of attacks led by soldiers and *Interahamwe*, including Ntahobali, throughout Butare *préfecture*. The Prosecution claims that Ntahobali and Doctor Gatera prevented Tutsi civilians at Butare University Hospital from getting medical treatment by specifically targeting the sick on the basis of their Tutsi ethnicity. The Prosecution asserts that Doctor Gatera was Ntahobali's accomplice and told nurses not to treat Tutsi patients. The Prosecution submits that in this regard, Ntahobali and Doctor Gatera knew or ought to have known that their actions could increase the pain and suffering of ill or injured Tutsi civilians. S609

2106. The Prosecution submits that in addition to participating in the commission of genocide as a direct perpetrator, Ntahobali also directly provoked, prompted or otherwise induced *Interahamwe* and soldiers to commit genocide. It submits that Ntahobali's presence at Butare University Hospital, where corpses were loaded into a vehicle while the Accused stood watching, was sufficient to instigate others to commit genocide. ⁵⁶¹⁰

2107. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QY, RE, SS, FAP and SD.

2108. The Ntahobali Defence submits that of the five Prosecution witnesses called to testify to the events that took place at Butare University Hospital, only one, Witness QY, incriminated Ntahobali. The Ntahobali Defence further submits that Witness QY's testimony cannot be

⁵⁶⁰⁷ Para. 6.34 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Ntahobali only).

⁵⁶⁰⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 188, 190, paras. 81-86.

⁵⁶⁰⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 203, para. 129.

⁵⁶¹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 184, para. 71.

relied upon because it was uncorroborated and based on hearsay, in particular with regard to the identity of Ntahobali. ⁵⁶¹¹ In support of its submissions, the Ntahobali Defence relies on the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika and Ntahobali Defence Witnesses H1B6 and WCNMC.

3.6.17.2 Preliminary Issues

2109. The Ntahobali Defence submits that the Prosecution has failed to provide adequate specificity in pleading superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute in respect of Paragraph 6.34 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. Specifically, the Ntahobali Defence asserts that the identification of the individuals who allegedly acted under Ntahobali's authority as "soldiers *or* militiamen" is not clear and consistent information about persons or groups of persons over whom Ntahobali allegedly exercised control. In the Ntahobali Defence's view, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was therefore defective and these defects were not cured. Selas

2110. Recalling the requirements for adequately pleading Article 6 (3) responsibility, the Chamber considers that, if the wording of Paragraph 6.34 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is read in light of the Indictment as a whole, all the requisite elements pursuant to Article 6 (3) are provided. In Paragraph 6.34, the subordinates are identified by reference to a class or category of individuals, i.e. militiamen or soldiers. Although this paragraph does not specify particular militiamen or soldiers or address the issue of effective control, Paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5 assert that Ntahobali led the MRND militiamen and exercised authority over the Interahamwe in Butare. The Ntahobali Defence concedes that the designations "MRND militiamen" and "Interahamwe" are very clear and precise. 5614 Thus, the Indictment sets forth that these individuals were under the orders of Ntahobali. Further, the Indictment informed Ntahobali of the alleged criminal conduct in stating that he was present with the said individuals when Tutsis were selected, kidnapped and killed. Paragraph 6.34 specifies the criminal conduct alleged to have been committed by the subordinates, namely the kidnapping and killing of Tutsis and, furthermore, describes the subordinates as having acted under Ntahobali's orders. In addition, Paragraph 6.55 alleges that Ntahobali took no steps to halt the massacres. Therefore, the Indictment identified: Ntahobali's subordinates, specifying that Ntahobali had effective control over them; the alleged criminal conduct of his subordinates; Ntahobali's knowledge of the criminal conduct; and Ntahobali's failure to take necessary and reasonable measures to prevent or punish such acts.

2111. Accordingly, the Chamber concludes that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is not defective and the Prosecution has adequately pled superior responsibility under Article 6 (3). Further, there was no prejudice to Ntahobali in the preparation of his defence case

_

⁵⁶¹¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 372; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 15.

⁵⁶¹² Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 26-27 (emphasis added).

Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 31, 60-61.

⁵⁶¹⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 27.

3.6.17.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QY

- 2112. Witness QY, a Tutsi who was 17 years old and unemployed in 1994, testified that she was present in Butare after the death of the President. She claimed that she sustained a head injury at Matyazo Primary School which resulted in her being admitted to Butare University Hospital. She arrived at the hospital in the afternoon and was taken to the operating theatre. When a nurse was about to suture her wound, a man named Doctor Gatera arrived and said to the nurse, "Rwandan soldiers are dying and you are treating people who will not heal?" The witness took this to mean that Tutsis should not be treated because they should die. Following Doctor Gatera's statement, the witness received no further treatment. She moved to the maternity ward opposite the operating room where she remained for a number of days.
- 2113. Witness QY testified that during her stay in the hospital, she witnessed an attack one late afternoon by Doctor Gatera and another man who was later identified to her as Shalom, the son of Nyiramasuhuko. The witness stated that she saw Shalom with her own eyes, although she could not remember whether his attire was civilian or military. The witness was about 14.5 metres away from Shalom at the time. Shalom Shalom at the time. Shalom a woman with whom she later fled, that the man's name was Shalom.
- 2114. Witness QY stated that she could not describe exactly what happened during the attack because she fled immediately with the woman who had identified Shalom to her, although she witnessed the assailants removing patients' blankets in order to check their identity. The women hid in the woods in front of the maternity ward. In the evening, they both returned to the hospital as they had nowhere else to go. When they arrived, a woman informed them that those who had not fled had been abducted by the assailants and advised the witness and her companion to go back to where they had come from. ⁵⁶²⁴
- 2115. Witness QY stated she did not know where the abducted patients had been taken, but the next day she saw many corpses being loaded into a vehicle next to the hospital in the presence of the man she knew as Shalom. She stated that she stayed at the hospital until she was chased away. ⁵⁶²⁵
- 2116. Witness QY described the man identified to her as Shalom as a young man of average height, neither dark nor fair and added that she had not seen him since the events of 1994. She testified that she did not know any other person whose name was Shalom either during the war

```
<sup>5615</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness QY).
<sup>5616</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 8, 12 (Witness QY).
<sup>5617</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness QY).
<sup>5618</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13 (Witness QY).
<sup>5619</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13, 15 (Witness QY).
<sup>5620</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13 (Witness QY).
<sup>5621</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 13, 17 (Witness QY).
<sup>5622</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 21-22 (Witness QY).
<sup>5623</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (Witness QY).
<sup>5624</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (Witness QY).
<sup>5625</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 14 (Witness QY).
```

or at the time of her testimony. Witness QY indicated that she would be unable to recognise that man. Because of the circumstances in which they found themselves, she was not able to observe Shalom closelv. 5626

Prosecution Witness RE

- 2117. Witness RE, a Tutsi who was 16 years old in 1994, testified that after the death of the President she left Gikongoro and sought refuge in Butare with other unidentified individuals. 5627 They first went to Butare University Hospital where they spent one week. 5628 During her stay at the hospital, she saw many wounded people inside the hospital buildings and outside, where plastic sheeting had been erected to provide temporary shelter. 5629
- 2118. Witness RE stated that she was chased away from the hospital after one week by someone named Doctor Gatera, who told the witness and her companions to go to the Butare préfecture office. 5630 She did not know why Doctor Gatera took that decision. 5631 The witness testified that she did not check to see whether Doctor Gatera was accompanied by others when he told them to leave. Witness RE stated that those who were told to leave were not escorted to the préfecture office, although they were beaten by soldiers who told them to vacate the hospital. They left the hospital and travelled to the *préfecture* office on foot; no vehicles were provided. 5632 Those who remained at the hospital were taken away to be killed. 5633

Prosecution Witness SS

- 2119. Witness SS, a Tutsi, testified that she went to Butare University Hospital in April 1994 and stayed there until 27 May 1994. 5634 Three days after her arrival at the hospital, she went to a tent set up by the Red Cross where she received medical treatment on two occasions. 5635 However, she was unable to complete her treatment because the director of the hospital, Doctor Gatera, prevented the Red Cross from treating Tutsis by taking away their medication. 5636 Witness SS testified that the Red Cross had pitched two tents in front of the hospital and stated that there were also other tents for Burundian refugees. 5637
- 2120. Witness SS stated that she left the hospital on 27 May 1994, though she did not leave voluntarily. 5638 She testified that she was asked to leave by Doctor Gatera and the tents were

⁵⁶²⁶ T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).

⁵⁶²⁷ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 9, 32, 43 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶²⁸ T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶²⁹ T. 25 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶³⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶³¹ T. 26 February 2003 p. 40 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶³² T. 26 February 2003 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness RE).

⁵⁶³³ T. 25 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).

⁵⁶³⁴ T. 3 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness SS).

⁵⁶³⁵ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness SS).

⁵⁶³⁶ T. 3 March 2003 p. 25 (Witness SS).

⁵⁶³⁷ T. 4 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness SS).

⁵⁶³⁸ T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS).

destroyed soon after. ⁵⁶³⁹ She left with a group of Tutsis and together they travelled on foot to the Butare *préfecture* office. They were accompanied by four soldiers. ⁵⁶⁴⁰

Prosecution Witness FAP

- 2121. Witness FAP, a Tutsi who was a farmer in 1994, testified that she went to the children's ward of Butare University Hospital in April 1994 with one of her sons. She went there because she thought she had family there but could not find them. On arriving at the hospital she encountered approximately 60 patients being treated by the Red Cross in three tents pitched in front of the hospital. Two tents were occupied by wounded Tutsis and the third tent housed refugees from Burundi. She met four soldiers who beat her up on discovering that she was Tutsi.
- 2122. Witness FAP testified that the Red Cross was providing treatment at the hospital, although soldiers later took the Red Cross' medication away and the patients who were receiving treatment were killed. The soldiers subsequently informed Witness FAP that the makeshift shelter of plastic sheeting under which she had taken refuge had to be destroyed because of *Inkotanyi* infiltrators and those sheltering there had to go to the Butare *préfecture* office. There were between 15 and 50 people in the group that left the makeshift shelter. The group travelled to the *préfecture* office on foot and were accompanied by four soldiers. Witness FAP could not remember exactly how long she stayed in the hospital but on cross-examination stated that she spent around two weeks there. 5649

Prosecution Witness SD

2123. Witness SD, a Tutsi, testified that after the death of the President on 6 April 1994, she left her home in Gikongoro *préfecture* with her children and went to Butare *préfecture*, first staying in Runyinya *commune* for three days and then moving to Butare University Hospital. She arrived at the hospital around 17 or 18 April 1994. While at the hospital, she stayed in a tent north of the paediatric wing. She saw two tents adjacent to where *Médecins Sans Frontières* ("MSF") was providing medicine. The witness stated that there were wounded refugees at the hospital but could not provide an approximate figure. People were allowed to move about freely but the witness did not because she was looking after a sick child. She saw two tents adjacent to where *Médecins Sans Frontières* ("MSF") was providing medicine. The witness stated that there were wounded to move about freely but the witness did not because she was looking after a sick child.

```
<sup>5639</sup> T. 4 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness SS).
<sup>5640</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS).
<sup>5641</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 40; T. 13 March 2003 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness FAP).
<sup>5642</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5643</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5644</sup> T. 12 March 2003 p. 36 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5645</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 40; T. 12 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5646</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5647</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 41; T. 12 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5648</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 41; Witness FAP).
<sup>5649</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 40; T. 12 March p. 35 (Witness FAP).
<sup>5650</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness SD).
<sup>5651</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SD).
<sup>5652</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 38-39 (Witness SD).
<sup>5653</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 38-39 (Witness SD).
```

There were no Hutus sheltering at the hospital although there were some Burundian refugees whose ethnic origin was unknown to the witness. 5654

2124. Witness SD testified that she and her children spent one week at the hospital and were then transferred by the hospital director, Doctor Gatera, to the Butare *préfecture* office. The witness stated that many other people were transported with her to the Butare *préfecture* office in a red Toyota vehicle that belonged to the hospital and was driven by a member of the hospital staff. A soldier accompanied the vehicle during the trip. Only those who refused to get into the vehicle were subjected to acts of violence. S657

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

2125. Alexandre Bararwandika, a Hutu doctor from Burundi, testified that after the death of the President, he briefly worked as a volunteer for the Belgian Red Cross until it left Butare on 13 or 14 April 1994. Given that various NGOs were withdrawing from the area, the witness, together with others, established an association to assist those in need. This association operated out of premises at Butare University Hospital and commenced its activities in the third week of April 1994. The director of the hospital at the time was Doctor Jothan Nshimyumukiza. The witness stayed at the hospital until 3 July 1994.

2126. Bararwandika stated that the association treated wounded men, women, children and some soldiers. The association's role in treating the wounded enabled it to care for others who had been abandoned, mostly Tutsis. The wounded arrived at the hospital in *gendarmerie* and Red Cross vehicles. The hospital only had 300 beds and at a certain point, all the wards were full. In order to address the problem of overcrowding, tents were erected outside. 5664

2127. With regard to the issue of security at the hospital, Bararwandika testified that some patients disappeared during the night and stated that they could have left of their own volition or have been abducted. He knew that some patients had been abducted because other patients had seen the abductions and reported these events back to the witness, as well as identifying the perpetrators of the abductions as militia. The victims of the abductions were Tutsis. The witness testified that the patients who spoke to him about the abductions told him the attackers were *Interahamwe* and *abicanyi*, the latter word meaning "killers" in Kinyarwanda.

⁵⁶⁵⁴ T. 17 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness SD).
⁵⁶⁵⁵ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 39 (Witness SD).
⁵⁶⁵⁶ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 39-40 (Witness SD).
⁵⁶⁵⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness SD).
⁵⁶⁵⁸ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 26-27 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁵⁹ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 27-28 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶⁰ T. 3 July 2006 p. 28 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶¹ T. 3 July 2006 p. 32 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶² T. 4 July 2006 pp. 33 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶³ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 29, 32 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶⁴ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 33 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶⁵ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 34 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶⁶ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 53 (Bararwandika).
⁵⁶⁶⁷ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 55 (Bararwandika).

- 2128. Bararwandika testified that even though the hospital was guarded by soldiers and wounded persons with arms, abductions still took place. According to the witness, this was because there was collusion between some soldiers and militia. As a consequence of the prevailing insecurity at the hospital, many people hid in different rooms. In some cases, the doctors tried to extend patients' treatment time by exaggerating their illnesses, making their condition look more serious than was actually the case or by putting them in locked wards. In the witness' view, these measures worked because the abductions stopped and patients were still alive on 3 July 1994, when he left the hospital for good. The witness conceded that he never personally saw militia or anyone else carry out killings at the hospital. He worked at the hospital five or six days per week, but never worked at night.
- 2129. Bararwandika testified that some patients were moved to the Butare *préfecture* office and the EER primary school in mid-May 1994 following the issuance of a hospital directive to that effect ⁵⁶⁷⁴

Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6

2130. Witness H1B6, a Hutu, testified that he lived and worked at Butare University Hospital between April and mid-June 1994. Following the death of the President, only a few of the hospital's staff reported for work. The first casualty of the war was admitted to the hospital on 8 or 9 April 1994. Médecins Sans Frontières arrived at the hospital around 10 April 1994 and erected a transit tent close to the paediatrics unit for patients who had left the hospital and were waiting to return to their homes. Three MSF officers brought medicines and equipment and worked alongside the few hospital staff who had reported for duty. The witness knew that they were MSF staff because of the MSF symbols on their tents and uniforms. The MSF staff left a little less than two weeks after their arrival. Witness H1B6 learned of their departure from a radio report stating that the MSF doctors had left because some of their patients had been taken from the hospital and killed. The witness said that he never witnessed the abduction or killings of patients. Patients were evacuated from the hospital for hygienic reasons, but not abducted. Patients were evacuated from the hospital for hygienic reasons, but not abducted.

2131. Witness H1B6 stated that Burundian refugees were also present at the hospital before the death of the President. On the day of the President's death, a tent was erected to house the

```
<sup>5668</sup> T. 3 July 2006 p. 34 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5669</sup> T. 3 July 2006 p. 36 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5670</sup> T. 3 July 2006 pp. 36-37 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5671</sup> T. 3 July 2006 p. 37 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5672</sup> T. 4 July 2006 p. 42 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5673</sup> T. 4 July 2006 pp. 42, 46 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5674</sup> T. 3 July 2006 pp. 37-39 (Bararwandika).
<sup>5675</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5676</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 51 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5677</sup> T. 1 December 2005 pp. 11-12, 42 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5678</sup> T. 1 December 2005 pp. 42-43 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5679</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 43 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5680</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 45 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5681</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 45; T. 1 December 2005 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5682</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).
<sup>5683</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).
```

Burundian refugees who were waiting to be resettled in refugee camps. ⁵⁶⁸⁴ By 10 April 1994, the Burundian refugees left the hospital bound for refugee camps located in Butare *préfecture*. ⁵⁶⁸⁵

- 2132. Witness H1B6 testified that a total of three tents were erected near the paediatrics unit. The tents accommodated about 50 to 60 people and the number of patients later increased. As the number of patients grew and the hospital became increasingly overcrowded, patients who were convalescing returned to their homes and only those who were seriously ill remained at the hospital. As a consequence of overcrowding, the hospital administration sought assistance from civilian authorities around mid-May. Those who were sheltering in the tents and who did not require to be admitted were moved to the Episcopal Church of Rwanda and thereafter to the Butare *préfecture* office. S689
- 2133. The witness stated that students of the *École des Sous Officiers* ("ESO") were in charge of security at the hospital. A system was in place whereby anyone present on the hospital premises was required to have a ticket stating that he or she was a patient or attending to a patient. The ESO students checked the tickets and anyone not in possession of a ticket was asked to leave the premises. Witness H1B6 testified that between April and July 1994, he never saw Ntahobali at the hospital nor did he ever hear that Ntahobali had been seen there.
- 2134. In April 1994, the director of the University Hospital was Doctor Zetam Nshimyumukiza, who often reported for duty, and the dean of the faculty of medicine was Karemera, an ophthalmologist, whom the witness did not see. Due to the security situation, most doctors preferred to stay at home. However some doctors, mainly surgeons, came when needed including Drs. Munyemana, Kageruka, Twagirayezu, Gatera, Viateur and Mwigimba. Munyemana, Kageruka, Twagirayezu, Gatera, Viateur and Mwigimba.

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNMC

2135. Witness WCNMC, a Hutu who was 19 years old in 1994, testified that she visited Butare University Hospital on approximately six occasions to visit her father who was a patient there between 4 and 25 April 1994. Her father was admitted to the wards located behind the paediatric unit. 5697

```
<sup>5684</sup> T. 1 December 2005 p. 10 (Witness H1B6).
```

⁵⁶⁸⁵ T. 1 December 2005 p. 11 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁸⁶ T. 1 December 2005 p. 12 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁸⁷ T. 1 December 2005 p. 43 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁸⁸ T. 1 December 2005 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁸⁹ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 51-52 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹⁰ T. 1 December 2005 p. 53 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹¹ T. 1 December 2005 p. 54 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹² T. 1 December 2005 p. 55 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹³ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 9-10 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹⁴ T. 1 December 2005 p. 54 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁶⁹⁵ T. 1 December 2005 p. 54; T. 1 December 2005 p. 65 (Witness H1B6) (French) (for spelling of "Viateur").

⁵⁶⁹⁶ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 28-29, 47 (Witness WCNMC).

⁵⁶⁹⁷ T. 29 November 2005 p. 28 (Witness WCNMC).

2136. The witness stated that she did not see anyone carrying weapons during her visits although there were soldiers in charge of protecting as well as guarding patients. In describing the security system in place at the hospital, the witness explained that caretakers were issued with a document attesting to the fact that the bearer of the document, whose name was written on it, was taking care of a patient. Failure to produce this document upon request would result in access to the area where the patients were located being denied. During one of the witness' visits to the hospital, three women were expelled from her father's ward by the soldiers in charge of security as they did not have the required documentation. The soldiers escorted them to a courtyard in front of the paediatric unit. There were about 20 to 40 people and three tents in the courtyard at the time. 5698

2137. Witness WCNMC testified that during her visits to the hospital, she never saw Ntahobali nor did her father ever tell her that he had seen him. 5699 Moreover, she never heard that Ntahobali had come to the hospital to kill or abduct people, nor did she ever hear anyone asserting that people had been abducted or killed at that location between April and July 1994 5700

3.6.17.4 Deliberations

2138. It is uncontested that the Red Cross and MSF were providing healthcare to patients in tents placed in front of Butare University Hospital. Both Prosecution and Defence witnesses gave consistent evidence in this regard. ⁵⁷⁰¹ In particular, the Chamber recalls the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika, a Hutu who provided health care to refugees at the hospital during the genocide, who confirmed that there were hundreds of wounded persons, mainly Tutsis, who had been abandoned and who sought treatment at the hospital. 5702 The Chamber finds this witness generally credible. The issues before the Chamber are whether these Tutsi refugees who were sheltering at the hospital were then kidnapped and killed, and what role, if any, Ntahobali played in this event, as alleged in the Indictment against him.

2139. With regard to the Prosecution's assertion that Ntahobali was assisted by a certain Doctor Gatera, the Chamber observes that Doctor Gatera's presence at Butare University Hospital and the fact that he asked Tutsi patients to leave the hospital was corroborated by numerous witnesses. 5703 In particular, Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6 confirmed that Doctor Gatera was present at the hospital during the time period under consideration. 5704 Witness QY also testified that Doctor Gatera was present at the hospital and ordered a nurse to cease giving her treatment because she was Tutsi. 5705 This account is reinforced by the evidence of several

⁵⁶⁹⁸ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 29-30 (Witness WCNMC).

⁵⁶⁹⁹ T. 29 November 2005 p. 30 (Witness WCNMC).

⁵⁷⁰⁰ T. 29 November 2005 p. 31 (Witness WCNMC).

⁵⁷⁰¹ T. 25 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE); T. 4 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness SS); T. 12 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SD); T. 3 July 2006 p. 33 (Bararwandika); T. 1 December 2005 p. 12 (Witness H1B6); T. 29 November 2005 pp. 29-30 (Witness WCNMC). ⁵⁷⁰² T. 3 July 2006 pp. 29, 32-33 (Bararwandika).

⁵⁷⁰³ T. 19 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness QY); T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 p. 25 (Witness SS); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 39 (Witness SD); T. 1 December 2005 p. 54 (Witness H1B6).

⁵⁷⁰⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness QY).

Prosecution witnesses, who testified that they were deprived of necessary medical treatment because of their Tutsi ethnicity. For instance, Witness SS, a Tutsi, testified that she initially received treatment at the hospital but that Doctor Gatera prevented the Red Cross from treating Tutsis by taking away their medicine. Witness FAP corroborated the fact that the Red Cross' medication was taken away. The STORY of the

- 2140. Witness QY testified that she saw Doctor Gatera and Ntahobali removing blankets from patients to check their identity.⁵⁷⁰⁸ The witness stated that she fled, but that upon her return to the hospital the next day, she observed Ntahobali standing next to a vehicle as it was loaded with corpses.⁵⁷⁰⁹ Witness RE confirmed that those who refused to go to the Butare *préfecture* office on the orders of Doctor Gatera were taken away to be killed.⁵⁷¹⁰ However, Witness RE did not provide any details of the killings, nor did she assert that she witnessed this. In any event, Bararwandika also observed that some patients disappeared during the night and that other patients had observed abductions by *Interahamwe*.⁵⁷¹¹
- 2141. The Chamber notes that Witness QY is the only Prosecution witness to implicate Ntahobali in the events at Butare University Hospital. Witness QY did not know Ntahobali prior to the events and only based her identification of him on the hearsay statement of a fellow refugee after the incident. Furthermore, she was unable to identify Ntahobali in court. The Chamber recognises that the time period between the events at the hospital and the witness' testimony was significant and could account for her inability to identify Ntahobali in court. However, in the view of the Chamber, the hearsay nature of Witness QY's identification of Ntahobali coupled with the lack of any corroboration to the presence of Ntahobali at Butare University Hospital raises a doubt as to whether he was, in fact, present.
- 2142. In light of the foregoing, and having assessed the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to discharge its burden of proof in relation to the allegations contained in Paragraph 6.34 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, related to Ntahobali. It has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt that in April and May 1994, Ntahobali went to Butare University Hospital with a view to select, kidnap and kill Tutsis that had sought treatment or refuge there.

3.6.18 Butare University Hospital – Kanyabashi

3.6.18.1 Introduction

2143. Paragraph 6.37 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that in early May 1994, Hutus from the region of Mare went to Butare University Hospital to collect Tutsis from their region and take them home. Kanyabashi allegedly promised to protect the Tutsis and provide them with a military escort in view of their fear of returning home. The Kanyabashi Indictment

⁵⁷⁰⁶ T. 3 March 2003 p. 25 (Witness SS).

⁵⁷⁰⁷ T. 11 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness FAP).

⁵⁷⁰⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 13 (Witness QY).

⁵⁷⁰⁹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness QY).

⁵⁷¹⁰ T. 25 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).

⁵⁷¹¹ T. 3 July 2006 p. 34; T. 4 July 2006 pp. 53, 55 (Bararwandika).

⁵⁷¹² T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13, 65 (Witness QY).

further alleges that Kanyabashi led the convoy of refugees from the hospital and that the refugees were subsequently killed rather than being escorted home. ⁵⁷¹³

2144. Paragraph 6.38 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that on 15 May 1994, Kanyabashi and soldiers checked the identity cards of patients at Butare University Hospital in order to identify Tutsis. Patients identified as Tutsis were allegedly abducted by the soldiers in the presence of Kanyabashi and later killed.⁵⁷¹⁴ The Chamber recalls that in its Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* dated 14 December 2004, it acquitted Kanyabashi of the charges insofar as they were based on this paragraph.⁵⁷¹⁵ Accordingly, Paragraph 6.38 of the Kanyabashi Indictment will not be considered in the present section under review.

2145. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the Expert Report of Alison Des Forges.

3.6.18.2 Preliminary Issues

2146. The Kanyabashi Defence raised several issues regarding alleged defects in the Indictment, including alleged defects in Paragraph 6.37. In its 31 May 2000 Decision, the Chamber held that, with the exception of a minor clarification, Paragraph 6.37 provided adequate notice of the charges against Kanyabashi and, consequently, dismissed the Kanyabashi Defence's request to set aside that paragraph of the Indictment. The Chamber need not revisit the Kanyabashi Defence's assertions regarding alleged defects in the Indictment 5718

3.6.18.3 Evidence

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

2147. Alison Des Forges stated in her Expert Report that the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* helped persuade Tutsis from Huye *commune* who had sought refuge at Butare University Hospital to leave the hospital. The *bourgmestre* was also said to have returned on a number of occasions, twice in the company of soldiers, to see that other Tutsis be removed from the hospital. Some of the Tutsis who had been expelled were killed at a roadblock, a short distance away from the hospital. ⁵⁷¹⁹ Des Forges did not give further evidence in relation to this issue.

⁵⁷¹³ Para. 6.37 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁵⁷¹⁴ Para. 6.38 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁵⁷¹⁵ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 178.

⁵⁷¹⁶ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Preliminary Motion Based on Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. 9 October 1999, para, 42: Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para, 431.

of Procedure and Evidence, 9 October 1999, para. 42; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 431.

5717 *Kanyabashi*, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000, para. 5.21.

⁵⁷¹⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 431.

⁵⁷¹⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 39.

3.6.18.4 Deliberations

2148. The Chamber observes that Paragraph 6.37 of the Kanyabashi Indictment is only cited in support of Article 6 (3) responsibility. In this regard, the Chamber notes that the only evidence proffered by the Prosecution regarding Kanyabashi's alleged activities at Butare University Hospital was a reference to page 39 of Des Forges' Report. The Prosecution led no evidence from its factual witnesses as to Kanyabashi's involvement in the events at Butare University Hospital as alleged in Paragraph 6.37 of the Indictment. None of the Prosecution witnesses placed Kanyabashi at the hospital or otherwise suggested that he may have been involved in transferring patients from the hospital to the Butare *préfecture* office. Furthermore, the Prosecution led no evidence establishing that Kanyabashi had effective control over the assailants, knew about the alleged criminal acts at Butare University Hospital, or that he failed to take reasonable or necessary measures to prevent the criminal acts. For these reasons, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to discharge its burden of proof in relation to the allegations contained in Paragraph 6.37 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. It has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt that in early May 1994, Kanyabashi went to Butare University Hospital where he collected the Tutsis under the false promise to protect them, and instead he subsequently killed them.

3.6.19 Butare Préfecture Office ("BPO"), April – June 1994

3.6.19.1 *Introduction*

2149. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that between 19 April 1994 and late June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, accompanied by *Interahamwe* such as Jumapili, Nsengiyumva, and soldiers went to the BPO to abduct Tutsi refugees. Tutsis that attempted to resist were assaulted and sometimes killed. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali often forced the Tutsis to undress completely before forcing them into vehicles that took them to their death. ⁵⁷²⁰

2150. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment further alleges that aside from his attacks on members of the Tutsi population during this period, Ntahobali, assisted by unknown accomplices, participated in kidnapping and raping of Tutsi women. It is alleged that during the events referred to in the Indictment, rapes, sexual assaults and other crimes of a sexual nature were widely and notoriously committed throughout Rwanda. These crimes were perpetrated by, among others, soldiers, militiamen and *gendarmes* against the Tutsi population, in particular women and girls. Finally, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Ntahobali exercised control over the *Interahamwe* militiamen in Butare *préfecture*. The state of the st

Para. 4.5 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts).

Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali); Para. 6.31 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-11 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali)

^{2-3, 5-6, 8-11} against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

⁵⁷²¹ Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 7 and 11 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-11 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

- 2151. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko ordered, instructed and incited soldiers and *Interahamwe* at the BPO to commit horrendous crimes, including rape and killings, and that her orders were obeyed.⁵⁷²⁴ It further submits that Ntahobali terrorised Tutsi refugees at the BPO by attacking them with machetes, threatening and raping women, and forcibly removing refugees to be killed elsewhere.⁵⁷²⁵
- 2152. In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witnesses TA, QJ, QCB, TK, SJ, SU, QBP, RE, SS, FAP, SD, QY, QBQ and Expert Witness Alison Des Forges. In addition, Witnesses FA, TG, TQ and Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-13-O and D-13-D provided evidence relevant to these events.
- 2153. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence asserts that ordering killings and rapes was contrary to Nyiramasuhuko's character as she had worked her entire life to help the women of Rwanda. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that the Prosecution witnesses are not credible and suggests they fabricated evidence of her involvement in rapes. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence also presents a series of alibis to account for her time from 6 April 1994 until 4 July 1994, claiming she was first in Murambi in Gitarama *préfecture* and she then moved to Muramba in Gisenyi *préfecture* when the RPF took Gitarama town. She admits to travelling to Butare town to visit her family on certain weekends, but she spent most of her time at the Hotel Ihuliro visiting her family. In one case, she says she was sick with malaria, and therefore could not have ordered that Tutsis be killed or raped at the BPO. 5727
- 2154. In support of her alibi, Nyiramasuhuko relies on Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Denise Ntahobali, WZJM, Céline Nyiraneza, WBUC, Maurice Ntahobali, WZNA, WTMP and Edmond Babin and Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nsabimana.
- 2155. The Ntahobali Defence asserts that Witnesses TA, FAP, QBP, SS, QY, SJ and TK provided contradictory evidence regarding Ntahobali's alleged involvement in rapes and, therefore, they were not credible. It asserts that the Prosecution identification evidence was flawed in that it failed to place Ntahobali at the BPO. The Ntahobali Defence further claims that the identification witnesses either did not know Ntahobali previously or did not know his family name. It also argues that Ntahobali could not have driven the Toyota Hilux which several Prosecution witnesses described as transporting *Interahamwe* to the BPO because he did not have a driver's licence and did not know how to drive a vehicle. Ntahobali also relies on a series of alibis, asserting that from 28 April 1994 until 5 May 1994 he was sick in bed with malaria in Butare town and that from 27 May 1994 until 5 June 1994 he was in Cyangugu town. Finally, the Ntahobali Defence asserts that Ntahobali could not have

⁵⁷²⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 29, 72-91, paras. 8, 144-211.

⁵⁷²⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 158-164, 174-175, paras. 10-23, 48-51.

⁵⁷²⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 5.

⁵⁷²⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 617, 696, 698, 725, 796, 834, 857.

⁵⁷²⁸ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 pp. 60-61; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 pp. 6, 8, 18-20; Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 193-269.

⁵⁷²⁹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 97-98, 106, 147-160.

⁵⁷³⁰ Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 3, para. 68.

⁵⁷³¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 88-89.

abducted, killed and raped refugees at the BPO at night because he was responsible for turning the generator on and off at the Hotel Ihuliro. 5732

2156. The Ntahobali Defence relies on Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Denise Ntahobali, WZNA, CEM, Clarisse Ntahobali, Céline Nyiraneza, WBUC, Maurice Ntahobali, Ntahobali Defence Witnesses Béatrice Munyenyezi, WDUSA, WUNJN, WUNHE, WMCZ and WUNHF and Ntahobali.

3.6.19.2 Preliminary Issues

Prima Facie Case

2157. On behalf of Nyiramasuhuko, the Ntahobali Defence asserts that the Chamber permitted the amendment of the Indictment to add the count of rape against Nyiramasuhuko without performing the requisite evaluation of the existence of *prima facie* evidence to support such a charge. ⁵⁷³³ In this regard, the Chamber recalls that on 10 August 1999, it granted leave to the Prosecutor to add a count of rape as a crime against humanity and to add Article 6 (3) responsibility to certain counts against Nyiramasuhuko. 5734 The Chamber recalls that in 1999, Rule 50 did not require the Chamber to make a prima facie determination in considering a motion to amend the indictment. 5735 This *prima facie* requirement was added to Rule 50 in 2004. Therefore, the Chamber was not required to make a prima facie determination in considering the Prosecution's Motion to add a count of rape against Nyiramasuhuko in 1999. Furthermore, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not appeal the Chamber's decision to grant leave to amend the Indictment or seek reconsideration by the Trial Chamber. Finally, after the completion of the Prosecution's case, the Chamber found that the Prosecution presented sufficient evidence that could sustain a conviction for the crime of rape against Nyiramasuhuko based on Article 6 (3). 5736 Therefore, the Chamber finds that Ntahobali's assertion on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko is unfounded, untimely and moot.

Superior-Subordinate Relationship

2158. The Ntahobali Defence also asserts, on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko, ⁵⁷³⁷ that the Indictment was defective for failing to specifically plead a superior-subordinate relationship to support the charge of rape under Article 6 (3) against Nyiramasuhuko. It asserts the Prosecution failed to state whether Ntahobali was alleged to be Nyiramasuhuko's

⁵⁷³² Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 3, para. 43.

⁵⁷³³ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 64.

⁵⁷³⁴ *Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment (TC), 10 August 1999.

⁵⁷³⁵ See Rule 50 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, Consolidated Texts (1 July 1999). Rule 50 was amended on 24 April 2004 to include subsection (A)(ii) which provides, "(ii) In deciding whether to grant leave to amend the indictment, the Trial Chamber or, where applicable, a Judge shall, *mutatis mutandis*, follow the procedures and apply the standards set out in Sub-Rules 47 (E) and (F) in addition to considering any other relevant factors." ⁵⁷³⁶ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para, 92.

The Chamber notes that Ntahobali made no effort to establish his *locus standi* to make legal argument, on behalf of the co-Accused, Nyiramasuhuko. Nonetheless, in the interest of providing each of the Accused a full opportunity to ventilate their arguments, the Chamber considers Ntahobali's arguments on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko.

subordinate. ⁵⁷³⁸ The Chamber recalls that the indictment should plead that the accused is the superior of subordinates sufficiently identified, over whom she had effective control and for whose acts she is alleged to be responsible. Nonetheless, a superior need not necessarily know the exact identity of his or her subordinates who perpetrate crimes, in order to incur liability under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. ⁵⁷³⁹ In this regard, Paragraph 6.54 of the Indictment asserts that Nyiramasuhuko, among others, aided and abetted her subordinates in carrying out the massacres of the Tutsi population. However, the Indictment does not identify her subordinates. With regard to the attacks at the BPO, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment states that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were accompanied by *Interahamwe* militiamen and soldiers to abduct Tutsi refugees, assault and kill them. ⁵⁷⁴⁰ Paragraph 6.30 does not specify that Nyiramasuhuko was superior to the *Interahamwe* or soldiers or that she directed them in the BPO attacks. Therefore, the Indictment was defective for failing to specify that Nyiramasuhuko was superior to the *Interahamwe* or soldiers.

2159. The Chamber notes that a holistic reading of the Indictment demonstrates that numerous paragraphs pled in support of Article 6 (3) responsibility identify Nyiramasuhuko's alleged subordinates. These paragraphs provide that Nyiramasuhuko is alleged to be superior to *Interahamwe*, including Ntahobali, soldiers, *commune* police and civilians.⁵⁷⁴¹ Even were this not the case, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, filed after the operative Indictment,⁵⁷⁴² specifically alleges that Nyiramasuhuko supervised *Interahamwe*, militiamen and soldiers.⁵⁷⁴³ Similarly, the witness summaries appended to the Pre-Trial Brief confirm that Nyiramasuhuko was an alleged superior to Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and the *commune* police.⁵⁷⁴⁴ The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief included the summaries of 14 witnesses, each of whom asserted that Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* and soldiers to rape and kill Tutsis at the BPO.⁵⁷⁴⁵ Furthermore, the witness statements of Witnesses SS, SU, TA and TK,

⁵⁷³⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 64.

⁵⁷³⁹ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), paras. 19, 55.

Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

⁵⁷⁴¹ Paras. 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.37, 6.38, 6.47, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; *see also* Paras. 5.1, 6.39, 6.49, 6.52, 6.54, 6.55, 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

⁵⁷⁴² The Prosecution filed the Nyiramasuhuko Indictment on 1 March 2001, and filed its Pre-Trial Brief on 10 April 2001. For the preference of post-indictment submissions when conducting a curing analysis, *see generally Ntawukulilyayo*, Judgement (TC), para. 47.

⁵⁷⁴³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 21 ("From 19 April to July 1994, *Interahamwe* militiamen and soldiers, at

For Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 21 ("From 19 April to July 1994, *Interahamwe* militiamen and soldiers, at times under Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's supervision ... took advantage of this [situation at the BPO] and repeatedly went to the *préfecture* office to attack, kidnap and kill the refugees."), 29 ("During the events referred to in their indictments, rapes, sexual assaults and other crimes of a sexual nature ... were perpetrated on the Tutsi population ... by among others, soldiers, militiamen and gendarmes.... Pauline Nyiramasuhuko [and others] committed, ordered, aided and abetted their subordinates and others in the carrying out of rapes, sexual assaults and massacres of the Tutsi population."); *see also* Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 30-31.

5744 See, e.g., Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TA (3) cited in support of all counts against

Nyiramasuhuko and Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Ntahobali ("Nyiramasuhuko was superior to Ntahobali"); Witness QBQ (45), cited in support of all counts against Nyiramasuhuko, and Counts 1-3 against Kanyabashi ("Nyiramasuhuko came to the Prefecture office with *Interahamwe* and communal police. Nyiramasuhuko ordered them to kill men and rape women before killing them."); Witness RB (63) cited in support of Counts 1-2, 5 against Nyiramasuhuko, Counts 1-3 against Ntahobali, and Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Kanyabashi ("RB learned that Ntahobali murdered on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko.").

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TA (3); Witness SJ (9); Witness FAE (17); Witness FAP (27); Witness QBP (44); Witness QBQ (45); Witness RD (64); Witness QZ (62); Witness RF (66); Witness RJ (68); Witness RN (72); Witness SR (83); Witness SS (84); Witness SU (86).

disclosed on 4 November 1998, each stated that Nyiramasuhuko gave orders to the *Interahamwe* in the attacks at the BPO or that she was their superior. The statements of Witnesses QBP and QBQ, disclosed on 1 December 1999, contained similar information. Under these circumstances, the Chamber considers that Nyiramasuhuko received sufficient notice that she was charged with superior responsibility for the alleged acts of the following persons: *Interahamwe*, Ntahobali, militiamen, soldiers and *commune* police.

Failure to Plead Crimes of Abduction, Killing and Rape

- 2160. On behalf of Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko, the Ntahobali Defence asserts that the Indictment failed to plead factual allegations directly implicating them and that, as a matter of law, such failure cannot be cured by subsequent disclosures.⁵⁷⁴⁸
- 2161. The Chamber applies the settled principles of pleading in evaluating whether the Indictments were defective for failing to plead material facts and whether such defects were cured.⁵⁷⁴⁹ The Chamber recalls the Prosecution has an obligation to state the material facts underpinning the charges in the indictment, but not the evidence by which such facts are to be proven.⁵⁷⁵⁰
- 2162. As to the abduction of persons at the BPO, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were accompanied by *Interahamwe* and

5750 Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 470.

^{5746 20} November 1996, Statement of Witness SU, disclosed 4 November 1998 (she "heard Pauline give an order to the *Interahamwe* and the soldiers who were at the *préfecture* to look for young boys and children. The order was respected and carried out"); 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SS, disclosed 4 November 1998 ("Pauline was together with *Interahamwe* who took people and led away in the van ... I also heard her saying, 'take young boy-children away too. Don't leave anybody behind.' The young boys were taken away and killed ... My impression is that Pauline was one of the people who were in charge of the killings and organized the transportation of the people to be killed."); 19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA, disclosed 4 November 1998 ("Pauline was definitely present several times at the *Prefecture* when Shalom and his men were raping girls.... Pauline was the most important person – she was even superior to Shalom. She is the one who spoke to the *Prefect* and she also chose people to be killed and issued commands to the men with her and Shalom."); 22-23 April 1998, Statement of Witness TK, disclosed 4 November 1998 ("I do not know who was the Chief of the *Interahamwe* in the daytime but in the night time from my observations it was Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and her son Shalom (Ntahobali). Both would give orders to the other *Interahamwe* with comments like 'Not to spare anyone.' Also I believe they were the leaders because they (Pauline & Shalome) brought vehicles and they transported those to be killed. They also transported their *Interahamwe*.").

⁵⁷⁴⁷ ⁵ May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP, disclosed 1 December 1999 (during the attacks at the BPO, "some people were put in a big van on the orders of Pauline and taken away to a place called Kabutare to be killed ... Pauline did nothing to save the situation at the material time even though she had the power to do so"); 6 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBQ, disclosed 1 December 1999 ("Pauline again came in the 'Pickup' ... When she arrived she promptly ordered the *Interahamwe* to select some people from the crowd of refugees. Her orders were carried out to the letter.").

⁵⁷⁴⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 76-79.

The Ntahobali Defence suggests the Chamber follow the approach in the *Kalimanzira* Decision of 24 June 2008, in which Trial Chamber III held that the failure to mention particular killings which were susceptible of supporting a separate charge of murder, could not be cured by subsequent timely, clear and consistent disclosures. *See* Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 76; *Kalimanzira*, Decision on Defence Motion to Exclude Prosecution Witnesses BWM, BWN, BXB, BXC, BXD and BXL (TC), 24 June 2008, para. 10. The 24 June 2008 Decision was limited to the particular circumstances of that case. Moreover, Trial Chamber III did not cite any Appeals Chamber decision to support the proposition that *no* amount of subsequent disclosures could cure the defects in the indictment. Therefore, the Chamber declines to follow the approach in the *Kalimanzira* Decision.

soldiers when they went to the BPO to abduct Tutsi refugees. Those who resisted were assaulted and sometimes killed outright at locations such as the EER woods. The Indictment provides that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali often made the refugees undress before forcing them onto vehicles and taking them to their deaths. Therefore, the crimes of abduction and killing at the BPO were clearly pled in the Indictment.

2163. As to the crime of rape, Paragraph 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali indictment states that aside from the attacks on Tutsis, Ntahobali was assisted by accomplices in kidnapping and raping Tutsi women. The Chamber recalls that an indictment paragraph should be read in conjunction with the entire indictment as a whole. Read in this way, the crimes of kidnapping and rape were separately pled to the attacks occurring throughout the rest of the *préfecture*, including the attacks and abductions at the BPO. Nonetheless, the information in Paragraph 6.37 lacked necessary details, including specific dates, locations and the names of victims, to put Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko on notice that they were being charged with raping women or were responsible as a superior for rapes occurring at the BPO. The Indictment was therefore defective in this regard.

2164. The Chamber notes the Prosecution set forth in its Pre-Trial Brief that members of the Interim Government (such as Pauline Nyiramasuhuko) and Ntahobali committed, ordered, and aided and abetted their subordinates and others in the carrying out of rapes, sexual assaults and massacres of the Tutsi population. The Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief included the summaries of numerous witnesses who were to testify as to rape allegations against Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko occurring at the BPO, including Witnesses TA, FAP, QBP, QBQ, QZ, RE, RF, RJ and SW. The State of the Tutsi population.

2165. In its opening statement, the Prosecution reiterated allegations that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for numerous rapes. 5754

⁵⁷⁵¹ Para. 6.30 and 6.31 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

⁵⁷⁵² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 29.

⁵⁷⁵³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TA (3); Witness FAP (27); Witness QBP (44); Witness QBQ (45); Witness QZ (62); Witness RE (65); Witness RF (66); Witness RG (67); Witness RJ (68); Witness SW (87); for example, Witnesses TA, FAP, QBP, QBQ and RJ indicated that Nyiramasuhuko ordered Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* to rape. Other witness summaries indicated that Ntahobali selected young women to rape at the BPO.

For Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 92 ("A woman from the Rwandan society, a woman who is a minister, who is a member of parliament. A woman who lost all her civil nature: People being raped before their parents; watching her children being raped. She had lost her civil nature because in her presence, the most serious rape under the cruelest conditions were applauded. She encouraged even her son to do as much. She put everything she had to the point that she was dressed in military gear to play her role of a militant minister. A woman who had lost every sense of feeling, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko."). Moreover, although not a basis for this ruling, the Chamber notes the Supporting Materials attached to the Amended Indictment of 10 August 1999, and in support of the amended charge in Para. 6.37, the Prosecution cited the statement of Witness QZ which indicated that Shalom and four *Interahamwe* raped a young girl at the *préfecture* office and that Shalom later stood on her legs saying Tutsis are very proud and were too proud to marry Hutus in the past. Witness QZ's statement also included an allegation that she herself was raped by Shalom and four *Interahamwe*. It stated that Pauline was present at the *préfecture* observing the rapes: Indictment Supporting Material, Attachment B, 18 August 1999, pp. 118-119; *see also* Attachment A to the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend Indictment, 18 August 1999, pp. 180-181. This information was provided to Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali within 30 days of their first appearance on the amended charges in 1999: T. 10 August 1999 p. 3.

2166. Based upon the large volume of timely, clear and consistent materials disclosed to Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali indicating that they participated in rapes at the BPO, the Chamber finds they had adequate notice to prepare a defence. The Chamber, therefore, finds this defect in the Indictment was cured. Moreover, the Accused suffered no prejudice as a result of the defect in the Indictment.

Pleading Facts Regarding Particular Victims

2167. On behalf of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, the Ntahobali Defence argues that the Prosecution failed to plead multiple factual allegations in the Indictment. As to the allegations against Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO, it argues that the Prosecution failed to plead that she: (1) ordered the abduction of Mbasha's wife and her children; (2) ordered that a woman named Trifina be killed; (3) abducted two persons named Semanyezi and Annonciata in order to kill them; and (4) ordered *Interahamwe* or soldiers to rape Tutsi girls and women at night. As to the allegations against Ntahobali at the BPO, the Ntahobali Defence argues that the Prosecution failed to plead that he: (1) abducted Mbasha's wife and her children in order to kill them; (2) raped and killed Tutsi refugees at a specific place with soldiers or *Interahamwe*; and (3) raped and killed a Tutsi woman named Immaculée. ⁵⁷⁵⁵

2168. The Appeals Chamber has recognised that there may be instances where the sheer scale of the crimes alleged makes it impracticable to require a high degree of specificity in such matters as the identity of the victims and the dates for the commission of crimes. However, "[t]he Prosecution cannot simultaneously argue that the accused killed a named individual yet claim that the 'sheer scale' of the crime made it impossible to identify that individual in the indictment." The Appeals Chamber has held that the identification of a particular *location* itself refutes the argument that identifying it was somehow impracticable. The same logic would apply to the identification of a particular *victim*. Further, the Appeals Chamber has advised that, "[s]ince the identity of the victim is information that is valuable to the preparation of the defence case, if the Prosecution is in a position to name the victims, it should do so." A failure to plead the names of particular victims where they are known may render the indictment defective on that charge. Such a defect may be remedied by the provision of clear, consistent and timely disclosures.

2169. In the present case, the Indictment was not clear as to how many Tutsis were raped, abducted and killed at the BPO.⁵⁷⁶¹ However, the Pre-Trial Brief and witness statements disclosed to the Defence clearly set forth the Prosecution's case: that there were between several hundred and several thousand Tutsis seeking refuge at the BPO; that these persons were taken away by *Interahamwe*, soldiers and the Accused by repeatedly loading pickup trucks; and that the refugees were killed elsewhere. The Chamber considers that in view of the sheer scale of the attacks, rapes and killings alleged to have taken place at the BPO, it is impractical to require the Prosecution to name each of the alleged victims of this course of

⁵⁷⁵⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 76-79.

⁵⁷⁵⁶ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 58.

⁵⁷⁵⁷ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 74, 76.

⁵⁷⁵⁸ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 75.

⁵⁷⁵⁹ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 25; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 90.

⁵⁷⁶⁰ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 33, 41.

⁵⁷⁶¹ Para. 6.29 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

conduct. Therefore, there was no defect in the Indictment for failing to name each of the alleged victims at the BPO.

2170. However, the Chamber also notes that the names Immaculée, Mbasha, Trifina, Caritas, Semanyenzi and Annonciata did not appear in the Indictment even though this information was available to the Prosecution in the witness statements of Witnesses TA and TK. The Prosecution was under an obligation to disclose this information to the Defence. The question is whether the Defence was prejudiced by any delay in disclosing the names of these alleged victims.

2171. The witness statements of Witnesses TA and TK were disclosed on 4 November 1998 and 1 December 1999. These statements provided additional information underpinning the specific allegations as to the location, sequence of events and the Accused involved. The names of the relevant victims were redacted in those disclosures to the Defence. However, the Prosecution disclosed the unredacted witness statements of Witnesses TA and TK, which provided notice of the specific named victims, on 23 April 2001. This was six months prior to the beginning of Witness TA's testimony on 24 October 2001 and one year prior to the testimony of Witness TK which began on 20 May 2002. In addition, the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief listed the first 12 witnesses the Prosecution intended to call to testify, which included Witnesses TA and TK.

2172. Nonetheless, the victims' names did not appear in the Indictment, the Pre-Trial Brief, its Appendix or the Prosecution opening statement. The disclosure of the victims' names in four witness statements occurred less than two months prior to trial and without any further indication to the Defence that this new information was being provided to them. Therefore, the Chamber finds the late disclosure of these victims' names accorded bias to the Defence in preparing its case. The Chamber will not convict the Accused, if established by the evidence, for alleged crimes against Trifina, Mrs. Mbasha, Annonciata, Semanyenzi, Caritas or Immaculée. Nonetheless, the Chamber will consider the evidence of these named individuals for other permissible purposes (for example, as background information, circumstantial evidence in support of other allegations, to demonstrate a special knowledge, opportunity, or identification of the accused). The other abductions, rapes and killings occurring at the BPO will be considered by the Chamber in support of counts as the Defence had adequate notice of these allegations of large-scale criminal conduct.

Ntahobali's Recorded Interview of 24 and 26 July 1997

2173. The Prosecution cross-examined Ntahobali based upon a recorded interview with the Prosecution investigator after his arrest on 24 and 26 July 1997. The proper use of this

⁵⁷⁶² The names of Immaculée Mukagatare and Caritas were disclosed to the Defence in Witness TA's unredacted statement of 19 November 1997. This disclosure occurred six months prior to the start of Witness TA's testimony. The names of Trifina, Mrs. Mbasha, Annonciata and Immaculée were disclosed to the Defence in Witness TK's unredacted statements of 12 November 1996, 17 December 1996 and 23 April 1998 more than one year prior to the start of Witness TK's testimony.

⁵⁷⁶³ Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom

Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15; *Kupreškić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

recorded interview was contested by the Parties.⁵⁷⁶⁴ The Chamber recalls its Decision of 15 May 2006 in which it held that Ntahobali's recorded interview was admissible and relevant to the proceedings. In that Decision, the Chamber also held that the mention of the word "inaudible" in the transcripts did not affect the reliability or substance of the information contained therein. The Chamber, however, restricted the use of Ntahobali's prior statement by the Prosecution to issues pertaining to his credibility. The Chamber held that "since the Prosecution did not seek to use the interviews as evidence during the presentation of its case, it is precluded from using their substance at this stage of the proceedings."5765 The Chamber therefore considers the recorded statement only to evaluate Ntahobali's credibility as a witness.

3.6.19.3 Evidence

3.6.19.3.1 Prosecution Evidence

Prosecution Witness TA

2174. Witness TA, a Tutsi, testified that she was staying in her uncle's home when it was attacked by *Interahamwe*. 5766 She said that 80 family members, including 12 brothers and sisters and two parents, were killed in Butare in 1994. ⁵⁷⁶⁷ One of her brothers was killed at Kabutare. The parents were killed. Street St Witness TA. 5771 She escaped from the latrine and walked one hour to seek refuge at the home of her eldest sister where she stayed for four days. 5772 She was raped at that location. 5773 Around 20 April 1994, she sought refuge alone because her brothers had been killed. 5774 Passers-by told her that there were other Tutsis at the EER and BPO so she went there. 5775 She fled to the EER where she spent about one week until the pastor told them to leave. 5776 She then sought refuge at the BPO towards the end of April 1994. 5777 The refugees were always together, either at the BPO or at the EER. 5778 She saw more than 10,000 dead bodies on the

⁵⁷⁶⁴ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's

Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997 (TC), 15 May 2006.

5765 *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997 (TC), 15 May 2006, paras. 61, 64. ⁵⁷⁶⁶ T. 30 October 2001 p. 74 (ICS); T. 1 November 2001 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁶⁷ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 109-110 (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁶⁸ T. 30 October 2001 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁶⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 96; T. 29 October 2001 p. 110 (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷⁰ T. 30 October 2001 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷¹ T. 1 November 2001 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷² T. 30 October 2001 pp. 66, 68-69 (ICS); T. 6 November 2001 p. 81 (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷³ T. 30 October 2001 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷⁴ T. 6 November 2001 p. 79 (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷⁵ T. 7 November 2001 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷⁶ T. 30 October 2001 pp. 70-71 (ICS); T. 5 November 2001 p. 114 (ICS); T. 6 November 2001 p. 81 (Witness

⁵⁷⁷⁷ T. 24 October 2001 p. 94; T. 30 October 2001 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁵⁷⁷⁸ T. 30 October 2001 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness TA).

path between her home and the BPO. ⁵⁷⁷⁹ Apart from her sister, she did not stay with any other relatives during the period she sought refuge. ⁵⁷⁸⁰

- 2175. Witness TA estimated that there were 6,000 Tutsi refugees at the BPO when she arrived and people told her that their spouses and children had been killed and thrown into latrines. They lay on the grass but soon it was spoiled because people had been sleeping on it at night. They could not use the pit latrines because they had been filled with people. She saw no person of authority giving aid or assistance to the refugees during her stay at the BPO. She testified that no person of authority took action to stop or punish those responsible for crimes that occurred at the BPO during her stay. In cross-examination she testified there were between 3,000 and 6,000 refugees at the BPO.
- 2176. Witness TA stayed at the BPO for one month and a half and went to Rango around 20 June 1994.⁵⁷⁸⁷ She estimated that 5,000 refugees were killed at the BPO during her stay.⁵⁷⁸⁸ She knew no other refugees when she left the BPO.⁵⁷⁸⁹ On cross-examination she stated she did not know Annonciata Mukagashaysia, who was at the BPO at the same time.⁵⁷⁹⁰ She also did not know persons by the same name as Witnesses SJ or QJ.⁵⁷⁹¹ She stayed in the courtyard at night, but moved to the back of the BPO during the day because *Interahamwe*, under the orders of the *préfet*, had told them to move and stay out of the front courtyard during the day.⁵⁷⁹²
- 2177. After about one week at the BPO, Witness TA saw Nyiramasuhuko leaving the *préfecture* office at 3.00 p.m. ⁵⁷⁹³ Nyiramasuhuko said the dirt should be removed. ⁵⁷⁹⁴ By dirt, Nyiramasuhuko meant the Tutsi refugees who were staying at the BPO. ⁵⁷⁹⁵ On that occasion, Nyiramasuhuko left in a vehicle with a refugee named Donat and another male refugee; these men were killed. ⁵⁷⁹⁶
- 2178. Witness TA testified that she later saw Nyiramasuhuko during one night in mid-May 1994. Nyiramasuhuko was accompanied by 10 *Interahamwe*, including her son,

```
<sup>5779</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 100 (Witness TA).
<sup>5780</sup> T. 30 October 2001 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness TA).
<sup>5781</sup> T. 24 October 2001 pp. 95-96; T. 29 October 2001 p. 58; T. 5 November 2001 p. 37 (Witness TA).
<sup>5782</sup> T. 30 October 2001 p. 106 (Witness TA).
<sup>5783</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 98 (Witness TA).
<sup>5784</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 58-59 (Witness TA).
<sup>5785</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 61 (Witness TA).
<sup>5786</sup> T. 5 November 2001 pp. 37-38, 40-41 (Witness TA).
<sup>5787</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 96; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 61-62; T. 30 October 2001 p. 25; T. 6 November 2001 pp.
68, 107 (Witness TA).
<sup>5788</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 57-58 (Witness TA).
<sup>5789</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 109 (Wtiness TA).
<sup>5790</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 120 (ICS) (Witness TA).
<sup>5791</sup> T. 7 November 2001 pp. 113-114 (ICS) (Witness TA).
<sup>5792</sup> T. 30 October 2001 pp. 24-27, 36 (Witness TA).
<sup>5793</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 103; T. 6 November 2001 p. 83 (Witness TA).
<sup>5794</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 109, T. 6 November 2001 p. 83 (Witness TA).
<sup>5795</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 28 (Witness TA).
<sup>5796</sup> T. 24 October 2001 pp. 110-113 (Witness TA).
<sup>5797</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 29; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 51-52 (Witness TA).
```

Shalom. 5798 This was the first time Witness TA saw Shalom. 5799 Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali arrived together in the same Hilux pickup and told the *Interahamwe* who should be forced to board the bed of the pickup. 5800 Nyiramasuhuko wore a kitenge cloth. 5801 The truck's lights were illuminated. 5802 Nyiramasuhuko was standing in the courtyard of the BPO pointing out Tutsi refugees to the *Interahamwe*, saying as she pointed, "[t]his is another one, and another one and another one, and why are you leaving that one?"5803 Those Tutsis were beaten up and forced onto the pickup. 5804 Witness TA testified that it appeared to her that Nyiramasuhuko and her son were in charge of the Interahamwe and leading the attacks at the BPO because Nyiramasuhuko pointed out people who were then taken away, whereas when Ntahobali said "stop", the *Interahamwe* took their car and left. 5805 For example, Shalom ordered the Interahamwe to stop killing refugees, as the number of dead people was in excess of what could be loaded in the vehicle. 5806 Although Witness TA testified that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali seemed to lead the attack together, because they arrived with the same vehicle, she thought Nyiramasuhuko was superior to Ntahobali. 5807 She thought this because Nyiramasuhuko pointed at three refugees who had been cut up and ordered that they be loaded onto the vehicle. 5808

2179. *Interahamwe* held sticks. Ntahobali held a machete covered in blood and had a hammer on his belt. ⁵⁸⁰⁹ Ntahobali moved through the refugees cutting and slashing people with his machete. ⁵⁸¹⁰ Witness TA was unable to estimate how many people Ntahobali cut up that day because he was cutting up people very quickly and she was worried that he would slit her throat. ⁵⁸¹¹

2180. Witness TA testified that he took her by the hand and hit her on the arm and hand with his machete. He wore trousers and a shirt made of *kitenge*. He picked her up from the ground and pulled her towards the ORINFOR building (Information Agency of the Rwandan Government), behind the BPO. Ntahobali removed Witness TA's clothes saying he would kill her if she refused. He removed her *kitenge* wrap and underwear, laid her on the ground

```
<sup>5798</sup> T. 25 October 2001 pp. 29-30, 33, 36; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 41, 43 (Witness TA).
<sup>5799</sup> T. 30 October 2001 p. 96; T. 6 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness TA).
<sup>5800</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 28; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA).
<sup>5801</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 40 (Witness TA).
<sup>5802</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 13 (Witness TA).
<sup>5803</sup> T. 25 October 2001 pp. 28, 40-42; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 48; T. 31 October 2001 p. 54; T. 6 November
2001 p. 56; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 148-149 (Witness TA).
<sup>5804</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 46; T. 29 October 2001 p. 46; T. 6 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness TA).
<sup>5805</sup> T. 25 October 2001 pp. 66-67; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA).
<sup>5806</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 49-51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5807</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA).
<sup>5808</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 48; T. 6 November 2001 p. 56; T. 8 November 2001 p. 43 (Witness TA).
<sup>5809</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA).
<sup>5810</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 47; T. 30 October 2001 p. 98; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 31, 37, 50-51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5811</sup> T. 31 October 2001 pp. 50-51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5812</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 46; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 33-35, 52 (Witness TA).
<sup>5813</sup> T. 31 October 2001 p. 36 (Witness TA).
<sup>5814</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 48; T. 29 October 2001 p. 8; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 53, 55; T. 6 November 2001 p. 47
```

(Witness TA). 5815 T. 25 October 2001 pp. 48, 52, 55; T. 31 October 2001 p. 55 (Witness TA).

and raped her. 5816 There was moonlight behind the BPO. 5817 In addition, some public lighting from the lamp posts occasionally reached the area from the other side of the road near *Chez* Venant. 5818 Ntahobali invited some eight other Interahamwe to rape Witness TA, including one named Ngoma, which they did. ⁵⁸¹⁹ Ngoma and another person named Ntujenjeke remained at the BPO to oversee the refugees when they were asleep, but assisted the *Interahamwe* during the attacks. ⁵⁸²⁰ One of the *Interahamwe* that raped her put his machete on her leg, telling her that if she moved he would kill her. 5821 Witness TA was confronted with a prior statement in which she said she had also been anally raped. In response, she maintained that she had not been anally raped. S822 While she was being raped, Witness TA saw two other women nearby who were also being raped by the *Interahamwe*. 5823

- 2181. At the end of the attack, Witness TA saw Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* board the same white Hilux pickup truck. 5824 They drove away with the bodies of wounded or killed Tutsi refugees in the rear section of the pickup. 5825
- 2182. Seven days later, during the night, the *Interahamwe* arrived at the BPO in the same vehicle and started beating, cutting with machetes and killing people. 5826 There was also moonlight on this occasion. ⁵⁸²⁷ Ntahobali woke up Witness TA, dragged and pushed her behind the BPO and raped her. ⁵⁸²⁸ He hit her with a hammer, causing her head to swell. ⁵⁸²⁹ Witness TA was confronted with a prior statement in which she said she was in view of the other refugees when she was raped on this occasion and that he only showed her the hammer as a threat. She maintained in her testimony that she was taken behind the BPO and that he actually hit her with the hammer. 5830 At the same time, the *Interahamwe* took six other women and raped them near her. 5831 There would have been less than 5,000 refugees at the BPO the second time Ntahobali came since the *Interahamwe* killed refugees every day. 5832
- 2183. Four days later, at night, a group of eight Interahamwe including Shalom arrived in the same vehicle and started beating and cutting up people at the BPO. 5833 Shalom came to the BPO and gave Witness TA to a group of seven *Interahamwe* who dragged her to the same

⁵⁸¹⁶ T. 25 October 2001 p. 52; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 55-59; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 47-48; see also T. 25 October 2001 p. 60 (Witness TA) (French) ("Il m'a enlevé le pagne.").

⁵⁸¹⁷ T. 30 October 2001 p. 109; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 12, 68 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸¹⁸ T. 30 October 2001 p. 109; T. 8 November 2001 pp. 12-13 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸¹⁹ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 52, 56; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 72-73 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁰ T. 30 October 2001 p. 24; T. 31 October 2001 p. 112 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²¹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 55 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²² Defence Exhibit 7B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 pp. 53-55 (Witness TA).

⁸²³ T. 25 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁴ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 56, 66; T. 31 October 2001 p. 84 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁵ T. 25 October 2001 p. 66; T. 31 October 2001 p. 81 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁶ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 67-68; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 86-87, 90-91 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁷ T. 31 October 2001 pp. 90-91 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁸ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 67, 69, 77; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 93-97 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸²⁹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 67; T. 31 October 2001 p. 96; T. 5 November 2001 pp. 129-130 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸³⁰ T. 5 November 2001 pp. 125-130 (Witness TA); Defence Exhibit 7B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA).

5831 T. 25 October 2001 p. 71; T. 31 October 2001 p. 101 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸³² T. 31 October 2001 p. 93 (Witness TA).

⁵⁸³³ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 76-77; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 106-107 (Witness TA).

location, removed her clothes and raped her.⁵⁸³⁴ He told them to do it quickly and return to the roadblock so that the *Inkotanyi* would not get to the roadblock first.⁵⁸³⁵ These men were armed with machetes, hammers, clubs, big sticks and Rwandan clubs (clubs with nails in them).⁵⁸³⁶ While she was being raped, she saw Shalom raping a girl named Caritas who was being raped about five to six metres away from her.⁵⁸³⁷ There was also moonlight on this occasion.⁵⁸³⁸

2184. Another seven to 10 days later, a group of eight *Interahamwe*, including Shalom arrived at the BPO in the same vehicle.⁵⁸³⁹ They attacked the refugees with machetes, hammers, Rwandan clubs and sticks.⁵⁸⁴⁰ They killed some, wounded others and threw the dead and wounded into their vehicle.⁵⁸⁴¹ On this occasion, Shalom again handed Witness TA over to the *Interahamwe*. She was dragged and pushed to behind the ORINFOR building.⁵⁸⁴³ Shalom told the *Interahamwe* to be quick and that he was on his way out, after which seven *Interahamwe* raped her.⁵⁸⁴⁴ They were armed with weapons but put them down when they were raping her. The others stood around ready to hit her if she attempted to get up.⁵⁸⁴⁵

2185. When she returned to where she usually slept at the BPO, she watched Shalom take another Tutsi refugee woman, named Immaculée, to rape her. had three children with her, including a child who was about one and a half to two years old that was still being breast fed. had been raping Immaculée tried to fight Shalom and asked him to let her go back to her children. Before raping Immaculée, Shalom took the youngest child from her arms and threw the child to the side. Witness TA picked up the child and consoled it to keep it quiet. After raping Immaculée, Shalom placed two heavy logs on her legs, one above the knee and one below knee. Immaculée later told Witness TA that Shalom said at that time, "[I]et's see if you can get out of that". After Immaculée had been raped, she asked Witness TA to help remove the logs. Witness TA testified that she went to visit Immaculée at a hospital and Immaculée told Witness TA that she had contracted AIDS during the 1994 events. Immaculée died in January 2001. She later testified that the rape of Immaculée occurred on

```
<sup>5834</sup> T. 25 October 2001 pp. 75-76, 79; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 105, 111; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 9, 12-13
(Witness TA).
<sup>5835</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 76 (Witness TA).
<sup>5836</sup> T. 25 October 2001 p. 78 (Witness TA).
<sup>5837</sup> T. 25 October 2001 pp. 81, 83 (Witness TA).
<sup>5838</sup> T. 31 October 2001 p. 107 (Witness TA).
<sup>5839</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 7; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 36-37 (Witness TA).
<sup>5840</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 8; T. 1 November 2001 p. 38 (Witness TA).
<sup>5841</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 7-9 (Witness TA).
<sup>5842</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 8; T. 1 November 2001 p. 39 (Witness TA).
<sup>5843</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 8 (Witness TA).
<sup>5844</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 10-11; T. 1 November 2001 p. 40 (Witness TA).
<sup>5845</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 13 (Witness TA).
<sup>5846</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 15, 25; see T. 1 November 2001 p. 48 (Witness TA) (French) (for spelling of
"Immaculée").
<sup>5847</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 16-17 (Witness TA).
<sup>5848</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 16 (Witness TA).
<sup>5849</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 16-18; T. 1 November 2001 p. 44 (Witness TA).
<sup>5850</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 17; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 44, 48 (Witness TA).
<sup>5851</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 24-27; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 45, 47-48 (Witness TA).
<sup>5852</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 24-25; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 44-45 (Witness TA).
```

⁵⁸⁵³ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 116-117 (ICS) (Witness TA).

the fifth occasion that Ntahobali visited the BPO, on which occasion Witness TA was not personally raped. 5854

- 2186. On a subsequent night, Shalom came to the BPO wearing ordinary clothes.⁵⁸⁵⁵ On that occasion, Shalom ordered the *Interahamwe* accompanying him to take women and girls and to do what they wanted with them before taking them away and killing them.⁵⁸⁵⁶
- 2187. On a later date, Shalom again came by vehicle with the *Interahamwe* but Witness TA could not remember how many. She did not observe any rapes that night, but saw many people being killed. She with the *Interahamwe* but Witness TA could not remember how many. She did not observe any rapes that night, but saw many people being killed.
- 2188. During a later attack, they came by foot; no one was raped, but people were killed. 5859 Shalom came on other occasions as well, usually with *Interahamwe*. When he came during the day, he took people away to be killed. 5860
- 2189. Witness TA testified that on the fourth occasion Shalom appeared to be the leader because he was in front of the *Interahamwe* as they attacked people. Furthermore, Witness TA had observed Shalom carrying a weapon and leading the *Interahamwe* in training exercises near the BPO on the road leading to the market. One morning in June, she observed Shalom and no more than 12 *Interahamwe* jogging and singing, "[i]t is over for the *Inyenzi*, where will they seek refuge, where will they go this time around?" She testified that *Inyenzi* meant *Inkotanyi* and that *Inkotanyi* meant refugees. After the exercise, some of the *Interahamwe* went back to the roadblocks that they kept. Ntahobali acted like the chief or leader of the *Interahamwe*.
- 2190. Witness TA learned from other refugees that Nyiramasuhuko was Shalom's mother. She did not know Shalom's family name but stated he was Nyiramasuhuko's son. She also identified Nyiramasuhuko as the Minister of Women's Affairs. Witness TA testified that she saw soldiers at the BPO. They would usually come with *Interahamwe*. Witness TA distinguished soldiers from *Interahamwe* by the clothes they were wearing: soldiers were

```
<sup>5854</sup> T. 1 November 2001 pp. 42-43 (Witness TA).
<sup>5855</sup> T. 1 November 2001 p. 49 (Witness TA).
<sup>5856</sup> T. 1 November 2001 pp. 49-50; T. 8 November 2001 p. 16 (Witness TA).
<sup>5857</sup> T. 1 November 2001 pp. 50-51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5858</sup> T. 1 November 2001 p. 51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5859</sup> T. 1 November 2001 p. 51 (Witness TA).
<sup>5860</sup> T. 1 November 2001 p. 53; T. 8 November 2001 p. 17 (Witness TA).
<sup>5861</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 28; T. 1 November 2001 p. 40 (Witness TA).
<sup>5862</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 29-30, 40-41 (Witness TA).
<sup>5863</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 32 (Witness TA).
<sup>5864</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 28-30 (Witness TA) (they sang, "Ak'inyenzi kashobotse ese mama ziragana he.").
<sup>5865</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 29 (Witness TA).
<sup>5866</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 31 (Witness TA).
<sup>5867</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 45 (Witness TA).
<sup>5868</sup> T. 24 October 2001 pp. 97-98 (Witness TA).
<sup>5869</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 53 (Witness TA).
```

wearing military uniforms, and those called *Interahamwe* were in ordinary attire.⁵⁸⁷⁰ The *Interahamwe* would also wear banana leaves very often.⁵⁸⁷¹

- 2191. She testified that the soldiers would grab Tutsis seeking refuge at the BPO, and take them next to a pear tree in the rear section of the BPO to kill them, saying "[l]et's get rid of these *Inyenzi*". She understood *Inyenzi* to mean the same thing as *Inkotanyi* which is what they were called. Witness TA did not witness the killings at the pear tree herself, but she saw the dead bodies by the tree. She saw the bodies of Tutsis who had been killed in a pit behind in the gardens of the BPO. The number of bodies increased during her stay. Some of the bodies were decomposing, and later a bulldozer came to take the bodies further away from the BPO.
- 2192. Witness TA testified that Tutsi refugees were not allowed to go to the hospital because if a doctor were to give drugs to a Tutsi, the *Interahamwe* would kill the doctor as he would be considered to be an accomplice. 5877
- 2193. Witness TA testified that she saw Ntahobali more than eight times at the BPO.⁵⁸⁷⁸ She saw Nyiramasuhuko two times at the BPO.⁵⁸⁷⁹ In addition, others told her when Nyiramasuhuko was in the courtyard of the BPO, while *Interahamwe* and soldiers were committing killings.⁵⁸⁸⁰ She saw them once together at the BPO.⁵⁸⁸¹ Witness TA identified Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko in court.⁵⁸⁸²

Prosecution Witness QJ

2194. Witness QJ, a Tutsi hotel worker in Butare town, testified that he had falsified his identity card to indicate that he was a Hutu. He did this prior to the start of the killings because it made it easier to move about freely and to acquire employment. He had a forged identity card because the authorities made a mistake and lightly crossed out the word Tutsi on his card. He deepened the crossing out of Tutsi on the identity card. The authorities also crossed out Hutu but they had not crossed it out properly. After the killings started, Witness QJ continued to travel freely around Butare town on account of his identity card. No one knew that he was a Tutsi because he was not from Butare. He could not return to his home

```
<sup>5870</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 57 (Witness TA).
<sup>5871</sup> T. 31 October 2001 pp. 107-108 (Witness TA).
<sup>5872</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 53-54, 56-57; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 87-90, 153 (Witness TA).
<sup>5873</sup> T. 7 November 2001 pp. 105-106 (Witness TA).
<sup>5874</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 89 (Witness TA).
<sup>5875</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 24-26 (Witness TA).
<sup>5876</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 24 (Witness TA).
<sup>5877</sup> T. 7 November 2001 pp. 95-96 (Witness TA).
<sup>5878</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 102; T. 25 October 2001 p. 75 (Witness TA).
<sup>5879</sup> T. 24 October 2001 p. 97; T. 29 October 2001 p. 123; T. 5 November 2001 pp. 25, 31-32 (Witness TA).
<sup>5880</sup> T. 5 November 2001 p. 32; T. 7 November 2001 p. 143 (Witness TA).
<sup>5881</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 45 (Witness TA).
<sup>5882</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 102-104; T. 7 November 2001 p. 134 (Witness TA).
<sup>5883</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 138 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5884</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 138 (ICS); T. 13 November 2001 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5885</sup> T. 13 November 2001 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5886</sup> T. 13 November 2001 p. 54 (Witness QJ).
```

commune because the identity card could not be used there.⁵⁸⁸⁷ He later added that possession of an identity card indicating Hutu ethnicity meant that "no one could arrest [him]".⁵⁸⁸⁸ Witness QJ later conceded that many of those in or around Hotel Faucon knew or suspected that he was in fact a Tutsi.⁵⁸⁸⁹

2195. He testified that he went to the BPO to seek information and to find out whether any of the persons he knew were among the refugees. The refugees were normally in the courtyard of the BPO, but would seek shelter from the rain and sun on the veranda. There were bodies visible everywhere in the streets of Butare and at the BPO. 5892

2196. One evening at the end of May 1994,⁵⁸⁹³ Nyiramasuhuko arrived at the BPO in a white Toyota pickup truck that was full of *Interahamwe*.⁵⁸⁹⁴ Mbasha's wife was sleeping on the veranda of the BPO with her three daughters.⁵⁸⁹⁵ The *Interahamwe* stepped from the vehicle and forced Mbasha's wife and three children into the vehicle. Witness QJ stated that Nyiramasuhuko and her *Interahamwe* took the family to Kabutare forest; "[t]hey were screaming until I lost sight of them."⁵⁸⁹⁶ Three people were in the cabin of the truck and the Mbashas were in the rear.⁵⁸⁹⁷ Mbasha's wife was wearing a *kitenge* wrap and a pullover.⁵⁸⁹⁸ He estimated that he saw them at 4.00 p.m.⁵⁸⁹⁹ He testified that he has not seen any of the Mbasha family since then.⁵⁹⁰⁰ The abduction occurred in the evening, when the BPO was closed, and the *préfet*, Sylvain Nsabimana, had already left his office.⁵⁹⁰¹ Witness QJ positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court.⁵⁹⁰²

2197. Mbasha was a customer at the hotel where Witness QJ used to work.⁵⁹⁰³ Sometimes Mbasha's wife and children would also come.⁵⁹⁰⁴ Mbasha's wife used to work in a pharmacy and Witness QJ estimated that she was 35 years old in 1994.⁵⁹⁰⁵ He estimated that the eldest child was in the first year of primary school, around seven years old, and that all three of Mbasha's daughters were one year apart.⁵⁹⁰⁶

```
<sup>5887</sup> T. 13 November 2001 p. 59 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5888</sup> T. 13 November 2001 p. 54 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5889</sup> T. 13 November 2001 pp. 136-139 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 pp. 14-16, 18-19 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5890</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 96 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5891</sup> T. 12 November 2001 pp. 118-119 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5892</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 24 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5893</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 158, 162; T. 12 November 2001 p. 123 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5894</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 146-147 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5895</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 146, 153; T. 12 November 2001 p. 93 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5896</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 154-155 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5897</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 122 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5898</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 93 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5899</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 96 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5900</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 155 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5901</sup> T. 13 November 2001 pp. 53, 122 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5902</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 38 (Witness QJ).
<sup>5903</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5904</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5905</sup> T. 12 November 2001 pp. 71, 89 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>5906</sup> T. 12 November 2001 pp. 90, 92-93 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
```

Prosecution Witness OCB

2198. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detained witness at the time of testimony, 5907 testified that he went to the BPO on 28 April 1994 at about 9.00 a.m. 5908 Witness OCB witnessed numerous Tutsi refugee women and children in the courtyard. 5909 There were also refugee men who were incarcerated in the brigade of the BPO. ⁵⁹¹⁰ They had sought refuge at the BPO, believing the *préfet* had a responsibility to protect them. ⁵⁹¹¹ When he arrived at the BPO, Witness QCB saw Préfet Nsabimana sitting next to a driver named Musoni in a Mitsubishi Pajero with the inscription, "Région Sanitaire" on the side. 5912 The préfet had requisitioned this vehicle from the *Région Sanitaire* even prior to the war. ⁵⁹¹³ Musoni was the son of Kamonyo Kambayi. ⁵⁹¹⁴ The *préfet's* former driver, Rukambira, had been killed. ⁵⁹¹⁵

2199. Shalom Ntahobali arrived at the BPO in a Peugeot 505 accompanied by Interahamwe. 5916 A Daihatsu, driven by Désiré, the son of Munyagaseheke, also arrived with Shalom. Shalom leaned up against Nsabimana's vehicle and had a conversation with the préfet. 5918 The Interahamwe forced about 30 Tutsi refugees who were staying at the BPO to board the Daihatsu at gunpoint as Shalom watched. 5919 Shalom then told the driver, "[1]et's go." Witness QCB testified that Shalom was in charge because he was the one issuing orders. 5920 As the Daihatsu was loaded, Nsabimana watched from his vehicle about 10 steps away. The Daihatsu and Peugeot left towards the *Groupe Scolaire*. Nsabimana's vehicle then left in the direction of the *Quartier Arabe*. About 25 minutes later, Witness QCB stood at the Chez Bihira roadblock. Some people who had passed by the Groupe Scolaire told him that Shalom and the *Interahamwe* were in the process of killing the Tutsis who had been loaded into Munyagaseheke's vehicle. 5923

2200. Witness QCB testified that he met Ntahobali a long time prior to the events when he visited Ntahobali's home with the driver of Ntahobali's father. 5924 He positively identified Ntahobali in court. 5925

```
<sup>5907</sup> T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).
```

⁵⁹⁰⁸ T. 21 March 2002 p. 50 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹⁰⁹ T. 27 March 2002 pp. 42, 44 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁰ T. 27 March 2002 p. 44 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹¹ T. 27 March 2002 p. 42 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹² T. 21 March 2002 pp. 50-51; T. 21 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB) (French) (for spelling of "Région Sanitaire"). 5913 T. 27 March 2002 p. 32 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁴ T. 27 March 2002 p. 30 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁵ T. 27 March 2002 p. 31 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁶ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 52, 54 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁷ T. 21 March 2002 p. 52 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁸ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 51-52 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹¹⁹ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 54-55; T. 27 March 2002 p. 53 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹²⁰ T. 21 March 2002 p. 55 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹²¹ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 55, 65 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹²² T. 21 March 2002 p. 64; T. 21 March 2002 p. 72 (Witness QCB) (French) (for spelling of "Quartier Arabe").

⁵⁹²³ T. 21 March 2002 p. 67; T. 27 March 2002 p. 52 (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹²⁴ T. 25 March 2002 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁵⁹²⁵ T. 21 March 2002 p. 82 (Witness QCB).

Prosecution Witness TK

2201. Witness TK, a Tutsi teacher, testified that after the death of President Habyarimana she fled with her family to Butare town where they first hid in a parish. Witness TK then telephoned her sister who said that killings had not yet started in Butare. Her sister, accompanied by two soldiers whom she paid, went to fetch Witness TK and other family members from the parish in a pickup truck belonging to the Benedectine convent and brought them to Butare town. In Butare town they hid in a convent, adjacent to the *économat* and bursar buildings. The situation was calm and she could move around the convent but two days later, the situation changed. A plane landed, and the next day gunshots and bombs exploded in town. Following a megaphone announcement, searches were conducted everywhere to find those in hiding. As a result, six soldiers discovered her on a date between the end of May 1994 and the beginning of June 1994.

2202. Sisters at the convent prevented the soldiers from killing the group of people she had been hiding with. ⁵⁹³¹ Members of the group were asked to show identity cards. Those who had them showed their cards. The soldiers were armed with rifles. They forced the young men to kneel, tied them up and beat them. The soldiers locked up the members of the group, and stated that they would bring *Interahamwe* to kill them that evening. However, the next morning the soldiers took them to the BPO. ⁵⁹³² There were many, many people at the BPO, but Witness TK was not able to estimate the number. ⁵⁹³³

2203. Witness TK arrived at the BPO in the morning sometime towards the end of May or beginning of June and left when the refugees were taken to Rango. Sp34 She said that she spent two to three weeks at the BPO. Sp35 She did not see President Sindikubwabo at the BPO, but she did see a man named Kazungu who was the *Interahamwe* escort to one of the *préfets*. Kazungu was a young man of light complexion. At some point he started to wear a military uniform; those at the BPO thought that the uniform was a reward for the work he had done as an *Interahamwe*.

2204. The *Interahamwe* split the refugees into several groups: men on one side, old people on another, women on another. ⁵⁹³⁹ It was the *Interahamwe's* job to know who had just arrived and to know who had to be killed. ⁵⁹⁴⁰ The Tutsis were shifted to one side, and they started taking

```
T. 23 May 2002 pp. 56-57 (Witness TK).
T. 23 May 2002 pp. 57-58; T. 23 May 2002 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 p. 26; T. 22 May 2002 p. 37; T. 27 May 2002 p. 87 (Witness TK).
T. 27 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 27-28; T. 27 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28, 30 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-29 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 36 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-29, 101; T. 21 May 2002 pp. 121-122 (ICS); T. 22 May 2002 p. 120 (Witness TK).
T. 21 May 2002 p. 121 (ICS) (Witness TK).
T. 23 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK).
T. 23 May 2002 p. 84 (Witness TK).
T. 23 May 2002 p. 83, 85 (Witness TK).
May 2002 p. 10 (Witness TK).
T. 20 May 2002 pp. 75-76; T. 22 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness TK).
T. 22 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness TK).
```

the men. ⁵⁹⁴¹ If someone was educated, they were also taken away. Any Tutsis had to be killed. ⁵⁹⁴² The *Interahamwe* generally carried out the selection and Shalom was very often with them. ⁵⁹⁴³

2205. In addition, some authorities came out of the BPO to take a look at the refugees. 5944 Other women pointed out *Préfet* Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko to Witness TK. 5945 The refugee women were surprised to see Pauline there and used her first name to identify her. 5946 The authorities, including Pauline, stood on the veranda of the BPO. 4lthough Witness TK later testified that Nsabimana did not come out of the BPO when they arrived, she clarified that she saw him but did not know his name at the time. Two things led her to say that Nsabimana was there: (1) there were many people outside the BPO and the *préfet* was the head; and (2) it was during office hours. The authorities looked very surprised and one of them said, "[i]n Butare, there are still some ... *Inyenzi*!" Witness TK explained that Tutsis were called "*Inyenzi*" during that period. The authorities said that this time around nobody would survive.

2206. That same morning, the soldiers picked up a boy named Pierre and killed him.⁵⁹⁵³ The other males in Witness TK's group were taken to an old building behind the *préfecture* where the *Interahamwe* tortured, beat and insulted them.⁵⁹⁵⁴ In the evening, around 5.00 p.m., those males were killed at the BPO by the *Interahamwe*.⁵⁹⁵⁵ The group killed included a refugee who was working as a driver for Caritas.⁵⁹⁵⁶ He was taken away in the evening and killed behind the BPO.

2207. She watched very closely because her brother was among the group of men.⁵⁹⁵⁸ She went to the back of the BPO in the afternoon to speak with her brother, encouraging him to make an effort and saying she too was waiting to die.⁵⁹⁵⁹ On the following morning, Witness TK saw an *Interahamwe* wearing her brother's jacket.⁵⁹⁶⁰ She looked around and discovered her brother's body along with two others near a tree behind the BPO.⁵⁹⁶¹ Her brother's legs had

```
<sup>5941</sup> T. 22 May 2002 pp. 122-123 (Witness TK).
<sup>5942</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 123 (Witness TK).
<sup>5943</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 53 (Witness TK).
<sup>5944</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 41; T. 23 May 2002 p. 157 (Witness TK).
<sup>5945</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 40 (Witness TK).
<sup>5946</sup> T. 22 May 2002 pp. 52, 59-60 (Witness TK).
<sup>5947</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 55; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 51-52 (Witness TK); Prosecution Exhibit 23C (Photograph of the
<sup>5948</sup> T. 23 May 2002 pp. 157, 162 (Witness TK).
<sup>5949</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 156 (Witness TK).
<sup>5950</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 41 (Witness TK).
<sup>5951</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 42 (Witness TK).
<sup>5952</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 41 (Witness TK).
<sup>5953</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 36; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 44-45, 59; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 144-145 (Witness TK).
<sup>5954</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 44 (Witness TK).
<sup>5955</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 38, 42 (Witness TK).
<sup>5956</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 72 (Witness TK).
<sup>5957</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 72-73; T. 22 May 2002 p. 40 (Witness TK).
<sup>5958</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 45; T. 22 May 2002 p. 40; T. 23 May 2002 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness TK).
<sup>5959</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 45; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 61-64 (ICS) (Witness TK).
<sup>5960</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness TK).
<sup>5961</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 39, 50 (Witness TK).
```

been cut off and a dog was feeding upon his corpse.⁵⁹⁶² At that time, there were still some men left in the group of refugees, but they were subsequently taken away during the night.⁵⁹⁶³

2208. A soldier who killed Pierre brought his identification card back to Witness TK.⁵⁹⁶⁴ She had started to walk away from the guava tree where she had been staying when a soldier approached her with the identification.⁵⁹⁶⁵ They asked her to read the identification to see if she could read and to see if she and Pierre were related.⁵⁹⁶⁶ Witness TK testified that since she and Pierre had walked to the BPO together, the *Interahamwe* must have thought they were brother and sister whereas she did not know him.⁵⁹⁶⁷ Pierre was a university student who had survived the massacres at the university.⁵⁹⁶⁸ She said this fact was omitted from her prior statement because the statement was concise.⁵⁹⁶⁹

2209. The same morning Pierre was killed, Witness TK saw a young refugee named Alphonse run around the flag pole in front of the BPO, towards Nsabimana's office. Sp70 She knew Alphonse because they had sought refuge at the same places together and Witness TK had arrived at the BPO with Alphonse. As he ran, Alphonse called for help. He entered the office but was forced out a few moments later; Witness TK did not know whether the man was forced out by Nsabimana or by a soldier. Outside the *préfet's* office, a man approached Alphonse with a club and Alphonse attempted to run away. He was caught by three young men and taken away by *Interahamwe* in the direction of the market, with his hands tied behind his back. Alphonse never came back to the BPO and Witness TK concluded that he had been killed. Nabimana was present at the BPO when all of the men who had been hiding at the convent, including Pierre, were taken away. Nabimana and Nyiramasuhuko did not offer assistance to the refugees. Sp78 She later said that Alphonse was pushed out of the office in the afternoon of that day.

2210. As a result of the search for Tutsis occurring on that day, refugees continued to arrive at the BPO. ⁵⁹⁸⁰ Later the same day that Pierre and Alphonse had been killed, another group of

```
<sup>5962</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness TK).
<sup>5963</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK).
<sup>5964</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 36; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 63-64 (Witness TK).
<sup>5965</sup> T. 27 May 2002 p. 7 (Witness TK).
<sup>5966</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 36; T. 27 May 2002 p. 8 (Witness TK).
<sup>5967</sup> T. 27 May 2002 p. 8 (Witness TK).
<sup>5968</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 37; T. 27 May 2002 p. 8 (Witness TK).
<sup>5969</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 70 (Witness TK); Defence Exhibit 43 (Nyiramasuhuko) (List of Alleged Omissions by
Witness TK) para. 13; Defence Exhibit 47 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (22-23 April 1998, Statement of
Witness TK).
<sup>5970</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 60-61; T. 27 May 2002 p. 9 (Witness TK).
<sup>5971</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 60; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 18, 31-32 (Witness TK).
<sup>5972</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 61 (Witness TK).
<sup>5973</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 61; T. 27 May 2002 p. 18 (Witness TK).
<sup>5974</sup> T. 27 May 2002 p. 19 (Witness TK).
<sup>5975</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 61-62; T. 27 May 2002 p. 19 (Witness TK).
<sup>5976</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 62 (Witness TK).
<sup>5977</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 42 (Witness TK).
<sup>5978</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 46 (Witness TK).
<sup>5979</sup> T. 27 May 2002 p. 28 (Witness TK).
<sup>5980</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 62, 65 (Witness TK).
```

refugees arrived at the BPO.⁵⁹⁸¹ This group had been hiding in a building next door to where the witness had been hiding before *Interahamwe* discovered her.⁵⁹⁸² This group of refugees included a bald, fair-coloured, tall man who arrived with his family.⁵⁹⁸³ Other refugees at the BPO and some officials who were in front of the BPO called the man Mbasha.⁵⁹⁸⁴ Mbasha was led directly in front of the BPO where he greeted some individuals the witness could not identify.⁵⁹⁸⁵ The *préfet* and Pauline were in front of the BPO at this time as it appeared there had been a meeting. Later, Mbasha was put into a Hiace minibus taxi and escorted away by two *gendarmes*, one drove and the other sat next to Mbasha in the vehicle.⁵⁹⁸⁶ She never saw him again.⁵⁹⁸⁷

- 2211. Witness TK testified that on that same night at around 7.00 or 7.30 p.m., ⁵⁹⁸⁸ soldiers and *Interahamwe* arrived in a small truck. ⁵⁹⁸⁹ The truck had an open back, but because the event occurred at night she could not determine the make or colour of the vehicle. ⁵⁹⁹⁰ Shalom drove the vehicle. Pauline and some *Interahamwe* were also inside. The vehicle was in front of the BPO on one side of the national flag pole. ⁵⁹⁹¹ She knew Shalom was driving because the people at the BPO had said his name. ⁵⁹⁹² The *Interahamwe* that arrived in the vehicle carried weapons such as machetes, clubs and daggers. ⁵⁹⁹³
- 2212. After descending from the vehicle, Shalom and some of the *Interahamwe* exclaimed that nobody should be spared or treated leniently. Shalom told the *Interahamwe* to do their work seriously. *Interahamwe* attacked the group of refugees and chose people to be taken away to be killed. *Interahamwe* started stripping people lying on the ground. Witness TK believed that Shalom was the leader of the *Interahamwe*.
- 2213. Shalom approached Mbasha's wife and asked her if she knew him. She answered: "Yes, I do know you. You are Shalom. You are the one that was usually sent to the pharmacy to buy drugs and I was in the same school, the same bench as your mother, Pauline." Shalom asked Mbasha's wife which of the two children who accompanied her was the girl, and that he would make the child his wife. Mbasha's wife answered, "no, that's out of question

```
<sup>5981</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 62, 64 (Witness TK).
<sup>5982</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 64 (Witness TK).
<sup>5983</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 62-63; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 21-22 (Witness TK).
<sup>5984</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 63 (Witness TK).
<sup>5985</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 64 (Witness TK).
<sup>5986</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 65 (Witness TK).
<sup>5987</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 65 (Witness TK); T. 21 May 2002 p. 140 (Witness TK).
<sup>5988</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 44 (Witness TK).
<sup>5989</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 73 (Witness TK).
<sup>5990</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK).
<sup>5991</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 73-74; T. 23 May 2002 p. 48 (Witness TK).
<sup>5992</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 74; T. 23 May 2002 p. 87 (Witness TK).
<sup>5993</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK).
<sup>5994</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 89 (Witness TK).
<sup>5995</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).
<sup>5996</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK).
<sup>5997</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 76 (Witness TK).
<sup>5998</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).
<sup>5999</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 76-77 (Witness TK).
```

because these are still children". 6000 Then Shalom asked Mbasha's wife to go to the truck, telling her not to be afraid and that nothing bad would happen to her. 6001

2214. At the same time *Interahamwe* approached from the other side of the BPO and started to beat people. Mbasha's wife was stripped of her *kitenge* wrap by *Interahamwe*, leaving it on the ground. Mbasha's wife was loaded onto the truck with her two children. As the *Interahamwe* threw the children upon Mbasha's wife, she pleaded for her children, stating, "[p]lease pity my children, you can take me. Spare my children, please." It was the first time Witness TK saw Mbasha's wife. Nyiramasuhuko was by the truck when Mbasha's wife and children were loaded on it, but Witness TK could not recall what Nyiramasuhuko was wearing. The *Interahamwe* loaded other refugees into the truck with Mbasha's wife and her children. Most had also been stripped of their clothes by soldiers and *Interahamwe*. While the other refugees were being loaded into the vehicle, the witness was standing near the front of the BPO, hiding behind the trees and was able to see all that the *Interahamwe* did. Most had ed.

2215. While the refugees were stripped and loaded on the truck, at around 7.00 or 7.30 p.m., a refugee girl named Trifina started shouting.⁶⁰¹¹ Nyiramasuhuko said that noise should be stopped and those who were shouting should be set aside.⁶⁰¹² Trifina was attacked by *Interahamwe* with daggers and her shoulder was wounded.⁶⁰¹³ She shouted even louder.⁶⁰¹⁴ *Interahamwe* then slit her throat, almost cutting her head off, and threw her dead body into the vehicle.⁶⁰¹⁵ When the vehicle was full of people Ntahobali drove it away with Nyiramasuhuko as a passenger. The truck left behind certain *Interahamwe* to select those who were to be loaded on the next trip.⁶⁰¹⁶ The truck returned another two times that night and loaded more refugees who were then quickly taken away.⁶⁰¹⁷ Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko were on board on each trip.⁶⁰¹⁸

```
<sup>6000</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 81 (Witness TK).
<sup>6001</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK).
6002 T. 20 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK).
<sup>6003</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 85; T. 23 May 2002 p. 23 (Witness TK).
<sup>6004</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 85-86; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness TK).
6005 T. 20 May 2002 p. 86 (Witness TK).
6006 T. 20 May 2002 p. 80 (Witness TK).
<sup>6007</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 86; T. 23 May 2002 p. 45 (Witness TK).
<sup>6008</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 87; T. 23 May 2002 p. 37 (Witness TK).
6009 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 87-88 (Witness TK).
<sup>6010</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 90 (Witness TK).
6011 T. 20 May 2002 p. 90; T. 22 May 2002 p. 95; T. 20 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK) (French) (for spelling of
"Trifina").
<sup>6012</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 90, 92-93; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 103, 108-109 (Witness TK).
<sup>6013</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 91; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 73, 77 (Witness TK).
<sup>6014</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 91 (Witness TK).
<sup>6015</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 91; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 73, 77 (Witness TK).
<sup>6016</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 95 (Witness TK).
<sup>6017</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 96 (Witness TK).
<sup>6018</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK).
```

- 2216. Witness TK testified that she saw Ntahobali hit Tutsi refugees and encouraged others to do the same. Witness TK confirmed that the events concerning Mr. Mbasha, Pierre, the Caritas driver, Mrs. Mbasha and her children and Trifina all occurred on the same day. 6020
- 2217. On that day there were more than 10 *Interahamwe* at the BPO, including some who were staying there. Witness TK said she knew the *Interahamwe* who accompanied Shalom well because they stayed with them until she was taken to Rango. She named several as Ribanje, Cyabubare, who usually carried a machete on his belt, Ngoma, who was often armed with a club, and Mbote, who was an ethnic Twa. He would speak their names loudly and clearly and would brag about their exploits because to be an *Interahamwe* was a point of pride. Witness TK testified that she did not notice what the *Interahamwe* were wearing. When it was put to her that her prior statement stated the *Interahamwe* were wearing pants and coats of the same colour, she said that her prior statement was likely correct because it was taken in 1996, much closer in time to the events.
- 2218. Apart from the night when she arrived at the BPO, Witness TK saw Shalom very often at the BPO.⁶⁰²⁵ He came on a number of evenings, accompanied by *Interahamwe* or disabled soldiers who were staying at the *Groupe Scolaire*.⁶⁰²⁶ Those soldiers hit people with their crutches.⁶⁰²⁷ Shalom came to mock the refugees.⁶⁰²⁸ On some occasions, he abducted women who were then raped.⁶⁰²⁹ She did not see Pauline when the rapes occurred.⁶⁰³⁰ Shalom also came to determine whether there were any men left, who were then taken away to be killed. Shalom committed crimes on each evening he came to the BPO.⁶⁰³¹ He would say to the *Interahamwe*, "be firm in your actions", when he meant, "kill all of them."⁶⁰³² The *Interahamwe* surrounded Ntahobali and called him "*Shalom*, *chef*."⁶⁰³³ Witness TK also saw Shalom at the BPO on a few occasions during the day.⁶⁰³⁴ Nyiramasuhuko came alone to the BPO on other occasions.
- 2219. Witness TK testified that at some point there were approximately 300 people at the BPO, including refugees, *Interahamwe* and street children. Almost all of the refugees were abducted at some point. There were a few Hutu refugees at the BPO, but most of them were

```
6019 T. 22 May 2002 p. 130 (Witness TK).
6020 T. 22 May 2002 p. 95 (Witness TK).
<sup>6021</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 97 (Witness TK).
<sup>6022</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK).
6023 T. 22 May 2002 p. 99 (Witness TK).
6024 T. 22 May 2002 pp. 98-101 (Witness TK); Defence Exhibit 48 (Nyiramasuhuko) (12 November 1996,
Statement of Witness TK).
<sup>6025</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100; T. 23 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).
<sup>6026</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100; T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>6027</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>6028</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK).
<sup>6029</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100; T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>6030</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 53 (Witness TK).
<sup>6031</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK).
<sup>6032</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 109 (Witness TK).
6033 T. 23 May 2002 p. 93 (Witness TK).
6034 T. 23 May 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness TK).
<sup>6035</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 53 (Witness TK).
<sup>6036</sup> T. 21 May 2002 pp. 116-117 (ICS); T. 23 May 2002 p. 7 (Witness TK).
<sup>6037</sup> T. 27 May 2002 p. 37 (Witness TK).
```

evacuated to Mubumbano when they arrived at the BPO. ⁶⁰³⁸ By the time the Tutsi refugees were transferred to Rango, there were only about 75 left; their numbers were visibly reduced. ⁶⁰³⁹

- 2220. A woman named Immaculée gave birth to a baby at the BPO on 18 June 1994. 6040 Immaculée was at the BPO when the witness arrived. At that time, refugees at the BPO had already been sent to Nyange on buses to be killed and later returned. 6041 Witness TK left for Rango with Immaculée a few days after the baby was born. 6042
- 2221. Witness TK said that while at the BPO, the refugees sent a boy to a creek to fetch water and her sister sometimes sent her food from the convent. She did not know how her sister obtained the food. Others at the BPO died of hunger and because living conditions were difficult. She did not see the Red Cross distribute food at the BPO, but a group of white people visited the BPO one time to look around. During that visit, Nsabimana walked very close to her and she recognised him. 6045
- 2222. The offices at the BPO continued to function during her presence. Employees and drivers came to the BPO, including one driver of a bulldozer who buried the dead. He parked the bulldozer at the BPO. 6046
- 2223. Witness TK did not know Ntahobali prior to the events, and had not seen him again after the war. 6047 She identified Ntahobali in court. 6048 She said Ntahobali did not have a rich beard in 1994 and that he had become an adult since then but she immediately recognised him because his face had not changed significantly. 6049 She said she was 100 percent certain that the person she had identified in court was in fact Ntahobali. 6050
- 2224. Witness TK said that people at the BPO identified Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, the *préfet* and other important persons for her that she had not known before: Pauline Nyiramasuhuko was a woman of medium height, and the *préfet* had a little belly and a scar on his face. She had heard that his name was Sylvain. The more time she spent at the BPO, the more she knew people's names. Witness TK identified Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko in court.

```
6038 T. 23 May 2002 p. 9 (Witness TK).
6040 T. 28 May 2002 p. 57 (Witness TK).
6041 T. 21 May 2002 pp. 117-118 (ICS) (Witness TK).
6042 T. 23 May 2002 pp. 51-52; see T. 23 May 2002 p. 62 (Witness TK) (French) (for spelling of "Nyange").
6043 T. 27 May 2002 pp. 38-39 (Witness TK).
6044 T. 27 May 2002 pp. 39-40, 46 (Witness TK).
6045 T. 27 May 2002 pp. 39-40, 46 (Witness TK).
6046 T. 28 May 2002 p. 32 (Witness TK).
6047 T. 20 May 2002 p. 115 (Witness TK).
6048 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 115-116 (Witness TK).
6049 T. 23 May 2002 pp. 91-92 (Witness TK).
6050 T. 23 May 2002 pp. 115 (Witness TK).
6051 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 40-41, 61-62; T. 23 May 2002 p. 153 (Witness TK).
6052 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 112-114 (Witness TK).
```

Prosecution Witness SJ

- 2225. Witness SJ, a Tutsi from Mbazi *commune*, testified she sought shelter at the BPO on a Sunday in April 1994 at 6.15 a.m. ⁶⁰⁵³ She left her *secteur* when her house was burned down. She hid in forests and millet fields for two weeks before she went to the BPO, travelling via side roads across the valleys in order to avoid roadblocks on the main road. ⁶⁰⁵⁴
- 2226. She stayed at the BPO for about two weeks. During the first two weeks at the BPO, she was arrested and taken to the police brigade. She also went to the EER during these two weeks. She was arrested the same day that the first bus left for Nyange. She later testified that she was arrested the day after the first two buses left for Nyange, but could not remember if it was before or after. She stayed at the BPO for about another week before being taken to Rango. Witness SJ testified that refugees were taken to Nyange at the end of April or beginning of May 1994, but that it may have been before or after that period. She said she was sent to Rango and stayed there for two weeks, but could not remember when she was released by the national army.
- 2227. Witness SJ testified that there was no security where she was from so she went to where the authorities were located, hoping she would be protected there. She estimated that about 1,500 Tutsi refugees were at the BPO when she got there, but some people left and some arrived as time went on. She was a sime went on.
- 2228. Refugees at the BPO were not provided with food, water, or shelter; they did not have access to sanitary facilities and there was no medical care available. Children were sometimes sent to fetch water in a valley where there were springs and were killed. One day, the refugees received maize flour and beans, but three days later these were taken away. Someone gave them a spoonful of flour a day to survive. The toilets at the BPO were locked. The refugees were in a very poor state of health and bore various types of wounds caused by machetes, axes, hammers and clubs. Some had lost limbs, or had wounds on their legs, arms and neck. She heard refugees discuss how others were killed or their houses were burned down because they were Tutsis which led her to conclude that the

```
<sup>6053</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 112; T. 30 May 2002 p. 70 (ICS); T. 5 June 2002 p. 18 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6054</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 65-66, 69-70 (ICS); T. 3 June 2002 pp. 49-50, 54-56 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6055 T. 3 June 2002 p. 120 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6056</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 76 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6057</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 78 (Witness SJ).
6058 T. 30 May 2002 pp. 76-77 (Witness SJ).
6059 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 146-147 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6060 T. 30 May 2002 p. 80 (Witness SJ).
6061 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65, 68; T. 4 June 2002 p. 84 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6062</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 117, 120, 123 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6063</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6064</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 113; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-153; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 82-83 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6065</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 148-150; T. 5 June 2002 pp. 35-36, 43-44 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6066</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 149; T. 5 June 2002 p. 41 (Witness SJ).
6067 T. 5 June 2002 pp. 43-44; T. 5 June 2002 p. 53 (Witness SJ) (French) (for the inclusion of "flour").
6068 T. 5 June 2002 pp. 44-45 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6069</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 151 (Witness SJ).
6070 T. 28 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6071</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 150-151 (Witness SJ).
```

refugees at the BPO were Tutsis.⁶⁰⁷² A lot of refugees at the BPO died because of hunger, the poor living conditions, or because they were killed.⁶⁰⁷³ Witness SJ testified that on one occasion two white people came to inspect the refugees; this occurred prior to their departure to Nyange.⁶⁰⁷⁴

- 2229. There were no Hutu refugees at the BPO. While some other refugees arrived with cattle and their pots and pans to prepare food, they were told not to mix with the *Inyenzi* and to go instead to the stadium.⁶⁰⁷⁵ She did not mix or mingle with these Hutu refugees because they were immediately taken to the stadium with their belongings. No Hutu refugees remained at the BPO.⁶⁰⁷⁶
- 2230. Witness SJ testified that during her first two weeks at the BPO she saw *Préfet* Sylvain, Kanyabashi and Nyiramasuhuko, as well as a number of other personalities. The day after she arrived at the BPO, she saw *Préfet* Sylvain on the veranda speaking with Nyiramasuhuko. She saw Nyiramasuhuko four times at the BPO, though she heard that Nyiramasuhuko came to the BPO on other occasions. Herosaking with the BPO on other occasions.
- 2231. The night of the meeting between the *préfet* and Nyiramasuhuko, Witness SJ saw Ntahobali arrive at the BPO on board a white Peugeot pickup covered with cow dung. There was no light at the BPO but the moon was full that night. Ntahobali was accompanied by at least 10 *Interahamwe* who were armed. The *Interahamwe* carried machetes and clubs, known as *ntapongano*, and knives. Shalom carried a firearm and had a knife attached to his belt. Ntahobali appeared to be in charge of the *Interahamwe*, as they called him "chief" and asked for his permission before acting. Witness SJ testified that she could not determine whether Ntahobali was driving or whether he had exited the driver's side of the vehicle when he arrived.
- 2232. During the first attack, a woman was seated with her two children, one boy and one girl, less than one metre from Witness SJ. They were sharing bedding on the veranda with Witness SJ, when some *Interahamwe* tried to take away the woman. This woman had arrived that same day at the BPO with a large group of people from the parish. They were accompanied by religious sisters. During the attack, Ntahobali was accompanied by several

```
<sup>6072</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 113-114 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6073</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 149 (Witness SJ).
6074 T. 5 June 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6075</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 154 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6076</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 153-154; T. 5 June 2002 p. 39 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6077</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 115-116; T. 3 June 2002 pp. 121, 123 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6078</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 17-19 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6079</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 121; T. 5 June 2002 p. 121 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6080</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 19-20; T. 3 June 2002 p. 125 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6081</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 150-151 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6082</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20-21 (Witness SJ). The Chamber estimates that, in light of the testimony, this incident
happened in early June 1994.
    T. 29 May 2002 p. 21 (Witness SJ).
6084 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 23-24 (Witness SJ).
6085 T. 30 May 2002 pp. 156, 158 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6086</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 26, 34-35; T. 3 June 2002 pp. 20, 24 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6087</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 18 (Witness SJ).
```

people to his left and right and was looking for important people, asking, "[w]hat did you study?" and "[d]o you work?" Ntahobali approached the woman with her two children and told the *Interahamwe* that he would take care of her himself. 6089

- 2233. Ntahobali asked the seated woman, "[d]o you know me?" The woman replied, "[y]es, I know you." Shalom asked her, "[w]here do you know me from?" and the woman replied, "[y]ou are the son of Nyiramasuhuko, and I was in the same school with your mother." Ntahobali replied, "[y]es, you do know me, it is true what you have said is the truth." Ntahobali promised the woman to bring her and her children to a safe place if she accepted that her 12-year-old daughter became his wife. Ntahobali was sitting on the veranda and had placed his foot on Witness SJ. Witness SJ testified that Ntahobali then took the woman and her children in the vehicle and drove away with them. The woman was seated in the cabin of the vehicle. Some other people were in the rear of the vehicle. Witness SJ testified that was the last time she saw the woman and her children, as they were not on board when the vehicle came back to the BPO. She said that when the truck returned, she heard the Interahamwe say that the woman was stupid to think that Shalom would save her because she was sitting in the cabin of the vehicle.
- 2234. Before leaving with the woman and her two children, Ntahobali pointed out people to the *Interahamwe* who were in the BPO courtyard. Those people were beaten and attacked with machetes. They were thrown into the vehicle by the *Interahamwe*. The refugees were jammed into the back, some were sitting and some were standing. The people loaded into the vehicle never returned. The people loaded into the vehicle never returned.
- 2235. That same night, approximately 30 minutes after the vehicle had first left, 6102 the vehicle came back with Shalom and the *Interahamwe*. Ntahobali told the *Interahamwe* that they had to "go all the way" and that they should "spare no one." The *Interahamwe* acted promptly and hit the refugees with sticks, machetes and other arms before throwing them on board the pickup and taking them away. 6105

```
<sup>6088</sup> T. 3 June 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness SJ).
6089 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 23, 26 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6090</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 27-28; T. 3 June 2002 pp. 8-9 (Witness SJ).
6091 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 30-31 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6092</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 31 (Witness SJ).
6093 T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6094</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 37; T. 3 June 2002 p. 31 (Witness SJ).
6095 T. 3 June 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness SJ). It is unclear whether those people were Interahamwe or Tutsi
<sup>6096</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 37, 39 (Witness SJ).
6097 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 39-40 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6098</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 35-36 (Witness SJ).
6099 T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ).
6100 T. 29 May 2002 p. 45 (Witness SJ).
6101 T. 29 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness SJ).
6102 T. 29 May 2002 p. 55 (Witness SJ).
6103 T. 29 May 2002 p. 57 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6104</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 53-54 (Witness SJ). Ntahobali said "ntugengeke" which means "have no pity".
6105 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 53, 55 (Witness SJ).
```

- 2236. That same night, Witness SJ heard that the vehicle made a third trip to Kabutare. She did not witness this third incident herself as she was hiding in the container of a truck near the MINITRAP office behind the BPO. She heard about this third trip from young refugee women who stayed at the BPO and from the two survivors of the first trip who witnessed the attack in Kabutare. Fewer refugees were taken on this trip, as the others had been informed and ran to hide in the forest. Since the refugees were taken on this trip as the others had been informed and ran to hide in the forest.
- 2237. The morning after the attack, two refugees who had been abducted on the first trip returned to the BPO. One of the two survivors, a woman named Annonciata, said that people had been taken to a place called Kabutare. She explained that once in Kabutare, refugees were beaten and thrown into a hole, sometimes alive. She said she was raped by a group of persons. The other survivor, a young man named Semanyezi, said that when they arrived at Kabutare, he saw people being beaten, killed and thrown into a mass grave. People tried to run, but they were surrounded on all sides. He was able to crawl out and escape. He crawled through the forest and arrived at the BPO on the next morning, wearing only short trousers. The witness also heard *Interahamwe* say the people were taken to Kabutare.
- 2238. The day of a meeting between Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and the *bourgmestres* at the MRND Palace, Witness SJ saw two refugee men taken away to be killed, in a vehicle belonging to the Red Cross. One of the men was from Kigali and his wife had just given birth to twins. After taking away the men to be killed, the driver of the Red Cross vehicle collected Nyiramasuhuko from the MRND Palace. 6119
- 2239. Witness SJ testified that she knew Nyiramasuhuko before 1994⁶¹²⁰ when Nyiramasuhuko lived with her husband, Maurice Ntahobali, in the same *secteur* as Witness SJ. ⁶¹²¹ She used to see Mr. and Mrs. Ntahobali when they were on their way to work or when they were visiting their neighbour. ⁶¹²² She described Nyiramasuhuko as somewhat fat with a dark complexion. ⁶¹²³ The first time she saw Nyiramasuhuko, she was wearing a lengthy skirt and a whitish blouse. ⁶¹²⁴ Nyiramasuhuko changed cars very often, but on the day that she

```
<sup>6106</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20, 59 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6107</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20, 60 (Witness SJ).
6108 T. 29 May 2002 p. 64 (Witness SJ).
6109 T. 29 May 2002 p. 65 (Witness SJ).
6110 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 41, 45-46 (Witness SJ).
6111 T. 29 May 2002 p. 133 (ICS); T. 29 May 2002 p. 151 (HC) (Witness SJ) (French) (for spelling of
"Annonciata").
6112 T. 29 May 2002 p. 46 (Witness SJ).
6113 T. 29 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness SJ).
6114 T. 29 May 2002 p. 134 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6115 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 49-50 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6116</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 50 (Witness SJ).
6117 T. 29 May 2002 p. 46 (Witness SJ).
6118 T. 4 June 2002 p. 20 (Witness SJ).
6119 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 20, 28-30 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6120</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 116-117; T. 29 May 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6121 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 126-130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6122 T. 3 June 2002 p. 6 (Witness SJ).
6123 T. 28 May 2002 pp. 117, 121 (Witness SJ).
6124 T. 28 May 2002 p. 121 (Witness SJ).
```

arrived to meet with Nsabimana, prior to the attacks, Nyiramasuhuko was in a blue car with a driver. 6125 Witness SJ positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. 6126 Witness SJ said "they [Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali] were my neighbours and they were good people. So I do not understand how they come to change." 6127

2240. Witness SJ did not know Shalom Ntahobali before the 1994 events. She had heard people talk about him and indicate who he was. She saw him up close for the first time during the 1994 attacks. She said he was the son of Nyiramasuhuko and Maurice Ntahobali and was a young man. She did not know whether he was in the military but he wore a military uniform. She said she was not able to observe him attentively or to describe his physical features because it was dark during the attacks and she was afraid. She did not know any other Rwandan named Shalom, but she knew many persons named "Salom." Witness SJ positively identified Ntahobali in court.

2241. Witness SJ testified that Nsabimana was usually at the *préfecture* every day, and that it was hence not the first time she saw him. She said she knew Nsabimana from before the 1994 events. Although she never spoke to him before the events, she saw Nsabimana a few times at a bar located in Mukabuga in the Gihindamuyaga *secteur* in Mbazi *commune*. Witness SJ positively identified Nsabimana in court.

Prosecution Witness SU

2242. Witness SU, whose father was Tutsi and whose mother was Hutu, 6137 testified that people in her *commune* of Huye began to feel insecure after 17 April 1994. 6138 Her family, children and husband were killed on 22 April 1994. 6139 On 27 May 1994, Witness SU obtained an affidavit which indicated she was Hutu. 6140 The document was later destroyed by the rain. 6141 She went to the University Hospital that day and to the BPO the next day. She arrived at the BPO around 28 May 1994 at 7.00 a.m. 6142 She stayed at the BPO for a little less than one

```
<sup>6125</sup> T. 3 June 2002 pp. 136-137, 139 (Witness SJ).
6126 T. 29 May 2002 p. 138 (Witness SJ).
6127 T. 29 May 2002 p. 130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6128 T. 3 June 2002 p. 8 (Witness SJ).
6129 T. 29 May 2002 p. 22 (Witness SJ).
6130 T. 29 May 2002 p. 23 (Witness SJ).
6131 T. 29 May 2002 p. 24; T. 3 June 2002 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
6132 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 140-141 (Witness SJ).
<sup>6133</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 132; T. 5 June 2002 p. 45 (Witness SJ).
6134 T. 28 May 2002 p. 139; T. 29 May 2002 pp. 130-131 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>6135</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 132 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>6136</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 139 (Witness SJ).
6137 T. 15 October 2002 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>6138</sup> T. 21 October 2002 pp. 65, 88 (ICS) (Witness SU).
6139 T. 21 October 2002 p. 89 (ICS) (Witness SU).
6140 T. 15 October 2002 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 22 October 2002 p. 85 (Witness SU).
6141 T. 22 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU).
6142 T. 14 October 2002 p. 8; T. 15 October 2002 p. 73; T. 21 October 2002 p. 96 (ICS); T. 22 October 2002 pp.
83-85 (Witness SU).
```

month. 6143 She went to Nyange towards the beginning of June 1994 and went to Rango towards the end of June 1994. 6144

- 2243. She went to the BPO because there was insecurity where she lived; by insecurity she meant Hutus were killing Tutsis. Her five children and husband had been killed. Witness SU and her three-year-old child were attacked by a person bearing a knife, during which the child was killed and Witness SU was injured. She was taken for dead and buried under dirt. She decided to go to the BPO because she thought the authorities there would help her. She was taken for dead and buried under dirt. She decided to go to the BPO because she thought the authorities there would help her.
- 2244. Men were working in the offices of the BPO at that time, including the *préfet's* secretary, Munyenzaga, the messenger, Muhayankaka, and a *sous-préfet* who was from Mubumbano. During two meetings at the BPO, Witness SU was forced to go behind the BPO, but she refused to go to that location on any other occasion. 6150
- 2245. Witness SU spent the days under a guava tree along with a woman whose ears had been cut.⁶¹⁵¹ Witness SU met her sister, Witness SS, at the BPO on 27 May 1994 and they stayed together until the arrival of the RPF.⁶¹⁵² The two sisters lived in different *secteurs* prior to and after the war.⁶¹⁵³ At night, she and her sister slept between two trees near the BPO, but would not stay on the veranda.⁶¹⁵⁴ There were no lights at the BPO except for the lights of vehicles and the torches of *Interahamwe*.⁶¹⁵⁵
- 2246. The number of refugees reached 600 at one point, but each day some were killed and others arrived. 6156 Of the refugees, some were orphans and widows, there were people that had nothing, some were wounded and others were practically lifeless. 6157 While at the BPO, the refugees did not have access to water or toilets. Many refugees were sick, wounded or were suffering from various diseases. Some of the pregnant women gave birth but lost their babies because of the cold. The refugees did not receive any medical attention. Some

```
<sup>6143</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 11 (Witness SU).
```

⁶¹⁴⁴ T. 21 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁴⁵ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 9, 11 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁴⁶ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁴⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 11 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁴⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 9 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁴⁹ T. 15 October 2002 p. 74; T. 22 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁰ T. 23 October 2002 pp. 43, 46 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵¹ T. 17 October 2002 pp. 65-66, 81; T. 21 October 2002 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness SU); *see* Prosecution Exhibit 23C *ter* (Photograph of the front of the BPO); Prosecution Exhibit 27 (Video of BPO, EER and Ruins of Nyiramasuhuko's House) at 1:56.

⁶¹⁵² T. 15 October 2002 pp. 15-16 (ICS); T. 15 October 2002 p. 82; T. 15 October 2002 p. 157 (Witness SU) (French) (gives the date when she saw her sister as 28 May 1994).

⁶¹⁵³ T. 15 October 2002 p. 83 (Witness SU); *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 60 (Personal Particulars); Prosecution Exhibit 65 (Personal Particulars).

⁶¹⁵⁴ T. 17 October 2002 pp. 52, 81, 92; T. 22 October 2002 p. 54 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁵ T. 17 October 2002 p. 91 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁶ T. 14 October 2002 p. 12; T. 15 October 2002 p. 70 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁵⁹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 84; T. 22 October 2002 p. 32 (Witness SU).

⁶¹⁶⁰ T. 14 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness SU).

refugees went to the garbage dump to find scraps of food to eat.⁶¹⁶¹ It was said that a man named Grégoire was responsible for the refugees at the BPO, but he distributed food only to the wives of soldiers.⁶¹⁶² One day the Red Cross came to the BPO and distributed food to the refugees. When they left, the *Interahamwe* took the food away.⁶¹⁶³ There were not many Hutu women among the refugees.⁶¹⁶⁴

- 2247. Some refugees risked going to the market, but *Interahamwe* forced them back to the BPO and beat them. SU stated that she had a *laissez-passer* that she used to go to the Ngoma convent and to Mbazi after she had returned from Nyange. Witness SU received some food from a convent. On the trip to the convent, she was asked to show identification, which she did; a young man with her however was taken to the forest because he did not have identification. Also shows the sum of the forest because he did not have identification.
- 2248. Witness SU saw Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, *Préfet* Nsabimana and *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi frequently at the BPO but they did not extend any assistance to the refugees. ⁶¹⁶⁹
- 2249. About three days after Witness SU arrived at the BPO, a meeting took place at the BPO between Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Kanyabashi, Emmanuel Rekeraho and other authorities.⁶¹⁷⁰ During that meeting, people were killed and the meeting continued.⁶¹⁷¹ A pit had been dug near the office where they threw people who had just been killed.⁶¹⁷² She saw 13 refugees killed before the very eyes of the authorities.⁶¹⁷³
- 2250. Witness SU saw a lady with twins when they brought her from the *économat*, *i.e.* bursar's office, along with other people that same day. Witness SU estimated the twins were between 10 and 14 years old. She said the twins wore dresses, but that since the situation was dangerous at that time even some boys had to wear dresses. The lady was an intellectual of a good position as she appeared to live well. She was wearing a *libaya* blouse and had a good hair style. She arrived at the BPO with a tall, balding man of light complexion. Soldiers bearing guns took this man back to the road leading to the *économat*. Soldiers

```
6161 T. 22 October 2002 p. 46 (Witness SU).
6162 T. 22 October 2002 p. 52 (Witness SU).
6163 T. 15 October 2002 p. 76; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 47-48 (Witness SU).
6164 T. 15 October 2002 p. 77 (Witness SU).
6165 T. 15 October 2002 p. 80 (Witness SU).
<sup>6166</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 79-80; T. 24 October 2002 p. 5 (Witness SU).
6167 T. 22 October 2002 p. 46 (Witness SU).
6168 T. 22 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).
6169 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 12-13, 82-83, 86; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 48-49 (Witness SU).
<sup>6170</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 15-16, 28 (Witness SU).
<sup>6171</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 28 (Witness SU).
<sup>6172</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 28-29 (Witness SU).
<sup>6173</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness SU).
6174 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32, 35; T. 14 October 2002 p. 60 (Witness SU) (French) (for spelling of "économat").
<sup>6175</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness SU).
<sup>6176</sup> T. 17 October 2002 pp. 54-55 (Witness SU).
6177 T. 17 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness SU).
6178 T. 14 October 2002 p. 35; T. 17 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).
6179 T. 17 October 2002 pp. 61-62 (Witness SU).
```

- 2251. She testified that around 10.00 p.m. one Friday, Warrant Officer Emmanuel Rekeraho drove an ambulance from the Sovu health centre to the BPO before leaving. She then saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive aboard a Toyota Hilux pickup that was covered in cow dung or some kind of dark grease. The vehicle belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya. She was accompanied by a driver and a security guard who was wearing a military uniform and carrying a gun. Upon arriving, Nyiramasuhuko summoned the *Interahamwe* at the BPO who were armed with machetes, grenades and knives and ordered them to load both refugee men and women onto the Hilux. Nyiramasuhuko said, "[s]tart from this side where the refugees are lying. Take men and women and load them aboard the vehicle", and was pointing out refugees at the same time. She was referring to the Tutsi refugees who had sought refuge at the BPO.
- 2252. The *Interahamwe* immediately took the lady with twins, dragged her and her children and put them on board the vehicle. The mother pleaded that her babies not be killed as they were still young. The woman was struck across the neck with a machete and Nyiramasuhuko told her, "[s]o, breast-feed the babies!" Other people were loaded onto the vehicle on top of the woman and it departed accompanied by Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe*. The refugees had their clothes on, but those who were later taken to Nyange had their clothes taken away. Those that resisted had their throats cut. She estimated she was six metres away from the vehicle and Nyiramasuhuko as people were being loaded.
- 2253. Around 11.00 p.m. that same night, Nyiramasuhuko, her driver, her guard, and some *Interahamwe* returned in the same vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko repeated her instructions to the *Interahamwe* to start on one side and to take men and women and load them in the vehicle. The *Interahamwe* were armed; they woke people up and loaded them in the back of the vehicle. Two young men who were taken on the Hilux on the second trip escaped from the *Interahamwe* and returned to the BPO the next day. Witness SU testified that they said they had been taken to the IRST where there was a mass grave and that everyone else had been

```
<sup>6180</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 30 (Witness SU).
<sup>6181</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 31, 39, 52; T. 15 October 2002 p. 86; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness SU).
<sup>6182</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness SU).
6183 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32, 43 (Witness SU).
<sup>6184</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32-33; T. 17 October 2002 p. 76 (Witness SU).
<sup>6185</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 40 (Witness SU).
6186 T. 14 October 2002 p. 32; T. 17 October 2002 p. 33 (Witness SU).
<sup>6187</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 37; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 33-34 (Witness SU).
6188 T. 14 October 2002 p. 37; T. 14 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU) (French) ("Alors, allaite tes enfants!").
<sup>6189</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 37, 41 (Witness SU).
6190 T. 17 October 2002 p. 73 (Witness SU).
6191 T. 14 October 2002 p. 40 (Witness SU).
6192 T. 17 October 2002 p. 43 (Witness SU).
6193 T. 14 October 2002 p. 42; T. 17 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness SU).
6194 T. 14 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness SU).
6195 T. 14 October 2002 p. 43 (Witness SU).
6196 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 43-44; T. 15 October 2002 p. 16 (ICS); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 34-35; T. 21 October
2002 p. 18 (Witness SU).
```

killed. 6197 The refugees were surprised that the Minister of the Family was taking them to their death rather than ensuring their security. 6198

2254. On a second occasion, Witness SU saw a Volkswagen driven by Emmanuel Rekeraho arrive at the BPO at around 10.00 p.m.⁶¹⁹⁹ Rekeraho got out of the Volkswagen and into the SOVU ambulance at the BPO. Nyiramasuhuko then arrived at the BPO in the same Hilux vehicle. This time she wore a military shirt and a *kitenge*.⁶²⁰¹ Nyiramasuhuko summoned the *Interahamwe* present at the BPO. She told them to load people onto the vehicle.⁶²⁰² She also shouted at the *Interahamwe* to "choose the young girls and the women that are still useful."⁶²⁰³ She ordered that the women be raped because they refused to marry Hutus and then to be loaded onto the Hilux to be killed.⁶²⁰⁴ Witness SU was about nine metres away from Nyiramasuhuko.

2255. Immediately following Nyiramasuhuko's instruction, after the vehicle had left, the *Interahamwe* told women to stand next to the vehicle and chose whom to rape. The *Interahamwe* shined a torch on Witness SU. Witness SU showed them her aged breasts to discourage the men from raping her as she was very thin. The *Interahamwe* then raped the women and girls they had chosen behind the ORINFOR and in abandoned vehicles. One of the *Interahamwe* named Muzungu took and raped a girl whom the witness knew. At the same time, another *Interahamwe* whom the witness identified as Ruhengeri raped a girl in Witness SU's presence. Witness SU also identified Ngoma, Ribanza and Mbote as *Interahamwe* who committed rapes. Witness SU testified that the *Interahamwe* became animals and raped women. There was no respect of human beings at that time.

2256. During that night people were loaded on the Hilux and killed. None of them came back. Nyiramasuhuko was leaning against the vehicle when it was being loaded with Tutsi refugees. Nyiramasuhuko left with the vehicle. Thereafter, refugees tried to run away, some to the back of the BPO, some climbing up trees and others hiding under wrecked cars. The refugees only returned from hiding the next day. 6213

```
<sup>6197</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 36, 41, 46; T. 21 October 2002 pp. 25-27 (Witness SU).
<sup>6198</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 45-46 (Witness SU).
<sup>6199</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 51-52; T. 17 October 2002 p. 79 (Witness SU).
6200 T. 14 October 2002 p. 52; T. 17 October 2002 p. 79 (Witness SU).
6201 T. 14 October 2002 p. 52; T. 14 October 2002 p. 98 (Witness SU) (French) ("elle était venue en tenue
militaire et elle avait mis un pagne").
<sup>6202</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53, 57, 64; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU).
<sup>6203</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 57, 68; T. 17 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness SU).
<sup>6204</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53-54, 57 (Witness SU).
<sup>6205</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 59-60 (Witness SU).
<sup>6206</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 60-61, 65-66 (Witness SU).
<sup>6207</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 60-61; T. 17 October 2002 p. 93 (Witness SU).
6208 T. 14 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).
<sup>6209</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 63, 65-66; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>6210</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 63; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>6211</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 63; T. 24 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness SU).
<sup>6212</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).
6213 T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU).
```

- 2257. There were two groups of *Interahamwe*: those within the BPO premises, and those who manned the roadblock in front of the BPO. Some *Interahamwe* slept at the BPO, including Muzungu and Ruhengeri. Other *Interahamwe* were close by the *préfecture* at a roadblock near the homes of Venant, Mahenga and Zikaramwe. The *Interahamwe* who manned a roadblock in front of the BPO were armed with guns and other weapons. Those *Interahamwe* who manned the roadblock had undergone military training prior to the events of 1994 and were armed with guns. The *Interahamwe* who were staying at the BPO were not wearing military uniforms. At 5.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m. the *Interahamwe* who were staying at the BPO took people away and killed them with machetes.
- 2258. On another date, Witness SU saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO with her security officer. ⁶²¹⁹ Nyiramasuhuko wore a white dress. ⁶²²⁰ Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe* to seek out 40 young Tutsi boys and take them to the *gendarmerie*. ⁶²²¹ She spoke loudly and intelligibly, without attempting to conceal anything. ⁶²²² The *Interahamwe* lined up 40 young boys of between five and 12 years old and marched them in the direction of the *gendarmerie*. ⁶²²³ The witness never saw the boys after that. ⁶²²⁴
- 2259. Witness SU testified that during June 1994, she watched a pit being dug behind the office of the *préfet*, close to the uncompleted ORINFOR building. A pit was located behind the house of Munyagashekye. Refugees who were killed were thrown into this pit. Before the pit was dug, bodies were "thrown here and there." She testified that in the year 2000, several bodies were exhumed before the construction of a new building on the site of the pit. 6228
- 2260. In the middle of June 1994, another group of refugees from Bugesera was accommodated separately from Witness SU's group. The Bugesera refugees were told that Witness SU's group would be killed during the course of the night. The Bugesera refugees had their belongings and were with their families. They were taken to Mubumbano in Gishamvu *commune* the next day. In addition, some men detained in Karubanda prison from Byumba and Huye *communes* came to the BPO.

```
6214 T. 17 October 2002 p. 83 (Witness SU).
6215 T. 14 October 2002 p. 64 (Witness SU).
6216 T. 17 October 2002 p. 36; T. 21 October 2002 p. 11 (Witness SU).
<sup>6217</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 39 (Witness SU).
<sup>6218</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 88; T. 23 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness SU).
6219 T. 14 October 2002 p. 69; T. 17 October 2002 p. 78; T. 21 October 2002 p. 5 (Witness SU).
6220 T. 21 October 2002 p. 5 (Witness SU).
6221 T. 14 October 2002 p. 69; T. 17 October 2002 p. 72 (Witness SU).
<sup>6222</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU).
6223 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 70, 72; T. 17 October 2002 p. 72 (Witness SU).
6224 T. 14 October 2002 p. 72 (Witness SU).
6225 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness SU).
6226 T. 23 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).
6227 T. 14 October 2002 p. 80 (Witness SU).
6228 T. 14 October 2002 p. 80; T. 23 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).
6229 T. 15 October 2002 pp. 76-78; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness SU).
<sup>6230</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 76-77; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 32, 34 (Witness SU).
6231 T. 15 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness SU).
```

- After attacks on the refugees at the BPO, three women went to see Nsabimana on behalf of the surviving refugees. Nsabimana told them he was not aware of the situation and that he would provide *gendarmes* to protect the refugees or, alternatively, he would come and spend the night himself with them. Nsabimana called the *gendarmes* who came to guard the refugees towards the end of June 1994. At first, the *gendarmes* told them: If anyone wants to get up, two or three people should accompany that person. And if someone is being raped, you must shout. From that point on, no one was abducted or raped. It was only later that the *gendarmes* realised they were guarding Tutsis, and later told the refugees that before the RPF would come, the *gendarmes* would kill the refugees first. Witness SU positively identified Nsabimana in court.
- 2262. At one time some white people came to the BPO to take pictures of the refugees and to ask Nsabimana where the refugees were sleeping at night. A man named Donat from Mpare *secteur* translated for them. Donat was later killed by the soldiers who drove Nsabimana's car, tearing away the man's Bible. He was taken behind the BPO and killed during a meeting in the *préfet's* office. In addition, a young man called Pierre, son of Muhangaraza, was abducted from the *préfecture* office and killed.
- 2263. Witness SU testified that she knew Nyiramasuhuko prior to the events of 1994 because she often walked past Nyiramasuhuko's home in Ndora *commune* when she went to visit relatives. She said that Nyiramasuhuko had four children; three girls and one boy. She also said that Nyiramasuhuko's husband was a professor at the university. Nyiramasuhuko's husband was Maurice Ntahobali. She positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. Mahobali. She positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court.

Prosecution Witness QBP

2264. Witness QBP, a Tutsi farmer, testified that she attended a meeting in her area in April 1994 in which President Sindikubwabo told the Hutu population to kill Tutsis. ⁶²⁴⁷ Two days later, there was a second meeting in her area attended by her *bourgmestre*, at which a soldier told the population to start to work. ⁶²⁴⁸ If they did not, he warned that everyone would be

```
<sup>6232</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 82-83 (Witness SU).
6233 T. 14 October 2002 p. 83; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).
6234 T. 17 October 2002 p. 89; T. 21 October 2002 pp. 38-40, 42; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).
6235 T. 21 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness SU).
6236 T. 21 October 2002 pp. 39-40 (Witness SU).
6237 T. 15 October 2002 p. 24 (Witness SU).
<sup>6238</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 6; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 41-42 (Witness SU).
6239 T. 17 October 2002 pp. 7, 9 (Witness SU).
<sup>6240</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 10; T. 22 October 2002 p. 40 (Witness SU).
<sup>6241</sup> T. 21 October 2002 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>6242</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 14; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 98-99; T. 21 October 2002 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness SU).
6243 T. 16 October 2002 p. 7 (Witness SU).
6244 T. 16 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU).
6245 T. 14 October 2002 p. 14 (Witness SU).
<sup>6246</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 23-24 (Witness SU).
6247 T. 24 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6248</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 77; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 33-34 (Witness QBP).
```

killed, because he did not know who was Hutu and who was Tutsi. About one week later the killings started in her area. 6249

2265. She hid in the home of an old man for one to two weeks. 6250 When asked about her statement of 5 May 1999 which said she spent three weeks at the old man's house, she said that she could not distinguish between dates and weeks because it was a long time ago. 5251 She then went to another area where she hid for one week. 5252 She returned to her *secteur* where she stayed only one day. When she had nowhere else to hide in mid-April 1994, she decided to flee her home to seek shelter in Butare town. 5254 She went to the BPO because the authorities were there with the hope of being protected. She went to the BPO because the responded, "[d]o you believe we can stay with a Tutsi, these people are at the EER. 5256 Therefore, she decided to go to the EER where she was told that the Tutsi refugees were staying. She stayed at the EER for about one to two weeks. After that time, the pastor at the EER told the refugees to go to the BPO. She left the EER, and went to the BPO with her children and the other Tutsi refugees. When she went back to the BPO, the refugees from Bugesera were no longer there. They stayed at the BPO for two to three days before going to Nyange.

2266. A few days after she returned to the BPO from Nyange, Witness QBP saw Nyiramasuhuko coming to the BPO. Say Nyiramasuhuko arrived one night on board a camouflaged vehicle that Witness QBP heard was smeared with old motor oil or cow dung. The vehicle was closed on all sides. Nyiramasuhuko wore a military shirt and a skirt or kitenge. Witness QBP also saw *Interahamwe* and soldiers coming to the BPO in a double-cabin Toyota pickup that followed Nyiramasuhuko's vehicle.

```
6249 T. 24 October 2002 p. 77 (Witness QBP).
```

⁶²⁵⁰ T. 24 October 2002 p. 78; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (Witness OBP).

⁶²⁵¹ T. 28 October 2002 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵² T. 28 October 2002 pp. 17-18 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵³ T. 28 October 2002 p. 18 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁴ T. 24 October 2002 p. 79; T. 28 October 2002 p. 19; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 32, 82-83 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁵ T. 29 October 2002 p. 84 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁶ T. 24 October 2002 p. 80; T. 28 October 2002 p. 48; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 4-5 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁷ T. 24 October 2002 p. 80; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 18, 48; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 4-6 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁸ T. 24 October 2002 p. 80; T. 28 October 2002 p. 18 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁵⁹ T. 24 October 2002 p. 80; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 46, 52 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶⁰ T. 28 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶¹ T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 28 October 2002 p. 54 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶² T. 24 October 2002 p. 84; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 71, 74 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶³ T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 79-80, 82, 86 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶⁴ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness QBP).

⁶²⁶⁵ T. 24 October 2002 p. 94 ("she was wearing a blouse of military style and on the lower part of her board [sic], I don't know whether she was wearing a skirt or a piece of clothing, but I was able to realise that it wasn't trousers or shorts"); T. 24 October 2002 p. 177 (Witness QBP) (French) ("je ne sais pas si elle portait une jupe ou un pagne").

⁶²⁶⁶ T. 24 October 2002 p. 84; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80, 82; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (Witness QBP).

- 2267. Witness QBP was sitting on a patch of grass under a guava tree where there were no lights when the vehicles arrived. There was not sufficient light to see who accompanied Nyiramasuhuko. Lamp-light came from the houses surrounding the BPO. Witness QBP said "lamps" were lit at night. There was also some light from the neighbouring administrative buildings. At one point, the lights went off, and Witness QBP took advantage of this to seek shelter in the bush behind the BPO.
- 2268. Witness QBP testified that Nyiramasuhuko descended from the vehicle and went to the veranda of the BPO. Nyiramasuhuko told the soldiers and *Interahamwe* "these are the accomplices who are here ... there's still a lot of dirt at the BPO, such as these Tutsi women, who previously were arrogant and did not want to marry Hutu men. Now it's up to you [the Hutus] to do whatever you want with them."⁶²⁷³ Nyiramasuhuko left and the lights went out.⁶²⁷⁴ The soldiers and *Interahamwe* started dragging some refugee women to the back of the BPO and loaded other refugees aboard a double-cabin Toyota pickup that had accompanied Nyiramasuhuko's vehicle to the BPO.
- 2269. Witness QBP named four women who had been raped.⁶²⁷⁶ Two of the women died after the war.⁶²⁷⁷ She acknowledged she was not an eyewitness to the rapes in the rear of the BPO, as there was not any light.⁶²⁷⁸ However, she asserted that Nyiramasuhuko had just encouraged the *Interahamwe* and soldiers to do something specific to these Tutsi women and only a child would not understand what was going to happen to these women.⁶²⁷⁹
- 2270. The following day, Witness QBP learned from people coming back from the market that the refugees boarded on the Toyota had been taken to Kabutare to be killed.⁶²⁸⁰ A few days after the attack, she was taken to Rango.⁶²⁸¹ She estimated that it was in the last week in June 1994.⁶²⁸²
- 2271. She testified that white people came to the BPO to take pictures of the refugees and one refugee attempted to speak with them. ⁶²⁸³ The same refugee was later killed. ⁶²⁸⁴ The Red Cross

```
6267 T. 28 October 2002 pp. 81, 86-87 (Witness QBP).
6268 T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 p. 81 (Witness QBP).
6269 T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 86-87; T. 30 October 2002 p. 22 (Witness QBP).
6270 T. 28 October 2002 p. 86; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 22-23 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6271</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBP).
6272 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85-86 (Witness QBP).
6273 T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 81, 88, 99; T. 29 October 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBP).
6274 T. 29 October 2002 pp. 5-6 (Witness OBP).
<sup>6275</sup> T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85, 88, 97-99; T. 28 October 2002 p. 80; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 10, 12 (Witness
<sup>6276</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 107 (ICS); T. 24 October 2002 p. 204 (HC) (Witness QBP) (French).
6277 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 107-108 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
6278 T. 29 October 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBP).
6279 T. 29 October 2002 p. 14 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6280</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 88; T. 28 October 2002 p. 82; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 22-23 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6281</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 88; T. 29 October 2002 p. 24 (Witness QBP).
6282 T. 24 October 2002 p. 91 (Witness QBP).
6283 T. 30 October 2002 pp. 27-28, 31, 47 (Witness QBP).
```

6284 T. 30 October 2002 pp. 31, 47 (Witness QBP).

also came and distributed food items on one occasion but they did not get to eat these items because *Interahamwe* came at night and took the food from them. ⁶²⁸⁵

2272. Witness QBP testified that once, an *Interahamwe* attacked a woman with a knife and wounded her on the ear. The woman complained to the *préfet*, but he did nothing for her. Witness QBP testified that the *préfet* must have known about the living conditions of the refugees at the BPO because he was the chief of the *préfecture*, yet he did nothing to defend them. She never heard the *préfet* issue any order, nor was she able to hear what was said during the meetings at the BPO. 6288

2273. Witness QBP testified that she knew Nyiramasuhuko because they lived in the same *commune* until Nyiramasuhuko got married and moved to Butare. She was aware that Nyiramasuhuko had been appointed minister. She identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. She was aware that Nyiramasuhuko had been appointed minister.

Prosecution Witness RE

2274. Witness RE, a Tutsi who was 16 years old in 1994, testified that she fled her home *préfecture* of Gikongoro for Butare *préfecture* in April 1994, the day after the President died. When she arrived at the BPO, she saw many other refugees from Butare *préfecture*. She also saw the *préfet* who was called Sylvain. Sylvain set up a table in the BPO courtyard and ordered the refugees to divide into two groups: one group of refugees from Butare *préfecture* and another group of refugees from other *préfectures*. Afterwards, the *préfet* of Butare brought together the *bourgmestres* of Butare's *communes* and asked them to evacuate the refugees back to their *communes* of origin. She acknowledged that her prior statement of 5 December 1996 indicated she stayed at the BPO for 3 days before being sent to the EER. She stayed at the EER for one week. When she returned to the BPO, soldiers approached the refugees and told them not to approach the Hutu refugees who had fled the advance of the *Inkotanyi*. The Hutu refugees were later sent to Mubumbano. The following day, three buses came to take the Tutsi refugees to Nyange.

```
<sup>6285</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 24 (Witness QBP).
6286 T. 30 October 2002 p. 48 (Witness QBP).
6287 T. 30 October 2002 p. 6 (Witness QBP).
6288 T. 30 October 2002 pp. 7, 11 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6289</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 84; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 70-71 (Witness QBP).
6290 T. 24 October 2002 p. 103 (Witness QBP).
<sup>6291</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 9, 43; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 3-4 (Witness RE).
6292 T. 24 February 2003 p. 10 (Witness RE).
6293 T. 24 February 2003 p. 10; T. 26 February 2003 p. 53 (Witness RE).
<sup>6294</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 10; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 49, 52-53 (Witness RE).
<sup>6295</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness RE).
6296 T. 25 February 2003 p. 23; T. 27 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5
December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).
6297 T. 24 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).
6298 T. 24 February 2003 pp. 13-14 (Witness RE).
6299 T. 24 February 2003 p. 14; T. 26 February 2003 p. 54; T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE).
<sup>6300</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 14; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 30, 32; T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE).
6301 T. 24 February 2003 pp. 17, 31 (Witness RE).
```

- 2275. During her stay at the BPO, in the morning, the refugees were taken behind the *préfecture* offices. In the evenings the refugees would stay in the courtyard of the *préfecture* or on the veranda. 6302
- 2276. After the refugees returned from Nyange, but before the refugees were transferred to Rango, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko came to the BPO. With President Sindikubwabo present, Pauline said, "[t]his dirt is still here. In Butare they have not worked." The President then added, "[n]o, these people will be killed during Habyarimana's funeral." Habyarimana was to be buried on "the 5th". Nyiramasuhuko added that these people should be killed and the women and young girls among them should be raped. Soldiers and *Interahamwe* came day and night to take away women and young girls and rape them. Those who refused to be raped were killed, and those who survived came back to speak about it.
- 2277. Witness RE testified that before she was transferred to Rango, she saw Nyiramasuhuko, Shalom and *Interahamwe*, including one named Kazungu, come to the BPO three times in one night. Pauline remained aboard the vehicle. They came aboard a Toyota vehicle covered with mud and cow dung and without a frame in the back. It was driven by Shalom. Shalom wore a military uniform. They started waking people and beating them up. Shalom wore shining torches in people's faces. One woman was sleeping on the BPO veranda with her three children and resisted. Her three children were of primary school age. Shalom told her: "We're not going to kill you. We rather wanted to take you to Pauline who is in the vehicle so she can go and hide you." Based on this comment, Witness RE surmised that Nyiramasuhuko was at the BPO, although she did not see her. Witness RE was lying on the veranda. Witness RE did not know whether this woman was called Mbasha.
- 2278. The *Interahamwe* asked the awoken refugees to remove their clothes and took them in their vehicles to a place named Rwabayanga. They almost strangled to death a young woman named Trifina because she refused to go. Shalom continued to drive the Toyota and led the *Interahamwe*. A young man and a young woman who had been taken to Rwabayanga

```
<sup>6302</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).
<sup>6303</sup> T. 25 February 2003 p. 39; T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE).
<sup>6304</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 18; T. 25 February 2003 p. 44 (Witness RE).
<sup>6305</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19 (Witness RE).
<sup>6306</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46, 48 (Witness RE).
<sup>6307</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 39; T. 25 February 2003 p. 47 (Witness RE).
6308 T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE).
6309 T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE).
<sup>6310</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 25 (Witness RE).
<sup>6311</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE).
<sup>6312</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 22 (Witness RE).
<sup>6313</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 27, 30 (Witness RE).
<sup>6314</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).
<sup>6315</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46-47; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 30-31 (Witness RE).
<sup>6316</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 p. 47 (Witness RE).
<sup>6317</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 28 (Witness RE).
<sup>6318</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE).
6319 T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE).
<sup>6320</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 22 (Witness RE).
```

managed to escape and told the refugees that people led there had been killed with clubs and machetes. The *Interahamwe* made the people undress. The pickup made three trips that night. She knew that Shalom was driving from the survivors who returned. The interahamwe made the people undress.

2279. On one occasion a young man and woman went to Nsabimana's office to tell him the refugees were being killed and to ask for his help. Witness RE watched as the two refugees came out of the *préfet's* office. The young woman was beaten on her shoulders and said they had just met with the *préfet*. The young man was tall and had a cloth bandage on his head where he had been injured. He was dragged and pulled away by a soldier and never came back. The young woman told the other refugees including Witness RE that they had gone to the *préfet* to tell him that the refugees were being killed and to ask for his help. He had gone to

2280. Witness RE testified that she did not know Nyiramasuhuko prior to seeing her at the BPO.⁶³²⁸ She saw Nyiramasuhuko between 10.00 and 11.00 a.m. at the BPO from a distance of about 15 steps; Witness RE was under a Guava tree and Nyiramasuhuko was downhill from the BPO.⁶³²⁹ She positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court.⁶³³⁰ Witness RE said she did not know Ntahobali prior to the war in 1994.⁶³³¹ When asked in court to identify Ntahobali, Witness RE pointed to Nteziryayo.⁶³³²

Prosecution Witness SS

2281. Witness SS, a woman with a Tutsi father and a Hutu mother, 6333 testified that she went to the Matyazo primary school in April 1994 with her husband and infant daughter. Prior to 18 April 1994, the situation had already deteriorated in her home *commune*. Her mother was killed by Hutus in Huye *commune*. On 21 April 1994, *Interahamwe* attacked the school. On that day her husband and baby were shot and killed and she received a gunshot wound on her arm. On 22 April 1994, she was attacked with other family members in Huye *commune*. Thereafter, she went to the BPO on two occasions. Upon arriving at the BPO the first time, she saw people being loaded onto a bus. She could not remember the date of the

```
<sup>6321</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 22; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 51-54 (Witness RE).
<sup>6322</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 22; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 51, 53; T. 26 February 2003 p. 31 (Witness RE).
6323 T. 24 February 2003 p. 22 (Witness RE).
<sup>6324</sup> T. 26 February 2003 pp. 23-24 (Witness RE).
6325 T. 27 February 2003 pp. 5-6 (Witness RE).
6326 T. 27 February 2003 p. 7 (Witness RE).
<sup>6327</sup> T. 27 February 2003 pp. 5-6 (Witness RE).
<sup>6328</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 35; T. 25 February 2003 p. 40 (Witness RE).
6329 T. 24 February 2003 p. 36 (Witness RE).
<sup>6330</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 37 (Witness RE).
6331 T. 24 February 2003 p. 38 (Witness RE).
<sup>6332</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 41; T. 27 February 2003 p. 44 (Witness RE).
<sup>6333</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness SS).
6334 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness SS).
6335 T. 10 March 2003 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness SS).
6336 T. 3 March 2003 p. 23 (Witness SS).
6337 T. 3 March 2003 p. 23; T. 4 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness SS).
6338 T. 3 March 2003 p. 23 (Witness SS).
6339 T. 3 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness SS).
6340 T. 11 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness SS).
```

first occasion.⁶³⁴¹ Witness SS went to the BPO a second time on 27 May 1994. Four soldiers escorted her and other Tutsi refugees from Butare University Hospital to the BPO.⁶³⁴² The next day, 28 May 1994, Witness SS encountered her eldest sister, Witness SU, at the BPO.⁶³⁴³ At night the sisters stayed together, but during the day they were separated.⁶³⁴⁴

2282. She estimated that there were about 1,000 refugees when she arrived at the BPO around 27 May 1994. Witness SS identified the people as refugees because some of them were injured and most of them were Tutsis. She explained that she had been severely traumatised; she lost track of time and could not distinguish one day or one month from the other. Immediately upon arriving at the BPO, she suffered from dysentery. Tutsi and Hutu refugees were separated from each other at the BPO. Hutu refugees from Bugesera and Gitarama were segregated into a different group. The Hutus had come with their families and their possessions. They were sheltered when it rained and were later taken away by buses. The Hutu refugees left the BPO before the Tutsi refugees were transferred to Rango. Witness SS did not know where they were taken. At nightfall, young men who were staying there helped *Interahamwe* to board people onto vehicles. These included Alexis and Fidel. There were lights at the police brigade near the BPO, but the lights did not shine into the courtyard where the refugees stayed at night.

2283. At night, Witness SS and her sister slept in the same place. In the daytime Witness SS and her sister separated in order to see if one or the other could survive the attacks. They stayed on opposite sides of the same guava tree during the day which was located near the perimeter of the BPO near the fence. Other refugees spent the day behind the BPO. Another group of refugees spent the night on the grass in front of the BPO. Another group of refugees spent the night on the BPO veranda. She and her sister had not discussed her sister's 2002 testimony.

2284. The same day that Witness SS saw Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO, Nyiramasuhuko returned to the BPO in the evening. 6360 In the course of that night, Witness SS saw

```
<sup>6341</sup> T. 10 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SS).
<sup>6342</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 24, 26, 37; T. 10 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SS).
6343 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS). The Chamber notes that while the English Transcript says this was 2
May 1994, the French Transcript says 28 May 1994: T. 3 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness SS) (French).
<sup>6344</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
6345 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
6346 T. 3 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SS).
6347 T. 4 March 2003 pp. 19-20, 31 (Witness SS).
6348 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
6349 T. 4 March 2003 p. 21 (Witness SS).
6350 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
6351 T. 4 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SS).
6352 T. 10 March 2003 pp. 43-44; T. 10 March 2003 p. 50 (Witness SS) (French) (for spelling of "Alexis").
6353 T. 4 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness SS).
6354 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
<sup>6355</sup> T. 4 March 2003 p. 37; T. 5 March 2003 p. 7 (ICS); T. 5 March 2003 p. 63 (Witness SS).
6356 T. 10 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness SS).
6357 T. 3 March 2003 p. 38; T. 5 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness SS).
6358 T. 10 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness SS).
```

6360 T. 3 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness SS).

6359 T. 4 March 2003 p. 61 (ICS); T. 10 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness SS).

Nyiramasuhuko three times. Witness SS saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO in a pickup belonging to Rwamukwaya, covered with mud and black paint, and without a metal frame at the back. Nyiramasuhuko came with a soldier named Kazungu and a driver who was an *Interahamwe*. Others later identified the *Interahamwe* driver as Shalom whom she heard was Nyiramasuhuko's son; at the date of her testimony Witness SS still did not know him. The *Interahamwe* carried clubs, machetes and axes and wore civilian clothes. Witness SS was unable to see whether they wore hats because of the darkness. Nyiramasuhuko wore a military shirt and a *kitenge* that night. Witness SS also saw a Sovo ambulance which Warrant Officer Rekeraho came in. While she stood by the door of the car, Nyiramasuhuko told the *Interahamwe* and soldiers who were carrying weapons to "start from one side and take the young girls and women and go and rape them because they refused to marry you." Witness SS said that Nyiramasuhuko was in charge of the attacks committed against Tutsi refugees at the BPO.

2285. After Nyiramasuhuko spoke, the *Interahamwe* and soldiers got out of the vehicle. Witness SS heard a woman say, "[p]lease do not take my child, he is still young." The *Interahamwe* answered that if it was the case, she should breastfeed him. Asked how she could hear the *Interahamwe* if she was under the guava tree across the BPO courtyard, Witness SS stated she was only under the guava tree during the day and that the lady was shouting a lot. This woman had arrived at the BPO with a man who was no longer present. She did not know whether the man was balding. The soldiers and *Interahamwe* threw the woman into the back of the vehicle. Because she could no longer hear the woman cry, Witness SS concluded that the woman was dead. Other persons were loaded in the pickup. The women and girls had been undressed and they were only wearing their undergarments. Witness SS was unable to tell whether the men had kept their clothes, but she heard a woman say, "now you're even taking away our clothes". While people were being loaded onto the pickup, Nyiramasuhuko was standing next to it.

2286. Witness SS testified that while some women were taken away in a vehicle, others were beaten and taken to the back of the BPO to be abused. 6378 Other young girls and women were

```
<sup>6361</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 48; T. 4 March 2003 p. 3 (Witness SS).
<sup>6362</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 48; T. 5 March 2003 p. 77 (Witness SS).
<sup>6363</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 49; T. 5 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS).
6364 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS).
6365 T. 5 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS).
<sup>6366</sup> T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 ("she was wearing a military shirt with a cloth"); T. 5 March 2003 p. 75 (Witness SS)
(French) ("elle portrait une chemise militaire avec un pagne").
6367 T. 3 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness SS).
<sup>6368</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 52, 54; T. 5 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SS).
6369 T. 3 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SS).
<sup>6370</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 56; T. 5 March 2003 pp. 62-63 (Witness SS).
6371 T. 5 March 2003 pp. 63, 65 (Witness SS).
<sup>6372</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness SS).
6373 T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SS).
6374 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 56-57; T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SS).
<sup>6375</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 57; T. 5 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).
<sup>6376</sup> T. 5 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS).
6377 T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS).
6378 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 57-58 (Witness SS).
```

taken away and would return to the BPO two or three days later. Witness SS told them she thought they had been killed to which they replied, "[w]hat they subjected us to was worse than death. Imagine if six persons had a turn each on you!"6379 Witness SS understood that these women had been raped. 6380 She did not know the names of the women who were raped. 6381

2287. Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko returned to the BPO in the same vehicle, with the driver, soldiers and *Interahamwe* on two more occasions. Witness SS was able to identify one soldier, named Kazungu. 6382 After the vehicle was parked, Nyiramasuhuko got out of the vehicle, and said to bring the young boys and not leave anyone behind. 6383 The persons who came with Nyiramasuhuko took torches and started waking people. The *Interahamwe* took the young boys, but as they were not many, they also took women and girls. 6384 While some refugees were loaded onto the pickup, the soldiers and Interahamwe attacked them with weapons. When the vehicle left, Nyiramasuhuko, the Interahamwe, the driver, and the soldier named Kazungu were on board. Witness SS later saw two of the boys again who were about 20 or 21 years old. She spoke with one of them the next day under the guava tree. He said they had been taken to the IRST and thrown into a pit and that he was lucky to have escaped. 6387

2288. Witness SS noted that a man named Muzungu stayed with the refugees. 6388 This was a different person than the soldier Kazungu. 6389

2289. On the last attack that same night, Witness SS testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko, the driver, the Interahamwe and the soldier named Kazungu come back to the BPO on board the vehicle. 6390 She heard Nyiramasuhuko say, "[p]ut everyone on board, old women, old men, put everybody on board."6391 The *Interahamwe* got out of the vehicle, put out the light, took their torches and weapons, and woke up everybody. They had traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs, and the soldier had a gun. They loaded refugees onto the vehicle. When the vehicle left, Nyiramasuhuko, *Interahamwe*, the driver and the soldier named Kazungu were on board. In the back of the pickup were *Interahamwe* and the refugees who had been loaded onto the vehicle. 6392

⁶³⁷⁹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 ("There is nothing worse than what we had to undergo. Imagine if six persons have to go on top of you."); T. 3 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS) (French) ("Il n'y a pas plus atroce que la mort ou ce qu'on nous a fait subir. Imaginez-vous si six personnes devaient faire le tour, toutes sur vous!"). 6380 T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸¹ T. 5 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸² T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸³ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59; T. 5 March 2003 p. 76 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁴ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59; T. 5 March 2003 p. 77 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁶ T. 5 March 2003 p. 77; T. 11 March 2003 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁷ T. 11 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁸ T. 10 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁸⁹ T. 10 March 2003 pp. 41-42 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁹⁰ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁹¹ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 59-60 (Witness SS).

⁶³⁹² T. 3 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SS).

- 2290. On a different night, an *Interahamwe* hit her sister, Witness SU, with a machete between the shoulders. On another night, an *Interahamwe* woke her sister up; Witness SS' sister removed her clothes, showed him her breasts and told him, "[p]lease, don't take me with you, I'm an old lady and my breasts are falling." On cross-examination, Witness SU testified that they were not always together because one day her sister left the BPO, returning two days later. 6394
- 2291. On another occasion a vehicle came to the BPO to abduct people, but a group of soldiers chased it away. The soldiers told the refugees they should alert them whenever these people came so that the soldiers could react. The attacks nonetheless continued after this incident. 6396
- 2292. Witness SS testified that she had seen corpses at the BPO next to the avocado trees where there were pits. 6397
- 2293. Witness SS testified that Nsabimana was in charge of the BPO and that she used to see him every day at the BPO. She saw him speak to the refugees at the BPO. The witness testified that the refugees were not given any assistance at the BPO. There were problems every day at the BPO and Nsabimana was informed. He told the refugees to stay there and that he would take care of them. He was told that refugees were taken away. She was also say the same and that he would take care of them. He was told that refugees were taken away.
- 2294. She said that on one occasion a group of white people brought the refugees some food and took some pictures of them. The *Interahamwe* came and took all the provisions the white people had brought to the refugees. All of the refugees used one pit behind the BPO as a toilet. Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi must have known about the poor conditions at the BPO since they were there, but they did not take any action to stop or punish the perpetrators of crimes committed at the BPO.
- 2295. Witness SS testified that she was at the BPO when three women entered Nsabimana's office to advise him of the security problem at the BPO. One of those women had just had her shoulder broken in the early morning of that day. Their security concerns were not solved by Nsabimana.⁶⁴⁰⁵
- 2296. Witness SS knew Nyiramasuhuko prior to 1994 because she used to pass by on the road in front of her house. She estimated that she saw her three times, including at the Hotel Ihuliro in 1990 and Huye Stadium when Nyiramasuhuko was introduced to the public as a

```
6393 T. 3 March 2003 p. 74 (ICS) (Witness SS).
6394 T. 4 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SS).
6395 T. 10 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness SS).
6396 T. 10 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SS).
6397 T. 3 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).
6398 T. 3 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness SS).
6399 T. 10 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness SS).
6400 T. 3 March 2003 p. 65; T. 10 March 2003 p. 23 (Witness SS).
6401 T. 10 March 2003 p. 23 (Witness SS).
6402 T. 3 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).
6403 T. 10 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness SS).
6404 T. 3 March 2003 p. 67 (Witness SS).
6405 T. 10 March 2003 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SS).
```

minister.⁶⁴⁰⁶ During the genocide, she encountered Nyiramasuhuko at a roadblock prior to seeing her at the BPO.⁶⁴⁰⁷ Witness SS positively identified Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana in court ⁶⁴⁰⁸

Prosecution Witness FAP

2297. Witness FAP, a Tutsi farmer, testified that she learned of the President's death on 7 April 1994 after which time people started to burn Tutsi houses. In April 1994, In April 1994,

2298. Witness FAP learned that some of her family members were at Butare University Hospital and she travelled there with her surviving son. She spent about two weeks at the hospital. Soldiers told her the *Inkotanyi* had infiltrated and that she must go to the BPO. Between 15 and 50 refugees left the hospital to go to the BPO. When she was questioned as to a prior statement in which she said that 15 refugees were at the hospital, she explained that there were between 15 and 50; the number was not limited to 15. She was forced to walk to the BPO on foot and was accompanied by four soldiers who beat the refugees along the way.

```
<sup>6406</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 34-35, 60; T. 4 March 2003 pp. 14-15, 17 (Witness SS).
<sup>6407</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28; T. 5 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness SS).
<sup>6408</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 78-79 (Witness SS).
6409 T. 11 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness FAP).
6410 T. 12 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6411</sup> T. 11 March 2003 pp. 36, 39-40; T. 13 March 2003 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness FAP).
6412 T. 11 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness FAP).
6413 T. 11 March 2003 p. 36 (Witness FAP).
6414 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6415</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness FAP).
6416 T. 12 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness FAP).
6417 T. 11 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP).
6418 T. 12 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6419</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 32-35 (Witness FAP).
6420 T. 11 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP).
6421 T. 12 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness FAP).
6422 T. 11 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6423</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 41; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness FAP); Defence Exhibit 100 (Nyiramasuhuko)
(6 May 1999, Statement of Witness FAP).
6424 T. 11 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness FAP).
```

2299. She arrived at the BPO in May 1994.⁶⁴²⁵ She did not know how long she stayed at the BPO, but she was still there in the last two weeks of May.⁶⁴²⁶ Nsabimana was the *préfet* when she arrived.⁶⁴²⁷ She stayed at the BPO until she was sent to Rango after a military *préfet* had been appointed to office.⁶⁴²⁸ On cross-examination, she stated she was at the BPO less than one month.⁶⁴²⁹

2300. When she arrived at the BPO, there were also Hutu refugees who had come from Bugesera and Gitarama. The Hutu refugees stayed in a house, prepared food and the next day were transferred to Mubumbano. After a few days, some Tutsi refugees had been killed, and there were about 350 Tutsi refugees left at the BPO, consisting of women and children.

2301. Witness FAP stated that while at the BPO, Hutus who had married Tutsis could send their children to the market to buy food. Tutsis could not leave to get food. She and the other sick refugees spent their days under the shade of a guava tree at the back of the BPO. The refugees were not allowed to stay on the BPO veranda during the day because the office was open. She stated that the only person who she knew at the BPO was her sister. She spent the day under a guava tree and at night would approach the veranda of the BPO, although she did not sleep on it. She

2302. On the third day after her arrival at the BPO, at about 8.00 p.m., a black camouflage coloured vehicle covered with mud arrived at the BPO.⁶⁴³⁷ On board the vehicle were *Interahamwe*, a soldier carrying a gun, the woman minister for family affairs and women's Promotion, Nyiramasuhuko, and the woman's son, named Shalom.⁶⁴³⁸ She saw both of them.⁶⁴³⁹ Shalom was driving the vehicle.⁶⁴⁴⁰ She was no more than 10 metres from the vehicle.⁶⁴⁴¹ The *Interahamwe* were armed with traditional weapons and some wore papyrus or banana leaf hats but were otherwise normally dressed.⁶⁴⁴² Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* got out of the vehicle immediately and the refugees shouted that since Pauline

```
<sup>6425</sup> T. 12 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6426</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 46; T. 12 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness FAP).
6427 T. 11 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness FAP).
6428 T. 11 March 2003 p. 63 (Witness FAP).
6429 T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP).
6430 T. 11 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6431</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 45; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 7, 46 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6432</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 45; T. 12 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness FAP).
6433 T. 11 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness FAP).
6434 T. 12 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6435</sup> T. 13 March 2003 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAP).
6436 T. 12 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6437</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 48; T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP).
6438 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 48, 56 (Witness FAP).
6439 T. 13 March 2003 pp. 5-6 (Witness FAP).
6440 T. 11 March 2003 p. 48; T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP).
6441 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 50, 55 (Witness FAP).
6442 T. 11 March 2003 p. 50: T. 12 March 2003 p. 56 (Witness FAP).
```

and her son Shalom had arrived, they would not survive.⁶⁴⁴³ Witness FAP stated that she saw Nyiramasuhuko less than a week after her arrival.⁶⁴⁴⁴

2303. The vehicle arrived three times the same evening, each time with Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and her son Shalom Ntahobali, and each time taking away many refugees who never returned. The three times Witness FAP saw Nyiramasuhuko on that evening were the only times that she saw Nyiramasuhuko during her stay at the BPO. It was the first time Witness FAP saw Ntahobali. Witness FAP saw Ntahobali.

2304. On the first occasion, Nyiramasuhuko wore a military uniform. Witness FAP was lying on the ground and thus could only see Nyiramasuhuko's top. 6448 Nyiramasuhuko stood by the vehicle and told the *Interahamwe* to take the young girls and the women who were not old, and to rape and kill them because they had refused to marry Hutus. 16449 Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* appeared to be looking for someone in particular among the refugees. When they did not find who they were looking for, they moved toward the veranda. 16450 The *Interahamwe* approached one mother of two children. The woman's daughter was below the marrying age and the other child was a son. 16451 Ntahobali tried to make the woman feel safe by saying that his mother had sent for her. 16452 The children told the *Interahamwe* not to rape them because they were too young; but instead to take their mother if necessary. 16453 Ntahobali tried to reassure the girl who cried out by telling her that he was taking her mother. 16454 The mother cried out and refused to be raped in public. The *Interahamwe* killed her on the ground. 16455 Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* killed the mother with knives and dumped her body in the vehicle. They took her children who had been beaten and drove away. 16456

2305. The woman had arrived the day before, accompanied by a man. The family spent the night next to Witness FAP.⁶⁴⁵⁷ The morning after the family had arrived, the man was killed by the *Interahamwe* who were staying at the BPO with the refugees. They took away the man's money and made him dig his own grave behind the BPO where there were other corpses. Witness FAP did not know the names or ages of the man and woman. The man had a fair complexion and was tall.⁶⁴⁵⁸

2306. Witness FAP testified that Nyiramasuhuko's orders to rape given on her first trip to the BPO were carried out; Tutsi women and girls were raped behind the BPO under the avocado

```
<sup>6443</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 50; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 13, 53 (Witness FAP).
6444 T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6445</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 13, 16, 52 (Witness FAP).
6446 T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP).
6447 T. 12 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6448</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 13 March 2003 p. 5 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6449</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6450</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 56-57 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6451</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 57-58 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6452</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 55; T. 12 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6453</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness FAP).
6454 T. 12 March 2003 pp. 62-63 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6455</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6456</sup> T. 11 March 2003 pp. 54-55; 12 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6457</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 58, 61 (Witness FAP).
6458 T. 12 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness FAP).
```

trees. Upon returning to the courtyard of the BPO, one of these girls said that it was better to be killed than to be raped by four or more men. ⁶⁴⁵⁹

2307. On a second trip that night, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, the *Interahamwe* and a soldier returned in the vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko instructed the *Interahamwe* to load the Tutsi refugees into the vehicle. He was the same pickup she had previously seen covered in something that looked black and like chocolate. The *Interahamwe* herded young Tutsi men, women and children into the vehicle by beating them; there were no longer any grown men at the BPO. The refugees' clothes were removed and given to the Hutu refugees from Gitarama and Bugesera. Of the group that was taken away, she only knew of one person, Semanyenzi, who managed to return to the BPO after the third trip. Semanyenzi was unable to talk that night, but the next day he told them that those who were taken away with him in the vehicle had been killed. He did not say where they had been killed.

2308. After the vehicle left, the soldiers asked people their origins. Witness FAP told the soldiers that she was from Bugesera and her mother was Tutsi, but that she was Hutu. Hutus. The soldiers therefore allowed her to shelter with the Hutus. At that moment, the pickup-like vehicle returned for the third time that night. The *Interahamwe* made the Tutsi women, children and adolescents board the vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko instructed Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* to systematically select young women and young girls and to rape and kill them. This time, they were not raped, but were thrown onto the vehicle and the *Interahamwe* drove away with them. She knew that the refugees had been killed because each time the vehicle returned to the BPO, only the *Interahamwe* were on board in the baggage section. Witness FAP joined the Hutu group, but when she was asked to show her identity card she had to rejoin the "serpents".

2309. A few days after these attacks, on a weekend, a soldier took Witness FAP and the others underneath the guava tree, and said he was taking them to a stadium where there were other refugees. Two other soldiers chased them, took them back to the BPO and told them that the first soldier was taking them to Rwabayanga in order to kill them. The two soldiers said that it would be better that he kills them at the BPO so that when the *préfet* comes the next day, he finds their corpses there. A soldier had told some of the refugees that even if they permitted themselves to be raped, they would be killed; so he told them not to relent. Asked why she did not mention being kidnapped from the BPO by a soldier, Witness FAP explained:

```
6459 T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).
6460 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 56-57 (Witness FAP).
6461 T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).
6462 T. 11 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness FAP).
6463 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 57, 60; T. 13 March 2003 pp. 6, 36-37 (Witness FAP).
6464 T. 13 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness FAP).
6465 T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).
6466 T. 11 March 2003 p. 60; T. 12 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness FAP).
6467 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 60-61; T. 13 March 2003 p. 9 (Witness FAP).
6468 T. 11 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness FAP).
6469 T. 11 March 2003 p. 62; T. 13 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness FAP).
6470 T. 12 March 2003 p. 63; T. 13 March 2003 p. 13 (Witness FAP).
6471 T. 12 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness FAP).
6472 T. 12 March 2003 p. 64; T. 13 March 2003 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAP).
6473 T. 11 March 2003 p. 54 (Witness FAP).
```

"You must understand that when you make a statement, you can't say everything, but when you know that you will testify before the Trial Chamber, that is when you begin to marshal your thoughts and your memories in your head and these are events I lived through, they are not things that have been told to me." 6474

2310. A refugee who was staying at the BPO told Witness FAP that prior to Witness FAP's arrival, a group of white persons came to count the refugees. This refugee told Witness FAP that he had translated for the white people and also told her how many refugees were staying at the BPO. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person who was taking care of an orphan and they were killed. **The translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator carried a bible and waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator on board a vehicle along with another person waved to the refugees as he left. **Interahamwe* later put the translator put the tran

2311. The Chamber ruled that there was an insufficient foundation to ask Witness FAP whether she recognised Nyiramasuhuko in court. Witness FAP said that she would not be able to identify Shalom or the military *préfet* in court. Witness FAP identified Nsabimana in court. All of the court.

Prosecution Witness SD

2312. Witness SD, a Tutsi, testified that after the President's death on 6 April 1994 she fled Gikongoro *préfecture* with her seven children and travelled to Runyinya *commune* where she stayed for three days. She then travelled to Matyazo where she spent several days before going to Butare University Hospital. She spent one week at the hospital. The director of the hospital then forced the refugees to go to the BPO. She spent one week at the BPO before she was forced to go to the EER where she spent another week before being brought back to the BPO. After returning from the EER, she was taken to Nyange and to Rango in June 1994. In total, she spent about one month at the BPO.

2313. Doctor Gatera, the director of the hospital, asked them to leave the hospital for the BPO because the authorities were found at the BPO. She was transferred from the hospital to the BPO in a red Toyota Mark vehicle. She was accompanied by several others and by a soldier. She travelled on the second of multiple trips between the hospital and the BPO. No lists were

```
<sup>6474</sup> T. 13 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6475</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 45; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6476</sup> T. 11 March 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6477</sup> T. 12 March 2003 p. 49 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6478</sup> T. 12 March 2003 p. 15 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6479</sup> T. 12 March 2003 pp. 16-17 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6480</sup> T. 12 March 2003 p. 20 (Witness FAP).
<sup>6481</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness SD).
<sup>6482</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness SD).
<sup>6483</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 6-7 (Witness SD).
<sup>6484</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7-8; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness SD).
<sup>6485</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7-8; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS); T. 18 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness SD).
<sup>6486</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 10-12; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS); T. 18 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness SD).
```

⁶⁴⁸⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness SD).

made of the refugees because they were too many in number. Some refugees remained at the hospital. ⁶⁴⁸⁸ Burundian refugees at the hospital were not transferred to the BPO. ⁶⁴⁸⁹

- 2314. She was not able to specify the exact date, but stated that President Sindikubwabo came to Butare and that Nsabimana had been sworn-in prior to her arrival at the BPO. When she arrived at the BPO, several Tutsi refugees from the urban *commune* were already there. There were a large number of refugees at the BPO, but their numbers constantly decreased as people were taken away to be killed. She could not estimate the number of refugees but they filled the courtyard. In addition there were small groups of Hutu refugees in transit to Mubumbano. There were also *Interahamwe* who stayed at the BPO with the refugees, including Ngoma and Mabula, in addition to a *conseiller*.
- 2315. During the day she would stay to the side of the BPO and at night she would seek shelter under the veranda. At one point she stayed under a guava tree. Street children would bring her water from Kwa Kaguru. She testified that she stayed at the BPO courtyard for about one month.
- 2316. When she arrived at the BPO she saw *Préfet* Nsabimana standing on the veranda and stating that those staying at the BPO must have identity documents. Witness SD did not have identity documents, but purchased some for 100 francs. The document bore her name as well as her *commune* of origin. She did not know the purpose of the document. Some of the refugees stayed at the BPO, others were taken away to be killed. A *bourgmestre* evacuated another group. Witness SD used to see Nsabimana at the BPO; she identified Nteziryayo as Nsabimana in court. Witness SD testified that Nsabimana would arrive at work at the BPO around eight in the morning and leave in the evening at around 5.00 p.m. 6505
- 2317. While Witness SD stayed at the BPO, each night a vehicle covered with mud would come to fetch people. Witness SD was told that Shalom, the son of Nyiramasuhuko, drove the vehicle, although she did not see him. The *Interahamwe* who were present and who took people to vehicles told them that if Shalom were to come he would deliver them to their

```
<sup>6488</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 39-40 (Witness SD).
6489 T. 17 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness SD).
<sup>6490</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 33, 36 (ICS) (Witness SD).
<sup>6491</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 9 (Witness SD).
<sup>6492</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 63; T. 18 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SD).
6493 T. 17 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SD).
6494 T. 17 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness SD).
<sup>6495</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 7; T. 18 March 2003 pp. 17-18 (Witness SD).
<sup>6496</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 46-47 (Witness SD).
6497 T. 18 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD).
<sup>6498</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SD).
6499 T. 17 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness SD).
<sup>6500</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 47 (Witness SD).
<sup>6501</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 62 (Witness SD).
<sup>6502</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 62-63 (Witness SD).
<sup>6503</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness SD).
<sup>6504</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 19-20 (Witness SD).
6505 T. 17 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SD).
6506 T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD).
```

death. 6507 Girls and women were taken away to be raped and other people were taken away and never seen again. 6508

2318. Witness SD said she recognised Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO because she had seen Nyiramasuhuko in the *Imvaho* newspaper which identified Nyiramasuhuko as the minister in charge of gender issues. 6509 Witness SD was not asked to identify Nyiramasuhuko in court. 6510

Prosecution Witness QY

2319. Witness QY, a Tutsi aged 17 in 1994, was in Butare *préfecture* when the President's plane was shot down. She went to Matyazo primary school one or two days after the plane was shot down and was attacked there the same night. Three days later, she was taken to someone's house, which was also attacked. The next day a Red Cross vehicle picked her up and took her to the hospital. She could not recall how many days she spent at the hospital. Her statement of 18 September 1997 provided that she stayed at the hospital for three days. She was chased away from the hospital and left on foot. A woman along the road suggested that Witness QY go to the BPO. She arrived in the evening and saw a large number of persons seeking refuge filling the courtyard of the BPO. She spent one month at the BPO.

2320. When she arrived at the BPO, she saw a Daihatsu vehicle that was loading Hutus to be taken back to their home *communes*. After the departure of this vehicle, at around 9.00 p.m., she saw a different Daihatsu vehicle driven by someone named Shalom arrive at the BPO. Shalom was accompanied by about 10 *Interahamwe* who carried traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs. The Daihatsu was small, did not have a back frame, and was covered with mud, making it difficult to discern the vehicle's colour. After the departure of this vehicle, at around 9.00 p.m., she saw a different Daihatsu vehicle driven by someone named Shalom arrive at the BPO.

2321. When the vehicle arrived, the refugees moved like red ants away from the veranda. 6525 Very often a refugee might be with someone and *Interahamwe* would take away that person

```
<sup>6507</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9, 18 (Witness SD).
6508 T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD).
6509 T. 17 March 2003 p. 8 (Witness SD).
<sup>6510</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 20 (Witness SD).
6511 T. 19 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness QY).
6512 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 7-8 (Witness QY).
6513 T. 19 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness QY).
6514 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 11-12 (Witness QY).
6515 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 13, 15; T. 25 March 2003 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness OY).
6516 T. 20 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 113 (Nyiramasuhuko) (18 September 1997,
Statement of Witness QY).
<sup>6517</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 14-15 (Witness QY).
6518 T. 19 March 2003 p. 15; T. 20 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness QY).
6519 T. 19 March 2003 p. 16; T. 20 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness QY).
6520 T. 20 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness QY).
6521 T. 19 March 2003 p. 16; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 20, 44 (Witness QY).
6522 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-24; T. 20 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness QY). 6523 T. 19 March 2003 p. 24; T. 20 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness QY).
6524 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness QY).
6525 T. 20 March 2003 p. 67: T. 24 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness OY).
```

and the other one was spared.⁶⁵²⁶ Shalom and *Interahamwe* alighted from the vehicle to select young men and force them to board the vehicle.⁶⁵²⁷ She recognised Shalom because she had seen him previously at the Butare hospital, but she did not look at the faces of the other *Interahamwe*.⁶⁵²⁸ She was about seven metres away from Shalom.⁶⁵²⁹ They took girls by force and raped them either behind the BPO next to a house or in the surrounding woods.⁶⁵³⁰ This was done in the process of loading people to take them to their home *communes* and *préfectures*.⁶⁵³¹ When the vehicle was full, it left the BPO and travelled towards the road leading to Rwabayanga, taking the occupants to their death.⁶⁵³²

- 2322. Rwabayanga was located near a forest. After the war, a pit was discovered at Rwabayanga into which bodies had been placed. None of the refugees taken to Rwabayanga came back to the BPO. Witness QY learned about Rwabayanga from a woman named Annonciata who had been taken there but who was later saved by a person who looked like a white man, named Muzungu, who later took her as his wife. Witness QY stated that she knew a man named Kazungu and a man named Muzungu during the war. The man named Muzungu raped Annonciata and saved her from Rwabayanga.
- 2323. On the second night, at around 7.00 or 8.00 p.m. Shalom drove the same vehicle to the BPO. 6538 Nyiramasuhuko, her bodyguard, Kazungu and *Interahamwe* were also in the vehicle. 6539 They stopped and forced people to board the vehicle. Witness QY stated that she hid among the group of refugees when the vehicle arrived at the BPO and returned when the vehicle left. Asked how she could see Nyiramasuhuko if she was hiding, Witness QY stated that she did not leave the BPO to hide. Rather, she would hide among the many refugees who were staying at the BPO and could still see what was happening. 6542
- 2324. The vehicle returned several times that evening with about a two hour interval between trips, and each time it returned the same thing was done. On the second trip that second night, Shalom alighted from the vehicle and approached the veranda of the BPO. He walked among the refugees, kicking and forcing some of them to get into the vehicle. The *Interahamwe* carried torches and flashed them in the direction of the refugees. Witness QY

```
<sup>6526</sup> T. 24 March 2003 pp. 12-13 (Witness QY).
<sup>6527</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).
6528 T. 19 March 2003 p. 25 (Witness QY).
6529 T. 19 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness QY).
6530 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24, 27 (Witness QY).
6531 T. 19 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness QY).
6532 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22, 24-25 (Witness QY).
6533 T. 19 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness QY).
6534 T. 19 March 2003 p. 47; T. 24 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness QY).
6535 T. 19 March 2003 p. 70; T. 19 March 2003 p. 71 (Witness QY) (French) (for spelling of "Annonciata").
6536 T. 19 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY).
6537 T. 24 March 2003 p. 28; T. 24 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness QY) (French) (for spelling of "Annonciata").
6538 T. 19 March 2003 p. 27 (Witness QY).
6539 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 27, 31; T. 24 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness QY).
6540 T. 19 March 2003 p. 31 (Witness QY).
6541 T. 24 March 2003 pp. 5-6, 12-13 (Witness QY).
6542 T. 24 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness QY).
6543 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33, 40; T. 20 March 2003 p. 44; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).
6544 T. 19 March 2003 p. 33 (Witness QY).
6545 T. 19 March 2003 p. 41; T. 24 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness QY).
```

did not see electric light at the BPO. 6546 The refugees would try to flee scattering like ants to be protected from the *Interahamwe*. Those in the vehicle, namely Shalom, Nyiramasuhuko, her bodyguard and the *Interahamwe* with the refugees in the back, again set off towards Rwabayanga. She did not know which direction the vehicle turned to go to Rwabayanga. The vehicle came back a third time that same night to collect more refugees. The refugees were driven away to be killed and the vehicle did not come back as it was now daylight. Witness QY could not specify at what time the vehicle arrived at the BPO on each trip. To her knowledge, the *préfet* was not informed of these abductions.

2325. On the third day Shalom drove the vehicle back again at about 7.00 or 8.00 p.m. 6554 Witness QY did not see Nyiramasuhuko this time. 6555 Witness QY subsequently testified that she saw Shalom, Nyiramasuhuko, Kazungu and *Interahamwe* in the vehicle on the third night. 6556 She then corrected her testimony stating that Nyiramasuhuko was not present on the fourth night. 6557 Again people were made to board the vehicle while others were raped; prior to boarding the vehicle the refugees were forced to undress. 6558

2326. At night, the *Interahamwe* beat up the refugees at the BPO.⁶⁵⁵⁹ At one time, white people came and discussed with the *préfet* the conditions of the refugees. The *préfet* answered that he would provide beans, rice and blankets and that they would spend the nights in a building, but the witness said that none of this occurred. Refugees slept on the BPO veranda, or under the trees.⁶⁵⁶⁰ Refugees saw beans arrive at the BPO, but they were never distributed.⁶⁵⁶¹ Witness QY stated that the discussion between the *préfet* and the white men was translated to her by a refugee. The translator was taken away that same night and she did not see him again.⁶⁵⁶²

2327. Witness QY did not know Nyiramasuhuko before the events. She met her for the first time during her second night at the BPO, and never saw her again after the war. Witness QY was not able to recognise Nyiramasuhuko in court and could only give a description of her as small. Witness QY stated that she did not know anyone else in Butare named Shalom. Witness QY was not asked to identify Shalom.

```
6546 T. 24 March 2003 p. 30; T. 25 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness QY).
6547 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33, 41 (Witness QY).
6548 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness QY).
6549 T. 24 March 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness QY).
6550 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness QY).
<sup>6551</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness QY).
6552 T. 19 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness QY).
6553 T. 25 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness QY).
6554 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 41-42 (Witness QY).
6555 T. 19 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness QY).
6556 T. 19 March 2003 p. 44 (Witness QY).
6557 T. 19 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness QY).
6558 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 41-42 (Witness QY).
6559 T. 19 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness QY).
6560 T. 19 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).
6561 T. 19 March 2003 p. 61; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 47-48 (Witness QY).
6562 T. 25 March 2003 pp. 46-47 (Witness QY).
6563 T. 19 March 2003 p. 65; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).
6564 T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).
```

Prosecution Witness QBQ

- 2328. Witness QBQ, a Tutsi housemaid, testified that around the end of April 1994, she was driven to the BPO in a vehicle belonging to a sergeant at the ESO. The sergeant told them that he was going to take them to the BPO where other refugees were located. Witness QBQ testified that she brought her employer's two-year-old child with her to the BPO. The child's mother had been killed and the child had received a gunshot in his neck. After obtaining treatment from the baby's aunt, the child survived. The witness stayed at the BPO approximately one month. They arrived at the BPO in the evening towards nightfall. She stated that there were about 2,000 Tutsi refugees from Kigali, Gikongoro and other *préfectures*. That night, she stayed on the veranda and the next morning she moved to the lawn.
- 2329. Three days after she arrived at the BPO, she saw Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana walk to the BPO in the morning. People at the BPO identified Nyiramasuhuko for her. The *préfet* had a bulging forehead. Witness QBQ was 2.5 metres from Nyiramasuhuko. 6576
- 2330. That same evening around nightfall, Nyiramasuhuko returned aboard a white-coloured Toyota pickup covered with mud. Nyiramasuhuko sat in the cabin of the vehicle and Shalom drove. Members of *Interahamwe* accompanied them. Shalom had been identified to her by people at the BPO. The vehicle was about 4.5 metres away from her as she sat on the veranda. It was not so dark as to prevent Witness QBQ from seeing Nyiramasuhuko's face. Night had not yet fallen.
- 2331. Witness QBQ testified that Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe* got out of the vehicle, the *Interahamwe* went close to her, and Nyiramasuhuko ordered them to "[r]ape the women and the girls and kill the rest." The *Interahamwe* wore ordinary civilian clothes and used flashlights to find people. Nyiramasuhuko was standing next to the vehicle. The *Interahamwe* immediately attacked the people on the veranda and took them away by pulling

```
<sup>6565</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 6-7; T. 3 February 2004 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness QBQ).
6566 T. 4 February 2004 pp. 4-6 (Witness QBQ).
6567 T. 3 February 2004 p. 89; T. 4 February 2004 p. 6 (Witness QBQ).
6568 T. 3 February 2004 p. 89; T. 4 February 2004 pp. 6-7; T. 4 February 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QBQ).
6569 T. 3 February 2004 p. 52; T. 4 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBQ).
6570 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7, 38 (Witness QBQ).
6571 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7, 38-39, 50 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>6572</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 40 (Witness QBQ).
6573 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7-8, 52-53 (Witness QBQ).
6574 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7, 53 (Witness QBQ).
6575 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 8, 23 (Witness QBQ).
6576 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 8-10 (Witness QBQ).
6577 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 20, 53, 55, 58 (Witness QBQ).
6578 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 90 (Witness QBQ).
6579 T. 3 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBQ).
6580 T. 3 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>6581</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness QBQ).
6582 T. 3 February 2004 p. 59 (Witness QBQ).
6583 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 12, 61 (Witness QBQ).
6584 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 59-60 (Witness QBQ).
```

6585 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20, 58, 61 (Witness QBQ).

them by their noses.⁶⁵⁸⁶ The *Interahamwe* used a club to hit one woman who refused to comply. She died in front of the vehicle.⁶⁵⁸⁷ Many women were raped while Nyiramasuhuko was still on the spot.⁶⁵⁸⁸ The *Interahamwe*, Nyiramasuhuko and Shalom subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped in a ditch there.⁶⁵⁸⁹ The attackers infected Witness QBQ with HIV/AIDS.⁶⁵⁹⁰

- 2332. The vehicle, again driven by Shalom, came back after having unloaded its cargo and then took other people away to Kumukoni. The assailants woke up Witness QBQ and set her aside to be taken aboard the vehicle; however she managed to escape when she went to see her mistress' crying baby and lay down beside him. 5592
- 2333. Witness QBQ testified that Semanyenzi was among the abducted refugees in the second group, but managed to escape after he was dumped in a pit at Mukoni. Semanyenzi came back alone the same night, told the others refugees at the BPO what had happened to him, and then left. Witness QBQ stated that Mukoni, Kabutare and Rwabayanga are three different places.
- 2334. Witness QBQ testified that the vehicle came back the next evening. Nyiramasuhuko, Shalom and *Interahamwe* selected some Tutsi refugees as they did previously and took them to Mukoni for the same purpose. Witness QBQ testified that she was not in a position to identify Ntahobali or Nyiramasuhuko since the events took place a very long time ago. No one reported the abductions of refugees from the BPO to Nsabimana. It was happening in front of his office so she said he knew what was going on. While at the BPO she was taken to Nyange and returned to the BPO on the same day, and the following day went to the EER where she spent one week. The day after they returned to the BPO from the EER, she went to Rango.

Prosecution Witness TQ

2335. Witness TQ, a Hutu employee of the Belgian Red Cross, testified that around 29 or 30 April 1994, he had a meeting with Nsabimana in which he asked if he could collect and bury

```
6586 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 62 (Witness QBQ).
6587 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness QBQ).
6588 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness QBQ).
6589 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63 (Witness QBQ).
6590 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 28 (Witness QBQ).
6591 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBQ).
6592 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22, 89 (Witness QBQ).
6593 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 63, 70-71 (Witness QBQ).
6594 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70 (Witness QBQ).
6595 T. 3 February 2004 p. 72 (Witness QBQ).
6596 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22 (Witness QBQ).
6597 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22, 24, 89-90 (Witness QBQ).
6598 T. 4 February 2004 pp. 14 (Witness QBQ).
6599 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness QBQ).
6600 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 24 (Witness QBQ).
```

the bodies of orphans that had been killed at the school complex. Nsabimana told Witness TQ that he was a madman and that Nsabimana did not have time for that.⁶⁶⁰¹

2336. On 3 May 1994 Witness TQ went to the BPO to talk to *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire, and noticed refugees at the premises behind the *préfet's* office. Witness TQ found them in very poor conditions. It was during the rainy season and the women wore clothes that were torn and smelling. The witness got the impression that the people were abandoned. The refugees told Witness TQ, who wore Red Cross attire, about their living conditions and asked him for some food and clothing and other small things.

2337. In relation to the situation of the refugees at the *préfecture* office around 20 to 21 June 1994, Witness TQ stated that there were no longer refugees there, and there was a Peugeot pickup truck that belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya, who was killed during the genocide and was Nyiramasuhuko's neighbour. Shalom was driving his mother, Nyiramasuhuko, in this vehicle. 6603

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

2338. Alison Des Forges testified as to the content of two interviews she conducted with Nsabimana in 1996 regarding the events at the BPO. Sabimana told her the BPO had been a problem for him, that it had gotten worse after Tutsis had been forced to leave Butare University Hospital, where some of them had taken shelter. He said he was essentially left alone with this problem and that he was the only person in charge of this situation. He indicated that there were no guards to take care of the refugees at night and that people were taken away at night. He did not know how many were taken away, but that he did know that it was happening.

2339. Nsabimana also told her that Callixte Kalimanzira was a great presence in Butare throughout this period as a leading MRND political figure. Kalimanzira, who was the Interim Minister of the Interior, had told Nsabimana that it looked bad to have the refugees in front of the BPO, and the *préfecture* Security Council objected to having the refugees there. The refugees were sent away to the nearby school, and remained there for about 10 days. The authorities in charge of EER sent them back to the BPO. Nsabimana told Des Forges that during this time, soldiers and others were coming to take away women to rape them and other people were being selected to be killed. 6606

2340. The Prosecution introduced two Exhibits through Des Forges which included statements allegedly made by Nsabimana. Prosecution Exhibit 113 was written by Nsabimana and entitled, *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*. In that document, Nsabimana made the following statements:

⁶⁶⁰¹ T. 8 September 2004 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁶⁶⁰² T. 6 September 2004 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁶⁶⁰³ T. 9 September 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁶⁶⁰⁴ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 49, 51 (Des Forges).

⁶⁶⁰⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

⁶⁶⁰⁶ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

[S]ince there were some sick soldiers passing through and some unknown soldiers at the camps in Butare, there were a few isolated cases of disappearances at night.

...

I saw refugees in the Prefecture. When I asked these burgomasters to come and collect their people, many of them did whatever they could to avoid it.

...

At the end of April Tutsi refugees – women, children and old people came to the Prefecture from all over to seek refuge. When the University hospital became congested with injured soldiers, civilian patients, the majority of whom were Tutsi, were turned away. Even the prisons refused to accept convicts because of shortage of food.

...

I decided to protect all the refugees in the Prefectorial office despite pressure from all sides. I asked the Red Cross to give them food, and every morning I asked them if anyone had threatened them. At the Prefecture, the brigade did not have any gendarmes. The government reprimanded me for not finding gendarmes to guard the Prefecture, yet I was able to find gendarmes to protect Tutsis. 6607

2341. The Prosecution also introduced Prosecution Exhibit 114 through Des Forges. It contains a 1 October 1994 interview with Nsabimana. The exhibit included the following questions and responses by Nsabimana:

Q: How were you managing in that position at the time? You were telling people not to leave, but were they safe? Were you safe?

SN: Myself, I was not safe. I was not protected. I had two gendarmes with me possibly to protect me, possibly to get info on me. I didn't know which The problem was that the people who came to kill had guns. They were the military in civilian clothes. They were the *Interahamwe* with guns. How can you counter these people? Mainly, it was never to give information about people's whereabouts. That was the kind of protection we could give.

...

Q: Can you say with confidence that you protected people, that your presence helped?

• • •

SN: From the beginning there were people living at the office [the BPO]. How they came was very simple. First, there were about 20 women with children and nothing to eat. That day they were given some beans to eat. The next day there were more and then more again. Sometimes, there were people with wounds, other times people from the hospital. Injured military personnel were moved from Kigali to Butare so the

Prosecution Exhibit 113 (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) pp. K0016627, K0016629-K0016631.

civilians at the hospital were put out. They had nowhere to go, no papers, no identity card, no possibilities, so the hospital's director put them in his car and brought them to my office. I asked them if they wanted to go back, they said no we want to stay here. They too had nothing to eat. I went to see an NGO priest and got food for them. Some *Interahamwe* came in the early days to see who was there. I told them never to come back, that these people were protected. We did a list of the people living there so that every morning when I was around I could check to see if they were there or not or if there were any problems. Sometimes they reported to me that some *Interahamwe* came and looked and left. Around the end of June it was very hard, before the 15th of June, the RPF was not far from Butare and many of the *Interahamwe* wanted to kill these people very fast. I was given 12 soldiers by a certain colonel to protect them. Those Tutsi people were living at my office for 2-3 months and when I was there they were protected. Then I was replaced. 6608

2342. Des Forges testified that RPF troops took the centre part of Rwanda in the early days of June 1994. This caused the government authorities to flee directly west and to settle in Gisenyi temporarily. Her Expert Report stated that as the RPF took Kabgayi and moved towards Gitarama, the Interim Government called on civilian self-defence forces to launch a counter-offensive on 6 June 1994. It failed and several days later, the Interim Government fled from Gitarama heading first to Kibuye and then to Gisenyi. The RPF took Gitarama on 13 June 1994.

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

2343. André Guichaoua testified that the RPF captured Kabgayi on 2 June 1994 and that the Interim Government transferred to Gitarama on 10 June 1994. He testified that Kibuye was captured on 2 June 1994 and that on 10 June 1994, the Interim Government partially withdrew to Gisenyi. On 13 June 1994 the RPF captured Gitarama. 6612

2344. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence confronted Guichaoua with prior testimony in the *Semanza* case in which he stated that the Interim Government left Kigali on 11 April 1994 and went to Murambi; that its seat was in Murambi until 29 May 1994 and thereafter it moved to Gisenyi. Guichaoua stated that he was testifying off the cuff as he had indicated in that case, and that he had verified that the dates he gave in his testimony in the present case were accurate. ⁶⁶¹³

Prosecution Witness FA

2345. Witness FA, a Hutu, testified that she saw Ntahobali driving a white vehicle described by others as a Hilux that was stained with mud and had no metal bars at the rear for the

-

⁶⁶⁰⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) pp. K0120069-K0120070.

⁶⁶⁰⁹ T. 6 July 2004 p. 44 (Des Forges).

⁶⁶¹⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 73.

⁶⁶¹¹ T. 28 September 2004 pp. 58-59 (Guichaoua).

⁶⁶¹² T. 29 September 2004 p. 4 (Guichaoua).

⁶⁶¹³ T. 29 September 2004 p. 5 (Guichaoua).

tarpaulin.⁶⁶¹⁴ She saw Ntahobali on several other occasions because "it [the car] was working every day", and Ntahobali was always the one driving the vehicle.⁶⁶¹⁵

2346. Witness FA clarified that in describing the vehicle as "a white vehicle described by others as a Hilux", she intended that people referred to this type of a vehicle as a Hilux, and not that people told her so. 6616

Prosecution Witness TG

2347. Witness TG, a Tutsi accountant in 1994, testified that from 26 April 1994, he was in hiding at businessman Martin Uwariraye's compound, until 2 July 1994 when *Interahamwe* invaded the compound. From the compound's bakery, the witness often saw Ntahobali passing on the main road. Ntahobali was driving a Peugeot pickup 504 that was originally white but was soiled on the side in a kind of camouflage. Witness TG had seen that vehicle before April 1994 and knew it had belonged to a businessman called Rwamukwaya who was Tutsi. 6619

3.6.19.3.2 Defence Evidence

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WKKTD

2348. Witness WKKTD, a Hutu teacher, testified that he knew Nyiramasuhuko because everybody knew each other in Butare. He used to see her at her workplace, and sometimes asked her for favours. 6620

2349. Witness WKKTD testified he knew a man named Mr. Mbasha since 1988 and knew him very well. They were neighbours and their families spent significant time together. Mbasha was from Cyangugu, was married and had two daughters, one aged 7 and the other aged 10 or 11 in 1994. Before his marriage, Mbasha had been a Jesuit brother in Burundi. Both Mbasha and his wife were Tutsis. The witness recalled that Mbasha was a tall, strong, muscular man, who was bald and who had lost one of his upper teeth. Mbasha's family and Witness WKKTD's family had become friends after Mbasha had moved into Witness WKKTD's neighbourhood. The families visited each other, lent their vehicles to one another, and Witness WKKTD had learned to drive in the driving school where Mbasha was a trainer. Witness WKKTD testified that from 1988 to 1994 Mbasha worked at the same establishment as the witness. In 1994, Mbasha's wife worked at the Bupharma pharmacy in

⁶⁶¹⁴ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 46 (Witness FA).

⁶⁶¹⁵ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁶⁶¹⁶ T. 1 July 2004 p. 47 (Witness FA).

⁶⁶¹⁷ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 20, 22, 64; T. 31 March 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁶⁶¹⁸ T. 30 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness TG).

⁶⁶¹⁹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG).

⁶⁶²⁰ T. 7 February 2005 p. 56 (Witness WKKTD).

⁶⁶²¹ T. 7 February 2005 pp. 37-38; T. 7 February 2005 pp. 39-41 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

⁶⁶²² T. 7 February 2005 pp. 37-38; T. 7 February 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

⁶⁶²³ T. 7 February 2005 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

Butare town. 6624 Mbasha and his family lived in the neighbourhood referred to as Ngoma, in Ngoma *secteur*, near the *préfet's* residence. 6625

2350. Witness WKKTD learned of the fate of Mbasha's wife and child from the wife of François Murwanashyaka, the *sous-bourgmestre*. He learned that Mbasha's wife and her younger daughter had been arrested by *gendarmes*. They were taken to the university campus called IPN, and then led to the roadblock between the university laboratory and IRST. The witness heard that Mbasha's wife and her child had been tortured at the roadblock for three days and had both died on the third day. Murwanashyaka told Witness WKKTD that while she was being tortured, Mbasha's wife had cried out: "Don't you know me? I was working at this or that place. I was providing you with medicines." The witness said he did not intervene to save Mbasha's wife or child because no one could move around town at that time. He witness that the could be a save Mbasha's wife or child because no one could move around town at that time.

2351. Witness WKKTD testified that he worked for UNAMIR between July 1994 and March 1996 in Cyangugu. Around April 1995, after Easter, his wife told him that she and their second daughter had seen Mbasha's eldest daughter, Yvette. The witness explained that his wife and daughter had been travelling in a minibus or taxi from Cyangugu to Butare. As they neared Butare town, and reached the junction between Bujumbura, Kigali and Butare, the witness' daughter saw Yvette walking in the distance, and pointed her out to her mother, who also recognised her. Witness WKKTD testified that his wife and daughter could not greet Yvette because their vehicle moved on. 6634

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Denise Ntahobali

2352. Denise Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali's sister and Nyiramasuhuko's daughter, testified that Ntahobali did not possess a driver's licence nor did she ever see him driving a vehicle. 6635 She testified that she was unaware that her brother's vehicle was impounded in 1993 because her brother had never owned a vehicle. She denied protecting her brother when she said he did not possess a driver's licence nor did he know how to drive. 6636

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Clarisse Ntahobali

2353. Clarisse Ntahobali, Ntahobali's sister and Nyiramasuhuko's daughter, testified that between April and July 1994, Ntahobali worked at the shop at the Hotel Ihuliro and worked

```
<sup>6624</sup> T. 7 February 2005 p. 37 (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6625</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6626</sup> T. 8 February 2005 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6627</sup> T. 7 February 2005 p. 76 (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6628</sup> T. 7 February 2005 p. 76; T. 8 February 2005 p. 4 (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6629</sup> T. 7 February 2005 p. 76 (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6630</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 78-79 (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6631</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 80; T. 8 February 2005 pp. 10, 59 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6632</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 8 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD); T. 8 February 2005 p. 12
(HC) (Witness WKKTD) (French) (for the spelling of "Yvette").
<sup>6633</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 8 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6634</sup> T. 7 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 8 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).
<sup>6635</sup> T. 13 June 2005 pp. 15 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6636</sup> T. 13 June 2005 pp. 35-36 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

behind the bar. He bought alcoholic beverages and went to purchase alcohol in the environs of Butare. At a certain point there were not any alcoholic drinks in Butare, so he went to the Burundi border to purchase Amstel beers. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Shalom used their father's driver and official vehicle or asked others to take him where he needed to go. She never saw Shalom drive a vehicle. He did not have a vehicle or a driver's licence. 6637

2354. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that she and over 64 other persons left Butare on 3 July 1994 around noon. They reached Gikongoro around 1.00 p.m. The same day at 4.00 or 5.00 p.m., they left Gikongoro, and reached Muramba in Gisenyi *préfecture* on 4 July 1994 at about 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. 6638

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Céline Nyiraneza's

2355. Céline Nyiraneza, Ntahobali's aunt and Nyiramasuhuko's sister, testified that Shalom never owned a vehicle ⁶⁶³⁹

Ntahobali

2356. Ntahobali testified that he sometimes travelled to Akanyaru on the Burundi-Rwanda border to purchase beer for resale in Butare town. He asserted that he did not drive himself to purchase the beer because he did not know how to drive. He asserted that he did not drive himself to purchase the beer because he did not know how to drive.

2357. Ntahobali was confronted with a prior statement recorded on 24 and 26 July 1997 in which he agreed that he sometimes went to fetch the crates of beer himself and that other times, drivers went. Ntahobali asserted that this was a misreading of the prior statement, that the audio recording of the statement was poor, and that he never claimed to have driven himself.⁶⁶⁴² Ntahobali claimed that he had asserted in the 24 and 26 July 1997 statement that he did not know how to drive, but that such assertions must be in the portions of the audio tape that were marked as inaudible by the transcriber.⁶⁶⁴³

2358. In cross-examination, the Prosecution referred Ntahobali to the recorded interview of 24 and 26 July 1997 in which he allegedly stated that he sometimes used vehicles belonging to friends, including a Daihatsu pickup or light truck with a loading platform behind. Ntahobali testified that the transcription of the audio recording did not reflect the truth. He further stated that what was contained in the audio tape did not correspond to what was written in the transcript of the interview.

⁶⁶³⁷ T. 10 February 2005 p. 12 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁶³⁸ T. 9 February 2005 p. 65 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁶³⁹ T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza).

⁶⁶⁴⁰ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 59, 66 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴¹ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 68-69 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴² T. 21 June 2006 pp. 59-60, 62, 66, 69, 71 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴³ T. 26 June 2006 p. 39 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴⁴ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 70-72 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴⁵ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 71, 73-75 (Ntahobali).

⁶⁶⁴⁶ T. 21 June 2006 p. 75 (Ntahobali).

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNJN

2359. Witness WUNJN, a Hutu member of the PSD political party, testified that he knew Witness TA because he was neighbours with Witness TA's father. He testified that Witness TA was a Tutsi. Witness TA's family had been attacked during the first week after the President's death and she sought refuge at the house of her uncle. He testified that Witness TA's uncle sold sorghum beer and banana wine from his house and Witness WUNJN went to drink at the house four times a week. Witness TA sometimes served him drinks. Witness WUNJN testified that one cannot get drunk from sorghum beer, but only from banana wine.

2360. Witness WUNJN testified that he knew Witness QBP. She was one year younger than him and they grew up together. He remembered two of her daughters. He said Witness QBP was a Hutu and moved away from the *commune* with her husband. In 1994, her husband died, and she returned to live with her brother, which neighboured her parents' home. Witness QBP's parents' home was a 15 minute walk from Witness WUNJN's home. Witness WUNJN said that after 6 April 1994 he went to a friend's drinking place where he could see Witness QBP's parents' home and saw Witness QBP there. From the end of May 1994, he went farming with Witness QBP.

2361. Witness WUNJN testified that Witness QBP was living with Witness TA's uncle. He then corrected himself saying that he was confusing Witnesses QBP and TA. Witnesses QBP and TA were not seeking refuge in Butare town during April, May and June 1994. In addition, no Tutsis were killed in his *secteur* because all of the Tutsis, like Witness TA's brother, had moved away.

2362. Witness WUNJN testified that the information contained in his identification sheet was correct, including his name. However, the witness' prior statements contained a different family name and *cellule* of origin. The witness explained that his mother and father gave him one family name, but the other family name was given to him by his grandfather.

```
<sup>6647</sup> T. 6 February 2006 p. 12 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 pp. 24, 37 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
<sup>6648</sup> T. 6 February 2006 p. 17 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
<sup>6649</sup> T. 6 February 2006 pp. 18, 20-21 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 pp. 21, 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6650 T. 6 February 2006 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6651 T. 6 February 2006 p. 21 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
<sup>6652</sup> T. 7 February 2006 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6653 T. 6 February 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6654 T. 6 February 2006 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6655 T. 6 February 2006 pp. 16-18 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
<sup>6656</sup> T. 6 February 2006 pp. 16-17, 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6657 T. 6 February 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6658 T. 6 February 2006 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6659 T. 6 February 2006 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6660 T. 7 February 2006 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6661 T. 7 February 2006 pp. 20, 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6662 T. 6 February 2006 p. 41 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6663 T. 30 January 2006 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6664 T. 30 January 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
```

6665 T. 30 January 2006 p. 23 (ICS); T. 6 February 2006 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

said he did not correct the identification sheet because he answered to both names. 6666 He testified that his grandfather's family name was the one that appeared on his identity card. However, he noted his travel documents bore his parents' family name because his wife had registered them for him. The Defence amended the *cellule* name on the identification sheet on the first day of Witness WUNJN's testimony. 6669

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNHE

2363. Witness WUNHE, a farmer, testified that he went to the same school as Witness TA. 6670 Witness TA worked as a seamstress. 6671 Witness WUNHE testified that after President Habyarimana's death, Witness TA no longer stayed at her parents' house; she moved to the house of her uncle, where she served sorghum beer. Witness WUNHE had seen the destruction of Witness TA's family home which forced her to leave in April 1994. Her uncle's place was about 20 minutes away from her parents' house on foot. He saw her at least twice a week. Witness WUNHE's sister and her husband would sometimes give Witness WUNHE some pieces of land where they could grow some potatoes. When he came down to that farm, Witness WUNHE would find Witness TA there harvesting potatoes. She did not hide at her brothers' homes as they were in the same situation as her. He did not know where her brothers sought refuge. The witness testified that he last saw Witness TA at her uncle's place one or two weeks after President Habyarimana's death; he saw her in April and towards the end of May 1994. He did not speak with Witness TA during April or May 1994, and did not see Witness TA again during that time.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ

2364. Witness WMCZ, a Hutu engineer who had a Tutsi wife, testified that after the President's plane was shot down, soldiers who had deserted the battlefront and who no longer respected orders from their commanders began to attack, plunder and kill people. Around 22 or 23 April 1994, a group of six bandits, one of whom had been a servant in his home, came to Witness WMCZ's home looking for his wife. They said if they could not find her, they would kill Witness WMCZ, although they said he could pay for his life. After he paid them

```
6667 T. 7 February 2006 pp. 26, 28 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6668 T. 7 February 2006 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6669 T. 30 January 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).
6670 T. 8 December 2005 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
6671 T. 8 December 2005 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
6672 T. 8 December 2005 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
6673 T. 12 December 2005 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
6674 T. 12 December 2005 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
```

6675 T. 8 December 2005 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

6666 T. 6 February 2006 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁶⁶⁷⁶ T. 12 December 2005 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).
⁶⁶⁷⁷ T. 8 December 2005 pp. 69-70 (ICS); T. 12 December 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁶⁶⁷⁸ T. 12 December 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁶⁶⁷⁹ T. 8 December 2005 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁶⁶⁸⁰ T. 2 February 2005 p. 30 (Witness WMCZ).

 $10,\!000$ francs, they left. Witness WMCZ was subject to multiple attacks and he paid the attackers on multiple occasions. 6682

2365. Witness WMCZ testified that on his way to the bank in Butare town in mid-May 1994, he saw about 1,000 people in the courtyard in front of the BPO, guarded by about four soldiers. He recognised members of four Tutsi families there including Witness QBP, her children, and the brother of Witness TA. Witness WMCZ said that of this group, only Witness QBP survived, the others had died in mid-May 1994.

2366. When he walked on the road past the BPO, he spoke with Witness QBP. She said she had gone to the BPO for purposes of security. She was in good health, but asked Witness WMCZ for some money for food.⁶⁶⁸⁶ Witness QBP gave 50 francs to Witness TA's brother to give to Witness QBP because he did not want to be noticed, as the area was guarded.⁶⁶⁸⁷

2367. Witness WMCZ testified that people decided to go to the BPO because it was a secure place. From where he lived, he could see people going towards the BPO. He did not see bandits pursuing those people. Witness WMCZ testified that there had been no anarchy in Butare town, and that he never witnessed any crime being committed. On his way home after visiting the bank, he did not notice any disorder or unrest in town, but the population was frightened. He rarely observed people walking down the street and in general everybody stayed at home. He had seen no bodies on any of his trips to Butare.

2368. Witness WMCZ testified that he saw Witness QBP again in early June 1994. 6691 She came to visit her younger sister at Witness WMCZ's brother's house, located 200 metres from the witness' home. The witness testified that on that occasion Witness QBP was very sad because one of her children had disappeared. He met Witness QBP on three more occasions in June 1994, once at his house, and twice at his older brother's house. He also saw her on one occasion at her own house, before she had left for Butare. The witness did not see Witness QBP after June 1994.

2369. Between 1996 and 1999, Witness QBP came to look for Witness WMCZ at his house on two occasions. She told him that her missing child had died, but her other children had survived. She also told him that she was looking for the people who had looted her house. She

```
6681 T. 2 February 2005 p. 31 (Witness WMCZ).
6682 T. 2 February 2005 p. 32 (Witness WMCZ).
6683 T. 2 February 2005 pp. 33, 60 (Witness WMCZ).
6684 T. 2 February 2005 pp. 34, 36; T. 2 February 2005 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 7 February 2005 pp. 23-24, 28 (ICS)
(Witness WMCZ).
6685 T. 3 February 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).
6686 T. 2 February 2005 p. 34 (Witness WMCZ).
6687 T. 2 February 2005 p. 35; T. 2 February 2005 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).
6688 T. 7 February 2005 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).
6689 T. 7 February 2005 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).
6690 T. 3 February 2005 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).
6691 T. 2 February 2005 p. 36 (Witness WMCZ).
6692 T. 7 February 2005 p. 37 (Witness WMCZ).
6693 T. 2 February 2005 p. 37 (Witness WMCZ).
6694 T. 2 February 2005 p. 38 (Witness WMCZ).
```

6695 T. 2 February 2005 p. 50 (Witness WMCZ).

was a member of an association called *Ibuka* which had promised to pay her about 1,000,000 Rwandan francs in order to find people responsible for looting. 6696 Witness WMCZ did not see Witness TA from 1996 to 1999, but learned where she was staying. Witness WMCZ stated that Witnesses QBP and TA knew one another. 6697

2370. Witness WMCZ testified that he knew Witness TA, as her parents were his neighbours; Witness TA was about 12 years old in 1994. He did not see Witness TA between April and July 1994, but Witness WMCZ's cousin told him that Witness TA was staying with him in Ndora *commune* between early May and late June 1994. 6699

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNHF

- 2371. Witness WUNHF, a member of the PSD party, grew up with Witness QBP. He considered her as a sister, and they were neighbours until she married. 6700 Witness QBP's father was Hutu and her mother was Tutsi. 6701
- 2372. Witness QBP was Hutu and her father died between 1968 and 1970.⁶⁷⁰² Witness QBP got married and moved away.⁶⁷⁰³ She had four children, three daughters and a son.⁶⁷⁰⁴ Witness WUNHF saw Witness QBP twice a week up until Easter 1994. 6705 In April 1994, he saw Witness QBP on almost a daily basis. 6706 In April, her husband died of diabetes and she moved in with her mother. 6707 He saw her again several times in May 1994. They had farms in the valley and would harvest their sorghum together; Witness QBP was there with her brother who would transport the harvested sorghum on his bicycle. 6708
- 2373. During five to seven days in May 1994, Witness WUNHF did not see Witness QBP and wondered whether she had gone elsewhere. He thought that she may have gone to Nyange to see her brothers and sisters. ⁶⁷⁰⁹ After that they again had ordinary and daily meetings. In June 1994, Witness WUNHF's wife miscarried and Witness OBP came to visit his family on two or more occasions to encourage them. During June, she was always present and Witness WUNHF saw her quite often working on the farms. Witness QBP was always in the company of her mother-in-law and her sister-in-law. 6710

⁶⁶⁹⁶ T. 2 February 2005 p. 51; T. 3 February 2005 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ). 6697 T. 2 February 2005 p. 51 (Witness WMCZ). ⁶⁶⁹⁸ T. 2 February 2005 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁶⁶⁹⁹ T. 2 February 2005 pp. 38, 46 (Witness WMCZ); T. 2 February 2005 p. 54 (Witness WMCZ) (French).

⁶⁷⁰⁰ T. 26 January 2006 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF). ⁶⁷⁰¹ T. 26 January 2006 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰² T. 26 January 2006 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰³ T. 26 January 2006 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁴ T. 26 January 2006 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁵ T. 26 January 2006 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁶ T. 26 January 2006 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁷ T. 26 January 2006 pp. 18-19, 28 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁸ T. 26 January 2006 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷⁰⁹ T. 26 January 2006 pp. 20, 56 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁶⁷¹⁰ T. 26 January 2006 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-O

- 2374. Witness D-2-13-O, a Hutu driver in 1994,⁶⁷¹¹ testified that around May 1994 there was a roadblock opposite the Butare garage, between the *Avenue de l'Université* (which came down from Hotel Ibis and Hotel Faucon towards the university) and a road that branched off towards the ESO.⁶⁷¹²
- 2375. The witness knew Rwamukwaya owned a Peugeot because Butare was a small town and everyone knew who owns what.⁶⁷¹³ After seeing the corpses of the Rwamukwaya family, he saw the vehicle in question more than once between April and July 1994, and stated it was a vehicle in which Shalom, the son of "popular person" Maurice Ntahobali, moved about.⁶⁷¹⁴ The witness saw Ntahobali personally driving the Peugeot 504 in question on several occasions during the period his wife was in the hospital,⁶⁷¹⁵ namely a few days before 20 April 1994, when he brought his wife to the hospital,⁶⁷¹⁶ and May 1994, when they left.⁶⁷¹⁷
- 2376. The witness did not know the registration number of Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504 and was not aware if Rwamukwaya may also have owned a Toyota Hilux. The only vehicle the witness associated with Rwamukwaya was a Peugeot 504.⁶⁷¹⁸

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

- 2377. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu driver, testified that Rwamukwaya used to sell shoes on the road leading from downtown to the university, opposite the Protestant school known as EER. After he resumed his work at the end of April or early May 1994, he did not see Rwamukwaya again. 6719
- 2378. Witness D-13-D saw Ntahobali on numerous occasions when the witness drove his car through Butare town between April and July 1994. He saw Ntahobali moving about Butare town driving a Peugeot 504 pickup that belonged to Rwamukwaya, who sold shoes. The vehicle was like the Peugeot 504 he drove, except it was covered with grease mixed with dust which gave it a camouflage colour. He knew the vehicle belonged to Rwamukwaya because he knew Rwamukwaya's vehicle. Being also "very keen on vehicles", the witness always remembered the cars of his acquaintances.

⁶⁷¹¹ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 600 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁶⁷¹² T. 5 November 2007 p. 48 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹³ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-59 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁴ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57, 59-60; T. 12 November 2007 p. 53 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁵ T. 12 November 2007 p. 53 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁶ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 37-39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁷ T. 5 November 2007 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁸ T. 8 November 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁶⁷¹⁹ T. 14 February 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-13-D).

⁶⁷²⁰ T. 14 February 2008 p. 64 (Witness D-13-D).

⁶⁷²¹ T. 14 February 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-13-D).

⁶⁷²² T. 14 February 2008 p. 65; T. 14 February 2008 p. 80 (Witness D-13-D) (French) ("*J'ai constaté qu'on avait enduit ce véhicule de graisse, la graisse mêlée à la poussière.*").

⁶⁷²³ T. 14 February 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-13-D).

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

- 2379. Alexandre Bararwandika, a Hutu doctor working with the Red Cross in Burundi, worked at Butare University Hospital during the genocide.⁶⁷²⁴ While initially the medication and equipment was adequate, there was a depletion of medication until around mid-May 1994. At that time, there was a new influx of medication that arrived from NGO stocks that had been abandoned, some of which came through the office of the *préfet*.⁶⁷²⁵
- 2380. Bararwandika testified that he went to the *préfet's* office with a Rwandan man from Kigali who was a driver at the Belgian Red Cross branch. The witness said that Nsabimana encouraged them to continue their relief activities and, if possible, to expand their work to the rest of the *préfecture*. Bararwandika testified that, given their numbers, they were going to limit themselves to the Ngoma urban *commune*, and more specifically to the University Teaching Hospital. *Préfet* Nsabimana sent the *sous-préfet* responsible for social welfare activities to speak with the witness. Bararwandika testified that he spoke with the *sous-préfet* at length about the NGO's needs. The *sous-préfet* then referred the witness to *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi, who gave them the authorisation to continue their work.
- 2381. Bararwandika testified that after the refugees were moved to the BPO, he saw them in dirty clothes under the avocado trees; some were ill and lying down, and others were cooking. The witness also testified that at some point, his NGO gave the refugees at the BPO some food. On one occasion, he saw a vehicle transporting water to the BPO, which he believed was for the refugees. The witness did not see this water being distributed to the refugees, because when he saw the truck there, he was in a hurry.
- 2382. Bararwandika did not know if the BPO opened up to the refugees who were there. When he went to the BPO, he did not see refugees enter the BPO.⁶⁷³¹ The witness testified that when he saw the refugees at the BPO, there was no shelter whereas the period between March and April 1994, when the refugees were at the BPO, is usually a rainy season in Rwanda.⁶⁷³² When he went to the BPO, the Tutsis there were emaciated, wore torn clothes and were obviously refugees.⁶⁷³³
- 2383. Bararwandika testified that *Préfet* Nsabimana saved people where possible. He said that Nsabimana: supported Bararwandika's relief unit at the university hospital; created health zones at the Butare bishopric and the nuns' convent; authorised the work of the NGO *Terre des Hommes*, which established a camp in Karubanda where people were well-protected; and later transferred children from *Groupe Scolaire* in Karubanda to a foreign country. As a result

⁶⁷²⁴ T. 3 July 2006 pp. 20, 28, 35 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷²⁵ T. 3 July 2006 p. 37 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷²⁶ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷²⁷ T. 3 July 2006 p. 35 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷²⁸ T. 3 July 2006 p. 43 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷²⁹ T. 3 July 2006 p. 44 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷³⁰ T. 5 July 2006 p. 11 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷³¹ T. 5 July 2006 p. 11 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷³² T. 5 July 2006 p. 12 (Bararwandika).

⁶⁷³³ T. 4 July 2006 p. 71 (Bararwandika).

of the creation of these safe zones, the witness transferred four children who were hidden in Tumba and then in Rango. 6734

Nsabimana Defence Witness Patrick Fergal Keane

2384. Patrick Fergal Keane, a reporter for the BBC, visited Rwanda on assignment and, as part of that trip, went to Butare *préfecture* around 15 June 1994. He visited the BPO and interviewed Nsabimana at that time. The video from that interview was introduced as Defence Exhibit 473A and a transcript of portions of that interview was introduced as Defence Exhibit 473B.

2385. Keane observed, and the videographer recorded, the presence of refugees at the BPO.⁶⁷³⁸ Nsabimana stated in the interview that in his capacity as an authority, he would protect the refugees.⁶⁷³⁹ In addition, Nsabimana said that he had posted *gendarmes* to ensure the refugees' safety.⁶⁷⁴⁰ Nsabimana stated that he was looking for a more secure place to take the refugees by bus, but the refugees were reticent to leave the BPO without assurances as to their safety. In the interview, Nsabimana estimated that there were over 200 refugees at the BPO. Keane testified that there were about 500 refugees at the BPO.⁶⁷⁴¹ Keane testified that he attempted to visit the BPO at night with his camera crew, but they were turned away at a roadblock not far from the *préfet's* office.⁶⁷⁴² He stated that they may have returned to the BPO at night because someone told him that armed civilians had attacked refugees at the BPO when they had gone to fetch water.⁶⁷⁴³

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WNMN

2386. Witness WNMN, a Hutu teacher, testified that in early June 1994 he passed by the BPO and there were about 30 to 50 refugees there, including men, women and children of various ethnic groups. ⁶⁷⁴⁴ He did not see whether there were more refugees inside or behind the office. ⁶⁷⁴⁵ Security was guaranteed and there were no killings at that time in Butare. ⁶⁷⁴⁶ There were some *gendarmes* on the side of the brigade. The entrance to the *préfecture* office was not guarded. Rather, "very close to the brigade there were stores and they could see people passing without any problem". ⁶⁷⁴⁷

```
<sup>6734</sup> T. 3 July 2006 p. 62 (Bararwandika).
<sup>6735</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 10 (Keane).
<sup>6736</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 40 (Keane).
<sup>6737</sup> T. 25 September 2006 pp. 41, 74, 84 (Keane).
<sup>6738</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 55 (Keane).
<sup>6739</sup> T. 25 September 2006 pp. 46-47 (Keane).
<sup>6740</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 47; T. 28 September 2006 p. 21 (Keane).
<sup>6741</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 47; T. 28 September 2006 p. 53 (Keane).
<sup>6742</sup> T. 28 September 2006 p. 20 (Keane).
<sup>6743</sup> T. 28 September 2006 pp. 20-21 (Keane).
<sup>6744</sup> T. 14 June 2005 pp. 45-46 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 31 (Witness WNMN).
<sup>6746</sup> T. 15 June 2005 pp. 31-32 (Witness WNMN).
<sup>6747</sup> T. 14 June 2005 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
```

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

2387. Witness WZNA, an employee at a food mill, testified that between April and July 1994, he passed in front of the BPO on two occasions: once between 16 and 18 April 1994 and the second time in early July 1994. He said that the first time he passed there he estimated that he saw approximately 50 to 60 civilians in front of the MINITRAP office. He said that the second time he passed by in early July 1994 he did not see any civilians. He passed in front of the BPO because certain soldiers had needed rice urgently and came to see him at his home to place an order. He said he and the soldiers were moving towards ESO. The witness thought the soldiers were based at ESO. He also said that he knew one of the soldiers as Ndibwami Eugène, a lieutenant.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WTRT

2388. Witness WTRT, a Hutu soldier assigned to ESO,⁶⁷⁵⁵ testified that he went to the BPO one morning towards the end of April or early May 1994 and noticed the presence of about 100 refugees who were scattered in front of and beside the BPO.⁶⁷⁵⁶ The BPO was not fenced but there were a few trees planted around. He did not see any armed civilians or soldiers at the BPO. He noticed people in their offices who were working. He did not talk to any of the refugees.⁶⁷⁵⁷

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL

2389. Witness WMKL, a Hutu teacher, testified that he went to the BPO at the end of the week following the death of President Habyarimana. On that occasion, he saw between 100 and 150 refugees gathered there. The refugees were to the left, in the back, very close to the *préfet's* office. Witness WMKL testified that the refugees could move around as there was no fence in the premises of the BPO. The refugees had access to the shops and some of them had bread with them. Most of the refugees behind the BPO were preparing food. He saw neither people in uniform nor armed civilians preventing the refugees from moving around freely at the BPO.

```
<sup>6748</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 51-52, 55-56 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6749</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 54-55 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6750</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 56-57 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6751</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 52-53; T. 5 April 2005 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6752</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 52-53, 56 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6753</sup> T. 4 April 2005 p. 53 (Witness WZNA).
6754 T. 4 April 2005 p. 54 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>6755</sup> T. 9 March 2005 pp. 34, 64 (ICS) (Witness WTRT).
<sup>6756</sup> T. 9 March 2005 p. 51 (Witness WTRT).
6757 T. 9 March 2005 p. 52 (Witness WTRT).
<sup>6758</sup> T. 6 April 2005 pp. 48-50; T. 11 April 2005 p. 37 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6759</sup> T. 6 April 2005 pp. 54, 57 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6760</sup> T. 6 April 2005 pp. 51-52 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6761</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 51 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6762</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6763</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 52 (Witness WMKL).
```

2390. Witness WMKL testified that he talked with three refugees who told him that they had had problems of security because of their neighbours. They came to be close to the administration because they felt that their security would be protected there. He talked with refugees at least three times around the end of April 1994 and also in early May 1994. The refugees did not tell him that they had been threatened. The refugees said that they felt secure from the moment they arrived at the BPO. He knew the three refugees he talked with and named them.

2391. Witness WMKL testified that *Sous-préfet* Faustin Rutayisire also told him that these refugees were people who had felt threatened where they were living and had decided to come to the BPO because they trusted the administration there. The *sous-préfet* did not mention anything about kidnapping, murder or rape perpetrated at the BPO. He said that he did not see any refugees at the BPO when he passed again during the first week of June 1994.

Nsabimana

2392. Nsabimana testified that from 21 April 1994, when he arrived at the BPO, people sought *laissez-passers* at the BPO, but they were not considered refugees. On the first day, the *laissez-passers* were free of charge, but on the second day, they started charging 100 francs for the document.⁶⁷⁷¹ From 21 April 1994, there were people at the BPO, but they would move about; one would not know who would come and go and who would stay at the BPO.⁶⁷⁷²

2393. Nsabimana testified that he did not count the number of people at the BPO, but there were many people coming. Throughout the months of April and May 1994 the numbers of people varied on a daily basis. Around the second week of May 1994, or as early as 5 May 1994, they knew that people were coming from Gikongoro *préfecture*, and Runyinya and Byumba *communes*, because these people asked for *laissez-passers*. It was only at the end of May 1994 that it was clear that there was a big group of people staying at the BPO. People came in droves in mid-May 1994 from the east of the country as they were pushed by the RPF. People were coming to the BPO for protection and his mission was to protect them.

2394. Nsabimana testified that convalescing patients were sent from Butare University Hospital to the BPO on 2 May 1994. 6778 As indicated by a letter of 25 April 1994, introduced

```
<sup>6764</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6765</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 59; T. 11 April 2005 p. 37 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6766</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6767</sup> T. 11 April 2005 p. 37; T. 11 April 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6768</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6769</sup> T. 6 April 2005 pp. 59-60 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6770</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 70 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>6771</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 17 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6772</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 19 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6773</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6774</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6775</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6776</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 58 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6777</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 30 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6778</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 32-33 (Nsabimana).
```

as Defence Exhibit 479B, the hospital was overcrowded with patients and the hospital vice-rector asked Nsabimana to evacuate persons who were staying at the hospital. These persons included Burundian refugees, displaced Rwandans, mild cases, and improved-health patients. Nsabimana testified that he responded by letter of 2 May 1994, introduced as Defence Exhibit 480B, in which he stated the administration was making arrangements with the Rwandan Red Cross to find accommodation for the persons. That same day, the persons arrived at the BPO from the University Hospital. When the people arrived they were split in different places.

2395. Nsabimana testified that there were people who came from the hospital who were ill and convalescing, or had bandages on. There were also people who had already been at the BPO for some time, and still others were arriving. He could not estimate the number of persons who were staying in the courtyard of the BPO. The persons stayed anywhere at the BPO, but at a certain point, the Security Council decided that during the day, in order to avoid movement to and from the offices, people could go behind the BPO where there was a lot of space whereas during the night people could stay on the veranda. No place was off-limits to those people. 6783

2396. Nsabimana testified that there was no food for the prisoners at Karubanda prison and, therefore, the Security Council decided to release people who had small sentences or who were about to complete their prison terms. The prison contained 3,000 people, and a sizeable number came to the BPO, but Nsabimana did not know how many. 6784

2397. He testified that there was no measure taken to solve the problem of the refugees at the BPO because they did not discuss the issue at any specific meeting.⁶⁷⁸⁵ In the first two weeks of May 1994, he saw the maximum number of refugees who were staying at the BPO and they were around 100 to 200 or more.⁶⁷⁸⁶ He estimated that on 31 May 1994, there were about 200 refugees at the BPO.⁶⁷⁸⁷ He did not doubt that many of the refugees were Tutsis.⁶⁷⁸⁸

2398. Nsabimana stated that he did not make a decision to separate Hutus from Tutsis. He testified that in 1993 Hutu and Tutsi refugees from Burundi were taken to a camp in Saga, but there were problems among the two groups within the camp. Therefore, the UNHCR, along with the *préfecture* and local authorities, had decided in 1993 to set up a camp for Tutsis alone in Nyange and to leave the Hutu camp in Saga. Nsabimana testified that the Mubumbano refugee camp was set up gradually from mid-May 1994 and the number of refugees there kept

⁶⁷⁷⁹ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 32-33 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 479B (Nsabimana) (Letter from Vice-Rector of National University of Rwanda, 25 April 1994).

⁶⁷⁸⁰ Defence Exhibit 480B (Nsabimana) (Letter from Nsabimana to Deputy Vice-Chancellor, 2 May 1994); T. 9 October 2006 p. 35 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸¹ T. 9 October 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸² T. 9 October 2006 p. 34 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸³ T. 9 October 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁴ T. 9 October 2006 p. 59 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁵ T. 14 September 2006 p. 44 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁶ T. 9 October 2006 p. 61 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁷ T. 9 October 2006 p. 60 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁸ T. 10 October 2006 p. 21 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁸⁹ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 20-21 (Nsabimana).

increasing as people arrived from the east of the country.⁶⁷⁹⁰ This camp had many Hutus and even if they were Tutsis, they would not admit to it.⁶⁷⁹¹ Nsabimana said the only persons left in the hills were Hutus and the Tutsis were either in hiding or had been killed. So when the RPF came from the east of the country, the people who fled were Hutus, and these persons ended up in Mubumbano without a decision being made that Tutsis and Hutus should be divided.⁶⁷⁹²

2399. Nsabimana testified that some members of the Security Council including Kalimanzira, Bushishi, the new commander of Ngoma camp, Ntambabazi, and people at the roadblocks, were asking him why the refugees were at the BPO. Sabimana testified that after he found out that massacres were still carried out during the day and night "in a closed structure" he was not at peace with himself because he went home fearing that he may not find the refugees in the morning.

2400. Nsabimana testified that he did not object to the introduction of Prosecution Exhibit 114 because what was contained in that document was not 100 percent different from his own way of seeing things or his own writing on certain issues. 6795

2401. Nsabimana denied Prosecution Witnesses TK's and SJ's evidence that people were killed at the BPO. He also denied that there were mass graves behind the office containing the bodies of people who had been killed. Nsabimana denied being informed of abductions of people from the BPO during the day. Nsabimana denied Prosecution Witnesses SJ's and TK's testimony that he made a young man leave his office, who was then arrested, tied down and taken to be killed since he never came back. Nsabimana testified that he never went to the BPO at night and denied that 40 children were killed at the BPO.

2402. Nsabimana testified that people who committed crimes were arrested and usually convened immediately during the security meetings. He gave the example of one Emmanuel Rekeraho, an ex-warrant officer from Huye *commune* who appeared before the security meeting, and one taxi driver who never returned.⁶⁷⁹⁸

2403. Because several bishops had been killed in Kabayi around 5 June 1994, Nsabimana was concerned with reprisal killings. Nsabimana testified that in early June 1994, he observed a soldier moving among the refugees and he asked his bodyguards to call the soldier into his office. The soldier said he was looking for one of his friends, but Nsabimana did not believe him. Therefore, he met with Colonels Munyengango and Mugemanyi who suggested

⁶⁷⁹⁰ T. 9 October 2006 p. 58; T. 10 October 2006 p. 19 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹¹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 20 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹² T. 10 October 2006 p. 21 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹³ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 77-78, 80 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹⁴ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 80-81 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹⁵ T. 13 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994).

⁶⁷⁹⁶ T. 10 October 2006 p. 23 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹⁷ T. 10 October 2006 p. 24 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹⁸ T. 18 September 2006 p. 47 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁷⁹⁹ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 13, 15 (Nsabimana).

that some soldiers be brought in to protect the refugees at the BPO. The colonels seconded five or six soldiers under the leadership of a female lieutenant to guard the people at the BPO. 6800

2404. Around 15 June 1994, one lady refugee went to Nsabimana's office and complained about the insecurity caused by the soldier moving about the refugees. 6801 Nsabimana denied the assertion that refugees told him that they were being attacked at the BPO. 6802

2405. In a telephone conversation with Des Forges in March 1996, Nsabimana stated that he saw a disguised Peugeot 504 pickup in town owned by somebody that he knew. 6803 Nsabimana saw the vehicle from behind, and one would say there was mud on it. The back part of the pickup was in a square form. 6804 There were two people within the front part of the cabin, and two red containers of either petrol or gas oil in the back part of the pickup. 6805 His driver, Manase, told him one of the men was Ntahobali. 6806 Manase did not specify whether the driver or the passenger was Ntahobali. 6807 Nsabimana testified that when he told Des Forges that he knew the owner of the Peugeot 504 was one Rwamukwaya, he did not ask himself who the pickup belonged to. 6808 He was not saying that the Peugeot 504 he saw Ntahobali driving in April 1994 belonged to somebody else. Rather, he testified that there had been an error. ⁶⁸⁰⁹

3.6.19.3.2.1 Alibi Evidence – Nyiramasuhuko

Nyiramasuhuko

2406. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she was in Kigali until 12 April 1994 when the Interim Government fled to Murambi in Gitarama préfecture. 6810 She travelled to Butare on 14 April 1994.⁶⁸¹¹ On that date, Nyiramasuhuko testified that she and the Minister of Finance, Ndindabahizi, visited the Butare accountant, Alexis Durasinze. She went to the BPO with Alexis, where he and the Minister of Finance dealt with their assignment. 6812 She was given the pickup with *gendarmes* who accompanied her home to the Hotel Ihuliro. ⁶⁸¹³

2407. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she spent the night at Hotel Ihuliro and returned to Gitarama the next morning with Straton, another minister. She did not leave the hotel before that. ⁶⁸¹⁴ She went back to Murambi on 15 April 1994, because a Cabinet meeting had been scheduled for that day. She did not go back to Butare often in April 1994 because she did not have access to

```
<sup>6801</sup> T. 10 October 2006 pp. 15-16 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6802</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 16 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6803</sup> T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-12 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 185B (Telephone conversation between
Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996) p. 3.
<sup>6804</sup> T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6805</sup> T. 28 November 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).
<sup>6806</sup> T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).
```

⁶⁸⁰⁰ T. 10 October 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁸⁰⁷ T. 28 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana). ⁶⁸⁰⁸ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-13 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁸⁰⁹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁶⁸¹⁰ T. 27 September 2005 pp. 62, 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸¹¹ T. 28 September 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko). ⁶⁸¹² T. 22 November 2005 pp. 33-34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸¹³ T. 28 September 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸¹⁴ T. 28 September 2005 pp. 33-34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

a vehicle. 6815 Nyiramasuhuko stated that she did not leave Murambi between 14 and 18 April 1994 6816

2408. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the entry in her diary dated 10 February referred to the swearing-in ceremony of the new *préfet* of Butare (see also Table 4 of Guichaoua's report). The notes state: "Meeting to introduce the new *préfet*, presence of the Preerep and the Prime Minister". Apart from herself, the Prime Minister and the President, other members of the Government were present, including ministers of all political parties. 6817

2409. Nyiramasuhuko testified that when Nsabimana was installed, she went to Butare with Minister Mugiraneza. The ministers went in a convoy from Murambi to Butare and arrived in the morning on 19 April 1994. When she and Minister Mugiraneza arrived at the multipurpose hall, the former alighted and Nyiramasuhuko went to visit her family at the Hotel Ihuliro. She did not remain there for a long time. The children took some of the items that she had brought from the vehicle while she went to see her husband who was not well and in bed. She then left and attended the swearing-in ceremony which ended around 2.00 p.m. She explained that she could not stay with her family on that date because she did not have her own means of transportation and had not previously made up her mind to spend the night in Butare. Further, she was to travel later to Ruhengeri for the swearing-in of the *préfet*. Nyiramasuhuko decided to return to Murambi on 19 April 1994 with Mugiraneza because she did not know whether there was going to be a meeting on the next day.

2410. A meeting occurred in Murambi on 20 April 1994 but Nyiramasuhuko did not take notes. She did take notes during the meeting held on 21 April 1994, which appear in her diary at the entries for 11 February. On 21 April 1994, *Préfet* Dusabumugisha of Ruhengeri was sworn in and she attended this ceremony. Ruhengeri was sworn in and she attended this ceremony.

2411. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she did not go to Butare between 21 and 28 April 1994. She again went to Butare on 28 April 1994, after the meeting that finalised the Prime Minister's directives. Nyiramasuhuko went to Butare on that date because she could travel with the chairman of the PSD party, Ndungutse, and return the next day. They left Murambi at around 2.00 p.m. and arrived at Butare in the late afternoon, around 5.00 or 6.00 p.m. She went to Hotel Ihuliro, where her family was and spent the night there. She did not leave the hotel and was with the members of her family. Her granddaughter was celebrating her first birthday. She and Ndungutse left the following day, at around 10.00 a.m. 6825

⁶⁸²⁵ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 49-50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸¹⁵ T. 28 September 2005 p. 36 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸¹⁶ T. 28 September 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸¹⁷ T. 28 September 2005 p. 63 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸¹⁸ T. 28 September 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸¹⁹ T. 28 September 2005 p. 66 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸²⁰ T. 29 September 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸²¹ T. 29 September 2005 p. 11 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸²² T. 29 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸²³ T. 29 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).
⁶⁸²⁴ T. 29 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

- 2412. Nyiramasuhuko took notes at a Cabinet meeting that lasted two days on 7 and 8 May 1994.⁶⁸²⁶ Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that on 10 May 1994 she attended a meeting with youths of all parties in Butare. The meeting was organised by the Butare authorities. The purpose of the meeting was to educate youths about peaceful co-existence, so that they would not fight each other or engage in acts of provocation. Kalimanzira informed her that the meeting was going to take place, and that it was organised by the *préfet* and *bourgmestre* of Ngoma urban *commune*. Kalimanzira said he would go there to ensure that the meeting had gone well. Nyiramasuhuko asked him for a ride. Kalimanzira told her that he had an appointment, and so they left and returned to Murambi on the same day. She stated that Nsabimana came at the end of the meeting. She did not recall if he made a speech. The meeting was followed by another meeting at the office of the *bourgmestre* of the urban *commune* and a reception.
- 2413. Nyiramasuhuko did not go to Hotel Ihuliro on 10 May 1994, because Kalimanzira was in a hurry to get back and she had no other means of transportation to return to Murambi. They left during the reception. Apart from Kamena Stadium and the reception, she did not go anywhere else in Butare that day. 6829
- 2414. On 14 May 1994, she left Murambi for the weekend to go home in the company of Kalimanzira, who was going to Butare. She left Gitarama after noon. She remembered that she returned to Butare on 14 May, because on that day she saw a letter which had been drafted by Kalimanzira which bore the date of 14 May 1994. That letter reminded her that the notes which she had taken down were in connection with that time because they mention exactly what happened on 14 May 1994.
- 2415. Nyiramasuhuko testified that on 14 May 1994, she went to see her family while Kalimanzira stayed with Kanyabashi. The vehicle took her to Hotel Ihuliro where she arrived towards 6.00 p.m. She asked her family why they were still staying at the hotel, because she had asked them earlier to leave Butare town. Her family was not even thinking of leaving, although the situation was bad and war had reached more areas. 6833
- 2416. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she stayed in Butare on the weekend of 14 and 15 May 1994 since she was not well, and therefore was not in a hurry to return the next day. On 15 May 1994 she remained in bed at home and on 16 May 1994 she felt better and left Butare for Gitarama in the morning. She did not leave the hotel during these days. ⁶⁸³⁴
- 2417. On 16 May 1994, before 10.00 a.m., Nyiramasuhuko went to the BPO to pay a courtesy call to *Préfet* Nsabimana. She also wanted to find out about developments in the town

⁶⁸²⁶ T. 3 October 2005 pp. 23-24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸²⁷ T. 3 October 2005 p. 43 (Kalimanzira went to ensure "whether the meeting actually took place"); T. 3 October 2005 p. 55 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (Kalimanzira "se rendait à Butare pour voir si la réunion s'était bien déroulée").

⁶⁸²⁸ T. 26 October 2005 p. 7 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸²⁹ T. 3 October 2005 p. 61 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³⁰ T. 3 October 2005 pp. 60-61 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³¹ T. 26 October 2005 p. 19; T. 26 October 2005 p. 21 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French).

⁶⁸³² T. 3 October 2005 p. 62 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³³ T. 4 October 2005 p. 7 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³⁴ T. 4 October 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko).

and the state of security in Butare.⁶⁸³⁵ She went in her husband's Peugeot 505, a sedan, adding that she did not have a vehicle and was ill.⁶⁸³⁶ She wanted to know whether it was necessary for her to move her family, and also to gather information to share with other ministers. Nsabimana told her that members of the population continued to flee from Mayaga in great numbers, and that if she wanted to know exactly what the security situation of Butare was, she could come and attend a Security Council meeting of the BPO.⁶⁸³⁷ It was not necessary for her to report to the Cabinet about the situation in Butare after 16 May 1994, as the others already knew what she learned.⁶⁸³⁸

- 2418. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she saw many people at the BPO but that she did not know who was a refugee and who was not because Butare was at a crossroads and everybody passed through Butare while fleeing from the war. While some people at the BPO wanted to obtain travel documents or fuel vouchers, others came to look for members of their family. She estimated that there were about a hundred people at the BPO. 6839
- 2419. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she attended the meeting of the Security Council on 16 May 1994 at the multi-purpose hall. She first went to the hotel and told her family that she was going to attend the meeting. She again used the Peugeot 505 to go to the hall. She confirmed that she took notes during the meeting and that they were contained in the entries for 30 and 31 January in her diary. 6840
- 2420. She testified that on 16 May 1994, she did not wait for the end of the meeting of the Security Council and returned to Murambi in her husband's Peugeot 505 with her husband's driver, Ngarambe. Her own driver was called Muvunyi. She testified that she did not have a driver and bodyguard named Kazungu who moved around with her between April and July 1994. She did not leave Murambi after her return on 16 May 1994.
- 2421. Towards the end of May 1994, the Minister of Transport, Ntagerura, signed a request to allot a car from the Minister of Foreign Affairs to Nyiramasuhuko. This was a Hyundai sedan which was used by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to drive around distinguished guests. She believed that she got the car around 25 May 1994. Until that time, she did not have a car at her disposal.

⁶⁸³⁵ T. 4 October 2005 p. 9; T. 26 October 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³⁶ T. 4 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³⁷ T. 26 October 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko) (refers to Nyanza); *see* T. 26 October 2005 p. 38 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (refers to Mayaga).

⁶⁸³⁸ T. 26 October 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸³⁹ T. 4 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁰ T. 4 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴¹ T. 4 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴² T. 4 October 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴³ T. 4 October 2005 p. 44 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁴ T. 4 October 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁵ T. 27 September 2005 pp. 16-17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁶ T. 5 October 2005 p. 11 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 348B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Letter from Minister of Transportation).

- 2422. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she left Murambi for Butare on 30 May 1994 between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. to evacuate members of her family. 6847 She received information that the fighting was getting closer. Gitarama was hemmed between the two fronts, the *Inkotanyi* were fighting their way out of Kigali, while others had gone to the Mayaga area. ⁶⁸⁴⁸
- 2423. She went to the Hotel Ihuliro. 6849 She arrived in the afternoon, before 6.00 p.m. As soon as she arrived, she talked with members of her family. She was surprised because they were celebrating her niece's birthday, while she had come to evacuate them. On the evening of 30 May 1994, she remained at Hotel Ihuliro. 6850
- 2424. When she reached Butare on 30 May 1994, her vehicle was hit by another car driven by a *gendarme*. The *gendarme* told Nyiramasuhuko that he would see his commanding officer, in order to requisition another vehicle for her. A car belonging to the ISAR was then requisitioned and put at her disposal. 6852 It was a Mazda double-cabin pickup, which belonged to the ISAR forestry. 6853 "ISAR Ruhande" was written on the side of the car and could be read from a distance of five or 10 metres. 6854 She stated that she went to Butare to visit her family on that day. 6855 The commanding officer authorised her to obtain the vehicle. 6856
- 2425. Nyiramasuhuko testified that in the morning of 31 May 1994, while the children were getting ready to leave, she decided that she should attend the meeting taking place in the multipurpose hall. 6857 It took her between five and seven minutes to walk there from the hotel. 6858 She spent one hour at the meeting and left as soon as she was told that a vehicle had been made available. 6859 At that point, the meeting had not yet ended. 6860 She left Butare immediately, because the children she was going to evacuate were already in the car. 6861 The situation in Gitarama was very dangerous and the RPF took over the town. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she left Butare before noon with Denise and her granddaughter. They reached Murambi around 2.00 p.m. 6864

⁶⁸⁴⁷ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 11, 13-14 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁸ T. 5 October 2005 p. 11 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁴⁹ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 15-16 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁰ T. 5 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵¹ T. 16 November 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵² T. 16 November 2005 pp. 29-30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁴ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 29-30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁵ T. 16 November 2005 p. 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁶ T. 10 November 2005 p. 4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁷ T. 5 October 2005 p. 18 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁸ T. 5 October 2005 p. 19 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁵⁹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 27; T. 26 October 2005 p. 46 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁰ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 27-28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶² T. 6 September 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁴ T. 5 October 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

2426. Nyiramasuhuko testified that on 1 June 1994 she was not in Butare. She was in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, and on her way to Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture*. She returned to Butare a fortnight later. ⁶⁸⁶⁵

2427. Nyiramasuhuko testified as to the notes in her diary from 1 to 3 June 1994. She said there was a Cabinet meeting in Murambi on 1 June 1994. Regarding her diary notes on 1 to 3 June 1994, she was at first unsure whether they all related to the 1 June 1994 Cabinet meeting in Murambi. ⁶⁸⁶⁶ Upon further questioning, she testified that the notes appearing on the page for 3 June 1994 relate to a different Cabinet meeting that took place in Muramba on 4 June 1994 ⁶⁸⁶⁷

2428. Nyiramasuhuko testified that after the Cabinet meeting on 1 June 1994, at about 2.00 p.m., the Chief of Staff for the Prime Minister told them they must leave as they were under attack. She left Murambi in the direction of Gisenyi. She went to Muramba on 1 June, because it was said that the seat of government would be there. She clarified that the seat of government was in Gisenyi, where the President of the Republic stayed. She referred to Muramba as the government office, because there were some offices and services there. During the first days of June 1994, Cabinet meetings were held in Muramba. Ministers left Gisenyi and shuttled to Muramba during the entire month of June 1994. She settled there because Cabinet meetings were held there and because her grandchild was with her. She explained that it was not easy for her to move around all the time with her grandchild.

2429. She said the diary entry appearing on 3 June 1994 was an indication of the various areas where the ministers were staying at that time. The first several lines of the entry for 3 June 1994 state:

⁶⁸⁶⁵ T. 6 September 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁶ T. 5 October 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁷ T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁸ T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁶⁹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 36 (Nyiramasuhuko). The English translation ("Murambi") is erroneous; *see* T. 5 October 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French).

⁶⁸⁷⁰ T. 5 October 2005 p. 36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁷¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 36 (Nyiramasuhuko). The English translation ("Murambi") is erroneous; *see* T. 5 October 2005 pp. 45-46 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French).

⁶⁸⁷² T. 5 October 2005 pp. 36-37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁷³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko). The English translation ("Murambi") is erroneous; *see* T. 5 October 2005 p. 46 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French).

⁶⁸⁷⁴ T. 11 October 2005 p. 3 (Nyiramasuhuko). The English translation ("that young girl") is erroneous; *see* T. 11 October 2005 p. 5 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French).

⁶⁸⁷⁵ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 33-34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Gitarama: MINIFOPE

Mijeuma → Nyabikenke

<u>Gisenyi</u>: MINIPLAN + MINITRASO

MINETO → Populⁿ + Civil Defence

MINIPRISEC → office in Gisenyi

MIFAPROFE → Muramba and Butare and looking towards Gikongoro. 6876

- 2430. She testified that at the time of the 4 June 1994 meeting, most ministers were in Gisenyi where several ministries were based, but there were two ministries in Nyabikenke, Gitarama *préfecture*: MINIFOP and MIJEUMA. Nyiramasuhuko was the only minister that did not live in Gisenyi. 6877
- 2431. She testified that she was staying in Muramba. When she travelled to Butare on the weekends, she went through Gikongoro because that was the only way to get to Butare at that time. 6878
- 2432. She said that a series of government decisions appearing in the 4 June 1994 entry in her diary related to the same 4 June 1994 Cabinet meeting. She testified that at the 4 June meeting, the government decided to replace the *préfet* of Gitarama with Major Ukulikiyeyezu. 6880
- 2433. She testified that Cabinet meetings were held in Muramba on 6 June and 10 June 1994. She also said that on 8 June 1994 the RPF had killed bishops that were her neighbours in Gitarama. The Cabinet learned about the killings from newspapers and the radio on 10 June 1994 and discussed it at the Cabinet meeting that day. 6882
- 2434. She did not travel to Butare between 31 May and 11 June 1994 as she was in Muramba. She did not leave Muramba between 12 and 17 June 1994. During that time, Cabinet meetings were held almost every day. She stated that entries in her diary for 17 June, 18 May and 19th (no month indicated) 1994 related to a Cabinet meeting. 6884
- 2435. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she went to Butare on Saturday, 11 June 1994. She said this was the only trip she took to Butare in the month of June 1994 after a Cabinet

⁶⁸⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 56-57.

⁶⁸⁷⁷ T. 5 October 2005 p. 40 (Nyiramasuhuko) (refers to Muserama); *see* T. 5 October 2005 p. 49 (French) (Nyiramasuhuko) (refers to MIJEUMA).

⁶⁸⁷⁸ T. 5 October 2005 p. 40 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁷⁹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 38 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁰ T. 5 October 2005 p. 39 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸¹ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 40-41 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸² T. 5 October 2005 pp. 41-43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸³ T. 22 November 2005 p. 5 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁴ T. 6 October 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁵ T. 6 September 2005 p. 32; T. 5 October 2005 pp. 45-46 (Nyiramasuhuko).

meeting.⁶⁸⁸⁶ Her daughter Denise, her granddaughter and three *gendarmes*, one of whom was a driver, accompanied her to Butare. She travelled in a dirty, white Mazda pickup, which was in her possession for two days.⁶⁸⁸⁷ They left very early in the morning and arrived at Butare around 6.00 p.m.⁶⁸⁸⁸ She was afraid for her family and had asked them to flee but they refused. So she returned to try again.⁶⁸⁸⁹ People were waiting for the arrival of Cardinal Etchegarray.⁶⁸⁹⁰

2436. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she went straight to Hotel Ihuliro where her family was located, including her children and husband. Her family did not understand the prevailing situation in Rwanda, thinking they were in a peaceful country. She told the people who were at the hotel that they had to leave. She spent the night at the hotel and did not go anywhere else. She spent the night at the hotel and did not go anywhere else.

2437. She said that it might take about three hours to travel from Gisenyi to Kigali and then another two hours from Kigali to Butare. In times of war, another two to three additional hours must be added to these five hours. The duration of the trip would depend on the itinerary used. She also said the distance between Muramba and Butare might be covered in an hour less than the distance between Gisenyi and Butare. Further, the distance between Gisenyi and Muramba might be covered in about an hour.

2438. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she never went to Muganza. She confirmed that on 10 June 1994 there was a Cabinet meeting at Muramba, but not on 11 June 1994. The following morning [12 June 1994], she left for Muramba at around 10.00 a.m. They reached Gisenyi *commune* at around 9.00 p.m.

2439. In relation to the diary entry for 18 June 1994 which was followed by arrows and the words, "[f]or two hundred thousand francs, I must withdraw an envelope for civil defence in Gisenyi," Nyiramasuhuko said these were notes she took based on a message she received from the minister of public service. She did not go to Gisenyi on 18 June 1994 to withdraw an envelope for civil defence. On that date, she was in Muramba. 6899

2440. Nyiramasuhuko testified that on 21 June 1994, she attended meetings at RTLM and at Kigali *préfecture*. ⁶⁹⁰⁰ She stayed at *Hotel des Diplomates* in Kigali. Her programme was to tell

⁶⁸⁸⁶ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 3-4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁷ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 34-36 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁸ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 38-39 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁸⁹ T. 6 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁰ T. 6 September 2005 p. 51 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹¹ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 39, 41 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹² T. 6 September 2005 pp. 41-42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹³ T. 6 September 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁴ T. 11 October 2005 p. 4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁵ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 4-5 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁶ T. 11 October 2005 p. 6 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁷ T. 6 September 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁸ T. 6 September 2005 p. 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁸⁹⁹ T. 6 October 2005 p. 12 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁶⁹⁰⁰ T. 6 October 2005 p. 13 (Nyiramasuhuko).

the women to do all in their power to end the war. She then said that there was no meeting at RTLM; rather an RTLM journalist came and met her at the hotel.⁶⁹⁰¹

2441. Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that she went to Butare when Cardinal Etchegarray visited on 24 June 1994 as a government envoy. She was a member of a government delegation, consisting of staff of the foreign ministry and a journalist. They left Muramba at 4.00 a.m. and reached Butare at about 11.00 a.m. She went to Hotel Ihuliro and spent a very brief time there, just to exchange greetings and ask for news, before leaving. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she tried to follow the programme that had been set for the cardinal's visit. She left Butare at about 8.00 p.m. ⁶⁹⁰²

2442. Nyiramasuhuko stated that between 12 and 24 June 1994, she did not go to Butare and did not return there until after 24 June 1994. She did not attend the assumption of office by Ndayambaje as a *bourgmestre*. Nyiramasuhuko denied that on 24 June 1994 she went anywhere in Butare to abduct Tutsis or that she ordered the abduction, rape, or execution of Tutsis. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she returned to Butare in July 1994, having left Muramba after the Cabinet meeting on 2 July 1994. She left with the *gendarmes*, who were her bodyguards.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Denise Ntahobali

2443. Denise Ntahobali testified that about one week after the death of Habyarimana, she and her sister Clarisse went to Hotel Ihuliro to find out about their father and brother, Shalom Ntahobali. Denise Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko came to the hotel a few days after Denise Ntahobali's arrival around 6.00 p.m. with two *gendarmes*. Her mother, Nyiramasuhuko, left the next day, returning to Murambi to work.

2444. On 28 April 1994, the first birthday of Clarisse's child, Nyiramasuhuko came for the second time to Hotel Ihuliro. Nyiramasuhuko asked them to leave Butare because of the progress of the RPF. The next day, her mother went back to her place of work in Murambi. Murambi.

2445. Denise Ntahobali testified that at the end of May her mother came again to Hotel Ihuliro for the birthday party of her cousin, Witness WBUC. On cross-examination she agreed that the birthday was on 30 May 1994. This time her mother again asked them to leave and go to Cyangugu because the RPF was approaching Butare. The family members

```
<sup>6901</sup> T. 6 October 2005 p. 14 (Nyiramasuhuko).
<sup>6902</sup> T. 6 October 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).
<sup>6903</sup> T. 6 October 2005 p. 27 (Nyiramasuhuko).
<sup>6904</sup> T. 6 October 2005 p. 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).
<sup>6905</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 21-22 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6906</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 24-26 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6907</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 26 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6908</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 26 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6909</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 22 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6910</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 26 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6911</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 28 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6912</sup> T. 13 June 2005 pp. 14, 18 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6913</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 28; T. 13 June 2005 pp. 20, 22 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

refused because it would have been difficult to move the large number of people residing at Hotel Ihuliro. Those people had come to the hotel because the massacres had not yet commenced in Butare. Nyiramasuhuko became annoyed and decided to leave with her granddaughter and Denise Ntahobali. Denise was amenable to leaving because she felt that staying at the hotel was dangerous and because she wanted to support Nyiramasuhuko during those difficult times. She looked after her niece throughout the period of the events. When they left for Murambi and then for Muramba, they stayed together until they returned to Butare.

2446. On 31 May 1994, Denise Ntahobali, her niece and Nyiramasuhuko left the hotel and went to Murambi. Two *gendarmes*, the escort of Nyiramasuhuko, accompanied them. They left for Murambi before noon because they had to pack for the child before they could start their journey. The distance from Butare to Murambi was about 30 kilometres. It took them one and a half hours to go from Hotel Ihuliro to Murambi. Secondary 1992.

2447. The day after arriving in Murambi, Nyiramasuhuko attended a Cabinet meeting. In the afternoon she ran back to their room as if she had lost her mind, telling them that they must flee because the *Inkotanyi* were nearby. They collected the belongings they could and Denise Ntahobali, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, the baby and the *gendarmes* boarded a vehicle. They went towards Gisenyi *préfecture* along the Ngororero road, part of which was paved. They were accompanied by a large number of *gendarmes* placed at the front and back of a convoy of 20 vehicles. They arrived in Muramba in the late evening. Muramba is not far from Ngororero. Page 1923

2448. When they were in Muramba, Nyiramasuhuko often went to attend meetings in Muramba or Gisenyi. 6924 Nyiramasuhuko would leave to attend meetings during the day and return each evening. 6925 Denise Ntahobali testified that she knew her mother went to these places because each morning Nyiramasuhuko would tell her where she was going and when she travelled to Gisenyi, Denise Ntahobali watched Nyiramasuhuko get into her vehicle. 6926

2449. They stayed in Muramba for one week and then went to Butare to see how the people they left behind were doing. She travelled with her mother, her niece and two *gendarmes*. The trip to Hotel Ihuliro took them between eight and 10 hours. The following day, she, her

```
<sup>6914</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 28 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6915</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 29 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6916</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 37 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6917</sup> T. 13 June 2005 pp. 18, 22, 29 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6918</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 29-30 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6919</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 26 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6920</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 32 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6921</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 43-44; T. 13 June 2005 p. 30 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6922</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 44 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6923</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6924</sup> T. 9 June 2005 pp. 47-48 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6925</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 48 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6926</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6927</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 48 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6928</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 50 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

mother, niece and the two *gendarmes* left Hotel Ihuliro and went back to Muramba because Nyiramasuhuko had to return to her place of work.⁶⁹²⁹

2450. When it was put to her that Nyiramasuhuko attended a Cabinet meeting on 10 June 1994 in Murambi, Denise responded: "I know that we left the next day, after the day we arrived. I see 10th of June here [in the diary], but on that date, we were at Muramba. I don't see where this Cabinet meeting might have taken place." 6930

2451. During June 1994, Denise Ntahobali testified that she did not leave Muramba. She said that Nyiramasuhuko went to meetings in Muramba and Gisenyi but always returned to spend the night with them. Nyiramasuhuko also went to Butare once to meet the apostolic nuncio, Etchegarray, and returned in the middle of the night to Muramba. When it was suggested to Denise Ntahobali that her mother did not return to Muramba in the middle of the night as she had testified, she stood by her testimony adding, "[t]here is nothing that proves that she was still at Butare. I noticed that there were things that were entered on other dates which were not on the day when she made the entry in the diary." Denise Ntahobali testified that her mother used a white open-backed pickup.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZJM

2452. Witness WZJM, a Hutu, testified to seeing Nyiramasuhuko in Muramba more than 10 times during June 1994.⁶⁹³⁴ In early June 1994, people were saying that the Interim Government had moved to Muramba.⁶⁹³⁵ At that time, Witness WZJM observed a woman walking very near him with a one-year-old child. A nun to whom he was speaking identified the woman as Nyiramasuhuko, the Minister in charge of women and family affairs. Nyiramasuhuko wore civilian attire.⁶⁹³⁶ It was the first time in his life he had seen Nyiramasuhuko.⁶⁹³⁷ She was never escorted by any soldiers.⁶⁹³⁸

2453. Witness WZJM explained that he saw Nyiramasuhuko a second time when she was in a white double-cabin Toyota pickup, with her driver and one-year-old child.⁶⁹³⁹ Nyiramasuhuko was exiting the vehicle near a store close to a school.⁶⁹⁴⁰ He explained that when he went to church or to the market, he would see the white vehicle he described, carrying Nyiramasuhuko, the child and the driver.⁶⁹⁴¹ Nyiramasuhuko sat in the back seat carrying the child and the driver sat in the front.⁶⁹⁴² In total, he saw them about 10 times in the month of June 1994.⁶⁹⁴³

```
<sup>6929</sup> T. 9 June 2005 p. 51 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6931</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 30 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6932</sup> T. 13 June 2005 pp. 51-52 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6933</sup> T. 13 June 2005 p. 34 (Denise Ntahobali).
<sup>6934</sup> T. 21 February 2005 pp. 79-80 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6935</sup> T. 21 February 2005 p. 77; T. 22 February 2005 pp. 12-13 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6936</sup> T. 21 February 2005 p. 78; T. 22 February 2005 p. 14 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6937</sup> T. 22 February 2005 pp. 14, 24 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6938</sup> T. 22 February 2005 pp. 16 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6939</sup> T. 21 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 22 February 2005 p. 14 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6940</sup> T. 21 February 2005 p. 80 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6941</sup> T. 21 February 2005 pp. 15 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6942</sup> T. 22 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 22 February 2005 p. 15 (Witness WZJM).
<sup>6943</sup> T. 21 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 22 February 2005 p. 15 (Witness WZJM).
```

Apart from the first time when he saw Nyiramasuhuko walking, he only saw Nyiramasuhuko in the vehicle he described. 6944

2454. Witness WZJM testified that he was unable to determine whether there were strained relations between Hutus and Tutsis in 1990 because he did not know who was Hutu and who was Tutsi ⁶⁹⁴⁵

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Edmond Babin

2455. Edmond Babin, an investigator for the Nyiramasuhuko Defence, recorded video and took photographs of numerous locations in Butare préfecture that were discussed in the Indictments. 6946 He testified that the total distance from Butare to Gisenyi was 317 kilometres which was covered in 8 hours and 4 minutes along the DRC border with the exception of the stopover at Kibuye. 6947 He testified that the trip from Gitarama to Butare was 83 kilometres and took 1 hour and 10 minutes to travel the tarred road. 6948

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Clarisse Ntahobali

2456. Clarisse Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko's daughter and Ntahobali's sister, testified that she left Rwanda in August 1991 for Canada to pursue her higher education at the University of Sherbrooke, in the province of Quebec. ⁶⁹⁴⁹ She returned to Rwanda in February 1994 and remained there until 18 July 1994. 6950

2457. When Clarisse Ntahobali returned to Rwanda, she worked at Hotel Ihuliro, her family's hotel.⁶⁹⁵¹ Clarisse Ntahobali testified that when she returned to Rwanda in February 1994, Nviramasuhuko resided in Kigali, in Kimihurura, while her father was in Buve, although Nyiramasuhuko came home every weekend. 6952

2458. Clarisse Ntahobali went to Hotel Ihuliro about one week after the plane crash. 6953 Nyiramasuhuko was not at Hotel Ihuliro when Clarisse Ntahobali arrived. 6954 Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko arrived at Hotel Ihuliro in the evening, two days after her own arrival. She was accompanied by four bodyguards, and told her family that the government had moved to Murambi from where she came. 6955 Nyiramasuhuko spent one or two nights in Butare before going back to Murambi, very early in the morning. ⁶⁹⁵⁶

⁶⁹⁴⁴ T. 21 February 2005 p. 80 (Witness WZJM).

⁶⁹⁴⁵ T. 22 February 2005 p. 5 (Witness WZJM).

⁶⁹⁴⁶ T. 18 April 2005 p. 21 (Babin). ⁶⁹⁴⁷ T. 25 April 2005 pp. 9-10 (Babin).

⁶⁹⁴⁸ T. 25 April 2005 p. 11 (Babin); Defence Exhibit 309 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Travel Map of

⁶⁹⁴⁹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 8 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵⁰ T. 9 February 2005 p. 11 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵¹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 33 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵² T. 9 February 2005 p. 34 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵³ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 41-42 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵⁴ T. 9 February 2005 p. 48 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵⁵ T. 9 February 2005 p. 49 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁶⁹⁵⁶ T. 9 February 2005 p. 50 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

- 2459. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that on 19 April 1994, she met Nyiramasuhuko as she was going to the Matyazo market square. Nyiramasuhuko told her that she had come for the swearing-in of the new *préfet* of Butare. Nyiramasuhuko was bringing the family some food. When she returned from the market, Clarisse did not find Nyiramasuhuko at Hotel Ihuliro. 6958
- 2460. Clarisse Ntahobali saw Nyiramasuhuko again on 28 April 1994, the birthday of Clarisse Ntahobali's first child. Nyiramasuhuko came in the evening, spent the night at the hotel, and left the next morning. There were about 40 people at the hotel on that date, mostly extended family members, and it became increasingly difficult to have food for everybody. 6959
- 2461. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko came back to Hotel Ihuliro in mid-May 1994 on which occasion Nyiramasuhuko was sick and spent two to three days at the hotel. She had not seen her mother since 29 April 1994, and she did not learn of her presence in Butare from 29 April until mid-May 1994.
- 2462. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko again at Hotel Ihuliro at the end of May 1994 when Nyiramasuhuko had come to look for Clarisse Ntahobali's young child and younger sister because she wanted everyone to leave Butare due to the prevailing security situation in the country. Nyiramasuhuko knew that the RPF was advancing towards Butare, but did not explain that to the family at that time. The family told her that they could not leave immediately because they were too numerous. Nyiramasuhuko replied that she could take those who were ready to leave and took Denise and Clarisse Ntahobali's baby, who was one and a half years old at the time. Nyiramasuhuko said she was going to Murambi in Gitarama *préfecture* where the government was located.
- 2463. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko returned with Denise and the baby two or three days and one week later. Nyiramasuhuko told them that they had just left Gitarama and that she was going to settle or stay at Muramba in Gisenyi *préfecture* where the government had decided to "set up shop" since the RPF had captured Gitarama. Nyiramasuhuko spent the night and left the next day, saying the trip to Muramba was going to be a long one. 6965
- 2464. Clarisse Ntahobali learned that Nyiramasuhuko came back to Butare once during the period where she lived in Muramba, on 24 June 1994, as part of the delegation of Bishop Etchegarray. Clarisse Ntahobali did not see her at that time. 6966

⁶⁹⁵⁷ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 50-51 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁵⁸ T. 9 February 2005 p. 51 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁵⁹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 52 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶⁰ T. 9 February 2005 p. 57; T. 10 February 2005 p. 26 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶¹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 57 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶² T. 9 February 2005 p. 58 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶³ T. 9 February 2005 p. 61 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶⁴ T. 9 February 2005 p. 61; T. 10 February 2005 p. 23 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶⁵ T. 9 February 2005 p. 62 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁶⁹⁶⁶ T. 9 February 2005 p. 63 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Céline Nyiraneza

2465. Céline Nyiraneza, Nyiramasuhuko's sister and Ntahobali's aunt, testified that Nyiramasuhuko lived alone in Kigali from the time she was appointed Minister of Family and Women's Affairs until 6 April 1994. She only had a Tutsi night watchman called Lionel Mushyitsyi to ensure her protection. She only had a Tutsi night watchman called Lionel Mushyitsyi to ensure her protection.

2466. A few days or weeks after 6 April 1994, Nyiraneza went to Kinyamakara, her husband's native *commune* in Gikongoro *préfecture*, to apply for identification papers for her children. During her absence, Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro for the first time. Nyiraneza later corrected herself and stated that she saw Nyiramasuhuko for the first time after 6 April 1994 in the first days following her own arrival at Hotel Ihuliro. She stated that Nyiramasuhuko came one night when she was there to spend the night. Nyiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko did not speak before Nyiramasuhuko left very early the next morning. 1995

2467. Nyiramasuhuko informed her that the *Inkotanyi* had attacked the seat of government in Kigali and that the entire government had moved to Gitarama and set up in a school in Murambi. Since Nyiramasuhuko was a member of government, Nyiraneza understood that Nyiramasuhuko had also settled in that area.⁶⁹⁷¹ She testified that she knew that the government had set up its seat in Gitarama on 12 April 1994.⁶⁹⁷²

2468. Nyiraneza testified that a few days after her return from Gikongoro, Nyiramasuhuko came again to Hotel Ihuliro. Nyiramasuhuko had come from where the seat of government was located, Gitarama. Nyiramasuhuko was suffering from malaria and spent three to four days at home. 6973

2469. After her second trip to Gikongoro towards the end of May or early June 1994, Nyiraneza noticed that Shalom's wife, her family, and driver were no longer at Hotel Ihuliro. Nyiramasuhuko had also left Hotel Ihuliro the day before Nyiraneza returned from Gikongoro. She heard that Nyiramasuhuko took Denise and Clarisse's child with her, travelling in the direction of Muramba, but she believed they were still staying in Gitarama.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBUC

2470. Witness WBUC, the niece of Nyiramasuhuko and the cousin of Ntahobali, ⁶⁹⁷⁶ lived with Ntahobali at Hotel Ihuliro and saw Nyiramasuhuko on several occasions during the events. ⁶⁹⁷⁷ She testified that her husband was an investigator for the Ntahobali Defence until he

```
6967 T. 23 February 2005 p. 72; T. 24 February 2005 p. 26 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6968 T. 24 February 2005 p. 27 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6969 T. 24 February 2005 p. 37 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6970 T. 24 February 2005 p. 38 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6971 T. 24 February 2005 p. 38 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6972 T. 28 February 2005 p. 43 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6973 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 43-44 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6974 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 46 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6975 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 46-47 (Céline Nyiraneza).
6976 T. 31 May 2005 pp. 84 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
6977 T. 2 June 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
```

_

was dismissed from his position on 16 July 2001.⁶⁹⁷⁸ Witness WBUC testified that she lived with her aunt Nyiramasuhuko from the age of three or four years old until she returned to Ndora *commune* to go to primary school in 1966.⁶⁹⁷⁹ From 1978 until 1980 she again lived with Nyiramasuhuko and Shalom Ntahobali in Taba, Buye.⁶⁹⁸⁰ Witness WBUC testified that Nyiramasuhuko educated her starting from her childhood and she therefore considers Nyiramasuhuko like a mother.⁶⁹⁸¹

- 2471. Witness WBUC testified that a week after 6 April 1994, she and her family left from Kigali for Butare because of the fragile security situation. Witness WBUC testified that upon her arrival at Hotel Ihuliro, she found about 20 members of Nyiramasuhuko's family and three UNAMIR soldiers there. The soldiers resided at the hotel and left after a few days. She did not see Nyiramasuhuko at the hotel at that time and nobody had news about her.
- 2472. A few days later, Nyiramasuhuko arrived at Hotel Ihuliro with two soldiers and a driver. Nyiramasuhuko told Witness WBUC that she had come from Gitarama where the government had been set up, that she had experienced some difficulties contacting them and that she had sought refuge in the embassy in Gitarama. Nyiramasuhuko stayed with them one night and then went back to work in Murambi in Gitarama *préfecture*. The two soldiers who accompanied Nyiramasuhuko were in fact *gendarmes* in uniform and she arrived in an official vehicle. He was a soldier of the soldier o
- 2473. Witness WBUC testified that Nyiramasuhuko came back to Butare after the installation of the new *préfet*. On this occasion, Nyiramasuhuko did not stay long; she made only a very brief visit at Hotel Ihuliro and left immediately. Witness WBUC did not see her. In cross-examination she clarified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko, but from far away, from the courtyard. She saw Nyiramasuhuko stop with the vehicle and deliver food that she had brought. Witness WBUC greeted Nyiramasuhuko but they did not chat for a long time. When asked why she did not raise this in examination-in-chief, Witness WBUC explained that in her culture, if you see someone for a very brief time, it is as if you did not see that person. Nyiramasuhuko did not sleep at Hotel Ihuliro that night. At that time, Nyiramasuhuko was coming from Murambi, Gitarama.

```
<sup>6978</sup> T. 6 June 2005 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6979</sup> T. 31 May 2005 p. 84 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6980</sup> T. 2 June 2005 p. 87 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6981</sup> T. 31 May 2005 p. 84 (ICS); T. 6 June 2005 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6982</sup> T. 1 June 2005 pp. 54, 56 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6983</sup> T. 1 June 2005 p. 56 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6984</sup> T. 1 June 2005 pp. 56-57 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6985</sup> T. 1 June 2005 p. 57 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6986</sup> T. 1 June 2005 p. 58 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6987</sup> T. 1 June 2005 pp. 58-59 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6988</sup> T. 6 June 2005 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6989</sup> T. 1 June 2005 p. 58 (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6990</sup> T. 1 June 2005 p. 59; T. 6 June 2005 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6991</sup> T. 6 June 2005 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6992</sup> T. 6 June 2005 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
<sup>6993</sup> T. 6 June 2005 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
```

- 2474. Witness WBUC testified that thereafter Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro towards the end of April 1994, at the time of the birthday of her granddaughter. She spent a night there and left the next morning. 6994
- 2475. In the middle of the month of May 1994, she saw Nyiramasuhuko again at Hotel Ihuliro. She stayed for a few days because she had malaria. Due to her illness, Nyiramasuhuko was unable to go outside. ⁶⁹⁹⁵
- 2476. Witness WBUC testified that on 30 May 1994, her birthday, Nyiramasuhuko came back to Hotel Ihuliro. She testified that Nyiramasuhuko was worried and wanted them to go to Cyangugu. Nyiramasuhuko left the next day to go to the seat of government in Murambi and took Denise and her granddaughter with her. 6997
- 2477. Witness WBUC testified that a week after her departure on 30 May 1994 [6 to 7 June], Nyiramasuhuko came back with her daughter and granddaughter from Muramba, in Gisenyi. The government had moved there because the *Inkotanyi* were about to take Gitarama. Nyiramasuhuko again told them to leave and the next day headed back to Muramba with Denise. 6999
- 2478. Witness WBUC testified that Nyiramasuhuko returned on another occasion alone and did not sleep at Hotel Ihuliro. She came in the course of the visit of the apostolic nuncio named Etchegarray. The saw Nyiramasuhuko on that occasion, at Hotel Ihuliro.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

- 2479. Maurice Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko's husband and Ntahobali's father, testified that in January 1994, the family residence in Butare was situated in Buye, in a government building called UNR 15. Clarisse and Arsène had their own residences elsewhere. Towards the end of the first fortnight in April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko was able to visit him. Before that visit, he had been reassured of her well-being when the Kambanda government took office on 9 April 1994.
- 2480. Nyiramasuhuko left Kigali for Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, on 12 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko never stayed permanently at Hotel Ihuliro. She came to Hotel Ihuliro when she was passing by, but would return to where she was required to be for official reasons. In mid-May 1994, however, she stayed at the hotel for three or four days because she had contracted malaria. The did not have to stay in bed or in her room. Her sister, a nurse,

⁶⁹⁹⁴ T. 1 June 2005 pp. 59-61 (Witness WBUC).
6995 T. 1 June 2005 p. 63 (Witness WBUC).
6996 T. 1 June 2005 pp. 63, 68 (Witness WBUC).
6997 T. 2 June 2005 p. 6; T. 2 June 2005 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
6998 T. 2 June 2005 p. 7 (Witness WBUC).
6999 T. 2 June 2005 p. 8 (Witness WBUC).
7000 T. 2 June 2005 pp. 8-9; T. 6 June 2005 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7001 T. 6 June 2005 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7002 T. 12 September 2005 p. 73 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7003 T. 13 September 2005 pp. 14-15 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7004 T. 13 September 2005 p. 15 (Maurice Ntahobali).

took care of her. She was in fact moving around, and at one point in time, Maurice Ntahobali's service vehicle was put at her disposal. Maurice Ntahobali never asked his wife to account for the activities that formed part of her duties.

- 2481. Maurice Ntahobali testified that he saw Nyiramasuhuko again very briefly at Hotel Ihuliro in mid-April 1994, when she came to attend the installation of the new préfet. He did not attend the ceremony. 7009
- 2482. Maurice Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko received a lift from Murambi to Hotel Ihuliro around 14 May 1994. She was alone when she came into his room. ⁷⁰¹⁰ She left Hotel Ihuliro the following day for Murambi. ⁷⁰¹¹ She obtained a lift. ⁷⁰¹² He thought Doctor Straton Nshyimyumukunzi, minister of agriculture and stock breeding, drove her to Butare and back to Murambi, since she did not have a car. 7013
- 2483. Maurice Ntahobali confirmed the presence of Nyiramasuhuko at Hotel Ihuliro around mid-May, including 14 May 1994. Nyiramasuhuko stayed for three to four days. He said it was possible that she was in Butare on 16 May 1994 to attend a Security Council meeting. She left for Gitarama on 16 May, in the afternoon, and he thought it likely that she attended a meeting of ministers on 17 May 1994⁷⁰¹⁴ at Murambi. 7015
- 2484. Maurice Ntahobali stated that his wife came from Murambi for a day at the end of May, but left the next day. Her main purpose was to convince Maurice Ntahobali to come with her and join the ministers' spouses, which the witness refused. 7016 Nyiramasuhuko urged Maurice Ntahobali to go to Cyangugu, because Gitarama was about to be captured by the RPF and Butare would be next. He refused because he had a responsibility towards his family to inform them of his move and he did not want to leave them behind in danger. However, two children, Denise and the witness' granddaughter, responded to her appeal and left with her to Gitarama 7018
- 2485. Maurice Ntahobali testified that within the first half of June 1994, the Kambanda government moved to Muramba, in Gisenyi préfecture. Nyiramasuhuko, his daughter and granddaughter moved with the government from Murambi to Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture, in

⁷⁰⁰⁶ T. 14 September 2005 p. 38; T. 16 September 2005 p. 61 (Maurice Ntahobali). The Chamber notes the English translation ("she had to stay in bed") is erroneous; see T. 14 September 2005 p. 43 (Maurice Ntahobali) (French) ("Q: Vous avez dit également qu'à la suite ... elle a dû garder la chambre pendant trois ou quatre jours

^{...?} R: Non, qu'elle est restée à Butare à garder la chambre ou garder le lit, non."). 7007 T. 14 September 2005 p. 38; T. 16 September 2005 p. 61 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁰⁸ T. 14 September 2005 p. 39 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁰⁹ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 15, 18 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹⁰ T. 13 September 2005 p. 18; T. 16 September 2005 pp. 61-62 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹¹ T. 13 September 2005 p. 18 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹² T. 13 September 2005 p. 17; T. 14 September 2005 p. 35; T. 16 September 2005 p. 61 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹³ T. 13 September 2005 p. 17; T. 16 September 2005 p. 61 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹⁴ T. 16 September 2005 p. 59 (Maurice Ntahobali); see T. 16 September 2005 p. 68 (Maurice Ntahobali) (French) ("le fait qu'elle soit au Conseil du Gouvernement le 17 mai me semble être fort probable"). 7015 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 58-59 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹⁶ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 19-20 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹⁷ T. 13 September 2005 p. 22 (ICS) (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷⁰¹⁸ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 19-20; T. 13 September 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Maurice Ntahobali).

the first fortnight of June 1994. He learned this information from Radio Rwanda which covered the move of the Interim Government. Maurice Ntahobali stated that Nyiramasuhuko and the two children came to Hotel Ihuliro in June 1994. They came from Muramba and went back there the next day. His wife passed by very briefly at the end of June, being part of the government delegation receiving Cardinal Etchegarray. The cardinal visited Rwanda and came through Butare on the road from Burundi. Pauline did not stay at the hotel but went back the next day.

Ntahobali

2486. Ntahobali testified that his mother came to Hotel Ihuliro on 28 April 1994. It was the birthday of one of his sister's children. Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro again in the middle of May 1994. She was not feeling well and stayed there for two or three days. He was told that his mother again came to Hotel Ihuliro when he was staying in Cyangugu. He testified that the driver who took him to Cyangugu was different from the one who accompanied him in Gisagara on 25 June 1994.

2487. Ntahobali testified that he met his mother in June 1994,⁷⁰²⁶ on two other occasions.⁷⁰²⁷ The first time was three, four or five days after his return from Cyangugu.⁷⁰²⁸ He was told that Nyiramasuhuko had come to Hotel Ihuliro to take with her one of his sisters and a child of another sister of his.⁷⁰²⁹ The second time was between 20 and 30 June 1994 during a religious official's visit.⁷⁰³⁰ Nyiramasuhuko spent a night at Hotel Ihuliro when she came three to five days after Ntahobali's return from Cyangugu, and on the second occasion, she did not.⁷⁰³¹

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

2488. Witness WZNA stated that he only saw Nyiramasuhuko once in early July 1994 when he was on his way back from ESO. He saw her in front of the building her family owned in Butare. 7032

Nsabimana

2489. Nsabimana testified that on 10 May 1994 he attended the youth meeting in Ngoma commune around 1.00 p.m., after the meeting with préfecture staff. He said that

```
7019 T. 13 September 2005 p. 26 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7020 T. 13 September 2005 p. 29 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7021 T. 13 September 2005 p. 30 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7022 T. 25 April 2006 p. 35; T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).
7023 T. 25 April 2006 p. 57; T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).
7024 T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).
7025 T. 21 June 2006 p. 4 (Ntahobali).
7026 T. 26 April 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).
7027 T. 26 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
7028 T. 26 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
7029 T. 26 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
7029 T. 26 April 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).
7030 T. 26 April 2006 p. 35; T. 1 June 2006 p. 69 (Ntahobali).
7031 T. 1 June 2006 p. 69 (Ntahobali).
7032 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 57-58 (Witness WZNA).
7033 T. 21 September 2006 p. 7 (Nsabimana).
```

Kanyabashi told him there were young people at the meeting and this interested Nsabimana. He said that the young people were members of different political parties. Other people at the meeting included Nteziryayo, Nyiramasuhuko, Kalimanzira and Kanyabashi. Najashi.

2490. Nsabimana testified that when he got to the meeting, Kalimanzira briefed him that they were discussing ways in which the city of Butare could be protected, just as Kigali had been protected. Kalimanzira also told him that the youth had to be involved in the protection of Butare. Nsabimana testified that he told Kalimanzira that the system he was talking about could not work in Butare unless Kalimanzira took charge of it himself. Kalimanzira did not take this kindly and the meeting ended abruptly. Nsabimana testified that Nyiramasuhuko lied when she said Nsabimana went to the 10 May 1994 youth meeting just as it was about to end. National could be protected, just as Kigali had been protected, just as Kigali had been protected. Kalimanzira also told him that the youth had to be involved in the protection of Butare. National could not work in Butare unless Kalimanzira took charge of it himself. Kalimanzira did not take this kindly and the meeting ended abruptly. National could not work in Butare unless Kalimanzira took charge of it himself. Kalimanzira did not take this kindly and the meeting ended abruptly.

2491. Nsabimana denied having chaired a meeting on 16 May 1994 as testified by Nyiramasuhuko, saying he did not know of such a meeting. After reading of a Security Council meeting on 16 May 1994 in Prosecution Exhibit 144A (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) as testified by Prosecution Expert Witness Guichaoua, Nsabimana reaffirmed that he did not hold any such meeting in the presence of Nyiramasuhuko. Nsabimana denied Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she attended a Security Council meeting of 31 May 1994. He also denied that he talked about the state of progress in the establishment of civilian defence at this meeting.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WTMP

2492. Witness WTMP, a Hutu, testified that she travelled to Muramba around 6 July 1994 and encountered Nyiramasuhuko. Nyiramasuhuko was accompanied by a small child.⁷⁰⁴²

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM

2493. Witness CEM testified that she did not visit Hotel Ihuliro in June 1994. She went there in late May or early June 1994 in search of Denise Ntahobali, but was told that Denise had left with her mother. She was not told where they had gone. ⁷⁰⁴³

⁷⁰³⁴ T. 21 September 2006 p. 12 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰³⁵ T. 21 September 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰³⁶ T. 21 September 2006 p. 15 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰³⁷ T. 21 September 2006 p. 15 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰³⁸ T. 21 September 2006 p. 37 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰³⁹ T. 20 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰⁴⁰ T. 20 September 2006 p. 45 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰⁴¹ T. 21 September 2006 pp. 60-61 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁰⁴² T. 22 February 2005 pp. 67, 69 (ICS) (Witness WTMP).

⁷⁰⁴³ T. 14 February 2005 pp. 59-60 (Witness CEM).

3.6.19.3.2.2 Alibi Evidence – Ntahobali

Ntahobali

2494. Ntahobali testified that he was told that his mother came to Hotel Ihuliro for a short time on 19 April 1994; they did not meet as he had travelled to Akanyaru. ⁷⁰⁴⁴

2495. Ntahobali first testified that he went to the BPO on one occasion between 6 April and 3 July 1994, sometime after 26 June 1994, he went there to withdraw a *laissez-passer* or documents for a vehicle that his father used. He later testified that he went to the BPO two times during the events. The first time he went to the BPO to withdraw documents for the vehicle and the second time he went to the compound of the BPO during Cardinal Etchegarray's visit. Ntahobali again clarified his testimony as to the number of visits he made to the BPO. He added that he visited the BPO compound three times; in addition to the two foregoing occasions, on around 11 April 1994, he went to the public works department located within the BPO premises to collect fuel.

2496. Ntahobali testified that his mother came to Hotel Ihuliro on 28 April 1994 which was the birthday of his sister's child. He stated that he got malaria on 28 April 1994 and spent a week in convalescence after having received Quinimax injections. He was treated by one of his aunts, a nurse who stayed with them at Hotel Ihuliro. ⁷⁰⁴⁸

2497. He stated that his friend Déo Munyaneza came to Hotel Ihuliro to pick up his daughter in mid-May 1994. Munyaneza told Ntahobali that he was coming back from the [war]front and they conversed for a short while. 7049

2498. Ntahobali testified that he travelled to Cyangugu on 26 or 27 May 1994. On 26 or 27 May, at around 10.30 or 11.00 a.m., he noticed that his wife and his wife's elder sister's family members were no longer at Hotel Ihuliro. He was told that they had left for Cyangugu so Ntahobali decided to follow his wife there. His father's driver, Jean-Baptiste Habimana, accompanied him. They took a blue sedan Peugeot 305 vehicle and left Butare between 11.30 a.m. and 12.30 p.m. and arrived in Cyangugu between 7.30 and 8.00 p.m. the same day. It was the first time Ntahobali went to Cyangugu but his driver knew the area well.

2499. He stated that his wife's family members had already planned to leave Hotel Ihuliro because of security reasons. They got scared and the war was getting closer to Butare. He managed to find out his wife's whereabouts at around 8.30 or 9.00 p.m. He testified that he met his wife, his child and those who had left with them, at a friend's house. The following

```
    <sup>7044</sup> T. 24 April 2006 p. 27 (Ntahobali).
    <sup>7045</sup> T. 3 May 2006 p. 23 (Ntahobali).
```

⁷⁰⁴⁶ T. 1 June 2006 p. 47 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁴⁷ T. 26 June 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁴⁸ T. 25 April 2006 p. 35; T. 25 April 2006 p. 59 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁴⁹ T. 25 April 2006 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁰ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 7-8 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵¹ T. 26 April 2006 p. 8; T. 21 June 2006 pp. 3-5 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵² T. 26 April 2006 p. 7 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵³ T. 26 April 2006 p. 8 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁴ T. 21 June 2006 p. 8 (Ntahobali).

day, they moved into another house, about one kilometre away near the bishopric. 7055 They lived in that house until their return to Butare. The house belonged to an Indian man named Harjit Singh. 7056

2500. They returned to Butare after a stay in Cyangugu of more than one week. The atmosphere in Cyangugu was calm. During his stay in Cyangugu, Ntahobali went to a particular restaurant on two occasions. Almost every day he went to different bars. 7059 He stated that he met Witness WDUSA in one bar by chance. 7060 Ntahobali was always accompanied by his brother-in-law's family members and his wife each time he met Witness WDUSA. 7061 He testified that he met Witness WDUSA in bars on three occasions during his stay in Cyangugu and they met again in Nairobi later on between 1994 and 1997 when Ntahobali was in exile. 7062 For a few months, Ntahobali and Witness WDUSA lived in the same complex in Nairobi. 7063 Witness WDUSA was a friend of his wife's older sister's family. 7064

2501. He was told that his mother came to Hotel Ihuliro when he was staying in Cyangugu. 7065 He testified that the driver who took him to Cyangugu was different from the one who accompanied him in Gisagara on 25 June 1994. 7066 Ntahobali testified that they left Cvangugu on 5 June 1994 and arrived in Butare on the same day at around 6.00 or 7.00 p.m. He was with his wife, his child, the driver and their maid. 7067

2502. Ntahobali testified that he met his mother on two other occasions in June 1994. The first time was three, four or five days after his return from Cyangugu and the second time between 20 and 30 June 1994 during Cardinal Etchegarray's visit. 7069 He was told that Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro to take with her one of his sisters and a child of his another sister. 7070 He testified that Nyiramasuhuko spent a night at Hotel Ihuliro when she came three to five days after Ntahobali returned from Cyangugu. On the second occasion, she did not spend the night. 7071

⁷⁰⁵⁵ T. 21 June 2006 p. 10 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁶ T. 26 April 2006 p. 8; T. 21 June 2006 pp. 16, 18 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁷ T. 26 April 2006 p. 8 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁸ T. 26 April 2006 p. 9 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁵⁹ T. 21 June 2006 p. 16 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁰ T. 21 June 2006 p. 28 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶¹ T. 21 June 2006 p. 29 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶² T. 26 April 2006 p. 10 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶³ T. 21 June 2006 p. 52 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁴ T. 1 June 2006 p. 43 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁵ T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁶ T. 21 June 2006 p. 4 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁷ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 12-13; T. 21 June 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁸ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 14, 35 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁶⁹ T. 26 April 2006 p. 35; T. 1 June 2006 p. 47 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷⁰ T. 26 April 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷¹ T. 1 June 2006 p. 69 (Ntahobali).

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Denise Ntahobali

2503. Denise Ntahobali's husband worked as an investigator for the Nyiramasuhuko Defence from August 1999 to the beginning of 2005, but she denied ever discussing the case with him. Her brother-in-law worked for the Nyiramasuhuko Defence at the time of trial; she testified that while she had discussed the trial proceedings with her brother-in-law, she denied having discussed the Defence's strategy with him. 7072

2504. Denise Ntahobali testified that about one week after the death of Habyarimana, she and her sister, Clarisse, went to Hotel Ihuliro to find out about their father and brother Ntahobali. At the hotel, they found about five UNAMIR soldiers whom she recognised because of their uniforms. These soldiers left Hotel Ihuliro about one week after her arrival there. 7074

2505. Denise Ntahobali testified that from the time when she and her sister arrived at Hotel Ihuliro she did not leave. She stayed at home doing domestic chores such as cooking and taking care of Clarisse's child. 7075 Denise Ntahobali testified that when they got to Hotel Ihuliro, Ntahobali was there with his wife and child. At the request of their father, they stayed at Hotel Ihuliro because it was safe. Clarisse's husband and her one-year-old child also joined them. The later testified that everyone moved to Hotel Ihuliro because there was more space there. The later testified that everyone moved to Hotel Ihuliro because there was more space there.

2506. Denise Ntahobali testified that on 30 May 1994, Ntahobali and his family were not at Hotel Ihuliro. 7078 Denise Ntahobali and Ntahobali's wife Béatrice argued. Béatrice then left the hotel to go back to Cyangugu. 7079 Ntahobali was not present during the argument, but when he returned and discovered Béatrice's absence, he went to look for her. 7080 Ntahobali had been gone for about one or two days before their mother arrived. 7081 On 30 May 1994, Shalom and his wife had not returned to Hotel Ihuliro nor had they been back when Denise, her mother and niece left for Murambi. 7082

2507. Denise Ntahobali testified that she never heard of killings in Butare between April and the end of May 1994. 7083 She also testified that during the war of 1994 Tutsis were not targeted; rather, in the war zone, the entire population was targeted. 7084

⁷⁰⁷² T. 13 June 2005 pp. 36-37 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷³ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 22-23 (Denise Ntahobali). ⁷⁰⁷⁴ T. 13 June 2005 p. 17 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷⁵ T. 9 June 2005 p. 27 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷⁶ T. 9 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷⁷ T. 13 June 2005 p. 44 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁷⁸ T. 9 June 2005 p. 29 (Denise Ntahobali). The Chamber notes that while the question in the English transcript refers to "the end of April 1994", see T. 9 June 2005 p. 32 (Denise Ntahobali) (French) (Q: "est-ce que votre frère et sa famille étaient présents à Ihuliro le 30 mai 1994?").

⁷⁰⁷⁹ T. 9 June 2005 p. 29; T. 13 June 2005 p. 14 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁸⁰ T. 13 June 2005 p. 14 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁸¹ T. 9 June 2005 p. 29 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁸² T. 13 June 2005 p. 14 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁸³ T. 13 June 2005 p. 39 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁸⁴ T. 13 June 2005 p. 38 (Denise Ntahobali).

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

2508. Witness WZNA, a Hutu factory worker at the time of the genocide, said that sometime in early June 1994, while on his way to work, he once saw Shalom Ntahobali standing in front of the building known as the *Palais du MRND* with another young man. He said that he did not speak with Ntahobali on this occasion. The witness testified that the *Palais du MRND* later became known as *La Salle polyvalente de la préfecture* during the period of multi-party politics in Rwanda. ⁷⁰⁸⁵

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM

2509. Witness CEM, a Hutu teacher, testified that Ntahobali could not have killed anyone because every time she went to his house, he was present. She testified that Ntahobali was living at the hotel during the months that she went there. She also testified that she did not see any "authorities", "leaders", people in uniform or *Interahamwe* at the hotel in April 1994. Witness CEM went to the hotel on three occasions in May 1994, and by then the number of people staying at the hotel had increased to a little more than 50.

2510. Witness CEM testified that when she visited Hotel Ihuliro between April and June 1994, some people had already been killed in her *commune* and *secteur*. She did not know if people had already been arrested or if many Tutsis had already fled their homes. The also testified that she knew that both Hutus and Tutsis were killed in May 1994. She did not observe any problems at Hotel Ihuliro from April to June 1994. She had no knowledge about whether the hotel remained calm because it was owned by Maurice Ntahobali whose wife was Pauline Nyiramasuhuko. She never asked any questions to try to ascertain why things were calm there.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Clarisse Ntahobali

2511. Clarisse Ntahobali testified she left Rwanda in August 1991 for Canada to pursue her higher education at the University of Sherbrooke, in the province of Quebec. She returned to Rwanda in February 1994 and remained there until 18 July 1994.

2512. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that on 27 May 1994, her sister-in-law, along with her elder sister's entire family, left Hotel Ihuliro following a dispute. Ten people left the hotel for Cyangugu although her sister-in-law and her child came back to Hotel Ihuliro three or four days later and Shalom Ntahobali went to pick them up. She testified that Shalom was not

⁷⁰⁸⁵ T. 5 April 2005 pp. 6-7 (Witness WZNA).

⁷⁰⁸⁶ T. 15 February 2005 pp. 17-19 (Witness CEM).

⁷⁰⁸⁷ T. 14 February 2005 pp. 47-48 (Witness CEM).

⁷⁰⁸⁸ T. 15 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness CEM).

⁷⁰⁸⁹ T. 15 February 2005 p. 16 (Witness CEM).

⁷⁰⁹⁰ T. 15 February 2005 p. 17 (Witness CEM).

⁷⁰⁹¹ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 8, 10 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁹² T. 9 February 2005 p. 11 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁹³ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 59-60 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷⁰⁹⁴ T. 9 February 2005 p. 60; T. 10 February 2005 p. 7 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

present when his wife left and "[w]hen he found that his wife was not there, he decided immediately to go." At that time, Shalom's wife was two or three months pregnant. 7096

2513. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that between April and July 1994 there was a curfew. Initially, the curfew required that businesses close by 2.00 a.m. Later, the curfew required that all businesses close by 8.00 p.m. At Hotel Ihuliro, Shalom turned on the generator at 7.00 p.m. and shut it down at 10.00 p.m., at which time they all retired to their respective rooms and slept until the morning. She emphasised that it would never have been possible for Shalom to go out at night without anybody within the hotel being aware of it, given the manner in which the house was built because in order to go out, one needed to open several noisy doors. ⁷⁰⁹⁷

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Céline Nyiraneza

- 2514. Céline Nyiraneza testified that when she arrived at Hotel Ihuliro a few days after the President's plane crash, she saw Clarisse Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali and his wife there. ⁷⁰⁹⁸
- 2515. Céline Nyiraneza testified that she left Hotel Ihuliro for Gikongoro *préfecture*, towards the end of May or early June 1994, where she stayed for two or three days. On her return, she noticed that Shalom's wife, her family, and driver were no longer at Hotel Ihuliro. She testified that Shalom's wife left the hotel for Cyangugu because of a heated argument she had with her sisters-in-law. Shalom was not present when his wife left and only got back two or three hours later. Her children told her that Shalom left for Cyangugu in his friend's vehicle. Nyiraneza left for Gikongoro one or two days after Shalom left to look for his wife in Cyangugu, and returned to the hotel one day earlier than Shalom, his wife and child.
- 2516. Between April and July 1994, Shalom was in charge of supplies. He would fetch food and drinks for the bar and in the evenings he would run the bar. Shalom was also in charge of switching on the generator in the evenings, and he would switch off the generator after they had finished cooking and eating. The testified that Shalom never owned a vehicle.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBUC

2517. Witness WBUC knew Shalom Ntahobali very well because it was as if they grew up together. The Considers Shalom Ntahobali to be like a brother. Witness WBUC testified that after 6 April 1994, she saw Shalom Ntahobali at Hotel Ihuliro where they lived together. At that time Shalom Ntahobali was in charge of the bar at Hotel Ihuliro and was serving

⁷⁰⁹⁵ T. 10 February 2005 p. 7 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁷⁰⁹⁶ T. 10 February 2005 p. 8 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁷⁰⁹⁷ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 12-13 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
⁷⁰⁹⁸ T. 24 February 2005 pp. 36 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷⁰⁹⁹ T. 24 February 2005 pp. 45-46 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷¹⁰⁰ T. 28 February 2005 pp. 13-14 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷¹⁰¹ T. 28 February 2005 pp. 15 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷¹⁰² T. 28 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷¹⁰³ T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza).
⁷¹⁰⁴ T. 31 May 2005 p. 82 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
⁷¹⁰⁵ T. 31 May 2005 p. 84 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

drinks. She never saw Shalom Ntahobali driving a vehicle and did not believe that he had a driving licence. 7106

2518. Shalom's sister, Denise, had a heated discussion with Shalom's wife, Béatrice Munyenyezi. They almost came to blows and following this event, Béatrice left the hotel with the baby and other members of her family to go to Cyangugu. Witness WBUC testified: "My birthday was on the 30th. And I think it was about four or five days later [that they left]. I do not remember very clearly, but I know it was some days after my birthday when she [Munyenyezi] left." Witness WBUC testified that when his wife, Béatrice and the baby left, Ntahobali went to fetch them and they returned together to the hotel about one week after having left.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

- 2519. Maurice Ntahobali, Ntahobali's father, testified that until around the end of April 1994, there was electricity in Butare. Maurice Ntahobali bought a generator for Hotel Ihuliro, which was operated by himself and Ntahobali. As Maurice was not well, most often Ntahobali switched it on and off; nobody else was doing this. The generator was turned on at 6.00 or 6.30 p.m., when it got dark, and switched off at 10.00 p.m. Everyone was then expected to go to their room. Maurice Ntahobali stated he could see outside from Hotel Ihuliro, but that from 21 April to late May, he did not hear gunshots or people who were crying or screaming from Hotel Ihuliro.
- 2520. When Pauline came to Hotel Ihuliro at the end of May, Shalom was not there, having left to bring back his wife after a minor dispute with her sister-in-law. Shalom came back after Nyiramasuhuko had left with the children.⁷¹¹³
- 2521. Maurice Ntahobali denied that Ntahobali left Hotel Ihuliro with Nyiramasuhuko in the evenings to abduct people and kill them at the BPO. The occupants of Hotel Ihuliro did not leave the hotel after the beginning of the curfew from April to July 1994.⁷¹¹⁴

Ntahobali Defence Witness Béatrice Munyenyezi

2522. Béatrice Munyenyezi, Ntahobali's wife, testified that she never saw Ntahobali wearing a military uniform or carrying a firearm or grenades during the period from April to July 1994; Ntahobali was a non-violent person and had never killed anyone. The testified that her husband could never have committed crimes at the BPO without her knowing about it. She said that around 20 or 21 April 1994, she was at home at Hotel Ihuliro and Ntahobali never left

```
7106 T. 2 June 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7107 T. 1 June 2005 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7108 T. 1 June 2005 p. 73 (ICS); T. 2 June 2005 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7109 T. 2 June 2005 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
7110 T. 2 June 2005 p. 44 (ICS); T. 2 June 2005 p. 55 (Witness WBUC).
7111 T. 14 September 2005 pp. 32-33 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7112 T. 13 September 2005 p. 25; T. 16 September 2005 pp. 79, 81 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7113 T. 13 September 2005 pp. 33-34 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7114 T. 14 September 2005 pp. 33-34 (Maurice Ntahobali).
7115 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8-9 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
7116 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 9-10 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
```

her; her husband never left the house after the curfew.⁷¹¹⁷ She stated that it would take about 15 to 20 minutes to walk from Hotel Ihuliro to the BPO.⁷¹¹⁸ She testified that Ntahobali was not an unfaithful husband, but she was only jealous because she loved him. 7119

- 2523. Munyenyezi explained that Ntahobali had huge responsibilities at home, with the baby and the generator in the hotel; in particular, he had to shut off the generator every day after dinner. 7120 She testified that in June 1994 Ntahobali left Hotel Ihuliro to go to the bank and ended up visiting Kajuga because people had told him Kajuga was sick. 7121 She also testified that Ntahobali left Hotel Ihuliro once or twice a week to buy food for the occupants. 7122 She said Ntahobali was not at home on 27 or 28 May 1994 when she left for Cyangugu because his father had sent Ntahobali to the bank to get money. 7123
- 2524. Munyenyezi testified that her husband got malaria at the end of April, two or three days before his niece's birthday on 28 April 1994. She stated that he had malaria for at least a week and that he stayed home. His aunt Godlive, who was a nurse, took care of him. 7124 She denied that this was a fabricated story ⁷¹²⁵
- 2525. Munyenyezi testified that she heard over the radio on 19 or 20 April 1994 that Nteziryayo had been appointed *préfet*. 7126 She never heard her husband or anyone else speak of Nteziryayo.⁷¹²⁷
- 2526. Munyenyezi testified that she left Butare after a disagreement with her sister-in-law Denise to go to Cyangugu with her sister. They left in two vehicles, filled by her child, baby sitter, sister and her sister's husband, her three sons, her elder sister and another driver and his wife and two kids, and also her nephew and sister-in-law. 7129
- 2527. Munyenyezi thought they left on 27 or 28 May 1994 and stayed a week or so.⁷¹³⁰ When she left Hotel Ihuliro, Ntahobali was not at home.⁷¹³¹ Ntahobali followed her to Cyangugu; he came with a driver the same day as she and her sister, and stayed with her for one week in Cyangugu, before her husband, their baby and the baby sitter returned to Butare on 5 June

⁷¹¹⁷ T. 27 February 2006 p. 10 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹¹⁸ T. 27 February 2006 p. 49 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹¹⁹ T. 24 February 2006 p. 32 (Béatrice Munyenyezi) (states "Shalom was not a faithful husband"); see T. 24 February 2006 p. 34 (Béatrice Munyenyezi) (French) ("Cela ne signifie pas que Shalom n'était pas un époux

⁷¹²⁰ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 16, 18, 62-63 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
⁷¹²¹ T. 28 February 2006 pp. 48-49, 67 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²² T. 28 February 2006 pp. 63-64 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²³ T. 28 February 2006 p. 69 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁴ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8, 54 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁵ T. 27 February 2006 p. 56 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁶ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 47-48 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁷ T. 27 February 2006 p. 51 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁸ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 10-11; T. 27 February 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹²⁹ T. 27 February 2006 p. 11 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁰ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 11-12 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³¹ T. 27 February 2006 p. 11 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

- 1994.⁷¹³² She and Ntahobali did not attend her sister's birthday party because they were not in Butare at the time.⁷¹³³
- 2528. Munyenyezi testified that she had heard about a businessman in Butare by the name of Rwamukwaya. She had never seen any kind of Peugeot in Ntahobali's hands, and her husband did not kill Rwamukwaya. She added that her husband did not have to kill anyone to get a car since he could afford to buy one. 7134
- 2529. Munyenyezi testified that she did not hear that the killings between April and July 1994 were ethnically motivated since both Hutus and Tutsis were killing each other. She denied that the Tutsi ethnic group was being targeted between April and July 1994. However she agreed that it was dangerous to be seen with Tutsis during the events of 1994. Although she had not heard of Tutsi extremist groups from others, she believed that they existed and had killed members of her family between April and July 1994.
- 2530. Munyenyezi testified that there were roadblocks from Gikongoro to Cyangugu, but she did not see any major violence in May 1994 in Butare. She stated that there may have been some violence and looting, since she used to see people with chairs, televisions and bicycles that were probably taken from people's houses, but she did not see people fighting each other or any shooting or killing. She did not know which ethnic group the looters belonged to. She could not see any weapons on them. She testified that she did not hear about or see any massive killings in Butare after 19 April 1994 and never saw dead bodies in Butare after 19 April 1994.

Ntahobali Defence Witness WDUSA

- 2531. Witness WDUSA, a Hutu engineer, testified that he saw Ntahobali three times over two or three days or four to five days towards the end of May, beginning of June 1994 at the Ituze Hotel in Cyangugu, at around 5.00 p.m. ⁷¹⁴³
- 2532. Witness WDUSA learned from Prudence Munyemana, Béatrice's older sister, that Ntahobali's family was living at the home of Ntahobali's brother-in-law. On 25 or 26 May 1994, Witness WDUSA went to visit Ntahobali's brother-in-law's home. 7144
- 2533. Witness WDUSA clarified that during the first of the three occasions he saw Ntahobali, the latter had gone with his family and his brother-in-law's family to have a drink and eat

```
<sup>7132</sup> T. 27 February 2006 pp. 12-13; T. 28 February 2006 p. 47 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
```

⁷¹³³ T. 27 February 2006 p. 12 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁴ T. 27 February 2006 p. 18; T. 28 February 2006 p. 56 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁵ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 49, 73-74 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁶ T. 28 February 2006 pp. 11-12, 60 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁷ T. 27 February 2006 p. 72 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁸ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 74-75 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹³⁹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 74-75, 77 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹⁴⁰ T. 27 February 2006 p. 76 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹⁴¹ T. 27 February 2006 p. 77 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹⁴² T. 27 February 2006 pp. 49, 75 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹⁴³ T. 3 April 2006 pp. 57-58 (ICS); T. 4 April 2006 pp. 25, 28 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁴⁴ T. 4 April 2006 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

brochettes.⁷¹⁴⁵ He and Ntahobali had a snack together.⁷¹⁴⁶ Two or three days later, he saw Ntahobali at the Ituze Hotel, still with his sister-in-law's family, with his brother-in-law's younger brother and someone else who worked at the immigration office in Cyangugu, as well as his spouse and his child.⁷¹⁴⁷ During the third occasion, the witness saw Ntahobali in the afternoon at the Ituze Hotel with his wife Béatrice and his brother-in-law's family.⁷¹⁴⁸ Witness WDUSA believed this occurred in the first week of June, but was not able to recall the exact date.⁷¹⁴⁹ He indicated that it must have been at the end of the month because he had received his pay.⁷¹⁵⁰

2534. Witness WDUSA confirmed that on all three occasions, he saw Ntahobali at the hotel for one to two hours towards the end of the afternoon, always accompanied by the same family members.⁷¹⁵¹ The witness did not talk with Ntahobali about the latter's upcoming birthday, because in Rwanda, one did not celebrate birthdays between families. The witness "personally never celebrated any birthday".⁷¹⁵²

3.6.19.4 Deliberations

2535. In order to provide a comprehensive picture of the numerous allegations against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali regarding the events at the BPO, the Chamber will complete a three-step analysis. First, the Chamber will examine the alibi evidence presented by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and determine whether these alibis are reasonably possibly true. Second, the Chamber will set forth a general overview of the Prosecution evidence against the Accused. Finally, the Chamber will examine each of the specific allegations against the Accused, proceeding chronologically and evaluating the totality of the evidence and issues of credibility and corroboration with respect to each distinct allegation.

3.6.19.4.1 Nyiramasuhuko's Alibis

2536. The Chamber notes that Nyiramasuhuko provided a belated notice of alibi pursuant to Rule 67. On 1 March 2005, almost four months after the close of the Prosecution's case, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence had yet to provide a notice of alibi. The Chamber ordered the Nyiramasuhuko Defence to immediately provide notice of its alibi to the Prosecution. The Prosecution received a notice of alibi around 4 March 2005. As noted by the Prosecution in its closing argument, the notice of alibi indicated that Nyiramasuhuko was in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, from the end of May to around 3 June 1994 and that she was in Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture*, from around 4 June 1994 to early July 1994. As will be examined below, this notice of alibi conflicts with Nyiramasuhuko's evidence at trial that she

```
<sup>7145</sup> T. 3 April 2006 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).
```

⁷¹⁴⁶ T. 4 April 2006 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁴⁷ T. 3 April 2006 p. 57 (ICS); T. 4 April 2006 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁴⁸ T. 3 April 2006 p. 58 (ICS); T. 4 April 2006 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁴⁹ T. 4 April 2006 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁵⁰ T. 3 April 2006 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁵¹ T. 3 April 2006 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁵² T. 4 April 2006 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

⁷¹⁵³ *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion To Be Served With Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67(A)(ii)(a) (TC), 1 March 2005, paras. 27, 29.

⁷¹⁵⁴ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 33, 35-36, 38, 41; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 32.

Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 32.

left Gitarama on 1 June 1994.⁷¹⁵⁶ As a preliminary observation, the Chamber notes that a late notice of alibi may suggest that the alibis are fabricated, tailored to answer the Prosecution's case ⁷¹⁵⁷

2537. The Chamber acknowledges the Nyiramasuhuko Defence disclosed to the Prosecution in January and February 2005 the will-say statements of Clarisse Ntahobali, Denise Ntahobali, and Witness WZJM, indicating they would testify as to Nyiramasuhuko's whereabouts on certain dates between April and July 1994. These will-say statements, however, are no substitute for a notice of alibi required by Rule 67 (A). None of these documents indicate they relate to an alibi for Nyiramasuhuko. Moreover, these documents were disclosed in January and February 2005, two to three months after the close of the Prosecution case on 4 November 2004. Therefore, the documents did not indicate they were related to Nyiramasuhuko's various alibis and were belated.

2538. Notwithstanding the late-filed notice of alibi, the Accused has a right to present an alibi at trial and to have it considered by the Trial Chamber. There can be no conviction for an allegation which takes place during an alibi that is reasonably possibly true. The onus remains on the Prosecution to prove that the accused was present and committed the crimes for which he is charged and thereby discredit the alibi defence.

⁷¹⁵⁶ T. 6 September 2005 p. 27; T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 56; Kalimanzira, Consolidated Decision on Prosecution Motion Concerning Defence Compliance With Rule 73ter and Defence Motions to Vary Witness List (TC), 13 November 2008, para. 7.

^{2008,} para. 7.

7158 Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Liste de l'ordre de présentation et willsay et fiche d'identification, 18 January 2005 (The will-say indicated Clarisse Ntahobali would testify that while staying at Hotel Ihuliro: (1) she saw her mother on 19 April 1994; (2) she saw her mother on 28 April 1994 for a short period; (3) her mother returned in mid-May 1994 for two or three days; (4) at the beginning of June 1994, she saw her mother, her sister Denise and her own daughter, leaving for Muramba; (5) during the month of June 1994 she saw her mother and her daughter for a very short visit).

7159 Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Divulgation de fiche d'identification de témoin,

Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Divulgation de fiche d'identification de témoin, will say, et liste de présentation de l'ordre de témoins, 24 January 2005 (The will-say indicated that Denise Ntahobali would testify that her mother was in Butare Town at Hotel Ihuliro: (1) in the days after Denise Ntahobali arrived in Butare; (2) at the end of April 1994; and (3) at the end of May 1994. The will-say also provided that Denise Ntahobali accompanied her mother and niece to Gitarama at the end of May 1994, and stayed in Gitarama one or two days before fleeing to Muramba around the beginning of June 1994. After a first week in Muramba, she returned to Butare with her mother and niece, returning to Muramba the next day. At the end of June 1994, it provided her mother again travelled to Butare from Muramba for the visit of the bishop and returned immediately to Muramba. Finally, in July 1994 her mother left Muramba for Butare to bring her family to Gitarama).

⁷¹⁶⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Divulgation concernant le témoin WZJM, 21 February 2005 (The will-say indicated the witness would testify that he lived in Muramba five minutes away from the seat of government starting at the beginning of June 1994 and that he saw a woman identified to him as Nyiramasuhuko around 10 times at or around the school in the days that followed).

⁷¹⁶¹ *Rutaganda*, Judgement (AC), para. 243 (where the defence fails to comply with Rule 67, it may still rely on the alibi defence at trial); Rule 67 (B) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence ("Failure of the Defence to provide such notice [of alibi] under this Rule shall not limit the right of the accused to rely on the above defences.").

⁷¹⁶² *Musema*, Judgement (AC), paras. 205-206 (quoting *Musema*, Judgement (TC), para. 108: "If an alibi is

Musema, Judgement (AC), paras. 205-206 (quoting Musema, Judgement (TC), para. 108: "If an alibi is reasonably possibly true, it must be successful."); Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 202 (the Chamber may reject an alibi only if the Prosecution establishes "beyond a reasonable doubt that, despite the alibi, the facts alleged are nevertheless true").

⁷¹⁶³ Musema, Judgement (AC), para. 205 (quoting Musema, Judgement (TC), para. 108).

2539. Finally, the Chamber notes Nyiramasuhuko's suggestion that certain entries in her diary corroborated the fact that she attended Cabinet meetings in Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture, from 1 to 19 June 1994. 7164 She said that she always carried her handbag with her which contained her diary. ⁷¹⁶⁵ Only in a few instances did she record events in her diary under the correspondingly dated diary entry; where events were noted on non-corresponding diary pages, she tried to indicate in the diary entry the actual date of the event. The Chamber is cautious in evaluating the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko as she has an obvious motive to exculpate herself from any criminal conduct. However, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko's diary useful in evaluating consistencies and inconsistencies in Nyiramasuhuko's testimony.

2540. As to the specifics of her alibis, Nyiramasuhuko claims to have moved with the Interim Government to Murambi, Gitarama préfecture, on 12 April 1994 and stayed there until the government moved to Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture*, on 1 June 1994. ⁷¹⁶⁷ She stayed in Muramba from 2 June 1994 until she fled Rwanda. ⁷¹⁶⁸ Although she was moving around the country frequently and made many trips to Butare town to participate in meetings and to visit her family, she claims that she never left Hotel Ihuliro at night when in Butare town.

3.6.19.4.1.1 12 April to Early June 1994 – Murambi

2541. It was uncontested that the distance between Murambi, in Gitarama préfecture, and Butare town was about 80 kilometres and could be travelled in one or two hours in May 1994. Murambi was about a 10 minute drive from Gitarama town. 7169 Alexis Briquet travelled from Butare town to Gitarama several times between 25 May and 28 May 1994 in order to acquire authorisation of the Interim Government to evacuate several groups of orphans to Bujumbura. 7170 Briquet estimated that the journey from Butare to Gitarama along the main road took about two hours considering the roadblocks they had to pass along the way.⁷¹⁷¹ Nyiramasuhuko investigator Edmond Babin testified that the distance from Gitarama to Butare is 83 kilometres and could be travelled in one hour and 10 minutes in peacetime. 7172 Denise Ntahobali's recollection was that on 31 May 1994, it took one and a half hours to travel from Butare to Murambi, but she estimated that it was only 30 kilometres. This Likewise, Defence Exhibit 309, a Travel Map of Rwanda published in 1998, indicates the distance from Gitarama

⁷¹⁶⁴ The Chamber recalls that Nyiramasuhuko accepted ownership of the diary in her Closing Brief, her oral submissions and at trial during her testimony. See Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 369, 457-458, 469, 495, 498, 520, 548-549, 553, 561-563; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 58, 60, 68; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 52; T. 21 September 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 12 October 2005 pp. 34-37, 55-56 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 25 October 2005 p. 58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁶⁵ T. 12 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko). ⁷¹⁶⁶ T. 12 October 2005 p. 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁶⁷ T. 6 September 2005 p. 27; T. 27 September 2005 pp. 62, 64; T. 5 October 2005 p. 36. The English translation ("Murambi") is erroneous; see T. 5 October 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French). ⁷¹⁶⁸ T. 6 October 2005 pp. 29, 31 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁶⁹ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 31-32 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 29 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko); see also T. 26 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Murambi to Kabgaye was about three to four kilometres); T. 5 October 2005 p. 42 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Murambi to where the bishops were killed, i.e. Kabgaye, was between six and eight kilometres); Defence Exhibit 309 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Travel Map of Rwanda) (Kabgaye is less than 10 kilometres from Gitarama town).

⁷¹⁷⁰ T. 28 August 2006 pp. 29-30 (Briquet).

⁷¹⁷¹ T. 31 August 2006 pp. 54-55 (Briquet).

⁷¹⁷² T. 25 April 2005 p. 11 (Babin).

⁷¹⁷³ T. 9 June 2005 p. 32 (Denise Ntahobali).

town to Butare town to be 82 kilometres. When suggested to Nyiramasuhuko that the distance from Murambi to Butare was 75 kilometres, she responded that it was closer to 80 kilometres but agreed that it was possible to make a return trip in one day in 1994 if one took the paved road. The Chamber accepts the distance between Gitarama and Butare was about 80 kilometres and it took between one and two hours to travel between the two towns from 6 April until June 1994. The Chamber considers that a return trip of such a distance could easily be accomplished in a single day by car, as was acknowledged by Nyiramasuhuko.

2542. Furthermore, the Chamber is not convinced that Nyiramasuhuko did not have access to a car until 25 May 1994, as she claimed. Nyiramasuhuko admitted she travelled to Butare with Ndindabahizi on 14 April 1994 and that he gave her the car to go to Hotel Ihuliro upon arriving in Butare. She also testified that on 28 April 1994 she travelled to Butare with Ndungutse. On 10 May 1994 and 14 May 1994, she rode with Kalimanzira to Butare. On the 14 May 1994 trip, Kalimanzira's car took her to Hotel Ihuliro. On that same trip, Nyiramasuhuko testified that she used her husband's Peugeot 505 to go back to Murambi. Finally, she testified that a car was requisitioned for her on 25 May 1994 and she had access to a vehicle from that point forward. Based on this evidence, it is clear that Nyiramasuhuko had means of transport to Butare *préfecture* from Murambi from 12 April until the Interim Government moved to Gisenyi *préfecture*. In addition, she had her own vehicle starting 25 May 1994. This vehicle was involved in an accident on 30 May 1994, but a replacement vehicle, a Mazda double-cabin pickup, was provided to her the next day on 31 May 1994.

2543. Therefore, the fact that Nyiramasuhuko may have been staying in Murambi from 12 April to early June 1994 in and of itself, does not raise a reasonable doubt that she was present at the BPO between mid-May and early June 1994, especially considering she admittedly travelled so frequently to Butare town to visit her family.

3.6.19.4.1.2 Admitted Presence in Butare – Hotel Ihuliro

2544. Nyiramasuhuko admits to being in Butare town on a number of occasions including the following dates between mid-April and the end of June 1994: 14 to 15 April 1994; 19 April 1994; 28 to 29 April 1994; 10 May 1994; 14 to 16 May 1994; 30 to 31 May 1994; 11 to 12 June 1994; 24 June 1994; and 3 July 1994. She testified that each time she visited Butare

⁷¹⁷⁴ Defence Exhibit 309 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Travel Map of Rwanda).

⁷¹⁷⁵ T. 22 November 2005 p. 52 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁷⁶ T. 28 September 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁷⁷ T. 29 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁷⁸ T. 3 October 2005 pp. 43, 60-61 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁷⁹ T. 4 October 2005 p. 7 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁸⁰ T. 4 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁸¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 11 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 348B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Letter from Minister of Transportation).

⁷¹⁸² T. 5 October 2005 p. 29; T. 16 November 2005 pp. 28-30 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁸³ T. 6 September 2005 p. 32; T. 28 September 2005 pp. 29, 63; T. 29 September 2005 p. 48; T. 3 October 2005 pp. 43, 60-61; T. 4 October 2005 pp. 48-49; T. 5 October 2005 p. 16; T. 6 October 2005 pp. 25, 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

town she went directly to the Hotel Ihuliro to visit family and that she never went into town at night. 7184

2545. Her alibi for the dates when she admitted to being in Butare town is that she stayed at home while attacks may have been on-going at the BPO. The Chamber notes that Béatrice Munyenyezi testified that it only took 15 to 20 minutes to walk from Hotel Ihuliro to the BPO. Nsabimana said the distance from the BPO to the EER was 100 to 200 metres by foot and that the EER was next to Hotel Ihuliro. Therefore, whenever Nyiramasuhuko was at Hotel Ihuliro, she was in very close proximity to the BPO.

2546. The Chamber also notes that the only witnesses to testify in support of Nyiramasuhuko's alibi were her family members who may have had a motive to exculpate her. Therefore, the Chamber examines this testimony with appropriate caution.⁷¹⁸⁷

2547. The Chamber notes there was conflicting evidence as to whether Nyiramasuhuko stayed at Hotel Ihuliro during her visits to Butare. Nyiramasuhuko claims to have been bedridden during her 14 to 16 May 1994 stay in Butare. Her daughter, Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko stayed at the hotel two to three days, but she did not state that she was bed-ridden. Nyiramasuhuko's sister, Céline Nyiraneza, stated that Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro in the middle of May and spent three or four days at home with malaria. Her niece, Witness WBUC, said that Nyiramasuhuko was unable to go outside because of her illness. Ntahobali also testified that Nyiramasuhuko was not feeling well and she stayed at home for two or three days.

2548. Her husband, Maurice Ntahobali, confirmed that Nyiramasuhuko had malaria in mid-May 1994 while staying at Hotel Ihuliro and that she was receiving treatment from her sister. He nevertheless also stated that she was moving around at one point and borrowed his service vehicle during her visit, although she did not tell him where she went.⁷¹⁹³ Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko was not confined to her bed according to her husband.

2549. Nyiramasuhuko indicated that she felt better on 16 May 1994 and in the morning she went to the BPO to check on security.⁷¹⁹⁴ She returned home to tell her family about an

⁷¹⁸⁴ T. 6 September 2005 p. 42 (with respect to the evening of 11 June 1994); T. 28 September 2005 p. 34 (with respect to the evening of 14 April 1994); T. 29 September 2005 p. 49 (with respect to the evening of 28 April 1994); T. 4 October 2005 p. 8 (with respect to the evenings of 15 to 16 May 1994); T. 5 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko) (with respect to the evening of 30 May 1994).

⁷¹⁸⁵ T. 27 February 2006 p. 49 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷¹⁸⁶ T. 9 October 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana).

⁷¹⁸⁷ Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 119-120 ("the Trial Chamber rightly considered the relationship between a witness and the Appellant as a relevant element in the assessment of the witness's credibility...").

⁷¹⁸⁸ T. 4 October 2005 p. 8 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁸⁹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 57; T. 10 February 2005 p. 26 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷¹⁹⁰ T. 24 February 2005 pp. 43-44 (Céline Nyiraneza).

⁷¹⁹¹ T. 1 June 2005 p. 63 (Witness WBUC).

⁷¹⁹² T. 25 April 2006 p. 57; T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).

⁷¹⁹³ T. 14 September 2005 pp. 38-39; T. 16 September 2005 p. 61; T. 14 September 2005 p. 43 (Maurice Ntahobali) (French).

⁷¹⁹⁴ T. 4 October 2005 p. 9; T. 26 October 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

afternoon meeting and then travelled back to attend the meeting.⁷¹⁹⁵ Finally, she said she did not wait for the end of the Security Council meeting and returned to Murambi.⁷¹⁹⁶ The Chamber does not find it credible that Nyiramasuhuko was bed-ridden on 14 to 16 May 1994.

2550. Based on the conflicting testimony as to whether Nyiramasuhuko was bed-ridden, the failure to provide any notice of alibi prior to the testimony of Clarisse Ntahobali in February 2005, and the fact that only Nyiramasuhuko's family members testified in support of this alibi, the Chamber does not consider Nyiramasuhuko's alibi for 14 to 16 May 1994 at the Hotel Ihuliro to be reasonably possibly true.

3.6.19.4.1.3 Early June to 11 June 1994 – Flight from Gitarama to Gisenyi

3.6.19.4.1.3.1 1-3 June 1994

2551. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she left Murambi for Butare on 30 May 1994 between 9.00 and 10.00 a.m. to evacuate members of her family. Nyiramasuhuko stated that she left Butare before noon on 31 May 1994 reaching Murambi around 2.00 p.m. She said she attended a Cabinet meeting in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, on 1 June 1994.

2552. Nyiramasuhuko testified that during the 1 June meeting the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff told them they were under attack and must leave immediately. Denise Ntahobali testified that she was staying with Nyiramasuhuko in Murambi on 1 June 1994 when Nyiramasuhuko came back running into their room telling them with great urgency that they must leave because the *Inkotanyi* were nearby. They left for Muramba with the Interim Government that day, *i.e.* 1 June 1994. She said she was the last minister to leave Murambi. Nyiramasuhuko said she left Murambi on 1 June 1994 and arrived in Muramba that same day. However, according to Nyiramasuhuko, the Interim Government did not hold any meetings in Muramba on 1, 2 and 3 June 1994. The first Cabinet meeting in Muramba was on 4 June 1994.

2553. This information was inconsistent with the notice of alibi given to the Prosecution. The notice indicated that Nyiramasuhuko was in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture* from the end of May to around 3 June 1994 and that she was in Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture* from around 4 June 1994 to early July 1994. It also indicated that only Denise Ntahobali would testify in

⁷¹⁹⁵ T. 4 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁹⁶ T. 4 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁹⁷ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 11, 13-14 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁹⁸ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 31-32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷¹⁹⁹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁰⁰ T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁰¹ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 43-44; T. 13 June 2005 p. 30 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²⁰² T. 5 October 2005 p. 36; *see* T. 5 October 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (refers to Muramba); T. 9 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²⁰³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁰⁴ T. 5 October 2005 p. 36; *see* T. 5 October 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (refers to Muramba, not Murambi).

⁷²⁰⁵ T. 5 October 2005 p. 33 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁰⁶ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 37-40 (Nyiramasuhuko).

support of this alibi. 7207 In fact, both Denise Ntahobali and Clarisse Ntahobali testified in support of this alibi.

2554. Denise Ntahobali testified that she left Murambi with Nyiramasuhuko in a large convoy of 20 vehicles and that they continued along the road directly to Muramba, arriving late that evening on 1 June 1994. ⁷²⁰⁸ For the following reasons, the Chamber does not find her to be credible. First, her testimony on other issues was not credible. The Chamber recalls its finding that Denise Ntahobali was not truthful with the Chamber with regard to whether Ntahobali owned a car or knew how to drive. Denise Ntahobali also testified that killings only started in Butare in late May, which is inconsistent with the evidence before the Chamber. Second, she had very close relationships with members of the Nyiramasuhuko Defence. Denise Ntahobali's husband worked as an investigator for Nyiramasuhuko from August 1999 to the beginning of 2005. 7209 Denise Ntahobali's brother-in-law was working for Nyiramasuhuko at the time of the trial. She admitted that she had discussed the trial proceedings with her brother-in-law, but not the Defence's strategy. These relationships show a particularly strong connection between this witness and the Nyiramasuhuko Defence. Third, she claimed to have left Murambi in a large convoy, whereas Nyiramasuhuko did not mention the convoy and, in fact, testified that she had been left by a minister she asked to wait for her and was the very last minister to leave Murambi. 7211 In sum, Denise Ntahobali lacked credibility on this issue.

2555. More importantly, Clarisse Ntahobali contradicted Nyiramasuhuko and Denise Ntahobali's testimony that they went directly to Gisenyi *préfecture*. Clarisse Ntahobali said Nyiramasuhuko returned to Butare town with Denise and Clarisse's daughter two to three days after 31 May 1994, that is on 2 or 3 June 1994. She said that Nyiramasuhuko explained to her that the Interim Government had fled Gitarama because it had fallen to the RPF and that she was on her way to Muramba in Gisenyi *préfecture*. Clarisse Ntahobali's testimony places Nyiramasuhuko in Butare town on 2 or 3 June 1994, when Nyiramasuhuko said she was in Muramba.

2556. Witness WZJM, Maurice Ntahobali and Céline Nyiraneza testified that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba in June 1994, but their testimony was not sufficiently specific to corroborate Nyiramasuhuko's assertion that it was on 1, 2 and 3 June 1994.⁷²¹⁴

_

⁷²⁰⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 32.

⁷²⁰⁸ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²⁰⁹ T. 13 June 2005 pp. 36-37 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²¹⁰ T. 13 June 2005 pp. 36-37 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²¹¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²¹² T. 9 February 2005 p. 61; T. 10 February 2005 p. 23 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷²¹³ T. 9 February 2005 p. 61 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

The Triangle Triangle

2557. Based on the evidence of Clarisse Ntahobali placing Nyiramasuhuko in Butare town on 2 or 3 June 1994, the inconsistencies between the alibi evidence and the notice of alibi pertaining to 1, 2 and 3 June 1994, and Denise Ntahobali's lack of credibility, the Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko's alibi that she was in Muramba on 1, 2 and 3 June 1994 to be credible.

3.6.19.4.1.3.2 4-6 June 1994

2558. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she attended a Cabinet meeting of the Interim Government on 4 June 1994 in Muramba. She pointed to her diary entry of 3 June 1994 which she said was recorded during the Cabinet meeting of 4 June 1994 in Muramba. Nyiramasuhuko confirmed that the diary entry for 4 June 1994 contained notes from the 17 June 1994 meeting as many appointments were made on that date. However, she relies on three short notes that also appear in the diary entry for 4 June 1994. The title merely states "Cabinet Meeting Decisions." These notes do not indicate the date or location of the meeting during which they were recorded. Although the notes are found in the diary entry for 4 June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko stated that only in a few instances were events recorded in the dated entry corresponding to when the event occurred. The Chamber considers this diary entry provides little support for Nyiramasuhuko's contention that she attended a Cabinet meeting in Muramba on 4 June 1994.

2559. Likewise, the diary entry for 5 June 1994, by Nyiramasuhuko's own testimony and according to hand-written notes within the entry, indicate that it relates to a meeting that occurred on 6 June 1994. Therefore, the diary does not provide any support to Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that there was a Cabinet meeting in Muramba on 4 June 1994.

2560. Guichaoua indicated in his Report that Nyiramasuhuko was in Gikongoro and parts of Butare *préfecture* from 3 to 8 June based upon her diary entries of 28 and 29 May 1994. Those entries indicated dates followed by locations:

⁷²¹⁵ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 37-38 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²¹⁶ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 33-34 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²¹⁷ T. 6 October 2005 p. 10 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²¹⁸ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 10-11 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²¹⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) pp. 26-27 (Table Nos. 4 & 5).

The 3rd in Gikongoro Mubuga SP Munini

The 4th in Mbazi Mwulire – workshop

The 5th in Mugusa – population under military action: consignment without cartridges

. . .

On the six, some persons where [sic] killed and others beaten up at the home of Semwaga.

On the 7th Ndora and Nyaruhengeri

Rwangombwa

MINITRASO file: *Terre des Hommes* and the Red Cross took away children to South Kivu. The supervisors are youth who are more numerous than the children.

It is RPF recruitment in disguise: 3 buses

On 8th – The Bg and the *sous-prefets*

Mobilisation of the population and utilisation of traditional weapons. 7220

- 2561. Nyiramasuhuko testified that these entries related to the 31 May 1994 meeting in Butare and reflected information that she recorded there. The Chamber hesitates to rely on the diary and Guichaoua's testimony alone to establish Nyiramasuhuko's presence in any of the locations cited in the 28 and 29 May 1994 diary entries.
- 2562. Nonetheless, the discrepancies identified above, along with the absence of notes indicating Nyiramasuhuko was in meetings in Muramba from 1 to 5 June 1994, the lack of credibility of witnesses called in support of this alibi, and the late and incorrect notice of alibi render Nyiramasuhuko's alibi for 1 to 5 June 1994 not credible.
- 2563. As to the diary entries for 5 and 6 June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko asserts she took notes under these entries during a Cabinet meeting in Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture* on 6 June 1994. A notation in the diary entry for 5 June 1994 supports this testimony as hand-written notes indicate, "Meeting of 6/6/94." Although no location is indicated, the Prosecution did not contest that the Interim Government moved its base to Gisenyi *préfecture* around 6 June 1994. Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko has raised a reasonable doubt as to her presence in Butare on 6 June 1994.

⁷²²⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 76.

⁷²²¹ T. 6 October 2005 p. 4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²²² T. 5 October 2005 p. 40 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²²³ Prosecution Exhibit 144D (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 80 ("conseil du 6/6/94").

T. 6 July 2004 p. 44 (Des Forges) (RPF troops took the centre part of Rwanda in the early days of June causing the government to flee to Gisenyi); T. 28 September 2004 p. 58 (Guichaoua) (RPF captured Kabagayi on 2 June 1994 and the Interim Government transferred to Gisenyi *préfecture* on 10 June 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 73 (several days after 6 June 1994, the Interim Government moved to Kibuye and then to Gisenyi).

3.6.19.4.1.3.3 7-10 June 1994

2564. Nyiramasuhuko testified there was a Cabinet meeting in Muramba, Gisenyi *préfecture* on 10 June 1994. Notes from that meeting appear in the diary entries for 30 to 31 May 1994. The diary entries on those dates contain a hand-written notation, "Cabinet Meeting of 10 June 1994." Therefore, the diary entry supports Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she was in Muramba on 10 June 1994. Based on this analysis, the Chamber finds there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba on 10 June 1994.

2565. However, there were not any notes in her diary to support her presence in Muramba from 7 to 9 June 1994. The diary entry for 9 June 1994 contained notes from meetings on 31 May 1994 and 17 June 1994. There were no other notes for any Cabinet meeting on 9 June 1994 and Nyiramasuhuko did not claim that any such meeting occurred on that day. Furthermore, the diary entries for 7 and 8 June 1994 were removed from the diary and did not appear in evidence. Therefore, the diary does not provide any support for Nyiramasuhuko's assertion that there were Cabinet meetings in Muramba from 7 to 9 June 1994.

2566. Furthermore, Denise Ntahobali and Shalom Ntahobali estimated that Nyiramasuhuko was in Butare between 7 and 9 June 1994. Denise Ntahobali said she stayed with Nyiramasuhuko in Muramba for one week after they fled from Murambi on 1 June 1994. They then went to Butare to see how the people they left behind were doing, *i.e.* seven days after 1 June, around 8 June 1994. The following day, she, her mother, niece and the two *gendarmes* left Hotel Ihuliro and went back to Muramba. This places Nyiramasuhuko in Butare around 8 June 1994 and conflicts with Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she only travelled to Butare on 11 June 1994.

2567. Shalom Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko spent a night at Hotel Ihuliro when she came three to five days after Ntahobali returned from Cyangugu. He testified that he returned to Butare around 5 June 1994. This places Nyiramasuhuko in Butare around 8 or 10 June 1994. This testimony also contradicts Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she only went to Butare on 11 June 1994.

2568. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence argued that it was difficult and time-intensive to travel from Muramba to Butare due to the necessity of driving on secondary roads to avoid the RPF. Insofar as there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba on 6 June and 10 June 1994 (as found above), whether Nyiramasuhuko was able to have been in Butare from

⁷²²⁵ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 40-41; T. 11 October 2005 p. 6 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²²⁶ Prosecution Exhibits 144A-D (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 77.

⁷²²⁷ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 5-6, 10-11 (Nyiramasuhuko).

The Chamber makes no adverse inference based upon the absence of these pages, but merely notes that Nyiramasuhuko's assertion that there were meetings was not corroborated by her diary: Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) p. 81.

⁷²²⁹ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 44-45, 48 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²³⁰ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 48, 51 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²³¹ T. 1 June 2006 pp. 68-69 (Ntahobali).

⁷²³² T. 26 April 2006 pp. 12-13; T. 21 June 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).

Maurice Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko and the two children came to Hotel Ihuliro in June 1994. He did not specify when in June. Therefore, it neither confirms nor contradicts Nyiramasuhuko's testimony as to when she was in Butare.

7 to 9 June 1994 would depend upon her ability to travel between the two destinations. On this point, Defence Exhibit 309, a Travel Map of Rwanda, indicates the distance from Muramba (near Ngororero) to Butare is about 130 kilometres on the main road, including 80 kilometres from Butare to Murambi and around 50 kilometres from Murambi to Muramba. The Chamber has accepted the evidence that it would have taken 1 hour to 1.5 hours to travel 80 kilometres from Butare to Murambi in Gitarama *préfecture* using the main road. The only evidence as to the time necessary to travel from Butare or Murambi to Muramba in June 1994 was provided by Nyiramasuhuko and Denise Ntahobali. Tass

2569. It is not contested that the RPF had captured Kabgayi along the main road from Gitarama to Butare around 2 June 1994. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that Nyiramasuhuko would have been forced to travel on secondary roads to reach Butare town from Muramba, as she asserted in her testimony. Denise Ntahobali corroborated this assertion, stating that on 1 June 1994, the trip from Butare to Muramba took from 8 to 10 hours on these secondary roads. Even if the travel time between Muramba to Butare was between 8 and 11 hours at the beginning of June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko admitted that she travelled to Butare on 11 June 1994 and returned the very next day on 12 June 1994. Therefore, the fact that Nyiramasuhuko may have been in Muramba on 6 and 10 June 1994 means that she could not have been in Butare between 7 and 9 June 1994.

2570. In short, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko has raised a reasonable doubt as to her presence in Butare on 6 and 10 June 1994, but she has not raised a doubt as to her presence in Butare between 7 and 9 June 1994.

3.6.19.4.1.4 11-19 June 1994

2571. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she travelled to Butare on 11 June 1994.⁷²³⁹ On cross-examination, she said she travelled to Butare after a Cabinet meeting held on that date.⁷²⁴⁰ But on direct, she said that she did not see that there was any Cabinet meeting by reference to her diary.⁷²⁴¹ Regardless of whether she attended a Cabinet meeting on 11 June 1994 in Gitarama, she was in Butare *préfecture* that same day.⁷²⁴²

⁷²³⁴ Defence Exhibit 309 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Travel Map of Rwanda); T. 9 June 2005 p. 45 (Denise Ntahobali) (they went to Gisenyi via the Ngororero road).

⁷²³⁵ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 4-5 (Nyiramasuhuko) (distance between Muramba and Butare might be covered in about four hours although in times of war, another two to three additional hours must be added); T. 9 June 2005 p. 50 (Denise Ntahobali) (trip from Hotel Ihuliro to Muramba took them between 8 and 10 hours).

⁷²³⁶ T. 6 July 2004 p. 44 (Des Forges) (RPF troops took the centre part of Rwanda in the early days of June. This caused the government to flee to Gisenyi); T. 28 September 2004 p. 58 (Guichaoua) (RPF captured Kabagayi on 2 June 1994 and the Interim Government transferred to Gisenyi *préfecture* on 10 June 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 73 (several days after 6 June 1994, the Interim Government moved to Kibuye and then to Gisenyi).

⁷²³⁷ T. 9 June 2005 p. 50 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁷²³⁸ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 32, 42 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²³⁹ T. 6 September 2005 p. 32; T. 5 October 2005 pp. 45-46 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴⁰ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 3-4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 45 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴² T. 5 October 2005 pp. 45-46; T. 6 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

- 2572. She said the following morning, 12 June 1994, she left for Muramba at around 10.00 a.m. and reached Gisenyi *préfecture* at around 9.00 p.m. ⁷²⁴³ She said this was the only trip she took to Butare in June 1994 after a Cabinet meeting. ⁷²⁴⁴ However she also admitted travelling to Butare on 24 June 1994. 7245
- 2573. As noted above, Denise Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali and Maurice Ntahobali testified that Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro in June 1994. They testified that Nyiramasuhuko only stayed one night and returned to Muramba the next day. However, as discussed, Denise and Shalom Ntahobali estimated that Nyiramasuhuko was in Butare around 8 or 10 June 1994 and not on 11 and 12 June 1994.
- 2574. Nyiramasuhuko suggested her diary corroborated her testimony that she was in Muramba after her 11 to 12 June 1994 visit to Butare. She said that there were Cabinet meetings in Muramba almost every day from 12 to 19 June 1994 and that she took notes from meetings in her diary. In particular, she identified the diary entries for 17 June and 18 to 19 May 1994. 7246 The Chamber notes the diary entries for 18 to 19 May 1994 contain handwritten notes in blue ink "Cabinet Meeting of Friday 17 June 1994." Therefore, the diary entry is consistent with Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she attended a meeting on 17 June 1994 in Muramba. However, according to Nyiramasuhuko, the handwritten notations in the diary under 14 and 15 June 1994 relate to meetings Nyiramasuhuko attended in Kigali on 20 to 21 June 1994. 7247 Further, there are no notes in her diary for supposed meetings in the diary entries for 12 to 16 June. The Chamber considers the diary provides no support for Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she attended meetings in Muramba from 12 to 16 June 1994. There is however a reasonable possibility she was there on 17 June 1994.
- 2575. As to 18 to 19 June 1994, Guichaoua said that Nyiramasuhuko was in Gikongoro, Musange commune on 18 June 1994. This is supported by Nyiramasuhuko's diary entry for this date. Nyiramasuhuko only stated that she was supposed to send a message to Musange, but did not do so in the end. 7248 As to 19 June 1994, there were no notes in her diary. Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko's testimony that she was in Muramba on 18 and 19 June 1994 was not corroborated by her diary and the Chamber does not consider this alibi to be reasonably possibly true.

3.6.19.4.1.5 20-21 June 1994 – Kigali

2576. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she travelled to Kigali on 20 June 1994 from 4.00 a.m. with the Prime Minister's convoy. She was there on 21 June 1994 for an interview on RTLM which was led into evidence as Defence Exhibit 284. The notice of alibi provided to the Prosecution did not indicate that Nyiramasuhuko was in Kigali on 21 April 1994. Nonetheless,

⁷²⁴³ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 42, 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴⁴ T. 11 October 2005 pp. 3-4 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴⁵ T. 6 October 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴⁶ T. 6 October 2005 p. 9 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 137B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 2) p. 27 (Table 5). ⁷²⁴⁷ T. 6 October 2005 p. 17 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 6 October 2005 p. 12 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷²⁴⁹ T. 6 October 2005 pp. 13-14 (Nyiramasuhuko); Defence Exhibit 284C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Interview with Nyiramasuhuko by RTLM, 21 June 1994).

based upon the RTLM cassette and the consistency between Nyiramasuhuko's testimony and the entries in her diary, the Chamber finds there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Kigali on 20 and 21 June 1994.

3.6.19.4.1.6 Summary of Nyiramasuhuko Alibi Evaluation

2577. In sum, the Chamber finds: (1) 12 April to 5 June 1994: regardless of whether Nyiramasuhuko was staying in Murambi, Gitarama préfecture, the short distance between Butare and Murambi would have permitted Nyiramasuhuko to be present in Butare town during the night when attacks occurred at the BPO; (2) 6 June 1994: there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture on this date.; (3) 7 to 9 June 1994: it is not reasonably possibly true that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba at this time; (4) 10 June 1994: there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture on this date; (5) 12 to 16 June: the alibi placing Nyiramasuhuko in Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture during this time period is not reasonably possibly true; (6) 17 June 1994: there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko remained in Muramba on this date; (7) 18 to 19 June 1994: it is not reasonably possibly true that Nyiramasuhuko was in Muramba, Gisenyi préfecture during this time period; (8) 20 to 21 June: there is a reasonable possibility that Nyiramasuhuko was in Kigali during this time period. The Chamber further notes that Nyiramasuhuko admitted to being present in Butare on the nights of 14, 15 and 30 May 1994 and 11 June 1994. The Chamber does not find it credible that Nyiramasuhuko stayed throughout the night at Hotel Ihuliro during these visits.

3.6.19.4.2 Ntahobali's Alibis

2578. The Chamber notes that Ntahobali did not provide a notice of his alibis until 29 September 2005, more than four years after the beginning of the Prosecution case and eight months after the beginning of the presentation of evidence by the Nyiramasuhuko Defence. In this case, Ntahobali relies on the testimony of five Nyiramasuhuko Defence witnesses who testified prior to his providing notice of an alibi. The Prosecution would not have known prior to the testimony of these witnesses that Ntahobali intended to rely on them in support of an alibi. In addition, the Ntahobali Defence moved to add alibi Witness WDUSA four and a half years after the commencement of trial. The Chamber's view, the circumstances of

On 29 September 2005, the Ntahobali Defence filed a Notice of intent to enter a defence of alibi for two time periods: (1) that Ntahobali was in Cyangugu for about one week from 28 May 1994 until 4 June 1994; and (2) according to his wife, he was bed-ridden at the Hotel Ihuliro for a few days, or nearly a week, between late April and early May 1994: *see* Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II re: Notice of Intent to enter a defence of alibi, 29 September 2005. A supplemental notice informed the Prosecutor that between 28 May 1994 and 2 June 1994, the Ntahobali family stayed at a residence owned by Mr. Harjit Singh.

⁷²⁵¹ Clarisse Ntahobali (testified 8 to 10 February 2005); Céline Nyiraneza (testified 23 to 24, 28 February 2005); Denise Ntahobali (testified 8 to 9, 13 June 2005); Nyiramasuhuko (testified, *in part*, 31 August 2005, 1, 5 to 8, 19 to 22, 26 to 29 September 2005, 3 to 6, 10 to 13, 25 to 27, 31 October 2005, 1 to 2, 7 to 10, 14 to 17, 22 to 24 November 2005); Maurice Ntahobali (testified 12 to 14, 16 September 2005).

⁷²⁵² See Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" (TC), 27 January 2006; see also Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Corrigendum to the Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" Dated 27 January 2006 (TC), 6 February 2006.

this late disclosure adversely affect the credibility of the alibi and raises the possibility that it was fabricated. 7253

2579. The Chamber further notes that all of Ntahobali's alibi witnesses, but for Witness WDUSA, were family relations. This does not, without more, undermine the credibility of these witnesses. However, the Chamber examines this evidence with appropriate caution.

3.6.19.4.2.1 Late April and Early May 1994 Alibi

2580. Ntahobali testified that he had malaria and was convalescing at Hotel Ihuliro for an entire week around the end of April and beginning of May 1994. Ntahobali claimed to remember very clearly that it was 28 April 1994 that he felt the symptoms because (1) it was his niece's birthday; (2) he saw his mother, Nyiramasuhuko, who he had not seen since 14 April 1994; and (3) he felt very ill and had to go lie down. The had his aunt was a nurse and was providing him injections of medicine. 7255

2581. The Chamber recalls that Nyiramasuhuko, Denise Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali and Witness WBUC all testified that they attended the birthday party of Clarisse Ntahobali's daughter at Hotel Ihuliro on 28 April 1994. 7256 None of these witnesses corroborated Ntahobali's testimony that he had malaria at the end of April into the beginning of May and was forced to remain in bed.

2582. Ntahobali's wife, Béatrice Munyenyezi, was the only witness to corroborate Ntahobali's alibi that he was suffering from malaria at the end of April. She stated that he had malaria for at least a week, that he stayed home, and his aunt who was a nurse took care of him. 7257 However, contrary to Ntahobali's testimony, Béatrice Munyenyezi recalled that Ntahobali's illness began two or three days before his niece's birthday, i.e. on 25 or 26 April 1994.⁷²⁵⁸ Furthermore, there were serious credibility issues with her testimony. She testified that she did not hear that the killings between April 1994 and July 1994 were ethnically motivated, and stated that people were killing each other, whether they were Hutus or Tutsis. 7259 She also testified that she did not hear about or see any massive killings in Butare after 19 April 1994 and never saw any dead bodies. 7260 Considering all of the killings that were occurring throughout Butare préfecture, including at locations within a very short distance of Hotel Ihuliro such as the EER, and the roadblock in front of Hotel Ihuliro, the Chamber does

⁷²⁵³ Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 93; Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 82; Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 164; *Kayishema & Ruzindana*, Judgement (TC), para. 237. ⁷²⁵⁴ T. 25 April 2006 p. 35; T. 25 April 2006 p. 59 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁵⁵ T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁵⁶ T. 29 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko was in Butare on 28 April 1994); T. 29 September 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko) (granddaughter was celebrating her first birthday); T. 9 February 2005 p. 52 (Clarisse Ntahobali) (Nyiramasuhuko attended the birthday of Clarisse Ntahobali's first child on 28 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko came in the evening, spent the night at the hotel, and left the next morning); T. 9 June 2005 p. 26 (Denise Ntahobali) (On 28 April 1994, the first birthday of Clarisse's child, Nyiramasuhuko came for the second time to the Hotel Ihuliro.); T. 1 June 2005 pp. 59-61 (Witness WBUC) (Nyiramasuhuko came to Hotel Ihuliro towards the end of April 1994, at the time of the birthday of her granddaughter).

⁷²⁵⁷ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8, 54 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁵⁸ T. 27 February 2006 p. 8 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁵⁹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 49, 73-74 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁶⁰ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 49. 75 (Béatrice Munvenyezi).

not find it credible that Béatrice Munyenyezi did not observe any killings and did not know that Tutsis were being targeted. This renders in doubt her credibility as a whole.

2583. Based on Béatrice Munyenyezi's lack of credibility, the lack of corroboration from other testifying witnesses who should have had knowledge of Ntahobali's illness, and the late notice of alibi, the Chamber does not find Ntahobali's alibi that he was sick in bed with malaria from late April to early May 1994 to be credible.

3.6.19.4.2.2 Alibi Starting 26 or 27 May 1994

2584. Ntahobali stated that he went to Cyangugu on 26 or 27 May 1994 and returned to Butare on 5 June 1994. The Chamber notes that Ntahobali made no mention of this alibi prior to 29 September 2005. The Ntahobali Defence did not mention the alibi in its Pre-Trial Brief, opening statement or in its cross-examination of any of the Prosecution witnesses.

2585. Furthermore, Ntahobali admitted during his testimony that he failed to assert that he travelled to Cyangugu to follow his wife during the recorded 1997 interview with the Prosecution investigator. During the interview, Ntahobali asserted, "Oh! I once went to Cyangugu. Once."; he said that the purpose of his trip was to see his sick brother-in-law. However, in 2006, Ntahobali testified that he actually travelled to Cyangugu on two occasions. The first visit was to collect his wife and the second visit was to see his ailing brother-in-law. He stated that he visited his brother-in-law from Gisenyi, just before leaving Rwanda, because Butare had already fallen to the RPF. Ntahobali said he made a mistake in his interview in stating that he had only been to Cyangugu once in order to visit his sick brother-in-law because he was treated poorly while under interrogation. He claimed the subject was not broached during his interview with Prosecution officials.

2586. The Chamber does not find Ntahobali's explanation of his prior inconsistent statement to be convincing. Ntahobali mentioned Cyangugu in the context of a visit from Gisenyi to his ailing brother-in-law that occurred just prior to his leaving Rwanda in July 1994. Therefore, the alibi he did mention to the investigator during the 1997 interview indicated that he was in Cyangugu having travelled from a different location (Gisenyi), at a different time (the end of the war) and for a different reason (to visit an ailing brother-in-law). He made no mention of a trip to Cyangugu from Butare at the end of May to follow his wife.

2587. Ntahobali attempted to explain that he did not testify regarding the argument between his wife and his sister during his examination-in-chief because this was a personal problem that he did not want to raise before the Chamber. The Chamber notes that by the time Ntahobali testified, at least seven other witnesses had described the alleged fight in question,

⁷²⁶¹ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 7-8, 12-13 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶² T. 24 May 2006 pp. 29, 32; T. 21 June 2006 p. 25 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶³ Defence Exhibit 423B (Ntahobali) (Ntahobali Interview, 24-26 July 1997) p. K0144849.

⁷²⁶⁴ T. 24 May 2006 p. 29; T. 21 June 2006 pp. 24-26 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶⁵ T. 21 June 2006 p. 26 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶⁶ T. 21 June 2006 p. 25 (Ntahobali): see T. 21 June 2006 p. 25 (Ntahobali) (French) ("Je me suis donc trompé à cause des actes de mauvais traitements que j'avais subis.").

⁷²⁶⁷ T. 21 June 2006 p. 25 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶⁸ T. 24 May 2006 p. 29 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁶⁹ T. 24 May 2006 p. 32 (Ntahobali).

including the alleged participants of the fight. Therefore, this reasoning is not convincing either.

2588. Furthermore, Ntahobali's claim that he contradicted himself because he was poorly treated has no merit. The Chamber has ruled that Ntahobali's interviews fully complied with the requirements of Article 20 of the Statute and Rules 42, 43 and 63 of the Rules, namely: Ntahobali was clearly informed of his rights; there was no evidence that the questioning during the interview may have been oppressive; and no promises, threats or pressure were put on Ntahobali during the interview. ⁷²⁷⁰ This was affirmed by the Appeals Chamber. ⁷²⁷¹

2589. In support of this alibi, several Ntahobali Defence witnesses presented evidence that Ntahobali travelled to Cyangugu to follow his wife and spent about a week at that location around the end of May to the beginning of June 1994.

2590. Munyenyezi, Denise Ntahobali and Clarisse Ntahobali testified that Munyenyezi had an argument with Denise Ntahobali before the visit of Nyiramasuhuko to Hotel Ihuliro on 30 and 31 May 1994 and left for Cyangugu. For their part, Nyiramasuhuko and Maurice Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali's parents, stated that during Nyiramasuhuko's visit of 30 to 31 May 1994, Ntahobali was not at Hotel Ihuliro. Zefine Nyiraneza corroborated this account, testifying her children told her that Ntahobali left Hotel Ihuliro for Cyangugu to follow Munyenyezi around the end of May or beginning of June. As relatives of Ntahobali, the Chamber considers they would have a motive to exculpate Ntahobali. Therefore the Chamber views their testimony with appropriate caution.

2591. However, one crucial Defence witness contradicted the timing of the alibi. Witness WBUC testified that she remembered it was *after* her birthday when Munyenyezi and Shalom Ntahobali's sister had the fight at issue which precipitated Munyenyezi's flight from Hotel Ihuliro and Ntahobali's pursuit of her to Cyangugu. Although she was not certain of the date of Ntahobali's departure for Cyangugu she was clear that he departed several days *after* her birthday on 30 May 1994⁷²⁷⁵ and not 26 or 27 May 1994 as was asserted by Ntahobali. This would place the trip to Cyangugu around early June 1994.

2592. Witness WDUSA contended that he spent time with Ntahobali in Cyangugu over the course of one week from around 27 May 1994 to the end of the first week in June. He was imprecise as to the exact dates. He stated he saw Ntahobali three times over two or three days or four to five days towards the end of May or the beginning of June and claimed to have met with Ntahobali and Munyenyezi at Hotel Ituze. Table 10 In contrast, Munyenyezi claimed the

⁷²⁷⁰ *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997 (TC), 15 May 2006, paras. 70, 72, 75, 80.

⁷²⁷¹ Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on "Appeal of Accused Arsène Shalom Ntahobali Against the Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997" (AC), 27 October 2006, paras. 17-18.

⁷²⁷² T. 27 February 2006 pp. 10-11 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 9 June 2005 p. 29 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 p. 14 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 59-60 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷²⁷³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 13 September 2005 p. 25 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁷²⁷⁴ T. 24 February 2005 pp. 45-46; T. 28 February 2005 pp. 13-15 (Céline Nyiraneza).

⁷²⁷⁵ T. 2 June 2005 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

⁷²⁷⁶ T. 3 April 2006 pp. 57-58 (ICS); T. 4 April 2006 pp. 25, 27-28, 30, 43 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA).

meetings were at Hotel Chute, and Ntahobali could not recall the name of any hotel. The Witness WDUSA was a friend of Ntahobali, having lived with him in Nairobi when both were in exile the ambiguity in the dates given, the contradictions in the name of the hotel where Witness WDUSA allegedly met with Ntahobali and Munyenyezi on multiple occasions, and his relationship with Ntahobali, the Chamber does not find Witness WDUSA to be credible.

2593. Moreover, Ntahobali's alibi witnesses disagreed as to when Ntahobali returned to Butare from Cyangugu. Munyenyezi and Ntahobali testified that they left Cyangugu on 5 June 1994. The Clarisse Ntahobali testified that the dispute causing her sister-in-law to flee occurred on 27 May 1994 and that her sister-in-law and her child came back to Hotel Ihuliro three or four days after they left, and many 1994, and therefore five days before Ntahobali claimed to have returned to Butare. Witness WDUSA only said that he saw Ntahobali in Cyangugu the first week in June. He did not specify a date when Ntahobali returned to Butare.

2594. When Ntahobali allegedly returned from Cyangugu was also unclear from Ntahobali's belated notices of alibi. The first notice of alibi stated that Ntahobali left Cyangugu on 4 June 1994. However, a supplemental notice of alibi provided that he stayed in the house of Mr. Harjit Singh in Cyangugu until 2 June 1994, several days less than he claimed in the original notice and in his testimony. Table 2 These contradictions further erode the alibi's credibility.

2595. In sum, Witness WBUC's testimony directly contradicted the account of Ntahobali's sisters and wife as to when Ntahobali went to Cyangugu. Witness WBUC remembered with certainty that Ntahobali only left Hotel Ihuliro *after* 30 May 1994, her birthday. When viewed in conjunction with the late, and incorrect, notice of alibi, and the potential bias of the witnesses in favour of Ntahobali, the Chamber does not find Ntahobali's alibi that he was in Cyangugu between 26 May and 5 June 1994 to be credible.

3.6.19.4.2.3 Alibi – Nighttime Spent at Hotel Ihuliro (Generator)

2596. Clarisse Ntahobali, Céline Nyiraneza, Maurice Ntahobali and Béatrice Munyenyezi all testified that Ntahobali had the responsibility of ensuring that the generator at Hotel Ihuliro was turned on and shut off every evening. The Defence asserts therefore that Ntahobali

⁷²⁷⁷ T. 27 February 2006 p. 13 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 26 April 2006 p. 10 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁷⁸ T. 26 April 2006 p. 10 (ICS); T. 21 June 2006 p. 52 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁷⁹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 13-14 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 28 February 2006 p. 47 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 26 April 2006 pp. 12-13 (Ntahobali); T. 21 June 2006 p. 14 (Ntahobali).

⁷²⁸⁰ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 59-60; T. 10 February 2005 p. 8 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

T. 4 April 2006 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness WDUSA). Denise Ntahobali was in Muramba when Ntahobali returned to the hotel and did not provide testimony as to when he returned: T. 9 June 2005 pp. 51-52 (Denise Ntahobali).

Zee Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II re: Notice of Intent to enter a defence of alibi, 29

See Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II re: Notice of Intent to enter a defence of alibi, 29 September 2005.

7283 Memorandum to Coordinator Trial Chamber II re: Supplementary Alibi information 28 November 2005.

⁷²⁸³ Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II re: Supplementary Alibi-information, 28 November 2005. The Chamber does not treat this notice of alibi as a prior inconsistent statement, but merely points to this discrepancy to show the inadequacy of the notice of alibi that was also severely belated.

⁷²⁸⁴ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 18, 62-63 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 14 September 2005 pp. 32-34 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 10 February 2005 pp. 13, 18 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

could not have committed the alleged crimes at the BPO because he was tied to Hotel Ihuliro all evening.

2597. The Chamber finds this argument unconvincing. First, as noted above, Hotel Ihuliro was in close proximity to the BPO. It was uncontested that Hotel Ihuliro housed many other people, both young and old, between 19 April and late June 1994. For example, Clarisse Ntahobali said that 20 people were staying at the hotel when she arrived in mid-April 1994. By 19 April there were 30 people staying there and at one point 64 persons lived at the hotel. Witness CEM testified that in May 1994 there were a little more than 50 people staying at Hotel Ihuliro. It is difficult to believe that Ntahobali was the only one, apart from his sick father, staying at Hotel Ihuliro with sufficient expertise to operate the generator and that such a responsibility would preclude him from leaving the premises for any length of time.

2598. Munyenyezi claimed that no one else was capable of turning off the generator. Yet she claimed that Ntahobali was in Cyangugu for over one week and did not know who turned off the generator during that time. Even if no one else turned it off but Ntahobali, the event of turning a generator on and off would take several minutes, and would not preclude Ntahobali from making trips to the BPO. Munyenyezi testified that Ntahobali never left her side over the course of her entire time at Hotel Ihuliro. She testified, however, that she was not with Ntahobali: when he was asked to go to the Ihuliro roadblock and during his time at the roadblock; when he visited Kajuga at Hotel Ibis in June 1994; when he left Hotel Ihuliro once or twice a week to buy food for the occupants; and when she left for Cyangugu. These admissions contradict her earlier assertion that she was always with him. Therefore, the Chamber does not find her testimony to be credible and finds the assertion that Ntahobali had the responsibility of turning off the generator does not create a reasonable doubt as to his presence at the BPO at night.

2599. In sum, Ntahobali's alibis for late April/early May 1994 and late May/early June 1994 are not reasonably possibly true. Likewise, his argument that he never left Hotel Ihuliro at night throughout these events is not believable.

2600. Having examined each of the alibis relevant to the events at the BPO, the Chamber now evaluates the Prosecution case bearing in mind those aspects of the alibis that were deemed reasonably possibly true.

⁷²⁸⁵ T. 9 February 2005 p. 42 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷²⁸⁶ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 50, 62 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁷²⁸⁷ T. 14 February 2005 p. 48 (Witness CEM).

⁷²⁸⁸ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 62-63 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁸⁹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 10, 18 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁹⁰ T. 27 February 2006 p. 16 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁹¹ T. 28 February 2006 pp. 48-49, 67 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁹² T. 28 February 2006 pp. 63-64 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁷²⁹³ T. 28 February 2006 p. 69 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

3.6.19.4.3 General Overview of Evidence

2601. Considering the amount of evidence summarised above, the Chamber considers it useful to provide a brief overview of the salient issues and points of contention related to the alleged events at the BPO.

2602. The Prosecution presented evidence to support its contention that: from 19 April until late June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers went to the BPO to abduct Tutsi refugees; Tutsi refugees were physically assaulted, raped and sometimes killed; and those refugees who were abducted were taken to their deaths.

2603. The Prosecution presented evidence that the assailants arrived at the BPO on a truck with an open-top rear cargo area (a "pickup truck"), 7294 and that the pickup was camouflaged in mud, cow dung or grease. The assailants were *Interahamwe*, including one named Kazungu and one named Ngoma. 7296

2604. There was evidence that the *Interahamwe* were armed with machetes, knives and "Rwandan clubs" and upon arriving at the BPO they beat the Tutsi refugees with these

Likewise, Witness TA, TK, SU, and SD each identified a number of other *Interahamwe*, including one named Ngoma who stayed at the BPO: T. 30 October 2001 p. 24 (Witness TA); T. 31 October 2001 p. 112 (Witness TA) (Witness TA said Ngoma and another person named Ntujenjeke remained at the BPO to oversee the refugees when they were asleep, but assisted the *Interahamwe* during the attacks); T. 22 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK) (Witness TK said she knew the *Interahamwe* who accompanied Shalom well because they stayed with them until she was taken to Rango. She named several as Ribanje, Cyabubare, who usually carried a machete on his belt, Ngoma, who was often armed with a club, and Mbote, who was an ethnic Twa); T. 14 October 2002 p. 63 (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness SU) (Witness SU also identified Ngoma, Ribanza, and Mbote as *Interahamwe* who committed rapes); T. 17 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD) (Witness SD said there were also *Interahamwe* who stayed at the BPO with the refugees, including Ngoma, Mabula, and a *conseiller*).

^{T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA); T. 8 November 2001 p. 146 (Witness QJ); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 53, 55 (Witness QBQ); T. 23 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK); T. 24 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80, 82 (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 pp. 17 (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness SJ); T. 3 June 2002 pp. 125 (Witness SJ); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48 (Witness SS); T. 5 March 2003 pp. 77 (Witness SS).}

⁷²⁹⁵ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 53, 55 (Witness QBQ); T. 24 October 2002 p. 85 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 79-80, 82 (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 11 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 9 (Witness SD); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness SJ); T. 3 June 2002 pp. 125 (Witness SJ); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48 (Witness SS); T. 5 March 2003 pp. 77 (Witness SS); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 31, 39, 52 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 86 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness SU).

Witnesses TK, RE, SS, and QY each identified an *Interahamwe* named Kazungu as accompanying Nyiramasuhuko during the attacks: T. 23 May 2002 pp. 83-85 (Witness TK); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46-47 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49, 58-60 (Witness SS); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 31, 36, 44, 46 (Witness QY). Although there was some disagreement as to whether Kazungu was a soldier or an *Interahamwe*, the evidence was consistent that he wore a uniform, accompanied the other *Interahamwe* and took orders from Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali: T. 23 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK) (Witness TK said he was an *Interahamwe* escort to one of the *préfets*); T. 23 May 2002 pp. 84-85 (Witness TK) (He later wore a military uniform which she thought had been given to him as a reward for the work he had done as an *Interahamwe*); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE) (Witness RE also identified Kazungu as an *Interahamwe*); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 49, 58 (Witness SS) (Witness SS described Kazungu as a soldier); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 31, 36 (Witness QY) (Witness QY said Kazungu was Nyiramasuhuko's bodyguard).

weapons.⁷²⁹⁷ There was evidence that Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe* to force the Tutsi refugees onto the truck. The *Interahamwe* loaded the refugees onto the bed of the truck⁷²⁹⁸ and the refugees were taken away and not seen again.⁷²⁹⁹ The assailants returned to

7297 T. 25 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA) (*Interahamwe* held sticks. Ntahobali held a machete covered in blood and had a hammer on his belt); T. 25 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA); T. 30 October 2001 p. 98 (Witness TA); T. 31 October 2001 pp. 31, 37, 50-51 (Witness TA) (Ntahobali moved through the refugees cutting and slashing people with his machete); T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK) (the *Interahamwe* that arrived in the vehicle carried weapons such as machetes, clubs and daggers); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20-21 (Witness SJ) (Ntahobali was accompanied by at least 10 Interahamwe who were armed. The Interahamwe carried machetes and clubs, known as ntapongano, and knives. Shalom carried a firearm and had a knife attached to his belt); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32, 43 (Witness SU) (the *Interahamwe* at the BPO were armed with machetes, grenades, and knives); T. 5 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS) (The Interahamwe carried clubs, machetes and axes and wore civilian clothes); T. 11 March 2003 p. 50 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 56 (Witness FAP) (the *Interahamwe* were armed with traditional weapons); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 75-76 (Witness TK) (Interahamwe attacked the group of refugees and chose people to be taken away to be killed. *Interahamwe* started stripping people lying on the ground); T. 22 May 2002 p. 130 (Witness TK) (Ntahobali hit Tutsi refugees and encouraged others to do the same); T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ) (refugees were beaten and attacked with machetes); T. 14 October 2002 p. 40 (Witness SU) (those that resisted had their throats cut); T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE) (they started waking people and beating them up); T. 3 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SS) (while some refugees were loaded on to the pickup, the soldiers and Interahamwe attacked them with weapons); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 62 (Witness QBQ) (the *Interghamwe* immediately attacked the people on the veranda and took them away by pulling them by their noses. The Interahamwe used a club to hit one woman who refused to comply; she died in front of the vehicle).

⁷²⁹⁸ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 28, 40-42 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 48 (Witness TA); T. 31 October 2001 p. 54 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness TA); T. 7 November 2001 pp. 148-149 (Witness TA) (Nyiramasuhuko was standing in the courtyard of the BPO pointing out Tutsi refugees to the *Interahamwe*, saying as she pointed, "This is another one, and another one and another one, and why are you leaving that one?"); T. 25 October 2001 p. 46 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 p. 46 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness TA) (those Tutsis were beaten up and forced onto the pickup); T. 6 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness TA); T. 8 November 2001 p. 43 (Witness TA) (she pointed at three refugees who had been cut up and ordered that they be loaded onto the vehicle); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 49-51 (Witness TA) (Shalom ordered the Interahamwe to stop killing refugees, as the number of dead people were in excess as to what could be loaded in the vehicle); T. 20 May 2002 p. 89 (Witness TK) (Shalom and some of the *Interahamwe* exclaimed that nobody should be spared or treated leniently); T. 20 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK) (Shalom told the Interahamwe to do their work seriously); T. 20 May 2002 p. 87 (Witness TK); T. 23 May 2002 p. 37 (Witness TK) (the Interahamwe loaded other refugees into the truck with Mbasha's wife and her children); T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ) (they were thrown into the vehicle by the Interahamwe); T. 29 May 2002 p. 45 (Witness SJ) (the refugees were jammed into the back and some were standing); T. 29 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness SJ) (the people loaded into the vehicle never returned); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 p. 76 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko said, "Start from this side where the refugees are lying. Take men and women and load them aboard the vehicle"); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53, 57, 64 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko told them to load people onto the vehicle); T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85, 88, 97-98 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 p. 80 (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 pp. 10, 12 (Witness QBP) (the soldiers and Interahamwe started dragging some refugee women to the back of the BPO and loaded other refugees aboard a double-cabin Toyota pickup that had accompanied Nyiramasuhuko's vehicle to the BPO); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY) (Shalom and Interahamwe alighted from the vehicle to select young men and force them to board the vehicle); T. 19 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness QY) (this was done in the process of loading people to take them to their home communes and préfectures); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63 (Witness QBQ) (the Interahamwe, Nyiramasuhuko, and Shalom, subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped into a ditch there).

T. 29 May 2002 pp. 46-47 (Witness SJ) (one of the two survivors, a woman named Annonciata said that people had been taken to a place called Kabutare where they were beaten and thrown into a hole, sometimes alive); T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU) (during that night people were loaded on the Hilux and killed. None of them came back); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 21-22 (Witness RE) (the *Interahamwe* asked the awoken refugees to remove their clothes and took them in their vehicles to a place named Rwabayanga. A young man named Semanyenzi and a young woman named Annonciata who had been taken to Rwabayanga, managed to

the BPO on numerous occasions between 19 April 1994 and the end of June 1994, attacking the refugees and forcibly removing them. ⁷³⁰⁰

2605. The Prosecution also presented evidence that during the attacks, Nyiramasuhuko ordered that Tutsi women and girls be raped. Upon hearing these orders, Shalom and *Interahamwe* raped women at the BPO. 7302

escape and told to the refugees that people led there had been killed with clubs and machetes); T. 11 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SS) (Semanyenzi said they had been taken to the IRST and thrown into a pit and that he was lucky to have escaped); T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD) (other people were taken away and never seen again); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22, 24-25 (Witness QY) (the truck travelled towards the road leading to Rwabayanga, taking the occupants to their death); T. 19 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness QY) (after the war, a pit was discovered at Rwabayanga into which bodies had been placed); T. 19 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness QY); T. 24 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness QY) (none of the refugees taken to Rwabayanga came back to the BPO); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63 (Witness QBQ) (the *Interahamwe*, Nyiramasuhuko, and Shalom, subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped into a ditch there).

7300 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness TK) (the truck left behind certain *Interahamwe* to select those who were to be loaded on the next trip. The truck returned another two times that night and loaded more refugees who were then quickly taken away); T. 29 May 2002 p. 57 (Witness SJ) (that same night, approximately 30 minutes after the vehicle had left, the vehicle came back with Shalom and the *Interahamwe*); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 53, 55 (Witness SJ) (other refugees were beaten and taken away on board the vehicle); T. 14 October 2002 p. 42 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness SU) (around 11.00 p.m. that same night, Nyiramasuhuko, her driver, her guard, and some Interahamwe returned in the same vehicle); T. 3 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness SS); T. 4 March 2003 p. 3 (Witness SS) (in the course of that night, Witness SS saw Nyiramasuhuko three times); T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS) (Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko returned to the BPO in the same vehicle, with the driver, soldiers and *Interahamwe* on two more occasions); T. 12 March 2003 pp. 13, 16 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP) (the vehicle arrived three times the same evening, each time with Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and her son Shalom Ntahobali, and each time taking away many refugees who never returned); T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP) (the three times the witness saw Nyiramasuhuko on that evening were the only times that she saw Nyiramasuhuko during her stay at the BPO); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness OBO) (the vehicle came back, again driven by Shalom, after having unloaded their cargo and then took other people away to Kumukoni); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22, 89 (Witness QBQ) (the assailants woke up Witness QBQ and set her aside to be taken aboard the vehicle; however she managed to escape when she went to see her mistress' crying baby and laid down beside him); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46, 48 (Witness RE) (Witness RE testified that before she was transferred to Rango, she saw Nyiramasuhuko, Shalom and Interahamwe, including one named Kazungu, come to the BPO three times in one

To 14 October 2002 pp. 53-54, 57, 68 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko ordered that the refugee women be raped because they refused to marry Hutus and then to be loaded onto the Hilux to be killed); T. 24 October 2002 p. 85 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 81, 88, 99 (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBP) (Nyiramasuhuko told the soldiers and *Interahamwe* that "there's still a lot of dirt at the *préfecture*, such as these Tutsi women, who previously were arrogant and did not want to marry Hutu men. Now it's up to you to do whatever you want with them"); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 52, 54 (Witness SS); T. 5 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SS) (Nyiramasuhuko told the *Interahamwe* and soldiers who were carrying weapons to "start from one side and take the young girls and women and go and rape them because they refused to marry you."); T. 11 March 2003 p. 54 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness FAP) (Nyiramasuhuko stood by the vehicle and told the *Interahamwe* to take the young girls and the women who are not old, to rape them before killing them because they had refused to marry Hutus); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 12, 61 (Witness QBQ) (Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe*, "[r]ape the women and the girls and kill the rest.").

⁷³⁰² T. 25 October 2001 pp. 48, 52, 55-56, 67, 69, 71, 75-77, 79 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 10-11 (Witness TA); T. 31 October 2001 pp. 55, 58-59, 72-73, 93-97, 101, 105, 111 (Witness TA); T. 1 November 2001 pp. 40 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 pp. 9, 12-13, 47-48 (Witness TA); T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK); T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 60-63, 65-66 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 pp. 107-108

2606. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence presented evidence that she was not in Butare town much of the time period from 19 April until late June 1994 and that when she was in Butare town she spent evenings at Hotel Ihuliro ().

2607. The Ntahobali Defence presented evidence that Ntahobali was not in Butare during portions of the time period from 19 April until late June 1994 (). He presented evidence that he did not know how to drive a vehicle and that when he was in Butare town he did not leave Hotel Ihuliro during the evenings or at night.⁷³⁰³

2608. The Chamber now examines the specific allegations chronologically to determine whether the allegations were proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.19.4.4 28 April 1994 – Abduction of 30 Tutsi Refugees

2609. Witness QCB testified that he went to the BPO on 28 April 1994 at about 9.00 a.m. ⁷³⁰⁴ Ntahobali arrived at the BPO in a Peugeot 505 accompanied by *Interahamwe*. ⁷³⁰⁵ A Daihatsu, driven by Désiré, the son of Munyagaseheke also arrived with Shalom. ⁷³⁰⁶ The *Interahamwe* forced about 30 Tutsi refugees who were staying at the BPO to board the Daihatsu at gunpoint as Shalom watched, after which Shalom told the driver, "[1]et's go." Witness QCB testified that Shalom was in charge because he was the one issuing orders. ⁷³⁰⁸ He added that Nsabimana watched from his own vehicle as the Daihatsu was loaded about 10 steps away. ⁷³⁰⁹ The Daihatsu and Peugeot left towards the *Groupe Scolaire*, after which Nsabimana's vehicle then left in the direction of the *Quartier Arabe*. ⁷³¹⁰ About 25 minutes later, Witness QCB stood at the *Chez* Bihira roadblock. Some people who had passed by the *Groupe Scolaire* told him that Shalom and the *Interahamwe* were in the process of killing the Tutsis who had been loaded into Munyagaseheke's vehicle. ⁷³¹¹

2610. Witness QCB testified that he met Ntahobali a long time prior to the events when he visited Ntahobali's home with the driver of Ntahobali's father. 7312

2611. The Chamber recalls that Witness QCB was a detained witness and therefore exercises appropriate caution in evaluating his credibility. At the time of his testimony he had confessed to participating in the killings at Kabakobwa during April 1994.⁷³¹³ Witness QCB was not

⁽ICS) (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 p. 19 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS); T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24, 27 (Witness QY); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness QBQ); T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

⁷³⁰³ T. 21 June 2006 p. 69 (Ntahobali); T. 22 June 2006 pp. 42-43 (Ntahobali); T. 22 June 2006 pp. 45, 47 (ICS) (Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 pp. 15, 35-36 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 12 October 2005 p. 19 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 10 February 2005 p. 12 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 2 June 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

⁷³⁰⁴ T. 21 March 2002 p. 50 (Witness QCB).

⁷³⁰⁵ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 52, 54 (Witness QCB).

⁷³⁰⁶ T. 21 March 2002 p. 52 (Witness QCB).

⁷³⁰⁷ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 54-55; T. 27 March 2002 p. 53 (Witness QCB).

⁷³⁰⁸ T. 21 March 2002 p. 55 (Witness QCB).

⁷³⁰⁹ T. 21 March 2002 pp. 55, 65 (Witness QCB).

⁷³¹⁰ T. 21 March 2002 p. 64; T. 21 March 2002 p. 72 (Witness QCB) (French) (for spelling of "Quartier Arabe").

⁷³¹¹ T. 21 March 2002 p. 67; T. 27 March 2002 p. 52 (Witness QCB).

⁷³¹² T. 25 March 2002 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁷³¹³ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 36-37; T. 27 March 2002 p. 161 (Witness QCB).

implicated by any witness, and had not confessed to any involvement in abductions and killings at the BPO. It was not established that he had an incentive to displace blame to Ntahobali and Nsabimana. The Chamber is aware that it may rely upon a single witness' uncorroborated evidence for proof of a material fact, however, in this instance the Chamber is not satisfied, in the absence of corroboration, that Witness QCB's evidence is sufficiently reliable to base a finding of fact beyond a reasonable doubt. While the Chamber accepts that attacks at the BPO began at the end of April, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali abducted 30 Tutsi refugees from the BPO on 28 April 1994.

3.6.19.4.5 End of April or Early May 1994 – Witness QY

- 2612. Witness QY testified that she observed three to four consecutive nights during which Shalom, Nyiramasuhuko and *Interahamwe* attacked the Tutsi refugees at the BPO.⁷³¹⁴
- 2613. At the end of April or early May 1994, when she first arrived at the BPO, Witness QY saw Shalom come to the BPO in a Daihatsu, accompanied by about 10 *Interahamwe*, who carried traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs. The Daihatsu did not have a back frame, and was covered with mud, making it difficult to discern the vehicle's colour. Shalom and *Interahamwe* alighted from the vehicle to select young men and force them to board the vehicle. They took girls by force to rape them behind the BPO where there was a house or in the surrounding woods.
- 2614. She later testified that young women were also forced onto the vehicle. When the witness was confronted with her statement of 15 January 1997 in which she described those who were forced on the vehicle as "intellectuals", she maintained that the prior statement was consistent with her testimony as the intellectuals could have been among the men and women selected.⁷³¹⁹ The Chamber considers this a minor discrepancy.
- 2615. Witness QY said that she was able to identify Shalom because she had seen him previously at the Butare hospital and she was about seven metres away from him. However, the reliability of this identification was brought into question due to Witness QY's inability to recognise locations at the BPO. She was unable to locate within Prosecution Exhibits 23(c) *ter* or 23(d) (Photographs of the BPO) where the Daihatsu had parked, but said it was difficult to locate on the photographs because at that time there was a lawn and people around the BPO, unlike in the photographs.

⁷³¹⁴ T. 19 March 2003 p. 27 (Witness QY).

⁷³¹⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 24; T. 20 March 2003 pp. 41-42 (Witness QY).

⁷³¹⁶ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness QY).

⁷³¹⁷ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).

⁷³¹⁸ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 24, 27 (Witness QY).

⁷³¹⁹ T. 20 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 112 (Nyiramasuhuko) (15 January 1997, Statement of Witness QY).

⁷³²⁰ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 25-26 (Witness QY).

⁷³²¹ T. 20 March 2003 p. 66; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness QY).

2616. In addition, Witness QY was not able to locate within Prosecution Exhibit 27 (Video of BPO, EER and Ruins of Nyiramasuhuko's House) the plot of the BPO complex. She explained that she was young at the time and that even now she has difficulty looking at the BPO when she passes it because of the events that occurred there. Although Witness QY recognised the video of the veranda where she slept at the BPO, the inability to recognise the BPO complex where these events allegedly occurred call into question the reliability of her identification of Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko.

2617. Witness QY said on her second night at the BPO, she saw Shalom, Nyiramasuhuko, her bodyguard, Kazungu and *Interahamwe* arrive in the same vehicle. Although there were no lights, the *Interahamwe* carried torches and flashed them in the direction of the refugees. They stopped and forced people to board the vehicle. Although she claimed to have hid during the attack, she explained that she identified the assailants because she was hiding among the many refugees who were staying at the BPO.

2618. The vehicle returned several times that evening with about a two hour interval between trips, and each time it returned the same thing was done. Again, the vehicle set off towards Rwabayanga, although she did not know which direction the vehicle turned to go to Rwabayanga. The vehicle came back a third time that same night to collect more refugees.

2619. This particular night of three attacks bore many similarities to the events described by Witnesses SS, SU and TK at the BPO. However, the latter witnesses said that a night of three attacks took place at the end of May or early June 1994. Witness QY clearly stated that this event occurred on her second night at the BPO⁷³³⁵ which was in late April or early May, almost one month earlier. Therefore, according to her testimony she was talking about a different night of attacks.

2620. Witness QY testified that the third day at the BPO, Shalom drove the vehicle back again. She initially said that Nyiramasuhuko was not present during this trip, this trip, that later said Shalom, Nyiramasuhuko, Kazungu and *Interahamwe* were in the vehicle on the third

⁷³²² T. 24 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness QY); Prosecution Exhibit 27 (Video of BPO, EER and Ruins of Nyiramasuhuko's House) at 16:21.

⁷³²³ T. 24 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁴ T. 24 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁵ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 27, 31; T. 24 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁶ T. 24 March 2003 p. 30; T. 25 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁷ T. 19 March 2003 p. 41; T. 24 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 31 (Witness QY).

⁷³²⁹ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 5-6, 12-13 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁰ T. 24 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness QY).

⁷³³¹ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33, 40; T. 20 March 2003 p. 44; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).

⁷³³² T. 19 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness QY).

⁷³³³ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁴ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 27 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁶ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 41-42 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁷ T. 19 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness QY).

night. 7338 She then corrected herself again, stating that on the fourth night Nyiramasuhuko was not present. 7339 The identification of Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO on the third or fourth nights cannot be considered reliable based upon Witness OY's uncertainty as to when Nyiramasuhuko was present. Witness SD provided some corroboration, testifying that during her stay at the BPO Nyiramasuhuko arrived each night on a vehicle covered with mud to fetch people. 7340 However, Witness SD's testimony was devoid of any specific details.

- 2621. Moreover, Witness QY's credibility was brought into serious question based upon inconsistencies with prior statements and her admission that she had lied to the Chamber as to knowing other Prosecution witnesses. 7341
- 2622. In particular, the Chamber notes that Witness QY contradicted a significant portion of her statement of 24 July 2000, stating everything that was said about a purported trip to Kibeho was not true. 7342 She said the prior statement did not recite the events as she had described them. 7343 That statement provided that Witness QY was at a friend's house in Kibeho, in Gikongoro préfecture when the President died. Witness QY denied that statement and replied that her sister came from Kigali some days after the President died and they went to Kibeho together. They returned to Butare the same day. She stated that she did not recognise what was said in the 24 July 2000 statement and that she did not spend the night in Kibeho. 7346 Therefore, she rejected a large portion of her prior statement as untrue.
- 2623. When recalled to testify three years later, Witness QY was asked about her testimony in the Muvunvi trial in which she stated that she had never gone to Kibeho; the witness said that what happened in Kibeho did not concern what happened in Butare. 7347
- 2624. In view of her testimony that the Daihatsu truck was filled on each trip with refugees, she was asked about her statement of 18 September 1997 in which she stated, two or three people were taken away to be killed on the second day at the BPO. She testified that she had never stated anything of the sort. 7348
- 2625. In addition to these contradictions, Witness QY admitted that she had lied to the Chamber regarding her knowledge of other Prosecution witnesses. On recall in 2009, Witness QY stated that during her previous appearance before the Chamber in 2003, she denied knowing Witnesses QBQ and SJ at the direction of a Prosecution representative and

⁷³³⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 44 (Witness QY).

⁷³³⁹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴⁰ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD).

⁷³⁴¹ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴² T. 24 March 2003 pp. 71-73 (ICS); T. 25 March 2003 p. 42 (ICS); T. 10 April 2006 pp. 12-13, 16 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴³ T. 25 March 2003 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴⁴ T. 19 March 2003 p. 7; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴⁵ T. 24 March 2003 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁴⁶ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 73, 75 (ICS) (Witness QY).
7347 T. 10 April 2006 pp. 20-29 (ICS) (Witness QY).

T. 24 March 2003 p. 25 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 113 (Nyiramasuhuko) (18 September 1997, Statement of Witness OY).

interpreter. 7349 She also testified that she had previously denied knowing Witness TK because she only knew that witness' nickname and not her proper name. 7350

2626. Given the discrepancies in her testimony regarding these events, the unreliable nature of her identification evidence, and her admission that she had lied about knowing Witnesses QBQ and SJ, the Chamber finds Witness QY's testimony regarding alleged events at the BPO between late April or early May 1994 were not proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.19.4.6 Mid- to End of May 1994 – Rape and Abduction of Refugees by Ntahobali, Nviramasuhuko, Interahamwe and Soldiers

2627. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber notes it is not disputed that there were a large number of refugees at the BPO compound between April and June 1994. These people consisted mainly of women and children in poor physical condition; many of them had visible skin ailments and were malnourished. 7351 The Chamber recalls the testimony of Alexandre Bararwandika, a doctor working for the Belgian Red Cross, who described the persons around the BPO as ill, emaciated and wearing torn clothing. 7352 Witness TQ described the conditions at the BPO as very poor, noted the refugees wore torn, smelling clothes and were apparently abandoned. 7353 The Chamber notes that the evidence was clear and consistent that these people had fled other *communes* and *préfectures* to escape violence and the threat of death. ⁷³⁵⁴ The Chamber also notes that all of the Prosecution witnesses who testified as to their experiences at the BPO were Tutsis. 7355

2628. Witness TA testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko during one night in mid-May 1994.⁷³⁵⁶ Nyiramasuhuko was accompanied by 10 *Interahamwe*, including her son, Shalom.⁷³⁵⁷ This was the first time Witness TA saw Shalom.⁷³⁵⁸ Nyiramasuhuko and Shalom arrived together in the same Hilux pickup and told the *Interahamwe* who should be forced to

⁷³⁴⁹ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 41, 45-46, 49-52 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁵⁰ T. 23 February 2009 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness QY).

⁷³⁵¹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 95 (Witness TA); T. 28 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ); T. 11 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness FAP); T. 6 September 2004 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness TO); T. 3 July 2006 p. 43 (Bararwandika); T. 4 July 2006 p. 71 (Bararwandika).

⁷³⁵² T. 4 July 2006 p. 71 (Bararwandika).

⁷³⁵³ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁷³⁵⁴ See, e.g., T. 29 October 2001 pp. 90, 109-110 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 p. 79 (Witness TA) (Witness TA testified that her parents had been killed and she therefore fled her home commune to seek refuge at the BPO); T. 23 May 2002 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness TK) (Witness TK fled from Gikongoro to Butare); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 9, 11 (Witness SU); T. 21 October 2002 pp. 65, 88-89 (ICS) (Witness SU) (There was trouble in her home commune and Witness SU's husband and five children were killed. She was also injured and fled her native commune to seek assistance from the authorities at the BPO); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 9, 43 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 3-4 (Witness RE) (Witness RE also fled her native *préfecture* of Gikongoro).

⁷³⁵⁵ T. 24 October 2001 p. 93 (Witness TA); T. 20 May 2002 p. 26 (Witness TK); T. 28 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness SJ); T. 24 October 2002 p. 78 (Witness QBP); T. 11 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness FAP); Prosecution Exhibit 64 (Personal Particulars) (for Witness RE); Prosecution Exhibit 67 (Personal Particulars) (for Witness SD); Prosecution Exhibit 71 (Personal Particulars) (for Witness QBQ); T. 14 October 2002 p. 7 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SU) (Witness SU's father was Tutsi and mother was Hutu but she selfidentified as a Tutsi); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness SS); T. 3 March 2003 p. 21 (Witness SS) (Witness SS' father was Tutsi and mother was Hutu but she self-identified as a Tutsi). ⁷³⁵⁶ T. 25 October 2001 p. 29; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 51-52 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁵⁷ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 29, 33, 36; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 41, 43 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁵⁸ T. 30 October 2001 p. 96; T. 31 October 2001 p. 36; T. 6 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness TA).

board the bed of the pickup.⁷³⁵⁹ Nyiramasuhuko wore a *kitenge* cloth.⁷³⁶⁰ The truck's lights were illuminated.⁷³⁶¹ Nyiramasuhuko was standing in the courtyard of the BPO pointing out Tutsi refugees to the *Interahamwe*, saying as she pointed, "[t]his is another one, and another one and another one, and why are you leaving that one?"⁷³⁶² Those Tutsis were refugees.⁷³⁶³ Witness TA testified that those Tutsis were beaten up and forced onto the pickup.⁷³⁶⁴ Nyiramasuhuko pointed at three refugees who had been cut up and ordered that they be loaded onto the vehicle.⁷³⁶⁵ Shalom ordered the *Interahamwe* to stop killing refugees, as the number of dead people was in excess as to what could be loaded in the vehicle.⁷³⁶⁶

2629. Witness TA described Nyiramasuhuko's clothing and quoted her as ordering the *Interahamwe* to attack certain individuals. Therefore, Witness TA was close enough to hear what Nyiramasuhuko was saying and identified her as the mother of Shalom. For these reasons, the Chamber finds this identification to be reliable.

2630. Witness TA said Shalom and other *Interahamwe* raped her. Nyiramasuhuko and her son arrived together in the same Hilux pickup and indicated to the *Interahamwe* who to force to board the bed of the pickup. Shalom was wearing trousers and a shirt made of *kitenge*. Over the course of the events, Witness TA saw Shalom on more than eight occasions at the BPO. Tate Further, she stated that Shalom raped her on two occasions and took her by the arm to *Interahamwe* in order to be raped on multiple occasions. Therefore, Witness TA had numerous opportunities to view Shalom up close. Although the attacks at the BPO occurred at night, Witness TA stated there was moonlight behind the BPO on several of those occasions. In addition, there was occasionally some public lighting from the lamp posts that reached the area from the other side of the road near *Chez* Venant. Witness TA did not describe the truck as being camouflaged. However, she was never questioned on this issue. In addition, Witness FAP testified that Shalom came in a black camouflage-coloured vehicle. The Chamber considers these to be minor discrepancies. Of particular importance, Witness TA testified that she observed Shalom leading an *Interahamwe* training exercise one morning in June 1994. Therefore, she saw Shalom during broad daylight.

⁷³⁵⁹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁰ T. 25 October 2001 p. 40 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶¹ T. 8 November 2001 p. 13 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶² T. 25 October 2001 pp. 28, 40-42; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 48; T. 31 October 2001 p. 54; T. 6 November 2001 p. 56; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 148-149 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶³ T. 3 July 2006 p. 43; T. 4 July 2006 p. 71 (Bararwandika).

⁷³⁶⁴ T. 25 October 2001 p. 46; T. 29 October 2001 p. 46; T. 6 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁵ T. 29 October 2001 p. 48; T. 6 November 2001 p. 56; T. 8 November 2001 p. 43 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁶ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 49-51 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁷ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁸ T. 31 October 2001 p. 36 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁶⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 102; T. 25 October 2001 p. 75 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷⁰ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 52, 56, 67, 69, 75-77, 79; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 8, 10-11; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 55-59, 72-73, 93-97, 105, 111; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 39-40; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 9, 12-13, 47-48 (Witness TA)

⁷³⁷¹T. 30 October 2001 p. 109; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 12, 68, 90-91, 107 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷² T. 30 October 2001 p. 109; T. 8 November 2001 pp. 12-13 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷³ T. 11 March 2003 p. 48; T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP).

⁷³⁷⁴ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 29-30, 32, 40-41 (Witness TA).

- 2631. Witness TA provided substantial detail regarding the events of the rape. She stated that Shalom moved through the refugees cutting and slashing people with his machete. She said that when Shalom got to where she was, he took her by the hand and hit her with his machete on the arm and hand. She said Shalom picked her up from the ground and pulled her towards the ORINFOR, behind the BPO buildings. Shalom removed Witness TA's clothes saying he would kill her if she refused. He removed her underwear, laid her on the ground and raped her. Then he invited some eight other *Interahamwe* to rape her, including one named Ngoma. Ngoma remained at the BPO to oversee the refugees when they were asleep, but assisted the *Interahamwe* during the attacks. One of the *Interahamwe* that raped her put his machete on her leg, telling her that if she moved he would kill her.
- 2632. While being raped, Witness TA saw two other women nearby who were also being raped by the *Interahamwe*. Nsabimana provided a statement to Des Forges which was consistent with Witness TA's testimony, remarking to Des Forges that during this time, soldiers and others were coming to take away women to rape them and other people were being selected to be killed. 7384
- 2633. Witness TA was not acquainted with Shalom prior to encountering him at the BPO. She only knew Ntahobali's given name, Shalom. However, this does not detract from the reliability of her identification. She learned of the familial relationship between Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali from other refugees. She did not merely identify the Accused as "Shalom," as suggested by the Ntahobali Defence. She identified him as Shalom, the son of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, who was the Minister of Women's Affairs. The Chamber is convinced that Witness TA was referring to Shalom Ntahobali throughout her testimony when she referred to "Shalom."
- 2634. Witness TA also stated that the *Interahamwe* arriving on the Toyota Hilux were holding sticks, while Ntahobali was holding a machete covered in blood and had a hammer on his belt.⁷³⁸⁸ Witnesses TK, RE, FAP, QY and QBQ corroborated the fact that the *Interahamwe* arriving with Ntahobali at the BPO were carrying traditional weapons such as machetes, clubs and knives.⁷³⁸⁹

⁷³⁷⁵ T. 25 October 2001 p. 47; T. 30 October 2001 p. 98; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 31, 37, 50-51 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷⁶ T. 25 October 2001 p. 46; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 33-35, 52 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷⁷ T. 25 October 2001 p. 48; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 53, 55; T. 6 November 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷⁸ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 48, 52, 55; T. 31 October 2001 p. 55 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁷⁹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 52; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 55-59; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 47-48 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁰ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 52, 56; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 72-73 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸¹ T. 31 October 2001 p. 112 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸² T. 25 October 2001 p. 55 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸³ T. 25 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁴ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

⁷³⁸⁵ T. 29 October 2001 p. 45 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁶ T. 29 October 2001 p. 45 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁷ T. 24 October 2001 pp. 97-98; T. 29 October 2001 p. 45 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁸ T. 25 October 2001 p. 47 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁸⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK) (*Interahamwe* carried machetes, clubs and daggers); T. 29 May 2002 p. 21 (Witness SJ) (*Interahamwe* were well armed and carried machetes, clubs with nails in them, known as *ntapongano*, and knives); T. 11 March 2003 p. 50 (Witness FAP) (*Interahamwe* were carrying traditional

- 2635. The Chamber recalls some apparent inconsistencies in the testimony of Witness TA in relation to her prior statement. Witness TA stated in testimony that she had not been raped anally. The Chamber considers that based upon the obvious intensity of experiencing multiple gang rapes at the hands of *Interahamwe*, this discrepancy is understandable and does not adversely affect the Chamber's credibility assessment of the witness.
- 2636. Witness TA was very precise in her testimony that on two occasions, there were eight *Interahamwe* who arrived at the BPO with Ntahobali. 7392 She later testified that she could not recall the number of *Interahamwe* accompanying Ntahobali on the fifth and sixth occasions he came to the BPO. 7393 The Chamber accepts that it would have been difficult to count and remember the exact number of assailants at the BPO on each night. Therefore, the Chamber finds her estimate of eight *Interahamwe* on two occasions to be credible.
- 2637. Witness TA testified that she reported to the authorities in her home *préfecture* that she had been raped by other assailants but did not report the rape by Shalom because he had fled and was out of the country. 7394 Considering the trauma and potential shame associated with these events, the Chamber also accepts this testimony.
- 2638. The Chamber notes that it may accept hearsay as the basis of knowing Ntahobali's identity. 7395 In addition, the Chamber finds Witness TA's identification of Ntahobali during this event reliable for the following reasons: (1) at times, there was some public lighting from lamp posts that reached the area from the other side of the road; (2) there was moonlight behind the BPO where Witness TA said she was raped by Ntahobali; (3) Interahamwe used torches to search through the refugees; and (4) Witness TA provided significant details as to what Ntahobali was carrying, stated what he was wearing, and Ntahobali was in close proximity to Witness TA when he grabbed her hand and raped her. Further, she had also previously seen him in daylight.
- 2639. Defence Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE testified that Witness TA could not have been at the BPO during this time period. Witness TA testified that her father died in 1987 and she was therefore living in the home of her uncle when the uncle's home was attacked. She

weapons: bludgeons, small hoes, knives and machetes); T. 19 March 2003 p. 24 (Witness QY) (Interahamwe carried traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs and other weapons); T. 3 February 2004 p. 20 (Witness QBQ) (Interahamwe used clubs to attack); T. 3 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SS) (they had traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs); T. 5 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS) (Interahamwe carried clubs, machetes and axes and wore civilian clothes); T. 14 October 2002 p. 43 (Witness SU) (*Interahamwe* were armed with machetes, grenades and knives). 7390 T. 6 November p. 55 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁹¹ Defence Exhibit 7B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001

p. 53 (Witness TA).

7392 T. 25 October 2001 pp. 76-77; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 106-107 (Witness TA) (as to the first occasion); T. 29 October 2001 p. 7; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 36-37 (Witness TA) (as to the second occasion).

⁷³⁹³ T. 1 November 2001 pp. 42, 50-51 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁹⁴ T. 31 October 2001 pp. 74-75; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 64, 66 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁹⁵ See Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC), paras. 232-241.

said that she was then forced to move in with her elder sister.⁷³⁹⁶ Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE testified that Witness TA was living in her parents' home when it was attacked and she was forced to seek refuge in the house of an uncle. However, they named a different person whom they said was her uncle and said she was serving alcoholic drinks at his home.⁷³⁹⁷ The Chamber is not convinced that after having narrowly escaped death at the home of her uncle, a fact agreed to by Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE, Witness TA would present herself at a drinking establishment at night during the events of April to July 1994.

2640. Witness WUNJN also admitted that he confused Witnesses QBP and TA in answering a question as to where Witness QBP had lived. This renders in doubt the reliability of his memory concerning the crucial issue of Witness TA's location from April to July 1994. In addition, Witness WUNJN's claim that no Tutsis were killed in his *secteur* during the April to July 1994 events is not believable in light of the fact that killing was widespread throughout Butare *préfecture*. In fact, Witness AND-30 who lived in the same *secteur* as Witness WUNJN contradicted Witness WUNJN on this point, stating there were killings and the destruction of homes in the *secteur* from late April to mid-May 1994. Witness WUNJN claimed to have two different family names, one which was on his prior statements and identification card, and a different family name on his travel documents. Although he explained that he responded to both names, the witness' failure to earlier correct the inaccuracies or incomplete information on his identification sheet further undermines his credibility. For all of these reasons, the Chamber does not find Witness WUNJN to be credible.

2641. Witness WUNHE testified that he saw Witness TA in April and towards the end of May 1994, but did not speak with her. He acknowledged watching the destruction of her family's home, hut he did not see her after sometime towards the end of May 1994. Witness WUNHE, who lived in the same *secteur* as Witnesses WUNJN and AND-30, likewise claimed that he never saw any killing of Tutsis in his *secteur* – although he had heard of it and admitted there was insecurity in his home *secteur*. The Chamber notes that it was never put to Witness TA that the person named by Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE was her uncle. The Chamber does not consider that Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE's testimony undermines the credibility of Witness TA.

2642. In addition, Witness WMCZ testified that Witness TA was hiding at Witness WMCZ's cousin's house between early May and late June 1994. The Chamber notes that Witness

⁷³⁹⁶ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 109-110; T. 30 October 2001 pp. 57-58, 68-69, 73-74 (ICS); T. 1 November 2001 p. 10 (ICS); T. 6 November 2001 p. 81 (Witness TA).

⁷³⁹⁷ T. 6 February 2006 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN); T. 7 February 2006 pp. 21, 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN); T. 8 December 2005 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁷³⁹⁸ T. 7 February 2006 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁷³⁹⁹ T. 6 February 2006 p. 41 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁷⁴⁰⁰ T. 21 February 2007 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness AND-30); T. 6 February 2006 pp. 9-11 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁷⁴⁰¹ T. 22 February 2007 pp. 5, 57 (Witness AND-30).

⁷⁴⁰² T. 30 January 2006 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 7 February 2006 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁷⁴⁰³ T. 8 December 2005 p. 69 (ICS); T. 12 December 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁷⁴⁰⁴ T. 12 December 2005 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁷⁴⁰⁵ T. 8 December 2005 pp. 69-70 (ICS); T. 12 December 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁷⁴⁰⁶ T. 12 December 2005 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness WUNHE).

⁷⁴⁰⁷ T. 2 February 2005 pp. 38, 46; see T. 2 February 2005 p. 54 (Witness WMCZ) (French).

WMCZ did not see Witness TA during this time period and his knowledge was based upon hearsay. Further, this hearsay was uncorroborated as Witness WMCZ's cousin was not the same person in whose home Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHE suggested Witness TA had sheltered between April and the end of May 1994. Moreover, during Witness TA's cross-examination, it was never put to her that she was not at the BPO when she had claimed to be there. Therefore, the Chamber does not consider Witness WMCZ's testimony to undermine Witness TA's credibility as to her experiences at the BPO.

2643. The Chamber recalls its analysis of the Accused's alibis for mid-May 1994. The Chamber found that even if true, Nyiramasuhuko's assertion that she was in Murambi until 1 June 1994 for government meetings does not raise a reasonable doubt as to Nyiramasuhuko's presence in Butare due to the relatively close proximity of Murambi to Butare. Furthermore, Nyiramasuhuko admitted to being present in Butare on 14 to 16 May 1994. She claimed to be bed-ridden with malaria, although the Chamber did not find her credible in this respect. Ntahobali's alibi for this time period was that he stayed at Hotel Ihuliro operating the generator at Hotel Ihuliro. The Chamber did not find this alibi to be credible. Therefore, neither alibi raises a reasonable doubt as to the culpability of the Accused for crimes at the BPO around mid-May 1994.

2644. The Chamber finds the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt through the testimony of Witness TA that one night in mid-May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and about 10 *Interahamwe* came to the BPO aboard a camouflaged pickup. Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe* to force Tutsi refugees onto the pickup. Ntahobali and about eight other *Interahamwe* raped Witness TA. Some of the *Interahamwe* raped two other Tutsi women. The pickup left the BPO, abducting Tutsi refugees in the process, some of whom were forced to undress as alleged in Paragraphs 6.30 and 6.31 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

3.6.19.4.6.1 Attacks 7 and 11 Days Later

2645. In addition to the above incident, Witness TA testified that seven days after the first attack, which corresponds with the third week of May 1994, the *Interahamwe* arrived at the BPO in the same vehicle and started beating, cutting with machetes and killing people. The Ntahobali woke up Witness TA, dragged and pushed her behind the BPO and raped her. He hit her with a hammer, causing her head to swell. By this time, Witness TA had previously seen Ntahobali. Furthermore, she was close enough to Ntahobali to identify him as they were in direct contact.

2646. Witness TA was confronted with a prior statement in which she said she was in view of the other refugees when she was raped on this occasion. She maintained in her testimony that she was taken behind the BPO.⁷⁴¹² At the same time, the *Interahamwe* took six other women

⁷⁴⁰⁸ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 67-68; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 86-87, 90-91 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴⁰⁹ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 67, 69, 77; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 93-97 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁰ T. 25 October 2001 p. 67; T. 31 October 2001 p. 96; T. 5 November 2001 pp. 129-130 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹¹ *Niyitegeka*, Judgement (AC), paras. 100-101.

⁷⁴¹² T. 5 November 2001 pp. 125-129 (Witness TA); Defence Exhibit 7B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA).

and raped them near her. 7413 She stated that the number of refugees had been reduced by this time due to the daily killings by the *Interahamwe* ⁷⁴¹⁴

2647. Witness TA testified that during one of the rapes, Ntahobali hit her on the face with a hammer. 7415 In a prior statement, she said that Ntahobali only showed her the hammer and did not hit her. She acknowledged in testimony that the prior statement was incorrect and that she did in fact suffer a blow from the hammer. She said that the investigator taking the statement may have misunderstood her and thought that she did not suffer a blow since the injury was minor. 7416 The Chamber considers that this is a minor discrepancy.

2648. Four days later, at night, a group of eight Interahamwe including Shalom arrived in the same vehicle and started beating and cutting up people at the BPO. 7417 Shalom came to the BPO and gave Witness TA to a group of seven *Interahamwe* who dragged her to the same location, removed her clothes and raped her. 7418 He told them to do it quickly so that the *Inkotanyi* would not get to a roadblock first. 7419 While she was being raped, she saw Shalom raping a girl named Caritas who was being raped about five to six metres away from her. 7420 These men were armed with machetes, hammers, clubs, big sticks and Rwandan clubs (clubs with nails in them). 7421 Although the Chamber will not convict Ntahobali for the rape of Caritas, the details of her rape provide circumstantial evidence to support the fact that *Interahamwe* and Ntahobali raped many women, including Witness TA at the BPO.

2649. By this time, Witness TA had already suffered the same treatment at the hands of Ntahobali. Witness TA was again in contact with Ntahobali as he handed her over to a group of *Interahamwe*. Therefore, the Chamber considers this identification to be reliable. 7422

2650. Witness SD corroborated important aspects of each of these attacks. She testified that during her stay at the BPO, each night a vehicle covered with mud would come to fetch people. 7423 Witness SD was told that Shalom, the son of Nyiramasuhuko, drove the vehicle, although she did not see him. 7424 The *Interahamwe* who were present and who took people to vehicles told them that if Shalom were to come he would deliver them to their death. ⁷⁴²⁵ Girls and women were taken away to be raped and other people were taken away and never seen again. 7426

⁷⁴¹³ T. 25 October 2001 p. 71; T. 31 October 2001 p. 101 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁴ T. 31 October 2001 p. 93 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁵ T. 25 October 2001 p. 67; T. 31 October 2001 p. 96; T. 5 November 2001 p. 128 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁶ T. 5 November 2001 pp. 128-130 (Witness TA); Defence Exhibit 7B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁷ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 76-77; T. 31 October 2001 p. 106 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴¹⁸ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 75-76, 79; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 105, 111; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 9, 12-13

⁷⁴¹⁹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 76 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴²⁰ T. 25 October 2001 pp. 81, 83 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴²¹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 78 (Witness TA).

⁷⁴²² Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), paras. 100-101.

⁷⁴²³ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD).

⁷⁴²⁴ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD).

⁷⁴²⁵ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9, 18 (Witness SD).

⁷⁴²⁶ T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD).

- 2651. Witness SD said before she left towards Kibilizi, Shalom attacked the BPO, and when she got back from Kibilizi, the attacks continued. Kibilizi secteur is on the road to Nyange secteur in Nyaruhengeri commune. Therefore, Witness SD testified that there were attacks by Shalom both prior to and after the transfer to Nyange in early June 1994. The Chamber is convinced that Witness SD was at the BPO prior to the Nyange transfer in early June 1994. While her testimony was not specific as to what occurred during each attack, she identified the distinctive features of the vehicle, namely that it was covered in mud and contained Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe*. Therefore, her testimony provides corroboration for Witness TA's testimony as to the attacks by Ntahobali.
- 2652. Ntahobali's alibi for this time period was that he stayed at Hotel Ihuliro operating the generator at Hotel Ihuliro. The Chamber did not find this alibi to be credible. Therefore, Ntahobali's alibi does not raise a reasonable doubt as to his presence at the BPO around 7 and 11 days after the first attack in mid-May 1994.
- 2653. The Chamber finds the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that around 7 and 11 days after the first attack in mid-May 1994, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on two more occasions. Ntahobali violently raped Witness TA, hitting her on the head with a hammer. *Interahamwe*, following the orders of Ntahobali, raped six other women. In a subsequent attack during this same time period, Ntahobali ordered about seven other *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA.
- 3.6.19.4.7 End of May to Early June 1994 Night of Three Attacks
- 3.6.19.4.7.1 Testimony Relevant to This Time Period
- 2654. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber notes that Witnesses TK, SU, RE, SS, FAP, QBP, QBQ and SJ provided testimony relevant to the time period from the end of May to the beginning of June 1994.
- 2655. Witnesses SS, SU and TK testified that they arrived at the BPO towards the end of May 1994 and they left the BPO when they were transferred to Rango. Witness TK testified that she arrived at the BPO after the attempted transfer of Tutsi refugees to Nyange. Therefore all of her testimony pertains to events from the beginning of June 1994. Witness SU also testified the first attack she observed started on a Friday after she had arrived at the BPO. This would place the date in June 1994. In addition, Witness QJ testified as to the abduction of Mbasha's wife which he said occurred at the end of May 1994.

.

⁷⁴²⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).

⁷⁴²⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 1 (Map of Butare).

⁷⁴²⁹ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-29, 101 (Witness TK); T. 21 May 2002 pp. 121-122 (ICS) (Witness TK); T. 22 May 2002 p. 120 (Witness TK); T. 14 October 2002 p. 8 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 p. 73 (Witness SU); T. 21 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness SU); T. 22 October 2002 pp. 83-85 (Witness SU); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 24, 26, 36-37, 67 (Witness SS); T. 10 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SS).

⁷⁴³⁰ T. 23 May 2002 pp. 51-52; T. 23 May 2002 p. 62 (Witness TK) (French) (for spelling of "Nyange").

⁷⁴³¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 30 (Witness SU).

⁷⁴³² T. 8 November 2001 pp. 158, 162; T. 12 November 2001 p. 123 (Witness QJ).

2656. Witness FAP testified that she arrived at the BPO in May. 7433 However, she only testified as to one night of attacks that occurred at the BPO and this was the only night she saw Nyiramasuhuko.⁷⁴³⁴ The details of her testimony were corroborated in relevant part by Witnesses SS, SU and TK regarding a night of three attacks, including the survival of a refugee named Semanyenzi. Therefore, the Chamber considers Witness FAP's testimony pertained to this same attack.

2657. Furthermore, Witnesses RE and QBP testified that the attacks led by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali occurred *after* the attempted transfer to Nyange. Although Witnesses RE and QBP both said that they arrived in Butare in April 1994, this night after Nyange was the only attack they described in testimony. The Chamber is convinced they were referring to the same night of three attacks as described by Witnesses SS, SU and TK.

2658. Moreover, the only attack at the BPO described by Witness QBQ involved the abduction and escape of Semanyenzi. Witnesses RE, SS, SU and FAP each testified that a man named Semanyenzi was abducted on the night of three attacks at the BPO which occurred around the beginning of June 1994. Therefore, the Chamber is convinced that Witness OBO's testimony also pertains to this event at the beginning of June 1994.

2659. Finally, Witness SJ testified that the attacks started at the BPO around the end of April or beginning of May 1994. She estimated that she stayed at the BPO only 3 weeks before the departure to Rango, and that the transfer to Nyange occurred at the end of April or beginning of May 1994. These estimations were inaccurate on two counts: (1) the refugees were transferred to Rango sometime in June 1994 (), which was two months after Witness SJ said she had arrived at the BPO, not three weeks as she estimated; (2) the transfer to Nyange occurred in June 1994 (), one month after she said that it occurred. Therefore, her estimation of the dates of these events was not reliable. Nonetheless, Witness SJ testified as to a night in which three attacks occurred at the BPO. She described the abduction of a woman and her children and the abduction and survival of two refugees named Annonciata and Semanvenzi. 7441 These events were also described by Witnesses TK, QJ, SS, SU and FAP. Each of these witnesses said this attack occurred around the end of May or early June 1994. Therefore, the Chamber is convinced that this portion of Witness SJ's testimony pertained to this same attack.

⁷⁴³³ T. 12 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁴³⁴ T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁴³⁵ T. 11 March 2003 pp. 57, 60; T. 13 March 2003 pp. 6, 36-37 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁴³⁶ T. 24 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 71, 74 (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 p. 39 (Witness RE); T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE).

7437 T. 29 October 2002 pp. 31-32, 82-83 (ICS) (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE); T. 25

February 2003 pp. 3-4 (Witness RE).

⁷⁴³⁸ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 63, 70-71 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁴³⁹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 22 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 51-54 (Witness RE); T. 5 March 2003 p. 77 (Witness SS); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness SS); T. 11 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SS); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 36, 41, 43-44, 46 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 34-35 (Witness SU); T. 21 October 2002 pp. 18, 25-26 (Witness SU); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 57, 60 (Witness FAP); T. 13 March 2003 pp. 6, 36-37 (Witness FAP). ⁷⁴⁴⁰ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65, 68; T. 4 June 2002 p. 84 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁴⁴¹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 26, 34-36; T. 29 May 2002 pp. 133-134 (ICS); T. 3 June 2002 pp. 20, 24 (Witness SJ); see T. 29 May 2002 p. 151 (HC) (Witness SJ) (French) (for spelling of "Annonciata").

2660. Witnesses TK, SJ, SU, RE, SS, FAP and QBQ testified that Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and *Interahamwe* attacked the BPO on multiple occasions in a single night. Although Witnesses SU and QBQ testified that they had observed only two attacks, a number of refugees had fled the immediate environs of the BPO after the first two attacks. Based on the other significant corroborative details (discussed below), the Chamber is convinced that Witnesses SU and QBQ were also referring to the same night at the BPO in which three attacks were perpetrated.

2661. Witnesses TK, QJ, SU, SS and FAP provided a similar timeline as to the date of the attacks. ⁷⁴⁴⁵ Based upon this testimony, the Chamber is convinced that this particular night of three attacks, including the attack on Mbasha's wife and her children, occurred around the end of May or beginning of June 1994.

3.6.19.4.7.2 Identification of Ntahobali

2662. As to the events of this night, the Chamber finds Witness TK's testimony particularly convincing. Witness TK testified that on this evening at around 7.00 p.m. or 7.30 p.m., 7446 Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko came to the BPO on three occasions aboard a camouflaged Toyota Hilux with an open back. The Was driven by Shalom and parked on one side of the national flag pole at the BPO. The She knew it was Shalom because the people at the BPO had said his name. The Interahamwe carried weapons such as machetes, clubs and daggers. The Interahamwe forced refugees to board the Hilux truck and killed some of them on the spot.

2663. Witnesses TA, QJ, QBQ, QBP and RE each described the pickup as a Toyota or a Toyota Hilux. Also Witnesses TK, QBP, FAP and SD did not describe the model of the vehicle,

⁷⁴⁴² T. 20 May 2002 p. 96 (Witness TK); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 55, 57, 59 (Witness SJ); T. 17 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness SU); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19-22 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46, 48 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness SS); T. 4 March 2003 p. 3 (Witness SS); T. 12 March 2003 pp. 13, 16, 52 (Witness FAP); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁴⁴³ T. 14 October 2002 p. 42 (Witness SU); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁴⁴⁴ See, e.g., T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU) (Witness SU testified that refugees tried to run away to the back of the BPO, some climbing up trees and other hiding under wrecked cars. The refugees only returned from hiding the next day).

⁷⁴⁴⁵ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 158, 162; T. 12 November 2001 p. 123 (Witness QJ) (occurred at the end of May); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 8, 30 (Witness SU) (occurred on a Friday after 28 May 1994); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 36-37 (Witness SS) (occurred after she arrived at the BPO on 27 May 1994); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 46, 48 (Witness FAP) (estimated it occurred around the end of May); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 83-86, 96 (Witness TK) (night of three attacks was the same night that Mbasha's wife and children were abducted from the BPO around the end of May 1994). Witnesses QY and QBQ did not testify as to the abduction of Mbasha's wife and children. This is not surprising since they did not admit to knowing her.

⁷⁴⁴⁶ T. 23 May 2002 p. 44 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁴⁷ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 73-74; T. 23 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁴⁸ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 73-74; T. 23 May 2002 p. 48 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁴⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 74; T. 23 May 2002 p. 87 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁵⁰ T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁵¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 91; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 73, 77 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁵² T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47 (Witness TA) (assailants arrived in a Hilux pickup); T. 8 November 2001 pp. 146-147 (Witness QJ) (it was a white Toyota pickup truck); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 20, 53, 55 (Witness QBQ) (it was a white-coloured Toyota pickup); T. 24 October 2002 pp. 84-85, 88, 97-99 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80, 82 (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 pp. 10-12, 16-17 (Witness QBP) (double-cabin Toyota

but nonetheless corroborated the accounts that the vehicle was a pickup with an open back and was camouflaged. Several other witnesses described a pickup of a different make. Witnesses SJ and SS described a Peugeot pickup and Witnesses SS and SU testified that the pickup belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya. Nonetheless, the description of the vehicle as a pickup that was camouflaged was largely consistent between all of these witnesses. Therefore, the Chamber does not consider the description of several different pickups makes which were used in the perpetration of these crimes to be contradictory.

2664. Witnesses TK, RE, SS, FAP, SD, QY and QBQ testified that Ntahobali was driving the vehicle. Ntahobali stated that he did not have a driver's licence and did not know how to drive a car. He claims therefore that the Prosecution witnesses could not have seen him driving the camouflaged Hilux. Denise Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko, Clarisse Ntahobali, Céline Nyiraneza and Witness WBUC all testified as to Ntahobali's inability to drive and his lack of a vehicle.

2665. The evidence presented that Ntahobali never owned a car⁷⁴⁵⁹ was contradicted at trial. Ntahobali testified that he purchased a vehicle in 1993 with another person at an auction and that it was registered in Ntahobali's name.⁷⁴⁶⁰ He admitted that he went to the Butare border to

pickup followed Nyiramasuhuko's vehicle); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE) (they came aboard a Toyota vehicle covered with mud and cow dung and without a frame in the back).

⁷⁴⁵³ T. 23 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK) (truck had an open back, but because the event occurred at night she could not determine the make or colour of the vehicle); T. 24 October 2002 p. 85 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 79-80, 82, 86 (Witness QBP) (Nyiramasuhuko arrived one night on board a camouflaged vehicle that Witness QBP heard was smeared with old motor oil or cow dung); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness QBP) (vehicle was closed on all sides); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 48, 60 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness FAP) (it was a black camouflage coloured vehicle covered with mud or something that looked black and like chocolate); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD) (it was a vehicle covered with mud).

⁷⁴⁵⁴ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness SJ); T. 3 June 2002 p. 125 (Witness SJ) (describing a white Peugeot pickup covered with cow dung); T. 3 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness SS); T. 5 March 2003 p. 77 (Witness SS) (saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO in a pickup belonging to Rwamukwaya, covered with mud and black paint, and without a metal frame at the back); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 31, 39, 52 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 86 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness SU) (saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive aboard a Toyota Hilux pickup that was covered in cow dung or some kind of dark grease); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 31 (Witness SU) (vehicle belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya).

⁷⁴⁵⁵ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 74, 95 (Witness TK) (Shalom drove the vehicle); T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE)

⁷⁴⁵⁵ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 74, 95 (Witness TK) (Shalom drove the vehicle); T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE) (it was driven by Shalom); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS) (driver was an *Interahamwe* who others identified as Shalom); T. 11 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness FAP) (Shalom was driving the vehicle); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness SD) (Witness SD was told that Shalom, the son of Nyiramasuhuko, drove the vehicle, although she did not see him); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-24 (Witness QY); T. 20 March 2003 p. 41 (Witness QY) (saw a vehicle driven by someone named Shalom arrive at the BPO); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 21-22, 90 (Witness QBQ) (Nyiramasuhuko sat in the cabin of the vehicle and Shalom drove; the vehicle later returned, driven by Shalom).

⁷⁴⁵⁶ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 68-69; T. 22 June 2006 pp. 42-43; T. 22 June 2006 pp. 45, 47 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

7457 Ntahobali Closing Brief, Appendix 3, para. 68.

⁷⁴⁵⁸ T. 13 June 2005 pp. 15, 35-36 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 12 October 2005 p. 19 (Nyiramasuhuko) (The English translation ("drove her in a car in 1993 and 1994") is erroneous; *see* T. 12 October 2005 p. 24 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (*Q: Est-ce qu'à votre connaissance ... Ntahobali savait conduire une automobile en 94 et en 93?*); T. 10 February 2005 p. 12 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 2 June 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

⁷⁴⁵⁹ T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza).

T. 21 June 2006 pp. 56-57 (Ntahobali); *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 179 (Ntahobali Interview with the Prosecution, 24-26 July 1997) pp. 15-16.

purchase Amstel beer. ⁷⁴⁶¹ In addition, based on Ntahobali's recorded interview of 24 and 27 July 1997, the Prosecution asked Ntahobali whether he owned a Daihatsu pickup that was white in colour. ⁷⁴⁶² Ntahobali repeatedly pointed to errors in other areas of the transcript of the statement, asked to hear the tape several times, and pointed to errors in translation unrelated to the type and colour of the vehicle. ⁷⁴⁶³ In the end, he did not answer whether his prior statement that the vehicle was a white Daihatsu pickup was correct. The Chamber finds this evasiveness to undercut his credibility on this issue. Furthermore, the fact that Denise Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali and Céline Nyiraneza all testified that Ntahobali did not own a vehicle was refuted by Ntahobali himself shows their testimony to be unreliable on this point.

2666. Not only was Ntahobali seen driving a pickup to the BPO, Ntahobali was also seen driving on multiple occasions throughout the rest of Ngoma town. Witness FA saw Ntahobali on several occasions driving a white vehicle described by others as a Hilux that was stained with mud and had no metal bars at the rear for the tarpaulin. Witness TG saw Ntahobali driving a Peugeot 504 pickup that was originally white but was soiled on the side in a kind of camouflage. Witness TG had seen that vehicle before April 1994 and knew it had belonged to a businessman called Rwamukwaya who was Tutsi. Witness TQ saw Shalom driving his mother, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, in a Peugeot pickup truck that belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya. Witness D-2-13-O saw Shalom, the son of Maurice Ntahobali, move about town on several occasions in a Rwamukwaya-owned Peugeot 504. Finally, Witness D-13-D saw Ntahobali on numerous occasions when the witness drove his car through Butare town between April and July 1994. He saw Ntahobali moving about Butare town driving a Peugeot 504 pickup that belonged to Rwamukwaya. The Peugeot 504 was covered with grease and dust which gave it a camouflage colour. This substantial evidence rebuts Ntahobali's claim that he did not know how to drive and that it could not have been him driving the pickup to the BPO.

2667. Although Witness TK did not know Ntahobali prior to the April to July 1994 events, she based her identification of Ntahobali at the BPO on a conversation she observed between Ntahobali and Mbasha's wife. Witness TK had not known Mbasha's wife until that day. The learned this woman's identity when a group of refugees arrived at the BPO, including a bald, fair-coloured, tall man and his family. Other refugees at the BPO and some officials who were in front of the BPO called the man Mbasha.

```
<sup>7461</sup> T. 21 June 2006 pp. 59, 66 (Ntahobali).
```

⁷⁴⁶² T. 21 June 2006 pp. 70-73 (Ntahobali); Prosecution Exhibit 179 (Ntahobali Interview with the Prosecution, 24-26 July 1997).

⁷⁴⁶³ T. 21 June 2006 pp. 71, 73-75 (Ntahobali).

⁷⁴⁶⁴ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 60, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁷⁴⁶⁵ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG).

⁷⁴⁶⁶ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁷⁴⁶⁷ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 58-60; T. 12 November 2007 p. 53 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁷⁴⁶⁸ T. 14 February 2008 p. 64 (Witness D-13-D).

⁷⁴⁶⁹ T. 14 February 2008 pp. 64-65 (Witness D-13-D).

T. 14 February 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-13-D); *see also* Defence Exhibit 477 (Nsabimana) (BBC Footage) at 24:56 (illustrating a Peugeot 504); T. 27 September 2006 p. 89 (Keane) (stating such a vehicle was a pickup).

⁷⁴⁷¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 80 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷² T. 20 May 2002 pp. 62-63; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 21-22 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷³ T. 20 May 2002 p. 63 (Witness TK).

2668. Witness TK said that upon arriving at the BPO during the first attack, Shalom approached Mbasha's wife and asked her if she knew him. She answered: "Yes, I do know you. You are Shalom. You are the one that was usually sent to the pharmacy to buy drugs and I was in the same school, the same bench as your mother, Pauline." Shalom asked Mbasha's wife which of the two children who accompanied her was the girl and said that he would make the child his wife, to which Mbasha's wife answered, "no, that's out of question [sic] because these are still children". Then Shalom asked Mbasha's wife to go to the truck, telling her not to be afraid and that nothing bad would happen to her. At also said the Interahamwe surrounded Ntahobali and called him "Shalom, chef." Witness TK also said the Interahamwe surrounded Ntahobali and called him "Shalom, chef." Witness TK did not hear the surnames of the Accused. Nonetheless, the Accused were identified in relation to one another as mother and son named Pauline and Shalom. Other women at the BPO had pointed out Nyiramasuhuko to Witness TK during a daytime meeting. The refugee women were surprised to see Pauline there and used her first name to identify her.

2669. Witness TK said that she wore glasses since 1987, but that she was not wearing her glasses during her time at the BPO. The said her near-sightedness was not so bad as to prevent her from identifying people in the courtroom even without her glasses. While the refugees, including Mbasha's wife and children, were being loaded into the vehicle, Witness TK was standing near the front of the BPO, hiding behind the trees and was able to see all that the *Interahamwe* did. For this reason, the Chamber considers she was close enough to identify Ntahobali even without her glasses.

2670. Asked why she had not mentioned Professor Mbasha in her prior statements, Witness TK stated that she mentioned Mbasha but that she had not known previously that he was a professor. If Mr. Mbasha had not been discussed in a prior statement it was because that issue was not raised in the course of the interview. If she realised Mr. Mbasha had not appeared in her prior statements, she would have raised the issue earlier. Witness TK gave more information in her testimony as to Mrs. Mbasha because she spent more time with her. She saw Mrs. Mbasha suffer a great deal.

2671. The Chamber notes that in Witness TK's statement of 12 November 1996, she described in detail the conversation between Mbasha's wife and Shalom, and described the abduction of Mbasha's children. Although Witness TK did not mention Professor Mbasha in this statement, she only discussed him in testimony when asked how she knew Mbasha's

```
<sup>7474</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 76-77 (Witness TK).
```

⁷⁴⁷⁵ T. 20 May 2002 p. 81 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷⁶ T. 20 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷⁷ T. 23 May 2002 p. 93 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷⁸ T. 20 May 2002 p. 40 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁷⁹ T. 22 May 2002 pp. 52, 59-60 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸⁰ T. 27 May 2002 pp. 41-42 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸¹ T. 27 May 2002 p. 43 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸² T. 20 May 2002 p. 90 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸³ T. 21 May 2002 p. 131 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸⁴ T. 22 May 2002 pp. 15-17, 21 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸⁵ T. 22 May 2002 p. 23 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸⁶ T. 22 May 2002 p. 25 (Witness TK).

⁷⁴⁸⁷ Defence Exhibit 44 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (12 November 1996, Statement of Witness TK).

wife. The Chamber accepts Witness TK's explanation of this apparent omission from her prior statement.

2672. In addition, Witnesses QJ, SJ, RE and WKKTD corroborated some of the details of the conversation between Mbasha's wife and Ntahobali.

2673. Witnesses SJ and RE corroborated the occurrence of the conversation between Ntahobali and a woman who was seated on the veranda. Witness SJ testified that Ntahobali asked the woman, "[d]o you know me?", to which the woman replied, "[y]es, I know you You are the son of Nyiramasuhuko, and I was in the same school as your mother." Witness SJ said that Ntahobali acknowledged that the woman was correct, *i.e.* that he was in fact Ntahobali, and promised the woman to bring her and her children to a safe place if she accepted that her 12–year-old daughter became his wife. Ntahobali was sitting on the veranda and had placed his foot on Witness SJ. Witness SJ said the woman and her children had arrived with religious sisters from the parish the same day she was abducted, but she did not mention a tall, bald man.

2674. Witness RE corroborated that a woman was sleeping on the BPO veranda with her children and resisted the assailants. Shalom told her: "We're not going to kill you. We, rather, wanted to take you to Pauline who is in the vehicle so she can go and hide you." Although Witness RE also did not mention a tall, bald man, the other details she provided were similar to those recounted by Witnesses SJ and TK.

2675. Witness QJ corroborated the occurrence of the abduction. Moreover, he testified that he knew the Mbasha family because Mbasha was a customer at Hotel Faucon and would sometimes bring his wife and children. Witness QJ said that Mbasha's wife used to work in a pharmacy and estimated that she was 35 years old in 1994. Witness WKKTD testified that he knew the Mbashas and that in 1994, Mbasha's wife worked at the Bupharma pharmacy in Butare town. Therefore, two other witnesses verified that Mbasha's wife worked at a pharmacy, lending credence to the veracity of Witness TK's account that Mbasha's wife said she knew Ntahobali because he was sent to the pharmacy to buy drugs.

2676. Each of the witnesses was on the BPO veranda observing these events in close proximity. Even if the lighting conditions were not ideal, the witnesses did not need light to hear the conversation between Mbasha's wife and Ntahobali. In any event, Witness SJ said there was a full moon that night. Further, Witness TK testified that she had also seen Ntahobali during the day on a few occasions. The same of the

⁷⁴⁸⁸ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 27-28, 30-31 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁴⁸⁹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 31 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁴⁹⁰ T. 3 June 2002 p. 18 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁴⁹¹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 27, 30 (Witness RE).

⁷⁴⁹² T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46-47; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 30-31 (Witness RE).

⁷⁴⁹³ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 154-155 (Witness QJ).

⁷⁴⁹⁴ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 69, 71 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁷⁴⁹⁵ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 71, 89 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

⁷⁴⁹⁶ T. 7 February 2005 p. 37 (Witness WKKTD).

⁷⁴⁹⁷ T. 30 May 2002 pp. 150-151 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁴⁹⁸ T. 23 May 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness TK).

2677. Witness TK's husband is Witness QJ whom she met and married after the war. The testified that they never discussed their testimony before the Tribunal because it would not have helped them in any way. When asked whether she described Mbasha's wife's clothing based on discussions with her husband, Witness TK stated she did not know whether her husband had even seen Mbasha's wife because they did not discuss it. The Chamber does not find it credible that Witness TK did not discuss with her husband the events of 1994 or the fact that she was coming to testify in Arusha. Nonetheless, based on the significantly detailed nature of her testimony and the corroboration of numerous elements of her testimony by other witnesses, the Chamber does not find this issue to undermine Witness TK's credibility as a whole.

2678. The Ntahobali Defence asserts that the identification evidence of Ntahobali at the BPO was not reliable, in part, because it was based on hearsay. 7502

2679. The Chamber recalls as a matter of law that the identification of an accused at the scene of a crime may be based on hearsay evidence. In *Kamuhanda*, multiple prosecution witnesses heard other refugees shouting the name of the Accused during an attack and the Trial Chamber inferred that the Accused was in fact present at the scene of the crime. This finding was affirmed by the Appeals Chamber. Furthermore, in *Rukundo*, two witnesses overheard the Accused boasting of his role in abductions in a similar fashion. The Appeals Chamber concluded that this was a reasonable basis upon which to identify the Accused.

2680. In this case, the Chamber finds the hearsay identification of Ntahobali to be reliable. Witness TK heard Mbasha's wife identify Ntahobali, stating she knew Ntahobali when he came to the pharmacy where she worked in response to which Ntahobali acknowledged his own identity. Further, Witness WKKTD corroborated aspects of this identification in verifying that Mbasha's wife in fact worked at a pharmacy. Therefore, the Chamber is convinced that Witnesses TK, QJ, SJ and RE had an adequate basis upon which to identify Ntahobali at the BPO despite not knowing him prior to the April to July 1994 events.

2681. Witness TK testified that upon arriving at the BPO, Shalom and some of the *Interahamwe* exclaimed that nobody should be spared or treated leniently. He told the *Interahamwe* to do their work seriously. Interahamwe attacked the group of refugees and chose people to be taken away to be killed. Interahamwe started stripping people lying on the ground. The truck left behind certain *Interahamwe* to select those who were to be loaded on the next trip. The truck returned another two times that night and loaded more

```
<sup>7499</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 48 (Witness TK).
```

⁷⁵⁰⁰ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 102-103, 107 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁷⁵⁰¹ T. 23 May 2002 pp. 30-31 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵⁰² Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 96-190.

⁷⁵⁰³ Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC), paras. 241, 300; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), paras. 196-198.

⁷⁵⁰⁴ Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC), para. 241; see also Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 198.

⁷⁵⁰⁵ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 197.

⁷⁵⁰⁶ T. 20 May 2002 p. 89 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵⁰⁷ T. 20 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵⁰⁸ T. 20 May 2002 p. 75 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵⁰⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 76 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁰ T. 20 May 2002 p. 95 (Witness TK).

refugees who were quickly taken away.⁷⁵¹¹ Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko were on board on each trip.⁷⁵¹²

2682. Ntahobali's alibi for the end of May and beginning of June 1994 was that he had travelled to Cyangugu to fetch his wife. The Chamber has found this alibi was not credible. Therefore, based upon the consistency and corroboration of the substantive evidence, the Chamber finds that Ntahobali was in fact present at the BPO during the attacks around the end of May or beginning of June 1994.

3.6.19.4.7.3 Identification of Nyiramasuhuko and Orders to Rape

2683. Asked why she had not mentioned Pauline's presence at the BPO in her prior statement of 12 November 1996, Witness TK replied that she had limited time with the investigators and so she only mentioned things that came to mind. There were certain omissions in the statement because of her mood at the time or because of her availability at that time of the questioning. The Chamber accepts this explanation.

2684. She was also questioned as to her statement of 12 November 1996 in which she stated that she did not see Ntahobali hit anyone; rather she only heard him threatening people. Witness TK responded that seeing Ntahobali in court reminded her of what actually happened.⁷⁵¹⁵ The Chamber considers this a minor discrepancy since the essence of both Witness TK's prior statement and her testimony was that Ntahobali attacked and abducted people at the BPO.

2685. The Defence also questioned Witness TK as to whether she knew other Prosecution witnesses in this case. Witness TK testified that she came to Arusha on an airplane several days prior to testifying. She only recognised one person on the plane whom she had met after leaving Rango. She did not know whether this person had experienced the events at the BPO. She testified that she gave her statements to investigators in private and that she did not know whether her sister also gave a statement to investigators. The Chamber does not consider these associations to raise any credibility concerns.

2686. In addition to Witnesses TK and QJ, Witnesses SS, QBQ, RE, FAP and SJ identified Nyiramasuhuko during this night of three attacks at the BPO.

2687. Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko came to the BPO this night with a soldier named Kazungu and *Interahamwe*. Witnesses RE and QY corroborated that an

⁷⁵¹¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 96 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹² T. 20 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹³ T. 22 May 2002 pp. 53-54 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁴ T. 23 May 2002 p. 20 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁵ T. 22 May 2002 p. 131 (Witness TK); Defence Exhibit 48 (Nyiramasuhuko) (12 November 1996, Statement of Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁶ T. 21 May 2002 pp. 83, 85 (ICS) (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁷ T. 23 May 2002 p. 54 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁸ T. 21 May 2002 p. 60 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵¹⁹ The Chamber has taken into account allegations of fabricated testimony in *Ibuka* meetings ().

⁷⁵²⁰ T. 3 March 2003 p. 49; T. 5 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS).

Interahamwe named Kazungu accompanied Nyiramasuhuko during the attacks. 7521 Witness TK knew a man named Kazungu who was the *Interahamwe* escort to one of the *préfets*. 7522 Although there was some disagreement as to whether Kazungu was a soldier or an Interahamwe, the evidence was consistent that he wore a uniform, accompanied the other Interahamwe and took orders from Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali. 7523

2688. While Nyiramasuhuko stood by the door of the car, she told the *Interahamwe* and soldiers who were carrying weapons to "start from one side and take the young girls and women and go and rape them because they refused to marry you."7524 Witness SS said that Nyiramasuhuko was in charge of the attacks committed against Tutsi refugees at the BPO. 7525 After Nyiramasuhuko spoke, the *Interahamwe* and soldiers got out of the vehicle and raped Tutsi women. They approached the Tutsi refugees and loaded them on the pickup. 7526 While people were being loaded onto the pickup, Nyiramasuhuko was standing next to it. 7527

2689. Witness SS said Nyiramasuhuko wore a military shirt and a kitenge that night. 7528 Witness SS knew Nyiramasuhuko prior to 1994 because she used to pass by on the road in front of her house. She estimated that she saw her three times prior to the April to July 1994 events. 7529 During the events of April to July 1994, she had also encountered Nyiramasuhuko at a roadblock. 7530 She said Nyiramasuhuko was the "prime minister who was in charge of gender issues", and that Nyiramasuhuko wore a military shirt top and a cloth around her waist when she saw her at the BPO. 7531 Because Nyiramasuhuko was an official, the soldiers saluted her. 7532 Witness SS was less than three metres away from Nyiramasuhuko when she spoke to the soldiers. 7533 Therefore, Witness SS observed Nyiramasuhuko during the day as she stood near her

2690. Because of the multiple opportunities Witness SS had to observe the Accused, and the witness' opportunity to observe Nyiramasuhuko in daylight and prior to the genocide, the Chamber finds Witness SS' identification of Nyiramasuhuko to be both reliable and credible.

⁷⁵²¹ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 27, 31, 44 (Witness QY).

⁷⁵²² T. 23 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK).

⁷⁵²³ T. 23 May 2002 p. 83 (Witness TK) (Witness TK said he was an *Interahamwe* escort to one of the *préfet*); T. 23 May 2002 pp. 83, 85 (Witness TK) (He later wore a military uniform which she thought had been given to him as a reward for the work he had done as an *Interahamwe*); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE) (Witness RE also identified Kazungu as an *Interahamwe*); T. 24 February 2003 p. 31 (Witness RE) (Witness RE later also identified Kazungu as one of Nteziryayo's bodyguards); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 49, 58 (Witness SS) (However, Witness SS described him as a soldier); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 27, 31, 36, 44 (Witness QY) (Witness QY said Kazungu was Nyiramasuhuko's bodyguard).

⁷⁵²⁴ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 52, 54; T. 5 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵²⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵²⁶ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 56-58 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵²⁷ T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵²⁸ T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 ("she was wearing a military shirt with a cloth"); T. 5 March 2003 p. 75 (Witness SS) (French) ("elle portrait une chemise militaire avec un pagne"). 7529 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 34-35, 60 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵³⁰ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28; T. 5 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵³¹ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 31 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵³² T. 3 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵³³ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 29, 34 (Witness SS).

- 2691. Witness QBQ also identified Nyiramasuhuko when she arrived aboard a whitecoloured Toyota pickup covered with mud at the BPO.7534 Nyiramasuhuko sat in the cabin of the vehicle and Shalom drove. 7535 Members of the *Interahamwe* accompanied them. 7536 The vehicle was about 4.5 metres away from her as she sat on the veranda. 7537 It was not so dark as to prevent Witness OBO from seeing Nyiramasuhuko's face. 7538 Night had not vet fallen. 7539
- 2692. Witness QBQ had seen Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO prior to this night. Three days after her arrival she saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive on foot accompanied by *Préfet* Nsabimana in the morning. 7540 Witness OBO was 2.5 metres from Nyiramasuhuko on this occasion. 7541 Therefore, Witness QBQ had an opportunity to identify Nyiramasuhuko from close proximity.
- 2693. Witness QBQ testified that Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe* got out of the vehicle. She corroborated Witness SS' observation that Nyiramasuhuko stood next to the vehicle and gave orders to the *Interahamwe* to "[r]ape the women and the girls and kill the rest." The Interahamwe wore ordinary civilian clothes and used flashlights to find people. 7543 The *Interahamwe* were close to Nyiramasuhuko when she gave her orders. 7544
- 2694. Witness RE said that Shalom and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on three occasions in a Toyota vehicle without a frame in the back and which was covered with mud and cow dung. 7545 Ntahobali promised to protect and hide Mbasha's wife, saying he would take her to Pauline who was in the vehicle. 7546 Based on this comment, Witness RE surmised that Nyiramasuhuko was at the BPO, although she did not see her. 7547 This hearsay provides additional support to the identification of Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO. 7548
- 2695. Witness RE's testimony also lended support to Witnesses SS' and OBO's testimony that Nyiramasuhuko was giving orders to rape in this time period. She testified that Nyiramasuhuko came to the BPO with President Sindikubwabo one day. During this visit, Nyiramasuhuko said, the people should be killed and the young girls among them raped. 7549 Although given at a different time than the event now in question, this evidence shows a level of planning and intent on Nyiramasuhuko's part.

⁷⁵³⁴ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 20, 53, 55, 58 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵³⁵ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 90 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵³⁶ T. 3 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵³⁷ T. 3 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵³⁸ T. 3 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵³⁹ T. 3 February 2004 p. 59 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴⁰ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7-8, 52-53 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴¹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 8-10 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴² T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 12, 20, 61 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 59-60 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴⁴ T. 3 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁴⁵ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE).

⁷⁵⁴⁶ T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46-47; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 30-31 (Witness RE).

⁷⁵⁴⁷ T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 p. 47 (Witness RE).

⁷⁵⁴⁸ In court Witness RE mistook Nteziryayo for Ntahobali: T. 24 February 2003 p. 41; T. 27 February 2003 p. 44 (Witness RE). The Chamber does not consider her misidentification of Ntahobali to be probative. ⁷⁵⁴⁹ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 17-18, 36; T. 25 February 2003 p. 44 (Witness RE).

2696. Witness FAP testified that during the first attack Nyiramasuhuko wore a military uniform. Witness FAP was lying on the ground and thus could only see Nyiramasuhuko's top. Nyiramasuhuko stood by the vehicle and told the *Interahamwe* to take the young girls and the women who were not old, and to rape and kill them because they had refused to marry Hutus. 7551

2697. Witness SJ testified to knowing Nyiramasuhuko before 1994⁷⁵⁵² as the Accused used to live with her husband, Maurice Ntahobali, in the same *secteur* as Witness SJ. She used to see Mr. and Mrs. Ntahobali when they were on their way to work or when they were visiting their neighbour. She described Nyiramasuhuko as somewhat fat with a dark complexion. The first time she saw Nyiramasuhuko, she was wearing a lengthy skirt and a whitish blouse. Nyiramasuhuko changed cars very often. Witness SJ said, "they [Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali] were my neighbours and they were good people. So I do not understand how they come to change."

2698. In sum, several witnesses knew Nyiramasuhuko before the April to July 1994 events including Witnesses SU, SD, SS and SJ. They had an opportunity to identify her in the conditions of calm prior to the commencement of large-scale violence. Nyiramasuhuko was widely known as the Minister in charge of Women's Affairs and therefore would likely be recognisable. Several other witnesses had an adequate opportunity to observe Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO from close proximity, including Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, RE, FAP, QY and QBQ. Furthermore, numerous witnesses maintained that she was wearing a military shirt and *kitenge* cloth skirt or just a military shirt. The Chamber is therefore convinced that Nyiramasuhuko was at the BPO during this attack, ordered *Interahamwe* and soldiers to rape Tutsi women, and to kill other refugees.

2699. Witness QBQ testified that upon hearing Nyiramasuhuko's order, the *Interahamwe* immediately attacked the people on the veranda and took them away by pulling them by their noses.⁷⁵⁶⁰ Many women were raped while Nyiramasuhuko was still on the spot.⁷⁵⁶¹ The

⁷⁵⁵⁰ T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 13 March 2003 p. 5 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁵¹ T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁵² T. 28 May 2002 pp. 116-117; T. 29 May 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵³ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 126-130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁴ T. 3 June 2002 p. 6 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁵ T. 28 May 2002 pp. 117, 121 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁶ T. 28 May 2002 p. 121 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁷ T. 3 June 2002 pp. 136-137 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁸ T. 29 May 2002 p. 130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

⁷⁵⁵⁹ T. 25 October 2001 p. 40 (Witness TA); T. 14 October 2002 p. 52 (Witness SU); T. 14 October 2002 p. 98 (Witness SU) (French) ("elle était venue en tenue militaire et elle avait mis un pagne."); T. 24 October 2002 p. 94 (Witness QBP); T. 24 October 2002 p. 177 (Witness QBP) (French) ("je ne sais pas si elle portait une jupe ou un pagne."); T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SS); T. 5 March 2003 p. 75 (Witness SS) (French) ("elle portrait une chemise militaire avec un pagne"). The Chamber notes kitenge is a type of cloth worn in East Africa while pagne is a French word used in some parts of Francophone Africa to refer to kitenge.

⁷⁵⁶⁰ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 62 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁶¹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness QBQ).

Interahamwe, Nyiramasuhuko and Shalom subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped into a ditch there. ⁷⁵⁶²

2700. This was corroborated by Witness FAP who testified that Nyiramasuhuko's orders to rape given on her first trip to the BPO were carried out; during the first visit of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Tutsi women and girls were raped behind the BPO under the avocado trees. Upon return to the courtyard of the BPO, one of these girls said that it was better to be killed than to be raped by four or more men. ⁷⁵⁶³

2701. Likewise, Witness SS testified that while some women were beaten and taken away in a vehicle, others were beaten and taken to the back of the BPO to be abused. The women and girls had been undressed and they were only wearing their undergarments. Other young girls and women were taken away and would return to the BPO two or three days later. Witness SS told them she thought they had been killed to which they replied, "[w]hat they subjected us to was worse than death. Imagine if six persons had a turn each on you!" Witness SS understood that these women had been raped. She did not know the names of the women who were raped.

2702. Nyiramasuhuko's alibi for this time period was that she was either in Murambi or Muramba attending Interim Government meetings. She admitted to being in Butare on 31 May 1994, but she claimed not to leave Hotel Ihuliro that night. The Chamber found that this alibi was not reasonably possibly true. Therefore, based upon the consistency and corroboration of the substantive evidence, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko was in fact present at the BPO during this attack. She ordered *Interahamwe* to rape refugees because they were Tutsis. The *Interahamwe* beat, abused and raped many Tutsi women.

3.6.19.4.7.4 Abductions

2703. Witnesses TK, SU, RE, SS, FAP, QBQ and SJ testified that the *Interahamwe* loaded the refugees onto the bed of the truck⁷⁵⁶⁹ and the refugees were taken away and not seen again. 7570

⁷⁵⁶² T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁵⁶³ T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁶⁴ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 57-58 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁶⁵ T. 5 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁶⁶ T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 ("There is nothing worse than what we had to undergo. Imagine if six persons have to go on top of you); T. 3 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness SS) (French) ("Il n'y a pas plus atroce que la mort ou ce qu'on nous a fait subir. Imaginez-vous si six personnes devaient faire le tour, toutes sur vous!").

⁷⁵⁶⁷ T. 3 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁶⁸ T. 5 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁶⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 89 (Witness TK) (Shalom and some of the *Interahamwe* exclaimed that nobody should be spared or treated leniently); T. 20 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK) (Shalom told the *Interahamwe* to do their work seriously); T. 20 May 2002 p. 87 (Witness TK); T. 23 May 2002 p. 37 (Witness TK) (*Interahamwe* loaded other refugees into the truck with Mbasha's wife and her children); T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ) (refugees were thrown into the vehicle by the *Interahamwe*); T. 29 May 2002 p. 45 (Witness SJ) (refugees were jammed into the back; some were sitting and some were standing); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 p. 76 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko said, "Start from this side where the refugees are lying. Take men and women and load them aboard the vehicle"); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32, 64 (Witness SU); T. 17 October 2002 pp. 84 (Witness SU) (Nyiramasuhuko told them to load people onto the vehicle); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63

2704. Witness TK testified that after the first trip that same night, the Hilux pickup returned another two times that night, loading more refugees who were quickly taken away. Witness TK said the truck left behind certain *Interahamwe* to select those who were to be loaded on the next trip. Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko were on board on each trip.

2705. Witness SJ also stated that same night, approximately 30 minutes after the vehicle had left, the vehicle came back with Shalom and the *Interahamwe*. Ntahobali told the *Interahamwe* that they had to "go all the way" and that they should "spare no one." The *Interahamwe* acted promptly and beat the refugees before throwing them on board the pickup and taking them away. A third trip was made but she did not see it because she was hiding.

2706. Witness SU said that around 11.00 p.m. the same night Mbasha's wife and children were abducted, Nyiramasuhuko, her driver, her guard and some *Interahamwe* returned in the same vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko repeated her instructions to the *Interahamwe* to start on one side and to take men and women. On a second occasion, Nyiramasuhuko arrived at the BPO in the same Hilux vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko summoned the *Interahamwe* present at the BPO and told them to load people onto the vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko was leaning against the vehicle when it was being loaded with Tutsi refugees and left with the same vehicle.

(Witness QBQ) (*Interahamwe*, Nyiramasuhuko, and Shalom, subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped into a ditch there).

T. 29 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness SJ) (people loaded into the vehicle never returned); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 46-47, 49-50 (Witness SJ) (one of the two survivors, a woman named Annonciata said that people had been taken to a place called Kabutare where they were beaten and thrown into a hole, sometimes alive); T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU) (During that night people were loaded on the Hilux and killed. None of them came back); T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE) (*Interahamwe* asked the awoken refugees to remove their clothes and took them in their vehicles to a place named Rwabayanga); T. 24 February 2003 p. 22 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 51-54 (Witness RE) (a young man named Semanyenzi and a young woman named Annonciata who had been taken to Rwabayanga, managed to escape and told to the refugees that people led there had been killed with clubs and machetes); T. 11 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SS) (said they had been taken to the IRST and thrown into a pit and that he was lucky to have escaped); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 63 (Witness QBQ) (*Interahamwe*, Nyiramasuhuko, and Shalom, subsequently loaded the Tutsi refugees onto the vehicle and took them to Kumukoni to be killed and dumped into a ditch there).

```
<sup>7571</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 96 (Witness TK).
<sup>7572</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 95 (Witness TK).
<sup>7573</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK).
<sup>7574</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 55, 57 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7575</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 53-54 (Witness SJ). Ntahobali said "ntugengeke" in Kinyarwanda which means "have no pity".
<sup>7576</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 53, 55 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7577</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20, 59-60, 64-65 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7578</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 42; T. 17 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness SU).
<sup>7580</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 52 (Witness SU).
<sup>7581</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 53, 57, 64; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU).
<sup>7582</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU).
```

2707. Witness RE and SS corroborated the presence of Nyiramasuhuko, Shalom and *Interahamwe*, including one named Kazungu, at the BPO three times in one night. 7583

2708. Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko got out of the vehicle, and said to also bring the young boys and not to leave anyone behind. The persons who came with Nyiramasuhuko took torches and started waking people. The *Interahamwe* took the young boys, but as they were not many, they also took women and girls. While some refugees were loaded onto the pickup, the soldiers and *Interahamwe* attacked them with weapons. When the vehicle left, Nyiramasuhuko, the *Interahamwe*, the driver and the soldier named Kazungu were on board.

2709. On the third attack that same night, Witness SS testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko, the driver, the *Interahamwe* and the soldier named Kazungu come back to the BPO on board the vehicle. The interahamwe are got out of the vehicle, put out the light, took their torches and weapons, and woke up everybody. They had traditional weapons such as machetes and clubs, and the soldier had a gun. They loaded refugees onto the vehicle. When the vehicle left, Nyiramasuhuko, *Interahamwe*, the driver and the soldier named Kazungu were on board. In the back of the pickup were *Interahamwe* and the refugees who had been loaded onto the vehicle. They

2710. Likewise, Witness FAP testified the vehicle arrived three times the same evening, each time with Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and her son Shalom Ntahobali, and each time taking away many refugees who never returned.⁷⁵⁹⁰

2711. On a second trip that night, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, the *Interahamwe* and a soldier returned in the vehicle. Nyiramasuhuko instructed the *Interahamwe* to load the Tutsi refugees into the vehicle. The *Interahamwe* herded young Tutsi men, women and children into the vehicle by beating them; there were no longer any grown men at the BPO. The refugees' clothes were removed and given to the Hutu refugees from Gitarama and Bugesera. The refugees are removed and given to the Hutu refugees from Gitarama and Bugesera.

2712. After the vehicle left, the soldiers asked people their origins. Witness FAP told the soldiers that she was from Bugesera and her mother was Tutsi, but that she was Hutu. The soldiers therefore allowed her to shelter with the Hutus. At that moment, the pickup-like vehicle returned for the third time that night. The *Interahamwe* made the Tutsi women,

⁷⁵⁸³ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21-22 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46, 48 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48, 58-59 (Witness SS); T. 4 March 2003 p. 3 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁴ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59; T. 5 March 2003 p. 76 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59; T. 5 March 2003 p. 77 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁶ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁷ T. 3 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁸ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 59-60 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁸⁹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness SS).

⁷⁵⁹⁰ T. 12 March 2003 pp. 13, 16, 52 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁹¹ T. 11 March 2003 pp. 56-57 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁹² T. 11 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁵⁹³ T. 11 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).

children and adolescents board the vehicle.⁷⁵⁹⁴ Nyiramasuhuko instructed Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* to systematically select young women and young girls and to rape and kill them. This time, they were not raped, but were thrown onto the vehicle and the *Interahamwe* drove away with them.⁷⁵⁹⁵ She knew that the refugees had been killed because each time the vehicle returned to the BPO, only the *Interahamwe* were on board in the baggage section.⁷⁵⁹⁶ Witness FAP joined the Hutu group, but when she was asked to show her identity card she had to rejoin the "serpents".⁷⁵⁹⁷

2713. Witness QY testified that the vehicle returned several times that evening with about two hour intervals between trips, and each time it returned the same thing was done. On the second trip that second night, Shalom alighted from the vehicle and approached the veranda of the BPO. He walked among the refugees, kicking and forcing some of them to get into the vehicle. The Interahamwe carried torches and flashed them in the direction of the refugees. The refugees would try to flee, scattering like ants to be protected from the Interahamwe. Those in the vehicle again set off towards Rwabayanga. She did not know which direction the vehicle turned to go to Rwabayanga. The vehicle came back a third time that same night to collect more refugees. The refugees were driven away to be killed and the vehicle did not come back as it was now daylight. Witness QY could not specify at what time the vehicle arrived at the BPO on each trip.

2714. Witness QBQ testified that the vehicle came back to the BPO a second time after having unloaded its cargo, again driven by Shalom, and again took other people away to Kumukoni. The assailants woke Witness QBQ up and set her aside to be taken aboard the vehicle; however she managed to escape when she went to see her mistress' crying baby and laid down beside him. The statement of the vehicle came back to the BPO a second time after having unloaded its cargo, again driven by Shalom, and again took other people away to Kumukoni. The assailants woke Witness QBQ up and set her aside to be taken aboard the vehicle; however she managed to escape when she went to see her mistress' crying baby and laid down beside him.

2715. Based on this substantial corroborated testimony, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO three times abducting Tutsi refugees on each occasion on this night.

3.6.19.4.7.4.1 Three Specific Abductions – Mbasha's Wife, Trifina and Unnamed Woman

2716. The Prosecution witnesses provided at least three specific examples of individuals or groups who were abducted from the BPO on the night of three attacks at the end of May or

```
7594 T. 11 March 2003 p. 60; T. 12 March 2003 p. 6 (Witness FAP).
7595 T. 11 March 2003 pp. 60-61; T. 13 March 2003 p. 9 (Witness FAP).
7596 T. 11 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness FAP).
7597 T. 11 March 2003 p. 62; T. 13 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness FAP).
7598 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33, 40; T. 20 March 2003 p. 44; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 24-25 (Witness QY).
7599 T. 19 March 2003 p. 33 (Witness QY).
7600 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33, 41 (Witness QY).
7601 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness QY).
7602 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness QY).
7603 T. 24 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness QY).
7604 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 35-36 (Witness QY).
7605 T. 19 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness QY).
7606 T. 19 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness QY).
7607 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBQ).
7608 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 22, 89 (Witness QBQ).
```

beginning of June 1994. These include Mbasha's wife and children, a woman named Trifina and an unnamed woman. The Chamber recalls its finding in the preliminary issues segment of this section of the Judgement that the Defence did not have notice of the allegations that Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko abducted Mbasha's wife and children and a woman named Trifina (). Nonetheless, the Chamber finds it useful to examine the specific evidence regarding these alleged abductions as circumstantial evidence of what happened to other Tutsi refugees who were staying at the BPO.

3.6.19.4.7.4.2 Abduction of Mbasha's Wife

2717. Witness TK testified that after she observed a conversation between Ntahobali and Mbasha's wife, Mbasha's wife was stripped of her *kitenge* wrap by *Interahamwe*, leaving it on the ground. Mbasha's wife was loaded onto the truck with her two children. As the *Interahamwe* threw the children upon Mbasha's wife, she pleaded for her children, stating: "Please pity my children, you can take me. Spare my children, please." Nyiramasuhuko was by the truck when Mbasha's wife and her children were loaded on it, along with the other refugees that had arrived that day. The state of the conversation between Ntahobali and Mbasha's wife was pleaded onto the truck with her two children, stating: "Please pity my children, you can take me. Spare my children, please."

2718. Witness QJ provided a similar account. He said that after Mbasha's wife was put in the vehicle with her children, Witness QJ said Nyiramasuhuko and her *Interahamwe* took the family to Kabutare Forest. He said, "[t]hey were screaming until I lost sight of them." Mbasha's wife was wearing a *kitenge* wrap and a pullover. He estimated that he saw them at 4.00 p.m. while it was still light out. He testified that he has not seen any of the Mbasha family since then. The following the model of the model of

2719. Witness RE partially corroborated Witness TK's account of the abduction. Witness RE was lying on the veranda. She said that a woman who was sleeping on the BPO veranda with her three children resisted the *Interahamwe* attack that night. Shalom told her: "We're not going to kill you. We, rather, wanted to take you to Pauline who is in the vehicle so she can go and hide you." Based on this comment, Witness RE surmised that Nyiramasuhuko was at the BPO, although she did not see her.

2720. Upon cross-examination, Witness RE admitted that she knew several other witnesses in the case. Witness RE's older sister was Witness TK's sister-in-law. Witness RE did not inform Witness TK that she was to testify in Arusha. Witness RE also said that she was

```
<sup>7609</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 85; T. 23 May 2002 p. 23 (Witness TK).
<sup>7610</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 85-86; T. 23 May 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness TK).
<sup>7611</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 86 (Witness TK).
<sup>7612</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 86-87; T. 23 May 2002 p. 37 (Witness TK).
<sup>7613</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 154-155 (Witness QJ).
<sup>7614</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 93 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>7615</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 96 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>7616</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 155 (Witness QJ).
<sup>7617</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 28 (Witness RE).
<sup>7618</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 27, 30 (Witness RE).
<sup>7619</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 19; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 46-47; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 30-31 (Witness RE).
<sup>7620</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness RE).
<sup>7621</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness RE).
<sup>7622</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness RE).
```

with Witness SJ at the BPO.⁷⁶²³ Witness RE met Witness QJ one time after the war in Save and knew that Witness QJ was Witness TK's husband.⁷⁶²⁴ The Chamber has already considered whether Witness RE was encouraged to provide false testimony by the *Ibuka* Association (). Further, the Chamber does not find that Witness RE's relationship with Witness TK or her contact with Witness QJ on a single occasion renders her credibility in doubt.

- 2721. Witness SJ corroborated Witness TK's testimony that Ntahobali took the woman and her children in the vehicle and drove away with them. However, she testified the woman was seated in the cabin of the vehicle whereas some other people were in the rear of the vehicle. She said that when the truck returned, she heard the *Interahamwe* say that the woman was stupid to think that Shalom would save her because she was sitting in the cabin of the vehicle. The vehicle of the vehicle of the vehicle.
- 2722. However, Witness SJ's credibility was brought into question for several reasons. On cross-examination, she was asked about a prior statement of 3 December 1996, in which she stated that Ntahobali's younger brother drove the vehicle away from the BPO. The witness denied having referred to Ntahobali's younger brother because she did not know Ntahobali's family or his siblings. She explained that there may have been confusion in the taking of the statement. The Chamber accepts this explanation.
- 2723. Moreover, Witness SJ was recalled to testify in 2009. She admitted that she had not told the truth in her original testimony in 2002, ⁷⁶³⁰ and upon the instructions of a Prosecution translator, she denied knowing Prosecution Witnesses TK, TA and QJ. ⁷⁶³¹ For these reasons, the Chamber does not accept Witness SJ's testimony as to this event.
- 2724. In addition, there were some discrepancies as to the number and gender of Mbasha's children. Witness TK testified that the wife of Mbasha was accompanied by one boy and one girl. Witness WKKTD testified that Mbasha had two children aged 7 and 10 or 11, but he said they were both girls. In contrast, Witnesses RE and QJ testified that there were three children. The said that there were three children.
- 2725. Considering Witness WKKTD had known the Mbasha family for six years prior to 1994 and that they were close family friends, the Chamber finds his testimony reliable that the Mbasha's had two daughters. Nonetheless, this is not necessarily inconsistent with the

⁷⁶²³ T. 24 February 2003 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RE).

⁷⁶²⁴ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness RE).

⁷⁶²⁵ T. 29 May 2002 p. 36 (Witness SJ).

T. 29 May 2002 p. 37; T. 3 June 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness SJ). It is however unclear from Witness SJ's testimony whether those people were *Interahamwe* or Tutsi refugees.

⁷⁶²⁷ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 39-40 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶²⁸ T. 3 June 2002 pp. 12-13, 15-16 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 62 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ).

⁷⁶²⁹ T. 3 June 2002 p. 17 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶³⁰ T. 24 February 2009 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶³¹ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 82-83 (ICS); T. 24 February 2009 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶³² T. 20 May 2002 p. 82 (Witness TK).

⁷⁶³³ T. 7 February 2005 p. 37; T. 7 February 2005 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

⁷⁶³⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 19 (Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 pp. 27, 30, 32 (Witness RE); T. 8 November 2001 p. 146 (Witness QJ).

testimony of Witness TK. Witness TK said that Ntahobali asked which of the children was a girl. Since Ntahobali was not able to identify the gender of the children, both of the children could have been girls. In addition, Witness WKKTD corroborated that one of Mbasha's children was about 10 or 11 years old. Although Witnesses RE and QJ said there were three children, considering the passage of time between this event and their testimony, the Chamber does not consider this difference between the testimonies to be significant.

2726. Witness WKKTD provided an alternative explanation for the disappearance of Mbasha's wife and her children. He learned from the wife of a *sous-bourgmestre* that *gendarmes* had arrested Mbasha's wife and one of her children and that they had been tortured and killed at the roadblock. This hearsay was not corroborated by any other witness. In addition, Witness WKKTD's wife told him that Mbasha's eldest daughter actually survived the April to July 1994 events and that his wife saw the daughter in passing. Witness WKKTD's wife only had a brief opportunity to identify Mbasha's eldest daughter as his wife was riding in a minibus at the time and she only saw her from a distance. Therefore, not only was this hearsay not corroborated, there were indications that it was not reliable and the Chamber is not convinced by this testimony.

2727. The Chamber concludes based on this evidence that Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* abducted Mbasha's wife and children around the end of May or beginning of June 1994. As noted previously, the Chamber will not convict Ntahobali for the abduction of Mbasha's wife because he did not have notice as to the identity of this specific individual. However, the credible and consistent information with regard to this event provides circumstantial support for the Chamber's findings regarding the abduction of other unnamed Tutsi refugees from the BPO. ⁷⁶³⁸

3.6.19.4.7.4.3 Killing of a Woman Named Trifina

2728. Witness TK provided evidence that during the same attack by *Interahamwe* on Mbasha's wife [during which refugees were stripped and loaded on the truck at around 7.00 p.m. or 7.30 p.m.], a refugee girl named Trifina started shouting. Nyiramasuhuko said that noise should be stopped and those who were shouting should be set aside. Trifina was attacked with daggers and her shoulder was wounded, but she shouted even louder. *Interahamwe* then slit her throat, almost cutting her head off, and threw her dead body into the

⁷⁶³⁵ T. 20 May 2002 p. 81 (Witness TK).

⁷⁶³⁶ T. 7 February 2005 p. 76; T. 8 February 2005 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

⁷⁶³⁷ T. 7 February 2005 pp. 79-80; T. 8 February 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD).

⁷⁶³⁸ Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15; *Kupreškić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

⁷⁶³⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 90; T. 22 May 2002 p. 95; T. 20 May 2002 p. 98 (Witness TK) (French) (for spelling of "Trifina").

⁷⁶⁴⁰ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 90, 92-93; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 103, 108-109 (Witness TK).

⁷⁶⁴¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 91; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 73, 77 (Witness TK).

⁷⁶⁴² T. 20 May 2002 p. 91 (Witness TK).

vehicle. 7643 When the vehicle was full of people Ntahobali drove it away with Nyiramasuhuko as a passenger. 7644

2729. Witness TK's account was corroborated by Witnesses QBQ and RE. Witness QBQ said the *Interahamwe* heard Nyiramasuhuko give an order and immediately attacked the people on the veranda, pulling them by their noses. The *Interahamwe* used a club to hit one woman who refused to comply and she died in front of the vehicle. Witness RE also stated that the *Interahamwe* strangled to death a young woman named Trifina because she refused to go. The state of t

2730. The Chamber finds Witness TK to be credible regarding this event and therefore concludes that a woman named Trifina was assaulted and killed by *Interahamwe* on the orders of Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO. As noted previously, the Chamber will not convict Nyiramasuhuko for the death of Trifina because she did not have notice as to the identity of this specific individual. However, the credible and consistent information with regard to this event provides circumstantial support for the Chamber's findings regarding the abduction and killing of other unnamed Tutsi refugees from the BPO. ⁷⁶⁴⁸

3.6.19.4.7.4.4 Other Abductions at the BPO

2731. Witnesses SU, SS and FAP provided testimony as to other abductions and killings at the BPO on the night of multiple attacks.

2732. Witness SU testified that she saw a lady with two children arrive at the BPO in a group including a tall man of light complexion who was balding. The lady was an intellectual of a good position as she appeared to live well. Witness SU said the *Interahamwe* dragged the lady and her children violently from the veranda and put them on board the vehicle. The mother pleaded that her babies not be killed as they were still young. Witness SU testified that this woman was struck across the neck with a machete and Nyiramasuhuko told her, "[s]o, breast-feed the babies!" Other people were loaded onto the vehicle on top of the woman and it departed accompanied by Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe*.

2733. Witness SS gave a similar account to Witness SU of a woman pleading for her young child who had arrived at the BPO with a man who was no longer present.⁷⁶⁵⁵ She did not know whether he was balding.⁷⁶⁵⁶ Other persons were loaded in the pickup.⁷⁶⁵⁷ Witness SS also

```
<sup>7643</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 91; T. 22 May 2002 pp. 73, 77 (Witness TK).
```

⁷⁶⁴⁴ T. 20 May 2002 p. 95 (Witness TK).

⁷⁶⁴⁵ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 62 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁶⁴⁶ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁶⁴⁷ T. 24 February 2003 p. 21 (Witness RE).

⁷⁶⁴⁸ Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15; *Kupreškić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

⁷⁶⁴⁹ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 32, 35; T. 17 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁵⁰ T. 17 October 2002 pp. 54-55 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁵¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 32; T. 17 October 2002 p. 33 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁵² T. 14 October 2002 p. 37; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 33-34 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁵³ T. 14 October 2002 p. 37; T. 14 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU) (French) ("Alors, allaite tes enfants!").

⁷⁶⁵⁴ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 37, 41 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁵⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness SS).

⁷⁶⁵⁶ T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SS).

testified the soldiers and *Interahamwe* threw the woman into the back of the vehicle. Since she could no longer hear the woman cry, Witness SS concluded that the woman was dead.

- 2734. Witness FAP testified that the *Interahamwe* approached a mother of two children who was spending the night on the veranda next to her. The woman's daughter was below the marrying age and the other child was a son. The woman had arrived the day before, accompanied by a man who had a fair complexion and was tall. The woman had arrived to make the woman feel safe by saying that his mother had sent for her. Witness Talaborated to reassure the girl who cried out by telling her that he was taking her to his mother. Again, Witness FAP here corroborates numerous details of Witness TK's testimony regarding the abduction of Mbasha's wife and children.
- 2735. However, Witness FAP added the children told the *Interahamwe* not to rape them because they were too young; but instead to take their mother if necessary. The mother also cried out and refused to be raped in public and so the *Interahamwe* killed her on the ground. Witness FAP said Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* killed the mother with knives and dumped her body in the vehicle. They also took her children who had been beaten and drove away. The mother with knives are away.
- 2736. Witnesses SU, SS and FAP each described these events in significant detail. However, due to the differences in their testimonies, the Chamber is convinced that Witnesses SU, SS and FAP were describing attacks on different individuals among the group which was abducted from the BPO on the night of three attacks. Nonetheless, the Chamber is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* attacked many different women and children at the BPO, assaulted them and forced them aboard the pickup. It further finds that Nyiramasuhuko gave orders to the *Interahamwe* to commit these crimes. The women and children were taken away from the BPO and killed elsewhere.
- 2737. As specified above, the Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko's or Ntahobali's alibis raise a reasonable doubt as to their presence at the BPO at the end of May or beginning of June 1994.
- 2738. Therefore, based upon the evidence of Witnesses TK, QBQ, RE, SS, SU and FAP, including the specific evidence as to the abduction of Mbasha's wife and children, the assault of a woman named Trifina and the assault of an unnamed woman and her children, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that at the end of May or beginning of June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and about 10 *Interahamwe* came to the BPO aboard a camouflaged pickup. Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe* to force Tutsi refugees onto the

```
<sup>7657</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 57; T. 5 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).
```

⁷⁶⁵⁸ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 56-57; T. 5 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SS).

⁷⁶⁵⁹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 57; T. 5 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).

⁷⁶⁶⁰ T. 12 March 2003 pp. 57-58, 61 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶¹ T. 12 March 2003 pp. 57-58 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶² T. 12 March 2003 pp. 58, 61 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶³ T. 11 March 2003 p. 55; T. 12 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶⁴ T. 12 March 2003 pp. 62-63 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶⁵ T. 11 March 2003 p. 54; T. 12 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁶⁶ T. 11 March 2003 pp. 54-55; 12 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness FAP).

pickup. The pickup left the BPO, abducting Tutsi refugees in the process, some of whom were forced to undress.

3.6.19.4.8 Mid-May Through June 1994 – Abducted Refugees Were Killed

2739. Apart from those refugees such as Trifina who were killed on the premises of the BPO, there was no direct evidence that the refugees abducted from the BPO from mid-May through June 1994 were killed elsewhere. However, there was circumstantial evidence to support this conclusion.

2740. First, the evidence established that Tutsi refugees were being killed at the BPO. Witness TA testified that Tutsi refugees were killed on the premises of the BPO and buried in pits behind the BPO. While she did not personally see the killings at the pear tree behind the BPO, she saw dead bodies by the tree. She also saw the bodies of Tutsis who had been killed in a pit behind in the gardens of the BPO the number of which increased during her stay. Some of the bodies were decomposing, and later a bulldozer came to take the bodies further away from the BPO.

2741. Witness SU corroborated this testimony. Witness SU testified that at 5.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m., the *Interahamwe* at the BPO took people away and killed them with machetes. During the month of June 1994, she watched a pit being dug behind the office of the *préfet*, close to the uncompleted ORINFOR building with a yellow bulldozer. In addition, there was a pit behind the house of Munyagasheke behind an avocado tree. Refugees that were killed were thrown into this pit. Before the pit was dug, bodies were "thrown here and there." A pit had been dug near the office where they threw people who had just been killed. Witness SU saw 13 refugees killed before the very eyes of the authorities. She testified that in the year 2000, several bodies were exhumed before the construction of a new building on the site of the pit.

2742. Witness SS also testified that she saw corpses at the BPO next to the avocado trees and that there were pits. Likewise, Witness TK testified that her brother was killed at the BPO and that she saw an *Interahamwe* wearing her brother's jacket. She discovered her brother's body along with two others near a tree behind the BPO. Her brother's legs had been cut off and a dog was feeding upon his corpse. At that time, there were still some men left in the group of refugees, but they were subsequently taken away during the night. Prosecution

```
<sup>7667</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 89 (Witness TA).
<sup>7668</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 24-26 (Witness TA).
<sup>7669</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 24 (Witness TA).
<sup>7670</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 88; T. 23 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness SU).
<sup>7671</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 80-81 (Witness SU).
<sup>7672</sup> T. 23 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).
<sup>7673</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 80 (Witness SU).
<sup>7674</sup> T. 14 October 2002 pp. 28-29 (Witness SU).
<sup>7675</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness SU).
<sup>7676</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 80; T. 23 October 2002 p. 59 (Witness SU).
<sup>7677</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SS).
<sup>7678</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 39 (Witness TK).
<sup>7679</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 39, 50 (Witness TK).
<sup>7680</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 47 (Witness TK).
```

Investigator Shukry testified there were mass graves at the University Hospital, University Laboratory, Matyazo Clinic, Cyarwa Sumo *secteur*, Kabakobwa valley, Kabuye Hill and the Mbazi *commune* office. He did not testify that there was a mass grave at the BPO. ⁷⁶⁸¹ Nonetheless, the Chamber is convinced that during the attacks at the BPO, Tutsi refugees were killed and thrown into pits. It further finds that a bulldozer later came to the BPO to bury the corpses.

2743. Second, there was substantial evidence that the Tutsi refugees who were abducted from the BPO were never seen again. This supports an inference that these Tutsis were in fact killed ⁷⁶⁸³

2744. Third, Tutsi refugees were killed in the EER woods (). Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks throughout Butare town (). Furthermore, bodies of Tutsis were seen throughout Butare town, including at the Hotel Faucon roadblock (). When considered together, the Chamber finds that the only reasonable inference is that the refugees who were abducted from the BPO were killed.

2745. Several witnesses also testified as to the statements of three people who allegedly survived the attacks at the BPO, including Semanyenzi, Annonciata and Fidel (or Fidelis). Semanyenzi, Annonciata and Fidel did not testify as to their experiences. Therefore, all of the Prosecution evidence in this respect was hearsay and the Chamber views it with caution.

2746. Witnesses SJ, RE, FAP and SU testified that one or more refugees (named Semanyenzi, Annonciata or Fidele) who had been abducted, escaped their captors, returned to the BPO, and told the remaining refugees that those who had been abducted were killed.

2747. The Chamber notes that Witnesses SJ, QY, RE, FAP and QBQ provided inconsistent testimony as to where an escaped refugee named Semanyenzi had been taken, although he allegedly told each of them how and from where he escaped. Witness SJ said the Mbashas, Annonciata and Semanyenzi were all taken to the same place and that she later learned from Annonciata and *Interahamwe* that the location of the killings was Kabutare. Witness QY said that she learned from Annonciata that the refugees had been taken to Rwabayanga to be killed. Witness RE also learned from Semanyenzi and Annonciata that the people were killed. She said the refugees were killed at Rwabayanga. Witness FAP did not indicate where Semanyenzi had been taken, but testified that certain soldiers warned her that *Interahamwe* were taking people to Rwabayanga. Finally, Witness QBQ testified that Semanyenzi had survived at Mukoni. Given that each of these witnesses had learned from

⁷⁶⁸¹ T. 14 June 2001 pp. 48-49, 67, 69, 71, 73, 83, 105; T. 19 June 2001 pp. 25-26, 33, 101, 109-110 (Shukry).

⁷⁶⁸² T. 14 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU); T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD); T. 19 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness QY); T. 24 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness QY); T. 12 March 2003 p. 49 (Witness FAP); T. 29 May 2002 p. 39 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶⁸³ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), paras. 190-191.

⁷⁶⁸⁴ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 46, 50, 64 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁶⁸⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY).

⁷⁶⁸⁶ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 21-22; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 51-54 (Witness RE).

⁷⁶⁸⁷ T. 12 March 2003 p. 64; T. 13 March 2003 pp. 6, 13 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁶⁸⁸ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 63, 70-71 (Witness OBO).

Semanyenzi and Annonciata where the killings had occurred, it might be expected that each would identify the same location. ⁷⁶⁸⁹

2748. The Chamber notes that Rwabayanga is located behind the ESO which is in the opposite direction from Kabutare when departing from the BPO. It further notes that Witness QBQ testified that Mukoni was near the IRST. The IRST is located further down the same road as the ESO. Nonetheless, the Chamber observes that the ESO, Kabutare, and the IRST were all sites of massacres or mass graves and it accepts that different groups of refugees could have been taken to these locations on different occasions, particularly considering that Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe* mounted multiple attacks at the BPO.

2749. Regardless of whether the refugees were taken to Rwabayanga, Kabutare, Mukoni or the IRST, the only reasonable inference is that the refugees were abducted from the BPO in order to kill them. The Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko participated in the abduction of multiple truckloads of Tutsi refugees from the BPO and that these refugees were killed.

3.6.19.4.9 First Half of June 1994 – Additional Killings and Rape, Including Rape of Witness

3.6.19.4.9.1 Testimony Relevant to This Time Period

2750. The Chamber notes that Witness TA testified that Immaculée Mukagatare was raped at the BPO during the fourth attack Witness TA observed at the BPO. This corresponds with the first or second week of June 1994. Witness QBP likewise testified that during the attack by Nyiramasuhuko, she observed the rape of a woman named Immaculée Mukagatare who died

The Chamber notes that Witnesses QJ and QBP did not attribute their knowledge of the location of the killings to Semanyenzi or Annonciata: T. 24 October 2001 p. 88 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 pp. 22-23 (Witness QBP) (said she learned killings occurred in Kabutare from people who had gone to the market the next day); T. 8 November 2001 pp. 154-155 (Witness QJ) (Witness QJ did not indicate her source of information that the refugees were killed in Kabutare). The Chamber recognises that these two witnesses may have been referring to different attacks than the other witnesses and therefore, the information they provided does not necessarily contradict that certain refugees were killed at Rwabayanga or Mukoni.

⁷⁶⁹⁰ Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 57.

⁷⁶⁹¹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 72-73 (Witness QBQ); *see* Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites). The Chamber notes that "INRS" is the French acronym for the National Institute of Scientific Research, IRST).

⁷⁶⁹² Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *commune* – Genocide Sites).

⁷⁶⁹³ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 304, 306; Bikindi, Judgement (TC), para. 30.

⁷⁶⁹⁴ T. 25 October 2001 p. 29; T. 29 October 2001 pp. 51-52 (Witness TA testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko during one night in mid-May 1994); T. 25 October 2001 p. 67; T. 31 October 2001 pp. 86-87 (seven days later at night, the *Interahamwe* arrived in the same Hilux vehicle and started beating people, cutting them with machetes, and killing some at the BPO); T. 25 October 2001 p. 76 (four days later at night, a group of eight *Interahamwe* including Shalom arrived in the same vehicle and started beating and cutting up people at the BPO); T. 29 October 2001 p. 7 (another 7 to 10 days later, a group of 8 *Interahamwe*, including Shalom arrived at the BPO in the same vehicle); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 15, 25 (during this fourth attack, Witness TA watched Shalom take another Tutsi refugee woman, named Immaculée to rape her); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 116-117 (ICS) (Witness TA) (Immaculée died of AIDS in January 2001).

after the war. 7695 Therefore, the Chamber is convinced that Witness TA's evidence of this attack corresponds with the attack described by Witness QBP which allegedly occurred in June 1994.

2751. Witness SU testified that one night after the three attacks, she again saw Nyiramasuhuko come to the BPO on a pickup and order *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsi women. ⁷⁶⁹⁶ Witness SS corroborated this account. Insofar as Witness SU stated this event occurred after the night of three attacks, and the refugees were transferred to Rango around 17 June 1994, the Chamber finds it established that these additional attacks occurred in the first half of June 1994.

3.6.19.4.9.2 First Half of June 1994 – Nyiramasuhuko's Order to Rape

2752. Witnesses QBP and SU testified that Nyiramasuhuko returned to the BPO a subsequent night and ordered that Tutsi women be raped.

2753. One night after the night of three attacks, Witness SU saw a Volkswagen driven by Emmanuel Rekeraho arrive at the BPO at around 10.00 p.m. Rekeraho got out of the Volkswagen and into the Sovu ambulance at the BPO. 7697 Nyiramasuhuko then arrived at the BPO in the same Hilux vehicle, this time wearing a military shirt and a *kitenge*. 7698 When Witness SU was questioned as to her statement of 3 December 1996, in which she said that Pauline came in a white van painted with green colours rather than a Hilux vehicle, she testified that Rekeraho arrived in a van belonging to the Sovu Health Centre, but that Nyiramasuhuko arrived in a Hilux. 7699

2754. Nyiramasuhuko summoned the *Interahamwe* present at the BPO. She told them to load people onto the vehicle. 7700 She also shouted at the *Interahamwe* to "choose the young girls and the women that are still useful."⁷⁷⁰¹ She ordered that the women be raped because they refused to marry Hutus and then to be loaded onto the Hilux to be killed. 7702 Witness SU was about nine metres away from Nyiramasuhuko. 7703

2755. Immediately following Nyiramasuhuko's instruction, after the vehicle had left, one of the *Interahamwe* named Muzungu took and raped a girl whom the witness knew. 7704 Witness SU testified that the *Interahamwe* became animals and raped women. There was no respect of human beings at that time. 7705 At the same time, another *Interahamwe* whom the witness

⁷⁶⁹⁵ T. 24 October 2002 p. 107 (ICS); T. 24 October 2002 p. 204 (HC) (Witness QBP) (French).

⁷⁶⁹⁶ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 52, 57, 68; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 79, 84 (Witness SU). 7697 T. 14 October 2002 pp. 51-52; T. 17 October 2002 p. 79 (Witness SU).

⁷⁶⁹⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 52 (Witness SU) ("she came in military uniform and she had put on a cloth."); see T. 14 October 2002 p. 98 (Witness SU) (French) ("elle était venue en tenue militaire et elle avait mis un pagne.").

⁷⁶⁹⁹ T. 17 October 2002 pp. 27-29 (Witness SU); Defence Exhibit 71 (Nyiramasuhuko) (20 November 1996, Statement of Witness TK).

⁷⁷⁰⁰ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53, 57, 64; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰¹ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 57, 68; T. 17 October 2002 p. 84 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰² T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53-54, 57 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰³ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 59-60 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰⁴ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 63, 65-66; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰⁵ T. 14 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).

identified as Ruhengeri raped a girl in the presence of the witness. ⁷⁷⁰⁶ Witness SU also identified Ngoma, Ribanza and Mbote as *Interahamwe* who committed rapes. ⁷⁷⁰⁷

2756. The *Interahamwe* lined up women next to the vehicle to choose whom to rape, including Witness SU. The *Interahamwe* shined a torch on Witness SU. Witness SU showed them her aged breasts to discourage the men from raping her as she was very thin. The *Interahamwe* then took the women and girls they had chosen behind the ORINFOR and into abandoned vehicles to rape them. ⁷⁷⁰⁹

2757. Witness SS corroborated this account, stating an *Interahamwe* hit her sister, Witness SU, with a machete between the shoulders. One night, an *Interahamwe* woke up Witness SU who removed her clothes, showed him her breasts and told him, "[p]lease, don't take me with you, I'm an old lady and my breasts are falling." 7710

2758. Witness SU's identification of Nyiramasuhuko was based on prior knowledge; she knew Nyiramasuhuko because Witness SU often walked past Nyiramasuhuko's home in Ndora *commune* when Witness SU went to visit relatives. The Witness SU arrived at the BPO on or about 28 May 1994 and had several opportunities to observe Nyiramasuhuko in broad daylight and from close range; on the first occasion, Nyiramasuhuko, was four metres away from the witness SU was nine metres away. Witness SU saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO, Witness SU was nine metres away. Witness SU saw Nyiramasuhuko summon the *Interahamwe* present at the BPO and order them to select young Tutsi women and girls to be loaded on the vehicles, raped and then killed. The Chamber finds Witness SU's identification of Nyiramasuhuko reliable considering she previously knew Nyiramasuhuko, and she saw her at the BPO during the day from close proximity.

2759. Witness SU testified that she did not have any clothes therefore she could not approach Nyiramasuhuko. She later clarified that she was only wearing clothes that had been given to her and she was not dressed to the same standard as Nyiramasuhuko.⁷⁷¹⁶

2760. Asked why she stayed at the BPO despite having a signed affidavit indicating that she was Hutu, ⁷⁷¹⁷ Witness SU stated that she attempted to seek shelter with some nuns, but once they saw she was injured it was determined that it would not be safe such that she was obliged to go to the BPO. ⁷⁷¹⁸ It was also dangerous in case she ran into someone who knew her. ⁷⁷¹⁹

Judgement and Sentence

⁷⁷⁰⁶ T. 14 October 2002 p. 63; T. 15 October 2002 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 63; T. 24 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰⁸ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 60-61; T. 17 October 2002 p. 93 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁰⁹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹⁰ T. 3 March 2003 p. 74 (ICS) (Witness SS).

⁷⁷¹¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 14; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 98-99; T. 21 October 2002 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹² T. 14 October 2002 p. 8 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹³ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 15-16, 20, 23, 65 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹⁴ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 59-60 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹⁵ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 53, 57, 67; T. 17 October 2002 pp. 83-84 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹⁶ T. 17 October 2002 pp. 22-23 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷¹⁷ See T. 15 October 2002 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 22 October 2002 p. 85 (Witness SU) (On 27 May 1994, Witness SU) obtained an affidavit which indicated she was Hutu).

⁷⁷¹⁸ T. 21 October 2002 pp. 32, 34 (Witness SU).

- 2761. At the time of her testimony Witness SU was not living with her sister, although they visited one another. She never discussed the events of 1994 or the events at the BPO with her sister. She also met a woman with the same first name as Witness QBP at the BPO. After the war she chanced upon Witness QBP's sister at the *commune* office where they were searching for their identity documents. They exchanged greetings but did not discuss the events of 1994 at the BPO. They are the archanged greetings but did not discuss the events of 1994 at the BPO.
- 2762. Witness SU said that she had problems with her eyes and needed eyeglasses. At the time of the war she could see without any problems. After the war she had eyesight problems because of an illness. She was not able to recognise what was shown in Prosecution Exhibit 23A as the photo was projected on a screen. The Chamber considers Witness SU's vision problems at the time of her testimony did not adversely affect her ability to identify Ntahobali during the events in 1994.
- 2763. Witness QBP named four women who had been raped, two of whom died after the war. The she admitted not witnessing with her own eyes the alleged rapes in the rear of the BPO as there was no longer any light. However, she asserted that the *Interahamwe* and soldiers had just been encouraged to do something specific to these Tutsi women by Nyiramasuhuko and only a child would not understand what was going to happen to these women. The she women to these women.
- 2764. Witness QBP testified during the night in which she observed the rape of Immaculée Mukagatare, "Nyiramasuhuko told the soldiers and *Interahamwe* that there's still a lot of dirt at the *préfecture*, such as these Tutsi women, who previously were arrogant and did not want to marry Hutu men. Now it's up to you to do whatever you want with them." "7730"
- 2765. Witness QBP testified that she knew Nyiramasuhuko because they lived in the same *commune* until Nyiramasuhuko got married and moved to Butare. She was aware that Nyiramasuhuko had been appointed Minister. After the witness returned from Nyange [early June], she saw Nyiramasuhuko coming to the BPO on board a camouflaged vehicle that she heard was smeared with old motor oil or cow dung. She was accompanied by *Interahamwe* and soldiers. Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a military shirt and a skirt and

```
7719 T. 22 October 2002 p. 62 (Witness SU).
7720 T. 21 October 2002 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness SU).
7721 T. 21 October 2002 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness SU).
7722 T. 21 October 2002 p. 53 (ICS); T. 23 October 2002 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness SU).
7723 T. 23 October 2002 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness SU).
7724 T. 14 October 2002 p. 7; T. 15 October 2002 p. 22; T. 24 October 2002 p. 18 (Witness SU).
7725 T. 24 October 2002 p. 45 (Witness SU).
7726 T. 21 October 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness SU).
7727 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 107-108 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
7728 T. 29 October 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBP).
7729 T. 29 October 2002 p. 14 (Witness QBP).
7730 T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 81, 88, 99; T. 29 October 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBP).
7731 T. 24 October 2002 p. 84; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 70-71 (Witness QBP).
7732 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 84-85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 79-80, 82, 86 (Witness QBP) (refers to "mud" and "grease"); see T. 24 October 2002 p. 163 (Witness QBP) (French) (refers to "cow dung" and "old motor oil").
7733 T. 24 October 2002 p. 84; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 80, 82; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 16-17 (Witness QBP).
```

spoke to the soldiers and *Interahamwe* when the witness was nearby. 7734 Witness OBP said she was able to see clearly because there were lights coming from the houses surrounding the BPO. 7735 Therefore, Witness QBP's evidence corroborates that Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a mix of military and civilian clothing and arrived at the BPO in a mud-covered vehicle. Although she observed Nyiramasuhuko at night, the view was enhanced by surrounding lights. Based on these factors, the Chamber finds Witness QBP's identification of Nyiramasuhuko to be both credible and reliable.

2766. Although Witness QBP did not observe the rapes, ⁷⁷³⁶ she saw Nyiramasuhuko give the orders and watched the Interahamwe choose women to drag behind the BPO before the lights went out and she hid herself. 7737 Witness QBP also saw soldiers and *Interahamwe* dragging refugee women to the back of the BPO and loading other refugees aboard a double-cabin Toyota pickup that had accompanied Nyiramasuhuko's vehicle to the BPO. 7738 Witness QBP managed to hide in the bushes in the rear of the BPO when the lights went off. 7739 Witness QBP's testimony that she was at the BPO during mid-May 1994 was corroborated by Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMCZ; he saw Witness QBP at the BPO among 1,000 refugees and she asked him for money. 7740 One of her children had disappeared and he later learned that child had died. 7741

2767. On cross-examination, it was put to Witness SU that she had not been at the BPO during the time she said and that she was instead at someone's house from 27 May 1994 until the end of the war. Witness SU said that six people had been discovered at that man's house and were killed as was the man himself. Therefore, she only spent three days in his home. 7742

2768. Witness QBP's credibility was brought into question by Witnesses WUNJN and WUNHF. Witness WUNJN testified that he saw Witness QBP from a drinking establishment; she was at her parent's home. 7743 For the reasons stated above, the Chamber does not find Witness WUNJN's testimony to be credible. As to Witness WUNHF, he notes that Witness QBP disappeared for five to seven days during May and, rather than worry about her safety, he speculated that she had travelled to Nyange to farm. The Chamber notes that it was uncontested that the number of roadblocks in Butare in May was considerable, restricting ease of movement. Yet Witness WUNHF suggests that Witness OBP continued to farm through May and June 1994. 7745 The picture created by WUNHF, that Witness QBP and others were free to move about and farm during the genocide, was not at all believable. Therefore, the

⁷⁷³⁴ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 94-97 (Witness QBP).

⁷⁷³⁵ T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 p. 87; T. 30 October 2002 p. 22 (Witness QBP).

 ⁷⁷³⁶ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBP).
 7737 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85-86 (Witness QBP).

⁷⁷³⁸ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85, 88, 97-99; T. 28 October 2002 p. 80; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 10, 12 (Witness

⁷⁷³⁹ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 85-86; T. 29 October 2002 p. 6 (Witness QBP).

⁷⁷⁴⁰ T. 2 February 2005 pp. 34, 36, 60; T. 2 February 2005 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 7 February 2005 pp. 23-24, 28 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ). 7741 T. 2 February 2005 pp. 37, 51; T. 3 February 2005 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ).

⁷⁷⁴² T. 21 October 2002 pp. 69-70, 77 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁴³ T. 6 February 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

⁷⁷⁴⁴ T. 26 January 2006 pp. 20, 56 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

⁷⁷⁴⁵ T. 26 January 2006 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

Chamber does not find his testimony to undermine Witness OBP's credibility regarding abductions at the BPO.

2769. Witness QBP testified that on the night when Immaculée Mukagatare was raped, Nyiramasuhuko had given the order to attack Tutsi refugees. The testified that Immaculée Mukagatare was raped at the BPO and later died. Witness QBP admitted not witnessing with her own eyes the alleged rapes in the rear of the BPO, but this rape allegedly occurred in the open. 7748

2770. Witness TA testified that she was also an evewitness to the rape of Immaculée Mukagatare. 7749 Eighteen to 20 days after the first attack, a group of eight *Interahamwe*, including Shalom arrived at the BPO in the same vehicle and attacked the refugees with machetes, hammers, Rwandan clubs and sticks. On this occasion, Shalom again handed Witness TA over to the Interahamwe and told them to be quick, after which seven Interahamwe raped her. 7751 When Witness TA returned to where she usually slept at the BPO after being raped, she watched Ntahobali take another Tutsi refugee woman named Immaculée to rape her. 7752 Immaculée had three children with her, including a child of about one and a half to two years old that was still being breast fed. The Ntahobali took the youngest child from asked him to let her go back to her children. The Ntahobali took the youngest child from Immaculée's arms and threw the child to the side, before raping Immaculée. ⁷⁷⁵⁵ Witness TA picked up the child and consoled it to keep it quiet. 7756 After raping Immaculée, Shalom placed two heavy logs on her legs, one above the knee and one below knee, and, according to Immaculée, Shalom said, "[l]et's see if you can get out of that." After Immaculée had been raped, she asked Witness TA to help remove the logs. 7758 Witness TA testified that she went to visit Immaculée at a hospital and Immaculée told Witness TA that she had contracted AIDS during the 1994 events. Immaculée died in January 2001. 7759 Witness TA later testified that the rape of Immaculée occurred on the fifth occasion that Ntahobali visited the BPO, on which occasion Witness TA was not personally raped. 7760 Given the traumatic nature of the incident, and the amount of time that has passed since this rape, the Chamber does not consider this discrepancy to be serious or such as to undermine Witness TA's overall credibility as to this account.

⁷⁷⁴⁶ T. 24 October 2002 p. 85; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 81, 88, 99; T. 29 October 2002 p. 21 (Witness QBP).

⁷⁷⁴⁷ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 107-108 (ICS) (Witness QBP); for correct spelling, see T. 24 October 2002 p. 204 (Witness QBP) (French).
7748 T. 29 October 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBP).

⁷⁷⁴⁹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 15, 25 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁰ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 7-8; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 36-38 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵¹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 8, 10-11; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 39-40 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵² T. 29 October 2001 pp. 15, 25 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵³ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 16-17 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁴ T. 29 October 2001 p. 16 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁵ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 16-18; T. 1 November 2001 p. 44 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁶ T. 29 October 2001 p. 17; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 44, 48 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁷ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 24-27; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 45, 47-48 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁸ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 24-25; T. 1 November 2001 pp. 44-45 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁵⁹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 116-117 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁶⁰ T. 1 November 2001 pp. 42-43 (Witness TA).

2771. Witness TK also corroborated Witness TA's testimony regarding additional attacks. Apart from the night of three attacks, Witness TK testified that she saw Shalom very often at the BPO.⁷⁷⁶¹ He came on a number of evenings, accompanied by *Interahamwe* or disabled soldiers who were staying at the *Groupe Scolaire*.⁷⁷⁶² Those soldiers hit people with their crutches.⁷⁷⁶³ He came to mock the refugees.⁷⁷⁶⁴ On some occasions, he abducted women who were then raped.⁷⁷⁶⁵ He also came to determine whether there were any men left, who were then taken away to be killed. She testified that Shalom committed crimes on each evening he came to the BPO.⁷⁷⁶⁶ He would say to the *Interahamwe*, "[b]e firm in your actions," when he meant, "kill all of them."⁷⁷⁷⁶⁷ The *Interahamwe* surrounded Ntahobali and called him "*Shalom*, *chef*."⁷⁷⁶⁸ Witness TK also saw Shalom at the BPO on a few occasions during the day.⁷⁷⁶⁹ Nyiramasuhuko came alone to the BPO on other occasions, but she did not see Pauline when these rapes occurred.⁷⁷⁷⁰ The Chamber finds Witness TK's description of Ntahobali coming to the BPO along with soldiers from the *Groupe Scolaire* to be credible.

2772. The Chamber recalls Ntahobali's proffered alibi for June 1994 that he never left Hotel Ihuliro at night. The Chamber has found that this alibi was not reasonably possibly true. The Chamber also recalls Nyiramasuhuko's alibi that she was in Muramba attending Interim Government meetings on 6 and 10 June 1994 which the Chamber found to be reasonably possibly true. Nonetheless, her alibis for 7 to 9 June 1994 and from 11 to 19 June 1994 were not credible. Further, she admitted to being in Butare Town on the night of 11 June 1994. Although she claimed she did not leave Hotel Ihuliro that night, the Chamber found this not reasonably possibly true.

2773. Therefore, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt, based on the testimony of Witnesses TA, QBP and TK that, in addition to those attacks described above, Ntahobali, injured soldiers and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO in June 1994 to rape women and abduct refugees. During one of these attacks Ntahobali again handed Witness TA over to about seven *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA. It further finds that in June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsi women at the BPO and that as a result, numerous women were raped at that location. Although Nyiramasuhuko could not have been present on 6 and 10 June 1994, she had ample opportunity to perpetrate these crimes on 7 to 9 June and 11 to 19 June 1994.

3.6.19.4.10 Number of Refugees Abducted and Killed

2774. Few Prosecution witnesses were able to estimate the number of refugees who had been abducted and killed. For example, Witness TA was unable to estimate how many people

```
<sup>7761</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100; T. 23 May 2002 p. 88 (Witness TK).
<sup>7762</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK); T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>7763</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>7764</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK).
<sup>7765</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100; T. 23 May 2002 p. 126 (Witness TK).
<sup>7766</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 100 (Witness TK).
<sup>7767</sup> T. 22 May 2002 p. 109 (Witness TK).
<sup>7768</sup> T. 23 May 2002 p. 93 (Witness TK); see T. 23 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness TK) (French) (referring to "Shalom, chef").
<sup>7769</sup> T. 23 May 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness TK).
<sup>7770</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 53 (Witness TK).
```

Ntahobali cut up on the night he came to the BPO in mid-May because he was cutting up people very quickly and she was worried that he would slit her throat. Likewise, Des Forges testified that Nsabimana told her he did not know how many refugees were taken away from the BPO, but that he did know that it was happening.

2775. The parties did not dispute that the refugees who stayed at the BPO were Tutsis. The Any Hutu refugees at the BPO only stayed for a short time and were later taken to Mubumbano secteur. As to the number of refugees, Nsabimana testified that throughout the months of April and May the numbers varied on a daily basis, but that by the end of May it was clear that a big group of people was staying there. Nsabimana stated in Prosecution Exhibit 114 that initially, a small group of 20 refugees was at the BPO, but as time progressed more and more refugees came to the BPO. Witness SD also testified that the number of refugees changed, but she explained that it was because the refugees were being taken away to be killed and therefore their numbers decreased day by day. Witnesses TA, SJ, SU, SS, TK and FAP corroborated Witness SD's testimony on this point.

2776. It was also clear that the number of refugees diminished from 19 April until the refugees were taken to Rango in mid-June 1994. A number of refugees testified that towards the end of April, the refugees at the BPO numbered in the thousands: Witness TA stated there were 6,000 at the end of April; Witness SJ stated there were 1,500 in April; and Witness QBQ said there were 2,000 at the end of April. Other witnesses arrived at the end of May and testified that there were somewhat fewer refugees: Witness SU said there were about 600 on 28 May; Witness SS said there were 1,000 on 27 May; Witness FAP said that after

⁷⁷⁷¹ T. 31 October 2001 pp. 50-51 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁷² T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

⁷⁷⁷³ T. 24 October 2001 pp. 94-96 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 p. 58 (Witness TA); T. 20 May 2002 p. 35 (Witness TK); T. 28 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ); T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-153 (Witness SJ); T. 4 June 2002 pp. 82-83 (Witness SJ); T. 24 October 2002 p. 80 (Witness QBP); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 46, 52 (Witness QBP); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness SS); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 7, 9 (Witness SD); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7, 21. 22 (Witness QBQ); T. 4 July 2006 p. 71 (Bararwandika); T. 2 February 2005 pp. 34, 36 (Witness WMCZ); T. 2 February 2005 pp. 53-54 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ); T. 7 February 2005 pp. 23-24, 28 (ICS) (Witness WMCZ); T. 10 October 2006 p. 21 (Nsabimana) (did not doubt that many of the refugees were Tutsis).

⁷⁷⁷⁴ T. 23 May 2002 p. 9 (Witness TK); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 76-77 (Witness SU); T. 22 October 2002 pp. 32, 34 (Witness SU); T. 28 October 2002 pp. 48-49 (Witness QBP); T. 24 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 p. 54 (Witness RE); T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE); T. 11 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness SD); T. 10 October 2006 pp. 20-21 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁷⁷⁵ T. 9 October 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁷⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994); see also T. 9 October 2006 p. 18 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁷⁷⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 63 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 18 (Witness SD).

⁷⁷⁷⁸ T. 24 October 2001 pp. 95-96 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 58, 87 (Witness TA); T. 11 March 2003 p. 45 (Witness FAP); T. 28 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ); T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-153 (Witness SJ); T. 4 June 2002 pp. 82-83 (Witness SJ); T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS); T. 28 May 2002 p. 57 (Witness TK); T. 14 October 2002 p. 12 (Witness SU); T. 15 October 2002 p. 70 (Witness SU).

⁷⁷⁷⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 95; T. 29 October 2001 p. 58; T. 5 November 2001 p. 37 (Witness TA).

⁷⁷⁸⁰ T. 28 May 2002 p. 113; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-152; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 82-83 (Witness SJ).

⁷⁷⁸¹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 7, 38-39, 50 (Witness QBQ).

⁷⁷⁸² T. 14 October 2002 p. 12; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 69-70 (Witness SU) (she testified this was at the time she arrived).

⁷⁷⁸³ T. 3 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).

some people had already been killed in May there were 350 refugees at the BPO. The list testimony, Nsabimana estimated that at the end of May there were 200 refugees, but in a video interview taken on 15 June 1994, Nsabimana estimated there were about 200 refugees at that time as well. Of course, Nsabimana had an incentive to minimise the number of refugees who were at the BPO to limit his culpability. Patrick Fergal Keane testified that on 15 June 1994 there were about 200 refugees, but in a book published closer to the genocide he estimated that there were 500 refugees at the BPO. Witness TK, who provided detailed and credible testimony in other respects, testified that by the time the Tutsi refugees were transferred to Rango, there were only about 75 left; their numbers were visibly reduced.

2777. Several Defence witnesses also provided testimony that was consistent with this trend. Witness WZNA testified that between 16 and 18 April 1994 he saw 50 to 60 refugees at the BPO. This is also consistent with the testimony of killings started in Butare *préfecture* and therefore is not inconsistent with the Prosecution's case. Witness WMKL also testified that there were 100 to 150 refugees at the BPO the week after the President's plane crash, *i.e.* around 13 April 1994. Again, this was prior to Nsabimana's swearing-in and therefore is consistent with the Prosecution's case. Witness WZNA also testified that by early July 1994, there were no longer any refugees at the BPO. This is also consistent with the testimony that the refugees were taken to Rango after 15 June 1994.

2778. Other Defence witnesses provided testimony that was inconsistent with the Prosecution's case. Witness WNMN stated that in early June there were only 30 to 50 refugees at the BPO. However, Witness WNMN only saw the BPO in passing and was unable to state whether there were more refugees that were staying behind the BPO, where it was uncontested the refugees stayed during the day. Therefore, his testimony was based upon his own vantage point which did not permit him to have an overview of the number of refugees at the BPO. Therefore, his testimony is of limited value. Witness WTRT testified that there were only about 100 refugees at the BPO at the end of April or beginning of May. However, Witness WTRT was a Hutu soldier from the ESO⁷⁷⁹⁴ and the Chamber does not find his testimony on this point to be credible.

2779. The Chamber notes that it was also difficult to estimate the number of refugees who were forced to board the pickup on each occasion when refugees were abducted from the BPO. It was clear that the vehicle was full on each occasion. Witness TA testified that during one attack Ntahobali ordered the *Interahamwe* to stop killing refugees, as the number of dead

⁷⁷⁸⁴ T. 11 March 2003 p. 45; T. 12 March 2003 pp. 47-48 (Witness FAP).

⁷⁷⁸⁵ T. 25 September 2006 p. 47 (Keane); T. 28 September 2006 p. 53 (Keane); T. 9 October 2006 p. 60 (Nsabimana); T. 18 October 2006 p. 51 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁷⁸⁶ T. 28 September 2006 p. 53 (Keane).

⁷⁷⁸⁷ T. 28 May 2002 p. 57 (Witness TK).

⁷⁷⁸⁸ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 52, 55 (Witness WZNA).

⁷⁷⁸⁹ T. 6 April 2005 pp. 48-50; T. 11 April 2005 p. 37 (Witness WMKL).

⁷⁷⁹⁰ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 56-57 (Witness WZNA).

⁷⁷⁹¹ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 45-46 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 31 (Witness WNMN).

⁷⁷⁹² T. 15 June 2005 p. 34 (Witness WNMN).

⁷⁷⁹³ T. 9 March 2005 p. 51 (Witness WTRT).

⁷⁷⁹⁴ T. 9 March 2005 pp. 34, 64 (ICS) (Witness WTRT).

people were in excess to the number of people who could be loaded in the vehicle.⁷⁷⁹⁵ In addition, the Chamber has found that between mid-May and mid-June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali came to the BPO with the pickup on at least seven occasions (once in mid-May; two additional times from mid-May to the beginning of June; three attacks during one night at the end of May or beginning of June; and another attack in June). Considering the pickup was nearly full on at least seven occasions, the Chamber is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that hundreds of Tutsi refugees were abducted from the BPO and killed.

3.6.19.4.11 Summary of Findings

2780. In sum, having fully considered the alibis of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and the evidence adduced against them with regard to the allegations of criminal conduct occurring at the BPO between 19 April 1994 and the end of June 1994, the Chamber makes the following factual findings.

2781. The Chamber finds the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that: between 19 April and late June 1994 Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers went to the BPO to abduct hundreds of Tutsis; the Tutsi refugees were physically assaulted and raped; and the Tutsi refugees were killed in various locations throughout Ngoma *commune*, including the following specific incidents:

- i.In mid-May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and about 10 *Interahamwe* came to the BPO aboard a camouflaged pickup. Nyiramasuhuko ordered the *Interahamwe* to force Tutsi refugees onto the pickup. Ntahobali and about eight other *Interahamwe* raped Witness TA. Some of the *Interahamwe* raped two other Tutsi women. The pickup left the BPO, abducting Tutsi refugees in the process, some of whom were forced to undress.
- ii.During the last half of May 1994, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on two more occasions. Ntahobali violently raped Witness TA, hitting her on the head. *Interahamwe* following the orders of Ntahobali raped six other women. In a subsequent attack during this same time period, Ntahobali ordered about seven other *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA.
- iii.Around the end of May to the beginning of June 1994, Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on board a camouflaged pickup three times in one night. They abducted Tutsi refugees each time, some of whom were forced to undress, taking them to other sites in Butare *préfecture* to be killed. Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape refugees because they were Tutsi. The *Interahamwe* beat, abused and raped many Tutsi women.
- iv. Throughout these attacks from 19 April to the end of June 1994, regardless of whether the refugees were taken to Rwabayanga, Kabutare, Mukoni or the IRST, hundreds of refugees were abducted from the BPO and never seen again, including Mbasha's wife and children, Trifina and other women and children. The only reasonable inference is that these refugees were killed.

_

⁷⁷⁹⁵ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46, 49-51 (Witness TA).

v.In the first half of June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsi women at the BPO and that as a result numerous women were raped at that location. Ntahobali, injured soldiers and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO to rape women and abduct refugees. During at least one of these attacks Ntahobali again handed Witness TA over to about seven *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA.

2782. The Prosecution did not prove the following allegations beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) Ntahobali abducted 30 Tutsi refugees on 28 April 1994; and (2) based on the evidence of Witness QY, Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko abducted raped and killed Tutsi refugees at the BPO in late April or early May 1994. Likewise, the Chamber does not enter any conviction for the abduction, killing and/or rape of the following persons due to the notice violation of the Prosecution: Mbasha's wife and children, Trifina, Immaculée, Semanyenzi, Caritas and Annonciata.

3.6.20 Butare Préfecture Office – Nsabimana

3.6.20.1 Introduction

2783. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges Nsabimana was present and going about his daily business at the BPO from 19 April 1994 when *Interahamwe* and soldiers assaulted, abducted and killed those seeking refuge at the BPO. Some of the refugees asked Nsabimana for protection, but Nsabimana did nothing to put an end to the attacks. The Prosecution submits that refugees were abducted, raped and killed on the grounds of the BPO when they should have been under the care of Nsabimana. The Prosecution also argued that the BPO had become a concentration camp, a place where a huge number of refugees were assembled, brought together, and sent gradually on a daily basis to various sites to be executed, to be killed. The Support of this allegation, the Prosecution relies on the evidence of Witnesses TA, TK, SU, QBP, RE, SS, FAP, SD, QBQ, TQ and Expert Witness Alison Des Forges. It also points to the evidence of Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika.

2784. The Nsabimana Defence argues that the Indictment limits Nsabimana's responsibility to crimes that occurred when Nsabimana was in his office at the BPO attending to business. As such, the Defence argues the Indictment excludes crimes that occurred at night when he was not present at the BPO. The Indictment excludes crimes that occurred at night when he was not present at the BPO to stop them. Indictment found out about abductions, he posted *gendarmes* at the BPO to stop them. Finally, the Defence argues that the Indictment failed to plead superior responsibility or that Nsabimana participated directly in the attacks by planning, ordering, inciting or committing. Therefore, the Prosecution's case is limited to aiding and abetting. As to attacks that took place during the day at the BPO, the Defence argues that the Prosecution evidence was inadequate to establish that Nsabimana was

⁷⁷⁹⁶ Para. 6.36 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana only).

⁷⁷⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 248, 264-268, 279, 296, paras. 63, 109-123, 164, 229.

Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 87.

⁷⁷⁹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1209-1210.

⁷⁸⁰⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1476-1484.

⁷⁸⁰¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1211-1212, 1219.

in fact in his office during the attacks. The lies on the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witnesses Patrick Fergal Keane and Alexandre Bararwandika, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses WMKL and WKKTD and Nsabimana.

3.6.20.2 Preliminary Issues

Adequate Pleading of Article 6 (3) Responsibility

2785. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution alleges that Nsabimana is responsible as a superior for the *Interahamwe's* perpetration of abductions, killings and rapes at the BPO at night. In this regard, the Chamber recalls the pleading requirements as to superior responsibility set forth in the Preliminary Issues section (). Paragraph 6.36 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nsabimana was present at the BPO while attacks were being perpetrated at that location and that he failed to stop them. Therefore it clearly sets forth the criminal acts, the reason why Nsabimana would be aware of that criminal conduct, and why Nsabimana would be held responsible. Paragraph 6.36, however, fails to allege a superior-subordinate relationship. It asserts that militiamen and soldiers attacked refugees at the BPO but does not allege that Nsabimana was their superior or that he had effective control over them.

2786. An Indictment must be read as a whole. Paragraph 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment asserts that local authorities, including Nsabimana, aided and abetted their subordinates in carrying out the massacres of the Tutsi population. That paragraph does not indicate the identity of Nsabimana's subordinates. Paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 assert that the *préfet's* authority covers the entire *préfecture* and that in the discharge of his policing duties, the *préfet* may request the intervention of the army and of the *Gendarmerie Nationale*. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.36, when read in conjunction with Paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 6.59 of the Indictment, made it clear to the Nsabimana Defence that the Prosecution alleged that Nsabimana had authority over soldiers within the army and *gendarmes* within the *Gendarmerie Nationale*.

2787. The Chamber notes the Indictment alleged that Nteziryayo, as director of civil defence, exercised authority over the *Interahamwe* militiamen and certain civilians. In contrasting Paragraphs 4.3 and 4.6 of the Indictment, the only allegation against Nsabimana was that he exercised authority over unspecified subordinates. Unlike with Nteziryayo, no paragraph alleges that Nsabimana had authority over *Interahamwe* militiamen. Therefore, it is the Chamber's view that the Indictment failed to charge Nsabimana with Article 6 (3) responsibility for attacks by *Interahamwe* at the BPO.

2788. The Chamber notes the Prosecution opening statement, which set forth the Prosecution case against Nsabimana, stated that he summoned the *bourgmestres* in order to organise the killings. None of the witness summaries in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief state that

 $^{^{7802}}$ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1500, 1518-1519, 1523, 1537, 1539.

⁷⁸⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 282, para. 176.

Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

⁷⁸⁰⁵ Paras. 3.3 and 3.4 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

⁷⁸⁰⁶ Paras. 4.3 and 4.6 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

⁷⁸⁰⁷ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 76.

Nsabimana was the superior of the *Interahamwe*. Therefore, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution did not cure the defect in the Indictment for failing to plead a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and the *Interahamwe* and will not consider whether Nsabimana was responsible as a superior for acts by *Interahamwe*.

Scope of Paragraph 6.36

2789. The Nsabimana Defence argues that Paragraph 6.36 of the Indictment excludes atrocities committed when Nsabimana was not present at the BPO. The Paragraph 6.36 alleges, "[t]he attacks took place while *Préfet* Sylvain Nsabimana was present and going about his daily business at the [BPO]." The Chamber notes that this sentence could mean either: (1) that Nsabimana would go to his office during the time period in which the attacks occurred at the BPO; or (2) that the attacks occurred while Nsabimana was sitting in his office at the BPO. Even if the language limits the allegation to attacks while Nsabimana was sitting in his office, Paragraph 6.36 must be read in conjunction with Paragraph 6.42 which provides that: "The entire *préfecture* of Butare was the scene of massacres of the Tutsi population.... These massacres occurred while Sylvain Nsabimana was exercising his authority as *Préfet* of Butare." In addition, Paragraph 6.36 was pled in support of both Article 6 (1) and Article 6 (3) responsibility, neither of which require the accused to be present to be held accountable. The Chamber considers that it is clear that the Prosecution sought to prove that Nsabimana, as *préfet*, was responsible for attacks occurring throughout Butare *préfecture* including those occurring at the BPO, whether or not he was physically present.

Notice of the Specifics of the Attacks and Requests for Assistance

2790. The Nsabimana Defence argues that there is ambiguity with regard to the nature of the attacks, the number of attacks, identity and origin of the soldiers, the commanding officers, the end date of the attacks, the type of attacks and the specifics with regard to the requests for assistance, including the *préfet's* reactions. Respective Main regard to the requests for Nteziryayo Indictment specifies the attacks included the forcible abduction, assault and killing of refugees. It also specified that these attacks occurred when Nsabimana was at the BPO going about his daily business. As to the time period, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.21 states that Nsabimana was sworn in as *préfet* on 19 April 1994 and that Paragraph 6.34 states that Nteziryayo replaced Nsabimana on 17 June 1994. When read in conjunction with Paragraph 6.36, it was clear the alleged requests for assistance to Nsabimana took place between these two dates during the day when Nsabimana was going about his daily business at the BPO. The Prosecution has an obligation to state the material facts underpinning the charges in the indictment, but not the evidence by which such facts are to be proven. ⁷⁸¹⁰ In the Chamber's view, details such as the attitude and reactions of the *préfet*, and the form of the requests for assistance constitute evidence by which the Prosecution may prove the charge in Paragraph 6.36. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.36, when read with the Indictment as a whole, adequately pled these details.

_

⁷⁸⁰⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1209-1210.

⁷⁸⁰⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1491-1494.

⁷⁸¹⁰ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 470.

Notice of Particular Victims

2791. The Nsabimana Defence further argues that it did not have notice of the alleged abductions of refugees named Donat, Mr. Mbasha and Pierre from the BPO. The Chamber notes that the names Donat, Mr. Mbasha and Pierre did not appear in the Indictment.

2792. The Chamber recalls that there may be circumstances where the sheer scale of killing prevents the Prosecution from providing a high level of specificity with regard to details such as the names of victims. The Chamber has ruled that some of the killings at the BPO from 19 April to late June 1994 involved dozens if not hundreds of victims and did not require the Prosecution to specify each of the victim's names. However, the abductions of Donat, Mr. Mbasha and Pierre each involved only a single victim (or in the case of Donat two victims). Although these alleged attacks took place at the BPO during the same time period as the large-scale attacks, *i.e.* from 19 April to late June 1994, the abductions of Donat, Mr. Mbasha and Pierre took place during the day and were evidentiarily distinct from the attacks at night involving the pickup and 10 *Interahamwe*. As such, the Chamber finds that it was not impracticable to name these three individual victims due to the sheer scale of the attacks at the BPO occurring at night.

2793. As to Donat, neither the Pre-Trial Brief nor its Appendix mentioned his name. Furthermore, Witness SU's statement of 20 November 1996 stated that soldiers and *Interahamwe* picked young boys and men at the BPO to be killed. The statement does not mention Donat or Nsabimana in connection with the abduction and killing of these boys and men. Similarly, Witness TA's statement of 19 November 1997 makes no mention of one Donat or even the abduction of men. The Chamber therefore finds that Nsabimana did not have notice that he was being charged with the abduction and killing of a man named Donat and will not convict Nsabimana for his abduction and killing.

2794. As to Mr. Mbasha, ⁷⁸¹⁴ neither the Pre-Trial Brief nor its Appendix cited to the abduction of Mbasha. Witness TK's statement of 12 November 1996 mentioned Nyiramasuhuko's interaction with a woman named Mbasha and the subsequent abduction of Mbasha's children. ⁷⁸¹⁵ However, the statement made no mention of Nsabimana or a man named Mbasha. Furthermore, Witness TK's statement of 22 and 23 April 1998 did not mention Nsabimana or Mbasha. ⁷⁸¹⁶ The Chamber therefore finds that Nsabimana did not have notice that he was being charged with the abduction of a man named Mbasha and will not convict Nsabimana for his abduction and killing.

_

⁷⁸¹¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1495-1509, 1538-1541.

⁷⁸¹² See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 58.

⁷⁸¹³ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU, disclosed 4 November 1998, 4 December 2000, 15 June 2001, and 1 October 2001

and 1 October 2001.

The Prosecution does not submit in its Closing Brief that Nsabimana was responsible for the killing of Mbasha's wife and children. Therefore, the Chamber does not address notice as to the alleged killing of Mbasha's family.

⁷⁸¹⁵ 12 November 1996, Statement of Witness TK, disclosed 23 April 2001.

⁷⁸¹⁶ 22-23 April 1998, Statement of Witness TK, disclosed 4 November 1998.

2795. As to Pierre, the Prosecution disclosed his name on 23 April 2001 in the statement of Witness TK, more than one year prior to the witness testifying. In addition, the Prosecution filed the list of witnesses it intended to call to testify on 6 April 2001, including the order in which it intended to call its first 12 witnesses. Among these first 12 witnesses, was Witness TK. However, Witness TK was not listed as a witness who would provide testimony against Nsabimana. The Chamber finds that a single witness statement among many cannot cure the defect in the Indictment for failing to name this particular victim. Therefore, the Chamber finds the defect was not cured and will not convict Nsabimana for his abduction and killing.

2796. The Chamber also notes that Prosecution Witness TK testified as to the killing of her brother at the BPO when Nsabimana was present during the day. This allegation does not appear in the Indictment or in the summary of Witness TK's testimony in the Pre-Trial Brief. Witness TK did mention her brothers in her prior statements. In her statement of 12 November 1996, she stated that she was hiding at a nunnery with her brothers and their children, but that they were killed. In her statement of 17 December 1996 (signed 22 January 1997), she stated that her brother was killed during the massacres. Finally, in her statement of 23 April 1998, she stated that she had three brothers and that one of her brothers was later killed. She also stated that none of her brothers or their children was killed at the convent, but one brother was killed later at the BPO. She further stated that attacks occurred at the BPO in the daytime. In her statements, Witness TK names Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Kanyabashi, but she does not name Nsabimana. Likewise, she does not assert that her brother was killed during the daytime when Nsabimana or a préfet was at the BPO. There was no information as to Nsabimana's involvement. Therefore, the Chamber considers that this information was not clear and consistent and did not cure the defect in the Indictment related to Witness TK's brother, such that it will not convict Nsabimana for his killing.

2797. The Nsabimana Defence also asserts that it did not have notice of the abduction of a young man named Alphonse, who had asked for assistance from Nsabimana, as Witness RE testified. The Chamber notes Paragraph 6.36 of the Indictment sets forth that refugees who were being attacked at the BPO asked Nsabimana to protect them from the violent acts of militiamen and soldiers. Nonetheless, the Nsabimana Defence argues that it would be unfair to rely on Witness RE's evidence because it did not have notice that she would be testifying as to this allegation. The Chamber notes that the testimony regarding Alphonse arose for the first time on cross-examination by counsel for Nsabimana. The Chamber recalls that where evidence is introduced that was not in the possession of the Prosecution prior to trial, it is unfair to base a conviction thereon. The rationale for this rule is that the Prosecution has ample opportunity to obtain more specific information from a witness prior to trial, and should not benefit from pleading broad generalities. Here, the Prosecution pled in Paragraph 6.36 that refugees asked for assistance. The Prosecution had an opportunity to ask Witness RE about the specifics of any requests to Nsabimana for assistance. Its failure to do so rendered the notice to Nsabimana inadequate. Therefore, the Chamber will not convict Nsabimana for the events

⁷⁸¹⁷ 12 November 1996, Statement of Witness TK, unredacted versions disclosed 23 April 2001 and 1 October 2001

⁷⁸¹⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1526-1531.

⁷⁸¹⁹ T. 27 February 2003 pp. 5-6 (Witness RE).

⁷⁸²⁰ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 78-79.

related to a refugee named Alphonse. Nonetheless, the Chamber may consider the evidence of the abduction of Alphonse for other permissible purposes. ⁷⁸²¹

Allegation Regarding Care of Refugees

2798. The Prosecution argues that Nsabimana is guilty of extermination and persecution for failing to provide the refugees with food, water and soap. It also argued that the BPO had become a concentration camp where Tutsi refugees were assembled and taken elsewhere to be killed. Paragraph 6.36 does not include reference to the failure to provide these provisions to refugees; rather it specifies that Nsabimana was responsible for abductions, assaults and killings. Nsabimana could not know that he was being charged for failing to provide food, water and soap to refugees at the BPO because there was no mention of it in the Indictment. Such an allegation is distinct from the charge of abduction, assaults and killings and is capable of supporting a separate charge. Accordingly, the Chamber finds this to be an impermissible expansion of an existing charge against Nsabimana and therefore will not consider this charge against Nsabimana.

Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114

2799. The Nsabimana Defence argues that Prosecution Exhibits 113 (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) and 114 (Interview with Nsabimana dated 1 October 1994), said by Expert Witness Des Forges to have been sent to her by Nsabimana, were accepted for the sole purpose of establishing the basis for Des Forges' opinions. The Defence asserts that these documents were to be used only to establish contradictions, if necessary. 7824

2800. The Chamber recalls its oral ruling of 8 June 2004 in which it held that Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114 were admissible as one of the sources relied upon by Expert Witness Des Forges in formulating her expert opinion. The Chamber ruled that the weight and probative value of the expert opinion would be evaluated at the end of the trial. The Chamber did not rule that Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114 could only be used to establish contradictions; rather the exhibits were admitted to help substantiate Des Forges' opinion. The Chamber's deliberations on these matters necessarily implicate the weight and probative value to be attributed to Des Forges' opinion as well as the materials upon which she relied. The Chamber also notes that Nsabimana did not object to the admissibility or contest the authenticity of these documents. In fact, Nsabimana acknowledged that Prosecution Exhibit 113 was his own, including all that it entails, but that he preferred to rely on the French version of the document introduced as Defence Exhibit 494. Nsabimana stated that Prosecution Exhibit 114 reflected his own views. The Chamber is a substantial of the preferred to rely on the French version of the document introduced as Defence Exhibit 494. Nsabimana stated that Prosecution Exhibit 114 reflected his own views.

_

⁷⁸²¹ *Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko*, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15; *Kupreškic et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

⁷⁸²² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 281, 284, paras. 173, 184; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 64; Defence Exhibit 473A (Nsabimana) (BBC Footage) at 36:00-36:17.

⁷⁸²³ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 87.

⁷⁸²⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 203-204.

⁷⁸²⁵ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 47-49, 62 (Des Forges).

⁷⁸²⁶ T. 22 November 2006 pp. 39-40 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸²⁷ T. 13 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

BBC reporter Greg Barrow at the YMCA and his friend James Stanley. Nsabimana had given the two an interview in which he spoke English, thereby explaining the apparently broken English in the transcript. 7828 Based upon Nsabimana's acknowledgement that these documents were authentic, the Chamber will evaluate their weight and probative value in light of the other evidence, considering in due course the opinion of Expert Witness Des Forges and Nsabimana's assertions regarding these documents.

3.6.20.3 Deliberations – Nsabimana

3.6.20.3.1 Refugee Situation at the BPO

2801. Nsabimana testified that he did not make a decision to separate the Hutu and Tutsi refugees from one another. Rather, he said the decision to create separate camps for Hutu and Tutsi refugees was made in 1993 by the UNHCR and *préfecture* and local authorities. ⁷⁸²⁹ The Chamber considers this to be a reasonable explanation. Furthermore, the fact that Nsabimana did not order the refugees divided by ethnicity was supported by the testimony of Witnesses RE and TK. 7830 Therefore, the Chamber does not find that Nsabimana intentionally divided the refugees into groups based on their ethnicity. Nonetheless, Nsabimana admitted that he knew that the refugees at the BPO were Tutsis. 7831

3.6.20.3.2 Nsabimana's Knowledge of Attacks at the BPO

2802. The Chamber notes that Expert Witness Des Forges testified that she received Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114 from Nsabimana. 7832 Prosecution Exhibit 113 was signed on every page. Although Nsabimana did not testify as to whether the signature was his own, Nsabimana made no objection to the admissibility or authenticity of Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114. He explained in his testimony that he did not object to Prosecution Exhibit 114 because the views expressed therein were not 100 percent different from his own. 7833 Based upon all of the foregoing, the Chamber considers that Prosecution Exhibits 113 and 114 contain the writings of Nsabimana. The Chamber notes that some of the statements therein were against Nsabimana's interest and that such statements carry significant probative weight. The Chamber also notes, however, that Nsabimana had an incentive to minimise his involvement in the genocide and the documents will be viewed in light of these considerations.

2803. It was not disputed that Nsabimana was working at the BPO from the time that he was sworn in as *préfet* until around 17 June 1994, when Nteziryayo took over as *préfet* of Butare. Nsabimana argues that he did not know that attacks were occurring at the BPO during this time period.⁷⁸³⁴ The Prosecution alleges that refugees came to Nsabimana with requests for

⁷⁸²⁸ T. 22 November 2006 p. 45 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸²⁹ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 20-21 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸³⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 10; T. 26 February 2003 p. 53 (Witness RE) (Nsabimana ordered the refugees to divide into two groups: one group of refugees from Butare préfecture and another group of refugees from other préfectures in order that bourgmestres of Butare's communes would evacuate the refugees back to their communes of origin); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 75-76 (Witness TK) (the Interahamwe split the refugees into several groups: men on one side, old people on another, women on another). ⁷⁸³¹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 21 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸³² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 35-36 (Des Forges).

⁷⁸³³ T. 13 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸³⁴ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 16, 24 (Nsabimana).

assistance and he refused to provide protection. The testimony of Witnesses TK, SU, SS, QBP and RE appear to relate to several different incidents of this nature. In addition, Nsabimana provided testimony as to his knowledge of similar incidents.

2804. First, the Chamber recalls the testimony of Witness TK regarding the abduction of a refugee named Alphonse. The Chamber has held that the Nsabimana Defence did not have notice that the abduction of this alleged victim would form part of the Prosecution case against Nsabimana. However, the Chamber considers this evidence relevant to the issue of whether Nsabimana was aware that attacks of Tutsis were occurring at the BPO at night and will consider it for this limited purpose. 7835 Witness TK testified that around the end of May or beginning of June, a young refugee man named Alphonse ran towards the BPO to the office of Nsabimana. 7836 Witness TK knew the young man as she had arrived at the BPO with him. 7837 He entered the office but was forced out a few moments later. 7838 Outside the *préfet*'s office, a man approached Alphonse with a club and Alphonse attempted to run away. 7839 He was caught by three young men and taken away by Interahamwe in the direction of the market, with his hands tied behind his back. 7840 Witness TK stated that Alphonse never came back and she concluded that he had been killed. 7841 The Nsabimana Defence cross-examined Witness TK as to a prior statement in which she asserted that Alphonse asked for the help of the military préfet. She explained that the prior statement was incorrect and, in her testimony, she never wavered that Nsabimana was the *préfet* at the time of this incident. 7842 She described the *préfet* who was present as a man with a small tummy, not too tall and with a scar on his face; his name was Sylvain and he was replaced by another *préfet* later on. 7843 Witness TK knew Alphonse personally and provided significant details about the incident, including the fact that Alphonse ran around a flag pole prior to arriving at the *préfet's* office, he called out for help and he was pushed out of the *préfet*'s office. She was unable to say whether the *préfet* pushed out Alphonse or whether soldiers did so. ⁷⁸⁴⁴ Based on these factors, the Chamber finds Witness TK to be credible as to this event and finds that a man named Alphonse ran to Nsabimana's office to ask him for help while Nsabimana was in his office around the end of May or beginning of June 1994.

2805. Witness RE testified in significant detail about a young man and woman who went to Nsabimana's office looking for help. She said she saw the two leaving the *préfet's* office and watched as the young man was dragged away by soldiers. The young woman who accompanied the young man told the other refugees, including Witness RE, that she and the young man had just seen the *préfet*, who was Nsabimana at the time, and that the young man

⁷⁸³⁵ *Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko*, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, paras. 14-15; *Kupreškic et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 321-323, 336.

⁷⁸³⁶ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 60-61 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸³⁷ T. 20 May 2002 p. 60; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 18, 31-32 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸³⁸ T. 20 May 2002 p. 61; T. 27 May 2002 p. 18 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸³⁹ T. 27 May 2002 p. 19 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁴⁰ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 61-62; T. 27 May 2002 p. 19 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁴¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 62 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁴² T. 27 May 2002 pp. 29-32, 35 (Witness TK); Defence Exhibit 46 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (14 November 1997, Statement of Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁴³ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 61-62 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁴⁴ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 60-61; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 18-19, 31-32 (Witness TK).

was now being dragged away.⁷⁸⁴⁵ Based on the detail and consistency of her testimony, the Chamber finds Witness RE's testimony credible on this point and establishes that a young man and young woman went to Nsabimana's office looking for help in early June 1994.

2806. Witnesses SU and SS both testified that in a separate incident after attacks occurred at the BPO, three women went to see Nsabimana on behalf of the other refugees. Although neither was present at the meeting, they were told that Nsabimana denied knowledge of the attacks and said he would post *gendarmes* to protect them. 7847

2807. The Chamber notes that Nsabimana admitted in his testimony that a woman came to his office seeking assistance around 15 June 1994. However, Nsabimana testified that he responded to the refugees' requests for assistance by posting soldiers at the BPO around 5 June 1994. This calls into question Nsabimana's credibility as to when he knew about the nighttime attacks at the BPO because he could not have responded to their requests before he received them. In addition, Nsabimana admitted in Prosecution Exhibit 113 that there were isolated cases of disappearances at night which he attributed to unknown soldiers and hooligans. Further, in Prosecution Exhibit 114, Nsabimana stated that he made a list of people living at the BPO so that he could check if there had been problems the night before. 7851 More importantly, Nsabimana admitted during his testimony that he was not at peace with himself when he went home from the BPO during this period because he feared that he may not find the refugees when he returned in the morning. 7852 Based on all of the above, the Chamber is convinced that Nsabimana was aware of the night-time attacks at the BPO and he was presented with multiple requests for assistance from Tutsi refugees starting, at least, around the end of May 1994. 7853 Based upon Nsabimana's own admissions and the open and notorious nature of the attacks, the Chamber is convinced that Nsabimana was actually aware of the attacks even earlier.

3.6.20.3.3 Posting of *Gendarmes* or Soldiers

2808. Nsabimana testified that he posted five or six soldiers at the BPO around 5 June 1994. In his interview, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 114, Nsabimana stated that *Interahamwe* came to the BPO and wanted to kill the refugees and that he was given 12 soldiers by a certain colonel to protect them. He also stated in Prosecution Exhibit 113 that he provided *gendarmes* to protect the refugees. In testimony, Nsabimana stated that he asked Colonels Munyengango and Mugemanyi to second soldiers to the BPO to protect the

⁷⁸⁴⁵ T. 27 February 2003 pp. 5-6 (Witness RE).

⁷⁸⁴⁶ T. 14 October 2002 p. 83 (Witness SU); T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU); T. 10 March 2003 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SS).

⁷⁸⁴⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 83; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).

⁷⁸⁴⁸ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 15-16 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸⁴⁹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸⁵⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016627.

⁷⁸⁵¹ Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) p. K0120070.

⁷⁸⁵² T. 9 October 2006 pp. 80-81 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸⁵³ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 60-61 (Witness TK).

⁷⁸⁵⁴ T. 10 October 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁷⁸⁵⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) p. K0120070.

⁷⁸⁵⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016631.

refugees.⁷⁸⁵⁷ This is consistent with Nsabimana's statement to Keane around 15 June 1994 that he had posted soldiers at the BPO to protect the refugees.⁷⁸⁵⁸ Moreover, Witness SU corroborated Nsabimana's account, in part, testifying that persons in uniform came to guard the refugees.⁷⁸⁵⁹ However, she estimated that Nsabimana only posted guards at the BPO towards the end of June 1994. Although Witness SU said that Nsabimana only posted guards towards the end of June 1994, she stated that the dates she provided were only estimates.⁷⁸⁶⁰

2809. According to Witness SU, Nsabimana told the refugees that he was not aware of the attacks at the BPO and that he would provide *gendarmes* to protect them or, alternatively, he would come and spend the night with the refugees himself. She said that Nsabimana called the *gendarmes* who came to guard the refugees towards the end of June. At first, the *gendarmes* told them: If anyone wants to get up, two or three people should accompany that person. And if someone is being raped, you must shout. From that point on, no one was abducted or raped. It was only later however that the *gendarmes* realised they were guarding Tutsis, and they later told the refugees that if the RPF came, the *gendarmes* would kill all of the refugees before they could be rescued.

2810. In contrast, Witnesses SS and QBP asserted that Nsabimana refused to help the refugees. Witness SS claimed that Nsabimana did nothing for those who asked for help and said the attacks continued after this incident and their security concerns were not solved. Witness QBP testified that a woman was attacked and wounded on her ear by an *Interahamwe*. The woman went to complain to Nsabimana, but he did nothing for her. Furthermore, Des Forges also testified that Nsabimana told her there were no guards to take care of the refugees at night. The woman went to complain to Nsabimana told her there were no guards to take care of the refugees at night.

2811. The Chamber considers that Witness SU had no motive to lie about the presence of *gendarmes* being posted by Nsabimana. Her description of the *gendarmes* as initially protecting the refugees but later making threatening comments was believable. Likewise, Witness SS corroborated aspects of Witness SU's testimony in stating that a group of soldiers chased away a vehicle that came to the BPO to abduct people. She said the soldiers told the refugees they should alert them whenever these people came so that the soldiers could react.⁷⁸⁶⁸

2812. Considering all of the above, the Chamber is convinced that Nsabimana eventually posted *gendarmes* or soldiers at the BPO sometime between 5 June and 15 June 1994.

```
<sup>7857</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).
<sup>7858</sup> T. 25 September 2006 p. 47; T. 28 September 2006 p. 21 (Keane).
<sup>7859</sup> T. 21 October 2002 pp. 38-39 (Witness SU).
<sup>7860</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 89; T. 21 October 2002 pp. 38-40, 42; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).
<sup>7861</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 83; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).
<sup>7862</sup> T. 17 October 2002 p. 89; T. 21 October 2002 pp. 38-40, 42; T. 22 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness SU).
<sup>7863</sup> T. 21 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness SU).
<sup>7864</sup> T. 21 October 2002 pp. 39-40 (Witness SU).
<sup>7865</sup> T. 10 March 2003 p. 15 (ICS); T. 10 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SS).
<sup>7866</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 48 (Witness QBP).
<sup>7867</sup> T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).
<sup>7868</sup> T. 10 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness SS).
```

However, the Chamber is also convinced that there was a significant time period during which Nsabimana knew about the attacks and did not act to protect the refugees.

- 2813. There was a discrepancy as to whether the persons assigned to the BPO were soldiers or *gendarmes*. Witness SU referred to the guards as *gendarmes* but she did not testify as to how she distinguished between soldiers and *gendarmes*. Nsabimana stated they were soldiers seconded to the BPO. Regardless of whether there were soldiers or *gendarmes*, there was no dispute that they had been requisitioned by Nsabimana.
- 2814. Finally, Witness WMKL testified that the refugees at the BPO felt secure and did not fear for their lives. While it is plausible that the refugees came to the BPO to seek protection, the Prosecution evidence and Nsabimana's admissions clearly showed that the refugees were not in fact safe and were aware of their precarious situation.
- 2815. As to the purpose of the soldiers' assignment, Witness SU stated that the *gendarmes* were not made aware that they were to protect the refugees and that they made threats that they would kill all of the refugees before they were rescued. Nonetheless, Witness SU did not testify that the *gendarmes* attempted to harm the refugees in any way. Therefore, the evidence does not support an inference that Nsabimana requisitioned the soldiers and/or *gendarmes* to harm the refugees insofar as it relates to Paragraph 6.36 of the Indictment.

3.6.21 Meetings at the Butare *Préfecture* Office, April – June 1994

3.6.21.1 Introduction

2816. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, ⁷⁸⁷¹ the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment ⁷⁸⁷² and the Kanyabashi Indictment ⁷⁸⁷³ allege that from late 1990 to July 1994, authorities including Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi, "conspired among themselves and with others to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and eliminate members of the opposition, so that they could remain in power." In executing this plan the Accused organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. ⁷⁸⁷⁴ It is also alleged that Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi, among others, aided and abetted in the massacres of Tutsis. ⁷⁸⁷⁵

⁷⁸⁶⁹ T. 6 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WMKL).

⁷⁸⁷⁰ T. 21 October 2002 pp. 39-40 (Witness SU).

⁷⁸⁷¹ Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko).

⁷⁸⁷² Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.6 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁷⁸⁷³ Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁷⁸⁷⁵ Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Paras. 6.53 and 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Paras. 6.58 and 6.64 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

2817. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment further alleges that the BPO was "the site of numerous meetings between the authorities of the préfecture." The Kanvabashi Indictment alleges that there were meetings between the main authorities of the préfecture and their subordinates at the BPO.⁷⁸⁷⁷

2818. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi are all responsible pursuant to Article 6 (1) by means of their direct participation in these meetings. 7878 Nsabimana is also responsible pursuant to Article 6 (3) for instructing bourgmestres, who were his subordinates, to kill Tutsi civilians and for distributing weapons to those bourgmestres. 7879 Nteziryayo is responsible pursuant to Article 6 (3) for instructing *Interahamwe*, who were his subordinates, to kill Tutsi civilians. ⁷⁸⁸⁰

2819. The Prosecution asserts that numerous witnesses testified to seeing Nyiramasuhuko attend meetings at the BPO but that specific dates were not always given. 7881 Nonetheless, it submits that Nyiramasuhuko met with local authorities such as Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and various others, including President Sindikubwabo, to plan the killing of Tutsis. 7882 The Prosecution further submits that it was obvious that Nyiramasuhuko and other authorities, including Nsabimana and Kanyabashi were discussing the massacres because killings followed the meetings. 7883 As part of its case against Nsabimana in respect of the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide, the Prosecution submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings with local authorities in Butare préfecture during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. 7884 During one of these meetings at which Nsabimana was present, Nyiramasuhuko exited the room and stated that refugees ought to be killed and exterminated.⁷⁸⁸⁵

2820. Specifically, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that Nyiramasuhuko called one meeting in April 1994, which Nsabimana attended and at which the progress and the means to complete the massacres were discussed. 7886

2821. As to a second meeting, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that around 10 June 1994, Nsabimana met with Interim President Sindikubwabo and Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO at which time

⁷⁸⁷⁶ Para. 6.32 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko). ⁷⁸⁷⁷ Para. 6.43 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁷⁸⁷⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 257, para. 89; p. 337, para. 101; p. 403, para. 66.

⁷⁸⁷⁹ Para. 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)); Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 257-258, para. 90-91.

⁷⁸⁸⁰ Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 338, paras. 104-106.

⁷⁸⁸¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 60-61, para. 109.

⁷⁸⁸² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 60-63, 92, paras. 109-116, 211.

⁷⁸⁸³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 62, para. 114; p. 250, para. 68; p. 395, para. 31.

⁷⁸⁸⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 231-232, 235, paras. 9, 14-15, 22.

⁷⁸⁸⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 248-250, paras. 64-66; pp. 394-395, paras. 30-31.

⁷⁸⁸⁶ Para. 6.32 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

Nyiramasuhuko asked why Tutsis at the BPO had not been killed. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges that at another meeting at around the same time, Kanyabashi and Minister André Rwamakuba told Nsabimana that Tutsi refugees at the BPO must be exterminated and that Nsabimana never dissociated himself from these calls to kill Tutsis. Likewise, the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that in June 1994, Kanyabashi told Nsabimana that the Tutsi refugees at the BPO must be exterminated. Ranyabashi told Nsabimana that the Tutsi refugees at the BPO must be exterminated.

2822. In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies on the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses SU, SS, SJ, QBQ, RE and evidence elicited from Nyiramasuhuko.

2823. The Prosecution refers to a fourth meeting at the BPO, allegedly held around the beginning of June 1994 and presided over by Nsabimana, and attended by bourgmestres, souspréfets and military officials, including Nteziryayo, Muvunyi and Kanyabashi. 7890 Nsabimana allegedly declared the purpose of this meeting was to assess implementation in the *communes* of the government's programme of killing Tutsis, who had been determined to be RPF accomplices. 7891 At this meeting Kanyabashi urged the population and young men who had undergone military training to flush out those hidden in the forest near Ngoma and appealed for the training of youth to be extended to more *communes*. 7892 The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana actively assisted in the training of youth by supplying petrol. 7893 Further, at the end of the meeting Nsabimana asked bourgmestres to look for youths to be sent for training and asked Colonels Muvunyi and Nteziryayo to assist two bourgmestres who allegedly requested assistance with killing Tutsis who were coming through their communes en route to Burundi. 7894 In turn, Nteziryayo ordered *Ibisumizi* to assist the Kibayi Hutus in killing Tutsis. 7895 In this regard, The Nteziryayo Indictment also alleges that in May and June 1994 Nteziryayo ordered the *Interahamwe* to search for Tutsis and kill them. ⁷⁸⁹⁶ In support of this allegation, the Prosecution relies on the evidence of Prosecution Witness FAI. In this regard, the Prosecution further submits that Kanyabashi's role in the genocide conspiracy was, inter alia, to attend meetings and, using his authority as bourgmestre of Ngoma commune, to instruct the population to join in the killing of Tutsis. 7897 Kanyabashi was heavily involved in planning the killings and meeting with his administrative subordinates and others to provoke them into action. 7898

2824. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence asserts that any meetings she participated in at the BPO did not involve a conspiracy to commit genocide, but instead, were convened to discuss

_

⁷⁸⁸⁷ Para. 6.37 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana); Para. 6.33 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10 against Nyiramasuhuko).

Para. 6.37 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

Para. 6.43 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁷⁸⁹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 246-247, paras. 59-60; pp. 328-329, paras. 77-78; pp. 393, 420, paras. 26, 125; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 17.

⁷⁸⁹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 246-247, para. 59; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 17.

⁷⁸⁹² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 393, para. 26; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 17.

⁷⁸⁹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 261-262, paras. 99-100.

⁷⁸⁹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 246-247, paras. 59-60.

⁷⁸⁹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 328-329, paras. 77-78.

⁷⁸⁹⁶ Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

⁷⁸⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 388, 403, paras. 12, 66.

⁷⁸⁹⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 390-391, para. 20.

strategy to prevent the advancement of RPF troops.⁷⁸⁹⁹ It further argues she could not have been at the BPO every day, as suggested by Witness SU, because she was in Cabinet meetings with the Interim Government in Kigali, Gitarama, Gisenyi and Ruhengeri.⁷⁹⁰⁰

2825. The Nsabimana Defence submits that while Nsabimana held meetings with his bourgmestres in his office at the BPO, those meetings were not devoted to discussing the progress of massacres in the préfecture. The Nsabimana Defence asserts that there was no evidence adduced as to the statements of Bourgmestre Kanyabashi to Nsabimana at a meeting around 10 June 1994, that Tutsi refugees were to be exterminated, and that Nsabimana was not present at the other meeting with Interim President Sindikubwabo and Nyiramasuhuko. The further submits there was no eyewitness testimony of the meetings between Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Interim President Sindikubwabo and, even if there were, it is impermissible to infer the content of that meeting from witnesses who merely testified as to the participants. In relation to the fourth alleged meeting held at the beginning of June 1994, the Nsabimana Defence denies that Nsabimana provided petrol to the bourgmestres in order to assist in the training of youth militia and submits that Witness FAI's testimony is not credible. In support of these submissions, the Nsabimana Defence relies on Nsabimana's testimony.

2826. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts there was a doubt as to Kanyabashi's presence in the proximity of the BPO around 10 June and as to whether he heard the comments allegedly made by Nyiramasuhuko as to the need to exterminate the Tutsis. Apart from preliminary issues relating to notice, discussed below, the Kanyabashi Defence also submits that Witness FAI did not attend the fourth alleged meeting, held at the beginning of June, and that Witness FAI's testimony is not credible. Page 1907

2827. Apart from preliminary issues relating to notice and the exclusion of evidence, discussed below, the Nteziryayo Defence also submits that Witness FAI's testimony in relation to the fourth alleged meeting, held at the beginning of June 1994, is not credible.⁷⁹⁰⁸

3.6.21.2 Preliminary Issues

Nyiramasuhuko Indictment

Paragraph 6.32 – "Numerous Meetings"

2828. The Chamber notes that the first sentence of Paragraph 6.32 alleges the BPO was the site of numerous meetings between the authorities of the *préfecture*. It is the Chamber's view that this sentence lacks sufficient specificity to put Nyiramasuhuko on notice of any particular

```
<sup>7899</sup> Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 68-69.
```

-

⁷⁹⁰⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 548-565.

⁷⁹⁰¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 356.

⁷⁹⁰² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1587, 1602-1603; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 p. 17.

⁷⁹⁰³ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 p. 18.

⁷⁹⁰⁴ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 pp. 19, 31.

⁷⁹⁰⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 354-406, 1049-1059.

⁷⁹⁰⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 72-73.

⁷⁹⁰⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 578-587.

⁷⁹⁰⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 553-557.

allegation, as it does not state the content or a time frame for the alleged "numerous meetings", except for one meeting referred to in the second sentence of this paragraph, allegedly called by Nyiramasuhuko in April 1994. The Chamber thus finds the Indictment is defective in relation to the general allegation concerning "numerous meetings" set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 6.32.

2829. The Chamber must then determine whether the Nyiramasuhuko Indictment was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists two witnesses who were expected to testify that there were numerous meetings between the authorities of the *préfecture*. ⁷⁹⁰⁹

2830. Witnesses SS and SU were expected to testify that there were meetings attended by authorities. The summary of Witness SS' anticipated testimony stated that at the BPO, there were many meetings chaired by the *préfet* and attended by the *conseillers* and *bourgmestres*. The prior statement of Witness SS, dated 20 November 1996, and disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, 7911 confirmed this information. Although the location of these meetings is clearly spelled out, no time frame is offered in this regard.

2831. The summary of Witness SU's anticipated testimony stated that there was a meeting in Butare, attended by Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi and others. The prior statement of Witness SU, dated 20 November 1996, and disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, stated that leaders held meetings on Mondays and Fridays at the BPO which were attended by important people, including Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi, Ruremesha, Munyengango, Sibomana, Rekeraho, Muganga, Banyangiriki and Rusanganwa. The witness described another occasion when there was a meeting, after which Nyiramasuhuko found a piece of cloth and said it belonged to the RPF. Again, although a location was specified in Witness SU's statement, no date is included.

2832. The Chamber therefore considers that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not receive proper notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence that Nyiramasuhuko took part in "numerous meetings" at the BPO, and finds that the defects in the first sentence of Paragraph 6.32 of the Nyiramasuhuko Indictment were not cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Accordingly, the Chamber will not consider such a general charge against Nyiramasuhuko.

Paragraph 6.32 – Meeting in April 1994

2833. The Ntahobali Defence argues, in relation to the case against Nyiramasuhuko, that the Prosecution transformed the charge set forth in the second sentence of Paragraph 6.32 by stating in its Pre-Trial Brief that Nyiramasuhuko publicly and directly called for the elimination of the remaining survivors in Butare *préfecture*. It argues the witness statements disclosed to the Defence did not specify that Nyiramasuhuko convened a meeting at the BPO

_

⁷⁹⁰⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SS (84); Witness SU (86).

⁷⁹¹⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SS (84).

⁷⁹¹¹ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SS, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁷⁹¹² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SU (86).

⁷⁹¹³ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU, disclosed 4 November 1998.

in which Nsabimana participated, the content of said meeting in April 1994, or whether the progress of the massacres or the means by which to complete them was discussed. ⁷⁹¹⁴

2834. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.32 alleges that Nyiramasuhuko called a meeting at the BPO in April 1994, attended by Nsabimana, at which the progress of the massacres was discussed, and that Paragraph 6.33 alleges that Nyiramasuhuko met with Nsabimana and Sindikubwabo at the BPO and that Nyiramasuhuko asked why the Tutsi refugees had not been killed. Nyiramasuhuko's participation at BPO meetings during which the massacres were discussed is therefore clearly addressed in the Indictment. The Prosecution's case that Nyiramasuhuko publicly and directly called for the elimination of the remaining survivors is consistent with the allegations in the mentioned paragraphs of the Indictment.

2835. Furthermore, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence had adequate notice that Nyiramasuhuko was being charged with direct and public incitement from the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. In this regard, the Chamber notes the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief states: "SJ saw Nyiramasuhuko holding meetings with Nsabimana at the préfecture office. Upon leaving the meeting, SJ heard Nyiramasuhuko saying, 'this place is dirty', meaning that she did not want that the Tutsi refugees stay at the *préfectures* Office."⁷⁹¹⁵ The Chamber further notes the prior statements of Witnesses SU, SS and SJ. In her statement of 20 November 1996, Witness SU stated that Nyiramasuhuko said at the BPO "the dirt is only here at the pr[é]fecture", and that elsewhere people have finished the job. 7916 Likewise, Witness SS' statement of 20 November 1996 provided that after a meeting at the BPO, Nyiramasuhuko exited and said, "I do not understand what these dirty people are doing here at the Pr[é]fecture, the dirt has been cleaned elsewhere."⁷⁹¹⁷ Finally, Witness SJ's statement of 3 December 1996 provided that the witness saw Nyiramasuhuko leaving a meeting at the BPO and heard her say, "[t]his place is dirty," which to her meant that "Pauline didn't want all the refugee people to stay on the Pr[é]fecture's place."⁷⁹¹⁸ These statements were disclosed on 4 November 1998, well in advance of these witnesses' testimony at trial on 14 October 2002, 3 March 2003 and 28 May 2002, respectively.

2836. Therefore, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not transform the Indictment in alleging that Nyiramasuhuko publicly and directly called for the elimination of the remaining survivors in Butare *préfecture*. Consequently, Nyiramasuhuko was in a position to understand the nature of the charges against her and there was no prejudice in the preparation of her defence case.

_

⁷⁹¹⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 52.

⁷⁹¹⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9).

⁷⁹¹⁶ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁷⁹¹⁷ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SS, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁷⁹¹⁸ 3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ, disclosed 4 November 1998.

Nsahimana

Paragraphs 5.1, 6.57, 6.61 and 6.62

2837. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment are vague insofar as they fail to identify any dates or locations where Nsabimana may have taken part in elaborating a plan to exterminate Tutsis.⁷⁹¹⁹

2838. The Chamber notes that the meetings in question were not specifically pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment or the Kanyabashi Indictment, and as such, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 5.1 of each Indictment is defective. Further, the Chamber also finds the related conspiracy paragraphs, namely Paragraphs 6.57 and 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and Paragraph 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, defective by reason of their failure to identify any meetings held in furtherance of the conspiracy alleged. The Chamber will consider these defects together with the specific allegations concerning meetings, as pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment.

Paragraph 6.28 – Distribution of Fuel

2839. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana Indictment, which alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his *bourgmestres*, is impermissibly vague; this paragraph fails to specify the dates or locations of Nsabimana's alleged meetings with *bourgmestres*. The Nsabimana Defence further submits that the Prosecution did not mention the distribution of fuel in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. ⁷⁹²¹

2840. The Chamber notes that while Paragraph 6.28 alleges Nsabimana participated in meetings, plural, a plain reading of Paragraph 6.28 suggests that the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was only discussed at a single meeting which was convened by Nyiramasuhuko. Accordingly, Paragraph 6.28 fails to specify the purpose of the *other* meetings that Nsabimana allegedly participated in with his *bourgmestres*. Given that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana Indictment fails to state how many meetings Nsabimana had with his *bourgmestres*, and the precise date, location and content of those meetings, the Chamber considers Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana Indictment to be defective.

2841. The Chamber also observes that the allegation that Nsabimana distributed fuel is not pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment as one of the means by which Nsabimana allegedly participated in the massacres of Tutsis as pled in Paragraphs 5.1, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59.

2842. Accordingly, the Chamber must determine if the defects in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were cured by the subsequent disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information detailing the factual basis underpinning the charge.

2843. The Chamber recalls that the Prosecution relies solely on Witness FAI with respect to the alleged content of the meeting presided over by Nsabimana at the BPO at the beginning of

⁷⁹¹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 126-131.

⁷⁹²⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 42, 44.

⁷⁹²¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1051.

June 1994, and Nsabimana's alleged words and actions at the meeting, including his words in relation to the distribution of fuel. 7922

2844. The Chamber notes that the summary of Witness FAI's anticipated testimony, as set forth in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states:

FAI witnessed the killing of several Tutsi at Nyamure health center in Ntyazo. In June 1994, FAI attended a meeting in Butare at which all the *bourgmestres* reported on how many Tutsis had been exterminated in their communes. The *bourgmestres* of Kibayi and Kigembe, where the Tutsis had not been eliminated completely, asked for military reinforcements, which was [*sic*] provided later. In a meeting on 22 May 1994, Nteziryayo and Nsabimana urged people of Ntyazo to search for and kill all surviving Tutsi. They asked young Hutus to register and join the army en masse. Nsabimana urged the *bourgmestre* to sensitize the youth to join the army, at the same time ordering Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to provide the reinforcement requested by the *bourgmestres*. Nsabimana promised to give forty litres of fuel to each bourgmestre every week. In June 1994, Nteziryayo sent soldiers to kill fifty Tutsi women who had assembled in a room behind the Butare *prefecture* office.

2845. Although the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists Witness FAI in support of the conspiracy charge against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, the Chamber notes that the portion of the summary of Witness FAI's testimony concerning this June 1994 meeting does not mention Nsabimana's, Nteziryayo's or Kanyabashi's presence or respective roles at the meeting. Nsabimana is only mentioned with respect to the 22 May 1994 Ntyazo meeting at which it is alleged that Nsabimana ordered Nteziryayo to provide reinforcements and promised fuel. As concerns the June meeting, the Chamber considers the information in the summary of Witness FAI's testimony regarding the meeting date ("June 1994"), location ("Butare") and participants ("bourgmestres") to be insufficiently precise to cure the defects in the Indictment.

2846. The Chamber also considers Witness FAI's previous statements. Witness FAI's first statement of 24 February 2000, disclosed on 15 November 2000, refers to a meeting chaired by Nsabimana in June 1994, in Butare, and attended by all the *bourgmestres*, Muvunyi, Nteziryayo, and close allies of Nsabimana, including the *Sous-préfet* Évariste and Rutayisire. It further states that Nsabimana ordered Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to provide the reinforcements requested by the *bourgmestres* of Kibayi and Kigembe *communes*, urged *bourgmestres* to sensitise the youth to join the army and promised to give 40 litres of fuel to each *bourgmestre* every week. However, the statement remains vague with respect to the time and place of the meeting.

2847. The Chamber considers that a combined reading of Witness FAI's previous statements and the summary of his anticipated testimony included in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief alleges that Nsabimana chaired a meeting, during which he ordered Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to provide the reinforcement requested by the *bourgmestres*, urged *bourgmestres* to sensitise the youth to join the army and promised to give 40 litres of fuel to each *bourgmestre* every week. However, the Chamber observes that there is confusion in relation to the time and place

⁷⁹²² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 246, para. 59; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 17.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAI (21).

⁷⁹²⁴ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 15 November 2000.

of the alleged meeting. In the summary of Witness FAI's evidence, Nsabimana's actions with respect to ordering reinforcements are mentioned in relation to the 22 May 1994 meeting, in Ntyazo, whereas Witness FAI's statement places Nsabimana's alleged actions at an early June meeting, in Butare.

2848. Accordingly, the Chamber considers the Nsabimana Defence was not provided with timely, clear and consistent details as to the alleged meeting, or to Nsabimana's role and actions in it. The Chamber therefore finds the defect in Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment was not cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures in respect of this allegation *vis-à-vis* Nsabimana. Accordingly, the Chamber will not proceed to make findings on this allegation against Nsabimana. In any event, the Chamber notes that this allegation has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Paragraph 6.37

2849. In relation to the alleged meeting between Nsabimana, the Interim President Sindikubwabo and Nyiramasuhuko around 10 June, during which Nyiramasuhuko asked Nsabimana why Tutsis at the BPO had not yet been killed, the Nsabimana Defence argues Paragraph 6.37 failed to allege the criminal act committed by Nsabimana following such a conversation that would support a charge of conspiracy. 7925

2850. The Chamber notes that the concerted or coordinated action of a group of individuals can constitute evidence of an agreement in support of the charge of conspiracy. A conspiracy can be proved by evidence of meetings to plan genocide, but it can also be inferred from other evidence. Paragraph 6.37 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment makes clear that the subject of the statements by Nyiramasuhuko and Kanyabashi was the Tutsi refugees at the BPO and why they had not been killed or exterminated. Further, Paragraphs 6.38 to 6.42 of the Indictment allege criminal conduct relating to attempts to kill or exterminate the Tutsi refugees at the BPO. Reading Paragraphs 6.37 to 6.42 together, it is clear the Prosecution's case is that Nsabimana was involved in meetings at the BPO at which the participants discussed how to kill Tutsi refugees and that the killings of these same refugees were perpetrated through a series of methods described thereafter in the Indictment. Therefore, the Chamber concludes that when read as a whole, the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment sets forth material facts in support of a conspiracy and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment was not defective in this respect.

2851. The Nsabimana Defence further argues that the Indictment failed to plead several material facts, including the time, location and identity of the persons to whom Nyiramasuhuko's declarations at the BPO were targeted, and the consequences of such declarations. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.37 states that around 10 June 1994 at the BPO, Nyiramasuhuko asked Nsabimana what the Tutsi refugees were doing at the BPO. Therefore, each of these material facts were set forth and the Indictment is not defective in that respect.

⁷⁹²⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1589.

⁷⁹²⁶ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 897.

⁷⁹²⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1590.

Evidence Used by an Accused Against Another Accused

2852. Finally, the Nsabimana Defence argues the only evidence against Nsabimana as to the meeting around 10 June was led by the Nyiramasuhuko Defence on cross-examination of Prosecution Witness RE. It therefore submits that relying on such evidence would violate the principle of equality of accused persons stipulated in Rule 82 (A) of the Rules, by permitting one accused to lead evidence against another. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence should not have been allowed to cross-examine on this issue because it was not a subject matter of the examination-in-chief or a matter affecting the credibility of the witness, in contravention of Rule 90 (G) of the Rules. ⁷⁹²⁸

2853. In this regard, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution led evidence from Witness RE regarding a meeting the witness observed between Nyiramasuhuko and Sindikubwabo. Although the witness did not mention Nsabimana in the examination-in-chief, Rule 90 (G) permits the Nyiramasuhuko Defence to bring out apparent inconsistencies in Witness RE's testimony and prior witness statements. Here, Witness RE's prior statement mentioned Nsabimana, but the witness failed to mention Nsabimana in her testimony. This apparent inconsistency was raised by the Nyiramasuhuko Defence in cross-examination, as it may have affected Witness RE's credibility. Therefore, the Chamber finds that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence properly raised this issue. The Chamber will consider the weight to be accorded to this evidence in the Deliberations section, below.

Nteziryayo

2854. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the allegation that subsequent to the June meeting with Nsabimana, Nteziryayo trained *Ibisumizi* or sent trained youths to Kibayi to kill Tutsis was not pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.⁷⁹³¹

2855. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that in May and June 1994 Nteziryayo ordered the *Interahamwe* to search for Tutsis and kill them. Paragraph 6.30 of the Indictment fails to identify: (1) Nteziryayo's alleged subordinates, the *Ibisumizi*; and (2) any location where such orders occurred, or that Nteziryayo allegedly sent trained youths to Kibayi to kill Tutsis, the Chamber finds the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective *vis-à-vis* Nteziryayo. The Chamber recalls that the Prosecution relies solely on Witness FAI with respect to the alleged words and actions of Nteziryayo during and after the meeting chaired by Nsabimana at the BPO in early June 1994.

2856. In so far as Nteziryayo is concerned, Witness FAI's statement made clear that Nteziryayo was allegedly present at the meeting about which Witness FAI would testify. While Witness FAI's statement also stated that Nsabimana ordered Nteziryayo and Muvunyi

⁷⁹²⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1598-1601.

⁷⁹²⁹ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 17-18 (Witness RE).

⁷⁹³⁰ 5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁷⁹³¹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 557; Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 8.

⁷⁹³² Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

⁷⁹³³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 328-329, paras. 77-78.

⁷⁹³⁴ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 15 November 2000.

to provide the *bourgmestres* with military reinforcement, there is nothing in Witness FAI's statement that refers to either *Ibisumizi* or Nteziryayo's actions after receiving Nsabimana's orders.

2857. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers the Nteziryayo Defence was not provided with adequate notice of any allegation against Nteziryayo concerning his role in training *Ibisumizi* or ordering them to go to Kibayi to kill Tutsis. For this reason, the Chamber will not make any finding against Nteziryayo with respect to this allegation. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence brought by the Prosecution is not sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo trained *Ibisumizi* or ordered them to go to Kibayi to kill Tutsis after the BPO meeting in early June 1994.

Request for Exclusion of Witness FAI's Evidence

2858. The Nteziryayo Defence further submits that at the time of the filing of its Closing Brief, its motion requesting the exclusion of portions of evidence of several Prosecution witnesses, including that of Witness FAI relating to the sending of *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi, filed on 23 January 2009, was still pending. The Chamber observes that in its Decision of 25 February 2009 it denied that motion in its entirety. The Chamber chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations since it considered it inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial. The Chamber chose to decide such issues in the considered it inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial.

2859. Having regard to the Chamber's previous finding that the Nteziryayo Defence did not receive adequate notice of this allegation such that the relevant Indictment paragraphs were not cured, the Chamber will not consider the evidence led concerning Nteziryayo's alleged actions at or after the BPO meeting in early June 1994 against Indictment Paragraph 6.30 (against Nteziryayo only) relating to ordering *Interahamwe* to kill Tutsis.

2860. The Chamber nevertheless considers that evidence of acts that took place at this ceremony may be relevant to the proof of any other allegation pled in the Indictment⁷⁹³⁷ and for this reason declines the Nteziryayo Defence's request to exclude the evidence led concerning Nteziryayo's alleged training of *Ibisumizi* or sending of *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi at Nsabimana's request, pursuant to the early June 1994 meeting.

Kanyabashi Indictment

Paragraph 6.43

2861. The Kanyabashi Defence argues Paragraph 6.43 cannot warrant a conviction because it does not state the elements of a criminal act and identifiable criminal conduct of

-

⁷⁹³⁵ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009; Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

⁷⁹³⁶ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009.

⁷⁹³⁷ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006;
Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, para. 15; Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Request for Reconsideration (AC), 27 September 2004, para. 12.

Kanyabashi. ⁷⁹³⁸ Paragraph 6.43 relates to meetings that took place at the BPO between some of the *préfecture's* main authorities on unspecified dates, and one meeting that took place between Kanyabashi and Nsabimana in June 1994 at which Kanyabashi allegedly told the *préfet* that the Tutsi refugees at the *préfecture* had to be exterminated. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 16 December 2004 regarding the Defence motions for acquittal, in which it noted that no evidence was adduced by the Prosecution in support of the allegation that Kanyabashi told the *préfet* that Tutsi refugees at the BPO had to be exterminated. Nonetheless, the Chamber did not acquit Kanyabashi under Paragraph 6.43 because there was evidence that Kanyabashi attended meetings at the *préfecture* office. ⁷⁹³⁹ The Chamber considers that the portion of Paragraph 6.43 that was not dismissed in its Decision of 16 December 2004 merely alleges that Kanyabashi attended meetings at the BPO, yet fails to allege that the meetings were for the purpose of perpetrating crimes or that Kanyabashi made statements illustrating his intent to commit crimes.

2862. However, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.43 is pled in support of, *inter alia*, Counts 1 to 3 (genocide-related charges) against Kanyabashi. In light of the jurisprudence of the Tribunal, the Chamber is of the view that Paragraph 6.43 properly pleads the elements required for an allegation of conspiracy pursuant to Article 2 (3)(b) of the Statute () and, when read together with Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.62, the crime charged is evident, for which reason the Chamber rejects the submission of the Kanyabashi Defence.

2863. In spite of the foregoing, the Chamber considers the reference to the time period of the said meeting alleged in Paragraph 6.43 of the Indictment, namely the entire month of June 1994, is vague. In the circumstances, the Chamber finds the Indictment defective in this regard.

2864. Accordingly, the Chamber must then determine whether the Kanyabashi Indictment was cured of its defect through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. The Chamber recalls that the Prosecution relies solely on Witness FAI with respect to the alleged content of the meeting at the BPO and the alleged words and actions of Kanyabashi. ⁷⁹⁴⁰

2865. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Prosecution Witness FAI was not expected to testify against Kanyabashi in so far as the summary of Witness FAI's testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention Kanyabashi and none of Witness FAI's prior witness statements indicate that Kanyabashi had an active role in this meeting. Furthermore, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that it only learned of the allegation concerning Kanyabashi's alleged words at this meeting by the will-say disclosed to them on 24 October 2002. 7941

2866. While the Chamber accepts that Witness FAI's intention to testify against Kanyabashi is not mentioned in the summary of his anticipated evidence as outlined in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, it notes that the Kanyabashi Defence was first informed of this through Witness

_

⁷⁹³⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 437.

⁷⁹³⁹ *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 183.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 393, para. 26; p. 420, para. 125; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 17.

⁷⁹⁴¹ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 21; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 583.

FAI's third statement of 28 January 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 5 June 2002. The Chamber observes that this statement indicates that in May and June 1994, Witness FAI participated in several meetings with military and civilian authorities to plan the genocide and stated that Kanyabashi had fully participated in the genocide and extermination of Tutsis along with other officers, including Muvunyi and Hategekimana. ⁷⁹⁴²

2867. On 12 June 2002 the Kanyabashi Defence filed a motion seeking the exclusion of Witness FAI's evidence, claiming Witness FAI's third statement was the first time Witness FAI had implicated Kanyabashi in meetings in furtherance of the genocide. In its subsequent Decision of 6 July 2002, the Chamber ruled that the information regarding Kanyabashi was additional information discovered during the course of further investigations by the Prosecution. The Chamber observed that while the Prosecution had made late disclosure of Witness FAI's 28 January 2001 statement, it considered that the Kanyabashi Defence had three months to prepare for cross-examination of Witness FAI, which was adequate notice for Kanyabashi to prepare a defence, such that he therefore suffered no prejudice from the late disclosure of Witness FAI's third statement.

2868. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Chamber considers the information contained in Witness FAI's statement is too vague and does not add any detail in relation to the meeting alleged at Paragraph 6.43 of the Indictment, or in relation to any other meeting. Therefore, the Chamber finds the defect in the Indictment was not cured and it will not consider this allegation in relation to Kanyabashi. In any event, the Chamber notes that the allegation in relation to the meeting at the beginning of June about which Witness FAI gave evidence has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Additional Testimony of Witnesses TA and TK

2869. The Chamber notes that Prosecution Witnesses TA and TK testified as to a meeting at the BPO after which Nyiramasuhuko referred to the Tutsi refugees as "dirt". However, the Prosecution did not provide notice to the Nyiramasuhuko or Nsabimana Defence that these witnesses would testify as to this meeting and these words attributed to Nyiramasuhuko. The witness summaries for Witnesses TA and TK in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the prior statements of Witnesses TA and TK did not include any reference to these allegations. In any event, the Prosecution, in its Closing Brief, does not rely on Witnesses TA and TK to support this allegation. Therefore, the Chamber will not consider the evidence of Witnesses TA and TK in support of this allegation.

_

⁷⁹⁴² 28 January 2001, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 5 June 2002.

⁷⁹⁴³ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Joseph Kanyabashi's Urgent Motion to Exclude Witness FAI's Testimony Against Him, 12 June 2002.

⁷⁹⁴⁴ *Kanyabashi et al.*, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Exclude Witness "FAI"'s Testimony Against Him Pursuant to Rules 54 and 73 of the Rules (TC), 6 July 2002, para. 14.

⁷⁹⁴⁵ 19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA, disclosed 4 November 1998; 22 and 23 April 1998, Statement of Witness TA, disclosed 4 November 1998; 12 November 1996, Statement of Witness TA, disclosed 15 November 2000; 17 December 1996, Statement of Witness TQ, disclosed 4 December 2000.

3.6.21.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness SU

2870. Witness SU, a Tutsi and the sister of Witness SS, 7946 testified that there were often meetings held on Mondays and Fridays at the BPO, to prepare the killings. 7947 The persons attending the meetings included Chief Warrant Officer Emmanuel Rekeraho, Nyiramasuhuko; Bourgmestre Kanyabashi and at least six others. 7948 She said there were bourgmestres from the communes of Butare préfecture, high-ranking conseillers and high-ranking officials of some companies, such as the director of prisons. On 17 or 18 May 1994, she went to see the conseiller of her secteur who told her he was on his way to a meeting at the BPO. 7949 In addition, there were often all sorts of cars outside of the BPO. 7950

2871. Witness SU testified that two or three days after arriving at the BPO on 28 May 1994, ⁷⁹⁵¹ she saw Nyiramasuhuko come out of the first of such meetings at around 11.00 a.m. Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a brown *boubou* (an African dress) and a necklace.⁷⁹⁵² Witness SU heard Nyiramasuhuko say to Nsabimana and Kanyabashi: "[I]t is here at the préfecture that the dirt is left. Who are these little people? Elsewhere in the communes we are finished." They said that in Mbazi, Ndora and Huye communes the work had already been finished. Witness SU said the "dirt" referred to by Nyiramasuhuko was those who found refuge at the BPO. 7953 She understood that Nyiramasuhuko meant that the killings should be completed as had been done elsewhere. 7954 She estimated that the distance between herself and Nyiramasuhuko was about four metres. 7955

2872. On another occasion, after she observed attacks at the BPO, Witness SU saw Nyiramasuhuko coming out of a meeting with Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and many others, some of whom she did not know. 7956 As she stood opposite the *préfet's* office, Nyiramasuhuko picked up a piece of cloth the size of a handkerchief and light blue in colour with white spots, and said the cloth was an RPF ornament. 7957 Nyiramasuhuko said to the participants of the meeting that the refugees had brought the cloth and therefore the *Inkotanyi* accomplices had infiltrated. 7958 Everyone had left the meeting by this time, but Nyiramasuhuko called them

⁷⁹⁴⁶ T. 21 October 2002 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁴⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 13; T. 16 October 2002 p. 21; T. 22 October 2002 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁴⁸ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 12-13 (Witness SU) (She also named Jonathan Ruremesha, Colonel François Munyengango, Doctor Cyprien Sibomana, former warrant officer Emmanuel Rekeraho, adjutant-chef Joseph Muganga, Zacharie Banyangiriki (MP), and Gasper Rusanganwa, assistant bourgmestre of Ngoma commune and an artist).

⁷⁹⁴⁹ T. 22 October 2002 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵⁰ T. 16 October 2002 p. 27 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 8 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵² T. 14 October 2002 p. 15; T. 16 October 2002 p. 13; T. 17 October 2002 p. 4 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵³ T. 14 October 2002 p. 16 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵⁴ T. 14 October 2002 p. 19 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵⁵ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 22-23 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵⁶ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 49-50 (Witness SU); T. 16 October 2002 p. 30 (Witness SU) (Those persons included, Zaeharia Banyangiriki, Gaspard Rusanganwa, Colonel François Munyengango, Emmanuel Rekeraho, Joseph Muganga, Jonathas Ruremesha who was a *bourgmestre* and Cyprien Sibomana).

⁷⁹⁵⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 50; T. 16 October 2002 pp. 25, 32-33 (Witness SU).

⁷⁹⁵⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 50; T. 16 October 2002 pp. 27, 35 (Witness SU).

back to hold an extra meeting. 7959 After the extended meeting, it was said that there were RPF accomplices among the refugees. 7960

2873. The witness said she knew Nyiramasuhuko well before 1994 and walked past Nyiramasuhuko's home in Ndora *commune* often when she went to visit relatives. Witness SU identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. Witness SU did not know Nsabimana before 1994, but "got to know [Nsabimana] at the time of the misfortune that befell [her]." Witness SU identified him in court. Witness SU had known Kanyabashi from the 1970s. She also knew Kanyabashi's family, including his two sisters that attended primary school with the witness. Witness SU identified Kanyabashi in court.

2874. Witness SU was asked during cross-examination whether she knew an association of victims of the events of 1994, named *Ibuka*. She testified that she heard people talk about this association. She was asked whether she knew an association of victims of the events of 1994, named *Avega*. She stated that people talked about *Avega*, but she did not know it. When asked whether she was a member of either association or a similar association, she testified that she was "between these two associations," but was not a member of either and not involved with them.⁷⁹⁶⁷

Prosecution Witness SS

2875. Witness SS, whose father was Tutsi and whose mother was Hutu, ⁷⁹⁶⁸ testified that she left Butare University Hospital on 27 May 1994 to go to the BPO. ⁷⁹⁶⁹ At the *préfecture*, she saw Nsabimana, the officer-in-charge of the place, Kanyabashi, Nyiramasuhuko and several other *bourgmestres* and authorities. ⁷⁹⁷⁰ She testified that these authorities came to attend meetings held at the *préfecture* every Monday and every Friday during her stay. ⁷⁹⁷¹ Kanyabashi and Nyiramasuhuko attended all the meetings that took place at the BPO when Witness SS was present. ⁷⁹⁷² She left the BPO for Rango shortly after Nteziryayo was installed as *préfet*, although she testified as to not knowing who he was. ⁷⁹⁷³ The meetings took place for the entire period of her stay at the BPO. ⁷⁹⁷⁴ She did not know how many meetings were held in total ⁷⁹⁷⁵

```
<sup>7959</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 50; T. 16 October 2002 pp. 25, 30 (Witness SU).
<sup>7960</sup> T. 16 October 2002 p. 25 (Witness SU).
<sup>7961</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 14 (Witness SU).
<sup>7962</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 22-24 (Witness SU).
<sup>7963</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness SU).
<sup>7964</sup> T. 15 October 2002 p. 24 (Witness SU).
<sup>7965</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>7966</sup> T. 15 October 2002 p. 25 (Witness SU).
<sup>7967</sup> T. 22 October 2002 pp. 88-89; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 92-93 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>7968</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness SS).
<sup>7969</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 24, 26 (Witness SS).
<sup>7970</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 39-42; T. 5 March 2003 p. 38 (Witness SS).
<sup>7971</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 42; T. 5 March 2003 p. 40; T. 10 March 2003 pp. 19-20 (Witness SS).
<sup>7972</sup> T. 10 March 2003 p. 70; T. 5 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness SS).
<sup>7973</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SS).
<sup>7974</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness SS).
<sup>7975</sup> T. 10 March 2003 p. 19 (Witness SS).
```

2876. Witness SS testified that Nsabimana was in charge of the préfecture and that she used to see him every day at the BPO. 7976 She also saw him speak to the refugees at the BPO. 7977

2877. Witness SS testified that the first time she heard Nyiramasuhuko talk was a morning after a meeting Nyiramasuhuko came to attend. 7978 Nyiramasuhuko wore a boubou. 7979 Witness SS was about five and a half metres from Nyiramasuhuko, based on the distance between the witness stand and the west wall of the courtroom. 7980 Nyiramasuhuko stood in front of the préfet's door, near the steps and said, "I don't understand how this dirt is still here at the *préfecture*, whereas elsewhere the job is finished."⁷⁹⁸¹ Witness SS understood "dirt" to refer to Tutsis. 7982 Witness SS testified that each time Nyiramasuhuko got out of the meeting at the BPO and saw the refugees under the guava tree she said that "anywhere else there is no more dirt; the dirt is only here." 7983

2878. On another occasion, Witness SS saw Nyiramasuhuko at what might have been noon, after a meeting Nyiramasuhuko attended at the BPO. Nyiramasuhuko picked up a piece of cloth and said: "I don't understand, it's these refugees here who threw this cloth. These refugees are the accomplices of the Inkotanyi." She was speaking in a loud voice to the authorities but as she was talking, she was facing the refugees. The authorities present included Nsabimana, Kanyabashi, the deputy bourgmestre of Runyinya commune, Zacharie Banyangeriki, Déo Hategekimana, Adjudant-Chef Emmanuel Rekeraho and many others. 7984 After Nyiramasuhuko spoke these words, the authorities went back inside for another meeting. 7985 Witness SS said that after this meeting, Nyiramasuhuko returned to the BPO at night and led attacks on the refugees. 7986

2879. Witness SS identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. 7987 In her testimony, she referred to the Accused as Pauline, the Minister in charge of gender issues and the promotion of womanhood and of the family in 1994. 7988 She saw Nyiramasuhuko three times passing in front of her house. 7989 The witness identified Nsabimana in court. 7990 She admitted to not knowing him prior to May 1994 when she sought refuge at the BPO. 7991 Witness SS identified Kanyabashi

⁷⁹⁷⁶ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁷⁷ T. 10 March 2003 pp. 23-24 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁷⁸ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 43-44 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁷⁹ T. 5 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁰ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 44-45(Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸¹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸² T. 3 March 2003 p. 44 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸³ T. 5 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁴ T. 3 March 2003 p. 46 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁶ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 47-50 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁷ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 77-78 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁸⁸ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 34 (Witness SS). ⁷⁹⁸⁹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁹⁰ T. 3 March 2003 p. 79 (Witness SS).

⁷⁹⁹¹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness SS).

in court. 7992 She saw him at the BPO when he attended meetings there, on Mondays and Fridays, as well as when he accompanied the refugees to Rango. 7993

Prosecution Witness SJ

2880. Witness SJ, a Tutsi, testified that she went to the BPO in April 1994, but could not recall the exact date. During her first two weeks at the BPO, she saw *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi, *Préfet* Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko. She also saw a number of other persons of authority but did not know their names. 7995

2881. One day during the witness' first two weeks at the BPO, Nyiramasuhuko arrived between 11.00 a.m. and noon. Nyiramasuhuko went to the office of *Préfet* Sylvain and stayed for about 15 minutes. Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a very lengthy skirt that was dark brown and a white shirt, with black shoes. As she walked down the stairs outside of Nsabimana's office, Nyiramasuhuko scratched her head and said in a loud and angry voice: "This place is dirty. This place stinks; there is dirt here and it must be taken away. I do not want to see it here." Witness SJ understood Nyiramasuhuko to be referring to the Tutsi refugees on the premises in the courtyard when talking about "dirt". Nsabimana then asked the *Interahamwe* and the soldiers to move the refugees from the front of the BPO, to the back of the BPO, compelling the refugees to remain in the rear of the BPO during daytime. Witness SJ testified that refugees at the BPO were beaten up.

2882. Nyiramasuhuko came back to the BPO on another occasion. Nyiramasuhuko asked Nsabimana to convene a meeting of the *bourgmestres* of Butare *préfecture* so to ask the *bourgmestres* to come and evacuate the refugees at the BPO back to their respective home *communes*. 8000 At that time, Witness SJ stood next to a window of the other hall that served as the office of the *préfet* and could follow what Nyiramasuhuko was saying. 8001 Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana were speaking in loud and clear voices, discussing their work, which allowed everyone in the immediate vicinity to hear their conversation. 8002 Nyiramasuhuko left the BPO with her driver and her bodyguard, Kazungu. 8003

2883. Witness SJ testified that on the same day that Nyiramasuhuko requested the meeting, she witnessed a meeting of many of the *bourgmestres* of Butare *préfecture*. 8004 She later testified that, if her memory was correct, the meeting with the *bourgmestres* was on a different day than the day when Nyiramasuhuko requested the meeting. 8005 She saw the *bourgmestre* of

```
<sup>7992</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 85 (Witness SS).
<sup>7993</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 83 (ICS) (Witness SS).
<sup>7994</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7995</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 116 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7996</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 116 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7997</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 121-122; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 33-37, 39-40 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7998</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 132-133, 138 (Witness SJ).
<sup>7999</sup> T. 4 June 2002 p. 58 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8000</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 140 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8001</sup> T. 3 June 2002 pp. 149-150 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8002</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 31-32 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8003</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 144 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8004</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 146-147; T. 3 June 2002 p. 125 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8005</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 131 (Witness SJ).
```

Mbazi *commune*, Sibomana, in addition to many other *bourgmestres* at the BPO who had come to attend the meeting. After the meeting, she saw Kanyabashi, Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko speaking to one another, but she could not hear what they were saying. One time, Nyiramasuhuko left in a white vehicle that belonged to the Red Cross. Witness SJ added that Nyiramasuhuko had several vehicles at her disposal. 8009

2884. Witness SJ heard from others, that Nyiramasuhuko had said in the meeting that the *bourgmestres* should take the refugees from the BPO back to their home *communes*. This order was implemented and she testified that those who were evacuated were killed.⁸⁰¹⁰

2885. Witness SJ testified that the meeting of *bourgmestres* took place at the *Palais du MRND* which is now known as the *Salle Polyvalente*; it was not held at the BPO. However, Witness SJ's prior statement provided: "She [Pauline] ordered a meeting with every [bourgmestre] at this *Pr[é]fecture* place. After this meeting I saw Pauline leaving this *pr[é]fecture*'s place." Witness SJ testified that the translator must have made a mistake because the meeting was held at the *Salle Polyvalente*. She testified that there were a lot of bourgmestres at the BPO that day, who were to take part in the meeting. 8013

2886. On another occasion, Witness SJ said that she saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO at around 9.00 or 10.00 a.m., at the time when the workers had already reported for duty. Nyiramasuhuko went into the office of the *préfet* and then left in a blue car with her driver. She did not hear Nyiramasuhuko or Nsabimana say anything. Likewise, Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana did not say anything to the refugees. That same night, a white pickup came to the BPO with *Interahamwe* to take refugees away from the BPO. Solit

2887. Witness SJ said she knew Nsabimana from before the genocide. Although she never spoke to him before the events, Witness SJ testified to seeing Nsabimana a few times at a bar located in Mukabuga in Gihindamuyaga *secteur* in Mbazi *commune*. The witness knew Nyiramasuhuko before 1994, as Nyiramasuhuko used to live with her husband, Maurice Ntahobali, in the same *secteur* as Witness SJ. She identified Nyiramasuhuko in court.

```
<sup>8006</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 146-147 (Witness SJ).
8007 T. 28 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (Witness SJ).
8008 T. 4 June 2002 p. 20 (Witness SJ).
8009 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 20, 47 (Witness SJ).
8010 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 17-18 (Witness SJ).
8011 T. 3 June 2002 pp. 160-161; T. 4 June 2002 p. 14 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8012</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 167 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness
<sup>8013</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 168 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8014</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 147-148; T. 3 June 2002 pp. 133, 136-137, 139 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8015</sup> T. 3 June 2002 pp. 133-134 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8016</sup> T. 3 June 2002 p. 134 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8017</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 20 (Witness SJ).
<sup>8018</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 139; T. 29 May 2002 p. 130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
8019 T. 29 May 2002 p. 132 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>8020</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 116-117; T. 29 May 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>8021</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 126-130 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>8022</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 137-138 (Witness SJ).
```

Prosecution Witness QBQ

2888. Witness QBQ, a Tutsi, testified that three days after her arrival at the BPO, towards the end of April 1994, she saw Nyiramasuhuko approaching in the morning on foot accompanied by *Préfet* Nsabimana. She was told by others that the woman was called Nyiramasuhuko and that the man was the *préfet*. Nyiramasuhuko was dressed with a cloth around her waist and another around her shoulders. She put her hands on her hips and said: "What are these snakes still doing here? It is necessary to clear this filth from this place." Nyiramasuhuko and the *préfet* left the BPO right after Nyiramasuhuko spoke. Witness QBQ described the *préfet* as having a bulging forehead.

2889. Witness QBQ identified Nsabimana in court though she testified that she had not seen him since 1994. She described the *préfet* as a dark-coloured person, average height and had a sort of a bump on his forehead. She testified that she was not in a position to identify Nyiramasuhuko since the events took place a very long time ago. She had not seen her since 1994 8029

Prosecution Witness RE

2890. Witness RE, a Tutsi, testified that after having been chased from the EER she went back to the BPO and saw Nyiramasuhuko come to the BPO with President Sindikubwabo. ⁸⁰³⁰ During the visit, Nyiramasuhuko said, "[i]s that dirt still here? In Butare they have not worked." Then President Sindikubwabo said, "[n]o, these people will be killed during Habyarimana's funeral." Pauline Nyiramasuhuko also said the people should be killed and the young girls among them raped. ⁸⁰³¹

2891. Witness RE was confronted with her statement, dated 5 December 1996, in which she said that Nyiramasuhuko said: "What are these people doing here. Why don't they kill them?" However, Witness RE did not mention in that prior statement that Nyiramasuhuko said, "[i]s that dirt still here?" or that Nyiramasuhuko said that people should be killed and young girls raped. Witness RE said that the statement was a summary and therefore did not include all of the details of her conversation with the investigator. 8032

2892. Witness RE identified Nsabimana in court. She described Nsabimana as he was in 1994 as "large but short...quite rotund...wore glasses". Throughout her testimony the witness referred to him as $Pr\acute{e}fet$ Sylvain. The witness identified Nyiramasuhuko in court.

⁸⁰²³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 6-8, 52-53 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁴ T. 3 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁵ T. 4 February 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁶ T. 3 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁷ T. 3 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁸ T. 3 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰²⁹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰³⁰ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 13, 17-18 (Witness RE).

⁸⁰³¹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 18 (Witness RE).

⁸⁰³² T. 25 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

⁸⁰³³ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness RE).

Nsabimana

2893. Nsabimana denied that he called Witness FAI back to Butare or that he and Colonel Muvunyi together saw Witness FAI at the BPO around 2 June 1994 and accused him of abandoning his post. Nsabimana also denied that he saw Witness FAI on the following Monday and informed him of a meeting to take place on that day. Nsabimana recalled however that he saw Witness FAI and the *bourgmestre* of Rusatira, Rukeribuga, at the BPO through his office window during the restricted Security Council meeting on 31 May 1994, which was taking place in his office. Vitness FAI came from a *commune* that was under occupation at that time and, according to Nsabimana, Witness FAI was at the *préfecture* because he was a refugee who was passing through the town. Nsabimana asked Witness FAI and the Rusatira *bourgmestre* to come in to the meeting to inform the Security Council about the manner in which their home *communes* were handling the displacement of refugees. Nsabimana asked Witness FAI and the *bourgmestre* of Rusatira how people were advancing, they answered the questions put to them, and then the two men left the meeting.

2894. As for a meeting that may have taken place on the Monday following 2 June 1994, namely 6 June 1994, Nsabimana denied that he presided over a subsequent meeting in his office, claiming that three quarters of all the *bourgmestres* Witness FAI alleged were in attendance, would not fit in his office, and denied that Witness FAI participated in that meeting. The only occasion Nsabimana recalled seeing Witness FAI was with respect to the meeting that took place in Nsabimana's office and to which Witness FAI was not invited, although he temporarily attended to provide some information. 8041

2895. Nsabimana refuted Witness FAI's allegation that this meeting included a review of the government's programme of killing Tutsis. Nsabimana testified that the issue of fuel was discussed during the 20 April 1994 meeting that he held with *bourgmestres*. On that day, Nsabimana decided that in view of the fuel shortage, each *bourgmestre* would be supplied with 40 litres of fuel per week for the official vehicle to facilitate movement and communication. Nsabimana indicated that it was his predecessor, Jean-Baptiste Habyalimana, who first raised this fuel issue during a meeting that took place a few days before. 8042

2896. Nsabimana stated that he never heard Kanyabashi appeal to the population to flush out enemies from Ngoma nor did Nsabimana ever hear Kanyabashi appeal for youth to undergo military training. Nsabimana denied Witness FAI's testimony that the Kibaye and Kigembe *bourgmestres* requested assistance with killing Tutsis who were passing through their

⁸⁰³⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).

⁸⁰³⁵ T. 24 February 2003 p. 37 (Witness RE).

⁸⁰³⁶ T. 20 November 2006 p. 58 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰³⁷ T. 21 September 2006 p. 64 (ICS); T. 16 November 2006 p. 56 (ICS); T. 20 November 2006 p. 37; T. 20 November 2006 p. 58 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰³⁸ T. 21 September 2006 p. 69 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰³⁹ T. 21 September 2006 pp. 63-64 (ICS); T. 20 November 2006 p. 58 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰⁴⁰ T. 21 September 2006 p. 66 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰⁴¹ T. 20 November 2006 p. 59 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰⁴² T. 20 November 2006 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

communes en route to Burundi, that Nsabimana subsequently asked Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to find a solution to this situation, and that Nteziryayo offered assistance. 8043

Nteziryayo

2897. Nteziryayo testified that, contrary to Witness FAI's testimony, he did not attend a *bourgmestre* meeting in the BPO between 25 May and early June 1994 and Nsabimana did not request him to send reinforcements to Kibayi and Kigembe *communes*. Nteziryayo testified that during this period of time he was not an official of Butare *préfecture* and not under the orders of the *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana. Nteziryayo denied knowing any organisation or group known as *Ibisumizi*, or having had any *Ibisumizi* at his disposal. Nteziryayo denied knowing any organisation or group known as *Ibisumizi*, or having had any *Ibisumizi* at his disposal.

3.6.21.4 Deliberations

2898. As noted in the preliminary issues section to these allegations, the Chamber will not consider the general assertion that there were "numerous meetings" at the BPO (). However, the Chamber notes that from a combined reading of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment together with the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief as outlined above in the Introduction, three specific meetings are alleged to have taken place at the BPO, namely: (1) a meeting in April 1994 called by Nyiramasuhuko and attended by Nsabimana at which the progress of the massacres was discussed and the means by which to complete them; (2) a meeting around 10 June 1994, attended by Nsabimana, Nyiramasuhuko and Interim President Sindikubwabo at which Nyiramasuhuko asked why Tutsis at the BPO had not been killed; and (3) a second meeting around 10 June 1994, attended by Kanyabashi and Minister Rwamakuba where either Kanyabashi or both men told Nsabimana that the Tutsi refugees at the BPO must be exterminated.

Meeting Between Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko, April 1994

2899. The Chamber recalls the evidence of Witness SJ who said that she arrived at the BPO in April 1994 and that within the first two weeks of her stay, she saw Nyiramasuhuko go into the office of the *préfet* to attend a meeting. When Nyiramasuhuko exited she said "this place is dirty", and Nsabimana ordered the *Interahamwe* to move the refugees to the back of the BPO. Witness QBQ also provided testimony as to a meeting that took place three days after her arrival at the BPO, towards the end of April 1994. She said that Nyiramasuhuko

⁸⁰⁴³ T. 20 November 2006 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁸⁰⁴⁴ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 7, 17-18 (Nteziryayo).

⁸⁰⁴⁵ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 5, 17-18 (Nteziryayo).

⁸⁰⁴⁶ T. 22 May 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo).

Paras. 6.32 and 6.33 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Paras. 6.28 and 6.37 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana); Para. 6.43 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁸⁰⁴⁸ T. 28 May 2002 pp. 112, 116, 122; T. 4 June 2002 p. 33 (Witness SJ).

⁸⁰⁴⁹ T. 28 May 2002 pp. 122, 132-133, 138; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 33-34, 39-40 (Witness SJ).

⁸⁰⁵⁰ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 6-8, 52-53 (Witness QBQ).

approached the BPO on foot accompanied by Nsabimana and said to clear the filth from the BPO 8051

2900. Based on the evidence of Witnesses SJ and QBQ, the Chamber is satisfied that a meeting took place between Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana around the end of April 1994, at the BPO. The Chamber however notes that no evidence was led as to the content of the said meeting. Therefore the Chamber finds that the Prosecution failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana held a meeting at which the progress of the massacres and the means by which to complete them were discussed in April 1994 at the BPO.

Meeting of Nsabimana, Nyiramasuhuko and President Sindikubwabo, Around 10 June 1994

2901. Witness RE gave evidence about the alleged meeting between Nsabimana, Nyiramasuhuko and President Sindikubwabo. She testified that she saw Nyiramasuhuko arrive at the BPO with Sindikubwabo and said to him, "[i]s that dirt still here? In Butare they have not worked." The Chamber notes an inconsistency between Witness RE's testimony and her prior statement. The witness did not mention in her statement that Nyiramasuhuko referred to the refugees as dirt or that Nyiramasuhuko said that young girls should be raped. Witness RE's statement indicates that Nyiramasuhuko asked "[w]hat are these people doing here and why don't they kill them?" Further, the Chamber considers Witness RE's testimony was not sufficiently detailed. For example, she did not give any precise time frame about this event, she failed to mention Nyiramasuhuko and Sindikubwabo's form of transport, and she could not recall the time of day of the visit to the BPO.

2902. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds this evidence insufficient to establish that around 10 June 1994, Nsabimana met with Interim President Sindikubwabo and Nyiramasuhuko at the BPO at which time Nyiramasuhuko asked why Tutsis at the BPO had not been killed. Thus, the Chamber finds this allegation has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Meeting of Kanyabashi, Nsabimana and Minister Rwamakuba, Around 10 June 1994

2903. As to the third alleged meeting, the Chamber recalls its Decision of 16 December 2004 in which it held there was no evidence that Kanyabashi told Nsabimana that the Tutsi refugees at the BPO must be exterminated. Accordingly, Nsabimana could not have failed to dissociate himself from comments that were never made by Kanyabashi. The Chamber also notes that the Prosecution led no evidence that André Rwamakuba told Nsabimana to kill Tutsis. Considering that there is no evidence to support the allegation that Nsabimana failed to

.

⁸⁰⁵¹ T. 3 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBQ).

⁸⁰⁵² T. 24 February 2003 pp. 13, 17-18 (Witness RE).

⁸⁰⁵³ T. 25 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

⁸⁰⁵⁴ T. 25 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

⁸⁰⁵⁵ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 183.

distance himself from the comments of Kanyabashi and Rwamakuba, the Chamber finds these allegations have not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.22 Muganza Meetings, April – June 1994

3.6.22.1 Introduction

2904. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, Ndayambaje conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. The plan was alleged to consist of, *inter alia*, encouraging hatred and incitement to violence, the training of militia and the preparation of lists of Tutsis to be killed. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje, together with others, adhered to and executed this plan and in doing so organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. ⁸⁰⁵⁶

2905. In support of Count 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide) the Prosecution submits that between January and April 1994, Ndayambaje participated in meetings related to the planning of the genocide. More specifically, it submits that secret meetings were held at Ndayambaje's home and in other locations between January and April 1994, which were attended by persons holding positions of authority. The Prosecution also argues that before the death of President Habyarimana, Ndayambaje organised meetings on the hills in Muganza *commune* on Saturdays, which Hutus attended. The Prosecution alleged another meeting took place after the death of the President at the compound of the Muganza *commune* office, attended by *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana, Ndayambaje, *conseillers* and *cellule* members. More than 200 people were present. The Prosecution contends that Ndayambaje spoke at this meeting and told attendees to strengthen patrols as the *Invenzi* could come at any time. After this meeting, Tutsis were allegedly killed. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAQ, QAR, FAU, EV, QBZ and RV.

2906. The Ndayambaje Defence argues that the Prosecution's evidence in this regard should not be considered because it was not pled in the Indictment. Furthermore, it submits that the Prosecution failed to adduce any evidence that Ndayambaje met with any of the co-Accused to establish a genocide plan. The evidence that such meetings took place is based on hearsay and lacks detail including as to the number of meetings held, their location, date, the identity and number of attendees, the items on the agenda and the identification of the speakers. The Defence asserts that Ndayambaje never convened or chaired any such meetings, nor did he hold secret meetings in his home.

2907. In support of its submissions, the Ndayambaje Defence relies on the testimony of Ndayambaje and Ndayambaje Defence Witnesses KEPIR, BOZAN, MARVA, GABON, JEVAN and Father Tiziano.

8061 Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 941-942.

-

⁸⁰⁵⁶ Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 465, para. 56; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 39.

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 463-466, paras. 52-59; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 39.

Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 54.

⁸⁰⁶⁰ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 868; Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 65.

3.6.22.2 Preliminary Issues

2908. The Ndayambaje Defence requests that the Chamber not consider the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QBZ, QAR and QAQ in order to demonstrate that the Accused participated in meetings, as they concern material facts not contained in the Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective and such defects have not been cured. Bobber 10 The Defence recalls that it previously raised objections in its motions on the defects in the form of the Indictment, and on acquittal on the basis of Rule 98 bis of the Rules and on exclusion of evidence.

2909. The Chamber notes that Ndayambaje's Preliminary Motion, filed outside the prescribed time limit on 6 February 2001, alleged that Paragraph 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment lacked clarity and precision, including that the time frame was too imprecise, there was no specific mention of the identities of those with whom the Accused allegedly conspired or the capacity in which he acted, and there was no specification as to the components of the conspiracy. 8066 The Chamber dismissed the motion on the basis that the Defence failed to show good cause warranting waiver of the time-bar and did not consider the merits of the application. 8067 As regards Ndayambaje's Motion for acquittal under Rule 98 bis, the Defence submitted, inter alia, that Ndayambaje should be acquitted of conspiracy to commit genocide because the Prosecution failed to adduce evidence that Ndayambaje met, discussed or even knew his alleged co-conspirators. 8068 The Chamber dismissed Ndayambaje's motion on this point as it considered that the evidence adduced, if believed, could be sufficient for a reasonable trier of fact to find Ndayambaje's responsibility beyond a reasonable doubt on the facts pled in Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment. 8069 Lastly, in Ndayambaje's Motion on exclusion of evidence, the Defence sought the exclusion of the testimony or parts of testimony of 14 Prosecution witnesses because they concerned facts or elements not pled in the Indictment and because it did not have timely notification of those allegations. 8070 The Chamber denied the motion in its entirety, but observed that some of the matters raised could be considered at a

0/

⁸⁰⁶² Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 115-118.

⁸⁰⁶³ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Preliminary Motion (Amendment and Harmonisation of the Indictment) Pursuant to Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 6 February 2001.

⁸⁰⁶⁴ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête d'Élie Ndayambaje aux fins d'acquittement en application de l'article 98 bis du reglement de procedure et de preuve, 25 October 2004, para. 55.
⁸⁰⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins

Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006.

⁸⁰⁶⁶ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Preliminary Motion (Amendment and Harmonisation of the Indictment) Pursuant to Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 6 February 2001, para. 22.

⁸⁰⁶⁷ *Ndayambaje*, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment and for the Harmonization of the Accused's Indictment (TC), 25 April 2001.

⁸⁰⁶⁸ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête d'Élie Ndayambaje aux fins d'acquittement en application de l'article 98 bis du reglement de procedure et de preuve, 25 October 2004, para. 29.

Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 202.

Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006 (concerning witnesses QAR, TO, QAQ, QAF, FAL, TP, TW, QAL, RV, FAU, EV, RT, QBZ and FAG).

later stage of the proceedings, and issues relating to the credibility and evaluation of testimony should be considered with the totality of the evidence. 8071

2910. The Chamber notes that in the three motions referred to above, the Ndayambaje Defence did not specifically object to the Prosecution's allegations that Ndayambaje participated in meetings in Muganza *commune*; the first and second motions addressed defects in the Ndayambaje Indictment in a general sense, *i.e.* they alleged that the Indictment was imprecise, while the testimonies referred to in the third motion concerned evidence unrelated to meetings. However, the Chamber retains the right to exclude evidence even though the Defence did not raise any objection at the time of presentation. 8072

2911. The Prosecution allegation that Ndayambaje participated in meetings relating to the planning of the genocide, forms part of its case in relation to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. The Ndayambaje Indictment does not allege that Ndayambaje attended, chaired, convened or in any other way participated in meetings during which the planning of the genocide was discussed. Nor does the Indictment set forth any facts or circumstances from which it could be inferred that Ndayambaje was involved in meetings of any kind. The Chamber considers Ndayambaje's alleged participation in meetings to be material to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide because it constitutes the means by which the alleged conspiracy was committed and is a key element of the conduct imputed to the Accused, which forms the basis of the conspiracy charge. For these reasons, the Chamber considers that the Ndayambaje Indictment is defective.

2912. The Chamber is of the view that the Prosecution's failure to refer to Ndayambaje's alleged participation in meetings constitutes a failure to properly plead the mode of participation of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. The Chamber recalls that where it is alleged that the accused planned, instigated, ordered, or aided and abetted in the planning, preparation or execution of the alleged crimes, the Prosecution is required to identify the "particular acts" or "the particular course of conduct" on the part of the accused that forms the basis for the charges in question. 8073 In the Chamber's opinion, information that the Prosecution intended to lead evidence on Ndavambaje's alleged participation in meetings to support the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide should have been contained in the Indictment because it is an essential ingredient of the charge. The Chamber is of the view that the subsequent inclusion of such information in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief therefore constitutes a radical transformation of the Prosecution case which can only result in prejudice to the Accused. 8074 As a result the Chamber will not make a finding on Ndayambaje's alleged involvement in meetings between January and April 1994. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence was not sufficient to prove these allegations beyond a reasonable doubt.

⁸⁰⁷¹ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006.

⁸⁰⁷² Bikindi, Decision on the Defence Requête en Exclusion des Élements de Preuve Produits par l'Accusation pour Etablir des Faits Non Contenus dans l'Acte d'Accusation (TC), 26 June 2007, para. 30.

⁸⁰⁷³ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 25.

⁸⁰⁷⁴ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20.

3.6.23 Hotel Ihuliro – Meetings and Roadblock, April 1994

3.6.23.1 Introduction

2913. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that between April and July 1994, a roadblock was erected near the residence of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali in Butare town ("Hotel Ihuliro"), 8075 and that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali manned this roadblock. 8076 The Prosecution further submits that after the death of President Habyarimana and prior to the mounting of the roadblock, meetings were held at Hotel Ihuliro between Nyiramasuhuko and the Interahamwe, during which the implementation of the genocide in Butare was discussed. 8077 The Prosecution submits that the roadblock was erected after the second of these meetings.⁸⁰⁷⁸ The Prosecution submits that Ntahobali also resided at the Hotel Ihuliro following the death of the President and, as a consequence, he must have been aware of such meetings and the issues discussed.⁸⁰⁷⁹ In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness FA.

2914. The Prosecution also submits that between April and July 1994, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, with the assistance of soldiers, *Interahamwe* and other unknown persons, utilised the roadblock to identify, abduct and kill members of the Tutsi population. 8080 Among these crimes was the alleged killing of Léopold Ruyurajabo, a Tutsi, on 21 April 1994, who was killed at the roadblock near the Hotel Ihuliro, under Ntahobali's instructions. 8081

2915. As part of the general allegation that during the events referred to in the Indictment, rapes and sexual assaults were widely and notoriously committed throughout Rwanda against the Tutsi population by, among others, soldiers, militiamen and gendarmes. 8082 the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Ntahobali, assisted by unknown accomplices, participated in the kidnapping and raping of Tutsi women. 8083 Specifically, the Prosecution alleges that Ntahobali and other Interahamwe—including Jean-Pierre, Kazunga and Lambert—abducted Tutsi women to rape them before killing them, and that the roadblock at Hotel Ihuliro was part of a coordinated effort to round up and slaughter the Tutsi population

⁸⁰⁷⁵ The residence of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali is referred to in evidence by various names. For the purposes of this Judgement, the Chamber refers to the Hotel Ihuliro.

Para. 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 93-94, paras. 218-219; p. 180, paras. 59-60; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

⁸⁰⁷⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 93, para. 218; p. 180, para. 60; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 39.

8079 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 180, para. 60; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 39.

⁸⁰⁸⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 92, paras. 214-215.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 168, para. 35. The Chamber notes that in para. 35, the Prosecution offers two different spellings of Ruvurajabo, including Ruvujabaro and Ruvarajabo. The Chamber will use "Ruvurajabo", taken from the transcripts, as the determinative spelling.

Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

⁸⁰⁸³ Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 7 and 11 against Nviramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

in and around Butare town. 8084 In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies on Witnesses FA, SS, SX, TB, TG, TQ, QI and QCB.

2916. One of the victims of these alleged rapes was Witness TN. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness TN to establish that during the Indictment period, Ntahobali and his subordinates raped many Tutsi girls and that these girls were singled out because they were Tutsis.⁸⁰⁸⁵

2917. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that no meetings were held at Hotel Ihuliro between April and July 1994. 8086 It questions how Witness FA could have been unaware that the house she identified as Nyiramasuhuko's was also used as a hotel, and disputes the witness' assertion that she saw Nyiramasuhuko's three daughters before and during the period between April and July 1994 on a regular basis given that they were living elsewhere. 8087 The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Witness FA's testimony is contradictory and inconsistent with a statement she gave to Prosecution investigators in 1996. 8088

2918. The Ntahobali Defence also submits that the Prosecution's reliance on the testimony of Witness FA to infer that Ntahobali must have known of the meetings fails to reach the requisite standard of proof. The Ntahobali Defence also argues that Witness FA's testimony is not credible.

2919. In support of their submissions as to the alleged meetings, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Defences rely on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Maurice Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali, Denise Ntahobali, WBNC, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali Defence Witnesses CEM and NMBMP and Ntahobali.

2920. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Defences further submit that the alleged crimes did not take place, and that the roadblock in question was not mounted until the end of May 1994. It is therefore impossible for the crimes alleged before this date to have occurred. 8091 In support of this submission, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Defence rely on Maurice Ntahobali, Denise Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali, the Accused Ntahobali, Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6 and Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBNC. In addition, Nsabimana Defence Witnesses Fergal Keane, Charles Karemano, Alexandre Bararwandika, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses WMKL, WBUC, WBTT, CEM, WZNA, WKNKI, Ntahobali Defence Witnesses WUNBJ, WCUJM, NMBMP, WCMNC, WCNJ, WCMNA, WCKJ, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-YYYY, D-2-13-O, D-2-13-D, D-2-5-I, D-13-D, and Bernadette Kamanzi gave evidence relevant to this issue. The Defence for Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali

⁸⁰⁸⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 166-167, paras. 30-31.

⁸⁰⁸⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 176, para. 54.

⁸⁰⁸⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 298.

⁸⁰⁸⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 49.

⁸⁰⁸⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 294-295.

⁸⁰⁸⁹ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 60.

⁸⁰⁹⁰ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 684-696.

⁸⁰⁹¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras, 274-276, 306-320, 717, 742, 791, 830; Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 735-738, Appendix 1, para. 11.

also challenges the credibility and reliability of Prosecution Witnesses FA, TB, TG, TN, TQ, QCB, SS and SX. 8092

2921. As part of the preliminary issues outlined below, the Ntahobali Defence also submits that certain specific allegations regarding Ntahobali's conduct at the roadblock were not pled in the Indictment and therefore cannot be used against him to prove the various counts of the Indictment. The Prosecution's failure to include these allegations in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment cannot be cured by subsequent disclosure. 8093

2922. The Ntahobali Defence further submits that Ntahobali got malaria on 28 April 1994 and invokes an alibi, claiming that he spent a week in convalescence after having received Quinimax injections. 8094

3.6.23.2 Preliminary Issues

Lack of Notice in Relation to Witness FA

2923. The Ntahobali Defence requests the exclusion of Prosecution Witness FA's testimony in its entirety on the grounds that it did not receive sufficient notice of that testimony, and asks the Chamber to find that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's right to prepare their defence has been violated. Witness FA did not appear on the Prosecution's list of intended witnesses in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and was added to the witness list on 30 March 2004, almost at the end of the Prosecution case, even though the Prosecution had been in possession of Witness FA's statement since 26 November 1996. 8095

2924. The Chamber recalls its Decision of 30 March 2004 in which it, *inter alia*, granted the Prosecution's motion to add three new witnesses, including Witness FA, to its witness list. In that Decision, the Chamber also ordered the disclosure of the non-redacted statements of the new witnesses to the Defence teams, with a view to avoiding any delay that could prejudice the Defence in its preparation. The Chamber also directed the Prosecution to call such witnesses at the end of its case in order to provide the Defence with sufficient time to prepare for the cross-examination of the new witnesses. 8096

2925. The Chamber accepted that the evidence of the proposed factual witnesses could address specific factual circumstances relevant to the case and that it would be in the interests of justice to add such witnesses to the Prosecution witness list. The Chamber noted that the Prosecution disclosed the redacted statements of Witness FA on 12 January 2004 and now

⁸⁰⁹² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 274-276, 306-320, 570; Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 130-143.

⁸⁰⁹³ Ntahobali's Closing Brief, paras. 74, 76.

Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 35; *see* Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II, Notice of Intent to enter a defence of alibi, 29 September 2005; T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁰⁹⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 80-81.

⁸⁰⁹⁶ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004.

⁸⁰⁹⁷ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004, paras. 32-33.

recalls that the witness' identity was disclosed on 1 April 2004. 8098 It further notes that Witness FA was not called until the end of the Prosecution case. 8099

2926. In view of the foregoing and the fact that the Ntahobali Defence has not established the existence of prejudice as a result of Witness FA being permitted to testify⁸¹⁰⁰ the Chamber finds no reason to reconsider its earlier ruling.

Defect Relating to the Identity of Co-Perpetrators

2927. The Ntahobali Defence submits that the allegation that he, together with a certain Jean-Pierre, Lambert and Kazungu, carried out abductions, murders or rapes at a roadblock near his parents' residence is not pled in the Indictment. Moreover, the Defence submits that the name "Kazungu" does not appear in the Indictment, Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or any of the witnesses' statements. 8102

2928. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment provides the location of the roadblock, gives an adequate description of the time frame involved, and alleges that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali made use of the roadblock with the assistance of others to identify, abduct and kill Tutsis. It is not necessary that the Indictment provide the exact identity of the alleged co-perpetrators. Therefore the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.27 was not defective as to the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali made use of a roadblock near their home to identify, abduct and kill Tutsis.

Defect Relating to Victim Léopold Ruvurajabo

2929. The Ntahobali Defence further submits that the allegation that Ntahobali ordered *Interahamwe* and civilians wearing military uniforms to kill a Tutsi man called Léopold Ruvurajabo at a roadblock located in front of his parents' residence is not pled in the Indictment.⁸¹⁰³

2930. The Chamber recalls that where the Prosecution alleges that an accused personally committed criminal acts, it must plead the identity of the victim, the place and approximate date of the alleged criminal acts, and the means by which they were committed with the greatest precision (). It is clear from Witness QCB's previous statement of 7 April 1999, disclosed on 1 December 1999, 8104 taken approximately five months before the Amended Indictment was filed in August 1999, that the Prosecution was aware of the identity of the alleged victim Léopold Ruvurajabo, yet failed to include that information in the Amended Indictment. The Indictment is thus defective in this respect. The Chamber will now address the

⁸⁰⁹⁸ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004, para. 31; T. 30 April 2004 p. 4 (ICS) (Status Conference). Witness FA began her evidence on 30 June 2004.

⁸⁰⁹⁹ T. 30 April 2004 p. 4 (ICS) (Status Conference). Witness FA began her evidence on 30 June 2004.

⁸¹⁰⁰ See Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35. ⁸¹⁰¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (xii).

⁸¹⁰² Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 71.

⁸¹⁰³ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (xi).

⁸¹⁰⁴ 7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB, disclosed 1 December 1999. The Chamber notes that while this statement redacted any mention of Ruvurajabo, the subsequent disclosure on 15 November 2000, clearly mentioned Ruvurajabo's name.

question of whether the defect in the Indictment was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

2931. In the summary of Witness QCB's anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief it is stated, without specifying a time frame, that Witness QCB went to Butare with a "Tutsi acquaintance" and they went through three roadblocks. At the third roadblock, which was located opposite Ntahobali's parents' house and was supervised by Ntahobali, the *Interahamwe* and civilians wearing military vests were checking cards, allowing Hutus through while segregating Tutsis and putting them by the roadside. Witness QCB's acquaintance refused to join the Tutsi group and he was immediately killed, on Ntahobali's orders. Witness QCB's previous statement of 7 April 1999, disclosed on 15 November 2000, one year and four months before the witness was called to testify on 20 March 2002, is consistent with this account and adds further details as to the identity of the said acquaintance. In the statement, Witness QCB states he was with Léopold Ruvurajabo when they approached a roadblock in front of the Ntahobali residence, and that when they arrived at the roadblock, Ruvurajabo refused to join a group of Tutsis gathered by the roadside, at which point Ntahobali ordered him to be killed. 8106

2932. In sum, the Prosecution's subsequent disclosure regarding the murder of Léopold Ruvurajabo was timely, clear and consistent. The Chamber therefore finds that the defect in the Indictment as to the murder of Léopold Ruvurajabo was cured, and did not prejudice the Defence in the preparation of its case with regard to this allegation.

Lack of Notice in Relation to Rapes

2933. Lastly, the Ntahobali Defence submits that the allegations that between 21 and 25 April 1994, Ntahobali abducted and confined seven Tutsi girls in his house, including Witness TN, in order to rape them, and that around 28 April 1994, Ntahobali arrested and sexually assaulted a Tutsi girl near the EER were not pled in the Indictment. 8107

2934. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment does not mention rape with respect to crimes alleged to have taken place at the roadblock at the Ntahobali residence, nor is Paragraph 6.27 listed in support of the count of rape in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. However, Paragraphs 6.37 and 6.53 of the Indictment, which are listed in support of the charge of rape against Ntahobali, state that Ntahobali, assisted by unknown accomplices, participated in the kidnapping and raping of Tutsi women. Further, it is alleged that during the events referred to in the Indictment, rapes and sexual assaults were widely and notoriously committed throughout Rwanda. The Chamber finds these paragraphs unduly vague and not sufficient to put Ntahobali on notice of the Prosecution's intention to adduce evidence that Ntahobali abducted a Tutsi girl at the roadblock and raped her at the EER; nor do they specifically point to Ntahobali's abduction and raping of Witness TN and other Tutsi girls in his house, in April 1994. Thus, the Indictment was defective in this respect. The Chamber will now consider whether this defect was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

8107 Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 77-78 (ix, xiii).

⁸¹⁰⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QCB (52).

⁸¹⁰⁶ 7 April 1999, Unredacted Statement of Witness QCB, disclosed 15 November 2000.

2935. The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief reiterates the language from Paragraph 6.53 of the Indictment, and adds that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali committed, ordered, aided and abetted their subordinates and others in the carrying out of rapes and sexual assaults of Tutsis. The Chamber also notes that the Prosecution opening statement mentioned rape being used as a tool against Tutsi women. In particular in relation to rape, the Prosecution submitted that Nyiramasuhuko encouraged her son, Ntahobali, to rape Tutsi women. 8109

Alleged Rape of Seven Tutsi Girls, Including Witness TN

2936. Furthermore, the summary of Prosecution Witness TN's expected evidence contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, states that the witness was raped by Ntahobali; that Hutu soldiers penetrated women's vaginas with sticks; that Ntahobali authorised the soldiers to kill anyone they wanted; and that one soldier called Alex took Witness TN as his wife and they fled to Burundi. 8110

2937. Witness TN's prior statement of 11-12 March 1998 is consistent with this account. ⁸¹¹¹ The witness described that on 21 April 1994 Ntahobali, after ordering that six girls—including Witness TN and Philippe's daughter Lillian Umubyeyi—had to go to his house, raped them, one by one. The same night, Witness TN was forced to have sex with soldiers. A few days later, she was raped again by Ntahobali, this time using a handle stick. During the five days the girls were kept in the house, they were repeatedly raped. On 25 April 1994, Shalom told the soldiers they could choose the girls to be their wives, or they were allowed to kill them. Each of the soldiers chose a girl to be his wife. A soldier named Alexis took Witness TN and forced her to go to a refugee camp in Burundi, saying the RPF soldiers were coming. Witness TN described Ntahobali as black, fat and not very tall. She added that he was heavy when he laid on her. The witness explained that she probably could not recognise Shalom if she saw him again, but confirmed Shalom was the person in charge of their hostage while at the house and he ordered their rapes.

2938. The Chamber has carefully analysed all the above material and notes that the Prosecution was in receipt of Witness TN's prior statement of 11-12 March 1998 at the time of the Amended Indictment, on 1 March 2001. The Chamber considers that the Prosecution should have been more diligent and included in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment the specific details regarding Ntahobali's involvement in the abduction and rape of girls in his compound and house.

2939. Nonetheless, the Chamber considers that the evidence contained in Witness TN's summary in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief and in Witness TN's prior statement, which was disclosed in redacted and unredacted forms on 4 November 1998 and 23 April 2001 respectively, provided timely, clear and consistent information and resolved any ambiguity or vagueness in the Indictment. It was also disclosed on 23 May 2001. The Chamber considers that this information did not amount to an expansion of the charges against Ntahobali and

_

⁸¹⁰⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 29.

Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 88, 91-92.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TN (10).

^{8111 11-12} March 1998, Statement of Witness TN, disclosed 4 November 1998; Unredacted Statement of Witness TN, disclosed 23 April 2001.

provided sufficient notice to enable the Ntahobali Defence to prepare his defence without prejudice, in regard to this allegation.

2940. The Chamber therefore finds the defect in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was cured with respect to the allegation that Ntahobali abducted, confined and raped seven Tutsi girls in his house, including Witness TN.

Alleged Rape of a Tutsi Girl Near the Roadblock

2941. In addition, the witness summaries for Prosecution Witnesses SX and TB contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief set forth allegations that Ntahobali raped Tutsi women at the roadblock in front of his parents' residence. 8112 Specifically, the summary of Witness SX's anticipated testimony states that Ntahobali took a girl from the roadblock near his mother's house and raped her about 10 metres away from the EER building. Witness SX provided similar information in his statement of 2 December 1997, disclosed on 4 November 1998, nearly six years before the witness was called to testify. 8113

2942. The summary provided for Witness TB in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, sets forth that on about 28 April 1994, Witness TB saw Ntahobali and two soldiers take a girl into the forest near the EER, rape and kill her. 8114 In Witness TB's previous statement of 5 December 1997, disclosed to the Defence on 15 November 2000, over three years before the witness was called to testify, Witness TB provided a similar, detailed account of this event. 8115

⁸¹¹² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SX (88); Witness TB (90).

⁸¹¹³ 2 December 1997, Statement of Witness SX, disclosed 4 November 1998 (The statement said that around 4.00 pm on the day the barrier was erected, which he estimates to have been approximately two weeks after he learned of President Habyarimana's death on Radio Rwanda, several girls were being beaten by three men. including Ntahobali, who singled out two of the girls and made them go through a water drainage ditch. Ntahobali then gave one of the girls to a soldier and Ntahobali took the other girl towards the place where Witness SX was hiding. Witness SX states that he and nine other people witnessed Ntahobali rape the girl, and then hit her on the head with a club. According to Witness SX's statement Ntahobali then ran towards the barrier telling the other Interahamwe that he had killed the girl; the Interahamwe responded singing, "Power! Power! We have finished

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TB (90) (stated that the witness first saw Ntahobali about 28 April 1994 when the witness saw a Daihatsu pickup drive past the EER building. When Ntahobali stopped the car, he and two soldiers asked everyone to get out and to hand over their identification cards. Ntahobali told all the occupants of the car, except for one girl, whom he identified as an *Invenzi*, to pass. His men then began kicking and hitting the girl with rifles, while tearing at her clothes and pushing her in the direction of the forest until she was left wearing only her underwear. Ntahobali was observing this and before they were at the forest he ordered his men to return with the girl whose underwear he tried tearing off while leading her into the forest. Witness TB could not see Ntahobali and the girl in the forest but Witness TB could hear the girl screaming: "I'm dying, I'm dying". After about 30 minutes, Witness TB saw Ntahobali leave the forest and order the soldiers to return to work. Witness TB returned to the forest, in an attempt to try to save the girl, but she was dead. Witness TB saw blood and wounds on her chest, on both sides of her chest were cross marks that had been made with a sharp object. Her vagina also was covered with cuts and she was completely naked.).

8115 5 December 1997, Statement of Witness TB, disclosed 15 November 2000 (stated that sometime in the

afternoon of 28 April 1994, TB saw a yellow Daihatsu pass by the EER where Witness TB was staying, and that Ntahobali stopped the vehicle. There were three females in the car; one of the three was singled out by Ntahobali who identified her as an *Invenzi*. Ntahobali allowed the others in the car to pass by, but Ntahobali's men took the girl singled out and pushed her towards the forest, hitting her with their rifles, and tearing away her clothing until she was wearing only her underclothes. When the soldiers were almost to the forest, Ntahobali called the soldiers to come back, which they did. Ntahobali then went to where the girl was and took her to the forest while tearing at

The information provided by Witnesses SX and TB's summaries contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, together with their previous statements, sufficiently put the Ntahobali Defence on notice with respect to the allegation that Ntahobali abducted a Tutsi girl at the roadblock and raped her near the EER. In addition, the Chamber finds these Prosecution disclosures were timely, clear and consistent. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber concludes that the defect in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment as to this allegation was cured and did not prejudice the Defence in the preparation of its case.

3.6.23.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FA

2943. Witness FA, a Hutu married to a Tutsi, 8116 testified that Nyiramasuhuko lived with her husband, three daughters and son, Ntahobali, in a large building with two or three storeys in Butare-Ville *cellule*, Ngoma *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. 8117 The witness was shown a photograph in which she identified a garage known as the MSM garage and stated that it was very close. 8118

2944. Witness FA testified that there was a roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's residence. Witness FA was living with Kazungu. Kazungu allowed her to live with him because she had told him that her husband died, though in reality he was hiding in the ceiling. She could live there safely because Kazungu intervened on her behalf, since she was a Hutu. From her house, Witness FA had a clear view of people coming and going from Nyiramasuhuko's house. There were "white people", purportedly working for the UN, who had rented a wing of Nyiramasuhuko's residence. On cross-examination, Witness FA testified that the foreigners left at a certain point, but they were still there when the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's residence was erected. The witness first came to know Nyiramasuhuko's family when she moved into a house in Ngoma *commune*, six months before April 1994.

2945. Witness FA testified that over a two-week period after President Habyarimana's death, she saw people going to and leaving three meetings at Nyiramasuhuko's house. 8126 The meetings took place in April 1994 although she was unable to specify precise dates. 8127 Some

her clothes. Witness SX could not see the girl any longer but stated that she heard the girl screaming; "I am dying!" After approximately 30 minutes Ntahobali left the forest and went to where the soldiers were on the roadside, telling them to go and do the work. Witness SX's previous statement further sets forth that Witness SX later went into the forest where she found the girl dead, and covered in wounds.).

```
8116 T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness FA); Prosecution Exhibit 155 (Personal Particulars).
```

⁸¹¹⁷ T. 30 June 2004 p. 45; T. 30 June pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 pp. 6, 12 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹¹⁸ T. 30 June 2004 p. 47 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness FA); Defence Exhibit 233 (Ntahobali) (Photograph showing MSM Garage).

⁸¹¹⁹ T. 30 June 2004 p. 51; T. 30 June p. 53 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²⁰ T. 1 July 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²¹ T. 1 July 2004 pp. 64-66 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²² T. 30 June 2004 pp. 47-49 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²³ T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²⁴ T. 1 July 2004 pp. 49, 60, 69 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²⁵ T. 30 June 2004 p. 65 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 pp. 12-13, 58 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹²⁶ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 45, 48-49 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 34 (Witness FA).

⁸¹²⁷ T. 30 June 2004 p. 50 (Witness FA).

of those who attended the meetings wore civilian clothes although a few were dressed in military uniform. R128 All were members of the MRND Party and the *Interahamwe*. Besides the occupants of the house, the attendees included the head of MINITRAP, the director of INADES and a person named Kone. Under cross-examination, she stated that her brother-in-law had also attended MRND meetings in Nyiramasuhuko's house but she did not know his surname. Although she did not testify to having been present at the meetings, she stated that she never saw Nyiramasuhuko at any of the meetings.

2946. Witness FA testified that a man who lived in her compound attended the meetings at Nyiramasuhuko's house. On returning from the second meeting, he came to the witness' home, and informed her and her husband that instructions had been issued during the meeting concerning the killing of Tutsis and that there had been discussions on the issue of identity cards. Witness FA claimed that the man told her that he was an important *Interahamwe* and that Tutsis living in the compound should leave and find shelter elsewhere because he did not want to kill them. The man wore a military uniform and was carrying grenades, hatchets and a sword. After he left, Witness FA testified that her Tutsi husband hid in the ceiling of their home.

2947. Witness FA confirmed that she only knew of the meetings at Nyiramasuhuko's house because her neighbour had informed her of them following the second meeting.⁸¹³⁸ She also confirmed that in her statement to Prosecution investigators in November 1996, she did not mention that her neighbour had told her about the killings of Tutsis or his warning that Tutsis would have to leave the compound.⁸¹³⁹ Witness FA further testified that until her neighbour's visit, she had not been aware that her husband was Tutsi.⁸¹⁴⁰

2948. Witness FA testified that part of the house she identified as Nyiramasuhuko's was rented out to several tenants and the Nyiramasuhuko family lived in a separate wing. The witness stated that there were other businesses on the premises where the house was located and that she used to go there to buy vegetables. She was not aware of the existence of a hotel as such. When questioned as to how she knew whether people entering Nyiramasuhuko's house were attending meetings, Witness FA responded that this was because her neighbour was among those people. 8143

```
8128 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 50-51 (Witness FA).
8129 T. 30 June 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8130 T. 1 July 2004 p. 43 (Witness FA).
8131 T. 1 July 2004 pp. 67, 72 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8132 T. 1 July 2004 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8133 T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8134 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).
8135 T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).
8136 T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).
8137 T. 30 June 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8138 T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).
8139 T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).
8140 T. 1 July 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8141 T. 30 June 2004 p. 48; T. 1 July 2004 p. 60 (Witness FA).
8142 T. 1 July 2004 p. 43; T. 1 July p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FA).
```

8143 T. 1 July 2004 p. 44 (Witness FA).

2949. Witness FA testified that people were killed at the roadblock from April until June 1994, and that Nyiramasuhuko was in control of the roadblock. Ntahobali often manned the roadblock; he usually wore pants, a jacket and a military belt and he carried an axe, grenades, often a sword, and sometimes a gun. Witness FA acknowledged that in her 1996 statement she did not mention Ntahobali carrying a sword. Witness FA testified that members of the *Interahamwe* were present at the roadblock carrying various weapons. Kazungu was also present, wearing a camouflage uniform and a helmet like a soldier on the war front. Witness FA had to cross the roadblock sometimes to go to the market. People at the roadblock let her through because they knew who she was.

2950. On the day after the roadblock was set up, a group of university students passed the roadblock on their way home from campus. Some of the students were killed with small axes while others were allowed to pass through the roadblock. She saw Ntahobali grab a girl with long hair and hit her with an axe; the girl died immediately. 8149

2951. Several days after the incident with the students, but still in April 1994, she saw Ntahobali order a man out of his car, and ask for his identity card. Ntahobali tore up the man's identity card. Ntahobali then struck the man with an axe and handed him to Kazungu so that he would be killed. The man was then brought to the EER and killed. She did not see the man killed, but when Kazungu returned to the roadblock he told her that the man had been killed. Witness FA testified that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the roadblock. Nyiramasuhuko wore a uniform but did not carry any weapons; she then stated that Nyiramasuhuko carried a gun. The witness could not say if this was the first time she had seen Nyiramasuhuko at the roadblock.

2952. Witness FA testified that at around 11.00 p.m. on that same day, she was at home when she heard someone scream, "Shalom is killing me, Shalom is killing me." The man screamed in agony from a distance for more than five minutes. 8153

2953. Witness FA testified that one afternoon, several days after the incident with the man being taken away by Kazungu, but still in April 1994, she saw Ntahobali stop a soldier who had come to the roadblock from ESO military camp. 8154 Ntahobali pulled the soldier from his red double-cabin vehicle, hit him with an axe and then handed him over to the *Interahamwe* to be killed. 8155 The *Interahamwe* took away the soldier's gun. Ntahobali then took the gun and the soldier's vehicle to Nyiramasuhuko's place. 8156 Witness FA acknowledged that her 1996

```
8144 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53-54, 64 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 45 (Witness FA).
8145 T. 1 July 2008 p. 45 (Witness FA).
8146 T. 30 June 2003 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8147 T. 1 July 2004 p. 25 (Witness FA).
8148 T. 1 July 2004 pp. 64, 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8149 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 27 (Witness FA).
8150 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 55-56 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 26 (Witness FA).
8151 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 55-56 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 28 (Witness FA).
8152 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8153 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 59 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8154 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); 1 July 2004 pp. 26, 31; T. 1 July p. 73 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8155 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); 1 July 2004 pp. 26, 29, 31-32 (Witness FA).
8156 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); 1 July 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness FA).
```

statement did not mention that Ntahobali hit the soldier with an axe, but did include that Ntahobali went with the *Interahamwe* to kill the soldier. 8157

2954. Witness FA testified that Nyiramasuhuko was present during the incident with the soldier. 8158 Nyiramasuhuko was buying vegetables with her daughter near the road on the side of the EER. 8159 The soldier asked Nyiramasuhuko to intervene on his behalf, saying, "[p]lease help me, Shalom could kill me." Nyiramasuhuko did not answer. 8160 Witness FA did not see the soldier being killed. 8161 The soldier wore a military uniform but she could not be sure whether he was a *gendarme*, a Presidential Guard or a regular soldier. 8162 Later that same day, a soldier from ESO came by and threatened to destroy Nyiramasuhuko's house, because his friend had been killed even though he was not a Tutsi. Ntahobali and his father escaped and spent the night at Mbazi. 8163

2955. Nyiramasuhuko lived with her husband, her son Ntahobali, Ntahobali's wife, Nyiramasuhuko's three daughters and a house servant. 8164 When it was put to Witness FA by the Ntahobali Defence that one of Nyiramasuhuko's three daughters had been abroad in 1994, the witness stated that she saw all three daughters often between April and July 1994; she did not know their names but she described them as being heavily built. §165

2956. Witness FA was unable to identify Nyiramasuhuko in court, testifying only that a certain woman in the courtroom "resembled" Nyiramasuhuko. The witness stated that it had been nearly 10 years since the last time she saw Nyiramasuhuko. Witness FA was unable to identify the person she called Shalom in court.8166

Prosecution Witness QCB

2957. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detainee at the time of his testimony, 8167 testified that a roadblock was located in front of the home of Maurice Ntahobali, the father of Shalom Ntahobali. 8168 Witness QCB arrived at this roadblock in the morning of 21 April 1994 with Léopold Ruvurajabo, a Tutsi. 8169 From a distance of approximately nine metres, the witness saw Ntahobali at the roadblock. Ntahobali was holding the door of a Peugeot 505 carrying grenades and a Kalashnikov rifle. 8170 The Peugeot 505 had civilian number plates and

```
8158 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8159 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); T. I July 2004 p. 74 (Witness FA).
8160 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8161 T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); I July 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness FA).
```

⁸¹⁶² T. 1 July 2004 pp. 29-30 (Witness FA).

⁸¹⁶³ T. 1 July 2004 pp. 78-79 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹⁶⁴ T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹⁶⁵ T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 pp. 12, 59 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹⁶⁶ T. 30 June 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸¹⁶⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 36-37 (Witness QCB).

⁸¹⁶⁸ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 60, 70 (Witness QCB).

⁸¹⁶⁹ T. 20 March 2002 p. 61 (Witness QCB).

⁸¹⁷⁰ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 70-72 (Witness OCB).

was not to be confused with Ntahobali's father's white Peugeot 504, which had yellow state number plates. 8171 Ntahobali wore ordinary trousers and a sleeveless military jacket. 8172

2958. The witness testified that this was the first time he had seen Ntahobali, but he also testified that he met him in 1989, when he visited Ntahobali's home in the company of Maurice Ntahobali's driver, when Witness QCB worked for Butare University. Witness QCB also saw Ntahobali arrive at the BPO on the morning of 28 April 1994, in a Peugeot 505 vehicle. 8174 Witness QCB positively identified Ntahobali in court. 8175

2959. Witness QCB testified that Léopold Ruvurajabo was asked to produce his identification and refused. Léopold was requested to go to a nearby school, but he refused. The *Interahamwe* then asked Shalom Ntahobali "what shall we do with this man", to which Ntahobali replied, "[k]ill him." The *Interahamwe* killed Léopold with knives and his body was thrown to the lower part of the road. The witness had known Léopold for a long time, and testified that Léopold was a Tutsi. In cross-examination, Witness QCB stated that he met Léopold Ruvurajabo at the roadblock, however this contradicted his statements made to ICTR investigators on 7 April 1999, where he declared that he had left his home together with Ruvurajabo.

Prosecution Witness SS

2960. Witness SS, a Tutsi woman, ⁸¹⁸² testified that on 27 May 1994, soldiers escorted her and other Tutsi refugees from the Butare University Hospital to the *préfecture* office. ⁸¹⁸³ She testified as to a roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house. ⁸¹⁸⁴ The roadblock was made up of two logs placed across the road. ⁸¹⁸⁵ At the roadblock, the witness saw Nyiramasuhuko, members of the *Interahamwe*, and one soldier called Kazungu, who was carrying a weapon. ⁸¹⁸⁶ Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a military shirt and a *kitenge*, *kanga* cloth around her waist. ⁸¹⁸⁷ Witness SS later rectified her testimony and stated that she saw Kazungu at the *préfecture* office, but not at the roadblock; she did not know the soldier who was with Nyiramasuhuko at the roadblock. ⁸¹⁸⁸

```
8171 T. 25 March 2002 pp. 60-61, 65 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
8172 T. 20 March 2002 p. 71 (Witness QCB).
8173 T. 20 March 2002 p. 71; T. 25 March 2002 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness QCB).
8174 T. 21 March 2002 pp. 50-52 (Witness QCB).
8175 T. 21 March 2002 p. 82 (Witness QCB).
8176 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 62, 65 (Witness QCB).
8177 T. 20 March 2002 p. 65 (Witness QCB).
8178 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 62, 66 (Witness QCB).
8179 T. 20 March 2002 p. 68 (Witness QCB).
8180 T. 20 March 2002 p. 61 (Witness QCB).
<sup>8181</sup> T. 26 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QCB).
8182 T. 3 March 2003 p. 21 (Witness SS).
<sup>8183</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 26; T. 10 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SS).
8184 T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS).
8185 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 31 (Witness SS).
8186 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28; T. 5 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness SS).
8187 T. 3 March 2003 p. 31 (Witness SS).
8188 T. 5 March 2003 p. 16 (Witness SS).
```

2961. According to Witness SS, the person who appeared to be in charge of the roadblock at that time was Nyiramasuhuko, because she was the foremost authority there. 8189 Nyiramasuhuko stopped the soldiers escorting the group of Tutsi refugees. 8190 After conversing with her, the soldiers and the refugees went through the roadblock. 8191 Witness SS positively identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. 8192 The witness had already seen Nyiramasuhuko before 1994, so she was able to recognise Nyiramasuhuko at the roadblock.8193

Prosecution Witness SX

2962. Witness SX, a Tutsi carpenter in 1994, 8194 testified that prior to the events of 1994, he did not know Ntahobali; however, when Tutsis were killed at the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, Ntahobali was pointed out to the witness by Gasana, a friend who worked for Mr. Mujeri. 8195 The witness positively identified Ntahobali in court. 8196

2963. Witness SX testified that about two weeks after the death of President Habyarimana, he saw a roadblock erected near the EER in front of the house of Nyiramasuhuko where identity cards were checked, and massacres took place. The witness was able to identify Ntahobali as being present at the roadblock. 8197 Ntahobali wore civilian clothing. Witness SX did not know where Ntahobali lived, or where he had been going, but testified that he often saw him pass by. The witness did not have personal knowledge of Ntahobali's family, but was told that the house near the roadblock in question belonged to Ntahobali's family. 8198

2964. On cross-examination, Witness SX testified that when he returned from his *commune* to Butare after the President's death at approximately 1.00 p.m., before the killings started, the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house was not yet in place. There were some roadblocks which had been set up immediately before the President's death but the one in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house was set up on the day of the President's death. 8199

2965. On cross-examination, Witness SX stated that he recognised the Presidential Guards at the roadblock by their military uniforms which were different than regular military uniforms in terms of their size and their spots. 8200 He stated that he did not see any white people at the roadblock. 8201 He later stated that Ntahobali was at the roadblock while the Presidential Guard and other soldiers were deployed along the road all the way to the non-commission officers'

⁸¹⁸⁹ T. 3 March 2003 p. 33 (Witness SS).

⁸¹⁹⁰ T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS).

⁸¹⁹¹ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 28-31 (Witness SS).

⁸¹⁹² T. 3 March 2003 pp. 77-78 (Witness SS).

⁸¹⁹³ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 34-35, 77-78 (Witness SS).

⁸¹⁹⁴ T. 27 January 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness SX); Prosecution Exhibit 69 (Personal Particulars).

⁸¹⁹⁵ T. 27 January 2004 p. 16; T. 27 January p. 53 (ICS); T. 30 January 2004 p. 25; T. 30 January p. 15 (ICS)

⁸¹⁹⁶ T. 27 January 2004 p. 37 (Witness SX). 8197 T. 27 January 2003 p. 16 (Witness SX).

⁸¹⁹⁸ T. 27 January 2003 p. 16 (Witness SX).

⁸¹⁹⁹ T. 30 January 2004 p. 28 (Witness SX).

⁸²⁰⁰ T. 30 January 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness SX).

⁸²⁰¹ T. 30 January 2004 p. 27 (Witness SX).

school. School. The witness stated that he was hiding at Mungeri's, from where he could not see the road leading to the non-commission officers' school. All he could see was that the road was strewn with bodies as they were dragged away from the roadblock to load them onto vehicles that arrived. He could not see the dead bodies from his vantage point, but saw them when he crossed the road. He did not know from which direction the people who were killed at the roadblock came. He recognised a few of the people killed at the roadblock but did not know their names. School

2966. Witness SX was able to identify the building in which he was hiding in Prosecution Exhibit 70A, as well as the roadblock and Nyiramasuhuko's house in Prosecution Exhibit 70B. The building in which Ntahobali lived was a storied building that was a mixed commercial and residential building. 8206

2967. On the day the roadblock was erected, Witness SX spent two or three hours watching the roadblock from a distance of approximately 100 metres, and he saw Ntahobali questioning people and asking to see their identity cards. He further stated that many people were killed at the roadblock, and that Ntahobali was one of the killers. He estimated about 500 people were killed. Below

2968. Witness SX saw several young ladies at the roadblock on this day. One of the ladies arrived at the roadblock in a yellow Daihatsu. When she arrived, the group she was with were killed after showing their identity cards, but Ntahobali took the young lady in question aside. Ntahobali and a man identified by the witness as Jean-Pierre took the lady to the vicinity near where the witness was hiding. The witness watched Ntahobali and Jean-Pierre hit the young lady and force her to cross back and forth through a gutter on her stomach.

2969. Witness SX testified that eventually, the killings at the roadblock slowed down and he left his hiding place and went back towards a workshop near the EER. Upon returning to his hiding place, Witness SX again saw Ntahobali with the young lady from the incident described above. He was very near them, maybe 20 metres away, and was able to see them through a hole in the wall, which he described as more or less like a window. It was getting dark, but was not yet dark enough not to see what was happening outside. The witness saw Ntahobali rape the young lady while she was crying out. After he raped her he immediately struck her with a small hatchet in the forehead, killing her. Witness saw Ntahobali rape the young lady while she was crying out.

```
8202 T. 30 January 2004 p. 60 (Witness SX).
8203 T. 30 January 2004 p. 61 (Witness SX).
8204 T. 30 January 2004 pp. 67-69 (Witness SX).
8205 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 34-35; Prosecution Exhibits 70A, 70B (Photographs).
8206 T. 30 January 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness SX).
8207 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 17-18; T. 30 January 2004 p. 36 (Witness SX).
8208 T. 30 January 2004 p. 37 (Witness SX).
8209 T. 27 January 2004 p. 20 (Witness SX).
8210 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness SX).
8211 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 21 (Witness SX).
8212 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness SX).
8213 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 22-24; T. 30 January 2004 pp. 73-75, 82 (ICS) (Witness SX).
```

2970. Witness SX testified that five people in total, including two men named Rindiro and Munyaneza, were hiding with him and also witnessed the rape. The last time the witness saw Rindiro and Munyaneza was at the end of the war, when Munyaneza had fled and Rindiro had joined the Rwandan army. At the time of his testimony, Witness SX believed that Munyaneza was still alive but the others were dead, because he had seen them taken away to be killed. S215

2971. A short time after Ntahobali departed, Witness SX went to see the body of the young lady; she had a lump at her temple and one on her side and she was covered in blood. Later that night, he and another person whom the witness did not identify by name, went back and covered her body with grass. About four days after her death, he and some others went back and buried her body in a wooded lot. Later

Prosecution Witness TB

2972. Witness TB, a Tutsi teacher from Butare town, ⁸²¹⁹ testified that she knew Ntahobali and his parents, Maurice Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko. She met Ntahobali on several occasions during the events of 1994, including when Ntahobali visited the place where the witness lived, on his way to Pastor Ndamage. ⁸²²⁰ Although she had not seen Ntahobali since 1994, Witness TB was able to positively identify him in court. ⁸²²¹

2973. Witness TB testified that a roadblock was set up near the residence of Maurice Ntahobali about four days after the killings had begun, on 21 April 1994. The roadblock was erected in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, near the road that goes to the *Quartier Arabe*, and close to a triangular sign board which stated "Danger". Witness TB had a clear view of the road from the building where she was staying, in a compound near the Ntahobali's residence. 8224

2974. The witness testified that there were soldiers and civilians at the roadblock, including Ntahobali, and that she heard Ntahobali tell the soldiers to "work", which she understood to mean to kill people. From the building where the she was staying, the witness had a clear view of the roadblock, and saw people there being beaten to death and being taken away to the EER where they were killed in the forest. 8226

```
8214 T. 30 January 2004 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness SX).
```

⁸²¹⁵ T. 30 January 2004 pp. 73, 80-82 (ICS) (Witness SX).

⁸²¹⁶ T. 27 January 2004 p. 24 (Witness SX).

⁸²¹⁷ T. 27 January 2004 p. 25 (Witness SX).

⁸²¹⁸ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness SX).

⁸²¹⁹ T. 4 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TB); Prosecution Exhibit 72 (Personal Particulars).

⁸²²⁰ T. 4 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness TB).

⁸²²¹ T. 4 February 2004 p. 54 (Witness TB).

⁸²²² T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42; T. 5 February 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸²²³ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42, 51-52 (Witness TB); Prosecution Exhibit 25E (Photograph of the Butare main road).

⁸²²⁴ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness TB).

⁸²²⁵ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42, 44-45, 48-49 (Witness TB).

⁸²²⁶ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41, 48; T. 4 February 66, 69, 71-73, 97-98 (ICS); T. 5 February 2004 p. 25; T. 5 February p. 13 (ICS) (Witness TB).

2975. On one occasion Witness TB saw people approach the roadblock in front of the Ntahobali residence in a yellow Daihatsu. The vehicle was stopped on the orders of Ntahobali who was with a man identified as Jean-Pierre, and the people in the vehicle were made to show their identity cards. Some of the people were allowed to continue on, and some were detained. Ntahobali dragged a girl with braids, who had been in the vehicle, down a path between some classroom buildings into the woods. She saw Ntahobali come back alone and tell the soldiers at the roadblock to keep working, which she understood to mean, keep killing people. The witness saw the girl with the braids again that evening, on the ground next to a tree, dead and badly beaten. Witness TB specified that the girl's vagina was full of blood. The girl's body was later buried by three people, one of whom she identified as Witness SX.

2976. Witness TB testified that she did not know Witness SX at the time of the alleged incident with the girl in the yellow Daihatsu, but that she recognised him as she often saw him pass by the EER. Witness TB stated that she saw Witness SX after the genocide, but they would only greet each other when passing. Witness TB testified that she had last seen Witness SX in 1998 or 2000. 8234

Prosecution Witness TG

2977. Witness TG, a Tutsi accountant in 1994, 8235 testified that he knew the Accused Ntahobali, because they had attended *Groupe Scolaire* together. He and Ntahobali were not in the same class; when the witness was in the sixth year, Ntahobali was in the first year. 8236 In his statement of 4 December 1996, Witness TG said that he and Ntahobali were friends, but in court he testified that they would greet each other but were not friends. 8237 The witness positively identified Ntahobali in court.

2978. Witness TG testified that from 26 April 1994, he was in hiding at businessman Martin Uwariraye's compound, until 2 July 1994 when *Interahamwe* invaded the compound. ⁸²³⁹ The compound was located on the main road to Bujumbura, leading to the university on the left and to the centre of Butare town on the right. ⁸²⁴⁰ The compound consisted of several buildings,

⁸²²⁷ T. 4 February 2004 p. 42; T. 5 February 2004 p. 18 (Witness TB).

⁸²²⁸ T. 4 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness TB).

⁸²²⁹ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 45, 48; T. 5 February 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness TB); Prosecution Exhibit 25D (Photograph of the Classrooms of the School taken from different angle).

⁸²³⁰ T. 4 February 2004 p. 48; T. 5 February 2004 pp. 19, 23-25 (Witness TB).

⁸²³¹ T. 4 February 2004 p. 48 (Witness TB).

⁸²³² T. 4 February 2004 p. 49 (Witness TB).

⁸²³³ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50; T. 4 February p. 55 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸²³⁴ T. 4 February 2004 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness TB).

Result of the state of the stat

⁸²³⁶ T. 31 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness TG).

⁸²³⁷ T. 31 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness TG).

⁸²³⁸ T. 30 March 2004 p. 64 (Witness TG).

⁸²³⁹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 30 March pp. 58-59 (ICS); T. 31 March 2004 pp. 20, 22, 64; T. 31 March p. 75 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁰ T. 30 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness TG).

including a bakery.⁸²⁴¹ The bakery was located in the lowest part of the compound near a mosque.⁸²⁴² The wall of the bakery which ran perpendicular to the road had two oval shaped vents and a window which was 1.6 metres by 0.6 metres.⁸²⁴³ The vents and the window were located above the oven.⁸²⁴⁴ While he could not see the main road from the room in which he was hiding, he could see the road from the bakery.⁸²⁴⁵ The compound was located approximately 700-800 metres from Ntahobali's family home. From this compound, the witness could see Ntahobali's family home and also a roadblock.⁸²⁴⁶

2979. The witness was shown a photograph, in which he identified the junction of the road going towards the *Quartier Arabe* and the main road, with the university to the left and the centre of Butare to the right. The witness indicated where Ntahobali's house was in 1994 and where the roadblock had been mounted. Witness TG was unsure of the exact date when the roadblock was mounted, but testified that it must have been by the end of April 1994, because he saw the roadblock when he moved into the bakery. During the time he was hiding at the bakery, the witness saw people being beaten at the roadblock, some to death, and others being taken to the forest by the EER and killed. He could hear the sound of gunshots and people being beaten and screaming from the direction of the EER and Ntahobali's home.

2980. From the compound's bakery, the witness often saw Ntahobali passing on the main road. Ntahobali was driving a Peugeot pickup 504 that was originally white but was soiled on the side in a kind of camouflage. Witness TG had seen that vehicle before April 1994 and knew it had belonged to a businessman called Rwamukwaya, who was Tutsi. 8252

2981. In cross-examination, Witness TG agreed that it may be impossible to distinguish the characteristics of an unknown person coming in a vehicle on the main road, considering the distance of 25 to 35 metres between the oven and a vehicle passing on the road, the metallic bars on the windows which prevented him passing his head through the window, and the sisal sacks which obscured the windows in order to prevent them from being seen from the outside. He stated it would nevertheless be easy to distinguish a person that you already knew. 8253

Prosecution Witness TQ

2982. Witness TQ, a Hutu, testified that a roadblock was erected in front of Ntahobali's house and was named after Shalom. 8254 Sometime after 12 April 1994, he and a Tutsi woman,

```
<sup>8241</sup> T. 30 March 2004 p. 57; T. 31 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness TG).
```

⁸²⁴² T. 31 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴³ T. 31 March 2004 pp. 43-47 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁴ T. 31 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁵ T. 30 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁶ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 69-70; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁷ T. 31 March 2004 pp. 59-61 (Witness TG); Defence Exhibit 198 (Ntahobali) (Photograph depicting area of the Roadblock).

⁸²⁴⁸ T. 31 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁴⁹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁵⁰ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁵¹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁵² T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG).

⁸²⁵³ T. 31 March 2004 pp. 47-50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸²⁵⁴ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

whom he was transporting in a Red Cross vehicle, were stopped at the roadblock by Ntahobali. On cross-examination, Witness TQ later testified that the event took place after 21 April 1994, after Sindikubwabo's visit to Butare. The witness, who knew the woman to be a Tutsi, instructed her not to show her identity card. Although Ntahobali insisted she was Tutsi, the witness maintained that she was a relative of his. He convinced Ntahobali to allow them to continue on their way. If the woman had been identified as Tutsi, she could not have gone beyond that roadblock.

2983. Witness TQ further testified that from his vehicle, before approaching the roadblock, he saw Ntahobali and others lifting a corpse downhill from the road and then throwing it into a ditch. 8258 The witness was approximately 31 metres from Ntahobali when he observed this incident. 8259 There were no fewer than 10 corpses already piled in the ditch. 8260

2984. Witness TQ was shown a photograph and recognised the location as being near Ntahobali's residence. He pointed out the MSM garage in the photograph and confirmed that to the right of the garage there was an empty spot, and that the roadblock had been erected at this spot. Refer to the result of the garage there was an empty spot, and that the roadblock had been erected at this spot.

2985. On cross-examination, it was put to the witness that in his statement of 28 and 29 July 1998, and in the 133 page hand-written judgment rendered by the Rwandan National Court in January 2003, the witness had not mentioned that he allegedly saw Ntahobali at the roadblock. The witness responded that in his statement he had not said everything that he knew with respect to Ntahobali. 8264

2986. Witness TQ identified Ntahobali in court.⁸²⁶⁵ The witness said that he knew Ntahobali since childhood because they had attended the same school in Butare.⁸²⁶⁶

Prosecution Witness QI

2987. Witness QI, a Tutsi, testified that Maurice Ntahobali's house was located on the main road leading to Tumba, in the direction of Butare town. The witness stated that during the war, two UNAMIR soldiers were stationed at Ntahobali's house. After the UNAMIR soldiers left, a roadblock was set up which was manned by civilians, soldiers and *Interahamwe*. The

⁸²⁵⁵ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁵⁶ T. 7 September 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁵⁷ T. 7 September 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁵⁸ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11, 13-14, 62 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁵⁹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness TQ); Defence Exhibit 198 (Ntahobali) (Photograph depicting area of the Roadblock).

⁸²⁶² T. 7 September 2004 pp. 65-69 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶³ T. 7 September 2004 p. 32 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶⁴ T. 7 September 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶⁵ T. 7 September 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶⁶ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸²⁶⁷ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 42-44 (ICS) (Witness QI).

witness was told that someone called Kazungu was at that roadblock and lived at Ntahobali's house 8268

Prosecution Witness TN

2988. Witness TN, a Tutsi aged about 19 in 1994, 8269 testified that in April 1994 she was arrested at her house by Shalom and some soldiers, who ordered her to go to the *secteur* office. 8270 Other Tutsis were brought to the *secteur* office, where they were being guarded by Shalom. At around 2.00 p.m. on 21 April 1994, and only 2 to 3 minutes after they got to the *conseiller's* house, she and six other girls were taken to Ntahobali's house in a vehicle. Witness TN identified one of the girls as Lilian Umubyeyi. 8273

2989. Witness TN testified to going through a roadblock in Butare, located at Mukoni on the lower side of the University, on the way from the *conseiller's* house to Ntahobali's house. 8274

2990. Once at his house, Ntahobali locked Witness TN and the other girls inside. He threatened and ordered them to have sex with him. Ntahobali came in with soldiers and they first took out one girl and then another one. Witness TN could hear the girls scream. Ntahobali then took out Witness TN and asked her to take off her clothes. Started and Ntahobali started to cut up her skirt with a bayonet. Witness TN stated that she was scared and undressed herself, and Ntahobali then "engaged in sex". Ntahobali then introduced the handle of a brush into Witness TN's vagina.

2991. After Ntahobali raped her, Witness TN went back inside the house. She was later asked to come out again. Ntahobali ordered the soldiers to have sex with Witness TN. See Was raped by three soldiers, among whom she identified one soldier named Alexis. After they raped her, the soldiers also used handles on her.

⁸²⁶⁸ T. 25 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS); T. 25 March 2004 pp. 47-49 (ICS) (Witness QI) (confirmed that he did not mention the roadblock or Kazungu in his 11 June 1996 statement).

⁸²⁶⁹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 132 (Witness TN); Prosecution Exhibit 55 (Personal Particulars).

⁸²⁷⁰ T. 3 April 2002 p. 133 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷¹ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 138-140 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷² T. 3 April 2002 pp. 141-142; T. 3 April p. 149 (ICS) (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷³ T. 3 April 2002 p. 142 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁴ T. 3 April 2002 p. 145; T. 3 April pp. 148, 150 (ICS) (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁵ T. 3 April 2002 p. 151 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁶ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 153-154 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁷ T. 3 April 2002 p. 155 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁸ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 155-156 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁷⁹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 156 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁰ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 156-158 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸¹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 157 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸² T. 3 April 2002 pp. 157-158 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸³ T. 3 April 2002 p. 159 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁴ T. 3 April 2002 p. 158 (Witness TN).

2992. Witness TN testified as to staying in Ntahobali's house for five days, from 21 to 25 April 1994. She said that Ntahobali ordered the soldiers to have sex with the seven Tutsi girls. They were raped every day until 25 April 1994. Page 1994.

2993. Witness TN testified that she was raped for the second time by Ntahobali on 25 April 1994. Ntahobali also used a handle after having raped her. That day, Witness TN testified that Ntahobali raped her while the other soldiers were raping the other six girls. Else

2994. Witness TN also testified that Ntahobali told the soldiers to take the girls away and make them their wives. 8290 One of the soldiers, Alexis, took her to a refugee camp in Burundi. After having told her that he owned her body, Alexis ordered Witness TN to have sex with three Hutu soldiers. After seeking refuge at the UNHCR office in the refugee camp, Witness TN was returned to Rwanda. 8293

2995. When asked whether she was able to identify the person she refers to as Ntahobali in her testimony, Witness TN pointed to one of the security officers. She explained that her ability to positively identify the Accused was impaired by the circumstances under which she saw Ntahobali and also by the time that had elapsed since she last saw Ntahobali. Witness TN had previously described the person she referred to as Ntahobali in her testimony to be of average height, average size but not that fat, black and of dark skin. She did not remember whether he was wearing a beard at that time, but testified that he was not wearing spectacles.

Nsabimana Defence Witness Patrick Fergal Keane

2996. Patrick Fergal Keane was a BBC correspondent who arrived in Butare on 15 June 1994. The other members of his group were Mr. Middleton, Mr. Harrison and Madam Rizu Hamid. H

⁸²⁸⁵ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 159-160 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁶ T. 3 April 2002 p. 159 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁷ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 160-161 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁸ T. 3 April 2002 p. 160 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁸⁹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 161 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁰ T. 3 April 2002 p. 161 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹¹ T. 3 April 2002 p. 162 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹² T. 3 April 2002 pp. 163-164 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹³ T. 3 April 2002 p. 164 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁴ T. 3 April 2002 p. 171 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁵ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 171-172 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁶ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 168, 174; T. 4 April 2002 p. 8 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁷ T. 4 April 2002 p. 8 (Witness TN).

⁸²⁹⁸ T. 25 September 2006 pp. 5, 10 (Keane).

⁸²⁹⁹ T. 28 Sep 2006 p. 5 (Keane).

Prosecution Exhibit 184 (Prosecution's List of References for Witness Fergal Keane – including the book Season of Blood, and All of these People - a Memoir, Chapter 19) p. 169.

family had arrived from all over Rwanda and colonised the building.⁸³⁰¹ There were many children and other people at the hotel.⁸³⁰² Keane was welcomed by someone who he took to be the rector's wife. 8363

2997. At the hotel, Keane met two men: one introduced himself as the rector and the other as the vice-rector of the local university. The witness testified that he formed the impression that the rector was living at the hotel and the vice-rector had come to visit him. During a conversation, the vice-rector gave his views of the situation in Rwanda, saying that the trouble started with the shooting down of the President's plane by the RPF, and that this event sparked off a war in which large numbers of people had been killed. 8304

2998. The main gate of the hotel was guarded by a corporal from the Presidential Guard, wearing a purple or mauve beret. Just across the road, one could easily see from the bedroom windows that there was a roadblock commanded by a "particularly officious militiaman", wearing a purple or mauve beret, who "seemed to constantly move and shout orders to the other *Interahamwe*". 8305 Military cars were stopped and questioned at the roadblock. Keane agreed that the roadblock was very close to the hotel, so much so that, from Rizu Hamid's bedroom he could see a fire that the *Interahamwe* had lit at the roadblock and could hear them when they laughed. 8306

2999. Keane testified there were a number of civilians manning the roadblock near the hotel and he would not be in a position to identify any of them. 8307

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

3000. Charles Karemano, national secretary of the PSD party until April 1994 and author of Beyond the Barriers: in the maze of the Rwandan tragedy, testified that he travelled through Butare town, from Cyarwa to the préfecture office, on 30 April 1994. 8308 There was a roadblock between the EER school and the Hotel Ihuliro. 8309 Karemano testified that it was manned by hoodlums; the witness was not sure whether they were civilians and he did not recall if they were wearing uniforms, he believed the roadblock was made of stones or a tree trunk. 8310 The witness testified that killings took place at roadblocks and were instigated by the leaders at the roadblocks. 8311 Karemano was stopped at roadblocks by *Interahamwe*, and asked

8307 T. 28 September 2006 p. 37 (Keane).

⁸³⁰¹ Prosecution Exhibit 184 (Prosecution's List of References for Witness Fergal Keane – including the book Season of Blood, and All of these People - a Memoir, Chapter 19) pp. 169-170; T. 28 September 2006 pp. 10, 32 (Keane). 8302 T. 25 September 2006 pp. 36-37 (Keane).

⁸³⁰³ T. 26 September 2006 p. 53 (Keane).

⁸³⁰⁴ T. 25 September 2006 p. 37 (Keane).

⁸³⁰⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 184 (Prosecution's List of References for Witness Fergal Keane – including the book Season of Blood, and All of these People - a Memoir, Chapter 19) p. 170; T. 28 September 2006 p. 33 (Keane). 8306 T. 28 September 2006 pp. 33-35 (Keane).

⁸³⁰⁸ T. 22 August 2006 p. 13 (Karemano).

⁸³⁰⁹ T. 22 August 2006 p. 14 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁰ T. 5 September 2006 p. 47 (Karemano).

⁸³¹¹ T. 22 August 2006 p. 19 (Karemano).

to show his identity card. He saw other people stopped at roadblocks, particularly on the University road. ⁸³¹² He stated that the rogues and bandits manning the roadblocks were not people appointed by the *bourgmestre*, *préfet*, or head of *secteur*; they were taking power into their own hands. ⁸³¹³

3001. Karemano confirmed what he wrote in his book that "[t]he roadblock is a location where one kills. One goes there to exercise one's capacity to harm in order to track down runaways, to plan assassinations and harm victims. Generally, the killings do not take place on site. The person who is condemned is dragged further down, led far from the barrage, is cut up with machetes and then left for dead or almost dead in a mass grave." He further stated that this description applies to what prevailed in Butare between April and July 1994.

3002. In May 1994, Karemano approached the roadblock between the Anglican school and the Hotel Ihuliro. State At the roadblock, the witness recognised Kagwene, the nephew of his friend, and companion in exile, Augustin. When Kagwene saw him he told the witness, "[o]ld man you have to save me otherwise I will denounce you". The witness told those manning the roadblock that he knew the young man and that Kagwene was not an enemy. Those manning the roadblock ordered the witness to wait for their leader, Shalom. Shalom came and recognised Karemano as a high official of the Habyarimana administration and the founder of the MRND, to which Ntahobali himself, and his parents, belonged. Shalom did not know that the witness had been accused of being an RPF sympathiser, probably the denunciation to which Kagwene was referring. Shalom let Kagwene go and the witness took him home with the aid of an escort. Shalom's order saved Kagwene's life.

3003. When directed to page 146 of his book, in which there is reference to a certain "Sharoon" as being in charge of the roadblock, the witness first stated that he did not hear the name properly and that it may be a difficulty with Rwandan pronunciation. The witness further testified that he did not know this person but knew that he was the son of Maurice Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and was called Shalom or Sharon. The witness positively identified Ntahobali in court. **8322**

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

3004. Alexandre Bararwandika testified that between April and July 1994, he lived in the Kabutare neighbourhood. In order to get to work at the university hospital using the route from the *préfecture* office, *Quartier Arabe*, he would go through a roadblock between *Groupe Scolaire*, économat général and the ESO. When he used the route through the *Rectorat*, at

⁸³¹² T. 21 August 2006 p. 54 (Karemano).

⁸³¹³ T. 22 August 2006 p. 14 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁴ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 47-48 (Karemano) (quoting *Beyond the Barriers: in the maze of the Rwandan tragedy*, p. 45).

⁸³¹⁵ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 47-48 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁶ T. 5 September 2006 p. 48 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁷ T. 21 August 2006 p. 55; T. 5 September 2006 pp. 48-49 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁸ T. 5 September 2006 p. 49 (Karemano).

⁸³¹⁹ T. 21 August 2006 p. 55 (Karemano).

⁸³²⁰ T. 5 September 2006 p. 49 (Karemano).

⁸³²¹ T. 24 August 2006 p. 22 (Karemano).

⁸³²² T. 25 August 2006 p. 35 (Karemano).

times there was a roadblock by the *Rectorat*, but at some point in time it was no longer there. There was another roadblock behind the MSM garage; and also one by the university library, the Uwariraye roadblock. Bararwandika testified that, at about 50 or 100 metres from the MSM garage roadblock was a building belonging to Nyiramasuhuko, but he did not know if that was her residence. Bararwandika testified that, at about 50 or 100 metres from the

3005. Bararwandika testified that the roadblocks were set up during the very tense period in April 1994, some immediately after the death of the President, although he could not recall exactly when. 8325 The witness testified that officially, the roadblocks were set-up to prevent infiltration from RPF fighters. However, he stated that he could not refute that, unofficially, the roadblocks were used to determine ethnicity. 8327

3006. Bararwandika testified that soldiers manned the roadblock at *Groupe Scolaire*. Soldiers and a few civilians manned the roadblock in front of the *Rectorat*. The witness said he had problems to determining who manned the roadblock behind the MSM Garage, since there were people who were half civilians and half soldiers, taking their attire into account. At this roadblock, sometimes people wore sorts of military uniform, for example a military jacket for the top, but the rest would be civilian clothes, or the other way round. Sometimes, those who manned this roadblock would have a gun or a simple grenade. The roadblock at Uwariraye's place was manned by people who looked like those at the MSM garage roadblock, and there too, one would not know whether they were civilians or soldiers. 8328

3007. Bararwandika saw a corpse of a man next to a roadblock behind the MSM garage, near a mechanic shop, and four corpses of women in the compound of the primary school. ⁸³²⁹ The witness also saw people being arrested at the roadblocks. ⁸³³⁰

3008. Bararwandika testified that he presented his UNHCR identification card at the roadblocks. He stated that it was highly likely that his UNHCR identification card indicated his nationality as Burundian; it satisfied the people at the roadblocks that his ethnicity was Hutu. At roadblocks, Rwandans had to show identification cards that displayed their ethnicity. 8331

Nsabimana

3009. In Prosecution Exhibit 113, Nsabimana stated, that "[i]n town, there were some killings at the roadblocks. Some roadblocks were manned by soldiers, others by the *Interahamwe*, or both at the same time. Among the most formidable roadblocks was the one in front of the house of the University Rector, Ntahobari, whose son Sharom was in charge of it…". 8332

```
8323 T. 3 July 2006 p. 44 (Barawandika).
8324 T. 4 July 2006 pp. 64-65 (Barawandika).
8325 T. 3 July 2006 p. 44 (Barawandika).
8326 T. 3 July 2006 p. 45; T. 4 July 2006 p. 57 (Barawandika).
8327 T. 4 July 2006 p. 57 (Barawandika).
8328 T. 3 July 2006 p. 45 (Barawandika).
8329 T. 3 July 2006 p. 52; T. 5 July 2006 p. 14 (Barawandika).
8330 T. 3 July 2006 p. 47 (Barawandika).
8331 T. 4 July 2006 p. 56 (Barawandika).
```

8332 Prosecution Exhibit 113A (The Truth About the Massacres in Butare, by Nsabimana) p. K0016630.

Judgement and Sentence

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ

- 3010. Witness WUNBJ, a Hutu civil servant in 1994 living in Ngoma commune, 8333 testified that within a month of President Habyarimana's death, at the end of May 1994, a roadblock was established in Butare city centre, between the EER Protestant School and the building of Ndimba's son. The roadblock was near Ntahobali's house, the MSM garage and the houses belonging to Mujeri, Ndimba and Mwami. The roadblock was not far from the Hotel Rebero, which belonged to Maurice Ntahobali. 8334 Witness WUNBJ was able to identify the house as Maurice Ntahobali's because he saw a sign in front of the house. The name "Maurice" was on that sign. 8335 The witness clarified that Ntahobali's house was visible from the road of ESO. It was located on the university site, at the outside limits of the EER school, with the MSM garage on its left. After Ntahobali's house, was Mujeri's house, Ndimba's house and Mwami's house. 8336 There was quite a distance between the EER church and Hotel Ihuliro. 8337
- 3011. Witness WUNBJ passed through the roadblock often on his way to work.⁸³³⁸ The roadblock consisted of a log laid across the road.⁸³³⁹ Many people who lived nearby manned the roadblocks. 8340 The roadblock was set up there because there were a lot of refugees who had come to settle in Butare. They were coming from Bugesera and Mayaga, on their way to Mubumbano and Gikongoro. 8341 Witness WUNBJ never witnessed any killings, or any crimes taking place at the roadblock. 8342 He never saw Ntahobali at the roadblock. 8343
- 3012. Witness WUNBJ knew Ntahobali as the son of Maurice Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko. He saw Ntahobali "everywhere in Butare", 8344 he saw him during football matches in Huye Stadium quite often as well as when he was going to concerts "at the multipurpose hall, at the MRND party."8345 He greeted Ntahobali when he saw him, but never conversed with him. Ntahobali did not wear glasses before 1994 and had an average physical appearance. The witness identified Ntahobali in court. 8346
- 3013. Witness WUNBJ knew Nyiramasuhuko between April and June 1994, because he worked with her at the *préfecture*. Nyiramasuhuko studied in the university and was appointed minister after having worked at the *préfecture* office. 8347

⁸³³³ T. 8 March 2006 p. 11; T. 8 March pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); Defence Exhibit 391 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

8334 T. 8 March 2006 pp. 29-33 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³³⁵ T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³³⁶ T. 8 March 2006 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³³⁷ T. 5 April 2006 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³³⁸ T. 8 March 2006 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³³⁹ T. 8 March 2006 p. 31 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴⁰ T. 8 March 2006 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴¹ T. 8 March 2006 p. 31 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴² T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴³ T. 8 March 2006 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴⁴ T. 8 March 2006 p. 18 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴⁵ T. 8 March 2006 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴⁶ T. 5 April 2006 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

⁸³⁴⁷ T. 3 April 2006 p. 16 (Witness WUNBJ).

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCUJM

3014. Witness WCUJM testified that he went to Butare between May and June 1994. He went down to Mukoni where he saw a roadblock. There were two other roadblocks in that area, one close to the University and another one between the Ndimba and Mujeri residences. Rada Civilians manned the roadblock between Ndimba and Mujeri's houses. The witness did not see any weapons. He did not stop at the roadblock, but just went through.

Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6

3015. Witness H1B6, a Hutu, stated that in April 1994 he knew a place called Hotel Ihuliro which belonged to Maurice Ntahobali, father of the Accused Ntahobali. The witness averred that he did not know Ntahobali's family that much and that throughout April to July 1994, he never saw Shalom's mother in Butare town. Towards the end of May 1994 and the beginning of June 1994, a roadblock was erected not far from Hotel Ihuliro. Witness H1B6 testified that it was said that this roadblock was set up for civilian self-defence and that it was manned by civilians. Identification cards were checked at this roadblock.

3016. On cross-examination, Witness H1B6 was shown a diagram of Butare town, which he recognised. The witness agreed that the shortest itinerary from his residence to the Butare market, especially in 1994, was from the University Hospital Centre, through ESO, through the *Quartier Arabe*, and then right up to the market centre. As a result, Kanyabashi's Defence Counsel challenged Witness H1B6's evidence that he used the road going between Hotel Ihuliro and the EER. 8355

Ntahobali Defence Witness NMBMP

3017. Witness NMBMP testified that on 6 April 1994 she was in Kigali. 8356 On 12 April 1994 she decided to join her sister in Butare. Her sister lived at the Hotel Ihuliro at that time. Witness NMBMP was accompanied on her trip to Butare by her husband, her children, her sister-in-law, a neighbour with his two children and two other neighbours. They arrived at Hotel Ihuliro on the same day, towards the evening. 8357 Three of the people who accompanied

⁸³⁴⁸ T. 14 February 2006 p. 20 (Witness WCUJM).

⁸³⁴⁹ T. 14 February 2006 pp. 43-44 (Witness WCUJM).

⁸³⁵⁰ T. 14 February 2006 p. 44 (Witness WCUJM).

⁸³⁵¹ T. 1 December 2005 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

⁸³⁵² T. 1 December 2005 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

⁸³⁵³ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 56, 59; T. 5 December 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

⁸³⁵⁴ T. 1 December 2005 p. 59 (Witness H1B6).

⁸³⁵⁵ T. 5 December 2005 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6); Defence Exhibit 302 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 1).

⁸³⁵⁶ T. 22 April 2008 p. 15 (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁵⁷ T. 22 April 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

her were Tutsis: a driver with his two children.⁸³⁵⁸ The rest were Hutus.⁸³⁵⁹ These Tutsis were not known by Ntahobali's family, but they were welcomed and treated well. 8360

3018. Witness NMBMP testified that there were around 30 to 40 people at Hotel Ihuliro when she and the others arrived there. 8361 She noted the presence of five UNAMIR peacekeepers who left towards the end of April 1994. The people who accompanied her from Kigali stayed at Hotel Ihuliro, apart from her husband who left for Gitarama on the day following their arrival. 8362 Her husband left for Gitarama on 12 April 1994 or the following day, as he worked there. The witness' husband visited Hotel Ihuliro about three times during her stay at the hotel. 8363 Witness NMBMP did not see any political or *Interahamwe* meetings being held at Hotel Ihuliro during her stay. 8364

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNMC

3019. Witness WCNMC testified that some time in April 1994, when she went to the market, she took the Mukoni road. Instead of going through the ESO road, she went through the EER school and used the road which passed by the residence of one Mironko, leading to the préfecture office. She did not notice any roadblocks on the way. 8365 In late May or early June 1994, when Witness WCNMC went again to the market, she used the footpath through the préfecture office. 8366 She testified there was an atmosphere of fear. 8367 On this visit to the market, the witness saw a roadblock which had been erected on the main road just above the EER school, opposite a building belonging to a certain Ndimba. 8368 This roadblock was manned by members of the population who did not appear to be carrying any weapons, and none of whom Witness WCNMC recognised. 8369 At that roadblock, people would be stopped, show their identity card and then be allowed to continue. 8370

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNJ

3020. Witness WCNJ testified that towards the end of May 1994, he went through a roadblock mounted in front of the EER, close to two storey buildings, one of which belonged to one Ndimba. 8371 On cross-examination, the witness stated that he no longer recalled who the owner of the second house was, but the roadblock was almost exactly in between the two

⁸³⁵⁸ T. 22 April 2008 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁵⁹ T. 22 April 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶⁰ T. 22 April 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶¹ T. 22 April 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶² T. 22 April 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶³ T. 24 April 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶⁴ T. 22 April 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸³⁶⁵ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 36, 48 (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁶⁶ T. 29 November 2005 p. 36 (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁶⁷ T. 29 November 2005 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁶⁸ T. 29 November 2005 p. 36 (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁶⁹ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 36-37 (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁷⁰ T. 29 November 2005 p. 37 (Witness WCNMC).

⁸³⁷¹ T. 2 February 2006 p. 7 (Witness WCNJ).

buildings.⁸³⁷² Civilians manned this roadblock. The witness alleged that he never met Shalom Ntahobali at any roadblock nor did he see any roadblock at Hotel Ihuliro.⁸³⁷³

3021. The roadblocks were made up of tree trunks that were placed on the road and could be removed at any time. The civilians who manned those roadblocks did not carry any firearms, but only traditional weapons like clubs or sticks. 8374

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCMNA

3022. Witness WCMNA testified that there was a roadblock located not far from the Episcopal church, about 50-70 metres up the road from Mr. Ntahobali's house. As a reference, the witness mentioned a road leaving from the *Quartier Arabe*, going towards the university. The witness further testified that there was a roadblock about 50 metres from the junction between the road coming from the *Rectorat*, the *Avenue de l'Université*, and the road coming from the *Quartier Arabe*. The roadblock was on the left of that junction. 8375

3023. Witness WCMNA stated that Ntahobali's house was on the road towards the *Rectorat*. After the MSM garage, to the left of the road, past the primary school of the Rwanda Episcopal Church and three other houses. The roadblock was located just after the garage, but before the third of the mentioned houses. 8376

3024. Witness WCMNA added that the next house after Ntahobali's was a petrol station, followed by business premises which the witness thought were called ENOSOL and dealt with solar energy. After the ENOSOL buildings, Mr. Uwariraye's house was about 600 to 700 metres away, however he could not recall whether there was a mosque in between. After Uwariraye's house, was Rusina Amandem's house, followed by the premises of the *Université Nationale du Rwanda*. He estimated a distance of approximately 600 to 800 metres between Uwariraye's house and the junction where Ntahobali's house was. 8377 The witness testified that he knew precisely where Uwariraye's house was, since he used to pass that way from time to time. It was in a rather isolated compound and anybody passing by could see it. When questioned about the position of the mosque in relation to that house, the witness stated that the mosque was before Uwariraye's house, that is, between the petrol station and the next house; and approximately 600 metres from the junction of the university road. 8378

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCKJ

3025. When questioned during cross-examination about his knowledge of a roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro during the period from April to July 1994, Witness WCKJ testified that around 20 May 1994, when he was going to attend the funeral of the wife of a colleague, on the way to the hospital he passed by Hotel Ihuliro, using the road which would go through the market

⁸³⁷² T. 2 February 2006 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness WCNJ).

⁸³⁷³ T. 2 February 2006 pp. 7-8 (Witness WCNJ).

⁸³⁷⁴ T. 2 February 2006 p. 31 (Witness WCNJ).

⁸³⁷⁵ T. 21 February 2006 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

⁸³⁷⁶ T. 21 February 2006 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

⁸³⁷⁷ T. 21 February 2006 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

⁸³⁷⁸ T. 21 February 2006 p. 74 (Witness WCMNA).

³ 1 \

and the $Quartier\ Arabe$. The witness did not know that a roadblock existed in that area and did not see any roadblock. 8379

Ntahobali Defence Witness Béatrice Munyenyezi

3026. Béatrice Munyenyezi, wife of Ntahobali during the alleged events, 8380 testified that the first UNAMIR staff arrived at Hotel Ihuliro in 1994, however she could not recall the date or month. 8381 In cross-examination, she testified that a lot of UNAMIR staff members came in January 1994. Most of them found houses downtown, and after 19 April 1994, she thought that there were four UNAMIR soldiers left in the hotel. 8382 She recalled that one of them was Colonel Berena. By 25 April 1994, there was only one UNAMIR soldier left in the hotel. The witness recalled that the first name of the soldier was Peter, that he was probably from Austria, and he left Hotel Ihuliro on 25 April 1994.

3027. Munyenyezi testified that her husband got malaria at the end of April 1994.⁸³⁸⁵ She stated that he had malaria for at least a week and that he stayed home. His aunt took care of him.⁸³⁸⁶ The witness denied that this was a fabricated story.⁸³⁸⁷

Ntahobali

3028. Ntahobali testified that Hotel Ihuliro was located in Mamba *cellule*, Butare-Town *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, Butare *préfecture*. The ground floor of the hotel provided access to the hotel's restaurant, bar and reception, and to a separate grocery shop and pharmacy. Eight rooms were located on the first floor. His room was on the ground floor behind the pharmacy. Says

3029. Ntahobali testified that after President Habyarimana's death, UNAMIR soldiers stationed in other *préfectures* came to join those who were in Butare at Hotel Ihuliro. The UNAMIR soldiers did not stay for long; most of them left in a vehicle on 10 April 1994, and moved to Kigali. The remaining UNAMIR soldiers left on 20 April 1994. 8392

3030. Ntahobali testified that on 14 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko spent the night at Hotel Ihuliro and left early in the morning the following day. 8393 Ntahobali was told that Nyiramasuhuko had come to Hotel Ihuliro for a short time on 19 April 1994, although he did

```
8380 T. 24 February 2006 p. 9 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8381 T. 24 February 2006 p. 35 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8382 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 79, 81 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8383 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 79 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8384 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 77-78 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8385 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8386 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8, 54 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8387 T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8, 54 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8388 T. 10 April 2006 pp. 79-80 (Ntahobali).
8389 T. 19 April 2006 pp. 44, 46 (Ntahobali).
8390 T. 19 April 2006 pp. 47 (Ntahobali).
8391 T. 19 April 2006 pp. 49 (Ntahobali).
8392 T. 24 April 2006 pp. 34-35 (Ntahobali).
```

8393 T. 24 April 2006 p. 10; T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali).

8379 T. 31 January 2006 p. 70 (Witness WCKJ).

not meet her.⁸³⁹⁴ Ntahobali testified that his mother came to Hotel Ihuliro on 28 April 1994, the birthday of his sister's child. He stated that he got malaria on 28 April 1994 and spent a week in convalescence after having received Quinimax injections. He was treated by one of his aunts, a nurse who stayed with them at Hotel Ihuliro.⁸³⁹⁵

3031. Ntahobali testified that he travelled to Cyangugu on 26 or 27 May 1994 after he noticed that his wife was no longer at Hotel Ihuliro. ⁸³⁹⁶ He was able to locate his wife, and they stayed in Cyangugu for over a week. ⁸³⁹⁷ He left Cyangugu on 5 June 1994 and arrived in Butare on the same day around 6.00 or 7.00 p.m. ⁸³⁹⁸

3032. Ntahobali testified that he first noticed a roadblock close to the building belonging to a certain Ndimba, a few metres from Hotel Ihuliro, on the same day he returned from Cyangugu, 5 June 1994, but that he later learned it was erected on 28 May 1994. When he first approached this roadblock, Ntahobali was asked to present his identity card and was then allowed to pass through. Ntahobali further testified that this roadblock was actually set up after members of the population received weapons handling training and were provided with weapons. He stated that when he got back from Cyangugu, the people manning that roadblock informed him about the training which was thereafter confirmed by the *conseiller de secteur*. He further testified that he did not see any soldier on patrol around the area of Hotel Ihuliro on the *Avenue de l'Université* during the events.

3033. Ntahobali testified that he knew persons who had received training in firearms handling and who were at the roadblock. They had been provided with a firearm to be used in manning the roadblock. Ntahobali mentioned Grégoire, Nyarwaya, Kabalisa, Lambert and Jean-Pierre who lived near Mironko's place at a house belonging to Pascal Habyarimana, the *conseiller* of Sahera *secteur*. He stressed that only those who were trained to handle firearms were allowed to carry the gun used at this roadblock. 8404

3034. Ntahobali testified that on 7 June 1994, he went to man the roadblock near Ndimba's house from 6.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m., following his conversation with *Conseiller* Venuste Uwizeye. Ntahobali stated that there were four or more people at the roadblock on that day: himself, his neighbours Grégoire Ngendahimana, Sokode and Camille. Those who manned the roadblock worked in two shifts, one group worked from 6.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m. and another worked from 6.00 p.m. to 6.00 a.m. On that day, many members of the population coming from Bugesera and heading for Mubumbano passed through the roadblock. Another group

```
8394 T. 24 April 2006 p. 27 (Ntahobali).
8395 T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
8396 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 7-8 (Ntahobali).
8397 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 8 (Ntahobali).
8398 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 12-13 (Ntahobali).
8399 T. 18 April 2006 pp. 12-13 (Ntahobali).
8400 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 13-14 (Ntahobali).
8401 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 24, 61 (Ntahobali).
8402 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 61; T. 26 April 2006 pp. 14-15 (Ntahobali).
8403 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 25 (Ntahobali).
8404 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 15 (Ntahobali).
8405 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 19-20 (Ntahobali).
8406 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 20 (Ntahobali).
```

followed three or four hours later. There were not many vehicles. Ntahobali stated that he did not pay attention to the ethnicity of the refugees who passed through. 8407

3035. Ntahobali testified that he returned to the roadblock on two other occasions: the first time, one week after 7 June 1994; and the second time, probably on the night between 1 and 2 July 1994, which was the night preceding the day they went to seek refuge at Nyakibanda. On the first occasion, he went to the roadblock at 6.00 a.m. and stayed there for two to three hours awaiting his watchman to come and replace him. 8409

3036. Ntahobali testified that no major incidents happened at the roadblock near Ndimba's house from 6 June 1994 to the time they went in exile. He never saw soldiers posted at this roadblock, but in case of a problem, ESO soldiers could intervene upon request by the civilian who manned it; however, this never happened. In cross-examination, Ntahobali testified that he never participated in a night patrol. He further stated that they had two guards during the day and two at night. Ntahobali further testified that at this roadblock, there was no iron bar or other kind of material which could have come from the army or the *gendarmerie*. There were only tree trunks, which were used to block off the road. Ntahobali stated that those who manned that roadblock carried traditional weapons and a single gun. He added that to his knowledge there were no Tutsis among them. He further stated nobody was detained at that roadblock.

3037. Ntahobali testified that the persons who manned the roadblock near Ndimba's house from 6 June 1994 to the time they left Butare were Padiri, who was the person in charge of it, his deputy Grégoire, Aloys Nyarowaya, *conseiller* Pascal Habyarimana, Jean-Pierre, Lambert, two young men (both nicknamed Kazungu and one of whom was a motorcycle taxi driver), Vernant Gakwaya alias Sokode, Camille Nzabonimana alias Enesol, Jean-Marie, Célestin, Ntabobwa and other night watchmen of the shops located not far away. 8418

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL

3038. Witness WMKL, a Hutu teacher from Rango *commune*,⁸⁴¹⁹ testified that in late May 1994 a roadblock was erected on the University road near the MSM garage, and Mujeri's house.⁸⁴²⁰ The roadblock was between Ndimba's house and a white house.⁸⁴²¹ There was a

```
8407 T. 26 April 2006 p. 21 (Ntahobali).
8408 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 22-23 (Ntahobali).
8409 T. 26 April 2006 p. 22 (Ntahobali).
8410 T. 26 April 2006 p. 24 (Ntahobali).
8411 T. 26 April 2006 p. 24 (Ntahobali).
8412 T. 24 May 2006 p. 36 (Ntahobali).
8413 T. 3 May 2006 p. 28 (Ntahobali).
8414 T. 24 May 2006 p. 20 (Ntahobali).
8415 T. 24 May 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
8416 T. 1 June 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).
8417 T. 20 June 2006 p. 32 (Ntahobali).
8418 T. 26 April 2006 pp. 15, 24-25, 28 (Ntahobali).
8419 T. 6 April 2005 pp. 5-6 (Witness WMKL); Defence Exhibit 291 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal Particulars).
8420 T. 6 April 2005 pp. 60-61, 67, 69 (Witness WMKL).
8421 T. 6 April 2005 pp. 61, 67 (Witness WMKL).
```

distance of 50 to 100 metres between the MSM garage and the roadblock. R422 The roadblock was manned by ordinary unarmed civilians, not *Interahamwe*. The witness passed through the roadblock four times between April and July 1994. No one was detained at that roadblock.

3039. Witness WMKL knew the trader Martin Uwariraye and where he lived. Here was a distance of 500 to 1,000 metres between Uwariraye's house and Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko's house. He would not be possible to recognise a person at the roadblock from this distance. On being referred to Prosecution Exhibit 54 (Sketch of Butare town by Witness QCB), the witness did not agree that there was a roadblock outside Nyiramasuhuko's residence.

3040. Witness WMKL did not see any dead bodies in Butare *préfecture* between April and July 1994. He did not hear of Tutsi civilians being detained or killed at roadblocks between April and July 1994. He heard that people might have taken advantage of the prevailing insecurity to loot the properties of others. He heard that people might have taken advantage of the prevailing insecurity to loot the properties of others.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBUC

3041. Witness WBUC testified that in 1987 she moved to Kigali and lived there until April 1994. 8433 Around 14 April 1994, she and her family moved to Butare, where they stayed at Hotel Ihuliro. 8434 She left Butare at the beginning of July 1994. 9435 Upon their arrival in Butare, around 14 April 1994, there was no insecurity there and no gunshots. This situation lasted until the beginning of July 1994, when they decided to leave Butare. 8436

3042. When they arrived in Butare, they first went to the rector's [Maurice Ntahobali's] residence, which was at a house below Gicanda's, in Buye, 8437 and then to Hotel Ihuliro, where they met Ntahobali and his family.

3043. Witness WBUC testified that the first time she ever went to Hotel Ihuliro was for Ntahobali's wedding in 1993;⁸⁴³⁹ the second time was when she fled Kigali after the death of

```
8422 T. 6 April 2005 p. 67 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>8423</sup> T. 7 April 2005 pp. 22-23; T. 11 April 2005 p. 47 (Witness WMKL).
8424 T. 11 April 2005 p. 46 (Witness WMKL).
8425 T. 11 April 2005 p. 47 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>8426</sup> T. 6 April 2005 p. 67; T. 7 April 2005 p. 4 (Witness WMKL).
8427 T. 7 April 2005 p. 4 (Witness WMKL).
8428 T. 7 April 2005 pp. 4-5 (Witness WMKL).
<sup>8429</sup> T. 11 April 2005 pp. 23-24 (Witness WMKL); Prosecution Exhibit 54 (Sketch of Butare town by Witness
8430 T. 11 April 2005 p. 32 (Witness WMKL).
8431 T. 11 April 2005 p. 48 (Witness WMKL).
8432 T. 11 April 2005 p. 32 (Witness WMKL).
8433 T. 1 June 2005 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8434 T. 1 June 2005 pp. 54, 56 (Witness WBUC).
8435 T. 2 June 2005 p. 10 (Witness WBUC).
8436 T. 6 June 2005 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8437 T. 1 June 2005 pp. 55-56; T. 2 June 2005 pp. 89-90 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8438 T. 1 June 2005 pp. 55-56 (Witness WBUC).
```

8439 T. 2 June 2005 pp. 31, 35 (Witness WBUC).

President Habyarimana. Witness WBUC testified that Hotel Ihuliro was still under construction and that the building was not completed when they left the hotel in July 1994. During her stay at Hotel Ihuliro, in the period from April to June 1994, no one guarded the hotel outside. During May 1994, there were Hutus as well as Tutsi family members and friends at Hotel Ihuliro. Hotel Ihuliro.

3044. Upon her arrival at Hotel Ihuliro, she found about 20 members of Nyiramasuhuko's family and three UNAMIR soldiers there. The soldiers resided at the hotel and left after a few days. 8444 Among the people who stayed at Hotel Ihuliro, there was a Tutsi named Xavier, who was the husband of Leocadie, the sister of Shalom Ntahobali's wife. Xavier arrived at Hotel Ihuliro together with his spouse and children. 8445

3045. Witness WBUC testified that on one occasion when she went to the market in Butare, on 30 May 1994, she came across two roadblocks. The first one was located close to Hotel Ihuliro and the EER classrooms. Across from the hotel there was a garage and the roadblock was located between the two buildings after the MSM garage. The owner of the first of these two buildings was someone named Mujeri; the owner of the second building was the son of someone named Ndimba. Witness WBUC testified that this roadblock was about 150 or 200 metres away from Hotel Ihuliro and that it was possible to see the roadblock from the first floor of the hotel. The roadblock was mounted during the last days of May 1994. On cross-examination, Witness WBUC testified that she started counting the 150 to 200 metres from the road right outside the hotel entrance, on the side facing the EER; this measurement was only an approximation.

3046. Witness WBUC testified that she never saw Shalom Ntahobali at the roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro. 8449 The roadblock had to be manned by people from the area. Given that Shalom Ntahobali's father was an elder person and was often unwell, and since Shalom Ntahobali resided in that area, it was possible that Shalom Ntahobali had to go and man the roadblocks as well. 8450

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBNC

3047. Witness WBNC, a Hutu, testified that a few days after the assassination of the President, she sought refuge at Hotel Ihuliro. At the time, she was accompanied by her three children, her husband's niece and members of the family with whom she had previously sought refuge. There was a board bearing the name of the hotel in capital letters, although

```
8440 T. 2 June 2005 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8441 T. 2 June 2005 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8442 T. 6 June 2005 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8443 T. 1 June 2005 p. 64; T. 6 June 2005 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8444 T. 1 June 2005 p. 56 (Witness WBUC).
8445 T. 1 June 2005 p. 74 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8446 T. 1 June 2005 p. 76 (Witness WBUC).
8447 T. 1 June 2005 p. 76 (Witness WBUC).
8448 T. 6 June 2005 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8449 T. 2 June 2005 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8449 T. 2 June 2005 pp. 30, 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8450 T. 6 June 2005 pp. 30, 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
8451 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 34 (Witness WBNC).
8452 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 34-35 (Witness WBNC).
```

she could not specify the size of the board.⁸⁴⁵³ On cross-examination, the witness testified that they decided to move to Butare because there was no fighting there, and there was enough space for them to seek refuge.⁸⁴⁵⁴

3048. When she arrived at the hotel, there were about 20 people there including Maurice Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali, Denise Ntahobali, Ntahobali and Ntahobali's family, but not Nyiramasuhuko. Among the customers, she identified two UNAMIR soldiers, a black person who spoke English and a white man from Austria. Satisfied

3049. Witness WBNC did not see Nyiramasuhuko until a number of weeks after her arrival at the hotel, but later corrected herself and said that she saw Nyiramasuhuko a few days after arriving. Between April and July 1994, she saw Nyiramasuhuko at Hotel Ihuliro on three occasions. Witness WBNC testified that the youngest of the Ntahobali children, Brigitte, was in Germany in April 1994. Satisfied that the youngest of the Ntahobali children, Brigitte, was in Germany in April 1994.

3050. Witness WBNC testified that a roadblock was established near Hotel Ihuliro towards the end of May and beginning of June 1994. 8460

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBTT

3051. Witness WBTT, a foreigner married to a Hutu, testified that she left Rwanda on 20 April 1994. She called one Captain Perena who came to fetch her, with a jeep belonging to UNAMIR. After leaving the rector's office, they went downwards and passed right in front of Hotel Ihuliro. She did not notice any roadblock at Hotel Ihuliro or nearby. There was another roadblock at the entrance to the University. She stated that as they were not stopped at that roadblock, they proceeded on their way. 8463

3052. Witness WBTT left Rwanda for Nairobi on the evening of 20 April 1994. When she got to the UNAMIR residence, the UNAMIR soldiers said they had to leave on that day as well, but they could not take civilians with them. Captain Perena told the witness that he needed to seek authorisation in order to allow civilians to leave with UNAMIR. 8464

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

3053. Maurice Ntahobali, a Hutu, Nyiramasuhuko's husband and father of Shalom Ntahobali, 8465 testified that Hotel Ihuliro was located in Mamba *cellule* in Butare-Ville *secteur*,

```
R453 T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Witness WBNC).
R454 T. 28 February 2005 p. 41 (Witness WBNC).
R455 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 35-36, 41 (Witness WBNC).
R456 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 37-38 (Witness WBNC).
R457 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 37-38 (Witness WBNC).
R458 T. 24 February 2005 p. 48 (Witness WBNC).
R459 T. 24 February 2005 p. 30; T. 24 February 2005 p. 7 (Witness WBNC) (French) (for spelling of "Brigitte").
R460 T. 24 February 2005 p. 46 (Witness WBNC).
R461 T. 31 May 2005 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WBTT).
R462 T. 31 May 2005 pp. 47, 45-46 (ICS) (Witness WBTT).
R463 T. 31 May 2005 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness WBTT).
R464 T. 31 May 2005 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness WBTT).
```

8465 T. 12 September 2005 p. 16 (Maurice Ntahobali).

in Butare. 8466 He acknowledged that the hotel was located in the vicinity of a garage known as the MSM garage. 8467 He owned Hotel Ihuliro. 8468 In February 1994, repairs were being undertaken in his home and he therefore went to live in the hotel where he remained until July 1994. In February and March 1994, his son, Shalom Ntahobali, along with Shalom's wife and daughter, also lived at the hotel. 8469

3054. The witness was at the hotel when President Habyarimana was killed on 6 April 1994. His wife, Nyiramasuhuko, was in Kimihurura neighbourhood in Kigali where she lived alone. He stated that he remained in the hotel in the days immediately following the President's assassination. Besides his son, Ntahobali, and his son's family, his daughters Clarisse and Denise also came to live at Hotel Ihuliro after 6 April 1994. His daughter Brigitte was not present as she was pursuing her education in Europe at the time. He testified that there were 50 to 60 people between April and July 1994 at the hotel.

3055. The witness had no recollection of any political meetings being held at Hotel Ihuliro between the end of 1993 and June 1994 and, as the owner and person in charge of Hotel Ihuliro, he would have been aware of any political meetings or rallies held there.⁸⁴⁷³

3056. Maurice Ntahobali testified that in February 1994, members of UNAMIR were staying at the hotel as guests. UNAMIR soldiers made arrangements to leave Hotel Ihuliro after 6 April 1994, but they left gradually, the last one leaving one or two weeks after 6 April 1994. 8474

3057. Maurice Ntahobali testified that at no time did Nyiramasuhuko permanently reside at Hotel Ihuliro. He testified that she did visit the hotel in April, May, June and July 1994. 8475

3058. At the end of May 1994, a roadblock was mounted about 100 metres from Hotel Ihuliro on the right-hand side, looking at the hotel, and facing the hospital. He explained that on the right-hand side of Hotel Ihuliro, there was a plot belonging to the EER. The witness testified that he was certain the roadblock was erected at that particular point in time, because when Nyiramasuhuko came to the residence at the end of May 1994, Shalom Ntahobali was not there, having gone sometime to retrieve his wife who had left after a dispute with her sister-in-law. When Shalom Ntahobali departed, the roadblock was not there, but rather was mounted in his absence. Shalom Ntahobali returned a couple of days after Nyiramasuhuko had left with two children of their family. He was mounted in his absence.

⁸⁴⁶⁶ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 81-82 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁶⁷ T. 16 September 2005 p. 5 (Maurice Ntahobali); Defence Exhibit 304 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Sketch 3).

⁸⁴⁶⁸ T. 16 September 2005 p. 69 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁶⁹ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 4-5 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷⁰ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 14-15 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷¹ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 15-17 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷² T. 13 September 2005 p. 19 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷³ T. 16 September 2005 pp. 66, 69 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷⁴ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 6-7, 18; T. 16 September 2005 pp. 64-67 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷⁵ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 19-20; T. 13 September p. 27 (Extract); T. 14 September 2005 p. 38 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷⁶ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 24-25 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁷⁷ T. 13 September 2005 p. 25 (Maurice Ntahobali).

3059. Maurice Ntahobali further testified that this roadblock was set up within the framework of civilian defence. He described the position of the roadblock: "Well, if you go through toward the workshop and there was a piece of land where there was a garage, and then there was a store or warehouse and a few metres from the third plot is the point at which the roadblock was located". Asked about the context of this roadblock's installation, the witness replied that he was not the one setting it up. He further testified that the roadblock was manned by people from Mamba neighbourhood who would take turns, according to an agreed scheduling. When the Ntahobali family's turn came, Shalom Ntahobali went to the roadblock as a representative. The witness could not give a precise time frame for this.

3060. Maurice Ntahobali testified that at Hotel Ihuliro, from 21 April 1994 to late May 1994, he did not hear gunshots and people who were crying or screaming, either inside or outside. He stated that from Hotel Ihuliro, he could see outside, and he could see the roadblock. This roadblock was "set up with some logs, pieces of timber that were interlocking", so that one could not move between the logs without having to jump over. They were positioned across the road. The roadblock could have been moved, but he never saw it elsewhere. He insisted that if the roadblock had been moved during the day and reinstated during the night, he would have been in a position to see it. He clarified that the logs were laid on the ground, making it impossible for a vehicle to drive through the roadblock. It was necessary for the logs to be moved in order to open the roadblock for vehicles to go through. However, it was possible to work through the logs in a zigzag manner for pedestrians.

3061. The witness further testified that, apart from checking where the people who wanted to pass came from, he was not aware of any other activities going on at the roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro. 8486 Maurice Ntahobali testified that he owned a Peugeot 505. 8487

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Denise Ntahobali

3062. Denise Ntahobali, a Hutu and one of Nyiramasuhuko's daughters, 8488 testified that Hotel Ihuliro belonged to her parents. The hotel contained a restaurant, a pharmacy and a shop. 8490 There was a large billboard sign bearing the words "Hotel Ihuliro". 8491

3063. Denise Ntahobali testified that in early 1994, her brother, Ntahobali, lived with his wife and child at Hotel Ihuliro. 8492 About one week after the death of Habyarimana she and her

```
8478 T. 14 September 2005 pp. 16-17 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8479 T. 16 September 2005 p. 82 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8480 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 83 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8481 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 82-83 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8482 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 79-81 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8483 T. 16 September 2005 p. 81 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8484 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 82 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8485 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 82-83 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8486 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 96 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8487 T. 16 September 2005 pp. 61, 65 (Maurice Ntahobali).
8488 T. 8 June 2005 p. 82 (Denise Ntahobali).
8489 T. 9 June 2005 p. 15 (Denise Ntahobali).
8490 T. 13 June 2005 p. 16 (Denise Ntahobali).
8491 T. 9 June 2005 p. 16 (Denise Ntahobali).
8492 T. 9 June 2005 p. 18: T. 13 June 2005 p. 44 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

sister, Clarisse Ntahobali, left Cyarwa and went to Hotel Ihuliro. 8493 She stated that on arriving at the Hotel Ihuliro, she saw her father, Maurice Ntahobali, her brother, Ntahobali, and her brother's wife and child. 8494 She and her sister decided to stay at the Hotel Ihuliro because it was safe and they were later joined by Clarisse Ntahobali's husband and child. 8495

3064. At the hotel, they found about five UNAMIR soldiers whom she recognised because of their uniforms. The soldiers were from West Africa and one of them was a white man. She did not talk to them.⁸⁴⁹⁶ In her recollection, the UNAMIR soldiers left Hotel Ihuliro about one week after her arrival there.8497

3065. Denise Ntahobali testified that there was no roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro at the end of April 1994. 8498 From her room, she could see the main road linking Mukoni and the city centre and what was happening on it; she stated that she did not see any roadblocks on this road. 8499 The witness explained that before 31 May 1994, she could not see the road that linked the main road and the ESO because she did not leave the hotel, but even when she left the hotel on 31 May 1994, she did not see any roadblock on this road. Since the time when she and her sister arrived at Hotel Ihuliro she did not leave the place. She stayed at home doing domestic chores such as cooking and taking care of Clarisse's child. 8501

3066. Denise Ntahobali testified that her mother, Nyiramasuhuko, came to the hotel a few days after her arrival, in the early evening. At that time, about 30 people were living at the hotel including the witness' aunt and her family. On 31 May 1994, the witness left Hotel Ihuliro with her mother, Nyiramasuhuko, and niece, and they returned to Murambi. 8504 On the way, they encountered a roadblock between the first and second buildings of the EER, covering the two ends of the road. The roadblock was about 100 to 150 metres from Hotel Ihuliro. 8505 In her opinion, the roadblock must have been set up about one or two days before, because when her sister-in-law left, 8506 the roadblock had not been set up yet. 8507 The witness testified that this roadblock was manned by members of the public, and when they passed through, they were not asked anything because the gendarmes talked to the people manning the roadblock. 8508 On cross-examination by the Kanyabashi Defence, the witness did not agree to the proposition that the roadblock was located on the main road linking Mukoni and Butare city centre, at the junction between the road that leads to ESO and the university hospital, close

```
8493 T. 9 June 2005 pp. 21-22 (Denise Ntahobali).
8494 T. 9 June 2005 pp. 22-23 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

⁸⁴⁹⁵ T. 9 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁹⁶ T. 9 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁹⁷ T. 13 June 2005 p. 17 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁹⁸ T. 9 June 2005 p. 27; T. 13 June 2005 p. 18 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁴⁹⁹ T. 13 June 2005 p. 18 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰⁰ T. 13 June 2005 pp. 18-19 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰¹ T. 9 June 2005 p. 27 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰² T. 9 June 2005 pp. 24-25 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰³ T. 9 June 2005 p. 25 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰⁴ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 28-29; T. 13 June 2005 p. 18 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰⁵ T. 9 June 2005 p. 30 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰⁶ T. 9 June 2005 p. 32 (Denise Ntahobali) (French).

⁸⁵⁰⁷ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 29-30 (Denise Ntahobali).

⁸⁵⁰⁸ T. 9 June 2005 p. 30 (Denise Ntahobali).

to Hotel Ihuliro, and testified, "[a]ll I know is that that roadblock was located on the road that leads to the rectory and on to the university." 8509

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Clarisse Ntahobali

3067. Clarisse Ntahobali, a Hutu and one of Nyiramasuhuko's daughters, ⁸⁵¹⁰ testified that she left Rwanda in August 1991 for Canada to pursue higher education; she returned in February 1994 and remained in Rwanda until 18 July 1994. Her sister, Brigitte, left Rwanda in August 1993 to study in Germany and had never returned to Rwanda. ⁸⁵¹²

3068. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that her parents owned the Hotel Ihuliro.⁸⁵¹³ The hotel had a basement, lobby and upper floor and the building also contained a bar, restaurant, pharmacy and store.⁸⁵¹⁴ There was a sign on a high wall in the hotel covering five to six metres, which indicated that the building was a hotel.⁸⁵¹⁵

3069. The witness testified that she was present at Hotel Ihuliro in February and April 1994, where she worked, although on her return to Rwanda in February 1994 she resided in Cyarwa in Ngoma *commune*, approximately one kilometre and a half from Hotel Ihuliro. Five staff members worked at the hotel, two Tutsis and three Hutus. Until 6 April 1994, these persons remained employees there. The witness and Shalom Ntahobali had supervisory roles at the hotel.⁸⁵¹⁶

3070. After the death of the President, she remained at home for about a week in Cyarwa. She subsequently left Cyarwa in the company of her younger sister, Denise, and together they went to Hotel Ihuliro to meet the other members of their family. On the day she arrived, about 20 people were staying at Hotel Ihuliro, including Ntahobali, his wife and child, and Maurice Ntahobali, who usually lived there, as well as her father and members of the family of Shalom's wife's older sister, and these members of that family had come from Kigali. She added that these people had fled Kigali because war had started there, and there were killings being perpetrated by the RPF. Nyiramasuhuko was not at Hotel Ihuliro when she arrived. On 6 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko was living alone in Kimihurura, Kigali.

3071. The only people living in the hotel apart from the witness' family members were UNAMIR personnel. 8522 In mid-February 1994, there were about five UNAMIR members who

```
8509 T. 13 June 2005 p. 21 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

T. 8 February 2005 p. 87 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹¹ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 8, 11 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹² T. 9 February 2005 p. 11; T. 9 February 2005 p. 13 (Clarisse Ntahobali) (French) (for the spelling of "Brigitte").

⁸⁵¹³ T. 9 February 2005 p. 23 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁴ T. 9 February 2005 p. 33 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁵ T. 9 February 2005 p. 62 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁶ T. 9 February 2005 p. 34 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁷ T. 9 February 2005 p. 40 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁸ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 41-42 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵¹⁹ T. 9 February 2005 p. 42 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵²⁰ T. 9 February 2005 p. 48 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵²¹ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 34, 39-40 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

⁸⁵²² T. 9 February 2005 p. 48 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

were living at Hotel Ihuliro. They included one Egyptian, one Austrian called Peter, a Zimbabwean and a Togolese. The last one to leave was Peter, who left when the UNAMIR forces departed from Butare once and for all, towards the end of April 1994. 8523

3072. The witness testified that Nyiramasuhuko visited Hotel Ihuliro two days after her own arrival, spending one or two nights there before leaving for Murambi early in the morning. 8524 She stated that around the same time, more relatives arrived at the hotel, including her maternal aunt; as a result, there were 30 people staying at the hotel. 8525

3073. Clarisse Ntahobali testified that as of 28 April 1994, there was no roadblock near the hotel. When Nyiramasuhuko came to Butare, at the end of May 1994, there was a roadblock "quite close to Hotel Ihuliro". It had been set up on 27 May 1994 and was located to the right of the hotel, in front of the house of a certain Ndimba. People in civilian attire manned the roadblock. The witness further testified that she went across that roadblock, and was asked to show her identity card. The witness testified that she recognised one of the residents of the neighbourhood, one Jean-Pierre, manning the roadblock. She declared that she never saw Shalom Ntahobali at this roadblock.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM

3074. Witness CEM, a Hutu, testified that Hotel Ihuliro was identified as such in writing, on the exterior of the building, and consisted of a ground floor and a top floor, although the top floor had not been completed in April 1994. She first went to the hotel one to two weeks after the President's death, then two or three times in the second week of April 1994 and once or twice in the fourth week. There were about 30 people in the hotel during the month of April 1994, some of whom she knew. Shalon she Nyiramasuhuko or Brigitte Ntahobali. April 1994, but did see Shalon, Denise, Clarisse and Maurice Ntahobali.

3075. Witness CEM testified that she went to Hotel Ihuliro on three occasions in May 1994, and that by then the number of people staying at the hotel had increased to a little more than 50. On her way to Hotel Ihuliro, she passed through the roadblock at the Hotel Faucon and the one near the school complex. Towards the end of May 1994, a new roadblock manned by civilians had been erected below the EER. She passed through this roadblock, where she was asked for her identity card, and then she was permitted to go on her way. 8536 The witness did

```
R523 T. 9 February 2005 p. 36 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
R524 T. 9 February 2005 pp. 49-50 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 p. 50 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 p. 53 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 pp. 59 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 pp. 60-61 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 9 February 2005 pp. 60-61 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 10 February 2005 pp. 8 (Clarisse Ntahobali).
T. 14 February 2005 pp. 43-44 (Witness CEM).
T. 14 February 2005 pp. 44 (Witness CEM).
T. 14 February 2005 pp. 45 (Witness CEM).
T. 14 February 2005 pp. 45 (Witness CEM).
T. 14 February 2005 pp. 53 (Witness CEM) (French) (for the spelling of "Brigitte").
```

⁸⁵³⁵ T. 14 February 2005 pp. 45-46 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵³⁶ T. 14 February 2005 p. 48 (Witness CEM).

not see Shalom Ntahobali at this roadblock.⁸⁵³⁷ Witness CEM testified that during her visits to the hotel she did not witness any meetings being held nor did she see any authorities, leaders, people in uniform or *Interahamwe*.⁸⁵³⁸

3076. Witness CEM disagreed with the Prosecution's suggestions that Shalom Ntahobali was an *Interahamwe* during April to June 1994, that he was well respected among the *Interahamwe* as a leader, and that he manned the roadblock that was close to Hotel Ihuliro. Witness CEM also testified that Shalom Ntahobali did not take part in the killings. The witness often went to Hotel Ihuliro, where he was living, and stated "every time I went there I saw him [Ntahobali] busy doing other things." The witness testified that she never visited the hotel at night and agreed that she was unable to provide any information about what Shalom Ntahobali did at night.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

3077. Witness WZNA, a Hutu factory worker, testified that in early June 1994, he saw a roadblock near Maurice Ntahobali's building, ⁸⁵⁴² which was on the *Avenue de l'Université* opposite the ESO camp. ⁸⁵⁴³ The witness did not see soldiers or Nyiramasuhuko at the roadblock, but only civilians. ⁸⁵⁴⁴

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WKNKI

3078. Witness WKNKI, a Hutu student, testified that he saw a roadblock around Maurice Ntahobali's building, close to a building belonging to Ndimba's son. ⁸⁵⁴⁵ That roadblock was mounted by the end of May 1994, for the purposes of civilian defence. ⁸⁵⁴⁶ Witness WKNKI never saw Nyiramasuhuko or any member of her family, when he went through that roadblock ⁸⁵⁴⁷

Nyiramasuhuko

3079. Nyiramasuhuko admitted to being in Butare on the following dates: 14-15 April 1994; 28-29 April 1994; 10 May 1994; 14-16 May 1994; 30-31 May 1994; 11-12 June 1994; 24 June 1994; and 2 July 1994. 8548

3080. Nyiramasuhuko testified that most of the observers left Rwanda after 6 April 1994 and very few remained, even though "we" begged them to remain. 8549 UNAMIR and Roger Booh-

```
<sup>8537</sup> T. 15 February 2005 p. 18 (Witness CEM).
```

⁸⁵³⁸ T. 14 February 2005 pp. 47-48; T. 15 February 2005 p. 14 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵³⁹ T. 15 February 2005 p. 18 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵⁴⁰ T. 15 February 2005 p. 19 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵⁴¹ T. 15 February 2005 p. 20 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵⁴² T. 4 April 2005 p. 58 (Witness WZNA).

⁸⁵⁴³ T. 5 April 2005 p. 8 (Witness WZNA).

⁸⁵⁴⁴ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 57-58 (Witness WZNA).

⁸⁵⁴⁵ T. 2 March 2005 pp. 6-7 (Witness WKNKI).

⁸⁵⁴⁶ T. 2 March 2005 pp. 8-9 (Witness WKNKI).

⁸⁵⁴⁷ T. 2 March 2005 p. 9 (Witness WKNKI).

⁸⁵⁴⁸ T. 6 September 2005 p. 32; T. 28 September 2005 p. 29; T. 29 September 2005 p. 48; T. 3 October 2005 pp. 43, 60-61; T. 5 October 2005 p. 16; T. 6 October 2005 pp. 25, 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Booh did stay on for some time after 6 April 1994, but not for long. A number of Belgian soldiers left. 8550 In cross-examination, Nyiramasuhuko added that she was not present at the *préfecture* Security Council meeting held on 20 April 1994 in Butare, and that even before that day, around 13 or 15 April 1994, "we" learned that Belgium had prepared a document addressed to the Security Council, asking for the withdrawal of its troops from the country. 8551 Other soldiers remained, who left after 20 April 1994. Belgium had the greatest number of people in Rwanda. 8552

3081. Nyiramasuhuko testified that on 30 May 1994, on the way from Gikongoro to Butare town, she drove on a tarred road. Starting at the entrance of Butare town, the number of roadblocks had increased since 14 May 1994. Civilians guarded those roadblocks which had been added. On 30 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko saw a roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro, which had been mounted in front of the stalls and the Protestant school (EER). She testified there was another roadblock in town, which was manned by civilians and which she had not seen previously. It was located on the road to the airport after the social welfare school. She believed that it must have been mounted because of the refugee problems. On her way to Butare, Nyiramasuhuko slowed down, but did not stop at the roadblock leading to the airport because it was not set up on the main road. She stopped at the roadblock close to the shops and the EER. The roadblock was across the road, close to the EER on one side, while the shops were on the other side. S554

3082. When Nyiramasuhuko stopped at the roadblock, she was stopped by the people manning it; when they realised who she was, they let her through. She recognised one of the civilians guarding the roadblock. He was the son of one Misigaro Thaddée who had a store in town. After passing the roadblock, Nyiramasuhuko went to Hotel Ihuliro, where her family was. She reached Hotel Ihuliro in the afternoon, before 6.00 p.m. As soon as she arrived, Nyiramasuhuko talked with members of her family, who were celebrating her niece's birthday; but she told them she had come to evacuate them. Nyiramasuhuko stated: "Given the war situation which was prevailing, and since people were fleeing, I did not find that fair. I said to myself that they should be preparing their luggage."

3083. In cross-examination, Nyiramasuhuko testified that she crossed two roadblocks between Hotel Ihuliro and the multi-purpose hall of the *préfecture* on 31 May 1994. One of them, where she was asked to stop, was located near Bihira. 8558

3084. Nyiramasuhuko was questioned if she knew that MRND meetings had taken place at the Hotel Ihuliro in 1993 or 1994. She stated that meetings could not take place without the permission of the *bourgmestre* who was duty-bound to draft a report on any meetings that took

```
<sup>8549</sup> T. 10 October 2005 p. 15 (Nyiramasuhuko).
```

⁸⁵⁵⁰ T. 10 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵¹ T. 10 October 2005 pp. 42-43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵² T. 10 October 2005 p. 43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵³ T. 5 October 2005 p. 14 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵⁴ T. 5 October 2005 p. 15 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵⁵ T. 5 October 2005 p. 15 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵⁶ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 15-16 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵⁷ T. 5 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁵⁸ T. 22 November 2005 p. 54 (Nyiramasuhuko).

place. Nyiramasuhuko testified that no such meetings ever took place, nor did the *bourgmestre* ever talk about such meetings. She stated she had been living in Kigali during that period of time. She of time.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

3085. Witness D-2-YYYY testified that the roadblock at the Butare garage was located across the road from Maurice Ntahobali's house. 8561 The witness noticed this roadblock for the first time on 21 April 1994 and testified that it was manned by armed soldiers in camouflage uniforms and black berets, and *Interahamwe* wearing military shirts and casual clothes. He did not know who was in charge of the roadblock, however, he heard mention of Shalom Ntahobali being in charge of it. 8563

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

3086. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee and business owner in April 1994, stated that around 10 April 1994, at the Butare MSM garage roadblock the *Interahamwe* asked for his identification papers. 8564 He saw other people crossing the roadblocks, having their identity documents checked. 8565

3087. Witness D-2-13-D was shown Defence Exhibit 41.⁸⁵⁶⁶ He confirmed that there was a BP station located on the other side of the road from Hotel Faucon, and a Shell petrol station between Hotel Faucon and Hotel Ibis. ⁸⁵⁶⁷ He stated he might have been confused between BP and Shell because he could not read. ⁸⁵⁶⁸

3088. Witness D-2-13-D confirmed that neither Nyiramasuhuko nor Maurice Ntahobali lived in the house he referred to as "Nyiramasuhuko's residence". He stated that this house was in fact the headquarters of UNAMIR, because he saw UNAMIR members there and he also heard people say so. The roadblock was near the MSM garage opposite "Nyiramasuhuko's house", though not directly at it. The witness stated that he had never claimed that Nyiramasuhuko controlled the roadblock.

⁸⁵⁵⁹ T. 27 October 2005 p. 43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁶⁰ T. 27 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁵⁶¹ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁶² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 17-18, 52 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 pp. 15, 21-22, 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁶³ T. 11 December 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁸⁵⁶⁴ T. 10 September 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁶⁵ T. 30 August 2007 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁶⁶ T. 6 September 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); Defence Exhibit 441 (Nsabimana) (Photograph of Buildings and Shops).

⁸⁵⁶⁷ T. 6 September 2007 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁶⁸ T. 6 September 2007 pp. 31, 39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁶⁹ T. 6 September 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁷⁰ T. 6 September 2007 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁸⁵⁷¹ T. 6 September 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-11-D

3089. Witness D-2-11-D, a Hutu farmer, testified that there was a roadblock located on the road leading to Burundi, between the garage and Ntahobali's home, very close to the junction or the road that went up to ESO. 8572 It was manned by soldiers and *Interahamwe* armed with Kalashnikovs; by *Interahamwe*, he meant people wearing military uniform on their top and civilian clothing on the other half below. The witness encountered no difficulty at that roadblock and was allowed to move on. 8573

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

3090. Witness D-2-5-I testified that during the period between April and July 1994, there was a roadblock at MSM garage manned by soldiers and *Interahamwe*. He said that the soldiers were in command of this roadblock and he later heard that Shalom Ntahobali was in charge of it ⁸⁵⁷⁴

Kanyabashi Defence Witness Bernadette Kamanzi

3091. Bernadette Kamanzi, the wife of Kanyabashi, testified that she crossed a roadblock located close to Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's residence, manned by armed soldiers and *Interahamwe* who conducted a thorough search. The witness and those who accompanied her were asked to get down from the vehicle. The witness stated that the roadblock was precisely located on the road from the Hotel Faucon which led to the university campus, and it was very close to the intersection of the ESO. The witness could only recognise Shalom Ntahobali among the people present at that roadblock. Ntahobali wore a camouflage pair of trousers and a shirt of another colour, and he was carrying a gun. 8575

3092. Kamanzi testified that during her last visit to Mpare, on 1 July 1994, gunshots could be heard from the town. The witness was with Kanyabashi, her sister-in-law Goretti and the latter's child; they crossed roadblocks at Hotel Faucon, at Bihira's house and at Ntahobali's house on that day. Ntahobali repeatedly said to them that they were accomplices. 8576

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

3093. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu driver, ⁸⁵⁷⁷ testified that at the end of April 1994, he noticed a roadblock below the MSM Garage, situated between two roads, one going from the university to Hotel Ibis, the other leading to ESO, above Ntahobali's residence. ⁸⁵⁷⁸ The witness further explained that next to the MSM garage, there was a storey building that belonged to Sindikubwabo's son-in-law, Mujere, and another house that belonged to Ndimba's son,

⁸⁵⁷² T. 23 October 2007 pp. 12-13 (ICS); T. 24 October 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D).

⁸⁵⁷³ T. 23 October 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D).

⁸⁵⁷⁴ T. 30 January 2008 pp. 36-37 (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁸⁵⁷⁵ T. 19 November 2007 p. 43 (Bernadette Kamanzi).

⁸⁵⁷⁶ T. 19 November 2007 p. 44 (Bernadette Kamanzi).

⁸⁵⁷⁷ T. 14 February 2008 pp. 30-31 (Witness D-13-D); Defence Exhibit 627 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁵⁷⁸ T. 14 February 2008 pp. 54-56 (Witness D-13-D).

Venuste. This roadblock was just next to the garage's fence and was also located near a culvert or gutter used for drawing water from the *Quartier Arabe* to Busenyi. 8579

3094. Witness D-13-D testified that on the road leading from the university to Hotel Faucon and Hotel Ibis, opposite the MSM Garage, there was also a petrol station called SGP, followed by Ntahobali's residence. On the same side of the road was the Protestant centre (EER), then the National Pedagogic Institute (IPN). 8581

3095. Witness D-13-D testified that the roadblock near the MSM Garage was always at the same place. Between the end of April and early July 1994, he did not see another roadblock in the direction of the Hotel Ibis and Hotel Faucon, between the MSM roadblock and the one at the junction near the church (at Bihira's place). B583

3096. Whenever he crossed the roadblock at the MSM garage, Witness D-13-D was stopped and had to show a document which had been signed by Colonel Gatsinzi. The witness testified that he passed by that roadblock regularly, sometimes every day. He saw young people manning the roadblock, who were taking turns. Some of them wore half military and half civilian clothes; some carried firearms. In cross-examination, the witness added that it was manned by *Interahamwe*.

3097. At the beginning of May 1994, but before 10 May 1994, he saw Ntahobali, whom he knew well, at the roadblock. In total, he saw Ntahobali between five to 10 times at the MSM garage. Ntahobali was wearing a military, camouflage vest. The witness knew the other people at that roadblock, who were taking turns; however, he heard this was "Shalom's roadblock".

3098. Witness D-13-D testified that on one occasion, Ntahobali stopped him, searched him and asked him to open the bonnet of his vehicle, looking for ammunition. The witness had to open the booth, but two persons—called Grégoire and Eugène—who were present, told Ntahobali that they knew the witness and that he was allowed to pass through the roadblock. From then on, the witness was not searched anymore. 8592

3099. During cross-examination by the Ntahobali Defence, it was put to Witness D-13-D that he fabricated charges against Ntahobali; the witness answered that everybody in Butare knew

```
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 55-56 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 58 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 58, 65 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 60 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 60-61 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 60-61 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 63 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 59 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 58-59, 64 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 58-59 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 64 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 64 (Witness D-13-D).
T. 14 February 2008 pp. 62 (Witness D-13-D).
```

 ⁸⁵⁹¹ T. 14 February 2008 p. 64 (Witness D-13-D).
 ⁸⁵⁹² T. 14 February 2008 p. 63 (Witness D-13-D).

Ntahobali as an evil doer. 8593 Ntahobali and the witness knew each other. 8594 The witness identified Ntahobali in court. 8595

3.6.23.4 Deliberations

3.6.23.4.1 Meetings at Hotel Ihuliro

3100. The Prosecution relies exclusively on Prosecution Witness FA to establish that meetings were held at Hotel Ihuliro between 7 and 14 April 1994 and that during such meetings, the issue of how to implement the genocide was discussed. The Chamber notes that Witness FA's testimony on this issue is hearsay, uncorroborated and was contradicted by Defence witnesses, notably Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Maurice Ntahobali and CEM, and Ntahobali Defence Witness NMBMP. Nyiramasuhuko also denied this allegation.

3101. The Chamber further notes that many of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Defence witnesses are related to or have close ties with Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and, as such, may have an interest in protecting them. The Chamber is mindful of the fact that in these circumstances, appropriate caution must be exercised when evaluating the Defence evidence. That being said, the Chamber finds the Defence evidence on this particular allegation to be consistent and credible in a number of important respects including the layout of Hotel Ihuliro, the number of people residing there in April 1994, and the presence or otherwise of Nyiramasuhuko.

3102. The Prosecution led no evidence to support Witness FA's account that meetings were held between 7 and 14 April 1994 at Hotel Ihuliro or that Nyiramasuhuko resided there. Three

⁸⁵⁹³ T. 21 February 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁵⁹⁴ T. 14 February 2008 p. 62 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁵⁹⁵ T. 14 February 2008 p. 66 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁵⁹⁶ T. 30 June 2004 p. 50; T. 30 June pp. 45, 48-49 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 pp. 34, 42 (Witness FA).

⁸⁵⁹⁷ T. 16 September 2005 pp. 66, 69 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 14 February 2005 pp. 47-48 (Witness CEM); T. 15 February 2005 p. 14 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁵⁹⁸ T. 22 April 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸⁵⁹⁹ T. 27 October 2005 p. 43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁶⁰⁰ T. 10 April 2006 pp. 79-80 (Ntahobali); T. 19 April 2006 pp. 44, 46-47 (Ntahobali); T. 2 June 2005 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness WBUC); T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Witness WBNC); T. 9 June 2005 p. 16 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 p. 15 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 33, 62 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 14 February 2005 pp. 43-44 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁶⁰¹ T. 22 April 2008 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP); T. 24 February 2006 p. 35 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 27 February 2006 pp. 79, 81 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 24 April 2006 pp. 34-35 (Ntahobali); T. 1 June 2005 p. 56 (Witness WBUC); T. 1 June p. 74 (ICS) (Witness WBUC); T. 24 February 2005 pp. 35-36, 41 (Witness WBNC); T. 13 September 2005 pp. 4-7, 15-19 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 16 September 2005 pp. 64-67 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 9 June 2005 pp. 22-23, 25 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 p. 17 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 36, 42, 48, 50 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 14 February 2005 p. 45 (Witness CEM); T. 14 February 2005 p. 48 (Witness CEM).
⁸⁶⁰² T. 24 April 2006 pp. 10, 27 (Ntahobali); T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali); T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali);

T. 24 April 2006 pp. 10, 27 (Ntahobali); T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali); T. 1 June 2006 p. 68 (Ntahobali); T. 24 February 2005 pp. 35-38, 41, 48 (Witness WBNC); T. 13 September 2005 pp. 14-15 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 9 June 2005 pp. 24-25 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 34, 39-40, 48-50 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 14 February 2005 p. 53 (Witness CEM); T. 6 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 28 September 2005 p. 29 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 29 September 2005 p. 48 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 3 October 2005 pp. 43, 60-61 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 5 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 6 October 2005 pp. 25, 29 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Defence witnesses testified that no political or *Interahamwe* meetings took place at Hotel Ihuliro. Maurice Ntahobali, corroborating Nyiramasuhuko's testimony, specifically stated that his wife did not live at Hotel Ihuliro in April 1994. Four other witnesses testified that Nyiramasuhuko visited rather than resided at the hotel in April 1994. Meeting 1994.

3103. In addition to the lack of corroboration of Witness FA's testimony, the Chamber is also of the view that certain aspects of the Defence evidence cast doubt on the veracity of Witness FA's account on this issue. For instance Witness FA asserted that she knew that the people who entered Nyiramasuhuko's house were attending meetings because her neighbour was among those attending. The Chamber finds this explanation implausible, noting the evidence that at least 30 people were present at Hotel Ihuliro in April 1994 and that part of the hotel contained a grocery shop and a pharmacy. The Chamber considers that the human activity in the vicinity of the hotel could have been a consequence of the normal comings and goings of those staying or shopping there.

3104. Further, the Chamber notes that Witness FA's testimony contains a number of internal inconsistencies. The witness admitted that in her statement to Prosecution investigators in 1996, she did not mention that her neighbour had spoken to her about instructions to kill Tutsis having been issued at the meeting or his warning that Tutsis should leave the compound. 8608 Instead, her statement was limited to her neighbour's comments on identity cards. 8609 The Chamber considers it unlikely that issues having such a direct impact on the personal security of Witness FA and her Tutsi husband could have been forgotten or regarded as less important than that of identity cards when she gave her statement in 1996. A further inconsistency was brought to light in cross-examination when Witness FA admitted that she only knew of the meetings at Nyiramasuhuko's house because her neighbour had informed her of them following the second meeting. 8610 This directly contradicts her evidence-in-chief that she was an eyewitness to events and saw people going to and leaving three separate meetings at the house she identified as Nyiramasuhuko's. 8611 In addition, while during her evidence-in-chief Witness FA could not recall the dates of the alleged meetings, 8612 in cross-examination she was confronted with the fact that in her statement to Prosecution investigators dated 26 November 1996, she said that the meetings had occurred between 7 and 14 April 1994. She confirmed that to be the case. 8613

⁸⁶⁰³ T. 16 September 2005 pp. 66, 69 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 14 February 2005 pp. 47-48 (Witness CEM); T. 15 February 2005 p. 14 (Witness CEM); T. 22 April 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

⁸⁶⁰⁴ T. 13 September 2005 p. 19 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 27 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

 ⁸⁶⁰⁵ T. 9 February 2005 pp. 49-50 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 9 June 2005 pp. 24-25 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 24 April 2006 pp. 10, 27 (Ntahobali); T. 24 February 2005 pp. 37-38, 48 (Witness WBNC).

⁸⁶⁰⁶ T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶⁰⁷ T. 9 February 2005 p. 33 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 p. 15 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 19 April 2006 pp. 44, 46 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁶⁰⁸ T. 1 July 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶⁰⁹ T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶¹⁰ T. 1 July 2004 p. 42 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶¹¹ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 45, 48-49 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 34 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶¹² T. 30 June 2004 p. 50 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶¹³ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 51, 53 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 37 (Witness FA).

3105. Lastly, Witness FA insisted that Nyiramasuhuko's three daughters resided with her and she provided a physical description of them; 8614 yet, three Defence witnesses and Ntahobali testified that one of Nyiramasuhuko's three daughters, Brigitte, left Rwanda in 1993 and never returned. The Chamber considers this is a minor and acceptable mistake, because Witness FA did not claim to know the daughters well, she did not claim even to know their names, and thus given the large number of women residing at the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali residence, it is understandable that Witness FA could believe all three of Nyiramasuhuko's daughters to have been residing there during the relevant time. However, the Chamber finds this incorrect account adds doubts to the overall reliability of the witness' testimony in relation to events connected to Hotel Ihuliro.

3106. In view of the foregoing, the Chamber does not consider Witness FA's testimony to be convincing or credible in relation to this allegation. Thus, the Chamber does not find that the Prosecution has proven that meetings took place at Hotel Ihuliro in April 1994 or that Nyiramasuhuko lived in the hotel during that period. It is therefore not necessary to discuss Nyiramasuhuko or Ntahobali's knowledge of or involvement in such meetings. Accordingly, the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko held meetings with the *Interahamwe* at Hotel Ihuliro during which the subject of how to implement the genocide in Butare was discussed.

3.6.23.4.2 Mounting of the Roadblock Near Hotel Ihuliro

3107. It is not contested that Maurice Ntahobali owned Hotel Ihuliro and that it was used both as a residence for the Ntahobali family and as a boarding house. What is contested is whether a roadblock was erected between April and July 1994 close to Hotel Ihuliro and what role, if any, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali had at the roadblock. Only Ntahobali Defence Witnesses WCNJ and WCKJ testified they had never seen a roadblock in that area. 8616 However, in light of the totality of the evidence the Chamber finds this does not raise a reasonable doubt as to whether a roadblock did exist near Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's house.

3108. As to the exact location of the roadblock, the Chamber has heard consistent testimony from Prosecution and Defence witnesses to the effect that the roadblock was located in the proximity of the EER and the MSM garage, and very close to Hotel Ihuliro. More specifically, Witness FA testified that the roadblock was in front of Nyiramasuhuko's

⁸⁶¹⁴ T. 30 June 2004 p. 48 (ICS); 1 July 2004 pp. 12, 59 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁶¹⁵ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 15-17 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 p. 11 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 24 February 2005 p. 30 (Witness WBNC).

⁸⁶¹⁶ T. 2 February 2006 pp. 7-8 (Witness WCNJ); T. 31 January 2006 p. 70 (Witness WCKJ).

⁸⁶¹⁷ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 51, 53 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 60, 70 (Witness QCB); T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS); T. 27 January 2003 pp. 15-16 (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 51-52 (Witness TB); T. 4 February p. 26 (ICS) (Witness TB); T. 31 March 2004 pp. 59-61 (Witness TG); T. 7 September 2004 pp. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 25 September 2006 pp. 34, 37 (Keane); T. 28 September 2006 p. 33 (Keane); T. 22 August 2006 p. 14 (Karemano); T. 4 July 2006 pp. 64-65 (Barawandika); T. 8 March 2006 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6); T. 29 November 2005 pp. 36 (Witness WCNMC); T. 21 February 2006 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA); T. 6 April 2005 pp. 67 (Witness WMKL); T. 1 June 2005 pp. 76-77 (Witness WBUC); T. 24 February 2005 p. 46 (Witness WBNC); T. 31 May 2005 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness WBTT); T. 13 September 2005 pp. 24-25 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 17-18, 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 5 December 2007 pp. 15-16, 21-22, 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 30 January 2008 p. 36 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 54-56 (Witness D-13-D).

residence; Nsabimana Defence Witness Bararwandika testified that Nyiramasuhuko's house was about 50 to 100 metres from the roadblock; Ntahobali Defence Witness WCMNA testified that the roadblock was about 50 to 70 metres from Ntahobali's house. Roadblock was erected by the Accused Ntahobali's testimony, who himself testified that the roadblock was erected a few metres from Hotel Ihuliro. Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL also testified that between the MSM garage and the roadblock there was a distance of about 50 to 100 metres. The Chamber finds the discrepancy among these witnesses' testimonies concerning the distance of the roadblock from Hotel Ihuliro is minor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds this evidence credible and is satisfied that the roadblock was located at a distance of approximately 50 to 100 metres from Hotel Ihuliro.

3109. There is also a considerable amount of consistent evidence indicating that the roadblock was mounted towards the end of April 1994. Prosecution Witnesses FA, SX, TB, TG, TQ, QCB, Nsabimana Defence Witnesses Charles Karemano and Alexandre Bararwandika, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-YYYY, D-2-13-D, D-2-5-I and D-13-D all gave testimony supporting this assertion. Recall some credibility issues with respect to Prosecution Witness FA, as outlined above in the context of the allegation concerning meetings at Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's house (). Similarly, Prosecution Witness QCB was a detained person at the time of his testimony and therefore the Chamber will treat his testimony with appropriate caution. Nevertheless, the Chamber finds Witnesses FA and QCB credible concerning the mounting of the roadblock, in light of all the other evidence.

3110. This account is contradicted by Ntahobali Defence Witnesses Maurice Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali, Denise Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses WBNC, WMKL, H1B6, WUNBJ, WCNMC, WBUC, WCUJM, the Accused Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko. According to these witnesses, the roadblock was established not earlier than May 1994. Recurrence Chamber considers that among these witnesses are relatives of the Accused, such as Maurice, Clarisse and Denise Ntahobali who are, respectively, the father and sisters of Ntahobali, and therefore may have had an incentive to absolve him of responsibility for crimes committed at the roadblocks. While their relationship to the Accused does not automatically discredit the testimony of these witnesses, the Chamber will treat their testimony with appropriate caution.

-

⁸⁶¹⁸ T. 30 June 2004 p. 51; T. 30 June p. 53 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 4 July 2006 pp. 64-65 (Barawandika); T. 21 February 2006 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

⁸⁶¹⁹ T. 26 April 2006 p. 13 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁶²⁰ T. 6 April 2005 p. 67 (Witness WMKL).

⁸⁶²¹ T. 30 June 2004 p. 51 (Witness FA); T. 30 June 2004 53 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 27 January 2003 pp. 15-16 (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (Witness TB); T. 5 February 2004 pp. 12 (ICS) (Witness TB); T. 31 March 2004 pp. 26 (Witness TG); T. 7 September 2004 pp. 63 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 60 (Witness QCB); T. 22 August 2006 pp. 13-14 (Karemano); T. 3 July 2006 pp. 44 (Barawandika); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 17-18, 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 5 December 2007 pp. 15, 21-22, 55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 10 September 2007 pp. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 30 January 2008 pp. 36 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 54-55 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁶²² T. 13 September 2005 pp. 24-25 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 58-59 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 9 June 2005 p. 27 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 13 June 2005 p. 18 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 24 February 2005 p. 46 (Witness WBNC); T. 6 April 2005 pp. 60, 69 (Witness WMKL); T. 5 December 2005 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness H1B6); T. 8 March 2006 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 29 November 2005 p. 36 (Witness WCNMC); T. 1 June 2005 p. 77 (Witness WBUC); T. 14 February 2006 p. 20 (Witness WCUJM); T. 26 April 2006 p. 13 (Ntahobali).

- 3111. In light of the considerable amount of evidence indicating that the roadblock was mounted at the end of April 1994, the Chamber finds the mentioned testimony of the Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko Defence witnesses fails to raise a reasonable doubt as to the allegation that the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro was in existence by the end of April 1994.
- 3112. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls that Prosecution Witness QI also testified that the roadblock was set up after the UNAMIR soldiers left the hotel. Defence Witnesses WBTT, WBUC, NMBMP, Béatrice Munyenyezi, Denise Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali gave evidence indicating that, by the end of April 1994 the UNAMIR soldiers had already left Hotel Ihuliro. He Chamber believes that a roadblock could have been mounted in less than a day, and therefore considers that these testimonies, if read in conjunction with the testimony of Witness QI, support the assertion that the roadblock was set up during the last days of April 1994.
- 3113. Having considered all the evidence, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that in late April 1994 a roadblock was erected near Hotel Ihuliro in Butare town.

3.6.23.4.3 Ntahobali's Role at the Roadblock

- 3114. The Chamber notes that Ntahobali and his wife, Béatrice Munyenyezi, testified that he had malaria and was convalescing at the Hotel Ihuliro for an entire week around the end of April and beginning of May 1994. She remembered this happened two or three days before his niece's birthday which was on 28 April 1994. Ntahobali also claimed to remember very clearly that it was 28 April 1994 that he felt the symptoms because on that day it was his niece's birthday; he saw his mother, Nyiramasuhuko, who he had not seen since 14 April 1994; and he felt very ill and had to go lie down. She had not seen since 14 April 1994; and he felt very ill and had to go lie down.
- 3115. Ntahobali and his wife claimed that he received malarial treatments from an aunt who was trained in giving injections. This relative was not called to testify to corroborate their account. Furthermore, none of Ntahobali's sisters and other relatives who were at the Hotel Ihuliro during this time period provided testimony to corroborate Ntahobali's testimony that he had malaria at the end of April into the beginning of May 1994.
- 3116. The Chamber recalls there are credibility issues regarding Munyenyezi and it will therefore view her testimony with appropriate caution (). First, as Ntahobali's wife, the Chamber considers she would have a motive to exculpate him. Furthermore, Munyenyezi testified that she did not hear that the killings between April 1994 and July 1994 were ethnically motivated. She stated that people were killing each other, whether they were Hutus

⁸⁶²³ T. 25 March 2004 p. 46 (Witness QI).

⁸⁶²⁴ T. 31 May 2005 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness WBTT); T. 1 June 2005 p. 56 (Witness WBUC); T. 22 April 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP); T. 27 February 2006 pp. 77-78 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 13 June 2005 p. 17 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 9 February 2005 p. 36 (Clarisse Ntahobali); T. 10 October 2005 p. 16 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 24 April 2006 pp. 34-35 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁶²⁵ T. 27 February 2006 p. 8 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁶²⁶ T. 27 February 2006 p. 8 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁸⁶²⁷ T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁶²⁸ T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali); T. 27 February 2006 pp. 8, 54 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

or Tutsis. She further stated that the ethnic group being targeted between April and July 1994 was not Tutsi. She testified that she did not hear about or see any massive killings in Butare after 19 April 1994. She added that she never saw dead bodies in Butare after 19 April 1994. Munyenyezi further stated that she did not see any serious violence in Butare. She light of the Chamber's findings concerning all of the killings that were occurring throughout Butare *préfecture*, including at locations within a very short distance of the Hotel Ihuliro, such as the EER, and the roadblock in front of the hotel itself, it is incredible that Béatrice Munyenyezi would not have seen any killings or known that Tutsis were being targeted. The Chamber does not find her testimony to be credible.

- 3117. Based on Munyenyezi's lack of credibility and the absence of corroboration from any other testifying witnesses who should have had knowledge of Ntahobali's illness, and the late disclosure of the alibi, 8633 the Chamber does not find this alibi evidence to be credible.
- 3118. Prosecution Witnesses FA, QCB, SX, TB, TG and TQ testified to having seen Ntahobali at the roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro, where he ordered and directly participated in the commission of crimes. Witness FA testified that Ntahobali often manned the roadblock outside Nyiramasuhuko's house. Reference FA gave eyewitness testimony that Ntahobali used an axe to kill a girl with long hair; that Ntahobali hit a man with an axe and handed him over to Kazungu to be killed; and that he hit a soldier from ESO military with an axe before handing him over to the *Interahamwe* to be killed. Witnesses QCB and SX gave eyewitness testimony that Ntahobali questioned people, checked their identity cards and participated in the killing of people at this roadblock.
- 3119. Witness TB gave eyewitness testimony that during April 1994, she heard Ntahobali tell the soldiers gathered at the roadblock to "work", which she understood to mean to kill people. See Saw people being beaten to death at the roadblock and being taken away to be killed. Witness TG gave eyewitness testimony that Ntahobali was present at the roadblock and saw people being beaten at the roadblock, some to death, and others being taken to the forest by the EER and killed. The witness could hear the sound of gunshots and people being beaten and screaming from the direction of the EER and Ntahobali's home.

⁸⁶²⁹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 72-73 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁸⁶³⁰ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 72-73 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁸⁶³¹ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 73-75 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁸⁶³² T. 27 February 2006 pp. 73-75 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

⁸⁶³³ See Memorandum to Coordinator, Trial Chamber II, re: Notice of Intent to enter a defence of alibi, 29 September 2005.

⁸⁶³⁴ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53-54, 64 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 45 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶³⁵ T. 30 June 2004 p. 54 (ICS); 1 July 2004 p. 27 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶³⁶ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 55-56 (ICS); 1 July 2004 p. 28 (Witness FA).

⁸⁶³⁷ T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); 1 July 2004 pp. 26, 29, 31-32; T. 1 July 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁶³⁸ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 62-65 (Witness QCB); T. 27 January 2003 pp. 17-18 (Witness SX).

⁸⁶³⁹ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42, 44-45, 48-49 (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁴⁰ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41, 46, 48; T. 4 February 66, 69, 71-73, 97-98 (ICS); T. 5 February 2004 pp. 22-23,

^{25;} T. 5 February p. 13 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁴¹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG).

⁸⁶⁴² T. 30 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness TG).

- 3120. Witness TQ gave eyewitness testimony that he saw Ntahobali and others lifting a corpse downhill from the road near the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, and throwing it into a ditch. There were at least 10 other corpses in the ditch. ⁸⁶⁴³
- 3121. Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano gave eyewitness testimony that Ntahobali was in charge of the roadblock and that, as the leader of the "hoodlums" positioned there, he was able to spare Kagwene's life. 8644
- 3122. In addition, Witness SX identified Ntahobali in court, and testified that he had seen him often in Butare near the EER. 8645 Witness SX further testified that he watched the roadblock for two to three hours from a distance of 100 metres, during which time he saw people killed and that he saw Ntahobali there. 8646 Witness TB also testified that she knew Ntahobali well and she was able to identify him in court. 8647 She said that she could see the roadblock clearly from her compound and that she saw Ntahobali there manning the roadblock in late April 1994. Witness TG testified that he knew Ntahobali well because they had attended *Groupe Scolaire* together, and he was able to identify Ntahobali in court. 8649 He further testified to witnessing Ntahobali passing by the roadblock on several occasions in late April 1994. Witness TQ testified that Ntahobali was manning the roadblock when he was stopped there in late April 1994. 8651 While Witness TQ admitted that he did not mention Ntahobali's presence at the roadblock in his statement of 28 July 1998, the Chamber is satisfied with his explanation that he did not include in that statement everything he knew about Ntahobali. The statement does not mention any events having occurred at the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, but rather provides information on separate incidents.
- 3123. In addition to Witness FA's credibility issues already addressed, the Chamber notes another inconsistency in her testimony concerning the roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro. Witness FA altered her description of what arms Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko carried at various points in time. In her testimony about the soldier alleged to have been killed at the roadblock, Witness FA stated that Ntahobali hit him with an axe before handing him over to be killed; in her previous statement, she failed to mention that he hit him before handing him over. Rossia Although the Chamber considers this is a minor discrepancy in light of what is stated above, in the context of Witness FA's credibility, and considering that this account is not corroborated, the Chamber will not rely on Witness FA's testimony on this issue.

⁸⁶⁴³ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11-14, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness TO).

⁸⁶⁴⁴ T. 5 September 2006 p. 49 (Karemano).

⁸⁶⁴⁵ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 16, 37; T. 27 January p. 53 (ICS); T. 30 January 2004 p. 25; T. 30 January p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SX).

⁸⁶⁴⁶ T. 27 January 2004 p. 16; T. 27 January p. 53 (ICS); T. 30 January 2004 p. 25; T. 30 January p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SX).

⁸⁶⁴⁷ T. 4 February 2004 p. 54 (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁴⁸ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42, 44-45, 48-49, 54 (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁴⁹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 64; T. 31 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness TG).

⁸⁶⁵⁰ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 24-26 (Witness TG).

⁸⁶⁵¹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸⁶⁵² T. 7 September 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness TQ); Defence Exhibit 257 (Ntahobali) (List of alleged omissions; 28-29 July 1998, Statement of Witness TQ).

⁸⁶⁵³ T. 1 July 2008 pp. 45-46 (Witness FA); Defence Exhibit 250 (Ntahobali) (List of alleged omissions; 26 November 1996, Statement of Witness FA).

- 3124. The Chamber observes that Witnesses QCB, SX, TB, TG, TQ and Karemano were able to provide detailed testimony corroborating the claims of the other. Given the high degree of consistency among the testimony of these witnesses, and the fact they were all eyewitnesses, the Chamber finds their accounts credible.
- 3125. The Chamber further notes that Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-13-D testified that they heard that Ntahobali was in charge of the roadblock, ⁸⁶⁵⁴ and Witnesses Bernadette Kamanzi and D-13-D further stated that they recognised Ntahobali among the people present at the roadblock, wearing a camouflage pair of trousers and carrying a gun. ⁸⁶⁵⁵
- 3126. Defence Witnesses WUNBJ, WBUC and WCNJ contradicted this evidence, testifying that they had never seen Ntahobali at the roadblock. Also Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM denied that Ntahobali manned the roadblock. However, the Chamber notes that these witnesses were not permanently posted at the roadblock, from its setting up, but just happened to pass by on certain occasions and therefore might have missed the times when Ntahobali was at the roadblock. In any event, the Chamber recalls that Maurice Ntahobali confirmed that Ntahobali went to the roadblock when it was his family's turn; also Witness WBUC conceded that it was possible that Ntahobali went to man the roadblock, on occasion; the Accused Ntahobali himself indicated that, at some point in time, he was present at the roadblock. The Chamber finds the testimony of Witnesses WUNBJ, WBUC, WCNJ and CEM does not raise a reasonable doubt as to whether Ntahobali was present at the roadblock during the relevant time.
- 3127. The Chamber also recalls the testimony of Nsabimana, who testified that there was a roadblock in front of the house of "Ntahobari", which was manned by a certain "Sharom". Recalling its finding above concerning the existence of a roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro in late April 1994, and in light of all the other, relevant evidence, the Chamber is satisfied that "Ntahobari" referred to "Maurice Ntahobali" and "Sharom" is a reference to the Accused Shalom Ntahobali.
- 3128. Having considered all the evidence before it, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that during the relevant time period, Ntahobali manned the roadblock in front of his parents' residence and utilised the roadblock with the assistance of soldiers and other unknown persons to abduct and kill members of the Tutsi population.

⁸⁶⁵⁴ T. 30 January 2008 pp. 36-37 (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 14 February 2008 p. 64 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁶⁵⁵ T. 19 November 2007 p. 43 (Bernadette Kamanzi); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 62, 64 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁶⁵⁶ T. 8 March 2006 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 2 June 2005 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WBUC); T. 2 February 2006 pp. 7-8 (Witness WCNJ).

⁸⁶⁵⁷ T. 15 February 2005 p. 18 (Witness CEM).

⁸⁶⁵⁸ T. 16 September 2005 pp. 82-83 (Maurice Ntahobali).

⁸⁶⁵⁹ T. 6 June 2005 pp. 30, 39 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

⁸⁶⁶⁰ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 15, 19-20, 22-23 (Ntahobali).

Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016630.

3.6.23.4.4 Abduction, Confinement and Rape of Seven Tutsi Girls, Including Witness TN, 21 and 25 April 1994

3129. The Chamber observes that Witness TN is the only witness who implicates Ntahobali in the abduction and rape of seven Tutsi girls in his house and compound. The Chamber is mindful that Witness TN is a single witness and exercises caution in its analysis of her testimony. The Chamber considers that Witness TN, although a single witness on this event, was a truthful witness, who was brave enough to attend court and give a detailed account of the horrendous rape and abduction allegedly inflicted on her and the other girls by Ntahobali and said soldiers. In the Chamber's view, it is clear from the witness' testimony that these girls were raped by soldiers. What is for the Chamber to determine is whether it was established that Ntahobali played a role in this incident.

3130. The witness testified that she and the other girls were abducted from the *secteur* office, where they were guarded by Shalom, and were taken to his house. ⁸⁶⁶² The witness did not give any further detail concerning the location or the description of the house. As to the identification of Ntahobali, the Chamber notes that in her prior statement, Witness TN explained that on the day of the rape, her abductor was identified by others as "Shalom". ⁸⁶⁶³ In the statement, she described Shalom as being of average height, average size, black and of dark skin. The witness however explained that she would not be able to identify Ntahobali if she saw him again, given the circumstances of her encounter with him. Accordingly, when asked to identify Ntahobali in court, Witness TN pointed to a security guard. ⁸⁶⁶⁴ Although in the Chamber's view Ntahobali's said features could not have changed in any extreme way between 1994, between the time of the alleged rape, and 2002, the time of the witness' testimony in court, it is nevertheless understandable that, after nearly eight years from the abduction and rape, Witness TN was not able to identify Ntahobali in court. In any event, the Chamber notes that the security officer that the witness mistakenly identified as Ntahobali had similar features as those of Ntahobali.

3131. Taking all the above circumstances into account, although the Chamber does not discredit Witness TN's testimony, particularly in light of the detailed description of her traumatic experience, it nevertheless finds the evidence insufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the perpetrator of the alleged abduction and rape was Ntahobali or that the rape actually occurred at Ntahobali's house. The Chamber therefore considers that the Prosecution has not discharged its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt in regard to the allegation that Ntahobali abducted seven Tutsi girls to his house in April 1994; that Ntahobali raped at least four of these Tutsi girls personally and instructed and caused the rape of the seven girls by soldiers.

3.6.23.4.5 Rape and Murder of a Tutsi Girl Near the Roadblock, Around 28 April 1994

3132. The Chamber considers that the testimony provided by Prosecution Witness SX with regard to the rape and murder of a Tutsi girl at the roadblock is detailed and believable.

⁸⁶⁶² T. 3 April 2002 pp. 138-142; T. 3 April p. 149 (ICS) (Witness TN).

⁸⁶⁶³ 11-12 March 1998, Statement of Witness TN, disclosed 4 November 1998; Unredacted Statement of Witness TN, disclosed 23 April 2001.

⁸⁶⁶⁴ T. 3 April 2002 pp. 171-172 (Witness TN).

⁸⁶⁶⁵ T. 3 April 2002 p. 178 (Witness TN).

Further, it was corroborated by Prosecution Witness TB's testimony which was equally detailed. Both witnesses testified that the girl arrived in a yellow Daihatsu, and that a certain Jean-Pierre was with Ntahobali at the time of the incident. They also stated that the car was stopped at the roadblock and the people inside the car were asked to show their identity cards. 8667

- 3133. Witness TB further testified that she saw Ntahobali drag a girl with braids, who had been in the vehicle, into the woods from her vantage point on the main road near the roadblock, and subsequently saw her dead body with vaginal injuries near a tree in the woods, later that evening. Witness SX also witnessed the rape from his hiding place, about 20 metres away from Ntahobali and the victim. The witnesses' descriptions regarding the subsequent burial of the body are also consistent. Witness SX testified that about four days after the girl's death he and some others buried her body in a wooded lot. Similarly, Witness TB testified that the girl's body was later buried by three people, one of whom she identified as Witness SX.
- 3134. As to the time period when this crime allegedly occurred, both Witnesses SX and TB refer to a few days after the roadblock in front of Hotel Ihuliro was erected.⁸⁶⁷² In this regard, the Chamber recalls its previous finding that the roadblock was mounted at the end of April 1994.
- 3135. In light of all of the foregoing, the Chamber finds Witnesses TB and SX credible with respect to this allegation, and finds the evidence establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali raped and murdered the young woman who arrived at the roadblock in a yellow Daihatsu, around the end of April 1994.
- 3.6.23.4.6 Order to Kill Léopold Ruvurajabo at the Roadblock, 21 April 1994
- 3136. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution relies solely on Witness QCB, a detained witness, to establish that on 21 April 1994, Ntahobali instructed the *Interahamwe* to kill a certain Léopold Ruvurajabo, and thus the Chamber must treat his testimony with an appropriate caution.
- 3137. Nevertheless, as to the identification of Ntahobali, the Chamber observes that Witness QCB already knew Ntahobali, a long time before the alleged crimes occurred. Thus, the Chamber finds his testimony reliable to the extent that the person that Witness QCB saw at the roadblock on the present occasion was, in fact, Ntahobali.

⁸⁶⁶⁶ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42; T. 5 February 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁶⁷ T. 27 January 2007 pp. 20-21 (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50, 55 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁶⁸ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50, 55 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁶⁹ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 22-25 (Witness SX).

⁸⁶⁷⁰ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness SX).

⁸⁶⁷¹ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50; T. 4 February p. 55 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁷² T. 27 January 2004 pp. 20, 22-24 (ICS) (Witness SX); T. 30 January 2004 pp. 73, 81-82 (ICS) (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50 (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁷³ T. 20 March 2002 p. 71; T. 25 March 2002 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

- 3138. Further, the Chamber notes that while Witness QCB admitted he was implicated in other killings, such as in the attacks that took place at Kabakobwa (), he played no role in the present incident; his evidence is that of an eyewitness. Therefore, the Chamber does not consider Witness QCB might have had any personal interest in lying about the facts or inculpating Ntahobali.
- 3139. The Chamber further observes that Witness QCB's testimony was detailed. The Chamber has noted a minor inconsistency between the witness' testimony and his previous statement, namely the exact location where the witness met with Ruvurajabo on the day he is alleged to have been killed. The Chamber considers this inconsistency does not relate to a material fact and finds Witness QCB credible with respect to this incident.
- 3140. In light of the above, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that on 21 April 1994, Ntahobali instructed the *Interahamwe* to kill a certain Léopold Ruvurajabo, a Tutsi, at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro.

3.6.23.4.7 Crimes Committed at the Roadblock

- 3141. The Chamber was presented with compelling evidence indicating that at the roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro crimes were committed against Tutsis by the *Interahamwe*. The testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses FA, QCB, SX, TB and TG support the allegation that people were beaten and killed at the roadblock. Further, Witnesses TN, SX and TB also gave evidence of rapes being carried out in the vicinity of the roadblock. The Chamber observes that these were all eyewitnesses.
- 3142. The Chamber further recalls the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witness Bararwandika, that he saw a corpse at the roadblock. This testimony supports the Prosecution assertion that crimes were committed at the roadblock.
- 3143. In *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, Nsabimana wrote about killings being regularly committed at roadblocks, and described the roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro as being "one of the most formidable". ⁸⁶⁷⁸ The Chamber notes that Nsabimana's account on this issue is corroborated by that of other witnesses, as outlined above, and it will therefore rely on his testimony.
- 3144. Having considered all the evidence before it, the Chamber finds it has been established beyond a reasonable doubt that crimes, in particular beatings, rapes and killings, were carried out against mostly Tutsis, at the roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro.

⁸⁶⁷⁴ T. 26 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QCB); Defence Exhibit 29 (Ntahobali) (7 April 1999, Statement of Witness OCB).

 ⁸⁶⁷⁵ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53, 64 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 20 March 2002 p. 62 (Witness QCB); T. 27 January 2004 pp. 15-18 (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-42, 44-45, 48-49 (Witness TB); T. 30 March 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness TG); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 31, 37 (Witness SU).
 8676 T. 3 April 2002 pp. 141-145, 148, 150-161 (Witness TN); T. 27 January 2004 pp. 16, 22-24, 53 (ICS)

^{86/6} T. 3 April 2002 pp. 141-145, 148, 150-161 (Witness TN); T. 27 January 2004 pp. 16, 22-24, 53 (ICS) (Witness SX); T. 30 January 2004 p. 52 (Witness SX); T. 30 January pp. 15, 72-73 (ICS) (Witness SX); T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50, 55, 57 (ICS) (Witness TB).

⁸⁶⁷⁷ T. 3 July 2006 p. 47; T. 5 July 2006 p. 14 (Barawandika).

⁸⁶⁷⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016630.

3.6.23.4.8 Nyiramasuhuko's Role at the Roadblock

- 3145. Witness FA testified that people were killed at the roadblock from April until June 1994, and that Nyiramasuhuko was in control of the roadblock.⁸⁶⁷⁹ Witness FA testified that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the roadblock when a man was ordered from his car and taken away by Kazungu to be killed. 8680 She also testified that several days later a soldier was handed over to the *Interahamwe* to be killed, and Nyiramasuhuko refused to intervene. 8681
- 3146. Witness SS testified that Nyiramasuhuko appeared to be in charge of the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house; she was the foremost authority there. 8682 She testified that on 27 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko stopped soldiers escorting a group of Tutsi refugees which included the witness herself. 8683 After conversing with her, the soldiers and the refugees went through the roadblock. 8684
- 3147. While Witness SS was able to identify Nyiramasuhuko in the courtroom at the time of her testimony, Witness FA was unable to do so, but could only testify that a certain woman in the courtroom "resembled" Nyiramasuhuko. 8685 However, the Chamber is mindful that nearly 10 years had passed since Witness FA last saw the Accused, and therefore, the witness might not have had a clear recollection, as she also stated in court. 8686
- 3148. Witnesses FA and SS gave first-hand eyewitness testimony regarding the sighting of Nyiramasuhuko at the roadblock on different occasions. 8687 The Chamber also notes that a number of Defence witnesses maintained that Nyiramasuhuko did not reside at Hotel Ihuliro, but that Nyiramasuhuko visited the hotel on a number of occasions in April, May and June 1994 (). The Chamber is satisfied that the evidence presented establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the roadblock, on occasions during the relevant time.
- 3149. However, the Chamber notes that only Witness SS testified to the extent that Nyiramasuhuko was exercising authority at the roadblock.⁸⁶⁸⁸ Witness FA only stated that Nyiramasuhuko was present during a few incidents. Moreover, the Chamber recalls that Witness FA's testimony suffers from a number of contradictions and therefore it must exercise caution in its assessment.
- 3150. The Chamber considers Witness SS' testimony to be uncorroborated, since no other witness testified as to Nyiramasuhuko's role of authority at the roadblock, and further observes that Nyiramasuhuko's presence at the roadblock on certain occasions does not, as such, entail that she was giving orders or supervising the commission of any crime. Thus, in considering the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds that, although the Prosecution has established that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the roadblock in question during occasions in the relevant

```
<sup>8679</sup> T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53, 64 (ICS) (Witness FA).
<sup>8680</sup> T. 30 June 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness FA).
<sup>8681</sup> T. 30 June 2004 p. 58 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 29; T. 1 July pp. 74, 78 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8682 T. 3 March 2003 p. 33 (Witness SS).
<sup>8683</sup> T. 3 March 2003 p. 26 (Witness SS).
<sup>8684</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 28-31 (Witness SS).
<sup>8685</sup> T. 3 March 2003 pp. 34-35, 77-78 (Witness SS); T. 30 June 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).
<sup>8686</sup> T. 30 June 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).
<sup>8687</sup> T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53, 64 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28, 31, 33 (Witness SS).
```

⁸⁶⁸⁸ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28, 33 (Witness SS).

time period, it has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko also manned that roadblock. Nor is the Chamber satisfied that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that during the relevant time period, Nyiramasuhuko utilised the roadblock with the assistance of soldiers and other unknown persons, to abduct and kill members of the Tutsi population.

3.6.24 Killing of Rwamukwaya Family, April 1994

3.6.24.1 Introduction

- 3151. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, Ntahobali travelled throughout Butare *préfecture* searching for Tutsis. When the Tutsis were located, Ntahobali abducted them and took them to various locations, where they were executed. The Prosecution specifically alleges that Ntahobali is responsible for killing the Rwamukwaya family. In support of its submission, it relies on Prosecution Witnesses FA, TG, SJ, SU, SS, TQ, QCB, TE, RN, QF, ST, TF and Expert Witness André Guichaoua and Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-13-O, D-2-14-W and D-13-D.
- 3152. The Ntahobali Defence denies Ntahobali's involvement in the killing of the Rwamukwaya family, and any subsequent looting or taking of the deceased's car. ⁸⁶⁹¹ It further suggests that the Rwamukwaya family was still alive in mid-May 1994. ⁸⁶⁹² In support of its submissions, the Defence relies on Witnesses WQJMP, Innocent Rutayisire, Béatrice Munyenyezi, Nsabimana, Shalom Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko.
- 3153. Ntahobali also relies on an alibi, asserting that from 28 April 1994 until 5 May 1994 he was sick in bed with malaria. 8693

3.6.24.2 Preliminary Issues

Failure to Plead Killing of the Rwamukwaya Family

3154. The Ntahobali Defence submits that the specific allegation concerning the killing of the Rwamukwaya family, and looting and use of their vehicle, was not pled in the Indictment and should therefore be disregarded. Paragraph 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, Ntahobali travelled throughout Butare *préfecture* locating, abducting and executing Tutsis. In addition, Paragraph 6.39 generally alleges that the entire *préfecture* of Butare was the scene of massacres of the Tutsi population

⁸⁶⁸⁹ Para. 6.35 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Ntahobali).

⁸⁶⁹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 169, 182, 194, 220, paras. 36, 66, 98, 181; p. 265, para. 113; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 42.

Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 405-412, 706; Appendix 2, para. 31; Appendix 3, para. 96.

⁸⁶⁹² Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 pp. 37-38; Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 710.

⁸⁶⁹³ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 88-89.

⁸⁶⁹⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 78-79.

involving, among others, Ntahobali. 8695 However, the Chamber notes that the Indictment does not mention the murder of the Rwamukwaya family.

3155. The Chamber recalls that where the Prosecution alleges that an accused personally committed criminal acts, it must plead with the greatest precision the identity of the victim, the place and approximate date of the alleged criminal acts, and the means by which they were committed (). The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment provides no such information with respect to the killing of the Rwamukwaya family although, having regard to the dates of the statements of Witnesses TE, RN, QF, ST, TF, FA and TG, it is clear the Prosecution was aware of the details of the killing in November and December 1996, well before the filing of the Amended Indictment on 1 March 2001. 8696 Such information should have been contained in the Indictment and the Chamber finds that its absence renders the Indictment defective in this respect. The Chamber will now consider whether this defect was cured through subsequent disclosure by the Prosecution of timely, clear and consistent information.

3156. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief outlines that the Prosecution intended to rely on Witnesses TE and RN to testify in relation to this event. 8697

3157. Witness TE's summary indicates that he would testify that Ntahobali went to the Rwamukwaya house. The witness heard that the dead bodies of the Rwamukwaya family were found not far from Nyiramasuhuko's house, near the laboratory, and heard that Ntahobali drove around in Rwamukwaya's car. 8698 Witness TE's previous statement was disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, two years and eight months prior to the commencement of the trial on 11 June 2001. 8699 The Chamber notes that the victim's name, Rwamukwaya, is only revealed in the French version of Witness TE's statement, disclosed on 4 November 1998. The victim's name is redacted in the English version of Witness TE's statement, disclosed on 4 November 1998.

3158. Witness RN's summary in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief indicates that he would testify as to Ntahobali killing a certain Mr. Rwamukwaya and confiscating his white Peugeot 504. 8700 Witness RN's previous statement indicates that Ntahobali killed Rwamukwaya during the early part of the genocide in Butare, after which he confiscated his white Peugeot. The disclosure of Witness RN's prior statement on 30 March 1999, two years and two months

⁸⁶⁹⁵ Para. 6.39 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8, 10 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

⁸⁶⁹⁶ 21 November 1996, Statement of Witness TE, disclosed 4 November 1998; 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness RN, disclosed 30 March 1999; 17 December 1996, Statement of Witness QF, disclosed 4 November 1998; 14 November 1996, Statement of Witness ST, disclosed 4 November 1998; 13 November 1996, Statement of Witness TF, disclosed 4 November 1998; 26 November 1996, Statement of Witness FA, disclosed 4 November 1998; 4 December 1996, Statement of Witness TG, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁶⁹⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RN (72); Witness TE (91) (summary for Witness RN refers to "Rwanukwaya", and summary for Witness TE refers to "Rwanukwaya". The Chamber considers this discrepancy is only a typographical error).

8698 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TE (91).

⁸⁶⁹⁹ 21 November 1996, Statement of Witness TE, disclosed 4 November 1998. The Chamber notes that Witness TE did not testify at trial.

⁸⁷⁰⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix: Witness RN (72).

before the commencement of trial on 11 June 2001, 8701 was consistent with the summary of Witness RN's evidence in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.

3159. The Chamber observes that four other witness statements, namely those belonging to Witnesses QF, ST, TF and TG, disclosed to the Ntahobali Defence on 4 November 1998, provide information concerning the killing of the Rwamukwaya family. Witness QF's statement states that the witness saw Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali leaning against a white Peugeot pickup, parked on the side of the road. She knew this car was not their own, and recognised it as belonging to the Rwamukwaya family. Witness ST's statement states the witness was told by the Rwamukwaya family's neighbours that they had seen the Rwamukwaya family being taken away by Ntahobali. She subsequently saw Ntahobali at an event in Ngoma driving a white Peugeot pickup. The Witness TF's statement it is written that when the witness returned to Butare, she heard a lot of disgusting stories from friends and surviving family members about Ntahobali killing people, including members of the Rwamukwaya family. Witness TG's statement states that Ntahobali killed a certain Mr. Rwamukwaya, stole his Peugeot 504 pickup and used it for his subsequent genocidal activities.

3160. Although neither Witness RN nor Witness TE testified at trial, and the disclosure of Witness TE's statement was redacted, the Chamber considers that the information contained in Witnesses RN and TE's summaries in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, was both clear and consistent with the information contained in their respective statements. Further, the statements were disclosed in a timely manner thus providing adequate notice of this allegation before the beginning of the Prosecution case. With respect to the statements of Witnesses QF, ST, TF and TG, the Chamber notes they were disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, and further observes that when considered in conjunction with the statements of Witnesses RN and TE, provided the Defence with additional information with respect to this allegation.

3161. By reason of the information contained in Witnesses RN and TE's summaries in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, as outlined above, along with the statements of Witnesses QF, ST, TF and TG, the Chamber considers the Defence was provided with clear, timely and consistent information, which sufficiently put Ntahobali on notice of the allegation against him concerning the killing of the Rwamukwaya family, and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence case. 8707

⁸⁷⁰¹ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness RN, disclosed 30 March 1999. The Chamber notes that Witness RN did not testify at trial.

⁸⁷⁰² 17 December 1996, Statement of Witness QF, disclosed 4 November 1998; 14 November 1996, Statement of Witness ST, disclosed 4 November 1998; 13 November 1996, Statement of Witness TF, disclosed 4 November 1998; 4 December 1996, Statement of Witness TG, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷⁰³ 17 December 1996, Statement of Witness QF, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷⁰⁴ 14 November 1996, Statement of Witness ST, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷⁰⁵ 13 November 1996, Statement of Witness TF, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷⁰⁶ 4 December 1996, Statement of Witness TG, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷⁰⁷ See, e.g., Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 197; Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 119-121.

3162. As additional information, the Chamber notes that when the Prosecution Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses was filed on 12 January 2004, 8708 the Prosecution sought to add, *inter alia*, Witness FA who was intended to testify to several events occurring at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro. The summary of Witness FA's prospective evidence contained in the Prosecution motion indicates the witness was intended to testify as to hearing Ntahobali say to an *Interahamwe* named Kazungu: "Get up Kazungu. Let's go. Today we will start with killing [a Tutsi named] Rwamukwaya". The Prosecution disclosed the redacted statement of Witness FA on 12 January 2004, the same day as it filed its motion. The Chamber observes that the summary of Witness FA's prospective evidence was consistent with her written statement. Further, it was consistent with the previously disclosed statements of Witnesses RN and TE. To that reason, although the Chamber considers that the Defence was already provided with sufficient notice that the allegation of Ntahobali killing one Rwamukwaya and looting his vehicle, was clearly in issue by reason of the inclusion of Witnesses RN and TE in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, the Defence was provided with additional notice concerning this allegation, when Witness FA was permitted to testify, on 30 June 2004.

3163. The Chamber further recalls that the Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko Defence requested the exclusion of Prosecution Witness FA's testimony, on the grounds that they did not receive sufficient notice of that testimony, and asked the Chamber to find that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's right to prepare their defence had been violated. The Chamber has already ruled upon this issue in its Decision of 30 March 2004 which, *inter alia*, granted the Prosecution's motion to add three new witnesses, including Witness FA, to its witness list. For the reasons already outlined in a separate section of this Judgement, the Chamber finds no reason to reconsider its earlier ruling ().

3.6.24.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FA

3164. Witness FA, a Hutu, testified that on one occasion, she saw Ntahobali talking to a man named Kazungu at the roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro, telling him that they were going to go kill, and they were going to start with Rwamukwaya's family. 8714 She testified that, in the period from April until June 1994 people were killed at this roadblock, which was often manned by Ntahobali. Witness FA subsequently saw Ntahobali come to talk to Kazungu, who lived in Witness FA's compound, while she was at home. 8716 It was then that Ntahobali told Kazungu: "What are you still doing here? We have to go and kill, and we have to start

⁸⁷⁰⁸ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses, 12 January 2004.

⁸⁷⁰⁹ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004, para.

⁸⁷¹⁰ 26 November 1996, Statement of Witness FA, disclosed 12 January 2004.

⁸⁷¹¹ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness RN, disclosed 30 March 1999; 21 November 1996, Statement of Witness TE, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁷¹² Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 80-81.

⁸⁷¹³ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004.

⁸⁷¹⁴ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁷¹⁵ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53, 64 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁷¹⁶ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).

with the Rwamukwaya family", and left.⁸⁷¹⁷ The next time the witness saw Ntahobali, Ntahobali was in the driver's seat of a white vehicle described by others as a Hilux, which was stained with mud and had no metal bars at the rear for the tarpaulin.⁸⁷¹⁸ Witness FA saw Ntahobali on several other occasions because the car "was working every day", and Ntahobali was always the one driving the vehicle.⁸⁷¹⁹ Witness FA could not identify Ntahobali in court.⁸⁷²⁰

- 3165. When confronted with the assertion that her description of the vehicle as contained in her written statement as being a "Hilux" was hearsay, Witness FA clarified that in explaining the vehicle as "a white vehicle described by others as a 'Hilux", she intended to portray that people referred to this type of a vehicle as a "Hilux", and not that people told her so. 8721
- 3166. Witness FA testified that the Rwamukwaya family was Tutsi⁸⁷²² and lived somewhere after the MSM garage.⁸⁷²³ While she did not know the names of the members of the Rwamukwaya family, the witness could recognise them.⁸⁷²⁴
- 3167. Witness FA testified that although she did not know the exact date when the members of the Rwamukwaya family died, it happened on the same day that Ntahobali told Kazungu that they had to go kill, starting with the Rwamukwaya family. 8725 Witness FA subsequently stated that Kazungu allegedly killed the Rwamukwaya family. 8726 Kazungu told the witness that the family members died, after which Kazungu brought some of their clothes to his own wife, Rachel. 8727

Prosecution Witness SS

3168. Witness SS, a Tutsi, arrived at the *préfecture* office with other Tutsis on 27 May 1994. She testified that Nyiramasuhuko arrived at the *préfecture* office in a pickup, covered with something like mud and black paint and had no metal frame at the back, together with Kazungu and a driver. She heard that Ntahobali was driving and that the vehicle belonged to Rwamukwaya. Step 129

Prosecution Witness TG

3169. Witness TG, a Tutsi accountant in 1994, ⁸⁷³⁰ testified that from 26 April 1994, he was in hiding at businessman Martin Uwariraye's compound, until 2 July 1994 when *Interahamwe*

```
8717 T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8718 T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 p. 46 (Witness FA).
8719 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8720 T. 30 June 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8721 T. 1 July 2004 p. 47 (Witness FA).
8722 T. 1 July 2004 p. 85 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8723 T. 1 July 2004 p. 45; T. 1 July 2004 p. 47 (Witness FA) (French) (for spelling of "MSM").
8724 T. 1 July 2004 pp. 45-46 (Witness FA).
8725 T. 30 June 2004 pp. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).
8726 T. 1 July 2004 pp. 46 (Witness FA).
8727 T. 1 July 2004 pp. 45-46 (Witness FA).
8728 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 36-37 (Witness SS).
8729 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS).
8730 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 55 (Witness TG); Prosecution Exhibit 98 (Personal Particulars).
```

invaded it.⁸⁷³¹ From the compound's bakery, the witness often saw Ntahobali passing on the main road. Ntahobali was driving a Peugeot 504 that was originally white but was soiled on the side in a kind of camouflage.⁸⁷³² Witness TG had seen that vehicle before April 1994 and knew it had belonged to a businessman called Rwamukwaya, who was Tutsi.⁸⁷³³ The compound was located approximately 700 to 800 metres from Ntahobali's family home.⁸⁷³⁴ From this compound, the witness could see Ntahobali's family home and also a roadblock.⁸⁷³⁵

Prosecution Witness TQ

3170. Witness TQ, a Hutu, testified that around 20 to 21 June 1994, there were no longer refugees at the *préfecture* office, and there was a Peugeot pickup truck that belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya, who was killed during the genocide and who was a neighbour of Nyiramasuhuko. Shalom was driving his mother, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, in this vehicle. 8736

Prosecution Witness SJ

3171. Witness SJ, a Tutsi seeking refuge at the *préfecture* office as of April 1994, testified to attacks on the refugees at the *préfecture* office during June 1994. She testified that Ntahobali arrived at the *préfecture* office on board a white Peugeot pickup that was open at the back and covered with cow dung, such that it resembled a military vehicle. Ntahobali was accompanied by more than 10 *Interahamwe* who were armed. Witness SJ was unable to remember the exact time at which they arrived.

Prosecution Witness SU

3172. Witness SU, a Tutsi homemaker in 1994, arrived at the Butare *préfecture* office on 28 May 1994. She testified that at around 10.00 p.m. one Friday evening, Nyiramasuhuko arrived at the *préfecture* office accompanied by her uniformed security guard and an armed driver aboard a camouflaged dark-coloured Toyota Hilux. The Hilux did not have a hood over it and those present said it belonged to one Rwamukwaya, who had been killed. It was said that Ntahobali took this vehicle from one Rwamukwaya when he was killed.

⁸⁷³¹ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 20, 22, 64; T. 31 March 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸⁷³² T. 30 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness TG).

⁸⁷³³ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG).

⁸⁷³⁴ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 69-70; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸⁷³⁵ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 70; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

⁸⁷³⁶ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸⁷³⁷ T. 28 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ).

⁸⁷³⁸ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness SJ).

⁸⁷³⁹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 20-21; T. 29 May 2002 p. 22 (Witness SJ) (French) (only the French version mentions the number (10) of *Interahamwe*).

⁸⁷⁴⁰ T. 30 May 2002 p. 150 (Witness SJ).

⁸⁷⁴¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 8 (Witness SU).

⁸⁷⁴² T. 14 October 2002 pp. 30-31(Witness SU).

⁸⁷⁴³ T. 14 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness SU).

⁸⁷⁴⁴ T. 14 October 2002 p. 37; T. 17 October 2002 p. 26 (Witness SU).

Prosecution Witness QCB

3173. Witness QCB arrived at the roadblock close to Hotel Ihuliro on the morning of 21 April 1994, with Léopold Ruvurajabo, a Tutsi. From a distance of approximately nine metres, the witness saw Ntahobali at the roadblock. Ntahobali was holding the door of a Peugeot 505 carrying grenades and a Kalashnikov. The Peugeot 505 had civilian number plates. The witness specified that this Peugeot was a different vehicle from Ntahobali's father's white Peugeot 504.

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

3174. André Guichaoua's Expert Report made reference to the arrival of the Ntahobali family at Bukavu on 18 July 1994, with a fleet of heavily laden vehicles, including a Peugeot 504 driven by Ntahobali. The Peugeot 504 had been owned by Rwamukwaya, an assassinated Tutsi businessman from Butare, whose family subsequently requested the restitution of this unduly appropriated property. 8750

Nsabimana Defence Witness Innocent Rutayisire

3175. Innocent Rutayisire, a trader, ⁸⁷⁵¹ ran a restaurant located opposite Hotel Ibis. ⁸⁷⁵² He testified that there were many pickup trucks, including Peugeot 504 pickups, in Butare town. ⁸⁷⁵³ When shown two Defence Exhibits of video footage shot by the BBC, he identified a white Peugeot and testified that the DGB (Coffee Pilot Project) project also had many white Peugeot 504 pickup trucks. ⁸⁷⁵⁴ The *conseiller* of Sahera, Pascal Habyarimana, also owned a white Peugeot 504 pickup. ⁸⁷⁵⁵

Nsabimana

3176. Nsabimana testified that there were a number of Peugeot 504 vehicles in Butare town at the time. The DGB (Coffee Pilot Project), of which he was director, had similar Peugeot 504 vehicles which no one else in Butare had. The main difference between the two vehicles concerned the vehicle's rear: the Peugeot 504s that DGB owned were newer and their rear corner frames were straight. By comparison, the older Peugeot 504s, seen in town, had

```
<sup>8745</sup> T. 20 March 2002 p. 61 (Witness QCB).
```

⁸⁷⁴⁶ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 70-71 (Witness QCB).

⁸⁷⁴⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 70, 72-73 (Witness QCB).

⁸⁷⁴⁸ T. 25 March 2002 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness QCB).

⁸⁷⁴⁹ T. 25 March 2002 pp. 60-61, 65 (ICS) (Witness OCB).

⁸⁷⁵⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45; T. 30 June 2004 p. 32 (Guichaoua).

⁸⁷⁵¹ T. 2 October 2006 p. 8 (Rutayisire); Prosecution Exhibit 478 (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁷⁵² T. 2 October 2006 p. 10 (Rutayisire).

⁸⁷⁵³ T. 3 October 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Rutayisire).

⁸⁷⁵⁴ T. 3 October 2006 pp. 27, 29-30 (ICS) (Rutayisire); Defence Exhibit 477 (Nsabimana) (BBC Footage) at 25:43; Defence Exhibit 473A (Nsabimana) (BBC Footage) at 16:43.

⁸⁷⁵⁵ T. 3 October 2006 p. 30 (ICS) (Rutayisire).

⁸⁷⁵⁶ T. 18 October 2006 pp. 43-44 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁵⁷ T. 11 September 2006 pp. 33-34 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁵⁸ T. 18 October 2006 pp. 43-44 (Nsabimana).

rounded rear frames. Nsabimana bought himself one of the DGB-style Peugeot 504s while working with the DGB. 8759

- 3177. In cross-examination, Nsabimana testified that he only found out about the death of Rwamukwaya during the course of these proceedings; he did not know of Rwamukwaya's death in April 1994. 8760
- 3178. Nsabimana acknowledged that in a telephone conversation with Alison Des Forges in March 1996, he stated that he saw a disguised Peugeot 504 pickup in town owned by somebody that he knew. State Nsabimana further testified that he saw the vehicle from behind, and one would say there was mud on it. The back part of the pickup was in a square form. There were two people within the front part of the cabin, and two red containers of either petrol or gas oil in the back part of the pickup. When he asked his driver, Manase, who it was, he learned that it was Ntahobali. Manase did not specify whether the driver or the passenger was Ntahobali.
- 3179. Nsabimana saw the Peugeot 504 pickup in question at the beginning of April 1994, most probably before 25 April 1994. Nsabimana was already *préfet* at the time of this sighting, and was on his way to work. Nsabimana was coming from Mbazi, and had just gone through a roadblock at Karubunda, when the Peugeot 504 was going down at high speed towards ERP, where people got petrol. Since the two cars were travelling in opposite directions, at one point the two vehicles were face to face. 8766
- 3180. Nsabimana thought the car he saw belonged to a trader who lived in a neighbourhood towards the EER, where he believed shoes were sold. While he could not initially recall the name of the car's owner, when it was suggested to him, he agreed it was Rwamukwaya. The Peugeot 504 owned by Rwamukwaya did not have a square back; the back of that pickup had rounded corners. Nsabimana did not see Rwamukwaya after 25 April 1994. 8767
- 3181. In cross-examination, Nsabimana testified that he was mistaken when he told Des Forges that the owner of the Peugeot 504 in which he saw Ntahobali, was Rwamukwaya. Nsabimana clarified that he actually saw Ntahobali in a Peugeot 504 with square rear frames, whereas Rwamukwaya's vehicle had rounded rear frames. 8768

Ntahobali Defence Witness Béatrice Munyenyezi

3182. Béatrice Munyenyezi, wife of Ntahobali during the alleged events, testified that she had heard about a businessman in Butare by the name of Rwamukwaya, but had never seen

```
8759 T. 18 October 2006 p. 43 (Nsabimana).
```

⁸⁷⁶⁰ T. 28 November 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶¹ Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996); T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶² T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶³ T. 28 November 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶⁴ T. 28 November 2006 p. 11; T. 28 November 2006 p. 12 (Nsabimana) (French) (for spelling of "Manase").

⁸⁷⁶⁵ T. 28 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶⁶ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-14 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶⁷ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-13 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁷⁶⁸ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-13 (Nsabimana).

him in person.⁸⁷⁶⁹ She had never seen any kind of Peugeot in Ntahobali's hands, and stated her husband did not kill Rwamukwaya. She further stated that her husband did not have to kill anyone to get a car because he could afford to buy his own car. She never saw a Peugeot 504 pickup among the convoy leaving Hotel Ihuliro during their flight from Butare on 3 July 1994.⁸⁷⁷⁰

Ntahobali Defence Witness WQMJP

- 3183. Witness WQMJP testified that he worked in a building located on *Avenue de l'Université*, in the proximity of Rwamukwaya's house. Therefore, he knew the Rwamukwaya family. Rwamukwaya lived in a residential building located behind the commercial building, a part of which Witness WQMJP occupied, but within the same compound. Witness WQMJP testified that Rwamukwaya lived with his wife, four daughters and a son called Hermann, who was over 10 years old, a young man who was probably still in secondary school. Rwamukwaya owned a white Peugeot pickup with two doors.
- 3184. Witness WQMJP worked as a sales representative selling leather items in Butare in 1994. He picked up supplies from the factory in Nyamirambo in Kigali once every two weeks, sometimes even every week. R773 He arrived in Kigali to place new orders and replenish his stock of items on 6 April 1994, the day the President's plane was brought down. As a result of the downing of the President's plane, Witness WQMJP was unable to immediately bring the supplies he had collected in Kigali, back to Butare.
- 3185. Witness WQMJP returned to Butare three times after the downing of the President's plane in the period April to mid-May 1994. His second trip was around 10 May 1994. During this second trip back, he spoke to Rwamukwaya for about 10 minutes about his first trip, 7778 in the inside courtyard of the compound. The inside courtyard of the compound.
- 3186. Rwamukwaya told Witness WQMJP that the situation was difficult and that it was hard to obtain foodstuffs. ⁸⁷⁸⁰ The witness told Rwamukwaya that he had experienced difficulties moving around outside. ⁸⁷⁸¹ This was the last time that Witness WQMJP saw Rwamukwaya. ⁸⁷⁸²
- 3187. Witness WQMJP's third trip to Butare occurred around 19 or 20 May 1994.⁸⁷⁸³ On this occasion, the witness did not go to his place of work.⁸⁷⁸⁴ When he and a friend, Munyeshuli,

```
8769 T. 24 February 2006 p. 9; T. 27 February 2006 p. 18 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8770 T. 27 February 2006 p. 18 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).
8771 T. 25 January 2006 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8772 T. 25 January 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8773 T. 25 January 2006 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8774 T. 25 January 2006 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8775 T. 25 January 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8776 T. 25 January 2006 pp. 20-24 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8777 T. 25 January 2006 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8778 T. 25 January 2006 pp. 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8779 T. 25 January 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8780 T. 25 January 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8781 T. 25 January 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8782 T. 25 January 2006 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
8782 T. 25 January 2006 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
```

⁸⁷⁸³ T. 25 January 2006 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).

were on University Avenue, on their way to the town centre, they passed by Rwamukwaya's where they saw soldiers and civilians standing at the road. They did not stop because the witness was afraid he could be the subject of looting. They therefore continued down the street and instead stopped at the house of a friend named Rufuku. Rufuku informed Witness WQMJP that Rwamukwaya's son, Hermann, had been killed by soldiers. Rufuku said that Rwamukwaya himself was still alive and at his home.

3188. Witness WQMJP stated he did not offer his condolences to his landlord Rwamukwaya for losing his son because he would have first had to open up his own place of work in order to get to Rwamukwaya's house. As there was a lot of looting going on, Witness WQMJP was afraid that his shop would become the subject of looting, and consequently he did not even consider going to Rwamukwaya's house. In cross-examination by the Prosecution, Witness WQMJP testified that he was unaware that Rwamukwaya himself and his family had been killed – he was told that Hermann had been killed by soldiers, but Rwamukwaya was still alive. He testified that he only learning at the time of his testimony of the death of the Rwamukwaya family. The witness subsequently stated that he learned of Rwamukwaya's death when he arrived in Canada. He first testified that the wife of Sokode Gakwaya had told him, and then stated that it was Sokode's daughter, Honorine Gakwaya, who told him of his landlord's death. 8790

Ntahobali

3189. Ntahobali testified that he never attacked any members of the Rwamukwaya family. 8791 According to Ntahobali, Rwamukwaya was killed by his business colleagues, because he had a carpentry workshop and there was competition between him and his collaborators or associates. 8792 Ntahobali denied that Venant Gakwaya, alias Sekode Gakwaya, intervened to prevent the Accused from killing Rwamukwaya, his wife and six children who were neighbours of Mr. Gakwaya. 8793 He testified that he knew nothing about the claim that Rwamukwaya and his family were subsequently killed the night after Mr. Gakwaya's alleged intervention. 8794

3190. Since Rwamukwaya was Ntahobali's neighbour, Ntahobali saw Rwamukwaya's cars and he believed Rwamukwaya owned more than one vehicle. Ntahobali testified he had never been in Rwamukwaya's vehicle. There was no Peugeot 504 pickup vehicle that allegedly belonged to Rwamukwaya in the convoy which left Hotel Ihuliro on 3 July 1994.

```
<sup>8784</sup> T. 25 January 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8785</sup> T. 25 January 2006 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8786</sup> T. 25 January 2006 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8787</sup> T. 25 January 2006 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8788</sup> T. 25 January 2006 pp. 24, 28 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8789</sup> T. 25 January 2006 pp. 28 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8790</sup> T. 25 January 2006 pp. 38-40 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).
<sup>8791</sup> T. 2 May 2006 pp. 32; T. 22 June 2006 pp. 41-42 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8792</sup> T. 22 June 2006 pp. 41-42 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8793</sup> T. 29 May 2006 p. 17 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8794</sup> T. 29 May 2006 p. 52 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8795</sup> T. 27 April 2006 p. 52 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8796</sup> T. 27 April 2006 p. 52 (Ntahobali).
<sup>8797</sup> T. 26 April 2006 p. 48 (Ntahobali).
```

With respect to the allegation of stealing Rwamukwaya's vehicle and using it to convey Tutsis, Ntahobali testified that he did not know how to drive a vehicle. 8798

Nviramasuhuko

3191. Nyiramasuhuko denied that her family owned a white Peugeot pickup 504 which was driven by her son, Ntahobali, and was said to have belonged to one Rwamukwava Gaeten. 8799

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-O

- 3192. Witness D-2-13-O, a driver from Gishamvu, 8800 testified that in April 1994 he saw six corpses below the IRST roadblock. 8801 Although unable to give a precise date, he saw the corpses approximately one week after he went to take care of his injured nephew. Théophile. which he did two or three days after the killings in Butare started, around 20 April 1994. 8802 Witness D-2-13-O identified the corpses at the IRST roadblock as belonging to the family of Rwamukwaya, a Butare businessman who owned a shop that was on the road leading to the University, opposite the Protestant school, between the school and the church, and below Mironko's house.8803
- 3193. Witness D-2-13-O clarified that the corpses were in a pit approximately 10 metres from the road, below the roadblock, alongside the fence separating the IRST and the university laboratory. 8804 The witness was going from his house to the hospital when he saw the corpses. 8805
- 3194. The witness knew Rwamukwaya's wife, Jeanne, who worked in Rwamukwaya's shop selling sandals because she came from his home secteur; but he did not personally know Rwamukwaya's children. 8806
- 3195. The witness knew Rwamukwaya owned a Peugeot because Butare was a small town, and everyone knew who owned what. 8807 After seeing the corpses of the Rwamukwaya family, Witness D-2-13-O saw the vehicle in question more than once in the period between April and July 1994, and stated it was a vehicle in which Shalom, the son of "popular person" Maurice Ntahobali, moved about. 8808 The witness saw Ntahobali personally driving the Peugeot 504 in

⁸⁷⁹⁸ T. 22 June 2006 pp. 42-43 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁷⁹⁹ T. 16 November 2005 pp. 57-58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁸⁸⁰⁰ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 9-10 (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 600 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁸⁰¹ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰² T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰³ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰⁴ T. 8 November 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 601 (Ntahobali) (Sketch Map). The Chamber notes that the Index to the English transcript for 8 November 2007 states that "Witness D-10-13-0" gave evidence in cross-examination on the day in question. Noting there is no Witness D-10-13-0 in the current proceedings, and having regard to the testimony of Witness D-2-13-O on the preceding and subsequent days, and the French transcript for 8 November 2007, the Chamber is of the view the English transcript intends to make reference to Witness D-2-13-O, and ascribes the testimony given on this day to this witness.

⁸⁸⁰⁵ T. 8 November 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰⁶ T. 5 November 2007 p. i (Extract); T. 5 November 2007 p. 58; T. 5 November 2007 p. 68 (French) (for spelling of "Jeanne"); T. 8 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰⁷ T. 5 November 2007 p. 59 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁰⁸ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 59-60 (Witness D-2-13-O).

question on several occasions during the period the witness' wife was in the hospital, namely a few days before 20 April 1994, when he brought his wife to the hospital and in May 1994 when they left. 8809

3196. The witness did not know the registration number of Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504 and was not aware if Rwamukwaya may also have owned a Toyota Hilux. The only vehicle the witness associated with Rwamukwaya was a Peugeot 504. 8810

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

- 3197. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu driver, ⁸⁸¹¹ testified that Rwamukwaya used to sell shoes on the road leading from downtown to the university, opposite the Protestant school known as the EER. After he resumed his work at the end of April to early May 1994, the witness did not see Rwamukwaya again. ⁸⁸¹²
- 3198. Witness D-13-D saw Ntahobali on numerous occasions when the witness drove his car through Butare town between April and July 1994. He saw Ntahobali moving about Butare town driving a Peugeot 504 pickup that belonged to Rwamukwaya. The vehicle was like the Peugeot 504 the witness drove, except it was covered with "fat" combined with dust, which gave it a camouflage colour. He knew the vehicle belonged to Rwamukwaya because he recognised it. Being also "very keen on vehicles", the witness always remembered the cars of his acquaintances. 8813
- 3199. Witness D-13-D agreed with the Ntahobali Defence's proposition, that there were many Peugeot cars in Butare town in 1994 and confirmed that a certain Pierre Nsonera also owned a Peugeot 504 at that time. 8814

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-14-W

- 3200. Witness D-2-14-W, a Hutu teacher, 8815 testified that he was told that Ntahobali was involved in the acts of violence which led to the death of Rwamukwaya, a Tutsi businessman operating a shoe shop in Butare town. He learned this information between April and July 1994. He could no longer remember who told him, although many people talked about that incident at the time, namely the male adults in his neighbourhood. 8816
- 3201. Witness D-2-14-W heard that Ntahobali had seized Rwamukwaya's vehicle after his death. 8817

⁸⁸⁰⁹ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 37-39 (ICS); T. 12 November 2007 p. 53 (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸¹⁰ T. 8 November 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸¹¹ T. 14 February 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-13-D); Defence Exhibit 627 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁸¹² T. 14 February 2008 p. 65 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁸¹³ T. 14 February 2008 pp. 64-65 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁸¹⁴ T. 20 February 2008 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁸¹⁵ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 7, 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W); Defence Exhibit 626 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁸¹⁶ T. 13 February 2008 pp. 50-51 (Witness D-2-14-W).

⁸⁸¹⁷ T. 13 February 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-14-W).

3.6.24.4 Deliberations

3202. It is not contested that Rwamukwaya was killed.⁸⁸¹⁸ Ntahobali acknowledged this in his testimony.⁸⁸¹⁹ The issues for the Chamber to determine are: whether the other members of the Rwamukwaya family were also killed and whether Ntahobali played a role in this killing.

Killing of the Rwamukwaya Family

3203. Witness FA testified to hearing Ntahobali tell Kazungu, "[w]e have to go and kill, and we have to start with the Rwamukwaya family." She testified that the Rwamukwaya family died on the day that Ntahobali told Kazungu that they had to go kill, starting with the Rwamukwaya family, and that Kazungu told her that the family members died. 8821

3204. The Chamber notes some credibility issues concerning Witness FA. In cross-examination, Witness FA confirmed that she did not make reference in her previous written statement to the death of the Rwamukwaya family, nor did she mention that Kazungu returned from the Rwamukwaya home with their clothes for his wife. The Chamber considers that the failure of Witness FA to refer specifically to the death of Rwamukwaya's family in her statement, as opposed to only Mr. Rwamukwaya, does not of itself cast doubt on Witness FA's credibility as to the deaths. Witness FA explained that she did not mention the death of the Rwamukwaya family because she tried to be brief in her statement. The Chamber finds this to be a plausible and believable explanation.

3205. The Chamber also observes that Witness FA was not an eyewitness to the death of the Rwamukwaya family, and her conclusion that the Rwamukwaya family was dead is based on hearsay. Nevertheless, the Chamber observes that Witness FA's account is corroborated by the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses TQ, SU and Guichaoua, Nsabimana, Ntahobali Defence Witness WQMJP, Ntahobali, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-13-O, D-2-14-W and D-13-D ⁸⁸²⁴

3206. Witness TQ testified that a man named Rwamukwaya was killed during the genocide. 8825 Witnesses SU and D-2-14-W testified to people speaking of the killing of Rwamukwaya. 8826 Witness D-2-13-O testified to identifying six corpses below the IRST

⁸⁸¹⁸ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 9 September 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 14 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness SU); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45; T. 30 June 2004 p. 32 (Guichaoua); T. 28 November 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana); T. 25 January 2006 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 13 February 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-14-W).

⁸⁸¹⁹ T. 22 June 2006 pp. 41-42 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁸²⁰ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁸²¹ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS); T. 1 July 2004 pp. 45-46 (Witness FA).

⁸⁸²² T. 1 July 2004 p. 46 (Witness FA) (referring to Witness FA's 26 November 1996 statement).

⁸⁸²³ T. 1 July 2004 p. 46 (Witness FA).

⁸⁸²⁴ T. 9 September 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 14 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness SU); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45; T. 30 June 2004 p. 32 (Guichaoua); T. 28 November 2006 p. 13 (Nsabimana); T. 25 January 2006 pp. 24, 28, 39-40 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP); T. 29 May 2006 p. 17 (Ntahobali); T. 22 June 2006 pp. 41-42 (Ntahobali); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 13 February 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-14-W).

⁸⁸²⁵ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸⁸²⁶ T. 14 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness SU); T. 13 February 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-14-W).

roadblock as belonging to the family of Rwamukwaya in April 1994, approximately nine days after the killings in Butare started, around 20 April 1994. The Chamber observes the witness knew Rwamukwaya and his wife Jeanne by name. Although the Chamber notes that the evidence of Prosecution Witness SU and Defence Witness D-2-14-W is hearsay, it considers their account consistent with the testimony of Witnesses FA, TQ and D-2-13-O. Guichaoua also described Rwamukwaya as an assassinated Tutsi businessman from Butare.

3207. Witness WQMJP testified to an encounter with Rwamukwaya on the occasion of his second trip to Butare, and finding out about the death of Rwamukwaya's son on his third trip to Butare. The Chamber considers that Witness WQMJP's evidence with respect to his knowledge of Rwamukwaya was detailed and internally consistent upon cross-examination. With respect to the death of the Rwamukwaya family, the Chamber recalls that Witness WQMJP testified to conversing with Rwamukwaya during his second trip to Butare, around 10 May 1994 and that around 19 or 20 May 1994, the time of his third trip to Butare, Rufuku informed him that Rwamukwaya's son, Hermann, had been killed by soldiers, but that Rwamukwaya himself was still alive and at his home. The Chamber notes that Witness WQMJP's conclusion that Rwamukwaya was alive is based on hearsay. When weighed against the combined corroborative testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FA, SU, TQ, Guichaoua, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-13-O, D-2-14-W and D-13-D, the Chamber considers it does not raise a reasonable doubt as to Rwamukwaya's death. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that Rwamukwaya and his family were killed.

Ntahobali's Role

3208. The Chamber notes that Ntahobali and his wife, Béatrice Munyenyezi, testified that he had malaria and was convalescing at the Hotel Ihuliro for an entire week around the end of April and beginning of May 1994. For the reasons set out in the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock section of this Judgement the Chamber does not find this alibi evidence to be credible ().

3209. Witness FA testified to several killings which occurred at the roadblock outside Hotel Ihuliro, from April 1994 until June 1994. Witness FA did not give any dates as to when she heard Ntahobali's spoken threat to kill the Rwamukwaya family, or when the Rwamukwaya family died, but stated the latter event occurred on the day Ntahobali told Kazungu that they had to go kill, starting with the Rwamukwaya family. 8834

3210. Defence Witness D-2-13-O estimated he identified six corpses as belonging to the Rwamukwaya family, 8835 approximately one week after he took care of his nephew. This was

⁸⁸²⁷ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58; T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸²⁸ T. 5 November 2007 p. 58; T. 5 November 2007 p. 68 (Witness D-2-13-O) (French) (for spelling of "Jeanne").

⁸⁸²⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45.

⁸⁸³⁰ T. 25 January 2006 pp. 23-24, 28 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).

⁸⁸³¹ T. 25 January 2006 pp. 23-24, 28, 31 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP).

⁸⁸³² T. 27 February 2006 p. 8 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 25 April 2006 p. 35 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁸³³ T. 30 June 2004 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁸³⁴ T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁸³⁵ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness D-2-13-O).

two or three days after the killings in Butare started, on 20 April 1994. Based on his testimony, the Chamber concludes his sighting occurred on 29 or 30 April 1994. This is consistent with Witness FA's evidence as to the timing of the establishment of the roadblock, and with the Chamber's previous finding that a roadblock was erected near Hotel Ihuliro by the end of April 1994 (). Further, Witness FA testified that she saw Ntahobali and Kazungu talking about the killing of the Rwamukwaya family at that roadblock. In these circumstances, the Chamber finds Witness FA's account on this issue credible, and estimates the threat to kill the Rwamukwaya family occurred towards the end of April 1994.

- 3211. No witness testified as to personally seeing the killing of the Rwamukwaya family. Apart from Witness FA's evidence concerning Ntahobali's threat, only Witness D-2-14-W testified as to being told that Ntahobali was involved in the acts of violence which led to the death of Rwamukwaya and that everyone was talking about this between April and July 1994. Witnesses SU, TQ and D-2-13-O do not link his death to Ntahobali. Witness D-13-D refers to Ntahobali being an evil-doer, but does not attribute responsibility for the Rwamukwaya family's deaths to Ntahobali. As such, little direct evidence supports the allegation that Ntahobali was responsible for the deaths of the Rwamukwaya family.
- 3212. Nevertheless, significant circumstantial evidence supports the Prosecution case.⁸⁸³⁹ In particular, the Chamber recalls that Witness FA heard Ntahobali announce his intention to kill the Rwamukwaya family sometime in April 1994, and that Witness D-2-13-O saw their six corpses around 29 or 30 April 1994.⁸⁸⁴⁰
- 3213. Furthermore, the Chamber has considered the evidence of numerous witnesses who testified to seeing Ntahobali in possession of Rwamukwaya's vehicle. Prosecution Witnesses TG, TQ, Guichaoua, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-13-O, D-13-D and Nsabimana all testified that Rwamukwaya owned a Peugeot 504 pickup. Resulting Prosecution Witnesses TG, SS, TQ, Guichaoua and Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-O also testified to subsequently seeing or hearing of Ntahobali's use of Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504. Witness TG testified he often saw Ntahobali passing on the main road in Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504, during the

⁸⁸³⁶ T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸³⁷ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁸³⁸ T. 13 February 2008 p. 50 (Witness D-2-14-W).

See Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 221; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 524; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 304, 306; Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 458 (Chamber may draw inferences from circumstantial evidence. In order to do so the inference drawn must be the only reasonable conclusion based on the totality of the evidence); Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 306 (if there is another conclusion which is also reasonably open from that evidence, and which is consistent with the non-existence of that fact, the conclusion of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt cannot be drawn, and the accused must be acquitted).

⁸⁸⁴⁰ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 57-58, 60 (ICS) (Witness FA); T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O). 8841 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33 (ICS) (Witness TQ); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 32, fn. 45; T. 30 June 2004 pp. 32 (Guichaoua); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 59 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 5 November pp. 37-39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 8 November 2007 pp. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 12 November 2007 pp. 53 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 13 February 2008 pp. 51 (Witness D-13-D); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 65 (Witness D-13-D); T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁴² T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63-64 (Witness TG); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45; T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 59-60 (Witness D-2-13-O).

time he was hiding at a compound, between 26 April 1994 and 2 July 1994. 8843 Witnesses SS and SU placed Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali in a vehicle which people said belonged to Rwamukwaya, at the Butare *préfecture* office around 27 and 28 May 1994. Guichaoua similarly placed Ntahobali in possession of a Peugeot 504 belonging to the deceased Rwamukwaya as of 18 July 1994. Witness TQ stated that Ntahobali was driving Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504, in June 1994. Witness D-2-13-O stated that he saw Ntahobali personally driving Rwamukwaya's Peugeot 504 on several occasions between the end of April and the end of May 1994. Witness D-13-D testified that he also saw Ntahobali on numerous occasions between the end of April and July 1994, moving about Butare town in a Peugeot 504 pickup that belonged to Rwamukwaya.

3214. Nsabimana also testified to seeing Ntahobali in a Peugeot 504 in April 1994. 8849 Nsabimana stated his sighting could easily have been before 25 April 1994. 8850 In a telephone conversation with Alison Des Forges in March 1996, Nsabimana stated that he saw a disguised Peugeot 504 pickup in town owned by somebody that he knew. 8851 Nsabimana thought the car in question belonged to a trader who lived in a neighbourhood towards the EER where he believed shoes were sold. 8852 While he could not initially recall the name of the car's owner, when it was suggested to him, he agreed it was Rwamukwaya. Further, Nsabimana's driver told him Ntahobali was driving the car. 8854 In contrast, at trial Nsabimana testified he was mistaken when he told Des Forges he saw Ntahobali driving Rwamukwaya's vehicle, but stated that he actually saw Ntahobali in a different Peugeot 504. 8855 The Chamber considers that while Nsabimana does not stand to benefit directly from claiming to have mistakenly identified Ntahobali, he may nevertheless have departed from his prior statement in an attempt to protect Ntahobali. Further, in light of the consistency among the above-mentioned testimonies, the Chamber is satisfied that the Peugeot 504 in which Nsabimana saw Ntahobali is the one belonging to Rwamukwaya.

3215. In light of all the foregoing, the Chamber notes that the sightings of Ntahobali with Rwamukwaya's vehicle occurred parallel to or shortly after the time when the Rwamukwaya family was allegedly killed. 8856 In the Chamber's view, the proximity between the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and the sightings of Ntahobali in Rwamukwaya's vehicle establishes a link between the killing and the circumstances in which Ntahobali came into possession of the vehicle.

```
8843 T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 20, 22, 64; T. 31 March 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness TG).
```

⁸⁸⁴⁴ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS); T. 14 October 2002 pp. 8, 31 (Witness SU).

Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 32, fn. 45.

⁸⁸⁴⁶ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

⁸⁸⁴⁷ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 59-60; T. 5 November 2007 pp. 37-39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-0).

⁸⁸⁴⁸ T. 14 February 2008 pp. 64-65 (Witness D-13-D).

⁸⁸⁴⁹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 12 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵⁰ T. 28 November 2006 p. 12 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵¹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 185 (Telephone conversation between Des Forges and Nsabimana, March 1996).

⁸⁸⁵² T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-12 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵³ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 11-12 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵⁴ T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵⁵ T. 28 November 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana).

⁸⁸⁵⁶ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 57-60 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 30 June 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).

- 3216. The Chamber notes that in testifying that they saw Ntahobali in the vehicle which belonged to the recently deceased Rwamukwaya family, Kanyabashi Defence witnesses may have had a motive to deflect liability from Kanyabashi. The Chamber thus treats their evidence with appropriate caution. Nevertheless, in light of all the other evidence before it, the Chamber considers that Witness D-2-13-O's account in this particular instance was reliable and finds him credible for the present purposes.
- 3217. The Chamber further observes that, in rebuttal to the Prosecution's case, Ntahobali testified that he does not know how to drive a vehicle. 8857 The Chamber has previously addressed Ntahobali's claim that he is unable to drive, in its consideration of allegations arising from certain events which took place at the BPO. In that context, the Chamber has found that Ntahobali's defence was based on testimony lacking credibility and therefore did not raise a reasonable doubt as to whether he drove a white pickup vehicle to the BPO ().
- 3218. The Defence otherwise led evidence through three witnesses, namely Nsabimana, Nsabimana Defence Witness Rutayisire and Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D, that there were many Peugeot cars in Butare town in 1994, thereby raising the possibility that the witnesses did not see Ntahobali in the vehicle belonging to Rwamukwaya. 8858 Even accepting the evidence of the Defence as to the popularity of this vehicle in Butare town in 1994, in the circumstances and in light of the totality of the evidence, the Chamber is of the view that the evidence led by the Ntahobali Defence does not raise a reasonable doubt as to the allegation concerning Ntahobali's involvement in the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and in the looting of their vehicle.
- 3219. The Chamber considers that Witness FA heard Ntahobali announce his intention to kill the Rwamukwaya family sometime in April 1994. 8859 Furthermore, Witness D-2-13-O estimated seeing the six corpses of the Rwamukwaya family around 29 or 30 April 1994. 8860 Subsequently, as set out above, numerous witnesses testified to seeing Ntahobali in Rwamukwaya's Peugeot. Given the narrow time frames involved between Ntahobali's threat pronounced against the Rwamukwaya family, the sighting of their bodies, and the first sightings of Ntahobali in a vehicle known to have belonged to Rwamukwaya, the Chamber is of the view that the inference drawn as to Ntahobali's responsibility in the killing of the Rwamukwaya family is the only reasonable conclusion based on the totality of the evidence. 8861 Therefore, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali is responsible for killing the Rwamukwaya family, on or about 29 or 30 April 1994.

⁸⁸⁵⁷ T. 22 June 2006 pp. 42-43 (Ntahobali).

⁸⁸⁵⁸ T. 18 October 2006 pp. 43-44 (Nsabimana); T. 3 October 2006 p. 23 (ICS) (Rutayisire); T. 20 February 2008 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

T. 30 June 2004 pp. 57-58, 60 (ICS) (Witness FA).

⁸⁸⁶⁰ T. 8 November 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

⁸⁸⁶¹ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 221; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 524; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 304, 306; Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 458.

3.6.25 Actions at Roadblocks – Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, April 1994

3.6.25.1 Introduction

- 3220. Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that on several occasions between 20 April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers, militiamen and certain members of the civilian population to search for Tutsis who had escaped the massacres, in order to exterminate them. These instructions were given notably on 21 April in Butare, in late April in Save, and in June 1994 near Butare. 8862
- 3221. Paragraph 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, incitement to hatred and violence was propagated by various prominent persons, including members of the Government and local authorities. Ndayambaje and others publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices." The Indictment also alleges that in June 1994, Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis. 8864
- 3222. All of the Indictments further allege that on 27 April 1994, the Interim Government ordered that roadblocks be set up, knowing that they were being used to identify the Tutsis and their "accomplices" for the purpose of eliminating them. 8865
- 3223. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje knew of the plan to use roadblocks to control people's movements and to capture and kill Tutsis. It asserts that Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje were instrumental in ensuring that persons at the roadblocks understood their role and implemented the plan. It further submits that Kanyabashi reminded persons manning roadblocks to be careful and ensure that no enemy went through. As to its case against Kanyabashi, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witnesses TA, FAM and QJ. Witness RK also testified as to Kanyabashi's involvement at a roadblock in Save. As to its case against Ndayambaje, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witness FAU. Witness FAL also testified as to Ndayambaje's ordering the erection of roadblocks in Bishya. Serve
- 3224. Apart from the preliminary issues considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence asserts that there is no credible evidence to indicate that Kanyabashi was responsible for setting up roadblocks where Tutsis were allegedly murdered. 8873

⁸⁸⁶² Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁸⁸⁶³ Para. 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁸⁸⁶⁴ Para. 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support all counts).

⁸⁸⁶⁵ Para. 6.15 of all the Indictments (not in support of counts against any of the Accused).

⁸⁸⁶⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 392, 401-402, 406-408, paras. 24, 57-61, 78, 83-84; pp. 462, 465, paras. 47, 56-57.

⁸⁸⁶⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 401, para. 57; p. 462, para. 49.

⁸⁸⁶⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 406, para. 78.

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 401-402, paras. 58-60.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RK (69).

⁸⁸⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 463, 465, paras. 50, 56-57.

⁸⁸⁷² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAL (24).

⁸⁸⁷³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 70-93.

3225. The Ndayambaje Defence questions the credibility of the Prosecution witnesses who testified that Ndayambaje ordered that roadblocks be erected or asked those manning the roadblocks to hunt down Tutsis.⁸⁸⁷⁴

3.6.25.2 Preliminary Issues

Kanyabashi Indictment

- 3226. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that Kanyabashi was not charged with criminal conduct at roadblocks and that the issue of roadblocks was not mentioned in any paragraph of the Kanyabashi Indictment in support of counts.⁸⁸⁷⁵
- 3227. The Chamber recalls the principle set forth in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement, that the omission of a count or charge from an indictment cannot be cured (). The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.15 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleging the Interim Government's involvement in the setting up of roadblocks to search for and kill Tutsis was not pled in support of any counts. In any event, this Paragraph does not name Kanyabashi and does not indicate that he was responsible for ordering roadblocks or inciting those persons who manned the roadblocks. 8876
- 3228. However, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which was pled in support of Counts 1-9 against Kanyabashi, asserts that Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers, militiamen, and certain civilians to search for and exterminate Tutsis who had escaped. It provides that Kanyabashi gave these instructions notably on 21 April in Butare, in late April in Save, and in June 1994 near Butare. The alleged purpose of roadblocks to search for and exterminate Tutsis was alleged in that paragraph. Nonetheless, the Prosecution did not include an assertion that roadblocks were a location where instructions were given to search out Tutsis. For this reason, the Chamber finds Paragraph 6.45 to be defective.
- 3229. The Chamber has reviewed the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and prior witness statements disclosed to the Defence. Witness RK's witness summary in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Kanyabashi came to a roadblock at Save with one soldier, spoke to a group of about 10 people saying there were people whose bodies had not been found, including a specific person whom Kanyabashi wanted found. It also states that Kanyabashi said that anyone who found these bodies would be rewarded.⁸⁸⁷⁸
- 3230. Furthermore, Witness RK's unredacted statement of 19 June 1995, disclosed on 14 December 2001, repeats that Witness RK saw Kanyabashi at Save market in April 1994. It names the person Kanyabashi was looking for and provides that the witness hid the person in his home. 8879 Witness RK's statement of 4 July 1996, disclosed on 12 February 2002, also

⁸⁸⁷⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 954-967.

⁸⁸⁷⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 45-46.

⁸⁸⁷⁶ Para. 6.15 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁸⁸⁷⁷ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁸⁸⁷⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RK (69).

⁸⁸⁷⁹ 19 June 1995, Statement of Witness RK, disclosed 14 December 2001.

named the person allegedly sought by Kanyabashi, and provides that Kanyabashi came to one of the Save roadblocks in his white Peugeot and offered a reward. 8880

3231. The Chamber notes Witness RK testified starting on 15 April 2004, over 2 years after the disclosure of the above-mentioned statements. In addition, the information contained in these statements was clear and consistent to the extent that the Prosecution alleged that Kanyabashi came to the Save roadblock, was looking for a man and offered a reward. The Chamber concludes that the information as to this allegation was provided in timely, clear and consistent disclosures and falls under Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which was pled in support of counts. Therefore, the Chamber finds the defect in the Indictment was cured.

Ndayambaje Indictment

3232. The Ndayambaje Defence asserts that there is no reference to Ndayambaje's involvement in roadblocks in the Ndayambaje Indictment. It further submits that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.33 of the Indictment, which allege that Ndayambaje incited the people to exterminate Tutsis and which are pled in support of counts, are too general to provide notice of this allegation. Therefore, the Ndayambaje Defence asserts these Paragraphs of the Indictment were defective and were not cured through subsequent disclosures. 8881

3233. The Chamber notes that the paragraphs of the Ndayambaje Indictment that refer to roadblocks do not name Ndayambaje, nor do they allege that he was responsible for ordering roadblocks or inciting those persons who manned the roadblocks. Furthermore, Paragraph 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment merely states that Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis. There is no mention of roadblocks or orders to search for and exterminate Tutsis. The allegations that Ndayambaje ordered that roadblocks be erected and encouraged those at roadblocks to search for and kill Tutsis are therefore new charges which would have required an amendment of the Indictment. The Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment cannot be cured by subsequent disclosures. Thus, the Chamber need not analyse subsequent disclosures to determine whether the Indictment was cured.

3.6.25.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness RK

3234. Witness RK, a Hutu farmer,⁸⁸⁸⁴ stated that in early April 1994 Tutsis were being sought and killed by Hutus. There were four roadblocks in his *secteur*. Two had been erected when the *Inkotanyi* attacked and the other two were erected after the President was killed.⁸⁸⁸⁵ The witness testified that on one occasion he saw four soldiers at a roadblock in Save.⁸⁸⁸⁶ Tutsis

.

⁸⁸⁸⁰ 4 July 1996, Statement of Witness RK, disclosed 12 February 2002.

⁸⁸⁸¹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 111-114.

⁸⁸⁸² Para. 6.15 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁸⁸⁸³ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323.

⁸⁸⁸⁴ T. 15 April 2004 p. 51 (Witness TK); Prosecution Exhibit 104 (Personal Particulars).

⁸⁸⁸⁵ T. 15 April 2004 p. 55 (Witness RK).

⁸⁸⁸⁶ T. 15 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness RK).

were arrested and killed the next day at Rwabuye. 8887 He later referred to that location as Rwagumbuye. 8888

3235. On or about the same day that he saw the four soldiers at the roadblock in Save, Witness RK hid eight Tutsi neighbours in his home, all of whom belonged to the same religious group. These included a Tutsi university lecturer, his wife and five children, and another unrelated woman. These people were previously hiding in the house of another man but Witness RK went to fetch them when it appeared that house would be searched. Initially, the witness stated that these Tutsis remained hidden in his house for three weeks. Later he stated that they remained there for a period of approximately six weeks. He was extremely afraid because if he was discovered sheltering Tutsis, he could have been killed along with the people he was hiding.

3236. After the beginning of April 1994, Witness RK sometimes went to the Save roadblock on Gatoki Road. The roadblock was near the market. On one such visit, about three weeks after the soldiers had visited the roadblock, he saw Kanyabashi drive up to the roadblock in a white Peugeot vehicle, accompanied by a soldier. He heard Kanyabashi tell the dozen people manning the Save roadblock: It think there is someone hiding in this area since we haven't found his body among the bodies that we had seen. I am looking for him. And anyone who finds him will get a reward. Witness RK later estimated that there were less than 10 people manning the roadblock and named four of them. The Tutsis were not found in Witness RK's home because no house-to-house search was carried out in the area. It was believed that the fugitives were around the hill area.

3237. On cross-examination, Witness RK was asked why in earlier statements he had not said that Kanyabashi had given a speech at the market in Save, but spoke only about Kanyabashi's appearance at a roadblock. The witness responded that the speech he had referred to in his earlier statements was the speech given at the roadblock, but that the roadblock was between 20 and 30 metres from the market. 8902

3238. Also on cross-examination, the witness stated that he was aware of a disagreement between Kanyabashi and the university lecturer before the war because Kanyabashi would not

```
8887 T. 15 April 2004 p. 55; T. 15 April p. 70 (ICS) (Witness RK).
8888 T. 15 April 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness RK).
8889 T. 15 April 2004 p. 54; T. 15 April pp. 56, 71 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8890</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8891</sup> T. 15 April 2004 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8892</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness RK).
<sup>8893</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8894</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness RK).
<sup>8895</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 52; T. 19 April 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8896</sup> T. 19 April 2004 pp. 15, 19, 27, 29 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8897</sup> T. 15 April 2004 pp. 53-55; T. 19 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness RK).
8898 T. 15 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness RK).
8899 T. 19 April 2004 pp. 19, 26 (ICS) (Witness RK).
8900 T. 19 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8901</sup> T. 19 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness RK).
<sup>8902</sup> T. 19 April 2004 pp. 19, 29 (ICS) (Witness RK).
```

allow the university lecturer to brew fruit juice. 8903 The Kanyabashi Defence asserted that Witness RK had come to testify against Kanyabashi as requested by the university lecturer because the lecturer was unhappy that Kanyabashi did not give him a permit to make juice and would not allow him to practice his religion. Witness RK answered that the university lecturer had no interest in Witness RK appearing in court. He further stated that Tutsis were dying for nothing, that he hid the university lecturer in his home because he pitied him and that he was not paid to protect the lecturer. 8905

3239. Witness RK testified that although Kanyabashi was the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* and had no jurisdiction over Shyanda *commune*, during the war anyone in authority could search for people in any area without seeking permission of the relevant *bourgmestre*. Asked whether the Shyanda *bourgmestre* ordered the killing of Tutsis, Witness RK stated that, to the contrary, the Shyanda *bourgmestre* saved Tutsis, including some Tutsi women who were going to be killed. There had been an announcement over the radio that Tutsis were not to be killed, and those women were not killed. In addition, the Shyanda *bourgmestre* brought about 20 Tutsis to the RPF when they took over.

3240. Witness RK said that when Kanyabashi spoke to those at the roadblock in Save, it was the first time that he had seen Kanyabashi in Save, although he had previously seen Kanyabashi in Butare. 8907 Witness RK identified Kanyabashi in court. 8908

Prosecution Witness TA

3241. Witness TA, a Tutsi, gave evidence pertaining to the existence of numerous roadblocks in Butare and the surrounding *communes*. There were roadblocks more or less everywhere. She was sometimes beaten at the roadblocks despite the fact that she said she was Hutu. There was a roadblock near the residence of the President of the Republic. She was a roadblock near the residence of the President of the Republic.

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

3242. Alexandre Bararwandika, a Burundian Hutu relief worker, ⁸⁹¹³ testified that he met the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi, on a few occasions. ⁸⁹¹⁴ On one such occasion, Kanyabashi encouraged him and others by giving them documents that enabled them to transport a girl to safety through roadblocks to a family in Karubanda. ⁸⁹¹⁵ Bararwandika also remembered Kanyabashi personally filling in the required forms to facilitate the safe

⁸⁹⁰³ T. 19 April 2004 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁴ T. 19 April 2004 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁵ T. 19 April 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁶ T. 19 April 2004 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁷ T. 15 April 2004 p. 53; T. 19 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁸ T. 15 April 2004 p. 58 (Witness RK).

⁸⁹⁰⁹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 94-99; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 34, 38-40; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 62-63; T. 7 November p. 54 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁸⁹¹⁰ T. 29 October 2001 p. 95 (Witness TA).

⁸⁹¹¹ T. 29 October 2001 p. 94 (Witness TA).

⁸⁹¹² T. 7 November 2001 pp. 62-63; T. 7 November p. 54 (ICS) (Witness TA).

⁸⁹¹³ T. 3 July 2006 p. 20 (Bararwandika).

⁸⁹¹⁴ T. 4 July 2006 p. 43 (Bararwandika).

⁸⁹¹⁵ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 44-45 (Bararwandika).

movement of four Tutsi children that the witness had picked up from Rango through the roadblocks in Cyarwa, Tumba, Mukoni and at the MSM garage. 8916

3.6.25.4 Deliberations

- 3243. Witness RK testified that while he was hiding eight Tutsis in his home, including a Tutsi university lecturer, he encountered Kanyabashi at a roadblock. 8917 Kanyabashi asked the population's help to find this Tutsi university lecturer and offered a reward to anyone who found him. 8918 Witness RK provided a substantial number of significant details as to this incident, including the fact that Kanyabashi was driving a white Peugeot, that there was a soldier in the back seat, and he also named four of the persons who were manning the roadblock. 8919 In the Chamber's view, these details buttress the credibility of the witness.
- 3244. The Chamber notes that Witness RK testified that Kanyabashi said he had not found the body of the Tutsi university lecturer among the bodies he had seen. The clear implication of this language is that Kanyabashi expected the man to be dead. If the man were found not to be dead, he would offer a reward for whoever found him.
- 3245. Witness RK was confronted with his prior statement of June 1995 in which he said that Kanyabashi addressed a crowd at the Save market and did not mention the Save roadblock. Witness RK explained that the Save roadblock was 20 to 30 metres away from the market and he therefore was referring to the same location and incident in both his prior statement and his testimony. The Chamber finds that this is a minor discrepancy and accepts Witness RK's explanation.
- 3246. Witness RK also said that Kanyabashi had a disagreement with the Tutsi university lecturer, due to disputes about the man's religion and a permit to produce juice. Although these disagreements might have given the Tutsi university lecturer some motive to implicate Kanyabashi, the Chamber considers this would not give Witness RK any motive to lie since he was not a party to the dispute. Furthermore, the Chamber is convinced by Witness RK's testimony that he took several Tutsis into his home because Tutsis were being killed for no reason and he pitied them. Place of the Second Production of the Second Producti
- 3247. Furthermore, when given the opportunity to implicate another *bourgmestre* in the killing of Tutsis, Witness RK defended him, stating the *bourgmestre* of Shyanda *commune* did not participate in any killings, and in fact, protected about 20 Tutsis until the arrival of the RPF. Therefore, it was clear that Witness RK was not simply attempting to implicate any or all authority figures. The Chamber also notes that it may rely on uncorroborated testimony to

⁸⁹¹⁶ T. 4 July 2006 p. 45 (Bararwandika).

⁸⁹¹⁷ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 53-54; T. 15 April pp. 28, 56, 71 (ICS); T. 19 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹¹⁸ T. 15 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness RK).

⁸⁹¹⁹ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 53-54; T. 19 April 2004 pp. 16, 19, 26 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²⁰ T. 15 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²¹ T. 19 April 2004 pp. 19, 29 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²² T. 19 April 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²³ T. 19 April 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²⁴ T. 19 April 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RK).

⁸⁹²⁵ T. 19 April 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness RK).

prove a material fact. 8926 In sum, the Chamber finds Witness RK's testimony to be credible on the issue under consideration.

3248. Bararwandika testified that Kanyabashi helped him save several Tutsis by providing travel documents that allowed him to take the Tutsis through roadblocks, unharmed. Should this account be true, it does not directly impact the Chamber's analysis of the evidence regarding this particular incident. It may nevertheless be a mitigating factor for the Chamber to consider in relation to sentencing, in the event of a conviction.

3249. In sum, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi drove to a roadblock in Save, asked the 10 to 12 people manning the roadblock to search for a Tutsi university lecturer with whom he had a dispute and offered a reward for his capture.

3.6.26 Actions at Roadblocks – Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Late April 1994

3.6.26.1 Introduction

3250. All of the Indictments allege that on 27 April 1994, the Interim Government ordered that roadblocks be set up, knowing that the roadblocks were being used to identify the Tutsis and their "accomplices", for the purpose of eliminating them. All of the Indictments further allege that the incitement to ethnic hatred and violence was a fundamental part of the plan put in place. The Indictments allege that the incitement was articulated before and during the genocide by members of the Government and local authorities. Prepared to July 1994, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo propagated incitement to hatred and violence. The Indictment further alleges that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo and Nsabimana both incited and also aided and abetted the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*.

3251. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana incited the population to commit genocide at the roadblocks put in place. ⁸⁹³² The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana gave instructions to those manning a roadblock at Hotel Faucon not to let any *Inyenzi*, meaning Tutsi, pass through the roadblock. ⁸⁹³³ The Prosecution relies on Witness OJ in support of its submissions.

3252. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo incited the population to commit genocide at roadblocks for which reason he is responsible pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the

⁸⁹²⁶ Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 170.

⁸⁹²⁷ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 44-45 (Bararwandika).

Para. 6.15 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.15 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.15 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.15 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁸⁹²⁹ Para. 5.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁸⁹³⁰ Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)).

⁸⁹³¹ Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), except for Count 4 which is pursuant to Article 6 (1) only); Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3), except for Count 4 which is pursuant to Article 6 (1) only); Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)).

⁸⁹³² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 150.

⁸⁹³³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 275, 278-279, paras. 150, 163.

Statute. 8934 The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo incited people at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur* of Mugusa *commune* on two separate occasions on 22 and 23 April 1994. 8935 The Prosecution relies on Witness QBV in support of this submission.

3253. The Nsabimana Defence submits that it did not receive adequate notice in the Indictment regarding the allegation of incitement, in general, and at the Hotel Faucon roadblock specifically. Below a the Nsabimana Defence submits that the Indictment was impermissibly vague. As to the substance of the allegations, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Witness QJ did not testify credibly. The Nsabimana Defence also submits that Witness QJ was a member of *Ibuka* and that as such, he falsified his trial testimony. Below a submits that

3254. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that it did not receive adequate notice in the Indictment regarding the allegations of incitement at the roadblocks in Mugusa *commune*. 8939 As to the substance of the allegations, the Nteziryayo Defence submits that Witness QBV did not testify credibly. The Nteziryayo Defence relies on Witness AND-16 in support of this submission. 8941

3.6.26.2 Preliminary Issues

Nsabimana Indictment

3255. Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment all relate to allegations of incitement. These paragraphs generally allege that Nsabimana incited the population to kill Tutsis and further indicate that the incitement occurred in Butare *préfecture*. While Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 allege that Nsabimana publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period in Butare *préfecture*, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to incitement occurring at the Hotel Faucon roadblock, or to any killings that allegedly resulted from the incitement. The Chamber therefore finds each of these paragraphs to be defective.

3256. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

3257. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists three witnesses, Witnesses QJ, FAR and SJ, who refer to the activities of Nsabimana at roadblocks. ⁸⁹⁴² The summary for Witness QJ indicates: "Nsabimana ordered *laissez-passers* to be issued to ensure peoples safety, but this was a hoax. Refugees were arrested and

⁸⁹³⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 337-338, paras. 101, 106.

⁸⁹³⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 319, 340, 344, 353, 367, paras. 49, 111, 123-124, 155-157, 199.

⁸⁹³⁶ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 44, 1073-1075.

⁸⁹³⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 44, 722.

⁸⁹³⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1076-1106.

⁸⁹³⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 571.

⁸⁹⁴⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 574-584, 598-600.

⁸⁹⁴¹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 610-611.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QJ (4); Witness FAR (29); Witness SJ (9).

killed."⁸⁹⁴³ The summary for Witness FAR indicates that on or about 20 April 1994, he saw Nsabimana and Kanyabashi address a meeting of 1,000 people at the Ngoma football field, and that Nsabimana spoke of erecting roadblocks, arming the population, and enemy infiltration. The summary states that the word "enemy" meant Tutsi. This summary further states that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi spoke at a *secteur* meeting days later, where they discussed military training, and that killings started soon after. ⁸⁹⁴⁴ The summary for Witness SJ states that the witness saw the *préfet* give a letter to the soldiers and heard the *préfet* say that the letter would allow them to pass through the roadblocks. Witness SJ saw the buses return empty. ⁸⁹⁴⁵ The Chamber notes that only the summary for Witness FAR refers to alleged statements made by Nsabimana about roadblocks. However, this summary refers only to incitement which took place at the Ngoma football field, not at the Hotel Faucon roadblock.

3258. The Chamber next considers the prior statements of the witnesses. In his first statement of 8 May 1996, Witness QJ discussed various roadblocks including the roadblock erected opposite the Hotel Faucon. Separate This first statement makes no mention of Nsabimana. Witness QJ's second and third statements of 21 November 1996 and 22 January 1997 respectively also make no mention of Nsabimana. The his final statement dated 28 October 1997, Witness QJ states that "in mid-April, perhaps the 20th" he personally heard Nsabimana giving orders to people manning the Hotel Faucon roadblock not to let any *Inyenzi* through. The statement recounts another incident as well. Witness QJ stated that in late April 1994, he went to the *préfecture* offices and saw a *sous-préfet* telling people who had taken refuge in the offices that Nsabimana had given orders that *laissez-passers* were to be issued to them so that they could return home safely. Witness QJ stated that the people were systematically arrested at roadblocks and killed.

3259. In her prior statement of 3 December 1996, Witness SJ told investigators that she heard Nsabimana tell refugees boarding buses that a letter which had been given to them would allow them to pass through roadblocks. Witness SJ makes no mention of the Hotel Faucon roadblock. In his prior statement of 21 February 2001, Witness FAR told investigators about statements made by Nsabimana at the Ngoma football field but makes no mention of the Hotel Faucon roadblock. 8951

3260. Witness QJ's fourth statement of 28 October 1997 was the only disclosure which outlined alleged statements made by Nsabimana at the Hotel Faucon roadblock, namely that Nsabimana gave orders to people manning the Hotel Faucon roadblock not to let any *Inyenzi* through. The Prosecution disclosed this statement to the Defence on 15 June 1999. However, this disclosure was not consistent with the summary of Witness QJ's anticipated

⁸⁹⁴³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QJ (4).

⁸⁹⁴⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAR (95).

⁸⁹⁴⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9).

⁸⁹⁴⁶ 8 May 1996, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 4 November 1998.

⁸⁹⁴⁷ 21 November 1996, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 15 June 1999; 22 January 1997, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 15 June 1999.

^{8948 17} October 1997, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 15 June 1999.

⁸⁹⁴⁹ 28 October 1997, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 15 June 1999.

⁸⁹⁵⁰ 3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ, disclosed 4 November 1998.

^{8951 23} February 2001, Statement of Witness FAR, disclosed 14 March 2001.

^{8952 17} October 1997, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 23 April 2001.

evidence contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief which made no mention of these alleged statements made by Nsabimana at the Hotel Faucon; the summary made clear that the only matter about which Witness QJ was expected to testify with respect to Nsabimana was about the issuance of false *laissez-passers* after which refugees were arrested and killed, which the Chamber recalls was also contained in Witness QJ's fourth statement. The Chamber recalls that the mere service of witness statements by the Prosecution pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Rules does not suffice to inform the Defence of material facts that the Prosecution intends to prove at trial. ⁸⁹⁵³ Therefore, this disclosure was not sufficient to put Nsabimana on notice of this allegation.

3261. The Chamber thus considers that with regard to this specific allegation, Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were not cured of their defects, such that the Chamber therefore declines to make any finding in respect of the allegation that Nsabimana gave instructions to those manning a roadblock at Hotel Faucon not to let any *Inyenzi* pass through the roadblock.

Nteziryayo Indictment

3262. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Indictment is unduly vague and did not adequately inform Nteziryayo of the material facts of the allegations brought against him. ⁸⁹⁵⁴ The Nteziryayo Defence further submits that the testimony of Prosecution Witness QBV on the issue of Nteziryayo's alleged incitement at the Mugusa *commune* roadblock falls outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment such that it should be excluded. ⁸⁹⁵⁵ The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 25 February 2009, it denied Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and stated that it would address issues relating to alleged defects in the Indictment, vagueness, credibility and evaluation of evidence in its final deliberations.

3263. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment all allege that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis in Butare *préfecture* between April and June or July 1994. While Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31 and 6.53 allege that Nteziryayo publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis over a three to four month period in Butare *préfecture*, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to any incitement occurring at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, Mugusa *commune*, or to any killings that allegedly resulted from the incitement. The Chamber therefore finds each of these paragraphs to be defective.

3264. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that in its opening statement the Prosecution stated that part of its case against Nteziryayo was that he engaged in incitement of the population "on several occasions, in several places ... during public rallies." Although the Prosecution only specifically identified the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in, the Prosecution's opening words clearly

⁸⁹⁵³ See, e.g., Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (AC), para. 27.

⁸⁹⁵⁴ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 571.

⁸⁹⁵⁵ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

⁸⁹⁵⁶ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009, para. 28.

⁸⁹⁵⁷ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 78-79.

state that Nteziryayo's incitement at public rallies would be relied on as part of the Prosecution case.

3265. The Chamber further observes that the summary of Witness QBV's anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief includes reference to statements made by Nteziryayo. The witness summary for Witness QBV states that Tutsis from Shyanda were pursued by Hutus and took refuge in Mugusa commune. Witness QBV and others were protecting the Tutsis. On about 23 April 1994, Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi passed through the *commune* when some asked Nteziryayo what to do about the attack on the Tutsis from Shyanda, by Hutus. According to the witness summary, Nteziryayo replied: "Don't you know how to kill? Kill them and eat their cows. I am going now, if I discover tomorrow that you have not started to kill, I will bring in soldiers who will kill you systematically with bullets. You are the ones who know your Tutsi neighbours." Nteziryayo then asked: "If a snake twirls itself around your favorite small gourd, do you ignore it or you kill the snake and break the gourd? You kill the snake and break the gourd." The witness summary goes on to state that Muvunyi then "handed over about 20 grenades. The killings started the following morning. Witness QBV was one of the attackers. They exterminated all the Tutsis in the secteur in two days of extensive work. Witness QBV and others almost finished the work. Ntezirvayo asked them to complete the good work quickly. 8958 Witness QBV was listed in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief as a witness against Nteziryayo on the count of direct and public incitement to commit genocide, and subsequently testified at trial.

3266. The Chamber notes that Witness QBV's first statement of 11 October 1999 provides a similar account to that set forth in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief. The statement indicates the same date and same location for the alleged incident, and recounts similar words attributed to Nteziryayo at the roadblock. The 11 October 1999 statement also indicates that the following day, Nteziryayo and Muvunyi returned and Nteziryayo told Witness QBV and the others "to complete the good 'work' quickly." This statement was first disclosed in redacted form on 1 December 1999, well before Witness QBV was called to testify on 14 March 2002.

3267. In addition, the Chamber notes that Witness QBV's second statement of 11 May 2000, which supplemented his earlier statement, states that on 23 April 1994, Nteziryayo was at the Mugusa *commune* roadblock and said "[d]on't you know how to kill? Kill them and eat all their cattle", and that he was referring to Tutsis. This statement was first disclosed on 15 November 2000, again well before Witness QBV was called to testify.

3268. The Chamber notes that the information contained in the summary of anticipated evidence annexed to the Pre-Trial Brief and Witness QBV's prior statements is clear and consistent. The summary of anticipated evidence makes clear that the Prosecution intended to lead evidence through Witness QBV of inciting statements made by Nteziryayo, in Mugusa *commune*, on or about 23 April 1994 in support of Counts 1 and 4.

⁸⁹⁵⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBV (12).

^{8959 11} October 1998, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 1 December 1999.

^{8960 11} May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 15 November 2000.

3269. For the reasons stated above, the Chamber considers the defect in Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, read in the context of the Indictment as a whole, was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. The information contained in the summary of Witness QBV's anticipated evidence annexed to the Pre-Trial Brief, along with the disclosure of his prior witness statements, provided timely, clear and consistent details on the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population in Butare *préfecture* to kill Tutsis between April and June 1994.

3.6.26.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QBV

3270. Witness QBV, a Hutu farmer⁸⁹⁶¹ from Mugusa *commune* and detainee who had confessed but not yet been sentenced at the time of his testimony, set testified that on 22 April 1994, Colonel Nteziryayo arrived at a roadblock on the Butare-Mugusa road in Kibilizi *secteur* at about 2.00 p.m. Witness QBV was in charge of the roadblock and opened it for Nteziryayo's vehicle. Nteziryayo was travelling with Colonel Muvunyi and a driver in a red double-cabin pickup, carrying guns, grenades and other tools in the back. They were close enough to the vehicle to be able to see into the back. They were all wearing military uniform. The vehicle stopped and Muvunyi and Nteziryayo stepped down from the car. Nteziryayo asked the *secteur* President of the MRND Party who these people were gathered around. Witness QBV was two to three metres from Nteziryayo when he introduced himself and Muvunyi to the crowd of approximately 200 people who were assembled at the roadblock.

3271. Nteziryayo saw Witness QBV was carrying an axe and asked the witness his ethnicity and how he came to be in possession of the axe. Witness QBV told him that it had been given to him by soldiers from the Gikonko barracks. ⁸⁹⁷¹ The *conseiller*, Gasana, told Nteziryayo that Witness QBV had previously undergone weapons training. ⁸⁹⁷² Witness QBV testified that Nteziryayo then asked him, along with a *conseiller*, a businessman, and the president of the *Interahamwe*, to lead attacks to eliminate Tutsis and promised that if the work was well done, he would get jobs for them and that the land belonging to Tutsis would be given to them. Witness QBV understood "work" meant "hunt for the Tutsis and kill them." ⁸⁹⁷³

```
<sup>8961</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 10, 133 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8962</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8963</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 19; T. 18 March 2002 p. 87; T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8964</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 15; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 88, 94; T. 18 March 2002 p. 115 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
<sup>8965</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12-13, 19; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8966</sup> T. 18 March 2002 p. 89 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8967</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 13 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8968</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 14 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8969</sup> T. 18 March 2002 p. 102 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8970</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14, 18-19; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 87-88 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8971</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14-15; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 99-100 (Witness QBV).
<sup>8972</sup> T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14-15; T. 14 March 125 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
<sup>8973</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness QBV).
```

- 3272. Witness QBV testified that after speaking to them, Nteziryayo made a statement to the crowd gathered at the roadblock. Witness QBV testified that he was standing two to three metres from Nteziryayo and clearly heard Nteziryayo say: "You know the enemy we're fighting. It is the Tutsis. You have to hunt for them and kill them particularly as they are your neighbours." Witness QBV further testified that Nteziryayo told the audience: "If I come back tomorrow and I notice that you have not killed, I will return with soldiers and there will be no discrimination between Hutu and Tutsi and they will kill you all. If a snake twists itself around your gourd, do you ignore it, or are you going to kill the snake and spare the gourd or break both of them, kill both of them?"
- 3273. After making these remarks, Nteziryayo explained what he meant by these words, "that there were Hutus who had married Tutsis and the Hutus want to hang on to the Tutsis and considered them as their in-laws ... the Hutus, should be considered as enemies and they too have to parish [sic]." 8978
- 3274. Witness QBV testified that after Nteziryayo addressed the crowd, Muvunyi went to the back of the red pickup vehicle, picked three rifles, two Kalashnikovs and one M16 which he gave to Nteziryayo. Nteziryayo in turn handed the weapons to the *conseiller*. Colonel Muvunyi gave a cartridge box to Nteziryayo, which he then gave to the *conseiller*. Muvunyi then gave a box of 30 Chinese-type grenades to Nteziryayo which he gave to the businessman. Muvunyi gave a carton of matches to Nteziryayo who handed them over to Leodomir Mwimpanzu, the *secteur* President of the MRND Party. After distributing the arms, Nteziryayo told Witness QBV, the *conseiller*, the businessman and the MRND *secteur* president, that they would need these weapons "to kill the Tutsis, and those who do not have these weapons should use traditional weapons. With respect to the matches, you will need them to burn the houses of the Tutsis, and if you need petrol, then you can go and get it ... at the Mugusa *commune* office." According to Witness QBV, Nteziryayo also said that he had noticed that some places did not have roadblocks, that more roadblocks should be constructed, and that they would come back the following day to make sure that they had started to kill the Tutsis. 8982
- 3275. In cross-examination, Witness QBV agreed that he went to the ISAR on 20 April 1994, but subsequently said this was in May or June 1994; he denied that on this occasion he received grenades from Kabalira and Colonel Gasarabwe. In cross-examination, the Nteziryayo Defence referred Witness QBV to his previous statement of 16 August 2001.

⁸⁹⁷⁴ T. 14 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁷⁵ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 16-18 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁷⁶ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁷⁷ T. 14 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁷⁸ T. 14 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁷⁹ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19-20; T. 14 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁰ T. 14 March 2002 p. 19; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸¹ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸² T. 14 March 2002 p. 20; T. 18 March 2002 p. 109 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸³ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 91-92 (ICS); T. March 2002 pp. 12-13 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁴ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-94 (ICS) (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

That statement claimed that on 20 April 1994, Witness QBV was at the ISAIR (sic) in Rubona where:

Colonel Gasarabwe took the floor and said that the Tutsis were RPF accomplices. He urged the youth not to spare a Tutsi woman in order to rape or hide them ... it was necessary to sweep the dead, to wash it outside, and not towards the inside. In other words, the idea was not to kill only the men and spare the woman, but to kill everyone without exception. Martin Kabalira was the next to speak and said, "if a snake coils up around a calabash, we must not save the calabash, because, as the snake has to be killed, the calabash has to be broken. I believe he was alluding to the inter-ethnic marriages involving Tutsi women, meaning that the marriages were to be broken. At the end of the meeting, when Martin Kabilira realised that not all the youth were armed, he personally distributed Chinese-made grenades and hatches [sic], and the colonel also distributed some guns. 8985

3276. When it was put to Witness QBV that his oral testimony that he did not receive any weapons from Kabalira contradicted his statement which states that he did receive weapons from Kabalira, Witness OBV testified that his statements were being confused: Kabalira was at ISAR but Nteziryayo distributed weapons on 22 April 1994. 8986

3277. Witness OBV testified that prior to 22 April 1994 there were only three roadblocks in Kibilizi secteur: the first was mounted at Ramba on the Butare-Mugusa Road; the second at Gafumba towards Banbajure Market; and the third outside the house of the MRND leader. These roadblocks were erected at sites chosen by the conseiller, who supervised their construction. 8987 After Nteziryayo complained that there were very few roadblocks in the area, two more roadblocks were constructed. 8988

3278. Nteziryayo stayed at the roadblock for approximately one hour and left with Muvunyi in the red pickup. 8989 Witness QBV testified that when Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi left the Kibilizi secteur roadblock, they drove to the Mugusa commune office. 8990 The witness told the court that he and the *conseiller* rented bicycles and followed the two colonels⁸⁹⁹¹ "for the purpose of seeking information on the people involved in the massacre."8992 On arrival at the Mugusa *commune* office around 4.00 p.m., ⁸⁹⁹³ the witness found Andre Kabayiza the bourgmestre of Mugusa commune addressing a crowd of over 200 people that had gathered in front of the Mugusa commune office, after which both Ntezirvayo and Colonel Muyunvi introduced themselves to the crowd. 8994

⁸⁹⁸⁵ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-94 (ICS) (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁶ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 95-96 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁷ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 19-20; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 115-117 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁸ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 20-21 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁸⁹ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁰ T. 14 March 2002 p. 22; T. 19 March 2002 p. 28 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹¹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 23 (Witness QBV). 8992 T. 19 March 2002 p. 39 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹³ T. 14 March 2002 p. 23; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 29, 36 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁴ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 29-31, 39 (Witness QBV).

3279. Witness QBV told the Tribunal that at the meeting at the Mugusa *commune* office, he noted that Nteziryayo wielded a lot of power and influence on the community. According to the witness, after the introductions were made, the *bourgmestre* sought Nteziryayo's advice on what to do with the Tutsi refugees who had sought shelter for themselves and their livestock in Mugusa *commune*. In answer to this, Nteziryayo expressed his displeasure at the foot-dragging by the Hutus of Mugusa *commune*. Nteziryayo said that in other *communes*, people had already finished killing the Tutsis and "here you continue to protect them". He said he was going to Muyaga to hold another meeting. Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi then left in the red dual cabin pickup truck.

3280. Witness QBV testified that the killing of Tutsis began in Mugusa *commune* later that day after the visit by Nteziryayo. According to the witness, when Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi left the Mugusa *commune* office, they left behind some soldiers. At about 7.00 p.m., the soldiers, together with some policemen, shot and killed Tutsi refugees who had sought shelter at the Mugusa *commune* office. Witness QBV testified that after the shooting, bodies of the Tutsi victims were scattered everywhere at the *commune* office. ⁸⁹⁹⁸ He saw the shooting with his own eyes. ⁸⁹⁹⁹ He left the *commune* office at 7.00 p.m.

3281. Witness QBV testified that he started attacking after he was instructed to do so by Nteziryayo and Muvunyi on 22 April 1994. In Kibilizi secteur, Interahamwe commenced attacks on the Tutsis by burning 100 houses on the evening of 22 April 1994. According to the witness, the killings started early the following morning, 23 April 1994. Witness QBV took the initiative in leading the killings because he killed the first two people. He gave the names of the first and second persons he killed. Witness QBV told the Tribunal that he also hit a third person on the head and left him for dead. That person recovered and went to his home where he was later attacked on 25 April 1994 by the Interahamwe and finally killed. Witness QBV felt responsible for the death of this third person because he was the one who led the attacks. When it was put to Witness QBV that his confession of 22 February 1999 stated that the attacks occurred on 25 April 1994, Witness QBV testified this was a mistake and the attack occurred on 23 April 1994. When it was put to him that his confession of 22 February 1999 also failed to mention Nteziryayo's role in the attacks, despite listing other

⁸⁹⁹⁵ T. 14 March 2002 p. 30 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁶ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 25, 27, 29; T. 19 March 2002 p. 40 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁷ T. 14 March 2002 p. 29 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁸ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 29-30; T. 19 March 2002 p. 54 (Witness QBV).

⁸⁹⁹⁹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 30 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁰ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 47-48, 51 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰¹ T. 19 March 2002 p. 105; T. 19 March 2002 p. 103 (ICS); (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰² T. 14 March 2002 pp. 31, 35; T. 19 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰³ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 105, 121; T. 19 March 2002 p. 103 (ICS); T. 20 March 2002 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁴ T. 19 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁵ T. 14 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁶ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 130-131 (ICS); T. 20 March 2002 pp. 26-27 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁷ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁰⁸ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 123, 125-126; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 129-130 (ICS) (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 22B (Nteziryayo) (22 February 1999, Confession of Witness QBV to Rwandan Authorities).

perpetrators and ringleaders, Witness QBV testified that he was not asked to talk about Nteziryayo. 9009

3282. Witness QBV testified that he and the *Interahamwe* used the arms distributed to them by Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi to attack the Tutsis, and used matches to burn their houses. 9010 Witness QBV testified that he killed the first and second persons in the *commune*, using a club; he killed them because Nteziryayo and Muvunyi had told them to hunt for the Tutsis and kill them because they were "our enemies." They followed his orders because they came from a high ranking officer.

3283. Witness QBV testified that at around 1.00 p.m. on 23 April 1994, as he was manning the Kibilizi roadblock, Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi returned in a military jeep from the direction of Muyaga. Witness QBV testified that the *Interahamwe* had already killed 50 Tutsis and thrown their bodies in the gullies on the lower side next to the road. Nteziryayo commended the *Interahamwe* for a job well done, and encouraged them to continue with the work. He told them that it was not proper to leave the dead bodies strewn on the road because there were satellites that could show pictures of the bodies to white men, and ordered them to put the corpses in latrines that were at the centre. Witness QBV testified that Nteziryayo urged them to destroy the shells of the houses that they had burnt, and in their place, "plant banana trees or potatoes" so that no traces of the houses remained "because there were whites sent by the United Nations, who were going to visit the country."

3284. In cross-examination, when it was put to Witness QBV that a portion of his statement of 16 August 2001 stated that after the attack on ISAR on 20 April 1994, Martin Kabalira recommended "quickly bury[ing] the bodies and ... plant[ing] banana trees where the destroyed houses once stood in order to conceal any traces thereof, so as not to be seen by foreigners", 9016 Witness QBV testified that it was Nteziryayo and not Kabalira who gave such instructions.

3285. According to Witness QBV, during the killings, the *Interahamwe* spared the lives of Tutsi women and girls. On learning this, Nteziryayo warned the *Interahamwe* of the danger inherent in not exterminating the Tutsis in their entirety. According to the witness, Nteziryayo told the gathering, "[t]hose people you have spared ... [are] the same people who are going to create problems for us later on." Nteziryayo further counselled the *Interahamwe* "to sweep everything and move the rubbish out of the house", rather than "sweeping the house but moving the dirt within the house", as they were doing. Witness QBV told the Tribunal that he understood the words "to move the rubbish" to mean to kill "those people [the Tutsi women

⁹⁰⁰⁹ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 135-136 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹⁰ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 21, 34-36; T. 18 March 2002 p. 127 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹¹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 34 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹² T. 14 March 2002 p. 31 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹³ T. 14 March 2002 p. 31 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹⁴ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 31-33; T. 19 March 2002 p. 131 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹⁵ T. 14 March 2002 p. 32 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹⁶ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92, 95 (ICS) (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰¹⁷ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-93, 96-97 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

and girls]."9018 Witness QBV testified that he was less than a step from Ntezirvayo as he said these words 9019

3286. Witness QBV testified that he subsequently came to learn that approximately 22,000 people died in Mugusa commune in 1994. 9020

3287. Witness QBV testified that this was the first time he had met Nteziryayo. 9021 He knew it was Nteziryayo because Nteziryayo had introduced himself. 9022 Witness QBV subsequently met Nteziryayo on many other occasions, 9023 including at the Mugusa *commune* office. 9024 Witness QBV positively identified Nteziryayo in court.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-16

3288. Witness AND-16, a Hutu trader from Mugusa commune, testified that several new roadblocks were erected in his *commune* around 21 or 22 April 1994, on the orders of the new conseiller, Gasana. 9026 The main roadblock was the Sakindi roadblock in Kibilizi secteur, and it was under the responsibility of Witness OBV. 9027 Witness OBV controlled that roadblock 9028

3289. Witness AND-16 testified that he went to the Sakindi roadblock at either 2.00 or 3.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994 and saw corpses. The witness said he got information about the corpses and was told it was Witness QBV who stopped those people and killed them after having asked them to show them their identification cards. 9029 Weapons were not distributed at the roadblock manned by Witness QBV on 22 April 1994, or prior to this date in the secteur. 9030 Those present at the roadblock had traditional weapons including clubs, and those that had weapons had obtained them from elsewhere. 9031 People killed at the roadblock were killed with traditional weapons such as clubs and hoes, and not with guns or other modern weapons. 9032

3290. Witness AND-16 testified that Nteziryayo did not go to Mugusa commune between April and June 1994, and that he never met Nteziryayo in this time period in either Kibilizi secteur or Mugusa commune. 9033 Witness AND-16 further testified that he did not hear anyone mention that Ntezirvayo was in Mugusa commune during this period of time. 9034 Witness

```
<sup>9018</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 32 (Witness QBV).
9019 T. 14 March 2002 p. 33 (Witness QBV).
9020 T. 14 March 2002 p. 33 (Witness QBV).
<sup>9021</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 19 (Witness QBV).
9022 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 18-19 (Witness QBV).
9023 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 48-51 (Witness QBV).
<sup>9024</sup> T. 14 March 2002 p. 23 (Witness QBV).
9025 T. 14 March 2002 p. 53 (Witness QBV).
9026 T. 22 January 2007 pp. 34-35 (ICS); T. 24 January 2007 pp. 14, 16 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
<sup>9027</sup> T. 22 January 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9028 T. 24 January 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
<sup>9029</sup> T. 24 January 2007 p. 18 (ICS); T. 25 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9030 T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9031 T. 22 January 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9032 T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9033 T. 22 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9034 T. 23 January 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
```

AND-16 did not know Nteziryayo at the time and therefore did not know anything about him 9035

3291. Witness AND-16 also testified that weapons were not distributed by Nteziryayo at the Kibilizi *secteur* roadblock on 22 April 1994. Witness AND-16 testified that no one at the roadblock was killed with modern weapons. Witness AND-16 also testified that Nteziryayo did not order that the number of roadblocks be increased in Mugusa *commune*. According to Witness AND-16, no new roadblocks were erected.⁹⁰³⁶

3.6.26.4 Deliberations

3292. Witness QBV was the only witness to testify that Nteziryayo incited the population at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, Mugusa *commune*, on 22 April 1994. Witness QBV testified that on 22 April 1994, at a roadblock on the Butare-Mugusa road in Kibilizi *secteur* at about 2.00 p.m. ⁹⁰³⁷ Nteziryayo made a statement to the crowd gathered at the roadblock. ⁹⁰³⁸ The statement encouraged the crowd to hunt for and kill Tutsis. ⁹⁰³⁹ Nteziryayo told the audience "[i]f a snake twists itself around your gourd, do you ignore it, or are you going to kill the snake and spare the gourd or break both of them, kill both of them?" Nteziryayo explained what he meant by these words: "That there were Hutus who had married Tutsis and the Hutus want to hang on to the Tutsis and considered them as their in-laws ... the Hutus, should be considered as enemies and they too have to parish [*sic*]." Thereafter Muvunyi took various weapons from the back of the vehicle in which they arrived and gave them to Nteziryayo, and Nteziryayo in turn distributed these weapons among the *conseiller*, a businessman, ⁹⁰⁴² and the *secteur* President of the MRND Party.

3293. The Chamber notes that Witness QBV was a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony and that he had confessed but had not yet been sentenced for crimes committed during the genocide. ⁹⁰⁴⁴ The Chamber will therefore approach his testimony with appropriate caution as he may have had an incentive to implicate or enhance Nteziryayo's role in the crimes in order to benefit from a less severe sentence in his own case before the Rwandan judicial system.

3294. The Chamber notes that there were several discrepancies between Witness QBV's previous statements and his trial testimony. First, on cross-examination, the Nteziryayo Defence referred Witness QBV to his previous statement of 16 August 2001 which outlined Witness QBV's account of events at the ISAR in Rubona on 20 April 1994. According to the statement:

```
9035 T. 24 January 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9036 T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).
9037 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 19; T. 18 March 2002 p. 87; T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).
9038 T. 14 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness QBV).
9039 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness QBV).
9040 T. 14 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QBV).
9041 T. 14 March 2002 p. 16 (Witness QBV).
9042 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19-20; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
9043 T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (ICS) (Witness QBV).
9044 T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).
9045 Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).
```

Colonel Gasarabwe took the floor and said that the Tutsis were RPF accomplices, he urged youth not to spare a Tutsi woman in order to rape or hide them and said that it was necessary to sweep the dead and wash it outside, not inside. Martin Kabalira was the next to speak and said, "if a snake coils up around a calabash, we must not save the calabash, because, as the snake has to be killed, the calabash has to be broken. I believe he was alluding to the inter-ethnic marriages involving Tutsi women, meaning that they were to be broken up. At the end of the meeting, when Martin Kabilira realised that not all the youth were armed, he personally distributed Chinese-made grenades and hatches [sic], and the colonel also distributed some guns.

3295. While Witness QBV's prior statement outlines almost identical statements to those that Witness QBV attributed to Nteziryayo at the roadblock on 22 April 1994 in his testimony before this Tribunal, his written statement ascribed such statements to one Colonel Gasarabwe and one Martin Kabalira at ISAR. Further, Witness QBV's prior statement stated that Martin Kabilira personally distributed Chinese-made grenades and hatches (*sic*), and the colonel also distributed some guns. 9047 This was almost identical to Witness QBV's oral testimony before this Tribunal as to distribution of weapons at the roadblock on 22 April 1994, which he nevertheless attributed to Nteziryayo. 9048

3296. Further, Witness QBV's prior statement of 16 August 2001 also stated that "one last recommendation of Martin Kabalira was to quickly bury the bodies and to plant banana trees where the destroyed house once stood in order to conceal any traces thereof, so as not to be seen by foreigners." This contrasted with Witness QBV's testimony that Nteziryayo urged them to destroy the shells of the houses that they had burnt, and "plant banana trees or sweet potatoes" so that no traces of the houses remained "because there were whites sent by the United Nations, who were going to visit the country." "9050

3297. Witness QBV responded that his statements were being confused: Kabalira was at ISAR but Nteziryayo distributed weapons on 22 April 1994. Witness QBV further testified that it was Nteziryayo and not Kabalira who gave such instructions to conceal traces of the attacks. 9052

3298. Other inconsistencies between Witness QBV's previous statements and his trial testimony emerged as well. The Nteziryayo Defence referred Witness QBV to his statements of 11 October 1999 and 11 May 2000 both of which outlined that Muvunyi distributed grenades to the youths who had undergone training on 23 April 1994. In contrast, Witness QBV testified at trial that the distribution of weapons took place on 22 April 1994 and not 23

_

⁹⁰⁴⁶ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-94 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁴⁷ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-94 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁴⁸ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19-20; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 124-126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁴⁹ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92, 95 (ICS) (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁰ T. 14 March 2002 p. 32 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵¹ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵² T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-93, 96-97 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵³ Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV).

April 1994. Witness QBV further testified that when the Tribunal's investigators read his previous statement back to him, he noticed the date was wrongly recorded and pointed out to the Tribunal investigators the possible translation error. 9054

3299. Furthermore, Witness QBV testified that he had participated in weapons training on 7 April 1994 at the Mugusa *commune* office. On cross-examination the Nteziryayo Defence pointed out that in his previous statement of 11 October 1999, Witness QBV stated that he was not given grenades because he had not previously undergone weapons training. Further, in his previous statements of 11 May 2000 and 30 March 2001, he did not mention that he had undergone training, despite describing the training that others had undergone in his latter statement.

3300. On cross-examination the Nteziryayo Defence pointed out that no mention was made in his previous statements regarding the distribution of rifles, Kalashnikovs, an M16 and a box of cartridges at the roadblock on 23 April 1994. Witness QBV testified that he did not tell the whole truth in his statements to the Tribunal's investigators because he was detained with relatives of Nteziryayo, including Nteziryayo's brother-in-law and he was afraid for his safety. Witness QBV testified that Nteziryayo's relatives put pressure on him to talk about events in a way which did not incriminate Nteziryayo; to deny having seen Nteziryayo and to testify before the Tribunal that Muvunyi, and not Nteziryayo, distributed weapons. Witness QBV testified that he informed the Prosecutor's office of the pressure he was being put under and these individuals were transferred to another prison yard. The witness explained that in his subsequent statements, he gave further details and that he told the whole truth in his testimony before the Tribunal.

3301. The Chamber accepts that Witness QBV may have been under pressure from his codetainees not to testify against Nteziryayo. Witness QBV testified that the pressure began upon his arrival in prison in February 1999. This pressure continued, and letters were written to him telling him that he should implicate Muvunyi before the Tribunal and testify that he never saw Nteziryayo in Mugusa *commune*. Witness QBV testified that when he swore to tell the truth before the Tribunal "that was when I started telling the whole truth on the events." ⁹⁰⁶³

3302. The Chamber observes that this pressure does not explain the inconsistencies between Witness QBV's previous statements and his trial testimony. The Chamber recalls in particular that while Witness QBV's statement of 16 August 2001 provides a nearly identical recitation of allegedly inciting statements about which Witness QBV testified before this Tribunal, there

⁹⁰⁵⁴ T. 18 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁵ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁶ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 128-129 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁷ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 131-132 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 25B (Nteziryayo) (30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁸ T. 18 March 2002 p. 135 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁵⁹ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 12-14; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁰ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶¹ T. 19 March 2002 p. 13 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶² T. 19 March 2002 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶³ T. 19 March 2002 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

are discrepancies between his statement and his testimony as to where and when these statements occurred, and who pronounced the statements in question; in his testimony, the inflammatory statements in issue were spoken by Nteziryayo on 22 April 1994 at the Kibilizi roadblock, whereas in his 16 August 2001 statement the same words are attributed to Kabalira at the ISAR on 20 April 1994. Furthermore, Witness QBV testified at trial that Nteziryayo distributed weapons, including "Chinese made grenades" after his speech, 9065 in contrast to his prior statement of 16 August 2001 where Witness QBV stated that Kabalira distributed "Chinese-made grenades."

3303. The Chamber considers that while the pressure exerted upon Witness QBV in prison to implicate Muvunyi alone may explain his implication of Muvunyi, it does not explain why Witness QBV gave a statement placing the exact same events on a different day, in a different location, and implicating different people.

3304. As the Chamber has observed above, there are credibility issues relating to this witness. Witness QBV was detained and had not been sentenced for crimes committed during the genocide at the time of his trial testimony. He confessed to killing a large number of Tutsis the day after the alleged distribution of weapons at the roadblock. Accordingly, he may have been motivated to attribute responsibility to Nteziryayo in order to obtain a more lenient sentence.

3305. Furthermore, Witness QBV's testimony regarding the alleged inciting statements of Nteziryayo is contradicted by the testimony of Witness AND-16. Witness AND-16 testified that he was at the Kibilizi *secteur* roadblock on the day Nteziryayo allegedly made the inciting statements and denied Nteziryayo's presence. Witness QBV himself corroborated Witness AND-16's testimony, testifying that Witness AND-16 was present on 22 April 1994. Witness AND-16 was present on 22 April 1994.

3306. Given the differences between Witness QBV's trial testimony and his previous statements, and given his status as a detained witness awaiting sentencing at the time of his testimony, the Chamber finds that absent additional corroboration, the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at the roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, Mugusa *commune*, on or about 22 and 23 April 1994.

⁹⁰⁶⁴ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 15-19 (Witness QBV); *cf.* T. 19 March 2002 pp. 92-94 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁵ T. 14 March 2002 p. 19; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 124-126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁶ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁷ T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁸ T. 19 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness QBV); *see also* Defence Exhibit 22B (Nteziryayo) (22 February 1999, Confession of Witness QBV to Rwandan Authorities); Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV).

⁹⁰⁶⁹ T. 24 January 2007 p. 18 (ICS); T. 25 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

⁹⁰⁷⁰ T. 22 January 2007 pp. 24, 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

⁹⁰⁷¹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS); T. 18 March 2002 p. 126 (Witness QBV).

3.6.27 Tumba Secteur Killings, Late April 1994

3.6.27.1 Introduction

3307. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that from 20 April 1994, massacres became widespread within Butare *préfecture*, and Tutsis were killed where they had sought refuge, thinking that authorities would protect them. ⁹⁰⁷² Between April and July 1994, to ensure that the massacres were carried out in an efficient and unflagging manner, Kanyabashi not only incited the population, but he also aided and abetted the population in the slaughter of Tutsis in Butare. ⁹⁰⁷³

3308. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi, in his role as Ngoma *bourgmestre*, pursued a strategy in collaboration with other authorities, whereby Tutsi refugees were made to believe that they would find refuge in communal places, and when Tutsis assembled in those places to seek sanctuary, they were attacked. The Prosecution contends that Kanyabashi played a crucial role in furthering massacres in several *secteurs* of Ngoma *commune*, including Tumba *secteur*. Specifically, the Prosecution relies on Prosecution Witness FAC in support of the submission that in late April 1994, Kanyabashi told people in Ngoma *commune* to inform Tutsis who were hiding that the war was over and they could return to normal life. Tutsis who believed this message came out of hiding and were taken to the Tumba *secteur* office. When Tutsis arrived at the Tumba *secteur* office, the acting *conseiller* of the *secteur* instructed *Interahamwe* and soldiers to detain and kill them.

3309. In addition to submissions on the vagueness of Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that evidence adduced by the Prosecution does not clearly establish a link between Kanyabashi and the deaths of Tutsis at the Tumba *secteur* office. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that the acting *conseiller* was responsible for ordering killings at the Tumba *secteur* office. The Kanyabashi Defence avers that Kanyabashi was not present at the Tumba *secteur* office when people were killed there.

3310. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that the massacres that took place in Ngoma *commune* at the end of April 1994 were carried out by soldiers, over whom Kanyabashi had no power. The Kanyabashi Defence also contends that Prosecution Witness FAC was a member of a group whose mission was to incriminate Kanyabashi. In support of these submissions, the Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-YYYY, D-2-5-I and D-2-13-D.

3.6.27.2 Preliminary Issues

3311. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which alleges that between April and July 1994, Kanyabashi aided and abetted the slaughter of

.

⁹⁰⁷² Para. 6.27 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹⁰⁷³ Para. 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9); *see also* Para. 6.64 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹⁰⁷⁴ Prosecution Opening Argument, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 80-83.

⁹⁰⁷⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 151; p. 397, para. 40.

⁹⁰⁷⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 318-329.

⁹⁰⁷⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 p. 42.

⁹⁰⁷⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 322.

Tutsis in Butare, is impermissibly vague, and as a result, the Accused was unable to prepare his defence. The Kanyabashi Defence contends that this paragraph fails to indicate a specific time frame or location, nor does it indicate how Kanyabashi allegedly aided and abetted the population in killing Tutsis. The Kanyabashi Defence avers that Paragraph 6.58 does not refer to any particular killings or identify any victims. 9079

- 3312. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that Paragraph 6.58 charges Kanyabashi with responsibility under Article 6 (1) and (3) of the Statute, without identifying Kanyabashi's subordinates, their actions or what Kanyabashi purportedly knew of those actions. 9080
- 3313. The Chamber observes that Paragraph 6.58 does not identify Kanyabashi's subordinates. Nevertheless, the Chamber considers that Kanyabashi's subordinates can be inferred from reading Paragraph 6.58 alongside other relevant paragraphs in the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that Kanyabashi exercised authority over his subordinates in his capacity as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*. Paragraph 6.29 of the Kanyabashi Indictment further states that Ngoma *commune* was the site of numerous massacres in which Kanyabashi was either directly involved or in which his subordinates, as set out in Paragraph 6.32, were implicated. According to Paragraph 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, those subordinates include "conseillers de secteur." ⁹⁰⁸¹
- 3314. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 31 May 2000, 9082 it ordered the Prosecution to specify the identity of the subordinates referred to in Paragraph 6.29 of the Amended Kanyabashi Indictment, filed on 12 August 1999. The Prosecution amended Paragraph 6.29 of the Amended Kanyabashi Indictment, filed on 29 June 2000, to state that Ngoma *commune* was the site of numerous massacres, in which Kanyabashi was either directly involved or in which his subordinates, as set out in Paragraph 6.32 below, were implicated. Paragraph 6.32 of the Amended Indictment states that Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates, notably *conseillers de secteur* and *commune* policemen, to go to Kabakobwa *cellule* to eliminate refugees.
- 3315. The Chamber therefore does not agree with the Kanyabashi Defence that Paragraph 6.58 failed to identify Kanyabashi's subordinates. The Chamber considers that it can be inferred from reading Paragraph 6.58, in the context of the Indictment as a whole, that Kanyabashi is accused of being responsible for the actions of *conseillers de secteurs*. In this instance, the Prosecution's submission in respect of Article 6 (3) of the Statute is that Kanyabashi should be held responsible for the actions of the *conseiller* of Tumba *secteur*, who allegedly oversaw the killings of Tutsis at Tumba *secteur* office in late April 1994.
- 3316. However, the Chamber agrees with the Kanyabashi Defence that Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment is impermissibly vague with regard to the time and location of this allegation. Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment is therefore defective, it could not have put Kanyabashi on notice that the Prosecution would lead evidence on a specific incident in late April 1994 whereby Kanyabashi allegedly encouraged Tutsis to come out of hiding and

⁹⁰⁷⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 318-320.

⁹⁰⁸⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 319.

⁹⁰⁸¹ Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

⁹⁰⁸² Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000.

as a result, they were killed at the Tumba *secteur* office. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will proceed to determine whether this defect was cured through subsequent disclosure.

- 3317. The Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists a single witness, Prosecution Witness FAC, who was expected to testify that around 25 April 1994 he attended a meeting at Tumba *secteur*, where Kanyabashi stated that Tutsis should come out of hiding because peace had been restored. The summary of Witness FAC's expected testimony further states that Tutsis came out of hiding, assembled at the *secteur* office, and were killed by armed attackers. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC is listed in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief as a witness against Kanyabashi on the count of conspiracy to commit genocide and direct and public incitement to commit genocide.
- 3318. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC's 23 February 2000 statement avers that about one week after the genocide started, Kanyabashi came to Tumba *secteur* and stated that Tutsis who were hiding should come out because peace had been restored. This statement indicates that as soon as Tutsis came out of their hiding places, they assembled at the Tumba *secteur* office to receive information about the return of peace, however they were killed by armed soldiers and youth. The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Defence had several years to investigate this allegation. Witness FAC's 23 February 2000 statement was disclosed to the Defence in December 2000, well before his testimony on 3 March 2004, and the commencement of the Kanyabashi Defence case in July 2007.
- 3319. The Chamber therefore considers that the defect in Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. The information contained in the summary of Witnesses FAC's testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and Witness FAC's 23 February 2000 statement provided timely, clear and sufficiently consistent details on the allegation that around 23 April 1994, Kanyabashi came to Tumba *secteur*, stated that Tutsis who were hiding should come out because peace had been restored, and when Tutsis came out and convened at the Tumba *secteur* office, they were killed there by armed soldiers and *Interahamwe*. Consequently, Kanyabashi was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence.

3.6.27.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAC

3320. Witness FAC, a Hutu and detainee at the time of his testimony, 9085 testified that during the genocide, he often went to a local bar in a small house in Tumba *secteur*. 9086 The bar was situated on the road that led to the Tumba *secteur* office. Witness FAC stated that there was no movement during that period; one could not go beyond one's house. However, Witness FAC was able to go to that bar at any time. On two occasions, when he was drinking with

⁹⁰⁸³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAC (15).

⁹⁰⁸⁴ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAC, disclosed 15 November 2000 and 4 December 2000.

⁹⁰⁸⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 84 (Personal Particulars); T. 3 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁸⁶ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 6-7 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁸⁷ T. 3 March 2004 p. 64 (ICS); T. 4 March 2004 pp. 5, 27-28; T. 8 March 2004 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

friends at that bar, Witness FAC encountered Kanyabashi. One of those encounters took place in April 1994 and the other took place approximately one month later. 9088

- 3321. Witness FAC testified that approximately three days after the genocide erupted, on or about 23 April 1994, Kanyabashi came by the bar between 10.00 and 10.30 a.m. ⁹⁰⁸⁹ Kanyabashi was in a white saloon vehicle and was driving in the direction of Tumba *secteur*. There was no one else in the vehicle, other than Kanyabashi and the driver. ⁹⁰⁹⁰ There were more than 10 people at the bar. ⁹⁰⁹¹ Kanyabashi parked his car, spoke to them from his vehicle, and then left. Kanyabashi told them that the war was over, and they should tell all Tutsis, especially those hiding in houses and in sorghum fields, that they could go back to normal life. ⁹⁰⁹²
- 3322. Witness FAC testified that he had hidden two Tutsis in his home. On account of what Kanyabashi said, Witness FAC and others went to get Tutsis they had hidden, and took them to the *secteur* office. Witness FAC brought two Tutsis who he had been hiding to the *secteur* office. Witness FAC testified that they were all convinced that the war was over; when they took Tutsis to the Tumba *secteur* office, they thought these Tutsis would receive "exemplary punishment."
- 3323. However, upon their arrival at the office, a man named Sostene Munyemana, who was running the *secteur*, asked the *Interahamwe* to kill the Tutsis. Munyemana assembled people in the compound, in front of the office. When the number of people had grown, he asked that they be killed. The *Interahamwe*, under the supervision of two soldiers, killed the Tutsis who had been brought to the office. The soldiers were Munyemana's guards. Witness FAC testified that he begged the attackers to spare the two people he had brought to the office, and the soldiers asked him to pay 3,000 francs in return. Since Witness FAC did not have the money, the two Tutsis were killed in his presence.
- 3324. Witness FAC testified that he was about three metres away from the area outside the *secteur* office where people were killed. Approximately 80 people were killed in the compound in front of the office, and approximately 70 people were killed inside the *secteur* office. People who were killed outside the *secteur* office were made to lie on the ground. Young people used clubs and various other instruments to kill. Witness FAC estimated that there were between 30 and 40 attackers. Soldiers shot those who attempted to run away. In this manner, the soldiers killed four people who attempted to run away, while the other people

⁹⁰⁸⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 30 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁸⁹ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62, 64 (ICS); T. 4 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁰ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹² T. 3 March 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹³ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁴ T. 3 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS); T. 4 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁵ T. 4 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁶ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁷ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁰⁹⁹ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁰ T. 3 March 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAC).

were killed by youth. The killings lasted for approximately 40 minutes, as people continued to bring Tutsis to the *secteur* office. 9102 Witness FAC testified that afterward, they were asked to remove the bodies of the victims in the *secteur* office, and he saw injections in their arms. ⁹¹⁰³

- 3325. Witness FAC testified that Kanyabashi was not present at the secteur office. 9104 Witness FAC testified that he knew Kanyabashi very well. Kanyabashi was a friend of his when Witness FAC was studying. He used to meet Kanyabashi every day. Witness FAC identified Kanyabashi in court. 9105
- 3326. Witness FAC testified that he was subsequently detained in Rwanda for the role he played in bringing the two Tutsis from his house to the secteur office where they were killed. 9106 According to Witness FAC, the Rwandan judicial system provides that whoever is present where killings are carried out is implicated in the crime. He was held responsible for conniving against the two people he took to the *secteur* office. 9107 Witness FAC testified that he did not personally kill anyone, but he was present during the killings. Witness FAC stated that he could not dissociate himself from the group of killers. He supported them. 9108
- 3327. Witness FAC testified that he did not believe he did anything wrong, because he acted in accordance with instructions he had been given. When he led the two Tutsis to the *secteur* office, he did not think they would be killed there. 9109 He thought those Tutsis would live, and that he would be compensated for having hidden them. He believed there was shared responsibility for the death of those two people. He stated, "[o]ne could not have refused to obey the orders of the boss."9110 Witness FAC testified that he first denied that he was responsible for the death of those people. After four years of detention, he confessed to having committed those acts 9111
- 3328. Witness FAC testified that he had long-running problems with his eyes. Witness FAC conceded that he was in frail health, and that he had health problems subsequent to a car accident. When asked if he was sane, Witness FAC stated: "I cannot say that I am insane, but I cannot say that I am normal just like anybody else. All I can tell you is that I am narrating things to you that I experienced myself and things I saw myself."9112

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

3329. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu former civil servant, 9113 testified that from 19 to 21 April 1994, he had been assigned to guard one of Ngoma commune's border areas at Mukura bridge

```
<sup>9102</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
```

⁹¹⁰³ T. 4 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁴ T. 3 March 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁵ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁶ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁷ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 14, 23 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁰⁹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹¹⁰ T. 4 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹¹¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹¹² T. 8 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹¹³ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

on the border between Ngoma and Gishamvu communes. 9114 On 21 April 1994, the witness intended to stay at home but on receiving a message from a colleague, he went to Mukura bridge at 8.30 or 9.00 a.m. 9115 He went home around noon. 9116 In cross-examination the witness was confronted with his previous statement of 19 November 2004 in which he stated that he did not work on 21 April 1994. The witness explained this contradiction by saying that he had told the investigator that he had a rest day that day, not that he had rested that day. 9117

- 3330. Witness D-2-YYYY stated that on 22 April 1994, Kanyabashi chaired a meeting at the commune office, which started at 8.30 a.m. After the meeting, Kanyabashi remained at the commune office until 1.30 p.m. and then went home for two hours. 9118 He returned to the commune office at 3.30 p.m. and went home for the day at about 5.00 p.m. 9119 The witness ate at Kanyabashi's house from 3.30 to 5.00 p.m. before returning to the *commune* office where he stayed the night. 9120
- 3331. Witness D-2-YYYY remained at the *commune* office until 5 p.m. the following day, 23 April 1994. 9121 After 5.00 p.m., he was posted to guard Kanyabashi's residence with Witness D-2-5-I and spent the night there. Kanyabashi left his home with Witness D-2-5-I at 6.00 p.m. and returned around 7.00 or 7.30 p.m. He did not go out again. 9122
- 3332. On 24 April 1994, Witness D-2-YYYY was on guard at Kanyabashi's house until 5.00 p.m. Kanyabashi did not go out that day. Witness D-2-YYY testified that he remembered what happened between 21 and 24 April 1994 because it was the first time in his life he had experienced such events. 9123

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

3333. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, testified that on 22 April 1994, he rested at home until 5.00 p.m. when he reported for work at the *commune* office where he spent the night. 9124 On 23 April 1994, the witness remained at the commune office; at 5.00 p.m. Kanyabashi arrived and asked the witness to accompany him. 9125 Kanyabashi, the witness and another person drove to Mukoni and the Hotel Faucon, where they were shot at. In view of the prevailing insecurity, the witness spent the night at Kanyabashi's house. 9126 He denied being on duty with Witness D-2-YYYY on 23 April 1994. 9127

⁹¹¹⁴ T. 27 November 2007 pp. 39-41, 44 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 39 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 52-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

9115 T. 27 November 2007 p. 46 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 65-67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹¹⁶ T. 27 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹¹⁷ T. 3 December 2007 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹¹⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹¹⁹ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 20-21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹²⁰ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹²¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹²² T. 28 November 2007 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹²³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹²⁴ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 14-16 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹²⁵ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 48, 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹²⁶ T. 21 January 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹²⁷ T. 23 January 2008 pp. 59-67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

3334. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee, testified that Witness FAC was a member of a group of people in Butare prison who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-13-D contended that Witness FAC and others came to his cell in prison and attempted to recruit him to testify against Kanyabashi. 9128

3.6.27.4 Deliberations

3335. The Prosecution adduced evidence from a single factual witness, Prosecution Witness FAC, in support of the contention that Kanyabashi is responsible for conspiring to bring about the massacre of Tutsis at the Tumba *secteur* office around 23 April 1994. Specifically, the Prosecution asserts that Kanyabashi told people gathered at a bar in Butare town, including Prosecution Witness FAC, that they should inform Tutsis who were hiding that it was safe to come out. Allegedly, on account of Kanyabashi's words, Witness FAC led two Tutsis who had been hiding in his home to the Tumba *secteur* office, where they were subsequently killed on the instructions of the acting *conseiller* of the *secteur*, who was overseeing *Interahamwe* and two soldiers in killing Tutsis there.

3336. The Chamber observes that the Kanyabashi Defence does not appear to contest that Tutsis were killed at Tumba *secteur* office around 23 April 1994. The Chamber further notes that it is not contested that Kanyabashi was absent from the Tumba *secteur* office when Witness FAC allegedly witnessed Tutsis being killed there. 9131

3337. The issues of contention are whether, around 23 April 1994, Kanyabashi told Prosecution Witness FAC to take Tutsis who had come out of hiding to the Tumba *secteur* office, and if so, whether Kanyabashi was acting in concert with or had control over the actions of the *conseiller* of the *secteur*, who purportedly oversaw the *Interahamwe* and soldiers killing Tutsis at the Tumba *secteur* office.

3338. The Chamber accepts Witness FAC's testimony that he knew Kanyabashi very well. Witness FAC testified that Kanyabashi was his friend when Witness FAC was studying, and that he used to meet Kanyabashi every day. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, and he identified Kanyabashi in court. Although Witness FAC testified that he had poor eyesight, the Chamber considers his identification of Kanyabashi in 1994 to be reliable in light of the above factors, as well as Witness FAC's testimony that Kanyabashi spoke directly to his group when Kanyabashi stated that peace had returned.

3339. The Chamber recalls that Witness FAC testified that his encounter with Kanyabashi at the bar, where Kanyabashi allegedly stated that Tutsis should come out of hiding, took place

_

⁹¹²⁸ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

⁹¹²⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 151; p. 397, para. 40.

⁹¹³⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 327-329.

⁹¹³¹ See T. 3 March 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness FAC); Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 327.

⁹¹³² T. 3 March 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹³³ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹³⁴ T. 4 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAC).

around 10.00 a.m., on or about 23 April 1994. 9135 The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Defence led alibi evidence through Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-5-I, that if believed, would provide Kanyabashi with an alibi for several periods of time between 22 and 24 April 1994. The Chamber further notes that the testimony of Witness D-2-YYYY, if believed, would provide Kanyabashi with an alibi for the following periods: between 8.30 a.m. and 1.30 p.m. and 3.30 and 5.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994; 9136 between 5.00 and 6.00 p.m. and between 7.00 p.m. and 12.00 midnight on 23 April 1994; 9137 and until 5.00 p.m. on 24 April 1994. 9138 Similarly, the testimony of Witness D-2-5-I, if believed, would provide Kanyabashi with an alibi for the entire evening of 23 April 1994, from 5.00 p.m. 9139 Further, as regards 22 and 24 April 1994, the alibi evidence covers most of the day up to 5.00 p.m., the time when Witness D-2-YYYY left Kanyabashi at the *commune* office and his home respectively. The Chamber observes that the alibi evidence of Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-5-I, even if believed, does not cover the morning of 23 April 1994. Regardless, the Chamber considers that there is no need, in the instant case, to assess whether the Prosecution has eliminated the reasonable possibility that the alibi is true.

3340. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC provided a detailed account of killings he witnessed at the Tumba *secteur* office. Nevertheless, in the Chamber's view, the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish that Kanyabashi told Witness FAC to bring Tutsis who had been hiding to the *secteur* office.

3341. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC's testimony consistently imputes responsibility on Kanyabashi for the fate that befell the two Tutsis that Witness FAC took to the *secteur* office, but his testimony was ambiguous regarding whether Kanyabashi explicitly told people to escort Tutsis who had come out of hiding to the Tumba *secteur* office. The Chamber observes that when Witness FAC was asked which authorities instructed them to take Tutsis to the *secteur* office, Witness FAC responded, "[a]s regards the fact of leading people to the *secteur* office, it was communal administration that gave us those instructions and that administration was represented by Kanyabashi." Similarly, when Witness FAC testified that Kanyabashi was the authority who gave them "those instructions", ⁹¹⁴² it is unclear whether Witness FAC meant to say that Kanyabashi told them that Tutsis should come out of hiding or that Kanyabashi said that Tutsis should come out of hiding and assemble at the *secteur* office.

3342. The Chamber observes that Witness FAC gave contradictory evidence on this point. On several occasions, Witness FAC testified that the only thing Kanyabashi said at the bar in late April 1994 was: "Come over. I want to tell you something. Now, there's peace. Tell the Tutsis in your house [and] that are hiding in the sorghum fields to come out." However, Witness

⁹¹³⁵ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹¹³⁶ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 19, 21 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹³⁷ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹³⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

⁹¹³⁹ T. 21 January 2008 pp. 48, 50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

⁹¹⁴⁰ Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 41; Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 106; Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC), para. 18.

⁹¹⁴¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁴² T. 4 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁴³ T. 4 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAC).

FAC also appeared to testify that Kanyabashi instructed them to take Tutsis to the secteur office. 9144

3343. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that concerns were raised by the Kanyabashi Defence regarding the credibility of Witness FAC's evidence on the events at issue. 9145 Witness FAC was a detained accomplice witness at the time of his testimony. Accordingly, he may have had an incentive to testify against an Accused before the Tribunal to deflect potential liability from himself, and gain favour with Rwandan authorities. 9146 The Chamber notes that reliance upon the evidence of accomplice witnesses per se does not constitute a legal error. 9147 Nevertheless, when weighing the probative value of such evidence, the Chamber is bound to carefully consider the totality of circumstances in which it was tendered. 9148 In particular, consideration should be given to circumstances showing that accomplice witnesses may have incentives to implicate the Accused or to lie. 9149 In this particular instance, Witness FAC may have been motivated to blame Kanyabashi for the death of Tutsis at the Tumba secteur office in late April 1994, in order to exonerate himself. The Chamber considers it significant that Witness FAC testified that he hoped to be released from prison for admitting a certain level of responsibility for the deaths of these two people. 9150 Additionally, the Chamber observes that this witness had previously demonstrated a willingness to tailor his evidence to serve his interests. Witness FAC testified that he first denied that he was responsible for the death of those people, but after four years of detention, he confessed to having committed those acts. 9151

3344. In light of all of the foregoing, the Chamber considers that the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish that Kanyabashi was acting in concert with the individual who was overseeing the *Interahamwe* and soldiers in killing Tutsis at the Tumba secteur office. Witness FAC's evidence did not clearly establish that the individual in charge of the secteur office when Witness FAC arrived was a properly appointed conseiller, over whom Kanyabashi had effective control. The Chamber also considers that the Prosecution failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish that Kanyabashi exercised control over the *Interahamwe* and soldiers who were killing people at the Tumba *secteur* office.

3345. Taking into account the gaps in the evidence led, the fact that Witness FAC was an uncorroborated witness on this allegation, and considering Witness FAC's status as a detained accomplice witness, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi told Hutus to lead Tutsis to their death at the Tumba secteur office or that Kanyabashi authorised or had control over the actions of the *Interahamwe*, soldiers and civilians who killed Tutsis at the Tumba secteur office, around 23 April 1994.

⁹¹⁴⁴ T. 4 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁴⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 321-347.

⁹¹⁴⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 321-347.

⁹¹⁴⁷ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 128; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 98; see also Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 204.

9148 Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 128; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 98; see also Ntagerura et al.,

Judgement (AC), paras. 204, 206.

⁹¹⁴⁹ Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 305; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 204, 206.

⁹¹⁵⁰ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAC).

⁹¹⁵¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAC).

3.6.28 Bishya Trading Centre, Late April 1994

3.6.28.1 Introduction

3346. Paragraph 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, prominent figures of authority propagated incitement to hatred and violence. Ndayambaje and others publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis and their "accomplices". The Prosecution submits that by making public statements calling for the extermination of the Tutsi population, Ndayambaje gave effect to the Interim Government's plan to commit genocide. The public took heed of Ndayambaje's statements and Tutsis were killed as a result. Ndayambaje was an influential figure in Muganza *commune* during the time frame covered by Paragraph 5.8 of the Indictment; he was the former *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* and was reappointed to that position in June 1994. He used his position of authority to rally the public into killing Tutsis. In this connection, the Prosecution alleges that in April 1994, Ndayambaje incited members of the public at the Bishya trading centre to attack Tutsis who had gathered on Kabuye Hill. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAU and FAG.

3347. In addition to its submission on defects in the Indictment, considered below, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Prosecution evidence lacks credibility and cannot be relied on. 9154

3.6.28.2 Preliminary Issues

3348. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that Paragraph 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment is impermissibly vague; it does not provide any specific examples of public incitement by Ndayambaje. In particular, Paragraph 5.8 does not contain any information on when or where such incitement took place, the target audience, the nature and content of the inflammatory utterances or the link between the incitement and any crime. 9155

3349. Paragraph 5.8 is general in nature and, aside from alleging that Ndayambaje publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period, it fails to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. The Chamber therefore considers it to be defective. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraph 5.8 was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

3350. The allegation that Ndayambaje incited members of the public to kill Tutsis at the Bishya trading centre does not feature in the summaries of Witnesses FAG and FAU's expected testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. Witnesses FAG and FAU were the only Prosecution witnesses who testified on this particular incident of alleged incitement involving Ndayambaje.

⁹¹⁵² Para. 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹¹⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 460, paras. 37, 39-40.

⁹¹⁵⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 409, 445.

⁹¹⁵⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 48.

⁹¹⁵⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAG (19); Witness FAU (32).

- 3351. The summary of Witness FAG's expected testimony states that Kanyenzi ordered the witness to go to Kabuye Hill with Burundian refugees to exterminate Tutsi survivors. No reference is made to Ndayambaje's involvement in the issuance of this order nor does the witness suggest that Ndayambaje incited people to join in the killings at Kabuye Hill. Witness FAU's expected testimony states that Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo incited a 1,000-person crowd to kill Tutsis in May 1994. This does not relate to the allegation at Bishya, which allegedly took place in April 1994 and involved a much smaller audience. The Prosecution did not include any additional information in the Pre-Trial Brief relating to this allegation, and did not reference this event in its opening statement.
- 3352. The Chamber concludes that the Ndayambaje Defence did not receive proper notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence as to this allegation. Subsequent Prosecution disclosures failed to cure the Indictment's defects. Accordingly, the Chamber will not consider the Prosecution evidence insofar as it relates to this allegation.

3.6.29 Replacement of Conseillers, Late April 1994

3.6.29.1 Introduction

- 3353. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that following 20 April 1994, Kanyabashi was responsible for the dismissal of civil servants and political appointees who did not approve of or participate in the killing of Tutsis with enough zeal. The Indictment further alleges that around late April 1994, Kanyabashi removed certain *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune* and replaced them with people who were known to have taken part in, or shown approval of, the murdering of Tutsis. The Indictment further alleges that
- 3354. In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAL and QA, and Prosecution Expert Witnesses André Guichaoua and Alison Des Forges. 9159
- 3355. In addition to its submissions on defects in the Kanyabashi Indictment considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to adduce sufficient evidence showing that Kanyabashi was responsible for replacing certain officials. The Defence also asserts that Witness QA failed to testify truthfully at trial. Finally, the Defence asserts that the testimony of the Prosecution expert witnesses was insufficient to prove that Kanyabashi replaced certain officials. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on Defence Witness D-2-21-T.

3.6.29.2 Preliminary Issues

3356. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the allegations against Kanyabashi are unduly vague and were not sufficiently pled in the Indictment. It asserts that the Indictment failed to

-

⁹¹⁵⁷ Para. 6.26 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹¹⁵⁸ Para. 6.30 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹¹⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 399, para. 48; *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 52.

⁹¹⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 618-626.

⁹¹⁶¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 620.

include "essential facts" which would allow it to prepare Kanyabashi's defence, notably the identity of the *conseillers* whom Kanyabashi allegedly replaced. 9162

3357. The Chamber notes the Prosecution's allegation that Kanyabashi replaced *conseillers* with people in favour of killing Tutsis forms part of its case in eight of the nine counts brought against Kanyabashi. The Chamber considers the identity of the replaced officials to be material to these counts. Paragraph 6.26 of the Kanyabashi Indictment does not put forth the identities of the officials who Kanyabashi is alleged to have replaced. Paragraph 6.30 provides additional detail, specifying the approximate date and geographic location where the alleged replacements occurred; however this paragraph also does not indicate the identity of the replaced officials. In omitting the material facts regarding the replacement of which officials were to be at issue, the Chamber finds that the information contained in Paragraphs 6.26 and 6.30 of the Indictment did not provide adequate details to enable Kanyabashi to prepare his defence. The Chamber concludes that Paragraphs 6.26 and 6.30 of the Kanyabashi Indictment are unduly vague and are therefore defective.

3358. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will determine whether Paragraphs 6.26 and 6.30 of the Indictment were cured of their defects through subsequent disclosure.

3359. The Chamber notes that the summary of the anticipated testimony of Witness QA contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention Kanyabashi's replacement of officials, nor provide additional facts. However, the Prosecution later disclosed Witness QA's prior statements of 14 May 1996 and 20 June 1995. Witness QA's 14 May 1996 statement, disclosed originally to the Kanyabashi Defence on 4 December 2000, indicates that Kanyabashi appointed a man named Jacques Habimana to replace a *conseiller*. This disclosure was made to the Defence well in advance of Witness QA's testimony, 18 March 2004. Furthermore, Witness QA's statement of 20 June 1995, disclosed to the Kanyabashi Defence originally on 22 January 2004, indicates that a *conseiller* named Jacques replaced a *conseiller* who had been murdered.

3360. In addition, the Chamber observes that further information regarding the circumstances of Kanyabashi's role in replacing *conseillers* with people in favour of killing Tutsis is contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. The witness summaries contained in the Appendix provided notice that Kanyabashi would be accused of replacing

_

Motion arguing that Paras. 6.26 and 6.30, among others, be deleted from the Indictment because of their vagueness and imprecision. The Defence argued that, in the allegedly deficient paragraphs, "[s]pecific mention is not made of those who were dismissed nor at what point in time their dismissal took place... [i]n brief, this text is so vague and ambiguous that it must be set aside." *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Preliminary Motion Based on Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 9 October 1999, para. 42. In its Decision, the Chamber dismissed the Defence's request to set aside the Indictment but held that that "the Prosecution must clearly distinguish the acts for which the Accused incurs criminal responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute from those for which he incurs criminal responsibility under Article 6 (3)." *Kanyabashi*, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000, p. 8.

⁹¹⁶⁴ 20 June 1995, Statement of QA, disclosed 22 January 2004 (in Kinyarwanda) and 23 February 2004 (in English and French).

conseillers through the summaries of anticipated evidence of two witnesses who did not testify at trial, Prosecution Witnesses QC and QE.

3361. Witness QC's summary in the Pre-Trial Brief states that Kanyabashi "appointed a notorious extremist, Jacques Habimana of the MDR-PAWA party." Witness QE's summary in the Pre-Trial Brief states that "[i]n the case of the Conseilleur who was killed, Kanyabashi replaced him with Jacques Habimana, an extremist." The summary further states that Witness QE heard Habimana giving instructions to killers. The information contained in the summaries of anticipated evidence of Witnesses QC and QE is consistent with that provided in Witness QA's previous statements.

3362. The Chamber considers that the information contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, combined with the disclosures of Witness QA's previous statements, gave the Defence notice that Kanyabashi was accused of replacing *conseillers* with people in favour of killing Tutsis. Kanyabashi was thereby informed of the material facts that the Prosecution intended to prove at trial, he was able to prepare his defence, and the defect in the Kanyabashi Indictment was thereby cured. Accordingly, the Chamber will proceed to consider the evidence brought in respect of this allegation.

3.6.29.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QA

3363. Witness QA, a Hutu worker in 1994, identified Kanyabashi in court. ⁹¹⁶⁷ Witness QA stated that he knew Kanyabashi before the events, ⁹¹⁶⁸ and averred that Kanyabashi was very respected by everyone, including Tutsis, and that he was loved by the population. ⁹¹⁶⁹ He stated that Kanyabashi was the authority to whom the population listened most. ⁹¹⁷⁰

3364. Witness QA testified that during April 1994, Sayidi Munanyankumburwa was the *secteur conseiller* of Ngoma *commune*. Witness QA further testified that in April 1994, Munanyankumburwa had disappeared and had left with the stamp from the *secteur* office. Kanyabashi organised a meeting in Ngoma *commune*, the purpose of which was to ask Munanyankumburwa for the stamp of the *commune*. Witness QA testified that he heard Kanyabashi speak with a close relative of *conseiller* Sayidi Munyankumburwa. ⁹¹⁷¹ Witness QA testified that Kanyabashi stated to the relative: "I need to get that stamp of the *secteur* back. So, Mr. Hussein, I am asking you to go with Sayidi – go to Sayidi, tell him that there will be no problem. I will ensure his safety." ⁹¹⁷² This discussion was held in public. ⁹¹⁷³

⁹¹⁶⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QC (50).

⁹¹⁶⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QE (53).

⁹¹⁶⁷ T. 22 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁶⁸ T. 18 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁶⁹ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 9, 58; T. 23 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁰ T. 23 March 2004 p. 4 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷¹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 88; T. 18 March 2004 p. 86 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷² T. 22 March 2004 p. 7; T. 18 March 2004 p. 88 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷³ T. 22 March 2004 p. 52 (Witness QA).

3365. Witness QA testified that in early May, he attended another meeting convened and chaired by the *conseiller* at the Ngoma *secteur* office, who told the people that Kanyabashi had ordered him to hold the meeting. Witness QA testified that when the *conseiller* entered the venue, soldiers took the *conseiller* away and killed him. The witness explained that the soldiers targeted the *conseiller* because he was investigating the death of a young man named Bosco, son of Gasinya. Witness QA testified that the soldiers said that the *conseiller* was an accomplice of the Tutsis because he wanted to investigate Bosco's death. Witness QA further testified that the *conseiller's* death was not investigated.

3366. Witness QA stated that Kanyabashi appointed a man named "Jacque" to replace Munyankumburwa as the *conseiller*. Witness QA described "Jacque" as a very influential person during the events at issue. 9178 Witness QA testified that "Jacque Habimana" was the person who led the massacres in his area. 9179

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

3367. In his Expert Report, André Guichaoua identified Jacques Habimana as a store-keeper turned private journalist. The Report indicated that Kanyabashi appointed Habimana as *conseiller* of Ngoma *secteur*, to replace Said Munyankumburwa who had been assassinated. The Report described Habimana as "notorious" and indicated that his "killing zeal was demonstrated on 29 April 1994, during the attack on Ngoma Church."

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

3368. In her Expert Report, Alison Des Forges indicated that Jacques Habimana "exploited his connections with militia to attack Tutsi as well as to build a personal base of power that got him installed as councilor of Ngoma sector". 9181

3.6.29.4 Deliberations

3369. The Prosecution adduced evidence from one factual witness and two expert witnesses in support of Paragraphs 6.26 and 6.30 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. These Indictment Paragraphs seek to attribute responsibility to Kanyabashi for replacing *conseillers* with people in support of killing Tutsis.

3370. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution Closing Brief states that "Witness FAL testified that Joseph Kanyabashi said that Ndayambaje was being appointed as Burgomaster because Christologue who had been Burgomaster of Muganza *commune* had not been sufficiently active." The Chamber observes that Witness FAL gave no such testimony.

⁹¹⁷⁴ T. 22 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁵ T. 22 March 2004 pp. 7, 52 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁶ T. 22 March 2004 p. 53 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁷ T. 22 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁷⁹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁸⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 111.

⁹¹⁸¹ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 32.

⁹¹⁸² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 399, para. 48.

Rather, Witness FAL testified that Nteziryayo said he came to install Ndayambaje because Chrisologue was not active enough. 9183

- 3371. As regards Witness QA, the Chamber recalls the existence of serious credibility issues surrounding his testimony. When recalled by the Chamber for further questioning in 2008, Witness QA admitted that regarding his original testimony in 2004 "in everything that I said, there are only a few things that are truthful. For the most part, my testimony was lies." Although Witness QA did not specifically admit that his 2004 testimony regarding Kanyabashi's appointment of *conseillers* was false, his admission of lying under oath regarding most of his testimony undermines his credibility as a witness. Accordingly, the Chamber does not find Witness QA's account of the meeting as a whole to be reliable or credible.
- 3372. Guichaoua and Des Forges also provided evidence of Kanyabashi's replacing conseillers with people in favour of killing Tutsis. Guichaoua's Report indicates that Kanyabashi appointed Jacques Habimana as conseiller and that Habimana showed a zeal for killing Tutsis. Des Forges' Report states Habimana was installed as conseiller of Ngoma secteur based in part upon his attacks upon Tutsis. 9186
- 3373. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that these Reports are insufficient, in and of themselves, to prove the material facts of the allegation at hand. It argues that as Expert Witnesses, Des Forges and Guichaoua could not testify as to facts, but instead were limited in their testimony to offering their expert opinion. ⁹¹⁸⁷
- 3374. The Chamber recalls that in its 24 June 2004 Decision, the contents of Guichaoua's Report, Prosecution Exhibit 136, were admitted into evidence, over Defence objections. Furthermore the Chamber recalls that in its 7 June 2004 Decision, the contents of Des Forges' Report, Prosecution Exhibit 110, were accepted into evidence over Defence objections. 9189
- 3375. The Chamber notes that as previously set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), "while the report and testimony of an expert witness may be based on facts narrated by ordinary witnesses or facts from other evidence, an expert witness cannot, in principle, testify himself or herself on the acts and conduct of accused persons without having been called to testify also as a factual witness and without his or her statement having been disclosed in accordance with the applicable rules concerning factual witnesses." Furthermore, "the role of expert witnesses is to assist the Trial Chamber in its assessment of the evidence before it, and not to testify on disputed facts as would ordinary witnesses."
- 3376. In the instant case, given Witness QA's lack of credibility, the only evidence introduced supporting the allegation that Kanyabashi replaced *conseillers* with people who were in favour of killing Tutsis comes in the form of the Expert Reports accepted into

⁹¹⁸³ T. 9 February 2004 p. 38; T. 9 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness FAL) (French) (for spelling of "Chrysologue").

⁹¹⁸⁴ T. 30 October 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QA).

⁹¹⁸⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 111.

⁹¹⁸⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 32.

⁹¹⁸⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 622-625.

⁹¹⁸⁸ T. 24 June 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

⁹¹⁸⁹ T. 7 June 2004 p. 69 (Des Forges).

evidence. Absent additional corroborating evidence from witnesses testifying to the material facts of the case, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt. 9190 Because the Chamber has concluded that Witness QA's testimony is unreliable for independent reasons, it need not address the impact of Witness D-2-21-T's testimony on his credibility.

3.6.30 Meetings with Interahamwe, 7 and 12 May 1994

3.6.30.1 Introduction

3377. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, members of the government, political leaders and others conspired to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. 9191 Nyiramasuhuko and others allegedly developed, adhered to and executed this genocidal plan by organising, ordering and participating in massacres of Tutsis and moderate Hutus. 9192 The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that between 9 April and 14 July 1994, numerous Cabinet meetings were held in Kigali, Gitarama and Gisenyi. During this period, ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, were regularly briefed on massacres of the civilian population. 9193 The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment contends that Interim Government Cabinet members supported and implemented the extermination plan, 9194 and MRND leaders chose to provide support to *Interahamwe* members. 9195

3378. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko was an active member of the Interim Government, a member of the MRND and an influential figure in Butare throughout the period of April to July 1994. 9196 According to the Prosecution, the Interim Government continued to function between 9 April and 14 July 1994 – it was able to hold regular meetings, make political appointments, and issue directives and instructions, which were then carried out. 9197 The Prosecution avers that Government Cabinet meetings were held concurrently with meetings of MRND Ministers, and Nyiramasuhuko participated in most of these meetings. 9198 Nyiramasuhuko supported the Interim Government's plans and objectives, and did her part to ensure these objectives were carried out. 9199

3379. The Prosecution contends that Nyiramasuhuko was fully and actively in agreement with the Interim Government's objective to commit genocide. 9200 Nyiramasuhuko played an

⁹¹⁹⁰ See Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 509.

Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10-11 against Ntahobali).

Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10-11 against Ntahobali); see also Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

Para. 6.13 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10 against Nyiramasuhuko only).

⁹¹⁹⁴ Para. 6.10 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹¹⁹⁵ Para. 5.11 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹¹⁹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 27, 31, paras. 4, 15; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 14.

⁹¹⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 35, para. 25; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 16.

⁹¹⁹⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 32-33, para. 17.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 27, para. 4; see also Para. 6.10 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of any counts). Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 21, 24; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 31, para. 15.

active role in ensuring the Interim Government's agreement to commit genocide was elaborated, adhered to and executed in Butare *préfecture*. The Prosecution submits that the Interim Government's meetings and directives reveal that between 9 April and 14 July 1994 the Interim Government agreed, and engaged in concerted and coordinated action, to commit genocide, and to incite, aid and abet massacres of Tutsi and Hutu moderates. 9202

3380. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko's notes of meetings demonstrate coordination between the Interim Government and *Interahamwe*, ⁹²⁰³ who committed many atrocities in Butare. ⁹²⁰⁴ Nyiramasuhuko's meetings with the *Interahamwe* show that Nyiramasuhuko had a relationship with the *Interahamwe*, which entailed the *Interahamwe* following Nyiramasuhuko's orders. ⁹²⁰⁵ MRND leaders, in collaboration with others, provided support to those *Interahamwe* members most devoted to their cause. ⁹²⁰⁶ The Prosecution contends that members of this "organised militia" were led and financed by prominent figures from the President's entourage, and transported in public administration vehicles.

3381. Specifically, the Prosecution submits that on 7 May 1994 in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, Nyiramasuhuko attended a Cabinet meeting which had civil defence on its agenda. The Prosecution posits that the Interim Government's "civil defence" programme was a component of its genocidal strategy. On the same day, Nyiramasuhuko met with the national Chairman of the *Interahamwe*, Robert Kajuga, and other members of the *Interahamwe* national committee. The Prosecution submits that this meeting was one of a series of important mobilisation meetings. Nyiramasuhuko discussed with Kajuga how the situation was under the *Interahamwe's* control, and the *Interahamwe's* need for *laissez-passers* for their vehicles. Interim Government Cabinet meeting, Kajuga's remark that the situation was under the *Interahamwe's* control, and Nyiramasuhuko's discussion on government assistance to the *Interahamwe*, all demonstrate collaboration between the Interim Government and the *Interahamwe* in the midst of wide-scale massacres against the Tutsis.

3382. The Prosecution further contends that on 12 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko attended an MRND Political Bureau meeting for MRND Ministers, which lasted until 13 May 1994. Civil defence was again slated as an agenda item. At that meeting, Nyiramasuhuko discussed

⁹²⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 31, para. 15.

⁹²⁰² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 36, para. 27.

⁹²⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 29, para. 7; *see also* Paras. 1.15, 1.17 and 3.10 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts) (defining the *Interahamwe* as the youth wing or youth organisation of the MRND).

Paras. 1.17, 5.15 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

⁹²⁰⁵ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 23-24.

Para. 5.11 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹²⁰⁷ Paras. 1.17, 5.15 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

⁹²⁰⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 57, para. 99.

⁹²⁰⁹ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

⁹²¹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 57, para. 99; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

⁹²¹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 63, para. 117.

Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 57, para. 99.

⁹²¹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 58-59, paras. 101, 105.

assistance for the *Interahamwe*. Her notes on this meeting indicate, *inter alia*, that the *Interahamwe* would contribute to civil defence, and that there were wounded *Interahamwe* who needed treatment, food, means of communication and a command post. 9214

3383. The Prosecution submits that the 7 May 1994 and 12 May 1994 meetings between Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe* are linked. At the former, Nyiramasuhuko discussed the *Interahamwe's* need for food, treatment and *laissez-passers*. Five days later, she formally met with the *Interahamwe* and MRND politicians for further discussion on this issue. ⁹²¹⁵ In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on Prosecution Expert Witnesses André Guichaoua and on Nyiramasuhuko's testimony.

3384. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not contest the Prosecution's assertion, in Paragraph 6.13 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, that "numerous Cabinet meetings were held successively in Kigali, Gitarama and Gisenyi." However, it rejects the allegation that between 9 April and 14 July 1994, ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, received "regular briefings" on the situation with regard to civilian massacres. 9216

3385. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not contest that on 7 May 1994 Nyiramasuhuko attended a Cabinet meeting in Murambi, 9217 and that she spoke with Kajuga around the time of this Cabinet meeting. It submits, however, that Prosecution Expert Witness Guichaoua incorrectly characterised the 7 May 1994 encounter between Nyiramasuhuko and members of the *Interahamwe* national committee as a formal meeting. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence argues that Nyiramasuhuko encountered Kajuga by chance during a break in the meeting. The Defence rejects the Prosecution's assertion that this meeting is evidence of collaboration between the Interim Government and the *Interahamwe*. 9219

3386. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not contest that from 12-13 May 1994 Nyiramasuhuko attended an MRND Political Bureau meeting. The Defence submits that it was only at this 12 May 1994 meeting that Nyiramasuhuko understood that Kajuga and other *Interahamwe* members had come to Murambi on 7 May 1994 to meet MRND leaders. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence argues that her notes from the 12 May 1994 MRND Political Bureau meeting indicate that a decision was taken at the 12 May 1994 meeting, that the *Interahamwe's* requests for food, healthcare, and means of communication as well as the *Interahamwe's* contribution to civil defence, would be conditional on identifying the "real" *Interahamwe*, as opposed to "killers" who proclaimed to be *Interahamwe*. The Defence submits that Nyiramasuhuko's notes indicate that MRND Ministers did not discuss the extermination of Tutsis, but rather talked about whether they had a reasonable chance of winning the war.

⁹²¹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 58, para. 103.

⁹²¹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 59, para. 104.

⁹²¹⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 539.

⁹²¹⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 551.

⁹²¹⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 497; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 60-62.

⁹²¹⁹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 60.

⁹²²⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 62.

⁹²²¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 62-63 (*stating* that the "real" *Interahamwe* had been infiltrated by RPF elements).

⁹²²² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 65.

support of these submissions, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on Nyiramasuhuko's testimony. 9223

3.6.30.2 Preliminary Issues

3387. The Ntahobali Defence submits that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is impermissibly vague, even when read in the context of the Indictment as a whole. This paragraph fails to specify the elements of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide. P226

3388. The Chamber recalls its 1 November 2000 Decision, whereby the Chamber stated that Paragraph 5.1 adequately sets out sufficient particulars to enable the Accused to understand the conspiracy charge. Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges an agreement with genocidal intent, identifies Nyiramasuhuko as a conspirator, specifies alleged co-conspirators, sets out components of the agreement, and describes modes by which named participants participated in executing the plan. The Chamber thus finds that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was not defective for failing to elaborate on the elements of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide.

3389. The Ntahobali Defence, on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko, submits that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment fails to allege a criminal act by Nyiramasuhuko. 9228 The Chamber recalls that conspiracy to commit genocide is a crime under Article 2 (3)(b) of the Statute. This crime requires "an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of genocide" (). As such, the Prosecution must allege the existence of such an agreement, which it did in Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. The Chamber thus finds that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was not defective for failing to allege that Nyiramasuhuko committed a criminal act.

3390. Nevertheless, the Chamber notes that the material facts supporting a charge must be pled in the Indictment with sufficient precision to provide notice to the Accused. The Prosecution's theory is that Nyiramasuhuko's meetings with the *Interahamwe* provide evidence of concerted and coordinated action between the Interim Government and the *Interahamwe*. This collaboration reveals an agreement to commit genocide in Butare, which was thereafter perpetrated through methods elaborated in the Indictment. 9230

3391. The question remains as to whether Nyiramasuhuko had adequate notice that the Prosecution would lead evidence on her participation in these two particular meetings in support of the conspiracy charge. The Chamber notes that neither the 7 May 1994 meeting

_

⁹²²³ T. 3 October 2005 pp. 31-32, 45-52 (Nyiramasuhuko).

⁹²²⁴ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 44.

⁹²²⁵ Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali); Para. 6.56 (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

⁹²²⁶ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 18.

⁹²²⁷ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000, para. 29.

⁹²²⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 20.

⁹²²⁹ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322.

⁹²³⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 29-31, paras. 8, 13-15.

between Nyiramasuhuko and the *Interahamwe* nor the 12 May 1994 MRND meeting is specifically pled in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. The Chamber thus finds the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment defective. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will proceed to determine whether this defect was cured through the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information.

3392. The Chamber has reviewed the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its Appendix, as well as the Prosecution opening statement. The Chamber observes that there is no specific mention of the 7 May 1994 or the 12 May 1994 meetings in these potentially curing materials. The Chamber concludes that the defect in the Indictment was not cured in the instant case. As such, the Chamber declines to make a finding as to these two meetings.

3.6.31 Kamena Stadium Meeting, 10 May 1994

3.6.31.1 Introduction

3393. Each Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. They, together with others, allegedly adhered to and executed this plan and in doing so organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. Patternation Tutsis further allege that the massacres and assaults perpetrated in Butare *préfecture* were the result of a strategy adopted by figures of authority, including Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, who conspired to exterminate the Tutsi population. Moreover, the Indictments of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, and Nsabimana and Nteziryayo allege that Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, in their positions of authority and acting in concert with others, participated in a common scheme to massacre the Tutsi population. The Nsabimana Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his *bourgmestres*, including at least one convened by Nyiramasuhuko in April 1994 during which the progress of the massacres was discussed as well as the means by which to complete them.

3394. As part of its case against Nyiramasuhuko in respect of the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide, the Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko attended formal and informal meetings at the Butare *préfecture* office and other locations which were also attended by local authorities. ⁹²³⁵ It further submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings in Butare *préfecture* during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. ⁹²³⁶ With regard to Kanyabashi, the Prosecution submits that his role in the genocide conspiracy was,

⁹²³¹ Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹²³² Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all Counts against Nsabimana); Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹²³³ Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹²³⁴ Para. 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

⁹²³⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 60-61, para. 109.

⁹²³⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 231, para. 9.

inter alia, to attend meetings, give instructions to kill Tutsis in hiding and use his position and power to incite the population to join in the killings. ⁹²³⁷

3395. The Prosecution contends that on 10 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko met with the youth wing of all parties in Butare. Relying on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko and Expert Witness Guichaoua, the Prosecution argues that the meeting of 10 May 1994 was an important mobilisation meeting that was also attended by Nsabimana and Kanyabashi. The Prosecution cites this particular meeting as one of a series of meetings in support of the specific count of conspiracy to commit genocide. 9239

3396. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not dispute that on 10 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko attended a meeting with the youths of all the parties in Kamena Stadium in Butare. ⁹²⁴⁰ It denies that the meeting or the subsequent reception attended by Nsabimana and Kanyabashi was part of a conspiracy to commit genocide. ⁹²⁴¹ The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Kanyabashi was not involved in the meeting of 10 May 1994. ⁹²⁴² The Nsabimana Defence makes no specific submissions in relation to this allegation. The Defence teams rely on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana.

3.6.31.2 Preliminary Issues

Nyiramasuhuko

3397. The Chamber notes the Prosecution's allegation that Nyiramasuhuko participated in a number of meetings. This allegation forms part of the Prosecution's case in relation to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. Besides specific allegations concerning Nyiramasuhuko's involvement in Cabinet meetings⁹²⁴³ and meetings at the *préfecture* office, the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment does not allege that Nyiramasuhuko attended, chaired, convened or in any other way participated in meetings during which the planning of the genocide was discussed. Nor are there any facts or circumstances set forth in the Indictment from which it could be inferred that Nyiramasuhuko was involved in other meetings of this kind. The Chamber considers Nyiramasuhuko's alleged participation in meetings to be material to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. It constitutes one of the means by which the alleged conspiracy was committed and is a key element of the conduct imputed to the Accused. For these reasons, the Chamber considers that the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is defective in this respect *vis-à-vis* Nyiramasuhuko.

3398. The Chamber must then determine whether the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief contains reference to three witnesses (Witnesses FAS, QBP and QF) who were expected to testify that Nyiramasuhuko participated

.

⁹²³⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

⁹²³⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 63-64, paras. 117-118; p. 234, paras. 20-21.

⁹²³⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 30-68, paras. 13-133.

⁹²⁴⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 552.

⁹²⁴¹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 68.

⁹²⁴² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 60.

⁹²⁴³ See Paras. 6.13 and 6.14 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

in or addressed meetings or rallies in locations including Mbazi Stadium and Cyarwa in April and May 1994. 9244 In view of the fact that the specific meeting at Kamena Stadium is not mentioned in any disclosures subsequent to the Indictment, the Chamber finds that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not have sufficient notice of this meeting. Thus, the Chamber considers that the defect in the Indictment has not been cured and declines to make a finding in respect of this allegation.

Nsabimana

3399. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is impermissibly vague because it does not give an indication of the meeting dates, venues, attendees or the number of meetings. It also argues that Paragraph 6.28 does not clearly state whether the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was discussed at every meeting, or only those convened by Nyiramasuhuko. 9245

3400. The Indictment does not mention a meeting at Kamena Stadium or specify that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi were present at such a meeting. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective.

3401. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraph 6.28 was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists seven witnesses who were expected to testify that Nsabimana participated in meetings, five of whom eventually gave evidence at trial. 9246 The alleged meetings described in the witness summary grid cover the period from April to June 1994 and are said to have taken place in various venues in Butare including the *préfecture* office, Ngoma football field, Ngoma Parish, Mbazi Stadium and MRND Headquarters. Those involved in such meetings included Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi, bourgmestres and members of the public.

3402. In view of the fact that the specific meeting at Kamena Stadium is not mentioned in any of the prior Prosecution disclosures, the Chamber finds that the Nsabimana Defence did not have sufficient notice of this meeting. Thus, the Chamber considers that the defects in the Indictment have not been cured and therefore declines to make a finding in respect of this allegation.

Kanyabashi

3403. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the youth meeting of 10 May 1994 was not part of the Prosecution's evidence until Nyiramasuhuko gave evidence about it in 2005. ⁹²⁴⁷ The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Indictment contains four paragraphs that deal with Kanyabashi's involvement in meetings: Paragraph 5.8 concerns meetings in May 1994 in Cyarwa secteur, Ngoma commune during which Kanyabashi allegedly incited residents to kill

⁹²⁴⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief - Appendix; Witness FAS (30); Witness QBP (44); and Witness QF (54).

⁹²⁴⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-335.

⁹²⁴⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9); Witness FAC (15); Witness FAI (21); Witness FAR (29); Witness FAS (30); Witness QA (33); and Witness ST (85). ⁹²⁴⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 57.

Tutsis; Paragraph 6.35 describes a specific meeting on the football field adjacent to Ngoma Church at the end of April 1994; Paragraph 6.43 relates to meetings that took place at the Butare *préfecture* office on unspecified dates; and the first sentence of Paragraph 6.44 covers meetings between 20 April and June 1994 at unspecified locations involving, *inter alia*, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, during which the evolution of the massacres was discussed, among other topics.

3404. The Chamber considers that the first sentence of Paragraph 6.44 may be sufficiently broad to encompass the Prosecution's allegation that Kanyabashi attended a meeting at Kamena Stadium on 10 May 1994 with Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana. However, this paragraph fails to identify a specific location. For this reason, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.44 of the Kanyabashi Indictment is defective.

3405. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will now consider whether the defects have been cured. The Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists six witnesses who were expected to testify that Kanyabashi participated in meetings other than those that could reasonably be covered by Paragraphs 5.8, 6.35 or 6.43 exclusively. All of these witnesses were listed in support of the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. The alleged meetings described in the witness summary grid are said to have taken place in April 1994 at various locations, including Tumba *secteur* in Ngoma *commune* and Kabuga.

3406. In view of the fact that the specific meeting at Kamena Stadium is not mentioned in any of the Prosecution disclosures, the Chamber finds that the Kanyabashi Defence did not have sufficient notice of this meeting. The Chamber considers that the defects in the Indictment have not been cured and therefore declines to make a finding in respect of this allegation.

3407. The Chamber notes that in any event, even if the defects in the Indictments were found to have been cured as regards Kanyabashi and Nsabimana, the evidence brought by the Prosecution was not sufficient to establish that Kanyabashi and Nsabimana participated in the meeting at Kamena Stadium.

3.6.32 Security Council Meetings, 16 and 31 May 1994

3.6.32.1 Introduction

3408. Relying on evidence led by the Defence, the Prosecution Closing Brief alleges that Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi took part in two Security Council meetings in furtherance of the general conspiracy to commit genocide. The meetings took place on 16 and 31 May 1994. The Prosecution pled the alleged conspiracy in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, 9249 the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment. 9251

٠,

⁹²⁴⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAR (29); Witness FAT (31); Witness QBM (43); Witness QE (53); Witness QG (55); and Witness RO (73).

Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11

3409. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko conspired with influential figures, including Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, to carry out genocide in Butare. She attended formal and informal meetings at the BPO and other locations which were also attended by local authorities. The Prosecution contends that on 16 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko attended a Security Council meeting at the BPO, at which participants discussed aspects of civilian defence including organising night patrols, establishing more roadblocks and training people how to handle weapons. The Prosecution further submits that Nyiramasuhuko attended a Security Council meeting on 31 May 1994, chaired by Nsabimana, where civil defence, "clearing the forest", *bourgmestres*' requests for guns and machetes, recruitment of youth, roadblocks, and the evacuation of orphans were discussed.

3410. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings with local authorities in Butare *préfecture*, including Minister Nyiramasuhuko and *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi, 9256 during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. In this respect, the Prosecution contends that Nsabimana chaired two *préfecture* Security Council meetings held at the MRND Palace on 16 May 1994 and 31 May 1994 which furthered the agreement to kill Tutsis. The Prosecution also submits that in addition to Nsabimana's direct participation in these meetings, Nsabimana is responsible pursuant to Article 6 (3) for instructing *bourgmestres*, who were his subordinates, to kill Tutsi civilians and for distributing weapons to those *bourgmestres*.

3411. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi's role in the genocide conspiracy was, *inter alia*, to attend meetings and, using his authority as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, to instruct the population to clear the bushes, fully aware this phrase was double-speak for killing Tutsis in hiding. Kanyabashi was heavily involved in planning the killings, and meeting with his administrative subordinates and others to provoke them into action. He attended Security Council meetings with Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and other authorities in Butare. And and used his position and power to incite the population to kill.

against Nyiramasuhuko); and Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko).

Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹²⁵¹ Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹²⁵² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 31, para. 15.

⁹²⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 60-61, para. 109.

⁹²⁵⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 64-65, paras. 119-122.

⁹²⁵⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 65-66, para. 123, p. 242, para. 45.

⁹²⁵⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 250, para. 69.

⁹²⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 231, para. 9.

⁹²⁵⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 64, para. 119; p. 238, para. 35.

⁹²⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 65-66, para. 123; pp. 242-243, paras. 45-47.

⁹²⁶⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 242, 258, paras. 46, 91.

⁹²⁶¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 388, 406, 442, paras. 12, 79, 205.

⁹²⁶² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 390, para. 204.

⁹²⁶³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 64-66, paras. 119, 123; p. 242, para. 45; p. 443, para. 208.

⁹²⁶⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

- 3412. The Prosecution relies on the testimonies of Expert Witness Guichaoua, as well as Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana.
- 3413. Apart from its submissions on the vagueness of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence does not dispute that she attended the two Security Council meetings of 16 and 31 May 1994 at the MRND Palace. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence claims she only observed the 16 May 1994 meeting, ⁹²⁶⁵ and the 31 May 1994 meeting had nothing to do with a conspiracy to commit genocide. The Butare Security Council was not concerned with perpetrating massacres, but was focused on collaboration between civilians and soldiers to restore peace and security in Butare. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on Nyiramasuhuko's testimony.
- 3414. In addition to its submissions on the vagueness of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Nsabimana was not involved in the 16 May 1994 meeting. The Nsabimana Defence also challenges Nyiramasuhuko's purported attendance at the 16 May 1994 meeting. The Nsabimana Defence does not dispute that Nsabimana presided over the Security Council meeting of 31 May 1994, Porton but submits that Nyiramasuhuko did not attend this meeting and Nsabimana did not subsequently learn of Nyiramasuhuko's participation in that meeting. The Nsabimana Defence proposes that on 31 May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko took part in another, concurrent Security Council meeting. Further, Nsabimana did not promote civil defence at that meeting. The Defence relies on the testimony of Nsabimana and Expert Witness Guichaoua.
- 3415. In addition to its submissions on the vagueness of the Kanyabashi Indictment the Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to prove that Kanyabashi participated in a conspiracy or that meetings to plan the genocide took place. ⁹²⁷² Nyiramasuhuko's notes on the 16 and 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings do not indicate that Kanyabashi took the floor at either meeting, or that Kanyabashi had control over what was happening in his *commune*. ⁹²⁷³ Further, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that "clearing bushes" is not criminal conduct *per se*. ⁹²⁷⁴ The Kanyabashi Defence relies on Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens.

3.6.32.2 Preliminary Issues

Sufficiency of the Indictment as to Conspiracy and Meetings in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

3416. The Chamber notes the Prosecution's allegation that Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi participated in a number of meetings, including the Security Council meetings of

⁹²⁶⁵ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 493, 498, 558.

⁹²⁶⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 69.

⁹²⁶⁷ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 493.

⁹²⁶⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 607, 614.

⁹²⁶⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 636-640.

⁹²⁷⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 672, 693.

⁹²⁷¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 684-687, 689.

⁹²⁷² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 21, 41.

⁹²⁷³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 63-64.

⁹²⁷⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 342.

16 and 31 May 1994, forms part of the Prosecution's case against each Accused in relation to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide.

3417. Each Indictment contains paragraphs pertinent to the Prosecution's conspiracy charge: namely Paragraphs 5.1, 6.52 and 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Paragraphs 5.1, 6.57 and 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; and Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Chamber will address these paragraphs together.

3418. Paragraph 5.1 of each Indictment alleges a conspiracy existed between, *inter alia*, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population; the Accused executed the plan by organising, ordering and participating in massacres of Tutsis and moderate Hutus. ⁹²⁷⁵ Each Indictment also alleges that, *inter alia*, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi, adopted a strategy at the national and local level that resulted in massacres and assaults, ⁹²⁷⁶ and that in their positions of authority, the Accused participated in a common scheme to massacre the Tutsi population. ⁹²⁷⁷

3419. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Paragraph 5.1 is impermissibly vague, ⁹²⁷⁸ even when read in the context of the Indictment as a whole. ⁹²⁷⁹ In particular, the Indictment paragraphs fail to specify the elements of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide. ⁹²⁸⁰

3420. The Chamber recalls its 1 November 2000 Decision, whereby the Chamber stated that Paragraph 5.1 adequately sets out sufficient particulars to enable the Accused to understand the conspiracy charge. The Chamber thus finds that Paragraph 5.1 was not defective for failing to elaborate on the elements of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide. This finding applies equally to Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment.

_

⁹²⁷⁵ Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹²⁷⁶ Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); and Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹²⁷⁷ Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.64 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11).

⁹²⁷⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 1; Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 44.

⁹²⁷⁹ Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-9, 11 against Nyiramasuhuko only) and Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko only).

⁹²⁸⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 1; Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 18.

⁹²⁸¹ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000, para. 29. Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges an agreement with genocidal intent, identifies Nyiramasuhuko as a conspirator, specifies alleged co-conspirators, sets out components of the agreement, and describes modes by which named participants participated in executing the plan. The Chamber notes the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not allege that Indictment Paras. 6.52 and 6.56 were vague in this Motion.

- 3421. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence also submits that Paragraph 5.1 fails to allege a criminal act by Nyiramasuhuko. ⁹²⁸² The Chamber recalls that conspiracy to commit genocide is a crime under Article 2 (3)(b) of the Statute. This crime requires "an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of genocide" (). The Prosecution alleged the existence of such an agreement in Paragraph 5.1. The Chamber thus finds that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was not defective for failing to allege that Nyiramasuhuko committed a criminal act. This finding applies equally to Paragraphs 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment.
- 3422. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that Paragraphs 6.52 and 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment are impermissibly vague. 9283 The Nyiramasuhuko Defence asserts that the Prosecution did not plead the elements constituting the conspiracy charge in the Indictment or the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, but only alleged these elements after Prosecution Expert Witness Guichaoua obtained Nyiramasuhuko's Nyiramasuhuko's Defence submits that even if the Chamber were to conclude that the 16 May 1994 and 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings provide evidence of the existence of a genocide conspiracy, the Chamber cannot convict Nyiramasuhuko on this evidence because the Prosecution failed to notify Nyiramasuhuko of its intention to lead evidence on these meetings in support of the conspiracy charge. 9284
- 3423. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment are vague, as they fail to identify dates or locations where Nsabimana may have taken part in elaborating a plan to exterminate Tutsis. 9285
- 3424. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the 16 and 31 May 1994 meetings were not pled in the Kanyabashi Indictment. 9286
- 3425. The Chamber notes that the material facts supporting a charge must be pled in the Indictment with sufficient precision to provide notice to the Accused. Here, the Prosecution did not specifically plead the 16 and 31 May 1994 May Security Council meetings in any of the Indictment paragraphs relating to conspiracy against any of the Accused.
- 3426. The Chamber further observes that Paragraph 6.32 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Nyiramasuhuko took part in numerous meetings at the *préfecture* office. Other than the one meeting pled that Nyiramasuhuko allegedly called in April 1994, Paragraph 6.32 does not allege the manner of Nyiramasuhuko's involvement in other meetings. The paragraph does not specify whether she attended, chaired, convened or in any other way participated in other meetings, at the BPO or elsewhere, during which the planning of the genocide was allegedly discussed. The Chamber considers Nyiramasuhuko's alleged participation in meetings to be material to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. It constitutes one of the means by which the alleged conspiracy was committed and is a key element of the conduct imputed to Nyiramasuhuko which forms the basis of the conspiracy

⁹²⁸² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 1; Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 20.

⁹²⁸³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 1; Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 55.

⁹²⁸⁴ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 67-69.

⁹²⁸⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 126-131.

⁹²⁸⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 62, fn. 243.

⁹²⁸⁷ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322.

charge. The Chamber thus concludes that the Prosecution's failure to plead either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings renders the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment defective *vis-à-vis* Nyiramasuhuko.

- 3427. The Chamber further observes that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his *bourgmestres* at which the progress of the massacres and the means by which to complete them was discussed. Only one meeting is specified, *i.e.* the April 1994 meeting allegedly convened by Nyiramasuhuko. The Chamber notes that other than one meeting in April 1994, Paragraph 6.28 fails to specify the dates or location of the other alleged meetings, or how many meetings took place. The Chamber considers Nsabimana's alleged participation in meetings to be material to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. It constitutes one of the means by which the alleged conspiracy was committed and is a key element of the conduct imputed to Nsabimana which forms the basis of the conspiracy charge. The Chamber thus concludes that the Prosecution's failure to plead either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings renders the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment defective *vis-à-vis* Nsabimana.
- 3428. Lastly, the Chamber observes that Paragraph 6.43 of the Kanyabashi Indictment relates to meetings that took place at the BPO between some of the *préfecture* 's main authorities on unspecified dates as well as one meeting that took place between Kanyabashi and Nsabimana in June 1994. Notwithstanding the reference in Paragraph 6.43 to a meeting that occurred in June 1994 at the BPO, the paragraph fails to include any time period with respect to the other meetings. Further, Paragraph 6.44 pleads a series of meetings between the authorities at which the massacres were discussed, but fails to identify either the time or location of the meetings. Insofar as the Indictment does not mention either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings, it is therefore defective.
- 3429. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber finds the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment defective by reason of the failure of any of these paragraphs to refer to the Security Council meetings held on 16 and 31 May 1994 at the MRND Palace.
- 3430. The Chamber notes as well that it cannot convict on the basis of Paragraph 6.61 since this Paragraph was not pled in support of any counts against Nsabimana. 9288
- 3431. The Chamber must next determine whether each of the Indictments is cured of its respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment

3432. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Witnesses FAS, QF, RD, SJ, SU and SS were all expected to testify that Nyiramasuhuko participated in or addressed meetings or rallies in various locations. The Prosecution listed Witnesses SJ, SU, SS and RD as expected to testify to Nyiramasuhuko's participation in meetings at the BPO, where other

⁹²⁸⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1831-1832.

préfecture authorities such as Nsabimana or Kanyabashi were present. ⁹²⁸⁹ The Prosecution listed Witnesses QF and FAS as testifying to Nyiramasuhuko's participation in meetings at Cyarwa and Mbazi Stadium respectively. These witnesses were listed in support of the count of conspiracy to commit genocide, and all but Witnesses QF and RD testified at trial.

3433. The Chamber notes that the Nyiramasuhuko Chapter of the Prosecution Closing Brief claims the Security Council meetings took place at the BPO, 9290 although the Nsabimana Chapter of the Prosecution Closing Brief alleges the meetings took place at the MRND Palace. 9291 Indeed, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not dispute that Nyiramasuhuko attended the two Security Council meetings of 16 and 31 May 1994 and states they took place at the MRND Palace. ⁹²⁹² Accordingly, the Chamber considers any information in the Pre-Trial Brief and witness statements that refer to Nyiramasuhuko's participation at meetings at the BPO did not suffice to put her on notice of the two MRND meetings.

3434. The Prosecution failed to refer to the alleged 16 and 31 May 1994 meetings at the MRND Palace in its Pre-Trial Brief and its opening statement. In light of the lack of any reference to the specific meeting at the MRND Palace of 16 or 31 May 1994 in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or its opening statement, the Chamber concludes that Paragraph 6.32 was not cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. In addition, the Defence did not have sufficient notice that the Prosecution would lead evidence on Nyiramasuhuko's participation in either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meeting in support of the conspiracy charge alleged under Paragraphs 5.1, 6.52 and 6.56. The Chamber thus declines to make any finding as to Nyiramasuhuko's responsibility with respect to either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings. The Chamber nevertheless considers that evidence led with respect to the content of these meetings may be assessed, where relevant, against other allegations.

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment

3435. The witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists seven witnesses, Witnesses FAC, FAI, FAR, FAS, QA, SJ and ST, who were expected to testify that Nsabimana participated in meetings. The meetings referred to cover the period from April to June 1994 and are said to have taken place in various venues in Butare including the BPO, Ngoma football field, Ngoma Parish, Mbazi Stadium and MRND Headquarters. The individuals involved in these meetings included Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi, bourgmestres and members of the public.

3436. Witness ST's statement of 20 November 1997 states he saw Nsabimana at a meeting at MRND Headquarters about 19 or 20 April 1994 with bourgmestres, military heads and

⁹²⁸⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9); Witness FAS (30); Witness QBP (44); Witness QF (54); Witness RD (64); Witness SS (84); and Witness SU (86). ⁹²⁹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 64, para. 119.

⁹²⁹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 238, 242, paras. 35, 45-46.

⁹²⁹² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 493, 498, 558.

⁹²⁹³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9); Witness FAC (15); Witness FAI (21); Witness FAR (29); Witness FAS (30); Witness QA (33); and Witness ST (85).

political leaders. 9294 In view of the specified dates, this witness does not refer to the meetings in question which occurred on 16 and 31 May 1994.

3437. Witness SJ's statement of 3 December 1996 indicated that he saw Nyiramasuhuko holding meetings with Nsabimana at the préfecture office in April 1994 and that Nyiramasuhuko organised one meeting with all of the bourgmestres in the BPO courtvard. 9295 The Chamber notes that the approximate date of this alleged meeting was April 1994. No date is provided with respect to the second "bourgmestres" meeting. In the Chamber's view, this summary fails to refer to the May 1994 Security Council meetings in question.

3438. The remaining five witnesses included by the Prosecution in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, 9296 did not identify a meeting involving Nsabimana on or around 16 or 31 May 1994 occurring at the MRND Palace.

3439. As such, the Prosecution failed to refer to the alleged 16 and 31 May 1994 meetings at the MRND Palace in its Pre-Trial Brief and its opening statement. Accordingly the Chamber finds that the Nsabimana Defence did not have sufficient notice that the Prosecution would lead evidence on Nsabimana's participation in either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings in support of the conspiracy charge alleged under Paragraphs 5.1, 6.57 and 6.61. The Chamber declines to make any finding as to Nsabimana's responsibility with respect to either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings. Nevertheless, evidence led with respect to the content of these meetings may be assessed, where relevant, against other allegations.

3440. The Chamber also notes that the evidence brought by the Prosecution is not sufficient to establish that the participants at the 16 and 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings at the MRND Palace discussed matters in furtherance of an agreement between Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana to commit genocide.

Kanyabashi Indictment

3441. In the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, only the summary of Witness SU refers to an unspecified meeting in Butare, attended by Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi and others. 9297 Witness SU's prior statement of 20 November 1996 stated that leaders held meetings on Mondays and Fridays at the BPO which were attended by Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi, Sibomana, Rekeraho and bourgmestres, including those of Huve and Ngoma communes. 9298 The Chamber notes that this lacks specificity, allowing for meetings on nine days in the month of May 1994. Further, neither the summary of anticipated evidence nor Witness SU's previous statement mentions meetings on 16 and/or 31 May 1994.

⁹²⁹⁴ 20 November 1997, Statement of Witness ST, disclosed 15 November 2000.

⁹²⁹⁵ 3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ, disclosed 4 December 2000.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9); Witness FAC (15); Witness FAI (21); Witness FAR (29); Witness FAS (30); Witness QA (33); and Witness ST (85). ⁹²⁹⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SU (86).

⁹²⁹⁸ 20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU, disclosed 4 November 1998.

3442. Recalling that the Security Council meetings took place at the MRND Palace, 9299 the Chamber considers any information in the Pre-Trial Brief and witness statements that refers to Kanyabashi's participation at meetings at the BPO does not suffice to put Kanyabashi on notice of the two meetings he allegedly attended at the MRND.

3443. The Prosecution failed to refer to the alleged 16 and 31 May 1994 meetings at the MRND Palace in its Pre-Trial Brief and its opening statement. Accordingly, the Kanyabashi Defence did not have sufficient notice of these meetings or that the Prosecution would lead evidence on Kanyabashi's participation in either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meeting in support of the conspiracy charge alleged under Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.62. The Chamber thus declines to make any finding as to Kanyabashi's responsibility with respect to either the 16 or 31 May 1994 Security Council meetings. Nevertheless, evidence led with respect to the content of these meetings may be assessed, where relevant, against other allegations.

⁹²⁹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 238, 242, paras. 35, 45-46; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 493, 498, 558.

3.6.33 Security Council Meeting, 20 May 1994

3.6.33.1 Introduction

3444. Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. They allegedly developed, adhered to and executed this genocidal plan by organising, ordering and participating in massacres of Tutsis and moderate Hutus. 9300 Paragraphs 6.31 and 6.32 of the Indictment allege that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare préfecture, incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare préfecture, and Nsabimana incited and aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare préfecture. 9301 Finally, Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 allege that between April and July 1994, Nsabimana and Ntezirvavo not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 9302

3445. The Prosecution submits that by attending the Security Council meeting of 20 May 1994, Nteziryayo was involved in the planning of genocide. Nteziryayo attended this meeting in his capacity as the person responsible for the civil defence programme in Butare. The agenda of this meeting was to extend the genocidal plan to the border *communes*. Nteziryayo's decision to speak on the issue of guerrilla warfare and the RPF tactics during subsequent border commune meetings showed that he was involved in the planning stage of these meetings. 9303 The Prosecution did not call any witnesses to testify on this allegation.

3446. Although the Prosecution did not make any submissions in respect to Nsabimana's alleged role in the 20 May 1994 Security Council meeting, the Nsabimana Defence submits that this specific meeting is not alleged in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, nor the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or subsequent disclosures by the Prosecution. 9304

3447. In the alternative, the Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo Defences do not dispute that Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo attended the Security Council meeting on 20 May 1994. What is contested is that the meeting was held in pursuance of a genocidal plan. 9305 The Nsabimana Defence further asserts that the minutes of this meeting made no reference to a resolution on the extermination of Tutsis as alleged by the Prosecution. 9306

⁹³⁰⁰ Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo).

⁹³⁰¹ Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana).

⁹³⁰² Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

⁹³⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 322, paras. 57-59.

⁹³⁰⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 711.

⁹³⁰⁵ T. 20 September 2006 p. 33 (Nsabimana); T. 23 May 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo); T. 5 June 2007 p. 8

⁽Nteziryayo).

9306 Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 714; Defence Exhibit 542 (Nteziryayo) (Notes on the Security Council Meeting of 20 May 1994).

3.6.33.2 Preliminary Issues

3448. The Chamber observes that the Security Council meeting of 20 May 1994 is not specifically pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. The Indictment is therefore defective in this regard.

3449. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will examine whether the defect was cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Having considered the Prosecution opening statement and the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its Appendix, the Chamber finds that no reference was made to the Security Council meeting of 20 May 1994 in any of these potentially curative documents. As a result, the Chamber considers that the defect in the Indictment has not been cured. In any event, no witnesses were called by the Prosecution to testify about this alleged meeting of 20 May 1994. Thus the Chamber will not make any finding on this allegation.

3.6.34 The Tour of Meetings in the Border Communes, May – June 1994

3.6.34.1 Introduction

3450. Paragraph 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo Indictment provides that from April to July 1994, incitement to hatred and violence was propagated by various prominent persons, including Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, who publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". 9307 Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 of the Indictment allege that between April and June 1994, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo not only incited but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare préfecture. 9308 Paragraph 6.31 of the Indictment further provides that between April and June 1994, Ntezirvayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare préfecture incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare préfecture. 9309 Finally, Paragraph 6.32 of the Indictment alleges that between April and June 1994, Nsabimana not only incited but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 9310

3451. Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his bourgmestres, including at least one convened by Nyiramasuhuko in April 1994 during which the progress of the massacres was discussed as well as the means by which to complete them. ⁹³¹¹ The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings in Butare préfecture during which decisions were made to further the extermination of Tutsis. Nsabimana's role in the conspiracy to commit genocide was, *inter alia*, to convene and attend meetings to give effect to the plan. ⁹³¹²

⁹³⁰⁷ Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

⁹³⁰⁸ Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

9309 Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana).

⁹³¹¹ Para. 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana).

⁹³¹² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 230-232, paras. 9, 14-15.

3452. The Prosecution submits that the genocide was planned, extended and put into effect at a series of meetings chaired and organised by Nsabimana in Rwanda's *communes* bordering Burundi in May and June 1994 and to which Nsabimana invited Nteziryayo to speak on military matters. At these meetings, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo promoted the campaign of genocide and incited the population to kill infiltrators and the accomplices of the RPF. Nteziryayo, as the main speaker in these meetings, used words such as "infiltrators" and "accomplices" in order to extend the plan of the Interim Government to incite the population to kill Tutsi civilians. ⁹³¹⁴ The Prosecution further submits that Nteziryayo made public statements inciting people to exterminate the Tutsi population not in his personal capacity, but as part of the genocidal plan of the Interim Government.

3453. The Prosecution specifies meetings that took place in: (1) Nyakizu and Kigembe *communes* on 21 May 1994; (2) Muyira and Ntyazo *communes* on 22 May 1994; (3) Kirarambogo, Muganza *commune*, in the afternoon of 23 May 1994; (4) Gikore *secteur*, Nyaruhengeri *commune*, in the morning of 24 May 1994; (5) around mid-June 1994 in Muyaga *commune* and (6) in mid- to late June 1994 in Kibayi *commune*. The Prosecution relies upon the testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses FAI, RV, FAH, FAB, QBY, QBU and FAK, as well as Prosecution Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Ntakirutimana.

3454. The Nsabimana Defence does not dispute that Nsabimana attended meetings at Nyakizu and Kigembe in May 1994 or that Nsabimana spoke, but disputes the purpose of these meetings. Nsabimana's speeches during the Nyakizu and Kigembe meetings were a call for peace and to restore calm. In this regard, the Nsabimana Defence relies on the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witnesses AGWA and TWW and Nsabimana.

3455. The Nsabimana Defence made no submissions with respect to the alleged meeting in Muyira *commune* on 22 May 1994. With respect to the afternoon meeting of the same day in Ntyazo *commune*, the Nsabimana Defence does not dispute that Nsabimana attended the swearing-in ceremony of the *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994, but contests the words attributed to Nsabimana. Nsabimana did not incite the population to kill Tutsis. Rather, he asked the population to be vigilant because they were living in an area where fighting was going on, not to be surprised by the *Inkotanyi* who were not far away, and to flee on the arrival of the *Inkotanyi*. Nsabimana asked the population to unite, not to stoop to killing and stated that nobody had the right of life and death over his neighbour. ⁹³¹⁹ The Nsabimana Defence relies on the testimony of Nsabimana Defence Witness AND-75, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo.

3456. The Nsabimana Defence specifies that none of the Prosecution witnesses who testified on the border *commune* meetings held in Muyira, Muyaga, Muganza, Nyaruhengeri and Kibayi

⁹³¹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 234, para. 22.

⁹³¹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 323, para. 61.

⁹³¹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 312, 352-353, paras. 24, 153-154.

⁹³¹⁶ T. 20 September 2006 p. 41 (Nsabimana); Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1860.

⁹³¹⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1857-1860.

⁹³¹⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 858, 865.

⁹³¹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 868.

⁹³²⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 863.

communes mentioned the presence and/or participation of Nsabimana in these meetings. ⁹³²¹ It was rather Defence witnesses, especially those of Nteziryayo, who placed and involved Nsabimana in these meetings. ⁹³²²

3457. The Nteziryayo Defence made no submissions with respect to the meetings in Nyakizu and Kigembe *communes* on 21 May 1994, or Muyira *commune* on 22 May 1994. With respect to the afternoon meeting of the same day in Ntyazo *commune*, the Nteziryayo Defence does not dispute that Nteziryayo attended the swearing-in ceremony of the *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994, but contests the words attributed to Nteziryayo. Nteziryayo spoke at this meeting to urge the population to condemn all troublemakers and to encourage peace. He warned the population about the fighting and infiltration tactics of the RPF troops. Neither Nteziryayo, nor Nsabimana, incited the population to kill Tutsis.

3458. Apart from alleging lack of notice with respect to the meeting in Gikore *secteur*, Nyaruhengeri *commune*, ⁹³²⁷ the Nteziryayo Defence contends the meeting in Gikore *secteur* discussed peace and security. ⁹³²⁸ The Nteziryayo Defence does not contest that Nteziryayo attended a meeting in Mamba *secteur*, Muyaga *commune*, but submitted the meeting occurred on 23 May 1994, and its purpose was the restoration of peace, not incitement. ⁹³²⁹ The Nteziryayo Defence does not contest that Nteziryayo attended a meeting in Kibayi *commune*, but contends it was held on 24 May 1994 at a football pitch near Kibayi *commune* office. It was the only meeting he attended in Kibayi *commune* and the only time he went there together with Nsabimana between April 1994 and July 1994. ⁹³³⁰ The Defence points out that Nteziryayo's speeches during the border *commune* meetings related to guerrilla warfare and the use of explosives, and did not incite the population to kill Tutsis, as alleged by the Prosecution. ⁹³³¹

3459. The Nteziryayo Defence relies upon the testimony of Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-75, AND-11, AND-53, AND-64, AND-41, AND-59, AND-73, AND-29, AND-60, Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6 and the Accused Nsabimana and Nteziryayo.

3.6.34.2 Preliminary Issues

Nsabimana

3460. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment are unduly vague and did not permit Nsabimana to adequately prepare his defence since they fail to specify how, when and in what way, Nsabimana

⁹³²¹ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 19; Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 958, 965, 978.

⁹³²² Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 19; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 925.

⁹³²³ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 545-546.

⁹³²⁴ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 19-20 (Nteziryayo).

⁹³²⁵ T. 5 July 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo).

⁹³²⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 546, 548.

⁹³²⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 137.

⁹³²⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 173-180.

⁹³²⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 216-221.

⁹³³⁰ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 61-63 (Nteziryayo).

⁹³³¹ T. 5 June 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo).

allegedly incited the population to commit genocide. Similarly, Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to meetings is impermissibly vague because it does not give an indication of the dates, venues, attendees or the number of meetings. The Nsabimana Defence also argues that Paragraph 6.28 does not clearly state whether the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was discussed at all of the meetings, or only the meeting or meetings convened by Nyiramasuhuko.

3461. The Nsabimana Defence asserts that evidence brought by Nteziryayo Defence witnesses against Nsabimana with regard to the meetings in Muganza, Nyaruhengeri and Muyaga *communes* should be excluded as they do not form part of the Prosecution case against Nsabimana. The Prosecution's reliance upon these meetings is an attempt to bring additional charges against Nsabimana and is therefore unfair. 9335

3462. The Chamber observes that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59 fail to specify the times and places at which both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo are alleged to have incited the population to commit genocide and are therefore defective. The Chamber further finds that Paragraph 6.31 also failed to specify the locations and dates where Nteziryayo, in his role as official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*, and is therefore defective.

3463. With regard to Paragraph 6.28, the Chamber observes that this paragraph fails to specify the number and dates of the alleged meetings with *bourgmestres*. Concerning the purpose of the meetings, a plain reading of Paragraph 6.28 suggests that the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was only discussed at a single meeting which was convened by Nyiramasuhuko. However, Paragraph 6.28 refers to meetings in the plural. Accordingly, there is confusion as to how many meetings Nsabimana participated in, how many were convened by Nyiramasuhuko and what was discussed at the meetings. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is also defective.

3464. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will examine whether the defects were cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

Nyakizu and Kigembe Commune Meetings, 21 May 1994 and Muyira Commune Meeting, 22 May 1994

3465. The Chamber notes that no mention was made of Nsabimana's alleged incitement to kill Tutsis at the meetings at Nyakizu and Kigembe *communes* on 21 May 1994, or at Muyira *commune* on 22 May 1994 in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor in the Prosecution opening statement. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 were not cured of their defects with respect to these meetings.

_

⁹³³² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 35-36, 719-722.

⁹³³³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-335.

⁹³³⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 931-933.

⁹³³⁵ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 19.

3466. As regards Paragraph 6.28, the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists seven witnesses who were expected to testify that Nsabimana participated in multiple meetings, described in the witness summary grid as taking place between April and June 1994 in various venues in Butare, including the *préfecture* office, Ngoma football field, Ngoma Parish, Mbazi Stadium and MRND Headquarters. ⁹³³⁶

3467. The Chamber observes however that no mention was made of the meetings at Nyakizu and Kigembe *communes* on 21 May 1994, or at Muyira *commune* on 22 May 1994, in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor in the Prosecution opening statement. The Chamber thus concludes that Paragraph 6.28 was not cured of its defects.

Ntyazo Commune Meeting, 22 May 1994

3468. The summary of Witness FAI's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that in a meeting on 22 May 1994, Nteziryayo and Nsabimana urged people of Ntyazo to search for and kill all surviving Tutsis. They asked young Hutus to register and join the army *en masse*. Nsabimana urged the *bourgmestre* to sensitise the youth to join the army, at the same time ordering Nteziryayo and Muvunyi to provide the reinforcement requested by the *bourgmestres*.

3469. In his previous statement of 24 February 2000, Witness FAI stated that Nsabimana spoke at a meeting attended by Nteziryayo, Muvunyi and Simba, in which he urged the people of Ntyazo to search for and kill all remaining Tutsis and for young Hutus to join the army *en masse*. Nteziryayo reiterated what Nsabimana had said and pointed out that young Hutus could go to the Ntyazo *commune* office, Nyanza *sous-préfecture* office and Butare *préfecture* office to register. The statement did not specify the date of the meeting but it is clear that it took place before 25 May 1994 when Witness FAI fled Ntyazo *commune*. In a redacted version of his previous statement of 22 October 2000, Witness FAI stated that around late May 1994, the genocide was all but over in the Ntyazo area and that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo made speeches urging the Hutus to continue the genocide.

3470. Considering the information contained in the summary of Witness FAI's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief and the contents of his previous statements, the Chamber finds that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Defence had clear, timely and consistent notice of the allegation that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at a meeting on 22 May 1994, in Ntyazo *commune*. The Chamber therefore concludes that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.28, 6.31, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59 were cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures in relation to the allegation that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at a meeting in Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994.

_

⁹³³⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9); Witness FAC (15); Witness FAI (21); Witness FAR (29); Witness FAS (30); Witness QA (33); and Witness ST (85). Witnesses SJ, FAC, FAI, FAS and QA testified at trial.

⁹³³⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAI (21).

^{9338 24} February 2000, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 15 November 2000.

^{9339 22} October 2000, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 23 May 2001.

Muganza, Nyaruhengeri, Muyaga and Kibayi Commune Meetings

3471. The Chamber observes that no mention was made of Nsabimana's alleged incitement to kill Tutsis at the meetings of Muganza *commune* on 23 May 1994, at Gikore in Nyaruhengeri *commune* on 24 May 1994, in Kibayi *commune* around mid-June 1994, or in Muyaga *commune* around mid-June 1994 in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor in the Prosecution opening statement. Therefore, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59 were not cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. As a result, the Chamber declines to make findings in respect of these allegations against Nsabimana. The Nsabimana Defence request for exclusion of evidence is therefore moot.

Nteziryayo

- 3472. The Nteziryayo Defence requests that the Prosecution evidence regarding inciting speeches that Nteziryayo allegedly made in the *communes* of Muyaga, Nyaruhengeri (Gikore) and Muganza (Kirarambogo), as well as the alleged ensuing killings, be excluded as they fall outside the scope of the Indictment. ⁹³⁴⁰
- 3473. As indicated earlier, the Chamber observes that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59 are defective. The Chamber further finds that Paragraph 6.31 also failed to specify the locations and dates where Nteziryayo, in his role as official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture* and is therefore defective.
- 3474. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will examine whether the defect was cured through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

Nyakizu and Kigembe Commune Meetings, 21 May 1994 and Muyira Commune Meeting, 22 May 1994

3475. The Chamber recalls that no mention was made of the meetings at Nyakizu and Kigembe *communes* on 21 May 1994, or at Muyira *commune* on 22 May 1994 in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor in the Prosecution opening statement. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32, 6.53 and 6.59 were not cured of their defects with respect to these meetings.

Kirarambogo, Muganza Commune Meeting, 23 May 1994

3476. The Chamber recalls that a defect in an indictment could be cured through a Prosecution motion for addition of a witness, provided any possible prejudice to the Defence was alleviated by, for example, an adjournment to allow the Defence time to prepare for cross-examination of the witness. ⁹³⁴¹

⁹³⁴⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

⁹³⁴¹ See Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35.

3477. In the instant case, the Chamber notes that on 16 May 2001 the Prosecution filed its "Supplemental Motion for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses Under Rule 90 *bis*" by which the Prosecution sought to add four detained witnesses, including Prosecution Witness RV, who by oversight had been excluded from the Prosecution's list of intended witnesses included in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief filed on 12 April 2001. ⁹³⁴²

3478. In its Decision of 24 July 2001 the Chamber, noting that the statements of Witness RV had been disclosed to the Defence on 14 March 2001, found the Defence would not be prejudiced by the addition of Witness RV to the Prosecution's witness list, and granted leave for Witness RV to be added. ⁹³⁴³ In one of these statements dated 2 October 1997, Witness RV refers to a meeting held in May 1994 at Kararambogo during which Nteziryayo incited the population to eliminate all the Tutsis, and after which killings were reported. ⁹³⁴⁴

3479. In the Chamber's view, this put the Nteziryayo Defence on notice that the Prosecution intended to lead evidence of various meetings, including the Kirarambogo meeting, in support of its allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population, as alleged in Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. In addition, Witness RV only started his testimony on 16 February 2004, allowing ample time for the Nteziryayo Defence to prepare its defence.

Nyaruhengeri Commune Meeting, 24 May 1994

3480. The Chamber observes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief makes no reference to a meeting held at Gikore *secteur*, Nyaruhengeri *commune*. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness FAH with respect to this allegation. ⁹³⁴⁵

3481. The Chamber observes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness FAH provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief refers to an inciting speech given by Nteziryayo but fails to give any information as to the time and location of the alleged incident of incitement. These details only appear in Witness FAH's statement of 7 April 1999, disclosed on 15 November 2000. In this statement, Witness FAH declared that towards the end of April 1994, the *conseiller* of Gikore *secteur* informed the population of a meeting with the *bourgmestre* and the *préfet* at the Gikore Centre in Nyarunazi *cellule*. Among others, *Préfet* Nteziryayo, Colonel Muvunyi, the President of the Court of First Instance, Ruzindaza, and the *bourgmestre* of Nyaruhengeri were in attendance. *Préfet* Nteziryayo spoke about the security situation and invited the population to fight together to stop the *Inkotanyi* who were already in Butare *préfecture*. Nteziryayo further asked those who could not go to the front to post

_

⁹³⁴² Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-I, Prosecutor's Supplemental Motion for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses Under Rule 90 bis, 16 May 2001.

⁹³⁴³ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses (TC), 24 July 2001, para. 14.

⁹³⁴⁴ 2 October 1997, Statement of Witness RV, disclosed 14 March 2001.

⁹³⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 357, para. 167.

⁹³⁴⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAH (20) (Witness FAH was intended to testify that Nteziryayo and Muvunyi made a speech inviting people to fight together to stop the enemy; urging those who could not go to the frontline, to post themselves at roadblocks and conduct a thorough search of the Tutsis, and kill them because the Tutsis are "a bad race, a race of snakes").

themselves at the roadblocks, conduct a thorough search of the Tutsis and kill them because the Tutsis are "a bad race, a race of serpents". 9347

3482. In the Chamber's view, the details regarding the location and the time of the alleged incident of incitement equally amount to material information that should have been mentioned in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. In the absence of such details, the Chamber finds that Nteziryayo was not served with clear and consistent information allowing him to properly understand the charges brought against him in the instant case. Therefore, the defect in the Indictment is not cured and the Chamber will not make any finding in respect of this meeting.

Muyaga Commune Meeting, Around Mid-June 1994

3483. Witnesses QBY and FAB's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that around 5 June 1994, Nteziryayo attended a meeting in Muyaga commune during which Nteziryayo made a speech asking the population to kill the Tutsis. In his prior statement of 3 November 1999, disclosed on 10 December 1999, Witness QBY stated that between 4 and 5 June 1994, Nteziryayo spoke during a meeting held at Muyaga commune office; Nteziryayo addressed the population saying, "[h]unt down the Tutsis who are still alive, kill them and kill those who are hiding them". The Chamber observes that the information contained in his previous statement is consistent with the information contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. In addition, Witness FAB, through his prior statement of 11 April 1999, disclosed on 15 November 2000, stated that sometime between 3 and 5 June 1994, Nteziryayo, among others, came to Mamba secteur, Muyaga to hold a meeting. In his speech, Nteziryayo stated that the *Inkotanyi* were not far away in Ntyazo and the Hutus should kill all the Tutsis and not spare anyone. "Should section of the speech o

3484. Witness QBY started his testimony on 19 April 2004 and Witness FAB started his testimony on 5 April 2004, over three years after the above disclosures, thereby allowing sufficient time for the Defence to prepare.

3485. Considering the above, the Chamber finds that Nteziryayo had clear, timely and consistent notice of the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at a meeting held in Muyaga *commune*. Therefore, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31, 6.53 and 6.59 were cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

Kibayi Commune Meeting, Around Mid- to Late June 1994

3486. The Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists two witnesses, Witnesses FAK and QBU, who were expected to testify that at a meeting in May 1994 Nteziryayo incited people to kill Tutsis by stating that when cleaning one's home "you must remove the garbage". The Chamber notes that the summaries of Witness FAK's and Witness QBU's intended evidence fail to give any details as to the location of the alleged incitement or the subsequent effect.

^{9347 7} April 1999 (signed 8 October 1999), Statement of Witness FAH, disclosed 15 November 2000.

⁹³⁴⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAB (14); Witness QBY (48).

^{9349 3} November 1999, Statement of Witness QBY, disclosed 10 December 1999.

^{9350 11} April 1999, Statement of Witness FAB, disclosed 15 November 2000.

⁹³⁵¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAK (23); Witness QBU (47).

3487. Witness FAK's statement of 24 February 2000 stated that the witness attended a meeting in May 1994 held in the courtyard of the Kibayi commune office which was attended by *Préfet* Nteziryayo among others. At this meeting *Préfet* Nteziryayo told the people to kill Tutsis, including Tutsi girls protected by young Hutus. Nteziryayo said, "[w]hen you are cleaning your home, you gather the ashes around the cauldron, collect it and throw it away". Everyone returned to their respective areas to carry out the instructions of *Préfet* Nteziryayo particularly concerning the search for and elimination of the young girls and women protected by young Hutus. This operation continued until June 1994. 9352

3488. Witness FAK's statement of 3 May 2000 also refers to a meeting at the Kibayi commune office where Nteziryayo repeated similar words. 9353 Witness FAK's statement savs he personally participated in killing two Tutsis, a woman and child, on the orders of Conseiller Jean-Bosco Ndagijimana.

3489. Witness QBU's statement of 10 October 1999 discusses events in Kibayi commune in April 1994. It also stated that in May 1994, a meeting was held on the football field near the commune office. It was led by Colonel Nteziryayo, the new préfet, Colonel Muvunyi and Bourgmestre Kajyambere, and attended by the population and all the secteur and cellule officials. The new préfet, Nteziryayo, stated, "when you sweep your house, you must remove the garbage", meaning that all the Tutsis survivors were to be found and killed. He went on to say that all the Tutsi girls, women and children were also to be killed. The préfet and the bourgmestre both emphasised that the Tutsis' houses were to be destroyed and that a thorough search of the houses and the surrounding forest was to be conducted. After the delegation had left, the people resumed searching the houses and the surrounding bushes for survivors to kill them. 9354

3490. The Chamber thus finds that the substance of Witness FAK's and QBU's previous statements with respect to the meeting held on the football pitch next to the Kibayi commune office at which Nteziryayo allegedly incited the population is consistent with the summary of their anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.

3491. Although the summary of Witness FAK's and QBU's expected testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief failed to mention the location of the meeting in question, the Chamber considers that the omission of this detail alone was remedied by information contained in their respective witness statements, which identified the meeting as taking place at or next to the Kibayi commune office. As such the Chamber considers that the summary of anticipated evidence of Witnesses FAK and QBU in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, when read together with their respective statements, provided the Nteziryayo Defence with additional detail about this meeting.

3492. With respect to the timing of the meeting in question, the Chamber observes that both the summary of anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the prior witness statements of Witnesses FAK and QBU place the meeting in May 1994. Nevertheless, the

^{9352 24} February 2000, Statement of Witness FAK, disclosed 15 November 2000 in French and 4 December 2000

^{9353 3} May 2000, Statement of Witness FAK, disclosed 4 December 2000 in French and 23 May 2001 in English. 9354 10 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBU, disclosed 1 December 1999.

Chamber notes that the witnesses' statements both refer to "*Préfet* Nteziryayo" or "the new *Préfet* Nteziryayo" being present at the meeting. In the Chamber's view therefore, the meeting about which these witnesses were intended to testify must have taken place after 21 June 1994, the date on which Nteziryayo took office as *préfet*. This was born out by the witnesses' evidence at trial; Witness FAK testified that the meeting was probably around 18 or 19 June 1994, 9355 and both Witnesses FAK and QBU testified that Nteziryayo told them that he had just been appointed *préfet*.

3493. Therefore, having regard to the content of Witness FAK's and QBU's statements which refer to Nteziryayo as *préfet* at the time of the meeting, the Chamber is of the view that the Nteziryayo Defence was on notice that the meeting about which these witnesses would testify must have occurred in late June 1994. The Chamber considers this discrepancy concerning dates minor and not such as to violate the right of the Accused to adequate notice. In the circumstances the Chamber is of the view that the Nteziryayo Defence was on notice that it would need to defend itself against the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population by speeches he gave at a meeting at or near the Kibayi *commune* office sometime after Nteziryayo assumed office as *préfet*.

3494. With respect to the killings which allegedly took place after the meeting, as previously noted, no mention is made of these killings in the respective summaries of Witness FAK and QBU's expected evidence in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. While Witness FAK's second witness statement says he personally participated in killing two Tutsis, a woman and child, on the orders of *Conseiller* Jean-Bosco Ndagijimana, 9357 the prior statement of Witness QBU only refers generally to people carrying out searches in order to kill Tutsis. 9358 In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that the Nteziryayo Defence was not provided with adequate notice that the Prosecution intended to plead resultant killings as part of its case against Nteziryayo.

3495. The Prosecution witnesses' statements were disclosed to the Defence in December 1999 and December 2000, well before the witnesses commenced giving their evidence in April 2004. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 relating to aiding and abetting were cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information. Furthermore, the Chamber considers the Defence did not suffer any prejudice and that the Defence's right to prepare its case was not violated.

Nteziryayo's Request for Exclusion of Evidence

3496. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that at the time of filing the Nteziryayo Closing Brief its motion requesting the exclusion of portions of evidence of several Prosecution witnesses, including Witnesses FAH, RV, QBY, FAB, FAK and QBU filed on 23 January 2009, 9359 was

⁹³⁵⁵ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 19, 24, 27-28 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹³⁵⁶ T. 15 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 36-37, 56-58 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QBU).

⁹³⁵⁷ 3 May 2000, Statement of Witness FAK, disclosed 4 December 2000.

^{9358 10} October 1999, Statement of Witness QBU, disclosed 10 December 1999.

⁹³⁵⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009.

pending. 9360 The Chamber observes that on 25 February 2009 the Chamber denied that motion in its entirety. The Chamber considered it was inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial and chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations. 9361

3497. Having regard to the Chamber's finding that the Ntezirvayo Defence received sufficient notice of the specific allegation regarding the meetings in Muganza and Muyaga communes, the Chamber considers there is no reason to exclude the evidence of Witnesses RV, QBY and FAB who testified to these meetings. Therefore, the Defence request is dismissed.

3498. For similar reasons, Chamber considers there is no reason to exclude the evidence of Witnesses FAK and QBU on this point.

3499. As for the Defence request for exclusion of the evidence of Witness FAH on the Nyaruhengeri meeting, the Chamber finds it moot on the ground that the defect in the Indictment is not cured in this regard.

3.6.34.3 Evidence

3.6.34.3.1 Ntyazo *Commune* Meeting, 22 May 1994

Prosecution Witness FAI

3500. Witness FAI, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, detained in Rwanda at the time of his testimony for crimes committed during the genocide following a guilty plea, 9362 testified that in the afternoon of 22 May 1994, he attended the swearing-in ceremony of Mathieu Ndahimana, the new *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune*. 9363

3501. The ceremony lasted between one and two hours. 9364 It was held outside in the courtyard of a school at Nyakayaga, in Buye secteur, less than three kilometres from the Burundian border. 9365 It was attended by *Préfet* Nsabimana, Lieutenant Colonel Nteziryayo, Colonel Muyunyi, Colonel Simba, the Vice-Rector of the National University of Rwanda, the President of the Court of First Instance in Butare and Chief Warrant Officer Rekeraho. His relative, Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-75 was also present. 9366 Préfet Nsabimana chaired the ceremony. Nsabimana welcomed the visitors, reminded the audience that the country was at war and asked the people not to sleep and rather be vigilant in order to fight the enemy and his accomplices. 9367 Witness FAI understood the "enemy" to mean the RPF and "accomplices" to mean all Tutsis. Even a small child would have understood it in this wav. 9368

⁹³⁶⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

⁹³⁶¹ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009.

Prosecution Exhibit 62 (Personal Particulars); T. 30 October 2002 pp. 96-97; T. 31 October 2002 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

9363 T. 31 October 2002 pp. 10-11 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

⁹³⁶⁴ T. 5 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

⁹³⁶⁵ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 13-14 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

⁹³⁶⁶ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness FAI); Defence Exhibit 535 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).

9367 T. 31 October 2002 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

⁹³⁶⁸ T. 31 October 2002 p. 12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

- 3502. Nteziryayo was introduced as the person responsible for civil defence. He also spoke at the ceremony, echoing what the *préfet* had said. Nteziryayo said that the *préfet* was experiencing difficulties since there was a war and asked the people to be even more vigilant so as to fight the enemy and his accomplices, which the witness understood to mean the Tutsis. Nteziryayo's speech was long. He encouraged the youths present to receive military training at the army's military camp.
- 3503. The meeting was followed by massacres of Tutsis. ⁹³⁷³ Witness FAI fled Butare with his family on 25 May 1994 due to the advance of the RPF. Many people were fleeing at this time. ⁹³⁷⁴

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-75

- 3504. Witness AND-75, a Hutu farmer living in Ntyazo *commune* in 1994, ⁹³⁷⁵ testified that he attended Mathieu Ndahimana's swearing-in ceremony in the afternoon of 22 May 1994. ⁹³⁷⁶ The meeting took place at the football pitch of Nyakayaga in Ntyazo *commune*. ⁹³⁷⁷ About 200 people attended. ⁹³⁷⁸ The majority of the population who attended the meeting were Hutus, since most Tutsis had already fled. ⁹³⁷⁹
- 3505. Nsabimana presided over the meeting. He introduced Nteziryayo, Simba and Muvunyi as senior army officers. The three of them wore military uniform. The witness did not recall mention of the Vice-Rector of the National University of Rwanda during the introduction of the dignitaries, but stated that the President of the Court of First Instance of Butare was announced. 9381
- 3506. After the swearing-in ceremony, the *préfet* addressed the new *bourgmestre* and stated that he was appointed to ensure security; he further called upon the population to be vigilant because they were living in an area that was close to where the fighting was going on. ⁹³⁸²
- 3507. Nsabimana condemned the killings. ⁹³⁸³ Everybody who attended the meeting could hear what he said. ⁹³⁸⁴ The witness understood that when *Préfet* Nsabimana told the population

```
<sup>9369</sup> T. 31 October 2002 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9370 T. 31 October 2002 p. 12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9371 T. 31 October 2002 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9372 T. 31 October 2002 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9373 T. 31 October 2002 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9374 T. 5 November 2002 pp. 6-8, 39 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
9375 Defence Exhibit 535 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars); T. 7 May 2007 p. 16 (Witness AND-75).
9376 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 7 May 2007 p. 22 (Witness AND-75).
9377 T. 7 May 2007 p. 21 (Witness AND-75).
9378 T. 7 May 2007 p. 23 (Witness AND-75).
<sup>9379</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-75).
9380 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 26-27, 72-73; T. 8 May 2007 p. 4 (Witness AND-75).
<sup>9381</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-75).
9382 T. 7 May 2007 p. 27 (Witness AND-75).
9383 T. 7 May 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-75).
9384 T. 7 May 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-75).
```

to remain vigilant, he meant that if ever the *Inkotanyi* arrived in their area, they should take flight. ⁹³⁸⁵

3508. Muvunyi spoke at the meeting to warn the population to be vigilant because they could be attacked from Bugesera or Burundi. Muvunyi further stated that the members of the population had to flee because *Inkotanyi* were killing everyone they found. They were the enemies, not the Tutsis. 9387

3509. Witness AND-75 testified that Nteziryayo took over and informed the population about the fighting tactics of RPF troops. Nteziryayo stated that the RPF concealed guns and ammunitions in baskets and once in the forests, they took them out and fired at the fleeing population before taking control of the area. He further stated that the RPF disguised themselves as missionaries or Muslims to avoid being identified, and set deadly traps everywhere. Nteziryayo urged the population to stay away from suspect objects which might be mines and to report any location where they would find any such object. Nteziryayo did not call for the massacre of Tutsis by labelling them accomplices.

3510. After Nteziryayo, Colonel Simba took the floor and stated that he was the person in charge of the civilian defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*. He introduced his assistant for this task, Emmanuel Rekeraho. Simba did not introduce Nteziryayo as his assistant during this meeting. Simba did not call upon the Hutu population to hunt down and kill Tutsis. Simba stated that he was going to help the population to set up vigilante groups for self-defence. Mathieu Ndahimana then thanked the *préfet* and the population that came to support him. The meeting ended between 3.00 and 4.00 p.m. In spite of gunshots that could be heard not far away from the venue of the meeting, members of the population felt re-assured because of what the authorities had just told them.

3511. Witness AND-75 testified that no killings took place after the meeting. The RPF took control of the northern part of Ntyazo *commune* three days after the swearing-in ceremony.

Nteziryayo

3512. Nteziryayo testified that in the afternoon of 22 May 1994, he attended a meeting at a football pitch in Mbuye *secteur*, Ntyazo *commune* to swear in the new *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune*, Mathieu Ndahimana. Attendees included: Nsabimana; Tharcisse Muvunyi, the

```
9385 T. 8 May 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-75).
9386 T. 7 May 2007 p. 27 (Witness AND-75).
9387 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 27, 29 (Witness AND-75).
9388 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness AND-75).
9389 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness AND-75).
9390 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness AND-75).
9391 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness AND-75).
9392 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 29 (Witness AND-75).
9393 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28 (Witness AND-75).
9394 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 30 (Witness AND-75).
9395 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 30 (Witness AND-75).
9396 T. 7 May 2007 pp. 31-32 (Witness AND-75).
9397 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 13, 17 (Nteziryayo).
```

area commander; Mathias Bushishi, the Public Prosecutor; Sylvain Harindintwari, the person in charge of the intelligence in the *préfecture*; Ruzindaza, President of the Butare Court of First Instance; Nshimyumuremyi the Vice-Rector; Cyprien Musabirema, the person in charge of ORINFOR, the Rwandan information agency; Warrant Officer Rekeraho; and Aloys Simba, who was in charge of the civil defence for Butare and Gikongoro.

- 3513. Due to its proximity to the war front, only about 200 to 250 people attended. One could hear the detonation of weapons during the meeting. 9399
- 3514. Nteziryayo testified that after the swearing-in of Ndahimana, Nsabimana delivered a speech condemning violence in all forms, expressing regret over what had happened in Ntyazo *commune*, and encouraging the people to work towards peace. He also called on the new *bourgmestre* to strive to seek peace and fight all troublemakers. He reminded the population that they had to go about their daily activities, in particular, farming and trade, in order to fight hunger. Finally he talked about information regarding possible attacks by the RPF from Burundi. 9400
- 3515. Nteziryayo testified that Lieutenant Colonel Muvunyi spoke in his capacity as area commander, and that he gave the population information on the state of the war and security advice. He urged the young people to join the army or to enlist in the Rwandan Armed Forces. 9401
- 3516. Nteziryayo testified that Ruzindaza, the President of the Court of First Instance spoke at the meeting. In his speech, Ruzindaza underscored the issues of patriotism and bravery, and urged the young people to join forces and not be afraid to die for their country. He also spoke on the issue of abiding the law. 9402
- 3517. Nteziryayo testified that Colonel Simba introduced himself as the officer in charge of civil defence for the Gikongoro and Butare *préfectures*, explained to the population that civil defence had just been established and that the population would be trained in weaponshandling and basic military tactics. Simba pointed out that the goal of civil defence was to confront any infiltration by the RPF. ⁹⁴⁰³
- 3518. Nteziryayo testified that when it was his turn to speak he condemned all troublemakers and encouraged peace. He spoke about guerrilla warfare and its devastating consequences, especially in the northern *préfectures* of Byumba, Ruhengeri and Kibungo. He explained that those involved in guerrilla warfare were hard to detect. Small groups of people, *i.e.* groups of two or three, would infiltrate the population and do everything to look like the local people, by adjusting to their clothes and daily conduct. The infiltrators would study the customs and attitudes of the region and take this opportunity to traffic weapons or set traps against the

⁹³⁹⁸ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 14, 24 (Nteziryayo).

⁹³⁹⁹ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 16-17 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰⁰ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 17-18 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰¹ T. 5 June 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰² T. 5 June 2007 pp. 18-19 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰³ T. 5 June 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).

population. They would move from one activity to the other and would "change colours like chameleons" 9404

- 3519. Nteziryayo agreed that he told the population: about the fighting tactics of the RPF troops and how they were camouflaged; that the *Inkotanyi* were carrying guns and ammunition in baskets; that the RPF would then take over the evacuated location; that the *Inkotanyi* would disguise themselves as missionaries, Muslims or farmers to avoid being identified and to collect money; and that the RPF would set deadly traps all over the place. He warned the population to avoid getting close to any mines and to report the locations of such metals and mines. Nteziryayo pointed out that he did not say that these *Inkotanyi* were actually present in the *commune*, but that he was speaking in general terms. Nteziryayo also talked about explosives, especially about grenades that the infiltrators buried in public places causing massive destruction. 9407
- 3520. Nteziryayo did not call on the youth to join the army and the *gendarmerie*, or to report at their camps to receive military training with the purpose of turning them into combatants to fight the RPF and continue killing the Tutsis. He was not in a position to give instructions for training, especially training on the manipulation of weapons. ⁹⁴⁰⁸
- 3521. At no time did Nteziryayo incite the population to exterminate or to murder the Tutsis or seek to incite the murder or killing of women, children or anyone else. He did not hear anybody make statements inciting the population to use violence or to exterminate the Tutsis. He further testified that he did not hear Nsabimana ask the audience to fight the accomplices of the enemy referring to the Tutsis or Lieutenant Colonel Simba call the Hutus to attack the Tutsi population. ⁹⁴⁰⁹

Nsabimana

- 3522. Nsabimana testified that he swore in the new *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994. The ceremony took place at about 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. on a football field. Nteziryayo, Colonel Simba, *Sous-préfet* Hakizamungu and Rekeraho were present but Muvunyi, Vice-Rector Nshimyumuremyi and Ruzindaza, the President of the Court of First Instance in Butare, did not attend the meeting. 9412
- 3523. The sound of shelling by the RPF could be heard nearby so he was in a hurry to leave. The meeting did not last more than one hour. Nsabimana spoke for between five and 10

⁹⁴⁰⁴ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 19-20; T. 5 June 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo) (French).

⁹⁴⁰⁵ T. 4 July 2007 p. 67 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰⁶ T. 5 July 2007 pp. 21-22 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰⁷ T. 5 June 2007 p. 20 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰⁸ T. 5 June 2007 p. 20 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁰⁹ T. 5 June 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴¹⁰ T. 21 September 2006 p. 4 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹¹ T. 21 September 2006 p. 39; T. 20 November 2006 pp. 50, 52 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹² T. 20 November 2006 pp. 50-52 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

minutes. 9413 He introduced himself, reminded the population that they needed to live in peace, and told the new bourgmestre that he was now in charge of a family 9414

- 3524. He could not remember if Nteziryayo spoke at the meeting. Colonel Simba gave the military salute, which elicited applause from the audience. Simba talked about infiltration, attacks and recruitment into the army. He did not incite those present to kill Tutsis. 9415
- 3525. Nsabimana denied that during his speech at the swearing-in ceremony at Ntyazo, he asked the population not to go to sleep, to be vigilant in order to fight the enemy who was the RPF and its Tutsi accomplices, and to seek out and kill surviving Tutsis. 9416 Witness FAI's testimony that Nteziryayo repeated the same message is not true 9417
- 3.6.34.3.2 Kirarambogo, Muganza Commune Meeting, 23 May 1994

Prosecution Witness RV

- 3526. Witness RV, a Hutu and former civil servant, was a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony. 9418 The witness testified that he made a written confession to the government authorities in Rwanda in 2001. 9419 He confessed that he participated in meetings organised by the administration in 1994, that he organised meetings in secteurs, and that he played a role in abductions and murders. He also admitted selling properties belonging to Tutsis who had been killed or had fled. At the time of his testimony, he did not know whether his confession had been accepted or whether he would have to appear before the Rwandan judicial system. 9420
- 3527. The witness testified that he took part in three meetings in Kirarambogo between April and June 1994. 9421 One of these meetings was chaired by Nteziryayo on around 25 May 1994. The meeting was attended by, among others, Colonel Muvunyi, the Butare commander, Jean-Baptiste Ruzindaza, chairman of the First Instance Tribunal in Butare, and the *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*. 9423 The witness testified that during this period, Nteziryayo was the chairman of the civil defence committee in Butare *préfecture*. 9424
- 3528. The witness testified that during the meeting, Dominique Ntawukulilyayo first introduced the visitors to the local population. Then Nteziryayo took the floor, followed by Jean-Baptiste Ruzindaza and Ambrors who was in charge of immigration and emigration in the préfecture. 9425 Nteziryayo explained that he was responsible for instructing the population on

⁹⁴¹³ T. 21 September 2006 pp. 39-40 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹⁴ T. 21 September 2006 p. 40 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹⁵ T. 21 September 2006 p. 40; T. 20 November 2006 pp. 52-54 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹⁶ T. 21 September 2006 pp. 40-41 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹⁷ T. 21 September 2006 pp. 41-42 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁴¹⁸ T. 17 February 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness RV); Prosecution Exhibit 78 (Personal Particulars).

⁹⁴¹⁹ T. 17 February 2004 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁴²⁰ T. 17 February 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁴²¹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁴²² T. 16 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 16 February 2004 p. 55 (HC) (Witness RV) (French). The Chamber notes that the English transcript indicates 5 May, while the French indicates 25 May 1994.

⁹⁴²³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁴²⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁴²⁵ T. 19 February 2004 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

how to use traditional weapons such as bows and arrows and spears. Nteziryayo added that he was also responsible for instructing the youth to join the army. Nteziryayo also told the attendees that they should exterminate all the accomplices so that when the Tutsis returned from exile there would not be any witnesses to tell them what had happened. Finally, Nteziryayo said that the population should not hide accomplices. Page 19427

- 3529. The witness stated that prior to the meeting in Kirarambogo, there had been a lull in the killings. After the meeting, many people who had survived previous massacres were killed, especially women. 9428
- 3530. The witness indicated that he did not remember the exact date of the meeting; he asked someone who lost his wife after what was said at that meeting, and that person told him that his wife was killed on 25 May 1994, but the witness could not confirm whether the Kirarambogo meeting actually took place on 25 May 1994.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-73

- 3531. Witness AND-73, a Hutu teacher from Muganza *commune*, ⁹⁴³⁰ testified that on 23 May 1994 at approximately 3.00 p.m., a meeting was held in his *secteur*, led by the *préfecture* officials. ⁹⁴³¹ The witness arrived at the meeting venue at 11.00 a.m., because the meeting was originally supposed to have been held at 10.00 a.m. ⁹⁴³² The meeting took place in the Kirarambogo locality, which is located between Muganza and Kibayi *communes*, at the market square of Nyabitare. ⁹⁴³³ At the time, the witness understood that the *préfet* would preside over the meeting, but he did not know who else was going to attend. ⁹⁴³⁴
- 3532. The *préfecture* officials arrived at the meeting late, around 3.30 p.m., and excused themselves by saying that they had held another meeting in another *commune*. These officials included: the *bourgmestre* of Muganza, Chrysologue Bimenyimana, *Préfet* Nsabimana; the vice-rector of the University of Butare; a Public Prosecutor; Colonel Nteziryayo; Colonel Muvunyi; and *Sous-préfet* Dominique Ntawukulilyayo. When asked during cross-examination whether *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana was actually at the meeting before the other officials arrived, the witness maintained that he arrived with the other officials. About 300 people attended the meeting altogether.

```
9426 T. 16 February 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness RV).
9427 T. 19 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness RV).
9428 T. 16 February 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness RV).
9429 T. 19 February 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness RV).
9430 Defence Exhibit 511 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).
9431 T. 8 February 2007 pp. 9-10 (Witness AND-73).
9432 T. 8 February 2007 p. 11 (Witness AND-73).
9433 T. 8 February 2007 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9434 T. 8 February 2007 p. 12 (Witness AND-73).
9435 T. 8 February 2007 p. 16; T. 8 February 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9436 T. 8 February 2007 p. 17; T. 8 February 2007 pp. 21, 64 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9437 T. 8 February 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9438 T. 8 February 2007 p. 17 (Witness AND-73).
```

- 3533. Five people spoke at the meeting. ⁹⁴³⁹ Bourgmestre Chrysologue Bimenyimana, opened the meeting, and was followed by *Préfet* Nsabimana, then by the Butare area commander, Colonel Muvunyi, then by Nteziryayo, and finally a man named Ruzindaza. ⁹⁴⁴⁰ No public address system was used, ⁹⁴⁴¹ and it appeared to the witness that not even the bourgmestre knew the meeting's agenda before it began. ⁹⁴⁴² Bourgmestre Bimenyimana thanked the attendees for waiting, and introduced the *préfet* to preside over the meeting. ⁹⁴⁴³ Nsabimana then told the inhabitants that they were in a period of insecurity, asked them to avoid involvement in acts of violence, and to refrain from killing because he believed that all people had a right to life. Nsabimana thereafter asked the people to go back to work, stressing the need to develop agriculture in the area. He finished by asking the members of the population to fight "troublemakers", and asked the "troublemakers" to stop their evil acts. ⁹⁴⁴⁴
- 3534. Colonel Muvunyi took the floor after Nsabimana. Muvunyi told the crowd that the war was close to them, in neighbouring *communes* such as Mugusa and Muyira. He asked the inhabitants to stay vigilant and to ensure their own safety. If the inhabitants heard gunshots, Muvunyi instructed them not to flee until they determined where the enemy was so they could flee in the opposite direction. At this moment, the witness observed the soldiers accompanying Colonel Muvunyi shoot their guns into the air before the Colonel had finished his speech. The gunshots frightened the people attending the meeting, including the witness, and they began to disperse, but did not know which way to go. 9446 Colonel Muvunyi called the people back and said: "If it had been a real attack, do not act like you have just reacted. First of all, you need to locate the enemy so that you can flee in the opposite direction away from the enemy."
- 3535. Subsequently Nteziryayo took the floor. Nteziryayo stressed the fact that the community was experiencing a difficult war period. However, Nteziryayo did not believe that there would be a large-scale attack because the RPF had adopted guerrilla tactics, and he explained to the crowd what guerrilla warfare consisted of. Nteziryayo explained that the RPF would infiltrate a region in order to obtain information as to how those inhabitants lived. Such information could include their habits, religious customs, religious membership, and when market days and religious services were held. The enemy would then use this information to supply accomplices with weapons without being noticed, perhaps by transporting weapons in baskets with produce that they would sell on market days.
- 3536. Nteziryayo told the inhabitants that the infiltrators could do manual work such as tilling the land, or own a small business such as selling clothing, shoes, milk or drinks. He told the population that they should report unknown people in the area to the authorities. Nteziryayo then warned people of the risk of mines in fields and on the hills, and told them to be careful if

⁹⁴⁴⁹ T. 8 February 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9440 T. 8 February 2007 pp. 68-69 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9441 T. 8 February 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9442 T. 8 February 2007 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9443 T. 8 February 2007 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9444 T. 8 February 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9445 T. 8 February 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9446 T. 8 February 2007 pp. 25-26 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9447 T. 8 February 2007 pp. 25 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
9448 T. 8 February 2007 pp. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

they came across something that they did not recognise. He reminded the people that they resided in a border area, where an attack from Burundi could take place, and asked the people to report to the local authorities if any such attack were to occur. The witness believed that the purpose of Nteziryayo's speech was to warn the inhabitants of potential dangers and to remind them to remain vigilant. He also estimated that the border of Burundi was seven kilometres away. 9449

3537. The last person to speak was Ruzindaza, the President of the Butare Court of First Instance. 9450 *Sous-préfet* Dominique Ntawukulilyayo did not take the floor at the meeting. 9451

3538. The witness listened closely to all of the speeches, and testified that neither Nteziryayo, nor any other speaker, said anything concerning the killing of Tutsis, or anything that could be considered incitement. The witness would have noticed such remarks because he had people to protect who were living at his house. According to the witness, anyone who testified that such remarks were made would be lying, and no "unfortunate incidents" occurred after the speeches were made. When it was put to him that Witness RV stated that Nteziryayo during his speech reminded the population that it had to exterminate all accomplices so that the Tutsis in exile would not have any witnesses, the witness replied that he never heard such a statement, and that the statement was a lie. When told that Witness RV testified that after the meeting many people were killed, the witness responded that he did not witness, nor hear anyone speak of, such events. The witness also stated that no one present at the meeting followed it better than him. He clarified this to mean that he followed the meeting "attentively".

3539. At the end of the meeting, the dignitaries left using the same road that they arrived from. None of the speakers spoke for more than 20 minutes, and some spoke for less than 15 minutes. The entire meeting lasted an hour and a half, and around 5.00 p.m., the witness was on his way home. Pierre Canisius Kagyambere, the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune*, did not attend the meeting. 9460

3540. The witness testified that after the meeting on 23 May 1994, he did not witness killings and massacres in the Kirarambogo area, and that, in fact, the security situation improved. 9461

⁹⁴⁴⁹ T. 8 February 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁰ T. 8 February 2007 pp. 30, 69 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵¹ T. 8 February 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵² T. 8 February 2007 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵³ T. 8 February 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁴ T. 8 February 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁵ T. 8 February 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁶ T. 8 February 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁷ T. 8 February 2007 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁸ T. 12 February 2007 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁵⁹ T. 8 February 2007 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁶⁰ T. 8 February 2007 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

⁹⁴⁶¹ T. 8 February 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

Peace was restored in the area after the aforementioned meeting, ⁹⁴⁶² and no other meetings took place during May or June 1994 in Kirarambogo. ⁹⁴⁶³

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-29

- 3541. Witness AND-29, a Hutu trader from Muganza *commune*, ⁹⁴⁶⁴ testified that a meeting was held in Nyabitare Market Square on 23 May 1994. Between 200 and 300 people attended it. The meeting was intended to start at 10.00 a.m. but it actually started at 3.00 p.m. ⁹⁴⁶⁶ The meeting started late because another meeting was being held in Muyaga *commune*. The witness left his shop and arrived at the meeting a few minutes before 3.00 p.m. ⁹⁴⁶⁸ The witness sat some 15 metres from the dignitaries.
- 3542. The dignitaries arrived in vehicles, which they parked about a hundred metres from the venue of the meeting. Among the dignitaries, he recognised Chrysologue Bimenyimana, the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*, Nteziryayo, *Préfet* Nsabimana, Colonel Muvunyi and someone called Ruzindaza. There were also between five and six soldiers who looked like they were escorting Muvunyi as they followed him when he left. The soldiers wore camouflage attire and black berets. There were also two *gendarmes* in camouflage attire and red berets who were escorting *Préfet* Nsabimana.
- 3543. The first person who took the floor was the *commune bourgmestre*. He thanked members of the population who had been patient, because the meeting had started late, but he announced that the dignitaries had informed him that they had already started by holding another meeting at another location. He started by introducing the *préfet*, saying, "[t]his is our *préfet*, Mr. Nsabimana." The *bourgmestre* was brief in his message, and at the end of his message he sat down. 9473
- 3544. *Préfet* Nsabimana took the floor, thanked the inhabitants and introduced the dignitaries who came with him. They got up and everyone applauded them. Nsabimana then said that, among the dignitaries who had accompanied him, there were three who would speak about the theme of the meeting. Nsabimana said that the first would be Colonel Muvunyi, and that the next would be Nteziryayo, who everyone already knew, because he was a native of Kibayi *commune*. Nsabimana mentioned Mr. Ruzindaza, who some knew because he was the President of the Court of First Instance in Butare. Then the *préfet* denounced those people who had involved themselves in killings. He asked all the inhabitants to continue with their day-to-day activities, be they agriculture or trade. Nsabimana mentioned Rwamiko *secteur* as an example because the shops were open as he passed by. Nsabimana urged that even schools

```
<sup>9462</sup> T. 8 February 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
<sup>9463</sup> T. 12 February 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).
<sup>9464</sup> Defence Exhibit 513 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>9465</sup> T. 19 February 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 20 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9466</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 52 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9467</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 53 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9468</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 53 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9469</sup> T. 20 February 2007 pp. 18 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9470</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 58 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9471</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 58 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9472</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 58-59 (Witness AND-29).
<sup>9473</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 65 (Witness AND-29).
```

should be opened. Nsabimana said that the purpose of the meeting was to restore the normal times that reigned before. 9474

3545. After *Préfet* Nsabimana, Colonel Muvunyi took the floor and thanked the local inhabitants. Muvunyi stated that fighting was going on in Ntyazo *commune*, and he requested the youths to respond positively when asked to join the army. Muvunyi said when the inhabitants were to hear gunshots they should not flee before they knew exactly where the person who was shooting was standing. A moment later there was gunfire, and the crowd dispersed. Muvunyi called the population back because it had dispersed in disorder, and said that this was just an example so that they would be aware of what gunfire sounded like. Muvunyi said that they needed to know exactly from where the gunshots were coming before they started to flee. 9475

3546. Thereafter Nteziryayo took the floor and repeated what the earlier speakers had said. Nteziryayo said that fighting was ongoing in Ntyazo *commune* and Muhira *commune* and warned the inhabitants to avoid picking up any metal objects they may find because they could be explosives. Nteziryayo said that whenever the population saw such objects, they should ask for the assistance of the authorities. Nteziryayo said that since the war was ongoing in the form of guerrilla tactics, it was being waged by small groups of people who would be disguised as pastors or they would be in attire which was "a bit special". There would be people who would be carrying baggage or baskets, and in those baskets, there could be firearms. If such a person came into the crowd, they would shoot and would kill members of the population; that is how the RPF would take over areas which had been left by members of the local population. 9476

3547. Nteziryayo wore a khaki military uniform at the meeting. The main objective of his speech was to address the issue of security, as was the objective of all the speeches. The witness was present throughout the entire meeting. Nteziryayo did not say anything about exterminating Tutsis. The meeting lasted about one and a half hours. 9477

3548. Ruzindaza, who had been introduced as President of the Court, spoke after Nteziryayo. At the beginning of his speech Ruzindaza greeted the local inhabitants; then he said that no one was above the law, and that, as had already been mentioned by the *préfet*, anyone caught breaking the law and being involved in reprehensible acts would be punished. He said that youths should not be afraid of joining the army, and mentioned a Rwandan proverb, "[i]f you refuse to spill your blood for your hill or for your territory, the dogs will drink that blood easily". The witness said these words were intended for those who were afraid to join the army because they were afraid of death. The witness said Ruzindaza was referring to youths or young men who were afraid of being enrolled into the army. ⁹⁴⁸⁰

3549. The *bourgmestre* closed the meeting by thanking again the members of the population for having followed the meeting attentively. He also asked members of the population to go

⁹⁴⁷⁴ T. 19 February 2007 p. 65 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁷⁵ T. 19 February 2007 p. 66 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁷⁶ T. 19 February 2007 p. 66 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁷⁷ T. 19 February 2007 p. 67 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁷⁸ T. 19 February 2007 p. 67 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁷⁹ T. 19 February 2007 pp. 67-68 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁸⁰ T. 19 February 2007 p. 68 (Witness AND-29).

and inform the others about what had transpired at the meeting. He said that those present should go and tell those at home that it was a security meeting. ⁹⁴⁸¹

Nteziryayo

- 3550. Nteziryayo testified that the delegation arrived at Kirarambogo in Nyirakanwero *cellule*, Nyabitare *secteur*, in Muganza *commune* between 3.00 and 3.30 p.m. on 23 May 1994. About 250 to 300 persons attended the meeting. 9483
- 3551. Nteziryayo testified that the delegation comprised the same members as the morning's meeting, including Nsabimana. Nteziryayo was present throughout that meeting. *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana made the opening remarks. The speakers were Nsabimana, who chaired the meeting, Muvunyi, Ruzindaza and Nteziryayo. Everyone delivered the same speeches as in the meeting held that morning. S487
- 3552. Nteziryayo testified he spoke on guerrilla warfare and explosives, but did not, as Witness RV alleged, "sensitise" anyone to undergo training in the handling of traditional weapons and other weapons. He was not in charge of sensitising the youth so that they could join the army and did not remind the population to exterminate all accomplices in order to prevent witnesses from speaking about the events in Rwanda upon their return to the country. He did not speak about civil defence, and did not ask the population not to hide accomplices. 9488
- 3553. In cross-examination, Nteziryayo confirmed that he had said in his speech in Kirarambogo that the RPF had changed its tactics so that there would not be a large-scale attack, now that they had adopted guerrilla tactics, and that he had explained that the enemy would infiltrate a region in order to get information about how the locals lived. ⁹⁴⁸⁹ He also agreed that when he told the population of Kirarambogo that the enemy infiltrated an area, he meant that the RPF was blending in with the local population; Nteziryayo denied that when he said that the infiltrators would get in touch with accomplices they have in that area, he was in fact, informing the population that the mostly Tutsi RPF guerrilla fighters would get in touch with mostly Tutsi supporters within the area, who would give them supplies. ⁹⁴⁹⁰
- 3554. Nteziryayo testified that his message did not incite members of the population to exterminate or to kill the Tutsis and none of the speakers present at Kirarambogo uttered any words inciting members of the population to carry out acts of violence. In cross-examination, Nteziryayo admitted that he did not personally investigate the cases he had heard broadcasted on the radio and in the press about RPF accomplices having weapons and

⁹⁴⁸¹ T. 19 February 2007 p. 69 (Witness AND-29).

⁹⁴⁸² T. 5 June 2007 pp. 33-34 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸³ T. 5 July 2007 p. 11 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁴ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 34, 39-40 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁵ T. 5 June 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁶ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 34, 37 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁷ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 35, 37-38 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁸ T. 5 June 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁸⁹ T. 5 July 2007 p. 12 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁹⁰ T. 5 July 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁴⁹¹ T. 5 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

ammunition.⁹⁴⁹² He further admitted that he did not have any specific information about the existence of RPF guerrilla infiltrators and armed accomplices in Muganza *commune* on 23 May 1994, but he stated that in his speech he did not make such allegation but that he only warned about the danger in general terms and asked the population to be careful, to seek information, and to watch those people crossing the border to and from Burundi.⁹⁴⁹³

3555. Nteziryayo testified that he did not attend any other meeting in the Kirarambogo region between April and July 1994, 9494 but that this was not the only time he went to Muganza *commune*. Contrary to Witness RV's testimony, Nteziryayo did not chair or even attend any meeting around 25 May 1994 at Kirarambogo. 9496

3556. Nteziryayo testified that after the end of the Kirarambogo meeting late in the evening, the delegation returned to Butare town. ⁹⁴⁹⁷ In the days after the meeting the situation in Muganza *commune* was relatively calm until the population fled following the outbreak of fighting in that region between the Government forces and the RPF. ⁹⁴⁹⁸

3.6.34.3.3 Muyaga Commune Meeting, Around Mid-June 1994

Prosecution Witness QBY

3557. Witness QBY, a Hutu farmer from Muyaga *commune* and a detainee at the time of his testimony, ⁹⁴⁹⁹ testified that he attended a meeting at the Mamba *secteur* office one morning at about 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. between late May and the early part of June 1994; he clarified that it occurred around either 5 May or 5 June 1994. ⁹⁵⁰⁰ The meeting was attended by over 2,000 people. ⁹⁵⁰¹ The officials in attendance included Colonel Muvunyi; Nteziryayo; Kalimanzira; Martin Kabalira; Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, the *sous-préfet*; the witness' *bourgmestre*, Fidèle Nzamwita; and the president of the court, Ruzindaza. ⁹⁵⁰² The officials arrived at the meeting in vehicles where they found members of the population sitting on the ground awaiting them. There were officials who came from Butare and they all took the floor and spoke using a loudspeaker. ⁹⁵⁰³

3558. Colonel Muvunyi spoke while standing on a table which was about six steps or about 6.4 metres away from where the witness was. Muvunyi said that he had come to show them how three *Inkotanyi* could take over a *commune*. The witness testified that after Muvunyi said this, he heard gunshots, although he did not know where they came from. As a result of

```
<sup>9492</sup> T. 5 July 2007 pp. 13-14, 19 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9493</sup> T. 5 July 2007 pp. 14-15, 18 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9494</sup> T. 5 June 2007 p. 40 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9495</sup> T. 5 June 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9496</sup> T. 5 June 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9497</sup> T. 5 June 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9498</sup> T. 5 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>9499</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 105 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>9500</sup> T. 19 April 2004 p. 52; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 8, 11-12; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 33, 37 (ICS) (Witness QBY).
<sup>9501</sup> T. 19 April 2004 pp. 52-54, 56-57; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 12, 15 (Witness QBY).
<sup>9503</sup> T. 20 April 2004 pp. 52-54, 56-57; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBY).
<sup>9504</sup> T. 19 April 2004 pp. 52-53; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBY).
```

the sound of gunfire, there was pandemonium among the crowd, and people fell one on top of another. ⁹⁵⁰⁵ In total, Muvunyi spoke for about four minutes. ⁹⁵⁰⁶

3559. After the gunshots, Muvunyi introduced Nteziryayo as the new *préfet* of Butare. The new *préfet* also climbed on top of the table. Nteziryayo introduced himself as an officer based in Ruhengeri. The witness described Nteziryayo as a tall, black man with sideburns and a receding hairline. He was wearing khaki-coloured attire, with a short-sleeved white shirt. He wore no hat or spectacles. The witness had never seen him before this day. Nteziryayo arrived with Muvunyi in a military jeep the colour of military uniforms like plantain leaves and was with a bodyguard. P510

3560. Nteziryayo spoke to the crowd for about 10 minutes saying: "You Rwandans sometimes have lice. These are eggs between – inside of which there are small lice or tiny lice." The witness understood this to mean that when the lice were killed, the eggs also had to be destroyed. When both Nteziryayo and Muvunyi spoke, they mounted the table which was about 85 centimetres high. Nteziryayo did not talk of security matters. The witness testified that Nteziryayo only told the population to kill those who looked like Tutsis and never talked about killing the *Inkotanyi*. According to the witness' testimony, Nteziryayo said that they should flush out the Tutsis and kill them along with their offspring.

3561. Apart from Muvunyi and Nteziryayo, other people who spoke at the meeting included the President of the Court, Ruzindaza; Sous-préfet Dominique Ntawukulilyayo; Martin Kabilira; Callixte Kalimanzira; and the bourgmestre of their commune, Nzamwita. Each of these officials, except for Nzamwita, incited the population to kill the Tutsis. The meeting ended between 12.30 and 1.00 p.m. Muvunyi and Nteziryayo told the people that they were going to deliver the same message to the people of Mugusa commune.

3562. After the meeting, Tutsi children were removed from Tutsi women married to Hutus, and they were killed. The witness testified that the killings took place at the clinic and at the parish compound, although he was not present. The witness testified that his paternal uncle, who was in charge of the killers' patrols, informed him of the killings and told him that approximately 180 to 200 people were killed. After the meeting, the witness went to the Burundian refugee camp to sell them alcoholic drinks. At the camp, the witness saw officials,

```
9505 T. 19 April 2004 p. 53 (Witness QBY).
9506 T. 20 April 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBY).
9507 T. 19 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QBY).
9508 T. 19 April 2004 pp. 54-55; T. 19 April 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness QBY) (French) (as to Nteziryayo introducing himself).
9509 T. 19 April 2004 p. 54; T. 20 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBY).
9510 T. 20 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness QBY).
9511 T. 19 April 2004 p. 54; T. 20 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBY).
9512 T. 19 April 2004 pp. 54-55 (Witness QBY).
9513 T. 20 April 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness QBY).
9514 T. 20 April 2004 pp. 23 (Witness QBY).
9515 T. 19 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness QBY).
9516 T. 19 April 2004 pp. 56-57; T. 20 April 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBY).
```

9517 T. 19 April 2004 p. 58 (Witness QBY). 9518 T. 19 April 2004 p. 58 (Witness QBY).

9519 T. 19 April 2004 pp. 59, 61; T. 19 April 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness QBY).

including Ntawuhiganayo, whom he had seen at the first meeting, encouraging people to go to places where survivors were to be found and to arrest them. 9520

3563. The witness testified that he got to know Nteziryayo from the second meeting he attended in Butare. The witness testified that he did not know what *commune* Nteziryayo came from nor did he know what position he held in 1994. The witness testified that he knew Nteziryayo was a soldier working in Ruhengeri because Nteziryayo said so himself. He did not see Nteziryayo after the war, because they all fled. He did not see Nteziryayo after the war, because they all fled.

3564. The witness did not know when Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* but when Nteziryayo came to their area, he introduced himself as the new *préfet* of Butare. The witness testified that he again saw Nteziryayo when the Tutsis were being killed, and had not seen him since the war ended. 9523 He was not asked to identify Nteziryayo in court.

Prosecution Witness FAB

3565. Witness FAB, a Hutu farmer living in Muyaga *commune* in 1994, ⁹⁵²⁴ testified that in June 1994, between about 11.00 a.m. and noon, ⁹⁵²⁵ he attended a meeting that was held at the Mamba *secteur* office, in Muyaga *commune*. The witness knew about the meeting from public announcements and posters that were put up by the *commune* authorities. ⁹⁵²⁶ Nteziryayo arrived in a dark sedan vehicle with the *sous-préfet* a few minutes after 11.00 a.m., after a meeting with the *commune* authorities in the *commune* buildings. ⁹⁵²⁷ The purpose of the meeting was to introduce the new *préfet*, Nteziryayo. The witness testified that almost the entire population of the *commune*, approximately 3,000 people, except children, attended the meeting. Many government officials were also present including Fidèle Nzamwita who was the *bourgmestre* of Muyaga *commune*, Colonel Muvunyi, Ruzindaza who was president of the Butare Tribunal, the *sous-préfet* of Busoro, all the *commune* officers and the new *préfet*, Nteziryayo. ⁹⁵²⁸ The witness testified that the Tutsi population in his *commune* did not participate in this meeting even though some of them were alive. After the meeting the Tutsis who were alive were killed. ⁹⁵²⁹ All the speakers stood on a table during their speeches and used a microphone.

3566. The *bourgmestre* introduced Nteziryayo as the new *préfet*. Nteziryayo made a speech during which he said that they were about to win the war against the RPF and the *Inkotanyi*, and asked for the "contribution" of the people. The "contribution" that Nteziryayo asked for was that the population arrest and kill "without any mercy" the Tutsis and the

```
<sup>9520</sup> T. 19 April 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness QBY).
```

⁹⁵²¹ T. 20 April 2004 pp. 3-4 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁵²² T. 20 April 2004 p. 4 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁵²³ T. 20 April 2004 pp. 3-4 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁵²⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 100 (Personal Particulars).

⁹⁵²⁵ T. 5 April 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵²⁶ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 22, 38, 42 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵²⁷ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 46-47 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵²⁸ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 22-24, 48 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵²⁹ T. 5 April 2004 p. 48; T. 5 April 2004 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁰ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 26-27 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³¹ T. 5 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAB).

Inkotanyi. 9532 Nteziryayo asked the crowd to arrest the children, women and old people and to kill them all. According to the witness, Nteziryayo spoke about Tutsi women and Hutu women who were married to Tutsis. He asked them to disembowel them if they were pregnant. Nteziryayo further told those at the meeting that "if you want to destroy lice, you must also kill the eggs". The witness said this meant that if they were to kill Tutsi elders, they also needed to kill the children. 9533 The witness recalled that Nteziryayo stood about 7.4 metres from the witness when he spoke. 9534

3567. After Nteziryayo, Muvunyi and Ruzindaza spoke respectively and called upon the people to kill the Tutsis. Muvunyi asked them to teach their children how to kill. He further asked them to kill, and to exterminate all survivors. Ruzindaza held a bible during his speech and asked the crowd not to go for confessions because they were in difficult times; he said they had to kill and that they would confess after the war. After Ruzindaza spoke, Muvunyi took the floor again. After the meeting the crowd dispersed and, upon return to their respective homes, started killing the surviving Tutsi population. The witness testified that the majority of the Tutsis who were killed were his neighbours and that the next morning he saw the bodies of two female Tutsis.

3568. The witness clarified that the meeting was held sometime in mid-June 1994, and not between 3 or 5 June 1994 as indicated in his previous statement of 11 April 1999. He conceded that he might have made a mistake about the date of the meeting when he gave his statement, but that he realised his mistake during the *Gacaca* sessions. 9538

3569. The witness testified that he would not be able to recognise Nteziryayo because he only saw him on one occasion in 1994 and had not seen him since. 9539

Ntezirvayo Defence Witness AND-60

3570. Witness AND-60, a Hutu accountant from Muyaga *commune*, 9540 testified that he attended a meeting held on 23 May 1994 in Mamba *secteur*, Rugunga *cellule*, in a small eucalyptus forest or woods. 9541 The meeting started at approximately 11.15 a.m. 9542 The witness estimated that there were 600 to 800 people at the meeting.

3571. Préfet Nsabimana, Colonel Muvunyi, Colonel Nteziryayo, Ruzindaza who was the President of the Court of First Instance, the sous-préfet of Gisagara sous-préfecture and four

```
<sup>9532</sup> T. 5 April 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAB).
```

⁹⁵³³ T. 5 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁴ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 24-25, 43 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁵ T. 5 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁶ T. 5 April 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁷ T. 5 April 2004 p. 28 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵³⁸ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAB); Defence Exhibit 217 (Nteziryayo) (11 April 1999, Statement of Witness FAB) pp. 4, 8.

⁹⁵³⁹ T. 5 April 2004 p. 30 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁵⁴⁰ Defence Exhibit 525 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).

⁹⁵⁴¹ T. 13 March 2007 pp. 3-4 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴² T. 13 March 2007 p. 4 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴³ T. 13 March 2007 p. 6 (Witness AND-60).

other men were the authority figures at the meeting. 9544 On cross-examination, the witness also stated that he saw Dominique Ntawukulilyayo at the meeting. 9545 The meeting was chaired by Préfet Nsabimana. 9546

3572. The agronomist of the *commune* told them to stand up and greet the arriving officials. Then, the former spoke for roughly one minute before passing the microphone to the bourgmestre of the commune, who thanked the local inhabitants and dignitaries for attending, before handing over the microphone to *Préfet* Nsabimana to preside over the meeting. 9547 The bourgmestre took the opportunity to introduce the inhabitants to the new préfet, Nsabimana, as this was the first meeting Nsabimana presided over after his appointment. Nsabimana told the attendees that Nteziryayo was a civil servant in the Ministry of the Interior and that he was dealing with matters pertaining to the police. 9548

3573. Nsabimana said in his speech that the local inhabitants were saddened by the tragedy that had befallen the country, and asked the population to be courageous and strong. Nsabimana further said that disturbances had occurred throughout the country following the President's death and in that very commune. Nsabimana added that he was saddened by the fact that wrongdoers had looted and set fire to the commune office and killed refugees there. Nsabimana asked the population to remain calm within the area without discriminating ethnically and to remain vigilant with regard to the restoration of peace as they could not trust their Burundian neighbours. Nsabimana reminded the population that five out of eight secteurs of the *commune* bordered Burundi and that attacks from Burundi could threaten the peace. Finally, Nsabimana said that the population should not attack one another because it would enable the enemy to commit certain acts and then accuse the population of having committed them against fellow citizens. 9549

3574. Colonel Muyunyi, who was the area commander of Butare, spoke next. He spoke of how the war developed, and said that the army was fighting against the enemy and was in a good position to conquer them. Muvunyi stated that the war was taking place in Ntyazo commune, a neighbouring commune, and in the Bugesera area, but that the population should not be frightened. 9550 Muvunyi then told the population to be careful when they heard gunfire and not to flee without knowing where they were going otherwise they could flee right into the hands of the enemy. Immediately after, gunshots were fired by the soldiers and the audience all ran, before Colonel Muvunyi signalled them to return to their seats. Colonel Muvunyi then told the population that they had not done what they had been told to do and that next time they heard gunshots they should not run into the hands of the enemy. 9551

3575. Ruzindaza spoke next, but only for a very short time. The witness stated that Ruzindaza spoke of evil-doers in the *commune* and asked the *bourgmestre* to continue his investigations so that these people could be found guilty and punished. Ruzindaza said that the country had

⁹⁵⁴⁴ T. 13 March 2007 p. 6; T. 13 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-60) (French).

⁹⁵⁴⁵ T. 14 March 2007 p. 27 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴⁶ T. 13 March 2007 p. 7 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴⁷ T. 13 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴⁸ T. 13 March 2007 p. 10 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁴⁹ T. 13 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵⁰ T. 13 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵¹ T. 13 March 2007 p. 9 (Witness AND-60).

been attacked, but that it should not be abandoned and that everyone should stand ready to defend it, especially those who were young and physically capable. The witness stated that Ruzindaza then mentioned the proverb, "[i]f you refuse to spill your blood for the country, dogs will come and drink that blood readily". The witness testified that after Ruzindaza had spoken, the bourgmestre gave a vote of thanks to the officials and reminded the local inhabitants to transmit the message which had been issued to other local inhabitants to ensure that people worked together to maintain peace and security. 9552

3576. Ntezirvayo also took the floor and spoke about guerrilla warfare, which he said was being used as a tactic of the enemy. Nteziryayo told the local inhabitants that they thought that the *Inkotanvi* were many in number and that they would make a lot of noise and cause a lot of damage when they attacked. Nteziryayo stated that the *Inkotanyi* had changed their tactics and that they could send only two to three individuals, who could be disguised in monk's clothing or as someone going to the market, and that they would be carrying baskets with food. Nteziryayo further said that the *Inkotanyi* could target their actions in order to kill people and the authorities, so that they could control the location they were in. Nteziryayo went on to say that if the inhabitants saw any unknown people in the community then those people should be taken to the nearest authority to be questioned. Finally, Nteziryayo warned the inhabitants not to pick up anything that they saw on the road, because the object may explode. Nteziryayo's speech lasted approximately 15 minutes. 9553 Nteziryayo did not use any proverb referencing the elimination of lice, or incite the killing of children, women and old people. 9554 Ntezirvayo wore military uniform. 9555

3577. There was no question and answer session at the end of the meeting, and the meeting ended at about 1.00 p.m. The witness was present for the entirety of the meeting and maintained that its purpose was the restoration of security. According to the witness he did not hear any words at the meeting inciting people to kill. The witness stated that the atmosphere at the end of the meeting was one of calm, with less fear, and that no killings took place after the meeting. 9556

Nteziryayo

3578. Ntezirvayo testified that on 23 May 1994 at about 10.00 a.m. the delegation arrived in Mamba secteur, Muyaga commune. The delegation included Nteziryayo; Nsabimana; the area commander, Tharcisse Muvunyi; the Vice-Rector of the National University of Rwanda's Butare campus, Jean Berchmans Nshimyumuremyi; the Prosecutor General, Mathias Peter Bushishi; the head of the intelligence service at the *préfecture*, Sylvain Halingintwari; the head of the Rwandan information authority, Musabirema; and the president of the Court of First Instance of Butare, Ruzindaza. 9557 Some sous-préfets were also present including the souspréfet of Gisagara, Dominique Ntawukulilyayo. Contrary to Witness QBY's testimony,

9557 T. 5 June 2007 p. 25 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁵⁵² T. 13 March 2007 p. 9 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵³ T. 13 March 2007 p. 10 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵⁴ T. 13 March 2007 p. 15 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵⁵ T. 13 March 2007 pp. 7-8 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁵⁵⁶ T. 13 March 2007 p. 10 (Witness AND-60).

Nteziryayo was not *préfet* on 23 May 1994, when the meeting took place. ⁹⁵⁵⁸ He also was not an army officer from Ruhengeri. ⁹⁵⁵⁹

- 3579. About 500-600 persons attended the meeting which was chaired by *Préfet* Nsabimana. The *bourgmestre* of Muyaga *commune* took the floor welcoming the delegation. Each of the speakers addressed the same subjects they had spoken about in the other *communes*. Contrary to what Witness QBY testified, Ruzindaza did not say that a Hutu student must kill a Tutsi student or that an old Hutu person must kill an old Tutsi person, or that when you are a coffee farmer, you must know how to pick the good coffee from the bad coffee and this is how the distinction has to be between a Hutu and a Tutsi. ⁹⁵⁶²
- 3580. Nteziryayo made a speech identical to the one he made the day before in Ntyazo *commune*. He did not say that everyone had to kill those that looked like a Tutsi, as Witness QBY alleged. He did not make statements that were likely to incite the population to exterminate or to kill Tutsis, or to kill women and children of any ethnic group whatsoever. According to the Accused, none of the speakers at Muyaga invited the population to resort to any kind of violence. Neither Martin Kabalira nor Callixte Kalimanzira was at that meeting. Therefore, contrary to the assertions of Witness QBY, Kabalira did not tell the population that they should kill the enemy, and only thereafter they could recite their prayers; and Kalimanzira did not say during the meeting that one weeds out the weeds from the rice, implying that it was, therefore, necessary to separate the Tutsis from the Hutus.
- 3581. At the end of the meeting, there was a small reception organised by the *bourgmestre* of Muyaga *commune*. Nteziryayo did not take part in other meetings in Muyaga *commune* or go to Muyaga *commune* any other time between April and July 1994. 9565
- 3582. Nteziryayo did not get any information on the prevailing security status in Muyaga *commune* after that meeting was organised, or if the local population killed anyone. He only received information on the fighting between the RPF and Government forces which had reached the Muyaga government after Ntyazo, forcing the population to migrate. 9566
- 3.6.34.3.4 Kibayi Commune Meeting, Mid- to Late June 1994

Prosecution Witness FAK

3583. Witness FAK, a Hutu farmer from Kibayi *commune* was detained at the time of his testimony. 9567 After confession, he was transferred to the Arusha wing of the prison after

```
9558 T. 5 June 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo).
9559 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 30-31 (Nteziryayo).
9560 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 26-27 (Nteziryayo).
9561 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 27 (Nteziryayo).
9562 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 28-29; T. 5 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo) (French).
9563 T. 5 June 2007 p. 29 (Nteziryayo).
9564 T. 5 June 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).
9565 T. 5 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
9566 T. 5 June 2007 p. 30 (Nteziryayo).
9567 T. 14 April 2004 p. 54; T. 15 April 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness EA
```

⁹⁵⁶⁷ T. 14 April 2004 p. 54; T. 15 April 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness FAK); Prosecution Exhibit 103 (Personal Particulars).

having pled guilty to killing three persons. He testified that a series of meetings were held between April and July 1994. Witness FAK attended only one meeting during this time at the Kibayi *commune* office, since the others were only for authorities, and not the general population. P571

3584. The meeting Witness FAK attended was held on a football pitch located in front of the Kibayi *commune* office and was chaired by Nteziryayo. The purpose of the meeting was to introduce Nteziryayo as the new *préfet*. On cross-examination, the witness testified that even though his statement said the meeting occurred in May 1994, it actually took place in June 1994; however, he could not remember the particular date given the time that has elapsed since then. He specified that the meeting could have been held on 18 or 19 June 1994. Nteziryayo was *préfet* as he told them that he had just been appointed. When it was put to the witness that Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* on 17 June 1994, the witness claimed Nteziryayo was a *préfet* when he came to Kibayi.

3585. The *bourgmestre* of Kibayi informed the *secteur's* population of the meeting; the meeting was intended for the entire population of Kibayi *commune*. 9578 He later stated that he had been informed of the meeting by the *responsable*, Jérémie Ndaribumbye. The witness' statement of 24 February 2000 that stated he was informed of the meeting by *Conseiller* Ndagijimana was incorrectly recorded. 9580

3586. Authorities present at the meeting included, *inter alia*, the Kibayi *bourgmestre*, Canisius Kajyambere, the only *bourgmestre* present, 9581 who introduced the speakers; Muvunyi, Nteziryayo, the *secteur conseillers* and the *responsables de cellule*. The meeting started between 9.00 a.m., the scheduled time, and 10.00 a.m., and ended at about 2.00 p.m. It was attended by more than 1,000 people. The witness went to the meeting on time and was present from the beginning to the end.

⁹⁵⁶⁸ T. 14 April 2004 p. 54; T. 15 April 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁶⁹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 17 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁰ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17, 66 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷¹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 66 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷² T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷³ T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁴ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 19, 27 (ICS) (Witness FAK); Defence Exhibit 220 (Nteziryayo) (24 February 2000 and 3 May 2000, Statements of Witness FAK) pp. 4, 8.

⁹⁵⁷⁵ T. 15 April 2004 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁶ T. 15 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁷ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁸ T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁷⁹ T. 15 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁸⁰ T. 15 April 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAK); Defence Exhibit 220 (Nteziryayo) (24 February 2000 and 3 May 2000, Statements of Witness FAK) pp. 4, 8.

⁹⁵⁸¹ T. 15 April 2004 p. 47 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁸² T. 14 April 2004 pp. 18-19 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁸³ T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁸⁴ T. 14 April 2004 p. 19; T. 15 April 2004 pp. 20, 22 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁵⁸⁵ T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK).

3587. The first speaker at the Kibayi meeting was the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune*, who introduced Nteziryayo and Muvunyi. State Nteziryayo took the floor and introduced himself as the new *préfet*. He thanked them for having killed Tutsis. Nteziryayo also instructed the population as to how to conduct its work in killing Tutsis; the attendees were to kill Tutsi children who were to be found at their grandparents' houses. Nteziryayo also asked the attendees to abduct and kill the Tutsi women who were illegally taken as wives by young Hutu men in an effort to save their lives. The attendees were also instructed to kill any Hutu men who refused to let them take their wives. However, the attendees were told to spare any Tutsi women who were legally married to Hutu men prior to the war and who had children with those same Hutu men seamed that there was no mention of the last statement in his previous statement because they were not all "true reflections". Nteziryayo did not mention the impending attacks of the RPF. Witness FAK was approximately 4.6 metres away from Nteziryayo at the meeting.

3588. When Nteziryayo was finished, Muvunyi took the floor. It was the first time the witness saw Muvunyi. Muvunyi asked the audience how they would conduct themselves when the *Inkotanyi* arrived. As a test-case, *gendarmes* located downhill from the meeting venue fired shots in the air, causing the audience to scatter. The audience was called back by the security personnel and Muvunyi told them not to flee. They were asked: "You are to behave in this manner the day the *Inkotanyi* fire? If you are not able to confront or to face the fighting, you had better run away to Gikongoro or to Zaire". Muvunyi told them, "[y]ou are refusing to spill your blood for your country and the dogs will drink it for free". The witness considered that President Ruzindaza of the Court of First Instance did not make this statement. Muvunyi stated that there were some *Inyenzi* in the rice plantation in Ntyazo and said that he was going to bring youngsters to flush out those *Inyenzi*. Despite Muvunyi's words, the speakers made no mention that the attackers were the RPF.

3589. After Colonel Muvunyi, Kibayi *Bourgmestre* Kajyambere took the floor to end the meeting and asked the audience to put the instructions they had been given into practice. After this meeting, the audience dispersed to their respective *secteurs* and went home to

```
9586 T. 14 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAK).
<sup>9587</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 19; T. 15 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
9588 T. 14 April 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAK).
9589 T. 14 April 2004 pp. 20-22 (Witness FAK).
9590 T. 14 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAK).
9591 T. 14 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAK).
9592 T. 14 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAK).
9593 T. 15 April 2004 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
<sup>9594</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
<sup>9595</sup> T. 14 April 2004 pp. 33-35 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
9596 T. 14 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAK).
<sup>9597</sup> T. 14 April 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness FAK).
<sup>9598</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 26; T. 15 April 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
9599 T. 15 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
<sup>9600</sup> T. 15 April 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
<sup>9601</sup> T. 15 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness FAK).
<sup>9602</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 14 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAK).
```

comply with the instructions they had received. 9603 After the Kibayi meeting, people who had hidden Tutsis in their houses killed them as "they had to proceed to the extermination of the survivors." The day after the meeting Witness FAK personally killed a Tutsi. 9605

- 3590. The day after the Kibayi meeting, Witness FAK went to the Gatundo Gatuna roadblock along with Augustin Rwabuhungu and one Laurent where they found the *conseiller*. At the roadblock, Augustin Rwabuhungu said that he had a Tutsi girl hidden in his house. Accordingly, the *conseiller* asked Rwabuhungu to bring her but he refused to follow the *conseiller*'s instructions, asking the *conseiller* to ask someone else. The *conseiller* said to him, "[y]ou have taken the goods, destroyed the houses and yet you are still keeping these people. You better go and bring her."
- 3591. Witness FAK and others went and found the Tutsi girl at Karoti Yoronimu's residence and later killed her upon the *conseiller's* instructions at the roadblock.⁹⁶¹⁰ The witness hit her with a club, and Laurent finished her off.⁹⁶¹¹ The Tutsi woman had a child with her who was killed by Rwabuhungu on the same day.⁹⁶¹²
- 3592. Witness FAK identified Nteziryayo in court. He had seen Nteziryayo four times before 1994 when Nteziryayo visited his workplace and also in a white Pajero vehicle at the Kibayi *commune* office. He had seen Nteziryayo four times
- 3593. Witness FAK knew Witness QBU for a brief period in prison but they did not share a cell in prison. 9616

Prosecution Witness QBU

3594. Witness QBU, a Hutu farmer from Kibayi who had pled guilty to participating in the killings in 1994 and was a detainee at the time of his testimony, ⁹⁶¹⁷ testified that around the end of May or early June 1994, a meeting to incite those present to commit killings was convened by Nteziryayo and attended by inhabitants of the *commune*. ⁹⁶¹⁸ The meeting was held at a football field in Nyabisagara *cellule*, Mukindo *secteur*. ⁹⁶¹⁹ The meeting started around

```
<sup>9603</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAK).
```

⁹⁶⁰⁴ T. 14 April 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶⁰⁵ T. 14 April 2004 p. 26; T. 14 April 2004 pp. 28-29, 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶⁰⁶ T. 14 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶⁰⁷ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 29, 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶⁰⁸ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 26-27 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶⁰⁹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹⁰ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 30-32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹¹ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹² T. 14 April 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹³ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹⁴ T. 14 April 2004 p. 36 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 p. 38; T. 15 April 2004 p. 9; T. 15 April 2004 pp. 13-16 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹⁵ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 12, 17 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹⁶ T. 14 April 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁶¹⁷ T. 13 April 2004 p. 7; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness QBU); Prosecution Exhibit 102 (Personal Particulars)

⁹⁶¹⁸ T. 13 April 2004 p. 8; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 37, 54-55, 58 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 p. 3 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶¹⁹ T. 13 April 2004 p. 8; T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

11.00 a.m. and finished around 2.30 p.m. ⁹⁶²⁰ *Bourgmestre* Kajyambere opened the meeting and spoke briefly before introducing Nteziryayo who said he was now the *préfet*. ⁹⁶²¹ Jean-Baptiste Habyarimana was replaced by Nteziryayo as *préfet*; Nteziryayo was the only other *préfet* Witness QBU saw. ⁹⁶²² Nteziryayo was wearing a short sleeved green suit at the meeting. ⁹⁶²³ Muvunyi was also present. ⁹⁶²⁴

3595. When the witness was shown the official letter of appointment showing Nteziryayo took up duties as the *préfet* of Butare on 21 June 1994, Witness QBU contested the validity of the letter stating that "it is giving ... the date of [Nteziryayo's] appointment ... as much later than the actual appointment." ⁹⁶²⁶

3596. Nteziryayo told the meeting to hold fast in their struggle against the enemy and added that the enemy was no other than the Tutsi. Heziryayo said that "young men are taking Tutsi girls as their girlfriends whereas those girlfriends should die" and "[g]randparents [who] had hidden their grandchildren ... should [also] die." Nteziryayo told the meeting that "any Hutu hiding a Tutsi or who resisted in his attempt to hide a Tutsi, ... had to die." Nteziryayo told the people present that "the Tutsis were snakes that we were keeping in our houses." Nteziryayo said "[i]f you remember that when you clear, when you sweep ashes, you take it out of the house, you do not keep it inside the house." Nteziryayo told those present at the meeting that they had to search everywhere and that the issue had to be resolved by the next day. From these words, the witness and the rest of the population understood that they needed to "fish out the Tutsis from their grandparents [and] there [sic] uncles".

3597. Muvunyi was the last speaker. 9634 Muvunyi said the *Inkotanyi* were at Ntyazo and asked the population to be ready to face them. 9635

3598. The people at the meeting, including himself, followed Nteziryayo's instructions and "resolved that issue" the following day. ⁹⁶³⁶ The "work" he spoke about was rounding up Tutsi children and killing them. They started this work on the same day that Nteziryayo gave them instructions; they rounded up 14 Tutsi children from neighbouring families but since it was

```
<sup>9620</sup> T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU).
```

⁹⁶²¹ T. 13 April 2004 p. 9; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 36-37, 56-58 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²² T. 13 April 2004 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²³ T. 13 April 2004 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²⁴ T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²⁵ T. 13 April 2004 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness QBU); Defence Exhibit 5 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo's Letter of Appointment).

⁹⁶²⁶ T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²⁷ T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²⁸ T. 13 April 2004 p. 9; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶²⁹ T. 13 April 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁰ T. 14 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³¹ T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³² T. 13 April 2004 p. 9; T. 13 April 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³³ T. 13 April 2004 p. 10 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁴ T. 14 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁵ T. 13 April 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁶ T. 13 April 2004 p. 9; T. 13 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

getting late they returned the children to their homes and re-collected them again the next day, when they drowned the children in the Akanvaru River. 9637

3599. Witness QBU and others carried out these killings because they felt that they were fighting the enemy, namely the Tutsi as Nteziryayo informed them. 9638 Members of the RPF had not yet infiltrated Kibayi at the time. 9639

3600. Although Witness QBU had seen Nteziryayo on several occasions during the war in 1994, he had not seen him since the war ended. 9640 Witness QBU positively identified Nteziryayo in court. 9641

3601. Witness QBU was detained and attended Gacaca proceedings with other detainees from his home *commune*. 9642 but he did not take part in the same *Gacaca* sessions as Prosecution Witness FAK. 9643

Prosecution Expert Witness Evariste Ntakirutimana

3602. Evariste Ntakirutimana testified as an expert in the fields of social linguistics, discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics and language planning. 9644 Ntakirutimana's Expert Report, tendered as Prosecution Exhibit 158, analyses the use of numerous proverbs and phrases in Rwanda during the events in 1994. 9645 Ntakirutimana explained that references to removing lice convey the image of parasites getting into ones clothing. Since old mothers and fathers in villages pick lice from their clothes, thus eliminating them, one can extrapolate the proverb to mean that one needed to eliminate anything that can disturb one's life or situation. 9646

Nsabimana

3603. Nsabimana testified that he went to Kibayi⁹⁶⁴⁷ with Nteziryayo for an impromptu civilian defence meeting sometime after mid-May 1994, arriving around 3.00 p.m. 9648 The meeting was at a football field approximately 500 metres from the commune office and not many people were present. Bourgmestre Pierre Kajyambere, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Kalimanzira were present. 9649

⁹⁶³⁷ T. 13 April 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁸ T. 13 April 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶³⁹ T. 13 April 2004 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶⁴⁰ T. 13 April 2004 p. 13; T. 13 April 2004 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶⁴¹ T. 13 April 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶⁴² T. 13 April 2004 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶⁴³ T. 13 April 2004 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁶⁴⁴ T. 13 September 2004 p. 30 (Ntakirutimana).

⁹⁶⁴⁵ T. 13 September 2004 p. 32 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by

⁹⁶⁴⁶ T. 13 September 2004 p. 70 (Ntakirutimana).

⁹⁶⁴⁷ T. 20 September 2006 pp. 68-69 (Nsabimana) (French). The following day Nsabimana stated that Kabgayi was also known as Kabwayi, and is a Catholic mission in Gitarama préfecture: T. 21 Sept 2006 pp. 76-77 (Nsabimana). 9648 T. 20 September 2006 p. 64 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁶⁴⁹ T. 20 September 2006 p. 65 (Nsabimana).

3604. Nsabimana was introduced as the new *préfet* and spoke from the back of Kalimanzira's pickup. Nsabimana and Kalimanzira spoke about the arrival of the RPF in the area – they said fleeing would not be useful, that it would be better to stay and die at home. Nteziryayo spoke about explosives saying that one had to be careful and the theme was the RPF had arrived. Nsabimana believed the meeting in Kibayi with Nteziryayo and Kalimanzira was in fact the initiation or launching of the civilian defence programme. 9651

Nteziryayo

3605. Nteziryayo testified that in accordance with the timetable agreed at a Security Council meeting of 20 May 1994, a tour of meetings took place in Butare's southern *communes* between 22 and 26 May 1994. In the context of this tour, meetings were scheduled in Kibayi *commune* on the morning of 24 May 1994 and in the afternoon in Gikore *secteur* in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. Apart from Lieutenant Colonel Simba, all the members who spoke at each meeting during the tour always addressed the same topics, including Nteziryayo. 9654

3606. The meeting on 24 May 1994 was the only meeting he attended in Kibayi *commune* and the only time he went there together with Nsabimana between April 1994 and July 1994. Nteziryayo was dressed in military uniform. 9656

3607. The meeting was held on a football pitch near Kibayi *commune* office, in Mukindo *secteur*, Kibayi *commune* on 24 May 1994 in the morning. Between 400 and 500 persons attended the meeting, but not a thousand or more as asserted by Witness FAK. In cross-examination he stated about 500 to 700 persons attended the meeting.

3608. The delegation was led by Nsabimana and consisted of Muvunyi, 9660 Ruzindaza, Bushishi, Nshimuyamuremye, Harinditwari and Cyprien Musariba, who was in charge of the Rwandan information authority, and the Accused. 9661 Nteziryayo stated that the *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *préfecture*, Dominique Ntawukulilyayo and another *sous-préfet* also attended the meeting. 9662 After the *bourgmestre* opened the meeting, Nsabimana spoke in his function as *préfet*, followed by Muvunyi, Ruzindaza and Nteziryayo. Nteziryayo did not chair the meeting; Nsabimana did. 9664

```
9650 T. 20 September 2006 p. 66 (Nsabimana).
9651 T. 20 September 2006 pp. 67-68 (Nsabimana).
9652 T. 23 May 2007 pp. 21, 23-24, 39-40 (Nteziryayo).
9653 T. 23 May 2007 pp. 39-40 (Nteziryayo).
9654 T. 23 May 2007 pp. 54, 58; T. 5 June 2007 pp. 5-6 (Nteziryayo).
9655 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 61-63 (Nteziryayo).
9656 T. 5 July 2007 p. 6 (Nteziryayo).
9657 T. 5 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).
9658 T. 5 June 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).
9659 T. 5 July 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo).
9660 T. 5 July 2007 p. 6 (Nteziryayo).
9661 T. 5 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).
9662 T. 5 June 2007 p. 44; T. 5 June 2007 p. 29 (Nteziryayo) (French).
9663 T. 5 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).
9664 T. 5 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).
```

- 3609. The purpose of the meeting was not to introduce himself as the new *préfet* and Nteziryayo did not introduce himself in this way. The meeting was to discuss the restoration of peace. The meeting's themes, as with the previous meetings, was the development of the *commune*, its freedom from the "hunger campaign", the problem of the flight of the populations from RPF attacks from Burundi and the encouragement of striving for peace. 9665
- 3610. Nteziryayo visited the southern *communes*, including Kibayi *commune* not on his own initiative, but at the invitation of the *préfecture* authorities he was convinced that he was going to contribute to the activities aimed at calming the population and helping them prevent the dangers awaiting them. It was in this spirit that he advised them about infiltrators and how to protect themselves. ⁹⁶⁶⁶
- 3611. Nteziryayo talked again about guerrilla warfare, the use of explosives and informed the population of possible attacks by the RPF from Burundi. When he told the population that the enemy would infiltrate an area, he was referring to the RPF blending in with the local population. Insofar as Witness AND-73 testified that Nteziryayo told the population that the "infiltrators ... would get in touch with [their] accomplices in [the] area", Nteziryayo denied that he meant that the "mostly Tutsi RPF guerilla fighters" would get in touch with their Tutsis supporters within the area. Nteziryayo did not personally undertake any investigations about the RPF's accomplices but it was public information that the RPF's accomplices were moving around with weapons and ammunition; it had been broadcast over the radio and reported by the press.
- 3612. He did not, as alleged by Witness FAK, instruct the population to kill Tutsis; thank them for having killed Tutsis; encourage them to kill Tutsi children living in the homes of their grandparents; ask the population to abduct and kill Tutsi girls married to Hutus and everyone who refused to hand them over, but spare "legally married" Tutsi women who had borne children with Hutus. He did not speak on ethnic issues but asked them to strive for peace. ⁹⁶⁷¹
- 3613. Contrary to the evidence of Witness QBU, he did not say that people should be steadfast in the fight against the Tutsis and that if youngsters had taken Tutsi girls as their concubines, these concubines had to die; or that grandparents and uncles who had hidden their grandchildren should die, on the day of the meeting. He also did not say people should search homes and the Makwaza forest and if a Hutu hiding a Tutsi tried to protect the Tutsi, the Hutu had to die along with the Tutsi. Contrary to the evidence of Witness QBU, at the

⁹⁶⁶⁵ T. 5 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁶⁶ T. 5 July 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁶⁷ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 47, 51 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁶⁸ T. 5 July 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo). The Chamber notes that while addressing the meeting of 24 May 1994 at Kibayi, the Prosecution mistakenly put to Nteziryayo Witness AND-73's testimony as to the content of Nteziryayo's speech at the 23 May 1994 meeting at Kirarambogo concerning the RPF and guerrilla warfare: T. 5 July 2007 pp. 7-12 (Nteziryayo). Insofar as Nteziryayo testified that he discussed the same themes at each meeting and that he also discussed the RPF and guerrilla warfare at the 24 May 1994 meeting in Kibayi *commune*, the Chamber considers his testimony is equally relevant here.

⁹⁶⁶⁹ T. 5 July 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁷⁰ T. 5 July 2007 pp. 14-15 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁷¹ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 51-53 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁷² T. 5 June 2007 pp. 55-56, 59 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁶⁷³ T. 5 June 2007 p. 57 (Nteziryayo).

time of the meeting on 24 May 1994, Nteziryayo was not an army major, but a lieutenant-colonel. 9674

- 3614. Nteziryayo was present throughout the meeting and at no time did he or any of the other speakers issue orders that women and children, Tutsis or otherwise, should be killed. Muvunyi, in his capacity as area commander, gave the population information on the progress of the war. He explained to the population that the fighting was not very far away; he urged the young people to join the army; he advised what people should do when they heard gunshots and warned they should not run blindly or panic; they should only flee after locating from where the gunshots were fired. 9676
- 3615. Contrary to the evidence of Witness FAK, it was Ruzindaza and not Muvunyi who stated, "[y]ou are refusing to shade [sic] your blood for your country, whereas the dogs are drinking the said blood for free." Contrary to Witness FAK, he did not hear Muvunyi say during his speech that *Inyenzi* were hiding in the rice plantation in Ntyazo and that he was going to bring youngsters to flush out those *Inyenzi*. Moreover, given the distance between Ntyazo and Kibayi he would not be expected to utter such words in Kibayi *commune*. 9678
- 3616. No one in the audience asked the speakers any questions at the end of the meeting; as such, no one asked Nteziryayo whether legally married Tutsi women had to die and Nteziryayo equally did not answer that the illegally married and youngsters who had taken Tutsi girls for their mistresses had to hand the women over so they could be killed. ⁹⁶⁷⁹
- 3617. After the meeting, there was peace in Kibayi *commune* that lasted until there were clashes between the RPF and Government forces forcing the population to flee to neighbouring countries.⁹⁶⁸⁰

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-11

- 3618. Witness AND-11, a civil servant from Ndora *commune*, 9681 testified that he was informed by the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune* three days prior to the meeting on 24 May 1994 that the meeting was to take place. The meeting was held on a football pitch in Nyabisagara *cellule*, Mukindo *secteur*, Kibayi *commune*. 9683
- 3619. The meeting started between 10.30 a.m. and 11.00 a.m. ⁹⁶⁸⁴ and about 300 or 400 civilians attended the meeting. The *bourgmestre* informed them that the meeting was not

```
9674 T. 5 June 2007 p. 59 (Nteziryayo).
9675 T. 5 June 2007 p. 57 (Nteziryayo).
9676 T. 5 June 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo).
9677 T. 5 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).
9678 T. 5 June 2007 p. 49 (Nteziryayo).
9679 T. 5 June 2007 p. 59 (Nteziryayo).
9680 T. 5 June 2007 pp. 57-58 (Nteziryayo).
9681 T. 7 February 2007 pp. 16 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
9682 T. 1 February 2007 pp. 10 (ICS); T. 5 February 2007 pp. 36 (Witness AND-11).
9683 T. 1 February 2007 pp. 10, 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
9685 T. 1 February 2007 pp. 10 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
```

going to be long, because the authorities were scheduled to hold another meeting at Gikore. The meeting on 24 May 1994 was the only meeting chaired by *Préfet* Nsabimana in the said *commune* after 6 April 1994; no other meetings chaired by any figure of authority from Butare were held. As a civil servant he was always informed of the holding of meetings. In the period between 7 April 1994 and 7 July 1994, the witness attended only one (restricted committee) meeting that was convened and chaired by the Kibayi *bourgmestre* and only one meeting convened and chaired by *Préfet* Nsabimana, namely the one of 24 May 1994.

- 3620. The dignitaries arrived in three vehicles at 10.30 a.m. ⁹⁶⁹⁰ They met the *bourgmestre* at the *commune* office upon arrival and then walked with the *bourgmestre* to the field where the meeting was to take place. ⁹⁶⁹¹ The dignitaries sat on metal chairs facing SERAI or the road that leads to Juma *secteur*. In front of the dignitaries were tables. Behind the dignitaries were the benches where the population sat. Some of the population chose to stand in the field not far from there in a location shown to them by a *commune* policeman. ⁹⁶⁹²
- 3621. The Kibayi *bourgmestre*, Kajyambere, sat in the centre, to his left was *Préfet* Nsabimana, and to his right were Colonels Muvunyi and Nteziryayo, and beyond them the other guests, such as Sabilema and Ruzindaza. To Nsabimana's left was the *sous-préfet* of Gisagara. To the left of the *sous-préfet* were three *conseillers*. The witness was present for the entire meeting.
- 3622. A master of ceremonies gave the floor to the Kibayi *bourgmestre* who made the opening remarks at the meeting and then introduced the dignitaries who were going to speak. He first introduced Colonel Muvunyi and then Nteziryayo who he introduced as a colonel in the Rwandan army. He invited members of the population to listen to the proceedings of the meeting very attentively, saying it was a special meeting to deal with security matters. He invited members of the population to listen to the proceedings of the meeting very attentively, saying it was a special meeting to deal with security matters.
- 3623. The *bourgmestre* gave the floor to *Préfet* Nsabimana who chaired the meeting. This was the first and only occasion the witness saw *Préfet* Nsabimana. Préfet Nsabimana asked all members of the population to strive for peace in their areas, and in the entire *commune*; to stop the killings, if there were any being committed; and not to follow the example of anyone who wanted to incite them to commit killings. He said the population should preserve

```
9686 T. 5 February 2007 pp. 57-58 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9687</sup> T. 5 February 2007 p. 59; T. 5 February 2007 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
9688 T. 7 February 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
9689 T. 6 February 2007 pp. 61-62 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9690</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 13 (ICS); T. 5 February 2007 p. 42 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9691</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 13 (ICS); T. 5 February 2007 p. 43 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9692</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9693</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9694</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 15 (ICS); T. 5 February 2007 p. 53 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9695</sup> T. 5 February 2007 p. 56 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9696</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 17 (ICS); T. 7 February 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9697</sup> T. 7 February 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9698</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9699</sup> T. 1 February 2007 pp. 19, 28; T. 5 February 2007 pp. 53-54 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9700</sup> T. 5 February 2007 pp. 54-55 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9701</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 19 (Witness AND-11).
```

security by reinforcing and conducting night rounds in their homes and in the entire commune. Nsabimana did not incite the population to kill. Nsabimana's speech lasted 15 to 20 minutes.

- 3624. After Nsabimana, Colonel Muvunyi took the floor. He also asked the population to reinforce security and restore peace in the *commune*; he asked the youth to be ready to heed the call of the army, and not to hide; he also broached the issue of guerrilla warfare. His message lasted five to 10 minutes.⁹⁷⁰⁵
- 3625. Colonel Nteziryayo spoke after Colonel Muvunyi. ⁹⁷⁰⁶ Nteziryayo spoke along the same lines as the previous speakers: he invited the population to remain united and to work towards peace with their neighbours by avoiding or by not listening to those who would incite them to commit killings. Furthermore, he said that the people should not attack anyone on the grounds of their ethnicity or because of their property, because everyone was the son or daughter of Rwanda. He revisited the issue of explosives and guerrilla warfare. ⁹⁷⁰⁷ He then asked members of the population to keep striving towards maintaining the security of the population. ⁹⁷⁰⁸ Nteziryayo did not incite the population to kill, ⁹⁷⁰⁹ and idiomatic expressions and proverbs referring to Tutsis as "ash" that needed to be "cleaned up" and thrown out were not used that day. ⁹⁷¹⁰ When Nteziryayo referred to the accomplices of the RPF guerrillas, he was not necessarily only referring to Tutsis since even Hutus sent their children to the front. ⁹⁷¹¹ His speech was not very long. ⁹⁷¹² Nteziryayo was not *préfet* at the time of the meeting. ⁹⁷¹³ The only time Nteziryayo came to Kibayi *commune* was the occasion of this meeting.
- 3626. After Nteziryayo, the *bourgmestre* took the floor to thank members of the population and encourage them to strengthen peace. He asked them to return to their homes and convey the message of the meeting to those who lived in their respective *cellules*. The population came away from the meeting resolved to ensure peace; there were no further killings or massacres after the meeting of 24 May 1994.
- 3627. Contrary to the evidence of the Prosecution witnesses, roadblocks were not mounted after the meeting, and the meeting's purpose was not to incite people. There was no question/answer session at the end of the meeting; as such, no one asked Nteziryayo whether

```
<sup>9702</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 19; T. 7 February 2007 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9703</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 20 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9704</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 21 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9705</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 21 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9706</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 22 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9707</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 22; T. 7 February 2007 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9708</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 22 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9709</sup> T. 1 February 2007 pp. 23, 29 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9710</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 29 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9711</sup> T. 7 February 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9712</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 23 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9713</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9714</sup> T. 7 February 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9715</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 23 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9716</sup> T. 1 February 2007 pp. 30, 35; T. 1 February 2007 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9717</sup> T. 1 February 2007 pp. 23, 28 (Witness AND-11).
```

legally married Tutsi women had to die. ⁹⁷¹⁸ Contrary to the evidence of Witness H1B6, ⁹⁷¹⁹ Ruzindaza did not take the floor during the meeting. ⁹⁷²⁰ Contrary to the evidence of the Prosecution witnesses, the meeting involving the Kibayi *bourgmestre*, Nteziryayo and Colonel Muvunyi did not occur in June 1994. ⁹⁷²¹

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-53

3628. Witness AND-53, a Hutu farmer from Kibayi *commune*, ⁹⁷²² attended a meeting held in Kibayi *commune* on 24 May 1994. ⁹⁷²³ He was certain of this date because the meeting was so important. ⁹⁷²⁴ The meeting was convened by *Préfet* Nsabimana. *Bourgmestre* Kajyambere announced that a meeting chaired by the *préfet* would be held and asked the *conseillers* to inform members of the population. ⁹⁷²⁵ The *responsable de cellule* in the *secteur*, ⁹⁷²⁶ appointed a man with a whistle to go around and announce the meeting. ⁹⁷²⁷

3629. Witness AND-53 went to the meeting on foot, a distance of about 5 to 6 kilometres. He set off for the meeting at 9.30 a.m. and arrived at the meeting's venue a few minutes before 11.00 a.m. when the meeting began. The meeting took place on the football field of Kibayi *commune*, which was about 150 metres downhill from the *commune* office. On arriving at the meeting he saw seating arrangements had been made for the authorities and the ordinary attendees, but there was no dais. The witness sat on the football pitch about 20 metres from the speakers. Between 500 and 700 people attended the meeting, the there were no Tutsis as they had not yet come out of hiding. He knew one person at the meeting who was of Twa ethnicity, but the rest of the attendees were Hutus.

3630. He saw the authorities arrive at the *commune* office in their vehicles.⁹⁷³⁶ There were five or six vehicles,⁹⁷³⁷ only one of which was a military vehicle.⁹⁷³⁸ The witness could not see

```
<sup>9718</sup> T. 1 February 2007 p. 29 (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9719</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 20 (Witness H1B6).
9720 T. 5 February 2007 p. 56; T. 6 February 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
<sup>9721</sup> T. 5 February 2007 pp. 66-68 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
9722 T. 14 February 2007 p. 45 (ICS); T. 15 February 2007 pp. 60-61 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9723</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 55 (Witness AND-53).
9724 T. 15 February 2007 pp. 43-44 (Witness AND-53).
9725 T. 14 February 2007 p. 55 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9726</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 55 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9727</sup> T. 15 February 2007 pp. 45, 71 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9728</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 56 (Witness AND-53).
9729 T. 14 February 2007 p. 57; T. 15 February 2007 p. 46 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9730</sup> T. 14 February 2007 pp. 55-56 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9731</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9732</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 72; T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9733</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 62 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9734</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 74 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9735</sup> T. 19 February 2007 p. 14 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9736</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 49 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9737</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9738</sup> T. 19 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-53).
```

what the authorities did at the *commune* office, but five to 10 minutes after their arrival, they all moved down to the football pitch to start the meeting. 9739

- 3631. Witness AND-53 recognised the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi *commune* Pierre Canisius Kajyambere, *Préfet* Nsabimana and Colonel Nteziryayo. While unable to describe the exact seating arrangements, Nteziryayo sat at the high table or grand stand with the other dignitaries in the same row as the *préfet* and the *bourgmestre*. 9741
- 3632. The first speaker at the meeting was Pierre Canisius Kajyambere. Kajyambere thanked the population for attending before asking the audience to listen carefully as it was an important meeting, as the security situation was going to be discussed. Kajyambere then passed the floor to Nsabimana to chair the meeting, who then announced the order of the speakers. Kajyambere's speech lasted roughly five minutes.
- 3633. Nsabimana began by introducing the other authorities that had come to the meeting; he introduced Colonel Muvunyi as commander of the ESO; Nteziryayo as a high ranking officer and native of the *commune*; Ruzindaza as the President of the Court of First Instance of Butare; and finally Dominique Ntawukulilyayo as the *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*. Nteziryayo was introduced as a colonel.⁹⁷⁴⁷ Nsabimana invited the remaining members of the delegation to stand and greet the audience, who got to their feet and applauded.⁹⁷⁴⁸
- 3634. Nsabimana talked about the problem of security. Nsabimana asked the population to ensure that there was security, to live in harmony and not to engage in killings. Nsabimana asked the population to go about their day-to-day activities, and to assist those who were at the war front. Nsabimana asked the population for more security, as infiltrators could filter in from Burundi as the *commune* was on the border. These were the only subjects Nsabimana addressed in his speech. In cross-examination the witness said that Nsabimana asked the local inhabitants to participate in night patrols and man roadblocks. Nsabimana's speech lasted between 50 and 60 minutes.
- 3635. Colonel Muvunyi spoke next. Colonel Muvunyi invited the population to live in peace and harmony and said that the battlefront had advanced to Ntyazo and Muyira *communes*, and to around Ntyazo Hill. Kibayi *commune* was about to be attacked, and therefore the population

```
<sup>9739</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 59 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9740</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 59 (Witness AND-53).
9741 T. 15 February 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-53).
9742 T. 14 February 2007 p. 62 (Witness AND-53).
9743 T. 14 February 2007 p. 69 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9744</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 69; T. 15 February 2007 pp. 52, 59 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9745</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 52 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9746</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9747</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 70 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9748</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 70; T. 15 February 2007 p. 53 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9749</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 70 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9750</sup> T. 19 February 2007 pp. 7-8 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9751</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 70 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9752</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 71 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9753</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9754</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
```

had to be vigilant, to guard roadblocks well, to carry out night patrols and to hand over to the local authorities anyone identified as an unknown person in the region. Colonel Muvunyi called upon the youngsters to join the army in order to safeguard the sovereignty of the country and asked the population not to flee at the time the RPF were entering the region, until they had first identified the location from which the shooting was coming from. Colonel Muvunyi then staged a demonstration where shots were fired, and afterwards told the crowd that they had not responded well and that they should not have started fleeing until they had identified where the gunshots were coming from. ⁹⁷⁵⁵ Colonel Muvunyi did not mention anything about guerrilla tactics. ⁹⁷⁵⁶ Colonel Muvunyi's speech lasted 40 minutes.

3636. Nteziryayo spoke to the crowd after Colonel Muvunyi. Nteziryayo reiterated the comments of the previous speakers on security. He asked the population to co-exist peacefully and to avoid killings, and talked about the guerrilla war the RPF were fighting; how a group of two or three people could infiltrate the population, and could be dressed as clergymen, Muslims or Reverend Fathers. Nteziryayo said that the infiltrators could be carrying guns in baskets on top of their heads as if they were going to the market, when actually they were going to use the guns to kill people in places like the *commune* office. Nteziryayo told the population to be attentive to unknown objects as these could be mines laid by the infiltrators. Nteziryayo commented on the shooting demonstration and talked about the suffering those in the north of the country had experienced during the war. Nteziryayo never made any statements that would incite Hutus to kill the Tutsis, or told the audience that he was their *préfet*. Nteziryayo's speech lasted about 25 minutes.

3637. Ruzindaza then took the floor.⁹⁷⁶³ Ruzindaza said that all people were equal before the law and that those who were killing people were going to be prosecuted. Ruzindaza invited young people to join the army and used the proverb, "[y]ou are refusing to give your blood to the country or to the nation and the dogs are drinking this blood for free".⁹⁷⁶⁴ He did not hear Ruzindaza refer to any biblical speech or text, or see a Bible in Ruzindaza's hands.⁹⁷⁶⁵ Ruzindaza's speech lasted not more than 20 minutes.

3638. *Bourgmestre* Kajyambere closed the meeting. After thanking the population for attending, he closed by saying that the guests were in a hurry as they had to attend another meeting in Gikore. He asked the population to go and implement what was heard at the meeting. The meeting finished at 2.00 p.m. ⁹⁷⁶⁹

```
9755 T. 14 February 2007 p. 71 (Witness AND-53).
9756 T. 15 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-53).
9757 T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9758 T. 14 February 2007 p. 71 (Witness AND-53).
9759 T. 14 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9760 T. 14 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9761 T. 15 February 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-53).
9762 T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9763 T. 14 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9764 T. 14 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
9765 T. 15 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9766 T. 15 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9767 T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9768 T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9768 T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9768 T. 14 February 2007 p. 73; T. 15 February 2007 p. 4 (Witness AND-53).
```

- 3639. The only two speakers to talk about the RPF "*Inkotanyi*" or enemy were Colonel Muvunyi and Nteziryayo. He stated that none of the speeches made at the meeting incited the local population to commit killings. The witness did not hear any speaker say "[w]hen you gather ashes, you don't keep them inside the house, you send them outside the house", nor did he hear Nteziryayo instruct the audience to kill illegally married Tutsis, but spare legally married Tutsis.
- 3640. The atmosphere at the end of the meeting was relatively calm, ⁹⁷⁷⁴ there were no further killings ⁹⁷⁷⁵ and peace was restored. ⁹⁷⁷⁶ After the meeting, the population resumed their ordinary day-to-day lives in the *commune*, ⁹⁷⁷⁷ and Tutsis that had survived could come out of hiding as it was safe and secure. ⁹⁷⁷⁸ Up until July 1994, when the witness fled to Burundi he did not encounter any more problems.
- 3641. Between 6 April 1994 and the end of May 1994 the witness was not aware of any other meeting held at the Kibayi *commune* office. The meeting on 24 May 1994 was the only meeting that took place in Kibayi *commune*. 9781

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-64

- 3642. Witness AND-64, a Hutu farmer from Kibayi *commune*, ⁹⁷⁸² testified that he attended a security meeting held in Kibayi *commune* on a football pitch on 24 May 1994. ⁹⁷⁸³ He remembered four persons among the dignitaries who attended the meeting: Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Ruzindaza and Muvunyi. ⁹⁷⁸⁴ The *responsable de cellule* informed members of the population about the meeting and its purpose the evening before. ⁹⁷⁸⁵ The meeting was to be about pacification and security within the *commune*. ⁹⁷⁸⁶
- 3643. Witness AND-64 left home for the meeting at around 9.30 a.m. ⁹⁷⁸⁷ He saw the dignitaries' arrival at 10.50 a.m.; they stopped over at the *commune* office for a few minutes

```
<sup>9769</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 72 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9770</sup> T. 19 February 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9771</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 4 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9772</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 9 (Witness AND-53).
9773 T. 15 February 2007 pp. 10-11 (Witness AND-53).
9774 T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
9775 T. 15 February 2007 p. 9 (Witness AND-53).
9776 T. 15 February 2007 pp. 44, 55 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9777</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9778</sup> T. 15 February 2007 p. 64 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9779</sup> T. 14 February 2007 p. 73 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9780</sup> T. 15 February 2007 pp. 25, 43 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9781</sup> T. 15 February 2007 pp. 43, 59 (Witness AND-53).
<sup>9782</sup> T. 7 March 2007 p. 74 (ICS); T. 8 March 2007 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9783</sup> T. 8 March 2007 pp. 25-27; T. 8 March 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9784</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 26 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9785</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 27; T. 12 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9786</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 29; T. 12 March 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9787</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness AND-64).
```

before heading to the venue of the meeting, accompanied by the *bourgmestre*. The meeting started at 11.00 a.m. and ended at 1.00 p.m., and approximately 500 people attended. 9789

3644. There were two rows of chairs reserved for the dignitaries but only some of them were occupied and the rest were used by members of the population. Nteziryayo sat in the front row. Préfet Nsabimana sat next to the Kibayi bourgmestre, Canisius Kajyambere. Witness AND-64 sat 42 metres away from where the dignitaries sat during the meeting. He followed the meeting from the beginning to the end and followed all the speeches which were made.

3645. Witness AND-64 testified that the *commune's* agronomist named Masima took the floor first for less than three minutes; he asked the attendants to welcome the dignitaries, to sit down and follow the meeting calmly, then gave the floor to the *bourgmestre* who, in turn, thanked the population and introduced the dignitaries including Nsabimana as the new *préfet*. The witness did not know Nsabimana before then. Nsabimana had been appointed as the new *préfet* around the end of April 1994. The *bourgmestre* asked the *préfet* to preside over the meeting and gave him the floor. In his address, Nsabimana condemned the killings and acts of violence which were purportedly perpetrated in the *commune*, and urged members of the population to assist the *bourgmestre* and local authorities to combat those acts. Finally he asked members of the population to remain vigilant in order to counter any attacks from abroad. Nsabimana's speech was concerned with the return of security and safety to Kibayi.

3646. The witness disagreed with the evidence of Witness AND-11 as to who introduced the dignitaries; it was the *bourgmestre* who gave the floor to the *préfet* who in turn introduced the dignitaries. ⁹⁸⁰² Nsabimana condemned the killings of Tutsis. ⁹⁸⁰³ He could not remember the duration of Nsabimana's speech. ⁹⁸⁰⁴

3647. Muvunyi addressed the crowd after Nsabimana. He stated that the fighting was going on in *communes* neighbouring Kibayi. Gunshots were fired in the air causing the population to disperse; Muvunyi told the population that in the event of gunshots they needed to ensure where the gunfire was coming from so as to avoid running towards the attackers. Muvunyi told

```
<sup>9788</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-64).
9789 T. 8 March 2007 p. 27 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9790</sup> T. 12 March 2007 p. 48 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9791</sup> T. 12 March 2007 pp. 10, 48 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9792</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9793</sup> T. 12 March 2007 p. 11 (Witness AND-64).
9794 T. 8 March 2007 p. 41 (Witness AND-64).
9795 T. 8 March 2007 pp. 28-29; T. 12 March 2007 pp. 12, 49 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9796</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 30; T. 12 March 2007 pp. 15-16 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9797</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 30 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9798</sup> T. 12 March 2007 p. 17 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9799</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 31; T. 12 March 2007 p. 16 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9800</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 31 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9801</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 33 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9802</sup> T. 12 March 2007 pp. 15-16 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9803</sup> T. 12 March 2007 p. 49 (Witness AND-64).
<sup>9804</sup> T. 8 March 2007 p. 31 (Witness AND-64).
```

them that the RPF were on Kibayi's doorstep – they were already occupying some of the *communes* of Butare *préfecture*, namely, Muyira, Ntyazo and Muyaga. 9805

3648. After Muvunyi, Nteziryayo took the floor. Nteziryayo attended the meeting in his capacity as colonel, not *préfet*. Nteziryayo did not introduce himself as *préfet* when he took the floor. Nteziryayo wore a khaki military uniform, he stated that *Inkotanyi* had changed strategy and they were now engaged in guerrilla warfare; he asked members of the population to take care of their own security and check on unknown people who were entering the *commune's* territory. He also said that the RPF had the habit of planting bombs or explosives in areas that were frequented by large numbers of people such as market squares, places of worship or bars, and, therefore, the population needed to avoid picking up any metal objects that they were unable to identify. Nteziryayo's speech concerned the building of the country and the safety of property and people; he did not utter any inciting words.

3649. Ruzindaza spoke next and said, "[y]ou are refusing to spill your blood for your nation and dogs can freely drink your blood." After Ruzindaza's address, the *bourgmestre* closed the meeting because the dignitaries had to go for other meetings held elsewhere. None of the speakers during the meeting incited or called upon people to commit any act of violence. 9812

3650. After the 24 May 1994 meeting, no further killings occurred in Kibayi *commune*. ⁹⁸¹³ Tutsi people who had been in hiding were able to come out and go to the market place, and children were able to go back to school ⁹⁸¹⁴ and the population was in a jubilant mood because they were no longer afraid. ⁹⁸¹⁵ Peace and calm were restored, and this lasted until the witness fled on 18 July 1994. ⁹⁸¹⁶

3651. Contrary to the evidence of the Prosecution witnesses, roadblocks were not mounted after the meeting, 9817 and the meeting's purpose was not to incite people. 9818 Witness AND-64 disagreed with Witness QBU's testimony with respect to the start and end times of the meeting, the number of people who attended, the *bourgmestre's* introduction of Nteziryayo as *préfet*, as well as the content of Nteziryayo's speech – he did not use idiomatic expressions concerning the clearing of ashes or give instructions to kill Tutsi girls. 9819

```
9805 T. 8 March 2007 p. 33; T. 8 March 2007 p. 39 (Witness AND-64) (French).
9806 T. 8 March 2007 p. 34 (Witness AND-64).
9807 T. 12 March 2007 pp. 16-17 (Witness AND-64).
9808 T. 12 March 2007 p. 19 (Witness AND-64).
9809 T. 8 March 2007 pp. 34-35 (Witness AND-64).
9810 T. 8 March 2007 p. 35 (Witness AND-64).
9811 T. 8 March 2007 p. 35 (Witness AND-64).
9812 T. 8 March 2007 p. 40; T. 12 March 2007 pp. 50, 52 (Witness AND-64).
9813 T. 8 March 2007 pp. 35, 46 (Witness AND-64).
9814 T. 8 March 2007 pp. 35-36 (Witness AND-64).
9815 T. 8 March 2007 p. 40 (Witness AND-64).
9816 T. 8 March 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-64).
9817 T. 8 March 2007 p. 41 (Witness AND-64).
9818 T. 8 March 2007 p. 42; T. 12 March 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-64).
```

⁹⁸¹⁹ T. 8 March 2007 pp. 43-44, 48 (Witness AND-64).

Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6

- 3652. Witness H1B6, a Hutu student in 1994, testified that he attended two meetings organised by *préfecture* authorities five or six days before the end of May 1994. The first meeting took place in Kibayi *commune* and the second was in Gikore *secteur* on the afternoon of the same day. The Kibayi meeting was part of a tour in the *communes* to restore security. Witness H1B6 did not deliberately go to Kibayi to take part in the meeting.
- 3653. Witness H1B6 left the Butare *préfecture* office on the morning of the meetings at around 9.30 a.m. and arrived at Kibayi's *commune* office around 10.00 a.m. or 10.30 a.m. ⁹⁸²⁵ The meeting started around half or one hour later. ⁹⁸²⁶ It took place on the football field near the *commune* office. ⁹⁸²⁷ There were about 200 attendants at the Kibayi meeting. ⁹⁸²⁸ Four speakers took the floor at that meeting, namely the Kibayi *bourgmestre*, Pierre Kajyambere, who welcomed the guests, ⁹⁸²⁹ Nteziryayo, Nsabimana, Ruzindaza and Colonel Muvunyi. ⁹⁸³⁰ Nsabimana told the attendants that there have been killings and that was unfortunate but that nobody should engage in revenge or reprisals. He also asked the population to be vigilant and be ready to fight the enemy, *i.e.* the RPF *Inkotanyi*. ⁹⁸³¹
- 3654. The second speaker was Nteziryayo. ⁹⁸³² Nteziryayo attended the meeting in his capacity as a high ranking soldier in the *commune* in charge of policing at the Ministry of the Interior he had come to assist to restore security in the *préfecture*. ⁹⁸³³ He said it was unfortunate that killings took place and that he himself lost some relatives. He invited the attendants to be courageous and advised them on how to avoid traps set by the *Inkotanyi*, namely they should hand over to authorities any new individual who arrived in the *commune* but not kill them and they should not get close to unusual equipment and suspicious metallic objects they had not seen before. ⁹⁸³⁴
- 3655. Colonel Muvunyi dealt with military issues; he explained the guerrilla warfare in which the *Inkotanyi* were engaged and told the audience how to behave in case they heard shots fired. He advised them to lie on the ground and wait, and not to scatter all over and run towards the enemy. ⁹⁸³⁵

```
<sup>9820</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9821</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 18 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9822</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 21 (Witness H1B6).
9823 T. 6 December 2005 p. 12 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9824</sup> T. 6 December 2005 p. 33 (Witness H1B6).
9825 T. 5 December 2005 p. 16 (ICS); T. 6 December 2005 p. 13 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9826</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 16 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9827</sup> T. 5 December 2005 pp. 18-19 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9828</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 20 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9829</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 19 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9830</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 18; T. 6 December 2005 p. 15 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9831</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 19 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9832</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 19 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9833</sup> T. 6 December 2005 p. 15 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9834</sup> T. 5 December 2005 p. 19 (Witness H1B6).
<sup>9835</sup> T. 5 December 2005 pp. 19-20 (Witness H1B6).
```

3656. Ruzindaza told the population that the enemy was powerful and was coming from the north. Quoting a Bible verse, he explained that whoever was afraid to go to the battlefront would spill his blood and his blood would be drunk by dogs. 9836

3657. The last person to speak was the *bourgmestre* who brought the meeting to an end, after which the convoy headed to Gikore. The Kibayi meeting ended around 1.00 p.m. or 1.30 p.m. None of the speakers called on the population to kill Tutsis; rather, they said that the killings had come to an end and urged people to resume their activities. The population was calm and worried, and thereafter everybody went home. 9838

3.6.34.4 Deliberations

3658. It is not disputed that (1) both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo made speeches during the swearing-in ceremony of the Ntyazo *bourgmestre* and (2) Nteziryayo spoke at meetings held in Kirarambogo, Muganza *commune*; Muyaga and Kibayi *communes*. The issue in contention is the content and the consequences of the speeches made by the Accused during these meetings.

3.6.34.4.1 Ntyazo *Commune* Meeting, 22 May 1994

3659. Prosecution Witness FAI, Defence Witness AND-75, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo all testified that they attended the swearing-in ceremony of Mathieu Ndahimana, *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune*, on 22 May 1994. Witness FAI testified that the ceremony took place in the courtyard of a school in Nyakayaga, Buye *secteur*, ⁹⁸³⁹ while Witness AND-75, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo testified that it took place on a football pitch. ⁹⁸⁴⁰ In addition, Nsabimana's testimony differed from that of Witnesses FAI, AND-75 and Nteziryayo with respect to the length of the meeting and the attendees present. ⁹⁸⁴¹ The Chamber does not consider these discrepancies to be important. The witnesses are consistent on the salient features of the meeting: that it was the swearing-in ceremony of Mathieu Ndahimana, that the meeting took place in the afternoon of 22 May 1994, that shelling could be heard during the ceremony and that both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo spoke at the meeting. The Chamber therefore finds that the witnesses testified to the same event.

3660. Witness FAI was the Prosecution's only witness to testify in respect of the swearing-in ceremony of the *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994. Witness FAI testified that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo spoke at the swearing-in ceremony asking those present at the meeting not to sleep and to be vigilant in order to fight the enemy and his accomplices, by which he meant the RPF and the Tutsis. ⁹⁸⁴² The Chamber notes that Witness FAI's testimony on this point is uncorroborated.

.

⁹⁸³⁶ T. 5 December 2005 p. 20 (Witness H1B6).

⁹⁸³⁷ T. 5 December 2005 p. 15 (ICS); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 20-21 (Witness H1B6).

⁹⁸³⁸ T. 5 December 2005 p. 21 (Witness H1B6).

⁹⁸³⁹ T. 5 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

⁹⁸⁴⁰ T. 7 May 2007 p. 21 (Witness AND-75); T. 5 June 2007 pp. 13, 17 (Nteziryayo); T. 20 November 2006 pp. 50, 52 (ICS) (Nsabimana).

^{50, 52 (}ICS) (Nsabimana).

9841 T. 21 September 2006 pp. 39-40 (Nsabimana); T. 20 November 2006 pp. 50-52 (ICS) (Nsabimana); T. 5 June 2007 pp. 16-19 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁴² T. 31 October 2002 pp. 12-13 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

3661. The Chamber recalls that Witness FAI was a detained witness at the time of his testimony and therefore his testimony should be viewed with appropriate caution. Witness FAI pled guilty to genocide in Rwanda in 1997 and had not been sentenced at the time of his testimony. Witness FAI downplayed his role in the genocide before the Tribunal, stating that the accusations brought against him by the authorities related to associating with offenders, rather than his own participation. Furthermore, he may have an interest in attributing responsibility for acts he committed during the genocide as being authorised by the authorities and therefore officially sanctioned in order to potentially reduce his sentence. These aspects affect the credibility of this witness.

3662. The Chamber recalls that in his previous statement of 24 February 2000, Witness FAI stated that Nsabimana incited the inhabitants of Ntyazo to track down and kill any possible Tutsi survivors. Witness FAI denied that there was any difference between this statement and his testimony at trial that Nsabimana asked the population to remain vigilant and to combat the enemy and its accomplices. The Chamber takes the view that this is not a significant discrepancy between the two versions of Nsabimana's speech; the witness testified that he understood the language used by Nsabimana to mean that Tutsis should be killed. 9846

3663. Witness FAI's testimony is contradicted by Witness AND-75 who testified that Nsabimana spoke at the meeting to condemn the killings. Nsabimana asked the population to be vigilant because they were living in an area that was close to the fighting and stated that if ever the *Inkotanyi* arrived in their area, they should flee. Witness AND-75 testified that Nteziryayo spoke about the fighting and infiltration tactics of RPF troops and warned them about landmines. Nteziryayo did not call for the massacre of Tutsis by labelling them accomplices (of the RPF). Witness AND-75 testified that those who attended the meeting felt reassured by the authorities.

3664. In light of the contradicting testimony of Witness AND-75, whose presence at the swearing-in ceremony of Mathieu Ndahimana was confirmed by Witness FAI, and the status of Witness FAI as accomplice, 9852 the Chamber finds it necessary to seek corroboration of Witness FAI's testimony in respect of this allegation. In the absence of any corroborating evidence brought by the Prosecution, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana and/or Nteziryayo told the population to fight the "enemy" and its "accomplices", meaning Tutsis, at the public swearing-in ceremony of the *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune* on 22 May 1994.

```
<sup>9843</sup> T. 30 October 2002 pp. 96-97 (Witness FAI).
<sup>9844</sup> T. 4 November 2002 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
<sup>9845</sup> T. 4 November 2002 pp. 97-98 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
<sup>9846</sup> T. 31 October 2002 p. 12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
<sup>9847</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-75).
<sup>9848</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 27; T. 8 May 2007 p. 8 (Witness AND-75).
<sup>9849</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-75).
<sup>9850</sup> T. 7 May 2007 p. 29 (Witness AND-75).
```

⁹⁸⁵¹ T. 7 May 2007 p. 30 (Witness AND-75).
9852 T. 31 October 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness FAI); Defence Exhibit 535 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).

3.6.34.4.2 Kirarambogo, Muganza Commune Meeting, 23 May 1994

3665. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of a single witness, Witness RV, in support of its allegation that Nteziryayo made an inciting speech during a meeting at Kirarambogo around 25 May 1994. 9853

3666. The Chamber considers that because of his status as a detainee and also an accomplice, Witness RV may have had an incentive to implicate Nteziryayo or enhance Nteziryayo's role in the crimes in order to benefit from better treatment in connection with his own case, which was pending before the Rwandan judicial authorities when he testified in 2004. 9854 Consequently, his testimony will be treated with appropriate caution.

3667. Witness RV testified that, in his speech, Ntezirvayo stated that he was responsible for instructing: (1) the population about how to use traditional weapons such as bows and arrows and spears; and (2) the youth to join the army. Nteziryayo also asked those who attended the meeting to exterminate all Tutsi accomplices. 9855 Witness RV further testified that after the meeting many people who survived previous massacres were killed, especially Tutsi women. 9856

3668. The Chamber notes Witness RV's testimony to the effect that he took part in three meetings in Kirarambogo between April and June 1994. One of these meetings was chaired by Nteziryayo on around 25 May 1994 but he could not remember the exact date. 9858 The Chamber observes that Witness RV was a figure of authority at the time the meeting was alleged to have taken place. He affirmed that he convened and organised the meeting at issue. 9859 The Chamber thus considers that the ambiguity of his testimony as to the date of the meeting undermines his credibility.

3669. Nevertheless and in light of Witness RV's status as an accomplice witness as elaborated above, and in light of the credibility problems arising from his testimony, the Chamber finds it necessary to assess the existence of corroborating evidence with respect to this meeting. Noting the absence of any corroborating evidence brought by the Prosecution, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at a public meeting in Kirarambogo, Muganza commune on 23 May 1994.

3.6.34.4.3 Muyaga Commune Meeting, Around Mid-June 1994

3670. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witnesses FAB and QBY. The Chamber notes that Witness OBY was a detainee at the time of his testimony and that he may have had a

⁹⁸⁵³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁵⁴ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 35-36 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 50-52 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁵⁵ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁵⁶ T. 16 February 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁵⁷ T. 16 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁵⁸ T. 16 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 16 February 2004 p. 55 (HC) (French); T. 19 February 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness RV). 9859 T. 19 February 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness RV).

motive to implicate the Accused or enhance the Accused's role in the crimes. As a result, Witness QBY's testimony will be assessed with appropriate caution.

3671. The Chamber observes that Witness OBY's testimony corroborates that of Witness FAB in that Ntezirvayo stood on a table while addressing the population during this meeting. Nteziryayo urged the audience to hunt down, flush out and kill Tutsis without any distinction. 9860 In addition, both witnesses testified that Nteziryayo used the words "lice" and "eggs" in his speech, which the witnesses understood to mean Tutsis and their offspring that needed to be killed. 9861 Ntakirutimana corroborated their understanding that proverbs referring to killing lice conveyed the idea that one needed to eliminate anything that disturbed one's life or situation. Witnesses FAB and QBY indicated that Nteziryayo made his speech after having been introduced as the new *préfet* of Butare. Both Witnesses QBY and FAB further testified that they attended the meeting from start to end and that after the meeting, killings of Tutsis occurred. 9864

3672. Witness QBY placed the meeting around either 5 May 1994 or 5 June 1994 whereas Witness FAB referred to mid-June 1994. 9865 The Chamber considers that these are both estimates which do not automatically cast doubt on the witnesses' credibility, given the length of time that had elapsed since the event. The Chamber notes that Witnesses QBY and FAB are adamant that on the day of the meeting, Nteziryayo already held his position as préfet of Butare. 9866 Witness FAB even testified that the purpose of the meeting was to introduce Nteziryayo as the new *préfet*. 9867 Flowing from that, it appears that the meeting may have occurred on or after 21 June 1994, as Nteziryayo was appointed préfet of Butare on or around 17 June 1994, and his swearing-in ceremony took place on 21 June 1994.

3673. The Defence brought evidence regarding a meeting on 23 May 1994 in Mamba secteur, Muyaga commune, which contained similarities to the meeting testified to by Witnesses QBY and FAB. 9868 The Chamber does not exclude the possibility that this other meeting, as asserted by the Defence, actually occurred, however this evidence has no bearing upon the Chamber's assessment of the evidence related to the June 1994 meeting testified to by Witnesses QBY and FAB.

3674. The Chamber observes that there are discrepancies between the testimonies of Witnesses QBY and FAB with regard to the identity of the officials present at the meeting, the number of people who spoke and the order of the speeches made on that day. 9869 However, the Chamber finds that these discrepancies are minor and do not materially affect the credibility of

⁹⁸⁶⁰ T. 20 April 2004 pp. 20-21, 23-24 (Witness QBY); T. 5 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁸⁶¹ T. 19 April 2004 pp. 54-55 (Witness QBY); T. 5 April 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁸⁶² T. 13 September 2004 p. 70 (Ntakirutimana).

⁹⁸⁶³ T. 5 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAB); T. 19 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁸⁶⁴ T. 19 April 2004 pp. 52, 54, 57-58 (Witness QBY); T. 20 April 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBY); T. 5 April 2004 pp. 23-24, 26, 46-47 (Witness FAB).

9865 T. 5 April 2004 p. 43 (Witness FAB); T. 20 April 2004 pp. 8, 11, 33, 37 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁸⁶⁶ T. 5 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAB); T. 19 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QBY).

⁹⁸⁶⁷ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 23-24, 28 (Witness FAB).

⁹⁸⁶⁸ T. 13 March 2007 pp. 4, 8-9 (Witness AND-60).

⁹⁸⁶⁹ T. 5 April 2004 pp. 23-24, 48 (Witness FAB); T. 19 April 2004 pp. 52-56; T. 20 April 2004 pp. 12, 15 (Witness QBY).

the witnesses. The witnesses corroborated each other as to Nteziryayo's actions and words during the course of the meeting, and to the fact that killings of Tutsis occurred after the meeting. In the Chamber's view, the two witnesses provided specific and convincing evidence as elaborated above to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that during a meeting held in Muyaga *commune* around mid-June 1994, Nteziryayo incited people to kill Tutsis. The Chamber further finds this meeting was public and attended by the general population. 9870

3.6.34.4.4 Kibayi Commune Meeting, Mid- to Late June 1994

3675. All of the witnesses testified to attending a meeting held at a football field next to the Kibayi *commune* office in 1994. Prosecution Witnesses FAK and QBU gave conflicting evidence as to whether the meeting in question occurred in May or June 1994. While the previous statement of Witness FAK said the meeting occurred in May 1994, he testified that it actually took place in early June and estimated around 18 or 19 June 1994. Similarly, Witness QBU testified about a meeting that occurred around the end of May or early June 1994. 9873

3676. According to both Prosecution witnesses, Nteziryayo was *préfet* at the time of the meeting and had just been appointed. When it was put to each Prosecution witness that the meeting to which they testified must have been in June 1994 since Nteziryayo took up duties as the *préfet* of Butare after 21 June 1994, Witness FAK maintained Nteziryayo was a *préfet* when he came in May 1994, while Witness QBU contested the validity of Nteziryayo's letter of appointment (Defence Exhibit 5), stating that it misstates Nteziryayo's date of appointment "as much later than the actual appointment."

3677. In addition to Defence Exhibit 5,⁹⁸⁷⁷ the Chamber recalls Nteziryayo's testimony that the Interim Government decided to appoint him *préfet* of Butare on 17 June 1994⁹⁸⁷⁸ and that his appointment as *préfet* was made public on 18 June 1994.⁹⁸⁷⁹ Witness TQ testified that news of Nteziryayo's appointment as *préfet* was announced by radio broadcast on 18 June 1994.⁹⁸⁸⁰ Witness RV testified that he attended Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony as *préfet* on the

⁹⁸⁷⁰ T. 19 April 2004 p. 52 (Witness QBY) (The meeting was attended by over 2,000 people); T. 5 April 2004 pp. 22, 38, 42 (Witness FAB) (Witness FAB knew about the meeting from public announcements and posters that were put up by the *commune* authorities); T. 5 April 2004 pp. 22-24, 48 (Witness FAB) (Witness FAB testified that almost the entire population of the *commune*, approximately 3,000 people, except children attended the meeting).

⁹⁸⁷¹ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 20 September 2006 p. 65 (Nsabimana); T. 5 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo); T. 1 February 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 14 February 2007 pp. 55-56 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 pp. 25-27 (Witness AND-64); T. 8 March 2007 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness AND-64); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 18-19 (Witness H1B6).

⁹⁸⁷² T. 15 April 2004 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁸⁷³ T. 13 April 2004 p. 8; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 37, 54-55, 58 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 p. 3 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁸⁷⁴ T. 15 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 9; T. 13 April 2004 pp. 36-37, 56-58 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁸⁷⁵ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁸⁷⁶ T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁸⁷⁷ T. 7 June 2007 p. 15 (Nteziryayo); Defence Exhibit 5 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo's Letter of Appointment).

⁹⁸⁷⁸ T. 7 June 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁷⁹ T. 21 June 2007 p. 50 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁸⁰ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

morning of 19 June 1994, 9881 although Nteziryayo testified that the swearing-in ceremony took place on 21 June 1994. Having regard to the foregoing testimony, the Chamber is of the view that the meeting about which Witnesses FAK and QBU testified must have taken place after Nteziryayo assumed office as *préfet*.

3678. The Defence seeks to discredit the Prosecution witnesses not only on the basis that they confessed to committing crimes during the genocide and were detained together, ⁹⁸⁸³ but also because of the alleged inconsistency in their testimony, namely that Nteziryayo was *préfet* in May 1994 although he was not appointed to this post until the following month. ⁹⁸⁸⁴ In reply to the Prosecution's case, the Nteziryayo Defence led evidence from Nteziryayo as well as Defence Witnesses AND-11, AND-53, AND-64 and H1B6 about a meeting that occurred on 24 May 1994. Nteziryayo testified the meeting he attended at Kibayi was part of the tour of meetings that took place in Butare's southern *communes* between 22 and 26 May 1994, in accordance with the timetable agreed at the Security Council meeting of 20 May 1994.

3679. The Chamber considers the testimony of Nteziryayo and Witnesses AND-11, AND-53, AND-64 and H1B6 as to the meeting that occurred on 24 May 1994 to be mutually consistent. In particular, the testimonies were consistent with respect to such significant features as the arrival of the dignitaries at the meeting, the speakers who attended the meeting, the order in which they spoke, the purpose of the meeting and the content of the speakers' respective speeches. Most notably, Nteziryayo, as well as Defence Witnesses AND-11, AND-53, AND-64 and H1B6, all testified that Nsabimana chaired the meeting in his role as the *préfet* of Butare, while Nteziryayo attended in his capacity as a colonel. 9886

3680. The Chamber is mindful that there are also some similarities common to both the Prosecution and the Defence's evidence. For example, all the witnesses testified that the meeting they attended occurred in the same venue, namely the football pitch next to the Kibayi commune office, 9887 at more or less approximately the same time, namely the morning; all

⁹⁸⁸¹ T. 17 February 2004 p. 6 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 pp. 32, 33 (ICS) (Witness RV).

⁹⁸⁸² T. 7 June 2007 pp. 25, 30 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁸³ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 226.

⁹⁸⁸⁴ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 223-249.

⁹⁸⁸⁵ T. 23 May 2007 pp. 21, 23-24, 39-40 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁸⁶ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 46-47, 59 (Nteziryayo); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 21, 28 (Witness AND-11); T. 5 February 2007 pp. 53-54 (Witness AND-11); T. 14 February 2007 pp. 55, 59 (Witness AND-53); T. 15 February 2007 pp. 70 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 pp. 30 (Witness AND-64); T. 12 March 2007 pp. 15-17 (Witness AND-64); T. 6 December 2005 pp. 15 (Witness H1B6).

 ⁹⁸⁸⁷ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 5 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo); T. 1 February 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 14 February 2007 pp. 55-56 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 pp. 25-27 (Witness AND-64); T. 8 March 2007 pp. 69 (ICS) (Witness AND-64); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 18-19 (Witness H1B6).
 ⁹⁸⁸⁸ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 18 (Witness FAK) (meeting started between 9.00 a.m. and 10.00 a.m., and ended at about

^{2.00} p.m.); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAK) (meeting started between 9.00 a.m. and 10.00 a.m., and ended at about 2.00 p.m.); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU) (meeting started around 11.00 a.m. and finished around 2.30 p.m.); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 10, 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-11) (meeting started between 10.30 a.m. and 11.00 a.m.); T. 14 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-53); T. 15 February 2007 p. 46 (Witness AND-53) (meeting began at 11.00 a.m.); T. 8 March 2007 p. 27 (Witness AND-64) (meeting started at 11.00 a.m. and ended at 1.00 p.m.); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 16, 21 (Witness H1B6) (meeting started around 10.30 or 11.00 a.m. and ended around 1.00 p.m. or 1.30 p.m.).

the witnesses also testified to the presence of the Kibayi bourgmestre; 9889 with the exception of Prosecution Witness QBU and Defence Witness AND-11, all the witnesses testified about Colonel Muvunyi's speech and the firing of gunshots as a test for the population. 9890 However the Chamber considers these similarities are fortuitous. The Chamber considers that meetings held in the *commune* involving senior government figures would likely take place at or near the Kibayi commune office, and be attended by the Kibayi bourgmestre. As for the content of Colonel Muvunyi's speech, it is not unlikely that he gave the same or similar speeches on multiple occasions.

3681. The Chamber also notes the patent differences between the opposing parties' evidence. The most salient difference between the Prosecution and Defence evidence concerns Nteziryayo's alleged position at the time of the meeting; according to the Prosecution witnesses, Nteziryayo was *préfet* at the time of the meeting, whereas the Defence maintains Nsabimana was préfet. Noting that both Prosecution witnesses knew Nteziryayo during 1994⁹⁸⁹¹ and both positively identified Nteziryayo in court, ⁹⁸⁹² the Chamber considers this significant discrepancy cannot be attributed to a case of misidentification. Additionally, while the Prosecution witnesses testify to the presence of only three speakers at the meeting, the Defence witnesses make reference to the attendance of other significant dignitaries, including, inter alia, Nsabimana and Ruzindaza. 9893

3682. Having had regard to the totality of the evidence before it, the Chamber considers the evidence led by the parties refers to two different meetings.

3683. Even if the Chamber were to accept Nsabimana's testimony to the effect that there was a round of meetings held in the border *communes* between 22 and 26 May 1994, of which one meeting may have been held in Kibayi commune around 24 May 1994, the Chamber does not consider that the Prosecution relied on that meeting as part of its case against Nteziryayo. While the summary of anticipated evidence of Witness FAO in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief showed that Witness FAQ would testify about a meeting held on 25 or 26 May 1994 at the Kibayi commune office, Witness FAQ did not ultimately testify at trial. The Prosecution did not lead other evidence as to a meeting held at or near the Kibayi commune office on or around 25 or 26 May 1994.

3684. The Chamber observes that Nteziryayo testified that the meeting on 24 May 1994 was the only meeting he attended in Kibayi commune between April and July 1994. Defence Witnesses AND-11 and AND-53 similarly testified that the meeting on 24 May 1994 was the

⁹⁸⁸⁹ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 18-19 (Witness FAK); T. 15 April 2004 p. 47 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 5 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo); T. 1 February 2007 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 7 February 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 14 February 2007 pp. 59, 62 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-64); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 18-19 (Witness H1B6).

⁹⁸⁹⁰ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness FAK); T. 5 June 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo); T. 14 February 2007 p. 71 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 p. 33 (Witness AND-64); T. 5 December 2005 pp. 19-20 (Witness H1B6). 9891 T. 13 April 2004 p. 13 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 14 April 2004 p. 36

⁽ICS); T. 14 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAK); T. 15 April 2004 pp. 9, 13-16 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁸⁹² T. 13 April 2004 pp. 13-14 (Witness QBU); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁸⁹³ T. 1 February 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 14 February 2007 p. 70 (Witness AND-53); T. 8 March 2007 p. 26 (Witness AND-64); T. 5 December 2005 p. 18 (Witness H1B6); T. 6 December 2005 p. 15 (Witness

⁹⁸⁹⁴ T. 5 June 2007 pp. 61-63 (Nteziryayo).

only meeting that took place in Kibayi *commune*. Prosecution Witness FAK testified that a series of meetings were held between April and July 1994 at the Kibayi *commune* office, only one of which Witness FAK attended since the others were only for authorities, and not the general population. Nsabimana also testified to an occasion where he visited Kibayi *commune* together with Nteziryayo, which Nteziryayo refuted. In the circumstances, while the Chamber considers that a meeting may have taken place on 24 May 1994, as the Defence contends, the Chamber finds a second meeting took place in Kibayi *commune* around mid to late June 1994 when Nteziryayo was *préfet* and which is the subject of present consideration. Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the evidence led by the Defence is not relevant.

3685. Having established that the Defence evidence does not rebut the Prosecution evidence with respect to the meeting at the Kibayi *commune* office where Nteziryayo was *préfet*, the Chamber will now consider the Prosecution evidence with respect to the allegation of incitement at the later Kibayi meeting.

3686. The Chamber notes Witnesses FAK and QBU are the Prosecution's only witnesses to testify in respect of this meeting. The Chamber recalls that Witnesses FAK and QBU had both pled guilty to genocide in Rwanda in 1999 and 2000 respectively and were detained witnesses at the time of their respective testimony. Both were still awaiting trial in Rwanda at the time of their testimony before this Tribunal. Seson As such, the Chamber considers that these witnesses may have an interest in attributing responsibility for acts they committed during the genocide as being authorised by the authorities and therefore officially sanctioned in order to potentially reduce their respective sentences. The foregoing aspects affect the reliability of these witnesses' evidence and their testimony should therefore be viewed with appropriate caution.

3687. The Chamber accepts that while in detention, Prosecution Witnesses QBU and FAK did not attend the same *Gacaca* proceedings. ⁹⁹⁰⁰ They met briefly in prison but did not share a cell. ⁹⁹⁰¹ In the circumstances, the Chamber is satisfied that the witnesses did not discuss their experiences while detained together.

3688. The Chamber considers the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses FAK and QBU was mutually consistent. Both witnesses testified that the meeting was held at a football pitch located in front of the Kibayi *commune* office; Nteziryayo was either *préfet* or being introduced as *préfet* at that meeting. 9903

.

⁹⁸⁹⁵ T. 5 February 2007 pp. 59, 62-63 (Witness AND-11); T. 15 February 2007 pp. 43, 59 (Witness AND-53).

⁹⁸⁹⁶ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17, 66 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁸⁹⁷ T. 20 September 2006 p. 64 (Nsabimana); T. 5 June 2007 pp. 61-63 (Nteziryayo).

⁹⁸⁹⁸ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness FAK); T. 15 April 2004 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU).

⁹⁸⁹⁹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰⁰ T. 13 April 2004 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰¹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁹⁰² T. 14 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰³ T. 15 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 9, 36-37 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 56-58 (ICS) (Witness QBU); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness QBU).

3689. During this meeting, Nteziryayo made inflammatory statements calling upon the population to abduct and kill Tutsi women married to Hutus, as well as their Hutu husbands, if they refused to be separated from their wives. 9904 Nteziryayo further instructed the population to flush out Tutsi children from their grandparents' houses and kill them. 9905 Finally, both witnesses testified to the presence of the same speakers at the meeting (the Kibavi bourgmestre, Nteziryayo and Muvunyi and to the ensuing killings following Nteziryayo's speech. 9907

3690. The Chamber notes discrepancies between Witness FAK's statement of 24 February 2000 and his testimony. For example, in his statement Witness FAK declared that the meeting took place in May 1994 and that it was conseiller Ndagijimana who informed him about it. 9908 In his testimony, Witness FAK testified that it was the bourgmestre of Kibayi who informed the secteur's population of the meeting. 9909 He further rectified, in cross-examination, that he had been informed of the meeting by the responsable, Jérémie Ndaribumbye. 9910 In addition, he testified that the meeting actually took place in early June 1994. 9911 In the Chamber's view, the aforementioned discrepancies are minor and do not undermine Witness FAK's credibility.

3691. Having regard to the detailed and consistent nature of the evidence of Witnesses FAK and QBU, both internally and vis-à-vis each other's evidence, the Chamber considers it established that Nteziryayo, in his capacity as préfet, attended a public meeting on a football pitch next to the Kibayi commune office in Nyabisigara cellule, Mukindo secteur, Kibayi commune, which was intended for the population of that commune 9912 and at which he incited the population to flush out and kill the remaining Tutsi survivors in the commune. As a result of this incitement, members of the population carried out searches and killed surviving Tutsis.

3.6.35 Megaphone Announcements and Directives, Late May and June 1994

3.6.35.1 Introduction

3692. The Kanyabashi Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that from April to July 1994 prominent persons, including Nsabimana and Kanyabashi engaged in incitement to hatred and violence. 9913 Kanyabashi "not only called on, but aided and abetted

⁹⁹⁰⁴ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 20-22, 24 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 64, 72-73 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰⁵ T. 14 April 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰⁶ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 18-19 (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 8 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰⁷ T. 14 April 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 13 April 2004 p. 9 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness QBU).

⁹⁹⁰⁸ Defence Exhibit 220 (Nteziryayo) (24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAK).

⁹⁹⁰⁹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK).

⁹⁹¹⁰ T. 15 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁹¹¹ T. 15 April 2004 pp. 19, 27 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

⁹⁹¹² T. 14 April 2004 p. 18 (Witness FAK) (bourgmestre of Kibayi informed the secteur's population of the meeting; the meeting was intended for the entire population of Kibayi commune); T. 14 April 2004 p. 19; T. 15 April 2004 pp. 20, 22 (Witness FAK) (meeting attended by more than 1,000 people).

9913 Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

Indictment (in support of all counts).

the population to slaughter Tutsi in Butare *préfecture*."⁹⁹¹⁴ The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment similarly alleges that Nsabimana "not only incited, but aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsi in Butare *préfecture*."⁹⁹¹⁵

3693. The Kanyabashi Indictment also alleges that on several occasions between 20 April and June 1994, notably in June 1994 near Butare town, Kanyabashi "encouraged and instructed soldiers and militiamen, and certain members of the civilian population, to search for the Tutsis who had escaped the massacres, in order to exterminate them." Further, the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that in or around late May 1994, on at least one occasion, Kanyabashi drove through Butare town and used a megaphone to encourage the population to systematically search for the enemy as a result of which, immediately afterwards, more Tutsis were killed in Ngoma *commune*. 9917 During this period, the search for and elimination of Tutsis took place throughout Butare.

3694. According to the Prosecution, Kanyabashi's role in the genocide conspiracy was to, *inter alia*, attend meetings, give instructions to kill Tutsis in hiding and use his position and power to incite the population to join in the killings. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi directly participated in the massacres of Tutsis through his acts, conduct and utterances in Butare, between April and July 1994. The Prosecution contends that Kanyabashi was a deeply influential figure in Ngoma *commune*, whose orders to the population were obeyed. The population obeyed Kanyabashi because he represented the State, and they deemed the orders to be morally legitimate. 9921

3695. In April, May and June 1994 Kanyabashi allegedly incited the population of Butare town to search for and exterminate Tutsis. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi used his authority as Ngoma *bourgmestre* to order inhabitants to clear the bushes with their work implements, which was double-speak for eliminating the hiding places of Tutsis and killing Tutsis found there. The Prosecution contends that Kanyabashi issued the 24 May 1994 Directive on *umuganda*, and that pursuant to this Directive, *umuganda* to search for and kill Tutsis was carried out. The Prosecution cites these submissions in support of the count of genocide against Kanyabashi. The Prosecution further submits that Nsabimana participated in numerous meetings in Butare *préfecture*, including the same meeting at the cemetery next to the University of Butare in June 1994 attended by Kanyabashi, during which decisions were

⁹⁹¹⁴ Para. 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

⁹⁹¹⁵ Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana); Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana).

⁹⁹¹⁶ Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹⁹¹⁷ Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹⁹¹⁸ Para. 6.53 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

⁹⁹¹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

⁹⁹²⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 405, paras. 75-76.

⁹⁹²¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 385-387, 406, paras. 4, 7, 79.

⁹⁹²² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 396-398, 407, 420-421, paras. 35-39, 47, 81-82, 126-128.

⁹⁹²³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 406, 411-412, 442, paras. 79, 98, 205; *see also* Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 17-18, 21; Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 3, 65, 129-130, 133, paras. 9, 122, 354-355, 365.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 442, para. 205 (citing Prosecution Exhibit 132C (Kanyabashi's Letter to conseillers of Ngoma commune entitled Community Work of 27 May 1994, 24 May 1994)).

⁹⁹²⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 406-407, paras. 79, 82.

⁹⁹²⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 406, para. 79.

made to further the extermination of Tutsis. 9927 Nsabimana's role in the conspiracy to commit genocide was, *inter alia*, to convene and attend meetings to give effect to the plan. 9928 The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Prosecution Witness FAC and Expert Witness Ntakirutimana.

3696. Further, the Prosecution submits that around late May 1994 and in mid-June 1994, Kanyabashi drove through Butare town and used a megaphone to incite the population to search for the "enemy", at a time when Tutsis were considered "enemies". Immediately after this announcement, searches were conducted under the guise of communal work. Tutsis who were hiding were flushed out and killed. The Prosecution contends that after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement in June 1994, Tutsis who had been hiding in a mosque were killed. ⁹⁹²⁹ In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses QI, QJ and TK and Expert Witness Ntakirutimana.

3697. In addition to its submissions on the vagueness of Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment considered below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that only circumstantial evidence supports the contention that Kanyabashi intended for Tutsis to be killed when he issued orders to clear bushes. Clearing bushes is not *per se* criminal conduct and could have been aimed at preventing the RPF from advancing. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that there is no conclusive evidence that Tutsis were found or killed as a result of the clearing operation carried out pursuant to Kanyabashi's 24 May 1994 Directive on *umuganda*. As concerns the subsequent cemetery meeting, the Kanyabashi Defence submits Kanyabashi was not present. The Kanyabashi Defence also submits the purpose of the bush-clearing was not to kill civilians, but to prevent the impending approach of the RPF. As such, no criminal consequence is alleged. Lastly, the Kanyabashi Defence challenges the credibility of Witness FAC who was a detainee and part of a group that fabricated false testimony against Kanyabashi.

3698. Further, the Kanyabashi Defence contends that Kanyabashi never incited the population with a megaphone, and submits that Prosecution Witnesses QJ, TK and QI's evidence on this allegation is vague, inconsistent and lacks credibility. The Defence submits that there is no conclusive evidence that Tutsis were killed as a result of the megaphone announcement ⁹⁹³⁴

3699. The Kanyabashi Defence also submits that Prosecution Witnesses QJ, QI and TK attended meetings of the *Ibuka* association where they were asked to falsely accuse Kanyabashi of using a megaphone from a moving vehicle to incite people to kill Tutsis. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-14-W,

⁹⁹²⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 231, 275, paras. 9-10, 148.

⁹⁹²⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 232, paras. 14-15.

⁹⁹²⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 396-397, 407, paras. 36, 38-39, 81-82.

⁹⁹³⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 67-69, 342; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 13.

⁹⁹³¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 69 (citing Prosecution Exhibit 132C (Kanyabashi's Letter to *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* entitled *Community Work of 27 May 1994*, 24 May 1994)).

⁹⁹³² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 339, 342-344.

⁹⁹³³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 73.

⁹⁹³⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 286, 296, 300-302, 309-311.

⁹⁹³⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 280, 302.

D-2-18-O, D-2-5-I, D-2-13-O, D-13-D, D-2-YYYY, D-21-B and D-2-21-T, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses WKKTD and WMKL and Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-17. 9936

3700. Regarding Nsabimana, in addition to its submissions on the defective nature of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment with respect to this allegation, considered below, the Nsabimana Defence denies that Nsabimana was present at the cemetery meeting in question and submits Witness FAC's testimony is false. ⁹⁹³⁷ In support of these contentions, the Nsabimana Defence relies upon the testimony of Nsabimana.

3.6.35.2 Preliminary Issues

Paragraphs 6.45 and 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment

3701. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleging that Kanyabashi instructed searches of Tutsis is impermissibly vague insofar as it fails to specify the material facts underpinning this allegation, such as an identifiable crime or specific incident, such that Kanyabashi was unable to prepare his defence. The Kanyabashi Defence also submits that Paragraph 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleging that Kanyabashi aided and abetted the killing of Tutsis throughout Butare *préfecture* is vague for failing to provide a specific time or location of any such incidents, failing to outline any specific actions of Kanyabashi's, and failing to identify any victims. The Kanyabashi Defence also argues that the meeting about which Prosecution Witness FAC testified is not mentioned in the Kanyabashi Indictment and that the Indictment is therefore defective.

3702. Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment states that between 20 April and June 1994, Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed soldiers, militiamen and civilians to search for Tutsis in order to exterminate them. Although the time frame of "20 April to June 1994" is broad, the Chamber notes that the same paragraph alleges that these instructions were notably given on three specific occasions, including 21 April in Butare, in late April in Save and in June 1994 near Butare [town]. Paragraph 6.58 states that between April and July 1994, Kanyabashi "not only called on, but aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsi in Butare *préfecture*."

3703. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution alleged at trial that Kanyabashi ordered *umuganda* or searches for Tutsis on 27 May 1994, in order to kill them. ⁹⁹⁴¹ The Prosecution also alleged Kanyabashi gave orders sometime in June 1994 at a meeting held at the cemetery next to Butare University where authorities, including Kanyabashi, incited people to continue the searches, carry out patrols and set up roadblocks. ⁹⁹⁴²

⁹⁹³⁶ The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witness D-2-21-T as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

⁹⁹³⁷ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 815, 818; T. 21 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana).

⁹⁹³⁸ Kanvabashi Closing Brief, para. 313.

⁹⁹³⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 319-320.

Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹⁹⁴¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 406-407, paras. 79, 82.

⁹⁹⁴² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 148; T. 3 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness FAC).

3704. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that neither Paragraph 6.45 nor 6.58 make any reference to any orders given in May 1994, or to Kanyabashi's alleged May 1994 Directive for *umuganda*, for which reason the Chamber finds the Indictment defective in this regard.

3705. The Chamber has reviewed the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its Appendix, and the Prosecution opening statement, neither of which make any reference to Kanyabashi's alleged orders or to the May 1994 Directive for *umuganda* to search for and kill Tutsis. The Chamber concludes that the defects in Paragraphs 6.45 and 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment were not cured with reference to the allegation that Kanyabashi ordered *umuganda* or searches for Tutsis on 27 May 1994, in order to kill them. As such, the Chamber declines to make a finding on the allegation concerning the issuance of a directive in May 1994 calling for *umuganda*. In any event, the Chamber considers that the evidence led by the Prosecution was not sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi ordered the population to kill Tutsis in late-May 1994.

3706. With reference to orders for searches given at a cemetery meeting in June 1994, Paragraph 6.45 refers to one event which occurred in June 1994 near Butare, when instructions were given. However, the Chamber considers the reference to both the time period and location is vague. While the Chamber is mindful that it is not always possible to provide a precise date, the reference also fails to adequately identify with any precision the location as to where Kanyabashi is alleged to have incited the population to commit genocide. Paragraph 6.58 similarly fails to provide any instances of aiding and abetting by Kanyabashi. The Chamber thus finds that Paragraphs 6.45 and 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment are defective for failing to provide Kanyabashi with adequate notice that he would be held responsible for issuing specific orders to the population at a cemetery meeting to search for Tutsis at particular locations within and around Butare town in June 1994. The Chamber will consider below whether the Indictment is cured of its defects.

Paragraphs 6.28, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment

3707. The Prosecution, relying on Witness FAC, also alleges that Nsabimana was present with Kanyabashi at the cemetery meeting in June 1994. However, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleging Nsabimana's involvement in meetings is impermissibly vague because it does not give an indication of the meeting dates, venues, attendees or the number of meetings. The Nsabimana Defence also submits that Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleging Nsabimana incited and aided and abetted genocide are impermissibly vague because they fail to specify how and when Nsabimana incited and aided and abetted.

3708. Paragraph 6.28 alleges that Nsabimana took part in meetings with his *bourgmestres* at which the progress of the massacres and the means by which to complete them was discussed. Insofar as the cemetery meeting's participants are said to have been *bourgmestres* and in light

.

⁹⁹⁴³ See Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), paras. 121-122.

⁹⁹⁴⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 148; T. 3 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁴⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-334.

⁹⁹⁴⁶ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 35-44.

of the alleged presence of, *inter alia*, *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi at the cemetery meeting, the Chamber considers the June meeting in question can be characterised as a meeting among *bourgmestres*. However, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.28 only specifies one meeting, namely one convened by Nyiramasuhuko in April 1994, but fails to specify the number, dates or location of other alleged meetings. With respect to Paragraphs 6.32 and 6.53, the Chamber agrees these paragraphs are vague as they fail to provide any details of incidents upon which the Prosecution would rely.

3709. Insofar as Paragraphs 6.28, 6.32 and 6.53 do not refer to any meeting held in June 1994 in the cemetery next to Butare University, the Chamber finds these paragraphs of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment defective.

Curing of Indictment Defects

3710. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness FAC, who was expected to testify with respect to both Kanyabashi's and Nsabimana's role at the meeting at the cemetery next to the University of Butare in June 1994. Witness FAC was expected to testify that Kanyabashi convened a rally held in the cemetery next to Butare University, and both *Préfet* Nsabimana and *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi stated that any Hutus sheltering Tutsis should be eliminated. Following the meeting, the population killed many Tutsis and understood that they could kill with impunity. 9947

3711. Witness FAC's statement of 23 February 2000 indicated that in early June 1994, he attended a rally held in the cemetery next to Butare University and convened by Kanyabashi, at which *Préfet* Nsabimana and Minister of Interior Kalimanzira were also present. Two thousand persons attended the rally which lasted about one and a half hours. *Préfet* Nsabimana said any Hutus that sheltered a Tutsi should be eliminated. Kanyabashi spoke along the same lines. ⁹⁹⁴⁸

3712. The Chamber observes that Witness FAC's previous statement is consistent with the summary of his expected testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief. Witness FAC's previous statement was disclosed to the Defence in December 2000, well before the commencement of Witness FAC's testimony in March 2004. The Chamber therefore finds that both Defence teams received sufficient notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence with respect to the allegation in support of Counts 1 and 4 of the Kanyabashi Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

3713. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that the defect in Paragraphs 6.45 and 6.58 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, as well as Paragraphs 6.28, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, were cured by the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information and the Defence did not suffer prejudice in the preparation of its case.

⁹⁹⁴⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAC (15).

⁹⁹⁴⁸ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAC, disclosed 15 November 2000.

Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment

3714. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, alleging that Kanyabashi incited the population of Butare town with a megaphone in or around late May 1994, is impermissibly vague insofar as it fails to specify a precise date or place for this incident, and does not identify a victim. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that, as such, Kanyabashi was unable to prepare his defence. 9949

3715. Paragraph 5.8 alleges that from April to July 1994, prominent figures of authority propagated incitement to hatred and violence, that Kanyabashi and others publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis and their "accomplices", and that in or around late May 1994, on at least one occasion, Kanyabashi drove through Butare town and used a megaphone to encourage the population to systematically search for the enemy as a result of which, immediately afterwards, more Tutsis were killed in Ngoma *commune*. The Chamber observes that the latter sentences in Paragraph 5.8 concerning the megaphone announcements identify the alleged perpetrator (Kanyabashi), the alleged crime (incitement), the location of this incident (Butare town), the approximate time of the allegation (on at least one occasion in or around late May 1994), and the means by which it was committed (by megaphone while driving through town). The Chamber finds that Paragraph 5.8 was sufficiently precise to provide notice to Kanyabashi of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence on this allegation with respect to an incident of incitement by megaphone occurring around late May 1994.

3716. Insofar as the Prosecution also relied upon Prosecution Witness QI, who testified about a megaphone announcement made by Kanyabashi in mid-June 1994, ⁹⁹⁵¹ the Chamber observes that Paragraph 5.8 states that Kanyabashi incited the population with a megaphone from a vehicle "on at least one occasion". As such, evidence led in support of this allegation may relate to more than one incident of incitement via megaphone in Butare town during the said period. The Chamber considers that evidence about a megaphone announcement by Kanyabashi in mid-June 1994 falls within the scope of Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

3717. In respect of the instructions issued by megaphone in June 1994, the Chamber also notes that one of the three occasions identified in Paragraph 6.45 on which the Prosecution alleged Kanyabashi encouraged and instructed searches of Tutsis occurred in June 1994 near Butare [town]. In addition to specifying an approximate period of time during which the alleged orders were given (in June 1994), Paragraph 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment also identifies the alleged perpetrator (Kanyabashi), the alleged crime (ordering his subordinates to search for Tutsis in order to exterminate them), the identity of his alleged subordinates (soldiers, militiamen and members of the civilian population), and the location of Kanyabashi's alleged instructions (Butare town). While the Prosecution could have employed precise legal terms to indicate the alleged criminal conduct, in the Chamber's view, it is nevertheless clear that where Paragraph 6.45 refers to Kanyabashi *instructing* soldiers, militiamen and civilians to search for Tutsis, this sentence is alleging that Kanyabashi *ordered*

.

⁹⁹⁴⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 301.

Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹⁹⁵¹ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-62 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness QI).

⁹⁹⁵² Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

these groups to search for Tutsis in order to exterminate them. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.45 was sufficiently precise to provide notice to Kanyabashi of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence in relation to an incident of incitement by megaphone occurring in June 1994.

3718. In any event, the Chamber notes the Kanyabashi Defence did not object to the testimony of Witness QI with respect to the megaphone incident of mid-June 1994 at trial.

Notice of Alleged Mosque Killings and the Killing of Tutsi Boys at the BPO

3719. Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that immediately after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement in Butare town, more Tutsis were killed in Ngoma *commune*. The Prosecution relied on Witness QI in submitting that two watchmen were killed at a mosque following Kanyabashi's alleged announcement. The Prosecution also led evidence through Witness TK that after Kanyabashi's announcement soldiers found her and other Tutsis at the convent where they were seeking refuge, and took the Tutsi boys to the BPO where they were subsequently killed.

3720. Paragraph 5.8 does not indicate that the Prosecution would lead evidence on either the death of two particular individuals at a mosque or the taking of Tutsi men from the convent where Witness TK was hiding and their subsequent killing at the BPO following Kanyabashi's announcement, and is therefore defective. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will determine whether these defects were cured through the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information.

3721. The Chamber notes that the mosque killings at issue were not mentioned in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, its Appendix or in the Prosecution opening statement. These alleged killings were mentioned in Witness QI's 11 June 1996 statement, which provides that from his hiding place he saw Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement and the killings of the two watchmen. Nevertheless, the disclosure of this statement alone was insufficient to cure this defect. In any event, Witness QI's statement does not indicate that the killings took place immediately after the said announcement, nor does it mention a link between Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement and the mosque killings.

3722. The Chamber notes that the finding of Tutsis boys at a convent and their subsequent killing at the BPO was not mentioned in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, its Appendix or the Prosecution opening statement. Further, the summary of Witness TK's anticipated evidence makes no mention of Kanyabashi, and Witness TK was not listed as being brought in support of any counts against Kanyabashi. The taking of five boys from the convent and their subsequent disappearance were mentioned for the first time in Witness TK's statements of 14

⁹⁹⁵³ Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

⁹⁹⁵⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 396-397, paras. 36, 38-39.

⁹⁹⁵⁵ 11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI, disclosed 4 November 1998. Witness QI was called to testify in March 2004.

⁹⁹⁵⁶ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 27; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), paras. 197, 221.

November 1997 and 23 April 1998. Nevertheless, disclosure of those statements alone was insufficient to cure this defect in the Indictment. 9957

3723. The Chamber thus finds the defects in Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment have not been cured and will not consider evidence led in support of either allegation.

3.6.35.3 Cemetery Meeting – Kanyabashi and Nsabimana, Late May to Early June 1994

3.6.35.3.1 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAC

3724. Witness FAC, a Hutu detainee from Ngoma commune awaiting trial in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, 9958 testified that he saw Kanyabashi on two occasions in the same bar. 9959 One of the encounters took place in April 1994 and the other took place approximately one month later. 9960 On the first occasion, Kanyabashi spoke about leading people to the secteur office, and on the second occasion, he talked about searches. 9961

3725. The witness later testified he saw Kanyabashi for the first time in early June, ⁹⁹⁶² perhaps around 5 June 1994⁹⁹⁶³ at the bar. ⁹⁹⁶⁴ Witness FAC arrived at the bar at 8.00 a.m. and Kanyabashi arrived between two and two and half hours later. 9965 Kanyabashi arrived at about 10.00 or 10.30 a.m. in his car with his driver. 9966 When the witness and others saw Kanyabashi's vehicle arrive, Kanyabashi signalled for them to come out of the bar because he wanted to talk to a large number of people and fixed an appointment for later that morning which he wanted people to prepare for and attend on time. Kanyabashi stayed for two minutes 9967

3726. In cross-examination Witness FAC testified there were a good number of people present, not very many, but more than one person at least gathered to hear Kanyabashi. ⁹⁹⁶⁸ He later clarified there were around 12 to 13 people around Kanyabashi's car. 9969 Kanyabashi stopped his vehicle to speak to people, without alighting from the car. 9970 Kanyabashi informed

⁹⁹⁵⁷ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 27; Nivitegeka, Judgement (AC), paras. 197, 221.

⁹⁹⁵⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 84 (Personal Particulars); T. 3 March 2004 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness FAC); T. 3 March 2004 pp. 76-78; T. 8 March 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁵⁹ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 28, 30 (Witness FAC). 9960 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 25, 30 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶² T. 3 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶³ T. 8 March 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶⁴ T. 3 March 2004 p. 64 (ICS); T. 4 March 2004 p. 5; T. 8 March 2004 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶⁵ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 5-6 (Witness FAC). ⁹⁹⁶⁶ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS); T. 4 March 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶⁷ T. 4 March 2004 p. 7 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶⁸ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 7-8 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁶⁹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁷⁰ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 27, 31; T. 8 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAC).

them peace had returned and gave instructions for them to lead people to the *secteur* office. ⁹⁹⁷¹ After speaking to people, Kanyabashi left for Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*. ⁹⁹⁷²

3727. After hearing Kanyabashi's words, Witness FAC returned home to get the two Tutsis he was hiding, in order to bring them to the *secteur* office. A person at the *secteur* office took the two Tutsis and requested that the *Interahamwe* kill them. Responsibility for the death of the two Tutsis was a shared responsibility and Witness FAC was not trying to exculpate himself by blaming Kanyabashi. Witness FAC took the two Tutsis to the *secteur* office because Kanyabashi had said that peace had been restored and they were all convinced that the war was over. In cross-examination, Witness FAC said he had already taken the two Tutsis to the *secteur* office well before Kanyabashi's visit of 23 or 24 April, approximately four weeks before.

3728. Witness FAC testified that he saw Kanyabashi at the beginning of the month of June. Kanyabashi was passing through the road of Ntumba going towards the *secteur* office; he was with his driver, and he told the witness and his friends that the Tutsis should come out of hiding because the war was about to end. Kanyabashi asked the population to search the neighbouring woods. Kanyabashi said he had sought the assistance of the population of three other *communes* and asked them to go and meet them to help them search the neighbouring bushes or woods, in order to determine whether RPF soldiers had infiltrated or Tutsis had sought refuge therein. They were supposed to search to make sure no one was hiding nearby. Kanyabashi was accompanied by other authorities, namely Kalimanzira and Nsabimana. Kanyabashi asked whether *Inkotanyi* soldiers were hiding.

3729. On cross-examination, he stated that he arrived at the bar at 8.30 a.m. and Kanyabashi passed by two hours later. Kanyabashi slowed down and spoke from his vehicle: "The war is almost over. We are going to search in the woods surrounding the town to find out whether the *Inkotanyi*, that is RPF soldiers, have infiltrated their ranks or whether the Tutsi who had sought refuge therein." Kanyabashi added that he had convened the inhabitants of three *communes* and that they were going to search three sites and meet thereafter in the cemetery next to the University. Search three sites and meet thereafter in the cemetery of the University. Kanyabashi stayed only about one or two minutes and then hurried towards other *secteurs*.

3730. After Kanyabashi's speech, at about 8.30 a.m., Witness FAC and two friends returned home to fetch machetes and traditional weapons. 9984 Then the witness went into the woods

```
<sup>9971</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 27, 32-33 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9972</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
<sup>9973</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
<sup>9974</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9975</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9976</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 25, 29-30 (Witness FAC) (French).
<sup>9977</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
<sup>9978</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 68; T. 4 March 2004 pp. 8, 14; T. 8 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9980</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 68-69 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9981</sup> T. 8 March 2004 pp. 68-69 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9982</sup> T. 3 March 2004 pp. 68; T. 8 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9983</sup> T. 8 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9984</sup> T. 8 March 2004 pp. 15; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 16 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9985</sup> T. 4 March 2004 pp. 15; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 16 (Witness FAC).
```

with some friends. 9985 The woods were about 20 minutes away from his house. 9986 At about 10.00 a.m. everyone was in the woods and the searches had started. 9987 Witness FAC participated in the ensuing search operation. Witness FAC confirmed that he was referring to the exercise that took place on 27 May 1994, where inhabitants of several *secteurs* of his *commune* were called upon to clear bushes on the road leading to the National University. People from Shyanda, Huye and Mbazi *communes* also came to help them work; including people from Ngoma *commune*, people from four *communes* participated in the search in the bushes and woods. They also searched for Tutsis in caves, as they were determined to kill all of them.

3731. Witness FAC testified that they were unable to clear all the bushes; they began on the stretch of road between Curbhamatera and the laboratory, and were told to continue elsewhere, including rivers. They were told to flush people out of river banks. They searched Mukoni and the woods before it, as well as the woods called Arboretum, near the match factory and the hospital. The whole search lasted about two hours and then they all went to the cemetery. 9991

3732. Witness FAC testified that they arrived at the cemetery between 10.30 and 11.30. a.m. The meeting took place in a broad space with no trees. There they met Kanyabashi and other authorities, namely Kalimanzira, *Préfet* Nsabimana and Colonel Nteziryayo. Approximately 2,000 people attended, including people from other *communes*. The authorities asked them if they had found any Tutsis or RPF soldiers and they answered that they had not found anything but three bodies. Then the authorities made speeches to thank those who participated in the search. Kalimanzira spoke first for about 10 to 15 minutes, then Nsabimana and Kanyabashi spoke.

3733. In their speeches, Kalimanzira, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi repeated the same thing, namely that they should continue to maintain the security of the region by carrying out patrols, setting up roadblocks and searching for those still in hiding. Nsabimana added that people who were hiding Tutsis should be killed as well as the Tutsis themselves. They also spoke about the organisation of night patrols in order to prevent the RPF from infiltrating. People asked some questions. Regarding a question about Tutsi children, Kanyabashi answered that they should not be killed or chased away because they could be used as house-help. Regarding a question about those who married Tutsis, Kalimanzira answered that the population should

⁹⁹⁸⁵ T. 8 March 2004 p. 16; T. 8 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁸⁶ T. 8 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness FAC).
9987 T. 8 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAC).
9988 T. 8 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAC).
9989 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 8, 14 (Witness FAC).
9990 T. 8 March 2004 p. 26 (Witness FAC).
9991 T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAC).
9992 T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAC).
9993 T. 3 March 2004 pp. 68, 69; T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 38, 62 (Witness FAC).
9994 T. 8 March 2004 pp. 39 (Witness FAC).
9995 T. 3 March 2004 pp. 69; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 22 (Witness FAC).

⁹⁹⁹⁶ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 69-70 (Witness FAC).

decide against those people because when the RPF took over the country, they would tell their secrets. 9998 Nteziryayo did not speak. 9999

3734. Witness FAC agreed that Rwanda was in a situation of war and was about to fall into the hands of the RPF at the time of this meeting but denied that the searches were conducted solely to counter the advance of the RPF and that there was a question of killing Tutsis. The searches were to ensure that there were no Tutsis in hiding who could return to attack Hutu children at a later date. 10001

3735. The whole meeting lasted approximately an hour 10002 and ended at about 12.30 p.m. 10003 After the meeting ended, the population was happy and hopeful that the war had ended. 10004 After the meeting, the population went back to their hills and tried to do as instructed by the authorities, in particular as Kanyabashi instructed, since he was very much loved by the population, 10005 even more so than the *préfet*. 10006 They therefore began to arrest people at roadblocks. 10007 After the meeting the looting began, and lasted for two weeks. On the day of the meeting, the witness looted until approximately 2.00 p.m. before returning home. 10008 They carried out the searches in order to ensure that there was nobody left to disturb them. 10009

3736. Witness FAC identified Kanyabashi in court.¹⁰⁰¹⁰ He had known Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma since 1993 when the witness went to Butare to study with the "Brothers of Charity" and met Kanyabashi there. They prayed together and he considered Kanyabashi to be one of his friends.¹⁰⁰¹¹

3737. Witness FAC failed to identify Nsabimana in court, but instead pointed out Nteziryayo. The witness justified this by explaining that he did not see very well, a problem he had had since his childhood. Witness FAC testified that he did not know Nsabimana very well, having seen him only three times; he never met him again after the events. He described Nsabimana as a middle-aged man, not very fair in complexion, very tall with a broad chest and a scar on his forehead; he testified that Nsabimana was the *préfet* of Butare. 10015

```
<sup>9998</sup> T. 8 March 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness FAC).
<sup>9999</sup> T. 8 March 2004 pp. 38, 62 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10000</sup> T. 8 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10001</sup> T. 8 March 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
<sup>10002</sup> T. 8 March 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10003</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10004</sup> T. 8 March 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10005</sup> T. 3 March 2004 pp. 69-70; T. 3 March 2004 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
<sup>10006</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10007</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10008</sup> T. 4 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10009</sup> T. 8 March 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10010</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 72 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10011</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10012</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 73 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10013</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10014</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 72; T. 8 March 2004 p. 43 (Witness FAC).
<sup>10015</sup> T. 3 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness FAC).
```

3738. When it was put to Witness FAC that neither his confession of 28 November 1999 nor his statement of 23 February 2000 mentioned a meeting with Kanyabashi at the bar before the cemetery meeting, he testified that his sighting was mentioned on the first page of his confession of 30 November 1999. 10016

3739. Witness FAC was subsequently detained in Rwanda for the role he played in bringing two Tutsis to the *secteur* office where they were killed. According to Witness FAC, the Rwandan judicial system provides that whoever is present where killings are carried out is implicated in the crime. He was held responsible for conniving against the two people he took to the secteur office. Witness FAC testified that he did not personally kill anyone, but he was present during the killings. Witness FAC stated that he could not dissociate himself from the group of killers. He supported them. 10018

3740. He conceded that he was in frail health, and had health problems subsequent to a car accident. When asked if he was sane, Witness FAC stated: "I cannot say that I am insane, but I cannot say that I am normal just like anybody else. All I can tell you is that I am narrating things to you that I experienced myself and things I saw myself." ¹⁰⁰¹⁹

Nsabimana

3741. Nsabimana denied the evidence of Witness FAC and testified that he never attended a meeting convened by Kanyabashi at the cemetery of the National University of Rwanda. 10021 Nsabimana referred to a Prosecution witness, whose pseudonym he could not recall, who testified to searches and "talked about something at the university cemetery". 10022 Nsabimana went to see the director of Cabinet at that very cemetery and saw him quarrelling with the population that had just conducted searches in the Arboretum forest. Nsabimana did not stay there long. He did not take the floor, and left immediately. 10023

Nteziryayo

3742. Nteziryayo denied he ever took part in a meeting at the cemetery located near the National University of Rwanda in Butare together with Kalimanzira, Kanyabashi and Nsabimana on 5 June 1994 or on any other time between April and July 1994, as alleged by Witness FAC. 10024

¹⁰⁰¹⁶ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 11, 13-16 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰¹⁷ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62, 64-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰¹⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰¹⁹ T. 8 March 2004 p. 8 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰²⁰ The Chamber notes that the English transcript refers to a "seminary", whereas the French transcript refers to

a "cemetery": T. 21 September 2006 p. 76; T. 21 September 2006 p. 80 (Nsabimana) (French).

10021 T. 21 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana); Nsabimana Closing Statement, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 9-10; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 815.

¹⁰⁰²² T. 27 November 2006 pp. 54-55 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁰²³ T. 27 November 2006 p. 55 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁰²⁴ T. 6 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

3.6.35.3.2 Deliberations

3743. The issue in question is whether a meeting took place at the cemetery next to the University of Butare, at which Kanyabashi and Nsabimana incited the population to search for and kill Tutsis.

3744. Witness FAC testified that Kanyabashi passed by a bar he frequented in early June and informed the people it was necessary to search the woods surrounding the town for *Inkotanyi* infiltrators (RPF soldiers) or Tutsis who were hiding. Kanyabashi informed them he had convened the inhabitants of three *communes* and that they were going to search three sites and meet thereafter in the cemetery next to the University. Kanyabashi stayed only about one or two minutes before hurrying on to inform other *secteurs*. After carrying out searches in Mukoni, Arboretum and the surrounding woods near the match factory and the hospital for a period of about two hours, Witness FAC and his companions all went to the cemetery, where they arrived sometime between 10.30 a.m. and 11.30 a.m. 10027 There they met Kanyabashi, Kalimanzira, *Préfet* Nsabimana and Colonel Nteziryayo. Approximately 2,000 people attended, including people from other *communes*.

3745. In contrast to Witness FAC's evidence, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo 10031 and Kanyabashi 10032 deny having ever attended a meeting convened by Kanyabashi at the cemetery 10033 next to Butare University. Despite this unanimous denial, the Chamber notes that in cross-examination Nsabimana referred to a Prosecution witness whose pseudonym he could not recall, who testified to searches and "talked about something at the university cemetery". Without specifying any dates, Nsabimana testified that he went to see the Director of Cabinet at that very cemetery and saw him quarrelling with the population that had just conducted searches in the Arboretum forest. Nsabimana did not stay there long; he did not take the floor and left immediately. 10035

3746. Noting that the Director of Cabinet at the time was Kalimanzira, who Witness FAC also identified as being present at the meeting in the cemetery, and that both Nsabimana and Witness FAC referred to searches in Arboretum forest, the Chamber is of the view that Nsabimana's evidence on cross-examination is consistent with the account of Witness FAC as to the occurrence of a meeting in the cemetery next to Butare University. For this reason, the Chamber finds that Nsabimana's testimony that he never attended a meeting convened by Kanyabashi at the cemetery of Butare University is not credible.

¹⁰⁰²⁵ T. 3 March 2004 p. 68; T. 8 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰²⁶ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰²⁷ T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰²⁸ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 68-69; T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 38, 62 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰²⁹ T. 8 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰³⁰ T. 21 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana); T. 21 September 2006 p. 80 (Nsabimana) (French); Nsabimana Closing Statement, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 9-10; Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 815.

¹⁰⁰³¹ T. 6 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁰³² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 339.

¹⁰⁰³³ With respect to Nsabimana, the Chamber notes that while the English transcript refers to a "seminary", the French transcript refers to a "cemetery": T. 21 September 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana); T. 21 September 2006 p. 80 (Nsabimana) (French).

¹⁰⁰³⁴ T. 27 November 2006 pp. 54-55 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁰³⁵ T. 27 November 2006 p. 55 (Nsabimana).

3747. Witness FAC's evidence as to the purpose of the meeting and the speeches by Kanyabashi and Nsabimana makes clear that the security of the region was the major issue. The authorities advocated establishing patrols and roadblocks and searching for those still in hiding. While Witness FAC agreed Rwanda was in a situation of war and was about to fall into the hands of the RPF at the time of this meeting, he denied that the purpose of the searches was to counter the RPF advance. The searches were to ensure that there were no Tutsis in hiding who could return to attack Hutu children at a later date. After the meeting, the population went back to their hills and did as instructed by the authorities. They therefore began to arrest people at roadblocks and searching for those still in hiding.

3748. Witness FAC was the Prosecution's only witness to testify in respect of this meeting at the cemetery next to Butare University. The Chamber notes that Witness FAC's testimony on this meeting is uncorroborated despite his evidence that 2,000 people purportedly attended the meeting in question. Witness FAC was a detained accomplice witness at the time of his testimony for the role he played in bringing two Tutsis to the *secteur* office, allegedly pursuant to Kanyabashi's orders, where they were killed. Accordingly, the Chamber agrees with the Kanyabashi Defence submissions that he may have had an incentive to testify against an Accused before this Tribunal to deflect his own potential liability and gain favour with Rwandan authorities. The Chamber considers it significant that Witness FAC acknowledged that the only manner for him to get out of prison was to admit a certain level of responsibility. Additionally, the Chamber observes that this witness acknowledged that he first denied responsibility for killing two people, but later confessed to the killings after four years of detention. Witness FAC said he confessed in part because he wanted to be pardoned. The Chamber will therefore consider Witness FAC's testimony with appropriate caution.

3749. The Chamber considers Witness FAC frequently confused his accounts of his two encounters with Kanyabashi, the first which occurred around 23 April 1994 when Kanyabashi came to the *secteur* asking the population to tell all the Tutsis in hiding to come out because peace had been restored, and the second which occurred in June on the morning of the meeting at the cemetery next to Butare University when Kanyabashi talked about searches. 10050

3750. Witness FAC's testimony of both encounters otherwise bears several similarities: Witness FAC testified that both meetings were purportedly preceded by Kanyabashi passing

```
10036 T. 3 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness FAC).
10037 T. 8 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAC).
10038 T. 8 March 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
10039 T. 3 March 2004 p. 70; T. 3 March 2004 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
10040 T. 3 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness FAC).
10041 T. 4 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAC).
10042 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 148.
10043 T. 8 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAC).
10044 T. 3 March 2004 pp. 62-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
10045 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 321-347.
10046 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAC).
10047 T. 4 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAC).
10048 T. 4 March 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness FAC).
10049 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 25, 27, 32-33 (Witness FAC).
10050 T. 3 March 2004 p. 68; T. 4 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAC).
```

by the witness' local bar in the morning at similar times. However, when it was put to Witness FAC that he did not mention a meeting with Kanyabashi at the bar before the cemetery meeting in either his confession of 28 November 1999 or his statement of 23 February 2000, Witness FAC answered that his sighting of Kanyabashi was mentioned on the first page of his confession of 30 November 1999. Having reviewed the witness' confession, the Chamber notes that Witness FAC mentions Kanyabashi stopping at the bar only before the first meeting in April, but there is no reference to the bar encounter prior to the second meeting in June. 10053

3751. Further, on both occasions Kanyabashi convened a meeting for later the same day, he stayed only a few minutes at both encounters, 10054 and similar people appear to have been present at both meetings. 10055 With respect to this last point, the Chamber accepts Witness FAC's explanation that the same businessmen were always at the bar because the town was a small place. 10056

3752. The Chamber further notes that the witness' account is also internally inconsistent. Witness FAC contradicted himself insofar as he first testified that Kanyabashi was with Nsabimana and Kalimanzira when he came by the bar in June, 10057 whereas he later testified that Kanyabashi was alone when he instructed people at the bar to participate in a clearing exercise and that he did not see any *préfet*. Further, Witness FAC stated he went to Arboretum forest on the same day he first met Kanyabashi at the bar, but later testified that they searched the woods after the second occasion that he met Kanyabashi at the bar. 10060 Witness FAC's inability to clearly differentiate between his encounters with Kanyabashi casts doubt on the veracity of his testimony. Further, while Witness FAC testified that Kanyabashi arrived at the bar at about 10.00 a.m. or 10.30 a.m. in his car with his driver, 10061 this also contradicts his later testimony that the second time he saw Kanyabashi, Kanyabashi came very early in the morning, at dawn. 10062 Moreover, this is inconsistent with his testimony that after Kanyabashi's departure, the witness returned home to fetch weapons at 8.30 a.m., 10063 conducted searches which lasted two hours, 10064 and arrived at the cemetery sometime between

¹⁰⁰⁵¹ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 28, 30 (Witness FAC).

T. 8 March 2004 pp. 11, 13-16 (Witness FAC); Defence Exhibit 222 (Kanyabashi) (List of Alleged Omissions; 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAC; 30 November 1999, Confession of Witness FAC to Rwandan Authorities).

¹⁰⁰⁵³ Defence Exhibit 222 (Kanyabashi) (List of Alleged Omissions; 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAC; 30 November 1999, Confession of Witness FAC to Rwandan Authorities); T. 8 March 2004 p. 15 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁴ T. 8 March 2004 p. 10 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁵ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁶ T. 8 March 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁷ T. 3 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁸ T. 8 March 2004 p. 17 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁵⁹ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁶⁰ T. 4 March 2004 p. 31 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁶¹ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁶² T. 4 March 2004 p. 30 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁶³ T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAC).

¹⁰⁰⁶⁴ T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAC).

10.30 a.m. and 11.30 a.m. ¹⁰⁰⁶⁵ In light of the foregoing inconsistencies, the Chamber finds that Witness FAC is not credible with respect to his account of the meeting in June 1994.

3753. In light of the conflicting and often confused evidence of Witness FAC, and the lack of any corroborative testimony to support Witness FAC's account of what was said at the cemetery meeting in June 1994, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana and Kanyabashi instructed the population to search for and kill Tutsis in hiding at a meeting held in June 1994 at the cemetery next to Butare University in furtherance of a plan to exterminate Tutsis.

3.6.35.4 Megaphone Announcements – Kanyabashi, May and June 1994

3.6.35.4.1 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QJ

3754. Witness QJ, a Tutsi waiter in 1994, 10066 testified that in May 1994 he saw Kanyabashi at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. 10067 Kanyabashi was seated in the passenger seat of a Toyota pickup truck, between two individuals. On one side of Kanyabashi was the driver, and on the other side was someone holding a megaphone. Kanyabashi made announcements from the vehicle, using a megaphone, stating, "[t]he *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* is informing people of Ngoma that the enemies are among us and you are requested to seek them everywhere." This announcement was repeated several times. Witness QJ testified that when Kanyabashi used the word "enemy", it meant Tutsis. 10071

3755. Witness QJ saw Kanyabashi make this announcement on two occasions. Witness QJ identified Kanyabashi in court. Similar announcements from a vehicle were made elsewhere by people other than Kanyabashi. These announcements were made very frequently. As a result of this announcement, searches were carried out in the bush around the city and in various houses. The search was called *umuganda*, or communal work. This "work" entailed seeking out people in hiding. Among the people conducting the search were people carrying whistles and others carrying guns, which they would fire in the air

```
10065 T. 4 March 2004 p. 15; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 16, 22 (Witness FAC).
10066 T. 8 November 2001 p. 96 (ICS) (Witness QJ); Prosecution Exhibit 47 (Personal Particulars).
10067 T. 12 November 2001 p. 25 (Witness QJ).
10068 T. 12 November 2001 p. 30; T. 15 November 2001 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
10069 T. 12 November 2001 p. 26 (Witness QJ).
10070 T. 12 November 2001 p. 26; T. 14 November 2001 pp. 100-101 (Witness QJ).
10071 T. 12 November 2001 p. 33 (Witness QJ).
10072 T. 12 November 2001 p. 26 (Witness QJ).
10073 T. 12 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness QJ).
10074 T. 12 November 2001 p. 38 (Witness QJ).
10075 T. 12 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness QJ).
10076 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 30-31 (Witness QJ).
10077 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 31 (Witness QJ).
10077 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 31 (Witness QJ).
```

¹⁰⁰⁷⁸ T. 14 November 2001 pp. 101-105 (Witness OJ).

in an attempt to seek out those hiding in the bush. Anyone found in the bush was killed immediately. 10079

3756. Witness QJ was married to Witness TK. Witness QJ stated that they did not discuss the events of April to July 1994. He testified that he did not know of his wife's plans to testify before this Tribunal. He testified that he did not know of his wife's plans to testify before this Tribunal.

Prosecution Witness TK

3757. Witness TK, a Tutsi teacher, ¹⁰⁰⁸³ testified that after the death of President Habyarimana she fled with her family to Butare town where they hid in a convent, in a storage room. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁴ The place they hid was in the middle of town. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁵ She hid with over 10 other Tutsis beneath a pile of wood. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁶ She was separated from a nearby road by a wall and buildings. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁷ At the end of May 1994, while hiding, she heard an announcement by someone in a vehicle. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁸ The announcement was made with a megaphone. ¹⁰⁰⁸⁹ The speaker was not Kanyabashi, but a messenger. ¹⁰⁰⁹⁰ The message delivered was that the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* wished to inform the population that the enemy was still among them, the enemy was hiding in their midst, and they had to find the enemy wherever they were hiding. ¹⁰⁰⁹¹

3758. Witness TK testified that the announcement affected the safety of her and those hiding with her. 10092 Although the conditions in which they were hiding in the convent were not the best, the announcement made their situation critical. Witness TK testified that after this announcement, an order was issued whereby each household, including the convent, had to select one person to participate in the final search. At that time, a young man was selected at the convent to participate in the final search. The morning after that young man left, people came to the convent. Searches were conducted everywhere to find those who were hiding. As a result, six soldiers discovered the witness sometime between the end of May 1994 and the beginning of June 1994. Sisters at the convent prevented the soldiers from killing the group of people she had been hiding with. Members of the group were asked to show identity cards, and those who had them showed their cards. The soldiers were armed with

```
<sup>10079</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 31 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10080</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10081</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10082</sup> T. 12 November 2001 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10083</sup> T. 21 May 2002 p. 109 (ICS) (Witness TK); Prosecution Exhibit 56 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10084</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 26 (Witness TK).
<sup>10085</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 27 (Witness TK).
<sup>10086</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 26; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 94, 97 (Witness TK).
<sup>10087</sup> T. 27 May 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness TK).
<sup>10088</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 27; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (ICS) (Witness TK).
<sup>10089</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 27 (Witness TK).
<sup>10090</sup> T. 27 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (ICS) (Witness TK).
<sup>10091</sup> T. 20 May 2002 p. 27 (Witness TK).
<sup>10092</sup> T. 28 May 2002 pp. 16-17 (Witness TK).
<sup>10093</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 18 (Witness TK).
<sup>10094</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 17 (Witness TK).
<sup>10095</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 18 (Witness TK).
<sup>10096</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 27-28 (Witness TK).
<sup>10097</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28, 30; T. 27 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).
<sup>10098</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28,30 (Witness TK).
```

rifles. They forced the young men to kneel, tied them up and beat them. ¹⁰⁰⁹⁹ The soldiers locked up the members of the group, and stated that they would bring *Interahamwe* to kill them that evening. However, the next morning the soldiers took them to the *préfecture*, where the young men were killed. ¹⁰¹⁰⁰

3759. In 1995, Witness TK married Witness QJ. Witness TK testified that they did not discuss the events that took place between April to July 1994. Witness TK stated that her husband never told her that he testified before this Tribunal in 2001. She told her husband that she was going to Arusha, but did not tell him that she was going to Arusha as a witness in this case. 10102

Prosecution Witness QI

3760. Witness QI, a Tutsi and former cook, ¹⁰¹⁰³ testified that his employer lived in a compound comprised of five houses. From April to July 1994 Witness QI hid in a shed at his employer's house, above a bread-baking oven. ¹⁰¹⁰⁴ The oven had a window through which one could see what was happening on a nearby road. ¹⁰¹⁰⁵ Witness QI could open the window to hear what was being said outside. ¹⁰¹⁰⁶ Both the wall of the oven building and the wall of the compound's fence had little openings. ¹⁰¹⁰⁷ Through the openings in a fence between Witness QI's hiding place and the road, he could see everything that happened on the road. ¹⁰¹⁰⁸ There was a distance of approximately 50 metres between Witness QI's hiding place and the road. ¹⁰¹⁰⁹ Witness QI knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* and he identified Kanyabashi in court. ¹⁰¹¹⁰

3761. Witness QI testified that one day in mid-June 1994 he was hiding above the oven with a child. On the saw Kanyabashi driving alone in his white Peugeot 305 vehicle. Witness QI testified that Kanyabashi wore a blue shirt, black trousers and a black jacket. Kanyabashi stepped out of his vehicle, stood on the road and spoke into a handheld megaphone. Kanyabashi stated that the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* wanted the population of Ngoma and inhabitants of neighbouring areas to come early in the morning to clear the bushes along the road, so the *Inkotanyi* would not find anywhere to hide. Witness QI explained that he understood *Inkotanyi*, in that context, to mean Tutsis hiding in the

```
<sup>10099</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-29 (Witness TK).
<sup>10100</sup> T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-30 (Witness TK).
<sup>10101</sup> T. 21 May 2002 pp. 44-48, 92-93, 102-104 (ICS) (Witness TK).
<sup>10102</sup> T. 21 May 2002 pp. 103-107 (ICS) (Witness TK).
T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QI); Prosecution Exhibit 94 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10104</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 25, 75 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10105</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10106</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10107</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10108</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 72-75 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10109</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness QI) (approximately 50 metres from the road to the compound's
fence, and 1 metre between the compound's fence and the oven).
<sup>10110</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS); T. 23 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness QI).
<sup>10111</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 69-70 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10112</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59, 61-62 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 69, 77, 79-80 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10113</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10114</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76, 78, 80 (ICS) (Witness QI).
```

bushes.¹⁰¹¹⁵ Kanyabashi stated that everybody should die, including children, old men and women. Kanyabashi stated that Kagame ran away when he was a child, and then returned in 1994 to attack the country.¹⁰¹¹⁶ Witness QI identified Kanyabashi by his voice, since Kanyabashi used a megaphone, and by sight.¹⁰¹¹⁷ The distance between Witness QI's hiding place and Kanyabashi was about 200 metres.¹⁰¹¹⁸

3762. Witness QI stated that there is a difference between an announcement to clear the bush and an announcement stating that people should be killed. On cross-examination, Witness QI testified that he saw Kanyabashi making announcements from his vehicle on two different occasions.

3763. Witness QI testified that Kanyabashi's instructions were carried out the next day. ¹⁰¹²¹ Everything that was said about flushing people out was implemented near the house, and so he saw the orders being implemented. ¹⁰¹²² Witness QI testified that he saw people clearing the woods, hacking those caught hiding with machetes, and throwing grenades into the bushes to flush out people who were hiding in them. ¹⁰¹²³ The killers were Hutus and they were looking for Tutsis. ¹⁰¹²⁴ In cross-examination Witness QI testified that he learned after the event about grenades being thrown at those in hiding. ¹⁰¹²⁵

3764. Witness QI testified that attackers and soldiers looked for people in the valley and in a nearby cemetery. Attackers killed people who had spent the night in a nearby mosque. While clearing the bushes, attackers found two elderly watchmen who worked at the mosque and took them away. Witness QI stated that he personally witnessed what happened at the mosque because it was opposite his hiding place. Approximately 100 metres separated the house where Witness QI was hiding and the mosque.

3765. Witness QI conceded that he relied on someone to tell him whether it was safe to leave the hiding place or whether there were killers outside, because he did not have a clear sight of what was happening outside. Witness QI did not hear megaphones mentioned at any of the trials he attended. 10131

```
<sup>10115</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10116</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10117</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76-77 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10118</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10119</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10120</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10121</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10122</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10123</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10124</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10125</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 4 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10126</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10127</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 63, 66-67 (ICS); T. 25 March 2004 pp. 4-6 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10128</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 4-6 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10129</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10130</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10131</sup> T. 24 March 2004 p. 79 (ICS) (Witness OI).
```

Prosecution Witness FAM

3766. Witness FAM, a Hutu and detainee at the time of his testimony, 10132 testified that in April 1994 he saw Kanyabashi in a white vehicle, from which a message was broadcast by megaphone. A man on board the vehicle made an announcement in the name of *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi. 10133 As a result of the announcement, some Tutsis came out of hiding. 10134

Prosecution Witness QP

3767. Witness QP, a 15-year-old Tutsi in 1994, 10135 testified that Kanyabashi was the bourgmestre of her commune, and that she would see him when he came for meetings. 10136 Witness QP stated that on a Thursday in April 1994 at about noon, she was at her home when she heard an announcement being broadcast by megaphone. She went to the road in order to hear the message clearly, and saw Kanyabashi inside a moving vehicle. A man in green uniform drove the car. 10137 Kanyabashi was speaking into a microphone and repeated three times, "[h]e who will burn the weeds must first gather them." Witness QP was about 30 metres away from Kanyabashi at that time. 10139 After approximately 15 minutes, the vehicle transporting Kanyabashi and his companion returned, this time in the opposite direction. Kanyabashi was still using the megaphone, repeating, "[t]hose that should kill the weeds shall first of all assemble them." 10140 Witness QP went home and asked her father what those words meant. Her father explained that Tutsis were to be killed. 10141

Prosecution Expert Witness Évariste Ntakirutimana

3768. Évariste Ntakirutimana testified as an expert in the fields of social linguistics, discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics and language planning. 10142 Ntakirutimana's Expert Report, tendered as Prosecution Exhibit 158, analyses the use of numerous proverbs and phrases in Rwanda during the events in 1994. 10143

3769. Ntakirutimana testified that the word "enemy" in the context of the 1994 conflict in Rwanda referred to the group who was attacking. ¹⁰¹⁴⁴ *Inkotanyi* were the people that attacked Rwanda from abroad in 1994; they were Rwandans who wanted to come back to Rwanda. 10145 Invenzi in many cases equals Inkotanyi. Neutrally speaking, Inkotanyi simply meant the

¹⁰¹³² T. 6 March 2002 p. 73; T. 7 March 2002 p. 35; T. 11 March 2002 p. 15 (Witness FAM); Prosecution Exhibit 50 (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹³³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 118; T. 13 March 2002 pp. 81-82 (Witness FAM).

¹⁰¹³⁴ T. 6 March 2002 p. 118 (Witness FAM).

¹⁰¹³⁵ T. 6 June 2002 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹³⁶ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 152-154 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹³⁷ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 154, 156, 158-159, 161, 163; T. 6 June 2002 pp. 79-80, 87 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹³⁸ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 155-156, 158 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹³⁹ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 157-158 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹⁴⁰ T. 5 June 2002 p. 160 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹⁴¹ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 160-161 (Witness QP).

¹⁰¹⁴² T. 13 September 2004 pp. 17, 30 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁴³ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 32, 38 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁴⁴ T. 13 September 2004 p. 64 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁴⁵ T. 13 September 2004 p. 55 (Ntakirutimana).

attacking group. 10146 Ntakirutimana declined to identify "Tutsis" as the enemy but admitted that generally speaking one could deduce that the Hutus were attacked and the Tutsis were the attackers. 10147 In his Report, Ntakirutimana reported that in daily Rwandan culture the "enemy" was understood to be Tutsis, 10148 and outlined numerous examples of its usage during the conflict and proverbs referring to "the enemy". 10149

3770. Ntakirutimana testified that *gukora* has several meanings in Kinyarwanda, including to do something bad, to work arduously and thank you. ¹⁰¹⁵⁰ In his Report, Ntakirutimana wrote that "*gukora*" was synonymous with to work, to kill, to remove, to clean, communal work, *umuganda*, finish the job, rape, take away. ¹⁰¹⁵¹ To work could be going to destroy someone's house, or to raid and steal from someone. ¹⁰¹⁵² In the context of the 1994 conflict, "to work" meant "to kill". You must work with a weapon, and what you do with the weapon is quite clear. If you do work, you will get the Tutsi land. ¹⁰¹⁵³ The operation to eliminate the enemy or the snake was a euphemism for "work". ¹⁰¹⁵⁴

3771. Ntakirutimana testified that the original concept of *umuganda* in the countryside meant assisting somebody or lending a helping hand in a building project for example. In the Second Republic, *umuganda* referred to communal work for the purposes of development where all people were expected to make their contribution to developing Rwanda. In the context of 1994 however, the concept of assisting or lending a helping hand was an invitation for everyone to take part in the war. ¹⁰¹⁵⁵ In his Report Ntakirutimana wrote that the term "*umuganda*" in the context of 1990 to 1994 meant mobilising the Hutu majority for the need of the cause. ¹⁰¹⁵⁶

3772. Ntakirutimana explained that couch grass are weeds that invade farms quickly and are difficult to destroy. Since weeds always come after the good grain has been planted, such proverbs recall the relationship between good and bad. Speakers employing proverbs which refer to couch grass or weeds bridged the communication gap with peasants since such metaphors put the peasant in his daily context; peasants directly understood they had to fight the couch grass with all means at their disposal and that such weeds must be cast aside. 10159

¹⁰¹⁴⁶ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 59, 66 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁴⁷ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 59, 65 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁴⁸ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 29-30.

¹⁰¹⁴⁹ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 26-27, 29-30.

¹⁰¹⁵⁰ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 47, 68-69 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 34.

¹⁰¹⁵¹ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 34.

¹⁰¹⁵² T. 13 September 2004 p. 68 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 34.

¹⁰¹⁵³ T. 13 September 2004 p. 68 (Ntakirutimana).

T. 13 September 2004 pp. 68-69 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 32.

¹⁰¹⁵⁵ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 69-70 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 35.

¹⁰¹⁵⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 35.

¹⁰¹⁵⁷ T. 13 September 2004 p. 62 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 23.

¹⁰¹⁵⁸ T. 13 September 2004 p. 62 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰¹⁵⁹ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 62-63 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 23.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

3773. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, ¹⁰¹⁶⁰ testified that he never heard Kanyabashi broadcast messages by megaphone. ¹⁰¹⁶¹ Witness D-2-5-I named three drivers of Ngoma *commune*, and stated that one of these drivers, Shinani, often used a loudspeaker or megaphone to broadcast messages in the *commune*. ¹⁰¹⁶²

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

3774. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, ¹⁰¹⁶³ testified that between April and July 1994 he resided 50 metres from a road that ran from Butare town to Tumba *secteur*. There was a nun's residence between his house and that road. ¹⁰¹⁶⁴ From his house, he would be able to hear a message delivered via megaphone from a vehicle on the road. Anyone at his house at the time could clearly hear the voices of people on the road, and someone standing in his house could clearly see what was happening on the road. ¹⁰¹⁶⁵

3775. Witness D-2-YYYY testified that between April and July 1994, Kanyabashi drove himself. During this period, Witness D-2-YYYY saw Kanyabashi driving himself on several occasions. Between April and July 1994 he did not hear any message being broadcast using a megaphone from a vehicle on that road. Witness D-2-YYYY stated that prior to 6 April 1994, when there was an urgent message for the population of Ngoma *commune*, the university public address system was placed on a vehicle and *commune* staff would drive around the *secteurs* of Ngoma *commune*, transmitting the message. Between January and July 1994, Mathias Nsanzabahizi and Cyrille were drivers for Ngoma *commune*. At some point, the latter went into hiding. Original Witness D-2-YYYY testified that after 6 April 1994, the system for conveying messages from the *commune* to the population changed; vehicles were no longer used to carry messages.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-14-W

3776. Witness D-2-14-W, a Hutu teacher who resided in Butare town, ¹⁰¹⁷³ Ngoma *commune* in April 1994, ¹⁰¹⁷⁴ testified that he never heard Kanyabashi speak over a megaphone from a moving vehicle, nor did he ever hear anyone discuss such a message. Any message that was

¹⁰¹⁶⁰ T. 11 December 2007 p. 51 (ICS); T. 21 January 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); Defence Exhibit 615 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹⁶¹ T. 22 January 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰¹⁶² T. 22 January 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰¹⁶³ T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (Witness D-2-YYYYY); Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹⁶⁴ T. 28 November 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁶⁵ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁶⁶ T. 28 November 2007 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁶⁷ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁶⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁶⁹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁷⁰ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 46, 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁷¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁷² T. 28 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰¹⁷³ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 7, 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W); Defence Exhibit 626 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹⁷⁴ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 7, 9, 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W).

publicly broadcast would have come to his attention. If an announcement had been made he would have learned of it. At that time people shared information easily, so news circulated rapidly within the population. Between April and July 1994 Witness D-2-14-W never heard Kanyabashi ask the population to commit criminal acts, nor did he subsequently learn of Kanyabashi doing so. ¹⁰¹⁷⁵

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-O

3777. Witness D-2-13-O, a Hutu driver, ¹⁰¹⁷⁶ testified that he never heard Kanyabashi speaking with a megaphone nor did he ever hear that Kanyabashi used a megaphone to address the population. ¹⁰¹⁷⁷ Witness D-2-13-O's village was not far from Butare town. ¹⁰¹⁷⁸ If such a message had been spread using a megaphone, he would have heard it. ¹⁰¹⁷⁹ Witness D-2-13-O stated that before the war a *préfecture* vehicle would go around town announcing that there was community labour. That vehicle did not travel around town delivering that message during the war. ¹⁰¹⁸⁰ Witness D-2-13-O underscored that Kanyabashi had a Tutsi wife, and several people who knew Kanyabashi said that he was an accomplice. In Witness D-2-13-O's opinion, the same Kanyabashi who assisted many Tutsis could not have asked members of the population to kill Tutsis. ¹⁰¹⁸¹

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WKKTD

3778. Witness WKKTD, a Hutu teacher who resided in Ngoma *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, ¹⁰¹⁸² testified that between April and June 1994 he did not see or hear of anyone moving around town broadcasting messages with a megaphone. ¹⁰¹⁸³

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL

3779. Witness WMKL, a Hutu teacher, ¹⁰¹⁸⁴ testified that in 1994 he did not hear any messages being broadcast by megaphone in Butare town. ¹⁰¹⁸⁵ From April to July 1994 he did not hear messages from Kanyabashi being disseminated with a megaphone. ¹⁰¹⁸⁶

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-17

3780. Witness AND-17, a Hutu gardener, worked at the same business establishment as Witness QJ from April to July 1994. Witness AND-17 testified that Witness QJ could not

¹⁰¹⁷⁵ T. 11 February 2008 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W).

¹⁰¹⁷⁶ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 600 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹⁷⁷ T. 6 November 2007 p. 24 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰¹⁷⁸ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 12, 17 (ICS); T. 6 November 2007 p. 25 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰¹⁷⁹ T. 6 November 2007 pp. 24-25 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰¹⁸⁰ T. 6 November 2007 pp. 25-26 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰¹⁸¹ T. 6 November 2007 p. 26 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰¹⁸² T. 7 February 2005 pp. 39-41 (ICS) (Witness WKKTD); Defence Exhibit 265 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰¹⁸³ T. 8 February 2005 p. 20 (Witness WKKTD).

T. 6 April 2005 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness WMKL); Defence Exhibit 291 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal Particulars.

¹⁰¹⁸⁵ T. 11 April 2005 p. 12 (Witness WMKL).

¹⁰¹⁸⁶ T. 7 April 2005 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness WMKL).

go out alone. 10189 Witness AND-17 stated that Witness QJ was hiding in a room at the back of their place of work because he feared that he would be killed, given that he did not have an identity card. Witness AND-17 testified that at that time, he viewed Witness QJ as a Hutu. Fellow workers at the hotel also viewed Witness QJ as a Hutu. They did not know that Witness QJ was a Tutsi. 10191

3781. Witness AND-17 testified that from the room occupied by Witness QJ, he would not have been able to see what was happening on the main road 10192 and that apart from when he left the business premises to visit his parents in April 1994, he was with Witness QJ every minute of the day between April and June 1994. Witness AND-17 testified that he visited Witness QJ's room for a daily beer and cigarette. After approximately 30 minutes Witness AND-17 would return to his place of work within the business' premises. Witness AND-17 testified that between April and June 1994, Witness QJ would go for walks, alone, in the garden in front of his room. Witness QJ was not obliged to tell Witness AND-17 about his movements. Witness QJ was not obliged to tell Witness AND-17 about his movements.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-21-B

3782. Witness D-21-B, a Hutu, ¹⁰¹⁹⁷ testified that she knew the owner of the property where Witness QI hid. ¹⁰¹⁹⁸ The entrance to this compound faced the road that ran from Butare town to the university. A brick wall surrounded the compound on three sides, on the left, right and behind. Along the left and right sides of the compound, student rooms were built into the outer wall. There were ventilation holes in the wall alongside the kitchen. ¹⁰¹⁹⁹

3783. Witness D-21-B testified that there was an oven on the premises, which was approximately two by three metres. ¹⁰²⁰⁰ If you stood in front of the entrance to the property, the oven was at the rear, after the student rooms, attached to the wall on the left-hand side. ¹⁰²⁰¹ The oven had an external wall without any openings, while the front-facing wall of the oven had openings. ¹⁰²⁰² Witness D-21-B testified that there was a mosque to the left of this property. ¹⁰²⁰³

```
<sup>10187</sup> T. 30 January 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness AND-17); Defence Exhibit 509 (Nteziryayo) (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10188</sup> T. 30 January 2007 pp. 9-11, 31-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10189</sup> T. 30 January 2007 pp. 35-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10190</sup> T. 30 January 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10191</sup> T. 30 January 2007 p. 47 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10192</sup> T. 31 January 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10193</sup> T. 31 January 2007 pp. 13, 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10194</sup> T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10195</sup> T. 31 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10196</sup> T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
<sup>10197</sup> T. 12 May 2008 p. 67 (ICS); T. 7 February 2008 pp. 62, 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10198</sup> T. 7 February 2008 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10199</sup> T. 7 February 2008 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10200</sup> T. 7 February 2008 pp. 73-75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10201</sup> T. 7 February 2008 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10202</sup> T. 7 February 2008 pp. 73-74 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10203</sup> T. 7 February 2008 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
```

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

3784. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee who pled guilty to participating in attacks at Kabakobwa, 10204 testified that he knew of three vehicles that belonged to the *commune* office in 1994: a white station wagon which he saw Kanyabashi driving, a green Toyota which he saw Nsanzabahizi driving, and a truck. He saw these vehicles in circulation before the war. 10205

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-17-I

3785. Witness D-2-17-I, a Hutu who worked at a convent in Ngoma commune from April to July 1994, 10206 testified that while he was at the convent, between 7 April and July 1994, he never heard any message from Kanyabashi saying that the enemy was hiding among the population and that they should look for the enemy everywhere. During this period he left the convent to return to his home on four occasions.

3786. Witness D-2-17-I testified that approximately 13 people hid at the convent under stacks of wood. These people were discovered and removed by soldiers around May 1994. Around four soldiers arrived at the convent at about 1.00 p.m. and asked that pieces of wood be removed to ensure that there was no one hiding beneath. The soldiers removed the wood and those found hiding there were "flushed out". The soldiers asked the people who had been discovered to show their identity cards, and subsequently evacuated them. 10209

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

3787. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu who resided in Huye commune from April to July 1994, 10210 testified that at no point while he was in Butare town did he hear megaphone messages from Kanyabashi, asking the population to carry out community work. He never heard other members of the population discuss any such message. 10211 Before April 1994 he never heard of a megaphone being used to make announcements in Ngoma commune. He stated that if someone used a megaphone to make an announcement in Ngoma commune, and he was in Huye *commune* where he lived, he would not have been able to hear it. 10212

3788. Witness D-13-D testified that he was detained at the Huye commune jail for three months and after that, he was held at Rwandex prison. 10213 While he was detained, members of an association called *Ibuka* tried to incite him to give false evidence against three individuals.

¹⁰²⁰⁴ T. 28 August 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 4 September 2007 pp. 23-24, 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); Defence Exhibit 560 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰²⁰⁵ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹⁰²⁰⁶ T. 25 February 2008 p. 47 (ICS); T. 27 February 2008 pp. 11, 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); Defence Exhibit 631 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰²⁰⁷ T. 27 February 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).

¹⁰²⁰⁸ T. 27 February 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).

¹⁰²⁰⁹ T. 26 February 2008 pp. 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).

T. 14 February 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D); Defence Exhibit 627 (Kanyabashi) (Personal

¹⁰²¹¹ T. 21 February 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁰²¹² T. 25 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁰²¹³ T. 19 February 2008 pp. 12-13, 24, 26 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

including Kanyabashi. 10214 Witness D-13-D stated he was tried and acquitted, but not released. He was asked to implicate these three people as a precondition for his release. 10215 He testified that he was also a victim of this group. His cousins, who were members of Ibuka, told him what was discussed at their meetings, including plans to put him in prison. He contended that he was imprisoned although he never participated in killings. 10216 Witness D-13-D testified that while he was in prison, during the course of *Gacaca* proceedings, he learned that two women, who were influential *Ibuka* members, falsely accused many people who they did not know. 10217 Witness D-13-D stated, regarding one of these women in particular that as long as you had a broad nose it was sufficient to implicate you. 10218

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu

3789. In his Expert Report and at trial Eugène Shimamungu opined that *Inyenzi* was a nom de guerre coined by one Alloys Ngurumbe, the leader of a Tutsi incursion group which sought to destabilise the Rwandan government in the 1960s. 10219 His Report claimed that it was surprising to hear sensation seekers claim that this term was used to denigrate Tutsis. 10220 At trial Shimamungu testified that this word was used throughout the 1960s in Rwanda to identify all Tutsi incursions into Rwanda, and the term reappeared in the 1990s because the conflicts were led by people who had the same claims as those in the 1960s. 10221 Shimamungu denied that the term was used historically by those who did not like Rwandan Tutsis. 10222

3790. Shimamungu testified that the word *Inkotanyi*, dating from the 19th century, was revived by the RPF in 1990 who became known as the RPF-Inkotanvi and occasionally, Invenzi-Inkotanyi. The word Inkotanyi meant die-hard combatant and its Kinyarwanda root word, jukota, meant "to devour" and thus also carried an extreme meaning so that if a group is so called, it is feared. 10223

3791. In the context of Sindikubwabo's speech, Shimamungu opined that people identified as belonging to "enemy circles" included social groups from which members of the RPF were enlisted and recruited: mainly Tutsi refugees who are members of the NRA; Tutsis within the country; Hutus dissatisfied with the current regime; the unemployed within Rwanda and abroad; foreigners married to Tutsi women; Nilo-Hamitic tribes in the region and criminals at large. 10224

```
<sup>10214</sup> T. 19 February 2008 pp. 13, 24-25 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D). <sup>10215</sup> T. 19 February 2008 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).
```

¹⁰²¹⁶ T. 19 February 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁰²¹⁷ T. 19 February 2008 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁰²¹⁸ T. 19 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

T. 16 March 2005 p. 49 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 36. ¹⁰²²⁰ Defence Exhibit 278B (Nyiramasuhuko) (Shimamungu Expert Report) p. 36.

¹⁰²²¹ T. 16 March 2005 p. 49 (Shimamungu).

¹⁰²²² T. 16 March 2005 pp. 50-51 (Shimamungu).

¹⁰²²³ T. 16 March 2005 p. 50; T. 22 March 2005 p. 68 (Shimamungu).

¹⁰²²⁴ T. 1 April 2005 p. 48 (Shimamungu).

3.6.35.4.2 Deliberations

3792. The Chamber will consider two issues: (1) whether Kanyabashi drove through Butare town with a megaphone around late May 1994 and in mid-June 1994, inciting the population to search for the enemy; and (2) whether Tutsis were killed immediately after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements.

3793. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber notes that the Defence asserts that Prosecution Witnesses OI, TK and OJ were *Ibuka* members who were induced to falsely testify as to this allegation against Kanyabashi. For the reasons set out elsewhere in this Judgement, the Chamber finds that the testimony of Defence Witnesses D-2-21-T, D-13-D and D-2-18-O as to the alleged *Ibuka* membership of Witnesses QI, TK and QJ does not undermine the credibility of these Prosecution witnesses ().

3.6.35.4.2.1 Megaphone Announcement in Butare Town, Late May 1994

3794. The Prosecution adduced evidence from Witnesses QJ and TK in support of the allegation that around late May 1994, Kanyabashi drove through Butare town and used a megaphone to incite the population to search for the enemy.

3795. The Chamber recalls that Witness QJ testified that he is married to Witness TK, which was confirmed by Witness TK. 10225 Both witnesses also testified that they had never discussed the events of April to July 1994 together, and did not know of each other's plans to testify before this Tribunal. 10226 The Chamber recalls its previous finding that while it does not believe that these witnesses never discussed the events at issue in this case, or their plans to testify before this Tribunal, this alone does not undermine Witness TK or Witness QJ's credibility ().

3796. Witness QJ testified that in May 1994 he saw Kanyabashi make an announcement from a Toyota pickup, at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. 10227 Witness QJ recounted that Kanyabashi stated, "[t]he bourgmestre of Ngoma commune is informing people of Ngoma that the enemies are among us and you are requested to seek them everywhere." Witness QJ testified that as used by Kanyabashi, the word "enemy" meant Tutsis. Similar announcements were made very frequently, including by people other than Kanyabashi, 10230 and on one occasion in May 1994 Witness QJ saw Kanyabashi make this announcement himself. Witness QJ's testimony that Kanyabashi was in a Toyota pickup is corroborated by Witness D-2-13-D's testimony that the Ngoma commune office owned such a vehicle. 10232

¹⁰²²⁵ T. 12 November 2001 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness QJ); T. 21 May 2002 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness TK).

¹⁰²²⁶ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 56, 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QJ); T. 21 May 2002 pp. 44-48, 92-93, 102-106 (ICS)

⁽Witness TK).

10227 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25-26; T. 14 November 2001 pp. 100-101; T. 15 November 2001 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

10228 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25-26, 29-30; T. 14 November 2001 pp. 100-101 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²²⁹ T. 12 November 2001 p. 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²³⁰ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 26, 32 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²³¹ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25-26, 32 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²³² T. 30 August 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

3797. The Kanyabashi Defence relied on the testimony of Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-17 to submit that Witness QJ could not have witnessed Kanyabashi make megaphone announcements at the Hotel Faucon roadblock in May 1994. Witness AND-17 worked at the same business establishment as Witness QJ during the period at issue. He stated that Witness QJ was hiding in a room at the back of the business premises, and Witness QJ could not leave his room because he did not have an identity card. Witness AND-17 further contended that Witness QJ would not have been able to see what was happening on the main road from the room he occupied. Witness AND-17 testified that he was with Witness QJ every minute of the day between 7 April and the end of June 1994, except for a short period on 20 April 1994, when Witness AND-17 left the business premises to visit his parents. He stated that he was with Witness QJ every minute of the day between 7 April and the end of June 1994, except for a short period on 20 April 1994, when Witness AND-17 left the business premises to visit his parents.

3798. The Chamber considers Witness AND-17's testimony unpersuasive for several reasons. It is implausible that Witness AND-17 was with Witness QJ every minute from 7 April 1994 to the end of June 1994. By the witness' own admission, he was not continuously with Witness QJ during the period at issue. Witness AND-17 conceded that Witness QJ would go for walks, alone, in the garden in front of his room. Witness AND-17 also testified that he was formally employed in a specific location of the business premises, and Witness QJ was not working. Witness AND-17 visited Witness QJ's room for a daily beer and cigarette lasting approximately 30 minutes, and would then return to his place of work within the premises. Witness AND-17 also acknowledged that Witness QJ was not obligated to tell Witness AND-17 about all his movements. Significantly, Witness AND-17 testified that at that time, he and his colleagues viewed Witness QJ as a Hutu, and did not know that Witness QJ was a Tutsi. As such, there would have been no reason for Witness AND-17 or others to monitor Witness QJ's every movement. This evidence belies Witness AND-17's assertion that he was with Witness QJ continuously during the period at issue.

3799. The credibility of Witness AND-17's testimony is further undermined by the fact that he made several implausible statements under oath. He testified that between 7 April 1994 and the end of June 1994, he never heard of roadblocks in Butare town, he never heard that people had to show identity cards at roadblocks, and that when he travelled to and from the hotel during this period he did not see any dead bodies anywhere. The Chamber finds Witness AND-17's testimony regarding Witness QJ's account of Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement to be neither credible, nor reliable. As such, Witness AND-17's testimony does not affect the Chamber's assessment of Witness QJ's testimony on this issue.

3800. Turning to Witness QJ's identification of Kanyabashi, the Chamber notes Witness QJ testified that he knew Kanyabashi because Kanyabashi was a senior public official in Ngoma

```
10233 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 316.
10234 T. 30 January 2007 pp. 9-11, 31-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10235 T. 30 January 2007 pp. 35-37 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10236 T. 31 January 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10237 T. 31 January 2007 pp. 13, 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10238 T. 31 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10239 T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10240 T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10241 T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10242 T. 31 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10243 T. 31 January 2007 pp. 17, 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10243 T. 31 January 2007 pp. 17, 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
```

commune where the witness was living in 1994. 10244 Witness QJ testified that Kanyabashi lived nearby and typically drove past the hotel. 10245 Further, Witness QJ saw Kanyabashi several times driving around the city in his own car, on which occasions Kanyabashi was obliged to stop at the roadblocks. Witness QJ also frequently saw Kanyabashi stop to speak to those manning the roadblock at the Hotel Faucon. 10247 Lastly, Witness QJ had previously seen Kanyabashi attend a meeting at the MRND Palace in Butare sometime between 17 and 21 April 1994. 10248 In light of the number of occasions on which Witness QJ had previously seen Kanyabashi, and Witness QJ's positive identification of Kanyabashi in court, 10249 the Chamber is persuaded that Witness QJ's identification of Kanyabashi at the Hotel Faucon roadblock in May 1994 was reliable.

3801. The Kanyabashi Defence also points to an apparent inconsistency in Witness QJ's account of Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement. Witness QJ initially testified that he saw Kanyabashi make the megaphone announcement himself, at the Hotel Faucon roadblock, on two occasions. Witness QJ then said he witnessed Kanyabashi make this announcement himself on only one occasion, in May 1994. The Chamber does not consider this to be a significant discrepancy, particularly when viewed in the context of the passage of time between the events at issue and Witness QJ's testimony. The Chamber notes that Witness QJ's testimony was clear that the message was repeatedly broadcast around Butare town, and on at least one occasion in late May 1994, he saw Kanyabashi make this announcement at the Hotel Faucon roadblock.

3802. Witness QJ's eyewitness testimony was corroborated in part by Witness TK's testimony. Witness TK testified that at the end of May 1994 while she was in hiding in a convent in Butare she heard a vehicle drive past, broadcasting an announcement with a megaphone. The message delivered was that the Ngoma *bourgmestre* wished to inform the population that the enemy was still among them, the enemy was hiding in their midst, and they had to find the enemy. She testified that she heard this message when she was hiding beneath a stack of wood in a storage room. The Chamber notes that Witness TK's testimony indicates that she was not in a position to see and identify the speaker. However, her testimony supports Witness QJ's account with regard to the content of the message, the method by which it was disseminated, and the approximate time and place of the announcement.

¹⁰²⁴⁴ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 24-25 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁴⁵ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25, 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁴⁶ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 32-33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁴⁷ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25, 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁴⁸ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 108-109 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 p. 25 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁴⁹ T. 12 November 2001 p. 38 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁵⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 282.

¹⁰²⁵¹ T. 12 November 2001 p. 26 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁵² T. 12 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁵³ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness TK); T. 27 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (ICS) (Witness TK); T. 12 November 2001 pp. 25-30 (Witness QJ); T. 14 November 2001 pp. 100-101 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁵⁴ T. 20 May 2002 p. 27 (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁵⁵ T. 20 May 2002 p. 26; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 94, 97 (Witness TK).

3803. Witness TK testified that the voice she heard disseminating the announcement ¹⁰²⁵⁶ was not Kanyabashi's voice. ¹⁰²⁵⁷ The Kanyabashi Defence points to this testimony as an inconsistency between the testimonies of Witnesses QJ and TK. ¹⁰²⁵⁸ The Chamber recalls that the wording of this allegation in Paragraph 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment potentially incriminates Kanyabashi in more than one incident of this nature in Butare town, stating that Kanyabashi incited the population with a megaphone from a vehicle "on at least one occasion" within the period at issue. ¹⁰²⁵⁹

3804. The Chamber recalls Witness QJ testified that announcements from a vehicle were made by people other than Kanyabashi. Furthermore, Witness QJ testified that these announcements were repeated frequently. In the Chamber's view, although testifying about similar announcements during the same period in question, Witnesses TK and QJ are not testifying about one and the same announcement by Kanyabashi in mid-May 1994. Nevertheless, the Chamber considers that various details given by Witness TK, such as the manner in which the announcements were made and the content of the announcements, corroborates the testimony of Witness QJ.

3805. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-17-I to submit that Witness TK could not have heard this megaphone announcement in late May 1994. Witness D-2-YYYY testified that between April and July 1994 he resided 50 metres from a road that ran from Butare town to Tumba *secteur*, close to the convent where Witness TK hid. He stated that from his house, he would have been able to see and hear any message delivered via megaphone from a vehicle on that road, and did not hear any such message during this period. Witness D-2-17-I testified that he worked at the same convent where Witness TK hid from April through May 1994, but never heard any message from Kanyabashi saying that they should look for the enemy. 10266

3806. Witnesses D-2-YYYY and D-2-17-I's testimony does not contradict Witness TK's evidence, as neither was continuously present at the convent during Witness TK's stay there. Taking into account Witness D-2-YYYY's profession at the time, ¹⁰²⁶⁷ the Chamber considers

¹⁰²⁵⁶ T. 20 May 2002 p. 27; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (ICS) (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁵⁷ T. 27 May 2002 pp. 147-148 (ICS) (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁵⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 310.

Para. 5.8 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

¹⁰²⁶⁰ T. 12 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁶¹ T. 12 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁶² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 305.

¹⁰²⁶³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰²⁶⁴ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰²⁶⁵ T. 28 November 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰²⁶⁶ T. 25 February 2008 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); T. 27 February 2008 pp. 11, 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I) (worked at the convent from April to July 1994); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 26, 28 (Witness TK) (fled with her family to this convent in Butare town after the death of President Habyarimana in April 1994, and remained there until a date between the end of May 1994 and the beginning of June 1994).

¹⁰²⁶⁷ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

he would have been away from his home during this period. Witness D-2-17-I testified that during this period, he left the convent to return to his home on four occasions. 10268

3807. The Chamber notes that Witness D-2-17-I actually corroborated Witness TK's evidence in several key respects. Witness TK testified that in April 1994 she went into hiding in a storage room at a convent, ¹⁰²⁶⁹ and that she hid with over 10 other Tutsis beneath a pile of wood. 10270 She stated that they were discovered by soldiers on a date between the end of May 1994 and the beginning of June 1994, and the soldiers took them to the BPO. 10271 Witness D-2-17-I testified that approximately 13 people hid at the convent under stacks of wood, and these people were discovered and removed by soldiers around May 1994. 10272

3808. Having considered all of the available evidence, the Chamber considers Witness TK's testimony on the announcement she heard in late May 1994 to be credible and convincing.

3809. The Defence presented eight witnesses who testified that they never heard Kanyabashi make a megaphone announcement from a moving vehicle, and did not subsequently hear about such an announcement. The Chamber considers the testimony of Witnesses D-2-17-I, D-2-YYYY, D-2-5-I, D-2-14-W, D-2-13-O, D-13-D, WKKTD and WMKL on the megaphone announcement in Butare town in late May 1994 to be of limited weight because the Kanyabashi Defence did not establish that any of these Defence witnesses were continuously present in Butare town throughout late May 1994. Notably, Witness D-13-D testified that if he was at his home in Huye *commune*, he would not have been able to hear a megaphone announcement in Ngoma *commune*. ¹⁰²⁷³ Witness D-2-13-O's testimony does not indicate that he was actually in Butare town in late May 1994; this witness claimed that if such a message had been spread using a megaphone in Butare town, he would have heard about it, 10274 because he resided in a village that was not far from Butare town. 10275

3810. Furthermore, five of these eight Defence witnesses were closely connected to Kanyabashi in 1994, and as such, may have had an interest in defending him. Witnesses D-2-5-I, ¹⁰²⁷⁶ D-2-YYYY¹⁰²⁷⁷ and D-2-14-W¹⁰²⁷⁸ had close professional ties to Kanyabashi, and Witnesses D-13-D¹⁰²⁷⁹ and D-2-13-O¹⁰²⁸⁰ testified to close personal ties with Kanyabashi.

3811. The testimony of Witness QJ is further corroborated by evidence which established that during the period from April through June 1994 megaphone announcements from a moving vehicle were part of the method by which Ngoma commune messages were disseminated to the

```
<sup>10268</sup> T. 27 February 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).
```

¹⁰²⁶⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 26 (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁷⁰ T. 20 May 2002 p. 26; T. 27 May 2002 pp. 94, 97 (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁷¹ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 26-30; T. 27 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).

¹⁰²⁷² T. 26 February 2008 pp. 64-66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).

¹⁰²⁷³ T. 25 February 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

¹⁰²⁷⁴ T. 6 November 2007 pp. 24-25 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰²⁷⁵ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 12, 17 (ICS); T. 6 November 2007 p. 25 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰²⁷⁶ T. 11 December 2007 p. 51 (ICS); T. 21 January 2008 pp. 60-62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰²⁷⁷ T. 26 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars). T. 11 February 2008 pp. 7, 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W).

¹⁰²⁷⁹ Defence Exhibit 627 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 31, 35 (Witness D-13-D). ¹⁰²⁸⁰ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 12, 16-17 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O).

population. As noted, Witness D-2-5-I, a former civil servant in Ngoma, testified that messages were often broadcast in Ngoma *commune* by a driver using a loudspeaker or megaphone. Witness D-2-13-O testified that a *préfecture* vehicle would go around town announcing community labour. Witness D-2-YYYY testified that, prior to 6 April 1994, urgent messages for the population of Ngoma *commune* were transmitted by placing the university public address system on a vehicle, and *commune* staff drove around the *secteurs* of the *commune* relaying the message. Witnesses D-2-13-O and D-2-YYYY both stated that this practice of transmitting *préfecture* messages stopped in April 1994, without offering an explanation as to why. In the absence of such an explanation, the Chamber is not persuaded that this system of public announcements was discontinued during this period.

- 3812. The evidence of Witnesses TK, D-2-5-I, D-2-13-O and D-2-YYYY thus establishes that megaphone announcements from a moving vehicle were part of the *modus operandi* by which messages from *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi were delivered to the population of Ngoma *commune* in the period from April through June 1994.
- 3813. The Chamber has previously held Witness QJ's testimony about this incident to be detailed and consistent, and it thus finds Witness QJ's identification of Kanyabashi to be reliable. Insofar as Witness QJ's account was also corroborated and complemented by evidence establishing a pattern of *préfecture* announcements being disseminated from a vehicle with a public address system, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that around late May 1994 Kanyabashi drove through Butare town with a megaphone and instructed the population to search for the enemy among them.
- 3814. Witness QJ testified that when Kanyabashi used the word "enemy", it meant Tutsis. Ntakirutimana testified that the word "enemy" in the context of the 1994 conflict in Rwanda referred to the group who was attacking. In his Expert Report, Ntakirutimana stated that in daily Rwandan culture the "enemy" was understood to be Tutsis. Defence Expert Witness Shimamungu opined that people identified as belonging to enemy circles included, *inter alia*, Tutsis within the country. In line with its previous finding in this Judgement the Chamber concludes that the term "enemy", when used by Kanyabashi, referred to Tutsis in general ().

3.6.35.4.2.2 Megaphone Announcement in Butare Town, June 1994

3815. The Prosecution adduced evidence from Witness QI in support of the allegation that in mid-June 1994 Kanyabashi drove through Butare town and used a megaphone to incite the population to search for the enemy. Witness QI testified that one day in mid-June 1994, he was hiding above a bread-baking oven at his employer's house when he saw Kanyabashi in a white

¹⁰²⁸¹ T. 22 January 2008 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰²⁸² T. 6 November 2007 pp. 25-26 (Witness D-2-13-O).

¹⁰²⁸³ T. 28 November 2007 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰²⁸⁴ T. 6 November 2007 pp. 25-26 (Witness D-2-13-O); T. 28 November 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰²⁸⁵ T. 12 November 2001 p. 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰²⁸⁶ T. 13 September 2004 p. 64 (Ntakirutimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 29-30.

¹⁰²⁸⁸ T. 1 April 2005 p. 48 (Shimamungu).

Peugeot 305 vehicle. 10289 Kanyabashi stopped his vehicle, stepped out onto the road, 10290 and through a hand-held megaphone stated that the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* wanted the population of Ngoma *commune* to come early in the morning to clear the bushes along the road, so the *Inkotanyi* would not find anywhere to hide. Witness QI testified that Kanyabashi said they should flush out people hiding in the bushes, and everybody found in those bushes should die, including children, old men and women. Witness QI understood *Inkotanyi*, in that context, to mean Tutsis hiding in the bushes.

3816. According to Witness QI, the oven had a window through which one could see what was happening on the nearby road, and he could open the window to hear what was being said outside. ¹⁰²⁹⁴ He testified that although there was a fence between his hiding place and the road, he could see everything that happened on the road through the openings in the fence. ¹⁰²⁹⁵

3817. Witness QI testified that he was able to identify Kanyabashi by his voice and by sight. He stated that he knew Kanyabashi as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*. He further testified that Kanyabashi was in a vehicle which he knew to be Kanyabashi's. He purportedly saw an individual whom he recognised as Kanyabashi get out of the vehicle, and heard a voice he knew to be Kanyabashi's being amplified by megaphone. Additionally, the content of the message attributed the announcement to Kanyabashi. Lastly, Witness QI identified Kanyabashi in court. 10301

3818. The Kanyabashi Defence challenges Witness QI's identification of Kanyabashi during this incident, pointing to the fact that Witness QI was confined to an oven and 200 metres away from the individual he identified as Kanyabashi. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that Witness D-21-B's testimony contradicts Witness QI's testimony regarding his ability to see the alleged incident. Witness D-21-B, who once resided at the property where Witness QI hid, described the layout of the compound, stating that the entrance to this compound faced the road that ran from Butare town to the university. He explained that a brick wall surrounded the compound on three sides, on the left, right and behind. Along the left and right sides of the compound, student rooms were built into the outer wall, and where the

```
<sup>10289</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-62 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 69-70, 77, 79-80 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10290</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10291</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76-78, 80 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10292</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 61 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10293</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10294</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 25, 70, 72, 75 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10295</sup> T. 24 March 2004 pp. 72-75 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10296</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76-78 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10297</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10298</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10299</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 76-77 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10300</sup> T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-61 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10301</sup> T. 23 March 2004 p. 69 (Witness QI).
<sup>10302</sup> Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 298-299.
10303 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 298; T. 24 March 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness QI).
<sup>10304</sup> T. 7 February 2008 pp. 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
<sup>10305</sup> T. 7 February 2008 pp. 64-65, 72-75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).
```

¹⁰³⁰⁶ T. 7 February 2008 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

wall ran alongside the kitchen, there were ventilation holes in the wall. ¹⁰³⁰⁷ Witness D-21-B acknowledged there was an oven on the premises, which was approximately two by three metres. ¹⁰³⁰⁸ According to Witness D-21-B, if you stood in front of the entrance to the property, the oven was at the rear, after the student rooms, attached to the wall on the left-hand side. ¹⁰³⁰⁹ The oven had an external wall without any openings, while the front-facing wall of the oven had openings. ¹⁰³¹⁰

3819. Rather than contradicting Witness QI, Witness D-21-B in fact corroborated Witness QI's evidence in several respects. Witness D-21-B's testimony that there was an oven on the premises, which was approximately two by three metres, corroborates Witness QI's account that he hid above an oven. Further, Witness D-21-B testified that the entrance of the compound faced the road that ran from Butare town to the university, and that the brick wall surrounding the compound did not cover the front. Witness D-21-B's assertion that the front-facing wall of the oven had openings corresponds with Witness QI's claim that the oven had a window through which he could see what was happening on the nearby road. 10312

3820. The Kanyabashi Defence also submits that from a distance of 200 metres it would have been virtually impossible for Witness QI to recognise Kanyabashi with certainty. In addition to Witness QI's audio and visual identification of Kanyabashi, discussed above, Witness QI gave a detailed description of Kanyabashi's vehicle and appearance on that occasion, stating that Kanyabashi was driving a white, four-door Peugeot 305, and Kanyabashi was wearing a blue shirt, black trousers and a black jacket. The Chamber also recalls Witness QI previously observed Kanyabashi from a distance of 50 paces when hiding opposite Matyazo Clinic on 22 April 1994. The identification was not challenged by the Kanyabashi Defence.

3821. Thus, notwithstanding the conditions in which Witness QI found himself at the time of observing Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement, and taking into account not only the content of the announcement, but also that Witness QI was already familiar with Kanyabashi, the Chamber finds Witness QI's identification of Kanyabashi on that day in June 1994 to be reliable.

3822. At trial, the Kanyabashi Defence confronted Witness QI with his 11 June 1996 witness statement, taken shortly after the events at issue, which provided that he could not recall the date of Kanyabashi's alleged megaphone announcement. The Chamber accepts Witness

¹⁰³⁰⁷ T. 7 February 2008 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³⁰⁸ T. 7 February 2008 pp. 73-75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³⁰⁹ T. 7 February 2008 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³¹⁰ T. 7 February 2008 pp. 73-75 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³¹¹ T. 7 February 2008 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³¹² T. 24 March 2004 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness QI); T. 7 February 2008 pp. 73-74 (ICS) (Witness D-21-B).

¹⁰³¹³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 298-299.

¹⁰³¹⁴ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-62 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77, 79-80 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³¹⁵ T. 23 March 2004 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³¹⁶ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 44-45, 47-48, 51; T. 25 March 2004 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness QI) (from his hiding place he could see the clinic, which was about 50 paces away); T. 23 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness QI) (as soon as Witness QI arrived at his hideout, he saw Kanyabashi arrive in a "305" vehicle).

¹⁰³¹⁷ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI).

QI's explanation that he forgot the precise date of this incident and subsequently gave an approximate date at trial. He explained the omission of a date in his witness statement by stating that several Prosecution investigators questioned him at a time when he was not psychologically well, and that he did not remember the dates very well. He stated that the month of June was used as a reference when he was questioned. He explained that he was asked to give an estimate, and in that context, he gave an approximate date. The Chamber notes that Witness QI stressed that although the date he gave was an estimate, he was certain of the words Kanyabashi spoke.

3823. The Kanyabashi Defence cites another apparent inconsistency between Witness QI's trial testimony and previous statement. Witness QI testified that Kanyabashi was alone in his white Peugeot 305 vehicle when he delivered the announcement. However, his June 1996 statement indicated that Kanyabashi was with two soldiers when he drove past Witness QI's hiding place, speaking into the megaphone. The Chamber notes this inconsistency, but does not consider this discrepancy to be sufficiently serious to undermine Witness QI's credibility; the presence of soldiers in the vehicle with Kanyabashi does not go to the root of Witness QI's testimony regarding the announcement made by Kanyabashi and the content of the message.

3824. In sum, the Chamber considers Witness QI's testimony on Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement in mid-June 1994 to be credible, reliable and convincing. His testimony is also supported by evidence cited above which establishes that megaphone announcements from a moving vehicle were part of the *modus operandi* by which messages from the *bourgmestre* were disseminated to the population of Ngoma *commune*. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that around mid-June 1994 Kanyabashi used a megaphone to tell the population to clear bushes along the road in order to remove potential hiding places for the *Inkotanyi*, to flush out people who were hiding in the bushes, and to kill those found there, including children, old men and women.

3825. Witness QI testified that he understood *Inkotanyi*, in the context of Kanyabashi's instructions to mean Tutsis hiding in the bushes. Prosecution Expert Witness Ntakirutimana testified that *Inkotanyi* simply meant the attacking group; while Ntakirutimana declined to identify "Tutsis" as the enemy, he admitted that generally speaking one could deduce that the Hutus were attacked and the Tutsis were the attackers. In his Expert Report, Ntakirutimana stated that in daily Rwandan culture, the "enemy" was understood to be Tutsis.

¹⁰³¹⁸ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77-79 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³¹⁹ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77-79 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³²⁰ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77-79 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³²¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 295 (contending that Witness QI's version of events kept changing).

¹⁰³²² T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-62 (ICS); T. 24 March 2004 pp. 69, 77, 79-80 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³²³ T. 24 March 2004 pp. 77-80 (ICS) (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 201 (Kanyabashi) (11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI).

¹⁰³²⁴ T. 23 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³²⁵ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 59, 65-66 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁰³²⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 29-30.

3826. Accordingly, having regard to Witness QI's own testimony, which is corroborated by Ntakirutimana as to the meaning of *Inkotanyi* in the context of 1994, the Chamber accepts that Witness QI understood *Inkotanyi*, in that context, to mean Tutsis hiding in the bushes.

3.6.35.4.2.3 Killings After the Megaphone Announcements, May and June 1994

3827. Witnesses QJ, TK and QI testified that following Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements in mid-May and mid-June 1994, searches were conducted in Butare town and Tutsis were flushed out of hiding and killed. Witness QJ stated that after the May 1994 announcement searches were conducted around the city and in various houses, and these searches entailed seeking out people in hiding. Witness QJ testified that anyone found in the bush was killed immediately. As a Tutsi in hiding, Witness TK testified that the announcement affected her safety and those hiding with her, and made their situation critical. After the May 1994 megaphone announcement, an order was issued requiring each household to select one person to participate in a final search. Witness TK stated that following the announcement, searches were conducted everywhere to find those who were hiding. Six soldiers discovered her around the end of May 1994, and asked her to show an identity card. In the Chamber's view, this indicates that the soldiers were looking for Tutsis. Witness TK further testified that the armed soldiers wanted to kill them and were restrained from doing so by sisters at the convent. These soldiers assaulted members of the group and threatened the group with death.

3828. The Chamber notes that Witness D-2-17-I worked at the same convent where Witness TK hid from April through May 1994, ¹⁰³³⁶ and corroborated Witness TK's account that in May 1994 a group of soldiers discovered people who had been hiding at the convent, under stacks of wood. ¹⁰³³⁷ Witness D-2-17-I further confirmed Witness TK's testimony that the soldiers asked the people they found to show identity cards and subsequently evacuated them from the convent. ¹⁰³³⁸

3829. The Defence led evidence through Witness D-2-17-I to counter Witness TK's assertion that she was discovered by these soldiers as a result of the megaphone announcement. Witness D-2-17-I, who was present when Witness TK was discovered, did not testify that the people hiding at the convent were found as a result of the megaphone announcement. 10340

```
10327 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 30-31; T. 14 November 2001 pp. 100-101, 104-105 (Witness QJ).
10328 T. 12 November 2001 p. 31 (Witness QJ).
10329 T. 20 May 2002 p. 26 (Witness TK).
10330 T. 28 May 2002 pp. 16, 18 (Witness TK).
10331 T. 28 May 2002 pp. 17 (Witness TK).
10332 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 27-28 (Witness TK).
10333 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-30; T. 27 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).
10334 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-30 (Witness TK).
10335 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28 (Witness TK).
10336 T. 25 February 2008 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); T. 27 February 2008 pp. 11, 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 26, 28 (Witness TK).
10337 T. 26 February 2008 pp. 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28-30 (Witness TK).
10338 T. 26 February 2008 pp. 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 28, 30 (Witness TK).
10339 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 289.
10340 T. 26 February 2008 pp. 64-69 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).
```

However, Witness D-2-17-I repeatedly stated that they were "flushed out". 10341 This language mirrors that of the May 1994 megaphone announcement, wherein the population was asked to find the enemy wherever they were hiding.

3830. Following her testimony that the convent was searched by soldiers after the megaphone announcement, 10342 the Kanyabashi Defence confronted Witness TK with her previous statement of 23 April 1998, which appeared to indicate that soldiers came to the convent because they were retreating towards Butare after the RPF took Gitarama. ¹⁰³⁴³ In response, Witness TK reiterated that those at the convent were found pursuant to the megaphone announcement, which called upon people to search. 10344 The Chamber does not find that the information contained in Witness TK's previous statement necessarily contradicts her in-court testimony. The Chamber considers Witness TK's testimony on searches after the May 1994 megaphone announcement to be clear and consistent. In sum, the Chamber considers Witnesses QJ and TK's testimony to be credible and convincing regarding searches being conducted after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement in late May 1994.

3831. Regarding the aftermath of the June 1994 megaphone announcement, Witness QI testified that Kanyabashi's instructions were carried out the following day. 10345 Witness QI witnessed implementation of this announcement in the area near the house where he was hiding. 10346 Witness QI testified that he saw people clearing the woods, hacking those caught hiding with machetes, and throwing grenades into the bushes to flush out people who were hiding in them. 10347 Witness QI testified that attackers and soldiers looked for people in the valley and in a nearby cemetery. 10348 Witness QI asserted that the killers were Hutus and they were looking for Tutsis. 10349 In cross-examination, however, Witness QI acknowledged that he learned of the grenades being thrown at those in hiding after the event. 10350 Although Witness QI's knowledge of the use of grenades is hearsay, Witness QI was an eyewitness to the bushclearing. Notwithstanding this minor discrepancy in his oral testimony, the Chamber nonetheless considers Witness QI's testimony to be detailed, credible and convincing regarding searches being conducted after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcement in June 1994.

3832. The Chamber thus finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that following Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements in mid-May 1994 and in June 1994, searches were conducted for Tutsis and consequently more Tutsis were killed.

¹⁰³⁴¹ T. 26 February 2008 pp. 65, 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-17-I).

¹⁰³⁴² T. 20 May 2002 pp. 27-28 (Witness TK).

¹⁰³⁴³ T. 27 May 2002 pp. 103-107 (Witness TK); Defence Exhibit 60 (Kanyabashi) (22 and 23 April 1998, Statement of Witness TK).

¹⁰³⁴⁴ T. 27 May 2002 pp. 106-107 (Witness TK).

¹⁰³⁴⁵ T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³⁴⁶ T. 24 March 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³⁴⁷ T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³⁴⁸ T. 23 March 2004 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³⁴⁹ T. 23 March 2004 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰³⁵⁰ T. 25 March 2004 p. 4 (ICS) (Witness QI).

3.6.36 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May to Early June 1994

3.6.36.1 Introduction

3833. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment allege that between mid-May and mid-June 1994, Kanyabashi and soldiers selected refugees and forcibly led them to the woods neighbouring the *École Évangeliste du Rwanda* ("EER"); some of them were never seen again. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges that in May and June 1994, Nsabimana ordered that refugees be transferred by soldiers from the BPO to the EER, and that some of the refugees were beaten or killed by soldiers, and others were taken to the neighbouring woods where a great many were executed. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana instructed that Tutsi refugees be loaded onto buses to be taken to the EER. It submits that Kanyabashi knew or had reason to know that massacres of Tutsis were being committed at the BPO, the EER and other locations in Ngoma *commune*. In 10354

3834. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that after Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali attacked the refugees at the BPO between 19 April and late June 1994, the surviving refugees were taken to various locations in the *préfecture* to be executed, notably in the woods next to the EER. ¹⁰³⁵⁵ The Prosecution submits that *Interahamwe*, acting under the direction and supervision of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, forcibly removed Tutsi refugees from the BPO to be killed around the EER. It submits that Ntahobali participated in the killing and mistreatment of Tutsis at the EER. ¹⁰³⁵⁶

3835. In support of these allegations, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses RE, TA, TB, TG, QY, QI, SJ, SX, QBQ and Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.

3836. The Nsabimana Defence relies on the legal points addressed in the preliminary issues below.

3837. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that there is no evidence that Kanyabashi, be it on his own or with the assistance of soldiers, selected refugees for transfer to the EER forest. It also asserts that there was no evidence to demonstrate Kanyabashi's alleged knowledge that crimes were being committed at the EER. 10357

3838. The Ntahobali Defence asserts that the Prosecution evidence as to Ntahobali's involvement at the EER was weak and, in particular, attacks the reliability of the identification evidence. It further asserted in closing argument that only two Prosecution witnesses testified as to serious and visible offences committed by Ntahobali at the EER, and that neither

¹⁰³⁵¹ Para. 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana); Para. 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

¹⁰³⁵² Para. 6.39 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹⁰³⁵³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 269, paras. 124-125.

¹⁰³⁵⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 414, 424, paras. 106, 141.

¹⁰³⁵⁵ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

¹⁰³⁵⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 159-160, 164-166, 176, paras. 11-15, 24-29, 52.

¹⁰³⁵⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 6; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 472.

¹⁰³⁵⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 113-129.

of these witnesses was credible. Further, none of the witnesses addressing this issue identified Ntahobali in court. 10359

3839. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence asserts that no Prosecution witness linked Nyiramasuhuko to the events at the EER. 10360

3.6.36.2 Preliminary Issues

Nsabimana Indictment

3840. The Nsabimana Defence argues that Paragraph 6.39 of the Indictment is not pled in support of any counts against Nsabimana and therefore cannot be the basis of any conviction. The Chamber considers this a serious omission by the Prosecution. Bearing in mind the principles set forth in the Preliminary Issues section (), the Chamber shall not consider the evidence concerning the allegation in Paragraph 6.39 of the Indictment. 10362

3841. Additionally, the Nsabimana Defence notes that while Paragraph 6.38 of the Indictment is pled in support of counts, the portion of this paragraph related to the EER sets forth the alleged criminal conduct of Kanyabashi and soldiers, but does not name Nsabimana. As pertains to the EER, Paragraph 6.38 merely states that Kanyabashi and soldiers selected refugees and forcibly led them to the woods neighbouring the EER. The Chamber notes, however, that Nsabimana was also charged with exercising his authority as *préfet* over his subordinates pursuant to Article 6 (3). Insofar as Kanyabashi was a *bourgmestre* of a *commune* in Butare *préfecture* he was under the authority of Nsabimana. The Chamber therefore finds that Nsabimana was charged with Article 6 (3) responsibility for the criminal acts of Kanyabashi and other subordinates. Accordingly, although the Chamber will not consider the conduct set forth in Paragraph 6.39 alleging Article 6 (1) responsibility, as it was not charged in support of counts, the Chamber nevertheless considers that evidence with respect to Nsabimana's alleged personal knowledge of or involvement in the transfer of refugees from the BPO to the EER may be considered where relevant for the purposes of Nsabimana's responsibility under Article 6 (3).

Ntahobali Indictment

3842. The Ntahobali Defence asserts that the allegation that Ntahobali abducted, raped and killed Tutsi refugees on unspecified dates at the EER together with Presidential Guard soldiers, and/or soldiers and/or *Interahamwe* was not pled in the Indictment. ¹⁰³⁶⁵

3843. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution led evidence through Witness QY at trial that she was raped by soldiers at the EER. Paragraph 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that after Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali attacked the refugees at the BPO

¹⁰³⁵⁹ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 27.

¹⁰³⁶⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 pp. 47-48.

¹⁰³⁶¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1799-1805.

¹⁰³⁶² See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 32.

¹⁰³⁶³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1610, 1725.

¹⁰³⁶⁴ Para. 4.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁰³⁶⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78(x).

between 19 April and late June 1994, the surviving refugees were taken to various locations in the *préfecture* to be executed, notably in the woods next to the EER. Significantly there is no mention of Ntahobali's involvement in or responsibility for rapes at or near the EER.

3844. However, Paragraph 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that Ntahobali, assisted by unknown "accomplices", participated in kidnapping and raping Tutsi women. ¹⁰³⁶⁷ Insofar as Paragraph 6.37 fails to include any details as to where or when Ntahobali was allegedly involved in such rapes, the Chamber finds this paragraph defective.

3845. The Chamber notes that the summary of anticipated evidence for Witness QY in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states only that Witness QY saw Ntahobali beat people and appoint soldiers to take away five people at the EER. ¹⁰³⁶⁸ It makes no reference to her being raped at the EER by soldiers nor does it outline any role that Ntahobali may have played. Accordingly, the Chamber will not make any finding as to Ntahobali's alleged role in the rape of Witness QY at or near the EER.

Kanyabashi Indictment

3846. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that no evidence directly implicated Kanyabashi for crimes committed at the EER and points to the Chamber's Decision of 16 December 2004 pursuant to Rule 98 bis. ¹⁰³⁶⁹ In that Decision, the Chamber noted, "no direct evidence was adduced of Joseph Kanyabashi's participation in the abduction of people from the [préfecture] office to the woods next to the EER." Nonetheless, the Chamber also noted the evidence of Witness QI that a policeman abducted refugees from the EER and took them to the neighbouring woods and therefore reasoned that this evidence, if believed, could implicate Kanyabashi pursuant to Article 6 (3). ¹⁰³⁷¹

3847. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that Witness QI's evidence implicating Kanyabashi was not led by the Prosecution, and only came to light upon a question put to the witness by the Chamber. It argues that it would be unfair to rely on this evidence because it did not have notice that Witness QI would testify as to this allegation. 10372

3848. In questioning Witness QI, the Kanyabashi Defence suggested that Kanyabashi would not have used soldiers to help him, because he had policemen at his disposal. In response, Witness QI testified as to a policeman at the EER. Although the Chamber asked a follow-up question the next day, the Kanyabashi Defence originally evoked the substance of the contested evidence. The Kanyabashi Defence cannot complain about evidence that it solicited.

¹⁰³⁶⁶ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali).

¹⁰³⁶⁷ Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Count 7 against Ntahobali).

¹⁰³⁶⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QY (61).

¹⁰³⁶⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 472-473.

¹⁰³⁷⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 180.

¹⁰³⁷¹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004 para 181

¹⁰³⁷² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 475-477.

¹⁰³⁷³ T. 24 March 2004 p. 56 (Witness QI).

3849. Moreover, the Kanyabashi Defence asserts that Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment did not adequately plead Article 6 (3) responsibility, although the Defence does not specify which pleading requirement was not met. The Chamber recalls that the Indictment must sufficiently identify, *inter alia*, the subordinates over which the Accused had effective control. 10375

3850. The Chamber notes that Kanyabashi was charged with exercising his authority as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* over his subordinates pursuant to Article 6 (3). In his position as *bourgmestre*, Kanyabashi had authority over the civil servants posted in his *commune*. By virtue of Paragraph 3.5 the Chamber considers Kanyabashi had authority over *commune* civil servants and policemen during the events in question. The Chamber however notes that the Prosecution distinguished between soldiers and policemen in the Indictment, and where implicated, policemen were specifically identified by the relevant Indictment paragraph. Indictment paragraph.

3851. Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment asserts that Kanyabashi and soldiers participated in these crimes. This paragraph does not identify policemen as having participated in the crimes committed at the EER. In this instance, the Prosecution failed to specify that Kanyabashi was to be held responsible for acts of a *commune* policeman at the EER. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 3.5 and 4.3, the Chamber is of the view that the particular wording of Paragraph 6.41 circumscribes Kanyabashi's responsibility with respect to the events in question to soldiers and not policemen. Therefore, by reason of its failure to identify policemen as the subordinates over whom Kanyabashi had control during the events at the EER, the Chamber finds the Indictment to be defective and will consider whether the defect was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

3852. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief noted that Witness RM would testify that Kanyabashi and soldiers selected men at the BPO to be killed in the forest owned by the EER. ¹⁰³⁷⁹ His statement of 13 June 1996 provided that Kanyabashi and soldiers walked around the BPO selecting men to be taken away to the EER. The statement refers to policemen in reference to the events at Nyange and Rango, but does not mention them with regard to the EER. ¹⁰³⁸⁰ Though these disclosures were consistent with the information in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, they did not provide Kanyabashi with notice that he was being charged with the actions of policemen at the EER. Therefore the defect was not cured and the Chamber will not consider the allegation that Kanyabashi was responsible for the crimes of policemen at the EER.

¹⁰³⁷⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 474.

¹⁰³⁷⁵ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323.

¹⁰³⁷⁶ Para. 4.3 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹⁰³⁷⁷ Para. 3.5 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹⁰³⁷⁸ See, e.g., Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (relating to events at Kabakobwa).

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RM (71) (cited in support of all counts against Kanyahashi)

¹⁰³⁸⁰ 13 June 1996, Statement of Witness RM, disclosed 11 April 1998, unredacted statement disclosed 28 October 2003.

3.6.36.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness RE

3853. Witness RE, a Tutsi who was 16 years old in 1994, 10381 testified that she fled her home in Gikongoro *préfecture* for Butare *préfecture* in April 1994. When she arrived in Butare, she went to the university teaching hospital where she stayed for one week. After one week somebody called Gatera asked her to leave the hospital and to go to the *préfecture* office. She testified to seeing Sylvain Nsabimana at the BPO, where she sought shelter with many other refugees. When she arrived *Préfet* Nsabimana asked the refugees to divide into two groups: one group of refugees from Butare *préfecture* and another group of refugees from other regions.

3854. *Préfet* Nsabimana said that refugees from Butare should wait for their *bourgmestres* to accompany them back to their *communes*. Those from other *préfectures* were to go to the EER. The *bourgmestre* of Runyinya *commune* refused to take his people home because he said that those who stayed in his *commune* had been killed. In addition, refugees from other *préfectures* hid themselves from their own *bourgmestres*. Therefore, people from other *préfectures* as well as those from Butare and Runyinya *commune* went to the EER. She was with her sister at both the BPO and the EER.

3855. Witness RE spent only one night at the BPO. ¹⁰³⁹⁰ The following day, around 5.30 p.m., *Préfet* Nsabimana ordered the refugees from other regions, including the witness, to leave the BPO and to proceed to a nearby Protestant institution called EER. ¹⁰³⁹¹ Soldiers forced the refugees to leave the BPO and beat them along the way to the EER. At the BPO, Nsabimana referred to the refugees as dirt. ¹⁰³⁹² The witness later testified, however, that they were called dirt when they were going to Rango. ¹⁰³⁹³

3856. It was less than a five minute walk to the EER. 10394 After they arrived at the EER, there was a torrential rain and the refugees sought shelter on the veranda as the building was locked. 10395 Witness RE testified that the people who settled on the veranda of the EER were Tutsis. 10396 As the rain abated, the soldiers came to the EER and beat the refugees. 10397 These

```
<sup>10381</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 64 (Personal Particulars); T. 24 February 2003 p. 43 (Witness RE).
<sup>10382</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).
<sup>10383</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness RE).
<sup>10384</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 10 (Witness RE).
<sup>10385</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 52 (Witness RE).
<sup>10386</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 57 (Witness RE).
<sup>10387</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness RE).
<sup>10388</sup> T. 25 February 2003 p. 19 (Witness RE).
<sup>10389</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 53 (Witness RE).
<sup>10390</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE).
<sup>10391</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness RE).
<sup>10392</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE).
<sup>10393</sup> T. 25 February 2003 p. 20 (Witness RE).
<sup>10394</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE).
<sup>10395</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 8 (Witness RE).
<sup>10396</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE).
<sup>10397</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 11; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 8-9 (Witness RE).
```

soldiers were a mix of ordinary soldiers and some from the Presidential Guard. ¹⁰³⁹⁸ They were accompanied by an *Interahamwe* called Shalom. ¹⁰³⁹⁹ They were saying it was over for the Tutsis. ¹⁰⁴⁰⁰ They took away men and boys to a nearby forest; she believed they had been executed because they never came back. ¹⁰⁴⁰¹ However, she did not watch the killings, nor did she hear any gun shots; she learned they had been killed with bludgeons. ¹⁰⁴⁰² She did not know Shalom, but others from Butare identified him for her. ¹⁰⁴⁰³ He wore an ordinary soldier's uniform. ¹⁰⁴⁰⁴ She only saw Shalom on that night. ¹⁰⁴⁰⁵ She was on the school veranda when she saw Shalom. ¹⁰⁴⁰⁶ The next day, the pastor arrived and unlocked the workshop where he said they should stay at night. ¹⁰⁴⁰⁷

3857. On cross-examination, the witness was referred to her previous statement of 5 December 1996 which stated that the Presidential Guard returned to the EER the day after the rain to abduct persons but made no mention of ordinary soldiers. She explained that she had mentioned both Presidential Guard and ordinary soldiers to the investigator, but it was left out of her statement. She also explained that even though her statement only referred to people being taken away the day after the rain, the abductions occurred every day, including on the day of the rain. She also explained that even though her statement only referred to people being taken away the day after the rain, the abductions occurred every day, including

3858. The witness testified that the *Interahamwe* came during the days to take away people and kill them. She recognised them as being *Interahamwe* because they wore banana leaves and carried clubs and machetes. ¹⁰⁴¹¹ The leader of the *Interahamwe* was Shalom. ¹⁰⁴¹²

3859. Some people managed to escape and returned to the EER. These people informed the others that those taken away had been killed with clubs and machetes and that this had been done while they were naked. Witness RE testified that young girls were also arrested and taken from the EER to be raped and the returned escapees told them that those that refused to be raped were killed. 10414

3860. Witness RE testified that she spent one week at the EER. ¹⁰⁴¹⁵ She could not leave because there were roadblocks outside at which they would be killed. ¹⁰⁴¹⁶ There were toilets at

```
<sup>10398</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 10 (Witness RE).
<sup>10399</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE).
<sup>10400</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 60 (Witness RE).
<sup>10401</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).
<sup>10402</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 18 (Witness RE).
<sup>10403</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).
<sup>10404</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).
<sup>10405</sup> T. 26 February 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness RE).
<sup>10406</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 38 (Witness RE).
<sup>10407</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 60 (Witness RE).
10408 Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 pp. 11-
12 (Witness RE).
<sup>10409</sup> T. 26 February 2003 pp. 11-12, 18 (Witness RE).
<sup>10410</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 12; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 13-14 (Witness RE).
<sup>10411</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).
<sup>10412</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE).
<sup>10413</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13 (Witness RE).
<sup>10414</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE).
<sup>10415</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13; T. 24 February 2003 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RE).
<sup>10416</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 17 (Witness RE).
```

the primary school, but she could not recall whether there was a water tap. ¹⁰⁴¹⁷ The pastor told them to go back to the *préfet* who had sent them to the EER because they were making the place dirty. ¹⁰⁴¹⁸ The day after they returned to the BPO, refugees were sent to Nyange. ¹⁰⁴¹⁹

3861. The witness was referred to a prior statement of 5 December 1996 in which she stated that she stayed at the BPO for about one and a half months and that one day during this time she saw two buses which drove the refugees to Nyaruhengeri. The witness maintained that she had only stayed at the BPO for one day before being driven to Nyange. When put to her that in her prior statement she estimated there were 4,000 refugees at the EER, whereas her testimony said that there were more than 300 refugees at the EER, she explained that she never gave a figure in prior statements, but only indicated that the refugees were many in number.

3862. Witness RE incorrectly identified Nteziryayo as Ntahobali in court. 10424

Prosecution Witness TG

3863. Witness TG, a Tutsi accountant in 1994, 10425 testified that he knew Ntahobali, because they had attended the *Groupe Scolaire* together. The witness positively identified Ntahobali in court. 10426

3864. Witness TG was in hiding at Martin Uwariraye's compound from 26 April 1994 until 2 July 1994. The distance between the compound and Ntahobali's family home was 700 to 800 metres on a curved road. The distance would be a little shorter. In cross-examination, Witness TG denied that the distance was between 1 and 1.5 kilometres by the road, or 800 metres in a straight line. The compound consisted of several buildings, including a bakery. Witness TG testified that from the top of the bakery he could see Ntahobali's family home and a roadblock close to it. There were vents and a window located above the oven. The windows had metallic bars which prevented him passing his head through the window,

```
<sup>10417</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 18 (Witness RE).
```

¹⁰⁴¹⁸ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13; T. 26 February 2003 p. 18 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁴¹⁹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 14; T. 27 February 2003 p. 5 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁴²⁰ Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹⁰⁴²¹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 14; T. 27 February 2003 pp. 49-50 (Witness RE).

Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹⁰⁴²³ T. 25 February 2003 p. 27 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁴²⁴ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 40-41 (Witness RE).

Prosecution Exhibit 98 (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁴²⁶ T. 30 March 2004 p. 64 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴²⁷ T. 30 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 20, 22, 64; T. 31 March 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴²⁸ T. 30 March 2004 p. 69; T. 31 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness TG); *see also* Defence Exhibit 302 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 1); Defence Exhibit 307 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 6) (indicating distance between Uwariraye's compound and Hotel Ihuliro).

¹⁰⁴²⁹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³⁰ T. 31 March 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³¹ T. 31 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³² T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³³ T. 31 March 2004 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³⁴ T. 31 March 2004 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness TG).

there were sisal sacks which obscured the windows in order to prevent them from being seen from the outside. ¹⁰⁴³⁵ In cross-examination, Witness TG agreed that it may be impossible to distinguish the characteristics of an unknown person but it would nevertheless be easy to distinguish a person that you already knew. ¹⁰⁴³⁶ The witness stated that from this distance he could recognise people at Shalom Ntahobali's home and, although he could not distinguish a conversation between people at Shalom's house, he could hear the sound of screams. ¹⁰⁴³⁷

3865. From the bakery, Witness TG saw some people taken from the roadblock to the EER primary school buildings and killed in the forest near there. Also, he could hear gunshots, people screaming and the sound of people being beaten from the direction of the EER and Shalom Ntahobali's home. 10439

Prosecution Witness QY

3866. Witness QY, a 17 year-old Tutsi during the time of the events, ¹⁰⁴⁴⁰ testified that she sought refuge at the BPO at some point after the death of the President. ¹⁰⁴⁴¹ After a meeting at the BPO, Nsabimana ordered the refugees to go to the EER. ¹⁰⁴⁴² Soldiers escorted the refugees from the BPO and beat them all the way to the EER. They reached the EER in the evening; *Interahamwe* watched in the vicinity and it was raining. ¹⁰⁴⁴³ Some of the classrooms were locked and the refugees sought shelter on the veranda. ¹⁰⁴⁴⁴ Some refugees stayed on the field while others were in the classroom or on the veranda. ¹⁰⁴⁴⁵ The soldiers and *Interahamwe* began to threaten them but then went back to the BPO. ¹⁰⁴⁴⁶

3867. She saw Shalom there on two occasions. The first time, during an afternoon, observed for a while, then left without doing anything. She later testified that she saw Shalom come to the EER for the first time in the evening of the very day

```
<sup>10435</sup> T. 31 March 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS) (Witness TG).
```

¹⁰⁴³⁶ T. 31 March 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³⁷ T. 30 March 2004 p. 71; T. 31 March 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³⁸ T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴³⁹ T. 30 March 2004 p. 71 (Witness TG).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 68 (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁴⁴¹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness QY).

To 19 March 2003 pp. 35-36-b (Witness QY). The Chamber notes that in the English transcript of 19 March 2003 there is an error in pagination. After pages 1 to 47, the ensuing pages are numbered 32 to 40, followed by 57 and onwards. As a result, the English transcript contains two sets of pages numbered 32 to 40. As such, the Chamber will refer to the first set of pages 32 to 40 as pp. 32-40-a, and the second set as pp. 32-40-b in its footnotes.

¹⁰⁴⁴³ T. 19 March 2003 p. 36-b; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 34, 52 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁴ T. 24 March 2003 p. 34 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁵ T. 24 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁶ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 33-37-b (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁷ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 57, 59 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁴⁹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁰ T. 19 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness QY).

of her arrival there. 10451 That same day, soldiers and *Interahamwe* came back at night without Shalom and started beating the refugees. 10452

3868. On the second occasion, Shalom came in a group with people in military uniforms and others in civilian clothes. 10453 The soldiers were not led by anyone. The soldiers arrived in the afternoon, maybe around 6.00 p.m. when it was still light outside, not quite evening. 10455 They selected young men, then the girls, and took them to the woods opposite the university. 10456 The soldiers in military uniform and civilian clothes took the young people, but Shalom directed the attack. 10457 Some soldiers remained behind and selected girls, among them Witness QY. 10458 She was taken to the woods and raped by one corporal whom she identified by name. She said he threatened her and forced her to remove her clothes. After he raped her, he gave her a pack of gum and said that he would not kill her since their blood had mixed. 10459 She then returned to be with the refugees at the EER. 10460

3869. The other refugees suffered the same fate, including two men who subsequently committed suicide because they were also mistreated. She testified that it was the first sexual experience of her life. 10461 It was the only time she was raped at the EER. 10462

3870. When she was confronted with her prior statement of 24 July 2000 in which she said she had been raped on another occasion at Kibeho in Gikongoro préfecture, she declined to answer whether she had been previously raped. 10463 She disowned the content of that statement 10464 and later testified that she was not raped at Kibeho. 10465 In contrast to her statement of 24 July 2000, she was also confronted with two prior statements of 18 September 1997 and 11 and 13 March 1998 in which she had not mentioned the Kibeho rape, in addition to her testimony in the Rwandan trial of the corporal in question, where she did not allege he raped her at the EER. ¹⁰⁴⁶⁶ She explained that she did not have the courage to speak on the issue and had not been asked about it by the investigators. ¹⁰⁴⁶⁷

3871. When recalled to testify three years after her initial testimony Witness OY said that, contrary to her statement of 24 July 2000 and her testimony of 24 March 2003 before this

```
<sup>10451</sup> T. 24 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness QY).
<sup>10452</sup> T. 19 March 2003 pp. 58-59; T. 24 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness QY).
<sup>10453</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 38-b (Witness QY).
```

¹⁰⁴⁵⁴ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-b, 57 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁵ T. 24 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁶ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-b, 57; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 36-37 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁷ T. 19 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁸ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-b, 57; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁵⁹ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-39-b; T. 24 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶⁰ T. 19 March 2003 p. 39-b (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶¹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 39-b (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶² T. 24 March 2003 p. 20 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶³ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 39-40 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 120 (Ntahobali) (24 July 2000, Statement of

¹⁰⁴⁶⁴ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 70-73 (ICS); T. 10 April 2006 pp. 12-13, 16, 31, 50-51 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶⁵ T. 10 April 2006 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶⁶ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 52-53; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 60, 64 (ICS) (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 113 (Nyiramasuhuko) (18 September 1997, Statement of Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 114 (Nyiramasuhuko) (11-13 March 1998, Statement of Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶⁷ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 52-53 (Witness QY).

Tribunal, the soldier who had raped her at the EER was not the corporal. When confronted with her prior testimony from the $Muvunyi\ I$ trial where she said the corporal had raped her at the BPO and not at the EER, she testified that she could distinguish between the BPO and the EER although the two places were almost the same site. It would take two minutes to reach the EER from the BPO on foot. She stated that she was raped by several soldiers at the EER and that she was raped by several people throughout the war at the EER and the BPO, but not at Rango. 10472

- 3872. Witness QY explained that, at one point in time, refugees were told by a clergyman that classes were about to restart in the EER and they must go back to the BPO. They returned to the BPO on their own. 10473
- 3873. Witness QY testified that she was later also raped within the premises of the *préfecture* office. 10474 When it was put to her that this was not mentioned in any of her four prior statements, she testified that she did not have the courage to tell the investigators at the time of making her statements. She testified that on one occasion an *Interahamwe* told her he wanted to have a sexual relationship with her, but first gave her oil, soap and rice before he raped her. 10476
- 3874. Witness QY was unable to estimate how long she was at the EER. When confronted with her prior statements of 15 January 1997 and 11 and 13 March 1998 in which she said she spent about one month at the EER, she explained it was only an estimate and that sometimes one day could feel like one month.
- 3875. Witness QY testified that she did not know Ntahobali before the events, and she saw him only during the attack at Butare Hospital, when a woman pointed him out to her as Shalom while they were fleeing. She saw him another time at a tap and some corpses were nearby. Witness QY denied that none of her four statements mentioned having seen the person she named Shalom near a place where there were corpses, or at the hospital. Witness QY testified that she did not know any other person in Butare whose name was

¹⁰⁴⁶⁸ T. 10 April 2006 pp. 53, 60, 62, 65 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁶⁹ T. 10 April 2006 pp. 43-45, 58-59 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁰ T. 10 April 2006 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷¹ T. 10 April 2006 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷² T. 10 April 2006 pp. 53-54, 59, 65 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷³ T. 19 March 2003 p. 60; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 33-34 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁴ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 16-17, 24 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁵ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 16-17 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁶ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 17-18 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁷ T. 19 March 2003 p. 37-b; T. 20 March 1993 p. 27 (Witness QY).

T. 20 March 2003 pp. 29-30 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 112 (Nyiramasuhuko) (15 January 1997, Statement of Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 114 (Nyiramasuhuko) (11-13 March 1998, Statement of Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁷⁹ T. 25 March 2003 pp. 16-17; T. 25 March 2003 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁸⁰ T. 25 March 2003 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁴⁸¹ T. 25 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness QY).

Shalom either during the war or at the time of her testimony. Witness QY stated she would not be able to identify the person she knew as Shalom in court. 10482

3876. She also testified in the Munyaneza trial in Canada in March and April 2007. When it was put to her that at the Munyaneza trial she testified that she saw Witness QBQ and Witness SJ on two occasions, whereas she had denied knowing these people before this Tribunal on 23 and 25 March 2003 respectively, Witness QY said the interpreter who was helping her prepare her testimony [for this Court] told her to say so, however in reality she knew both witnesses very well because they had lived together at the EER. She later clarified that it was the Prosecutor through the interpreter, who told her to lie about knowing these people. 10485

Prosecution Witness SX

3877. Witness SX, a Tutsi tradesman, ¹⁰⁴⁸⁶ testified that he was living at the EER two weeks after the President's plane crash in 1994. ¹⁰⁴⁸⁷ Witness SX stated that a short while after the killing of the Tutsis at the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, many sought refuge at the EER buildings. ¹⁰⁴⁸⁸ Prior to that, there were no refugees at the EER. ¹⁰⁴⁸⁹ Witness SX stated that during April 1994, he stayed at a neighbour's house or in a workshop at the EER. ¹⁰⁴⁹⁰ When searches were carried out he stayed with refugees in classrooms. ¹⁰⁴⁹¹ Upon his arrival in Butare from his *commune*, he went directly to his house. ¹⁰⁴⁹² The refugees arrived at the EER in great numbers; he estimated that between 500 and 1,000 refugees came to the EER. The refugees spent some time at the EER and after about a month or two, towards the end of the war, they moved on. ¹⁰⁴⁹³ He could not remember precisely when the refugees appeared but estimated it was one to two weeks after his arrival in Butare. ¹⁰⁴⁹⁴ He stated that at a certain point the refugees were evacuated to the BPO. ¹⁰⁴⁹⁵

3878. Witness SX saw Shalom come to the EER a number of times with *Interahamwe* at night; Shalom arrived in a Hilux pickup truck belonging to someone else. The *Interahamwe* feared Shalom and obeyed him. The witness stated that Shalom continued to come and take away refugees from the moment the refugees arrived at the EER until they left the complex and he usually came at night. Witness SX sought refuge at the EER because initially it was said that the government had brought the refugees to the EER complex to

```
<sup>10482</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).
<sup>10483</sup> T. 23 February 2009 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>10484</sup> T. 23 February 2009 pp. 39-43 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>10485</sup> T. 23 February 2009 pp. 45-46, 49-52 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>10486</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 69 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10487</sup> T. 27 January 2004 p. 15 (Witness SX).
<sup>10488</sup> T. 27 January 2004 pp. 25, 36; T. 30 January 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness SX).
<sup>10489</sup> T. 30 January 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness SX).
<sup>10490</sup> T. 27 January 2004 p. 25; T. 27 January 2004 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness SX).
<sup>10491</sup> T. 27 January 2004 p. 25 (Witness SX).
<sup>10492</sup> T. 30 January 2004 pp. 32-34, 38-39; T. 30 January 2004 p. 1 (Extract) (Witness SX).
<sup>10493</sup> T. 30 January 2004 p. 52 (Witness SX).
<sup>10494</sup> T. 30 January 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness SX).
<sup>10495</sup> T. 30 January 2004 p. 55 (Witness SX).
<sup>10496</sup> T. 27 January 2004 pp. 25-26, 36; T. 30 January 2004 pp. 55-56 (Witness SX).
<sup>10497</sup> T. 27 January 2004 p. 26 (Witness SX).
```

prevent them from being killed. When Witness SX noticed that the refugees were being killed at that place he decided to return to where he lived, although he returned to spend his nights at the EER school. There were young people who knew when and which buildings in the complex would be attacked and the witness stayed in different places accordingly. On the first night that Shalom came to take the refugees, some of them were staying inside the EER buildings, while others were outside. That first night, he selected five people from among the adults and took them away with him.

3879. Witness SX stated that the EER consisted of three buildings containing classrooms and a workshop next to the classrooms. 10501 There was lighting at the EER school itself, though not in the classrooms; in addition, there were taps at the school where they collected water, in addition to toilets. 10502

3880. Witness SX testified that he did not know Shalom prior to the events of 1994, however, when Tutsis were killed at the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, a friend pointed Shalom out to the witness. Witness SX observed the roadblock from approximately 2.00 p.m. for two to three hours on that first day from a building located only one house away from the roadblock. At the time Witness SX left the position from where he was observing the roadblock, Shalom was leaving the roadblock with three women and a soldier. The witness positively identified the person he called Shalom as Ntahobali in court.

Prosecution Witness TB

3881. Witness TB, a Tutsi teacher, 10507 testified that she met Shalom on several occasions during the events of 1994 including when he visited the place that the witness lived. From where she was staying, Witness TB saw Shalom pass by to see Pastor Ndamage. He was accompanied by Pastor Kabalira and in front of the EER church were Jean-Pierre and Kazungu. Shalom joined Jean-Pierre and Kazungu and Witness TB saw them take a woman whose name was Immaculée, in the direction of Shalom's house. Immaculée was working at SORAS, an insurance company with offices in the Bihira building. Witness TB testified that she did not see Immaculée after that, but learned after the war that she had been raped and killed. Witness TB testified that she did not know the name of the young man who informed her about the subsequent rape and killing of Immaculée. This young man worked for SOCODE and he only met with the witness after the war. 10511

```
T. 30 January 2004 p. 56 (Witness SX).
T. 30 January 2004 p. 57 (Witness SX).
T. 30 January 2004 p. 56 (Witness SX).
T. 30 January 2004 p. 56 (Witness SX).
T. 30 January 2004 p. 40 (Witness SX).
T. 30 January 2004 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness SX).
T. 27 January 2004 pp. 16; T. 27 January 2004 pp. 39-40 (ICS); T. 30 January 2004 pp. 25 (Witness SX).
T. 27 January 2004 pp. 16-17 (Witness SX).
T. 27 January 2004 pp. 18 (Witness SX).
T. 27 January 2004 pp. 37 (Witness SX).
To 5006 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 37 (Witness SX).
To 5007 Prosecution Exhibit 72 (Personal Particulars).
T. 4 February 2004 pp. 50 (Witness TB).
T. 4 February 2004 pp. 50 (Witness TB).
T. 4 February 2004 pp. 50 (Witness TB).
T. 5 February 2004 pp. 32 (Witness TB).
T. 5 February 2004 pp. 32 (Witness TB).
```

3882. She also learned that Immaculée was buried by Pastor Kabalira and Witness SX, whom she recognised but did not know personally. Other than when she appeared to testify, Witness TB saw Witness SX at the airport in Rwanda around 22 January 2004, and she stayed with Witness SX in Arusha for about two days before he left. She said they did not discuss their testimony or the events of 1994. 10514

3883. Shalom was the child of Maurice Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko. 10515 She positively identified the person she called Shalom as Ntahobali in court. 10516

Prosecution Witness SJ

3884. Witness SJ, a Tutsi, ¹⁰⁵¹⁷ testified that she sought shelter at the BPO on a Sunday in April 1994 at 6.15 a.m. ¹⁰⁵¹⁸ She stayed at the BPO for about two weeks. ¹⁰⁵¹⁹ During the time she was at the BPO, she went to the EER school, which was situated between the house of Nyiramasuhuko and the Protestant church. ¹⁰⁵²⁰ She went to the EER on three or four separate days, ¹⁰⁵²¹ although they were not successive. ¹⁰⁵²² She could not recall the month or dates of her visits to the EER. ¹⁰⁵²³ When it was put to her that her statement of 3 December 1996 stated that she spent one week at the EER before soldiers took the refugees back to the BPO, Witness SJ testified she did not remember saying so, but that they stayed only a short time at the EER. ¹⁰⁵²⁴

3885. From the EER, she could see Nyiramasuhuko's residence. There was a vocational school and a primary school at the EER complex. Witness SJ testified that refugees came to the EER from the bush and from some other buildings where they were hiding. There were about 2,000 refugees at one point. There was no water, but they had access to toilets. The day of the refugees' arrival they spent the night outside, because they refused to open the doors to the buildings. It rained a lot that evening. The next day the pastor opened some premises for the refugees. The pastor also opened the water taps for the

```
<sup>10512</sup> T. 4 February 2004 pp. 55, 64 (ICS) (Witness TB).
<sup>10513</sup> T. 4 February 2004 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness TB).
<sup>10514</sup> T. 4 February 2004 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness TB).
<sup>10515</sup> T. 4 February 2004 p. 42 (Witness TB).
<sup>10516</sup> T. 4 February 2004 p. 54 (Witness TB).
Prosecution Exhibit 57 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10518</sup> T. 28 May 2002 p. 112; T. 30 May 2002 p. 70 (ICS); T. 5 June 2002 p. 18 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10519</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 75-76 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10520</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 75, 115 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10521</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 95; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 63-64 (Witness SJ); see also T. 30 May 2002 pp. 78, 91 (Witness
SJ). 10522 T. 30 May 2002 pp. 78, 91 (Witness SJ). 10522 T. 30 May 2002 pp. 78, 91 (Witness SJ). 108-16
<sup>10523</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 87-88, 91-92, 108-109 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10524</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 106-107 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of
Witness SJ); see also T. 4 June 2002 pp. 65-68 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10525</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 105 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10526</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 115 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10527</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 103 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10528</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 102-103; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 76, 83 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10529</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10530</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 110, 112; T. 30 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10531</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 112; T. 30 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness SJ).
```

refugees and offered them maize, but the soldiers quickly closed the taps, took away the food and threatened the pastor not to do it again. 10532

3886. Witness SJ said that soldiers and *Interahamwe* were there virtually all the time. ¹⁰⁵³³ The soldiers came from the ESO military barracks, from the roadblock in front of the Nyiramasuhuko residence and from the upper floors of the Nyiramasuhuko residence. ¹⁰⁵³⁴ The soldiers all wore the same uniform although Witness SJ did not know if they were soldiers or *gendarmes*. ¹⁰⁵³⁵ When it was put to her that her statement of 3 December 1996 referred only to the presence of soldiers at the EER, but not *Interahamwe*, Witness SJ said it was the same thing since both soldiers and *Interahamwe* wore uniforms. ¹⁰⁵³⁶ She named several *Interahamwe* who wore "*Interahamwe*" civilian attire by night and military uniform by day, including one Ribanza and one Cyawuperi. ¹⁰⁵³⁷ She also explained that if she forgot to mention the presence of *Interahamwe* at the EER when giving her statement, it was because of the lack of available time. ¹⁰⁵³⁸

3887. From behind the school building where Witness SJ and others hid at the time, one could see Nyiramasuhuko's residence and the refugees would shout, "here they come to kill us." The soldiers insulted and vituperated the refugees; they showed the refugees grenades and called them *Inyenzi*. They lied to the male refugees, persuading them to help dig trenches for fighting. They gave them hoes from the vocational school. The soldiers would take away 10 or 12 men at a time. They took people away from the EER at night and killed them. Afterwards, they sent back one of the men for him to say what happened. When put to her that this did not appear in her statement of 3 December 1996, Witness SJ stated that it was possible she forgot to add certain things. Witness SJ estimated that the soldiers came on three occasions. The soldiers appeared to be working in shifts because there were different soldiers in the day and at night.

3888. Witness SJ testified that persons taken from the EER compound were killed in the nearby forest. 10546 Witness SJ did not personally see the refugees being killed. 10547 At times however, the refugees would seek respite from the soldiers and flee into the surrounding

```
<sup>10532</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 114 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10533</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 103 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10534</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 103-104; T. 30 May 2002 p. 140; T. 4 June 2002 p. 108 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10535</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 141 (Witness SJ).
T. 4 June 2002 pp. 68-69 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of
Witness SJ).
<sup>10537</sup> T. 4 June 2002 p. 70 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10538</sup> T. 4 June 2002 pp. 71-72 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10539</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 120-122 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10540</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 104, 109 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10541</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 109; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 87-88 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10542</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 109-110 (Witness SJ).
T. 4 June 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of
Witness SJ).
<sup>10544</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10545</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 114 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10546</sup> T. 4 June 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10547</sup> T. 4 June 2002 pp. 96, 98 (Witness SJ).
```

woods to rest without being seen. While in the woods they saw skulls here and there in addition to a hole that had been dug; in these narrow holes they sometimes saw bodies with bloated stomachs or that were decapitated. When it was put to her that she never mentioned finding skulls and headless bodies in her statement of 3 December 1996, she explained that the investigators taking down her statement were in a hurry. At the end of their stay at the EER, soldiers drove the refugees like cattle back to the BPO.

3889. In cross-examination Witness SJ agreed there was a field between the EER and Nyiramasuhuko's house, although she could not clearly remember whether there were also trees. Witness SJ agreed that a person with the same first name as Witness RE was with her at the BPO, Nyange and the EER. 10553

Prosecution Witness QBQ

3890. Witness QBQ, a Tutsi housemaid, ¹⁰⁵⁵⁴ testified that she went to the BPO towards the end of April 1994. ¹⁰⁵⁵⁵ The day after returning from Nyange, Nsabimana told the refugees to go to the EER. ¹⁰⁵⁵⁶ They went on foot since it was not far away and they arrived there at around midday. ¹⁰⁵⁵⁷ She testified that there were already other refugees at the EER when they got there. ¹⁰⁵⁵⁸

3891. Witness QBQ testified that they stayed at the EER for a week.¹⁰⁵⁵⁹ They lived in terrible circumstances; soldiers from the ESO came and beat the refugees, raped and killed some of them. Furthermore, the refugees slept outside in the rain.¹⁰⁵⁶⁰ The conditions were so bad that after a one-week stay at the EER, they took the initiative to go back to the BPO even if it meant suicide.¹⁰⁵⁶¹

Prosecution Witness QI

3892. Witness QI, a Tutsi cook, 10562 testified that from his hiding place in the bakery of Martin Uwariraye's compound, one day in mid-May 1994, at about 3.00 p.m., he saw Marc going to the EER with a gun, choosing young men and taking them to the forest below Butare cathedral to be killed. He knew Marc well as they were neighbours; Marc had worked at a

```
<sup>10548</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 110-111 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10549</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness SJ).
T. 4 June 2002 pp. 91-93 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of
Witness SJ).
<sup>10551</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 115 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10552</sup> T. 30 May 2002 pp. 143-144 (Witness SJ).
<sup>10553</sup> T. 4 June 2002 p. 145 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>10554</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 71 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10555</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 6 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10556</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 78; T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10557</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 78 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10558</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 79 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10559</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10560</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 79 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10561</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23-24, 79 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>10562</sup> Prosecution Exhibit 94 (Personal Particulars).
<sup>10563</sup> T. 25 March 2004 pp. 66, 68-69, 71; T. 25 March 2004 pp. 64, 68-71 (ICS) (Witness QI).
```

factory before he became a *commune* policeman. ¹⁰⁵⁶⁴ Witness QI testified that Marc Pole Pole was now deceased. ¹⁰⁵⁶⁵ Witness QI agreed that he never mentioned this incident placing Marc Pole Pole at the EER in his statement; he explained that he only mentioned it at trial because he was asked a question about policemen. ¹⁰⁵⁶⁶

Prosecution Witness TA

3893. Witness TA, a Tutsi woman, ¹⁰⁵⁶⁷ testified that she went to the EER where there was a Protestant school prior to going to the BPO. ¹⁰⁵⁶⁸ She did not spend more than one week there. ¹⁰⁵⁶⁹ When Witness TA was asked why she did not mention this in her written statement of 19 November 1997 she said that she mentioned it, but that it was not recorded in her statement. ¹⁰⁵⁷⁰ In cross-examination she subsequently testified that she stayed there for more than one week. ¹⁰⁵⁷¹ When it was put to her that she previously said she had remained at the EER for less than one week, Witness TA stated that she had just agreed with counsel's question. ¹⁰⁵⁷²

3894. Witness TA testified that there was a roadblock situated in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house, near the EER. When the *Interahamwe* at this roadblock finished killing at that location, they attacked the refugees at the EER, killing them in the bush and near lavatories where a pit had been dug. Witness TA and the other refugees fled to the BPO because the pastor was told to send the refugees away. Witness TA never saw Kanyabashi at the EER. 10576

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

3895. Alison Des Forges testified that during her interview with Nsabimana on 3 April 1996, Nsabimana told her that Callixte Kalimanzira, the *de facto* interim Minister of the Interior, told Nsabimana "it looked bad" to have Tutsis at the *préfecture* office. On a separate occasion Nsabimana told Des Forges that it was the *préfecture* Security Council who objected to the presence of the refugees at the BPO. Tutsis were taken from the office to the EER school and sent back to the office after about 10 days. During those 10 days, soldiers and others raped women and took away people to be killed. 10578

```
<sup>10564</sup> T. 25 March 2004 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness QI).
```

¹⁰⁵⁶⁵ T. 25 March 2004 pp. 68-69 (ICS) (Witness QI).

¹⁰⁵⁶⁶ T. 25 March 2004 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness QI); Defence Exhibit 200 (Kanyabashi) (List of Alleged Omissions; 11 June 1996, Statement of Witness QI).

¹⁰⁵⁶⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 45 (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁵⁶⁸ T. 30 October 2001 p. 70 (ICS); T. 5 November 2001 p. 114 (ICS) (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁶⁹ T. 30 October 2001 pp. 70-71 (ICS) (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁰ T. 5 November 2001 p. 119 (ICS) (Witness TA); Defence Exhibit 6B (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷¹ T. 6 November 2001 p. 32 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷² T. 6 November 2001 p. 33 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷³ T. 6 November 2001 pp. 36-37; T. 8 November 2001 p. 20 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁴ T. 6 November 2001 pp. 37-38; T. 8 November 2001 pp. 19-20 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁵ T. 30 October 2001 p. 70 (ICS); T. 7 November 2001 pp. 67-68 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁶ T. 7 November 2001 p. 123 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁷ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51; T. 6 July 2004 p. 9 (Des Forges).

¹⁰⁵⁷⁸ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

3896. On the basis of Security Council notes and witnesses' narratives, Des Forges estimated that the refugees were moved from the BPO to the EER around mid-May, and stayed at the EER for approximately one week before they were moved back to the BPO. She confirmed they would have stayed at the EER between one week and 10 days.

3897. Des Forges stated in her Expert Report that in early May Kalimanzira and others on the *préfecture* Security Council decided that the group of refugees must be moved away from the *préfecture* office to some place less visible. They were probably implementing a policy determined at the national level, where authorities were becoming increasingly concerned to hide evidence of the genocide from foreigners whose visits were expected in the near future. Butare authorities moved the Tutsis from the *préfecture* office to a nearby complex of buildings belonging to the Episcopal church where they continued to suffer from abductions, killings and rapes that had taken place at the *préfecture* office. According to information gathered by Human Rights Watch, Shalom himself came to seize men for killing on at least two occasions. Church authorities sent the displaced back to the *préfecture* office after 10 days but Kalimanzira and the others insisted they leave again, so the *préfet* sent them to Nyange. ¹⁰⁵⁸¹

Kanyabashi Defence Witness Bernadette Kamanzi

3898. Bernadette Kamanzi, Kanyabashi's wife, 10582 testified that her nephew, Aloys Rubayiza, went to see Kanyabashi at the *commune* office to ask him for a Hutu identity card on 18 May 1994, but Kanyabashi refused to issue him such a card. Kanyabashi told her that he had sent her nephew where other Tutsis had taken refuge, namely at the EER, with the intention of evacuating him in the evening. However, when Kanyabashi went to collect Aloys in the evening, he was no longer there.

Ntahobali Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

3899. Alexandre Bararwandika, a Hutu doctor from Burundi, ¹⁰⁵⁸⁶ testified that after the death of the President, he briefly worked as a volunteer for the Belgian Red Cross until it left Butare on 13 or 14 April 1994. ¹⁰⁵⁸⁷ He testified that refugees were moved from the Butare University Hospital to the nearby EER primary school, and later on to the BPO, around mid-May 1994. ¹⁰⁵⁸⁸ He testified that the transfer did not happen in one single day; one group of people went first to the EER and then to the BPO; other refugees who were already at the EER went straight to the BPO; and some people left the hospital directly for the BPO. In one day, 26 patients of his ward left the hospital for the EER. ¹⁰⁵⁸⁹ While some patients left the hospital

```
    10579 T. 17 June 2004 p. 15 (Des Forges).
    10580 T. 17 June 2004 p. 16 (Des Forges).
    10581 Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 57.
    10582 Defence Exhibit 609 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).
    10583 T. 20 November 2007 pp. 14, 19 (Bernadette Kamanzi).
    10584 T. 20 November 2007 p. 14; T. 26 November 2007 p. 33 (Bernadette Kamanzi).
    10585 T. 20 November 2007 pp. 14-15 (Bernadette Kamanzi).
    10586 Defence Exhibit 451 (Nsabimana) (Personal Particulars); T. 3 July 2006 pp. 20-21 (Bararwandika).
    10587 T. 3 July 2006 pp. 26-27 (Bararwandika).
    10588 T. 3 July 2006 p. 39; T. 4 July 2006 p. 10 (Bararwandika).
    10589 T. 4 July 2006 p. 10 (Bararwandika).
```

unaccompanied, others were taken by people who resembled either militiamen or soldiers. 10590 Bararwandika did not know who ordered the transfer 10591

Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6

3900. Witness H1B6, a Hutu, ¹⁰⁵⁹² testified that he was often at the Butare University Hospital between April and mid-June 1994. ¹⁰⁵⁹³ He stated that the hospital administration sought assistance from civilian authorities to address overcrowding at the hospital. Around mid-May, those who were living in tents at the hospital and who did not require admission were moved to the EER and subsequently to the BPO. The intention was to make space at the hospital for those who needed care, and not to expel people. 10595

3901. A few days later, he saw those people at the EER; they were not guarded. He spoke to one of them who recognised him when he was on his way to town. The person from EER told him that they were going through difficult times because they had nothing to eat and that nobody was interested in their problems. 10596 The person did not complain about violence, theft or killings taking place at the EER. 10597

3902. Witness H1B6 said that security escorted people from the hospital to the EER, but did not stay to guard them. 10598 This security group consisted of soldiers from ESO. 10599 He personally did not witness the departure of people who were evacuated to the EER; he only noticed that they were at the EER three days later. 10600 He later testified that he saw them leaving. 10601 The number of people at the EER was a little less than at the BPO and he estimated there were between 100 and 120 people in the courtvard of the BPO. 10602 He estimated that the subsequent transfer of people from the EER to the BPO must have taken place in early or mid-June. 10603 When it was put to him that the evacuation of people from the hospital to the EER must have been around 2 or 3 May 1994, such that the refugees were at the EER around 4 or 5 May 1994, Witness H1B6 disagreed saying this was too early. 10604

3903. At the time the refugees were transferred from the hospital to the EER there was no roadblock outside the Hotel Ihuliro. Having regard to Defence Exhibit 302, Witness H1B6

```
<sup>10590</sup> T. 4 July 2006 p. 11 (Bararwandika).
<sup>10591</sup> T. 4 July 2006 p. 12 (Bararwandika).
```

¹⁰⁵⁹² Defence Exhibit 376 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁵⁹³ T. 1 December 2005 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁵⁹⁴ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 51-52; T. 5 December 2005 pp. 7-8, 29; T. 6 December 2005 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness

¹⁰⁵⁹⁵ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 71-72 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁵⁹⁶ T. 1 December 2005 p. 52 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁵⁹⁷ T. 1 December 2005 p. 53 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁵⁹⁸ T. 1 December 2005 p. 71 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁵⁹⁹ T. 6 December 2005 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰⁰ T. 5 December 2005 p. 29 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰¹ T. 6 December 2005 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰² T. 1 December 2005 p. 63 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰³ T. 5 December 2005 pp. 8, 29 (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰⁴ T. 6 December 2005 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁶⁰⁵ T. 5 December 2005 p. 40 (Witness H1B6).

testified that the EER School, the Church and Ntahobali's residence were correctly marked on the map. 10606

Ntahobali Defence Witness Béatrice Munyenyezi

3904. Béatrice Munyenyezi, Ntahobali's wife, 10607 stated that the EER school was about a 10 minute walk from the Hotel Ihuliro. It was possible to observe the EER from the balconies at the hotel. She testified that she had seen a few people around the EER, maybe 20, at least outside; she could not tell whether they were males, females, civilians or soldiers, though she knew they were refugees. 10608

Ntahobali Defence Witness NMBMP

3905. Witness NMBMP, a relative of Béatrice Munyenyezi, 10609 testified that in May 1994 she saw from her room at the Hotel Ihuliro about 50 people at the EER buildings. 10610 Those people stayed there for one week. 10611 They were not victims of any attacks during their stay there.

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCMNA

3906. Witness WCMNA, a Hutu church worker in 1994, ¹⁰⁶¹³ stated that on one occasion he was going through the roadblock close to the EER and his identification papers and car documents were being checked. ¹⁰⁶¹⁴ He looked at the primary school and was surprised to see smoke coming out of two classrooms and people within those classrooms. ¹⁰⁶¹⁵ He approximated that there were 30 to 40 persons in the classrooms. ¹⁰⁶¹⁶ There were no people in the courtyard or premises near the school. ¹⁰⁶¹⁷ He could not be specific as to when this sighting occurred. ¹⁰⁶¹⁸

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNJ

3907. Witness WCNJ, a Hutu student in 1994, 10619 estimated that towards the end of May 1994, on a number of occasions, there were over a hundred people at the EER School. He never saw any armed persons with or going towards the refugees. 10620

¹⁰⁶⁰⁶ T. 5 December 2005 p. 53 (Witness H1B6); Defence Exhibit 302 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 1). ¹⁰⁶⁰⁷ Defence Exhibit 390 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

T. 27 February 2006 p. 50 (Béatrice Munyenyezi).

¹⁰⁶⁰⁹ Defence Exhibit 648 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars); T. 22 April 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

¹⁰⁶¹⁰ T. 22 April 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS); T. 28 April 2008 p. 48 (Witness NMBMP).

¹⁰⁶¹¹ T. 22 April 2008 p. 36 (ICS); T. 28 April 2008 p. 49 (Witness NMBMP).

¹⁰⁶¹² T. 22 April 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP).

¹⁰⁶¹³ Defence Exhibit 389 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁶¹⁴ T. 21 February 2006 pp. 31-32 (ICS); T. 21 February 2006 p. 74 (Witness WCMNA).

¹⁰⁶¹⁵ T. 21 February 2006 pp. 31-32, 53-54 (ICS); T. 21 February 2006 p. 74 (Witness WCMNA).

¹⁰⁶¹⁶ T. 21 February 2006 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

¹⁰⁶¹⁷ T. 21 February 2006 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

¹⁰⁶¹⁸ T. 21 February 2006 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).

¹⁰⁶¹⁹ Defence Exhibit 386 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁶²⁰ T. 2 February 2006 p. 10 (Witness WCNJ).

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNMC

3908. Witness WCNMC, a Hutu, ¹⁰⁶²¹ knew Ntahobali because Ntahobali went to school with her brother. ¹⁰⁶²² Witness WCNMC stated that on her third visit to Butare market she noticed between 40 to 60 persons within the premises of the EER school; as they were all inside, and she was on the road, she was unable to recognise anyone. ¹⁰⁶²³ Her third visit to Butare market occurred in late May or early June. ¹⁰⁶²⁴ She was sure that her third visit occurred around late May or early June and not between 1 and 20 May 1994 because her third visit was some time after her father was released from hospital, on 25 April 1994. ¹⁰⁶²⁵

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCUJM

3909. Witness WCUJM, a bicycle taxi-driver in 1994 from Ngoma *commune*, ¹⁰⁶²⁶ testified that he once went by the EER, towards the end of May 1994. He saw about 50 people assembled at the EER. ¹⁰⁶²⁷ He subsequently testified that he went to Butare on three occasions, and passed the EER on both the second and third occasions. ¹⁰⁶²⁸

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ

3910. Witness WUNBJ, an employee at the BPO in 1994, ¹⁰⁶²⁹ testified that he saw 50 to 100 refugees at the Protestant school, known as EER when he got to the BPO. ¹⁰⁶³⁰ The refugees stayed there for two or three weeks around the middle or towards the end of May; he subsequently stated he saw them during June 1994. ¹⁰⁶³¹ He later stated that he had no clear recollection of the time frame. ¹⁰⁶³²

3911. Witness WUNBJ told his superior that he had seen that the workshop was open and thereafter returned to the EER because he was asked to check if there were teachers among the refugees since it was time to pay salaries. Upon returning to the EER while standing on the road at the workshop door of the EER, he recognised two teachers among the refugees whom he knew very well. He subsequently testified he did not know whether they were Tutsis or

¹⁰⁶²¹ Defence Exhibit 374 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁶²² T. 29 November 2005 p. 26 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁰⁶²³ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 38, 48-49 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁰⁶²⁴ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 36, 48-49 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁰⁶²⁵ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 52-53 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁰⁶²⁶ Defence Exhibit 388 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁰⁶²⁷ T. 14 February 2006 p. 21 (Witness WCUJM).

¹⁰⁶²⁸ T. 14 February 2006 pp. 40-41 (Witness WCUJM).

¹⁰⁶²⁹ Defence Exhibit 391 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 13, 15-16 (ICS); T. 3 April 2006 p. 18 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁰⁶³⁰ T. 8 March 2006 p. 43 (ICS); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 48-49; T. 5 April 2006 pp. 18, 32, 37 (ICS) (Witness WINBI)

¹⁰⁶³¹ T. 8 March 2006 p. 48; T. 5 April 2006 pp. 24, 33-34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁰⁶³² T. 5 April 2006 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁰⁶³³ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 41-42 (ICS); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 48-49; T. 5 April 2006 pp. 30, 32-33 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁰⁶³⁴ T. 5 April 2006 pp. 18, 32-33 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

Hutus and he did not know their names, although they came from Cyarwa in Ngoma *commune* and had fled because of their individual problems. 10635

3912. The witness did not enter the premises of the EER. He told the teachers to go to the MRND Palace to collect their salaries but he did not know whether they actually did, as he went back to his office. He teachers did not mention any problems they might have faced at EER. Between April and July 1994 the witness did not observe any "particular events" at the EER premises. He The refugees were free to move between the BPO and the EER.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM

3913. Witness CEM, a Hutu teacher from Ngoma *commune*, ¹⁰⁶⁴¹ testified that on her way to Denise Ntahobali's home at the beginning of May 1994, she saw refugees at the Adventist school also known as the EER. ¹⁰⁶⁴² She testified that there were about 100 refugees, who were outside in the courtyard and behind the classrooms, and that there were many women and children and a few men. ¹⁰⁶⁴³ While she did not know the exact length of time that the refugees remained at the EER, she did not see them when she went by that road again at the end of May. ¹⁰⁶⁴⁴ She did not know the ethnicity of the refugees at the EER, but stated that the refugees were "moving around" in the area behind the classrooms when she saw them. ¹⁰⁶⁴⁵ The refugees had left at the time the school was going to resume, so as to enable the pupils to get back to their classrooms; she was not aware that they had been killed. ¹⁰⁶⁴⁶ The people at the EER were not being guarded, and Witness CEM did not see any armed civilians, or people wearing military or *Interahamwe* uniforms. ¹⁰⁶⁴⁷

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Denise Ntahobali

3914. Denise Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali's sister, testified that while she was on the first floor of the hotel, she saw about 100 refugees in the middle of the courtyard at the entrance of the classrooms of the EER, although she could not recall what month she saw them. When she saw the refugees at the EER, she did not hear loud screams or gunshots. The refugees were civilian women who were cooking while children played in the courtyard in front of one

```
10635 T. 5 April 2006 pp. 33, 67 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
10636 T. 8 March 2006 p. 48; T. 5 April 2006 pp. 19, 32 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
10637 T. 5 April 2006 pp. 33, 35 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
10638 T. 8 March 2006 p. 49 (Witness WUNBJ).
10639 T. 8 March 2006 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
10640 T. 3 April 2006 pp. 38-39 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
10641 Defence Exhibit 268 (Nyiramasuhuko) (Personal Particulars).
10642 T. 14 February 2005 pp. 50-51 (Witness CEM); see also T. 15 February 2005 pp. 16, 25-26 (Witness CEM).
10643 T. 14 February 2005 p. 51; T. 15 February 2005 p. 26 (Witness CEM).
10645 T. 15 February 2005 p. 25 (Witness CEM).
10646 T. 15 February 2005 p. 26 (Witness CEM).
10647 T. 14 February 2005 p. 51 (Witness CEM).
10648 T. 9 June 2005 p. 27; T. 13 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).
10649 T. 9 June 2005 p. 28 (Denise Ntahobali).
```

of the classrooms. 10650 There was about 100 metres between the Hotel Ihuliro and the EER. 10651

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

3915. Maurice Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali's father, stated that between April and July 1994, there were refugees at the EER, but not for a long time; he saw them only once, and less than a week later they were not there anymore. This occasion where he saw them was at the end of May 1994. He did not hear gunfire or screams from people being attacked or assaulted coming from that spot. He did not hear gunfire or screams from people being attacked or assaulted coming from that spot.

3916. Maurice Ntahobali testified he saw refugees at the EER on one occasion at the end of May 1994; he could see them from the hotel balcony because the EER was adjacent to the Hotel Ihuliro. The witness did not know why they had come there or why they were moved out; it was difficult for him to estimate the number of refugees because he only saw those who were outside the classrooms, strolling about the courtyard. ¹⁰⁶⁵⁵

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Céline Nyiraneza

3917. Céline Nyiraneza, Ntahobali's aunt and Nyiramasuhuko's sister, testified that she saw about 100 refugees within the EER premises; they were cooking outside and could move around. She could not give an exact date as to when she saw the refugees at the EER. She consisted of at least six buildings, and was located 200 metres away from the Hotel Ihuliro. She subsequently said that EER was between 100 and 200 metres away from the Hotel Ihuliro. The witness further testified that refugees stayed there for about two weeks; she never heard gunshots from EER. She could see people moving around at the EER from the balcony of her room; the refugees would come to the Hotel Ihuliro to find out if there was beer before returning to the EER. She did not know the ethnicity of the refugees who gathered at the EER.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WBUC

3918. Witness WBUC, a relative of Nyiramasuhuko, indicated that she knew Shalom Ntahobali very well because it was as if they grew up together. She testified that while she was staying at the Hotel Ihuliro in Butare, in April or May 1994, she could see about 30

```
10650 T. 9 June 2005 p. 27; T. 13 June 2005 p. 23 (Denise Ntahobali).
10651 T. 9 June 2005 p. 15 (Denise Ntahobali).
10652 T. 13 September 2005 p. 25; T. 16 September 2005 p. 94 (Maurice Ntahobali).
10653 T. 16 September 2005 p. 94 (Maurice Ntahobali).
10654 T. 13 September 2005 p. 25 (Maurice Ntahobali).
10655 T. 16 September 2005 p. 94 (Maurice Ntahobali).
10656 T. 24 February 2005 p. 42; T. 28 February 2005 p. 56 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10657 T. 24 February 2005 p. 42 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10658 T. 24 February 2005 pp. 41-42 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10659 T. 28 February 2005 pp. 22-23 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10660 T. 28 February 2005 pp. 42-43 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10661 T. 28 February 2005 p. 55 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10662 T. 28 February 2005 p. 55 (Céline Nyiraneza).
10663 T. 31 May 2005 p. 82 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
```

refugees cooking outside at the EER; she did not know whether there were more refugees that she could not see inside the EER's buildings. The refugees were cooking in front of the classrooms, on the side facing the university, and not towards the main road. She did not hear any shots or shouts coming from that place. She recognised a Tutsi lady at the EER who was from her *commune*. The woman was in a crowd and Witness WBUC did not have much time to talk to this person; the woman told Witness WBUC that she had been at the EER and was being told to return to her home. That lady did not say anything about abductions or killings at the EER.

3919. She was aware that refugees had fled their homes for the EER because of insecurity. She did not see any refugees when she went to mass at the EER church in April 1994. 10670

<u>Nsabimana</u>

3920. Nsabimana testified that around 15 to 20 May 1994, the Security Council decided to move the refugees and displaced persons from the BPO to somewhere else to enable the proper functioning of the office, since, at the time, there was the impression that life was returning to normal. Nsabimana asked *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire to find a safer place for them. ¹⁰⁶⁷¹ After first proposing a Catholic girls primary school, Rutayisire proposed the EER school. ¹⁰⁶⁷² Unlike the BPO, the EER had many buildings where the refugees could stay, such as empty classrooms, and had more facilities like furniture, water and toilets. ¹⁰⁶⁷³ From the BPO, the EER's closest building was 100 metres, and its farthest building was 200 metres from the BPO. ¹⁰⁶⁷⁴ The EER school and Hotel Ihuliro could both be seen from University Road. ¹⁰⁶⁷⁵ The EER was located on University Road. ¹⁰⁶⁷⁶

3921. Nsabimana testified that the transfer of refugees to the EER school was accepted by the Security Council. Although he did not know the actual date the refugees were transferred, it must have been between 15 and 20 May 1994. 10678

3922. The people who were transferred to the EER were asked to leave, they took a few items and left. They were not escorted to the EER. Nsabimana did not receive any information from his *sous-préfet* as to how the people settled in at the EER, but knew that the refugees settled

```
10664 T. 1 June 2005 p. 67; T. 6 June 2005 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
10665 T. 6 June 2005 pp. 34, 50-51, 53 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
10666 T. 1 June 2005 p. 67 (Witness WBUC).
10667 T. 1 June 2005 p. 67; T. 6 June 2005 pp. 32-33 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
10668 T. 1 June 2005 p. 68 (Witness WBUC).
10669 T. 6 June 2005 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
10670 T. 6 June 2005 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).
10671 T. 9 October 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).
10672 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 69-70 (Nsabimana).
10673 T. 9 October 2006 p. 70 (Nsabimana).
10675 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 71-72 (Nsabimana).
10676 T. 9 October 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana).
10677 T. 9 October 2006 p. 70 (Nsabimana).
10678 T. 9 October 2006 p. 70 (Nsabimana).
10678 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 71, 73; T. 10 October 2006 p. 24 (Nsabimana).
```

into the classrooms that were empty because of the holiday period. ¹⁰⁶⁷⁹ A pastor who lived in Cyarwa in Tumba informed Nsabimana that he gave the refugees food while they were at the EER school, and that this was independent of what they received from other sources. ¹⁰⁶⁸⁰ Nsabimana did not know the pastor's name but knew he worked at the EER. ¹⁰⁶⁸¹

3923. The refugees remained at the EER for one or two weeks. After that, they returned to the BPO. They returned to the BPO in the last days of May, around 31 May 1994. When Nsabimana enquired why the refugees had returned to the BPO, *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire informed him that it was because the EER students had already resumed school and *Monseigneur* Ndandari, an Anglican bishop who owned the school, told them to leave. Monseigneur Ndandari did not tell him of the decision to return the refugees, Nsabimana just saw them return to the BPO via the rear quarters. He estimated 100 to 200 refugees returned. None of the returning refugees told Nsabimana about anything that took place while at the EER schools premises.

3924. About three days after their return from the EER, different people including soldiers, some members of the Security Council like Kalimanzira and Bushishi, as well as the new commander of Ngoma camp, Ntambabazi, and people at the roadblocks asked why the refugees were at the *préfecture* office and not elsewhere. Once Nsabimana became aware that massacres took place, and that there were risks "even in closed structures", during both the day and night, he was not at peace with himself because he went home fearing that he may not find the refugees in the morning.

3925. Nsabimana testified that Kalimanzira was in the BPO every two or three days. Nsabimana signed authorisation for the BBC crew to move about in town and gave them Musabirema Cyprien as a guide to take them around. He testified that Kalimanzira entered his office while the BBC crew was there and was visibly against Nsabimana signing the authorisation, saying journalists produced pro-RPF and anti-Government propaganda. 10693

3926. Nsabimana admitted that he had written *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*. ¹⁰⁶⁹⁴ In that document, he stated:

```
10679 T. 9 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
10680 T. 9 October 2006 p. 74 (Nsabimana).
10681 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 74-75 (Nsabimana).
10682 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 73-74 (Nsabimana).
10683 T. 9 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
10684 T. 9 October 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).
10685 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 75-76 (Nsabimana).
10686 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 76 (Nsabimana).
10687 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 76-77 (Nsabimana).
10688 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 76-77 (Nsabimana).
10688 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 76 (Nsabimana).
10699 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 80-81 (Nsabimana).
10691 T. 11 October 2006 pp. 26, 29 (Nsabimana).
10692 T. 10 October 2006 pp. 41-42; T. 11 October 2006 pp. 35 (Nsabimana).
10693 T. 10 October 2006 pp. 43; T. 11 October 2006 pp. 34-35 (Nsabimana).
```

¹⁰⁶⁹⁴ T. 17 October 2006 pp. 34-35 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 113 (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana).

I needed to find a place to accommodate these people [refugees at the BPO]. Finally I found [the] EER school. The government authorities complained saying that the people should be sent elsewhere. This was not possible because they would have been killed by others. Even at [the] EER, there was some insecurity which forced the refugees to return to my office. 10695

Ntahobali

3927. Ntahobali testified that he saw refugees at the EER; he saw them after his bout of malaria and before he left for Cyangugu, meaning between 7 and 17 May 1994. He approximated seeing 50 to 60 people, who remained at the EER for about one week. He saw they were both inside and outside the classrooms. Some of the refugees walked to the Hotel Ihuliro to buy lemonade and other articles. Between April and July 1994, he never went inside the EER complex, although it was quite close to his house, because he had no reason to go there. He denied committing any crimes at the EER between April and July 1994. He denied committing any crimes at the EER between April and July 1994.

Nyiramasuhuko

3928. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the EER was a Protestant school. ¹⁰⁷⁰¹ She knew that there were refugees at the EER and trusted that the Red Cross was rendering assistance to the refugees at the EER. ¹⁰⁷⁰²

3.6.36.4 Deliberations

3929. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that in May and June 1994, on the orders of Nsabimana, refugees were transferred by soldiers from the *préfecture* offices to the EER. Some of them were either beaten or killed by soldiers, while others were taken to the neighbouring woods where a great many were executed. 10703

3930. It is not disputed that the refugees who had been staying at the BPO were sent by Nsabimana to the EER school complex. The Parties dispute, however, the reason for the transfer and whether the refugees were attacked at the EER complex. The Parties also dispute the number of refugees who were present.

¹⁰⁶⁹⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016630.

¹⁰⁶⁹⁶ T. 25 April 2006 p. 38 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁶⁹⁷ T. 25 April 2006 pp. 38-39 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁶⁹⁸ T. 25 April 2006 p. 39 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁶⁹⁹ T. 2 May 2006 pp. 23, 28 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁰⁰ T. 2 May 2006 p. 51 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁰¹ T. 5 October 2005 p. 15 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁰⁷⁰² T. 24 November 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Para. 6.39 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹⁰⁷⁰⁴ T. 26 February 2003 p. 57 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 p. 36-b (Witness QY); T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ); T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges); T. 9 October 2006 pp. 69-72 (Nsabimana).

3.6.36.4.1 Timing and Reason for the Transfer of Refugees to the EER

3931. Des Forges testified that Nsabimana told her the transfer was precipitated by Kalimanzira because it looked bad to have refugees in front of the BPO. ¹⁰⁷⁰⁵ In her opinion, the movement of refugees was an effort to hide evidence of the genocide from foreigners who would be visiting in the near future. ¹⁰⁷⁰⁶

3932. Nsabimana claimed that the Security Council decided to move refugees to enable the proper functioning of the BPO and that *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire proposed the EER school as a safer place for them. He claimed the refugees were given food and had access to water at the EER. Witness SX corroborated that the refugees had access to water. Witnesses QY, SX and SJ testified that at least some refugees were permitted in sheltered classrooms at the EER. However, Witness SJ testified that the soldiers closed the water taps opened by the pastor, and threatened him, and that the soldiers took away the food the pastor gave them. Witness SX testified that he thought the refugees had been brought to the EER to be protected and that is why he sought refuge there, although killings nonetheless took place at that location. However, where the soldiers took are protected and that is why he sought refuge there, although killings nonetheless took place at that location.

3933. Nsabimana also testified that members of the Security Council like Kalimanzira and Bushishi inquired as to the reason for the presence of the refugees at the BPO and that he therefore feared for their safety. Nsabimana testified that Kalimanzira was hostile to the BBC film crew. 10714 The Chamber notes that the EER school complex was located below the road known as University Road, 10715 and surrounded by forest. 10716 Unlike the courtyard of the BPO which was in plain view of the main road, the EER courtyard was protected from view by the EER buildings that constituted the classrooms. 10717 The buildings with the classrooms were nevertheless visible from the road. The Chamber accepts Nsabimana's testimony that the Security Council decided to move the refugees and displaced persons from the BPO to somewhere else to enable the proper functioning of the office. The Chamber agrees with Des Forges' opinion that the Security Council and Kalimanzira may have taken the decision to move the refugees from the BPO to hide evidence of killing and displacement of refugees. 10719 In this respect the Chamber recalls the testimony of Nsabimana to the effect that while

¹⁰⁷⁰⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

¹⁰⁷⁰⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 57.

¹⁰⁷⁰⁷ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 69-70 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷⁰⁸ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 70, 74 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷⁰⁹ T. 30 January 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷¹⁰ T. 24 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness QY); T. 27 January 2004 p. 25 (Witness SX); T. 29 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷¹¹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 114 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷¹² T. 30 January 2004 p. 56 (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷¹³ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 77-78, 80-81 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷¹⁴ T. 10 October 2006 p. 43; T. 11 October 2006 pp. 34-35 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷¹⁵ T. 9 October 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana). See Defence Exhibit 305 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 4) (depicting slope of the land on which the EER was built *vis-à-vis* the level of the road)

⁽depicting slope of the land on which the EER was built *vis-à-vis* the level of the road).

10716 See Prosecution Exhibit 25 (Photographs of EER school complex) and Prosecution Exhibit 27 (Video of BPO, EER and Ruins of Nyiramasuhuko's House) at 16:51 and 17:30.

¹⁰⁷¹⁷ See Defence Exhibit 304 (Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali) (Sketch 3).

¹⁰⁷¹⁸ T. 9 October 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷¹⁹ See Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 57.

Nsabimana granted the BBC crew permission to move about in town, ¹⁰⁷²⁰ Kalimanzira was visibly against Nsabimana signing the authorisation, saying journalists produced pro-RPF and anti-government propaganda. ¹⁰⁷²¹ In the Chamber's view, Nsabimana's testimony as to Kalimanzira's discomfort with the presence of journalists is corroborated by Des Forges' opinion. The Chamber is also of the view that upon the direction of Kalimanzira and the Security Council, the refugees were ordered to go to the EER school complex to prevent their discovery by foreigners.

3934. As to the timing of the transfer, the Chamber accepts Nsabimana's estimation that the refugees at the BPO were transferred to the EER between 15 and 20 May 1994 and stayed there until approximately 31 May 1994 when they returned to the BPO. This was corroborated by the evidence given by Witnesses RE, SX, Bararwandika and H1B6, discussed below.

3.6.36.4.2 Number and Ethnicity of Refugees Affected at the EER

3935. Witness RE estimated there were more than 300 refugees at the EER, in contrast to her prior statement which set the number at 4,000 refugees. This estimate was based on the one week that Witness RE testified she spent at the EER. The Chamber recalls that Witness RE fled Gikongoro *préfecture* for Butare *préfecture* in April 1994, went to the university teaching hospital where she stayed for one week, before being asked to move to the *préfecture* office; she spent only one night at the BPO and the following day *Préfet* Nsabimana ordered the refugees from the BPO to the EER. Stated that people present at the hospital who did not require admission were moved to the EER and subsequently to the BPO around mid-May 1994. This was corroborated by Alexandre Bararwandika. Accordingly, on the basis of Witness RE's testimony as to her movements during this period as well as the corroborative testimony of Bararwandika and Witness H1B6, the Chamber considers Witness RE was at the EER sometime around mid-May 1994.

3936. Witness SJ said the number of refugees at the EER was about 2,000 at one point. Witness SJ could not recall the month or dates of her visits to the EER. However, Witnesses SJ and RE provided similar testimony regarding the conditions upon their arrival at

¹⁰⁷³² T. 30 May 2002 pp. 87-88, 91-92, 108-109 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷²⁰ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 41-42; T. 11 October 2006 p. 35 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷²¹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 43; T. 11 October 2006 pp. 34-35 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷²² T. 9 October 2006 pp. 71, 73, 75 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷²³ T. 25 February 2003 p. 27 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷²⁴ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13; T. 24 February 2003 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷²⁵ T. 24 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷²⁶ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷²⁷ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷²⁸ T. 1 December 2005 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁷²⁹ T. 1 December 2005 pp. 51-52; T. 5 December 2005 pp. 7-8, 29; T. 6 December 2005 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

¹⁰⁷³⁰ T. 3 July 2006 p. 39; T. 4 July 2006 p. 10 (Bararwandika) (refugees were moved from Butare University Hospital to the nearby EER primary school, and later to the BPO around mid-May 1994).

¹⁰⁷³¹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 102-103 (Witness SJ).

the EER (arriving in the rain and being locked outside) and their return to the BPO. The Chamber thus considers that Witnesses SJ and RE testified regarding approximately the same time period, i.e. mid-May 1994. Witness SX estimated between 500 and 1,000 refugees came to the EER, 10733 and estimated they started arriving one to two weeks after his arrival in Butare, 10734 which was about two weeks after the President's plane crash in 1994. 10735 Accordingly, the Chamber considers the refugees must have started arriving at the EER around the start or middle of May 1994. Having regard to Witness SX's testimony that the refugees spent about a month or two at the EER before being moved on towards the end of the war, 10736 the Chamber considers Witness SX's estimate was based on a much longer period of time than either Witness RE's or SJ's estimates. Other Prosecution witnesses did not estimate the number of refugees present at the EER.

3937. The Chamber recalls that Nsabimana estimated that about 200 refugees returned to the BPO from the EER¹⁰⁷³⁷ in the last days of May, around 31 May 1994. The Chamber considers that insofar as Nsabimana's estimate only refers to those refugees who returned to the BPO, it is not necessarily inconsistent with the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses who variously estimated the number of refugees present at the EER as more than 300, 1,000 and 2,000 during various periods of time. In contrast to Nsabimana, the Defence witnesses variously estimated there were between 30 and over 100 refugees at the EER. 10739 However, these witnesses observed the refugees from the Hotel Ihuliro and the owner of that hotel, Maurice Ntahobali, admitted that he could only see those refugees who were in the courtyard. 10740 Many refugees crowded into classrooms when they were unlocked after the first dav. 10741

3938. The Chamber also recalls Prosecution Exhibit 27, a video recording of the refugees at the BPO around 15 June 1994 after they had returned from the EER. At that time the number of refugees may have been around 200, but having regard to the Chamber's previous findings that many dozens if not hundreds of the refugees had been killed before that time at the BPO (), the Chamber is therefore convinced that the number of refugees at the EER during late-May 1994 well exceeded 200.

3939. As to the ethnicity of the refugees, Witness RE testified that the people who settled on the veranda of the EER were Tutsis and that soldiers and Interahamwe who came to the EER were saying it was over for the Tutsis. 10742 Bernadette Kamanzi, Kanyabashi's wife, testified

¹⁰⁷³³ T. 30 January 2004 p. 52 (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷³⁴ T. 30 January 2004 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷³⁵ T. 27 January 2004 p. 15 (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷³⁶ T. 30 January 2004 p. 52 (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷³⁷ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 76-77 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷³⁸ T. 9 October 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁷³⁹ T. 22 April 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP) (about 50 people); T. 2 February 2006 p. 10 (Witness WCNJ) (over a hundred people); T. 29 November 2005 p. 38 (Witness WCNMC) (between 40 to 60 persons); T. 14 February 2006 p. 21 (Witness WCUJM) (about 50 people); T. 8 March 2006 p. 49 (Witness WUNBJ) (50-100 refugees); T. 14 February 2005 p. 51 (Witness CEM) (about 100 refugees); T. 9 June 2005 p. 27 (Denise Ntahobali) (about 100 refugees); T. 24 February 2005 p. 42 (Céline Nyiraneza) (about 100 refugees); T. 1 June 2005 p. 67 (Witness WBUC) (about 30 refugees).

T. 16 September 2005 p. 94 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁴¹ See T. 29 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ); T. 24 March 2003 p. 34 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁷⁴² T. 24 February 2003 p. 13; T. 26 February 2003 p. 60 (Witness RE).

that Kanyabashi told her that he had sent her nephew where other Tutsis had taken refuge, namely at the EER, ¹⁰⁷⁴³ with the intention of evacuating him in the evening. ¹⁰⁷⁴⁴ Lastly, Des Forges testified that during her interview with Nsabimana on 3 April 1996 Nsabimana told her that Callixte Kalimanzira, the *de facto* interim Minister of the Interior, told Nsabimana "it looked bad" to have Tutsis at the *préfecture* office. ¹⁰⁷⁴⁵

3940. Based on the aforementioned, the Chamber is therefore convinced that those who took refuge at the EER were predominantly Tutsis.

3.6.36.4.3 Events at the EER

3.6.36.4.3.1 Ntahobali's Alibi

3941. The Chamber recalls Ntahobali's testimony that he went to Cyangugu on 26 or 27 May 1994 and returned to Butare on 5 June 1994, ¹⁰⁷⁴⁶ as well as the testimony of Clarisse Ntahobali, Céline Nyiraneza, Maurice Ntahobali and Béatrice Munyenyezi that Ntahobali had the responsibility of ensuring that the generator at the Hotel Ihuliro was turned on and shut down every evening ¹⁰⁷⁴⁷ such that he could not have been elsewhere. The Chamber previously found neither of these alibis raised a reasonable doubt as to Ntahobali's presence at the BPO during the period of late May to early June 1994 ().

3942. Considering the Chamber's earlier finding that the refugees were at the EER between 15/20 May and 31 May 1994, approximately the same time period the Chamber previously considered with respect to the BPO, the Chamber equally considers that Ntahobali's alibis for late May/early June 1994 are not reasonably possibly true as to his presence at the EER.

3.6.36.4.3.2 Involvement of Interahamwe and Ntahobali

3943. The Chamber recalls that it found Witness RE was at the EER sometime around mid-May 1994. Witness RE gave eyewitness testimony that the refugees were attacked at the EER complex the first night they arrived and during the subsequent days. The Chamber notes that Witness RE provided numerous details about the day the refugees arrived, including the fact that when the refugees arrived, the doors of the classroom were locked and the refugees were forced to seek shelter from a torrential rain on the veranda. Details referring to the rain, some classroom doors being locked and seeking shelter on the veranda and the

¹⁰⁷⁴³ T. 26 November 2007 p. 33 (Bernadette Kamanzi).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁴ T. 20 November 2007 p. 14 (Bernadette Kamanzi).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁶ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 7, 12-13 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁷ T. 27 February 2006 pp. 9-10, 62-63 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 14 September 2005 pp. 32-34 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 16 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 10 February 2005 p. 13 (Clarisse Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁸ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 11-12 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁴⁹ T. 26 February 2003 p. 8 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁰ T. 19 March 2003 p. 36-b (Witness QY); T. 24 March 2003 pp. 34, 52 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ); T. 30 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness SJ); T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).

¹⁰⁷⁵¹ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 110, 112 (Witness SJ); T. 30 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness SJ).

attack on the first night¹⁰⁷⁵² were variously corroborated by Witnesses QY, SJ and QBQ. Based on these details and corroboration, the Chamber finds Witness RE to be credible.

3944. Witness RE stated that *Interahamwe*, including their leader named Shalom, came to the EER, picked out young men and took them to the nearby forest to be killed. That refugees were taken to a nearby forest to be killed was also corroborated by Witnesses TG, QY, SJ and TA. Witness SJ said that she hid from the *Interahamwe* in the woods where she came across the bloated and decapitated bodies of persons who had been killed. The Chamber is cognisant of Witness SJ's admission upon recall in 2009 that she did not disclose knowing other witnesses who testified before the Tribunal. Nonetheless, the Chamber finds Witness SJ's testimony on this element to be credible in that it was corroborated by other witnesses and is consistent with the other evidence before the Chamber.

3945. The Prosecution presented evidence that the *Interahamwe* committed attacks at the EER. Witness RE testified that the *Interahamwe* came during the days to take away people and kill them. 10757 Witness SJ testified that the soldiers all wore the same uniform although Witness SJ did not know if they were soldiers or gendarmes. 10758 When put to her that her statement of 3 December 1996 referred only to the presence of soldiers at the EER, but not Interahamwe, Witness SJ said it was the same thing since both soldiers and Interahamwe wore uniforms. 10759 She named several *Interahamwe* who wore "*Interahamwe*" civilian attire by night and military uniform by day. 10760 Witness TA also testified that *Interahamwe* from the roadblock near Nyiramasuhuko's home came to attack the refugees at the EER, killing them in the bush and near lavatories where a pit had been dug. 10761 The Chamber accepts that at the time of giving her statements, soldiers and Interahamwe may have been interchangeable to Witness SJ insofar as they both wore uniforms. However, in light of Witness SJ's detailed testimony which names specific *Interahamwe* allegedly present during the attacks, when coupled with the corroborative evidence of Witness RE concerning the presence of Interahamwe at the EER, the Chamber accepts that Interahamwe committed attacks at the EER.

3946. As to the involvement of Ntahobali, Witnesses RE, QY, SX and TB testified that he was present at the EER. ¹⁰⁷⁶² The Chamber notes that throughout her testimony, Witness RE referred to Ntahobali as Shalom; Witness RE did not know Ntahobali prior to the events, but

¹⁰⁷⁵² T. 19 March 2003 p. 58; T. 24 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁷⁵³ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 11-13; T. 26 February 2003 p. 60 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁴ T. 30 March 2004 p. 70 (Witness TG); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-b, 57 (Witness QY); T. 24 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness SJ); T. 4 June 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness SJ); T. 6 October 2001 pp. 37-38 (Witness TA); T. 8 November 2001 pp. 19-20 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁵ T. 29 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁶ T. 24 February 2009 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness SJ) (concerning her knowledge of Witness TA); T. 23 February 2009 p. 85 (ICS) (Witness SJ) (concerning her knowledge of Witness QBQ).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁷ T. 24 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁸ T. 30 May 2002 p. 141 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁵⁹ T. 4 June 2002 pp. 68-69 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁶⁰ T. 4 June 2002 p. 70 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁶¹ T. 6 November 2001 pp. 37-38; T. 8 November 2001 pp. 19-20 (Witness TA).

¹⁰⁷⁶² T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 57, 59 (Witness QY); T. 27 January 2004 pp. 25-26, 36 (Witness SX); T. 30 January 2004 pp. 55 (Witness SX).

said others had identified him for her. ¹⁰⁷⁶³ Despite being hearsay evidence, this testimony is nevertheless corroborative of the identification of Ntahobali. ¹⁰⁷⁶⁴ She said he was wearing an ordinary soldier's uniform. ¹⁰⁷⁶⁵ Witness RE only saw Shalom on that night ¹⁰⁷⁶⁶ and she was on the school veranda when she saw him. ¹⁰⁷⁶⁷ The Chamber recalls the testimony of Witness SX that there was lighting at the EER school itself, though not in the classrooms. ¹⁰⁷⁶⁸ In the circumstances, the Chamber considers Witness RE had adequate conditions in which to observe and identify Ntahobali.

3947. Witness QY testified that she saw Ntahobali at the EER on two occasions. Witness QY had seen Ntahobali at Butare University Hospital and the BPO to the EER in mid-May 1994, Witness QY had seen Ntahobali on two prior occasions.

3948. The Chamber notes that Witness RE misidentified Ntahobali in court. 10772 and that Witness QY stated she would not be able to identify Ntahobali in court. However, the Chamber also notes that by the time of their testimony nearly nine years had passed since the events of 1994. Therefore, the Chamber does not consider that either Witness RE's misidentification of Ntahobali or Witness QY's inability to identify Ntahobali in court undermines the credibility of these witnesses or the reliability of their identification that the man who attacked the refugees was Ntahobali, especially having regard to the detailed and consistent nature of their overall testimony concerning this event.

3949. The Chamber further notes Witness SX said that Ntahobali came to the EER a number of times with *Interahamwe* at night in a Hilux pickup truck belonging to someone else¹⁰⁷⁷⁴ and on the first night took away five adults.¹⁰⁷⁷⁵ Like Witness RE, Witness SX also learned Ntahobali's identity through a third person when they were at the roadblock in front of Nyiramasuhuko's house.¹⁰⁷⁷⁶ Considering Witness SX had several opportunities to observe Ntahobali, and recalling the lighting conditions at the EER,¹⁰⁷⁷⁷ the Chamber considers Witness SX's testimony to be reliable and corroborative of Ntahobali's involvement in the EER attacks.

3950. Although Witness TB was not at the EER, she further corroborated the presence of Ntahobali at the EER, insofar as she testified to seeing Ntahobali at the EER church compound

```
10763 T. 26 February 2003 p. 9 (Witness RE).
10764 See Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC), para. 300.
10765 T. 26 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).
10766 T. 26 February 2003 pp. 9-10 (Witness RE).
10767 T. 24 February 2003 p. 38 (Witness RE).
10768 T. 30 January 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness SX).
10769 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 57, 59 (Witness QY).
10770 T. 19 March 2003 p. 13; T. 25 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness QY).
10771 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 22-23 (Witness QY).
10772 T. 24 February 2003 pp. 40-41 (Witness RE).
10773 T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).
10774 T. 27 January 2004 pp. 25-26, 36; T. 30 January 2004 pp. 55-56 (Witness SX).
10776 T. 27 January 2004 p. 16; T. 30 January 2004 p. 25 (Witness SX).
10776 T. 27 January 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness SX).
```

along with a man named Kazungu. 10778 Although Witness TB did not testify as to when this sighting occurred, her testimony nonetheless contradicts Ntahobali's testimony that he never entered the EER complex even though it was quite close to his home. 10779

3951. The Prosecution also presented evidence that the *Interahamwe* were led by Ntahobali. In particular the Chamber notes the testimony of Witnesses RE and SX that Shalom was the leader of the *Interahamwe* and that they feared and obeyed him. Witness QY testified that it was the soldiers who were in military uniform and civilian clothes who took the young people, but it was Shalom who directed the attack. The Chamber recalls Witness QY testified that she did not know any other person in Butare whose name was Shalom either during the war or at the time of her testimony. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber accepts that the *Interahamwe* were led by Ntahobali.

3.6.36.4.3.3 Involvement of Soldiers

3952. In addition to *Interahamwe*, several Prosecution witnesses testified that soldiers were involved in both the transfer to and the attacks at the EER. Prosecution Witnesses RE and QY testified that soldiers escorted them to the EER and beat them along the way. ¹⁰⁷⁸³ Witnesses RE, QY, SJ and QBQ also testified that, apart from *Interahamwe*, soldiers came to the EER and variously abducted and killed the refugees. ¹⁰⁷⁸⁴

3953. Witness RE said that soldiers involved in the attacks comprised a mix of ordinary soldiers and some from the Presidential Guard. When it was put to Witness RE that her previous statement of 5 December 1996 stated only that the Presidential Guard returned to the EER to abduct persons, but made no mention of ordinary soldiers, she explained that she had mentioned both Presidential Guard and ordinary soldiers to the investigator, but it was left out of her statement. The Chamber considers this discrepancy to be minor. Recalling the Chamber's finding that Witness RE's testimony about her arrival at the EER was detailed and corroborated, the Chamber finds Witness RE's account as to this event to be credible.

3954. Witness SJ testified that soldiers came from the ESO military barracks, from the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock and the Hotel Ihuliro itself. She said the soldiers showed the refugees grenades and threatened them. The soldiers would take away 10 or 12 men at a time from the EER at night and kill them. Afterwards, they sent back one of the men for him to say

```
<sup>10778</sup> T. 4 February 2004 p. 50 (Witness TB).
```

¹⁰⁷⁷⁹ T. 2 May 2006 pp. 23, 28 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE); T. 27 January 2004 p. 26 (Witness SX).

¹⁰⁷⁸¹ T. 19 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁷⁸² T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁷⁸³ T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 p. 36-b (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-b, 58 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 103-104, 109-114 (Witness SJ); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 79 (Witness QBQ).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁵ T. 24 February 2003 p. 11 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁶ T. 26 February 2003 pp. 11-12 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 87 (Ntahobali) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁷ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 103-104; T. 30 May 2002 p. 140; T. 4 June 2002 p. 108 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁸ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 104, 109 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁸⁹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 109; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 87-88 (Witness SJ).

what happened. 10790 When put to her that this last event did not appear in her statement of 3 December 1996, Witness SJ stated that it was possible she forgot to add certain things. 10791 The Chamber has reviewed Witness SJ's statement of 3 December 1996 and notes that it outlines in detail the role of the soldiers at the EER. Although it does not mention that soldiers sent one man back to the EER to inform the other refugees of what happened when refugees were taken away, the Chamber does not consider this omission goes to the root of her account, or undermines the credibility of her account as to the actions of soldiers at the EER. Notwithstanding this omission, the Chamber finds Witness SJ's testimony on this element to be credible in that it was corroborated by other witnesses and consistent with the other evidence before the Chamber about the abductions of refugees.

3955. Witness SJ estimated that the soldiers came on three occasions. ¹⁰⁷⁹² The soldiers appeared to be working in shifts because there were different soldiers in the day and at night. ¹⁰⁷⁹³ She saw soldiers coming from the Hotel Ihuliro. ¹⁰⁷⁹⁴ She was able to observe the soldiers coming to the EER because the Hotel Ihuliro, Nyiramasuhuko's residence, was visible from the EER. ¹⁰⁷⁹⁵ This last fact was corroborated by several Defence witnesses who testified to seeing refugees at the EER from the balconies of the Hotel Ihuliro which was adjacent to the EER complex. ¹⁰⁷⁹⁶ Ntahobali's sister Denise and his aunt Céline Nyiraneza both testified that the EER schools were about 100 metres from the Hotel Ihuliro and Ntahobali testified that the EER was quite close to his house. ¹⁰⁷⁹⁷

3.6.36.4.3.4 *Killings at the EER*

3956. No Prosecution witness personally saw the killing of the abducted refugees. Witness RE believed the men and boys that the *Interahamwe* took to a nearby forest had been executed because they never came back. While she did not personally see any killings of abducted refugees, she learned they had been killed with bludgeons. Witness RE also testified that some people who managed to escape and returned to the EER informed the others that those taken away had been killed with clubs and machetes and that this had been done while they were naked.

3957. Witness SJ also testified that persons taken from the EER compound were killed in the nearby forest. While Witness SJ also did not personally see the refugees being killed, 10802

¹⁰⁷⁹⁰ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 109-110 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹¹ T. 4 June 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 61 (Ntahobali) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹² T. 29 May 2002 p. 113 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹³ T. 29 May 2002 p. 114 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁴ T. 30 May 2002 p. 140 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁵ T. 29 May 2002 p. 105; T. 30 May 2002 p. 121 (Witness SJ).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁶ T. 27 February 2006 p. 50 (Béatrice Munyenyezi); T. 22 April 2008 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness NMBMP); T. 9 June 2005 p. 27 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 22 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 1 June 2005 p. 67 (Witness WBUC); T. 6 June 2005 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WBUC).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁷ T. 9 June 2005 p. 15 (Denise Ntahobali); T. 28 February 2005 p. 23 (Céline Nyiraneza) (the EER was between 100 and 200 metres away from the Hotel Ihuliro); T. 2 May 2006 p. 23 (Ntahobali).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁸ T. 24 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁷⁹⁹ T. 26 February 2003 p. 12 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁸⁰⁰ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13 (Witness RE).

¹⁰⁸⁰¹ T. 4 June 2002 pp. 95-96 (Witness SJ).

she testified that while seeking respite from the conditions at the EER in the woods, they saw skulls in addition to a hole that had been dug; in these narrow holes they sometimes saw bodies with bloated stomachs or that were decapitated. 10803

3958. The Chamber considers these testimonies to be mutually consistent and thus finds that the only reasonable conclusion available from the evidence is that the refugees abducted from the EER were killed in the nearby woods. The Chamber also accepts the hearsay evidence of Witness RE that the abducted refugees were killed with clubs and machetes while they were naked, 10804 and the direct evidence of Witness SJ that some bodies were decapitated. 10805

3.6.36.4.3.5 Rapes at the EER

3959. With respect to allegations of rape, Witness QY testified that one night, after soldiers and *Interahamwe* selected young men and girls, and took them to the woods, ¹⁰⁸⁰⁶ some soldiers remained behind and selected girls, among them Witness QY. Witness QY provided compelling and detailed testimony that she was raped at the EER by a corporal. ¹⁰⁸⁰⁸ Although corroboration of Witness QY's testimony concerning her rape is not required, ¹⁰⁸⁰⁹ Witness RE's testimony provided corroboration that young girls were raped at the EER and that those who refused to be raped were killed. ¹⁰⁸¹⁰ Witness QBQ also testified that refugees were raped by soldiers from the ESO at the EER. ¹⁰⁸¹¹ Although Des Forges was called as an expert witness and not a witness of fact, ¹⁰⁸¹² her testimony recounting her interviews with Nsabimana nevertheless corroborates that rapes occurred at the EER. ¹⁰⁸¹³

3960. The Chamber notes Witness QY did not mention her rape in her first or second statements. When it was put to her that she first mentioned being raped at the EER by a soldier in May 1994 in her third statement of 11/13 March 1998, Witness QY explained that she did not previously have the courage to discuss such crimes, nor had she been asked about it by the investigators. 10816

3961. The Chamber notes that Witness QY gave her first statement in January 1997 whereas Ntahobali was only later charged with rape in the Indictment issued on 16 May 1997. Accordingly, the Chamber accepts Witness QY's explanation that she was not asked about rapes by the investigators at the time of her first statement. Insofar as her second statement

```
10802 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 96, 98 (Witness SJ).
10803 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 110-111 (Witness SJ).
10804 T. 24 February 2003 pp. 12-13 (Witness RE).
10805 T. 29 May 2002 p. 111 (Witness SJ).
10806 T. 19 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness QY).
10807 T. 19 March 2003 p. 38-b; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness QY).
10808 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 38-39-b; T. 24 March 2003 pp. 37-40 (Witness QY).
10809 Rule 96 (i) of the Rules; see Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC), para. 11.
10810 T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE).
10811 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 79 (Witness QBQ).
10812 See Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (TC), para. 148.
10813 T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).
10814 T. 24 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY); see Defence Exhibit 466 (Ntahobali) (15 January 1997, 18 September 1997 and 11-13 March 1998, Statements of Witness QY).
10815 T. 24 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY); see Defence Exhibit 466 (Ntahobali) (15 January 1997, 18 September 1997 and 11-13 March 1998, Statements of Witness QY).
```

¹⁰⁸¹⁶ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 52-53 (Witness QY).

given in September 1997 also failed to mention any account of rape, although by this time Ntahobali had been charged with rape in the Indictment of 16 May 1997, the Chamber accepts her explanation that she did not have the courage to discuss such crimes with the Tribunal investigators. In view of the fact that the Chamber considers Witness QY's testimony with respect to the transfer to the EER and the attacks to have been largely consistent with the testimony of other Prosecution witnesses, and therefore credible, the Chamber accepts Witness QY's explanation for failing to discuss her rape at the time of giving her first and second statements.

3962. When Witness QY was also questioned as to why she had not confronted her attacker during his trial in Rwandan courts, Witness QY was unable to give any explanation. Witness QY also testified that her rape at the EER was her first sexual experience and the only time she was raped at the EER. When it was put to her that her fourth prior statement of 24 July 2000 said she had been previously raped by two soldiers in April 1994 near Kibeho Parish, she declined to answer whether she had been previously raped. She subsequently disowned the content of that statement and later testified that she was not raped at Kibeho. Accordingly, the Chamber does not accept Witness QY's testimony as to the Kibeho rape. Nevertheless, the Chamber considers Witness QY's contradictory account about the Kibeho rape does not undermine the reliability of her testimony with respect to her rape at the EER.

3963. Witness QY was cross-examined about the details of her rape at the EER. It was put to Witness QY that her third statement said that a soldier found her in an EER classroom at night and raped her at the compound of the EER school after taking her skirt, whereas her testimony was that soldiers took her from the veranda around 6.00 p.m. and took her to woods nearby where they forced her to completely undress. ¹⁰⁸²³ The Chamber has had regard to these alleged inconsistencies and does not consider they go to the root of her account such as to undermine the credibility of her overall account that she was a victim of rape.

3964. As to the testimony presented by the Defence that no attacks occurred at the EER, the Chamber finds this testimony to be not credible. The Chamber has found the Prosecution evidence as to the attacks at the EER to be both credible and reliable. Further, most of the Defence witnesses who testified in this respect were either relatives or friends of Ntahobali such that they were residing in the hotel belonging to Maurice Ntahobali during the events between April and July 1994, for which reason the Chamber considers these witnesses may have had a motive to lie.

¹⁰⁸¹⁷ T. 24 March 2003 pp, 57-58, 60-61, 63-64 (ICS) (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 113 (Nyiramasuhuko) (18 September 1997, Statement of Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 114 (Nyiramasuhuko) (11-13 March 1998, Statement of Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸¹⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 39-b (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸¹⁹ T. 24 March 2003 p. 20 (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸²⁰ T. 24 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 120 (Ntahobali) (24 July 2000, Statement of Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸²¹ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 70-73 (ICS); T. 10 April 2006 pp. 12-13, 16, 31, 50-51 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸²² T. 10 April 2006 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹⁰⁸²³ T. 24 March 2003 pp. 37-39 (Witness QY).

3.6.36.4.3.6 Conclusion

3965. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that between mid-May and the beginning of June 1994: soldiers escorted and beat the refugees on the way to the EER; Ntahobali was involved in and led *Interahamwe* in attacks against, and abductions of, Tutsi refugees during their stay at the EER; soldiers, both alone and accompanied by Ntahobali, came to the EER and were also involved in abductions of refugees during the same period; soldiers raped women and young girls at or near the EER school; Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers killed the abducted Tutsi refugees in the woods near the EER school complex. However, the Chamber does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali led the soldiers to the EER.

3.6.36.4.4 Nsabimana's Involvement in the EER Events

3966. Nsabimana claimed that the Security Council decided to move refugees to enable the proper functioning of the BPO and that *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire proposed the EER school as a safer place for them. He believed the refugees were given food and had access to water at the EER. 10825

3967. Witnesses RE, QY and QBQ all were Tutsis seeking refuge at the BPO at the time of the transfer to the EER. As such they provided eyewitness accounts of events at the BPO on the day of the transfer. Witnesses RE, QY and QBQ testified that Nsabimana ordered the transfer of the refugees to the EER. Nsabimana testified that the transfer of refugees from the BPO to the EER school was carried out pursuant to a decision of the Security Council. To this end, the Chamber recalls Nsabimana's testimony that upon a Directive of the Security Council, he made an application to the National Bank in Kigali to open a Security Council account in the name of civilian defence. The Chamber also recalls that with respect to the Nyange transfer the Security Council meeting took place in Nsabimana's office at the BPO, 10829 and in the hours after the meeting, Nsabimana, as the only person who could requisition the vehicles, found one bus to transport the refugees to Nyange. Necordingly, as a natural corollary of Witnesses RE, QY and QBQ's testimonies that Nsabimana ordered the transfer of the refugees, the Chamber considers it was Nsabimana, in his role as serving *préfet*, who put the Security Council decision into effect. This is consistent with Nsabimana's own testimony, that the decision to transfer the refugees was made by the Security Council.

3968. As to the motivation for moving the refugees from the BPO to the EER, the Chamber recalls that it accepted that the Security Council moved the refugees from the BPO to somewhere else to enable the proper functioning of the office, 10831 but also that the Security

-

¹⁰⁸²⁴ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 69-70 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁸²⁵ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 70, 74 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁸²⁶ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness RE); T. 19 March 2003 p. 36-b (Witness QY); T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).

¹⁰⁸²⁷ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 69-70 (Nsabimana).

T. 12 October 2006 p. 11 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 484 (Nsabimana) (Letter from Nsabimana to the National Bank of Kigali, 15 June 1994).

¹⁰⁸²⁹ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 80-83 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁸³⁰ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 82-83 (Nsabimana).

¹⁰⁸³¹ T. 9 October 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).

Council and Kalimanzira may have taken the decision to move the refugees from the BPO to hide evidence of the killing and displacement of refugees. 10832

3969. The events which occurred after the transfer to the EER further contradicts Nsabimana's testimony that the transfer was intended for the refugees' protection. The Chamber recalls its previous findings that Ntahobali was involved in and led soldiers and *Interahamwe* in attacks at the EER against Tutsi refugees between mid-May and the beginning of June 1994, that *Interahamwe* and soldiers abducted and killed refugees in the woods near the EER school complex, and that women and young girls were raped by soldiers at or near the EER school complex.

3970. In the circumstances, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that *Préfet* Nsabimana ordered the refugees be taken from the BPO to the EER pursuant to a Security Council decision, and rejects that the reason for the transfer was to protect the refugees.

3971. However, the Chamber recalls that Paragraph 6.39 was not pled in support of counts against Nsabimana for which reason the Chamber will make no finding as to Nsabimana's responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (1). The Chamber will however consider the extent of Nsabimana's responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) for the alleged criminal acts of Kanyabashi and other subordinates whom the Chamber found were involved in attacks at the EER.

3.6.36.4.5 Nyiramasuhuko's Involvement in the EER Events

3972. Although Paragraph 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment was also pled in support of Counts 2-3, 5-7, 9-10 against Nyiramasuhuko, the Chamber notes no evidence was led with respect to Nyiramasuhuko's involvement in events at the EER. ¹⁰⁸³³ In the circumstances, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko's involvement in these events has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.36.4.6 Kanyabashi's Involvement in the EER Events

3973. Although Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment was pled in support of all counts against Kanyabashi, the Chamber notes no evidence was led with respect to Kanyabashi's involvement in events at the EER. In the circumstances, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi's involvement in these events has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.37 Gitarama Meeting, Late May 1994

3.6.37.1 *Introduction*

3974. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from late 1990 until July 1994, military personnel, members of the government, political leaders, civil servants and other personalities conspired among themselves and with others to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and eliminate members of the opposition, so that they

¹⁰⁸³³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 47.

¹⁰⁸³² See Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 57.

could remain in power. The components of this plan consisted of, among other things, recourse to hatred and ethnic violence, the training of and distribution of weapons to militiamen as well as the preparation of lists of people to be eliminated. In executing the plan, they organised, ordered and participated in the massacres perpetrated against the Tutsi population and of moderate Hutus. Sylvain Nsabimana, Alphonse Nteziryayo, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, André Rwamakuba, Joseph Kanyabashi, Élie Ndayambaje, Ladislas Ntaganzwa and Shalom Arsène Ntahobali elaborated, adhered to and executed this plan. 10834

3975. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana's role in the conspiracy to commit genocide against the Tutsi population was to convene and attend meetings, assist the civil self-defence effort, supply fuel to help transport youths, distribute weapons to the *communes*, encourage youths to join the army, and encourage others to join in the genocidal effort to kill the Tutsis. ¹⁰⁸³⁵

3976. Among the meetings attended by Nsabimana for conspiracy purposes, the Prosecution singles out that of 28 May 1994 held in Gitarama *préfecture*, which was chaired by Prime Minister Kambanda. The Prosecution did not call any witness in support of this specific allegation, nor tender any exhibit in this regard. The Prosecution instead refers to the testimony of Nsabimana himself and submits that in his address during this meeting, Nsabimana asked for *gendarmes* to control the refugees and keep them together. According to the Prosecution this assertion contradicts Nsabimana's subsequent testimony that he did not know that he could use *gendarmes*. 10837

3977. The Nsabimana Defence submits that, contrary to what is alleged by the Prosecution, Nsabimana did not ask the *gendarmes* to intervene in order to control and gather together the refugees during this meeting. The Defence submits that the Prosecution's deduction misrepresents Nsabimana's testimony. ¹⁰⁸³⁸

3978. Nyiramasuhuko also testified about this meeting.

3.6.37.2 Preliminary Issues

3979. The Chamber notes that the Gitarama meeting of 28 May 1994 is not specifically pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, which is therefore rendered defective.

3980. The Chamber must then determine whether the Indictment is cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief made no reference to any witness who might have been expected to testify on this event. In addition, no witness statement was disclosed in this respect. Therefore, the defect has not been cured and the Chamber declines to make a finding in respect of this allegation. In any event, no Prosecution witness was called to testify on this particular meeting during the trial.

-

 $^{^{10834}\} Para.\ 5.1$ of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts).

¹⁰⁸³⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 232, para. 14.

¹⁰⁸³⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 240-241, para. 42.

¹⁰⁸³⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 230, 241, paras. 7, 42.

¹⁰⁸³⁸ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 p. 9.

3981. The Chamber however notes that the Defence did not dispute the fact that Nsabimana attended the meeting of 28 May 1994 in Gitarama which was intended for all *préfets*. 10839

3.6.38 Hotel Ibis and Hotel Faucon Killings, May and June 1994

3.6.38.1 *Introduction*

3982. The Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment alleges that in May and June 1994, Nteziryayo, who was staying at the same hotel as Robert Kajuga in Butare, ordered the *Interahamwe* to search for Tutsis and kill them. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo ordered his subordinates to kill a Tutsi man in the forest behind the Hotel Ibis. 10841 It also submits that Nteziryayo's subordinates, the *Interahamwe* members, took a group of Tutsis to "the hotel" where they were killed. In support of this allegation, the Prosecution relies on the evidence of Prosecution Witness OJ.

3983. In addition to the notice challenges set forth below, the Nteziryayo Defence challenges the credibility of Prosecution Witness QJ. It also submits that Kajuga's arrival at Hotel Ibis was unrelated to the fact that Nteziryayo was living there. It states that Nteziryayo was precluded from being a member of the *Interahamwe* by virtue of his age and status as a soldier, and questions whether the President of Rwanda would dismiss Nteziryayo from the army only then to accept him as a member of the *Interahamwe*. It asserts the Prosecution did not set out a precise date for the alleged presence of Nteziryayo, the identity of the *Interahamwe* concerned, the identity of the supposed victim at the Hotel Ibis, or any evidence that this man was killed other than testimony that he did not return. It submits that the Prosecution did not set out a precise date for the alleged massacre at the Hotel Faucon or substantiate their claims that Nteziryayo was in charge of the *Interahamwe*. The Nteziryayo Defence relies on the testimony of Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-17, AND-36, AND-59 and Nteziryayo.

3.6.38.2 Preliminary Issues

Hotel Ibis Allegation

3984. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that Prosecution Witness QJ's testimony in respect of the abduction and killing of a Tutsi at Hotel Ibis is outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and should therefore be excluded. The Chamber notes that while

_

¹⁰⁸³⁹ T. 21 September 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).

Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁸⁴¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 339, 364, 370, paras. 109, 190, 208.

¹⁰⁸⁴² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 366-367, paras. 197-198.

¹⁰⁸⁴³ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 80.

¹⁰⁸⁴⁴ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 80; T. 27 April 2009 p. 83 (French).

¹⁰⁸⁴⁵ Ntezirvavo Closing Brief, paras. 669, 681.

¹⁰⁸⁴⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 701, 704-705.

Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765 (*reiterating Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009, para. 39). In its Decision of 25 February 2009, the Chamber ruled that it would consider issues relating to certain alleged defects in the indictment, vagueness and lack of notice in its final deliberations. *See Nteziryayo*, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009.

Paragraph 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment makes a general accusation that Nteziryayo ordered the *Interahamwe* to kill Tutsis and mentions that Nteziryayo was staying at the same hotel in Butare as Robert Kajuga, this paragraph does not indicate the location of the alleged killing. Therefore, Paragraph 6.30 is defective.

3985. The summary of Witness QJ's anticipated testimony included in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Nteziryayo and the *Interahamwe* president murdered; that Nteziryayo lived in the Hotel Ibis; and that around late May, Nteziryayo gave an order to "get rid of the dirt." Prosecution Witness QJ's statement of 8 May 1996, disclosed on 4 December 2000, provided that: in early May, when the *Interahamwe* arrived in Butare from Kigali "that Colonel sent them to search for people to kill"; and that Witness QJ heard Nteziryayo give orders to *Interahamwe* to go and look for someone who was hiding in the Hotel Ibis, stating "get rid of that dirt." The Indictment clearly alleges that Nteziryayo was staying with Robert Kajuga. Nteziryayo testified that it was public knowledge that Kajuga was the president of the *Interahamwe*. The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief further clarified that Nteziryayo and Kajuga were staying at the Hotel Ibis and participated in murder. Furthermore, these subsequent disclosures clearly set forth the Hotel Ibis as the location where the man was allegedly ordered killed by Nteziryayo. Therefore, the Chamber finds that the defect in the Indictment was cured.

Hotel Faucon Allegation

3986. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that Witness QJ's testimony regarding killings at the Hotel Faucon is also outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and should thus be excluded. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment does not allege that Nteziryayo was responsible for killings at the Hotel Faucon. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.30 was defective in this respect.

3987. The Chamber observes that the summary of Witness QJ's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Witness QJ saw Nteziryayo and the *Interahamwe* president murder. It also states that Nteziryayo lived at the Hotel Ibis in Butare and that Witness QJ saw Nteziryayo lead a group of men dressed in both military and civilian clothes, armed with rifles, hand grenades, machetes, clubs and hoes. There is no mention in the summary of Witness QJ's anticipated testimony of any killings at the Hotel Faucon.

3988. In his statement of 8 May 1996, Witness QJ testified that in early June 1994, he witnessed the killings of Bosco, Gibert and Verdaste, among others. The *Interahamwe*,

¹⁰⁸⁴⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QJ (4) ("QJ saw Nteziryayo and the *Interahamwe* president murder. QJ survived because of his Hutu identification card. QJ states that Nteziryayo lived at the hotel Ibis in Butare. QJ saw Nteziryayo lead a group of men dressed in both military and civilian clothes, armed with rifles, hand grenades, machetes, clubs, and hoes. Around late May, QJ heard Nteziryayo giving an order to 'get rid of the dirt.'").

¹⁰⁸⁴⁹ 8 May 1996, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 4 December 2000.

¹⁰⁸⁵⁰ Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁸⁵¹ T. 5 July 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁸⁵² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QJ (4).

¹⁰⁸⁵³ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹⁰⁸⁵⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QJ (4).

¹⁰⁸⁵⁵ 8 May 1996, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 4 December 2000.

who were staying at the Hotel Ibis with their president, Robert Kajuga, and Nteziryayo, found them where they were hidden at the Hotel Faucon and killed them all with clubs. All the victims were Tutsis. In his statement of 28 October 1997, Witness QJ mentioned the killings of Bosco and Safari at the Hotel Faucon but did not mention Nteziryayo's alleged involvement in these events. ¹⁰⁸⁵⁶

3989. The 8 May 1996 statement mentions Nteziryayo's alleged role in the killings at the Hotel Faucon. This allegation was not contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or its Appendix. The Chamber finds that the Defence was not sufficiently informed of the material facts that the Prosecution intended to prove at trial, and the defect in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment was not cured. Accordingly, the Chamber will not base a conviction on the allegation that Nteziryayo authorised killings at the Hotel Faucon. The Chamber will only consider the allegation that Nteziryayo ordered his subordinates to kill a Tutsi in the vicinity of the Hotel Ibis.

3.6.38.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QJ

3990. Witness QJ, a Tutsi hotel worker in Butare town, testified that he had falsified his identity card to indicate that he was Hutu. He did this prior to the start of the killings because it made it easier to move about freely and to acquire employment. He had a forged identity card because the authorities made a mistake and lightly crossed out the word Tutsi on his card. He deepened the crossing out of Tutsi on the identity card. ¹⁰⁸⁵⁷ The authorities had also crossed out Hutu but they had not crossed it out properly. ¹⁰⁸⁵⁸ After the killings started, Witness QJ continued to travel freely around Butare town on account of his identity card. No one knew that he was a Tutsi because he was not from Butare. He could not return to his home *commune* because the identity card could not be used there. ¹⁰⁸⁵⁹ He testified that possession of an identity card indicating Hutu ethnicity meant that "no one could arrest [him]". ¹⁰⁸⁶⁰ Witness QJ later conceded that many of those in or around Hotel Faucon knew or suspected that he was in fact Tutsi. ¹⁰⁸⁶¹

3991. Witness QJ knew Nteziryayo well as Nteziryayo was a resident guest at the hotel where Witness QJ worked around 10 April 1994. When the hotel closed because of the deteriorating security situation in Butare town, Nteziryayo moved to the Hotel Ibis, where he lived with Robert Kajuga, president of the *Interahamwe*, until Nteziryayo went into exile. Nteziryayo did not come to the hotel where Witness QJ worked between its closure in mid-April 1994 and the end of June 1994. 10864

```
10856 28 October 1997, Statement of Witness QJ, disclosed 4 December 2000.

10857 T. 8 November 2001 p. 138 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

10858 T. 13 November 2001 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

10859 T. 13 November 2001 pp. 54, 59 (Witness QJ).

10860 T. 13 November 2001 pp. 54 (Witness QJ).

10861 T. 13 November 2001 pp. 136-139 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

10862 T. 14 November 2001 p. 66 (Witness QJ).

10863 T. 13 November 2001 p. 21 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 pp. 65-66, 74-75 (Witness QJ).

10864 T. 14 November 2001 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
```

1. 14 140 veimoer 2001 p. 40 (105) (Withess

3992. The hotel closed around 16, 17 or 20 April 1994, when the owner left the hotel and went into exile. 10865 About 10 people remained in the hotel. 10866 Although the hotel was closed, it was unlocked and some soldiers from ESO who were stationed on the road outside came to the hotel for food and to shelter from the sun. 10867 A soldier known to the witness, Jean-Baptiste, was among them. 10868

3993. Witness QJ testified he went to the Hotel Ibis regularly between April and the end of June 1994 to fetch water. He saw Nteziryayo there on several occasions. Witness QJ testified that Nteziryayo lived at the hotel and often went to its bar for a drink. Witness QJ said that around this time he saw Nteziryayo every day. The *Interahamwe* were guarding Robert Kajuga at the Hotel Ibis. Witness QJ testified that he realised that Nteziryayo was a deputy to Robert Kajuga when he once heard Nteziryayo give orders to the *Interahamwe*. He is the saw Nteziryayo give orders to the *Interahamwe*.

3994. Witness QJ testified that at the Hotel Ibis bar one day, while having a drink with friends, he saw Nteziryayo order the *Interahamwe* to take away a Tutsi man who had claimed to be of a different ethnicity and who was hiding at Hotel Ibis. Nteziryayo told the *Interahamwe*, who had found and beaten the Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis to take him and kill him near the forest, stating, "[t]ake this gentleman and go and kill him on the hill instead of killing him here in the Hotel Ibis." Witness QJ testified that this order was carried out by the *Interahamwe*. The *Interahamwe* took the Tutsi man away and the man did not return.

3995. Witness QJ stated that the *Interahamwe* were under the orders of their leaders, Robert Kajuga, who was their president, and Nteziryayo, who lived with and was deputy to Kajuga. ¹⁰⁸⁷⁸ The witness identified Nteziryayo in court. ¹⁰⁸⁷⁹

3996. Witness QJ initially stated that the Tutsi man was taken away and not seen again but on cross-examination testified that the *Interahamwe* did carry out the order to execute the man. Witness QJ testified that he could not remember the names of the friends with whom he was drinking in the Hotel Ibis bar and that he could not say how many *Interahamwe* were involved in abducting the Tutsi man from that bar. Witness QJ also conceded that he had merely heard from others that Kajuga was national president of the *Interahamwe*, that he did

```
<sup>10865</sup> T. 14 November 2001 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10866</sup> T. 14 November 2001 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10867</sup> T. 14 November 2001 pp. 38, 41 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10868</sup> T. 14 November 2001 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10869</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 124 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 p. 67 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10870</sup> T. 14 November 2001 p. 67 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10871</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 123-124 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10872</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10873</sup> T. 14 November 2001 pp. 74-75 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10874</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 124-126 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10875</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 124-126 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10876</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 10 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10877</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 125 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10878</sup> T. 8 November 2001 pp. 113-115, 117 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
<sup>10879</sup> T. 12 November 2001 p. 36 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10880</sup> T. 8 November 2001 p. 125 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QJ).
<sup>10881</sup> T. 14 November 2001 pp. 76-78 (Witness QJ).
```

not know whether Kajuga was Tutsi, and that Kajuga was either bed-ridden or merely present and "not doing anything" at the bar when Witness QJ saw him. 10882 He did not know whether Kajuga and Nteziryayo lived in the same building within Hotel Ibis and did not see them together. 10883

3997. Witness QJ testified that one morning towards the end of May or early June 1994 Witness AND-17 was among the attackers who killed Tutsis who were staying at the Hotel Faucon. He led a soldier named Jean-Baptiste to the hotel cellar where the Tutsis were hiding. 10884

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-17

3998. Witness AND-17, a Hutu, testified that he had known Witness QJ since 1986 and was with him at all times between April and June 1994. 10885 He testified that Witness QJ did not go to Hotel Ibis at any time and, therefore, would not have witnessed anything that happened there. 10886

3999. In cross-examination, the witness admitted that he did not share a room with Witness OJ, they did not stay in the same room at night, he did not accompany Witness OJ during his walks in the garden, and did not spend all day with Witness QJ in his room. 10887 Witness AND-17 testified that Witness QJ did not assist him in his work between 7.00 and 11.00 a.m. each day. 10888 Except for one day, Witness QJ did not accompany the witness to purchase cigarettes. The witness further testified that Witness QJ was under no obligation to report to the witness concerning his whereabouts, 10890 and that he did not know what Witness QJ did on 20 April 1994 while Witness AND-17 was visiting his parents. 10891

4000. At the end of May, a soldier named Jean-Baptiste entered the Hotel Faucon. 10892 Jean-Baptiste asked Witness AND-17 to show him where he had hidden the *Invenzi* in the hotel. Witness AND-17 explained that he had not hidden *Invenzi*, only the hotel staff. ¹⁰⁸⁹³ They left the kitchen and met Witness QJ. Jean-Baptiste told Witness QJ that he knew where the staff members were hidden, and went to the basement room below the owner's house. The door was smashed in and those inside were asked to come out. 10894

¹⁰⁸⁸² T. 14 November 2001 pp. 73-74 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁸⁸³ T. 14 November 2001 p. 75 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁴ T. 8 November 2001 p. 158; T. 8 November 2001 p. 113 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 pp. 47, 54-55 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁵ T. 30 January 2007 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁶ T. 30 January 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁷ T. 31 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁸ T. 31 January 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁸⁹ T. 31 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁹⁰ T. 31 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁹¹ T. 31 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁹² T. 31 January 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁹³ T. 30 January 2007 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁸⁹⁴ T. 30 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

- 4001. Jean-Baptiste told Witness AND-17 to kill two of the Tutsis with a hoe, but the witness responded that he could not. 10895 A group of *Interahamwe* came to the Hotel Faucon, but they did not have a leader. 10896 One of the bandits, named Michel, took the hoe and used it to kill the two Tutsis. 10897
- 4002. After the two were killed, Witness AND-17 was ordered to open all the hotel rooms. The following day, Witness AND-17, Witness QJ and another colleague buried the two bodies in the hotel garden. 10898
- 4003. Witness AND-17 testified that Witness QJ did not possess an identity card which said that he was Hutu and he did not travel around town freely. Witness QJ did not have an identity card at all and had to pay killers not to kill him on a number of occasions. Dean-Baptiste asked to see Witness QJ's identity card. After Witness QJ told Jean-Baptiste that he did not have a card, Jean-Baptiste told him he would be killed, ascertaining that he was Tutsi. Witness QJ then offered Jean-Baptiste money to spare his life, and Jean-Baptiste asked Witness QJ and the witness where the other hotel workers were.
- 4004. Witness AND-17 testified that Nteziryayo had nothing to do with the youths who called themselves "*Interahamwe*". The witness never observed him among these youths. 10904

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-59

4005. Witness AND-59, a Hutu student in 1994, 10905 testified that Prosecution Witness QJ was a member of *Ibuka* and that this association was engaged in the coaching of witnesses to influence testimonies given before this Tribunal. 10906

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCKJ

4006. Witness WCKJ, a Hutu educator, ¹⁰⁹⁰⁷ testified that after the President died a roadblock was erected at the Hotel Ibis. He stated that these roadblocks were manned by people wearing military uniform. ¹⁰⁹⁰⁸ Witness WCKJ testified that though he had made reference to a roadblock at Hotel Ibis and one at Hotel Faucon, there was only a roadblock at Hotel Faucon. ¹⁰⁹⁰⁹

```
10895 T. 30 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10896 T. 30 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10897 T. 30 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10898 T. 30 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10899 T. 31 January 2007 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10900 T. 30 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10901 T. 30 January 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10902 T. 30 January 2007 p. 31 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10903 T. 30 January 2007 p. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10904 T. 31 January 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).
10905 T. 31 January 2007 p. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).
10906 T. 3 November 2008 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness AND-59).
10907 Defence Exhibit 385 (Ntahobali) (Personal Particulars).
10908 T. 31 January 2006 p. 22 (Witness WCKJ).
10909 T. 31 January 2006 p. 40 (Witness WCKJ).
```

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

4007. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu detainee, testified that there was a small roadblock by the Hotel Ibis manned by *Interahamwe* who wore regular civilian trousers and camouflage shirts. The witness heard that Kajuga, the head of the *Interahamwe*, was staying at the Hotel Ibis and that was why there was a small roadblock at the entrance of the courtyard to the Hotel Ibis. He did not hear of a soldier named Alphonse Nteziryayo staying at the Hotel Ibis with Kajuga nor did he know of such a soldier. 10911

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

4008. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, ¹⁰⁹¹² stated that Robert Kajuga was the national leader of the *Interahamwe*. ¹⁰⁹¹³ He believed that Kajuga arrived in Ngoma *commune* in late April or early May 1994 and during the time he spent in Ngoma, he stayed in the rear courtyard of Hotel Ibis. Kajuga was accompanied by approximately 30 *Interahamwe* who he had heard arrived in two vehicles. ¹⁰⁹¹⁴ Approximately four *Interahamwe* were at the entrance to the rear courtyard guarding Kajuga, where they had erected a roadblock behind the metal gate made of two trees trunks and cloth. ¹⁰⁹¹⁵ The *Interahamwe* wore half-military, half-civilian clothing (of *kitenge* cloth) and carried Kalashnikov guns. The witness never saw Kajuga himself. ¹⁰⁹¹⁶ He did not know anything regarding Kajuga's activities while he was at the hotel. ¹⁰⁹¹⁷ The witness passed the roadblock almost every morning and evening but never stopped to talk to the *Interahamwe* there.

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

4009. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, testified that because of the security situation, there was a police post at the Kigali Bank, near Hotel Ibis, from where they could see the happenings at the hotel. Not far from the main entrance near the rear courtyard of the Hotel Ibis, the *Interahamwe* carrying Kalashnikov guns set up a roadblock to prevent anyone from accessing the hotel. The witness said it could be noticed that the *Interahamwe* were watching or manning something there. 10920

4010. Witness D-2-5-I testified that on 26 or 27 April, he learned that the leader of the *Interahamwe* was at the Hotel Ibis. 10921 He said the *Interahamwe* stayed at Hotel Ibis until

¹⁰⁹¹⁰ T. 30 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹⁰⁹¹¹ T. 10 September 2007 pp. 23, 56-57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹⁰⁹¹² Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹³ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹⁴ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹⁵ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 p. 69 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 4, 8 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹⁶ T. 29 November 2007 p. 6; T. 5 December 2007 pp. 70-72 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 7-8 (Witness D-2-

¹⁰⁹¹⁷ T. 6 December 2007 p. 9 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹⁸ T. 5 December 2007 p. 73 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 p. 4 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁰⁹¹⁹ T. 22 January 2008 pp. 35, 37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰⁹²⁰ T. 22 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁰⁹²¹ T. 22 January 2008 pp. 37-38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

people started leaving Butare town in great numbers. The witness testified that these *Interahamwe* were involved in killings. He denied having ever been an *Interahamwe* himself. He denied having ever been an *Interahamwe* himself.

<u>Ntahobali</u>

- 4011. Ntahobali testified that he knew Robert Kajuga and they met twice before President Habyarimana's death. The first time they met was in 1993 and the second was towards the end of 1993 or early 1994 during a family function. On that second occasion, Ntahobali got to know that Robert Kajuga was a member of the MRND party or more precisely one of the leading figures of the MRND youth wing.
- 4012. Ntahobali testified that he met Robert Kajuga again at Hotel Ibis in Butare around 15 June 1994. Ntahobali was informed that Kajuga was sick and stayed at that hotel. He paid Kajuga a brief visit for three to five minutes. Two days later, he saw Kajuga's vehicle drive past but he did not know if Kajuga was in or not. He stated that he no longer met Kajuga after this short encounter at the Hotel Ibis. 10928
- 4013. Ntahobali testified that he learned from Georges Rutaganda that Robert Kajuga arrived at Butare on 24 May 1994, accompanied by many people. 10929 He stated: "Rutaganda was coming back from Cyangugu, and when he passed through Butare on that same day, he met Robert Kajuga on the way and the latter told him that he was going to Butare for treatment at the university hospital". 10930 Ntahobali testified that Robert Kajuga was bed-ridden when he visited him at the Hotel Ibis and that his room was towards the rear where the rooms of the hotel were. 10931 Kajuga came to Butare in the company of armed young men referred to as *Interahamwe*. 10932 Ntahobali testified that Alexis Kamana and Cekeli were among the people who accompanied Kajuga when they met at the Hotel Ibis. 10933 Ntahobali and the two aforementioned persons went to the same primary school. 10934 Dieudonné was also with Kajuga on that day. 10935

Nteziryayo

4014. Nteziryayo denied ordering the *Interahamwe* to kill a Tutsi man at Hotel Ibis. He claimed that he was not the chief of the *Interahamwe* and that he did not have authority to issue orders to them. He stated that there were other known Tutsis staying at Hotel Ibis that

```
T. 22 January 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

10923 T. 29 January 2008 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

10924 T. 23 January 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

10925 T. 25 April 2006 p. 62 (Ntahobali).

10926 T. 25 April 2006 p. 63 (Ntahobali).

10927 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 64-65 (Ntahobali).

10928 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 65 (Ntahobali).

10929 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 65, 67 (Ntahobali).

10930 T. 25 April 2006 pp. 67 (Ntahobali).

10931 T. 3 May 2006 pp. 67 (Ntahobali).

10932 T. 22 May 2006 pp. 65 (Ntahobali).

10933 T. 22 June 2006 pp. 61 (Ntahobali).

10934 T. 22 June 2006 pp. 63 (ICS) (Ntahobali).

10935 T. 22 June 2006 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Ntahobali).
```

were not killed by any *Interahamwe*. ¹⁰⁹³⁶ He testified that from 15 April 1994 to 3 July 1994, the duration of his stay at Hotel Ibis, no murder was committed in his presence at Hotel Ibis and he heard no reports of such a killing. ¹⁰⁹³⁷

4015. Nteziryayo testified that Robert Kajuga arrived at the Hotel Ibis on either 24 or 25 May 1994, but that he was not in the hotel on 1 and 2 May 1994. Nteziryayo did not know in advance that Kajuga was coming to the hotel. In cross-examination, Nteziryayo contested the proposition that Kajuga arrived with armed *Interahamwe* in late April 1994 at Hotel Ibis. Nteziryayo denied that he was staying at Hotel Ibis because that was where he and Robert Kajuga had set up the *Interahamwe* headquarters. He denied that his residence at Hotel Ibis and his participation in the border *commune* meetings in May 1994 were in connection with his involvement in the civilian self-defence programme from April to July 1994 in Butare *préfecture*. 10942

4016. Nteziryayo testified that he knew Kajuga casually in 1978 or 1979 when they both worked in Kigali. He met Kajuga in the context of his work at the *gendarmerie* but they never visited each other in their homes. He knew that in May 1994 Robert Kajuga was the president of the national *Interahamwe*, which was public knowledge in Rwanda. Nteziryayo estimated that in 1994, Kajuga was between 25 and 30 years old. Nteziryayo testified that he spoke to Kajuga while they were staying in the Hotel Ibis.

4017. Kajuga arrived in the company of his *fiancé* and with probably less than 10 guards, who were young people aged between 18 and 25 years. Sometimes they appeared in civilian attire. Some of them wore a mixture of civilian and military attire. The clothes were often well-used and the military trousers and jackets were often not matching. Nteziryayo testified that among the 10 persons, two or three of them were protecting Robert Kajuga and were carrying Kalashnikovs. These were the only armed persons Nteziryayo noticed at the Hotel Ibis between 15 April and 3 July 1994.

4018. Nteziryayo testified that Déodone Niyitegeka, a member of the national committee of the *Interahamwe*, and a man called Sokolov, whom Nteziryayo knew to be *Interahamwe*, arrived together with Robert Kajuga. Nteziryayo knew Niyitegeka before April 1994 when

```
<sup>10936</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10937</sup> T. 16 May 2007 pp. 37-38 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10938</sup> T. 16 May 2007 pp. 18-21 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10939</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10940</sup> T. 28 June 2007 pp. 34-35 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10941</sup> T. 5 July 2007 p. 40 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10942</sup> T. 9 July 2007 p. 60 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10943</sup> T. 16 May 2007 pp. 19, 21 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10944</sup> T. 5 July 2007 pp. 33-34 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10945</sup> T. 5 July 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10946</sup> T. 5 July 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10947</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 22 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10948</sup> T. 16 May 2007 pp. 21-22 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10949</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 22 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10950</sup> T. 21 June 2007 p. 16; T. 28 June 2007 pp. 30-31 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10951</sup> T. 28 June 2007 p. 30 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>10952</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 21; T. 28 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).
```

he worked in the company known as Inter-freight. He estimated Niyitegeka to be in his 30s in 1994. Niyitegeka was regularly at the Hotel Ibis during Kajuga's stay in late May and June 1994 and Sokolov was one of Kajuga's companions. Nteziryayo said that he knew them and spoke with them. He also stated that he visited Kajuga from time to time. He also stated that he visited Kajuga from time to time.

4019. Nteziryayo testified that for about a month, Kajuga and his companions were lodged at the Hotel Ibis until they left the hotel around late June 1994, when the RPF was advancing on the town. Kajuga stayed most of the time in his room as he was bed-ridden. Nteziryayo did not see Kajuga receive people when he was in his room. Kajuga stayed at the Hotel Ibis because it was the only hotel open at that time in Butare and because he had no family in Butare. Nteziryayo stated that this was the only period during which he saw Kajuga in Butare.

4020. Kajuga had a room where most of the lodgings were, in a building behind the main Hotel Ibis building; therefore it was impossible to see Kajuga's room from the main road passing in front of Hotel Ibis. *Interahamwe* guarded the entrance to the road leading to the rooms, where Kajuga stayed, but Nteziryayo contested that they prevented anybody from going in or that they closed the entrance of the Hotel Ibis. He added that *Interahamwe* watched where the people who entered the hotel were going. ¹⁰⁹⁶¹

4021. Nteziryayo testified that on his arrival at the Hotel Ibis, Kajuga was seriously ill. ¹⁰⁹⁶² The physicians attending Kajuga were concerned about his health condition. He was permanently attended to by two nurses and he often received drips or intravenous fluid. ¹⁰⁹⁶³ He did not know why Kajuga did not go to hospital but remained at Hotel Ibis for about a month, despite his serious illness. ¹⁰⁹⁶⁴ Nteziryayo testified that Kajuga died around September or October 1994. ¹⁰⁹⁶⁵

4022. Nteziryayo had not heard that there were *Interahamwe* in Butare town before the arrival of Kajuga at the Hotel Ibis. He also denied having heard at that time that the persons who accompanied Kajuga to Hotel Ibis had killed people in Butare town. Nteziryayo testified that the presence of Kajuga and himself did not transform the Hotel Ibis into the unofficial military headquarters of the campaign to commit genocide. He had never worked with Kajuga and he arrived at the Hotel Ibis over one month before Kajuga came to the hotel. Nteziryayo stated that he was not connected to *Interahamwe* and stayed by himself at the

```
10953 T. 5 July 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).
10955 T. 16 May 2007 p. 35; T. 28 June 2007 p. 33; T. 5 July 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).
10956 T. 16 May 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).
10957 T. 28 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).
10958 T. 16 May 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).
10959 T. 16 May 2007 pp. 18, 24 (Nteziryayo).
10960 T. 13 June 2007 p. 64 (Nteziryayo).
10961 T. 28 June 2007 pp. 33-34 (Nteziryayo).
10962 T. 16 May 2007 pp. 22 (Nteziryayo).
10963 T. 16 May 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).
10964 T. 28 June 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).
10965 T. 16 May 2007 p. 28 (Nteziryayo).
10966 T. 5 July 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).
10967 T. 28 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
10967 T. 28 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
10967 T. 28 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
```

hotel. Nteziryayo testified that he had no authority to exercise over the persons accompanying Kajuga. 10969

4023. Nteziryayo testified that between 6 April 1994 and 3 July 1994, he heard that the *Interahamwe* had been involved in violent acts in Rwanda, before he met Kajuga at Hotel Ibis. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁰ He denied having heard that they had been involved in acts of rape. ¹⁰⁹⁷¹ Nteziryayo alleged that there were also criminal youths who were disguised as the youth wings of the various political parties. ¹⁰⁹⁷² Nteziryayo testified that between 15 April and July 1994, there were no roadblocks in front of Hotel Ibis. ¹⁰⁹⁷³ Nteziryayo confirmed that civilians were stopped at the roadblocks and that their identification and bags were checked in Butare *préfecture* from 16 April to 3 July 1994. Nteziryayo stated that he was stopped and checked at roadblocks, particularly between the *Rectorat* and the Hotel Ibis, in the days after he arrived in Butare. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁴ Nteziryayo stated that the *Banque de Kigali* building and the Hotel Ibis were between 10 to 15 metres apart. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁵

3.6.38.4 Deliberations

4024. It is not contested that Robert Kajuga was the president of the national *Interahamwe* in Rwanda, ¹⁰⁹⁷⁶ and that he was staying at the Hotel Ibis with *Interahamwe* when he arrived in Butare town. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁷ The Parties do not contest that Nteziryayo was also staying at the Hotel Ibis from 15 April until 3 July 1994. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁸ What is contested is Nteziryayo's role and authority with regard to the *Interahamwe*, and whether the *Interahamwe* killed a Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis on the orders of Nteziryayo.

4025. Witness QJ was the only witness to testify as to the killing of a Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis by *Interahamwe* on the orders of Nteziryayo. Although staying at another hotel, Witness QJ stated that he went to the Hotel Ibis regularly between April and June 1994. During one such visit he saw Nteziryayo tell the *Interahamwe*, who had already beaten a Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis, to take him and kill him near the forest. ¹⁰⁹⁷⁹

¹⁰⁹⁶⁸ T. 16 May 2007 p. 25 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁶⁹ T. 21 June 2007 p. 16 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁰ T. 5 July 2007 pp. 35-36 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷¹ T. 5 July 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷² T. 5 July 2007 pp. 36-37 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷³ T. 13 June 2007 p. 64 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁴ T. 4 July 2007 pp. 59-60 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁵ T. 13 June 2007 p. 66; T. 14 June 2007 p. 13 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁶ T. 5 July 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo); T. 14 November 2001 p. 73 (Witness QJ); T. 10 September 2007 pp. 23, 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 28 November 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY)

^{56 (}ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 28 November 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

10977 T. 14 November 2001 pp. 74-75 (Witness QJ); T. 28 November 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY);
T. 5 December 2007 pp. 69-70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 6 December 2007 p. 8 (Witness D-2-YYYY); T.

²² May 2006 p. 65 (Ntahobali); T. 16 May 2007 pp. 21-22 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁸ T. 16 May 2007 p. 37 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁰⁹⁷⁹ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 124-126 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QJ).

4026. The two hotels were very near one another. ¹⁰⁹⁸⁰ Witness QJ testified that he was familiar with the soldiers manning the Hotel Faucon roadblock. ¹⁰⁹⁸¹ Therefore, this would not have prevented Witness QJ from walking to the Hotel Ibis from April to June 1994.

4027. Further, Witness QJ testified that he had an identification card from before the war that indicated his ethnicity as being Hutu and that he was not from Ngoma *commune* and therefore was not known as a Tutsi in this locale. ¹⁰⁹⁸² He was living openly without being targeted as a Tutsi, although some people suspected him of being Tutsi. ¹⁰⁹⁸³

4028. Witness AND-17 questioned Witness QJ's account, stating Witness QJ was always at the same hotel as he was, and therefore would not have had an opportunity to go to the Hotel Ibis to witness the alleged event. However, Witness AND-17 admitted that he did not share a room with Witness QJ, he did not accompany Witness QJ during his walks in the garden, and did not spend all day with Witness QJ in his room. Witness QJ did not normally accompany Witness AND-17 to purchase cigarettes. From this evidence, the Chamber concludes that Witness AND-17 was not always aware of Witness QJ's whereabouts.

4029. Witness AND-17 further testified that Witness QJ did not have an identification card. This testimony was apparently based upon Witness QJ's response to the soldier Jean-Baptiste who demanded Witness QJ's identification just prior to killing several Tutsis who were hiding at the Hotel Faucon. Witness QJ testified that Witness AND-17 showed Jean-Baptiste the location of the Tutsis hiding at the Hotel Faucon before they were killed and participated in the attacks. Witness AND-17 denied his involvement stating Jean-Baptiste already knew the location of the Tutsis who were hiding and that he declined Jean-Baptiste's order to kill the Tutsis. Witness QJ was not cross-examined as to Witness AND-17's involvement in the killings. The Chamber observes that Witness AND-17 had been implicated in these killings, and therefore considers it is not surprising that Witness AND-17 would attempt to limit his alleged involvement by asserting Jean-Baptiste acted on his own information and that Witness AND-17 refused to participate in the killings. In sum, the Chamber does not find this witness credible in relation to these events.

4030. Nteziryayo denied that he had ordered the killing of a Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis. He testified that from 15 April 1994 to 3 July 1994, the duration of his stay at Hotel Ibis, no murder was committed in his presence at Hotel Ibis and he heard no reports of such a killing. However, the Chamber finds Nteziryayo was not credible on this issue. He claimed

¹⁰⁹⁸⁰ Defence Exhibit 438 (Nsabimana) (Photograph of Hotel Faucon); Defence Exhibit 439 (Nsabimana) (Photograph of Hotel Ibis); T. 28 June 2006 pp. 20-24 (Ramadhan); Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites).

¹⁰⁹⁸ T. 14 November 2001 pp. 38-39 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁹⁸² T. 13 November 2001 pp. 54, 59 (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁹⁸³ T. 13 November 2001 p. 54; T. 13 November 2001 p. 139 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 pp. 14-19 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁴ T. 30 January 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁵ T. 31 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁶ T. 31 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁷ T. 30 January 2007 pp. 31-32 (ICS); T. 31 January 2007 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁸ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 111-113 (ICS); T. 14 November 2001 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹⁰⁹⁸⁹ T. 30 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-17).

¹⁰⁹⁹⁰ T. 16 May 2007 pp. 37-38 (Ntezirvayo).

that there was no roadblock at the Hotel Ibis. ¹⁰⁹⁹¹ This point was contradicted by Defence Witnesses D-2-13-D, D-2-YYYY, D-2-5-I, and WCKJ. Witness D-2-13-D testified that the *Interahamwe* manned a small roadblock by the Hotel Ibis. ¹⁰⁹⁹² Witness D-2-YYYY said that four *Interahamwe* set up a roadblock guarding the entrance to the Hotel Ibis roadblock to protect Kajuga and that he passed the roadblock almost every morning. ¹⁰⁹⁹³ Witness D-2-5-I provided a consistent account, saying the *Interahamwe* carried Kalashnikov guns and set up a roadblock to prevent anyone from accessing the hotel. ¹⁰⁹⁹⁴ Witness D-2-5-I further testified that these *Interahamwe* were involved in massacres. ¹⁰⁹⁹⁵ Witness WCKJ also stated that there was a roadblock at the Hotel Ibis, but later reversed his position, stating there was only a roadblock at the Hotel Faucon. ¹⁰⁹⁹⁶ The Chamber refers to its finding that roadblocks were used to target and kill Tutsis (). Further, Nteziryayo acknowledged that between 6 April 1994 and 3 July 1994, he heard that the *Interahamwe* had been involved in violent acts in Rwanda, prior to Kajuga's arrival at the Hotel Ibis. ¹⁰⁹⁹⁷ Therefore, it is not surprising that Nteziryayo would attempt to dissociate himself and his residence from a roadblock manned by *Interahamwe*.

4031. The Chamber notes that the *Interahamwe* was one of the major militia groups in Rwanda and its president, Robert Kajuga, was residing at the same location as Nteziryayo. Nteziryayo acknowledged speaking with Kajuga from time to time, but denied that they discussed anything of substance. Kajuga was apparently very ill. Nteziryayo testified that he knew and spoke with two of Kajuga's *Interahamwe*, named Niyitegeka and Sokolov, who were staying at the hotel. In the Chamber's view however, the mere fact that Nteziryayo and Kajuga both stayed at the Hotel Ibis does not support Nteziryayo's culpability for crimes committed at the Hotel Ibis.

4032. Witness QJ testified that he knew that Nteziryayo had authority over the *Interahamwe* because he gave them orders and they were obeyed. The *Interahamwe* took away the Tutsi man at the Hotel Ibis and that man did not return. The allegation that his orders were obeyed by the *Interahamwe* at the Hotel Ibis is supported by the fact that Kajuga was very sick and apparently unable to provide direct leadership, and by the fact that Nteziryayo was experienced in training and organising militiamen, thereby lending credence to Witness QJ's testimony that Nteziryayo gave orders to these *Interahamwe*.

4033. Nonetheless, the Chamber notes that Witness QJ was the only witness to testify that Nteziryayo ordered *Interahamwe* to kill a Tutsi man. Witness QJ initially stated that the Tutsi

```
10991 T. 13 June 2007 p. 64 (Nteziryayo).
10992 T. 30 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
10993 T. 28 November 2007 pp. 63-64 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 pp. 69, 73 (ICS); T. 6 December 2007 pp. 4-5 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
10994 T. 22 January 2008 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
10995 T. 29 January 2008 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
10996 T. 31 January 2006 pp. 22, 40 (Witness WCKJ).
10997 T. 5 July 2007 pp. 35-36 (Nteziryayo).
10998 T. 16 May 2007 p. 22 (Nteziryayo).
10999 T. 16 May 2007 p. 21; T. 28 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).
11000 T. 14 November 2001 pp. 74-75 (Witness QJ).
11001 T. 8 November 2001 pp. 124-125 (ICS) (Witness QJ).
```

man was taken away and not seen again. 11002 He did not explicitly say that the man was killed, but on cross-examination he clarified that the Interahamwe did carry out the order to execute the man. 11003 However, there was no evidence that Witness QJ saw the man killed or saw the body of the man outside the Hotel Ibis. In these circumstances, absent corroboration of Witness OJ's version of events, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has not proven this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.6.39 Killing of Former Conseiller Vincent Nkulikiyinka, May and June 1994

3.6.39.1 Introduction

4034. Paragraph 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that in May and June 1994, Nteziryayo ordered the *Interahamwe* to search for Tutsis and kill them. 11004

4035. The Prosecution submits that during a meeting held at the commune office, when Nteziryayo was already *préfet*, he was told there was a *conseiller* who had sought refuge in the *commune* office, named Kofi Musinya. 11005 Nteziryayo gave orders to kill this man, if he was still hiding there and that no communal property should be destroyed. 11006 The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness QBV.

4036. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that allegations relating to Mugusa commune, including the killing of Vincent Nkulikiyinka, are not pled in the Indictment 11007 and should therefore be excluded from the evidence. 11008 In the alternative, the Nteziryayo Defence contends that Nteziryayo was not involved in the death of Vincent Nkulikiyinka and relies on Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-14, AND-5, AND-16 and AND-72 in this regard. 11009

3.6.39.2 Preliminary Issues

4037. The Chamber observes that the killing of Vincent Nkulikiyinka is not specifically pled in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment such that the Indictment is defective. The Chamber must then determine whether the Indictment has been cured of these defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

4038. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that neither in the Pre-Trial Brief and its Appendix, nor the Prosecution opening statement, is there information as to the killing of Vincent Nkulikiyinka. The event appears for the first time in Witness QBV's prior statement of 30 March 2001 in which the witness does not impute the killing of Vincent Nkulikiyinka to any of the Accused in this

¹¹⁰⁰² T. 8 November 2001 p. 125 (ICS) (Witness QJ).

¹¹⁰⁰³ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 9-10 (Witness QJ).

¹¹⁰⁰⁴ Para. 6.30 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁰⁰⁵ The Chamber notes that the Prosecution Closing Brief, citing the English transcripts of Witness QBV's evidence, submits that Nteziryayo ordered the killing of "Kofi Musinya". However, the French transcript shows the conseiller's name was Vincent Nkulikiyinka: T. 14 March 2002 p. 43; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 100-101 (Witness QBV) (French).

11006 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 364, para. 188.

¹¹⁰⁰⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 571; Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 61.

¹¹⁰⁰⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹¹⁰⁰⁹ Ntezirvayo Closing Brief, paras. 608-616.

case. 11010 The Chamber therefore finds that the defect is not cured and it will not make any finding with respect to this allegation. The Defence request for exclusion of evidence is therefore moot. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence brought by the Prosecution is not sufficient to establish that Nteziryayo ordered the killing of Vincent Nkulikiyinka.

3.6.40 Transfer of Refugees to Nyange, Early June 1994

3.6.40.1 Introduction

4039. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and the Kanyabashi Indictment allege that between mid-May and mid-June 1994, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi gave the order that refugees at the BPO be transferred to Nyange secteur in Nyaruhengeri commune, and that refugees were transported to Nyange aboard ONATRACOM buses where they were attacked, and many were killed, by individuals armed with traditional weapons. 11011 The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana ordered, supervised, and provided buses for the transfer of Tutsi refugees from the BPO to Nyange where the refugees were attacked and killed. The Prosecution further submits the transfer of 200 refugees in a single bus amounts to evidence of both persecution and inhumane acts as a crime against humanity. The Prosecution charges Nsabimana with responsibility under both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3). The Chamber notes the Prosecution did not make any submissions concerning Kanvabashi's role in the Nvange transfer in the Prosecution Closing Brief or its closing arguments. The Prosecution relies on Witnesses QBP, QBQ, QY, RE, SD SJ, SU, TA and Expert Witness Des Forges.

4040. The Nsabimana Defence does not challenge that Nsabimana sent refugees to Nyange, a former Burundian refugee camp, but asserts that neither criminal intent nor collusion with the assailants was established. 11015 It asserts that Nsabimana sent refugees from the BPO to Nyange because living conditions were better there than at the BPO. It also asserts that the Prosecution has failed to establish that Nsabimana had any authority over the *Interahamwe* or soldiers. 11016 The Nsabimana Defence relies on Witnesses QBP, QBQ, QY, RE, SD, SJ, SU, TA and Nsabimana.

4041. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts the Prosecution did not adduce evidence about the making of the decision relating to the transfer. According to the Defence, the power to make such a decision lay with the préfet, who was responsible for the refugees and who had authority in another commune involved in the transfer. It also asserts that only one witness testified that Kanyabashi was present and ordered refugees to board the bus to Nyange and that

¹¹⁰¹⁰ 30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 1 October 2001.

Para. 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)); Para. 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)).

11012 Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 268, 281, paras. 122, 173.

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 283, 285-286, paras. 183, 192; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April

Para. 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 282, paras. 177-178.

¹¹⁰¹⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1610, 1612-1613.

¹¹⁰¹⁶ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 15-16.

witness was unable to identify Kanyabashi in court. The Kanyabashi Defence relies on Witnesses QBP, QBQ, QY, RE, SD, SJ, SU and TA.

3.6.40.2 Preliminary Issues

Notice of the Allegation Concerning the Nyange Transfer

4042. The Nsabimana Defence argues that Paragraph 6.38 of the Nsabimana Indictment is defective for failing to state several material facts, namely: where the order was issued; the identity of the person who ordered the individuals armed with traditional weapons to attack; the number of buses used in the displacement; the number of days during which the trip or trips were made; the time of departure; the ethnic origin of the refugees; the criminal intention of the transfer to Nyange; and details about the survivors and their return to the BPO. The Nsabimana Defence asserts that the Prosecution failed to remedy these defects in subsequent disclosures. 11019

4043. With regard to the ethnic origin of the refugees and the criminal intent of the transfer, the Chamber recalls that paragraphs of an indictment are to be read as a whole and not in isolation. In this regard, Paragraph 6.32 alleges that Nsabimana incited, aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis, and Paragraph 6.36 alleges that Tutsis who sought refuge at the BPO were forcibly abducted, assaulted and sometimes killed outright and that Nsabimana did nothing to put a definite end to the attacks. Further, Paragraph 6.37 alleges that Nyiramasuhuko instructed Nsabimana to kill the Tutsi refugees remaining at the BPO. Paragraph 6.38 alleges that Nsabimana ordered the transport of the refugees to Nyange where they were attacked and killed. Read in conjunction with the previous paragraphs, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 6.38 makes it clear that the refugees transferred were Tutsis, and that the alleged purpose of the transfer was to kill those Tutsis.

4044. With regard to the remaining alleged deficiencies, the Chamber recalls that the "Prosecutor must state the material facts underpinning the charges in the indictment, but not the evidence by which such facts are to be proved." The Chamber is of the opinion that the Nsabimana Defence had adequate notice of the material facts of this allegation and that each of the remaining facts, such as the identity of the person who ordered the attacks, the number of buses, the number of days during which the trip or trips were made, and the time of departure constitute evidence by which the allegation would be proven. Therefore, the Chamber does not find Paragraph 6.38 to be defective. In any event, the Nsabimana Defence had adequate notice of these facts through the summaries of anticipated evidence outlined in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief¹¹⁰²² and prior statements of Witnesses SD, ¹¹⁰²³ SJ, ¹¹⁰²⁴ SL ¹¹⁰²⁵ and RM. ¹¹⁰²⁶

¹¹⁰¹⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 3-5.

¹¹⁰¹⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1613, 1729-1731.

¹¹⁰¹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1735-1737.

¹¹⁰²⁰ See, e.g., Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 123.

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SJ (9) (SJ heard the *Sous-Préfet* saying that all Tutsi refugees were to be brought to Nyange. There were two buses for the refugees. Soldiers were beating those who did not want to board the buses. SJ saw the *Préfet* give a letter to the soldiers. SJ clearly heard the *Préfet* saying that the letter would enable them to pass the roadblocks. SJ saw the buses return empty. SJ later was herded on to a bus); Witness QY (61) (QY states that Nsabimana sent two buses filled with refugees to Nyaruhengeri and that

- 4045. The Kanyabashi Defence argues that Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment does not plead any crime against which Kanyabashi may defend himself: it does not accuse Kanyabashi as having prior knowledge that the refugees were going to be killed nor does it specify that he ordered the transfer for that purpose. 11027
- 4046. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.43 alleges that in June 1994, Kanyabashi told the *préfet* that the Tutsi refugees at the BPO had to be eliminated. In this context, the Kanyabashi Defence had notice that Paragraph 6.41 describes an event in which Kanyabashi was allegedly implicated in furtherance of the elimination of the refugees who were at the BPO in mid-May to mid-June 1994. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Paragraph 6.41 is not defective.
- 4047. Moreover, the Kanyabashi Defence asserts that Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment did not adequately plead Article 6 (3) responsibility, although the Defence did not specify which pleading requirement was not met. The Chamber recalls that the Indictment must sufficiently identify, *inter alia*, the subordinates over which the Accused had effective control. The Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment did not adequately plead Article 6 (3) responsibility, although the Defence did not specify which pleading requirement was not met. The Chamber recalls that the Indictment must sufficiently identify, *inter alia*, the subordinates over which the Accused had effective control.
- 4048. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.41 charges Kanyabashi with responsibility for the Nyange transfer pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute. Other than alleging Kanyabashi's role in the Nyange transfer, Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment identifies that refugees transported to Nyange were attacked by "individuals armed with traditional weapons". In the Chamber's view, the description of the assailants as armed individuals is vague. Insofar as the "individuals" to whom criminal conduct is attributed are not identified as either subordinates, or even policemen, the Chamber is of the view that Kanyabashi's responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute was not adequately pled. Accordingly, the Chamber finds the Indictment to be defective in this regard.
- 4049. The Chamber will consider whether the defect was cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. As an alleged Nyange survivor, the only witness at trial who testified about the

these two buses, in the presence of Kanyabashi. QY was meant to board a third bus but did not want to after she heard that the people on the other two buses were killed. QY states that Kanyabashi said that all the snakes had to die anyway. Nsabimana said that if any killing had to be done there, on the spot, they would be taken back to the *Préfecture*. QY was forced to take the bus, but the bus went back because the villagers refused to continue the killings if the old corpses weren't taken away to from whence they came); Witness RM (71) (Kanyabashi asked RM and other refugees to board the bus going to Nyange *cellule*. Kanyabashi, the *Préfet*, and the communal policemen escorted the refugees); Witness SD (76) (SD states that a few days after the installation of the new prefect, Nsabimana brought three ONATRACOM buses filled with Tutsis. The buses left for Nyange in Ruhengeri, but neither bus nor passengers came back); Witness SL (78) (SL sought refuge at *Préfecture* office where Nsabimana, together with the *Sous-Préfet*, told the refugees they were to be taken to Nyange. Two buses arrived. The *Sous-Préfet* took down the names of the people present and gave the list to a communal police officer that accompanied them. Nsabimana was present and witnessed everything).

^{11023 18} September 1997, Statement of Witness SD, disclosed 4 November 1998.

¹¹⁰²⁴ 3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ, disclosed 4 November 1998.

¹¹⁰²⁵ 1 October 1997, First Statement of Witness SL, disclosed 4 November 1998; *see also* 30 January 2001, Second Statement of Witness SL, disclosed 15 April 2002 and 16 May 2002.

¹¹⁰²⁶ 18 June 1996, Statement of Witness RM, disclosed 4 November 1998.

¹¹⁰²⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 457.

¹¹⁰²⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 457.

¹¹⁰²⁹ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323.

¹¹⁰³⁰ Para. 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3)).

criminal acts executed at Nyange was Witness QBP. As discussed below, the summary of anticipated evidence for Witness QBP makes no mention that this witness would testify about the Nyange transfer or implicate either Nsabimana or Kanyabashi therein. Witness QBP's prior statement discusses the transfer of refugees to Kabogobogo in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. In that statement Witness QBP stated an armed policeman was present at Nyange, but that it was *Interahamwe* armed with clubs, spears and other traditional weapons that attacked the refugees. Considering the identification of the attackers was only identified in one sole witness statement, the Chamber considers this disclosure was not sufficient to inform the Kanyabashi Defence of the material facts which the Prosecution intended to prove at trial. 11033

4050. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief otherwise includes two other witnesses, Witnesses QBQ and RM, expected to testify about the involvement of policemen in their transfer to Nyaruhengeri. While both summaries of anticipated evidence state that these witnesses would testify that policemen escorted them to Nyange aboard buses, they fail to identify any criminal conduct in which these policemen engaged at Nyange itself.

4051. The prior statements of Witness RM¹¹⁰³⁵ and Witness QBQ¹¹⁰³⁶ are consistent with the summaries of anticipated evidence in the Pre-Trial Brief, stating that policemen escorted refugees to Nyange aboard the buses. The statement of Witness RM goes further and states that the *commune* policemen remained with the Tutsis at Nyange, and at night time called on Twa citizens to come kill Tutsis, after which Tutsis were killed and injured and several escaped returning to the BPO.¹¹⁰³⁷ Again, considering the relevant criminal conduct of the police is only identified in one sole witness statement, the Chamber considers this disclosure was not sufficient to inform the Kanyabashi Defence of the material facts which the Prosecution intended to prove at trial.¹¹⁰³⁸ Further, insofar as the prior statement identifies criminal conduct not included in the summary of anticipated evidence, it is also not consistent with the information contained in the Pre-Trial Brief.

4052. Therefore, these disclosures did not provide Kanyabashi with clear and consistent notice of the criminal acts allegedly committed by policemen at Nyange with which Kanyabashi was being charged. Thus the defect was not cured and the Chamber will not make any finding as to whether Kanyabashi was responsible for the crimes of policemen, or other assailants, at Nyange pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

_

¹¹⁰³¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witnesss QBP (44).

¹¹⁰³² 5 May 1999 (signed 10 June 1999), Statement of Witness QBP, disclosed 3 December 1999.

¹¹⁰³³ See Nivitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 221.

¹¹⁰³⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBQ (45) (would testify that bus driver was a policeman); Witness RM (71) (would testify he saw Kanyabashi arrive at the BPO with the *préfet* of Butare, *commune* police and two big buses, after which Kanyabashi asked RM and other refugees to board the bus for Nyange *cellule*, and the *commune* policemen escorted the refugees).

¹¹⁰³⁵ 18 June 1996 (reconfirmed 23 December 1999), Statement of Witness RM, disclosed 28 October 2003.

¹¹⁰³⁶ 6 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBQ, disclosed 3 December 1999.

^{11037 18} June 1996 (reconfirmed 23 December 1999), Statement of Witness RM, disclosed 4 November 1998.

11038 See Nivitegeka, Judgement (AC), para. 221.

Request for the Exclusion of Evidence

4053. The Nsabimana Defence submits that the evidence of several Prosecution witnesses, including Witnesses QBP, RE, SU and TA, insofar as they relate to Nsabimana, should be excluded on the basis that the Nsabimana Defence had no notice that these witnesses would be called to testify about Nsabimana. The Chamber will consider the merits of this request equally *vis-à-vis* Kanyabashi.

4054. The Chamber accepts that the summary of anticipated evidence in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief for Witnesses QBP, SU and TA make no mention that these witnesses would testify about the Nyange transfer or implicate either Nsabimana or Kanyabashi therein. Further, while the summary of anticipated evidence for Witness RE states that Witness RE would testify, *inter alia*, that he was ordered to board a bus at the BPO, and that the *Interahamwe* at Nyaruhengeri "refused the buses" because mass graves were full, such that the refugees were returned to the BPO, Witness RE implicated neither Nsabimana nor Kanyabashi, and was not listed as being brought to testify about either Accused. 11041

4055. Witness TA testified in late October and early November 2001. Witness TA's testimony with respect to Nyange came out in response to a question posed in cross-examination by the Nyiramasuhuko Defence about Witness TA's transfer from the BPO to Rango. There was no objection at the time of Witness TA's testimony on the topic. In any event, both the Nsabimana and Kanyabashi Defence had the opportunity to cross-examine Witness TA. Consequently, the Chamber considers neither the Nsabimana Defence nor the Kanyabashi Defence suffered any prejudice as a result of Witness TA's testimony that warrants excluding her evidence as to matters falling within the scope of Paragraph 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, or Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment at this late stage of trial. The Chamber accordingly denies the request.

4056. Witnesses QBP and SU testified about Nyange in October 2002 in their examination-in-chief. No objection was raised by either Defence at the time or subsequent to the leading of their evidence concerning Nyange by the Prosecution. The Nsabimana Defence requests the exclusion of Witness QBP's and SU's evidence for the first time in its Closing Brief. It offers no explanation for failing to object to this evidence at the time it was admitted or at a later point during the trial. The Chamber finds that there is no reasonable explanation for the Defence's lack of objections at an earlier stage in the trial. In any event, both the Nsabimana Defence and the Kanyabashi Defence had the opportunity to cross-examine Witnesses QBP and SU. Consequently, the Chamber considers neither the Nsabimana Defence nor the Kanyabashi Defence suffered any prejudice as a result of Witness QBP's or SU's testimony that warrants excluding their evidence as to matters falling within the scope of Paragraph 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, or Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment at this late stage of trial. The Chamber accordingly denies the request.

¹¹⁰³⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 63-66.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBP (44); Witness SU (86); Witness TA (3).

¹¹⁰⁴¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RE (65).

¹¹⁰⁴² T. 6 November 2001 p. 62 (Witness TA).

¹¹⁰⁴³ See T. 7 November 2001 (Witness TA).

¹¹⁰⁴⁴ T. 14-17, 21-24 October 2002 (Witness SU); T. 24, 28-30 October 2002 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁴⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 58-66.

4057. However, with respect to Witness QBP's testimony regarding rapes at Nyange, the Chamber notes that neither Paragraph 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, nor Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment which concern the allegation of the refugees' transfer to Nyange, mention rape as one of the acts carried out upon refugees at Nyange. In the Chamber's view, to base a finding on the evidence of Witness QBP's testimony would amount to an expansion of charges against the Accused which would prejudice the Accused. As such, the Chamber considers the matter of rapes at Nyange falls outside the scope of the Indictments and will not make any finding in this respect.

4058. Witness RE testified about Nyange in February 2003. At the time, the Kanyabashi Defence objected to this testimony on the basis that they had been given no notice that Witness RE would testify about Kanyabashi. In an oral ruling, the Chamber held that Witness RE should be limited to testifying about matters that were earlier disclosed in his previous statements. The Chamber notes Witness RE's prior statement of 5 December 1996 refers to the transfer to Nyaruhengeri and states the orders came from the *préfet*; the statement does not implicate Kanyabashi in the Nyange transfer. Consequently, the Chamber will not rely on any evidence led through Witness RE to make any finding against Kanyabashi. As concerns Nsabimana, the Nsabimana Defence raised no objection at the time of Witness RE's testimony, making this request for the first time again only in its Closing Brief. Considering again that there is no reasonable explanation for the Defence's lack of objections at an earlier stage in the trial, and that the Nsabimana Defence had the opportunity to cross-examine Witness RE, the Chamber considers the Nsabimana Defence did not suffer any prejudice as a result of Witness RE's testimony that warrants excluding Witness RE's evidence at this late stage of trial.

3.6.40.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QBP

4059. Witness QBP, ¹¹⁰⁵⁰ a Tutsi farmer with a Hutu identity card during the events, testified that two or three days after she arrived at the *préfecture*, the refugees at the BPO were transported in three buses to Nyange, in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. ¹¹⁰⁵¹ She was sure there were three buses. ¹¹⁰⁵² The buses belonged to the government but were used by the ONATRACOM company. ¹¹⁰⁵³

4060. Witness QBP testified that the *préfet*, whose name she did not know, told all the refugees to board the buses. He also said that they were going to provide the refugees with assistance. The buses were brought by the *bourgmestre*, and he remained present

```
See Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20 (with respect to curing a defective notice by new material facts which lead to a radical transformation of the case).
T. 24 February 2003 pp. 3-4, 6 (Witness RE).
T. 24 February 2003 p. 6 (Witness RE).
December 1996, Statement of Witness RE, disclosed 11 April 1998.
```

¹¹⁰⁵⁰ T. 24 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness QBP); Prosecution Exhibit 61 (Personal Particulars).

¹¹⁰⁵¹ T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 28 October 2002 p. 54 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁵² T. 30 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁵³ T. 30 October 2002 p. 41 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁵⁴ T. 24 October 2002 p. 81 (Witness QBP). ¹¹⁰⁵⁵ T. 30 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness QBP).

^{1: 30} October 2002 p. 35 (Witness QBF). 1: 30 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness QBP).

while the refugees boarded the buses. 11057 She later testified that she did not say that Kanyabashi brought the buses. When put to Witness QBP that she did not mention Kanyabashi being present at Nyange in her prior written statement, Witness QBP explained that the ICTR investigators must have forgotten to take note of it. 11059 She further said that Kanyabashi played no role in their departure other than that the refugees were in his *commune* and he was present. 11060 She did not know whether Kanyabashi was acting on the orders of the *préfet* or if they were acting in tandem. 11061

4061. Witness QBP testified that while the refugees boarded three buses, she was in the second one. Once the refugees boarded the buses, no one remained behind in the BPO. The refugees were escorted on the bus by a man armed with a gun and wearing a uniform; she did not know whether he was a policeman or a soldier. She did not know whether each bus had an escort, or just hers. Witness QBP testified that only the first and second buses made it to Nyange because the third one broke down.

4062. They arrived in Nyange in the afternoon, 11066 or rather, at the end of the afternoon, although it was still light. Upon arriving at Nyange, the bus drivers and *Interahamwe* threw the passengers out of the bus like "dirt". They met a lot of killers accompanied by a policeman with a gun, all of whom started taking the refugees' property and clothes. She testified that there appeared to be a plan because there was an armed *commune* policeman on the spot, although there was nothing for him to guard, and that immediately after the buses arrived, people came from everywhere shouting, "[p]ower! Power!" and proceeded to strip the refugees of their clothes and items. 11070

4063. Witness QBP testified that the killing and raping of the refugees began at nightfall. No more than 10 people survived those events. She testified that she was raped by a man. In her written statement, Witness QBP said that the *Interahamwe* starting raping women "without wasting much time [after they arrived at Nyange]". When confronted with this statement, she testified that it was not until night when the *Interahamwe* started

```
<sup>11057</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 35, 41, 81-82, 88 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11058</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11059</sup> T. 30 October 2002 pp. 81-84 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement
of Witness QBP).
<sup>11060</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 81 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11061</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness QBP).
11062 T. 30 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11063</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11064</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 42 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11065</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 28 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11066</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
11067 T. 30 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11068</sup> T. 30 October 2002 pp. 43-44 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11069</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56-57 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11070</sup> T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56-57; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 43-44 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11071</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 30 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness QBP).
11072 T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 28 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11073</sup> T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 28 October 2002 p. 57; T. 29 October 2002 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
<sup>11074</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 57 (Witness OBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of
```

Witness QBP).

raping people. When she referred to *Interahamwe*, she meant those who killed others or roamed with weapons. 11076

4064. Witness QBP said that near Nyange, there was a refugee camp providing shelter to Burundian refugees. How the described it as not being a camp *per se*, but rather an uninhabited hill with huts and torn mats where the Burundian refugees were sheltered. They were informed that Burundian refugees had previously occupied these huts, although there were no refugees there when they arrived. The camp was neither well-prepared nor properly constructed and there were no buildings, such as in a school compound. The camp was about 15 minutes walk from Kabogobogo river. When it was put to her that her prior statement said the refugees were taken aboard three buses to Kabogobogo, not Nyange, she clarified that they were taken to a hill upstream from Kabogobogo river. Kabogobogo is in Nyange.

4065. Witness QBP testified that she left Nyange at dawn the following day¹¹⁰⁸³ for the BPO with two of her four children. She was also accompanied by a young refugee man from Gikoro who was introduced to her by the man who had raped her, so that the refugee man would carry her child. Witness QBP was questioned as to her prior written statement, in which she stated she was taken back to Butare by the *Interahamwe* who had raped her. Witness QBP explained that the *Interahamwe* who had raped her accompanied her from the hill to the road and then showed her a young refugee man who was supposed to help her with carrying one of her children. Witness Carrying one of her children.

4066. Witness QBP arrived at the BPO half-naked.¹¹⁰⁸⁸ She entered the BPO by the rear of the compound, where there was a building belonging to Mironko.¹¹⁰⁸⁹ The only refugees that were at the BPO at that moment were those who escaped Nyange with her and the refugees who were loaded in the third bus.¹¹⁰⁹⁰ It was when she returned to the BPO that she learned from refugees that the third bus had broken down near Nkubi and had returned to the BPO.¹¹⁰⁹¹

```
<sup>11075</sup> T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56, 58 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11076</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11077</sup> T. 29 October 2002 p. 58; T. 29 October 2002 pp. 89-90 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
<sup>11078</sup> T. 29 October 2002 pp. 90-91 (ICS); T. 30 October 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11079</sup> T. 29 October 2002 p. 91 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
11080 T. 29 October 2002 p. 92 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
T. 30 October 2002 p. 51 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of
Witness OBP).
<sup>11082</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 52 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11083</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 64; T. 30 October 2002 p. 39 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11084</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 61 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11085</sup> T. 28 October 2002 pp. 59-60; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11086</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 59; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5
May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).
<sup>11087</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 60; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11088</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 59; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).
T. 28 October 2002 pp. 59, 68; T. 30 October 2002 p. 33 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11090</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 71 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11091</sup> T. 30 October 2002 pp. 38-39 (Witness QBP).
```

4067. Witness QBP testified that when she returned to the BPO, the *préfet* said, "[w]here do these mad women come from?" The refugees replied that they were not mad but were part of the group that had gone to Nyange and that some of the group had been killed. Among the young survivors, there was also a physically handicapped woman who came away from the dead bodies. When it was put to her that in her statement she had said that they were met at the BPO by the *sous-préfet*, and not the *préfet*, Witness QBP said that when her statement was re-read to her she did not challenge the reference to the *sous-préfet*, she knew the difference between the *préfet* and the *sous-préfet* and it was the *préfet* they saw at the BPO.

4068. Witness QBP clarified that the *préfet* she referred to was the same *préfet* she described as being short and light in complexion. In her written statement, Witness QBP described him as a military *préfet*, although in her testimony she said this was an error. She was not asked to identify Nsabimana in court. She identified Kanyabashi in court.

4069. Witness QBP denied being a member of the *Abasa* association, or to having created an association which collaborated with the *Ibuka* association, along with, *inter alia*, Prosecution Witness TA. 11099 Witness QBP told the Tribunal that pain was the only thing she shared with the list of women put to her by Defence Counsel regarding *Ibuka*, and that they never constituted an association. 11100

4070. Witness QBP testified that she did not know a person by the same name as Witness RE, 11101 or Witness SU. 11102

Prosecution Witness QBQ

4071. Witness QBQ, a Tutsi housemaid who was 24 years old in 1994, testified that she first arrived at the BPO at the end of April 1994 and at that time there were approximately 2,000 refugees on the premises. While she was at the BPO, *Préfet* Nsabimana told the refugees to move on to Nyaruhengeri where they could stay, receive assistance and remain alive. 11104

4072. Witness QBQ testified that three buses went to Nyaruhengeri. Two buses came to transport the refugees to Nyaruhengeri: the first two buses left when they were full and one of

```
<sup>11092</sup> T. 28 October 2002 p. 75 (Witness QBP).
```

¹¹⁰⁹³ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 75, 79 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁴ T. 29 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness OBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁵ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 52-54 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁶ T. 30 October 2002 p. 92 (ICS) (Witness OBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁷ T. 28 October 2002 p. 53; T. 30 October 2002 p. 49 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁸ T. 24 October 2002 p. 104 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁰⁹⁹ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 47-49 (ICS) (Witness QBP); T. 29 October 2002 pp. 89, 91-92 (HC) (Witness QBP) (French).

¹¹¹⁰⁰ T. 29 October 2002 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹¹⁰¹ T. 29 October 2002 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹¹⁰² T. 29 October 2002 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹¹⁰³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 38-40, 51 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹⁰⁴ T. 3 February 2004 p. 22; T. 4 February 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness QBQ) (*préfet* spoke of putting the refugees somewhere with "good conditions").

the buses came back to transport people for a third trip on the same day. Hills Witness QBQ caught the third bus. Uttness QBQ agreed with the information contained in her previous statement, that the buses were from ONATRACOM. People who were transported on the first two buses had been killed. She explained that some people, such as one Semanyenzi, escaped and returned to the BPO that afternoon on foot to warn the remaining refugees not to go there. However, Semanyenzi had returned from Mukoni and did not speak to them about having gone to Nyaruhengeri. She could not recall how many refugees returned to the BPO, that time the first two buses left for Nyaruhengeri, or at what time she arrived at Nyaruhengeri.

4073. Witness QBQ testified that those who boarded the bus on the third trip were forced to do so. 11113 She boarded this bus after it returned to the BPO and it was the last to leave. 11114 Before the bus left, a policeman spoke with *Préfet* Nsabimana but she could not hear what they spoke about. She did not notice any list of the refugees being drawn up as they boarded the buses. 11115

4074. Witness QBQ testified that before getting to Nyaruhengeri, the bus passed some roadblocks. The policemen who accompanied them on the bus showed a piece of paper to those who manned the roadblocks and accordingly they were let through. She did not remember how many roadblocks they crossed before getting to the one at Nyaruhengeri. When they arrived at Nyaruhengeri, the *Interahamwe* who were manning the last roadblock refused to let them pass and sent them back. The *Interahamwe* said they were tired of killing and had enough of the decaying body stench. The driver told the *Interahamwe*, "[w]ell, allow me to execute the orders of the *préfet*", to which the *Interahamwe* responded, "if that is what you are saying, we are going to burn all of you up, including you, yourself".

4075. Witness QBQ testified that the police officer driving the bus turned the bus around and drove back to the BPO. The third bus did not break down and return to the BPO. When they arrived back at the BPO, they remained in the bus while the police officers went to talk to the *préfet*. She did not hear what they were saying to each other. In the evening,

```
<sup>11105</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness QBQ).
```

¹¹¹⁰⁶ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 75 (Witness QBQ).

T. 3 February 2004 p. 76 (Witness QBQ); Defence Exhibit 147 (Nsabimana) (6 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹⁰⁸ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 75 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹⁰⁹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁰ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70-71 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹¹ T. 3 February 2004 p. 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹² T. 3 February 2004 p. 77 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁴ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 75 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁵ T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁶ T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁷ T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁸ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 77 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹¹⁹ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 77 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹²⁰ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 77-78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹¹²¹ T. 3 February 2004 p. 23; T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBQ).

they were told to disembark from the bus and they spent the night at the BPO.¹¹¹²² The following day they went to the EER. Witness QBQ denied that the trip to Nyaruhengeri occurred one week after the witness returned from the EER.¹¹¹²³ She went to Nyaruhengeri before she went to the EER.¹¹¹²⁴

4076. Witness QBQ described the *préfet* as a dark-coloured person, average height and had a sort of a bump on his forehead. She identified Nsabimana as the *préfet* to which she referred in her testimony. When it was put to her that her written statement referred to a military *préfet*, she explained that the interpreter must have noted her description incorrectly. In the interpreter must have noted her description incorrectly.

Prosecution Witness QY

4077. Witness QY, a Tutsi woman who was 17 years old in 1994, testified that she was at the BPO when the *préfet* told the refugees he was going to take them to Nyaruhengeri where there would be tents to accommodate them and where they could live peacefully. In the evening, two buses came to take the refugees to Nyaruhengeri but she was unable to board either as they were full. She, among others, remained at the BPO for the night. Early the following morning, a young boy who had boarded one of the buses the previous day came back. He warned them that the refugees who had boarded the buses had been killed. She was unable to recall the boy's age or whether she saw any injuries on him.

4078. Witness QY testified that later that morning, the refugees at the BPO were told to board a bus. Witness QY was questioned as to her prior statement which stated that one day two buses came to the *préfecture* and left on the first day, both of which returned empty the next day and then left together. Witness QY explained that only one bus left the following day and that the people recording her statement must have made a mistake. 11135

4079. Witness QY testified that Kanyabashi, the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma town, and other *préfecture* authorities who she did not know, were present that morning at the BPO. She testified that Kanyabashi insulted the refugees by saying, "[b]oard the bus, your hour has

```
<sup>11122</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>11123</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 78-80 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>11124</sup> T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>11125</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).
<sup>11126</sup> T. 3 February 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness QBQ).
11127 T. 3 February 2004 pp. 76-77 (Witness QBQ); Defence Exhibit 147 (Nsabimana) (6 May 1999, Statement of
Witness QBQ).
<sup>11128</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).
<sup>11129</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
<sup>11130</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY).
<sup>11131</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
<sup>11132</sup> T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY).
<sup>11133</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
11134 T. 25 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 112 (Nyiramasuhuko) (15 January 1997, Statement
of Witness QY).
<sup>11135</sup> T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY).
<sup>11136</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness QY).
```

Judgement and Sentence

struck". 11137 She stood approximately 3.2 metres from Kanyabashi when he said this. 11138 Kanyabashi then brought soldiers and policemen who forced the refugees on board. 11139

4080. Witness QY testified that the refugees refused to board the third bus and expressed their concerns about the killings at Nyange to the *préfet*. In response, the *préfet* said he would check if the people who had left in the buses the day before were actually dead and instructed the driver to bring the refugees back if it was the case. Witness QY was unsure if the *préfet* did, in fact, check to see if the refugees had been killed. Witness QY later testified that the refugees felt reassured after the *préfet* said those words and they boarded the bus without being forced 11142

4081. Witness QY testified that two *gendarmes* accompanied the refugees in the bus. 11143 The bus left in the morning, before noon. 11144 On their way to Nyaruhengeri, the bus crossed various roadblocks, including one at Mukoni, but she could not remember the number of roadblocks, or whether those manning them were civilians or soldiers. When the bus arrived in Nyaruhengeri, it stopped in front of a roadblock. 11146 It was her first time in Nyaruhengeri. 11147

4082. She testified that the people manning the Nyaruhengeri roadblock told the passengers that the people who had arrived the day before had all been killed and that they were tired of killing. They told her they would kill those on the bus, but that the bodies would have to be taken back in the bus to where they came from. The *gendarmes* aboard the bus objected, saying that the *préfet* had to check first whether the people taken the night before had not been killed. 11149

4083. Witness QY testified that one man in the bus opened the door and ran, trying to escape, fearing that he would be killed; he was chased by people with traditional weapons such as machetes. She never saw the man again and guessed he was killed. People manning the roadblock at Nyaruhengeri were civilians but she was not sure if there were also soldiers. 11151

```
11138 T. 25 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).
11139 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
11140 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
11141 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness QY).
11142 T. 25 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).
11143 T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).
11144 T. 25 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness QY).
11145 T. 25 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness QY).
11146 T. 19 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness QY).
11147 T. 25 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 52-53 (Witness QY).
11148 T. 19 March 2003 p. 66 (Witness QY).
11149 T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).
11149 T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).
11149 T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).
11149 T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).
```

¹¹¹⁵⁰ T. 25 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY). ¹¹¹⁵¹ T. 25 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness QY).

¹¹¹³⁷ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY) (on 19 March 2003 Witness QY quoted Kanyabashi as stating "[b]oard the buses", whereas on 25 March 2003 Witness QY testified that Kanyabashi ordered them to "[b]oard the bus" in the singular).

She later testified that there were only civilians and no soldiers at the roadblock. There were also *Interahamwe* who were people from the populace at the roadblock. There

4084. Witness QY testified that the driver drove back to the BPO and told the *préfet*, "[h]ere is your cross", to which the *préfet* replied, "[d]rop them over there. When the time comes, I will take a decision in respect of these people". Witness QY later testified that Nsabimana replied, "[l]eave them there, I will deal with them myself." They got off the bus immediately. 11155

4085. After she returned to the BPO, the *préfet* issued an order that no one should kill them, and that they would be killed on 5 July 1994. Witness QY testified that she remained at the BPO for a week before she and other refugees were transferred to Rango. She saw Nsabimana at the BPO on the day they left for Rango but testified that she would not be in a position to identify Nsabimana in court since she had not seen him since 1994. She saw Nsabimana in court since she had not seen him since 1994.

4086. Witness QY testified that she met Kanyabashi at the *préfecture* on the day of her departure to Nyaruhengeri. She never saw Kanyabashi again after the war and said she would not be able to recognise him or describe him. 11159

4087. On recall in 2009, when it was put to Witness QY that in her testimony in the Munyaneza trial in Canada she admitted to knowing a person by the same name as Witness QBQ, Witness QY agreed. Witness QY testified that she was together with Witness QBQ on the bus to the EER, to Nyaruhengeri and to Rango. 11161

4088. Witness QY stated that during her previous appearance before the Chamber in 2003, she denied knowing Witness QBQ¹¹¹⁶² because the interpreter told her to do so. When it was put to Witness QY that she told the Canadian court she had denied knowing Witness QBY because the Prosecutor told her to do so, rather than an interpreter, Witness QY stated that it was not the Prosecutor who asked her to lie, it was the interpreter because the Prosecutor did not speak her language. She explained she told the Canadian court it was the Prosecutor because the interpreter was only passing on the Prosecutor's words.

```
11153 T. 25 March 2003 p. 56 (Witness QY).
11154 T. 19 March 2003 p. 63 (Witness QY).
11155 T. 25 March 2003 p. 57 (Witness QY).
11156 T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).
11157 T. 19 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness QY).
11158 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
11159 T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).
11160 T. 23 February 2009 pp. 37-39 (ICS) (Witness QY).
11161 T. 23 February 2009 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness QY).
11162 T. 25 March 2003 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness QY).
11163 T. 23 February 2009 pp. 41-43, 49 (ICS) (Witness QY).
11164 T. 23 February 2003 pp. 43-45 (ICS) (Witness QY).
11165 T. 23 February 2003 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness QY).
```

¹¹¹⁶⁶ T. 23 February 2003 pp. 46, 48 (ICS) (Witness QY). ¹¹¹⁶⁷ T. 23 February 2003 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹¹¹⁵² T. 25 March 2003 p. 55 (Witness QY).

4089. On recall in 2009, when it was put to Witness QY that in her testimony in the Munyaneza trial in Canada she admitted to knowing a person by the same name as Witness SJ, Witness QY agreed. Witness QY agreed that she told the Canadian court she had been with a person by the same name as Witness SJ on the bus to the EER, to Nyaruhengeri and to Rango. Witness QY agreed that during her previous appearance before the Chamber in 2003 she denied knowing Witness SJ, 11169 but did so because she had been asked to lie. 11170

Prosecution Witness RE

4090. Witness RE, a Tutsi from Gikongoro *préfecture* who was 16 years old in 1994, testified that she and the other refugees returned to the BPO, after having been chased from EER. Upon her return to the BPO, *Préfet* Nsabimana told them that he would find a place where they could settle. The *préfet* ordered that some refugees be transported to Nyange and others to Mubumbano. Those leaving for Mubumbano left in the morning, and those going to Nyange left in the evening. The *préfet* told the refugees at the BPO to wait for the buses that were to take them in the evening to Nyange. The préfet told the refugees at the BPO to wait for the buses that were to take them in the evening to Nyange.

4091. She testified that the day after she returned to the BPO from the EER, ¹¹¹⁷⁶ three buses arrived at the BPO and the refugees were asked to board. ¹¹¹⁷⁷ Witness RE did not board any of the buses on that day, but those who did board were taken to Nyange and did not return. ¹¹¹⁷⁸ The buses that returned the next day to the BPO were empty and she was boarded on a bus. ¹¹¹⁷⁹ She later testified that she did not see the three buses come back and that she only saw one bus come back to take her group the following morning. ¹¹¹⁸⁰

4092. Witness RE testified that a child who survived Nyange came back the following morning to tell them that all the people taken on the buses had been killed. Witness RE was questioned as to her prior statement of 5 December 1996, in which she did not mention the forced transfer of refugees to Nyange in three buses, or the child survivor. She explained that her written statement was only a summary and that she was able to provide more detailed testimony in person before the Tribunal. 11183

```
<sup>11168</sup> T. 23 February 2009 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>11169</sup> T. 25 March 2003 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>11170</sup> T. 23 February 2009 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness QY).
<sup>11171</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 13 (Witness RE).
<sup>11172</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).
<sup>11173</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 56 (Witness RE).
<sup>11174</sup> T. 26 February 2003 pp. 56-57 (Witness RE).
<sup>11175</sup> T. 26 February 2003 p. 56 (Witness RE).
<sup>11176</sup> T. 25 February 2003 p. 30; T. 27 February 2003 pp. 4, 41 (Witness RE).
<sup>11177</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).
<sup>11178</sup> T. 24 February 2003 pp. 14-15; T. 26 February 2003 p. 54 (Witness RE).
<sup>11179</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 17; T. 25 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).
<sup>11180</sup> T. 27 February 2003 p. 24 (Witness RE).
<sup>11181</sup> T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 25 February 2003 p. 32; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (ICS); T. 27 February
2003 p. 24 (Witness RE).
11182 T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 27 February 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 90 (Nsabimana)
```

(List of Alleged Omissions; 5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE). 11183 T. 25 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE).

4093. Witness RE testified that the day after, she and the remaining refugees were forced to board the buses to Nyaruhengeri. Witness RE was questioned as to a prior written statement in which she only referred to one bus, in the singular, that went to Nyange. 11185 She explained that this was a mistake on the part of the investigator writing the statement and clarified that during the first trip three buses went to Nyange and that during the second trip there was only one bus which was stopped at Nyaruhengeri. 11186 When it was put to her that her statement of 5 December 1996 stated that two buses left for and returned from Nyaruhengeri, she testified that her statement was misreported because three buses left for Nyaruhengeri. 11187

4094. Witness RE testified that the refugees initially refused to board, but a *gendarme* struck them and forced them aboard. Witness RE understood that they were being transported so that the Interahamwe could execute them. 11189

4095. Witness RE testified that upon their arrival in Nyaruhengeri, which was before Nyange, the *Interahamwe* refused to execute the refugees because the graves were full. 11190 The *Interahamwe* said that they should be returned to the BPO and killed by the *préfet* himself. 11191 The *Interahamwe* also said that they could kill the refugees but on the condition that the bodies were returned to the BPO and the préfet himself take care of the burial. 11192 Witness RE admitted that she did not include the *Interahamwe's* words that the *préfet* should kill them in her statement of December 1996, but this was only because her statement was intended to be a summary. 11193 After the *Interahamwe* refused to kill them, the driver turned around and took them back to the BPO. 11194

4096. Witness RE identified Nsabimana in court. 11195 She also described Nsabimana as he was in 1994 as "large but short", "quite rotund", and wearing glasses. 11196 Throughout her testimony the witness referred to Nsabimana as "Préfet Sylvain". She did not testify to having known Nsabimana prior to the events related.

4097. Witness RE testified that she did not know people bearing the same names as Witnesses SD, SU or QBP. 11197

¹¹¹⁸⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 27 February 2003 p. 25 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁸⁵ T. 27 February 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement

¹¹¹⁸⁶ T. 25 February 2003 p. 35; T. 27 February 2003 p. 35 (Witness RE).

T. 25 February 2003 p. 36 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁸⁸ T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 26 February 2003 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁸⁹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 17 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹¹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹² T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹³ T. 25 February 2003 pp. 38-39; T. 27 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 90 (Nsabimana) (List of Alleged Omissions; 5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE). ¹¹¹⁹⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 17; T. 25 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹⁵ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹⁶ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).

¹¹¹⁹⁷ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness RE).

Prosecution Witness SD

4098. Witness SD, a Tutsi mother of seven, testified that one evening, while she was at the BPO, she saw three ONATRACOM buses arrive. These buses arrived approximately a week before her departure to Rango Forest in June 1994. She stated that *Préfet* Nsabimana normally left the office for the day at about 5.00 p.m., but that he was still at the office when the buses arrived at 6.00 p.m. Nsabimana told the Tutsi refugees to board two of the buses. Nsabimana was standing outside his office when the first two buses were loaded. Witness SD was about 10 steps from Nsabimana. Six of her children boarded one of these buses accompanied by a paternal uncle and she has not seen them since. The refugees were taken to Nyange in Nyaruhengeri.

4099. Witness SD testified that the morning after the first group of refugees was bussed to Nyange, a boy about 13 to 15 years old who was bleeding from his naked torso, returned to the BPO at about 7.00 a.m. and found them behind the BPO. This boy told her not to board the bus because those who had gone on the buses the day before were killed. This child was the only person to come back to the BPO after the first two trips to Nyange. 11207

4100. Witness SD testified that the third bus returned to the BPO about 10.00 a.m. the next morning. 11208 Contrary to what was written in her prior statement of 18 September 1997, the third bus did not stay at the *préfecture* office overnight. Nsabimana was present when the bus returned. When the refugees were asked to board the bus they refused to go, saying that those who had gone before had died. Nsabimana said he would check into it and took a vehicle to check what had happened. She testified that Nsabimana went to Nyange, Nyaruhengeri. Upon Nsabimana's return, he told the refugees, "[g]et into the bus, you can leave. I have just checked. What this child is saying has no basis". Witness SD boarded this third bus to Nyange. Those who refused to board the bus were beaten by a *gendarme*. Prior to their departure, the *préfet* had given documents to the five policemen to take them away. The bus left the BPO at about 10.00 a.m. 11217

```
<sup>11198</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 10 (Witness SD).
<sup>11199</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness SD).
<sup>11200</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SD).
<sup>11201</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness SD).
<sup>11202</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 49-50 (Witness SD).
<sup>11203</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 50 (Witness SD).
<sup>11204</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).
<sup>11205</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 41, 50, 68 (Witness SD).
11206 T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).
<sup>11207</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 41, 46 (Witness SD).
<sup>11208</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11, 67 (Witness SD).
11209 T. 17 March 2003 p. 66 (Witness SD); Defence Exhibit 106 (Nsabimana) (18 September 1997, Statement of
Witness SD).
<sup>11210</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 67 (Witness SD).
<sup>11211</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 50 (Witness SD).
<sup>11212</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 67 (Witness SD).
<sup>11213</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 68 (Witness SD).
<sup>11214</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).
<sup>11215</sup> T. 18 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness SD).
<sup>11216</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SD).
```

- 4101. The bus passed through roadblocks at the University Laboratory, at Mukoni and at Cyarwa, all of which were manned by *Interahamwe*. Although she could not recall how long it took to reach Kibilizi, she estimated they reached Kibilizi between 10.30 and 11.00 a.m. 11219
- 4102. When the bus arrived at the Kibilizi roadblock, the policeman showed the documents to those who manned the roadblock and said, "[o]pen up! It is the *préfet* who has given me authorisation to take these people." Witness SD testified that at the Kibilizi roadblock, the bus was stopped opposite a school. 11220 The *Interahamwe* manning the Kibilizi roadblock refused to let them through, saying that enough blood had been shed in their area and that "[i]f those people were unable to kill these people, let them get out of the bus, we are going to kill them here and put the bodies back into the bus so that the person who sent them can go and bury them himself". The local inhabitants came to watch. When it was put to Witness SD that her prior written statement stated that the "local population" refused to let the bus pass, Witness SD stated that it was, in fact, the *Interahamwe* that had stopped the bus at Kibilizi and refused to lift the roadblock. They spent about an hour at the Kibilizi roadblock. The bus then turned around and returned to the BPO. She did not know what time they reached the BPO 11226
- 4103. After arriving at the BPO, the driver and policeman went to speak to the *préfet*, and the passengers stayed on the bus. The policeman and the driver informed the *préfet*, and the *préfet* said, "[I]et them get down, put them there to one side. At the appropriate moment, when the time comes, we shall examine their case." She said the *préfet* came out of his office and directed the driver to open the doors of the bus and indicated where the refugees should stay. 11229
- 4104. Witness SD testified that Nsabimana was the *préfet* at the BPO and described him as a short, big man. In court, she identified Nteziryayo as Nsabimana. She explained that although she had seen Nsabimana close up on several occasions, too much time had elapsed since then.

```
<sup>11217</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SD).
<sup>11218</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness SD).
<sup>11219</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SD).
<sup>11220</sup> T. 17 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness SD).
<sup>11221</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11; T. 18 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness SD).
<sup>11222</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SD).
11223 T. 18 March 2003 pp. 13-14 (Witness SD); Defence Exhibit 106 (Nsabimana) (18 September 1997,
Statement of Witness SD).
<sup>11224</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SD).
<sup>11225</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).
11226 T. 18 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness SD).
<sup>11227</sup> T. 18 March 2003 pp. 14, 17 (Witness SD).
<sup>11228</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD).
<sup>11229</sup> T. 18 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD).
<sup>11230</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 7 (Witness SD).
<sup>11231</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 20 (Witness SD).
<sup>11232</sup> T. 17 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness SD).
```

- 4105. Witness SD testified that Kanyabashi, who she identified as the *bourgmestre* for Ngoma *commune*, was not present when they boarded the bus to Kibilizi, nor was he present when the first two buses departed the day before. 11233
- 4106. Witness SD did not know persons bearing the same names as Witnesses RE, QBQ, SJ or TA. 11234

Prosecution Witness SJ

- 4107. Witness SJ, a Tutsi woman, testified that while she was at the BPO she witnessed Tutsi refugees being forced to board two green ONATRACOM buses in front of the BPO. The refugees were beaten and prodded with sticks to board the buses. There were approximately 1,500 Tutsi refugees at the BPO at that time. It was towards the end of April or the beginning of May 1994. The buses left between 11.00 a.m. and 12.00 p.m. When it was put to Witness SJ that her prior written statement said the buses left at 4.00 p.m., she explained that her statement had not been properly recorded and that the buses actually returned at 4.00 p.m. It was a straight the buses actually returned at 4.00 p.m.
- 4108. She testified that these two buses were stacked with people, some of whom sat on top of each other. She saw *Préfet* Nsabimana give *laissez-passer* documents to a police officer to allow the buses to pass through the roadblocks, and the police officer gave these documents to the bus driver. The buses came back but without the refugees. 11243
- 4109. Witness SJ testified that the next morning, four survivors, three women and one man, made their way back to the BPO. 11244 Witness SJ spoke with the survivors between 10.00 and 11.00 a.m. 11245 The survivors were in a pitiful state when they got back, one woman being half naked. 11246 The survivors told her that the refugees had been "jammed into a classroom" at Nyange which was guarded by *Interahamwe*. That night two groups of people broke into the classroom and attacked the refugees with small hoes, clubs, machetes and stones. The survivors said that the attackers killed the refugees in the classroom and killed those refugees who had tried to escape through a broken window in the school yard. 11247 Witness SJ learned

¹¹²³³ T. 18 March 2003 pp. 43-44 (Witness SD).

¹¹²³⁴ T. 17 March 2003 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness SD).

¹¹²³⁵ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65-66, 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²³⁶ T. 29 May 2002 p. 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²³⁷ T. 28 May 2002 p. 113; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 82-84; T. 5 June 2002 p. 35; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-152 (Witness SJ).

¹1238 T. 29 May 2002 p. 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²³⁹ T. 4 June 2002 p. 146 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴⁰ T. 4 June 2002 p. 147 (ICS) (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 67 (Nyiramasuhuko) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴¹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 69; T. 5 June 2002 p. 54 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴² T. 29 May 2002 pp. 69, 72, 89; T. 5 June 2002 pp. 67-68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴³ T. 29 May 2002 p. 72 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴⁴ T. 29 May 2002 p. 72 (Witness SJ); T. 4 June 2002 p. 139 (ICS) (Witness SJ); *see also* T. 29 May 2002 pp. 134-135 (ICS) (Witness SJ) (regarding identity of the survivors).

¹¹²⁴⁵ T. 29 May 2002 p. 72 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴⁶ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 78-79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁴⁷ T. 29 May 2002 p. 79 (Witness SJ).

from these survivors that the buses had taken the refugees to Nyange. 11248 She testified that these four were the only ones to survive. 11249

- 4110. When it was put to Witness SJ that her prior written statement did not mention the survivors, she explained that the investigators only asked questions on certain points and she was not questioned on all the details. When it was put to Witness SJ that her prior written statement stated that she did not know where the buses took the refugees, Witness SJ stated that she did not know at the time where the buses were going, although they subsequently found out. 11251
- 4111. Witness SJ testified that the morning after the first two buses departed, the police and the *Interahamwe* forced her and the remaining refugees to board the bus destined for Nyange by hitting them with rifle butts and sticks. This occurred between 11.00 a.m. and 12.00 p.m. The bus was full of refugees seated on top of each other. Apart from some girls, there were no refugees remaining at the BPO after the third bus left. There were three policemen aboard her bus to Nyange. She indicated where the bus was located on Prosecution Exhibit 23(c) *ter*. The first two buses were parked in the same place.
- 4112. They left the BPO around 12.00 or 12.30 p.m. and returned to the BPO by around 3.00 p.m. ¹¹²⁵⁹ Prior to their departure, Witness SJ testified that a *laissez-passer* document was given to the driver by a soldier while Nsabimana was standing in front of his office door. ¹¹²⁶⁰ She identified the location of the door to Nsabimana's office on Prosecution Exhibit 23(c) *ter*. ¹¹²⁶¹ The fact that it had been issued by Nsabimana was later confirmed by one of the policemen on the bus. ¹¹²⁶² She saw Nsabimana give the document to a soldier who in turn gave it to the driver. ¹¹²⁶³
- 4113. Witness SJ testified that there were three roadblocks up to Rango, but she did not remember the number of roadblocks from Nyange to Rango because she did not know that area. Witness SJ, who was seated in the row behind the driver, testified that at the roadblocks the bus driver presented some documents which he explained authorised their trip

```
11248 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 68-69 (Witness SJ).
11250 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 141-142 (ICS) (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 67 (Nyiramasuhuko) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 66 (List of Omissions from the Statement of Witness SJ).
11251 T. 4 June 2002 pp. 135-137 (ICS) (Witness SJ); Defence Exhibit 67 (Nyiramasuhuko) (3 December 1996, Statement of Witness SJ).
11252 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-82; T. 4 June 2002 p. 62; T. 4 June 2002 p. 149 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
11253 T. 5 June 2002 p. 52 (Witness SJ).
11254 T. 5 June 2002 p. 54 (Witness SJ).
11255 T. 5 June 2002 p. 55 (Witness SJ).
11256 T. 29 May 2002 p. 91 (Witness SJ).
11257 T. 5 June 2002 p. 60 (Witness SJ).
11258 T. 5 June 2002 p. 63-64 (Witness SJ).
11259 T. 5 June 2002 p. 79 (Witness SJ).
11260 T. 5 June 2002 p. 58 (Witness SJ).
11261 T. 28 May 2002 p. 123 (Witness SJ).
11261 T. 28 May 2002 p. 123 (Witness SJ).
```

¹¹²⁶⁵ T. 5 June 2002 p. 57 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁶² T. 29 May 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness SJ). T. 5 June 2002 p. 58 (Witness SJ).

11264 T. 29 May 2002 p. 88; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 127-128 (Witness SJ).

to Nyange. Those documents were issued by Nsabimana, because he was the only person with the authority to allow the refugees at the BPO to travel to any other location; without his authorisation, the departure of the buses would have been "impossible". She saw the signature of Nsabimana and the stamp of the *préfecture* on the document when she looked over the driver's shoulder. In cross-examination she testified that she did not know what the *préfecture* stamp looked like, but she did see a stamp on the document. She also did not know what Nsabimana's signature looked like. When it was put to her that the document may have come from ONATRACOM, she testified that it was nevertheless handed over to the soldier by Nsabimana.

4114. She recalled there was a roadblock located at Nyange. 11272 When the bus arrived in Nyange, the *Interahamwe* refused to let the bus pass the roadblock despite the papers shown to them by the driver. 11273 The *Interahamwe* told the bus driver: "Take these people back to Pauline and the *préfet*, they have their own soldiers. We are tired and no salary or reward has been given to us, we do not want those persons". 11274 When the bus was stopped at the Nyange roadblock, she observed a long school building in the forest and identified the classrooms which appeared in Prosecution Exhibit 25C and 25D as the building. 11275 She did not see any dead bodies at or near the Nyange school from where they were in the bus at the roadblock; she explained that the roadblock was far away from the school building and was obscured by trees. 11276

4115. Witness SJ testified that they went back to the BPO at around 3.00 p.m. ¹¹²⁷⁷ Nsabimana asked, "[h]ow is it that these persons have returned?" The police officer repeated what the *Interahamwe* had said, namely that Pauline had her own *Interahamwe* and soldiers and that they should kill them and bury them themselves. ¹¹²⁷⁹ She could hear their conversation because Nsabimana had come out of his office. ¹¹²⁸⁰ Thereafter, Nsabimana went into his office, picked up a firearm, took three soldiers with him, and left. ¹¹²⁸¹ Witness SJ remained at the BPO for a week before being moved to Rango. ¹¹²⁸² There were no other refugees in the

```
<sup>11266</sup> T. 29 May 2002 pp. 88-89; T. 5 June 2002 p. 58 (Witness SJ).
```

¹¹²⁶⁷ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 89-90; T. 5 June 2002 p. 72 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁶⁸ T. 29 May 2002 p. 90; T. 5 June 2002 pp. 68-69 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁶⁹ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 70-71 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁰ T. 5 June 2002 p. 71 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷¹ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 70-73 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷² T. 4 June 2002 p. 128 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷³ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-81, 87 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁴ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-81, 93 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁵ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 100-101; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 128-129; T. 5 June 2002 p. 74 (Witness SJ). *See* Prosecution Exhibit 25 (Photographs of the EER); Prosecution Exhibit 25C (Photograph of the Classrooms of the School); Prosecution Exhibit 25D (Photograph of the Classrooms of the School taken from a different angle).

¹¹²⁷⁶ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 74-76 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁷ T. 5 June 2002 p. 79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁸ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 81, 96 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁷⁹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 96; T. 5 June 2002 p. 85 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁸⁰ T. 5 June 2002 pp. 84-85, 88 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁸¹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 96 (Witness SJ).

¹¹²⁸² T. 30 May 2002 pp. 80, 82, 85-86 (Witness SJ).

BPO courtyard when they arrived. 11283 Witness SJ positively identified Nsabimana in court 11284

- 4116. Upon recall in 2009, Prosecution Witness SJ testified that interpreters Evelyne and Uwimana instructed her to lie about knowing two people bearing the same names as Prosecution Witnesses TK and QJ. Witness SJ subsequently rectified that it was only one interpreter who instructed her to deny knowing persons bearing the same names as Witnesses TK and QJ and she was called either Evelyne Uwimana or Uwimana Evelyne. Uwimana was accompanied by a white man during the time she instructed the witness to tell lie. Witness SJ did not remember whether it was the same white man who examined her in court.
- 4117. Witness SJ stated that she was with persons bearing the same first name as Witnesses TK, QJ and TA when she received instructions to lie. Witness SJ then testified that she was alone with the interpreter when she received instructions to lie. 11289
- 4118. Witness SJ stated that she denied knowing Prosecution Witness TA during her testimony in 2002, 11290 although she and Witness TA were at the *préfecture* together during the events. Witness SJ subsequently testified that Witness TA was with her at the time in the safe house in Arusha, but Witness SJ had not said that they received instructions to lie at the same time; Witness SJ did not know whether Witness TA had also received instructions to lie. 11292 Witness SJ also agreed she knew a person bearing the same name as Witness QBQ, but had never discussed with this person whether they had also received instructions to lie. 11293

Prosecution Witness SU

4119. Witness SU, a Tutsi mother of five, testified that one day after her arrival at the BPO on 28 May 1994, 11294 three buses arrived at the BPO. 11295 Witness SU stated this event occurred at the beginning of June 1994. Witness SU boarded the third bus. 11297 The third bus departed right after the first two buses, on the same day. 11298 This third bus was not full but had a mechanical problem and therefore did not arrive at Nyange with the first two buses. 11299

```
<sup>11283</sup> T. 5 June 2002 pp. 94-95 (Witness SJ).
11284 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 138-139 (Witness SJ).
11285 T. 23 February 2009 pp. 82-83, 85 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11286</sup> T. 24 February 2009 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11287</sup> T. 24 February 2009 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
11288 T. 23 February 2009 p. 84 (ICS); T. 24 February 2009 pp. 19, 22 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11289</sup> T. 24 February 2009 pp. 19, 21 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11290</sup> T. 30 May 2002 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11291</sup> T. 24 February 2009 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11292</sup> T. 24 February 2009 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11293</sup> T. 23 February 2009 p. 85 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
<sup>11294</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 73-74 (Witness SU).
<sup>11295</sup> T. 14 October 2002 p. 87 (Witness SU).
<sup>11296</sup> T. 21 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness SU).
11297 T. 14 October 2002 p. 87 (Witness SU); T. 22 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness SU).
11298 T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 22 October 2002 p. 68; T. 22 October 2002 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness SU).
<sup>11299</sup> T. 22 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness SU).
```

- 4120. Witness SU testified that the third bus stopped at a place, maybe at Rango or Huye, where she saw a school. 11300 Before her bus reached Nyange, a child appeared, signalled for the driver to stop, and told him "[i]t's better not to go on, because those that went there were killed."11301 Witness SU was unsure if the child was a survivor of the first group or whether the child ran to their bus from a nearby hillside. 11302 She believed the place they stopped was probably Rango or Huye, although she was not familiar with the region's hills. 11303 The bus stopped just after Rango and it may have stopped at Sahera or Nkubi. 11304
- 4121. Witness SU testified that the third bus never reached Nyange. 11305 The bus driver turned the bus around, drove back to the BPO, and said to Nsabimana, who was present when they returned, "come take your cross". 11306 Witness SU testified that as she was disembarking. Nsabimana was standing in front of his office, and she heard Nsabimana tell the bus driver, "[l]eave them where they are, I will give the appropriate orders." On the side of the bus was written "God is great". 11308 Witness SU testified that she did not know Nsabimana before 1994 and that she "got to know Nsabimana at the time of the misfortune that befell [her]". 11309 She positively identified Nsabimana in court. 11310
- 4122. Witness SU testified that some survivors returned to the BPO the following day without any belongings. 11311 Witness SU learned from other refugees that when the first two buses arrived in Nyange the *Interahamwe*, who had prepared ahead of time, proceeded to kill the passengers when they disembarked. ¹¹³¹² A physically disabled woman who had boarded one of the first two buses, had survived and, after falling into a ditch and being covered with bodies, returned to the BPO without clothes the following day. That lady told Witness SU that when the buses stopped, the refugees got out of the buses and were cut up by people with weapons. 11313 Witness SU spoke with this lady the day after. 11314 When it was put to Witness SU that her prior statement did not mention Nyange, she explained the omission must have been the fault of the person taking her statement, since many things she said had not been included in her statement. 11315

¹¹³⁰⁰ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87 (Witness SU); see T. 14 October 2002 pp. 160-161 (Witness SU) (French) (for spelling of "Huye").

11301 T. 14 October 2002 p. 88; T. 22 October 2002 p. 69; T. 22 October 2002 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰² T. 22 October 2002 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰³ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 80-81 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁴ T. 22 October 2002 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁵ T. 21 October 2002 p. 35; T. 22 October 2002 p. 67 (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁶ T. 14 October 2002 p. 88; T. 22 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 88 (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 88; T. 22 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness SU).

¹¹³⁰⁹ T. 14 October 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹⁰ T. 15 October 2002 p. 24 (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹¹ T. 22 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹² T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹³ T. 22 October 2002 p. 69; T. 22 October 2002 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹⁴ T. 24 October 2002 p. 5 (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹⁵ T. 21 October 2002 pp. 35-36; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 66-67 (Witness SU); Defence Exhibit 75A (Nsabimana) (20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU); Defence Exhibit 75B (Nsabimana) (List of Omissions from the Statement of Witness SU).

4123. Witness SU did not know Witnesses RE and SJ. 11316 Witness SU came to Arusha with another Rwandan lady with the same first name as Witness QBP, whom she recognised but did not know personally. They lived together in Arusha while they waited to testify before this court, but she denied that they had discussed their testimony. Witness SU denied being part of either *Ibuka* or *Avega* or any other association of survivors. 11318

Prosecution Witness TA

- 4124. Witness TA, a 20-year-old Tutsi in 1994, 11319 was at the BPO prior to her transfer to Rango Forest in June. 11320 When it was put to Witness TA that her prior statement stated that she left the BPO at the end of May and spent the entire month of June at Rango, she explained that she actually left the BPO for Rango in mid-June, where she remained for about three weeks. 11321
- 4125. Witness TA testified that during her stay at the BPO she and other refugees were picked up by buses and vehicles used for rubbish collection and driven to Nyange. She boarded a truck and not a bus. The truck was turned back at a roadblock at Kansi before it reached its destination, while the bus in the same convoy passed through the roadblock and continued on its way. She did not see any soldiers or *Interahamwe* in the truck in which she travelled. She explained that they did not spend the night at Nyange because "most of the refugees had been killed". Instead, they returned to the BPO. When put to Witness TA that she had never before mentioned having been sent to Nyange before Rango, Witness TA agreed she had not mentioned this in her testimony.
- 4126. Witness TA testified that she did not know Witness SJ. Witness TA did not see Kanyabashi at the BPO during the time she was there. 11328

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

4127. Alison Des Forges testified that she found a *laissez-passer* document at the BPO signed by *Sous-préfet* Faustin Rutayisire for *Préfet* Nsabimana. The document granted permission for the "peasants" named in an attached list to be transported from Ngoma *commune* to the

```
<sup>11316</sup> T. 21 October 2002 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness SU).
```

¹¹³¹⁷ T. 21 October 2002 pp. 56-58 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹⁸ T. 22 October 2002 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹³¹⁹ T. 24 October 2001 p. 93 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁰ T. 6 November 2001 pp. 62, 68 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²¹ T. 6 November 2001 pp. 63-68 (Witness TA); Defence Exhibit 7 (Nyiramasuhuko) (19 November 1997, Statement of Witness TA).

¹¹³²² T. 6 November 2001 p. 62 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²³ T. 7 November 2001 p. 25 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁴ T. 6 November 2001 p. 63 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁵ T. 7 November 2001 p. 26 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁶ T. 6 November 2001 p. 63 (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁷ T. 7 November 2001 p. 114 (ICS) (Witness TA).

¹¹³²⁸ T. 7 November 2001 pp. 122-123 (Witness TA).

Nyange refugee camp in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. Des Forges did not see the list attached to the document when she obtained it from the BPO. 11330

- 4128. Des Forges testified that while Nsabimana was *préfet*, a number of refugees left the BPO for Nyange and almost immediately thereafter congregated again. She believed that there was only one transfer to Nyange. Based on her research, she estimated the transfer occurred between one and two weeks before the Rango transfer. Des Forges considered it unlikely, although not impossible, that the witnesses who were transferred both to Nyange and then Rango confused their accounts of the respective transfers. ¹¹³³¹
- 4129. Des Forges introduced Prosecution Exhibit 113, a document written by Nsabimana entitled *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, ¹¹³³² in which he wrote: "I suggested that I take [the refugees] to a camp in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. However, on the way to Nyaruhengeri, the *Interahamwe* at the roadblocks near the President's house forced the buses that were transporting the refugees to turn back; they only allowed one pickup to reach its destination". ¹¹³³³

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-10-Y

4130. Witness D-2-10-Y, a 17-year-old Tutsi gardener in 1994, testified that before he came to the *préfecture* office, some persons had been transported from EER at Butare to Nyange. He was at home when he saw buses transporting persons towards Nyange. In cross-examination, he testified that he saw three buses going from EER to Nyange, one followed by the other, several moments apart. Although he did not have an opportunity to take a good look since the buses did not stop, he recalled that some of the passengers were standing. The witness first said that the buses drove past some time during daylight, and later stated that he did not remember clearly what time of the day it was. He then said it was not night time. He could not recall whether anything was written on the buses although he recalled they were ONATRACOM buses.

4131. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he went to the BPO at the end of May 1994. 11342 At the BPO he spoke with three young girls who were around 18 years old and said they had been on

```
<sup>11329</sup> T. 9 June 2004 p. 52 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 127 (Permis de sortie).
```

Judgement and Sentence

¹¹³³⁰ T. 9 June 2004 p. 53 (Des Forges).

¹¹³³¹ T. 7 July 2004 pp. 8-9 (Des Forges).

¹¹³³² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 53-54 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 113 (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana).

¹¹³³³ T. 5 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) pp. K0016630-K0016631.

¹¹³³⁴ T. 29 April 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³³⁵ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 27-28, 67 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³³⁶ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 67-68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³³⁷ T. 1 May 2008 pp. 5-6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³³⁸ T. 29 April 2008 p. 67 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³³⁹ T. 1 May 2008 p. 6; T. 5 May 2008 p. 35 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³⁴⁰ T. 5 May 2008 p. 35 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³⁴¹ T. 5 May 2008 p. 35 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹³⁴² T. 1 May 2008 p. 8; T. 5 May 2008 pp. 58-59 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

the first two buses to Nyange. 11343 They told him that the first two buses went to Nyange, while the third bus "did not go where the killers were". 11344 The girls returned to the BPO aboard those same two buses. 11345 The young girls told Witness D-2-10-Y that the buses that had taken them did not go right up to where people were being killed. 11346 The survivors told Witness D-2-10-Y that those on board the first two buses had been killed, and the survivors from the first two buses met the third bus on their way back [to the BPO]. 11347

- 4132. Witness D-2-10-Y first met the girls when he went to the *préfecture* office. Later he stated that he met them while he stayed at the *préfecture* office, after having been at the *préfecture* for three days at the most. He assumed that the girls talked about the same buses which he had seen previously because they were the only buses he saw during that period. The survivors at the BPO told him that the buses had left from the EER, and not from the BPO. Had been previously because they were the only buses he saw during that period. The survivors at the BPO told him that the buses had left from the EER, had been previously because they were the only buses he saw during that period.
- 4133. He knew about the Nyange transfer before he reached the BPO, but was also later told about it by a Nyange survivor who was at the BPO. 11353 Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he could not remember when he saw the buses, had never been to Nyange, and that everything he knew about Nyange was heard from other persons. 11354
- 4134. Witness D-2-10-Y could not recall how long after he saw the buses pass his house he went to the BPO. However he got to the BPO a few days after the refugees returned from Nyange. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that the refugees were not taken to Rango one week after they returned from Nyange, because the transfer from Nyange had taken place before the witness arrived at the BPO, and he stayed at the BPO for two weeks before being transferred to Rango. Hadden to Rango. Hadden the BPO for two weeks before being transferred to Rango.

Nsabimana

4135. Nsabimana testified that since 1993 there were Burundian refugees throughout several of Butare's *communes*, including in Nyange. Nsabimana testified that in the first few days of June 1994¹¹³⁵⁹ *Sous-préfet* Bicamumpaka, who was in charge of social affairs, proposed at a Security Council meeting that the refugees be moved from the BPO to the refugee camp in

```
<sup>11343</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 7-8, 16; T. 5 May 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11344</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11345</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11346</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11347</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 68; T. 29 April 2008 p. 71 (French); T. 1 May 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11348</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11349</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 8, 11 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11350</sup> T. 5 May 2008 p. 41 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11351</sup> T. 29 April 2008 pp. 26, 68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11352</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 13 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11353</sup> T. 29 April 2008 pp. 26-68; T. 1 May 2008 p. 16 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11354</sup> T. 6 May 2008 pp. 8, 16-17 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11355</sup> T. 29 April 2008 p. 69; T. 1 May 2008 p. 8 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11356</sup> T. 1 May 2008 p. 12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11357</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 12-13 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11358</sup> T. 19 September 2006 p. 62 (Nsabimana).
11359 T. 9 October 2006 p. 81; T. 10 October 2006 pp. 8-9 (Nsabimana).
```

Nyange, Nyaruhengeri *commune*, which was a camp with Burundian Tutsi refugees. ¹¹³⁶⁰ Nsabimana estimated that Nyange camp was 15-20 kilometres southeast of Butare town. ¹¹³⁶¹ It was not raised at the Security Council meeting whether Nyange camp had tents or water. However, Nsabimana believed that Nyange camp, which had already housed people, would have much better facilities than those available at the BPO. ¹¹³⁶²

- 4136. The Security Council meeting took place in Nsabimana's office at the BPO before noon; maybe at 10.00 or 11.00 a.m. Nsabimana testified that in the hours following the Security Council meeting, as the only person who could requisition the vehicles, he found one ONATRACOM bus to transport the refugees. During this time and prior to the arrival of the bus, Rutayisire counted the refugees and prepared a list of the officials responsible for families and the number of children. Nsabimana testified that at the BPO the bus stopped at the lawn near the MINITRAP houses. Nsabimana identified the location where the bus stopped on Prosecution Exhibit 23(c) *ter*. 11367
- 4137. Nsabimana testified that he accepted Kanyabashi's proposal to provide two *commune* police officers. Nsabimana felt they needed to put *commune* policemen on the bus in order to "guarantee that the people [on the bus] would be able to pass" [the roadblocks]. The two *commune* police officers, carrying weapons, boarded the bus. 11369
- 4138. Nsabimana estimated there were 200 people on the bus. 11370 Nsabimana based his estimate on the number of people who were in the bus, not by the list that was prepared. 11371 The people were not sitting comfortably; they were all packed in tightly. 11372 He testified that it was hard to fit about 200 people on the bus. 11373 The people boarded with difficulty as they were carrying small parcels and clothes. They even attempted to put people in the luggage compartment of the bus. 11374 In the end, people were required to leave their effects behind. 11375 The refugees were asked to board and did so voluntarily. He was present during the operation from the time the people started boarding the bus until the bus actually left. 11377 Nsabimana accepted that a bus may only have between 60 and 80 seats, but testified that the normal concept of space did not apply in difficult times. 11378

```
<sup>11360</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 81 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11361</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 82 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11362</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 81-82 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11363</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 81-83 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11364</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 82-83 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11365</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 83-84 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11366</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11367</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 85 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11368</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11369</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 10 October 2006 p. 5; T. 18 October 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11370</sup> T. 10 October 2006 pp. 4-6; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25; T. 28 November 2006 pp. 28-29 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11371</sup> T. 10 October 2006 pp. 4-5 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11372</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 6; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11373</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11374</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11375</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26; T. 28 November 2006 p. 29 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11376</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 4; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11377</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 5; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11378</sup> T. 28 November 2006 p. 29 (Nsabimana).
```

- 4139. Depending on one's car and the road, Nyange was about 45 minutes to one hour away from the BPO. 11379 Nsabimana testified that it was not possible to take the refugees to Nyange in two separate trips because if the first bus left the BPO at 3.00 p.m., then the second trip would have had to have taken place that night, or the following morning. However, leaving the following day was not possible because of "the whole disorder that occurred". 11380
- 4140. Nsabimana testified that Kanyabashi was present when the bus arrived, but not when the people were boarding the bus. 11381 The bus left full to capacity for Nyange at approximately 3.00 or 4.00 p.m. 11382 Nsabimana testified that *Sous-préfet* Rutayisire signed a *laissez-passer* document. 11383 Nsabimana did not know the document existed. 11384 The *sous-préfet* was empowered, under Nsabimana's order, to sign *laissez-passer* documents for people to travel within the *préfecture*. 11385 Nsabimana denied having seen the *laissez-passer* paper himself. 11386
- 4141. Nsabimana testified that the bus never reached Nyange; 30-45 minutes after the bus left, it returned to the BPO with the people and police officers on board. The *commune* policeman told him that they had been stopped by Presidential Guard at a roadblock at Mukoni, but was not told why. Nsabimana testified that he then asked the refugees to get off the bus and directed them to an area in front of the BPO. 11389
- 4142. This event occurred in the first few days or even the first week of June 1994. He later testified it could even be the end of May 1994. It occurred less than one week after the refugees returned to the BPO from the EER. Nsabimana testified that no other trips or attempted trips to Nyange were made after this. 11392
- 4143. Nsabimana testified that at the same time they were seeking transport for the refugees to get to Nyange, one Burundian Tutsi called Jean Ntirulihamwe had asked Nsabimana for some petrol to go to Saga. Nsabimana agreed to give him the petrol if Ntirulihamwe would also drive some of the refugees towards Nyange in his pickup truck. This occurred around 1.00 p.m. Ntirulihamwe left later that day, although Nsabimana was not sure whether he took any refugees with him. The day after the bus returned to the BPO, Nsabimana wondered whether Ntirulihamwe took any refugees with him, and headed to Nyange to check. He did not reach

¹¹³⁷⁹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 28 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁰ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 29-30 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸¹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸² T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 10 October 2006 pp. 5, 7 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸³ T. 10 October 2006 p. 6 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁴ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 6-7 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁵ T. 10 October 2006 p. 6 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁶ T. 10 October 2006 p. 7 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁷ T. 10 October 2006 p. 7; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁸ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁸⁹ T. 10 October 2006 pp. 8-9 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁹⁰ T. 10 October 2006 p. 9 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁹¹ T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).

¹¹³⁹² T. 10 October 2006 p. 9; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

Nyange because he ran into five to 10 people seeking hiding, who Nsabimana left in the care of Nkubi *conseiller*, Kanywabahizi. 11393

- 4144. Nsabimana denied the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses SJ, SU and TK that three buses left one afternoon, and another left the following morning; that some of the buses had arrived in Nyange where the refugees were told to get off the buses, and were then attacked and killed in the night; and that other refugees returned to the BPO by their own means. Nsabimana denied Prosecution evidence that soldiers at the Mukoni roadblock sent the refugees' bus back to the BPO saying, "[g]o back to the *préfecture*, we are tired of killing, they should do their own work". 11395
- 4145. Nsabimana also denied Prosecution evidence that on seeing the refugees return to the *préfecture* office, he jumped into his vehicle saying he was going to get information on what had occurred. Nsabimana denied knowledge of the evidence of Prosecution Witness SJ that among the refugees who returned was one Semanyenzi who was severely wounded; the first time Nsabimana heard of Semanyenzi was in court. 11396

Nsabimana Defence Witness Khamis Ramadhan

- 4146. Khamis Ramadhan, an investigator for the Nsabimana Defence team since 2002, ¹¹³⁹⁷ explained that refugees from Burundi had been staying at Nyange in Nyaruhengeri. He took six photographs of Nyange in December 2004. Nyange was about a one hour drive from Butare town. To reach Nyange from Butare town, one would go past Rango from Mukoni, turn left and go to Nyaruhengeri. Nyange is towards the south of Butare *préfecture*. ¹¹³⁹⁸ The six pictures Ramadhan took of Nyange were admitted into evidence as Defence Exhibit 447A-F. ¹¹³⁹⁹
- 4147. Defence Exhibit 447A showed a section of the refugee camp, including grass and some terraces. Defence Exhibit 447B depicted a section of the former camp, where a cleared area as well as some bushes and trees were visible. Ramadhan confirmed that Defence Exhibit 447B showed a forest in Nyange, which was situated between 45 minutes and one hour's drive from Butare town. He saw the remnants of the refugee camp that had been there, meaning a place that had been cleared and had indications that there were people staying there at some point. Ramadhan testified that Defence Exhibit 447C showed the northern edge of the former camp, beyond which no refugees had stayed. He was told this by a person who approached him while he was taking pictures and said that he was the caretaker. Defence Exhibit 447D also showed a cleared area in about half of the photograph. On the right were

```
11393 T. 10 October 2006 pp. 16-17; T. 21 November 2006 p. 27 (Nsabimana).
11394 T. 10 October 2006 p. 9 (Nsabimana).
11395 T. 10 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).
11396 T. 10 October 2006 p. 10 (Nsabimana).
11397 T. 27 June 2006 p. 11; T. 29 June 2006 pp. 9-10 (Ramadhan).
11398 T. 28 June 2006 p. 39 (Ramadhan).
11399 T. 28 June 2006 pp. 49-50 (Ramadhan); Defence Exhibit 448 (Nsabimana) (CD-ROM containing photographs).
11400 T. 28 June 2006 p. 40 (Ramadhan).
11401 T. 28 June 2006 p. 39 (Ramadhan).
11402 T. 29 June 2006 p. 36 (Ramadhan).
11403 T. 28 June 2006 p. 41 (Ramadhan).
```

bushes and three stones, which could be used for cooking.¹¹⁴⁰⁴ Defence Exhibit 447E showed one of the places where there had been structures, in this case, a house. Farther away, another open space was visible, where there had been another house.¹¹⁴⁰⁵ Defence Exhibit 447F showed another cleared place and a hole, as well as some trees. There was a valley and a road, which on the left would go to Nyaruhengeri. The hole was manmade and had been used as a garbage dump by the refugees.¹¹⁴⁰⁶

4148. When carrying out his investigation at Nyange, Ramadhan was approached by a person who introduced himself as the caretaker and to whom Ramadhan asked questions. The caretaker did not append his signature to the summary Ramadhan had prepared for the Nsabimana Defence team. Ramadhan had asked the caretaker whether people had been killed in the area in 1994 and the caretaker had denied that this was the case. 11408

3.6.40.4 Deliberations

4149. The Prosecution alleges that Nsabimana ordered the transfer of refugees from the BPO to Nyange in order that they be killed and that this transfer occurred over a two day period using several buses. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Nsabimana organised only one transfer to Nyange which consisted of one bus, and that the purpose of the transfer was to ameliorate the refugees' living conditions. That bus and its passengers did not reach Nyange because it was denied passage at a roadblock, after which it returned to the BPO, where it arrived without any of its occupants being killed. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts the power to decide to transfer the refugees to Nyange lay with the *préfet*. It also asserts that only one witness testified that Kanyabashi was present and ordered refugees to board the bus to Nyange and that witness was unable to identify Kanyabashi in court.

4150. The issues for the Chamber to determine are: when the transfer to Nyange occurred; the number of buses involved in the transfer; and whether criminal acts were perpetrated against the refugees throughout and/or as a consequence of the transfer. Further, the Chamber must assess whether Nsabimana and Kanyabashi were involved in the transfer, and the extent of their individual involvement.

3.6.40.4.1 Time Period of the Transfer

4151. The Indictment alleges that the transfer of refugees to Nyange took place between mid-May and mid-June 1994. 11415 Nsabimana conceded that he arranged the transfer of refugees to

```
11404 T. 28 June 2006 p. 42 (Ramadhan).
11405 T. 28 June 2006 p. 43 (Ramadhan).
11406 T. 28 June 2006 pp. 43-44 (Ramadhan).
11407 T. 28 June 2006 pp. 48-49 (Ramadhan).
11408 T. 29 June 2006 p. 37 (Ramadhan).
11409 T. 10 October 2006 p. 9; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).
11410 T. 9 October 2006 pp. 81-82 (Nsabimana).
11411 Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 16.
11412 T. 10 October 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).
11413 Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 3.
11414 Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 4-5.
11415 Para. 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.
```

Nyange during this time frame, specifically in the first few days or week of June 1994, 11416 or perhaps even the end of May 1994. Witness SU corroborated this time frame, stating that the incident occurred either in the last few days of May or at the beginning of June 1994, 11418 while Witness SD testified that the Nyange transfer occurred approximately a week before her departure to Rango forest in June 1994. Des Forges estimated that, based on her research, the transfer occurred between one and two weeks before the Rango transfer. 11420

- 4152. Witness SJ was the only witness to estimate that the event took place around late April or early May 1994. Having regard to Witness SJ's own admission that she could not recall the month in which the event occurred, 11422 the Chamber considers Witness SJ's testimony, as an estimate, does not contradict the testimony of the other witnesses as to the date of the transfer.
- 4153. The Chamber recalls Nsabimana also testified the transfer occurred less than one week after the refugees returned to the BPO from the EER. Recalling its previous finding that the refugees returned to the BPO from the EER at the very end of May 1994 (), the Chamber finds that the subsequent transfer to Nyange occurred within the first few days or week of June 1994. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the bus transfers to Nyange occurred within the time frame alleged in the Indictments, namely mid-May and mid-June 1994. 11424
- 3.6.40.4.2 Number of Buses and Sequence of Events Relating to the Transfer
- 4154. The Nsabimana and Kanyabashi Indictments allege that the refugees were transported to Nyange in ONATRACOM buses upon Nsabimana and Kanyabashi's orders. The Prosecution led evidence through Witnesses QBP, SD, QY, SJ and RE that there was more than one bus used in the transfer. 11425
- 4155. Witness QBP testified that three buses arrived at the BPO one evening ("day one") to transport refugees to Nyange and that she boarded the second one. The first and second buses reached Nyange but the third bus had a mechanical problem before reaching Nyange and returned to the BPO. 11426 Witness SU corroborated this account, stating that three buses arrived at the BPO and that she left in the third bus 11428 that departed on the same day. 11429

¹¹⁴¹⁶ T. 9 October 2006 p. 81; T. 10 October 2006 p. 9 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁴¹⁷ T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁴¹⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 15 October 2002 pp. 73-74; T. 21 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴¹⁹ T. 17 March 2003 p. 11; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴²⁰ T. 7 July 2004 p. 8 (Des Forges).

¹¹⁴²¹ T. 29 May 2002 p. 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴²² T. 29 May 2002 p. 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴²³ T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁴²⁴ Para. 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

¹¹⁴²⁵ With the exception of Des Forges and Witness TA, the remaining Prosecution witnesses all testified to the departure of multiple buses. The Chamber notes Des Forges was neither qualified nor asked to testify about this issue, and Witness TA only testified about Nyange during cross-examination. Witness TA had not mentioned the bus trip to Nyange in her witness statement and the Prosecution did not question her about this event during examination-in-chief. 11426 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 81; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 54-55; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 38-39 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴²⁷ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87 (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴²⁸ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 22 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴²⁹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 87; T. 22 October 2002 p. 68; T. 22 October 2002 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness SU).

However, the third bus had a mechanical problem and therefore did not arrive at Nyange with the first two buses. 11430

4156. The Chamber notes that Witness SU did not mention Nyange in her prior statement. 11431 Further, Witness SU came to Arusha with a Rwandan lady with the same first name as Witness QBP, whom she testified she recognised but did not know personally. They lived together in Arusha while they waited to testify before this court, but Witness SU denied that they had discussed their testimony. 11432 Witness QBP also testified that she did not know Witness SU. 11433

4157. Although the Chamber considers the omission of the Nyange event from Witness SU's prior statement to be significant, the Chamber does not consider the omission of this event from Witness SU's prior statement raises doubts as to the reliability of Witness SU's testimony before the court. 11434 The Chamber considered her testimony before the court to be detailed and reliable. Further, having regard to Witness SU's denial as to having discussed her testimony with Witness QBP while they were housed together, which was corroborated by Witness QBP, who testified that she did not know Witness SU, 11435 the Chamber considers the testimony of Witness SU is reliable and corroborates Witness OBP.

4158. Both accounts were also corroborated by Witness SD, who testified that on day one three ONATRACOM buses arrived at the BPO and that Tutsi refugees, including six of her children, boarded two of the buses and were taken to Nyange. Witness RE similarly testified that on day one, three buses arrived at the BPO to transport refugees to Nyange, although she did not board any of these buses. 11437 When it was put to Witness RE that her prior statement of 5 December 1996 did not mention the forced transfer of refugees to Nyange in three buses on day one. 11438 Witness RE explained that her written statement was only a summary and that she was able to provide more detailed testimony in person before the court. 11439

4159. The Chamber is mindful that prior consistent statements cannot be used to bolster credibility, but may be used to rebut a charge of recent fabrication. 11440 The Chamber has reviewed the prior statement of Witness RE dated 5 December 1996¹¹⁴⁴¹ and considers there is no omission of the nature indicated by the Defence in their cross-examination of Witness RE. The statement explicitly refers to the arrival of two buses at the BPO, that Witness RE was

¹¹⁴³⁰ T. 22 October 2002 p. 68 (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴³¹ T. 21 October 2002 p. 36; T. 22 October 2002 pp. 66-67 (Witness SU); Defence Exhibit 75A (Nsabimana) (20 November 1996, Statement of Witness SU); Defence Exhibit 75B (Nsabimana) (List of Omissions from the Statement of Witness SU).

¹¹⁴³² T. 21 October 2002 pp. 56-58 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴³³ T. 29 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴³⁴ Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 152.

¹¹⁴³⁵ T. 29 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴³⁶ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴³⁷ T. 24 February 2003 p. 14 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴³⁸ T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 27 February 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 90 (Nsabimana) (List of Alleged Omissions; 5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE). 11439 T. 25 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁴⁰ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 147-148, 155.

¹¹⁴⁴¹ Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

forced to board one bus, and that they were taken to Nyaruhengeri. The statement further outlines that this was the second trip with the buses, because the first trip the buses made failed after being turned back at Nyaruhengeri. Although her statement referred to Nyaruhengeri rather than Nyange, Nyange is in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. The Chamber considers that witnesses such as Witnesses QBQ¹¹⁴⁴³ and QY¹¹⁴⁴⁴ who testified about the transfer to Nyaruhengeri, rather than Nyange, nevertheless testified about the same transfer. Having regard to this outline of events, the Chamber considers that Witness RE did mention the Nyange transfer in her statement and accordingly, there is no omission in this respect.

4160. With respect to the number of buses that left the BPO, based on the following sentence in Witness RE's prior statement, "[t]he first one [trip] failed ... because the bus was send [sic] back at the moment it arrived at Nyaruhengeri", it was put to Witness RE that she only referred to one bus leaving on day one for Nyaruhengeri. Witness RE explained that this was a mistake on the part of the investigator; she clarified that during the first trip three buses went to Nyange and that during the second trip there was only one bus which was stopped at Nyaruhengeri. However, having reviewed the prior statement of Witness RE, the Chamber considers there is no inconsistency of the nature indicated by the Defence in their cross-examination of Witness RE. The statement reads: "It was the second trip with these buses [sic]. The first one [i.e. trip] failed ... because the bus was send [sic] back at the moment it arrived at Nyaruhengeri." A plain reading of Witness RE's statement shows that multiple buses left for Nyaruhengeri, whereas one was apparently sent back. In the Chamber's view, there is no inconsistency between Witness RE's oral testimony that three buses left the BPO, and her written statement which refers to the departure of "buses" in the plural on day one.

4161. Having reviewed Witness RE's prior statements, the Chamber rejects the suggestion that Witness RE's account of the Nyange transfer at trial was a fabrication.

4162. The testimony of Witnesses QBP, SU and SD corroborates Witness RE's testimony. The Chamber notes that Witnesses SD, 11448 SU 11449 and QBP 11450 testified that they did not know Witness RE, a fact confirmed by Witness RE. 11451 In the circumstances, the Chamber considers the testimony of Witness RE is credible.

4163. In contrast to Witnesses QBP, SD, SU and RE, Witness QBQ testified that on day one, two buses came to transport the refugees to Nyaruhengeri, and that one bus returned to

¹¹⁴⁴² T. 24 October 2002 p. 81 (Witness QBP) (refugees transported in three buses to Nyange, in Nyaruhengeri *commune*); T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD) (refugees taken to Nyange in Nyaruhengeri); T. 9 June 2004 p. 52 (Des Forges) (testifying about a document that granted permission for named "peasants" to be transported to the Nyange refugee camp in Nyaruhengeri *commune*); T. 9 October 2006 p. 81 (Nsabimana) (testifying that Security Council meeting decided to move refugees to refugee camp in Nyange, Nyaruhengeri *commune*).

T. 3 February 2004 p. 75 (Witness QBQ) (three buses went to Nyaruhengeri).

T. 19 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY) (*préfet* told refugees he was going to take them to Nyaruhengeri).

¹¹⁴⁴⁵ T. 27 February 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁴⁶ T. 25 February 2003 p. 35; T. 27 February 2003 p. 35 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁴⁷ Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁴⁸ T. 17 March 2003 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴⁴⁹ T. 21 October 2002 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁴⁵⁰ T. 29 October 2002 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴⁵¹ T. 24 February 2003 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness RE).

transport the remaining refugees on the same day. ¹¹⁴⁵² The Chamber notes that Witness QBQ testified that the third bus left after survivors from the first two buses had returned to the BPO and warned her and others not to go. ¹¹⁴⁵³ Having regard to the testimony of other Prosecution witnesses that the survivors from the first two buses returned to the BPO the following morning, ¹¹⁴⁵⁴ and not the same day, day one, the Chamber finds Witness QBQ to be mistaken regarding the departure time of the third bus.

4164. Lastly, Witnesses QY and SJ both testified that on day one, only two buses arrived at the BPO to take refugees to Nyange, ¹¹⁴⁵⁵ and a third bus left the following day ("day two"). Both Witnesses QY ¹¹⁴⁵⁶ and SJ ¹¹⁴⁵⁷ were aboard the bus that left the BPO on day two and both witnesses testified this bus never reached Nyange because it was refused passage at a roadblock and returned to the BPO. ¹¹⁴⁵⁸ In contrast to her testimony, Witness QY stated in a prior statement that two buses left the BPO together on day two and were returned to the BPO. ¹¹⁴⁵⁹ Witness QY clarified in testimony that only one bus left on day two and explained that the people recording her statement must have made a mistake. ¹¹⁴⁶⁰ The Chamber notes that this discrepancy about whether one or two buses left on day two is not significant and does not undermine the credibility of Witness QY's testimony about the departure of two buses on day one. The Chamber finds the evidence of these two witnesses to be mutually consistent and reliable as to this sequence of events. The Chamber also notes that the evidence of Witnesses QY and SJ about the further departure on day two of one bus is corroborated by Witnesses SD ¹¹⁴⁶¹ and RE. ¹¹⁴⁶²

4165. Notwithstanding that Witnesses QY and SJ testified that two buses left the BPO on day one, whereas Witnesses QBP, SD, SU and RE testified that three buses left the BPO on day one, the Chamber does not consider these testimonies to be mutually inconsistent. Having regard to the amount of time that has passed since the events in question, the Chamber considers the variance in testimony between these witnesses is not significant. The Chamber further notes that even Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he saw three buses going from EER to Nyange, one followed by the other, several moments apart. He also gave hearsay evidence from three girls at the BPO that they had been on the first two buses to Nyange, ¹¹⁴⁶⁴ and that

¹¹⁴⁵² T. 3 February 2004 pp. 75-76 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁴⁵³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁴⁵⁴ T. 28 October 2002 p. 64 (Witness QBP); T. 30 October 2002 p. 39 (Witness QBP); T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY); T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness RE); T. 27 February 2003 p. 24 (Witness RE); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 41, 50, 68 (Witness SD); T. 29 May 2002 p. 72 (Witness SJ); T. 4 June 2002 p. 139 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁵⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65-66, 68, 72 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁵⁶ T. 25 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁴⁵⁷ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-82; T. 4 June 2002 p. 62; T. 4 June 2002 p. 149 (ICS); T. 5 June 2002 p. 52 (Witness S.J).

¹¹⁴⁵⁸ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 62-63 (Witness QY); T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-81; T. 5 June 2002 p. 79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁵⁹ T. 25 March 2003 p. 51 (Witness QY); Defence Exhibit 112 (Nyiramasuhuko) (15 January 1997, Statement of Witness QY) pp. 4-5.

¹¹⁴⁶⁰ T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁴⁶¹ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11, 67, 70 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴⁶² T. 24 February 2003 pp. 15, 17; T. 25 February 2003 p. 32; T. 27 February 2003 p. 25 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁶³ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 67-68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹⁴⁶⁴ T. 1 May 2008 pp. 6-8, 16; T. 5 May 2008 p. 37 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

there was a third bus that "did not go where the killers were". Although the Chamber considers his direct evidence about this sighting of the three buses was confused and often lacking in detail, the hearsay evidence he presented, as relayed to him by the three girls at the BPO, nevertheless corroborates the Prosecution evidence as to the number of buses that went to Nyange.

4166. Nsabimana is the only witness to testify that there was only one bus used to transport refugees to Nyange. He admitted to arranging for a single bus to transport refugees to Nyange, but stated that the bus never reached its destination because it was refused passage at a roadblock. However, in Nsabimana's written account, *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, he refers to multiple buses when discussing the transfer of refugees from the BPO to Nyaruhengeri: "the *Interahamwe* at the roadblocks forced the buses that were transporting the refugees to turn back; they only allowed one pickup to reach its destination". Due to these inconsistencies, the Chamber finds that Nsabimana's testimony that he only arranged for one bus to take refugees to Nyange not credible.

4167. Based on the foregoing evidence, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Tutsi refugees at the BPO boarded at least two ONATRACOM buses on day one that went to Nyange. In addition, the Chamber finds that a third bus departed on day two, but did not reach Nyange and returned to the BPO with its passengers on board.

3.6.40.4.3 Ethnicity of Refugees Allegedly Transferred to Nyange

4168. As to the ethnicity of the refugees, Witness SD testified that Nsabimana told the Tutsi refugees to board two of the buses. Witness SJ similarly testified that while at the BPO she witnessed Tutsi refugees being forced to board two green ONATRACOM buses in front of the BPO at that there were approximately 1,500 Tutsi refugees at the BPO at that time.

4169. Considering the prevailing situation at the BPO at the time, the Chamber's prior finding that hundreds of Tutsi refugees were abducted from the BPO while they sought refuge there (), as well as the Chamber's prior finding that those who took refuge at the EER were predominantly Tutsis (), and returned to the BPO around 31 May 1994 (), the Chamber finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the refugees who were thereafter allegedly transferred from the BPO to Nyange, were also Tutsis.

3.6.40.4.4 Forced Boarding of the Buses

4170. Several Prosecution witnesses testified that they were beaten by policemen or gendarmes and forced to board the buses to Nyange. While Witness QBP, a survivor of the

¹¹⁴⁶⁵ T. 1 May 2008 p. 6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹⁴⁶⁶ T. 10 October 2006 p. 9; T. 21 November 2006 pp. 25-26 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁴⁶⁷ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 82-83 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁴⁶⁸ T. 10 October 2006 p. 7; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) pp. K0016630-K0016631

¹¹⁴⁷⁰ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 10-11 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴⁷¹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65-66, 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁷² T. 28 May 2002 p. 113; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 151-152; T. 4 June 2002 pp. 80-84; T. 5 June 2002 p. 35 (Witness SJ).

transfer on the first day, did not make any mention of being beaten or forced to board the buses, Witness SJ, a Tutsi woman at the BPO testifying about the transfer of day one, testified that she witnessed Tutsi refugees being forced to board two green ONATRACOM buses in front of the BPO, 11473 and that the refugees were beaten and prodded with sticks to board the buses. 11474

- 4171. As to the transfer on day two, Witness QBQ testified that those who boarded the bus on the third trip were forced to do so. However Witness QY testified that the refugees refused to board the third bus and expressed their concerns about the killings at Nyange to the *préfet*, who said he would check. Witness QY later testified that the refugees felt reassured by the *préfet* once he returned and they boarded the bus without being forced. Witness QY's account was closely corroborated by Witness SD. Witness SD nevertheless testified that those who refused to board the bus, even after being assuaged by Nsabimana's words, were beaten by a *gendarme*.
- 4172. Witnesses RE testified that on day two, she and the remaining refugees were forced to board the buses to Nyaruhengeri, and that when the refugees initially refused to board a *gendarme* stuck them and forced them aboard. Witness RE understood that they were being transported so that the *Interahamwe* could execute them. Witness SJ corroborated this when she testified that on day two, police and the *Interahamwe* forced her and the remaining refugees to board the bus destined for Nyange by hitting them with rifle butts and sticks. The bus was full of refugees seated on top of each other.
- 4173. Witnesses SD and RE were the only witnesses to identify their assailants as *gendarmes*. The Chamber recalls Nsabimana's testimony that he accepted Kanyabashi's proposal to provide two *commune* police officers to accompany the refugees on the third bus. 11485 Although the Chamber recalls Nsabimana testified about the bus that was stopped at the roadblock and returned to the BPO safely with its passengers, the Chamber recalls its finding that Nsabimana was not truthful about the extent of his involvement in organising the transfer, and nevertheless accepts his testimony as proof that *commune* policemen were present during the boarding of the buses and accompanied the refugees to Nyange. This is consistent with the

¹¹⁴⁷³ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 65-66, 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁷⁴ T. 29 May 2002 p. 68 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁷⁵ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁴⁷⁶ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁴⁷⁷ T. 25 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁴⁷⁸ T. 17 March 2003 p. 50 (refugees initially refused to board the bus [on day two], saying those who had gone before had died); T. 17 March 2003 p. 67 (after which Nsabimana said he would check into it); T. 17 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness SD) (Nsabimana returned to tell refugees that the child survivor's warning were baseless, such that Witness SD boarded this third bus to Nyange).

¹¹⁴⁷⁹ T. 18 March 2003 p. 43 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴⁸⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 27 February 2003 p. 25 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁸¹ T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 26 February 2003 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁸² T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁸³ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 80-82; T. 4 June 2002 p. 62; T. 4 June 2002 p. 149 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁸⁴ T. 5 June 2002 p. 54 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁸⁵ T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 10 October 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

evidence of Witnesses QBQ, 11486 SD, 11487 and SJ11488 that policemen accompanied the refugees aboard the bus to Nyange.

- 4174. Although Witnesses SD and RE referred to gendarmes, rather than policemen, the Chamber considers that their erroneous identification of their assailants as gendarmes is attributable to the stressful situation in which they found themselves at the time, as well as the passage of time since the events in question. Notwithstanding this misidentification, the Chamber considers the foregoing testimony to be corroborated and mutually consistent.
- 4175. As such, the Chamber finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the refugees were forced to board the buses by commune policemen who beat the refugees during boarding and accompanied them on the bus to Nyange.
- 3.6.40.4.5 Tutsi Refugees Attacked and Killed at Nyange on Day One
- 3.6.40.4.5.1 Witness QBP's Presence at Nyange
- 4176. Witness QBP, who boarded the second bus on day one, is the only witness whose bus reached Nyange. 11489 Witness QBP testified that the refugees who boarded the first two buses were killed, 11490 that less than 10 people survived the Nyange trip, 11491 and that a group of survivors returned to the BPO together. 11492 Witness QBP's account of the survivors was corroborated by the hearsay evidence of Witnesses QBQ, SU, SD, QY, RE and SJ regarding their encounters with returning survivors of the first two buses.
- 4177. Witness QBQ corroborates Witness QBP. Witness QBQ testified that some people from the first and second buses had escaped from Nyange and returned to the BPO on foot to tell the remaining refugees not to go. 11493 Although Witness QBQ did not specify how many survivors returned, her testimony makes clear there were several survivors. While several Prosecution witnesses, namely Witnesses SD, 11494 QY, 11495 and RE 11496 testified about a single young male survivor who returned from Nyange to warn them not to board later buses heading to Nyange, Witness SJ testified that four survivors, three women and one man, returned to the BPO on day two between 10.00 and 11.00 a.m., 11497 and that these four were the only ones to

¹¹⁴⁸⁶ T. 4 February 2004 p. 16 (policemen accompanied them on the bus); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 77 (Witness QBQ) (police officer drove the bus and drove them back to the BPO);

¹¹⁴⁸⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SD) (at Kibilizi roadblock, policeman showed the documents to those who manned the roadblock).

¹¹⁴⁸⁸ T. 29 May 2002 p. 91 (Witness SJ) (three policemen aboard her bus to Nyange).

¹¹⁴⁸⁹ T. 28 October 2002 p. 55; T. 30 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴⁹⁰ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 75-76, 79 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴⁹¹ T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 28 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴⁹² T. 28 October 2002 pp. 75-76, 79 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁴⁹³ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁴⁹⁴ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11, 41, 50, 68 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁴⁹⁵ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁴⁹⁶ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 25 February 2003 p. 32; T. 26 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (ICS); T. 27 February 2003 p. 24 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁴⁹⁷ T. 29 May 2002 p. 72; T. 29 May 2002 pp. 134-135 (ICS); T. 4 June 2002 p. 139 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

survive. 11498 Witness SU also testified about the return to the BPO of at least three survivors, including 2 young men and a physically disabled woman. 11499

4178. Witness SU also testified about being warned not to proceed to Nyange by a child. However, her account shows that the bus was already *en route* to Nyange when the child survivor signalled for their bus to stop and warned them not to continue to Nyange. In contrast, Witnesses SD, QY and RE testified they were warned by a child survivor before their bus left the BPO. Considering, however, that Witness SU was unsure if the child was a survivor of the first group of transferred refugees or whether the child ran to their bus from a nearby hillside, the Chamber accepts it is possible that Witness SU was referring to a different child. For that reason, the Chamber does not find Witness SU's testimony either contradicts or undermines the testimony of Witnesses SD, QY or RE as to this event.

4179. The Chamber notes that Witness RE did not mention the child survivor in her prior written statement. The Chamber considers that despite the omission of this event from her written statement, Witness RE's testimony is nevertheless corroborated by Witnesses SD and QY, and therefore has other indicia of credibility. Considering both Witnesses SD and QY¹¹⁵⁰⁷ testified that they did not know Witness RE, the Chamber accepts Witness RE's testimony as credible.

4180. As for the number of returning survivors, the Chamber considers the evidence is consistent and corroborated insofar as Witnesses SD, QY and RE testify about the same male survivor, 11508 while Witness SJ's description of one woman being half naked, 11509 corresponds both with Witness QBP's description of herself when she returned to the BPO and corroborates Witness QBP's testimony that refugees were stripped of their clothes and items after reaching Nyange. Insofar as the testimony concerning the number of survivors is varied, the Chamber considers that this variance can be attributed to the location of the various witnesses throughout the BPO on the morning the various survivors returned. In any event, the Chamber does not consider the differences in testimony as to the number of survivors who returned to the BPO to be significant.

¹¹⁴⁹⁸ T. 29 May 2002 p. 80 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁴⁹⁹ T. 22 October 2002 p. 69; T. 15 October 2002 p. 16 (ICS); T. 22 October 2002 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁰⁰ T. 22 October 2002 p. 69 (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁰¹ T. 14 October 2002 p. 88; T. 22 October 2002 p. 69; T. 22 October 2002 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁰² T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11, 41, 50, 68 (Witness SD); T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY); T. 25 March 2003 p. 52 (Witness QY); T. 24 February 2003 p. 15 (Witness RE); T. 25 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE); T. 26 February 2003 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness RE); T. 27 February 2003 pp. 24 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁵⁰³ T. 22 October 2002 p. 80 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁰⁴ T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 27 February 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

¹¹⁵⁰⁵ See Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 152.

¹¹⁵⁰⁶ T. 17 March 2003 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness SD).

¹¹⁵⁰⁷ T. 20 March 2003 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁰⁸ T. 15 October 2002 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁰⁹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 78-79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁵¹⁰ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56, 59 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵¹¹ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56-57; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 43-44 (Witness QBP).

4181. Accordingly, Witness QBP's account of survivors escaping Nyange and returning to the BPO was corroborated by other witnesses, such that the Chamber accepts that Witness QBP both reached and escaped from Nyange.

4182. The Chamber recalls that Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNHF testified that he saw Witness QBP in her home *secteur* throughout May and June 1994, 11512 as did Witness WUNJN. The Chamber recalls its finding that the testimony of Witnesses WUNHF and WUNJN was not plausible and did not undermine the credibility of Witness QBP's testimony as to her presence at the BPO (), and similarly finds that this testimony does not undermine the credibility of Witness QBP's testimony as to the Nyange transfer or create a reasonable doubt as to Witness QBP's presence at Nyange.

3.6.40.4.5.2 Events at Nyange

4183. Witness QBP is the sole Prosecution witness to testify first-hand about events at Nyange. Witness QBP testified that upon arriving at Nyange in the afternoon, the bus drivers and *Interahamwe* threw the passengers out of the bus like "dirt". She testified that there seemed to be a plan because there was an armed *commune* policeman on the spot with nothing to guard and that immediately after they arrived, people came from everywhere shouting, "[p]ower! Power!" and proceeded to strip the refugees of their clothes and belongings. Witness QBP testified that at nightfall the *Interahamwe* started killing and raping the refugees, and she was also raped. 11516

4184. With respect to rapes at Nyange, Witness QBP testified that the *Interahamwe* started killing and raping the refugees at nightfall. In cross-examination, Witness QBP was asked about her prior statement where Witness QBP said that the *Interahamwe* started raping women without wasting much time after they arrived at Nyange. The Chamber considers that Witness QBP's testimony that attacks and rapes at Nyange commenced at nightfall is consistent with her testimony that they arrived at Nyange at the end of the afternoon. This further corresponds with the testimony of Witness SD who said that the buses arrived at the BPO at 6.00 p.m., as well as the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QY and RE that they left the BPO and arrived at Nyange in the early evening. Therefore, the Chamber finds Witness QBP's testimony is credible. Nonetheless, recalling the Chamber's previous finding that rapes at Nyange falls outside the scope of Paragraph 6.38 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, and Paragraph 6.41 of the Kanyabashi Indictment which concern the

¹¹⁵¹² T. 26 January 2006 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness WUNHF).

¹¹⁵¹³ T. 6 February 2006 pp. 24-25, 27 (ICS) (Witness WUNJN).

¹¹⁵¹⁴ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 43-44 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵¹⁵ T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56-57; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 43-44 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵¹⁶ T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56-58; T. 30 October 2002 p. 44; T. 29 October 2002 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵¹⁷ T. 24 October 2002 p. 82; T. 28 October 2002 pp. 56, 58; T. 30 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness QBP).

T. 28 October 2002 p. 57 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵¹⁹ T. 30 October 2002 p. 44 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵²⁰ T. 17 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness SD).

T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY) (two buses came to the BPO to take the refugees to Nyaruhengeri in the evening); T. 26 February 2003 p. 56 (Witness RE) (testifying that Nsabimana said the buses going to Nyange left in the evening).

allegation of the refugees' transfer to Nyange, the Chamber will not make any finding in this respect.

4185. Witness QBP was also questioned as to her prior written statement, in which she stated she was taken back to Butare by the *Interahamwe* who had raped her. Witness QBP explained that the *Interahamwe* who had raped her accompanied her from the hill to the road and then showed her a young refugee man who was supposed to help her with carrying one of her children. The Chamber finds this explanation credible.

4186. In addition to Witness QBP's eyewitness testimony, Witness SJ provided hearsay evidence as to the events at Nyange. Survivors told Witness SJ that the refugees on board the first buses has been "jammed into a classroom" at Nyange which was guarded by the *Interahamwe*. The survivors told her that during the night people broke into the classroom and attacked the refugees with small hoes, clubs, machetes and stones. The survivors told her that the attackers killed the refugees in the classroom as well as those who tried to escape. 11525

4187. The Chamber notes that Witness QBP spent the night at Nyange¹¹⁵²⁶ and did not testify about having been locked in a classroom. In fact, Witness QBP testified that the refugee camp at Nyange was in reality an uninhabited hill with huts and torn mats¹¹⁵²⁷ that had no buildings, such as in a school compound.¹¹⁵²⁸ The Chamber recalls Defence Exhibit 447E which Nsabimana Defence Witness Ramadhan testified showed places where two houses had been.¹¹⁵²⁹ The Chamber notes that the photos were taken 10 years after the time when the camp existed, and thus does not consider that Defence Exhibit 447E offers conclusive evidence that structures existed at Nyange camp in 1994. In any event, despite the Prosecution case that the refugees were destined for Nyange refugee camp, the Chamber notes Witness QBP's testimony that Nyange refugee camp was "near the location where they were". On the basis of Witness QBP's testimony, the Chamber considers that while the buses went to Nyange, they did not bring the refugees to the Nyange refugee camp itself.

4188. Although Witness QBP made no mention of being locked in a classroom or school building, the Chamber notes several witnesses testified about a school at the Nyange roadblock. Witness SJ testified that when the bus was stopped at the Nyange roadblock, she observed a long school building in the forest and thought they were the classrooms that appeared in Prosecution Exhibit 25C and 25D.¹¹⁵³¹ Witness SJ did not see any dead bodies at or near the Nyange school, from where they were in the bus at the Nyange roadblock and

¹¹⁵²² T. 28 October 2002 p. 59; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵²³ T. 28 October 2002 p. 60; T. 30 October 2002 p. 55 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵²⁴ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 78-79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁵²⁵ T. 29 May 2002 p. 79 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁵²⁶ T. 28 October 2002 p. 64; T. 30 October 2002 p. 39 (Witness QBP) (Witness QBP left Nyange in the morning the following day).

¹¹⁵²⁷ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 90-91 (ICS); T. 30 October 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵²⁸ T. 29 October 2002 p. 91 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵²⁹ T. 28 June 2006 pp. 39, 43 (Ramadhan).

¹¹⁵³⁰ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 90-91 (ICS); T. 30 October 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵³¹ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 100-101; T. 30 May 2002 pp. 128-129; T. 5 June 2002 p. 74 (Witness SJ).

explained that the roadblock was far away from the school building and was obscured by trees. 11532 The Chamber considers this explanation plausible.

4189. Notwithstanding Witness SJ wrongly identified the EER buildings in Prosecution Exhibit 25C and 25D as the school she testified she saw while at the Nyange roadblock, ¹¹⁵³³ the Chamber accepts Witness SJ's testimony as to seeing a school from that roadblock. The Chamber notes Witness SU similarly testified that she saw a school while the third bus was stopped at a roadblock. ¹¹⁵³⁴ Witness SD also testified that at the Kibilizi roadblock the bus was stopped opposite a school. ¹¹⁵³⁵ Although Witness SD referred to the Kibilizi roadblock while other witnesses identified it as the Nyange roadblock, given the consistency between the accounts of Witness SD and other Prosecution witnesses as to being stopped at the roadblock and the words of the *Interahamwe*, the Chamber considers Witness SD was testifying about events at the same roadblock.

4190. In the circumstances, having regard to the foregoing corroborated testimony, the Chamber accepts that there was a school at or near the Nyange roadblock, and, on the basis of Witness SJ's hearsay testimony, finds that killings occurred at the school. Further, the Chamber finds that Witness QBP's eyewitness account of the killings at Nyange was strongly corroborated by the hearsay testimony of Witnesses SD, QY and RE concerning the child survivor who returned to the BPO.

4191. Lastly, several witnesses, namely Witnesses RE, SD, QBQ and QY, who boarded the third bus on day two also testified about comments made by the *Interahamwe* at the last roadblock to the effect that they refused to kill because "all the graves were full", 11536 enough blood had been shed in their area, 11537 they were tired of killing and had enough of the decaying body stench, 11538 and the people who had arrived the day before had all been killed and that they were tired of killing. Although this evidence is hearsay, the Chamber considers these comments corroborate the testimony of Witnesses QBY and SJ that the refugees who arrived at Nyange aboard the buses on day one were killed.

4192. In light of the foregoing evidence, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that the refugees who left the BPO by bus on day one were attacked and raped by *Interahamwe* at Nyange and all but a handful of those refugees were killed.

3.6.40.4.6 Number of Refugees Killed at Nyange

4193. Witness QY testified that she did not manage to board either of the two buses that came to take the refugees to Nyaruhengeri on day one as they were full. This was confirmed by Witness SJ, who testified that these two buses were stacked with people, some of whom sat on

```
11532 T. 5 June 2002 pp. 75-76 (Witness SJ).
11533 T. 30 May 2002 pp. 128-130 (Witness SJ).
11534 T. 14 October 2002 p. 87 (Witness SU).
11535 T. 17 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness SD).
11536 T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness RE).
11537 T. 17 March 2003 p. 11; T. 18 March 2003 p. 13 (Witness SD).
11538 T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ).
11539 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
11540 T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).
```

top of each other¹¹⁵⁴¹ and Witness D-2-10-Y, who testified that although he did not have an opportunity to take a good look at the passing buses, he recalled that some of the passengers were standing.¹¹⁵⁴²

4194. Nsabimana estimated there were 200 people on the bus. 11543 Although the Chamber recalls Nsabimana testified about the bus that was stopped at the roadblock and returned to the BPO safely with its passengers, the Chamber nevertheless accepts this testimony as proof of the capacity of a bus during these times. Nsabimana testified that he based his estimate on the number of people who were in the bus, not by the list that was prepared. 11544 Nsabimana's own testimony was that the people were not sitting comfortably; they were all packed in tightly, 11545 and it was hard to fit about 200 people on the bus. 11546 Nsabimana accepted that a bus may only have between 60 and 80 seats, but testified that the normal concept of space did not apply in difficult times. 11547

4195. The Chamber recalls its prior finding that the refugees who left on the first two buses on day one were killed, and only a handful survived. Thus, on the basis of Nsabimana's own estimate, the Chamber considers it established that approximately 400 refugees were transferred to and killed at Nyange. The Chamber considers this to be consistent with the hearsay testimony of the witnesses that the *Interahamwe* refused to continue with the killings because the graves were full and because they were tired of killing.

3.6.40.4.7 Nsabimana's Involvement

4196. Nsabimana admitted he arranged for the attempted transfer of one bus full of refugees to the Nyange refugee camp. He testified that the purpose of this transfer was to provide the refugees with better facilities than were available at the BPO. This is consistent with the Prosecution evidence as to what Nsabimana told the refugees before instructing them to board the buses: Witness QY testified that Nsabimana announced that there would be tents to accommodate them there and that it would be peaceful; Witness QBP testified that the *préfet* told all the refugees to board the buses and that they were going to provide the refugees with assistance; Witness QBQ also stated that Nsabimana told the refugees to move on to Nyaruhengeri where they could stay, receive assistance and remain alive. Therefore, evidence exists that Nsabimana informed the refugees that the purpose of the transfer was to assist them.

4197. Yet other evidence undermines the veracity of Nsabimana's claim that the transfer was designed to better accommodate the refugees. First, Nsabimana did not know whether Nyange

```
<sup>11541</sup> T. 29 May 2002 p. 69; T. 5 June 2002 p. 54 (Witness SJ).
<sup>11542</sup> T. 1 May 2008 pp. 5-6 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
<sup>11543</sup> T. 10 October 2006 pp. 4-5, 5-6; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25; T. 28 November 2006 pp. 28-29 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11544</sup> T. 10 October 2006 pp. 4-5 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11545</sup> T. 10 October 2006 p. 6; T. 21 November 2006 p. 25 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11546</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 84 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11547</sup> T. 28 November 2006 p. 29 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11548</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 82-83 (Nsabimana).
<sup>11549</sup> T. 9 October 2006 pp. 81-82 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11550</sup> T. 19 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).
<sup>11551</sup> T. 30 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness QBP).
<sup>11552</sup> T. 3 February 2004 p. 22; T. 4 February 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness QBQ).
```

camp had tents and water before he instructed the refugees to board the buses, nor was the matter even raised at the Security Council meeting. According to Witness QBP, Nyange was not a camp *per se*; rather, it was an uninhabited hill with huts and torn mats and it was neither well-prepared nor properly constructed. 11555

4198. Second, Nsabimana admitted to forcing, with difficulty, 200 people onto one bus. ¹¹⁵⁵⁶ In their efforts to fill the bus, he oversaw an attempt to put the refugees into the luggage compartment, ¹¹⁵⁵⁷ rather than making a second trip to the BPO which he claimed was not feasible without providing any reason as to why. ¹¹⁵⁵⁸ The Chamber does not consider that the manner in which the transfer was carried out evidences strong concern for the amelioration of the refugees' conditions or treatment.

4199. Further, several Prosecution witnesses testified that they were physically forced on board. Although Witness QY testified that the refugees felt reassured enough by the *préfet's* words to board the bus without being forced, Kanyabashi subsequently brought soldiers and policemen who forced them to board. Witness RE testified that a *gendarme* struck them and forced them aboard, as did Witness QBQ who testified that those who boarded the third bus were forced to do so. Based on the corroborated testimony of these witnesses as to the treatment of the refugees, the Chamber does not find it credible that Nsabimana intended to transfer the refugees to Nyange to ameliorate their accommodation and well-being.

4200. Nsabimana's credibility is further undermined by the fact that he denied sending more than one bus to Nyange, in contrast not only to Prosecution evidence, but also the testimony of Defence Witness D-2-10-Y. The Chamber recalls it concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana arranged for at least two buses to transfer the refugees to Nyange. As such, the Chamber notes that Nsabimana was not forthcoming about the extent of his involvement in the transfer.

4201. As to whether Nsabimana ordered the killings, Witness QBQ testified that at the roadblock the bus driver told the *Interahamwe*, "allow me to execute the orders of the *préfet*". 11564 Witness RE testified that the *Interahamwe* who refused to let them pass the roadblock told the driver that the refugees should be returned to the BPO and killed by the *préfet* himself. While the Chamber considers the omission of the *Interahamwe's* words from Witness RE's prior written statement of December 1996 raises a question as to the

```
<sup>11553</sup> T. 9 October 2006 p. 81 (Nsabimana).
```

¹¹⁵⁵⁴ T. 29 October 2002 pp. 90-91 (ICS); T. 30 October 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁵⁵ T. 29 October 2002 p. 91 (ICS) (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁵⁶ T. 9 October 2006 p. 84 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁵⁷ T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁵⁸ T. 28 November 2006 pp. 29-30 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁵⁹ T. 25 March 2003 p. 61 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁶⁰ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁶¹ T. 25 February 2003 p. 33; T. 26 February 2003 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness RE).

¹¹⁵⁶² T. 3 February 2004 pp. 70, 78 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁵⁶³ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 67-68 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹¹⁵⁶⁴ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 77 (Witness QBQ).

¹¹⁵⁶⁵ T. 24 February 2003 p. 15; T. 25 February 2003 pp. 37-38 (Witness RE).

¹¹⁵⁶⁶ T. 25 February 2003 pp. 38-39; T. 27 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE); Defence Exhibit 89 (Nsabimana) (5 December 1996, Statement of Witness RE).

credibility of Witness RE's evidence on this point, Witness RE's account is nevertheless corroborated by Witnesses SD and SJ.

4202. Witness SD testified that the *Interahamwe* manning the roadblock said that "[i]f those people were unable to kill these people ... we are going to kill them here and put the bodies back into the bus so that the person who sent them can go and bury them himself". 11567 In the Chamber's view, both Witness SD's and Witness RE's testimony as to the Interahamwe's words indicate that refugees had been expressly sent to Nyange by the *préfet* to be killed by the Interahamwe or soldiers there.

4203. Witness SJ testified that the *Interahamwe* said that Pauline had her own *Interahamwe* and soldiers, and that they should kill them and bury the refugees themselves. 11568 While the testimony of Witness SJ implicates Nyiramasuhuko, rather than Nsabimana, the Chamber considers it nevertheless corroborates the testimony of Witnesses RE and SD insofar as it is clear there was a plan and orders to send the refugees to Nyange to be killed.

4204. Nsabimana denied the evidence that the soldiers at the Mukoni roadblock sent the refugees' bus back to the préfecture so that the authorities could "do their own work". 11569 First, the Chamber notes that the evidence of the Prosecution witnesses shows that their bus made it past the Mukoni roadblock 11570 and was actually turned back at a roadblock between Kibilizi and Nyange secteurs in Nyaruhengeri commune. 11571 In any event, the Chamber notes there is no evidence that Nsabimana was at the roadblock where the bus was refused passage or was otherwise in a position to have heard whether or not these comments were said. Indeed, Nsabimana himself testified he was not told why the bus was returned. 11572 As such, the Chamber does not find Nsabimana credible on this point.

4205. The Chamber therefore, accepts the testimony of Witnesses RE, QBQ and SD and finds that, despite the *laissez-passer*, the *Interahamwe* refused to let the bus through a roadblock between Kibilizi and Nyange secteurs in order to kill the refugees because they did not want to bury any more dead bodies.

4206. However, the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana ordered the killings or colluded with the Interahamwe to kill Tutsis brought to Nyange from the BPO. Witness QBQ provides evidence of Nsabimana's orders, 11573 but the orders in question could equally refer to Nsabimana's order to transfer the refugees to Nyange, as the laissez-passer required. Further, the Chamber considers the evidence of Witnesses RE and SD as to the *Interahamwes*' words an insufficient basis upon which to ground a finding beyond a reasonable doubt. The Chamber is thus unable to conclude

¹¹⁵⁶⁷ T. 17 March 2003 p. 11; T. 18 March 2003 p. 14 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁵⁶⁸ T. 29 May 2002 p. 96; T. 5 June 2002 p. 85 (Witness SJ).

¹¹⁵⁶⁹ T. 10 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁷⁰ T. 25 March 2003 p. 53 (Witness QY); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁵⁷¹ T. 3 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QBQ); T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY); T. 25 March 2003 pp. 52-53 (Witness QY); T. 24 February 2003 p. 17 (Witness RE); T. 17 March 2003 p. 69 (Witness SD); T. 4 June 2002 p. 128 (Witness SJ).
 11572 T. 10 October 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).

T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23, 77 (Witness QBQ) (bus driver told *Interahamwe*, "allow me to execute the orders of the préfet").

beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana gave an order to kill the refugees on board the buses.

3.6.40.4.8 Kanyabashi's Involvement

4207. Three witnesses gave evidence about Kanyabashi's involvement in the transfer of refugees from the BPO to Nyange: Nsabimana, Witness QBP and Witness QY.

4208. Nsabimana testified that he accepted Kanyabashi's proposal to provide two armed *commune* policemen to accompany the refugees onboard the third bus. Nsabimana described the difficulty that "they" had in fitting 200 refugees on board one bus. The Chamber understood this to mean that the *commune* police officers took an active role in the boarding process. This evidence is corroborated by Witness QY who testified that Kanyabashi brought soldiers and policemen who forced the refugees on board the bus.

4209. Nsabimana testified that Kanyabashi was only present when the bus arrived and not when the refugees actually boarded the bus. Witness QBP testified that Kanyabashi was present while the refugees boarded. However, in the Chamber's view, Witness QBP's credibility on this point was impeached during cross-examination. Witness QBP did not mention Kanyabashi's presence in relation to the Nyange events in her prior written statement. Witness QBP's testimony also suffered from internal inconsistencies as to whether Kanyabashi was involved in bringing the buses to the BPO. She first testified that the buses were brought by the *bourgmestre*, but later testified that she did not say that Kanyabashi brought the buses. In the circumstances, the Chamber does not consider Witness QBP's testimony with respect to Kanyabashi's involvement in the Nyange transfer to be reliable.

4210. Witness QY also gave evidence that Kanyabashi was present when she boarded a bus on the second morning, 11582 and that he instructed them to board and insulted them saying, "[b]oard the buses, your hour has struck". 11583 The Chamber notes that no corroborating evidence exists on this point. For example, Witness SU, who knew Kanyabashi since the 1970s, 11584 did not mention Kanyabashi's presence or involvement in the Nyange transfer, although she testified against him in relation to other events. Further, Witness SD, who also already knew Kanyabashi, 11585 testified that he was not present when they boarded the bus to Kibilizi, nor was he present when the first two buses departed the day before. 11586 Noting that

¹¹⁵⁷⁴ T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 10 October 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁷⁵ T. 9 October 2006 p. 84; T. 21 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁷⁶ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁷⁷ T. 10 October 2006 p. 5 (Nsabimana).

¹¹⁵⁷⁸ T. 24 October 2002 p. 81; T. 30 October 2002 pp. 35, 41, 82, 88 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁷⁹ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 81-84 (Witness QBP); Defence Exhibit 77 (Nyiramasuhuko) (5 May 1999, Statement of Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁸⁰ T. 30 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁸¹ T. 30 October 2002 p. 82 (Witness QBP).

¹¹⁵⁸² T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 59-60 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁸³ T. 19 March 2003 p. 62; T. 25 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁸⁴ T. 15 October 2002 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹¹⁵⁸⁵ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 8, 18 (Witness SD).

¹¹⁵⁸⁶ T. 18 March 2003 pp. 43-44 (Witness SD).

Witness QY stated she met Kanyabashi at the *préfecture* on the day of her departure to Nyaruhengeri and that she never saw Kanyabashi again after the war, ¹¹⁵⁸⁷ that she was not able to recognise him, nor describe him in court, ¹¹⁵⁸⁸ the Chamber does not accept Witness QY's testimony on this point.

- 4211. Based on the foregoing evidence, the Chamber accepts that Kanyabashi arranged for armed police officers to force the refugees aboard a bus and to escort its passengers to Nyange but was not present during the boarding of the buses. However, the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence for the Chamber to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi ordered the transport of the refugees to Nyange, or that he was aware that the refugees would be killed at Nyange.
- 4212. With respect to the actions of those policemen involved in the transfer or at Nyange, the Chamber recalls its previous finding that the defect in the Kanyabashi Indictment concerning the pleading of Article 6 (3) responsibility was not cured, such that the Chamber will not make any finding as to whether Kanyabashi was responsible for the crimes of policemen at Nyange pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

3.6.41 Gisagara Speech, 17 June 1994

3.6.41.1 Introduction

- 4213. Paragraph 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo publicly incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis and its "accomplices." Paragraph 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo also alleges that Nteziryayo, as official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. Paragraph 6.32 alleges that Nsabimana incited and aided and abetted massacres of the population.
- 4214. Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 allege that between April and June 1994, both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 11590
- 4215. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo made public statements inciting people to exterminate the Tutsi population as part of the genocidal plan of the Interim Government. To this end, Nteziryayo gave a speech at a meeting in Gisagara around May or June 1994 where he thanked the population for their "good behaviour". Nteziryayo also encouraged the population to "[f]lush out all of the areas to expose the enemy" and not to flee when they hear that the *Inkotanyi* have attacked. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo made such speeches knowing that they would be understood as a call to kill Tutsis. 11592 After this meeting people

-

¹¹⁵⁸⁷ T. 19 March 2003 pp. 62, 64 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁸⁸ T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).

¹¹⁵⁸⁹ Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo). ¹¹⁵⁹⁰ Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁵⁹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 312, 352-353, paras. 24, 153-154.

¹¹⁵⁹² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 358, para. 170.

allegedly sought to flush out Tutsis from hiding in order to kill them. ¹¹⁵⁹³ The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness QG.

- 4216. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana was present at this meeting in Gisagara where Nteziryayo, with alleged knowledge of the genocide plan, incited the population, and did not disagree with what Nteziryayo said. The Prosecution further submits that Nsabimana is guilty of incitement by reason of several speeches he made throughout Butare *préfecture*, including the meeting in Gisagara. Its 95
- 4217. Apart from issues concerning notice, addressed below, the Nteziryayo Defence does not dispute that Nteziryayo attended a meeting on a football pitch in Gisagara *secteur*. In dispute however is the purpose of the meeting. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the meeting's main purpose, apart from swearing-in the new Ndora *bourgmestre*, Fidéle Uwizeye, was to make the population aware of the need to ensure security and to forget the hard times they had just experienced. No inciting speeches were made at this meeting. This was the only meeting held in the *commune* in June and July 1994. 11597
- 4218. The Nteziryayo Defence relies upon the testimony of Nteziryayo and Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-31.
- 4219. In addition to its submissions on the defective nature of the Indictment paragraphs in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement and meetings, 11599 considered below, the Nsabimana Defence challenges the credibility of Witness QG. 11600 The Nsabimana Defence submits that the meeting about which Witness QG testified was the swearing-in of the new *bourgmestre* of Ndora on 22 June 1994, but that Witness QG did not attend that meeting. 11601
- 4220. The Nsabimana Defence relies upon the testimony of Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-30 and AND-31.

3.6.41.2 Preliminary Issues

Failure to Plead Gisagara Meeting

- 4221. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective for failing to plead the Gisagara meeting at issue. 11602
- 4222. Similarly, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were too vague to permit Nsabimana to adequately

```
<sup>11593</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 355-356, para. 163.
```

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 244-245, paras. 53-54.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 277, paras. 157-158.

¹¹⁵⁹⁶ Ntezirvayo Closing Brief, paras. 288, 294; T. 21 February 2007 p. 53 (Witness AND-31).

¹¹⁵⁹⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 290, 292; T. 21 February 2007 p. 53 (Witness AND-31).

¹¹⁵⁹⁸ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 35-36, 719-722.

¹¹⁵⁹⁹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-336.

¹¹⁶⁰⁰ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 830, 836-849; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 p. 33.

¹¹⁶⁰¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 830-835.

¹¹⁶⁰² Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 3-4.

prepare his defence since these paragraphs fail to specify the time and the manner in which Nsabimana allegedly incited the population to commit genocide. Paragraph 6.59 alleging aiding and abetting is similarly vague by reason of its failure to identify the subordinates over whom Nsabimana exercised control or the nature of the aid provided. Further, the Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to meetings is impermissibly vague because it does not give an indication of the dates, venues, attendees or the number of meetings. Lastly, it argues that Paragraph 6.28 does not clearly state whether the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was discussed at all of the meetings, or only the meeting or meetings convened by Nyiramasuhuko. 11605

4223. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.8 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) and 6.31 (against Nteziryayo only) relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.32 (against Nsabimana only), 6.53 and 6.59 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) relating to aiding and abetting, are very general in nature. Aside from alleging that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, either together or separately, publicly incited as well as aided and abetted people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement or aiding and abetting. In particular, no reference is made to any meeting in Gisagara.

4224. The Chamber observes that Paragraph 6.28 fails to specify the number and dates of the alleged meetings. Contrary to the contention of the Nsabimana Defence regarding the purpose of the meetings, a plain reading of Paragraph 6.28 suggests that the progress of the massacres and how to complete them was only discussed at a single meeting, which was convened by Nyiramasuhuko. However, Paragraph 6.28 refers to meetings in the plural. Accordingly, there is confusion as to how many meetings Nsabimana participated in, how many were convened by Nyiramasuhuko, and what was discussed at the meetings. The Chamber therefore considers that Paragraph 6.28 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective. Again, the Chamber observes no reference is made to any meeting in Gisagara. The Chamber therefore considers all of the foregoing paragraphs to be defective.

4225. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) and 6.31 (against Nteziryayo only) relating to incitement, Paragraphs 6.32 (against Nsabimana only), 6.53 and 6.59 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) relating to aiding and abetting, as well as Paragraph 6.28 relating to meetings, were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

4226. Noting that the Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness QG with respect to this allegation and that the Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective for failing to plead the Gisagara meeting about which Witness QG testified, the Chamber has reviewed the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief concerning Witness QG.

 $^{^{11603}}$ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 35-36, 719-722.

¹¹⁶⁰⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 52.

¹¹⁶⁰⁵ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 333-335.

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 355-356, para. 163.

¹¹⁶⁰⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 3-4.

- 4227. The witness summary grid shows Witness QG would testify that Nteziryayo and Nsabimana came to Ndora *commune*, where Nteziryayo told the crowd to seek out the enemy and not to hesitate to shoot them down. Nteziryayo added that people needed to get weapons because the enemy had to be eliminated and that he was going to provide people with arms. The Chamber notes that the summary of intended evidence of Witness QG fails to reference when or where the meeting took place within Ndora *commune*. It similarly fails to specify any conduct by Nsabimana on this occasion.
- 4228. Witness QG's statement of 25 August 1997¹¹⁶⁰⁹ refers to a meeting held in Ndora *commune*, where Nteziryayo talked about the population running away at the sound of the *Inkotanyi's* gun shots. Nteziryayo told them they should seek out the enemy and not hesitate to shoot them down, and that the enemy needed to be eliminated. Nteziryayo noted they needed weapons, and added he was going to provide arms for the people to defend themselves. ¹¹⁶¹⁰ Nsabimana was present at the meeting. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber is of the view that the summary of Witness QG's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief is consistent with the content of Witness QG's second statement.
- 4229. Although the summary of anticipated evidence of Witness QG fails to identify when this meeting occurred, Witness QG's statement places the meeting as occurring "shortly after" Nteziryayo's appointment as *préfet*. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers the meeting occurred shortly after 17 June 1994 and that the omission of this detail in the Indictment as to when the alleged event occurred was cured by information contained in Witness QG's second statement.
- 4230. However, insofar as both the summary of Witness QG's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and Witness QG's second statement of 25 August 1997 fail to identify a location more specific than "Ndora *commune*", the Chamber considers that it cannot be said that either the Nteziryayo Defence or the Nsabimana Defence were provided with adequate notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence of a specific meeting held at Gisagara in Ndora *commune*.
- 4231. Having regard to the foregoing, the inclusion of the summary of Witness QG's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not provide adequate notice to either the Nteziryayo Defence or the Nsabimana Defence about the specific Gisagara meeting on which the Prosecution relies and at which Nteziryayo allegedly thanked the population for their "good behaviour" and encouraged them to "[f]lush out all of the areas to expose the enemy". As such, it did not cure the defective Indictment *vis-à-vis* either Nteziryayo or Nsabimana.
- 4232. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists another witness, Witness FAO, who was expected to testify about a Gisagara

¹¹⁶⁰⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QG (55).

The Chamber notes there is no reference to any meeting in Witness QG's Statement of 12 June 1996, also disclosed 4 December 2000 and 13 December 2001.

¹¹⁶¹⁰ 25 August 1997, Statement of Witness QG, disclosed 4 November 1998, 4 December 2000 and 13 December 2001.

meeting. The summary for Witness FAO shows that Witness FAO was intended to testify that Nteziryayo chaired a meeting at Gisagara and said: "When you sweep you don't leave the dirt aside [sic] your house and that all Tutsis including girls and children were to be exterminated because that was the country's programme. After the speech, the Hutus conducted systematic searches and killed a large number of Tutsis. FAO took part in the search." The Chamber notes that Witness FAO did not ultimately testify at trial.

4233. The Gisagara meeting referred to in the summary of anticipated evidence of Witness FAO in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief is found in Witness FAO's statement of 11 October 1999. Witness FAO's first statement refers to a meeting that Nteziryayo allegedly chaired at Gisagara market where he told the population to "sweep the dirt" and referred to the extermination of Tutsis as "the country's program" and after which Hutus conducted systematic searches and killed a large number of Tutsis. Witness FAO's first statement says this meeting took place "[a] few days after the Caterpillar was brought in." The Chamber notes that while the summary of Witness FAO's anticipated evidence gives no estimation as to when this meeting took place, by reading the preceding paragraphs in Witness FAO's statement and following the timeline of events outlined in that statement concerning attacks at Kabuye Hill, it can be deduced that the Gisagara meeting to which Witness FAO refers must have taken place around mid-May 1994.

4234. Having compared the statements of Witnesses QG and FAO, the Chamber considers the witnesses are not referring to the same meeting. First, the statement of Witness FAO refers to a meeting which must have taken place around mid-May 1994, while the statement of Witness QG refers to a Ndora *commune* meeting which occurred "shortly after" Nteziryayo's appointment and therefore sometime after 17 June 1994. Further, while Witness QG's statement claims Nteziryayo talked about the population running away at the sound of the *Inkotanyi's* gun shots, seeking out and eliminating the enemy and the need for him to provide weapons in order that the people could defend themselves, "1614 Witness FAO's statement claims Nteziryayo's speech concerned sweeping the dirt and the country's programme of exterminating Tutsis including girls and children. "11615

4235. Having regard to the difference between both witness statements, the Chamber concludes the witnesses were referring to two separate meetings. In the circumstances, the inclusion of the anticipated testimony of Witness FAO in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not provide the Nteziryayo Defence with adequate notice of the Gisagara meeting about which Witness QG ultimately testified.

¹¹⁶¹¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAO (26).

¹¹⁶¹² 11 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAO, disclosed 15 November 2000.

¹¹⁶¹³ 11 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAO (refers to events at Kabuye Hill which took place on Sunday 1 May 1994. He then refers to events that take place "the next day", *i.e.* 2 May 1994. He then states that "a Caterpillar arrived 2 weeks later to bury all the dead corpses", *i.e.* around 16 May 1994. The witness clarifies that Nteziryayo chaired a meeting at Gisagara market "a few days after the Caterpillar was brought in", which the Chamber deduces must be around 16-20 May 1994. The statement then refers to June 1994 where Shalom came with the *Interahamwe* to take away and kill several Tutsi girls).

¹¹⁶¹⁴ 25 August 1997, Statement of Witness QG, disclosed 4 November 1998, 4 December 2000 and 13 December 2001

^{11615 11} October 1999, Statement of Witness FAO, disclosed 15 November 2000.

- 4236. The Chamber observes that Witness FAO's second statement of 16 August 2001 also refers to a second meeting which "Préfet Nteziryayo" held at Ndora shopping centre, "maybe in early June", and also attended by *Sous-préfet* Fidel and Kalimanzira. The statement says that *Préfet* Nteziryayo said that if the people did not respect the instructions given by other authorities at the meeting, they would see their *communes* captured by the RPF within a very short period. He appealed to them to go and eliminate all Tutsis as soon as possible. ¹¹⁶¹⁶ Given that Witness FAO claimed *Préfet* Nteziryayo held this meeting, the Chamber considers it took place sometime after 17 June 1994.
- 4237. However, in circumstances where the summary of Witness FAO's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not make any reference to this second meeting at Ndora shopping centre included in Witness FAO's second statement, the Chamber is of the view that its mere inclusion in Witness FAO's second statement does not suffice to put the Nteziryayo Defence on notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence about this second meeting, or to rely on it as part of its case against Nteziryayo.
- 4238. Having regard to the foregoing, the summary of Witness FAO's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not provide notice to the Nteziryayo Defence about the Gisagara meeting about which Witness QG testified and upon which the Prosecution relies, and thus did not cure the defective Indictment *vis-à-vis* Nteziryayo.
- 4239. Regarding Nsabimana, the Chamber notes that neither the summary of Witness FAO's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief, nor Witness FAO's first statement refer to Nsabimana. Further, the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief does not indicate that Witness FAO's evidence would be led in support of charges against Nsabimana.
- 4240. In the circumstances, even if the Chamber were to consider that Witnesses FAO and QG were referring to the same meeting, the Chamber nonetheless finds that the inclusion of the summary of Witness FAO's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief would not serve as notice to the Nsabimana Defence of the Prosecution's intention to rely on this meeting as part of its case against Nsabimana.
- 4241. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber will not make any findings against either Nsabimana or Nteziryayo with respect to the current allegation.
- 4242. With respect to Nsabimana, the Chamber further notes that although the Prosecution submits that Nsabimana is guilty of incitement by reason of several speeches he made throughout Butare *préfecture*, including the meeting in Gisagara, ¹¹⁶¹⁷ no evidence was led in relation to any speeches allegedly made by Nsabimana at this Gisagara meeting.

Exclusion of the Evidence of Gisagara Meeting and Subsequent Killings

4243. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that at the time of filing the Nteziryayo Closing Brief, its motion requesting the exclusion of Prosecution evidence concerning inciting speeches and

¹¹⁶¹⁶ 16 August 2001, Statement of Witness FAO, disclosed 5 June 2002 (redacted) and 27 February 2004 (unredacted)

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 277, paras. 157-158.

subsequent killings at Gisagara, Ndora, filed on 23 January 2009, ¹¹⁶¹⁸ was pending. ¹¹⁶¹⁹ The Chamber observes that on 25 February 2009 the Chamber denied that motion in its entirety. The Chamber considered it was inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial, and chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations. ¹¹⁶²⁰

4244. Having regard to the Chamber's previous finding that neither the Nteziryayo Defence nor the Nsabimana Defence received adequate notice of this allegation such that the relevant Indictment paragraphs were not cured, the Chamber will not consider the evidence led concerning inciting speeches allegedly made by Nteziryayo or Nsabimana at a meeting in Gisagara around mid-May 1994, or any subsequent killings against Indictment Paragraphs 5.8 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) and 6.31 (against Nteziryayo only) relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.32 (against Nsabimana only), 6.53 and 6.59 (against both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo) relating to aiding and abetting.

4245. The Chamber nevertheless considers that evidence of acts that took place at this ceremony may be relevant to the proof of any other allegation pled in the Indictment, and for this reason declines the Nteziryayo Defence's request to exclude the evidence led concerning Nteziryayo's allegedly inciting speeches at a meeting in Gisagara around mid-May 1994, and any subsequent killings.

3.6.42 Nteziryayo's Swearing-in Ceremony, 21 June 1994

3.6.42.1 Introduction

4246. Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* of Butare by the Interim Government, replacing Sylvain Nsabimana, on 17 June 1994. After the handing over of office on 21 June 1994, *Préfet* Nteziryayo continued to incite the population to "finish off" the enemy and its "accomplices", most notably during the swearing-in ceremony of the Muganza *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje. The Chamber notes Paragraph 6.34 is not pled in support of any counts against Nteziryayo.

4247. The Prosecution case is that Nteziryayo was responsible for the civil defence programme in Butare from April to July 1994 because he had both *de facto* authority in his role as colonel, and *de jure* authority after he was appointed *préfet* of Butare. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* of Butare because he had promoted the civil defence programme so successfully that the Interim Government believed he could carry out its plan to exterminate Tutsis in Butare. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo

¹¹⁶¹⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009.

¹¹⁶¹⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹¹⁶²⁰ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009.

¹¹⁶²¹ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006; Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, para. 15; Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Request for Reconsideration (AC), 27 September 2004, para. 12.

Para. 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹¹⁶²³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 306-308, paras. 2-3, 6, 9.

¹¹⁶²⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 334, para. 92.

furthered the genocidal plan of the Interim Government because on the occasion of his swearing-in ceremony at the BPO on 21 June 1994, he stated that he would continue the work of the outgoing *préfet*, Nsabimana, in searching for RPF accomplices, namely Tutsis, ¹¹⁶²⁵ and on the evening of his swearing-in, Nteziryayo gave orders for the Tutsi women who had taken refuge at the BPO to be killed by soldiers. ¹¹⁶²⁶ The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAI, RV and Expert Witness Guichaoua.

4248. Apart from its request to exclude the evidence of Witness FAI, ¹¹⁶²⁷ considered below, the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Defence does not make any particular submissions in its Closing Brief as to what happened at Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony. Nteziryayo testified that he promised to work in the interest of the population of Butare. ¹¹⁶²⁸ He denied making a commitment to continue looking for RPF accomplices, namely Tutsis, ¹¹⁶²⁹ or that he heard anyone incite people to kill Tutsis during his swearing-in ceremony, or afterwards by radio broadcast. ¹¹⁶³⁰ The Defence also denies that Nteziryayo was appointed because the government wanted him to "complete the task". Rather, it contends Nteziryayo was appointed because of his military experience. ¹¹⁶³¹ Further, the Defence submits that Witness RV did not attend Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony. ¹¹⁶³²

3.6.42.2 Preliminary Issues

4249. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.34 of the Indictment refers to the appointment of Nteziryayo as the *préfet* of Butare on 17 June 1994 and his swearing-in ceremony of 21 June 1994.

4250. Although not raised by the Nteziryayo Defence in its Closing Brief, the Chamber notes Paragraph 6.34 is not specifically pled in support of any counts against Nteziryayo. Recalling the principles set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), the Chamber will not make any finding against Nteziryayo with respect to Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

4251. The Chamber recognises that the Prosecution's failure to expressly state that a paragraph in the Indictment supports a particular count in the Indictment is indicative that the allegation is not charged as a crime, ¹¹⁶³³ but considers this does not definitively dispose of the current allegation in the present circumstances.

¹¹⁶²⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 253, para. 75; pp. 320-321, 335, paras. 53, 95.

¹¹⁶²⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 253, para. 75; T. 31 October 2002 p. 51 (Witness FAI).

¹¹⁶²⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹¹⁶²⁸ T. 7 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶²⁹ T. 7 June 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶³⁰ T. 25 June 2007 p. 25 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶³¹ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 8-9; T. 21 June 2007 p. 61 (Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶³² Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 444.

¹¹⁶³³ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156 (citing Muvunyi, Decision on Prosecution Interlocutory Appeal Against Trial Chamber II Decision of 23 February 2005 (AC), 12 May 2005, para. 33 ("The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the allegation of the Accused's involvement in the detention and disappearance of Habyalimana could constitute a new charge against the Accused. In the current indictment, the relevant paragraph is contained in the section titled 'Concise Statement of Facts' and not in the section of specific allegations against the Accused. Further, the Prosecution does not reference this paragraph of the current indictment as a material

- 4252. The Chamber is also aware that while a vague or ambiguous indictment can be cured by the provision of timely, clear and consistent information, the omission of a count or charge from an indictment cannot be cured in this way. Rather, omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment only by formal amendment under Rule 50 of the Rules. 11635
- 4253. In the present circumstances, the Chamber considers that the alleged inciting speeches given by Nteziryayo at his swearing-in ceremony do not amount to a separate charge which was not pled. Rather, the Chamber considers this event qualifies as a material fact that supports a charge of incitement, which the Chamber recalls is pled in Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. These paragraphs generally allege that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis. In the present circumstances, reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment which allege that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis, and which were pled in support of all counts against Nteziryayo, encompass the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population at his swearing-in ceremony.
- 4254. As previously noted, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement are very general in nature. While Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 allege that Nteziryayo publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period in both his capacity as *préfet*, and the official in charge of civil defence respectively, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to any incitement on the occasion of Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony, or to any killings that allegedly resulted from such incitement. The Chamber therefore finds both paragraphs to be defective.
- 4255. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were cured of their respective defects relating to incitement through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 4256. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that in the Prosecution opening statement, the Prosecution stated that part of its case against Nteziryayo was that he engaged in incitement of the population in several places, namely, "public rallies and swearing-in ceremonies" and more specifically Ndayambaje's swearing-in as *bourgmestre* of Muganza. Even though the Prosecution only specifically identified the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in, the Prosecution's opening words make it clear that Nteziryayo's actions at several swearing-in ceremonies would be relied on as part of the Prosecution case.
- 4257. To this end, the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists two witnesses, Witnesses SW and TQ, who refer to

fź

fact underpinning any of the charges made in the indictment. If the proposed amendment is allowed, it is presumed that the Prosecution would include this allegation under Counts 1 and 2 of the indictment, in support of the charges of genocide, or alternatively complicity to genocide. But this does not change the fact that this fresh allegation could support a separate charge against the Accused." (emphasis added)).

¹¹⁶³⁴ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 325.

See, e.g., Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 325.

¹¹⁶³⁶ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 78-79.

Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony. However, both witnesses refer to this ceremony only as a temporal reference. The summary for Witness SW states that the witness "remained [at the BPO] for a few days until the appointment of Nteziryayo, who ordered the refugees out of the yard." The summary for Witness TQ states that the witness learned that the night after Nteziryayo's appointment, Nteziryayo ordered the removal of some people who had taken refuge in the BPO, saying that he was removing the filth. The Chamber notes neither summary refers to any events, and more specifically to any alleged incitement, that took place during Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony. The prior statements of both Witness SW and Witness TQ also do not refer to events that took place during Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony.

4258. In the circumstances, despite the Prosecution's announced intention, in its opening statement, to rely on Nteziryayo's actions at several swearing-in ceremonies as part of its case against Nteziryayo, the Chamber considers the Pre-Trial Brief failed to provide the Nteziryayo Defence with clear or consistent information as to the events that allegedly occurred at Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were not cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures and therefore the Chamber declines to make any finding in respect of this allegation against Nteziryayo.

4259. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence brought by the Prosecution is not sufficient to establish that Nteziryayo incited the population present at his swearing-in ceremony to kill Tutsis.

3.6.43 Ndayambaje's Swearing-in Ceremony and Subsequent Killings

3.6.43.1 Introduction

4260. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* of Butare by the Interim Government, replacing Sylvain Nsabimana, on 17 June 1994. After the handing-over of office on 21 June 1994, *Préfet* Nteziryayo continued to incite the population to "finish off" the enemy and its "accomplices", most notably during the swearing-in ceremony of the Muganza *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, Nteziryayo incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 11641

4261. The Ndayambaje Indictment states that Élie Ndayambaje was appointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza on 20 June 1994 by the Interim Government led by Jean Kambanda. The

¹¹⁶³⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness SW (87); Witness TQ (95).

¹¹⁶³⁸ 17 November 1995, Statement of Witness SW, disclosed 11 April 1998; 21 February 2001, Statement of Witness SW, disclosed 27 February 2004.

¹¹⁶³⁹ 28-29 July 1998, Statement of Witness TQ, disclosed 11 April 1998.

Para. 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

Paras. 5.8, 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶⁴² Para. 6.38 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

Ndayambaje Indictment also alleges that Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis during the period April to July 1994, ¹¹⁶⁴³ and more specifically in June 1994. ¹¹⁶⁴⁴

4262. The Prosecution submits that on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje recounted fables referring to "dirt" which needed to be cleared and lice which needed to be killed. After these speeches, the Prosecution submits the population carried out killings of the surviving Tutsis. The Prosecution submits that the words used by Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo in their public speeches were imbued with genocidal intent. ¹¹⁶⁴⁵

4263. In support of the foregoing allegations, the Prosecution relies upon the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses FAG, FAL, FAU, QAF, QAL, QAQ, QAR, RV, TO and TP and Prosecution Expert Witness Ntakirutimana.

4264. In addition to the preliminary issues addressed below, the Nteziryayo Defence challenges the credibility of the Prosecution witnesses. 11646

4265. In addition to the preliminary issues addressed below and challenges to the credibility of the Prosecution witnesses, 11647 the Ndayambaje Defence submits Prosecution Witnesses FAG, FAU, QAF, QAQ, QAR and TP lied and never attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. 11648

3.6.43.2 Preliminary Issues

Notice of Ndayambaje's Swearing-in Ceremony

Nteziryayo and Notice

4266. The Chamber notes Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is the only paragraph which refers to the allegation that *Préfet* Nteziryayo incited the population to "finish off" the enemy and its "accomplices" during the swearing-in ceremony of the Muganza *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje.

4267. Although not raised by the Nteziryayo Defence in its Closing Brief, the Chamber notes Paragraph 6.34 is not specifically pled in support of any count against Nteziryayo. The Chamber recognises that the Prosecution's failure to expressly state that a paragraph in the Indictment supports a particular count is indicative that the allegation is not charged as a

¹¹⁶⁴³ Para. 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

Para. 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Ndayambaje).

¹¹⁶⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 358-361, paras. 170-178; pp. 467-468, 480-492, paras. 62-64, 66, 113, 115, 118, 121, 123, 126-127, 130-131, 134, 138, 140.

¹¹⁶⁴⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 319-540.

¹¹⁶⁴⁷ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 653, 657, 661, 666, 668, 674, 683, 687, 695, 703-704, 717, 719, 731, 734, 738, 742, 749, 754.

¹¹⁶⁴⁸ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 629-630, 646.

crime, 11649 but considers this does not definitively dispose of the current allegation in the present circumstances.

- 4268. For the purposes of Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, the Chamber considers that the alleged inciting speeches given by Nteziryayo at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony should not be qualified as a separate charge which was not pled. Rather, the Chamber considers this event qualifies as a material fact that supports the charge of incitement, which the Chamber recalls is pled in Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. These paragraphs very generally allege that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis. In the present circumstances, reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo Indictment. which were pled in support of all counts against Nteziryayo, encompass the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.
- 4269. While Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 allege that Nteziryayo publicly incited people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period in his capacity both as préfet, and official in charge of civil defence respectively, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. No reference is made to incitement on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, or to any killings that allegedly resulted from the incitement. The Chamber therefore finds each of these paragraphs to be defective.
- 4270. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 4271. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that in its opening statement, the Prosecution stated that part of its case against Nteziryayo was that he engaged in incitement of the population in several places, namely, "public rallies" and "swearing-in ceremonies", and, more specifically, Ndayambaje's swearing-in as *bourgmestre* of Muganza. 11650 The Prosecution's opening words make it clear that Ntezirvayo's actions at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony would be relied on as part of the Prosecution case.
- 4272. The Chamber observes that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief also lists two witnesses, Witnesses FAG and TO, who expressly refer to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. 11651 The summary for Witness FAG states that "in June 1994, during Ndayambaje's inauguration, Nteziryayo induced and caused Hutu to kill Tutsi". 11652 The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief shows Witness FAG would be relied on in support of Count 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide) and Count 4 (direct and public incitement to commit genocide) against Nteziryayo.
- 4273. The summary for Witness FAG is consistent with the content of his statement, dated 23 February 2000, in which Witness FAG claimed that during Ndayambaje's inauguration in June

¹¹⁶⁴⁹ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 156 (citing Muvunyi, Decision on Prosecution Interlocutory Appeal Against Trial Chamber II Decision of 23 February 2005 (AC), 12 May 2005, para. 33).

11650 Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 78-79.

¹¹⁶⁵¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6); Witness FAG (19).
11652 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAG (19).

1994, Nteziryayo "enjoined the Hutus to kill all the Tutsis [and] not to spare any of them" after which Hutus immediately "went after the Tutsis in their houses and in the forest. They were killed everywhere they were found". 11653

4274. The summary of Witness TO's anticipated evidence contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief also refers to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief shows Witness TO would be relied on in support of Count 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide), Count 3 (complicity in genocide) and Count 4 (direct and public incitement to commit genocide) against both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje. Witness TO's summary states that the witness attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in May 1994 where Nteziryayo, as the Butare *préfet* at the time, addressed the crowd, reproaching the former *bourgmestre* for not doing his job properly and assuring people that he was bringing in Ndayambaje, "a brave man", whom he requested discharge his duties effectively. According to the instructions of the *préfet*, "they had to do as they had been taught and sweep out the dirt". 11654

4275. Witness TO's first statement of 11 June 1997, states that he attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in May 1994 at the *commune* office in Remera *secteur* at which *Préfet* Nteziryayo introduced the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje. This statement mirrors the summary of Witness TO's anticipated testimony in the Pre-Trial Brief with respect to the content of Nteziryayo's speech. It further states, "[t]he thrust of the *Préfet*'s speech was 'cleaning up'". 11655

4276. Moreover, the summary of the anticipated testimony of Witness QAQ contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief refers to a meeting towards the end of May or early June where both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were the main speakers and made inciting speeches urging the populace to get rid of all the dirt, referring to the Tutsis in hiding. A few days after the speeches, young girls and Tutsis in hiding were found and killed by the Hutus. The Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief shows Witness QAQ would be relied on in support of Count 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide) and Count 4 (direct and public incitement to commit genocide) against Nteziryayo and all counts against Ndayambaje.

4277. Witness QAQ's prior statement of 14 May 1997 states that the meeting that took place towards the end of May or early June 1994 occurred in the yard of the Muganza *commune* and during this meeting *Préfet* Nteziryayo sacked *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana and replaced him with Ndayambaje. Among other things said, both *Préfet* Nteziryayo and the newly appointed *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, referred to the need to get rid of "dirt" hiding in the home and killings subsequently occurred. 11657

4278. Accordingly, the Chamber considers the information contained in the summary of Witnesses FAG's, TO's and QAQ's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief and the contents of their respective previous statements, provided the Nteziryayo

¹¹⁶⁵³ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAG, disclosed 15 November 2000 and 4 December 2000.

¹¹⁶⁵⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6).

^{11655 11} June 1997, Statement of Witness TO, disclosed 25 March 1999, 23 April 2001 and 1 October 2001.

¹¹⁶⁵⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAQ (11).

¹¹⁶⁵⁷ 14 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAQ, disclosed 4 November 1998, 17 June 1999, 15 November 2000, 4 December 2000 and 1 October 2001.

Defence with clear and consistent notice that the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in June 1994 was part of the Prosecution's case.

4279. Although the summary of Witness TO's anticipated testimony and Witness TO's first statement refer to this ceremony as occurring in May 1994, the Chamber is of the view that the description of the event as "Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony" and the reference to Nteziryayo being the *préfet* of Butare at the time of the meeting, sufficed to put the Nteziryayo Defence on notice that the "meeting" in question concerned Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, which occurred in June 1994. Moreover, in the Chamber's view, although Witness QAQ's prior statement does not expressly refer to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, the Nteziryayo Defence would have been aware that the meeting Witness QAQ referred to was Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony since the additional detail provided in Witness QAQ's statement stated that during this meeting *Préfet* Nteziryayo sacked *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana and replaced him with Ndayambaje.

4280. The Chamber notes that the witness statements of Prosecution Witnesses FAG, TO and QAQ were disclosed to the Defence between November 1998 and October 2001, the last relevant disclosure thus occurring shortly after the beginning of trial in June 2001, and well before the commencement of the testimony of Witness TO in March 2002, Witness QAQ in November 2002 and Witness FAG in March 2004. The Chamber thus considers Nteziryayo had timely notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence through these witnesses of his acts on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony as part of its case against him with respect to the incitement charge.

4281. As additional information, the Chamber also notes that on 16 May 2001 the Prosecution filed its "Supplemental Motion for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses Under Rule 90 *bis*" by which the Prosecution sought to add four detained witnesses, including Prosecution Witness RV, who by oversight had been excluded from the Prosecution's list of intended witnesses included in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief filed on 12 April 2001. 11658

4282. In its decision of 24 July 2001, the Chamber, noting that the statements of Witness RV had been disclosed to the Defence on 14 March 2001, found the Defence would not be prejudiced by the addition of Witness RV to the Prosecution's witness list, and granted leave for Witness RV to be added. Witness RV's statements of 15 January 1997 and 2 October 1997 refer to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. The first statement states that in May 1994, when Ndayambaje reclaimed his position as Muganza *bourgmestre*, he held a meeting near the *commune* office at which Ndayambaje stressed that Tutsis were enemies that needed to be exterminated, using metaphors relating to cleaning the house. Witness RV's second statement states that during Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony both Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo acted in concert and incited people to eliminate Tutsis. Accordingly, the

¹¹⁶⁵⁸ See Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-I, Prosecutor's Supplemental Motion for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses Under Rule 90 bis, 16 May 2001.

¹¹⁶⁵⁹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses (TC), 24 July 2001, paras. 13-14.

^{11660 15} January 1997, Statement of Witness RV, disclosed 14 March 2001.

¹¹⁶⁶¹ 2 October 1997, Statement of Witness RV, disclosed 14 March 2001.

Chamber considers the Nteziryayo Defence was provided with additional notice of this allegation in July 2001, when the Chamber granted the Prosecution leave to add Witness RV to its list of intended witnesses. 11662

4283. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement were cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information and no prejudice was caused to Nteziryayo with respect to this allegation.

Ndayambaje and Notice

4284. The Ndayambaje Defence asserts that Paragraph 6.38 of the Ndayambaje Indictment was defective because it does not allege that Ndayambaje incited the public on the occasion of his swearing-in ceremony. The Ndayambaje Defence otherwise submits that Ndayambaje's own swearing-in ceremony cannot be considered by reference to Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, which it alleges is vague and general in nature, and provide no link to the swearing-in ceremony. It thus requests the exclusion of the Prosecution witnesses' evidence with respect to Ndayambaje's utterances during his swearing-in in June 1994 and the alleged consequences of the ceremony, discussed separately below.

4285. First, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.38 is the only paragraph in the Ndayambaje Indictment that refers to the appointment of Ndayambaje. That paragraph reads "[d]espite these crimes, Élie Ndayambaje was appointed *Bourgmestre* of Muganza on 20 June 1994 by the Interim Government led by Jean Kambanda". Paragraph 6.38 is pled in support of all counts against Ndayambaje, although it does not refer to the ceremony during which Ndayambaje was sworn-in as *bourgmestre* or to any criminal conduct by Ndayambaje.

4286. However, the Chamber recalls that Paragraph 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis over a four-month period, while Paragraph 6.33 more specifically alleges incitement by Ndayambaje in the month of June 1994. In the present circumstances, reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, which allege that Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis, and which were both pled in support of all counts against Ndayambaje, encompass the allegation that Ndayambaje incited the population at his swearing-in ceremony.

4287. As previously noted, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 5.8 of the Ndayambaje Indictment relating to incitement, insofar as it is identical to Paragraph 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, is very general in nature and, for this reason, defective. With respect to Paragraph 6.33, the Chamber finds that while it provides a narrower temporal period

_

¹¹⁶⁶² See also Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para 35.

para. 35. 11663 Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 97, 755; Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 31-32 (ICS).

Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 48, 58, 97.

¹¹⁶⁶⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 99, 772, 774.

than Paragraph 5.8, namely the month of June 1994, this paragraph also fails to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to any incitement on the occasion of Ndayambaje's own swearing-in ceremony. The Chamber therefore finds each of these paragraphs defective.

- 4288. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.33 of the Ndayambaje Indictment relating to incitement were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures. The Chamber notes the Prosecution did not mention Ndayambaje inciting on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in in the Prosecution opening statement.
- 4289. As already noted, the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists two witnesses, Witnesses FAG and TO, who expressly refer to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. Neither the summary of Witness FAG's anticipated evidence 11667 nor Witness FAG's statement 11668 outline any inciting speeches made by Ndayambaje on this occasion.
- 4290. The summary of Witness TO's forthcoming testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that the witness attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in May 1994, where Ndayambaje spoke after Nteziryayo, citing examples of the Kivomo *secteur* where Hutu inhabitants hid Tutsi neighbours, emphasising that it was necessary to clean out the houses of these Hutus hiding Tutsis. Ndayambaje added that the Tutsis who were hiding "had to be cleaned out". 11669
- 4291. Witness TO's first statement of 11 June 1997, indicates that Witness TO attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in May 1994 at the *commune* office in Remera *secteur* at which *Préfet* Nteziryayo introduced the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje. The content of Witness TO's statement with respect to Ndayambaje is consistent with the information included in the summary, stating that Ndayambaje used the example of Kivomo *secteur* and emphasised that it was necessary to clean out the houses of Hutus hiding Tutsis. Ndayambaje used the example of a woman who sweeps dirt inside her house rather than outside, only to end up overpowered by dirt in her bed. He added that Tutsis in hiding had to be cleaned out. 11670
- 4292. The Chamber also recalls that the summary of anticipated testimony of Witness QAQ contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief refers to a meeting towards the end of May or early June, where both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were the main speakers and made inciting speeches urging the populace to get rid of all the dirt, referring to the Tutsis in hiding. A few days after the speeches, young girls and Tutsis in hiding were found and killed by the Hutus. Witness QAQ's prior statement of 14 May 1997 states that the meeting that took place towards the end of May or early June 1994 occurred in the yard of the Muganza commune and during this meeting *Préfet* Nteziryayo sacked *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana and

¹¹⁶⁶⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6) (cited in support of Counts 1, 3-4 against Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo); Witness FAG (19) (cited in support of Counts 1 and 4 against Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶⁶⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAG (19) (cited in support of Counts 1 and 4 against Nteziryayo).

¹¹⁶⁶⁸ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAG, disclosed 15 November 2000 and 4 December 2000.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6).

^{11670 11} June 1997, Statement of Witness TO, disclosed 25 March 1999 and 23 April 2001.

¹¹⁶⁷¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAQ (11).

replaced him with Ndayambaje. The statement was otherwise consistent with the summary of anticipated testimony as to the content of Ndayambaje's speech. 11672

4293. The Chamber thus considers that Witnesses TO's and QAQ's summaries in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and their corresponding witness statements provided the Ndayambaje Defence with clear and consistent notice that the allegation that Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis at his own swearing-in ceremony in June 1994 was part of the Prosecution's case.

4294. As noted with respect to Nteziryayo, notwithstanding that the summary of Witness TO's anticipated testimony and Witness TO's first statement refer to this ceremony as occurring in May 1994, the Chamber is of the view that the description of the event as "Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony" and the reference to Nteziryayo being the *préfet* of Butare at the time of the meeting, sufficed to put the Ndayambaje Defence on notice that the "meeting" in question concerned Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony which occurred in June 1994. Equally, as was the case with Nteziryayo, although Witness QAQ's prior statement refers only to "a meeting in May", the Ndayambaje Defence would have been aware that the meeting Witness QAQ referred to was Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony since the additional detail provided in Witness QAQ's statement stated that during this meeting *Préfet* Nteziryayo sacked *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana and replaced him with Ndayambaje.

4295. The Chamber notes that the witness statements of Prosecution Witnesses FAG, TO and QAQ were disclosed to the Defence between November 1998 and October 2001, the last relevant disclosure thus occurring shortly after the beginning of trial in June 2001, and well before the commencement of the testimony of Witness TO in March 2002, Witness QAQ in November 2002 and Witness FAG in March 2004. The Chamber thus considers that the Ndayambaje Defence had timely notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence through these witnesses of Ndayambaje's acts on the occasion of his swearing-in ceremony as part of its case with respect to the incitement charge.

4296. As discussed above with respect to Nteziryayo, the Chamber equally considers that the subsequent addition of Witness RV to the Prosecution's witness list in July 2001 served to put the Ndayambaje Defence on notice of this allegation. 11673

4297. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8, 6.33 and 6.38 of the Ndayambaje Indictment relating to incitement were cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information, and no prejudice was caused to Ndayambaje with respect to this allegation.

Notice of Killings

4298. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that in addition to the Indictment's failure to plead Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony of 22 June 1994, the Indictment also fails to plead the

_

¹¹⁶⁷² 14 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAQ, disclosed 4 November 1998 and 17 June 1999.

¹¹⁶⁷³ See also Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35.

killings which the Prosecution alleges followed the meeting. 11674 The Nteziryayo Defence makes no submissions in this respect.

- 4299. Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and Paragraph 6.46 of the Ndayambaje Indictment allege that the search for and elimination of Tutsis took place throughout the entire *préfecture* between April and July 1994. Paragraph 6.51 is pled in support of all counts against Nteziryayo.
- 4300. Paragraph 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment also alleges that as from 20 April, in Muganza *commune* and the surrounding area, Ndayambaje ordered, supervised and participated in massacres of the Tutsi population, committed by militiamen, soldiers, *commune* policemen and *commune* authorities. Paragraph 6.37 is pled in support of all counts against Ndayambaje.
- 4301. Although Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is pled in support of all counts against Nteziryayo, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.51 does not refer to Nteziryayo. Other than referring to the roadblock allegedly located outside the Nyiramasuhuko/Ntahobali household as a means of identifying Tutsis, the paragraph otherwise fails to provide any specific examples or circumstances in which searches were carried out in this period. Thus, having regard to the vague nature of the allegation contained in Paragraph 6.51 *vis-à-vis* Nteziryayo, the Chamber considers the paragraph is defective.
- 4302. With respect to Paragraph 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment, the Chamber notes the paragraph does not refer to any specific crimes which Ndayambaje allegedly ordered, supervised or participated in. As a result, the Chamber considers this paragraph defective.
- 4303. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraph 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment and Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 4304. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the summary of anticipated testimony for Witnesses FAG, TO and QAQ in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief claims that after the incitement at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, searches and killings of Tutsis occurred. The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief shows that in addition to Count 1 (conspiracy) and Count 4 (incitement) against both Accused, Witnesses FAG and QAQ would also be brought in support of all remaining counts against Ndayambaje. Further, Witness TO was additionally listed in support of Count 3 (complicity in genocide) against both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje.
- 4305. The Chamber recalls that Witness TO's second statement of 16 October 1997 stated that after inciting speeches by the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, in late June 1994 at the *commune* office, Tutsi women and girls who had survived were hunted down and killed. Among the victims were two of the witness' cousins. 11677 Witness FAG's statement of 23

¹¹⁶⁷⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 100.

Para. 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.46 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹¹⁶⁷⁶ Para. 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

¹¹⁶⁷⁷ 16 October 1997, Statement of Witness TO, disclosed 4 November 1998.

February 2000 also stated that after incitement at Ndayambaje's inauguration by Nteziryayo, Hutus immediately "went after the Tutsis in their houses and in the forest. They were killed everywhere they were found". Witness QAQ's prior statement of 14 May 1997 states that after a meeting towards the end of May or early June 1994 in the yard of the Muganza commune during which both *Préfet* Nteziryayo and the newly appointed bourgmestre, Ndayambaje, incited the population, killings subsequently occurred. 11679

4306. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber is of the view that the information contained in the relevant witness statements was consistent with the information in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, and provided the Defence with clear notice that searches and ensuing killings of Tutsis as a result of incitement at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony were part of its case against both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje. Lastly, as considered above with respect to the disclosure of these witness statements to the Defence, the Chamber considers this was done in a timely manner.

4307. The Chamber therefore considers the defect in Paragraph 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment is cured *vis-à-vis* Ndayambaje and Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is cured *vis-à-vis* Nteziryayo with respect to the general allegation of searches and killings.

4308. However, in contrast to the anticipated evidence concerning general ensuing killings, only the summary of anticipated testimony of Witness TP refers to a specific killing. As noted, the summary of anticipated testimony of Witness TP states that after inciting speeches made by both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje at a security meeting in Muganza *commune* on 24 June 1994, killers took her son away saying Nteziryayo had said that no snake should remain on earth. Witness TP's statement of 16 October 1997 contains identical information with respect to the taking of Witness TP's son, for which reason the Chamber considers the subsequent disclosure both clear and consistent. Insofar as the taking of Witness TP's son was described as taking place a few days after Ndayambaje's swearing-in and because "Nteziryayo had said that no snake should remain on earth", the Chamber considers both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were provided with adequate notice that the taking of Witness TP's son would form part of the Prosecution's case that killings followed the incitement.

4309. Witness TP's statement was disclosed to the Defence in November 1998, well before the witness gave her testimony in February 2004, for which reason the Chamber considers the subsequent disclosure timely. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were provided with adequate notice that the taking of Witness TP's son would form part of the Prosecution's case with respect to both Accused and against all counts.

.

¹¹⁶⁷⁸ 23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAG, disclosed 15 November 2000 in French and 4 December 2000 in English.

¹¹⁶⁷⁹ 14 May 1997, Statement of Witness QAQ, disclosed 4 November 1998 in French and 17 June 1999 in English.

¹¹⁶⁸⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TP (94).

^{11681 16} October 1997, Statement of Witness TP, disclosed 4 November 1998. The Chamber notes that the Statement of Witness TP dated 16 October 1997 places the meeting referred to as occurring on 27 June 1994, not 24 June 1994.

4310. The Chamber has also considered the summary of anticipated testimony of the other Prosecution witnesses who were expected to testify about either Ndayambaje's swearing-in or a meeting at the Muganza commune office. With the exception of the summaries for Witnesses QAF and QAR that outline the abduction of several Tutsi girls that took place after a meeting where Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo incited the population, 11682 no mention of the killings of any specific individuals is made in any other summary of anticipated testimony of the other Prosecution witnesses who were expected to testify about either Ndayambaje's swearing-in or a meeting at Muganza *commune* office. 11683 For this reason, the Chamber considers the Defence was not provided with the details of any other specific killings against which they could be expected to defend themselves at trial. Accordingly, the Chamber declines to make any findings with respect to any evidence that came forth at trial concerning the deaths of specific individuals in relation to this allegation. 11684

Defence Requests for the Exclusion of Prosecution Evidence

Ndayambaje Request for Exclusion of Evidence

- 4311. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that in light of the lack of notice with respect to this allegation, the testimonies of Witnesses QAR, TO, QAQ, QAF, FAL, TP, RV, QAL, FAG and FAU should be excluded insofar as they relate to Ndayambaje's alleged speeches at his swearing-in ceremony and the alleged consequences which resulted from his incitement. 11685
- 4312. The Chamber recalls that the Defence's request for the exclusion of the evidence of these 10 Prosecution witnesses has already been the subject of separate judicial decisions by this Chamber. 11686 In a Decision of 1 September 2006, the Chamber denied a motion to exclude the evidence of 14 Prosecution witnesses, which included, inter alia, the aforementioned 10 witnesses, on the grounds that there was no basis for exclusion. 11687

¹¹⁶⁸² See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAF (35); Witness QAR (5).

¹¹⁶⁸³ See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix, Witness FAG (19); Witness FAL (24); Witness QAL (40); Witness QAQ (11); Witness TO (6); Witness TP (94).

¹¹⁶⁸⁴ For example, T. 25 February 2004 p. 12 (Witness QAL) (testified about the killing of her husband); T. 1 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAG) (testified about the killing of one Josepha); T. 4 March 2002 p. 116 (ICS) (Witness TO) (testified about the killing of his two cousins). Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 104.

On 31 May 2006, the Ndayambaje Defence objected to the admission of evidence of 14 Prosecution witnesses, which included, inter alia, the aforementioned 10 witnesses, on the grounds that their testimonies concerned facts or elements not pled in the Indictment and of which the Defence claimed it did not have timely notification: Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006. The Motion concerned the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses EV, FAG, FAL, FAU, QAF, QAL, QAQ, QAR, QBZ, RT, RV, TO, TP, and TW.

¹¹⁶⁸⁷ Ndavambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006, para. 25. Having regard to the particular circumstances of this case, as well as the interests of justice, the Chamber was not satisfied that there was a basis to exclude the concerned testimonies at that stage. The Chamber stressed that some of the matters raised by the Ndayambaje Defence in its Motion may be considered at a later stage of the proceedings.

4313. Ndayambaje moved the Chamber for certification to appeal this decision, and the Chamber denied that motion on 5 October 2006. On 2 November 2006, the Chamber dismissed another motion filed by the Ndayambaje Defence, noting that it was not in the interest of judicial economy to relitigate issues the Chamber had already decided on. 11690

4314. The Chamber recalls its previous finding that Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were provided with adequate notice of the Prosecution's intention to rely upon evidence about speeches given at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, as well as evidence of general killings that followed from the alleged incitement of the population at the ceremony, as part of its case against both Accused, although there was no notice of specific killings. The Chamber thus considers that the evidence of the aforementioned 10 Prosecution witnesses relating to general events which occurred at and as a result of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony need not be excluded. Further, while the Chamber declines to make findings based on the evidence of these Prosecution witnesses with respect to specific killings, it considers this evidence may be relevant to the proof of other allegations pled in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds no reason to reconsider its prior decisions of 1 September 2006, 5 October 2006 and 2 November 2006 and declines the Ndayambaje Defence's request to exclude the evidence of the mentioned Prosecution witnesses.

4315. Further, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution disclosed the prior statements of the 10 Prosecution witnesses throughout the period 1998 to 2002. The Chamber notes Witness QAR was the first Prosecution witness called with respect to this allegation and gave evidence in November 2001. Witness QAR's statements were disclosed to the Defence several times over a three-year period from November 1998 until October 2001. The last disclosure of October 2001 provided the Defence with the witness' statements that had already been disclosed on two earlier occasions, namely 4 December 2000 and 23 April 2001.

1 :

The Chamber found the Defence had "generally revisited the thrust of its previous arguments rather than demonstrating the conditions required for the Chamber to grant certification to appeal". *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on Élie Ndayambaje's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence Issued on 1st September 2006 (TC), 5 October 2006, para. 15.

¹¹⁶⁸⁹ Prosecution v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête d'Élie Ndayambaje aux fins de reconsidération de la décision intitulée: Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence» du 1^{er} septembre 2006, 16 October 2006, para. 7. The Ndayambaje Defence asked the Chamber to reconsider both earlier decisions in light of an Appeals Chamber decision rendered on 18 September 2006 in the Bagosora et al. case regarding the exclusion of evidence. See generally Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006.

Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Reconsideration of the Chamber's Decision to Deny Certification to Appeal Its Decision on the Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 2 November 2006, paras. 7-8. The Chamber found that the Appeals Chamber decision in *Bagosora et al.* contained no new elements affecting this Chamber's previous decisions, also found that the requirements for reconsideration of this Chamber's decisions had not been met, and dismissed the Motion.

¹¹⁶⁹¹ Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006; Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004, para. 15; Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Request for Reconsideration (AC), 27 September 2004, para. 12.

The Statement of Witness QAR dated 20 May 1997 was disclosed on 4 November 1998, 4 December 2000, 23 April 2001 and 1 October 2001. The Statement of Witness QAR dated 14 October 1997 was disclosed on 17 June 1999, 10 December 1999, 4 December 2000, 23 April 2001 and 1 October 2001.

- 4316. Insofar as the Prosecution disclosed to the Defence the confessions of Witnesses FAG, FAU and RV, made to Rwandan authorities between April and July 2004, the Chamber notes that after each of these witnesses had finished giving their evidence, Witness FAG was recalled and further cross-examined on 6 September 2004, whereas there was no such request on the behalf of the Defence with respect to the remaining two witnesses.
- 4317. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that the disclosure was timely, it provided the Defence with sufficient time to prepare its case, and the Accused did not suffer any prejudice.

Nteziryayo Request for Exclusion of Evidence

- 4318. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the testimonies of Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF and QAL with respect to meetings and inciting speeches made in Muganza between April and early June 1994 should be excluded since they fall outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. 11693
- 4319. Having regard to the Chamber's previous finding that the Nteziryayo Defence was provided with adequate notice of this allegation, the Chamber considers there is no reason to exclude the evidence of Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF and QAL.
- 4320. In addition to the evidence of Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF and QAL being provided in a clear, consistent and timely manner, the witnesses gave their respective evidence in February and March 2004. Further, the Chamber notes that the statements of Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF and QAL were disclosed between November 2000 and May 2002, whereas all these witnesses gave their evidence approximately two years later in February and March 2004. For this reason, the Chamber considers the Defence had sufficient time to prepare Nteziryayo's defence with regard to this allegation. Insofar as the Prosecution disclosed to the Defence Witness FAG's confession to the Rwandan authorities in April 2004, after Witness FAG had finished giving his evidence, the Chamber notes Witness FAG was recalled and further cross-examined on 6 September 2004, for which reason the Chamber considers no prejudice arose. ¹¹⁶⁹⁴
- 4321. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber considers the Defence was provided with sufficient time to prepare its case and the Accused did not suffer any prejudice. Accordingly, the Chamber declines the Defence's request to exclude the evidence of Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF and QAL insofar as it relates to either events occurring at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony or as a result of speeches given at the ceremony.

. .

¹¹⁶⁹³ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765, sub-para. 9.

October 1999, Statement of Witness FAG, disclosed 15 November 2000 and 4 December 2000; 8 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAL, disclosed 15 October 2000; 14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAF, disclosed 4 December 2000; 17 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAL, disclosed 4 December 2000.

3.6.43.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAG

- 4322. Witness FAG, a Hutu farmer who had confessed to having participated in the genocide, testified that sometime in late May or early June 1994, he learned by word of mouth about a meeting that was to be held where a new bourgmestre would be appointed to replace Chrysologue. 11696
- 4323. As préfet of Butare préfecture, Nteziryayo presided over this ceremony, which occurred between May and June 1994, behind the Remera *commune* office. 11697 It took place in a clearing in small eucalyptus bushes approximately 100 metres from the *commune* office and located below the road leading to the *commune* office in the direction of Mugombwa. 11698 On this occasion, the witness saw Ndayambaje, who was the person being sworn in as bourgmestre. 11699
- 4324. The ceremony started around 10.00 or 11.00 a.m. and lasted until 1.00 p.m. 11700 The witness arrived around 10.00 a.m., after the meeting had started, together with three friends. 11701 When he arrived he saw VIPs sitting on chairs and a lot of the commune's population. He estimated that there were about 1,000 people at the meeting and did not see any Tutsis present. He saw *commune* police officers who guaranteed order and the soldiers who came with Nteziryayo. He sat about 21 metres from the speakers, who used a megaphone. 11702
- 4325. Witness FAG did not hear any gunshots or artillery fire while at the meeting. 11703 The population was not armed; the witness did not hear either Nteziryayo or Ndayambaje ask the population to show their weapons during the meeting, although he admitted he might not have been present when this occurred. 11704
- 4326. The witness did not pay attention to the order in which the speakers spoke. 11705 He only remembered three people taking the floor, Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje and the secretary Célestin. 11706
- 4327. At the ceremony, Célestin introduced the speakers and gave each of them the floor. 11707 The witness heard both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje address the crowd in parables through a megaphone. 11708 Ndayambaje said, "[w]hen a house is cleaned, the dirt is not piled up behind

¹¹⁶⁹⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 83 (Personal Particulars).

¹¹⁶⁹⁶ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 pp. 21, 47 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁶⁹⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁶⁹⁸ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁶⁹⁹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁰ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰¹ T. 3 March 2004 p. 43 (ICS); T. 3 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰² T. 3 March 2004 pp. 21-24 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰³ T. 3 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁴ T. 3 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁵ T. 3 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁶ T. 3 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁷ T. 3 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷⁰⁸ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33: T. 3 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAG).

the house, but it is taken out and thrown in the ditch". 11709 Witness FAG testified that both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje explained the parable as follows: "You are continuing to hide those Tutsi women and children. Those same people will harm you, they will put you at risk. So when you clean the house, you do not pile up the dirt behind the house. So if you start killing, you must complete it. And make sure no Tutsi survives." 11710

- 4328. This was the first time the witness heard that proverb. 11711 Ndayambaje did not speak for long. 11712 Nteziryayo repeated practically the same thing as Ndayambaje, and did not speak for long. 11713 Witness FAG did not pay attention to whether Nteziryayo's speech addressed the advance of the RPF. Witness FAG stated that the terms "Tutsi" and "Inyenzi" meant the same thing and was sure Nteziryayo used both terms. The term was used to refer to all Tutsis. 11714
- 4329. Nteziryayo wore military fatigues on the occasion of Ndayambaje's re-installation ceremony. 11715 Ndayambaje wore a suit and a scarf with the national colours which was the former flag. 11716 The witness did not see the *préfet* arrive or leave the meeting. Chrysologue Bimenyimana was present at the meeting. 11717
- 4330. Witness FAG did not believe that any of the participants spoke or asked questions, nor did he recall any reference being made to rats or snakes. The witness did not personally see the swearing-in of the bourgmestre nor did he see Ndayambaje climb on a chair or table during the ceremony. 11719
- 4331. When it was put to the witness that his confession to Rwandan authorities of 18 November 1999 did not make reference to Ndayambaje taking the floor at the meeting or explaining the parable, the witness stated it was difficult to remember everything when giving statements and, depending on the number of statements given, it was hard to always repeat the same things. 11720 When it was put to the witness that his statement of 23 February 2000 also failed to mention that Ndayambaje took the floor, the witness replied that he was questioned about Nteziryayo, and not Ndayambaje, and thus did not talk to the investigators about Ndayambaie. 11721
- 4332. Nteziryayo's and Ndayambaje's statements to the crowd resulted in further attacks against Tutsis; after hearing the parable, people tracked down and killed Tutsi women and girls who had survived the massacres; people went into the hills, the valleys and the bush to track

¹¹⁷⁰⁹ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁰ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹¹ T. 3 March 2004 p. 27 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹² T. 3 March 2004 pp. 25, 49 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹³ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁴ T. 3 March 2004 p. 49 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁵ T. 1 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁶ T. 3 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁷ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 46-47 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁸ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷¹⁹ T. 3 March 2004 p. 47 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁰ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAG); Defence Exhibit 188 (Ndayambaje) (18 November 1999, Confession of Witness FAG to Rwandan Authorities).

¹¹⁷²¹ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 36-37 (Witness FAG); Defence Exhibit 189 (Ndayambaje) (23 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAG).

down the hiding survivors. The cattle, cows and sheep of those who were hiding the survivors were also attacked. 11722

- 4333. The witness personally knew a girl called Josepha who was killed after the statements. 11723 Witness FAG estimated that Josepha died in May 1994. He was present during her death, but denied that Théodore Ntama, Gituza Diyoniziyo or Sebiyoba's sons were also present during her death. 11724
- 4334. Witness FAG testified that in his 11 August 1998 confession he admitted to having participated in the murder of several children. When it was put to him that he previously denied having committed other crimes than the ones he mentioned, Witness FAG conceded that in his previous testimony before the Chamber, he did not mention that he participated in the killings of these persons, but that he would have admitted to these events if asked about them. Witness FAG conceded that he had testified before this Chamber that the confessions of August 1998 and of November 1999 contained the same facts, except that the November 1999 confession did not mention his participation in the above-mentioned killings.
- 4335. Witness FAG testified that he made a distinction between events in which he had participated and for which he could be punished, and events which did not concern him personally and for which he could not be punished. He stated the killings of these children did not concern him personally. 11728
- 4336. Witness FAG testified that the swearing-in ceremony was not often discussed during *Gacaca* meetings; they talked rather about events that had occurred in the areas they were, and the ceremony was not held in their area. 11729
- 4337. Witness FAG testified that this was the only meeting he attended in Muganza *commune* in the period from April to July 1994 and he did not know whether any other meetings may have taken place subsequently. 11730
- 4338. Witness FAG estimated he saw Ndayambaje approximately 10 times before the events in 1994. 11731 Ndayambaje vacated his position as *bourgmestre* of Muganza in 1993 to further his studies at the University of Butare. 11732 Ndayambaje was re-installed as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* between the end of May and early June 1994 by the then *préfet* of Butare, Nteziryayo. 11733 The witness identified Ndayambaje in court. 11734

¹¹⁷²² T. 1 March 2004 pp. 33-34; T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²³ T. 1 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁴ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness FAG); 6 September 2004 p. 10 (HC) (Witness FAG) (French).

¹¹⁷²⁵ T. 6 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁶ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁷ T. 6 September 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁸ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷²⁹ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷³⁰ T. 3 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷³¹ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 36-37 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷³² T. 1 March 2004 p. 6 (ICS); T. 2 March 2004 p. 15 (Witness FAG).

¹¹⁷³³ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG).

4339. Witness FAG had never seen Nteziryayo before the war; he had only ever seen him on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in. He stated he would not be able to identify Nteziryayo because of the lapse of time since he had seen Nteziryayo at Ndayambaje's installation ceremony in 1994. 11735

Prosecution Witness FAL

- 4340. Witness FAL, a Hutu farmer and detainee, ¹¹⁷³⁶ testified that in May or June 1994 the population was summoned to a security meeting held in a little bush near the Muganza *commune* office that started around 10.30 a.m., ¹¹⁷³⁷ and ended at about 11.30 a.m. ¹¹⁷³⁸ Bowand-arrow shooting exercises took place on the football field near the venue of the meeting, but not on the same day as the meeting. ¹¹⁷³⁹
- 4341. Witness FAL testified more than 5,000 people attended the meeting. The witness sat three metres from the speakers, and the speakers used megaphones. They were summoned by the *commune* staff on the same morning of the meeting and were asked to come with their traditional weapons, namely, spears and clubs; the witness went with a club and a spear. Everyone brought their arms with them. The witness arrived after the start of the meeting. He later clarified that he arrived around 9.30 a.m., but then testified that he actually arrived around 10.00 a.m., waited for half an hour before the meeting started, and that at 10.30 a.m. he was at the meeting venue; so, he had to wait for about half an hour for the meeting to start.
- 4342. Witness FAL testified that at the meeting, there was a table which had been placed in the middle of the grass area. The only dignitaries Witness FAL remembered were Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje as well as soldiers. Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo and Tharcisse Muvunyi were present. When the witness arrived at the meeting, Nteziryayo took the floor first and told the crowd that he had come to install Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* because Chrysologue was not sufficiently active, insofar as he had not done much in relation to the war that was raging, was incapable of governing the *commune* and had proved incapable of hunting down and killing Tutsis, *Abatusi* and *Inkotanyi*. 11744
- 4343. Witness FAL stated that Nteziryayo told Ndayambaje to climb on a table, put on a sash bearing the national colours and asked him to take an oath of office to the effect that he, Ndayambaje, was going to accomplish what had not been done. After being sworn in Ndayambaje said, "I swear on the flag of the Rwandan Republic and to the President of the Republic that I will loyally discharge my duties". In response, the witness heard Nteziryayo

```
11734 T. 1 March 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAG).
11735 T. 1 March 2004 pp. 39-40; T. 3 March 2004 p. 51 (Witness FAG).
11736 Prosecution Exhibit 75 (Personal Particulars); T. 9 February 2004 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11737 T. 9 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAL).
11738 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 56 (Witness FAL).
11739 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 67-68 (Witness FAL).
11740 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 76-77 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11741 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 55 (Witness FAL).
11742 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37, 56 (Witness FAL).
11743 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37, 56 (Witness FAL).
11744 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37-38, 57-59, 75 (Witness FAL).
11744 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37-38, 57-59, 75 (Witness FAL).
```

say that Ndayambaje would be able to do what had not yet been done. The swearing-in of Ndayambaje took place right at the beginning of the meeting and was very quick. The swearing-in of Ndayambaje took place right at the beginning of the meeting and was very quick.

- 4344. Witness FAL stated that Nteziryayo did not mention the word "genocide", however he talked about killing Tutsis. Nteziryayo said the enemy had to be fought, the enemy was Tutsi, and that all *Inkotanyi* were Tutsis. *Inkotanyi* was translated as Tutsis or invaders. The *Inyenzi* were the *Inkotanyi* rebels, *i.e.* those who helped the invaders, while *Ibyitso* referred to Tutsis or some Hutus within the country. Witness FAL testified that no distinction was drawn between the Tutsis inside the country and the Tutsis who attacked the country; all Tutsis were considered to be the enemy. 11747
- 4345. After the swearing-in part of the meeting, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje said: "Dirt is not swept by putting it behind the fireplace. Dirt is swept away from the house." Ndayambaje explained the meaning of this proverb, which meant that they had to go and bring all the Tutsis still hiding in houses and destroy the houses where Tutsis were hiding. 11749 Both Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo referred to the "dirt" parable insofar as Ndayambaje underlined what Nteziryayo had said. 11750 No one among the audience dared contradict the speech, no one spoke, and no one asked questions. 11751
- 4346. It was the first time the witness heard the proverb. Ndayambaje explained the proverb, saying that when someone sweeps dirt he does not pile it up next to the hearth, but puts it outside, which meant that it was necessary to chase out the Tutsis still hiding, particularly the Tutsi women and girls hiding in houses, and asked people to destroy the houses where these young Tutsi girls were hiding. 11752
- 4347. When Ndayambaje took the floor he said, "I am posted to this *commune* but I understood that the people have not worked well in this *commune*", and then repeated what he had previously said about sweeping the dirt. Witness FAL did not remember whether any other person addressed the meeting; between Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, Nteziryayo spoke longer. 11754
- 4348. At some point during the meeting, there was a commotion. A small number of those present defended Chrysologue because he was not a bad leader and they wanted him to continue being *bourgmestre*. The protesters did not make a lot of noise, but this demonstration of discontent was nevertheless noticed. 11755
- 4349. The witness did not hear the Prime Minister's announcement referring to the restoration of peace, or anything about snakes, rats, baby rats or female rats being pregnant, or

```
11745 T. 9 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAL).
11746 T. 9 February 2004 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11747 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 55, 58-59 (Witness FAL).
11748 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 38, 59; T. 9 February 2004 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11749 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 38, 64; T. 9 February 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11750 T. 9 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness FAL).
11751 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 77 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11752 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11753 T. 9 February 2004 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
11754 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 56 (Witness FAL).
11755 T. 9 February 2004 pp. 56, 59 (Witness FAL).
```

the distinction between wheat and chaff. 11756 He did not know whether a white religious person was present. 11757 The witness could hear gunshots from Ndora commune during the meeting. 11758

- 4350. Witness FAL testified that the population carried out Ndayambaje's and Nteziryayo's orders. 11759 The witness heard Sebukeye, who was like Ndayambaje's spokesman, tell the crowd that it had to implement the orders that were given during the meeting. 11760 After the meeting, some people went and sought out the Tutsis hiding in houses and killed them. 11761
- 4351. Witness FAL returned home after the meeting; he did not kill anybody else after the meeting, because he was afraid and had already committed too many murders. He did take part in destroying Tutsi houses. 11762
- 4352. Witness FAL stated that he had known Ndayambaje in Muganza, at Chumba, since childhood at the Byiza school when Ndayambaje lived in Mugombwa; the witness also met Ndayambaje when he was *bourgmestre*. He positively identified Ndayambaje in court. Witness FAL stated he would be unable to identify Nteziryayo in court since Nteziryayo did not go to Kibuye often, such that the witness was not asked to identify Nteziryayo in court. 11763

Prosecution Witness QAF

- 4353. Witness QAF, a Hutu farmer, 11764 testified that he attended a public safety meeting chaired by *Préfet* Nteziryayo, 11765 held in eucalyptus woods about 30 metres away from the Muganza commune office in Remera secteur. The meeting was held close to the road but since it was held in the woods, those who were on the road could not see the meeting's speakers. The bush was a large area, about the size of a football field. 11766
- 4354. Witness QAF could not state specifically when the meeting was held, but recalled that the killings started in April 1994, then there was a lull, after which point the meeting was held and then the killing of Tutsi girls who had survived resumed after the meeting. 11767 The witness estimated that maybe two weeks after the meeting he fled for Burundi. 11768
- 4355. Witness QAF was informed of the meeting by both the responsable de cellule, and his conseiller de secteur, who said he had to go and that those who did not attend the meeting

```
<sup>11756</sup> T. 9 February 2004 pp. 58, 60; T. 9 February 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness FAL).
```

¹¹⁷⁵⁷ T. 9 February 2004 p. 60 (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁵⁸ T. 9 February 2004 p. 79 (ICS) (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁵⁹ T. 9 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁶⁰ T. 9 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 9 February 2004 p. 63 (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁶¹ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 61, 64 (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁶² T. 9 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 60-61 (Witness FAL).

¹¹⁷⁶³ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 36, 40-41 (Witness FAL).

Prosecution Exhibit 74 (Personal Particulars); T. 5 February 2004 p. 75; T. 9 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁶⁵ T. 6 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁶⁶ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65, 85-86; T. 9 February 2004 pp. 8-9 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁶⁷ T. 5 February 2004 p. 69; T. 6 February 2004 p. 11; T. 6 February 2004 pp. 36-37 (ICS); T. 9 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAF). 11768 T. 9 February 2004 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

would be considered an enemy. 11769 The *conseiller* did not ask the witness to attend the meeting with a weapon; the witness understood it was a security meeting, although in the course of the meeting Hutus decided to kill Tutsis. Since the meeting was held in a period of relative calm, no one at the meeting was armed. 11770

- 4356. The witness went to the meeting alone. The witness arrived in the morning, late for the start of the meeting. Ndayambaje was appointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* on that day; Ndayambaje had already been installed as *bourgmestre* by the time the witness arrived. The start of the meeting alone. The witness arrived are the witness arrived.
- 4357. The surviving members of the population of Muganza *commune* were present, except for those Tutsis who had already been killed. Witness QAF was unable to estimate how many people were present at the meeting. From where he sat, he could both hear the speakers since they were using megaphones, as well as see them. 11774
- 4358. At the meeting the witness saw Nteziryayo, who was the *préfet* of Butare at the time, Ndayambaje, Chrysologue Bimenyimana, Callixte Kalimanzira and a white priest who lived in Mugombwa. The *conseiller*, the members of the *cellule* committees, members of the population and soldiers who accompanied the *préfet* were also present. The soldiers wore camouflage uniforms and carried rifles. He stated that it was not unusual to see soldiers accompany the *préfet* to a meeting. Ndayambaje was wearing a black suit and a tie, but the witness did not pay any attention as to whether Ndayambaje wore any distinctive emblem. 11775
- 4359. There was no podium for the speakers. There was a table with a microphone. There were benches by the table for the *conseiller* and the *responsables de cellule*, while the population sat on the grass in the woods. Approximately 10 dignitaries were sitting at the table, including the white man. He did not see any *bourgmestres* from other *communes* at the meeting. The witness could not recall in which order the speakers spoke. 11777
- 4360. *Préfet* Nteziryayo wore a military uniform at the meeting. Nteziryayo addressed the meeting, saying:

Citizens of Muganza *commune*, your authorities have told me that you worked well. I, in turn, congratulate you for having worked well. However, I was told that there was yet a serious problem. And the problem is that there are people who have taken as their mistresses young Tutsi girls. I have also been told that those people have said that whoever comes to seek to kill the young girls will be killed in turn. I would like to tell you that these young Tutsi girls are not your wives. If you kill the father or the mother of someone, you cannot claim that that person is your wife. I am, therefore, telling you that it is necessary for you to get rid of those young girls without difficulties. Whoever

```
<sup>11769</sup> T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65, 85; T. 9 February 2004 pp. 14-15 (Witness QAF).
```

¹¹⁷⁷⁰ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 15-16 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷¹ T. 9 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷² T. 5 February 2004 pp. 66, 68; T. 6 February 2004 pp. 4, 6-7; T. 9 February 2004 p. 12 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷³ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 85-86; T. 6 February 2004 p. 6 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷⁴ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 12, 14 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷⁵ T. 5 February 2004 p. 66; T. 6 February 2004 p. 5; T. 9 February 2004 pp. 15-16, 21-23, 28 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷⁶ T. 5 February 2004 p. 86; T. 9 February 2004 pp. 7, 12, 22 (Witness QAF).

¹¹⁷⁷⁷ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 22-23; T. 9 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

refuses to get rid of the young girls will be killed at the same time as the young Tutsi girls and to hand them over to the killers. 11778

- 4361. Nteziryayo thanked members of the population for working well, which the witness understood as him congratulating those who killed Tutsis. 11779 Nteziryayo did not say anything worthwhile or good. The population got worried because he was speaking of killing while things had calmed down, and before long the killings started again. 11780
- 4362. After his speech, Nteziryayo asked the white man to stand up. 11781 He introduced him as a Belgian priest known as "Brother Stanny". 11782 Nteziryayo stated that Brother Stan had told him that people had sought to kill him because he was Belgian and had stayed when the other Belgians had left. Nteziryayo stated that Brother Stan was not an enemy. Nteziryayo stated, "[i]f you do not want him, tell me so, and I'm going to take him away". 11783 The witness testified that he knew Brother Stan well as he would see him at the Mugombwa Church where the witness used to pray regularly. 11784
- 4363. The witness heard Ndayambaje tell the public: "When dirt is cleaned, it is taken out of the house because if the dirt is swept back into the house, under the fire side, you may find yourself with that dirt in the bedroom, and you may have to abandon your house because of that dirt. I am, therefore, asking you to sweep the dirt outside the house". Witness QAF understood Ndayambaje's speech to have the same meaning as Nteziryayo's speech, namely that those young Tutsis still alive were to be killed. 11786
- 4364. The witness heard that proverb for the first time in the meeting; he had not heard such a proverb before. No one explained what the proverb meant and people wondered what was meant by the term "sweep". They deduced that it referred to the extermination of the survivors, because Nteziryayo had previously said that the people had to be taken out and killed. 11787
- 4365. No questions were put at the end of the meeting; the witness left immediately at the end of the meeting, and could not say who closed the meeting. The witness did not hear either bombs or gunshots during the meeting. He also did not hear any speeches referring either to rats, or the need to separate genuine seed from false seed.¹¹⁷⁸⁸
- 4366. The day after the security meeting at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera, young Tutsi girls were flushed out and killed. The witness subsequently said that this occurred "not much time" after the meeting. The witness knew of the killing of three girls the day

```
11778 T. 5 February 2004 pp. 66-68; T. 6 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAF).
11779 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF).
11780 T. 6 February 2004 p. 6 (Witness QAF).
11781 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF).
11782 T. 6 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAF).
11783 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF).
11784 T. 6 February 2004 p. 8; T. 9 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAF).
11785 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 9 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF).
11786 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF).
11787 T. 9 February 2004 p. 19 (Witness QAF).
11788 T. 6 February 2004 p. 6; T. 9 February 2004 pp. 8, 18-20 (Witness QAF).
11789 T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 6 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF).
11790 T. 6 February 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
```

after the meeting by a group assailants led by Jean Baptiste Mukundihere, who had been sheltering the three girls. One of the girls was the daughter of Nyarunani, another the daughter of a certain Melchior, and the last one was the daughter of a certain Pascal. The abduction took place early in the morning; the witness saw killers armed with traditional weapons, including machetes and clubs as well as spears. He heard a noise and saw a large group of people who were leading the girls away. He did not see the girls being killed but Mukudihere told him he participated in the burial of the girls. The witness agreed that the abduction of these girls was the only event he personally witnessed after the meeting. The killings continued until he left Rwanda.

4367. Witness QAF saw Nteziryayo in the area where his aunt lived and on several occasions when Nteziryayo was a soldier. The witness positively identified Nteziryayo in court. Witness QAF knew Ndayambaje well because they had attended the same primary school, Ndayambaje had served for many years, and he later saw Ndayambaje when he became the *bourgmestre* who replaced Chrysologue Bimenyimana. The witness positively identified Ndayambaje in court. ¹¹⁷⁹⁵

Prosecution Witness RV

4368. Witness RV, a Hutu civil servant and detainee, testified that on 18 June 1994, it was announced on the radio that Ndayambaje would become *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. Several other *bourgmestres* were replaced the same day and it was claimed that they were incapable of maintaining public security. 11797

4369. Witness RV stated that Ndayambaje was installed into office at a ceremony held at about 10.00 or 11.00 a.m. on Tuesday 21 June 1994 in the woods, some 50 yards from the *commune* office. Nteziryayo had to swear in the Ndora *bourgmestre* before he came to Muganza. 11798

4370. Among other officials, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Dominique Ntawukulilyayo (the former *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*), Callixte Kalimanzira (Cabinet Director of the Ministry of the Interior) and the *bourgmestre* of Nyaruhengeri attended the ceremony. There were also local inhabitants who were armed with traditional weapons; approximately 1,000 people attended. 11800

4371. Nteziryayo was the chairman of the meeting. He could not recall what Nteziryayo said or if he was present for the entirety of Nteziryayo's speech. He believed Nteziryayo spoke

```
11791 T. 5 February 2004 p. 73 (ICS); T. 6 February 2004 pp. 16, 19, 29-30 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
11792 T. 6 February 2004 pp. 18-19, 30 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
11793 T. 6 February 2004 pp. 40, 42 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
11794 T. 6 February 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
11795 T. 5 February 2004 pp. 69-70, 72; T. 9 February 2004 p. 5 (Witness QAF).
11796 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 8 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11797 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 4-5 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 45 (Witness RV).
11798 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5-6 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 43 (ICS); 19 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11799 See also T. 19 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11800 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

twice because he spoke again after Ndayambaje's speech. Nteziryayo handed Ndayambaje a sash with the national colours. 11801

- 4372. Ndayambaje was probably the last to speak, although the witness was not present for the entirety of the ceremony. He recalled that Ndayambaje said that "[w]hen someone wants to sweep his house properly, he doesn't pile the rubbish up behind the hearth". The witness understood this to mean that Ndayambaje was encouraging the population to kill all the Tutsis who were in hiding. 11803
- 4373. When it was put to the witness that he only claimed Nteziryayo spoke twice because he previously said he left the ceremony while Nteziryayo was speaking, such that he couldn't have heard Ndayambaje speaking, the witness confirmed that he heard Ndayambaje and explained that the events occurred a long time ago. He clarified that he must have left the ceremony while Nteziryayo was speaking on the second occasion. After the meeting, Tutsis who had survived the massacres were immediately killed.

Prosecution Witness TO

- 4374. Witness TO, a Hutu farmer and traditional dancer, ¹¹⁸⁰⁶ testified that in June 1994 Ndayambaje was reappointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* by *Préfet* Nteziryayo. In June 1994, the population was convened in order to introduce the new *préfet*, Nteziryayo and the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje. ¹¹⁸⁰⁷ He had not seen Ndayambaje for a long time prior to the swearing-in ceremony. ¹¹⁸⁰⁸
- 4375. Although his statement referred to the swearing-in as occurring in May 1994, and then referred to another meeting at the end of June in Muganza *commune* where he saw Nteziryayo, the witness was not in a position to provide exact dates, since this was of little concern to him. He later estimated that the meeting about which he testified occurred in June 1994. Witness TO could not remember other gatherings in his *commune* before the swearing-in ceremony. He later estimated that the meeting about which he testified occurred in June 1994. Witness TO could not remember other gatherings in his *commune* before the
- 4376. The ceremony was held in a small bush¹¹⁸¹² close to the *commune* office in Remera *secteur*,¹¹⁸¹³ on the other side of the road that leads to Mugombwa. It did not take place in the football field, which was an estimated 120 metres away. It started between 10.00 and

```
11801 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5, 7 (ICS); T. 18 February 2004 pp. 43-44 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11802 T. 18 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11803 T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11804 T. 18 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11805 T. 17 February 2004 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness RV).
11806 T. 4 March 2002 p. 42 (Witness TO).
11807 T. 4 March 2002 pp. 10-12 (Witness TO).
11808 T. 6 March 2002 pp. 18-19 (Witness TO).
11809 T. 5 March 2002 pp. 28-30, 38, 43; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 28-30 (Witness TO).
11810 T. 6 March 2002 pp. 58-59 (Witness TO).
11811 T. 6 March 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness TO).
11812 T. 4 March 2002 p. 30; T. 5 March 2002 p. 50; T. 6 March 2001 p. 7 (Witness TO).
11813 T. 4 March 2002 p. 30; T. 5 March 2002 p. 47 (Witness TO).
11814 T. 4 March 2002 pp. 8-9 (Witness TO).
```

- 11.00 a.m. Witness TO could not recall precisely when the meeting ended, but estimated he left the ceremony at around 2.30 p.m. ¹¹⁸¹⁶ During the meeting the *préfet* wore military uniform and was escorted by soldiers, with whom he arrived. ¹¹⁸¹⁷
- 4377. The master of ceremonies was named Habiyambere. After the outgoing *bourgmestre* took the floor, welcoming the people who came, *Préfet* Nteziryayo introduced himself and Ndayambaje to the population, and asked the population to cooperate with Ndayambaje. Nteziryayo criticised the outgoing *bourgmestre* for not having achieved much, as well as members of the population who had been hiding Tutsis. Uttness TO agreed that there was a European man who was seated with the authorities during the swearing-in ceremony.
- 4378. Nteziryayo told the following fable when addressing the population: "There was a woman who was cleaning her house, and instead of shifting the dirt towards the outside ... where it was supposed to be, she took it into the house ... And the only consequence of that act ... was for lice and other insects to grow from that dirt and exterminate her children". While Nteziryayo did not mention the word "Tutsis" in his speeches, the witness stated that the fable Nteziryayo recounted made clear the meaning of his message. It was the first time the witness heard the fable. No one explained the fable to him; its meaning was made clear by subsequent events.
- 4379. Nteziryayo was not interrupted nor were questions posed during his speech; the witness was present for the entirety of his speech. The witness was approximately 20 metres from Nteziryayo during the speech. There was no rostrum at this meeting, although a microphone was used. 11826
- 4380. When it was put to him that his first account of the fable said the dirt killed the children, while his second account stated the lice that grew from the dirt, the witness stated it was understood that Tutsi women and children were considered as dirt, and that if they were not swept out, then they may eventually attack the population. 11827
- 4381. When it was put to him that his statement of October 1995 referred to a woman sweeping the dirt, whereas his statement of June 1997 referred to "cleaning up", the witness stated the meaning of "cleaning up" was very clear, considering that the *commune's* previous leaders were blamed for not having done away with the women and children; further, the

```
<sup>11816</sup> T. 5 March 2002 pp. 113-115, 117 (Witness TO).
```

¹¹⁸¹⁷ T. 5 March 2002 pp. 24, 48, 50 (Witness TO).

T. 5 March 2002 p. 55; T. 5 March 2002 p. 63 (Witness TO) (French) (for the spelling of "Habiyambere").

¹¹⁸¹⁹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²¹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 15, 20-21 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²² T. 5 March 2002 pp. 56-57 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²³ T. 6 March 2002 p. 14 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁴ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 32-33 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁵ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 13-14 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁶ T. 4 March 2002 p. 24; T. 5 March 2002 pp. 53, 55 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁷ T. 5 March 2002 pp. 34-35 (Witness TO).

witness testified he quoted the fable in his statement and did not know why the investigators summarised this fable in his statement as "cleaning up". 11828

- 4382. After the *préfet's* speech, Ndayambaje took the floor and explained the fable to the population; he referred to people who were hiding Tutsis, while Tutsis were being sought after. Ndayambaje did not say much to the population other than to assure them of his cooperation with them. Ndayambaje was already clad in the national flag when he took the floor after the *préfet*. The witness could not otherwise recall what Ndayambaje was wearing. 11831
- 4383. Prior to the swearing-in ceremony, the population practiced shooting of bows and arrows¹¹⁸³² in the playground located behind the *commune* office.¹¹⁸³³ Witness TO did not remember how many people were engaged in such practice. The witness claimed they practiced because Nteziryayo had earlier explained that people had to continue with such exercises and to strengthen their night rounds in order to be ready to face the *Inkotanyi*. Nteziryayo urged the people of the *commune* to equip themselves with weapons, to protect themselves against the *Inkotanyi*. Nteziryayo urged the people to be vigilant since the *Inkotanyi* had arrived at Muyaga Hill and Muyaga *commune*. Nteziryayo not only asked the population to fight against the *Inkotanyi*, but also told the population that it should not forget to embark on the cleansing. ¹¹⁸³⁵
- 4384. After the meeting, "some scoundrels and a few thieves engaged in flushing out women and children and [engaged] in looting", in compliance with Nteziryayo's instructions; the population was not otherwise involved in the massacres. The witness saw bandits looting and killing. He identified some of the "bandits" who went through his compound and attacked him, and all belonged to the Twa ethnic group. The witness' two cousins were killed three days after the meeting presided over by Ndayambaje, when houses supposedly hiding Tutsis were searched. The same searched. The witness supposedly hiding Tutsis were searched.
- 4385. Witness TO identified Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje in court. Witness TO knew Ndayambaje from the first time Ndayambaje was *bourgmestre*. Witness TO testified that he was jailed for tax evasion in Muganza *commune* during Ndayambaje's first term as *bourgmestre* prior to March 1994.

¹¹⁸²⁸ T. 5 March 2002 pp. 30-31, 33-34 (Witness TO); Defence Exhibit 13 (Nteziryayo) (8 October 1995 and 11 June 1997, Statements of Witness TO).

¹¹⁸²⁹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 25-26 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 12-13 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³¹ T. 6 March 2002 p. 22 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³² T. 4 March 2002 p. 30; T. 6 March 2002 p. 22 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³³ T. 5 March 2002 p. 50; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 23-24 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁴ T. 4 March 2002 p. 30; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 25-26 (Witness TO). Witness TO understood "*Inkotanyi*" to refer to the Tutsis who had been driven away out of the country, and that they were considered as enemies. T. 6 March 2002 pp. 15-16 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁵ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 26-27, 31 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁶ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 26-27; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 46, 60-61 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁷ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 46-47, 49 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁸ T. 4 March 2002 p. 116 (ICS) (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸³⁹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 44-47 (Witness TO).

¹¹⁸⁴⁰ T. 5 March 2002 pp. 77-78 (Witness TO).

Prosecution Witness TP

4386. Witness TP, a Hutu farmer in Muganza commune married to a Tutsi, testified that while she was hiding at her uncle's house, she attended a meeting at the Muganza commune office around 26 or 28 June 1994. 11841 On cross-examination, she stated she was not sure of the date because she was hiding in the bush; the meeting involving the préfet and Ndayambaje may have occurred in early May, and another meeting she referred to in her witness statement called solely by Ndayambaje may have occurred on 28 June 1994. 11842

4387. The witness was informed of the meeting by Numbacumbe, a member of the *cellule* committee, who told her the meeting would deal with land disputes. Land was not discussed at the meeting. Although she had nothing to do with real estate or land problems, she went to the meeting anyway, witnessed the swearing-in of the bourgmestre and the introduction of the préfet and heard their speeches. She later stated that the purpose of the meeting was for Préfet Nteziryayo's installation, that perhaps the new *préfet* had been previously introduced to the whole préfecture and that this meeting was the time for the préfet to be introduced to their secteur or commune. 11843

4388. The meeting took place outside the *commune* office, in the courtyard, and began around 9.00 a.m.; Witness TP was there for the start of the meeting. 11844 She later stated that she arrived at about 9.30 a.m. before the meeting started, and left around 10.00 a.m. or 12.00 p.m., although she could not precisely remember. Several authorities attended the meeting including the préfet, Bourgmestre Ndayambaje, conseillers of the commune and other commune staff. 11846 Members of the population carried clubs, axes, hoes or machetes. No special demonstration was held before the start of the meeting. 11847

4389. Dignitaries were seated around the table at the front; the dignitaries did not have to use megaphones because the participants were not very many, as the majority of Remera's inhabitants were Tutsis and had almost all been exterminated. There were four dignitaries seated at the head table: Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo and two others she did not recognise. She was unsure whether Chrysologue Bimenyimana was present. Witness TP sat approximately 12 metres from the dignitaries. 11848

4390. Witness TP saw Ndayambaje take the floor and speak for a few minutes. Ndayambaje wore a sash that represented the flag of Rwanda, which he always wore when he chaired a meeting. 11849 Ndavambaje first thanked the population for the work it had been doing. The witness understood that he was thanking Hutus for killing Tutsis. Ndayambaje told the population to continue its work, but to spare the young girls who were with their mothers; boys

T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP); T. 11 February 2004 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness TP); Prosecution Exhibit 77 (Personal Particulars).

¹¹⁸⁴² T. 12 February 2004 p. 33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴³ T. 12 February 2004 pp. 38, 40, 43 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁴ T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁵ T. 12 February 2004 p. 39 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁶ T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁷ T. 12 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁸ T. 12 February 2004 pp. 39, 41, 43 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁴⁹ T. 12 February 2004 p. 40 (Witness TP).

and men were to be killed. Ndayambaje then introduced Nteziryayo as the recently appointed *préfet* of Butare. The witness did not know what had happened to the former *préfet*. 11850

- 4391. After his introduction, Nteziryayo took the floor. He first thanked the population for what it had done, but said it should not relax because there was a lot yet to be done. Nteziryayo also said, "[w]hen you want to kill a snake you even dig a hole in which the snake was. You also destroy the snake's eggs." The witness understood that Nteziryayo was encouraging the killing of surviving children. Nteziryayo also added: "When you sweep the house, you sweep from all the corners and you take out the dirt. If you ever keep the dirt inside the house, it may add fire, and imagine what it would look like to have fire in your house." 11853
- 4392. Nteziryayo did not discuss security issues; at the time of the meeting, the RPF had not yet arrived in the area. In his speech, Nteziryayo did not pronounce the words "Tutsi" or "*Inkotanyi*". 11854
- 4393. Witness TP saw no other person take the floor. Witness TP left after Nteziryayo's words but the meeting carried on. Later she heard that after she left people asked whether the children could be spared and Ndayambaje answered: "You musn't mention that, because if a child grows, he'll grow with that same ethnic group. Apart from the children you must also kill the women." She did not hear any reference to a parable about rats or fleas, although Hutu villagers also spoke of separating the wheat from the chaff. She did not hear reference to any religious person. 11857
- 4394. After the meeting, members of the population went in search of Tutsis and killed them. People told her to hand over the children. She witnessed the killing of her three-and-a-half-year-old son who was taken the following night and someone helped her bury him. Her brother-in-law's children were also killed on the day Nteziryayo spoke those words. She saw their bodies from about 21 metres. The children of Tutsi neighbours were also taken away and killed. ¹¹⁸⁵⁸
- 4395. Witness TP was not able to identify Nteziryayo in court since it had been a long time and she could not remember his face. She testified that although she did not know Nteziryayo before the events, she saw him pass by in her *commune* every three months or so in a white vehicle and people had told her that he was Nteziryayo, son of Ntagara. 11860
- 4396. In February or March 1994, Ndayambaje left the *commune* to return to his studies and was replaced by Chrysologue; however he came back as *bourgmestre* shortly before the

```
11850 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 26, 32-34; T. 12 February 2004 p. 33 (Witness TP).
11851 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 32-33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).
11852 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).
11853 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28-29, 33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).
11854 T. 12 February 2004 pp. 43-44 (Witness TP).
11855 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28-29. 33; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 40, 44 (Witness TP).
11856 T. 12 February 2004 pp. 28-29. 33; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 40, 44 (Witness TP).
11857 T. 12 February 2004 pp. 44-45 (Witness TP).
11858 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28-32 (Witness TP).
11859 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 35 (Witness TP).
11860 T. 11 February 2004 pp. 26-28; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 26-27 (Witness TP).
```

beginning of the war. 11861 Witness TP had seen Ndayambaje on several occasions. However, she was unable to identify Ndayambaje in court. 11862

Prosecution Witness FAU

4397. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer and detainee, ¹¹⁸⁶³ stated that the day after the killings at Kabuye Hill, on a Sunday, he met his neighbour, an 18-year-old Tutsi girl called Nambaje and a five-year-old girl, who had survived the Kabuye killings. He met them in Kivumo *secteur*, brought them to his grandfather's house, and then to his home to spend the night. ¹¹⁸⁶⁴ He had passed by Nambaje's parents' home, which had been destroyed, and they asked him for help. ¹¹⁸⁶⁵ Witness FAU kept Nambaje and the five-year-old girl at his house for just over one month, perhaps from April until the end of the month of May or early June, when assailants came to take Nambaje away and kill her. ¹¹⁸⁶⁶

4398. When the assailants came to the witness' house, the leader of the three assailants, Casien Ngona, told the witness that there had been a meeting at which Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had said, "when you clean a house, you do not keep the dirt inside the house, but you take it outside of the house and if anyone is protecting a girl, he or she must hand her over to the assailants; otherwise, he will be killed by the assailants". The assailants said if a person hiding a Tutsi refused to hand that Tutsi over to the killers, that person would also be killed because the people hiding Tutsis in their homes were going to cause subsequent problems. 11868

4399. Witness FAU did not take part in the meeting which Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje attended; those who participated in that meeting, namely the *conseiller* and other persons who were leading attacks all over, had attended and returned from that meeting and spoke about it. The *conseillers de secteur* had informed the leaders and members of the *cellule* that there would be a meeting at the *commune* office but Witness FAU did not take part in that meeting because he was protecting Nambaje and the five-year-old child, and he wanted to avoid them being taken away. All the inhabitants of the *secteur*, including the *conseillers*, were aware that he was hiding Nambaje. 11870

4400. The meeting about which Witness FAU testified when Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje took the floor was for the purpose of swearing in Ndayambaje. Those who returned from

¹¹⁸⁶¹ T. 11 February 2004 p. 36; T. 12 February 2004 pp. 78-79 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁶² T. 11 February 2004 pp. 36-38 (Witness TP).

¹¹⁸⁶³ Prosecution Exhibit 85 (Personal Particulars).

¹¹⁸⁶⁴ T. 4 March 2004 p. 74; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 28-29 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁶⁵ T. 10 March 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁶⁶ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁶⁷ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80, 90; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁶⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁶⁹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷⁰ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷¹ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

the meeting said that it was said at the meeting that the dirt should be swept and be thrown out of the house and that Ndayambaje was sworn in during the meeting. 11872

- 4401. The meeting ended between 5.00 and 6.00 p.m. and the three assailants then came to his house. The three assailants, Cassien Ngona, Nyambindi and Rutabana, were accompanied by a crowd who remained outside his house. The crowd said that they were just told that when a house is swept dirt is thrown outside, and that it was, therefore, necessary to look for anyone hiding and the people started saying that someone was hiding in his house. The three assailants took the Tutsi girls the witness was hiding and killed them in the home of another Tutsi called Kinyagiro. The three assailants took the Tutsi girls the witness was hiding and killed them in the home of another Tutsi called Kinyagiro.
- 4402. After this meeting held by Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje at the *commune* office killings started; on that day and in the following days, "whenever an individual was located somewhere, that person was taken out and killed". 11875
- 4403. When it was put to the witness that his statement of October 1999 said the meeting took place before the killings at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill, the witness clarified that the meeting actually took place after the events of Mugombwa and Kabuye. 11876
- 4404. When it was put to Witness FAU that his statement of February 2001 outlined the content of Ndayambaje's and Nteziryayo's speeches and said "I was very close to him [Nteziryayo] and heard what he was saying", Witness FAU stated he knew Nteziryayo's words because those returning from the meeting told him so; he would ask the assailants, "[d]id you hear those words?" and they would tell him, "[y]es, we heard that". 11877
- 4405. Witness FAU attended *Gacaca* meetings during his detention at which almost everyone talked about this meeting and the words pronounced there were often repeated among the detainees. When it was put to Witness FAU that he could recount what had happened at the swearing-in because its events were so often discussed in detention, Witness FAU testified that he was not merely repeating what was said at *Gacaca*; he first said these words when he made his confession, whereas the *Gacaca* meetings started only a few months prior to Witness FAU giving his testimony such that there was no connection between the two events. While he could not recall when he made his confession, he testified *Gacaca* began four years after he made his confession. 11878

¹¹⁸⁷² T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷³ T. 9 March 2004 pp. 21-22 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 p. 27 (HC) (Witness FAU) (French) (for the spelling of the assailants' names).

¹¹⁸⁷⁴ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 75, 77; T. 10 March 2004 p. 5 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷⁵ T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷⁶ T. 10 March 2004 pp. 26-27 (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 192 (Ndayambaje) (9 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷⁷ T. 9 March 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 195 (Ndayambaje) (22 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁷⁸ T. 9 March 2004 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness FAU); *see also* Defence Exhibit 193 (Ndayambaje) (29 December 1999, Confession of Witness FAU to Rwandan Authorities).

4406. Witness FAU admitted that he sexually abused Nambaje during the period he hid her, and took her as his wife. He thought that if he took her as his wife, she would not be harmed 11879

4407. Witness FAU knew Ndayambaje, but not Nteziryayo. Although Witness FAU did not personally know Nteziryayo, he heard Nteziryayo was a *préfet* and chaired the ceremony in which the *bourgmestre* was sworn in. The witness stated that Nteziryayo held the meeting, but he did not attend. When confronted with his statement to the Rwandan Prosecutor that said he saw Nteziryayo at a meeting in his *commune*, Witness FAU stated his statement must have been taken down mistakenly because while he talked about that meeting, he did not attend it. Witness FAU was not asked to identify Nteziryayo in court.

4408. Witness FAU identified Ndayambaje in court. Throughout his testimony the witness referred to Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. The witness saw Ndayambaje three times: the first time at a meeting convened by *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue at Mugombwa; the second time when they went together to Kibuye; and the last time when he joined the army at a place called "Foyer", in Ngoma, on which occasion, he and Ndayambaje both travelled in the same vehicle. He did not see Ndayambaje again after he arrived at the Foyer. The same vehicle is a same vehicle.

Prosecution Witness QAQ

4409. Witness QAQ, a Tutsi civil servant from Muganza *commune*, ¹¹⁸⁸⁶ testified that he was informed of a meeting scheduled to take place the following morning at the Muganza *commune* office, which both *Préfet* Nteziryayo and the newly reappointed *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, were expected to chair. ¹¹⁸⁸⁷

4410. The witness believed this meeting took place between the end of May and the end of June 1994, but could not be more specific because he was already in hiding at that time. However, after having regard to Nteziryayo's letter of appointment, the witness said it was possible that the meeting was held between 20 and 22 June 1994. The witness was told that Nteziryayo had been appointed *préfet* and Ndayambaje reappointed *bourgmestre* and that they were going to introduce themselves to the inhabitants for the first time during this meeting. He could not say whether it was Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony because he did not listen to the content of all the speeches, nor could he recall all the statements that were

¹¹⁸⁷⁹ T. 8 March 2004 p. 88 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAU).

T. 4 March 2004 p. 76; T. 8 March 2004 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁸¹ T. 9 March 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 193 (Ndayambaje) (29 December 1999, Confession of Witness FAU to Rwandan Authorities).

¹¹⁸⁸² T. 4 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁸³ T. 9 March 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁸⁴ T. 9 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁸⁵ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 77-79; T. 9 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness FAU).

¹¹⁸⁸⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 63 (Personal Particulars).

¹¹⁸⁸⁷ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 38-39, 52 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

¹¹⁸⁸⁸ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness QAQ); Defence Exhibit 5 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo's letter of appointment).

¹¹⁸⁸⁹T. 11 November 2002 pp. 52-54 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

made; in his opinion, the ceremony was intended to introduce the *bourgmestre* to the people. 11890

- 4411. The witness decided to attend the meeting so he could see Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, both of whom he knew well. He did not intend to follow the meeting; he only intended to come out at the end of the meeting. Its 11892
- 4412. He set out for the meeting at about 1.00 a.m. and walked all night in order to get to the *commune* bureau; he hid in a sorghum field close to the bureau such that when the meeting began, he was already in the field close to the *commune* office. More precisely, he hid under some bushes in an anti-erosion ridge. From the road which passes by the *commune* office in the direction of Bishya, the sorghum field was located to the right. The field was adjacent to the road. He was in the ridge while the speeches he heard were being made, approximately 30 metres from the road. He hid in the sorghum field because, as a Tutsi, he could not show himself to the public for fear of being killed. He was approximately 100 metres away from the meeting venue. He was approximately 100 metres away from the meeting venue.
- 4413. The meeting took place in a bush which was downstream from the *commune* office, on the left-hand side of the main road he referred to and behind the IGA building, although the witness was not able to get close enough to see it for himself. There was a small road which separated the witness from the members of the public who were attending the meeting. The meeting started after 10.00 or 11.00 a.m. The meeting ended in the afternoon, maybe around 3.00 p.m. 11901
- 4414. Nteziryayo spoke first, followed by Ndayambaje. The speakers were using a megaphone. Nteziryayo said that the fighting in Nyanza was difficult because the Tutsis were hidden. When asked whether Nteziryayo used the word "Tutsi" rather than "*Inyenzi*", "*Inkontanyi*" or enemy, Witness QAQ said he did not have a clear recollection of the precise word used. Nteziryayo also asked, "when the *Inkotanyi* come, will they be singing in the praises of the Hutu or the Tutsi?" He could not recall everything Nteziryayo said during the meeting because he was more concerned about his own survival. 11904
- 4415. Witness QAQ heard Ndayambaje say, "[t]hat dirt that you are keeping at the entrance to your houses might invade the inside". The witness understood "dirt" to refer to Tutsis. He

```
11890 T. 11 November 2002 p. 83 (Witness QAQ).
11891 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 39-40, 55-56 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11892 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 65, 83 (Witness QAQ).
11893 T. 11 November 2002 p. 60; T. 11 November 2002 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11894 T. 11 November 2002 p. 65 (Witness QAQ).
11895 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 73-76 (Witness QAQ).
11896 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 39, 57 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11897 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 65 (Witness QAQ).
11898 T. 11 November 2002 p. 65 (Witness QAQ).
11899 T. 11 November 2002 p. 81 (Witness QAQ).
11890 T. 11 November 2002 p. 62 (Witness QAQ).
11900 T. 11 November 2002 p. 66 (Witness QAQ).
11901 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 40-41 (ICS); T. 11 November 2002 pp. 62-65 (Witness QAQ).
11902 T. 11 November 2002 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11903 T. 11 November 2002 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11904 T. 11 November 2002 p. 64 (Witness QAQ).
```

was frightened to hear these words, and they led him to believe what he had been previously told about Ndayambaje. Hearing these words made the witness change his opinion about Ndayambaje. Upon hearing those words, the witness moved further away from the meeting still using the ridges that he referred to. 11906

- 4416. A megaphone was being used at the meeting and the master of ceremonies mentioned Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje, which is how the witness knew that they were present. While he could not see the VIPs addressing the meeting, he could hear Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo from where he was located. He could not identify Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo by their voices because their voices were modified by the megaphone; he could identify them because their names were mentioned before they addressed the meeting. The witness agreed that part of the speeches he heard were often incomplete or unclear; there were statements he could not hear and he only paid attention when the names of the persons that he was able to identify were mentioned. He was able to identify were mentioned.
- 4417. Witness QAQ could not say how long Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje spoke, or what else they said, but testified that he remembered the parts of the speech that concerned him. 11909
- 4418. According to Witness QAQ, Nteziryayo had not previously made racist statements, and the witness was surprised to hear Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje make those statements at the meeting. 11910
- 4419. The day after the meeting, towns-people in Mbaziro killed young Tutsi women who had been hiding or forced into marriage, and it was these women they were referring to when they spoke of "dirt". The witness personally saw the killings because they took place in the courtyard of the building in which he was hiding, which was his place of work. 11911
- 4420. Witness QAQ knew Ndayambaje from when the Accused was in his sixth year of primary school. Until the events of 1994, the witness was friends with Ndayambaje and they regularly visited each other's homes. Witness QAQ knew Nteziryayo since before 1966; they were friends and had common friends who were both Tutsis and Hutus. He identified Nteziryayo in court. He identified Nteziryayo in court.

Prosecution Witness QAL

4421. Witness QAL, a female Hutu farmer married to a Tutsi, testified that she attended a meeting in the woods below the *commune* office in Remera at around 10.00 a.m. ¹¹⁹¹⁵ The

```
11905 T. 11 November 2002 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11906 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 61, 65 (Witness QAQ).
11907 T. 11 November 2002 p. 40 (ICS); T. 11 November 2002 pp. 61-63, 84 (Witness QAQ).
11908 T. 11 November 2002 p. 84 (Witness QAQ).
11909 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 85-86, 89 (Witness QAQ).
11910 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 67 (Witness QAQ).
11911 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 42-44 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11912 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 46 (ICS); T. 12 November 2002 p. 28 (Witness QAQ).
11913 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 69-70 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11914 T. 11 November 2002 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
```

¹¹⁹¹⁵ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10, 18; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 40-41, 50 (ICS) (Witness QAL); Prosecution Exhibit 81 (Personal Particulars).

witness subsequently stated she did not arrive at 10.00 a.m. She arrived late, after the meeting had already commenced. The meeting was scheduled to start at 10.00 a.m. Ndayambaje was ending his speech when the witness arrived. Inhabitants from three *secteurs*, Remera, Kivomo and Kyumba, were present; she estimated 200 people attended, of which none were Tutsis, as the Tutsis had been killed, and some attendees were armed with traditional weapons. The field where the meeting was held was on the left of the *commune* office when you face the office, below the road that goes to Mugombwa. 11917

- 4422. Witness QAL did not remember the date of the meeting, but recalled it was held shortly before the RPF invasion of Muganza that occurred at the end of June or beginning of July. The witness could not recall for how long Nteziryayo had been *préfet* at the time of the meeting. The witness was unsure but thought that Bimenyimana was replaced by Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* in April 1994. Ndayambaje was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* at the time of the meeting. She thought that Ndayambaje may have been appointed *bourgmestre* the previous day. She later stated that she was unsure of how long Ndayambaje had been *bourgmestre* before the meeting. 11923
- 4423. Members of the *cellule* committee had announced that meeting. They were not told the purpose of the meeting, but they were told that everyone had to arm themselves with a club, a stake and other weapons. 11925
- 4424. The dignitaries, including Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, sat in chairs, with tables in front of them, facing the population which was sitting on the lawn. The witness did not see Chrysologue Bimenyimana at the meeting. 11926
- 4425. The witness went with three other people. The witness did not see the speakers use megaphones or other equipment at the meeting. When she arrived at the meeting, Ndayambaje was ending his speech. Ndayambaje addressed the population stating: "You have understood what I told you and now it is Alphonse who is going to take the floor. All that I've told you, all that I'm saying is the enemy is the Tutsi, you should therefore identify it, seek it out and separate the wheat from the chaff. The white man here, don't worry about him because he is one of us." 11930

```
11916 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 18, 37; T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11917 T. 25 February 2004 p. 11; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).
11918 T. 25 February 2004 p. 13; T. 25 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11919 T. 25 February 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAL).
11920 T. 25 February 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11921 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11922 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 20-21 (Witness QAL).
11923 T. 25 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11924 T. 25 February 2004 p. 10 (Witness QAL).
11925 T. 25 February 2004 p. 20 (Witness QAL).
11926 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness QAL).
11927 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 17-18 (Witness QAL).
11928 T. 25 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11929 T. 25 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness QAL).
11929 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10-11, 20; T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11930 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10-11, 20; T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
```

- 4426. Apart from what she heard, the witness was also told that Ndayambaje told the population to clean up and put the dirt out, to the extent that they should be able to find a needle in that heap of dirt. It was a common proverb in Rwanda and Witness QAL understood it to mean that good and bad people should be separated and people who were undesirables should be killed. The witness was told by a friend what Ndayambaje had said after she arrived at the meeting and Ndayambaje finished his speech. 1933
- 4427. Nteziryayo took the floor after Ndayambaje. Since there was no interval between Ndayambaje's speech and Nteziryayo's speech, she listened to both her friend and Nteziryayo simultaneously. Nteziryayo greeted the people and asked if they had carried out the instructions given to them; people answered that they had. Nteziryayo asked those who brought spears to raise their hands and told them to sharpen them so that when they were hurled at the enemy, they would be streaked with blood. Nteziryayo also asked those who had clubs to raise their hands and told them they should embed nails on their clubs; he further asked those who had machetes to raise their hands. Nteziryayo asked people who had married Tutsis and had children to kill all Tutsis as he did not want any Tutsis around anymore. ¹¹⁹³⁴
- 4428. Ndayambaje spoke for about 15 minutes. Ndayambaje was wearing a suit and wearing a ribbon with the national colours. Nteziryayo spoke for about 30 minutes. He was dressed in military uniform. 11935
- 4429. Witness QAL did not hear either Nteziryayo or Ndayambaje speak about the RPF arriving, nor use the words "*Inkotanyi*" or "*Ibyitso*"; they rather spoke about Tutsis. Nteziryayo did not invite the people present to fight the *Inkotanyi*, nor did he tell them what to do in the event of an attack. Nteziryayo spoke in clear language, and did not recount fables or parables, nor speak of serpents, rats or lice. No one asked questions. ¹¹⁹³⁶
- 4430. A man called Célestin also spoke; he supplemented what the other two had said by saying that they had forgotten to tell people to also kill babies. Célestin spoke last. A white man was also present at the meeting. The witness did not know him. The white man wore ordinary clothes and did not have much hair and no glasses. The white man did not take the floor but he did stand up, greet the population with a gesture of his hands and sit down.
- 4431. Witness QAL left at the end of the meeting, at about 1.00 p.m. After the meeting, the population started searching for Tutsis. The same day as the meeting, people came to her home and took her five-year-old daughter and took her to Muganza. There, the witness' brother paid 15,000 Rwandan Francs to those who had abducted her daughter and she was

```
11931 T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL).
11932 T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11933 T. 25 February 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11934 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 11-12, 19-20; T. 25 February 2004 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11935 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 17, 20 (Witness QAL).
11936 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness QAL).
11937 T. 25 February 2004 p. 17; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 20-21, 23 (French) (Witness QAL) (for spelling of "Célestin").
11938 T. 25 February 2004 p. 20 (Witness QAL).
11939 T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL).
11940 T. 25 February 2004 pp. 43-45 (ICS) (Witness QAL).
11941 T. 25 February 2004 p. 18 (Witness QAL).
```

released, although the other children were taken away. The following day, the witness' husband, who was Tutsi, was killed. 11942

4432. Witness QAL identified Ndayambaje in court. She knew him even before because she lived not far from him. She remembered having seen him for the first time in 1985 or 1986 when he was introduced to the population as being the *bourgmestre* at the *commune* office. Witness QAL saw Nteziryayo on one occasion in a vehicle in Muganza *secteur*, on another occasion where he spoke at a meeting held in a wood near the Muganza *commune* office and on a third occasion when he was in a vehicle, wearing military dress and looking at people firing at banana trees at Remera. Witness QAL said that she would not be able to recognise Nteziryayo. 11943

4433. Witness QAL returned to her parents' house between April and July 1994. 11944

Prosecution Witness QAR

4434. Witness QAR, a Tutsi, ¹¹⁹⁴⁵ testified that before 6 April 1994 she attended several meetings convened by *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje at the *commune* office at Remera in Muganza *commune*. Those meetings in Muganza *commune* took place both before and after the war. There was approximately one meeting per month. After the death of the President, there were meetings almost every day. ¹¹⁹⁴⁶

4435. In June 1994, Witness QAR attended a meeting at Muganza *commune* which was held behind the courtyard of the *commune* office, in the field which serves as playground in Remera. The meeting started at about 8.30 a.m. and was attended by the population of Muganza *commune*. The witness estimated she arrived at the meeting around 9.00 a.m. When she arrived people were already sitting, although she was unsure if the meeting had already started. A huge segment of the population was present at the meeting because they came to see the new *préfet* who had been appointed. The witness sat on the ground. While she could not see the speakers, she could hear them because they were using a microphone.

4436. In cross-examination, the witness estimated the meeting took place in mid-June, because following that meeting children were taken to be killed, and this occurred on 18 June 1994. The population was informed of the meeting by the local Mugombwa *conseiller*, Viateur Singirankabo. 11951

¹¹⁹⁴² T. 25 February 2004 p. 12; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 23-24 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹¹⁹⁴³ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 13-14, 16; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 27-28 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹¹⁹⁴⁴ T. 25 February 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹¹⁹⁴⁵ T. 15 November 2001 p. 139 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁴⁶ T. 15 November 2001 pp. 139, 141-143; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 69-71 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁴⁷ T. 19 November 2001 p. 55; T. 20 November 2001 p. 77; T. 21 November 2001 p. 78 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁴⁸ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 77-78, 81-82 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁴⁹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 133-134 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁵⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 81-82 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁵¹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 75-76 (Witness QAR).

- 4437. Witness QAR heard people say that the meeting was chaired by the *préfet* of Butare, Nteziryayo. There were two speakers at the meeting, both of whom wore civilian attire, not military uniforms. The *conseiller* of Mugombwa was also present. The witness could not recall seeing any white people, the parish priests or soldiers at the meeting, although *commune* policemen were present. 11954
- 4438. *Préfet* Nteziryayo asked *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje "how far they went with the job or the work." Ndayambaje replied that "they had killed, they had exterminated all the snakes, except the women and the children, because [they] had no ethnicity but all the vipers had been exterminated". In turn, *Préfet* Nteziryayo told *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje, "you have not done anything because when you sweep the house and you put the dirt next to the fireplace, for example, the dirt will accumulate and then the people in the house will have to go". Nteziryayo further told Ndayambaje, "[y]ou have to get the dirt out". 11956
- 4439. After the *préfet* said these things to the *bourgmestre*, the people applauded with much pleasure. After hearing these words from the *préfet*, the witness was frightened and went directly home. Later on she heard those who came out of the meeting saying that they had decided "to sweep out everything". Witness QAR specified that "to sweep out everything" meant "taking care of all those who were still alive", "that is the women and girls that were [previously] spared". These women and children were to be killed. 11957
- 4440. The search for women started the following day, which the witness estimated was 18 June 1994. The witness remembered that date because she was also called to be taken away with the other women, but was lucky to have escaped. 11958
- 4441. Witness QAR testified that a group of attackers came to take the girls that had been spared and took them away to a place called Magasenyi where there were furnaces to kill them. Initially, there was a disagreement among the attackers about what to do with the women and girls, which took place next to the Statue of the Virgin Mary. The leader of the attackers, Masima, asked the others to wait for instructions from the "chief" and said they would do whatever the chief said. When Ndayambaje arrived, the leader of the attackers asked Ndayambaje what they should do with the women and girls. Without descending from his vehicle, Ndayambaje replied "[d]o whatever you want to do". After this was said, the leader of the attackers told the women and girls to stand up and they were taken away to be killed. Witness QAR saw these people take away the eight girls with her own eyes. Contrary to what was stated in the witness' statement to the Belgian authorities in June 1995,

```
11952 T. 19 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR).
11953 T. 19 November 2001 p. 119 (Witness QAR).
11954 T. 21 November 2001 pp. 85-86, 90-91 (Witness QAR).
11955 T. 19 November 2001 p. 56; T. 21 November 2001 p. 93 (Witness QAR).
11956 T. 19 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness QAR).
11957 T. 19 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness QAR).
11958 T. 21 November 2001 p. 96 (Witness QAR).
11959 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 57-58 (Witness QAR).
11960 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60; T. 21 November 2001 p. 97 (Witness QAR).
11961 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60, 97 (Witness QAR).
11962 T. 21 November 2001 p. 100 (Witness QAR).
11963 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60 (Witness QAR).
11964 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60-61; T. 21 November 2001 p. 97 (Witness QAR).
11964 T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60-61; T. 21 November 2001 p. 97 (Witness QAR).
```

the girls were not killed "on the spot" at the Statue of the Virgin Mary. 11965 The girls were taken to a valley between Mugombwa and Chibaye, called Gasenyi, where there were furnaces, and where their bodies were piled because the ditch was full. 11966

- 4442. Although the witness' statement of 14 October 1997 referred to only four girls and a teacher being taken, she explained that eight girls were in fact taken. 11967
- 4443. Witness QAR had known Ndayambaje since they were children and identified Ndayambaje in court. Witness QAR only saw Nteziryayo once, wearing a military uniform at Mugombwa. She later said she saw him again at the Remera *commune* meeting, on which occasion he was in civilian dress, not military uniform. Since Nteziryayo's speech on the latter occasion frightened her such that she returned home, she could not be sure of "this or that person." The witness did not sufficiently know Nteziryayo to be able to identify him in court. 11970

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

4444. In his Report, André Guichaoua wrote that on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, Nteziryayo told the audience to "[k]ill the Tutsis and then go and confess to the priest and God will forgive you". People reacted to these words both locally and nationally and caused people to categorise Nteziryayo as an "ultra genocidaire" alongside Nyiramasuhuko. 11971

4445. The swearing-in ceremonies of Nteziryayo as *préfet* and Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* corresponded to the launching of the last phase of the killings in Butare *préfecture*, which was aimed at "finishing the work". 11972

Prosecution Expert Witness Evariste Ntakirutimana

4446. Evariste Ntakirutimana testified as an expert in the fields of social linguistics, discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics and language planning. Ntakirutimana's Expert Report, tendered as Prosecution Exhibit 158, analyses the use of numerous proverbs and phrases in Rwanda during the events in 1994. 11974

4447. Ntakirutimana testified that the word "enemy" in the context of the 1994 conflict in Rwanda referred to the group who was attacking. "*Inkotanyi*" were the people that attacked Rwanda from abroad in 1994; they were Rwandans who wanted to come back to Rwanda.

_

¹¹⁹⁶⁵ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 111-112 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11 (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR to Belgian Authorities).

¹¹⁹⁶⁶ T. 21 November 2001 p. 101 (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁶⁷ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 104-106 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11 (Ndayambaje) (14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁶⁸ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 102-104, 108-109 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁶⁹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 109 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁷⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 111-112 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

¹¹⁹⁷¹ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 130.

¹¹⁹⁷² Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 130; T. 29 June 2004 p. 62 (Guichaoua).

¹¹⁹⁷³ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 17, 30 (Ntakirutimana).

¹¹⁹⁷⁴ T. 13 September 2004 p. 32 (Ntakirutimana).

"Inyenzi" in many cases equals "Inkotanyi". Neutrally speaking "Inkotanyi" simply meant the attacking group. Ntakirutimana declined to identify "Tutsis" as the enemy, but admitted that, generally speaking, one could deduce that the Hutus were attacked and the Tutsis were the attackers. In his Expert Report, Ntakirutimana reported that in daily Rwandan culture, the "enemy" was understood to be Tutsis, and outlined numerous examples of proverbs referring to "the enemy".

4448. Ntakirutimana testified that "gukora" has several meanings in Kinyarwanda, including to do something bad, to work arduously and thank you. In his Expert Report, Ntakirutimana wrote that "gukora" was synonymous with to work, to kill, to remove, to clean, communal work, umuganda, finish the job, rape and take away. "To work" could be going to destroy someone's house, or to raid and steal from someone. In the context of the 1994 conflict, "to work" meant "to kill". Ntakirutimana testified: "You must work with a weapon, and what you do with the weapon, that's quite clear ... if you do work, you are going to get the Tutsi land." All those who did not wish to work should be set aside. The operation to eliminate the enemy or the snake was a euphemism for "work". 11977

4449. According to Ntakirutimana, proverbs referring to the sweeping outside of dirt were truisms which could be easily understood. In the context of the war, such a proverb should be understood to mean that the people who attacked Rwanda and came from outside needed to be thrown out of the country. References in proverbs to "garbage" and "rubbish" fell into the same semantic field as the word "dirt". 11978

4450. Ntakirutimana explained that references to removing lice convey the image of parasites getting into ones clothing. Since old mothers and fathers in villages pick lice from their clothes, thus eliminating them, one can extrapolate the proverb to mean that one needed to eliminate anything that can disturb one's life or situation. 11979

4451. Proverbs referring to the need to separate good grains from chaff denote the relationship between the attacking group, which is bad, and the group that is attacked, which is considered good. Since weeds always come after the good grain has been planted, the context of good and bad should be understood. Speakers employing such proverbs bridged the communication gap with peasants since such metaphors put the peasant in his daily context; peasants directly understood the need to separate and throw away the bad grain. 11980

Ndayambaje Defence Witness BOZAN

4452. Witness BOZAN, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, 11981 testified that Ndayambaje became *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* again towards the end of June 1994. Around 20 June 1994,

¹¹⁹⁷⁵ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 54, 59, 64-66 (Ntakirutimana).

¹¹⁹⁷⁶ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 26-27, 29-30.

¹¹⁹⁷⁷ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 47, 68-69 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) pp. 32, 34.

¹¹⁹⁷⁸ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 51-53 (Ntakirutimana).

¹¹⁹⁷⁹ T. 13 September 2004 p. 70 (Ntakirutimana).

T. 13 September 2004 pp. 61-62 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (*Sociolinguistic Analysis*, by Ntakirutimana) p. 22.

¹¹⁹⁸¹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

a meeting was convened at the Remera *commune* office to introduce Ndayambaje as the new *bourgmestre*. According to the *conseiller*, the meeting would start at 2.00 p.m. The witness left his house to attend the meeting at 1.30 p.m. and got there between 2.00 and 2.30 p.m. ¹¹⁹⁸²

- 4453. Witness BOZAN went straight to the *commune* office where he saw two or three vehicles arrive on Wednesday 22 June 1994. However, the policeman who was guarding the *commune* office told the witness and others to move to a wooded area nearby, at approximately 30 or 40 metres from the *commune* office, where the meeting was supposed to take place. Aboard the three vehicles were Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje, a lady MP, *Sous-préfet* Dominique and other people that the witness did not know. 11983
- 4454. Witness BOZAN testified that he sat down amid the population present and a few moments later Nteziryayo, Bimenyimana and Ndayambaje arrived. The population was scattered and the officials were seated on chairs in front of the table. The meeting began a few minutes after 3.00 p.m. A megaphone was used during the meeting, although it did not work well. There were 500 people in attendance and the witness was sitting on a bench close to the officials. The witness recognised Bimenyimana, Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo, a female member of Parliament and a *sous-préfet* among the officials. The witness testified that Kalimanzira, Nyiramasuhuko and Colonel Muvunyi were not present at that meeting. 11985
- 4455. A man named Célestin opened the meeting, followed by Bimenyimana. Bimenyimana welcomed and introduced the officials and said that the reason for the meeting was the introduction of the new *bourgmestre*. Thereafter, Bimenyimana wished good luck to his successor Ndayambaje before giving the floor to Nteziryayo. Bimenyimana spoke for about five minutes. 11986 Bimenyimana did not introduce Brother Stan. 11987
- 4456. After Bimenyimana, *Préfet* Nteziryayo spoke. He thanked the outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana, and the public for their presence. Nteziryayo then asked the incoming *bourgmestre* to ensure security and to strengthen the level of security. Nteziryayo asked the public not to pick up objects that they found lying around since they could be bullets. Nteziryayo also thanked Brother Stan for having stood by the Muganza *commune* at a time when the other expatriates had left. Brother Stan was sitting among the dignitaries who were present. ¹¹⁹⁸⁸
- 4457. At the end of his speech, Nteziryayo led Ndayambaje in the solemn oath of office. Ndayambaje stood up, raised his right hand and held onto the flag with his other hand as he took the oath. After that, Nteziryayo adorned him with a sash bearing the national colours and

¹¹⁹⁸² T. 16 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁸³ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 24-25; 17 September 2008 pp. 55, 58 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁸⁴ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 26, 28; T. 17 September 2008 p. 60 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁸⁵ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 29, 33-34 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁸⁶ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 32, 35; 16 September 2008 pp 36, 42 (Witness BOZAN) (French) (for spelling of "Célestin").

¹¹⁹⁸⁷ T. 17 September 2008 p. 63 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁸⁸ T. 16 September 2008 p. 35; T. 17 September 2008 pp. 60-61, 64 (Witness BOZAN).

the public broke into applause. Ndayambaje was standing below the podium. Nteziryayo took the floor once, for about 30 minutes. 11989

Witness BOZAN knew that Nteziryayo was a soldier but it was only during Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony after the introduction by Bimenyimana that he was aware that Nteziryayo was the new *préfet*. During the ceremony, Nteziryayo wore a military uniform. The witness stated that he was five metres away from Nteziryayo on that day. The witness testified that there was no sorghum farm or sitariva plants close to the venue where the swearing-in ceremony was held. The witness did not hear Nteziryayo speak about getting rid of the *Invenzi* or Tutsis. Nteziryayo did not tell the participants to go and kill Tutsis and thereafter confess to God, 11990 as mentioned in Guichaoua's Report. The witness testified that Nteziryayo did not put the following question to the attendees, "When Inkotanyi come, will they be singing praises of the Hutus or of the Tutsis?" The witness heard no inciting words from Nteziryayo on this occasion. 11992

4459. After his swearing-in, Ndayambaje went up on the podium and made a speech for about 20 minutes. Ndayambaje first thanked the new *préfet* who was giving him the floor, the outgoing bourgmestre and the public that attended the meeting. Ndayambaje asked the public not to harm or attack other members of the public and called upon the plunderers to surrender all the property they had looted. Ndayambaje asked everyone to return to his or her daily activities, and called upon all those who had participated in the killings to be arrested and punished. 11993

4460. After Ndayambaje's speech, Célestin took the floor again and announced the end of the swearing-in ceremony. The public then returned to their homes. Bimenyimana was still there; he was present from the beginning until the end of the meeting, contrary to Prosecution Witness RV's testimony. On cross-examination, the witness testified that he knew Bimenyimana was still there at the end of the meeting because it was he and not Célestin who opened the meeting, and then thanked the population for attending. At the end of the meeting, Bimenyimana was sitting among the dignitaries who were present. 11995

4461. None of the speakers used proverbs or incited people to flush out Tutsis. The witness disagreed that Célestin took the floor and told Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje that they had forgotten to ask the population not to spare women and children in their respective speeches. 11996

4462. Members of the population did not carry anything during the meeting nor did the witness. There was no shooting in the air during the meeting. 11997 The witness did not notice

¹¹⁹⁸⁹ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 35-36, 49 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁰ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 50-53 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹¹ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 130.

¹¹⁹⁹² T. 16 September 2008 pp. 53-54 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹³ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 36-37 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁴ T. 16 September 2008 p. 37 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁵ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 62-64 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁶ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 37-39 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁷ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 30-32 (Witness BOZAN).

any dissatisfaction from the population following the replacement of Bimenyimana with Ndayambaje during the meeting. 11998

- 4463. Witness BOZAN knew Augustin Sebukeye who, according to Witness BOZAN, was at least 65 years old in June 1994. The witness testified that Sebukeye did not attend the meeting and none of the speakers made reference to him during their respective speeches. 11999
- 4464. The meeting ended between 4.00 and 5.30 p.m. After the meeting, the security situation was calm, there were no killings even though people were fleeing to Burundi. The witness disagreed with the Prosecution's assertion that another meeting convened by Ndayambaje took place at Remera *commune* office two weeks after his swearing-in. 12000
- 4465. Witness BOZAN disagreed that the abduction and killing of three Tutsi girls by Masima from Jean Mukundirehe's home occurred the day after the swearing-in ceremony in June 1994. According to the witness, this happened in May 1994.

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Constant Julius Goetschalckx a.k.a. Brother Stan

4466. Brother Stan, a Belgian monk of the Catholic priesthood, ¹²⁰⁰² testified that Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony took place in a woodland area near the Muganza *commune* office, just before the football pitch of Muganza, on 22 June 1994. The witness disagreed with Prosecution Witness QAR's testimony that the swearing-in ceremony of Ndayambaje took place on the football pitch of the *commune* office. ¹²⁰⁰³

4467. The meeting was scheduled to start at 2.00 p.m., but since a member of Parliament named Bernadette who was invited was not yet present, it started towards 2.30 p.m. ¹²⁰⁰⁴

4468. The swearing-in ceremony lasted about one and a half hours, until around 4.00 p.m., after which people returned to their homes. Approximately 200 to 300, but no more than 400, people attended the ceremony. No one carried traditional or other weapons except four *commune* policemen with very old guns. Célestin was the master of ceremonies. The outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana, spoke first and introduced Nteziryayo, who had recently been appointed *préfet* of Butare. Nteziryayo spoke briefly, and swore in Ndayambaje as the new *bourgmestre*. Nteziryayo placed the sash bearing the national colours on Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje then took the oath before those in attendance, and was received with applause. Nteziryayo then introduced the witness to the audience; Ndayambaje spoke afterwards. 12005

4469. Brother Stan did not remember any opposition to the swearing-in of Ndayambaje and denied Prosecution evidence that there was any disagreement during the ceremony. 12006

¹¹⁹⁹⁸ T. 16 September 2008 p. 40 (Witness BOZAN).

¹¹⁹⁹⁹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 40 (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁰⁰⁰ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 41-42 (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁰⁰¹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁰⁰² T. 18 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰³ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 50-51 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 51; T. 22 September 2008 p. 25 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰⁵ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 52-54 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰⁶ T. 18 September 2008 p. 54 (Brother Stan).

- 4470. The member of Parliament named Bernadette was the only female guest at the rostrum during Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. No other members of Parliament were present at the meeting of 22 June 1994. The witness never heard that a lady minister called Nyiramasuhuko was present.
- 4471. Brother Stan did not know all the people attending the swearing-in ceremony. He denied that *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje introduced *Préfet* Nteziryayo at the meeting of 22 June 1994 ¹²⁰¹⁰
- 4472. Nteziryayo was dressed in an army uniform camouflaged with spots. The witness denied that Bimenyimana left the meeting to prepare for the reception and only returned at the end of the meeting. 12011
- 4473. Nteziryayo took the floor once during the swearing-in. He denied that Nteziryayo took the floor twice. Brother Stan also denied that Nteziryayo said that he was coming to install Ndayambaje because Bimenyimana had not been sufficiently active. Brother Stan never heard Nteziryayo make statements arousing people to massacre Tutsis as a matter of hatred, particularly targeting women and children. The thrust of Nteziryayo's speech was restoring order and security and supporting the new *bourgmestre*. He denied Prosecution evidence that Nteziryayo said to the population, "get rid of this *Inyenzi*". 12014
- 4474. Brother Stan denied that Nteziryayo substantially congratulated the population for having worked well, and called upon the young Hutus to get rid of young Tutsi girls that they had married and hand them over to the killers. The witness denied that Nteziryayo told Ndayambaje to take the oath saying that he was going to accomplish what had not yet been done. 12015
- 4475. Brother Stan denied that Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo referred to the need to "sweep out the dirt" and to chase out all those persons hidden in their homes and to destroy those homes, or that Nteziryayo referred to the need to kill snakes and "crush its eggs". He also denied that Nteziryayo asked the population whether they had accomplished the mission he had assigned, to which the population allegedly answered, yes. Brother Stan denied that Nteziryayo instructed the population to "go and kill everybody, because he did not want any more Tutsis." He also denied that Nteziryayo made a speech referring to those who had brought spears or clubs or machetes. ¹²⁰¹⁶
- 4476. Brother Stan denied that Nteziryayo said that "[i]n Nyanza the fighting was difficult because the Tutsis had been hidden". He denied that Nteziryayo asked "[w]hen the *Inkotanyi*

¹²⁰⁰⁷ T. 22 September 2008 p. 26 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰⁸ T. 22 September 2008 p. 55 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰⁰⁹ T. 22 September 2008 p. 27 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁰ T. 22 September 2008 pp. 52, 55 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹¹ T. 22 September 2008 p. 57 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹² T. 22 September 2008 p. 57 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹³ T. 22 September 2008 pp. 57-59 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁴ T. 22 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁵ T. 22 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁶ T. 22 September 2008 pp. 60-62 (Brother Stan).

show up, will they be singing the praise of Hutus or the praise of Tutsis?" He also denied that Nteziryayo criticised the outgoing *bourgmestre* Bimenyimana and the population. 12017

- 4477. Brother Stan denied that members of the population were carrying out artillery exercises on the football pitch of Muganza *commune*. He denied that Nteziryayo made statements inciting the population to hunt and massacre Tutsi children and Tutsi women married to Hutu men, or that Nteziryayo said, "[k]ill the Tutsis and go to confess your sins, you will be absolved". ¹²⁰¹⁸
- 4478. Brother Stan remembered that the salient points in Ndayambaje's speech mainly concerned the restoration of order within the *commune* because it was a situation of chaos. The main points were the return to order, the influx of refugees from the neighbouring *communes* and the need to ensure security and hospitality. Ndayambaje also called on people to return looted property from schools and the PAMU (*Projet Agricole de Muganza*) project. There was also mention of the *Zone Turquoise* and the arrival of the French. ¹²⁰¹⁹
- 4479. Ndayambaje did not call on people to indulge in acts of violence, and there was no language that the witness could refer to as "indirect"; instead, "direct language" was used, calling on the population to return to normalcy and order in the *commune*. Brother Stan did not hear Ndayambaje use a parable referring to cleaning "filth", or the need to separate "good grains from the chaff". ¹²⁰²⁰
- 4480. Brother Stan denied Ndayambaje said that "[y]ou keep on hiding those Tutsi women and those children. Those are the same people who will attract danger to you." He also denied that, in response to an utterance by Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje said, "they had annihilated all the serpents except the women and children because women and children do not have any ethnicity, but that all the serpents had been annihilated". 12021
- 4481. Brother Stan denied that Ndayambaje thanked the population for the work done, referring to killings, saying that the Hutus had killed the Tutsis. Brother Stan further denied that Ndayambaje told the population to continue their work, but that they should spare the children who were with their mothers or that the population should not become weary or tired, but continue the work with the same intensity. 12022
- 4482. Brother Stan further denied that, during the swearing-in the speakers said that the enemy was the Tutsi. The witness also denied that Ndayambaje asked one Sebukeye to destroy houses. 12023
- 4483. Brother Stan denied that towards the end of the swearing-in, the master of ceremonies told Ndayambaje, "you forgot to mention that babies should also be killed". The witness had

¹²⁰¹⁷ T. 22 September 2008 pp. 62-63 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁸ T. 22 September 2008 pp. 63-64 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰¹⁹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 55 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²⁰ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 56-57 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²¹ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 56-57 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²² T. 18 September 2008 pp. 57-58 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²³ T. 18 September 2008 p. 58 (Brother Stan).

^{1. 16} September 2006 p. 36 (Brother

no recollection of former *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana or any other guest leaving the ceremony before it ended, adding that Bimenyimana was seated with the guests in the front. 12024

4484. Brother Stan denied that there were massacres or any other acts of violence occurring in Muganza *commune* after Ndayambaje's swearing-in, except for groups of thugs stealing from people who were fleeing towards Muganza *commune*. 12025 Brother Stan stated that this issue of "disorder" within the commune was mentioned at the meeting in a bid to put an end to the disorder reigning in the *commune*, but that no direct measures were taken by Ndayambaje after the swearing-in. 12026

4485. When it was put to Brother Stan that his statement of 24 November 1995 said that Ndayambaje talked about "restoring order in the house", Brother Stan testified he could not recall any statement about putting order in the house, but only about "putting order in ... Muganza commune"; insofar as his statement included a reference to "the dust behind the fireplace", Brother Stan stated that the Judge who had taken his statement in other proceedings may have added that expression to his statement. 12027

4486. Brother Stan denied that as a consequence of the various speeches at the swearing-in, those people who had so far survived were killed. 12028

4487. There were no other public meetings in Muganza *commune* in June or July 1994, after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. If there were any other meetings, he would have known as he was located around Muganza commune. 12029

Ndayambaje Defence Witness GABON

4488. Witness GABON, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, ¹²⁰³⁰ testified that Ndayambaje became bourgmestre of Muganza commune towards the end of June 1994. Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony took place near the residence of a certain Kayaku, in a eucalyptus wood located near the *commune* office. 12031

4489. Witness GABON was working that day. The ceremony was chaired by Préfet Nteziryayo. Since the witness was working nearby he could hear people speaking and see what was going on during the ceremony; he was only 50 to 60 metres away from the meeting. 12032 He later stated that there were only 50 paces between the woods and the *commune* office. 12033

4490. No public address system was used on that day so the witness could not hear what was said at the meeting. 12034 About 300 metres separated the football field and the place where the

```
^{12024} T. 18 September 2008 pp. 58-59 (Brother Stan).
```

¹²⁰²⁵ T. 18 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²⁶ T. 23 September 2008 p. 11 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²⁷ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 42-43 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²⁸ T. 18 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰²⁹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁰³⁰ T. 28 August 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³¹ T. 1 September 2008 p. 56 (ICS); T. 3 September 2008 pp. 44, 48 (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³² T. 1 September 2008 pp. 56, 60 (ICS); T. 2 September 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³³ T. 3 September 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³⁴ T. 1 September 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

ceremony was held. 12035 Witness GABON disagreed with the testimony of Siborurema (Defence Witness NAVIC) 12036 that a public address system was used during the meeting. 12037

- 4491. Witness GABON testified there were no sorghum farms located very close to the entry of the *commune* office at the time of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. Further, he stated that the *sitariya* plant was not present in the vicinity of the *commune* office. The ceremony did not take place on a football pitch. Before the swearing-in ceremony, no archery training took place on the football pitch. He did not hear any gunshot before the meeting started. Place of the swearing-in ceremony archery training took place on the football pitch.
- 4492. The meeting was held in the afternoon around 3.00 p.m. Kalimanzira and Nyiramasuhuko did not attend the swearing-in ceremony. Members of the population who attended the meeting were not armed with traditional weapons including clubs and machetes. 12041
- 4493. The swearing-in ceremony ended at 4.00 p.m. After the ceremony, the guests went to the IGA hall of the *commune* and had some refreshments before going home. The outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana, who was present since the beginning of the ceremony, went with the others to take refreshments after the ceremony was over. A teacher called Daniela, together with Célestin Habiyambere, arranged the reception. Witness GABON testified that former *Préfet* Nsabimana also attended the ceremony.
- 4494. At the time of Ndayambaje's swearing-in, the killings had diminished in intensity; during the first week of his tenure, killings had virtually ended and people were fleeing. The witness stated that while he did not refute the fact that Tutsis were abducted at the *commune* office, it was beyond their power or capacity to protect them and although he did his utmost, he could not save them. 12045
- 4495. Witness QAL's husband was abducted and killed towards the end of April, when Bimenyimana was still *bourgmestre*, and therefore this event was far removed from Ndayambaje's swearing-in. Witness GABON did not hear of the abduction or payment of ransom for Witness QAL's daughter. 12046
- 4496. Witness GABON disagreed that any other meeting took place after Ndayambaje's swearing-in, convened by Ndayambaje or anyone else. 12047

¹²⁰³⁵ T. 2 September 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³⁶ T. 26 August 2008 p. 34 (Witness NAVIC) (French).

¹²⁰³⁷ T. 2 September 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³⁸ T. 1 September 2008 pp. 61-62 (ICS); T. 2 September 2008 p. 5 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰³⁹ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴⁰ T. 2 September 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴¹ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 8, 10-12 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴² T. 2 September 2008 pp. 14, 16-17 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴³ T. 3 September 2008 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴⁴ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 21, 45 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴⁵ T. 3 September 2008 pp. 39-40 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴⁶ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 18-20 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²⁰⁴⁷ T. 2 September 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

Ndayambaje Defence Witness KEPIR

4497. Witness KEPIR, a Hutu agronomist with a Tutsi mother, testified that around 18 or 19 June 1994, he learned from Radio Rwanda that Ndayambaje was appointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. The witness then went to Ndayambaje's house to congratulate him. During their discussion, Ndayambaje said he was quite surprised by his appointment. ¹²⁰⁴⁸ *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana informed Witness KEPIR about Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on the day before it took place, 22 June 1994. ¹²⁰⁴⁹

4498. Witness KEPIR attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony; it took place in a wooded area near the entrance of the *commune* office, not behind the IGA building. He did not see any archery exercises, nor did he hear anyone say that an archery exercise took place on the football pitch close to the *commune* office before the ceremony. The witness arrived at the venue at 2.30 p.m., when the ceremony started. A public address system was used during the ceremony. The witness attended the entire meeting. 12051

4499. About 400 to 500 people were in attendance and seated on the lawn while others, including the witness, were seated on the benches that had been provided at the venue. Officials at the meeting included the *préfet*, the incoming *bourgmestre* and the outgoing *bourgmestre*, the *sous-préfet*, a lady member of Parliament, as well as *conseillers*, and the rest of the staff of the *commune*. Callixte Kalimanzira was not present during that meeting. Witness KEPIR disagreed that there was another lady apart from the MP who was introduced to the public on that day, namely Nyiramasuhuko. Colonel Muvunyi did not attend the ceremony. 12053

4500. None of the members of the population who attended the ceremony carried traditional weapons as calm had been restored. Further, no shooting in the air occurred on that day, otherwise nobody would have stayed on the spot. 12054

4501. Célestin Habiyambere opened the floor. He asked the entire populace to stand up to greet the visitors and then announced the opening of the meeting. Thereafter, Habyambere gave the floor to *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue, who thanked the *préfet* for coming to the *commune* and the people for having come to the meeting place. *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue spoke briefly about what he had achieved and deplored the events that had occurred in April 1994, and further stated that the reason of the meeting was to carry out the investiture of the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje. *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue also introduced the invitees who were present, beginning with the *préfet* and a lady female member of Parliament, ¹²⁰⁵⁵

¹²⁰⁴⁸ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 10-12; T. 15 September 2008 p. 50 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁴⁹ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 13, 56 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁰ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 18, 20-23 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵¹ T. 11 September 2008 p. 32 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵² T. 11 September 2008 p. 23; T. 15 September 2008 p. 34 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵³ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 23-25 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁴ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 27-28 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁵ T. 11 September 2008 p. 28 (Witness KEPIR).

introduced as Bernadette Mukarurangwa. ¹²⁰⁵⁶ *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue spoke for between five and 10 minutes. ¹²⁰⁵⁷

- 4502. The floor was then given to the *préfet* who thanked the public for having followed the invitation to the meeting, thanked the outgoing *bourgmestre* and introduced the new *bourgmestre*, asking him to take his oath. The *préfet* called on wrongdoers to stop their activities; he also spoke of the probable arrival of a French army and introduced a Brother who was there. ¹²⁰⁵⁸
- 4503. Nteziryayo then swore in the new *bourgmestre*. The witness saw the new *bourgmestre* Ndayambaje stand up before a table and place his hand on the flag. Ndayambaje raised his right arm and took his oath. Thereafter, Ndayambaje was adorned with a sash with the colours of the flag and sat down, followed by public ovation. Witness KEPIR did not notice Ndayambaje climb on a table during the ceremony. Ndayambaje did not address the public before he was sworn in. 12061
- 4504. The *préfet* took the floor on only one occasion, which lasted between 30 to 45 minutes, until the end of the swearing-in ceremony. The witness did not agree that the *préfet* stated that *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue had not been active enough and that was why he had to be replaced by Ndayambaje. 12062
- 4505. *Préfet* Nteziryayo wore a military uniform. Witness KEPIR did not hear Nteziryayo tell the participants to go and kill Tutsis and thereafter confess to God, as mentioned in Guichaoua's Report. Nteziryayo did not say that the fight was difficult in Nyanza because Tutsis were hiding; nor did he ask the audience "[w]hen *Inkotanyi* come, will they be singing praises of the Hutus or of the Tutsis?" Nteziryayo did not talk about the killings of Tutsis which occurred between April and 22 June 1994 in his speech or say that he was going to punish the perpetrators of those killings.
- 4506. Ndayambaje took the floor after the *préfet*. Ndayambaje urged everyone to return to their activities and to restore peace. Thereafter, Ndayambaje called on those who had looted health centres, schools and churches to return what they had stolen and also thanked the outgoing *bourgmestre* as well as the *préfet*. Ndayambaje's speech lasted between 15 and 20 minutes. Célestin Habiyambere closed the meeting and invited the guests to a reception for a drink. *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue did not leave his seat throughout the whole meeting. ¹²⁰⁶⁸ Witness KEPIR did not remember Nteziryayo speaking about any steps to be taken against

¹²⁰⁵⁶ T. 11 September 2008 p. 41 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁷ T. 11 September 2008 p. 29 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁸ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 30, 71 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁵⁹ T. 15 September 2008 p. 34 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶⁰ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 30-31 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶¹ T. 11 September 2008 p. 65 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶² T. 11 September 2008 pp. 31, 34 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶³ T. 11 September 2008 p. 61 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶⁴ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 66, 68 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 130.

¹²⁰⁶⁶ T. 11 September 2008 p. 68 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶⁷ T. 11 September 2008 p. 72 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁶⁸ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 31-32, 36 (Witness KEPIR).

commune staff who may have perpetrated crimes between April and July 1994 in Muganza commune. 12069

- 4507. None of the speakers, in particular *Préfet* Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje, used proverbs or parables during their respective speeches. Célestin did not take the floor to tell both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje that they had forgotten to ask the population to equally kill women and children in their respective speeches. Witness KEPIR did not notice any expression of dissatisfaction from the population following the replacement of Bimenyimana with Ndayambaje during the meeting. ¹²⁰⁷⁰
- 4508. Witness KEPIR knew Augustin Sebukeye in 1994, but did not see him at the meeting; he further stated that neither Ndayambaje nor *Préfet* Nteziryayo made reference to Sebukeye during their speeches. Witness KEPIR saw Witness GABON at the meeting on 22 June 1994. ¹²⁰⁷¹
- 4509. The swearing-in ceremony was held during the dry season and there was no vegetation, including sorghum or *sitariya*, at the venue. Sorghum had already been harvested at that time. No other meeting convened by Ndayambaje took place at Remera *commune* office two weeks after his swearing-in. ¹²⁰⁷²
- 4510. Witness KEPIR knew Brother Stan in 1994 and saw him for the last time during Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, on 22 June 1994. Witness KEPIR and his family fled Rwanda with the families of Ndayambaje and Bosco, in July 1994. 12073

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Evariste Emmanuel Siborurema (a.k.a NAVIC)

- 4511. Emmanuel Siborurema, a Hutu student in 1994, ¹²⁰⁷⁴ testified that around the last week of June 1994, he attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* at the Muganza *commune* office. ¹²⁰⁷⁵
- 4512. Nteziryayo was in military attire, but Siborurema did not see any soldiers with Nteziryayo. Nteziryayo addressed the population; first Nteziryayo raised the flag for the new *bourgmestre*, then Nteziryayo said that "one should not pick up all and sundry out of the streets because one might pick up mines", and Nteziryayo requested that the population "rely on competent individuals in order to avoid risks of setting off landmines". A microphone shaped like a funnel was used. 12077
- 4513. After the swearing-in ceremony, Siborurema went to a friend's home and informed Witness QAQ that, as Witness QAQ had earlier requested, Siborurema had handed his

¹²⁰⁶⁹ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 76-77 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁷⁰ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 33-35 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁷¹ T. 11 September 2008 pp. 36, 39; T. 11 September 2008 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁷² T. 11 September 2008 pp. 37-39 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁷³ T. 15 September 2008 pp. 48, 52 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²⁰⁷⁴ T. 25 August 2008 p. 8 (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁷⁵ T. 25 August 2008 p. 62 (ICS) (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁷⁶ T. 26 August 2008 p. 24 (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁷⁷ T. 26 August 2008 p. 51 (ICS) (Siborurema).

daughter to Ndayambaje for protection; Witness QAQ was appreciative. Witness QAQ told Siborurema that with Ndayambaje's re-institution, peace was going to be restored. Witness QAQ did not tell Siborurema whether he had personally attended any part of the swearing-in ceremony but it was Siborurema who told Witness QAQ about what had happened at the meeting. Siborurema told Witness QAQ that the authorities had told the population to go about their usual activities in order to face the then prevailing famine and Witness QAQ was pleased. 12078

4514. Siborurema testified it was false that Witness QAQ was in hiding at the Nyabinyenga school centre at the time. Siborurema also disagreed that Witness QAQ followed the meeting from a hiding place close to the woods, because he would have been seen since the woods were regularly pruned. 12080

<u>Ndayambaje</u>

4515. Ndayambaje testified that he was reappointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* on 18 June 1994. He learned of his appointment over the radio, during a Government *communiqué* at the end of a Cabinet meeting that took place the day before, on 17 June 1994. Ndayambaje stated that prior to this radio *communiqué*, he never received any information concerning his eventual reappointment as *bourgmestre*. He accepted the reappointment as his contribution towards the reconstruction of the country, which was witnessing a very critical period. He did not accept because of his ambition to become *préfet* of Butare. ¹²⁰⁸¹

4516. Ndayambaje strongly denied his membership of an alleged quartet comprised of Callixte Kalimanzira, Nyiramasuhuko, Nteziryayo and himself who, according to Guichaoua, 12082 were at the head of political and administrative matters of Butare *préfecture*. He denied that he was reappointed as a reward for his efforts in perpetrating killings and massacres in his area post-April 1994. 12083

4517. He was appointed at the same time as the *préfet*, Nteziryayo, who was replacing Nsabimana. He did not attend Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony as he was not aware of it. Ndayambaje received his official appointment one or two days prior to his swearing-in ceremony, which took place on 22 June 1994, and not in May or early June 1994. 12084

4518. Ndayambaje testified that his swearing-in ceremony took place at Remera close to the Muganza *commune* office. It was held during a market day, on Wednesday. Everything was organised by the outgoing *bourgmestre*, Chrysologue Bimenyimana, who drew up the list of invitees and convened the members of the population to attend the ceremony. Among those present were *Préfet* Nteziryayo, *Sous-préfet* Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, a lady member of

¹²⁰⁷⁸ T. 25 August 2008 pp. 62-63 (ICS); T. 26 August 2008 p. 42 (ICS) (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁷⁹ T. 25 August 2008 p. 64 (ICS) (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁸⁰ T. 25 August 2008 pp. 42-43 (ICS); T. 26 August 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Siborurema).

¹²⁰⁸¹ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 12, 14-15; T. 2 December 2008 p. 4 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸² T. 28 September 2004 p. 6 (Guichaoua).

¹²⁰⁸³ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 16-17 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸⁴ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 18-19; T. 2 December 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje).

Parliament called Bernadette from Ndora *commune*, *conseillers* and staff of the *commune* and the population, ¹²⁰⁸⁵ as well as Nsabimana. ¹²⁰⁸⁶

- 4519. The ceremony took place in the afternoon, in a small woods close to the entrance of the commune office on the right of the road leading to Mugombwa, and not on the football pitch. To his knowledge, it was the first time that any meeting was held at such place; normally meetings took place either on the football pitch, or in another deteriorating wood on the plot of the commune. 12087 Public assemblies or ceremonies would take place on the football pitch during the day when the sun was not too high up; due to the sun, meetings organised later in the day would be held in shady areas, as was the case for the swearing-in meeting. 12088 The ceremony started around 3.00 p.m. and ended at around 4.00 p.m. The master of ceremonies was Célestin Habiyambere. 400 to 500 members of the population were present. 12089 Ndayambaje testified that Bernadette was the only MP who attended his swearing-in ceremony. 12090
- 4520. Contrary to Prosecution Witnesses TO and QAL, Ndayambaje did not notice any military activities or shooting practice before the swearing-in ceremony. 12091 Ndayambaje did not see any people bearing weapons during his swearing-in ceremony. 12092
- 4521. The personalities were seated at the table of honour towards the front of the stage, facing the members of the population. Bourgmestre Chrysologue Bimenyimana was present throughout the swearing-in ceremony and seated at the table of honour. Brother Stan also attended the ceremony and was the only white person who remained in the region during the entire crisis. Brother Stan was introduced to the population and was thanked for having come and for having remained with the population during that difficult period. 12093 Contrary to Prosecution Witness RV's testimony, Nyiramasuhuko was not present at the swearing-in ceremony, and neither were Callixte Kalimanzira nor Colonel Muvunvi. 12094 Ndavambaie denied Prosecution Witness OAL's testimony that the ceremony of 22 June 1994 was not about his swearing-in as bourgmestre because he was appointed in April 1994. 12095
- 4522. Célestin Habiyambere, the master of ceremony, opened the floor and announced to the population the sequence of events. The outgoing *bourgmestre*, Chrysologue Bimenyimana, then took over and thanked the public for having responded to his invitation to the ceremony and reassured his successor of close collaboration in the days ahead. Bimenyimana's speech was brief; thereafter he introduced the officials and the distinguished guests that were present

¹²⁰⁸⁵ T. 10 November 2008 p. 21; T. 2 December 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸⁶ T. 19 November 2008 p. 48 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸⁷ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 22-23, 25-26 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸⁸ T. 2 December 2008 p. 26 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁸⁹ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 31-34 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁰ T. 19 November 2008 p. 73 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹¹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 28-31 (Witness TO); T. 25 February 2004 p. 14 (Witness QAL); T. 10 November 2008 p. 31 (Ndayambaje). ¹²⁰⁹² T. 10 November 2008 p. 35; T. 2 December 2008 p. 8 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹³ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 35-36 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁴ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 37-39 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁵ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 14-15 (Ndayambaje).

at the ceremony. After his speech, Bimenyimana remained with the other personalities at the table of honour until the end of the ceremony. 12096

- 4523. After Bimenyimana, *Préfet* Nteziryayo took the floor. The *préfet* first introduced Ndayambaje before swearing him in. The *préfet* then addressed the population by referring to the problems of security and the situation at the front; he also invited the population to ensure its own security and safety within the locality. *Préfet* Nteziryayo also introduced Brother Stan to the public. 12097
- 4524. Ndayambaje testified that the swearing-in part of the ceremony consisted of holding the national flag and committing oneself to serve the nation and the interest of the Rwandan people. After the oath, the new *bourgmestre* received from the head of the ceremony a scarf or sash bearing the national colours of the flag, and wore it around his waist or belt. Ndayambaje stated that during the swearing-in, he stood on the ground, and not on a chair or table. 12098
- 4525. *Préfet* Nteziryayo did not use proverbs or parables during his address. ¹²⁰⁹⁹ Ndayambaje testified that he knew Augustin Sebukeye who, in 1994, was quite advanced in age. He did not know whether Sebukeye attended his swearing-in ceremony. Ndayambaje did not hear Nteziryayo speak to Sebukeye calling upon him to destroy houses. Contrary to Prosecution Witness QAF's testimony, Nteziryayo did not talk about the need to kill those Tutsi girls or women who were forcefully taken as mistresses by Hutu men or the need to sweep dirt outside. Nteziryayo also did not mention traditional weapons, such as machetes, clubs or spears, or ask people to go kill. ¹²¹⁰⁰
- 4526. *Préfet* Nteziryayo only took the floor once. 12101 It was put to Ndayambaje whether it could be said that Nteziryayo took the floor twice considering Nteziryayo introduced him and read him the oath, after which Ndayambaje carried out the ceremony with the sash and then Nteziryayo spoke again. Ndayambaje stated that the swearing-in part of the installation was only one event and that Nteziryayo could be considered to have taken the floor thereafter. 12102
- 4527. Contrary to Prosecution Witness TO's testimony, Nteziryayo did not castigate the outgoing *bourgmestre* Bimenyimana. On cross-examination, Ndayambaje testified that Nteziryayo wore a military uniform. Nteziryayo did not talk about getting rid of *Inyenzi* in his speech, or about the difficulty of fighting in Nyanza because of Tutsis, nor about the *Inkotanyi's* praise of Tutsis. Nteziryayo did not criticise the population by saying that it had rendered itself of no use in attempting to hide the Tutsis. 12104
- 4528. Ndayambaje testified that after taking his oath administered by Nteziryayo, he took the floor. He thanked the dignitaries present and expressed gratitude to the public and to his

¹²⁰⁹⁶ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 39-40; T. 13 November 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁷ T. 10 November 2008 p. 41; T. 2 December 2008 pp. 9, 11-12 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁸ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 42-43; T. 2 December 2008 p. 9 (Ndayambaje).

¹²⁰⁹⁹ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 7-8; T. 2 December 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁰ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 10-11, 15 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰¹ T. 13 November 2008 p. 19 (ICS); T. 2 December 2008 p. 10 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰² T. 2 December 2008 p. 8 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰³ T. 13 November 2008 p. 17 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁴ T. 19 November 2008 pp. 74-76 (Ndayambaje).

predecessor. He expressed some appreciation, respect and compassion towards the families that were bereaved following the unrest. He castigated the persons who were "perpetrating all the evil" and took the opportunity to urge the population or the public to collaborate in efforts to restore peace and stability, particularly denouncing all those who played a key role in the massacres, and asked them to do all to reconstruct the society that had destroyed itself. 12105

- 4529. When it was put to Ndayambaje that recommendations to be vigilant in the neighbourhood were a message to watch out for infiltrators and a direction to kill Tutsis who may be infiltrators, Ndayambaje stated that no such message to kill Tutsi infiltrators from the RPF was given; the message was solely intended to denounce the advance of the RPF. 12106
- 4530. Ndayambaje asked his *commune* to welcome the displaced persons from neighbouring *communes*, including Ndora, Muyaga and Ntyazo, and made it known that he intended to visit the various parts of the *secteur* to propagate his message of peace and stability, despite the onslaught of the RPF. Ndayambaje did not use proverbs or parables in his messages to the public. To the contrary, it was necessary to have a clear message to bring about peace-building among the public at the time. After he was sworn in, the public cheered. 12107
- 4531. Ndayambaje stated he never defined the enemy as, or deemed the enemy to be the Tutsi. 12108 Nteziryayo did not take the floor again after Ndayambaje. 12109
- 4532. After his speech, the guests went to a small reception organised within the IGA hall, which lasted less than one hour. It was short because the *préfet* was in a hurry. Members of the public were not invited. After the brief reception, in the company of the outgoing *bourgmestre* and the *sous-préfet*, Ndayambaje took possession of the premises and the keys of the building. Ndayambaje denied that, over the hours or the days following the swearing-in ceremony, massacres were carried out by the local population in Muganza *commune*, although he stated there was news of people being chased by the RPF in the northeast of the region. Contrary to Prosecution Witness FAL's testimony, Ndayambaje testified that neither he nor Nteziryayo instructed people to destroy houses in their respective speeches.
- 4533. Ndayambaje stated that two weeks after his swearing-in ceremony, he left the country and thus could not have held another meeting in the weeks after his appointment. 12112
- 4534. Ndayambaje was aware of the abduction of three girls from the house of one Jean Mukundirehe by Masima's group, but stated that this event occurred in May 1994. Contrary to Prosecution Witnesses TO's and RV's testimony, Ndayambaje testified that the bulk of

¹²¹⁰⁵ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 7, 21 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁶ T. 2 December 2008 p. 13 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁷ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 7-10, 14-15, 21-22; T. 2 December 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁸ T. 13 November 2008 p. 14 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹⁰⁹ T. 19 November 2008 p. 71 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹⁰ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 21-24; T. 17 November 2008 p. 4 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹¹ T. 13 November 2008 p. 24 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹² T. 13 November 2008 p. 18; T. 17 November 2008 pp. 7-8 (Ndayambaje).

massacres took place in the month of April 1994 and not following his swearing-in ceremony. 12113

4535. Ndayambaje did not know about the death of either Josepha or Nambaje after his swearing-in ceremony until the current proceedings, ¹²¹¹⁴ or about the abduction of eight girls from Mugombwa *secteur* on 18 June 1994. ¹²¹¹⁵

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-11

4536. Witness AND-11, an accountant, ¹²¹¹⁶ testified that a new *bourgmestre* was appointed at a meeting on 22 June 1994, held in the afternoon or evening, which the witness attended. ¹²¹¹⁷ The meeting was held near the Muganza *commune* office, in a forest close to the office; from the *commune* office in Kibayi, it was "to the right, downhill in a wooded area". ¹²¹¹⁸ The witness attended the meeting in his capacity as an ordinary member of the population. The purpose of the meeting was to install the new *bourgmestre* Ndayambaje and Colonel Nteziryayo, the *préfet* who chaired the meeting, had a message to deliver to the population. ¹²¹¹⁹

4537. About 500 to 600 people attended the meeting. Witness AND-11 went from work to the meeting by motorbike. He arrived around 2.40 or 2.45 p.m. and sat about five paces from where the dignitaries were seated. He could see the following dignitaries at the meeting: Chrysologue, the outgoing *bourgmestre*; Ndayambaje, who had to be sworn in to replace Chrysologue; *Préfet* Nteziryayo; *Sous-préfet* Dominic Ntawukulilyayo of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*; a white brother, Stan; and MP Bernadette Mukarurangwa. He did not see any soldiers present and neither Nyiramasuhuko nor Kalimanzira were present.

4538. When Witness AND-11 arrived, the outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana, was rounding up his message, which consisted of introducing guests and handing over the microphone to the next speaker. He gave the floor to *Préfet* Nteziryayo, who was dressed in his military uniform. ¹²¹²²

4539. Nteziryayo greeted the public, thanked the outgoing *bourgmestre* Chrysologue for having served Muganza *commune*, told the public that he was going to give them a new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, and then performed the swearing-in ceremony. He introduced Ndayambaje to the public, took the national flag in his left hand, raised his right hand and pronounced the oath. Nteziryayo made Ndayambaje wear the tri-colour scarf, which was the insignia for the national authorities. After Nteziryayo put the scarf on the new *bourgmestre*,

¹²¹¹³ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 37, 39-40 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹⁴ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 24-27 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹⁵ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 38-39 (Ndayambaje).

¹²¹¹⁶ T. 31 January 2007 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹¹⁷ T. 1 February 2007 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹¹⁸ T. 1 February 2007 pp. 45-46 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹¹⁹ T. 1 February 2007 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁰ T. 1 February 2007 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²¹ T. 1 February 2007 p. 72 (ICS); T. 5 February 2007 p. 5; T. 6 February 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²² T. 1 February 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

Nteziryayo continued giving the message he had intended for the people of Muganza. ¹²¹²³ Ndayambaje did not climb on top of the table when making the solemn declaration. ¹²¹²⁴

- 4540. Nteziryayo asked the people to continue peace-building and to return looted goods to their rightful owners. Nteziryayo introduced Brother Stan and asked the population to help ensure his security. Nteziryayo said they needed to encourage themselves so that they could ensure their own safety and security. He asked the population to continue with their ordinary activities so that they could continue to develop and enable the *commune* to develop. ¹²¹²⁵
- 4541. Witness AND-11 followed the whole speech because he was sitting close to the podium; he didn't move throughout the time that Nteziryayo was speaking. The witness understood the objective of the speech was to restore peace in the *commune*, to restore goods that had been looted to the rightful owners and to stop looting. The speech also asked people to remain calm and continue with their day-to-day activities because some members of the population had become bandits and were living off the proceeds of their looting activities. 12126
- 4542. After being sworn-in and Nteziryayo's speech, the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, took the floor. He first thanked his predecessor, Chrysologue, and the *préfet*. He spoke to the audience and asked them to work towards consolidating peace, as the *préfet* had requested; he asked the public to continue with their day-to-day activities and stop looting and vagabondry and asked them to support him in order to promote the *commune*'s development. Everything Ndayambaje said was very clear; he did not use any idiomatic expressions or proverbs. The meeting was a security meeting held with a view to restoring peace everywhere in the *commune* and there was no incitement to commit killings in the speeches delivered. 12127
- 4543. Célestin was the last one to take the floor. He told members of the population who were present that there was no question and answer session and told the invitees to go to the IGA room to have a short meeting. The atmosphere was cordial but people started asking questions about the bombings in Bugesera-Mayaga region. The meeting ended at about 4.00 p.m. ¹²¹²⁸
- 4544. At the end of the meeting Witness AND-11 went to greet the authorities because he knew practically all of them. They talked all the way to the IGA hall, the venue of the reception where they had a drink and congratulated one another. 12129
- 4545. There were four speakers in total, namely the outgoing *bourgmestre*, the incoming *bourgmestre*, the *préfet* and the master of ceremonies. ¹²¹³⁰
- 4546. Nteziryayo did not ask Ndayambaje about his progress with "the job" or make any speeches referring to sweeping dirt. There were no consequences following the speeches

¹²¹²³ T. 1 February 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁴ T. 6 February 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁵ T. 1 February 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁶ T. 1 February 2007 pp. 51-52 (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁷ T. 1 February 2007 p. 56 (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹²⁸ T. 1 February 2007 pp. 52, 57; T. 1 February 2007 p. 64 (Witness AND-11) (French).

¹²¹²⁹ T. 1 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁰ T. 1 February 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

delivered in June; there were no further killings in the entire *commune*, only some looting. Ndayambaje also made no references to sweeping dirt or separating good grain from the husks. 12132

- 4547. Those who did not attend that meeting did not suffer any consequences for their non-attendance and were not considered "the enemy". 12133
- 4548. Witness AND-11 did not see anyone carrying any kind of weapon either when he arrived at the venue of the meeting or when he left. 12134
- 4549. The speakers did use a megaphone or some sound equipment so that the public could hear the speeches. 12135
- 4550. Contrary to the evidence of multiple Prosecution witnesses, Witness AND-11 testified that the meeting was held in the afternoon. 12136
- 4551. Witness AND-11 was not aware of the abduction or killings of the 12 individuals the various Prosecution witnesses testified about, namely Nambaje's abduction, the abduction and murder of Josepha, the abduction and money paid for Witness QAL's daughter's life, or the death of Witness QAL's husband. ¹²¹³⁷

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-73

- 4552. Witness AND-73, a Hutu headmaster and former detainee, ¹²¹³⁸ attended a meeting that brought together officials from the *préfecture* at the Muganza *commune* office, on 22 June 1994, and its purpose was to swear in Ndayambaje as the new *bourgmestre*. ¹²¹³⁹ At the time Ndayambaje was appointed *bourgmestre*, no other candidates existed, and there was no election. Ndayambaje was *bourgmestre* until he fled Rwanda in July 1994. ¹²¹⁴⁰
- 4553. The *cellule* officials informed the witness of the meeting, which took place at 2.30 p.m. at the Muganza *commune* office and ended at 4.00 p.m. Prosecution witnesses who testified that the meeting occurred between 8.30 and 11.00 a.m. were not speaking the truth because at that time there was a similar ceremony in the neighbouring *commune* of Ndora. 12141
- 4554. Witness AND-73 arrived at 1.00 p.m. and waited at the *commune* office for the ceremony to begin. The ceremony was conducted in a grove of eucalyptus trees on the road towards Mugombwa Parish, about 50 metres from the IGA building. The ceremony was not

```
<sup>12131</sup> T. 1 February 2007 pp. 62, 64, 72 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).
```

¹²¹³² T. 6 February 2007 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³³ T. 1 February 2007 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁴ T. 1 February 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁵ T. 1 February 2007 p. 74 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁶ T. 6 February 2007 pp. 26-27 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁷ T. 6 February 2007 pp. 43-47 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²¹³⁸ T. 13 February 2007 p. 53; T. 13 February 2007 pp. 62, 64-65 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹³⁹ T. 8 February 2007 p. 35 (ICS); T. 8 February 2007 p. 38; T. 12 February 2007 p. 12; T. 12 February 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁰ T. 13 February 2007 p. 41 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴¹ T. 12 February 2007 pp. 35-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

held at the plantation behind the IGA building, or at the football pitch opposite the *commune* office. The witness was not personally asked to bring weapons to the ceremony, and did not observe that the other people present were armed. He did not see any archery training session taking place near the *commune* office before the beginning of the swearing-in ceremony. 12143

- 4555. Célestin Habiyambere acted as the master of ceremonies, and the various speakers used a public address system. Witness AND-73 was no more than 10 metres from the speakers. Not including the master of ceremonies, three people spoke at the meeting, in the following order: the outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana; then *Préfet* Nteziryayo; and finally the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje, who closed the meeting. The national flag flew over the ceremony and was also placed in front of the table.
- 4556. The outgoing *bourgmestre*'s speech lasted no longer than 10 minutes. After his speech, the outgoing *bourgmestre* did not leave the venue of the meeting; he remained until the meeting's end. 12148
- 4557. Nteziryayo gave a speech and had Ndayambaje take the oath in the middle of the speech. In his speech, Nteziryayo stated that he was a government envoy and it was his job to introduce the new *bourgmestre* to the people. The swearing-in involved the *préfet* asking Ndayambaje to stand up and approach the national flag; Ndayambaje raised his right hand and took the oath, after which Nteziryayo made Ndayambaje wear a scarf made from the colours of the national flag. Ndayambaje did not stand on a table at any point during the ceremony. 12149
- 4558. After administering the oath to Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo spoke to the people about security. He told the people that the French would ensure security in Butare, and that the "Inkotanyi" were not far from the préfecture. Then Nteziryayo introduced a white reverend who lived in the area and said that the man was close to the Rwandans and should be taken in as a friend. Witness AND-73 did not hear Nteziryayo encourage violence against Tutsis; he interpreted the speech as forbidding people from committing such crimes. Nteziryayo did not reproach the outgoing bourgmestre for not having achieved much. Nteziryayo took the floor only once. ¹²¹⁵⁰
- 4559. Ndayambaje asked the members of the population to support him in his new duties, to maintain peace and security and to avoid killings. He asked the people to return looted property to its rightful owner and to resume their activities and contribute to communal agricultural development. Ndayambaje did not say anything inciting or encouraging violence against the Tutsi people. Ndayambaje took the floor only once after he was sworn in. Neither Nteziryayo nor Ndayambaje used proverbs or idiomatic expressions, involving dirt, wheat and

 $^{^{12142}\} T.\ 12\ February\ 2007\ pp.\ 36\text{-}37,\ 43\text{-}44,\ 48\ (ICS);\ T.\ 12\ February\ 2007\ p.\ 47\ (Witness\ AND\text{-}73).$

¹²¹⁴³ T. 12 February 2007 pp. 48-49, 62 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁴ T. 12 February 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁵ T. 12 February 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁶ T. 12 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁷ T. 12 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁸ T. 12 February 2007 p. 67 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁴⁹ T. 12 February 2007 pp. 54-55 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁰ T. 12 February 2007 pp. 55, 57, 60-63, 66 (Witness AND-73).

chaff or serpents and their eggs. Additionally, no one in the audience addressed the speakers or asked questions during the ceremony. 12151

- 4560. Once the ceremony concluded, a reception was held at the IGA complex, which between 400-500 people attended. 12152
- 4561. The witness did not see Nyiramasuhuko at that meeting, but he also did not know her at that time. 12153 Bernadette Mukarangwa was present. 12154 Witness AND-73 knew Kalimanzira well, as the *Directeur du Cabinet*, although he was not present at the ceremony. 12155 The witness did not see Augustin Sebukeye at the ceremony. 12156
- 4562. Witness AND-73 never heard anyone express dissatisfaction regarding Bimenyimana's replacement by Ndayambaje; rather, when the *préfet* introduced the new *bourgmestre* people applauded, which showed they were happy. 12157
- 4563. In the hours and days following Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, Witness AND-73 did not personally see nor was he aware that in Muganza *commune*, women or girls of Tutsi origin were abducted and killed. Witness AND-73 disagreed that Tutsi girls were killed in the courtyard of the school, in front of the headmaster's office. 12158

Nteziryayo

4564. Ntezirvayo testified that on 22 June 1994 he attended the swearing-in of two new bourgmestres for the communes of Ndora (Fidele Uwizeye¹²¹⁵⁹) and Muganza, at which he gave speeches. 12160 By a decision of the President of the Republic, Ndayambaje replaced Chrysologue Bimenyimana in Muganza commune. Ntezirvayo was not involved in the decision to replace the bourgmestres and did not relieve Bimenyimana of his duties as bourgmestre, as Guichaoua alleged. 12161 He did not propose or influence the decision to appoint Ndayambaje as bourgmestre of Muganza commune in June 1994, contrary to Guichaoua's assertions. He also contested having belonged to any group that would influence the appointment of authorities in Butare préfecture in 1994. He stated that there never existed an influential group of four men, to which he belonged in addition to Ndayambaje, Kalimanzira and the *bourgmestre* of Kibayi, as Guichaoua alleged. ¹²¹⁶²

```
<sup>12151</sup> T. 12 February 2007 pp. 55-57, 63-67 (Witness AND-73).
```

¹²¹⁵² T. 12 February 2007 pp. 47-48, 57; T. 13 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵³ T. 8 February 2007 pp. 38-39 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁴ T. 8 February 2007 p. 39 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁵ T. 12 February 2007 p. 52; T. 13 February 2007 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁶ T. 12 February 2007 p. 58 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁷ T. 12 February 2007 p. 58 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁸ T. 13 February 2007 pp. 10-11 (ICS); T. 13 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-73).

¹²¹⁵⁹ T. 11 June 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁶⁰ T. 5 June 2007 p. 6; T. 7 June 2007 pp. 25, 46; T. 11 June 2007 p. 11; T. 25 June 2007 p. 48; T. 28 June 2007 pp. 37-38 (Nteziryayo).

12161 T. 11 June 2007 p. 6; T. 26 June 2007 p. 18 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁶² T. 2 July 2007 pp. 37-39 (Nteziryayo).

- 4565. Nteziryayo did not have any contact with Ndayambaje in 1994 before Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony via telephone, intermediary or otherwise. Nteziryayo did not see Ndayambaje from 1 January until 21 June 1994, the day before Ndayambaje's inauguration. He also did not communicate with Ndayambaje to make preparations for the ceremony before going to Muganza *commune* to install Ndayambaje, since this was the task of the *préfecture* services. In the weeks following 22 June 1994, Nteziryayo did not see or communicate with Ndayambaje again; Nteziryayo next saw Ndayambaje at the detention facility in Arusha, in 1998.
- 4566. Nteziryayo presided over the installation of *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje that took place in a small forest located about 30 metres from the *commune* office building of Muganza, at about 2.30 p.m. to 3.00 p.m. on 22 June 1994. The swearing-in ceremony started about 3.00 p.m. and ended about 5.00 p.m. During the morning of that same day, Nteziryayo was either on his way to Ndora *commune*, to attend a swearing-in ceremony or had at least not yet arrived in Muganza *commune*. The swearing-in ceremony or had at least not yet arrived in Muganza *commune*.
- 4567. Nteziryayo was not accompanied by armed soldiers and had no other escort at the swearing-in ceremony in Muganza. However, *gendarmes* were usually stationed at the Muganza *commune* office and Nteziryayo was also accompanied by Nsabimana, who always had a small escort. 12169
- 4568. The meeting was attended by Ndayambaje, the outgoing *bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana, *Sous-préfet* Dominique Ntawukulilyayo of Gisagara, MP Bernadette Mukarurangwa, ¹²¹⁷⁰ Brother Stan, a Belgian clergyman, and some *conseillers*. Callixte Kalimanzira, Nyiramasuhuko and Laurent Baravuga were not present. ¹²¹⁷¹ The outgoing *bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana was present throughout the meeting; he did not leave in advance as Witness RV alleged. ¹²¹⁷² Nsabimana was also present. ¹²¹⁷³ The outgoing *bourgmestre* introduced Nsabimana to the crowd during the ceremony and Nsabimana greeted people. ¹²¹⁷⁴
- 4569. Nteziryayo testified that he did not see Augustin Sebukeye, whom he knew, at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony and that he and Ndayambaje did not order Sebukeye to destroy houses, as Witness FAL alleged. 12175
- 4570. Nteziryayo was present throughout the meeting. The ceremony commenced with remarks by the outgoing *bourgmestre*, who thanked the population and introduced the new

```
12163 T. 28 June 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).
12164 T. 9 July 2007 pp. 26-27 (Nteziryayo).
12165 T. 28 June 2007 p. 38 (Nteziryayo).
12166 T. 2 July 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).
12167 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 11-12 (Nteziryayo).
12168 T. 28 June 2007 pp. 41-44; T. 28 June 2007 p. 45 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
12169 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 18 (Nteziryayo).
12170 T. 19 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
12171 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 12-13 (Nteziryayo).
12172 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 25 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
12173 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 18-19; T. 19 June 2007 pp. 58; T. 28 June 2007 pp. 39 (Nteziryayo).
12174 T. 28 June 2007 pp. 39 (Nteziryayo).
12175 T. 2 July 2007 pp. 33 (Nteziryayo).
```

préfet to whom he gave the floor. Nteziryayo immediately called on Ndayambaje to take his declaration after which Nteziryayo delivered his speech. 12176 Nteziryayo stated that he spoke only once, not twice, during the meeting. 12177

- 4571. Nteziryayo announced the change of the *bourgmestre* and informed the population about the fighting not far from their *commune*; he encouraged the population to foster peace and to develop the economic situation in the *commune* even during the war. Nteziryayo asked the population to protect the white Belgian, Brother Stan. Nteziryayo said that Brother Stan was a Reverend Brother of the charity order, and was neither a civilian nor a military authority. 12179
- 4572. In his speech, Nteziryayo urged the population to assist everyone in the *commune* who had to endure violence in the past. He talked about the possibility of the *commune* becoming part of the *Zone Turquoise* and exhorted everyone to look out for looters and thieves. ¹²¹⁸⁰
- 4573. Nteziryayo delivered his speech in plain language and did not use proverbs. He did not incite members of the population to exterminate or to kill Tutsis, to carry out acts of violence or to kill children and women, regardless of their ethnic origins. On the contrary, he invited members of the population to uphold peace and refrain from all forms of violence. ¹²¹⁸¹
- 4574. Ndayambaje was the next to speak to the population. Ndayambaje conveyed a message similar to Nteziryayo's, namely to strive for peace, to abandon all forms of violence, to retrieve the property belonging to people in the region that had been looted by wrongdoers, to identify all wrongdoers in order that they may be punished and to assist those members of their *commune* who have endured the hardships of war. He promised to engage in development activities in order to assist members of the population to be self-sufficient and to combat famine. ¹²¹⁸²
- 4575. None of the speakers at the ceremony encouraged the population to use violence against others or incited them to kill and to exterminate the Tutsis. Neither Nteziryayo nor Ndayambaje said anything about not losing strength and continuing to "work". Ndayambaje did not say that girls in the company of their mother should be spared, but the boys and men who were still in hiding should be killed, as Witness TP testified. ¹²¹⁸³
- 4576. Nteziryayo denied having made several statements during his speech. He did not ask whether the population had accomplished the mission he had assigned to them to kill the Tutsis. He did not ask the population to sharpen their spears, to attach the nails firmly to the clubs, or ask if they carried machetes. He did not say, "[t]he fighting was difficult at Nyanza because the Tutsi had been hidden". He did not ask "when the *Inkotanyi* will come, shall they be singing the praises of the Hutus or of the Tutsis". He did not say that they had to choose the

¹²¹⁷⁶ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁷⁷ T. 11 June 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁷⁸ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁷⁹ T. 28 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁰ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸¹ T. 11 June 2007 p. 14 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸² T. 11 June 2007 pp. 13-15 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸³ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 15, 19 (Nteziryayo).

good grains from the bad ones. Neither he nor Ndayambaje stated that rubbish should be taken out of the house instead of kept within a house by the fire. Neither Ndayambaje nor Nteziryayo said, "[y]ou continue to hide the Tutsi women and children. Those are the same people who attract danger to you." He did not say "when a person wants to kill a snake, you even dig the hole in which the snake would be found. Its eggs are also destroyed." Ndayambaje did not say that the enemy was the Tutsi. 12184

- 4577. Nteziryayo denied saying during the swearing-in ceremony that the outgoing *bourgmestre*, Bimenyimana, had not been active in the discharge of his duties, as Witness FAL alleged. Contrary to the testimony of Witness FAL, Nteziryayo did not notice that the attendees displayed their disagreement with Bimenyimana's replacement by Ndayambaje, saying that Bimenyimana was not a poor administrator and that it was not fair for him to be relieved of his duties. 12185
- 4578. The members of the population who attended the ceremony were not armed. No survivors were killed after the swearing-in of Ndayambaje. 12186
- 4579. At the end of the swearing-in ceremony, there was a small reception organised in the IGA building, after which Nteziryayo returned to Butare town. 12187 At the reception, Ndayambaje told him that he had accepted the position of *bourgmestre*, but that at the beginning of the academic year he intended to return to the university to pursue his studies. 12188
- 4580. During or after the speeches, no questions were asked, nor were comments made by the attending population. ¹²¹⁸⁹
- 4581. Contrary to the testimony of Witness FAL, Ndayambaje did not climb onto a table during the swearing-in ceremony. 12190
- 4582. Nteziryayo did not take part in a firing exercise in Muganza at the swearing-in ceremony or at any other time in 1994. He did not take part in bow-and-arrow or gun shooting as preparation to face the "*Inkotanyi*" before the swearing-in ceremony in Muganza. ¹²¹⁹¹
- 4583. Nteziryayo testified that Muganza *commune* office in 1994 looked like many other *commune* offices in Rwanda, because all had been built according to the same plan. He said the building was longer than it was wide. It was located next to other buildings within the premises of the *commune* compound and just at the entrance to the *commune* office was a small building, the *commune* jail. Opposite the office were a flag pole, buildings which served

¹²¹⁸⁴ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 20-23 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁵ T. 28 June 2007 pp. 40-41 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁶ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 15-17 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁷ T. 11 June 2007 p. 27; T. 2 July 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁸ T. 2 July 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁸⁹ T. 28 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁹⁰ T. 28 June 2007 p. 40 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁹¹ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 27-28 (Nteziryayo).

as training centres for members of the public, known as IGA, and other buildings used as workshops. 12192

4584. Outside the *commune* office compound there was a road leading in the direction of Mugombwa Parish, passing in front of the *commune* office compound bypassing the IGA buildings, and taking the direction of the Gisagara parish in Ndora *commune*. At the entrance of the *commune* office compound was a small wooded area, where Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony took place. 12193

4585. In front of the *bourgmestre's* office, towards the west, was a small road that bypassed the *commune* office compound and linked up with the road coming from Mugombwa Parish; and at the exit towards that direction to Gisagara was a playground commonly referred to as a football arena. ¹²¹⁹⁴

Ndayambaje Defence Witness MACHO

4586. Witness MACHO testified that she spent the day of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony in the company of Witness QAL visiting Witness MACHO's godmother. Neither Witness QAL nor Witness MACHO attended the swearing-in of Ndayambaje, contrary to Prosecution Witness QAL's testimony. Witness MACHO disagreed that Witness QAL's husband was killed the day after Ndayambaje was sworn in as *bourgmestre*. 12195

4587. Witness MACHO did not witness the alleged abduction of Witness QAL's daughter, since on the night of the abduction the daughter was still at the godmother's house. On that day, the child stayed with Witness MACHO; his mother picked up the child in the evening. Witness MACHO saw the child again the next day. 12196

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Expert Witness Eugène Shimamungu

4588. Eugène Shimamungu testified that the word "gukora" carries various meanings, the most commonly used and positive of its meanings being: do, work, act and to be occupied with. As a lexicographer, he testified it is necessary to look at the use of the term in the context of a sentence, and in most cases the meaning of a word may mutate. The negative meanings given to the term, which are only ascribed in context, are: to cunningly mislead, to destroy somebody's dwelling, to rob everything, and to leave nothing behind. Other meanings ascribed to the term include to pass a trial or test. ¹²¹⁹⁷

_

¹²¹⁹² T. 28 June 2007 pp. 48-49 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁹³ T. 28 June 2007 pp. 48-49 (Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁹⁴ T. 28 June 2007 p. 49 (Nteziryayo); *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 38 (Video of Muganza *commune* office); Defence Exhibits 553A-G (Ndayambaje) (Photographs extracted from Prosecution Exhibit 38); Defence Exhibit 554 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch of Muganza *commune* office, by Nteziryayo).

¹²¹⁹⁵ T. 2 July 2008 pp. 50-51 (ICS) (Witness MACHO).

¹²¹⁹⁶ T. 2 July 2008 pp. 51-52 (ICS) (Witness MACHO).

¹²¹⁹⁷ T. 16 March 2005 pp. 56-57 (Shimamungu).

3.6.43.4 Deliberations

- 4589. The Chamber notes the Prosecution relied on 10 factual witnesses with respect to the events that transpired at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, namely Witnesses FAG, ¹²¹⁹⁸ FAL, ¹²¹⁹⁹ FAU, ¹²²⁰⁰ QAF, ¹²²⁰¹ QAL, ¹²²⁰² QAQ, ¹²²⁰³ QAR, ¹²²⁰⁴ RV, ¹²²⁰⁵ TO, ¹²²⁰⁶ and TP. ¹²²⁰⁷
- 4590. Prosecution Witnesses FAG, ¹²²⁰⁸ RV, ¹²²⁰⁹ and TO¹²²¹⁰ testified to attending the swearing-in ceremony of Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*, which they respectively stated took place on various dates in June 1994.
- 4591. Prosecution Witnesses FAL, QAF and TP also testified to attending a meeting at Muganza *commune* on or around 22 June 1994, which they respectively described as a "security meeting", ¹²²¹¹ a "public safety meeting", ¹²²¹² and a meeting concerning land disputes. ¹²²¹³
- 4592. Notwithstanding their different descriptions of the meeting in question, the Chamber notes the testimony of Witnesses FAL, QAF and TP showed that during the course of the meeting they allegedly attended, Ndayambaje was reappointed *bourgmestre*. While Witnesses FAL ¹²²¹⁴ and TP ¹²²¹⁵ personally witnessed the installation, Witness QAF arrived late and missed the swearing-in, but was told it took place. ¹²²¹⁶ Apart from discrepancies between the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses as to the precise date of the ceremony, which the Chamber considers minor and moreover, understandable, in light of the time which had passed between the events in question and the time the witnesses testified, the Chamber finds Witnesses FAL, QAF and TP are referring to the same event, namely Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.
- 4593. In addition to claiming they witnessed or knew of the appointment of Ndayambaje at the meeting on that day, Witnesses FAL, QAF and TP are consistent with respect to the timing

```
    Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 359, para. 173; pp. 483-485, paras. 119-123.
    Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 360, para. 175; pp. 485-487, paras. 124-127.
```

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 489-490, paras. 133-134.

¹²²⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 360, para. 176; pp. 487-489, paras. 128-132.

¹²²⁰² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 324-325, paras. 64-66; pp. 359, 361, paras. 172, 178; pp. 481-482, paras. 115-116.

¹²²⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 325-326, para. 67; pp. 466-467, paras. 61-62; pp. 482-483, paras. 117-118.

¹²²⁰⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 360-361, paras. 177; pp. 490-491, paras. 135-136.

¹²²⁰⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 361, para. 178; p. 480, paras. 112-113.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 359, para. 174.

¹²²⁰⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 491-492, paras. 138-139.

¹²²⁰⁸ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG) (held early June 1994).

¹²²⁰⁹ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5-6 (ICS) (Witness RV) (on 21 June 1994).

¹²²¹⁰ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 11-12 (Witness TO) (held in June 1994).

¹²²¹¹ T. 9 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAL).

¹²²¹² T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65, 85; T. 9 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAF).

¹²²¹³ T. 12 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness TP).

¹²²¹⁴ T. 9 February 2004 p. 38; T. 9 February 2004 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness FAL).

¹²²¹⁵ T. 12 February 2004 pp. 38-39 (Witness TP).

¹²²¹⁶ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65-66; T. 6 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (Witness QAF).

of the meeting (which the Prosecution witnesses identify as taking place in the morning), the location of the meeting (largely identified as taking place in the small woods near the Muganza *commune* office), and the officials present at the meeting (largely agreed to be *Préfet* Nteziryayo, incoming *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje, outgoing *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana, and on occasions one Célestin). 12219

4594. The remaining Prosecution Witnesses QAQ, QAL and QAR testified to attending a meeting near the Muganza *commune* office around May or June 1994. 12220

4595. Although Witnesses QAQ, QAL and QAR could not remember the precise date of the meeting, ¹²²²¹ and Witness QAQ did not know whether the meeting was for Ndayambaje's

¹²²¹⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAG) (ceremony started around 10.00 or 11.00 a.m. and lasted until 1.00 p.m.); T. 9 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAL) (meeting started around 10.30 a.m.); T. 9 February 2004 p. 56 (Witness FAL) (meeting ended at about 11.30 a.m.); T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65-66 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 p. 4 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 7, 12 (Witness QAF) (witness arrived in the morning, a little late for the meeting which had already started); T. 18 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV) (held at about 10.00 a.m.); T. 19 February 2004 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness RV) (or 11.00 a.m.); T. 5 March 2002 p. 113 (Witness TO) (started between 10.00 and 11.00 a.m.); T. 5 March 2002 pp. 114-115 (Witness TO) (could not recall precisely when the meeting ended); T. 5 March 2002 p. 117 (Witness TO) (estimated he left the ceremony at around 2.30 p.m.); T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP) (meeting began around 9.00 a.m.); T. 12 February 2004 p. 39 (Witness TP) (she later stated that she arrived at about 9.30 a.m. before the meeting started and left about 10.00 a.m. or 12.00 p.m.).

T. 3 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness FAG) (meeting took place in a clearing in small eucalyptus bush approximately 100 metres from the *commune* office and located below the road leading to the *commune* office in the direction of Mugombwa); T. 9 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAL) (held in a little bush near the Muganza *commune* office); T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65, 85 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness QAF) (held in some eucalyptus woods about 30 metres away from the Muganza *commune* office in Remera *secteur*); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5-6 (ICS) (Witness RV) (in the woods, some 50 yards from the *commune* office); T. 4 March 2002 pp. 12, 30 (Witness TO); T. 5 March 2002 pp. 47, 50 (Witness TO); T. 6 March 2001 p. 7 (Witness TO) (ceremony was held in a small bush close to the *commune* office in Remera *secteur* on the other side of the road that leads to Mugombwa).

T. 3 March 2004 p. 48 (Witness FAG) (witness only remembered three people taking the floor, Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo and the secretary Célestin); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37, 75 (Witness FAL) (in addition to Ndayambaje, Nteziryayo, the witness claimed Tharcisse Muvunyi was present); T. 5 February 2004 p. 66 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 p. 5 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 21-23 (Witness QAF) (witness saw *Préfet* Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje, Bimenyimana, Kalimanzira, and a white priest who lived in Mugombwa); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5-7 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 19 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness RV) (in addition to Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, other officials included Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, the former *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*, Kalimanzira, and the *bourgmestre* of Nyaruhengeri attended the ceremony); T. 4 March 2002 p. 14 (Witness TO); T. 5 March 2002 p. 55 (Witness TO) (the master of ceremonies Célestin Habiyambere, the outgoing *bourgmestre*, *Préfet* Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje); T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP) (several authorities attended including the *préfet*, *bourgmestre* Ndayambaje, *conseillers* of the *commune* and other *commune* staff).

¹²²²⁰ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 38-39, 52 (ICS) (Witness QAQ); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10, 18 (Witness QAL); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness QAL); T. 19 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR); T. 20 November 2001 p. 77 (Witness QAR).

¹²²²¹ T. 11 November 2002 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness QAQ) (meeting took place between the end of May and the end of June 1994, but could not be more specific because witness was already in hiding); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 13, 25, 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QAL) (did not remember the date of the meeting, but recalled it was held shortly before the RPF invasion of Muganza that occurred at the end of June or beginning of July. Ndayambaje was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* at the time of the meeting); T. 21 November 2001 pp. 75-76 (Witness QAR) (meeting took place in mid-June, because following that meeting children were taken to be killed, and this occurred on 18 June 1994).

swearing-in ceremony, ¹²²²² they nevertheless testified to the attendance of *Préfet* Nteziryayo and/or *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje ¹²²²³ for which reason the Chamber considers the meeting about which they testified took place on or after 22 June 1994. The Chamber also notes the testimonies of Witnesses QAQ, QAL and QAR are consistent with the evidence of the other witnesses with respect to the time of the meeting (morning), ¹²²²⁴ and location of the meeting (near the *commune* office). ¹²²²⁵

4596. The Chamber also notes that certain key aspects of the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses QAQ, QAL and QAR accords with the testimony of Prosecution and Defence witnesses alike. For example, Witness QAL testified that Ndayambaje was wearing a suit and wearing a ribbon with the national colours, which is corroborated by the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAG, FAL, RV, TO and TP; Ndayambaje Defence Witnesses BOZAN, Brother Stan and KEPIR; Ndayambaje; and Nteziryayo Defence Witnesses AND-11 and AND-73. Further, Witness QAL testified that a white man was present at the meeting, as did Witnesses BOZAN, Ndayambaje, AND-11 and Nteziryayo. Lastly, Witness QAL's testimony that some of the population was armed is corroborated by the testimony of Witness FAL and TP. In light of these corroborative elements, the Chamber considers that the meeting Witness QAL testified about was Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.

4597. The Chamber nevertheless notes there were also several inconsistencies between Witness QAL's account of this meeting *vis-à-vis* the other Prosecution witnesses. For example, Witness QAL testified that when he arrived at the meeting Ndayambaje was ending his speech, and that Nteziryayo thereafter took the floor, in contrast to the testimony of the other witnesses that Nteziryayo spoke first, followed by Ndayambaje. Further, Witness QAL was the only Prosecution witness to testify that: Ndayambaje spoke about the need to

_

¹²²²² T. 11 November 2002 p. 83 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²²³ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 38-39, 52 (ICS) (Witness QAQ); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness QAL); T. 19 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR).

T. 11 November 2002 p. 62 (Witness QAQ) (meeting started after 10.00 or 11.00 a.m.); T. 11 November 2002 p. 66 (Witness QAQ) (meeting ended in the afternoon, maybe around 3.00 p.m.); T. 25 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness QAL) (meeting was scheduled to start at 10.00 a.m.).

¹²²²⁵ T. 11 November 2002 p. 81 (Witness QAQ) (meeting took place in a bush which was downstream from the *commune* office, on the left-hand side of the main road he referred to and behind the IGA building); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10, 18 (Witness QAL); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness QAL) (meeting took place in the woods below the *commune* office in Remera at around 10.00 a.m.); T. 19 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR); T. 20 November 2001 p. 77 (Witness QAR) (attended a meeting that took place at Muganza *commune*, held behind the courtyard of the *commune* office); T. 21 November 2001 p. 78 (Witness QAR) (meeting held in field which serves as playground in Remera).

¹2226 T. 25 February 2004 p. 20 (Witness QAL); *see* T. 3 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAL); T. 18 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 6 March 2002 pp. 12-13 (Witness TO); T. 12 February 2004 p. 40 (Witness TP); T. 16 September 2008 p. 36 (Witness BOZAN); T. 18 September 2008 p. 54 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 p. 30 (Witness KEPIR); T. 10 November 2008 p. 42 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 9 (Ndayambaje); T. 1 February 2007 p. 51 (Witness AND-11); T. 12 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-73).

¹²²²⁷ T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL); *see* T. 17 September 2008 pp. 60-61 (Witness BOZAN); T. 10 November 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje); T. 1 February 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 12-14 (Nteziryayo); T. 28 June 2007 p. 39 (Nteziryayo).

¹²²²⁸ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness QAL); T. 25 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QAL); *see* T. 9 February 2004 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 12 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness TP).

¹²²²⁹ T. 25 February 2004 p. 37; T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (Witness QAL).

¹²²³⁰ T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL).

separate the wheat from the chaff; 12231 it was Ndayambaje, rather than Nteziryayo, who introduced the white man; 12232 Célestin told Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje that they had forgotten to tell people to also kill babies. 12233

4598. The Chamber considers the foregoing discrepancies do not go to the root of the witness' account of the meeting. The order of the speakers and who presented the white man and the precise words spoken at the ceremony are less significant details, the clarity of which can be affected by the passage of time. The Chamber does not consider these discrepancies undermine the overall credibility of Witness QAL. Accordingly, notwithstanding the foregoing discrepancies, the Chamber considers the meeting about which Witness QAL testified, was Ndayambaje's swearing in ceremony.

4599. Witness QAL's attendance at the swearing-in ceremony was challenged by Witness MACHO. Witness MACHO testified that Witness QAL spent the day together with Witness MACHO at Witness MACHO's godmother's house. 12234 While Witness QAL was cross-examined by the Ndayambaje Defence in February 2004 when she testified, it was never put to her that she did not attend the swearing-in or may have been elsewhere on the day in question. 12235 That Witness QAL allegedly did not attend the swearing-in ceremony only arose when Witness MACHO testified in July 2008, four years after Witness QAL. In the circumstances, Witness QAL never had the opportunity to controvert Witness MACHO's testimony.

4600. The Chamber considers Witness QAL gave detailed and credible evidence about the swearing-in ceremony, including such details as who she went to the meeting with. ¹²²³⁶ Further, the fact that certain aspects of Witness QAL's testimony are consistent with the testimony of the other Prosecution witnesses whose presence at the meeting was not contested, leads the Chamber to reject the testimony of Witness MACHO that Witness QAL spent the day visiting Witness MACHO's godmother. ¹²²³⁷ In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that Witness MACHO's testimony does not raise a reasonable doubt as to whether Witness QAL attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.

4601. Turning to Witness QAR, Witness QAR testified that in June 1994 she attended a meeting at Muganza *commune*¹²²³⁸ where *Préfet* Nteziryayo asked *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje "how far they went with the job or the work", and proceeded to discuss the need to "sweep the house of dirt". ¹²²³⁹ After hearing these words from the *préfet*, Witness QAR testified she was

¹²²³¹ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10-11; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 20, 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹²²³² T. 25 February 2004 pp. 10-11; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 20, 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹²²³³ T. 25 February 2004 p. 17 (Witness QAL).

¹²²³⁴ T. 2 July 2008 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness MACHO).

¹²²³⁵ See Ndayambaje cross-examination, T. 25 February 2004 pp. 14-22; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 23-25 (ICS) (Witness OAL)

⁽Witness QAL). ¹²²³⁶ T. 25 February 2004 p. 19; T. 25 February 2004 pp. 24, 39 (ICS) (Witness QAL) (witness went with three other people, including her brother-in-law).

¹²²³⁷ T. 2 July 2008 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness MACHO).

¹²²³⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 55; T. 20 November 2001 p. 77 (Witness QAR).

¹²²³⁹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 56; T. 21 November 2001 p. 93 (Witness QAR).

frightened and went directly home. 12240 She later heard from those who came out of the meeting that they had decided "to sweep out everything". 12241

4602. Recalling that Witness QAR is a Tutsi, 12242 and that Witness QAR survived the Mugombwa massacre (), the Chamber does not consider it plausible that Witness QAR attended the meeting in question. Even if the Chamber were to accept that she may have initially arrived at the meeting, the Chamber is of the view that Witness QAR left that meeting scared, and her testimony as to what occurred at the meeting is hearsay evidence based upon what she subsequently gleaned from others.

4603. The Chamber is strengthened in its view having regard to several inconsistencies between Witness QAR's testimony when compared to the other Prosecution witnesses. For example, Witness QAR testified the meeting was held behind the courtyard of the commune office, 12243 in the field which serves as a playground in Remera, 12244 which is at odds with the evidence of the majority of the other Prosecution witnesses who testified the meeting took place in woods located on the other side of the commune office. 12245 Witness QAR also testified that both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje wore civilian attire, not military uniform, ¹²²⁴⁶ in contrast to the testimony of the other witnesses who testified Nteziryayo wore military uniform. 12247 Witness QAR did not recall seeing any white men at the meeting. 12248 Further, Witness QAR testified that Nteziryayo allegedly asked *Bourgmestre* Ndayambaje "how far they went with the job or the work", 12249 testimony that no other witness gave. Noting also the absence of any testimony concerning the actual oath-taking by Ndayambaje, the Chamber considers that Witness QAR did not attend Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.

4604. Challenging Witness QAR's testimony, Defence Witness JAMES testified that in June 1994 Witness OAR lived in the home of Witness JAMES' grandfather located in Mugombwa

¹²²⁴⁰ T. 19 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴¹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴² T. 15 November 2001 p. 139 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴³ T. 19 November 2001 p. 55; T. 20 November 2001 p. 77 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴⁴ T. 21 November 2001 p. 78 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴⁵ T. 3 March 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness FAG) (took place in a clearing in small eucalyptus bush approximately 100 metres from the *commune* office and located below the road leading to the *commune* office in the direction of Mugombwa); T. 9 February 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAL) (held in a little bush near the Muganza *commune* office); T. 5 February 2004 pp. 65, 85 (Witness OAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 8 (Witness OAF) (held in some eucalyptus woods about 30 metres away from the Muganza commune office in Remera secteur); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 5-6 (ICS) (Witness RV) (in the woods, some 50 yards from the *commune* office); T. 4 March 2002 pp. 12, 30 (Witness TO); T. 5 March 2002 pp. 47, 50 (Witness TO); T. 6 March 2001 p. 7 (Witness TO) (ceremony held in a small bush close to the *commune* office in Remera *secteur* on the other side of the road that leads to Mugombwa); see also Prosecution Exhibit 38 (Video of Muganza commune office), Defence Exhibit 554 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch of Muganza commune office, by Nteziryayo) and Defence Exhibit 694 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje).

¹²²⁴⁶ T. 19 November 2001 p. 119 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAG); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 4 March 2002 p. 24 (Witness TO); T. 19 November 2008 p. 74 (Ndayambaje); T. 16 September 2008 p. 51 (Witness BOZAN); T. 11 September 2008 p. 61 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 26 August 2008 p. 24 (Siborurema).
 12248 T. 21 November 2001 p. 90 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁴⁹ T. 19 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness QAR); T. 21 November 2001 p. 93 (Witness QAR).

secteur, during which time Witness QAR never left her home. ¹²²⁵⁰ Witness JAMES was never told by his mother, with whom Witness QAR lived in the grandfather's home, or anyone else, that Witness QAR went to the Muganza *commune* office in Remera, which Witness JAMES estimated was one and a half hours from his grandfather's house by foot. ¹²²⁵¹

4605. Notwithstanding the Chamber's view that Witness QAR did not personally attend Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, the Chamber rejects the testimony of Witness JAMES as to Witness QAR's whereabouts on the day in question. First, while the Chamber accepts that Witness QAR lived in the same *cellule* as Witness JAMES' grandfather, ¹²²⁵² Witness QAR did not testify about whom she lived with. Further, even if the Chamber were to accept that Witness QAR was living with Witness JAMES' grandfather, Witness JAMES was not said to be living at his grandfather's house with Witness QAR, for which reason the Chamber considers he had no reason to know of her whereabouts at all times. Lastly, the Chamber does not consider the fact that Witness JAMES was never told by his mother, with whom Witness QAR allegedly lived in the grandfather's home, or anyone else that Witness QAR went to the Muganza *commune* office in Remera ¹²²⁵³ to be conclusive evidence of Witness QAR's whereabouts.

4606. Lastly, with respect to Witness QAQ, Witness QAQ testified that he decided to attend a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office, that he estimated may have been held between 20 and 22 June 1994, so he could see Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, both of whom he knew well. He did not intend to follow the meeting; he only intended to come out at the end of the meeting. Witness QAQ set out for the meeting at about 1.00 a.m. had walked all night in order to get to the *commune* office; he hid in a sorghum field close to the bureau such that when the meeting began, he was already in the field close to the office. he

4607. The Chamber does not consider several aspects of Witness QAQ's account to be plausible. First, the Chamber does not consider credible that he walked all night to get to the meeting just to see Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo. More significantly, the Chamber recalls that Witness QAQ was a Tutsi civil servant from Muganza *commune*. As such, the Chamber considers it doubtful that Witness QAQ would have chosen to attend the meeting given the prevailing circumstances. Further, notwithstanding Witness QAQ's alleged friendship with Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, Witness QAQ felt it necessary to hide throughout this meeting, even before he heard the allegedly inciting statements pronounced by Ndayambaje. The Chamber is of the view that these aspects of Witness QAQ's testimony weaken the credibility of his account.

4608. In any event, even if the Chamber were to accept that Witness QAQ observed Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, the Chamber notes Witness QAQ was hiding some 100

```
<sup>12250</sup> T. 2 June 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
```

¹²²⁵¹ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²²⁵² See T. 19 November 2001 p. 102 (ICS) (Witness QAR); T. 2 June 2008 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²²⁵³ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); T. 19 November 2001 p. 55 (Witness QAR).

¹²²⁵⁴ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 39-40, 53, 55-56 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁵⁵ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 65, 83 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁵⁶ T. 11 November 2002 p. 60 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁵⁷ T. 11 November 2002 p. 39 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁵⁸ T. 11 November 2002 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

metres from the meeting's venue, 12259 for which reason he admitted that he could not see the speakers. 12260 He nevertheless testified he could hear Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo from where he was located because a megaphone was being used at the meeting and he knew when they spoke because their names were mentioned before they addressed the meeting. Nonetheless, Witness QAQ agreed that the speeches he heard were often incomplete or unclear; there were statements he could not hear and he only paid attention when the names of the persons that he was able to identify were mentioned. Therefore, even accepting that Witness QAQ observed Ndayambaje's swearing-in, in the circumstances, the Chamber considers that any probative weight to be accorded to the testimony of Witness QAQ is minimal.

4609. Turning to the Defence evidence, the Defence witnesses consistently testified about having attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. The Chamber notes the testimony of the Defence witnesses with respect to the details of the swearing-in corroborates that of the Prosecution witnesses with respect to the ceremony's location and the principal attendees. The Chamber also notes that several Defence witnesses testified to the presence

¹²²⁵⁹ T. 11 November 2002 p. 65 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶⁰ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 61-62, 84 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶¹ T. 11 November 2002 pp. 40, 61 (ICS) (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶² T. 11 November 2002 p. 40 (ICS); T. 11 November 2002 p. 63 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶³ T. 11 November 2002 p. 84 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶⁴ T. 11 November 2002 p. 84 (Witness QAQ).

¹²²⁶⁵ T. 10 November 2008 p. 21 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 11-12 (Nteziryayo); T. 16 September 2008 pp. 23, 55 (Witness BOZAN); T. 18 September 2008 pp. 50 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 17 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 44 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 8 February 2007 pp. 38 (Witness AND-73); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 12 (Witness AND-73); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-73); T. 25 August 2008 pp. 62 (ICS) (Siborurema).

¹²²⁶⁶ T. 10 November 2008 pp. 22-23 (Ndayambaje) (ceremony took place in a small wood close to the entrance of the *commune* office on the right of the road leading to Mugombwa); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 11-12 (Nteziryayo) (took place in a small forest located at about 30 metres from the *commune* office building of Muganza at about 2.30 p.m. to 3.00 p.m. 22 June 1994); T. 16 September 2008 pp. 24-25 (Witness BOZAN) (took place in a wood located 30 or 40 metres from the *commune* office); T. 18 September 2008 p. 50 (Brother Stan) (took place in a woodland area near the Muganza *commune* office, just before the football pitch of Muganza); T. 1 September 2008 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness GABON); T. 3 September 2008 pp. 44, 48 (Witness GABON) (took place near Kayaku's residence in a eucalyptus wood, located near the *commune* office); T. 11 September 2008 p. 18 (Witness KEPIR) (took place in a wooded area near the entrance of the *commune* office, not behind the IGA building); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 45 (ICS) (Witness AND-11) (held in a forest close to the Muganza *commune* office); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 37, 44 (ICS) (Witness AND-73) (ceremony conducted in a grove of eucalyptus trees on the road towards Mugombwa Parish about 50 metres from the IGA building).

¹²²⁶⁷ T. 10 November 2008 p. 33 (Ndayambaje) (master of ceremonies was Célestin Habiyambere); T. 16 September 2008 p. 26 (Witness BOZAN) (Nteziryayo, Bimenyimana and Ndayambaje arrived); T. 16 September 2008 p. 32 (Witness BOZAN) (Célestin opened the floor followed by Bimenyimana); T. 18 September 2008 p. 54 (Brother Stan) (the outgoing *bourgmestre* Bimenyimana spoke first and introduced Nteziryayo who swore in Ndayambaje); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 28, 30-31 (Witness KEPIR) (Célestin Habiyambere opened the floor then gave the floor to *bourgmestre* Chrisologue, and then the *préfet* and Ndayambaje in turn); T. 1 February 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness AND-11) (four speakers in total, namely the outgoing *bourgmestre*, the incoming *bourgmestre*, the *préfet*, and the master of ceremonies); T. 12 February 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-73) (Habiyambere acted as the Master of Ceremonies); T. 12 February 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness AND-73) (not including the Master of Ceremonies, three people spoke and in the following order: the outgoing *bourgmestre* Bimenyimana; then *Préfet* Nteziryayo; and finally the new *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje).

of Brother Stan, which was corroborated by the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAF, QAL and TO. 12268

4610. Notwithstanding these consistencies with respect to the time and location of the meeting in question, several discrepancies between the Prosecution and Defence evidence are discernable. For instance, Prosecution Witnesses FAL, QAF and RV testified to the presence of additional officials such as Muvunyi¹²²⁶⁹ and Kalimanzira, ¹²²⁷⁰ which was disputed by several Defence witnesses. Further, Witnesses TP, RV, FAL and QAL also testified that the population brought traditional arms with them, ¹²²⁷² in contrast to Witnesses FAG, QAF, Nteziryayo and Defence Witnesses GABON, KEPIR, AND-11, AND-73 who all testified that the population was not armed. Witnesses TP and Witness QAL testified that Nteziryayo took the floor after Ndayambaje, ¹²²⁷⁴ in contrast to the evidence of the other witnesses.

4611. Since the Chamber considers that it is not required to make any finding as to the presence of either Muvunyi or Kalimanzira or whether the audience was armed at the swearing-in ceremony, it is not necessary to rely on the foregoing testimony of these Prosecution witnesses. In any event, however, the Chamber considers the discrepancy with respect to the identity of these additional officials is not significant. As to whether the population was armed, the Chamber notes the testimony of the witnesses shows that between 1,000 and 5,000 people were present. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers it possible that while some people may have come bearing machetes and other instruments which may double as traditional weapons, others did not, which may account for the discrepancy in the witnesses' evidence. In any event, the Chamber does not regard as significant either the discrepancy as to whether the population was armed, or Witness TP's and Witness QAL's testimony regarding the order of the speakers.

Judgement and Sentence

¹²²⁶⁸ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 66, 68 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 pp. 5, 8 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 23 (Witness QAF); T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL); T. 6 March 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness TO).

¹²²⁶⁹ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37, 75 (Witness FAL) (in addition to Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, claimed Tharcisse Muvunyi was present).

¹²²⁷⁰ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QAF) (included Kalimanzira); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness RV) (included Kalimanzira).

T. 11 June 2007 pp. 12-13 (Nteziryayo) (Kalimanzira, Nyiramasuhuko and Laurent Baravuga were not present); T. 2 September 2008 pp. 10-12 (ICS) (Witness GABON) (Witness GABON disagreed that Kalimanzira and Nyiramasuhuko were present); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 24-25 (Witness KEPIR) (Neither Kalimanzira nor Colonel Muvunyi were present); T. 5 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-11) (Nyiramasuhuko not present); T. 6 February 2007 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness AND-11) (Kalimanzira not present); T. 8 February 2007 p. 39 (Witness AND-73) and T. 12 February 2007 p. 52 (Witness AND-73) (Neither Nyiramasuhuko nor Kalimanzira was present).

¹²²⁷² T. 12 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness TP); T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 9 February 2004 p. 55 (Witness FAL); T. 9 February 2004 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 11-12 (Witness QAL); T. 25 February 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹²²⁷³ T. 3 March 2004 p. 50 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF); T. 11 June 2007 p. 16 (Nteziryayo); T. 2 September 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness GABON); T. 11 September 2008 p. 27 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 49, 62 (Witness AND-73). ¹²²⁷⁴ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 26, 34 (Witness TP); T. 12 February 2004 p. 33 (Witness TP); T. 25 February 2004

pp. 11, 37, 46 (Witness QAL).

12275 T. 3 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAG) (estimated there were about 1,000 people at the meeting); T. 9

T. 3 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAG) (estimated there were about 1,000 people at the meeting); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 76-77 (ICS) (Witness FAL) (testified more than 5,000 people attended); T. 9 February 2004 p. 12 (Witness QAF) (unable to estimate how many people were present at the meeting); T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV) (approximately 1,000 people present in total).

- 4612. The Chamber further notes Witness RV was the sole witness to testify to the presence of Nyiramasuhuko. 12276 While Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje and Defence Witnesses KEPIR and AND-11 corroborated the testimony of Witness RV with respect to the presence of certain other dignitaries, such as Nsabimana and former *Sous-préfet* Ntawukulilyayo, 12277 they and others denied the presence of Nyiramasuhuko. 12278 Considering all the Defence witnesses testified to the presence of another female Minister, Bernadette Mukarurangwa, whose presence Witness RV did not testify about, the Chamber considers it possible that this discrepancy is a mistake. In any event, while the Chamber is not convinced that Nyiramasuhuko was present, this discrepancy alone does not weaken the credibility of Witness RV's testimony with respect to more significant aspects of the swearing-in ceremony.
- 4613. Moreover, in contrast to all the Prosecution and Defence evidence that the meeting took place in the woods near the *commune* office, Witness TP testified the meeting took place outside the *commune* office in the courtyard. Brother Stan also described the venue as a woodland area near the Muganza *commune* office, just before the football pitch, which the Chamber notes is on the opposite side of the Muganza *commune* office from the woods. Having regard to the testimony of the various witnesses as to the relative proximity of the woods where the meeting actually took place *vis-à-vis* the *commune* office and the football field, where Witness TP and Brother Stan respectively testified the meeting took place, variously described as between 30 and 100 metres, the Chamber does not consider the discrepancies in these witnesses' testimony significant.
- 4614. Most significantly, in contrast to all the Prosecution evidence, the Defence witnesses testified that the swearing-in ceremony took place in the afternoon of 22 June 1994, 12283

¹²²⁷⁶ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²²⁷⁷ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 12-13 (Nteziryayo); T. 19 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo); T. 10 November 2008 p. 21 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 23-24 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²²⁷⁸ T. 10 November 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 12-13 (Nteziryayo); T. 16 September 2008 p. 33 (Witness BOZAN); T. 22 September 2008 p. 27 (Brother Stan); T. 2 September 2008 pp. 10-12 (ICS) (Witness GABON); T. 11 September 2008 p. 24 (Witness KEPIR); T. 5 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-11); T. 8 February 2007 p. 39 (Witness AND-73).

¹²²⁷⁹ T. 10 November 2008 p. 21; T. 2 December 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje); T. 19 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo); T. 16 September 2008 p. 28; T. 17 September 2008 p. 60 (Witness BOZAN); T. 22 September 2008 pp. 25-26 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 23-24, 41 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 8 February 2007 p. 39 (Witness AND-73).

¹²²⁸⁰ T. 11 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness TP).

¹²²⁸¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 50 (Brother Stan).

See Prosecution Exhibit 38 (Video of Muganza *commune* office), Defence Exhibit 554 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch of Muganza *commune* office, by Nteziryayo) and Defence Exhibit 694 (Ndayambaje) (Sketch Map, by Ndayambaje).

T. 10 November 2008 pp. 31-33 (Ndayambaje) (ceremony started around 3.00 p.m. and ended around 4.00 p.m.); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 11-12 (Nteziryayo) (took place at about 2.30 p.m. to 3.00 p.m. on 22 June 1994) and T. 28 June 2007 pp. 41-45 (Nteziryayo) (swearing-in ceremony started about 3.00 p.m. and ended about 5.00 p.m.); T. 16 September 2008 p. 23 (Witness BOZAN) (according to the *conseiller* the meeting would start at 2.00 p.m.), T. 16 September 2008 p. 26 (Witness BOZAN) (meeting began a few minutes after 3.00 p.m.) and T. 16 September 2008 p. 41 (Witness BOZAN) (meeting ended between 4.00 and 5.30 p.m.); T. 18 September 2008 pp. 51-52 (Brother Stan) (meeting scheduled to start at 2.00 p.m., but started towards 2.30 p.m. and ended towards 4.00 p.m.); T. 2 September 2008 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness GABON) (held in the afternoon around 3.00 pm) and T. 2 September 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness GABON) (ended at 4.00 p.m.); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 21-23 (Witness KEPIR) (witness arrived at the venue at 2.30 p.m., when the ceremony started); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 46, 48

because Nteziryayo was occupied with the swearing-in ceremony for the new bourgmestre of Ndora commune, Fidèle Uwizeye, on the morning of 22 June 1994. The Chamber notes Witness RV corroborated that Nteziryayo had to swear in the new Ndora bourgmestre before he came to Muganza, ¹²²⁸⁴ yet still testified that Ndayambaje was installed into office at a ceremony held at about 10.00¹²²⁸⁵ or 11.00 a.m. ¹²²⁸⁶

- 4615. The Chamber recalls that the Prosecution witnesses variously testified between November 2001 and March 2004, in contrast to the Defence witnesses, who testified in February 2007 and November 2008. The Chamber notes that at the time of cross-examining the Prosecution witnesses, it was never put to them that they may be mistaken as to the timing of the swearing-in. It was not until the Defence cases opened that testimony was led that the meeting occurred in the afternoon. In the circumstances, the Prosecution witnesses never had the opportunity to refute the testimony of the Defence witnesses.
- 4616. In any event, the Chamber does not consider this discrepancy to be important considering the Prosecution and Defence witnesses are consistent on the significant features of the meeting, namely that it was the swearing-in ceremony of Ndayambaje, that the meeting took place on or around 22 June 1994, that the meeting was held in the woods near the Muganza *commune* office, and that Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo spoke at the meeting.
- 4617. The Chamber therefore accepts that the foregoing witnesses all testified to the same event, namely Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony of 22 June 1994.
- 4618. The last Prosecution witness to testify about this event was Witness FAU. Witness FAU did not take part in that day's ceremony. 12287 He was informed by assailants who came to his house to abduct Nambaje, the Tutsi girl Witness FAU was hiding, that they had attended a meeting on the same day, ¹²²⁸⁸ and the meeting's purpose was to swear in Ndayambaje. ¹²²⁸⁹ The assailants told Witness FAU that at the meeting they attended, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had referred to the need to clean a house, and throw the dirt out, and that those protecting Tutsi girls must hand them over to the assailants or be killed. 12290
- 4619. The Ndayambaje Defence, relying on Witness KWEPO, contends that on 22 June 1994 Witness FAU was no longer in his home secteur because he had joined the army in May 1994, after the killing of his wife Nambaje, after which he did not return to Muganza commune. 12291

⁽ICS) (Witness AND-11) (arrived around 2.40 or 2.45 p.m. at which time the outgoing bourgmestre Bimenyimana, was rounding up his message) and T. 1 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-11) (meeting ended at about 4.00 p.m.); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-73) (meeting took place at 2.30 p.m. and ended at 4.00 p.m.).

¹²²⁸⁴ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²²⁸⁵ T. 18 February 2004 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²²⁸⁶ T. 19 February 2004 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²²⁸⁷ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁸⁸ T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁸⁹ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁰ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 75-76; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80, 90; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU). 12291 Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 750-754.

4620. Witness FAU first testified that he joined the army and stayed in Ngoma *commune* at the end of May or beginning of June 1994. The Chamber considers this testimony accords with Witness FAU's testimony that he took in Nambaje the day after the killings at Kabuye Hill. 12293 which the Chamber notes occurred between 22 to 24 April 1994 (), kept Nambaje at his house for one month, perhaps from April until the end of the month of May or early June 1994, when assailants came to take Nambaje away and kill her. 12294 However, Witness FAU later testified that he joined the army approximately one week after Nambaje was killed, towards the end of June 1994. 12295 The training took 12 days, but was not completed because the country fell to the RPF. 12296 The Chamber considers that Witness FAU's testimony as to the timeline of the events appears confused. Nevertheless, having also considered the Prosecution evidence with respect to the abduction of eight Tutsi girls after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, the Chamber accepts Witness FAU's testimony that Nambaje was taken from FAU's house after this ceremony. The Chamber therefore rejects the testimony of Witness KWEPO as to Witness FAU's whereabouts on 22 June 1994.

4621. Having regard to the foregoing, the Chamber will only consider the evidence of the remaining Prosecution witnesses, namely Witnesses FAG, FAL, FAU, OAF, OAL, RV, TO and TP, as well as the Defence witnesses with respect to this allegation.

4622. Turning to the content of the speeches made at the swearing-in ceremony, the Chamber notes that there is varied agreement among the Prosecution witnesses with respect to the content of Nteziryayo's and Ndayambaje's speeches. Prosecution Witnesses FAG and FAL allege that both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje used parables concerning the need to clean the house of dirt and place it outside. 12297 Witness FAU gave corroborative hearsay evidence to the effect that killers who came to his house had come from a meeting where Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had told them "when you clean a house, you do not keep the dirt inside the house, but you take it outside of the house and if anyone is protecting a girl, he or she must hand her over to the assailants; otherwise, he will be killed by the assailants". 12298

4623. In contrast to Witnesses FAG and FAL, Witness TO testified that only Nteziryayo told the fable concerning the consequences of the failure to sweep dirt, ¹²²⁹⁹ whereas Witness QAL offered hearsay evidence that Ndayambaje told the population to clean up and put the dirt out, to the extent that they should be able to find a needle in that heap of dirt. 12300 Witness TP also testified that Nteziryayo referred to the need to sweep dirt and the consequences of the population's failure to do so, ¹²³⁰¹ and thus corroborated Witness TO. However the Chamber

¹²²⁹² T. 4 March 2004 p. 77; T. 8 March 2004 p. 91 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹³ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁴ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁵ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80-81 (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁶ T. 4 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁷ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 38, 59-60 (Witness FAL); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF).

12298 T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80, 90; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p.

^{24 (}Witness FAU).

¹²²⁹⁹ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 15, 20-21 (Witness TO).

¹²³⁰⁰ T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL).

¹²³⁰¹ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).

notes Witness TP also testified that Nteziryayo further spoke about the need to destroy the snake's eggs, which the Chamber notes no other witness testified about. In contrast, Witnesses RV and QAF both testified that only Ndayambaje recounted the fable of sweeping dirt. 12303

4624. With respect to statements other than those concerning "dirt", Witness QAF testified Nteziryayo congratulated the population for their work, asked those still protecting Tutsi girls to hand them over to the killers, ¹²³⁰⁴ and threatened that if men did not give up their Tutsi girls, they would be killed with them. ¹²³⁰⁵ This was corroborated by Witness QAL who testified that Nteziryayo started by greeting the people and asked if they had carried out the instructions given to them; people answered they had. ¹²³⁰⁶ Nteziryayo also asked people who had married Tutsis and had children to kill all Tutsis as he did not want any Tutsis around anymore. ¹²³⁰⁷ Witness FAU's hearsay testimony is also corroborative insofar as he testified that the killers told him that those protecting Tutsis who refused to hand them over would be killed. ¹²³⁰⁸ Witness TP also testified that Nteziryayo thanked the population for what they had done, but said they should not relax because there was a lot yet to be done. ¹²³⁰⁹ Further, the Chamber notes that both Witness FAL and Witness TO testified that Nteziryayo criticised Bimenyimana's poor performance as *bourgmestre*, ¹²³¹⁰ although the Chamber notes no other witness confirmed this.

4625. Witness FAL testified that Nteziryayo talked about killing the Tutsis; 12311 that Nteziryayo stated the enemy had to be fought, that the enemy was Tutsi, and that all *Inkotanyi* were Tutsis; 12312 and Nteziryayo criticised the outgoing *bourgmestre*, who Nteziryayo deemed incapable of hunting down and killing Tutsis, 12313 *Abatutsi* 12314 and *Inkotanyi*. 12315 In contrast however, in addition to the Defence witnesses, Witness TP also testified that Nteziryayo did not pronounce the word Tutsi or *Inkotanyi* in his speech. 12316 Witness QAL also did not hear either Nteziryayo or Ndayambaje use the words *Inkotanyi* or *Ibyitso*; they rather spoke about Tutsis. 12317

¹²³⁰² T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).

¹²³⁰³ T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 9 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness OAF).

¹²³⁰⁴ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 66-67 (Witness QAF).

¹²³⁰⁵ T. 6 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAF).

¹²³⁰⁶ T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL).

¹²³⁰⁷ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 12, 20 (Witness QAL).

¹²³⁰⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80, 90; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU).

¹²³⁰⁹ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 32-33; T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP).

¹²³¹⁰ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37-38, 57-59 (Witness FAL); T. 4 March 2001 p. 13 (Witness TO).

¹²³¹¹ T. 9 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness FAL).

¹²³¹² T. 9 February 2004 pp. 58-59 (Witness FAL).

¹²³¹³ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 57-58 (Witness FAL).

¹²³¹⁴ T. 9 February 2004 p. 58 (Witness FAL).

¹²³¹⁵ T. 9 February 2004 p. 59 (Witness FAL).

¹²³¹⁶ T. 12 February 2004 p. 44 (Witness TP).

¹²³¹⁷ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 19-20 (Witness QAL).

4626. Insofar as Prosecution Witnesses QAF and TP variously testified that Nteziryayo 12318 and Ndayambaje 12319 thanked the population for their "work" and/or urged them to continue their "work", Ntakirutimana testified that "gukora" has several meanings in Kinyarwanda, including to do something bad, to work arduously and thank you. 12320 In his Expert Report, Ntakirutimana wrote that "gukora" was synonymous with to work, to kill, to remove, to clean, communal work, *umuganda*, finish the job, rape and take away. ¹²³²¹ "To work" could be going to destroy someone's house, or to raid and steal from someone. ¹²³²² In the context of the 1994 conflict, "to work" meant "to kill". You must work with a weapon, and what you do with the weapon is quite clear. If you do work, you will get the Tutsis' land. All those who did not wish to work should be set aside. 12323 The operation to eliminate the enemy or the snake was a euphemism for "work". 12324

4627. As to the meaning of the parable concerning the sweeping of dirt, Witnesses FAG, FAL and TO testified that Ndayambaje explained the parable [used by either both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje or Nteziryayo alone] which they understood meant that those Tutsi women and children in hiding needed to be killed such that no Tutsis survived. 12325 Although disagreeing with the evidence of Witnesses FAG and FAL as to who pronounced the parable. Witness TO nevertheless agreed with Witnesses FAG and FAL that Ndayambaje explained the fable to the population; he referred to people who were hiding Tutsis, while Tutsis were being sought after. 12326 Witness TP also understood that the parable was encouraging the killing of surviving children, 12327 although he alleged it was stated by Nteziryayo.

4628. Witnesses QAF and RV testified they understood Ndayambaje's speech concerning the removal of dirt to mean that those young Tutsis still alive were to be killed. 12328 Witness TO further testified that while Nteziryayo did not mention the word "Tutsis" in all his alleged speeches, the witness stated that the fable Nteziryayo recounted made clear the meaning of his message. 12329 Although it was the first time Witness TO heard the fable, its meaning was made clear by subsequent events. 12330 Witness QAL also testified that it was a common proverb in Rwanda and Witness QAL understood it to mean that good and bad people should be separated and people who were undesirable should be killed. 12331 According to Ntakirutimana, proverbs

¹²³¹⁸ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 66-68 (Witness QAF); T. 11 February 2004 p. 32 (Witness TP); T. 19 November 2001 p. 56 (Witness QAR); T. 21 November 2001 p. 93 (Witness QAR).

¹²³¹⁹ T. 11 February 2004 p. 32 (Witness TP).

T. 13 September 2004 pp. 47, 68-69 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 34.

¹²³²¹ Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 34.

T. 13 September 2004 p. 68 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 32.

¹²³²³ T. 13 September 2004 p. 68 (Ntakirutimana).

¹²³²⁴ T. 13 September 2004 p. 69 (Ntakirutimana); Prosecution Exhibit 158B (Sociolinguistic Analysis, by Ntakirutimana) p. 32.

¹²³²⁵ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33; T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 p. 38; T. 9 February 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 4 March 2002 p. 25 (Witness TO). ¹²³²⁶ T. 4 March 2002 p. 25 (Witness TO).

¹²³²⁷ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 29, 33 (Witness TP).

¹²³²⁸ T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 19 (Witness QAF); T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV). 12329 T. 5 March 2002 pp. 56-57 (Witness TO).

¹²³³⁰ T. 6 March 2002 pp. 14, 32-33 (Witness TO).

¹²³³¹ T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

referring to the sweeping outside of dirt were truisms which could be easily understood. In the context of the war situation, such a proverb would have been understood to mean that the people who attacked Rwanda and came from outside, needed to be thrown out of the country. 12332

4629. Witnesses FAG, FAL, QAF, QAL and TP testified that after the swearing-in ceremony, Nteziryayo's and Ndayambaje's statements resulted in further attacks against Tutsis who were tracked down and killed. Witness TO testified that this was engaged in by "some scoundrels and a few thieves [who] engaged in flushing out women and children and [engaged] in looting", in compliance with Nteziryayo's instructions, but did not otherwise involve the general population. 12334

4630. The Chamber notes that while Witness QAF pled guilty to one crime before the *Gacaca* courts¹²³³⁵ he was released on 5 May 2003 following a presidential decree. ¹²³³⁶ In contrast, Witness RV had confessed to his involvement in the 1994 genocide ¹²³³⁷ and was detained at the time of giving his testimony. ¹²³³⁸ Further, Witnesses FAL and FAG had also pled guilty to crimes committed during the 1994 genocide and at the time of their respective testimonies before the Chamber were awaiting decisions by a *Gacaca* court regarding their sentence. ¹²³³⁹ Appropriate caution must therefore be exercised when deliberating on the evidence of these Prosecution witnesses as they may have had incentives to implicate either Ndayambaje or Nteziryayo in order to secure favourable or lenient treatment or to apportion blame to the authorities. Lastly, the Chamber notes Witness TO was briefly imprisoned during Ndayambaje's previous tenure as *bourgmestre*, ¹²³⁴⁰ which the Chamber considers may also provide Witness TO with a motive to seek revenge against Ndayambaje.

4631. The Chamber considers that witnesses will not always have an exactly identical recollection with respect to the same event, and all the more so where many years have passed between the occurrence of an event and the giving of testimony. The Chamber further considers that not only the passage of time, but also the deterioration of human memory should be kept in mind when assessing a witness' evidence with respect to certain events. In the present circumstances, the Chamber has considered the witnesses' evidence with respect to the swearing-in ceremony. As analysed, the Chamber considers the account of most of the Prosecution witnesses differs in varying degrees as to the content of what was said by both Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo. The Chamber is nevertheless of the view that the discrepancies can be attributed to a variety of reasons, such as the level of education of the witnesses, the late

¹²³³² T. 13 September 2004 pp. 51-52 (Ntakirutimana).

¹²³³³ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 61, 64 (Witness FAL); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF); T. 25 February 2004 p. 12 (Witness QAL); T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28-29 (Witness TP).

¹²³³⁴ T. 4 March 2002 pp. 26-27; T. 6 March 2002 pp. 46, 60-61 (Witness TO).

¹²³³⁵ T. 5 February 2004 pp. 82-83 (Witness QAF).

¹²³³⁶ T. 6 February 2004 pp. 27-28 (ICS); T. 9 February 2004 p. 5 (Witness QAF).

¹²³³⁷ T. 17 February 2004 pp. 8, 36 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²³³⁸ T. 17 February 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²³³⁹ T. 9 February 2004 pp. 46-47, 52 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 3 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

¹²³⁴⁰ T. 5 March 2002 p. 77 (ICS) (Witness TO).

arrival of certain witnesses, 12341 their position at the venue of the meeting, 12342 the quality of the megaphone or the clarity of the speakers.

4632. The Chamber considers the differences in the testimony of the eight Prosecution witnesses as to the content of Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo's speeches can be explained by virtue of these variable factors and for this reasons considers that these particular discrepancies are not significant. The Chamber is strengthened it its view having regard to the countervailing and consistent evidence of the Prosecution witnesses that either Nteziryayo or Ndayambaje or both incited the population by means of parables principally relating to the sweeping of dirt, as well as plain speech. The Prosecution evidence also consistently establishes that the audience understood that Tutsis in hiding needed to be killed. The Chamber further notes the consistent, albeit often general, evidence of the Prosecution witnesses to the effect that after the meeting, killings occurred. 12345

4633. In contrast to the Prosecution witnesses, Witness BOZAN, Brother Stan, Witness KEPIR, Witness AND-11, Witness AND-73, Siborurema, Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo testified that Nteziryayo's speech concerned problems of security and the situation at the front, and that Nteziryayo invited the population to ensure its own security and safety within the locality, as well as discussed the Turquoise area and the arrival of the French. Numerous Defence witnesses also testified that *Préfet* Nteziryayo did not use proverbs or parables during his address. 12347

4634. With respect to Ndayambaje's speech, Witness BOZAN, Brother Stan, Witness KEPIR, Witness AND-11, Witness AND-73, Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo also testified that

1.0

¹²³⁴¹ T. 3 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 37, 56 (Witness FAL); T. 5 February 2004 p. 66 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 p. 4 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 7, 12 (Witness QAF); T. 25 February 2004 pp. 18, 37 (Witness QAL); T. 25 February 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QAL).

¹²³⁴² T. 3 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAG) (sitting 21 metres from the speakers); T. 9 February 2004 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness FAL) (sitting 3 metres from the speakers); T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP) (sitting 12 metres from the dignitaries).

¹²³⁴³ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 pp. 24-25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 38, 59-60 (Witness FAL); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 77-78 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 4 March 2002 pp. 15, 20-21, 25 (Witness TO); T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28, 33 (Witness TP); T. 12 February 2004 p. 43 (Witness TP); T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF).
¹²³⁴⁴ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 p. 38

¹²³⁴⁴ T. 1 March 2004 p. 33 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAL); T. 9 February 2004 p. 78 (ICS) (Witness FAL); T. 4 March 2002 pp. 25, 56-57 (Witness TO); T. 11 February 2004 pp. 29, 33 (Witness TP); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 9 February 2004 p. 19 (Witness QAF); T. 17 February 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹²³⁴⁵ T. 1 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAG); T. 3 March 2004 p. 25 (Witness FAG); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 61, 64 (Witness FAL); T. 5 February 2004 p. 68 (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 p. 16 (Witness QAF); T. 11 February 2004 pp. 28-29 (Witness TP); T. 4 March 2002 pp. 26-27 (Witness TO); T. 6 March 2002 pp. 46, 60-61 (Witness TO).

¹²³⁴⁶ T. 16 September 2008 p. 35 (Witness BOZAN); T. 17 September 2008 p. 64 (Witness BOZAN); T. 22 September 2008 p. 59 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 pp. 30, 71 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 51-52 (Witness AND-11); T. 12 February 2007 pp. 55 (Witness AND-73); T. 26 August 2008 p. 24 (Siborurema); T. 10 November 2008 p. 41 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 pp. 9, 11-12 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Ntezirvayo).

¹²³⁴⁷ T. 13 November 2008 p. 7 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 June 2007 p. 14 (Nteziryayo); T. 16 September 2008 pp. 37-38 (Witness BOZAN); T. 22 September 2008 pp. 60-61 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 p. 33 (Witness KEPIR); T. 12 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-73).

Ndayambaje focused on castigating wrong-doers, urging the population to collaborate to restore peace and stability, denouncing those who played a key role in the massacres, and asking them to do everything to reconstruct their society. Several Defence witnesses equally testified Ndayambaje did not use proverbs or parables in his messages to the public. 12349

4635. The Chamber also notes Brother Stan, Witness AND-11, Witness AND-73 and Ndayambaje denied that following the swearing-in ceremony there were massacres by the local population in Muganza *commune*, ¹²³⁵⁰ although Ndayambaje testified there was news of people being chased by the RPF in the northeast of the region, ¹²³⁵¹ and Brother Stan and Witness AND-11 testified to some looting carried out by groups of thugs. ¹²³⁵² Witness GABON testified that at the time of Ndayambaje's swearing-in the killings had diminished in intensity and that during the first week of Ndayambaje's tenure, killings had virtually ended and people were fleeing. ¹²³⁵³

4636. The Chamber recalls that Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje, as the Accused, may have a motive in seeking to reduce their personal responsibility for the alleged incitement in question. Further, while the Chamber notes that none of the remaining Defence witnesses were detained at the time of their testimony such that they would not have a motive to lie to seek any leniency, the Chamber nevertheless recalls that all of the Ndayambaje Defence witnesses have close ties to Ndayambaje.

4637. As already discussed elsewhere, Brother Stan was a close friend of Ndayambaje's, having known him since 1988. 12354 Witness GABON formerly had professional ties with Ndayambaje. Witness KEPIR lived and worked a short distance from the *commune* office in Remera, used to report to Ndayambaje on matters related to his professional activities and accompanied him on various trips throughout Butare in the latter half of April 1994. Witness KEPIR also testified that he was a friend of Ndayambaje. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls Witness EV's testimony with respect to events at Kabuye Hill, namely that Witness EV saw Witness KEPIR with Ndayambaje on two separate occasions at Kabuye Hill during which refugees came under attack (). On the second occasion, Witness KEPIR was

 ¹²³⁴⁸ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 36-37 (Witness BOZAN); T. 18 September 2008 p. 55 (Brother Stan); T. 11
 September 2008 p. 32 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 56 (Witness AND-11); T. 12 February 2007 p. 55 (Witness AND-73); T. 13 November 2008 p. 7 (Ndayambaje); T. 11 June 2007 p. 15 (Nteziryayo).
 ¹²³⁴⁹ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 8, 14-15, 21-22 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje); T. 16

¹²³⁴⁹ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 8, 14-15, 21-22 (Ndayambaje); T. 2 December 2008 p. 12 (Ndayambaje); T. 16 September 2008 pp. 37-38 (Witness BOZAN); T. 18 September 2008 p. 57 (Brother Stan); T. 11 September 2008 p. 33 (Witness KEPIR); T. 1 February 2007 p. 56 (Witness AND-11); T. 12 February 2007 p. 57 (Witness AND-73)

<sup>73).
&</sup>lt;sup>12350</sup> T. 18 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan); T. 1 February 2007 pp. 62, 64 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 13 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-73); T. 13 November 2008 pp. 23-24 (Ndayambaje).

¹²³⁵¹ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 23-24 (Ndayambaje).

¹²³⁵² T. 18 September 2008 p. 60 (Brother Stan); T. 1 February 2007 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²³⁵³ T. 2 September 2008 pp. 21, 45 (ICS) (Witness GABON).

¹²³⁵⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 65 (Witness Brother Stan).

¹²³⁵⁵ T. 3 September 2008 p. 66 (ICS); T. 4 September 2008 p. 8 (ICS); T. 10 September 2008 pp. 45-46, 59, 73 (ICS) (Witness KEPIR).

¹²³⁵⁶ T. 10 September 2008 p. 39; T. 15 September 2008 p. 15 (Witness KEPIR).

¹²³⁵⁷ T. 25 February 2004 pp. 74-75; T. 26 February 2004 pp. 60-61 (Witness EV).

driving a blue double-cabin Hilux.¹²³⁵⁸ Witness FAU also testified that Ndayambaje used Witness KEPIR's blue vehicle to drive to the Muganza *commune* office to pick up weapons for use at Kabuye Hill.¹²³⁵⁹ This association between Witness KEPIR and Ndayambaje also has a bearing on Witness KEPIR's credibility. Witness BOZAN would also have had professional ties with Ndayambaje during both of Ndayambaje's periods in office. Accordingly, the evidence of these Defence witnesses with respect to Ndayambaje must be reviewed bearing these personal ties in mind.

- 4638. With respect to Nteziryayo, both Witnesses AND-11 and AND-73 knew Nteziryayo before the events because they were in the army together. Witness AND-11 also knew Nteziryayo well from the time he began to work in Kabayi *commune* from 1991. Witness AND-11 called Nteziryayo a friend with whom he would sometimes have a drink after APAME meetings. 12362
- 4639. Accordingly, notwithstanding the largely consistent nature of the testimony of these witnesses, the Chamber finds the credibility of the foregoing witnesses diminished by the potential motivations and personal ties of each of the Defence witnesses with Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo.
- 4640. As for Brother Stan, the Chamber also notes the discrepancies between earlier statements given by Brother Stan in 1995 to a Belgian judge and his testimony at trial. In his previous statement before the Belgian judge, Brother Stan said that Ndayambaje talked about "restoring order in the house", whereas in court Brother Stan testified he could not recall any statement about putting order in the house, only "putting order in ... Muganza *commune*". Further, insofar as his previous statement included a reference to "the dust behind the fireplace", Brother Stan claimed that the Belgian judge who had taken his statement must have added that expression to his statement, thereby putting words in Brother Stan's mouth. ¹²³⁶³ Both these discrepancies, and moreover Brother Stan's explanation, which the Chamber does not find credible, cast doubt on Brother Stan's testimony as to the contents of Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo's speeches at the swearing-in ceremony.
- 4641. As such, the Chamber considers the Defence evidence on the whole is not sufficiently credible as to raise a reasonable doubt about the nature of the utterances made by Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony.
- 4642. Accordingly, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that on the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing in ceremony on 22 June 1994, an event attended by the general population, ¹²³⁶⁴ Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje told the population to continue with their

¹²³⁵⁸ T. 26 February 2004 p. 61 (Witness EV).

¹²³⁵⁹ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 71-72, 78; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 42, 46-47 (Witness FAU).

¹²³⁶⁰ T. 7 February 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness AND-11); T. 8 February 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-73).

¹²³⁶¹ T. 31 January 2007 p. 78 (ICS); T. 7 February 2007 pp. 8-9 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²³⁶² T. 7 February 2007 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness AND-11).

¹²³⁶³ T. 23 September 2008 pp. 42-43 (Brother Stan).

Tutsis present); T. 9 February 2004 pp. 76-77 (ICS) (Witness FAL) (more than 5,000 people attended the meeting); T. 17 February 2004 pp. 7 (ICS) (Witness RV) (approximately 1,000 people attended); T. 25 February

"work" and urged them to "sweep the dirt outside". Having regard to the witnesses' own testimony as to what they understood "work" and "sweeping dirt" to mean, which was also corroborated by Ntakirutimana in the context of 1994, the Chamber accepts that these witnesses understood they needed to kill Tutsis.

4643. The Chamber will now consider the allegation that Witness TP's son was taken away and killed after the swearing-in ceremony. Witness TP testified that she witnessed the killing of her three-and-a-half year son who was taken the following night and someone helped her bury him. Her brother-in-law's children were also taken and killed on the day Nteziryayo spoke those words. She saw their bodies from about 21 metres. The children of Tutsi neighbours were also taken away and killed. While the Chamber accepts the witness' account as to the taking of her and her brother-in-law's children, the Chamber notes that the witness did not identify who the killers who took the children away were, or how the Accused were otherwise implicated in the taking of her child.

4644. In the absence of any evidence that either of the Accused were either present or in some way responsible for the taking of the children, the Prosecution has not discharged its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that either Nteziryayo or Ndayambaje are responsible, either directly or indirectly, for the taking and killing of Witness TP's child.

4645. Therefore, having considered the totality of the evidence before it, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that at Ndayambaje's swearing-in as the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* on 22 June 1994, an event attended by the general population, Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo urged the population to "sweep the dirt" and instructed that those hiding Tutsis who refused to hand them over should be killed. Further, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony searches for Tutsis took place and killings followed. In contrast the Chamber does not find that the Prosecution discharged its burden of proof with respect to the taking and killing of Witness TP's son.

3.6.44 Abduction of Tutsi Women and Girls, June 1994

3.6.44.1 Introduction

4646. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that "as from 20 April 1994, in Muganza *commune* and the surrounding area, Ndayambaje ordered, supervised and participated in massacres of the Tutsi population, committed by militiamen, soldiers, communal policemen and communal authorities". ¹²³⁷⁰

2004 p. 42 (ICS); T. 25 February 2004 p. 11 (Witness QAL) (Inhabitants from three *secteurs* were present; she estimated 200 people attended, none of which were Tutsis as they had been killed).

¹²³⁶⁵ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 29-30 (Witness TP).

¹²³⁶⁶ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 30-31 (Witness TP).

¹²³⁶⁷ T. 11 February 2004 p. 29 (Witness TP).

¹²³⁶⁸ T. 11 February 2004 pp. 31-32 (Witness TP).

¹²³⁶⁹ T. 11 February 2004 p. 30 (Witness TP).

Para. 6.37 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts).

4647. The Prosecution further alleges that following Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994, at which Ndayambaje incited the population to kill Tutsis, a group of Tutsi girls were abducted from Mugombwa *secteur*, with Ndayambaje's knowledge, and subsequently killed. ¹²³⁷¹ In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAR, QAF and FAU.

4648. The Ndayambaje Defence does not dispute that a group of Tutsi women and girls were abducted from Mugombwa *secteur*. The Ndayambaje Defence submits, however, that the abduction took place in mid-May 1994, well before Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. The Ndayambaje Defence further submits that the Prosecution witnesses lack credibility and that Ndayambaje was not present at the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa during the Tutsi women and girls' abduction. L2372 The Defence relies on the testimonies of Defence Witnesses ANGES, BOZAN, Brother Stan, JAMES, KWEPO, MATIC, MUZIK, SABINE and Ndayambaje.

3.6.44.2 Preliminary Issues

4649. With regard to Ndayambaje's alleged presence during the abduction of Tutsi girls prior to their killing, the Indictment did not specify the site or date of this allegation. The Chamber therefore finds that this allegation was not sufficiently pled and the Indictment was defective. The Chamber will rely on the principles set out in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), to determine whether the defect in the Indictment was subsequently cured through timely, clear and consistent notice to the Ndayambaje Defence.

4650. The summary of Prosecution Witness QAR's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief stated that she attended a meeting chaired by Nteziryayo and attended by Ndayambaje in June 1994. The following day there was a house-to-house search for girls and women in hiding. Four girls and a teacher were brought out. The people were divided as to whether or not these women should be killed. It was decided to wait for Ndayambaje to ask him what to do with them. Ndayambaje arrived and said, "[w]ere you not told that if you sweep the dirt towards your house, it heaps up and ends up chasing you out of your house? Then throw away the dirt". Witness QAR later heard that the women were taken by a group to the Mugombwa brickyard. 12374

4651. Witness QAR's previous statement of 14 October 1997 included the same information as contained in the Pre-Trial Brief. Furthermore, in her previous statement of 20 June 1995, Witness QAR stated that she was a witness to the killing of women and girls who had so far been spared by assailants from Saga, on the orders of Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje claimed that some of the refugees knew how to write and corresponded with the *Inkotanyi*. On being asked if they should be killed Ndayambaje replied, "[d]o as you please. Are they not the ones who are going to related [sic] what happened when the *Inkotanyi* arrive?" Upon that, they got them up and massacred them on the spot. She did not mention the incident in her previous statement of 20 May 1997; this statement to Tribunal investigators dealt solely with the

¹²³⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 476-477, paras. 94, 98.

¹²³⁷² Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 783-785, 787-791, 793-800.

¹²³⁷³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAR (5).

¹²³⁷⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAR (5).

¹²³⁷⁵ 20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 4 December 2000.

massacre at Mugombwa Church in April 1994. Both these statements were disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, well before the start of Witness QAR's testimony on 15 November 2001. 12376

4652. The summary of Prosecution Witness QAF's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that a meeting was held by Nteziryayo, near the *commune* office around May or June 1994, at which Ndayambaje was present. Ndayambaje spoke using metaphoric language, saying that all the garbage had to be swept out – this was interpreted to mean that all Tutsi women had to be eliminated. The morning after the meeting, Witness QAF saw an attack on the homes of young Hutu men who were hiding Tutsi girls. Witness QAF learned that several other girls were taken from their hiding places and killed. 12377

4653. In his previous statement of 14 October 1997, Witness QAF stated that he attended a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office in May or June 1994, attended by Ndayambaje, the *bourgmestre*. After the meeting, a wave of panic swept over the people. The following morning, he heard shouts and saw Jean Baptiste Mukararinda lead an attack on Mugombwa to search the homes of the young Hutu men who were hiding Tutsi girls. He saw people from Saga escorting three girls they had discovered at the home of Jean Mukundirehe. Several other girls were taken from their hiding places and killed. This statement was disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, prior to Witness QAF's testimony on 5 February 2004. 12378

4654. Considering the content of the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the previous statements of Witnesses QAR and QAF, the Chamber considers that the Ndayambaje Defence was provided with clear, timely and consistent notice that following a meeting at the Muganza commune office in June 1994 there was an abduction of Tutsi women and girls in Mugombwa secteur by assailants from Saga, that Ndayambaje was present during the abduction and that the women and girls were subsequently killed. Consequently, Ndayambaje was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence case.

3.6.44.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QAR

4655. Witness QAR, a Tutsi woman from Muganza *commune*, testified that she knew Ndayambaje since they were both children. She identified Ndayambaje in court. 12380

4656. Witness QAR testified that the *conseiller* of Mugombwa wrote a letter that he sent to the authorities in Saga, identifying the Tutsi women and girls who had so far been spared. 12381

_

¹²³⁷⁶ 20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 4 December 2000; 14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR, disclosed 17 June 1999 in English, 10 December 1999 in French.

¹²³⁷⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAF (35) (cited in support of Counts 1 and 4 against Ndayambaje).

Ndayambaje).

12378 14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAF, disclosed 4 November 1998, 15 November 2000 in French and English

¹²³⁷⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁰ T. 19 November 2001 p. 104 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

4657. On 18 June 1994, in the days after she had attended a meeting behind the *commune* office in Muganza *commune*, a group of assailants led by a man she knew named Masima arrived in Mugombwa from Saga. They took eight women and adolescent girls from their homes. The witness was detained with them. Seven of the women were from Mugombwa; one was a teacher from Saga. Witness QAR had spent the night with one of the women, a farmer from Mugombwa, at the priest's house following the massacre at Mugombwa Church in April 1994. This woman was pregnant and was accompanied by her three-year-old child. 12382

4658. Initially, there was some disagreement between the attackers from Saga and some people who were trying to protect them, but it was agreed to wait for the *bourgmestre* to decide what to do with the Tutsi women and girls. They were made to wait near the Statue of St. Mary in Mugombwa for his arrival. Ndayambaje arrived in a vehicle. He did not get out but spoke to Masima from inside. ¹²³⁸³ On being asked by Masima what to do with the women, Ndayambaje replied, "[d]o whatever you want to do." On cross-examination, Witness QAR testified that Ndayambaje said, "I realise that among these people there are intellectuals and therefore take them away". ¹²³⁸⁵ When the *bourgmestre* left, Masima told the women and girls that they had been delivered to him and ordered them to stand up. The women were taken away to be killed. ¹²³⁸⁶

4659. They were taken to Gasenyi, a valley between Mugombwa and Kibayi where there were furnaces. Witness QAR testified that the assailants took away eight women. She did not go with them to Gasenyi. Before leaving Mugombwa, the assailants realised that there had been confusion over Witness QAR's identity. She was told that her hour had not yet come and she was released. The woman they wanted had the same first name as her but a different surname. None of the women and girls came back. They were killed. 12387

4660. On cross-examination, Witness QAR was referred to her previous statement of 14 October 1997 which states that there was a house-to-house search and four girls from Karonkano *cellule*, Mugombwa *secteur*, and a teacher from Saga were brought out. The teacher was accused of writing to the *Inkotanyi*. The statement also recorded that when Ndayambaje arrived in Mugombwa he said, "[w]ere you not told that if you sweep the dirt towards your house it heaps up and ends up chasing you out of your house, then throw away the dirt". Witness QAR testified her statement was not recorded correctly: more than four women were detained; four were from Mugombwa and four were from other *secteurs*. She testified that the words she attributed to Ndayambaje in her trial testimony had the same meaning as those reflected in her previous statement. Although the statement of 14

```
<sup>12381</sup> T. 19 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness QAR); T. 21 November 2001 p. 61 (Witness QAR).
```

¹²³⁸² T. 21 November 2001 pp. 91, 95-99, 103 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸³ T. 19 November 2001 p. 60; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 99-100 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁴ T. 19 November 2001 p. 60 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁵ T. 21 November 2001 p. 101 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁶ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60-61; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 101-102, 107 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁷ T. 19 November 2001 p. 58; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 97-98, 101-102, 106-107 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁸ T. 21 November 2001 p. 104 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

¹²³⁸⁹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 105-106 (Witness QAR).

October 1997 states that Witness QAR did not know what finally happened to the women, she later learned that they had been taken to a brickvard in Mugombwa. 12390

4661. Witness OAR was also referred to her statement of 20 June 1995 to Belgian authorities which stated that the women and girls in Mugombwa who had been spared were massacred on the orders of Ndayambaje by assailants from Saga. According to the statement, Ndayambaje said that among the women were some who could write and were in correspondence with the *Inkotanyi*. According to the statement the women were massacred "on the spot". 12391 Witness OAR testified that this was not correct; she did not say that they were killed on the spot, but that they were taken to the furnaces at Gasenvi. 12392

4662. Witness QAR testified that before 6 April 1994, she attended several meetings convened by Ndayambaje at the Muganza commune office. Those meetings in Muganza commune took place both before and after the war. There was approximately one meeting per month. After the death of the President, there were meetings almost every day. 12393

Prosecution Witness QAF

4663. Witness QAF, a Hutu farmer from Mugombwa secteur, Muganza commune, convicted of genocide-related crimes and released from prison in 2003, 12394 testified that he attended a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office. 12395 Witness QAF arrived late and was told when he arrived that Ndayambaje had been appointed the new bourgmestre but he had missed the announcement 12396

4664. The day after the meeting at the Muganza commune office, young Tutsi girls from Witness QAF's neighbourhood were abducted. He later heard that they had been killed. One of the girls was the daughter of Nyarunani, another the daughter of Melchior, and the last one was the daughter of Pascal. 12397 They were young and none of them had children. The girls had been seeking refuge at Jean Mukundirehe's house, since their fathers had been killed. The mothers of two of the girls were still alive. The girls were flushed out from Mukundirehe's house and were subsequently killed. 12398

4665. On the day of the abduction the witness was at home and heard screaming. He saw a large group of people leading the girls away. He recognised one of the assailants, Jean Baptiste Mukurarinda, who appeared to be the leader of the group. The attackers were armed with traditional weapons, including machetes, clubs and spears. He could not say how many

T. 21 November 2001 pp. 107-108 (Witness QAR); see Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

¹²³⁹¹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 111 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR to Belgian Authorities).

¹²³⁹² T. 21 November 2001 pp. 111-113 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁹³ T. 15 November 2001 pp. 139, 141, 143; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 69-71 (Witness QAR).

¹²³⁹⁴ T. 6 February 2004 pp. 26-28 (ICS); T. 9 February 2004 p. 5 (Witness QAF); Prosecution Exhibit 74 (Personal Particulars). 12395 T. 9 February 2004 p. 7 (Witness QAF).

¹²³⁹⁶ T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 6 February 2004 pp. 6-7 (Witness QAF).

¹²³⁹⁷ T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 5 February 2004 p. 73 (ICS); T. 6 February 2004 pp. 16, 19, 30 (ICS) (Witness

¹²³⁹⁸ T. 6 February 2004 pp. 16, 18-19 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

assailants there were since they were running when they passed his house. The abduction took place early in the morning. 12399 He did not see the girls being killed but Mukundirehe, his neighbour, told him he participated in the burial of the girls. 12400 Witness QAF did not know Witness QAR. 12401

4666. Witness QAF testified that he knew Ndayambaje well. When they were young, they attended the same primary school and later he saw Ndayambaje when Ndayambaje became the bourgmestre who replaced Chrysologue Bimenyimana. The witness identified Ndayambaje in court. 12402

Prosecution Witness FAU

4667. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer from Muganza commune and a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that he met an 18-year-old Tutsi girl called Nambaje. 12403 She was the daughter of Anaclet and was with a five-year-old girl. 12404 He found them in Kivumo secteur with the girl's grandfather and brought them to a house. 12405 Witness FAU admitted that during the period that he hid Nambaje at a house and he sexually abused her. 12406

4668. After a month, in late May or early June 1994, three assailants called Cassien Ngona. Nyambindi and Rutabana came to the house, accompanied by a crowd who remained outside. 12407 They took Nambaje and the young girl and killed them in the home of a Tutsi named Kinyagiro who had also been killed. Witness FAU testified that before taking Nambaje, Cassien Ngona told the witness that there had been a meeting the purpose of which was to swear in Ndayambaje, 12409 and at which Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had said, "when you clean a house, you do not keep the dirt inside the house, but you take it outside of the house and if anyone is protecting a girl, he or she must hand her over to the assailants; otherwise, he will be killed by the assailants." The assailants said if a person hiding a Tutsi refused to hand that Tutsi over to the killers, that person would also be killed because the people hiding Tutsis in their homes were going to cause subsequent problems. 12411

4669. Witness FAU did not attend the meeting but heard it was attended by the conseillers and other people leading the attacks. Witness FAU did not take part in that meeting because he was protecting Nambaje and the five-year-old child who was with her and he wanted to avoid

```
<sup>12399</sup> T. 6 February 2004 pp. 18-19, 30 (ICS) (Witness QAF).
```

¹²⁴⁰⁰ T. 6 February 2004 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁴⁰¹ T. 6 February 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁴⁰² T. 5 February 2004 pp. 69-70; T. 9 February 2004 p. 5 (Witness QAF).

¹²⁴⁰³ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 88-89 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴⁰⁴ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80, T. 8 March 2004 p. 84 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴⁰⁵ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 74-75; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 28-30 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴⁰⁶ T. 8 March 2004 p. 88 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴⁰⁷ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 9 March 2004 p. 22 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 p. 27 (HC) (Witness FAU) (French) (for the spelling of the assailants' names). 12408 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 75, 77 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴⁰⁹ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴¹⁰ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 9 March 2004 p. 23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁴¹¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 76 (Witness FAU).

a situation in which they would be taken away. ¹²⁴¹² All the inhabitants of his *secteur* including the *conseillers* were aware that he was hiding Nambaje. ¹²⁴¹³

4670. The meeting ended at approximately 5.00 or 6.00 p.m. after which the assailants came to the house. The witness knew Ndayambaje but not Nteziryayo, but he had been told that Nteziryayo was the *préfet* and chaired the ceremony at which Ndayambaje was sworn in as the *bourgmestre*. When it was put to the witness that his previous statement said that this meeting with Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje took place before the killings at Mugombwa Church and at Kabuye Hill, the witness explained that in fact, the ceremony during which it was said that they had to sweep dirt out took place after the events of Mugombwa and Kabuye. Witness FAU also testified that he joined the army approximately one week after Nambaje was killed, but did not complete the training because the RPF arrived.

4671. When confronted with his statement to the Rwandan Prosecutor that said he saw Nteziryayo at a meeting in his *commune*, Witness FAU stated his statement must have been taken down mistakenly because while he talked about that meeting, he did not attend it. 12417

4672. Witness FAU identified Ndayambaje in court. Throughout his testimony, the witness referred to Ndayambaje as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. The witness saw Ndayambaje three times: the first time at a meeting convened by *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue at Mugombwa; the second time when they went together to Kibuye; and the last time when he joined the army at a place called Foyer, on which occasion, he and Ndayambaje both travelled in the same vehicle. Witness FAU did not see Ndayambaje again after he arrived at the Foyer.

Ndayambaje Defence Witness JAMES

4673. Witness JAMES, a Hutu student with a Tutsi mother, was 14 years old in 1994 and from Mugombwa *secteur*, Muganza *commune*. Witness JAMES testified that Witness QAR gave false testimony about the abduction of Tutsi women and girls. Witness JAMES testified that he lived in a house 400 metres from that of Witness QAR. On cross-examination, Witness JAMES testified that he last met with Witness QAR the day before he left to testify before this Tribunal. The witness stated that he never discussed the events at

```
12412 T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness FAU).
12413 T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).
12414 T. 4 March 2004 p. 76; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 21-22 (ICS) (Witness FAU).
12415 T. 10 March 2004 pp. 26-27 (Witness FAU).
12416 T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80-81 (Witness FAU).
12417 T. 9 March 2004 p. 20 (ICS) (Witness FAU).
12418 T. 4 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness FAU).
12419 T. 9 March 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAU).
12420 T. 9 March 2004 p. 62 (Witness FAU).
12421 T. 9 March 2004 pp. 62-63 (Witness FAU).
12422 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 77-79 (Witness FAU).
12423 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 77, 79; T. 9 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness FAU).
12424 T. 4 March 2004 pp. 77; T. 9 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness FAU).
12425 T. 2 June 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).
```

¹²⁴²⁶ T. 2 June 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴²⁷ T. 2 June 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

Mugombwa in 1994 with Witness QAR but Witness QAR often discussed the events with Witness JAMES' mother and he listened to their conversations. 12428

4674. Witness JAMES identified the house where Witness QAR sought refuge during the events, as the building on the extreme left of Defence Exhibit 655A. To the extreme right of Defence Exhibit 655A was the bar where he worked, which was his brother's old house. 12429

4675. Witness JAMES testified that around 20 and 21 May 1994, young women and girls who remained in his area were killed. At around 1.00 p.m. that day, the witness was working outside at his brother's bar when he saw some assailants pass by with seven or eight girls, heading towards the Statue of the Virgin Mary. The women and girls had been taken from their hiding places in the village. Witness JAMES recognised Yacinthe from Mpatsimondo, and Nyirangazari among them. He did not see Witness QAR with them. According to Witness JAMES, Witness QAR was at the house all day on the day of the abduction and did not travel to the Statue of the Virgin Mary with the assailants. AMES testified that Hyacinthe, Juvénal's daughter, was a relative of his. She was a Tutsi, like all women and girls who were abducted with her.

4676. Witness JAMES testified that the group of assailants was led by a very well-known person called Masima from Saga *secteur*, in Kibayi *commune*. The group was armed with traditional weapons. Witness JAMES followed the convoy up to the Statue of the Virgin Mary. The distance between his elder brother's bar and the statue was 115 metres. Witness JAMES saw Witness BOZAN at the Statue of the Virgin Mary. Witness BOZAN was trying to convince the assailants to release the women and girls but the assailants refused. Witness JAMES stayed at the statue for less than five minutes before returning to his brother's bar to resume his work. He did not see Witness QAR or Ndayambaje in the vicinity or at the Statue of the Virgin Mary on that day. The witness testified that young people from Mugombwa told him afterwards that the girls and women were killed at the Statue of the Virgin Mary. Chrysologue was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* when the abduction of the young women and girls occurred. 12434

4677. Witness JAMES testified that he knew Ndayambaje, who lived in Nyarunazi, Mugombwa *secteur* in Muganza *commune*, in 1994. Ndayambaje was a student at that time. A distance of 100 to 120 metres separated the witness' parents' house and that of Ndayambaje. 12435

¹²⁴²⁸ T. 3 June 2008 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴²⁹ T. 3 June 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³⁰ T. 2 June 2008 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³¹ T. 3 June 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³² T. 2 June 2008 pp. 45, 47-48 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³³ T. 3 June 2008 p. 33 (ICS); T. 4 June 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³⁴ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 46-47, 49-50, 52, 53-54 (ICS); T. 2 June 2008 p. 55 (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁴³⁵ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 13-14 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

Ndayambaje Defence Witness BOZAN

4678. Witness BOZAN, a Hutu civil servant from Muganza *commune*, testified that he knew Yasina, who was Nyarunani's daughter. Nyarunani lived in the same *secteur* as the witness in 1994. The witness stated that Yasina took refuge at his home. At the beginning of the unrest in April 1994, Yasina and another girl called Nyirakadori sought refuge at the house of the witness' neighbour, Jean Mukundirehe. The witness testified that his house was about 100 metres away from Jean Mukundirehe's house. 12437

4679. Witness BOZAN testified that Yasina and Nyirakadori were abducted by a group of about 30 assailants between 15 and 20 May 1994. The assailants included some Burundians and were led by Jean Baptiste Mukurarinda, also known as Masima, and Raymond. The witness also recognised Damascene Nyamukwaya among them. They were armed with traditional weapons. The witness was in front of his house when Masima and his group launched an attack resulting in the abduction of Yasina and Nyirakandori. The attack took place at about 3.00 p.m. Yasina and Nyirakandori were in company of Witness MATIC in a field where they were abducted. 12439 The abducted girls were Tutsis. 12440 The convoy of assailants passed by his house taking with them Yasina and Nyirakadori. Witness BOZAN tried to intercept them but one of the assailants pointed his spear to at him and told him it was not any of his business. Witness BOZAN followed the convoy to the Statue of the Virgin Mary not far from the church where other abducted girls were. There were two girls called Yasina among the abductees. In addition to Yasina and Nyirakandori, Nyarunani's daughters, Yasina, Mpatsimondo's daughter from Mugombwa secteur, Karonkano cellule, was among them. 12441 Nyarunani and Mpatsimondo were both dead. Nyarunani had been dead for some time and Mpatsimondo died in April 1994. Both men were Tutsis. 12442

4680. The convoy reached the Statue of the Virgin Mary at about 3.15 p.m. Witness BOZAN testified that upon their arrival at the Statue of the Virgin Mary, he asked the assailants to release the girls or at least to inform their respective families, but his request was rejected. There were other people present at the scene who were arguing with the assailants. Witness MATIC was there, as was Nyarunani's wife and the cousins of the abducted girls but they could not do anything. Witness BOZAN indicated that his conversation with the assailants lasted about five minutes. 12445

4681. Witness BOZAN went to Kalinda's house to ask him for a motorbike in order to go and inform the *bourgmestre* of what was going on. Witness BOZAN did not see Ndayambaje between his arrival at the Statue of the Virgin Mary and his departure to Kalinda's place, close by. The witness met Kalinda at his house and asked Kalinda to drive him to the *commune*

```
<sup>12436</sup> T. 16 September 2008 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).
```

¹²⁴³⁷ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴³⁸ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 14-15 (ICS); T. 17 September 2008 p. 69 (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴³⁹ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 14-15, 45 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴⁰ T. 17 September 2008 p. 68 (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴¹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴² T. 18 September 2008 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴³ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴⁴ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴⁵ T. 16 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

office. On arrival at the *commune* they were told that the *bourgmestre* was not present so they decided to wait for him to return. After about 45 minutes, they decided to go back to the Statue of the Virgin Mary but before they left they asked a policeman at the commune office to report the incident to the *bourgmestre*. ¹²⁴⁴⁶ The round-trip took about one hour and 15 minutes to one hour and 25 minutes. ¹²⁴⁴⁷ When he returned to the Statue of the Virgin Mary, he was told that the girls had been taken to Gasenyi to be killed. 12448 He did not see Ndayambaje present at the statue. 12449

4682. Witness BOZAN testified that he knew Witness QAR and that she was not among the girls who were abducted and taken to the Statue of the Virgin Mary. 12450 The witness denied Prosecution Counsel's suggestion that the abductions took place in mid-June 1994, during the harvest. Witness BOZAN testified that he wrote a report on the incident for the attention of the conseiller, which was transmitted to the commune office. However, no assailant was arrested 12451

Ndavambaie Defence Witness MUZIK

4683. Witness MUZIK, a Hutu farmer from Muganza commune 12452 and husband of Defence Witness MATIC, testified that after the death of the president on 6 April 1994, when the war broke out, two girls, Yasina and Nyirakadori, sought refuge at Nyirabashytsi's house on 22 April 1994. Witness MUZIK testified that Nyirakadori's father was Melchior Nibizi and Yasina's father was Juvénal Nyarunani; both girls were Tutsis. 12453

4684. Witness MUZIK testified that one day in mid-May 1994, he went to Macumi's home to collect money from a sale of banana wine. On his return, he met an old woman called Nyiramanywa who told the witness that Yasina and Nyirakadori had been abducted from Nyirabashytsi's house. On arriving home, Witness MUZIK's wife was crying and she told him that Yasina and Nyirakadori had been with her collecting sweet potato plants when they were abducted. 12454 They were abducted by assailants from Saga in Kibayi *commune*, led by Masima Baptiste. 12455 Witness MUZIK went to Nyirabashytsi's house and learned that Mukundirehe was not there. He followed the assailants from his home, towards the road below the parish because he had learned that the abductors had gone in that direction. He joined a number of people, including Jean Mukundirehe, at Felesi's home below the parish. They followed the attackers to Gasenyi. 12456

4685. The killing of Yasina and Nyirakadori took place at Gasenyi. Witness MUZIK testified that on arriving at Gasenyi, on the border between Kibayi and Muganza, the assailants were

```
<sup>12446</sup> T. 16 September 2008 pp. 18, 20-21 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).
```

¹²⁴⁴⁷ T. 18 September 2008 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴⁸ T. 16 September 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁴⁹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁵⁰ T. 16 September 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁵¹ T. 18 September 2008 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁴⁵² T. 19 June 2008 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

T. 19 June 2008 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁵⁴ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 31, 33 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁵⁵ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 46, 69 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁵⁶ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 30, 34-35 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

already on the other side. The assailants pointed out the bodies of Yasina and Nyirakadori to them. These bodies had been hacked into pieces using machetes and the corpses had been dumped in pits which were used as ovens for making bricks. There were a total of five dead bodies in the pits, including three other girls he did not know. Witness MUZIK and some others buried the corpses using hoes borrowed from the home of Mr. Butoyi and Mr. Sendegeya who lived above Gasenyi. They left the site between 4.00 p.m. and 5.00 p.m. ¹²⁴⁵⁷

4686. After the burial of Yasina, Nyirakadore and the other three girls at Gasenyi, he went with others to the *conseiller* of Mugombwa *secteur*, Viateur Singirankabo, to report the incident. The *conseiller* was recovering from an illness. On receiving the news he insisted on being escorted to break the news to the authorities. The witness and others accompanied the *conseiller* to the Muganza *commune* office where they met *Bourgmestre* Chrysologue Bimenyimana at around 5.00 p.m. ¹²⁴⁵⁸

4687. Witness MUZIK testified that *Bourgmestre* Bimenyimana told the *conseiller* that someone else had already informed him about the dead girls and he would visit the site the next day with an investigation officer to carry out an investigation on the killings. 12459

4688. Witness MUZIK testified that Ndayambaje was reinstated as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* at the end of June 1994. He did not see Ndayambaje on the day of the abduction of Yasina and Nyirakadori. Ndayambaje was not the *bourgmestre* at the time of the abduction and killing of Yasina and Nyirakadori. Chrysologue Bimenyimana was *bourgmestre*. The witness disagreed that the attack took place in June 1994, insisting that the girls were abducted in mid-May 1994. 12462

4689. On cross-examination, Witness MUZIK denied that someone bearing his name, and whose father and mother had the same names as his father and mother, had been the subject of *Gacaca* proceedings in Rwanda in 2007, and was sentenced to 17 years imprisonment for participation in killings and destruction of houses. He testified that he knew nothing about this. 12463

4690. On cross-examination, Witness MUZIK denied participating in an attack at Come. He also denied participating in an attack launched on the house of Wagibago or in the attacks during the course of which Baributsa and Ntirantekura were killed. 12464

4691. Witness MUZIK testified that he was illiterate and could not recall the exact dates of events, though he could give estimates. He further stated that his wife was aware that he testified before the Tribunal but was unaware of the content of his testimony. 12466

¹²⁴⁵⁷ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 35-37 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁵⁸ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 26-27, 37-38 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁵⁹ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 42-43 (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶⁰ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 16, 45; T. 19 June 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶¹ T. 19 June 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶² T. 19 June 2008 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶³ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 52-53, 56 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶⁴ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁴⁶⁵ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 22, 60 (Witness MUZIK).

Ndayambaje Defence Witness MATIC

- 4692. Witness MATIC, a Hutu farmer and wife of Defence Witness MUZIK, from Muganza *commune*, ¹²⁴⁶⁷ testified that one Thursday in April 1994, two Tutsi girls, Nyirakadori and Yasina, came to seek refuge at Agnes Nyirabashyitsi's house where Mukundirehe also lived. Nyarunani was Yasina's father, and Melchior Nibizi was Nyirakadori's father. ¹²⁴⁶⁸
- 4693. Witness MATIC testified that about 20 assailants made up of Burundian refugees led by Masima, came from Saga and found the witness, Yasina and Nyirakadori in a sorghum field while they were harvesting sweet potatoes at about 3.00 p.m. Witness MATIC knew that they were Burundians because they were speaking Kirundi, a Burundian language. On cross-examination, she stated that they were collecting sweet potato stems from a sorghum farm. The assailants were armed with clubs and disguised in a way that made it impossible for the witness to recognise them. The assailants seized Yasina and Nyirakadori and took them away. This incident happened in mid-April 1994. On cross-examination she testified that the abductions took place in May 1994. Ndayambaje was reinstated as the *bourgmestre* in June 1994. On being questioned by the Bench following her cross-examination, the witness testified that the abductions took place at nightfall around mid-April 1994. 12474
- 4694. Witness MATIC's husband told her that after their abduction, Yasina and Nyirakadori were subsequently killed. 12475 Her husband was away on the day Yasina and Nyirakadori were abducted; he left in the morning and returned that evening, after the girls had been taken away. 12476
- 4695. The witness was illiterate and testified that she did not retain dates. ¹²⁴⁷⁷ The witness discussed the events of 1994 with her husband and he told her what he was going to say in his testimony before the Tribunal. ¹²⁴⁷⁸

Ndayambaje Defence Witness ANGES

4696. Witness ANGES, a Hutu shopkeeper from Muganza *commune*, testified that in May 1994, she witnessed an attack in Mugombwa. The attack was led by Masima, a primary school teacher from Saga. Burundian assailants participated in that attack. The witness was at her shop and saw that the assailants abducted persons, among them a girl from Saga called Pelagie

```
12466 T. 19 June 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).
12467 T. 18 June 2008 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12468 T. 18 June 2008 pp. 59, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12469 T. 18 June 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12470 T. 19 June 2008 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12471 T. 19 June 2008 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12472 T. 18 June 2008 pp. 65-66, 69 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12473 T. 19 June 2008 pp. 16 (Witness MATIC).
12474 T. 19 June 2008 pp. 16 (Witness MATIC).
12475 T. 18 June 2008 pp. 70 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12476 T. 19 June 2008 pp. 9 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12477 T. 18 June 2008 pp. 74 (Witness MATIC).
12478 T. 18 June 2008 pp. 76 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).
12479 T. 20 August 2008 pp. 48-51, 53 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).
```

and another girl. Later, she learned from some people who had followed the assailants that the abducted persons had been killed at a brick factory between Saga and Mugombwa. 12480

4697. Witness ANGES testified that at the time of the abduction, Chrysologue was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*, not Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje was sworn in as *bourgmestre* later, towards the end of June 1994. 12481

Ndayambaje Defence Witness Constant Julius Goetschalckx a.k.a. Brother Stan

4698. Brother Stan testified that in early May 1994, he heard broadcasts on Radio *Muhabura* that the RPF was aware that the witness and others had cleaned Mugombwa Church. This news created a wave of panic regarding how the RPF had become aware of what had happened at Mugombwa. It also led to the hunting down of a number of girls living in Mugombwa, who were subsequently killed in the valley below the brick manufacturing industry between the parish and Saga, on 11 May 1994. He knew the date because he fell ill with malaria following this event. On that day, Brother Stan was driving through Mugombwa Parish towards the school, APAME, when he was surrounded by a group of young men carrying spears, chasing a young girl who was trying to escape. The attackers ran past the witness and continued chasing the girl. The witness carried on towards the school. 12482

4699. Brother Stan testified that he met Ndayambaje in 1988, when he was *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune*. 12483

Ndayambaje Defence Witness KWEPO

4700. Witness KWEPO, a Hutu banana beer vendor from Muganza *commune*, testified that in April 1994, two or three days after the outbreak of the war in Muganza, Witness FAU forced a Tutsi girl, Nambaje, who was about 16 years old, into marriage. The witness saw Nambaje sometimes helping her husband sell banana beer. According to Witness KWEPO, Nambaje remained in Witness FAU's house for about a week and a half. Witness KWEPO testified that Witness FAU lived with his parents in Mugombwa *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, about one kilometre away from the witness' house. In 1994, Witness FAU was between 16 and 17 years old. Witness FAU was between 16 and 17 years old.

4701. Witness KWEPO testified that Nambaje was killed in early May 1994. Witness KWEPO saw many attackers, among them Masima, Ngona and Nyirinkwaya. They passed in front of KWEPO's house escorting six or seven abducted girls and forced the girls to cross the river. Among the abducted persons were Adele, Nambaje and Ntanpuhwe's daughter. Witness KWEPO testified that shortly afterwards he went to Witness FAU's house where

```
12480 T. 20 August 2008 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness ANGES).
12481 T. 20 August 2008 pp. 54, 59 (ICS); T. 20 August 2008 p. 55 (Witness ANGES).
12482 T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).
12483 T. 18 September 2008 p. 27 (Brother Stan).
12484 T. 27 August 2008 pp. 17, 52 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).
12485 T. 27 August 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).
12486 T. 27 August 2008 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).
12487 T. 27 August 2008 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).
12488 T. 27 August 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS); T. 28 August 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).
```

Witness FAU confirmed that his wife was among the abducted persons. The witness suggested that Witness FAU contact the authorities, in particular the bourgmestre, Chrysologue Bimenyimana, to prevent the attackers from harming the victims. In the evening of that day, a person called Nsangande told Witness KWEPO that the girls had been killed near a brick factory located at Gasenyi, on the border between Saga and Mugombwa. 12489 Witness KWEPO testified that the abduction of the girls did not take place on the day of Ndayambaje's swearing-in as bourgmestre, contrary to Witness FAU's testimony. 12490

Ndayambaje Defence Witness SABINE

4702. Witness SABINE, a Hutu farmer from Muganza commune who had convictions for genocide-related killings, had already served his sentence and been released from prison when he gave evidence before the Tribunal. 12491 The witness testified that, along with Ngona and Nsanzuwera, he participated in attacks on Josiah's children after they fled Kabuye Hill in April 1994. Witness SABINE killed one of Josiah's sons at Ntabizi's house. 12492 The witness along with other attackers took Jacqueline, Lydie and Adele out of Maharariveri's house. 12493 Jacqueline was about 16 years old, Lydie nearly 19 and Adele was about 23. They were the daughters of Josiah and Doroka. 12494 Déo Gakwandi immediately took Adele away to forcibly marry her. The other girls were killed on the roadside by Ngarukiye, Nyirinkwaya, Kanyota and Sendama. 12495 On cross-examination it was pointed out that in a record of Gacaca proceedings involving Witness SABINE in 2006, the witness had stated that the killings took place in May 1994, rather than April 1994 as he testified at trial. Witness SABINE testified that this was mistakenly recorded. 12496

4703. Witness SABINE testified that Adele was killed towards the end of April 1994. He learned of her death from Déo Gakwandi who had taken her as his wife by force. On the day she was taken away, she passed close to the witness' house. 12497 On cross-examination, Witness SABINE testified that he had told the Defence that Adele was killed in the first few days of May 1994. On being asked by the Prosecution to clarify when Adele died, he testified that she died towards the end of April or early May 1994. He witnessed her abduction. There were between 10 and 15 girls; some Tutsis, some Hutus whose fathers were said to be giving contributions to the *Inkotanyi*. Some of the girls' fathers had already been killed. 12498

4704. Witness SABINE testified that Witness FAU forcibly married a Tutsi girl named Nambaje, daughter of Anaclet. He knew Nambaje prior to the events of April 1994. He could not recall the dates but thought that Witness FAU took her as his wife at the beginning of the killings. Nambaje lived with Witness FAU for less than one week. Witness SABINE saw her

¹²⁴⁸⁹ T. 27 August 2008 pp. 17-19 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁴⁹⁰ T. 27 August 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁴⁹¹ Defence Exhibit 659 (Ndayambaje) (Personal Particulars); T. 16 June 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹² T. 12 June 2008 pp. 32-34 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹³ T. 12 June 2008 p. 36 (ICS); T. 16 June 2008 p. 22 (ICS); T. 16 June 2008 p. 23 (HC) (Witness SABINE) (French).

12494 T. 12 June 2008 p. 36 (ICS); T. 16 June 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹⁵ T. 12 June 2008 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹⁶ T. 16 June 2008 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹⁷ T. 12 June 2008 pp. 37, 39-40 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁴⁹⁸ T. 16 June 2008 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

every day, and confirmed that she was forcibly married to Witness FAU. 12499 Witness SABINE testified that Nambaje was killed in an attack spearheaded by Ngona towards mid-April 1994. 12500 On cross-examination he testified that she was killed towards the end of April 1994. 12501 He learned from Witness FAU that Nambaje had been abducted and killed by Ngona and his band. 12502 It was said that Nambaje was not killed because she was Tutsi but because she was supporting the *Inkotanyi*. Her father, Anaclet, was supporting the *Inkotanyi*. Nambaje was killed because she was his daughter. 12503

4705. When Nambaje was killed, Chrysologue Bimenyimana was the bourgmestre of Muganza commune; Nambaje was not abducted and killed on the day Ndayambaje was installed as bourgmestre. His father told him about the swearing-in of Ndayambaje and the days do not correspond. Witness SABINE fled to Burundi in July 1994, one week after the swearing-in ceremony. There were no more killings going on at that time. 12504

4706. Witness SABINE did not agree that between April and July 1994 it was primarily Tutsis who were killed; he stated that both Hutus and Tutsis died. 12505 Witness SABINE testified that in 1994, he knew Ndayambaje. Ndayambaje was a student in 1994. 12506 He saw Ndayambaje in July 1994 when they were fleeing Rwanda. 12507

Ndayambaje

4707. Ndayambaje testified that he was aware of the abduction of three girls by Masima's group; however this event occurred in May 1994, not after his swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. He never met Masima and the other assailants at the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa. At the time of the abduction he was bed-ridden, which is when he learned about the incident. 12508

3.6.44.4 Deliberations

4708. It is not disputed that a group of Tutsi women and girls were abducted from Mugombwa secteur. Muganza commune by some assailants from Saga and were subsequently killed. What is in dispute is when the abduction took place, and whether Ndayambaje was present during the abduction.

¹²⁴⁹⁹ T. 16 June 2008 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁰ T. 12 June 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰¹ T. 16 June 2008 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰² T. 12 June 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰³ T. 16 June 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁴ T. 12 June 2008 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁵ T. 16 June 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁶ T. 12 June 2008 pp. 21-22 (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁷ T. 17 June 2008 p. 6 (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵⁰⁸ T. 13 November 2008 pp. 36-37, 39-40 (Ndayambaje).

3.6.44.4.1 Timing and Reason for the Abductions

4709. The Prosecution alleges that the abduction took place the day after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. The Ndayambaje Defence asserts that the abduction took place long before Ndayambaje's swearing-in, around mid-May 1994. 12509

4710. Witness QAR testified that she was a survivor of the abduction in Mugombwa. According to her testimony, the abduction took place on 18 June 1994, in the days following a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office. Witness QAR testified that she remembers the date of the abduction as being 18 June 1994 because on that day she was lucky enough to escape with her life. The Chamber refers to its findings with respect to Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony and finds that it is not evident that the meeting about which Witness QAR testified is Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. Furthermore, the Chamber observes that Witness QAR may well have been mistaken while placing the purported meeting in mid-June 1994 due to the various meetings she attended at the Muganza *commune* office before, during and after the war. Furthermore, the Chamber recalls its previous finding that Witness QAR did not attend Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, given that she was a Tutsi (). The Chamber previously considered that Witness QAR's testimony as to what occurred at the swearing-in ceremony was hearsay evidence based upon what she subsequently gleaned from others ().

4711. The Chamber nevertheless finds Witness QAR to be credible in all other respects. Witness QAR may have a distorted view of the timing of the events in question given the passage of time, yet she corroborates that the event took place in June 1994. In this regard, she provided a very specific date and the level of detail proffered buttresses her credibility.

4712. Witness QAF testified that the abduction took place early in the morning on the day after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, a meeting which he attended. This Chamber has previously found his testimony regarding this meeting to be credible. This corroborates Witness QAR's testimony that the abduction occurred in June 1994.

4713. The Chamber observes that Witness FAU was a detained witness at the time of his testimony and was awaiting trial in Rwanda for crimes related to the 1994 genocide. The Chamber will therefore treat his testimony with appropriate caution. Witness FAU testified that the abductions took place in late May or early June 1994, and gave hearsay testimony that this followed a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office at which Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had said, "when you clean a house, you do not keep the dirt inside the house, but you take it outside of the house and if anyone is protecting a girl, he or she must hand her over to the

_

¹²⁵⁰⁹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 785.

¹²⁵¹⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 91, 95 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵¹¹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 96 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵¹² T. 15 November 2001 p. 143; T. 20 November 2001 pp. 69-70 (Witness OAR).

¹²⁵¹³ T. 5 February 2004 p. 68; T. 6 February 2004 pp. 6, 16, 18 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁵¹⁴ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

assailants; otherwise, he will be killed by the assailants." According to Witness FAU, the abduction took place in the evening of the same day. 12516

- 4714. Witness FAU also testified that he joined the army approximately one week after Nambaje was killed, but did not complete the training because the RPF arrived. However, the Chamber also recalls that Witness FAU testified that he took in Nambaje the day after the killings at Kabuye Hill, and kept Nambaje at the house for one month, perhaps from April until the end of May or early June, when assailants came to take Nambaje away and kill her. 12519
- 4715. Notwithstanding the inconsistencies in Witness FAU's evidence, he was living with Nambaje prior to her abduction and death. Consequently, the Chamber finds that he would have been in a better position to know as to what date this abduction occurred. Furthermore, even though Witness FAU did not partake in that day's ceremony, he was informed by assailants who came to the house to abduct Nambaje that they had attended a meeting that day, and the meeting's purpose was to swear in Ndayambaje. It was the assailants who told Witness FAU that at the meeting they attended Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje had referred to the need to clean a house, and throw the dirt out, and that those protecting Tutsi girls must hand them over to the assailants or be killed. The Chamber therefore considers Witness FAU's hearsay testimony to corroborate Witnesses QAR and QAF with regard to the date of the abduction.
- 4716. Ndayambaje Defence witnesses testified that the abduction of Tutsi girls in Mugombwa took place in, variously: mid-April, ¹²⁵²⁵ late April, ¹²⁵²⁶ early May, ¹²⁵²⁷ early-mid May, ¹²⁵²⁸ and mid-May 1994. ¹²⁵²⁹
- 4717. Notwithstanding the evidence brought by the Ndayambaje Defence, and the specific date provided by Witness QAR, the Chamber considers that the detailed evidence proffered by Prosecution Witnesses QAF and FAU affirms that the abduction took place after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. On the basis of Witness FAU's hearsay evidence that the assailants came to search for the girls because they were told to search for

¹²⁵¹⁵ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵¹⁶ T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵¹⁷ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80-81 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵¹⁸ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵¹⁹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 80; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵²⁰ T. 10 March 2004 p. 41 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵²¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 75; T. 8 March 2004 p. 90 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵²² T. 9 March 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵²³ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 93-94 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵²⁴ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 75-76; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80, 90; T. 9 March 2004 pp. 22-23 (ICS); T. 10 March 2004 pp. 24 (Witness FAU).

p. 24 (Witness FAU).

12525 T. 18 June 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness MATIC); T. 19 June 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness MATIC); T. 12 June 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵²⁶ T. 12 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵²⁷ T. 27 August 2008 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁵²⁸ T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁵²⁹ T. 16 September 2008 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN); T. 17 September 2008 p. 69 (Witness BOZAN); T. 19 June 2008 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK); T. 19 June 2008 p. 16 (Witness MATIC).

and throw out dirt, the Chamber also accepts that searches were carried out with a view to locating Tutsis.

- 3.6.44.4.2 Ndayambaje's Alleged Presence During the Abductions
- 4718. The Chamber will now consider whether Ndayambaje was present during the abduction in Mugombwa, which neither party contests occurred between April and June 1994.
- 4719. Witness QAR testified that she was among the women and girls who were abducted in Mugombwa. According to her testimony, Ndayambaje came to the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction, where the attackers were waiting for him, and told the attackers to do what they wanted with the women and girls and to take them away. She is the only witness to have testified to this fact.
- 4720. As the sole Prosecution witness to testify to Ndayambaje's alleged presence during the abduction, the Chamber will treat her testimony with appropriate caution. There were a number of eyewitnesses brought by the Prosecution and the Defence who testified to having witnessed various stages of the abduction: Prosecution Witnesses QAF and FAU and Defence Witnesses JAMES, BOZAN, MATIC, ANGES, Brother Stan and KWEPO. Defence Witnesses MUZIK, SABINE and Ndayambaje gave hearsay testimony regarding the attack.
- 4721. As to the evidence of Witness SABINE, the Chamber notes that this witness has convictions for genocide-related killings and his testimony should therefore be treated with appropriate caution. This was the only witness who specified that Nambaje was not killed because she was Tutsi but because she was supporting the *Inkotanyi*, as her father did. ¹²⁵³¹ The Chamber considers this a strange statement to make considering Nambaje was only 16 years old at the time.
- 4722. Furthermore, Witness SABINE's testimony with regard to the dates of the death of the girls was internally inconsistent. He changed his story from April 1994, to May 1994, to the end of April 1994, to the first few days of May and then the end of April and early May 1994. The Chamber finds this witness to be unreliable, especially given that he did not agree that between April and July 1994 it was primarily Tutsis who were killed; but stated that both Hutus and Tutsis died. The Chamber considers the witness is denying the genocide and therefore cannot be found credible in this regard.
- 4723. Witness QAR testified that she had known Ndayambaje since they were children. ¹²⁵³⁴ This was not challenged by the Ndayambaje Defence. The Chamber considers that Witness QAR's eyewitness testimony of the abduction is corroborated by both Prosecution and Defence witnesses with respect to a number of salient features of the attack; the identity of the attackers, the number of girls abducted, that some of the abductees were adolescents, that they were abducted from houses in Mugombwa, that the assailants gathered the women and girls at

_

¹²⁵³⁰ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60-61; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 60, 64 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵³¹ T. 16 June 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵³² T. 16 June 2008 p. 58 (ICS); T. 12 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS); T. 16 June 2008 pp. 62-63 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵³³ T. 16 June 2008 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness SABINE).

¹²⁵³⁴ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness QAR).

the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa where they argued with those who wanted to protect them, and that the girls were subsequently killed in Gasenyi, a valley between Mugombwa and Kibayi where there were furnaces. 12535

4724. Witness QAR testified that a man she knew, Masima from Saga, led the group of assailants. This is corroborated by a number of eyewitness accounts: Witness QAF who identified Masima by his real name, Jean Baptiste Mukurarinda, testified that he appeared to be the leader of the group; Vitness BOZAN testified that the assailants were led by Jean Baptiste Mukurarinda, also known as Masima; Vitness JAMES testified that the group of assailants was led by a well-known person called Masima from Saga secteur; Vitness MATIC testified that the abductors were led by Masima from Saga; and Witness KWEPO testified that Masima was among the attackers.

4725. Witness QAR's account that eight women and girls were abducted ¹²⁵⁴² is largely corroborated by Witness JAMES' testimony that there were seven or eight girls, ¹²⁵⁴³ Witness KWEPO's testimony that there were six or seven girls, ¹²⁵⁴⁴ and Witness MUZIK's testimony that he saw five dead bodies at Gasenyi, including the bodies of two girls he knew, who were among those abducted. ¹²⁵⁴⁵

4726. That the group of abductees included adolescent girls, as asserted by Witness QAR¹²⁵⁴⁶ is corroborated by Witness QAF, who testified that he knew three of the abducted girls to be the young daughters of Nyarunani, Melchior and Pascal, none of whom had children; ¹²⁵⁴⁷ Witness FAU, who testified that Nambaje was 18 years old; ¹²⁵⁴⁸ Witness KWEPO, who testified that Nambaje was about 16 years old; ¹²⁵⁴⁹ and Brother Stan, who testified that as he drove through Mugombwa he witnessed a group of young men chasing a young girl. ¹²⁵⁵⁰

¹²⁵³⁵ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 58, 60-61 (Witness QAR); T. 21 November 2001 pp. 95-97, 101-103, 106 (Witness QAR); T. 5 February 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness QAF); T. 6 February 2004 pp. 16, 18-19, 30 (ICS) (Witness QAF); T. 16 September 2008 pp. 15, 17-18, 21, 45 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN); T. 2 June 2008 pp. 45-48, 50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); T. 18 June 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness MATIC); T. 27 August 2008 pp. 18-19, 52 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO); T. 28 August 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO); T. 19 June 2008 pp. 34-37 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK); T. 8 March 2004 p. 89 (ICS) (Witness FAU); T. 9 March 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness FAU); T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).

¹²⁵³⁶ T. 21 November 2001 p. 97 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵³⁷ T. 6 February 2004 pp. 18-19, 30 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁵³⁸ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 15, 45 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵³⁹ T. 2 June 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁴⁰ T. 18 June 2008 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness MATIC).

¹²⁵⁴¹ T. 27 August 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁵⁴² T. 21 November 2001 pp. 97-98, 106 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁴³ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 45, 47 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁴⁴ T. 28 August 2008 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁵⁴⁵ T. 19 June 2008 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁵⁴⁶ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 97-98 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁴⁷ T. 5 February 2004 p. 73 (ICS); T. 6 February 2004 pp. 16, 18 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁵⁴⁸ T. 8 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵⁴⁹ T. 27 August 2008 pp. 17, 52 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁵⁵⁰ T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan).

4727. The circumstances of the abduction about which Witness QAR testified, namely that the women and girls were taken from their homes, 12551 is corroborated by the eyewitness accounts of Witness QAF, who testified that the girls were flushed out from Jean Mukundirehe's house where they had been seeking refuge, ¹²⁵⁵² and Witness FAU's testimony that Nambaje was taken from a house by the attackers. ¹²⁵⁵³

4728. Witness QAR testified that the women and girls were gathered at the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa where there was a disagreement between the attackers from Saga and some people who were trying to protect them. 12554 In this respect, her account is corroborated by Witness JAMES who testified that he followed the convoy of assailants and abducted women and girls up to the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa, where he remained for about five minutes. 12555 According to Witness JAMES, he saw Witness BOZAN at the Statue of the Virgin Mary trying to convince the assailants to release the women and girls. 12556 Witness BOZAN's testimony provides further corroboration of this sequence of events: Witness BOZAN testified that he followed the convoy to the Statue of the Virgin Mary where he asked the assailants to release the girls, or to at least inform their respective families, but his request was rejected. There were other people present at the scene who were arguing with the assailants. 12557

4729. Witness QAR gave hearsay testimony that the women and girls were taken to Gasenyi, a valley between Mugombwa and Kibayi where there were furnaces, ¹²⁵⁵⁸ and where the women and girls were killed. ¹²⁵⁵⁹ She testified that she knew they were killed because none of them came back. 12560 Witness MUZIK's eyewitness account supports Witness QAR's hearsay testimony. Witness MUZIK testified that he followed the attackers to Gasenyi, on the border between Kibayi and Muganza communes, where he saw the bodies of five dead girls in pits which were used as ovens for making bricks. The bodies had been hacked into pieces using machetes. Witness MUZIK and some others buried the corpses. 12561 Witness ANGES, Witness KWEPO and Brother Stan gave hearsay testimony that the abducted persons had been killed at a brick factory between Saga and Mugombwa 12562 and Witness BOZAN gave hearsay testimony that the girls had been taken to Gasenvi to be killed. 12563

4730. Witness FAU testified that in late May or early June 1994, three assailants called Cassien Ngona, Nyambindi and Rutabana came to a house, accompanied by a crowd who

¹²⁵⁵¹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 103 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁵² T. 6 February 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QAF).

¹²⁵⁵³ T. 9 March 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵⁵⁴ T. 19 November 2001 p. 60; T. 21 November 2001 p. 99 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁵⁵ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁵⁶ T. 2 June 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁵⁷ T. 16 September 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁵⁸ T. 19 November 2001 p. 58; T. 21 November 2001 p. 101 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁵⁹ T. 19 November 2001 pp. 60-61; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 102, 107 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁶⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 102, 107 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁶¹ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 34-37 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁵⁶² T. 20 August 2008 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness ANGES); T. 18 September 2008 p. 49 (Brother Stan); T. 27 August 2008 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness KWEPO).

¹²⁵⁶³ T. 16 September 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

remained outside. 12564 They took Nambaje and the young girl she was looking after, and killed them in the home of a Tutsi named Kinyagiro, who had also been killed. 12565

- 4731. The Chamber considers Witness MUZIK's account of the event to be not credible. The witness was charged with the custody of Yasina and another girl, 12566 the daughter of his cousin's wife, and yet was not able to prevent her death. He was not present during their abduction and therefore his evidence is questionable. The Chamber considers his testimony to be not credible in this regard.
- 4732. The Chamber finds that while Witness QAR's account of the circumstances of the abduction is corroborated in material respects by both Prosecution and Defence witnesses, she is the sole witness to testify that she was among the abducted women and girls, and that Ndayambaje was present during the abduction.
- 4733. The Chamber recalls that on cross-examination, the Ndayambaje Defence sought to adduce some inconsistencies between Witness QAR's testimony at trial and her previous statements to the Tribunal's investigators. Witness QAR was referred to her previous statement of 14 October 1997 which states that there was a house-to-house search and that four girls from Karonkano cellule, Mugombwa secteur, and a teacher from Saga were brought out. The teacher was accused of writing to the Inkotanyi. The statement recorded that when Ndayambaje arrived in Mugombwa he said, "[w]ere you not told that if you sweep the dirt towards your house it heaps up and ends up chasing you out of your house, then throw away the dirt". 12567 Witness QAR testified her statement was not recorded correctly. More than four women were detained; four were from Mugombwa and four were from other secteurs. 12568 She further testified that the words that she attributed to Ndayambaje in her testimony at trial, i.e. that the attackers should do what they wanted with the women and girls, and that among those abducted were intellectuals who should be taken away, had the same meaning as those reflected in her previous statement. 12569 According to this statement, Witness QAR did not know what finally happened to the abducted women and girls, but she later learned that they had been taken to a brickyard in Mugombwa. 12570
- 4734. On being referred to her previous statement of 20 June 1995, which stated that among the women were some who could write and were in correspondence with the *Inkotanyi*, and that the women were massacred "on the spot", Witness QAR testified that this was not correct; she did not say that they were killed on the spot but that they were taken to the furnaces at Gasenyi. The Chamber accepts Witness QAR's explanation for this minor discrepancy. The Chamber does not consider these alleged inconsistencies between her testimony at trial and her previous statements of 14 October 1997 and 20 June 1997 to be sufficiently serious to

_

¹²⁵⁶⁴ T. 9 March 2004 p. 22 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 p. 27 (HC) (Witness FAU) (French) (for spelling of the assailants' names).

¹²⁵⁶⁵ T. 4 March 2004 pp. 75, 77 (Witness FAU).

¹²⁵⁶⁶ T. 19 June 2008 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness MUZIK).

¹²⁵⁶⁷ Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (14 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁶⁸ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 105-106 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁶⁹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 106 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁷⁰ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 107-108 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁷¹ T. 21 November 2001 pp. 111-113 (Witness QAR); Defence Exhibit 11B (Ndayambaje) (20 June 1995, Statement of Witness QAR to Belgian Authorities).

undermine Witness QAR's credibility; the inconsistencies are minor and do not go to the root of her account.

4735. The Chamber observes that Defence Witnesses JAMES and BOZAN directly contradict Witness QAR's testimony. According to their testimonies, Witness QAR was not among the abductees and Ndayambaje did not speak with the assailants at the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction. 12572

4736. The Chamber accepts Witness JAMES' evidence insofar as it corroborates Witness QAR's account of the abduction of the Tutsi women and girls and their gathering at the Statue of the Virgin Mary in Mugombwa. The Chamber observes that Witness JAMES testified that Witness QAR gave false testimony regarding the abduction of Tutsi women and girls. According to Witness JAMES, Witness QAR was at a house all day on the day of the abduction and did not travel to the Statue of the Virgin Mary with the assailants. ¹²⁵⁷³

4737. Witness JAMES testified that on the day of the abduction he was working outside, at his brother's bar. The Chamber observes that Defence Exhibit 655A identifies the location of the witness' brother's bar in relation to the house where the witness asserts Witness QAR sought refuge during the day of the abduction. The Chamber considers that, notwithstanding the proximity between the two locations, Witness JAMES was working on that day and therefore was not in a position to testify that Witness QAR did not leave the house at all on the day of the abduction. Furthermore, according to his testimony, when he followed the assailants to the Statue of the Virgin Mary, he was there for less than five minutes before returning to his place of work.

4738. According to Witness QAR's testimony, the assailants waited for some time for Ndayambaje to arrive. 12577 Given the short time that Witness JAMES was present at the Statue of the Virgin Mary, his testimony does not preclude Witness QAR's presence at the statue after he left. The Chamber therefore rejects Witness JAMES' testimony that Witness QAR gave false testimony regarding the abduction of Tutsi women and girls since he was not in a position to make this assertion.

4739. With respect to Witness JAMES' testimony that Ndayambaje was not present at the Statue of the Virgin Mary, the Chamber finds that he was at the Statue of the Virgin Mary for less than five minutes before returning to work, 115 metres away from the statue. ¹²⁵⁷⁸ Witness JAMES was therefore not in a position to testify that Ndayambaje did not arrive at the statue during the abduction, particularly since Witness QAR testified that Ndayambaje arrived in a vehicle and did not get out when he spoke with Masima. ¹²⁵⁷⁹

¹²⁵⁷² T. 2 June 2008 pp. 47-48, 52 (ICS) (Witness JAMES); T. 16 September 2008 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN); T. 18 September 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁷³ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁷⁴ T. 3 June 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁷⁵ T. 3 June 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁷⁶ T. 2 June 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁷⁷ T. 19 November 2001 p. 60; T. 21 November 2001 pp. 99-100 (Witness QAR).

¹²⁵⁷⁸ T. 2 June 2008 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁷⁹ T. 21 November 2001 p. 100 (Witness QAR).

- 4740. The Chamber recalls its previous finding that Witness JAMES' testimony is not credible in respect of his assertion that Witness QAR lied in relation to the massacre at Mugombwa Church (). The Chamber also recalls its previous finding that Witness JAMES' testimony that Witness QAR did not attend Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony was not credible (). Based upon the above considerations, the Chamber therefore finds that Witness JAMES' testimony that Ndayambaje did not come to the Statue of the Virgin Mary does not cast doubt on Witness QAR's eyewitness account.
- 4741. Witness BOZAN testified that he went to the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction to ask the assailants to release the women and girls. Witness BOZAN's presence at the statue is corroborated by Witness JAMES who saw him speaking with the attackers. The Chamber accepts the testimony of Witness BOZAN and Witness JAMES on this point.
- 4742. According to Witness BOZAN's testimony, neither Ndayambaje nor Witness QAR were present at the statue at this time. Witness BOZAN testified that the conversation between him and the assailants lasted about five minutes, after which time he left to inform the *bourgmestre* of what was going on. The Chamber finds that Witness BOZAN was only at the statue for about five minutes, at the same time as Witness JAMES. Like Witness JAMES, he too was not in a position to testify that Witness QAR or Ndayambaje were not present at the statue during the abduction at a later time.
- 4743. Witness BOZAN testified that he returned to the Statue of the Virgin Mary one hour and 15 to one hour and 25 minutes later. ¹²⁵⁸⁴ Upon return, he was informed that the girls had been taken to Gasenyi to be killed. ¹²⁵⁸⁵
- 4744. The Chamber therefore finds that Witness BOZAN's testimony that neither Witness QAR nor Ndayambaje were present at the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction does not cast doubt on Witness QAR's eyewitness account. Witness BOZAN was an official and should have, as such, been the first port of call for protection for these girls. He failed to take any steps to issue this protection and even though he knew the assailants, he did not arrest them. Furthermore, Witness BOZAN was implicated in the massacres at Mugombwa and was said to have had a machete when he went there. The Chamber therefore considers the testimony of Witness BOZAN is not credible.
- 4745. In summary, the presence of Witnesses BOZAN and JAMES in the vicinity of the Statue of the Virgin Mary on the day of the abduction, for a short overlapping period of time, does not preclude either Witness QAR's or Ndayambaje's presence at the site. Their evidence, although consistent, is not conclusive.
- 4746. In light of all of the foregoing, the Chamber finds Witness QAR's account of the abduction of Tutsi women and girls in Mugombwa to be credible. She was a survivor of the abduction and her testimony was compelling with respect to this allegation. The Chamber

¹²⁵⁸⁰ T. 16 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁸¹ T. 2 June 2008 p. 50 (ICS) (Witness JAMES).

¹²⁵⁸² T. 16 September 2008 pp. 18-19 (ICS); T. 18 September 2008 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁸³ T. 16 September 2008 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁸⁴ T. 18 September 2008 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

¹²⁵⁸⁵ T. 16 September 2008 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness BOZAN).

therefore finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje came to the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction and that he made it clear that the abductors were free to do what they wanted with the girls. The Chamber also finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that the abducted women and girls were subsequently killed at a brick factory at Gasenyi.

3.6.45 Evacuation of Tutsi Orphans, Mid-June 1994

3.6.45.1 Introduction

4747. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment both allege that in mid-June 1994, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation from Butare of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors. They selected approximately 40 individuals whom they believed to be adult Tutsis, and forced them to remain in Rwanda. 12586

4748. The Prosecution submits that on 5 June 1994, a convoy of orphans was to leave the *Groupe Scolaire* for the Burundi border. As the children were boarding the vehicles, Ntahobali arrived with *Interahamwe* and tried to prevent the children from embarking. The Prosecution contends that Ntahobali kicked and dragged the children and struck them with his rifle butt, and the *Interahamwe* in his company created disorder and pandemonium. At that stage, Colonel Munyengango and *Préfet* Nsabimana arrived and spoke with Ntahobali and his group, who then allowed the convoy to leave. 12587

4749. The Prosecution further submits that when the convoy arrived at the Akanyaru border in the evening, Nteziryayo collated the lists of the members of the convoy, read the names and prevented some people from crossing over. The Prosecution argues that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo segregated about 30 people, who were loaded into buses and taken back to Butare, on the basis that they were Tutsis. 12588

4750. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo's ability to intercept an International Red Cross evacuation and prevent individuals from crossing the border is indicative of Nteziryayo's power. 12589

4751. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness TQ and Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.

4752. The Ntahobali Defence denies that Ntahobali was present at the *Groupe Scolaire*, submitting alibi evidence placing him in Cyangugu from around 26 or 27 May 1994 to 5 June 1994. The Ntahobali Defence further submits that there was no incident of violence before the convoy set out. It also submits that the incidents described at the *Groupe Scolaire* during this time were perpetrated by wounded soldiers. The Defence submits that a civilian figure of

-

¹²⁵⁸⁶ Para. 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10 against Ntahobali); Para. 6.33 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo and in support of all counts against Nsabimana).

¹²⁵⁸⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 173, para. 45.

¹²⁵⁸⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 173, para. 46.

¹²⁵⁸⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 346, para. 129.

authority, and not the *Interahamwe*, sent the adults back from the border. ¹²⁵⁹⁰ Furthermore, the Ntahobali Defence denies that Nsabimana was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* at the outset of the convov. ¹²⁵⁹¹

4753. The Nteziryayo Defence does not deny that Nteziryayo was present throughout the evacuation of 5 June 1994. However, it denies Prosecution Witness TQ's uncorroborated evidence concerning the events that occurred along the route from *Groupe Scolaire* to the border and at the border itself. 12593

4754. In support of its submissions, the Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Defence teams rely on the testimonies of Ntahobali Defence Witness WTHSA, Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexis Briquet, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo. In support of his alibi, the Ntahobali Defence relies on Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Denise Ntahobali, Clarisse Ntahobali, Céline Nyiraneza, Witness WBUC, Maurice Ntahobali and Ntahobali Defence Witnesses Béatrice Munyenyezi and Witness WDUSA.

3.6.45.2 Preliminary Issues

4755. The Chamber notes that this allegation that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors from Butare, and subsequently selected approximately 40 individuals whom they believed to be adult Tutsis, forcing them to remain in Rwanda, was pled directly in the respective Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictments. 12594

4756. The Ntahobali Defence does not deny that the evacuation of orphans took place on 5 June 1994 from the *Groupe Scolaire*. It submits, however, that these events, directly implicating Ntahobali, were not clearly set forth in the Indictment and that the evidence led in relation thereto expanded the criminal responsibility alleged. 12595

4757. The Chamber recalls that the structure of Paragraph 6.33 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and Paragraph 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment are identical. Paragraph 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that in mid-June 1994, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation of orphans. ¹²⁵⁹⁶ Nevertheless, this paragraph fails to specify the actual date of the evacuation and the location where these incidents were purported to have occurred. The Chamber therefore finds this paragraph to be defective.

4758. The Chamber must then determine whether this specific paragraph has been cured of these defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

_

¹²⁵⁹⁰ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 10.

¹²⁵⁹¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 318, 320-322; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 10.

¹²⁵⁹² T. 6 June 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁵⁹³ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 710, 714-715; Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 29-30.

¹²⁵⁹⁴ Para. 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.33 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹²⁵⁹⁵ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (xvi).

Para. 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.33 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

4759. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness TQ, who was expected to testify that he organised a convoy of children to be evacuated from the *Groupe Scolaire* to the Burundian border on 5 June 1994. Prior to the evacuation, as the children were being loaded, Ntahobali arrived with a group of militiamen and soldiers, in order to prevent the children from embarking. The children were physically struck by members of this group. Ntahobali's group only abated in their attacks and let the convoy pass through when Nsabimana subsequently spoke to him. 12597

4760. Furthermore, Witness TQ was expected to testify that as the convoy went on its way, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo both tried to cut off the convoy being led by Nsabimana. Although the convoy made it to the border and managed to negotiate passage for the children without identification checks, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo arrived and imposed identification checks prior to allowing passage. They also refused to let about 30 people cross. These people were selected by Nteziryayo on the basis of their physical appearance. The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness TQ provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief provides adequate details as to the exact date and the specific locations.

4761. The Chamber further observes that the prior statement of Witness TQ, dated 28 and 29 July 1998, was disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998, 15 November 2000 and again on 4 December 2000. This statement made specific reference to the evacuation of orphans on 5 June 1994, and to the involvement of Ntahobali and Nteziryayo respectively. These disclosures were made well before the start of Witness TQ's testimony on 6 September 2004. 12599

4762. The Chamber finds that the substance of Witness TQ's previous statement is consistent with the summary of its anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief with respect to the attempts to prevent the evacuation of orphans and their adult supervisors and Ntahobali's and Nteziryayo's involvement therein.

4763. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraph 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is cured by the disclosure of timely, clear and consistent information in line with previous jurisprudence. Consequently, Ntahobali was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against him and there was no apparent prejudice in the preparation of his defence case.

_

¹²⁵⁹⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TQ (95) (in support of Counts 1-3, 8-9, 11 against Ntahobali)

¹²⁵⁹⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TQ (95) (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo and in support of Counts 1-3, 8-9, 11 against Ntahobali).

¹²⁵⁹⁹ 28 and 29 July 1998, Redacted Statement of Witness TQ, disclosed 4 November 1998 in French and in English; 28 and 29 July 1998, Unredacted Statement of Witness TQ, disclosed 1 February 2002 in French and in English

¹²⁶⁰⁰ See generally Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105.

3.6.45.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness TQ

4764. Witness TQ, a Hutu, was a detained witness when he gave his previous statement in July 1998, but was subsequently acquitted on charges of genocide when he gave evidence at trial. 12601 He was released on 21 January 2003. 12602 When testifying about refugees that were sheltered at the *Group Scolaire*, Witness TQ stated that on 21 April 1994, 12603 soldiers and civilians forced more than 1,500 Red Cross orphans, Red Cross employees and refugees outside and took them to the basketball courts. 12604 Around 40 persons were identified as Tutsis, based upon their identity cards or physical features, including the size of their nose, and were separated from the others. They were beaten, intimidated by the soldiers, characterised as RPF accomplices and called *Inkotanyi* and *Inyenzi* by the *Interahamwe*. 12605

4765. Witness TQ testified that on or around 28 May 1994, he and Alexis Briquet, a representative of the NGO *Terre des Hommes* went to see *Préfet* Nsabimana at the Butare *préfecture* office. They went there to show the *préfet* an official document which would allow them to evacuate children gathered at the *Groupe Scolaire* to Burundi. While Briquet was discussing matters with *Préfet* Nsabimana, Witness TQ saw Colonel Nteziryayo with Colonel Simba. The former told him that Red Cross employees were conniving with the enemy, sending youths to Burundi to join the ranks of the *Inkotanyi*.

4766. Witness TQ testified that there were four convoys in total, evacuating orphans and refugees to the Burundian border, two of which left from the *Groupe Scolaire*; the first on 4 June 1994 and the second on 5 June 1994. 12610

4767. On 5 June 1994 between 12.00 p.m. and 1.00 p.m., approximately 500 people, including Red Cross orphans, students from the *Groupe Scolaire*, refugees, orphans from Butare town or surrounding areas and members of the orphanage who belonged to the congregation of brothers, were prepared to travel in the long convoy of vehicles. ¹²⁶¹¹

4768. This convoy consisted of three ONATRACOM buses provided by the ESO command and *Préfet* Nsabimana, and a number of trucks belonging to the Catholic Relief Services and the ICRC. The number of evacuees on 4 and 5 June 1994 totalled more than 700 people, 80 percent of which were Tutsi orphans. The witness averred that each supervisor was in

```
12601 T. 7 September 2004 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12602 T. 7 September 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12603 T. 9 September 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12604 T. 6 September 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12605 T. 6 September 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12606 T. 6 September 2004 pp. 68-69 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12607 T. 6 September 2004 pp. 69 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12608 T. 9 September 2004 pp. 25 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12609 T. 6 September 2004 pp. 68-69 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 25 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12610 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 5, 8 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 28 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12611 T. 9 September 2004 pp. 7, 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12612 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12613 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 7, 9 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 26 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12613 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 7, 9 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 26 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

charge of groups of five children, and had a list of those under his care. 12614 However, the names on these lists were not the real names of the children and most of the children had no identity cards or documents with them. 12615

- 4769. Ntahobali, accompanied by around 20 Interahamwe and civilians, arrived at the Groupe Scolaire just as the children were boarding the first bus. 12616 The militiamen were wearing Interahamwe uniforms, namely the kitenge, while others were dressed in civilian clothes. They were bearing firearms and others were carrying traditional weapons. Ntahobali was sporting a very large beard; he was wearing trousers and was carrying a firearm, but had no uniform on. 12617 Soldiers arrived at the *Groupe Scolaire* prior to Ntahobali and his group and positioned themselves on the sidelines awaiting instructions from their superiors. 12618
- 4770. Ntahobali personally hit some children with his rifle butt, kicked them and dragged them away from the vehicles, preventing them from boarding the buses. 12619 The perpetrators acted in plain sight of everyone and in broad daylight. The children struck by Ntahobali and his group were less than 14 years of age. Some of them sustained fractures 12621 and it clearly appeared as though it was an operation to prevent the children from fleeing. 12622
- 4771. At this point, Colonel Munyengango and *Préfet* Nsabimana arrived. The officials spoke to Ntahobali and his group, who then stood aside, and the children boarded the vehicles. There was pandemonium, and some of the young girls got injured, were dragged down and had their clothes torn off them so they were naked. 12623
- 4772. The witness testified that the convoy subsequently departed for Burundi under the aegis of *Préfet* Nsabimana and Munyengango. 12624 The families of several military authorities, including those of Major Ntambabazi and Colonel Munyengango travelled in the convoy, thus ensuring their security. 12625
- 4773. Préfet Nsabimana, Colonel Munyengango and Nteziryayo were also part of the convoy. 12626 He could not recall if Nteziryayo joined the convoy from the Groupe Scolaire. Ntahobali also accompanied the convoy from the Groupe Scolaire aboard a Combi vehicle. 12627
- 4774. Colonel Munyengango and his entourage sat in a pickup truck. There were soldiers in the back cabin of the pickup and there was only one military vehicle of this sort. Colonel

```
<sup>12614</sup> T. 7 September 2004 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12615 T. 8 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
<sup>12616</sup> T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

¹²⁶¹⁷ T. 8 September 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶¹⁸ T. 8 September 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶¹⁹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²⁰ T. 8 September 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²² T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²³ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²⁴ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 8, 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ). ¹²⁶²⁵ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²⁶ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶²⁷ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 28-29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

Munyengango's vehicle changed position throughout the duration of the convoy. He would be in the front of the convoy and negotiate for the roadblocks to be opened for the convoy to move on and then would come to the back to ensure that they had not left anybody behind. The witness himself was in a hearse vehicle belonging to the Red Cross, which followed Colonel Munyengango's vehicle, as the Munyengango presented the vehicle as belonging to the Red Cross and would intimate that the vehicle was intended for the evacuation of children.

4775. The convoy was stopped at the Kigembe roadblock in between the road leading to Gikongoro and the Nyakibanda Major Seminary, by members of the civil defence group who wanted the children to get off the trucks. 12628 Nteziryayo came to the roadblock and discussed with those members of the civil defence group in a very ordinary manner as if they were acquainted with one another. 12629 The witness stated that Nteziryayo was the head of the civil defence group. He indicated that members of the civil defence group were armed and brutal and it was clear that these people had been incited to hatred. On asking people to show their identification papers, members of civil defence would beat the people and call them *Inyenzi/Inkotanyi*. The civil defence group then became violent and indicated that the children were to disembark from the vehicles and walk through the roadblock "one after the other". 12632

4776. At this point, the Combi vehicle in which Ntahobali was travelling caught on fire, left behind a trail of smoke and caught the attention of those at the roadblock, who ran to verify as to what was happening. Ntahobali and the other passengers got out of the burning vehicle. At at that time Ntahobali was carrying a Kalashnikov rifle. The convoy managed to continue and reached the Akanyaru border without any further incident and without going through any other roadblock. 12635

4777. The witness also testified that they were stopped at a roadblock at Kumukoni where the *Interahamwe* almost shot at the soldiers who were escorting Colonel Munyengango. *Préfet* Nsabimana explained to them that the evacuation was a Government authorised operation and the *Interahamwe* were appeared and the convoy could pass.

4778. The witness recalled that there was a roadblock at the *Groupe Scolaire*, set up in front of a place where there were some sisters. There was also one "where Ntahobali was", another near or at Mandarungira's house, one in Kumukoni, others set up at a place called Mukura, one at Kigembe and finally one near the border at Kanyaruga.

4779. Witness TQ testified that upon arrival at the Akanyaru border in the evening, the witness drew up a list with names of the orphans and refugees and asked the instructors to gather the children. All the lists were given to Alexis Briquet, however subsequently it was

```
<sup>12628</sup> T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

¹²⁶²⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 10, 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³² T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³³ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³⁴ T. 9 September 2004 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³⁵ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶³⁶ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

Witness TQ himself who executed a roll-call of all the names on the list. ¹²⁶³⁷ However, the list was taken from the witness by Colonel Nteziryayo, who read out the names, allowing some of the children and refugees to cross the border to Burundi and forbidding others from crossing the border. ¹²⁶³⁸ The witness opined that there was disorder at this stage. According to the witness, "we were told that we should let the Hutus cross over and hold back the Tutsis." He responded that the children were from all ethnic backgrounds and that some were so young that their ethnic background was not known. ¹²⁶³⁹

4780. The witness then requested Nteziryayo to be indulgent and let the children and their instructors cross the border without any prior conditions. Both Ntahobali and Nteziryayo segregated the orphans and refugees, which they claimed were Tutsis, based on their physical characteristics. These persons were then "encircled by *Interahamwe* and loaded into buses." Among the people set aside was Nathan Bicunda. 12641

4781. The witness specified that 30 of the 500 evacuees were set aside during the process. Among them were around eight to ten children. Although the witness went on to speculate that there were more than 20 out of the 30 people who were over the age of 14. When asked as to why he only specified that adults were kept back in his previous statement of 28 and 29 July 1998, the witness responded that on that day Ntahobali and Nteziryayo were saying that these were big children and that the distinction was between small children and older children. The witness said, "... it is the term 'adults' which comes to mind when you say they are elderly people, but in fact, there were children who were referred to as adults so that they can prevent them from crossing the border. So, in fact, they were children, but the killers referred to them as adults as to prevent them to cross the border." 12645

4782. The witness testified that Red Cross staff who came to help the children pass the border went away with those who were authorised to go through. As for the remaining 30 individuals, *Préfet* Nsabimana and Colonel Munyengango agreed to find a place for them to spend the night and they asked the witness to stay with those people. At that point, the witness told an ICRC employee that he "[could not] guarantee their safety, but [he] agree[d] to stay on with them." Nteziryayo reprimanded the witness for his comments and asked in what capacity he thought he could guarantee anyone's safety. 12646

4783. The witness then got into a bus and accompanied the 30 individuals back to a centre in Karubanda, in Butare. They only arrived there at around 7.30 p.m. to 8.00 p.m. as they had spent a lot of time at Akanyaru. The witness stayed there for about one month. 12647

```
12637 T. 9 September 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12638 T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12639 T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12640 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 15-16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12641 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12642 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 16 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 30 (Witness TQ).
12643 T. 8 September 2004 pp. 11 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12644 T. 9 September 2004 pp. 30 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12645 T. 8 September 2004 pp. 12 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12646 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
12647 T. 7 September 2004 pp. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

4784. The witness testified that there were two further evacuation convoys organised; between 16 and 18 June 2004 and on 2 July 1994 as part of *Operation Turquoise*. The first convoy involved the evacuation of 180 children, and was from Karubanda to Akanyaru. They encountered no problems on this occasion. The convoy of 2 July 1994 was assisted by French soldiers, and evacuated those 30 persons who had been prevented from crossing the border into Burundi on 5 June 1994.

4785. The witness identified Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Ntahobali in court. ¹²⁶⁵² He said he knew Ntahobali since childhood because they had attended the same school in Butare, the Butare school complex. The witness claimed to know his likings and his preferences. According to the witness, Ntahobali was an *Interahamwe*. ¹²⁶⁵³ He added that during the events, he also saw Ntahobali at a roadblock mounted in front of the Ntahobali family house. ¹²⁶⁵⁴ He testified that he saw Ntahobali driving his mother, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, in a *Peugeot* pickup truck that belonged to a man named Rwamukwaya who was killed during the genocide and who was a neighbour of Nyiramasuhuko. This was around 20 or 21 June 1994. ¹²⁶⁵⁵

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

4786. Alison Des Forges testified that Nsabimana had told her that the convoy left the *Groupe Scolaire* at about 3.00 p.m. Des Forges deduced that the problem encountered at "Shalom's barrier" shortly after this departure was fairly brief, under one and a half hours in duration. She further testifies that at some point Nsabimana went to get the help of higher military officers because he was unable to proceed. However the witness stated she may have been confusing the situation, but that Nsabimana was definitely assisted by high ranking military officers. ¹²⁶⁵⁶

Ntahobali Defence Witness WTHSA

4787. Witness WTHSA, a Hutu studying at the University of Butare testified that in April 1994 he noticed the presence of children at the *Groupe Scolaire*. He stated that there were some displaced children from Kacyiru orphanage and other orphans who were under the responsibility of the brothers who ran the school. He personally witnessed these children boarding buses and other vehicles and leaving the *Groupe Scolaire* during the first week of June 1994. He testified that of the evacuees, there were more young children but there were also adolescents and those who were in charge of the group. 12659

```
<sup>12648</sup> T. 7 September 2004 pp. 17, 19 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

¹²⁶⁴⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 19 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵² T. 6 September 2004 p. 52 (ICS); T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11, 19-20 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵³ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵⁴ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵⁵ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 33-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁶⁵⁶ T. 17 June 2004 p. 30 (Des Forges).

¹²⁶⁵⁷ T. 23 January 2006 p. 34 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁵⁸ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 34, 50 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁵⁹ T. 23 January 2006 p. 35 (Witness WTHSA).

4788. He was on the premises at the time of the evacuation because those who worked in the hospital knew that the children were going to be evacuated. He was already outside and waiting when the vehicles arrived. He stated that he had been informed in the morning, by those who lived at *Groupe Scolaire*, such as "Phocus" and other students, that there was going to be an evacuation. He said that he was at the *Groupe Scolaire*, in front of the building known as Kigoma, when he learned that the evacuation was going to take place. He further testified that he did not ask those who informed him how they knew that people were going to be evacuated.

4789. The witness estimated that between 70 and 120 children and adolescents were waiting to be evacuated on that day and that he thought they boarded two buses. ¹²⁶⁶⁵ Prior to boarding the buses, the children were in the inner court of the *Groupe Scolaire*, close to the head office. The children were in a normal state and were ready to leave. They were carrying their bags and waiting for the time to depart. ¹²⁶⁶⁶

4790. The children and those that were guiding them were sitting down. He claimed that the buses came and stopped in front of the "cathedral", and that those guiding the children then led them towards the buses. He stated that a crowd was following both the children and their guardians to see what was going on. At the time the children were assembled and at the time of the boarding there was no violence or agitation. 12667

4791. Before the buses arrived, there were sick soldiers at the *Groupe Scolaire*, but there were also some soldiers who came at the same time as the buses. He stated that when the sick soldiers heard the children were going to be evacuated, they wanted to be displaced first and requested that the children be taken care of after them. He testified that these soldiers did not physically intervene in the departure of the children. ¹²⁶⁶⁸

4792. The witness testified that before the children were taken away, they were sitting in front of the administrative block. Some children were sitting at the veranda and others were in front of the veranda. He stated that the children were many and were scattered all about the courtyard in front of the veranda, with the brownish earth. 12669

4793. Most of the sick soldiers, who were criticising the fact that the children were being evacuated rather than them, were on the staircase of Kigoma near the Kigoma veranda, and others were around the children. Some of the wounded soldiers slept in the building referred to as Kigoma, others occupied the buildings of the *Groupe Scolaire*, and others, whose health situation was more serious, were at the hospital. He testified that there were around

```
12660 T. 23 January 2006 p. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12661 T. 23 January 2006 p. 61(ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12662 T. 24 January 2006 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12663 T. 24 January 2006 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12664 T. 24 January 2006 pp. 6 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12665 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 62 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12666 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12667 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12668 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 36 (Witness WTHSA).
12669 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 43-44 (Witness WTHSA).
12670 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 44 (Witness WTHSA).
12671 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 62 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
```

30 sick soldiers in uniform in the courtyard around the children while they were waiting to be evacuated ¹²⁶⁷²

4794. The buses were ordinary, green, Government buses but he could not identify the other "vehicle". 12673 He remembered seeing two buses, but could not remember the exact number. 12674 He testified that there was a military vehicle at the front of the convoy, and another vehicle at the end of the convoy. 12675 Although he later stated that he was behind the convoy, and therefore it was difficult to see which vehicles were ahead of the buses. 12676 However, he insists that there was a military vehicle in front, because, even though it was an ordinary vehicle and not a military truck, there were a number of soldiers on board. 12677

4795. He knew one of the soldiers who was part of the escort as Colonel Munyengango. He stated that he did not know Colonel Munyengango previously but that some of the sick soldiers who were at the hospital referred to him as Colonel Munyengango. He claimed that Colonel Munyengango arrived with the company of soldiers in the convoy of buses between 9 00 a m and 10 30 a m. 12679

4796. Witness WTHSA testified that he waited because he wanted to see whether his three classmates would get into that convoy. He testified that only two of these three were able to board the buses. ¹²⁶⁸⁰ One was Hutu and the other was Tutsi. ¹²⁶⁸¹ He stated that everyone wanted to be evacuated because war was getting closer and closer to the place where they were. ¹²⁶⁸² He estimated that the buses left for Burundi between 11.00 a.m. and 1.00 p.m. ¹²⁶⁸³

4797. The witness testified that he was upset that he was not evacuated but he was hesitating a bit. When it was suggested that he did not want to be evacuated at all, which is why he did not get on the bus, he replied that the reason he did not get on the bus was because there were no more seats and because he did not have more information about the health of his mother who was at home and unwell. He stated that if he had found a seat on the bus, he would have left. He stated that he went to check on his ill mother once a week. It was put to the witness that he had no wish to be evacuated and, in fact, wanted to stay behind to join in the attack on the children. He replied that he wanted to be evacuated as the war was intensifying and that everybody wanted to leave the country. 12684

4798. The witness testified that during the time he was present on the premises until the time of the departure of the convoy, he did not notice any armed civilians, or persons who may have

```
12672 T. 23 January 2006 p. 62 (ICS); T. 24 January 2006 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12673 T. 23 January 2006 p. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12674 T. 23 January 2006 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12675 T. 23 January 2006 p. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12676 T. 23 January 2006 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12677 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12678 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 60-61 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12679 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 61 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12680 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 35 (Witness WTHSA).
12681 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 48 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12682 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 48 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12683 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 48 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).
12684 T. 24 January 2006 pp. 9 (Witness WTHSA).
```

been referred to as militia, or Prosecution Witness TQ. 12685 The witness testified that he knew Witness TQ as he taught him French phonetics when the witness was in his first year at *Groupe Scolaire*, and supervised students in their dormitories there. 12686 The witness was said to have joined the school complex in 1988. He testified that on the day of the convoy of children, he did not see Ntahobali on the premises. The witness denied having seen Ntahobali anywhere in Butare between 6 April 1994 and 3 July 1994. The witness denied that he met Ntahobali in Dennis Karema's room at the *Groupe Scolaire* at this time, attending meetings where the *Interahamwe* was present. 12689

4799. Witness WTHSA testified that as a student, he knew Ntahobali, who was in a higher class. Other than that there was no special relationship between them. He knew Ntahobali's sister, Brigitte, his mother, Nyiramasuhuko, and his father, Maurice Ntahobali. However, he asserted that neither Pauline Nyiramasuhuko nor Maurice Ntahobali knew him 12692

4800. Witness WTHSA testified that other than this evacuation, he did not witness any other evacuations of orphans or children or any other persons from the *Groupe Scolaire*. ¹²⁶⁹³

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexis Briquet

4801. Alexis Briquet testified that in April 1994, he was in charge of emergency operations for the *Terre des Hommes* foundation which had activities in Kigali, Rwanda. He further testified that in order to facilitate his work, he needed to get in touch with the local official in authority and so he was introduced to *Préfet* Nsabimana by Mr. Costa Pierantonio who was the Honorary Consul of Italy in Kigali. Briquet testified that when he met Nsabimana at the *préfecture* office on the two occasions of 28 May 1994 and 18 June 1994, Witness TQ, a Rwandese who was working at the *Groupe Scolaire*, was also in attendance. Witness TQ had become Briquet's local agent in Butare and was involved as far as possible in the official steps taken during this period. A protocol agreement to evacuate orphans was signed on 28 May 1994.

¹²⁶⁸⁵ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 36-37 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁸⁶ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 30, 58 (ICS); T. 24 January 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁸⁷ T. 23 January 2006 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁸⁸ T. 23 January 2006 p. 37 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁸⁹ T. 24 January 2006 pp. 10-11 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁹⁰ T. 23 January 2006 p. 27 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁹¹ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 27-28 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁹² T. 23 January 2006 p. 27 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁹³ T. 23 January 2006 p. 60 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁶⁹⁴ T. 28 August 2006 pp. 10-11 (Briquet).

¹²⁶⁹⁵ T. 28 August 2006 pp. 22-23, 29-30 (Briquet).

¹²⁶⁹⁶ T. 31 August 2006 pp. 14, 50 (ICS) (Briquet).

¹²⁶⁹⁷ T. 31 August 2006 p. 50 (ICS) (Briquet).

¹²⁶⁹⁸ T. 28 August 2006 p. 29 (Briquet). *See* Defence Exhibit 458B (Nsabimana) (Memorandum of Understanding between the Government of Rwanda and *Terre des Hommes*, Swiss Foundation, on the Children Support Programme for Children who are on their own, 28 May 1994).

4802. The witness testified that *Préfet* Nsabimana supported the project of the evacuation of orphans. After signing the agreement in Gitarama, Briquet stated that he went back to Bujumbura to meet with his counterparts and thereafter returned to Butare to inform *Préfet* Nsabimana of it and to commence the evacuation operations. Briquet stated that the Government did not provide support in the form of soldiers to ensure the safety of the children. 12701

4803. The witness testified that there were three convoys altogether representing more than 1,000 evacuees. He refuted that there were four major convoys or that there were two convoys on successive days. ¹²⁷⁰² The first convoy was organised for the 4 or 5 June 1994, containing hundreds of children from an orphanage that was under the authority of the Belgian Red Cross. ¹²⁷⁰³ During this first evacuation, 300 to 400 children were evacuated, in three or four vehicles. ¹²⁷⁰⁴

4804. Those loaded onto the vehicles during the first convoy were without priority; everyone who could find a seat could get onboard. However, the witness admitted that he did not remember what happened and did not remember being present throughout the period when children were put on board the vehicles. A supervisor who was attached to take care of the children or supervise them boarding onto the vehicles would have been in a better position to specify as to what actually happened when the children were boarding. 12706

4805. The convoy had difficulty starting off at around 5.00 p.m. because the gate was blocked by civilians who refused to open it. Colonel François Munyengango had to negotiate with about half a dozen men and finally the gate opened and the convoy was able to pass. When questioned as to why the gates were blocked by the civilians, the witness responded that the civilians simply wanted to prevent the convoy from leaving. These civilians were inside the *Groupe Scolaire* grounds. Briquet further testified that *Préfet* Nsabimana had intervened to authorise the convoy to travel.

4806. The witness testified that Witness TQ was present during the journey between the *Groupe Scolaire* and the Akanyaru border. During the journey he was in a vehicle with the Italian Consul and others, including probably Witness TQ, but could not be certain that Witness TO was in the vehicle.¹²⁷¹¹

```
12699 T. 28 August 2006 p. 29 (Briquet).
12701 T. 28 August 2006 p. 36 (Briquet).
12702 T. 30 August 2006 p. 34 (Briquet).
12703 T. 28 August 2006 p. 36 (Briquet).
12704 T. 28 August 2006 p. 37, 50 (Briquet).
12705 T. 28 August 2006 p. 37 (Briquet).
12706 T. 31 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).
12707 T. 31 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).
12708 T. 28 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).
12709 T. 28 August 2006 p. 44; T. 31 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).
12709 T. 28 August 2006 p. 44 (Briquet).
12710 T. 31 August 2006 p. 10 (Briquet).
12711 T. 31 August 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Briquet).
```

4807. The witness testified that upon leaving the *Groupe Scolaire*, the convoy turned left and then left once again onto the main road which led to the border. He was not able to recall the name of this main road. ¹²⁷¹²

4808. Briquet testified that while the convoy was on its way, they were stopped at a first roadblock, as was expected, which was at the level of the Butare bishopric. They then were stopped for a long time at a second roadblock based on a road that was slightly sloped, with a bend towards the left. The roadblock was on the right-hand side where there were small houses as well as stalls. He did not remember any roadblock manned by soldiers; they were manned mainly by civilians. The witness was stuck in his car, behind the trucks with the children. He went out of his car and approached the roadblock, where he saw Colonel Munyengango agitatedly talking to the people around him. There were people trying to board the truck that was in front of him, and he heard people saying "but it's full of Tutsis" as a means of deterrent. 12713

4809. The witness testified that while they were at this roadblock, Colonel Munyengango was negotiating their passage and looked at the witness angrily, especially after the witness told him that if they were not able to pass through the roadblock in five minutes, then the convoy should go back. It was at that moment that *Préfet* Nsabimana arrived. The witness briefly explained their situation to him and Nsabimana went and spoke to those manning it, and after a few minutes, they were able to pass through. 12714

4810. Briquet testified that throughout the trip from the *Groupe Scolaire* to the Burundian border for a distance of about 30 kilometres, they were stopped at all the 22 roadblocks so that it was necessary to negotiate at every stop. 12715 The roadblocks were manned by civilians armed with machetes and grenades. The witness testified that this was the longest and most difficult trip he had made. 12716

4811. Briquet testified that when they got to the border, at around 11.00 p.m. or even midnight, there were a certain number of soldiers and also civilians present. 12717 It was an extremely lengthy exercise to go through the Rwandan border. The witness claimed that *Préfet* Nsabimana had gone back to Butare by this point; he did not recall having seen him during this process. 12718 He testified that Witness TQ was busy with the lists that had been prepared, as he was the person who must have created the lists. 12719 There were a number of adults who had infiltrated the convoy and the witness opined that this is what led to the subsequent problems they experienced. 12720 The main problem was that a number of adults were sent back by the Rwandan authorities, because the witness believed that they did not have the requisite documents. 12721 There were some 30 adults in this regard. Among these adults was a young

```
<sup>12712</sup> T. 28 August 2006 p. 44 (Briquet).
```

¹²⁷¹³ T. 28 August 2006 p. 45 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁴ T. 28 August 2006 p. 46 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁵ T. 28 August 2006 pp. 46-47 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁶ T. 28 August 2006 p. 47 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁷ T. 28 August 2006 p. 47; T. 31 August 2006 p. 10 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁸ T. 28 August 2006 p. 47 (Briquet).

¹²⁷¹⁹ T. 31 August 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Briquet).

¹²⁷²⁰ T. 28 August 2006 pp. 47-48 (Briquet).

¹²⁷²¹ T. 31 August 2006 p. 11 (Briquet).

woman who would not hesitate to claim her rights. However, a military officer whom he had seen on several occasions was there and made a very brief speech in a very stern manner in response to her claims. The witness also testified that some of the children and young people were badly injured when they came out of the trucks. 12722

- 4812. The witness could not identify Nteziryayo by name, but testified that he knew of the person who became *préfet* after Nsabimana. The witness confirmed that he saw Nteziryayo at the border. The witness had met Nteziryayo on a number of occasions and therefore recognised Nteziryayo's face. 12723 Nteziryayo was very involved in listing out the names of the children and reading them aloud at the Akanyaru border. 12724 At that time, Nteziryayo was in military uniform as he was acting in his military capacity.
- 4813. The 30 adults, who were kept in Rwanda, were taken back to the Karubanda Social School. The witness confirmed that it was not *Préfet* Nsabimana who sent these adults back towards Butare. Briquet stated that the evacuation operation was for unaccompanied minors. Those that were prevented from crossing were not minors and mainly, if not all, women. On the other side of the border they would have been left to their own devices, as the organisations that were expecting these unaccompanied minors could not be expected to also take on 30 adults. 12728
- 4814. Briquet testified that the second convoy was on 18 June 1994, during which they evacuated about 200 children, and that Witness TQ participated in the evacuation, interpreting for the children who spoke Kinyarwanda. Following the second evacuation, some children were left at Karubanda and their numbers increased almost every day, as the centre was a gathering point where children could be housed, fed and treated, if possible. Witness TQ was also there. The third convoy took place before the end of June 1994 or the first days of July, on either 4 or 5 July 1994.

Nsabimana

4815. Nsabimana testified that he personally participated in the evacuation of children from Rwanda, organised by *Terre des Hommes*, after several days of planning and organisation. ¹²⁷³² He said that there were three evacuations and he was personally involved in two, and was personally evacuated in the third. The date of the first evacuation was 5 June 1994. ¹²⁷³³ The children were living in dormitories on the one side of *Groupe Scolaire* and the soldiers of the medical team were staying on the other side. ¹²⁷³⁴ These soldiers were under the command of

```
T2722 T. 28 August 2006 p. 48 (Briquet).

12723 T. 31 August 2006 p. 24 (Briquet).

12724 T. 31 August 2006 pp. 10-11 (Briquet).

12725 T. 31 August 2006 p. 24 (Briquet).

12726 T. 28 August 2006 p. 50 (Briquet).

12727 T. 30 August 2006 p. 48 (Briquet).

12728 T. 30 August 2006 p. 61 (Briquet).

12729 T. 28 August 2006 p. 51; T. 31 August 2006 p. 50 (ICS) (Briquet).

12730 T. 31 August 2006 p. 52 (ICS) (Briquet).

12731 T. 30 August 2006 p. 18 (Briquet).

12732 T. 12 October 2006 p. 67 (Nsabimana).

12733 T. 12 October 2006 p. 68 (Nsabimana).

12734 T. 12 October 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).
```

Colonel Mugemanyi. 12735 Nsabimana testified that Colonel Munyengango came to his office on 5 June 1994 and told him that he would participate in the evacuations. On that same day, Nsabimana also asked Nteziryayo to participate. 12736

4816. He explained that he requisitioned two buses from ONATRACOM, the national public transport agency in Butare, for the evacuation. He confirmed that soldiers from *Groupe Scolaire* who were convalescing from the medical team tried to prevent the evacuation. They were opposed to the evacuation exercise. As Nsabimana was unarmed and simply an observer, other military officers stepped in to calm the situation down, including Colonel Nteziryayo who Nsabimana had previously informed that he would require his assistance. There were also two officers there, Colonel Munyengango and Colonel Bizumuremyi. Nsabimana was clear that it was down to the actions of these officers that the convoy was able to depart. Nsabimana said that the soldiers from the medical team were otherwise "categorically opposed" to the departure and were armed. 12741

4817. Nsabimana testified that the small children aged between two and three, but who were capable of sitting, boarded the buses in front of the office of the Director of the *Groupe Scolaire*, which is where the Accused was standing. The convoy must have easily totalled 500 people, or perhaps slightly more, including the children and those accompanying them. It left the *Groupe Scolaire* at around 3.00 p.m. or 4.00 p.m., and reached the upper Akanyaru at around 5.00 p.m. or even later. The standard st

4818. Upon leaving the *Groupe Scolaire*, there was a small roadblock of soldiers on the road that went from the *Groupe Scolaire* up towards the *préfecture* offices. 12744 They reached the "*procure*", or rather the houses where the white reverend father stayed, and stopped there to organise the convoy. Nsabimana testified that at some point he was in front of the convoy and at other points he was in the middle and behind depending on the circumstances or the situation. For example, if they reached a roadblock he may have gone ahead to discuss with those manning the roadblocks. 12745

4819. The first roadblock they encountered was at *Chez* Bihira. This roadblock was manned mostly by *gendarmes* and they stopped there for a short while to have a routine discussion. ¹²⁷⁴⁶ The next roadblock was the EER roadblock, located near the Hotel Ihuliro, manned by civilians. ¹²⁷⁴⁷ The convoy stopped at this roadblock for a long time. Nsabimana was initially at the rear of the convoy and once he realised that things were not moving he left the rear and drove up front to where the roadblock was. The initial problem at the roadblock was that

```
12735 T. 12 October 2006 p. 69 (Nsabimana).
12736 T. 16 October 2006 p. 42 (Nsabimana).
12737 T. 12 October 2006 p. 69; T. 16 October 2006 p. 41 (Nsabimana).
12738 T. 12 October 2006 p. 71; T. 18 October 2006 p. 66 (Nsabimana).
12739 T. 12 October 2006 p. 72 (Nsabimana).
12740 T. 12 October 2006 pp. 72-73; T. 18 October p. 66 (Nsabimana).
12741 T. 12 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
12742 T. 12 October 2006 p. 71 (Nsabimana).
12743 T. 12 October 2006 p. 73; T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).
12744 T. 12 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
12745 T. 12 October 2006 pp. 73-74 (Nsabimana).
12746 T. 12 October 2006 p. 74 (Nsabimana).
12747 T. 12 October 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).
12747 T. 12 October 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).
```

students had come from Byumba, who had also been at the *Groupe Scolaire*, and the people at the roadblock would not let them go through. Colonel Munyengango tried to get the issue sorted, but those at the roadblock refused. Nsabimana resolved the problem by asking Colonel Munyengango to stay with the students while he went with the convoy, to deal with it upon his return. Colonel Bizumuremyi also remained there. The second incident at the roadblock was that those manning the roadblock entered into two of the buses but did not bring anyone out from within. 12748

4820. Nsabimana testified that at this roadblock he was told that a certain Shalom was in charge. He was told to go to see him at Hotel Ihuliro, where he met with somebody, who he later realised was not actually Ntahobali; he met the actual Ntahobali at a later date. Before any discussions occurred with this man, the roadblock was opened and they continued on their way. Nsabimana convened Shalom to his office at an unspecified later date, and confirmed that it was Ntahobali but that he looked different to how he looked in the courtroom. Nsabimana confirmed that this occasion was the first time he had seen Ntahobali. Nsabimana testified that he did not see any Combi vehicle that caught fire.

4821. Nsabimana indicated that under normal circumstances the distance between Butare and upper Akanyaru would be 30 minutes, however on 5 June 1994 it took the convoy one hour or more. Nsabimana testified that the convoy passed through several roadblocks, more or less 20, all manned by civilians. Those manned by more people than others were armed with traditional weapons such as machetes. At smaller roadblocks, the people were armed with sticks and the like. There were roadblocks where the convoy was stopped and where it was necessary to negotiate, yet there were others where they would just pass through, either because the people manning them knew Nsabimana or Colonel Munyengango. Nsabimana testified that those at the roadblocks would check who was in the buses despite the presence of Nsabimana and Colonel Munyengango and check that it was an official convoy. 12755

4822. Nsabimana testified that Nteziryayo was part of the convoy and was driving in his own Toyota Land Cruiser, alone and without bodyguards or escorts. 12756

4823. It was still daylight when they reached the border at around 5.00 p.m., as night fell not long after they arrived. The process at the border took a while. Nsabimana left at around 10.00 p.m. or 11.00 p.m. The children and those accompanying them were able to cross, with the exception of 10 or so people. Nsabimana testified that there was a group of people who had worked with the orphans at the *Groupe Scolaire* and were cooks. They were given the choice as to whether they should leave with the children or to go back to Butare. They chose the latter

¹²⁷⁴⁸ T. 12 October 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁴⁹ T. 28 November 2006 p. 48 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵⁰ T. 12 October 2006 p. 78 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵¹ T. 18 October 2006 p. 67; T. 28 November 2006 p. 48 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵² T. 18 October 2006 p. 68 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵³ T. 18 October 2006 p. 66 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵⁴ T. 16 October 2006 p. 7 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵⁵ T. 16 October 2006 pp. 7-8 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁷⁵⁶ T. 16 November 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).

option. Nsabimana heard later that the Bicunda family also came back, but not with the cooks, but he did not know why they came back to Butare. 12757

4824. Nsabimana testified that Nteziryayo did not in any way stop anyone from leaving at the border. ¹²⁷⁵⁸ He further testified that he did not see Ntahobali at all during the 5 June 1994 evacuation. ¹²⁷⁵⁹ He further gave evidence that no one had requested, be it in written form or orally, that he participate in these evacuation operations. Nsabimana testified that he saw the written agreement dated 28 May 1994 for the first time in this courtroom, when tendered as evidence. ¹²⁷⁶⁰

4825. Nsabimana testified that the second evacuation took place on 17 June 1994, and it was of orphans and unaccompanied children who were housed at the Karubanda Social School since 6 June 1994. He explained the purpose of the convoy at the roadblocks, and those manning them let them go through. He said that they arrived at the border at around 2.00 p.m. and everyone crossed through the border with no major difficulties. 12762

Nteziryayo

4826. Nteziryayo testified that he participated in three operations for the evacuation of orphans, on 5 June, 18 June and 3 July 1994. He stated that he participated at the request of Nsabimana in the evacuation on 5 June 1994, about which he had not received any information until that very day. Nteziryayo testified that he did not know if there was an evacuation of small children on 4 June 1994 in the evening, as alleged by Witness TQ. Nteziryayo testified that no member of the Rwandan Interim Government sought to prevent any of the evacuations of the orphans. 12766

4827. On 5 June 1994, about 400 children, orphans from Kacyiru, Kigali were gathered at the *Groupe Scolaire* in order for them to be evacuated on buses to the Democratic Republic of Congo via Burundi. 12767 Nteziryayo testified that the orphans were of various ethnic groups. 12768

4828. Nteziryayo testified that a group of persons, some of them soldiers, others dressed in civilian attire, were opposed to the departure of those orphans; they caused disorder and disturbance and tried to prevent the children from boarding the vehicles. ¹²⁷⁶⁹ The soldiers who caused the trouble were mainly disabled or ill soldiers who had run away from the military

```
12757 T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).
12758 T. 16 November 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).
12759 T. 18 October 2006 p. 66; T. 28 November 2006 p. 34 (Nsabimana).
12760 T. 16 October 2006 p. 43 (Nsabimana).
12761 T. 16 October 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).
12762 T. 16 October 2006 p. 35 (Nsabimana).
12763 T. 6 June 2007 p. 41 (Nteziryayo).
12764 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39, 42; T. 19 June 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).
12765 T. 6 June 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
12766 T. 19 June 2007 pp. 39, 45; T. 14 June 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).
12768 T. 14 June 2007 pp. 39 (Nteziryayo).
12769 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39-40, 42-43 (Nteziryayo).
12769 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39-40, 42-43 (Nteziryayo).
```

hospital where Colonel Mugemanyi was the head, but other soldiers may have been involved 12770

- 4829. Ntezirvayo testified that the persons who tried to stop the children from getting on board the vehicles on 5 June 1994 were not *Interahamwe* in the company of Ntahobali. 12771 These persons were soldiers and had no distinctive features or signs that would show that they were members of the *Interahamwe* organisation. 12772 In addition, he stated that he never heard anyone talk about Ntahobali being present. 12773 However, Nteziryayo admitted that on 5 June 1994 he did not recognise every one of the persons who attempted to prevent the evacuation and that he would not have recognised Ntahobali, if he would have been there, because Nteziryayo did not know him at that time. 12774
- 4830. Nteziryayo testified that on 5 June 1994 he had fetched medicine from the hospital and was standing in front of the Groupe Scolaire, when Nsabimana approached Nteziryayo and asked him to assist him with the evacuation and to help him to convince the people to let the operation be carried out. 12775 Nteziryayo agreed to assist because he thought he could facilitate the operation. 12776 Nteziryayo testified that he did not ask Nsabimana about the reason of the evacuation and the fact that Nsabimana personally was involved in this. 12777 He stated that Nsabimana had told him in 1994 that the Government had authorised the evacuation of those children. 12778
- 4831. Ntezirvayo testified that he became privy to the information as to the evacuation when he was present at the Groupe Scolaire on 5 June 1994, and responded when asked by the préfet to assist; he had not known in advance that there was an evacuation operation of orphans. 12779 He joined Nsabimana and his assistants; some of them kept the troublemakers at bay, others helped the children to get on board the vehicles. 12780 Nteziryayo added that in a calm negotiation they reasoned with the troublemakers that they should not oppose the authority. 12781 He testified that when he helped the *préfet* to put those children on board the vehicles, he did not witness any person striking the children. 12782
- 4832. Nteziryayo testified that *Préfet* Nsabimana had also requested some officers to assist in the operation and to keep the troublemaking soldiers at bay. Among the assistants was the area commander, Colonel François Munyengango. 12783 Munyengango told Nteziryayo that he had been dispatched by the Government to assist in the evacuation of the children at the request of

```
<sup>12770</sup> T. 6 June 2007 p. 44; T. 21 June 2007 p. 9 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>12771</sup> T. 6 June 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
<sup>12772</sup> T. 6 June 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
<sup>12773</sup> T. 6 June 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
<sup>12774</sup> T. 9 July 2007 pp. 23-24 (Nteziryayo).
```

¹²⁷⁷⁵ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 40, 46 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁷⁶ T. 6 June 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁷⁷ T. 21 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁷⁸ T. 21 June 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁷⁹ T. 6 June 2007 p. 45; T. 9 July 2007 pp. 14-15 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁰ T. 6 June 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸¹ T. 9 July 2007 p. 11 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸² T. 14 June 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸³ T. 6 June 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).

the Red Cross. 12784 Colonel Munyengango and his escort were already present when Nteziryayo arrived at *Groupe Scolaire*. 12785 He further testified that the head of the military hospital, Mugemanyi and another doctor, Colonel François Bizumuremyi, were also present. 12786

- 4833. Nteziryayo testified that all the children together with their supervisors succeeded to board the vehicle that drove off to the border. 12787 Nteziryayo stated that the vehicle set off at around 3.00 p.m. under the supervision of *Préfet* Nsabimana, the officer of *Terre des Hommes*, and Colonel Munyengango, who escorted the convoy with a military escort. 12788
- 4834. Nteziryayo averred that after having delivered the medicine he collected from the Groupe Scolaire to a family where his family members were staying, he drove in his personal vehicle, a white Peugeot 405 car, in the direction of the convoy towards Akanyaru, reaching the convoy after the Tumba *gendarmerie* camp on the way to Bujumbura. He testified that he never owned a Toyota Land Cruiser vehicle. Then, he followed the convoy at its tail end. 12791 Ntezirvavo testified that the road from Butare town to upper Akanyaru was tarred. He gave evidence that in the course of the journey of the convoy, he did not intervene at any point in time. Ntezirvayo further testified that given his position at the end of the convoy, he could not see how people conducted themselves or the negotiations at roadblocks that barred their route. 12792
- 4835. He further testified that the convoy encountered difficulties in going across barriers or roadblocks. Nteziryayo stated that the convoy had to stop at at least 15 or more roadblocks. 12793 At every stop Nsabimana and Munyengango explained the reasons for the evacuation and the convoy could pass through the roadblock. He testified that he did not personally intervene at the roadblocks. 12794 He specifically did not intervene during the stop at the Kigembe roadblock. 12795 Contrary to the testimony of Prosecution Witness TQ, he did not speak in familiar terms to members of the population and the civilian defence who refused to open the Kigembe roadblock, where there was a road that led to Gikongoro for the convoy. 12796
- 4836. Nteziryayo testified that no Combi vehicle which belonged to Ntahobali followed the convoy to Akanyaru or caught fire at the Kigembe roadblock or at any other spot on the way to Akanyaru, as alleged by Witness TO. 12797

¹²⁷⁸⁴ T. 6 June 2007 p. 43; T. 19 June 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁵ T. 9 July 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁶ T. 6 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁷ T. 6 June 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁸ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 46-47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁸⁹ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 46-47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹⁰ T. 6 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹¹ T. 6 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹² T. 21 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹³ T. 6 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹⁴ T. 6 June 2007 p. 48 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹⁵ T. 6 June 2007 p. 54 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁷⁹⁶ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Nteziryayo)

¹²⁷⁹⁷ T. 14 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo)

- 4837. In response to the question as to why he accompanied the convoy up until the border, although the *préfet* had asked him only to assist in putting the children on board on the buses, Nteziryayo responded that he was convinced that his mission, or the reason for which he was invited to be there, was not finished yet. 12798
- 4838. He testified that the convoy reached the border at around 6.00 p.m. ¹²⁷⁹⁹ At the border near the immigration office, many young delinquents or persons were gathered; the convoy's arrival caused a disorder. The supervisors of the convoy had to deal with this situation before the authorities dealt with the formalities for the departure of the children. ¹²⁸⁰⁰ Nteziryayo testified that *Préfet* Nsabimana was in charge of the whole organisation; that he supervised it and that he talked with the immigration officials, with the officials of *Terre des Hommes* and the other organisations. ¹²⁸⁰¹
- 4839. Nteziryayo affirmed that he did not see anyone being set aside on the grounds of their ethnicity. He further testified that he did not notice the presence of the *Interahamwe* in the convoy and therefore did not see them directly contravene the instructions of the *préfet*, which were generally being complied with by all involved. He did recognise that there were some people who were not authorised to leave with the orphans. He believed that they did not amount to 30 persons. 12803
- 4840. Nteziryayo testified that he and others took care that the children were safely ushered out of the vehicles and brought to the location from where they would depart. They lined up the children, and called up their names from a list prepared by the Red Cross, *Terre des Hommes* officials and those who had been in charge of the orphans at Kacyiru, because most of those children had come from there. The children waited in a line in front of the barrier to be opened for them to pass through. He testified that all the children crossed the border at about 10.00 p.m. and that he returned to Butare town, arriving there after 11.00 p.m. ¹²⁸⁰⁴
- 4841. A group of about 20 or 30 persons claimed to belong to the convoy and wanted to pass the border to Burundi along with the convoy, but they had to stay in Rwanda. They did not have the necessary papers or documents that authorised them to go out of the country, and their names were not on the list that had been prepared by the organisers of the evacuation exercise, that is, by the officials of *Terre des Hommes* and of the Red Cross. Préfet Nsabimana ordered them to return to Butare and accommodated them in Karubanda. 12807
- 4842. He did not read out names on a list, deciding who was allowed to cross the borders and who had to remain in Rwanda. He had a list with him, but he never refused anyone from

¹²⁷⁹⁸ T. 21 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
12799 T. 6 June 2007 p. 48 (Nteziryayo).
12800 T. 6 June 2007 p. 49 (Nteziryayo).
12801 T. 6 June 2007 p. 50 (Nteziryayo).
12802 T. 14 June 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).
12803 T. 14 June 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).
12804 T. 6 June 2007 p. 52 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁰⁵ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 50-51 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁰⁶ T. 6 June 2007 p. 51 (Nteziryayo). ¹²⁸⁰⁷ T. 6 June 2007 p. 52 (Nteziryayo).

crossing the border. ¹²⁸⁰⁸ He testified that he did not, together with Ntahobali, chose people on the basis of the size of their noses and their heights suspected to be Tutsis, who were then surrounded by *Interahamwe* and loaded up into buses. ¹²⁸⁰⁹ This would not have been possible as Nsabimana, the area commander and the organisation *Terre des Hommes* were supervising the convoy. ¹²⁸¹⁰ Nteziryayo stated that Nsabimana in his evidence had confirmed that he, himself, sent these persons back to Butare. ¹²⁸¹¹

4843. Nteziryayo testified that among the persons who had to return to Butare was Nathan Bicunda, whom Nteziryayo knew while he was a student in the National University of Rwanda. Nteziryayo stated that he did not stop Bicunda from crossing the border, as alleged by Prosecution Witness TQ.

4844. In cross-examination Nteziryayo was shown Prosecution Exhibit 144A and read from it: "MINITRASO file MINITRASO file. That the children be led to south Kivu, *Teré de hoecs* those in charge of the operation are youngsters of the Red Cross, they are more numerous than the children. It is recruitment by the RPF that is disguised, three buses." Nteziryayo testified that "hoecs" meant *hommes* or men and that MINITRASO was Rwandan and referred to a ministry, "SO" stood for Social. Nteziryayo he did not remember if there was a representative of MINITRASO present on the convoy of 5 June 1994. He denied the proposition that the above-mentioned text meant that the Government intervened in that evacuation operation.

4845. Nteziryayo testified that on 18 June 1994 he participated in a second evacuation of children. 12815 It started off from the Karubanda Social School where the children had been assembled. 12816 The final destination was Bukavu in the Democratic Republic of Congo via Burundi, and the evacuation consisted of between 300 and 400 children. 12817

4846. Nteziryayo testified that on 2 July 1994 the humanitarian organisation notified the *sous-préfet* in charge of social affairs, who informed him that they had planned an evacuation on 3 July 1994. Again it started from the building of the Social School in Karubanda, where the children had been assembled and went via Burundi to Bukavu, in the Democratic Republic of Congo. More than 200 children were evacuated at that time. 12820

¹²⁸²⁰ T. 7 June 2007 p. 4 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁰⁸ T. 6 June 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
12809 T. 6 June 2007 p. 55 (ICS); T. 14 June 2007 pp. 33-34 (Nteziryayo).
12810 T. 6 June 2007 p. 55 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
12811 T. 9 July 2007 p. 11 (Nteziryayo).
12812 T. 21 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).
12813 T. 21 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).
12814 T. 21 June 2007 p. 46 (Nteziryayo).
12815 T. 6 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
12816 T. 6 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
12817 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 58-59 (Nteziryayo).
12818 T. 7 June 2007 p. 6 (Nteziryayo).
12819 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 3-5 (Nteziryayo).

Nyiramasuhuko

4847. Nyiramasuhuko referred to the 31 May 1994 Security Council meeting, chaired by the *préfet* of Butare *préfecture*, in her testimony. At this meeting, a report was issued on the progress made up until that date in Butare *préfecture*. In that context, the evacuation of the orphans in Butare *préfecture*, among other things, was discussed. The Government representatives invited those present in that meeting to assist with the evacuation of orphans in Butare and elsewhere. The Government was represented by the Ministry of Social Affairs ("MINITRASO") and the Head of Government. 12821

4848. Nyiramasuhuko testified that the entry for 29 May 1994 in her diary read "MINITRASO file, children taken to south Kivu, Red Cross, *Terre des Hommes*, supervisors are youths of whom there are more than children. This is RPF recruitment in disguise, three buses". This referred to the programme drawn up by the government with NGOs during the meeting in order to evacuate children, and the *préfet* of Butare was supposed to supervise it. She stated that the evacuation of the children had been discussed for a while in Cabinet meetings, beginning in May 1994. The Minister of Social Affairs was responsible for those contracts and told the Cabinet when they had been signed. In her diary, the evacuation was mentioned only in the entry for 29 May 1994. In her diary, the evacuation was mentioned only in the entry for 29 May 1994.

4849. Nyiramasuhuko denied that "RPF recruitment in disguise, three buses", were her words about the evacuation of the children under the supervision of Nsabimana. Rather, she took them down as she heard them from Nsabimana himself, after ensuring that the contract with the NGOs regarding the evacuation of the children had been complied with. Asked whether Nsabimana could say these words when it was him who was ensuring the evacuation of the children, Nyiramasuhuko stated that he was ensuring respect for the contract which had been signed by the Government, but that it was not his initiative. 12828

4850. Nyiramasuhuko averred that when she was taking down those notes she did not know where the children were, however, she was aware that the contract with the NGOs specified that a group of the children be evacuated to the south, through Butare, and another one to the north to Ngoma through Gisenyi. Nyiramasuhuko speculated that the children were at the *Groupe Scolaire* prior to the evacuation, but could not confirm this. She knew the contracts had been signed and she added that the *préfet* actually accompanied them as they went. ¹²⁸²⁹ However, on the actual day of the evacuation, Nsabimana said "[t]he children went but I took

_

¹²⁸²¹ T. 10 October 2005 p. 60 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²² T. 26 October 2005 p. 55 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994) entry for 29 May 1994, p. 21.

¹²⁸²³ T. 26 October 2005 p. 55 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁴ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 55-56 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁵ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 57-58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁶ T. 26 October 2005 p. 57 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁷ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 57-58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁸ T. 26 October 2005 p. 58 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸²⁹ T. 26 October 2005 p. 56 (Nyiramasuhuko).

the decision to bring back the bigger ones to Butare so that their cases should be examined." ¹²⁸³⁰

4851. When it was put to Nyiramasuhuko that on 5 June 1994 Nsabimana actually evacuated the children, so he could not at the same time have said words to the effect that this was "disguised recruitment by the RPF", she retorted that he was analysing the contract with the NGOs, which had specifically entailed "children" and not the older ones who were also involved in the convoy. He did not confirm that it was "disguised recruitment", but made the statement on the same day he had made the evacuation and stated that he had decided to bring the youths back to Butare from Akanyaru, to examine their cases further. Nyiramasuhuko agreed with this measure. 12832

4852. Nyiramasuhuko stated that her explanations regarding the evacuation of the children were not an attempt to attribute to the Government the activities which were carried out by Nsabimana. Asked if she had a document that showed that the Government had authorised Nsabimana to supervise the evacuation of the children, she stated that he, just like the other *préfets* or other state officials, was bound to implement the programme of the Government when he accepted to become a *préfet*. The contract signed by the Government and the NGOs was given to the *préfets*. 12834

3.6.45.4 Deliberations

4853. The Prosecution and Defence witnesses are consistent to the effect that an evacuation of orphans took place on or around 5 June 1994 from the *Groupe Scolaire* to the Burundian border. Although there was a slight variation in the precise date by Defence Witnesses Briquet and WTHSA, who contended that the date may have been 4 or 5 June 1994 and 'the first week of June' respectively, the Chamber notes that the details they provided, for example, in relation to the number of vehicles involved and the presence of Colonel Munyengango specifically, is indicative of the fact that they are talking about the same evacuation.

4854. Witnesses TQ, Briquet, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo agree with regard to the number of evacuees on the 5 June 1994 convoy. Defence Witness WTHSA, however, provided a lower number of between 70 to 120 children. Nonetheless, he stated that the evacuation departed from the *Groupe Scolaire*, which was in line with the description proffered by the

¹²⁸³⁰ T. 26 October 2005 p. 56 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸³¹ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 58-59 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸³² T. 26 October 2005 p. 59 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸³³ T. 26 October 2005 p. 61 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸³⁴ T. 26 October 2005 p. 62 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁸³⁵ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 5, 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 9 September 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 28 August 2006 pp. 37, 50 (Briquet) (Witness Briquet stated that it was either 4 or 5 June 1994); T. 23 January 2006 pp. 34, 53 (Witness WTHSA) (Witness WTHSA claimed that it was during the first week of June but could not remember the exact date); T. 12 October 2006 p. 68 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 p. 41 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸³⁶ T. 9 September 2004 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 28 August 2006 p. 37 (Briquet) (Witness Briquet said there were 300-400 evacuees); T. 12 October 2006 p. 12; T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana) (Nsabimana said there were 500 evacuees); T. 6 June 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo said there were 400 evacuees).

¹²⁸³⁷ T. 23 January 2006 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁸³⁸ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 34, 53 (Witness WTHSA).

other witnesses.¹²⁸³⁹ The relevant witnesses agreed that the subsequent evacuations departed from the Karubanda Social School.¹²⁸⁴⁰ The Chamber considers that Witness WTHSA is testifying about the same evacuation convoy on 5 June 1994 and that the discrepancy with respect to the actual number of persons who boarded the buses for evacuation purposes on that day does not constitute a major issue in the instant case.

4855. The contentious issues are: (1) whether Ntahobali was present when the evacuees boarded the buses at the *Groupe Scolaire* and whether he along with others perpetrated violence on these evacuees as a means of preventing the convoy from departing; and (2) whether Nteziryayo and Ntahobali both prevented 30 Tutsis among the evacuees from exiting the Rwandan territory once the convoy reached the Akanyaru border.

4856. Witness TQ was the only Prosecution eyewitness to testify about the allegation that Ntahobali was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* during this time and tried to prevent the children from embarking the buses. ¹²⁸⁴¹ Ntahobali was accompanied by around 20 *Interahamwe* and civilians bearing firearms and others carrying traditional weapons. ¹²⁸⁴² He further testified that he saw Ntahobali personally hit some children with his rifle butt, kick them and drag them away from the vehicles. ¹²⁸⁴³

4857. Both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo conceded that at the time of the evacuation on 5 June 1994, neither of them would have been able to recognise Ntahobali, as they did not know him. 12844 As a result, neither of them was in a position to refute or affirm Ntahobali's presence at the time of boarding.

4858. Witness WTHSA testified that he knew Ntahobali from his school days, but that Ntahobali was in a higher class. He denied that Ntahobali was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* when the evacuees boarded the buses. He further testified that he did not see Witness TQ during the time he was present on the premises until the time of the departure of the convoy, even though he knew Witness TQ from his days at the *Groupe Scolaire* as a student. In the Chamber's view, the fact that Witness WTHSA saw neither Ntahobali nor Witness TQ does not mean that they were not there. It is quite possible that Witness WTHSA's attention was drawn to other facts, given the significant number of persons present and the prevailing circumstances at the *Groupe Scolaire* at this particular time. In addition, the Chamber considers Briquet's testimony to be credible as to establishing the presence of Witness TQ on that day. 12848

¹²⁸³⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 5, 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 9 September 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 17 June 2004 p. 30 (Des Forges); T. 28 August 2006 p. 44 (Briquet); T. 12 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39, 45; T. 14 June 2007 p. 32 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁴⁰ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 31 August 2006 p. 52 (ICS) (Briquet); T. 16 October 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁴¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS); T. 8 September 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁴² T. 8 September 2004 pp. 8, 17 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁴³ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁴⁴ T. 18 October 2006 p. 68 (Nsabimana); T. 9 July 2007 pp. 23-24 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁴⁵ T. 23 January 2006 p. 27 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁸⁴⁶ T. 23 January 2006 p. 37 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁸⁴⁷ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 30, 58 (ICS); T. 24 January 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁸⁴⁸ T. 31 August 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Briquet).

4859. In terms of the boarding process, both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo confirmed that the soldiers convalescing at the *Groupe Scolaire* tried to prevent the evacuation. 12849 Nteziryayo did concede, however, that other soldiers may have been involved and that there were civilians who were also opposed to the departure. 12850 However, he categorically affirmed that they were not the Interahamwe with Ntahobali as they showed no distinctive features or signs that they were members of the *Interahamwe*. 12851 Witness WTHSA provided an uncorroborated account that the boarding process was without incident. The Chamber will not give credence to Witness WTHSA's account, for the reasons set out above.

4860. Briquet admitted to not remembering precisely what happened and did not remember being present throughout the period when children were put on board the vehicles. 12853 In this way, he confirmed that a supervisor who was attached to take care of the children or supervise them boarding onto the vehicles would have been in a better position to specify as to what actually happened when the children were boarding. 12854 This supervisor was Prosecution Witness TQ. ¹²⁸⁵⁵ Furthermore, the Chamber recalls Briquet's assertions that when they arrived at the border, and the children disembarked from the buses, some of the children and young people were badly injured. 12856 This corroborates the fact that they suffered some means of violence at some point along the evacuation process and that the children were attacked prior to the boarding process. 12857

4861. Witness WTHSA claimed that he did not witness any violent acts prior to the children boarding the buses at this time and that he was present until the convoy left. 12858 However, the testimony of the other Defence witnesses who were indisputably present, leads the Chamber to believe that the orphans were the subject of acts of violence at the time of boarding. 12859

4862. All of the witnesses, including Witness WTHSA, were consistent regarding the fact that Colonel Munyengango and Nsabimana were present at the evacuation, and that because of their intervention to abate the violence the convoy could leave the Groupe Scolaire under their aegis. 12860

4863. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo were the only two whose testimony referred to Nteziryayo's presence at the *Groupe Scolaire*. Nsabimana explained that Nteziryayo was there to help calm the situation down during the boarding process at the Groupe Scolaire, and that

¹²⁸⁴⁹ T. 12 October 2006 pp. 71-72; T. 18 October 2006 p. 66 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39-40, 42-43 (Nteziryayo). ¹²⁸⁵⁰ T. 6 June 2007 p. 44; T. 21 June 2007 p. 9 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁵¹ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁵² T. 23 January 2006 p. 35 (Witness WTHSA).

¹²⁸⁵³ T. 31 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁵⁴ T. 31 August 2006 p. 38 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁵⁵ T. 31 August 2006 p. 38; 31 August 2006 p. 50 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁵⁶ T. 28 August 2006 p. 48 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁵⁷ T. 7 September 2004 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁵⁸ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 35, 48 (Witness (WTHSA).

¹²⁸⁵⁹ T. 12 October 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Nteziryayo); T. 28 August 2006 p.

¹²⁸⁶⁰ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 8, 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 23 January 2006 p. 36 (Witness WTHSA); T. 28 August 2006 p. 44; T. 31 August 2006 pp. 10, 38 (Briquet); T. 12 October 2006 pp. 72-73 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 pp. 43-44 (Nteziryayo).

he was informed of the evacuation prior to the date. 12861 Nteziryayo stated that he participated at the request of Nsabimana in the evacuation, and had not heard about it until he was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* that day. 12862 He was getting medicine from the hospital when Nsabimana approached him and asked him to assist him with the evacuation and to help him to convince the people to let the operation be carried out. 12863 Nteziryayo agreed to assist, because he thought he could facilitate the operation. 12864 There was no further reference to his role at the *Groupe Scolaire*.

4864. The Prosecution and Defence witnesses are further consistent to the effect that the convoy had to repeatedly stop at roadblocks and negotiate its way through them, before reaching the Akanyaru border. Prosecution Witness TQ was the only witness to testify that Ntahobali was present during the route of the convoy. He testified that the only reason why they were able to pass through the roadblock, associated with Ntahobali, was because Ntahobali's Combi vehicle caught on fire. This caused enough of a distraction as to enable the convoy to pass through with no further issue. Witness TQ was also the sole witness to testify that Nteziryayo took part in the negotiations at the roadblocks in order that the convoy could pass. Nteziryayo himself confirmed, however, that he was following the convoy in his own vehicle. According to Witness TQ, Nteziryayo also accompanied the convoy, but he could not recall as to whether he was part of the convoy and was driving in his own Land Cruiser; he was alone without bodyguards or escorts. According to Nteziryayo, he accompanied the convoy up until the border, because he was convinced that his mission, or the reason for which he was invited to be there by Nsabimana, was not finished yet.

4865. The Chamber considers Witness TQ's evidence to be credible, that Ntahobali followed the convoy in a Combi vehicle that caught on fire and that Nteziryayo took part in obtaining passage for the convoy through the roadblocks.

4866. At the Akanyaru border, all the witnesses agreed that everyone in the convoy managed to cross over the border, except 30 or so people. The contentious issue is by whom they were prevented and why. According to Witness TQ, these selected people were prevented from crossing by Nteziryayo and Ntahobali together, because they were Tutsis, a characteristic

```
<sup>12861</sup> T. 12 October 2006 p. 72 (Nsabimana).
```

¹²⁸⁶² T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39-40, 42, 46; T. 19 June 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁶³ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 40, 46 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁶⁴ T. 6 June 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁶⁵ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 17 June 2004 p. 30 (Des Forges); T. 28 August 2006 p. 45 (Briquet); T. 12 October 2006 pp. 74-75; T. 16 October 2006 p. 7 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 p. 47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁶⁶ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁶⁷ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁶⁸ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁶⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 10, 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁷⁰ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 46-47 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁷¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁷² T. 16 November 2006 p. 75 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁸⁷³ T. 21 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁷⁴ T. 7 September 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness TQ); T. 28 August 2006 p. 50 (Briquet); T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana); T. 6 June 2007 p. 51; T. 14 June 2007 pp. 34-35 (Nteziryayo).

ascertained mainly by assessing their physical features. 12875 Witness TO said that Ntezirvayo took the list of names from him and read out the names, allowing some to cross and forbidding others 12876

4867. Briquet was under the impression that those who were sent back by the Rwandan authorities were adults who had infiltrated the convoy without the requisite documents, and for whom the evacuation agreement did not provide. 12877 However, the Chamber notes his recognition of Nteziryayo's presence at the border, reading aloud the list containing the names of the children, and acting in a military capacity. This corroborates Witness TQ's assertion above.

4868. Equally, Nsabimana claimed that those who were sent back to Butare worked at the *Groupe Scolaire* with the orphans, as cooks. ¹²⁸⁷⁹ They were given the choice as to whether to cross over into Burundi or to return to Butare. ¹²⁸⁸⁰ The Chamber notes that Nsabimana did not implicate Nteziryayo at this juncture. 12881

4869. Nteziryayo claimed that many young delinquents gathered at the immigration office, who caused disorder when the convoy arrived. He asserted that nobody was prevented from crossing based on ethnicity. He vigorously asserted that he only learned of the evacuation on the day thereof, when Nsabimana asked him for help with the boarding process at the *Groupe Scolaire*. ¹²⁸⁸⁴ Evidence was adduced that Nteziryayo did in fact know of the evacuations prior to his arrival at the *Groupe Scolaire* that day. This was clearly demonstrated by his comments to Witness TQ at the Butare *préfecture* offices, that the Red Cross employees were conniving with the enemy by sending youths to Burundi to join the ranks of the Inkotanyi. 12885 The Chamber considers that Nteziryayo did know of the evacuation prior to 5 June 1994.

4870. The Chamber finds Briquet's evidence to be credible and to largely corroborate that of Witness TO. Briquet might not have fully comprehended why the 30 adults were not allowed to progress across the border. He was, however, certain that it was Nteziryayo who was very involved in listing out the names of the children and reading them aloud. 12886

4871. The Chamber recalls that Witness TQ is the only Prosecution witness to testify that Ntahobali was present at all during the whole evacuation process, ¹²⁸⁸⁷ and to testify that it was

```
<sup>12875</sup> T. 7 September 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
<sup>12876</sup> T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness TQ).
```

¹²⁸⁷⁷ T. 31 August 2006 p. 11 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁷⁸ T. 31 August 2006 pp. 10-11, 24 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁷⁹ T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁸⁸⁰ T. 16 October 2006 p. 8 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁸⁸¹ T. 16 November 2006 p. 73 (Nsabimana).

¹²⁸⁸² T. 6 June 2007 p. 49 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁸³ T. 14 June 2007 p. 34 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁸⁴ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 39, 42; T. 19 June 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁸⁵ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 68-69 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁸⁶ T. 31 August 2006 pp. 10-11 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁸⁷ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

Nteziryayo and Ntahobali who segregated and prevented the 30 people from crossing the border. 12888

4872. In the Chamber's view, Prosecution Witness TQ was an eyewitness and was involved in the entire evacuation process, from the organisation to the execution, acting in his capacity as supervisor of the evacuation procedure. Briquet corroborated Witness TQ's role. 12889 Witness TQ knew the children and the supervisors and is therefore a very strong witness in this regard. The Chamber recalls that Witness TQ was vigorously cross-examined by three different defence attorneys. Despite this intense cross-examination, Witness TQ's testimony remained internally consistent. There is no doubt that the person he saw at the *Groupe Scolaire* leading the group of assailants was Ntahobali, with whom he was already well acquainted from having attended the *Groupe Scolaire* together as children. 12890 Witness TQ further identified him as the son of Minister Pauline Nyiramasuhuko. 12891

4873. He also identified Nteziryayo in court and affirmed that he was head of civil defence in Butare. The Chamber considers that he had no reason to implicate any one of the Accused, as he was acquitted prior to testifying in this case and by virtue of the fact that he was ethnically speaking, a Hutu. The Chamber finds Prosecution Witness TQ to be a salient and credible witness in this regard.

4874. Ntahobali presented an alibi that he was in Cyangugu outside of Butare *préfecture* during the 5 June 1994 attack at the *Groupe Scolaire*. The Chamber has previously determined that this alibi is not credible (). Therefore, the evidence presented by Ntahobali in support of this alibi does not raise a doubt as to his presence at the *Groupe Scolaire* on 5 June 1994.

4875. In light of all the foregoing, having assessed the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond reasonable doubt the allegations contained in Paragraphs 6.36 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment and Paragraph 6.33 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. The Chamber finds that Ntahobali was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* on 5 June 1994, accompanied by *Interahamwe* and civilian militiamen, and together they perpetrated violent acts as an attempt to hinder the evacuation of orphans. The Chamber further finds that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation from Butare of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors and selected about 30 individuals whom they believed to be Tutsi adults and forced them to remain in Rwanda.

3.6.46 Gikore Secteur Meeting, Late June 1994

3.6.46.1 Introduction

4876. Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that from April to July 1994, Nteziryayo incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare

-

¹²⁸⁸⁸ T. 7 September 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁸⁹ T. 31 August 2006 p. 38; 31 August 2006 p. 50 (Briquet).

¹²⁸⁹⁰ T. 7 September pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁹¹ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 32-34 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹²⁸⁹² T. 6 September 2004 p. 52 (ICS); T. 7 September 2004 p. 20 (ICS); T. 7 September 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

préfecture. ¹²⁸⁹³ Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 allege that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo not only incited, but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. ¹²⁸⁹⁴ Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that after the handing over of office on 21 June 1994, the newly appointed *préfet*, Nteziryayo, continued to incite the population to "finish off" the enemy and its "accomplices", most notably during the swearing-in ceremony of the Muganza *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje. ¹²⁸⁹⁵

4877. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo made public statements inciting people to exterminate the Tutsi population as part of the genocidal plan of the Interim Government. ¹²⁸⁹⁶ To this end, Nteziryayo attended a meeting in Gikore *secteur* around mid-June 1994 where Nteziryayo ordered the population to flush out and kill the remaining Tutsi survivors. ¹²⁸⁹⁷ The Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness FAH.

4878. In addition to its submissions on the defective nature of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, ¹²⁸⁹⁸ and its request to exclude the evidence of Witness FAH, ¹²⁸⁹⁹ considered below, the Nteziryayo Defence submits that the only occasion Nteziryayo went to Gikore between April and July 1994, was for a security council meeting on 24 May 1994. ¹²⁹⁰⁰ Nteziryayo did not attend a second meeting approximately two or three weeks after the Gikore meeting on 24 May 1994. ¹²⁹⁰¹ The Defence relies upon the testimony of Nteziryayo.

3.6.46.2 Preliminary Issues

Failure to Plead Second Meeting at Gikore Secteur

4879. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective insofar as it failed to plead the Gikore meeting of June 1994. Further, the Defence submits that references in Witness FAH's previous statements to a meeting which took place in April 1994 did not provide adequate notice that Witness FAH would testify as to a meeting in June 1994. 12902

4880. Paragraph 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from April to July 1994, incitement to hatred and violence was propagated by various prominent persons, including Nteziryayo, who publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". Paragraph 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in

1173

¹²⁸⁹³ Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹²⁸⁹⁴ Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para.

^{6.59} of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo). ¹²⁸⁹⁵ Para. 6.34 Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹²⁸⁹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 312, 352-353, paras. 24, 153-154.

¹²⁸⁹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 356-357, paras. 166-167.

¹²⁸⁹⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 137.

¹²⁸⁹⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹²⁹⁰⁰ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 179-181; T. 6 June 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁹⁰¹ T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10, 19-21 (Nteziryayo).

¹²⁹⁰² Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 137.

Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

Butare *préfecture*. Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that after the handing over of office on 21 June 1994, newly appointed *Préfet* Nteziryayo continued to incite the population to "finish off" the enemy and its "accomplices", most notably during the swearing-in ceremony of the Muganza *bourgmestre*, Élie Ndayambaje. 12905 The Chamber notes Paragraph 6.34 is not pled in support of any counts against Nteziryayo.

4881. Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo not only incited but also aided and abetted the population in massacring the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. 12906

4882. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 relating to aiding and abetting are very general in nature. Aside from alleging that Nteziryayo publicly incited as well as aided and abetted people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to any meeting in Gikore *secteur*. The Chamber therefore considers each of these paragraphs to be defective. Further, as previously established in the Preliminary Issues section of this Judgement (), the Chamber will not make findings regarding paragraphs other than those specifically pled in support of counts. Thus, the Chamber will not make any finding against Nteziryayo with respect to Paragraph 6.34 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

4883. The Chamber must then determine whether 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 relating to aiding and abetting, were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.

4884. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief makes no reference to a meeting at Gikore *secteur*. The Chamber notes the Prosecution relies upon the testimony of Witness FAH with respect to this allegation. The witness summary grid with respect to Witness FAH shows this witness was intended to testify that Nteziryayo and Muvunyi made a speech inviting people to fight together to stop the enemy; urging those who could not go to the frontline to post themselves at roadblocks and conduct a thorough search of the Tutsis, and kill them because the Tutsis are "a bad race, a race of snakes". Witness FAH was also supposed to testify that three or four weeks later a meeting was held at the same venue where Nteziryayo, Ruzindaza and Muvunyi told people to look for the Tutsis everywhere and then kill them. The second meeting is the object of the current allegation.

4885. The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness FAH provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief was listed as being brought in support of Counts 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide) and 4 (direct and public incitement to commit genocide)

¹²⁹⁰⁴ Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹²⁹⁰⁵ Para. 6.34 Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹²⁹⁰⁶ Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹²⁹⁰⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 356-357, paras. 166-167.

¹²⁹⁰⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAH (20).

against Nteziryayo. Further, the Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness FAH provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief fails to give any details as to the time or location of the alleged incident of incitement.

4886. Witness FAH's statements provide further detail with respect to Nteziryayo's alleged inciting speech. Witness FAH's first statement of 7 April 1999 stated that towards the end of April 1994 the *conseiller* for Gikore *secteur* informed the population of a meeting with the *bourgmestre* and the *préfet* at the Gikore Centre in Nyarunazi *cellule*. 12909 Among others, *Préfet* Nteziryayo, Colonel Muvunyi, the President of the Court of First Instance, Ruzindaza, and the *bourgmestre* of Nyaruhengeri were in attendance. Witness FAH's statement then refers to a second meeting which took place three to four weeks after the first visit, towards the end of May 1994, where all the foregoing leaders returned to Gikore. On that occasion, Witness FAH recalled that the *préfet* said that the Hutus were fools because some of them were hiding Tutsis, others were living with Tutsi spouses while others forced Tutsi women to live with them without marriage. He said, "[y]ou have to kill them and destroy those who are hiding the enemy just like you destroy the enemy", and explained that when a snake twirls round a calabash, the calabash must be broken in order to destroy the snake. After the departure of the *préfet*, systematic searches were organised in houses and all over the surrounding hill. Several Tutsis were killed yet again. 12910

4887. Witness FAH's second statement of 3 February 2000 also refers to the same two meetings that took place in Gikore *secteur*, held three to four weeks apart, but does not provide any further detail as to Nteziryayo's role at that meeting. 12911

4888. The Chamber finds that the substance of Witness FAH's previous statements is consistent with the summary of his expected testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief. Although the summary of Witness FAH's expected testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief failed to mention either the time or location of the incident in question, the omission of such details was remedied by information contained in Witness FAH's statements which identified two meetings that both took place in Gikore *secteur*.

4889. With respect to the timing of these meetings, the Chamber recalls that the witness' first statement placed the first meeting in April 1994 and the second meeting, three or four weeks later. Nevertheless, the Chamber notes that the witness' statements claim *Préfet* Nteziryayo was present at both meetings. In the Chamber's view therefore, the second meeting must have taken place after Nteziryayo took office as *préfet*. The witness' trial testimony reinforced this conclusion. He testified that the first meeting took place around the end of May or beginning of June 1994, ¹²⁹¹² and a second meeting was called about two or three weeks after the first meeting. ¹²⁹¹³ Witness FAH's previous statements were disclosed respectively to the Defence in November and December 2000, over three years prior to Witness FAH's testimony in April 2004

¹²⁹⁰⁹ 8 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAH, disclosed 15 November 2000.

¹²⁹¹⁰ 8 October 1999, Statement of Witness FAH, disclosed 15 November 2000.

¹²⁹¹¹ 3 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAH, disclosed 4 December 2000.

¹²⁹¹² T. 22 April 2004 p. 9; T. 22 April 2004 pp. 19-20 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹¹³ T. 21 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAH).

4890. Having regard to the content of Witness FAH's statements which refer to Nteziryayo as *préfet*, the Chamber is of the view that the Nteziryayo Defence was on notice that the meeting about which Witness FAH would testify must have occurred in June 1994. As such, the Chamber also considers the discrepancy in dates to be minor and not such as to violate the right of the Accused to adequate notice. ¹²⁹¹⁴ For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that Paragraphs 5.8 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement, as well as Paragraphs 6.53 and 6.59 relating to aiding and abetting were cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information. The Chamber is of the view that the Nteziryayo Defence was on notice that it would need to defend itself against the allegation that Nteziryayo incited the population by speeches he gave at a meeting in Gikore *secteur* sometime in June 1994 when he was *préfet*, in support of Counts 1 and 4 of the Nteziryayo Indictment. The Chamber further considers the Defence did not suffer any prejudice and that the Defence's right to prepare was not violated.

Exclusion of the Evidence of Witness FAH

4891. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that at the time of filing the Nteziryayo Closing Brief its motion requesting the exclusion of portions of evidence of several Prosecution witnesses, including Witness FAH, filed on 23 January 2009, 12915 was pending. The Chamber observes that on 25 February 2009 the Chamber denied that motion in its entirety. The Chamber considered it was inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial, and chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations. 12917

4892. Having regard to the Chamber's finding that the Nteziryayo Defence received sufficient notice of the current allegation, the Chamber considers there is no reason to exclude the evidence of Witness FAH. In addition to Witness FAH's evidence being provided in a clear and consistent manner, Witness FAH's previous statements were disclosed respectively to the Defence in November and December 2000, over three years prior to Witness FAH's testimony in April 2004 and well before the commencement of the Nteziryayo Defence case in December 2006. For these reasons the Chamber considers the Defence had sufficient time to prepare Nteziryayo's defence with regard to this allegation. For the foregoing reasons the Chamber considers the Defence's right to prepare was not violated. Accordingly, the Chamber declines the Defence's request to exclude the evidence of Witness FAH.

3.6.46.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAH

4893. Witness FAH, a Hutu farmer, testified that around the end of May or beginning of June 1994, 12918 authorities went to various hills and informed the population in his *commune* that a

_

¹²⁹¹⁴ Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 296, 304-305.

¹²⁹¹⁵ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009.

¹²⁹¹⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹²⁹¹⁷ *Nteziryayo*, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009. T. 22 April 2004 pp. 9, 19-20 (Witness FAH).

meeting would take place on the same day at Gikore *secteur* in Nyaruhengeri *commune*. ¹²⁹¹⁹ *Préfet* Nteziryayo attended that first meeting. ¹²⁹²⁰ On that occasion the *bourgmestre* of his *commune* introduced Nteziryayo as the "new *préfet* of Butare *préfecture*" before he introduced the other guests. ¹²⁹²¹ Nteziryayo delivered a speech in which he said that Rwanda had been attacked by the "enemy" who had come to exterminate Hutus and that it was important that Tutsis, in reference to whom Nteziryayo referred to as "accomplices", be killed before the enemy arrived. ¹²⁹²²

4894. A second meeting at Gikore *secteur*, Nyaruhengeri *commune*, was called about two or three weeks after the first meeting. The inhabitants were again informed by persons sent by the authorities about that meeting on the day the meeting was held. They were informed the meeting was to start at 9.00 a.m., but it actually started at 10.30 a.m. People from Gikore and Bimba *secteurs*, as well as people from Kibaye, Kigembe and Muganza attended the meeting.

4895. Witness FAH testified that he came to the venue before the meeting started ¹²⁹²⁷ and saw the new *préfet*, Nteziryayo, and other authorities arrive one after the other in their cars. ¹²⁹²⁸ Nteziryayo wore civilian clothes, a suit and a tie. ¹²⁹²⁹

4896. Nteziryayo addressed the population after an introduction by the *bourgmestre*. 12930 Nteziryayo talked about the circumstances under which the country had been attacked by the enemy. He further talked about the means at their disposal in order to take over the enemy. 12931 Nteziryayo told the population that they "did not comply by our instructions." The witness recounted that Nteziryayo further stated:

That some were engaged in looting the belongings of the Tutsi, others were eating their cows or livestock; that young people had taken Tutsi girls as wives. You had forgotten to comply with your duty, carry out your duty. I would like to tell you that you have gone astray because the enemy has already infiltrated our ranks.... How can you take a Tutsi girl for your wife whereas you had killed her relatives ...? ... those Tutsis you are hiding must all die.... [T]he person who would not comply with what I am asking for or would continue to hide or keep as wives Tutsi girls, ... should be killed at the same time as the others.... These people could be compared to snakes that have ...

¹²⁹¹⁹ T. 21 April 2004 p. 11; T. 21 April 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁰ T. 21 April 2004 p. 12 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²¹ T. 21 April 2004 p. 14 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²² T. 21 April 2004 p. 15 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²³ T. 21 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁴ T. 21 April 2004 p. 20; T. 21 April 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁵ T. 21 April 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁶ T. 21 April 2004 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁷ T. 21 April 2004 p. 20 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁸ T. 21 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹²⁹ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 39-40 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³⁰ T. 21 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³¹ T. 21 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³² T. 21 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAH).

wrapped around the house. You would need to break that house in order to kill the snake. 12933

4897. Nteziryayo also said that when you clean a house, you do not leave the dirt inside it, you take the dirt outside. 12934

4898. Speeches by Colonel Muvunyi, President of the Court of First Instance Ruzindaza and *Bourgmestre* Kabeza followed Nteziryayo's speech. Colonel Muvunyi said that the population had not complied with the authorities' former instructions. He added if the population did not fight the Tutsis, who were accomplices, then the Tutsis would exterminate the population. He told the population to search everywhere for the Tutsis, including those that they were hiding, and to kill them. Ruzindaza quoted from the book of Jeremiah, Chapter 6, verses 22 to 25, and said that the enemy was coming from the north and that if the population would not kill the Tutsis, they would face serious problems because the enemy was pitiless. The *bourgmestre* asked the attendees to implement the instructions delivered in the speeches and then closed the meeting.

4899. Witness FAH testified that on the day of the meeting he and the members of his group started to kill the Tutsi survivors in compliance with the instructions given. The witness said he and his "comrade" killed and buried two men from Bugesera. The witness injured his neighbour's child with a machete and threw the child into a latrine pit. He subsequently stated that he did not actively participate in killing anyone. The second wave of killings lasted only a short time because it aimed to identify and to "flush out" the few remaining Tutsi survivors. 12943

4900. Witness FAH saw Nteziryayo for the first time when he arrived at the first meeting. He knew it was Nteziryayo because he was introduced by the *bourgmestre*. Witness FAH saw Nteziryayo for the last time at the second meeting. Witness FAH identified Nteziryayo in court. He has time at the second meeting.

4901. When put to Witness FAH that his first statement of 7 April 1999 stated the population was informed of a first meeting towards the end of April 1994, Witness FAH testified the meeting did not take place at the end of the month of April 1994, in spite of what was recorded in his statement. He stated he corrected this error in his second statement. When put to

```
<sup>12933</sup> T. 21 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness FAH).

<sup>12934</sup> T. 21 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAH).
```

¹²⁹³⁵ T. 21 April 2004 pp. 22-23 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³⁶ T. 21 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³⁷ T. 21 April 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³⁸ T. 21 April 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹³⁹ T. 21 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁰ T. 21 April 2004 p. 23 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴¹ T. 21 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴² T. 21 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴³ T. 21 April 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁴ T. 21 April 2004 p. 29; T. 22 April 2004 p. 32 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁵ T. 22 April 2004 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁶ T. 21 April 2004 p. 29; T. 22 April 2004 p. 39 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁷ T. 21 April 2004 p. 30 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁴⁸ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 10-11, 38 (Witness FAH).

the witness that his second statement of 3 February 2000 also referred to a meeting at which Colonel Muvunyi spoke that took place in late April 1994, ¹²⁹⁵⁰ Witness FAH explained that he never made these statements but that the person who recorded the first statement made a mistake and this mistake reoccurred in other documents. ¹²⁹⁵¹

4902. Witness FAH explained that he wanted to correct these mistaken references to late April 1994 but was told he could do so at a later time. When put to him why he initialled other corrections in that statement, but not the references to late April, he claimed the investigators did not allow him to correct all the mistakes in his statement. Witness FAH first noticed errors in his statement in October or November 1998 when he made his confession. 12953

4903. When put to Witness FAH that his confessional statement of 29 May 2003 confessed to participation in killings that occurred in April 1994, the witness stated that the attacks actually took place in June, after the meeting chaired by *Préfet* Nteziryayo where they were asked to kill Tutsis. He stated that his confessional statement contained errors for which he was not responsible. 12955

4904. Witness FAH testified that Nteziryayo was *préfet* of Butare at the time of both the first and second meeting in Gikore *secteur*. Witness FAH knew that Nteziryayo replaced Nsabimana as *préfet* of Butare but could not recall the date of Nteziryayo's appointment. When confronted with Defence Exhibit 5, 12957 Nteziryayo's official letter of appointment as *préfet* of Butare of 21 June 1994, Witness FAH maintained that he was not mistaken about the dates of the meetings and that the letter of appointment might be fraudulent. 12958

Nteziryayo

4905. Nteziryayo testified that the only occasion he went to Gikore between April and July 1994 was for a meeting on 24 May 1994. This meeting was one of several which formed part of the authorities' tour of the southern *communes*, pursuant to a decision taken at a meeting of the Security Council on 20 May 1994. Nteziryayo was not introduced as the new *préfet* of Butare at the time of the first meeting in Gikore as alleged by FAH because he was not *préfet* at that time. ¹²⁹⁶⁰

4906. Contrary to the testimony of Witness FAH, he did not attend a second meeting two or three weeks after the meeting held in Gikore on 24 May 1994. He contested Witness FAH's testimony that he spoke about the means to fight the enemy; that he said that

```
12949 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 33-35 (Witness FAH).
12950 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 11, 37 (Witness FAH).
12951 T. 22 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAH).
12952 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAH).
12953 T. 22 April 2004 p. 49 (Witness FAH).
12954 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 20-22 (ICS) (Witness FAH).
12955 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 22 (ICS) (Witness FAH).
12956 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 45 (ICS) (Witness FAH).
12957 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 46 (Witness FAH).
12958 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 47 (Witness FAH).
12959 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 47 (Witness FAH).
12959 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10 (Nteziryayo).
12960 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10 (Nteziryayo).
12961 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10, 19-21 (Nteziryayo).
```

instructions had not been complied with; that he requested the population to kill Tutsis, even those persons who had taken Tutsi wives or girlfriends; and that he compared Tutsis to snakes and referred to them as dirt that needed to be put out. 12962 Nteziryayo stated that since he did not attend the second meeting, he did not know what others said at the alleged second meeting in Gikore. 12963

3.6.46.4 Deliberations

4907. The issue in question is whether a second meeting took place in Gikore *secteur* sometime in mid-June 1994 at which Nteziryayo ordered the population to flush out and kill the remaining Tutsi survivors. 12964 Witness FAH testified to two meetings that took place in Gikore *secteur*, attended by various authorities including Nteziryayo, Nsabimana, Colonel Muvunyi, and President of the Court of First Instance Ruzindaza. The first meeting took place around the end of May or beginning of June 1994, 12965 which the Chamber considers to be consistent with Nteziryayo's evidence of a Security Council meeting in Gikore *secteur* on 24 May 1994. Witness FAH testified that a second meeting was called about two or three weeks after the first meeting. 12967 In contrast to Witness FAH's testimony, Nteziryayo testified that the only occasion he went to Gikore between April and July 1994 was for a meeting on 24 May 1994, 12968 and denied attending a second meeting two or three weeks after the 24 May 1994 meeting. 12969

4908. Witness FAH was the only Prosecution witness to testify regarding the second Gikore *secteur* meeting. In its Closing Brief, the Prosecution asserts that Witness FAG also testified to a second Gikore *secteur* meeting, about two weeks after a first meeting. The Chamber notes that the portion of the transcript extracted under the sub-heading "Witness FAG" in the Prosecution Closing Brief is in fact the evidence of Witness FAH. Witness FAG only testified to inflammatory speeches made by Nteziryayo at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony. Only Witness FAH testified with respect to the meeting in question, and this testimony is uncorroborated.

4909. The Chamber recalls that Witness FAH was a detained witness at the time of his testimony. Witness FAH pled guilty to genocide in Rwanda in 1998¹²⁹⁷⁴ and had not been sentenced at the time of his testimony. Despite initially testifying that he and his "comrade" killed and buried two men from Bugesera, and injured his neighbour's child with a

```
12962 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10-11 (Nteziryayo).
12963 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 12-13 (Nteziryayo).
12964 Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 356-357, paras. 166-167.
12965 T. 22 April 2004 pp. 9, 19-20 (Witness FAH).
12966 T. 6 June 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).
12967 T. 21 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAH).
12968 T. 6 June 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).
12969 T. 6 June 2007 pp. 10, 19-21 (Nteziryayo).
12970 Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 356-357, paras. 166-167.
```

¹²⁹⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 356, para. 166.

¹²⁹⁷² T. 1 and 3 March 2004 (Witness FAG); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 359, para. 173.

¹²⁹⁷³ T. 21 April 2004 p. 10; T. 21 April 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness FAH). ¹²⁹⁷⁴ T. 21 April 2004 pp. 10, 40-41 (Witness FAH).

^{1. 21} April 2004 pp. 10, 40-41 (Widness PAH). 1. 21 April 2004 p. 23; T. 21 April 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

machete before throwing him into a latrine pit, ¹²⁹⁷⁶ in addition to other killings, ¹²⁹⁷⁷ Witness FAH subsequently downplayed his role in the genocide before the Tribunal, stating that he did not actively participate in killing anyone. ¹²⁹⁷⁸ The Chamber considers that Witness FAH may have had an interest in attributing responsibility for acts he committed during the genocide as being authorised by the authorities and therefore officially sanctioned, in order to potentially reduce his sentence. Having regard for the foregoing, the Chamber considers that Witness FAH's testimony should be viewed with appropriate caution.

- 4910. The Chamber notes that Witness FAH testified that the attacks he executed in June 1994 arose after the meeting chaired by *Préfet* Nteziryayo where they were asked to kill Tutsis. ¹²⁹⁷⁹ In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that the witness' particular motive to enhance Nteziryayo's role in these killings in order to diminish his own role indicates that he is not credible with respect to matters incriminating Nteziryayo.
- 4911. While the Chamber appreciates that it is not prohibited from relying upon the testimony of accomplice witnesses (), and that there is no legal requirement that a witness' testimony be corroborated (), the Chamber nevertheless has discretion as to whether to rely on uncorroborated, but otherwise credible, witness testimony. The Chamber is best placed to evaluate the probative value of evidence. 12981
- 4912. Turning to the substance of his testimony, the Chamber notes there were several discrepancies between Witness FAH's prior statements and his oral evidence concerning the timeline of events. Both the witness' prior statements to ICTR Investigators, as well as his confessional statement to the Rwandan authorities, refer to April 1994 as the month when the first meeting and first attacks in which he was involved occurred. At trial Witness FAH explained that the person who recorded the first statement made a mistake and this mistake reoccurred in other documents. Witness FAH explained that he wanted to correct the mistaken references to late April 1994 in his statements but was told he could do so at a later time. He claimed the investigators did not allow him to correct all the mistakes in his statement. The witness' confessional statement also contained errors for which Witness FAH claimed not to be responsible.
- 4913. The Chamber considers that Witness FAH's confusion as to the timing of this meeting casts doubt on its occurrence. Further, the Chamber does not accept as plausible the witness' explanation that the investigators did not allow him to correct the mistaken references to late

¹²⁹⁷⁶ T. 21 April 2004 pp. 23-24 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁷⁷ T. 21 April 2004 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁷⁸ T. 21 April 2004 p. 19 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁷⁹ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 20-22 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁸⁰ Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 128; see Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 46 ("a Trial Chamber has the discretion to decide, in the circumstances of each case, whether corroboration of evidence is necessary and to rely on uncorroborated, but otherwise credible, witness testimony.").

¹²⁹⁸¹ See Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 29 ("It is possible for one Trial Chamber to prefer that a witness statement be corroborated, but neither the jurisprudence of the International Tribunal nor of the ICTY makes this an obligation.").

¹²⁹⁸² T. 22 April 2004 p. 38 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁸³ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁸⁴ T. 22 April 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness FAH).

April 1994 in his statements, 12985 but that he nevertheless amended other details in his statements. 12986

4914. In the present circumstances, the Chamber is of the opinion that Witness FAH's evidence, standing alone, is not sufficiently reliable to ground a finding of fact beyond reasonable doubt that a meeting took place in Gikore secteur sometime in June 1994 during which Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis. As a result, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo incited the population to flush out and kill any remaining Tutsi survivors in hiding at a meeting in Gikore secteur in June 1994, in furtherance of a plan to exterminate Tutsis.

3.6.47 Distribution of Condoms, June 1994

3.6.47.1 Introduction

4915. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment alleges that during the events at issue, soldiers, militiamen and *gendarmes*, among others, widely and notoriously committed rapes, sexual assaults and other crimes of a sexual nature throughout Rwanda. These crimes were perpetrated against the Tutsi population, and in particular against Tutsi women and girls. 12987 The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment further alleges that these assaults were the result of a strategy adopted and elaborated by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and other political, civil and military authorities in the country, at both the national and local level who conspired to exterminate the Tutsi population. 12988 The Indictment also alleges that Pauline Nyiramasuhuko participated in the planning, preparation or execution of a common scheme, strategy or plan to commit the atrocities set forth. The crimes were committed by her personally, by persons she assisted or by her subordinates, and with her knowledge or consent. 12989

4916. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment also alleges that from late 1990 until July 1994, members of the Government conspired among themselves and with others to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population. The components of this plan consisted of, *inter alia*, recourse to hatred and ethnic violence. In executing the plan, they organised, ordered and participated in the massacres perpetrated against the Tutsi population. Nyiramasuhuko elaborated, adhered to and executed this plan. 12990 The Indictment further alleges that from April to July 1994, incitement to hatred and violence was propagated by various prominent persons, including members of the Government and local authorities.

¹²⁹⁸⁵ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAH).

¹²⁹⁸⁶ T. 22 April 2004 pp. 12-13 (Witness FAH).

Para. 5.18 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-11 against Nyiramasuhuko).

¹²⁹⁸ Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8 and 10-11

against Nyiramasuhuko).

12989 Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-11 against

¹²⁵⁹⁰ Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8 and 10-11 against Nviramasuhuko).

Nyiramasuhuko publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices" and to get involved in the massacres in Butare *préfecture*. ¹²⁹⁹¹

4917. The Prosecution submits that in early June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, in the company of at least four men and another woman and in a public place, handed out two boxes of condoms to a woman named Anastasie Mukasakindi, and said: "Distribute these condoms to our young men for them to rape the Tutsi, and after having raped them they should kill them. And moreover, it is these Tutsi women that steal away our husbands. Not a single one of them should survive. Rape them first and use the condom – by using the condoms, and after that kill them. Let no Tutsi woman survive." ¹²⁹⁹² In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness FAE.

4918. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence denies the allegation and asserts that Witness FAE's testimony is not credible and uncorroborated. It contends that Prosecution Witness FAE lived in hiding in several locations from 23 April 1994, and therefore it was hard to believe that she suddenly left her hiding place and was able to see the distribution of condoms by Nyiramasuhuko. 12993

4919. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence also denies that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the time of the alleged event. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence notes that the Prosecution alleged that Nyiramasuhuko may have travelled between Murambi and Butare during this time. Instead, the Defence submits alibi evidence placing her in Muramba in Gisenvi préfecture at the time of this alleged incident, and asserts that she could not have travelled to Butare to distribute condoms. 12994 In support of her alibi evidence, Nyiramasuhuko relies on Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses Denise Ntahobali, WZJM, Céline Nyiraneza, WBUC, Maurice Ntahobali, Shalom Ntahobali, WZNA, Nsabimana, WTMP, Edmond Babin and Nyiramasuhuko.

4920. The Defence further submits that if a public personality like Minister Nyiramasuhuko came to their secteur or cellule, everybody would have known. Yet three Defence witnesses testified they did not see Nyiramasuhuko. Furthermore, the Defence questions the believability of the Prosecution argument that Nyiramasuhuko developed a sudden concern in June 1994 to distribute condoms in order to prevent AIDS. 12995

4921. In addition, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence argues that Prosecution Witness FAE was an active militant of the Association of Genocide Survivors (Association des Rescapés du Génocide), an organisation run by Ibuka. The Defence asserts that this organisation is known for its active role in the fabrication of testimony against the accused persons of the ICTR.

¹²⁹⁹¹ Para. 5.8 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-6 and 8-10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.20 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-5, 8 and 10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.38 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-5, 8 and 10 against Nyiramasuhuko); Para. 6.47 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-6, 8 and 10 against Nyiramasuhuko).

12992 Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 109, 121-122, paras. 280, 322.

¹²⁹⁹³ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 291-293.

¹²⁹⁹⁴ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 7.

¹²⁹⁹⁵ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 46.

Thus, the Defence submits that FAE's testimony is not credible. ¹²⁹⁹⁶ In support of its submissions, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence relies on the testimony of Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witnesses MNW, WZNA and WNMN and Nyiramasuhuko.

4922. The Ntahobali Defence submits, on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko, that this allegation was not included in the Indictment. 12997

3.6.47.2 Preliminary Issues

- 4923. The Chamber notes that as submitted by the Ntahobali Defence, the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko handed out two boxes of condoms in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune* in early June 1994, and requested that the condoms be distributed among the young Hutu men to rape the Tutsi women and then kill them, is not specifically pled in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment. The Chamber therefore finds the Indictment to be defective in this regard.
- 4924. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will now determine whether the Indictment has been cured of these defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 4925. The Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness FAE, who was expected to testify that in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, she saw Nyiramasuhuko with a gun, accompanied by four men. One of these men handed over a box of condoms to another woman, and instructed her to give them to their young supporters so that they could use them when raping the Tutsi women. The witness summary further states that Nyiramasuhuko told this woman that Tutsi women were to be killed "because they are taking their husbands". ¹²⁹⁹⁹
- 4926. The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness FAE provided in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief provides adequate details as to the location where this event purportedly occurred, but does not specify a time.
- 4927. The Chamber observes that the prior statement of Witness FAE, dated 7 May 1999, was disclosed to the Defence on 15 November 2000, 13 December 2001 and again on 21 December 2001. This statement made further specific references to the location, and specifically mentioned the time frame as "early June 1994". These disclosures were made well before the start of Witness FAE's testimony on 17 March 2004.
- 4928. The Chamber finds that the substance of Witness FAE's previous statement is consistent with the summary of her anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the

_

¹²⁹⁹⁶ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 286; The Chamber notes that it has previously set out the evidence of Witness WNMN as it relates to the alleged fabrication claim (). The Chamber will take this evidence into account in the Deliberations section.

¹²⁹⁹⁷ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (vi).

¹²⁹⁹⁸ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 78 (vi).

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAE (17).

¹³⁰⁰⁰ 7 May 1999, Redacted Statement of Witness FAE, disclosed 15 November 2000; 7 May 1999, Unredacted Statement of Witness FAE, disclosed 13 December 2001.

Pre-Trial Brief regarding Nyiramasuhuko's presence in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur* and her actions and statements in distributing the condoms and inciting others to rape and kill Tutsi women.

4929. For the foregoing reasons, the Chamber considers that the defect in the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment is cured by the disclosure of clear, consistent and timely information. Consequently, Nyiramasuhuko was reasonably able to understand the nature of the charges against her and there was no prejudice to the preparation of her defence.

3.6.47.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAE

4930. Witness FAE, a Tutsi, identified Nyiramasuhuko in court. The witness had known Nyiramasuhuko for several years before the genocide; she would see her at the university where Nyiramasuhuko used to work and also during MRND meetings. She often saw Nyiramasuhuko at the hospital accompanying her mother to seek medical attention. Nyiramasuhuko looked for a Hutu physician to treat her mother because of her hatred of Tutsis. Nyiramasuhuko was the Minister of Women's Affairs.

4931. Witness FAE averred that between April and July 1994 she did not stay in her house, but hid in several places, including people's homes, bushes and sorghum plantations. On 22 April 1994, her husband took and hid their children in the house of a Hutu neighbour. On 23 April 1994, the witness' husband went to live with his other wife. The same day, the witness also left her home and did not return until early June 1994. She hid in the house of a Hutu physician during this time, but she did not stay in the same place for too long, as the Tutsis were being chased and were afraid of being caught.

4932. Shortly after the witness returned to her house in June 1994, she saw Nyiramasuhuko not far from her (the witness') house. During the afternoon, she heard the noise of a vehicle passing on the road. At that time, Witness FAE was inside her house and looked discreetly out a window because she was afraid, and did not want to be seen. She saw a white double-cabin vehicle stopped on the road around 7.5 metres from her house, slightly to the right and opposite the house of a neighbour.

¹³⁰⁰¹ See generally Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 104-105.

¹³⁰⁰² T. 17 March 2004 pp. 84-85 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰³ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-75; T. 18 March 2004 pp. 47-48, 50-51 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁴ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-75 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁵ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-75; T. 18 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁶ T. 17 March 2004 p. 75; T. 18 March 2004 p. 24 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁷ T. 17 March 2004 p. 72 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁸ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 72-73 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁰⁹ T. 17 March 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰¹⁰ T. 18 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰¹¹ T. 17 March 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰¹² T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74, 78 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰¹³ T. 17 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰¹⁴ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 75-78 (Witness FAE).

- 4933. The car contained five people, including Nyiramasuhuko. She could identify Nyiramasuhuko because the window of the vehicle was wound down. Doctor Chrysostome Ndindabahizi was driving the car. In the front passenger seat sat Simeon Remera, a medical assistant at the Butare psychiatric centre. In the rear seat, behind the driver, was an *Interahamwe* named Speratus Sibomana. Another *Interahamwe* named Jean-Bosco Hategekimana sat on the other side and Nyiramasuhuko sat in between the two. 13017
- 4934. Witness FAE testified that the car stopped in front of the house owned by a woman next door to hers. Simeon Remera and Doctor Ndindabahizi got out. Simeon Remera carried a khaki-coloured box on which was the drawing of a condom and the word "Prudence".
- 4935. Doctor Ndindabahizi thereafter gave the box to the woman who owned the house and said, "[g]ive this to our young *Interahamwe* for them to use when they rape the Tutsi, so that they are not contaminated with HIV or AIDS". Sibomana, who was sitting next to Nyiramasuhuko in the car, gave Nyiramasuhuko another box and she in turn gave the box to the lady who owned the house. Nyiramasuhuko said: "Go and distribute these condoms to your young men, so that they use them to rape Tutsi women and to protect themselves from AIDS, and after having raped them they should kill all of them. Let no Tutsi woman survive because they take away our husbands." The witness commented that the "young men" referred to were the *Interahamwe*.
- 4936. Witness FAE further testified that Nyiramasuhuko did not get out of the car; she gave the box to Sibomana, who was sitting to her left in the car, and who in turn gave the box, through the window, to the lady. Witness FAE testified that she could hear what was being said because the vehicle in which Nyiramasuhuko sat was located not far from the window through which she was watching the events unfold. 13026
- 4937. Nyiramasuhuko was wearing a military camouflage uniform, with the sleeves of the shirt rolled up. 13027 The witness commented that she could see that Nyiramasuhuko's sleeves were rolled up when Nyiramasuhuko handed the box to the lady through the window. 13028
- 4938. The witness averred that the boxes were about the width of the screen before her as she testified at trial, and that they were well sealed and were cube-shaped. The measurements of the screen before the witness were 31 by 23 centimetres. 13030

```
13015 T. 17 March 2004 p. 74 (Witness FAE).
13016 T. 17 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness FAE).
13017 T. 17 March 2004 p. 79; T. 18 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAE).
13018 T. 17 March 2004 p. 79; T. 17 March 2004 p. 82 (ICS) (Witness FAE).
13019 T. 17 March 2004 p. 79 (Witness FAE).
13020 T. 17 March 2004 pp. 79-80, 82; T. 18 March 2004 pp. 36-37 (Witness FAE).
13021 T. 17 March 2004 pp. 83; T. 18 March 2008 p. 37 (Witness FAE).
13022 T. 17 March 2004 pp. 79-80 (Witness FAE).
13023 T. 17 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness FAE).
13024 T. 17 March 2004 pp. 83; T. 18 March 2004 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness FAE).
13025 T. 17 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness FAE).
13026 T. 18 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness FAE).
13027 T. 17 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness FAE).
13028 T. 17 March 2004 p. 84; T. 18 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAE).
```

- 4939. Witness FAE was confronted with her written statement of 7 May 1999 in which she declared that Nyiramasuhuko was seated in the front seat of the car with a gun between her legs. 13031 The witness explained that during her testimony she limited herself to answering questions asked by the Prosecutor, and was not asked whether Nyiramasuhuko had a gun. She further pointed out that a truck has a cabin in front and the bed of the truck is in the back, in which no one sits. Because it was a double-cabin vehicle, Nyiramasuhuko was sitting in the back seat of the cabin which was still part of the front of the vehicle. 13032
- 4940. It was also put to Witness FAE that her prior statement indicated that the three *Interahamwe* were in the back seat. The witness reaffirmed her earlier testimony that Simeon Remera was seated next to the driver in the front seat. 13033
- 4941. When put to Witness FAE that her prior statement did not mention the second box of condoms, Witness FAE stated that her statement was delivered and written in French, a language in which she was not fluent. She testified that she gave her statement in French using the little French she knew and in the absence of an interpreter. She averred that she did make certain corrections to the written version of her French statement, but may have overlooked certain other errors that needed to be corrected. She averred that she did not mention the second box of condoms, Witness FAE that her prior statement did not mention the second box of condoms, Witness FAE that her prior statement did not mention the second box of condoms, Witness FAE that her prior statement did not mention the second box of condoms, Witness FAE that her prior statement did not mention the second box of condoms.
- 4942. Witness FAE confirmed that she was a member of the ARG (Association of Rwandan genocide survivors of 1994) which was aided by *Ibuka*. She denied that this association had a custom of character destruction, and averred that she was simply telling the court what she saw and heard at the time. She further denied that members of the ARG denounced people in order to be requited with scholarships for their children. She underscored that she, and no one else, paid for her children's studies.

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness MNW

4943. Witness MNW, a Hutu, testified that she knew Prosecution Witness FAE. ¹³⁰⁴⁰ She met Witness FAE immediately upon moving to Cyarwa-Sumo and Witness FAE lived approximately 300 metres from Witness MNW's home. ¹³⁰⁴¹ They were not friends, but greeted each other when they met as neighbours. ¹³⁰⁴² Witness MNW identified Witness FAE as tall, thin and dark with relaxed hair, and approximately 1 metre 70 centimetres in height. ¹³⁰⁴³

```
<sup>13029</sup> T. 18 March 2004 p. 37 (Witness FAE).
```

¹³⁰³⁰ T. 18 March 2004 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³¹ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 33-34 (Witness FAE); Defence Exhibit 214 (Nyiramasuhuko) (7 May 1999, Statement of Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³² T. 18 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³³ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 34-35 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁴ T. 18 March 2004 p. 42; Defence Exhibit 214 (Nyiramasuhuko) (7 May 1999, Statement of Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁵ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁶ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 27-28 (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁷ T. 18 March 2004 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁸ T. 18 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰³⁹ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³⁰⁴⁰ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 64-65 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴¹ T. 10 February 2005 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴² T. 10 February 2005 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴³ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 66-69 (ICS); T. 14 February 2005 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

Witness FAE worked at the university health centre in Butare, had five children, and was never legally married. 13044 A man went to Witness FAE's house about once a week. People said that the man was Witness FAE's husband. 13045 The witness testified that she did not see Witness FAE during the entire month of June 1994, as people had already begun to flee. 13046

- 4944. Witness MNW knew Nyiramasuhuko, though only through hearing her speak on the radio and reading information about her. 13047 In 1994, the witness knew Nyiramasuhuko as Minister of Family and Women's Affairs. 13048
- 4945. Witness MNW testified that she did not see Nyiramasuhuko in the secteur where she lived in May or June 1994. 13049
- 4946. Witness MNW added that, in her capacity as a minister, everyone would have been informed of any potential visit by Nyiramasuhuko to their secteur, especially during a time of war, but this was not the case. 13050 She conceded that it was possible that Nyiramasuhuko could have made a private or covert visit, but believed that even if it was a private visit, the residents that saw her would have talked about it. 13051
- 4947. Witness MNW stated that no one in her secteur told her that they heard Nyiramasuhuko say that Tutsi women had to be killed after having been raped. 13052 Witness MNW did not agree that Nyiramasuhuko had visited the Cyarwa-Sumo secteur in June 1994, distributed condoms and said "Tutsi females should be raped and killed". 13053 She had a "drinking joint" in her house and claimed that if Nyiramasuhuko had said either of these things, she would have known and heard of such a pronouncement from the people who came to that bar. Her patrons would have been happy with the distribution of condoms. 13054 Witness MNW testified that the bar she operated was not functional from 20 April 1994 until the killing stopped in early May 1994, and the bar closed again from the first days of June 1994 for the rest of the month due to a lack of supplies. 13055
- 4948. Witness MNW confirmed that she lived at a crossroads and could see all the vehicles passing on the road. Witness MNW denied that Nyiramasuhuko could have visited the house next to Witness FAE's in early June 1994 without her knowledge. Her husband's boss lived within 100 metres of Witness FAE's house. She visited her husband's boss at least once a week, and he would have told her of any visit in this regard. However, she agreed that

¹³⁰⁴⁴ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 65-66 (ICS) (Witness MNW). ¹³⁰⁴⁵ T. 10 February 2005 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴⁶ T. 10 February 2005 p. 77 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴⁷ T. 10 February 2005 p. 76 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴⁸ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 76-77 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁴⁹ T. 10 February 2005 pp. 77, 79 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵⁰ T. 10 February 2005 p. 79; T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵¹ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵² T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵³ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵⁴ T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵⁵ T. 14 February 2005 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³⁰⁵⁶ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

there were over 1,000 people in her *secteur*, and it was be impossible to hear of every event or activity in her *secteur*. ¹³⁰⁵⁷

4949. Witness MNW testified that as a mother, Nyiramasuhuko could not possibly undertake actions such as those alleged. She also testified that Nyiramasuhuko could not have said that Tutsi women had to be killed after having been raped, and opined that perhaps it had been in another *secteur*. She further averred that the allegation was shameful as Nyiramasuhuko was a married Rwandan woman with children and was also a Minister of a high post. The witness had heard people talk about condoms, and had seen pictures of condoms, but did not see any. She stated that people in Rwanda would not use condoms unless they were sick, so she did not know to whom the condoms would have been distributed. She did not believe a minister would have risked distributing them because the minister would have been described as an "uneducated person." 13061

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

4950. Witness WZNA, a Hutu, testified that he knew Nyiramasuhuko and that she had been Minister of Women's Affairs since 1992. He got to know Nyiramasuhuko and her husband, Maurice Ntahobali, through his brother and a neighbour who were friends with the Ntahobali family. He saw Nyiramasuhuko once in early July 1994 when he was on his way back from the ESO. He said he saw her in front of the building her family owned in Butare. 13064

4951. Witness WZNA testified that he had known Witness FAE for more than 10 years. Witness WZNA's wife, his friend Speratus Sibomana and Witness FAE worked at the same place. 13066

4952. Witness WZNA testified that Witness FAE was a Tutsi and her partner was a Hutu. Witness FAE had six children. He described Witness FAE as not very tall, about 1.6 or 1.65 metres, dark in complexion and around 30 to 36 years old. He told the court that Witness FAE had been living in Agateme when he arrived there in 1980 and was still living there between April and July 1994.

4953. Witness WZNA visited Witness FAE's house between the months of April and July 1994. He went inside Witness FAE's house in April and May 1994 on more than one occasion;

```
<sup>13057</sup> T. 14 February 2005 p. 4 (Witness MNW).
<sup>13058</sup> T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).
<sup>13059</sup> T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).
<sup>13060</sup> T. 14 February 2005 pp. 12-13 (Witness MNW).
<sup>13061</sup> T. 14 February 2005 p. 13 (Witness MNW).
<sup>13062</sup> T. 4 April 2005 p. 7 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13063</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 7-8; T. 4 April 2005 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13064</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 58-59 (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13065</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 21, 23 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13066</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 16, 21 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13067</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 22 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13068</sup> T. 4 April 2005 pp. 22-23 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13069</sup> T. 4 April 2005 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13069</sup> T. 4 April 2005 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
<sup>13070</sup> T. 4 April 2005 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
```

he confirmed that both Witness FAE and her children were inside the house on these occasions. The witness further testified that in April and May 1994 he passed in front of Witness FAE's house without entering, on his way to visit his brother. During these times he would see Witness FAE and her children as he walked by and at other times they were inside the house and he could not see them. The witness averred that in June 1994 he also saw Witness FAE and her children at their house. 13071

- 4954. Witness WZNA testified that from the sitting room of Witness FAE's house, one could see what was happening outside only when the door was open, or if standing at the one window in the room, which overlooked the road. Only the front part of Witness FAE's neighbour's house could be seen from that window, but not the front door. He confirmed that from the window in Witness FAE's living room, it would be impossible to see if people were entering the neighbour's house. 13072
- 4955. Witness WZNA gave evidence that his friend Speratus Sibomana, who was also the godfather of his son, continued to work between April and July 1994. ¹³⁰⁷³ He confirmed that they saw each other in early June 1994. ¹³⁰⁷⁴ He averred that Speratus Sibomana never talked to him about delivering condoms in June 1994 to Witness FAE's neighbour's house with Nyiramasuhuko. ¹³⁰⁷⁵ He stated that Sibomana would have told him of this occurrence if it had occurred, as it would have been an unusual event for Sibomana to be in the company of a minister. ¹³⁰⁷⁶
- 4956. Witness WZNA testified that he did not know if there were people who supplied or delivered condoms to individuals in Butare *préfecture*. Aside from getting them from a hospital or pharmacy, he did not know of any other means through which condoms were distributed. 13077
- 4957. Witness WZNA testified that he never heard of Nyiramasuhuko ordering people to rape others. He further stated that she would not have had time to complete such tasks due to the ministerial position she held. During the period between April and June 1994 he did not hear the name of Nyiramasuhuko mentioned and, except on the one occasion when he saw her in front of her building in early July 1994, he did not see her again. 13078

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WNMN

4958. Witness WNMN, a Hutu, identified Witness FAE as his sister's colleague and neighbour. 13079 In 1994, Witness WNMN had known FAE for over five years. She had been friends with his sister a long time, and he had seen her for a long time. Witness FAE's house and that of Witness WNMN's sister were about 300 or 400 metres apart; they spent almost all

```
13071 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 33-34 (Witness WZNA).
13072 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 30-31 (Witness WZNA).
13073 T. 4 April 2005 p. 19 (ICS); T. 4 April 2005 pp. 13, 35, 37 (Witness WZNA).
13074 T. 4 April 2005 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
13075 T. 4 April 2005 p. 35 (Witness WZNA).
13076 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 35-36 (Witness WZNA).
13077 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 36 (Witness WZNA).
13078 T. 4 April 2005 pp. 58-59 (Witness WZNA).
13079 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
```

of their evenings together, mostly at the witness' sister's home, where they would share a drink and compare notes. 13080

4959. Witness WNMN described Witness FAE as very tall, around 170 centimetres. She had a long face and she wore spectacles. She straightened her hair and was of average build. She was about 40 years old, like the witness' sister, and a Tutsi. She had a partner who visited her from time to time who owned a drycleaning office. The couple had four children together. There was a fifth child as well, who had a different father. The witness saw two of Witness FAE's children once between April and the end of June 1994, when they were playing with the neighbour's children in the courtyard. 13082

4960. Witness WNMN further testified that he saw Witness FAE twice in May 1994. He met Witness FAE once more at his sister's home, during his four-day stay there towards the end of June 1994. 13084

4961. Witness WNMN testified that he had known Nyiramasuhuko for a long time, because she worked with his father. Nyiramasuhuko and the witness were not personal friends, and he never went to any of the houses in which she lived. Witness WNMN did not see Nyiramasuhuko between the day President Habyarimana died and the day he departed from Butare on 4 July 1994. Asked whether he was in a position to report as to what Nyiramasuhuko did or said anywhere in Butare *préfecture* from the beginning of April to 4 July 1994, the witness responded that to do so would have been an invention. 13088

4962. Witness WNMN testified that he was a native of Mpare *secteur* in Butare *préfecture*. He was teaching in early 1994, but in April 1994 he was on Easter holidays. He spent this time at his parents' home at Mpare *secteur*. Schools broke for Easter between 25 and 27 March 1994, and normally the holidays lasted two weeks.

4963. Witness WNMN stated that while teaching, he lived at his sister's home in Cyarwa *secteur*, as it was closer to the school where he was teaching. The witness stated that in 1994 the academic year did not follow the normal timetable due to the war. He testified that after the Easter holidays, classes resumed during the first two weeks of May 1994 and he taught for about two weeks and about three or five days. During this time, the witness went to his sister's house each day as the road to his school passed in front of her house. 13094

```
13080 T. 14 June 2005 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13081 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 37-38 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13082 T. 14 June 2005 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13083 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 41-43 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13084 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13085 T. 14 June 2005 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13086 T. 14 June 2005 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13087 T. 14 June 2005 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13088 T. 15 June 2005 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13089 T. 14 June 2005 p. 11 (Witness WNMN).
13090 T. 14 June 2005 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13091 T. 15 June 2005 p. 39 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 p. 16 (Witness WNMN).
13092 T. 14 June 2005 p. 36 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13093 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 36 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
13094 T. 14 June 2005 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).
```

He would go from his parents' house in Mpare secteur. 13095 After this period of two weeks and three days, he saw refugees coming in from other communes, and the school was forced to shut down because there were too many refugees. After the classes stopped, he went home. 13096

Nyiramasuhuko

4964. Nyiramasuhuko testified that Doctor Ndindabahizi was the chairman of the PSD Party in Butare. However, she did not know if he still held this position in June 1994. Nyiramasuhuko denied that during the war she sat in a vehicle with Doctor Ndindabahizi and distributed condoms with him. She added that she never moved around in a vehicle dressed in a military uniform with a firearm between her legs. 13097 Nyiramasuhuko testified that she knew Witness FAE. She further stated that she worked with Witness FAE in 1977, but never spoke to her. 13098 Nyiramasuhuko never saw Witness FAE from 1978 until the end of 1994. 13099

3.6.47.4 Deliberations

4965. The issues at hand are whether Nyiramasuhuko was present at Cyarwa-Sumo secteur in the beginning of June 1994, and whether she in fact came to distribute condoms intended for distribution to the Interahamwe.

4966. Witness FAE is the only Prosecution eyewitness to testify as to the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko came to Cyarwa-Sumo secteur, Ngoma commune, in the beginning of June 1994 and distributed condoms for the *Interahamwe*, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that *secteur*. ¹³¹⁰⁰ She provided extensive testimony on Nyiramasuhuko's arrival in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*. ¹³¹⁰¹ She knew Nyiramasuhuko from when she worked at the University, when she went to MRND meetings with her husband, and when Nyiramasuhuko took her mother to hospital to be treated. She described her vehicle as a white doublecabin vehicle, and delineated and identified the passengers in the vehicle and the order in which they were sitting. 13103 Witness FAE described that Nyiramasuhuko wore a camouflage military uniform with the sleeves rolled up. 13104 Furthermore, the witness provided a coherent analysis of the events that occurred. She avers that only the driver, Doctor Ndindabahizi and Remera, who was sitting in the front next to the driver, alighted from the vehicle, while the three remaining passengers stayed within the vehicle. The witness also proffered that the boxes handed over were khaki-coloured, with a drawing of a condom upon them, and the word

¹³⁰⁹⁵ T. 14 June 2005 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³⁰⁹⁶ T. 14 June 2005 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³⁰⁹⁷ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 25-26 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹³⁰⁹⁸ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹³⁰⁹⁹ T. 6 September 2005 p. 23 (ICS) (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹³¹⁰⁰ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰¹ T. 17 March 2004 p. 73 (ICS); T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-76, 78 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰² T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-75; T. 18 March 2004 pp. 47-48, 50-51 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰³ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 58, 74-76, 78-79; T. 18 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰⁴ T. 17 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰⁵ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 79, 84 (Witness FAE).

"*Prudence*" marked on its surface. 13106 She was able to describe the dimensions of the boxes as well, comparing them to the screen before her during her testimony at trial. 13107

4967. The witness also provided detailed excerpts of what was said by the relevant actors at this point. She stated that Ndindabahizi gave the first box to her female neighbour and said, "[g]ive this to our young Interahamwe for them to use when they rape the Tutsi, so that they are not contaminated with HIV or AIDS."¹³¹⁰⁸ The Chamber notes that Witness FAE provided inconsistent testimony as to who gave the second box of condoms to the woman. Initially she said that Sibomana, who was sitting next to Nyiramasuhuko in the back seat of the car, handed Nyiramasuhuko a box which she gave to the woman. 13109 Nyiramasuhuko then said: "Go and distribute these condoms to your young men, so that they use them to rape Tutsi women and to protect themselves from AIDS, and after having raped them they should kill all of them. Let no Tutsi woman survive because they take away our husbands." Witness FAE stated that she could hear these words clearly because the vehicle in which Nyiramasuhuko sat was located close to the window through which she was watching the events unfold. 13111 The witness also testified that Nyiramasuhuko gave the box to Sibomana, who in turn gave the box through the window to the woman. 13112 Witness FAE then reiterated that Nyiramasuhuko handed the box to the lady, explaining that she could see that the sleeves of Nyiramasuhuko's shirt were rolled up when she handed the box through the window. 13113

4968. The Chamber notes inconsistencies between Witness FAE's prior statement and her testimony at trial. The prior statement declared that Nyiramasuhuko was seated in the front of the car with a gun between her legs. However, she did not describe the presence of a gun at any point in her testimony. The witness responded that she merely answered questions posed by the Prosecution and did not improvise or pre-empt with information that was not specifically requested. Witness FAE's statement and testimony were also inconsistent as to the order of seating in the vehicle among the passengers. In her prior statement, Witness FAE stated that Nyiramasuhuko was seated in the front of the vehicle. However, in her testimony, she said Nyiramasuhuko was seated in the back. She justified this discrepancy by offering an explanation as to the dynamics of a double-cabin vehicle of this type. She claimed that the front part of the vehicle encompasses a cabin and the back is the bed of the truck, in which no one sits. Nyiramasuhuko was sitting in the back seat of the front cabin of the vehicle.

```
<sup>13106</sup> T. 17 March 2004 pp. 79-80; T. 17 March 2004 p. 82 (ICS); T. 18 March 2004 pp. 36-37 (Witness FAE). <sup>13107</sup> T. 18 March 2004 p. 37; T. 18 March 2004 p. 71 (ICS) (Witness FAE).
```

¹³¹⁰⁸ T. 17 March 2004 p. 83 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁰⁹ T. 17 March 2004 p. 80 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁰ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 83-84 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹¹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 35 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹² T. 17 March 2004 p. 84 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹³ T. 17 March 2004 p. 84; T. 18 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁴ Defence Exhibit 214 (Nyiramasuhuko) (7 May 1999, Statement of Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁵ T. 18 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁶ Defence Exhibit 214 (Nyiramasuhuko) (7 May 1999, Statement of Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁷ T. 17 March 2004 p. 79; T. 18 March 2004 p. 36 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹¹⁸ T. 18 March 2004 p. 34 (Witness FAE).

4969. The witness explained that the inconsistencies occurred because of her inability to master the French language, which also prevented her from correcting the inconsistencies at the time. She asserted that she gave this prior statement in French without an interpreter present, which accounted for these discrepancies. The Chamber accepts Witness FAE's explanation with regard to the aforementioned discrepancies, which the Chamber does not consider, in any case, to be material.

4970. Witness WZNA provided a detailed description of Witness FAE's sitting room window, overlooking the road, and what could be viewed from that standpoint. Witness WZNA stated that the front side of the neighbouring house could be seen but that the front door was not visible. Although this does not provide corroboration to Witness FAE's testimony that she was at the window when she viewed the events in front of her neighbour's house, it does confirm that Witness FAE would have been able to see both the car and the passengers seated within.

4971. Witnesses MNW, WZNA and WNMN all denied that Nyiramasuhuko was present during this time in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*.¹³¹²² Witness MNW lived at the crossroads and so would have seen any vehicle that would have passed during that time.¹³¹²³ However, Witness MNW's theory as to why Nyiramasuhuko did not visit the *secteur* in June 1994 is based on the fact that she did not hear about it from others or her husband's boss. ¹³¹²⁴ She had a "drinking joint" in her house and claimed that if Nyiramasuhuko had come or said these things, she would have heard about it from her patrons. ¹³¹²⁵ However, Witness MNW conceded that the bar she operated was closed from the first few days of June 1994 for the rest of the month due to lack of supplies. ¹³¹²⁶

4972. The Chamber therefore considers that the testimony of Witness MNW in this regard is of limited value. Not only is the witness unreliable in terms of Nyiramasuhuko's whereabouts during that period, but she did not demonstrate first-hand knowledge of the situation.

4973. Witness WZNA stated that his friend Sibomana, who according to Witness FAE was in the vehicle with Nyiramasuhuko on that day, would have told him about delivering condoms in the presence of Nyiramasuhuko. This would have been an unusual turn of events, considering that he was in the company of a minister. Witness WZNA also claimed to have seen Witness FAE and her children in their house in June 1994. The witness based his conclusion that Nyiramasuhuko was not present at that time and did not distribute condoms, on the fact that Sibomana did not inform him of its occurrence. His evidence in this regard is neither compelling nor conclusive.

¹³¹¹⁹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 42 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹²⁰ T. 18 March 2004 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAE).

¹³¹²¹ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 30-31(Witness WZNA).

¹³¹²² T. 10 February 2005 pp. 77, 79 (Witness MNW); T. 4 April 2005 pp. 35-36 (Witness WZNA); T. 14 June 2005 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹²³ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

¹³¹²⁴ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

¹³¹²⁵ T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³¹²⁶ T. 14 February 2005 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³¹²⁷ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 35-36 (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹²⁸ T. 4 April 2005 p. 34 (Witness WZNA).

4974. Witness WNMN was a native of Mpare *secteur*, but lived with his sister in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur* while he was teaching. ¹³¹²⁹ In 1994, the academic year did not follow the normal timetable due to the war. 13130 He testified that after the Easter holidays, classes resumed during the first two weeks of the month of May 1994, and he taught for about two weeks and three or five days. 13131 During this time, the witness went to his sister's house each day as the road to his school passed in front of her house. 13132 He would go from his parents' house in Mpare secteur. 13133 The witness averred that after this period, he saw refugees coming in from other communes and the school was forced to shut down because there were too many refugees. After the classes stopped he went home to his parents' house. 13134 He also stated that he met Witness FAE at his sister's home towards the end of June 1994, when he spent four days there. 13135 The Chamber notes that Witness WNMN was not present in Cyarwa-Sumo secteur during the time of this incident, as he claimed to have been at his parents' house. 13136 He may have visited Cyarwa-Sumo secteur, but these visits may have been sporadic. Therefore Witness WNMN would not have been in a position to provide eyewitness testimony or direct knowledge of the whereabouts of Nyiramasuhuko.

4975. Each of the Defence witnesses provided their own hypotheses as to why Nyiramasuhuko could not have possibly distributed condoms and ordered rapes. Witness MNW initially testified that she had not heard any news of condom distribution in her secteur, which she claimed she was in a prime position to hear because of the bar in her house. 13137 Under cross-examination, it arose that Witness MNW had heard people talk about condoms and had even seen pictures of condoms. However, she did not elaborate as to whether the condoms she had heard of were linked back to Nyiramasuhuko. On the contrary, she claimed that this allegation against Nyiramasuhuko was untrue because as a mother, a married Rwandan woman, and a Minister of a high post, Nyiramasuhuko would not risk distributing condoms for fear of being labelled an "uneducated person". 13139

4976. Witness WZNA stated that, due to her ministerial position, Nyiramasuhuko would not have had the time to complete such tasks. ¹³¹⁴⁰ However, Witness WNMN recognised that he was not in a position to report as to Nyiramasuhuko's actions or words from April to 4 July 1994 13141

4977. Defence Witnesses MNW, WZNA and WNMN testified as to when they saw Witness FAE between April and June 1994. Witness MNW stated that she did not see Witness FAE in June 1994. 13142 Witness WZNA testified that between April and July 1994 he visited Witness

```
<sup>13129</sup> T. 14 June 2005 p. 11; T. 14 June 2005 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).
```

¹³¹³⁰ T. 14 June 2005 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹³¹ T. 14 June 2005 p. 36 (ICS); T. 15 June 2005 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹³² T. 14 June 2005 pp. 40-41 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹³³ T. 14 June 2005 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹³⁴ T. 14 June 2005 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹³⁵ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹³⁶ T. 14 June 2005 p. 45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹³⁷ T. 10 February 2005 p. 81 (ICS) (Witness MNW).

¹³¹³⁸ T. 14 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness MNW).

¹³¹³⁹ T. 14 February 2005 pp. 12-13 (Witness MNW).

¹³¹⁴⁰ T. 4 April 2005 p. 59 (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹⁴¹ T. 15 June 2005 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹⁴² T. 10 February 2005 p. 77 (Witness MNW).

FAE's house on multiple occasions and confirmed that both Witness FAE and her children were inside the house on these occasions. Witness WNMN stated that he saw Witness FAE twice in May 1994 and again towards the end of June 1994, at his sister's home. However, the Defence witnesses are not consistent as to when they saw Witness FAE. However, the Chamber notes that they may have seen her at different times and on different occasions. Witness FAE testified that she was only away from her house from 23 April 1994 to early June 1994. Nonetheless, the Chamber finds it unbelievable that during that time, Witness FAE would be openly at home with her children or that she would be visiting Witness WNMN's sister, who was a Hutu. Witness FAE testified that between April and July 1994, Tutsis were being pursued and she was hiding in various locations. The Chamber therefore finds Witnesses WZNA and WNMN not credible on this point.

4978. Nyiramasuhuko admitted she knew Witness FAE, but testified that the present allegation was implausible. She would not have sat in a vehicle along with Doctor Ndindabahizi, the leader of the PSD Party in Butare, and would not have gone with him to distribute condoms. She was also between the present allegation was implausible. She would not have gone with him to distribute condoms.

4979. The Chamber notes that Defence Witnesses MNW, WZNA and WNMN all provided hearsay accounts as to why the allegation is implausible, without any convincing and detailed analyses. Indeed, among the Defence witnesses there are inconsistencies as to when they saw Witness FAE. Witness MNW testified that she did not see Witness FAE in June 1994, whereas Witnesses WZNA and WNMN both testified as to seeing Witness FAE in June 1994. The Chamber considers it impossible to rely on these witnesses to establish that Witness FAE was not in the area in June 1994 or that Nyiramasuhuko did not visit the area at that time.

4980. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence relied on Witness WNMN in submitting that Witness FAE was a "militant" member of the Association of Genocide Survivors, an association run by *Ibuka* and known for fabricating testimony against accused at the ICTR. ¹³¹⁵⁰

4981. Prosecution Witness FAE was asked during cross-examination whether the survivors association that she belonged to had a custom of character destruction. She responded: "We are telling you what we saw and we are telling you about things that we heard with our own ears." When asked whether they denounced people in order to be requited with scholarships for their children, she responded that she, and no one else, paid for her children's studies. 13152

¹³¹⁴³ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 33-34 (Witness WZNA).

¹³¹⁴⁴ T. 14 June 2005 pp. 41, 43-44 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹⁴⁵ T. 17 March 2004 p. 73 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁴⁶ T. 17 March 2004 p. 72 (ICS); T. 18 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁴⁷ T. 6 September 2005 pp. 17-18 (ICS); T. 6 September 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹³¹⁴⁸ T. 6 September 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹³¹⁴⁹ T. 10 February 2005 p. 77 (Witness MNW); T. 4 April 2005 p. 34 (Witness WZNA); T. 14 June 2005 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness WNMN).

¹³¹⁵⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, paras. 285-293, 606-609.

¹³¹⁵¹ T. 18 March 2004 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

¹³¹⁵² T. 18 March 2004 pp. 59-60 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

4982. Taking into account the foregoing, the Chamber finds that Witness WNMN's assertions about Witness FAE were not sufficiently credible or convincing to undermine the veracity of Witness FAE's testimony under oath.

4983. The Chamber recalls that Prosecution Witness FAE is the only Prosecution witness to implicate Nyiramasuhuko in the events at Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*. The Chamber recalls that it may rule on the basis of a single testimony if, in its opinion, that testimony is relevant and credible (). It is not disputed that Witness FAE knew Nyiramasuhuko prior to the events and that she identified the Accused clearly in court and as being present at the time of the alleged events. Although there were slight inconsistencies in her testimony, the Chamber determines that Witness FAE was a reliable witness who provided credible testimony with regard to this allegation. Her proximity to the location where the incident occurred placed her in a strong position to have witnessed the distribution of condoms as specified.

4984. The Chamber recalls Nyiramasuhuko's alibi evidence for early June 1994 (). The Chamber has considered this evidence with regard to the present allegation and finds that the Prosecution has discharged its burden of proof. Regardless of whether Nyiramasuhuko was staying in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture*, from 12 April to 5 June 1994, the short distance between Butare and Murambi would have permitted Nyiramasuhuko to be present in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, for the distribution of condoms at this time (). The Chamber notes that the analysis regarding Nyiramasuhuko's other alibi evidence in relation to June 1994, is equally relevant to this allegation (). Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko's alibi evidence does not raise a reasonable doubt that she was present at Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur* in early June 1994.

4985. The Chamber finds that the testimony of Prosecution Witness FAE, provides sufficient and unchallenged detail so as to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko came to Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, in the beginning of June 1994 and distributed condoms for the *Interahamwe*, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that *secteur*. The Chamber further finds that Nyiramasuhuko ordered the woman to whom she distributed the condoms to "[g]o and distribute these condoms to your young men, so that they use them to rape Tutsi women and to protect themselves from AIDS, and after having raped them they should kill all of them. Let no Tutsi woman survive because they take away our husbands."

3.6.48 Rango Forest, June 1994

3.6.48.1 Introduction

4986. The Kanyabashi Indictment and the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment allege that "around late April 1994," Kanyabashi, accompanied by certain members of the *commune* police, escorted two busloads of Tutsi refugees from the Butare *préfecture* office to Rango

_

¹³¹⁵³ T. 17 March 2004 pp. 74-75, 84-85; T. 18 March 2004 pp. 47-48, 50-51 (ICS) (Witness FAE).

Forest. 13154 The refugees were confined in an enclosure, deprived of food, beaten and some died. 13155

4987. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi accompanied the convoy of refugees to Rango Forest and upon arrival, he instructed *Interahamwe* to guard the Tutsi refugees and prevented them from leaving. Pits were dug and Kanyabashi told the refugees that they would be buried there on 5 July 1994. The Prosecution also alleges that refugees at Rango Forest were denied food, water or shelter and were beaten and raped. The survivors did not leave Rango Forest until they were freed by the RPF. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Witnesses TA, FAP, RE, QBQ, QY, SD, SS, SU, SJ, QBP, TK and Expert Witness Alison Des Forges.

4988. Apart from the preliminary issues that will be addressed in the section below, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Prosecution evidence on this allegation was insufficiently precise to support a finding beyond a reasonable doubt. The Kanyabashi Defence bases its submission on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAP, QBP, RE, SD, SU, SS, TA, TK, Des Forges, Defence Witnesses D-1-4-O and WMKL, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo. 13161

4989. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that Kanyabashi accompanied the refugees to Rango Forest in order to ensure their safe passage and, once there, he requested that the refugees be protected. In this regard, the Kanyabashi Defence contests the credibility of Prosecution Witnesses TA and FAP. TAP.

4990. The Kanyabashi Defence also submits that while at Rango Forest the refugees were not detained or attacked, but "protected", and that Kanyabashi took care of them, acting in cooperation with religious and humanitarian organisations in order to improve their living conditions and keep them alive. The only holes dug were for latrines, for which disinfectant was provided, and the three deaths that occurred at Rango Forest were due to natural causes. In making its submissions, the Kanyabashi Defence relies upon the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses SJ, TA, FAP, SD, SU, RE, TK, SS, QBP, QBQ and QY, Defence Witnesses WMKL, D-1-4-0, D-2-10-Y and Nteziryayo.

¹³¹⁵⁴ The Chamber notes that the Prosecution, the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Defence, and their respective witnesses have referred to "Rango Forest", "Rango compound", and "Rango" interchangeably. For ease of reference, the Chamber will refer to "Rango Forest" throughout the Judgement.

Para. 6.42 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute); Para. 6.40 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

Para. 6.42 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute); Para. 6.40 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 416, para. 112a; pp. 424-425, para. 142.

¹³¹⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 267, para. 120; p. 425, para. 142.

¹³¹⁵⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 428-429, paras. 155-158.

¹³¹⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 416, para. 112a.

¹³¹⁶⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 486-545.

¹³¹⁶¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 486.

¹³¹⁶² Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 6-7; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 524.

¹³¹⁶³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 492-493, 517-521.

¹³¹⁶⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 496, 501; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 6-7.

¹³¹⁶⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 533-536; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 7, 10.

4991. In addition to its preliminary issues on the vagueness of the Indictment, which will be addressed below, the Nsabimana Defence submits that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is vague and therefore the responsibility of Nsabimana cannot be assessed with regard to the events at Rango Forest. 13166

4992. The Nteziryayo Defence also submits that the factual allegation in relation to the "killing of the refugees at Rango" cannot be considered for the purposes of determining Nteziryayo's responsibility, since it falls outside the scope of the Indictment. ¹³¹⁶⁷ Alternatively, it submits that the Prosecution witnesses who testified about the events at Rango Forest gave either contradictory or uncorroborated testimony. Although most of these witnesses testified that they left the BPO after Nteziryayo had been appointed *préfet*, they did not mention Nteziryayo as one of the persons who had authority during the period when they stayed at the BPO, nor did they testify as to any involvement by Nteziryayo with regards to the events at Rango Forest. ¹³¹⁶⁸

3.6.48.2 Preliminary Issues

Kanyabashi Indictment

Vagueness of Paragraph 6.42

4993. The Kanyabashi Defence contends that Paragraph 6.42 of the Indictment does not adequately plead Article 6 (3) responsibility because it does not specify the involvement of Kanyabashi's subordinates, their identity, the acts allegedly committed or Kanyabashi's alleged knowledge in this regard. ¹³¹⁶⁹

4994. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.42 of the Kanyabashi Indictment makes a general accusation that Kanyabashi was involved in the transfer of the refugees from the BPO to Rango Forest. The Indictment does not identify the role either Kanyabashi or his subordinates are alleged to have played in the transfer.

4995. The Chamber recalls that an indictment must be read as a whole (). Thus, the allegation that in April 1994 Kanyabashi escorted Tutsi refugees to Rango Forest must be read in the wider context of the offences alleged in the Indictment against him. Kanyabashi was the bourgmestre of Ngoma commune in Butare préfecture from April 1974 until around 4 July 1994. A joint reading of Paragraphs 4.3 and 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment indicate that Kanyabashi, in such capacity, exercised authority over his subordinates, notably conseillers de secteur and commune policemen. Paragraph 3.5 of the Kanyabashi Indictment clearly states that the bourgmestre represents the executive power at the commune level and has authority over the civil servants posted in his commune, in addition to policing duties in regard to maintaining order and law enforcement. More generally, Paragraph 1.29 of the Indictment sets out the role of local authorities, including bourgmestres, at the time of the

¹³¹⁶⁶ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 518-523 (referring to Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment and to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 22-23).

¹³¹⁶⁷ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹³¹⁶⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 741-742.

¹³¹⁶⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 485.

Para. 4.2 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

alleged crimes; this included issuing directives in execution of the plan to exterminate the Tutsis; inciting and ordering their subordinates to perpetrate the massacres; and taking direct part in them.

4996. In light of a contextual and systematic reading of the Indictment, the Chamber considers that the allegation in Paragraph 6.42 of the Indictment, that Kanyabashi "accompanied by members of the communal police" escorted the Tutsi refugees from the BPO to Rango Forest, clearly refers to the involvement of Kanyabashi's subordinates in the transfer and to Kanyabashi's supervisory role in it. Accordingly, the Chamber finds the Indictment adequately pled Article 6 (3) responsibility in relation to Kanyabashi, with respect to the events at Rango Forest.

Time of the Transfer

4997. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Kanyabashi should be acquitted of the allegation concerning the transfer to Rango Forest, because this event took place at the end of June and not "around the end of April" as alleged in the Indictment. ¹³¹⁷¹

4998. The Chamber reiterates that an indictment must be read as a whole (). Furthermore, considering that the indictment cannot have the degree of specificity of the evidence underpinning it, if the evidence at trial does not conform to the indictment, the Chamber must determine whether a fair trial requires exclusion of evidence outside the scope of the indictment. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber held that "in general, minor differences between the indictment and the evidence presented at trial are not such as to prevent the Trial Chamber from considering the indictment in the light of the evidence presented at trial". This is to be assessed on a case-by-case basis and taking into account the rights of the accused to be informed of the nature of the charges against him, which entails that he must be able to identify the criminal acts and conduct alleged in the indictment in all circumstances. 13174

4999. The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Indictment covers acts allegedly committed between 1 January and 31 December 1994. More specifically, the crimes alleged in Paragraph 6.42 fall within the framework of allegations set forth by a combined reading of Paragraphs 6.18, 6.44, 6.45 and 6.58, which cover the time period between April and July 1994. Therefore, the allegation in Paragraph 6.42 does not, as such, fall outside the temporal scope of the Indictment.

5000. In any event, as will be outlined in the following paragraphs, a significant amount of evidence establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that the transfer to Rango Forest occurred in June 1994, and not late April as the Indictment alleges. Thus, the Indictment is defective. However, the Chamber first notes that such evidence was adduced by both Prosecution and Defence witnesses, including Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y, who

_

¹³¹⁷¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 486.

¹³¹⁷² See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18.

¹³¹⁷³ Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 302; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 70.

¹³¹⁷⁴ Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 302-303. See Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 322 ("The indictment is pleaded with sufficient particularity only if it sets out the material facts of the Prosecution case with enough detail to inform a defendant clearly of the charges against him or her so that he or she may prepare his or her defence.").

testified that the refugees were transferred to Rango Forest in June 1994. The trial record does not show that Kanyabashi indicated to the Chamber that the evidence at trial fell outside the scope of the Indictment, nor that he requested additional time to prepare for his defence. Thus, the Chamber is satisfied that Kanyabashi was aware of the time period alleged during the course of the trial in relation to the events at Rango Forest and he suffered no prejudice from the defect in the Indictment.

5001. Secondly, Kanyabashi never contested the issue of the time of the transfer to Rango Forest prior to his Closing Brief. In light of recent jurisprudence of the Tribunal, the Chamber takes into account Kanyabashi's failure to object to this error earlier in the trial and the lack of any reasonable explanation for it. Therefore, the Chamber considers Kanyabashi acknowledged that the transfer occurred in June 1994, as demonstrated by the evidence adduced during the proceedings.

5002. The Chamber is thus of the view that, although the discrepancy between the time of the transfer as alleged in the Indictment, and the actual time such transfer was carried out according to the evidence presented, may appear considerable, the error in Paragraph 6.42 of the Indictment did not result in any prejudice to the rights of the Accused. This inaccuracy did not mislead Kanyabashi as to the nature of the charges against him, nor did it influence or alter the Chamber's approach towards the evaluation of the evidence thereto. Sanyabashi was able to identify the crime and criminal conduct alleged and had adequate time to prepare his defence. Consequently, the Chamber will consider the allegation at Paragraph 6.42 in relation to Kanyabashi, in light of the evidence presented at trial.

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

Lack of Notice Concerning Nsabimana's and Nteziryayo's Involvement in the Transfer

5003. Both the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Defences assert that the allegations regarding the transfer to Rango Forest fall outside the scope of the Indictment. The Chamber notes that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment does not allege Nsabimana's involvement in the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest and is silent on any specific meeting concerning this issue. With regard to Nteziryayo, the Indictment generally alleges his responsibility in the ongoing massacres from 19 April to July 1994 through his participation in a "strategy adopted and elaborated by political, civil and military authorities in the country" with the aim of

13179 See Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 303.

_

¹³¹⁷⁵ T. 6 May 2008 pp. 54, 56 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 9-10 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³¹⁷⁶ See Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), para. 304.

¹³¹⁷⁷ See Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 123 (quoting Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 46 ("As to timeliness, the objection should be raised at the pre-trial stage ... or at the time the evidence of a new material fact is introduced. However, an objection raised at trial will not automatically lead to a shift in the burden of proof: the Trial Chamber must consider relevant factors, such as whether the Defence provided a reasonable explanation for its failure to raise the objection earlier in the trial.")).

¹³¹⁷⁸ See Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), para. 217 ("minor discrepancies between the dates in the Trial Judgement and the Indictment go to prove the difficulty, in the absence of documentary evidence, of reconstructing events several years after they occurred and not that the events charged in the Indictment did not occur"); see also Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 302-303.

exterminating the Tutsis. 13180 Paragraph 6.40 of the Indictment mentions the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest, but solely in connection with Kanyabashi. Thus, the Chamber finds the Indictment is defective, as it did not give any notice to Nsabimana or Nteziryayo of their alleged involvement in the transfer to Rango Forest.

5004. Further, Paragraph 6.40 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment was not pled in support of any count. In light of the Preliminary Issues section contained above (), and considering that Paragraph 6.40 is of no particular background or relevance in the context of the Nsabimana and Ntezirvayo Indictment, the Chamber will not base a conviction on this paragraph.

3.6.48.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness TA

5005. Witness TA, a Tutsi woman, testified that in mid-June 1994, the refugees who had not been killed and who remained at the BPO were transported in two buses to Rango Forest. 13181 Before leaving towards Rango Forest the refugees were taken towards Nyange, however they got turned back at the roadblock. 13182

5006. Witness TA testified that the transportation of the refugees was decided during a meeting held at the MRND Palace, where it was said that the refugees that remained there "were ghosts, Tutsi ghosts, and that it was decided that it was out of the question that the international community knew anything about [the refugees'] existence...". 13183 The witness heard from passersby and from the bus drivers that the bourgmestre of Ngoma commune, Kanyabashi, the *préfet* and Nyiramasuhuko participated in the meeting and that it was convened upon the request of Kanyabashi. Witness TA also heard "that place was beginning to stink because of [the] presence [of the refugees] and because of the many dead bodies that were there and there was a lot of flies in that location." ¹³¹⁸⁵

5007. Witness TA testified that at this meeting it was further decided that "one day [the refugees] will be killed and that [their] bodies will be laid on the body of Habyarimana after he is buried". According to the witness, this is the reason why the transport was organised, so that the refugees would be killed at the roadblocks. 13186

5008. Witness TA testified that the Interahamwe and soldiers came to the BPO and forced the refugees to get onto two buses. 13187 The *Interahamwe* and soldiers beat the refugees with their guns and with sticks and spat at them. ¹³¹⁸⁸ There was no guard on the buses; however the witness stated that it was not possible to leave the buses "because it was the order issued by the

```
<sup>13180</sup> Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts).
<sup>13181</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 61-62; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 62-63; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 25-26, 29 (Witness
TA).

13182 T. 7 November 2001 p. 25 (Witness TA).
```

¹³¹⁸³ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 62-63, 65-68 (Witness TA).

¹³¹⁸⁴ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 64-67 (Witness TA).

¹³¹⁸⁵ T. 29 October 2001 p. 65 (Witness TA).

¹³¹⁸⁶ T. 29 October 2001 p. 63 (Witness TA).

¹³¹⁸⁷ T. 7 November 2001 pp. 28-29 (Witness TA).

¹³¹⁸⁸ T. 7 November 2001 pp. 28-29; T. 8 November 2001 p. 30 (Witness TA).

authorities" and they had nowhere to go. 13189 After the buses left for Rango Forest, no surviving refugee remained at the BPO. 13190

5009. Witness TA testified to staying at Rango Forest for more than three weeks. There were not many *Interahamwe* guarding the refugees but they occasionally beat them. On one occasion, a priest gave food to the refugees. He was attacked by *Interahamwe* who threatened to kill him, so he fled.

5010. At the beginning of July 1994, the *Inkotanyi* took the refugees away from Rango Forest. ¹³¹⁹⁴ Witness TA testified she saw Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo at the BPO. ¹³¹⁹⁵ She never saw Kanyabashi at the BPO, the EER or Rango Forest. ¹³¹⁹⁶

Prosecution Witness FAP

5011. Witness FAP, a Tutsi farmer, testified that the refugees were transferred in buses to Rango Forest after being informed by someone named Grégoire that the military *préfet*, Nteziryayo, did not want "dirt" in front of his office. When the refugees were told that they had to leave the BPO, Kanyabashi, Laurent Kubwimana and Grégoire were present. Witness FAP testified that the refugees understood "dirt" to mean Tutsis. Grégoire told them that those who refused to go to Rango Forest would be killed; instead, they would be given provisions and safety there. 13198

5012. Witness FAP testified that all the refugees boarded the buses and were taken away from the BPO; some street children were also among them, while others were left behind. Witness FAP did not know what happened to those who were afraid to board the bus; once she got on board, she did not turn around to see if anyone remained in the courtyard. Witness FAP testified that there was no list drawn up of refugees going to Rango Forest. The refugees were taken as far as Mukuni, when the driver said he would take the road to the left, via Cyarwa, because considering the state they were in, he could not take them past President Sindikubwabo's residence in Tumba.

5013. Witness FAP testified that when she arrived at Rango Forest, the authorities, including Kanyabashi and Grégoire were already there in their Suzuki. When the refugees descended from the bus, they entered the perimeter that was fenced with barbed wire and people, including Fidèle and Alexis, opened the gate upon Kanyabashi's instruction. The witness did

```
<sup>13189</sup> T. 7 November 2001 p. 29; T. 8 November 2001 p. 30 (Witness TA).

<sup>13191</sup> T. 7 November 2001 pp. 105 (Witness TA).

<sup>13192</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 68-69 (Witness TA).

<sup>13193</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 66-67; T. 6 Novemer 2001 pp. 90-91; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 29-30 (Witness TA).

<sup>13194</sup> T. 29 October 2001 pp. 87-88; T. 8 November 2001 pp. 33-34 (Witness TA).

<sup>13195</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 69 (Witness TA).

<sup>13196</sup> T. 24 October 2001 pp. 96 (Witness TA).

<sup>13197</sup> T. 7 November 2001 pp. 122-123 (Witness TA).

<sup>13198</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 63; T. 13 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP).

<sup>13198</sup> T. 11 March 2003 p. 64; T. 13 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP).
```

¹³¹⁹⁹ T. 13 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP).

¹³²⁰⁰ T. 13 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP).

¹³²⁰¹ T. 11 March 2003 p. 64; T. 13 March 2003 pp. 40, 47 (Witness FAP).

not know who Fidèle and Alexis were.¹³²⁰² She stated that she was three and a half metres from Kanyabashi when he spoke to Fidèle, it was not raining and it was still light out.¹³²⁰³ She stated that the military *préfet* was not at Rango Forest.¹³²⁰⁴ Witness FAP stated that she knew Kanyabashi well enough that she could not confuse him with the new military *préfet*.¹³²⁰⁵

- 5014. While Witness FAP could not remember how many days she spent at Rango Forest, she did recall that it was already June when the refugees arrived there. Witness FAP identified Prosecution Exhibit 36A as a photograph of Rango Forest. She stated that they never approached the house in the photograph. 13208
- 5015. Witness FAP testified that they did not receive any food, nor were they supplied with water. On one occasion, a white man brought provisions, but the provisions were given to the two people responsible for the protection of the refugees and not shared with the refugees. After "white people" came and photographed the refugees, provisions were brought but only maize was distributed. On two occasions, people went with Fidèle to fetch water from the Mukura River, but they discovered larva from rotting corpses so they stopped drawing water from the river. They dug holes to gather rain water which they drank. Witness FAP was not among the people who went to the river. 13210
- 5016. Witness FAP testified that the refugees were told by the *Interahamwe* guarding them that they would be used as "specimens" to show people what Tutsis looked like. Pits were dug and the refugees were told they would be buried there on 5 July. The witness did not get close enough to see the pits that were being dug so she did not know how big they were. ¹³²¹²
- 5017. Witness FAP stated that Kanyabashi told the person in charge of the refugees that the Tutsis were government refugees and that their safety should be ensured. Kanyabashi also said that any death would have to be reported, but the fate of the refugees would be sealed on 5 July. The witness understood this reference to their "fate" to mean that they would be killed. 13214
- 5018. Witness FAP testified that she and other refugees were living under the trees and were regularly covered with sacks and beaten on their stomachs at Rango Forest. Fidèle witnessed the beatings but did nothing to prevent it. One of the refugees suffered a

```
13202 T. 11 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness FAP).
13203 T. 13 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness FAP).
13204 T. 13 March 2003 p. 48 (Witness FAP).
13205 T. 13 March 2003 p. 42 (Witness FAP).
13206 T. 11 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness FAP).
13207 T. 12 March 2003 p. 9 (Witness FAP).
13208 T. 12 March 2003 p. 9 (Witness FAP).
13209 T. 11 March 2003 p. 65; T. 13 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness FAP).
13210 T. 13 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness FAP).
13211 T. 11 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness FAP).
13212 T. 13 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness FAP).
13213 T. 12 March 2003 p. 58 (Witness FAP).
13214 T. 12 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness FAP).
13215 T. 12 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness FAP).
13216 T. 13 March 2003 pp. 50, 55-56 (Witness FAP).
13216 T. 13 March 2003 pp. 50, 55-56 (Witness FAP).
```

miscarriage as a result of the beatings. A white priest brought a consignment of food, but Fidèle and others told him that they were not going to allow the "snakes" to eat. She saw some orphans being fed but no one else. The refugees lacked cooking or medical facilities at Rango Forest. Rango Forest.

Prosecution Witness RE

5019. Witness RE, a Tutsi woman who was 16 years old in 1994, testified that the departure of the remaining refugees from the BPO to Rango Forest coincided with the new military *préfet*'s appointment. The military *préfet* said that he no longer wanted to see the "dirt" in that place when he would come back the following day and he sent one of his bodyguards, named Kazungu, to tell the refugees that buses were going to drive them to Rango Forest. Witness RE interpreted the word "dirt" as meaning the Tutsis. 13220

5020. Witness RE testified that when she and the other refugees left the BPO for Rango Forest, Kanyabashi's vehicle accompanied the convoy. Kanyabashi gave instructions to the *Interahamwe* who were watching over the refugees to take good care of the Tutsi survivors among them because they were to be presented to the international community, and they were to be killed on 5 July. ¹³²²¹

5021. Witness RE testified that the refugees received no food during their stay at Rango Forest. A white man attempted to provide them with food, but it was taken away by the *Interahamwe*. The witness testified that the *Interahamwe* beat the refugees during the day and raped women and girls at Rango Forest. She remained at Rango Forest until 4 July 1994, when she and the other refugees were rescued by soldiers of the *Inkotanyi*. The witness also stated that her mother died at Rango Forest from cholera. 13223

Prosecution Witness QBQ

5022. Witness QBQ, a Tutsi woman who was 24 years old in 1994, testified that she arrived at the BPO towards the end of April 1994. The day after arrival, the refugees from the BPO were transported to the EER, but they stayed there only for a week due to the difficult living conditions, and they were brought back to the BPO. The next day, the refugees were transported to Rango Forest by Kanyabashi. The witness did not know who Kanyabashi was, but other people pointed him out to her. Upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi ordered the *Interahamwe*, including Fidèle, to protect them. Fidèle made sure that nobody attacked the refugees, however, they continued to live in terrible conditions. Witness QBQ

```
<sup>13217</sup> T. 13 March 2003 pp. 50-51 (Witness FAP).
```

¹³²¹⁸ T. 13 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness FAP).

¹³²¹⁹ T. 13 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP).

¹³²²⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 31 (Witness RE).

¹³²²¹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

¹³²²² T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

¹³²²³ T. 24 February 2003 p. 34 (Witness RE).

¹³²²⁴ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23-24, 51; T. 4 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBQ).

¹³²²⁵ T. 3 February 2004 p. 24 (Witness QBQ).

testified that she saw the *Interahamwe* digging a ditch, but when they finished digging the *Inkotanyi* arrived and took the refugees away. 13226

Prosecution Witness QY

5023. Witness QY, a Tutsi woman who was 17 years old in 1994, testified that Kanyabashi accompanied the refugees to Rango Forest. Upon arrival, two *Interahamwe* named Alexis and Fidèle took the refugees out of the bus and showed them where they should stay, in the woods. Kanyabashi instructed the two *Interahamwe* that the refugees were not to be killed and that it should be reported to him if anyone was to die. Witness QY testified that refugees were not attacked at Rango Forest and were protected by *gendarmes*; she identified two *gendarmes* as Alexis and Fidèle. However, the refugees endured bad conditions and were not fed. They also had to dig holes in order to collect rain water. The witness saw two pits at Rango Forest.

Prosecution Witness SD

5024. Witness SD, a Tutsi woman, testified that after the abortive trip to Nyange, she stayed at the BPO for a week, by which time Nteziryayo had been appointed the new *préfet*. The witness stated that Nteziryayo was introduced to the refugees at the BPO. After less than one week from Nteziryayo's appointment as the new *préfet*, the refugees were transferred to Rango Forest by bus. Kanyabashi and Grégoire organised the transport. 13232

5025. Witness SD testified that Grégoire informed the refugees that they would be taken to Rango Forest, but Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo were present as well. The witness had seen Grégoire at the BPO before; this occasion, when he accompanied Kanyabashi to Rango Forest, was the last time she saw him. Witness SD never saw Nteziryayo at Rango Forest. 13233

5026. Witness SD testified that Kanyabashi told the refugees that they would be protected at Rango Forest. There were very nearly only women and children boarding the two buses to Rango, as all but two of the men had been killed. Some Hutu women whose husbands had been killed were also taken to Rango Forest. The buses left the BPO at about 3.00 p.m. and it took about 30 minutes to reach Rango Forest. 13235

5027. Witness SD testified that she arrived at Rango Forest in June. ¹³²³⁶ Witness SD stated that upon arrival, Kanyabashi instructed the *Interahamwe* to protect the refugees and to inform him if any of the refugees died. Among the *Interahamwe* was someone called Fidèle, who

```
13226 T. 3 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness QBQ).
13227 T. 25 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY).
13228 T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).
13229 T. 25 March 2003 pp. 69-70; 26 March 2003 pp. 17-18 (ICS) (Witness QY).
13230 T. 19 March 2003 p. 64; T. 25 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY).
13231 T. 19 March 2003 pp. 64, 69 (Witness QY).
13232 T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11-12; T. 18 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SD).
13233 T. 18 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SD).
13234 T. 18 March 2003 p. 29 (Witness SD).
13235 T. 18 March 2003 p. 30 (Witness SD).
13236 T. 17 March 2003 p. 12; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS); T. 18 March 2003 p. 32 (Witness SD).
```

carried a gun, and two others who carried clubs, knives and grenades. The witness stated that Fidèle did not respect Kanyabashi's instructions to protect the refugees, and they were beaten. As a result, one woman miscarried.

5028. Witness SD testified that upon arrival at Rango Forest, the refugees dug a latrine. No food was provided beyond some porridge for the children. At some point, a priest brought some food, but it was not distributed. ¹³²³⁹ Blankets were distributed. A doctor came, but the witness did not see him treat anyone and testified that he stayed in one of the buildings which the refugees were prohibited from approaching. The *Interahamwe* stayed at the gate of the perimeter during the night and did not mingle with the refugees. ¹³²⁴⁰

5029. Witness SD testified that while they were at Rango Forest, two pits, of which the larger was approximately two metres by one and a half metres and the smaller was about half that size, were dug by people from outside, who had been sent there by Kanyabashi. The *Interahamwe* told the refugees that they [the refugees] would be buried in those pits on the same day the President of the Republic was going to be buried. Witness SD testified that the RPF arrived just as the holes were finished being dug at about 9.00 or 10.00 a.m. The *Interahamwe* left when they heard the RPF gunshots. Witness SD testified the refugees left Rango Forest on 4 July 1994, when they were found by *Inkotanyi* of the RPF.

Prosecution Witness SS

5030. Witness SS, a Tutsi woman, testified that towards the end of June 1994, she left the BPO for Rango. SS could not remember the exact date of her departure from the BPO, but she testified that this occurred when Alphonse Nteziryayo had just been appointed *préfet*, replacing Sylvain Nsabimana. At the BPO, the Tutsi refugees were put in two buses and taken away in the evening under escort. The Hutu refugees did not board the buses and they left before the vehicles departed to Rango Forest. The refugees were taken to a fenced forest. During their stay at Rango Forest, the refugees were supervised regularly by two *Interahamwe*: Fidèle, who was armed with rifles and wore civilian clothes, and Alexi. Signal Signal

5031. Witness SS testified that, at some point in time, a white person came with food, but the *Interahamwe* did not allow him to distribute the food to the refugees. Fidèle accompanied the refugees to go and fetch water in the river called Macura. Distribution of porridge took

```
13237 T. 17 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness SD).
13238 T. 18 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SD).
13240 T. 17 March 2003 p. 17; T. 18 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SD).
13241 T. 18 March 2003 pp. 31, 35-36 (Witness SD).
13242 T. 17 March 2003 pp. 12, 17; T. 18 March 2003 pp. 36, 38 (Witness SD).
13243 T. 18 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness SD).
13244 T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SD).
13245 T. 18 March 2003 p. 12; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness SD).
13246 T. 3 March 2003 p. 67 (Witness SS).
13247 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 67-68; T. 10 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness SS).
13248 T. 4 March 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness SS).
13249 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 70 (Witness SS).
13250 T. 10 March 2003 pp. 43-44 (Witness SS).
13251 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 70 (Witness SS).
13251 T. 3 March 2003 pp. 70 (Witness SS).
```

place there, especially for sick children, but in small quantities. Blankets were distributed, but the *Interahamwe* took them back. At some point in time, doctors came, however they did not give medical attention to anyone. As a result, during the witness' stay at Rango Forest, two or three deaths occurred due to illness. Witness SS saw people digging pits or graves that were to be used to bury the refugees, but in the meantime the refugees used them as latrines. The RPF arrived on 4 July 1994 and the refugees who were not wounded were jubilant. 13255

Prosecution Witness SU

5032. Witness SU, a Tutsi woman, testified that in late June, the refugees were forcibly transferred by buses to a fenced property at Rango Forest. The witness did not indicate how many refugees were transferred. The refugees boarded the buses under the supervision of Kanyabashi, assisted by a civilian *Interahamwe* called Fidèle and one other armed man, known to the witness only as Gregwa. Witness SU stated that Kanyabashi rode in another vehicle and accompanied the convoy of buses to Rango Forest. The witness also saw Kanyabashi give Fidèle a list with the names of the refugees and tell him, "[i]f the representatives of the international community come here, we will show them these persons and we will tell them that these are the remaining Tutsis in Rwanda. ... If any of these persons die, Fidel, you have to submit a report."

5033. Witness SU testified that the living conditions at Rango Forest were just as deplorable as those at the BPO. After a few days, the refugees were asked to dig pits. Fidèle and another local *Interahamwe* took over the task because the refugees were too weak to finish it. Witness SU testified that the refugees were asked to go inside the pits to see if they could fit in them. In early July, RPF soldiers arrived and liberated the refugees from Rango Forest.

Prosecution Witness SJ

5034. Witness SJ, a Tutsi woman who was 29 in 1994, testified that she was transported by bus from the BPO to Rango Forest with other refugees, where she stayed for about two weeks. At Rango Forest, the refugees were guarded by the *Interahamwe* and the forest was fenced. The refugees were denied food and water. One night, the *Interahamwe* left and never came back. Elements of the national army arrived the day after, between 1.00 and 2.00

¹³²⁵² T. 10 March 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness SS).

¹³²⁵³ T. 10 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness SS).

¹³²⁵⁴ T. 3 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS).

¹³²⁵⁵ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SS).

¹³²⁵⁶ T. 15 October 2002 pp. 4, 6-7 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁵⁷ T. 15 October 2002 pp. 5, 7 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁵⁸ T. 15 October 2002 p. 5 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁵⁹ T. 15 October 2002 pp. 8-9 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁶⁰ T. 15 October 2002 p. 9 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁶¹ T. 15 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁶² T. 15 October 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness SU).

¹³²⁶³ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 117-118 (Witness SJ).

¹³²⁶⁴ T. 29 May 2002 p. 120 (Witness SJ).

¹³²⁶⁵ T. 29 May 2002 pp. 119-120 (Witness SJ).

p.m., and took the refugees to the *préfecture*. Witness SJ testified this probably happened at the beginning of July; she testified that *Interahamwe* "kept referring to the date of the 5th", however, she could not be sure what exactly they were referring to. 13267

Prosecution Witness QBP

5035. Witness QBP, a Tutsi woman, testified that in the last week of June, buses were brought to transport refugees to Rango Forest. The military *préfet* and the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi, were present when the buses were brought to the BPO. When questioned by the Chamber, Witness QBP clarified that the military *préfet* who was present at the BPO when the buses arrived "was dark skinned and was in military uniform." Witness QBP testified that Kanyabashi accompanied the refugees to Rango Forest, but she did not see him there afterwards. Witness QBP testified that no refugees remained at the BPO after the buses left for Rango Forest.

5036. Witness QBP testified that the refugees were told they would be taken to Rango Forest because they were hindering the operations of the *préfecture* and were causing problems at the BPO, and that they were going to be shown where to stay. Upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi gave a document to an *Interahamwe* carrying a gun and told him to report to him if any of the refugees were to go missing. At Rango Forest, the *Interahamwe* told the refugees to dig pits in which they were to be buried. Since the refugees were weak, the *Interahamwe* dug the pits themselves, however the refugees were told to go in to measure them up. Neither the *préfet* nor the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma provided the refugees at Rango Forest with food or water. While a priest attempted to give food to the refugees, he was accused by the *Interahamwe* of being an accomplice and was chased away. In the first week of July, the *Inkotanyi* of the RPF came and liberated the refugees.

Prosecution Witness TK

5037. Witness TK, a Tutsi woman, testified that the refugees were transferred by bus from the BPO to Rango Forest. Upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi appeared. Sanyabashi was welcomed by street children as the "Muzehe", which is a mark of respect. The witness testified this was the first and only time she saw Kanyabashi. Kanyabashi told the *Interahamwe* to let them through, as Rango Forest was fenced. The *Interahamwe*

```
13266 T. 29 May 2002 pp. 122-123 (Witness SJ).
13267 T. 3 June 2002 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness SJ).
13268 T. 24 October 2002 p. 88 (Witness QBP).
13269 T. 30 October 2002 p. 92 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
13270 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 88-91 (Witness QBP).
13271 T. 30 October 2002 pp. 88-91 (Witness QBP).
13272 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness QBP).
13273 T. 24 October 2002 pp. 89 (Witness QBP).
13274 T. 24 October 2002 p. 89 (Witness QBP).
13275 T. 24 October 2002 p. 90 (Witness QBP).
13276 T. 20 October 2002 p. 91; T. 29 October 2002 p. 95 (ICS) (Witness QBP).
13277 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 101 (Witness TK).
13278 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 103 (Witness TK).
13279 T. 20 May 2002 pp. 104-105 (Witness TK).
13280 T. 20 May 2002 p. 102 (Witness TK).
```

present at Rango Forest were the same who were at the BPO, and they "continued their work, which was to kill". Witness TK only noticed one man disappearing and never saw him afterwards. At the beginning of their stay at Rango Forest, the refugees were assisted by a religious man, but at some point the Interahamwe took away the supplies he had given them. 13281 Some refugee women were forced to marry *Interahamwe* and were given food by those Interahamwe; these women enabled other refugees to survive by sharing that food with them. ¹³²⁸² Nevertheless, some of the refugees died from hunger and cholera. ¹³²⁸³

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

5038. Alison Des Forges testified that, during two conversations she had with Nsabimana, 13284 she learned that the presence of the refugees at the BPO had been a problem for Nsabimana and that he was left alone with it, since no one else would take responsibility. According to Des Forges, Nsabimana also said that the group of refugees was sent away to the EER school where they remained for approximately 10 days, until the authorities in charge sent them back to the BPO. At that point in time, the *Interahamwe* came to the BPO to kill; "soldiers and others" came to take away and rape women, while other refugees were selected to be killed. From the BPO, the refugees were sent away to Rango Forest. 13285

5039. Des Forges testified that she heard testimonies that the transfer to Rango Forest was ordered by Nteziryayo on the day he took over as préfet, 20 June 1994, and that Kanyabashi and one of the *sous-préfets* supervised the move. ¹³²⁸⁶ Des Forges testified that the transfer to Rango Forest occurred perhaps two weeks after the transfer to Nyange and was carried out with several vehicles, but probably in one despatch. She indicated she was not entirely sure about this, since the sources of such information were people who were transferred both to Rango Forest and to Nyange and therefore might have confused elements of the two trips. 13287 Des Forges testified that some of the refugees boarded the buses voluntarily while others did not want to leave, since they were afraid they were going to be killed; so they were forced onto the buses. 13288

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-1-4-0

5040. Witness D-1-4-0, a Hutu who was working as a health assistant at the Rango Holy Cross Centre at Rango Forest, ¹³²⁸⁹ testified that in June 1994, between 200 and 300 refugees were transferred from the BPO to Rango Forest. Some of them were wounded or sick, while others suffered from diarrhea. 13290

¹³²⁸¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³²⁸² T. 20 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).

¹³²⁸³ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³²⁸⁴ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 50-51 (Des Forges) (these conversations took place on 25 March and 3 April 1996).

¹³²⁸⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

¹³²⁸⁶ T. 7 July 2004 pp. 9-10 (Des Forges).

¹³²⁸⁷ T. 7 July 2004 pp. 8-10 (Des Forges).

¹³²⁸⁸ T. 7 July 2004 p. 9 (Des Forges).

¹³²⁸⁹ In light of all the evidence, the Chamber is satisfied that the Holy Cross Centre was a health centre located at Rango Forest and notes, inter alia, that this was referred to also as the "Frères de la Sainte Croix". For ease of reference, the Chamber will refer to the "Holy Cross Centre".

¹³²⁹⁰ T. 6 May 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).

5041. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that he learned from Patrick Kayiranga – Kanyabashi's son, who also worked at the health centre as a lab technician – that refugees arrived at Rango Forest between 15 and 17 June 1994. The witness was assigned to provide medical care to those refugees following a message from Kanyabashi relayed by Kayiranga. Witness D-1-4-0 was the only health attendant who was on duty at the Rango health centre during the events. The witness stated that he first went to see the refugees on the day after their arrival, and that he went to the Rango Holy Cross Centre to provide medical attention to them on five occasions in total. 13293

5042. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that the refugees were comprised mainly of children and women. He indicated that he knew many of those refugees were native of Gishamvu, while others hailed from Runyinya and Nyakizu *communes*, or from Gikongoro *préfecture*. Witness D-1-4-0 testified there were fewer than 30 men among the refugees. The number of refugees at Rango Holy Cross Centre did not increase during the time he went there to provide medical care. Witness D-1-4-0 stated that he treated more than 30 people during the time he was assigned to the Rango Holy Cross Centre, and he was the only person who provided medical attention to the refugees that were brought there. Father Danielo and a nun also took care of the refugees by supplying them with foods, pots, blankets and soap. The witness testified that at Rango Forest, the refugees cooked for themselves and could also fetch firewood in the vicinity.

5043. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that other foodstuffs like maize were also brought from the Ngoma *commune* office by Anicet, who was reported to be Kanyabashi's son. Witness D-1-4-0 saw Anicet arrive aboard a green Toyota pickup belonging to Ngoma *commune*. This vehicle was known to people in Ngoma who called it "*ruhumbengegare*" in Kinyarwanda, meaning "the car that picks up hoodlums." The witness pointed out that he often saw that vehicle before April 1994, but just once between April and July 1994. The testified that he knew very few members of the *commune* staff of Ngoma, citing as examples Rutayisire, the person in charge of the finances and who often came to the health centre, Kanyabashi and policeman Cassien, who lived near the health centre.

```
13291 T. 6 May 2008 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 7 May 2008 p. 27 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13292 T. 6 May 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13293 T. 6 May 2008 pp. 57, 60 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13294 T. 6 May 2008 pp. 55 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13295 T. 6 May 2008 pp. 39, 55 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13296 T. 7 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13297 T. 7 May 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13298 T. 8 May 2008 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13299 T. 6 May 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13300 T. 6 May 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13301 T. 6 May 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13302 T. 6 May 2008 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13303 T. 7 May 2008 pp. 30 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13304 T. 7 May 2008 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13305 T. 7 May 2008 pp. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
```

5044. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that at Rango Forest the people in charge of security were Fidèle, who assisted in the distribution of supplies, and another person named Gashirabake. ¹³³⁰⁶ Witness D-1-4-0 testified that Fidèle was not an *Interahamwe*. ¹³³⁰⁷

5045. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that he never witnessed any assault on the refugees, ¹³³⁰⁸ nor heard any of them complaining that they had been beaten up during the time he treated them at the Rango Holy Cross Centre. ¹³³⁰⁹ The witness learned that on one occasion, people from outside the centre attempted to get in to assault the refugees, but they were repelled by Fidèle. ¹³³¹⁰ The assailants were called *Abatomba*, referring to a community that lived in the vicinity. ¹³³¹¹

5046. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that the refugees had access to clean water, which they fetched from a place called Mpazi. Water was stored in gallons supplied by Ngoma *commune*. The refugees stayed outside in the verandas and corridors as the buildings were locked up. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that three toilet facilities were put up for the refugees at Rango Forest and their construction was supervised by the witness himself, who also provided disinfectant so that the facilities could be better maintained. The refugees dug the latrine pits, assisted by Fidèle and Gashirabake. 13314

5047. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that he went to the health centre for the last time on 1 or 2 July 1994, just before he left Rwanda. At that time, the refugees were still present at Rango Forest. 13315

5048. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that the refugees talked about Kanyabashi; they said that Kanyabashi had been of service to them because he had transported them from the *préfecture* offices where they were living under poor conditions and that Kanyabashi had even accompanied them in the buses. ¹³³¹⁶ On cross-examination, the witness stated that he had not asked the refugees if it was Kanyabashi who ordered them to board the buses. ¹³³¹⁷ The witness testified that the refugees never told him if they had received any assistance from Ngoma *commune* while they were at the *préfecture* office. ¹³³¹⁸

5049. Witness D-1-4-0 testified that the only *Interahamwe* he saw at Rango Forest was called Cyiza. Cyiza was married to one of his colleagues at the health centre and never went to Rango Holy Cross Centre during the time the refugees settled there. Witness D-1-4-0 remembered

¹³³⁰⁶ T. 6 May 2008 pp. 58, 60 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13307 T. 7 May 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13308 T. 6 May 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13309 T. 7 May 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13310 T. 6 May 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13311 T. 7 May 2008 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13312 T. 6 May 2008 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13313 T. 7 May 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13314 T. 6 May 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13315 T. 6 May 2008 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13316 T. 6 May 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13317 T. 7 May 2008 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13318 T. 8 May 2008 p. 40 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).

Cyiza said on one occasion that "Kanyabatutsi"—referring to Kanyabashi—"prevented them [the *Interahamwe*] from killing". ¹³³¹⁹

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-10-Y

5050. Witness D-2-10-Y, a Tutsi who worked as a gardener at the congregation of *Salesièns de Rango* in 1994, ¹³³²⁰ testified that he arrived at the BPO towards the end of May 1994. ¹³³²¹ Kanyabashi told the witness and other refugees at the BPO that they were to be transferred to Rango Forest where they would be better protected. ¹³³²² Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he spent two weeks at the BPO ¹³³²³ and was transferred to Rango Forest in June. ¹³³²⁴

5051. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that, while at the BPO, the *Interahamwe* asked the refugees to gather because Kanyabashi would speak to them. The witness could not recall when exactly this happened. The witness testified that Kanyabashi was the first to inform the refugees about their travel to Rango Forest. Kanyabashi told them for the first time on one morning, when he came alone to the BPO; and on a second occasion, when he returned to the BPO at about 12.00 p.m. on the departure date. This time, Kanyabashi was accompanied by a police officer who was on board his vehicle. The witness said that he saw Kanyabashi at the BPO only on these two occasions, which occurred on different days.

5052. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that after being informed about their transfer to Rango Forest, the refugees were afraid, but Kanyabashi told them that he would provide policemen for their security. In the presence of Kanyabashi, around 300 refugees boarded two buses belonging to ONATRACOM and were transported to Rango Forest. When questioned if there could have been up to 1,000 refugees involved in the transfer, the witness said this was unrealistic. The witness testified that he did not see any refugee being forced to board the buses, nor did he see people using machetes to wound the refugees before they boarded the buses.

5053. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that his father and other family members were transported along with him from the BPO to Rango Forest. The witness stated that street children who spent nights with the refugees at the BPO were not transported to Rango Forest. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that there were policemen on board each of the buses, who helped them to

¹³³¹⁹ T. 7 May 2008 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).

The Chamber understands the reference to the "congregation of *Salesièns de Rango*" is a reference to the Rango Holy Cross Centre. For the purposes of this Judgement, the Chamber will refer to "Holy Cross Centre".

¹³³²¹ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 10, 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²² T. 29 April 2008 p. 10 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²³ T. 5 May 2008 p. 59 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁴ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 9-10 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁵ T. 29 April 2008 p. 35 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁶ T. 29 April 2008 p. 28 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁷ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 28-29 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁸ T. 1 May 2008 p. 34 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³²⁹ T. 29 April 2008 p. 11; T. 5 May 2008 p. 57 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³³⁰ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 8-10; T. 5 May 2008 p. 57 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³³¹ T. 29 April 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³³² T. 1 May 2008 p. 36 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³³³ T. 29 April 2008 p. 31 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

cross the roadblocks on their way to Rango Forest. Witness D-2-10-Y did not see any soldiers or *Interahamwe* on the buses. 13335

5054. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that they arrived at Rango Forest past 2.00 p.m. but before nightfall, 13336 and that Kanyabashi was present. 13337 Kanyabashi indicated to the refugees the person in charge of their security, Fidèle, who had been an employee at the Holy Cross Centre at Rango Forest prior to 6 April 1994. 13338 Kanyabashi spoke with Fidèle, standing at a certain distance to the witness and other refugees. Kanyabashi greeted and waved at the refugees, asking them to be patient. 13339 Kanyabashi told Fidèle that he had to ensure the refugees' security and that he should not allow anyone to disturb them. 13340 Witness D-2-10-Y testified that Fidèle carried a firearm but did not wear military attire. Fidèle obeyed Kanyabashi's orders. 13342

5055. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that refugees at Rango Forest were spread out into the forest surrounding the Holy Cross Centre. The witness stated that the Reverend Brothers were not present when the refugees were staying at Rango Forest. The witness did not see any *gendarmes* at the premises of Rango Forest. The witness did not see any *gendarmes* at the premises of Rango Forest.

5056. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that during his stay at Rango Forest, Fidèle led the refugees to the Mpazi stream to fetch water. The witness testified that they did not go to Mukura River to fetch water, nor did he hear that other refugees did. The witness did not hear that Mukura River contained decomposed bodies and, therefore, was "liver borne" (*sic*). Witness D-2-10-Y testified that they had to fetch water because the water supply was not sufficient to cater to the refugees. In cross-examination, Witness D-2-10-Y testified that when he went to fetch water, he saw a roadblock on a small road linking Rango market to Butare town.

5057. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that at one time, Father Danello supplied the refugees with food. The food was brought in a green vehicle called "*Ruhumbangegera*", normally used to transport offenders. That vehicle belonged to the *commune* and was driven by the son of Kanyabashi's wife, Anicet. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that Danello and Fidèle distributed food supplies to the refugees. The witness denied that persons in charge of the refugees' security or anybody else took the food away. Witness D-2-10-Y added that the refugees also

```
13334 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 11, 30 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13335 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 30, 32 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13336 T. 29 April 2008 p. 32 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13337 T. 29 April 2008 p. 11 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13338 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 11-12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13339 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 11-12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13340 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 11-12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13341 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 37, 51; T. 1 May 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13342 T. 6 May 2008 p. 7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13343 T. 6 May 2008 p. 8 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13344 T. 6 May 2008 p. 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13345 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 39 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13346 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 12-13 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13347 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 12-13; T. 6 May 2008 p. 19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13348 T. 5 May 2008 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).
```

¹³³⁴⁹ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 14-16 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

received buckets, blankets and some rice. 13350 Witness D-2-10-Y testified that a nun, accompanied by a person called Murokore, visited the Holy Cross Centre at Rango Forest three times to provide health services to the refugees. They treated wounded persons and provided them with drugs and medication. 13351 The witness testified that three persons died of illness during their stay at Rango Forest, but he was not aware that any other person died during that time. 13352

5058. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that, while at Rango Forest, the refugees dug two pits to serve as toilets, on the instruction of Murokore. He was not aware that any pits were dug in order for the refugees to be buried in. 13353

5059. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that no Interahamwe stayed at Rango Forest with the refugees, 13354 but at some point two Interahamwe, known as Gikongoro and Ngoma, arrived. 13355 The witness also testified that when Fidèle went back home, the *Interahamwe* and persons from a specific Hutu ethnic group known as Abakomba arrived to kill the refugees. Fidèle heard the cries of the refugees and returned immediately to the premises; the assailants fled. 13356

5060. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that when some refugees went to Rudandi to buy provisions, an *Interahamwe* known as Gashirabake, who was the other person in charge of the security of the refugees beside Fidèle, put several persons in a bag and beat them up at Rango Forest. According to the witness, such an incident happened only once during his stay at Rango Forest. 13357 Gashirabake obeyed Kanyabashi's orders together with Fidèle. 13358 Witness D-2-10-Y testified that at the time of his testimony, the man who was with Fidèle, Gashirabake, was being prosecuted by the national court for having taken part in killings. 13359

5061. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that two weeks after his arrival at Rango Forest, the RPF arrived in the area and released the refugees. 13360 In cross-examination, the witness said that the RPF arrested the population – Hutus as well as Tutsis – and sent them to Rango town for their safety. His father and his five brothers remained in town, while the witness and his sister Alphonsine went to Gikongoro; since then, the witness has not seen his family members. 13361 Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he decided to go to Gikongoro even though the RPF had told the refugees that they were safe in Rango, because there were also Tutsis at Gikongoro. 13362

¹³³⁵⁰ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 15-16, 19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵¹ T. 29 April 2008 p. 17 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵² T. 29 April 2008 pp. 17-18 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵³ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 18-19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁴ T. 29 April 2008 p. 16 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁵ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 35-36 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁶ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 19-20 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁷ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 20-21, 37 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁸ T. 6 May 2008 p. 7 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁵⁹ T. 6 May 2008 pp. 7, 26 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁶⁰ T. 29 April 2008 p. 12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁶¹ T. 5 May 2008 pp. 67-68, 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁶² T. 5 May 2008 p. 70 (ICS) (Witness D-2-10-Y).

The witness testified that, beside his twin sister who was killed in Kabakobwa, all the family members who had taken refuge at the BPO had survived. 13363

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WMKL

5062. Witness WMKL, a Hutu teacher at one of the Butare schools in 1994, testified that there were no longer refugees at the BPO during the first week of June 1994. The witness testified that in June the refugees were moved from the BPO to the Holy Cross Centre at Rango Forest. Witness WMKL attended a meeting during which Kanyabashi stated that the refugees were transferred from the BPO so that they could not be the object of any intimidation by members of the population. Witness WMKL further testified that he never heard that those refugees were maltreated during their stay at Rango Forest. 13366

Nteziryayo

5063. Nteziryayo testified that about 250 persons were transferred to Rango Forest either on 19 or 20 June 1994. He learned this from the *sous-préfet* in charge of social affairs, Everest Bicamumpaka. Nteziryayo testified that the refugees were transferred before he started working as *préfet*. His first day at work as the new *préfet* was 21 June 1994; therefore, he was not at the BPO when the transfer occurred. Nteziryayo further testified that he did not take part in the decision to transfer them to Rango Forest. Nteziryayo denied the portion of Prosecution Witness FAP's testimony, where Witness FAP stated that he was transferred to Rango Forest after Nteziryayo's appointment and that he was told by Grégoire that Nteziryayo "no longer wanted garbage in front of his office".

5064. Nteziryayo testified that the plan to move the refugees from the BPO to Rango Forest had been initiated during the tenure of *Préfet* Nsabimana, between humanitarian organisations and the *préfecture* authorities. Nteziryayo agreed with the plan to transfer the refugees, *vis-à-vis* the *sous-préfets*, Hakizamungu and Bicamumpaka, as discussed at a meeting he had with them on 19 June, because it did not entail any problems and the refugees would be better off at Rango Forest. Clergymen of Rango had provided their convent for accommodating the refugees so they could live in better conditions than in Butare, where they had been living in the open, in front of the offices or behind the BPO, exposed to all passersby and open for everyone to come in. Nteziryayo could not recall whether, by the time of the said meeting, the refugees had already been transported to Rango Forest. 13374

```
13363 T. 28 April 2008 p. 41 (ICS); T. 5 May 2008 p. 56 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13364 T. 6 April 2005 pp. 69-70 (Witness WMKL).
13365 T. 11 April 2005 p. 5 (Witness WMKL).
13366 T. 11 April 2005 p. 6 (Witness WMKL).
13367 T. 11 June 2007 pp. 4-5; T. 7 June 2007 pp. 55-56, 58; T. 25 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Nteziryayo).
13368 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 57-58; T. 11 June 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo).
13379 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 57-58 (Nteziryayo).
13371 T. 7 June 2007 p. 56 (Nteziryayo).
13372 T. 25 June 2007 pp. 18-19 (Nteziryayo).
13373 T. 7 June 2007 p. 56 (Nteziryayo).
13374 T. 7 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
13375 T. 7 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
13376 T. 7 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
13377 T. 7 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).
```

5065. Nteziryayo testified that Bicamumpaka personally participated in moving the refugees to Rango Forest, working together with Kanyabashi. Upon arrival at Rango Forest, the refugees were taken care of by Kanyabashi, by Caritas, the clergymen in Rango, Bicamumpaka and other persons connected to the various officials who sought to improve on the living conditions of those refugees. Nteziryayo testified that the *préfecture* authorities had contacted Caritas, a humanitarian service belonging to the Butare diocese, as well as Father Vieckoslav, a cleric from Rango, and another religious personality, called Daniello. All of these people and organisations were called upon to supply the refugees with food, health care, clothing and other items. 13376

5066. Nteziryayo testified that he was informed by Bicamumpaka that the refugees were receiving considerable aid from humanitarian organisations and that Ngoma *commune* was also working hard to sustain the refugees. Nteziryayo stated that he instructed Bicamumpaka to follow up the situation of those refugees and to remain in touch with the humanitarian organisations that were assisting the refugees. 13377

5067. Nteziryayo testified that on one occasion, he went to Rango Forest and inspected the site where the refugees stayed; he was satisfied that their situation was better there than the *préfecture* courtyard. Nteziryayo testified that the refugees were still under "minimal living conditions", but at least they were in a fenced place, with shade, and Ngoma *commune* had provided guards for their safety. The "religious" looked after them and some persons provided them with health care. Caritas provided food; other humanitarian organisations had given them blankets, cooking utensils and other useful items and medical care. Bicamumpaka went there regularly, if not on a daily basis, to reassure the refugees. 13379

5068. Nteziryayo testified that refugees at Rango Forest were not beaten up. The persons who took care of the refugees were in good faith. Otherwise, according to Nteziryayo, the refugees would have complained *vis-à-vis* the *préfet* or other authorities. Bicamumpaka did not report any cases of maltreatment. Nteziryayo denied that the authorities who tried to improve the living conditions of those refugees refused to let a white person distribute food among the refugees. Nteziryayo further stated that the refugees were not thrown into mass graves; none of the refugees were ever killed; there were no attacks or threats against those refugees; and the refugees were not waiting to be buried in mass graves on 5 July 1994. Nteziryayo testified that Witness FAM's testimony that Nteziryayo had led Tutsi refugees from Muganza to Rango Forest, first to the house of Ruhashyankiko and later to the house of Pierre Rwakayonza to kill them, was false. 13384

```
<sup>13375</sup> T. 7 June 2007 pp. 21, 58 (Nteziryayo).
```

¹³³⁷⁶ T. 20 June 2007 pp. 35-37 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁷⁷ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 21, 58 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁷⁸ T. 7 June 2007 p. 59 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁷⁹ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 21, 59-60 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸⁰ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 21, 60 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸¹ T. 7 June 2007 p. 62 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸² T. 7 June 2007 pp. 60-61; T. 9 July 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸³ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 61-62 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸⁴ T. 22 May 2007 p. 4 (Nteziryayo).

5069. Nteziryayo testified that as the *préfet* he received an update of the situation at Rango Forest on a daily basis and was personally satisfied that the transfer to Rango Forest was aimed at improving the situation of those refugees and making it "more humane". Therefore, it would have been contradictory if people had maltreated them at the same time. Nteziryayo testified that after 28 June 1994, he contacted humanitarian organisations to assist in looking after the refugees in the Mubumbano or the Rango Forest refugee camp. Nteziryayo testified that he had to take care that the refugees would not be attacked by other persons, and that he had to look for supplies and means of transport. The refugees remained at Rango Forest up until the arrival of the RPF in Butare town.

3.6.48.4 Deliberations

5070. It is undisputed that refugees were transferred from the BPO to Rango Forest. Both Prosecution and Defence witnesses presented compelling evidence in this regard, as indicated below. The issues for the Chamber to determine are: when the transfer occurred; the number of refugees involved; and whether criminal acts were perpetrated against the refugees throughout and/or as a consequence of the transfer. Further, the Chamber must assess whether Kanyabashi was involved in the transfer and the extent of his involvement. As stated above, the Chamber will not consider the allegation concerning the transfer to Rango Forest in relation to Nteziryayo and Nsabimana.

3.6.48.4.1 Time Period of the Transfer

5071. The Chamber heard consistent evidence from Prosecution Witnesses TA, SS, SU, QBP and Des Forges to the effect that the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest occurred in June 1994. In addition Prosecution Witness SD testified the transfer was carried out about one week after the appointment of Nteziryayo as the new *préfet*. Prosecution Witness FAP corroborated this evidence, testifying that at the time of the transfer to Rango Forest, Nteziryayo had already taken over his duties as the new *préfet*. In Chamber has previously found that Nteziryayo was appointed *préfet* of Butare by the Interim Government on 17 June 1994 (). In light of this evidence and the testimony of Witnesses SD and FAP, the transfer to Rango Forest occurred in the second half of June 1994. The Chamber has also considered the testimony of Prosecution Witness SJ, who was not able to give a precise indication of the time period she was transferred to Rango Forest. Nevertheless, she testified that the refugees were rescued probably at the beginning of July, about two weeks after their arrival at Rango Forest. She therefore also places the transfer as occurring sometime in late June 1994. Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0, D-2-10-Y and WMKL corroborated this

.

¹³³⁸⁵ T. 7 June 2007 p. 61 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸⁶ T. 12 June 2007 pp. 16, 18 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸⁷ T. 25 June 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁸⁸ Prosecution Witnesses TA, FAP, RE, QBQ, QY, SD, SS, SU, SJ, QBP, Des Forges, and TK; Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0, D-2-10-Y, WMKL, and Nteziryayo.

¹³³⁸⁹ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 61-62 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 pp. 62-63 (Witness TA); T. 7 November 2001 p. 123 (Witness TA); T. 3 March 2003 p. 67 (Witness SS); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 4, 6-7 (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 pp. 88 (Witness QBP); T. 7 July 2004 pp. 9-10 (Des Forges).

¹³³⁹⁰ T. 17 March 2003 pp. 11-12; T. 18 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SD).

¹³³⁹¹ T. 11 March 2003 p. 63; T. 13 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP).

¹³³⁹² T. 3 June 2002 pp. 55, 57-58 (ICS) (Witness SJ).

testimony, stating that the transfer to Rango Forest occurred in June 1994. Nteziryayo gave evidence that the transfer to Rango Forest was carried out either on 19 or 20 June 1994. 13394

5072. Witness QBQ's testimony conflicts with the accounts that the refugees were transferred in late June 1994. She testified that she arrived at the BPO towards the end of April, and the day after her arrival she was transported with the other refugees to the EER. She stayed at the EER for one week only, after which she and the other refugees were brought back to the BPO. The following day, they were immediately transported to Rango Forest. According to this evidence, between the witness' arrival at the BPO and her departure to Rango Forest, just over a week had passed. The Chamber observes that this account appears contradictory with Witness QBQ's subsequent testimony in cross-examination, where she stated that she arrived at the BPO at the end of April and she departed to Rango Forest about one month later. Therefore, the Chamber does not find Witness QBQ credible as to the time frame when the refugees were transferred to Rango Forest.

5073. In light of the foregoing, and having assessed all the evidence before it, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest occurred sometime in June 1994.

3.6.48.4.2 Number of Refugees Transported to Rango Forest

5074. Prosecution Witnesses TA, FAP, SU, SS, QBP and Des Forges testified that the transfer was carried out with two or more buses. This account is consistent with the Chamber's previous finding, in the context of the transport of the refugees from the BPO to Nyange, which was carried out by way of two or more buses (). Defence Witness D-2-10-Y corroborated this account. Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y gave figures ranging from 200 to slightly more than 300 refugees being transported from the BPO to Rango Forest.

5075. Witness TA was not able to indicate a precise number of refugees, but testified that there were less than 1,000 people in the two buses. The Chamber recalls that the Ntahobali Defence challenged the credibility of Witness TA during cross-examination, on the grounds that the witness lacked precision in some answers with respect to time and date, but was able to give very specific details about other facts. The Chamber has already assessed this aspect of Witness TA's testimony with respect to the incidents at the BPO and has come to the

¹³³⁹³ T. 6 May 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 9-10 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 11 April 2005 p. 5 (Witness WMKL).

¹³³⁹⁴ T. 11 June 2007 pp. 4-5; T. 7 June 2007 pp. 55-56, 58; T. 25 June 2007 pp. 13-14 (Nteziryayo).

¹³³⁹⁵ T. 3 February 2004 pp. 23-24, 51; T. 4 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBQ).

¹³³⁹⁶ T. 3 February 2004 p. 52 (Witness QBQ).

¹³³⁹⁷ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 61-62 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 pp. 62-63 (Witness TA); T. 7 November 2001 pp. 25-26, 29 (Witness TA); T. 11 March 2003 p. 63 (Witness FAP); T. 13 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP); T. 15 October 2002 pp. 4, 6-7 (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 p. 88 (Witness QBP); T. 7 July 2004 pp. 8-10 (Des Forges); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 67-68 (Witness SS); T. 10 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness SS).

¹³³⁹⁸ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 10-11, 30-31 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³³⁹⁹ T. 6 May 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 8-10, 32 (Witness D-2-10-Y); T. 5 May 2008 p. 57 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴⁰⁰ T. 7 November 2001 p. 28 (Witness TA).

¹³⁴⁰¹ T. 30 October 2001 pp. 7-12 (Witness TA).

conclusion that Witness TA's testimony is credible with respect to the time of her arrival and her experience at the BPO (). However, in relation to the number of refugees present at Rango Forest, the Chamber cannot rely on Witness TA's testimony, for the reasons explained below.

5076. The testimony by Prosecution witnesses that there were two or more buses supports Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y's account on the number of refugees involved (250 to 300). The Chamber is of the opinion that, it is reasonable that a few hundred people were transferred by means of two or more buses.

5077. The Chamber also recalls Defence Exhibit 473 (at 20:06) which was a video recording of the refugees at the BPO around 15 June 1994. Based upon the Chamber's earlier finding, by this date, about 200 refugees had returned to the BPO from the EER (). The Chamber finds this Exhibit corroborates Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y's testimony outlined above.

5078. Regarding the composition of the group of refugees, Witness SD testified that only women, children, and two old men boarded the two buses to Rango Forest, as all the rest of the men had been killed. 13402 This conflicts with other testimonies which, although not entirely consistent with each other, indicate that there were some men among the refugees. Defence Witness D-1-4-0 testified that fewer than 30 of the refugees who settled at Rango Forest were men. 13403 Defence Witness D-2-10-Y testified that there were around 100 men among the refugees, around a third of the refugee population. 13404 Prosecution Witness TK testified that, at some point during her stay at Rango Forest she noticed one male refugee disappearing. 13405 In addition, Defence Exhibit 473, which shows some of the refugees prior to the transfer to Rango Forest, captured images of several men. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber is convinced that both men and women were transferred to Rango Forest, but the number of men had diminished significantly due to the killings at the BPO and EER ().

5079. Regarding the ethnicity of the refugees, the Chamber notes discrepancies between the testimonies of Witnesses SD and SS. Prosecution Witness SD stated that there were some Hutu women among the refugees, ¹³⁴⁰⁶ whereas Prosecution Witness SS testified that, prior to being put on the buses the Tutsi refugees were separated from the Hutus and only the Tutsis were taken away. 13407 The Chamber recalls its finding that Hutu refugees were separated from Tutsi refugees and taken to Mubumbano refugee camp (). Therefore, most if not all Hutu refugees had been taken from the BPO to Mubumbano by 15 June 1994. The Chamber considers that although there may have been some Hutus among the refugees, the majority of refugees were Tutsis.

5080. In sum, the Chamber concludes that approximately 250 to 300 mainly Tutsi refugees were transported to Rango Forest, by a convoy which comprised at least two buses.

¹³⁴⁰² T. 18 March 2003 p. 29 (Witness SD).

¹³⁴⁰³ T. 7 May 2008 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0). ¹³⁴⁰⁴ T. 5 May 2008 p. 59 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴⁰⁵ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁰⁶ T. 18 March 2003 p. 29 (Witness SD).

¹³⁴⁰⁷ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 38, 67; T. 4 March 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness SS).

3.6.48.4.3 Whether the Transfer Was Forceful

5081. Witness TA testified that at the BPO the refugees were forced onto the buses by the Interahamwe, who beat them. 13408 Witness TA further stated that, although there was no guard onboard, it was not possible to leave the buses "because it was the order issued by the authorities", and they had nowhere to go. 13409 This evidence is corroborated by Prosecution Witness SU, who also testified that the refugees were forced onto the buses under Kanyabashi's supervision. 13410 Witness SU further stated that a civilian *Interahamwe* called Fidèle and one other armed man known as Grégoire were present during the transfer. 13411 Witnesses FAP and SD testified that the refugees were told in the presence of Kanyabashi, Laurent Kubwimana and Grégoire, that they had to leave the BPO. ¹³⁴¹² Grégoire told them that those who refused to go to Rango Forest would be killed; instead, they would be given provisions and safety at Rango Forest. According to Witness RE, the transfer of the refugees occurred under the supervision of *Interahamwe*. ¹³⁴¹⁴ According to Des Forges, some of the refugees boarded the buses voluntarily while others did not want to leave, since they were afraid they were going to be killed. They were therefore forced onto the buses. 13415

5082. Defence Witness D-1-4-0 disagreed with Witness SU and testified that Fidèle was not an *Interahamwe*. ¹³⁴¹⁶ Likewise, Defence Witness D-2-10-Y testified that he did not see any soldiers or *Interahamwe* on the buses, and that Fidèle carried a firearm but did not wear military attire. 13417 Further, Witness D-2-10-Y testified that no force was used to board the refugees onto the buses and that there were policemen on board of each of the buses, who helped them to cross the roadblocks on their way to Rango Forest. 13418

5083. The Chamber believes there are some credibility issues with regard to Defence Witness D-1-4-0. This witness was added to the Kanyabashi Defence witnesses' list at a late stage of the trial on 24 April 2008. 13419 The Chamber notes that Witness D-1-4-0 was a Hutu and that he was chosen to be the health attendant at Rango Forest directly by Kanyabashi. This indicates the witness might have had a prior relationship with Kanyabashi. 13420 Further, in the Chamber's view, Witness D-1-4-0 might have had personal reasons to lie since he was involved in the transfer. The Chamber considers these factors impact the witness' credibility and will therefore not rely on his evidence. This leaves the testimony of Witness D-2-10-Y alone supporting the assertion that the transfer was not forceful. However, considering that his

```
<sup>13408</sup> T. 29 October 2001 p. 62; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 62-63; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 26, 28-29; T. 8
November 2001 p. 30 (Witness TA).

13409 T. 8 November 2001 p. 30 (Witness TA).
<sup>13410</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 4-7 (Witness SU).
<sup>13411</sup> T. 15 October 2002 pp. 5, 7 (Witness SU).
```

¹³⁴¹² T. 11 March 2003 p. 63; T. 13 March 2003 p. 39 (Witness FAP); T. 18 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SD).

¹³⁴¹³ T. 11 March 2003 p. 64; T. 13 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP).

¹³⁴¹⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

¹³⁴¹⁵ T. 7 July 2004 p. 9 (Des Forges).

¹³⁴¹⁶ T. 7 May 2008 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).

¹³⁴¹⁷ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 30, 37, 51; T. 1 May 2008 p. 5 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴¹⁸ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 11, 30, 32 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴¹⁹ Kanyabashi, Decision on Kanyabashi's Three Motions to Vary His List of Witnesses and to Admit Written Statements Under Rule 92 bis (TC), 24 April 2008, paras. 67-71. ¹³⁴²⁰ T. 6 May 2008 pp. 54, 60 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).

evidence is uncorroborated, and having weighed all the evidence by Prosecution witnesses as outlined above, the Chamber does not find the testimony of Witness D-2-10-Y credible in relation to this issue.

5084. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber is convinced that "guards", including members of the *Interahamwe*, supervised the boarding of the buses. Further, the Chamber finds the evidence sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the environment in which the transfer was carried out was coercive and the refugees had no other choice than to board the buses.

3.6.48.4.4 Events at Rango

5085. Prosecution Witnesses SS and SJ testified that the refugees were taken to a fenced forest where they were guarded by the *Interahamwe*. Witness SS further stated that during their stay at Rango Forest the refugees were supervised regularly by two *Interahamwe* in civilian clothes: Fidèle, who was armed with rifles, and Alexi. They were assisted by other *Interahamwe* at night. Likewise, Prosecution Witness SD testified that upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi instructed the *Interahamwe* to protect the refugees and to inform him if any of the refugees died. Among the *Interahamwe* was Fidèle, who carried a gun and two others who carried clubs, knives and grenades. 13424

5086. Nteziryayo's account corroborates these testimonies in part, stating that the refugees were provided guards for their safety. Surther corroboration came from the testimony of Defence Witness D-1-4-0, who stated that Fidèle was a guard on duty at Rango Forest, who was in charge of security and assisted in the distribution of supplies, along with another person, Gashirabake. The Chamber recalls there are some credibility concerns in relation to Witness D-1-4-0 and it will therefore not rely on his testimony with regard to this issue. The Chamber further notes that only one Defence witness, Witness D-2-10-Y, challenged the testimony of the Prosecution witnesses in relation to the presence of the *Interahamwe* at Rango Forest. Witness D-2-10-Y testified that there was no *Interahamwe* staying at Rango Forest with the refugees, but at some point two *Interahamwe*, known as Gikongoro and Ngoma, came. This testimony is uncorroborated and therefore the Chamber will not rely on it.

5087. In light of all the evidence presented, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that members of the *Interahamwe* guarded the refugees at Rango Forest.

5088. Prosecution Witness SU testified that refugees were put in a shed and confined within a fenced area at Rango Forest. Defence Witness D-1-4-0 disagreed with Witness SU and testified that the refugees stayed outside on the verandas and corridors as the buildings were

```
13421 T. 3 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS); T. 29 May 2002 p. 120 (Witness SJ).
13422 T. 10 March 2003 pp. 43-44 (Witness SS).
13423 T. 10 March 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness SS).
13424 T. 17 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness SD).
13425 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 59-60 (Nteziryayo).
13426 T. 6 May 2008 pp. 58, 60 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13427 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 39, 46 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13428 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 16, 39, 46 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13429 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 35-36 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
```

¹³⁴³⁰ T. 14 October 2002 p. 89; T. 15 October 2002 p. 9 (Witness SU).

locked up.¹³⁴³¹ These testimonies are not corroborated and therefore the Chamber cannot make a determination on this issue. However, having considered all the evidence before it, the Chamber is convinced that the refugees, whether in a shed or outdoors, were confined in an enclosure and prevented from crossing the fence.¹³⁴³²

5089. Several Prosecution witnesses gave congruent testimony with regard to beatings taking place at Rango Forest. Witness TA testified that during the time spent at Rango Forest the few *Interahamwe* present beat the refugees. Witness RE testified that the *Interahamwe* beat the refugees during the day and raped women and girls at Rango Forest. Similarly, Witness FAP testified that she and other refugees were living under the trees and were regularly covered with sacks and beaten on their stomachs at Rango Forest. Additionally, the Chamber observes that Defence Witness D-2-10-Y corroborated Witness FAP's testimony, stating that he witnessed one incident in which an *Interahamwe* known as Gashirabake (who was the other person in charge of the security of the refugees beside Fidèle) put several persons in a bag and beat them up. Prosecution Witness FAP further stated that Fidèle witnessed the beatings but did nothing to prevent them. One of the refugees suffered a miscarriage as a result of the beatings. Witness SD corroborated this evidence, testifying that Fidèle did not respect Kanyabashi's instructions to protect the refugees. She said that they were beaten and one woman miscarried. Finally, Witness TK testified that the *Interahamwe* present at Rango Forest were the same who were at the BPO and they "continued their work, which was to kill." However, the witness only noticed one man disappearing and she never saw him afterwards. However, the witness only noticed one man disappearing and she never saw him afterwards.

5090. Only one Prosecution witness, Witness QY, testified that refugees at Rango Forest were not attacked, but instead stated that the *gendarmes*, including Alexis and Fidèle, were instructed not to attack the refugees and to report any deaths. The Chamber does not discount Witness QY's testimony and believes that she might not have witnessed or experienced any maltreatment herself. However, in light of the consistency among the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAP, RE, TA, TK and SD, the Chamber finds their account credible, that refugees were beaten by *Interahamwe* at Rango Forest and that one woman miscarried.

5091. The Chamber also heard evidence from numerous Prosecution witnesses to the effect that the refugees at Rango Forest endured deplorable conditions, were not given food or water,

```
<sup>13431</sup> T. 7 May 2008 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
```

¹³⁴³² See T. 3 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS); T. 29 May 2002 p. 120 (Witness SJ); T. 7 June 2007 pp. 59-60 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁴³³ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 66-67; T. 6 November 2001 pp. 90-91; T. 7 November 2001 pp. 29-30 (Witness TA).

¹³⁴³⁴ T. 24 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE).

¹³⁴³⁵ T. 12 March 2003 p. 11 (Witness FAP).

¹³⁴³⁶ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 19-21, 37 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴³⁷ T. 13 March 2003 pp. 50, 55-56 (Witness FAP).

¹³⁴³⁸ T. 13 March 2003 pp. 50-51 (Witness FAP).

¹³⁴³⁹ T. 18 March 2003 p. 37 (Witness SD).

¹³⁴⁴⁰ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁴¹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁴² T. 19 March 2003 p. 64; T. 25 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness QY).

and lacked sanitary and medical care. 13443 Prosecution Witnesses FAP, RE, OBP, SD, SS, TA and TK testified that the only attempt by a white priest to feed them was stopped by some members of the *Interahamwe*. ¹³⁴⁴⁴ Prosecution Witnesses SS and SD testified that blankets were distributed, but the *Interahamwe* took them back. 13445 Witness SS further stated that at some point in time, doctors had come, however they did not give medical attention to anyone. 13446 Prosecution Witnesses SS and FAP also testified that, on a couple of occasions, the refugees were accompanied by Fidèle to fetch water from the Mukura River, but they had to stop because they discovered rotting corpses being eaten by maggots there. Thereafter, they dug holes to gather rain water for drinking. ¹³⁴⁴⁷

5092. The Chamber notes that a significant amount of congruent evidence from Prosecution witnesses exists concerning the maltreatment to which the refugees at Rango Forest were subject, even in relation to details and specific events. Thus, the Chamber finds their account credible.

5093. The Chamber also heard from Prosecution Witnesses FAP and SD that some orphans or sick children among the refugees were fed. 13448 The Chamber considers their evidence credible, particularly in light of the fact that Witnesses FAP and SD were refugees themselves. They did not have any reason to lie about the fact that some refugees were provided with care. In light of all the evidence, the Chamber believes that some orphans or sick children among the refugees at Rango Forest were fed.

5094. The Chamber further notes that Prosecution Witness TK testified that during their stay at Rango Forest, the refugees only survived due to the help of refugee women who had been forced to marry Interahamwe and who shared the food they received from them [Interahamwe]. 13449 Nonetheless, she testified that some of the refugees died from hunger and cholera. ¹³⁴⁵⁰ Likewise, according to Prosecution Witness SS, two or three deaths occurred due to illness. ¹³⁴⁵¹ This evidence was corroborated by Defence Witness D-2-10-Y's account that three persons died of illness during their stay at Rango Forest; the witness was not aware that any other person died during that time. 13452

¹³⁴⁴³ T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY); T. 25 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY); T. 15 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU); T. 29 May 2002 p. 119 (Witness SJ).

¹³⁴⁴⁴ T. 13 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness FAP); T. 6 November 2001 pp. 87-88 (Witness TA); T. 8 November 2001 pp. 33-34 (Witness TA); T. 24 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE); T. 24 October 2002 p. 90 (Witness QBP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SD); T. 24 October 2002 p. 90 (Witness OBP); T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁴⁵ T. 10 March 2003 pp. 46-47 (Witness SS); T. 17 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SD).

¹³⁴⁴⁶ T. 10 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness SS).

¹³⁴⁴⁷ T. 11 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness FAP); 13 March 2003 p. 59 (Witness FAP); T. 3 March 2003 p. 70

¹³⁴⁴⁸ T. 13 March 2003 p. 60 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 17 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 35 (Witness SD); T. 10 March 2003 pp. 45-46 (Witness SS). ¹³⁴⁴⁹ T. 20 May 2002 p. 107 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁵⁰ T. 20 May 2002 p. 106 (Witness TK).

¹³⁴⁵¹ T. 10 March 2003 p. 47 (Witness SS).

¹³⁴⁵² T. 29 April 2008 pp. 17-18 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

5095. Nteziryayo challenged the testimony of several Prosecution witnesses, including Witnesses SD, TK and RE. He testified that refugees at Rango Forest were not beaten up, there were no cases of maltreatment reported by the *sous-préfet* in charge of social affairs, and none of the refugees were killed. Nteziryayo further testified that as the *préfet* he received an update of the situation at Rango Forest on a daily basis and was personally satisfied that the transfer to Rango Forest was aimed at improving the situation of those refugees and making it "more humane". Therefore, it would have been contradictory if people had maltreated them at the same time. In addition, while challenging the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses RE, QBP, SS and TK specifically, Nteziryayo testified that the refugees were looked after by the "religious" as well as humanitarian organisations. Nteziryayo said the refugees were provided with health care and food. He denied that the authorities refused to let a white person distribute food among the refugees. According to Nteziryayo, the situation of the refugees at Rango Forest was better than at the BPO courtyard. Nteziryayo testified that the refugees were still living under "minimal living conditions", but at least they were in a fenced place with shade and were protected.

5096. Defence Witness D-1-4-0 supported Nteziryayo's account, stating that he never witnessed any assault on the refugees, ¹³⁴⁵⁸ and did not hear any of them complaining that they had been beaten up at Rango Forest during the time he treated them at the Rango Holy Cross Centre. ¹³⁴⁵⁹ Witness D-1-4-0 only learned that on one occasion people coming from outside attempted to get in to assault the refugees, but they were repelled by Fidèle. ¹³⁴⁶⁰ This evidence is corroborated by Witness D-2-10-Y's testimony. ¹³⁴⁶¹ Defence Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y further testified that food supplies, blankets, soap and medical attention were provided to the refugees. ¹³⁴⁶² They also stated that the refugees had access to clean water which they fetched from a place called Mpazi, led by Fidèle. ¹³⁴⁶³ Witness D-1-4-0 also testified that the refugees cooked for themselves and they could also fetch firewood in the vicinity. ¹³⁴⁶⁴

5097. The Chamber notes the consistency between the testimony of Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y. However, in relation to their evidence that Fidèle was a guard in charge of security at Rango Forest and that he also repelled an attack by *Interahamwe* coming from outside, the Chamber notes that it was not presented with any evidence indicative of acts of violence on behalf of Fidèle himself towards the refugees. On the other hand, sufficient evidence established that members of the *Interahamwe* beat the refugees, whether or not Fidèle was aware of it. In addition, the Chamber recalls there are credibility issues in relation to Witness D-1-4-0 concerning the events at Rango Forest, and observes that Nteziryayo's account on this

```
13453 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 60-61 (Nteziryayo); T. 9 July 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).
13454 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 61 (Nteziryayo).
13455 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 59-60, 62 (Nteziryayo).
13456 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 59 (Nteziryayo).
13457 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 59-60 (Nteziryayo).
13458 T. 6 May 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13459 T. 7 May 2008 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13460 T. 6 May 2008 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13461 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 19-20 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13462 T. 6 May 2008 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 14-17, 19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13463 T. 6 May 2008 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 12-13 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
13464 T. 6 May 2008 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
```

matter, which only partially corroborates the testimony of Witnesses D-1-4-0 and D-2-10-Y, is hearsay.

5098. Thus, having weighed all the evidence before it, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that, during their stay at Rango Forest some refugees were subject to physical violence, including beatings, on behalf of members of the *Interahamwe*. In light of the totality of the evidence, the Chamber also finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the refugees at Rango Forest endured deplorable living conditions. Although there had been occasions when humanitarian organisations or refugee women married to *Interahamwe* distributed food to the refugees, they were nevertheless deprived of food by the authorities. As a result of these conditions of mistreatment and violence, some of the refugees died.

5099. In relation to the purpose of the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest, the Chamber recalls Witness TA's testimony that the transportation was decided upon during a meeting held at the MRND Palace, on the grounds that "that place was beginning to stink because of [the] presence [of the refugees]." She also testified that the refugees were going to be killed and that their bodies "will be laid on the body of Habyarimana after he is buried". The Chamber also heard from Prosecution Witness QBP, who testified that the refugees were told they would be taken to Rango Forest because they were hindering the operations of the *préfecture* and were causing problems at the BPO. Similarly, Des Forges testified that she learned from Nsabimana that the refugees had been a problem and no one wanted to take responsibility, so they were sent away from the BPO. 13468

5100. Prosecution Witnesses FAP and RE partly corroborate this account. They testified that they were informed that Nteziryayo did not want "dirt" in front of his office, and they understood this as referring to the "Tutsi". Prosecution Witness RE stated that Kanyabashi gave instructions to the *Interahamwe* to take good care of the refugees, because they were going to be presented to the international community, but that they would be killed on 5 July. Nteziryayo challenged this testimony, and stated that he had to take care of the refugees at Rango Forest and make sure they would not be attacked by anyone; for this, he sought support of humanitarian organisations. Defence Witness WMKL supported Nteziryayo's account, stating that he heard from Kanyabashi that the refugees were to be transferred away, so that they could not be the object of any intimidation. Also Prosecution Witness QY testified that, once at Rango, Kanyabashi instructed the two *Interahamwe* that the refugees were not to be killed and that it should be reported to him if anyone was to die.

¹³⁴⁶⁵ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 62-63, 65-68 (Witness TA).

¹³⁴⁶⁶ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 63-66 (Witness TA).

¹³⁴⁶⁷ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 89-90 (Witness QBP).

¹³⁴⁶⁸ T. 9 June 2004 p. 51 (Des Forges).

¹³⁴⁶⁹ T. 11 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness RE); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 17, 31 (Witness RE); *see also* T. 31 October 2002 p. 51 (Witness FAI); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 61-63 (Witness FAI); 13 March 2003 p. 40 (Witness FAP) (all testifying that Nteziryayo ordered that the refugees left at the BPO be killed).

¹³⁴⁷⁰ T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

¹³⁴⁷¹ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 57-58 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁴⁷² T. 12 June 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁴⁷³ T. 11 April 2005 p. 5 (Witness WMKL).

¹³⁴⁷⁴ T. 19 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness QY).

- 5101. The Chamber notes the consistency between the testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses FAP and RE, and finds their account credible, namely that the refugees were informed they would be killed shortly. The Chamber also believes the testimonies of Witnesses QY and WMKL to the extent that what was made public to the eyes of the international community was that the refugees would be transferred for their own safety. However, having weighed all the evidence, the Chamber considers this might have been part of the strategy to improve the international community's perception of the authorities in Rwanda and hide their true intentions, which were to get rid of the Tutsi refugees.
- 5102. In this regard, the Chamber has also considered that several Prosecution witnesses, in particular Witnesses SS, FAP, SD, SU and QBP, testified that pits were dug at Rango Forest in order to bury the refugees. ¹³⁴⁷⁵ Witness SU even stated that the refugees were asked to go inside the pits to see if they could fit in them. ¹³⁴⁷⁶ This account is partly corroborated by the testimony of Witnesses D-2-10-Y and Witness D-1-4-0, who also testified that refugees dug three latrine pits, assisted by Fidèle and Gashirabake; 13477 however, he stated he was not aware that any pits were dug in order to bury the refugees. Similarly, Nteziryayo testified that the refugees were not thrown into mass graves nor was there a plan to do so. 13479 The Chamber however recalls that Nteziryayo gave hearsay evidence on this issue.
- 5103. As to the ultimate fate of the refugees at Rango Forest, the Chamber notes that several Prosecution witnesses testified that the Inkotanyi of the RPF rescued the refugees at the beginning of July 1994. This was corroborated by Nteziryayo and Defence Witness D-2-10-Y, although they did not indicate a precise time frame. The Chamber notes these testimonies were not challenged.
- 5104. Having considered all the evidence before it, the Chamber is convinced that at least two pits were dug at Rango Forest, and that the refugees were told they would be buried in them, in early July 1994. In relation to the transport to Rango Forest, the Chamber finds the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the ultimate purpose of this transfer was to kill the Tutsi refugees. Further, in light of all the evidence the Chamber is satisfied that the refugees were rescued by the *Inkotanyi* of the RPF in early July 1994.

3.6.48.4.5 Involvement of the Accused

5105. The Prosecution presented compelling evidence indicating that Kanyabashi was involved in the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest. Witnesses RE, QY, QBP and QBQ testified that Kanyabashi accompanied the convoy of refugees to Rango Forest. 13482 Similarly,

¹³⁴⁷⁵ T. 3 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness SS); T. 11 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness FAP); T. 17 March 2003 p. 12 (Witness SD); T. 18 March 2003 p. 19 (Witness SD); T. 15 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU); T. 24 October 2002 p. 90 (Witness QBP). 13476 T. 15 October 2002 p. 10 (Witness SU).

¹³⁴⁷⁷ T. 6 May 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0); T. 29 April 2008 pp. 18-19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴⁷⁸ T. 29 April 2008 pp. 18-19 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴⁷⁹ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 60-61 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁴⁸⁰ T. 29 October 2001 p. 69 (Witness TA); T. 24 February 2003 p. 33 (Witness RE); T. 3 February 2004 p. 25 (Witness QBQ); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 70-71 (Witness SS); 24 October 2002 p. 91 (Witness QBP). 13481 T. 25 June 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo); T. 29 April 2008 p. 12 (Witness D-2-10-Y).

¹³⁴⁸² T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE); T. 25 March 2003 p. 70 (Witness QY); T. 24 October 2002 pp. 88-89 (Witness QBP); T. 3 February 2004 p. 24 (Witness QBQ); T. 4 February 2004 p. 15 (Witness QBQ).

Witness SD testified that Kanyabashi was present at the BPO when the transfer was organised and that he accompanied the convoy of refugees all the way to Rango Forest. ¹³⁴⁸³ Des Forges stated that Kanyabashi supervised the move. ¹³⁴⁸⁴ Witness FAP testified that Kanyabashi was already present at Rango Forest when the refugees arrived. ¹³⁴⁸⁵

5106. Defence Witness D-1-4-0's testimony corroborated this evidence. He testified that he heard refugees saying that Kanyabashi "had been of service to them because he had transported them from the *préfecture* ... and he had even accompanied them in the buses". ¹³⁴⁸⁶ Similarly, Defence Witness D-2-10-Y stated that the refugees boarded the buses in Kanyabashi's presence and that, upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi was there. ¹³⁴⁸⁷ Nteziryayo testified that Kanyabashi was involved in the transport of the refugees to Rango Forest, along with the *sous-préfet* in charge of social affairs. ¹³⁴⁸⁸ The Chamber recalls the credibility issues in relation to Witness D-1-4-0, and it is also mindful that Nteziryayo's testimony on this issue is hearsay and that he is a co-Accused in this case. However, in light of the considerable amount of corroborating evidence by Prosecution witnesses, the Chamber finds Witness D-1-4-0's and Nteziryayo's accounts credible with respect to Kanyabashi's involvement in the transfer of the refugees to Rango Forest.

5107. Having considered all the evidence before it, the Chamber is satisfied that Kanyabashi carried out the transfer of the refugees, from the departure from the BPO up until their arrival at Rango Forest, with the assistance of the *Interahamwe*. The Chamber further observes that, as found above, crimes at Rango Forest were committed by the *Interahamwe*. However, the Chamber notes that the evidence has demonstrated Kanyabashi's presence at Rango Forest only on the day of the transfer, or otherwise for a short while afterwards; the length of Kanyabashi's stay at Rango Forest was not established. Therefore, the Prosecution did not prove that he witnessed or otherwise knew of the beatings and mistreatment of the refugees at Rango Forest by the *Interahamwe*.

5108. In addition to Kanyabashi's role in coordinating and supervising the transfer as found above, the Chamber heard from Prosecution Witness RE that once at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi gave instructions to the *Interahamwe* to watch over the refugees, stating that this was only for the purpose of showing them to the international community, whereas they were going to be killed on 5 July. Similarly, Prosecution Witness FAP testified that at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi gave instructions to the person in charge of the refugees, in order to ensure their safety, although their fate was sealed on 5 July. Prosecution Witness SD also testified that upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi instructed the *Interahamwe* to protect the refugees and to inform him if any of the refugees died. The Chamber finds these testimonies reliable and concludes it has been established that upon arrival at Rango Forest, Kanyabashi gave orders to the *Interahamwe* as to how to deal with the refugees.

```
13483 T. 18 March 2003 p. 28 (Witness SD).
13484 T. 7 June 2004 pp. 9-10 (Des Forges).
13485 T. 11 March 2003 p. 64 (Witness FAP).
13486 T. 6 May 2008 p. 69 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-0).
13487 T. 29 April 2008 pp. 8-11 (Witness D-2-10-Y).
```

¹³⁴⁸⁸ T. 7 June 2007 p. 58 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁴⁸⁹ T. 24 February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE).

^{1. 24} February 2003 p. 32 (Witness RE) 13490 T. 11 March 2003 p. 65 (Witness FAP).

¹³⁴⁹¹ T. 17 March 2003 p. 12; T. 17 March 2003 p. 37 (ICS); T. 18 March 2003 pp. 31-32 (Witness SD).

3.7 Training and Arming the Population, Roadblocks and Civil Defence

3.7.1 Training by Kanyabashi

3.7.1.1 Introduction

- 5109. Paragraphs 5.1, 5.12 and 6.31 of the Kanyabashi Indictment allege that between March and June 1994, Kanyabashi facilitated and assisted the military training of militiamen and certain members of the civilian population in Ngoma *commune*. 13492
- 5110. As part of the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide against Kanyabashi, the Prosecution submits that between February and July 1994, Kanyabashi used his position and power to provide and participate in training civilians and militia groups, namely young Hutu men under the age of 40. They were trained in the use of weapons at the *commune* stadium in Ngoma *commune*. In doing so, Kanyabashi exercised effective control over those persons. These individuals went on to carry out attacks against Tutsi civilians, and thus participated in the preparation of the genocide. In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAH, FAI, QG, FAM and Expert Witness Des Forges.
- 5111. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.12 and 6.31 of the Kanyabashi Indictment do not allege a crime, as the training of civilians is not a crime. ¹³⁴⁹⁵ It asserts that Kanyabashi did not participate or instigate the military training of civilians in Ngoma *commune*. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that the training of civilians took place in June 1994 and was a legitimate exercise in self-defence in light of the RPF's advance into Butare. ¹³⁴⁹⁶ In support of its submissions the Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens.
- 5112. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that the Kanyabashi Indictment is vague and fails to identify Kanyabashi's alleged subordinates and the dates and circumstances of the alleged training. The Chamber recalls that the Kanyabashi Defence first raised this issue in its Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment on 9 October 1999. The Kanyabashi Defence requested that Paragraphs 5.1, 5.12 and 6.31 among others, be deleted on account of their imprecision and vagueness and, in particular, due to the failure to identify his alleged subordinates and provide specific time references. 13498
- 5113. The Kanyabashi Defence further submits that the evidence presented by the Prosecution lacks credibility. 13499 It asserts that Witness QG is part of a group of persons who

¹³⁴⁹⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 67, 73, 547, 554, 556, 559-560, 568, 572, 575, 577, 580-581.

¹³⁴⁹² Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 5.12 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9); Para. 6.31 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (omitting the word "civilian") (not in support of counts).

¹³⁴⁹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 404, 413, paras. 71, 101.

¹³⁴⁹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 393-394, 399-401, 406-407, 431, paras. 12, 26-28, 49-52, 56, 80, 166; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 13.

¹³⁴⁹⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 546, 599.

¹³⁴⁹⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 552, 589, 592-593, 597.

¹³⁴⁹⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 546.

¹³⁴⁹⁸ *Kanyabashi*, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000, paras. 1.5-1.6, 2, 2.1.

fabricated testimony, 13500 and that Witnesses QAH and FAM incited their co-detainees to implicate Kanyabashi. 13501 In addition, the testimonies of Prosecution Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua fail to establish the criminal involvement of Kanyabashi in training civilians. 13502

5114. In support of these submissions, the Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens, Kanyabashi Defence Witnesses D-2-YYY, D-2-13-D, D-2-21-T, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo.

3.7.1.2 Preliminary Issues

- 5115. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Kanyabashi Indictment is vague, fails to identify Kanyabashi's alleged role in the training, his subordinates and the dates and circumstances of the alleged military training. ¹³⁵⁰³ Paragraphs 5.1, 5.12 and 6.31 do not specify dates, places, nor identify the people whom Kanyabashi is alleged to have trained.
- 5116. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.1, 5.12 and 6.31 of the Kanyabashi Indictment make a general accusation that Kanyabashi facilitated the training of certain members of the civilian population in Ngoma *commune* between March and June 1994. The relevant paragraphs contain a broad date range, vague reference to venue, and fail to specify the nature of Kanyabashi's participation in the training. The Chamber therefore finds that the Indictment is defective.
- 5117. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that information regarding Kanyabashi's alleged role in facilitating training can be found in the witness summaries contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. Further, the Chamber will assess whether the Kanyabashi Defence was prejudiced by the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAM and FAI who did not mention their intention to testify to the training allegation in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief but testified to the allegation at trial.
- 5118. In the summary of his anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief, Witness QG stated that after seeing Kanyabashi's visit to the *conseiller* in his *secteur*, the *conseiller* said that he had been ordered by Kanyabashi to select Hutus to be sent for training in the use of rifles and traditional weapons. Neither the location of the training nor the time frame is specified in Witness QG's summary. The summary further stated that Witness QG would testify that he heard from people who were trained that Kanyabashi asked for the training to be done by military trainers from the *École des Sous Officiers* ("ESO"). ¹³⁵⁰⁴
- 5119. Witness QG's previous statement of 12 June 1996, disclosed to the Defence on 13 December 2001, over three years prior to his testimony, contains further details of the allegation. Witness QG stated that the visit by Kanyabashi to the *conseiller* took place at the end of March 1994 in Ngoma *commune* and that the training took place in Huye Stadium by

_

¹³⁵⁰⁰ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 547, 556.

¹³⁵⁰¹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 73, 547, 559, 572-573.

¹³⁵⁰² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 552.

¹³⁵⁰³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 546.

¹³⁵⁰⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QG (55).

ESO trainers before being moved to Kamena Stadium. The Chamber finds that the substance of Witness QG's previous statement is consistent with the summary of its anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief with regard to a location and time frame for the alleged training allegation.

5120. Furthermore, the summary of Witness QAH's anticipated testimony mentions that the *cellule conseiller* came to see civilians with a list of those to train at Kamena Stadium. The summary does not specify in which *cellule* or *commune* the recruitment is alleged to have taken place. The summary further states that five days later, those who underwent the training met Kanyabashi. The Chamber observes that while the site of the training is contained in the summary, the identity of the trainees and the recruiters is not specified, nor is the month of the alleged training. Furthermore, Kanyabashi's alleged role in the training is not specified. The Chamber observes that the Prosecution provided the Defence with additional information in Witness QAH's previous statements of 28 October 1997, disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000. In this statement, Witness QAH stated that in April 1994, the *cellule conseiller* recruited civilians for military training at Kamena Stadium. In his subsequent statement of 11 April 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 23 May 2001, almost three months before his testimony before the Tribunal, Witness QAH stated that he underwent training at the end of May 1994 after Kanyabashi had instructed that all members of the *cellules* and all men under the age of 40 receive weapons training.

5121. Taking into consideration the contents of the Pre-Trial Brief and previous statements of Witnesses QG and QAH, the Chamber concludes that the Kanyabashi Defence was provided with timely, clear and consistent notice of his alleged role in facilitating the training of civilians in Ngoma *commune* such that the Accused suffered no prejudice in the preparation of his defence.

5122. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Prosecution Witness FAI was not expected to testify against Kanyabashi insofar as the summary of Witness FAI's testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention Kanyabashi. The Chamber recalls the Kanyabashi Defence was first informed of Witness FAI's intention to testify against Kanyabashi through his statement of 28 January 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 6 June 2002. Statement of 28 January 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 6 June 2002, the Chamber ruled that, since the information on which FAI was going to testify was additional information discovered during the course of further investigations by the Prosecution, no basis existed to bar Witness FAI from giving evidence in court. The Chamber further ruled that, although the Prosecution had made late disclosure of Witness FAI's 28 January 2001 statement, the Kanyabashi Defence had three months to prepare for cross-examination of Witness FAI, and therefore Kanyabashi had adequate notice of the charges

-

¹³⁵⁰⁵ 12 June 1996, Redacted Statement of Witness QG, disclosed 4 December 2000 in French and in English; Unredacted Statement of Witness QG, disclosed 13 December 2001 in French and in English.

¹³⁵⁰⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37).

¹³⁵⁰⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 583; Kanyabashi Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 p. 21.

¹³⁵⁰⁸ 28 January 2001, Statement of Witness FAI, disclosed 6 June 2002 in English.

against him and suffered no prejudice from such late disclosure. ¹³⁵⁰⁹ In the present circumstances, the Chamber sees no reason to depart from its earlier ruling. ¹³⁵¹⁰

- 5123. The Chamber observes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not mention Witness FAM's intention to testify regarding Kanyabashi's alleged role in facilitating training. ¹³⁵¹¹ FAM did not mention Kanyabashi in relation to military training in his previous statement of 24 February 2000. He testified that this was because he was detained with Kanyabashi's children at the time. ¹³⁵¹² However, he mentions Kanyabashi in relation to other allegations, including the erection of roadblocks and the murder of Tutsis, in his previous statement of 24 February 2000. ¹³⁵¹³
- 5124. The Chamber finds that the material facts to which Witness FAM testified regarding the present allegation were set out in the Pre-Trial Brief and the witness statements as set out above. Furthermore, the Defence cross-examined Witness FAM over the course of four days. The Chamber notes that Witness FAM is illiterate but gave detailed testimony regarding the site, circumstances and identification of those who allegedly underwent training. The Chamber therefore finds the fact that he testified that the training took place in February 1994 will not preclude the Chamber from considering his testimony on this allegation, insofar as it may lend weight to credible witness testimony regarding Kanyabashi's role in training between March and June 1994.
- 5125. The Chamber finds that the Kanyabashi Defence had adequate notice of the training allegation and did not suffer prejudice from the testimony of Witnesses FAI and FAM on this allegation.

3.7.1.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QAH

5126. Witness QAH, a Hutu farmer from Ngoma *commune* and detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that before April 1994, when recruitment was planned for the Rwandan army, the *bourgmestre* received applications for recruitment. In May 1994, *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi sent written instructions to *Conseiller* Pascal Habyarimana, ordering men under the age of 40 years to learn how to manipulate weapons. Witness QAH confirmed that such instructions would ordinarily be in writing and that in his capacity, he personally saw this letter.

_

¹³⁵⁰⁹ Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Exclude Witness "FAI"'s Testimony Against Him Pursuant to Rules 54 and 73 of the Rules (TC), 6 July 2002, para. 14.

¹³⁵¹⁰ See Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006, para. 35. ¹³⁵¹¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

¹³⁵¹² T. 11 March 2002 p. 79; T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94 (Witness FAM).

^{13513 24} February 2000, Redacted Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 1 October 2001 in English.

¹³⁵¹⁴ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 14, 16 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 53; T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵¹⁵ T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵¹⁶ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 14, 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).

- 5127. The civil defence training programme in Ngoma *commune* did not start until the end of May 1994 and continued until mid-June 1994. The criteria for selecting those who were to attend the training were age and ethnicity. He recollected that his *conseiller* told the group that no Tutsis could participate in the training. On receipt of the *conseiller's* instructions, the witness recruited 35 young men from his *secteur* and they walked to the Ngoma *commune* office to undergo military training. On arrival at about 7.30 a.m., they found Kanyabashi and some policemen who directed them to Kamena Stadium where the training was to take place. The training lasted nine or 10 days in total. There were also other training centres at Huye Stadium and the ESO. 13522
- 5128. Witness QAH testified that he had known Kanyabashi since 1975. Before 1994, he saw Kanyabashi regularly even though he never spoke to him, because he considered Kanyabashi to be a person of authority, namely the *bourgmestre* of the witness' *commune*. The witness identified Kanyabashi in court. 13525

Prosecution Witness FAI

- 5129. Witness FAI, a Hutu former civil servant currently detained in Rwanda testified that during the genocide, the *bourgmestres* received instructions to encourage youths to undergo training and that these youths volunteered for training in Ngoma *commune*. The training took part in an old building in Ngoma *commune* opposite the Court of First Instance. He saw approximately 60 youths who were undergoing or had undergone training. The responsibilities of the *bourgmestres* included following up on the youths who had gone to be trained to see how they were doing in their training, and encouraging them and boosting their morale. The proposition of the second second
- 5130. The training centre was under the responsibility of Jean Baptise Ruzindaza, the President of the Court of First Instance, and the training exercises were supervised by instructors from the ESO military college. The training was military in nature and involved physical fitness and the handling of weapons. The youths were taught how to assemble, disassemble and aim guns. Those who received training were not civilians, as they carried

¹³⁵¹⁷ T. 7 April 2004 p. 34 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵¹⁸ T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵¹⁹ T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²⁰ T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²¹ T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²² T. 6 April 2004 p. 62 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²³ T. 6 April 204 p. 17 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²⁴ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 14, 17 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²⁵ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 36, 50 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵²⁶ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵²⁷ T. 31 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵²⁸ T. 31 October 2002 p. 36 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵²⁹ T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵³⁰ T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵³¹ T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵³² T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).

weapons, but they were not soldiers either. 13533 They were Ibisumizi and there was no difference between them and the Interahamwe. 13534

Prosecution Witness OG

- 5131. Witness QG, a Tutsi from Ngoma commune, testified that two to four days after the death of Habyarimana, Kanyabashi came to meet with the *conseiller* at the *secteur* office. 13535 The witness did not attend this meeting, he learned about it from Joseph and Safari. 13536 He learned that after the meeting, the conseiller went to the cellule leaders and the cellule committee and told them to teach young Hutus how to use weapons. 13537 The weapons training took place at Huye Stadium and Kamena Stadium in Butare. 13538 Witness QG could not say precisely when the training took place, just that he learned about the training from Joseph and Safari who, along with Mingoti, Antoine, Edouard and Pierre Nsimiyeyezu, were among the youths who received the training. ¹³⁵³⁹ Some of those recruited, like Safari and Mingoti, later took part in attacks against Tutsis. ¹³⁵⁴⁰
- 5132. Witness QG testified before the Tribunal that he knew Kanyabashi before April 1994; he recalled seeing Kanyabashi on two occasions after 6 April 1994. He identified Kanyabashi in court. Witness QG testified that he was told that "nothing was going to happen in Ngoma commune because Joseph Kanyabashi was liked by the Tutsi". 13543 The witness confirmed that he said something similar in a prior statement. 13544

Prosecution Witness FAM

5133. Witness FAM, a Hutu labourer and detainee in Rwanda, testified that he saw a document from the commune office, signed by Kanyabashi, instructing all young men to register for training. 13545 The training took place in February 1994. 13546 On cross-examination, Witness FAM rejected Defence Counsel's suggestion that the training took place at the end of May 1994, reiterating that those who were trained in the handling of weapons received them in February 1994. 13547 According to the witness, the recruits had to be between 18 and 20 years

¹³⁵³³ T. 31 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵³⁴ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 31, 33 (Witness FAI). According to the translation department "Ibisumizi" is a Kinyarwanda term denoting a group of brave and violent attackers.

13535 T. 15 March 2004 pp. 17 (ICS); T. 15 March 2004 pp. 15, 32-33; T. 16 March 2004 pp. 18, 20-21 (ICS)

⁽Witness QG); Defence Exhibit 204 (Kanyabashi) (12 June 1996, Statement of QG). ¹³⁵³⁶ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 6, 15 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵³⁷ T. 15 March 2004 pp. 6, 20 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵³⁸ T. 16 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QG).

¹³⁵³⁹ T. 16 March 2004 pp. 19, 21 (ICS); T. 15 March 2004 p. 6 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁴⁰ T. 15 March 2004 p. 12 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁴¹ T. 15 March 2004 p. 5 (saw Kanyabashi twice prior to 6 April 1994); T. 15 March 2004 p. 25 (saw Kanyabashi twice after April 1994); T. 15 March 2004 pp. 32-33 (Witness QG) (clarifying he saw Kanyabashi regularly prior to April 1994, and implying he saw Kanyabashi twice after 6 April 1994).

¹³⁵⁴² T. 15 March 2004 pp. 25-26 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁴³ T. 15 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁴⁴ T. 15 March 2004 p. 64 (Witness QG); Defence Exhibit 204 (Kanyabashi) (12 June 1996, Statement of QG).

¹³⁵⁴⁵ T. 7 March 2002 p. 8 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁴⁶ T. 7 March 2002 p. 106 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁴⁷ T. 13 March 2002 pp. 103-105 (Witness FAM).

- old.¹³⁵⁴⁸ He did not enroll because he was above the required age and he had a scar on his arm. The training that took place in February 1994 was not related to recruitment for the Rwandan army. He identified the young people who went through the training as Mutakirwa, Anastas, Hitimana, Joseph, Jean Bosco and Dumel, among others.¹³⁵⁴⁹
- 5134. Witness FAM testified that when the group arrived at the *commune* office they were boarded on the *commune* vehicle, known as *Ruhumbangegera*. The vehicle was driven by the *commune*'s driver, Mathias Nsanzabahizi, and was authorised to move around by a permit signed by the *commune* authorities. This demonstrated that it was the *commune* authorities who had organised the transportation for the training. 13550
- 5135. Confronted with the fact that he did not mention Kanyabashi in relation to military training or the distribution of weapons in his previous statement of 3 August 1998, the witness explained that he did so because he feared for his own safety and that of his family as he was detained with Kanyabashi's children at the time. ¹³⁵⁵¹
- 5136. Witness FAM testified that he had known Kanyabashi since 1985. 13552 He identified him as the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* and identified him in court. 13553

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

- 5137. Alison Des Forges testified that she had found a letter in the Butare *préfecture* office from Tharcisse Muvunyi, dated 21 April 1994, asking the *bourgmestres* to recruit 10 young men per *secteur* for self-defence training. Training for civil defence differed from training for the military. The military of the military.
- 5138. She referred to Prosecution Exhibit 123, a letter from the director of the ISAR to the *préfet* of Butare and three *bourgmestres*, including the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma, regarding training and weapons, dated 25 May 1994, which, in her view, indicated a functioning administrative hierarchy responsible for the recruitment and training of civilians. ¹³⁵⁵⁶

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

5139. Witness D-2-YYYY agreed with the Prosecution's suggestion that he was aware of young people in Butare town learning how to handle weapons during April and May 1994. The training took place at Kamena Stadium. Kanyabashi did not play any part in the recruitment of youths for this training. 13557

```
<sup>13548</sup> T. 7 March 2002 p. 111 (Witness FAM).
```

¹³⁵⁴⁹ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 92-93 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁵⁰ T. 7 March 2002 p. 108 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁵¹ T. 11 March 2002 p. 79; T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁵² T. 6 March 2002 pp. 79-80 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁵³ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 14-15 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁵⁵⁴ T. 9 June 2004 p. 5 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 123 (Letter from Director of ISAR).

¹³⁵⁵⁵ T. 9 June 2004 p. 14 (Des Forges).

¹³⁵⁵⁶ T. 9 June 2004 p. 36 (Des Forges).

¹³⁵⁵⁷ T. 4 December 2007 pp. 67-68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

5140. The witness stated that he had known Kanyabashi since 1974 or 1975 which was about when he became the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*. The witness stated that he was not friends with Kanyabashi and knew him only as the *bourgmestre*. However, he stated that he was a fair person who worked hard and did not discriminate against people. The witness identified Kanyabashi in court. The

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

- 5141. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu mill owner from Rango, testified that during his time at the Butare prison there was a group of people who were trying to incriminate Kanyabashi. ¹³⁵⁶² The group included Witnesses FAM and QAH together with a certain Ruvugabigwi from Ruhengeri *commune*, and Mageza from Gikongoro. ¹³⁵⁶³
- 5142. According to the witness, Mageza, together with Witness FAM, found Witness D-2-13-D in his cell and told him that they that they wanted to recruit him into their community. They said that there was a group that was going to testify against Kanyabashi in Arusha. The witness testified that he told them that he did not know anything about Kanyabashi and asked them to leave. ¹³⁵⁶⁴
- 5143. The witness testified that he had known the *bourgmestre*, Kanyabashi, for a very long time since Kanyabashi worked at the university teaching hospital in 1974 or 1976. Sanyabashi was from Mpare *secteur*, Huye *commune*. In 1994, Kanyabashi had been *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* for approximately 17 years. The witness clarified that in April 1994, he only saw Kanyabashi on two occasions. He stated that before the President's accident, he had never attended a meeting with Kanyabashi, but then stated that there were meetings in Tumba, Nkubi, Sahera and Rango. The witness identified Kanyabashi in court.

Ntahobali

5144. Ntahobali testified that at a meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994, members of the public requested that the authorities should train them in the use of firearms. Kanyabashi told the audience that he was going to consider the matter of training and firearms with the soldiers, and that he thought that it was the soldiers who were supposed to organise and establish a plan. ¹³⁵⁶⁹

```
13558 T. 27 November 2007 p. 8 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13559 T. 27 November 2007 p. 11 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13560 T. 27 November 2007 p. 11 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13561 T. 27 November 2007 p. 10 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13562 T. 30 August 2007 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
13563 T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
13564 T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
13565 T. 29 August 2007 p. 11 (Witness D-2-13-D).
13566 T. 3 September 2007 p. 5 (Witness D-2-13-D).
13567 T. 3 September 2007 pp. 6, 9 (Witness D-2-13-D).
13568 T. 3 September 2007 p. 10 (Witness D-2-13-D).
13569 T. 24 April 2006 pp. 50-51 (Ntahobali).
```

Nteziryayo

5145. Nteziryayo was referred to Prosecution Exhibit 115A (Letter from Tharcisse Muvunyi titled: "Recrutement des jeunes pour l'autodéfense populaire", 21 April 1994). The letter requested that the recruitment be done immediately by the bourgmestre and the commune conseillers and would take place in the commune offices and the training would be provided by commune policemen. Nteziryayo testified that on reading that document when he was préfet of Butare, he understood that the recruitment had been requested by the Minister of Defence through the secteur commander who spoke to the bourgmestre telling him to immediately recruit the persons. The area commander was responsible for supervising the recruitment.

5146. Nteziryayo testified that the person responsible for training in Ngoma *commune* was Chief Warrant Officer Pierre Claver Ntirigira. Nteziryayo testified that shortly after he had assumed his duties as *préfet*, he read a letter addressed to the *conseiller de secteur* signed by Kanyabashi dated 20 June 1994. The letter invited the *conseillers* to select youngsters for training as part of the civil defence programme and informing them of an upcoming meeting with those who had undergone firearms training at Huye Stadium on 24 June 1994. Nteziryayo testified that he saw this letter at the *préfecture* office in mid- to late June 1994. 13577

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

5147. Reyntjens testified that Kanyabashi played a role in the civil defence programme in Butare. ¹³⁵⁷⁸ He stated that in Butare, the recruitment of young people for civil defence started around the end of May 1994. ¹³⁵⁷⁹ According to him, it is likely that Kanyabashi participated in the recruitment of young people for training in weapons handling in May or June 1994. He testified that by 28 May 1994, Ntyazo *commune* had already been occupied by the RPF. ¹³⁵⁸⁰

5148. Having been shown a letter from the director of the ISAR to the *préfet* of Butare and three *bourgmestres*, including the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma, regarding training and weapons, dated 25 May 1994, Reyntjens agreed that the letter was a request from the director of the ISAR asking the *bourgmestres* to consider a number of ISAR staff members in the training of civil defence. He disagreed, however, that this letter indicated that Kanyabashi was

Judgement and Sentence

¹³⁵⁷⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 115A (Letter from Tharcisse Muvunyi titled: "Recrutement des jeunes pour l'autodéfense populaire", 21 April 1994) (French).

¹³⁵⁷¹ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 45, 47 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷² T. 22 May 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷³ T. 22 May 2007 p. 45 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷⁴ T. 22 May 2007 p. 48 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷⁵ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 46, 49-50, 52, 58 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷⁶ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 46, 49-50, 52, 58 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁵⁷⁷ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 46, 49, 54-56 (Nteziryayo); Defence Exhibit 539 (Nteziryayo) (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994).

¹³⁵⁷⁸ T. 1 October 2007 p. 53 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁷⁹ T. 1 October 2007 p. 44 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁰ T. 1 October 2007 p. 43 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸¹ T. 21 November 2007 p. 75 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 123 (Letter from Director of ISAR).

involved in the selection process for the civil defence training. ¹³⁵⁸² ISAR was an agricultural research institute, based in Rubona which was not situated in Ngoma *commune*. ¹³⁵⁸³ He stated that he did not know why this letter was nevertheless directed to Kanyabashi. ¹³⁵⁸⁴

5149. Reyntjens was shown a letter dated 20 June 1994 in which Kanyabashi instructed all his *conseillers* to identify individuals for civil defence training. The letter mentioned that Kanyabashi would hold a meeting with the trainees on 24 June 1994 at Huye Stadium from 8.00 a.m. and that those who were trained in the handling of weapons should leave their firearms at roadblocks with their colleagues who had not received training. 13586

3.7.1.4 Deliberations

- 5150. It is not disputed that training of civilians took place in Ngoma *commune* in June 1994. 13587 It is disputed whether military training took place in Ngoma *commune* in April and May 1994 and whether Kanyabashi played any role in facilitating the training between April and June 1994.
- 5151. Witness QAH testified that the training began in May 1994. Witness QG gave hearsay evidence that military training occurred after the President's death but he was unsure precisely when it took place. Witness FAI testified that training took place during the genocide but he could not be more specific as to the time frame. The Chamber observes that Witnesses QAH and FAI were detainees in Rwanda at the time of their testimony. Witness QAH had been sentenced to death at his trial for his participation in the genocide, while Witness FAI had not been sentenced at the time of his testimony. The Chamber will therefore consider each witness' testimony with appropriate caution.
- 5152. Witness QAH's testimony is corroborated by Witness D-2-YYYY's hearsay evidence that young people in Butare learned how to handle weapons during May 1994 and Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens' testimony that the recruitment of young people for civil defence started around the end of May 1994. Taking all the evidence into consideration, the Chamber finds that the testimony of Prosecution Witness QAH, corroborated by the hearsay testimony of Defence Witness D-2-YYYY and Reyntjens established, beyond a reasonable doubt, that training of civilians in Ngoma *commune* took place in May 1994. 13594

¹³⁵⁸² T. 21 November 2007 pp. 75-76 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸³ T. 21 November 2007 p. 76 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁴ T. 21 November 2007 p. 76 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁵ Defence Exhibit 539 (Nteziryayo) (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994); T. 1 October 2007 pp. 51-52 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁶ Defence Exhibit 539 (Nteziryayo) (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994); T. 1 October 2007 pp. 51-52 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁷ T. 7 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH); T. 1 October 2007 pp. 43-44 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁸⁸ T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵⁸⁹ T. 16 March 2004 p. 15; T. 16 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁹⁰ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 35-36 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵⁹¹ T. 8 April 2004 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness QAH); T. 7 March 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵⁹² T. 6 April 2004 p. 13 (Witness QAH); T. 30 October 2002 p. 96 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁵⁹³ T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 1 October 2007 p. 44 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁹⁴ T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH); T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 1 October 2007 p. 44 (Reyntjens).

- 5153. With respect to the sites of military training in Ngoma *commune*, Witness QAH testified that he personally attended military training at Kamena Stadium. This evidence is corroborated by the hearsay testimony of Prosecution Witness QG and Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY. The Chamber accepts the hearsay testimony of Witness QAH and QG that Huye Stadium was another site of military training; Witness QAH's testimony is corroborated by Witness QG's hearsay testimony. In addition, Defence Exhibit 539 (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994) states Kanyabashi's intention to hold a meeting with the trainees on 24 June 1994 at Huye Stadium at 8.00 a.m. The Chamber considers that the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that weapons training also took place at Huye Stadium in Ngoma *commune* in May and June 1994.
- 5154. The Chamber observes that Witness QAH gave hearsay testimony that military training of civilians also took place at the ESO and that Witness FAI gave hearsay testimony that the training was supervised by instructors from the ESO military college. The Chamber notes that the hearsay testimony of FAI does not establish whether training took place at the ESO. The Chamber therefore concludes that the hearsay testimony of QAH is not sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that training took place at the ESO between March and June 1994.
- 5155. The Chamber notes that Ntahobali testified that at a meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994, Kanyabashi responded to the requests of members of the public to be trained in the use of firearms by telling those present that he was going to consider the matter of training and firearms with the soldiers. The Chamber notes that as a co-Accused, Ntahobali may be motivated to shift blame by attributing responsibility for acts committed during the genocide as being authorised by Kanyabashi. The Chamber will therefore give limited weight to the uncorroborated testimony of Ntahobali on this point (). The Chamber therefore finds that it is not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi stated that he would discuss the training of civilians with soldiers at the meeting of 26 April 1994.
- 5156. With regard to Kanyabashi's alleged role in facilitating the training of civilians in May and June 1994, Witness QAH testified that he personally recruited 35 young men from his *secteur* to undergo military training and that Kanyabashi directed them to Kamena Stadium where the training took place. Witness QAH also testified that in May 1994, Kanyabashi sent written instructions to *Conseiller* Pascal Habyarimana ordering men under the age of 40 to learn how to manipulate weapons and that he personally saw this letter. 13602
- 5157. The Chamber finds the testimony of Witness QAH, that Kanyabashi instructed his conseillers to recruit young men for training, to be credible. The Chamber observes that QAH's testimony regarding the role of bourgmestres in recruiting and encouraging youths to

¹³⁵⁹⁵ T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁵⁹⁶ T. 16 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QG); T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹³⁵⁹⁷ T. 6 April 2004 p. 62 (Witness QAH); T. 16 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QG).

¹³⁵⁹⁸ Defence Exhibit 539 (Nteziryayo) (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994); T. 1 October 2007 pp. 51-52 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁵⁹⁹ T. 6 April 2004 p. 62 (Witness QAH); T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁶⁰⁰ T. 24 April 2006 pp. 50-51 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁶⁰¹ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 16-17 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁶⁰² T. 6 April 2004 p. 53; T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).

undergo training from May to June 1994 is corroborated by Witness FAI who testified that the *bourgmestres* received instructions to encourage youths to undergo training and that it was the *bourgmestres*' responsibility to follow up on their progress. 13603

- 5158. Witness QAH's testimony on Kanyabashi's role in training in his capacity as *bourgmestre* is further corroborated by the testimony of Witness FAM who testified that he saw a letter signed by Kanyabashi instructing young men to register for training and by Nteziryayo who testified to seeing a letter signed by Kanyabashi containing similar content to that seen by Witness QAH. 13604
- 5159. The Chamber observes that Witness FAM did not mention Kanyabashi in relation to military training or the distribution of weapons in his previous statement of 3 August 1998. He stated that this was because he feared for his own safety and that of his family as he was detained with Kanyabashi's children at the time. However, the Chamber notes that he mentioned Kanyabashi in relation to other allegations in his previous statement of 24 February 2000 including the erection of roadblocks and the massacre of Tutsis. Therefore, the Chamber does not accept his explanation to be credible. Nonetheless, the Chamber finds that Witness FAM's testimony regarding the role of the *commune* authorities in the training is credible and reliable, despite his insistence that the training took place in February 1994, and lends weight to the eyewitness testimony of Witness FAI. Expert Witness Des Forges gave evidence that a functioning administrative hierarchy which included Kanyabashi was responsible for the training of civilians. Her testimony further lends weight to the eyewitness testimony of Witness FAI.
- 5160. The Chamber notes that the Kanyabashi Defence relied on the testimony of Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D in submitting that Prosecution Witness FAM belonged to a pressure group in prison whose mission was to incriminate Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-13-D testified that Witness FAM was among a group of three people who approached him in jail, and asked him to join their group in testifying against Kanyabashi. Witness D-2-13-D did not testify that the group members asked him to lie. In fact, when he asked them to leave him because he knew nothing about Kanyabashi's alleged involvement, they apparently did so. Further, Witness D-2-13-D did not state why he thought the group was preparing to testify falsely against Kanyabashi. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that Witness D-2-13-D's testimony undermines the testimony of Witness FAM.
- 5161. Witness D-2-13-D also testified that Witness QAH was a member of the group that approached him in jail and asked him to join in testifying against Kanyabashi. Defence Witness D-2-13-D testified that Witness QAH told him that he wished to falsely incriminate

Judgement and Sentence

¹³⁶⁰³ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 35-37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁶⁰⁴ T. 7 March 2002 p. 8 (Witness FAM); T. 22 May 2007 pp. 46, 49, 54-56 (Nteziryayo); Defence Exhibit 539 (Nteziryayo) (Letter from Kanyabashi to the *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* regarding Civil Defence Training, 20 June 1994).

¹³⁶⁰⁵ T. 11 March 2002 p. 79; T. 12 March 2002 pp. 93-94 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁶⁰⁶ Defence Exhibit 20 (Kanyabashi) (24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM).

¹³⁶⁰⁷ T. 9 June 2004 p. 36 (Des Forges).

¹³⁶⁰⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 11, 113.

¹³⁶⁰⁹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹³⁶¹⁰ T. 30 August 2007 p. 50 (ICS); T. 10 September 2007 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

Kanyabashi because he had a long-standing grudge against him.¹³⁶¹¹ The Chamber recalls Witness QAH testified that many years before the genocide he had been employed as a civil servant for several years. He testified that he resigned after a dispute with some colleagues and denies that he was sacked for professional misconduct.¹³⁶¹² Witness QAH, however, testified that he had never spoken to Kanyabashi and only knew him as an authority.¹³⁶¹³ The Chamber attaches more weight to Witness QAH's testimony under oath than hearsay statements attributed to him by another witness. The Chamber recalls Witness D-2-13-D's testimony that when he asked the group to leave him because he knew nothing about Kanyabashi's alleged involvement, they apparently did so. The Chamber finds that Witness D-2-13-D's testimony does not impact the credibility of Witness QAH.

- 5162. The Defence also adduced evidence though Witnesses D-2-21-T to support the assertion that Prosecution Witness QG was an *Ibuka* member who participated in meetings where they were asked to falsely accuse Kanyabashi regarding events about which the witness had no personal knowledge. The Chamber finds that because Witness D-2-21-T lacked credibility, as discussed above (), her testimony does not undermine the testimony of Witness QG.
- 5163. Considering the evidence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi, in his capacity as *bourgmestre*, was responsible for recruiting men for civil defence training in Ngoma *commune* in May and June 1994.
- 5164. With respect to the purpose of the training in Ngoma *commune*, the Chamber recalls the testimony of Witness FAI who testified that those who underwent military training were not civilians but not soldiers either. According to his testimony, those trained were *Ibisumizi*: there was no difference between them and the *Interahamwe*. Witness QAH gave hearsay testimony that he was told by the *conseiller* that no Tutsis could participate in the training. Witness QG gave hearsay evidence that some individuals who underwent the training later took part in attacks against Tutsis. The Kanyabashi Defence asserts that the training of civilians took place in May and June 1994 and was a legitimate exercise in self-defence in light of the RPF's advance into Butare. Expert Witness Reyntjens gave expert evidence that by 28 May 1994, Ntyazo *commune* had already been occupied by the RPF and the RPF was advancing on Butare. 13620
- 5165. The Chamber declines to make a finding at this stage with respect to the purpose of the military training of civilians in Ngoma *commune* during May and June 1994. The Chamber will determine the purpose of the training, taking into consideration all the evidence with

¹³⁶¹¹ T. 30 August 2007 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹³⁶¹² T. 7 April 2004 pp. 75-76 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁶¹³ T. 7 April 2004 pp. 75-76 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁶¹⁴ T. 3 November 2008 pp. 37, 39, 49, 56, 66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-21-T).

¹³⁶¹⁵ T. 31 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁶¹⁶ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 31, 33 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁶¹⁷ T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁶¹⁸ T. 15 March 2004 p. 12 (Witness QG).

¹³⁶¹⁹ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 552, 589, 592-593, 597.

¹³⁶²⁰ T. 1 October 2007 p. 43 (Reyntjens).

respect to training, weapons distribution and the civil defence system at a later stage of the Judgement.

3.7.2 Training by Nteziryayo

3.7.2.1 Introduction

5166. Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo facilitated and assisted the military training of militiamen. Paragraph 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, supervised the training of militiamen, at least once with the assistance of Ndayambaje. Paragraph 5.12 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges that Nteziryayo facilitated and assisted the military training of certain members of the civilian population in Ngoma and Nyakizu *communes* between March and June 1994. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo was directly involved in facilitating military training in an official capacity to give effect to the genocidal plan. In support of its submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses OAH, FAM, FAI, RV, TO and OAL.

5167. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to adequately inform Nteziryayo of the material facts of the allegations against him. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that all evidence implicating Nteziryayo in the weapons training in Ngoma *commune*, Ntyazo *commune* and Butare town should be excluded since it is outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. In the alternative, the Nteziryayo Defence submits that the evidence presented by the Prosecution lacks credibility. The Nteziryayo Defence relies on Defence Witness WUNBJ, Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo.

3.7.2.2 Preliminary Issues

5168. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the evidence relating to Nteziryayo's alleged role in training constituted new material facts not pled in the Indictment. It submits the Prosecution failed to adequately set out Nteziryayo's alleged role in the training exercises or the acts or omissions alleged to have been committed by his subordinates.

5169. The Chamber recalls that the Nteziryayo Defence raised this submission in its Motion for Exclusion of Evidence filed on 23 January 2009. The Chamber further recalls that in its Decision of 25 February 2009, it denied Nteziryayo's Motion and noted that it would address issues relating to alleged defects in the Indictment, vagueness, credibility and the evaluation of

¹³⁶²¹ Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

Para. 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

¹³⁶²³ Para. 5.12 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo); see also Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 314, para. 30.

¹³⁶²⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 309, 314, 316, paras. 14-15, 31-32, 37.

¹³⁶²⁵ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

¹³⁶²⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765 (recalling the Defence's submissions in the Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 25 February 2009). *See Nteziryayo*, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009.

¹³⁶²⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37); Witness FAI (21); Witness FAM (7); Witness QG (55); Expert Des Forges (100); Expert Guichaoua (101).

evidence in its final deliberations. ¹³⁶²⁸ The Chamber will now address the Indictment paragraphs alleging that Nteziryayo conducted military training.

Training in Muganza Commune

5170. Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment contains a general allegation that Nteziryayo facilitated the training of militiamen in the context of a conspiracy to commit genocide. Paragraph 6.29 of the Indictment alleges that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo supervised the training of militiamen. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.29 of the Indictment generally allege that Nteziryayo, along with others, facilitated the training of militiamen but does not identify those that Nteziryayo is alleged to have trained, nor the dates and circumstances of the alleged training. The Chamber therefore finds that Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.29 of the Indictment are unduly vague. Accordingly, the Chamber will proceed to determine whether Paragraphs 5.1 and 6.29 of the Indictment were cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosure.

5171. The Chamber observes that information regarding the circumstances of Nteziryayo's alleged role in facilitating the training of militiamen is contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief through the summary of Prosecution Witness SM's anticipated testimony. Witness SM's expected testimony stated that Nteziryayo was responsible for the training of militiamen with traditional weapons. Witness SM's previous statement of 19 June 1995, disclosed to the Defence on 16 October 2001, stated that Nteziryayo came to Muganza *commune* and taught the men and youth how to handle traditional weapons and organise themselves into ranks in order to attack. In his previous statement of 25 September 1997, disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, Witness SM stated that Nteziryayo attended a meeting with *commune* authorities at which Nteziryayo explained to the militiamen how to use traditional weapons and what to do in case of an attack by the *Inyenzi*. A banana tree trunk had been stuck in the ground a few metres from the militiamen, who were trained with spears and arrows. He showed them how to aim at the banana trunk, which he compared to an *Inyenzi*.

5172. The Chamber notes that the summary of Witness SM's testimony and his previous statements fail to identify the month or months of the alleged training, stating broadly that the training occurred during the genocide. The Chamber considers that as a result, the Nteziryayo Defence did not have sufficient notice of this allegation to enable it to mount an effective defence. The Chamber therefore finds that the defect in the Indictment with regard to this allegation was not cured of its defect. In any event, the Chamber considers that the evidence is not sufficient to support a finding that Nteziryayo facilitated training at the Muganza *commune* office.

¹³⁶²⁸ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009, para. 28.

para. 28. ¹³⁶²⁹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAQ (28) (did not testify); Witness SM (79) (did not testify).

¹³⁶³⁰ 19 June 1995, Statement of Witness SM, disclosed 16 October 2001; 16 April 1997, Statement of Witness SM, disclosed 23 May 2001; 25 September 1997, Statement of Witness SM, disclosed 4 December 2000. Witness SM did not mention Nteziryayo in his statement of 16 April 1997.

5173. The Chamber observes that there is no mention of Nteziryayo facilitating training at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony and two weeks later at the Muganza *commune* office in the Indictment, the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief or the Prosecution opening statement. The summary of Witness TO's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention the witness' intention to testify to this allegation. Furthermore, TO's previous statements of 8 October 1995, 11 June 1997 and 16 October 1997, disclosed to the Defence on 1 October 2001 do not mention training. In the present case, the Chamber considers that the information regarding Ndayambaje's alleged facilitation of training at his swearing-in ceremony, and at a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office two weeks later, amount to new material facts. The Nteziryayo Defence did not have sufficient notice of this allegation to enable it to mount an effective defence. As a result, the Chamber finds that it would prejudice the Defence to consider the evidence of Witness TO on these allegations. In any event, the Chamber considers that the evidence is not sufficient to support this allegation.

5174. The Chamber recalls that in the summary of Witness QAL's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Witness QAL stated that she attended a meeting at the Muganza *commune* office in May 1994 at which Nteziryayo spoke to ask those present if they had prepared their weapons as Nteziryayo had advised. According to the summary, Nteziryayo then told them to sharpen their weapons so that they would be able to kill in one stroke. The people present at the meeting were advised to secure the nails properly in their clubs, and those with bows were advised to pull the strings well so that the arrows could travel further. ¹³⁶³³

5175. No mention was made in the summary that Witness QAL intended to testify that Nteziryayo facilitated or participated in training at the Muganza *commune* office. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that the summary of Witness QAL's anticipated testimony provided the Nteziryayo Defence with adequate notice that he was alleged to have facilitated training at the Muganza *commune* office in late June or early July 1994. Furthermore, none of Witness QAL's previous statements disclosed to the Defence indicated his intention to do so. The Chamber therefore concludes that it would prejudice the Defence to consider the evidence of Witness QAL on this allegation. In any event, the Chamber considers that the evidence is not sufficient to support a finding that Nteziryayo facilitated training at the Muganza *commune* office at the end of June or beginning of July 1994.

Training in Ngoma and Nyakizu Communes

5176. Paragraph 5.12 of the Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo facilitated and assisted the military training of certain members of the civilian population between March and June 1994 in Ngoma and Nyakizu *communes*. The Chamber notes that while the Indictment specifies the specific *communes* in which Nteziryayo is alleged to have facilitated training and a period of four months, it does not identify the members of the civilian population Nteziryayo is alleged to have trained, nor the specific dates or circumstances of the alleged training. The Chamber therefore finds that Paragraph 5.12 of the Indictment is unduly vague and insufficient to enable Nteziryayo to prepare his defence. Accordingly, the Chamber will proceed to determine

¹³⁶³³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAL (40).

 $^{^{13631}}$ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6).

^{13632 8} October 1995, 11 June 1997, 16 October 1997, Statements of Witness TO, disclosed 1 October 2001.

whether Paragraph 5.12 of the Indictment was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosure.

5177. The Chamber observes that the summary of Witness QAH's anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that Witness QAH intended to testify that he completed his military training under the supervision of Nteziryayo at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* and that Nteziryayo taught the men how to dismantle and assemble guns. Furthermore, the Prosecution provided the Nteziryayo Defence with additional substantive information of the allegation through Witness QAH's previous statements of 28 October 1997 disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, and 11 April 2001 disclosed to the Defence on 1 October 2001, three years before Witness QAH testified in April 2004. 13635

5178. In his previous statement of 28 October 1997, Witness QAH stated that: (1) he underwent training at Kamena Stadium; (2) Nteziryayo and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira were the instructors; (3) the recruits were taught to handle guns, grenades and camouflage technique; (4) Nteziryayo taught the recruits how to assemble and disassemble gun parts; and (5) weapons were distributed to the trainees and five days later the trainees were introduced to General Gatsinzi at a ceremony at the Ngoma *commune* office. ¹³⁶³⁶

5179. In his previous statement of 11 April 2001, Witness QAH stated that Nteziryayo trained him in the use of weapons in early June 1994 at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune*. Witness QAH's previous statement provided that sometime at the end of May 1994, the *conseiller*, Pascal Habyarimana, acting on the orders of *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi ordered all men under the age of 40 years to go for training in guns so that they would be able to protect themselves. Witness QAH stated that he was one of the recruits, that the recruits went to Kamena Stadium where they found Nteziryayo, Warrant Officer Ntirigira and two *commune* policemen. The training started on 28 May 1994. The trainers had FAL automatic rifles and showed the trainees how to dismantle and assemble the guns and how to use grenades. The trainees were taken to a firing range in a forest near the ESO where they practiced firing guns. The training ended in early June 1994.

5180. The Chamber considers that the information contained in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief and Witness QAH's previous statements is clear and consistent and was disclosed to the Defence in a timely fashion. These materials set forth the specific locations of the trainings, a specific description of the individuals trained and the circumstances regarding these trainings. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Nteziryayo had sufficient notice that he was alleged to have facilitated the training of civilians in late May and early June 1994 at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* and the Defence was not prejudiced in its ability to prepare its case with regard to this allegation.

¹³⁶³⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37).

^{13635 28} October 1997, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 4 December 2000; 11 April 2001, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 1 October 2001.

¹³⁶³⁶ 28 October 1997, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 4 December 2000.

¹³⁶³⁷ 11 April 2001, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 1 October 2001.

Exclusion of Evidence of Witness QAH

- 5181. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that at the time of filing its Closing Brief, its motion requesting the exclusion of portions of evidence of several Prosecution witnesses, including Witness QAH, filed on 23 January 2009, was pending. The Chamber observes that on 25 February 2009 the Chamber denied that motion in its entirety. The Chamber considered it was inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial, and chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations. The Chamber considered it was inappropriate to deal with the motion during trial, and chose to decide such issues in its final deliberations.
- 5182. Having regard to the Chamber's finding that the Nteziryayo Defence received sufficient notice of the current allegation, the Chamber considers there is no reason to exclude the evidence of Witness QAH. Witness QAH's statements were disclosed two and a half years before Witness QAH testified. For this reason the Chamber considers the Defence had sufficient time to prepare Nteziryayo's defence with regard to this allegation. For the foregoing reasons the Chamber concludes that the evidence on training given by Witness QAH was properly adduced by the Prosecution and thus denies the Defence's request to exclude his testimony.
- 5183. Witness RV testified that he attended a meeting in Kirarambogo at which Nteziryayo explained that he was responsible for sensitising the population about how to manipulate traditional weapons and for encouraging youths to join the army. The Chamber notes that it may consider Witness RV's evidence insofar as it may lend weight to Nteziryayo's alleged role in facilitating military training in Ngoma *commune*, since the Chamber has found that the Defence had sufficient notice of this allegation. It will not consider Witness RV's evidence in respect of any other allegation that Nteziryayo facilitated training.

Other Individual Allegations of Training

- 5184. In his previous statement of 24 February 2000, disclosed to the Defence on 15 November 2000, Witness FAI mentions Nteziryayo's encouragement of youths to sign up for training at the Butare *préfecture* office. With regard to the Butare *préfecture* office as a location at which Nteziryayo facilitated training, the Chamber finds that Witness FAI's mention of Nteziryayo in relation to training in a single previous statement does not constitute clear notice of the allegation. The Chamber therefore concludes that Witness FAI's previous statement did not constitute clear and consistent notice of the allegation that Nteziryayo facilitated training at the Butare *préfecture* office.
- 5185. The Nteziryayo Defence also submits that the evidence from Prosecution Witness FAI in respect of the training in the use of weapons opposite the Court of First Instance in Ngoma *commune* should be excluded since it is outside the scope of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. The Chamber observes that neither the summary of anticipated evidence for Witness FAI in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor any of Witness FAI's previous statements,

.

¹³⁶³⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, pp. 242-243, para. 765; *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009.

¹³⁶³⁹ *Nteziryayo*, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009. T. 16 February 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹³⁶⁴¹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 23 January 2009, Annex p. 14; Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 765.

mentioned that Witness FAI would testify that Nteziryayo was responsible for military training opposite the Court of First Instance in Ngoma *commune* during the genocide. The Nteziryayo Defence was therefore not given sufficient notice that Nteziryayo was alleged to have facilitated training in this location. The Chamber will not consider the evidence brought by this witness in its deliberations. In any event, the Chamber considers that the evidence is not sufficient to support a finding that Nteziryayo facilitated training opposite the Court of First Instance in Ngoma *commune*.

5186. The Chamber also notes that in view of the absence of any mention of training that took place in Nyanza or Ntyazo *communes* in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, or the Prosecution opening statement, the Chamber will not consider evidence led at trial relating to these allegations. In any event, the evidence is not sufficient to support a finding that Nteziryayo facilitated training in Nyanza or Ntyazo *communes*.

3.7.2.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QAH

5187. Witness QAH, a Hutu farmer from Ngoma *commune* and detainee in Rwanda, testified that he underwent training at Kamena Stadium at the end of May 1994. Bourgmestre Kanyabashi sent written instructions to *Conseiller* Pascal Habyarimana, ordering men under the age of 40 to learn how to manipulate weapons. Witness QAH confirmed that such instructions would ordinarily be in writing and that in his capacity, he personally saw this letter. 13644

5188. The civil defence training programme in Ngoma *commune* did not start until the end of May 1994 and continued until mid-June 1994. The criteria for selecting those who were to attend the training were age and ethnicity. He recollected that his *conseiller* told the group that no Tutsis could participate in the training. On receipt of the *conseiller's* instructions, the witness recruited 35 young men from his *secteur* and they walked to the Ngoma *commune* office to undergo military training. On arrival at about 7.30 a.m., the recruits found Kanyabashi and some policemen who directed them to Kamena Stadium where the training was to take place. The training lasted nine or 10 days in total.

5189. Witness QAH testified that the first time he ever saw Nteziryayo was at Kamena Stadium when he went there for training. The witness, who in 1994 was a military recruit under Nteziryayo, positively identified Nteziryayo in court. There were approximately 250

```
13642 T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 29 (Witness QAH).
13643 T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).
13644 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 14, 16 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 53; T. 7 April 2004 p. 33 (Witness QAH).
13645 T. 7 April 2004 p. 34 (Witness QAH).
13646 T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).
13647 T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).
13648 T. 6 April 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (Witness QAH).
13649 T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness QAH).
13650 T. 6 April 2004 p. 61; T. 7 April 2004 p. 36 (Witness QAH).
13651 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 36, 59 (Witness QAH).
```

recruits in total. 13652 Nteziryayo and Senior Warrant Officer Ntirigira were in charge of the training and were assisted by two policemen; Canisius and Cassien. 13653

- 5190. Nteziryayo addressed the group and asked them to make sure that there were no Tutsis among them before they began the training. Nteziryayo told the recruits that the purpose of the training was to counter the enemy. The training began at 7.30 or 8.00 a.m. and went on until 3.00 p.m. each day. Nteziryayo came every day to teach the trainees. Nteziryayo and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira taught them how to dismantle and re-assemble weapons, how to shoot and how to use grenades. One day the recruits were taken below the Ngoma military camp to the firing range where they were taught how to throw grenades and how to identify targets.
- 5191. Witness QAH testified that Nteziryayo's role at Kamena Stadium was twofold: he taught them how to operate arms and incited them to hate the Tutsis. 13660 On the first day of training, the witness heard Nteziryayo tell them, "[l]et us look around and make sure there is no Tutsi among us before we begin the training proper". 13661 Two days later, Nteziryayo told them again about the wickedness of the Tutsis who were living both in the country and abroad and that the Tutsis living in the country had cattle and money and had made their children available to fight them. 13662
- 5192. Witness QAH testified that in early June, as they were being trained, Colonel Cyriaque Habyarabatuma of the *gendarmerie* arrived at Kamena Stadium with a military soldier named Tharcisse Muvunyi. They spoke to Nteziryayo who told them that the Gitarama Kigali road had been cut off by the RPF. According to Witness QAH, this was the first time he heard that the RPF was going to take over their town. Witness QAH testified that the recruits requested Nteziryayo that they be given guns so they could go fight and he responded that they would be given guns so that they could replace the soldiers who would then go to fight. ¹³⁶⁶³

Prosecution Witness RV

5193. Witness RV, a Hutu civil servant in Rwanda and a detainee at the time of his testimony, testified that he attended a meeting in Kirarambogo chaired by Nteziryayo, who was head of civil defence in the region. Nteziryayo explained that he was responsible for

```
13652 T. 6 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness QAH).
13653 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 55 (Witness QAH).
13654 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness QAH).
13655 T. 6 April 2004 p. 52 (Witness QAH).
13656 T. 6 April 2004 p. 57 (Witness QAH).
13657 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 59 (Witness QAH).
13658 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness QAH).
13659 T. 6 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness QAH).
13660 T. 6 April 2004 p. 61 (Witness QAH).
13661 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS); p. 55 (Witness QAH).
13662 T. 6 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS); pp. 21, 55 (Witness QAH).
13663 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21, 23, 27, 62 (Witness QAH).
13664 T. 16 February 2004 pp. 31, 48 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

educating the population to manipulate traditional weapons such as bows, arrows and spears and for encouraging youths to join the army. 13665

5194. Witness RV had not heard of civil defence before May 1994. 13666 He stated that in June 1994 soldiers started to desert the army and he heard of the advance of the RPF over the radio. People were encouraged to train in the use of traditional weapons so that they could assist the soldiers. They told the population they would distribute weapons. The witness stated that Nteziryayo had some relationship with the civil defence force. He saw Nteziryayo at meetings dealing with the issue of personnel for the civil defence force.

Defence Witness WUNBJ

5195. Witness WUNBJ, a detainee in Rwanda, testified that he had undergone weapons training at Kamena Stadium between the middle and end of May 1994. The training lasted one to two weeks. During the training the witness learned how to clean, dismantle and reassemble a rifle and how to shoot firearms. The purpose of the training was to assist the army at the front and to provide security within their *cellules*. According to the witness, the purpose of the training was not to kill Tutsis but to ensure security. He testified that they were informed at the training that the RPF was the enemy, that they were armed and that they had to learn how to use weapons in order to defend themselves. 13673

5196. Witness WUNBJ was in the second group of trainees. 13674 Candidates for training were chosen by criteria of physical appearance and good moral reputation. 13675 The training was provided by a soldier. The witness could not specify whether the candidates were Tutsis or Hutus. 13677 He testified that after the training firearms were distributed to the candidates by a warrant officer, whose name the witness cannot recall. 13678 General Marcel Gatsinzi did not come to Kamena Stadium; however the witness met him after the training outside the *commune* office. Along with other participants of the training he was waiting for Gatsinzi because they were told that the general wanted to ask them about the training they had received. The witness testified that to the best of his knowledge Nteziryayo never attended civil self-defence training. 13681

```
<sup>13665</sup> T. 16 February 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness RV).
<sup>13666</sup> T. 19 February 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness RV).
<sup>13667</sup> T. 19 February 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness RV).
<sup>13668</sup> T. 19 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).
<sup>13669</sup> T. 8 March 2006 pp. 34, 36 (ICS); T. 5 April 2006 pp. 12, 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13670</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
13671 T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13672</sup> T. 8 March 2006 p. 36; T. 5 April 2006 pp. 10, 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13673</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13674</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13675</sup> T. 8 March 2006 p. 37; T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13676</sup> T. 8 March 2006 p. 37 (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13677</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13678</sup> T. 8 March 2006 pp. 37-38 (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13679</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13680</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
<sup>13681</sup> T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).
```

Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

5197. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, ¹³⁶⁸² testified that he was aware of young people in Butare town learning how to handle weapons during April and May 1994. ¹³⁶⁸³ The training took place at Kamena Stadium. ¹³⁶⁸⁴ He had not heard of Nteziryayo being involved in training. ¹³⁶⁸⁵ He had heard that a chief warrant officer was involved in the training and had seen him on a woman's bicycle; however, he did not know him. ¹³⁶⁸⁶

<u>Nteziryayo</u>

5198. Nteziryayo testified that he did not aid, facilitate or encourage youths to receive military training in order to facilitate the killing of Tutsis. He was never involved in any way with the recruitment of youth; he never asked anybody to recruit youths to be trained for the civil defence in Rwanda. He was not in a position to give instructions for training, particularly weapons training. Nteziryayo testified he did not attend any training sessions in weapons handling between April and July 1994. He never trained members of the population in the handling of arms in Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* nor did he train recruits for Gikongoro and Butare *préfectures* under the authority of Colonel Simba and Senior Warrant Officers Rekeraho and Ntarugera.

5199. Nteziryayo testified that the *bourgmestre* was responsible for the recruitment of youths for training. ¹³⁶⁹² Nteziryayo testified that when he became *préfet* he saw a document dated April 1994 from the area commander to the *commune* authorities and the *bourgmestre* requesting the recruitment of youths. ¹³⁶⁹³

3.7.2.4 Deliberations

5200. With respect to the alleged military training of civilians at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune*, the Prosecution relied on the testimony of Witness QAH. The Chamber notes that Witness QAH was a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony and had been sentenced to death at his trial for his participation in the genocide. The Chamber will therefore approach his testimony with appropriate caution.

5201. Witness QAH testified that, on the *conseiller's* instructions, he personally recruited 35 young men from his *secteur* and attended military training at Kamena Stadium at the end of May 1994 with the other recruits. ¹³⁶⁹⁴ The Chamber observes that Witness QAH's testimony

```
13682 Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13683 T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13684 T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13685 T. 5 December 2007 p. 68 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13686 T. 5 December 2007 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).
13687 T. 5 June 2007 p. 38; T. 12 June 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).
13688 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 42, 44 (Nteziryayo).
13699 T. 5 June 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).
13690 T. 14 June 2007 p. 62 (Nteziryayo).
13691 T. 22 May 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).
13692 T. 22 May 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).
13693 T. 22 May 2007 p. 37 (Nteziryayo).
13694 T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness OAH).
```

on this allegation is clear and detailed and finds his testimony on this allegation to be credible. Furthermore, his testimony is corroborated by the first hand testimony of Witness WUNBJ who spent one to two weeks undergoing weapons training at the stadium in mid- to late May 1994, and the hearsay testimony of Witness D-2-YYYY who heard that civilians were undergoing weapons training at Kamena Stadium at this time. Taking the evidence into consideration, the Chamber finds that the testimony of Prosecution Witness QAH, corroborated by the testimony of Defence Witness WUNBJ and the hearsay testimony of Defence Witness D-2-YYYY establishes, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the training of civilians took place at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* in May 1994. 13696

5202. Witness QAH testified that Nteziryayo was responsible for the training of civilians at Kamena Stadium at the end of May 1994. The Chamber observes that Defence Witness WUNBJ underwent training at the same location over the course of one or two weeks between the middle and end of May 1994. Witness QAH's and Witness WUNBJ's testimony regarding the length of the training and its content were generally consistent. Both witnesses testified that the training consisted of learning to assemble, disassemble and shoot firearms and both witnesses agreed that the training was provided by soldiers. The witnesses differed, however, on the involvement of Nteziryayo in the training. Witness QAH testified that Nteziryayo personally trained the recruits in the handling of firearms while Witness WUNBJ denied that Nteziryayo was involved in the training.

5203. The Chamber finds, however, that Witness WUNBJ's account does not contradict that of Witness QAH. Witness QAH testified that he underwent training at Kamena Stadium at the end of May 1994, while Witness WUNBJ testified that he attended training at the stadium between the middle and end of May 1994. 13697

5204. Witness QAH testified that there were a large number of trainees; approximately 250 recruits in total, while Witness WUNBJ testified that he was in the second group of trainees. ¹³⁶⁹⁸ More than one group of trainees was undergoing training at Kamena Stadium and Witness WUNBJ's testimony that Nteziryayo was not involved in his training does not vitiate Witness QAH's testimony that Nteziryayo participated in the training of the recruits that he himself attended. The Chamber considers Witness QAH's testimony that Nteziryayo trained recruits at Kamena Stadium to be clear and detailed and the Chamber finds him credible with regard to this allegation. The Chamber therefore finds that, through the testimony of Witness QAH, the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo facilitated the training of civilians at Kamena Stadium in May 1994.

5205. The Chamber declines to make a finding at this stage on the purpose of the military training of civilians which took place at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* during May and June 1994. The Chamber will reserve judgement on this issue until a later stage in its

¹³⁶⁹⁵ T. 16 March 2004 p. 19 (ICS) (Witness QG); T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹³⁶⁹⁶ T. 7 April 2004 p. 34 (Witness QAH); T. 4 December 2007 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹³⁶⁹⁷ T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS) (Witness QAH); T. 6 April 2004 p. 29 (Witness QAH); T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 8 March 2006 p. 36 (Witness WUNBJ); T. 5 April 2006 pp. 12, 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ)

¹³⁶⁹⁸ T. 6 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness QAH); T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).

deliberations where it will consider all the evidence relating to military training, the distribution of weapons and civil defence.

3.7.3 Nteziryayo's Words to Recruits at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma Commune

3.7.3.1 Introduction

5206. Paragraph 5.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that the incitement to ethnic hatred and violence was a fundamental part of the plan put in place. The Indictment alleges that the incitement was articulated before and during the genocide by members of the Government and local authorities. Paragraph 5.8 further alleges that from April to July 1994, Nteziryayo propagated incitement to hatred and violence and publicly incited the people to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". Paragraph 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo, as official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, incited the population to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. The Indictment alleges that between April and June 1994 Nteziryayo incited and also aided and abetted the population, including his subordinates, to slaughter the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. Butare *préfecture*.

5207. The Prosecution submits that in June 1994 at Kamena Stadium, Nteziryayo said to the newly trained recruits: "Go and exterminate, go and exterminate, thereafter you can then go to the battle front... You do not sweep dirt and leave it inside the house, you must take it outside of the house". ¹³⁷⁰³

5208. The Prosecution contends that Nteziryayo employed these statements as incitement to find and kill Tutsis, and that they resulted in subsequent killings. The Prosecution further submits that Nteziryayo told these recruits to stop people at roadblocks and check their identity papers because there could be *Inyenzi*, namely Tutsis, who were to be killed. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witness OAH.

5209. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the evidence presented by the Prosecution lacks credibility, and that Witness QAH's identification of Nteziryayo was flawed. 13706

3.7.3.2 Preliminary Issues

5210. Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relate to incitement and were pled in support of counts. These paragraphs generally allege that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis and further indicate that the incitement occurred in Butare *préfecture*. While these paragraphs allege that Nteziryayo publicly incited

¹³⁶⁹⁹ Para. 5.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts).

¹³⁷⁰⁰ Para. 5.8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹³⁷⁰¹ Para. 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹³⁷⁰² Para. 6.32 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.59 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nteziryayo).

¹³⁷⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 353-354, para. 158.

¹³⁷⁰⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 353-354, paras. 158-161.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 275, para. 147.

¹³⁷⁰⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 657, 659-661, 663-666.

people to exterminate Tutsis over a four-month period in Butare *préfecture*, these paragraphs fail to provide any details of specific incidents of incitement. In particular, no reference is made to incitement occurring at Kamena Stadium or to the fact that this incitement was directed at the recruits trained there. The Chamber therefore finds each of these paragraphs to be defective.

- 5211. The Chamber must then determine whether Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment relating to incitement were cured of their respective defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosures.
- 5212. Recalling the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that the witness summary grid in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists one witness, Witness QAH, who refers to Nteziryayo's presence at Kamena Stadium in Butare *préfecture*, during the military training exercises at that location. The summary for Witness QAH further indicates that Nteziryayo taught the men how to dismantle and assemble gun parts, that these men were given weapons in the presence of Nteziryayo, and that these men were later summoned and introduced to Marcel Gatsinzi, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi. 13707
- 5213. The Chamber notes that this summary does not refer to the alleged statements made by Nteziryayo. While it does refer to Nteziryayo's presence at Kamena Stadium and links him to the training of these recruits, it does not specify as to any alleged inflammatory statements by Nteziryayo at this location, nor does it offer any time frame for this alleged incitement. The Chamber notes that the summary of the intended evidence of Witness QAH provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief was listed as being brought in support of Counts 1 (Conspiracy to Commit Genocide) and 3 (Complicity in Genocide) against Nteziryayo, but not Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide. The Chamber therefore considers that the Nteziryayo Defence was not provided with adequate notice of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence of incitement at Kamena Stadium, and finds that the defects in Paragraphs 5.8, 6.31, 6.32 and 6.53 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment were not cured by subsequent Prosecution disclosures. Accordingly, the Chamber will not consider the Prosecution evidence insofar as it relates to this allegation.

3.7.4 Training by Ndayambaje

3.7.4.1 Introduction

5214. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that from late 1990 to July 1994, Ndayambaje conspired with others to devise a plan to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and members of the opposition. The plan was alleged to consist of, *inter alia*, the training of and distribution of weapons to militiamen. The Ndayambaje Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje, together with others, adhered to and executed this plan and in doing so, organised, ordered and participated in massacres against Tutsis and moderate Hutus. Each of the Indictments further alleges that Ndayambaje assisted Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for

¹³⁷⁰⁷ Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37).

¹³⁷⁰⁸ Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts).

Butare *préfecture*, at least once with the training of the militiamen between April and June 1994. ¹³⁷⁰⁹

5215. The Prosecution submits that although Ndayambaje did not himself train the population, training was done during his swearing-in, in his presence and that he acquiesced to, and oversaw the training. ¹³⁷¹⁰ The Prosecution also submits that Ndayambaje is responsible for training the population under Article 6 (3). ¹³⁷¹¹ In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAU and TO.

5216. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Indictment does not specify the dates, places and aim of the alleged training of civilians and militiamen, or the alleged role played by Ndayambaje. It neither specifies the identities of the alleged militiamen nor any particular massacre in which the persons trained allegedly participated. No evidence was brought by the Prosecution to support the allegation that Ndayambaje assisted Nteziryayo in the training of civilians. ¹³⁷¹² In the alternative, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the evidence presented by the Prosecution lacks credibility. The Ndayambaje Defence relies on Prosecution Witnesses RV and FAL and Defence Witnesses BOZAN, GABON, KEPIR, Brother Stan, AND-11, AND-31, AND-73 and Ndayambaje.

5217. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber notes the Ndayambaje Defence submission that the Prosecution adduced no evidence as to Paragraph 6.34 during trial and that the Chamber must not consider this paragraph in its findings. The Chamber observes that it addressed this matter in its Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* of 16 December 2004. In its Decision, the Chamber found that the evidence led by Prosecution Witness TO, if believed, could be sufficient to sustain a conviction against Ndayambaje on this paragraph of the Indictment and denied Ndayambaje's request for acquittal on this paragraph. The Chamber therefore finds that there is no merit in the Defence's submission.

3.7.4.2 Preliminary Issues

5218. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that Paragraph 5.1 is too vague to adequately inform the Accused of the criminal acts charged or specify the essential elements of the alleged crimes. The Defence recalls that it previously raised objections in its motions on the defects in the form of the Indictment, on acquittal on the basis of Rule 98 *bis* of the Rules and on exclusion of evidence. The Indictment of the Indictment, and on exclusion of evidence.

¹³⁷⁰⁹ Para. 6.34 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

¹³⁷¹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 461, para. 42.

¹³⁷¹¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 469, para. 69.

¹³⁷¹² Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 59.

¹³⁷¹³ Para. 6.34 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (stating that between April and July 1994 Ndayambaje assisted Nteziryayo in the training of militiamen); Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 973.

¹³⁷¹⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 47.

¹³⁷¹⁵ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Preliminary Motion (Amendment and Harmonisation of the Indictment) Pursuant to Rule 72B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 6 February 2001.

¹³⁷¹⁶ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête d'Élie Ndayambaje aux fins d'acquittement en application de l'article 98 bis du reglement de procedure et de preuve, 25 October 2004, para. 55.

5219. The Chamber notes that Ndayambaje's preliminary motion alleged that Paragraph 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment lacked clarity and precision. In particular, it alleged that the time frame was too imprecise, there was no specific mention of the identities of those with whom the Accused allegedly conspired or the capacity in which he acted, and there was no specification as to the components of the conspiracy. The Chamber dismissed the motion on the basis that the Defence had failed to show good cause warranting waiver of the time-bar and did not consider the merits of the application. 13719 Regarding Ndayambaje's motion for acquittal under Rule 98 bis, the Defence submitted, inter alia, that Ndayambaje should be acquitted of conspiracy to commit genocide because the Prosecution had failed to adduce evidence that Ndayambaje met, discussed or even knew his alleged co-conspirators. ¹³⁷²⁰ The Chamber dismissed Ndayambaje's motion on this point as it considered that the evidence adduced, if believed, could be sufficient for a reasonable trier of fact to find beyond reasonable doubt Ndayambaje's responsibility on the facts pled in Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment. 13721 Furthermore, in Ndayambaje's motion on exclusion of evidence, the Defence sought the exclusion of the testimonies or parts of testimonies of 14 Prosecution witnesses because they concerned facts or elements not pled in the Indictment and because it did not have timely notification of those allegations. ¹³⁷²² The Chamber denied the motion in its entirety, but observed that some of the matters raised could be considered at a later stage of the proceedings and that issues relating to the credibility and evaluation of testimony should be considered with the totality of the evidence. 13723 The Chamber finds that there is no ground to revisit its decision and will address the matters raised in the motion as they arise in the Chamber's deliberations.

5220. The Chamber finds that Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment does not specify the individuals who are alleged to have received the training, the location, date or time, or Ndayambaje's alleged role in facilitating training. For these reasons, the Chamber considers that the Ndayambaje Indictment is defective.

5221. The Chamber will determine whether the Ndayambaje Indictment was cured of its defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosure. The Chamber notes that in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, the summary of Witness FAU's anticipated testimony states that Witness FAU saw Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo participating in arms distribution and the

13723 Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006.

¹³⁷¹⁷ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006.

¹³⁷¹⁸ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Preliminary Motion (Amendment and Harmonisation of the Indictment) Pursuant to Rule 72B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 6 February 2001, para. 22.

¹³⁷¹⁹ *Ndayambaje*, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment and for the Harmonization of the Accused's Indictment (TC), 25 April 2001.

¹³⁷²⁰ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête d'Élie Ndayambaje aux fins d'acquittement en application de l'article 98 bis du reglement de procedure et de preuve, 25 October 2004, para. 29.

¹³⁷²¹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98bis (TC), 16 December

Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 202.

¹³⁷²² Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Requête en extrême urgence d'Elie Ndayambaje aux fins d'exclure les témoignages et/ou les portions de témoignages des témoins entendus au procès sur des faits qui sont en dehors de l'acte d'accusation, 31 May 2006. The witnesses involved were QAR, TO, QAQ, QAF, FAL, TP, TW, QAL, RV, FAU, EV, RT, QBZ and FAG.

training of youths. 13724 The Prosecution provided the Defence with further details of the allegation through Witness FAU's previous statements of 10 October 1999 and 22 February 2001 which were disclosed to the Defence on 14 March 2001. These statements contained the allegation that Ndayambaje facilitated the training of the witness at the *commune* office and at Ngoma military camp shortly before the RPF arrived. 13725 The Chamber considers that the information contained in the statements of Witness FAU was timely, clear and consistent, and therefore sufficient to inform Ndayambaje of the nature of the charges against him and to enable him to prepare his defence. The Chamber therefore finds that the defects in the Indictment were cured through the Prosecution's subsequent disclosure with regard to this allegation, and the Defence suffered no prejudice in the preparation of its case.

5222. The Chamber observes, however, that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention the allegation of Ndavambaie facilitating training at his swearing-in ceremony or afterwards at the commune office. The summary of Witness TO's testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention the witness' intention to testify to this allegation. Furthermore, there was no mention of training in Witness TO's previous statements of 8 October 1995, 11 June 1997 or 16 October 1997, disclosed to the Defence on 1 October 2001. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 1 September 2006, it denied the Ndayambaje Defence's motion for exclusion of the testimony of Witness TO. The Chamber stated that it was not satisfied that there was a basis to exclude the concerned testimony at that stage of the proceedings but that the matter may be considered at a later stage. 13726

5223. At this stage, the Chamber considers that the information regarding Ndayambaje's alleged facilitation of training at his swearing-in ceremony, and at a meeting two weeks later, amount to new material facts. The Chamber further considers that the Ndayambaje Defence did not have sufficient notice of this allegation to enable the Defence to mount an effective defence. As a result, the Chamber finds that it would unduly prejudice the Accused to consider the evidence of Witness TO on these allegations. Therefore, the Chamber will not make a finding on whether Ndayambaje facilitated training at his swearing-in ceremony, and at the commune office two weeks later. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence was not sufficient to prove these allegations beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.7.4.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAU

5224. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer from Muganza commune and a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that he joined the army at Ngoma military camp¹³⁷²⁷ at the end of May or beginning of June 1994. Ndayambaje told the witness that if he refused to spill his blood for his country, dogs would drink his blood for free. For this reason, the witness

¹³⁷²⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAQ (28).

From Witness FAU's prior statement dated 10 October 1999 (disclosed 16 March 2001), it appears Ngoma Foyer and Ngoma hostel are the same place. The English version of the statement reads "Ngoma hostel" and the French version reads "foyer de Ngoma" or Ngoma Foyer.

¹³⁷²⁶ Ndavambaje et al., Decision on Ndavambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006, para. 25. 13727 T. 9 March 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷²⁸ T. 4 March 2004 p. 77; T. 8 March 2004 p. 91 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

joined the army and went for training to Ngoma military camp in a vehicle with Ndayambaje. At Ngoma military camp, soldiers taught the recruits to manipulate firearms. Prime Minister Kambanda and a priest called Martin came for some celebrations during which a competition was held. The winner received 5,000 francs and the others 2,000 francs. The trainees sang and danced and there were demonstrations in the dismantling and the assembling of guns. 13730

5225. The training took 12 days but was not completed because the country fell to the RPF. 13731 The witness was told that he had to fight to prevent the country from being run over. He was not sure if the training was to make the recruits into soldiers. 13732 The witness did not fight in the battles of Butare and Ntyazo on 4 and 6 June 1994 since he had not finished his military training to become a soldier. He wore a military shirt and he participated in some fighting with advancing RPF soldiers until he was chased out of Butare. He subsequently fled to Zaire. 13733

3.7.4.4 Deliberations

5226. The Chamber notes that Witness FAU was a detained witness at the time of his testimony, awaiting trial in Rwanda for crimes of extermination and genocide and will treat his evidence with appropriate caution. 13734

5227. The Chamber notes the existence of numerous discrepancies between Witness FAU's previous statements and his testimony before the Tribunal regarding his participation in military training and subsequent fighting. In his 22 November 2001 previous statement, Witness FAU stated Kambanda visited those undergoing military training on 23 May 1994. In his testimony, he did not say this occurred in May. ¹³⁷³⁵ In his previous statement of 30 October 2001, Witness FAU stated that he was a soldier at Ngoma military camp in April 1994. However he testified he was a soldier at Ngoma military camp in June 1994, not April. ¹³⁷³⁶ The witness also testified that a number of incidents which his previous statements place as occurring in May, had in fact taken place in June 1994. ¹³⁷³⁷ He disavowed the portion of his 30 October 2001 previous statement which indicated that he had killed many people during the war, namely during the battle of Ntyazo on 4 and 6 June 1994. Instead, he testified that he was not present at Ntyazo in June 1994 but that he participated in fighting with the RPF as he fled Butare. He could not say how many people he may have killed. ¹³⁷³⁸

5228. The witness explained the discrepancies between his previous statements and his testimony at trial by stating that the investigators had made mistakes in recording his

```
<sup>13729</sup> T. 9 March 2004 p. 68 (Witness FAU).
```

¹³⁷³⁰ T. 4 March 2004 p. 78 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 77 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³² T. 8 March 2004 pp. 80-81 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³³ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 89-90 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³⁴ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-86 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 p. 16 (ICS) (FAU).

¹³⁷³⁵ T. 8 March 2004 p. 92 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 194 (Ndayambaje) (30-31 October and 22 November 2001, Statement of Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³⁶ Defence Exhibit 194 (Ndayambaje) (30-31 October and 22 November 2001, Statement of Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³⁷ T. 8 March 2004 pp. 92-93 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Defence Exhibit 194 (Ndayambaje) (30-31 October and 22 November 2001, Statement of Witness FAU).

¹³⁷³⁸ T. 8 March 2004 p. 90 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 pp. 13-15, 19 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

statements.¹³⁷³⁹ In re-examination, the witness stated that his confessions were given in different formats; in some he told the story of the events, while others were a question and answer format, which could explain the differences.¹³⁷⁴⁰ While the Chamber accepts that the dates may have been wrongly recorded by Tribunal investigators, it does not accept the witness' explanation for the substantive discrepancies between his previous statements and his testimony at trial, in particular the witness' indecision over whether or not he participated in the battle of Ntyazo in June 1994 and whether or not he killed anyone during his flight from Butare.

- 5229. The Chamber also finds that Witness FAU's testimony contained internal discrepancies with respect to this allegation. The witness testified that he was not sure if the military training was for the army, and also that the training went on for about 12 days. On cross-examination he specified that he joined the army and underwent military training for a few days. ¹³⁷⁴¹ Perhaps most pertinently, the witness testified that Ndayambaje persuaded him to go for training, whereas on cross-examination he stated that he was enrolled in the army through the *secteur conseiller*. ¹³⁷⁴²
- 5230. Taking these discrepancies into account, the Chamber finds that Witness FAU is not credible on this allegation and that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje facilitated military training at Ngoma military barracks at the end of May or beginning of June 1994.

3.7.5 Weapons Distribution by Kanyabashi

3.7.5.1 Introduction

- 5231. The Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that Kanyabashi, along with other persons, was responsible for distributing weapons to militiamen and other members of the civilian population between March and July 1994. The Indictment alleges that the purpose of distributing weapons was to exterminate the Tutsi population and eliminate its "accomplices". 13744
- 5232. The Prosecution submits that in the context of the killings that were already taking place in which the *conseillers* were involved, Kanyabashi was distributing weapons and ammunition in order to facilitate the killing of Tutsis. The Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses FAM and QAH, Defence Witness WUNBJ and Expert Witness Des Forges.
- 5233. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the Kanyabashi Indictment is vague and fails to identify Kanyabashi's alleged subordinates or the dates and circumstances of the alleged

.

¹³⁷³⁹ T. 9 March 2004 pp. 13, 20 (ICS); T. 9 March 2004 pp. 61, 72-73; T. 10 March 2004 p. 22 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷⁴⁰ T. 10 March 2004 p. 40 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷⁴¹ T. 4 March 2004 p. 77; T. 8 March 2004 pp. 85-86 (ICS) (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷⁴² T. 10 March 2004 pp. 29-30 (Witness FAU).

¹³⁷⁴³ Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts), Para. 5.13 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

¹³⁷⁴⁴ Para. 5.13 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9).

¹³⁷⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 400, para. 55.

distribution of weapons.¹³⁷⁴⁶ In the alternative, the Kanyabashi Defence submits that the evidence presented by the Prosecution witnesses lacks credibility, and that the Prosecution failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi's distribution of weapons formed part of a criminal enterprise.¹³⁷⁴⁷ The Kanyabashi Defence submits that the events must be placed in context. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that defending one's country when it is at war is not a reprehensible act and that weapons were distributed to *conseillers* of the *secteurs* on 28 May 1994 when the RPF was just 30 kilometres from Butare.¹³⁷⁴⁸ The Kanyabashi Defence relies on the testimony of Defence Witnesses D-2-YYY, D-2-5-I, D-2-5-W, Innocent Rutayisire and Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens.

3.7.5.2 Preliminary Issues

5234. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment does not specify the dates, places or circumstances, or identify the people to whom Kanyabashi is alleged to have distributed weapons. The Defence submits that the Indictment is therefore defective and has not been cured. The Chamber recalls that the Kanyabashi Defence first raised this issue in its preliminary motion for defects in the form of the Indictment on 9 October 1999. The Kanyabashi Defence requested that Paragraphs 5.1 and 5.13, among others, be deleted on account of their imprecision and vagueness and, in particular, due to the failure to identify his alleged subordinates and provide specific time references. In its Decision of 31 May 2000, the Chamber dismissed the Defence's request to set aside the Indictment for vagueness, but held that the Prosecution must clearly distinguish the acts for which the Accused incurs criminal responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute from those for which he incurs criminal responsibility under Article 6 (3).

5235. The Chamber notes the Prosecution's allegation that Kanyabashi distributed weapons forms part of its case in relation to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide. The Chamber considers Kanyabashi's alleged distribution of weapons to be material to the count of conspiracy to commit genocide because it is a key element of the conduct imputed to Kanyabashi and forms the basis of the conspiracy charge. While the Indictment indicates the identities of those to whom Kanyabashi is alleged to have distributed weapons, it does not specify the dates and circumstances of the alleged distribution. The Chamber therefore finds that the information contained in Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment did not provide adequate details to enable Kanyabashi to prepare his defence, and therefore considers Paragraph 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment to be defective.

5236. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 5.13 of the Indictment makes a general accusation that Kanyabashi, along with others, distributed weapons to militiamen and certain members of the civilian population with the intent to exterminate the Tutsi population and its

¹³⁷⁴⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 546, 600.

¹³⁷⁴⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 601-605, 614.

¹³⁷⁴⁸ Kanyabashi Opening Statement, T. 10 July 2007 p. 8.

Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 18-19; *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Preliminary Motion Based on Rule 72 B(ii) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 9 October 1999, para. 42.

¹³⁷⁵⁰ Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000, paras. 1.5, 1.6.

¹³⁷⁵ *Kanyabashi*, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000.

"accomplices". The Indictment identifies the individuals to whom Kanyabashi is alleged to have distributed weapons, but does not indicate the dates or circumstances of the alleged distribution. The Chamber considers that Paragraph 5.13 of the Indictment is unduly vague and insufficient to enable Kanyabashi to prepare his defence. Accordingly, the Chamber will proceed to determine whether Paragraphs 5.1 and 5.13 of the Indictment were cured of their defects through subsequent Prosecution disclosure.

5237. The Chamber notes that the summary of the anticipated testimony of Witness QAH contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief did not mention Kanyabashi's alleged role in distributing weapons. However, the Prosecution later disclosed Witness QAH's prior statement of 11 April 2001 which stated that Kanyabashi was aware of the distribution of weapons in Ngoma *commune*. This statement was disclosed to the Defence on 15 June 2001, almost three years before Witness QAH testified before the Tribunal in April 2004. The Chamber therefore concludes that the Kanyabashi Defence was provided with timely, clear and consistent notice of his alleged role in distributing weapons in Ngoma *commune*, ensuring that Kanyabashi suffered no undue prejudice in the preparation of his defence.

5238. In addition, further information regarding Kanyabashi's alleged role in distributing weapons is contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief which provided notice that Kanyabashi would be accused of distributing weapons through the summaries of evidence of four witnesses who did not testify at trial: Prosecution Witnesses FAT, QC, QE and RM.

5239. The summary of Witness FAT's anticipated testimony stated that Kanyabashi participated in the distribution of arms to the *conseillers*, including in May 1994. The summary does not identify in which *commune* this distribution took place. The Chamber therefore finds that the summary in the Pre-Trial Brief was not sufficient to inform the Defence of the allegation against him. However, Witness FAT's previous statement of 21 February 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 14 March 2001, stated that the distribution of weapons to the *conseillers de secteurs* took place in May and June 1994 in Ngoma *commune* and Butare town. The weapons distributed in May were given to Kanyabashi in order to be distributed to the *conseillers*. The triangle of the summary of Witness FAT's previous statement of 21 February 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 14 March 2001, stated that the distribution of weapons to the *conseillers de secteurs* took place in May and June 1994 in Ngoma *commune* and Butare town. The weapons distributed in May were given to Kanyabashi in order to be distributed to the *conseillers*.

5240. Witness QC's summary in the Pre-Trial Brief stated that Kanyabashi was part of the Butare Security Council, which was responsible for civil defence and the distribution of weapons in his *commune*. Witness QC learned that Kanyabashi was in charge of the weapons in his *commune* and that he had written to all the *secteur* chiefs in his *commune* asking them to designate young Hutus for military training. He saw a Kalashnikov and grenades that a friend got from the *commune* office. ¹³⁷⁵⁶ In addition, the Chamber observes that in his previous statement of 13 June 1996, disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, prior to the filing of the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, it was apparent that these events took place in Ngoma

-

¹³⁷⁵² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37).

¹³⁷⁵³ 11 April 2001, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 15 June 2001, 1 October 2001.

¹³⁷⁵⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAT (31).

¹³⁷⁵⁵ 21 February 2001, Statement of Witness FAT, disclosed 14 March 2001.

¹³⁷⁵⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QC (50).

commune.¹³⁷⁵⁷ His statement reveals that at the height of the war, Kanyabashi was part of Butare's Security Council and that he had requested the *secteur* chiefs to designate young Hutus for military training. The time frame clearly fits within April to June 1994, as set out in the Indictment.

5241. Witness QE's summary in the Pre-Trial Brief stated that Kanyabashi regularly visited the home of Habimana, the *conseiller* of Ngoma *commune*, and that Witness QE heard Habimana giving instructions to killers. He stated that guns were given to Ngoma *secteur* for training and that the *commune* vehicle was used for transporting those being taught to use rifles. Witness QE's statement of 28 September 1994, disclosed to the Defence on 4 December 2000, prior to the filing of the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, stated that six guns were given to Ngoma *secteur* to use for weapons training. 13759

5242. Finally, Witness RM's summary in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief stated that one night, he saw Kanyabashi distribute two rifles to the head of the night patrol and his deputy. He understood that Kanyabashi intended that they be used to kill Tutsis. Witness RM's statement of 18 June 1996, disclosed to the Defence on 13 December 2001, stated that he participated in night patrols in Butare town. One night in June 1994, Kanyabashi came about 6.30 p.m. and distributed two rifles to the head of the patrol and his deputy. During the patrols, Tutsis were killed. Tatalana and the patrol and his deputy.

5243. Taking into consideration the information contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the disclosure of the previous statements of Witness QAH who testified, and Witnesses FAT, QC, QE and RM who did not testify, the Chamber considers that the Defence had timely, clear and consistent notice that Kanyabashi was alleged to have been responsible for the distribution of weapons in Ngoma *commune* and Butare town, that he distributed weapons to the *conseillers* and to others and that the *commune* office was used to store weapons and the *commune* vehicle to transport those learning to train individuals to use them. Kanyabashi was thereby informed of the material facts that the Prosecution intended to prove at trial and was able to prepare his defence. The Indictment defect was thereby cured and there was no prejudice in the preparation of his defence case.

5244. With respect to the alleged distribution of traditional weapons by Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa in April 1994, the Chamber observes that this allegation was not pled in the Indictment. The Chamber notes that Prosecution Witness FAM did not mention his intention to testify on this issue in the summary of his anticipated evidence in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. Furthermore, there was no mention of Kanyabashi's alleged distribution of traditional weapons at Kabakobwa in Witness FAM's prior statements of 3 August 1998, 18 August 1998 and 24 February 2000 or in subsequent disclosures by the Prosecution. Witness FAM was the only witness to testify to Kanyabashi's alleged distribution of traditional weapons at Kabakobwa. In the circumstances, the Chamber considers that the Kanyabashi

¹³⁷⁵⁷ 13 June 1996, Statement of Witness QC, disclosed 4 December 2000.

¹³⁷⁵⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QE (53).

¹³⁷⁵⁹ 28 September 1994, Statement of Witness QE, disclosed 4 December 2000.

¹³⁷⁶⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness RM (71).

^{13761 18} June 1996, Statement of Witness RM, disclosed 13 December 2001.

¹³⁷⁶² Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

Defence did not have notice of this allegation to enable him to mount an effective defence. The Chamber observes that the Kanyabashi Defence objected to Witness FAM testifying to alleged events at Kabakobwa during trial. This matter is considered by the Chamber elsewhere in the Judgement (). As a result, the Chamber will not consider the evidence of Witness FAM relating to the alleged distribution of traditional weapons by Kanyabashi at Kabakobwa in April 1994.

5245. The Chamber notes that Witness FAM also provided testimony regarding the distribution of firearms at the Ngoma *commune* office in February 1994. The Chamber considers that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief makes no mention of the alleged distribution of weapons by Kanyabashi in February 1994. The Chamber therefore concludes that the Kanyabashi Defence was not provided with sufficient notice of this allegation.

3.7.5.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness QAH

5246. Witness QAH, a Hutu farmer from Ngoma *commune* and detainee in Rwanda convicted of genocide at the time of his testimony, testified that he underwent training at Kamena Stadium at the end of May 1994. Guns were distributed among the recruits in early June 1994. About 35 people from the witness' *secteur* attended the training. Alphonse Nteziryayo distributed Kalashnikovs to those present, assisted by police officers and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira. Witness QAH stated that there were about 250 to 260 recruits when the weapons were distributed. They were given the weapons so that they could man the roadblocks as replacements for the regular soldiers who were deployed to fight the RPF. 13767

5247. Witness QAH was employed by Kanyabashi as a tax collector in Ngoma *commune* between 1975 and 1979. He testified that he resigned after a dispute with some colleagues and denied Defence Counsel's suggestion that he was sacked for misappropriating funds. Witness QAH testified that he had personally never spoken to Kanyabashi and only knew him as an authority in the *commune*. 13768

Prosecution Witness FAI

5248. Witness FAI, a Hutu former civil servant who was detained in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that during the genocide, the *bourgmestres* received instructions to encourage youths to undergo training and that these youths volunteered for training in Ngoma

¹³⁷⁶³ T. 6 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁶⁴ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21-22 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁶⁵ T. 6 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁶⁶ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 23, 27 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁶⁷ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21-22, 55, 64 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁶⁸ T. 6 April 2004 p. 17 (ICS); T. 7 April 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

commune. ¹³⁷⁶⁹ The training took part in an old building in Ngoma *commune* opposite the Court of First Instance. ¹³⁷⁷⁰

5249. Colonel Muvunyi carried out the weapons distribution at the end of the training, handing the weapons over to the soldiers responsible for the training for subsequent distribution. ¹³⁷⁷¹

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

5250. Relying on Prosecution Exhibit 124 (record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to the *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994), Alison Des Forges indicated in her Expert Report that Kanyabashi had 68 firearms, which he handed out to *conseillers de secteurs* on 28 May 1994, requiring each to sign a receipt noting the registration numbers of the weapons. 13772

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ

5251. Witness WUNBJ, a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that after undertaking weapons training at Kamena Stadium in the middle to end of May 1994, firearms were distributed to the recruits. Major Habyarabatuma, *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi and a warrant officer were present when the arms were distributed. The arms were generally distributed at the *secteur* level and received by the *conseiller*, or in his absence, by a distinguished person of the *commune*. 13774

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

5252. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, testified that Kanyabashi's signature is on the bottom right corner of Prosecution Exhibit 124. He testified that the guns in question transited through Ngoma *commune*, but were distributed not by the *bourgmestre* but by soldiers. The soldiers brought the weapons to the *commune* for the purpose of distribution. He did not know whether *Conseiller* Uwizeye in turn distributed the weapons to the youth in his *secteur*. ¹³⁷⁷⁶

Judgement and Sentence

¹³⁷⁶⁹ T. 31 October 2002 p. 31 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁷⁷⁰ T. 31 October 2002 p. 35 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁷⁷¹ T. 6 November 2002 p. 12 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁷⁷² Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 51; T. 9 June 2004 p. 39 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 124A (Record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994).

¹³⁷⁷³ T. 8 March 2006 p. 37 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁷⁷⁴ T. 8 March 2006 p. 39 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁷⁷⁵ T. 29 January 2008 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); Prosecution Exhibit 124 (Record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994). ¹³⁷⁷⁶ T. 29 January 2008 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

5253. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, ¹³⁷⁷⁷ testified that he heard that the brigadier had distributed firearms outside the *commune* office at the end of May 1994, and was told that at least each *secteur conseiller* received three firearms. ¹³⁷⁷⁸

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-15-N

5254. Witness D-2-15-N, a Hutu trader, testified that there were many firearms at the *commune* office and when the order to go and hunt down people was issued, firearms were distributed. Shyirambere, the *commune* brigadier, was the *commune* authority who had handed the firearms to those manning the roadblock. 13779

Nsabimana Defence Witness Innocent Rutayisire

5255. Innocent Rutayisire, a Hutu trader from Butare town, testified that Kanyabashi was not involved in civil defence nor was he involved in the distribution of weapons. ¹³⁷⁸⁰

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntjens

5256. Referring to Prosecution Exhibit 124, Expert Witness Reyntjens testified that Kanyabashi's role in distributing the weapons listed was limited to passing on instructions from the authorities. Reyntjens testified that within the framework of civil defence, traditional weapons such as bows, arrows, machetes and spears, as well as firearms, mainly Kalashnikovs, were distributed. The witness added that traditional weapons were useless in fighting the advance of the RPF and therefore appeared to be distributed at least in part for the genocide. On the other hand, the firearms may have been distributed with the aim of sending people to the front to stop the advance of the RPF. Reyntjens stated that some officers of the Rwandan army, who were aware that civilians were being armed for the purpose of sending them to the front, expressed their disagreement because those civilians could not fight against the RPF effectively. 13782

<u>Nyiramasuhuko</u>

5257. Nyiramasuhuko testified that during a Butare Security Council meeting held on 31 May 1994, she learned that firearms had been distributed in Butare urban *commune* on Kanyabashi's request. The *bourgmestre* wanted guns to defend himself because it was a time of war ¹³⁷⁸³

¹³⁷⁷⁷ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹³⁷⁷⁸ T. 4 December 2007 p. 64 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹³⁷⁷⁹ T. 31 October 2007 pp. 38-39 (ICS) (Witness D-2-15-N).

¹³⁷⁸⁰ T. 3 October 2006 p. 66 (Rutayisire).

¹³⁷⁸¹ T. 24 September 2007 p. 34 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁷⁸² T. 24 September 2007 p. 37 (Reyntjens).

¹³⁷⁸³ T. 5 October 2005 pp. 21, 24 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Ntahobali

5258. Ntahobali testified that following the meeting of 26 April 1994, weapons were distributed to members of the public who had undergone weapons training. ¹³⁷⁸⁴ He learned this from the *conseiller* at the end of May 1994. ¹³⁷⁸⁵ During his conversation with the *conseiller* he learned that the *conseiller* had received numerous firearms and that he had distributed them to the various places that it had been decided that roadblocks would be erected. The *conseiller* told him that this was in line with the wishes of the people expressed at the meeting on 25 April 1994. ¹³⁷⁸⁶

5259. Ntahobali testified that there was a document admitted as an exhibit that shows who received and who distributed the weapons. All *secteur conseillers* in Ngoma *commune* received firearms according to that document, which states that they received the firearms on 28 May 1994. ¹³⁷⁸⁷

5260. Ntahobali further testified that on 6 June 1994, his birthday, Grégoire Ngendahimana and Padiri requested him to go to a roadblock because instructions had been given for the erection of a roadblock by the *conseiller*. They told him that they had received a gun to be used in manning that roadblock. They also said that the conseiller had received weapons for distribution to the other roadblocks and that the weapons were being carried by men who had been trained for that purpose. 13789

3.7.5.4 Deliberations

5261. It is disputed whether Kanyabashi played any role in the distribution of traditional weapons and whether he distributed weapons to militiamen between April and July 1994. It is also disputed whether firearms were distributed in April 1994. It is undisputed that firearms were distributed in late May and June 1994 when the RPF was advancing on Butare. It is disputed, however, whether Kanyabashi played any role in the distribution.

5262. The Chamber recalls that Ntahobali was the only witness to testify that following the public meeting of 26 April 1994 at Huye Stadium at which Kanyabashi spoke, weapons were distributed to members of the public who had undergone weapons training. 13790

5263. The Chamber notes that as a co-Accused, Ntahobali may be motivated to shift blame by attributing responsibility for acts committed during the genocide as being authorised by Kanyabashi, and therefore officially sanctioned. Taking this into consideration, the Chamber will give limited weight to the testimony of Ntahobali on this point. The Chamber therefore

¹³⁷⁸⁴ T. 25 April 2006 p. 61 (Ntahobali); Prosecution Exhibit 124 (Record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994).

¹³⁷⁸⁵ T. 26 April 2006 p. 16 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁷⁸⁶ T. 26 April 2006 p. 18 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁷⁸⁷ T. 26 April 2006 p. 19 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁷⁸⁸ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 13-14 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁷⁸⁹ T. 26 April 2006 pp. 14-16 (Ntahobali).

¹³⁷⁹⁰ T. 25 April 2006 p. 61 (Ntahobali); Prosecution Exhibit 124 (Record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to *conseillers de secteur* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994).

finds that it is not established beyond a reasonable doubt that the *conseillers* distributed weapons at the end of April 1994.

5264. Through Prosecution Exhibit 124 (record of handing over of firearms issued by Kanyabashi to the *conseillers de secteurs* in his *commune*, 28 May 1994), the Prosecution introduced evidence of Kanyabashi's distribution of weapons to *conseillers* in Ngoma *commune* in May 1994. Defence Witness D-2-5-I, a civil servant who worked closely with Kanyabashi during the events in 1994 (), testified that Kanyabashi's signature was on the bottom of Prosecution Exhibit 124. Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Reyntjens also testified that Prosecution Exhibit 124 displayed Kanyabashi's role in distributing weapons. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has established beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi distributed weapons to the *conseillers* in Ngoma *commune* in May 1994.

5265. The Chamber observes that Witness FAI testified that weapons were distributed by soldiers after training took place opposite the Court of First Instance in Ngoma *commune*. Witness FAI pled guilty to genocide in Rwanda in 1997. The Chamber observes that as an accomplice witness, Witness FAI may have had an interest in attributing responsibility for acts he committed during the genocide as being authorised by the authorities and therefore officially sanctioned. Accordingly, the Chamber will treat his evidence with appropriate caution. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that Witness FAI's testimony on this point is uncorroborated. While the Chamber has discretion to rely on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice witness, in the present case the Chamber retains reservations over the credibility of his testimony in this respect. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that weapons were distributed by soldiers after training opposite the Court of First Instance in Ngoma *commune* in May and/or June 1994.

5266. The Chamber observes that Prosecution Witness QAH and Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ testified that weapons were distributed to trainees at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* at the end of May and beginning of June 1994. Witness QAH was a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony. The Chamber will therefore consider his testimony with appropriate caution.

5267. The Chamber also notes that Witness QAH is alleged to be part of a group of individuals who wish to falsely incriminate Kanyabashi. Defence Witness D-2-13-D testified that QAH told him in prison that he wished to falsely incriminate Kanyabashi because he had a long-standing grudge against him. The Chamber notes its previous observation that it will treat the testimony of Witness D-2-13-D with appropriate caution (). With respect to Defence Counsel's suggestion that Witness QAH harboured a grudge against Kanyabashi because he was sacked from his job in 1979 for misappropriating funds, the Chamber accepts Witness QAH's explanation that he did not know Kanyabashi personally, only in his

¹³⁷⁹¹ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 35, 37 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁷⁹² T. 30 October 2002 pp. 96-97 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁷⁹³ T. 7 April 2004 p. 40 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁹⁴ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 49-52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹³⁷⁹⁵ T. 30 August 2007 pp. 50-52 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).

¹³⁷⁹⁶ T. 7 April 2004 p. 75 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

capacity as a *commune* authority and finds that there is no merit to this assertion. The Chamber observes that Witness QAH stopped working as a tax collector in Ngoma *commune* 25 years before he testified at trial and the Defence's assertion that he held a grudge does not affect his credibility on this allegation. The Chamber thus considers that Defence Witness D-2-13-D's account is not substantiated.

5268. Witness QAH does not allege that Kanyabashi played a specific role in the distribution of weapons at Kamena Stadium, merely that the distribution took place in his *commune*. Witness QAH testified that Alphonse Nteziryayo distributed Kalashnikovs among those who had undergone training at Kamena Stadium in early June 1994, assisted by police officers and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira. Witness QAH stated that there were about 250 to 260 recruits when the weapons were distributed and they were given the weapons so that they could man the roadblocks as replacements for the regular soldiers who were deployed to fight the RPF. The Chamber finds Witness QAH's eyewitness testimony regarding this allegation to be detailed, credible and consistent.

5269. Furthermore, Witness QAH's testimony is corroborated by Witness WUNBJ's eyewitness account that after undertaking weapons training at Kamena Stadium in the middle to end of May 1994, firearms were distributed to the recruits. ¹³⁷⁹⁹ The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that firearms were distributed by soldiers at Kamena Stadium at the end of May and/or early June 1994.

5270. The Chamber observes that the Prosecution did not bring any evidence to support the allegation that Kanyabashi had knowledge of the weapons distribution at Kamena Stadium in May or June 1994. Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ testified that Kanyabashi was present when the arms were distributed. The Chamber observes that no other witness corroborates Witness WUNBJ's assertion that Kanyabashi had knowledge of the distribution of weapons by soldiers at Kamena Stadium in May and June 1994 and will not rely on the evidence of this witness in this respect. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi had knowledge of the weapons distribution at Kamena Stadium.

5271. The Chamber declines to make a finding at this stage with respect to the purpose of the weapons distribution at Kamena Stadium in May or June 1994. The Chamber will determine the purpose of the weapons distribution, taking into consideration all the evidence with respect to military training and the civil defence system, at a later stage of the Judgement.

¹³⁷⁹⁷ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21-23, 27 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁹⁸ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21-22, 55, 64 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁷⁹⁹ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 36-37 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁸⁰⁰ T. 8 March 2006 p. 39 (Witness WUNBJ).

3.7.6 Weapons Distribution by Nteziryayo

3.7.6.1 Introduction

5272. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo was responsible for distributing weapons to militiamen between late 1990 and July 1994. The Indictment further alleges that Nteziryayo distributed weapons to militiamen and certain carefully selected members of the civilian population with the intent to exterminate the Tutsi population and eliminate its "accomplices". Between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, distributed weapons to militiamen, at least once with the assistance of Ndayambaje. Each of the Indictments alleges that from April to July 1994, in the course of the massacres, some soldiers gave assistance to militiamen, notably by providing them with weapons. In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QAH, FAI, FAM and QBV.

5273. In addition to its submissions on defects in the Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment considered below, the Nteziryayo Defence submits that Nteziryayo was not responsible, and did not participate in, the distribution of weapons to civilians and/or militiamen. The Nteziryayo Defence relies on Defence Witnesses WUNBJ, AND-16, AND-50 and Nteziryayo.

3.7.6.2 Preliminary Issues

5274. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the allegation that Nteziryayo distributed weapons is unduly vague and was not sufficiently pled in the Indictment. The Prosecution failed to adequately set out Nteziryayo's alleged role in the distribution of weapons or the acts or omissions alleged to have been committed by his subordinates. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 25 February 2009, it denied Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and stated that it would address issues relating to alleged defects in the Indictment, vagueness, credibility and evaluation of evidence in its final deliberations. 13807

5275. The Chamber notes that Paragraphs 5.1, 5.13 and 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment make a general accusation that Nteziryayo, along with others, distributed weapons to militiamen and certain carefully selected members of the civilian population but do not specify the dates or locations of the alleged distributions.

Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

¹³⁸⁰² Para. 5.13 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo).

Para. 6.29 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nteziryayo); Para. 6.34 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Ndayambaje).

¹³⁸⁰⁴ Para. 6.56 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 315, 317, 319-320, 340, 344, 367, paras. 33, 41-43, 49, 51, 111, 123, 199. For the Prosecution submission that Nteziryayo incurred 6 (3) responsibility for distribution of weapons, *see* Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 338, para. 106.

¹³⁸⁰⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 5, 639.

¹³⁸⁰⁷ Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009, para. 28.

- 5276. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment sets forth a four year time span and states that, in general, as part of a conspiracy of which Nteziryayo was a part, militiamen were trained and distributed weapons. This paragraph lacks crucial details, including any location, specific date or indication as to who distributed weapons. Paragraph 5.13 states that Nteziryayo and others distributed weapons to militiamen in Butare *préfecture*. However, this paragraph is not in support of counts, and the identification of Butare *préfecture* is insufficiently specific to allow the Defence to properly investigate such a charge. Finally, Paragraph 6.29 alleges that Nteziryayo went to Butare *préfecture* and that between April and June 1994, Nteziryayo supervised the training of militiamen and distributed weapons to them. Again, the paragraph does not specify a location other than Butare *préfecture* and sets forth a period of three months.
- 5277. The Chamber therefore finds that Paragraphs 5.1, 5.13 and 6.29 of the Indictment are unduly vague, insufficient to enable Nteziryayo to adequately prepare his defence and therefore defective. Bearing in mind the principles of notice previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber will consider whether the specific Prosecution allegations were cured by subsequent disclosures.
- 5278. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the following allegations were not sufficiently pled in the Indictment: (1) Nteziryayo's alleged distribution of weapons in February 1994; (2) Nteziryayo's alleged distribution of weapons at Kabakobwa in April 1994; (3) Nteziryayo's alleged role in the distribution of weapons at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur* on 23 April 1994; and (4) Nteziryayo's alleged distribution of weapons at Kamena Stadium in early June 1994. The Chamber will review these submissions in turn.
- 5279. The Chamber notes that the summary of Witness FAM's anticipated testimony contained in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief states that Nteziryayo was the most senior military official in Butare and he supervised the recruitment and training of youths. When the training was over, Nteziryayo distributed guns to those who had participated. 13808
- 5280. Witness FAM did not mention Nteziryayo in his three confessional statements of 18 August 1998. In his previous statement of 24 February 2000, Witness FAM stated that Nteziryayo was the most senior military official in Butare and in February 1994 recruitment and training of youths was done under his supervision. Nteziryayo refused to recruit the witness for training in the handling of weapons, because he had a scar on his left arm. In mid-March, when the training was over, Nteziryayo distributed guns to those who had participated. These were the same youths who later came to be in charge of roadblocks during the genocide, together with the local population. The Chamber observes that this previous statement was disclosed to the Defence on 1 October 2001.
- 5281. Witness FAM's statement fails to provide additional details such as the location of the alleged training and distribution of weapons, which the Chamber considers is a material detail necessary for allowing Nteziryayo to prepare a defence. As such, the information provided in Witness FAM's statement did not suffice to cure the defect in Indictment Paragraphs 5.1, 5.13

¹³⁸⁰⁸ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

¹³⁸⁰⁹ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 1 October 2001.

and 6.29. For this reason, the Chamber will not make a finding against Nteziryayo with respect to this allegation.

5282. As concerns the alleged distribution of weapons at Kabakobwa, the Chamber notes that the only reference linking Nteziryayo to the Kabakobwa massacre is found in the summary of Prosecution Witness FAM's anticipated testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, which states that Nteziryayo brought soldiers to kill the Tutsis gathered at Kabakobwa. No mention is made of distribution of weapons. Furthermore, no mention is made of Nteziryayo's alleged distribution of weapons in Witness FAM's subsequent statement of 24 February 2000. The summary of Witness FAM's anticipated evidence states that one Friday in April 1994, Nteziryayo arrived at Kabakobwa onboard a white Pajero followed by a military truck full of soldiers and that on the same Friday, the Tutsis who had gathered at Kabakobwa were killed by soldiers brought there by Nteziryayo. 13811

5283. The Chamber considers that the disclosure provided by the Prosecution in the form of Witness FAM's summary of anticipated testimony and Witness FAM's previous statements is inconsistent, and thus did not cure the defect in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment with regard to the alleged distribution of weapons by Nteziryayo at Kabakobwa. Thus, the Chamber will not consider evidence presented on the alleged distribution of weapons by Nteziryayo at Kabakobwa in support of counts against Nteziryayo.

5284. Turning to the alleged distribution of weapons at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, the Chamber observes that Witness QBV's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief mentioned that Muvunyi distributed 20 grenades to attackers in Kibilizi *secteur*. It did not mention, however, the distribution of any other types of weapons or a roadblock. In his previous statement of 11 October 1998, Witness QBV stated that on 23 April 1994, Nteziryayo and Muvunyi were passing through Kibilizi *secteur* in Mugusa *commune*. Muvunyi distributed grenades to the youths who had undergone training. Muvunyi handed over the grenades to an influential trader who was in charge of the roadblocks in the *commune*. ¹³⁸¹² In his second statement of 11 May 2000, Witness QBV stated that on 23 April 1994, Nteziryayo incited the Hutu youth to kill Tutsis and Muvunyi distributed grenades to those that had undergone training, including the trader Ndayisaba. ¹³⁸¹³ In a third statement of 30 March 2001, Witness QBV stated that on 23 April 1994, Muvunyi and Nteziryayo brought firearms intended for the *commune* which were distributed on the same day by Brigadier Athanase. ¹³⁸¹⁴

5285. The Chamber finds that the summary of Witness QBV's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief was sufficient to put Nteziryayo on notice that he was alleged to have been present with Muvunyi while grenades were distributed to Hutu youths in Mugusa *commune* on 22 or 23 April 1994. Witness QBV's previous statements of 11 October 1999, 11 May 2000 and 30 March 2001 are clear and consistent in their assertion that Nteziryayo was present during the distribution of weapons in Kibilizi *secteur* on 23 April 1994 and were disclosed to the Defence between 15 November 2000 and 20 September 2001, the last

¹³⁸¹⁰ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness FAM (7).

¹³⁸¹¹ 24 February 2000, Statement of Witness FAM, disclosed 1 October 2001.

^{13812 11} October 1998, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 23 April 2001.

¹³⁸¹³ 11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 15 November 2000.

¹³⁸¹⁴ 30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBV, disclosed 20 September 2001.

disclosure taking place approximately six months before Witness QBV testified at trial. As such, disclosure occurred in a timely manner. The Chamber therefore concludes that the Nteziryayo Defence was provided with sufficient notice that the Prosecution intended to bring evidence regarding the alleged distribution of weapons in Kibilizi *secteur*, Mugusa *commune*, on 23 April 1994, ¹³⁸¹⁵ such that Paragraphs 5.1, 5.13 and 6.29 of the Indictment were cured of their defect.

5286. Information regarding the allegation that Nteziryayo distributed weapons to civilians who had undergone military training at Kamena Stadium is contained in the summary of Witness QAH's anticipated testimony in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. In a previous statement of 28 October 1997, Witness QAH stated that Nteziryayo and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira instructed recruits in military training at Kamena Stadium and weapons were distributed after the training in their presence by Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira and Colonel Habyarabatuma. 13817

5287. In his previous statement of 11 April 2001, Witness QAH stated that in early June 1994, when the witness was undergoing training at Kamena Stadium, Nteziryayo was about to provide the recruits with guns so that they could kill the Tutsis. At this time, the RPF were controlling the route from Gitarama to Kigali. The recruits requested that Nteziryayo take them to the battlefront but he refused, stating that they would be provided with guns but would replace the soldiers in Butare town who were maintaining security, while the soldiers would go to the front. After Nteziryayo addressed the recruits, Muvunyi and Major Habyarabatuma went away in a jeep, returning 30 minutes later with Kalashnikovs which they gave to Nteziryayo to distribute to the recruits. Nteziryayo and two *commune* policemen distributed the guns according to the recruits' *secteurs* and each of the eight *secteurs* of Ngoma *commune* received eight or nine guns. ¹³⁸¹⁸

5288. The Prosecution disclosed to the Nteziryayo Defence Witness QAH's first statement of 28 October 1997 in November 1998, and the second statement of 11 April 2001 in June 2001, thus well before Witness QAH testified before the Tribunal in April 2004.

5289. The Chamber finds that the information contained in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and Witness QAH's previous statements is clear and consistent and was disclosed to the Defence in a timely fashion. Each statement places Nteziryayo in Kamena Stadium during the military training and describes him taking an active role in the distribution: physically handing guns to the recruits, or simply being present while his colleagues distributed them. The Chamber is of the view that these sources of information sufficiently informed the Defence of the Prosecution's intention to lead evidence that Nteziryayo was involved in the distribution of weapons following the military training of recruits at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* in June 1994. The Chamber therefore concludes that the evidence on the alleged distribution of weapons by Nteziryayo, given by Witness QAH, was properly adduced by the Prosecution and it will consider this evidence in support of the Prosecution's submissions.

¹³⁸¹⁸ 11 April 2001, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 15 June 2001.

¹³⁸¹⁵ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QBV (12).

¹³⁸¹⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QAH (37).

^{13817 28} October 1997, Statement of Witness QAH, disclosed 4 November 1998, 15 June 1999, 4 December 2000.

3.7.6.3 Weapons Distribution at Kibilizi Secteur, Mugusa Commune

3.7.6.3.1 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QBV

- 5290. Witness QBV, a Hutu farmer from Mugusa commune and detainee who had confessed but not yet been sentenced at the time of his testimony, ¹³⁸¹⁹ testified that he had participated in Interahamwe training from 7 April 1994 at the Mugusa commune office on six occasions, but he fell ill and did not complete the training. 13820
- 5291. Nteziryayo arrived at a roadblock on the Butare-Mugusa road in Kibilizi secteur at about 2.00 p.m. on 22 April 1994. 13821 He was travelling with Muvunyi in a red double-cabin pickup, carrying guns, grenades and other tools in the back. They were both wearing military uniforms. The witness was two to three metres away from Nteziryayo when Nteziryayo introduced himself and Muvunyi to the crowd of approximately 200 people assembled at the roadblock. 13824 Ntezirvayo saw that Witness QBV was carrying an axe and asked the witness his ethnicity and how he came to be in possession of the axe. Witness QBV told him that it had been given to him by soldiers from the Gikonko barracks. 13825 Conseiller Gasana told Nteziryayo that Witness QBV had undergone weapons training and that he was in charge of the roadblock. 13826
- 5292. Witness QBV testified that Muvunyi took three rifles, two Kalashnikovs, an M16 and a box of cartridges from the back of the red pickup, which he gave to Nteziryayo and who in turn passed them to the *conseiller*. Muvunyi then gave a box of 30 Chinese-type grenades to Nteziryayo which he gave to the businessman Ndayisaba. 13827 Muvunyi gave a carton of matches to Ntezirvavo who handed them over to Leodomir Mwimbanzu, the secteur President of the MRND Party. 13828
- 5293. Witness QBV testified that after distributing the arms, Nteziryayo told the assembled group that they would need these weapons to kill the Tutsis. 13829 Nteziryayo stayed at the roadblock for approximately one hour and left with Muvunyi in the red pickup. 13830 Witness QBV took part in a massacre on the following day¹³⁸³¹ in which the guns and grenades distributed by Nteziryayo were used to kill the Tutsis and the matches to burn their houses. 13832

¹³⁸¹⁹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁰ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²¹ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 19; T. 18 March 2002 p. 87; T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²² T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12-13, 19; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 88-90 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²³ T. 14 March 2002 p. 13 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁴ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14-16, 18-19 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁵ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14-15; T. 18 March 2002 pp. 99-100 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁶ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 14-15 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁷ T. 14 March 2002 p. 19; T. 14 March 2002 p. 126 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸²⁸ T. 14 March 2002 p. 19; T. 14 March 2002 pp. 124-125 (ICS) (Witness QBV); see T. 14 March 2002 p. 144 (HC) (Witness QBV) (French) (for the spelling of Leodomir's surname). ¹³⁸²⁹ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 19-20 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸³⁰ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 21-22 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸³¹ T. 19 March 2002 p. 103 (ICS); T. 19 March 2002 p. 105 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸³² T. 14 March 2002 pp. 21, 34-36; T. 18 March 2002 p. 127 (Witness QBV).

5294. In cross-examination, when it was put to Witness QBV that his prior statements only discussed the distribution of grenades, but not other weapons such as Kalashnikovs, M16s or matches, Witness QBV testified that perhaps the writer of his statements did not properly follow the order of his statements, and that his statements were just provisional documents. ¹³⁸³³

5295. Witness QBV testified that at the time of giving his statements he was detained with some of Nteziryayo's relatives, including one Nshimabarezi, Nteziryayo's brother-in-law, who pressured him not to give the Tribunal investigators many details that would incriminate Nteziryayo, but rather to say that only Muvunyi distributed weapons. 13834

Prosecution Witness FAM

5296. Witness FAM testified that Nteziryayo was involved in the distribution of weapons and ammunition at roadblocks during the massacres. The weapons were made available by Nteziryayo, but it was the driver of the *commune* office, Nsanzabahizi, who was in charge of the weapons and ammunition. 13836

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-16

5297. Witness AND-16, a Hutu businessman from Mugusa *commune* testified that roadblocks were erected in his *commune* around 21 or 22 April 1994, on the orders of the *conseiller*, Gasana. The main roadblock was in Sakindi, Kibilizi *secteur*, and it was under the responsibility of Witness QBV. Witness QBV controlled that roadblock. Witness AND-16 never saw any soldiers at the roadblocks; only civilians were involved. Witness

5298. Weapons were not distributed at the roadblock manned by Witness QBV on 22 April 1994, or prior to this date in the *secteur*. Those present at the roadblock had traditional weapons including clubs, and those that had weapons had obtained them from elsewhere. ¹³⁸⁴¹ People killed at the roadblock were killed with traditional weapons such as clubs and hoes, and not with guns or other modern weapons. Witness AND-16 denied that Nteziryayo gave grenades to him at the roadblock manned by Witness QBV. Witness AND-16 denied that Nteziryayo had given weapons to him, the *conseiller* and other authorities at the roadblock that Witness QBV was manning and also denied that he was told that those weapons were to be used to kill Tutsis. ¹³⁸⁴²

¹³⁸³³ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 135-136 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 25B (Nteziryayo) (30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 26B (Nteziryayo) (16 August 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

¹³⁸³⁴ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 12-14; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸³⁵ T. 7 March 2002 pp. 42, 44 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁸³⁶ T. 7 March 2002 p. 91 (Witness FAM).

¹³⁸³⁷ T. 22 January 2007 pp. 34-35 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸³⁸ T. 22 January 2007 p. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸³⁹ T. 24 January 2007 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁰ T. 24 January 2007 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴¹ T. 22 January 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴² T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

5299. Witness AND-16 had three grenades in his possession but he had not received them from Nteziryayo. Sisk Witness AND-16 bought the grenades from a cousin Sisk on 15 April 1994 in order to provide for the safety of his family and his property. Otherwise, he said members of the population made traditional weapons such as clubs, machetes and other traditional weapons. Witness AND-16 testified that he believed that his cousin obtained the grenades from a soldier, Antoine Ngwije, who lived in Akabanga *cellule*, in Kibilizi *secteur*. The witness said he saw him carrying grenades but he did not know where he obtained them. The witness also said that a certain person by the name Emmanuel also had grenades but he did not know how he had obtained them. Witness AND-16 testified that Nteziryayo did not go to Mugusa *commune* between April and July 1994.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-5

- 5300. Witness AND-5, a Hutu policeman from Mugusa *commune* and a detainee appealing a life sentence for crimes committed during the 1994 genocide at the time of his testimony, testified that Nteziryayo could not have distributed weapons at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur* on 22 April 1994, since Nteziryayo did not visit Mugusa *commune* between April and June 1994. ¹³⁸⁴⁹
- 5301. Witness AND-5 testified that in early June 1994 the *commune* received a consignment of weapons from the ESO camp. ¹³⁸⁵⁰ These weapons were distributed at roadblocks, after the massacres. ¹³⁸⁵¹ Witness AND-5 believed that Colonel Aloys Simba was in charge of civilian defence in the Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures* at this time. ¹³⁸⁵²
- 5302. On cross-examination, the Prosecution suggested to Witness AND-5 that some of the guns that Witness AND-5 handed out to those manning the roadblocks were used to kill Tutsis. Defence Witness AND-5 responded that this was impossible because he did not distribute any guns until after Ntyazo had been taken by the RPF; no distribution was made during the killings. ¹³⁸⁵³
- 5303. Witness AND-5 rejected the Prosecution's suggestion that he was denying that Nteziryayo came to Mugusa *commune* between April and June 1994 to distribute arms and attend meetings in order to downplay his own involvement in such events in Mugusa *commune*. ¹³⁸⁵⁴

¹³⁸⁴³ T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS); T. 23 January 2007 p. 28 (ICS); T. 24 January 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁴ T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS); T. 24 January 2007 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁵ T. 23 January 2007 pp. 28, 43 (ICS); T. 24 January 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁶ T. 22 January 2007 p. 37 (ICS); T. 23 January 2007 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁷ T. 23 January 2007 p. 44 (ICS); T. 24 January 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁸ T. 22 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁴⁹ T. 5 December 2006 pp. 53-54 (ICS); T. 4 December 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁰ T. 5 December 2006 pp. 52-53 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵¹ T. 4 December 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵² T. 4 December 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵³ T. 5 December 2006 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁴ T. 5 December 2006 p. 63 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-72

5304. Witness AND-72, a Hutu civil servant and a detainee convicted of crimes committed during the 1994 genocide, testified that the *commune* authorities distributed guns to the *conseillers* and to other people in Mugusa *commune* after the RPF took control of Ntyazo *commune*, in June 1994. These weapons were the ones that *commune* policemen used to protect the *commune* office. The witness testified that he himself received one gun to ensure security in his *secteur*. Witness AND-72 testified that he never saw Nteziryayo come to the *commune* office between April and July 1994. Table 13858

3.7.6.3.2 Deliberations

5305. Witness QBV is the only witness to testify that Nteziryayo distributed weapons to individuals present at a roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur*, Mugusa *commune* on 22 April 1994. The Chamber notes that Witness QBV was a detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony who had confessed but had not yet been sentenced for crimes committed during the genocide and is an accomplice witness. The Chamber will therefore approach his testimony with appropriate caution.

5306. Witness QBV testified that the distribution of weapons took place on 22 April 1994. 13860 On cross-examination, Witness QBV was referred to his previous statement of 11 October 1999, which stated that on 23 April 1994, Muvunyi distributed grenades to the youths who had undergone training. According to this statement, Muvunyi handed over the grenades to an influential trader who was in charge of the roadblocks in the *commune*. 13861 He was also referred to his second statement of 11 May 2000 that also stated that Muvunyi distributed grenades to those who had undergone training on 23 April 1994, including the trader Ndayisaba. Witness QBV testified that when his previous statements were read back to him by the Tribunal's investigators he noticed that the date was wrongly recorded. He attributed this to an error in translation. The Chamber accepts his explanation on this point and finds that it does not materially affect his testimony on this allegation.

5307. Witness QBV testified that he had participated in weapons training on 7 April 1994 at the Mugusa *commune* office. On cross-examination the Nteziryayo Defence pointed out that in his previous statement of 11 October 1999, Witness QBV stated that he had not previously undergone weapons training and therefore he was not given grenades. In his

¹³⁸⁵⁵ T. 6 December 2006 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁶ T. 6 December 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁷ T. 6 December 2006 p. 21 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁸ T. 6 December 2006 p. 28 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁵⁹ T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁰ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 12, 19; T. 18 March 2002 p. 87; T. 19 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶¹ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 128-129 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶² T. 18 March 2002 pp. 130-132, 135 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶³ T. 18 March 2002 p. 36 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁴ T. 14 March 2002 pp. 10-11 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁵ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 128-129 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 23B (Nteziryayo) (11 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBV).

previous statements of 11 May 2000 and 30 March 2001, he did not mention that he had undergone training, despite describing the training that others had undergone in his latter statement. On cross-examination it was pointed out by the Nteziryayo Defence that no mention was made in his previous statements regarding the distribution of rifles, Kalashnikovs, an M16 and a box of cartridges at the roadblock on 23 April 1994. 13867

5308. Witness QBV testified that he did not tell the whole truth in his statements to the Tribunal's investigators because he was detained with relatives of Nteziryayo, including his brother-in-law and he was afraid for his safety. Nteziryayo's relatives put pressure on him to talk about events in a way which did not incriminate Nteziryayo; to deny having seen Nteziryayo and to testify before the Tribunal that Muvunyi, and not Nteziryayo, distributed weapons. He received letters to this effect but did not have a copy of any of the letters he claimed to have received while in prison. Witness QBV testified that he informed the Prosecutor's office of the pressure he was being put under and these individuals were transferred to another prison yard. Witness QBV explained that in his subsequent statements, he gave further details and that he told the whole truth in his testimony before the Tribunal. 13872

5309. The Chamber accepts that Witness QBV may have been under pressure from his codetainees not to testify against Nteziryayo, but to attribute the distribution of weapons solely to Muvunyi. This does not, however, explain why no mention was made in his previous statements of the distribution of rifles, Kalashnikovs, an M16 and a box of cartridges at the roadblock in addition to the distribution of 20 grenades. Having already implicated Nteziryayo, it does not make sense that he would fail to mention the other weapons in order to protect himself from retribution from Nteziryayo's family or friends.

5310. The Chamber observes that Witness AND-16's testimony corroborates that of Witness QBV with regard to the existence of the roadblock and the presence of Witness QBV at the roadblock on 22 April 1994. However, the witnesses' testimonies diverge at this point. Witness QBV testified to the presence of Witness AND-16 at the roadblock and his role in the distribution by Nteziryayo and Muvunyi. Witness QBV testified that Nteziryayo personally distributed weapons, while Witness AND-16 denied that Nteziryayo played any part in the distribution. 13874

5311. Witness AND-16 testified that Nteziryayo never went to Mugusa *commune* between April and June 1994. Similarly, Witness AND-5 testified that Nteziryayo could not have

¹³⁸⁶⁶ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 130-132, 135 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 24B (Nteziryayo) (11 May 2000, Statement of Witness QBV); T. 19 March 2002 pp. 5-6. 9-11 (Witness QBV); Defence Exhibit 25B (Nteziryayo) (30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁷ T. 18 March 2002 pp. 135-136 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁸ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 12-14; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁶⁹ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 13-14; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 20 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷⁰ T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 21, 136 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷¹ T. 19 March 2002 p. 13; T. 19 March 2002 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷² T. 19 March 2002 p. 13; T. 19 March 2002 pp. 18, 22 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷³ T. 18 March 2002 p. 135 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷⁴ T. 14 March 2002 p. 19 (Witness QBV); T. 22 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹³⁸⁷⁵ T. 22 January 2007 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

distributed weapons at the roadblock in Kibilizi *secteur* on 22 April 1994, since Nteziryayo did not visit Mugusa *commune* between April and July 1994. The Chamber finds the assertions by Witnesses AND-16 and AND-5 that Nteziryayo did not go to Mugusa *commune* between April and June 1994 not to be credible; neither witness was in a position to make such an expansive statement and their testimonies do not cast doubt on the testimony of Prosecution Witness QBV.

5312. Nonetheless, the Chamber recalls that Witness QBV is an accomplice witness who confessed to killing a large number of Tutsis the day after the alleged distribution at the roadblock. The Chamber observes that while it may rely on a single accomplice witness to establish a fact, in the present case there are a number of factors which cast doubt on his testimony in respect of this allegation. Witness QBV had not been sentenced for crimes committed during the genocide at the time of his testimony and he may have been motivated to attribute responsibility to Nteziryayo in order to obtain a more lenient sentence. Furthermore, as the Chamber has observed above, there are inconsistencies in his prior statements and between his previous statements and his testimony at trial that were not adequately explained by the witness. In the absence of corroboration, the Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo distributed weapons at a roadblock in Kibilizi secteur, Mugusa commune on 22 April 1994.

3.7.6.4 Weapons Distribution at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma Commune, Early June 1994

3.7.6.4.1 Evidence

Prosecution Witness QAH

5313. Witness QAH, a Hutu farmer and official from Ngoma *commune* and detainee in Rwanda convicted of genocide at the time of his testimony, testified that the first time he ever saw Nteziryayo was at Kamena Stadium when he went there for training. The witness, who in 1994 was a military recruit under Nteziryayo, positively identified Nteziryayo in court. ¹³⁸⁷⁸ The criteria for selecting those who were to attend the training were age and ethnicity. ¹³⁸⁷⁹ Witness QAH testified that his *conseiller* told the group that no Tutsis could participate in the training. ¹³⁸⁸⁰ There were approximately 250 recruits in total. ¹³⁸⁸¹ Nteziryayo and Senior Warrant Officer Ntirigira were in charge of the training and were assisted by two policemen, Canisius and Cassien. ¹³⁸⁸²

5314. Nteziryayo addressed the group and asked them to make sure that there were no Tutsis among them before they began the training. Nteziryayo told the recruits that the purpose of the training was to counter the enemy. The training began at 7.30 or 8.00 a.m. and went on

¹³⁸⁷⁶ T. 5 December 2006 p. 53 (ICS); T. 4 December 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹³⁸⁷⁷ T. 18 March 2002, pp. 80-81 (ICS); T. 20 March 2002, pp. 26-28 (ICS) (Witness QBV).

¹³⁸⁷⁸ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 36, 59 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁷⁹ T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁸⁰ T. 6 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁸¹ T. 6 April 2004 p. 22 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁸² T. 6 April 2004 pp. 17-18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 55 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁸³ T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹³⁸⁸⁴ T. 6 April 2004 p. 52 (Witness QAH).

until 3.00 p.m. each day. Nteziryayo came every day to teach the trainees. Nteziryayo and Chief Warrant Officer Ntirigira taught them how to dismantle and re-assemble weapons, how to shoot and how to use grenades. One day the recruits were taken below the Ngoma military camp to the firing range where they were taught how to throw grenades and how to identify targets. 13888

5315. Witness QAH testified that Nteziryayo's role at Kamena Stadium was twofold: he taught them how to operate arms and incited them to hate the Tutsis. On the first day of training, the witness heard Nteziryayo tell them, "[I]et us look around and make sure there is no Tutsi among us before we begin the training proper". Two days later, Nteziryayo told them again about the wickedness of the Tutsis who were living both in the country and abroad and that the Tutsis living in the country had cattle and money and had made their children available to fight them. 13891

5316. The civil defence training programme in Ngoma *commune* did not start until the end of May 1994. ¹³⁸⁹²

5317. In early June 1994, Colonel Habyarabatuma, Cyriaque and a soldier called Tharcisse, came to Kamena Stadium. After speaking with them Nteziryayo told the trainees that Gitarama-Kigali road had been cut off by the RPF. 13893 The recruits who were undergoing the training asked Nteziryayo to be given guns in order to fight against the RPF. Nteziryayo told them that they would be given guns in order to replace the soldiers at the roadblock so that they could go to fight along the main road. Shortly afterwards Tharcisse Muvunyi and Colonel Habyarabatuma gave guns to Nteziryayo who distributed them to the various *secteurs* who had sent people for the training. About 35 people from the witness' *secteur* attended the training. Kalashnikovs were distributed by Nteziryayo who was assisted by the police officers and the Chief Warrant Officer, Ntirigira. Nteziryayo told the group to exterminate Tutsis, after which he distributed Kalashnikovs to the recruits.

5318. Witness QAH testified that there were about 250 to 260 recruits present when the weapons were distributed in early June 1994. They were given the weapons so that they could man the roadblocks to replace the soldiers who were deployed to fight the RPF. When Muvunyi and Habyarabatuma brought the guns to Kamena Stadium in the evening, the recruits assembled themselves according to their *secteur*. One person from each *secteur* was selected to

```
13885 T. 6 April 2004 p. 56 (Witness QAH).
13886 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 p. 59 (Witness QAH).
13887 T. 6 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 pp. 55-56 (Witness QAH).
13888 T. 6 April 2004 p. 61 (Witness QAH).
13889 T. 6 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAH).
13890 T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 pp. 55 (Witness QAH).
13891 T. 6 April 2004 p. 19 (ICS); T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21, 55 (Witness QAH).
13892 T. 7 April 2004 p. 34 (Witness QAH).
13893 T. 6 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAH).
13894 T. 6 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAH).
13895 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 22, 62 (Witness QAH).
13896 T. 6 April 2002 pp. 22, 62 (Witness QAH).
13897 T. 6 April 2002 pp. 23, 27 (Witness QAH).
13898 T. 6 April 2002 pp. 23, 27 (Witness QAH).
13899 T. 6 April 2004 pp. 21-22, 55, 64 (Witness QAH).
```

be in charge. His responsibility was to provide the *secteur* with weapons. ¹³⁹⁰⁰ Each *secteur* received seven guns plus one for the *conseiller* and ammunition. ¹³⁹⁰¹ Witness QAH's brother was in charge of the guns in his *secteur*. No list was prepared to show who had received the guns. The witness received a gun from his brother who had received it from Nteziryayo. ¹³⁹⁰² The *responsable de cellule* distributed the guns and appointed each recruit to a particular roadblock. After receiving the Kalashnikovs, the witness and the other recruits returned to their *secteur*. He testified that when the recruits stopped a Tutsi at the roadblock they would either kill him or take him to the authorities. ¹³⁹⁰³ Witness QAH shot three persons at a roadblock.

Prosecution Witness FAI

5319. Witness FAI, a Hutu civil servant and detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, testified that Nteziryayo, in his capacity as head of civil defence, was responsible for giving weapons to Hutu youths so that they could assist the military at the front and participate in the killings of the Tutsis. ¹³⁹⁰⁵ Weapons training took place during the genocide in an old building in Ngoma *secteur*, opposite the Court of First Instance. ¹³⁹⁰⁶ Jean-Baptiste Ruzindaza, President of the Court of First Instance, was in charge of the training. Training exercises were supervised by instructors who came from the ESO Military College. After the training, people who had just undergone the training received guns, so that they could go and help the army at the front or go and help the inhabitants to kill the Tutsis who were still alive. ¹³⁹⁰⁷

5320. Witness FAI testified that the guns that were distributed after the training in Butare came from the Officers' College and that it was Colonel Muvunyi who distributed them to the soldiers responsible for the training in Ngoma *commune*. 13908

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ

5321. Witness WUNBJ, a Hutu civil servant, testified that he had undergone weapons training at Kamena Stadium towards the middle or the end of May 1994. The training lasted between one and two weeks. During the training the witness learned how to clean, dismantle, reassemble and shoot a rifle. The purpose of the training was not to kill Tutsis but to assist the army at the front and to provide security within their *cellules*. The witness was informed that the RPF were the enemy and were armed so the recruits had to learn to use weapons in self-defence. The witness was informed that the RPF were the enemy and were armed so the recruits had to learn to use

```
13900 T. 6 April 2002 p. 62 (Witness QAH).
13901 T. 6 April 2002 pp. 62-63 (Witness QAH).
13902 T. 6 April 2002 p. 64 (Witness QAH).
13903 T. 6 April 2002 p. 27 (Witness QAH).
13904 T. 6 April 2002 pp. 45, 73 (ICS) (Witness QAH).
13905 T. 31 October 2002 pp. 32-33, 37 (Witness FAI).
13906 T. 31 October 2002 pp. 35 (Witness FAI).
13907 T. 31 October 2002 p. 37 (Witness FAI).
13908 T. 6 November 2002 p. 12 (Witness FAI).
13909 T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS); T. 8 March 2006 p. 36; T. 5. April 2006 pp. 12, 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
13910 T. 5 April 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
13911 T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
13912 T. 8 March 2006 p. 36; T. 5 April 2006 p. 10; T. 5 April 2006 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).
```

¹³⁹¹³ T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).

5322. Witness WUNBJ testified that after the training, firearms were distributed to the recruits by a warrant officer, whose name the witness could not recall. The firearms were generally distributed at the *secteur* level and received by the *conseiller*, or in his absence, by a distinguished person of the *commune*. Witness WUNBJ did not see Nteziryayo between April and June 1994. To his knowledge, Nteziryayo never attended civil self-defence training nor distributed weapons there. 13917

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-50

5323. Witness AND-50, a Hutu teacher from Kigali, testified that Nteziryayo never distributed any weapons. He was not able to do so as he had left the army. Nteziryayo was not responsible for civil defence in Butare between April and July 1994. Colonel Aloys Simba was responsible for civil defence. Simba was responsible for civil defence.

<u>Nteziryayo</u>

- 5324. Nteziryayo testified that he did not distribute firearms to the population of Ngoma *commune* as part of the civil defence programme between January 1994 and July 1994, nor did he distribute weapons to recruits trained in a stadium in Ngoma *commune*. However, Nteziryayo testified that the area commander distributed firearms to people between April and July 1994 for the civil defence in Butare *préfecture*. 13922
- 5325. Nteziryayo testified that between April and July 1994, and in his role as *préfet*, he did not receive or possess any stock of weapons for civil defence distribution, and he did not know whether there was such a stock of weapons in the *préfecture*. ¹³⁹²³ Nteziryayo testified that he never received any weapons for distribution in the *communes* of Butare *préfecture*. The officials of Ngoma *commune* did not request any weapons of him or ask him to train members of the population in the handling of weapons; he had no contact with authorities of the Ngoma *commune*. Nteziryayo denied distributing weapons to recruits trained in a stadium in Ngoma *commune*. ¹³⁹²⁴ Nteziryayo testified that he did not distribute weapons to militia members and members of the civilian population and he did not actively participate in the massacres in Butare or elsewhere. ¹³⁹²⁵

3.7.6.4.2 Deliberations

5326. The Prosecution relied on the testimony of Witness QAH with regard to the allegation of distribution of weapons at Kamena Stadium. The Chamber notes that Witness QAH was a

¹³⁹¹⁴ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 37-39 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁹¹⁵ T. 8 March 2006 p. 39 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁹¹⁶ T. 5 April 2006 p. 9 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁹¹⁷ T. 5 April 2006 p. 10 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁹¹⁸ T. 2 May 2007 p. 46 (Witness AND-50).

¹³⁹¹⁹ T. 2 May 2007 pp. 48-49 (Witness AND-50).

^{1. 2} May 2007 pp. 48-49 (Witness AND-50).
13920 T. 2 May 2007 p. 15 (Witness AND-50).

¹³⁹²¹ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 5-6 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁹²² T. 23 May 2007 pp. 9-10 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁹²³ T. 23 May 2007 p. 10 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁹²⁴ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 5-6 (Nteziryayo).

¹³⁹²⁵ T. 12 June 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).

detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony and had been sentenced to death at his trial for his participation in the genocide. The Chamber will therefore approach his testimony with appropriate caution.

- 5327. Witness QAH gave eyewitness testimony that Nteziryayo distributed weapons to the *secteurs* who had sent people for the training. Nteziryayo distributed Kalashnikovs to those who underwent training at Kamena Stadium in early June 1994. 13927
- 5328. The Chamber observes that Defence Witness WUNBJ also underwent training at Kamena Stadium over the course of one or two weeks between the middle and end of May 1994 and was present during the distribution of weapons at the end of the training. The Chamber finds his account to be detailed, credible and consistent. Witness QAH and Witness WUNBJ's accounts of weapons distribution are generally consistent with each other. Both witnesses testified that the distribution among the recruits took place according to their respective *secteurs* and that a Warrant Officer participated in the distribution. The witnesses differed, however, on the involvement of Nteziryayo in the distribution of weapons. Witness QAH testified that Nteziryayo personally distributed weapons, while Witness WUNBJ denied that Nteziryayo played any part in the distribution.
- 5329. The Chamber observes that Witness WUNBJ testified that weapons were distributed at Kamena Stadium in May 1994, while Witness QAH testified that he witnessed a distribution of weapons in June 1994. Witness WUNBJ's testimony that Nteziryayo was not involved in the distribution of weapons at Kamena Stadium in May 1994, does not vitiate Witness QAH's eyewitness testimony that Nteziryayo distributed weapons to the recruits in June 1994. The Chamber observes that his testimony on this allegation is not corroborated with respect to Nteziryayo's involvement in the distribution of weapons. Nonetheless, the Chamber considers Witness QAH's testimony that Nteziryayo distributed weapons at Kamena Stadium to be clear and detailed and the Chamber finds him credible with regard to this allegation. The Chamber therefore finds that, through the testimony of Witness QAH, the Prosecution has proven this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 5330. The Chamber declines to make a finding at this stage on whether the distribution of weapons at Kamena Stadium in Ngoma *commune* in June 1994 constituted preparation for the genocide or self-defence against the advancing RPF. The Chamber will reserve judgement on this issue until a later stage in its deliberations.

3.7.7 Weapons Distribution by Ndayambaje

3.7.7.1 Introduction

5331. Each of the Indictments allege that Ndayambaje was responsible for distributing weapons to militiamen from late 1990 until July 1994. The Indictments allege that Ndayambaje distributed weapons to militiamen and members of the civilian population with

¹³⁹²⁶ T. 6 April 2004 pp. 22, 62 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁹²⁷ T. 6 April 2002 pp. 23, 27 (Witness QAH).

¹³⁹²⁸ T. 6 April 2002 pp. 23, 27 (Witness QAH); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 37-38 (Witness WUNBJ).

¹³⁹²⁹ Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

the intent to exterminate the Tutsi population and its "accomplices". ¹³⁹³⁰ The Indictments further allege that between April and June 1994, Ndayambaje assisted Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, in the distribution of weapons. ¹³⁹³¹ Each of the Indictments also allege that from April to July 1994, in the course of the massacres, some soldiers gave assistance to militiamen, notably by providing them with weapons. ¹³⁹³²

- 5332. In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QBZ and TO.
- 5333. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Indictment is unduly vague and does not adequately inform Ndayambaje of the material facts of the allegations brought against him. Specifically, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to plead the allegations that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the Remera *commune* office on 7 April 1994; that he assisted Nteziryayo in the distribution of weapons at the Muganza *commune* office in June 1994; or that he was responsible under Article 6 (3) for the distribution of weapons carried out by soldiers in the course of the massacres. ¹³⁹³³
- 5334. In the alternative, the Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Prosecution witnesses lack credibility and that the Prosecution failed to prove the allegations beyond a reasonable doubt. The Defence relies on the testimonies of Ndayambaje Defence Witnesses GABON, Brother Stan, AND-31, KEPIR and Ndayambaje.

3.7.7.2 Muganza Commune Office in Remera, 7 April 1994

- 5335. The Chamber observes that the Prosecution did not specifically plead the alleged distribution of weapons at the Remera *commune* office on 7 April 1994. According to the Ndayambaje Defence, the Indictment is defective and such defects have not been cured. 13936
- 5336. The allegation that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the Muganza *commune* office in Remera on 7 April 1994 amounts to a material fact which was not sufficiently pled in the Indictment. The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief includes no reference to this specific incident. In his previous statement of 30 March 2001, disclosed to the Defence on 23 May 2001, Witness QBZ stated that Ndayambaje distributed a machine gun to a policeman at the *commune* office which was used to kill Tutsi prisoners. The alleged distribution of weapons at the *commune* office was not mentioned in Witness QBZ's previous statement of 9 October 1999, disclosed on 1 December 1999. The Chamber finds that the Ndayambaje Defence did not have timely, clear or consistent notice of this allegation. Thus, the Chamber will not make a finding on the alleged distribution of weapons by Ndayambaje at the *commune* office on 7

¹³⁹³⁰ Para. 5.13 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Ndayambaje).

¹³⁹³¹ Para. 6.34 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Ndayambaje).

¹³⁹³² Para. 6.53 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts against Ndayambaje).

¹³⁹³³ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 47, 49, 59, 68, 79, 81, 144, 153, 167, 973.

¹³⁹³⁴ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 996, 999, 1009, 1020.

¹³⁹³⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 153.

¹³⁹³⁶ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 115-118.

¹³⁹³⁷ 30 March 2001, Statement of Witness QBZ, disclosed 23 May 2001.

¹³⁹³⁸ 9 October 1999, Statement of Witness QBZ, disclosed 1 December 1999.

April 1994. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence was not sufficient to prove this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.

3.7.7.3 Muganza Commune Office, June 1994

5337. In its Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* of 16 December 2004, the Chamber previously addressed the submission that no evidence has been adduced by the Prosecution that Ndayambaje assisted Nteziryayo in the distribution of weapons to militiamen. The Chamber found that the evidence led by Prosecution Witness TO, if believed, could be sufficient to sustain a conviction against Ndayambaje on this paragraph of the Indictment and denied Ndayambaje's request for acquittal regarding this paragraph.

5338. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that Paragraph 6.34 of the Ndayambaje Indictment is vague. ¹³⁹⁴¹ In the Chamber's view, the Prosecution failed to expressly plead the alleged weapons distribution at the Muganza *commune* office in June 1994. Therefore the Indictment is defective in this regard.

5339. Recalling the principles of notice previously outlined in this Judgement (), the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention the allegation that Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the Muganza *commune* office in June 1994. Furthermore, the summary of Witness TO's testimony in the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief does not mention the witness' intention to testify to this allegation. Furthermore, there was no mention of the distribution of weapons in TO's previous statements of 16 October 1997 or 11 June 1997 which were disclosed to the Defence on 4 November 1998 and 30 March 1999 respectively. The Chamber recalls that in its Decision of 1 September 2006, the Chamber denied the Ndayambaje Defence's motion for exclusion of the testimony of Witness TO. The Chamber stated that it was not satisfied that there was a basis to exclude the concerned testimony at that stage of the proceedings but that the matter may be considered at a later stage. The constant of the proceedings but that the matter may be considered at a later stage.

5340. At this stage, the Chamber considers that the information regarding Ndayambaje's alleged distribution of weapons in June 1994 amounts to the pleading of new material facts. The Chamber further considers that the Ndayambaje Defence did not have sufficient notice of this allegation to enable the Defence to mount an effective defence. As a result, the Chamber finds that it would unduly prejudice the Accused to consider the evidence of Witness TO on these allegations. Therefore, the Chamber will not make a finding on whether Ndayambaje distributed weapons at the Muganza *commune* office in June 1994. In any event, the Chamber notes that the evidence was not sufficient to prove this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.

¹³⁹³⁹ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, paras. 62-64, 198.

¹³⁹⁴⁰ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004, para. 198.

¹³⁹⁴¹ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 59.

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TO (6).

^{13943 16} October 1997, Statement of Witness TO, disclosed 4 November 1998; 11 June 1997, Statement of Witness TO, disclosed 30 March 1999.

¹³⁹⁴⁴ *Ndayambaje et al.*, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006, para. 25.

3.7.7.4 Weapons Distribution by Soldiers Under the Control of Ndayambaje

5341. The Ndayambaje Defence contends that Paragraph 6.53 of the Ndayambaje Indictment lacks detail, as it does not specify the main offences or the role played by Ndayambaje in the alleged events. It further submits that the Prosecution presented no evidence that from April to July 1994 some soldiers gave assistance to militiamen by providing them with weapons and that Ndayambaje was responsible under Article 6 (3) for this distribution. Consequently, it asserts that the Chamber must not consider this paragraph in its deliberations and findings. The Chamber finds that the Ndayambaje Defence did not have timely, clear or consistent notice of this allegation and thus will not make a finding on this allegation.

5342. Paragraph 6.53 of the Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje was responsible under Article 6 (3) for the distribution of weapons to militiamen carried out by soldiers under his command. 13946 If the Prosecution intends to rely on the theory of superior responsibility, the subordinates of the Accused must be sufficiently identified and the criminal conduct of those for whom the Accused is alleged to be responsible must be established. 13947 The Chamber considers that Paragraph 6.53 of the Ndayambaje Indictment is therefore defective. Recalling the principles of notice previously defined in this Judgement (), neither the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, nor the Prosecution opening statement refers to soldiers, subordinate to Ndayambaje, distributing weapons to militiamen.

5343. The Prosecution has also failed to lead any evidence on the identities of the soldiers who allegedly distributed weapons or to establish Ndayambaje's responsibility for the acts of these individuals. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje was responsible under Article 6 (3) for the distribution of weapons to militiamen carried out by soldiers under his command.

3.7.8 Weapons Distribution by Nsabimana

3.7.8.1 Introduction

5344. Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from late 1990 until July 1994, military personnel, members of the government, political leaders, civil servants and other personalities conspired among themselves and with others to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate members of the opposition, so that they could remain in power. The components of this plan consisted of among other things, recourse to hatred and ethnic violence, the training of and distribution of weapons to militiamen as well as the preparation of lists of people to be eliminated. In executing the plan, they organised, ordered and participated in the massacres perpetrated against the Tutsi population and moderate Hutus. Ladislas Ntaganzwa, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, André Rwamakuba, Sylvain Nsabimana, Alphonse Nteziryayo, Élie Ndayambaje and Shalom Arsène Ntahobali elaborated, adhered to and executed this plan. 13948

_

¹³⁹⁴⁵ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 68, 973.

¹³⁹⁴⁶ Para. 6.53 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹³⁹⁴⁷ See, e.g., Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 19; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 323.

¹³⁹⁴⁸ Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo).

5345. The Prosecution alleges that Nsabimana distributed weapons to the *bourgmestres*, his subordinates in the hierarchy of the *préfecture*, to be used in civilian defence. These weapons were used to kill the Tutsi civilian population. The Prosecution submits that in order to facilitate the massacres, Nsabimana personally signed for and distributed 60 guns to the bourgmestres of Butare préfecture on 16 May 1994, for use in the communes in furtherance of the plan to exterminate the Tutsis. 13949 In support of these submissions, the Prosecution relies on the testimony of Prosecution Expert Witness Des Forges and Defence Witnesses SOLO and AND-5. 13950

5346. In addition to its submissions on defects in the Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment, the Nsabimana Defence submits that the Prosecution has not proven that Nsabimana distributed weapons to an individual or institutions in Butare *préfecture*. ¹³⁹⁵¹ It relies on the testimony of Nsabimana.

3.7.8.2 Preliminary Issues

5347. The Nsabimana Defence submits that Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is unduly vague and fails to specify dates, circumstances and locations of his alleged activities and fails to identify the identities of his alleged subordinates. 13952 The Indictment is therefore defective.

5348. The Nsabimana Defence further submits that Nsabimana is not accused of distributing weapons in Butare préfecture. Paragraph 5.13 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje, Kanyabashi, Ladislas Ntagwanza and others distributed weapons in Butare *préfecture*. No mention is made of Nsabimana's alleged role. ¹³⁹⁵³ The Chamber will not consider the specific allegation of distribution of weapons in Paragraph 5.13 since it is not listed in support of a count against Nsabimana.

5349. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution's allegation that Nsabimana distributed weapons in Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment supports the count of conspiracy to commit genocide but it does not specify dates, places, nor identify the people whom Nsabimana is alleged to have distributed weapons. Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictment did not give Nsabimana sufficient information to adequately prepare his defence against the charge of distributing weapons as part of a criminal conspiracy. For these reasons, the Chamber considers that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment is defective.

5350. The Chamber will proceed to determine whether this defect was cured. The Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief stated that from April to July 1994, during the course of the massacres, some soldiers gave assistance to militiamen, notably by providing them with logistical support, i.e. weapons, transport and fuel. The massacres were the result of a strategy planned, adopted and instigated by Nsabimana and others to destroy and exterminate the Tutsi population. ¹³⁹⁵⁴ The

¹³⁹⁴⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 262, para. 101; T. 15 November 2006 p. 8; Prosecution Exhibit 125B (Delivery Slip).

13950 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 262, paras. 101-102.

¹³⁹⁵¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1065, 1068-1071.

¹³⁹⁵² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 129-130.

¹³⁹⁵³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, para. 1061.

¹³⁹⁵⁴ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 28.

Chamber notes that no mention is made of Nsabimana's alleged distribution of weapons in Butare between April and July 1994 in the summaries of anticipated Prosecution witnesses' testimony in the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief, or in the Prosecution opening statement.

5351. The Chamber considers that the defect in the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment was not cured. Nsabimana was not provided with sufficient information regarding the dates, locations and circumstances of his alleged distribution of weapons in Paragraph 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. The Chamber will therefore not make any finding regarding this allegation. The Chamber further observes that the Prosecution did not bring any witnesses to support this allegation.

3.7.9 Roadblocks – Overview

3.7.9.1 Introduction

5352. All of the Indictments allege that in the hours following the crash of President Habyarimana's plane, military and militiamen set up roadblocks where they checked the identity cards of passers-by and killed or summarily executed those or most of those who were identified as Tutsis. As of the night of 6 to 7 April 1994, in the capital, elements of the Presidential Guard and Para-Commando Battalion set up roadblocks on the major roads, controlling people's movements. 13955

5353. All of the Indictments further allege that on 27 April 1994, the Interim Government ordered that roadblocks be set up, knowing that the roadblocks were being used to identify the Tutsis and their "accomplices" for the purpose of eliminating them. 13956

5354. The Prosecution submits that roadblocks were in existence before the assassination of President Habyarimana and were a means of controlling people's movements during a time of conflict. 13957 During the genocide more roadblocks were established, becoming an important tool in the commission of the genocide. They were a means of identifying Tutsis in order to kill them, set up under the auspices and with the authorisation of the authorities under the guise of self-defence. They were manned by a combination of soldiers, *gendarmes*, *Interahamwe*, other militia, *commune* police and civilians. Trained and armed militia were regularly and routinely positioned by the authorities to search and kill Tutsis. 13959

5355. The Defence did not make specific submissions on the Prosecution's allegation that Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks in Butare *préfecture*. However, the five Accused

¹³⁹⁵⁵ Para. 1.26 of each Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.8 of each Indictment (not in support of counts). These two paragraphs were not pled in support of counts, and therefore, the Chamber will not make factual findings as to whether such events were proven. However, these paragraphs provide context for the Indictment paragraphs that were pled in support of counts regarding conduct of the Accused related to roadblocks in Butare préfecture.

¹³⁹⁵⁶ Para. 6.15 of all the Indictments (not in support of counts).

¹³⁹⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 91, para. 212.

¹³⁹⁵⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 92, para. 212; p. 166, para. 30; p. 259, para. 93; p. 318, para. 45; p. 401, para. 57; p. 462, para. 47; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 9, 21, 58. 13959 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 259, para. 94; p. 401, para. 57.

gave evidence as to the use and purpose of roadblocks. 13960 These will be considered in the evidence section below.

3.7.9.2 Preliminary Issues

5356. The Chamber notes that the allegation that the Interim Government ordered that roadblocks be set up on 27 April 1994 knowing that roadblocks were being used to identify and eliminate Tutsis, was not pled in support of counts against any of the Accused. Recalling the principles previously articulated in this Judgement (), the Chamber observes that it cannot base a conviction of the Accused solely on this Paragraph of the Indictment. However, the Chamber will consider this evidence to the extent that it provides context to the events which occurred in Butare *préfecture* during the period at issue and to assess whether genocide was committed. The Chamber specifically addresses in this section the allegation that Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks in Butare *préfecture*.

3.7.9.3 *Evidence*

Prosecution Witness FAI

5357. Witness FAI, a Hutu civil servant in 1994¹³⁹⁶¹ and detainee in Rwanda at the time of his testimony, ¹³⁹⁶² testified that roadblocks were set up immediately after 19 April 1994 in his *secteur* to prevent Tutsis from escaping by catching and killing them. ¹³⁹⁶³ Roadblocks were monitored by the Hutu inhabitants of each *cellule*. Witness FAI testified that at the beginning of the killings, Tutsis passing by roadblocks were systematically killed. ¹³⁹⁶⁴

Prosecution Witness QJ

5358. Witness QJ, a Tutsi, testified that to pass through the roadblock, one had to present identity papers. The witness spoke specifically of the roadblock in front of the Hotel Faucon. Hutus would be allowed to pass through roadblocks and Tutsis were asked to stand aside and sit on the ground next to the roadblock. The Tutsis at the roadblock were taken to the Kabutare Forest, behind the Hotel Faucon, and killed. Later, people were

¹³⁹⁶⁰ T. 27 September 2005 pp. 8-9, 51-52 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 29 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 12 October 2005 pp. 5-6, 61-62 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 13 April 2006 pp. 17, 35-39 (Ntahobali); T. 3 May 2006 pp. 17, 26 (Ntahobali); T. 4 July 2007 pp. 57-61 (Nteziryayo); T. 19 November 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje); T. 25 November 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).

¹³⁹⁶¹ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 10-11 (ICS); T. 4 November 2002 p. 35 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness FAD)

¹³⁹⁶² T. 31 October 2002 pp. 71-72, 75-76 (ICS); T. 4 November 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹³⁹⁶³ T. 30 October 2002 p. 101 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹³⁹⁶⁴ T. 6 November 2002 p. 10 (Witness FAI).

¹³⁹⁶⁵ T. 8 November 2001 p. 142 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 p. 14 (Witness QJ).

¹³⁹⁶⁶ T. 8 November 2001 pp. 98, 102-103 (ICS); T. 12 November 2001 pp. 13-14 (Witness QJ).

¹³⁹⁶⁷ T. 12 November 2001 p. 14 (Witness QJ).

¹³⁹⁶⁸ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 14-15; Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites).

taken aside and killed just away from the main road. Other people were taken from the Hotel Faucon roadblock across the street to a University bookshop and killed by soldiers.

Prosecution Witness FAU

5359. Witness FAU, a Hutu farmer detained at the time of his testimony, ¹³⁹⁷¹ testified that roadblocks were erected in his area immediately following the death of President Habyarimana. ¹³⁹⁷² Witness FAU participated in patrols and worked at a roadblock. Witness FAU was told to check identity cards; if someone did not have an identity card, they were taken for an *Inyenzi* and were to be killed. He averred that *Inyenzi* meant Tutsi. ¹³⁹⁷³

Prosecution Witness QCB

5360. Witness QCB, a Hutu driver in 1994 and detained witness at the time of testimony, ¹³⁹⁷⁴ testified that all the roadblocks that he knew about were set up on the night of 20-21 April 1994. ¹³⁹⁷⁵ He testified to a roadblock at the house of Amanda Rugira. ¹³⁹⁷⁶ The *Interahamwe* and two soldiers armed with knives and Kalashnikov guns manned the roadblock. ¹³⁹⁷⁷ *Interahamwe* were checking people's identity cards to determine whether they were Tutsis or Hutus, detaining the Tutsis and allowing the Hutus to move on towards town. ¹³⁹⁷⁸ A woman was asked to produce her identification card, and did so reluctantly; she was killed with knives. ¹³⁹⁷⁹

5361. Witness QCB also testified as to a roadblock located in front of the home of Maurice Ntahobali. Witness QCB arrived at this roadblock in the morning of 21 April 1994 with Léopold Ruvurajabo, a Tutsi. He testified as to the killing of Ruvurajabo. He said *Interahamwe* asked Ruvurajabo, who was a Tutsi, for his identification, but he refused to provide it. The *Interahamwe* told Ruvurajabo to step aside at a nearby school. He again refused and was then ordered to be killed. 13982

Prosecution Witness FAK

5362. Witness FAK, a Hutu farmer and detained witness at the time of testimony, ¹³⁹⁸³ testified that his *conseiller de secteur* ordered roadblocks be set up after 6 April 1994. ¹³⁹⁸⁴ The

```
13969 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 15-16 (Witness QJ).
13970 T. 12 November 2001 pp. 16-17, 23-24 (Witness QJ).
13971 T. 8 March 2004 pp. 84-85 (ICS) (Witness FAU); Prosecution Exhibit 85 (Personal Particulars).
13972 T. 9 March 2004 p. 66 (Witness FAU).
13973 T. 4 March 2004 p. 65 (Witness FAU).
13974 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 34, 36-37 (Witness QCB); Prosecution Exhibit 52 (Personal Particulars).
13975 T. 25 March 2002 pp. 34, 36 (Witness QCB).
13976 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 58-59 (Witness QCB).
13977 T. 20 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).
13978 T. 20 March 2002 p. 59 (Witness QCB).
13979 T. 20 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).
13980 T. 20 March 2002 p. 60 (Witness QCB).
13981 T. 20 March 2002 p. 61 (Witness QCB).
13982 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 61-62, 65-66 (Witness QCB).
13983 T. 14 April 2004 p. 54 (Witness FAK); Prosecution Exhibit 103 (Personal Particulars).
```

¹³⁹⁸⁴ T. 14 April 2004 p. 13; T. 14 April 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

witness manned two roadblocks in his secteur. 13985 The man in charge of one roadblock gave instructions that the roadblock was set up for the purpose of checking the Inkotanyi so that they would not enter the *commune*. ¹³⁹⁸⁶ The witness and others were later made to understand that *Inkotanyi* were Tutsis. 13987 People checked identity cards, which were used to identify the "Inkotanyi", as the cards bore the ethnic origin of the individual; if the identity card read Tutsi, the Tutsis were to be killed. 13988 Roadblocks were manned by Hutu civilians. 13989 On the evening of 19 April 1994, some people brought a Tutsi couple to the roadblock and killed them; they were buried down the hill from the roadblock. 13990

5363. After a meeting in Kibayi commune at a football field, Witness FAK went to a roadblock with Augustin Rwabuhungu and one Laurent, where they encountered the conseiller de secteur. 13991 Augustin said that he had a Tutsi girl in his home and the conseiller directed that she be brought to the roadblock. Witness FAK testified that they then killed the Tutsi girl with a club. 13992 The Tutsi woman had a child with her, who was killed by Rwabuhungu on the same dav. 13993

Prosecution Witness QBV

5364. Witness QBV, a Hutu farmer and detained witness at the time of testimony, 13994 testified that every civilian pedestrian or motorist would be checked at the roadblocks for firearms and verification of ethnicity by checking their identification cards. If the civilian was a Tutsi, he would be asked to step aside and be reported to the *conseiller*. ¹³⁹⁹⁵

Prosecution Witness TB

5365. Witness TB, a Tutsi teacher, testified that she saw a roadblock located on the road that went to the school centre in front of what is called économat [bursary] near the Catholic cathedral of Butare, where people were killed with traditional weapons. 13996

Nsabimana Defence Witness TWW

5366. Witness TWW, a Hutu, testified that the authorities decided to set up roadblocks in order to maintain the peace and safety within the population. He stated that in 1994, identity cards displayed a person's ethnic identity. Witness TWW did not see if identity cards

```
<sup>13985</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 66-67 (Witness FAK).
```

¹³⁹⁸⁶ T. 14 April 2004 p. 15 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 16-17; T. 15 April 2004 p. 6 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁸⁷ T. 14 April 2004 p. 16; T. 15 April 2004 p. 6 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁸⁸ T. 14 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁸⁹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 66 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁹⁰ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 16-17 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁹¹ T. 14 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁹² T. 14 April 2004 pp. 30, 32 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 66-67 (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁹³ T. 14 April 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

¹³⁹⁹⁴ T. 14 March 2002 p. 10 (Witness QBV); Prosecution Exhibit 51 (Personal Particulars).

¹³⁹⁹⁵ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 8-9 (Witness QBV).

¹³⁹⁹⁶ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 53-54 (Witness TB); T. 4 February 2004 p. 56 (Witness TB) (French) (for the spelling of "*économat*").

13997 T. 11 July 2006 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness TWW).

were checked at roadblocks; he was not asked to show his. The witness did not know if Tutsis were crossing roadblocks. 13998

Nsabimana Defence Witness SOLO

5367. Witness SOLO, a Hutu judicial police inspector in 1994, ¹³⁹⁹⁹ testified that there were roadblocks in Rusatiro *commune*; at each of the roadblocks, he was made to show his identity card, without knowing the reason for it, after which he was ordered to go on his way. ¹⁴⁰⁰⁰

Nsabimana Defence Witness Patrick Fergal Keane

5368. Patrick Fergal Keane, a journalist for the BBC, ¹⁴⁰⁰¹ testified that he saw people checking for identity cards at the roadblocks, and remembered being told by the people at the roadblocks that they were checking for infiltrators who could be men, women or children. ¹⁴⁰⁰² Referring to a video, Keane described what he saw as a soldier of the Rwandan army checking the identities of the people in a mini-bus, and a prisoner standing beside the soldier, wearing a pink uniform. ¹⁴⁰⁰³ From his experience of roadblocks in Rwanda, the witness said that people were stopped at the roadblocks to ascertain their identity. ¹⁴⁰⁰⁴ Keane testified that the people at the roadblocks spoke about their fear that they were going to be colonised by the Tutsis again; one man said he did not feel the Tutsis regarded them as human beings. This was the general tenor of what the people said at the roadblocks. ¹⁴⁰⁰⁵ Keane said that in the interview, the young man who worked at the roadblock used the phrase "*Inyenzi*", which they were led to understand referred to cockroaches, a term used to reflect Tutsis. ¹⁴⁰⁰⁶ He understood the word *Inyenzi* meant cockroach and was applied to RPF soldiers or Tutsi civilians and Tutsi as an ethnic group in 1994. ¹⁴⁰⁰⁷

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

5369. Charles Karemano, the National Secretary of the PSD in 1994 and a Hutu, testified that he was in Kigali in April 1994. At the time of the attack on the President, the *préfet* of Kigali, the RTLM, and the Interim Government, were all asking the population to come out onto the streets to set up roadblocks. On 7 April 1994, neighbours asked him to man the roadblocks and check on the passage of enemies or traitors. Everyone was obliged to go, without exception, unless one was part of the enemy. He was allowed to leave the roadblock around 9 April 1994 as he felt sick from the images of dead bodies and parts of cut-

```
13998 T. 12 July 2006 pp. 19-20 (Witness TWW).
14000 T. 5 July 2006 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness SOLO).
14001 T. 25 September 2006 pp. 7 (Keane).
14002 T. 28 September 2006 pp. 27-28 (Keane).
14003 T. 25 September 2006 pp. 23-24 (Keane).
14004 T. 25 September 2006 pp. 26 (Keane).
14005 T. 25 September 2006 pp. 33 (Keane).
14006 T. 27 September 2006 pp. 74-75, 77 (Keane); Defence Exhibit 474B (Nsabimana) (Transcript of Interview).
14007 T. 27 September 2006 p. 78 (Keane).
14008 T. 21 August 2006 p. 23 (Karemano).
14009 T. 24 August 2006 p. 66 (Karemano).
14010 T. 21 August 2006 p. 31; T. 23 August 2006 p. 57 (ICS) (Karemano).
14011 T. 21 August 2006 p. 31 (Karemano).
```

up bodies which were piled up on the road. He assumed that these bodies were not killed by the RPF, because the bodies were exposed in an area that had not yet been conquered by the RPF. Had 14013

- 5370. Karemano testified that the killings in Butare and Cyarwa began in April 1994. Soldiers began the killings and invited people to loot houses. The leaders of the roadblocks instigated killings, there were no guidelines provided by the political authorities. The Cyarwa *conseiller de secteur*, Nicodeme, even told the witness that he was manhandled at roadblocks. After 19 April 1994, those manning the roadblocks were civilians. 14015
- 5371. Karemano testified that between 18 April 1994 and 3 July 1994 he went to Mbazi, Ngoma and Ruhashya *communes*. At roadblocks, identity cards were often requested; the witness thought that one's physical features and the information on the card would determine whether one was allowed to pass or not. He was able to move around because he had papers indicating he was Hutu and his facial features made him recognisable as a Hutu. In addition to an identity card, it was advisable to hold a *laissez-passer* to present at roadblocks authorising movement between *communes*. In normal times this document could be obtained from the *commune* or *bourgmestre*, but in those times possibly even a commander could issue them. He went to the *préfecture* to ask for one, but was not issued one.
- 5372. Nevertheless, a *laissez-passer* did not necessarily ensure safe passage or that one would not be killed, mistreated or threatened; some people who had documents were stopped and killed, whereas some people who did not have any papers were not affected by any violence. However it was thought to be better to have documents than not to have them. 14022
- 5373. In general, those manning the roadblocks were bandits and people escaping from justice. Those manning the roadblocks were taking power into their own hands and were not people appointed by the *bourgmestre*, *préfet* or *secteur*. Karemano was also stopped at roadblocks and asked to show his identity card. The witness saw people stopped at other roadblocks. 14025
- 5374. Karemano testified that generally the technique at roadblocks was not to kill; leaders of the roadblocks decided that the people to be killed would be taken elsewhere. The official

```
<sup>14012</sup> T. 23 August 2006 pp. 51-53 (Karemano).
<sup>14013</sup> T. 23 August 2006 p. 69 (Karemano).
<sup>14014</sup> T. 22 August 2006 p. 16 (Karemano).
<sup>14015</sup> T. 22 August 2006 p. 19 (Karemano).
<sup>14016</sup> T. 24 August 2006 p. 78 (Karemano).
<sup>14017</sup> T. 24 August 2006 pp. 78-79 (Karemano).
<sup>14018</sup> T. 25 August 2006 pp. 78-79 (Karemano).
<sup>14019</sup> T. 24 August 2006 pp. 78-79 (Karemano).
<sup>14020</sup> T. 24 August 2006 pp. 79; T. 25 August 2006 pp. 43 (Karemano).
<sup>14021</sup> T. 24 August 2006 pp. 79 (Karemano).
<sup>14022</sup> T. 25 August 2006 pp. 43-44 (Karemano).
<sup>14023</sup> T. 21 August 2006 pp. 53-54 (Karemano).
<sup>14024</sup> T. 22 August 2006 pp. 54 (Karemano).
<sup>14025</sup> T. 21 August 2006 pp. 54 (Karemano).
<sup>14026</sup> T. 22 August 2006 pp. 15 (Karemano).
```

reason that people would go to roadblocks, was to stop the enemy from infiltrating the population, although other people went there to kill and then loot the person's house. 14027

5375. Karemano testified that there was a meeting at the University around mid-May 1994 chaired by Prime Minister Kambanda at which academics made heinous speeches saying that Tutsis and, in particular, Tutsi university lecturers should be shot down. By mid-May 1994, Tutsi professors Karenzi and Rumiya and many others had already been killed. A professor named Gaetan, whom people considered to be Tutsi, was also killed; to his knowledge all the Tutsi lecturers of the university who were in Butare on the campus, were killed immediately after 19 April 1994.

Nsabimana Defence Witness BE

5376. Witness BE, a student at the *Groupe Scolaire* in 1994 and a Hutu, ¹⁴⁰³¹ testified that he passed through roadblocks at Rango and Nkubi manned by civilians; since the people manning these roadblocks knew him well, they let him through. ¹⁴⁰³² Local people went to roadblocks at night to carry out night patrols; the witness did not see people of Tutsi ethnicity arrested, killed or mistreated at those roadblocks. ¹⁴⁰³³

Nsabimana Defence Witness Alexandre Bararwandika

5377. Alexandre Bararwandika, a Hutu doctor from Burundi, testified that, officially, roadblocks were set up to prevent infiltration of the RPF fighters. He could not refute that unofficially the roadblocks were used to determine ethnicity. Bararwandika saw the corpse of a man next to a roadblock behind the MSM garage near a mechanic shop, and the corpses of four women in the compound of the primary school. The witness also saw people arrested at the roadblocks. 14037

5378. Bararwandika presented his UNHCR identification card at the roadblocks; he said it was likely that the fact that his identity card indicated his nationality as Burundian satisfied the people at the roadblocks that his ethnicity was Hutu, as most Burundian refugees in Rwanda were Hutus. The witness testified that Rwandans had to show identity cards that displayed their ethnicity, which were asked for at the roadblocks. Mere mention of one's ethnicity was not enough because, officially, the checks were intended to limit the infiltration of the RPF combatants. Hadas

```
14027 T. 22 August 2006 pp. 15-16 (Karemano).
14028 T. 5 September 2006 pp. 52-53 (Karemano).
14029 T. 5 September 2006 p. 53 (Karemano).
14030 T. 5 September 2006 p. 54 (Karemano).
14031 T. 11 July 2006 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness BE).
14032 T. 10 July 2006 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness BE).
14033 T. 10 July 2006 p. 67 (ICS) (Witness BE).
14034 T. 3 July 2006 p. 45; T. 4 July 2006 pp. 56-57 (Bararwandika).
14035 T. 4 July 2006 p. 57 (Bararwandika).
14036 T. 3 July 2006 pp. 46-47, 52; T. 5 July 2006 pp. 14 (Bararwandika).
14037 T. 3 July 2006 pp. 46 (Bararwandika).
14038 T. 4 July 2006 pp. 56 (Bararwandika).
14039 T. 4 July 2006 pp. 56-57 (Bararwandika).
14039 T. 4 July 2006 pp. 56-57 (Bararwandika).
```

5379. The witness transported four Tutsi children from Rango and was worried about how to get them across roadblocks. He went to see the *bourgmestre* who gave him completed identification papers. The secret at the roadblocks was to mention that the children he was evacuating were Hutus, and the strategy worked. In another case this strategy did not work because the person involved was killed before the witness could supply identification papers. ¹⁴⁰⁴⁰

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Céline Nyiraneza

5380. Céline Nyiraneza, Ntahobali's aunt and Nyiramasuhuko's sister, ¹⁴⁰⁴¹ testified that she went to Butare town a few days after the assassination of the President and stayed at the Hotel Ihuliro, crossing two roadblocks on the way. The first was located in front of Hotel Faucon and the second in front of the Rector's office. Two young people in civilian attire manned the roadblocks. When her vehicle got to the roadblock, it came to a stop. The witness was with her three children and another child, a niece of her husband. Those manning the roadblock asked people above 16 years of age to show their identity card. She was asked for her identification in order to determine whether the names of the children appeared in the identity card and ensure that the children who accompanied her were her own. ¹⁴⁰⁴² Nyiraneza testified that she and her eldest child had their identity cards, however, her two younger children did not and were therefore characterised as being accomplices. They were still able to get to the Hotel Ihuliro. ¹⁴⁰⁴³

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

5381. Maurice Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko's husband, Ntahobali's father and Rector of Rwandan National University, 14044 testified that people were stopped at roadblocks; they were identified in order to determine whether they lived within the area and needed to go through the roadblock in order to get to their homes. 14045 Ntahobali was aware that one of his friends, Professor Pierre Claver Karenzi, was murdered in April 1994 in Butare. He heard of this crime a few days after it occurred. 14046

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness CEM

5382. Witness CEM, a Hutu teacher, ¹⁴⁰⁴⁷ testified that she did not know the ethnicity of the people who manned the roadblocks. ¹⁴⁰⁴⁸ The witness stated that roadblocks were not erected to kill people; when one got to a roadblock one was asked to present identification papers and were then allowed to go. ¹⁴⁰⁴⁹ She said she never saw anybody killed near a roadblock, and never witnessed anybody killed during the day. ¹⁴⁰⁵⁰ The witness testified that she knew that

```
14040 T. 4 July 2006 p. 45 (Bararwandika).
14041 T. 23 February 2005 p. 72 (Céline Nyiraneza).
14042 T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Céline Nyiraneza).
14043 T. 24 February 2005 p. 35 (Céline Nyiraneza).
14044 T. 12 September 2005 pp. 16, 47 (Maurice Ntahobali).
14045 T. 16 September 2005 p. 83 (Maurice Ntahobali).
14046 T. 16 September 2005 p. 73 (Maurice Ntahobali).
14047 T. 14 February 2005 p. 19 (Witness CEM).
14048 T. 15 February 2005 pp. 34-35 (Witness CEM).
14049 T. 15 February 2005 p. 35 (Witness CEM).
14050 T. 15 February 2005 p. 34 (Witness CEM).
```

both Hutus and Tutsis were killed in May 1994. 14051 At the Hotel Faucon and EER roadblocks, she presented her identity card when asked and it was given back to her and she went on her way. 14052 Everyone who passed the roadblock was asked to stop and show their identity card. 14053 She said that when one presented an identity card, it was checked and handed back. ¹⁴⁰⁵⁴ She agreed ethnicity was indicated on identity cards. ¹⁴⁰⁵⁵

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WZNA

5383. Witness WZNA, a Hutu factory worker, 14056 testified that she had to go through various roadblocks to get to her place of work, including Mukoni, one near the University laboratory, one near the Rector's office, at Hotel Faucon and Rwabuye. At all the roadblocks the situation was the same; the soldiers manning the roadblock asked for identity papers and then let the vehicle through. 14057

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness WKNKI

5384. Witness WKNKI, a Hutu trader, testified that towards the end of May 1994 roadblocks were mounted throughout the country, and there was at least one in each secteur. They were mounted as part of the civil defence operation in order to check infiltrations. Witness WKNKI manned a roadblock; they were not intended to prevent people from fleeing. They checked for infiltrators by asking for identity cards; roadblocks aimed to find out who was coming from out of the country and attacking Rwanda, not to single out Tutsis. 14059

Ntahobali Defence Witness WKNMJ

5385. Witness WKNMJ, a Hutu farmer, testified that she saw roadblocks at Mukoni, near the University and at the IPN (National Pedagogic Institute). Identification cards were checked at roadblocks. She agreed that her identity card bore her ethnicity. She said soldiers were present at the roadblocks and she saw no dead bodies near the roadblocks. 14060

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCNMC

5386. Witness WCNMC, a Hutu student in 1994, testified that when she got to a particular roadblock, people would be stopped, show their identity card and then be allowed to continue. 14061 One morning, when she was on her way to Butare, she saw three people being arrested at the Mukoni roadblock for not having any identity cards but she did not witness any

```
<sup>14051</sup> T. 15 February 2005 pp. 15-16 (Witness CEM).
<sup>14052</sup> T. 14 February 2005 pp. 43, 48 (Witness CEM).
```

¹⁴⁰⁵³ T. 15 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness CEM).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁴ T. 14 February 2005 p. 45 (Witness CEM).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁵ T. 15 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness CEM).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁶ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 43-44 (ICS); T. 5 April 2005 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WZNA).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁷ T. 4 April 2005 pp. 48-50 (Witness WZNA).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁸ T. 2 March 2005 pp. 5-6 (Witness WKNKI).

¹⁴⁰⁵⁹ T. 2 March 2005 pp. 60-61 (Witness WKNKI).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁰ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 6-7 (ICS) (Witness WKNMJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶¹ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 35, 37 (Witness WCNMC).

killings at the roadblocks. 14062 She confirmed that her ethnicity was indicated on her identity card and that she was allowed to pass through the roadblocks. 14063

Ntahobali Defence Witness WUNBJ

5387. Witness WUNBJ, a préfecture employee, manned a roadblock in his cellule; between April and July 1994 all able-bodied men were expected to man roadblocks. Witness WUNBJ was told that the enemy was the RPF, who carried guns. As such, the witness, with others, checked those carrying luggage to see if they carried guns because the RPF infiltrated the members of the population who were fleeing. He did not see any RPF carrying firearms at the roadblock, nor did they ever arrest anyone. 14066

5388. Witness WUNBJ stated that the second page of identity cards showed a photograph of the bearer under which was the bearer's ethnic origin, Tutsi, Parmehutu or Twa. 14067 One's ethnic group was clearly visible under the photo, and not hidden. Witness WUNBJ testified that he never witnessed any killings or crimes at roadblocks. ¹⁴⁰⁶⁹ At roadblocks manned by civilians, people who did not carry bags or luggage could pass through without being checked. He did not ask people without luggage to show identity cards. He explained that people were only asked to present their identity cards at roadblocks manned by soldiers. 14070 The witness testified that if people did not have identity papers, they could also provide their professional service card, and if they were simple peasants, they could provide an authorisation or paper given by the *conseiller de secteur*. ¹⁴⁰⁷¹ People who went through roadblocks were questioned as to where they came from and where they were going, their cars and bicycles were searched and people's possessions were unloaded and checked. 14072

Ntahobali Defence Witness H1B6

5389. Witness H1B6, a Hutu student at the National University in 1994, testified that they were asked to show their identity cards at the roadblocks. They produced their student cards, which did not contain any reference to their ethnic origin, and were allowed to pass. He did not see people sitting or killed, and did not see any blood at the roadblocks. 14073

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCMNA

5390. Witness WCMNA, a Hutu, testified that he heard that during April to June 1994 in Butare, Tutsis and persons who were unable to show their identification papers at the

¹⁴⁰⁶² T. 29 November 2005 pp. 37-38 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁴⁰⁶³ T. 29 November 2005 pp. 38, 55 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁴ T. 5 April 2006 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁵ T. 5 April 2006 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁶ T. 5 April 2006 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁷ T. 8 March 2006 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁸ T. 5 April 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁶⁹ T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁷⁰ T. 5 April 2006 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁷¹ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 24, 28 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁷² T. 8 March 2006 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴⁰⁷³ T. 1 December 2005 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6).

roadblocks were killed by Hutus. 14074 He did not see anyone being killed at a roadblock in Butare between April and July 1994. Towards the beginning of June 1994, other roadblocks were mounted in Butare town, due to the massive influx of persons displaced by the war, which rendered it necessary to see if there were infiltrators among the displaced persons. At the time it was considered that since the infiltrators were alleged to have come from outside the country, they therefore would not have identity papers, and those who came to roadblocks without Rwandan or internationally-recognised identity papers could be the enemy. In general, people with papers were able to pass roadblocks, but that was not always the case. 14077

Ntahobali Defence Witness WCKJ

5391. Witness WCKJ, a Hutu trainer at the CFP in 1994, often passed the roadblocks at Kangoma, *Groupe Scolaire* and the one in front of Hotel Faucon; each time he went through the roadblock near the Hotel Faucon he was asked to provide his identity card. He stated that when a person passed a roadblock, the person was asked to show his papers and if the person was carrying a bag, their bag was checked, and then the person continued on his way. Although he heard people saying so, he never saw anyone killed at those roadblocks, or dead bodies, although he did not know if people were killed at the roadblock and then moved. House 14080

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-72

5392. Witness AND-72, a Hutu government official, testified that the population agreed to set up roadblocks in order to make sure that no one, or rather no RPF soldiers, would infiltrate the *commune*, and in order to ensure security in the different *secteurs* of the *commune*. ¹⁴⁰⁸¹ Persons in charge of roadblocks were instructed to check foreigners who intended to enter the *secteur*, inspect their identity cards, arrest wrong-doers and hand them over to the *commune* authorities. ¹⁴⁰⁸² *Commune* security ordered the *conseiller* to set up roadblocks. ¹⁴⁰⁸³ Identity cards were checked at roadblocks in order to determine the persons' ethnic origin. Civilians, including women and children, were killed at the roadblocks.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-60

5393. Witness AND-60, a Hutu accountant in 1994, stated that he went through a roadblock in Mamba *secteur*, but was not required to show his identity card as the persons manning the

```
14074 T. 21 February 2006 p. 65 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).
14075 T. 21 February 2006 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA).
14076 T. 21 February 2006 pp. 24-25 (ICS); T. 22 February 2006 pp. 16 (Witness WCMNA).
14077 T. 22 February 2006 pp. 16-17 (Witness WCMNA).
14078 T. 31 January 2006 pp. 61 (Witness WCKJ).
14079 T. 31 January 2006 pp. 22 (Witness WCKJ).
14080 T. 31 January 2006 pp. 61 (Witness WCKJ).
14081 T. 6 December 2006 pp. 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).
14082 T. 6 December 2006 pp. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).
14083 T. 6 December 2006 pp. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).
14084 T. 6 December 2006 pp. 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).
```

roadblock knew him. Only unknown persons or those carrying goods were asked to show their identity cards. 14085

Ntezirvavo Defence Witness AND-53

5394. Witness AND-53, a Hutu farmer, testified that civilians armed with sticks manned the roadblock at Kanga Junction. A roadblock was set up there to monitor the passage of persons who did not have identity cards, to make sure those passing were not RPF troops. If people refused to show their identification papers, those manning the roadblocks were to blow whistles to alert the population to come to their rescue. At no time did RPF soldiers pass by. ¹⁴⁰⁸⁷ He testified he never heard that people had been killed at the roadblock. ¹⁴⁰⁸⁸

Ntezirvavo Defence Witness AND-30

5395. Witness AND-30, a Hutu teacher, testified that people thought the RPF was about to invade Ndora commune and in the aftermath roadblocks were set up to identify those who passed through their *commune*. ¹⁴⁰⁸⁹ He heard that those who manned the roadblocks examined identity cards and baggage to identify who was an enemy or an accomplice of the enemy. The roadblocks had to be manned by men from the commune, and they were manned 24 hours a day. 14090 He never saw or heard that people had been killed at a roadblock in his area. 14091

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-16

5396. Witness AND-16, a Hutu trader, testified that a roadblock erected at Sakindi on 22 April 1994, was intended to stop members of the population from fleeing. In the evening he saw corpses at the roadblock and learned that the roadblock was erected to control the migration of displaced persons. 14092 He was told that Semunkima and Kagewje had stopped the people and killed them after having asked them to show their identification cards. 14093

5397. On 22 April 1994 about seven Tutsi women and girls who had escaped an attack sought refuge in his house. He said that members of their families had been killed and their houses had been destroyed. When those women wanted to flee towards the Mugogwe secteur, they were prevented from crossing the roadblock. 14094

Kanyabashi Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntiens

5398. Filip Reyntjens was referred to the minutes of a Security Council meeting of 20 April 1994 which provided that: "People who do not have identity papers or identification papers

¹⁴⁰⁸⁵ T. 14 March 2007 pp. 43-44 (Witness AND-60).

¹⁴⁰⁸⁶ T. 15 February 2007 pp. 66-67 (Witness AND-53).

¹⁴⁰⁸⁷ T. 19 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-53).

¹⁴⁰⁸⁸ T. 15 February 2007 p. 67 (Witness AND-53).

¹⁴⁰⁸⁹ T. 27 February 2007 pp. 12-13 (Witness AND-30).

¹⁴⁰⁹⁰ T. 27 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-30).

¹⁴⁰⁹¹ T. 27 February 2007 p. 12 (Witness AND-30).

¹⁴⁰⁹² T. 25 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹⁴⁰⁹³ T. 25 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹⁴⁰⁹⁴ T. 23 January 2007 p. 62 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

should be careful so that no one should suffer injustice."¹⁴⁰⁹⁵ He was further shown a passage from Des Forges' Report that read "[r]ecognizing that all those who did not have identification papers ran the risk of being killed, participants [of the 20 April 1994 Security Council meeting] declared that it was, indeed, necessary to make sure that 'innocent people do not become victims as well', no doubt meaning those Hutu who had fled their homes without the necessary documents". ¹⁴⁰⁹⁶ When asked about Des Forges' interpretation, Reyntjens remarked that while Des Forges referred to "innocent people", the text of the Security Council meeting said that "no one", not only innocent people, should suffer injustice [at roadblocks]. ¹⁴⁰⁹⁷ Reyntjens testified that most of the time people were not handed over to authorities but were killed on the spot. ¹⁴⁰⁹⁸

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-YYYY

5399. Witness D-2-YYYY, a Hutu civil servant, 14099 stated that he had to pass through a given roadblock each time he went to and from work. Each time he had to produce his identification because those manning the roadblock said that *Inyenzi* could disguise themselves dressing in a similar manner. At the Hotel Faucon roadblock he saw the body of the university lecturer, Karenzi. 14102

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-20-F

5400. Witness D-2-20-F, a Hutu cook at *Groupe Scolaire*, testified that around 14 or 15 May 1994, 13 Hutu persons were arrested for having perpetrated killings against Tutsis. He saw people with firearms, bows, arrows and spears arresting his elder brother and taking him away. The witness said the *conseiller* tried to bring the arrested persons to the authorities, but soldiers intervened and shot the persons down at the roadblock at the University Laboratory. ¹⁴¹⁰³

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-O

5401. Witness D-2-13-O, a Hutu driver in 1994, 14104 testified that Kanyabashi issued a Hutu identity card to his Tutsi wife that enabled them to cross several roadblocks. At each roadblock the witness was asked to show his identity card and was then allowed to pass. 14106

_

¹⁴⁰⁹⁵ T. 2 October 2007 p. 39 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 465C (Nsabimana) (Minutes of the Security Council meeting chaired by Nsabimana on 20 April 1994).

¹⁴⁰⁹⁶ T. 2 October 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 24.

¹⁴⁰⁹⁷ T. 2 October 2007 p. 41 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁰⁹⁸ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 66-67 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁰⁹⁹ Defence Exhibit 612 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars); T. 26 November 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴¹⁰⁰ T. 28 November 2007 p. 52 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴¹⁰¹ T. 28 November 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴¹⁰² T. 28 November 2007 pp. 54-55 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴¹⁰³ T. 10 March 2008 pp. 68, 70-71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

¹⁴¹⁰⁴ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 18-19 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 600 (Kanyabashi) (Personal Particulars).

¹⁴¹⁰⁵ T. 8 November 2007 p. 26 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-O); Defence Exhibit 604B (Nsabimana) (8 December 2004, Statement of D-2-13-O).

¹⁴¹⁰⁶ T. 5 November 2007 pp. 49-50 (Witness D-2-13-O).

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-13-D

5402. Witness D-2-13-D, a Hutu mechanic, stated that on about 10 April 1994 the Interahamwe were at the Butare MSM garage roadblock and asked for his identification papers. 14107 On another occasion, at the Hotel Faucon roadblock, he saw Cassien Nkundumeremye, a commune policeman, being asked for his identification. Those at the roadblock checked Cassien's card and gave it back to him but said that he had a wife that was a Tutsi. He also saw other people crossing the roadblocks having their identity documents checked. 14108 Witness D-2-13-D also testified that Jean Semwiza ordered people to set up roadblocks in mid-May in his secteur. 14109

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-11-D

5403. Witness D-2-11-D, a Hutu farmer, testified that he was asked to show his identity card at a roadblock at the Ngoma/Huye commune border. The roadblock was manned by about 10 local people from Huye, dressed in civilian attire and armed with firearms. 14110 Those manning the roadblock also had traditional weapons like machetes, swords and bows. 14111

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-2-5-I

5404. Witness D-2-5-I, a Hutu civil servant, testified that at the Hotel Faucon roadblock, which was manned by soldiers, he saw the body of university lecturer, Claver Karenzi. 14112 He said it was obvious the soldiers had killed Karenzi. He did not see bodies at this roadblock on other days. 14113

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-1-4-O

5405. Witness D-1-4-O, a Hutu working at a health clinic in 1994, testified that while crossing some roadblocks in May 1994, he was required to produce his identification card, while at others he was let through without producing any document or having to answer any questions. Children who accompanied him were allowed to cross without difficulties. 14114

Kanyabashi Defence Witness D-13-D

5406. Witness D-13-D, a Hutu driver for a government agency, testified that he was let through roadblocks by showing a pass signed by Gatsinzi to the persons manning the roadblock. 14115 He also showed his identity card which identified him as a Hutu. 14116

```
<sup>14107</sup> T. 10 September 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>14108</sup> T. 30 August 2007 pp. 57-58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>14109</sup> T. 30 August 2007 pp. 54, 56 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D).
<sup>14110</sup> T. 23 October 2007 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D).
<sup>14111</sup> T. 23 October 2007 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D).
<sup>14112</sup> T. 21 January 2008 p. 34 (ICS); T. 31 January 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>14113</sup> T. 31 January 2008 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).
<sup>14114</sup> T. 8 May 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O).
<sup>14115</sup> T. 19 February 2008 p. 60; T. 25 February 2008 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).
```

¹⁴¹¹⁶ T. 25 February 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D).

Nyiramasuhuko

5407. Having regard to Kambanda's instructions of 27 April 1994 concerning the establishment of roadblocks, Nyiramasuhuko testified that the government insisted on officially recognised roadblocks because there was information that some people were taking it upon themselves to mount roadblocks. Nyiramasuhuko testified that those who were looting or stealing were to be arrested and punished. Nyiramasuhuko stated that between 20 and 30 April 1994, the Cabinet learned there were killings in Butare *préfecture*. In June 1994, massacres were gradually coming to an end and there were sporadic killings perpetrated by bandits or infiltrators. Identity cards were checked because Rwanda was being attacked by the *Inkotanyi* who were coming from Uganda, along with Ugandans, Sudanese, Burundians, and some people from Tanzania; luggage was searched because the RPF carried bullets in their luggage.

<u>Ntahobali</u>

5408. Ntahobali testified that roadblocks and night patrols were necessary to search for and keep an eye on foreigners. At a meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994, the authorities told the population that acts of violence and killings were perpetrated by thugs, gangsters or hoodlums, who were working for the enemy. Roadblocks were set up to prevent these hoodlums from killing. 14123

Nteziryayo

5409. Nteziryayo testified that the main reason for the establishment of civil defence was to protect and defend the population, and not to kill Tutsis. 14124

<u>Nsabimana</u>

5410. Nsabimana testified that he closed down several roadblocks erected by civilians. He also urged Colonel Muvunyi to close other unjustified roadblocks but only soldiers could do something at the roadblocks manned by soldiers; a lay-person could not interfere with roadblocks manned by soldiers. 14125

Ndayambaje

5411. Ndayambaje testified that RPF propaganda claimed that roadblocks were set up with a view to facilitating massacres, such that any person at a roadblock was regarded as a killer and

¹⁴¹¹⁷ T. 27 September 2005 p. 9; T. 29 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

¹⁴¹¹⁸ T. 27 September 2005 pp. 10-12 (Nyiramasuhuko).

T. 10 October 2005 p. 43 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴¹²⁰ T. 10 October 2005 p. 47 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴¹²¹ T. 4 October 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴¹²² T. 13 April 2006 p. 17 (Ntahobali).

¹⁴¹²³ T. 3 May 2006 pp. 25-26 (Ntahobali).

¹⁴¹²⁴ T. 27 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴¹²⁵ T. 18 September 2006 pp. 73-74 (Nsabimana).

came to be known as an *Interahamwe*. 14126 He said the mounting of roadblocks was a reflex which had occurred even before 1990, they were not mounted in a bid to attack anyone. 14127

3.7.9.4 Deliberations

- 3.7.9.4.1 Location of Roadblocks and Presence of Soldiers, *Interahamwe* and Civilians
- 5412. The Parties agreed as to the existence of roadblocks in Butare préfecture during the period in question. Although some roadblocks existed prior to 6 April 1994 in Butare préfecture, the number of roadblocks increased substantially after that date. 14128 The Chamber accepts that some roadblocks were set up in Butare town starting in 1990.
- 5413. After 6 April 1994, roadblocks existed at major intersections in Butare town. 14129 The Chamber has already noted that it was uncontested that the number of roadblocks in Butare in May 1994 was considerable, restricting ease of movement (). The Chamber recalls its finding, for example, regarding the existence of the roadblock which existed near Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's house, located at a distance of approximately 50-100 metres from the Hotel Ihuliro ().
- 5414. Although some witnesses referred to these roadblocks by differing names, the Chamber has considered maps and photographs of the intersections as well as witness testimony and is

¹⁴¹²⁶ T. 19 November 2008 p. 6 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴¹²⁷ T. 25 November 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴¹²⁸ T. 13 September 2005 pp. 37-38 (Maurice Ntahobali) (roadblocks around Butare town in 1990); T. 10 October 2005 p. 12 (Nyiramasuhuko) (civil defence system in place between 1990-1994); T. 13 April 2006 pp. 35-36, 44-45 (Ntahobali) (roadblocks in Butare and Kigali after the 1990 attack); T. 18 April 2006 pp. 11, 13 (Ntahobali) (roadblocks mounted in Butare town from 1990 when the RPF attacked Rwanda): T. 17 February 2004 p. 56 (ICS) (Witness RV) (roadblocks set up since the RPF launched an attack against Rwanda in 1992. Number increased following the death of President Habyarimana); T. 15 April 2004 p. 55 (Witness RK) (two roadblocks in his secteur erected when the Inkotanvi attacked and another two erected after the President was killed); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 44-45 (extract) (Witness D-13-D) (several roadblocks in Ngoma commune existed after 10 April 1994 which were manned by soldiers); T. 14 February 2008 p. 47 (ICS) (roadblocks not mounted before Habyarimana's death); T. 12 October 2005 pp. 61-62 (Nyiramasuhuko) (roadblocks existed between 1992 and 1994, but after 6 April 1994, the number of roadblocks increased tremendously); T. 25 November 2008 p. 36 (Ndayambaje) (roadblocks mounted even before 1990, so it was not surprising that they

were re-mounted in 1994).

14129 T. 20 March 2002 pp. 57-59 (Witness QCB) (roadblock at the house of Amanda Rugira); T. 12 September 2006 pp. 36-38 (Nsabimana) (roadblocks at Mukoni, opposite the University Laboratory, Chez Bihira, Hotel Faucon); T. 11 July 2006 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness BE) (roadblocks at Mukoni, near university gate, and on the road to Groupe Scolaire); T. 3 July 2006 p. 44 (Bararwandika) (roadblocks at Groupe Scolaire, économat general, ESO and the MSM garage); T. 1 June 2005 p. 55 (Witness WBUC) (roadblocks at the entrance to Butare on Gikongoro road, Hotel Faucon and Rectory); T. 9 February 2005 pp. 51-52 (Clarisse Ntahobali) (roadblocks at Rector's office, Hotel Faucon and close to *préfet's* residence); T. 4 April 2005 pp. 48-50 (Witness WZNA) (roadblocks at Mukoni, University Laboratory, office of the Rector, Hotel Faucon and Rwabuye); T. 1 December 2005 pp. 56-57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6) (roadblocks near Rugira's house, at ESO and rectorat manned by soldiers); T. 2 February 2006 pp. 6-7 (Witness WCNJ) (roadblocks at Ngoma Camp, Hotel Faucon, Mukoni, at *Préfet* Habyarimana's house, and at the EER); T. 21 February 2006 pp. 14, 61 (roadblocks at Hotel Faucon, office of the Rector); T. 31 January 2006 pp. 21-22 (Witness WCKJ) (one week after death of President, he only saw a roadblock at Ngoma military camp); T. 31 January 2006 pp. 29-30 (ICS) (Witness WCKJ) (on 19 or 20 May 1994, roadblocks at Hotel Ibis, Hotel Faucon, Mukoni and Groupe Scolaire); T. 21 January 2008 p. 59 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I) (roadblock at the rectorate/Chez Bihira); T. 8 May 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O) (roadblocks at dancing bar, University Laboratory, Hotel Ihuliro, *Groupe Scolaire*, and Hotel Faucon).

satisfied that the testimony referred to roadblocks at the same locations. Soldiers initially manned these roadblocks. Members of the Presidential Guard manned the roadblock at the Mukoni intersection near the home of President Sindikubwabo. Mukoni

5415. In late April or May 1994, civilians started to man the roadblocks with the soldiers and to mount new roadblocks in other locations throughout Ngoma *commune*. 14133 These civilian

T. 20 March 2002 pp. 38, 55 (Witness QCB); T. 30 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D); T. 19
 November 2007 p. 38 (Bernadette Kamanzi); T. 14 February 2008 pp. 44, 59 (Witness D-13-D); T. 13 June 2007 pp. 10-11 (Nteziryayo); *but see* T. 4 April 2005 p. 48 (Witness WZNA) (Mukoni roadblock manned by soldiers).
 T. 13 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QBU) (roadblock at

¹⁴¹³⁰ The witnesses named roadblocks according to the buildings found nearby. Where several buildings were in a particular area, the witnesses referred to these roadblocks by different names. For example, the rector's office was near *Chez* Bihira, CUSP, and the Butare *préfecture* office; *Chez* Rugira was near the University Laboratory; and Mukoni junction was near President Sindikubwabo's house. *See* Defence Exhibit 412 (Ntahobali) (Sketch of Ngoma *commune* roadblocks by Ntahobali); Defence Exhibit 231 (Ntahobali) (Des Forges' Sketch Map of Ngoma *Commune* – Genocide Sites) (indicating major roadblocks); Prosecution Exhibit 54 (Sketch of Butare town by Witness QCB).

¹⁴¹³¹ T. 1 March 2005 pp. 35, 37 (Witness WKNKI) (on 11 April 1994, roadblocks at ESO, University Avenue and road towards Cyarwa were also manned by soldiers); T. 28 September 2005 pp. 29-30 (Nyiramasuhuko) (roadblocks located at military camp, entrance to Butare, préfecture office, Rwabuye, Hotel Faucon, near Bihira were all guarded by soldiers on 14 April 1994); T. 29 November 2005 p. 32 (Witness WCNMC) (roadblocks at Mukoni and Chez Rugira manned by soldiers); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 20, 22-23 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ) (one week after 6 April 1994, roadblocks at Mukoni, University Laboratory, IPN/Rector's office manned by soldiers); T. 14 February 2006 pp. 20, 29 (Witness WCUJM) (one week after 7 April 1994, roadblocks at Mukoni, University Laboratory, and IPN manned by soldiers); T. 29 November 2005 p. 6 (ICS) (Witness WKNMJ) (roadblocks at Mukoni, University, and IPN manned by soldiers between April and June 1994); T. 12 April 2006 pp. 16, 67 (Ntahobali) (between 1990 and 1994, all roadblocks manned by soldiers and gendarmes except one in Kabutare manned by civilians); T. 24 April 2006 pp. 8-9 (Ntahobali) (13 April 1994, roadblocks at Hotel Faucon and rector's office manned by ESO soldiers); T. 19 April 2007 p. 31 (Witness AND-44) (Hotel Faucon roadblock manned by armed soldiers); T. 27 November 2007 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (first week after the death of President, roadblocks mounted at Mukoni, University, Chez Bihira, Hotel Faucon, and Magerwa manned by soldiers); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 48-49 (Witness D-2-13-O) (there were roadblocks at hospital, laboratory, BPO. Hotel Ibis: Chez Bihira roadblock manned by 2-3 soldiers and some civilians); T. 30 August 2007 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D) (about 10 April 1994, the roadblocks at University Road, the rector's office, and Hotel Faucon manned by soldiers; the Hotel Ihuliro and Ibis Hotel roadblocks manned by *Interahamwe*); T. 23 October 2007 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D) (Hotel Faucon and Chez Bihira roadblocks manned by armed soldiers); T. 14 September 2006 pp. 64, 74 (Nsabimana) (Muvunyi got clear information that roadblocks in town manned by his soldiers, but one manned by a commune policeman); T. 3 July 2006 p. 45 (Bararwandika) (Groupe Scolaire and rector office roadblocks manned by soldiers); T. 25 September 2006 p. 12 (Keane) (around June 1994, stronger military component to roadblocks closer to Butare); T. 1 June 2005 p. 55 (Witness WBUC) (roadblocks at Hotel Faucon and Rectory manned by men in military uniforms); T. 14 February 2005 pp. 43-45 (Witness CEM) (one or two weeks after the assassination of the President, roadblocks at Hotel Faucon and Groupe Scolaire manned by people wearing military uniforms); T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Céline Nyiraneza) (Hotel Faucon and Rector's office roadblocks manned by young people in civilian attire); T. 28 February 2005 p. 22 (Céline Nyiraneza) (possible that roadblocks manned by soldiers, not civilians); T. 31 January 2007 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness AND-17) (no roadblock at Hotel Faucon, but soldiers on the road nearby).

¹⁴¹³³ T. 13 April 2004 p. 7 (Witness QBU); T. 13 April 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness QBU) (roadblock at Nyiramasuhuko's residence, manned by *Interahamwe*, between April and July 1994); T. 25 March 2003 pp. 53, 55-56 (Witness QY) (Nyaruhengeri roadblock manned by civilians but she was not sure if there were also soldiers. She later testified that there were only civilians and no soldiers at the roadblock. There were also *Interahamwe* who were people "from the populous" at the roadblock); T. 17 March 2003 pp. 69-70 (Witness SD) (roadblocks at Mukoni and at Cyarwa all manned by *Interahamwe*); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 41-43 (Witness FAP) (*Interahamwe* manned a roadblock at Nyiramasuhuko's residence between April and July 1994); T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS) (Witness TQ) (Kigembe roadblock in between the road leading to Gikongoro and the Nyakibanda Major Seminary manned by members of civil defence); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 30-31 (Witness TA)

roadblocks were not mounted spontaneously. Rather civilians were encouraged by government leaders, including *responsables de cellule*, *conseillers de secteur*, *bourgmestres* and individuals, to mount and man these roadblocks. 14134

(Interahamwe manned roadblocks near the BPO); T. 22 August 2006 pp. 16, 19 (Karemano) (after 19 April 1994) civilians manned roadblocks); T. 25 September 2006 p. 12 (Keane) (during his 15 June 1994 visit to Butare a large number of roadblocks between Burundi and Butare were manned by civilians); T. 26 September 2006 p. 63 (Keane) (many of those civilians manning roadblocks were *Interahamwe*); T. 25 September 2006 p. 76 (Keane) (at the roadblock near the BPO, young men wore quasi-military uniforms; some wore military jackets and jeans); T. 15 February 2005 p. 11 (Witness CEM) (in May, Ihuliro roadblock manned by civilians); T. 27 October 2005 p. 30 (Nyiramasuhuko) (on 7 May 1994, "Interahamwe" meant all youths at roadblocks; armed, unemployed persons); T. 12 October 2005 p. 5 (Nyiramasuhuko) (new roadblocks were created between 14 and 30 May 1994 and new roadblocks were installed after 31 May 1994); T. 8 March 2006 pp. 24, 26-27 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ) (two or three weeks after the first roadblocks were set up, new roadblocks appeared in Rango, Tumba and Nkubi secteurs and Bwanakeye, manned by members of the population); T. 21 February 2006 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA) (new roadblocks were mounted at the beginning of June at rectorat, Episcopal church, primary school and Sindikubwabo's house); T. 18 April 2006 p. 46 (Ntahobali) (end of May or early June 1994, new roadblocks were created and manned by civilians); T. 5 December 2006 pp. 47, 50 (ICS) (Witness AND-5) (roadblocks were initially manned by Hutus and Tutsis; but after meeting of 27 April 1994 manned only by Hutus); T. 14 February 2008 p. 58 (Witness D-13-D) (new roadblock at end of April-early May 1994); T. 19 February 2008 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D) (end of April or early May 1994, roadblock at Chez Rugira was initially manned by soldiers and subsequently by civilians); T. 31 May 2005 pp. 41-42, 46 (ICS) (Witness WBTT) (on 9 April 1994, Hotel Faucon roadblock was manned by soldiers; on 20 April 1994, Hotel Faucon roadblock was manned by soldiers and some civilians); T. 9 June 2005 pp. 30-31 (Denise Ntahobali) (roadblocks at rector's office and Hotel Faucon were manned by soldiers, other roadblocks were manned by members of the public); T. 25 January 2006 pp. 21, 23 (ICS) (Witness WQMJP) (some were manned by soldiers and civilians and others manned by only soldiers); T. 14 February 2006 p. 22 (Witness WCUJM); T. 14 February 2006 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness WCUJM) (after May, another roadblock was mounted in his secteur, and it was expected that all inhabitants show up to man it); T. 13 November 2001 pp. 117-118 (Witness OJ) (after President Sindikubwabo attended the Party meeting at the MRND Palace in Butare town, sometime between 17 and 21 April 1994, many more roadblocks were erected); T. 3 July 2006 p. 55 (Bararwandika) (people at roadblocks were mainly militiamen and soldiers); T. 25 March 2004 p. 46 (ICS) (Witness QI) (Hotel Ihuliro roadblock was manned by civilians, soldiers and *Interahamwe*). ¹⁴¹³⁴ T. 3 March 2003 pp. 26, 28, 33 (Witness SS) (Nyiramasuhuko appeared to be in charge of the roadblock in

front of Nyiramasuhuko's house); T. 30 June 2004 pp. 53, 64 (ICS) (Witness FA) (people killed at the roadblock near the Hotel Ihuliro from April until June 1994. Nyiramasuhuko controlled the roadblock, and her son often manned the roadblock); T. 30 October 2002 p. 101 (ICS) (Witness FAI) (on 19 April 1994, the conseiller of Nyamure secteur called a meeting at which the mounting of roadblocks was discussed, after which roadblocks were immediately erected); T. 31 October 2002 pp. 7-8 (ICS) (Witness FAI); T. 4 November 2002 p. 51 (Witness FAI); T. 14 April 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness FAK); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 66-67 (Witness FAK) (immediately after 6 April 1994, Kibayi secteur conseiller, Jean-Bosco Ndagijama, ordered roadblocks be set up); T. 11 July 2006 p. 44 (ICS) (Witness TWW); T. 12 July 2006 p. 18 (Witness TWW) (after the arrival of refugees, cellule head ordered roadblocks be set up); T. 24 August 2006 p. 66 (Karemano) (Interim Government asked population to set up roadblocks); T. 13 February 2007 p. 54 (Witness AND-73) (cellule and secteur authorities organised nightly patrols and drew up lists of people who should participate); T. 6 December 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-72) (one week after President's death, bourgmestre of Muganza commune convened a meeting during which authorities agreed to set up roadblocks); T. 22 January 2007 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness AND-16) (witness' conseiller built roadblocks on 7 April 1994, but they were dismantled by attackers from Shyanda on 15 or 16 April; new conseiller built other roadblocks on 21 or 22 April 1994); T. 4 December 2006 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-5) (on 12 and 14 April 1994, the bourgmestre of Mugusa commune held a meeting at which he instructed the population on methods of erecting roadblocks; roadblocks were built); but see T. 31 October 2002 pp. 86-87 (ICS) (Witness FAI) (appointed one of his workers as head of a roadblock situated at Bugina); T. 30 August 2007 p. 54 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D) (member of the population named Semwiza ordered people to set up a roadblock in mid-May); T. 12 December 2007 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I) (witness imagined that military authorities ordered soldiers to mount roadblocks).

5416. Furthermore, it was largely uncontested that people who passed through the roadblocks in Butare *préfecture* were asked for identification by civilians, soldiers and *Interahamwe* manning the roadblocks and that national identification cards at that time indicated the ethnic group of the individual. ¹⁴¹³⁵

3.7.9.4.2 Targeting and Killing at Roadblocks

5417. The Parties contested whether Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks. The Prosecution contends that the roadblocks were used to identify Tutsis. The Defence argues the roadblocks were used to identify the RPF and that identification was checked to determine

¹⁴¹³⁵ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 101-102 (ICS) (Witness FAI) (anyone who came upon the roadblock was supposed to show identity papers); T. 12 November 2001 p. 14 (Witness QJ) (Hutus would be allowed to pass through while those whose identification cards read "Tutsi" would be asked to step aside); T. 4 March 2004 pp. 63, 65; T. 9 March 2004 p. 63 (Witness FAU) (people were told during a meeting to ask the Tutsis for their identity cards); T. 20 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB) (woman was asked to produce her identification at the Rugira roadblock); T. 14 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAK) (identification cards used to identify the "Inkotanyi" bore the bearer's ethnic origin); T. 20 March 2002 p. 9 (Witness QBV) (verification of ethnicity by checking their identification cards); T. 12 July 2006 p. 20 (Witness TWW) (in 1994, identification cards displayed a person's ethnic identity); T. 5 July 2006 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness SOLO) (witness made to show his identity card, but did not know what they were checking for); T. 24 August 2006 p. 79 (Karemano); T. 21 August 2006 p. 54 (Karemano) (it was often the identity card that was requested at roadblocks); T. 4 July 2006 p. 56 (Bararwandika) (Rwandans had to show identification cards that displayed their ethnicity at the roadblocks); T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Céline Nyiraneza) (at roadblocks, identification would be checked to ensure whether the names of the children appeared in the identity card and that those children were really yours); T. 15 February 2005 p. 35 (Witness CEM) (at roadblocks one was asked to present identification papers and then allowed to go); T. 15 February 2005 p. 12 (Witness CEM) (everyone passing roadblock asked to stop and show identity card); T. 29 November 2005 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness WKNMJ) (identification cards checked at roadblocks. Witness' identification bore her ethnicity, being "Hutu"); T. 29 November 2005 p. 37 (Witness WCNMC) (people stopped at roadblocks to show identity cards and would then be allowed to continue); T. 5 April 2006 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ) (people were only asked to present their identification cards at roadblocks which were manned by soldiers); T. 8 March 2006 p. 24 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 5 April 2006 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ) (ethnic origin appeared on identification card); T. 1 December 2005 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6) (asked to show identification cards at roadblocks; produced student cards that did not contain any reference to their ethnic origin and allowed to pass); T. 31 January 2006 p. 61 (Witness WCKJ) (at Hotel Faucon roadblock asked to provide his identity card every time he passed); T. 6 December 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness AND-72) (persons in charge of roadblocks were instructed to check foreigners who intended to enter the secteur and inspect their identity cards); T. 14 March 2007 pp. 43-44 (Witness AND-60) (only unknown persons or those carrying goods were asked to show their identity cards); T. 19 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-53) (roadblock set up at Kanga Junction to monitor the passage of persons who did not have identification cards, to make sure those passing were not RPF troops); T. 27 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-30) (heard that those who manned the roadblocks examined identity cards and baggage to identify who was an enemy or an accomplice of the enemy); T. 25 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-16) (those manning roadblocks asked passers-by to show them identification cards at roadblock); T. 28 November 2007 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (each time he had to produce his identification because those manning the roadblock said that *Inyenzi* could disguise themselves wearing police uniforms); T. 5 November 2007 pp. 49-50 (Witness D-2-13-O) (at each roadblock the witness was asked to show his identity card and was then allowed to pass); T. 10 September 2007 p. 23 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D) (Interahamwe at the Butare MSM garage roadblock asked for identification papers); T. 30 August 2007 p. 58 (ICS) (Witness D-2-13-D) (other people crossing roadblocks had their identity documents checked); T. 23 October 2007 p. 7 (ICS) (Witness D-2-11-D) (at the roadblock at the Ngoma/Huye commune border he was asked to show his identity card); T. 8 May 2008 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness D-1-4-O) (required to produce his identification card at some roadblocks, while at others he was let through without producing any document or having to answer questions); T. 25 February 2008 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness D-13-D) (showed his identification card at roadblocks identifying him as Hutu).

whether a person was a foreigner, which may indicate membership in the RPF or an accomplice from another country, 14136 who might be carrying guns or bullets. 14137

5418. The evidence presented at trial established that identification cards were verified at the roadblocks. Witness FAI testified that the roadblocks were set up to prevent Tutsis from escaping by catching and killing them. At one roadblock mounted near the witness' place of work, anyone who came upon the roadblock was to show identity papers, and Tutsis were killed. It is a stable of the s

5419. Witness QJ provided eyewitness testimony as to the search for and killing of Tutsis at roadblocks. Witness QJ testified that to pass through the Hotel Faucon roadblock, one had to present identity papers. Tutsis were asked to stand aside and sit on the ground next to the Hotel Faucon roadblock. He specified that in April, May and June 1994, those stopped at the roadblock were taken to Kabutare and shot, but that in June they were thrown everywhere on the streets. As time went by, Tutsis were shot next to roadblocks and their bodies would be strewn by the roadside. He ople were taken from the Hotel Faucon roadblock across the street to a University bookshop and killed by soldiers. The whole town stank and it was impossible to go to a roadblock without seeing a dead body.

5420. Witness QCB testified as to a roadblock manned by *Interahamwe* near the house of Amanda Rugira; the *Interahamwe* checked people's identity cards to determine whether they were Tutsis or Hutus, detaining the Tutsis and allowing the Hutus to move on towards town. Witness QCB further testified that a woman was asked to produce her identity card, and was subsequently killed at the Rugira roadblock. Witness QCB also testified as to the killing of a Tutsi man named Léopold Ruvurajabo at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. Witness QCB further testified that at the roadblock close to the mosque, he saw that Tutsis kept there were being held at the EER School and were subsequently killed.

^{T. 28 September 2006 pp. 27-28 (Keane); T. 22 August 2006 pp. 15-16 (Karemano); T. 3 July 2006 p. 45 (Bararwandika); T. 24 February 2005 p. 35 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 2 March 2005 p. 5 (Witness WKNKI); T. 5 April 2006 p. 43 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 21 February 2006 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA); T. 6 December 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness AND-72); T. 19 February 2007 p. 5 (Witness AND-53); T. 27 February 2007 p. 13 (Witness AND-30); T. 13 April 2006 p. 17 (Ntahobali).}

¹⁴¹³⁷ T. 4 October 2005 p. 31 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 2 March 2005 p. 61 (Witness WKNKI); T. 5 April 2006 pp. 43, 66 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ); T. 21 February 2006 pp. 24-25 (ICS) (Witness WCMNA); T. 13 April 2006 p. 17 (Ntahobali); T. 6 December 2006 p. 13 (ICS) (Witness AND-72); T. 12 July 2006 p. 19 (Witness TWW).

¹⁴¹³⁸ T. 30 October 2002 p. 101 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴¹³⁹ T. 30 October 2002 pp. 100-102 (ICS); T. 31 October 2002 p. 86 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴¹⁴⁰ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 9-10 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴¹⁴¹ T. 8 November 2001 p. 142 (ICS) (Witness QJ); T. 12 November 2001 p. 14 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴² T. 12 November 2001 p. 14 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴³ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 14-15, 23-24 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴⁴ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 15-16, 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴⁵ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 16-17, 23-24 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴⁶ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 16, 33 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁴⁷ T. 20 March 2002 p. 59 (Witness QCB).

¹⁴¹⁴⁸ T. 20 March 2002 p. 57 (Witness QCB).

¹⁴¹⁴⁹ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 61-62, 65-66 (Witness QCB).

¹⁴¹⁵⁰ T. 20 March 2002 pp. 78, 88 (Witness QCB).

5421. Witness FAK stated that people checked identity cards to identify the "*Inkotanyi*", as the cards bore the ethnic origin of the individual; if the identity card read Tutsi, the Tutsis were to be killed.¹⁴¹⁵¹ Witness FAK testified that towards the evening of 19 April 1994, a lot of people brought a Tutsi couple to the roadblock and killed them.¹⁴¹⁵² After a meeting in Kibayi *commune*, Witness FAK went to a roadblock with Augustin and Laurent, where they encountered the *conseiller de secteur*.¹⁴¹⁵³ Augustin said that he had a Tutsi girl in his home and the *conseiller* directed that she be brought to the roadblock. Witness FAK testified that they then killed the Tutsi girl with a club, ¹⁴¹⁵⁴ and Augustin killed the girl's child. ¹⁴¹⁵⁵

5422. Witness FA testified that in April 1994, she saw a man beaten and detained at a roadblock after producing his identity card. Witness SX testified that identity cards were checked and Tutsis massacred at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. Witness TB testified to a vehicle being stopped at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. The people in the vehicle were made to show their identity cards, after which some were beaten and detained. Witness TQ testified that he and a Tutsi woman were stopped at Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. The witness, who knew the woman to be a Tutsi, instructed her not to show her identity card because according to the witness, the woman could not have gone beyond the roadblock if she had been identified as Tutsi (1). Witness TQ also testified that at the Kigembe roadblock, on asking people to show their identification papers, members of civil defence would beat the people and call them *Inyenzi/Inkotanyi* (1).

5423. Witness FAU testified that he searched for and killed Tutsis at a roadblock; he testified that if someone did not have an identity card, they were taken for an *Inyenzi* and were to be killed. Defence Expert Witness Reyntjens was referred to the minutes of a Security Council meeting of 20 April 1994 which provided that "[p]eople who do not have identity papers or identification papers should be careful so that no one should suffer injustice." He was also referred to Des Forges' report which concluded that "no one" meant Hutus who had fled their homes without the necessary documents. Reyntjens remarked that while Des Forges referred to "innocent people", the text of the Security Council meeting said that "no one", not only innocent people, should suffer injustice [at roadblocks]. Given the credible and consistent accounts of the above Prosecution witnesses, as to what happened at roadblocks in April, May and June 1994 in Butare *préfecture*, the Chamber does not find Reyntjens' interpretation of the Security Council Minutes to be credible.

```
<sup>14151</sup> T. 14 April 2004 p. 16 (Witness FAK).
```

¹⁴¹⁵² T. 14 April 2004 pp. 16-17 (Witness FAK).

¹⁴¹⁵³ T. 14 April 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

¹⁴¹⁵⁴ T. 14 April 2004 pp. 30, 32 (ICS); T. 14 April 2004 pp. 66-67 (Witness FAK).

¹⁴¹⁵⁵ T. 14 April 2004 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAK).

¹⁴¹⁵⁶ T. 30 June 2004 pp. 55-56 (ICS); 1 July 2004 p. 28 (Witness FA).

¹⁴¹⁵⁷ T. 27 January 2004 pp. 15-16 (Witness SX).

¹⁴¹⁵⁸ T. 4 February 2004 pp. 41-50; T. 4 February 2004 p. 55 (ICS) (Witness TB).

¹⁴¹⁵⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 11-12, 62-63 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴¹⁶⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴¹⁶¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴¹⁶² T. 4 March 2004 p. 65 (Witness FAU).

¹⁴¹⁶³ T. 2 October 2007 p. 39 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 465C (Nsabimana) (Minutes of the Security Council meeting chaired by Nsabimana on 20 April 1994).

¹⁴¹⁶⁴ T. 2 October 2007 p. 40 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 110A (Des Forges Expert Report) p. 24.

¹⁴¹⁶⁵ T. 2 October 2007 p. 41 (Reyntjens).

5424. Defence witnesses provided testimony consistent with that of Prosecution witnesses regarding the targeting and killing of Tutsis at roadblocks. Defence witness Charles Karemano testified that one's physical features and identity card determined whether one could pass a roadblock. 14166 The witness was able to move around because he had papers indicating he was Hutu and his facial features made him recognisable as a Hutu. 14167 Defence Witness Bararwandika also testified that he presented his UNHCR identification card at the roadblocks, which indicated his nationality to be Burundian thus satisfying the people at the roadblocks that his ethnicity was Hutu, as most Burundian refugees in Rwanda were Hutus. 14168 Bararwandika also testified that Rwandans had to show identity cards that displayed their ethnicity at roadblocks; mere mention of one's ethnicity was not enough because officially, the checks were intended to limit the infiltration of the RPF combatants, although unofficially the roadblocks were used to determine ethnicity. 14169 The Chamber considers that both Witnesses Karemano and Bararwandika had no reason to give false testimony in this regard. They were able to provide detailed testimony corroborating the evidence that those manning roadblocks checked identity cards in order to ascertain the ethnicity of individuals. The Chamber finds these two witnesses to be highly credible.

5425. Other Defence witnesses provided consistent testimony that Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks. Witnesses D-2-5-I and D-2-YYYY testified that they saw the dead body of the Tutsi lecturer Karenzi at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. Witness D-2-5-I said the soldiers had killed Karenzi. Maurice Ntahobali testified that Karenzi had been murdered at the Hotel Faucon roadblock. Charles Karemano testified that all the Tutsis lecturers who were on the university campus in Butare were killed immediately after 19 April 1994. Witness AND-72 testified that Tutsi civilians, including women and children, were killed at the roadblocks. Witness AND-16 averred that a roadblock erected at Sakindi was intended to stop members of the population from fleeing; one evening he saw corpses at that roadblock. The witness knew the perpetrators of those killings; he was told that Semunkima and Kagewje had stopped the people and killed them after having asked them to show them their identification cards. Reyntjens testified that most of the time people were not handed over to authorities but were killed on the spot. Witness D-2-20-F said that on one occasion where the *conseiller* tried to bring persons they had arrested to the authorities, soldiers intervened and shot persons down at the roadblock at the University Laboratory.

¹⁴¹⁶⁶ T. 24 August 2006 pp. 78-79 (Karemano).

¹⁴¹⁶⁷ T. 25 August 2006 p. 44 (Karemano).

¹⁴¹⁶⁸ T. 4 July 2006 p. 56 (Bararwandika).

¹⁴¹⁶⁹ T. 4 July 2006 pp. 56-57 (Bararwandika).

¹⁴¹⁷⁰ T. 28 November 2007 pp. 54-55 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 11 December 2007 pp. 11-12 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 21 January 2008 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I); T. 31 January 2008 pp. 10-11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁴¹⁷¹ T. 31 January 2008 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

¹⁴¹⁷² T. 16 September 2005 p. 73 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴¹⁷³ T. 5 September 2006 p. 54 (Karemano).

¹⁴¹⁷⁴ T. 6 December 2006 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).

¹⁴¹⁷⁵ T. 25 January 2007 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹⁴¹⁷⁶ T. 25 January 2007 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness AND-16).

¹⁴¹⁷⁷ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 66-67 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴¹⁷⁸ T. 10 March 2008 pp. 68, 70-71 (ICS) (Witness D-2-20-F).

5426. Considering the strong evidence that roadblocks were used to identify and kill Tutsis, the Chamber is convinced that those who were unable to produce identification were sometimes killed because they were thought to be Tutsis. The Chamber considers that these accounts from Defence witnesses buttress the evidence that those manning roadblocks were in fact looking for Tutsis, and not just the RPF.

5427. Some Defence witnesses testified that identification cards were checked at roadblocks but no one was harmed and all were allowed to pass. ¹⁴¹⁷⁹ The Chamber however notes that the Defence witnesses who testified that they were not harmed or harassed at roadblocks were Hutus. If those at the roadblocks were looking for Tutsis, it is logical that Hutus would be permitted to pass. It is also plausible that some of these Defence witnesses did not see any dead bodies at roadblocks, as the evidence supported the fact that Tutsis were identified at roadblocks, but were sometimes taken to be killed elsewhere. ¹⁴¹⁸⁰ The Chamber further considers that many of these Defence witnesses were not truthful and turned a blind eye to violence against Tutsis at roadblocks. For example, Witness CEM testified that she had no idea of the ethnicity of those manning roadblocks and had not observed any killings during the day or at roadblocks. ¹⁴¹⁸¹ The Chamber does not find it credible that she could have lived through the events of April to July 1994 in Butare *préfecture* and not seen evidence of killings.

5428. Ntahobali testified that at a meeting at Huye Stadium on 26 April 1994 authorities told the population that gangsters or hoodlums, who were killing people, were working for the enemy. He said roadblocks were set up to prevent these hoodlums from killing. In view of the killings that continued to occur at the EER, the BPO and the *Groupe Scolaire*, the Chamber does not find this account to be credible. In short, the Chamber is not convinced that roadblocks were set up to check identification and baggage, rather than to identify and kill Tutsis.

5429. Contrary to Prosecution evidence that Tutsis were selected and killed at roadblocks, Witness QBV testified that if he encountered Tutsis at his roadblock, he should report them to the authorities. In this regard, Witness WCNMC also testified that she did not witness any killings at the roadblocks, but that, one morning she saw three people being arrested at the Mukoni roadblock for not having any identity cards. Having considered the foregoing evidence, the Chamber is convinced that this was not the policy followed at roadblocks.

5430. In this regard, the Chamber notes the evidence of Witness AND-72, who testified that persons in charge of roadblocks were instructed to check foreigners who intended to enter the *secteur*, inspect their identity cards, and arrest wrong-doers and hand them over to the *commune* authorities. Nonetheless, he testified Tutsi civilians, including women and

¹⁴¹⁷⁹ T. 10 July 2006 pp. 38, 67 (ICS) (Witness BE); T. 24 February 2005 p. 34 (Céline Nyiraneza); T. 16 September 2005 p. 83 (Maurice Ntahobali); T. 15 February 2005 pp. 34-35 (Witness CEM); T. 1 December 2005 p. 57 (ICS) (Witness H1B6); T. 29 November 2005 pp. 37-38 (Witness WCNMC); T. 8 March 2006 p. 34 (ICS) (Witness WUNBJ).

¹⁴¹⁸⁰ T. 12 November 2001 pp. 14-17, 23-24 (Witness QJ).

¹⁴¹⁸¹ T. 15 February 2005 pp. 34-35 (Witness CEM).

¹⁴¹⁸² T. 3 May 2006 pp. 25-26 (Ntahobali).

¹⁴¹⁸³ T. 20 March 2002 p. 9 (Witness QBV)

¹⁴¹⁸⁴ T. 29 November 2005 p. 38 (Witness WCNMC).

¹⁴¹⁸⁵ T. 6 December 2006 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).

children, were killed at the roadblocks.¹⁴¹⁸⁶ Expert Witness Reyntjens also testified that most of the time people were not handed over to authorities but were killed on the spot. ¹⁴¹⁸⁷ Moreover, the Chamber recalls the substantial evidence that Tutsis were killed at or near roadblocks and then transported elsewhere. The Chamber finds that Tutsis, once identified, were not handed over to authorities.

5431. In sum, the Chamber finds it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks in Butare *préfecture*.

3.7.10 Civil Defence

3.7.10.1 Introduction

5432. The Nteziryayo Indictment alleges that from late 1990 until July 1994, military personnel, members of Government, political leaders and civil servants conspired among themselves to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and eliminate members of the opposition so they could remain in power. The components of this plan included recourse to hatred and ethnic violence, the training of and distribution of weapons to militiamen, as well as the preparation of lists of people to be eliminated. Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Nyiramasuhuko, Kanyabashi, Ndayambaje and Ntahobali elaborated, adhered to and executed this plan. 14188

5433. The Nteziryayo Indictment further alleges that on 25 May 1994, the Interim Government adopted directives concerning the civil defence programme. 14189 Its purpose was to legalise the distribution of weapons to militiamen and to legitimise the massacres of the civilian population. The Interim Government appointed several military officers to lead "self-defence committees" established in each *préfecture*, some of which took an active part in the massacres, including Nteziryayo in Butare. 14190

5434. The Prosecution submits that the 25 May 1994 Directives of the Interim Government on civil defence demonstrate that the Interim Government was fully functioning and was reinforcing the actions needed to carry out civil defence against the enemy. It submits Nteziryayo actively trained and armed civilians while giving them orders to kill Tutsis under the guise of civil defence. Civil defence entailed organising as large a section of the population as possible to hunt down Tutsis, either to kill them on the spot or to hand them over

¹⁴¹⁸⁶ T. 6 December 2006 pp. 36-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-72).

¹⁴¹⁸⁷ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 66-67 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴¹⁸⁸ Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against Nsabimana and Nteziryayo); Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 1-6, 8, 10-11 against Nyiramasuhuko and Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8, 10-11 against Ntahobali); Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (in support of all counts); Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of all counts).

¹⁴¹⁸⁹ The Parties referred to "civil defence" and "civilian self-defence". The Chamber considers these terms to be

The Parties referred to "civil defence" and "civilian self-defence". The Chamber considers these terms to be synonymous. Throughout this section the Chamber refers to "civil defence".

14190 Para. 6.16 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.16 of the

¹⁴¹⁹⁰ Para. 6.16 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.16 of the Ndayambaje Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.16 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (not in support of counts); Para. 6.16 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (not in support of counts).

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 59, para. 106.

¹⁴¹⁹² Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 73.

to local authorities for execution, and Nteziryayo was *de facto* in charge of the programme. 14193

5435. It submits that Nteziryayo, as the authority figure in charge of civil defence for Butare, conspired with other government officials at a 20 May 1994 meeting to get the public more involved in the killing of Tutsis and that he spoke at a series of meetings along the *communes* bordering Burundi to spread this information, where he promulgated genocide under the guise of the civil self-defence programme. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Prosecution case against Nteziryayo is premised almost entirely on his functions as the head of civil defence in Butare *préfecture*. It submits that the Prosecution failed to establish that a superior-subordinate relationship existed between Nteziryayo and the members of civil defence and/or other members of the population in Butare. It submits the Prosecution failed to identify the alleged subordinates of Nteziryayo, failed to show Nteziryayo was in a position of command, failed to show that he had the power to issue orders, and failed to show Nteziryayo was capable of taking disciplinary action against the perpetrators.

5436. In particular, it argues the Prosecution failed to prove that despite Colonel Simba's evident position as the *de jure* head of civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*, Nteziryayo was the *de facto* head of civil defence in Butare. 14197

3.7.10.2 Preliminary Issues

Failure to Plead Time Frame of Civil Defence

5437. The Nteziryayo Defence submits Paragraphs 4.5, 4.6, 6.16, 6.29 and 6.31 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment are defective because they do not identify with specificity the time frame during which Nteziryayo was allegedly in charge of civil defence. It asserts the only paragraph to identify a time frame in relation to civil defence is Paragraph 6.16 which states that on 25 May 1994 the Interim Government adopted directives concerning civil defence. It argues that any factual evidence as to events prior to 25 May 1994 falls outside the temporal scope of this paragraph and should not be considered against Nteziryayo. 14199

5438. The Chamber recalls that an indictment must be read as a whole. Paragraph 4.5 states: "Nteziryayo held the office of *Préfet* of Butare from 17 June 1994 until he left Rwanda in July 1994. Before that, he was responsible for the Civil Defence of the *préfecture* of Butare." Paragraph 6.29 states: "In the days following the death of the President Habyarimana, Alphonse Nteziryayo went to Butare to take over his new assignment. Between April and June 1994, Alphonse Nteziryayo, the official in charge of civil defence for Butare *préfecture*, supervised the training of the militiamen and distributed weapons to them, at least once with

_

¹⁴¹⁹³ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 69.

¹⁴¹⁹⁴ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 72.

¹⁴¹⁹⁵ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 1.

¹⁴¹⁹⁶ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 22, 24.

Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 28, 33-34; Nteziryayo Closing Rejoinder Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 73-74.

¹⁴¹⁹⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 5-10.

¹⁴¹⁹⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, para. 5.

the assistance by Élie Ndayambaje." When read together, these paragraphs make clear the Prosecution's allegation that Nteziryayo was in charge of civil defence starting after the death of the President and until Nteziryayo became *préfet* of Butare. Although Paragraph 6.16 alleges the Interim Government adopted civil defence directives on 25 May 1994, this does not exclude the possibility that civil defence existed prior to that date. Therefore, the Chamber finds that the Nteziryayo and Nsabimana Indictment did not limit the scope of Nteziryayo's alleged criminal conduct under the rubric of civil defence to conduct after 25 May 1994.

Transcript of 14 May 1994 University Meeting Speeches

5439. The Chamber admitted into evidence the transcripts of two audio recordings of speeches allegedly made at a 14 May 1994 meeting at the University attended by Prime Minister Kambanda and University authorities, including Maurice Ntahobali. These exhibits are Defence Exhibit 552 and Prosecution Exhibit 171. 14200

5440. As to Defence Exhibit 552, the speech of Prime Minister Kambanda, adduced by the Nteziryayo Defence, Nteziryayo testified that he heard only the latter portion of Kambanda's speech as it was broadcast on Radio Rwanda. Nteziryayo however did not testify as to the authenticity of the remainder of the audio recording. The Chamber made an oral ruling that Counsel had not established a sufficient basis to warrant the admission of the speech in its entirety into evidence. The Chamber disallowed questions as to earlier portions of the speech which were not in evidence. Therefore, the Chamber will only consider portions of the speech authenticated by Nteziryayo.

5441. As to Prosecution Exhibit 171, Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali testified that he recognised his own voice in an audio-recorded speech he made in response to Kambanda's remarks on 14 May 1994. Several other speeches of University lecturers were also on the same recording, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 171. Maurice Ntahobali did not attest to the authenticity of those portions of the recording. Considering those portions of the recording were not authenticated and that no questions were posed thereon, the Chamber will not consider the substance of those subsequent responses to Kambanda's speech.

Disclosure and Reliance on Evidence Adduced Through Des Forges

5442. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence argues that allowing exhibits adduced through Des Forges to be considered as evidence in the case would violate Rule 94 *bis*, because the book and exhibits were not served on the Defence 14 days prior to Des Forges' testimony. As these exhibits are relevant to the issue at hand, the Chamber addresses Nyiramasuhuko's argument here.

-

¹⁴²⁰⁰ T. 16 September 2005 pp. 50-51 (Maurice Ntahobali) (for Prosecution Exhibit 177); T. 27 June 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo) (for Defence Exhibit 552).

¹⁴²⁰¹ T. 27 June 2007 pp. 5, 11; T. 28 June 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo) (acknowledging that he heard a portion of

Kambanda's speech of 14 May 1994 on the radio and identifying portions of Defence Exhibit 552 corresponding thereto).

¹⁴²⁰² T. 28 June 2007 p. 29 (Nteziryayo).

T. 16 September 2005 p. 48 (Maurice Ntahobali) (identifying his own voice on a cassette introduced as Prosecution Exhibit 171); *see also* Prosecution Exhibit 171D (Transcripts of Maurice Ntahobali's speech). To June 2004 p. 65 (Des Forges); Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 395.

5443. The Chamber recalls the Nyiramasuhuko Defence filed a motion on 11 April 2000 seeking the disclosure of certain documents, including: (1) copies of all documents seized at the Butare *préfecture* office; and (2) the transcript of Nsabimana's interview with Human Rights Watch and Nsabimana's manuscript, *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*. ¹⁴²⁰⁵ In its Decision of 1 November 2000, the Chamber ordered the Prosecution to permit the Nyiramasuhuko Defence to inspect the documents seized at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Chamber held that all the interviews with Nsabimana and his manuscript entitled *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare* were given by Nsabimana to Human Rights Watch. Therefore, it held that the Nyiramasuhuko Defence must seek those items from Nsabimana himself. ¹⁴²⁰⁶

5444. In its Decision of 8 June 2001, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's renewed request seeking discovery of the documents seized at the Butare *préfecture* office and ordered the Prosecutor to report back in 10 days on compliance with the order. On 18 June 2001, the Prosecutor reported to the Chamber that the Legal Assistant to the Nyiramasuhuko Defence team conducted an inspection of the Butare *préfecture* documents on 16 June 2001 and that it had provided a courtesy copy of Exhibit 5 ("Butare *Préfecture* Documents") from the Prosecutor's list of Exhibits as filed on 30 April 2001. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not object to this representation.

5445. Furthermore, during Des Forges' testimony the Prosecution sought to introduce as evidence documents seized at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence did not assert that the exhibits cited in Des Forges' report had not been disclosed to the Defence. In fact, none of the Defence teams made this argument. Therefore, the Chamber finds no merit to Nyiramasuhuko's argument that the exhibits supporting Des Forges' testimony were not disclosed to the Defence.

5446. In a related matter, the Nyiramasuhuko Defence asserts the exhibits introduced through Des Forges were not admitted for the truth of their contents, but for the support they offer to Des Forges' report and evidence. 14210

5447. In this case, Des Forges testified that in conducting her research she found several documents at the Butare *préfecture* office which pertained to the Government's civil defence programme. These included Prosecution Exhibits 115, 118, 119, 120, 121 and 122. In an oral ruling of 9 June 2004, the Chamber held that certain documents adduced through Des

_

¹⁴²⁰⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Requête en communication de preuve, 11 April 2000, p. 16.

¹⁴²⁰⁶ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Defence Motion for Disclosure of Evidence (TC), 1 November 2000, paras. 53-54.

¹⁴²⁰⁷ Nyiramasuhuko, Décision Relative à la Requête de la Défense en Extrême Urgence Tenant au Respect, par le Procureur, de la « Décision Relative à la Requête de la Défense en Communication de Preuves » Rendue le 1^{er} Novembre 2000 (TC), 8 June 2001, p. 9.

¹⁴²⁰⁸ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecutor's Report Filed in Compliance With the Decision of 8 June 2001, Orders I through IX, 18 June 2001, paras. 13-16.

¹⁴²⁰⁹ The Nyiramasuhuko Defence argued that Nsabimana's prior statements, Prosecution Exhibit 113, could not be introduced as evidence against Nyiramasuhuko because the alleged conspiracy was complete at the time of the statement. It further argued, as to Exhibit 114, that document was not authenticated because it was not signed and because the chain of custody was not established: T. 8 June 2004 pp. 55, 65; T. 9 June 2004 p. 8 (Des Forges). ¹⁴²¹⁰ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 395.

¹⁴²¹¹ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 7, 14 (Des Forges).

Forges were admissible for limited purposes only. 14212 The Chamber held that this evidence was admissible as evidence relied upon by Des Forges in forming her expert opinion and the weight to be accorded to these exhibits would be determined at the end of the trial taking into account all of the circumstances. The Chamber admitted these Exhibits to help substantiate Des Forges' opinion. The Chamber's deliberations on these matters necessarily implicate the weight and probative value to be attributed to Des Forges' opinion as well as the materials upon which she relied. The Exhibits were therefore admitted for their content. Furthermore, Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Maurice Ntahobali acknowledged the authenticity of these documents in their testimony.

3.7.10.3 Evidence

Prosecution Witness FAI

5448. Witness FAI, a Hutu civil servant in 1994, testified that towards the middle of May 1994, on the day before Ndahimana's swearing-in ceremony [22 May 1994], 14214 Prime Minister Jean Kambanda issued a *communiqué* addressed to the nation, saying that it was necessary to put an end to the killing, that it was necessary that Rwandans stop killing one another, that the enemy was the RPF, that the accomplices were not all Tutsis, but only those who were associated with the RPF. However, Witness FAI testified that the policy communicated by Kambanda was intended to mislead the public because the massacres continued and people in power were aware of it. 14215 The announcement was put on the radio and documents containing the substance of the *communiqué* were circulated in *secteurs* and *communes*. Witness FAI testified that the words were not sincere because people who were hiding in the bushes came out in broad daylight and were eventually killed. 14216

5449. Witness FAI testified that in the afternoon of 22 May 1994, he attended the swearing-in ceremony of Mathieu Ndahimana, the new *bourgmestre* of Ntyazo *commune*. Witness FAI testified that Nteziryayo was introduced as the person responsible for civil defence. Witness FAI stated that he learned on the day of Ndahimana's swearing-in ceremony that Lieutenant Colonel Nteziryayo was a subordinate of Colonels Muvunyi and Simba. Colonel Simba was actually in charge of civil defence in both Butare and Gikongoro, but he

_

¹⁴²¹² T. 9 June 2004 p. 12 (Des Forges) (The Chamber held: "[Des Forges] is giving evidence as an expert. She at time[s] makes reference to documents or to sources of information that go to form her opinion ... and that opinion, that evidence, certainly will be assessed ... on what weight to be attached The concept of hearsay evidence with regard to that kind of evidence is certainly admissible. The weight to be made out of that is – will be done at the end after the parties had been heard, cross-examination had been done. And for that reason, we are of the view that this document which is indicated to her has come from and obtained from a source known, is admissible for that limited extent. And as to weight, as we said in our previous decision, will have to be weighed and be determined at the end. And ... we are of the view that there is a marked distinction between this evidence here and what is being referred to by learned counsel with regard to factual witness who testified, or conduct of certain elements during the testimony of particular witnesses").

¹⁴²¹³ T. 8 June 2004 pp. 47-49; T. 9 June 2004 p. 12 (Des Forges).

¹⁴²¹⁴ T. 5 November 2002 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²¹⁵ T. 5 November 2002 p. 30 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²¹⁶ T. 5 November 2002 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²¹⁷ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 10-11 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 31-32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²¹⁸ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 31 October 2002 p. 32 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²¹⁹ T. 5 November 2002 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

was assisted in Butare *préfecture* by Nteziryayo. 14220 Colonel Simba introduced himself to the population as the person responsible for civil defence for Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*. 14221

5450. Civil defence was the strategy put in place during the genocide, aimed at providing military training to youth and giving them weapons so that they could assist the military at the front and participate in the killing of Tutsis. There was no difference between these trained youths and the *Interahamwe*. The civil defence programme was strengthened by intensifying training with the intent of providing more importance to the army. The offices of the civil defence programme were located in a social centre in Ngoma *secteur*. 14224

5451. Witness FAI further testified that at a meeting at the BPO in early June 1994, Nteziryayo answered the call of two *bourgmestres* from Kibayi and Kigembe *communes* who requested help in controlling the influx of Tutsi refugees into their *communes*. Nteziryayo said that he had at his disposal youths who had undergone their training and that he would send them as soon as possible. Witness FAI testified that Nteziryayo sent some *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi to kill those Tutsis. Witness FAI testified that he was present when Nteziryayo gave Célestin Harindintwari directives to transport the *Ibisumizi* to the Kibayi *commune*, so that they could help the Hutu inhabitants as requested. 14227

Prosecution Witness RV

5452. Witness RV, a Hutu civil servant in Rwanda and a detainee at the time of his testimony, testified that on about 5 May 1994, he attended a meeting in Kirarambogo chaired by Alphonse Nteziryayo. He was attended, among others, by Colonel Muvunyi, the Butare commander, Jean Baptiste Ruzindaza, the Chairman of the *Tribunal de Première Instance*, and Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, the former *sous-préfet* of Gisagara *sous-préfecture*. The witness testified that during this period, Nteziryayo was the chairman of the civil defence committee in the region. According to Nteziryayo's speech during that meeting, Nteziryayo was responsible for sensitising the people about their training in the use of traditional weapons, *i.e.* bows and arrows, spears and other traditional weapons. Nteziryayo was also responsible for sensitising youth to get them to enrol in the army. He reminded the people that they should exterminate all the accomplices so that the Tutsis who had gone into exile would not have any witnesses to tell them what happened upon their return to the country. He reminded the return to the country.

```
<sup>14220</sup> T. 31 October 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 36-37, 45 (ICS) (Witness FAI).
```

¹⁴²²¹ T. 5 November 2002 p. 36 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²² T. 31 October 2002 p. 33 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²³ T. 6 November 2002 p. 5 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²⁴ T. 5 November 2002 pp. 48-49 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²⁵ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 31-34; 5 November 2002 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²⁶ T. 31 October 2002 p. 32 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²⁷ T. 31 October 2002 p. 33; T. 5 November 2002 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴²²⁸ T. 16 February 2004 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²²⁹ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 pp. 30-31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁰ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³¹ T. 16 February 2004 p. 49 (ICS) (Witness RV).

5453. In order to obtain petrol from April to June 1994, one had to ask Nsabimana for a fuel voucher. The fuel was stored at the BPO and the use of fuel was controlled by the army. Sometime in May 1994, Witness RV encountered Nsabimana at the BPO and asked for a fuel voucher. Nsabimana told Witness RV that Witness RV was no longer interested in security as he no longer participated in the programme of assaults against the Tutsis. 14233

5454. Witness RV stated that he had not heard of civil defence before May 1994. 14234 In June 1994, soldiers started to desert and they heard of the advance of the RPF over the radio. People were encouraged to train in the use of traditional weapons so that they could assist the soldiers. They told the population they would distribute weapons. Nteziryayo had some relationship with the civil defence force; even if Nteziryayo was not responsible for this particular programme, he saw Nteziryayo at meetings dealing with the issue of personnel for the civil defence force. The witness acknowledged his signature on a letter to the commander of the area, Colonel Muvunyi, dated 27 April 1994. It listed the names of 14 candidates who had come forward to join the Rwandan army, including their dates of birth, *secteurs* of origin and levels of education. 14238

Prosecution Witness TQ

5455. Witness TQ testified that Nteziryayo was *de facto* head of civil defence in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴²³⁹ He collaborated with Colonel Simba in training and in maintaining civil defence, which included manning and executing the roadblock system. ¹⁴²⁴⁰

5456. Witness TQ testified that around 20 April 1994, teachers from the *Groupe Scolaire* at Butare, such as Faustin Twagirayezu and Faustin Niyomzima and a person called Jean-Marie Diogene joined the civil defence group. ¹⁴²⁴¹ Members of civil defence had guns and sometimes traditional weapons; civil defence was a well organised and hierarchical group with a leader and a deputy. According to the witness, they could be distinguished from *Interahamwe*, because members of *Interahamwe* were young people wearing MRND uniforms. ¹⁴²⁴²

5457. Witness TQ was shown Prosecution Exhibit 115, a document dated 21 April 1994, signed by Colonel Muvunyi with the topic "recruitment of youths for popular defence." The witness confirmed that the document referred to a request from higher officials, the ministry, to train young people for civil defence and that Area Commander Muvunyi suggested the organisation of a meeting with other officials, to organise that training programme. 14244 The

```
<sup>14232</sup> T. 16 February 2004 p. 47 (ICS) (Witness RV).
```

¹⁴²³³ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 47-48 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁴ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁵ T. 19 February 2004 p. 11 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁶ T. 19 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁷ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 16, 22 (ICS) (Witness RV); Defence Exhibit 154 (Nteziryayo) (Telegram Addressed to Area Commander of Butare-Gikongoro).

¹⁴²³⁸ T. 19 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴²³⁹ T. 6 September 2004 p. 52 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁰ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 14-16 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴¹ T. 6 September 2004 p. 51 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴² T. 6 September 2004 p. 52 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴³ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁴ T. 9 September 2004 p. 14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

witness stated that civil defence existed long before 21 April 1994, organised by high Rwandan authorities; the training referred to in the letter only sought to reinforce the group that already existed. 14245

5458. According to Witness TQ, among the perpetrators of the *Groupe Scolaire* attacks were "soldiers wearing a military uniform of the national army", and civilians wearing civilian clothing or MRND uniforms. There were about 50 assailants. He testified that he recognised among the attackers several members of the civil defence, namely Faustin Niyonzima, Faustin Twagirayezu and André Bandora. He also recognised Jean-Marie, also known as Ovibar who carried a firearm, and a man called Mutereye. 14247

5459. Witness TQ testified that he assisted with the evacuation of orphans from the *Groupe Scolaire* on 5 June 1994. The convoy evacuating the orphans was stopped at the roadblock at Nyakibanda Major Seminary by members of the civil defence group. The witness said that he could differentiate between members of the population and members of the civil defence group at that roadblock, because civil defence was armed and more brutal. On asking people to show their identification papers, members of civil defence beat the people and called them *Inkotanyi*. 14250

5460. Colonel Munyengango, whose family was also in the convoy, ¹⁴²⁵¹ went to the front of the convoy so that the convoy would be let through, but members of the civil defence group refused to open the roadblock. Nteziryayo arrived and spoke to those who were at the roadblock. ¹⁴²⁵² The witness added that they talked in an ordinary manner as if they knew each other. ¹⁴²⁵³ Following a discussion with Nteziryayo, the civil defence group indicated that the children were to disembark from the vehicles and walk through the roadblock "one after the other". ¹⁴²⁵⁴

Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

5461. Alison Des Forges testified civil defence saw a single enemy to be attacked. This enemy was the RPF and Tutsis who were defined as part of the enemy because of their ethnicity and because of their presumed association with the RPF. Persons who did civil defence training were regularly deployed at the barriers, where they participated in selecting Tutsis from among those who attempted to pass and prevented their passage. The selected Tutsis were then either killed or delivered to authorities, who then participated in killing them. This effort worked under the guise of protecting civilians but was in fact a military

¹⁴²⁴⁵ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁶ T. 6 September 2004 p. 53 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁷ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 53-54 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁸ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁴⁹ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 10, 14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁵⁰ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁵¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 8 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁵² T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁵³ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴²⁵⁴ T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

organisation designed to attack other civilians, to make no distinction between combatants and non-combatants, and to identify the civilian targets by their ethnicity. 14255

- 5462. October 1993 marked the official implementation of the civil defence system. Aloys Simba was the head of civil defence for Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures* but Nteziryayo, whether formally ordered to or not, acted in some capacity in relation to civil defence. In her interview with Nsabimana, Des Forges determined that Nsabimana did not have a concrete sense of Nteziryayo's role in Butare.
- 5463. Des Forges was told by Nsabimana that Nteziryayo was a fund-raiser for the civil defence programme, although she did not include this in her Report as she could not confirm its veracity. Nsabimana and Simba gave pacification speeches at Nyakizu on 21 May 1994. Despite a lack of documentation, Des Forges affirmed that Nteziryayo was "heavily involved" in the civil defence programme. Des Forges stressed that authorities wanting to hinder the genocide were not powerless; they had military guards and could have verified the information they were receiving at the time.
- 5464. Given Nteziryayo was director of *commune* police and was seconded from the Ministry of Defence to the Ministry of Interior and was the direct subordinate of Kalimanzira, Des Forges confirmed the statement contained in her Report that Nteziryayo was in charge of coordination with the civilian authorities regarding civilian defence. ¹⁴²⁶³
- 5465. Colonel Simba was commonly spoken of as the head of the civil defence for both Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures* although his activities were more in the *préfecture* of Gikongoro. According to Simba's statement obtained by Des Forges, he did not wish to be involved in Butare because he found he had too much work to do in Gikongoro. 14264
- 5466. Nteziryayo was in a position of power even before he became *préfet* since he continued to be attached to the Ministry of Interior and under the direct orders of Kalimanzira, who completely identified with the programme of the genocide and its implementation through civil defence. ¹⁴²⁶⁵

Prosecution Exhibits 120 and 122

5467. Des Forges testified as to Prosecution Exhibit 120, a 15 May 1994 letter from the Minister of Defence, Augustin Bizimana, to Lieutenant Colonel Aloys Simba. The letter appoints Simba as *conseiller* for civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures* and directs him to work with the *préfets*, *bourgmestres* and *conseillers* of all the *secteurs* to carry out the

```
14255 T. 6 July 2004 p. 69 (Des Forges).
14256 T. 6 July 2004 p. 57 (Des Forges).
14257 T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges).
14258 T. 6 July 2004 p. 61 (Des Forges).
14259 T. 6 July 2004 p. 67 (Des Forges).
14260 T. 6 July 2004 p. 68 (Des Forges).
14261 T. 7 July 2004 p. 5 (Des Forges).
14262 T. 6 July 2004 p. 54 (Des Forges).
14263 T. 7 July 2004 p. 54 (Des Forges).
14264 T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges).
14265 T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges).
```

plan through the chain of command. The letter directs Simba to train 10 men from each *secteur* to organise civil defence. Simba appointed Emmanuel Rekeraho as his immediate subordinate. Des Forges testified that in her opinion, this document showed that the military was working together with the administrative hierarchy, including the *préfet*, *bourgmestres* and *conseillers de secteur*. ¹⁴²⁶⁶

5468. As to Prosecution Exhibit 122, a letter dated 25 May 1994 from Édouard Karemera to the *préfets* of Rwanda on implementing the civil defence system, Des Forges noted that the personnel changes over time within the government administration indicated a continued commitment to eliminating the enemy Tutsi. This document indicates that they must keep an eye out for those people who are handicapping the programme. The real objective could be seen by the people who were hired and fired. 14267

5469. Des Forges stated that while the army was important, the civil administration was essential for assuming the mobilisation of the civilian population, for the carrying out of massacres, and for organising roadblocks and patrols. Had the civilian administration refused to participate, the resources available to the military would never have sufficed to carry out a killing campaign on this scale. 14268

5470. Des Forges testified that she spoke with Nsabimana by telephone on 3 April 1996. Nsabimana explained that civil defence funds were established in all the *préfectures* by a Directive from the Ministry of Interior. The funds were intended to provide refreshments "for the militia": the funds paid for arms and petrol, and provided beer and drugs to militia manning the barriers to keep them aggressive and reward them for their activities. In Butare, the fund was administered by Nteziryayo and Nyiramasuhuko. 14269

5471. Des Forges testified that she received two documents from Nsabimana, including a manuscript drafted by Nsabimana entitled *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, introduced as Prosecution Exhibit 113, and the transcript of a journalist's interview of Nsabimana taken in October 1994, introduced into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 114.

5472. Prosecution Exhibit 113, *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, was signed and attributed to Nsabimana. With regard to civil defence and roadblocks, Nsabimana stated:

_

¹⁴²⁶⁶ T. 9 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 120 (Letter from Minister of Defence Bizimana to Lt.-Col. Aloys Simba, appointing Simba as civilian defence advisor to the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro, 15 May 1994).

¹⁴²⁶⁷ T. 9 June 2004 p. 35 (Des Forges) Prosecution Exhibit 122B (Implementing the Directives of the Prime Minister on Organizing the Civil Self-Defence, 25 May 1994).

¹⁴²⁶⁸ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 87-88 (Des Forges).

¹⁴²⁶⁹ T. 9 June 2004 p. 32 (Des Forges).

While I [Nsabimana] struggled to restore order in town, while I chaired meetings in the communes to restore calm, there were meetings whose agenda I did not know taking place without my knowledge. Such meetings were convened and chaired by the Director of the Cabinet [and] Minister of the Interior and Community Development, Calleste [sic] Kalimanzira.

His ministry was responsible for the spreading of MRND propaganda, the erection of roadblocks and the establishment and operation of the so called Civilian Defence Force.

There were many roadblocks, especially in the *communes* and in town. Their purpose was evil (theft, injustices All the youth were converted into militiamen mainly [out] of fear. In the countryside, the roadblocks gave occasion for robberies.

In town, there were some killings at the roadblocks. 14270

5473. Des Forges also testified as to the transcript of an interview sent to her by Nsabimana. The transcript of that interview was introduced into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 114A and provided:

Already before April, maybe around January, we were aware of people being trained by the military. We were thinking that these militias had to be for use against the opposition. That was my feeling, that the militias were to be used against all the opposition parties. After the plane crash, of course, the Presidential Guard had already killed people from the opposition, then 2-3 days later began to kill people from the Tutsi group. At that time there were many people from the Presidential Guard and the militia. But my feeling at the time was that the militia was trained to kill people from the opposition first. Then when people from the opposition were eliminated, it was already out of human understanding but it was also very easy to determine who had done the killing. I think it was a strategy to kill Tutsis.

There were roadblocks. At the roadblocks, they decided if you would go through or not. Of course, if you were a Tutsi, you couldn't go. They checked identity cards. If you looked like a Tutsi, then they could kill you. I had to go to the roadblocks to tell people not to do that. The people on the roadblocks, I did not know them. Most of the time they were not from Butare. Maybe one or two from Butare, but most I think from Kigali. Trained people of course.

Militia and military, especially the Presidential Guard came to kill people at the churches. The plan was to kill Tutsis no matter where they were, in churches, the countryside, it didn't matter, anywhere, they must be killed. 14271

5474. Des Forges agreed that the RPF used agents behind the lines. They sent soldiers behind the lines to gather information and received information of a civilian nature rather than military nature from civilian supporters of the RPF political movement within the country. 14272

Prosecution Exhibit 113A (The Truth About the Massacres in Butare, by Nsabimana) pp. K0016628,

¹⁴²⁷¹ Prosecution Exhibit 114 (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) pp. K0120067, K0120069, K0120072. ¹⁴²⁷² T. 6 July 2004 p. 44 (Des Forges).

She said an entire civil population defined by its ethnicity is not a reasonable definition of accomplices. Accomplices would have been perhaps numbered in the dozens, in the entire country. They could have been identified and arrested and tried according to legitimate legal procedures. They did not require the mobilisation of an entire population to unmask this group. 14273

Prosecution Expert Witness André Guichaoua

5475. André Guichaoua testified that the civil defence programme included an awareness campaign, recruitment and training, distribution and making of modern or traditional weapons and finding sources of finance. Patrols and roadblocks had to be organised and monitored and searches, seizures and *umuganda* were to be carried out under the auspices of the civil defence programme. All of these operations were monitored by the *bourgmestres* and the *préfet*, who were in charge of organising the meetings regarding civil defence around 25 April 1994. The civil defence programme was a pretext for what Guichaoua called the "killing machine" through which the organisers of the genocide mobilised individuals to take part in the killings under the auspices of "security". He pointed to the various benefits to be gained by individuals participating in the activities of the civil defence programme. In his view, robberies and rapes at roadblocks, occupation of lands, the stealing of tiles or of door or window frames before burning houses and the provision of alcohol were payments in kind for those participating in the killings. 14277

5476. Guichaoua referred to some neighbourhoods of Ngoma *commune* where inhabitants had set up self-organised civilian defence groups in early May 1994 in order to protect themselves from any external attacks. This type of civilian defence group was non-political, was not in charge of roadblocks, and was not involved in matters of identification of the enemy. According to Guichaoua, those systems of civilian self-defence needed to be distinguished from the civil defence programme which was implemented by the authorities in Butare at the end of April 1994. 14278

5477. Guichaoua testified that Nteziryayo had ups and downs during his career. He had impressive promotions at the beginning and then was cast aside. Nteziryayo's reputation was always sterling. On 6 April 1994 and the following days, different people stayed with Nteziryayo who were saved. However, Nteziryayo had a change of attitude when he went to Butare and when he was effectively under the orders of Callixte Kalimanzira. On 16 June 1994, Nteziryayo was chosen to replace *Préfet* Nsabimana because the Interim Government thought Nteziryayo was in a better position to apply the government's instructions. 14279

¹⁴²⁷³ T. 7 July 2004 p. 13 (Des Forges).

¹⁴²⁷⁴ T. 29 June 2004 p. 47 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁷⁵ T. 29 June 2004 p. 47 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁷⁶ T. 29 June 2004 p. 48 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁷⁷ T. 29 June 2004 p. 54 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁷⁸ T. 29 June 2004 p. 42 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁷⁹ T. 30 June 2004 p. 37 (Guichaoua).

5478. Further, Guichaoua stated in his Report that:

Callixte Kalimanzira, who, as Minister of Interior Ad Interim, until the appointment of Édouard Karemera, was in charge of civilian self-defence matters in liaison with a group of officers formed around Théoneste Bagosora. Both operationally and hierarchically, the civilian self-defence unit was not under the command of the highest ranking officer in Butare and Gikongoro area, Lieutenant Colonel Tharcisse Muvunyi. It was directly coordinated by the ministry of the interior outside the military chain of command. Even though the texts ... produced late by the Ministry of the Interior states that, the officer in charge of civilian self-defence of the préfectural committee was under the préfet, there was no direct hierarchy relationship between this unit and the préfet at the local level.

Alphonse Nteziryayo directly reported to the authorities in charge of self-defence, both civilian and military at the national level. In view of this, the itinerary followed by Alphonse Nteziryayo to the post of *préfet* appears to be straight-forward. In his capacity as officer in charge of the civilian popular self-defence program for Butare, he had already been active in the massacres since the end of April. He only added the title of *préfet* to his prerogatives when civilian self-defence became the very essence of the Ministry of the Interior's security policy. According to several witness testimonies, Alphonse Nteziryayo is said to have accepted the promotion due to the will of and trust from Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, native of a neighbouring *commune* and of the same generation, and of Callixte Kalimanzira, who wanted to get rid of Sylvain Nsabimana as soon as possible. 14280

25 May 1994 Directive

5479. Guichaoua commented on a letter dated 25 May 1994 from Prime Minister Jean Kambanda to all the *préfets* telling them how the civil defence should be organised (Prosecution Exhibit 121). It described the hierarchy and the implementation process for civil defence. It describes the entire hierarchy all the way down to the *communes*, with one heading that specifies the role of the area commander from the Armed Forces in that programme. Civil defence was put under the responsibility of the Minister of Interior, whether or not this was his official duty. The civil defence also fell under the Ministry of Defence, who would take care of the training, supply the weapons and even avail the officers or petty officers or troops. In the *préfectures* all forces were asked to participate to eradicate the enemy from within: soldiers, *gendarmes*, *commune* police officers, militiamen, committees set up by the officials, local Government officials and their recruits all worked together in a clear hierarchy. 14282

Defence Expert Witness Filip Reyntiens

14 May 1994 Meeting with Prime Minister Kambanda

5480. Filip Reyntjens testified that he analysed the transcripts of Prime Minister Kambanda's 14 May 1994 speech at the university campus in Butare, admitted into evidence as Defence

.

¹⁴²⁸⁰ Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 131.

¹⁴²⁸¹ T. 29 June 2004 p. 44 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴²⁸² T. 29 June 2004 p. 46 (Guichaoua).

Exhibit 574. 14283 Reyntjens testified that in the speech, the Prime Minister addressed the audience, which included the rector, the *préfet*, the vice-rector, the *sous-préfets*, researchers, university employees and inhabitants of Butare; Kanyabashi was not present at that meeting. 14284

5481. According to Reyntjens, Kambanda associated the *commune* authorities with the RPF in several passages of his speech. Kambanda stated in the speech:

A conseiller, a member of the cellule committee, a préfet, a sous-préfet or any other official has the right to be an *Inkotanyi*. However, when we will be fighting the *Inkotanyi* we will fight him as well. ... Those who support the RPF shall join them and they shall assign him an RPF posts [sic]; they should not unjustly occupy our posts. ¹⁴²⁸⁵

Moreover, we know that some *bourgmestres*, here in Butare and elsewhere work for the RPF. ... So, do not be surprised if some ... *bourgmestres* are removed and replaced by others. They have to wait for the RPF and the new Government of national unity, including the RPF, to be put in place and then work with them. For the time being, they have to be removed and replaced by people who work for the good of Rwandans and the Rwandan Government. ¹⁴²⁸⁶

5482. Kambanda announced the implementation of civil defence during his speech, although this programme was already in place. Reyntjens referred to the following passage of Kambanda's speech: "As we have explained on the air, we are currently looking into ways of setting up a Civil Defence force.... A committee could be set up for that purpose for it will be useful to us at this moment." 14288

5483. Reyntjens testified that the speech showed that Kambanda wanted the civil defence programme to be formalised and generalised throughout the country in compliance with the instructions he issued on 25 May 1994. Kambanda blamed the Butare authorities, especially the *bourgmestre* of Ngoma urban *commune*, for his lack of commitment, as was evidenced by Kambanda saying "people are thinking that there is no war in Butare, no roadblocks have been set up", with the obvious threat towards those who would refuse to fully commit themselves to the policy. ¹⁴²⁹⁰

_

¹⁴²⁸³ T. 21 September 2007 pp. 27-29, 32 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 574B (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of the speech of Prime Minister Jean Kambanda of 14 May 1994).

¹⁴²⁸⁴ T. 21 September 2007 pp. 27-28; T. 24 September 2007 p. 24 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴²⁸⁵ T. 24 September 2007 p. 25 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 574B (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of the speech of Prime Minister Jean Kambanda of 14 May 1994) p. 10.

¹⁴²⁸⁶ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 25-26 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 574B (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of the speech of Prime Minister Jean Kambanda of 14 May 1994) p. 13.

¹⁴²⁸⁷ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 24-25 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴²⁸⁸ T. 24 September 2007 p. 26 (Reyntjens); Defence Exhibit 574B (Kanyabashi) (Transcript of the speech of Prime Minister Jean Kambanda of 14 May 1994) p. 3.

¹⁴²⁸⁹ T. 24 September 2007 p. 26; T. 2 October 2007 p. 28 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴²⁹⁰ T. 24 September 2007 pp. 26-27; T. 2 October 2007 p. 28 (Reyntjens).

Other Exhibits

5484. Reyntjens agreed Prosecution Exhibit 120 indicates that Colonel Simba was appointed as the civilian defence advisor for the *préfectures* of Butare and Gikongoro. Reyntjens agreed that the fact that Nsabimana received a civilian defence advisor showed that Nsabimana had some responsibility in civilian defence. Reyntjens agreed that the letter indicated that the advisor should work in collaboration with *préfets*, *bourgmestres* and *conseillers* to supervise civil defence training on how to prevent "infiltration of the ENI", which meant the enemy, *i.e.* the RPF *Inkotanyi* and its accomplices, or in other words the Tutsi. 14293

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Maurice Ntahobali

5485. Maurice Ntahobali, the husband of Nyiramasuhuko and father of Shalom Ntahobali, testified that between April and July 1994, he did not learn that there were massacres in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴²⁹⁴

14 May 1994 Meeting with Prime Minister Kambanda

5486. Maurice Ntahobali testified that he did not leave the Hotel Ihuliro in April 1994. However, he did leave the hotel and moved around in Butare between the end of April and the beginning of July 1994. He recalled Prime Minister Kambanda's visit at the invitation of MDR members of the university community in mid-May 1994 when his wife was also in Butare. 14296

5487. The meeting was held at the Butare University campus, and the witness was informed of the meeting by the vice-rector, Jean Bacumas Nshimyumuremyi. The purpose of the meeting was to disseminate information regarding the political situation. The witness agreed that the date of the meeting was around 14 May 1994. Nyiramasuhuko did not take part in the 14 May 1994 University meeting. The audio recording of Kambanda's and Maurice Ntahobali's speeches broadcast on 15 May 1994 was admitted into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 171A.

5488. At this meeting, Prime Minister Kambanda addressed pacification and also alluded to civil defence. Civil defence was a way of ensuring the security of the country. Kambanda did not suggest that those involved in civil defence should try to eliminate the Tutsis within the country. He said Kambanda's speech stressed that the university population should

1. 14 September 2003 pp. 40 47 (Maurice Ma

¹⁴²⁹¹ T. 21 November 2008 p. 72 (Reyntjens); Prosecution Exhibit 120 (Letter from Minister of Defence Bizimana to Lt.-Col. Aloys Simba, appointing Simba as civilian defence advisor to the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro, 15 May 1994).

¹⁴²⁹² T. 21 November 2008 p. 72 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴²⁹³ T. 21 November 2008 pp. 72-73 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴²⁹⁴ T. 14 September 2005 p. 48 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴²⁹⁵ T. 13 September 2005 p. 19 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴²⁹⁶ T. 14 September 2005 p. 39 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴²⁹⁷ T. 14 September 2005 p. 39; T. 16 September 2005 pp. 36-37, 39 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴²⁹⁸ T. 14 September 2005 p. 36 (Maurice Ntahobali).

T. 16 September 2005 pp. 50-51 (Maurice Ntahobali); *see also* Prosecution Exhibits 171B-D (Transcripts of the speeches of 14 May 1994 in Kinyarwanda, French and English respectively).

T. 14 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Maurice Ntahobali).

cooperate and try to solve the problem relating to the war which Rwanda was waging against the RPF. 14301

5489. Maurice Ntahobali made a statement at the meeting expressing his and the university community's support for the institutions of the Republic, the President, and for the Government of Jean Kambanda. He talked about the *Inkotanyi*, who in English are referred to as RPF, and said they were people who sought to take power by force of arms. Maurice Ntahobali's statement also indicated that the university lecturers felt that the Arusha Accords were no longer of any value because the RPF had a lot of benefit from them. The lecturers also felt it necessary to sensitise members of the population so that they could find means to defend themselves, meaning civil defence. 14302

Civilian Defence

5490. Maurice Ntahobali stated that he did not know before fleeing from Butare that Colonel Aloys Simba was in charge of civilian defence in Butare and Gikongoro. He never knew that prior to his appointment as *préfet*, Alphonse Nteziryayo played any role whatsoever in civil defence in Butare. 14304

5491. Maurice Ntahobali heard about a committee for the funding of civilian defence between April and July 1994. He knew his name was included on the list of members of the committee, but he did not attend the committee's meetings or participate in its mission. It was an *ad hoc* committee, not a permanent entity, and, therefore, did not have its own premises. Whenever the committee had to meet, it was at the behest of the convener with resources that were made available by the *préfecture* office. Nobody invited the witness to attend a meeting until the end of June 1994. 14305

5492. Maurice Ntahobali was shown Tables 14 and 15 in Guichaoua's Report. Table 14 contains a list of purported members of the civil defence supervision committee and the civil defence *préfecture* committee. Table 15 contains a list of names of purported members of the financial committee of civil defence. The witness could not confirm whether before 3 July 1994, they had indeed been members. The witness also could not state whether the people listed in Table 14 were members of the civil defence supervisory committee or of the civil defence *préfecture* committee. 14306

Nsabimana Defence Witness Charles Karemano

5493. Charles Karemano testified that the University held a meeting around mid-May 1994 to which Prime Minister Kambanda was invited. At that meeting academics made heinous speeches in an effort to please the Government. They said that people from the other ethnic group, *i.e.* Tutsis, and Tutsi university lecturers should be shot down, although Karemano

¹⁴³⁰¹ T. 16 September 2005 p. 54 (Maurice Ntahobali).

T. 16 September 2005 pp. 45-46 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴³⁰³ T. 14 September 2005 pp. 49-50 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴³⁰⁴ T. 14 September 2005 pp. 54-55 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴³⁰⁵ T. 13 September 2005 p. 30; T. 14 September 2005 p. 50 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴³⁰⁶ T. 14 September 2005 p. 54 (Maurice Ntahobali); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 184-186.

testified that most of them had already been shot down at that time. It was being said that in the university one should not let any enemies or people from the other race remain. Tutsi lecturers who had already been killed included Professors Karenzi, Rumiya and Gaétan, but there were many more. 14308

Nyiramasuhuko Defence Witness Eugène Shimamungu

5494. Eugène Shimamungu testified as to Defence Exhibit 288, a *communiqué* broadcast on Radio Rwanda and signed by Nsabimana. It stated: "The looting and massacres must cease immediately and the attackers who are armed with all sorts of weapons but who are not assigned to man any roadblock recognised by the authorities, must stop their activities." ¹⁴³⁰⁹

Nviramasuhuko

Civil Defence

5495. Nyiramasuhuko was shown Prosecution Exhibit 120, a document dated 15 May 1994 referring to the appointment of Aloys Simba as civil defence adviser of the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro. She explained that the Government had decided to set up a civil defence system. The officials implementing the system came under the Ministry of Defence, which appointed them. She learned about Simba's appointment during the meeting of the enlarged Security Council, held in Butare on 16 May 1994, based upon what was said by *Préfet* Nsabimana. Nyiramasuhuko did not know why Rekeraho attended the council meeting. She noted that he spoke and thought that he was there as a representative of a political party. She later learned that Rekeraho was Simba's assistant in the civil defence field. She is the spoke and thought that he was said by a political party. She later learned that Rekeraho was Simba's assistant in the civil defence field.

14 May 1994 Meeting with Prime Minister Kambanda

5496. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she learned about a meeting in Butare on 14 May 1994 after the fact. Hall She was told that Butare authorities had received the Prime Minister at this meeting. The authorities preparing the reception were the *préfet* of Butare and the vice-rector, Nshimyumuremyi. She thought that the meeting was held at the faculty of medicine at the National University of Rwanda, but was not sure. Nyiramasuhuko said that the director of the National University of Rwanda, Butare campus, was aware of the meeting with the Prime Minister, as both the vice-rector and *préfet* had informed him. The rector, Nyiramasuhuko's husband, attended the meeting.

-

¹⁴³⁰⁷ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 52-53 (Karemano).

¹⁴³⁰⁸ T. 5 September 2006 pp. 53-54 (Karemano).

¹⁴³⁰⁹ T. 23 March 2005 pp. 31-32, 34 (Shimamungu); Defence Exhibit 288 (Nteziryayo) (*Communiqué* Broadcast on Radio Rwanda, 27 April 1994).

¹⁴³¹⁰ T. 4 October 2005 p. 65; T. 10 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹¹ T. 10 October 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹² T. 10 October 2005 p. 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹³ T. 10 October 2005 p. 50 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹⁴ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 20-21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹⁵ T. 26 October 2005 p. 20 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹⁶ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 20-21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

5497. Nyiramasuhuko stated that when she reached Butare, her husband told her that the Prime Minister had visited the Butare intellectuals. She did not take notes in her diary regarding the meeting, as she did not attend it. 14317 Nyiramasuhuko testified that there had been radio coverage of the meeting, 14318 that she had not listened to it, but she read a transcript of it and listened to a recording of it in Arusha. 14319

5498. Nyiramasuhuko stated that the Prime Minister's trip to Butare on 14 May 1994 had not been discussed previously in a Cabinet meeting, and that the ministers therefore did not know of this trip. 14320

5499. Nyiramasuhuko testified that she went to Butare on 14 May 1994 because she was not feeling well. She also wanted to visit her family, and there was a state nurse among them. Given she was in Murambi on 13 May 1994, she had no way of knowing a meeting was going to be held on 14 May 1994 at the University campus in Butare. Her absence from the meeting was borne out by the absence of her name or any other minister's name in the transcripts of the radio broadcast, as well as by a letter from Kalimanzira which stated that she had been with him that evening. She had no way of knowing a meeting was going to be held on 14 May 1994 at the University campus in Butare. Her absence from the meeting was borne out by the absence of her name or any other minister's name in the transcripts of the radio broadcast, as well as by a letter from Kalimanzira which stated that she had been with him that evening.

25 May 1994 Directive from Jean Kambanda

5500. Nyiramasuhuko testified that Prosecution Exhibit 121, the directives and guidelines on the Government's civilian defence of 25 May 1994, had been examined by the Government prior to its issuance. She did not remember the date on which the Government decided that the document of 25 May 1994 was satisfactory and fit for dissemination. When the ministers who were supposed to determine whether the document was ready did so, they forwarded it to the Prime Minister. He added what he deemed necessary, and signed it on 25 May 1994. 14324

5501. Nyiramasuhuko testified that when she went to attend a meeting on 31 May 1994, she inquired in passing of Colonel Munyengango about the roadblocks she had seen in Butare town. Colonel Munyengango told her that he had been told that those who were manning roadblocks were people of good character known by the *commune* administration, and who had received some training. Munyengango further said that the roadblocks were part of the civilian defence and that there was a problem of soldiers, who were in the north of Butare *préfecture* since the *Inkotanyi* were already within the vicinity. In addition, she had been told that firearms had been distributed within the framework of civilian defence. 14325

¹⁴³¹⁷ T. 26 October 2005 p. 21 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³¹⁸ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 24-25 (Nyiramasuhuko) (maybe there had been radio coverage of the meeting); *see* T. 26 October 2005 p. 28 (Nyiramasuhuko) (French) (there was radio coverage of the meeting).

¹⁴³¹⁹ T. 26 October 2005 pp. 24-25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²⁰ T. 26 October 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²¹ T. 26 October 2005 p. 25 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²² T. 26 October 2005 p. 26 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²³ T. 4 October 2005 p. 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²⁴ T. 4 October 2005 p. 65 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴³²⁵ T. 12 October 2005 pp. 5-6 (Nyiramasuhuko).

Nsabimana

5502. Nsabimana testified that Prime Minister Kambanda visited Butare National University on 14 May 1994. He testified that the vice-rector's invitation for this meeting was not sent to the *préfet*. The *préfecture* was informed of the visit belatedly, but he along with his *sous-préfet* in charge of administration attended. Nsabimana said that at the meeting the Prime Minister had discussions with the staff of the University. He also said that there was no *bourgmestre* at this meeting. Nsabimana did not know the speech had been broadcast and could not recall the contents of Kambanda's speech although he testified that Kambanda always had the same belligerent themes in his speeches.

5503. Nsabimana testified that Prosecution Exhibit 121, the Prime Minister's Directive on civil defence dated 25 May 1994, never got to his hands, though it reached the *bourgmestres*. He testified that the Directive was not discussed during the *préfets*' meeting with the Prime Minister on 28 May 1994, and that he only saw the Directive when Des Forges was tendering her exhibits. He insisted the document was in the custody of certain persons but did not come from him. 14332

5504. Nsabimana testified that in late May 1994, Kambanda went to the guest house of the National University of Rwanda, where he met with the vice-rector and there they discussed weapons for civilian defence. 14333

5505. Nsabimana testified that he did not make any financial transactions with the bank accounts of the *préfecture* during his tenure as *préfet*. Pursuant to a meeting of the Security Council on 15 June 1994, Nsabimana acknowledged that he had signed a letter to the Bank of Kigali to request an account for civil defence. In his letter of request of 15 June 1994, Nsabimana had designated four account trustees who were required co-signatories for all withdrawals. That same day, Nsabimana received a letter from the vice-rector of the National University of Rwanda informing Nsabimana of the opening of a civil defence bank account with the Rwandan Bank of Commerce of Butare. The vice-rector subsequently made a deposit in this latter bank. Nsabimana said the trustees of the account in the Rwandan Bank of Commerce into which the vice-rector deposited funds were not designated by Nsabimana.

1. 13 November 2000 p. 70 (Nsaoimar

¹⁴³²⁶ T. 10 October 2006 p. 76; T. 27 November 2006 p. 26 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³²⁷ T. 10 October 2006 p. 76 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³²⁸ T. 11 October 2006 p. 3 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³²⁹ T. 18 October 2006 pp. 16, 20 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³³⁰ T. 21 September 2006 p. 49 (Nsabimana); Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994).

¹⁴³³¹ T. 21 September 2006 p. 49; T. 21 November 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³³² T. 21 September 2006 p. 50 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³³³ T. 11 October 2006 pp. 6-7 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³³⁴ T. 20 November 2006 pp. 22-23 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴³³⁵ T. 12 October 2006 pp. 19-20; T. 15 November 2006 pp. 79-80 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 484 (Nsabimana) (Letter from Nsabimana to the Bank of Kigali, 15 June 1994).

¹⁴³³⁶ T. 15 November 2006 pp. 88, 90 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 485 (Nsabimana) (Letter from the vice-

¹⁴³³⁶ T. 15 November 2006 pp. 88, 90 (Nsabimana); Defence Exhibit 485 (Nsabimana) (Letter from the vice-rector of the National University of Rwanda to Nsabimana, 15 June 1994).
¹⁴³³⁷ T. 15 November 2006 p. 90 (Nsabimana).

Nteziryayo

5506. Nteziryayo testified that from September 1991 up until he was appointed *préfet* of Butare, he was director of *commune* police in the Ministry of Interior. ¹⁴³³⁸ During that time, his superiors were the Minister of the Interior, Faustin Munyazesa, the Director-General Aloys Ngendahimana and the Director of Political and Administrative Affairs François Harerimana. ¹⁴³³⁹ He was solely under the authority of the Minister of Interior, despite the fact that the Ministry of Defence still paid his salary. ¹⁴³⁴⁰ In April, May and June 1994 he did not receive his salary, although in July 1994 he met the army accountant in Cyangugu and received his salary for all three months.

5507. Nteziryayo testified that he did not exercise any authority on members of the *commune* police staff. He referred to Prosecution Exhibit 189 which contained substantive provisions of the organisation of the *commune* police. According to Article 104 (4) of the provisions laid down in Prosecution Exhibit 189, only the *bourgmestre* had powers to exercise authority over *commune* police staff. Further, he did not possess the authority to pay the salary, to hire or to dismiss *commune* police officers. Defence Exhibit 523, the Rwandan law pertaining to the organisation of *commune* police, confirmed that *commune* police were under the authority of the *bourgmestre*. He testified that in 1994 there were many reservists of the Rwandan army within the *commune* police force, because they had priority over civilians in the event of recruitment of members for the *commune* police force.

5508. Regarding Defence Exhibit 522 concerning the division of the *commune* police within the Ministry of the Interior, Nteziryayo stated that even though according to the document the discipline of the *commune* police in Rwanda also fell under his responsibility as chief of the divisional *commune* police, Nteziryayo never carried out such controls of discipline because of a lack of information. In addition, as director of the *commune* police division it was his responsibility to hand over the weapons – including guns and ammunition – from the Ministry of Defence to the *bourgmestres* when they came to receive them.

5509. Nteziryayo testified that his daughter was born on 30 March 1994. He took leave from his work in the Ministry of the Interior on 22 or 23 March 1994 to be of assistance to his pregnant wife. The leave was to be due on 8 or 9 April 1994, but because fighting started after the events of 6 April 1994, he did not return to work, even though he was still officially

¹⁴³³⁸ T. 14 May 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³³⁹ T. 14 May 2007 p. 63 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴⁰ T. 9 July 2007 pp. 58-59 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴¹ T. 4 July 2007 p. 55 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴² T. 14 May 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴³ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 45-46 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴⁴ T. 13 June 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴⁵ T. 14 May 2007 pp. 46-47 (Nteziryayo); Defence Exhibit 523 (Nteziryayo) (Law of 4 October 1977, *Organisation Communale – Police Communale*) Art. 1.

¹⁴³⁴⁶ T. 27 June 2007 pp. 61-62 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴⁷ T. 4 July 2007 p. 29 (Nteziryayo); Defence Exhibit 522 (Ntahobali) (15 November 1992, Official Gazette of the Republic of Rwanda relating to Prime Ministerial Orders of 27 and 28 August 1992).

¹⁴³⁴⁸ T. 4 July 2007 pp. 35-36 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁴⁹ T. 15 May 2007 pp. 26, 41 (Nteziryayo).

serving at the Ministry of the Interior. ¹⁴³⁵⁰ Between 5 and 16 April 1994, he did not speak with anyone in the Ministry of the Interior or in army headquarters. ¹⁴³⁵¹ The fighting in Kigali continued until Nteziryayo left on 15 April to Butare; therefore it was impossible for him and for other state civil servants to go to work between 7 and 15 April 1994, such that Nteziryayo stayed permanently at home. ¹⁴³⁵² On their arrival in Butare his family went directly to the house of a friend in Ngoma *commune* and was accommodated there. ¹⁴³⁵³ Because there was not enough room in the friend's home, Nteziryayo went to the Hotel Ibis. ¹⁴³⁵⁴ He visited his family often, sometimes several times a day, and brought food and medical treatment for several sick persons. ¹⁴³⁵⁵ On 18 April 1994 he organised the evacuation of Gatera and Gatera's wife to Burundi. ¹⁴³⁵⁶

5510. During the period from 15 April to 21 June 1994, he was not engaged in any state activity or duties; he mainly took care of his family and the other persons lodging at a friend's house. 14357 Despite his high rank in the army and the fact that the army had insufficient qualified staff and was recruiting people, he stayed in Butare because he had no occupation. Nteziryayo denied that he remained in Butare because he held a position there; the Ministry existed but it was in Gitarama and all civil servants were on holiday. Contrary to Guichaoua's Report, he did not set up an office as Director of the *commune* police in Butare and he did not carry out any activity that had to do with his duties as Director of *commune* police. He testified that until 17 June 1994, he still considered himself as Chief of *commune* police in the Ministry of the Interior, which still existed at that period and had moved first to Gitarama and afterwards to Gisenyi. He did not go to Gitarama to ask the Minister of Interior Édouard Karemera for directives because the *communiqué* of the Minister of Defence on 7 April 1994 had stated that everyone should stay indoors until further notice so no one felt obliged to go to work. 14362

5511. He stated that between 15 April and 3 July 1994 in Butare he always wore a military uniform for his security, 14363 and generally carried his pistol with him. 14364 In Butare he had some extra military uniforms. In addition, members of his family who remained in Kigali brought him some military uniforms but no civilian clothes. 14366

```
<sup>14350</sup> T. 15 May 2007 p. 42 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14351</sup> T. 4 July 2007 p. 50 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14352</sup> T. 15 May 2007 p. 34; T. 18 June 2007 pp. 42-43, 50; T. 20 June 2007 p. 57 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14353</sup> T. 15 May 2007 pp. 58-59 (ICS) (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14354</sup> T. 15 May 2007 p. 61 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14355</sup> T. 15 May 2007 pp. 66, 70 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14356</sup> T. 15 May 2007 p. 70 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14357</sup> T. 16 May 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14358</sup> T. 21 June 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14359</sup> T. 21 June 2007 p. 29 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14360</sup> T. 16 May 2007 pp. 41-42 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14361</sup> T. 21 June 2007 pp. 23-24 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14362</sup> T. 9 July 2007 p. 74 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14363</sup> T. 21 June 2007 pp. 18-19 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14364</sup> T. 9 July 2007 p. 8 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14365</sup> T. 20 June 2007 p. 58; T. 21 June 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14366</sup> T. 21 June 2007 p. 22 (Nteziryayo).
```

Appointment as Préfet

- 5512. Nteziryayo stated that he assumed that the Minister of Interior Édouard Karemera had proposed him as *préfet*, because he usually proposed names for the position of *préfet*. The reason for his appointment was, as he learned later from the Minister of Interior during Nteziryayo's swearing-in ceremony, his position as a soldier. The Government hoped that a soldier could deal with the pressure of the RPF advancing on Butare and that he could cooperate with French and Rwandan soldiers simultaneously, as they intended to ask the French soldiers who were part of the *Mission Turquoise* to include Butare *préfecture* in the demilitarised zone. Finally, they thought Nteziryayo would be able to organise a possible necessary evacuation of the population. He had not expected the appointment and was very surprised. He had spent a long time in Butare without any duties, and he was never asked or contacted by anyone beforehand. He had spent a long time in Butare without any duties, and he was never asked or contacted by anyone beforehand.
- 5513. Nteziryayo confirmed that soldiers were under obligations to accept appointments from the Government in capacities other than that of a soldier. He had no choice but to accept the post of *préfet* of Butare, in view of the gravity of the war. In view of his own weak position within the military, he saw it as an opportunity at least to become active after he had not done anything since 1994. He also wanted to be of service to the population in the difficult period. Page 1994.
- 5514. During the handover procedure on 20 June 1994 Nsabimana told him only generally about the financial aspect of civil defence. Nteziryayo stated that prior to being *préfet* he did not have any information as to whether the Government, an organisation or citizens had allocated an amount of money for civil defence. In cross-examination, Nteziryayo testified that during his tenure as *préfet* he knew only in a general manner about all the bank accounts belonging to Butare *préfecture*. 14375
- 5515. Ntezirvayo testified that he had access to the cash deposited in the safe, less than 1,000,000 in cash, but that he was not able to carry out any transactions from the circa 10 possessed accounts which the the different bank préfecture commerciale du Rwanda, the Rwandan commercial bank, and the Banque de Kigali in Butare. 14376 This was because until the time he went into exile on 3 July 1994, he did not receive the necessary authorisation, i.e. the instrument of appointment, a letter signed by the President of the Republic, and countersigned by the Minister of Interior, announcing officially and in public that Nteziryayo was the new *préfet* of Butare. 14377 Nteziryayo stated that he still was able to run the *préfecture* without funds because he was *préfet* in very extraordinary times

```
14367 T. 21 June 2007 pp. 57, 59-60 (Nteziryayo).
14368 T. 7 June 2007 p. 8; T. 21 June 2007 p. 61 (Nteziryayo).
14369 T. 7 June 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).
14370 T. 7 June 2007 p. 8; T. 9 July 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).
14371 T. 9 July 2007 p. 43 (Nteziryayo).
14372 T. 7 June 2007 pp. 8-9 (Nteziryayo).
14373 T. 19 June 2007 pp. 30-31 (Nteziryayo).
14374 T. 19 June 2007 p. 33 (Nteziryayo).
14375 T. 27 June 2007 p. 49 (Nteziryayo).
```

¹⁴³⁷⁶ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 26-27; T. 19 June 2007 pp. 32-33 (Nteziryayo). ¹⁴³⁷⁷ T. 7 June 2007 pp. 24-26, 28; T. 9 July 2007 p. 72 (Nteziryayo).

when the administration did not function properly; especially from 27 June 1994 onwards, when Butare was flooded by displaced persons, Nteziryayo did not need to rely on funds in the bank to settle problems in the *préfecture*. ¹⁴³⁷⁸

- 5516. Nteziryayo confirmed that as *préfet* his responsibilities also included civilian defence, as had been put down in the directives of the Minister of Interior; civil defence had already been implemented at the time Nsabimana had been *préfet* and Nteziryayo had discussed this subject with Nsabimana during the handover ceremony. 14379
- 5517. Nteziryayo said that as *préfet* he had no rights to punish any soldiers or members of the *gendarmerie* who were also soldiers, irrespective of his rank, because the *préfet* had no such legal authority. 14380

Civil Defence

5518. Nteziryayo testified that throughout his service in the Ministry of the Interior he was not involved in the organisation or execution of the civil defence project. Nteziryayo testified that he had heard about the concept referred to as "civil defence", "popular self-defence" or "civilian defence" in 1992 while working in the Ministry of the Interior. The Rwandan Armed Forces and the Ministry of Defence had initiated civil defence to back up the Rwandan Armed Forces, to gain a better protection of the population and to defend it against the RPF's "infiltration techniques." The RPF had started this "infiltration technique" around the end of 1991, applying a combination of guerrilla and conventional warfare. They first killed or expelled civilians from a territory to occupy it and to use it strategically for surprise attacks on the Rwandan Armed forces. Due to the attacks the population increasingly lost confidence in the Government. Nteziryayo testified that around the end May 1994 the Interim Government implemented the "reorganisation of civil defence."

14 May 1994 Meeting with Prime Minister Kambanda

- 5519. Nteziryayo testified that prior to his arrival in Butare he did not know if civil defence existed in Butare. He was told that Prime Minister Kambanda spoke at the National University of Rwanda on 14 May 1994 and said that civil defence was going to be established in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴³⁸⁶
- 5520. Nteziryayo testified that between 1 January and 21 June 1994 he was not involved in the civil defence system. Between 21 June and 3 July 1994, as *préfet* of Butare he was, in accordance with the instructions of the Prime Minister of 25 May 1994, *ex-officio* in charge of

```
<sup>14378</sup> T. 9 July 2007 p. 72 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14380</sup> T. 21 June 2007 pp. 17-18 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14381</sup> T. 22 May 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14382</sup> T. 22 May 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14383</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 19-20 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14384</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 19-20 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14385</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 21 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14386</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 21; T. 26 June 2007 p. 65 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14386</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 22-24; T. 14 June 2007 p. 35; T. 27 June 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).
<sup>14387</sup> T. 22 May 2007 pp. 31-35 (Nteziryayo).
```

civil defence in that préfecture, but he did not promote civil defence. 14388 Contrary to Des Forges' assertion, he did not get any support from Kalimanzira and Nyiramasuhuko for promoting civil defence. 14389

- 5521. Nteziryayo testified that between April and 3 July 1994 Prime Minister Kambanda and his Government requested members of the population to participate in their own security. The Prime Minister issued directives for the Rwandan population and during several speeches and meetings he talked about civil defence, including on one occasion at the National University of Rwanda on 14 May 1994. 14390
- 5522. Nteziryayo testified that he did not attend Kambanda's 14 May 1994 speech at the National University of Rwanda but he heard portions of Kambanda's speech on the evening of 14 May 1994 or during the next day over Radio Rwanda delivered in Kinyarwanda. 14391
- 5523. Nteziryayo agreed that Kambanda said during the speech that Aloys Simba was going to be in charge of civil defence for Butare and Gikongoro, and Colonel Gasake was in charge at the national level in Rwanda. Kambanda did not mention Nteziryayo in connection with the civil defence structure in his speech. 14392
- 5524. Nteziryayo testified that Kambanda spoke about the need for civil defence. He urged the staff of the university to join civil defence and to undergo military training. 14393 He said that the *commune* authorities of Ngoma *commune* had to recruit 100 persons, not specifically youth, for each secteur and that the organisation was under the responsibility of the bourgmestre, who would be assisted by commune policemen and reserve officers. The military operations commander of Butare had to draw up and to supervise the programmes. 14394 During his speech, Kambanda said that training for civil defence had started and directives were being formulated. 14395
- 5525. Nteziryayo confirmed that the speech of Prime Minister Kambanda contained the following remarks: that according to the intelligence service, the enemy was making attempts to infiltrate into that town, and that they should start to protect that town seriously because there were not enough roadblocks; that no one would have the right to move freely throughout

¹⁴³⁸⁸ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 32, 34 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁸⁹ T. 22 May 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁰ T. 14 June 2007 p. 35; T. 27 June 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹¹ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 40-41; T. 14 June 2007 p. 43; T. 14 June 2007 p. 48 (ICS); T. 27 June 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo testified that only an extract of the speech had been broadcast); T. 14 June 2007 pp. 48-49 (ICS) (Nteziryayo) (He heard the aspect of the speech requesting university staff to support the Government, thanking them for their contribution and the part dealing with the civil defence programme. Nteziryayo testified that he also heard the portions of the speech where the President said the RPF had distributed weapons everywhere and that they should not be afraid of those weapons); T. 18 June 2007 p. 5 (Nteziryayo) (Nteziryayo also read a portion of the speech where Prime Minister Kambanda said, in essence, that there weren't enough roadblocks in the town and asked those in charge of security in that préfecture and in the commune to create roadblocks that would be manned either by civilians, farmers, or members of the population in general. He also acknowledged having read the portion where the Minister encouraged all citizens to defend the town). T. 14 June 2007 p. 45; T. 27 June 2007 pp. 30-31 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹³ T. 27 June 2007 pp. 28-29 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁴ T. 14 June 2007 pp. 43-44 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁵ T. 27 June 2007 p. 30; T. 14 June 2007 p. 44 (Nteziryayo).

the town by giving directives serving the interest of the enemy, and those who so conducted themselves would also be considered as the enemy; and that someone who tells members of the population not to man roadblocks, not to protect their town, not to check the movements of persons entering into their town and exiting from their town, was an enemy of the country, in general, and in Butare. 14396

- 5526. Nteziryayo testified that Kambanda did not say that the Tutsis should be eliminated. The main reason for the establishment of civil defence was to protect and defend the population. Therefore, Ntezirvayo did not understand his speech as incitement to eliminate Tutsis. 14397
- 5527. Ntezirvayo testified that Colonel Simba, whom he met in Butare in 1994, told Nteziryayo that he was in charge of civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro préfectures. 14398 Lieutenant Colonel Simba's appointment had been signed by the defence minister. 14399
- 5528. Nteziryayo testified that during a meeting held on 22 May 1994 in Ntyazo commune, Simba told him that he had appointed senior warrant officer Rekeraho as his deputy. 14400 Nteziryayo denied that he was ever the deputy of Lieutenant Colonel Simba in respect of civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro préfectures. 14401 He could not have been appointed because on 15 May 1994, he was not a reserve, non-commissioned or retired officer. 14402

25 May 1994 Directive

5529. Nteziryayo was shown Prosecution Exhibit 121 and testified that he had read it shortly after he took office as préfet. 14403 In the Directive dated 25 May 1994 the Prime Minister stated that the objectives of civil defence were to protect the population, to gather information, to defend the population against hostile actions before the intervention of the armed forces and to function as a relay to the armed forces. 14404 Nteziryayo testified that point two of the Directive dealt with the defence of the fatherland. According to point three the enemy was the attacker of Rwanda, *i.e.* the RPF, and everyone who assisted the attackers. Nteziryayo said by "accomplices" the document was not referring to Tutsis. He added that between April and July 1994, he did not hear that the enemy of Rwanda included both Tutsis from inside and Tutsis in the RPF. 14407

¹⁴³⁹⁶ T. 28 June 2007 pp. 29-30 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁷ T. 27 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁸ T. 22 May 2007 p. 23 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴³⁹⁹ T. 27 June 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰⁰ T. 22 May 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰¹ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 26-27 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰² T. 22 May 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo); see Prosecution Exhibit 120 (Letter from Minister of Defence Bizimana to Lt.-Col. Aloys Simba, appointing Simba as civilian defence advisor to the préfets of Butare and Gikongoro, 15

¹⁴⁴⁰³ T. 23 May 2007 pp. 5-6; T. 3 July 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo); Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994).

¹⁴⁴⁰⁴ T. 23 May 2007 p. 5; T. 27 June 2007 p. 31; T. 3 July 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰⁵ T. 3 July 2007 p. 26 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰⁶ T. 3 July 2007 pp. 26-27 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁰⁷ T. 3 July 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

- 5530. Nteziryayo testified that according to point 8 of Prosecution Exhibit 121 the civil defence committee was planned to function at various levels. Point 8 read: "To ensure better coordination of civil defence operations, the *préfecture* authorities are requested to point out the rapid putting in place of civil defence committees at the level of the *secteurs*, *communes* and *préfectures*." 14408
- 5531. Nteziryayo was shown Prosecution Exhibit 122 which discussed the implementation of the Prime Minister's directives and was signed by the Minister of Interior, Édouard Karemera. He read out paragraph four of Prosecution Exhibit 122, "[i]dentification of people resources, to train as small groups of civil defence members at the political and ideological level", and testified that this document dealt with the training sessions to be given to youth in different *secteurs* on civilian self-defence. 14410
- 5532. Nteziryayo testified that he learned between 15 April and 3 July 1994 that Faustin Twagirayezu was the chairman of the civil defence committee that was situated in Butare town; he lived in Butare town but operated within the whole of Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴⁴¹¹ Nteziryayo added that he never met Twagirayezu. ¹⁴⁴¹² When he took office as *préfet*, this self-defence committee was already operating. It was chaired by Faustin Twagirayezu. ¹⁴⁴¹³
- 5533. Contrary to Guichaoua's assertions, Nteziryayo had not been relocated into the army as a reserve officer at the request of Théoneste Bagosora to become a member of the civil defence committee. Bagosora, who fell under the Ministry of National Defence, had no authority over Nteziryayo, who had been under the authority of the Ministry of Interior. 14414
- 5534. Nteziryayo testified that he had never been in charge of the popular civil defence committee, be it a provisional committee or a fully-fledged committee contrary to the statement in Guichaoua's Report. Nteziryayo testified that contrary to Des Forges' Report he was not in charge of coordinating civil defence with the civilian authorities. 14416
- 5535. Nteziryayo testified that when he became *préfet*, he learned that civil defence in Butare *préfecture* was funded. He learned from documents in the *préfecture* that there were various funds earmarked for civil defence in Butare *préfecture*, among them funds earmarked by the staff of the National University of Rwanda. Nteziryayo stated that part of the money was kept in the safe of the *préfecture*, which he also used to store money, but the substantial part was kept in one of the banks in Butare, as he learned from documents handed over to him when he became *préfet*. Around 22 or 23 June 1994, he received 2,000,000 Rwandan

¹⁴⁴⁰⁸ T. 23 May 2007 p. 6; T. 3 July 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).

T. 9 July 2007 p. 18 (Nteziryayo); Prosecution Exhibit 122B (Implementing the Directives of the Prime Minister on Organizing the Civil Self-Defence, 25 May 1994).

¹⁴⁴¹⁰ T. 9 July 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹¹ T. 27 June 2007 p. 37; T. 28 June 2007 pp. 20-21 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹² T. 27 June 2007 p. 37 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹³ T. 23 May 2007 pp. 6-7 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁴ T. 23 May 2007 p. 9 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁵ T. 23 May 2007 p. 20 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁶ T. 23 May 2007 p. 9 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁷ T. 22 May 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁸ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 27-28 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴¹⁹ T. 22 May 2007 p. 28 (Nteziryayo).

francs earmarked for civil defence by the Ministry of Interior and *commune* development. Nteziryayo stated that he kept the money in the vault and left it there when he left the country. He did not know what happened to the money afterwards. 14420

- 5536. Nteziryayo testified that he did not take part in the funding intended for organising civil defence. Between 6 April and 21 June 1994 he had no relations with the bank accounts of the civil defence in Butare. As *préfet* between 21 June and 3 July 1994 he was in charge of the accounts of civil defence, but he did not actively raise funds for civil defence. 14423
- 5537. Nteziryayo testified that after 20 June 1994, the chairman of the civil defence committee in Butare, Faustin Twagirayezu, and the adjutant chef, Pierre Claver Ntirigira, were in charge of training for civil defence. He added that Pierre Claver Ntirigira supervised the training programme in Ngoma *commune*. 14425
- 5538. Nteziryayo testified that as *préfet* he saw from several documents that the training programme existed before Kambanda's speech on 14 May 1994. Nteziryayo was shown Prosecution Exhibit 115, a letter dated from the end of April 1994 authored by the area commander and addressed to the *commune* authorities, and testified that it contained information about the recruitment and training of people for civilian defence and requested *bourgmestres* to do the recruitment. 14427
- 5539. Nteziryayo testified that he was never concerned in any way with the recruitment of youth and that he never asked anybody to recruit youths to be trained for civil defence in 1994 in Rwanda. 14428

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-5

5540. Witness AND-5, a Hutu civil servant and a detainee appealing a life sentence for crimes committed during the 1994 genocide at the time of his testimony, testified that between April and July 1994, a civil defence programme existed in Mugusa *commune*. The office of the *préfecture* would write to the *bourgmestre* requesting them to select young people to be sent to Butare for training. The youths were taken to Butare by the *bourgmestre* in a car and with a policeman as escort. Before 1994, recruitment for the army took place every six months. After the RPF took over Ntyazo during 15 to 30 May 1994, training was organised in Mugusa *commune* at the request of the *bourgmestre* to train young people to handle guns to fight the *Inkotanyi* at the front. According to Witness AND-5, the police force conducted

```
14420 T. 22 May 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).
14421 T. 22 May 2007 p. 28 (Nteziryayo).
14422 T. 22 May 2007 p. 30 (Nteziryayo).
14423 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 30, 32 (Nteziryayo).
14424 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 37, 48; T. 14 June 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).
14425 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 37, 48; T. 14 June 2007 p. 36 (Nteziryayo).
14426 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 37, 40 (Nteziryayo).
14427 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 40, 43-44 (Nteziryayo).
14428 T. 22 May 2007 pp. 42, 44 (Nteziryayo).
14429 T. 4 December 2006 pp. 35 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).
14431 T. 4 December 2006 pp. 35-37 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).
```

the trainings themselves, and no one from outside the *commune* came to assist them. He stressed that they were not trained to kill Tutsis, as the training took place after the massacres. Witness AND-5 believed Colonel Aloys Simba was in charge of civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures* at this time.

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-44

5541. Witness AND-44, a former *Gendarmerie* Camp Commander, ¹⁴⁴³⁵ testified that towards the end of April 1994 and the beginning of May 1994 he heard a radio announcement by the government inviting soldiers to retreat and come take part in civil defence to identify disguised RPF infiltrators, who had come to kill members of the local population. ¹⁴⁴³⁶ A number of retired soldiers were called up on the radio as recruits to the civil defence; the witness heard the names of Barahira from Butare, Aloys Simba from the southern region and Jean Damascene Ukurikiyeyezi from the centre of the country, all of whom had previously retired from the army; the witness never heard Nteziryayo's name mentioned in relation to the civil defence programme. ¹⁴⁴³⁷

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-50

5542. Witness AND-50, a Hutu teacher from Kigali, testified that Nteziryayo was not responsible for civil defence in Butare between April and July 1994. According to the witness, Colonel Aloys Simba was responsible for civil defence. 14438

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-60

5543. Witness AND-60, a Hutu accountant from Muyaga *commune*, testified that he never heard that Nteziryayo was the chairman of civil defence in Butare, but knew that Colonel Aloys Simba was responsible for civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro. The witness could not say anything as to Colonel Simba's responsibilities in civil defence or what civil defence entailed. 14439

Nteziryayo Defence Witness AND-74

5544. Witness AND-74, a Hutu civil servant, testified that around 15 or 16 May 1994 there was a radio announcement calling all civil servants and officers to help with civil defence. At this time Jean Damascéne Ukurikiyeyezi had been appointed to coordinate the civil defence activities for Gitarama *préfecture* and Colonel Aloys Simba had been appointed to coordinate

¹⁴⁴³² T. 4 December 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹⁴⁴³³ T. 4 December 2006 p. 36 (ICS); T. 5 December 2006 pp. 33, 36 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹⁴⁴³⁴ T. 4 December 2006 p. 37 (ICS) (Witness AND-5).

¹⁴⁴³⁵ T. 17 April 2007 p. 9 (ICS) (Witness AND-44).

¹⁴⁴³⁶ T. 17 April 2007 p. 50 (Witness AND-44).

¹⁴⁴³⁷ T. 17 April 2007 pp. 50-51; T. 19 April 2007 p. 40 (Witness AND-44).

¹⁴⁴³⁸ T. 2 May 2007 pp. 15, 49 (Witness AND-50).

¹⁴⁴³⁹ T. 14 March 2007 pp. 20-22 (Witness AND-60).

the civil defence of Gikongoro. 14440 The witness testified that civil defence was intended to help the civilian population ensure its own security in the face of RPF infiltration. 14441

Ntezirvavo Defence Witness AND-75

5545. Witness AND-75, a Hutu farmer from Ntyazo *commune*, testified that he attended Mathieu Ndahimana's swearing-in ceremony on 22 May 1994. After Nteziryayo, Colonel Simba took the floor and stated that he was the person in charge of civilian defence in Butare and Gikongoro préfectures, and introduced his assistant for this task, Emmanuel Rekeraho. Simba did not introduce Nteziryayo as his assistant during this meeting. 14443 Simba did not call upon the Hutu population to hunt down and kill Tutsis. 14444 Simba stated that he was going to help the population to set up vigilante groups for self-defence. 14445

Ndayambaje

5546. Ndayambaje testified that there were some RPF fighters who had infiltrated the country. He testified that accomplices included sympathisers who had taken up arms and attacked the country, 14446 people who provided financial support to the RPF, and people who sent young people to swell the ranks of the RPF at the front. Among those, some returned to the hills. Training was given to some members of clandestine brigades of the RPF. These were all accomplices. Ndayambaje stated that innocent Hutu and Tutsi children were killed in the violence although Tutsi children were not accomplices. 14447

25 May 1994 Directive

5547. Ndavambaje testified that he complied with several measures of civil defence, for example, not to disturb security and not to consider his neighbour as his enemy. 14448 Ndavambaie testified that he respected the security measures that were given by Prime Minister Kambanda in the "Instructions to restore security in the country." Some of the measures were within his scope and if the occasion were to arise, he might talk about them. 14450

¹⁴⁴⁵⁰ T. 25 November 2008 pp. 36-37 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁰ T. 6 March 2007 p. 76 (ICS) (Witness AND-74).

¹⁴⁴⁴¹ T. 7 March 2007 p. 66 (ICS) (Witness AND-74).

¹⁴⁴⁴² T. 7 May 2007 pp. 21-22 (Witness AND-75).

¹⁴⁴⁴³ T. 7 May 2007 pp. 28-29 (Witness AND-75).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁴ T. 7 May 2007 p. 29 (Witness AND-75).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁵ T. 7 May 2007 p. 28 (Witness AND-75).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁶ T. 25 November 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁷ T. 25 November 2008 p. 35 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁸ T. 25 November 2008 p. 29 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁴⁹ T. 25 November 2008 p. 37 (Ndayambaje); see Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994).

3.7.10.4 Deliberations

5548. As illustrated by the 25 May 1994 Directive, the objectives of civil defence were to:

- Make the people feel secure and encourage them to defend themselves against RPF attacks rather than abandon their homes;
- Protect infrastructure and other public property;
- Obtain information on the acts or presence of the enemy in the *commune*, *cellule*, or neighbourhood;
- Denounce infiltrators and enemy allies;
- Disrupt all enemy action before the intervention of the armed forces;
- Serve as antennae for the army and the *Gendarmerie Nationale*. ¹⁴⁴⁵¹

5549. The objectives were to be achieved by setting up a hierarchy and training certain members of the population in the use of weapons. 14452

5550. The Prosecution asserts that civil defence was composed of: an awareness campaign, recruitment and training, distribution and making of modern or traditional weapons and finding sources of finance. Roadblocks were allegedly the essence of the civilian self-defence systems which controlled the movement of people. The policy of the Interim Government to install roadblocks was transmitted by the *préfet* to the *communes*. Guichaoua likewise testified that patrols and roadblocks had to be organised and monitored and searches, seizures and *umuganda* (or community labour) were to be carried out under the auspices of the civil defence programme. In short, he said that the civil defence programme was a pretext for what he called the "killing machine".

5551. According to Nteziryayo, the main reason for the establishment of civil defence was to protect and defend the population. He said the RPF "infiltration technique" was a combination of guerrilla and conventional warfare. Nteziryayo stated that they first killed or expelled civilians from a territory to occupy it and to use it strategically for surprise attacks on the Rwandan Armed Forces. Shalom Ntahobali testified that pacification involved the assistance of the public to set up roadblocks and participate in night patrols to prevent the hoodlums from committing criminal acts. Maurice Ntahobali agreed that civil defence was a way of ensuring the security of the country. There was some evidence to support the argument that there was a legitimate military threat of RPF incursions.

¹⁴⁴⁵¹ Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994) p. 2.

Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994).

¹⁴⁴⁵³ T. 29 June 2004 p. 47 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁴ T. 9 June 2004 p. 24 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁵ T. 29 June 2004 p. 47 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁶ T. 29 June 2004 p. 54 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁷ T. 27 June 2007 p. 31 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁸ T. 22 May 2007 p. 21 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁵⁹ T. 3 May 2006 p. 26 (Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁴⁶⁰ T. 14 September 2005 pp. 48-49 (Maurice Ntahobali).

5552. In this regard, a 15 May 1994 letter from Minister of Defence Bizimana to Lieutenant Colonel Aloys Simba, appoints Simba to be "Civilian Defence adviser" to the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*. It charges Simba with training 10 men in each *secteur* on how to prevent the infiltration of the "ENI," *i.e.* the enemy. It also urges him to prioritise the civil defence programme in the *communes* bordering Burundi to prevent infiltrations from Burundi. Therefore, the Minister of Defence was evidently concerned about the infiltration of the enemy and saw civil defence as a way to address it.

5553. In addition, Defence Exhibit 537B, a 2 July 1992 memorandum from Lieutenant Colonel Nsengiyumva to the Rwandan Army Chief of Staff regarding internal security, states: "Inyenzi infiltrators are increasingly settling in Kigali and elsewhere in the country." It recommends: "Measures to track down the Inyenzi infiltrators should be implemented." In particular, it names several members of the Rwandan army who were allegedly key players in a counterfeiting network and says that such funds were being used to recruit *Inyenzi-Inkotanyi* in Burundi. The memorandum does not cite any sources and merely recounts unconfirmed suspicions as to RPF infiltrators. The Chamber considers this only to support the fact that there was a climate of fear from 2 July 1992, within which members of the army suspected their colleagues of materially supporting the RPF. 14463

5554. Des Forges also acknowledged the existence of RPF infiltrators in Rwanda. However, she said that the number of infiltrators was likely in the dozens and that it was unreasonable for the Interim Government to consider an entire ethnic group to be infiltrators. ¹⁴⁴⁶⁴ In this connection, the Chamber examines the evidence as to the identity of the "accomplices" to the RPF.

3.7.10.4.1 Enemy/Accomplices

5555. The Chamber recalls its earlier finding that the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member, adopted directives, including the 27 April 1994 Directive, and issued instructions during Cabinet meetings with an intent to encourage the population to hunt down and take action against the enemy and its accomplices, terms which referred to Tutsis in general ().

_

¹⁴⁴⁶¹ Prosecution Exhibit 120 (Letter from Minister of Defence Bizimana to Lt.-Col. Aloys Simba, appointing Simba "Civilian Defence adviser" to the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*, 15 May 1994).

¹⁴⁴⁶² Defence Exhibit 537B (Nteziryayo) (Memo from Lt.-Col. Nsengiyumva to the Rwandan Army Chief of Staff regarding internal security, 2 July 1992).

¹⁴⁴⁶³ Guichaoua stated in his Report that civil defence was the essence of the Ministry of the Interior's security policy. Kalimanzira helped to elevate Nteziryayo to *préfet* because he wanted to dismiss Nsabimana: Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 131. Kalimanzira's supervisory role in civil defence was corroborated by Nsabimana: Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) p. K0016628. However, Nyiramasuhuko contradicted this account, testifying that the civil defence system came under the Ministry of Defence, which appointed the *responsables*: T. 10 October 2005 p. 49 (Nyiramasuhuko). The 25 May 1994 Directive indicates that both the Minister of Defence and the Minister of Interior had leadership roles in the civil defence system. It designates that the coordination committee at the national level shall be composed of the Minister of the Interior and Communal Development as its president, and the Minister of Defence as vice-president: Prosecution Exhibit 121B (Prime Minister's Directive to *Préfets* on the Organization of Civil Defence, 25 May 1994) p. 5. Therefore, the Chamber is convinced that both Ministries had a role in civil defence.

¹⁴⁴⁶⁴ T. 6 July 2004 p. 44; T. 7 July 2004 p. 13 (Des Forges).

5556. The 27 April 1994 Kambanda Directive identified the enemy, stating, "[t]he enemy who attacked Rwanda is well known: it is the RPF-INKOTANYI."14465 However, as Des Forges noted, this Directive continues, stating: "Nevertheless, the population must remain watchful in order to unmask the enemy and his accomplices and hand them over to the authorities...". 14466 Therefore, by issuing the 27 April 1994 Kambanda Directive, the public was being asked to be aware of the enemy and his accomplices.

5557. Des Forges testified that the enemy was defined as the RPF and "accomplices". Thus, the effort under the guise of protecting civilians was, in fact, a military organisation to attack other civilians and to identify the civilian targets by their ethnicity. 14467 According to Des Forges, the proof that someone was a real accomplice was sometimes simply the identity card that said a person was Tutsi. 14468 Although she did not state a basis for this conclusion, the Chamber considers, based upon numerous Prosecution and Defence witnesses, that Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks based upon their ethnicity which was clearly marked on national identification cards ().

5558. Reyntjens testified that in the 27 April 1994 Kambanda Directive, Kambanda said that the enemy was the RPF Inkotanyi; the enemy and accomplices included Tutsis as well as Hutus, although during that time, Tutsis as a whole were considered accomplices of the RPF. 14469 Although Reyntjens' opinion was that "accomplice" might include some Hutus, the majority were Tutsis. Contrary to the instructions in the Directive, suspected accomplices were not handed over to authorities, but instead were killed on the spot. 14470 Therefore, Reyntjens agreed with Des Forges on this matter. Witness FAI stated in his testimony that he understood "accomplices", as used in the 27 April 1994 Kambanda Directive, to be all Tutsis. 14471

5559. Nyiramasuhuko testified that accomplices were RPF infiltrators. 14472 She also said that Radio Muhabura announced regularly that the RPF was present everywhere. 14473 It would have been redundant for the 27 April 1994 Kambanda Directive to name the RPF-Inkotanvi and its accomplices if "accomplice" simply meant RPF. The Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko's testimony convincing on the definition of "accomplice".

5560. Ndayambaje testified that there were some RPF fighters who had infiltrated the country. He testified that accomplices included sympathisers who had taken up arms and attacked the country, 14474 people who provided financial support to the RPF and people who sent young people to swell the ranks of the RPF at the front. Among those, some returned to the hills. Training was given to some members of clandestine brigades of the RPF. These

¹⁴⁴⁶⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994) p. 2.

14466 T. 7 July 2004 p. 13 (Des Forges); Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to

restore security in the country, 27 April 1994) pp. 2-3.

¹⁴⁴⁶⁷ T. 6 July 2004 p. 69 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁶⁸ T. 9 June 2004 pp. 23-24 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁶⁹ T. 21 November 2007 p. 66 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁴⁷⁰ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 66-67 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁴⁷¹ T. 5 November 2002 p. 33 (ICS) (Witness FAI); see also ().

¹⁴⁴⁷² T. 29 September 2005 p. 32 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴⁴⁷³ T. 21 November 2005 pp. 15, 37 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴⁴⁷⁴ T. 25 November 2008 p. 34 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁷⁵ T. 25 November 2008 p. 35 (Ndayambaje).

were all accomplices. Ndayambaje stated that innocent Hutu and Tutsi children were killed in the violence although Tutsi children were not accomplices. 14476

5561. Although Nsabimana did not clarify the definition of "accomplice" in his testimony, in his interview, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 114, Nsabimana asserted:

This time [in 1994] nobody was protected because Interahamwe wanted a massacre and those who wanted a massacre were always in power. If you were a civilian and you decided to protect Tutsis, these people in power said you were working with Tutsis so you also had to be killed, you are an enemy. For them, if you were protecting Tutsis or doing any kind of work with them, you are an enemy to the country. 14477

- 5562. Therefore, Nsabimana indicated in this interview, which he acknowledged reflected his own views, ¹⁴⁴⁷⁸ that the *Interahamwe* considered anyone that helped Tutsi to be an enemy.
- 5563. Moreover, in his 14 May 1994 Speech at the University, Kambanda asserted, "[w]e have explained to them that it is inconceivable that seven million Rwandans have been displaced from the country by a group of Tutsis, most of who [sic] reside in Uganda and are an offshoot of the *Inyenzi*." ¹⁴⁴⁷⁹
- 5564. As to roadblocks, Kambanda stated: "According to the intelligence unit, the enemy is going to try to infiltrate this town. We request reinforcement for the town for we have come to realise that we do not have enough roadblocks." This Directive was followed by the population as additional roadblocks were mounted in May 1994 (). Tutsis were targeted and killed at these roadblocks ().
- 5565. While RPF soldiers may have been legitimate military targets, and there was evidence that some RPF soldiers had infiltrated Rwanda, the Interim Government did not limit itself to RPF soldiers. It vilified accomplices which, according to Ndayambaje, included sympathisers who had taken up arms and attacked the country, and people who provided financial support to the RPF. Nsabimana acknowledged in his interview (Prosecution Exhibit 114) that the *Interahamwe* considered all those who helped Tutsis to be the enemy. Des Forges and Witness FAI stated quite plainly that all Tutsis were considered accomplices. As Tutsis were targeted and killed at roadblocks throughout Butare *préfecture*, it is clear that the civil defence forces understood that Tutsis were to be targeted as accomplices of the enemy.

3.7.10.4.2 Beginning of Civil Defence

5566. The Nteziryayo Defence suggests that 25 May 1994 marked the beginning of the civil defence programme. However, numerous witnesses testified to the contrary. Witness TQ testified that on 20 April 1994 teachers from *Groupe Scolaire* joined the civil defence group,

.

¹⁴⁴⁷⁶ T. 25 November 2008 p. 35 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁷⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 114 (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) p. K0120072.

¹⁴⁴⁷⁸ T. 13 November 2006 p. 14 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴⁴⁷⁹ Defence Exhibit 552 (Nsabimana) (Transcripts of Speech of Prime Minister Kambanda, broadcast 15 May 1994) p. 13

¹⁴⁴⁸⁰ T. 25 November 2008 pp. 34-35 (Ndayambaje).

¹⁴⁴⁸¹ Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 5, 96-97.

but that civil defence had existed long before 21 April 1994. Prosecution Exhibit 115, a document dated 21 April 1994 and signed by Colonel Muvunyi, refers to a request from higher officials, the ministry, to train young people for civil defence. 14483

- 5567. Nteziryayo agreed that this document contained information about the recruitment and training of people for civilian defence and requested *bourgmestres* to do the recruitment. Nteziryayo himself admitted that he had heard about civil defence in 1992 while working in the Ministry of the Interior. He agreed with Reyntjens that there were documents that showed that the training programme existed prior to Kambanda's speech on 14 May 1994. 14486
- 5568. Nsabimana stated in his interview, admitted as Prosecution Exhibit 114, that even before 25 May 1994, perhaps around January 1994, he was aware of people being trained by the military, that these militia were trained to kill people from the opposition first and then to continue by killing Tutsis. Des Forges testified that October 1993 marked the official implementation of the civil defence system. However she did not present documentary evidence in support of this assertion.
- 5569. Witness RV stated he had not heard of civil defence before May 1994, 14489 but this does not obviate the existence of civil defence prior to that date.
- 5570. Civilians responded favourably to the call for volunteers. Defence Exhibit 540B, a 25 April 1994 letter from faculty at the National University of Rwanda to the local commander of Butare-Gikongoro, requested the training of the senior staff of the University in the use of firearms. Likewise, Defence Exhibit 541B, a 25 May 1994 letter from the president of the Committee of Students to the *Commandant de place* requested intensive training in civil defence. Finally, Prosecution Exhibit 123B, a 25 May 1994 letter from the director of ISAR to the *préfet* of Butare and the *bourgmestre*, put forward the names of 12 ISAR staff members for training in civil defence.
- 5571. Based on this evidence, the Chamber is convinced that civil defence was organised long before April 1994. Thereafter, the 25 May 1994 Interim Government Directive solidified a formal hierarchical authority over civil defence.

3.7.10.4.3 Financing of Civil Defence

5572. The Chamber next addresses the issue of the financing of civil defence. Although the Indictment does not include a specific charge of financial support for civil defence, this evidence may be relevant to establish ties between Nteziryayo and the civil defence programme.

¹⁴⁴⁸² T. 6 September 2004 p. 51 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁴⁸³ T. 9 September 2004 pp. 12-14 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁴⁸⁴ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 40, 43-44 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁸⁵ T. 22 May 2007 p. 19 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁸⁶ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 37, 40 (Nteziryayo); T. 24 September 2007 pp. 24-25 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁴⁸⁷ Prosecution Exhibit 114 (Interview with Nsabimana, 1 October 1994) pp. K0120067, K0120069, K0120072.

¹⁴⁴⁸⁸ T. 6 July 2004 p. 57 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁸⁹ T. 19 February 2004 pp. 12-13 (ICS) (Witness RV).

- 5573. Des Forges testified that she was told by Nsabimana that Nteziryayo was a fund-raiser for the civil defence programme. She indicated the funds were used for arms and petrol, and provided beer and drugs to militia manning the barriers to keep them aggressive and reward them for their activities. She said this fund was administered by Nteziryayo and Nyiramasuhuko in Butare. 14491 Guichaoua corroborated the fact that civilian militiamen needed to be compensated in some way. In his view, robberies and rapes at roadblocks, occupation of lands, the stealing of tiles or of doors or window frames before burning houses and the provision of alcohol were payments in kind for those participating in the killings. 14492
- 5574. Maurice Ntahobali testified that he heard about a committee for the funding of civilian defence between April and July 1994. He knew that his name was included on the list of members of that committee, but he did not attend the committee's meetings or participate in its mission. 14493 He was unable to confirm or deny other members of the financing committee as suggested by Guichaoua's Report. 14494
- 5575. Ntezirvayo testified that he did not take part in the funding intended for organising civil defence. 14495 Nteziryayo testified that between 6 April and 21 June 1994 he had no relations with the bank accounts of the civil defence in Butare. 14496 As préfet between 21 June and 3 July 1994 he was in charge of the accounts of civil defence, but he did not actively raise funds for civil defence. 14497 Nteziryayo testified that when he became préfet, he learned that civil defence in Butare *préfecture* was funded. 14498 He learned from documents in the *préfecture* that there were various funds earmarked for civil defence in Butare préfecture, among them funds earmarked by the staff of the National University of Rwanda. 14499 Nteziryayo stated that part of the money was kept in the safe of the *préfecture*, which he also used to store money in, but the substantial part was kept in one of the banks in Butare, as he learned from documents handed over to him when he became préfet. 14500 Nteziryayo stated that he kept the civil defence money in the vault and left it there when he left the country. He did not know what happened to the money afterwards. 14501
- 5576. Based upon this evidence, the Chamber concludes that a committee existed to fund civil defence and that Ntezirvayo left civil defence funds in the yault when he left the country.

¹⁴⁴⁹⁰ T. 6 July 2004 p. 67 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁹¹ T. 9 June 2004 p. 32 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁴⁹² T. 29 June 2004 p. 54 (Guichaoua).

¹⁴⁴⁹³ T. 13 September 2005 p. 30; T. 14 September 2005 p. 50 (Maurice Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁴⁹⁴ T. 14 September 2005 p. 54 (Maurice Ntahobali); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) pp. 184-186.

T. 22 May 2007 p. 28 (Ntezirvavo).

¹⁴⁴⁹⁶ T. 22 May 2007 p. 30 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁹⁷ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 30, 32 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁹⁸ T. 22 May 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁴⁹⁹ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 27-28 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁰ T. 22 May 2007 p. 28 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵⁰¹ T. 22 May 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

3.7.10.4.4 Leadership of Civil Defence

5577. The parties do not dispute that Lieutenant Colonel Aloys Simba was formally appointed civil defence adviser to the *préfets* of Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*. However, the parties dispute whether Nteziryayo had a *de facto* leadership role in civil defence.

5578. The evidence was consistent that Simba had *de jure* responsibility for civil defence in Gikongoro and Butare *préfectures*. Prosecution Exhibit 120 is a letter from Minister of Defence Augustin Bizimana to Lieutenant Colonel Aloys Simba, appointing him *conseiller* for civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*. Des Forges, Nyiramasuhuko and Reyntjens all agreed that this document showed that Colonel Simba was in charge of civil defence in Butare *préfecture*. Nsabimana acknowledged that Colonel Simba came to his office to tell Nsabimana that Simba had been appointed to the post of *responsable* for civil defence. 14504

5579. As to the leader of civil defence, Kambanda stated in his 14 May 1994 speech at the University:

Military leaders in charge of Civil Defence have been appointed; they are mainly retired officers with military experience. Their names will be communicated to you in the next few days but I believe that the Butare-Gikongoro area will be under Colonel Simba's command. At the national level, Colonel Gasake will be in charge of Civil Defence Operations. We are organizing ourselves in order to put in place this Civil Defence structure. 14505

5580. Likewise, Nteziryayo testified that the only time he had responsibility with regard to civil defence was in accordance with the instructions of the Prime Minister of 25 May 1994 after he became *préfet*. At that time, he became *ex-officio* in charge of civil defence in that *préfecture*, but he did not promote civil defence. Further he did not get any support from Kalimanzira and Nyiramasuhuko for promoting civil defence. He never spoke to either of them about civil defence. ¹⁴⁵⁰⁷

5581. Des Forges testified that she did not see any documents at the BPO sent to or by Nteziryayo concerning civil defence. Nonetheless, based on witness testimony, Des Forges testified it was probable that Nteziryayo, whether formally ordered to or not, acted in some capacity in relation to civil defence with Simba. Des Forges testified that it was difficult to define Nteziryayo's role because documentation was not available. However, she confirmed the statement in her Report that Nteziryayo was in charge of coordination with the civilian authorities regarding civilian defence. Although Colonel Simba was *de jure* responsible

¹⁴⁵⁰² T. 9 June 2004 p. 28 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁵⁰³ T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges); T. 10 October 2005 pp. 48-49 (Nyiramasuhuko); T. 21 November 2008 p. 72 (Reyntjens).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁴ T. 21 November 2006 p. 32 (Nsabimana).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁵ Defence Exhibit 552 (Nsabimana) (Transcripts of Speech of Prime Minister Kambanda, broadcast 15 May 1994) p. 15

¹⁴⁵⁰⁶ T. 22 May 2007 pp. 32, 34 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁷ T. 22 May 2007 p. 35 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁸ T. 6 July 2004 p. 57 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁵⁰⁹ T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁵¹⁰ T. 7 July 2004 pp. 4-5 (Des Forges).

for civil defence in Gikongoro and Butare, Des Forges testified that according to Simba's statement, he did not wish to be involved in Butare because he found he had too much work to do in Gikongoro. 14511

5582. The Chamber notes the testimony of three witnesses who testified as to Nteziryayo's leadership role in civil defence for Butare *préfecture*. First, Witness FAI testified that Nteziryayo was responsible for civil defence. He testified that he learned on the day of *Bourgmestre* Ndahimana's swearing-in ceremony that Colonel Simba was actually in charge of civil defence in both Butare and Gikongoro, but he was assisted in Butare by Lieutenant Colonel Nteziryayo. He further testified that at a meeting at the BPO in early June 1994, Nteziryayo answered the call of two *bourgmestres* from Kibayi and Kigembe *communes* who requested help in controlling the influx of Tutsi refugees into their *communes*. Nteziryayo said that he had at his disposal youths who had undergone their training and that he would send them as soon as possible. Witness FAI testified that Nteziryayo sent some *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi to kill those Tutsis. Witness FAI testified that he was present when Nteziryayo gave Célestin Harindintwari directives to transport the *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi *commune*, so that they could help the Hutu inhabitants as requested. He in the statified that he was present when Nteziryayo gave Célestin Harindintwari directives to transport the *Ibisumizi* to Kibayi *commune*, so that

5583. Witness RV testified Nteziryayo was the chairman of the civil defence committee in the region. 14517 Nteziryayo had some relationship with the civil defence force; he saw Nteziryayo at meetings dealing with the issue of personnel for the civil defence force. 14518

5584. Witness TQ testified that Nteziryayo was *de facto* head of civil defence in Butare *préfecture*. 14519 Nteziryayo collaborated with Colonel Simba in training and in maintaining civil defence, which included manning and executing the roadblock system. 14520 Witness TQ recounted how, during the evacuation of orphans to Burundi, Nteziryayo intervened with certain members of the civilian defence who were manning a roadblock. They talked in an ordinary manner as if they knew each other. Following a discussion with Nteziryayo, the civil defence group indicated that the children were to disembark from the vehicles and walk through the roadblock "one after the other". 14522

5585. The Chamber recalls several findings in other sections of this Judgement which also support a conclusion that Nteziryayo had a leadership role in the civil defence programme. In May 1994 for example, Nteziryayo trained civilians () and distributed weapons () at Kamena

¹⁴⁵¹¹ T. 6 July 2004 p. 60 (Des Forges).

¹⁴⁵¹² T. 31 October 2002 p. 32 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴⁵¹³ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 11-12 (ICS); T. 5 November 2002 pp. 32, 36-37, 45 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴⁵¹⁴ T. 31 October 2002 pp. 31-34; T. 5 November 2002 pp. 44-45 (ICS) (Witness FAI).

¹⁴⁵¹⁵ T. 31 October 2002 p. 32 (Witness FAI).

¹⁴⁵¹⁶ T. 31 October 2002 p. 33; T. 5 November 2002 pp. 49-50 (ICS) (Witness FAI): The Chamber recalls its previous finding that the Nteziryayo Defence did not receive notice regarding the *Ibizumizi* allegation (). The Chamber considers this not as a material fact which may form the basis of a conviction but instead as evidence that is relevant to other allegations pled in the Indictment. *See generally Renzaho*, Judgement (AC), paras. 71, 90.

¹⁴⁵¹⁷ T. 16 February 2004 pp. 48-49 (ICS); T. 19 February 2004 p. 31 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴⁵¹⁸ T. 19 February 2004 p. 22 (ICS) (Witness RV).

¹⁴⁵¹⁹ T. 6 September 2004 p. 52 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 pp. 14-15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁵²⁰ T. 7 September 2004 pp. 14-16 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 12 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁵²¹ T. 7 September 2004 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁵²² T. 7 September 2004 p. 10 (ICS); T. 9 September 2004 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

Stadium. Witness QAH stated that Nteziryayo addressed the group and asked them to make sure that there were no Tutsis among them before they began the training. 14523 Nteziryayo told the recruits that the purpose of the training was to counter the enemy. 14524 Nteziryayo taught them how to operate arms and urged them to kill the Tutsis. 14525

5586. Furthermore, Nteziryayo did not dispute that he made speeches during the swearing-in ceremony of the Ntyazo bourgmestre, at meetings held in Kirarambogo, Muganza commune, and during meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi communes on 22 and 23 May and in mid-June 1994 respectively. Although the Chamber found that it was not proven that Ntezirvayo made inciting remarks at the swearing-in ceremony of the bourgmestre of Ntyazo commune on 22 May 1994, nor at a meeting in Kirarambogo, Muganza commune, on 23 May 1994, the Chamber found that Nteziryayo incited the population during meetings held in Muyaga and Kibayi communes around mid-June 1994 ().

5587. Finally, the Chamber has held that Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation from Butare of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors. He selected about 30 individuals, whom he believed to be Tutsi adults and forced them to remain in Rwanda. He and Ntahobali segregated and prevented the 30 people from crossing the border ().

5588. Nteziryayo claims that between 15 April and 21 June 1994, when he was sworn-in as *préfet* of Butare, he was not engaged in any state activities or duties. 14526 It is not contested that Nteziryayo was in Kigali from 6 April 1994 until 15 April 1994. He states that he mainly took care of his family who were residing in a friend's home in Ngoma *commune*. ¹⁴⁵²⁷ However, he chose to live in the Hotel Ibis instead because there was insufficient room for him at the friend's home. 14528 Although Nteziryayo claims to not have worked or to have sought direction from the Minister of the Interior in Gitarama, from April to 17 June 1994, 14529 he accepted his salary for the months of May and June from the army accountant in Cyangugu (albeit belatedly). ¹⁴⁵³⁰ He continued to consider himself the Chief of *commune* police in the Ministry of the Interior. ¹⁴⁵³¹ Despite the fact that the army was understaffed and was recruiting people during this time, and Nteziryayo was, according to him, without an occupation, he claims he served no function in the Government or army in Butare in this time. 14532 Nonetheless, Ntezirvayo testified that he always wore his military uniform and generally carried his pistol with him. 14533 The Chamber does not find it credible that Nteziryayo was not serving the Government given that he intentionally separated himself from his family, continued to wear his military uniform, and accepted his salary for the months of May and June 1994.

¹⁴⁵²³ T. 6 April 2004 p. 18 (ICS) (Witness QAH).

¹⁴⁵²⁴ T. 6 April 2004 p. 52 (Witness QAH).

¹⁴⁵²⁵ T. 6 April 2004 p. 21 (Witness QAH).

¹⁴⁵²⁶ T. 16 May 2007 p. 7 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵²⁷ T. 15 May 2007 pp. 66, 70 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵²⁸ T. 15 May 2007 p. 61 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵²⁹ T. 21 June 2007 p. 27; T. 9 July 2007 p. 74 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵³⁰ T. 4 July 2007 p. 55 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵³¹ T. 21 June 2007 p. 24 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵³² T. 21 June 2007 p. 27 (Nteziryayo).

¹⁴⁵³³ T. 21 June 2007 pp. 18-19; T. 9 July 2007 p. 8 (Nteziryayo).

5589. In sum, the Chamber is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the civil defence programme was created before April 1994 in order to protect against the infiltration of RPF agents, but also the enemy and their accomplices, which included Tutsis both within and without the country. From the evidence and from Nteziryayo's own conduct, such as his involvement in weapons distribution and training, and his activities in meetings the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo had a leadership role in civil defence in Butare *préfecture*.

CHAPTER IV: LEGAL FINDINGS

4.1 Criminal Responsibility

4.1.1 Article 6 (1) of the Statute

5590. Article 6 (1) of the Statute provides for individual criminal responsibility for anyone who planned, instigated, ordered, committed, or aided and abetted a crime falling within the Tribunal's jurisdiction.

5591. "Planning" requires that one or more persons design the criminal conduct constituting a statutory crime that is later perpetrated. It is sufficient to demonstrate that the planning was a factor substantially contributing to such criminal conduct. The *mens rea* entails the intent to plan the commission of a crime or, at a minimum, the awareness of the substantial likelihood that a crime will be committed in the execution of the acts or omissions planned. 14534

5592. "Instigating" implies prompting another person to commit an offence. It is not necessary to prove that the crime would not have been perpetrated without the involvement of the accused; it is sufficient to demonstrate that the instigation was a factor substantially contributing to the conduct of another person committing the crime. The *mens rea* is the intent to instigate another person to commit a crime or, at a minimum, the awareness of the substantial likelihood that a crime will be committed in the execution of the act or omission instigated. ¹⁴⁵³⁵

5593. A person in a position of authority may incur responsibility for "ordering" another person to commit an offence if the order has a direct and substantial effect on the commission of the illegal act. Responsibility is also incurred when an individual in a position of authority orders an act or omission with the awareness of the substantial likelihood that a crime will be committed in the execution of that order, and if that crime is effectively committed subsequently by the person who received the order. There is no requirement of a formal superior-subordinate relationship between the orderer and the perpetrator; it is sufficient that there is proof of a position of authority on the part of the accused that would compel another person to commit a crime following the accused's order. 14536

5594. "Committing" covers, primarily, the physical perpetration of a crime (with criminal intent) or a culpable omission. Physical perpetration can include physical killing, as well as other acts that constitute direct participation in the *actus reus* of the crime. "The question is

¹⁴⁵³⁴ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 268; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 479.

¹⁴⁵³⁵ Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 317; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 480.

Renzaho, Judgement (AC), paras. 315, 480; Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 213; Boškoski & Tarčulovski, Judgement (AC), para. 164; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 481; Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 360-361, 363.
 Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 478 (which also states commission includes participation in a joint

riminal enterprise). As the Prosecution has not charged the Accused with any such alleged participation, the Chamber will not discuss joint criminal enterprise here.

whether an accused's conduct 'was as much an integral part of the genocide as were the killings which it enabled." 14538

5595. "Aiding and abetting" entails carrying out acts or omissions specifically directed to assist, encourage, or lend moral support to the perpetration of a certain specific crime, which have a substantial effect on the perpetration of the crime. The assistance need not serve as condition precedent for the commission of the crime and may occur before, during or after the principal crime has been perpetrated. The requisite mental element is knowledge that the acts performed assist the commission of the specific crime of the principal perpetrator. *Mens rea* can also be established if the accused is aware that one of a number of crimes will probably be committed, and one of those crimes is in fact committed. Specific intent crimes, such as genocide, also require that the aider and abettor must know of the principal perpetrator's specific intent. ¹⁴⁵³⁹

5596. The Appeals Chamber has confirmed that "[a]n accused can be convicted for aiding and abetting a crime when it is established that his [or her] conduct amounted to tacit approval and encouragement of the crime and that such conduct substantially contributed to the crime." This form of aiding and abetting is not, strictly speaking, criminal responsibility for omission. ¹⁴⁵⁴¹

5597. Omission proper may lead to individual criminal responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute where there is a legal duty to act. The *actus reus* of aiding and abetting by omission consists of the failure to discharge a legal duty, where that failure assisted, encouraged or lent moral support to the perpetration of the crime and had a substantial effect on the realisation of that crime. This implicitly requires that the accused had the ability to act, such that means were available to the accused to fulfil his or her duty. As for the *mens rea*, the aider and abettor must know that his or her omission assists in the commission of the crime of the principal perpetrator and must be aware of the essential elements of the crime which was ultimately committed by the principal. 14542

5598. The Chamber will discuss these modes of liability, where applicable, in making its legal findings.

4.1.2 Article 6 (3) of the Statute

5599. The Prosecution charges all six Accused in this case with superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

_

¹⁴⁵³⁸ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 219 (citing Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 60); see also Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 161.

Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 74, 86; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 53; Haradinaj et al., Judgement (AC), para. 58; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 321; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 482; Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 189; see also Seromba, Judgement (AC), paras. 171-174, 182.

¹⁴⁵⁴⁰ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 74 (quoting Brđanin, Judgement (AC), para. 273).

¹⁴⁵⁴¹ Brđanin, Judgement (AC), para. 273; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 338.

¹⁴⁵⁴² Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43.

4.1.2.1 Notice of Alleged Subordinates

5600. When the Prosecution seeks a conviction under Article 6 (3) of the Statute for superior-subordinate responsibility, the Indictment should plead: (1) that the accused is the superior of subordinates sufficiently identified; (2) the criminal conduct of those others for whom he or she is allegedly responsible; (3) the accused's conduct by which he or she may be found to have known or to have had reason to know that his or her subordinates were about to commit crimes or had committed them; and (4) the accused's conduct by which he or she may be found to have failed to take necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the persons who committed them.

5601. Although the Indictment must sufficiently identify the alleged subordinates of the accused, an alleged superior need not necessarily know the exact identity of his or her subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur liability pursuant to Article 6 (3). Physical perpetrators of the crimes may be identified by category in relation to a particular crime site. 14544

5602. The Chamber has made findings concerning the acts of the six Accused in this case, and of *Interahamwe*, soldiers, *gendarmes*, *commune* police, *conseillers* of Ngoma *commune* and civilians.

5603. The Chamber will now assess the extent to which the Prosecution charged each Accused with responsibility as a superior over these persons. In doing so, the Chamber will also determine whether the Accused received sufficient notice of their alleged subordinates.

5604. Regarding the other three elements required for notice of alleged superior responsibility, the Chamber will address these when discussing the acts of alleged subordinates in the appropriate section of the legal findings below.

4.1.2.1.1 Nyiramasuhuko

5605. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment charges Nyiramasuhuko with criminal responsibility as a superior in relation to various paragraphs of the Indictment. 14545

5606. The Prosecution identifies numerous categories of persons over whom Nyiramasuhuko allegedly bears responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3), including *Interahamwe*, soldiers, *gendarmes*, Ntahobali, "prefects, bourgmestres and all of their subordinates", civilians and others. The Chamber considers it clear that, even though the Prosecution does not

¹⁴⁵⁴³ *Renzaho*, Judgement (AC), para. 64; *Muvunyi I*, Judgement (AC), para. 19; *Nahimana et al.*, Judgement (AC), para. 323; *Ntagerura et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 26, 152.

¹⁴⁵⁴⁴ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 64; Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Blagojević & Jokić, Judgement (AC), para. 287.

¹⁴⁵⁴⁵ These Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.31, 6.33, 6.37, 6.38, 6.39, 6.47, 6.49, 6.50, 6.51,

¹⁴³⁴⁵ These Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.31, 6.33, 6.37, 6.38, 6.39, 6.47, 6.49, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53, 6.54, 6.55, 6.56.

¹⁴⁵⁴⁶ The Prosecution also alleges superior responsibility or effective control over staff of the Ministry of Family and Women's Development, civil leaders, *responsables de cellule*, other local authorities, the "Rwandan political administration", the armed forces, the Presidential Guard, militia, members of the civil defence, perpetrators, persons at the roadblock near her house and at the BPO, and "subordinates in the administrative political system of Rwanda who implemented the government's strategy of genocide and widespread or systematic attacks against

explicitly mention *commune* police when alleging Nyiramasuhuko's superior responsibility, they could be encompassed as alleged subordinates of *préfets* and *bourgmestres*. 14547

5607. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence refers to the submissions made in the Ntahobali Closing Brief concerning the joint Indictment. That Brief submits that the Indictment fails to specify the requisite elements for superior responsibility, and is thus defective. In particular, the Ntahobali Defence states that the Indictment fails to provide sufficient notice of the identity of alleged perpetrators and accomplices, of dates and places of alleged crimes, and of the factual allegations against the Accused that are capable of sustaining a conviction. These defects have not been cured and have impaired the Defences' ability to prepare themselves adequately, and therefore require an acquittal on all charges of superior responsibility. 14548

5608. Although the Indictment lacks any paragraph specifically detailing Nyiramasuhuko's alleged subordinates, the Chamber recalls that the Indictment must be read as a whole.

5609. The Indictment charges Nyiramasuhuko with superior responsibility in relation to 17 paragraphs. This information, coupled with a review of these paragraphs, would have provided the Nyiramasuhuko Defence with sufficient notice of her alleged subordinates. For example, Paragraph 6.30 – pled in support of Article 6 (3) responsibility – alleges that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were "accompanied by *Interahamwe* militiamen ... and soldiers" in their visits to the *préfecture* office from April through June 1994. The Chamber considers that this provided requisite notice that Nyiramasuhuko's alleged subordinates included *Interahamwe* and soldiers.

5610. Nyiramasuhuko is also charged as a superior in relation to Paragraphs 6.37, 6.47 and 6.53. Paragraph 6.37 identifies only Ntahobali. Because Nyiramasuhuko bears alleged responsibility as a superior for the acts alleged in this paragraph, the Chamber considers that she would have known that Ntahobali was pled as one of her subordinates. Paragraph 6.47 alleges that Nyiramasuhuko incited, and aided and abetted, "the population" which, in the Chamber's view, identifies civilians to be alleged subordinates of Nyiramasuhuko. Similarly, Paragraph 6.53 describes the alleged acts of "soldiers, militiamen and gendarmes". When considered alongside Nyiramasuhuko's alleged superior responsibility according to this

_ T

Tutsis": Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 28-30, 68-69, 104-106, 115-117, 122-126, 131, 134, paras. 5-13, 133-134, 262-267, 270, 289, 301, 306, 308, 326-336, 343, 359, 372; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 15-16, 20, 29-32, 36-37.

¹⁴⁵⁴⁷ See, e.g., Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 28, para. 6 ("[S]he had authority over a wide range of persons beyond the staff of her own Ministry, including ... civic leaders throughout Rwanda's pyramid-like administrative structure such as prefects, bourgmestres and all of their subordinates and civilians. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko was in a superior relationship to a wide range of persons beyond the staff in her own Ministry.").

¹⁴⁵⁴⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 1; Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 18, 20, 25-31, 59-64; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 70; Nyiramasuhuko Closing Rejoinder Argument, T. 30 April 2009 p. 62. ¹⁴⁵⁴⁹ Paras. 5.1, 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.31, 6.33, 6.37, 6.38, 6.39, 6.47, 6.49, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53, 6.54, 6.55 and 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (all pled pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute).

Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁵¹ Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Para. 6.47 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁵³ Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

paragraph, the paragraph provided notice that her alleged subordinates included soldiers, militiamen and *gendarmes*. ¹⁴⁵⁵⁴

- 5611. Accordingly, a holistic reading of the Indictment demonstrates that numerous paragraphs pled in support of Article 6 (3) responsibility identify Nyiramasuhuko's alleged subordinates. These paragraphs provide that Nyiramasuhuko is alleged to be superior to *Interahamwe*, Ntahobali, soldiers, *gendarmes* and civilians. 14555
- 5612. Even were this not the case, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, filed after the operative Indictment, specifically alleges that Nyiramasuhuko supervised *Interahamwe*, *gendarmes* and soldiers. Similarly, the witness summaries appended to the Pre-Trial Brief confirm that Nyiramasuhuko was an alleged superior of Ntahobali and *Interahamwe*.
- 5613. Under these circumstances, the Chamber considers that Nyiramasuhuko received sufficient notice that she was charged with superior responsibility for the alleged acts of *Interahamwe*, Ntahobali, soldiers, *gendarmes* and civilians.
- 5614. The Prosecution also alleges Nyiramasuhuko's responsibility over *préfets* and *bourgmestres*. In this regard, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.33 is pled in support of superior responsibility. Because this paragraph alleges that "Nyiramasuhuko asked [Nsabimana] what those people [the Tutsis] were doing at the *préfecture* offices, and why they had not yet been killed", the Chamber considers that Nyiramasuhuko would have known the subordinate over whom she was alleged to bear superior responsibility in that paragraph, was Nsabimana. The Chamber therefore finds that the paragraph provides sufficient notice that Nyiramasuhuko was charged as a superior to Nsabimana in regard to this specific allegation.
- 5615. Other paragraphs pled in support of Article 6 (3) refer to Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, but none allege the sort of relationship that could provide clear notice to

¹⁴⁵⁶⁰ Para. 6.33 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁵⁴ Given the context, the Chamber considers it clear that the "militiamen" referenced in this Indictment would have been understood as *Interahamwe*, and that Nyiramasuhuko received sufficient notice of these alleged subordinates in this regard; *see*, *e.g.*, Paras. 1.17 (conflating the militia and the *Interahamwe*), 3.10 (same), 4.4 (same), 4.5 (same), and 6.20 (same) of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁵⁵ Paras. 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.37, 6.38, 6.47, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; *see*

Paras. 6.20, 6.27, 6.30, 6.37, 6.38, 6.47, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; see also Paras. 5.1, 6.39, 6.49, 6.52, 6.54, 6.55, 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁵⁶ The Prosecution filed the Nyiramasuhuko Indictment on 1 March 2001, and filed its Pre-Trial Brief on 11 April 2001. For the preference of post-indictment submissions when conducting a curing analysis, *see generally Ntawukulilyayo*, Judgement (TC), para. 47.

¹⁴⁵⁵⁷ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 21, 29; see also Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 30-31.

¹⁴⁵⁵⁸ See, e.g., Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TA (3) cited in support of all counts against Nyiramasuhuko and Counts 1-3, 5-11 against Ntahobali ("Nyiramasuhuko was superior to Ntahobali"); Witness QBQ (45), cited in support of all counts against Nyiramasuhuko, and Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Kanyabashi ("Nyiramasuhuko came to the Prefecture office with *Interahamwe* and *commune* police. Nyiramasuhuko ordered them to kill men and rape women before killing them"); Witness RB (63) cited in support of Counts 1-2, 5 against Nyiramasuhuko, Counts 1-3 against Ntahobali, and Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Kanyabashi ("RB learned that Ntahobali murdered on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko").

¹⁴⁵⁵⁹ Para. 6.33 is pled in support of superior responsibility only in relation to the charge of genocide; *see* Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, Count 2.

Nyiramasuhuko of an alleged superior-subordinate relationship over these persons. ¹⁴⁵⁶¹ In this regard, the Indictment is defective. Moreover, the Chamber has not identified any form of timely, clear and consistent notice that would cure this defect, nor has the Prosecution referred to any possibly curative instrument. ¹⁴⁵⁶² Accordingly, the Chamber considers that Nyiramasuhuko did not receive adequate notice that she was being charged with superior responsibility in relation to Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje.

5616. Finally, of the Indictment paragraphs pertaining to Nyiramasuhuko's alleged superior responsibility, none mention *commune* police. The Indictment is defective in omitting this information. While it is possible to remedy vagueness in an indictment, omissions cannot be remedied. Accordingly, the Chamber concludes that Nyiramasuhuko did not receive adequate notice that she was being charged as a superior to *commune* police, and will not address any such responsibility below.

4.1.2.1.2 Ntahobali

- 5617. The Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment charges Ntahobali with superior responsibility under numerous Indictment paragraphs. 14564
- 5618. The Prosecution alleges that Ntahobali bears responsibility as a superior over *Interahamwe* and soldiers. Because *Interahamwe* and soldiers were potentially implicated in numerous factual findings, the Chamber will assess whether sufficient notice was provided to Ntahobali of his alleged responsibility over these categories of persons.
- 5619. As set out above (), the Ntahobali Defence submits that the Indictment is defective in failing to specify the elements for superior responsibility, and that these defects have not been cured. According to the Ntahobali Defence, these uncured defects have resulted in prejudice to the Ntahobali Defence, and therefore require an acquittal on all charges of superior responsibility. 14566
- 5620. The Chamber observes that the Indictment identifies Ntahobali as a leader of a group of *Interahamwe* during the events referred to in the Indictment, and alleges that he "exercised authority over *Interahamwe* militiamen in Butare *préfecture*". Although the Indictment does not explicitly state that Ntahobali's subordinates included soldiers, numerous paragraphs

¹⁴⁵⁶¹ Paras. 6.39, 6.47, 6.52, 6.54, 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

The Prosecution appears to argue that, in addition to the Indictment, Nyiramasuhuko received adequate notice of her alleged subordinates through the testimony of witnesses: Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 124, para. 332. The Chamber is not convinced that witness testimony could provide timely notice, and the Prosecution does not elaborate on this argument.

¹⁴⁵⁶³ See Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 293.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁴ The relevant Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 6.27, 6.30, 6.31, 6.34, 6.35, 6.37, 6.39, 6.49, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53, 6.54, 6.55 and 6.56.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁵ The Prosecution also alleges that Ntahobali bears superior responsibility over Jean Pierre. Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 156-163, 165-166, 171-172, 174, 176-178, 181-182, 184-190, 192, 197-198, 201-202, 204-205, 207, paras. 2-11, 13-14, 18, 21, 28-30, 42, 44, 47, 54-56, 63-64, 66, 71-73, 77-79, 84-85, 89, 95, 112-114, 122-125, 133, 135, 142; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 37-40, 42-47; Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 54, 57.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁶ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 18, 20, 25-31, 59-63; Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 pp. 70-71, 73-74.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁷ Paras. 4.4, 4.5 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

pled pursuant to superior responsibility allege a superior-subordinate relationship between the two. ¹⁴⁵⁶⁸ Under these circumstances, the Chamber considers that the Indictment, when read as a whole, provides sufficient notice that *Interahamwe* and soldiers were among Ntahobali's alleged subordinates.

4.1.2.1.3 Nsabimana

- 5621. The Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment charges Nsabimana with responsibility as a superior under numerous Indictment paragraphs. 14569
- 5622. The Prosecution submits a range of persons over whom Nsabimana allegedly bears superior responsibility, including soldiers, *Interahamwe*, Kanyabashi, Ndayambaje and *conseillers* of Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴⁵⁷⁰
- 5623. The Nsabimana Defence contends that the Indictment was defective in pleading each element of superior responsibility, and that no conviction can be based on this alleged responsibility. 14571
- 5624. The Chamber recalls that it has already found that the Indictment sufficiently informed Nsabimana that he was charged with superior responsibility regarding soldiers (). As to the *Interahamwe*, the Chamber has concluded the Indictment was defective in pleading Article 6 (3) responsibility over them, and this defect was not cured ().
- 5625. The Indictment alleges that Nsabimana exercised authority over his subordinates in his capacity as *préfet* of Butare, a post which he held from 19 April to 17 June 1994. According to the Indictment, the *préfet* "has hierarchical authority over all civil servants and all persons holding public office within the boundaries of the *préfecture*, including the *bourgmestres* and *conseillers de secteur*". ¹⁴⁵⁷²
- 5626. As for Nsabimana's alleged superior responsibility over *bourgmestres*, the Indictment identifies Kanyabashi as a *bourgmestre* during the time when Nsabimana was *préfet*. This suffices to identify Kanyabashi as an alleged subordinate of Nsabimana.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁸ Paras. 6.27, 6.30, 6.34, 6.54 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; *see also* Paras. 5.1, 6.50, 6.51, 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁶⁹ The relevant Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 5.8, 6.21, 6.22, 6.25, 6.26, 6.28, 6.32, 6.33, 6.35, 6.36, 6.37, 6.38, 6.41, 6.51, 6.52, 6.53, 6.54, 6.55, 6.56, 6.57, 6.58 and 6.59. The Chamber recalls that it has already acquitted Nsabimana on the charges found in Para. 6.25; *see Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* (TC), 16 December 2004, p. 61. However, the Chamber, considers that this is not relevant in determining whether Nsabimana received adequate notice of the allegations against him.

¹⁴⁵⁷⁰ The Prosecution also alleges that Nsabimana was superior to, or had effective control over, "all the *sous-préfets*, *bourgmestres* ... and cell leaders in [Butare] prefecture", local authorities, and "others who were involved in killings and massacres of Tutsi throughout the Prefecture": Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 229-230, 233, 257-258, 262-263, 269-270, 273, 278-279, 282, 285-288, paras. 3-8, 19, 90-91, 102, 107, 127-130, 139, 162, 165-166, 176, 178, 188, 195, 199, 203; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 60-63.

Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 45-57; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 69; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 pp. 33-34, 40, 42; Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 6, 17. Paras. 3.3, 3.4, 4.2, 4.3 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

Paras. 6.22, 6.37, 6.49 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

- 5627. As to Ndayambaje, the Indictment states that Ndayambaje was reappointed as bourgmestre on 20 June 1994, after Nsabimana was replaced as préfet. Although the Indictment identifies Ndayambaje as the de facto bourgmestre while Nsabimana was préfet, it gives no indication that Nsabimana's capacity as préfet would have included alleged superior responsibility over non-officeholders like Ndayambaje. The Indictment is thus defective in pleading that Ndayambaje was an alleged subordinate of Nsabimana. Because the Chamber has not identified any form of timely, clear and consistent notice that might have cured this defect, the Chamber will not consider below whether Nsabimana might bear responsibility as an alleged superior to Ndayambaje.
- 5628. Reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber considers that the Prosecution sufficiently pled Nsabimana's superior responsibility over soldiers, and over Kanyabashi and *conseillers* from the period of 19 April to 17 June 1994.

4.1.2.1.4 Nteziryayo

- 5629. The Chamber notes that the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment charges Nteziryayo with responsibility as a superior under various Indictment paragraphs. 14576
- 5630. The Prosecution identifies various alleged subordinates of Nteziryayo, including bourgmestres, conseillers, Interahamwe, and certain civilians in Butare préfecture. 14577
- 5631. The Nteziryayo Defence does not appear to claim that it received insufficient notice of this form of responsibility, though it highlights certain Indictment paragraphs that it considers to be vague and thus inadequately pled. 14578
- 5632. The Indictment alleges that Nteziryayo was *préfet* of Butare from 17 June 1994 until he left Rwanda in July 1994, and that in this capacity he exercised authority over his subordinates, who included "all civil servants and all persons holding public office within the boundaries of the *préfecture*, including the *bourgmestres* and *conseillers de secteur*". The Chamber considers this to provide sufficient notice to Nteziryayo of his alleged superior responsibility

_

¹⁴⁵⁷⁴ Paras. 6.34, 6.46 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁷⁵ Para. 6.43 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment. In its opening statement, the Prosecution also stated that Muganza *commune* fell under Ndayambaje's jurisdiction, including during the time that Nsabimana was *préfet*. However, there is no explicit reference to Nsabimana, and it does not appear that this statement was intended to expand the list of Nsabimana's alleged subordinates; *see* Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 85.

¹⁴⁵⁷⁶ The relevant Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 5.8, 5.12, 5.13, 6.16, 6.29, 6.30, 6.31, 6.33, 6.41, 6.51, 6.52, 6.53, 6.54, 6.55, 6.56, 6.57, 6.58 and 6.59.

¹⁴⁵⁷⁷ The Prosecution also alleges that Nteziryayo was a superior to members of the civil defence programme. As the Chamber has not found that these persons participated in any crimes, it will not address Nteziryayo's notice of alleged superior responsibility over them. Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 306-308, 320, 322, 327-330, 332-334, 337-339, 345, 348-349, 351-352, 365-367, 369, 371-372, 374-375, paras. 2-11, 52, 58, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 87, 90-91, 100, 102-107, 109, 127, 139-140, 147, 150, 192-193, 197-198, 204, 213, 219, 226-227; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 68-70, 72-74, 77, 79-80; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 3; Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 54, 57.

Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 5-10; Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 28-34, 39-42, 52-53; Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 18, 21; see also Nteziryayo Closing Brief, paras. 1-2, 24.
 Paras. 3.3, 3.4, 4.5, 4.6 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

over these persons, including Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje while they were *bourgmestres*, during the indicated time period starting on 17 June 1994.

5633. To the extent that the Prosecution pursues superior responsibility over these persons before 17 June 1994, the Chamber notes that the Indictment, read as a whole, does not provide adequate notice of such responsibility. Moreover, no instrument has been identified that might cure any defect in this regard. The Chamber will thus not consider whether, prior to 17 June 1994, Nteziryayo was superior to *bourgmestres* such as Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, or to *conseillers*. ¹⁴⁵⁸⁰

5634. The Indictment also alleges that Nteziryayo was responsible for the civil defence of Butare *préfecture*, and that he thus "exercised authority over *Interahamwe* militiamen and certain civilians in the *préfecture*". Reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber considers that this provided sufficient notice that Nteziryayo was allegedly responsible as a superior for *Interahamwe* and civilians in Butare *préfecture* throughout the relevant time period.

4.1.2.1.5 Kanyabashi

5635. Kanyabashi is charged with superior-subordinate responsibility pursuant to numerous paragraphs of his Indictment. 14582

5636. The Prosecution alleges that various persons were subordinates of Kanyabashi, including soldiers, *Interahamwe*, *commune* police, *conseillers* and civilians. ¹⁴⁵⁸³

5637. The Kanyabashi Defence does not appear to make any submissions concerning notice for 6 (3) responsibility.

5638. The Indictment alleges that Kanyabashi was *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune* from April 1974 until around 4 July 1994, and that he exercised authority over the civil servants posted in his *commune*, including *conseillers* and *commune* policemen. Kanyabashi therefore received sufficient notice that he was being charged as a superior in relation to them.

Paras. 4.2, 4.3, 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁸⁰ The Chamber also notes that the Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje was appointed *bourgmestre* on 20 June 1994: Para. 6.46 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁸¹ Paras. 4.5, 4.6 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁸² The relevant Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 6.28, 6.29, 6.30, 6.31, 6.32, 6.33, 6.34, 6.35, 6.37, 6.38, 6.41, 6.42, 6.43, 6.44, 6.45, 6.46, 6.57, 6.58, 6.60, 6.63, 6.64 and 6.65. The Chamber recalls that it has already acquitted Kanyabashi on the charges found in Para. 6.38, and has stated that Kanyabashi need not defend against a specific aspect of Para. 6.43: *Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 *bis* (TC), 16 December 2004, p. 62. The Chamber considers, however, that this is not relevant in determining whether Kanyabashi received adequate notice of the allegations against him.

The Prosecution also considers that Kanyabashi was a superior to *responsables de cellule*, militiamen, Prosecution Witness FAM, and others. Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 385-387, 391, 403-405, 412-419, 422-425, 427, 430, 432, 449, paras. 3-8, 21, 67-72, 76, 100-120, 134-136, 139-140, 144, 152, 160, 169, 228; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 17-18, 23-24, 28. The Chamber considers it clear, given the context, that the "militiamen" referenced in this Indictment would have been understood as *Interahamwe*, and that Kanyabashi received sufficient notice of these alleged subordinates in this regard; *see*, *e.g.*, Paras. 1.17 (conflating the militia and the *Interahamwe*), 3.10 (same), 6.20 (same), and 6.40 (same) of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

5639. A reading of the Indictment paragraphs pled in support of 6 (3) responsibility demonstrates that Kanyabashi also received sufficient notice that he was charged as a superior to soldiers, *Interahamwe* and civilians. 14585

4.1.2.1.6 Ndayambaje

- 5640. Ndayambaje is charged with criminal responsibility as a superior in relation to various paragraphs of his Indictment. 14586
- 5641. The Prosecution alleges that Ndayambaje is responsible as a superior over various groups of people, including soldiers, Interahamwe, gendarmes, conseillers, commune police and civilians. 14587
- 5642. The Ndayambaje Defence submits that the Indictment was vague, and that essential information was lacking. This prevented investigations or an adequate rebuttal, and should result in an acquittal on all allegations under Article 6 (3) of the Statute. 14588
- 5643. The Indictment alleges that Ndayambaje was bourgmestre of Muganza commune from 1983 to 1992, acted as a *de facto bourgmestre* starting on 19 April 1994, and was reappointed *bourgmestre* on 20 June 1994. The Indictment alleges that as *bourgmestre*, Ndayambaje had "authority over the civil servants posted in his commune", and that Ndayambaje continued to exercise this authority even after 1992. 14590
- 5644. Reading the Indictment as a whole, it is clear from the paragraphs pled in support of 6 (3) responsibility that Ndayambaje received sufficient notice that he was being charged as a superior to soldiers, Interahamwe, gendarmes and civilians, and to the conseillers and Muganza *commune* police. 14591

4.1.2.2 Superior-Subordinate Relationships

5645. For an accused to incur criminal responsibility under Article 6 (3) of the Statute, in addition to establishing beyond a reasonable doubt that his or her subordinate is criminally responsible, the following elements must be established beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) the

¹⁴⁵⁸⁵ Paras. 6.31, 6.33, 6.34, 6.35, 6.38, 6.41, 6.45, 6.58, 6.60, 6.63 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; see also Paras. 5.1, 6.32, 6.37, 6.57, 6.64, 6.65 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁸⁶ The relevant Indictment Paragraphs are 5.1, 5.8, 5.13, 6.28, 6.30, 6.31, 6.32, 6.33, 6.34, 6.36, 6.37, 6.38, 6.39, 6.50, 6.51, 6.52, 6.53 and 6.54.

¹⁴⁵⁸⁷ The Prosecution also alleges that Ndayambaje was a superior over "subordinates in the *commune* office": Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 450-456, 466, 469, 477-479, 494-497, paras. 3-26, 59, 69, 100-102, 105, 149, 154, 160, 162, 165, 169; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 pp. 37, 42; Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 p. 55.

¹⁴⁵⁸⁸ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 50, 62, 974, 976-977, 979-980; Ndayambaje Closing Argument, T. 29 April 2009 pp. 59, 63; *see also* Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 882-883. ¹⁴⁵⁸⁹ Paras. 4.2, 6.28, 6.38 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

Paras. 3.5, 4.3 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹⁴⁵⁹¹ Paras. 5.8, 5.13, 6.30, 6.31, 6.34, 6.37, 6.50, 6.52, 6.53 of the Ndayambaje Indictment; *see also* Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaie Indictment. Given the context, the Chamber considers it clear that the "militiamen" referenced in this Indictment would have been understood as Interahamwe, and that Ndayambaje received sufficient notice of these alleged subordinates in this regard; see, e.g., Paras. 1.17 (conflating the militia and the Interahamwe), 3.10 (same), 6.20 (same), 6.44 (same) of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

existence of a superior-subordinate relationship and that the superior had effective control over this subordinate; (2) that the superior knew or had reason to know that his or her subordinate was about to commit a crime or had done so; and (3) that the superior failed to take necessary and reasonable measures to prevent or punish the commission of the crime by his or her subordinate. The accused need not have the same intent as the perpetrator of the criminal act. ¹⁴⁵⁹²

5646. Superior responsibility encompasses criminal conduct by subordinates under all modes of participation pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute. As a result, a superior can be held criminally responsible for his or her subordinates' planning, instigating, ordering, committing or otherwise aiding and abetting a crime. An accused, however, cannot be held responsible for a subordinate's criminal conduct before he or she assumed command over this subordinate. 14593

5647. The threshold for a superior-subordinate relationship is established by showing that the accused had effective control over a subordinate at the time the offence was committed. Effective control requires that the accused had the material ability to prevent or punish criminal conduct. The superior must also have possessed power or authority over subordinates either *de jure* or *de facto*. The superior-subordinate relationship entails that the accused, by virtue of his or her position, is senior to the perpetrator in a formal or informal hierarchy. ¹⁴⁵⁹⁴

5648. The Trial Chambers of the ICTY have established that a superior-subordinate relationship need not be of a permanent nature, but instead could arise on an *ad hoc* or temporary basis. 14595 "To be held liable for the acts of [persons] who operated under [the Accused] on an *ad hoc* or temporary basis, it must be shown that, at the time when the acts charged in the Indictment were committed, these persons were under the effective control of that particular individual." 14596

5649. A direct and individualised superior-subordinate relationship is not required for responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3). Effective control may descend from the superior to the subordinate culpable of the crime through intermediary subordinates. 14597

5650. The Chamber recalls that although the possession of *de jure* powers may suggest a material ability to prevent or punish criminal acts of subordinates, it is not sufficient to prove

¹⁴⁵⁹² Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 280; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 484; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 143.

¹⁴⁵⁹³ Orić, Judgement (AC), paras. 20-21; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 486; Halilović, Judgement (AC), para. 67.

¹⁴⁵⁹⁴ Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Halilović, Judgement (AC), para. 59; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 143; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 341 (quoting Ntagerura et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 628, 636-637), 342; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), paras. 85-87.

¹⁴⁵⁹⁵ *Dorđević*, Judgement (TC), para. 1881; *Mrkšić et al.*, Judgement (TC), para. 560; *Limaj et al.*, Judgement (TC), para. 522; *Halilović*, Judgement (TC), para. 61; *Strugar*, Judgement (TC), para. 362; *Kunarac et al.*, Judgement (TC), para. 399. The Chamber notes that the *Semanza* Appeal Judgement uses similar language, albeit in the context of ordering pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute; *see Semanza*, Judgement (AC), para. 363 ("It should be recalled that authority creating the kind of superior-subordinate relationship envisaged under Article 6 (1) of the Statute for ordering may be informal or of a purely temporary nature.").

¹⁴⁵⁹⁶ *Kunarac et al.*, Judgement (TC), para. 399 (citing *Delalić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 197-198, 256).

Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 399 (citing *Delalić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 197-198, 256). ¹⁴⁵⁹⁷ Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 20; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 785.

such ability. Even where de jure powers have been established, the Prosecution still bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused has effective control over his or her subordinates. 14598

5651. Other factors indicative of effective control include the accused's position, the procedure for appointment, the actual tasks performed, his or her capacity to issue orders, the nature of such orders, and whether any orders were followed. The Chamber recalls that although the authority to issue orders may be indicative of effective control over subordinates, it does not automatically establish such control. 14600 Effective control can only be determined by looking at the evidence in its entirety on a case-by-case basis. 14601

4.1.3 Cumulative Convictions

5652. It is not appropriate to convict an accused on a particular count for the same conduct under both Article 6 (1) and Article 6 (3). Where the conduct of an accused constitutes a violation of both Article 6 (1) and Article 6 (3), the Chamber will enter a conviction on the basis of Article 6 (1) of the Statute alone and consider whether the superior position of the accused is an aggravating factor. While a position of authority, even at a high level, does not automatically warrant a harsher sentence, it is the abuse of such authority which may serve as an aggravating factor in sentencing. 14604

4.2 Genocide

Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

4.2.1.1 Introduction

5653. All of the Indictments allege that the military, political leaders and civil servants conspired among themselves to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and eliminate members of the opposition so they could remain in power. The components of this plan included recourse to hatred and ethnic violence, the training of and distribution of weapons to militiamen and the preparation of lists of people to be eliminated. Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje elaborated, adhered to, and executed this plan. 14605

5654. All of the Indictments also allege that the massacres and assaults were the result of a conspiracy adopted at the national as well as the local level by military and political leaders,

¹⁴⁵⁹⁸ Orić, Judgement (AC), paras. 91-92; Hadžihasanović & Kubura, Judgement (AC), para. 21; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 143.

¹⁴⁵⁹⁹ Strugar, Judgement (AC), para. 254; Halilović, Judgement (AC), para. 66; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para.

¹⁴⁶⁰⁰ Strugar, Judgement (AC), para. 253.

¹⁴⁶⁰¹ Strugar, Judgement (AC), para. 254; Halilović, Judgement (AC), para. 66.

Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 564; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 487-488; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), paras. 81-82, 318-319; *Blaškić*, Judgement (AC), para. 91.

¹⁴⁶⁰³ Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 564; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 487-488.

¹⁴⁶⁰⁴ *Dragomir Milošević*, Judgement (AC), para. 302.

Para. 5.1 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 5.1 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 5.1 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; Para. 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

including the Accused. All but the Kanyabashi Indictment further provide that the Accused acted in concert with one another to participate in the planning, preparation, or execution of a common scheme, strategy, or plan, to commit the atrocities set forth in the Indictment. Indictment.

4.2.1.2 Law

5655. Conspiracy to commit genocide is an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of genocide. The *actus reus* of the crime is the existence of such an agreement between individuals to commit genocide. As for *mens rea*, the individuals involved in the agreement must have the intent to destroy in whole or in part a national, ethnical, racial or religious group as such. ¹⁴⁶⁰⁸

5656. Regarding the *actus reus*, the agreement can be proven by establishing the existence of planning meetings for the genocide, but it can also be inferred from circumstantial evidence. The concerted or coordinated action of a group of individuals can constitute evidence of an agreement. The qualifiers "concerted or coordinated" are important; it is not sufficient to show similarity of conduct or guilt by association. In certain cases, the existence of a conspiracy to commit genocide between individuals controlling institutions could be inferred from the interaction between these institutions. When based on circumstantial evidence, the finding of a conspiracy to commit genocide must be the only reasonable inference based on the totality of the evidence. ¹⁴⁶⁰⁹

4.2.1.3 Preliminary Issues

5657. The Ntahobali Defence submits, on behalf of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, that the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide is not adequately pled in their Indictment and that the defects in this respect were not cured. It submits the Indictment paragraphs that are pled in support of conspiracy are inconsistent as to the identity of the co-conspirators, the applicable form of responsibility, and the time frame of the alleged conspiracy. Identity of the co-conspirators.

5658. The Nsabimana Defence contends that Paragraphs 5.1, 6.37 and 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment did not provide sufficient notice to enable it to investigate the allegation of conspiracy. Paragraph 5.1 of the Ndayambaje Indictment fails to provide the essential elements of the alleged crime, while Paragraph 6.54 does not specify the strategy by which Tutsis were exterminated or the identities of individuals with whom Ndayambaje participated in that strategy. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that Paragraphs 5.1 and

_

¹⁴⁶⁰⁶ Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; Para. 6.54 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹⁴⁶⁰⁷ Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.58 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹⁴⁶⁰⁸ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 894; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 92.

¹⁴⁶⁰⁹ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 221; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 896-897, 907.

¹⁴⁶¹⁰ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 20-24, 41-58.

¹⁴⁶¹¹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 21-22.

¹⁴⁶¹² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 126-132, 715-718, 1568, 1589.

¹⁴⁶¹³ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 69.

6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment, which are pled in support of the conspiracy charge, are vague and imprecise. 14614

5659. The Prosecution submits that each of the Accused received notice of the paragraphs that would be relied on for the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide. 14615

5660. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 5.1 of each Indictment alleges that from late 1990 until July 1994 military personnel, political leaders, and civil servants conspired among themselves to work out a plan with the intent to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population. Each Indictment alleges the conspiracy was on the national as well as the local level, 14616 and that all of the Accused were part of this conspiracy. 14617 The Chamber therefore considers that the basic elements of the alleged conspiracy were set forth in Paragraph 5.1 of the Indictments.

5661. However, the Chamber notes there are a number of ambiguities with regard to the alleged conspiracy. Paragraph 5.1 states the Accused "elaborated, adhered to and executed" the plan. The Indictments later state the Accused planned, prepared, and executed the common scheme. 14618 This presupposes the existence of an agreement between certain individuals, but the Indictments do not identify the specific individuals who entered into this agreement. Nor do the Indictments state when and where the agreement was executed and when the conspiracy ended. For these reasons, the Chamber finds each of the Indictments to be defective in their charge of conspiracy.

5662. In its opening statement, the Prosecution further outlined the charge of conspiracy against the Accused. It referred to a plan that had been masterminded by the government to exterminate the Tutsi ethnic group with the assistance and participation of militiamen. 14619 It also asserted the Accused had clearly laid out functions and roles in this plan. 14620 The Prosecution noted that the part of the plan regarding military authorities was lacking in this case. 14621 According to the Prosecution, the six Accused were civilian authorities who were all involved in the strategy in Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴⁶²²

¹⁴⁶¹⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 18-20.

¹⁴⁶¹⁵ Prosecution Closing Rebuttal Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 50-51; see also Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 337, para. 101; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 pp. 12-13.

14616 Para. 6.52 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.57 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

Indictment; Para. 6.62 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; Para. 6.54 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹⁴⁶¹⁷ Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.64 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; Para. 6.58 of the Ndayambaje Indictment.

¹⁴⁶¹⁸ Para. 6.56 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment; Para. 6.61 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; Para. 6.64 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; Para. 6.58 of the Ndayambaje Indictment. Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 30-31.

Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 31. It further stated that there was a Hutu plan to exterminate Tutsis through large-scale killings long before 1994: Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 47. This plan was evidenced by public speeches by extremists inciting hate, including one in November 1992 by the vice-chairman of the MRND and by radio broadcasts on Radio Télévision Libre des Milles Collines (RTLM): Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 48-49. The plan was also evidenced by the distribution of weapons and military training of civilians from November 1993 to March 1994: Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 49-50.

Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 52. Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 p. 59.

5663. As to the agreement, the Prosecution argued the Prime Minister and the Ministers of the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, dismissed *Préfet* Habyalimana and appointed Nsabimana in order to complete the killings that had started elsewhere. On 19 April 1994, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje listened to the speech of Sindikubwabo, understood it and expressed their desire to organise in Butare the killings that were occurring elsewhere based on the same strategy. 14623

5664. The Chamber considers the Prosecution opening statement clarified the charge of conspiracy in the Indictments. The Prosecution alleges the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member, masterminded a plan to kill Tutsis. The Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, removed the obstacle to killing in Butare, which was *Préfet* Habyalimana, and replaced him with Nsabimana in order to execute this plan. The agreement originated between the members of the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko. Therefore, the Chamber considers the Prosecution opening statement cured the defects in the Indictment with regard to the charge of conspiracy against Nyiramasuhuko.

5665. The Prosecution alleges Kanyabashi, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje were present at the 19 April 1994 swearing-in of Nsabimana. They understood the Interim Government's plan to kill Tutsis and agreed at that time to execute the killings in their respective areas of influence and therefore joined the conspiracy. Ntahobali identified venues where Tutsis would be killed and executed the killings. Therefore, the Chamber considers the Prosecution opening statement also cured the defects in the Indictments with regard to the charge of conspiracy against each of the other Accused. They suffered no prejudice as a result.

4.2.1.4 Deliberations

4.2.1.4.1 Nyiramasuhuko

5666. The Prosecution submits that the meetings held by the Interim Government, the directives it issued, the words its members used, and its actions or lack of actions, lead to the only reasonable conclusion that there was an agreement to commit genocide through the perpetration of massacres of Tutsis and Hutu moderates. It further submits that between April and July 1994 many people, including the six Accused, entered into an agreement to commit genocide of Tutsis in Butare. The Accused played a prominent role in implementing a plan that had been masterminded by the Interim Government. The Prosecution submits there was an ongoing strategy designed to commit genocide which included the Interim

_

¹⁴⁶²³ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 74, 75 ("Some of our accused were present at that [19 April 1994] ceremony. They include the minister, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, and the prefets and the bourgmestre, Joseph Kanyabashi."); ("The Prosecutor will show that the Butare authorities, and in the first place Sylvain Nsabimana and Joseph Kanyabashi, as well as the other bourgmestre, Elie Ndayambaje, for instance, and other bourgmestres who are not among the accused, understood the message of Sindikubwabo. But not only that, they did express their desire to organise in Butare the same activities that occurred in the other pr[é]fectures to comply with the demands of President Sindikubwabo's government; that is, to comply with their desires, and that is very important.").

¹⁴⁶²⁴ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 76, 78-79, 81-82.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 36, para. 27.

¹⁴⁶²⁶ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 14.

Government's pacification programme, instructions to restore security, roadblocks, civil defence and the distribution of weapons to Hutus. 14627

5667. The Nyiramasuhuko Defence submits that "pacification" was an attempt by the Interim Government to restore calm to the population and to stop the killings. The Interim Government knew that the population did not distinguish between the enemy RPF and the Tutsis within the country at the time of the hostilities, but it was unable to obtain information which would permit it to follow the development of the massacres. It submits that the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, was without the necessary resources, but was looking for solutions to stop the killings at the same time as it defended itself against the RPF.

5668. The Chamber recalls the following factual findings which are the most relevant to the conspiracy charge against Nyiramasuhuko.

Cabinet Meetings ()

5669. Between 9 April and 14 July 1994, numerous Cabinet meetings were held during which ministers, including Nyiramasuhuko, were briefed on the situation *vis-à-vis* massacres of the civilian population. In particular, on 9 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko was well aware that massacres of Tutsis were taking place. During the Cabinet meeting of 21 April 1994, she again recognised the on-going nature of the massacres, stating in her diary: "Situation – Killings continue ... Rivers Mwongo and Nyabarongo strewn with bodies." Yet the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, did nothing to stop the massacres. Rather, the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member, adopted directives and issued instructions which were designed to encourage the population to kill Tutsis. These included the Interim Government Directives of 27 April 1994 regarding the establishment of roadblocks which were used to identify and kill Tutsis.

Removal of Habyalimana and Swearing-in of Nsabimana ()

5670. The Interim Government made the final decision to remove Habyalimana and replace him with Nsabimana at a 16-17 April 1994 Cabinet meeting. Nyiramasuhuko admits that she took part in this meeting and that the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana was taken there. For these reasons, the Chamber found that Nyiramasuhuko, as a member of the Interim Government, participated in the decision to remove *Préfet* Habyalimana from office.

5671. Furthermore, the speeches delivered by Sindikubwabo and Kambanda at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 were inflammatory and contained coded language that was understood by the attendees and the public. In particular, the term "enemy," as used in their speeches meant Tutsis and the word "work" (*gukora*) meant to kill Tutsis.

_

¹⁴⁶²⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 23.

¹⁴⁶²⁸ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 525.

¹⁴⁶²⁹ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 529.

¹⁴⁶³⁰ Defence Exhibit 346C (Nyiramasuhuko) (Nyiramasuhuko's Notes on the Cabinet Meeting of 9 April 1994).

T. 17 November 2005 pp. 39-40 (Nyiramasuhuko); Prosecution Exhibit 144C (Nyiramasuhuko Diary, 1994).
 T. 27 September 2005 p. 30; T. 28 September 2005 pp. 43-45; T. 16 November 2005 pp. 22, 64 (Nyiramasuhuko).

- 5672. At this time, Nyiramasuhuko was a member of the Interim Government. Her presence at the ceremony and her failure to dissociate herself from the statements made by the President effectively endorsed the President's inflammatory statements and the directives and instructions to the population contained therein.
- 5673. Finally, the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and the appointment of Nsabimana as *préfet*, were two factors that coincided with the commencement of widespread killings and large-scale massacres throughout Butare *préfecture* in the wake of these events, including in the large number of *communes* that had resisted such massacres until that time. The speeches of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda, endorsed by Nyiramasuhuko, along with the removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and appointment of Nsabimana, contributed significantly in triggering the mass killings in Butare *préfecture*.

Roadblocks (;)

5674. On 27 April 1994, Prime Minister Kambanda issued a Directive on behalf of the Interim Government, in which he called for *commune*, *secteur* and *cellule* authorities to set up roadblocks "in order to prevent the enemy from infiltrating". The Chamber has found that language such as this was used to refer to Tutsis.

5675. In late April or May 1994, in response to encouragement from government leaders such as *bourgmestres*, *conseillers de secteur* and *responsables de cellule*, civilians started to mount and man roadblocks in Butare *préfecture*. Tutsis were targeted and killed at these roadblocks.

Conclusion

5676. From 9 April until 14 July 1994, and in particular between 9 April and 19 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko agreed with other members of the Interim Government to issue directives to the population to encourage the population to hunt down and kill Tutsis. There was no distinction between the RPF invading force and Tutsis within the country, as the terms "enemy" and "accomplices" encompassed both groups. On 16 or 17 April 1994, Nyiramasuhuko agreed with the other members of the Interim Government to remove Habyalimana who had posed an obstacle to the killing of Tutsis and chose to replace him with Nsabimana. On 19 April 1994, she attended the swearing-in ceremony of Nsabimana, lending further support to the Interim Government's decision. The Interim President and the Prime Minister used coded language to encourage the killing of Tutsis in Butare. Nyiramasuhuko listened to the inflammatory speeches of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda, and effectively endorsed these speeches. These events coincided with the commencement of large-scale killings in Butare *préfecture*.

5677. Furthermore, the Interim Government, including Nyiramasuhuko, issued a Directive on 27 April 1994, encouraging the population to mount and man roadblocks. The Interim Government's intent in issuing this Directive was to encourage the population to kill Tutsis. In fact, the roadblocks mounted throughout Butare *préfecture* were used to identify and kill

¹⁴⁶³³ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994) pp. 2-3.

Tutsis throughout Butare *préfecture*. This further evidences a prior-existing agreement among the members of the Interim Government to organise the killing of Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*.

5678. Considering all of these elements, the only reasonable conclusion is that Nyiramasuhuko entered into an agreement with members of the Interim Government on or after 9 April 1994 to kill Tutsis within Butare *préfecture* with the intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi ethnic group. As a member of the Interim Government, Nyiramasuhuko participated in many of the Cabinet meetings at which the massacre of Tutsis was discussed, and took part in the decisions which triggered the onslaught of massacres in Butare *préfecture*. There can be no other inference from these facts than that Nyiramasuhuko conspired with the Interim Government to commit genocide against the Tutsis of Butare préfecture. 14634

4.2.1.4.2 Ntahobali

5679. The Prosecution submits it can be inferred from the depth and extent of his participation in the killing campaign, combined with evidence that he worked in conjunction with his mother, Nteziryayo and national Interahamwe leaders, that Ntahobali agreed to participate in an effort to consolidate and strengthen the political power of the Interim Government by eliminating the Tutsi ethnic group. 14635

5680. In its closing argument, the Prosecution submits that Ntahobali acted in concert with his mother. In addition, it submits that Ntahobali conspired with Nsabimana and Nteziryayo to execute a plan to destroy the Tutsis of Rwanda. 14636 It later suggested the agreement was between "Ntahobali and one or more of the accused persons and/or other persons." 14637 It submits the methodical and systematic nature of the attacks supports the conclusion that they were perpetrated according to a pre-existing plan or agreement. 14638

5681. The Ntahobali Defence submits the Prosecution did not demonstrate the alleged conspiracy to commit genocide against the Tutsis. The only evidence regarding this allegation came in the form of statements and opinions by those who conceived this theory, namely Prosecution Expert Witnesses Des Forges and Guichaoua. The Ntahobali Defence submits that these witnesses were

¹⁴⁶³⁴ The Chamber notes that there appears to be a split of authority regarding whether convictions may be entered simultaneously for conspiracy to commit genocide and for genocide; see Gatete, Judgement (TC), paras. 654-662 (addressing this split and, after considering that the scenario was similar to that faced by the Trial Chamber in Popović et al., following the approach taken in that case); Popović et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 2117-2127 (discussing this split and concluding that it would be redundant to enter a conviction for conspiracy to commit genocide and for genocide, which had been committed through a joint criminal enterprise). The Chamber considers, however, that it does not need to address this issue because the conduct that serves as the basis for conspiracy to commit genocide (entering into an agreement with members of the Interim Government on or after 9 April 1994) is different from that which is addressed below as the basis for genocide (engaging in acts or omissions on or after 19 April 1994, generally with persons who were not members of the Interim Government). In any event, the Chamber notes its view that, because joint criminal enterprise does not feature as a form of commission in this case, conspiracy to commit genocide and genocide each contain a materially distinct element, and thus a conviction could be entertained on both charges under the present circumstances.

14635 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 178, para. 57; Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 38.

¹⁴⁶³⁶ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 37.

¹⁴⁶³⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 39.

¹⁴⁶³⁸ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 38.

biased and that evidence of conspiracy cannot be based solely on the evidence of expert witnesses unless it is corroborated by other evidence, whether factual or documentary. 14639

5682. The Chamber notes the apparent disconnect between the Prosecution's opening statement and closing argument. In its opening statement, the Prosecution asserted Ntahobali participated in a conspiracy with the other Accused by identifying venues where Tutsis would be sorted out. In its closing statement, the Prosecution was not clear as to the identity of Ntahobali's co-conspirators. It stated he conspired with his mother, then argued that he conspired with Ntezirvayo and Nsabimana, before finally settling on "one or more of the accused and/or other persons." Although there was considerable evidence that Ntahobali participated in raping and killing Tutsis from April to July 1994, e.g. at the Butare préfecture office, there was no credible evidence that he participated in planning meetings, in particular with the co-Accused in this case. Further, it has not been established that, in furtherance of a plan, he identified locations where Tutsis should be killed.

5683. Ntahobali did participate in the attacks at the BPO and these attacks were methodical. Further, Ntahobali co-perpetrated these attacks at the BPO with Nyiramasuhuko, who was a member of the Interim Government which formulated a conspiracy to kill Tutsis in Butare préfecture. However, there was no clear-cut evidence that Ntahobali acceded to Nyiramasuhuko's agreement with the Interim Government. The only evidence that could lead to an inference that Ntahobali agreed to commit genocide was his participation in acts of genocide. However, the co-perpetration of genocide does not equate to a conspiracy to commit genocide. Without some evidence pointing to Ntahobali's awareness of, and accession to, the Interim Government's conspiracy, the inference that Ntahobali joined a pre-existing plan is not the only reasonable one from the evidence.

5684. The Prosecution must be held to the case it formulated, and the facts for which the Ntahobali Defence had notice, prior to trial. 14640 The Prosecution did not allege prior to trial that the proof of Ntahobali's participation in the conspiracy would be based upon his participation in the attacks at the BPO. In any event, the Chamber considers there is no clear evidence to convict Ntahobali for conspiring with Nyiramasuhuko to commit the acts of genocide at the BPO.

5685. Considering the foregoing, as well as the evidence as a whole, the Chamber finds that it was not proven that Ntahobali joined the Interim Government's conspiracy to commit genocide.

4.2.1.4.3 Nsabimana

5686. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana knew of the genocidal plan before April 1994 and helped carry out the plan by accepting the position of préfet. It argues Nsabimana was

¹⁴⁶³⁹ Ntahobali Closing Brief, para. 57.

¹⁴⁶⁴⁰ See generally Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 337 (The Prosecution is expected to know its case before proceeding to trial and cannot mould its case against the accused in the course of the trial depending on how the evidence unfolds); Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 18; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 27.

aware of a conspiracy to kill Tutsis and agreed to join it on 19 April 1994 when he accepted the appointment as *préfet* of Butare *préfecture*. ¹⁴⁶⁴¹

5687. The Prosecution submits Nsabimana played a role in the conspiracy to commit genocide against the Tutsi population. The evidence cited by the Prosecution to support this submission includes that Nsabimana convened and attended meetings both at the *préfecture* office and in the *communes*, assisted the civil defence effort, supplied fuel to help transport youths, distributed weapons to the *communes*, encouraged youths to join the army, and encouraged others to join in the genocidal effort to kill the Tutsis. He was one of the persons who gave effect to the plan. By convening and attending meetings regularly, he oversaw the plan to exterminate the Tutsis. ¹⁴⁶⁴²

5688. The Nsabimana Defence submits that the attacks which occurred during the events were not planned, as alleged by the Prosecution. The Defence asserts that everyone made himself a chief in his own area and dictated his own law. It submits that the 27 April 1994 Directive issued by Nsabimana was a message to the inhabitants of Ngoma *commune* aimed at controlling the massacres. It clearly indicates that the population was prohibited from carrying out massacres and looting. Even if it is accepted that "accomplices" were Tutsis, the messages were intended to stem assaults on persons of the Tutsi ethnic group and to prevent members of the population from assaulting Tutsis.

5689. The Chamber recalls the following factual findings which are the most relevant to the conspiracy charge against Nsabimana.

Swearing-in of Nsabimana ()

5690. As noted above, Sindikubwabo and Kambanda's speeches on 19 April 1994 were inflammatory and encouraged the population to kill Tutsis. The Chamber found that Nsabimana was aware of a plan to kill Tutsis when he accepted the post of *préfet*.

20 April 1994 Meeting ()

5691. The 20 April meeting primarily dealt with issues of safety, security, displaced persons, and measures to be taken in order to keep the situation under control. It was not established that the furtherance of the massacres was discussed. Furthermore, it was not proven that after the 20 April meeting the *bourgmestres* returned to their *communes* and ordered to kill, while those who refused to do so were dismissed. There was no established link between the massacres and this meeting. It was not established that the killings in Butare continued because Nsabimana failed to act during the 20 April meeting.

.

¹⁴⁶⁴¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 231, paras. 13-14.

¹⁴⁶⁴² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 231-232, paras. 14-15.

¹⁴⁶⁴³ Nsabimana Closing Argument, T. 24 April 2009 p. 10.

¹⁴⁶⁴⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 727-766.

26-28 April Meetings ()

5692. While both Nsabimana and Prime Minister Kambanda issued a Directive on 27 April 1994, 14645 there is insufficient evidence to find a relationship between the two Directives. It was not established that the purpose of Nsabimana's message to the people of Butare on 27 April 1994 was to implement the Interim Government's national policy on pacification.

Butare Préfecture Office ()

5693. Nsabimana was presented with requests for assistance from the refugees and was aware that they were being abducted and killed at the BPO at night. He only posted soldiers to the BPO around 5-15 June 1994, long after the attacks started in May 1994.

Conclusion

5694. The Chamber notes that several elements cited by the Prosecution in support of the conspiracy charge against Nsabimana were not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. It was not proven that Nsabimana distributed fuel to bourgmestres to assist in the killing of Tutsis. It was not proven that Nsabimana assisted in the training of civilians or militiamen or that he distributed weapons to them. Likewise, there was insufficient evidence that Nsabimana encouraged the youth to join the army. These findings undercut the assertion that Nsabimana had a significant role in civil defence.

5695. The Prosecution's case therefore relies on Nsabimana's acceptance of the post of préfet on 19 April 1994 and his failure to prevent massacres throughout Butare during his tenure as préfet.

5696. It is not clear, however, that Nsabimana, by accepting the appointment as préfet, intended to join the conspiracy to kill Tutsis. In his acceptance speech, Nsabimana merely thanked the people who showed that they had confidence in him and called the *bourgmestres* and heads of department to attend a meeting which was held the following day on 20 April 1994. 14646 Furthermore, when Nsabimana spoke was not clear from the evidence. Therefore, Nsabimana's address may not have been in direct response to either Sindikubwabo's or Kambanda's statements. It was not proven that Nsabimana discussed the furtherance of massacres at the 20 April 1994 meeting or encouraged bourgmestres to kill. Although the 27 April 1994 Interim Government Directive was issued with an intent to extend the killings, it was not proven that Nsabimana was aware of this Directive when he issued his own Directive of 27 April 1994. It was also not proven that Nsabimana sought to implement the Interim Government's pacification campaign in issuing his own Directive.

5697. The Chamber notes there are a number of other reasonable inferences that might be drawn from Nsabimana accepting the post of préfet and participating in the 19 April 1994 swearing-in ceremony at which Kambanda and Sindikubwabo gave inflammatory speeches. Nsabimana may have accepted the post of *préfet* out of self-preservation, or for the power it

¹⁴⁶⁴⁵ Prosecution Exhibit 118B (Prime Minister Kambanda's instructions to restore security in the country, 27 April 1994); Prosecution Exhibit 119B (Nsabimana's Message of Pacification to the Communes of Butare Préfecture, 27 April 1994); T. 20 September 2006 pp. 16-18, 20 (Nsabimana). ¹⁴⁶⁴⁶ T. 16 February 2004 p. 38 (ICS) (Witness RV).

would have given him to protect his own family, and potentially to facilitate their departure from Rwanda. He may also have accepted the position, as he suggested, to prevent a member of the MRND from accepting the post. In short, there is insufficient evidence to conclude that Nsabimana joined an on-going conspiracy to kill Tutsis. Therefore, Nsabimana's actions do not constitute the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide.

4.2.1.4.4 Nteziryayo

5698. The Prosecution submits Nteziryayo's role in the conspiracy was to assist in the planning of the genocide by attending meetings during which the genocidal machinery was fine-tuned, take responsibility for the civil self-defence programme in Butare, train youths in the manipulation of weapons, arm those youths with weapons, encourage the youths to join the army, and encourage others to join in the genocidal effort to kill the Tutsis. 14647

5699. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Prosecution failed to prove that despite Colonel Simba's evident position as the *de jure* head of civil defence in Butare and Gikongoro *préfectures*, Nteziryayo was the *de facto* head of civil defence in Butare. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that the Prosecution witnesses who testified as to Nteziryayo's authority over civil defence, and to his leadership role in training and the distribution of weapons, were not credible. Ideas

5700. The Chamber recalls the following factual findings which are the most relevant to the conspiracy charge against Nteziryayo.

Training and Distribution of Weapons (;)

5701. Nteziryayo trained civilians at Kamena Stadium in May 1994 and distributed weapons at the stadium in early June 1994.

Border Meetings ()

5702. Nteziryayo made speeches during the swearing-in ceremony of the Ntyazo *bourgmestre* on 22 May 1994, at a meeting held in Muganza *commune* on 23 May 1994 and at meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi *communes* around mid-June 1994. The Chamber found that, during the Muyaga and Kibayi *commune* meetings, Nteziryayo incited people to kill Tutsis.

Evacuation of Orphans ()

5703. Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation from Butare of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors. He selected about 30 individuals, whom he believed to be Tutsi adults and forced them to remain in Rwanda. He and Ntahobali segregated and prevented the 30 people from crossing the border.

¹⁴⁶⁴⁹ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 pp. 43-45, 51, 60.

_

¹⁴⁶⁴⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 309, para. 14.

¹⁴⁶⁴⁸ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 27 April 2009 p. 28; Nteziryayo Closing Rejoinder Argument, T. 30 April 2009 pp. 73-74.

Ndayambaje's Swearing-in ()

5704. At Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994, Nteziryayo urged the population to "sweep the dirt" and instructed that those hiding Tutsis who refused to hand them over should be killed. Searches for Tutsis took place and killings followed the meeting.

Civil Defence ()

5705. The evidence as a whole points to Nteziryayo's involvement in a programme to educate the population about a plan to identify Tutsis, to train and arm civilians and to locate infiltrators and "accomplices". Nteziryayo had a leadership role in the civil defence programme in Butare *préfecture*.

Conclusion

5706. The Indictment did not identify a particular moment when Nteziryayo joined a conspiracy to kill Tutsis. It notes that Nteziryayo came to Butare *préfecture* in April 1994 to take up his new post. However, it did not assert that taking up this new post constitutes agreeing to commit genocide.

5707. The Prosecution relies on Nteziryayo's leadership role in civil defence to show concerted and coordinated action which would support an inference that Nteziryayo joined the Interim Government's conspiracy to commit genocide in Butare *préfecture*. However, there was no clear-cut evidence that Nteziryayo joined the Interim Government's conspiracy. Although Nteziryayo participated in activities that were set forth in the Interim Government's directives, there was no credible evidence that Nteziryayo met with members of the Interim Government to discuss the killing of Tutsis or the methods by which to complete them. It was not shown that he was present at the 19 April 1994 swearing-in ceremony of Nsabimana. Furthermore, there was evidence to suggest Nteziryayo was in Kigali until 15 April 1994 and would not have had any opportunity to meet with members of the Interim Government in Butare *préfecture* or in Murambi, Gitarama *préfecture* during this time period.

5708. Based on the evidence, the Chamber cannot conclude that he must have agreed to join the Interim Government's conspiracy to commit genocide against the Tutsis in Butare *préfecture*. Because the allegation that Nteziryayo joined the conspiracy is not the only reasonable inference from the evidence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established this crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

4.2.1.4.5 Kanyabashi

5709. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi's role in the conspiracy was to attend meetings, give instructions to clear the bush while being fully cognisant that "clearing the bush" was in fact a clarion call to kill any Tutsis who were in hiding, use his position and

¹⁴⁶⁵⁰ It was uncontested that Nteziryayo was in Kigali between 5 April and 15 April 1994: T. 15 May 2007 pp. 34, 53-54; T. 4 July 2007 p. 50 (Nteziryayo).

power to incite the population to join in the killings, and provide administration support for the training and arming of civilians in the context of the genocide. 14651

5710. The Kanyabashi Defence submits that there was no credible evidence as to Kanyabashi's involvement in a conspiracy to commit genocide. It submits that Kanyabashi's name is not found in the organising documents of civil defence and he was not involved in its organisation. Kanyabashi did not have any semblance of control over what was happening in his *commune*. His involvement with civil defence measures was minimal. Des Forges and Guichaoua testified as to the extent to which some may have taken advantage of the civil defence mechanism to kill Tutsis, but gave no concrete indication of any involvement of Kanyabashi in this "criminal" aspect of civil defence. Additional control over what was happening in his commune.

5711. The Chamber recalls the following factual findings which are the most relevant to the conspiracy charge against Kanyabashi.

Swearing-in of Nsabimana ()

5712. As noted above, Sindikubwabo's and Kambanda's speeches on 19 April 1994 were inflammatory and encouraged the population to kill Tutsis. The presence of Kanyabashi at the ceremony and his failure to dissociate himself from the statements made by the President constituted tacit approval of the President's inflammatory statements and the directives and instructions to the population contained therein.

5713. More importantly, Kanyabashi's speech was in support of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda, and contained a commitment to execute the directives and instructions previously announced by the President and Prime Minister.

Training and Distribution of Weapons (;)

5714. The Chamber found that Kanyabashi distributed weapons to *conseillers* in Ngoma *commune* in May 1994. The Chamber also found that Kanyabashi, in his capacity as *bourgmestre*, was responsible for recruiting men for civil defence training in Ngoma *commune* in May and June 1994. Lastly, the Chamber also found that firearms were distributed by soldiers at Kamena Stadium at end of May and/or early June 1994, but it was not proven that Kanyabashi was aware of these distributions.

Matyazo Clinic ()

5715. In late April 1994, and following an initial attack by soldiers, Kanyabashi went to Matyazo clinic and ordered soldiers to open fire on the Tutsis who were sheltering inside.

¹⁴⁶⁵¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 388, para. 12.

¹⁴⁶⁵² Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 29.

¹⁴⁶⁵³ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 60.

¹⁴⁶⁵⁴ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 64.

¹⁴⁶⁵⁵ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 551.

Megaphone Announcements ()

5716. Around late May 1994, Kanyabashi drove through Butare town with a megaphone and instructed the population to search for the enemy among them. Around mid-June 1994, Kanyabashi used a megaphone to tell the population to clear bushes along the road in order to remove potential hiding places for the *Inkotanyi*, to flush out people who were hiding in the bushes, and to kill those found there, including children, old men, and women. Following Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements in mid-May 1994 and in June 1994, searches were conducted for Tutsis, and consequently, more Tutsis were killed.

Conclusion

5717. The key moment with regard to Kanyabashi's involvement in the Interim Government's conspiracy was his response to the inflammatory speeches of Sindikubwabo and Kambanda at the 19 April 1994 swearing-in ceremony. The Chamber has found that Kanyabashi's speech supported the Interim President and the Prime Minister and committed him to executing the directives and instructions announced by them. However, it was not clear that Kanyabashi intended to join the Interim Government's conspiracy to kill Tutsis. He may have felt pressure to voice support for the Government in order to ensure his own survival, or he may have made this speech in the hope of retaining his position as *bourgmestre* in order to protect his family.

5718. Kanyabashi made announcements over the megaphone encouraging the population to clear the bush and kill Tutsis. He was also responsible for recruiting men to the civil defence programme. However neither of these findings leads inevitably to the conclusion that Kanyabashi must have entered into an agreement with the Interim Government to kill Tutsis. Because the allegation that Kanyabashi joined the conspiracy is not the only reasonable inference from the evidence, and in the absence of additional evidence, the Chamber cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi conspired with the Interim Government to commit genocide.

4.2.1.4.6 Ndayambaje

5719. The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje's role in the conspiracy was to gather support for the genocide from 1993 and the early months of 1994, prepare people for the upcoming massacres, incite the population to commit killings, provide them with weapons, and order and supervise the killing of Tutsis. 14656

5720. The Ndayambaje Defence submits the Prosecution failed to adduce any evidence as to the existence of a plan to kill Tutsis. It did not establish that Ndayambaje knew the military personnel, members of the Interim Government, and the other personalities cited. Lastly, there was no evidence to prove that there were meetings or encounters with these persons with the aim of preparing or executing a plan. ¹⁴⁶⁵⁷

¹⁴⁶⁵⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 457, paras. 28-29.

¹⁴⁶⁵⁷ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 985.

5721. The Chamber recalls the following factual findings which are the most relevant to the conspiracy charge against Ndayambaje.

Swearing-in Ceremony of Nsabimana ()

5722. As noted above, the Chamber has found that Sindikubwabo's and Kambanda's speeches on 19 April 1994 were inflammatory and encouraged the population to kill Tutsis. It was not proven that Ndayambaje was present at the swearing-in ceremony.

Mugombwa Church (), Kabuye Hill () and Ndayambaje's Swearing-in ()

5723. The Chamber recalls that Ndayambaje participated in the massacres at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill and that he made inciting statements at his swearing-in ceremony. In particular, a massacre took place at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994 and Ndayambaje was present at the church before the attacks. It further found that Ndayambaje transported attackers to Kabuye Hill, distributed weapons to the attackers and was present during the attacks against Tutsis at Kabuye Hill and that thousands were killed.

Conclusion

5724. In its opening statement, the Prosecution argued that Ndayambaje joined the conspiracy to kill Tutsis at the 19 April 1994 swearing-in ceremony of Nsabimana by expressing a desire to organise in Butare the killings that were occurring elsewhere based on the same strategy. The Chamber notes that Ndayambaje's presence at this ceremony was not established by the Prosecution. Therefore, it did not prove that Ndayambaje joined the Interim Government conspiracy at the 19 April 1994 meeting.

5725. In its closing brief, the Prosecution instead relies, *inter alia*, on various allegations, such as that Ndayambaje trained civilians, incited the population to commit killings, and armed militia groups. ¹⁴⁶⁵⁹ In this regard, the Chamber recalls that the Prosecution did not establish that Ndayambaje trained militiamen. Therefore, this aspect of the Prosecution's case in support of the charge of conspiracy against Ndayambaje fails.

5726. The Chamber also notes that there was no direct evidentiary link between Ndayambaje's actions at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill, and the Interim Government's agreement to commit genocide. There are other reasonable inferences other than an inference that he joined the government conspiracy. He may have initiated these killings of his own accord. Because the allegation that Ndayambaje joined the conspiracy is not the only reasonable inference from the evidence, and in the absence of additional evidence, the

-

¹⁴⁶⁵⁸ Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 74, 75 ("Some of our accused were present at that [19 April 1994] ceremony. They include the minister, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, and the prefets and the bourgmestre, Joseph Kanyabashi."); ("The Prosecutor will show that the Butare authorities, and in the first place Sylvain Nsabimana and Joseph Kanyabashi, as well as the other bourgmestre, Elie Ndayambaje, for instance, and other bourgmestres who are not among the accused, understood the message of Sindikubwabo. But not only that, they did express their desire to organise in Butare the same activities that occurred in the other pr[é]fectures to comply with the demands of President Sindikubwabo's government; that is, to comply with their desires, and that is very important.").

¹⁴⁶⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 456-469, paras. 26-70.

Chamber cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje conspired with the Interim Government to commit genocide.

4.2.1.5 Conclusion

5727. In sum, the Chamber finds the only reasonable inference based on the evidence of Nyiramasuhuko's participation in Cabinet meetings and decisions of the Interim Government is that she conspired with the Interim Government to commit genocide against the Tutsi population in Butare *préfecture* between 9 April 1994 and 14 July 1994. The Chamber therefore finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty of committing conspiracy to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 2 (3)(b) of the Statute.

5728. As to Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, the Chamber finds that there are reasonable inferences other than the inference that they joined an Interim Government conspiracy to commit genocide against the Tutsi population in Butare *préfecture*. The Chamber therefore acquits them of this charge.

4.2.2 Genocide

4.2.2.1 Introduction

5729. The Accused are charged with genocide under Article 2 (3)(a) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 2 of each Indictment.

4.2.2.2 Law

5730. A person commits the crime of genocide if he or she commits one of the acts enumerated in Article 2 (2) of the Statute with the specific intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group as such. The existence of a personal motive does not preclude the perpetrator from also having the specific intent to commit genocide. 14660

5731. The acts enumerated in Article 2 (2) include "[k]illing members of the group", and "[c]ausing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group". For this latter category to support a conviction for genocide, the bodily or mental harm inflicted on members of a group must be of such a serious nature as to threaten its destruction in whole or in part. The Appeals Chamber has described rape as a "quintessential" example of serious bodily harm, and has stated that serious mental harm includes "more than a minor or temporary impairment of mental faculties such as the infliction of strong fear or terror, intimidation or threat".

1

¹⁴⁶⁶⁰ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 175; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 492; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 39; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 304; Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC), paras. 52-53; Krnojelac, Judgement (AC), para. 102; Jelisić, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 161.

¹⁴⁶⁶¹ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

¹⁴⁶⁶² Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46; see also Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), para. 150 (stating, in its discussion of torture, that "[s]exual violence necessarily gives rise to severe pain or suffering, whether physical or mental"); Akayesu, Judgement (TC), para. 731 (with regard to "rape and sexual violence, the Chamber wishes to underscore ... [that] they constitute genocide in the same way as any other act as long as they were committed with the specific intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a particular group, targeted as such. Indeed, rape and sexual violence certainly constitute infliction of serious bodily and mental harm on the victims").

14663 Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

The Appeals Chamber has also noted that "nearly all convictions for the causing of serious bodily or mental harm involve rapes or killings". 14664

5732. The jurisprudence accepts that, in most cases, genocidal intent will be proved by circumstantial evidence. Such intent may be inferred from a number of facts and circumstances, including the general context, the perpetration of other culpable acts systematically directed against the same group, the scale of the atrocities committed, the systematic targeting of victims on account of their membership of a particular group, or the repetition of destructive and discriminatory acts. Evidence of limited and selective assistance towards a few individuals does not generally preclude a reasonable finding of the requisite intent to commit genocide. When based on circumstantial evidence, any finding that the accused had genocidal intent must be the only reasonable inference from the totality of the evidence. 14665

4.2.2.3 Deliberations

4.2.2.3.1 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994

- 5733. Between 9 April and 14 July 1994, numerous Cabinet meetings were held by the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member. The Interim Government adopted directives and issued instructions during these meetings, with the intention of encouraging the population to hunt down and take action against Tutsis ().
- 5734. The Chamber, however, has not found what role, if any, Nyiramasuhuko played at these Cabinet meetings. It has not been established, for instance, that Nyiramasuhuko was assigned responsibility for "pacification" in Butare ().
- 5735. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not established, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Nyiramasuhuko bears criminal responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute in relation to these Cabinet meetings.
- 4.2.2.3.2 Removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of *Préfet* Nsabimana, 17-19 April 1994

Nyiramasuhuko

5736. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko, as a member of the Interim Government, participated in the decision to remove *Préfet* Habvalimana from office for reasons other than maintaining peace (). Habyalimana was a major force in limiting killings within Butare préfecture, and his removal was one of the events that triggered the start of mass-killings in Butare ().

5737. On 19 April 1994, Nsabimana was sworn in as *préfet*. Due to the political context, the existence of war, and the attendance of high-profile government officials, this was a very

¹⁴⁶⁶⁴ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

¹⁴⁶⁶⁵ Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), fn. 478 (quoting Jelisić, Judgement (AC), para. 47); Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 176; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 524; Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 32; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), paras. 40-41; *Rutaganda*, Judgement (AC), para. 525.

- important occasion. At the time of this ceremony, the people of Butare were looking for guidance from the Interim Government ().
- 5738. The Chamber has found that the speeches made at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony by Prime Minister Kambanda and President Sindikubwabo were inflammatory and called on the audience and the public to identify and kill Tutsis and their accomplices (;).
- 5739. The Chamber further found that the presence of Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana and Kanyabashi at the ceremony, and their failure to dissociate themselves from the statements made by the Prime Minister and President, constituted tacit approval of these inflammatory statements and the directives and instructions to the population contained therein (; ; ;).
- 5740. In addition, the Chamber has found that Kanyabashi's speech was in support of Kambanda and Sindikubwabo, and contained a commitment to execute the directives and instructions as set forth in the speeches of Kambanda and Sindikubwabo ().
- 5741. Finally, the Chamber has found that widespread killings of Tutsis did not occur in Butare *préfecture* prior to 18 or 19 April 1994. The Chamber has found that the inflammatory nature of the speeches delivered at the swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 contributed to, and endorsed, the instigation of widespread killings and large-scale massacres in Butare *préfecture* (;).
- 5742. The Chamber recalls its finding that, after the swearing-in ceremony, massacres and attacks took place at various locations in Butare, including Mugombwa Church (), Kabuye Hill (), Kabakobwa Hill () and Matyazo Clinic ().

Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana – Article 6 (1) Responsibility

- 5743. The Prosecution has charged Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana with genocide pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute in relation to this ceremony.
- 5744. The Chamber has made numerous findings of fact in relation to these events. The Chamber does not consider these facts to be sufficient to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko's or Nsabimana's actions constituted the planning, instigating, ordering, or committing of genocide.
- 5745. The Chamber will assess below whether Nyiramasuhuko's or Nsabimana's actions constitute the aiding and abetting of genocide.
- 5746. As described above, the Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana tacitly approved of Kambanda's and Sindikubwabo's speeches. As set out above, Nyiramasuhuko's participation in the Interim Government's conspiracy was further evidenced, *inter alia*, by her presence at the ceremony, and her effective endorsement of the message of the President and the Prime Minister (). However, although Kambanda's and Sindikubwabo's speeches contributed to the instigation of widespread killings and large-scale massacres in Butare *préfecture*, the Chamber recalls that approval may constitute aiding and abetting of a crime such as genocide only if the Prosecution proves that the Accused's conduct substantially contributed to a crime (). Here, the Prosecution has adduced insufficient evidence to prove

beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko's and Nsabimana's conduct contributed to later crimes in a substantial manner.

5747. Accordingly, the Chamber does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana's tacit approval of the speeches substantially contributed to the killings that followed. The Chamber therefore does not consider it proven that they are responsible for aiding and abetting genocide in relation to these events. The Chamber notes, however, that it will consider Nyiramasuhuko's and Nsabimana's conduct elsewhere in determining whether they possessed the requisite intent for genocide.

Nsabimana – Article 6 (3) Responsibility

5748. The Prosecution also charges Nsabimana with superior responsibility in relation to his swearing-in ceremony. 14666 In particular, Paragraph 6.22 of his Indictment appears to allege that, after Nsabimana became *préfet*, Kanyabashi spoke in support of Sindikubwabo's call to begin the massacres. This paragraph identifies Kanyabashi as a *bourgmestre*. 14667

5749. It is clear that Nsabimana, under Rwandan law and in his capacity as *préfet*, was granted authority over *bourgmestres* in Butare *préfecture*, ¹⁴⁶⁶⁸ including Kanyabashi. When *préfet*, Nsabimana thus held *de jure* authority over Kanyabashi. The Chamber recalls that it has not made a finding as to whether Nsabimana became *préfet* before or after Kanyabashi's speech (). The Chamber is therefore unable to conclude that Nsabimana exercised *de jure* authority over Kanyabashi at the time of his speech.

5750. In any event, there is also insufficient evidence that might establish that Nsabimana exercised *de facto* authority or effective control over Kanyabashi when he spoke on 19 April 1994.

5751. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not established a superiorsubordinate relationship between Nsabimana and Kanyabashi at the time of Kanyabashi's speech on 19 April 1994. Because this alleged superior relationship has not been established, the Chamber finds that Nsabimana is not responsible as a superior for the events at his swearing-in ceremony.

Kanyabashi

5752. After Kambanda and Sindikubwabo spoke on 19 April 1994 and asked the audience to search for and kill Tutsis, Kanyabashi gave his own speech in which he supported their message and committed to carrying out their instructions.

5753. The Chamber has also found that widespread killings of Tutsis did not occur in Butare *préfecture* prior to 18 or 19 April 1994. After the ceremony at which Kanyabashi spoke on 19

-

¹⁴⁶⁶⁶ Paras. 6.21 and 6.22 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (pled in support of all counts, except direct and public incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute).

¹⁴⁶⁶⁷ Para. 6.22 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment; *see also* Para. 6.21 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁶⁶⁸ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*), Art. 15; Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*), p. 914, Art. 59.

April 1994, large-scale massacres took place in Butare that constituted genocide (*see*, *e.g.*, ; ;). The Chamber has found that the inflammatory nature of the speeches contributed to these genocidal killings. While the Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Kambanda's and Sindikubwabo's speeches were inflammatory, the Chamber has not found that Kanyabashi's speech was inflammatory. In light of these findings and the evidence in its totality, the Chamber does not find that Kanyabashi's speech substantially contributed to the genocide that followed.

4.2.2.3.3 Mugombwa Church Massacres, 20-21 April 1994

5754. The Chamber has found it established beyond a reasonable doubt that on the morning of 20 April 1994 Ndayambaje spoke with various community leaders at Bishya, after which they told members of the population that Ndayambaje was ordering all those present in Bishya to go to Mugombwa Church. At about noon that day Ndayambaje came to Mugombwa Church. Ndayambaje showed the refugees in the church a picture of President Habyarimana and told them that those in the church were going to be killed because they were accomplices of the *Inkotanyi* who had killed the President. Ndayambaje also spoke to a group of armed people posted outside the church. He told them that since the people in the church were now gathered together, their work would no longer be very difficult. He told the attackers that some of them should stay and watch those in the church and others should go and look for those that were hiding in ditches and in bushes. After this, many people left and some stayed behind at the church. Ndayambaje remained there for about 15 minutes and left. At around 4.00 p.m., the armed people launched an attack against the Tutsis sheltering in the church ().

5755. The following morning, 21 April 1994, Ndayambaje came back at around 10.00 a.m. He addressed the crowd outside the church, stating that he could see they were interested in the Tutsis' cows and asking them what they would pay if the Tutsi owners of the cattle escaped. He then left, but returned to the church for a second time around 10.30 a.m. At about 3.00 p.m., people outside the church threw grenades at the church and set it on fire. Refugees escaping the church were attacked and killed in the courtyard. The attacks on the Mugombwa Church during the two days resulted in the death of hundreds, if not thousands, of Tutsis who sought refuge there ().

Ndayambaje – Article 6 (1) Responsibility

5756. Having regard to the organised nature of the attack and the fact it continued over two successive days, the Chamber finds that the assailants intentionally killed members of the Tutsi ethnic group at Mugombwa Church. Further, in view of the large number of Tutsi victims, the fact that Ndayambaje told the attackers that their work would be simple since the people in the church were all gathered together, and that some attackers left to continue searching for those still in hiding upon Ndayambaje's instructions, the Chamber finds that the assailants possessed genocidal intent during the attack and that Ndayambaje knew of this intent.

5757. In the circumstances, the Chamber is convinced that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that Ndayambaje came to Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994 to encourage the civilians in their attacks, and in this way substantially contributed to the perpetration of the attacks on the Tutsi refugees at Mugombwa Church. The Chamber notes that Ndayambaje exercised considerable moral authority over the population in Muganza *commune* at the time.

As such, the Chamber considers that Ndayambaje's presence at Mugombwa Church before each attack encouraged the attacks, and the Chamber is satisfied that Ndayambaje knew that his presence would be considered by the assailants as tacit approval of the attack. Given the circumstances as a whole, the Chamber has no doubt that Ndayambaje knew that the assailants possessed genocidal intent, and that he substantially contributed to their attacks.

5758. As such, the Chamber finds Ndayambaje guilty of genocide for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsi refugees on 20 and 21 April 1994 at Mugombwa Church under Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Ndayambaje – Article 6 (3) Responsibility

5759. The Chamber next addresses Ndayambaje's potential Article 6 (3) superior responsibility over the civilian perpetrators of the massacre at Mugombwa Church, for possible consideration in sentencing.

5760. The Prosecution alleges that Ndayambaje, as former *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* for a period of 11 years, was seen as a key authority figure by the population. The Prosecution submits that even after leaving office in 1993, Ndayambaje continued to be respected and obeyed, and was, in effect, a *de facto bourgmestre*. It alleges that he continued to exercise authority over *commune* office personnel, such as *conseillers* and *commune* police, since they had been appointed during his tenure, and that he continued to play a role in *commune* administration. Further, the Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje was an active and influential figure within his *commune* due to the other positions he held on various boards and committees. ¹⁴⁶⁶⁹

5761. The Ndayambaje Defence denied that Ndayambaje played the role of a *de facto bourgmestre* after he left office. It submits that Ndayambaje had no authority over *commune* personnel and policemen after he left office, ceased all activities related to his office as *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* after his resignation, and did not resume such activities until he was sworn in on 22 June 1994. 14670

5762. The Chamber recalls that Ndayambaje was the *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* from 1982 until March 1993, ¹⁴⁶⁷¹ at which time he left to pursue studies, and was reappointed *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* on 22 June 1994 (). As such, at the time of the events at Mugombwa Church between 20 and 24 April 1994, Ndayambaje did not hold any public office and thus did not exercise any *de jure* authority.

5763. The Chamber accepts that Ndayambaje, as former *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* for a period of 11 years, and the holder of a number of other offices, was a well-known authority figure and was influential within his *commune*. However, irrespective of how substantial Ndayambaje's influence in Muganza *commune* may have been from 6 April 1994

¹⁴⁶⁶⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 450-456, paras. 3-25.

¹⁴⁶⁷⁰ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 882-932.

¹⁴⁶⁷¹ Defence Exhibit 682 (Ndayambaje) (Presidential Order No. 88/04 of 12 March 1993, Granting Special Leave Without Pay To Bourgmestres).

until 22 June 1994, Ndayambaje will not incur responsibility under Article 6 (3) unless he also exercised effective control over any subordinates. 14672

5764. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution failed to lead sufficient evidence that Ndayambaje had effective control over the civilians who participated in the attacks at Mugombwa Church. The Chamber is of the view that Ndayambaje's influence, if any, over civilians in Muganza commune does not meet the threshold of effective control necessary for the imposition of criminal responsibility for the acts of this group.

5765. The Chamber does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje was in a superior-subordinate relationship over civilians at Mugombwa Church. Accordingly, the Chamber does not find that Ndayambaje bears superior responsibility for their crimes. The Chamber thus will not take Ndayambaje's alleged superior responsibility into account in sentencing.

4.2.2.3.4 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994

Arrest and Transportation of Tutsis to Kabuye Hill, 20 April 1994

5766. The Chamber has found it established beyond a reasonable doubt that on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje travelled to Ngiryi Bridge in Gisagara, Ndora commune, with several armed soldiers and *commune* policemen where they arrested fleeing Tutsi refugees, fired shots in the air and threatened them with their guns and forced them to return to Gisagara marketplace. Thereafter, soldiers and policemen escorted the refugees on foot to Kabuye Hill ().

5767. The Chamber cannot discern any identifiable act of genocide involved in the arrest and forced movement of the refugees to Kabuye Hill. The Chamber does not find that the interception or forced escorting of the refugees to Kabuye Hill itself constitutes genocide. While the Chamber accepts that their arrest by armed soldiers and *commune* policemen, the firing of guns and their forced return to Gisagara and Kabuve may have caused them significant fear and mental suffering in view of the context at the time, the Chamber does not consider it proven that the mental harm suffered was more than minor or temporary. 14673

5768. As such, the Chamber acquits Ndayambaje of any responsibility, under either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3), for the interception and forced movement of the Tutsi refugees from Ngiryi Bridge to Kabuye Hill under Count 2.

Attack on Kabuye Hill, 22-24 April 1994

5769. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that on 22 April 1994, Ndayambaje was present during an attack at Kabuye Hill where soldiers and commune policemen with guns, as well as civilians armed with traditional weapons attacked Tutsi refugees gathered on the hill, resulting in the death of thousands of Tutsis. That night survivors of the attack at Kabuye Hill were guarded and prevented from escaping ().

¹⁴⁶⁷³ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

¹⁴⁶⁷² Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 258, 266, 300, 306; Orić, Judgement (TC), para. 311; Karera, Judgement (TC), para. 564.

- 5770. Considering Ndayambaje, along with armed soldiers and *commune* policemen arrested the same fleeing Tutsi refugees in Gisagara and escorted them to Kabuye hill two days earlier, on 20 April 1994, in addition to the planned and protracted nature of the attack carried out on 22 April 1994, the Chamber finds that the assailants intentionally killed members of the Tutsi ethnic group at Kabuye Hill.
- 5771. Further, in view of the forced return of the Tutsi refugees to Kabuye Hill, the fact that after the attack the surviving Tutsi refugees were guarded to prevent their escape, and events unfolding simultaneously at Mugombwa Church, the Chamber is satisfied that the assailants at Kabuye Hill possessed genocidal intent at the time of their attack on 22 April 1994, and that Ndayambaje knew of this intent.
- 5772. The Chamber has found it established beyond a reasonable doubt that on 23 April 1994 Ndayambaje distributed weapons including rifles and grenades at both the Muganza *commune* office and Kabuye Hill, which were later used in the massacres at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994. Ndayambaje further transported soldiers, civilians and *commune* policemen to Kabuye Hill where they participated in attacks against Tutsis. Finally, Ndayambaje was present during the attacks against Tutsis at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994, and thousands of deaths resulted from these attacks ().
- 5773. Having regard to the planned nature of the attack, the Chamber finds that the assailants intentionally killed members of the Tutsi ethnic group at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994. As such, the Chamber is of the view that Ndayambaje and the assailants also possessed the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group at the time of the attacks on 23 and 24 April 1994, and that Ndayambaje again knew of the principal perpetrators' specific intent.
- 5774. The Chamber has found that Ndayambaje was present during the attack at Kabuye Hill on 22 April 1994 (). The Chamber recalls that Ndayambaje exercised considerable moral authority over the population in his *commune* at the time (). As such, the Chamber finds that Ndayambaje's presence at Kabuye Hill during the attack encouraged and substantially contributed to the attack at Kabuye Hill, and the Chamber is satisfied that Ndayambaje knew that his presence would be considered by the assailants as tacit approval of the attack.
- 5775. It is the Chamber's finding that Ndayambaje's acts of distributing weapons at both the Muganza *commune* office and Kabuye Hill on 23 April 1994, weapons which were used in the subsequent attacks at Kabuye Hill, as well as transporting soldiers, civilians and *commune* policemen to Kabuye Hill, substantially contributed to the commission of the crimes at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994. Ndayambaje was also present during the attacks at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994, which in the Chamber's view encouraged the same attacks. The Chamber is satisfied that Ndayambaje knew that his positive acts substantially contributed to the commission of the attacks at Kabuye Hill on 23 and 24 April 1994 and knew that his presence would be considered by the assailants as tacit approval of the attack.
- 5776. The Chamber has also considered whether Ndayambaje crossed the line separating aiding and abetting from committing genocide, and thus whether he became a principal

perpetrator of the crime itself. 14674 While Ndavambaje played a role in events surrounding the killings, and substantially contributed to them, the Chamber does not find that his conduct was as much an integral part of the genocide as the killings themselves. 14675 The Chamber therefore considers that aiding and abetting is the mode of responsibility that best captures Ndayambaje's role in the attacks.

5777. The Chamber finds it established, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Ndayambaje is guilty of aiding and abetting genocide for his role in the attacks at Kabuye Hill on 22 through 24 April 1994.

Ndayambaje – Article 6 (3) Responsibility

5778. The Chamber next addresses Ndayambaje's potential 6 (3) superior responsibility over the perpetrators of the massacre at Kabuye Hill, for any possible consideration in sentencing.

5779. Notwithstanding the prominent role that Ndayambaje played in contributing to the attacks at Kabuye Hill, and the fact he was often together with soldiers, commune police, and civilians, the Prosecution failed to lead any evidence that Ndayambaje had effective control over these perpetrators or over *Interahamwe*. For example, there was no evidence that any of these perpetrators were acting pursuant to Ndayambaje's orders, that soldiers reported back to him, or that Ndayambaje had any authority or ability to prevent or punish offences committed by them.

5780. In the circumstances the Chamber does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje held a de facto superior position as a civilian over soldiers, commune police, civilians, or *Interahamwe* present and participating in the events preceding, or the attacks at, Kabuye Hill between 22 and 24 April 1994.

5781. As the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Ndayambaje and the soldiers, *commune* policemen, civilians, and Interahamwe at Kabuye Hill, the Chamber will not take this element into account in sentencing.

4.2.2.3.5 IRST Massacre, 21 April 1994

Ntahobali

5782. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that on 21 April 1994, Ntahobali participated in the abduction of approximately 40 Tutsis at the "Rugira roadblock", and that he ordered the *Interahamwe* present to take them to a place between the IRST and the Laboratory. It was further found that once at the IRST, Ntahobali issued orders to the Interahamwe to kill the Tutsis that had been arrested. Ntahobali's orders were followed and approximately 200 Tutsis were killed at the IRST on 21 April 1994 ().

5783. The Chamber has found that genocide was committed in Butare *préfecture* against the Tutsi population (see, e.g., ; ;). In the present circumstances, the Chamber observes that the

¹⁴⁶⁷⁴ See generally Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 182.

¹⁴⁶⁷⁵ See generally Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 219 (quoting Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 60).

victims of the abduction and killings at the IRST were of Tutsi ethnicity. In light of the background and context to this event, the Chamber finds that it constituted the crime of genocide. There is no doubt that the *Interahamwe* possessed genocidal intent when they killed the Tutsis.

5784. Further, the Chamber is satisfied that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from Ntahobali's actions in this event is that he possessed the specific intent to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group by killing the Tutsis abducted from the "Rugira roadblock", along with the other Tutsis that had already been arrested and transported to the IRST. Ntahobali's instructions in this regard were clear.

5785. The Chamber further considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Ntahobali's orders to kill were followed by the *Interahamwe* is that he possessed authority over them.

5786. Therefore, the Chamber finds Ntahobali is responsible as a principal perpetrator, for ordering genocide through the underlying act of killing.

5787. The Chamber recalls that Ntahobali was also charged with superior responsibility in relation to the *Interahamwe* (), and that he received sufficient notice of his responsibility for the IRST incident ().

5788. In discussing the notice received by Ntahobali for this incident, the Chamber highlighted the curative effect of the summary of Witness QCB's intended testimony, annexed to the Pre-Trial Brief (). The Chamber notes, however, that the summary does not provide that Ntahobali supervised *Interahamwe* with relation to the events at the IRST. Accordingly, the Chamber concludes that Ntahobali did not receive sufficient notice of the alleged criminal conduct of the *Interahamwe* over whom he was allegedly responsible.

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

5789. The Chamber notes that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo also appear to be charged with 6 (3) responsibility as to these events. The Chamber further notes that Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment mentions only Ntahobali as the alleged perpetrator. As noted above, in its closing submissions, the Prosecution does not specify Ntahobali as an alleged subordinate of either Nsabimana or Nteziryayo (;). The Chamber therefore concludes that neither Nsabimana nor Nteziryayo is responsible as a superior for these events. The Indictment also charges Nsabimana and Nteziryayo with 6 (1) responsibility as to these events. The Prosecution has failed to satisfy its burden as to these allegations.

¹⁴⁶⁷⁶ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness QCB (52) (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Ntahobali).

¹⁴⁶⁷⁷ Para. 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Accused, except for direct and public incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute).

¹⁴⁶⁷⁸ Para. 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (in support of all counts against both Accused, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute).

4.2.2.3.6 Kabakobwa Hill, 21-24 April 1994

5790. On the morning of 21 April 1994, Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market stating that Tutsis should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa. On the same day various local authorities as well as members of the *Interahamwe* directed Tutsis to Kabakobwa, while other individuals were directed to go to Kabakobwa to guard the Tutsis. The Chamber has not found it established that Kanyabashi ordered his subordinates to direct Tutsis towards Kabakobwa under the guise of protection ().

5791. On 22 April 1994, 200-250 people from nearby *secteurs*, armed with traditional weapons, surrounded at least 500 and up to 10,000 mostly Tutsi refugees at Kabakobwa Hill. Hutus present at Kabakobwa were told to leave and one Nsanzabahizi, a *commune* driver and former *commune* policeman told the refugees "[y]our hour has come". Sometime shortly before noon both *Interahamwe* and soldiers came to Kabakobwa Hill and, upon seeing the number of refugees there, left to report to Kanyabashi and Muvunyi respectively to get reinforcements for the attack. At around 2.00 or 3.00 p.m. soldiers opened fire on the refugees and civilians attacked with traditional weapons. Ngoma *commune* police and Nsanzabahizi participated in the killings at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994. At least hundreds, if not thousands, of refugees were killed. Some of the attackers returned to Kabakobwa on 23 April 1994 to finish off the survivors and loot their property. It was not established that Kanyabashi was present at Kabakobwa on 22 or 23 April 1994 ().

5792. Having regard to the planned nature of the attack, the Chamber finds that the assailants intentionally killed members of the Tutsi ethnic group at Kabakobwa Hill. In view of the large number of Tutsi victims at Kabakobwa Hill, the fact that Hutus present were told to leave, and the content of Nsanzabahizi's words, the Chamber is also satisfied that the assailants possessed the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group as such.

5793. The Prosecution only charged Kanyabashi with superior responsibility for the attack at Kabakobwa under Article 6 (3). The perpetrators of the attacks at Kabakobwa Hill included soldiers, civilians/*Interahamwe*, and Ngoma *commune* employees, including police officers. The Chamber recalls that it has already found that the Indictment sufficiently informed Kanyabashi that he was charged with superior authority over these categories of persons (), such that the Chamber will consider whether a superior-subordinate relationship existed between Kanyabashi and these groups during the period in question.

Kanyabashi – Soldiers

5794. The Chamber refers to its finding elsewhere that Kanyabashi is responsible as a superior of soldiers for the massacre at Matyazo dispensary (). Although testimony in that instance suggests a certain relationship between Kanyabashi and soldiers, in the Chamber's view it is not a sufficient basis upon which to conclude Kanyabashi also had *de facto* authority over soldiers at Kabakobwa.

¹⁴⁶⁷⁹ Paras. 6.32, 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute); *see also* Para. 6.45 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (same).

5795. Considering the evidence as a whole, and in particular in relation to the events at Kabakobwa, the Chamber cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi exercised effective control over the soldiers at Kabakobwa Hill.

5796. As the Prosecution did not establish the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Kanyabashi and the soldiers at Kabakobwa, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi is not responsible as a superior under Article 6 (3) for the acts of soldiers at Kabakobwa.

Kanyabashi – Civilians/Interahamwe

5797. The Chamber did not find it necessary to determine whether the civilian attackers at Kabakobwa were part of the official *Interahamwe*, namely the MRND's youth wing, although the witnesses' testimony evidenced that the term "*Interahamwe*" was used to refer to all civilians participating in the attack (). No evidence was led that Kanyabashi had effective control over the official *Interahamwe*. As such the evidence is insufficient to establish that a *de jure* superior-subordinate relationship existed between Kanyabashi and the *Interahamwe*. Similarly, Kanyabashi did not exercise *de jure* authority over civilians.

5798. The Chamber recalls that a group of *Interahamwe* came to Kabakobwa and then left, saying that "they were going to announce to the *bourgmestre* that people at Kabakobwa were sufficient in number". The *Interahamwe* said they would return to confront those in Kabakobwa, and they later returned armed and with *commune* police (). Although this testimony suggests a certain relationship between Kanyabashi and the *Interahamwe* in this instance, it is not a sufficient basis upon which to conclude that Kanyabashi had *de facto* control over the civilians/*Interahamwe* in the sense of having the material ability to prevent or punish their criminal conduct.

5799. As such, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt the alleged superior-subordinate relationship between Kanyabashi and the civilians/*Interahamwe*. Accordingly, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi is not responsible as a superior under Article 6 (3) for their acts at Kabakobwa.

Kanyabashi – Ngoma Commune Policemen

5800. The Chamber recalls its finding that the evidence established beyond a reasonable doubt that Ngoma *commune* police were present at and participated in the killings that occurred at Kabakobwa on Friday 22 April 1994.

5801. The Chamber further recalls its earlier finding that Kanyabashi received notice of his alleged superior responsibility over *commune* police (), and notes that the Indictment clearly pleads their role in relation to the events at Kabakobwa. The Chamber considers that Kanyabashi received adequate notice of these allegations.

5802. Rwandan law provided that *bourgmestres* wielded legal authority over *commune* police. *Bourgmestres* had power over the hiring, suspension, and termination of *commune*

.

¹⁴⁶⁸⁰ Paras. 6.32 and 6.33 of the Kanyabashi Indictment; see also Para. 6.65 of the Kanyabashi Indictment.

police officers. Although it appears that these powers could be exercised only after consultation with the *commune* counsel and the Minister of the Interior, Rwandan law also provided that "the *bourgmestre* has sole authority over the members of the *commune* police". As *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi enjoyed *de jure* authority over the *commune* police of Ngoma.

5803. The Chamber notes that it has found that Kanyabashi arranged for police officers to force refugees onto a bus to transfer them from the BPO to Nyange ().

5804. The Chamber is satisfied that Kanyabashi exercised effective control over the police within his *commune*. In addition to his *de jure* authority, the Chamber is satisfied that Kanyabashi maintained effective control over the *commune* policemen, in the sense of having the material ability to prevent or punish their criminal conduct. 14684

5805. The Chamber must now determine whether *Bourgmestre* Kanyabashi knew or had reason to know that Ngoma *commune* police were about to or had committed criminal acts at Kabakobwa. The Chamber recalls: the day before the attack, Kanyabashi gave a speech during which he stated that Tutsis should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa, and thus was fully aware of the presence of refugees and of their plight at Kabakobwa; various *commune* authorities, including a *conseiller* and a *responsable de cellule*, and *Interahamwe* directed Tutsis to Kabakobwa; *Interahamwe* came to Kabakobwa Hill before noon the next morning and, upon seeing the number of refugees there, left to report to Kanyabashi, before returning to commence the attack that afternoon (;).

5806. Further, the Chamber recalls Witness D-2-YYYY testified that Kanyabashi chaired a police meeting at the *commune* office on the very morning of the attack, at 8.30 a.m. where the *bourgmestre* raised the issue of the killing of Tutsis and in turn the policemen reported what they had seen in relation to the killing of Tutsis, for example, the death of one Karanganwa at Mukura bridge on 21 April 1994. Moreover, during the course of 22 April 1994, both Witness D-2-YYYY and Witness D-2-5-I were at the *commune* office and testified they could hear gunshots from Kabakobwa. Considering the testimony of Witnesses D-2-5-I, and D-2-YYYY¹⁴⁶⁸⁸ that Kanyabashi left the *commune* office around 4.30 or 5.00 p.m. that day,

¹⁴⁶⁸¹ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*) p. 917, Arts. 103-105, 108-109

¹⁴⁶⁸² Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, Organisation Communale) pp. 916-917, Art. 93 ("Le pouvoir d'engagement, de suspension, et de révocation appartient au bourgmestre après avis du Conseil communal conformément aux instructions du Ministre de l'Intérieur").

¹⁴⁶⁸³ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*) p. 917, Art. 104 ("Le bourgmestre a seul autorité sur les agents de la Police commune...").

Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 341-342; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 86; Bagilishema, Judgement (AC), para. 50; Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC), para. 475.

¹⁴⁶⁸⁵ T. 11 December 2007 pp. 26-28 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴⁶⁸⁶ T. 11 December 2007 p. 25 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY); T. 28 January 2008 p. 32 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I).

T. 21 January 2008 p. 48 (ICS) (Witness D-2-5-I) (Witness was told that Kanyabashi had gone home at 4.30 p.m. that day).

¹⁴⁶⁸⁸ T. 28 November 2007 p. 21 (ICS); T. 3 December 2007 p. 49 (ICS); T. 11 December 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (Kanyabashi went home for the day at about 5.00 p.m.).

and the proximity between the *commune* office and Kabakobwa Hill, ¹⁴⁶⁸⁹ the Chamber concludes Kanyabashi was present at the *commune* office and should similarly have been able to hear the gunshots. The Chamber also recalls Witness D-2-14-D's description of the attack as "remarkable" and testimony that his *conseiller de secteur* and Kanyabashi would have heard of it, considering Kabakobwa was within Ngoma *commune* and under Kanyabashi's jurisdiction. ¹⁴⁶⁹⁰

5807. Lastly, the Chamber recalls Defence Witness D-2-YYYY's evidence that in April 1994, there were approximately 25 to 30 Ngoma *commune* police officers. Given the relatively small number of policemen in Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi's control over the policemen, and the fact that he remained in regular contact with these policemen by regular meetings, several of whom were stationed at his house on the weekend of the Kabakobwa attacks, the Chamber does not accept that Kanyabashi had no knowledge of the participation of any of the Ngoma *commune* police in such a systematic, large-scale attack. To this end, the Chamber also recalls that Witness D-2-14-W testified about a meeting at Huye Stadium around 25 or 26 April 1994, where Kanyabashi publicly condemned killings that had occurred in Kabakobwa, Butare town, Buye, the Matyazo school centre, and the dispensary and said that the perpetrators of those killings had to be punished. 14692

5808. Considering the circumstances in which the Kabakobwa attack took place, the Chamber is satisfied that Kanyabashi knew or had reason to know about the attack and the participation of his subordinates therein. Even accepting that one Semwiza was arrested in the days after the Kabakobwa attack for his role in the attacks, the Chamber considers that the totality of the evidence establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi took no steps to prevent the attack or to punish any Ngoma *commune* policeman for participating in the attack at Kabakobwa on 22 April 1994.

5809. Therefore, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi guilty of genocide under Article 6 (3) for the crimes committed by Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa Hill on 22 April 1994.

Kanyabashi – Ngoma Commune Personnel

5810. Rwandan law for the period covered by the Indictment provided that the administration of Ngoma *commune* was under the direct authority of the *bourgmestre*. More specifically, after consultation with the *commune* council and the Minister of the Interior, the *bourgmestre*

¹⁴⁶⁸⁹ T. 27 August 2007 p. 61 (Witness D-2-14-D) (Witness D-2-14-D testified that the Ngoma *commune* office was approximately 15 kilometres from Kabakobwa and the trip would take approximately 20 minutes by vehicle); T. 11 December 2007 p. 29 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY) (Witness D-2-YYYY corroborated this insofar as he estimated that it could take 20 or 30 minutes to reach Kabakobwa from the *commune* office, although he could not be sure because he had never covered that distance by car).

¹⁴⁶⁹⁰ T. 28 August 2007 p. 9 (Witness D-2-14-D).

¹⁴⁶⁹¹ T. 27 November 2007 p. 7 (ICS); T. 5 December 2007 pp. 46-47 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY). For the names of specific policemen; *see* T. 3 December 2007 p. 28 (ICS); T. 4 December 2007 pp. 41-42 (ICS) (Witness D-2-YYYY).

¹⁴⁶⁹² T. 11 February 2008 pp. 27, 38 (ICS) (Witness D-2-14-W).

¹⁴⁶⁹³ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, *Organisation Communale*) p. 914, Art. 60 ("L'administration communale est placée sous l'autorité directe du bourgmestre").

had power over the hiring, suspension, and termination of *commune* personnel. In light of the *bourgmestre* so powers to suspend or terminate employment, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi, as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, enjoyed a *de jure* superior-subordinate relationship over Ngoma *commune* personnel.

- 5811. With respect to Kanyabashi's *de facto* control over Ngoma *commune* personnel, ¹⁴⁶⁹⁵ the Chamber notes that Kanyabashi made no attempt to refute that he had effective control over Ngoma *commune* personnel. While the burden of proof nonetheless remains on the Prosecution, the Chamber is satisfied that the evidence establishes that in addition to his *de jure* authority, Kanyabashi maintained effective control over the *commune* personnel, in the sense of having the material ability to prevent or punish their criminal conduct. ¹⁴⁶⁹⁶
- 5812. It was not disputed that Mathias Nsanzabahizi was a driver for Ngoma *commune*, and former *commune* policeman, who participated in attacks at Kabakobwa ().
- 5813. The Kanyabashi Defence acknowledges that a former *commune* policeman named Nsanzabahizi was a driver for the *commune* and an attacker at Kabakobwa, but submits Kanyabashi was not driven by this man. The Chamber considers that as a *commune* employee, there existed a formal hierarchical relationship between Nsanzabahizi and Kanyabashi from which flowed Kanyabashi's ability to punish Nsanzabahizi.
- 5814. However, the Prosecution did not adduce sufficient evidence that Kanyabashi knew or had reason to know that *commune* drivers or Nsanzabahizi were about to, or had, committed criminal acts at Kabakobwa. Similarly, the Chamber cannot conclude that Kanyabashi was informed of these acts at any time. As such, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi is not responsible as a superior under Article 6 (3) for the acts of *commune* drivers or Nsanzabahizi at Kabakobwa.
- 4.2.2.3.7 Mutunda Stadium Killings, Around 25-27 April 1994
- 5815. After about 3,000 Tutsis gathered at Mutunda Stadium, many were killed there around 25 through 27 April 1994. The Chamber has found, however, that the Prosecution has not established Nyiramasuhuko's presence during the attack (). Similarly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven that Nyiramasuhuko or Nsabimana bear criminal responsibility for these events, pursuant to either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3) of the Statute.

4.2.2.3.8 Save Roadblock, April 1994

5816. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi came to a roadblock in Save in April 1994. He asked the people who manned this roadblock to search for

14697 Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 188-191.

¹⁴⁶⁹⁴ Prosecution Exhibit 189 (Law of 23 Novembre 1963, Organisation Communale) p. 916, Art. 93 ("Le pouvoir d'engagement, de suspension, et de révocation appartient au bourgmestre après avis du Conseil communal conformément aux instructions du Ministre de l'Intérieur"); Art. 94 ("Toutes décisions concernant l'engagement, la suspension, ou la révocation de personnel doivent être approuvées par le préfet ou son délégué").

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 625; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 143; Bagilishema, Judgement (AC), paras. 59-62; Bagilishema, Judgement (TC), para. 39.

Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 341-342; *Kajelijeli*, Judgement (AC), para. 86; *Bagilishema*, Judgement (AC), para. 50; *Muvunyi I*, Judgement (TC), para. 475.

- a Tutsi lecturer and offered a reward for whoever found him (). There is no evidence as to what occurred after this request.
- 5817. As there is insufficient evidence to establish that Kanyabashi's words at the roadblock substantially contributed to any subsequent crime, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi not guilty of genocide with respect to this allegation.
- 4.2.2.3.9 Matyazo Clinic, Late April 1994
- 5818. In late April 1994, following an initial attack by soldiers, Kanyabashi went to Matyazo Clinic. He addressed the Tutsis who were sheltering in the clinic and then ordered soldiers to open fire on the Tutsis, resulting in many deaths ().
- 5819. The Chamber notes that although Paragraph 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment alleges that "Kanyabashi ordered soldiers to open fire on the refugees" at Matyazo clinic, the Prosecution does not charge Kanyabashi with this crime pursuant to ordering or another mode of responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. 14698 In the Chamber's view, this is a serious omission on the part of the Prosecution.
- 5820. The Prosecution instead charges Kanyabashi with superior responsibility for the events at Matyazo Clinic. 14699 Accordingly, the Chamber will only consider whether Kanyabashi is responsible as a superior for the role of his alleged subordinates at Matyazo Clinic.
- 5821. As discussed above (), the Chamber has concluded that Kanyabashi received sufficient notice of his alleged superior responsibility in relation to the soldiers' actions at Matyazo Clinic. The Chamber will now assess whether the Prosecution has proved this allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 5822. Although the Prosecution alleges that Kanyabashi exercised de jure authority over the soldiers, ¹⁴⁷⁰⁰ it identifies no possible source for such authority. Considering the evidence in its totality, the Chamber concludes that Kanyabashi did not have de jure authority over the soldiers at Matyazo Clinic in late April 1994.
- 5823. The Chamber recalls, however, that Kanyabashi ordered the soldiers to shoot at the Tutsis sheltering at Matyazo Clinic in late April 1994, and that the soldiers obeyed this order (). Based on this fact, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi exercised effective control over these soldiers on an ad hoc or temporary basis, and that he was in a superior-subordinate relationship over them. The Chamber also considers that Kanvabashi acted with genocidal intent, which was further evidenced by his conduct at the 19 April 1994 swearing-in ceremony ().
- 5824. The Chamber likewise finds that Kanyabashi's orders demonstrate that he knew that soldiers were about to commit a crime and that he failed to prevent their crimes. Similarly,

¹⁴⁶⁹⁸ Para. 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (pled in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute only). 14699 Para. 6.34 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (pled in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the

¹⁴⁷⁰⁰ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 28.

Kanyabashi knew afterwards that the soldiers had committed a crime. Based on the evidence, the only reasonable inference is that Kanyabashi also failed to punish them for obeying his order to shoot the Tutsis at Matyazo Clinic.

- 5825. Given the context and the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the soldiers, in shooting at the Tutsis, possessed the genocidal intent to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group. Many Tutsis died as a result. There is no doubt that the soldiers committed genocide.
- 5826. Accordingly, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt (J. Ramaroson dissenting), that the soldiers committed genocide of Tutsis at Matyazo Clinic in late April 1994, and that Kanyabashi bears responsibility as a superior for genocide.

4.2.2.3.10 Ngoma Parish Church Massacre, Late April 1994

5827. In relation to the Prosecution allegation that numerous Tutsis were massacred at the Ngoma Parish Church at the end of April 1994, the Chamber has concluded that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi played any role in this attack (). The Chamber therefore finds that Kanyabashi does not bear criminal responsibility for this event.

4.2.2.3.11 Hotel Ihuliro Roadblock, Late April 1994

Notice of Rape as Genocide

- 5828. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, which pertains to the allegations at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, and which was pled in support of the count of genocide, does not allege that rape was perpetrated during the abductions and killings of Tutsis at this location. This Indictment paragraph was not pled in support of the count alleging rape as a crime against humanity or outrages upon personal dignity. ¹⁴⁷⁰¹
- 5829. Paragraph 6.53 of the Indictment, pled in support of both genocide and rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity, alleges that rapes were widely committed throughout Rwanda. However this paragraph does not identify any location in Butare *préfecture* where these alleged rapes occurred. 14702
- 5830. The crime of rape features prominently in Paragraph 6.37 of the Indictment, which alleges that Ntahobali kidnapped and raped Tutsi women. Given this allegation, the Chamber considers it significant that it was not pled in support of genocide, but was instead pled in support of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity. 14703
- 5831. Reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber cannot conclude that the Prosecution pled rapes in support of genocide. In particular, the Chamber notes that the paragraph concerning the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock omitted any reference to rape. Moreover, the paragraph

¹⁴⁷⁰¹ Para. 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

that explicitly ties Ntahobali to rape was not pled as genocide. The Indictment is therefore defective in failing to plead rape as genocide.

- 5832. The Chamber recalls that defects in the Indictment can be cured if the Prosecution provides information that is timely, consistent and clear (). Although the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and opening statement make reference to rape as genocide, these indications do not clarify whether the Prosecution intended to pursue this allegation against the Accused.
- 5833. Similarly, the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief provides witness summaries that are pled in support of genocide and that allege various rapes and killings, but there is no clear indication of whether the rapes themselves are intended to support this charge in addition to the killings. 14705
- 5834. The Chamber also recalls that on 17 August 1998 the Prosecution filed a request for leave to amend the Indictment a second time. In its request, the Prosecution submitted that "[t]he new charges contained in the proposed amended indictment, accurately reflect the totality of the accused['s] alleged criminal conduct and allows the Prosecutor to present the full scope of available, relevant evidence". This proposed Indictment added various charges, including rape as a crime against humanity pled against Nyiramasuhuko. No mention was made of pleading rape as genocide. The Chamber granted the Prosecution request on 10 August 1999.
- 5835. While there is ample notice that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were being charged with rapes under the counts of rape as crime against humanity, and of outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, the Prosecution provided insufficient notice of its intention to pursue rape as genocide.
- 5836. Under the present circumstances, the Chamber concludes that the Prosecution did not provide sufficient notice that could be capable of curing the defects in the Indictment. Because it would be prejudicial to hold the Accused responsible for a charge of which they had insufficient notice, the Chamber will not enter a conviction for genocide on the basis of any rapes that occurred at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock.
- 5837. The Chamber notes, however, that it will mention rapes in the course of its legal findings on genocide. This will be done to convey the entire set of facts in a coherent fashion, and will not be taken into account by the Chamber in assessing genocide. Instead, they will be considered when assessing the counts of rape as a crime against humanity, and outrages upon

¹⁴⁷⁰⁴ See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 44, 134; Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 90-91.

¹⁴⁷⁰⁵ See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TN (10); Witness SX (88); Witness TB (90).

¹⁴⁷⁰⁶ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 17 August 1998, para. 5 (a).

¹⁴⁷⁰⁷ See, e.g., Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 17 August 1998, para. 4.

¹⁴⁷⁰⁸ Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment (TC), 10 August 1999, p. 6.

personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. 14709

Ntahobali

Notice of Alleged Responsibility

5838. Regarding Ntahobali's alleged superior responsibility over soldiers and *Interahamwe* (), the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.27 of his Indictment is pled in support of such responsibility. This paragraph identifies soldiers as allegedly assisting Ntahobali at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro, and the Chamber therefore finds that it pleads Ntahobali's alleged superior responsibility over soldiers in relation to the incidents there. 14710

5839. This Indictment paragraph, however, makes no mention of *Interahamwe* as alleged subordinates of Ntahobali. The Indictment is defective in this regard. Notably, however, this paragraph also mentions "other unknown persons". ¹⁴⁷¹¹ This phrase lends itself to curing, as an exceptional measure, through the provision of timely, clear and consistent notice. ¹⁴⁷¹²

5840. The Chamber recalls that the Appendix to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief contains a summary of Witness QCB's anticipated testimony pertaining to the events at this roadblock (). A review of this summary reveals that Ntahobali was alleged to be in a superior-subordinate relationship with the *Interahamwe* at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro. Moreover, this witness' statement alleges that the *Interahamwe* played a role in the attack on Ruvurajabo. The Chamber finds that the defect in the Indictment was cured and that there was no prejudice to Ntahobali, who received sufficient notice of his alleged superior responsibility over *Interahamwe* for their actions at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, including the attack on Ruvurajabo.

5841. Given that Ntahobali was alleged to have been present during the events at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, and was alleged to have been a superior there, the Chamber finds that Ntahobali received sufficient notice of his alleged superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute. 14715

Responsibility

For similar reasons, the Chamber will not address rapes when considering persecution and other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity, and violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.

¹⁴⁷¹⁰ Para. 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷¹¹ Para. 6.27 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷¹² See, e.g., Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 293.

¹⁴⁷¹³ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief - Appendix; Witness QCB (52) (cited in support of Counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-11 against Ntahobali, Count 3 against Nyiramasuhuko, and Counts 1 and 2 against Kanyabashi) ("Then they came to a third roadblock supervised by Ntahobali. The roadblock was opposite Ntahobali's parents' house, The *Interahamwe* and civilians wearing military vests were checking identification cards ... QCB's acquaintance's [*sic*] refused to join the Tutsi group and Ntahobali ordered his killing and he was immediately killed").

¹⁴⁷¹⁴ 7 April 1999, Statement of Witness QCB, disclosed 1 October 2001.

¹⁴⁷¹⁵ See also Para. 6.55 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

- 5842. In April 1994 Ntahobali manned the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro. With the assistance of soldiers and other unknown persons he utilised the roadblock to abduct and kill members of the Tutsi population. Towards the end of April 1994, Ntahobali personally raped and murdered one Tutsi girl, and instructed the *Interahamwe* to kill Léopold Ruvurajabo, who was subsequently killed, at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro. It was established that various crimes, in particular beatings, rapes and killings, were carried out mostly against Tutsis at this roadblock during the relevant time period ().
- 5843. The Chamber recalls that it will not take into account rapes when assessing genocide. Instead, they will be considered when assessing the counts of rape as a crime against humanity, and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.
- 5844. The Chamber finds that Ntahobali intentionally committed the mentioned crimes. The victims of these crimes were Tutsis. Further, the Chamber recalls its findings in other sections that Ntahobali specifically targeted Tutsis (*see*, *e.g.*, ; ;). In light of the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali possessed the intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group when he committed these crimes at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock.
- 5845. The Chamber finds that these events constitute the crime of genocide. It further finds Ntahobali guilty as a principal perpetrator, for committing and ordering genocide, through the underlying acts of murder and causing serious bodily and mental harm. The Chamber will now address Ntahobali's alleged superior responsibility over soldiers and *Interahamwe*, for possible consideration in sentencing.
- 5846. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali received assistance from soldiers, but has not concluded that he gave them any orders (). There is insufficient evidence that would permit the Chamber to conclude that Ntahobali exercised a superior-subordinate relationship over the soldiers. The Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established this alleged relationship beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 5847. As for the *Interahamwe*, the Chamber has found that Ntahobali instructed them to kill Ruvurajabo. They subsequently killed him as ordered (). The Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that Ntahobali exercised effective control over the *Interahamwe* present at the roadblock. As such, Ntahobali was in a superior-subordinate relationship to them, on an *ad hoc* or temporary basis, when they killed Ruvurajabo.
- 5848. Given Ntahobali's presence at the roadblock when this crime took place, the Chamber finds that he knew the crime was being committed and failed to take any measure to stop the *Interahamwe* or to punish them. Therefore, the Chamber also finds Ntahobali bears superior responsibility over the *Interahamwe* for the killing of Ruvurajabo.
- 5849. The Chamber considers that this killing falls within the context of the genocide committed by members of the *Interahamwe* over whom Ntahobali bears superior responsibility (;). The Chamber will take this into account in sentencing.

Nyiramasuhuko

5850. Because the Prosecution has not established beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the time when any specific crime was actually perpetrated, the Chamber cannot conclude that Nyiramasuhuko played any direct role in relation to the mentioned crimes. Similarly, the Prosecution has adduced insufficient evidence to establish that Nyiramasuhuko was in a superior-subordinate relationship with anyone involved in these crimes at the time they occurred. The Chamber therefore acquits Nyiramasuhuko on this allegation under the Indictment pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute.

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

5851. The Chamber notes that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo are charged with Article 6 (3) responsibility for the events at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. The Chamber further notes that Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment mentions only Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali as alleged perpetrators. In its closing submissions, however, the Prosecution does not specify either Nyiramasuhuko or Ntahobali as alleged subordinates of Nsabimana or Nteziryayo (;). The Chamber therefore concludes that neither Nsabimana nor Nteziryayo is responsible as a superior for the events at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. The Indictment also charges Nsabimana and Nteziryayo with Article 6 (1) responsibility as to these events. The Prosecution has failed to satisfy its burden as to these allegations.

4.2.2.3.12 Rwamukwaya Family, Around 29-30 April 1994

Ntahobali

5852. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that, given the narrow time frames involved between Ntahobali's threat pronounced against the Rwamukwaya family, the sighting of their bodies, and the first sightings of Ntahobali in Rwamukwaya's vehicle, Ntahobali is responsible for killing Rwamukwaya and his family, on or about 29 or 30 April 1994. The Chamber also found that the Rwamukwaya family was of Tutsi ethnicity ().

5853. It was established that genocide was committed in Rwanda, in this period against members of the Tutsi population (see, e.g., ; ;).

5854. In light of the background to this crime, and considering the totality of the evidence, the Chamber finds that only one reasonable inference is open to it: that the principal perpetrators killed the Rwamukwaya family with genocidal intent, and that Ntahobali was aware of this intent.

5855. Therefore, the Chamber finds this event constitutes the crime of genocide. In view of Ntahobali's announcement of his intention to have the Rwamukwaya family killed, the Chamber considers Ntahobali substantially contributed to the commission of the Rwamukwayas' death. The Chamber therefore finds that Ntahobali is guilty of aiding and abetting the killing of the Rwamukwaya family. As for Ntahobali's alleged superior responsibility, the Chamber does not find this to have been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

.

¹⁴⁷¹⁶ Para. 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo

5856. The Chamber notes that Nsabimana and Nteziryayo appear to be charged with Article 6 (3) responsibility as to the killing of the Rwamukwaya family. The Chamber further notes that Paragraph 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment mentions only Ntahobali as the alleged perpetrator. As noted above, in its closing submissions, the Prosecution does not specify Ntahobali as an alleged subordinate of either Nsabimana or Nteziryayo (;). The Chamber therefore concludes that neither Nsabimana nor Nteziryayo is responsible as a superior for these events. The Indictment also charges Nsabimana and Nteziryayo with Article 6 (1) responsibility as to the killing of the Rwamukwaya family. The Prosecution has failed to satisfy its burden in this regard.

4.2.2.3.13 Butare *Préfecture* Office ("BPO"), End of April – First Half of June 1994

Notice of Rape as Genocide

5857. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment which pertains to the allegations at the Butare *préfecture* office, and which was pled in support of the count of genocide, does not allege that rape was perpetrated during the attacks, abductions, and killings of Tutsis there. This Indictment paragraph was not pled in support of the count alleging rape as a crime against humanity or outrages upon personal dignity. ¹⁴⁷¹⁸

5858. As discussed above (), Paragraph 6.53 of the Indictment, pled in support of both genocide and rape as a crime against humanity and or outrages upon personal dignity, alleges that rapes were widely committed throughout Rwanda. However this paragraph does not identify any location in Butare *préfecture* where these alleged rapes occurred. ¹⁴⁷¹⁹

5859. The crime of rape features prominently in Paragraph 6.37 of the Indictment, which alleges that Ntahobali kidnapped and raped Tutsi women. Given this allegation, the Chamber considers it significant that it was not pled in support of genocide, but was instead pled in support of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity. 14720

5860. Reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber cannot conclude that the Prosecution pled rapes in support of genocide. In particular, the Chamber notes that the paragraphs concerning the Butare *préfecture* office omitted any reference to rape. Moreover, the paragraph that explicitly ties Ntahobali to rape was not pled as genocide. The Indictment is therefore defective in failing to plead rape as genocide.

5861. The Chamber recalls that defects in the Indictment can be cured if the Prosecution provides information that is timely, consistent and clear (). Although the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and opening statement make reference to rape as genocide, ¹⁴⁷²¹ these indications do not clarify whether the Prosecution intended to pursue this allegation against the Accused.

¹⁴⁷¹⁷ Para. 6.51 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷¹⁹ Para. 6.53 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷²⁰ Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷²¹ Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 44, 134; Prosecution Opening Statement, T. 12 June 2001 pp. 89-90.

Similarly, the Appendix to the Pre-Trial Brief provides witness summaries that are pled in support of genocide and that allege various rapes and killings, but there is no clear indication of whether the rapes themselves are intended to support this charge in addition to the killings. 14722

5862. The Chamber also recalls that, on 17 August 1998, the Prosecution filed a request for leave to amend the Indictment a second time. In its request, the Prosecution submitted that "[t]he new charges contained in the proposed amended indictment, accurately reflect the totality of the accused['s] ... alleged criminal conduct and allows the Prosecutor to present the full scope of available, relevant evidence ...". This proposed Indictment added various charges, including rape as a crime against humanity pled against Nyiramasuhuko. No mention was made of pleading rape as genocide. The Chamber granted the Prosecution request on 10 August 1999. 14725

5863. While there is ample notice that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were being charged with rapes under the counts of rape as crime against humanity, and of outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, the Prosecution provided insufficient notice of its intention to pursue rape as genocide.

5864. Under the present circumstances, the Chamber concludes that the Prosecution did not provide sufficient notice that could be capable of curing the defects in the Indictment. Because it would be prejudicial to hold the Accused responsible for a charge of which they had insufficient notice, the Chamber will not enter a conviction for genocide on the basis of any rapes that occurred.

5865. The Chamber notes, however, that it will mention rapes in the course of its legal findings on genocide. This will be done to convey the entire set of facts in a coherent fashion, including that the intensity and repeated nature of the attacks provides evidence that rape was, in fact, utilised as a form of genocide. The Chamber will not take this into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider this for the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. 14726

Mid-May 1994 Attack

¹⁴⁷²² See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief – Appendix; Witness TA (3); Witness FAP (27); Witness QBP (44); Witness QBQ (45); Witness QZ (62); Witness RF (66); Witness RJ (68).

¹⁴⁷²³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 17 August 1998, para. 5 (a).

¹⁴⁷²⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 17 August 1998, para. 4.

¹⁴⁷²⁵ *Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment (TC), 10 August 1999, p. 6.
¹⁴⁷²⁶ For similar reasons, the Chamber will not take rapes into account when considering persecution and other

¹⁴⁷²⁶ For similar reasons, the Chamber will not take rapes into account when considering persecution and other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity, and violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being or persons as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.

5866. As an introduction, the Chamber notes that, as the violence in other parts of Rwanda pushed people to seek refuge in places they considered safe like churches and government offices, numerous already traumatised, mainly Tutsi, civilians went to the Butare *préfecture* office seeking refuge. Hoping to find safety and security, they instead found themselves subject to abductions, rapes and murder. The evidence presented by these survivors, and accepted by the Chamber, is among the worst encountered by this Chamber; it paints a clear picture of unfathomable depravity and sadism.

5867. Between mid-May and mid-June 1994 Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers went to the BPO to abduct hundreds of Tutsis; the Tutsi refugees were physically assaulted and raped; and were killed in various locations throughout Butare *préfecture*. In mid-May 1994, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and about 10 *Interahamwe* came to the BPO aboard a camouflaged pickup. Nyiramasuhuko pointed out Tutsi refugees to the *Interahamwe*, ordering them to force the refugees onto the pickup (;). Ntahobali also gave the *Interahamwe* orders, telling them to stop loading the truck because it could not accept anymore dead. The refugees were taken to other locations in Butare to be killed. Therefore, both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali were responsible for ordering the killings of numerous Tutsi refugees who were forced on board the pickup.

5868. Furthermore, Witness TA and two other women were raped during this mid-May attack. The Chamber notes that rape is one of the quintessential examples of serious bodily or mental harm. To support a conviction for genocide, the bodily harm or the mental harm inflicted on members of a group must be of such a serious nature as to threaten its destruction in whole or in part. Witness TA was brutally raped by a gang of about eight *Interahamwe* in addition to Ntahobali. At least two other Tutsi women were raped on this occasion by the *Interahamwe*. This was the first of many such attacks from mid-May until mid-June 1994 during which Tutsi women, including Witness TA were raped (;). Considering the brutality and repetitive nature of these attacks, the vulnerable nature of the population seeking refuge at the BPO and the fact that they were Tutsis, there can be no question that the bodily and mental harm inflicted by Ntahobali and the *Interahamwe* on the Tutsi women at the BPO was of such a serious nature as to threaten the destruction in whole or in part of the Tutsi ethnic group. The Chamber recalls that it will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider them for charges that were properly pled.

5869. There was no evidence of Nyiramasuhuko's direct involvement in ordering the rape of Witness TA or the other Tutsi women on this occasion in mid-May 1994. Nonetheless, the *Interahamwe* were acting under the orders of Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko to load the truck with people. The *Interahamwe* accompanied Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko who were in the cabin of the vehicle as it transported the *Interahamwe* to the BPO. This assisted, encouraged or lent moral support to the perpetration of the rapes and had a substantial effect on the realisation of these crimes. Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko, by her presence and position of authority, is guilty of aiding and abetting the rapes at the BPO. The discussed above, the Chamber considers

¹⁴⁷²⁷ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

¹⁴⁷²⁸ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-47, 49-51 (Witness TA).

¹⁴⁷²⁹ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

¹⁴⁷³⁰ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 46.

Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

the bodily harm or the mental harm inflicted on the Tutsi refugees at the BPO was of such a serious nature as to threaten the destruction in whole or in part of the Tutsi ethnic group.

5870. Moving to the *mens rea* of genocide, it was clear that those staying at the BPO were Tutsis and this fact was widely known throughout the *préfecture*. The *Interahamwe* were armed and forced the defenceless Tutsi refugees to board a Toyota Hilux. Those who refused were killed on the spot. Furthermore, there was a pattern of killing at the BPO itself. There were pits dug which contained those killed at the BPO. The *Interahamwe* were armed with traditional weapons. Ntahobali instructed them to spare no one. Likewise, Nyiramasuhuko issued instructions to rape the women.

5871. In evaluating Nyiramasuhuko's *mens rea* at the BPO, the Chamber also considers Nyiramasuhuko's conduct at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony on 19 April 1994 (;), where she tacitly approved of the inflammatory speeches of President Sindikubwabo and Prime Minister Kambanda, and also her distribution of condoms in June 1994 (), where she urged Hutus to rape Tutsi women. These actions can only be understood as intending to eliminate this group of persons. By attacking this group of wounded and sick Tutsi refugees, and in light of the evidence as a whole, the only reasonable conclusion is that Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and the other *Interahamwe* assailants possessed the intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group.

Last Half of May 1994 Attack

5872. During the last half of May 1994, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on two more occasions. Ntahobali violently raped Witness TA, hitting her on the head. *Interahamwe* following the orders of Ntahobali raped six other women. In a subsequent attack during this same time period, Ntahobali ordered about seven other *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA (). As discussed above, the Chamber considers the bodily harm or the mental harm inflicted on the Tutsi refugees at the BPO in the perpetration of these rapes was of such a serious nature as to threaten the destruction in whole or in part of the Tutsi ethnic group. These Tutsis were entirely helpless and consisted mainly of women and children. The only reasonable conclusion is that Ntahobali and his co-perpetrators possessed genocidal intent in committing these rapes. However, as stated above, the Chamber will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider them for charges that were properly pled.

End of May/Beginning of June 1994 Attack

5873. Around the end of May to the beginning of June 1994, Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO on board a camouflaged pickup on three occasions in one night. They abducted Tutsi refugees each time, some of whom were forced to undress, and took them to other sites in Butare *préfecture* to be killed. Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape refugees (;). This evidences Nyiramasuhuko's intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi group. The *Interahamwe* beat, abused and raped many Tutsi women. As discussed above, the Chamber considers the bodily harm or the mental harm inflicted on the Tutsi refugees at the BPO in the perpetration of these rapes was of such a serious nature as to threaten the destruction in whole or in part of the Tutsi ethnic group. They were all committed

.

¹⁴⁷³² Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

with genocidal intent. Therefore, the acts of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali constitute genocide. The Chamber again recalls that it will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider them for charges that were properly pled.

First Half of June 1994 Attack

5874. In the first half of June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsi women at the BPO and as a result numerous women were raped at that location. Ntahobali, injured soldiers, and *Interahamwe* came to the BPO to rape women and abduct refugees. During at least one of these attacks, Ntahobali again handed Witness TA over to about seven *Interahamwe* to rape Witness TA (;). Each of these attacks constitutes the *actus reus* of genocide. Likewise, as discussed above, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali possessed genocidal intent.

5875. Moreover, the Chamber finds that Ntahobali aided and abetted the rapes of Witness TA. The *Interahamwe* who raped Witness TA on this occasion possessed genocidal intent, and Ntahobali knew of their intent. He specifically acted to assist and encourage their rape of Witness TA, and his actions substantially contributed to these rapes. Regardless of this conclusion, the Chamber recalls that it will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider them for charges that were properly pled.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali – Article 6 (1) Responsibility

5876. Based upon the above, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali responsible for ordering killings. The Chamber has no doubt that these killings constituted genocide for which Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are responsible, pursuant to Article 6 (1).

5877. The Chamber also finds that the evidence establishes that Ntahobali committed rapes, that Nyiramasuhuko aided and abetted rapes, and that they both ordered rapes. However, for the reasons explained above, the Chamber will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide, but instead will consider them for the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali – Article 6 (3) Responsibility

5878. The Chamber recalls its earlier finding that Nyiramasuhuko received notice of her alleged superior responsibility over Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers (). The Chamber also finds that pursuant to Paragraph 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, Ntahobali received notice that he was being charged as a superior to *Interahamwe* and soldiers at the BPO. Reading this Indictment Paragraph along with Paragraphs 6.31, 6.53, 6.55 and 6.56, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali received sufficient notice of their alleged superior responsibility.

¹⁴⁷³³ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Nyiramasuhuko – Ntahobali

5879. The Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali went to the Butare *préfecture* office together between April and June 1994 (). Witness testimony describes them arriving together in a vehicle with *Interahamwe*, ¹⁴⁷³⁴ but little additional evidence is available concerning any interactions between the two.

5880. In this regard, the Chamber notes that Witness TA, when specifically asked to identify who was superior to whom at the BPO in late April 1994, stated her view that Nyiramasuhuko was in charge. The witness appeared to explain this view by saying that Nyiramasuhuko pointed at three refugees who had been cut up and ordered that they be loaded onto the vehicle, after which they were taken away. The Chamber notes, however, that Witness TA also testified that Ntahobali ordered *Interahamwe* to stop killing refugees, as the number of dead people were in excess to what could be loaded in the vehicle. Moreover, the witness testified that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali did not speak to each other, and that they both led the *Interahamwe* at the scene. While the witness' impression that Nyiramasuhuko was in charge of Ntahobali carries some evidential value, it does not suffice to make findings beyond a reasonable doubt.

5881. Witness FAP, by contrast, described the events of late May or early June 1994 at the Butare *préfecture* office. She ascribed various orders to Nyiramasuhuko, and testified that afterwards, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* walked towards their eventual victims. Later that evening, according to the witness, Ntahobali joined the *Interahamwe* in loading Tutsis onto a vehicle. When asked what prompted this action, Witness FAP said that Nyiramasuhuko had encouraged it. 14737

5882. The Chamber acknowledges that Witness FAP's testimony gives the impression that Ntahobali was obeying the orders of Nyiramasuhuko, and thus may have been a subordinate of hers. The Chamber recalls, however, that it has not found that Nyiramasuhuko issued any orders to Ntahobali ().

5883. In view of the totality of the evidence, the Chamber considers that the relationship between Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali in 1994 was complex, owing in part to the familial and interpersonal relationship shared by these two Accused. This complexity, however, cannot be confused for a superior-subordinate relationship. Cognisant that the burden of proof falls on the Prosecution to establish this element, the Chamber finds that there is insufficient evidence

-

¹⁴⁷³⁴ See T. 25 October 2001 pp. 29-30 (Witness TA); T. 29 October 2001 pp. 45, 51-52 (Witness TA); T. 31 October 2001 pp. 41, 43 (Witness TA); T. 6 November 2001 p. 57 (Witness TA); T. 20 May 2002 pp. 73-75, 95-98 (Witness TK); T. 24 February 2003 pp. 19, 21 (Witness RE); T. 3 March 2003 pp. 48-49 (Witness SS); T. 11 March 2003 pp. 48, 50, 56, 60 (Witness FAP); T. 12 March 2003 pp. 52 (Witness FAP); T. 3 February 2004 pp. 10, 21-22, 63 (Witness QBQ). In makings its factual findings concerning the Butare *préfecture* office, the Chamber has relied on the testimony of these witnesses for either its substance or its corroborative value.

¹⁴⁷³⁵ The Chamber notes that while the transcripts for 29 October 2001 are equivocal as to whether Nyiramasuhuko saved three people from being taken away or ordered three people be taken away: T. 29 October 2001 p. 48; T. 29 October 2001 p. 53 (Witness TA) (French), the transcripts for two other trial dates indicate that the three people Nyiramasuhuko pointed out were subsequently taken away: T. 6 November 2001 p. 56; T. 8 November 2001 p. 43 (Witness TA).

¹⁴⁷³⁶ T. 29 October 2001 pp. 46-51 (Witness TA).

¹⁴⁷³⁷ T. 11 March 2003 pp. 55, 60-62 (Witness FAP).

to enter a finding of a superior-subordinate relationship between Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali beyond a reasonable doubt.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali – Interahamwe

5884. As set out above, throughout the events at the BPO, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali issued orders to *Interahamwe* and the *Interahamwe* complied with these orders and perpetrated the acts asked of them, which included abductions, rapes and killings. In view of these findings, and considering the evidence in its entirety, the Chamber has no doubt that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali wielded effective control over the *Interahamwe* at the BPO. The only reasonable conclusion is that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali had a superior-subordinate relationship over these *Interahamwe*.

5885. The Chamber likewise finds that their orders demonstrate that they knew that the *Interahamwe* were about to commit a crime and had later done so, and that they failed to prevent the crimes. It is also clear from that evidence that they did not punish the *Interahamwe* for obeying their orders.

5886. Accordingly, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali bear superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (3) for the acts of the *Interahamwe* at the BPO, including their abductions, rapes and killings. As the Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are criminally responsible pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, their superior responsibility will only be considered in sentencing, and the Chamber will not enter a conviction based on their superior responsibility for these actions.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali – Soldiers

5887. Although the Chamber has found that soldiers played a role in the events at the BPO, no evidence has been led to establish any relationship between the soldiers and Nyiramasuhuko or Ntahobali. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali do not bear superior responsibility for the acts of soldiers at the BPO.

Nsabimana

5888. The Chamber recalls its earlier finding that Nsabimana did not have notice that he was being charged with Article 6 (3) responsibility for the crimes perpetrated by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe*, including at the BPO (;). Furthermore, as discussed elsewhere in the Legal Findings, Nsabimana did not have a superior-subordinate relationship with soldiers in Butare (). Therefore, the Chamber will restrict its analysis to Article 6 (1) responsibility.

5889. The Chamber further recalls that it will not take rapes into account in assessing genocide.

5890. The evidence does not support an argument that Nsabimana committed, planned, ordered, or instigated the crimes perpetrated at the BPO. The Chamber will therefore address only whether he aided and abetted these crimes. An accused may be responsible for aiding and abetting in two different manners: (1) by positive acts including, providing tacit approval and

encouragement; or (2) by omission, namely failing to discharge a legal duty to act. Aiding and abetting by tacit approval and encouragement appears to require the presence of the accused at or near the scene of the crime. Here, it was not contested that Nsabimana was absent from the BPO at night when the attacks were perpetrated by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and *Interahamwe*. Therefore, aiding and abetting by tacit approval or encouragement is inapplicable to Nsabimana's conduct.

5891. However, aiding and abetting by omission may serve as a basis for liability even where the accused is not present at or near the scene of the crime. Pursuant to this form of responsibility, the failure to discharge a legal duty must assist, encourage or lend moral support to the perpetration of a crime and have a substantial effect on the realisation of that crime. This implicitly requires that the accused had the ability to act, such that the means were available to the accused to fulfil his or her duty. The aider and abettor must know that his or her omission assists in the commission of the crime of the principal perpetrator and must be aware of the essential elements of the crime which was ultimately committed by the principal perpetrator. 14743

5892. The Prosecution argues that Nsabimana is responsible for the abductions, rapes and killings at the BPO when those taking refuge there should have been under his protection. The Prosecution referred to the Rwandan Organic Law which, it argued, gives the *préfet* a legal duty to ensure the peace, public order and security of persons and property, including those taking refuge at the BPO. 14745

Legal Duty to Act

5893. A prerequisite of criminal liability for aiding and abetting by omission is a legal duty to act. 14746 The Chamber notes that the Rwandan Penal Code imposes an obligation on every Rwandan citizen to provide assistance to persons in danger where it would not cause risk to oneself, and failure to do so is a criminal offence. 14747 This obligation was considered by the

¹⁴⁷³⁸ Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43; Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 370.

¹⁴⁷³⁹ See Brāanin, Judgement (AC), para. 273 (noting that "[i]n the cases where this category [of conduct amounting to tacit approval and encouragement of the crime] was applied, the accused held a position of authority, he was physically present on the scene of the crime, and his non-intervention was seen as tacit approval and encouragement"); see also Seromba, Judgement (TC), para. 307; Bagilishema, Judgement (TC), para. 36 ("liability for aiding and abetting as an 'approving spectator' presupposes actual presence at the scene of the crime, or at least presence in the immediate vicinity of the scene of the crime.").

¹⁴⁷⁴⁰ Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43.

¹⁴⁷⁴¹ Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43.

¹⁴⁷⁴² Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49.

¹⁴⁷⁴³ Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43.

¹⁴⁷⁴⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 248, 264-268, 279, 296, paras. 63, 109-123, 164, 229-230.

¹⁴⁷⁴⁵ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 20 April 2009 p. 61; Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*).

¹⁴⁷⁴⁶ Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 49; Orić, Judgement (AC), para. 43.

¹⁴⁷⁴⁷ Defence Exhibit 582 (Ntahobali) (Law of 18 August 1977, Rwandan Penal Code) p. 409, Art. 256, paras. 1-2 ("Article 256: Sera puni d'un emprisonnement de deux mois à cinq ans et d'une amende de dix mille francs au maximum, ou de l'une de ces peines seulement:

^{1.} quiconque pouvant empêcher par son action immédiate, sans risque pour lui ou pour les tiers, soit un fait qualifié crime, soit un délit contre l'intégrité corporelle de la personne, s'abstient volontairement de le faire;

Trial Chamber in *Rutaganira* at sentencing. 14748 Although the Rwandan Penal Code provides a justification for failure to act, namely where there is risk to oneself, the *Rutaganira* Trial Chamber held that "[v]iolence to physical well-being suffered by thousands of people during the said events affects the very fundamental interests of Humanity as a whole, and the protection of such interests cannot be counterbalanced by the mere personal risk that may have been faced by any person in a position of authority who failed to act in order to assist people whose lives were in danger." In *Rutaganira*, the Chamber considered that the accused in that case "was under a duty to provide assistance to people in danger." Likewise, in the present case, the Chamber finds that *Préfet* Nsabimana was under a duty to provide assistance to people in danger, pursuant to Article 256 of the Rwandan Penal Code.

5894. Further, under Rwandan domestic law, Nsabimana had an obligation to ensure the tranquillity, public order, and security of people and property within his *préfecture*. The Appeals Chamber in the *Ntagerura et al.* case held that the *Blaskić* Appeal Judgement did not address, and it had not been settled at that time, whether the legal obligation to act must stem from a rule of criminal law, or whether any legal obligation is sufficient. In the circumstances of that case, the Appeals Chamber found that it was not necessary for it to decide the issue. 14752

5895. The Chamber further notes that a legal duty to act may also be imposed by the laws and customs of war. ¹⁴⁷⁵³ In *Mrkšić & Šljivančanin*, the ICTY Appeals Chamber held that Article 13 of Geneva Convention III imposes a duty to protect prisoners of war. ¹⁴⁷⁵⁴ Likewise, the

^{2.} quiconque s'abstient volontairement de porter à une personne en péril l'assistance que, sans risque pour lui ni pour les tiers, il pouvait lui prêter, soit par son action personnelle, soit en provoquant un secours.") (emphasis added).

¹⁴⁷⁴⁸ In *Rutaganira*, the Trial Chamber, in sentencing the accused after a guilty plea, identified several sources of legal duties to act, including the Rwandan Penal Code: *Rutaganira*, Judgement (TC), paras. 80-82. This Judgement was not appealed.

¹⁴⁷⁴⁹ Rutaganira, Judgement (TC), para. 81 (citing Erdemović I, Judgement (TC), para. 19: "With regard to a crime against humanity, the Trial Chamber considers that the life of the accused and that of the victim are not fully equivalent. As opposed to ordinary law, the violation here is no longer directed at the physical welfare of the victim alone but at humanity as a whole.").

¹⁴⁷⁵⁰ Rutaganira, Judgement (TC), para. 82.

¹⁴⁷⁵¹ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*), Art. 8(2) ("En tant que principal responsable de l'administration et du développement de la préfecture, le préfet a, notamment, pour mission de: ... 4) assurer la tranquillité, l'ordre public et la sécurité des personnes et des biens."). The Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber in the *Ntagerura* et al. case stated that because this legal duty was not mandated by a rule of criminal law, it would not impose criminal liability; see *Ntagerura* et al., Judgement (TC), para. 660. The Chamber does not consider this statement to be binding authority, and notes in particular the Appeals Chamber's similar pronouncements, as detailed in the next footnote. In any event, the Chamber considers that it does not need to resolve this issue, given that Nsabimana enjoyed a legal duty from additional, and distinct, sources of law.

¹⁴⁷⁵² Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 334-335 (The Appeals Chamber found that even if the failure to fulfil such a duty to protect the population could entail criminal responsibility, the Prosecution had not shown what means were open to Bagambiki to fulfil his duties under the Rwandan domestic law). The Chamber notes the Appeals Chamber in *Mrkšić & Šljivančanin* did not address this issue, although it was contended by the Parties, since the Appeals Chamber considered that the duties imposed on *Šljivančanin* arose from the laws and customs of war; see Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), paras. 148-151.

customs of war; see Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), paras. 148-151.

14753 Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 151; see also Article 13 of Geneva Convention III ("[P]risoners of war must at all times be protected, particularly against acts of violence or intimidation and against insults and public curiosity.").

¹⁴⁷⁵⁴ Mrkšić & Šliivančanin, Judgement (AC), para. 151; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 663, fn. 1384.

Blaskić Appeals Judgement noted that Article 27 of Geneva Convention IV imposes a legal duty to protect civilians against acts of violence. ¹⁴⁷⁵⁵ More specifically, it held that Blaskić was under a duty imposed by the laws or customs of war to care for protected persons put in danger, and to intervene and alleviate that danger. ¹⁴⁷⁵⁶

5896. Article 13 of Geneva Convention III and Article 27 of Geneva Convention IV are limited in application to armed conflict of an international nature. However, Additional Protocol II to the Geneva Conventions contains similar obligations and is applicable to non-international armed conflicts. 14757

5897. The Chamber notes that Article 7 of Additional Protocol II to the Geneva Conventions provides: "All the wounded, sick and shipwrecked, whether or not they have taken part in the armed conflict, *shall be* respected and *protected*." In addition, Article 13 of Additional Protocol II states:

- 1. The civilian population and individual civilians *shall enjoy general protection* against the dangers arising from military operations. To give effect to this protection, the following rules shall be observed in all circumstances.
- 2. The civilian population as such, as well as individual civilians, *shall not be the object of attack*. Acts or threats of violence the primary purpose of which is to spread terror among the civilian population are prohibited. 14759

5898. It was clear that the Tutsis taking refuge at the BPO were civilians and that many of them were sick and injured.

5899. Although these provisions do not explicitly reference individual criminal liability, the Chamber considers they are applicable to the situation prevailing at the BPO from the end of April to mid-June 1994. The Chamber recalls the ICTY Appeals Chamber's holding that "customary international law imposes criminal liability for serious violations of common Article 3, as supplemented by other general principles and rules of protection on the protection of victims of internal armed conflict". The Chamber considers the criminalisation of individual conduct, includes, but is not limited to Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions. As the ICTY Appeals Chamber held in *Delalić et al.*: "Common Article 1 thus imposes upon State parties, upon ratification, an obligation to implement the provisions of the

¹⁴⁷⁵⁵ Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 663, fn. 1384; Article 27 of Geneva Convention IV ("Protected persons are entitled, in all circumstances, to respect for their persons, their honour, their family rights, their religious convictions and practices, and their manners and customs. They shall at all times be humanely treated, and shall be protected especially against all acts of violence or threats thereof and against insults and public curiosity.") (emphasis added).

¹⁴⁷⁵⁶ Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 668.

Below (), the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a non-international armed conflict existed on Rwandan territory during the relevant period covered by the Indictments.

¹⁴⁷⁵⁸ Article 7 (1) of Additional Protocol II (emphases added).

¹⁴⁷⁵⁹ Article 13 of Additional Protocol II (emphases added).

¹⁴⁷⁶⁰ Duško Tadić, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction (AC), 2 October 1995, para. 128; see also para. 134 (quoting Trial of the Major War Criminals (Proceedings of the International Military Tribunal, Sitting at Nuremberg, Germany 1947), Part 22, p. 447 ("Crimes against international law are committed by men, not by abstract entities, and only by punishing individuals who commit such crimes can the provisions of international law be enforced.")).

Geneva Conventions in their domestic legislation. This obligation clearly covers the Conventions in their entirety and this obligation thus includes common Article 3."14761 In the Chamber's view, the criminalisation of individual conduct encompasses the Geneva Conventions in their entirety, including Articles 7 and 13 of Additional Protocol II. Therefore, these provisions impose a legal duty on the Accused to protect civilians, including the wounded and sick, against acts or threats of violence.

Assistance to, and Substantial Effect on, the Perpetration of Crimes

5900. The Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, *Interahamwe* and soldiers were responsible for raping numerous Tutsi women and for killing hundreds of Tutsi refugees abducted from the BPO from mid-May until mid-June 1994. Nsabimana was the préfet of Butare during this time period. Although many people took refuge at the BPO precisely because they thought the *préfet* would protect them, Nsabimana refused to help. 14762 His attitude in this respect was evidenced by Witness TQ who approached Nsabimana at the BPO asking for help in burying the bodies of orphans that had been killed at the school complex. Nsabimana told Witness TQ that he was a madman. 14763 By refusing to take action in the midst of the continuing attacks at the BPO, Nsabimana assisted Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and the Interahamwe in the perpetration of their attacks. Further, his failure to act had a substantial effect on the realisation of these crimes. Witness SS described an incident in which soldiers prevented attacks at the BPO. 14764 Had Nsabimana posted gendarmes or soldiers sometime prior to 5-15 June 1994, he could have prevented the mass killing and rape, at least in part, at the BPO.

Ability to Act

5901. Pursuant to Rwandan Law, the préfet has the power to request the intervention of the Armed Forces to restore public order. 14765 In addition, the *préfet* may verbally request the intervention of the National Gendarmerie pursuant to the Rwandan Law on the creation of the Gendarmerie. 14766

¹⁴⁷⁶¹ Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 164 (emphasis added); see also Delalić et al., Judgement (AC), para. 171 ("The Appeals Chamber is unable to find any reason of principle why, once the application of rules of international humanitarian law came to be extended (albeit in an attenuated form) to the context of internal armed conflicts, their violation in that context could not be criminally enforced at the international level.").

¹⁴⁷⁶² T. 27 March 2002 p. 42 (Witness QCB) (They had sought refuge at the BPO, believing the *préfet* had a responsibility to protect them); T. 28 May 2002 p. 112 (Witness SJ) (There was no security where she was from so she went to where the authorities were located at the BPO, hoping she would be protected there). The Chamber notes that at least three witnesses testified to persons going to Nsabimana's office to seek assistance; see T. 14 October 2002 p. 83 (Witness SU) (Three women go to Nsabimana's office to tell him about the security situation); T. 10 March 2003 p. 15 (ICS) (Witness SS) (same); T. 27 February 2003 pp. 5-7 (Witness RE) (A man and a woman went to see Nsabimana).

¹⁴⁷⁶³ T. 8 September 2004 p. 42 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁴⁷⁶⁴ T. 10 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness SS) (A group of soldiers chased away a vehicle that came to the Butare *préfecture* office to abduct people).

14765 Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*), Art.

^{11. 14766} Defence Exhibit 583 (Nsabimana) (Law of 23 January 1974, Création de la Gendarmerie), Section 2, Art. 32.

5902. Nsabimana in fact requisitioned forces around 5-15 June 1994. At that time, 5-6 soldiers were seconded to the BPO under the command of a female lieutenant. The evidence establishes that these soldiers forestalled attacks against those taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office. This shows that Nsabimana, pursuant to his powers as *préfet*, had the ability to requisition forces that could forestall the attacks.

5903. Despite this, Nsabimana failed to take any steps to prevent the ongoing attacks at the BPO for a significant period between the end of April and mid-June 1994. Even if the soldiers' presence may not have been able to stop the attacks altogether, the evidence establishes that their presence would have alleviated the situation of recurring abductions, rapes and killings. These means were available to Nsabimana to fulfil his duty and to forestall these harms, but he did nothing.

Knowledge and Awareness

5904. Nsabimana knew that those taking refuge at the BPO were Tutsis and on multiple occasions, they asked him directly for protection from the ongoing attacks. He knew that they were being abducted, raped and killed. Nsabimana admitted that he was aware of a plan to kill Tutsis, that Tutsis were being killed, and that the militia had been trained for this purpose. Therefore, he was aware of the perpetrators' genocidal intent.

5905. Furthermore, the Chamber concludes that Nsabimana also knew that his failure to act assisted in the commission of the crimes. Nsabimana knew the attacks were occurring at night when he was not at the BPO and when there were likely to be fewer witnesses. Moreover, he testified that after he learned of the massacres, he would go home at night fearing that the refugees would not be at the BPO when he returned in the morning. Yet, the perpetrators of these attacks were given free reign to repeatedly attack the BPO for a significant period between the end of April and mid-June 1994.

5906. In sum, Nsabimana failed to take action to stop the massacres at the BPO during his tenure as *préfet*. Although Nsabimana posted *gendarmes* or soldiers at the BPO around 5-15 June 1994, he was responsible for aiding and abetting genocide for failing to discharge his

¹⁴⁷⁶⁷ T. 21 October 2002 p. 38 (Witness SU); T. 10 March 2003 pp. 34-35 (Witness SS).

¹⁴⁷⁶⁸ See Prosecution Exhibit 113A (*The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, by Nsabimana) pp. K0016623, K0016626 ("In everybody's opinion the final whistle was blown by the architects of the plan [A]mong those victimized for being Tutsi and well respected persons were the businessmen Semanzi, Rangira, Kayiranga, and Deogratias."); Prosecution Exhibit 114A (Interview with Nsabimana) pp. K0120067, K0120073 ("But my feeling at the time was that the militia was trained to kill people from the opposition first. Then when people from the opposition were eliminated, it was already out of human understanding but it was also very easy to determine who had done the killing. I think it was a strategy to kill Tutsis. ...The people planning this were intelligent. But this plan was a bad plan. The planners were specialists. To say people went crazy is false, people were not crazy. I had always thought this kind of killing was a possibility although maybe not on this scale.").

¹⁴⁷⁶⁹ T. 9 October 2006 pp. 80-81 (Nsabimana) ("And from the moment you get such information [that massacres were taking place], you cannot be at peace with yourself, because you can go home in the evening, and in the morning you come and you cannot find them. Those were the thoughts that were in my mind at the time....").

duty to protect civilians until that time. Noting that Nsabimana was charged with this culpable omission. 14770 the Chamber finds him guilty of aiding and abetting genocide. 14771

Nteziryayo

5907. The Chamber notes that Ntezirvayo is charged with Article 6 (1) responsibility for the events at the BPO. 14772 There was no evidence to support a finding implicating Nteziryayo personally in these events. Therefore, the Prosecution has failed to meet its burden of proof.

5908. The Prosecution also charges Nteziryayo with Article 6 (3) responsibility for these events. 14773 Although Paragraph 6.41 of the Indictment mentions Interahamwe and soldiers as perpetrators of this event and Paragraph 4.6 asserts Nteziryayo exercised authority over Interahamwe militiamen, there is insufficient evidence to establish that Ntezirvayo had effective control over the perpetrators at the BPO. The Chamber therefore concludes that Ntezirvayo does not bear 6 (3) responsibility for the events at BPO, as alleged by the Prosecution.

4.2.2.3.14 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994

5909. The Chamber found that *Préfet* Nsabimana ordered the transfer of the refugees from the BPO to the EER pursuant to a Security Council decision and that soldiers thereafter escorted the refugees to the EER (). Refugees at the BPO were transferred to the EER between 15 and 20 May 1994 (). There were at least 200 refugees at the EER during late-May 1994. Those who took refuge at the EER were predominantly Tutsis ().

5910. During the refugees' stay at the EER between mid-May and the beginning of June 1994, Ntahobali led *Interahamwe* in carrying out attacks against the Tutsi refugees at the EER. Ntahobali and *Interahamwe* abducted refugees from the EER and killed them in the woods near the EER school complex. Soldiers were also present at the EER and participated in the attacks and killings at or near the EER; they also raped women and young girls there ().

Notice of Rape as Genocide

5911. The Chamber notes that the paragraph of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment that concerns the EER, Paragraph 6.30, is the same as that concerning the Butare préfecture office. 14774 For the same reasons as explained above (), the Chamber will not enter a conviction for genocide on the basis of any rapes that occurred at the EER. Instead, these rapes will be considered in the sections addressing rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon

¹⁴⁷⁷⁰ See Paras. 6.36-6.38, 6.41 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment (pled in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 against Nsabimana, which include that he was being charged for "the acts or omissions described in paragraphs 5.1 to 6.59"). See generally Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC), paras. 140-141 (Indictment paragraphs that reference "by these acts and omissions" sufficed to plead the nature of the charges against the Accused with regard to aiding and abetting by omission).

14771 The fact that Nsabimana later discharged his legal duty to act around 5-15 June 1994 may serve as a fact in

mitigation of his sentence.

¹⁴⁷⁷² Para. 6.41 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁷⁷³ Para. 6.41 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment.

¹⁴⁷⁷⁴ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.

Ntahobali

- 5912. There was no direct evidence that Ntahobali was personally responsible for killing any of the abducted refugees. The Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that his presence alongside *Interahamwe* and soldiers at the EER amounted to tacit approval and encouragement of the acts of *Interahamwe* and soldiers at the EER.
- 5913. The Chamber also recalls Ntahobali's prior conduct in working alongside *Interahamwe* and soldiers in abducting hundreds of refugees from the BPO who were physically assaulted and raped and thereafter killed in various locations throughout Ngoma *commune*, and that he personally committed genocide at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock (; ;). As such, Ntahobali's presence at the EER alongside *Interahamwe* and soldiers, when considered together with his prior conduct, leads the Chamber to conclude that Ntahobali's conduct at the EER amounted to his sanctioning of the acts of the *Interahamwe* and soldiers, and thereby substantially contributed to the commission of these crimes. The Chamber recalls that it will not consider rapes when assessing genocide, but will instead take them into account when assessing charges that were properly pled.
- 5914. Recalling that those who took refuge at the EER were predominantly Tutsis, the Chamber thus finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali committed the *actus* reus of aiding and abetting genocide, through the acts of killing members of the group.
- 5915. Viewing these attacks in the context of the widespread killing of Tutsis occurring throughout Rwanda, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the soldiers and *Interahamwe* who participated in various killings at or near the EER did so with the intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group. Having regard to the events that surrounded the abductions, and the situation in Rwanda generally, the Chamber is also satisfied that Ntahobali must have known of the soldiers' and *Interahamwe's* intent and knew that he was substantially assisting them in the commission of their crimes.
- 5916. As such, the Chamber finds Ntahobali guilty of genocide for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsi refugees abducted from the EER under Article 6 (1) of the Statute.
- 5917. The Chamber has already found that Ntahobali had *de facto* authority over *Interahamwe*, for which reason the Chamber also finds Ntahobali responsible under Article 6 (3) for these same underlying acts of genocide committed at or near the EER. Since the Chamber has found Ntahobali guilty under Article 6 (1) of the Statute, it will only consider

¹⁴⁷⁷⁵ See Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC), para. 80.

¹⁴⁷⁷⁶ See generally Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 56; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 500-501.

¹⁴⁷⁷⁷ The Chamber considers that Ntahobali had sufficient notice of his alleged Article 6 (3) responsibility over *Interahamwe* with regard to the events at EE; *see* Paras. 6.30, 6.55 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment.

Ntahobali's superior position as an aggravating circumstance for the purpose of sentencing. 14778

Nsahimana

5918. The Chamber recalls it declined to make a finding against Nsabimana on the basis of Paragraph 6.39 as it was not charged in support of counts. As noted above (;), however, the Chamber will consider whether Nsabimana bears superior responsibility for the allegations contained in Paragraph 6.38.

5919. Paragraph 6.38 identifies only Kanyabashi and soldiers as alleged subordinates of Nsabimana. The Chamber recalls that it has already found that the Indictment sufficiently informed Nsabimana that he was charged with superior authority over soldiers (;). The Chamber also recalls that it has already determined that the Indictment was defective with regard to pleading a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and *Interahamwe* (). Further, the Prosecution did not cure the defect in the Indictment for failing to plead a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and the Interahamwe. As such, the Chamber will only consider Nsabimana's responsibility under Article 6 (3) for the criminal acts of soldiers at or near the EER between mid-May and June 1994.

5920. The Chamber found that *Préfet* Nsabimana ordered the transfer of the refugees from the BPO to the EER pursuant to a Security Council decision and that soldiers thereafter escorted the refugees to the EER.

5921. A review of Rwandan Organic Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*, shows that Article 8 (2) makes the *préfet* responsible for "[e]nsuring peace, public order and the security of persons and property". To this end, Article 9 provides that "[i]n the accomplishment of his mission, the Préfet shall be able to draw on the State services within the prefecture." Article 11 empowers the préfet "to request the intervention of the Armed Forces to restore public order" in accordance with the Legislative Decree on the Creation of the *Gendarmerie*. ¹⁴⁷⁷⁹ Thus, as *préfet* at the time of this transfer, Nsabimana exercised policing duties and could request the intervention of the army. 14780 Notwithstanding this power, the Chamber is not satisfied that this law equally gave Nsabimana de jure authority to give orders to soldiers or to discipline soldiers. The Chamber is equally not satisfied that there is sufficient reliable evidence to indicate that Nsabimana had de facto authority over the soldiers in the sense that he either issued orders to or commanded soldiers who obeyed him. While there is evidence that Nsabimana requisitioned soldiers to provide security at various sites, such as the BPO, there is insufficient evidence that he maintained any control over how these soldiers carried out their tasks.

5922. Notwithstanding his ability to request the use of and instruct soldiers, the Chamber is of the view that Nsabimana, even in his position as *préfet*, did not exercise effective control over

¹⁴⁷⁷⁸ See Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 487-488; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), paras. 81-82, 318-319; Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 2161, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2223, 2248.

¹⁴⁷⁷⁹ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*),

¹⁴⁷⁸⁰ Defence Exhibit 468 (Nsabimana) (Law of 11 March 1975, Structure and Functioning of the *Préfecture*), Arts. 8-9, 11.

soldiers, in the sense of having the material ability to prevent or punish their criminal conduct 14781

5923. As the Prosecution did not establish the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and the soldiers in Butare, it is unnecessary under Article 6 (3) of the Statute to consider whether he knew or had reason to know about the criminal acts of these principal perpetrators or whether he failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the perpetrators.

5924. As such, the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana was responsible as a superior under Article 6 (3) for killings carried out by soldiers at or near the EER. Accordingly, the Chamber acquits Nsabimana of genocide on the basis of this allegation.

Nyiramasuhuko

5925. No evidence was led to support Nyiramasuhuko's alleged involvement in events at the EER (). The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko bears responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (1) or 6 (3) of the Statute.

Kanyabashi

5926. The Chamber recalls that no evidence was led with respect to Kanyabashi's involvement in events at the EER (). In the circumstances, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi's alleged involvement in these events, pursuant to Article 6 (1), has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt

5927. The Chamber also recalls that resulting from the orders he issued to soldiers at Matyazo Clinic, Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility for their actions. The Chamber finds that concerning the events at EER, the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish Kanyabashi's superior responsibility over soldiers and *Interahamwe*.

4.2.2.3.15 Announcements by Megaphone, May and June 1994

5928. Around late May 1994 Kanyabashi drove through Butare town with a megaphone and instructed the population to search for the enemy among them. In June 1994 Kanyabashi again used a megaphone to announce to the population to clear bushes along the road in order to remove potential hiding places for the *Inkotanyi*, to flush out people who were hiding in the bushes, and to kill those found there, including children, old men and women. The term "enemy" when used by Kanyabashi, referred to Tutsis in general.

5929. The Chamber has found that following Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements in mid-May and June 1994, searches were conducted for Tutsis and, consequently, more Tutsis were killed ().

5930. Notwithstanding evidence led through Witnesses QJ, TK and QI of general searches and killings subsequent to Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements, there is limited evidence

¹⁴⁷⁸¹ Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC), para. 341; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 86; Bagilishema, Judgement (AC), para. 50; Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC), para. 475.

of any specific acts committed by members of the population subsequent to Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements. Because there is insufficient evidence to establish that Kanyabashi's announcements substantially contributed to the subsequent killings, ¹⁴⁷⁸² the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi is not guilty of instigating, ordering or aiding and abetting genocide in relation to his announcements.

5931. As such, the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi is responsible for genocide as a result of killings committed after his megaphone announcements. The Prosecution also failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi was responsible as a superior for the killing of any Tutsis after Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements in mid-May and June 1994. Accordingly, the Chamber acquits Kanyabashi of genocide on the basis of this allegation.

4.2.2.3.16 Transfer of Refugees to Nyange, Early June 1994

5932. In the first few days or week of June 1994, Nsabimana ordered the transfer of Tutsi refugees from the BPO to Nyange, Nyaruhengeri *commune*. Kanyabashi provided Nsabimana with two *commune* policemen to help with the transfer. The *commune* policemen forced the refugees to board the buses, beat them during boarding, and thereafter accompanied them on the bus to Nyange. The transfer was carried out over two consecutive days: Tutsi refugees at the BPO boarded at least two ONATRACOM buses on day one that went to Nyange, and a third bus departed on day two, but did not reach Nyange and returned to the BPO with its passengers on board. The Tutsi refugees who left the BPO on day two aboard the third bus were refused passage by *Interahamwe* at a roadblock between Kibilizi and Nyange *secteurs*, who claimed they did not want to bury any more dead bodies, such that the third bus returned to the BPO. The Tutsi refugees who left the BPO by bus on day one were attacked by *Interahamwe* at Nyange and all but a handful of those refugees were killed ().

5933. Having regard to the organised nature of the attack and the *Interahamwe's* words, namely that they were tired of killing, the Chamber finds that the assailants intentionally killed members of the Tutsi ethnic group at Nyange. Further, in view of the large number of Tutsi victims at Nyange, the ongoing attacks against Tutsis at the BPO, in addition to the extensive evidence of the targeting of members of this group in Butare *préfecture* since the swearing-in ceremony of *Préfet* Nsabimana on 19 April 1994, the Chamber is satisfied that the assailants possessed the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group.

Nsabimana

5934. The Chamber found Nsabimana ordered the transfer of the refugees from the BPO to Nyange (). Notwithstanding the foregoing findings, the Chamber lacks sufficient reliable evidence to determine that Nsabimana gave orders to, or otherwise directed *Interahamwe* at Nyange or anyone else, that the refugees on board the buses should be killed.

1

¹⁴⁷⁸² See Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 76-77; Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 116 (stating, before overturning a conviction for instigating and aiding and abetting murder as a crime against humanity, that "it is [also] not established whether the persons who were instigated by the Appellant on 20 May 1994 were those who killed [the victim] on 26 May 1994").

5935. As such, the Chamber does not find Nsabimana responsible pursuant to Article 6 (1) for ordering, instigating, aiding and abetting, or otherwise participating in the killing of Tutsi refugees at Nyange. As the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and *Interahamwe*, the Chamber acquits Nsabimana of responsibility under Article 6 (3) on the basis of the current allegation for the acts committed by *Interahamwe* at Nyange. Accordingly, the Chamber finds Nsabimana not guilty of genocide on the basis of this allegation.

Kanyabashi

5936. As noted, Kanyabashi provided Nsabimana with two *commune* policemen to help with the transfer but was not present during the boarding of the buses. The *commune* policemen beat the refugees, forced them to board the buses, and escorted the refugees to Nyange where they were killed (). However, the Prosecution has failed to adduce sufficient evidence for the Chamber to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi knew the purpose of the transfer, or that he was aware the refugees on board the buses would be killed at Nyange.

5937. As such, the Chamber does not find Kanyabashi responsible pursuant to Article 6 (1) for aiding and abetting, or otherwise participating in the killing of Tutsi refugees at Nyange. The Chamber will not make any finding as to Kanyabashi's superior responsibility for the crimes of policemen, or other assailants, at Nyange pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute since such charge was neither adequately pled in the Kanyabashi Indictment, nor subsequently cured (). Accordingly, the Chamber acquits Kanyabashi of genocide on the basis of this allegation.

4.2.2.3.17 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994

5938. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko came to Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, in the beginning of June 1994 and distributed condoms for the *Interahamwe*, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that *secteur*. The Chamber further found that Nyiramasuhuko ordered the woman to whom she distributed the condoms to: "Go and distribute these condoms to your young men, so that they use them to rape Tutsi women and to protect themselves from AIDS, and after having raped them they should kill all of them. Let no Tutsi woman survive because they take away our husbands" ().

5939. The Chamber lacks sufficient reliable evidence to show a link between Nyiramasuhuko's actions in distributing the condoms on this occasion, in addition to her utterances evincing her clear intent to target Tutsi women, and actual rapes committed against said Tutsi women. Therefore, the requirement of the commission of the actual crime, namely the rapes as a result of this distribution, has not been met in this instance. The Chamber is not satisfied that the evidence reasonably supports the Prosecution charge of genocide.

5940. The Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko guilty of the crime of instigating, ordering or aiding and abetting genocide for distributing condoms in Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, in the beginning of June 1994, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that *secteur*. However, the Chamber finds that this circumstantial evidence shows Nyiramasuhuko's intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group.

4.2.2.3.18 Rango Forest, June 1994

5941. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that in June 1994, approximately 250-300 mainly Tutsi refugees were forcibly transferred to Rango Forest by Kanyabashi with the assistance of the *Interahamwe*. Upon arrival, the refugees were confined in an enclosure, were subject to mistreatment and deplorable conditions, and as a result some of them died or otherwise suffered severe consequences ().

5942. In light of the context and background to this allegation, a reasonable inference may be drawn that the refugees were targeted for transfer on the basis of their Tutsi ethnicity. However, the Prosecution did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the transfer to Rango Forest was carried out with the purpose to kill these refugees or otherwise to bring about their destruction. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that these events constitute the crime of genocide.

4.2.2.3.19 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994

5943. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali was present at the *Groupe Scolaire* on 5 June 1994, accompanied by *Interahamwe* and civilian militiamen, and together they perpetrated violent acts as an attempt to hinder the evacuation of orphans. Nteziryayo knew of the evacuation prior to 5 June 1994, and he joined Ntahobali in attempting to prevent the evacuation to Burundi of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors. Nteziryayo and Ntahobali selected about 30 adults, whom they believed to be Tutsis, and forced them to remain in Rwanda ().

5944. As there is insufficient evidence as to what happened to the 30 persons who were forced to remain in Rwanda, the Chamber does not find that these events constitute the crime of genocide.

4.2.2.3.20 Border Meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi Communes, Mid- to Late June 1994

5945. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that during meetings held in Muyaga *commune* around mid-June 1994, and Kibayi *commune* around mid- to late June 1994, Nteziryayo, in his capacity as *préfet*, urged people to kill Tutsis. Nteziryayo urged the audience to hunt down, flush out and kill Tutsis without any distinction. At the Kibayi *commune* meeting, Nteziryayo urged the population to kill the remaining Tutsi survivors in the *commune*. As a result of his words, members of the population carried out searches and killed surviving Tutsis (;).

5946. Notwithstanding the evidence of killings which occurred after the speeches, there is limited evidence of any specific acts committed by members of the population subsequent to Nteziryayo's speeches. As there is insufficient evidence to establish that Nteziryayo's words at these meetings substantially contributed to any subsequent crime, 14783 the Chamber finds that

¹⁴⁷⁸³ See Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 76-77; Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 116 (stating, before overturning a conviction for instigating and aiding and abetting murder as a crime against humanity, that "it is [also] not established whether the persons who were instigated by the Appellant on 20 May 1994 were those who killed [the victim] on 26 May 1994").

Nteziryayo is not criminally responsible for genocide, under either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3) of the Statute, with respect to this allegation.

- 5947. Similarly, the Chamber finds that Nsabimana does not bear criminal responsibility, under either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3), for genocide in relation to this event.
- 4.2.2.3.21 Ndayambaje's Swearing-In Ceremony and the Ensuing Abduction of Tutsi Girls, 22 June 1994
- 5948. On 22 June 1994, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje told the population to continue with their "work" and urged them to "sweep the dirt outside" in reference to the killing of Tutsis. To this end, the Chamber accepted that after the swearing-in ceremony searches for Tutsis took place and killings of Tutsis followed ().
- 5949. The Chamber found it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that a group of Tutsi women and girls from Mugombwa *secteur*, Muganza *commune*, were abducted by assailants from Saga after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony of 22 June 1994 including one Nambaje who was abducted from a home. During the abduction, Ndayambaje came to the Statue of the Virgin Mary and made it clear that the abductors were free to do what they wanted with the girls, and the abducted women and girls were subsequently taken to a brick factory at Gasenyi where they were killed ().

Nteziryayo

- 5950. The abduction and killing of these Tutsi girls was not part of the Prosecution's case against Nteziryayo who did not defend against this allegation. Further, other testimony, to the effect that killings occurred after Ndayambaje's swearing-in, was general and devoid of any detail.
- 5951. As such, the Chamber finds there is insufficient evidence of any specific acts committed by members of the population subsequent to Nteziryayo's utterances at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony, for the Chamber to conclude that Nteziryayo's utterances substantially contributed to the subsequent killing of Tutsis. 14784
- 5952. The Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo was responsible, personally or as a superior, for any acts that occurred after Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. Accordingly, the Chamber acquits Nteziryayo of genocide on the basis of this allegation.

Ndayambaje

5953. Noting that proof is required of a causal connection between the instigation and the *actus reus* of the crime, ¹⁴⁷⁸⁵ the Chamber recalls its finding that the assailants came to search

¹⁴⁷⁸⁴ See Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 76-77; Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 116; Ndindabahizi, Judgement (TC), para. 466.

¹⁴⁷⁸⁵ See, e.g., Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 317 ("It is not necessary to prove that the crime would not have been perpetrated without the involvement of the accused; it is sufficient to demonstrate that the instigation was a

for the girls because they had attended Ndayambaje's swearing-in where they were told to search for and throw out dirt. As such, the Chamber is satisfied there is a causal connection between Ndayambaje's words at the swearing-in ceremony, and the abduction and killing of these Tutsi girls, including one Nambaje, in the days following the ceremony.

- 5954. In view of the widespread killing of Tutsis throughout Rwanda as well as the fact that the assailants who abducted Nambaje came to a house claiming to look for Tutsis, the Chamber concludes that the assailants participated in the attacks with the intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group.
- 5955. Because the Chamber also finds that Ndayambaje's words prompted the assailants to perpetrate these crimes, the Chamber finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje committed the *actus reus* of instigating genocide.
- 5956. The Chamber has found that by encouraging attendees at the swearing-in ceremony to "sweep the dirt outside" and "to work", Ndayambaje had the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi ethnic group. It is also clear that Ndayambaje intended to prompt others to act. Accordingly, the Chamber also finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje had the requisite *mens rea* to instigate genocide.
- 5957. The Chamber also finds that Ndayambaje's presence at the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction encouraged the completion of the crime. Ndayambaje's words during the abduction made it clear that the assailants were free to do what they wanted with the girls, and thus facilitated the killing of the abducted Tutsi girls. Insofar as Ndayambaje was the newly appointed *bourgmestre* at the time of uttering these words, the Chamber considers that his words substantially contributed to the crime. As such, the Chamber finds it proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje committed the *actus reus* of instigating the killing of the abducted Tutsi girls and one Nambaje, which constituted genocide.
- 5958. Having regard to the events that preceded the abductions, and the situation in Rwanda generally, considering the assailants asked Ndayambaje what they should do with the abducted Tutsi women, Ndayambaje must have known of the assailants' intent. Further, the Chamber is convinced that Ndayambaje could not have been unaware that his words to the assailants would likely lead them to kill the abducted Tutsi girls and Nambaje. In view of the foregoing, the Chamber is satisfied that the Prosecution has proved beyond a reasonable doubt Ndayambaje knew he was assisting in the deaths of the abducted Tutsi girls and Nambaje.
- 5959. As such, the Chamber finds Ndayambaje guilty of genocide for instigating the killings of Tutsis, including the girl Nambaje, in Butare under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. However, the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje was responsible for the acts of the assailants as a superior under Article 6 (3) for these same killings.

factor substantially contributing to the conduct of another person committing the crime."); *Ndindabahizi*, Judgement (AC), para. 116.

4.2.2.3.22 Training, Arming and Civil Defence

- 5960. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that civil defence was organised before April 1994 ().
- 5961. It was also established beyond a reasonable doubt that in May and June 1994, recruitment of men for civil defence training was undergoing in some *communes* in Butare *préfecture*. During the same period, when the RPF were advancing on Butare, firearms were distributed to the recruits.
- 5962. Nteziryayo was an official in charge of civil defence (). It was proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo facilitated the training of civilians at Kamena Stadium in May 1994 (). Nteziryayo also distributed weapons to the recruits ().
- 5963. Kanyabashi, in his capacity as *bourgmestre*, was responsible for recruiting men for civil defence training in Ngoma *commune*, in May and June 1994 (). Kanyabashi also distributed weapons to the *conseillers* in Ngoma *commune* in May 1994 ().
- 5964. The Chamber has further found that the civil defence forces understood that Tutsis were to be targeted as accomplices of the enemy, namely the RPF (). The Chamber notes, however, that it has not found that Nteziryayo or Kanyabashi was responsible for inculcating this understanding among the civil defence forces.
- 5965. Nonetheless, in the Chamber's view, these facts give rise to an inference that the civil defence forces targeted Tutsis, and that Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi are responsible for any such attacks. The question for the Chamber, however, is whether this is the only reasonable inference under the circumstances
- 5966. The Chamber considers it significant that the training of recruits and the distribution of weapons overlapped with the advance of the RPF into Butare. This raises the possibility that Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi trained and armed the civil defence forces in order to forestall the RPF advance. The Chamber finds this possibility to be a reasonable one under the circumstances.
- 5967. Therefore, the Chamber cannot conclude that the only reasonable inference is that Nteziryayo and Kanyabashi are responsible for any attacks by the civil defence forces that targeted Tutsis. In any event, the Chamber recalls that it has not made any findings that civil defence forces targeted or killed Tutsis.
- 5968. Cognisant that the burden of proof falls upon the Prosecution to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi and Nteziryayo are not responsible for genocide in relation to these allegations.

4.2.2.4 Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

5969. Nyiramasuhuko ordered the killings of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office, which constituted genocide.

5970. The Chamber therefore finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty of genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute. Nyiramasuhuko's responsibility as a superior in relation to these events will be taken in account in sentencing.

Ntahobali

5971. Ntahobali killed Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock and ordered the killing of a Tutsi named Léopold Ruvurajabo. Ntahobali also ordered the killing of about 200 Tutsis at the IRST and of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office. In addition, Ntahobali aided and abetted both the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and the killing of Tutsis abducted from the EER. All of these acts constituted genocide. The Chamber therefore finds Ntahobali guilty of genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute. His responsibility as a superior at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, in relation to the Butare *préfecture* office and at the EER will be considered in sentencing.

Nsahimana

5972. As *préfet* of Butare, Nsabimana had a legal duty to act, and he failed to discharge his duty. His failure both provided assistance to the perpetration of the crime of genocide, and had a substantial effect on the realisation of this crime. Nsabimana had the ability to act, but he did nothing, despite his awareness of the perpetrator's genocidal intent and his knowledge of the ongoing genocide at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Chamber therefore finds Nsabimana guilty of aiding and abetting genocide.

Nteziryayo

5973. Because the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo is responsible for genocide pursuant to either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3) of the Statute, the Chamber acquits him of this charge.

Kanyabashi

- 5974. Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility for soldiers' genocide of Tutsis at Matyazo clinic in late April 1994 (J. Ramaroson dissenting), and for the genocide committed by Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa Hill on 22 April 1994.
- 5975. The Chamber therefore finds Kanyabashi guilty of genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

Ndayambaje

- 5976. Ndayambaje aided and abetted the killing of Tutsis at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994 and at Kabuye Hill from 22 through 24 April 1994. Ndayambaje also instigated the killing of Tutsis after his swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. All of these acts constituted genocide.
- 5977. The Chamber therefore finds Ndayambaje guilty of genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

4.2.3 Complicity in Genocide

4.2.3.1 Introduction

5978. The Accused are charged with complicity in genocide under Article 2 (3)(e) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 3 of each Indictment.

5979. According to their Indictments, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Kanyabashi are charged with complicity in genocide as an alternative to genocide. Nsabimana, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje are also charged with this crime in the alternative, as clarified by the Prosecution Closing Brief. 14787

4.2.3.2 Law

5980. The jurisprudence of this Tribunal has treated complicity in genocide as the aiding and abetting, instigating, or procuring of genocide. Complicity in genocide by aiding and abetting requires knowledge of the specific genocidal intent of the principal perpetrators, while the other forms of complicity may require proof that the accomplice shared that specific intent. The accomplice's criminal participation may occur before or after the act of the principal perpetrator, and the accomplice need not be present during the commission of the crime. 14788

4.2.3.3 Deliberations and Conclusion

5981. The Chamber has found Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje guilty of genocide in relation to various allegations. Because the Prosecution pleads complicity in genocide as an alternative to genocide, the Chamber dismisses this count in respect to these allegations.

5982. In respect of the other allegations of genocide which the Prosecution has failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt, for the same reasons, the Chamber acquits the Accused of complicity in genocide.

5983. The Chamber therefore dismisses this charge in relation to Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje, all of whom are guilty of genocide. The Chamber acquits Nteziryayo of complicity in genocide.

¹⁴⁷⁸⁶ Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, pp. 38-39 ("Count 2 ... Or, Alternatively: Count 3"); Kanyabashi Indictment, pp. 41-42 (same); *see also* Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 3.

¹⁴⁷⁸⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 271, 273, paras. 132, 139; pp. 351-352, paras. 148, 152; pp. 478-479, paras. 103, 105; *see also* Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 49 (that recognises generally that an accused cannot be held responsible for genocide and complicity in genocide for the same act).

¹⁴⁷⁸⁸ See Bagaragaza, Judgement (TC), paras. 22-23 (citing Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 500; Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 766; Krnojelac, Judgement (AC), para. 52; Semanza, Judgement (TC), paras. 386, 393; Bagilishema, Judgement (TC), para. 69; Musema, Judgement (TC), paras. 125, 177-183; Duško Tadić, Judgement (AC), para. 229); see also Blagojević & Jokić, Judgement (AC), paras. 119-124; Krstić, Judgement (AC), paras. 137-144.

4.2.4 Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

4.2.4.1 Introduction

5984. Nyiramasuhuko, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje are charged with direct and public incitement to commit genocide under Article 2 (3)(c) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 4 of each of their Indictments.

4.2.4.2 Law

5985. A person may be found guilty of direct and public incitement to commit genocide if he or she directly and publicly incited the commission of genocide, and had the intent to directly and publicly incite others to commit genocide. Such intent in itself presupposes a genocidal intent. 14789

5986. "Direct" incitement to commit genocide requires that the speech is a direct appeal to commit an act referred to in Article 2 (2) of the Statute. It must be more than a vague or indirect suggestion, and an accused cannot be held accountable for this crime based on hate speech that does not directly call for the commission of genocide. However, even when a speech contains no explicit appeal to commit genocide, it may still constitute direct incitement to commit genocide in a particular context, so long as the speech is not considered ambiguous within that context. In order to determine the speech's true meaning, it may be helpful to examine how it was understood by the intended audience. In the context of Rwanda, the culture and nuances of the Kinyarwanda language should be considered when determining what constitutes direct incitement to commit genocide. 14790

5987. In discussing the "public" element of this crime, the Appeals Chamber has noted that "all convictions before the Tribunal for direct and public incitement to commit genocide involve speeches made to large, fully public assemblies, messages disseminated by the media. and communications made through a public address system over a broad public area". 14791 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber has taken into account the travaux préparatoires of the Genocide Convention, which confirm that "public" incitement to genocide pertains to mass communications. Conversely, the travaux préparatoires indicate that "private" incitement understood as more subtle forms of communication such as conversations, private meetings, or messages—was specifically removed from the Convention. 14792

4.2.4.3 Deliberations

4.2.4.3.1 Cabinet Meetings, 9 April – 14 July 1994

5988. Between 9 April and 14 July 1994, the Interim Government, of which Nyiramasuhuko was a member, held numerous Cabinet meetings at which it adopted directives and issued

¹⁴⁷⁸⁹ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 155; Bikindi, Judgement (AC), para. 135; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 677.

14790 *Nahimana et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 692-693, 700-701, 703.

¹⁴⁷⁹¹ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 155-156. In making this statement, the Appeals Chamber noted that the Kalimanzira Trial Judgement was an exception, and went on to reverse this conviction: Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 156, 165, 243.

¹⁴⁷⁹² Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 158.

instructions. The intention was to encourage the population to hunt down and take action against the Tutsis ().

5989. The Chamber, however, has not been able to determine what role, if any, Nyiramasuhuko played at these Cabinet meetings. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not established, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Nyiramasuhuko bears criminal responsibility for any direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to these meetings.

4.2.4.3.2 Removal of *Préfet* Habyalimana and Swearing-in Ceremony of *Préfet* Nsabimana, 17-19 April 1994

5990. The Chamber has found that the speeches made by Prime Minister Kambanda and President Sindikubwabo at Nsabimana's swearing-in ceremony were inflammatory and called on the population to identify and kill Tutsis. In particular, Kambanda and Sindikubwabo used coded language that was understood by the attendees to refer to the killing of Tutsis (; ;).

Nyiramasuhuko

5991. The Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko does not bear criminal responsibility for genocide in relation to these events (). Similarly, insofar as there was no evidence that her tacit approval/presence at the ceremony substantially contributed to the incitement pronounced by Kambanda and Sindikubwabo, the Chamber does not find it established beyond a reasonable doubt that she bears responsibility for direct and public incitement to commit genocide arising out of this ceremony.

Kanyabashi

5992. After Kambanda's and Sindikubwabo's speeches advocating and inciting genocide, Kanyabashi addressed the audience. He supported their speeches and his address contained a commitment to execute the directives and instructions announced by Kambanda and Sindikubwabo (;).

5993. The Chamber recalls that "when [an accused] is indicted [for direct and public incitement to commit genocide], he cannot be held accountable for hate speech that does not directly call for the commission of genocide". Although Kanyabashi stated his support and commitment for the preceding speeches, the Chamber cannot conclude that conduct rose to the level of directly inciting genocide. Nor has the Prosecution adduced sufficient evidence to support that Kanyabashi substantially contributed to any incitement made by Kambanda, Sindikubwabo, or other speakers at this event.

5994. The Chamber, therefore, finds that Kanyabashi does not bear criminal responsibility for direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to this incident.

¹⁴⁷⁹³ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 693.

4.2.4.3.3 Mugombwa Church Massacres, 20-21 April 1994

5995. The Chamber has found that on 20 April 1994, Ndayambaje came to Mugombwa Church, showed a picture of President Habyarimana to those taking refuge inside, and told them that they would be killed. He then spoke to a group of armed people outside Mugombwa Church. He told them that since the people in the church were now gathered together, their work would no longer be very difficult. He also told the attackers that some of them should stay and watch those in the church and others should go and look for those that were hiding in ditches and in bushes. After this speech, many people left, whereas some stayed behind at the church. Later that day, the armed people launched an attack against the Tutsis sheltering in the church ().

5996. The next morning, Ndayambaje again addressed the crowd outside the church. He stated that he could see they were in interested in the Tutsis' cows, and he asked them what they would pay if the cattle's Tutsi owners escaped. That afternoon, the crowd set the church on fire and, as those taking refuge inside escaped from the church, the crowd attacked and killed them ().

5997. The Chamber has no doubt that Ndayambaje's addresses to the attackers were public and that he intended to make these statements publicly.

5998. The Chamber recalls that even when a speech contains no explicit appeal to commit genocide, it may still constitute direct incitement to commit genocide in a particular context. 14794

5999. The Chamber considers it significant that before Ndayambaje addressed the crowd on 20 April 1994, he first told those taking refuge inside the church that they would be killed. This context, combined with Ndayambaje's speech that the crowd's work would no longer be difficult, establishes that Ndayambaje possessed the requisite intent to directly incite the commission of genocide.

6000. Moreover, after Ndayambaje spoke to the crowd on both 20 and 21 April 1994, the armed people there attacked the Mugombwa Church. The Chamber considers that this provides circumstantial evidence that Ndayambaje's speeches were understood by his intended audience as direct calls to commit genocide. 14795

6001. In light of this context, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje directly incited the commission of genocide at Mugombwa Church, and that he had the requisite intent to do so.

6002. Accordingly, the Chamber finds Ndayambaje guilty of direct and public incitement on the basis of this allegation under Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

¹⁴⁷⁹⁴ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 703; see also Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 700-701. ¹⁴⁷⁹⁵ See generally Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 700 ("[I]t may be helpful to examine how a speech was understood by its intended audience in order to determine its true message.").

4.2.4.3.4 Kabakobwa Hill, 21-24 April 1994

6003. The Prosecution charged Kanyabashi with responsibility under Article 6 (1) for incitement, presumably before the attack at Kabakobwa. 14796

6004. The Chamber has already found that Kanyabashi gave a speech at Rango market on the morning of Thursday 21 April 1994, during which he stated that Tutsis should be "allowed to go through" to Kabakobwa. The Chamber accepted those words led Witness QCB to believe that the safety of these refugees would be protected ().

6005. Notwithstanding this finding, the Chamber is not satisfied that these words were such as to incite others to commit the crime of genocide such that they could amount to direct and public incitement. As such, the Prosecution has failed to prove the actus reus of this crime.

6006. As such, the Chamber acquits Kanyabashi of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide on the basis of the speech he gave at Rango market on 21 April 1994.

4.2.4.3.5 Save Roadblock, April 1994

6007. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi came to a roadblock in Save in April 1994. He asked the people who manned this roadblock to search for a Tutsi lecturer and offered a reward for whoever found him ().

6008. The evidence establishes that Kanyabashi directed his speech to individuals manning a roadblock, but not that he directed his remarks towards anyone else. The Appeals Chamber has specified that statements made only to individuals manning a roadblock are not sufficiently public to satisfy this element of the crime. As the Prosecution did not establish that Kanyabashi directed his remarks towards anyone other than the individuals at the roadblock, the Chamber considers that Kanyabashi did not possess the mens rea for direct and public incitement to commit genocide. The Chamber thus acquits Kanyabashi of this charge in relation to this allegation.

4.2.4.3.6 Announcements by Megaphone, May and June 1994

6009. Around late May 1994 Kanyabashi drove through Butare town with a megaphone and instructed the population to search for the enemy among them. Further, around mid-June 1994 Kanyabashi used a megaphone to tell the population to clear bushes along the road in order to remove potential hiding places for the *Inkotanvi*, to flush out people who were hiding in the bushes, and to kill those found there, including children, old men and women. After both of Kanyabashi's announcements in mid-May and June 1994 searches were conducted for Tutsis. and consequently, more Tutsis were killed ().

6010. The Chamber recalls that after hearing Kanyabashi's announcements by megaphone in May and June 1994, the public understood that the "enemy" and "Inkotanyi" were Tutsis and they were to be killed, as further evidenced by the fact that after both megaphone

¹⁴⁷⁹⁶ Para. 6.32 of the Kanyabashi Indictment (in support of Counts 1-3, 5-9 pursuant to Article 6 (3) and Count 4 pursuant to Article 6 (1) responsibility).

14797 Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 161; see also Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 862.

announcements searches were conducted and more Tutsis were killed. The Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that these announcements constituted direct incitement to commit genocide.

- 6011. Further, because Kanyabashi circulated throughout Butare town addressing the general population, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi's announcements by megaphone in May and June 1994 were "public".
- 6012. The Chamber also considers Kanyabashi's spoken words encouraging the population to search for the "enemy" and "clear bushes", being references to killing Tutsis, evidences Kanyabashi had the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi ethnic group.
- 6013. The Chamber finds that in so encouraging the population on two occasions in May and June 1994 Kanyabashi is individually criminally responsible, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, for inciting the population to cause the death and serious bodily and mental harm of Tutsi refugees in Butare, as provided in Article 2 (3)(c). Accordingly, the Chamber finds Kanyabashi guilty of direct and public incitement to commit genocide.

4.2.4.3.7 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994

- 6014. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko came to Cyarwa-Sumo *secteur*, Ngoma *commune*, in the beginning of June 1994 and distributed condoms for the *Interahamwe*, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that *secteur*. The Chamber further found that Nyiramasuhuko ordered the woman to whom she distributed the condoms to: "Go and distribute these condoms to your young men, so that they use them to rape Tutsi women and to protect themselves from AIDS, and after having raped them they should kill all of them. Let no Tutsi woman survive because they take away our husbands" ().
- 6015. The Chamber observes that this is not a vague or indirect suggestion and cannot be considered ambiguous within the context of the rapes and parallel large-scale massacres being committed throughout Butare *préfecture* and Rwanda at this time. 14798
- 6016. However, the Chamber is not satisfied that the "public" element of this crime has been established. The evidence shows that Nyiramasuhuko directed her speech to one woman, in the presence of four other men. In order to possess the requisite *mens rea* for the crime of direct and public incitement, the audience must be much broader than that found in the present circumstance. Here, Nyiramasuhuko's statements are more akin to a "conversation", consistent with the definition of private incitement found in the *travaux préparatoires* of the Genocide Convention. There is no indication in the record that anyone other than those cited was present.

¹⁴⁸⁰⁰ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 159 (citing Nahimana et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 718-719).

¹⁴⁷⁹⁸ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 692-693.

¹⁴⁷⁹⁹ See generally Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 156 ("[A]II convictions before the Tribunal for direct and public incitement to commit genocide involve speeches made to large, fully public assemblies, messages disseminated by the media, and communications made through a public address system over a broad public area").

- 6017. The Chamber is therefore not satisfied that the evidence reasonably supports the Prosecution charge of direct and public incitement.
- 6018. Therefore, the Chamber does not find Nyiramasuhuko guilty of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide for distributing condoms in Cyarwa-Sumo secteur, Ngoma commune, in the beginning of June 1994, to be used in the raping and killing of Tutsi women in that secteur. Accordingly the Chamber acquits Nyiramasuhuko of direct and public incitement to commit genocide. However, the Chamber finds that this circumstantial evidence shows Nyiramasuhuko's intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi group.
- 4.2.4.3.8 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994
- 6019. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors and selected about 30 individuals, whom they believed to be Tutsi adults, and forced them to remain in Rwanda ().
- 6020. There is insufficient evidence, however, that Nteziryayo incited genocide in relation to this event. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not discharged its burden of proof as to this charge of the Indictment.
- 6021. As for Ntahobali, the Chamber recalls that the Prosecution did not charge him with direct and public incitement to commit genocide.
- 4.2.4.3.9 Border Meetings in Muyaga and Kibayi *Communes*, Mid- to Late June 1994
- 6022. The Prosecution charges Nteziryayo with direct and public incitement to commit genocide, based on his speeches at the Muyaga and Kibayi commune meetings. Nteziryayo urged the audience to hunt down, flush out and kill Tutsis without any distinction. At the Kibayi *commune* meeting. Nteziryayo specifically incited the population to kill the remaining Tutsi survivors in the *commune*. As a result of the speeches, members of the population carried out searches and killed surviving Tutsis (;). In light of this evidence, and considering the context of the killings in Butare préfecture at that time, the Chamber considers that Nteziryayo's speeches constituted a direct appeal to kill Tutsis and could not have been considered ambiguous.
- 6023. Nteziryayo made these speeches to large, fully public assemblies.
- 6024. The Chamber considers that Nteziryayo intended to directly and publicly incite members of the population in Muyaga commune and Kibayi commune to commit genocide, as confirmed by his encouraging words, spoken at these large gatherings. This in turn establishes Nteziryayo's genocidal intent. 14801
- 6025. The Chamber, therefore, finds Nteziryayo guilty of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide, for inciting the killing of Tutsis at the Muyaga commune and Kibayi commune meetings.

¹⁴⁸⁰¹ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 155; Bikindi, Judgement (AC), para. 135; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 677.

4.2.4.3.10 Ndayambaje's Swearing-in Ceremony and the Ensuing Abduction of Tutsi Girls, 22 June 1994

Swearing-in Ceremony

- 6026. On the occasion of Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994, an event attended by the general population, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje told the population to continue with their "work" and urged them to "sweep the dirt outside", a reference to the killing of Tutsis, after which searches for Tutsis took place and killings followed ().
- 6027. When considered in the context of the inter-ethnic killings prevalent in Rwanda in 1994, the war between the Tutsi-dominated Rwandan Patriotic Front rebels and the Hutudominated Rwandan Army, as well as considering the culture and language of Rwanda, the Chamber is satisfied that the audience understood the words of both Accused, namely "to work" and "sweeping dirt", to mean they needed to kill Tutsis. This was further evidenced by searches conducted and the killing of Tutsis after the ceremony. For this reason, the Chamber finds the Accused's words at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony were direct incitements to commit genocide. Given that these inciting statements were made at a ceremony attended by the population, the Chamber has no doubt that Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje made them publicly.
- 6028. In light of the substance of these statements, the context in which they were made, and the evidence as a whole, the Chamber has no doubt that both Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje possessed genocidal intent when they addressed the population. The Chamber is also satisfied that they intended to incite the population to commit genocide.
- 6029. The Chamber finds that in urging the population "to work" and "to sweep dirt outside" at Ndayambaje's swearing in ceremony, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje are criminally responsible, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, for inciting the population to cause the death and serious bodily and mental harm of Tutsi refugees in Butare. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje are guilty of committing direct and public incitement to commit genocide.

Abduction of Tutsi Girls

- 6030. During the ensuing abduction of Tutsi girls, Ndayambaje came to the Statue of the Virgin Mary during the abduction and made it clear that the abductors were free to do what they wanted with the girls. According to Witness QAR's account, which the Chamber found to be credible, the abductors had waited for some time for Ndayambaje to arrive ().
- 6031. The Chamber recalls that it has found Ndayambaje's actions at this event to constitute the instigation of genocide ().
- 6032. The Chamber, however, cannot conclude that Ndayambaje's conduct satisfies the "public" element of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide. In particular, the Chamber notes that Ndayambaje addressed only the abductors and not the

general public.¹⁴⁸⁰² That the abductors specifically waited for Ndayambaje's instructions also provides evidence that they were not members of the general public, and that Ndayambaje would not have perceived them this way.

6033. Because this element of the crime has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt, the Chamber acquits Ndayambaje of direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to this event.

4.2.4.4 Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

6034. Because the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko is responsible for direct and public incitement to commit genocide pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, the Chamber acquits her of this charge.

Nsabimana

6035. The Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana is responsible, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, for direct and public incitement to commit genocide. The Chamber therefore acquits him of this charge.

Nteziryayo

6036. For his speeches at the Muyaga and Kibayi *commune* meetings in June 1994, as well as for his speech at Ndayambaje's swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994, the Chamber finds Nteziryayo guilty of committing the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Kanyabashi

6037. The Chamber has concluded that Kanyabashi's megaphone announcements on two occasions in May and June 1994, constituted direct and public incitement to commit genocide. Accordingly, the Chamber finds him guilty of committing this crime, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Ndayambaje

6038. Ndayambaje directly incited a crowd outside of Mugombwa Church to commit genocide on 20 and 21 April 1994. He also directly and publicly incited genocide at his swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. The Chamber therefore finds Ndayambaje guilty of committing direct and public incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

1.

¹⁴⁸⁰² See Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), paras. 159-165 (engaging in a conversation with persons at roadblocks did not qualify as "public", even in a circumstance where members of the general public were present); *Nahimana et al.*, Judgement (AC), para. 862 (message intended only for individuals manning roadblocks, instead of for the general public, did not qualify as direct and public incitement to commit genocide).

4.3 Crimes Against Humanity

4.3.1 Introduction

6039. The Accused are charged with extermination, murder, persecution and other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity under Article 3 (a), (b), (h) and (i) of the Statute. In addition, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are charged with rape as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (g) of the Statute. These charges comprise Counts 5 to 9 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, and Counts 5 to 8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, the Kanyabashi Indictment and the Ndayambaje Indictment.

4.3.2 Widespread and Systematic Attack

6040. In order to constitute a crime against humanity under Article 3 of the Statute, the acts of an accused must be part of a widespread or systematic attack against any civilian population on national, political, ethnic, racial or religious grounds. An "attack against a civilian population" means the perpetration against a civilian population of a series of acts of violence, or of the kind of mistreatment referred to in subparagraphs (a) to (i) of Article 3. "Widespread" refers to the large-scale nature of the attack and the number of victims, whereas "systematic" refers to the organised nature of the acts of violence and the improbability of their random occurrence."

6041. Regarding the *mens rea*, the accused must have acted with knowledge of the broader context of the attack, and with knowledge that his or her act formed part of the widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population. The additional requirement that crimes against humanity have to be committed "on national, political, ethnic, racial or religious grounds" does not necessarily mean that the accused must have a discriminatory intent when committing the act. ¹⁴⁸⁰⁴

6042. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber recalls that it has taken judicial notice that widespread or systematic attacks directed against a civilian population based on Tutsi ethnic identification occurred in Rwanda between April and July 1994 (). As mentioned above, however, this does not shift the burden of proof, which remains with the Prosecution. Has 14806

6043. The Chamber has considered the evidence in its totality, especially as it relates to the ethnic composition of the persons who sought refuge throughout Butare *préfecture*, and who were targeted for attack. In the wake of the events of 19 April 1994 (), Tutsis were either separated from Hutus prior to being attacked, or else were singled out and targeted in areas

¹4806 Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 918, 920; Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 101 (quoting Gacumbitsi, Judgement (TC), para. 299); Stakić, Judgement (AC), para. 246; Kordić & Čerkez, Judgement (AC), paras. 93-94, 666; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), paras. 98, 101; Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 85-87, 90-91, 93-96, 98-100.

¹⁴⁸⁰⁴ Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), paras. 86 (quoting Gacumbitsi, Judgement (TC), para. 302), 103; Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 268 (quoting Akayesu, Judgement (AC), para. 467), 269; Kordić & Čerkez, Judgement (AC), paras. 99-100; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), paras. 124, 126; Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 102-103. ¹⁴⁸⁰⁵ See generally Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, paras. 115-116, pp. 20-22 (denying judicial notice at that stage of the proceedings).

where Hutus were present. This attack continued for more than two months, and overwhelmed large segments of Butare and its inhabitants. The Chamber is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that, starting on 20 April 1994, there was a widespread and systematic attack in Butare against Tutsis on the basis of their ethnicity.

6044. Given that many of these Tutsis were taking refuge, and considering the evidence as a whole, the Chamber is satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that this attack was directed against the civilian population.

6045. The Chamber also finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the acts perpetrated in relation to the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, IRST, BPO, Rwamukwaya Family, EER, Matyazo Clinic (J. Ramaroson dissenting), Kabakobwa Hill, Mugombwa Church, Kabuye Hill, Ndayambaje's Swearing-in, the abduction of Tutsi girls, and the distribution of condoms constituted part of this widespread and systematic attack.

6046. Finally, taking into account the specific nature and duration of the attack, the Chamber has no doubt that the six Accused and the principal perpetrators of this prolonged attack knew that their acts formed part of this attack.

4.3.3 Extermination

4.3.3.1 Introduction

6047. The Accused are charged with extermination as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (b) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 6 of each Indictment.

4.3.3.2 Law

6048. The crime of extermination is the act of killing on a large scale. The expression "on a large scale" does not, however, suggest a numerical minimum. The *actus reus* consists of any act, omission, or combination thereof which contributes directly or indirectly to the killing of a large number of individuals. The *mens rea* requires that the accused intend, by his or her acts or omissions, to kill or subject a number of people to conditions of living that would inevitably lead to death. 14807

4.3.3.3 Deliberations and Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

6049. The Chamber has found that between 19 April and late June 1994, Nyiramasuhuko went to the Butare *préfecture* office to abduct hundreds of Tutsis. Tutsis taking refuge there were later killed in various locations throughout Ngoma *commune* (). The Chamber considers that these killings occurred on a large scale.

6050. The Chamber has also found Nyiramasuhuko guilty of genocide for ordering the killing of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office (). Based on the same reasoning, the

-

¹⁴⁸⁰⁷ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 185; Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 189; Brāanin, Judgement (AC), paras. 471, 476 (citing Brāanin, Judgement (TC), para. 395); Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 86; Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 135; Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), paras. 516, 522.

Chamber finds that the principal perpetrators possessed the intent to commit extermination, that Nyiramasuhuko knew of this intent, was in a position of authority when she ordered the killings, and that she intended that extermination be committed.

- 6051. The Chamber therefore finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Nyiramasuhuko is guilty of ordering extermination as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.
- 6052. As for the allegation of superior responsibility in relation to these killings, the Chamber will take this into account in sentencing.

Ntahobali

- 6053. The Chamber has found Ntahobali guilty of genocide for: killing Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, including a Tutsi girl who he had first raped (); ordering the killing of a Tutsi named Léopold Ruvurajabo (); ordering the killing of about 200 Tutsis at the IRST (); ordering the killing of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office (); aiding and abetting the killing of the Rwamukwaya family (); and aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsis abducted from the EER ().
- 6054. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds that Ntahobali intended to commit extermination, and knew that other principal perpetrators also possessed this intent. The Chamber also considers that these killings, taken by themselves or collectively, occurred on a large scale.
- 6055. The Chamber therefore finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali is guilty of committing, ordering and aiding and abetting extermination as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.
- 6056. The Chamber will take Ntahobali's alleged superior responsibility into account in sentencing.

Nsabimana

- 6057. The Chamber has found that, after 19 April 1994, Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office were abducted by the hundreds and killed (). The Chamber considers that these killings occurred on a large scale.
- 6058. The Chamber has found Nsabimana guilty of genocide for aiding and abetting by omission the killings that occurred at the Butare *préfecture* office (). Based on this reasoning, the Chamber finds that the principal perpetrators intended to commit extermination, that Nsabimana knew of this intent, and that he substantially contributed to the extermination that occurred by failing to discharge his duty.
- 6059. The Chamber therefore finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Nsabimana is guilty of aiding and abetting by omission extermination as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Nteziryayo

6060. The Chamber has acquitted Nteziryayo of genocide (). For the same reasons, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo is responsible for extermination as a crime against humanity pursuant to either Article 6 (1) or 6 (3) of the Statute. The Chamber therefore acquits Nteziryayo of this crime.

Kanyabashi

- 6061. The Chamber has found that as a result of Kanyabashi's orders at Matyazo Clinic, many deaths occurred (). Hundreds, if not thousands, of Tutsis were killed in the attack at Kabakobwa Hill (). These killings undoubtedly occurred on a large scale.
- 6062. In relation to these killings of Tutsis at Matyazo Clinic and at Kabakobwa Hill, the Chamber has found Kanyabashi guilty of genocide pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute (;). Based on the same reasons, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility over soldiers at Matyazo Clinic in late April, and over Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa Hill on 22 April 1994, and that his subordinates acted with the intent to exterminate Tutsis.
- 6063. Therefore, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Kanyabashi is guilty of extermination as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

Ndayambaje

- 6064. The Chamber has found Ndayambaje guilty of genocide for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsis at Mugombwa Church () and Kabuye Hill (), and instigating the killing of Tutsis after his swearing-in ceremony ().
- 6065. Based on this reasoning, the Chamber finds that Ndayambaje knew that other principal perpetrators possessed genocidal intent. The Chamber considers that these killings, taken by themselves or collectively, occurred on a large scale.
- 6066. Therefore, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje is guilty of instigating and aiding and abetting extermination as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

4.3.4 Murder

4.3.4.1 Introduction

6067. The Accused are charged with murder as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (a) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 5 of each Indictment.

4.3.4.2 Law

6068. For the crime of murder to be established, it must be shown that a victim died and that the victim's death was caused by an act or omission. To satisfy the *mens rea* for murder, it is

required that that there was an act or omission, with the intention to kill or to inflict grievous bodily harm, in the reasonable knowledge that it might lead to death. 14808

4.3.4.3 Cumulative Convictions

6069. Multiple criminal convictions based on the same conduct, but entered under different statutory provisions, are permissible only if each statutory provision involved has a materially distinct element not contained in the other.

6070. When comparing the crimes against humanity of murder and of extermination, the Appeals Chamber has found that murder as a crime against humanity does not contain a materially distinct element from extermination as a crime against humanity. Accordingly, where the Chamber has entered a conviction for extermination as a crime against humanity, it will not consider the same underlying conduct as a basis for a conviction for murder as a crime against humanity. Habitant 14810

4.3.4.4 Deliberations and Conclusion

6071. The Chamber has found Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje guilty of extermination as a crime against humanity. In particular, the Chamber has found Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nsabimana guilty of extermination in relation to the killing of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Chamber has also found Ntahobali guilty of extermination for: his role in the killing of Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, including Léopold Ruvurajabo and a Tutsi girl who he first raped; at the IRST; of the Rwamukwaya family; and of Tutsis abducted from the EER. Kanyabashi is guilty of extermination in relation to the killing of Tutsis at Matyazo Clinic and at Kabakobwa Hill. Ndayambaje is guilty of extermination for his role in the killing of Tutsis at Mugombwa Church, at Kabuye Hill, and after his swearing-in ceremony ().

6072. The Chamber therefore considers that Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje would also be responsible, in relation to these events, for murder as a crime against humanity. Recalling the law on cumulative convictions, however, the Chamber dismisses this charge as to these five Accused.

6073. As for Nteziryayo, the Chamber has found him not guilty of genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (). For the same reasons, the Chamber acquits Nteziryayo of murder as a crime against humanity.

1.

¹⁴⁸⁰⁸ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 108 (quoting Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (TC), para. 931); see also Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 2169, fn. 2351.

¹⁴⁸⁰⁹ Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC), para. 542. The Appeals Chamber explained that the only element that distinguishes these offences is the requirement of extermination that the killings occur on a mass scale.

¹⁴⁸¹⁰ The Chamber has also taken into account the jurisprudence on cumulative convictions for other crimes; *see*, *e.g.*, *Stakić*, Judgement (AC), paras. 359, 361-364 (persecution as a crime against humanity is not cumulative of the crimes against humanity of murder, extermination, and other inhumane acts); *Semanza*, Judgement (AC), paras. 368-369 (convictions for genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II, are not cumulative because each has a materially distinct element); *Kordić & Čerkez*, Judgement (AC), paras. 1032-1033, 1035-1044; *Rutaganda*, Judgement (AC), paras. 582-583; *Musema*, Judgement (AC), paras. 366-367; *Delalić et al.*, Judgement (AC), paras. 412-413.

4.3.5 Rape

4.3.5.1 Introduction

6074. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are charged with rape as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (g) of the Statute. Although Ntahobali is charged pursuant to both Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute, Nyiramasuhuko is charged pursuant only to Article 6 (3) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 7 of their Indictment.

4.3.5.2 Law

6075. The *actus reus* of rape involves the non-consensual penetration, however slight, of the vagina or anus of the victim by the penis of the perpetrator or any other object used by the perpetrator, or of the mouth of the victim by the penis of the perpetrator. Consent for this purpose must be given voluntarily, as a result of the victim's free will, assessed in the context of the surrounding circumstances. The *mens rea* is the intention to effect this sexual penetration, and the knowledge that it occurs without the consent of the victim. Force or threat of force provides clear evidence of non-consent, but force is not an element *per se* of rape. ¹⁴⁸¹¹

4.3.5.3 Deliberations

4.3.5.3.1 Hotel Ihuliro Roadblock, Late April 1994

6076. The Chamber recalls that it would not consider rapes at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock for the count of genocide, but that it would address them under the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto ().

Ntahobali

6077. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali personally raped one Tutsi girl at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro, around the end of April 1994 (). The Chamber is satisfied that Ntahobali intentionally committed this crime. Further, the Chamber considers the circumstances surrounding this offence, namely that before perpetrating the rape Ntahobali dragged the girl into the woods. It was also established that her dead body was later found with vaginal injuries.

6078. The Chamber is satisfied this event occurred without the consent of the victim. The Chamber also finds that Ntahobali intended to effect the sexual penetration in the knowledge that it occurred without this consent.

6079. The Chamber has already found that there was a widespread or systematic attack against the civilian population and that the Accused knew that their acts formed part of this attack ().

6080. Therefore, the Chamber finds this offence constitutes rape as a crime against humanity, and that Ntahobali is responsible as a principal perpetrator for committing it.

.

¹⁴⁸¹¹ Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC), para. 151 (quoting Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 127-129).

- 6081. The Chamber recalls that it was also proven beyond a reasonable doubt that during the time when Ntahobali manned the roadblock, other crimes including rapes were committed against members of the Tutsi population ().
- 6082. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali bore superior responsibility over the *Interahamwe* at this roadblock (). However, because there is insufficient evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the *Interahamwe* committed rapes at or near this roadblock, the Chamber does not find that Ntahobali is responsible as a superior for the rapes that occurred near this roadblock. This alleged responsibility, therefore, will not be taken into account in sentencing.

Nyiramasuhuko

- 6083. The Chamber has also found that Nyiramasuhuko was present at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro on occasions during the period of time when crimes were carried out, but recalls that she was not found to be present when any crime was perpetrated there (). Moreover, the evidence is insufficient to conclude that she played any role in relation to the rapes there, or that she bears superior responsibility for them.
- 6084. Therefore, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko not guilty of rape as a crime against humanity, in relation to the rapes carried out at the roadblock near Hotel Ihuliro.
- 4.3.5.3.2 Butare Préfecture Office ("BPO"), End of April First Half of June 1994
- 6085. The Chamber recalls that it would not consider rapes at the Butare *préfecture* office for the count of genocide, but that it would address them under the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto ().
- 6086. The Chamber is satisfied that the rapes of Witness TA and many other unnamed Tutsi women at the BPO were conducted on ethnic grounds. The Chamber finds that Ntahobali bears responsibility as a principal perpetrator for committing these acts, for ordering *Interahamwe* to commit rapes, and also for aiding and abetting rapes. Similarly, the Chamber considers that Ntahobali bears superior responsibility for the rapes committed by the *Interahamwe*, and will take this into account in sentencing.
- 6087. Nyiramasuhuko was only charged with rape as a crime against humanity pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute, which the Chamber considers to be a serious omission on the part of the Prosecution. The Chamber has already found that Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsi women at the BPO ().
- 6088. Nyiramasuhuko had a superior-subordinate relationship with the *Interahamwe* who accompanied her to the BPO. Her effective control over them was evidenced by the fact that she brought them to the BPO with her son Ntahobali and the fact that her orders to rape were obeyed. She knew of, and failed to prevent or punish, these rapes. Therefore, Nyiramasuhuko bears responsibility as a superior for the rapes perpetrated by the *Interahamwe* at the BPO.

4.3.5.3.3 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994

6089. The Chamber recalls that it would not consider rapes at or near the EER for the count of genocide, but that it would address them under the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto ().

6090. The Chamber has found that soldiers raped women and girls at or near the EER (). Although Ntahobali was implicated in some of the attacks at the EER, it has not been established that he is responsible for rapes that occurred during this general time period. The Chamber has also found that Nyiramasuhuko's alleged involvement in the events at the EER, including rapes, has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

4.3.5.3.4 Distribution of Condoms, Early June 1994

6091. The Chamber lacks sufficient reliable evidence to show a link between Nyiramasuhuko's actions in distributing the condoms, and actual rapes committed against said Tutsi women. Therefore, the requirement of the commission of the actual crime, namely the rapes as a result of this distribution, has not been met in this instance. Therefore, the Chamber is not satisfied that the evidence reasonably supports the Prosecution charge of rape as a crime against humanity.

6092. Therefore, the Chamber does not find that these events constitute rape as a crime against humanity.

4.3.5.4 Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

6093. Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsis at the Butare *préfecture* office, and bears responsibility as a superior for their rapes. The Chamber therefore finds her guilty of rape as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute.

Ntahobali

6094. Ntahobali raped a Tutsi girl near the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. He also raped Tutsi women at the Butare *préfecture* office, ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsis, and aided and abetted the rapes of a Tutsi. For these acts, the Chamber finds Ntahobali guilty of committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting rape as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

4.3.6 Persecution

4.3.6.1 Introduction

6095. The Accused are charged with persecution as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (h) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 8 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, and Count 7 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, and Ndayambaje Indictments.

4.3.6.2 Law

6096. Persecution consists of an act or omission which discriminates in fact and which denies or infringes upon a fundamental right laid down in international customary or treaty law, and was carried out deliberately with the intention to discriminate on one of the protected grounds. This discriminatory intent requirement amounts to *dolus specialis*. But not every act of discrimination will constitute the crime of persecution; the underlying acts, considered in isolation or in conjunction with other acts, must be of gravity equal to the crimes listed under Article 3 of the Statute. ¹⁴⁸¹²

6097. The enumerated grounds of discrimination for persecution in Article 3 (h) of the Statute do not expressly include ethnic grounds, which is included in the list of discriminatory grounds for the attack contained in the *chapeau* of Article 3. Notwithstanding, the Appeals Chamber in the *Nahimana et al.* case held that discrimination on ethnic grounds could constitute persecution if the accompanying violation of rights was sufficiently serious, such as killings, torture and rape. It affirmed a conviction for persecution based on the supervision of roadblocks where Tutsis were killed. 14813

4.3.6.3 Deliberations

4.3.6.3.1 Killings

Nyiramasuhuko

6098. The Chamber has found that Nyiramasuhuko ordered the killings of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office, which constitutes genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (;).

6099. Based on similar reasoning, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the principal perpetrators carried out their acts with discriminatory intent, and that Nyiramasuhuko knew of their intent. Nyiramasuhuko was in a position of authority when she ordered the killings, and she substantially contributed to them. These killings were serious violations of fundamental rights. The Chamber therefore finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity.

Ntahobali

6100. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali killed Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, including a Tutsi girl who he first raped; that he ordered the killing of a Tutsi named Léopold Ruvurajabo, the killing of about 200 Tutsis at the IRST, and the killing of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office; and that he aided and abetted the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and of Tutsis abducted from the EER. These acts constitute genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (;).

¹⁴⁸¹³ Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 2209 (citing Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 986-988, 1002).

1

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 985 (quoting Krnojelac, Judgement (AC), para. 185); Simić, Judgement (AC), para. 177; Stakić, Judgement (AC), paras. 327-328, 362; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 320-321; Kordić & Čerkez, Judgement (AC), paras. 101-103, 110-112; Blaškić, Judgement (AC), paras. 131, 164-166; Vasiljević, Judgement (AC), para. 113.

6101. Based on this reasoning, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali and the principal perpetrators acted with discriminatory intent, and that the facts establish the various requirements for committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting these serious violations of fundamental rights. The Chamber therefore finds Ntahobali guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity.

Nsabimana

- 6102. The Chamber has found that Nsabimana aided and abetted the killing of Tutsis at the Butare *préfecture* office by failing to discharge his duty. This constitutes genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (;).
- 6103. Based on its earlier reasoning, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the principal perpetrators of these crimes acted with discriminatory intent, that Nsabimana knew of their discriminatory intent, and that his failure to discharge his duty substantially contributed to these killings. These crimes were serious violations of fundamental human rights, and the Chamber therefore finds Nsabimana guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity.

Nteziryayo

6104. Because the Chamber has found that Nteziryayo is not criminally responsible for any killings (;), it will not consider whether he bears responsibility for persecution for these acts.

Kanyabashi

- 6105. The Chamber has found that Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility for the killing of Tutsis at Matyazo Clinic by soldiers, and at Kabakobwa Hill by Ngoma *commune* police. These crimes constitute genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (;).
- 6106. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility over soldiers at Matyazo clinic in late April, and over Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa Hill on 22 April 1994, and that his subordinates acted with discriminatory intent. These crimes also amount to serious violations of fundamental human rights, and the Chamber therefore finds Kanyabashi guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity.

Ndayambaje

- 6107. The Chamber has found that Ndayambaje aided and abetted the killing of Tutsis at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill, and instigated the killing of Tutsis after his swearing-in ceremony. These crimes constitute genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity (;).
- 6108. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that Ndayambaje and the principal perpetrators acted with discriminatory intent, and that the facts establish the various requirements for instigating and aiding and abetting the killings. These killings constitute serious violations of fundamental rights, and the Chamber finds that Ndayambaje is guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity.

4.3.6.3.2 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994

- 6109. The Chamber has already taken account of the killings that occurred at Kabuye Hill, and will now address whether Ndayambaje is also criminally responsible for the arrest and transportation of Tutsis to Kabuye Hill that preceded the attack.
- 6110. The Chamber has found that Ndayambaje, several armed soldiers and commune policemen arrested fleeing Tutsi refugees at Ngiryi Bridge and obliged them to return to Gisagara marketplace, and thereafter soldiers and policemen escorted the refugees on foot to Kabuye Hill (). The Chamber considers that the interception and forced return of the refugees to Gisagara and then Kabuye Hill, when many refugees were trying to flee to Burundi, constitutes a denial of the right to freedom of movement, as cited by the Trial Chamber in Bikindi. 14814 The right to freedom of movement both within one's country, and the right to leave one's country, are basic fundamental rights. 14815 The Chamber is further of the view that the forced return of the fleeing refugees may have violated their right to security. 14816
- 6111. While the Chamber recognises the importance of these rights, the Chamber recalls that, to qualify as persecution, their violation must be of similar gravity to other crimes against humanity enumerated in the Statute.
- 6112. Other crimes against humanity, pursuant to Article 3 of the Statute, include murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation, imprisonment, torture and rape.
- 6113. The Chamber is unable to conclude that the specific circumstances at issue here rise to a similar gravity as these other crimes against humanity. Because the arrest and later transportation of the Tutsis to Kabuye Hill, while serious, are not of comparable gravity to these enumerated crimes against humanity, the Chamber finds that they do not constitute persecution as a crime against humanity.
- 6114. In making this finding, the Chamber recalls that it has considered the killings of Tutsis at Kabuye Hill separately, and has found that these killings constitute persecution as a crime against humanity ().

4.3.6.3.3 Rango Forest, June 1994

- 6115. As outlined above (), the Chamber has determined that Kanyabashi did not possess de facto authority over the Interahamwe and thus a superior-subordinate relationship was not established. Further, the Chamber has found that the Prosecution failed to establish that Kanyabashi knew of the beatings and mistreatment of the refugees at Rango Forest and he was therefore not in a position to take measures to prevent or punish the perpetrators for the commission of such crimes ().
- 6116. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi does not bear superior responsibility over the *Interahamwe* for the persecution of the Tutsi refugees at Rango Forest.

¹⁴⁸¹⁴ Bikindi, Judgement (TC), para. 392.

¹⁴⁸¹⁵ See Articles 13-14 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 986. On the right to security, see, e.g., Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Art. 3 ("Everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of person.").

- 4.3.6.3.4 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994
- 6117. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors and selected about 30 individuals, whom they believed to be Tutsi adults, and forced them to remain in Rwanda ().
- 6118. As discussed above (), however, the Chamber has not heard any evidence of killings or other acts that may have been related to this incident.
- 6119. Without any further evidence, the Chamber cannot conclude that the act of requiring 30 persons to remain in Rwanda is of similar gravity to other crimes against humanity listed in the Statute. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that this incident qualifies as persecution as a crime against humanity, or that Ntahobali or Nteziryayo are responsible for it.

4.3.6.4 Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

6120. The Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty of ordering persecution as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Ntahobali

6121. The Chamber finds Ntahobali guilty of committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting persecution as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Nsahimana

6122. For failing to discharge his duty, the Chamber finds Nsabimana guilty of aiding and abetting persecution as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

Nteziryayo

6123. Because the Prosecution has not proven that Nteziryayo is criminally responsible for persecution as a crime against humanity, the Chamber acquits him of this charge.

Kanyabashi

6124. The Chamber finds Kanyabashi guilty of persecution as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute for superior responsibility.

Ndayambaje

6125. The Chamber finds Ndayambaje guilty of instigating and aiding and abetting persecution as a crime against humanity, pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute.

4.3.7 Other Inhumane Acts

4.3.7.1 Introduction

6126. The Accused are charged with other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity under Article 3 (i) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 9 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, and Count 8 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, and Ndayambaje Indictments.

4.3.7.2 Law

6127. The crime of other inhumane acts was deliberately designed as a residual category for sufficiently serious acts which are not otherwise enumerated in Article 3 of the Statute. For an act or an omission to be "inhumane" under this Article, the victim must have suffered serious bodily or mental harm or must have been the subject of a serious attack on human dignity. Moreover, the suffering must be the result of an act or omission of the accused or his or her subordinate, and the accused or subordinate must have been motivated by the intent to inflict serious bodily or mental harm upon the victim when the offence was committed. 14817

4.3.7.3 Deliberations

6128. The Chamber considers that many of the criminal acts in this case either fall squarely within other crimes against humanity enumerated above, or do not constitute crimes against humanity. The Chamber will address below only those events which might fall under the rubric of other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity.

4.3.7.3.1 Kabuye Hill, 20-24 April 1994

- 6129. The Chamber has found that on the night of 22 April 1994, after the attack that resulted in the death of a large number of Tutsi refugees, survivors of the attack at Kabuye Hill were guarded and prevented from escaping ().
- 6130. The Chamber considers the act of guarding the Tutsi refugees on the night of 22 April 1994 such that they could not escape from Kabuye Hill, after they had already survived that day's attack and seen many people killed, inflicted great fear and mental suffering on them, and constitutes a serious attack on human dignity.
- 6131. However the Prosecution failed to lead any evidence as to Ndayambaje's role in the guarding of the Tutsi refugees on the night of 22 April 1994. As such, the Chamber acquits Ndayambaje of responsibility for the occurrence of other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity under Article 6 (1) on the basis of the current allegation. As the Prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Ndayambaje and the soldiers, commune policemen, civilians and Interahamwe at Kabuye Hill, the Chamber acquits Ndayambaje of responsibility under Article 6 (3) on the basis of the current allegation. In any event, the Prosecution also failed to lead any evidence that

¹⁴⁸¹⁷ Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 2218; Galić, Judgement (AC), paras. 155, 157; Stakić, Judgement (AC), paras. 315-316, 362; *Kordić & Čerkez*, Judgement (AC), para. 117.

Ndayambaje knew or should have known of the acts of his alleged subordinates in this specific instance.

4.3.7.3.2 École Évangeliste du Rwanda ("EER"), Mid-May – Early June 1994

6132. The Chamber has found beyond a reasonable doubt that Ntahobali, soldiers and *Interahamwe* frequented the EER at night during the period from mid-May to the beginning June 1994, from where they abducted refugees and took them to a nearby forest where they were killed (). Considering that the *Interahamwe* told the refugees "it was over for the Tutsis" and that very few of the abducted refugees returned to the EER, the Chamber considers the regular nightly visits and abductions inflicted great fear and psychological trauma among the refugees. The Chamber further accepted that at least some of the abducted refugees had been killed with clubs and machetes while they were naked, and that some bodies were decapitated (). The Chamber finds this constituted serious bodily and mental harm.

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali

- 6133. The Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, pled in support of the charge of other inhumane acts, alleges that "[t]he survivors [of attacks at the *préfecture* offices] were taken to various locations in the *préfecture* to be executed, notably in the woods next to the [EER]". This paragraph provides no further information about any inhumane acts at the EER.
- 6134. Paragraph 6.31, also pled in support of other inhumane acts, alleges that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali "often forced [their victims] to undress completely before forcing them into vehicles and taking them to their deaths". ¹⁴⁸¹⁹ In the Chamber's view, this serves as an example of sufficient notice that would suffice for the charge of other inhumane acts.
- 6135. Reading the Indictment as a whole, the Chamber concludes that the Indictment provides notice that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali allegedly forced their victims to undress, and that this constituted another inhumane act. To the extent the Prosecution intended to charge other acts against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, the Chamber finds the Indictment to be defective by omitting these charges.
- 6136. The Chamber recalls that while it is possible to cure the vagueness of an indictment, omitted charges cannot be remedied. 14820
- 6137. Therefore, the Chamber considers only the allegation that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali forced their victims to undress. As the Prosecution has not adduced sufficient

¹⁴⁸¹⁸ Para. 6.30 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10).

Para. 6.31 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (in support of Counts 2-3, 5-6, 8-10).

¹⁴⁸²⁰ See, e.g., Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 55; Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 29; Karera, Judgement (AC), para. 293 ("[A] clear distinction has to be drawn between vagueness in an indictment and an indictment omitting certain charges altogether. While it is possible, as stated above, to remedy the vagueness of an indictment, omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment *only* by a formal amendment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules.") (emphasis added).

evidence to support this allegation, the Chamber finds that Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali do not bear criminal responsibility in relation to these events.

Nsahimana

6138. The Chamber recalls Nsabimana is only charged with responsibility for acts that occurred at the EER pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute. As the Prosecution failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of a superior-subordinate relationship between Nsabimana and soldiers, the Chamber acquits Nsabimana of other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity on the basis of this allegation.

Kanyabashi

6139. The Chamber has found that the Prosecution failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Kanyabashi's involvement, if any, in killings at the EER between mid-May and the beginning of June 1994. Consequently, the Chamber acquits Kanyabashi of any superior responsibility pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) on the basis of this allegation.

4.3.7.3.3 Rango Forest, June 1994

- 6140. As outlined above, the Chamber has determined that Kanyabashi did not possess *de facto* authority over the *Interahamwe* and thus a superior-subordinate relationship was not established (). Further, the Chamber has found that the Prosecution failed to establish that Kanyabashi knew of the beatings and mistreatment of the refugees at Rango Forest and he was therefore not in a position to take measures to prevent or punish the perpetrators for the commission of such crimes ().
- 6141. Therefore, the Chamber finds that Kanyabashi does not bear superior responsibility over the *Interahamwe* for inhumane acts committed against the Tutsi refugees at Rango Forest.
- 4.3.7.3.4 Ntahobali and Nteziryayo Prevented the Evacuation of Tutsis, Mid-June 1994
- 6142. The Chamber has found that Ntahobali and Nteziryayo attempted to prevent the evacuation of about 300 orphans and their adult supervisors and selected about 30 individuals, whom they believed to be Tutsi adults, and forced them to remain in Rwanda ().
- 6143. As discussed above (), the Chamber has not heard any evidence of killings or other acts that may have been related to this incident.
- 6144. Without further evidence, the Chamber cannot conclude that the act of requiring 30 persons to remain in Rwanda led to serious bodily or mental harm, or constituted a serious attack on human dignity. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that this incident qualifies as an inhumane act as a crime against humanity, or that Ntahobali or Nteziryayo are responsible for it.

4.3.7.4 Conclusion

6145. The Chamber finds that the Prosecution has not proven, beyond a reasonable doubt, that any of the Accused bear criminal responsibility for other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity. Accordingly, the Chamber acquits all six Accused of this charge.

4.4 Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto

4.4.1 Introduction

6146. The Accused are charged with violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons as a serious violation of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, under Article 4 (a) of the Statute. In addition, Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are charged with outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, pursuant to Article 4 (e) of the Statute. These charges comprise Counts 10 and 11 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, and Count 9 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment, the Kanyabashi Indictment and the Ndayambaje Indictment.

4.4.2 Threshold Elements

- 6147. In connection with crimes within the scope of Article 4 of the Statute, the Prosecution must prove, as a threshold matter, the following elements: (1) the existence of a non-international armed conflict; (2) the existence of a nexus between the alleged offence and the armed conflict; and (3) that the victims were not taking any active part in the hostilities at the time of the alleged violation, and that the perpetrator knew or should have been aware of this. ¹⁴⁸²¹
- 6148. The Ndayambaje Closing Brief, quoting the *Akayesu* Trial Judgement, contends that the Prosecution must also prove that the Accused acted as "a member of the armed forces under the military command of either of the belligerent parties". ¹⁴⁸²²
- 6149. The Chamber recalls, however, that the Appeals Chamber disagreed with this statement when the Judgement was appealed. Accordingly, the Ndayambaje Defence's contention is unfounded in law, and the Chamber will not consider it below.

4.4.2.1 Non-International Armed Conflict

6150. Preliminarily, the Chamber recalls that it has taken judicial notice that there was an armed conflict not of an international character in Rwanda between 1 January 1994 and 17

¹⁴⁸²¹ Boškoski & Tarčulovski, Judgement (AC), para. 66; Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), para. 2229, Akayesu, Judgement (AC), para. 438.

¹⁴⁸²² Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 1018-1020 (quoting *Akayesu*, Judgement (TC), para. 640).

¹⁴⁸²³ See Akayesu, Judgement (AC), paras. 431-445 (quoting the same language as quoted in the Ndayambaje Closing Brief, and concluding that "[i]n the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, it does not follow that the perpetrator of Article 3 must of necessity have a specific link with one of the above-mentioned Parties" and found that the "Trial Chamber erred ... by restricting the application of common Article 3 to a certain category of persons").

July 1994 (). As stated above, the judicial notice of facts does not shift the burden of proof, which remains with the Prosecution 14824

- 6151. The Chamber has also taken judicial notice of the fact that the President of the Republic of Rwanda was killed when his plane was shot down on 6 April 1994 (), 14825 and has found that the Interim Government held numerous Cabinet meetings beginning on 9 April 1994 and lasting through 14 July 1994 ().
- 6152. After considering the totality of evidence in this case, the Chamber has no doubt that a non-international armed conflict existed on Rwandan territory during the relevant period covered by the Indictments.

4.4.2.2 Nexus

- 6153. A nexus exists between the alleged offence and the armed conflict when they are closely related. The existence of an armed conflict must, at a minimum, have played a substantial part in the perpetrator's ability to commit the offence, his or her decision to commit it, the manner in which it was committed, or the purpose for which it was committed. If it can be established that the perpetrator acted in furtherance of or under the guise of the armed conflict, it would be sufficient to conclude that his or her acts were closely related to the armed conflict. 14826
- 6154. In discussing the nexus requirement, the Appeals Chamber has stated that this element "would not be negated if the crimes were temporarily and geographically remote from the actual fighting. It would be sufficient, for instance, ... that the alleged crimes were closely related to hostilities occurring in other parts of the territories controlled by the parties to the conflict."14827
- 6155. The Chamber has found that widespread killings of Tutsis did not occur in Butare préfecture prior to 19 April 1994, when Nsabimana was sworn in as préfet in a public ceremony (). This ceremony featured inflammatory speeches which underlined the existence of war. In the context of the armed conflict with the RPF, words like "enemy" linked the speeches to the conflict. The speeches urged the people of Butare to take action against the "enemy" and their accomplices, which the Chamber has found referred to Tutsis. These speeches contributed to the commencement of widespread killings and large-scale massacres in Butare (;). All of the events at issue occurred after this ceremony, and the Chamber considers that they all took place in the context of these inflammatory speeches, which in turn had referred to the armed conflict with the RPF.
- 6156. The Chamber also notes the near-universal role played by soldiers in the events. Soldiers are implicated in the events at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock (), Matyazo Clinic (), IRST (), Kabakobwa Hill (), Kabuye Hill (), the Butare *préfecture* office () and the EER (). Soldiers also manned various roadblocks throughout Butare, including the one near the corpses of the

¹⁴⁸²⁷ Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), para. 57.

¹⁴⁸²⁴ Semanza, Judgement (AC), para. 192.

¹⁴⁸²⁵ Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002, para. 105, pp. 18, 20, 28.

14826 Rutaganda, Judgement (AC), paras. 569-570 (quoting Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 58-59).

Rwamukwaya family (; ;). The Chamber considers that the implication of soldiers in these events provides further corroboration of the nexus to the armed conflict.

- 6157. Although it has not been established whether soldiers played any role in the attack on Mugombwa Church, the Chamber notes that prior to the attack, Ndayambaje told those taking refuge inside that they would be killed because they were accomplices of the *Inkotanyi* (). The Chamber considers that this statement also corroborates that the ensuing attack on Mugombwa Church was linked to the armed conflict.
- 6158. The Chamber also considers that other events provide further context as to the nexus to the armed conflict. For example, the Interim Government held Cabinet meetings between 9 April and 14 July 1994, during which they issued instructions to encourage the population to take action against the "enemy" and its "accomplices", both of which referred to Tutsis in general (). Widespread killings and massacres commenced throughout Butare *préfecture* only after the swearing-in ceremony of Nsabimana on 19 April 1994, which featured inflammatory speeches referring to Tutsis as the "enemy" (). The civil defence programme was used to train and arm civilians to locate infiltrators and accomplices, referring to Tutsis (). Kanyabashi also used the terms "enemy" and "*Inkotanyi*" during his megaphone announcements in May and June 1994, which others understood to refer to Tutsis ().
- 6159. After considering the evidence in its totality, the Chamber finds that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that the Accused and the perpetrators who committed these crimes in Butare *préfecture* after 19 April 1994 were either acting in furtherance of the armed conflict or under its guise. Accordingly, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged violations of Article 4 of the Statute had the requisite nexus to the armed conflict.

4.4.2.3 Victims

- 6160. Many of the victims in this case, at the time they were killed or raped, were taking refuge throughout Butare *préfecture*. This includes the victims at the Matyazo Clinic (), Mugombwa Church (), Kabakobwa Hill (;), Kabuye Hill (), the Butare *préfecture* office () and the EER ().
- 6161. Other victims were killed or raped near roadblocks. These include the victims at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock (;) and those who were taken to the IRST to be massacred (). The corpses of the Rwamukwaya family were also sighted near a roadblock ().
- 6162. The Chamber considers that these victims were primarily civilians. Considering the evidence in its totality, the Chamber finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the victims were not taking an active part in the hostilities at the time of the alleged violations of Article 4 of the Statute.

4.4.3 Violence to Life, Health and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons

4.4.3.1 Introduction

6163. The Accused are charged with violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of

Additional Protocol II thereto, under Article 4 (a) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 10 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment, and Count 9 of the Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, and Ndayambaje Indictments.

4.4.3.2 Law

- 6164. Article 4 (a) of the Statute provides that the Tribunal has the power to prosecute persons who committed or ordered serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, including "[v]iolence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, in particular murder as well as cruel treatment such as torture, mutilation or any form of corporal punishment".
- 6165. Murder requires an act or omission intended to kill or inflict grievous bodily harm, in the reasonable knowledge that it might lead to death, and that caused the death of another person. 14828

4.4.3.3 Deliberations and Conclusion

Nyiramasuhuko

- 6166. Nyiramasuhuko ordered the killings of Tutsis who were taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Chamber has found that this constitutes genocide and the crimes against humanity of extermination and persecution (; ;).
- 6167. The Chamber likewise finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty of ordering violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

Ntahobali

- 6168. Ntahobali killed Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblocks, including a Tutsi girl who he first raped; ordered the killing of a Tutsi named Léopold Ruvurajabo, of about 200 Tutsis at the IRST and of Tutsis taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office; and aided and abetted the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and the killing and serious bodily and mental harm of Tutsis abducted from the EER. The Chamber has found that these acts constitute genocide and the crimes against humanity of extermination and persecution (; ;).
- 6169. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds Ntahobali guilty of committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

¹⁴⁸²⁸ *Dragomir Milošević*, Judgement (AC), para. 108 (quoting *Dragomir Milošević*, Judgement (TC), para. 931); see also Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC), paras. 2169, fn. 2351, 2242.

Nsabimana

- 6170. By failing to discharge his duty, Nsabimana aided and abetted the killings at the Butare *préfecture* office. The Chamber has found that this constitutes genocide and the crimes against humanity of extermination and persecution (; ;).
- 6171. Based on similar reasoning, the Chamber finds Nsabimana guilty of aiding and abetting violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

Nteziryayo

6172. The Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Nteziryayo is criminally responsible for any killings or other acts of violence. Accordingly, the Chamber acquits Nteziryayo of the charge of violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

Kanyabashi

- 6173. Kanyabashi bears superior responsibility for the killings of Tutsis by soldiers at Matyazo Clinic, and by Ngoma *commune* policemen at Kabakobwa Hill. The Chamber has found that these acts constitute genocide and the crimes against humanity of extermination and persecution (; ;).
- 6174. The Chamber likewise finds Kanyabashi guilty, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute, of violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

Ndayambaje

- 6175. Ndayambaje aided and abetted the killing of Tutsis at Mugombwa Church on 20 and 21 April 1994 and at Kabuye Hill from 22 through 24 April 1994, and instigated the killing of Tutsis after his swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. The Chamber has found that these acts constitute genocide and the crimes against humanity of extermination and persecution (; ;).
- 6176. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds Ndayambaje guilty of instigating and aiding and abetting violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

4.4.4 Outrages Upon Personal Dignity

4.4.4.1 Introduction

6177. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali are charged with outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, pursuant to Article 4 (e) of the Statute. This charge comprises Count 11 of their Indictment.

4.4.4.2 Law

- 6178. Article 4 (e) of the Statute provides that the Tribunal has the power to prosecute persons who committed or ordered serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, including "[o]utrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment, rape, enforced prostitution and any form of indecent assault".
- 6179. Outrages upon personal dignity are constituted by any act or omission which would be generally considered to cause serious humiliation, degradation or otherwise be a serious attack on human dignity. The *mens rea* requires only knowledge of the possible consequences of the charged act or omission. ¹⁴⁸²⁹

4.4.4.3 Deliberations and Conclusion

- 6180. The Chamber recalls that it would not consider rapes at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, the Butare *préfecture* office, or the *École Évangeliste du Rwanda* for the count of genocide, but that it would address them under the counts of rape as a crime against humanity and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto (; ;).
- 6181. The Chamber also recalls that it did not find that Nyiramasuhuko was responsible for rapes at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock (), and that neither Nyiramasuhuko nor Ntahobali were criminally responsible for the rapes committed by soldiers at the EER (). The Chamber considers that the same reasoning applies here.

Nyiramasuhuko

- 6182. Nyiramasuhuko ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsis at the Butare *préfecture* office (). Although this could have been charged pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the Statute, the Chamber notes that Paragraph 6.37, concerning rapes, was pled only in support of Nyiramasuhuko's superior responsibility. Under these circumstances, and taking into account the Chamber's discussion of this paragraph and of notice, above (), the Chamber will only consider whether Nyiramasuhuko bears superior responsibility for events at the Butare *préfecture* office.
- 6183. The Chamber has found, in the context of rape as a crime against humanity, that Nyiramasuhuko bears superior responsibility for these events (). For the same reasons, the Chamber finds Nyiramasuhuko guilty, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute, of outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC), paras. 163 (quoting Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 507), 165 (quoting Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC), para. 512); Bagosora, Judgement (TC), para. 2250.
 Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (pled in support of Counts 7 and 11 against

Para. 6.37 of the Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment (pled in support of Counts 7 and 11 against Nyiramasuhuko pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the Statute, and in support of Counts 7 and 11 against Ntahobali pursuant to Article 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute).

Ntahobali

- 6184. Ntahobali raped a Tutsi girl near the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock. He also raped Tutsi women at the Butare *préfecture* office, ordered *Interahamwe* to rape Tutsis there, and aided and abetted the rapes of a Tutsi there. The Chamber has found that these acts constitute rape as a crime against humanity ().
- 6185. Based on the same reasoning, the Chamber finds Ntahobali guilty of committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II.

CHAPTER V: VERDICT

6186. For the reasons set out in this Judgement, having considered all evidence and submissions of the parties, the Trial Chamber finds unanimously in respect of

PAULINE NYIRAMASUHUKO as follows:

Count 1: GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: DISMISSED (Complicity in Genocide)

Count 4: NOT GUILTY of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Count 5: DISMISSED (Murder as a Crime Against Humanity)

Count 6: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Rape)

Count 8: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 9: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 10: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

Count 11: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Outrages upon Personal

Dignity)

ARSÈNE SHALOM NTAHOBALI as follows:

Count 1: NOT GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: DISMISSED (Complicity in Genocide)

Count 4: None Charged

Count 5: DISMISSED (Murder as a Crime Against Humanity)

Count 6: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Rape)

Count 8: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 9: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 10: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

Count 11: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Outrages upon Personal

Dignity)

SYLVAIN NSABIMANA as follows:

Count 1: NOT GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: DISMISSED (Complicity in Genocide)

Count 4: NOT GUILTY of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Count 5: DISMISSED (Murder as a Crime Against Humanity)

Count 6: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 8: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 9: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

ALPHONSE NTEZIRYAYO as follows:

Count 1: NOT GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: NOT GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: NOT GUILTY of Complicity in Genocide

Count 4: GUILTY of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Count 5: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Murder)

Count 6: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 8: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 9: NOT GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

JOSEPH KANYABASHI as follows:

Count 1: NOT GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: DISMISSED (Complicity in Genocide)

Count 4: GUILTY of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Count 5: DISMISSED (Murder as a Crime Against Humanity)

Count 6: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 8: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 9: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

ÉLIE NDAYAMBAJE as follows:

Count 1: NOT GUILTY of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

Count 2: GUILTY of Genocide

Count 3: DISMISSED (Complicity in Genocide)

Count 4: GUILTY of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Count 5: DISMISSED (Murder as a Crime Against Humanity)

Count 6: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Extermination)

Count 7: GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Persecution)

Count 8: NOT GUILTY of Crimes Against Humanity (Other Inhumane Acts)

Count 9: GUILTY of Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II Thereto (Violence to Life, Health

and Physical or Mental Well-Being of Persons)

CHAPTER VI: SENTENCING

6.1 Introduction

6187. Having found Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje guilty of crimes under the jurisdiction of the Tribunal, the Chamber must determine appropriate sentences.

6.2 Law

6188. All crimes under the Tribunal's Statute are serious violations of international humanitarian law. When determining a sentence, a Trial Chamber has considerable, though not unlimited, discretion on account of its obligation to individualise penalties to fit the individual circumstances of an accused and to reflect the gravity of the crimes for which the accused has been convicted. He accused has been convicted.

6189. The gravity of the offences committed is the deciding factor in the determination of the sentence. 14833 Gravity entails the particular circumstances of the case, the form and degree of the participation of the accused in the crimes, and the number of victims. 14834 It is not relevant, for the purpose of assessing gravity, that the crimes were committed in the accused's own *préfecture*, rather than at the national level. 14835

6190. The Appeals Chamber has stated that "sentences of like individuals in like cases should be comparable". However, similar cases do not provide a legally binding benchmark for sentences. Although assistance can be drawn from previous decisions, such assistance is often limited, as each case contains a multitude of variables. In light of this, the Appeals Chamber has recognised that "[d]ifferences between cases are often more significant than similarities and different mitigating and aggravating circumstances might dictate different results".

6191. Pursuant to Article 23 of the Statute, and Rule 101 (B) of the Rules, the Chamber shall take into account the general practice regarding prison sentences in the courts of Rwanda, any aggravating circumstances, any mitigating circumstances, and the extent to which the convicted person has already served any penalty imposed by a court of any State for the same act. These factors are not exhaustive. 14839

¹⁴⁸³¹ Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC), para. 367 (quoting Article 1 of the Statute).

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1037; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 291.

¹⁴⁸³³ Nshogoza, Judgement (AC), para. 98; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1060.

¹⁴⁸³⁴ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 243.

¹⁴⁸³⁵ Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC), para. 229.

¹⁴⁸³⁶ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 326; Strugar, Judgement (AC), para. 348; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 681.

¹⁴⁸³⁷ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 326; Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC), para. 681.

¹⁴⁸³⁸ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), para. 326 (citing Limaj et al., Judgement (AC), para. 135; Dragan Nikolić, Judgement (AC), para. 19).

¹⁴⁸³⁹ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 228; Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1038; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 290.

- 6192. Under Rwandan law, similar crimes as those at issue here carry the possible penalty of life imprisonment, depending on the nature of the accused's participation. 14840
- 6193. Aggravating circumstances need to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The Chamber may only consider aggravating circumstances that are pled in the indictment, and any circumstance that is included as an element of the crime for which an individual is convicted will not be considered as an aggravating factor. Aggravating factor.
- 6194. The Appeals Chamber has listed various factors which, if proven beyond a reasonable doubt, may qualify as aggravating circumstances. These include the position of the accused, the length of time during which the crime continued, premeditation, the active participation of a superior in the criminal acts of subordinates, the sexual and violent nature of the acts, the vulnerability of the victims, the status of the victims, and the circumstances of the offences generally. 14844
- 6195. A particularly large number of victims can also be an aggravating circumstance. This is true even for extermination as a crime against humanity, which requires "killing on a large scale", so long as the extent of the killings exceeds that required for extermination. ¹⁴⁸⁴⁵
- 6196. In circumstances where the Chamber has not found alleged superior responsibility beyond a reasonable doubt, the Chamber may consider an individual's influence as an aggravating circumstance. Similarly, while a position of authority does not automatically warrant a harsher sentence, the abuse of such a position may constitute an aggravating factor. This remains the case even where the Chamber has taken this authority into account in finding responsibility as a superior. 14847
- 6197. Mitigating circumstances need only be established by the balance of the probabilities. Such circumstances include any cooperation with the Prosecution, voluntary surrender, good character with no prior criminal convictions, comportment in detention, personal and family circumstances, indirect participation, age and assistance to detainees or

¹⁴⁸⁴⁰ *Gatete*, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 17 November 2008, paras. 22-25 (assessing Rwanda's penalty structure); *Kanyarukiga*, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 6 June 2008, paras. 22-25 (same); *see also Semanza*, Judgement (AC), para. 377 ("The command for Trial Chambers to 'have recourse to the general practice regarding prison sentences in the courts of Rwanda does not oblige the Trial Chambers to conform to that practice; it only obliges the Trial Chambers to take account of that practice."") (quoting *Serushago*, Judgement (AC), para. 30); *Dragan Nikolić*, Judgement (AC), para. 69.

Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1038; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), paras. 82, 294.

¹⁴⁸⁴² Renzaho, Judgement (AC), para. 615; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 82.

Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 137.

¹⁴⁸⁴⁴ Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 686.

¹⁴⁸⁴⁵ Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC), para. 135.

¹⁴⁸⁴⁶ Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 335-336.

¹⁴⁸⁴⁷ Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC), paras. 302-303.

¹⁴⁸⁴⁸ Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC), para. 1038; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 294.

victims. 14849 Selective assistance of Tutsis may be given only limited weight as a mitigating factor 14850

6198. An absence of mitigating factors does not require the maximum sentence, while the existence of mitigating factors does not preclude a life sentence where the gravity requires that the maximum sentence be imposed. There is no category of case where a life sentence is required, nor a category where a life sentence is barred.

6199. Rule 86 (C) of the Rules states that "[t]he parties shall also address matters of sentencing in closing arguments", and it is therefore the accused's prerogative to identify any mitigating circumstances at the time. As a general rule, if an accused fails to put forward relevant information at the appropriate time, the Chamber is not under an obligation to seek out such information. The Defence teams generally declined, to various extents, to make submissions concerning sentencing. Nevertheless, the Chamber will consider any mitigating circumstances in the interests of justice.

6.3 Nyiramasuhuko

6200. The Chamber has found Nyiramasuhuko guilty of conspiracy to commit genocide, genocide, rape as a crime against humanity, extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and two separate counts of serious violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber must determine an appropriate sentence.

6.3.1 Submissions

6201. The Prosecution submits that Nyiramasuhuko's crimes place her in the category of the most serious offenders. The Prosecution requests that Nyiramasuhuko be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders.

6202. The Prosecution argues that Nyiramasuhuko held one of the highest positions in the country as Minister for Family and Women's Affairs in the Interim Government during the events. One of her roles was to protect the population. Instead, she caused an inconceivable

¹⁴⁸⁴⁹ Blaškić, Judgement (AC), para. 696.

Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC), para. 389; see also Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 256; Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 311.

¹⁴⁸⁵¹ Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC), para. 70.

¹⁴⁸⁵² *Renzaho*, Judgement (AC), para. 612.

¹⁴⁸⁵³ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 260.

¹⁴⁸⁵⁴ Rukundo, Judgement (AC), para. 255; Bikindi, Judgement (AC), para. 165; Muhimana, Judgement (AC), para. 231.

para. 231.

14855 For example, the Defence for Ntahobali, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje stated this position explicitly in their Closing Briefs: *see* Ntahobali Closing Brief, paras. 776-780; Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 666; Ndayambaje Closing Brief, paras. 1021-1025. During their Closing Arguments, however, the Defence teams addressed mitigation to varying degrees.

¹⁴⁸⁵⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 523, para. 15.

¹⁴⁸⁵⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁸⁵⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

number of deaths in Butare *préfecture* as result of her direct participation in elaborating and executing the plan of genocide. ¹⁴⁸⁵⁹ It stresses that the crimes in which Nyiramasuhuko took part were heinous. ¹⁴⁸⁶⁰

6203. The Prosecution underscores that there are no mitigating circumstances for Nyiramasuhuko that would justify a lesser sentence than the maximum penalty. 14861

6204. The Defence submits that Nyiramasuhuko has been unreasonably detained for the last 12 years in Arusha and that this fact should be taken into account while determining her sentence in case of conviction. 14862

6.3.2 Gravity of the Offences

6205. The Chamber has found Nyiramasuhuko guilty of conspiracy to commit genocide. The Chamber has also found Nyiramasuhuko guilty of genocide, crimes against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, with respect to her involvement in various crimes including rape, abduction and killing of Tutsis committed at the Butare *préfecture* office between 19 April 1994 and late June 1994. The Chamber notes in particular the seriousness and atrocity of crimes repetitively perpetrated at the Butare *préfecture* office throughout a period of time where hundreds of Tutsis were abducted, raped and killed.

6.3.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

6206. The Chamber considers the vast number of victims, far in excess of the threshold for extermination as a crime against humanity, to be an aggravating circumstance.

6207. The Appeals Chamber has held that an accused's abuse of his or her superior position or influence may be considered as an aggravating factor. In the Chamber's view, Nyiramasuhuko's position as Minister for Family and Women's Affairs during the events made her a person of high authority, influential and respected within the country and especially in Butare *préfecture* from where she hails. Instead of preserving the peaceful co-existence between communities and the welfare of the family, Nyiramasuhuko, on a number of occasions, used her influence over *Interahamwe* to commit crimes such as rape and murder. This abuse of general authority *vis-à-vis* the assailants is an aggravating factor.

6208. The Chamber notes as an aggravating factor the catastrophic number of victims across Butare *préfecture* who perished and suffered as a result of Nyiramasuhuko's participation in the conspiracy to commit genocide. The Chamber further considers as an aggravating factor the numerous victims of rapes and killings at the Butare *préfecture* office in particular, ¹⁴⁸⁶⁴ many of whom were particularly vulnerable.

¹⁴⁸⁵⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 527, paras. 33-34.

¹⁴⁸⁶⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 528, para. 35.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 528, para. 36.

¹⁴⁸⁶² Nyiramasuhuko Closing Argument, T. 22 April 2009 p. 53.

¹⁴⁸⁶³ Simba, Judgement (AC), paras. 284-285.

¹⁴⁸⁶⁴ Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 337-338.

6209. The Chamber has considered Nyiramasuhuko's background and individual circumstances. In mitigation, the Chamber notes Nyiramasuhuko's service as a Government minister since 1992. 14865 The Chamber notes as well her long service in the Ministry of Health. 14866 These mitigating factors are, however, of a very limited weight, given the gravity of the crimes committed by Nyiramasuhuko.

6.4 Ntahobali

6210. The Chamber has found Ntahobali guilty of committing, ordering, and aiding and abetting genocide, extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber has also found Ntahobali guilty of committing and ordering rape as a crime against humanity, and outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto.

6.4.1 **Submissions**

- 6211. The Prosecution submits that Ntahobali's crimes place him in the category of the most serious offenders. 14867 The Prosecution requests that Ntahobali be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. 14868 It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders. 14869
- 6212. The Prosecution submits that the crimes that Ntahobali and his subordinates committed were of the most serious gravity. They were deliberate, unprovoked and brutal; they were aimed at vulnerable Tutsi civilians who were not participating in any hostilities. 14870
- 6213. The Prosecution argues that Ntahobali was a very influential *Interahamwe* who was feared by his subordinates over whom he exercised power and authority. 14871 It emphasised the continuous repetition of Ntahobali's crimes, his repeated issuance of orders to commit crimes, and his continuous supervision of the commission of these crimes. All of his acts were premeditated. 14872 No mitigation of his sentence is warranted. 14873
- 6214. The Defence submits that the absence of cooperation between the Accused and the Prosecution and the gravity of the crime, among others, should not be considered as aggravating factors. In any event, Ntahobali's acceptance to be interviewed suffices as an indicator of his desire or will to cooperate. 14874

¹⁴⁸⁶⁵ Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief, para. 508.

¹⁴⁸⁶⁶ T. 31 August 2005 pp. 33-35, 38-39 (Nyiramasuhuko).

¹⁴⁸⁶⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 523, para. 15.

¹⁴⁸⁶⁸ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁸⁶⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 529, para. 42.

¹⁴⁸⁷¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 530, paras. 44-45.

Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 531, para. 48.

¹⁴⁸⁷³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 531, paras. 49-51.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁴ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 p. 54.

6215. Contrary to the Prosecution submissions, the Defence argues that Ntahobali should benefit from mitigating factors. The Chamber should take into account his willingness to surrender to the Tribunal, his young age during the events and at the time of his arrest, the fact that he is father of three young children and his good character before and during the events as testified to by various witnesses. 14875

6.4.2 Gravity of the Offences

- 6216. The Chamber has found Ntahobali guilty of genocide, crimes against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto, with respect to his involvement in various crimes. These crimes include the rapes and killings of Tutsis at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, the killings of Tutsis at the IRST, the rapes and killings of Tutsis at the Butare *préfecture* office, the killing of the Rwamukwaya family and the killing of Tutsis abducted from the EER.
- 6217. The Chamber considers that these crimes are of the utmost gravity. These crimes were not isolated instances, but occurred in various parts of Butare *préfecture*, throughout a significant period of time. In particular, the Chamber notes the seriousness and atrocity of crimes repetitively perpetrated at the Butare *préfecture* office, where hundreds of Tutsis were abducted, raped and killed.

6.4.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

- 6218. The Chamber considers the vast number of victims, far in excess of the threshold for extermination as a crime against humanity, to be an aggravating circumstance.
- 6219. In addition, the repetitive atrocities perpetrated by Ntahobali at the Butare *préfecture* office in particular shows that these acts were premeditated making the Chamber believe that they may have continued as long as the refugees remained there. Such premeditation amounts to an aggravating factor.
- 6220. The Chamber also recalls that Ntahobali's responsibility as a superior at the Hotel Ihuliro roadblock, in relation to the Butare *préfecture* office, and at the EER are to be considered in sentencing.
- 6221. The Chamber notes Ntahobali's young age during the events, the fact that he is father of three young children, and any good character before these events can be considered as mitigating factors in his favour. The Chamber concludes, however, that these are of very limited weight. Of greater weight as a mitigating circumstance is that Ntahobali voluntary surrendered himself to the jurisdiction of the Tribunal.
- 6222. Despite the weight accorded to these mitigating circumstances, the Chamber considers that they pale in comparison to the sheer gravity of Ntahobali's crimes, even before aggravating circumstances are taken into account.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁵ Ntahobali Closing Argument, T. 23 April 2009 pp. 54-55, 57-58.

6.5 **Nsabimana**

6223. The Chamber has found Nsabimana guilty of aiding and abetting genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber must now determine an appropriate sentence.

6.5.1 Submissions

- 6224. The Prosecution submits that Nsabimana's crimes place him in the category of the most serious offenders. 14876 The Prosecution requests that Nsabimana be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. 14877 It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders. 14878
- 6225. According to the Prosecution, aggravating factors include Nsabimana's position as préfet, his breach of trust, the vulnerability and suffering of the victims, the duration of the offences, and his abuse of authority by failing to utilise his power under the law to protect and defend the people of Butare préfecture. 14879
- 6226. The Prosecution further submits that any mitigating factors are countered by Nsabimana's self-serving demeanour. His assistance of persons taking refuge and his evacuation of orphans should be seen as a further aggravating factor as they show that Nsabimana had the power to save lives and simply chose to save a few. There are also no mitigating factors. Accordingly, the Prosecution argues that he should be sentenced to life imprisonment on each count in his Indictment. 14880
- 6227. The Nsabimana Defence submits that mitigating factors include the circumstances surrounding Nsabimana's appointment as *préfet* of Butare and his obligation to accept the post, his attempt to stem the wave of killings, and the evidence that he never participated actively in the killings. 14881 The Defence submits that albeit with enormous difficulties. Nsabimana conceived and enabled the evacuation to Burundi of close to a thousand, if not more, Tutsis and other persons, including children and that he organised several other discrete and individual evacuations with foreign dignitaries. He protected some Tutsi individuals and their families in his home and elsewhere in the *préfecture*, helping and providing better protection for the lives of some Rwandan Tutsis and Hutus alike through food, medical facilities and drugs. 14882 The Defence submits that he deserves extensive mitigating circumstances, as he was able to save several human lives irrespective of ethnicity in an atmosphere of terror and at risk to his own life. 14883

¹⁴⁸⁷⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 523, para. 15.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁷ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

¹⁴⁸⁷⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 3, para. 7; p. 229, paras. 3-4; p. 282, para. 176; p. 523, para. 15; pp. 532-537,

paras. 53-56, 58-71.

14880 Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 3, paras. 7-9; p. 523, para. 15; p. 526, para. 30; pp. 532-536, paras. 53-55, 58-

¹⁴⁸⁸¹ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1838-1860, 1949, 1964, 2001-2002.

¹⁴⁸⁸² Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1966-1993, 1995, 2016.

¹⁴⁸⁸³ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 1879, 1997, 2000.

6228. Furthermore, the Interim Government placed Nsabimana on its list of accomplices and he was consequently dismissed under humiliating conditions. The Defence submits that Nsabimana expressed regrets, that he wilfully presented himself for trial, where his conduct was good as he did not obstruct justice in any way, that he has exhibited exemplary conduct in detention, and that he condemned the massacres that were committed. 14884

6.5.2 Gravity of the Offences

6229. The Chamber has determined that, between 19 April 1994 and 17 June 1994, Nsabimana was *préfet* of Butare, and as such was the highest authority in the *préfecture*. In this regard, there is no doubt that he was a very prominent person in Butare *préfecture* at this time. For a period of almost two months, numerous persons participated in a campaign of abductions, rapes and slaughter that targeted Tutsi civilians, including those who were particularly vulnerable, taking refuge at the Butare *préfecture* office.

6230. The Chamber has not found that Nsabimana was a direct perpetrator in any massacre or killing perpetrated in Butare *préfecture*, or that he ordered or was in any other way directly associated with any given attack. Nevertheless, the magnitude of human devastation could only have occurred because he failed to discharge his legal duty. Nsabimana's position as *préfet* imposed upon him a duty to act to protect those vulnerable people within his realm. His omission in this regard at the Butare *préfecture* office, despite his knowledge that these acts were occurring around him, was central to the crimes that resulted.

6.5.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

6231. The victims of the attacks at the Butare *préfecture* office were particularly vulnerable. The Chamber considers this as an aggravating circumstance. The Chamber notes, however, that other potentially aggravating factors have not been proven in Nsabimana's case, including any active criminal participation and premeditation.

6232. Instead, Nsabimana participated in the crimes at the *préfecture* office indirectly through his omission which, in the Chamber's view, warrants substantial mitigation. The Chamber also takes into account that Nsabimana discharged his legal duty around 5 to 15 June 1994 by requisitioning forces to the *préfecture* office. In addition, the Chamber was presented with evidence concerning humanitarian actions on behalf of Nsabimana, for instance providing help to the Rumiya family in seeking refuge in Mbazi *commune*, ¹⁴⁸⁸⁵ and assisting other individuals and groups of people in finding refuge, including one lady named José, whose husband had been killed; another one named Immaculée Mukantaganira, who had been attacked in the home of the family where she was staying; and a certain Madeleine Mukakagaba with her four children, who needed assistance. ¹⁴⁸⁸⁶ Nsabimana also participated in evacuations of orphans,

¹⁴⁸⁸⁶ T. 12 October 2006 pp. 46, 48-52 (Nsabimana).

. .

¹⁴⁸⁸⁴ Nsabimana Closing Brief, paras. 2011-2014, 2019.

¹⁴⁸⁸⁵ T. 12 October 2004 p. 10 (Guichaoua); Prosecution Exhibit 136B (Guichaoua Expert Report, Vol. 1) p. 54; T. 22 August 2006 p. 25 (Karemano).

on different occasions during the relevant time, including facilitating the evacuation of approximately 600 children from *Group Scolaire*. ¹⁴⁸⁸⁷

6233. The Chamber further considers Nsabimana's expression of remorse¹⁴⁸⁸⁸ and his comportment in detention. 14889

6.6 Nteziryayo

6234. The Chamber has found Nteziryayo guilty of committing direct and public incitement to commit genocide.

6.6.1 Submissions

6235. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo's crimes place him in the category of the most serious offenders. The Prosecution requests that Nteziryayo be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders. 14892

6236. The Prosecution submits that Nteziryayo was a person of considerable influence in Butare *préfecture*. He made it to the higher ranks of military command in the Rwandan Armed Forces, which would have commanded respect and even awe. Instead of harnessing this influence to put an end to the killings, he actively trained, armed and led civilians so they could be more effective killers.

6237. The Prosecution submits Nteziryayo was directly responsible for the killing of innocent people, who had entrusted their lives to him as their *préfet*. His premeditation and his direct participation as a perpetrator, should serve as aggravating factors. It submits that there are no mitigating circumstances, as any assistance he may have proffered to Tutsis was overshadowed by his self-serving motives to evacuate his own family and by his failure to garner his power to save more. Accordingly, the Prosecution submits that he should be sentenced to imprisonment for the remainder of his life. ¹⁴⁸⁹³

6238. The Nteziryayo Defence submits that Nteziryayo's actions in saving Tutsis and protecting ordinary citizens, nuns, monks, bishops and others, should be considered in mitigation. It asserts that Nteziryayo has been detained for over 11 years and that his health problems should be factored into his sentencing as mitigation. 14894

_

¹⁴⁸⁸⁷ T. 5 July 2004 p. 75; T. 6 July 2004 p. 11 (Des Forges); 28 September 2006 pp. 42, 47 (Keane); T. 9 November 2006 pp. 24-25 (Witness AGWA); T. 3 July 2006 pp. 62-63 (Bararwandika).

¹⁴⁸⁸⁸ T. 17 October 2006 p. 44 ("personally, I would like to ask for pardon from the survivors who are today ... in no position to see their family members. That is the main thing that I have in my mind.").

¹⁴⁸⁸⁹ See Nsabimana Closing Brief (French), Annex II (Attestation of Good Conduct from the Commanding

¹⁴⁶⁸⁹ See Nsabimana Closing Brief (French), Annex II (Attestation of Good Conduct from the Commanding Officer of the United Nations Detention Facility in Arusha, signed 16 February 2009).

¹⁴⁸⁹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 523, para. 15.

¹⁴⁸⁹¹ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁸⁹² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

¹⁴⁸⁹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 538-542, paras. 74-89.

¹⁴⁸⁹⁴ Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 27-31.

6.6.2 Gravity of the Offences

6239. The Chamber has found that Nteziryayo incited the population to kill Tutsis at meetings. He was not a direct perpetrator in any massacre or killing perpetrated in Butare préfecture.

6240. The Chamber has determined that Nteziryayo had a leadership role in the civil defence programme in Butare *préfecture*, and that he was later sworn in as *préfet* of Butare, on 17 June 1994. As such, he exerted considerable authority and power in Butare *préfecture* at this time. During this period, soldiers and civilian militiamen participated in a widespread and systematic campaign of slaughter and targeted Tutsi civilians, including those who were particularly vulnerable, as well as Hutu moderates.

6.6.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

6241. In aggravation, the Chamber has considered Nteziryayo's role as leader of the civil defence programme and his position as préfet of Butare préfecture. Given his high profile position, Nteziryayo's active incitement and encouragement of the public to commit genocide demonstrates the abuse of his position. ¹⁴⁸⁹⁵ This constitutes an aggravating factor.

6242. The Chamber has already discussed the background and individual circumstances of Nteziryayo. It has taken into account his selective assistance to some Tutsis in Butare préfecture during this period, including Egide Gatera and his wife Rose Umulisa, who he welcomed into his house and helped evacuate to Burundi, as well as, among others, six seminarians of Mbazi, in cooperation with Father Vieckoslav. 14896 The Chamber has assessed his efforts to facilitate the evacuation of orphans on 18 June 1994 and 3 July 1994 respectively. It is mindful of Nteziryayo's endeavours in relation to the protection of Bishop Gahamanvi, a Tutsi, and other priests, Tutsi nuns and monks at the Karubanda minor seminary, and religious personalities in Save, including the Tutsi parish of Father Calver Rahundi and the Mother Superior of the Benebikira sisters, where many Tutsi refugees had sought sanctuary. 14897 In the Chamber's view, this selective assistance carries only limited weight as a mitigating factor.

6243. The Chamber has assessed these mitigating factors presented. However, helping a handful of Tutsi civilians does not outweigh the gravity of the crimes for which Nteziryayo has been charged. 14898 In the Chamber's view, the gravity of the crimes and the aggravating factors negate any mitigating factors.

6.7 Kanyabashi

6244. The Chamber has found Kanyabashi guilty of genocide, direct and public incitement to commit genocide, extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity and serious

¹⁴⁸⁹⁸ Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC), para. 314.

¹⁴⁸⁹⁵ Seromba, Judgement (AC), para. 230; Simba, Judgement (AC), para. 284.

¹⁴⁸⁹⁶ T. 15 May 2007 pp. 30, 54, 61-62 (Nteziryayo); Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 27-28. See Rugambarara, Judgement (TC), para. 37; Nzabirinda, Judgement (TC), para. 77; Serugendo, Judgement (TC), paras. 68-69.

14897 Nteziryayo Closing Argument, T. 28 April 2009 pp. 27-28.

violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber must determine an appropriate sentence.

6.7.1 Submissions

- 6245. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi's crimes place him in the category of the most serious offenders. The Prosecution requests that Kanyabashi be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders.
- 6246. The Prosecution submits that Kanyabashi's crimes constitute the most serious offences known to law. They were committed in a cold, premeditated and brutal manner; they were directed against thousands of vulnerable and innocent people, who had entrusted their lives to Kanyabashi as he was their *bourgmestre*. 14902
- 6247. The Prosecution submits that, as the *bourgmestre* of one of the most modern and powerful *communes* of Rwanda, Kanyabashi wielded powers and influence by virtue of his position. He held *de jure* powers over the *conseillers* and policemen in Ngoma *commune*, and *de facto* powers over soldiers and *commune* police. Kanyabashi abused his position to encourage and instigate his subordinates to commit the most atrocious crimes upon their fellow citizens, and he betrayed the confidence and trust of his own people by leading the killers and organising the massacres. 14903
- 6248. The Prosecution submits that evidence adduced at trial demonstrates that Kanyabashi planned, led and directly participated in the killings carried out at various locations in Ngoma *commune*, including Kabakobwa and Matyazo Clinic. Kanyabashi wilfully and knowingly ordered the killing of thousands of innocent civilians based solely on their ethnicity. 14904
- 6249. The Prosecution underscores that Kanyabashi did not surrender to the Tribunal. It further submits that Kanyabashi has not, at any time, cooperated with the Prosecution, has not shown any remorse or acknowledged his guilt for the crimes committed. Therefore, no evidence of mitigating circumstances exists in the case of Kanyabashi. 14905
- 6250. The Kanyabashi Defence does not make any submission in relation to sentencing;¹⁴⁹⁰⁶ however, throughout its Closing Brief it refers to a series of factors that might be considered as mitigating circumstances by the Chamber in determining a sentence against Kanyabashi.

_

¹⁴⁸⁹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 523, para. 15.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁰ Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁹⁰¹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

¹⁴⁹⁰² Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 542, 544, paras. 90, 96.

¹⁴⁹⁰³ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 543-545, paras. 92-94, 97-100.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 545-546, paras. 101-109.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 546-547, paras. 110-111.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁶ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, para. 666.

- 6251. The Kanyabashi Defence underscores Kanyabashi's purported good character. It submits that in 1991, Kanyabashi earned the nickname of *Kanyabatutsi* because he was considered a friend of the Tutsis and he did not have any discriminatory tendency. 14907
- 6252. The Kanyabashi Defence submits there is clear evidence of Kanyabashi's efforts to stop the killings and call for peace on several occasions between April and June 1994. In particular, it submits that Kanyabashi's actions show that he did everything in his power to forestall the massacres from spreading to Ngoma *commune*, by establishing blockades at the *commune's* periphery; by organising meetings with civilians, bringing together the entire population; and also meetings with policemen, where they were instructed not to take part in the killings, to resist the assailants, to collaborate with the population without any distinction, to provide security and assistance to the entire population, to help and rescue targeted persons and allow refugees into the *commune*. 14908

6.7.2 Gravity of the Offences

6253. The Chamber has found Kanyabashi guilty of genocide pursuant to Article 6 (3) for the massacres at Matyazo Clinic and Kabakobwa Hill. Based upon these events, the Chamber has also found Kanyabashi guilty of extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and of serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. Finally, the Chamber has found Kanyabashi guilty of direct and public incitement to commit genocide for his megaphone announcements in May and June 1994. The Chamber considers that all these crimes are of an obvious gravity resulting in a significant number of casualties in terms of death and injuries.

6.7.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

- 6254. The Chamber considers the number of victims resulting from the killings at Matyazo and Kabakobwa as an aggravating factor in relation to Kanyabashi's conviction. In addition, the Chamber considers Kanyabashi's direct role in the Matyazo massacres, along with the position of authority he held over the physical perpetrators. The Chamber notes that Kanyabashi abused his position of authority in committing this crime, which amounts to an aggravating factor.
- 6255. The Chamber notes as well that as *bourgmestre* of Ngoma *commune*, Kanyabashi was an influential, respected figure in Butare. This aggravating factor is particularly significant in light of Kanyabashi's convictions for direct and public incitement to commit genocide. Rather than using his influence to stem the tide of the massacres occurring in his *commune*, Kanyabashi used his status and influence to further these tremendous crimes. The Chamber considers this abuse of authority as an aggravating factor.
- 6256. The Chamber has considered Kanyabashi's background and individual circumstances. It takes into account Kanyabashi's purported good character and his 20 years of service as a *bourgmestre*. It further considers the evidence indicative of Kanyabashi's efforts, on occasions, to stop the massacres from spreading and to assist the refugees. However, these

¹⁴⁹⁰⁹ Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 337-338.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁷ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 23-24, 27.

¹⁴⁹⁰⁸ Kanyabashi Closing Brief, paras. 108, 174-177, 635, 644-646.

mitigating elements are of limited weight compared to the gravity of the crimes for which Kanyabashi has been convicted.

6.8 Ndayambaje

6257. The Chamber has found Ndayambaje guilty of genocide, direct and public incitement to commit genocide, extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber must determine an appropriate sentence.

6.8.1 Submissions

- 6258. The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje's crimes place him in the category of the most serious offenders. The Prosecution requests that Ndayambaje be sentenced to the maximum penalty of life imprisonment for each count of the Indictment upon which a finding of guilt is based. It submits that by imposing a sentence on each count, the Chamber will assist in deterring other potential offenders.
- 6259. The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje was directly responsible for the killing of thousands of innocent people. He committed these crimes in a cold, pre-meditated, and brutal manner. He abused the authority that was entrusted to him to protect and defend the people of Muganza. He had the ability to prevent and punish the perpetrators, however he chose not to, and instead he was in the forefront in the organisation of the killings and directing them. ¹⁴⁹¹³
- 6260. The Prosecution further submits that Ndayambaje had tremendous influence over Muganza *commune* in his capacity as *de jure bourgmestre* for so many years and then as *de facto bourgmestre* who was later reappointed. He used his political powers by virtue of his position to encourage and instigate his subjects to commit the most atrocious crimes upon their fellow citizens, and spearheaded massacres against Tutsis. 14914
- 6261. As aggravating circumstances, the Prosecution suggests Ndayambaje's position as *bourgmestre* and his breach of trust, his premeditation, his direct participation as a perpetrator, the violent and humiliating nature of his acts and the vulnerability of the victims, and the duration of the offences and suffering of his victims. 14915
- 6262. The Prosecution argues that an influential person in the community such as Ndayambaje should be held to a higher standard because he violated the trust placed in him. The Prosecution contends that Ndayambaje betrayed the confidence and trust of his people by leading the killers and organising the massacres. According to the Prosecution, such betrayal constitutes a gravely aggravating factor. 14917

¹⁴⁹¹⁰ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 3, para. 7.

Prosecution Closing Argument, T. 21 April 2009 p. 48; Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 30.

¹⁴⁹¹² Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 526, para. 29.

¹⁴⁹¹³ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 547, para. 112.

¹⁴⁹¹⁴ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 547, para. 114.

¹⁴⁹¹⁵ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 548, para. 117.

¹⁴⁹¹⁶ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 548, para. 118.

¹⁴⁹¹⁷ Prosecution Closing Brief, pp. 548-549, paras. 119-120.

6263. The Prosecution submits that Ndayambaje was a willing participant who knowingly ordered the killing of thousands of innocent civilians based solely on their ethnicity. Ndayambaje not only planned the massacres but also directly participated in some of them. This is a seriously aggravating factor. The Prosecution underscores that the Tutsi victims of Ndayambaje's crimes were killed in the most atrocious manner. 14918

6264. The Prosecution concludes that no evidence of any mitigating circumstances exists in the case of Ndayambaje. He did not cooperate with the Prosecution, did not show any remorse for his crimes and did not surrender. 14919

6265. The Defence submits that in case of conviction, Ndayambaje should benefit from the broadest mitigating circumstances, taking into account everything that emerged from this trial relating to his personality and the circumstances under which he experienced the extremely difficult events from April to June 1994. 14920

6.8.2 Gravity of the Offences

6266. The Chamber has found Ndayambaje guilty of genocide for his direct participation in the massacres at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill in April 1994, and for his role in the ensuing killings of Tutsis in Muganza *commune* following an inciting speech he made during his swearing-in ceremony on 22 June 1994. Based upon his participation in these events, the Chamber has also found Ndayambaje guilty of extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and of serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II thereto. The Chamber has also found Ndayambaje guilty of direct and public incitement to commit genocide at Mugombwa Church and at his swearing-in ceremony. It is difficult to find befitting words to describe the gravity of these offences which led to a loss of life on a massive scale and caused immense human suffering.

6.8.3 Individual, Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances

6267. The Chamber considers that the number of victims, which far surpasses the threshold for extermination, is an aggravating factor. The Chamber recalls that hundreds, if not thousands, of predominantly Tutsis who took refuge at Kabuye Hill and at Mugombwa Church perished following days of intensified attacks.

6268. The Chamber notes as well that Ndayambaje was an influential, respected figure in Butare. Ndayambaje had been *bourgmestre* of Muganza *commune* between 1983 and 1992, prior to his participation in the attacks at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill. Furthermore, he committed genocide and incitement to commit genocide both before and after his reinstallation as *bourgmestre* in June 1994. Ndayambaje used his status and influence to further these grave crimes. The Chamber considers this abuse of authority as an aggravating factor.

¹⁴⁹¹⁸ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 549, paras. 122-124.

¹⁴⁹¹⁹ Prosecution Closing Brief, p. 550, paras. 126, 128.

¹⁴⁹²⁰ Ndayambaje Closing Brief, para. 1025.

¹⁴⁹²¹ Semanza, Judgement (AC), paras. 337-338.

6269. The Chamber observes that massacres at Mugombwa Church and Kabuye Hill in particular, were carried out over days with the use of weapons capable of killing on a mass scale. As result of these repetitive attacks, very few out of hundreds if not thousands of refugees who gathered at these places survived. In the Chamber's view, the premeditated nature of these attacks constitutes an aggravating factor.

6270. The Chamber has considered Ndayambaje's background and individual circumstances. The Chamber notes in particular the propriety of Ndayambaje's first tenure as *bourgmestre* between 1983 and October 1992. Witnesses described him as an honest man who was concerned about the welfare of the people and the agricultural sector. At that time, there was no ethnic tension in Muganza *commune* and no favouritism towards any specific ethnic group. The Chamber also notes that during the events in May 1994, Ndayambaje accommodated two Tutsis in his home. However, the Chamber accords these mitigating circumstances very limited weight in view of the gravity of Ndayambaje's crimes and the nature of his involvement in them.

6.9 Conclusion

6271. The Chamber has the discretion to impose a single sentence, and it chooses to do so in this case.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Pauline Nyiramasuhuko to life imprisonment.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Shalom Ntahobali to life imprisonment.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Sylvain Nsabimana to 25 years' imprisonment.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Alphonse Nteziryayo to 30 years' imprisonment.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Joseph Kanyabashi to 35 years' imprisonment.

Considering all the relevant circumstances discussed above, the Chamber **SENTENCES** Élie Ndayambaje to life imprisonment.

¹⁴⁹²² T. 8 September 2008 p. 33 (Father Tiziano).

¹⁴⁹²³ T. 27 October 2008 pp. 51-52, 56 (Ndayambaje).

6.10 Consequential Orders

- 6272. Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje shall receive credit for time served since their arrest, where applicable, pursuant to Rule 101 (C) of the Rules. In this regard, the Chamber notes that Nyiramasuhuko and Nsabimana were arrested on 18 July 1997, Ntahobali was arrested on 24 July 1997, Nteziryayo was arrested on 24 April 1998, and Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje were arrested on 28 June 1995. 14924
- 6273. The above sentences shall be served in a State designated by the President of the Tribunal, in consultation with the Chamber. The Government of Rwanda and the designated State shall be notified of such designation by the Registrar.
- 6274. Until their transfer to their designated places of imprisonment, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Sylvain Nsabimana, Alphonse Nteziryayo, Joseph Kanyabashi and Élie Ndayambaje shall be kept in detention under the present conditions.
- 6275. Pursuant to Rule 102 (A) of the Rules, on notice of appeal, if any, enforcement of the above sentences shall be stayed until a decision has been rendered on the appeal, with the convicted persons nevertheless remaining in detention.

Arusha, 14 July 2011

William H. Sekule Presiding Judge Arlette Ramaroson Judge

Solomy Balungi Bossa Judge

[Seal of the Tribunal]

¹⁴⁹²⁴ See, e.g., Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999, Annex pp. 1-3.

ANNEX A: PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1.1 **Pre-Trial Proceedings**

1.1.1 Arrest Through Initial Appearance

1.1.1.1 Joseph Kanyabashi (1995 – 1999)

6276. Joseph Kanyabashi was arrested in Belgium on 28 June 1995.14925 On 11 January 1996, Trial Chamber II (the "Chamber") issued a Decision requesting that the Kingdom of Belgium defer any pending criminal proceedings against Kanyabashi in favour of the competence of the Tribunal. 14926

6277. On 11 July 1996, the Prosecution proffered an Indictment against Kanyabashi. 14927 On 15 July 1996 Judge Yakov Ostrovsky confirmed the Indictment 14928 and issued an Order directing the Kingdom of Belgium to transfer Kanyabashi to the United Nations Detention Facility ("UNDF"). 14929 He was transferred to the UNDF on 8 November 1996. 14930

6278. On 29 November 1996, Kanyabashi made his initial appearance before the Chamber. In default of a pleading by Kanyabashi, on the basis that he lacked legal representation of his choosing, the Chamber entered pleas of not guilty to all five counts against him, 14931 issued an Order for the continued detention of Kanyabashi, and set 8 April 1997 as the date for his trial. 14932

6279. On 6 March 1997, the Chamber granted a motion by the Prosecution and ordered protective measures for victims and witnesses. 14933

6280. On 18 June 1997, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Kanyabashi which challenged the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. 14934

¹⁴⁹²⁵ Application by the Prosecutor for a Formal Deferral by the Kingdom of Belgium, 8 January 1996.

¹⁴⁹²⁶ Case No. ICTR-96-2-D, In the Matter of a Proposal for a Formal Request for Deferral to the Competence of the Tribunal: The Kingdom of Belgium in Respect of Elie Ndayambaje, Joseph Kanyabashi and Alphonse Higaniro, 11 January 1996.

14927 *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Indictment, 11 July 1996.

¹⁴⁹²⁸ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision Confirming the Indictment, 15 July 1996.

¹⁴⁹²⁹ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender, 15 July 1996. ¹⁴⁹³⁰ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Provisional Release of the Accused, 21 February 2001, p. 2.

¹⁴⁹³¹ T. 29 November 1996 pp. 21-26 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-15).

¹⁴⁹³² Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision Following the Initial Appearance, 29

¹⁴⁹³³ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for the Protection of Witnesses and Victims, 6 March 1997.

¹⁴⁹³⁴ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Defence Motion on Jurisdiction, 18 June 1997. Kanyabashi filed a Notice of Appeal with respect to this decision, but it was dismissed by the Appeals Chamber as it did not set forth the grounds of the appeal. Although the Appeals Chamber granted Kanyabashi an extension of time within which to file a new notice of appeal, Kanyabashi withdrew his appeal without re-filing the notice: Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-AR72, Scheduling Order, 29 July 1997; Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-AR72, Order by Appeal Chamber, 19 August 1997.

- 6281. On 29 October 1997, the Chamber granted both Kanyabashi's request for the withdrawal of his Lead Counsel and the oral request of then Lead Counsel for Kanyabashi to withdraw from the case. On 28 October 2003, the Registrar withdrew the assignment of Michel Boyer as Co-Counsel for Kanyabashi.
- 6282. On 25 November 1997, the Chamber granted witness protection measures sought by the Kanyabashi Defence. 14937
- 6283. On 24 September 1998, the Chamber issued an oral Decision on Kanyabashi's objection to an *ex parte* amendment to the Indictment and ruled that the confirming judge must approve the amendment after confirmation, and the Chamber must approve the amendment, *inter partes*, after the initial appearance. 14938
- 6284. On 12 August 1999, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to amend the Indictment against Kanyabashi. The Prosecutor proffered an Amended Indictment the same day, which added four new counts. At his appearance on the Amended Indictment on 12 August 1999, Kanyabashi pled not guilty to all nine counts against him. 14940

1.1.1.2 Élie Ndayambaje (1995 – 1999)

- 6285. Élie Ndayambaje was arrested in Belgium on 28 June 1995.14941 On 11 January 1996, the Chamber issued a Decision requesting the Kingdom of Belgium to defer criminal proceedings against Ndayambaje in favour of the competence of the Tribunal. 14942
- 6286. On 17 June 1996, the Prosecutor submitted an Indictment against Ndayambaje, which was confirmed three days later by Judge Tafazzal H. Khan. Judge Khan issued a warrant of arrest and an order for surrender, directed to the Kingdom of Belgium, on 21 June 1996. On 8 November 1996, Ndayambaje was transferred to the UNDF.

_

¹⁴⁹³⁵ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Accused's Motion for Withdrawal of his Lead Counsel, 29 October 1997.

¹⁴⁹³⁶ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Registrar's Decision of Withdrawal of Mr. Michel Boyer Co-Counsel of the Accused Kanyabashi, 28 October 2003.

¹⁴⁹³⁷ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses and their Families, 25 November 1997.

¹⁴⁹³⁸ T. 24 September 1998 p. 88.

¹⁴⁹³⁹ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 6-9 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-15-I); *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Reasons for the Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment, 12 August 1999 (reasons given 10 September 1999). The Appeals Chamber dismissed Kanyabashi's appeal with respect to the Amendments to the Indictment: *Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-A, Decision Rejecting Notice of Appeal, 21 January 2000.

¹⁴⁹⁴⁰ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 18-21 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-15); Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

Application by the Prosecutor for a Formal Deferral by the Kingdom of Belgium, 8 January 1996.

Case No. ICTR-96-2-D, In the Matter of a Proposal for a Formal Request for Deferral to the Competence of the Tribunal: The Kingdom of Belgium in Respect of Elie Ndayambaje, Joseph Kanyabashi and Alphonse Higaniro, 11 January 1996.

¹⁴⁹⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Decision on the Review of the Indictment, 21 June 1996. ¹⁴⁹⁴⁴ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender, 21 June 1996. ¹⁴⁹⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision Following the Initial Appearance, 29 November 1996.

- 6287. Ndayambaje made his initial appearance before the Chamber on 29 November 1996 and pled not guilty to all five counts against him. The Chamber set 20 May 1997 as the date for trial and ordered Ndayambaje's continued detention.
- 6288. On 11 March 1997, the Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion for protective measures for victims and witnesses in the proceedings against Ndayambaje. 14948
- 6289. On 8 September 1997, the Chamber granted a motion by the Ndayambaje Defence seeking protective measures for Defence witnesses. 14949
- 6290. On 16 February 1998, the Registry issued a notice stating that Ndayambaje's trial would begin 20 April 1998. 14950
- 6291. On 7 July 1998, the Chamber granted Ndayambaje's request for the withdrawal of his Lead Counsel, Charles Tchoungang, and Co-Counsel, Jean Jacques Makolle. 14951
- 6292. On 10 August 1999, the Chamber confirmed amendments to Ndayambaje's Indictment, including the addition of three counts. 14952
- 6293. At his appearance on the Amended Indictment on 12 August 1999, Ndayambaje pled not guilty to all nine counts against him. 14953

1.1.1.3 Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali (1997 – 1999)

6294. The Prosecution submitted an Indictment against Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on 26 May 1997. ¹⁴⁹⁵⁴ On 29 May 1997, Judge Yakov Ostrovsky confirmed

1.

¹⁴⁹⁴⁶ T. 29 November 1996 pp. 27-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-8-I).

¹⁴⁹⁴⁷ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Decision Following the Initial Appearance, 29 November 1996.

¹⁴⁹⁴⁸ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Motion Filed by the Prosecutor for the Protection of Victims and Witnesses, 11 March 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁴⁹ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Protection of its Witnesses, 8 September 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁵⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Setting a Date for the Trial in the Matter of the Prosecutor versus Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, 16 February 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁵¹ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Motion of the Accused for the Replacement of Appointed Counsel, 7 July 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁵² T. 10 August 1999 pp 4-6 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-96-8); Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 2 September 1999. This Amended Indictment was filed on 11 August 1999. Ndayambaje filed a notice of appeal, which the Appeals Chamber ruled should be re-filed within seven days of a written opinion by Trial Chamber II: Ndayambaje v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-8-A, Scheduling Order, 13 September 1999. The appeal was later dismissed by the Appeals Chamber: Ndayambaje v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-8-A, Decision Rejecting Notice of Appeal, 2 November 1999; Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁴⁹⁵³ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 17-20 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-96-8-I); Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁴⁹⁵⁴ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Indictment, 26 May 1997 (The Initial Indictment contained seven counts, the first five against both Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali and the last two against Ntahobali only).

the Indictment¹⁴⁹⁵⁵ and issued a warrant for the arrest and transfer of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali 14956

6295. On 18 July 1997, Pauline Nyiramasuhuko was arrested in Kenya and transferred to the UNDF. 14957 On 24 July 1997, Arsène Shalom Ntahobali was arrested in Kenya and transferred to the UNDF. 14958

6296. On 28 August 1997, Trial Chamber I set 3 September 1997 as the date for the initial appearance for Nyiramasuhuko. 14959 On 3 September 1997 the Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion to amend the form of the Indictment. 14960 Nyiramasuhuko pled not guilty to all five counts against her. 14961

6297. On 8 September 1997, Trial Chamber I set 16 October 1997 as the date for an initial appearance for Ntahobali. On 15 October 1997, Trial Chamber I set 17 October 1997 as the date for his initial appearance, and on 17 October 1997 the Chamber granted the Prosecution's request to amend the Indictment. Ntahobali pled not guilty to all seven counts against him. 14965

6298. On 27 November 1997, the Prosecution proffered an Amended Indictment against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali. 14966

6299. On 13 March 1998, Trial Chamber I granted Nyiramasuhuko a protective order for 10 Defence witnesses and their families 14967 and ordered the Registry to name a Co-Counsel for Nyiramasuhuko. 14968

¹⁴⁹⁵⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision to Confirm the Indictment, 29 May 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁵⁶ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Warrant for Arrest and Order for Surrender, 29 May 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁵⁷ T. 8 June 2000 p. 23 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21-I).

¹⁴⁹⁵⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision on the Preliminary Motion by Defence Counsel on Defects in the Form of Indictment, 4 September 1998, p. 2.

¹⁴⁹⁵⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Setting a Date for the Initial Appearance in Case No. ICTR-97-21-I: The Prosecutor versus Pauline Nyiramasuhuko & Arsène S. Ntahobali, 28 August 1997.

14960 T. 3 September 1997 p. 19 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-21).

¹⁴⁹⁶¹ T. 3 September 1997 pp. 31-35 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21).

¹⁴⁹⁶² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No ICTR-97-21-I, Setting a Date for the Initial Appearance in the Matter of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko & Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 8 September 1997.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No ICTR-97-21-I, Setting a Date for the Initial Appearance in the Matter of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko & Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 15 October 1997.

T. 17 October 1997 p. 9 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21).

¹⁴⁹⁶⁵ T. 17 October 1997 pp. 37-44 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-21).

¹⁴⁹⁶⁶ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Amended Indictment, 27 November

¹⁴⁹⁶⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses and their Families and Relatives, 13 March 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁶⁸ T. 13 March 1998 pp. 7-8 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21); Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on a Preliminary Motion by the Defence for the Assignment of a Co-Counsel to Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, 13 March 1998, signed 23 March 1998. The Appeals Chamber dismissed Nyiramasuhuko's notice of appeal based on a lack of jurisdiction: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and

- 6300. On 29 May 1998, Trial Chamber I dismissed Ntahobali's motion requesting that he be tried separately from Nyiramasuhuko. 14969
- 6301. On 4 September 1998, Trial Chamber I dismissed a motion by Ntahobali for amendments to the Indictment 14970
- 6302. On 10 August 1999, Trial Chamber I granted a Prosecution motion to amend the Indictment. The Prosecution added six charges and consolidated two existing charges. 14971
- 6303. On 12 August 1999, before Trial Chamber I, Nyiramasuhuko pled not guilty to all 11 counts against her¹⁴⁹⁷² and Ntahobali pled not guilty to all 10 counts against him. ¹⁴⁹⁷³
- 6304. On 2 April 2001, the Registrar rejected Ntahobali's request for withdrawal of his Lead Counsel René Saint-Leger. 14974 The Registrar's decision was confirmed by Judge Navanethem Pillay on 4 June 2001. 14975

1.1.1.4 Sylvain Nsabimana and Alphonse Nteziryayo (1997 – 1998)

- 6305. On 16 July 1997, Judge Laïty Kama ordered that Sylvain Nsabimana be transferred to and detained in the UNDF based on three provisional charges. 14976
- 6306. On 18 July 1997, Nsabimana was arrested in Kenya and transferred to the UNDF. 14977 On 14 August 1997, Judge Kama granted the Prosecutor's request to extend the provisional detention. 14978 On 16 September 1997, Judge Navanethem Pillay extended Nsabimana's detention by another 30 days. 14979

Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-A, Order Dismissing Appeal, 28 October 1998, Judge Shahabuddeen appended a declaration explaining that the appeal was out of time: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-A, Declaration of Judge Shahabuddeen, 28 October 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁶⁹ Prosecutor v. Nviramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on a Preliminary Motion by the Defence Counsel of Arsène Shalom Ntahobali for Separate Trials, 29 May 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision on the Preliminary Motion by Defence Counsel on Defects in the Form of the Indictment, 4 September 1998.

T. 10 August 1999 pp. 3-5 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21).

14971 T. 12 August 1999 pp. 24-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21); Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁴⁹⁷³ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 29, 41-44 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-21); Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision to Reject Ntahobali's Request for Withdrawal of His Lead Counsel, Mr. René Saint-Leger, 2 April 2001.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁵ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali</sup>, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, The President's Decision on Review, in Accordance with Article 19 (E) of the Directive on Assignment of Defence Counsel, 4 June 2001.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁶ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Order for Transfer and Provisional Detention, 16 July

¹⁴⁹⁷⁷ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-1, Warrant for Arrest and Order for Continued Detention, 16 October 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁸ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Decision on the Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days, 14 August 1997.

¹⁴⁹⁷⁹ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days, 16 September 1997.

- 6307. On 16 October 1997, the Prosecution proffered an Indictment against Sylvain Nsabimana and Alphonse Nteziryayo. Judge Lennart Aspegren confirmed the Indictment, issued a warrant for Nteziryayo's arrest, addressed to the government of Burkina Faso, and ordered Nsabimana's continued detention. 14980
- 6308. At Nsabimana's initial appearance on 24 October 1997, the Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion to amend the Indictment. 14981 Nsabimana pled not guilty to all five counts against him. 14982
- 6309. Nteziryayo was arrested in Burkina Faso on 24 April 1998. 14983
- 6310. On 8 July 1998, the Chamber denied Nsabimana's request to sever his case from Nteziryayo but noted that Nsabimana could renew his request if Nteziryayo was not arrested within a reasonable amount of time. 14984
- 6311. On 24 September 1998, the Chamber directed the Prosecution to amend the Indictment against Nsabimana. 14985
- 6312. At Nteziryayo's initial appearance on 17 August 1998 before Trial Chamber I, Nteziryayo pled not guilty to all six counts against him. 14986
- 6313. On 24 September 1998, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Nsabimana and ordered the Prosecutor to amend the Indictment. 14987
- 6314. On 12 November 1998, the Prosecutor submitted an Amended Indictment pursuant to the amendments agreed to during the confirmation process. 14988
- 6315. On 21 May 1999, the Chamber ordered the Prosecutor to comply with its Cecision of 24 September 1998 and Order of 16 October 1997. The Chamber also dismissed Nsabimana's motion for withdrawal of the Indictment and his immediate release from detention. 14989

¹⁴⁹⁸⁰ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-I, Warrant for Arrest and Order for Continued Detention, 16 October 1997; Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29B-1, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender, 16 October 1997.

14981 T. 24 October 1997 pp. 21-23 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-29).

¹⁴⁹⁸² T. 24 October 1997 pp. 24-28 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-29).

¹⁴⁹⁸³ Ntezirvavo Opening Statement, T. 4 December 2006 p. 7.

¹⁴⁹⁸⁴ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on the Defence Motion for Orders to Sever Proceedings, Set a Date for a Status Conference and for the Return of Personal Effects, 8 July 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁸⁵ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses, 24 September 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁸⁶ T. 17 August 1998 pp 16-21 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: see Case No. ICTR-97-29B).

¹⁴⁹⁸⁷ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses, 24 September 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁸⁸ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Indictment as modified during the confirmation procedure, 12 November 1998.

14989 Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent

Motion for Stay of Execution of Decision of 24 September 1998, & Decision on Nsabimana's Motion for Withdrawal of the Indictment and Immediate Release, 21 May 1999. See also T. 21 April 1999 p. 60 where the Trial Chamber orally dismissed the Defence Motion.

- 6316. On 24 June 1999, the Prosecutor submitted an Amended Indictment pursuant to the direction set out in the Chamber's Decision of 24 September 1998. 14990
- 6317. On 12 August 1999, the Chamber rendered an oral decision granting the Prosecutor's request to add four counts to the Indictment and to expand the existing counts. The same day, the Prosecutor submitted an Amended Indictment.
- 6318. On 13 August 1999, both Nsabimana and Nteziryayo pled not guilty to all nine counts against them. 14993 The Chamber issued a written Decision on 27 August 1999, denying a motion by Nteziryayo seeking withdrawal of the Indictment, finding that while the Prosecutor had failed to comply with the Chamber's Decision of 16 October 1997 ordering amendments to the Indictment, and admonishing the Prosecution for such failure, this failure did not warrant withdrawal of the Indictment or Nteziryayo's release. The Chamber dismissed Nteziryayo's motion in all other respects. 14994

1.1.1.5 Nyiramasuhuko et al. – Joinder of Indictments

- 6319. On 6 March 1998, pursuant to Rule 47, the Prosecution submitted a joint Indictment alleging new charges against the six Accused and 23 others. On 31 March 1998, in an exparte proceeding, Judge Khan dismissed the joint Indictment. The Appeals Chamber rejected the Prosecution's appeal of the decision on 8 June 1998.
- 6320. On 14 July 1998 and 14 August 1998, the Prosecutor filed motions to amend the Indictments against Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje. On 5 October 1999, the Chamber ordered that the cases of Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje be tried together. 14998
- 6321. On 16 February 2000, Judge Kama ordered the Prosecution to permit the Defence for Nsabimana to examine all books, documents, photographs and other materials in its possession

¹⁴⁹⁹⁰ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Indictment incorporating the changes following the confirmation procedure and the decision of Trial Chamber II dated 24 September 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁹¹ T. 12 August 1999 pp. 7-12 (Pre-Joinder Transcript: *see* Case No. ICTR-97-29). A written decision was issued on 10 September 1999: *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment, 12 August 1999.

¹⁴⁹⁹² Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Amended Indictment as per the decision of Trial Chamber II of August 12 1999, 12 August 1999.

¹⁴⁹⁹³ T. 13 August 1999 pp. 23-29 (Pre-Joinder Transcript (French): *see* Case No. ICTR-97-29); Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁴⁹⁹⁴ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on Nteziryayo's Preliminary Motions Brought by the Defence Following the Initial Appearance of the Accused, 27 August 1999.
¹⁴⁹⁹⁵ Case No. ICTR-98-37-I.

¹⁴⁹⁹⁶ Prosecutor v. Bagosora and 28 Others, Case No. ICTR-98-37-I, Dismissal of Indictment, 31 March 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁹⁷ Prosecutor v. Bagosora and 28 Others, Case No. ICTR-98-37-I, Decision on the Admissibility of the Prosecution's Appeal from the Decision of a Confirming Judge Dismissing an Indictment Against Théoneste Bagosora and 28 Others, 8 June 1998.

¹⁴⁹⁹⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials, 5 October 1999.

that were material to the case or to the preparation of his defence, or that were obtained from or belonged to the Accused. 14999

- 6322. On 25 February 2000, the Bureau of the Tribunal¹⁵⁰⁰⁰ denied a motion by Kanyabashi to remove Judge Sekule from the case.¹⁵⁰⁰¹
- 6323. On 2 March 2000, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nteziryayo which alleged defects in his second initial appearance. 15002
- 6324. On 13 April 2000, the Appeals Chamber rejected Kanyabashi's appeal of this Decision and refused to review its decision on 12 September 2000. ¹⁵⁰⁰³ On 16 June 2000, the Appeals Chamber rejected Nyiramasuhuko's request for review of its Decision, noting that only a final judgement or a decision that terminates proceedings may be reviewed. ¹⁵⁰⁰⁴
- 6325. On 9 May 2000, the Chamber declared inadmissible a motion by Nsabimana seeking the withdrawal of certain counts in his Indictment. The Chamber also denied Nteziryayo's request for the Prosecution to clarify or remove certain paragraphs in the Indictment against him. 15006
- 6326. On 23 May 2000, the Chamber denied Kanyabashi's motion for a writ of *habeas* corpus and a stay of the proceedings against him. 15007
- 6327. On 31 May 2000, the Chamber ordered further amendments to the Kanyabashi Indictment. The Prosecution submitted amended Indictments on 29 June 2000 and 2 November 2000. On 8 June 2001, the Chamber granted the Prosecutor's request to harmonise the French and English versions of the Indictment.

¹⁴⁹⁹⁹ *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Disclosure of all Materials the Prosecution Intends to Use at Trial, 16 February 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁰ The Bureau of the Tribunal is a body composed of the President, the Vice-President and the Presiding Judges of the Trial Chambers. *See* Rules 2, 23 (A) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence.

¹⁵⁰⁰¹ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision of the Board pursuant to Rule 15 (B) of the Rules, 25 February 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰² Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on the Preliminary Motion Brought by the Defence Following the Second Initial Appearance of the Accused, 2 March 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰³ Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision on the Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999, 13 April 2000; *Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-AR72, Decision on Motion for Review or Reconsideration, 12 September 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁴ Nyiramasuhuko v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-21-AR72, Decision on Request for Review, 16 June 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁵ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-I, Decision on the Defence Motion to Withdraw Certain Counts of the Indictment Against the Accused Nsabimana, Ordered on 12 August 1999, 9 May 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁶ Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on the Defence Motion Asking the Prosecution to Clarify and/or Remove Certain Paragraphs of the Indictment, 9 May 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁷ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision on the Defence Extremely Urgent Motion on Habeas Corpus and for Stoppage of Proceedings, 23 May 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁸ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment, 31 May 2000.

¹⁵⁰⁰⁹ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Amended Indictment: as Per the Decision of Trial Chamber II of August 12 1999 and 31 May 2000, 2 November 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁰ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Harmonization of the English and French Version of the Amended Indictment, 8 June 2001.

- 6328. On 8 September 2000, ¹⁵⁰¹¹ 25 April 2001, ¹⁵⁰¹² and 8 June 2001, ¹⁵⁰¹³ the Chamber rejected Nsabimana, Ndayambaje and Ntahobali's respective motions for separate trials.
- 6329. On 8 September 2000, the Chamber ordered the disclosure to the Prosecution and Defence of a confidential Security Council memorandum regarding the 6 April 1994 plane crash which killed Rwandan President Habyarimana and Burundian President Ntaryamira. 15014
- 6330. On 12 October 2000, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to exclude certain evidence and to return seized property. However, the Chamber ordered that property not required for the Prosecution be returned to Nyiramasuhuko and that the remaining seized property be sealed. 15015
- 6331. On 23 October 2000, the Registry issued an order withdrawing Calvin Saunders as Nteziryayo's Co-Counsel. 15016
- 6332. On 1 November 2000, the Chamber granted in part an amended preliminary motion by Ntahobali and ordered the Prosecution to modify its Amended Indictment. It also granted in part an amended preliminary motion by Nyiramasuhuko and ordered the Prosecution to modify the Amended Indictment. On 14 February 2001, the Chamber denied Nyiramasuhuko's motion for review of its 1 November 2000 Decision.

1

¹⁵⁰¹¹ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana et al., Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Defence Motion Seeking a Separate Trial of the Accused Sylvain Nsabimana, 8 September 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹² Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Separate Trial, 25 April 2001.

April 2001.

15013 *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Separate Trials, 8 June 2001.

¹⁵⁰¹⁴ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Disclosure of Evidence, 8 September 2000. Judge Güney filed a separate and dissenting opinion to this decision, noting that the memorandum was not the result of an official inquiry, and that the Defence therefore could not establish its exculpatory value. Furthermore, none of the charges against Nyiramasuhuko referred to her individual responsibility for the attack against President Habyarimana. Consequently, Judge Güney would not have provided a copy of the memorandum to the parties: see Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Separate and Dissenting Opinion by Judge Güney on the Defence Request for Communication of Proof, 8 September 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and Restitution of Property Seized, 12 October 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁶ *Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision by the Registry of Withdrawal of Mr. Calvin C. Saunders's as Co-Counsel of Mr. Alphonse Nteziryayo, 23 October 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment, 1 November 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁸ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in Form and the Substance of the Indictment, 1 November 2000.

¹⁵⁰¹⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion Seeking Review and on Prosecutor's Motion for Clarification and Harmonization of Court Orders, 14 February 2001.

- 6333. On 21 February 2001 the Chamber dismissed Kanyabashi's motion for provisional release. On 13 June 2001, the Appeals Chamber dismissed Kanyabashi's motion for leave to appeal the 21 February 2001 Decision. 15021
- 6334. On 1 March 2001, the Registrar affirmed a request by Ndayambaje for withdrawal of his Co-Counsel, Robert Giacomel. 15022
- 6335. On 20 March 2001, 27 March 2001 and 3 April 2001, the Chamber granted protective measures for potential Defence and Prosecution witnesses. 15023
- 6336. On 2 February 2001, a pre-trial conference was held before Judge Laïty Kama, Judge William Sekule and Judge Mehmet Güney. The Chamber set the trial date for 14 May 2001. On 19 April 2001, a pre-trial conference was held before Judge William Sekule and Judge Mehmet Güney, in the absence of Judge Kama who was ill. The Chamber ordered the Prosecutor to file a list of the exhibits by 30 April 2001. On 6 May 2001, Judge Kama passed away. Solution 15026
- 6337. On 30 May 2001, the Chamber granted in part a motion by the Prosecution and declared that the English version of the oral Decision of 12 August 1999 was authoritative. The Chamber held that the Amended Indictment of 12 August 1999 was the valid charging document against the Accused, and directed the Registry to issue a Corrigendum to the French transcript of 12 August 1999. 15027
- 6338. On 8 June 2001, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali which sought a declaration that statements made by Ntahobali at the time of his arrest should not be admitted as evidence. The Chamber stated that he could only object to the admissibility of the statements if and when the Prosecution sought to use them as evidence. 15028
- 6339. On 8 June 2001, the Chamber ordered the Prosecutor to disclose all unredacted witness statements of individuals the Prosecution intended to call at trial and to permit Nyiramasuhuko

¹⁵⁰²⁰ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion for the Provisional Release of the Accused, 21 February 2001.

¹⁵⁰²¹ Kanyabashi v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-A, Decision (on Application for Leave to Appeal Filed under Rule 65(D) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence), 13 June 2001.

¹⁵⁰²² Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Decision on the Withdrawal of Robert Giacomel, Co-Counsel for Ndayambaje, 1 March 2001.

¹⁵⁰²³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses and their Family Members, 20 March 2001; Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Protective Measures for Victims and Witnesses, 27 March 2001 (one witness was not granted protective measures); Prosecutor v Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses, 3 April 2001.

¹⁵⁰²⁴ T. 2 February 2001 p. 118 (Pre-Trial Status Conference).

¹⁵⁰²⁵ T. 19 April 2001 p. 117 (Pre-Trial Status Conference).

¹⁵⁰²⁶ International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, Press Release No. ICTR/INFO-9-2-265.EN, 7 May 2001.

¹⁵⁰²⁷ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for a Declaratory Ruling, 30 May 2001.

¹⁵⁰²⁸ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion to Suppress Custodial Statements by the Accused, 8 June 2001.

to examine certain evidence. 15029 It also ordered that several other documents be communicated to the Defence. 15030

6340. On 11 June 2001, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to vary the order in which it intended to call its witnesses, ¹⁵⁰³¹ dismissed Ntahobali's motion for the disclosure of the particulars of identification, ¹⁵⁰³² and granted a Prosecution motion to amend Kanyabashi's Indictment. ¹⁵⁰³³

1.2 Trial Proceedings

1.2.1 The Prosecution Phase

- 6341. The joint trial of Ndayambaje, Kanyabashi, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana and Nteziryayo began on 12 June 2001 before Trial Chamber II (the "Chamber"), which was composed of Judge William Sekule, presiding, Judge Winston Maqutu and Judge Arlette Ramaroson. ¹⁵⁰³⁴
- 6342. On 15 June 2001, the Chamber convened to hear Ntahobali's urgent motion for the withdrawal of his Lead Counsel, René St-Léger, and his Co-Counsel, James Michael Bailey, which was granted in a written decision issued one week later. 15035
- 6343. On 26 June 2001, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's motion to exclude as evidence excerpts of videotape in lieu of the original footage. On 25 June 2001, the Chamber denied a Prosecution motion that the hearing with respect to charges of contempt of court be held *in camera*. 15037
- 6344. On 27 June 2001, at the end of a scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned to 22 October 2001 for the continuation of trial. 15038

¹⁵⁰²⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Full Disclosure of the Identity and Unredacted Statements of the Protected Witnesses, 8 June 2001.

¹⁵⁰³⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Extremely Urgent Motion Asking the Prosecutor to Respect the "Decision on the Defence Motion for Communication of Proof" Rendered 1 November 2000, 8 June 2001.

¹⁵⁰³¹ T. 11 June 2001 pp. 3, 4 (The Chamber noted that one detained witness referred to in the initial motion, filed 14 May 2001, was also the subject of a supplementary motion filed 16 June 2001. The Chamber deferred a decision with respect to this witness until a later time).

¹⁵⁰³² T. 11 June 2001 pp. 5, 6.

T. 11 June 2001 pp. 19-21; Indictment is attached to the Judgement.

¹⁵⁰³⁴ Minutes, T. 12 June 2001.

him with a list of potential counsel, and to proceed with assignment of new counsel without delay: *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel, 22 June 2001. On 24 June 2001 the Registrar ordered the withdrawal of Counsel Rene Saint-Leger, Principal Counsel and of Counsel James Michael Bailey, Co-Counsel for the Accused Ntahobali, 24 June 2001.

¹⁵⁰³⁶ T. 26 June 2001 pp. 155-156.

¹⁵⁰³⁷ T. 25 June 2001 pp. 106-107.

¹⁵⁰³⁸ Minutes, T. 27 June 2001.

- 6345. During the trial phase of Nyiramasuhuko et al., Trial Chamber II composed of Judges Sekule, Magutu and Ramaroson, also presided over *Prosecutor v. Kajelijeli* and *Prosecutor v.* Kamuhanda. From 4 July 2001 until 25 July 2001, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in Kajelijeli. 15040
- 6346. On 10 July 2001, the Chamber granted in part the Prosecutor's request for harmonisation of the protective measures afforded to its witnesses. However, it dismissed the Prosecutor's request for investigations on allegations of contempt and conflict of interest with regard to members of the Defence team, and issued a warning pursuant to Rule 46 (A) for the Prosecution Counsel's improper and reckless conduct. 15041
- 6347. On 13 July 2001, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Kanyabashi for leave to file a supplementary document in support of its response to the Prosecutor's motion for an investigation of contempt of the Tribunal. On 19 July 2001, in response to the Prosecution's ex parte motion regarding further allegations of contempt, the Chamber: ordered that the motion be translated and served on the Defence; that the Prosecutor make all necessary applications should certain witnesses require protection; and authorised the Prosecution to use pseudonyms where necessary, and to issue redacted statements in relation to such witnesses. 15043 On 30 November 2001, the Chamber dismissed the Prosecutor's further allegations of contempt. 15044
- 6348. On 24 July 2001, the Chamber granted in part a Prosecution motion for leave to add Witnesses FAW and RV to the Prosecution Witness list, and for the transfer of 27 detained witnesses. 15045
- 6349. From 3 September 2001 until 25 September 2001, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. Then from 1 October 2001 until 5 October 2001, the Chamber presided over the proceedings in *Kajelijeli*. 15047
- 6350. On 18 September 2001, the Chamber ordered, in part, the disclosure to Nsabimana and Nteziryayo of documents requested in a Defence motion. 15048 It also granted, in part, a motion

⁷⁵⁰³⁹ Prosecutor v. Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44, Judgement (TC), 1 December 2003; Prosecutor v. Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-99-54, Judgement (TC), 22 January 2004.

¹⁵⁰⁴⁰ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 25.
15041 Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Allegations of Contempt, the Harmonisation of the Witness Protection Measures and Warning to the Prosecutor's Counsel, 10

¹⁵⁰⁴² Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Extremely Urgent Defence Motion for Leave to File a Supplementary Document in Support of its Response to the Prosecutor's Motion for an Investigation of Contempt of the Tribunal, 13 July 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁴³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Order in the Matter of the Prosecutor's Ex Parte Further Allegations of Contempt, 19 July 2001.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Further Allegations of Contempt, 30 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses, 24 July 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁴⁶ Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 25.

¹⁵⁰⁴⁷ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 26.

¹⁵⁰⁴⁸ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on the Defence Motions for Disclosure of Copies of the Prosecutor's Exhibit, 18 September 2001.

- by Nteziryayo for protective measures for witnesses, and dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for the disclosure of statements or other documents relating to the judicial proceedings of certain Prosecution witnesses detained in Rwanda. 15049
- 6351. On 22 October 2001, the hearing of the trial resumed. The Chamber denied Counsel for Ntahobali's motion to adjourn proceedings in order to be given more time to prepare his defence. 15050
- 6352. On 23 October 2001, the Chamber dismissed a request by Nyiramasuhuko to be allowed to cross-examine on matters not arising from the examination-in-chief. 15051
- 6353. On 25 October 2001, the Chamber held that Ndayambaje's refusal to attend his trial constituted a waiver of his right to be present, and that the trial would continue. 15052
- 6354. On 12 November 2001, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to add Witness QBX to the witness list and ordered the transfer of that detained witness. 15053
- 6355. On 13 November 2001, the Chamber granted motions by Nyiramasuhuko, Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi, and ordered the Prosecution to fully disclose to all Accused the identity and unredacted statements of witnesses expected to testify at trial. Two days later the Chamber granted Ndayambaje's and Nsabimana's motion for full disclosure of statements made by detained witnesses.
- 6356. On 21 November 2001, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion for the extension of the time that Witnesses FAM, QBV and QBC could remain at UNDF prior to their testimony in these proceedings, and noted that the prior statement by Witness QAR if available should be disclosed to the Defence. 15056
- 6357. From 26 November 2001 until 13 December 2001, Trial Chamber II again presided over the proceedings in *Kajelijeli*. 15057

¹⁵⁰⁴⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Disclosure of the Declarations of the Prosecutor's Witnesses Detained in Rwanda and All Other Documents or Information Pertaining to the Judicial Proceedings in their Respect, 18 September 2001; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Review of the Decision Regarding Communication of Documents and Information Relating to Prosecution Witnesses Detained in Rwanda, 14 December 2001. The Chamber refused to review this decision.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁰ T. 22 October 2001 p. 31.

¹⁵⁰⁵¹ Minutes, T. 23 October 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁵² T. 25 October 2001 pp. 14-19.

¹⁵⁰⁵³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion to Add and Transfer Detained Witness QBX, 12 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁴ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi, Case Nos. ICTR-97-21-T, ICTR-96-8-T and ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Defence Motions by Nyiramasuhuko, Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi on, *Inter Alia*, Full Disclosure of Unredacted Prosecution Witness Statements, 13 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje and Nsabimana, Case Nos. ICTR-96-8-T and ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Defence Motions Seeking Documents relating to Detained Witnesses or Leave of the Chamber to Contact Protected Detained Witnesses, 15 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁶ Minutes, T. 21 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁷ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 26.

- 6358. On 22 November 2001, at the end of a scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned to 4 March 2002 for the continuation of the trial. 15058
- 6359. On 27 November 2001, the Chamber granted a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to inspect certain exhibits under seal on the Prosecutor's exhibit list. 15059
- 6360. On 14 December 2001, the Chamber declared inadmissible an urgent motion by Ntahobali seeking the re-instatement of a suspended investigator, Thaddée Kwitonda. On 13 November 2002, Judge Pillay, confirmed the Registrar's prior decisions pertaining to the assignment of an investigator for Ntahobali and dismissed the Accused's motion for review of that decision. On 9 April 2003, Judge Pillay ordered the Registrar to annul its Decision of 3 October 2002 and ordered the reappointment of Damasse Birekeraho and Daniel Tuyizere as Defence investigators for Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali.
- 6361. From 28 January 2002 until 19 February 2002, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. ¹⁵⁰⁶³
- 6362. On 15 February 2002, the Registrar granted Richard Perras' request to withdraw as Co-Counsel for Nteziryayo. 15064
- 6363. On 8 March 2002, the Registrar confirmed the withdrawal of Isabelle Lavoie as Co-Counsel for Ndayambaje. 15065
- 6364. On 19 March 2002, the Chamber directed the Prosecutor to obtain the confessional statement of Witness QBV and to disclose it to the Defence. 15066
- 6365. At the end of session on 4 April 2002, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings until 20 May 2002. 15067
- 6366. On 16 April 2002, the Chamber ordered that all other documents seized during the arrest of Accused Joseph Nzabirinda (Case No. ICTR-01-77-I) in December 2001, be given to the Prosecution. ¹⁵⁰⁶⁸

¹⁵⁰⁵⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion to Inspect Certain Exhibits Under Seal on the Prosecutor's Exhibit List, 27 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁶⁰ *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Extremely Urgent Motion for the Re-Instatement of Suspended Investigator, Mr. Thaddée Kwitonda, 14 December 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁶¹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, The President's Decision on the Application by Arsène Shalom Ntahobali for Review of the Registrar's Decisions Pertaining to Assignment of an Investigator, 13 November 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁶² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, The President's Decision on an Application by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko for Review of the Registrar's Decision Declining the Reappointment of Her Two Investigators, 9 April 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁶³ Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 25.

¹⁵⁰⁶⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Registrar's Decision of Withdrawal of Mr. Richard Perras as Co-Counsel of the Accused Alphonse Nteziryayo, 15 February 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Decision of Withdrawal of Ms. Isabelle Lavoie as Co-Counsel of the Accused Ndayambaje, 8 March 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁶⁶ Minutes, T. 19 March 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁵⁸ Minutes, T. 22 November 2001.

¹⁵⁰⁶⁷ Minutes, T. 4 April 2002.

- 6367. From 6 May 2002 until 14 May 2002, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. 15069
- 6368. On 15 May 2002, the Chamber granted in part a Prosecution motion for judicial notice and admission of evidence. 15070
- 6369. On 20 May 2002, the Chamber denied motions by Nsabimana and Nyiramasuhuko, objecting to the disclosure of a new will-say document on the day of a witness testimony. 15071
- 6370. On 28 May 2002, the Chamber granted a motion by Ntahobali objecting to evidence disclosed by the Prosecution through the will-say statements of Witness SJ on 21, 22 and 23 May 2002. The Chamber limited the testimony of Witness SJ to those matters previously disclosed. 15072
- 6371. On 31 May 2002, the Chamber ruled that the Prosecution was not required to disclose the content of certain witness statements which would prejudice ongoing investigations. ¹⁵⁰⁷³
- 6372. On 6 June 2002, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nteziryayo to rule hearsay evidence inadmissible, in relation to portions of the testimony of Witness TA. 15074
- 6373. On 26 June 2002, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali which sought a finding that Witness QCB gave false testimony and warned the Defence about bringing frivolous motions. 15075
- 6374. On 27 June 2002, the Chamber adjourned the trial session to 14 October 2002 for the continuation of the proceedings. 15076
- 6375. On 1 July 2002 the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to rule inadmissible the evidence of Prosecution Witness TN. 15077
- 6376. On 6 July 2002, the Chamber denied a motion by Kanyabashi to exclude Witness FAI's testimony against him. 15078

¹⁵⁰⁶⁸ *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Nsabimana's Motion to Return to Nsabimana's Defence Documents Seized from Nzabirinda at the Time of Nzabirinda's Arrest, 16 April 2002. ¹⁵⁰⁶⁹ *Kamuhanda*, Judgement (TC), para. 25.

¹⁵⁰⁷⁰ Oral arguments in this matter were heard on 16 November 2001: T. 16 November 2001; *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence, 15 May 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁷¹ T. 20 May 2002 pp. 15-17.

¹⁵⁰⁷² T. 28 May 2002 pp. 102-106.

¹⁵⁰⁷³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor Ex-Parte Motion pursuant to Rule 66(C) to be Relieved of Obligation to Disclose Certain Documents, 31 May 2002.

pursuant to Rule 66(C) to be Relieved of Obligation to Disclose Certain Documents, 31 May 2002.

15074 *Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Nteziryayo's Motion to Rule Hearsay Evidence Inadmissible, 6 June 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁷⁵ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion to Direct the Prosecutor to Investigate the Matter of False Testimony by Witness "QCB" Pursuant to Rule 91(B) of the Rules, 26 June 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁷⁶ Minutes, T. 27 June 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁷⁷ *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion to Rule Inadmissible the Evidence of Prosecution Witness "TN", 1 July 2002.

- 6377. From 19 August 2002 until 12 September 2002, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. 15079
- 6378. On 23 August 2002, the Chamber denied a motion by Nsabimana for a review of the evidence in the Registry's possession, and denied a request that items that could help identify witnesses be placed in Defence custody. 15080
- 6379. From 16 September 2002 until 9 October 2002, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kajelijeli*. 15081
- 6380. On 17 October 2002, the Chamber granted an uncontested motion by the Prosecution to lift the seal on Nyiramasuhuko's diary for the purposes of translation. 15082
- 6381. On 21 October 2002, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ndayambaje seeking his provisional release. 15083
- 6382. On 24 October 2002, the Chamber denied two oral Prosecution motions: one related to the use of a specific statement unrelated to the subject of the cross-examination and not recognised by Witness SU;¹⁵⁰⁸⁴ and the other concerned the submission of prior statements to show that Witness SU was consistent.¹⁵⁰⁸⁵
- 6383. On 13 November 2002, the Chamber overruled a Prosecution objection to the admission of a statement made by Witness QAQ to the Belgian authorities, and adjourned the Proceedings to 24 February 2003. 15086
- 6384. From 18 November 2002 until 12 December 2002, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kaielijeli*. 15087
- 6385. On 20 November 2002, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for access to her investigators and their assistants in the absence of her Counsel. 15088

¹⁵⁰⁷⁸ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Exclude Witness "FAI"'s Testimony Against Him Pursuant to Rules 54 and 73 of the Rules, 6 July 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁷⁹ Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 27.

¹⁵⁰⁸⁰ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Nsabimana's Extremely Urgent Motion for Implementation of the Decision of 16 April 2002, in the Presence of the Former Investigator with the Defence Joseph Nzabirinda, 23 August 2002.

¹⁵⁰⁸¹ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 29.

¹⁵⁰⁸² T. 17 October 2002 p. 58 (Witness SU).

¹⁵⁰⁸³ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Provisional Release of the Accused, 21 October 2002. The Appeals Chamber affirmed this decision: Ndayambaje v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-8-A, Decision on Defence Motion to Appeal against the Provisional Release Decision of Trial Chamber II of 21 October 2002, 10 January 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁸⁴ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 35-36 (ICS) (Witness SU).

¹⁵⁰⁸⁵ T. 24 October 2002 pp. 64-65 (Witness SU).

¹⁵⁰⁸⁶ T. 13 November 2002 pp. 12-13, 23 (Witness QAQ).

¹⁵⁰⁸⁷ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 29.

¹⁵⁰⁸⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Access for Investigators and Assistants to the Accused in the Absence of Counsel, 20 November 2002.

- 6386. From 13 January 2003 until 30 April 2003, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. In addition, from 31 March 2003 until 24 April 2003, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kajelijeli*. Solve 15090
- 6387. On 22 January 2003 the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to remove five deceased witnesses from their witness list, but denied a motion to admit into evidence the witness statements of four of those witnesses. 15091
- 6388. On 26 March 2003, at the end of a scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 9 June 2003. 15092
- 6389. From 5 May 2003 until 15 May 2003, Trial Chamber II presided over the proceedings in *Kamuhanda*. 15093

1.2.2 Replacement of Judge Maqutu

- 6390. On 26 June 2003, the Chamber, composed of Judge William H. Sekule, presiding, and Judge Arlette Ramaroson only, ordered the Parties to present written submissions on the issue of continuing the *Butare* Trial with a substitute judge pursuant to Rule 15 *bis* (D), given Judge Maqutu's departure. On 15 July 2003, the Chamber decided to continue the Trial with a substitute judge on the basis of the existing trial record and decisions in the case. 15095
- 6391. All six Accused filed appeals on this issue. 15096 On 24 September 2003, the Appeals Chamber dismissed the Defence appeals. 15097
- 6392. On 20 October 2003 Judge Solomy Balungi Bossa joined Trial Chamber II. On 5 December 2003 she certified her familiarisation with the proceedings prior to her appointment to the Chamber. 15098

_

¹⁵⁰⁸⁹ Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 27.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁰ Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC), para. 29.

¹⁵⁰⁹¹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion to Remove from Her Witness List Five Deceased Witnesses and to Admit into Evidence the Witness Statements of Four of Said Witnesses, 22 January 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁹² T. 26 March 2003 pp. 42-43 (Witness QY).

¹⁵⁰⁹³ Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC), para. 27.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 *bis* (D), 26 June 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D), 15 July 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁶ On 22 August 2003, Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen declared admissible the motion by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali seeking an extension of time to file a reply to the "Prosecutor's response to the appeals by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, and Ndayambaje of the Decision by the Trial Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 *bis* (D)". Justice Shahabuddeen noted that the delay had not caused any prejudice to the Prosecution's case: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-A, Decision on Request for Extension of Time, 22 August 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁷ Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42T, Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D), 24 September 2003.

¹⁵⁰⁹⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42T, Certification in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D), 5 December 2003.

1.2.3 Resumption of Proceedings

6393. The proceedings resumed on 26 January 2004. 15099

6394. On 28 and 30 January 2004, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings for the day because Ndayambaje, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nteziryayo and their respective Defence teams were not present. 15100 On 29 January 2004, the Chamber ruled that if the Accused chose not to be present, they would be deemed to have waived their right under Article 20 (4)(d) of the Statute. 15101 On 30 January 2004, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to allow Counsel to go to UNDF to meet with their clients. 15102

6395. On 16 February 2004, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to declare inadmissible parts of the evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ. 15103 It also ordered the Prosecution to ensure that the documents were made available to the Parties involved in a timely manner. 15104 The next day, the Chamber urged the Prosecution to follow up on alleged confession statements made by detained witnesses before Rwandan authorities and to bring the statements before the Chamber. 15105

6396. On 20 February 2004, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Kanyabashi for a continuation of the trial before Judge Sekule, Judge Magutu and Judge Ramaroson and for a termination of proceedings. 15106

6397. Also on 20 February 2004, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for a stay of proceedings and abuse of process based on continuation with a substitute judge. 15107

¹⁵⁰⁹⁹ Minutes, T. 26 January 2004.

¹⁵¹⁰⁰ T. 28 January 2004 p. 3; T. 30 January 2004 p. 6.

¹⁵¹⁰¹ T. 29 January 2004 pp. 3, 4.

¹⁵¹⁰² Minutes, T. 30 January 2004; T. 30 January 2004 p. 6.

¹⁵¹⁰³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible, 16 February 2004. Trial Chamber II certified an appeal under Rule 73 (B) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. See also Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. 97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's and Nyiramasuhuko's Motions for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on the Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible", 18 March 2004; Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73, Order of the Presiding Judge to Assign Judges, 1 April 2004; Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko v. Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-21-AR73, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible", 2 July 2004 (A panel of the Appeal Chamber, composed of Judge Shahabuddeen, Judge Mumba, Judge Pocar, Judge Schomburg, and Judge Weinberg de Roca, dismissed the appeal on 2 July 2004). ¹⁵¹⁰⁴ T. 16 February 2004 p. 23.

¹⁵¹⁰⁵ Minutes, T. 17 February 2004.

¹⁵¹⁰⁶ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Trial to Proceed Before Trial Chamber II, Composed of Judges Sekule, Maqutu, and Ramaroson and for Termination of Proceedings, 20 February 2004. Trial Chamber II dismissed Kanyabashi's motion for certification to appeal this decision, as it was filed out of time: Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Defence Motion Requiring Authorisation to Appeal, 19 March 2004.

15107 Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR97-21-T, Decision on Defence Motion for a Stay of

Proceedings and Abuse of Process, 20 February 2004. The Trial Chamber refused to certify an appeal of this decision and refused to reconsider this decision: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Defence Motion for a Stay of Proceedings and Abuse of Process", 19 March 2004; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T,

On the same day, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali for a stay of proceedings and for an order on the non-applicability of Rule 15 bis (D), noting that the gravity of the charges against the Accused and the complexity of the case did not render the length of proceedings unreasonable. 15108

6398. On 23 February 2004, the Chamber refused Ntahobali's oral motion for postponement of Witness QBZ's testimony. 15109

6399. On 3 March 2004, the Chamber ordered the Prosecution to follow-up with respect to statements mentioned by Witness FAC, and to disclose the statements to the Defence once they had been obtained. 15110 It also dismissed motions by Kanyabashi to exclude evidence by Witness FAC and ruled that the facts contained therein were sufficiently pled. 15111

6400. On 30 March 2004, the Chamber granted the Prosecution motion to add Witnesses FA, FCC and Evariste Ntakirutimana to its witness list and to delete 30 witnesses. The Chamber ordered the Prosecution to immediately disclose the unredacted statements of the new witnesses, and to call them at the end of its case. 15112

6401. On 16 April 2004, the Chamber denied Nyiramasuhuko's motion to declare the evidence of Witness FAS inadmissible. 15113

Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Reconsideration of the "Decision on Defence Motion for Certification to Appeal the 'Decision on Defence Motion for a Stay of Proceedings and Abuse of Process'", 20 May 2004.

15108 Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Stay of Proceedings and Order for the Non-Applicability of Newly Amended Rule 15 bis, 20 February 2004.

¹⁵¹¹² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses, 30 March 2004.

¹⁵¹¹³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion to Declare the Evidence of Witness FAS Inadmissible Against Her, 16 April 2004. Subsequently, on 20 April 2004, the Trial Chamber issued a Corrigendum recognising that the Prosecution had in fact filed its response to Nyiramasuhuko's motion on 22 March 2004, but that the response did not have any effect on the outcome of the Decision already rendered: Prosecutor v. Nviramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Corrigendum to the Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion to Declare the Evidence of Witness FAS Inadmissible Against Her, 20 April 2004. On 27 April 2004, the Trial Chamber denied Nyiramasuhuko's motion to delay the testimony of Witness FAS pending a decision on the certification to appeal the 16 April 2004 Decision: T. 27 April 2004 pp. 7-8. However, on 6 May 2004, Trial Chamber II granted Nyiramasuhuko's motion for certification to appeal the Decision, noting that the instant motion met the same merits as the Accused's former motion for certification and that the request fell within the purview of Rule 73 (B) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's and Nyiramasuhuko's Motions for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on the Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible", 18 March 2004; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion to Declare the Evidence of Witness FAS Inadmissible Against Her", 6 May 2004. On 23 July 2004, Judge Meron of the Appeals Chamber issued an order delineating the composition of the Appeals Chamber for an extension of time in which to file an interlocutory appeal in relation to the Decision on Witness FAS: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73, Order of the Presiding Judge Assigning Judges, 23 July 2004.

T. 23 February 2004 pp. 8, 10. The Chamber held that there was no prejudice to the Defence in taking Witness QBZ's evidence at that time, and noted that in the event Ntahobali would be successful before the Appeals Chamber, it would be possible for the evidence of Witness QBZ to be expunged from the record.

15110 T. 3 March 2004 p. 41 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

15111 T. 3 March 2004 pp. 63-64, 67 (ICS) (Witness FAG).

6402. On 27 April 2004, the Chamber dismissed two motions by Nyiramasuhuko, one objecting to the Prosecution's use of a diary, seized from Nyiramasuhuko during her arrest on 18 July 1997, which had been placed under seal, and the other seeking to forbid parties in other trials from using the diary. 15115

6403. On 30 April 2004, the Chamber held a Status Conference. ¹⁵¹¹⁶ The Chamber granted the Defence additional time to prepare its case by scheduling trial to resume on 7 June 2004, instead of 24 or 31 May 2004 as proposed by the Prosecution. ¹⁵¹¹⁷

6404. On 6 May 2004, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to recall Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD and QY, or alternately for a disjunction of trial or a stay of proceedings against the Accused. The Chamber granted a motion by Ndayambaje to recall Witness TO¹⁵¹¹⁹ and denied motions to recall Witnesses QAQ and QAR. The Chamber granted a motion by Ndayambaje to recall Witnesses QAQ and QAR.

6405. On 7 June 2004, the Chamber ruled that witness Dr. Alison Des Forges was qualified to testify as an expert on the history of Rwanda up to and including the events of 1994, and as an expert in the analysis and research of the human rights situation in Rwanda up to and including the events of 1994. ¹⁵¹²¹

6406. On 8 June 2004, the Chamber ruled that *The Truth About the Massacres in Butare*, written by Nsabimana, was admissible and could be admitted through Expert Witness Alison

1.0

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Oral Motion Regarding Prosecution's Use of Material Under Seal, 27 April 2004. On 20 May 2004 Trial Chamber II dismissed the motion for certification to appeal either decision: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Oral Motion Regarding Prosecutor's Use of Material Under Seal", 20 May 2004.

¹⁵¹¹⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Urgent Motion to Forbid the Parties in the "Government I" Trial and Any Other Trial from Using the Alleged Diary of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, 27 April 2004. On 20 May 2004, Trial Chamber II dismissed the motion for certification to appeal either decision. Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Urgent Motion to Forbid the Parties in the "Government I" Trial and Any Other Trial from Using the Alleged Diary of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, 20 May 2004.

¹⁵¹¹⁶ Minutes, T. 29 April 2004; Minutes, T. 30 April 2004.

¹⁵¹¹⁷ T. 30 April 2004 p. 19 (Status Conference).

¹⁵¹¹⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Recall of Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD, and QY, or, in Default, a Disjunction of Trial or a Stay of Proceedings Against Nyiramasuhuko, 6 May 2004. On 25 May 2004 the Trial Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko seeking certification to appeal the 6 May 2004 Decision: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Defence Motion For Recalling Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD and QY or, in default, a Disjunction of Trial or a Stay of Proceedings Against Nyiramasuhuko', 25 May 2004.

¹⁵¹¹⁸ The Chamber decided that the recall be limited to cross-examination on the issue of Witness consumption of alcoholic drinks during the party at the Accused Nteziryayo's relatives home: *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness "TO" Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 *bis* (D), 6 May 2004.

Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness "QAQ" Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D), 6 May 2004; Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness "QAR" Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D), 6 May 2004.

¹⁵¹²¹ T. 7 June 2004 pp. 57, 58, 59 (Des Forges). T. 7 June 2004 p. 18 (Des Forges) (The Chamber also overruled Nyiramasuhuko's objection to admission of Des Forges' curriculum vitae before she was qualified as an expert).

Des Forges. ¹⁵¹²² The Chamber also held that an interview with Nsabimana from 1 October 1994 was admissible. ¹⁵¹²³

6407. On 9 June 2004, the Chamber ordered that Nyiramasuhuko would be the first to cross-examine Prosecution witnesses; the other Accused would follow in the order that they are listed in the style of cause. 15124

6408. On 18 June 2004, the Chamber granted a motion by Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo to recall Witness FAG following the disclosure of a new statement. 15125

6409. On 23 June 2004, the Chamber ruled that Professor André Guichaoua was qualified to testify as an expert witness in the field of political science. 15126

6410. On 24 June 2004, the Chamber overruled Kanyabashi's objection to the admission of Volume I: Guichaoua's Expert Report and to the admission of Volume II: Guichaoua's analysis of the alleged diary of Nyiramasuhuko. On 25 June 2004, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to unseal and admit Nyiramasuhuko's diary into evidence and sustained objections by Ndayambaje and Nyiramasuhuko to the admission of documents on the basis that relevance had not been adequately established.

6411. On 28 June 2004, the Chamber overruled Nyiramasuhuko's objection to the admission of a document comprised of a compilation of expert reports; ¹⁵¹³⁰ and Kanyabashi's objection to the admission of a document from an "unknown source" during the testimony of Expert Witness Guichaoua. ¹⁵¹³¹

¹⁵¹²² T. 8 June 2004 pp. 47-49 (Des Forges).

¹⁵¹²³ Minutes, T. 8 June 2004.

¹⁵¹²⁴ T. 9 June 2004 p. 89 (Des Forges) (*i.e.* Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi, and Ndayambaje).

¹⁵¹²⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje and Nteziryayo, Case Nos. ICTR-96-8-T and ICTR-97-27-T, Decision on Elie Ndayambaje's and Alphonse Nteziryayo's Request for the Recall of Witness FAG Following the Disclosure of a New Confessional Statement, 18 June 2004.

¹⁵¹²⁶ T. 23 June 2004 p. 23 (Guichaoua).

T. 24 June 2004 pp. 12-17 (Guichaoua). On 15 July 2004, Trial Chamber II granted the Nyiramasuhuko's motion seeking certification to appeal this decision; *Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko*, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to appeal the Oral Decision of 24 June 2004 on the Defence Motion on Inadmissibility of Evidence, 15 July 2004. However, the appeal was dismissed by the Appeals Chamber on 4 October 2004: *Nyiramasuhuko v Prosecutor*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73.2, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Appeal on the Admissibility of Evidence, 4 October 2004.

¹⁵¹²⁸ T. 25 June 2004 p. 4 (Guichaoua). An appeal of this oral decision was certified by the Trial Chamber on 15 July 2004: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case no. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Oral Decision of 24 June 2004 on the Defence Motion for Admissibility, 15 July 2004. The appeal was denied: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73.2, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Appeal on the Admissibility of Evidence, 4 October 2004.

¹⁵¹²⁹ T. 25 June 2004 pp. 14, 28-29 (Guichaoua).

¹⁵¹³⁰ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 17-19 (Guichaoua).

¹⁵¹³¹ T. 28 June 2004 pp. 55-56 (Guichaoua).

- 6412. On 29 June 2004, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's motion to recall witnesses TA, SJ, QCB, TK, TN, FAP, SS, QY, RE, Ghandi Shukry, QBP, QJ and SU, 15132 and ruled that it is not bound by expert opinion, but may assess it along with other evidence. 15133
- 6413. On 12 July 2004, the Chamber denied Ndayambaje's motion to suppress references to him in Des Forges' Expert Report. The next day, the Chamber granted in part Nyiramasuhuko's motion to further cross-examine Expert Witness Des Forges and to conduct further cross-examination on certain specific issues. 15135
- 6414. On 14 July 2004, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 6 September 2004. 15136
- 6415. On 15 July 2004, the Chamber dismissed Ntahobali's motion objecting to the testimony of Prosecution Witness TQ and held that this witness could testify against any of the Butare Accused. 15137
- 6416. On 6 September 2004, the Chamber granted two oral motions by Ntahobali on the issue of notice regarding witness statements and will-say statements of Witness TQ. 15138
- 6417. On 13 September 2004, the Chamber qualified Dr. Ntakirutimana as an expert in social linguistics, discourse analysis, lexicology, semantics and language planning. 15139
- 6418. On 23 September 2004, the Chamber granted the Prosecution's *ex parte* motion for leave to disclose closed session transcripts of Professor Guichaoua's testimony from the *Rutaganda* case in the *Butare* case. 15140
- 6419. On 24 September 2004, Trial Chamber I granted Ntahobali's request for disclosure of confidential material from the *Bagosora* trial. 15141
- 6420. On 1 October 2004, the Chamber refused to admit various written documents. The Chamber also declined to request the verification of a diary that the Prosecution alleged belonged to Nyiramasuhuko. 15142

.

¹⁵¹³² Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Recall of Witnesses, 29 June 2004.

¹⁵¹³³ T. 29 June 2004 p. 16 (Guichaoua).

¹⁵¹³⁴ T. 12 July 2004 pp. 47-48 (Des Forges).

¹⁵¹³⁵ T. 13 July 2004 pp. 2-5 (Des Forges).

¹⁵¹³⁶ Minutes, T. 14 July 2004.

¹⁵¹³⁷ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Extremely Urgent Motion for Inadmissibility of Witness TQ's Testimony, 15 July 2004.

¹⁵¹³⁸ T. 6 September 2004 pp. 41, 67-68 (ICS) (Witness TQ).

¹⁵¹³⁹ T. 13 September 2004 pp. 29, 30 (Ntakirutimana).

¹⁵¹⁴⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Ex Parte and Extremely Urgent Motion for Leave to Access Closed Session Transcripts in Case No. ICTR-96-3-A for Disclosure in Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, 23 September 2004.

¹⁵¹⁴¹ Prosecutor v. Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR98-41-T, Decision on Disclosure of Confidential Material Requested by Defence for Ntahobali, 24 September 2004.

¹⁵¹⁴² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision of Prosecutor's Motion for Verification of the Authenticity of Evidence Obtained Out of Court, Namely the Alleged Diary of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, 1 October 2004.

- 6421. On 4 October 2004, the Chamber ordered the Prosecutor to disclose Expert Witness Guichaoua's testimony in the *Rutaganda* case to the Defence as requested. 15143
- 6422. On 14 October 2004, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion for leave to add Antipas Nyanjwa, a handwriting expert, to their witness list¹⁵¹⁴⁴ and denied a Prosecution motion to admit affidavits relating to the chain of custody of a diary. 15145 The Chamber also ruled that Ndayambaje's questions to Expert Witness Guichaoua on prison conditions in Rwanda were not relevant and would not be permitted. 15146
- 6423. On 18 October 2004, the Chamber refused to admit certain documents relating to Witness TQ tendered by the Defence, including a Rwandan judgement. 15147 That day the Prosecutor acknowledged that her case was complete, with the exception of the evidence of Antipas Nyanjwa, the handwriting expert. Accordingly, the Chamber ordered that, apart from this matter, the Prosecution case was closed. The Chamber had planned to start the Defence cases on 17 January 2005. 15150 Upon the request of Defence counsel, the Chamber scheduled the Defence cases to start on 31 January 2005 in order to give the Defence an additional two weeks to prepare its case. 15151
- 6424. The Chamber ordered that the Pre-Defence Briefs and other documents be filed by 31 December 2004 and that Nyiramasuhuko would be the first Accused to present her case. 15152 The Chamber also ordered that the identity of Defence witnesses be disclosed to the Chamber, the Prosecution and the other Accused 21 days before the witness testified. 15153
- 6425. On 21 October 2004, the Chamber denied motions by Ndayambaje and Nyiramasuhuko for an extension of time to file a motion for judgement of acquittal. 15154
- 6426. On 25 October 2004, the Chamber dismissed a motion to exclude the testimony of Witnesses FAG, FAL, FAU, QAF, QBZ and RV. 15155

¹⁵¹⁴³ Minutes, T. 4 October 2004.

¹⁵¹⁴⁴ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Leave to Add a Handwriting Expert to his Witness List, 14 October 2004.

¹⁵¹⁴⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Leave to be Authorised to have Admitted the Affidavits Regarding the Chain of Custody of the Diary of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko Under Rule 92 Bis, 14 October 2002.

¹⁵¹⁴⁶ T. 14 October 2004 pp. 63-64 (Guichaoua).

¹⁵¹⁴⁷ T. 18 October 2004 p. 5.

¹⁵¹⁴⁸ T. 18 October 2004 pp. 14, 19.

¹⁵¹⁴⁹ T. 18 October 2004 p. 14

¹⁵¹⁵⁰ T. 18 October 2004 p. 6 (Status Conference).

T. 18 October 2004 p. 17 (Status Conference).

¹⁵¹⁵² T. 18 October 2004 p. 20.

¹⁵¹⁵³ T. 18 October 2004 pp. 20, 22.

¹⁵¹⁵⁴ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Extremely Urgent Motion for Extension of Time for Filing a Motion Under Rule 98 Bis, 21 October 2004; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Extension of Time for Filing of a Motion of Acquittal Under Rule 98 Bis, 21 October 2004. Nteziryayo's oral request to extend the time within which to file a motion for judgement of acquittal under Rule 98 bis was refused on 18 October 2004: T. 18 October 2004 p. 22.

¹⁵¹⁵⁵ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Confidential Motion to have Detainee Testimony Declared Inadmissible, 25 October 2004. On 1 December 2004, the Chamber denied

- 6427. On 4 November 2004, the Chamber qualified Antipas Nyanjwa as an expert in the analysis of handwriting and heard his testimony. The next day, after Nyanjwa had finished testifying, the Chamber confirmed that the Prosecution case was complete. In total, the Prosecutor called 59 witnesses over 212 days.
- 6428. On 5 November 2004, the Chamber adjourned proceedings to 31 January 2005. 15159
- 6429. On 23 November 2004, the Chamber partially granted Kanyabashi's motion to meet Prosecution Witnesses SW and FAT and all those whose identities had not been disclosed to the Defence. 15160
- 6430. On 30 November 2004, the Chamber denied the Prosecution motion for disclosure of evidence for the Defence and harmonisation of protective measures for victims and witnesses. On 4 February 2005, the Chamber further denied the Prosecution motion for certification to appeal the 30 November 2004 Decision. 15162
- 6431. On 1 December 2004, the Chamber denied a Prosecution motion for extension of time to file a consolidated response to the Defence Rule 98 *bis* application and for official translation of Defence replies. 15163
- 6432. On 16 December 2004, the Chamber dismissed Nyiramasuhuko's, Ntahobali's and Ndayambaje's motions for judgement of acquittal in their entirety and partially acquitted Kanyabashi and Nsabimana on one charge. The Chamber also dismissed the Prosecutor's motion for an order of disclosure of closed session transcripts and sealed Prosecution exhibits. The Chamber also dismissed the Prosecution exhibits.

Ndayambaje's motion requesting certification to appeal the 25 October 2004 Decision: *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Elie Ndayambaje's Motion Requesting Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Ndayambaje's Confidential Motion to have Detainee Testimony Declared Inadmissible" issued on 25 October 2004, 1 December 2004.

¹⁵¹⁵⁶ T. 4 November 2004 p. 47.

¹⁵¹⁵⁷ T. 5 November 2004 p. 29.

¹⁵¹⁵⁸ Minutes, T. 5 November 2004.

¹⁵¹⁵⁹ Minutes, T. 5 November 2004.

¹⁵¹⁶⁰ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Joseph Kanyabashi's Request to Meet SW and FAT and All Other Persons Whose Identities were not Disclosed to the Defence, 23 November 2004.

¹⁵¹⁶¹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Disclosure of Evidence for the Defence and Harmonisation of Protective Measures for Victims and Witnesses, 30 November 2004.

¹⁵¹⁶² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision of the Trial Chamber Dated 30 November 2004 on the Prosecution Motion for Disclosure of Evidence of the Defence, 4 February 2005.

¹⁵¹⁶³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Extremely Urgent Motion for Extension of Time to File a Consolidated Response and for Official Translation of Defence Replies, 1 December 2004.

¹⁵¹⁶⁴ Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis, 16 December 2004.

¹⁵¹⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for an Order of Disclosure of Closed Session Transcripts and Sealed Prosecution Exhibits Pursuant to Rules 69 and 75, 16 December 2004.

1.2.4 The Defence Phase

1.2.4.1 Nyiramasuhuko Defence Case (31 January 2005 – 24 November 2005)

6433. On 31 January 2005, Nyiramasuhuko opened her case, presented an opening statement, and called Witness WFGS as her first witness. That same day the Chamber denied an oral request by Ntahobali to stay proceedings and established a procedure through which Ntahobali could defer questioning until the motion with respect to a separate trial had been determined. The Chamber ordered that Ntahobali must deliver any opening statement before Nyiramasuhuko called any joint witnesses and invited all Accused to reduce the number of witnesses expected to testify. The Chamber also granted Kanyabashi's motion to return un-redacted documents that had been mistakenly given to the Prosecution. 15171

6434. On 2 February 2005, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's motion for a separate trial. 15172

6435. On 3 February 2005, the Chamber granted an oral Prosecution request for a handwriting sample from Witness WMCZ. 15173

6436. On 4 February 2005, the Chamber granted in part a request by Nteziryayo to meet with Witness FAT. 15174

6437. On 16 February 2005, the Chamber issued a formal warning to Ms Bergevin, Counsel for Nyiramasuhuko, for being disrespectful to the Chamber. 15175

6438. On 18 February 2005, the Chamber ordered Nyiramasuhuko to immediately comply with the Chamber's Order of 18 October 2004, to disclose the identities of all Defence witnesses 21 days before the testimonies of the witnesses, and to disclose to all parties a summary of the facts about which each witness would testify. 15176

6439. On 1 March 2005, the Chamber ordered the Defence to make any necessary disclosures regarding the defence of alibi. 15177 It also denied an *ex parte* motion by Nyiramasuhuko for

¹⁵¹⁶⁶ T. 31 January 2005 pp. 15-25.

¹⁵¹⁶⁷ T. 31 January 2005 p. 25.

¹⁵¹⁶⁸ T. 31 January 2005 pp. 14, 15.

¹⁵¹⁶⁹ T. 31 January 2005 p. 12.

¹⁵¹⁷⁰ T. 31 January 2005 p. 11.

¹⁵¹⁷¹ T. 31 January 2005 pp. 73-75.

Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial, 2 February 2005. On 22 February 2005, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's motion for reconsideration of this decision: *Prosecutor v Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the 'Decision of Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial', 22 February 2005.

¹⁵¹⁷³ T. 3 February 2005 pp. 20-21.

¹⁵¹⁷⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Request to Meet Witness FAT in the Absence of the Prosecution, 4 February 2005.

¹⁵¹⁷⁵ T. 16 February 2005 p. 53.

¹⁵¹⁷⁶ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Exclusion of Witnesses whose Identities have been Disclosed Out of Time Pursuant to Rules 54, 73, 73 ter and the Chamber's Order of 18 October 2004, 18 February 2005.

¹⁵¹⁷⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion to be Served with Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67 (A)(ii)(a), 1 March 2005. The Chamber

additional protective measures for Witnesses WBNC, WBND, WFMG, WHNC, BN and NEM, but granted Witnesses BN and NEM a limited immunity from prosecution or detention for acts or convictions falling within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. 15178

- 6440. On 1 March 2005, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's oral motion to stay the evidence of Witness WKNKI 15179
- 6441. On 14 March 2005, the Chamber granted in part a Prosecution motion for reciprocal inspection of Nyiramasuhuko and Ndayambaje's materials and directed the Ntahobali Defence to comply with Rule 67 (C). 15180 The Chamber also granted a Prosecution motion to delay the testimony of Witness WZNA to allow the Prosecution and the other parties the opportunity to prepare any cross-examination of that witness¹⁵¹⁸¹ and stated that the late disclosure of will-say statements by Ms. Bergevin, counsel for Nyiramasuhuko, amounted to a flouting of the Rules 15182
- 6442. On 15 March 2005, the Chamber recognised Dr. Eugène Shimamungu as an expert witness in: linguistic science; grammar in the Kinyarwanda language; political information; political information communication; lexicography; terminology; translation in Kinyarwanda and French; and analysis of oral and written political discourse. I5183
- 6443. On 22 March 2005, the Chamber ruled that the translation of original tapes could be used, but that other Parties could contest the accuracy of the translation. 15184
- 6444. On 1 April 2005, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's request for further crossexamination of Dr. Shimamungu. 15185
- 6445. On 6 April 2005, the Chamber granted Kanyabashi's objection to evidence implicating him which was not disclosed in the will-say statements of Witness WMKL. 15186

declined to enter an order that the Defence call only those witnesses that would not testify to alibi evidence until such a time as the Prosecutor had been served with an alibi notice and particulars.

¹⁵¹⁷⁸ Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte - Under Seal - Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Some Defence Witnesses, 1 March 2005. On 14 April 2005, Trial Chamber II denied motions by the Prosecution and Nyiramasuhuko for reconsideration or certification to appeal this decision: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Reconsideration or Certification to Appeal Trial Chamber II's Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte - Under Seal - Motion for Additional Protective Measures for some Defence Witnesses Dated 1 March 2005, 14 April 2005; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte - Under Seal - Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Some Defence Witnesses and Reconsideration of that Decision as regards Witness BK, 14 April 2005. ¹⁵¹⁷⁹ T. 1 March 2005 p. 4.

¹⁵¹⁸⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion Requesting Reciprocal Inspection of the Materials of the Accused Persons Pursuant to Rule 67(C) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 14 March 2005.

15181 T. 14 March 2005 p. 8.

¹⁵¹⁸² Minutes, T. 14 March 2005.

¹⁵¹⁸³ T. 15 March 2005 pp. 52, 53.

¹⁵¹⁸⁴ T. 22 March 2005 p. 35.

¹⁵¹⁸⁵ T. 1 April 2005 pp. 20, 21.

- 6446. On 13 April 2005, the Chamber held that Mr. Edmond Babin was not qualified to testify as an expert in crime scene analysis, but that he could testify as a factual witness. 15187
- 6447. On 21 April 2005, the Chamber ruled that written summaries of DVD recordings would not be admitted. 15188
- 6448. On 25 April 2005, the Chamber ruled that questions could be posed about the circumstances of a confidential conversation between Ntahobali, his Counsel and agents, but not the content of that conversation. 15189
- 6449. On 26 April 2005, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 30 May 2005 for the continuation of the Defence case. 15190
- 6450. On 30 May 2005, the Chamber ruled that Counsel remain assigned to the Defence team of Ntahobali. 15191
- 6451. On 1 June 2005, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's request to remove Serge Desouter and Remigius Kintu as experts from their list of witnesses, and replace them with a new expert, Baributsa Maniragaba. 15192
- 6452. On 6 June 2005, Judge Møse of Trial Chamber I, acting in his capacity as President, dismissed Ntahobali's appeal filed against the Registrar's refusal to permit a confidential interview with Georges Rutaganda. 15193
- 6453. On 9 June 2005, the Registrar issued a decision ordering the withdrawal of Mr. Duncan Mwanyumba as Lead Counsel for Ntahobali. The Chamber ruled that notwithstanding a lack or insufficiency of notice with respect to a potential defence of alibi, Witness Denise Ntahobali's testimony was permitted though the Chamber reserved the right to consider lack of notice when deliberating. 15195

151

¹⁵¹⁸⁶ T. 6 April 2005 pp. 64-65, 66.

¹⁵¹⁸⁷ Minutes, T. 13 April 2005.

¹⁵¹⁸⁸ T. 21 April 2005 p. 74.

¹⁵¹⁸⁹ T. 25 April 2005 p. 56.

¹⁵¹⁹⁰ Minutes, T. 26 April 2005.

¹⁵¹⁹¹ T. 30 May 2005 pp. 19-20.

¹⁵¹⁹² T. 1 June 2005 p. 20.

¹⁵¹⁹³ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, The President's Decision on the Appeal Filed Against the Registrar's Refusal to Permit a Confidential Interview with Georges Rutaganda, 6 June 2005.

¹⁵¹⁹⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR97-21-T, Décision de Retrait de la Commission d'Office de Maître Duncan Mwanyumba à titre de Conseil Principal de M. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 9 June 2005. The English translation is dated six days later: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision to Withdraw the Assignment of Mr. Duncan Mwanyumba as Lead Counsel for Mr. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 15 June 2005.

¹⁵¹⁹⁵ T. 9 June 2005 pp. 41-42, 43.

- 6454. On 15 June 2005, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for additional protective measures for Witnesses BK and WBNM, but granted an order for safe conduct, so that the witness could testify in Arusha. 15196
- 6455. On 16 June 2005, the Chamber held a Status Conference¹⁵¹⁹⁷ and adjourned to 15 August 2005 for the continuation of the Defence case.¹⁵¹⁹⁸
- 6456. On 4 July 2005, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Nyiramasuhuko which sought reconsideration of the Chamber's decision with respect to additional protective measures for Witness WBNM and allowed Witness WBNM's testimony to be heard via video-link from Belgium. ¹⁵¹⁹⁹
- 6457. On 19 August 2005, the Chamber directed Ntahobali to abide by all disclosure obligations so that his defence could proceed in a smooth and uninterrupted manner on or after 29 August 2005. 15200
- 6458. On 23 August 2005, the Chamber granted a confidential Prosecution motion, ordered Ntahobali to file 10 redacted will-say statements and reiterated its 27 March 2001 Order that pseudonyms be used for Prosecution Witnesses. 15201
- 6459. On 26 August 2005, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Ntahobali to modify his witness list and directed the Defence to disclose all identifying information for the additional permitted witnesses once protective measures were put into place. The Chamber also

_

¹⁵¹⁹⁶ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte – Under Seal – Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Defence Witness BK, 15 June 2005; Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte – Under Seal – Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Defence Witness WBNM, 17 June 2005. ¹⁵¹⁹⁷ T. 16 June 2005 (Status Conference).

¹⁵¹⁹⁸ Minutes, T. 16 June 2005.

Prosecutor v Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Ex-Parte - Extremely Urgent Motion for Reconsideration of Trial Chamber II's Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte – Under Seal – Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Defence Witness WBNM dated 17 June 2005 or, Subsidiarily, on Nyiramasuhuko's Strictly Confidential Ex-Parte – Under Seal – Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Defence Witness WBNM, 4 July 2005. Witness WBNM was a resident of Belgium at that time.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion Pursuant to Rules 54, 73 and 73ter to Proceed with the Evidence of the Accused Nyiramasuhuko as a Witness on 15 August 2005 or in the Alternative to Proceed with the Defence Case of the Accused Ntahobali, 19 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰¹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Extremely Confidential Motion – Under Seal – in response to the Motion of Arsene Shalom Ntahobali on the Disclosure of the Identity and Will Say Statements of Witnesses, 23 August 2005.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali (Rule 73ter (E), Rules of Procedure and Evidence), 26 August 2005. On 21 September 2005, Trial Chamber II denied a motion by Ntahobali for certification to appeal the 26 August 2005 Decision in relation to a select number of witnesses. The Chamber ruled that the motion was filed out of time and therefore was time barred. On 12 October 2005, the Chamber later denied a motion by Ntahobali for reconsideration of the 21 September 2005 Decision. The Chamber denied an additional request to reconsider the 26 August 2005 decision, with respect to certain witnesses, on 27 January 2006. Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" (Article 73 (sic) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence), 21

denied a motion by Ntahobali to enter into evidence the written report of investigator Ralph Lake, in lieu of oral testimony. 15203

- 6460. On 29 August 2005, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to temporarily unseal documents seized from Nyiramasuhuko and to permit the Prosecution to study the seized property in the presence of all parties. The Chamber denied Nyiramasuhuko's motion to delay her testimony until after Witness WBMN testified, and reiterated its Order that she take the stand immediately if Witness WBMN was unavailable. 15205
- 6461. On 30 August 2005, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's request for time to examine the unsealed documents. The Chamber also dismissed a motion by Ntahobali to admit additional statements by Witnesses QBQ and QY, holding that this motion had been rendered moot by its 26 August 2005 Decision. Section 15207
- 6462. On 31 August 2005, Nyiramasuhuko began testifying in her own defence. 15208
- 6463. On 5 September 2005, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to compel disclosure of documents used by the Defence and ruled that once an accused person elects to testify on his own behalf, the obligations that attach to the testimony of an ordinary witness will also apply. 15209
- 6464. On 12 September 2005, the Chamber granted Witness WNBM's request to testify in his own name, Maurice Ntahobali, in full open session. 15210
- 6465. On 16 September 2005, the Chamber granted a Prosecution request to admit an audio tape, in which the witness concerned had identified his own voice. ¹⁵²¹¹

September 2005; *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the "Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali", 12 October 2005; *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend his Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali", 27 January 2006.

¹⁵²⁰³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Defence Motion to Enter into Evidence the Report of the Investigator Ralph Lake (Article 92 bis (sic), Rules of Procedure and Evidence), 26 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion to Unseal Documents Seized from Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, 29 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰⁵ T. 29 August 2005 pp. 14, 15.

¹⁵²⁰⁶ Minutes, T. 30 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Notice of Intention to File on the Record Written Statements of Witnesses and the Transcripts of their Testimony before the ICTR in Lieu of Oral Testimony, 30 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰⁸ Minutes, T. 31 August 2005.

¹⁵²⁰⁹ T. 5 September 2005 p. 56.

¹⁵²¹⁰ T. 12 September 2005 pp. 11, 12.

¹⁵²¹¹ T. 16 September 2005 p. 50.

6466. On 19 September 2005, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to declare an audio tape inadmissible, as there was no foundation to establish that it contained Nyiramasuhuko's voice. 15212

6467. On 22 September 2005, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to extend the deadline for filing an expert report but *proprio motu* ordered that it be filed within two weeks. ¹⁵²¹³ It also dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for the Prosecution to disclose a document entitled "After Gatabazi's Death." ¹⁵²¹⁴

6468. On 23 September 2005, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to initiate an investigation into the alleged false testimony given by Prosecution Witness QY. 15215

6469. On 6 October 2005, the Chamber denied Ntahobali's request to change the order in which the Defence teams would conduct cross-examination of Nyiramasuhuko. That day, Nyiramasuhuko filed the Expert Report of Balibutsa Maniaragaba, along with an urgent motion seeking an additional extension to the deadline, which had expired the previous day. On 13 October 2005, the Chamber denied this motion but admitted the report. The Chamber issued a formal warning to the Defence for Nyiramasuhuko for exceeding time frames again and instructed the Defence not to repeat this conduct.

6470. At the close of proceedings on 13 October 2005, the Chamber adjourned the trial session to 25 October 2005. 15219

6471. On 2 November 2005, the Chamber overruled an objection by Nyiramasuhuko to the admission of a document tendered by Kanyabashi. 15220

6472. On 7 November 2005, the Chamber sustained an objection by Nyiramasuhuko to the use of a document in Kinyarwanda disclosed two hours prior to the attempted use in court. The Chamber ruled that documents used during cross-examination must be disclosed with sufficient time for the Parties to translate and understand them.

¹⁵²¹² T. 19 September 2005 pp. 56, 57.

¹⁵²¹³ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion to Extend the Time Within which to File the Expert Report of Proposed Expert Witness Balibutsa Maniaragaba, 22 September 2005.

¹⁵²¹⁴ T. 22 September 2005 pp. 7-8, 9.

¹⁵²¹⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to have Perjury Committed by Prosecution Witness QY Investigated (Article 91 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence), 23 September 2005.

¹⁵²¹⁶ T. 6 October 2005 pp. 52, 53.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Requête urgente de l'accusé Pauline Nyiramasuhuko en extension de délai aux fins de production du rapport d'expert Monsieur Balibutsa Maniaragaba, 6 October 2005.

¹⁵²¹⁸ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Urgent Motion to Extend the Time Within which to File the Expert Report of Balibutsa Maniaragaba, 13 October 2005.

¹⁵²¹⁹ Minutes, T. 13 October 2005 p. 39.

¹⁵²²⁰ Minutes, T. 2 November 2005.

¹⁵²²¹ T. 7 November 2005 pp. 68-70.

¹⁵²²² T. 7 November 2005 pp. 69, 70.

6473. On 24 November 2005, Trial Day 320, the re-examination of Nyiramasuhuko was completed¹⁵²²³ and the Chamber declared her case closed, with the exception of one final expert witness, Baributsa Maniragaba. Nyiramasuhuko called 25 witnesses, including herself. Nyiramasuhuko called 25 witnesses, including

1.2.4.2 Ntahobali Defence Case (28 November 2005 – 26 June 2006)

6474. On 28 November 2005, the Defence for Ntahobali opened its case. ¹⁵²²⁶ The Defence had already made an opening statement on 12 April 2005, prior to calling Witness Babin, a common witness between Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko. ¹⁵²²⁷

6475. On 1 December 2005, the Chamber granted a request by Ntahobali to reserve the right to recall Witness H1B6. On 6 December 2005, the Chamber granted a motion by Nsabimana to re-cross examine Witness H1B6. 15229

6476. On 12 December 2005, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to use a photo of a televised program. ¹⁵²³⁰

6477. On 14 December 2005, the Chamber ordered that: Ntahobali's defence case resume on 23 January 2006; Ntahobali and Nsabimana comply with all disclosure obligations in a timely fashion; the Registry ensure that all subsequent filings by Ntahobali be translated as a matter of priority; Ntahobali file with the Registry his detailed list of witnesses for the next trial session by 23 December 2005; Ntahobali ensure that his defence be completed in a timely fashion; Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko liaise with respect to the scheduling of Witness Maniaragaba and keep the Chamber informed; all five remaining defendants file concise, precise, and complete will-say statements for the witnesses they intend to call; the remaining five defendants review their witness lists with a view to reducing both the total number of witnesses and the number of witnesses called to prove the same facts; and that they file an updated precise list of witnesses by 23 January 2006. 15231

6478. On 23 January 2006, Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nteziryayo and Ndayambaje did not appear for the start of proceedings or after an adjournment to permit Defence Counsel to contact these Accused and advise them that if they failed to appear they would be taken to waive their right to be present at trial that day. As Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Ndayambaje had not mandated their counsel to proceed in their absence, the Chamber directed the Registry to assign counsel for these Accused, effective immediately. 15233

¹⁵²²³ Minutes, T. 24 November 2005.

¹⁵²²⁴ T. 24 November 2005 p. 32. The expert witness, Baributsa Maniragaba was expected to testify in 2006.

¹⁵²²⁵ Minutes, T. 24 November 2005.

¹⁵²²⁶ T. 28 November 2005 p. 3.

¹⁵²²⁷ Ntahobali Opening Statement, T. 12 April 2005 pp. 2-7.

¹⁵²²⁸ Minutes, T. 1 December 2005.

¹⁵²²⁹ T. 6 December 2005 pp. 10, 11.

¹⁵²³⁰ T. 12 December 2005 p. 17 (ICS).

¹⁵²³¹ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Scheduling Order, 14 December 2005.

¹⁵²³² T. 23 January 2006 p. 4.

¹⁵²³³ T. 23 January 2006 pp. 4, 13, 14.

6479. On 27 January 2006, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Ntahobali to add Georges Rutaganda and Witness WDUSA to his witness list, and to expand the scope of Witness MJ110's testimony. The Chamber later ordered that Witness WDUSA testify via videoconference from The Hague. 15235

6480. On 31 January 2006, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali for disclosure of certain requested documents but ordered the Prosecution to allow the Defence to inspect them. 15236

6481. On 14 February 2006, the proceedings were adjourned to 20 February 2006 for the continuation of the Defence case as no witnesses were available until that date. 15237

6482. On 15 February 2006, the Registrar withdrew the assignment of Claude Desrochers as Co-Counsel for Ndayambaje. 15238

6483. On 20 February 2006, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's request to withdraw Expert Witness Balibutsa Maniragaba. 15239

6484. On 28 February 2006, the Chamber ruled that factual witnesses do not have the right to protect their sources in the same manner as expert witnesses. 15240

6485. On 3 March 2006, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali for greater access by Defence Counsel to Ntahobali at UNDF. 15241 It also granted in part a motion by Ntahobali to

_

¹⁵²³⁴ The scope of testimony by Georges Rutaganda and Witness WDUSA were limited by this Decision: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend his Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali", 27 January 2006. On 6 February 2006 Trial Chamber II issued a corrigendum to this decision which acknowledged that Ntahobali filed responding materials in a timely manner. The Chamber deleted Paragraph 19 from the Decision of 27 January 2006 and reiterated that decision in all other respects: *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Corrigendum to the Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend his Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 entitled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" Dated 27 January 2006, 6 February 2006.

15235 *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom

¹⁵²³⁵ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Extremely Urgent Motion for Video Link Testimony of Defence Witness WDUSA in Accordance with Rule 71 (A) and (D) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 15 February 2006.

¹⁵²³⁶ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Disclosure of Documents, 31 January 2006. The Chamber later refused to issue a corrigendum with respect to this decision, and reiterated its decision of 31 January 2006: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Request for a Corrigendum to the "Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Disclosure of Documents" of 31 January 2006, 3 March 2006.

¹⁵²³⁷ T. 14 February 2006 pp. 62-63.

¹⁵²³⁸ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision de retrait de la commission d'office de Maître Claude Desrochers à titre de co-conseil de M. Élie Ndayambaje, 15 February 2006.

¹⁵²³⁹ T. 20 February 2006 p. 5.

¹⁵²⁴⁰ T. 28 February 2006 p. 23 (ICS).

¹⁵²⁴¹ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Extremely Urgent Motion for Greater Access to the Accused at UNDF, 3 March 2006.

recall Witness QY for further cross-examination, but denied the motion with regard to Witnesses TN and QBQ. 15242

6486. On 7 March 2006, the Bureau composed of Judge Erik Møse, President, and Judge Khalida Rachid Khan, Presiding Judge of Trial Chamber III, denied a motion by Ntahobali seeking the disqualification of Judges Sekule, Ramaroson and Bossa. 15243

6487. On 8 March 2006, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali for the suspension of his testimony pending a decision on Nyiramasuhuko's motion for a separate trial. 15244 It also adjourned the proceedings until 3 April 2006. 15245

6488. On 3 April 2006, the Chamber granted the Parties' request to reserve their rights to recross-examine Witness WUNBJ. 15246

6489. On 7 April 2006, the Chamber denied Nyiramasuhuko's motion for severance, a new trial, and a stay of proceedings in all respects. The Chamber held that counsel for Nyiramasuhuko had attempted to re-litigate matters decided in 2003, and imposed sanctions pursuant to Rule 73 (F). 15247

6490. On 15 May 2006, the Chamber ruled admissible interviews of Ntahobali conducted by the Prosecution in 1997. The Chamber granted in part a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to cross-examine Ntahobali, despite having waived her right to do so, but refused to change the order in which cross-examinations are normally conducted. 15248

6491. On 17 May 2006, the Chamber overruled an objection by Ntahobali to a question relating to a conversation between Ntahobali and his wife, holding that there is no "spousal privilege" under the Tribunal's Rules. 15249

6492. On 30 May 2006, the Chamber allowed Nyiramasuhuko to cross-examine Ntahobali on his statements to Prosecution Investigators in 1997. 15250

6493. On 1 June 2006, the Chamber reached the end of the trial session, and adjourned the proceedings to 19 June 2006. 15251

¹⁵²⁴² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Strictly Confidential Motion to Recall Witnesses TN, QBQ, and QY, for Additional Cross-Examination, 3 March 2006. Trial Chamber II refused to certify an appeal of this decision with respect to the refusal to recall Witnesses TN and QBQ: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et. al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the "Decision on Ntahobali's Strictly Confidential Motion to Recall Witnesses TN, QBQ, and QY for Additional Cross-Examination", 4 April 2006.

¹⁵²⁴³ *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Motion for Disqualification of Judges, 7 March 2006.

¹⁵²⁴⁴ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 4, 5, 6.

¹⁵²⁴⁵ T. 8 March 2006 pp. 60, 63-64.

¹⁵²⁴⁶ Minutes, T. 3 April 2006.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Separate Proceedings, a New Trial, and Stay of Proceedings, 7 April 2006.

¹⁵²⁴⁸ T. 30 May 2006 p. 36.

¹⁵²⁴⁹ T. 17 May 2006 pp. 60, 61.

¹⁵²⁵⁰ Minutes, T. 30 May 2006.

- 6494. On 13 June 2006, the Registrar withdrew the assignment of Charles Tchakoute Patie as Co-Counsel for Nsabimana. 15252
- 6495. On 22 June 2006, the Chamber sustained, in part, Ntahobali's objections to the admissibility of one portion of a video. 15253
- 6496. Ntahobali closed his case on 26 June 2006, Trial Day 389, after calling 22 witnesses, including himself. 15254

1.2.4.3 Nsabimana Defence Case (27 June 2006 – 28 November 2006)

- 6497. Nsabimana opened his case on 27 June 2006. 15255
- 6498. On 29 June 2006, the Chamber denied a Prosecution motion for disclosure of unredacted witness statements from Nsabimana's defence. The Chamber granted a motion by Nsabimana to vary the order in which he called witnesses. 15257
- 6499. On 5 July 2006, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ndayambaje (supported by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nteziryayo) to delay the resumption of the trial session. 15258
- 6500. On 12 July 2006, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 21 August 2006 for the continuation of the Defence Case. 15259
- 6501. On 13 July 2006, the Registrar withdrew the assignment of Frédéric Palardy as Co-Counsel for Ndayambaje. 15260
- 6502. On 14 July 2006, the Chamber granted in part Nteziryayo's requests to modify his witness list by deleting 22 witnesses and adding 12 witnesses and urged him to significantly reduce his witness list. The Chamber also allowed Nsabimana to remove several witnesses from his witness list, and to add Witness AGWA, who would be called near the end of its case, to allow other counsel sufficient time to prepare. 15261

_

¹⁵²⁵¹ T. 1 June 2006, p. 71.

Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8, Décision de retrait de la commission d'office de Maître Charles Tchakoute Patie à titre de co-conseil de l'accusé Sylvain Nsabimana, 14 June 2006.

15253 T. 22 June 2006 pp. 40-41.

T. 26 June 2006 p. 57. Ntahobali's case was closed subject to conditions including the following: Witness ANMBMP be called in September 2006; two exhibits to be filed; and a pending motion for disclosure of documents.

¹⁵²⁵⁵ Nsabimana Opening Statement, T. 27 June 2006 pp. 3-7.

Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion to Compel Disclosure of Unredacted Witness Statements by Nsabimana's Defence, 29 June 2006.
T. 29 June 2006 p. 51.

¹⁵²⁵⁸ Minutes, T. 5 July 2006.

¹⁵²⁵⁹ T. 12 July 2006 p. 50.

¹⁵²⁶⁰ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision de retrait de la commission d'office de MaîtreFrédéric Palardy à titre de co-conseil de M. Elie Ndayambaje, 13 July 2006.

¹⁵²⁶¹ *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana*, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on Sylvain Nsabimana's Extremely Urgent Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses, 14 July 2006.

6503. On 17 August 2006, the Chamber denied a motion by Nsabimana to have Witness AGWA testify via video link, ¹⁵²⁶² but granted his motion to delete three witnesses from his list, and to add Witness DEDE. The Chamber again ordered Nsabimana to call this newly added witness towards the end of his case. ¹⁵²⁶³ The Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for an extension of time to file responses to various motions on the grounds that it was frivolous and directed the Registry to deny all fees associated with its preparation. ¹⁵²⁶⁴

6504. The proceedings resumed on 21 August 2006. The Chamber overruled an objection by Nyiramasuhuko to an alleged lack of notice with respect to portions of Witness BURU's proposed testimony which referred to Nyiramasuhuko. The Chamber found it was improper for Kanyabashi to have contacted Nsabimana's witness and stated that once the identity of a witness is known, and it is clearly indicated that the witness is going to testify for a particular party, then all other teams must avoid contact with that witness unless a formal request has been made. 15267

6505. On 23 August 2006, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to admit evidence from another case before the Tribunal and held that proper procedure required that a motion be made to the Chamber seized of the other trial. The Chamber also refused to admit into evidence a book written by Witness Karemano. 15269

Strictly Confidential - Under Seal - Motion to Have Witness AGWA Testify via Video-Link, 17 August 2006.

Disclosure Regarding Witness DEDE's Expected Testimony, 19 September 2006.

alternatively, sought additional disclosure: *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Extremely Urgent Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or Subsidiarily for Further

The Chamber also ordered Nsabimana to make timely disclosure of the identifying information of this witness and to provide further and better particulars with respect to the will-say statement: *Prosecutor v. Nsabimana*, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Sylvain Nsabimana's Extremely Urgent Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses, 17 August 2006. Subsequently the Chamber made further orders with respect to this decision: *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecution's Urgent Motion to Compel Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 17 August 2006, 5 September 2006. The Chamber granted this motion in part, and ordered Nsabimana to: (i) provide detailed information on the areas where Witness DEDE was expected to contradict the testimony of Prosecution Witness SJ; (ii) give details on the "aid" that Nsabimana allegedly gave to Prosecution Witness SJ; (iii) to specifically mention the name or position held by the "MRND dignitaries" mentioned in the supplementary will-say statement and, if this included any of the Accused, to identify them; and (iv) to make the required disclosures regarding the proposed testimony of Witness DEDE as soon as possible and in any case before the close of business on 8 September 2006. Nsabimana complied with this order and filed additional material on 7 September 2006 which indicated that the "MRND dignitaries" included Nyiramasuhuko. On 19 September 2006, Trial Chamber II denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko which sought to prevent Witness DEDE from testifying on facts relating to Nyiramasuhuko, or

¹⁵²⁶⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko*, ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Extremely Urgent Motion for Extension of Time within which to File a Response, 17 August 2006.

¹⁵²⁶⁵ Minutes, T. 21 August 2006.

¹⁵²⁶⁶ T. 21 August 2006 pp. 14-15.

¹⁵²⁶⁷ T. 21 August 2006 pp. 18-19.

T. 23 August 2006 pp. 7-8 (ICS). However, on 4 September 2006, Trial Chamber II granted Nyiramasuhuko's request to put an additional question in cross-examination to Witness Karemano, despite the fact that she had closed her cross-examination of that witness: T. 4 September 2006 p. 8 (ICS). The question was put to the witness as an assertion, without indicating that the assertion was evidence in another trial.

15269 T. 23 August 2006 p. 23.

- 6506. On 25 August 2006, the Chamber issued a warning to Mr. Boulé, counsel for Ndayambaje, with respect to his discourteous and offensive conduct. 15270
- 6507. On 1 September 2006, the Chamber dismissed Ndayambaje's motion for the exclusion of testimony or parts of testimony of 14 Prosecution witnesses. The Chamber was not satisfied that there was a basis to exclude the testimonies, but held that some of the matters raised could be considered at a later stage of the proceedings. 15271
- 6508. On 5 September 2006, the Chamber directed the Registry to inform Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Ndayambaje that if they failed to appear in court, they would be deemed to have waived their right to be tried in their presence, and the proceedings would continue in their absence. When the proceedings resumed, all Accused were present. 15273
- 6509. On 15 September 2006, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nsabimana to admit a written statement by Witness JAMI in lieu of oral testimony, 15274 and dismissed a motion by Ntahobali seeking the admission of custodial statements made by Kanyabashi to Belgian authorities upon his arrest. 15275
- 6510. On 25 and 27 September 2006, the Chamber dismissed motions by Nsabimana to admit video footage where the foundation had not been laid, or the footage had not been disclosed to the other parties in a timely manner. 15276
- 6511. On 5 October 2006, the Chamber ordered Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi to reduce the total number of witnesses they intended to call and to file realistic and updated witness lists by 6 November 2006. The Chamber ordered Nteziryayo to proceed with the presentation of his defence as soon as Nsabimana's Defence was closed; Nteziryayo was also ordered to ensure that all relevant disclosures were made in due time to avoid any delay in the proceedings. 15277

¹⁵²⁷⁰ T. 25 August 2006 p. 31.

¹⁵²⁷¹ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 1 September 2006. Note the Chamber earlier granted a motion by Ndayambaje for an extension of time to file a reply to the Prosecutor's response to its motion: Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Ndayambaje's Motion for Extension of Time to Reply to the Prosecutor's Response to its Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 30 June 2006. On 5 October 2006 Trial Chamber II refused to certify an appeal of this decision: Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Élie Ndayambaje's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence Issued on 1 September 2006, 5 October 2006. On 2 November 2006, the Chamber refused to reconsider its refusal of certification: Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Reconsideration of the Chamber's Decision to Deny Certification to Appeal Its Decision on the Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 2 November 2006.

¹⁵²⁷² T. 5 September 2006 p. 17.

¹⁵²⁷³ T. 5 September 2006 p. 18.

¹⁵²⁷⁴ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Nsabimana's Motion to Admit the Written Statement of Witness JAMI in lieu of Oral Testimony Pursuant to Rule 92 bis, 15 September 2006.

¹⁵²⁷⁵ *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion to Admit Kanyabashi's Custodial Statements, 15 September 2006.

¹⁵²⁷⁶ T. 25 September 2006 p. 69; T. 27 September 2006 p. 29.

¹⁵²⁷⁷ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 5 October 2006.

- 6512. On 18 October 2006, at the end of a scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 6 November 2006, 15278 when the Chamber reconvened. 15279
- 6513. On 9 November 2006, the Chamber observed that Nteziryayo, Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje had failed to comply with previous scheduling orders, and that Counsels' non-compliance with the Chamber's orders obstructs the proceedings and is contrary to the interests of justice. The Chamber ordered Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi to review their witness lists and to file realistic and updated lists of witnesses by 4 December 2006. 15280
- 6514. That day, the Chamber overruled objections by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali to the admission of Witness AGWA's testimony explaining that even though his relationship to a certain meeting was not specifically pled in the Indictment, this alone does not render the evidence inadmissible. ¹⁵²⁸¹
- 6515. On 15 November 2006, the Chamber formally warned Counsel Kadji for disclosing certain documents to Nsabimana while he was under cross-examination. 15282
- 6516. Nsabimana closed his case on 28 November 2006, trial day 446, after calling 11 witnesses. 15283

1.2.4.4 Nteziryayo Defence Case (4 December 2006 – 9 July 2007)

- 6517. Nteziryayo opened his case on 4 December 2006¹⁵²⁸⁴ and his Counsel, Mr. Pacere, made an opening statement. 15285
- 6518. On 7 December 2006, the Chamber reached the end of the scheduled trial session and adjourned the trial to 22 January 2007. 15286
- 6519. On 8 December 2006, the Registrar granted Richard Perras' request to withdraw as Co-Counsel for Nteziryayo. 15287
- 6520. On 13 December 2006, the Chamber ordered Ndayambaje and Kanyabashi to further review their witness lists to significantly reduce the total number of witnesses they intended to call and to file final and realistic lists of witnesses by 31 January 2007. 15288

¹⁵²⁷⁹ Minutes, T. 6 November 2006.

¹⁵²⁷⁸ T. 18 October 2006 p. 91.

¹⁵²⁸⁰ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 9 November 2006.

¹⁵²⁸¹ T. 9 November 2006 pp. 11-12, 53-54.

¹⁵²⁸² T. 15 November 2006 pp. 58-59.

¹⁵²⁸³ T. 28 November 2006 p. 57. Nsabimana's case was closed subject to the finalization and tendering of certain portions of an interview which had been used in cross-examination. See also Minutes, T. 28 November 2006. The Chamber declared the Nsabimana's case "completely closed" following the admission of certain exhibits on 4 December 2006.

¹⁵²⁸⁴ Nteziryayo Opening Statement, T. 4 December 2006 pp. 6-17.

¹⁵²⁸⁵ Minutes, T. 4 December 2006.

¹⁵²⁸⁶ T. 7 December 2006 p. 32.

¹⁵²⁸⁷ Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Mr. Richard Perras, Co-Counsel for the Accused Alphonse Nteziryayo, 8 December 2006.

¹⁵²⁸⁸ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 13 December 2006.

- 6521. On 22 January 2007, the Chamber convened to resume the proceedings. 15289
- 6522. On 25 January 2007, the Chamber held that the Prosecution was not obligated to disclose an out of court statement made by Witness AND-16 as the Parties had not been demonstrably prejudiced. 15290
- 6523. On 29 January 2007, the Chamber granted Nteziryayo's motion to vary his witness list. 15291
- 6524. On 21 February 2007, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to change the order in which the parties would cross-examine the witness. 15292
- 6525. On 22 February, 1 March, 8 March and 19 March 2007, the Chamber granted motions by Nteziryayo to vary the order of witnesses. 15293
- 6526. On 8 March 2007 the Chamber issued a formal warning to Ms. Bergevin, Counsel for Nyiramasuhuko, with regard to disrespectful language. 15294
- 6527. On 9 March 2007, the Chamber granted a motion by Nteziryayo to delete Witness AND-20 and to add Witness AND-75 to the list. It ordered Nteziryayo to disclose Witness AND-75's identifying information at least 21 days prior to the date of that witness' expected testimony and to call that witness towards the end of its case. 15295
- 6528. On 21 March 2007, the Chamber denied motions by Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje for changes to the witness lists and an extension of time within which to file a response to the Chamber's 13 December 2006 Scheduling Order. The Chamber accepted the deletion of witnesses from Kanyabashi's witness list, ordered Kanyabashi and Ndayambaje to file revised witness lists; and ordered both Defence teams not to file additional motions for variation of their witness lists until they had complied. 15296

¹⁵²⁸⁹ Minutes, T. 22 January 2007.

¹⁵²⁹⁰ Minutes, T. 25 January 2007.

¹⁵²⁹¹ T. 29 January 2007 pp. 4-5.

¹⁵²⁹² T. 21 February 2007 pp. 70-71.

¹⁵²⁹³ T. 22 February 2007 p. 49; T. 1 March 2007 pp. 47-48; T. 8 March 2007 pp. 75-76 (ICS); T. 19 March 2007 pp. 9-10. 15294 T. 8 March 2007 pp. 16-17 (ICS).

¹⁵²⁹⁵ Prosecutor v. Nsabimana and Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Nteziryayo's Motion for Variation of Witness List (Rule 73 ter), 9 March 2007.

¹⁵²⁹⁶ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Joseph Kanyabashi's Motions for Modification of his Witness List, the Defence Responses to the Scheduling Order of 13 December 2006 and Ndayambaje's Request for Extension of Time Within Which to Respond to the Scheduling Order of 13 December 2006, 21 March 2007. Trial Chamber II granted a motion for certification to appeal this decision on 3 May 2007: Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No.ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Joseph Kanyabashi's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision of 21 March 2007, 3 May 2007. A bench of the Appeals Chamber was constituted by order issued one week later: Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73, Order Assigning Judges to a Case Before the Appeals Chamber, 10 May 2007. On 21 August 2007, the Appeals Chamber dismissed the appeal of this decision: Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73, Decision on Joseph Kanyabashi's Appeal against the Decision of Trial Chamber II of 21 March 2007 concerning the Dismissal of Motions to Vary his Witness List, 21 August 2007.

- 6529. On 23 March 2007, Judge Asoka de Silva, sitting as a single Judge pursuant to Rule 75 (H) granted a motion by Nteziryayo for the immediate disclosure of the closed session transcripts of Witness M078 in the *Muvunyi* case, to all of the parties in the *Nyiramasuhuko et al.* case. 15297
- 6530. On 27 March 2007, the Chamber granted a motion by Nsabimana and adjourned Witness AND-59's testimony to the next trial session. The Chamber adjourned the proceedings until 16 April 2007, on which date the proceedings resumed. Same adjourned the proceedings until 16 April 2007, Same adjourned the proceedings until 16 April 2007, Same adjourned the proceedings resumed.
- 6531. On 19 April 2007, the Chamber granted a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for time to examine a document and reiterated that documents to be used in cross-examination should be disclosed prior to the start of the cross-examination. The Chamber granted a motion by Nteziryayo to vary the order in which he intended to call his witnesses. 15302
- 6532. On 25 April 2007, the Chamber granted Nteziryayo's request to vary the order of witnesses. On 10 May 2007, the Chamber denied a motion by Nteziryayo for certification to appeal an Oral Decision rendered on 19 and 23 April 2007. 15304
- 6533. On 1 May 2007, the Chamber held that a will-say statement is not a statement of the witness, and cannot be used to impeach the witness. 15305
- 6534. On 8 May 2007, the Chamber directed Kanyabashi to prepare a list of witnesses that he intended to call, and to comply with the related disclosure obligations. 15306
- 6535. On 11 May 2007, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to recall Witness AND-44, or to reconsider an Oral Decision of 19 April 2007 which allowed the use of immigration documents pertaining to that witness released during cross-examination. The Chamber also denied certification to appeal. 15307
- 6536. On 17 May 2007, the Chamber adjourned the trial until 21 May 2007, due to the Accused Nteziryayo's ill health and directed the Registry to ensure that he obtain all necessary

¹⁵²⁹⁷ Prosecutor v. Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-00-55, Decision on Extremely Urgent Motion from the Accused Alphonse Nteziryayo to Disclose Closed Session Transcripts for Witness M078, 23 March 2007.

T. 27 March 2007 pp. 66-67 (ICS).

¹⁵²⁹⁹ T. 27 March 2007 p. 71.

¹⁵³⁰⁰ Minutes, T. 16 April 2007.

¹⁵³⁰¹ T. 19 April 2007 pp. 51-52 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁰² T. 19 April 2007 p. 74 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁰³ T. 25 April 2007 p. 5.

¹⁵³⁰⁴ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Nteziryayo's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Oral Decisions of 19 and 23 April 2007, 10 May 2007.

¹⁵³⁰⁵ T. 1 May 2007 pp. 24-25.

¹⁵³⁰⁶ T. 8 May 2007 p. 44.

¹⁵³⁰⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et. al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Recall or Reconsideration of Witness AND-44, or Certification to Appeal the Decision of 23 April 2007, 11 May 2007. The Chamber refused to reconsider this decision, holding that there is no reasonable ground to warrant recall, reconsideration, or certification to appeal the Chamber's decision of 23 April 2007: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Reconsideration to Appeal the Decision of 23 April 2007, 24 May 2007.

medical treatment.¹⁵³⁰⁸ The Chamber also directed Kanyabashi to arrange with WVSS the travel of his witnesses to Arusha and indicated that it expected his case to begin on 4 June 2007. ¹⁵³⁰⁹

- 6537. On 23 May 2007, the Chamber reached the end of the trial session, and adjourned the proceedings to 4 June 2007, the Chamber reached to resume the trial the trial to the trial trial to the trial
- 6538. On 26 June 2007, the Chamber overruled an objection by Nyiramasuhuko to the admission of a document which was disclosed after the start of cross-examination by Nsabimana. 15312
- 6539. On 29 June 2007, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to exclude the anticipated evidence of Witness D-2-13-O. 15313
- 6540. On 3 July 2007, the Chamber informed the parties that the defence of Kanyabashi would start immediately after the conclusion of the Nteziryayo Defence. 15314
- 6541. On 4 July 2007, the Chamber granted a motion by Kanyabashi to vary the order of his witness list and ordered him to detail how the witnesses would be appearing. 15315
- 6542. On 5 July 2007, the Chamber issued a warning to Ms. Bergevin, Counsel for Nyiramasuhuko, for improper conduct. The Chamber granted Nteziryayo's motion for an adjournment of the proceedings until 9 July 2007 on the basis of his ill health. 15317
- 6543. On 9 July 2007, trial day 530, Nteziryayo closed his case but for the possible evidence of Witness AND-23. Nteziryayo called 23 witnesses, including himself.

1.2.4.5 Kanyabashi Defence Case (10 July 2007 – 20 May 2008)

6544. The Defence for Kanyabashi opened its case on 10 July 2007 with an opening statement. The Chamber adjourned the hearing of Kanyabashi's first witness to 20 August 2007 15320

¹⁵³⁰⁸ T. 17 May 2007 p. 4.

¹⁵³⁰⁹ T. 17 May 2007 p. 5.

¹⁵³¹⁰ T. 23 May 2007 p. 65.

¹⁵³¹¹ Minutes, T. 4 June 2007.

¹⁵³¹² T. 26 June 2007 p. 39.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Exclude Certain Evidence from the Expected Testimony of Kanyabashi's Witness D-2-13-O, 29 June 2007. On 2 July 2007 the Chamber issued a corrigendum to this decision noting a typo with respect to the date on p. 4: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Corrigendum to the Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Exclude Certain Evidence from the Expected Testimony of Kanyabashi's Witness D-2-13-O, 2 July 2007. On 20 August 2007, the Chamber issued a decision denying certification for appeal: Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Arsène Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision of 29 June 2007, 20 August 2007.

¹⁵³¹⁴ T. 3 July 2007 p. 71.

¹⁵³¹⁵ T. 4 July 2007 pp. 6-7.

¹⁵³¹⁶ T. 5 July 2007 p. 25.

¹⁵³¹⁷ T. 5 July 2007 pp. 44-45.

¹⁵³¹⁸ T. 9 July 2007 p. 78; Minutes, T. 9 July 2007.

6545. On 25 July 2007, the Registry issued a decision withdrawing the assignment of Mr. Guy Larue, co-counsel for Nteziryayo. 15321

6546. On 7 September 2007, the Registry issued a decision withdrawing the assignment of Mr. Louis Huot, co-counsel for Ntahobali. 15322

6547. On 9 September 2007, the Registry issued a decision withdrawing the assignment of Mr. Phillipe Larochelle, co-counsel for Nteziryayo. 15323

6548. On 18 September 2007, the Chamber denied motions by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali for the exclusion of portions of Mr. Filip Reyntjens' Expert Report and expected testimony. 15324 On 19 September 2007, the Chamber qualified Mr. Reyntjens as an expert in: the history of Rwanda; the contemporary history of Rwanda including the events in 1994; the law and government measures in Rwanda; the inquiry and historical analysis of events in Rwanda, including the events in 1994; and human rights and individual rights in Rwanda, including investigation and analysis in this domain and the situation of the rights of the persons in Rwanda, before, during and after the events in 1994.

6549. On 27 September 2007, the Chamber sustained an objection by Kanyabashi for a request to produce correspondence between the Expert Witness Reyntjens and the Kanyabashi Defence team. ¹⁵³²⁶

6550. On 4 October 2007, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali regarding the immigration status and counsel of Witness NMBMP. 15327 At the close of proceedings the trial session was complete and the Chamber adjourned the trial to 22 October 2007 when the Chamber convened to resume the proceedings. 15329

¹⁵³¹⁹ T. 10 July 2007 pp. 3-10.

¹⁵³²⁰ T. 10 July 2007 p. 23. The trial session had been scheduled to run for three additional days, through 13 July 2007; however, in light of the long and demanding session that was drawing to a close, the fact that Nteziryayo's defence had just ended, and the fact that Kanyabashi's had just begun with his opening statement, the Chamber held that it would be more productive to start with Kanyabashi's first witness following the summer recess.

¹⁵³²¹ Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Mr. Guy Larue, Co-Counsel for the Accused Alphonse Nteziryayo, 25 July 2007.

¹⁵³²² Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21--T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Mr. Louis Huot, Co-Counsel for the Accused Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 7 September 2007.

¹⁵³²³ Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo et al., Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Mr. Philippe Larochelle, Co-Counsel for the Accused Alphonse Nteziryayo, 9 September 2007.

¹⁵³²⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali and Nyiramasuhuko's Extremely Urgent Motions to Limit the Extent and Nature of the Report and Testimony of Filip Reyntjens, 18 September 2008. Although Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali filed separate motions, the substance was similar; the Chamber therefore found it expedient to deal with both motions at the same time.

¹⁵³²⁵ T. 19 September 2007 pp. 4-5.

¹⁵³²⁶ T. 27 September 2007 p. 49.

¹⁵³²⁷ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion to Have Counsel Present During Witness NMBMP's Testimony, 4 October 2007.

¹⁵³²⁸ T. 4 October 2007 p. 48.

¹⁵³²⁹ Minutes, T. 22 October 2007.

- 6551. On 5 November 2007, the Chamber granted in part motions by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali by excluding portions of the anticipated evidence of one witness. 15330
- 6552. On 21 November 2007, the Chamber granted in part Kanyabashi's request to change the order of appearance of witnesses. 15331
- 6553. On 6 December 2007, the Chamber granted another motion by Kanyabashi to vary the order of his witnesses. 15332
- 6554. On 12 December 2007, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings until 21 January 2008, ¹⁵³³³ when the proceedings resumed. ¹⁵³³⁴
- 6555. On 24 January 2008, the Chamber refused to admit a document which Witness D-2-5-I did not recognize. The Chamber granted Kanyabashi's request to vary the order of his witnesses. 15336
- 6556. On 31 January 2008, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to re-open his cross-examination of Witness D-2-5-I. 15337
- 6557. On 4 February 2008, the Chamber granted a motion by Kanyabashi to vary the order of witnesses he intended to call. 15338
- 6558. On 7 February 2008, the Chamber issued an order with respect to the appearance of Kanyabashi's next few witnesses, to ensure the smooth continuation of the trial despite the unavailability of a particular witness. 15339
- 6559. On 14 February 2008, the Chamber overruled Ntahobali's objection to the admission of evidence led by Kanyabashi, which Ntahobali claimed may incriminate him. 15340
- 6560. On 15 February 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Kanyabashi to vary his witness list. 15341

Judgement and Sentence

¹⁵³³⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's and Nyiramasuhuko's Oral Motions to Exclude Certain Evidence from the Expected Testimony of Kanyabashi's Witnesses D-2-13-O, D-2-15-S, and D-20-H, 5 November 2007. On 15 November 2007, Trial Chamber II denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko which sought to bar Witness D-20-H from testifying on certain matters prior to the decision on certification with respect to the Chamber's decision on Nyiramasuhuko's motion for the exclusion of evidence: T. 15 November 2007 p. 36.

¹⁵³³¹ T. 21 November 2007 pp. 83-84.

¹⁵³³² T. 6 December 2007 p. 72 (ICS).

¹⁵³³³ T. 12 December 2007 p. 35.

¹⁵³³⁴ Minutes, T. 21 January 2008.

¹⁵³³⁵ T. 24 January 2008 p. 27 (ICS).

¹⁵³³⁶ T. 24 January 2008 p. 42 (ICS).

¹⁵³³⁷ T. 31 January 2008 pp. 25-26 (ICS).

¹⁵³³⁸ T. 4 February 2008 pp. 63-64 (ICS).

T. 7 February 2008 pp. 43-44 (ICS). The Chamber provided further elaboration on the expected order of Kanyabashi's witnesses a few days later: T. 11 February 2008 p. 67.

T. 14 February 2008 pp. 53-54.

- 6561. On 18 February 2008, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's request for more time to prepare her cross-examination of Witness D-13-D. 15342
- 6562. On 25 February 2008, the Chamber granted Ntahobali's motion to re-examine Witness D-13-D following a question put to this witness by the Bench. 15343
- 6563. On 3 March 2008, the Chamber granted a motion by Kanyabashi for additional time prior to announcing whether or not the Accused would testify in his own defence. 15344
- 6564. On 4 March 2008, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko's motion to allow Ntahobali to cross-examine Witness D-2-20-F before she began her cross-examination. ¹⁵³⁴⁵
- 6565. On 6 March 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Ntahobali to put further questions to Witness D-2-20-F regarding a document the witness claimed not to recognize. 15346
- 6566. On 10 March 2008, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali for disclosure by Kanyabashi of an alleged confession by Witness D-2-20-F. On 11 March 2008, the Chamber ordered that Witness MMBMP would appear by videoconference from New York starting on 22 April 2008. 15348
- 6567. On 11 March 2008, the Chamber dismissed a motion by the Prosecutor to admit into evidence a Rwandan *Gacaca* judgement relating to Witness D-2-20-F¹⁵³⁴⁹ but later granted Ntahobali's motion to admit excerpts of the *Gacaca* judgement of Witness D-13-D. 15350
- 6568. On 19 March 2008, at the end of the scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned the trial until 14 April 2008¹⁵³⁵¹ when it convened to resume the proceedings. 15352
- 6569. On 15 April 2008, the Chamber granted a motion by Ndayambaje to vary his witness list. 15353
- 6570. On 16 April 2008, the Chamber ordered Ndayambaje to immediately disclose the unredacted statements or will-says and identification sheets for the first 10 witnesses he intended to call ¹⁵³⁵⁴

¹⁵³⁴¹ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Vary his List of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73 ter, 15 February 2008.

¹⁵³⁴² T. 18 February 2008 pp. 42-43.

¹⁵³⁴³ T. 25 February 2008 p. 29 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁴⁴ T. 3 March 2008 p. 15.

¹⁵³⁴⁵ T. 4 March 2008 p. 44 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁴⁶ T. 6 March 2008 p. 13 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁴⁷ T. 10 March 2008 p. 9.

¹⁵³⁴⁸ T. 11 March 2008 pp. 53-54.

¹⁵³⁴⁹ T. 11 March 2008 p. 21 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁵⁰ T. 11 March 2008 p. 67.

¹⁵³⁵¹ T. 19 March 2008 p. 63.

¹⁵³⁵² Minutes, T. 14 April 2008.

¹⁵³⁵³ *Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary his list of Witnesses, 15 April 2008.

¹⁵³⁵⁴ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 16 April 2008.

- 6571. On 23 April 2008, the Chamber sustained a Prosecution objection that the testimony of Witness NMBMP was outside the scope of the notice of alibi prepared for this witness in relation to the Accused Ntahobali; however, the Chamber observed that the Accused could not be limited in developing and relying on his defence of alibi. At the end of the session, Nteziryayo informed the Chamber that his last remaining witness would not testify; consequently the Chamber declared the case for Nteziryayo closed. Significant of the session, Nteziryayo closed.
- 6572. On 24 April 2008, the Chamber granted a Prosecution motion to unseal and disclose to Canadian authorities the transcripts of Witness QA and Exhibit P-93 for use in the trial of Desiré Munyaneza in Canada. The Chamber partially granted a motion by Kanyabashi for the distribution of transcripts from the *Munyaneza* case in Canada. State of Canada. State of
- 6573. The same day, the Chamber partially granted three motions for additions, deletions and substitutions of various witnesses on Kanyabashi's witness list and directed the Defence to file a new list of witnesses immediately. 15359
- 6574. On 28 April 2008, Ntahobali closed his case except for the filing of outstanding documents. That day, the Chamber ordered all parties that filed notices of alibi to confirm that these notices were properly filed and served on all parties. 15361
- 6575. On 29 April 2008, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for disclosure of various documents by the Prosecution. 15362
- 6576. On 30 April 2008, the Chamber granted a motion by Kanyabashi to vary the order in which he would call his witnesses. 15363
- 6577. On 7 May 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Kanyabashi for additional protective measures for Witness D-2-21-T. ¹⁵³⁶⁴
- 6578. On 12 May 2008, the Chamber issued an order that Ndayambaje be ready to begin presentation of his defence case on 2 June 2008, and that if Ndayambaje's counsel wished to make an opening statement, it should be prepared to do so before 2 June 2008¹⁵³⁶⁵ in the event

_

¹⁵³⁵⁵ T. 23 April 2008 pp. 15-16 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁵⁶ T. 23 April 2008 p. 28.

¹⁵³⁵⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion to Unseal and Disclose to Canadian Authorities the Transcripts of Witness QA and Exhibit P-93, 24 April 2008.

¹⁵³⁵⁸ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Confidential Motion for Disclosure of the Transcripts of Witness QA's Statement before Canadian Judicial Authorities, 30 September 2008.

¹⁵³⁵⁹ *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Three Motions to Vary his of Witnesses and to Admit Written Statements Under Rule 92 *bis*, 24 April 2008.

¹⁵³⁶⁰ T. 28 April 2008 p. 81.

¹⁵³⁶¹ T. 28 April 2008 p. 4.

¹⁵³⁶² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Disclosure of Documents Under Rule 68 and for Re-Opening of her Case, 29 April 2008.

 ¹⁵³⁶³ T. 30 April 2008 p. 18.
 15364 Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion for Additional Protective Measures for Witness D-2-21-T, 7 May 2008.

¹⁵³⁶⁵ Note that the transcript says "22 June 2008"; T. 13 May 2008 p. 61, which says "2 June". Also, note 22 June 2008 was a Sunday.

that Kanyabashi's remaining witnesses completed their testimonies early or were unable to attend court as planned. 15366

- 6579. On 13 May 2008, the Chamber granted Ndayambaje's motion to vary the order in which he intended to call his witnesses. The Chamber instructed Ndayambaje to be ready to begin his defence case by 2 June 2008. 15368
- 6580. On 14 May 2008, the Chamber denied Ndayambaje's motion to add new facts to Witness D-2-18-O's will-say statement. 15369
- 6581. On 20 May 2008, the Chamber declared Kanyabashi's Defence case closed but for the testimony of Witnesses D-2-17-A and D-2-21-T. The Chamber later granted Kanyabashi's request to remove Witness D-2-17-A from his witness list. It was Trial Day 646. In total, Kanyabashi called 25 witnesses. He did not testify on his own behalf.

1.2.4.6 Ndayambaje Defence Case (20 May 2008 – 2 December 2008)

- 6582. The Defence for Ndayambaje opened its case on 20 May 2008. Mr. Boulé, counsel for Ndayambaje, made an opening statement. As it was the end of the scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 2 June 2008 when it convened to resume the proceedings.
- 6583. On 4 June 2008, the Chamber granted a motion by Ndayambaje to allow him to remove Witness COMET and reinstate Witness MARVA; it further directed the Defence to disclose Witness MARVA's address in 1994 to the Prosecution. 15376
- 6584. On 2 July 2008, the Chamber issued a Scheduling Order with respect to the Parties' final trial briefs, specifying word and page limits for each Party, and timelines for filing final briefs and closing arguments. On 29 August 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion for reconsideration of the orders relating to the final briefs. Further motions by all Defence parties seeking to extend the deadlines for filing the brief and for increases in the page limits of the briefs were denied. 15379

_

¹⁵³⁶⁶ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 12 May 2008.

¹⁵³⁶⁷ T. 13 May 2008 p. 63.

¹⁵³⁶⁸ T. 13 May 2008 p. 63.

¹⁵³⁶⁹ T. 14 May 2008 pp. 58-59.

¹⁵³⁷⁰ T. 20 May 2008 p. 29.

¹⁵³⁷¹ T. 19 June 2008 p. 41 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁷² T. 20 May 2008 p. 46.

¹⁵³⁷³ Ndayambaje Opening Statement, T. 20 May 2008 pp. 30-46.

¹⁵³⁷⁴ Minutes, T. 20 May 2008.

¹⁵³⁷⁵ Minutes, T. 2 June 2008.

¹⁵³⁷⁶ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary his List of Witnesses, 4 June 2008.

¹⁵³⁷⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 2 July 2008.

¹⁵³⁷⁸ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Parties Oral Motions to Review the Timeframes and Length of Closing Briefs of the 2 July 2008 Scheduling Order, 29 August 2008.

¹⁵³⁷⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Urgent Motions for Variance in Page Limit of Closing Brief, Nteziryayo's, Ndayambaje's, Nsabimana's and Ntahobali's Urgent

- 6585. That day, the Chamber also granted Kanyabashi's request to recall Prosecution Witness QA, and permitted cross-examination or re-examination by all Parties on the contradictions in his testimony. 15380
- 6586. On 4 July 2008, at the end of the scheduled trial session, the Chamber adjourned the proceedings to 18 August 2008, ¹⁵³⁸¹ when it convened to resume the proceedings. ¹⁵³⁸²
- 6587. On 8 September 2008, the Chamber issued a warning to Pierre Boulé, Counsel for Ndayambaje, for raising his voice during proceedings. 15383
- 6588. On 30 September 2008, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to admit 36 documents. 15384
- 6589. On 29 October 2008, the Chamber granted Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali's motion for further cross-examination of Prosecution Witness QA. 15385 The Chamber also granted a motion by these parties to warn Prosecution Witness TQ of the duty to tell the truth and possible consequences of a failure to do so. 15386
- 6590. On 7 November 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Ntahobali and ordered an investigation into the false testimony of Witness QA. The Chamber ordered an investigation, pursuant to Rule 77, into Witness QA's allegations of intimidation and bribery. The Chamber directed the Registrar to appoint an amicus curiae to investigate the false testimony of Witness QA and the related allegations of contempt and to report back to the Chamber. 15387
- 6591. On 11 November 2008, following review of a medical report indicating that Nteziryayo was well enough to follow the proceedings, the Chamber ordered that he appear in court. 15388

Motions for Variance in Page Limits and Deadline for the Closing Briefs and Kanyabashi's Motion for Extension of Deadline for Filing of the Closing Brief, 13 February 2009.

Judgement and Sentence

¹⁵³⁸⁰ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Re-Open his Case and to Recall Prosecution Witness OA, 2 July 2008. The request to recall Witness OA was an alternative request; the Chamber denied the primary request in this motion, which was to re-open Kanyabashi's case. Trial Chamber II also denied a motion for protective measures for a potential witness that Kanyabashi had hoped to call if his case were reopened. On 19 January 2009 the Chamber denied a motion to reconsider these decisions: Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motions for Reconsideration of the 2 July 2008 Decision, Requesting that Witnesses D-2-23-C and D-11-AB be Called to Testify, and for Special Protective Measures for Witnesses D-2-23-C and D-11-AB, 19 January 2009; Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's and Nsabimana's Motions to Cross-Examine Prosecution Witness QA on Additional Topics, 28 October 2008; T. 29 October 2008 pp. 7-8.

¹⁵³⁸¹ T. 4 July 2008 p. 21.

¹⁵³⁸² Minutes, T. 18 August 2008.

¹⁵³⁸³ T. 8 September 2008 p. 56.

¹⁵³⁸⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Admission of Documents into Evidence, 30 September 2008. Trial Chamber II earlier granted in part a Prosecution motion for an extension of the time to file its response to this motion: Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Extension of Time, 2 September 2008. ¹⁵³⁸⁵ T. 29 October 2008 p. 7.

¹⁵³⁸⁶ T. 29 October 2008 p. 42 (ICS).

¹⁵³⁸⁷ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court, 7 November 2008. ¹⁵³⁸⁸ T. 11 November 2008 p. 5.

Two days later, the Chamber again ruled that it expected Nteziryayo to attend and remain in court 15389

- 6592. On 14 November 2008, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali to admit two Rwandan judgements relating to Prosecution Witness TQ. 15390
- 6593. On 20 November 2008, the Chamber denied motions by Ntahobali and Nsabimana to recall Witness QCB. However, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Kanyabashi and ordered the recall of this witness so that the Defence might cross-examine and the Prosecution might re-examine Witness QCB on specific enumerated contradictions. ¹⁵³⁹¹
- 6594. On 25 November 2008, the Chamber dismissed a motion by the Prosecution to use portions of a statement that Ndayambaje made to Belgian authorities at the time of his arrest in cross-examination of this Accused. The Chamber sustained an objection by Nyiramasuhuko to questions the Prosecution attempted to put to the Accused Ndayambaje in cross-examination. 15393
- 6595. On 26 November 2008, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Ntahobali which alleged various violations of his right to be tried without undue delay. 15394
- 6596. Ndayambaje's Defence closed its case on 2 December 2008. The Chamber ordered that the 60-day period for the filing of the final trial briefs by all parties would begin to run, and would conclude on 17 February 2009. Ndayambaje called 24 witnesses, including himself.
- 6597. The joint trial concluded on 2 December 2008 after 714 trial days. Collectively, the Defence called 130 witnesses; the Chamber adjourned the proceedings *sine die*. 15397

_

¹⁵³⁸⁹ T. 13 November 2008 p. 6.

¹⁵³⁹⁰ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Admission of Two Rwandan Judgements Involving Prosecution Witness TQ, 14 November 2008. The Chamber dismissed motions by Ntahobali for reconsideration of this decision and for certification to appeal it: Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision Concerning Prosecution Witness QCB of 20 November 2008, 9 December 2008; Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Admission of Two Rwandan Judgements Involving Prosecution Witness TQ, 14 January 2009.

Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Motions for Recall and Further Cross-Examination of Prosecution Witness QCB, 20 November 2008. On 14 January 2009, Trial Chamber II denied a motion by Ntahobali for certification to appeal this decision. The Chamber directed the Registrar, pursuant to Rule 73 (F), not to pay the Defence any fees or costs related to this motion, due to Counsel's failure to heed the Chamber's warnings with respect to filing multiple motions relating to the same issue: *Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Certification to Appeal the 9 December 2008 Decision Concerning Prosecution Witness QCB, 14 January 2009.

¹⁵³⁹² T. 25 November 2008 pp. 5-6.

¹⁵³⁹³ T. 25 November 2008 p. 27.

¹⁵³⁹⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay, 26 November 2008.

¹⁵³⁹⁵ T. 2 December 2008 p. 37.

¹⁵³⁹⁶ T. 2 December 2008 pp. 37-40. The Chamber noted that the closing of the case was without prejudice to the Prosecution witness who was to be recalled and to the pending motions on similar topics and on other issues. ¹⁵³⁹⁷ T. 2 December 2008 p. 41.

1.3 Post-Trial Proceedings

6598. On 3 December 2008, the Chamber granted in part a motion by Ntahobali to recall Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ on specific issues. 15398

6599. On 9 December 2008, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko regarding Witness TK's evidence. The Chamber granted in part a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to recall Witness QBQ for cross-examination and re-examination on specific contradictions concerning meetings at the *prefecture* office. 15400

6600. On 14 January 2009, the Chamber denied motions by Kanyabashi and Nsabimana for the recall of Prosecution Witness FAI. 15401

6601. On 15 January 2009, the Chamber denied motions by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali and Nsabimana for certification to appeal a formal statement made by the Chamber with respect to the filing deadlines for the Parties' final trial briefs. The Chamber also denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko to stay the proceedings, holding that the Prosecution did not violate its disclosure obligation, the Accused had not suffered any prejudice, and there was no basis for the request to order a stay of proceedings. 15403

6602. On 19 January 2009, the Chamber denied a motion by Ntahobali for the exclusion of evidence or the recall of various witnesses. 15404

6603. On 22 January 2009, the Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko for the Chamber to take judicial notice of findings made by the Appeals Chamber in the *Kanyarukiga* case on the subject of witnesses testifying in Rwanda. ¹⁵⁴⁰⁵

¹⁵⁴⁰⁴ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Witnesses, 19 January 2009.

15

¹⁵³⁹⁸ Prosecutor v. Ntahobali et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Prosecution Witnesses QY, SJ and Others, 3 December 2008.

¹⁵³⁹⁹ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, Alternatively for Admission of Documents into Evidence or for Recall of Witness TK, 9 December 2008.

¹⁵⁴⁰⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-Case No. 98-42-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, or Admission of the Testimony of the Witness QBQ in the Trial of Désiré Munyaneza, or Recall of Witness QBQ, 9 December 2008.

¹⁵⁴⁰¹ Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's and Nsabimana's Motions for Recall of Prosecution Witness FAI, 14 January 2009.

¹⁵⁴⁰² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's, Nyiramasuhuko's and Nsabimana's Motions for Certification to Appeal the Formal Statement of 2 December 2008, 15 January 2009.

of Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Stay of Proceedings for Violations of Her Right to a Fair Trial Following the Non-Disclosure of Evidence Under Rule 68, 15 January 2009. The Chamber reiterated in this decision that the purpose of a response is to give a full answer to the issues raised in a motion, and not to submit separate or additional requests. Kanyabashi's request for consideration of this issue with respect to his case was therefore improper and was not considered. Although Kanyabashi did eventually submit a separate motion for disclosure, Kanyabashi's motion did not allege violations of his right to fair trial. Kanyabashi's motion was also denied by the Chamber: *Prosecutor v. Kanyabashi et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion for Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 68, 25 February 2009.

6604. On 23 and 24 February 2009, the Chamber convened for the further cross-examination of Witnesses QCB, QY and SJ. 15406 The Chamber denied a motion by Nyiramasuhuko and Kanyabashi for an order that would compel Witness QY to testify 15407 and dismissed motions by Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali which sought "full possibility of calling back all witnesses" to determine whether or not they were invited to testify that they did not know each other. 15408

6605. On 25 February 2009, the Chamber dismissed a motion by Nteziryayo for the exclusion of portions of the evidence of certain Prosecution witnesses. ¹⁵⁴⁰⁹ It admitted several exhibits and thereafter adjourned the proceedings *sine die.* ¹⁵⁴¹⁰

6606. On 26 February 2009, the Chamber dismissed a motion by the Prosecution for site visits in Rwanda. 15411

6607. On 5 March 2009, the Chamber granted in part motions by Nyiramasuhuko, Ntahobali, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Ndayambaje and the Prosecution for further extensions to the time frame of oral submissions of closing arguments and ordered that the closing arguments should be heard continuously from 20 April 2009 to 30 April 2009 with prescribed time limits. The Chamber ordered the Parties to address matters of sentencing during closing arguments and ordered the Registry to provide translations in a timely manner. 15412

6608. On 13 March 2009, the Chamber denied a motion by Ndayambaje for disclosure of various materials from the *Kalimanzira* and *Ntawukulilyayo* cases. 15413

6609. On 19 March 2009, the Chamber granted motions by Kanyabashi and Ntahobali and ordered an investigation into the alleged false testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ. The Chamber also ordered an investigation into the allegations of coercion related to these witnesses. The Chamber directed the Registrar to appoint an independent *amicus curiae* to

15

¹⁵⁴⁰⁵ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Judicial Notice of an Appeals Chamber Factual Finding, 22 January 2009.

¹⁵⁴⁰⁶ Minutes, T. 23 February 2009.

¹⁵⁴⁰⁷ T. 23 February 2009 pp. 67-68 (ICS).

¹⁵⁴⁰⁸ T. 24 February 2009 pp. 57-58 (ICS).

¹⁵⁴⁰⁹ Prosecutor v. Nteziryayo et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 25 February 2009.

¹⁵⁴¹⁰ Minutes, T. 25 February 2009.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Site Visits in the Republic of Rwanda, 26 February 2009. With respect to this motion, Trial Chamber II had earlier issued a scheduling order requiring all Parties to complete their pleadings within five days of the order: Prosecution v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Scheduling Order, 26 September 2008. The Chamber had earlier denied a similar motion by the Prosecution for site visits: Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Site Visits in the Republic of Rwanda Under Rules 4 and 73 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 23 September 2004.

¹⁵⁴¹² Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Oral Motions By Nyiramasuhuko, Ndayambaje, Nsabimana, Nteziryayo, Ntahobali and the Prosecution for Reconsideration of the Timeframes of Oral Submissions set in the 29 August 2008 Decision and to Fix the Duration of Oral Submissions and Scheduling Order, 5 March 2009.

¹⁵⁴¹³ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Extremely Urgent Motion for Disclosure Under Rules 66 and 68 and for Admission into Evidence of Transcripts in the Kalimanzira Case, 13 March 2009.

investigate the false testimony of Witnesses QY and SJ and the related allegations of contempt. 15414

- 6610. Between 20 and 30 April 2009, the Chamber convened to hear closing arguments by all Parties. On 30 April 2009, the Chamber held that the Butare joint case was closed and retired for deliberations. 15416
- 6611. On 28 May 2009, the Registry issued an order withdrawing Mylène Dimitri's assignment as Ntahobali's Co-Counsel. 15417
- 6612. On 8 June 2009, the Registry issued an order withdrawing Claver Sindayigaya assignment as Ndayambaje's Co-Counsel. 15418
- 6613. On 30 October 2009, the Chamber issued an order directing the Registrar to appoint a new independent *amicus curiae* to conduct an investigation into Witness QA's allegations of intimidation and bribery. The order also required an investigation into the alleged false testimony of Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ, as well as an investigation into the allegations of coercion related by these witnesses.¹⁵⁴¹⁹
- 6614. On 4 March 2010, the Chamber denied motions by Ntahobali, Nyiramasuhuko and Kanyabashi to transmit to the Parties an *amicus curiae* report filed pursuant to Rules 77 (D) and 91 (C) on 1 July 2009. 15420
- 6615. The Chamber pronounced its Judgement on 24 June 2011. The Chamber filed the written Judgement on 14 July 2011, following completion of the editorial process.

¹⁵⁴¹⁴ *Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al.*, Case No. ICTR-98-42, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation into False Testimony and Kanyabashi's Motion for an Investigation into Contempt of Court Relative to Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ, 19 March 2009.

¹⁵⁴¹⁵ Minutes, T. 20 April 2009; Minutes, T. 21 April 2009; Minutes, T. 22 April 2009; Minutes, T. 23 April 2009; Minutes, T. 24 April 2009; Minutes, T. 27 April 2009; Minutes, T. 28 April 2009; Minutes, T. 29 April 2009; and Minutes, T. 30 April 2009.

¹⁵⁴¹⁶ T. 30 April 2009 pp. 78-79

¹⁵⁴¹⁷ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Ms Mylène Dimitri, Co-Counsel for the Accused Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, 28 May 2009.

¹⁵⁴¹⁸ Prosecutor v. Ndayambaje et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Withdrawal of the Assignment of Claver Sindayigaya, Co-Counsel for the Accused Élie Ndayambaje, 8 June 2009.

Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42, Order – Rules 77 and 91 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 30 October 2009.

¹⁵⁴²⁰ Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision Regarding Nteziryayo, Nyiramasuhuko and Kanyabashi's Motions to Transmit the *Amicus Curiae* Report, 4 March 2010.

ANNEX B: CITED MATERIALS AND DEFINED TERMS

1.1 Cited Materials

1.1.1 Jurisprudence

1.1.1.1 ICTR

Akayesu

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, Judgement (TC), 2 September 1998 ("Akayesu, Judgement (TC)")

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Judgement (AC), 1 June 2001 ("Akayesu, Judgement (AC)")

Bagaragaza

The Prosecutor v. Michel Bagaragaza, Case No. ICTR-05-86-S, Sentencing Judgement (TC), 17 November 2009 ("*Bagaragaza*, Judgement (TC)")

Bagilishema

The Prosecutor v. Ignace Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-T, Judgement (TC), 7 June 2001 ("Bagilishema, Judgement (TC)")

The Prosecutor v. Ignace Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-A, Judgement (AC), 3 July 2002 ("Bagilishema, Judgement (AC)")

Bagosora et al.

The Prosecutor v. Théoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR 98-41-T, Decision on Exclusion of Testimony Outside the Scope of the Indictment (TC), 27 September 2005 ("Bagosora et al., Decision on Exclusion of Testimony Outside the Scope of the Indictment (TC), 27 September 2005")

The Prosecutor v. Théoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR 98-41-T, Decision on Kabiligi Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 4 September 2006 ("Bagosora et al., Decision on Kabiligi Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 4 September 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Théoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR 98-41-AR73, Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006 ("Bagosora et al., Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (AC), 18 September 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Théoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR 98-41-T, Judgement (TC), 18 December 2008 ("Bagosora et al., Judgement (TC)")

Bikindi

The Prosecutor v. Simon Bikindi, Case No. ICTR-2001-72-T, Decision on the Defence Requête en Exclusion des Élements de Preuve Produits par l'Accusation pour Etablir des Faits Non Contenus dans l'Acte d'Accusation (TC), 26 June 2007 ("Bikindi, Decision on the Defence Requête en Exclusion des Élements de Preuve Produits par l'Accusation pour Etablir des Faits Non Contenus dans l'Acte d'Accusation (TC), 26 June 2007")

The Prosecutor v. Simon Bikindi, Case No. ICTR-01-72-T, Judgement (TC), 2 December 2008 ("Bikindi, Judgement (TC)")

Simon Bikindi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-72-A, Judgement (AC), 18 March 2010 ("Bikindi, Judgement (AC)")

Bizimungu et al.

The Prosecutor v. Casimir Bizimungu et al., Case No. ICTR-99-50-T, Decision on Prosper Mugiraneza's Third Motion to Dismiss Indictment for Violation of His Right to a Trial Without Undue Delay (TC), 10 February 2009 ("Bizimungu et al., Decision on Prosper Mugiraneza's Third Motion to Dismiss Indictment for Violation of His Right to a Trial Without Undue Delay (TC), 10 February 2009")

The Prosecutor v. Casimir Bizimungu et al., Case No. ICTR-99-50-AR73.8, Decision on Appeals Concerning the Engagement of a Chamber Consultant or Legal Officer (AC), 17 December 2009 ("Bizimungu et al., Decision on Appeals Concerning the Engagement of a Chambers Consultant or Legal Officer (AC), 17 December 2009")

Gacumbitsi

The Prosecutor v. Sylvestre Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-T, Judgement (TC), 17 June 2004 ("*Gacumbitsi*, Judgement (TC)")

Sylvestre Gacumbitsi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A, Judgement (AC), 7 July 2006 ("Gacumbitsi, Judgement (AC)")

Gatete

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Baptiste Gatete, Case No. ICTR-2000-61-R11bis, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 17 November 2008 ("Gatete, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 17 November 2008")

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Baptiste Gatete, Case No. ICTR-2000-61-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 31 March 2011 ("Gatete, Judgement (TC)")

Kajelijeli

The Prosecutor v. Juvénal Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 1 December 2003 ("Kajelijeli, Judgement (TC)")

Juvénal Kajelijeli v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-A, Judgement (AC), 23 May 2005 ("Kajelijeli, Judgement (AC)")

Kalimanzira

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Kalimanzira, Case No. ICTR-05-88-T, Decision on Defence Motion to Exclude Prosecution Witnesses BWM, BWN, BXB, BXC, BXD and BXL (TC), 24 June 2008 ("*Kalimanzira*, Decision on Defence Motion to Exclude Prosecution Witnesses BWM, BWN, BXB, BXC, BXD and BXL (TC), 24 June 2008")

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Kalimanzira, Case No. ICTR-05-88-T, Consolidated Decision on Prosecution Motion Concerning Defence Compliance With Rule 73ter and Defence Motions to Vary Witness List (TC), 13 November 2008 ("Kalimanzira, Consolidated Decision on Prosecution Motion Concerning Defence Compliance With Rule 73ter and Defence Motions to Vary Witness List (TC), 13 November 2008")

Callixte Kalimanzira v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-05-88-A, Judgement (AC), 20 October 2010 ("Kalimanzira, Judgement (AC)")

Kamuhanda

The Prosecutor v. Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-95-54A-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 22 January 2003 ("Kamuhanda, Judgement (TC)")

Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-99-54A-A, Judgement (AC), 19 September 2005 ("Kamuhanda, Judgement (AC)")

Kanyabashi

Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-A, Scheduling Order (AC), 18 December 1998 ("*Kanyabashi*, Scheduling Order (AC), 18 December 1998")

Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-A, Decision on Extremely Urgent Defence Motion Requesting the Postponement of Appeals Chamber's Decision To Be Rendered on 3 June 1999, in the Matter of Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor (AC), 3 June 1999 ("Kanyabashi, Decision on Extremely Urgent Defence Motion Requesting the Postponement of Appeals Chamber's Decision To Be Rendered on 3 June 1999, in the Matter of Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor (AC), 3 June 1999")

Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-15-A, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on the Jurisdiction of Trial Chamber I (AC), 3 June 1999 ("Kanyabashi, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on the Jurisdiction of Trial Chamber I (AC), 3 June 1999")

Joseph Kanyabashi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-15-A, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000 ("Kanyabashi, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000")

Kanyarukiga

The Prosecutor v. Gaspard Kanyarukiga, Case No. ICTR-2002-78-R11bis, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 6 June 2008 ("Kanyarukiga, Decision on Prosecutor's Request for Referral to the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 6 June 2008")

Prosecutor v. Édouard Karemera et al., Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR73(C), Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006 ("Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006")

Karera

The Prosecutor v. François Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 7 December 2007 ("*Karera*, Judgement (TC)")

François Karera v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A, Judgement (AC), 2 February 2009 ("Karera, Judgement (AC)")

Kayishema & Ruzindana

The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-T, Judgement (TC), 21 May 1999 ("Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (TC)")

The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-A, Judgement (AC), 1 June 2001 ("Kayishema & Ruzindana, Judgement (AC)")

Muhimana

Mikaeli Muhimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-95-1B-A, Judgement (AC), 21 May 2007 ("Muhimana, Judgement (AC)")

Musema

The Prosecutor v. Alfred Musema, Case No. ICTR-96-13-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 27 January 2000 ("*Musema*, Judgement (TC)")

Alfred Musema v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-13-A, Judgement (AC), 16 November 2001 ("Musema, Judgement (AC)")

Muvunyi

The Prosecutor v. Tharcisse Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-AR73, Decision on Prosecution Interlocutory Appeal Against Trial Chamber II Decision of 23 February 2005 (AC), 12 May 2005 ("Muvunyi, Decision on Prosecution Interlocutory Appeal Against Trial Chamber II Decision of 23 February 2005 (AC), 12 May 2005")

The Prosecutor v. Tharcisse Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-2000-55A-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 12 September 2006 ("Muvunyi I, Judgement (TC)")

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2000-55A-A, Judgement (AC), 29 August 2008 ("Muvunyi I, Judgement (AC)")

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2000-55A-A, Judgement (AC), 1 April 2011 ("Muvunyi II, Judgement (AC)")

Nahimana et al.

The Prosecutor v. Ferdinand Nahimana et al., Case No. ICTR-99-52-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 3 December 2003 ("Nahimana et al., Judgement (TC)")

Ferdinand Nahimana et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-99-52-A, Judgement (AC), 28 November 2007 ("Nahimana et al., Judgement (AC)")

Nchamihigo

The Prosecutor v. Siméon Nchamihigo, Case No. ICTR-01-63-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 12 November 2008 ("*Nchamihigo*, Judgement (TC)")

Siméon Nchamihigo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-63-A, Judgement (AC), 18 March 2010 ("Nchamihigo, Judgement (AC)")

Ndindabahizi

The Prosecutor v. Emmanuel Ndindabahizi, Case No. ICTR-2001-71-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 15 July 2004 ("Ndindabahizi, Judgement (TC)")

Emmanuel Ndindabahizi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-71-A, Judgement (AC), 16 January 2007 ("Ndindabahizi, Judgement (AC)")

Niyitegeka

Eliézer Niyitegeka v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-14-A, Judgement (AC), 9 July 2004 ("Niyitegeka, Judgement (AC)")

Nshogoza

Léonidas Nshogoza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2007-91-A, Judgement (AC), 15 March 2010 ("Nshogoza, Judgement (AC)")

Ntagerura et al.

The Prosecutor v. André Ntagerura et al., Case No. ICTR-99-46-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 25 February 2004 ("Ntagerura et al., Judgement (TC)")

The Prosecutor v. André Ntagerura et al., Case No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement (AC), 7 July 2006 ("Ntagerura et al., Judgement (AC)")

Ntahobali

Arsène Shalom Ntahobali v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-21-A, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000 ("Ntahobali, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000")

Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko

Arsène Shalom Ntahobali & Pauline Nyiramasuhuko v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-21-AR73, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible" (AC), 2 July 2004 ("Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali on the 'Decision on Defence Urgent Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible' (AC), 2 July 2004")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-AR73, Decision on "Appeal of Accused Arsène Shalom Ntahobali Against the Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997" (AC), 27 October 2006 ("Ntahobali & Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on 'Appeal of Accused Arsène Shalom Ntahobali Against the Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997' (AC), 27 October 2006")

Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana

The Prosecutor v. Elizaphan Ntakirutimana and Gérard Ntakirutimana, Cases Nos. ICTR-96-10-A and ICTR-96-17-A, Judgement (AC), 13 December 2004 ("Ntakirutimana & Ntakirutimana, Judgement (AC)")

Ntawukulilyayo

The Prosecutor v. Dominique Ntawukulilyayo, Case No. ICTR-05-82-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 3 August 2010 ("Ntawukulilyayo, Judgement (TC)")

Nyiramasuhuko

Pauline Nyiramasuhuko v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-21-A, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000 ("Nyiramasuhuko, Decision (Appeal Against Trial Chamber II's Decision of 5 October 1999) (AC), 13 April 2000")

Pauline Nyiramasuhuko v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Request for Reconsideration (AC), 27 September 2004 ("Nyiramasuhuko,"

Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Request for Reconsideration (AC), 27 September 2004")

Nyiramasuhuko et al.

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-A15bis, Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings under Rule 15 bis (D) (AC), 24 September 2003")

Nzabirinda

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Nzabirinda, Case No. ICTR-2001-77-T, Sentencing Judgement (TC), 23 February 2007 ("Nzabirinda, Judgement (TC)")

Renzaho

Tharcisse Renzaho v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-31-A, Judgement (AC), 1 April 2011 ("Renzaho, Judgement (AC)")

Rugambarara

The Prosecutor v. Juvénal Rugambarara, Case No. ICTR-00-59-T, Sentencing Judgement (TC), 16 November 2007 ("Rugambarara, Judgement (TC)")

Rutaganda

Georges Anderson Nderubumwe Rutaganda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A, Judgement (AC), 26 May 2003 ("Rutaganda, Judgement (AC)")

Rutaganira

The Prosecutor v. Vincent Rutaganira, Case No. ICTR-95-1C-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 14 March 2005 ("Rutaganira, Judgement (TC)")

Rwamakuba

The Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Judgement (TC), 20 September 2006 ("Rwamakuba, Judgement (TC)")

Semanza

The Prosecutor v. Laurent Semanza, Case No. ICTR-97-20-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 15 May 2003 ("Semanza, Judgement (TC)")

Laurent Semanza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-20-A, Judgement (AC), 20 May 2005 ("Semanza, Judgement (AC)")

Seromba

The Prosecutor v. Athanase Seromba, Case No. ICTR-2001-66-I, Judgement (TC), 13 December 2006 ("Seromba, Judgement (TC)")

The Prosecutor v. Athanase Seromba, Case No. ICTR-2001-66-A, Judgement (AC), 12 March 2008 ("Seromba, Judgement (AC)")

Serugendo

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Serugendo, Case No. ICTR-2005-84-I, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 12 June 2006 ("Serugendo, Judgement (TC)")

Serushago

Omar Serushago v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-39-A, Reasons for Judgement (AC), 6 April 2000 ("Serushago, Judgement (AC)")

Simba

Aloys Simba v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-76-A, Judgement (AC), 27 November 2007 ("Simba, Judgement (AC)")

Zigiranyirazo

The Prosecutor v. Protais Zigiranyirazo, Case No. ICTR-01-73-T, Judgement (TC), 18 December 2008 ("Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (TC)")

Protais Zigiranyirazo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-73-A, Judgement (AC), 16 November 2009 ("Zigiranyirazo, Judgement (AC)")

1.1.1.2 ICTY

Blagojević & Jokić

Prosecutor v. Vidoje Blagojević and Dragan Jokić, Case No. IT-02-60-A, Judgement (AC), 9 May 2007 ("Blagojević & Jokić, Judgement (AC)")

Blaškić

Prosecutor v. Tihomir Blaškić, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Judgement (AC), 29 July 2004 ("Blaškić, Judgement (AC)")

Boškoski & Tarčulovski

Prosecutor v. Ljube Boškoski and Johan Tarčulovski, Case No. IT-04-82-A, Judgement (AC), 19 May 2010 ("Boškoski & Tarčulovski, Judgement (AC)")

Brđanin

Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brđanin, Case No. IT-99-36-T, Judgement (TC), 1 September 2004 ("Brđanin, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brđanin, Case No. IT-99-36-A, Judgement (AC), 3 April 2007 ("Brđanin, Judgement (AC)")

Delalić et al.

Prosecutor v. Zejnil Delalic et al., Case No. IT-96-21-A, Judgement (AC), 20 February 2001 ("Delalić et al., Judgement (AC)")

Đorđević

Prosecutor v. Vlastimir Đorđević, Case No. IT-05-87/1-T, Public Judgement with Confidential Annex (TC), 23 February 2011 ("Dorđević, Judgement (TC)")

Erdemović

Prosecutor v. Dražen Erdemović, Case No. IT-96-22-T, Sentencing Judgement (TC), 29 November 1996 ("Erdemović I, Judgement (TC)")

Furundžija

Prosecutor v. Anto Furundžija, Case No. IT-95-17/1-T, Judgement (TC), 10 December 1998 ("Furundžija, Judgement (TC)")

Galić

Prosecutor v. Stanislav Galić, Case No. IT-98-29-A, Judgement (AC), 30 November 2006 ("Galić, Judgement (AC)")

Gotovina et al.

Prosecutor v. Ante Gotovina et al., Case Nos. IT-03-73-AR73.1 & IT-03-73-AR73.2, Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Against the Trial Chamber's Decision to Amend the Indictment and for Joinder (AC), 25 October 2006 ("Gotovina et al., Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Against the Trial Chamber's Decision to Amend the Indictment and for Joinder (AC), 25 October 2006")

Hadžihasanović & Kubura

Prosecutor v. Enver Hadžihasanović and Amir Kubura, Case No. IT-01-47-A, Judgement (AC), 22 April 2008 ("Hadžihasanović & Kubura, Judgement (AC)")

Halilović

Prosecutor v. Sefer Halilović, Case No. IT-01-48-T, Judgement (TC), 16 November 2005 ("Halilović, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Sefer Halilović, Case No. IT-01-48-A, Judgement (AC), 16 October 2007 ("Halilović, Judgement (AC)")

Haradinaj et al.

Prosecutor v. Ramush Haradinaj et al., Case No. IT-04-84-A, Judgement (AC), 19 July 2010 ("Haradinaj et al., Judgement (AC)")

Hartmann

In the Case Against Florence Hartmann, Case No. IT-02-54-R77.5, Report of Decision on Defence Motion for Disqualification of Two Members of the Trial Chamber and of Senior Legal Counsel (Panel), 27 March 2009 ("Hartmann, Report of Decision on Defence Motion for Disqualification of Two Members of the Trial Chamber and of Senior Legal Counsel (Panel), 27 March 2009")

Jelisić

Prosecutor v. Goran Jelisić, Case No. IT-95-10-A, Judgement (AC), 5 July 2001 ("Jelisić, Judgement (AC)")

Kordić & Čerkez

Prosecutor v. Dario Kordić and Mario Čerkez, Case No. IT-95-14/2-A, Judgement (AC), 17 December 2004 ("Kordić & Čerkez, Judgement (AC)")

Krnojelac

Prosecutor v. Milorad Krnojelac, Case No. IT-97-25-T, Judgment (TC), 15 March 2002 ("Krnojelac, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Milorad Krnojelac, Case No. IT-97-25-A, Judgement (AC), 17 September 2003 ("Krnojelac, Judgement (AC)")

Krstić

Prosecutor v. Radislav Krstić, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Judgement (AC), 19 April 2004 ("Krstić, Judgement (AC)")

Kunarac et al.

Prosecutor v. Dragoljub Kunarac et al., Case No. IT-96-23-T & IT-96-23/1-T, Decision on Prosecution's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and Limitation of Testimony (TC), 3 July

2000 ("Kunarac et al., Decision on Prosecution's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence and Limitation of Testimony (TC), 3 July 2000")

Prosecutor v. Dragoljub Kunarac et al., Case No. IT-96-23-T & IT-96-23/1-T, Judgement (TC), 22 February 2001 ("Kunarac et al., Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Dragoljub Kunarac et al., Case No. IT-96-23-A & IT-96-23/1-A, Judgement (AC), 12 June 2002 ("Kunarac et al., Judgement (AC)")

Kupreškić et al.

Prosecutor v. Zoran Kupreškić et al., Case No. IT-95-16-A, Judgement (AC), 23 October 2001 ("Kupreškić et al., Judgement (AC)")

Kvočka et al.

Prosecutor v. Miroslav Kvočka et al., Case No. IT-98-30/1-A, Judgement (AC), 28 February 2005 ("Kvočka et al., Judgement (AC)")

Limaj et al.

Prosecutor v. Fatmir Limaj et al., Case No. IT-03-66-T, Judgement (TC), 30 November 2005 ("Limaj et al., Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Fatmir Limaj et al., Case No. IT-03-66-A, Judgement (AC), 27 September 2007 ("Limaj et al., Judgement (AC)")

Dragomir Milošević

Prosecutor v. Dragomir Milošević, Case No. IT-98-29/1-T, Judgement (TC), 12 December 2007 ("Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Dragomir Milošević, Case No. IT-98-29/1-A, Judgement (AC), 12 November 2009 ("Dragomir Milošević, Judgement (AC)")

Mrkšić et al.

Prosecutor v. Mile Mrkšić et al., Case No. IT-95-13/1-T, Judgement (TC), 27 September 2007 ("Mrkšić et al., Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Mile Mrkšić and Veselin Šljivančanin, Case No. IT-95-13/1-A, Judgement (AC), 5 May 2009 ("Mrkšić & Šljivančanin, Judgement (AC)")

Naletilić & Martinović

Prosecutor v. Mladen Naletilić, a.k.a. "Tuta" and Vinko Martinović, a.k.a. "Štela", Case No. IT-98-34-T, Judgement (TC), 31 March 2003 ("Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Mladen Naletilić, a.k.a. "Tuta" and Vinko Martinović, a.k.a. "Štela", Case No. IT-98-34-A, Judgement (AC), 3 May 2006 ("Naletilić & Martinović, Judgement (AC)")

Dragan Nikolić

Prosecutor v. Dragan Nikolić, Case No. IT-94-2-A, Judgement on Sentencing Appeal (AC), 4 February 2005 ("Dragan Nikolić, Judgement (AC)")

Orić

Prosecutor v. Naser Orić, Case No. IT-03-68-T, Judgement (TC), 30 June 2006 ("Orić, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Naser Orić, Case No. IT-03-68-A, Judgement (AC), 3 July 2008 ("Orić, Judgement (AC)")

Popović et al.

Prosecutor v. Vujadin Popović et al., Case No. IT-05-88-AR73.2, Decision on Joint Defence Interlocutory Appeal Concerning the Status of Richard Butler as an Expert Witness (AC), 30 January 2008 ("Popović et al., Decision on Joint Defence Interlocutory Appeal Concerning the Status of Richard Butler as an Expert Witness (AC), 30 January 2008")

Prosecutor v. Vujadin Popović et al., Case No. IT-05-88-T, Judgement (TC), 10 June 2010 ("Popović et al., Judgement (TC)")

Simić et al.

Prosecutor v. Blagoje Simić et al., Case No. IT-95-9-T, Judgement (TC), 17 October 2003 ("Simić et al., Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Blagoje Simić, Case No. IT-95-9-A, Judgement (AC), 28 November 2006 ("Simić, Judgement (AC)")

Stakić

Prosecutor v. Milomir Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-A, Judgement (AC), 22 March 2006 ("Stakić, Judgement (AC)")

Strugar

Prosecutor v. Pavle Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-T, Judgement (TC), 31 January 2005 ("Strugar, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Pavle Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-A, Judgement (AC), 17 July 2008 ("Strugar, Judgement (AC)")

Duško Tadić

Prosecutor v. Duško Tadić a/k/a "Dule", Case No. IT-94-1-A, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction (AC), 2 October 1995 ("Duško Tadić, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction (AC), 2 October 1995")

Prosecutor v. Duško Tadić, Case No. IT-94-1-A, Judgement (AC), 15 July 1999 ("Duško Tadić, Judgement (AC)")

Vasiljević

Prosecutor v. Mitar Vasiljević, Case No. IT-98-32-T, Judgment (TC), 29 November 2002 ("Vasiljević, Judgement (TC)")

Prosecutor v. Mitar Vasiljević, Case No. IT-98-32-A, Judgement (AC), 25 February 2004 ("Vasiljević, Judgement (AC)")

1.1.1.3 ICC

Lubanga Dyilo & Kony et al.

Case of the Prosecutor vs. Thomas Lubanga Dyilo & Case of the Prosecutor vs. Joseph Kony et al., Ref. No. ICC-PTD-01-06, Administrative Decision by the President of the Pre-Trial Division concerning the communication of submissions relating to the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Thomas Lubanga Dyilo and the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Joseph Kony et. al. to the Senior Legal Advisor to the Pre-Trial Division, 20 October 2006 ("Lubanga Dyilo & Kony et al., Administrative Decision by the President of the Pre-Trial Division concerning the communication of submissions relating to the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Thomas Lubanga Dyilo and the Case of the Prosecutor vs. Joseph Kony et. al. to the Senior Legal Advisor to the Pre-Trial Division (President of the Pre-Trial Division, ICC), 20 October 2006")

1.1.1.4 International Military Tribunal

Trial of the Major War Criminals

Trial of the German Major War Criminals (Proceedings of the International Military Tribunal, Sitting at Nuremberg, Germany 1947) (H.M. Stationery Office, London, 1950) ("Trial of the Major War Criminals (Proceedings of the International Military Tribunal, Sitting at Nuremberg, Germany 1947)")

1.1.1.5 Nyiramasuhuko et al. Trial Chamber Decisions and Orders

Kanyabashi

In the matter of Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision Confirming the Indictment (TC), 15 July 1996 ("Kanyabashi, Decision Confirming the Indictment (TC), 15 July 1996")

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000 ("Kanyabashi, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion for Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), 31 May 2000")

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Harmonization of the English and French Version of the Amended Indictment (TC), 8 June 2001 ("Kanyabashi, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Harmonization of the English and French Version of the Amended Indictment (TC), 8 June 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Three Motions to Vary His List of Witnesses and to Admit Written Statements Under Rule 92 bis (TC), 24 April 2008 ("Kanyabashi, Decision on Kanyabashi's Three Motions to Vary His List of Witnesses and to Admit Written Statements Under Rule 92 bis (TC), 24 April 2008")

Kanyabashi et al.

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-96-15-T & Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Exclude Witness "FAI"'s Testimony Against Him Pursuant to Rules 54 and 73 of the Rules (TC), 6 July 2002 ("Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Exclude Witness 'FAI''s Testimony Against Him Pursuant to Rules 54 and 73 of the Rules (TC), 6 July 2002")

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi et al., Case No. ICTR-96-15-T & Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73ter (TC), 15 February 2008 ("Kanyabashi et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73ter (TC), 15 February 2008")

Ndayambaje

In the Matter of Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Decision on the Review of the Indictment (TC), 21 June 1996 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Review of the Indictment (TC), 21 June 1996")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 21 June 1996 ("*Ndayambaje*, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 21 June 1996")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Defence Motion of Utmost Urgency to Resolve All Difficulties Posed by the File Processing and, in Particular, Issues of Evidence Disclosure, Judicial Calendar and Non-Enforcement of Decisions of the Trial Chamber in the Ndayambaje Case (TC), 16 April 1998 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion of Utmost Urgency to Resolve All Difficulties Posed by the File Processing and, in Particular, Issues of Evidence Disclosure, Judicial Calendar and Non-Enforcement of Decisions of the Trial Chamber in the Ndayambaje Case (TC), 16 April 1998")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Motion of the Accused for the Replacement of Appointed Counsel (TC), 7 July 1998 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Motion of the Accused for the Replacement of Appointed Counsel (TC), 7 July 1998")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC), 2 September 1999 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC), 2 September 1999")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment and for the Harmonization of the Accused's Indictment (TC), 25 April 2001 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment and for the Harmonization of the Accused's Indictment (TC), 25 April 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 25 April 2001 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on the Defence Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 25 April 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness "TO" Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 6 May 2004 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on Defence Motion Requesting the Recall of Witness 'TO' Based on the Decision of the Appeals Chamber in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 6 May 2004")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses (TC), 4 June 2008 ("Ndayambaje, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion to Vary His List of Witnesses (TC), 4 June 2008")

Ndayambaje et al.

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion to Drop and Add Witnesses (TC), 30 March 2004")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion To Be Served With Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67(A)(ii)(a) (TC), 1 March 2005 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on the Confidential Prosecutor's Motion To Be Served With Particulars of Alibi Pursuant to Rule 67(A)(ii)(a) (TC), 1 March 2005")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997 (TC), 15 May 2006 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Kanyabashi's Oral Motion to Cross-Examine Ntahobali Using Ntahobali's Statements to Prosecution Investigators in July 1997 (TC), 15 May 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 1 September 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Élie Ndayambaje's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence Issued on 1st September 2006 (TC), 5 October 2006 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Élie Ndayambaje's Motion for Certification to Appeal the Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence Issued on 1st September 2006 (TC), 5 October 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Reconsideration of the Chamber's Decision to Deny Certification to Appeal Its Decision on the Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 2 November 2006 ("Ndayambaje et al., Decision on Ndayambaje's Motion for Reconsideration of the Chamber's Decision to Deny Certification to Appeal Its Decision on the Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 2 November 2006")

Nsabimana

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Order for Transfer and Provisional Detention (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis of the Rules) (TC), 16 July 1997 ("Nsabimana, Order for Transfer and Provisional Detention (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis of the Rules) (TC), 16 July 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Decision on the Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (F) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 14 August 1997 ("Nsabimana, Decision on the Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (F) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 14 August 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29-DP, Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (G) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 16 September 1997 ("Nsabimana, Extension of the Provisional Detention for a Maximum Period of Thirty Days (in Accordance with Rule 40 bis (G) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence) (TC), 16 September 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Continued Detention (TC), 16 October 1997 ("*Nsabimana*, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Continued Detention (TC), 16 October 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses (TC), 24 September 1998 ("Nsabimana, Decision on the Defence Motion for the Amendment of the Indictment, Withdrawal of Certain Charges and Protective Measures for Witnesses (TC), 24 September 1998")

Nsabimana & Nteziryayo

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana and Alphonse Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Stay of Execution of Decision of 24 September 1998 & Decision on Nsabimana's Motion for Withdrawal of the Indictment and Immediate Release (TC), 21 May 1999 ("Nsabimana & Nteziryayo, Decision on the Prosecutor's Urgent Motion for Stay of Execution of Decision of 24 September 1998 & Decision on Nsabimana's Motion for Withdrawal of the Indictment and Immediate Release (TC), 21 May 1999")

Nsabimana et al.

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana et al., Case No. ICTR-97-29A-T, Decision on the Defence Motion Seeking a Separate Trial for the Accused Sylvain Nsabimana (TC), 8 September 2000 ("Nsabimana et al., Decision on the Defence Motion Seeking a Separate Trial for the Accused Sylvain Nsabimana (TC), 8 September 2000")

Ntahobali

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 2 February 2005 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial (TC), 2 February 2005")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the "Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial" (TC), 22 February 2005 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the 'Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Separate Trial' (TC), 22 February 2005")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court (TC), 7 November 2008 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation Relative to False Testimony and Contempt of Court (TC), 7 November 2008")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for a Stay of Proceedings for Undue Delay (TC), 26 November 2008")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Prosecution Witnesses QY, SJ and Others (TC), 3 December 2008 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Prosecution Witnesses QY, SJ and Others (TC), 3 December 2008")

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Witnesses (TC), 19 January

2009 ("Ntahobali, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence or for Recall of Witnesses (TC), 19 January 2009")

Nteziryayo

The Prosecutor v. Alphonse Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29B-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 16 October 1997 ("Nteziryayo, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Surrender (TC), 16 October 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Alphonse Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009 ("Nteziryayo, Decision on Alphonse Nteziryayo's Motion for Exclusion of Evidence (TC), 25 February 2009")

Nyiramasuhuko

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Décision Relative à la Requête de la Défense en Extrême Urgence Tenant au Respect, par le Procureur, de la « Décision Relative à la Requête de la Defense en Communication de Preuves » Rendue le 1^{er} Novembre 2000 (TC), 8 June 2001 ("Nyiramasuhuko, Décision Relative à la Requête de la Défense en Extrême Urgence Tenant au Respect, par le Procureur, de la « Décision Relative à la Requête de la Defense en Communication de Preuves » Rendue le 1^{er} Novembre 2000 (TC), 8 June 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-97-41-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Recall of Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD and QY or, in Default, a Disjunction of Trial or a Stay of Proceedings Against Nyiramasuhuko (TC), 6 May 2004 ("Nyiramasuhuko, Decision on Defence Motion for Recall of Witnesses TA, QJ, TK, SJ, SU, SS, QBP, RE, FAP, SD and QY or, in Default, a Disjunction of Trial or a Stay of Proceedings Against Nyiramasuhuko (TC), 6 May 2004")

Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko & Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision to Confirm the Indictment (TC), 29 May 1997 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision to Confirm the Indictment (TC), 29 May 1997")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment (TC), 10 August 1999 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Leave to Amend the Indictment (TC), 10 August 1999")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Disclosure of Evidence (TC), 1 November 2000 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Defence Motion for Disclosure of Evidence (TC), 1 November 2000")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Preliminary Motion Objecting to Defects in the Form and Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Preliminary Motion Based on Defects in the Form and the Substance of the Indictment (TC), 1 November 2000")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on the Motion for Separate Trials (TC), 8 June 2001 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on the Motion for Separate Trials (TC), 8 June 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" (TC), 27 January 2006 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: 'Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali' (TC), 27 January 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Corrigendum to the Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: "Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali" Dated 27 January 2006 (TC), 6 February 2006 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Corrigendum to the Decision on Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Motion to Amend His Witness List and to Reconsider the Decision of 26 August 2005 Titled: 'Decision on the Defence Motion to Modify the List of Defence Witnesses for Arsène Shalom Ntahobali' Dated 27 January 2006 (TC), 6 February 2006")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Separate Proceedings, a New Trial, and Stay of Proceedings (TC), 7 April 2006 ("Nyiramasuhuko & Ntahobali, Decision on Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Separate Proceedings, a New Trial, and Stay of Proceedings (TC), 7 April 2006")

Nyiramasuhuko et al.

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Case No. ICTR-97-29A and B-I, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T & Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Status of the Hearings for the Amendment of the Indictments and for Disclosure of Supporting Material (TC), 30 September 1998 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Status of the Hearings for

the Amendment of the Indictments and for Disclosure of Supporting Material (TC), 30 September 1998")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Case No. ICTR-97-29A and B-I, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T & Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Joinder of Trials (TC), 5 October 1999")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Extension of Time Within Which to Comply With Court Order to File an Indictment (TC), 2 March 2001 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Motion for Extension of Time Within Which to Comply With Court Order to File an Indictment (TC), 2 March 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-97-21-T, Case No. ICTR-97-29-T, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T & Case No. ICTR-96-8-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses (TC), 24 July 2001 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motions for Leave to Call Additional Witnesses and for the Transfer of Detained Witnesses (TC), 24 July 2001")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Judicial Notice and Admission of Evidence (TC), 15 May 2002")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 15 July 2003 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 15 July 2003")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Certification in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 5 December 2003 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Certification in the Matter of Proceedings Under Rule 15 bis (D) (TC), 5 December 2003")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Urgent Motions to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible (TC), 16 February 2004 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Urgent Motions to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible (TC), 16 February 2004")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal under Rule 98 bis (TC), 16 December 2004")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision of 2 March 2006 (TC), 11 June 2007

("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision of 2 March 2006 (TC), 11 June 2007")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Judicial Notice of an Appeals Chamber Factual Finding (TC), 22 January 2009 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Motion for Judicial Notice of an Appeals Chamber Factual Finding (TC), 22 January 2009")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Site Visits in the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 26 February 2009 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Site Visits in the Republic of Rwanda (TC), 26 February 2009")

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko et al., Joint Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation into False Testimony and Kanyabashi's Motion for an Investigation into Contempt of Court Relative to Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ (TC), 19 March 2009 ("Nyiramasuhuko et al., Decision on Ntahobali's Motion for an Investigation into False Testimony and Kanyabashi's Motion for an Investigation into Contempt of Court Relative to Prosecution Witnesses QY and SJ (TC), 19 March 2009")

1.1.2 Other Materials

1.1.2.1 Conventions

Additional Protocol II

Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and relating to the protection of victims of non-international armed conflicts (Protocol II), 1125 UNTS 609, 8 June 1977 ("Additional Protocol II")

Geneva Convention III

Geneva Convention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (Third Geneva Convention), 75 UNTS 135, 12 August 1949 ("Geneva Convention III")

Geneva Convention IV

Geneva Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Fourth Geneva Convention), 75 UNTS 287, 12 August 1949 ("Geneva Convention IV")

1.1.2.2 United Nations Documents

Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR

Fourth Annual Report of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States Between 1 January

and 31 December 1994, delivered to the General Assembly and the Security Council, UN Doc. S/1999/943, 7 September 1999 ("Fourth Annual Report of the ICTR, 7 September 1999")

Report of the Secretary-General on the Establishment of the Commission of Experts

Report of the Secretary-General on the Establishment of the Commission of Experts, delivered to the General Assembly and the Security Council, UN Doc. S/1994/879, 26 July 1994 ("Report of the Secretary-General on the Establishment of the Commission of Experts, 26 July 1994")

Report of the Secretary-General on the Situation in Rwanda

Report of the Secretary-General on the Situation in Rwanda, delivered to the General Assembly and the Security Council, UN Doc. S/1994/924, 3 August 1994 ("Report of the Secretary-General on the Situation in Rwanda, 3 August 1994")

Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Rwanda

Report on the situation of human rights in Rwanda prepared by the Special Rapporteur of the Commission on Human Rights in accordance with Commission resolution S-3/1 and Economic and Social Council decision 1994/223, delivered to the General Assembly and the Security Council, UN Doc. S/1994/1157, 13 October 1994 ("Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Rwanda, 13 October 1994")

Security Council Resolution 955

Security Council Resolution 955, UN Doc. S/RES/955, 8 November 1994 ("Security Council Resolution 955")

Security Council Resolution 1482

Security Council Resolution 1482, UN Doc. S/RES/1482, 19 May 2003 ("Security Council Resolution 1482")

Universal Declaration of Human Rights

Universal Declaration of Human Rights, General Assembly Resolution 217A (3rd Session), UN Doc. A/RES/217A (III), 10 December 1948 ("Universal Declaration of Human Rights")

1.2 Defined Terms and Abbreviations

Abasa

A survivor's association affiliated with *Ibuka*

APAME

Association of parents of Mugombwa Parish furthering education

ARG

Association des Rescapés du Génocide (Association of the Survivors of the Genocide)

Arusha Accords

A set of five accords (or protocols) signed in Arusha, Tanzania on 4 August 1993, by the Rwandan Government and the Rwandan Patriotic Front, designed to implement a power-sharing arrangement through a broad-based transitional government

Avega

Association des veuf(ves) du genocide – Agahozo (Association of widows and widowers of the genocide); "Agahozo" means consolation

BBC

British Broadcasting Corporation

Bourgmestre

Mayor of a commune

BPO

Butare préfecture office

CDR

Coalition pour la Défense de la République

Cellule

A political and administrative subdivision of a *secteur*

Commune

A political and administrative subdivision of a *préfecture*

Conseiller

An individual responsible for the administration of a *secteur*

DRC

Democratic Republic of Congo (named Zaire in 1994)

EER

École Évangéliste du Rwanda

ESO

École des Sous-Officiers

fn.

Footnote

Gendarme

An officer of the Gendarmerie

Gendarmerie nationale

Replaced the National Police force in 1973, responsible for maintaining public law and order and enforcing the laws in force in Rwanda; members were assigned to public security territorial companies and brigades

HC

Reference to French transcripts heard in closed session

Ibuka

Association of genocide survivors

ICS

Reference to English transcripts heard in closed session

ICTR or Tribunal

International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States, between 1 January 1994 and 31 December 1994

ICTY

International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of the Former Yugoslavia since 1991

INADES

Institut Africain pour le Développement Economique et Social

Interahamwe

The youth wing of the MRND

IPN

Institut de Pedagogie Nationale (National Pedagogic Institute)

IRST

L'Institut de Recherche Scientifique et Technique (National Institute of Scientific Research)

Kanyabashi Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Joseph Kanyabashi's Final Closing Brief, 17 February 2009

Kanyabashi Indictment

The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Amended Indictment, 11 June 2001

Judgement

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 24 June 2011

MDR

Mouvement Démocratique Républicain

MDR-Power

A wing of the Mouvement Démocratique Républicain Party

MIFAPROFE

Ministry of the Family and Women's Development

MIJEUMA

Ministry of Youth and Associated Movements

MINIFOP

Ministry of Public Service and Employment

MININTER

Ministry of the Interior

MINITRAP

Ministry of Public Works

MINITRASO

Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs

MRND

Mouvement Révolutionnaire National pour la Démocratie et le Développement

MSF

Médecins Sans Frontières

Ndayambaje Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Élie Ndayambaje's Defence Brief, 17 February 2009

Ndayambaje Indictment

The Prosecutor v. Élie Ndayambaje, Case No. ICTR-96-8-I, Amended Indictment, 11 August 1999

NGO

Non-Governmental Organisation

Nsabimana Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Final Brief of Sylvain Nsabimana's Trial, 17 February 2009

Nsabimana and Nteziryayo Indictment

The Prosecutor v. Sylvain Nsabimana and Alphonse Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-97-29-I, Amended Indictment, 12 August 1999

Ntahobali Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Arsène Shalom Ntahobali's Final Trial Brief and Annexes Thereto, 17 February 2009

Nteziryayo Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Alphonse Nteziryayo, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Alphonse Nteziryayo Closing Brief, 17 February 2009

Nyiramasuhuko Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko, Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Closing Brief of Pauline Nyiramasuhuko with Annex, 17 February 2009

Nyiramasuhuko and Ntahobali Indictment

The Prosecutor v. Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsène Shalom Ntahobali, Case No. ICTR-97-21-I, Amended Indictment, 11 March 2001

OAU

Organisation of African Unity

ONATRACOM

Office National de Transport en Commun (National Office for Public Transport)

ORINFOR

Office Rwandais d'Information (Rwandan Office of Information)

p. (pp.)

page (pages)

PAMU

Projet Agricole de Muganza (Muganza Agricultural Project)

para. (paras.)

paragraph (paragraphs)

PDC

Parti Démocrate Chrétien (Christian Democrat Party)

PL

Parti Libéral (Liberal Party)

Préfecture

A territorial and administrative unit in Rwanda

Préfet

An individual responsible for the administration of a préfecture

Presidential Guard

The Presidential Guard Battalion, a specialised unit of the Rwandan Armed Forces, was responsible for ensuring the security of the Rwandan President

Prosecution Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecutor's Closing Brief, 17 February 2009

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief

The Prosecutor v. Nyiramasuhuko et al., Case No. ICTR-98-42-T, Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief Pursuant to Rule 73 *bis* (B)(i), 14 May 2001

PSD

Parti Social Démocrate

Responsable de cellule

An individual responsible for the administration of a *cellule*

RPF

Rwandan (also Rwandese) Patriotic Front

RTLM

Radio Télévision Libre des Mille Collines

Rules

Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda

Secteur

A political and administrative subdivision of a *commune*

Sous-préfecture

A territorial and administrative unit below the préfecture unit in Rwanda

Sous-préfet

An individual responsible for the administration of a sous-préfecture

Statute

Statute of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, established by Security Council Resolution 955

T.

Transcript

UN

United Nations

UNAMIR

United Nations Assistance Mission for Rwanda

UNHCR

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

ANNEX C: INDICTMENTS